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PREFACE.

A sage has truly, said "Of the making of books there is no end." And it is well, for

though in literature, as in society, the wheat and the chaff are intermingled in promiscuous

confusion, and careful selection and winnowing are necessary to obtain the pure bread of life,

yet the " survival of the fittest obtains," and upon the bookshelves of the world's libraries lie the

crystallized brain and deeds of the centuries. It is the province of the historian to gather up the

records of the onward march of human progress, and through the " art preservative" transmit

them, condensed in convenient form for future use, to the coming ages. " History is a faith-

ful narration of facts of yesterday, registered upon time's leaf of to-day, to be turned over to-

morrow."

In the incipient stages of settlement in all countries, when civilization is in its birth

throes, existence is little else but a struggle for food and raiment and shelter. The heroes who

brave the dangers and hardships of frontier life little conceive, while they are waging the un-

even contest with Nature in sowing the seed of a mighty nation or commonwealth, that the

commonplace every day transactions of their lives will to their great grandchildren be matters

of transcendant import, as drops forming the rivulet upon which their ancestral barques

floated down the ever swelling stream of time toward an unfathomable eternity. And did those

conquerors of the wilderness and its hordes of primeval inhabitants, the wild beasts and wilder-

men, understand the value of their acts to future generations ; their branny hands are wont to

wield the ax and the plow rather than the pen. Thus the years that witness the early improve-

ments of any country march silently into the sepulcher of the entombed cycles of the past with

their events unre red, save as they linger in the memories of the participants. By and by,

when the haunts ot the savage have been converted into fields of golden grain ; his wigwam has

given place to the stately mansion ; the bark canoe to the floating steam palace, and transporta-

tion and trafiic lifted, by wings of steam and electricity, from the back of the red man's

pony, then the grandchildren of those patriarchs open their eyes in wonder at the marvelous

changes wrought, and inquire wherefore.' It is then the historian steps upon the scene and

endeavors to rescue from oblivion the pioneers and their labors which have made the " wilder-

ness blossom as the rose." His task is neither an easy nor enviable one. To gather up the

scattered fragments and forge them into a continuous, harmonious narrative with no " missing

link " requires much careful research and arduous labor.

Two hundred and seven years will have elapsed on the 25th of this coming June since

the Territory now embraced within the boundaries of Peoria county was first visited by white

man ; a century has intervened since the French colony was planted on the site of Peoria City,
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and more than three score years have passed since the first American settlement was made.

In the absence of any diary of consecutive events and incidents, an effort to resurrect and

embody all the matters of historical interest must of necessity be attended with great difficulty.

Many months of zealous labor have been devoted to this end, culminating in this volume, and

the publishers hope and confidently believe this History will be found comparatively free from

errors, and containing much that will render it highly prized as a reference book and a keep-

sake to the inhabitants of Peoria county.

The State and Territorial History was revised and a considerable portion of it written

especially for this volume. The abstracts of State Laws were prepared by one of Peoria's

leading Attorneys for the book, with great care and labor, and will be found reliable and useful

to the farmer and business man. The War Record is a feature upon which considerable work

was expended, and will prove an heirloom to the friends of the boys who fought in blue. No

pains have been spared in the compilation of the History of Peoria county and City to have it

embody a comprehensive narrative of the establishment, growth and present status of the multi-

tudinous financial, social and religious enterprises of this great commonwealth. The aim has

been in the biographical feature to avoid fulsome eulogium, and present a plain condensed

statement of facts.

The publishers tender their grateful acknowledgements and heartfelt thanks to the

friends, too numerous to name, who have in many ways aided and encouraged the progress and

completion of the enterprise. Most loyally and generously have the representative men and

women of the county and city, responded when solicited for facts and data necessary to em-

body in the History ; and to them, including the members of the Press, and the patrons who

have given it substantial encouragement, and to their posterity the work is respectfully dedicated

by the Publishers, JOHNSON & CO.
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PART I.

THE

NOETHWEST TEREITOEY.

CHAPTER I.

DISCOVERY OF THE MISSISSIPPI RIVER.

De Soto—Le Caron—Samuel de Champlain—French Adventurers—^James Marquette—Louis Joliet—Embarltation
to Explore New Countries—Lake Michigan and Green Bay—The " Ouisconsin "—Indian Accounts of the

Country—Discovering the Great River—Indian Name of the River—Joy of the Explorers—Interview with
Indians on Iowa Soil—Feast—Speech of an Indian Chief—The Des Moines River—"Muddy Water"—The
Arliansas—Return—Indian Nations—Marquette's Record—His Subsequent Voyage—La Vantum—Marquette's
Death—Removal of His Remains—Jpliet's Subsequent Explorations—Robert La Salle—Louis Hennepin

—

Ciievalier de Tonti—De La Motte—Fort Crevecoeur—Hennepin's Voyage—Falls of St. Anthony—Seur de
Luth—Hennepin's Claims as an Explorer—Colonization of Louisiana—Dissensions—Murder of La Salle.

The three great colonizing powers of the Old World first to raise the standard of

civilization witliin the limits of North America were France, England, and Spain. The
French made their earliest settlements in the cold and inliogpitable regions of Quebec

;

the English at Jamestown, Virginia, and at Plymouth, Massachusetts ; and tiie Spaniards

on the barren sands of Florida. To the French belongs the honor of discovering and
colonizing that portion of our country known as the Vall^of the Mississippi, including

all that magnificent region watered by the tributaries of the Great River. It is truetliat

more than one hundred years earlier (1538-41) the Spanish explorer, De Soto, had landed
on the coast of Florida, penetrated the everglades and unbioken forests of the South,

finally reaching the banks of the Great River, probably near where the city of Mempliis
now sfeinds. Crossing the river, he and his companions ijursued their journey for some
distance along the west bank, thence to the Ozark Mounpins and the Hot Springs of

Arkansas, aiyi returning to the place of his death on the* banks of the Mississippi. It

was a -perilous expedition indeed, characterized by all the^.splendor, romance and valor

which usually attended Spanish adventurers of that age. ^De Soto and his companions
were the first Europeans to behold the waters of the Mississippi, but the expedition was
a failure so far as related to colonization. The requiem chaxited by his companions as his

remains were committed to the waters of the great river lie had discovered, died away
with the solemn murmurs of the stream, and the white man's voice was not heard again

in tlie valley for more than a hundred years. De SotOfhad landed at Tampa Bay, on the

coast of Florida, with a fleet of nine vessels and seven hundred men. More than half

of them died, and the remainder made their way to Cuba, and finally babk to Spain.

Four years before the pilgrims " moored their bark on the wild New England shore,"

a French Franciscan, named Le Caron, penetrated the region of tlie great lakes of the

North, then the homes of the Iroquois and the Hurons, but a French settlement had been

established at Quebec, by Samuel de Chatoplaiu, in 1608. This was followed by the
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establishment of various colonies in Canada, and the hardy French adventurers penetra-

ted the country by the way of the St. Lawrence and the lakes. In 1625 a number of

missionaries of the Society of Jesus arrived in Canada from France, and during the

succeeding forty years extended their missions all along the shores of Lake Superior.

In 1637 a child was bom at the little city of Laon, in France, whose destipy it was

in the fullness of time to be instrumental in the hands of Providence in giving to the

world a definite knowledge of the grandest and most fertile region ever opened up to

civilization. That child was James Marquette, the descendant of a family of Celtic nobles.

He entered the Society of Jesus when seventeen years of age, and soon conceived a desire

to engage in the labors of a missionary among the Indians. He sailed for Quebec in 1666,

and two years later founded the mission of Sault Ste. Marie at the Falls of St. Mary.

The Winter of 1669-70 he spent at Point St. Ignatius, where he established another

mission. Here the old town of Michillimackinac, afterward called Mackinaw, was
founded. It was from Indians of the different tribes who came to this mission that he

received some vague intimations of the great river—^the father of all the rivers. He at

once conceived a desire to penetrate to the banks of the wonderful river, and carry his

missionary work to the tribes which he had learned inhabited its borders. He applied to

his superior, Claude Dablon, for permission to " seek new nations toward the Southern

sea." The authorities at Quebec were equally desirous of having new regions explored,

and therefore appointed Louis Joliet to embark upon a voyage of discovery. Joliet was
a native of Quebec and had been educated in a Jesuit college. He had, at the age of

eighteen, taken minor orders, but had abandoned all thoughts of the, priesthood and en-

gaged in the fur trade. He was now twenty-seven years of age, with a mind ripe for

adventure. He left Quebec, and arriving at Mackinaw, found Father Marquette highly

delighted with the information that they were to be companions in a voyage which was to

extend to the domain of the King of France, as well as to carry the Gospel to new
nations of people. The explorers, accompanied by five assistants, who were French
Canadians, started on their journey May 13, 1673. Marquette has himself recorded in

the following simple language their feelings on this occasion : " We were embarking on
a voyage the character of which we could not foresee. Indian corn, with some dried meat,
was our whole stock of provisions. With this we set out in two bark canoes, M. Joliet,

myself and five men, firmly resolved to do all and suffer all for so glorious an enterprise."

They coasted along the northern shore of Lake Michigan, entered Green Bay, and passed
up the Fox river, carrying their canoes across the Portage to the " Ouisconsin," now
called Wisconsin. At Lake Winnebago, before crossing the Portage, they stopped at an
Indian village, which was the furthest outpost to which Dablon and AUouez had ex-
tended their missionary work. Here they assembled the chiefs and old men of the
village and told them of the objects of the voyage. Pointing to Joliet, Father Marquette
said : " My friend is an envoy of France to discover new countries, and I am an ambas-
sador from God to enlighten them with the truths of the Gospel." The Indians furnished
two guides to conduct them to the Wisconsin river. It is related that a tribe of Indians
endeavored to dissuade them from pursuing their perilous journey by telling of desperate
and savage tribes that they would meet ; that the forests and the rivers were infested
with frightful monsters ; that there were great fish in the rivers that would swallow up
men and canoes together, and of a demon who could be heard from a great distance, and
who destroyed all who approached. Unmoved by these frightful stories, Marquette,
Joliet, and their five brave assistants, launched their little canoes on the waters of the
Wisconsin, and moved slowly down the current. After a lapse of seven days, June 17th,
1673, they reached the mouth of the Wisconsin and glided into the current of the Mis-
sissippi, a few miles below the place now kno-wn as Prairie du Chien. Here, and on this
day, the eye of the white man for the first time looked upon the waters of the Upper
Mississippi, Marquette. called the river "The Broad River of the Conception." The
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Indian name is derived from the Algonquin language, one of the original tongues of the
continent. It is a compound of the words Missi, signifying great, and Sepe, a river.

The explorers felt the most intense joy on beholding the scene presented to their

enraptured vision. Here was the great river whose waters somewhere thousands of miles

away flowed into a southern sea, and whose broad valley was the fairest and richest in

the world, but unknown to civilized man, save as an almost forgotten dream or a vague
romance. They had solved one of the great mysteries of the age in which they lived.

As they glided down the stream the bold bluffs reminded Marquette of the " castled

shores of his own beautiful rivers in France." The far-stretching prairies alternating

with forests, on either side, were adorned in all the wild glories of June. Birds sang the

same notes that they had sung for ages amid these " forests primeval," while herds of

buffalo, deer and elk were alarmed and fled to the dense retreats of the forest or the broad
prairies beyond. Not until the 25th of June did they discover any signs of human habi-

tation. Then, about sixty leagues, as they thought, below the mouth of the Wisconsin,
at a place where ihey landed on the west bank of the river, they found in the sand the

foot-prints of man. Marquette and Joliet left their flve companions in charge of the
canoes and journeyed away from the river, knowing that they must be near the habita-

tion of men. They followed a trail leading across a prairie clothed in the wild luxuri-

ance of Summer for a distance of about six miles, when they beheld another river and on
its banks an Indian village, with other villages on higher land, a mile and a half from the

first. The Indians greeted the two white strangers, as far as their ability permitted, with
a splendid ovation. They appointed four of their old men to meet the strangers in coun-
cil. Marquette could speak their language. They informed him that they were " lUini

"

(meaning "we are men"), and presenting the calumet of peace, invited them to share

the hospitalities of their village. Marquette told them of the object of their visit, and
that they had been sent by the French, who were their friends. He told them of the

great God that the white man worshipped who was the same Great Spirit that they
adored. In answer, one of the chiefs addressed them as follows

:

" I thank the Black Gown Chief (Marquette) and the Frenchman (Joliet) for

taking so much pains to come and visit us ; never has the earth been so beautiful, nor the

sun so bright as now ; never has the river been so calm, nor so free from rooks, which your
canoes have removed as they passed ; never has our tobacco had so fine a flavor, nor our
corn appeared so beautiful as we behold it to-day. Ask the Great Spirit to give us life

and health, and come ye and dwell with us."

After these ceremonies the strangers were invited to a feast, an account of which i&

given by Marquette. It consisted of four courses. First, there was a large wooden
bowl filled with tagmity, or Indian meal, boiled in water and seasoned with oil. The
master of cermonies, with a wooden spoon, fed the tagmity to their guests as children are

fed. The second course consisted of fish, which, after the bones were taken out, was
presented to the mouths of the strangers as food may be fed to a bird. The third course

was a preparation of dog meat, but learning that the strangers did not eat that, it was at

once removed. The fourth and final course was a piece of buffalo meat, the fattest por-

tion of which were put into the mouths of the guests.

The stream on whose banks took place this first interview between the explorers and
the untutored Indians, after parting with their guides, was the Des Moines river, and the

place of their landing was probably about where the town of Montrose is now located, in

Lee county, Iowa. One of our sweetest American poets has rendered Marquette's nar-

rative in verse, as follows

:

" Came a people

From the distant land of Wabun
;

From the farthest realms of morning

Came the Black Robe Chief, the Prophet,

He the Priest of Prayer, the Pale-lace, '
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With his guides and his companions.
And the noble Hiawatha,

With his hand aloft extended,

Held aloft in sign of welcome,
Cried aloud and spoke in this wise :

'Beautiful is the sun, O strangers,

When you come so far to see us

;

All our town in peace awaits you
;

All our doors stand open for you
;

You shall enter all our wigwams
;

For the heart's right hand we give you.

Never bloomed the earth so gayly.

Never shone the sun so brightly,

As to-day they shine and blossom
When you came so far to see us.'

And the Black Robe Chief made answer,

Stammered in his speech a little.

Speaking words yet unfamiliar :

' Peace be with you, Hiawatha,
Peace be with you and your people,

Peace of prayer, and peace of pardon,

Peace of Christ, and joy of Mary !

'

Then the generous Hiawatha,
Led the strangers to his wigwam,
Seated them on skins of bison.

Seated them on skins of ermine,

Brought them food in bowls of bass-wood.
Water brought in birchen dippers.

And the calumet, the peace-pipe.
Filled and lighted for their smoking.
All the warriors of the nation.

Came to bid the strangers welcome

;

' It is well,' they said, ' O brother.

That you came so far to see us.'

"

Marquette and Joliet remained at the Indian villages six days, and were then accom-
panied to their canoes by an escort of six hundred Indians. Invitations were extended
to the strangers to renew their visit, after which the explorers embarked in their boats

and floated on down the stream, passing the sites of future great cities of the valley, and
passing the mouths of the Missouri and Ohio rivers, and as far down as the mouth of the

Arkansas. Marquette named the Missouri river Pekitanoui, or " Muddy Water," on ac-

count of the now well-known character of that stream.

After extending their voyage to the mouth of the Arkansas, where they found a

village of the Arkansas tribe, they ascended the Mississippi to the moutli of the Illinois.

They ascended the latter river to its source. Along this stream they found many villages

of the Illinois, or lllini, a large and powerful tribe, who were subdivided into five smaller

tribes— the Tamaroas, Michigamies, Kahokias, Kaskaskias, and Peorias. The country
between the Illinois and Mississippi rivers was inhabited by the three last named tribes.

The Michigamies resided in the countiy bordeiing on Lake Michigan, and the Tamaroas
occupied the territory now included in the counties of Jersey, Madison and St. Clair,

Illinois. Kaskaskia— also designated by the early explorers as " La Vantvim " and " Great
Illinois Town" was the largest of the villages, containing according to Marquette, sev-
enty-five lodges. Without the loss of a man, or any serious accident, the party reached
Green Bay in September, and reported their discoveries. Marquette made a faithful

record of what they had seen and the incidents of the voyage. That record has been
preserved. The report of Joliet was unfortunately lost by the upsetting of his canoe
while on the way to Quebec.

At the request of the Illinois Indians, Marquette soon returned and established the
mission of the Immaculate Conception at La Vantum. In the Spring of 1075, on account
of failing health, he started to return to Green Bay. While passing along the shore of
Lake Michigan, conscious that he was nearing. the end of his earthly labors, he observed
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an elevated place near the mouth of a small river. He told his companions that the place

was suitable for his burial, and requested tliem to land. On that lonely and desolate

coast, May 18, 1675, at the age of thirty-eight, James Marquette ended his last earthly

voyage, and received burial at the hands of his devoted companions. Two years later

some Indians of the mission at Kaskasliia disinterred his remains, and conveyed them in

a box made of birch bark, with a convoy of over twenty canoes, to Mackinaw, where
they were reinterred at the mission church. The post was abandoned in 1706. and the

church burned. The place of burial was finally lost, and remained lost for two hundred
years. In May, 1876, the foundations of the old Jesuit Mission were accidentally dis-

covered on the farm of one David Murray, with a number of church relics, the moldering
remains of the great missionary and explorer, and a cross with liis name inscribed upon it.

Joliet, after his return to Quebec, became again a trader with the Indians. His
services were rewarded by the French government by the gift of the Island of Anticosti,

in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. Little after this is known of him. He died about 1730.

The reports given of the discoveries of Marquette and Joliet, served to encourage
other adventurers to engage in the effort to extend their explorations. Robert La Salle,

a French navigator, who was born at Rouen about the year 1635, had long cherished a

project of seeking a route to China by way of the Great Lakes. Before the return of

Marquette and Joliet, he had explored Lake Ontario and visited the different Indian

tribes. In 1675 lie went to France and obtained from the Government a grant to a large

tract of land about Fort Frontenac, the exclusive right of traffic with the Five Nations,

and also a patent of nobility. He laid before his Government his desire to explore the

Mississippi to its mouth, and take possession of all the regions he might visit in the name
of tlie King of France. His plans were warmly approved, and he was provided with the

means for carrying them into execution. In July, 1678, he returned to Fort Frontenac,

soon after established a trading house at Niagara, and visited the neighboring Indian

tribes for the purpose of collecting furs. He engaged the services of thirty mechanics
and mariners and built the first ship for the navigation of the lakes. It was called the

Griffin, and Avas a bark of sixty tons. Having been joined by Louis Hennepin and
Chevalier de Tonti, the latter an Indian vateran, on the 7th of August, 1679, they
launched the Griffin on Niagara river, and embarked for the valley of the Mississippi.

They crossed Lake Erie and Lake St. Clair, reaching Green Bay, September 2d. For
the purpose of relieving himself of some pressing financial obligations at Montreal, La
Salle liere engaged for a time in collecting furs with which he loaded the Griffin, and
sent it in the care of a pilot and fourteen sailors on its return trip, with orders to return

immediately ; but the vessel was never heard of afterward. He waited until all hope
had vanished, and then, with Father Hennepin, Chevalier de Tonti, the Sieur de la

Motte, and about thirty followers, began again the voyage. They ascepded the St.

Joseph in canoes to the portage, and carried their barks to the Kankakee, a distance of

six rafles, descended the Kankakee and the Illinois until they reached an Indian village

on the latter streain, at the expansion of the same, known as Lake Peoria. The village

was situated on the west bank of the lake, and must have been passed by Marquette

and Joliet on their voyage up the river in 1673, although no mention is made of %i

•by them. La Salle, Hennepin, Tonti and their followers landed at Lake Peoria, January

3d,* 1680. The Indians received them hospitably, and they remained with them for

several daj's. Here a spirit of discontent began to manifest itself among the followers of

La Salle, and fearifig trouble between his men and the Indians, they crossed the river

and moved down about three miles, where they erected a fort, which La Salle named
JFort Crevecaeur (heart-break) a name expressive of La Salle's sorrow at the loss of hia

fortune by the disaster to the Griffin, and also his feelings in the fear of mutiny among
his men. The party remained here until in February, when Tonti was placed in com'
mand of the post, and Hennepin charged with a voyage of discovery to the sources of
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the Mississippi. La Salle returned on foot with three companions to Fort Frontenac for

supplies. On his arrival he learned of the certainty of the loss of the Grif&n, and also

of the wreck of another vessel which had been sent with resources for him from France.

Father Hennepin, with two companions, Picard du Gay and Michel Ako, on the 29th

of February, 1680, embarked from Fort Crevecoeur in a canoe down the Illinois to its

mouth, which they reached in a few days. They then turned up the Mississippi, reaching

the mouth of the Wisconsin, April 11th. Above this point no European ha,d ever

ascended. They continued the voyage, reaching the Falls of St. Anthony, April 30th,

1680. Hennepin so named the falls in honor of his patron Saint. When they arrived

at the mouth of St. Francis river, in what is now the State of Minnesota, they traveled

along its banks a distance of 180 miles, visiting the Sioux Indians, who inhabited that

region. The river, Hennepin, so named in honor of the founder of his T)rder. In his

account of this voyage, Hennepin claims that they were held in captivity by the Indians

for about three months, although they were treated kindly by them. At the end of this

time a band of Frenchmen, under the leadership of Seur de Luth, in pursuit of furs,

had penetrated to this part of the country by the way of Lake Superior. The Indians

allowed Hennepin and his companions to return with the traders. They descended the

Mississippi to the mouth of the Wisconsin, passing up that stream and down the Fox
river, and so on through Green Bay to Lake Michigan. Hennepin went to Quebec, and
thence to France, where, in 1683, he published an account of his explorations and a

description of the region of the Upper Mississippi. In 1697 (two years after La Salle's

death) he published an enlarged work, in which he claimed that he had descended the

Mississippi to its mouth. His faithful description of the valley for a time gave him
credit for veracity, but the impossibility of reconciling his dates, and other circumstan-

ces, are by the best authorities regarded as stamping his claim false. Before the time
this work was published, as we shall see. La Salle had descended the Mississippi to its

mouth.- Hennepin explained his long silence as to his exploration to the mouth of the
Mississippi, by claiming that he had feared the enmity of La Salle, who had ordered him
to follow a different course, and had also prided himself upon his own claims as being
the first European to descend the Mississippi to the Gulf of Mexico. Father Hennepin
died in Holland, about the year 1699.

We now return to the further adventures of the brave and intrepid La Salle. He
returned to Fort Crevecoeur in the latter part of the year 1680, to find that Tonti had
been abandoned by his men, and obliged to take refuge among the Pottawattamies. He
spent another year in collecting his scattered followers, finally succeeded, and on the 6th
of February, 1682, he had reached the mouth of the Illinois. As they passed down the
Mississippi La Salle noted the different streams tributary thereto. They erected a fort
near the m^uth of the Ohio, and a cabin at the first Chickasaw bluff. On the 9th of
April they entered the Gulf of Mexico. They re-ascended the river a short distance,
founded the Fort of St. Louis, took possession of the whole valley in the name of France,
and called, it by the name of Louisiana, in honor of the king.

La Salle, having accomplished much for the glory of France, now retraced his steps
northward. After spending one year about the great lakes, actively engaged in laying
the foundations of French settlements in the new regions he had discovered, in Novem-
ber, 1683, he reached Quebec, and soon after embarked for France. The government,
with marks of great esteem, bestowed upon him a commission placing under Ms
authority all thfe French and natives of the country, from Fort St. Louis to New Biscay.
An expedition, with four vessels and 280 persons, was fitted out for the colonization of
Louisiana ; it sailed August 1, 1684* Associated with La Salle, in this expedition, was
Beaujeu, as naval commander. The mouth of the Mississippi was the objective point,
but by mistake the fleet, passed on northward. When the error was discovered La Sallfe
desired to return, but Beaujeu persisted in advancing. Dissensions arose, and La Salle,
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with 230 colonists, disembarked. This was in February, 1685. A fortified post, which
was called Fort St. Louis, was established, and attempts made at agriculture, but without
success. Attempts were made to reach the Mississippi, which they thought near, but
failed. La Salle and his followers traversed the wilderness toward New Mexico, and in

January, 1687, by sickness and disaster, his party was reduced to thirty-seven. Some of

these, following Beaujeu's example, revolted. La Salle, with sixteen men, then determ-
ined to reach the country of the Illinois. Two men, who had embarked their capital in

the enterprise, were bitter in their malignity toward the leader of this unsuccessful

expedition. Their feelings found some gratification in the murder of a nephew of La
Salle. The latter sought to investigate as to the death of his relative, but only shared
his fate, as one of them fired upon him from ambush, and the heroic La Salle fell, the

victim of quarrels and dissensions among his own followers. This event happened after

he had passed the basin of the Colorado and reached a branch of Trinity river, in Texas.

We have thus briefly outlined the part taken by this energetic and adventurous
explorer, in giving to civilization a knowledge of a region that was destined to constitute

the richest and most productive portion of the American continent, if not indeed, of the

world.

CHAPTER II.

EARLY SETTLEMENTS IN THE NORTHWEST,

Early French Settlements— Indian Tribes— Mission at Kaskaskia— Kahokia— Vincennes—Port Ponchartrain

—

Fort Chartres—La Belle Reviere— La Salle— The English Claim " From Sea to Sea " — Treaty with Indians

in 1684— English Grants— French and Indians Attack Pickawillany— Treaty with the Six Nations— French
and English Claims— George Washington— French and Indian War— Fall of Montreal— Treaty of Paris—
Pontiac's Conspiracy— Detroit— Pontiac's Promissory Notes— Pontiac's Death— France Cedes Louisiana to

Spain— Washington Explores the Ohio Valley— Emigration— Land Companies— The Revolution— Colonel

Clark— Surrender of French Posts in Illinois— Surrender of Vincennes— Gov. Hamilton Taken Prisoner

—

Daniel Boone— Simon Girty— Virginia's " Land Laws."

As the French were the first to explore the region known as the Northwest, so they

were the first to improve the opening thus made. The earliest settlements were in that

part of the country east of the Mississippi and south of the Great Lakes, occupied

chiefly by the Illinois tribes of the Great Algonquin family of Indians. The Illinois

were divided into the Tamaroas, Michigamies, Kahokias, Kaskaskias, and Peorias, and

were sometimes designated as the Five Nations. The three last named tribes occupy

the country between the Illinois and Mississippi rivers; the Michigamies the region

bordering on Lake Michigan, and the Tamaroas, a small tribe, in the same region occu-

pied by the Kahokias, and now embraced in the counties of Jersey, Madison, and St.

Clair, in the State of Illinois. The French opened the way for colonization by the

establishment of missions among these tribes, their efiforts in this direction having been

attended with great success in Canada. A mission was founded at Kaskaskia by Father

Gravier about the year 1698. This at the time of the visit of Marquette and Joliet, in

1673, was the largest and most important of the Illinois villages, and contained seventy-

four lodges, or about fifteen hundred inhabitants. By the early explorers it was called

by the several names of " Kaskaskia," " La Vantum," and " Great Illinois Town."
Here, in 1675, Father Marquette had attempted to Christianize the Indians by establish-

ing the mission of the Immaculate Conception. For years it was nothing more than a

missionary station, occupied only by the Nations and the missionary. About the year

1700 missions were also established at Kahokia and Peoria, the latter being near the site
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of old Fort CreveccEur. Another of the early French settlements was at Vincennes on

the Oubache (Waba, now Wabash) river. Authorities disagree as to the date of this

settlement, but it was probably about 1702. For many years this was an isolated colony

of French emigrants from Canada, and several generations of their descendants lived and

passed away in these vast solitudes, before either they or their savage neiglibors were

disturbed b}' the encroachments of an expanding civilization. During all this time they

had maintained friendly relations with the natives. In July, 1701, a station was estab-

lished by De la Motte on the Detroit river, called Fort Ponchartrain. While these

attempts to colonize the Northwest were in progress, similar efforts were being made by

France in the Southwest, but without maintaining like friendly relations with the natives,

for in a conflict with the Chickasaws, an entire colony at Natchez was cut off. As these

settlements in the Northwest were isolated but little is known of their history prior to

1750. In this year Vivier, a missionary among the Illinois, near Fort Chartres, writes of

five French villages, with a population of eleven hundred whites, three hundred blacks,

and sixty red slaves or savages. He says tliere were whites, negroes and Indisins, to say

nothing of half-breeds. They then raised wheat, cattle, swine and horses, and sent

pork, grain and flour to New Orleans. On the 7th of November, 1750, the same priest

writes

:

" For fifteen leagues above the mouth of the Mississippi one sees no dwellings, the

ground being too low to be habitable. Thence to New Orleans the lands are only par-

tially occupied. New Orleans contains black, white and red, not more, I think, than

twelve hundred persons. To this point come all lumber, bricks, salt beef, tallow, tar,

skins and bear's grease ; and above all, pork and flour from the Illinois. These things

create some commerce, as forty vessels and more have come hither this year. Above
New Orleans plantations are again met with ; the most considerable is a colony of Ger-
mans some ten leagues up the river. At Point Coupee, thirty-five leagues above the

German settlement, is a fort. Along here, within five or six leagues, are not less than
sixty habitations. Fifty leagues further up is the Natchez post, where we have a garri-

son, v.ho are kept prisoners through fear of the Chickfisaws. Here and at Point Coupee

•

they raise excellent tobacco. Another hundred leagues brings us to the Arkansas, where
we have also a fort and a garrison for the benefit of the river traders. From the Arkansas
to the Illinois, nearly five hundred leagues, there is not a settlement. There should be,

however, a fort at the Oubache (Ohio), the only path by which the English can reach
the Mississippi. In the Illinois country are numberless mines, but no one to work them
as they deserve."

The fame of Robert Cavelier de La Salle was not achieved alone by his explorations

of the Valley of the Mississippi, for, in 1669, four years before the discovery of the Mis-
sissippi by Marquette and Joliet, La Salle discovered the Ohio river, or La Belle Riviere
(Beautiful Iliver), as the French called it. Being conversant with several Indian diar

lects, he had learned from some Senecas of a river called Ohio which rose in their country
and flowed a long distance to the sea. La Salle then held the belief that the river flowing
to the west emptied into the Sea of California, and longed to engage in the enterprise of
discovering a route across the continent. He obtained the approval of the Government
at Quebec, but no allowance to defray the expense. He sold his property in Canada for

two thousand eight hundred dollars, and with the proceeds purchased canoes and the
necessary supplies. With a party of twenty-four persons he embarked in seven canoes
on the St. Lawrence, July 6th, 1669. Crossing over Lake Ontario, they were conducted
by Indian guides to the Genesee, about where the city of Rochester, New York, is now
located. I'he enterprise did not receive the approbation of the Indians at the Seneca
vilJago then situated on the bank of the Genesee at this point, and they refused to furnr
isli him guides to conduct him further. After a month's delay he met an Indian
bisloaging to the Iroquois tribe Qn Lake Ontario, who conducted them to their village,
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where they received a more friencHy welcome. From the chief of the Iroquois at
Onondaga he obtained guides who conducted the party to a river soutli of Lake Erie.

This proved to be a tributary of the Ohio. Tliey descended it, and thence down tlie

Oliio to the great falls where Louisville now stands. By virtue of tliis discovery the
French claimed the country along the Oiiio, and many years after eslablished military

and trading posts at different points. One of tiiese was Fort Du Qiiesne, erected in 1754,
which was taken from tiiem by the English a few years later and called Pittsburg, in

honor of AViliiam Pitt, tiien prime minister of England.
Notwithstanding the discovery of the Oliio by the Fi'ench under La Salle a& early as

1669, the English claimed from the Atlantic to the Pacific on the ground that her sea-

coast discoveries entitled her to the sovereignty of all the country from "sea to sea."

In 1084, Lord Howard, Governor of Virginia, held a treaty with Indian tribes known as

the Northern Confederacy, to -wit: the Mohawks, Oneidas, Onondagas, Cayiigas and
Senecas. The Tuscaroras being subsequently taken in, these tribes became known as

the Six Nations, and the English assumed their protection. They purchased from them
large tracts of land and aimed to obtain a monopoly of the Indian trade. The English
government made grants of land west of the AUeghanies, and companies were formed
for their settlement. France, seeing the English obtaining a foothold by planting trading

posts in the Northwest, in 1749 sent Louis Celeron witii a small force of soldiers to plant
in mounds at tiie mouth of the principal tributaries of the Ohio, plates of lead with the

claims of France inscribed thereon. The Englisli, however, still continued to make
explorations and establish trading posts. One of these grants of England was to a
company known as the "Ohio Company," and embraced a tract of land on the Great
Miami, described as being one hundred and fifty miles above its mouth. Ohi'istopher

Gist was sent by this company in 1750 to inspect their lands and to establish a trading

post. In 1752 a small party of French soldiers, assisted by Ottawas and Chippewas,
attacked this post and captured the traders after a severe battle. The English called

this post Pickawillany— the name being subsequently contracted to Pickaway or Piqua.
The location of this post was doubtless near that of the present town of Piqua, on the
Great Miami, about seventy -eight miles north of Cincinnati. Thus on the soil of wliat

became a part of the State of Ohio was shed the first blood between the French and
English for the possession of the Northwest.

In 1744 the English had entered into a treaty with the Six Nations at Lancaster,

Pennsylvania, by which they acquired certain lands described as being within the
" Colony of Virginia." The Indians subsequently complained of bad faith on the part
of the English in failing to comply with some of the stipulations of the treaty. The
Governor of Virginia appointed commissioners to hear the grievances of the Indians.

They met at Logstown, on the north bank of the Ohio, about seventeen miles below
the present city of Pittsburg, in the Spring of 1752. Notwithstanding the complaint of

the Indians that the English had failed to supply them with arms and ammunition as

they had agreed, they succeeded in obtaining a confirmation of the treaty of Lancaster.

In the mean time the French were quietly preparing to maintain their claims to the
country in dispute. They provided cannon and military stores in anticipation of the
coming conflict. The French were notified to give up their posts, but they failed to

comply. Governor Dinwiddie finally determined to learn definitely their intentions, and
for this purpose selected Major George Washington, then twenty^two years of age, as a

messenger. With Christopher Gist as a guide, and four attendants or servants, Wash-
ington set out through the wilderness on his perilous journey. He held a conference

with the chiefs of the Six Nations at Logstown in November, 1753. He learned some^
thing of the condition of the French, but the Indians desired to remain neutral and were
disposed to be non-committal. Washington proceeded to Venango, where there was a
French post called Fort Machault, Here he delivefed to the French Governor, Dinwid-
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die's letter, and received the ans-wer ot St. Pierre, the commander of the fort, declining

to give up without a struggle. Preparations for war were made in all the English

colonies while the French continued to strengthen their lines of fortifications.

It will thus be seen that what is known as the French and Indian war had its origin

in this dispute about the possession of what is now one of the fairest and richest portions

of our Republic. It resulted, not only in England maintaining her right to the territory

in dispute, but in wresting Canada from France. It was a war of eight years duration,

commencing with the attack of the French and Indians on the English post at Piqua in

1752, and. virtually ending with the fall of the city of Montreal in April, 1760. Ticon-

deroga. Crown Point, Niagara, and Quebec had all previously surrendered to the English,

the first two without resistance. After the fall of Montreal the Governor of Canada
signed a capitulation surrendering the whole of Canada to the English. One post, how-
ever, that of Detroit, still remained in possession of the French. Major Rogers was sent

from Montreal to demand its surrender. Beletre, the commander of the post, at first

refused, but on the 29th of November, having heard of the defeat of the French arms in

Canada, he also surrendered. September 29th, 1760, the treaty of peace between France
and England, known as the treaty of Paris, was made, but not ratified until February
10th, 1763. Meantime the Northwest territory was entirely under English rule and
settlements began to extend. The Indians who had been the friends and allies of the

French during the war were not reconciled to the English, claiming that they had not
carried out their promises. Under the famous Ottawa chief, Pontiao, they united in a

general conspiracy to cut off all the English posts on the frontier. The Chippewas,
Ottawas, Wyandots, Miamis, Shawnees, Delawares and Mingoes, buried the hatchet in

their local quarrels, and united to exterminate the English.

Owing to the treachery on the part of some of Pontiac's followers, he failed in the

complete execution of his plans, but in May, 1763, several British posts fell, and many
whites were victims of the merciless tomahawk. In the arrangement among the Indians
it was agreed that Pontiac's own immediate field of action was to be the garrison at

Detroit. He laid siege to the post May 12th, and continued it until October 12th. To
obtain food for his warriors during this time, he issued promissory notes, drawn upon
birch bark and signed with the figure of an otter. All these notes were faithfully

redeemed. Being unsuccessful in reducing the garrison, the tribes generally sued for

peace, but Pontiac remained as yet unsubdued. To Alexander Henry, an Englishman
who visited Michillimacinac, the next Spring, he said : " Englishman, although you have
conquered the French, you have not yet conquered us. We are not your slaves! These
lakes, these woods, these mountains, were left us by our ancestors. They are our
inheritance, and we will part with them to none. Your nation supposes that we, like

the white people, can not live without bread, and pork and beef ; but you ought to
know that He, the Great Spirit and Master of Life, has provided food for us upon these
broad lakes and in these mountains."

Pontiac still entertained the hope that the French would renew the war, and finally

conquer the English, and endeavored to incite the Indians on the Miami, and in other
parts of the West, to continue hostilities. He applied, but unsuccessfully, to the French
commander at New Orleans. Being unable to unite again those who entered so eagerly
into his original conspiracy for destroying the English settlements, he went to the Illinois

country, where he made a stand, and had for a time the sympathy and co-operation
of the French fur traders in that region. Soon, however, all but his immediate followers
deserted his cause, and he then reluctantly accepted peace on the terms offered by the
English. From this time he had but little influence with the tribes. He was killed by
an Illinois Indian, while drunk, at Kahokia, in 1769. At the time of his death he was
about fifty-seven years of age.

Great Britain now held sovereignty over the entire Northwest, and to prevent
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Louisiana from also falling into the hands of the English, France by secret treaty,

in 1762, ceded it to Spain. The next year the treaty of Paris formally gave to England
possession of the Northwestern Territory. The English now began to prepare for settle-

ment and occupation of the country. In 1770 persops from Virginia and other British

provinces took up the valuable lands on the Mon^ngahela and along the Ohio to the

mouth of the Little Kanawa. In October of the same year, George Washington with a,

party descended the Ohio from Pittsburg to the Kanawa, which last named stream they
ascended about fourteen miles, and marked out several large tracts of land. Buffalo

were then abundant in the Ohio valley, and several of them were shot by Washington's
party. Pittsburg was then a village of twenty houses, the inhabitants being mostly
Indian traders.

The British government was inclined to observe a liberal policy toward the French
settlers in the West. In 1763 the king, by royal proclamation, had forbidden his subjects

from making settlements beyond the sources of the rivers which fall into the Atlantic ;

but his subjects in the colonies were little disposed to observe this restriction. Finally,

in 1774, Governor Dunmore, of Virginia, began to encourage emigration to the West.
A number of settlements were made in the Ohio valley, the settlers often coming in

conflict with the Indians. Several battles were fought, ending in the battle of Kanawa,
in July, when the Indians were defeated and driven across the Ohio. During the years

following, up to 1776, several land coHipanies were formed, and engaged in- extensive

operations. One, called the " Illinois Land Company," obtained from the Indians large

tracts of land on the Mississippi river, south of the Illinois. An association, styling

itself the "Wabash Land Company," obtained a deed from eleven chiefs to 37,497,600
acres of land. The War of the Revolution interfered with these and many other similar

schemes of speculation. The parties interested subsequently made efforts to have these

land, grants sanctioned by Congress, but did not succeed.

In 1771, according to the best information we have, Kaskaskia contained eighty

houses, and nearly one thousand inhabitants, white and black. Kahokia contained fifty

houses, with three hundred white inhabitants, and eighty negroes. There were a few
families at Prairie du Rocher, on the Mississippi river, opposite St. Louis. At Detroit,

there were, in 1766, about one hundred houses. This place was founded by Antoine de
la Motte Cadillac, in 1701, and is the oldest town in the Northwest.

When the War of the Revolution commenced the British helBL Kaskaskia, Kahokia,
Vincennes, Detroit, and other important posts in the West. Col. George Rogers Clark,

a master spirit of the frontier, who was familiar with all the important movements of

the British in the West, and also with the disposition of the Indians, formed a plan

unequaled in boldness, for subjugating these posts. He repaired to the capital of Vir-

ginia, Patrick Henry being then Governor, and presented to the authorities his plan of

operations, which was approved by Governor Henry. He was accordingly furnished

with two sets of instructions—one secret and the other open. His open instructions

authorized him to enlist seven companies to go to Kentucky, subject to his orders, and
serve three months from their arrival in the West. The secret order authorized him to

arm and equip his troops at Pittsburg, and proceed to subjugate the country. Col. Clark
succeeded in raising but three companies, but with these and a few private volunteers,

he descended the Ohio as far as the falls, in the Spring of 1777. Here he fortified a

small island, known as Corn Island, and then announced to his men their real destina-

tion. Leaving a small garrison, on the 24th of June, during a total eclipse of the sun,

he moved down the river. Under a burning July sun, with his chosen band, he marched
to Kaskaskia, reaching that post on the evening of July 4th. Without the loss of a man
on either side the fort and village were captured. He easily induced the Indians to give

their allegiance to the American cause. They accompanied him to Kahokia on the 6thj

and through their influence the inhabitants of that place surrendered without resistance.
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The priest at Knskaskia, M. Gibaiilt, hastily joined in rendering all the aid he could to

foiwiud the purposes of Clailc. He established a government for the colonies he had
taken, and then made ready to march upon St. Vincent, or Vincennes, as it is more com-
monly known. But Gibault offered to go alone and induce the post on the " Oubache "

to throw off the authority of England. Clark accepted the offer, and on the 14th of

July Gibault started on his mission. On the 1st of August he returned, with intelli-

gence of entire success, the garrison at Vincennes having taken the oath of allegiance to

Virginia. Col. Chirk placed garrisons at Kaskaskia, and Kahokia, and sent orders for

the erection of a fort at the Falls of the Ohio, where the City of Louisville now stands.

He also sent Rocheblave, the former commander of Kaskaskia, a prisoner of war to

Richmond. The county of Illinois w.as established in October of the same year, by the

Legislature of Virginia. John Todd was appointed Lieutenant-Colonel and acting gov-

ernor. Courts were established, and the colony was provided with a government com-
plete. The Indians acknowledged allegiance to the new government.

While Col. Clark was arranging for the government of the Illinois colonies, the

British Governor, Hamilton, was planning an expedition to move from Detroit down the

Wabash to Vincennes, intending to recapture the posts which had surrendered to Clark,

and thence extend his operations to Kentucky. He knew nothing of the capitulation of

Vincennes until his arrival, when he found the fort in command of Capt. Helm, who
had been sent by Col. Clark to take charge of the garrison. Hamilton demanded the

surrender of the fort, and being granted the rights of a prisoner of war, Capt. Helm
surrendered to a superior force. On the 2'Jth of January, 1779, Clark received intelli-

gence of what had transpired at Vincennes, and of the intended operations of Hamilton.
Having sufficiently garrisoned Kaskaskia and Kahokia, and dispatched a force down the
Mississippi to ascend the Ohio and operate with the land forces in that direction, on the

5th of February he set out himself with one hundred and twenty men on his hard march
to Vincennes. He reached the fort on the 22d, and was joined by the remainder of his

command, which had come by water. He immediately commenced his attack on the fort,

and on the 25th Gov. Hamilton surrendered. He was sent as a prisoner of war to Virginia,
where he was kept in close confinement, and thus failed to accomplish his purpose of
uniting the Indian tribes against the Americans. All the important posts in the North-
west, except Detroit, were now iu the hands of the Americans. Had Clark received
reinforcements, which had been promised, he would doubtless have captured Detroit
also ; but Virginia and the other colonial governments at this time doubtless had all they
could do to attend to, the operations of the war east of the Alleghanies. The Legis-
lature of Virginia passed resolutions complimenting Col. Clark and his men, and in 1781
he was promoted to the rank of general. Previous to this he had taken part with Steuben
against Arnold, when the latter invaded Virginia, in 1780. Subsequently, Virginia gave
to Gen. Clark and his men one hundred and fifty thousand acres of land, wherever they
might choose to locate it, north of the Ohio. They made selection of a tract opposite
the Falls of Ohio, between New Albany and Jeffersouville, Indiana. Gen. Clark died
near Louisville, Kentucky, February 13, 1808.

The years 1781 and 1 782 were dark years in the history of the infant settlements of the
Northwest, in consequence of the many outrages practiced by the Indians. Many deeds
of cruelty weie committed under the leadership of the outlaw, Simon Girty, occurring
chiefly in the Ohio Valley. Several battles between the Indians and frontiersmen occurred
north of the Ohio, while in Kentucky the famous Daniel Boone and hjs compauious were
engaged in protecting the frontier outposts.

In 1783 the treaty of peace, which ended the Revolutionary struggle, was concluded,
and by its terms the boundaries of the West were defined as follows : On the north, to
extend along the center of the Great Lakes ; from the western point of Lake Superior
to Long Lake ; thence to the Lake of the Woods ; thence to the head of the Mississippi
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river, down its center to the 31st parallel of latitude ; thence on that line east to the
head of Appalachicola river, down its center to the junction with the Flint; thence
straight to the head of St. Mary's river; and thence down along its center to the

Atlantic Ocean.
For some time after the cessation of hostilities. General Haldimand, the British

commander at Detroit, refused to evacuate, on the ground, as he claimed, that his king
had not ordered him to do so. It shortly, however, passed under the control of the United
States, and so remained, except when held by the British, through the surrender of Gen.
Hull, for a few weeks in August and September, 1812.

The war of independence had been fought and gained, and England, as we have
seen, had renounced her claim to the Northwest, but the Indian title Avas not yet extin-

guished. From 1783 to 1786 various treaties were made, by which the Indians relin-

quished their title to extensive tracts of territory. The individual States also held claims

to the territory surrendered by Great Britain, and acts of cession were necessary to vest

the title to the soil in United States; but of this we shall treat more fully in another
place.. In 1779 Virginia had passed her "land laws," by which giants made to settlers

were confirmed, and providing for selling the rest at forty cents per acre. Kentucky was
included in the territory of Virginia until 1792. It was originally explored by Daniel
Boone and his compeers about the year 1769. Harrodsburg was founded in 1774, and
Lexington a year or two later, when the news of the battle of Lexington was fresh in

the minds of its founders.

CHAPTER III.

NORTHWESTERN TERRITORY.

Territory held by States— Articles of Confederation— Objections of certain Stales—^Delaware KeFolulions—
Action of Congress— Maryland— New York— Cession of Territory by States— Ordinance of 17S7— Terri-

torial Organization of the Northwest— Fort Washington — Wm. H. Harrison. Arthur St. Clair— Early
American Settlenunt— New England Company— Gen. Rufus Putnam— John Cleves Symmes— Cincinnati
Founded— Treaty with Spain— Division of the Northwestern Territory— Organization of the Territory of

Indiana— Division of Indiana Territory— Territory of Michigan— Gov. Wm. Ilull— Destruction of Detroit

by Fire.

At the time the Articles of Confederation and Perpetual Union were pending a
number of the States lield, or claimed, large tracts of territory not now included in those

States. New York, Virginia, Massachusetts, Connecticut, South t.arolina. North Caro-
lina and Georgia, all held such territory. Virginia claimed all that vast region which
now embraces the States of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin and that part of

Minnesota east of the Mississippi river. That State had made provision, b}' legislative

enactment, to dispose of her lands to settlers. Certain States, claiming that the unoccu-
pied western lands were rightfully the common property of all the States, insisted on
limiting the area of those States claiming western territory. This was a subject of warm
and protracted discussion in the adoption of the Articles of Confederation. The dele-

gates from Maryland, under instructions from the General Assembly of that State,

declined, in the Congre.«s of the Confederation, to sign the Articles of Confederation

until provision was made for restricting the boundaries of the States,* and vesting the.

soil of the western territories in the Confedeiation for the common benefit of all the set-

tlers. Virginia had remonstrated against this course. On the 26th of November, 1778,

the act of New Jersey for ratifying the Articles of Confederation was presented in the
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Congress. Her delegates were directed to sign the articles " in the firm reliance that the

candor and justice of the several States will, in due time, remove as far as possible the

inequality which now exists." The delegation from Delaware, after having signed the

articles, on the 23d of February, 1779, presented sundry resolutions passed by the legis-

lature of that State, among which were the following

:

"Resolved, That this State thinks it necessary, for the peace and safety of the States to be included in the

Union, that a moderate extent of limits should be assigned for such of those States as claim to the Mississippi or

South Sea ; and that the United States in Congress assembled, should, and ought to, have the power of fixing the

western limits.

"Resolved, That this State consider themselves justly entitled to a right in common with the members of the

Union, to that extensive tract of country which lies westward of the frontier of the United States, the property of

which was not vested in, or granted to, private individuals at the commencement of the present war. That the same
hath been, or may be, gained from the King of Great Britain, or the native Indians, by the blood and treasure of

all, and ought, therefore, to be a common estate, to be granted out on terms beneficial to the United States."

The same day, after the presentation of these resolutions. Congress passed the

following

:

" Resolved, That the paper laid before Congress by the delegates from Delaware, and read, be filed
;
provided,

that it shall never be considered as admitting any claim by the same set up, or intended to be set up."

Eight States voted in favor of this resolutions, and three against it.

The State of Maryland still persisting in her refusal to ratify the Articles of Con-
federation, on the 30th of October, 1779, Congress, by a vote of eight States to three,

and one being divided, passed the following

:

" Whereas, The appropriation of vacant lands by the several States, during the continuance of the war, will,

in the opinion of Congress, be attended with great mischiefs: Therefore,

"Resolved, That it be earnestly recommended to the State of Virginia, to reconsider their late act of Assembly
for opening their land ofiice ; and that it be recommended to the said State, and all other States similarly circum-
stanced, to forbear settling or issuing warrants lor unappropriated lands, or granting the same during the continu-
ance of the present war."

On the 19th of February, 1780, the Legislature of New York passed an act au-

thorizing her delegates in Congress, for and on behalf of that State, by proper and au-
thentic acts or instruments, " to limit and restrict the boundaries of the State in the western
parts thereof, by such line or lines, and in such manner and form, as they shall judge to

be expedient," and providing for the cession to the United States of certain "waste and
uncultivated " territory. This act was fully carried into effect by her delegates on the
1st of March, 1781.

On the 6th of September, 1780, Congress passed a resolution earnestly recommend-
ing the States having " claims to the western country, to pass such laws, and give their

delegates in Congress such powers " as might effectually remove the only obstacle to a
final ratification of the Articles of Confederation, and requesting the Legislature of
Maryland to authorize her delegates in Congress to subscribe to the articles.

On the 10th of October, 1780, a further resolution on this subject was passed by the
Congress of the Confederation, as follows

:

"Resolved, That the unappropriated lands that may be ceded or relinquished to the United States, by any parti-
cular State, pursuant to the recommendation of Congress of the 6th day of September last, shall be disposed of for
the common benefit of the United States, and be settled and formed into distinct republican States, which shall be-
come members of the Federal Union, and have the same rights of sovereignty, freedom and independence as the
other States ; that each State which shall be so formed shall contain a suitable extent of territory, not less than one
hundred, nor more than one hundred and fifty miles square, or as near thereto as circumstances will admit ; that the
necessary and reasonable expenses which any particular State shall have incurred since the commencement of the
•present war, in subduing any British posts, or in maintaining forts or garrisons within and for the defense, or in ac-
quiring any part of the territory that may be ceded or relinquished to the United States, shall be re-imbursed ; that
the said lands shall be granted or settled at such times, and under such regulations, as shall hereafter be agreed on
by the United States, in Congress assembled, or any nine or more of them."
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In pursuance of the recomniendation of Congress, of September 6, 1780, severar

States made cessions of territory to the United States. Virginia ceded her northwestern
territory March 1, 1784, and by an act of her Legislature of December 30, 1788, agreed
to change the conditions of the act of cession of 1784, so far as to ratify the 5th article

of the ordinance of 1787, passed by Congress, for the government of the territory. The
delegates in Congress from Maryland signed the Articles of Confederation at the date of

the cession of territory by New York, March 1, 1781, thus completing the confederation.

On the 23d of April, 1784, Congress passed a resolution for the government of the

territory ceded by Virginia, which was superseded by the famous ordinance of July 13,

1787, entitled "An ordinance for the government of the territory of the United States

northwest of the river Ohio." The first part of this important enactment provides for

the temporarj'^ government of the territory, and concludes with six " articles of compact
between the original States and the people and States in the said territory, and forever

to remain unalterable, unless by common consent." The provisions of these six articles

are of such importance as to justify their insertion here in full

:

"Akticle 1. No person, demeaning himself in a peaceable and orderly manner
shall ever be molested on account of his mode of worship or religious sentiments, in the

said territory.
" Akt. 2. The inhabitants of the said territory shall always be entitled to the writ

of habeas corpus, and of the trial by jury ; of a proportionate representation of the peo-

ple in the legislature, and of judicial proceedings according to the course of the common
law. All persons shall be bailable, unless for capital offenses, when the proof shall be
evident, or the presumption great. All fines shall be moderate, and no cruel or unusual
punishment shall be inflicted. No person shall be deprived of his liberty or property,

but by the judgment of his peers, or the law of the land, and should the public exigen-

cies make it necessary for the common preservation to take any person's property, or to

demand his particular services, full compensation shall be made for the same. And, in

the just preservation of rights and property, it is understood and declared that no law
ought ever to be made, or have force in the said territory, that should, in any manner
whatever, interfere with or affect private contracts or engagements, hona fide, and with-

out fraud previously formed.
" Art. 3. Religion, morality and knowledge being necessary to good government

and the happiness of mankind, schools and the means of education shall be forever

encouraged. The utmost good faith shall always be observed towards the Indians ; their

lands and property shall never be taken from them without their consent ; and in their

property, rights, and liberty, they shall never be invaded or disturbed, unless in just and
lawful wars authorized by Congress ; but laws founded in justice and humanity shall,

from time to time, be made for preventing wrongs being done to them, and for preserv-

ing peace and friendship with them.
" Art. 4. The said territory, and the States which may be formed therein, shall

forever remain a part of this confederacy of the United States of America, subject to the

Articles of Confederation, and to such alterations therein as shall be constitutionally

made ; and to all the acts and ordinances of the United States, in Congress assembled, con-

formable thereto. The inhabitants and settlers in the sai*d territory shall be subject to

pay a part of the federal debts, contracted or to be contracted, and a proportional part of

the expenses of government, to be apportioned on them by Congress, according to the

same common rule and measure by which apportionments thereof shall be made on the

other States ; and the taxes for paying their proportion shall be laid and levied by the

authority and direction of the legislatures of the district or districts, or new States, as in

the original States, within the time agreed upon by the United States, in Congress

assemibled. The legislatures of those districts, or new States, shall never interfere with

the primary disposal of the soil of the United States, in Congress assembled, nor with
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any regulations Congress may find necessary, for securing tlie title in such soil, to the

bona fide purchasers. No tax shall be imposed on lands the property of the United

States ; and in no case shall non-resident proprietors be taxed higher than residents.

The navigable waters leading into the Mississippi and St. Lawrence, and the carrying

places between the same, shall be common highways and forever free, as well to the

inliabitants of said- territory as to the citizens of the United States, and those of any

other States that may be admitted into the Confederacy, without any tax, impost, or duty

therefor.
" Art. 5. There shall be formed in the said territory not less than three, nor more

than five States ; and the boundaries of the States, as soon as Virginia shall alter her act

of cession, and consent to the same, shall become fixed and established as follows, to-wit

:

the Western States in the said territory shall be bounded by the Mississippi, the Ohio

and Wabash rivers; a direct line drawn from the Wabash and Post Vincents due north

to the territorial line between the United States and Canada, and by tlie said territorial

line to the Lake of the Woods and Mississippi. The Middle States shall be bounded by
the said direct line, the Wabash, from Post Vincents to the Ohio, by the Ohio, by a direct

line drawn due north from the mouth of the Great Miami to the said territorial line and by

the said territorial line. The Eastern States shall be bounded by the last-mentioned direct

line, the Ohio, Pennsylvania, aud the said territorial line ;
provided, however, and it is

further understood and declared that the boundaries of these three States shall be subject

so far to be altered that if Congress shall hereafter find it expedient, they shall have
authority to form one or two States in that part of the said territory wliich lies north of

an east and west line drawn through the southerly bend or extreme of Lake Michigan.

And whenever any of the said States shall have sixty tliousand free inhabitants therein,

such State shall be admitted, by its delegates, into the Congress of the United States on
an equal footing with the original States, in .ill respects whatever ; and shall be at liberty

to form a peruianent constitution and State government, provided the constitution and
government so to be formed sliall be republican, and in conformity to the principles con-

tained in tiiese articles, and so far as can be consistent with tlie general interests of tlie

Coiirederacy,such admission shall be allowed at an earlier period, aud when there may be

a less number of free inhabitants in the State than sixty thousand.
" AiiT. 6. There shall be neither slavery nor involuntary servitude in the said ter-

ritory, otherwise than in the punishment of crimes, whereof the party shall be duly con-

victed; provided, always, that any person escaping into the same from whom labor or

service is lawfully claimed in any one of the original States, such fugitive may
be lawfully rechumed and convej-ed to the person claiming his or her labor or services

as aforesaid."

These articles,'" sometimes known as the " Compact of 1787," form the basis of the
organization of the Northwestern Territory and of the several States into which it was
subsequently divided. Although the original act of cession Avas adopted by Virginia in

1784, it will be seen that it was three years later before Congress agreed upon a plan of

government. The subject was one of serious and earnest discussion at various times. At
one time a motion prevailed to strike from the proposed plan the prohibition of slavery.

Another proposition, was agreed to by which the territory was to be divided into Slates

by parallels and meridian lines, making ten States which were to be named us follows :

Sylvania, Michigaiiii, Chersonesus, Assenisipia, Metropotamia, lllenoia, Saratoga, Wash-
ington, Polypotamia and Pelisipia. When this plan was submitted to the legislatures of

the States there were serious objections made, especially by Massachusetts and Virginia.
There were objections to the category of names, but the chief difficulty was the resolu-

tion of Congress of October 10th, 1780; which fixed the extent of each State at not less

than one hundred nor more than one hundred and fifty miles square, or as near thereto
as circumstances iriight admit. So the subject was again taken up in 1786, and discussed
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during that year and until July 12tli, 1787, when the ordinance finally passed, as stated
above.

An act of territorial organization was approved August 7th, 1789. Gen. Arthur St.

Clair was appointed Governor, and William H. Harrison Secretary. In 1788 a town had
been laid out by John Cleves Symmes at Fort Washington, and was named Losantiville,

but afterward Cincinnati. The place was settled by persons from the New England States

and from New Jersey, but did not extensively improve until after Gen. Wayne's defeat

of the Indians in 1794. This became the seat of the new territorial government. The
election of representatives for the territory was held February 4th, 1799. As required
by the ordinance of 1787, these representatives met at the seat of the territorial govern-
ment to nominate ten persons, out of which Congress was to appoint five to serve as the
territorial council. The following persons were commissioned : Henry Vandenburg, of

Vincennes ; Robert Oliver, of Marietta ; James Findlay and Jacob Burnett, of Cincin-

nati, and David Vance, of Vanceville. The first Territorial Legislature met September
16th, 1799, and on the 24th both houses were duly organized, Henry Vandenburg being
elected president of the council. On the 13th of October the legislature elected Wm.
Henry Harrison as a delegate to Congress. He received eleven of the votes cast, being
a majority of one over his opponent, Arthur St. Clair, son of the Governor. At this ses-

sion thirty-seven acts were passed and approved. Eleven other acts were passed which
the Governor vetoed. The greater part of the legislation of , the session related to the
organization of the militia and to revenue matters. The session closed December 19th,

1799. President Adams appointed Charles Willing Bryd as secretary of the territory to

succeed WiUiam Henry Harrison, elected to Congress, and the senate confirmed the nomi-
nation. James N. Varnum, S. H. Parsons and John Armstrong were appointed to the judi-

cial bench of the territory in October, 1787.
Having briefly outlined the legislation which resulted in the formation of a territo-

rial government, we return to notice, some of the earlier American settlements in the
territory. As elsewhere stated, a few French settlements had been made by emigrants
from Canada and Louisiana, on the Ohio river and in the region known as the Illinois

country, but it was not until after the Virginia cession that any permanent American set-

tlements were made. Then several treaties were made with the Indians, in which they
relinquished their title to large portions of the^erritory. The government made several

large grants to companies and individuals, for the purpose of colonizing the country. One
of these was to a company from Massachusetts and Connecticut, called the New England
Company, of a tract lying along the Ohio and Muskingum rivers, embracing 1,500,000

acres. Here the town of Marietta was laid out, in August, 1787, at the confluence of the

Muskingum and Ohio rivers. Fort Harmar was built on the opposite, or west bank of the

Muskingum, the year before. The New England Company sent its first party of settlers

in the Spring of 1788. They consisted of eight families, and some other persons, and all

under the superintendency of Gen. Rufus Putnam. The party, after a long and weary
journey over the AUeghanies, and down the Ohio, arrived at Marietta on the 7th of

April, 1788. This little band had the honor of being the pioneers of Ohio, unless the

Moravian missionaries may be so regarded. The settlement was first known as the " Mus-
kingum," but on the 2d day of July, 1788, at a meeting of the directors and agents

of the company, the name was changed to Marietta, in honor of Marie Antoinette.

In 1786, John Cleves Symmes, of New Jersey, visited the country between the
Miamies, and being pleased with its appearance, made application to the government for

the purchase of a large tract of land, to be settled on similar conditions with those of the

New England Company. The grant was made to Symmes and his associates the follow-

ing year. Associated with Symmes, was Matthias Denman, also of New Jersey, who
located, among other tracts in the Symmes purchase, the section upon which Cincinnati

was laid out. Denman sold to Robert Patterson and John Filson, each one-third of his
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location, retaining the other third himself. In August, 1788, they laid out the first por-

tion of what, in a few years, became one of the great cities of the West. Fort Washing-,

ton was erected here in 1790, and was for some time the headquarters of both the. civil

and military governments of the Northwestern Territory. There were but few settlers

here until after 1794, when settlers began to arrive rapidly. In July, 1815, the popula-

tion was 6,500.

In October, 1795, the treaty was signed between the United States and Spain, which

secured to the former the free navigation of the Mississippi. After this the Northwest
began to settle rapidly. During the next year settlements were made at various points

along the Miami and Scioto rivers, including those at Piqua and Chillicothe. In Septem-
ber, of the same year, the city of Cleveland was laid out.

The great extent of the Northwestern Territory, and the rapid increase of population

at the beginning of the new century, began to render the efficient action of the courts

impossible ; and to remedy this evil a division of the Territory was proposed. A com-
mittee in Congress, to whom the matter had been referred, on the 3d of March, 1800,

reported in favor of two distinct territorial governments, and that the division be made
by a line beginning at the mouth of the Great Miami river, and running directly to the

boundary line between the United States and Canada. The report was accepted, and an
act passed, which was approved May 7th, of the same year, making the division. It pro-

vided, among other things, that from and after the next 4th day of July, " all that part of the

territory of the United States northwest of the Ohio river, which lies to the northward
of a line beginning at a point on the Ohio, opposite to the mouth of the Kentucky river,

and running thence to Fort Recovery, and thence north until it shall intersect the terri-

torial line between the United States and Canada, shall, for the purpose of temporary
government, constitute a separate territory, and be called the Indiana Territory." The
same act provided, that until the Legislatures of the Territories, respectively, otherwise
ordered, Chillicothe, on the Scioto river, should be the seat of government of the Terri-

tory east of the line of division ; and that Vincennes, on the Wabash river, should be the
seat of government of the Indiana Territory. On the 3d of November, of that year, the
Territorial Legislature met at Chillicothe. William Henry Harrison was appointed Gov-
ernor of Indiana Territory, and entered upon his duties in 1801. The new Territory then
embraced all that region now comprising' the States of Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Wis-
consin, and that part of Minnesota east of the Mississippi river. Nearly the whole of it

was at that time in the possession of the Indians. Soon after the arrival of Governor
Harrison at Vincennes, he concluded several treaties with the Indians, whereby large

grants of land were obtained from the various tribes. By a treaty made at St. Louis,
August 18th, 1804, he obtained a relinquishment of Indian title to over 51,000,000 of
acres. The year before, the government had obtained Louisiana from France, by pur-
chase, and that being divided, the " District of Louisiana " (the " New Northwest ") was
annexed to Indiana Territory, thus extending Gov. Harrison's authority over a vast domain,
occupied chiefly by savage tribes.

By an act of Congress, of January 11th, 1805, Indiana Territory was divided into two
separate governments, and the new Territory of Michigan formed. William Hull was
appointed Governor of the new Territory, and Detroit was designated as the seat of gov-
ernment. On the 30th of June the Territorial government of Michigan was to go into
operation. When Gov. Hull, and the other Territorial officers, reached Detroit, they
found the place in ruins and the inhabitants scattered. On the 11th of that month a fire

had destroyed almost every building in the place. Gov. Hull adopted a new plan
for rebuilding the town, and in population and importance it soon regained all it had
lost by the fire.

Other changes were subsequently made in the boundaries of the Western Territories,
as new States were from time to time admitted into the Union, until finally, all that vast
domain originally designated as the " Northwestern Territory " became sovereign States.
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CHAPTER lY.

THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE.

Discovery of the Mouth of the Mississippi— Founding of New Orleans— French Grant— John Law— The " Mis-
sissippi Bubble"— Territory West of the Mississippi— France Cedes to Spain— Spain Cedes Back to France—
France Cedes to the United States— Right to Navigate the Mississippi— Particulars of the Negotiations With
France— Extent of the Territory— Possession Taken by the United States— Division of the Territory.

That vast region of territory once known as Louisiana, came under the jurisdiction

of civilized men by the right of discovery— a right which has long been known and
recognized among civilized nations, though often necessarily followed by conquest to ren-

der it effective. For two centuries the Spaniards had navigated the Gulf of Mexico, so

far as we know, ignorant of the fact that it received the waters of one of the largest

rivers of the world. About the year 16G0 the French, who had re-established them-
selves in Canada, received some information of this great river, but did not discover

its mouth until 1691, when, according to some authorities. La Salle succeeded in reach-
ing it. Iberville founded his first colony in 1699, but it did not assume importance until

1717, when the city of New Orleans was founded. In 1712 Louis XIV of France granted
to M. Crozart a charter to the whole territory of Louisiana, which was so named in honor
of the king. Under the leadership of John Law, in 1716, a company was formed in Paris and
incorporated as the " Mississippi Company," which purchased Louisiana from the crown.
The financial disasters in France caused by Law brought about the failure of his Missis-

sippi scheme, and the explosion of what is known in history as the " Mississippi bubble."
Louisiana was then resumed by the crown, and the commerce of the Mississippi was
declared free. The French retained possession until 1762, when they ceded it to Spain,
incruding the whole country to the head waters of the great river and west to the Rocky
Mountains. The jurisdiction of France, which had continued for nearly a century, thus
ended, until in 1800 Bonaparte, then first consul, induced the Spanish government to

cede it back to France. During the time that Louisiana remained a Spanish dependency,
that government claimed the exclusive right of navigating the Mississippi river. The
free navigation of that river was essential to the prosperity and commerce of the United
States. Spain then having jurisdiction also over the Floridas east of the great river, and,

that river for several hundred miles flowing wholly through the Spanish diminions, the
question of its navigation south of the southern boundary of the United States became
a serious one to our government and people. The people in the western part of the

United States especially demanded the free navigation of the river as a right. But
Spanish military posts enforced the collection of duties on imports by way of the river

for the upper region. Boats descending were forced to submit to revenue exactions by
Spanish authbiities. These exactions were a constant source ot trouble and disaffection,

and led to a threatening state of affairs between the United States and Spain. Spain,

however, by the treaty of Madrid, October 20, 1795, conceded to the United States the

free navigation of the river from its source to the Gulf, and also the free use of the port

of New Orleans for three years as a port of deposit.

The treaty of Madrid, however, did not quiet all troubles between the United States

and Spain. In 1802, during the administration of President Jefferson, there was some
apprehension of a war growing out of the continued disputes respecting the southwestern
boundary. These disputes had led to many difficulties between the people of the United

States and the Spanish autho^ilves. These affairs, however, assumed a new aspect, when.
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in the Spring of 1802 the Government of the United States received intelligence that,

by a secret treaty made in October, 1800, Spain had ceded Louisiana to France. At this

time Mr. Livingston was the United States Minister to France, and President Jefferson,

soon after learning of the Spanish cession to France, wrote to Mr. Livingston in refer-

ence to acquiring the right to deposit at the port of New Orleans, and other matters

which had been in dispute between the United States and Spain. In his annual message

to Congress, in December of the same year, the President alluded to the subject of the

Spanish cession to France. Congress passed resolutions asserting the right of navigating

the Mississippi, and insisting upon the right to the use of a port or a place of deposit.

At that time it was understood in the United States that the Spanish cession to France
included the Floridas, which, however, was not the case. The policy of the President

was to enter into a treaty with France for the purchase of New Orleans and the Floridas,

and with this view, on the 10th of January, 1803, he appointed James Monroe minister

plenipotentiary to France to act in conjunction with Mr. Livingston. Mr. Monroe's
nomination was confirmed by the Senate. The instructions to the American ministers

only asked for the cession of the city of New Orleans and the Floridas, together with
the free navigation of the Mississippi. The cession at this time of the entire Territory

of Louisiana was not a subject of discussion. Mr. Monroe sailed from New York March
8, 1803, and arrived in Paris April 1.

Bonaparte was then first consul, and France was on the eve of a war with England.
He supposed the American ministers were authorized to enter into more extended stipu-

lations than they really were. Marquis de Marbois was directed to negotiate with the

American ministers. Said the first consul to his minister, as recorded by the latter

:

" Irresolution and deliberation are no longer in season. I renounce Louisiana. It

is not only New Orleans that I will cede ; it is the whole colony, without any reserva-

tion. I know the price of what I abandon, and I have sufficiently proved the importance
that I attach to this province, since my first diplomatic act with Spain had for its object

the recovery of it. I renounce it with the greatest regret. To attempt to retain it

would be folly. I direct you to negotiate this affair with' the envoys of the United States.

Do not even await the arrival of Mr. Monroe ; have an interview this day with Mr.
Livingston. But I require a great deal ,of money for this war, and I would not like to

commence with new contributions. If I should regulate my terms, according to the
value of these vast regions to the United States, the indemnity would have no limits.

I will be moderate, in consideration of the necessity in which I am of making a sale.

But keep this to yourself. I want fifty millions francs, and for less than that sum I will

not treat ; I would rather make a desperate attempt to keep those fine countries. To-
morrow you shall have full powers. Mr. Monroe is on the point of arriving. To this
minister the President must have given secret instructions, more extensive than the
ostensible authorization of Congress, for the stipulation of the payments to be made.
Neither this minister nor his colleague is prepared for a decision which goes infinitely
beyond any thing that they are about to ask of us. Begin by making them the overture
without any subterfuge. You will acquaint me, day by day, hour by hour, of your
progress. The cabinet of London is informed of the measures adopted at Washington,
but it can have no suspicion of those which I am now taking. Observe the greatest
secrecy, and recommend it to the American ministers ; they have not a less interest than
yourself in conforming to this counsel. You will correspond with M. de Talleyrand,
who alone knows my intentions. If I attended to his advice, France would confine her
ambition to the left bank of the Rhine, and would only make war to protect any dismem-
berment of her possessions. But he also admits that the cession of Louisiana; is not a
dismemberment of France. Keep him informed of the progress of this affair."

On the same day that Napoleon thus confided to Marbois his determination, confer-
ences began between the latter and Mr. Livingston. The American minister had been
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in Paris about two years, endeavoring to obtain indemnities claimed by American
citizens for prizes made by the French during peace, but so far, without result further
than vague answers. Mr. Livingston had become distrustful of the French government,
and feared the Louisiana overtures were but an artifice to gain still further time. Soon
after these preliminary discussions were entered upon, Mr. Monroe arrived in Paris, and
the next day began his conferences with Marbois. Rapid progress was made in the
negotiations, for both sides had an interest in hastening the matter. Mr. Monroe was
surprised to hear the first overtures made so frankly by the French minister, when he
proposed to cede to the United States so vast a region of country, with the largest rivers

in the world, instead of merely a town and an inconsiderable extent of territory. The
offer embraced infinitely more than the American ministers were empowered to ask for,

or accept. Their powers only extended to an arrangement respecting the left bank of

the Mississippi, including New Orleans. But the moment was a critical one with France,
hostilities being about to commence with England. There was not time for further in-

structions from the government of the United States before the opportunity would pass,

perhaps forever. The American ministers therefore assumed the responsibility of treat-

ing for the purchase of the entire colony, or territory of Louisiana— an extent of country
sufficient in itself for an empire. The terms were soon agreed upon. The United States

was to pay for this vast acquisition the sum of fifteen millions of dollars. In the treaty

of October 1, 1800, between France and Spain, the latter had reserved the right of

preference in case France should cede this territory to another power ; but here again

France could not afford to wait. The treaty was concluded and subsequently submitted

to the Spanish cabinet. They complained that no regard had been paid to their reserved

right, and for almost a year that court delayed its approbation of the treaty. On the

10th of February, 1804, however, Don Pedro Cavallos, the Spanish minister, wrote to

Mr. Pinckney, the American minister, that " His Catholic Majesty had thought fit to re-

nounce his opposition to the alienation of Louisiana made by France, notwithstanding

the solid reasons on which it is founded, thereby giving a new proof of his benevolence

and friendship to the United States.'' The important treaty that gave to the United
States this vast region, with all its wonderful resources, was concluded on the 30th of

April, 1803, and four days later the instruments, in French and English, were signed by
the ministers. After affixing their signatures, the ministers rose and shook hands, each

expressing his satisfaction with the result. Mr. Livingston said :
" We have lived long,

but' this is the noblest work of our whole lives. The treaty which we have just signed

has not been obtained by art, or dictated by force ; equally advantageous to the two con-

tracting parties, it will change vast solitudes into flourishing districts. From this day
the United States take their place among the powers of the first rank ; the English lose

all exclusive influence in the affairs of America."

The first consul, who had followed the negotiation with a lively interest, acquiesced

in the result, and said to Marbois : " It is true, the negotiation does not leave me any-

thing to desire. Sixty millions [francs] for an occupation that will not, perhaps, last for

a day ! I would that France should enjoy this unexpected capital, and that it may be

employed in works beneficial to the marine. This accession of territory strengthens for-

ever the power of the United States ; and I have just given to England a maritime rival

that will sooner or later humble her pride."

On the 22d day of May, 1803, England commenced hostilities against France by the

capture of some of her merchant vessels, and on the same day Bonaparte gave his formal

ratification of the Louisiana treaty of cession. In July the treaty was received in the

United States, and on the 20th of October, 1803, it was ratified by the Senate, by twenty-

four against seven votes. The country ceded by this treaty, as estimated at that time,

exceeded a million of square miles, all occupied by savages, except a few sparse settle-

ments, aggregating from 80,000 to 90,000 inhabitants, about 40,000 of whom were slaves.
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The whites were chiefly French or descendants of French. Congress, a few days after

the ratification of the treaty by the Senate, passed an act making provision for the occu-

pation and temporary government of the territory acquired. Eleven millions of dollars

were appropriated as payment for the purchase—the remaining four millions being re-

served, according to a stipulation in the treaty, to indemnify citizens of the United States

who had sustained losses at the hands of the French. The resolution for carrying the

treaty into effect was sustained by the House of Representatives by a vote of ninety to

twenty-five.

Even before the acquisition of Louisiana, it had been a favorite object of President

Jefferson to have an exploring expedition sent across the continent to the Pacific Ocean,

and in January, 1803, he had recommended an appropriation for that purpose. The ap-

propriation was made, and the enterprise was placed under the direction of Captains

Lewis and Clarke. The treaty with France, however, was ratified before the exploring

expedition was ready to start. On the 14th of May, 1804, Captains Lewis and Clarke,

with their companions, consisting in all of thirty persons, left the banks of the Mississippi

on their long and perilous voyage of two years and three months, to seek out and give

to their country and the world some more accurate knowledge respecting this vast region

of country, of which civilization at that time knew so little. The expedition was in

every way successful, and the report made by Captains Lewis and Clarke enabled the

government and people of the United States to form a better judgment of the immense
value of the country acquired.

It will be seen that the region acquired by the Louisiana purchase, comprehended
not only the present State of Louisiana, but all the vast region between the Mississippi

river and the Pacific Ocean, and as far north as the British possessions. The great States

of Arkansas, Missouri, Iowa, Nebraska, Kansas, the greater part of Minnesota, and sev-

eral of our great Territories, are but parts of this purchase.

On the 20th of December, 1803, in pursuance of authority given by act of Congress,

Gov. Claiborne and Gen. Wilkinson took possession of the Louisiana purchase, and raised

the American flag at New Orleans. The Spanish authorities there objected to the trans-

fer, but early in 1804 they acquiesced and withdrew. The newly acquired territory, by
authority of Congress, was, on the first of October, 1804, divided as follows : All south
of the 33d parallel of north latitude, was called the Territory of Orleans, and all north
of that parallel became the District of Louisiana, and was placed under the authority of
the officers of the then Indiana Territory. It so remained until July 4, 1805, when the
District of Louisiana was given a territorial government of its own. In 1812, the Ter-
ritory of New Orleans became the State of Louisiana, and the Territory of Louisiana be-
came the Territory of Missouri. On the 4th of July, 1814, Missouri Territory was
divided—^that part comprising the present State of Arkansas, and the country west, being
organized as the Territory of Arkansas. In March, 1821, a part of Missouri Territory
was organized as the State of Missouri, and admitted into the Union. On the 28th of
June, 1834, the territory west of the Mississippi river and north of Missouri, was made
a part of the Territory of Michigan, so remaining until July 4, 1836, when Wisconsin
Territory was organized. This embraced within its limits the present States of Iowa,
Wisconsin, and Minnesota. An act of Congress, approved June 12, 1838, created the
Territory of Iowa, embracing not only the present State of Iowa, but the greater part of
the present State of Minnesota, and extending northward to the British possessions.
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CHAPTER Y.

EXPEDITION OF LEWIS AND CLARKE.

Organization of Exploring Party— Departure— Osage Indians— Strange Tradition of the Origin of the Osage
Nation — The Missouris — Old French Fort — Artificial Moands— The Ottoes and Pawnees — Indian
Graves— The Ayauway Indians— Council With Indians at Council Bluffs— Little Sioux River— Death of Ser-

geant Floyd— Great Sioux River— Red Pipestone Quarries— Buffalo and Other Animals— Mountain of the
Little Spirits — Council With the Sioux — Indian Idols— The Mandans — Winter Quarters— White and
Brown Bears— Antelopes— Black Hills— First View of Rocky Mountains — Natural Scenery— The Great
Falls of the Missouri— Shoshones— Sources of the Missouri— Columbia River— The Tushepaws— Short of
Provisions — Pierced - Nose Indians — Down Lewis River — The Sokulks — Great Falls of the Colum-
bia — The Echeloots— Wooden Houses— Fingers as War Trophies — Sight of the Pacific— Fort Clat-

sop— Return— Arrival at St. Louis. <

In January, 1803, President Jefferson, in a confidential message to Congress in regard

to Indian affairs, took occasion to recommend, among other things, the organization of a

party to trace the Missouri river to its source, and thence proceed to the Pacific ocean.

The recommendation was favorably considered, and Oapt. Merriwether Lewis, was, on
his own application, appointed to take charge of the expedition. Wm. Clarke was sub-

sequently associated with him, so that this celebrated expedition is known in our history

as that of Lewis and Clarke. The incidents of this long, tedious, and romantic journey
are worthy to be related as among the most interesting in the annals of American adven-
ture. At that time all that vast region bordering on the Upper Missouri and its tribu-

taries, as well as the regions bordering on the Pacific, were unknown and unexplored by
white men. By the latter part of the year 1803, the party comprising the expedition was
made up and ready to start. The highest settlement of whites on the Missouri river at

that time was at a place called La Charrette, sixty-eight miles above the mouth. At this

place it had been the design of Capt. Lewis to winter, but the Spanish authorities of

Louisiana had not yet received official information of the transfer of the country to the

United States. For this reason the party remained in Winter quarters at the mouth of

Wood river, on the east side of the Mississippi.

Besides Captains Lewis and Clarke, the party was made up of nine young men from

Kentucky, twelve soldiers of the regular army, two Frenchmen as watermen and inter-

preters, and a colored servant belonging to Captain Clarke— twenty-six persons in all.

A corporal, six soldiers and nine watermen, in addition to the above, were engaged to

accompany the expedition as far as the country of the Mandans, as there was some appre-

hension of attacks by the Indians between Wood river and that tribe.

Three boats were provided for the expedition. The largest was a keel-boat, fifty-

five feet long, drawing three feet of water, carrying one large square sail, and
twenty-two oars. The other two were open boats, one of six, and the other of

seven oars.

The expedition started from the encampment at the mouth of Wood river, on Mon-
day, May 14, 1804. Captain Lewis, who was at that time in St. Louis, joined the expe-

dition at St. Charles, twenty-one miles up the Missouri, which place they reached on the

16th. Here they remained until the 21st, when they proceeded on their voyage, reach-

ing La Charrette, the last white settlement, on the evening of the 25th. The village

consisted of but seven poor families. On the Ist of June they arrived at the mouth of

the Osage, one hundred and thirty-three miles on their journey. The country bordering

on this river was inhabited by a tribe known as the.Ofege Indians. They had a remarka-
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ble tradition among them as to the origin of their nation. They believed that its founder

was a snail passing a quiet existence along the banks of the Osage, till a flood swept him
down to the Missouri and there left him exposed on the shore. By the lieat of the sun

he was changed to a man. The change, however, did not cause him to fojj'get his native

place away up on the banks of the Osage, and he immediately sought his old home. Be-

ing overtaken with hunger and fatigue, the Great Spirit appeared, gave him a bow and
arrow, and taught him to kill deer and prepare its flesh for food and its skin for clothing.

When he arrived at his original place of residence he was met by a beaver, who inquired

who he was, and by what authority he came to disturb his possession. The Osage replied

that he had once lived on the borders of that river, and that it was his own home. While
they were disputing, the daughter of the beaver appeared, and entreated her father to be

reconciled to the young stranger. The father yielded to her entreaties, and the Osage
soon married the beaver's daughter. They lived happily on the banks of the Osage, and
from them soon came the villages and nation of the Osages. Ever since, they entertained

a pious reverence for their ancestors, never killing a beaver, foE by so doing they would
slay a brother. It has been observed, however, that after the opening of the fur trade

with the whites, the sanctity of their maternal relations was very much reduced.

The next tribe mentioned by the explorers was that of the Missouris, once a power-
ful nation, but then reduced to about thirty families. They finally united with the Osages
and the Ottoes, and as a separate nation became extinct. The Sauks, Ayauways (lowas),
and the Sioux are mentioned as being the enemies of the Osages, and as making frequent

excursions against them. On the 26th of June they arrived at the mouth of the Kansas,
340 miles from the Mississippi, where they remained two days for rest and repairs. Here
resided the tribe of Indians of the same name, and had two villages not far from the mouth
of the river. This tiibe, at that time, had been reduced by the Sauks and Ayauways to

only, about three hundred men. The party, at this stage of the journey, saw numerous buffalo

on the prairies. On the 2d of July the party passed Bear Medicine Island, near which
were the remains of an old fort, built by the French, the ruins of the chimneys and the
general outline of the fortification being visible. On the 8th of July they reached the
mouth of the Nodawa. The river is mentioned as navigable for boats some distance. On
the 11th they landed at the mouth of the Nemahaw. Mention is made of several artifi-

cial mounds on the Nemahaw, about two miles up the stream, at the mouth of a small
creek. From the top of the highest mound there was a fine view of the country. On the
14th they passed the Nishnahbatona river, finding it to be only three hundred yards from
the Missoiiri at a distance of twelve miles from its mouth. Platte river and other streams,
both in Iowa and Nebraska, are mentioned and the country described with great accu-
racy. Along in this part of the country were the first elk they had seen.

On the 22d of 'July the explorers encamped on the north (Iowa) side of the river,

ten miles above the mouth of the Platte river, to make observations and to hold an inter-
view with the neighboring tribes. They remained here in camp until the 27th. Among
the streams mentioned in this vicinity are the Papillon, Butterfly Creek and Mosoheto
Creek, the last named being a small stream near Council Bluffs. In mentioning them we
use the orthography of the explorers, which in some instances differs from that now in
use. The Indians who occupied the country about the mouth of Platte river at this time
were the Ottoes and Pawneies. The Ottoes were much reduced, and formerly lived about
twenty miles above the Platte on the Nebraska side of the river. They lived at this tinie
under the protection of the Pawnees. The latteir were also much dispersed and broken.
One band of the nation formerly lived on the Republican branch of the Kanzas river. An-
other band were the Pawnee Loups, or Wolf Pawnees, who resided on the Wolf fork of
the Platte. Another band originally resided on the Kanzas and Arkansaw, but in their
wars with the Osages they were often defeated, and retired to the Red river. Various
other tribes living further west, are mentioned. On the 27th they continued their jour-'
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ney, and about ten leagues from their encampment, on the south (l^ebraska) side of the
river, they saw and examined a curious collection of graves, or mounds. They were of
different heights, shapes and sizes. Some were of sand, and others of both earth and
sand. They were supposed to indicate the position of the ancient village of the Ottoes
before they retired to the protection of the Pawnees. On the 29th they passed the spot
where the Ayauway Indians, a branch of the Ottoes, once lived, and who had emigrated
from that place to the Des Moines. Mention is here made of an interview with one of the
Missouri Indians who lived with the Ottoes, and the resemblance of his language to that

of the Osages, particularly in calling a chief inoa.

On the 30th of July the party encamped on the south (Nebraska) side of the river.

At that place next to the river was a plain, and back of it a wooded ridge, rising about
seventy feet above the plain. At the edge of this ridge they formed their camp, and
sent an invitation to the Indians to meet them'. From the bluffs at this point they men-
tion a most beautiful view of the river and adjoining country. The latitude of the camp
was determined by observation to be 41 degrees 18 minutes and 14 seconds. The mes-
senger sent to invite the Ottoes returned on the evening of the 2d of August, with four-

teen Ottoe and Missouri Indians, accompanied by a Frenchman who resided among them,
and who acted as interpreter. Lewis and Clarke made them presients of pork, flour and
meal, and the Indians returned presents of watermelons. The next morning (Aug. 3d)
a council was held with the six chiefs who were of the party of Indians ; they were told

of the change in the government, and promised protection and advised as to their future

conduct. All the chiefs expressed their joy at the dhange in the government, and wished
to be recommended to the Great Father (the President) that they might obtain trade

and necessaries. They asked the mediation of the Great Father between them and the
Mahas (Omahas), with whom they were then at war. At the conclusion of the

councU medals and other presents were given to the chiefs, and also some presents to the

other Indians who were with them. The grand chief of the Ottoes was not present,

but to him was sent a flag, a medal, and some ornaments for clothing. The explorers

gave to the place where this council was held the name of Council Bluffs. The reader
will remember, however, that it was above the present city of Council Bluffs, Iowa, and
was on the Nebraska side of the river.

On the afternoon of the 3d of August they resumed their journey, and on the 7th'

arrived at the mouth of a river on the north side, called by the Sioux Indians, Eaneah-
wadepon (Stone river), and by the French, Petite Riviere des Sioux, or in English, Little

Sioux river. The explorers were informed by their interpreter (M. Durion) that this

river rises within about nine miles of the Des Moines ; that within fifteen leagues of that

river it passes through a large lake, nearlj' sixty miles in circumference, and divided into

two parts by rocks, which approach each other very closely. Its width is various; it

contains many islands, and is known by the name of Lae d' Usprit—Spait Lake. The
country watered by it is open and- undulating, and may be visited in boats up the river

for some distance. The intrepreter further added that the Des Moines was about eighty

yards wide where the Little Sioux approaches it; that it was shoally, and that one of its

principal branches was called Cat river. The interpreter claimed to have been to the

sources of the Little SioU^, and those who are familiar with the country about Spirit

Lake, will concede that he described it quite acouTately. The explorers speak of a

long island two miles above the inouth of the Little Sioux, which they named Pelican

island, from the large nuiflber of pelicans which were feeding on it, one of which they

killed. They also killed' an 'elk. On the lOth they passed the first highland near the

river, after leaving their encampm'eut at Council Bluffs. Not far from this, on a high

bluff, was the grave of Blackbird, one of the great chiefs of the Mahas, who had died of

small-pox four years before;"-" The grave was marked by a mound twelve feet in diametsr:

at'thfe base, and'iix feet lugh, andwas on an elevation about, 300 f^et above the lyater.
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In the center of the grave was a pole eight feet high. Near this the Mahas had a vil-

lage, and lost four hundred men of their nation, and a like proportion of women and
children by the small-pox at the time that Blackbird died. After this dreadful scourge

they burned their village, which had consisted of three hundred cabins. On a hill at the

rear of the place where the village stood were the graves of the nation. On the even-

ing of the 18th the explorers were again visited at their camp by a party of Ottoes and
Missouris, who entertained them with a dance. The professed object of their visit was
to ask intercession for promoting peace between them and the Mahas, but probably the

real object was to share a portion of the strangers' provisions and liquors.

The next day, August 20th, after passing a couple of islands, they landed on the

north side of the river, under some bluffs—the first near the river on that side after

leaving the Ayauway village. It was here that the party had the misfortune to lose one
of their men—Sergeant Charles Floyd. He had the day before been seized with a bil-

ious colic. Before his death he said to Captain Clarke, " I am going to leave you ; I

want you to write me a letter." Soon after making this request the brave soldier passed
away. He was buried on the top of the bluff, with honors due to a soldier. The place

of his interment was marked by a cedar post, on which his name and the day of his death
were inscribed. About a mile further up on, the same side of the Missouri, they came to

a small river, to which they gave the name of Floyd river, in honor of their deceased
companion. The place of the burial of Sergeant Floyd was but a short distance below
where Sioux City now stands. During a great freshet in the Spring of 1857, the Mis-
souri river washed away a portion of the bluff, exposing the remains of the soldier. The
citizens of Sioux City and vicinity repaired to the place, and with appropriate cere-

monies, reinterred them some distance back from the river on the same bluff. The same
cedar post planted by his companions over his grave on that Summer day more than half

a century before, remained to mark the place of interment up to 1857, although during
nearly all this time the country had been inhabited only by savages.

On the 21st of August the expedition passed the site where Sioux City now stands,

and noted in their journal the confluence of the Great Sioux river with the Missouri.
From their interpreter, M. Durion, they received an account of the Great Sioux river.

He stated that it was navigable for more than two hundred miles, to the great falls, and
even beyond them. The reader will remember that this was before the time of steam-
boats on western waters. He mentioned a creek that emptied into the Great Sioux be-
low the falls, which passed through cliffs of red rock, out of which the Indians made
their pipes ; that the necessity for procuring that article had caused the introduction of
a law among the nations, by which the banks of that creek were held to be sacred, and
even tribes at war met at the quarries without hostility. These were what are now
known as the " Red Pipestone Quarries," in southwestern Minnesota.

A few miles above the mouth of the Great Sioux, on the north, or Dakota side of
the river, they killed a buffalo, a deer and a beaver. They also saw some elk. The
place where the buffalo was killed they described as a beautiful prairie, and gave it the
name of Buffalo Prairie. They mention on the south side of the river, a bluff of blue
clay, rising to the height of 180 or 190 feet. Several miles from this, on the south side
of the river. Captains Lewis and Clarke, with ten of their men, went to see a mound
regarded with great terror by the Indians, and called by them the Mountain of the Little
Spirits. They believed it was the abode of little devils in human form, eighteen inches
high, and having large heads ; that they had sharp arrows, and were always on the watch
to kill those who might approach their place of residence. The Sioux, Mahas and Ottoes
never would visit the hill or mound for fear of the vengeance of the Little Spirits. The
mound, though extraordinary in its formation, they did not re^gard as artificial. From its

top they could see large herds of buffalo feeding at a distance.

On the 26th they passed the mouth of Yankton river, and, on landing, were met by
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several Indians, who informed them that a large body of Sioux were encamped near.

On the 30th and 31st they held a council with the Sioux, and smoked with them the pipe
of peace. The Indians exhibited their skill in dancing and various other amusements to
entertain their visitors. These Indians were the Yankton tribe of the Sioux nation.

Their grand chief was We-u-cha, or, in English, Shake Hand. Speeches were made
and presents exchanged.

On the 1st of September the explorers passed Calumet Bluffs, and the next day
Bonhomme Island, near which they visited some ancient earth-works, or fortifications,

on the south, or Nebraska, side of the Missouri. They made a minute and careful exam-
ination of these works. They embraced nearly five hundred acres. A day or two after,

on a hill to the south, near Cedar Island, they discovered the backbone of a fish, 45 feet

long, in a perfect state of petrifaction.

After several conferences with different tribes, and observations in regard to the

country, its formation, and the different animals seen, on the 13th of October, they
reached a small stream on the north side, to which they gave the name of Idol Creek.
Near its mouth were two stones resembling human figures, and a third like a dog. These
were objects of great veneration among the Ricaras (Rioarees), who occupied the

country in that vicinity. They had a legend that a young brave was deeply enamored
with a girl whose parents refused their consent to the marriage. The young brave went
out into the fields to mourn his misfortunes, and a sympathy of feeling led the lady to

the same spot. The faithful dog would not cease to follow his master. The lovers wan-
dered away together with nothing to subsist on but grapes, and they were at last changed
into stone, with the lady holding in her hands a bunch of grapes. When the Ricaras

pass these sacred stones, they stop to make offerings of dress to propitiate the deities, as

they regard them. Such was the account given to Lewis and Clarke, by the Ricara
chief. As they found here a great abundance of fine grapes, they regarded one part of

the story as very agreeably confirmed.

On the 19th they reached the ruins of one of the Mandan villages. It had been for-

tified. This, they were informed by the Ricara chief, was one of several villages once

occupied by the Mandans until the Sioux forced them forty miles higher up the river.

In this vicinity they counted no less than fifty-two herds of buffalo, and three herds of

elk, at a single view.

About the first of November, 1804, the expedition reached the country of the Man-
dans, where they went into Winter quarters. These Indians had raised considerable

corn, some of which they presented to the party. During the Winter they obtained

a great deal of information in regard to the history, traditions, and manners and customs,

not only of this peculiar and remarkable nation, but of other tribes. Their huts, or

cabins, were all completed by the 20th of the month, and the place was named Fort

Mandan. It was on the north side of the Missouri, in a grove of cottonwood. The
place, as ascertained by observation, was in latitude 47 deg., 21 min. and 47 sec, and the

computed distance from the mouth of the Missouri was 1,600 miles. During the Winter
they were visited by a great many Indians of the Mandan and other tribes. A few French
and traders of the Northwest Fur Company also visited them.

The party remained at Fort Mandan until April 7, 1806, when they resumed their

journey. There were then thirty-two persons in the expedition, some of the party having

returned to St. Louis. In this portion of the country they began to see numbers of

white bear, antelope, and other animals, which they had not seen lower down on the

river. On the 12th they arrived at the mouth of the Little Missouri, near which they
found large quantities of small onions, about the size of a bullet, of an oval form and
white. The next day they passed a small stream to which they gave, the name of Onion
Creek, from thegreat abundance of that vegetable growing near it. Along this part of

the Missouri were large numbers of bald eagles, and also many geese and brant. Numer-
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ous deserted Indian lodges were noticed, which they supposed to have belonged to the

Assiniboins, as there were the remains of small kegs. That tribe was the only one in

this region that then used spirituous liquors. They obtained it from the traders of the

Hudson Bay Company, bartering their furs for it. Here many plants and aromatic herbs

are mentioned, and some resembling in taste and smell, sage, hyssop, wormwood and
juniper. On the 26th they camped at the mouth of the Yellowstone, where game of

various kinds was very abundant. Frequent mention is made of the burned hills along

that part of the Missouri for some distance above and below the Yellowstone. Among
the animals killed by the hunters of the expedition in this part of the voyage were sev-

eral brown bears. On the evening of the 14th of May the men in one of the canoes

discovered a large brown bear lying in the open grounds about three hundred yards from
the river. Six of them, all good hunters, went to attack him, and, concealing them-
selves by a small eminence, four of theni fired at a distance of about forty paces. Each
of them lodged a ball in the bear's body, two of them directly through the lungs. The
animal sprang up and ran open-mouthed toward them. As he came near, the two
hunters who had reserved their fire, gave him two more wounds, one of which, breaking

his shoulder, retarded his motion for a moment. Before they could re-load he was so

near upon them that they were obliged to run to the river, the bear almost overtaking

them. Two of the men sprang into the canoe, and the others concealed themselves in

some willows and fired as fast as they could re-load, striking him several times. The
shots seemed only to direct him toward the hunters, till at last he pursued two of them
so closely that they threw aside their guns and pouches, and jumped twenty feet down
a perpendicular bank into the river. The bear sprang after them, and was within a few
feet of the hindmost when one of the hunters on shore shot him in the head, and finally

killed him. They dragged the bear to shore and found that eight balls had passed
through his body in different directions.

On the 20th of May the party reached the mouth of the Muscleshell, a river of con-

siderable size, from the south. They were then 2,270 miles above the mouth of the

Mississippi, in latitude 47 deg., 24 min. Mention is made of what the French traders

called Cote Noire, or Black Hills. On the 26th of May they had the first view of the

Rocky Mountains, " the object," as the journalist remarks, " of all our hopes, and the
reward of all our ambition." The view was obtained from what they called one of the
last ridges of the Black Mountains. On the 30th they had reached that part of the river*

which passes through between walls of rocks^ presenting every form of sculptured ruins,

and having the appearance of being the productions of art. Of these objects of natural
scenery they give a most glowing description.

On the 3d of June the expedition reached a junction of two branches of the river,

when they were at a loss to determine which was the true Missouri river. Parties, one
under Captain Lewis and the other under Captain Clarke, proceeded to explore both
branches by land. The party under Captain Lewis, on the 13th, reached the Great Falls

of the Missouri on the southern branch, which determined the question. . One of the
men was sent to inform Captain Clarke of the discovery. The explorers give a vivid
description of the wonderful and beautiful scenery which is here presented. In the
vicinity of the falls they saw a herd of at least a thousand buffalo, one of which they
shot. Here Captain Lewis himself had an encounter with a large brown bear, from
which he escaped by plunging into the river. Mention is made of grasshoppers at the
mouth of Medicine river, about twelve miles above the Great Falls, in such multitudes
that the herbage on the plains was in part destroyed by them. At that point the
Missouri is described as being three hundredi yards wide, and Medicine river one hundred
and thirty-seven yards wide. The party remained here until the 15th of July, examining
the surrounding country, constructing canoes, and making general preparations for
continuing the journey. On that day they again, embarked with eight heavily loaded
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canoes, encountering many difficult places for navigating, owing to the rapids. Toward
the latter part of July they reached a point where the Missouri is formed of three

branches, one of which they called Jefferson, one Madison, and one Gallatin. Here the
party divide and explore the several branches, partly for the purpose of finding the

Shoshones, the Indians that were known to inhabit that region. On the 11th of August
they encountered a single Indian on horseback, who proved to be one of that tribe or

nation. Captain Lewis, who had continued his course up the Jefferson, or principal

branch forming the sources of the Missouri, reached a point where it had so diminished
in width that one of his men in a fit of enthusiasm, with one foot on each side of the

rivulet, thanked God that he had lived to bestride the Missouri. A few miles further on
they reached a point where issues the remotest water— the hitherto hidden sources of

that river, which had never before been seen by civilized man. They sat down by the

brink of the little rivulet, and quenched their thirst at the chaste and icy fountain, which
sends its modest tribute down to the great ocean thousands of miles away. Crossing over

the dividing line between the waters of the Atlantic and Pacific oceans, at a distance of

three-quarters of a mile, they stopped to taste for the first time the waters of the

Columbia, here a stream of clear, cold water flowing, westward. On the same day
Captain Lewis succeeded in gaining a friendly interview with the Shoshones. Captain
Clarke, with a part of the expedition, was at this time at the junction of the three

branches of the Missouri, and Captain Lewis engaged a number of the Indians, with
about thirty of their horses, to transport their merchandise and outfit to the Shoshone
camp.

The Shoshones are described as being a small tribe of the nation called the Snake
Indians, an appellation which embraces the inhabitants of the southern parts of the

Rocky Mountains and of the plains on either side. During the Summer the Shoshones
resided about the headwaters of the Columbia, where they lived chiefly on salmon. In
their journal the explorers give a long and interesting account of the habits, traditions,

and manner of life of this people. They found them honest, friendly, and ready to

render them all the assistance in their power.
After purchasing twenty -nine horses from the Shoshones, the party, on the 30th of

August, resumed their journey toward the Pacific. On the 4th of September, after

many difficulties in finding a practicable route, they came to a large encampment of

Indians who received them with great cordiality. .The pipe of peace was introduced and
a council held. They represented themselves as a band of a nation called Tushepaws, a

numerous people then residing on the headwaters of the Missouri and Columbia rivers.

The Indians shared their berries and roots with the strangers and received some presents.

Several horses were purchased from them. On the 6th they reached a stream to which
they gave the name of Clarke river, Captain Clarke being the first white man who ever

visited its waiters. The route was a rugged one, and in many places almost impracti-

cable, and to add to the difficulties of the situation, snow had been falling, so that on
the 16th it-was six or eight inches deep. The difficulty of procuring game or other

subsistence made it necessary for them to kill several of their horses on this part of their

journey for food. They had a little of what was called portable soii;^ which they used

by melting some snow. This, and about twenty pounds of bear's oil, was their only

remaining subsistence. They were now in a region where their guns were of little service,

for there was scarcely a living creature to be seen in those mountains. Captain Clarke

and six hunters searched the mountains all day for game but found none, and at night

encamped on a small stream to which they gave the name of Hungry Creek. Their only

refreshment during the day was a little of the portable soup. On the 26th, Captain

Clarke and his hunting party encountered three Indian boys, and sent them forward to

the village with some presents. An Indian came out to meet them, and conducted them
to a large tent in the village, which was the residence of the great chief. After some
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introductory ceremonies by signs, the Indians set before the strangers some buffalo meat,
dried salmon, berries and several kinds of roots. This, after their long abstinence, was
a sumptuous treat. One of the chiefs conducted them to another village, two miles away,
where they were received with great kindness and passed the night. These Indians

called themselves Chopunish, or Pierced -Nose (Nez Perces). With a few articles

Captain Clarke chanced to have in his pockets he purchased some dried salmon, roots

and berries and sent them by one of his men and a hired Indian back to Captain Lewis.
The main body with Captain Lewis had been so fortunate as to kill a few pheasants and
a prairie wolf. As soon as it was known in the villages that the wonderful strangers had
arrived the people crowded in to see them. Twisted Hair, the chief, drew a chart or

map of the country and streams on a white elk -skin, which was of great service in

guiding them on their course. From these Indians as many provisions were purchased as

could be carried on their horses. After proceeding down the river some distance, they
determined to continue their journey in canoes, which they set about constructing. By
the 7th of October the canoes were launched and loaded. The horses were branded and
left with the Indians to be kept until their return. Accompanied by some of the Indians
down Lewis river, the expedition finally reached the Columbia on the 16th, having
stopped at a number of villages on the way. The Columbia at the mouth of Lewis
river they found to be 960 yards wide, and Lewis river 575 yards wide. Here they
found themselves among a nation who called themselves Sokulks, a people of a mild
and peaceable disposition. Fish was their principal article of food. On the 18th they
resumed their journey down the Columbia in the presence of many of the Sokulks who
came to witness their departure. They passed many different tribes who inhabited the

borders of the Columbia, all of whom they visited in their villages and encampments,
learning their condition, habits, history and mode of living. Wherever they halted large

numbers of Indians gathered to see them, and generally manifested the greatest kindness
and hospitality. All of them had pierced noses.

On the 22d of October the party reached the Great Falls of the Columbia. Many
Indians inhabited this portion of the country, and some of them assisted the party in un-
loading the canoes, transporting the goods around the falls, and in bringing down the
canoes. At one place it was necessary to haul the canoes over a point of land to avoid
a perpendicular fall of seventy feet. Some distance below the falls they came to a village

of another tribe, or nation, called the Echeloots. Here .they found the first wooden
houses they had seen after leaving the settlements near the Mississippi. They were
made of logs and poles, with poles for rafters and covered with white cedar, kept on by
strands of cedar fibers. The inhabitants received the strangers with great kindness, in-

vited them to their houses, and came in great numbers to see them. They were sur-

prised to find that these Indians spoke a language quite different from that of the tribes

above the Great Falls. Some of their customs, however, were the same. Like the tribes

they had recently visited, they flattened the heads of their children, and in nearly the same
manner. Amon^ the mountain tribes, however, this custom was confined to the females
almost exclusively, whereas the Echeloots subjected both sexes to the operation. On the
18th they came to another tribe where they saw a British musket and several brass tea-
kettles, which the Indians prized very highly. In the interview with the chief he di-

rected his wife to hand him his medicine-bag, from which he drew out fourteen forefin-

gers, which he said had belonged to the same number of his enemies whom he had killed
in battle. These fingers were shown with great exultation, after which they were carefully
replaced among the other valuable contents of the medicine-bag. This was the first in-
stance in which the explorers had observed that any other trophy than the scalp was ever
carried from the field in Indian warfare.

On the 2d of November the party passed the rapids which form the last descent of
the Columbia, where tide-water commences. On this part of the Columbia they began
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to meet with tribes who had some knowledge of the whites, and from articles in their

possession it was observed that they had maintained some sort of trade or barter with the
whites. The Indians here also began to be troublesome and were disposed to pilfer when-
ever an opportunity offered, showing that in their intercourse with the whites they had
contracted some vices of which they are free in the absence of such intercourse.

On the 16th of November, 1806, the expedition encamped in full view of the Pacific

Ocean, at Haley's Bay, as laid down by Vancouver. Their long, tedious, eventful jour-

ney to the Pacific having ended, they made preparations to go into Winter quarters.

Some distance below the mouth of the Columbia, three miles above the mouth of a little

river that empties into the bay, in a thick grove of lofty pines, they formed their Winter
encampment. Game was exceedingly plentiful, and during the Winter they were visited

by a large, number of Indians inhabiting the coast region. They called the place Fort
Clatsop, from the tribe of Indians inhabiting the immediate vicinity. Here they remained
until the 23d of March, 1806, when they commenced their return, by the same route.

Before leaving. Captains Lewis and Clarke posted up in the fort a note to the follow-

ing effect

:

" The object of this is, that through the medium of some civilized person, who may
see the same, it may be made known to the world that the party consisting of the persons
whose names are hereto annexed, and who were sent out by the government of the

United States to explore the interior of the continent of North America, did cross the

same by the way of the Missouri and Columbia rivers, to the discharge of the latter into

the Pacific Ocean, where they arrived on the 14th day of November, 1805, and departed
the 23d day of March, 1806, on their return to the United States, by the same route by
which they came out."

It is somewhat singular that this note a short time after fell into the hands of a Cap-
tain Hill, while on the coast near the mouth of the Columbia river. It was delivered to

him by some Indians, and taken to Canton, China, from whence it was brought to the

United States in January, 1,807. On the 23d of September, 1806, the party reached the

mouth of the Missouri, and descended the Mississippi to St. Louis, arriving at 12 o'clock.

Having fired a salute, they went on shore, where they " received a most hearty and hos-

pitable welcome from the whole village."

This is but a very partial and hasty review of that romantic and extraordinary ex-

pedition— the first exploration by authority of the government of the United States, of

that wonderful region which of late years has attracted so much attention. It gave to

the world the first authentic account of the upper Missouri and its tributaries, and of the

rivers that flow from the western slope of the Rocky Mountains and seek the Pacific

Ocean through the great Columbia. It imparted to civilized man some definite knowl-
edge of the strange tribes whose homes were on the borders of those rivers ; of their

habits, traditions, and modes of life ; of the fauna and flora of a region hitherto unknown,
and of natural scenery not surpassed in grandeur and sublimity by that of any other part

of the world. Other explorers have since revealed a portion of the hidden treasures of

that part of our national domain, but the pioneer expedition of Lewis and Clarke, so

successfully accomplished, will always possess a peculiar and thrilling interest.
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CHAPTER YI.

INDIAN WARS.

Gen. Harmar's Defeat— Gen. St. Clair— His Defeat— Gen. Wayne— His Victory— His Treaties with the In-

dians— :&ritish Posts Surrendered— Death of Wayne— Gen. Harrison— Tecuttiseh—The Prophet— Battle

of Tippecanoe— Tecumseh's Alliance With the British— Harrison. Appointed Brigadier-General— Perty's

Victory— Gen. McArthur— Battle of the Thames— Tecumseh Killed— Peace with the Indians— Indian

Titles Extinguished— Military Posts Established at Belle Point, Council Bluffs, and St. Peters— The Ricarees
— Gen. Cass— Treaty at Fort Dearborn— Fort Atkinson— Grand Council at Prairie du Chien— Indian Out-
rages— The Militia Called Out— Gen. Atkinson— Policy of Removing the Indians West— Treaty with the

Sacs and Foxes— Black Hawk— He Refuses to Comply with Treaties— Black Hawk War— Battle of Bad
Axe— Gen. Henry Dodge— Black Hawk Captured— Taken to Washington— Keokuk — Black Hawk Pur-
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Iowa— Gen. Street— Wapello— Maj. Beach— Sac and Fox Villages on the Des Moines— Gov. Lucas— Gov.
Chambers— Visit of Hard-Fish to Burlington—An Incident — Speech of Keokuk.

Almost every advance of civilization on the American continent has been made at

the expense of more or less conflict and bloodshed at the hands of the savage tribes who
were the occupants and owners of the soil prior to the advent of the white man. Pass-

ing over the conflicts of the colonists in the early settlements of the East, the later

struggles of the pioneers of the " Dark and Bloody Ground," and the Indian wars of the

South, we shall briefly refer to some of the troubles with the aborigines in the Northwest.
With the opening of the new country to white settlers it was necessary to establish mili-

tary posts for the protection of the pioneers against the attacks of the Indians. In 1790,
all pacific means having failed with the tribes north of the Ohio, President Washington
sent Gen. Harmar with a military force against them. After destroying several of their

villages, he was defeated in two battles near the confluence of the St. Joseph's and St.

Mary's rivers, and not far from the present city of Fort Wayne, Indiana. In 1781 Gen.
Arthur St. Clair was promoted to the rank of major general, and was entrusted with a
command against the hostile Miamis. On assuming his command, the last admonition of

Washington was, " Beware of surprise." Gen. St. Clair marched with his troops to the
vicinity of the Miami villages on the Maumee. On the 4th of November, 1791, he was
surprised in camp on the St. Mary's river, and his force of 1,400 ill disciplined men was
cut to pieces. He soon after resigned his commission. In this defeat St. Clair's loss was
about 600 men. The savages were greatly emboldened by their successes, and it was soon
found that more vigorous measures were necessary. The Indians continued to commit
outrages against the infant settlements. In some cases, doubtless, the whites were the
aggressors, for Washington in his annual message of November 6, 1792, recommended
more adequate measures " for restraining the commission of outrages upon the Indians,
without which all pacific plans must prove nugatory." Attempts were made to treat
with the Indians, but the attempted negotiations proved unsuccessful.

After the unsuccessful and disastrous campaigns of Generals Harmar and St. Clair,
General Anthony Wayne, who had won distinguished laurels in the war of the Revolu-
tion, was, in April, 1792, promoted to the rank of major general, and made commander-
in - chief in the war against the western Indians. In August, 1794, he gained a signal
victory over the Miamis, near the rapids of the Maumee, and compelled them to sue for
peace. In the same year a fort was erected by his order on the site of the old " Twight-
wee Village " of the Miami tribe, where the city of Fort Wayne is now located. It
continued to be a military post until 1819.

After his successful campaign of 1794, Gen. Wayne was appointed sole commis-
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sioner to treat with the Indians, and also to take possession of the forts still held by the
British in the Northwest. He negotiated the treaty of Greenville which was signed by
all the principal chiefs of the Northwest. By this treaty the Indians relinquished their

title to a large tract of country. That characteristic determination which, during the
war of the Revolution, had gained him the sobriquet of " Mad Anthony," impressed the

hostile tribes with a dread of him which operated as a wholesome restraint. Gen. Wayne
also took possession of the British posts in the Northwest, which were peaceably sur-

rendered, in accordance with Jay's treaty, and from this time there was assurance of

peace on the frontier. He died in the garrison at Presque Isle (Erie), Pa., December
14, 1796.

From the date of Wayne's victory up to 1809 the whites maintained comparatively
peaceable relations with the Indians. During this year. Gen. Harrison, then Governor
of Indiana Territory, entered into a treaty with the Delawares, Kickapoos, Pottawat-
tamies, Miamis, Eel River Indians and Weas, in which these tribes relinquished their

title to certain lands on the Wabash river. About this time the noted chief Tecumseh
comes into prominence as the bitter opponent of any more grants of land being made to

the whites.

Tecumseh was a chief of the Shawnees, born on the Scioto river near Chillicothe,

about the year 1770. It was said that he was one of three brothers who were triplets.

The other two brothers were named Kumshaka and Elskwatawa. Kumshaka is believed

to have died while young, but Elskwatawa became the Prophet who co-operated with
the chief in all his plans. His father, Puckeshinwa, had risen to the rank of chief, but
was killed at the battle of Point Pleasant, in 1774. In 1795 Tecumseh was declared

chief at or near where Urbana, Ohio, is now located. In 1798 he went to White river,

Indiana, and his brother, the Prophet, to a tract of land on the Wabash. Tecumseh, by
reason of his oratory, had great influence over the savage tribes, and his plan was to

unite all of them against the whites in a conspiracy, similar to that of Pontiac nearly

half a century before. For this purpose he visited all the tribes west to the Mississippi,

and upon Lakes Superior, Huron, and Michigan. At the same time his brother, the

Prophet, pretended to be directed by the Great Spirit to preach against the influence and
encroachments of the white men. Their efforts to incite the Indians to hostilities were
successful, and they gathered a large force of warriors, making their headquarters at a

stream they called Tippecanoe, near the Wabash river.

Meantime Gov. Harrison was watching the movements of the Indians, and being

convinced of the existence of Tecumseh's grand conspiracy, had prepared to defend the

settlements. In August, 1810, Tecumseh went to Vincennes to confer with the Gover-

nor in relation to the grievances of the Indians, but demeaned himself in such an angry

manner that he was dismissed from the village. He returned to complete his plans for

the conflict. Tecumseh delayed his intended attack, but in the meantime he was gather-

ing strength to this cause, and by the Autumn of 1811 had a force of several hundred
warriors at his encampment on the little river called by the Indians Keth-tip-pe-ce-nunk,

or Tippecanoe. Harrison, with a force of eight hundred men, partly regulars find partly

volunteers, determined to move upon the Prophet's town, as it was called. He encamped
near the village early in October, and on the night of the 5th of November his camp was
furiously but unsuccessfully attacked. On the morning of the 7th he was again attacked

by a large body of the Indians, but Tecumseh's warriors were completely routed, but

not without a severe and hotly contested battle, and the loss of about 200 of Harrison's

men.
President Madison, in a special message to Congress of December 12, 1811, speaking

of this engagement, says

:

" While it is deeply lamented that so many valuable lives have been lost in the

action which took place on the seventh ultimo. Congress will see with satisfaction the

4
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dauntless spirit and fortitude victoriously displayed by every description of the troops

engaged, as well as the collected firmness which distinguished their commander on an

occasion requiring the utmost exertions of valor and discipline. It may reasonably be

expected that the good effects of this critical defeat and dispersion of a combina,tion of

savages, which appears to have been spreading to a greater extent, will be experienced,

not only in the cessation of murders and depredations committed on our frontier, but in

the prevention of any hostile excursions otherwise to have been apprehended."
The result of the battle of Tippecanoe utterly ruined the plans of Tecumseh, for his

arrangements with the different tribes were not yet matured. He was greatly exasperated

toward the Prophet for precipitating the war. Had Tecumseh himself been present it is

likely the attack would not have been made. The defeated Indians were at first inclined

to sue for peace, but Tecumseh was not yet conquered. The breaking out of the war
with Great Britain at this time inspired him with new hope, and his next endeavor was
to form an alliance with the English. In this he succeeded, and was appointed a briga-

dier general. He was entrusted" with the command of all the Indians wh» co-operated

with the English in the campaigns of 1812-13, and was in several important engage-

ments.
After the surrender of Detroit by Gen. Hull, August 18, 1812, Harrison Avas ap-

pointed to the command of the Northwestern frontier, with a commission as brigadier

general. As this was in September, too late in the season for a campaign, he did not

assume active operations until the next year, by which time he was promoted to the rank
of major general. After Commodore Perry won his signal victory on Lake Erie in Sep-

tember, 1813, Harrison hastened with his command to capture Maiden. On arriving

there late in September he found that Proctor, the British general, had retreated. About
the same time Gen. McArthur took possession of Detroit and the Territory of Michigan.

Pursuing the British army into the interior of Canada West, Harrison overtook Proctor

at the Moravian settlements, on the river Thames, on the 5th of October. The British

general had an auxiliary force of two thousand Indians under the command of Tecumseh.
The battle was opened by the American cavalry under the command of Col. Richard M.
Johnson, afterward vice-president of the United States. Early in the engagement
Tecumseh was killed at the head of his column of Indians, who, no longer hearing the

voice of their chief, fled in confusion. It has been claimed by some authorities that this

celebrated chief was killed by Col. Johnson, who fired at him with a pistol. This, how-
ever, will remain one of the unsolved problems of history. The result of the battle was
a complete victory for the Americans, with the capture of 600 prisoners, six pieces of

cannon, and a large quantity of army stores.

This decisive victory over the combined forces of the British and Indians practically

closed the war in the Northwest, and as a consequence peace with the Indian tribes soon
followed. Other treaties were negotiated with the Indians by which they gave up their

title to additional large tracts of territory. The settlement of the country progressed
rapidly, and again an era of apparent good will prevailed between the whites and Indians.

By the end of the year 1817, the Indian title, with some moderate reservations, had been
extinguished to the whole of the land within the State of Ohio, to a great part of that
in Michigan Territory, and in the State of Indiana. In 181 7 Gov. Cass, of Michigan, in

conjunction with Gov. McArthur, of Ohio, obtained a cession of most of the remaining
lands in Ohio with some adjoining tracts in Indiana and Michigan, amounting in all to

about 4,000,000 of acres, and in 1819 Gov. Cass met the Chippewas at SaginaAv and ob-
tained a cession of lands in the peninsula of Michigan to the extent of about 6,000,000
of acres. The next year a treaty was made at Chicago, then nothing but a military post,

called Fort Dearborn, with the Chippewas, Ottawas and Pottawatamies, by which a large
additional tract was obtained, which completed the extinguishment of the Indian title

to the peninsula of Michigan south of the Grand river. By 1820 a number of military
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posts were established far in the interior, and among them was one at Belle Point on the
Arkansas, at Council Bluffs on the Missouri, at St. Peters on the Mississippi, and at

Green Bay on the upper lakes.

During the month of June, 1823, Gen. Ashley and his party, who were trading under
a license from the government, Avere attacked by the Ricarees AA'hile trading witli the In-

dians at tlieir request. Several of the party were killed and wounded, and their property
taken or destroyed. Col. Leavenworth, who commanded Fort Atkinson at Council Bluffs,

then the most Avestern post, took immediate measures to check this hostile spirit of tlie

Ricarees, fearing that it might extend to other tribes in that quarter and endanger the

lives of traders on the Missouri. With a detachment of tlie regiment stationed at Coun-
cil Bluffs, he successfully attacked the Ricaree village. The hostile spirit, however, still

continued and extended to the tribes on the upper Mississippi and the upper lakes. Sev-
eral parties of citizens were plundered and murdered by those tribes during the year 1824.

An act of Congress of May 25th of this year, made an appropriation to defray the expenses
of making treaties of trade and friendship Avitli the tribes west of the Mississippi, and
another act of March 8, 1825, provided for the expense of treaties Avith the Sioux,

Chippewas, Menomonees, Sacs and Foxes, and other tribes, and also for establishing

boundaries and promoting peace between them. These objects Avere in the main accom-
plished, and by the treaties made the government secured large acquisitions of territory.

Gov. Cass, in conjunction Avith Gov. Clark, of Missouri, attended a grand council of the

tribes this year at Prairie du Chien, to carry out the purposes of the act of Congress last

mentioned. During his continuance in office as Governor of Michigan Territory, Gov.
Cass made, or participated in the making of nineteen treaties with the Indians, and by
tliem acquired lands in Ohio, Indiana, Illinois', Michigan and Wisconsin, to an amount
equal to one-fourth of the entire area of those States.

For many years it had been the policy of the government to obtain a relinquishment
of the title of the Indians to all lands within the limits of the States, and as rapidly as

possible cause the removal of the tribes to territory beyond the Mississippi. In 1880 the

Cliickasaws and Choctaws, occupying portions of the States of Alabama and Mississippi,

agreed to remove, and in due time carried out their agreement in good faith. The same
year a treaty was made with the Sacs and Foxes, by Avhich they agreed to cede their

lands to the United States, and remove beyond the Mississippi. The principal village of

these united tribes was located at the mouth of Rock river, on the east side of the Mis-
sissippi, near where the city of Rock Island now stands. Here had been an Indian village,

according to tradition, for one hundred and fifty years. These tribes 1iad owned and
occupied the country bordering on the Mississippi, to an extent of seven hundred miles,

from the mouth of the Wisconsin almost to the mouth of the Missouri, Tlie Indians did

not seem disposed to comply promptly with the terms of the treaty, and one band, under
the noted chief Black Hawk (^Mush-a-tan-wish-e-ki-aJc-ki-ak'), evinced a determination to

keep possession of their old village. John Reynolds, Governor of Illinois, construed their

continued residence in the ceded territory as an invasion of the State, and under his

authority to protect the State from invasion, ordered out seven hundred militia to force

their removal, according to the treaty. This interference of the Governor of Illinois

with the duties belonging to the Federal Government, obliged the commander of United
States troops in that quarter to co-operate with him, in order to prevent a collision be-

tween the State inilitia and the Indians. Fort Armstrong, on Rock Island, had been
established as early as 1816, and Avhen the Black Hawk trouble commenced, was in com-
mand of Gen. Atkinson. The Indians were overawed by this imposing military force,

and yielding to necessity, crossed the Mississippi.
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CHAPTER VII.

EARLY NAVIGATION OF WESTERN RIVERS.

Navigation of the Mississippi by the Early Explorers— Flat-boats— Barges— Methods of Propulsion — Brigs and
Schooners— The First Steamboat on Western Waters — The " Orleans "— The "Comet"— The "Enter-

prise"— Capt. Shreve— The "Washington"— The "General Pike"— First Steamboat to St. Louis— The
" Independence " the First Steamboat on the Missouri— Capt. Nelson— " Mackinaw Boats "— Navigation on

the Upper Mississippi— The "Virginia"— The " Shamrock "— Capt. James May — Navigation on the Upper
Missouri— Steamboating on the Smaller Rivers.

We have accounts of the navigation of the Mississippi river as early as 1539, by De
Soto, while in search of the " fountain of youth." His voyage ended with his life, and
more than a hundred years passed away, when Marquette and Joliet again disturbed its

waters with a small bark transported from the shores of Lake Superior. At the mouth of

the Wisconsin they entered the Mississippi, and extended their voyage to the mouth of the

Arkansas. Their account is the first which gave to the world any accurate knowledge
of the great valley of the Mississippi river. Their perilous voyage was made in the Sum-
mer of 1673. The account was read with avidity by the missionaries and others about
liake Superior, and soon after a young Frenchman named La Salle set out with a view of

adding further information in relation to the wonderful valley of the great river. His
expedition was followed by other voyages of exploration on western rivers, but the nar-

ratives of the explorers are mostly lost, so that very little of interest remains from the

voyage of La Salle to the latter part of the eighteenth century, when the French, then
holding Fort Du Quesne, contemplated the establishment of a line of forts which would
enable them to retain possession of the vast territory northwest of the Ohio river. Regu-
lar navigation of the Ohio and Mississippi, however, was not attempted until after the

Revolution, when the United States had assumed control of the western waters. Trade
with New Orleans did not begin until near the close of the century. A few flat boats

were employed in the trade between Pittsburg and the new settlements along the-Ohio
river. The settlement of Kentucky gradually increased the trade on the Ohio, and caused
a demand for increased facilities for conveyance of freight. Boatmen soon found it profit-

able to extend their voyages to the Spanish settlements in the South. Freight and pas-

songers were conveyed in a species of boat which was sometimes called a barge, or bargee

by the French. It was usually from 75 to 100 feet long, with breadth of beam from 15
to 20 feet, and a capacity of 60 to 100 tons. The freight was received in a large covered
coffer, occupying a portion of the hulk. Near the stern was an apartment six or eight
feet in length, called "the cabin," where the captain and other officials of the boat quar-
tered at night. The helmsman was stationed upon an elevation above the level of the
deck. The barge usually carried one or two masts. A large square sail forward, when
the wind was favorable, sometimes much relieved.the hands. The work of propelling the
barges usually required about fifty men to each boat. There were several modes of pro-
pelling the barges. At times all were engaged in rowing, which was often a waste of
labor on such a stream as the Mississippi. Sometimes the navigators resorted to the use
of the cordelle, a strong rope or hawser, attached to the barge, and carried along the
shore or beach on the shoulders of the crew. In some places this method was impractica-
ble on account of obstructions along the shores. Then what was known as the " warp-
ing " process was resorted to. A coil of rope was sent out in the yawl, and fastened to a
tree on the shore, or a " snag " in the river. While the hands on board were pulling up
to this point, another coil was carried further ahead, and the " warping " process repeated.
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Sometimes it was expedient to use setting poles, but this method was used chiefly in

the Ohio. During a period of about twenty-five years, up to 1811, the mode of conveyance
on our western rivers was by flat-boats and barges. It required three or four months to
make a trip from Pittsburg to New Orleans. Passengers between these points were
charged from f 125 to $150, and freight ranged from $5 to $7 per 100 pounds. It

can not be supposed that under such circumstances, the commerce of the West was
very extensive.

Previous to the introduction of steamers on western waters, attempts were made to

use brigs and schooners. In 1803 several ships were built on the Ohio, and in 1805 the
ship " Scott " was built on the Kentucky river, and in the Fall of that year made hor
first trip to the falls of the Ohio. While there two other vessels, built by Berthone &
Co., arrived. All of them were compelled to remain three months, awaiting a sufficient

rise in the river to carry them over the falls. In 1807 Mr. Dean built and launched a
vessel at Pittsburg. This vessel made a trip to Leghorn, and when making her entry at

the custom house there, her papers were objected to on the ground that no such port as

Pittsburg existed in the United States. The captain called the attention of the officf^r

to the Mississippi river, traced it to its confluence with the Ohio, thence following the
latter stream past Cincinnati and Marietta, to the new city in the wilderness, more than
two thousand miles by water from the Gulf of Mexico ! All these vessels were found
inadequate for the purpose of trading on the western rivers, and were soon abandoned.
They could not stem the current of the Mississippi. They were transferred to the gulf,

and the commerce of the rivers was abandoned to Mike Pink and his followers, remain-
ing with them until 1811. In this year Fulton and Livingston opened a ship -yard at

Pittsburg, and built the small propeller " Orleans," which was also furnished with two
masts. She was a boat of one hundred tons burthen, and the first steamer that was
launched on western waters. In the Winter of 1812 she made her first trip to New
Orleans in fourteen days. As she passed down the river the settlers lined the banks,

and the greatest excitement prevailed. The flat-boatmen said she never could stem the
current on her upward trip. After her first trip, the " Orleans " engaged in the Natchez
and New Orleans trade, and paid her owners a handsome profit on their investment. The
next steamer was the " Comet," and she was built by D. French. She carried but
twenty - five tons, and made her first trip to New Orleans in the Spring of 1814, Soon
after she was taken to pieces, and her engines used in a cotton factory. The " Vesuvius,"
of forty -eight tons burthen, was launched at Fulton's ship -yard in the Spring of 1814,

made a trip to New Orleans, and on her return was grounded on a sand bar, where she

remained until the next December. This boat remained on the river until 1819, when
she was condemned. The " Enterprise '" was the fourth steamboat, and was built by
Mr. French, who built the " Comet." The " Enterprise " carried seventy -five tons, and
made her first trip to New Orleans in the Summer of 1814. When she arrived at her

destination she was pressed into the service of the army, under Gen. Jackson, then at

New Orleans. She was very efficient in carrying troops and army supplies from tlio

city to the seat of war, a few miles below. During the battle of the 8th of January
she was busily engaged in supplying the wants of Jackson's army. On the 5th of May
following she left New Orleans, and arrived at Louisville in twenty -five days.

In 1816 Captain Henry Shreve built the " Washington " with many improvements
in construction. The boilers, which had hitherto been placed in the hold, were changed

by Captain Shreve to the deck. In September, 1816, the " Washington " successfully

passed the falls of the Ohio, made her trip to New Orleans, and returned in November
to Louisville. On the 12th of March, 1817, she started on her second trip to New
Orleans, the, ice then running in the Ohio slightly retarding her progress. She made tho

trip successfully, and returned to the foot of the falls in forty -one days— the upward
trip being made in twenty - five days. By this time it was generally conceded by the
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flat -boatmen that Fitch and Fulton were not visionaxy fools, but men of genius, and tha,t

their inventions could be turned to immense advantage on the rivers of the West.
Steamboats from this time on rapidly multiplied, and the occupation of the old flat-

boatman began to pass away. On Captain Shreve's return to Louisville the citizens gave
him a public reception. Toasts and speeches were made, and the " Washington " de-

clared to be the herald of a new era in the West. Captain Shreve in his speech asserted

that the time would come when the trip to Orleans would be made in ten days. His pre-

diction was more than verified, for as early as 1853, the trip was made in four days and
nine hours.

While these festivities were going on in Louisville, the "General Pike " was stem-

ming the current of the Mississippi for a new port in steamboat navigation. With a

heavy load of freight and passengers she left New Orleans for St. Louis. On her arrival

at the latter city several thousand people greeted her as she slowly approached the

landing.

Steam navigation commenced on the Missouri in 1819, the first boat being the
" Independent," commanded by Captain Nelson. She ascended as far as Chariton and
Franklin, at which points she received a cargo of furs and buffalo hides, and returned
with them to St. Louis.

In 1816 Fort Armstrong was erected at the lower end of Rock Island. On the 10th

of May of this year Col. Lawrence, with the Eighth Regiment and a company of rifle-

men, arrived here in keel boats. Col. George Davenport resided near the fort and
supplied the troops with provisions, and also engaged in trading with the Indians. Most
of his goods were brought from " Mackinaw " through Green Bay, thence up Fox river

to the " Portage," where they were packed across to the Wisconsin river, and carried

down the Mississippi in what were called " Mackinaw Boats." The navigation of the

upper Mississippi was confined to keel-boats until 1823, Avhen the first steamboat— the

"Virginia"— from Wheeling, ascended with provisions to Prairie du Chien. This boat
was three or four days in passing the rapids at Rock Island. After this, up to 1827,
steamboats continued to ascend the upper Mississippi occasionally with troops and mili-

tary stores. In this year Capt. James May, of the steamboat " Shamrock," made the

first voyage with her from Pittsburg to Galena. This was the first general business trip

ever made on the upper Mississippi by a steamboat. Capt. May continued as master of

a steamboat on this part of the river until 1834.

Tlie first navigation of any considerable portion of the Missouri river was that of

Captains Lewis and Clarke, when in 1804 they ascended that river in keel-boats, or
barges, from its mouth almost to its source. Of late years steamboats have navigated
it regularly to Fort Benton. Steamboat navigation has also been employed on many of
thesmaller rivers of the West, including the Des Moines and Cedar rivers in Iowa. The
introduction of railroads has superseded the necessity of depending upon the uncertain
navigation of the smaller rivers for carrying purposes. The great water-courses, how-
ever, will doubtless always remain the indispensable commercial highways of the nation.
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CHAPTER VIII.

ARCHEOLOGY OF THE NORTHWEST.

Ancient Works— Conjectures— Works of the Mound Builders in Ohio— Different Forms and Classes— Mounds
at Gallipolis, Marietta, and ChiOicothe— Relics Found— Ancient Fortifications at Circleville and Other
Places— Pre-historic Remains in Other States— In Iowa— Excavation of Mounds ^- Elongated and Round
Mounds— Their Antiquity— Who Were the Mound Builders?

Scattered all over the great Northwest are the remains of the works of an ancient

people, who must have been infinitely more advanced in the arts than the Indian tribes

who inhabited the country at the time of the advent of the European. The question as

to whether the Indians are the descendants of that people, the Mound Builders, is a subject

of antiquarian speculation. One thing, however, is certain, that a people once inhabited

all this vast region who possessed some considerable knowledge of the arts and even the
sciences ; a people of whom the Indians possessed no knowledge, but whose works have
survived the mutations of hundreds, and perhaps thousands of years, to attest that they
lived, and acted, and passed away. There have been various conjectures of the learned

concerning the time when, by what people, and even for what purpose, these monuments
of human ingenuity were erected. Their origin is deeply involved in the obscurity of

remote antiquity. Neither history, nor authentic tradition, afford any light by which to

conduct inquiries concerning them, and it is probable that no certainty upon the subject

will ever be attained. Brief mention of some of these ancient works can not fail to in-

terest the reader. They are found distributed over the countiy generally from the

Alleghany Mountains to the Rocky Mountains. They are more numerous and more
remarkable, however, in some parts of the country than in others.

Some of the most remarkable foi'tifications in Ohio are at Worthington, Granville,

Athens, Marietta, Gallipolis, Chillicothe, and Circleville ; also, on Paint Creek, 18 miles

northwest of Chillicothe, and on a plain three miles northeast of the last named city.

In some localities there are both mounds and fortifications, while in others there are

mounds only. The mounds vary in magnitude, and also somewhat in shape. Some are

conical, ending sharply at the summit, and as steep on the sides as the earth could be

made to lie. Others are of the same form, except that they present a flat area on the

top, like a cone cut off at some distance 'from its vortex, in a plane coincident with its

base, or with the horizon. Others again, are of a semi-globular shape. Of this descrip-

tion was that standing in Gallipolis. The largest one near Worthington is of the second

kind, and presents on the summit a level area of forty feet in diameter. There is one at

Marietta of this kind, but the area on the top does not exceed twenty feet in diameter.

Its perpendicular height is about fifty feet, and its circumference at the bage twenty rods.

Those in Worthington and Gallipolis are each from fifty to a hundred feet in diameter

at their bases. A large mound once stood in the heart of the city of Chillicothe, but

was leveled forty or fifty years ago to make room for the erection of a block of buildings,

and in its destruction a number of relics were exhumed. Several smaller mounds were

located in the. same vicinity. They are found scattered in profusion in the vftlleys'of the

Miamisv Scioto, Hocking and Muskingum rivers, as well as south. of the Ohio river. One
pf the largest is near .the Ohio river, 14 miles below Wheeling. This is about 33 rods in

circumferenee, and consequently-between ten and eleven rods in diameter at its base.
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Its perpendicular height is about seventy feet. On the summit is an area of nearly sixty

feet in diameter, in the middle of which is a regular cavity, the cubical contents of which

are about 3,000 feet. Within a short distance of this mound are five smaller ones, some
of which are thirty feet in diameter. Some of the mounds mentioned, and others not

referred to, have been excavated, either by the antiquarian or in the construction of pub-

lic works, and in the most of them human bones have been discovered. Most of these

bones crumble in pieces or resolve into dust shortly after being exposed to the air ; ex-

cept in some instances, wherein the teeth, jaw, skull, and sometimes a few other bones,

by reason of their peculiar solidity, resist the effects of contact with the air. From the

fact of the finding human remains in them many have inferred that they were erected as

burial places for the dead. In some of them, however, which have been examined, no

human remains have been discovered, but pieces of pottery, stone hatchets, and other

relics, are found in nearly all.

Many of these mounds are composed of earth of a different quality from that which
is found in their immediate vicinity. This circumstance would seem to indicate that the

earth of which they were composed was transported some distance. A striking instance

of this difference of composition was first noticed some sixty or seventy years ago, in a

mound at Franklinton, near the main fork of the Scioto river. This mound was composed
altogether of clay, and the brick for the court-house in that town were made of it at that

time. In it were likewise found a much greater number of human bones than is usually

found in mounds of its size. The characteristics mentioned in connection with the mounds
in Ohio apply to those generally throughout the Northwest.

Not so numerous as the mounds, but more remarkable as involving the principles of

science, especially mathematics, are the fortifications, or earth walls, found in many
places. . They are commonly supposed to have been forts, or military fortifications. They
generally consist of a circular wall, composed of earth, and usually as steep on the sides

as the dirt could conveniently be made to lie. Somietimes, though rarely, their form is

elliptical, or oval, and a few of them are quadrangular or square. In height they are

various ; some of them are so low as to be scarcely perceptible ; some from twenty to

thirty feet in height, while others again are of an intermediate elevation. The wall of

the same fort, however, is pretty uniformly of the same height all around. They are like-

wise equally various in the contents of the ground which they enclose, some containing

but a few square rods ofground, while others contain nearly one hundred acres. The number
of their entrances, or gateways, varies in different forts from one to eight or more, in pro-

portion to the magnitude of the enclosure. The walls are mostly single, but in some
instances these works have been found to consist of two parallel walls, adjacent to each
other. The forts are generally located on comparatively elevated ground, adjoining a
river or stream of water. Tlieir situation is usually such as a skillful military engineer
or tactician would have selected for military positions. This fact would seem to

strengthen the theory that they were designed and constructed for fortifications.

The city of Circleville, Ohio, is located on the site of one of the most remarkable of

these fortifications, and from this circumstance takes its name. There are, or were,
indeed, two forts at that place, one circular, and the other square.

The square fort adjoins a circular one on the east, communicating with it by
a gateway. The circular fort consists of two parallel walls, whose tops are, apparently,
about three rods apart, the inner circle being forty-seven rods in diameter. Between
these two walls is a fosse, excavated sufficiently deep and broad to have afforded
earth enough for the construction of the exterior wall alone, and no more. From
this circumstance and others, the earth for the construction of the inner wall is

supposed to have been transported from a distance. The inner wall is composed
of clay, and the outer one of dirt and gravel of similar quality with that which
composes the neighboring ground, which is another circumstance quite conclusive
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of the correctness of the conjecture that the material for the inner wall was brought from
a distance. There is but one original opening, or passage, into the circular fort, and that
is on the east side, connecting it witii the square one. The latter has seven avenues lead-

ing into it, exclusive of the one which connects with the circle. There is one at every
corner, and one on each side equi-distant from the angular openings. These avenues are

each twelve feet wide, and the walls on either hand rise immediately to their usual height,

which is about twenty feet. When the town of Circleville was originally laid out, the

trees growing upon the walls of these fortifications and the mounds enclosed in the square
one, were apparently of equal size and age, and those lying down in equal stages of decay,
with those in the surrounding forest, a circumstance proving the great antiquity of these

stupendous remains of former labor and ingenuity. Of course, the progress of modern
civilization in the building of a city over these ancient remains, has long since nearly oblit-

erated many of their parts. The above is a description of them as they appeared sixty

years ago, when Circleville was a mere village, and before the hand of modern vandalism
had marred or obliterated any of the parts. A somewhat minute description of these

ancient remains is given, not because they are more remarkable than many others found
in different parts of the Northwest, but as an example to show the magnitude of many
similar works. Among others in the same State may be mentioned a remarkable mound
near Marietta, which is enclosed by a wall embracing an area 230 feet long by 215 wide.

This mound is thirty feet high and elliptical in form. This mound, with the wall enclos-

ing it, stands apart from two other irregular enclosures, one containing fifty and the other

twenty-seven acres. Within the larger of these two enclosures there are four truncated

pyramids, three of which have graded passage ways to their summits. The largest pyra-

mid is 188 feet long by 132 feet wide, and is ten feet high. From the southern wall of

this enclosure there is a graded passage way 150 feet broad, extending 600 feet to the im-

mediate valley of the Muskingum river. This passage way is guarded by embankments
on either side from eight to ten feet high. In the smaller square there are no pyramidal
structures, but fronting each gate-way there is a circular mound. The walls of these

several enclosures are from twenty to thirty feet broad at the base, and from five to

six feet high. Besides these, many similar embankments may be traced in the same
vicinity.

Squier and Davis, authors of that most elaborate work, entitled "The Ancient
Monuments of the Mississippi Valley," estimated that there were in Ross county, Ohio,

at least one hundred enclosures and five hundred mounds. They give the probable num-
ber in that State at from one thousand to fifteen hundred enclosures, and ten thousand
mounds. These estimates are quite likely to be far below the actual number, as their

investigations were made many years ago, when large portions of the State wera yet

covered with forests, and before any general interest had been awakened on the subject

of which they treated. Among the remarkable fortifications in Ross county is one at

Cedar Bank, on the east side of the Scioto river, about five miles north of Chillicothe.

It is a square form, enclosing an area of thirty-two acres. The west side of this enclos-

ure is formed by the high bluff bordering the river at this point. There are two gate-

ways opposite each other, one on the north and the other on the south side. Inside of

the enclosure, on a line with the gate-ways, there is a mound 245 feet long and 150 feet

broad.

When this work first attracted the attention of Mr. E. G. Squier, Dr. Davis, and
others engaged in archaeological research, it was in the midst of a dense forest of heavy

timber. Trees of the largest growth stood on the embankments, and covered the entire

area of ground enclosed. About a mile and a half beloWj on the same side of the

Scioto, are other fortifications, both circular and square, even more remarkable than the

one last described, on account of the forms and combinations which they exhibit. An-
other fortification in this county, in the form of a parallelogram, 2,800 feet long by 1,800
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feet wide, encloses several smaller works and mounds, which altogether make 3,000,000

cubic feet of enbankment.
A scries of the most wonderful and most gigantic of these pre-historic works, is to

be found in the Licking Valley, near Newark. They cover an area of two square miles.

The works are of such vast magnitude that even with our labor-saving implements to

construct them, would require the labor of thousands of men continued for many months.
" Fort Ancient," as it is called, in Warren county, Ohio, has nearly four miles of em-

bankment, from eighteen to twenty feet high.

Mounds and fortifications similar to those in Ohio are found in all the States of the

Northwest, and indeed, throughout the entire valley of the Mississippi and its tributaries.

In the valley of the Wabash, in Indiana, are many interesting remains of the works of

the Mound Builders. Near Kahokia, Illinois, there is a mound 2,000 feet in circumfer-

ence, and ninety feet high. Many remarkable objects of interest to the antiquary are

found in Wisconsin. 'Scattered over her undulating plains are eatth-works, modeled

after the forms of men and animals. At Aztalan, in Jefferson county, is an ancient forti-

fication 550 yards long and 275 yards wide. The walls are from four to five feet high,

and more than twenty feet in thickness at the base. Near the Blue Mounds, in that

State, there is another work, in form resembling a man in a recumbent position. It is

one hundred and twenty feet long and thirty feet across the trunk. At Prairieville there

is still another resembling a turtle in shape which is fifty-six feet in length. At Cass-

ville there is one which is said to resemble the extinct mastodon. In some instances

these animal resemblances and forms are much defaced by time, while in other cases

they are distinctly visible. Fragments of ancient pottery are found scattered about most
of them.

Scattered over the surface of Iowa,. also, are to be found many of these monuments
of a pre-historic race. The mounds especially are numerous, appearing most in that por-

tion of the State east of the Des Moines river, but in a few instances west of it. Groups
of mounds are found along Iowa river, in Johnson county, presenting the same general

appearance with those in the States east of the Mississippi. Near the mouth of this

river, in Louisa county, are the remains of an ancient fortification, with a number of

mounds in the same vicinity, which have attracted the attention of the carious. In the

vicinity of Ottumwa, Wapello county, are a large number of mounds, several of which
have been examined. There is a chain of them in this last named county, commencing
near the mouth of Sugar Creek, a small tributary of the Des Moines, and extending
twelve miles northward, with distances between them in some instances as great as two
miles. Two of them were excavated several years ago. One of them was about 45 feet

in diameter, and situated upon the highest ground in the vicinity. The other was
directly north .about one-fourth of a mile. Its diameter at the base was about 75 feet.

In the center of this last named mound, was found, at the depth of four feet, a layer of

stone, with the appearance of having been subjected to the action of fire. There were
also found a mass of charcoal, a bed of ashes, and calcined human bones. A number of

relics were also found in the smaller mound first mentioned. These examinations were
made by several gentlemen of Ottumwa.

Mr. F. C. Roberts, in a Fort Madison paper, writes of the examination of a mound
situated about six miles north of that city, a few years ago. It is located on the brow
of a hill, is of an elliptical shape, and small in size, being only about 30 feet long,
and 15 feet wide ; its height was about six feet. The mound contained a number of
separate compartments, constructed as follows : First, there was a floor made of lime-
stone, which must have been brought a distance of several miles, as none nearer could
have been obtained. This floor was laid regular and smooth, the best stone only being
used. Above the floor, with an intervening space of about twenty inches, there was a
roof, also made of limestone. The sides of this vault, if it may so be called, seemed to
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have once had stone walls, but they were more or less caved in. It was also thought that
the roof had originally been much higher. The compartments were made by partitions

or walls of stone. Each compartment was occupied by a human skeleton, and articles

of flint and stone, as well as some bones of animals. AH the skeletons of human origin

were placed in a sitting position, with the knees drawn up, and the head inclined forward
between them. The arms were placed by the side, and sometimes clasped around the
knees. Besides the human bones, there were those of some large birds and of some
animal. Some of these were charred, and were found in connection with charcoal and
ashes. There were numerous flint weapons, and small three cornered stones. '

In Clayton and other counties in the northeastern part of the State, the Mound
Builders have left numerous monuments of their existence in that region in pre-historic

times. The researches of Hon. Samuel Murdock, of Clayton county, have been exten-

sive and successful in giving to the scientific and antiquarian world much information in

relation to these works of an ancient people who, once occupied our continent. He has
collected a vast number of relics from the mounds in that portion of the State. After
long and thorough investigation, he gives it as his opinion that in Clayton county alone

there are not less than one hundred thousand artificial mounds, including the two classes, the

round and the elongated, the latter ranging from one hundred to six hundred feet in length.

All of them, so far as examinations have been made, contain more or less skeletons. One
which was examined near Clayton was estimated to have contained over one hundred bodies.

From investigations made, the inference is drawn that the elongated mounds are of greater

antiquity than the round ones. The skeletons found in the former are in a more ad-

vanced state of decay, and in some of them there is scarcely any trace of bones. In
nearly all the round mounds skeletons were found in a remarkably good state of pre-

servation, and can be obtained by the thousand. These facts indicate most conclusively

that the elongated mounds were the work of an older race of the Mound Builders, and
that they were erected ages before the round ones were. The fact that human remains
have been found in nearly all of both classes favors the theory that they were erected as

receptacles for the dead.

While workman were excavating a mound for the foundation of a warehouse in the

city of McGregor, in the Summer of 1874, human bones were found, and also a stone ax
weighing thirteen pounds. It was embedded twenty feet below the original surface.

As stated, the work of the Mound Builders was not confined to that portion of the

State embracing the Mississippi drainage. Similar remains, though not so numerous, are

observed on the western slope of the water-shed between the two great rivers bordering

the State. Some five miles below Denison, Crawford county, in the valley of Boyer
river, there is a semi-circular group of artificial mounds. They are situated on a plateau,

rising above the first, or lower bottom, and are about nine in number, each rising to a

height of from five to six feet above the general level of the ground. Another similar

group is located on a second bottom, at the mouth of Paradise creek, in the same county.

Human remains have been found in some of them.

GALENA MOUNDS.

On the top of the high bluffs that skirt the west bank of the Mississippi, about two
and a half miles from Galena, are a number of these silent monuments of a pre-Mstoric

age. The spot is one of surpassing beauty. From that point may be obtained a view of

a portion of three States,—^Illinois, Iowa and Wisconsin. A hundred feet below, at the

foot of the perpendicular cliffs, the trains of the Illinois Central Railroad thunder around

the curve, the portage is in full view, and the "Father of Waters," with its numerous
bayous and islands, sketches a grand panorama for miles above and below. Here,

probably thousands of years ago, a race of men now extinct, and unknown even in the

traditions of the Indians who inhabited that section for centuries before the discovery of
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America by Columbus, built these strangely wonderful and enigmatical mounds. At
this point these mounds are circular and conical in form. The largest one is atleast forty

feet in diameter at the base, and not less than fifteen feet high, even yet, after it has been

beaten by the storms of many centuries. On its top stands the large stump of an oak

tree that was cut down about fifty years ago, and its annual rings indicate a growth of

at least two hundred years.

One of the most singular earth-works in Illinois was found on the top of a ridge near

the east bank of the Sinsinawa creek in the lead region. It resembled some huge animal,

the head, ears, nose, legs and tail, and general outline of which being as perfect as if

made by men versed in modern art. The ridge on which it was situated stands on the

prairie, 300 yards wide, 100 feet in height, and rounded on the top by a deep deposit of

clay. Centrally, along the line of its summit, and thrown up iu the form of an embank-

ment three feet high, extended the outline of a quadruped measuring 250 feet from the

tip of the nose to the end of the tail, and having a width of 18 feet at the center of the

body. The head was 35 feet in length, the ears 10 feet, legs 60 and tail 75. The curva-

ture in both the fore and hind legs was natural to an animal lying on its side. The
general outline of the figure most nearly resembled the extinct animal known to geolo-

gists as the Megatherium. The question naturally arises, By whom and for what purpose

was this earth figure raised ? Some have conjectured that numbers of this now extinct

animal lived and roamed over the prairies of Illinois when the Mound Builders first

made their appearance on the upper part of the Mississippi Valley, and that their wonder
and admiration, excited by the colossal dimensions of these huge creatures, found some
expression in the erection of this figure. The bones of some similar gigantic animals

were exhumed on this stream about three miles from the same place.

LAEGE CITIES.

Mr. Breckenridge, who examined the antiquities of the Western country in 1817,

speaking of the mounds in the Amei'ican Bottom, says : " The great number and
extremely large size of some of them may be regarded as furnishing, with other circum-

stances, evidences of their antiquity. I have sometimes been induced to think that at

the period when they were constructed there was a population here as numerous as that

which once animated the borders of the Nile or Euphrates, or of Mexico. The most
numerous, as well as considerable, of these remains are found in precisely those parts of

the country where the traces of a numerous population might be looked for, namely,
from the mouth of the Ohio on the east side of the Mississippi, to the Illinois river, and
on the west from the St. Francis to the Missouri. I am perfectly , satisfied that cities

similar to those of ancient Mexico, of several hundred thousand souls, have existed in

this country."

It is sometimes difficult to distinguish the places of sepulture raised by the Mound
Builders from the more modern graves of the Indians. The tombs of the former were
in general larger than those of the latter, and were used as receptacles for a greater
number of bodies, and contain relics of art, evincing a higher degree of civilization than
that attained by the Indians. The ancient earthworks of the Mound-Builders have
occasionally been appropriated as burial places by the Indians, but the skeletons of the
latter may be distinguished from the osteological remains of the former by their greater
stature.

The fact that their works extend into Mexico and Peru has induced the belief that
it was their posterity that dwelt in these countries when they were first visited by the
Spaniards. The Mexican and Peruvian works, with the exception of their greater
magnitude, are similar. Relics common to all of them have been occasionally found, and
it is believed that the religious uses which they subserved were the same.

Having noticed briefly some of the various forms in which these stupendous works
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of men who lived far back in the centuries, whose annals have not come down to us in

any written language, we can say now that the most learned have only been able to

conjecture as to the remoteness of their antiquity. The evidences that they are of ver^/

great age are abundant and conclusive, but how many hundreds or thousands of years ?

This is the problem that many an antiquary would freely give years of study and inves-

tigation to solve. The length of time which elapsed during which these works were in

progress is another of the unsolved questions connected with them, and yet there is

abundant evidence that some of them are much older than others ; that the process of

their construction extends over a large duration of time— a time during which the

Mound Builders themselves passed through the changes which mark the monuments that

they have left behind them. It is a well known fact that the manners and customs of

rude nations isolated from intercourse and commerce with the world, pass through the

process of change and development very slowly. The semi-civilized nations of eastern

lands, after the lapse of thousands of years, still cling to the manners and customs, and
the superstitions of their ancestors, who lived at the early dawn of our historic period.

They use the same rude implements of husbandry, the same utensils in the household, the

same arms in warfare, and practice the same style of dress—all with bnt little change or

modification. The changes are only sufficiently marked to be perceptible after many
generations have passed away. Situated as the Mound Builders were, we can but infer

that they too passed slowly through the processes of change, and the works which they
have left behind them thoroughly attest the truth of this proposition. Their older works
appear to be more elaborate and more intricate, showing that the earJier workers were
possessed of a higher decree of attainment in the mechanical arts than those whose
works are more recent. The inference is that probably after long ages, they gradually
retrograded, and were finally subdued or driven southward into Mexico and Central
America, by the ancestors of the Indians, who came upon them from the northwest, as

the Goths and Vandals invaded and subverted the Roman Empire. This final subjuga-
tion may have resulted after centuries of warfare, during which time these fortifications

were constructed as defences against the enemy. That they were for military purposes
is scarcely susceptible of a doubt. This implies a state of warfare, and war implies an
enemy. The struggle ended in the final subjugation of that people to whom we apply
the name of Mound Builders—their conquerors and successors being a race of people in

whom we recognize to this day, traces of the Asiatic type.

We, another race of people, after the lapse of other ages, tread to-day, in our turn,

on the ruiufi of at least a limited civilization— a civilization older than that of the Aztecs,

whom Cortez found in Mexico. This great Mississippi valley was once a populous
empire, millions of whose subjects repose in the sepulchers scattered in our valleys and
over our prairies. While we bow at the shrine of a more intelligent Deity, and strive to

build up a truer and better civilization, let us still remember that we tread on classic

ground.
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CHAPTER IX.

WESTERN AND NORTHWESTERN STATES.

Legislation in Regard to Ohio— Admission as a State— Description— Climate and Soil— Origin of Name— Seat

of Government— Legislation in Regard to Indiana— Description — Lost River— Wyandot Cave— Seat of

Government— Internal Improvements— Vincennes— Illinois— Physical Features — Productions— Towns
and Cities—" Lover's Leap "— " Buffalo Rock "— " Cave in the Rock "— Michigan— The Boundary Question

— Admission as a State— Description— History— Towns and Cities— Wisconsin— Description — Climate

and Productions — Objects of Interest— Towns and Cities— Sketch of Milwaukee— Minnesota— Descrip-

tion — Lakes— Climate and Productions— Natural Scenery— Red Pipe Stone— Historical Sketch— Towns
and Cities— Nebraska— Description— Towns and Cities— Missouri— Organic Legislation— The " Missouri

Compromise "— Description— Early Settlement— St. Louis.

OHIO.

Ohio was the first State formed out of the territory northwest of the river Ohio,

and was ceded to the United States by the General Assembly of Vir^iinia in 1783, and

accepted by the Congress of the United States, AFarch 1, 1784. This territory was
divided into two separate governments by act of Congress of May 7, 1800. Ohio re-

mained a Territorial government until under an act of Congress, approved April 30,

1802, it adopted a State constitution, and was allowed one representative in Congress.

On the first of November of the same year the constitution was presented in Congress.

The people having, on November 29, 1802, complied with the act of Congress of April

30, 1802, whereby the State became one of the United States, an act was passed and
approved February 19, 1803, for the due execution [of the laws of the United States

within that State.

The State embraces an area of about 39,964 square miles, or 25,576,960 acres.

There are no mountains, but the central portion of the State is elevated about 1,000 feet

above the level of the sea, while other portions are from 600 to 800 feet in elevation. A
belt of highlands north of the middle of the State separates the rivers flowing north into

Lake Erie from those flowing south into the Ohio river. The middle portion of the

State in great part is an elevated plain with occasional patches of marsh land. A large

proportion of the State when first settled was covered with forests, but in the central

part there was some prairie. Boulders are found scattered over the surface, as they are

generally throughout the Northwest.

The bituminous coal-fiehl of the State extends over an area embracing nearly 12,000

square miles. It occupies the eastern and southeastern parts, with its northern boundary
running near Wooster, Newark, and Lancaster. There are also frequent beds of lime-

stone, as well as sandstone well suited for heavy masonry. The most important of the other

mineral productions is iron, which it possesses in great abundance. This is found run-

ning through the counties of Lawrence, Gallia, Jackson, Meigs, Vinton, Athens, and
Hocking, in a bed 100 miles long by 12 wide. For fine castings it is not surpassed by
that found in any other part of the United States. Salt springs are also frequent.

The great river of the State is the Ohio, which forms its southern boundary, and
receives the tributary volume of waters flowing from the Muskingum, Scioto, and Miami,
as well as those of many smaller streams. The interior rivers mentioned vary in length
from 110 to 200 miles. The Ohio is navigable by steamboats of the first-class during
one-half the year to Pittsburgh, The Muskingum is navigable by means of dams and
locks to Zanesville, 70 miles from its mouth, and at times 30 miles farther up to Coshoc-
ton. On the northern slope of the State, beginning at the northwest, are the Maumee,
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Sanduslcy, Huron, and Cuyahoga, all flowing into Lake Erie, and all flowing their entire
course within the State, except the Maumee, which rises in Indiana. The last-named
river is navigable for lake steamers a distance of 18 miles. Lake Erie coasts the State
about 150 miles on the north and northeast, affording several good harbors.

Tire climate in the southern part of the State is mild, while in the north the temper-
ature is equally as rigorous as in the same latitude near the Atlantic. Great droughts
have occasionally prevailed, but the State is regarded as one of the most productive in

the Union. Indian corn, wheat, rye, oats, and barley, are the leading cereals. All the
fruits of the temperate latitudes are generally abundant. The forest trees are of many
kinds, including the several varieties of oak, hickory, sugar maple, beech, poplar, ash,

sycamore, paw-paw, buckeye, dogwood, cherry, elm, and hackberiy.
The State receives its name from that of the river which forms its southern boundary.

It is of Indian or aboriginal origin. It is not easy to determine its real signiiication in

the Indian language, but some writers have claimed that it means handsome or beautiful.

Tliis opinion would seem to be somewhat plausible from the fact that the early French
explorers called it La Belle Riviere, or the Beautiful River, having probably learned the
signification of the Indian name, and therefore gave it a French name with the same
signification.

Ohio was first partially settled by a few French emigrants on the Ohio river, while
they poss3Ssed Canada and Louisiana, about the middle of the last century. But these

Kettlements were very inconsiderable until the years 1787 and 1788, when the Ohio
Company and others from New England made the settlement at Marietta. The early

inhabitants were much annoyed by the incursions of the Indians, who had successively

defeated Gen. Harmar and Gen. St. Clair, in 1791 and 1792, but were themselves utterly

routed by Gen. Wayne in August, 1794. Fort Sandusky, in the war of 1812, was suc-

cessfully defended by Maj. Croghan, then but 21 j'ears of age, with 160 men against the

attack of Gen. Proctor, with 500 British regulars and as many Indians. Cincinnati was
laid out as early as 1788, but there were only a few settlers until after Wayne's victory.

It then improved rapidly, having in 1818 a population of upward of 9,000. Chillicothe

was laid out in 1796, and in 1818 had a population of 2,600. Columbus, the present
capital, was laid out early in the year 1812, and in 1818 contained about 1,500 inhabi-

tants. Cleveland was laid out in 1796, and about the same time a number of settlements

were made along the Miami. Until the legislature met in Columbus, in December, 1816,

Cincinnati and Chillicothe had alternately enjoyed the distinction of being both the

Territorial and State capitals. In 1814 the first State-house, a plain brick building, was
erected at Columbus, the permanent seat of the State Government. In February, 1852,

it was entirely consumed by fire, and was succeeded by the presont fine State capitol,

which had been commenced prior to the destruction of the old one. The convention

which formed the first constitution of the State was held in Chillicothe, in November, 1802.

The following table shows the population of Ohio at the close of each decade, from
1800 to 1870

:

AGGREGATE.

iSoo.
l8lO.
1820.

1830.
1840.
1850.
i860.
1870.

45,028
228,861

576,572
928,329

1,502,122

1,955.050
2,302,808

2,601,946

337
1,899

4,723

9,574
1 7,345

25,279

36,673
63,213

45,365
230,760

581,295

937,903
1, 519,-167

I 980,329
*2, 339.511

*2,665,26o

* The above aggregate for i860 includes 30 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate for

1870 includes 100 enumerated as Indians.
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INDIANA.

Indiana was formed out of a part of the Northwestern Territory which was ceded to

the United States by Virginia. It received a separate Territorial form of govern-

ment by act of Congress of May 7, 1800, and William Henry Harrison was appointed

Governor. At this time it included all the territory west to the Mississippi river, includ-

ing all now embraced in the States of Michigan, Illinois, Wisconsin, and that part of

Minnesota east of the Mississippi. The seat of the territorial government was estab-

lished at Vincennes. By act of January 11, 1805, it was divided into two separate

governments, and that of Michigan created. Again, February 3, 1809, that of Illinois

was created. On the 19th of April, 1816, Congress passed an act to enable the people

of Indiana to form a constitution and State government. On the 29th of June of the

same year the people formed a constitution, and on the 11th of December, 1816, an act

of Congress was approved admitting the State into the Union. The laws of the United

States were extended to the State by an act of March 3, 1817.

Indiana is 278 miles in its greatest length from north to south, and about 144 miles

in width, and includes an area of 33,809 square miles, or 21,637,760 acres. It has no

mountains or great elevations, but portions south of White river are somewhat hilly.

North of the White and Wabash rivers the country is generally level or slightly undulat-

ing. The rivers are generally bordered by rich alluvial bottom lands, sometimes extend-

ing for several miles in width. Some of the southeastern counties in places present a

rocky surface. The eastern part is generally heavily timbered, while the western is

chiefly prairie. The State has a gradual inclination toward the Ohio, and most of the

streams flow into that river. Lake Michigan borders the State on the northwest for a

distance of about 40 miles, while the Ohio forms the entire southern boundary. In the

northern part there are some small lakes. The Wabash is the largest interior river, and
with its tributaries drains nearly three-fourths of the State. At high water it is navig-

able by steamboats as far as Covington. White river is its principal tributary. It rises

in two branches in the eastern part of the State, the two branches uniting about 30 miles

from the Wabash. The Maumee is formed by the St. Joseph's and St. Mary's in the

northeastern part of the State, and passes off into Ohio. The Kankakee, one of the

sources of the Illinois, drains the northwestern part of the State. Among other streams
are the Tippecanoe, Mississiniwa, Whitewater,' Flat Rock, and the Blue rivers.

The State yields an abundance of coal, the great deposit being in the southwestern
portion, and embracing an area of nearly 8,000 square miles, or some twenty-two coun-
ties, in most of which it is profitably mined. There are also iron, zinc, gypsum, and lime

and sandstone. Many quarries of stone yield excellent building material.

Indiana is not without its natural wonders Avhich have attracted the attention of the

curious. Among these is Lost river, in Orange county. This stream is about fifty feet

in width. It sinks many feet under ground, and then rises to the surface at a distance of

11 miles. Then there is Wyandot Cave, in Crawford county. In beauty and magnifi-
cence it almost rivals the celebrated Mammoth Cave in Kentucky. It has been explored
a distance of over 20 miles. Its greatest width is about 300 feet, and its greatest height
245 feet. Among its interior wonders are " Bandit's Hall," " Pluto's Ravine," " Monu-
ment Mountain," " Lucifer's Gorge," and " Calypso's Island." The interior is brilliantly

sparred with pendant stalactites.

The climate is milder than in the same latitude on the Atlantic coast, but somewhat
subject to sudden changes. The soil is generally productive, and in the river bottoms
very deep, well adapted to Indian corn and other kinds of grain. The alluvial bottom
lands of the Wabash and its tributaries are especially noted for their fertility. The pro-
ductions are the various kinds of grain, vegetables, and fruits common in temperate lati-

tudes.
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Indiana has a large variety of forest trees. Among those indigenous to the State
are several kinds of oak, poplar, ash, walnut, hickory, elm, cherry, maple, buckeye, beech,
locust, sycamore, cottonwood, hackberry, mulberry, and some sassafras.

Indianapolis is the capital, and is situated on the west fork of White river, in Marion
county. The site was selected for the capital in 1820, while the whole country for forty

miles in every direction was covered with a dense forest. Previous to 1825 the State
capital was at Corydon, but in that year the public offices were removed to Indianapolis.

The State-house was erected at a cost of $60,000, and at that time was considered an
elegant building. It is now unsuited for the purposes of a great State like Indiana, and
will soon give place to a larger and more elegant structure. Indianapolis in 1840 had a

population of 2,692 ; in 1850 it had 8,900 ; in 1860 it had 18,611 ; and in 1870 it had
48,244.

In works of internal improvement Indiana stands among the leading States of the

Mississippi valley. Railroads radiate in all directions from Indianapolis, and there is

scarcely a place in the State of any considerable importance that is not connected,
directly or indirectly, with the larger cities. Among her early improvements were the
Wabash and Erie Canal, connecting Evansville with Toledo, and the Whitewater Canal,

connecting Cambridge City with Lawrenceburg, on the Ohio. Of the Wabash and Erie
Canal, 379 miles are within the limits of Indiana. The Whitewater Canal is 74 miles

long. Indianapolis is the largest and most important city in the State, and among the

principal cities may be mentioned New Albany, Evansville, Fort Wayne, La Fayette,

Terre Haute, Madison, Laporte, JefPersonville, Logansport, Crawfordsville, Lawrenceburg,
South Bend and Michigan City. Corydon, the former State capital, is 115 miles south
of Indianapolis, in Harrison county. When the seat of government was removed from
this place to Indianapolis, in 1824, it remained stationary for a long time, but within a

few years it has become more flourishing. Vincennes, the ancient seat of the Territorial

government, is on the left bank of the Wabash river, 120 miles south of Indianapolis.

It is the oldest town in the State, and possesses much historic interest, being first set-

tled by the French about the year 1735. Many of the present inhabitants are of French
descent. The seat of government was removed from Vincennes to Corydon in 1813.

The following table shows the population of Indiana, at the close of each decade,

from 1800 to 1870 :

i8oo-
i8io.
1820.
1830.
1840-
1850.
i860.

1870.

WHITE. COLORED. AGGREGATE.

2,402 298 2,517
23,890 630 24,520

145.758 1,420 147.178

339.399 3.632 343.031
678,698 7,168 685,866

977.154 11,262 988,416
1.338,710 11,428 *i,350,428

1.655.837 24,560 *i,68o,637

*The above aggregate for i860 includes 290 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate for

1870 includes 240 enumerated as Indians.

Illinois.

Illinois was the third State admitted to the Union from the Northwestern Territory.

It was set off from Indiana Territory as a separate and distinct territorial dependency,

under act of Congress approved February 3, 1809, and admitted as a sovereign and inde-

pendent State under act of Congress approved December 3, 1818.

5
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PHYSICAL PBATUKES.

The extreme length of Illinois from north to south is about 380 miles, and its

greatest width about 200 miles. It embraces an area of 55,409 square miles, or 35,459,-
'

200 acres. The surface of the State is generally level, with a general inclination from

north to south, as indicated by the course of its rivers. There are some elevated bluffs

along the Mississippi and Illinois rivers, and a small tract of hilly country in the south-

ern part of the State. The northwest part also contains a considerable amount of broken

land. Some of the prairies are large, but in the early settlement of the State there were

many small prairies, skirted with fine groves of timber. The prairies are generally

undulating, and in their native state were clothed in a great variety of beautiful wild

flowers. The State is well supplied with minerals of great economic value. The region,

of Galena, in the northwest part, has for many years yielded vast quantities of lead.

The coal fields cover an area of 44,000 square miles. There are salt springs in Gallatin,

Jackson and Vermillion counties ; and medicinal springs, chiefly sulphur and chalybeate,

have been found in several places. Excellent building stone for heavy masonry, are

quarried at Joliet, Lemont, Quincy, and other places.

Illinois possesses preeminent facilities for water transportation, the Mississippi river

forming the entire western boundary, and the Ohio the entire southern, while Lake
Michigan bounds it on the northeast 60 miles. The Illinois river is navigable for steam-

boats 286 miles. Rock river, though having obstructions near its mouth, has in times of

high water been navigated for a considerable distance. Kaskaskia, Sangamon and Spoon
rivers have also been navigated by steamboat, but the construction of railroads has in a

great measure superseded the necessitj^ of this means of transportation. Among the riv-

ers are the upper portion of the Wabash, which receives from this State the waters of the

Vermillion, Embarras and Little Wabash. The principal tributaries, or sources, of the

Illinois river are Kaskaskia, Des Plaines and Fox rivers. Lake Peoria is an expansion of

the Illinois river, near the middle of the State. Lake Pishtoka, in the northeast part, is

a lake of some importance.
Illinois, extending through five degrees of latitude, presents considerable variety of

climate. Peaches and some other fruits, which do not succeed so well in the northern
part, rarely fail to yield abundantly in the southern part. The State has immense agri-

cultural capabilities, unsurpassed, indeed, by any other State in the Union, unless it may
be the younger State of Iowa. Among its agricultural staples are Indian corn, wheat,

oats, rye, potatoes, butter and cheese. Stock raising on the prairies of Illinois, has, for

many years, been carried on extensively. All the fruits and vegetables common to the

latitudes in which it is situated are successfully and abundantly produced.
Timber is plentiful, but not very equally diffused. The bottom lands are supplied

with fine growths of black and white walnut, ash, hackberry, elm, sugar maple, honey
locust, sycamore, cottonwood, hickory, and several species of oak. Some of these also

grow on the uplands, and in addition white oak, and other valuable kinds of timber.

White and yellow poplar flourish in the southern part, and cypress on the Ohio bottom
lands.

As we have seen, Illinois did not become a member of the Federal Union until 1818,
yet settlements were made within its limits about the same time that William Penn colo-

nized Pennsylvania, in the latter part of the seventeenth century. These settlements,
like other French colonies, failed to increase very rapidly, and it was not until after the
close of the Revolution, that extensive colonization commenced.

Springfield, the capital of Illinois, was laid out in 1822. It is situated three miles
south of the Sangamon river, in Sangamon county, and is surrounded by rich and exten-
sive prairies, which have been transformed into splendid farms. Large quantities of
bituminous coal are mined in this vicinity. This city will ever be memorable as the home
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of Abraham Lincoln, and as the place where his remains are entombed. In 1840 it had
a population of 2,579 ; in 1850 it had 4,533 ; in 1860 it had 7,002 ; and in 1870 it had
17,364. Since the last date the population has increased rapidly. A new and magnifi-
cent State capitol has been erected, and Springfield may now be regarded as one of the
flourishing cities of Illinois.

Chicago, on the site of old Fort Dearborn, is now the largest interior city of the
United States. It stands on the shore of Lake Michigan, with the Chicago river flowing
through it. As the great commercial emporium of the Northwest, a special account of
this city will be given elsewhere. Among other large and thriving cities are Peoria,
Quincy, Galena, Belleville, Alton, Rockford, Bloomington, Ottawa, Aurora, Lincoln,
Rock Island, Galesburg, Joliet and Jacksonville.

The internal improvements of Illinois are on a grand scale» The railroads traverse
almost every county, connecting her towns and cities with her great commercial city on
the lake, and with the markets of the East. Besides these, she has her great canal, from
Chicago to Peru, uniting the waters of Lake Michigan with the Mississippi river. This
canal is 100 miles long.

A few striking features of the natural scenery of this State may be mentioned.
Along the Mississippi are bold and picturesque bluffs, rising from one to three hundred
feet. " Starved Rock " and " Lover's Leap " are eminences on Illinois river, the former
being a perpendicular mass of limestone, eight miles below Ottawa, and rising 150 feet
above the river. It is so called from an incident in Indian warfare. A band of Illinois

Indians took refuge on this eminence from the Pottawatomies, but being surrounded by
the latter, they all died, it is said not of starvation, but of thirst. Nearly opposite
" Lover's Leap " is " Buffalo Rock," 100 feet high. Here the Indians formerly drove the
Buffalo, and with shouts caused them to crowd each other over the precipice. On the
banks of the Ohio, in Hardin county, is " Cave in the Rock," the entrance to which is

but little above the water. The cave ascends gradually from the entrance to the extreme
limit, back 180 feet. In 1797 it was the rendezvous of a band of robbers, who sallied

forth to rob boatmen and emigrants. Other outlaws have since made it their abode.
The following table shows the population of Illinois at the close of each decade,

from 1800 to lb70.

i8oo
i8io
1820

1830
1840
1850
i860
1870

WHITE. COLORED. AGGREGATE.

2,275 183 2,458
11,501 781 12,282

53.788 1,374 55,162
155,061 2,384 157,445
472,254 3,929 476,183
846,034 5,436 851,470

1,704,291 7,628 *I,711,951
2,511,096 28,762 *2,539,89i

* The above aggregate for i860 includes 32 enumerated Indians, and the same number
enumerated as Indians in 1870.

Michigan.

Michigan was formed out of a part of the territory ceded to the United States by
the State of Virginia. It was detached from Indiana Territory, and became a separate

Territorial government under an act of Congress approved January 11, 1805. It re-

mained for more than thirty years under a territorial form of government, but embraced
a vast region not now included in the State. During this time there was considerable

legislation in regard to its boundaries, the most important of which was the adjustment

of the boundary line between Michigan and the State of Ohio, in 1836. In January,
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1833, a memorial of the Legislative Council of the Territory was presented to Congress,

praying for admission into the Union as a State. The prayer of the memorial was not

granted at that time, partly on account of the disputed boundary question. Finally, on

the 15th of June, 1836, an act was passed " to establish the northern boundary of the

State of Ohio, and to provide for the admission of the State of Michigan into the Union,

upon conditions therein expressed." One of the conditions was, that if a convention of

delegates elected by the people of Michigan for the purpose of giving their assent to the

boundaries, as declared and established by the act of June 15th, 1836, should first give

their assent, then Michigan was to be declared one of the States of the Union. This

condition having been complied with, Congress, on the 26th of January, 1837, passed an

act declaring Michigan one of the United States, and admitting it into the Union upon

an equal footing with thg original States.

Michigan occupies two peninsulas, the southern one lying between Lakes Erie, St.

Clair and Huron on the east, and Lake Michigan on the west ; and the northern one be-

tween Lakes Michigan and Huron on the south, and Lake Superior on the north. The
northern peninsula is about 820 miles in extreme length, from southeast to northwest,

and 130 miles in its greatest width. The southern peninsula is about 283 miles from
north to south, and 210 miles from east to west in its greatest width. The joint area of

the two peninsulas is 56,243 square miles, or 35,595,520 acres. The northern peninsula

embraces about two-fifths of the total area.

The southern peninsula is generally an undulating plain, with a few slight elevations.

The shores of Lake Huron are often characterized by steep bluffs, while those of Lake
Michigan are coasted by shifting sand-hills, rising from one hundred to two hundred feet

in height. In the southern part of this peninsula are large districts covered with thinly

scattered trees, called " oak openings."

The northern peninsula is in striking contrast with the southern, both as to soil and
surface. It is rugged, witli streams abounding in water-falls. The Wisconsin, or Porcu-
pine Mountains, form the water-shed between Lakes Michigan and Superior, and attain

an elevation of 2,000 feet in the northwestern portion of the peninsula. The shores of

Lake Superior are composed of sandstone rock, which in places is worn by the winds and
waves into many strange and fanciful shapes, resembling the ruins of castles, and form-

ing the celebrated " Pictured Rocks." The northern peninsula of Michigan possesses

probably the richest copper mines in the world, occupying a belt one hundred and twenty
miles in length by from two to six miles in width. It is rich in minerals, but rigorous in

climate and sterile in soil. Coal is plentiful at Corunna, one hundred miles from Detroit.

The State is so surrounded and intersected by lakes as to fairly entitle it to the sou-

briquet of " The Lake State," There are a number of small lakes in the interior of the
State, which add to the general variety of scenery, but are not important to nsivigation.

The Straits of Mackinaw (formerly written Michilimackinac) divide the southern from
the northern peninsula, and connect the waters of Lakes Michigan and Huron by a navi-

gable channel. There are a number of small rivers, the most important in the southern
peninsula being St. Joseph's, Kalamazoo, Grand, Muskegon and Manistee, all emptying
into Lake Michigan ; and Au Sable and Saginaw, flowing into Lake Huron, and the
Huron and Raisin .discharging their waters into Lake Erie. The principal rivers of the
northern peninsula are the Menomonee, Montreal and Ontonagon. The shores around
the lakes are indented by numerous bays. Several small islands belong to Michigan, the
most imortant of which is Isle Royale, noted for its copper mines.

The climate of Michigan is generally rigorous, except in proximity to the lakes,
where the fruits of the temperate zone succeed admirably. The northern peninsula is

favorable for Winter wheat, but Indian corn does not succeed well. In the southern
peninsula, Indian corn is produced abundantly, as well as the Winter grains. This part
of the State is pre-eminently agricultural.



THE NOKTHWEST TERRITORY. 61

Portions of the northern peninsula are heavily timbered with white pine, spruce,

.

hemlock, birch, aspen, maple, ash and elm, and vast quantities of lumber are manufac-
tured at the fine mill-sites afforded by the rapid streams. Timber is plentiful also in the
southern peninsula, and consists chiefly of several species of oak, hickory, ash, basswood,
maple, elm, linden, locust, dogwood, poplar, beech, sycamore, cottonwood, black and
white walnut, cherry, pine, tamarack, cypress, cedar and chestnut.

Northern Michigan abounds in picturesque scenery, among which may be mentioned
the " Pictured Rocks," composed of sandstone of various colors. They extend for about
twelve miles, and rise 300 feet above the water. Sometimes cascades shoot over the

precipice, so that vessels can sail between them and the natural wall of the rock. This
portion-of the State every season attracts large numbers of excursionists and pleasure-

seekers, on account of its chai-ming and interesting scenery.

The State is named for the lake which forms a part of its boundary, and signifies in

the Indian language, " Great Water." The first white settlements were by the French,
near Detroit and at Mackinaw, in the latter half of the seventeenth century ; but these

colonies did not progress rapidly. This territory, with other French possessions in

North America, came into possession of Great Britain at the peace of 1763. It remained
under the dominion of Great Britain until the American Revolution, when it became the
possession of the United States. The British, however, did not surrender Detroit until

1796. This region was chiefly the scene of the exploits of the celebrated chief Pontiac,

after the expulsion of the French. During the war of 1812, Michigan became the

theater of several of the battles and many of the incidents connected with that war.

At Frenchtown, in this State, January 22, 1813, occurred a cruel massacre by the sav-

ages of a party of American prisoners of war. Gen. Harrison soon after drove the

enemy out of the Territory, and removed the seat of war into Canada, where he fought
and gained the battle of the Thames.

Lansing, the capital of Michigan, is situated on Grand river, in Ingham county, one
hundred and ten miles northwest of Detroit. It was selected for the seat of govern-
ment in 1847, at which time it was surrounded by an almost unbroken wilderness. The
river here affords excellent water power. A new and handsome State capitol has just

been completed.
Detroit, situated on the river from which it takes its name, eighteen miles from the

head of Lake Erie, is the largest city in the State. It was the capital until the removal
of the seat of government to Lansing, in 1850. Historically it is one of the most inter-

esting cities in the West. The French had here a military post as early as 1670. Three
Indian tribes, the Hurons, Pottawattamies and Ottawas, had their villages in the vicinity.

With other French possessions, it passed into the hands of the British at the peace of

1763, and twenty years later it came under the jurisdiction of the United States, although,

as stated above, it was not surrendered until 1796. June 11th, 1805, it was almost to-

tally destroyed by flre. Gen. Wm. Hull, first governor of the Territory of Michigan,

then projected the city on a new plan. On the 18th of August, 1812, this same Gen.
Hull surrendered it into the hands of the British, but the latter evacuated it September
29th of the same year. In 1870 the popixlation was 79,577, and since then has rapidly

increased.

Among the other important towns and cities in the State, are Grand Rapids, Adrian,

Kalamazoo, Ann Arbor, Jackson and Monroe.
The following table shows the population of Michigan at the close of each decade,

from 1800 to 1870 :
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iSoo
1810
1820
1830
1840
1850
i860
1870

551
4,618

8,591

31,346
211,560

395.071
736,142

1,167,282

144
174
293
707

2,583

6,799
11,849

AGGREGATE.

4,762

8,765

31.639
212,276

397,654
*749."3

*i,i84,059

* The above aggregate for i860 includes 6,172 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate

for 1876 includes 4,926 enumerated as Indians.

Wisconsin.

Wisconsin was formed out of a portion of the Territory of Michigan, but was
originally a part of the Northwestern Territory ceded by the State of Virginia to the

United States. On the 12th of December, 1832, a resolution passed the house of rep-

resentatives directing a committee to inquire into the expediency of creating a Terri-

torial government for Wisconsin out of a part of Michigan. On the 20th of April, 1836,

an act was passed and approved establishing a Territorial government. On the 20th of

June, 1838, an act was passed and approved to divide the Territory of Wisconsin, and to

establish the Territorial government of Iowa. June 12, 1838, an act was passed desig-

nating the boundary line between the State of Michigan and the Territory of Wisconsin.

On the 6th of August, 1846, an act was passed and approved to enable the people to

form a constitution and State government. On the 21st of January, 1847, the people

adopted a constitution, and on the 3d of March of the same year an act of Congress was
passed and approved for the admission of the State into the Union. By act of May 29,

1848, the State was declared admitted into the Union, to be entitled to three represen-

tatives in Congress after March 3, 1849.

The extreme length of Wisconsin from north to south is about 285 miles, and its

greatest breadth from east to west is about 255 miles. It includes an area of about 53,-

924 square miles, or 34,511,360 acres. It is generally of an elevated rolling surface, with

a large proportion of prairie. There are no mountains, properly so called, though the

descent toward Lake Superior is quite abrupt, and the rivers full of rapids and falls,

which afford valuable mill-sites. The great lakes, Superior and Michigan, lave the

northern and eastern borders, besides which there are a nnmber of smaller lakes, the

most important of which is Lake Winnebago, southeast of the middle of the State. It

is 28 miles long and 10 miles wide, and communicates with Green Bay through the Fox
or Neenah river. In the northwestern part are numerous small lakes, with clear water,

gravelly or rocky bottoms, and bold picturesque shores. The rivers generally flow in a

southwest direction and discharge their waters into the Mississippi, which flows along
the southwest border of the State more than 200 miles. The most important interior

river is the Wisconsin, which has a course of about 200 miles almost directly south, when
it changes its course westwardly, and flows about 100 miles further to its junction with
the Mississippi. At favorable stages it is navigable for steamboats 180 miles. The Bad
Axe, Black, Chippewa, and St. Croix rivers are important streams for floating timber and
lumber from the pine region in the northwest part of the State. The streams flowing
into Lake Superior are small, but rapid, affording excellent mill-sites.

The climate is severe and the Winters long, but the State is free from the unhealthy
changes which are common farther south. The south and middle portions form a fine

agricultural region. Wheat is the great staple production, though all kinds of small
grain and Indian corn are raised successfully. Large portions of the State are well
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adapted to grazing and the dairy. The northern part of the State, about the head-waters
of the Black and Chippewa rivers, and the sources of the rivers emptying into Lake
Superior, has but limited agricultural capabilities, as in that region are many ponds and
marshes, and also large quantities of boulders scattered over the surface.

There are many objects of interest to the tourist and the lover of the picturesque.

The rivers abound in rapids and falls. In St. Louis river there is a series of cascades '

which have a descent of 320 feet in 16 miles. The Menomonee river at Quinnesec Falls

dashes down over a perpendicular ledge of rocks 40 feet, and has a fall of 134 feet in a

mile and a half. Among other noted falls are the St. Croix, Chippewa and Big Bull
Falls in the Wisconsin river. Along the rivers are many grand views of bluffs, rising

from 150 to 200 feet, and at one place in Richland county on the Wisconsin, where it

passes through a narrow gorge, the cliffs have an elevation of from 400 to 500 feet. On
the Mississippi, in La Crosse county, the rocks rise 500 feet perpendicularly above the water.

The great lead region extends into the southwestern part of Wisconsin. The deposit

here is intermingled to some extent with copper and zinc, together with some silver.

Copper is found, in a number of places, and also some iron ore. The iron ores of the

Lake Superior regioii extend into Wisconsin. Beautiful varieties of marble are found on
the Menomonee river and in other localities.

On the upper Wisconsin river, and other tributaries of the Mississippi, north of the

Wisconsin, are vast forests of pine, and immense quantities are annually floated down
the Mississippi to supply the markets in other States. Among other forest trees are

spruce, tamarack, cedar, hemlock, oak of several varieties, birch, aspen, basswood, hick-

ory, elm, ash, poplar, sycamore and sugar-maple.

Wisconsin was visited at an early period by French missionaries, and a settlement

was made in the latter part of the seventeenth century.

Madison, the capital of the State, is situated on an isthmus between Lakes Mendota
and Monona, 80 miles west of Milwaukee, and 132 miles northwest of Chicago. When
the place was selected for the seat of government in 1836, there were no buildings ex-

cept a solitary log cabin. The State capitol is a fine looking stone building erected at a

cost of $500,000, and stands on an elevation seventy feet above the lakes. The city

overlooks a charming country, diversified by a pleasing variety of scenery. It has stead-

ily and rapidly increased in population.

The great city of Wisconsin is Milwaukee (called at an early day " Milwacky ")

and next to Chicago, may be regarded as the commercial metropolis of the Northwest.

It is situated on the west shore of Lake Michigan, about 90 miles nortli of Chicago.

Milwaukee river empties into the lake at this point. Tlie city is situated on both sides

of the river, and has one of the best harbors on the whole chain of lakes. The fine

water power of the Milwaukee river is an important element in its prosperity. Being a

port of entry, the government has expended large sums in the improvements of its har-

bor, and in the erection of public buildings.

In 1805 Jacques Vieau, a half-breed trader whose house was at Green Bay, visited

the country at the mouth of the Milwaukee river for the purpose of trading with the

Indians. This he did annually until in September, 1818, when he brought with him a

young man named Solomon Juneau, who became his son-in-law. The young man estab-

lished friendly relations with the Indians, and in 1822 erected a block-house on the site

of the present city of Milwaukee. He remained for eight years the only permanent

white resident, being visited occasionally by fur traders to whom he sold goods. In 1836,

the village which has grown to be a large city, began to appear. Juneau died in 1856,

at the age of 64 years, having lived to see the place he founded grow to a prosperous and
flourishing city. In 1836 the population was 275; in 1840, it was 1,810 ; in 1850, it was

19,873 ; in 1860, it was 46,286 ; in 1870, it was 71,640 ; and at the presejit time (1880)

t is estimated at 123,000.
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Among other important towns and cities of Wisconsin are Racine, Janesville, Osh-
kosh, Fond du Lac, Watertown, Sheboygan, Beloit, Kenosha, La Crosse, Wauwatosa,
Manitowoc, Portage City, Platteville, Sheboygan Falls, Beaver Dam, Whitewater, Port
Washington, Green Bay, Mineral Point, ShuUsburg, Monroe, Prescott, and Hudson.

The following table shows the population of Wisconsin at the close of each
decade from 1800 to 1870

:

YEAR. WHITE. COLORED. AGGREGATE.

i8oo 115

30,749
304,756

773,693
1,051,351

Ig6

635
1,171

2,113

115
i8io
1820
1830
1840 . 30,945

305,391
*775,88i

* 1,054,670

1850
i860
1870 .. .

* The above aggregate for i860 includes 1,017 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate
for 1870 includes 1,206 enumerated as Indians.

Minnesota.

The eastern portion of Minnesota formed a part of the territory surrendered by the
French to Great Britain at the peace of 1763, and subsequently by the latter to the
United States at the close of the Revolution. The western portion is a part Oi the
territory known as the Louisiana Purchase, ceded by France to the United States in

1803. It received a Territorial form of government under an act of Congress which
became a law March 3, 1849, and was admitted into the Union as a State May 11, 1853.

The extreme length of Minnesota, north and south, is about 380 miles, and in width
is about 300 miles. It embraces an area of 81,259 square miles, or 52,005,760 acres.
The face of the country generally presents the appearance of an undulating plain,
although it is the most elevated tract of country between the Gulf of Mexico and Hud-
son's Bay. There are no mountains, but the summits of the water-sheds rise to a height
of nearly two thousand feet above the level of the sea.

Minnesota is one of the best watered States in the Union, being drained by many
rivers and dotted over with innumerable small lakes and some of considerable size. The
great Mississippi has its humble origin as a mere rivulet in Lake Itasca. This diminutive
stream, here but a few feet in width, first meanders in a northeasterly direction, receiv-
ing tribute as it passes from a number of other small lakes, when it changes its course to
the south, and after meandering a length of six hundred miles in Minnesota, dashes its

waters over the falls of St. Anthony, then flows along the border of the State two hundred
miles further, and thence grandly pursues its course to the Gulf of Mexico. Several tribu-
taries of the Mississippi drain the southeastern portion of the State. The Red River of
the North drains the northern part, passing off into Hudson's Bay. It is the outlet of a
number of lakes, among which are Traverse, Otter Tail, and Red. This river also forms
the west boundary of the State for about two hundred miles. That portion of the State
sloping toward Lake Superior is drained by the St. Louis and its tributaries. St. Peters,
or Minnesota river, has a total length of over four hundred miles within the State. Its
principal branch is Blue Earth or Mankato river, which flows nearly north. The St.
Peters, Crow Wing and Crow rivers are tributaries of the Mississippi from the west.

Lake Superior forms a part of the eastern boundary, and the Lake of the Woods a
part of the northern. Among other lakes of considerable size are Rainy, Red Lake,
Lake Cass, and Leech Lake. Devil Lake in the northwest part is about forty miles long
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and fifteen miles wide, and is said to have no visible outlet. Lake Pepin is an expansion
of the Mississippi in the northeastern part of the State, and is a beautiful sheet of water.

The State abounds in small lakes which are mostly clear and beautiful. Owing to the
multitude of lakes Minnesota seldom suffers from inundations, as they tend to check the

sudden rise and violence of the streams.

The climate of the northern part of Minnesota is severe, but in the southern part is

not so rigorous as to prevent fair crops of Indian corn from being produced some seasons.

Wheat and other Winter grains succeed admirably in nearly all parts. In the valleys of

the rivers the soil is excellent, and even the valley of the Red River of the North is

regarded as a fine agricultural region. Wheat is the great staple and the facilities for

manufacturing flour are unsurpassed, as the water-power is practically unlimited.

A portion of the State is heavily timbered with pine, and one of the great industries

is the manufacture of lumber. Extensive forests of pine grow on the Rum, St. Croix,

and Pine rivers, and on the shores of the Mississippi, below Pokegamin Falls. Taken,
as a whole, however, Minnesota can not be called a well-wooded country. The river bot-

toms furnish some very good growths of oak, aspen, soft maple, basswood, ash, birch,

white walnut, linden, and elm. In the swamps or marshy places are found tamarack,

cedar, and cypress.

Minnesota presents to the tourist many natural objects of interest, especially in her
grand and beautiful scenery along the Mississippi and around her lakes. St. Anthony's
Falls are celebrated, not so much for their magnitude as a cataract, as for their geological

interest and the wild scenery connected with them. Like Niagara, the falls are divided

by an island, with the larger volume of water passing on the west side. This west
division is 310 yards wide. The greatest perpendicular fall of water is but 16^ feet, but
including the rapids the descent is 58 feet in 260 rods. The rivers of Minnesota have
numerous picturesque falls and rapids, and are in many places bordered with perpendicu-

lar bluffs of limestone and sandstone.

So far as revealed by geological examination, Minnesota possesses no great mineral

or metallic wealth. There is, however, a rich deposit of iron ore in that part of the State

bordering on Lake Superior. A thin vein of lead was discovered by the geological corps

of Prof. Owen on Waraju river, and some copper was found, but not " in place," having
probably been carried thither by the drift. Stone suitable for building purposes exists

in great abundance. In the southwest part of the State is a singular deposit known as
" red pipestone." Of this the Indians made their pipes, and the place of its deposit was
held in great sacredness by them. It is said that different tribes at enmity with each

other, met here on terms of amity and smoked the pipe of peace. Longfellow has

rendered this locality celebrated in " Hiawatha." It was here

—

" On the Mountains of the Prairie,

On the great Red Pipe-stone Quarry,

Gitche Manito, the mighty.

He the Master of Life, descending,

On the red crags of the quarry,

Stood erect, and called the nations,

Called the tribes of men together."

The first white men who are said to have visited the country now embraced in

Minnesota, were two fur traders in the year 1654. They returned to Montreal two
years afterward and gave a glowing account of the country. This was followed by the

visits of trappers and missionaries, and to the latter we are indebted for the first printed

accounts of Minnesota. In 1805 an exploring expedition under Pike traversed the

country. A military post was established at Fort Snelling in 1819. Excepting a British

settlement at Pembina, which was not then known to be within the limits of the United
States, no settlements were formed in Minnesota until after 1840.

St. Paul, the capital of Minnesota, is in Ramsey county, on the bank of the Missis-
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sippi, 2070 miles from its mouth, and nine miles by land below the Falls of St. Anthony.
The first settlement was made about the year 1840. The population has increased

rapidly, and as a manufacturing, commercial and business place it has assumed consider-

able importance. Minneapolis, a few miles above St. Paul, is a rapidly growing city,

and is noted for its great water power and manufacturing resources. Among other im-

portant towns are Stillwater, Red Wing, St. Anthony, Fort Snelling, and Mankato.
The following table shows the population of Minnesota at the close of each decade

from 1850 to 1870

:

YEAR. WHITE. COLORED. AGGREGATE.

i8i;o - - 6,038

169,395

438,257

39
259
759

6,077

i860 *I72,023

1870 _- -.. *439,7o6

* The above aggregate for i860 includes 2,369 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate

for 1870 includes 690 enumerated as Indians.

Nebraska.

Nebraska is formed out of a part of the territory ceded to the United States by
France by the treaty of April 30, 1804. It was erected into a separate Territory May
30, 1854, the limits subsequently being greatly reduced by the formation of Dakota
Territory in 1861, a right reserved in the act creating the Territory of Nebraska. It was
admitted into the Union as a State, March 1, 1867.

Nebraska is in its extreme length from east to west about 412 miles, and in breadth
from north to south about 208 miles, embracing an area of 75,905 square miles, or

48,636,800 acres. The greater portion of the State is an elevated undulating prairie

with a general inclination toward the Missouri river. There are no mountains or very
high hills. The soil is various, but generally fertile, except in the western portion near
the base of the Rocky Mountains. The bottom lands along the rivers are not surpassed
in fertility by any in the United States, while the higher undulating prairie is equally
productive with that of otlier Western States. When the prairies are once broken they
are easy of cultivation, the soil being light and mellow. The staple productions are
wheat, Indian corn, oats, and other cereals common to the latitude. The climate is

mild, as compared with that of the same latitude on the Atlantic. The Summers are
sometimes very warm, and the extreme western part is occasionally deficient in rain.

Taken as a whole, however, this is destined to become one of the foremost agricultural
States in the Union.

Nebraska is deficient in native timber, but the older settled portions are dotted over
with groves of artificial or cultivated timber, which is so rapid in its growth as to require
but a few years to produce enough for the ordinary wants of the settler. The rivers and
streams are generally bordered with groves of native trees, including oak, walnut, hick-
ory, Cottonwood and willow. Along the Missouri river in places are some heavy growths
of Cottonwood.

The Missouri river forms the entire eastern boundary, and is navigable for steam-
boats throughout the whole extent of that boundary and for hundreds of miles above.
Among the important interior rivers are the Platte, the Niobrara, the Republican Fork
of the Kansas, the Elkhorn, the Loup Fork of the Platte, the Big Blue and the Nemaha.

• These rivers are so distributed, as, with their numerous tributaries, to afford admirable
drainage to all parts of the State, and as a consequence it is free from marshes, conduc-
ing to the excellent health for which Nebraska is noted.

So far as yet revealed, the State is not rich in minerals. Coal, however, has recently
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been discovered in the southeastern part, in a vein sufl&ciently thick for mining. Near
Lincoln are some salt springs of sufficient magnitude to yield large quantities of salt.

On Platte river and other streams both limestone and sandstone are obtained of suitable

quality for building material.

Rapid progress has been made in the construction of railroads in Nebraska. Among
them are the Union Pacific and its branches, the Burlington & Missouri River and its

branches, and others, affording railroad advantages to a large portion of the State, and
connecting the principal towns with the main lines, east, west and south.

Lincoln, the capital of Nebraska, is in Lancaster county, in the southeastern part of

the State. Here are most of the State institutions. It is a thriving young city and is in

the midst of a fine agricultural portion of the State. Near it, on a little stream known
as Salt Creek, are a number of salt springs, and considerable quantities of salt have been
manufactured. Railroads connect it with all the great markets of the country.

Omaha is the leading commercial city of the State, and is located on the west bank
of the Missouri river in Douglas county. It is eighteen miles by land above the mouth
of the Platte river. The principal portion of the city is situated on gently rising slopes

extending from the river to the bluffs. The elevations are crowned with fine residences,

and command pleasant views of the river and valley, with the city of Council Bluffs,

Iowa, in the distance. Since the completion of the Union Pacific Railroad it has grown
in population and wealth very rapidly. A costly iron railroad bridge spans the Missouri

river at this point. As a produce, shipping and general commercial point it is rapidly

growing into prominence. It was the first capital of the Territory and State, and takes
its name from a tribe of Indians.

Among other important towns and cities are Nebraska City, Columbus, Kearney,
Grand Island, Hastings, Plattsmouth, Tecumseh, and Niobrara.

The following table shows the population of Nebraska by the census of 1860 and
1870:

YEAR. WHITE. COLORED. AGGREGATE.

i860 28,696
122,117

82

789

28,841

122,9931870

In the aggregate for i860, the enumeration includes 63 Indians, and in that of 1870, the

enumeration includes 87 Indians.

MlSSOUBI.

Missouri was formed out of a part of the territory ceded by France to the United
States in 1803, By an act approved March 26, 1804, the French, or Louisiana purchase,

was divided, that part embracing the present State of Missouri being at first designated

as the District of Louisiana. The name was changed to Territory of Louisiana, by an

act passed March 3, 1805, and again by an act of June 4, 1812, Louisiana Territory was
changed to Missouri Territory. By an act passed March 2, 1819, the southern portion

was detached and organized as the Territory of Arkansas. During the same year the

people of the Territory of Missouri, through their Legislative- Council and House of

Representatives, memorialized Congress for admission into the Union as a State. On the

6th of March following an act was passed to authorize the people of the Territory to

form a State constitution. Missouri being the first State formed wholly out of a territory

west of the Mississippi, the question of the extension of slavery came up and gave rise

to a stormy debate in Congress while the Missouri bill, as it was called, was pending.

The propriety and expediency of extending that institution to the new States west of
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the Mississippi was powerfully and earnestly contested, and resulted in a compromise
restricting slavery to certain limits, and prohibited the extension of slavery to certain

territory. The bill, however, of March 6th, passed without restrictions. The people on
the 19th of July, 1820, adopted their constitution, which was laid before Congress

November 16th of the same year. The Senate passed a joint resolution declaring the

admission of the State of Missouri into the Union. This was referred to a select

committee in the House of Representatives, and on the 10th of February, 1821, Mr.

Clay made a report. The House rejected the resolution, and on motion of Mr. Clay a

committee on the part of the House was appointed to join a committee on the part of the

Senate to consider the subject and report. On the 26th of February Mr. Clay, from the

joint committee, reported a " Resolution providing for the admission of the State of

Missouri into the Union, on a certain condition." This resolution was passed and
approved March 2, 1821. The condition was that Missouri, by its legislature, should

assent to a condition that a part of the State constitution should never be construed to

authorize the passage of a law by which any citizen of either of the States in the Union
should be excluded from the enjoyment of any of the priviliges and immunities to which
such citizen is entitled under the Constitution of the United States. What was known
as the " Missouri Compromise," was embraced in the act of the previous session, which
authorized the people of the State of Missouri to form a State constitution, and consisted

of a compromise section in the bill by which slavery was to be forever prohibited in that

part of the territory west of the Mississippi (except the State of Missouri), lying north

of thirty -six degrees and thirty minutes north latitude. Thus, after fierce and stormy
debates, running through two sessions of Congress, Missouri came into the Union, and
the exciting question of slavery was supposed also to have been settled. On tha 10th

of August, 1821, President Monroe issued his proclamation declaring the admission of

Missouri completed, according to law.

Missouri in its greatest length from east to west is about 285 miles, and in width
from north to south, 280 miles. It embraces an area of 67,380 square miles, or 43,123,200
acres. That portion of it north of the Missouri river is mostly undulating prairie and
timber land, while that portion south of the Missouri river is characterized by a great

variety of surface. In the southeast part, near the Mississippi, is an extensive area of

marshy land. The region forming the outskirts of the Ozark Mountains is hilly and
broken. West of the Osage river is a vast expanse of prairie. The geological features

of Missouri are exceedingly interesting. Coal, iron and several kinds of stone and
marble for building purposes exist in great abundance. A vast region, in the vicinity of

Iron Mountain and Pilot Knob, produces iron of the best quality, and exists in inex-
haustible quantity. It is also found in other parts of the State. There is also lead,

which has been mined in considerable quantities. Copper is found throughout the
mineral region, but is found combined with other minerals. Silver is also combined with
lead ore. The bituminous coal deposits are mainly on both sides of the Missouri river,

below the mouth of the Osage, and extending forty miles up that river. Cannel-coal is

found in Callaway county.
Missouri possesses the advantages of two of the greatest navigable rivers in the

United States— the Mississippi, which forms her entire eastern boundary, and the
Missouri, which flows along her northwestern border nearly two hundred miles, and
crosses the State in a south-easterly course to its junction with the Mississippi. As
both of these rivers are navigable for the largest steamers, the State has easy and ready
commercial intercourse to the Gulf of Mexico and the Rocky Mountains, as well as up
the Ohio to Pittsburg. Besides the Missouri, the State has several important interior
rivers, to - wit : Grand river and Chariton, tributaries of the Missouri river from the
north, and the Osage and Gasconade from the south ; also, Salt river and Maramec,
tributaries of the Mississippi. The St. Francis and White river drain the south - eastern
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part, passing from the State into Arkansas. The Osage is navigable for steamboats
about 275 miles.

Missouri as a State has many material resources, fitting her for becoming one of the

most wealthy and populous States in the Union. The soil is generally excellent, produc-
ing the finest crops, while those portions not so well adapted to agriculture are rich in

minerals. The greater portion of the State is well timbered. In the river bottoms are

heavy growths of oak, elm, ash, hickory, cottonwood, sugar, and white and black walnut.

On the uplands also are found a great variety of trees. Various fruits, including apples,

pears, peaches, plums, cherries and strawberries, are produced in the greatest abundance.
Among the staple prodactions are Indian corn, wheat, oats, potatoes, hemp and tobacco.

A great variety of other crops are also raised.

The State has an uneven and variable climate— the Winters being very cold and the

Summers excessively hot. Chills and fever are common to some extent along the rivers.

The earliest settlement in Missouri seems to have been by the French, about the

year 1719. About that time they built what was called Fort Orleans, near Jefferson City,

and the next year worked the lead mines to some extent. Ste. Genevieve was settled in

1755, also by the French, and is the oldest town in the State. Missouri's greatest com-
mercial metropolis, St. Louis, was first settled in 1764, the earliest settlers being mostly
French.

Jefferson City, the capital of the State, is situated on the right bank of the Missouri

river, in Cole county. It is 128 miles by land, and 155 miles by water from St. Louis.

The location being elevated, commands a fine view of the river, with the pleasant and
picturesque scenery which is presented at this point on the Missouri.

St. Louis, the great commercial city of Missouri, as well as of a large portion of the

West, is situated on the right bank of the Mississippi, 20 miles below the mouth of the

Missouri, and 174 miles above the mouth of the Ohio. It is 744 miles below the Falls

of St. Anthony, and 1,194 miles above New Orleans. The city enjoys many natural ad-

vantages as a commercial emporium, being situated nearly midway between the two
oceans, and centrally in the finest agricultural region on the globe. With two of the

greatest navi'gable rivers on the continent, affording her water highways to the ocean,

to many of the large inland cities of the country, and to the great agricultural and
mineral districts away up in the YeUow Stone regions, St. Louis is surely and rapidly

going forward to a grand future. Her already great and constantly improving system of

railways is tending every year to open up to her larger fields of business and commercial
intercourse. Of late years a strong rivalry has sprung up between St. Louis and Chicago

in regard to population, etc., each claiming to be the third city in the Union. The in-

crease of St. Louis since the close of the war of the rebellion has been great, the ascen-

dancy being at an annual rate of about ten per cent. At this rate of increase she is fast

earning the soubriquet of the " Future Great City."

The site, on which St. Louis stands was selected February 15, 1764, by Laclede, as a

post possessing peculiar advantages for collecting and trading in furs, as well as for de-

fense against the Indians. For many years it was but a frontier village, the principal

trade of which was in furs, Buffalo robes, and other collections of trappers and hunters.

A great part of the population was absent during the hunting and trapping seasons, so

that the infancy of this city was almost a struggle for existence. As late as 1820 the

population was only 4,598. The first brick house was erected in 1813. In 1822 St.

Louis was chartered as a city, under the title given by Laclede in honor of Louis XV of

France. In 1830 the population was 6,694, an increase of only 2,096 in ten years. In

1840 the population had reached 16,469; in 1850 it was 77,950, including 2,650 slaves ;

in 1860 the population was 160,778; and in 1870 it was 312,963.

Kansas City, one of the rapidly advancing young cities of the State, is situated on

the Missouri river just below the mouth of the Kansas. In 1870 the population was
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32,260. Since that time there has been a rapid increase, both in population and
business.

St. Joseph is one of the flourishing cities, and is situated on the left, or east bank of

the Missouri river, 496 miles by water from St. Louis. It was laid out in 1843, and be-

came an important point of departure for overland emigration to California and Oregon.

In 1870 the population was 19,660, but has rapidly increased since then.

Among the important and thriving towns and cities are Hannibal, Springfield, Boon-
ville, Lexington, Chillicothe, Independence, Palmyra, Canton, Iron Mount and Moberly.

The following table shows the population of Missouri at the close of each decade,

from 1810 to 1870

:

.i8io
1820
1830
1840
1850
i860.

1870.

17,227

55,988

114.795
323,888

592,004

1,063,489
1,603,146

COLORED.

3,618

10,569
25,660

59,814
90,040
118,503
118,071

AGGREGATE.

20,845

66,557

140,455
383.702
682,044

*i, 182,012
*i,721,295

* The aggregate for i860 includes 20 enumerated as Indians, and the aggregate for 1870
includes 75 enumerated as Indians.

CHAPTER X.

SKETCH OF CHICAGO. V

First White Visitors— The Name— Jean Baptiste— John Kinzie— Fort Dearborn— Evacuation— The Massacre— Heroic Women— Capt. Heald— Capt. Wells— Scalping the Wounded— Fort Dearborn Re-built— Illinois

and Michigan Canal— Chicago Laid Out— Removal of Indians— City Organization— Pioneer Religious

Societies— Public Improvements.

The history of so great a city as Chicago, like that of London, or Paris, or New
York, by reason of its commercial, financial and other relations to the world at large, is

a history of world-wide interest. Not that Chicago may yet be compared in size, popu-
lation or wealth with the great cities named, would we mention it in connection with
them, and yet, considering its age, it is greater than either of them. In its ratio of in-

crease in population, commerce, and general progress, it is to-day outstripping them. In
what civilized part of the globe is Chicago not heard of, read of, and known ? If, so

many centuries after the founding of Rome, mankind still feel interested in the mythical
story of Romulus and Remus, may not the present and future generations read with
interest the more authentic story of the founding of a great modern city ?

The Jesuit missionary and explorer, Marquette, first visited the place where Chicago
is located, in 1673. Again, in the winter of 1674-5, he camped near the site of the pres-
ent city, from December until near the close of March. Upon his arrival, in December,
the Chicago river was frozen over, and the ground covered with snow. The name is of
Indian origin, and was applied to the river. By the French voyageurs it is variously
spelled, the majority rendering it Chicagou. The place is mentioned by Berrot in 1770.

In 1796, Jean Baptiste, a trader from the West Indies, found his way to the mouth
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of the little stream known as Chicago river, and engaged in trading with the Indians.

Here for eight years, almost alone, he maintained trade and intercourse with the savages,

until, in 1804, Fort Dearhorn was erected, and a trading post was established by John
Kinzie, who became the successor of Jean Baptiste. Fort Dearborn, as first constructed,

was a very rude and primitive stockade, which cost the government only about fifty dol-

lars. It stood on the south bank of Chicago river, half a mile from the lake. The few
soldiers sent to erect and garrison it were in charge of Major Whistler. For a time, being

unable to procure grain for bread, the soldiers were obliged to subsist in part upon acorns.

The original settler, Jean Baptiste, or as his full name was written, Jean Baptiste Point

au Sable, sold his cabin to Mr. Kinzie, and the latter erected on the site the building

known to the early settlers as the " Kinzie House." This became a resort for the officers

and others connected with the garrison. In 1812 the garrison had a force of 54 men,
under the command of Capt. Nathan Heald, with Lieutenant Lenai L. Helm and Ensign
Ronan. Dr. Voorhees was surgeon. The only white residents, except the officers and
soldiers, at that time, were Mr. Kinzie and his family, the wives of Capt. Heald and
Lieut. Helm, and a few -Canadians, with their families. Nearly up to this time the most
friendly relations had been maintained with the Indians—the principal tribes by whom
they were surrounded being the Pottawatomies and Winnebagoes. The battle of Tip-

pecanoe had been fought the year before, and the influence of Tecumseh began to be
observable in the conduct of the Indians. They were also aware of the difficulties

between the United States and Great Britain, and had yielded to the influences brought
to bear by the latter. In April of this year, suspicious parties of Winnebagoes began to

hover about the fort, remaining in the vicinity for several days. The inhabitants became
alarmed, and the families took refuge in the fort. On the 7th of August a Pottawatta-
mie chief appeared at the fort with an order or dispatch from Gen. Hull, at Detroit,

directing Capt. Heald to evacuate Fort Dearborn, and distribute all the government prop-
erty to the neighboring Indians. The chief who brought the dispatch advised Capt.

Heald to make no 'distribution to the Indians. He told him it would be better to leave

the fort and stores as they were, and that while the Indians were distributing the stores

among themselves, the whites might escape to Fort Wayne. On the 12th of August
Capt. Heald held a council with the Indians, but the other officers refused to join him.

They feared treachery on the part of the Indians, and indeed had been informed that

their intention was to murder the white people. In the council Capt. Heald had taken

the precaution to open a port-hole displaying a cannon directed upon the council, and
probably by that means kept the Indians from molesting him at that time. Acting under
the advice of Mr. Kinzie, he withheld the ammunition and arms from the Indians, throw-

ing them, together with the liquors, into the Chicago river. On that day Black Part-

ridge, a friendly chief, said to Capt. Heald :
" Linden birds have been singing in my ears

to-day; be careful on the march you are going to take." On the 13th the Indians dis-

covered the powder floating on the surface of the water, a discovery which had the effect

to exasperate them the more, and they began to indulge in threats. Meantime prepara-

tions were made to leave the fort.

Capt. Wells, an uncle of Mrs. Heald, had been adopted by the famous Miami
warrior. Little Turtle, and had become chief of a band of Miamis. On the 14th he was
seen approaching with a band of his Miami warriors, coming to assist Capt. Heald in

defending the fort, having at Fort Wayne heard of the danger which threatened the

garrison and the settlers. But all means for defending the fort had been destroyed the

night before. All, therefore, took up their line of march, with Capt. Wells and his

Miamis in the lead, followed by Capt. Heald, with his wife riding by his side. Mr.

Kinzie had always been on the most friendly terms with the Indians, and still hoped that

his personal efforts might influence them to allow the whites to leave unmolested. He
determined to accompany the expedition, leaving his family in a boat in the care of a
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friendly Indian. In case any misfortune should happen to him, his family was to be sent

to the place where Niles, Michigan, is now located, where he had another trading post.

Along the shore of Lake Michigan slowly marched the little band of whites, with a friendly

escort of Pottawatamies, and Capt. Wells and his Miamis, the latter in advance. When
they had reached what were known as the "Sand Hills," the Miami advance guard came
rushing back, Capt. Wells exclaiming, " They are about to attack ; form instantly." At
that moment ^ shower of bullets came whistling over the sand hills, behind which the

Indians had concealed themselves for the murderous attack. The cowardly Miamis

were panic-stricken, ane took to flight, leaving their heroic leader to his fate. He was at

the side of his niece, Mrs. Heald, when the attack was made, and, after expressing to her

the utter hopelessness of their situation, dashed into the fight. There were 54 soldiers,

12 civilians and three women, all poorly armed, against 500 Indian warriors. The little

band had no alternative but to sell their lives as dearly as possible. They charged upon
their murderous assailants, and drove them from their position back to the prairie. There

the conflict continued until two-thirds of the whites were killed and wounded. Mrs.

Heald, Mrs. Helm and Mrs. Holt, all took part in the combat. In a wagon were twelve

children, and a painted demon tomahawked them all, seeing which, Capt. Wells ex-

claimed, " If butchering women and children is your game, I will kill too," and then

spurred his horse toward the Indian camp, where they had left their squaws and papooses.

He was pursued by several young warriors, who sent bullets whistling about him, killing

his horse and wounding Capt. Wells. They attempted to take him a prisoner, but he
resolved not to be taken alive. Calling a young chief a squaw, an epithet which which
excites the fiercest resentment in an Indian warrior, the young chief instantly toma-
hawked him.

The three women fought as bravely as the soldiers. Mrs. Heald was an expert in

the use of the rifle, but received several severe wounds. During the conflict the hand
of a savage was raised to tomahawk her, whein she exclaimed in his own language,
" Surely you will not kill a squaw." Her words had the effect to change his purpose,

and her life was spared. Another warrior attempted to tomahawk Mrs. Helm. He
struck her a glancing blow on the shoulder, when she seized him and attempted to wrest

from him his scalping knife, which was in the sheath attached to his belt. At that

moment the friendly Black Partridge dragged her from her antagonist, and in spite of

her struggles carried her to the lake and plunged her in, at the same time holding her so

she would not drown. By this means he saved her life, as he intended. The third

woman, Mrs. Holt, the wife of Sergeant Holt, was a large woman, and as strong and
brave as an amazon. She rode a fine, spirited horse, which more than once the Indians
tried to take from her. Her husband had been disabled in the fight, and with his sword,
which she had taken, she kept the savages at bay for some time. She was finally, how-
ever, taken prisoner, and remained a long time a captive among the Indians, but was sub-
sequently ransomed.

After two-thirds of the whites had been slain or disabled, twenty-eight men suc-

ceeded in gaining an eminence on the prairie, and the Indians desisted from further pur-
suit. The chiefs held a consultation, and gave the sign that they were ready to parley.

Capt. Heald went forward and met the chief. Blackbird, on the prairie, when terms of

surrender were agreed upon. The whites were to deliver up their arms and become pris-

oners, to be exchanged or ransomed in the future. AH were taken to the Indian camp
near the abandoned fort, where the wounded Mrs. Helm had previously been taken by
Black Partridge. By the terms of surrender no provision had been made as to the dis-

position of the wounded. It was the understanding of the Indians that the British
general, Proctor, had offered a bounty for American scalps delivered at Maiden. Here
there was another scene of horror. Most of the wounded men were killed and scalped.

Such is a hasty glace at scenes that were witnessed on this then wild shore of Lake
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Michigan. Such were the experiences and the struggles of the heroic men and women
who ventured forth into the wilderness to plant the germs of civilization, and to lay the
foundations of future cities and States. The site on which now stands a city which ranks
among the greatest on the continent, is consecrated by the blood shed by heroes on that

bright 15th day of August, 1812.

Fort Dearborn was rebuilt in 1816, under the direction of Oapt. Bradley, and was
occupied until 1887, when, the Indians having removed from the country, it was
abandoned.

Congress, on the 2d of March, 1827, granted to the State of Illinois every alternate

section of land for six miles on either side of the line of the then proposed Illinois and
Michigan canal, to aid in its construction, from Chicago to the head of navigation of the
Illinois river. The State accepted the grant, and on the 22d of January, 1829, organized
a board of canal commissioners, with power to lay out towns along the line. Under this

authority the commissioners employed 'Mr. James Thompson to survey the town of Chi-
cago. His first map of the town bears date August 4, 1830. In 1831 the place contained
about a dozen families, not including the officers and soldiers in Fort Dearborn. On the
10th of August, 1833, it was organized by the election of five trustees—there being
twenty-eight voters. On the 26th of September of the same year, a treaty was signed
with the chiefs of the Pottawattamies, seven thousand of the tribe being present, and on
the 1st of October they were removed west of the Mississippi. The first charter of the
city was passed by the Legislature of Illinois, and approved March 4, 1837. Under
this charter an election was held May 1st, of the same year. A census was taken on the

1st of July, when the entire population was shown to be 4,170. The city then contained
four warehouses, three hundred and twenty-eight dwellings, twenty-nine dry goods
stores, five hardware stores, three drug stores, nineteen provision stores, ten taverns,

twenty-six groceries, seventeen lawyers' offices, and five churches. It then embraced an
area of 560 acres. At this date grain and flour had to be imported from the East to feed
the people, for the iron arteries of trade did not then stretch out over the prairies of

Illinois, Iowa, and other States. There were no exportations of produce until 1839, and
not until 1842 did the exports exceed the imports; Grain was sold in the streets by the

wagon load, the trade being restricted to a few neighboring farmers of Illinois.

Of religious organizations the Methodists were the pioneers, being represented in

1831, 1832, and 1833, by Rev. Jesse Walker. Their first quarterly meeting was held in

the Fall of 1833, and in the Spring of the next year the first regular class was formed.

The first Presbyterian church was organized June 26, 1833, the first pastor being Rev.
James Porter. It consisted at the time of twenty-five members from the garrison and
nine from the citizens of the town. The first Baptist church was organized October 19,

1833 ; and the first Episcopal church, St. James, in 1834. The first Catholic church was
built by Rev. Schofler, in 1833-4.



PART II.

General History of Illinois.

CHAPTER I.

The Indians— Illinois Confederacy— Starved Rock— Manners and Customs— A Life and Death Combat.

THE rCTDIANS.

Following the Mound Builders as inhabitants of North America, were, as it is

supposed, the people who reared the magnificent cities, the ruins of which are found in

Central America. This people was far more civilized and advanced in the arts than were

the Mound Builders. The cities built by them, judging from the ruins of broken

columns, fallen arches and crumbling walls of temples, palaces and pyramids, which in

some places for miles bestrew the ground, must have been of great extent, magnificent

and very populous. When we consider the vast period of time necessary to erect such

colossal structures, and, again, the time required to reduce them to their present ruined

state, we can conceive something of their antiquity. These cities must have been old

when many of the ancient cities of the Orient were being built.

The third race inhabiting North America, distinct from the former two in every

particular, is the present Indians. They were, when visited by the early discoverers,

without cultivation, refinement or literature, and far behind the Mound Builders in the

knowledge of the arts. The question of their origin has long interested archaeologists,

and is the most difficult they have been called i:pon to answer. Of their predecessors

the Indian tribes knew nothing ; they had even no traditions respecting them. It is

quite cert^n that they were the successors of a race which had entirely passed away
ages before the discovery of the New World. One hypothesis is that the American
Indians are an original race indigenous to the Western Hemisphere. Those who enter-

tain this view think their peculiarities of physical structure preclude the possibility of a

common parentage with the rest of mankind. Prominent among those distinctive traits

is the hair, which in the red man is round, in the white man oval, and in the black man
flat.

A more common supposition, however, is that they are a derivative race, and sprang
from one or more of the ancient peoples of Asia. In the absence of all authentic

history, and when even tradition is wanting, any attempt to point out the particular

location of their origin must prove unsatisfactory. Though the exact place of origin may
never be known, yet the striking coincidence of physical organization between the

Oriental type of mankind and the Indians point unmistakably to some part of Asia as

the place whence they emigrated, which was originally peopled to a great extent by the
children of Shem. In this connection it has been claimed that the meeting of the
Europeans, Indians and Africans on the continent of America, is the fulfillment of a

prophecy as recorded in Genesis ix. 27 : " God shall enlarge Japheth, and he shall dwell
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in the tents of Shem ; and Canaan shall be his servant." Assuming the theory to be
true that the Indian tribes are of Shemitic origin, they were met on this continent in the
fifteenth century by the Japhethic race, after the two stocks had passed around the globe by
directly different routes. A few years afterward the Hamitic branch of the human family
were brought from the coast of Africa. During the occupancy of the continent by the
three distinct races, the children of Japheth have grown and prospered, while the called
and not voluntary sons of Ham have endured a servitude in the wider stretching valleys
of the tents of Shem.

When Christopher Columbus had finally succeeded in demonstrating the truth of
his theory that by sailing westward from Europe land would be discovered, landing, on
the Island of Bermuda he supposed he had reached the East Indies. This was an error,

but it led to the adoption of the name of " Indians " for the inhabitants of the island
and the main land of America, by which name the red men of America have ever since

been known.
Of the several great branches of North American Indians the only ones entitled to

consideration in Illinois history are the Algonquins and Iroquois. At the time of the
discovery of America the former occupied the Atlantic seaboard, while the home of the

Iroquois was as an island in this vast area of Algonquin population. The latter great

nation spread over a vast territory, and various tribes of Algonquin lineage sprang up
over the country, adopting, in time, distinct tribal customs and laws. An almost con-
tinuous warfare was carried on between tribes ; but later, on the entrance of the white
man into their beloved homes, every foot of territory was fiercely disputed by the con-
federacy of many neighboring tribes. The Algonquins formed the most extensive alliance

to resist the encroachment of the whites, especially the English. Such was the nature
of King Philip's war. This king with his Algonquin braves spread terror and desolation

throughout New England. With the Algonquins as the controlling spirit, a confederacy
of continental proportions was the result, embracing in its alliance the tribes of every
name and lineage from the Northern lakes to the gulf. Pontiac, having breathed into

them his implacable hate of the English intruders, ordered the conflict to commence, and
all the British colonies trembled before the desolating fury of Indian vengeance.

ILLINOIS OOKFBUBRACY.

The Illinois confederacy, the various tribes of which comprised most of the Indians

of Illinois at one time, was composed of five tribes : the Tamaroas, Michigans, Kaskaskias,

Cahokas, and Peorias. The Illinois, Miamis and Delawares were of the same stock. As
early as 1670 the priest Father Marquette mentions frequent visits made by individuals

of this confederacy to the missionary station at St. Esprit, near the western extremity of

Lake Superior. At that time they lived west of the Mississippi, in eight villages, whither

they had been driven from the shores of Lake Michigan by the Iroquois. Shortly after-

ward they began to return to their old hunting grounds, and most of them finally settled

in Illinois. Joliet and Marquette, in 1673, met with a band of them on their famous

voyage of discovery down the Mississippi. They were treated with the greatest hospi-

tality by the principal chief. On their return voyage up the Illinois river they stopped

at the principal town of the confederacy, situated on the banks of the river seven miles

below the present town of Ottawa. It was then called Kaskaskia. Marquette returned

to the village in 1675 and established the mission of the Immaculate Conception, the

oldest in Illinois. When, 1679, LaSalle visited the town, it had greatly increased,

numbering 460 lodges, and at the annual assembly of the different tribes, from 6,000 to

8,000 souls. In common with other western tribes, they became involved in the con-

spiracy of Pontiac, although displaying no very great warlike spirit. Pontiac lost his

life by the hands of one of the braves of the Illinois tribe, which so enraged the nations
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that had followed him as their leader that they fell upon the Illinois to avenge his death,

and almost annihilated them.
STAEVBD KOCK.

Tradition states that a band of this tribe, in order to escape the general slaughter, took

refuge upon the high rock on the Illinois river since known as Starved Rock. Nature
has made this one of the most formidable military fortresses in the world. From the

waters which wash its base it rises to an altitude of 125 feet. Three of its sides it is im-

possible to scale, while the one next to the land may be climbed with diflSculty. From
its summit, almost as inaccessible as an eagle's nest, the valley of the Illinois is seen as a

landscape of exquisite beauty. The river near by struggles between a number of wooded
islands, while further below it quietly meanders through vast meadows till it disappears

like a thread of light in the dim distance. On the summit of this rock the Illinois were
besieged by a superior force of the Pottawattomies whom the great strength of their

natural fortress enabled them to keep at bay. Hunger and thirst, however, soon ac-

complished what the enemy was unable to effect. Surrounded by a relentless foe, with-

out food or water, they took a last look at their beautiful hunting grounds, and with true

Indian fortitude lay down g,nd died from starvation. Years afterward their bones were
seen whitening in that place.

At the beginning of the present century the remnants of this once powerful con-

federacy were forced into a small compass around Kaskaskia. A few years later they
emigrated to the Southwest, and in 1850 they were in the Indian Territory, and numbered
but eighty-four persons.

MANNERS AND CUSTOMS.

The art of hunting not only supplied the Indian with food, but, like that of war, was
a means of gratifying his love of distinction. The male children, as soon us they ac-

quired sufficient age and strength, were furnished with a bow and arrow and taught to

shoot birds and other small game. Success in killing large quadrupeds required years of

careful study and practice, and the art was as sedulously inculcated in the minds of the

rising generation as are the elements of reading, writing and arithmetic in the common
schools of civilized communities. The mazes of the forest and the dense, tall grasses of

the prairies were the best fields for the exercise of the hunter's skill. No feet could be
impressed in the yielding soil but that the tracks were the objects of the most searching
scrutiny, and revealed at a glance the animal that made them, the direction it was pur-
suing, and the time that had elapsed since it had passed. In a forest c6untry he selected

the valleys, because they were most frequently the resort of game. The most easily

taken, perhaps, of all the animals of the chase was the deer. It is endowed with a curi-

osity which prompts it to stop in its flight and look back at the approaching hunter, who
always avails himself of this opportunity to let fly the fatal arrow.

Their general councils were composed of the chiefs and old men. When in council,

they usually sat in concentric circles around the speaker, and each individual, notwith-
standing the fiery passions that rankled within, preserved an exterior as immovable as if

cast in bronze. Before commencing business a person appeared with the sacred pipe, and
another with fire to kindle it. After being lighted, it was first presented to heaven, sec-

ondly to the earth, thirdlj-^ to the presiding spirit, and lastly the several councilors, each
of whom took a whiff. These formalities were observed with as close exactness as state
etiquette in civiUzed courts.

The dwellings of the Indians were of the simplest and rudest character. On some
pleasant spot by the bank of a river, or near an ever-running spring, they raised their
groups of wigwams, constructed of the bark of trees, and easily taken down and
removed to another spot. The dwelling-places of the chiefs were sometimes more
spacious, and constructed with greater care, but of the same materials. Skins taken in
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the chase served them for repose. Though principally dependent upon hunting and fish-

ing, the uncertain supply from those sources led them to cultivate small patches of corn.

Every family did every thing necessary within itself, commerce, or an interchange of arti-

cles, being almost unknown to them. In cases of dispute and dissension, each Indian

relied upon himself for retaliation. Blood for blood was the rule, and the relatives of the

slain man were bound to obtain bloody revenge for his death. This principle gave rise,

as a matter of course, to innumerable and bitter feuds,, and wars of extermination where
such were possible. War, indeed, rather than peace, was the Indian's glory and delight,

—war, not conducted as civilization, but war where individual skill, endurance, gallantry

and cruelty were prime requisites. For such a purpose as revenge the Indian would
make great sacrifices, and display a patience and perseverance truly heroic ; but when

,

the excitement was over, he sank back into a listless, unoccupied, well-nigh useless sav-

age. During the intervals of his more exciting pursuits, the Indian employed his time
in decorating his person with all the refinement of paint and feathers, and in the manu-
facture of his arms and canoes. These were constructed of bark, and so light that they
could easily be carried on the shoulder from stream to stream. His amiisements were
the war-dance, athletic games, the narration of his exploits, and listening to the oratory

of the chiefs ; but during long periods of such existence he remained in a state of torpor,

gazing listlessly upon the trees of the forests and the clouds that sailed above them ; and
this vacancy imprinted an habitual gravity, and even melancholy, upon his general de-

portment.
The main labor and drudgery of Indian communities fell upon the women. The

planting, tending and gathering of the crops, making mats and baskets, carrying burdens,

—in fact, all things of the kind were performed by them, thus making their condition but

little better than that of slaves. Marriage was merely a matter of bargain ^d sale, the

husband giving presents to the father of the bride. In general they had but few children.

They were subjected to many and severe attacks of sickness, and at times famine and
pestilence swept away whole tribes.

A LIFE AH^D DEATH COMBAT. <

The most desperate single-handed combat with Indians ever fought on the soil of

Illinois was that of Tom Higgins, August 21, 1814. Higgins was 25 years old, of a

muscular and compact build, not tall, but strong and active. In danger he possessed a

quick and discerning judgment, and was without fear. He was a member of Journey's
rangers, consisting of eleven men, stationed at Hill's Fort, eight miles southwest of the

present Greenville, Putnam county. Discovering Indian signs near the fort, the com-
pany, early the following morning, started on the trail. They had not gone far before

they were in an ambuscade of a larger party. At the first fire their commander. Journey,
and three men fell, and six retreated to the fort ; but Higgins stopped to " have another
pull at the red-skins," and, taking deliberate aim at a straggling savage, shot him down.
Higgins' horse had been wounded at the first fire, as he supposed, mortally. Coming to,

he was about to effect his escape, when the familiar voice of Burgess hailed him from the
long grass, " Tom, don't leave me." Higgins told him to come along, but Burgess re-

plied that his leg was smashed. Higgins attempted to raise him on his horse, but the
animal took fright and ran away. Higgins then directed Burgess to limp off as well as

he could ; and by crawling through the grass he reached the fort, while the former loaded
his gun and remained behind to protect him against the pursuing enemy. When Burgess
was well out of the way, Higgins took another route, which led by a small thicket, to throw
any wandering enemy off the trail. Here he was confronted by thre.e savages approaching.
He ran to a little ravine near for shelter, but in the effort discovered for the first time
that he was badly wounded in the leg. He was closely pressed by the largest, a powerful

Indian, who lodged a ball in his thigh. He fell, but instantly rose again, only, however,
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to draw the fire of the other two, and again fell wounded; The Indians now advanced
upon him with their tomahawks and scalping' knives ; but as he presented his gun first at

one, then at another, from his place in the ravine, each wavered in his purpose. Neither
party had time to load, and the large Indian, supposing finally that Higgi^ns' gun was
empty, rushed forward with uplifted tomahawk and yell ; but as he came near enoughj was
shot down. At this the others raised the war-whoop, and rushed upon the wounded Hig-
gins, and now a hand-to-hand conflict ensued. They darted at him with their knives
time and again, inflicting many ghastly flesh-wounds, which bled profusely. One of the

assailants threw his tomahawk at him with such precision as to sever his ear and lay bare
his skull, knocking him down. They now rushed in on him, but he kicked them off, and
grasping one of their spears thrust at him, was raised up by it. He quickly seized his

gun, and by a powerful blow crushed in the skull of one, but broke his rifle. His re-

maining antagonist still kept up the contest, making thrusts with his knife at the bleed-

ing and exhausted Higgins, which he parried with his broken gun as well as he could.

Most of this desperate engagement was in plain view of the fort ; but the rangers, having
been in one ambuscade, saw in this fight only a ruse to draw out the balance of the gar-

rison. But a Mrs. Pursely, residing at the fort, no longer able to see so brave a man
contend for his life unaided, seized a gun, mounted a horse, and started to his rescue.

At this the men took courage and hastened along. The Indian, seeing aid coming, fled.

Higgins, being nearly hacked to pieces, fainted from loss of blood. He was carried to

the fort. There being no surgeon, his comrades cut two balls from his flesh ; others re-

maining in. For days his life was despaired of ; but by tender nursing he ultimately re-

gained his health, although badly crippled. He resided in Fayette county for many
years after, and died in 1829.

CHAPTER II.

FRENCH OCCUPATION.

Nicholas Perrot— LaSalle's Explorations— Indian Against Indian— Great Battle of the Illinois— Frenchmen
Driven Away— Inhuman Butchery— Tonti Safe at Green Bay— LaSalle's Return— LaSalle's Assassination—
First Settlements— John Law— Bubbles. «

The first white man who ever set foot on the soil embraced within the boundary of

the present populous State of Illinois was Nicholas Perrot, a Frenchman. He was sent

to Chicago in the year 1671 by M. Talon, Intendant of Canada, for the purpose of

inviting the Western Indians to a great peace convention to be held at Green Bay.

This convention had for its chief object the promulgation of a plan for the discovery of

the Mississippi river. This great river had been discovered by De Soto, the Spanish

explorer, nearly one hundred and fifty years previously, but his nation left the country a

wilderness, without further exploration or settlement within its borders, in which con-

dition it remained until the river was discovered by Joliet and Marquette in 1673. It

was deemed a wise policy to secure, as far as possible, the friendship and co-operation

of the Indians, far and near, before venturing upon an enterprise which their hostility

might render disastrous. Thus the great convention was called.

LASALLE'S EXPLOEATIONS.

The first French occupation of Illinois was effected by LaSalle, in 1680. Having
constructed a vessel, the " Griffin," above the falls of Niagara, he sailed to Green Bay, and
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passed thence in canoe to the mouth of the St. Joseph river, by which and the Kankakee
he reached the Illinois in January, 1680 ; and on the 3d he entered the expansion of the

river now called Peoria lake. Here, at the lower end of the lake, on its eastern bank,

now in Tazewell county, he erected Fort Crevecceur. The place where this ancient

fort stood may still be seen just below the outlet of Peoria lake. It had, however, but

a temporary existence. From this point LaSalle determined, at that time, to descend

the Mississippi to its mouth. This he did not do, however, until two years later. Re-
turning to Fort Frontenac for the purpose of getting material with which to rig his

vessel, he left the fort at Peoria in charge of his lieutenant, Henri Tonti, an Italian, who
had lost one of his hands by the explosion of a grenade in the Sicilian wars. Tonti had
with him fifteen men, most of whom disliked LaSalle, and were ripe for a revolt the first

opportunity. Two men who had, previous to LaSalle's departure, been sent to look for

the " Grif&n," now returned and reported that the vessel was lost, and that Fort Fronte-

nac was in the hands of LaSalle's creditors. This disheartening intelligence had the

effect to enkindle a spirit of mutiny among the garrison. Tonti had no sooner left the

fort, with a few men, to fortify what was afterward known as Starved Rock, than the

garrison at the fort refused longer to submit to authority. They destroyed the fort,

seized the ammunition, provisions, and other portables of value, and fled. Only two of

their number remained true. These hastened to apprise Tonti of what had occurred.

He thereupon sent four of the men with him to inform LaSalle. Thus was Tonti in the

midst of treacherous savages, with only five men, two of whom were the friars Ribourde
and Membre. With these he immediately returned to the fort, collected what tools had
not been destroyed, and conveyed them to the great town of the Illinois Indians. By
this voluntary display of confidence he hoped to remove the jealousy created in the

minds of the Illinois by the enemies of LaSalle. Here he awaited, unmolested, the

return of LaSalle.

GEBAT BATTLE OF THE ILLINOIS.

Neither Tonti nor his wild associates suspected that hordes of Iroquois were gather-

ing preparatory to rushing down upon their country and reducing it to an uninhabited
waste. Already these hell - hounds of the wilderness had destroyed the Hurons, Fries,

and other natives of the lakes, and were now directing their attention to the Illinois for

new victims. Five hundred Iroquois warriors set out for the homes of the Illinois. All

was fancied security and idle repose in the great town of this tribe, as the enemy
stealthily approached. Suddenly as a clap of thunder from a cloudless sky the listless

inhabitants were awakened from their lethargy. A Shawnee Indian, on his return home
after a visit to the Illinois, first discovered the invaders. To save his friends from the

impending danger, he hurriedly returned and apprised them of the coming enemy. This
intelligence spread with lightning rapidity over the town, and each wigwam disgorged
its boisterous and astounded inmates. Women snatched their children, and in a delirium
of fright wandered aimlessly about, rending the air with their screams. The men, more
self-possessed, seized their arms ready for the coming fray. Tonti, long an object of

suspicion, was soon surrounded by an angry crowd of warriors, who accused him of

being an emissary of the enemy. His inability to defend himself properly, in conse-
quence of not fully understanding their language, left them still inclined to believe him
guilty, and they seized his effects from the fort and threw them into the river. The
women and children were sent down the river for safety, and the warriors, not exceeding
four hundred, as most of their young men were off hunting, returned to the village.

Along the shores of the river they kindled huge bonfires, and spent the entire night in

greasing their bodies, painting their faces, and performing the war - dance, to prepare for

the approaching enemy. At early dawn the scouts who had been sent out returned,
closely followed by the Iroquois. The scouts had seen a chief arrayed in French cos-
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tume, and reported their suspicions that LaSalle was in the camp of the enemy, and
Tonti again became an object of jealousy. A concourse of wildly gesticulating savages
immediately gathered about him, demanding his life, and nothing saved him from their

uplifted weapons but a promise that he and his men would go with them to meet the
enemy. With their suspicions partly lulled, they hurriedly crossed the river and met the

foe, when both commenced firing. Tonti, seeing that the Illinois were outnumbered and
likely to be defeated, determined, at the imminent risk of his life, to stay the fight by an
attempt at mediation. Presuming on the treaty of peace then existing between the
Frencii and Iroquois, he exchanged his gun for a belt of wampum and advanced to meet
the savage multitude, attended by three companions, who, being unnecessarily exposed
to. danger, were dismissed, and he proceeded alone. A short walk brought him in the
midst of a pack of yelping devils, writhing and distorted with fiendish rage, and impa-
tient to shed his blood. As the result of his swarthy Italian complexion and half- savage
costume, he was at first taken for an Indian, and before the mistake was discovered a

young warrior approached and stabbed &t his heart. Fortunately the blade was turned
aside by coming in contact with a rib, yet a large flesh wound was inflicted, which bled

profusely. At this juncture a chief discovered his true character, and he was led to the

rear and efforts were made to staunch his wound. When sufficiently recovered, he
declared the Illinois were under the protection of the French, and demanded, in consid-

eration of the treaty between the latter and the Iroquois, that they should be suffered to

remain without further molestation. During this conference a j'^oung warrior snatched

Tonti's hat, and, fleeing with it to the front, held it aloft on the end of his gun in view
of the Illinois. The latter, judging that Tonti had been killed, renewed the fight with
great vigor. Simultaneously, intelligence was brought to the Iroquois that Frenchmen
were assisting their enemies in the fight, when the contest over Tonti was renewed with
redoubled fury. Some declared that he should be immediately put to death, while
others, friendly to LaSalle, with equal earnestness demanded that he should be set at

liberty. During their clamorous debate, his hair was several times lifted by a huge
savage who stood at his back with a scalping knife ready for execution.

Tonti at length turned the current of the angry controversy in his favor, by stating

that the Illinois were 1,200 strong, and that there were 60 Frenchmen at the village

ready to assist them. This statement obtained at least a partial credence, and his tor-

mentors now determined to use him as an instrument to delude the Illinois with a pre-

tended truce. The old warriors, therefore, advanced to the front and ordered the firing

to cease, while Tonti, dizzy from the loss of blood, was furnished with an emblem of

peace and sent staggering across the plain to rejoin the Illinois. The two friars who had
just returned from a distant hut, whither they had repaired for prayer and meditation,

were the first to meet him and bless God for what they regarded as a miraculous deliver-

ance. With the assurance brought by Tonti, the Illinois re-crossed the river to their

lodges, followed by the enemy as far as the opposite bank. Not long after, large numbers
of the latter, under the pretext of hunting, also crossed the river and hung in threaten-

ing groups about the town. These hostile indications, and the well-known disregard

which the Iroquois had always evinced for their pledges, soon convinced the Illinois that

their only safety was in flight. With this conviction they set fire to their village, and
while the vast volume of flames and smoke diverted the attention of the enemy, they

quietly dropped down the river to join their women and children. As soon as the flames

would permit, the Iroquois entrenched themselves on the site of the village. Tonti and
his men were ordered by the suspicious savages to leave their hut and take up their abode

in the fort.

At first the Iroquois were much elated at the discomfiture of the Illinois, but when
two days afterward they discovered them reconnoitering their intrenchments, their cour-

age greatly subsided. With fear they recalled the exaggerations of Tonti respecting
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their numbers, and concluded to send him with a hostage to make overtures of peace.

He and his hostage were received with delight by the Illinois, who readily assented to

the proposal which he brought, and in turn sent back with him a hostage to the Iroquois.

On his return to the fort his life was again placed in jeopardy, and the treaty was with

great difficulty ratified. The young and inexperienced Illinois hostage betrayed to his

crafty interviewers the numerical weakness of his tribe, and the savages immediately

rushed upon Tonti, and charged him with having deprived them of the spoils and honors

of victory. It now required all the tact of which he was master to escape. After much
difficulty, however, the treaty was concluded, but the savages, to show their contempt
for it, immediately commenced constructing canoes in which to descend the river and

attack the Illinois.

FEBNCHMEN DRIVEN AWAY.

Tonti managed to apprise the latter of their designs, and he and Membre were soon

after summoned to attend a council of the Iroquois, who still labored under a wholesome
fear of Count Frontenac, and disliking to attack the Illinois in the presence of the

French, they thought to try to induce them to leave the country. At the assembling of

..the council, six packages of beaver skins were introduced, and the savage orator, present-

ing them separately to Tonti, explained the nature of each. "The first two," said he,
" were to declare that the children of Count Frontenac, that is, the Illinois, should not

be eaten ; the next was a plaster to heal the wounds of Tonti ; the next was oil where-
with to anoint him and Membre, that they might not be fatigued in traveling ; the next
proclaimed that the sun was bright ; and the sixth and last required them to decamp and
go home."

At the mention of going home, Tonti demanded of them when they intended to set

the example by leaving the Illinois in the peaceable possession of their country, which
they had so iinjustly invaded. The council grew boisterous and angry at the idea that

they should be demanded to do what they required of the French, and some of its mem-
bers, forgetting their previous pledge, declared that they would " eat Illinois flesh before

they departed." Tonti, in imitation of the Indians' manner of expressing scorn, indig-

nantly kicked away the presents of fur, saying, since they intended to devour the chil-

dren of Frontenac with cannibal ferocity, he would not accept their gifts. This stern

rebuke resulted in the expulsion of Tonti and his companion from the council, and the

next day the chiefs ordered them to leave the country.

Tonti had now, at the great peril of his life, tried every expedient to prevent the
slaughter of the Illinois. There was little to be accomplished by longer remaining in

the country, and as longer delay might imperil the lives of his own men, he determined
to depart, not knowing where or when he would be able to rejoin LaSalle. With this

object in view, the party, consisting of six persons, embarked in canoes, which soon
proved leaky, and they were compelled to land for the purpose of making repairs. While
thus employed. Father Ribourde attracted by the beauty of the surrounding landscape,
wandered forth among the groves for meditation and prayer. Not returning in due time,

Tonti became alarmed, and started with a companion to ascertain the cause of the long
delay. They soon discovered tracks of Indians, by whom it was supposed he had been
seized, and guns were fired to direct his return, in case he was alive. Seeing nothing of

him during the day, at night they built fires along the bank of the river and retired to

the opposite side, to see who might approach them. Near midnight a number of Indians
were seen flitting about the light, by whom, no doubt, had been made the tracks seen
the previous day. It was afterward learned that they were a band of Kickapoos, who
had for several days been hovering about the camp of the Iroquois in quest of scalps.

They had fell in with the inoffensive old friar and scalped him. Thus, in the 65th year
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of his age, the only heir to a wealthy Burgundian house perished under the war-club of

the savages for whose salvation he had renounced ease and affluence.

INHUMAN BUTCHERY.

During this tragedy a far more revolting one was being enacted in the great town of

Illinois. The Iroquois were tearing open the graves of the dead, and wreaking their

vengeance upon the bodies made hideous by putrefaction. At this desecration, it is said,

they even ate portions of the dead bodies, while subjecting them to every indignity that

brutal hate could inflict. Still unsated by their hellish brutalities, and now unrestrained

by the presence of the French, they started in pursuit of the retreating Illinois. Day
after day they and the opposing forces moved in compact array down the river, neither

being able to gain any advantage over the other. At length the Iroquois obtained by
falsehood that which number and prowess denied them. They gave out that their object

was to possess the country, not by destroying, but by driving out its present inhabitants.

Deceived by this false statement, the Illinois separated, some descending the Mississippi

and others crossing to the western shore. The Tamaroas, more credulous than the rest,

remained near the mouth of the Illinois, and were suddenly attacked by an overwhelm-
ing force of the enemy. The men fled in dismay, and the women and children, to the

number of 700, fell into the hands of the ferocious enemy. Then followed the tortures,

butcheries and burnings which only the infuriated and imbruted Iroquois could perpetrate.

LaSalle on his return discovered the half-charred bodies of women and children still

bound to the stakes where they had suffered all the torments hellish hate could devise.

In addition to those who had been burnt, the mangled bodies of women and children

thickly covered the ground, many of which bore marks of brutality too horrid for record.

After the ravenous horde had sufficiently glutted their greed for carnage, they re-

tired from the country. The^IUinois returned and rebuilt their town.

TONTI SAFE AT GEEEN BAY.

After the death of Ribouide, Tonti and his men again resumed their journey. Soon
again their craft became disabled, when they abandoned it and started on foot for Lake
Michigan. Their supply of provisions soon became exhausted, and they were compelled
to subsist in a great measure on roots and herbs. One of their companion wandered off

in search of game, and lost his way, and' several days elapsed before he rejoined them.
In his absence he was without flints and bullets, yet contrived to shoot some turkeys by
using slugs cut from a pewter porringer and a firebrand to discharge his gun. Tonti fell

sick of a fever and greatly retarded the progress of the march. Nearing Green Bay, the
cold increased and the means of subsistence decreased and the party would have perished
had they not found a few ears of corn and some frozen squashes in the fields of a deserted
village. Near the close of November they had reached the Pottawatomies, who warmly
greeted them. Their chief was an ardent admirer of the French, and was accustomed to

say :
" There were but three great captains in the world,—himself, Tonti and LaSalle."

For the above account of Tonti's encounter with the Iroquois, we are indebted to David-
son and Stuve's History of Illinois.

LA salle's ketuen.

LaSalle returned to Peoria only to meet the hideous picture of devastation. Tonti
had escaped, but LaSalle knew not whither. Passing down the lake in search of him
and his men, LaSalle discovered that the fort had been destroyed ; but the vessel whicli
he had partly constructed was still on the stocks, and but slightly injured. After further
fruitless search he fastened to a tree a painting representing himself and party sitting in
a canoe and bearing a pipe of peace, and to the painting attached a letter addressed to

Tonti.



GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS. 85

LaSalle was born in France in 1643, of wealthy parentage, and educated in a college
of the Jesuits, from which he separated and came to Canada, a poor man, in 1666. He
was a man of daring genius, and outstripped all his competitors in exploits and travel

and commerce with the Indians. He was granted a large tract of land at LaChine,
where he established himself in the fur trade. In 1669 he visited the headquarters of the

great Iroquois confederacy, at Onondaga, New York, and, obtaining guides, explored the
Ohio river to the falls at Louisville. For many years previous, it must be remembered,
missionaries and traders were obliged to make their way to the Northwest through
Canada on account of the fierce hostility of the Iroquois along the lower lakes of Niagara
river, which entirely closed this latter route to the upper lakes. They carried on their

commerce chiefly by canoes, paddling them through Ottawa river to Lake Nipissing, car-

rying them across the portage to French river, and descending that to Lake Huron.
This being the route by which they reached the Northwest, we have an explanation of

the fact that all the earliest Jesuit missions were established in the neighborhood of the
upper lakes. LaSalle conceived the grand idea of opening the route by Niagara river and
the lower lakes to Canada commerce by sail vessels, connecting it with the navigation of

the Mississippi, and thus opening a magnificent water communication from the Gulf of

St. Lawrence to the Gulf of Mexico. This truly grand and comprehensive purpose seems
to have animated him in his wonderful achievements, and the matchless difficulties and
hardships he surmounted. As the first step in the accomplishment of this object he
established himself on Lake Ontario, and built and garrisoned Fort Frontenac, the site of

the present city of Kingston, Canada. Here he obtained a grant of land from the French
crown, and a body of troops, by which he repulsed the Iroquois and opened passage to

Niagara Falls. Having by this masterly stroke made it safe to attempt a hitherto un-
tried expedition, his next step, as we have seen, was to build a ship with which to sail

the lakes. He was successful in this undertaking, though his ultimate purpose was de-

feated by a strange combination of untoward circumstances. The Jesuits evidently

hated LaSalle and platted against him, because he had abandoned them and united with
a rival order. The fur traders were also jealous of his success in opening new channels

of commerce. While they were plodding with their bark canoes through the Ottawa, he
was constructing sailing vessels to command the trade of the lakes and the Mississippi.

These great plans excited the jealousy and envy of small traders, introduced treason and
revolt into the ranks of his men, and finally led to the foul assassination by which his

great achievements were permanently ended.

LA SALLB's assassination.

Again visiting the Illinois in the year 1682, LaSalle descended the Mississippi to

the Gulf of Mexico. He erected a standard upon which he inscribed the arms of France,

and took formal possession of the whole valley of this mighty river in the name of Louis

XIV., then reigning, and in honor of whom he named the country Louisiana. LaSalle

then returned to France, was appointed Governor, and returned with a fleet of immi-

grants for the purpose of planting a colony in Illinois. They arrived in due time in the

Gulf of Mexico, but failing to find the mouth of the Mississippi, up which they intended

to sail, his supply ship, with the immigrants, was driven ashore and wrecked on
Matagorda Bay. With the fragments of the vessel he constructed rude huts and stock-

ades on the shore for the protection of his followers, calling the post Fort St. Louis.. He
then made a trip into New Mexico in search of silver mines, but, meeting with disap-

pointment, returned to find his colony reduced to forty souls. He then resolved to travel

on foot to Illinois. With some twenty of his men they filed out of their fort on the 12th

of January, 1687, and, after the parting—which was one of sighs, of tears, and of em-
braces, all seeming intuitively to know that they should see each other no more—they

started on their disastrous journey. Two of the party, Du Haut and Leotot, when on a



86 GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS.

hunting expedition in company with a nephew of LaSalle, assassinated him while asleep.

The long absence of his nephew caused LaSalle to go in search of him. On approaching
the murderers of his nephew, they fired upon him, killing him instantly. They then
despoiled the body of its clothing, and left it to be devoured by the wild beasts of the

forest." Thus, at the age of 43, perished one whose exploits have so greatly enriched the

history of the New World. To estimate aright the marvels of his patient fortitude, one
must follow on his track through the vast scene of his interminable journeyings, those

thousands of weary miles of forest, marsh, and river, where, again and again, in the bit-

terness of baffled striving, the untiring pilgrim pushed onward toward the goal he never
was to attain. America owes him an enduring memory; for in this masculine figure, cast

in iron, she sees the heroic pioneer who guided her to the possession of her richest

heritage.

Tonti, who had been stationed at the fort on the Illinois, learning of LaSalle's un-

successful voyage, immediately started down the Mississippi to his relief. Reaching the

Gulf, he found no traces of the colony. He then returned, leaving some of his men at the

mouth of the Arkansas. These were discovered by the remnant of LaSalle's followers,

who guided them to the fort on the Illinois, where they reported that LaSalle was in

Mexico. The little band left at Fort St. Louis were finally destroyed by the Indians,

and the murderers of LaSalle were shot. Thus ends the sad chapter of Robert Cavalier

de LaSalle's exploration.

FIRST SETTLEMENT.

The first mission in Illinois, as we have already seen, was commenced by Marquette in

April, 1675. He called the religious society which he established the " Mission of the
Immaculate Conception," and the town of Kaskaskia. The first military occupation of

the country was at Fort Crevecceur, erected in 1680 ; but there is no evidence that a set-

tlement was commenced there, or at Peoria, on the lake above, at that early date. The
first settlement of which there is any authentic account was commenced with the build-

ing of Fort St. Louis on the Illinois river in 1682 ; but this was soon abandoned. The
oldest permanent settlement, not only in Illinois, but in the valley of the Mississippi, is

at Kaskaskia, situated six miles above the mouth of the Kaskaskia river. This was
settled in 1690 by the removal of the mission from old Kaskaskia, or Ft. St. Louis, on the
Illinois river. Cahokia was settled about the same time. The reason for the removal of
the old Kaskaskia settlement and mission, was probably because the dangerous and diffi-

cult route by Lake Michigan and the Chicago portage had been almost abandoned, and
travelers and traders traveled down and up the Mississippi by the Fox and Wisconsin
rivers. It was removed to the vicinity of the Mississippi in order to be in the line of
travel from Canada to Louisiana, that is, the lower part of it, for it was all Louisiana
then south of the lakes. Illinois came into possession of the French in 1682, and was a
dependency of Canada and a part of Louisiana. During the period of French rule in
Louisiana, the population probably never exceeded ten thousand. To the year 1730 the
following five distinct settlements were made in the territory of Illinois, numbering, in
population, 140 French families, about 600 "converted" Indians, and many traders;
Cahokia, near the mouth of Cahokia creek and about five miles below the present city of
St. Louis ; St. Philip, about forty-five miles below Cahokia ; Fort Chartres, twelve miles
above Kaskaskia ; Kaskaskia, situated on the Kaskaskia river six miles above its con-
fluence with the Mississippi, and Prairie du Rocher, near Fort Chartres. Fort Chartres
was build under the direction of the Mississippi Company in 1718, and was for a time the
headquarters of the military commandants of the district of Illinois, and the most im-
pregnable fortress in North America. It was also the center of wealth and fashion in the'

West. For about eighty years the French retained peaceable possession of Illinois.

Their amiable disposition and tact of ingratiating themselves with the Indians enabled
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them to escape almost entirely the broils which weakened and destroyed other colonies.

Whether exploring remote rivers or traversing hunting grounds in pursuit of game, in

the social circle or as participants in the religious exercises of the church, the red men
became their associates and were treated with the kindness and consideration of brothers.

For more than a hundred years peace between the white man and the red was unbroken,
and when at last this reign of harmony terminated it was not caused by the conciliatory

Frenchman, but by the blunt and sturdy Anglo-Saxon. During this century, or until

the country was occupied by the English, no regular court was ever held. When, in

1765, the country passed into the hands of the English, many of the French, rather than
submit to a change in their institutions, preferred to leave their homes and seek a new
abode. There are, however, at the present time a few remnants of the old French stock
in the State, who still retain to a great extent the ancient habits and customs of their

fathers.

The first settlement by Americans was made by a few families from Virginia, who
founded a small colony near Bellefontaine, in Monroe county, in 1784.

THE MISSISSIPPI COMPANY.

During the earliest period of French occupation of this country, M. Tonti, LaSalle's

attendant, was commander-in-chief of all the territory embraced between Canada and
the Gulf of Mexico, and extending east and west of the Mississippi as far as his ambi-
tion or imagination pleased to allow. He spent twenty-one years in establishing forts

and organizing the first settlements of Illinois. September 14, 1712, the French govern-
ment granted a monopoly of all the trade and commerce of the country to M. Crozat, a

wealthy merchant of Paris, who established a trading company in Illinois, and it was by
this means that the early settlements became permanent and others established. Crozat
surrendered his charter in 1717, and the Company of the West, better known as the

Mississippi Company, was organized, to aid and assist the banking system of John Law,
the most famous speculator of modern times, and perhaps at one time the wealthiest pri-

vate individual the world has ever known ; but his treasure was transitory. Under the

Company of the West a branch was organized called the Company of St. Philip's, for

the purpose of working the rich silver mines supposed to be in Illinois, and Philip Ren-
ault was appointed as its agent. In 1719 he sailed from France with two hundred
miners, laborers and mechanics. During 1719 the Company of the West was by royal

order united with the Royal Company of the Indies, and had the influence and support

of the crown, who was deluded by the belief that immense wealth would flow into the

empty treasury of France. This gigantic scheme, one of the most extensive and won-
derful bubbles ever blown up to astonish, deceive and ruin thousands of people, was set

in operation by the fertile brain of John Law. Law was born in Scotland in 1671, and
so rapid had been his career that at the age of twenty-three he was a " bankrupt, an
adulterer, a murderer and an exiled outlaw." But he possessed great financial ability,

and by his agreeable and attractive manners, and his enthusiastic advocacy of his schemes,

he succeeded in inflaming the imagination of the mercurial Frenchmen, whose greed for

gain led them to adopt any plans for obtaining wealth.

Law arrived in Paris with two and a half millions of francs, which he had gained at

the gambling table, just at the right time. Louis XIV. had just died and left as a legacy

empty coffers and an immense public debt. Every thing and every body was taxed to

the last penny to pay even the interest. All the sources of industry were dried up ; the

very wind which wafted the barks of coipmerce seemed to have died away under the

pressure of the time ; trade stood still ; the merchant, the trader, the artificer, once flour-

ishing in affluence, were transformed into clamorous beggars. The life-blood that ani-

mated the kingdom was stagnated in all its arteries, and the danger of an awful crisis

became such that the nation was on the verge of bankruptcy. At this critical juncture
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John Law arrived and proposed his grand scheme of the Mississippi Company ; 200,000

shares of stock at 500 livres each were at first issued. This sold readily and great profits

were realized. More stock was issued, speculation became rife, the fever seized every

body, and the wildest speculating frenzy pervaded the whole nation. Illinois was thought
to contain vast and rich mines of minerals. Kaskaskia, then scarcely more than the set-

tlement of a few savages, was spoken of as an emporium of the most extensive traffic,

and as rivaling some of the cities of Europe in refinement, fashion and religious culture.

Law was in the zenith ot his glory, and the people in the zenith of their infatuation. The
high and the low, the rich and the poor, were at once filled with visions of untold wealth,

and every age, set, rank and condition were buying and selling stocks. Law issued stock

again and again, and readily sold until 2,235,000,000 livres were in circulation, equaling

about $450,000,000. While confidence lasted an impetus was given to trade never before

known. An illusory policy everywhere prevailed, and so dazzled the eye that none could

see in the horizon the dark cloud announcing the approaching storm. Law at the time

was the most influential man in Europe. His house was beset from morning till night

with eager applicants for stock. Dukes, marquises and counts, with their wives and
daughters, waited for hours in the street below his door. Finding his residence too small,

he changed it for the Place Vendome, whither the crowd followed him, and the spacious

square had the appearance of a public markeb. The boulevards and public gardens were
forsaken, and the Place Vendome became the most fashionable place in Paris ; and he was
unable to wait upon even one-tenth part of his applicants. The bubble burst after a few
years, scattering rdin and distress in every direction. Law, a short time previous the

most popular man in Europe, fled to Brussels, and in 1729 died in Venice, in obscurity

and poverty.

CHAPTER III.

ENGLISH RULE.

First Throes of the American Revolution— More About Gen. Clark— His Gallant Exploits — He Captures
Kaskaskia and Vincennes— The County of Illinois Established— Patrick Henry— John Todd— A Civil

Government Provided.

As early as 1750 there could be perceived the first throes of the revolution, which
gave a new master and new institutions to Illinois. France claimed the whole valley of

the Mississippi, and England the right to extend her possessions westward as far as

she might desire. Through colonial controversies the two mother countries were precip-
itated into a bloody war within the Northwestern Territory, George Washington firing

the first gun of the military struggle which resulted in the overthrow of the French not
only in Illinois but in North America. The French evinced a determination to retain
control of the territory bordering the Ohio and Mississippi from Canada to the Gulf, and
so long as the English colonies were confined to the sea-coast there was little reason for

controversy. As the English, however, became acquainted with this beautiful and fertile

portion of our country, they not only learned the value of the vast territory, but also re-

solved to set up a counter claim to the soil. The French established numerous military and
trading posts from the frontiers of Canada to New Orleans, and in order to establish also

their claims to jurisdiction over the country they carved the lilies of France on the forest
trees, or sunk plates of metal in the ground. These measures did not, however, deter
the English from going on with their explorations ; and though neither party resorted to
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arms, yet the conflict was gathering, and it was only a question of time when the storm
should burst upon the frontier settlement. The French based their claims upon discov-

eries, the English on grants of territory extending from ocean to ocean, but neither party
paid the least attention to the prior claims of the Indians. From this position of affairs,

it was evident that actual collision between the contending parties would not much longer

be deferred. The English Grovernment, in anticipation of a war, urged the Governor of

Virginia to lose no time in building two forts, which were equipped by arms from
England. The French anticipated the English and gathered a considerable force to de^

fend their possessions. The Governor determined to send a messenger to the nearest

French post and demand an explanation. This resolution of the Governor brought into

the history of our country for the first time the man of all others whom America most
loves to honor, namely, George Washington. He was chosen, although not yet twenty-
one years of age, as the one to perform this delicate and difficult mission. With five

companions he set out on Nov. 10, 1753, and after a perilous journey returned Jan. 6,

1754. The struggle commenced and continued long, and was bloody and fierce ; but on

GEN. GEORGE KOGEKS CLAKK.

the 10th of October, 1765, the ensign of France was replaced on the ramparts of Fort

Chartres by the flag of Great Britain. This fort was the depot of supplies and the place

of rendezvous for the united forces of the French. At this time the colonies of the

Atlantic seaboard were assembled in preliminary congress at New York, dreaming of lib-

erty and independence for the continent ; and Washington, who led the expedition

against the French for the English king, in less than ten years was commanding the

forces opposed to the English tyrant. Illinois, besides being constructively a part of

Florida for over one hundred years, during which time no Spaniard set foot upon her

soil or rested his eyes upon her beautiful plains, for nearly ninety years had been in the

actual occupation of the French, their puny settlements slumbering quietly in colonial

dependence on the distant waters of the Kaskaskia, Illinois and Wabash.

GEN. CLABK'S exploits AND SUCCESSES.

The Northwest Territory was now entirely under English rule, and on the breaking

out of the Revolutionary war the British held every post of importance in the West.

While the colonists of the East were maintaining a fierce struggle with the armies of
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England, their western frontiers were ravaged by merciless butcheries of Indian warfare.

The jealousy of the savage was aroused to action by the rapid extension of American
settlement westward and the improper influence exerted by a number of military posts

garrisoned by British troops. To prevent indiscriminate slaughters arising from these

causes, Illinois became the theater of some of the most daring exploits connected with
American history. The hero of the achievements by which this beautiful land was
snatched as a gem from the British crown, was George Rogers Clark, of Virginia. He
had closely watched the movements of the British throughout the Northwest, and under-

stood their whole plan ; he also knew the Indians were not unanimously in accord with
the English, and therefore was convinced that if the British could be defeated and ex-

pelled from the Northwest, the natives might be easily awed into neutrality. Having
convinced himself that the enterprise against the Illinois settlement might easily succeed,

he repaired to the capital of Virginia, arriving November 5, 1777. While he was on his

way, fortunately, Burgoyne was defeated (October 17), and the spirits of the colonists

were thereby greatly encouraged. Patrick Henry was Governor of Virginia, and at once
entered heartily into Clark's plans. After satisfying the Virginia leaders of the feasibility

of his project, he received two sets of instructions—one secret, the other open. The
latter authorized him to enlist seven companies to go to Kentucky, and serve three months
after their arrival in the West. The secret order authorized him to arm these troops, to

procure his powder and lead of General Hand at Pittsburg, and to proceed at once to

subjugate the country.

' HE TAKES KASKASKXA.

With these instructions Col. Clark repaired to Pittsburg, choosing rather to raise his

men west of the mountains, as he well knew all were needed in the colonies in the con-

flict there. He sent Col. W. B. Smith to Holstein and Captains Helm and Bowman to

other localities to enlist men ; but none of them succeeded in raising the required num-
ber. The settlers in these parts were afraid to leave their own firesides exposed to a

vigilant foe, and but few could be induced to join the expedition. With these companies
and several private volunteers Clark commenced his descent of the Ohio, which he navi-

gated as far as the falls, where he took possession of and fortified Corn Island, a small island

between the present cities of Louisville, Ky., and New Albany, Ind. Here, after having
completed his arrangements and announced to the men their real destination, he left a

small garrison ; and on the 24th of June, during a total eclipse of the sun, which to them
augured no good, they floated down the river. His plan was to go by water as far as Fort
Massac, and thence march direct to Kaskaskia. Here he intended to surprise the gar-

rison, and after its capture go to Cahokia, then to Vincennes, and lastly to Detroit.

Should he fail, he intended to march directly to the Mississippi river and cross it into the
Spanish country. Before his start he received good items of information ; one that an
alliance had been formed between Prance and the United States, and the other that the
Indians throughout the Illinois country and the inhabitants at the various frontier posts

had been led by the British to believe that the " Long Knives," or Virginians, were the
most fierce, bloodthirsty and cruel savages that ever scalped a foe. With this impression
on their minds, Clark saw that proper management would cause them to submit at once
from fear, if surprised, and then from gratitude would become friendly, if treated with
unexpected lenity. The march to Kaskaskia was made through a hot July sun, they ar-

riving on the evening of the 4th of July, 1778. They captured the fort near the village
and soon after the village itself, by surprise, and without the loss of a single man and
without killing any of the enemy. After sufficiently working on the fears of the natives,
Clark told them they were at perfect liberty to worship as they pleased, and to take
whichever side of the great conflict they would ; also he would protect them against any
barbarity from British or Indian foe. This had the desired effect ; and the inhabitants,
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SO unexpectedly and so gratefully surprised by the unlooked-for turn of affairs, at once
swore allegiance to the American arms ; and when Clark desired to go to Cahokia on the
6th of Jaly, they accompanied him, and through their influence the inhabitants of the
place surrendered and gladly placed themselves under his protection.

In the person of M. Gibault, priest of Kaskaskia, Clark found a powerful ally and
generous friend. Clark saw that, to retain possession of the Northwest and treat suc-

cessfully with the Indians, he must establish a government for the colonies he had taken.

St. Vincent, the post next in importance to Detroit, remained yet to be taken before the

Mississippi valley was conquered. M. Gibault told him that he would alone, by per-

suasion, lead Vincennes to throw off its connection with England. Clark gladly accepted
this offer, and July 14th, in company with a fellow-townsman, Gibault started on his

mission of peace. On the 1st of August he returned with the cheerful intelligence that

every thing was peaceably adjusted at Vincennes in favor of the Americans. During the

interval, Col. Clark established his courts, placed garrisons at Kaskaskia and Cahokia,
successfully re-enlisted his men, and sent word to have a fort (which proved the germ of

Louisville) erected at the falls of the Ohio.

While the American commander was thus negotiating with the Indians, Hamilton,
the British Governor of Detroit, heard of Clark's invasion, and was greatly incensed
because the country which he had in charge should be wrested from him by a few ragged
militia. He therefore hurriedly collected a force, marched by way of the Wabash, and
appeared before the fort at Vincennes. The inhabitants made an effort to defend the

town, and when Hamilton's forces arrived. Captain Helm and a man named Henry were
the only Americans in the fort. These men had been sent by Clark. The latter charged
a cannon and placed it in the open gateway, and the Captain stood by it with a lighted

match and cried out, as Hamilton came in hailing distance, " Halt !
" The British

officer, not knowing the strength of the garrison, stopped, and demanded the surrender

of the fort. Helm exclaimed, " No man shall enter here till I know the terms."

Hamilton responded, " You shall have the honors of war." The entire garrison con-

sisted of one officer and one private.

VINCENNES CAPTUEED.

On taking Kaskaskia, Clark made a prisoner of Rocheblave, commander of the

place, and got possession of all his written instructions for the conduct of the war.

From these papers he received important information respecting the plans of Col. Ham-
ilton, Governor at Detroit, who was intending to make a vigorous and concerted attack

upon the frontier. After arriving at Vincennes, however, he gave up his intended

campaign for the Winter, and trusting to his distance from danger and to the difficulty

of approaching him, sent off his Indian warriors to prevent troops from coming down the

Ohio, and to annoy the Americans in. all ways. Thus he sat quietly down to pass the

Winter with only about eighty soldiers, but secure, as he thought from molestation. But
he evidently did not realize the character of the men with whom he was contending.

Clark, arlthough he could muster only one hundred and thirty men, determined to take

advantage of Hamilton's weakness and security, and attack him as the only means of

saving himself; for unless he captured Hamilton, Hamilton would capture him. Ac-
cordingly, about the beginning of February, 1779, he dispatched a small galley which he
had fitted out, mounted with two four-pounders and four swivels and manned with a

company of soldiers, and carrying stores for his men, with orders to force her way up the

Wabash, to take her station a few miles below Vincennes, and to allow no person to pasp

her. He himself marched with his little band, and spent sixteen days in traversing thb

country from Kaskaskia to Vincennes, passing with incredible fatigue through woods and
marshes. He was five daj^s in crossing the bottom lands of the Wabash ; and for five

miles was frequently up to the breast in water. After overcoming difficulties which had
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been thought insurmountable, he appeared before the place and completely surprised it.

The inhabitants readily submitted, but Hamilton at first defended himself in the fort.

Next day, however, he surrendered himself and his garrison prisoners-of-war. By his

activity in encouraging the hostilities of the Indians and by the revolting enormities

perpetrated by those savages, Hamilton had rendered himself so obnoxious that he was

thrown in prison and put in irons. During his command of the British frontier postshe

offered prizes to the Indians for all the scalps of the Americans they would bring him,

and earned in consequence thereof the title, " Hair-Buyer General," by which he was

ever afterward known.
The services of Clark proved of essential advantage to his countrymen. They dis-

concerted the plans of Hamilton, and not only saved the western frontier from depreda-

tions by the savages, but also greatly cooled the ardor of the Indians for carrying on a

contest in which they were not likely to be the gainers. Had it not been for this small

army, a union of all the tribes from Maine to Georgia against the colonies might have

been effected, and the whole current of our history changed.

COUNTY OP ILLINOIS.

In October, 1778, after the successful campaign of Col. Clark, the Assembly of Vir-

ginia erected the conquered country, embracing all the territory northwest of the Ohio

river, into the County of Illinois, which was doubtless the largest county in the world,

exceeding in its dimensions the whole of Great Britain and Ireland. To speak more

definitely, it contained the territory now embraced in the great States of Ohio, Indiana,

Illinois, Wisconsin and Michigan. On the 12th of December, 1778, John Todd was

appointed Lieutenant-Commandant of this county by Patrick Henry, then Governor of

Virginia, and accordingly, also, the first of Illinois County.

CHAPTER lY.

FORMATION OF ILLINOIS TERRITORY.

Ordinance of 1787— Sympathy with Slavery— Governor St. Clair— The Territory Divided into Counties.

Illinois County remained a part of Virginia until that State ceded the Northwest
Territory to the United States in 1784, as heretofore noted. This cession was really

made in 1781, but the deed was not executed until March 1, 1784, hence the condition

and government of the country remained the same as if no cession or transfer of domain
had been contemplated. Immediately after the deed of cession, Congress, by ordinance,

established a form of government, for the entire region from the Gulf to the Lakes,

although the whole of it had not been acquired, and this form of government for the

Northwestern Territory continued until the passage of the ordinance of 1787. No one

can study the secret history of this ordinance and not feel that Providence was guiding

with sleepless eye the destinies of these unborn States. American legislation has never

achieved any thing more admirable, as an internal government, than this comprehensive
ordinance. Its provisions concerning the distribution of property, the principles of civil

and religious liberty which it laid at the foundation of the communities since established,

and the efficient and simple organization by which it createdM;he first machinery of civil

society, are worthy of all the praise that has ever been given them.
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THE ORDINANCE OP 1787.

This ordinance has a marvelous and interesting history. Considerable controversy
has been indulged in as to who is entitled to the credit for framing it. This belongs,
undoubtedly, to Nathan Dane ; and to Rufus King and Timothy Pickering belong the
credit for suggesting the proviso contained in it against slavery, and also for aids to

religion and knowledge, and for assuring forever the common use, without charge, of the
great national highways of the Mississippi, the St. Lawrence and their tributaries to all

the citizens of the United States. To Thomas Jefferson is also due much credit, as some
features of this ordinance were embraced in his ordinance of 1784. But the part taken
by each in the long, laborious and eventful struggle which had so glorious a consumma-
tion in the ordinance, consecrating forever, by one imprescriptible and unchangeable mon-
ument, the very heart of our country to Freedom, Knowledge, and Union, will forever
honor the names of those illustrious statesmen.

Mr. Jefferson had vainly tried to secure a system of government for the Northwest-
ern Territory. He was an emancipationist and favored the exclusion of slavery from the
territory, but the South voted him down every time he proposed a measure of this nature.
In 1787, as late as July 10, an organizing act without the anti-slavery clause was pend-
ing. This concession to the South was expected to carry it. Congress was in session in

New York. On July 5, Rev. Manasseh Cutler, of Massachusetts, came into New York
to lobby on the Northwestern Territory. Every thing seemed to fall into his hands.
Events were ripe. The state of the public credit, the growing of Southern prejudice,

the basis of his mission, his personal character, all combined to complete one of those
sudden and marvelous revolutions of public sentiment that once in five or ten centuries

are seen to sweep over a country like the breath of the Almighty. »

Cutler was a graduate of Yale. He had studied and taken degrees in the three learned
professions, medicine, law, and divinity. He had published a scientific examination of

the plants of New England. As a scientist in America his name stood second only to

that of Franklin. He was a courtly gentleman of the old style, a man of commanding
presence and of inviting face. The Southern members said they had never seen such a

gentleman in the North. He came representing a Massachusetts company that desired

to purchase a tract of land, now included in Ohio, for the purpose of planting a colony.

It was a speculation. Government money was worth eighteen cents on the dollar. This
company had collected enough to purchase 1,500,000 acres of land. Other speculators

in New York made Dr. Cutler their agent, which enabled him to represent a demand for

6,500,000 acres. As this would reduce the national debt, and Jefferson's policy was to

provide for the public credit, it presented a good opportunity to do something.

Massachusetts then owned the territory of Maine, which she was crowding on the

market. She was opposed to opening the Northwestern region. This fired the zeal of

Virginia. The South caught the inspiration, and all exalted Dr. Cutler. The entire

South rallied around him. Massachusetts could not vote against him, because many of

the constituents of her members were interested personally in the Western speculation.

Thus Cutler, making friends in the South, and doubtless using all the arts of the lobby,

was enabled to command the situation. True to deeper convictions, he dictated one of

the most compact and finished documents of wise statesmanship that has ever adorned

any human law book. He borrowed from Jefferson the term "Articles of Compact,"
which, preceding the federal constitution, rose into the most sacred character. He then

followed very closely the constitution of Massachusetts, adopted three years before. Its

most prominent points were

:

1. The exclusion of slavery from the territory forever.

2. Provisions for public schools, giving one township for a seminary and every

section numbered 16 in each township; that is one thirty-sixth of all the land for public

schools.
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3. A provision prohibiting the adoption of any constitution or the enactment of any
law that should nullify pre-existing contracts.

Be it forever remembered that this compact declared that religion, morality, and
knowledge being necessary to good government and the happiness of mankind, schools

and the means of education shall always be encouraged." Dr. Cutler planted himself on
this platform and would not yield. Giving his unqualified declaration that it was that

or nothing—that unless they could make the land desirable they did not want it—he
took his horse and buggy and started for the constitutional convention at Philadelphia,

On July 13, 1787, the bill was put upon its passage, and was unanimously adopted. Thus
the great States of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, and Wisconsin, a vast empire, were
consecrated to freedom, intelligence, and morality. Thus the great heart of the nation

was prepared to save the union of States, for it was this act that was the salvation of the

republic and the destruction of slavery. Soon the South saw their great blunder and
tried to have the compact repealed. In 1803 Congress referred it to a committee, of

GEN. ARTHUR ST. CLAIR.

which John Randolph was chairman. He reported that this ordinance was a compact
and opposed repeal. Thus it stood, a rock in the way of the on-rushing sea of slavery.

SYMPATHY "WITH SLAVBEY.

With all this timely aid it was, however, a most desperate and protracted struggle
to keep the soil of Illinois sacred to freedom. It was the natural battle-field for the irre-
pressible conflict. In the southern end of the State slavery preceded the compact. It
existed among the old French settlers, and was hard to eradicate. That portion was
also_ settled from the slave States, and this population brought their laws, customs, and
institutions with them. A stream of population from the North poured into the northern
part of the State. These sections misunderstood and hated each other perfectly. The
Southerners regarded the Yankees as a skinning, tricky, penurious race of peddlers, fill-

ing the country with tinware, brass clocks, and wooden nutmegs. The Northerner
thought of the Southerner as a lean, lank, lazy creature, burrowing in a hut, and rioting
in whisky, dirt, and ignorance. These causes aided in making the struggle long and
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bitter. So strong was the sympathy with slavery that, in spite of the ordinance of 1787,
and in spite of the deed of cession, it was determined to allow the old French settlers to
retain their slaves.

This part of the history of Illinois will be made to form a separate chapter of this

volume.
GOVERNOR ST. CLAIE.

October 5, 1778, Congress appointed Maj. Gen. Arthur St. Clair to be Governor of

this vast territory. Gov. St. Clair was born in Scotland, and came to America in 1775.

He served in the French and English wars, and was a major general in the war of the
Revolution. He was elected to Congress in 1786, and was chosen to preside over the

deliberations of that body.

ILLINOIS TBREITOBY.

After the division of the Northwestern Territory, Illinois became one of the counties

of Indiana Territory, from which it was separated by an act of Congress approved Feb-
ruary 3, 1809, forming the Territory of Illinois, with the capital at Kaskaskia, and a

population estimated at 9,000. At the time of separation from Indiana it was made to

include the present State of Wisconsin. Under the administration of Gov. St. Clair it

had been divided into two counties— St. Clair and Randolph. President Madison first

appointed John Boyle, of Kentucky, to be the Governor of the new dependency, but the

office was not to his liking, and a change was affected by which Ninian Edwards became
the first Governor of Illinois. When the Territory was created, Mr. Edwards was serv-

ing as Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, of which Boyle was an associate judge. To
suit their respective inclinations they exchanged offices, and Mr. Edwards, through the

influence of Henry Clay, was appointed to the office declined by Mr. Boyle, and the

latter became Chief Justice of Kentucky. Mr. Edwards is remembered as a large, fine

looking man, and one who wielded a ready pen and an eloquent tongue. He served as

territorial governor with distinction, and after the organization of the State was elected

to the same position, being the third governor.

CHAPTER Y.

FIRST AMERICAN SETTLERS.

The Advance Guard— Route of Travel and Means of Transportation— Grades of Government— First Federal

Judges— The Law-Making Power— The First Legislature — Population in 1809— Location of Settlements—
Personal Sketches of the Members of the First Territorial Legislature, etc.

Emigration westward from the Atlantic States commenced about 1779-80, and there

can be no doubt that the brilliant achievements of Gen. Clark, heretofore noted, as they

spread abroad, exercised a great influence in directing attention to the fertile prairies of

Illinois. Marching through the country as his army did, they had every opportunity of

seeing its rare beauty and examining its exceeding richness and general adaptability to

agricultural purposes. The knowledge of the country thus gained by the men compos-

ing this little army of Spartan heroes was not long in spreading to the older settled parts

of America, nor was it long until immigrants began to come in and select sites for homes

and the pursuit of fortune. The increase of population from American immigration was

necessarily slow for many years. This immigration was not confined to any one locality,

but was scattered about in different sections, so that, notwithstanding the presence of an
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estimated population of 9,000, a part of whom were French and French half-breeds, when
the Territory was organized, the country still seemed like an undisturbed wilderness, as

indeed by far the larger part of it was.
In the Spring of 1780, three hundred family boats arrived at the Falls of Ohio

(Louisville), the most of them destined for Kentucky.* Some of them, however, were

bound for Illinois. Among these there were James Moore, Shadrack Bond, James Gar-

rison, Robert Kidd and Larken Rutherford, from Maryland and Virginia, the two last

having been with Gen. Clark. In those perilous times they had crossed the Alleghany

Mountains without molestation, descended the Ohio, stemmed the Mississippi, and landed

safely at Kaskaskia. James Moore, the leader of this little band of pioneers, and some

others, settled among the hills near Bellefdntaine, in what is now Monroe county, while

the remainder settled in the American Bottom (from which fact that name had its origin),

near Harrisonville. James Piggot, John Doyle, Robert "Whitehead and another man,
named Bowen, soldiers in Clark's expedition, came soon after. Doyle was a man of

family and taught school, and was, perhaps, the first to engage in teaching as a profession

in Illinois. He could also speak French and Indian, and was frequently employed as

Indian interpreter. No other American immigrants came till 1785, when the little band
was reinforced by Joseph Ogle, Joseph Warley and James Andrews, from Virginia, each

of them with a large family. James Leman, George Atcherson, David Waddell and their

families, and several others, came in 1786.1 The families here named were bhe advance
guard of that mighty host that came to occupy Illinois in after years, and make it the

grandest of all the States.

[grades of government.

During the time Illinois formed a part of Indiana Territory, from 1800 to February,

1809, the government was of two grades: first, the law-making power, consisting of the

Governor and judges, and, second, the Territorial Legislature, composed of a House of

Representatives, elected by the people, and a Council appointed by the President and
Senate of the United States. Illinois remained under the first grade until 1812.

Nathaniel Pope, a relative of Gov. Edwards, was appointed Territorial Secre-

tary. He was born at the Falls of the Ohio, in Kentucky. Was one of the early gradu-
ates of Transylvania University at Lexington, after which he chose the profession of the

law. At the age of twenty-one years he emigrated to St. Genevieve, then in Upper
Louisiana, but now in Missouri, where he acquired full command of the French language.
When twenty-six years of age, he received the appointment of Secretary of the Territory
of Illinois, and on the 25th day of April, 1809, at St. Genevieve, before Judge Shrader,
he took the prescribed oath of office and came to Illinois to enter upon the duties of his

position. In the absence of the Governor, the Secretary was empowered, under the
ordinance of 1787, to discharge the duties of the executive, and on the 28th day of April,

three days after taking the oath of office, he inaugurated the new government by procla-

mation. The counties of St. Clair and Randolph, previously organized, were reinstated
as the two counties of Illinois Territory. On the 3d of May he appointed and commis-
sioned Elias Rector to be Attorney-General; John Hay, Sheriff; Enoch Moore, Coroner

;

and seventeen justices of the peace. Hence it will be seen that the honor of starting the
civil government of Illinois Territory belongs to Nathaniel Pope, the first Territorial
Secretary.

Governor Edwards assumed the duties of his office on the 11th of June following,
having subscribed to the oath of office before leaving Kentucky.

FIRST FEDERAL JUDGES.

On the organization of the Territory, Jesse B. Thomas, Alexander Stuart and William

Butler's Kentucky. fAnnals of the West.
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Sprigg were appointed Federal Judges. On the 16th of June, 1809, Governor Edwards,
and Judges Stuart and Sprigg met together as a legislative body, as provided in the fifth

section of the ordinance of 1787, and re-enacted such of the laws of the Indiana Terri-
tory as were suitable and applicable to Illinois, and with which the people had been famil-
iar for nine years, all laws local or special to Indiana, being rejected. Many of these laws
were as old as the Northwestern Territory, some of them having been imported from
Pennsylvania and some of them from Massachusetts. They were adopted without change
of phraseology.

Under the act of Territorial organization, provision was made for the advancement
of the government from the first to the second grade whenever the Governor should be
satisfied that a majority of the freeholders desired the same. Choosing to be guided by
the popular will. Governor Edwards, on the 4th day of February, 1812, issued an order
directing an election to be held in each county on the second Monday in April, to enable
the people to determine whether they would enter upon the second grade. The question
was decided in the affirmative by a large majority. Congress approved the action of the
people, and on the 21st day of May an act was passed by which Illinois was raised to the
second grade of government. That act also extended the right of suffrage to any white
male person twenty-one years of age, who had paid a territorial tax and resided in the
Territory one year next preceding any election, etc.

For nearly four years after the Territory was organized, no legislature existed. The
Governor was both executive and, in a great measure, the law-making power. The pow-
ers thus exercised were conferred by the ordinance of 1787, under which the privileges

of the citizen were limited to the freehold property class. The elective franchise was
denied to all who were not the owners of fifty acres of land, and no one could aspire to

a seat in the Legislature unless he was a freeholder of two hundred to fite hundred acres

of land. Those of the territorial officers not appointed by the President, were appointed
by the Governor. The people were not permitted to elect justices of the peace, county
surveyors, treasurers, coroners, sheriffs, clerks, judges of the inferior courts, nor even choose
the officers of the territorial militia. All this power, and much more, was vested in the

Governor.
At the time of the organization of the Territory, the population was estimated at

9,000. The census of 1810 returned a total of 12,282. Of this number 11,501 were
whites, 168 were slaves, and 613 of all others except Indians. The settlements had
extended north to the Wood River country in the present county of Madison ; east, along

Silver creek and up Kaskaskia river, and south and east frpm Kaskaskia for a distance of

fifteen miles on the Fort Massac road. The Birds had located at the mouth of the Ohio,

at the present site of Cairo. At old Massac and the Ohio salines a small settlement had
been recognized for some time. At Shawneetown there had been a few straggling houses

since 1805. A few families were scattered along the west side of the Wabash, a man named
McCawley having pushed inland as far as the Vincennes road-crossing of the Little Wa-
bash. These, however, were mostly abandoned during the war of 1812. The settlements

were all weak, and from 1810 until the close of the war, there was no immigration

of note.

Such was the extent of settlements and population when the people voted in favor

of advancing their Government to the second grade. September 16, following, the

Governor and judges having organized Madison, Gallatin and Johnson counties, their

establishment was published by proclamation. This increased the number of counties to

five. Another proclamation of the same date ordered an election to be held in each

county on the 8th, 9th and 10th days of October, for five members of the legislative

council, seven members of the House and a delegate to Congress. Shadrach Bond was
elected as delegate to Congress. The choice for members of the Council and House of

Representatives resulted

:
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Council— Benjamin Talbot, Gallatin county; William Biggs, St. Clair county;

Samuel Judy, Madison county; Pierre Menard, Randolph county; Thomas Ferguson,

Johnson county—5.

House— George Fisher, Randolph county; Phillip Trammel and Alexander Wilson,

Gallatin county ; John Grammar, Johnson county ; Joshua Oglesby and Jacob Short,

St. Clair county ; William Jones, Madison county—7.

This was a new departure for the people of Illinois, and the dawning of that politi-

cal career that has made the State so noted among the other States of the Union, and the

first election for law-makers ever held in the Territory. Stuve's History of Illinois,

published in 1876, preserves the following sketches of the members :

Pierre Menard, chosen to preside over the deliberations of the council, was a

Canadian Frenchman, and had settled at Kaskaskia in 1790. He was a merchant, and
enjoyed an extensive trade with the Indians, over whom he exercised a great influence,

and was, for many years, government agent for them. He was well informed, energetic,

frank and honest, and very popular with all classes.

William Biggs was an intelligent and respectable member, who had been a soldier

in Clark's expedition, and ten years afterward had been a prisoner for several years

among the Kickapoos. He wrote and published a complete narrative of his Indian

captivity, and in 1826 Congress voted^him three [sections of land. He was County
Judge for many years.

Samuel Judy was a man of energy, fortitude and enterprise. The Fall preceding

he commanded the corps of spies in Gov. Edwards' military campagn to Peoria Lake.

Some of his descendants still reside in Madison county.

Joshua Oglesby was a local Methodist preacher of ordinary education. He
resided on a farm and was greatly respected by his neighbors.

Jacob Short, the colleague of Oglesby, removed to Illinois with his father Moses
in 1796, and pursued farming. He distinguished himself as a ranger in the war of 1812.

George Fisher possessed a fair education, and was a physician by profession. He
removed from Virginia to Kaskaskia in 1800 and engaged in merchandising, but resided

on a farm when elected to the territorial assembly. He was afterwards in public life.

Phillip Trammel was a man of discriminating mind, inclined to the profession of

arms. He was the lessee of the United saline in Gallatin county.

Alexander Wilson (Mr. Trammel's colleague), was a popular tavern keeper at

Shawneetown, and a man of fair ability.

William Jones was a Baptist preacher, grave in his deportment, and possessed of

moderate abilities. He was born in North Carolina, removed to Illinois in 1806, in the

Rattan Prairie east of Alton.*
John Grammar made his first appearance in public at this first session of the

Illinois Territorial Legislature. , He had no education, but was a man of great natural

shrewdness. He afterward represented Union county frequently during a peiiod of

twenty years.

It was related of him that after his election, in order to procure clothing suitable to

the occasion and in which to appear in the Assembly, himself and family gathered a
large quantity of hickory nuts, which were taken to the Ohio saline and traded for blue
strouding, such as the Indians wore for breech-cloths. When the neighboring women
assembled to make up the garments, it was found that he had not invested quite enough
nuts. The pattern was measured in every way possible, but it was unmistakably scant.

After exhausting every device to make the goods "hold out" and fill the desired
measure, the women decided that the next best and only thing that could be done would
be to make a " bob-tailed coat and a long pair of leggings," which resolution they carried
into execution. And arrayed in this suit he made his appearance at the capital, and

*Annals of the West.
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continued to wear it the greater part of the session. " Notwithstanding his illiteracy,"
says Mr. Ford, " he had the honor of originating the practice much followed by public
men since, of voting against all new measures, it being easier to conciliate public opinion
for being remiss in voting for a good measure, than to suffer arraignment for aiding in
the passage of an unpopular one."

By proclamation, issued on the 10th of November, the Governor ordered the mem-
bers elect to convene at Kaskaskia, the seat of government, on the 25th of that month.
The two bodies met in a large, rough old building of uncut limestone,* with steep roof
and gables, of unpainted boards, situated in the center of a square, which, after the ruin
and abandonment of Fort Chartres, had served the French as the headquarters of the
military commandant. The first floor, a large, low, cheerless room, was fitted up for the
House, and a small chamber above for the Council Chamber. Pierre Menard was chosen
President of the Council, and John Thomas as Secretary. William C. Greenup was
elected Clerk of the House. The two Houses elected a door-keeper in common. All
the twelve members boarded with one family, and lodged, it has been said, in one room.
* * * * The members addressed themselves to the business in hand, with-
out delay or circumlocution. Windy speeches and contention were unknown, and
parliamentary tacticians, if any there were, met with no indulgence ; and it has been
naively remarked that not a lawyer appeared on the roll of names.

CHAPTER YI.

THE WAR OF 1812.

The Outbreak— Massacre at Fort Dearborn— Slaughter of Prisoners— Kinzie Family Saved— Expedition Against
the Indians—An Indian Killed— Town Burned— Peoria Burned— Second Expedition Against the Indians—
Expedition up the Mississippi— A Desperate Fight— Another Expedition.

For some years previous to the war between the United States and England, in 1812,
considerable trouble was experienced with the Indians. Marauding bands of savages
would attack small settlements and inhumanly butcher all the inhabitants, and mutilate

their dead bodies. To protect themselves, the settlers organized companies of rangers

and erected block-houses and stockades in every settlement. The largest, strongest and
best of these was Fort Russell, near the present village of Edwardsville. This stockade
was made the main rendezvous for troops and military stores, and Gov. Edwards, who,
during the perilous times of 1812, when Indian hostilities threatened on every hand,
assumed command of the Illinois forces, established his headquarters at this place. The
Indians were incited to many of these depredations by English emissaries, who for

years continued their dastardly work of " setting the red men, like dogs, upon the

whites."
In the Summer of 1811 a peace convention was held with the Pottawatomies at

Peoria, when they promised that peace should prevail ; but their promises were soon

broken. Tecumseh, the great warrior, and fit successor of Pontiac, started in the Spring

of Ibll, to arouse the Southern Indians to war against the whites. The purpose of this

chieftain was well known to Gov. Harrison, of Indiana Territory, who determined during

Tecumseh's absence to strike and disperse the hostile forces collected at Tippecanoe.

This he successfully did on Nov. 7, winning the sobriquet of " Tippecanoe," by which he
was afterwards commonly known. Several peace councils were held, at which the Indi-

*Stuve.
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ans promised good behavior, but only to deceive the whites. Almost all the savages of

the Northwest were thoroughly stirred up and did not desire peace. The British agents

at various points, in anticipation of war with the United States, sought to enlist the favor

of the savages by distributing to them large supplies of arms, ammunition and other

goods.

The English continued their insults to our flag upon the high seas, and their govern-

ment refusing to relinquish its offensive course, all hopes of peace and safe commercial

relations were abandoned, and Congress, on the 19th of June, 1812, formally declared

war against Great Britain. In Illinois the threatened Indian troubles had already caused

a more thorough organization of the militia and greater protection by the erection of

forts. As intimated, the Indians took the war-path long before the declaration of hostili-

ties bet^yeen the two civilized nations, committing great depredations, the most atrocious

of which was the

MASSACRE AT PORT DEARBORN.

During the war of 1812 between the United States and England, the greatest, as well

as the most revolting, massacre of whites that ever occurred in Illinois, was perpetrated

by the Pottawatomie Indians, at Fort Dearborn. This fort was built by the Government,
in 1804, on the south side of the Chicago river, and was garrisoned by 54 men under
command of Capt. Nathan Heald, assisted by Lieutenant Helm and Ensign Ronan ; Dr.

Voorhees, surgeon. The residents at the post at that time were the wives of officers

Heald and Helm and a few of the soldiers, Mr. Kinzie and his family, and a few Cana-

dians. The soldiers and Mr. Kinzie were on the most friendly terms with the Pottawato-
mies and Winnebagoes, the principal tribes around them.

On the 7th of August, 1812, arrived the order from Gen. Hull, at Detroit, to evacu-

ate Fort Dearborn, and distribute all United States property to the Indians. Chicago
was so deep in the wilderness that this was the first intimation the garrison received of

the declaration of war made on the 19th of June. The Indian chief who brought the

dispatch advised Capt. Heald not to evacuate, but that if he should decide to do so, it

be done immediately, and by forced marches elude the concentration of the savages before'

the news be circulated among them. To this most excellent advice the Captain gave no
heed, but on the 12th held a council with the Indians, apprising them of the orders re-

ceived, and offering a liberal reward for an escort of Pottawatomies to Fort Wayne. The
Indians, with many professions of friendship, assented to all he proposed, and promised
all he required. The remaining officers refused to join in the council, for they had been
informed that treachery was designed,— that the Indians intended to murder those in

the council, and then destroy those in the fort. The port holes were open, displaying

cannons pointing directly upon the council. This action, it is supposed, prevented a

massacre at that time.

Mr. Kinzie, who knew the Indians well, begged Capt. Heald not to confide in their

promises, or distribute the arms and ammunition among them, for it would only put
power in their hands to destroy the whites. This argument, true and excellent in itself,

was now certainly inopportune, and would only incense the treacherous foe. But the

Captain resolved to follow it, and accordingly on the night of the 13th, after the distri-

bution of the other property, the arms were broken, and the barrels of whisky, of which
there was a large quantity, were rolled quietly through the sally-port, their heads
knocked in and their contents emptied into the river. On that night the lurking red-

skins crept near the fort and discovered the destruction of the promised booty going on
within. The next morning the powder was seen floating on the surface of the river, and
the Indians asserted that such an abundance of " fire-water" had been emptied into the

river as to make it taste " groggy." Many of them drank of it freely.

On the 14th the desponding garrison was somewhat cheered by the arrival of Capt.
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Wells, with 15 friendly Miamis. Capt. Wells heard at Fort Wayne of the order to evacu-

ate Fort Dearborn, and knowing the hostile intentions of the Indians, made a rapid march
through the wilderness to protect, if possible, his niece, Mrs. Heald, and the officers and
the garrison from certain destruction. But he came too late. Every means for its

defense had been destroyed the night before, and arrangements were made for leaving

the fort on the following morning.

The fatal morning of the 16th at length dawned brightly on the world. The sun

shone in unclouded splendor upon the glassy waters of Lake Michigan. At 9 A. m., the

party moved out of the southern gate of the fort, in military array. The band, feeling

the solemnity of the occasion, struck up the Dead March in Saul. Capt. Wells, with his

face blackened after the manner of the Indians, led the advance guard at the head of

his friendly Miamis, the garrison with loaded arms, the baggage wagons with the sick,

and the women and chUdren following, while the Pottawatomie Indians, about 500 in

/
OLD POET DEARBORN.

number, who had pledged their honor to escort the whites in safety to Fort Wayne,
brought up the rear. The party took the road along the lake shore. On reaching the

range of sand-hills separating the beach from the prairie, about one mile and a half from

the fort, the Indians defiled to the right into the prairie, bringing the sand-hills between

them and the whites. This divergence was scarcely effected when Capt. Wells, who had

kept in advance with his Ihdians, rode furiously back and exclaimed, " They are about

to attack us. Form instantly and charge upon them !" These words were scarcely

uttered before a volley of balls from Indian muskets was poured in upon them. The
troops were hastily formed into line and charged up the bank. One veteran

of 70 fell as they ascended. The Indians were driven back to the prairie, and

then the battle was waged by 54 soldiers, 12 civilians, and three or four women— the

cowardly Miamis having fled at the outset— against 500 Indian warriors. The whites
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behaved gallantly, and sold their lives dearly. They fought desperately until two-thirds

of their number were slain ; the remaining 27 surrendered. And now the most sicken-

ing and heart-rending butchery of this calamitous day was committed by a young sav-

age, who assailed one of the baggage wagons containing 12 children, every one of which
fell beneath his murderous tomahawk. When Capt. Wells, who with the others had

become prisoner, beheld this scene at a distance, he exclaimed in a tone loud enough to

be heard by the savages, " If this be your game, I can kill, too ;" and turning his horse,

started for the place where the Indians had left their squaws and children. The Indians

hotly pursued, but he avoided their deadly bullets for a time. Soon his horse was killed

and he severely wounded. With a yell the young braves rushed to make him their pris-

oner and reserve him for torture. But an enraged warrior stabbed him in the back, and
he fell dead. His heart was afterward taken out, cut in pieces and distributed among
the tribes. Billy Caldwell, a half-breed Wyandot, well-known in Chicago long after-

ward, buried his remains the next day. Wells street in Chicago, perpetuates his

memory.
In this fearful conbat women bore a conspicuous part. A wife of one of th'3 soldiers,

who had frequently heard that the Indians subjected their prisoners to tortures worse

than death, resolved not to be taken alive, and continued fighting until she was literally

cut to pieces. Mrs. Heald was an excellent equestrian, and an expert in the use of the

rifle. She fought bravely, receiving several wounds. Though faint from loss of blood,

she managed to keep in her saddle. A savage raised his tomahawk to kill her, when she

looked him full in the face, and with a sweet smile and gentle voice said, in his own
language, " Surely you would not kill a squaw." The arm of the savage fell, and the life

of this heroic woman was saved. Mrs. Helm had an encounter with a stalwart Indian,

who attempted to tomahawk her. Springing to one side, she received the glancing blow
on her shoulder, and at the same time she seized the savage round the neck and en-

deavored to get his scalping-knife which hung in a sheath at his breast. While she was
thus struggling, she was dragged from his grasp by another and an older Indian. The
latter bore her, struggling and resisting, to the lake and plunged her in. She soon per-

ceived it was not his intention to drown her, because he held her in such a position as to

keep her head out of the water. She recognized him to be a celebrated chief called Black
Partridge. When the firing ceased she was conducted up the sand-bank.

SLAUGHTBK OF PEISONEES.

The prisoners were taken back to the Indian camp, when a new scene of horror was
enacted. The wounded not being included in the terms of the surrender, as it was in-

terpreted by the Indians, and the British general, Proctor, having offered a liberal bounty
far American scalps, nearly all the wounded were killed and scalped, and the price of the

trophies was afterwards paid by the British general. In the stipulation of surrender,

Capt. Heald had not particularly mentioned the wounded. These helpless sufferers, on
reaching the Indian camp, were therefore regarded by the brutal savages as fit subjects

upon which to display their cruelty and satisfy their desire for blood. Referring to the
terrible butchery of the prisoners, in an account given by Mrs. Helm, she says : " An
old squaw, infuriated by the loss ^of friends or excited by the sanguinary scenes around
her, seemed possessed of demoniac fury. She seized a stable-fork and assaulted one
miserable victim, who lay groaning and writhing in the agonies of his wound, aggravated
by the scorching beams of the sun. With a delicacy of feeling, scarcely to have been
expected under such circumstances. Wan-bee-nee-wan stretched a mat across two poles,

between me and this dreadful scene. I was thus spared, in some degree, a view of its

horrors, although I could not entirely close my ears to the cries of the sufferer. The
following night five more of the wounded prisoners were tomahawked."
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KINZIB FAMILY SAVED,

That evening, about sundown, a council of chiefs was held to decide the fate of the
prisoners, and it was agreed to deliver them to the British commander at Detroit. After
dark, many warriors from a distance came into camp, who were thirsting for blood, and
were determined to murder the prisoners regardless of the terms of surrender. Black
Partridge, with a few of his friends, surrounded Kinzie's house to protect the inmates
from the tomahawks of the bloodthirsty savages. Soon^a band of hostile warriors rushed
by them into the house, and stood with tomahawks and scalping-knives, awaiting the
signal from their chief to commence the work of death. Black Partridge said to Mrs.
Kinzie :

" We are doing every thing in our power to save you, but all is now lost ; you
and your friends, together with all the prisoners of the camp, will now be slain." At
that moment a canoe was heard approaching the shore, when Black Partridge ran down
to the river, trying in the darkness to make out the new comers, and at the same time

OLD KINZIE HOtrSE.

shouted, " Who are you ?" In the bow of the approaching canoe stood a tall, manly
personage, with a rifle in his hand. He jumped ashore exclaiming, " I am Sau-ga-nash."
" Then make all speed to the house ; our friends, are in danger, aud you only can save
them." It was Billy Caldwell, the half-breed Wyandot. He hurried forward, entered
the house with a resolute step, deliberately removed his accoutrements, placed his rifle

behind the door, and saluted the Indians :
" How now, my friends ! a good day to you.

I was told there were enemies here, but am glad to find only friends." Diverted by the
coolness of his manner, they were ashamed to avow their murderous purpose, and simply
asked for some cotton goods to wrap their dead, for burial. And thus, by his presence
of mind, Caldwell averted the murder of the Kinzie family and the prisoners. The latter,

with their wives and children, were dispersed among the Pottawatomie tribes along the
Illinois, Rock, and Wabash rivers, and some to Milwaukee. The most of them were
ransomed at Detroit the following Springs A part of them, however, remained in
captivity another year.
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EXPEDITION AGAINST THE INDIANS.

By the middle of Aiiigust, through the disgraceful surrender of Gen. Hull, at De-
troit, and the evacuation of Fort Dearborn and massacre of its garrison, the British and
Indians were in possession of the whole Northwest. The savages, emboldened by their

successes, penetrated deeper into the settlements, committing great depredations. The
activity and success of the enemy aroused the people to a realization of the great danger
their homes and families were in. Gov. Edwards collected a force of 350 men at Camp
Russell, and Capt. Russell came from Vincennes with about 50 more. Being officered

and equipped, they proceeded about the middle of October on horseback, carrying with
them twenty days' rations, to Peoria. Capt. Craig was sent with two boats up the Illi-

nois, with provisions and tools to build a fort. The little army proceeded to Peoria lake,

where was located a Pottawatomie village. They arrived late at night, within a few
miles of the village, without their presence being known to the Indians. Four men were
sent out that night to reconnoiter the position of the village. The four brave men who
volunteered for this perilous service were Thomas Carlin (afterward Governor), and
Robert, Stephen and Davis Whiteside. They proceeded to the village and explored it

and the approaches to it thoroughly, without starting an Indian or provoking the bark
of a dog. The low lands between the Indian village and the troops were covered with a

rank growth of tall grass, so high and dense as to readUy conceal an Indian on horse-

back, until within a few feet of him. The ground had become still more yielding by
recent rains, rendering it almost impassable by mounted men. To prevent detection, the

soldiers had camped without lighting the usual camp-fi^-es. The men lay down in their

cold and cheerless camp, with many misgivings. They well remembered how the skulk-

ing savages fell upon Harrison's men at Tippecanoe during the night. To add to their

fears, a gun in the hands of a soldier was carelessly discharged, raising great consterna-

tion in the camp.
AN INDIAN KILLED.

Through a dense fog which prevailed the following morning, the army took up its

line of march for the Indian town, Capt. Judy with his corps of spies in advance. In
the tall grass they came up with an Indian and his squaw, both mounted. The Indian
wanted to surrender, but Judy observed that he " did not leave home to take prisoners,"

and instantly shot one of them. With the blood streaming from his mouth and nose,

and in his agony "singing the death song," the dying Indian raised his gun, shot and
mortally wounded a Mr. Wright, and in a few minutes expired. Many guns were im-
mediately discharged at the other Indian, not then known to be a squaw, all of which
missed her. Badly scared, and her husband killed by her side, the agonizing wails of the
squaw were heart-rending. She was taken prisoner, and afterward restored to her
nation.

TOWN BtTBNED.

On nearing the town a general charge was made, the Indians fleeing to the interior

wilderness. Some of their warriors made a stand, when a sharp engagement occurred,
but the Indians were routed. In their flight they left behind all their Winter's store

of provisions, which was taken, and their town burned. Some Indian children were
found who had been left in the hurried flight, also some disabled adults, one of whom
was in a starving condition and with a voracious appetite partook of the bread given him.
He is said to have been killed by a cowardly trooper straggling behind, after the main
army had resumed its retrograde march, who wanted to be able to boast that he had killed

an Indian.

About the time Gov. Edwards started with his little band against the Indians, Gen.
Hopkins, with 2,000 Kentucky riflemen, left Vincennes to cross the prairies of Illinois
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PONTIAC. THE OTTAWA CHIEF.
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and destroy the Indian villages along the Illinois river. Edwards, with his rangers, ex-

pected to act in concert with Gen. Hopkins' riflemen. After marching 80 or 90 miles

into the enemy's country. Gen. Hopkins' men became dissatisfied, and on Oct. 20 the

entire army turned and retreated homeward before even a foe had been met. After the

victory of the Illinois rangers they heard nothing of Gen. Hopkins and his 2,000 mounted
Kentucky riflemen ; and apprehending that a large force of warriors would be speedily col-

lected, it was deemed prudent not to protract their stay, and accordingly the retrograde

march was commenced the very day of the attack.

PEOBIA BUBNBD.

The force of Capt. Craig, in charge of the provision boats, was not idle during this

time. They proceeded to Peoria, where they were fired on by ten Indians during the

night, who immediately fled. Capt. Craig discovered, at daylight, their tracks leading

up into the French town. He inquired of the French their whereabouts, who denied all

knowledge of them, and said they " had heard or seen nothing ;
" but he took the entire

number prisoners, burned and destroyed Peoria, and bore the captured inhabitants away
on his boats to a point below the present city of Alton, where he landed and left them
in the woods,—men, women and children,—in the inclement month of November, with-

out shelter, and without food other than the slender stores they had themselves gathered

up before their departure. They found their way to St. Louis in an almost starving

condition. The burning of Peoria and taking its inhabitants prisoners, on the mere
suspicion that they sympathized with the Indians, was generally regarded as a needless,

if not wanton, act of military power.

SECOND EXPEDITION AGAINST THE INDIANS.

In the early part of 1813, the country was put in as good defense as the sparse pop-

ulation admitted. In spite of the precaution taken, numerous depredations and murders

were committed by the Indians, which again aroused the whites, and another expedition

was sent against the foe, who had collected in large numbers in and around Peoria.

This army was composed of about 900 men, collected from both Illinois and Missouri,

and under command of Gen. Howard. They marched across the broad prairies of Illinois

to Peoria, where there was a small stockade in charge of United States troops. Two
days previously the Indians made an attack on the fort, but were repulsed. Being in the

enemy's country, knowing their stealthy habits, and the troops at no time observing a

high degree of discipline, many unnecessary night alarms occurred, yet the enemy were
far away. The army marched up the lakfe to Chillicothe, burning on its way two deserted

villages. At the present site of Peoria the troops remained in camp several weeks.

While there they built a fort, which they named in honor of Gen. George Rogers Clark,

who with his brave Virginians wrested Illinois from the English during the Revolutionary
struggle. This fort was destroyed by fire in 1818. It gave a name to Peoria which it

wore for several years. After the building of Fort Crevecoeur, in 1680, Peoria lake was
very familiar to Western travel and history ; but there is no authentic account of a per-

manent European settlement there until 1778, when La Ville de Meillet, named after its

founder, was started. Owing to the quality of the water and its greater salubrity, the

location was changed to the present site of Peoria, and by 1796 the old had been entirely

abandoned for the new village. After its destruction in 1812 it was not settled again

until 1819, and then by American pioneers, though in 1813 Fort Clark was built there.

EXPEDITION UP THE MISSISSIPPI.

The second campaign against the Indians at Peoria closed without an engagement,
or even a sight of the enemy, yet great was the benefit derived from it. It showed to

the Indian the power and resources of his white foe. Still the calendar of the horrible
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deeds of butchery of the following year is long and bloody. A joint expedition again
moved against the Indians in 1814, under Gov. Clark, of Missouri. This time they went
up the Mississippi in barges, Prairie du Chien being the point of destination. There they
found a small garrison of British troops, which, however, soon fled, as did the inhabi-
tants, leaving Clark in full possession. He immediately set to work and erected Fort
Shelby. The Governor returned to St. Louis, leaving his men in peaceable possession of

the place, but a large force of British and Indians came down upon them, and the entire

garrison surrendered. In the mean time Gen. Howard sent 108 men to strengthen the
garrison. Of this number 66 were Illinois rangers, under Capts. Rector and Riggs, who
occupied two boats. The remainder were with Lieut. Campbell.

A DESPBKATE FIGHT.

At Rock Island Campbell was warned to turn back, as an attack was contemplated.
The other boats passed on up the river and were some two miles ahead when Campbell's
barge was struck by a strong gale which forced it against a small island near the Illinois

shore. Thinking it best to lie to till the wind abated, sentinels were stationed while the

men went ashore to cook breakfast. At this time a large number of Indians on the main
shore under Black Hawk commenced an attack. The savages in canoes passed rapidly

to the island', and with a war-whoop rushed upon the men, who retreated and sought
refuge in the barge. A battle of brisk musketry now ensued between the few regulars

aboard the stranded barge and the hordes of Indians under cover of trees on the island,

with severe loss to the former. Meanwhile Capts. Rector and Riggs, ahead with their

barges, seeing the smoke of battle, attempted to return ; but in the strong gale, Riggs'

boat became unmanageable and was stranded on the rapids. Rector, to avoid a similar

disaster, let go his anchor. The rangers, however, opened with good aim and telling

effect upon the savages. The unequal combat having raged for some time and about
closing, the commander's barge, with many wounded and several dead on board—among
the former Lieut. Campbell—was discovered to be on fire. Now Rector and his brave

Illinois rangers, comprehending the horrid situation, performed, without delay, as cool

and heroic a deed—and did it well—as ever imperiled the life of mortal man. In the

howling gale, in full view of hundreds of infuriated savages, and within range of their

rifles, they deliberately raised anchor, lightened their barge by casting overboard quanti-

ties of provisions, and guided it with the utmost labor down the swift current, to the

windward of the burning barge, and under the galling fire of the enemy rescued all the

survivors, and removed the wounded and dying to their vessel. This, was a deed of noble

daring and as heroic as any performed during the war in the West. Rector hurried with

his over-crowded vessel to St. Louis.

It was now feared that Riggs and his company were captured and sacrii^ced by the

savages. His vessel, which was strong and well armed, was for a time surrounded by
the Indians, but the whites on the inside were well sheltered. The wind becoming

allayed in the evening, the boat, under cover of the night, glided safely down the river

without the loss of a single man.

AKOTHER EXPEDITION.

Notwithstanding the disastrous termination of the two expeditions already sent out,

during the year 1814, still another was projected. It was under Maj. Zachary Taylor,

afterward President. Rector and Whiteside, with the lUinoisan, were in command of

boats. The expedition passed Rock Island unmolested, when it was learned the country

was not onlv swarming with Indians, but that the English were there in command with

a detachment of regulars and artillery. The advanced boats in command of Rector,

Whiteside and Hempstead, turned about and began to. descend the rapids, fighting with



108 GENERAL HISTORY OP ILLINOIS.

great gallantry the hordes of the enemy, who were pouring their fire into them from the

shore at every step.

Near the mouth of Rock river Maj. Taylor anchored his fleet out in the Mississippi.

During the night the English planted a battery of six pieces down at the water's edge,

to sink or disable the boats, and filled the islands with redskins to butcher the whites,

who might, unarmed, seek refuge there. But in this scheme they were frustrated. In

the morning Taylor ordered all the force, except 20 boatmen on each vessel, to the upper
island to dislodge the enemy. The order was executed with great gallantry, the island

scoured, many of the savages killed, and the rest driven to the lower island. In the

meantime the British cannon told with effect upon the fieet. The men rushed back and
the boats were dropped down the stream out of range of the cannon. Capt. Rector was
now ordered with his company to make a sortie on the lower island, which he did, driving

the Indians back among the willows ; but they being re-inforced, in turn hurled Rector

back upon the sand-beach.

A council of officers called by Taylor had by this time decided that their force was
too small to contend with the enemy, who outnumbered them three to one, and the boats

were in full retreat down the river. As Rector attempted to, get under way his boat

grounded, and the savages, with demoniac yells, surrounded it; when a most desperate

hand-to-hand conflict ensued. The gallant ranger, Samuel Whiteside, observing the

imminent peril of his brave Illinois comrade, went immediately to his rescue, who but
for his timely aid would undoubtedly have been overpowered, with all his force, and
murdered.

Thus ended the last, like the two previous expeditions up the Mississippi during the

war of 1812, in defeat and disaster. The enemy was in undisputed possession of all the

country north of the Illinois river, and the prospects respecting those territories boded
nothing but gloom. With the approacli of Winter, however, Indian depredations ceased

to be committed, and the peace of Ghent, Dec. 24, 1814, closed the war.

CHAPTER YII.

ILLINOIS TERRITORY ADMITTED AS A STATE.

Constitutional Convention— Meeting of the Convention— Constitution Adopted— Arbitrary Features— First

Election Under the Constitution— Lincoln— Grant— Rawlins— Douglas— Shields — lUinoisans in the War
of the Rebellion— Elias Kent Kane— Congressional Act of Admission— Boundary Question— Boundary Con-
ventions— Attempt to form Another Territory— Failure of the Attempt— Shadrach Bond— Pierre Menard—
Other State Officers— Meeting of the General Assembly— Financial— Territorial Revenue— State Revenue— How Collected—The Whipping Post— Earthquakes.

On the 18th day of April, 1818, the Congress of the United States passed an act
entitled " An act to enable the people of the Territory of Illinois to form a constitution
and State government, and for the admission of such State into the Union on an equal
footing with the original States." Immediately after the passage, approval and publica-
tion of this act, an election was ordered to choose delegates to form a State convention.

At this time there were fifteen organized counties in the territory, all in the southern
part of the State, to which section the settlement of the territory had been confined.
These counties were organized in the following chronological order

:

St. Clair, 1790 ; Randolph, 1795 ; Madison, Gallatin and Johnson, 1812 ; Edwards,
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1814 ; White, Monroe, Pope and Jackson, 1816 ; Crawford and Bond, 1817 ; Union,
Washington and Franklin. 1818.

MEETING OF THE CONVENTION.

The convention assembled at Kaskaskia in July, of that year, and completed its

labors by signing the constitution on the 26th day of August following. The names of

the delegates and the counties they represented are subjoined:

St. Clair county, Jesse B. Thomas, John Messinger and James Lemon, Jr.

Randolph, George Fisber, Elias Kent Kane.
Madison, Benjamin Stephenson, Joseph Borong, Abraham Pickett.

Gallatin, Michael Jones, Leonard White, Adolphus Frederick Hubbard.
Johnson, Kezekiah West, William McFatridge.
Edwards, Seth Gard, Levi Compton.
White, Willis Hargi-ave, William McHenry.
Monroe, Caldwell Cams, Enoch Moore.
Pope, Samuel O'Melveney, Hamlet Ferguson.
Jackson, Conrad Will, James Hall, Jr.

Crawford, Joseph Kitchell, Edward N. CuUom.
Bond, Thomas Kilpatrick, Samuel G. Morse.
Union, William Echols, John Whitaker.
Washington, Andrew Bankson. Bankson's colleague died during the session of the

convention.
Franklin, Isham Harrison, Thomas Roberts.
Jesse B. Thomas, of St. Clair county, was chosen to preside over the deliberations

of the convention, and William C. Greenup to be its secretary.

ARBITRARY FEATURES.

" The constitution was not submitted to a vote of the people for their approval or

rejection ; nor did the people have much to do with the choice or election of officers gen-
erally under it, other than that of governors, the general assemblies, sheriffs and coroners.

Notwithstanding the elective franchise was in a blazen manner extended to all white
male inhabitants above the age of twenty-one years, having a residence in the State of

six months next preceding any election, which it will be perceived included aliens, and
possibly invited immigration, there was scarcely an office left to be filled by its exercise."

—[Stuve's History of 111., p. 29T.]

Says Mr. Ford: " The Constitution, as formed, required the Governor and Lieu-

tenant Governor to have been citizens of the United States for thirty years before their

election. It also gave power to the Governor to nominate, and the Senate to confirm,

all officers whose appointments were not otherwise provided for by the Constitution

;

the only exceptions to this rule being the judges of the supreme and inferior courts.

State Treasurer and public printer. But motives of favor to particular persons who were
looked to to hold office under the new government, induced the convention to make' excep-

tions in both these cases, which, in the case of appointments to office in the hands of the

Legislature, became the general rule."

Thus it seems that " the electors of the people were not entrusted with the choice

of State officers other than mentioned ; nor of their judges, either supreme, circuit or

probate ; nor of their prosecuting attorneys, county or circuit clerks, recorders or justices

of the peace ; the appointment of nearly all of these being vested in the General Assem-
bly, which body was not slow to avail itself of the powers thus conferred to their full

extent." * * * " The Governor was denied the veto power, but, jointly with

the four Supreme Judges, was constituted a council to revise all bills passed. For this

purpose the judges were required to attend at the seat of government during the sessions
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of the Legislature, without compensation. If the council of revision, or a majority,

deemed it improper for any bill to become a law, their objections were noted in writing

;

but the bill might, notwithstanding, be passed over their objections, by a majority, and

become a law. 'While the Executive is commonly a co-ordinate branch of the law-

making power, here he was entirely stripped, and while the judicial department is never

thus vested, here it was clothed with a quasi legislative prerogative."

Mr. Stuve continues : " The Constitution was about the first organic law of any

State in the Union to abolish imprisonment for debt. It did not prohibit the Legislature

from granting divorces, and this was a fruitful source of legislation, as the old statutes

abundantly testify. But its worst feature, perhaps, was the want of limitation against

the Legislature loaning or pledging the faith and credit of the State in aid of, or to the

undertaking of, any public or private enterprise, or to the aid of individuals, associations

or corporations. The absence of such most necessary limitations, caused her repeated

connections afterwards with banking schemes, and her undertaking the vast system of

internal improvements in 1837, all of which proved detrimental to her credit, harassing

and expensive to her finances, and came near bankrupting and completing her ruin."

Section eighteen of article two provided that " the General Assembly of this State

shall not allow the following officers of the government greater or smaller annual salaries

than as follows, until the year one thousand eight hundred and twenty-four : the Gover-

nor, one thousand dollars ; and the Secretary of State, six hundred dollars."

Section two of article three : " The first election for governor shall commence on

the third Thursday of September next (1818), and continue for that and the two succeed-

ing days ; and the next election shall be held on the first Monday of August, in the year

of our Lord one thousand eight hiindred and twenty-one. And forever after, elections

for governor shall be held once in four years, on the first Monday of August."
Section three of the same article : " The first governor shall hold his office until

the first Monday of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
twenty-two, and until another governor shall be elected and qualified to office ; and for-

ever after, the governor shall hold his office for the term of four years, and until another

governor shall be elected and qualified, but he shall not be eligible for more than four

years in any term of eight years," etc.

FIRST ELECTION UNDER THE CONSTITUTION.

Pursuant to section two of article two of the Constitution, the first election for

governor, lieutenant-governor, secretary of state, members of the Senate and House
of Representatives, etc., commenced on the third Thursday of September, 1818, and con-

tinued for two days thereafter.

The poll books of the several voting places in the fifteen organized, counties that

made up the State of Illinois at that time, would be interesting now if it were possible

to secure them. But very few, if any, of the voters at that election, are spared to the

present. Almost sixty-seven years have come and gone since the first Territorial Legis-

lature convened at Kaskaskia, and sixty-one years have been engulfed in the vortex of

time since the first State officers were elected, in September, 1818. Since then the people

of the commonwealth have participated in no less than three wars : the Black Hawk war
of 1832, which commenced within the boundaries of the State, the Mexican war, and the

war against the great Southern rebellion, the prolonged and bloody conflict between
Freedom and Slavery, 1861-(55.

LINCOLN— GRANT— RAWLINS— DOUGLAS— SHIELDS.

In these sixty-one years this State has given to the parent government one of the

most successful warrior chieftains known to history, and two Presidents,— Lincoln, Free-

dom's martyr, and U. S. Grant, the honored guest of the crowned heads and titled courts
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of the European and Oriental world. Besides these, others of her sons by birth and
adoption, arose to distinction in home and national councils, and filled places of high
honor and trust as ministers to foreign courts. Douglas, whose memory is dear to every
Illinoisan, if not to every American ; Yates, whose intellect was as exhaustless as the
resources of the great State of his home, and only equalled by his generosity of nature

;

Shields, the hero of two wars, and Senator from three States, Illinois, Minnesota and
Missouri ; and John A. Rawlins, the " noblest Roman of them all," who rose from driver
of a coal cart and the pseudonym of " Charcoal Johnny," to the exalted position of the
nation's war minister. These are a few, and only a few, of those whose wisdom and
heroic achievements Uluminate the pages of history, and render their names immortal
among the great men of earth. They sleep in honored graves, but the memory of their

glorious deeds will live in the hearts of men until time shall end.
And when the nation's life was imperilled more than two hundred and fifty thousand

men sprang from their prairie homes and " pledged their lives, their fortunes and sacred
honors " in defense of the parent government that fostered and protected the Common-
wealth in its days of territorial dependency. Heroes every one of them, they followed
the bugle's call wherever and while ever an armed foe appeared. Their dead lie buried
on every battle field. No State in all the freedom-loving North made a grander record
or offered a nobler army of men. lllini— tribe of men, indeed thou art.

Mr. Ford, in his History of Illinois, says in reference to the Constitutional Conven-
tion and its members : " The principal member of it was Elias K. Kane, late a Senator
in Congress, and now deceased, and to whose talents we are mostly indebted for the
peculiar features of the Constitution. Mr. Kane was born in the State of New York,
and was bred to the profession of the law. He removed in early youth to Tennessee,
where he rambled about for some time, and finally settled in the ancient village of Kas-
kaskia, Illinois, about the year 1815, when he was about twenty years of age. His talents

were both solid and brilliant. After being appointed Secretary of State under the new
government, he was elected to the Legislature, from which he was elected, and again
re-elected to the United States Senate. He died a member of that body in the Autumn
of 1835 ; and in memory of him the county of Kane, on Fox river, was named."

The following is the act of Congress declaring the admission of the State of Illinois

into the Union

:

Resolved, by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assem-
bled. That, whereas, in pursuance of an act of Congress, passed on the eighteenth day of April, one thousand eight

hundred and eighteen, entitled " An act to enable the people of Illinois Territory to form a Constitution and State
Government, and for the admission of such State into the Union, on an equal footing with the original States," the

people of said Territory did, on the twenty-sixth day of August, in the present year, by a convention called for that

purpose, form for themselves a Constitution and State Government, which Constitution and State Government, so

formed, is Republican, and in conformity to the principles of the articles of compact between the original States and
the people and States in the Territory Northwest of the River Ohio, passed on the thirteenth day of July, one
thousand seven hundred and eighty-seven. Resolved, by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United
States of America in Congress assembled. That the State of Illinois shall be one, and is hereby declared to be one,

of the United States of America, and admitted into the Union on an equal footing with the original States, in all

respects whatever. [Approved, December 3, 1818.]

THE BOITNDAKY QUESTION.

The act of Congress of the 18th day of April, 1818, referred to in the act just

quoted, was based upon the action of the Territorial Legislature in session January, 1818,

when a petition for authority to organize as a State was prepared and forwarded to

Nathaniel Pope, then Territorial delegate in Congress. Mr. Pope lost no time in pre-

senting the petition to Congress, and that body as promptly referred it to the proper com-
mittee, and that committee instructed Mr. Pope to prepare a bill in accordance with the

prayer of the petition. Mr. Pope complied with the instructions, but the bill' as orig-

inally drafted did not embrace the present area of Illinois, and when it was reported to
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Congress certain amendments proposed by Mr. Pope, were reported with it. The ordi-

nance of 1787 provided that not less than three nor more than five States were to be
erected out of the territory northwest of the Ohio River. Three States were to include

the whole territory, and these States were to be bounded on the north by the British

possessions, but Congress reserved the right, if it should be found expedient, to form two
more States out of that part of the territory which lies north of an east and west line

drawn through the southern extremity cf Lake Michigan.
These important changes in the original bill, says Mr. Ford in his History of Illinois,

" were proposed and carried through both Houses of Congress by Mr. Pope on his own
responsibility. The Territorial Legislature had not petitioned for them—no one had sug-

gested them, but they met the general approval of the people." The change of 'the

boundary line, however, suggested to Mr. Pope—from the fact that the boundary as

defined by the ordinance of 1787, would have left Illinois without a harbor, on Lake
Michigan—did not meet the unqualified approval of the people in the northwestern part

of the new State. For many years the northern boundary of the State was not definitely

known, and the settlers in the northern tier of counties did not know whether they were
in Illinois or Michigan Territory. Under the provisions of the ordinance of 1787, Wis-
consin at one time laid claim to a portion of northern Illinois, "including," says Mr.
Ford, writing in 1847, " fourteen counties, embracing the richest and most populous part

of the State." October 27, 1827, nine years after the admission of the State, Dr. Horatio
Newhall, who had then recently arrived at the Fever River Settlement, (Galena,) wrote
to his brother, as follows :

" It is uncertain whether I am in the boundary of Illinois or

Michigan, but direct your letters to Fever River, 111., and they \fi]l come safely." In
October, 1828, a petition was sent to Congress from the people of that part of Ilhnois

lying north of the line established by the ordinance of 1787, and that part of the Terri-

tory of Michigan west of Lake Michigan and comprehending the mining district known
as the Fever River Lead Mines, praying for the formation of a new territory. A bill

had been introduced at the previous session of Congress for the establishment of a new
territory north of the State of Illinois, to be called " Huron Territory," upon which
report had been made, in part, favorable to the wishes of the petitioners, but they asked
for the re-establishment of the line as ordained by Congress in 1787. They declared
" that the people inhabiting the territory northwest of the Ohio had a right to expect
that the country lying north of an east and west line passing through the southernmost
end of Lake Michigan, to the Mississippi River, and between said lake, the Mississippi
and the Canada line, would remain together " as a territory and State. They claimed
that this was a part of the compact, unchangeably granted by the people of the original

States to the people who should inhabit the " territory northwest of the Ohio." They
declared that the change of the chartered limits, when Illinois was made a State, was an
open invasion of their rights when they were unrepresented in either territory ; that " an
unrepresented people, without their knowledge or consent, have been transferred from
one sovereignty to another.!' They urged that the present " division of the mines and
miners by an ideal line, separating into different governments individuals intimately con-
nected in similar pursuits, is embarrassing." They asked for " even handed justice,"
and the restoration of their "chartered limits." The Miners' Journal, of Galena, of
October 25, 1828, which contained the full text of the petition, said : " We do not fully
agree with the memorialists in petitioning Congress again to dispose of that tract of coun-
try which has once been granted to Illinois ; but we think that it would be for the in-

terest of the miners to be erected, together with the adjoining county above, into a
separate territory. And we firmly believe, too, that Congress departed from the clear
and express terms of their own ordinance passed in the year 1787, when they granted to
Illinois nearly a degree and a half of latitude of the chartered limits of this country.
Whether Congress will annex this tract to the new territory we much doubt, but we be-
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lieve the ultimate decision of the United States Court will be,, that the northern boundary-
line of the State of Illinois shall commence at the southernmost end of Lake Michigan."
The petition was unavailing, and the northern line of Illinois remains unchanged, but
the agitation of the subject by the people of, the northwestern part of Illinois continued.

In 1840 the people of the counties north of the ordinance line sent delegates to a
convention held at Rockford to take action in relation to the annexation of the tract

north of that line to the Wisconsin Territory, and it is said the scheme then discussed
embraced an effort to make Galena the capital of the territory. Resolutions were
adopted requesting the senators and representatives in Congress for Illinois to exert their

influence in favor of the project. The labors of the convention produced no results, but
until the admission of Wisconsin as a State, there was a strong feeling among the people
of northwestern Illinois that they rightfully belonged to Wisconsin, and there was a
strong desire to be restored to their chartered limits.

This question agitated the people of the section concerned for many years. It

entered into their political conflicts and exercised an important influence upon their local

affairs. Many of the old settlers down to a late period, condemned this striking departure
from the ordinance of 1787, which fixed the present line fifty miles further north.

Boundary meetings at various places in the fourteen northern counties continued to be
held from time to time, showing the feeling to be deep and wide spread. As late as

January 22, 1842, a meeting of this character was held at Oregon City, at which, among
others, the following resolution was adopted, and which is here introduced as showing the

grounds of complaint, and the purpose of the people to either belong to Wisconsin or set

up for themselves : .

Resolved, That in the opinion of thi? meeting, that part of the Northwest Territory, which lies north of an
" east and west line through the southerly bend or extreme of Lake Michigan," belongs to, and of right should be,

a part of the State or States which have been or may be formed north of said line.

Wisconsin was yet a territory when this meeting was held. It resolved further that

the ordinance of 1787 could not be altered or changed without the consent of the people

of the original States and of the Northwest Territory ; that as a part of the people of said

territory, they would not consent ; that the lines designated in the ordinance were better

suited to the geographical situation and local interests of their region ; that they were
decidedly opposed to placing any of the territory north of said line within the jurisdic-

tion of a State south of it ; that they recommended the Legislature of Wisconsin to apply

for admission into the Union, claiming the line of the ordinance as their southern

boundary ; that they disclaimed any intention to absolve thems.elves from any pecuniary

responsibility created by the Legislature of Illinois on account of the internal improve-

ment system, etc. The resolutions were adopted unanimously, and a committee of .nine

was appointed to proceed to Madison, with full power to consult with the Governor and
Legislature of Wisconsin Territory. Governor Doty and the legislature gave them assur-

ance of earnest co-operation in petitioning Congress toward the end in view. But
nothing ever came of the clamor. The essential point was, whether the acts of Congress

of the Confederate States were of such binding force that a Congress of the United States

could not annul or amend them, or, in other words, whether the former possessed a

higher power than the latter. ,

The State Constituition was signed by the members of the Convention on the 26th

day of August, but as already stated, the crowning act of State sovereignty was delayed

until the 3d day of December, 1818, when the President approved and signed the Con-

gressional act of admission previously quoted. The first election for Governo]^ and other

State officers and members of the Legislature was held on the third Thursday, and the

two succeeding days (Friday and Saturday) in September, 1818.

Shadrach Bond, a native of Frederick county, Maryland, who came to Illinois in

1780, was elected governor. He was forty-five years old at the time of his election,
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having been born in 1773. His education was plain, but he possessed, says Mr. Rey-
nolds, in his Pioneer History, a convivial, benevolent disposition, a shrewd observation

of men, and a clear appreciation of events. His person was erect, standing six feet in

height, and after middle life he became portly, weighing two hundred pounds. His fea-

tures were strongly masculine, complexion dark, hair dark, and eyes hazel. He was a

favorite with the ladies. His jovial disposition, thorough honesty and unostentatious in-

tercourse with the people, made him the most popular man of his time. He had been a

member of the General Assembly under the Indiana Territory, a delegate to Congress in

1812, and in the latter capacity procured the right of pre-emption on the public domain.

In 1814 he was appointed Receiver of public moneys at Kaskaskia. After his guberna-
torial term expired, he was a candidate for Congress in 1824, against Daniel P. Cook, but
was defeated. He was subsequently appointed Register of the land office at Kaskaskia,

where he died April 11, 1830.

Pierre Menard, lieutenant governor, was born in Quebec, Canada, in 1767. At the

age of nineteen years he found his way to Vincennes, and became a clerk in the employ
of Col. Vigo, a merchant of that place. In 1790 he formed a partnership with one DuBois,
of Vincennes, and removed to Kaskaskia, where they commenced merchandising. His

trade with the Indians and in other public capacities, soon made Pierre Menard well

known. Nature made him frank, kind and honest. His mind, with but an ordinary edu-

cation, was strong, and his judgment quick and unerring. His industry was wonderful.

He was never idle. He was government agent for the Indians, and that race had the

most implicit confidence in his integrity. It has been recorded to his credit, that he
could buy their peltries at half the price they (the Indians) would ask from a " Long
Knife." Mr. Menard had been a member of the lower house of the Legislature, while
Illinois was under the jurisdiction of Indiana Territory, and a member of the Illinois

Legislative Council from 1812 to 1818, of which he was the presiding officer. In fram-

ing the Constitution the qualifications for lieutenant governor were first fixed the same
as the qualifications for governor, which, among others, required United States citizenship

of thirty years. But as that would have excluded Mr. Menard, who had only been natu-

ralized ten years, the convention, as a special favor to him, changed the schedule, it being
generally conceded that he would be the choice of the people for lieutenant governor.

After the expiration of his term of office (four years), he declined all further tenders of

public position, accepting only that of United States Commissioner to treat with the

Indians, whose character he knew so well. He accumulated, it is said, quite a fortune,

but it was greatly impaired by that kindness of heart which allowed him to become
security for friends. The Legislature of 1839 preserved his name in Menard county. He
died in 1844, at the age of seventy-seven years.

Elijah C. Berry was the first Auditor of Public Accounts ; John Thomas, State

Treasurer ; Daniel P. Cook,* Attorney General ; Elias K. Kane, Secretary of State ; and
Messrs. Blackwell and Berry, State Printers.

John McLean, after whom McLean county was named, was the first member of Con-
gress, elected in September, 1818.

The State Legislature convened on the 5th of October, 1818. As the State had not
yet been declared admitted, because Congress was not in session, no legislation or busi-

ness of any kind was attempted, except the election of officers. After a session of eight

days a recess was taken until the first Monday in January, 1819, when the State officers

were inaugurated, to whom the territorial officers turned over the keys and archives of the

*Mr. Cook only served as Attorney General a iew months. In 1819 he was elected to Congress, and re-elected

biennially until 1826, when he was defeated by Governor Duncan. He rose to a high position in Congress, and the

last session he was there, he acted as chairman of the important committee of ways and means of the lower house. To
his services, at this last session, the people of Illinois are indebted for the donation by Congress of 300,000 acres of

land, for the construction of the Illinois and Michigan Canal. For him the County of Cook was appropriately
named, as more than half of its great prosperity is owing to his exertions in Congress in favor of the canal.

—

Fotd.
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young commonwealth, Ninian Edwards, retiring Governor, and Jesse B. Thomas, one
of the Federal Judges for the Territory, were elected to the United States Senate, and
Illinois was launched on a career of greatness unexampled in the history of States.

FINANCIAL.

The territorial revenue was raised by tax assessed upon lands. Bottom lands along
the Mississippi, Ohio, and Wabash rivers were taxed at the rate of one cent an acre, or

one dollar on every one hundred acres. Uplands were classed as second rate, and were
taxed at seventy-five cents per one hundred acres. Unlocated, but confirmed land claims,

were taxed at the rate of thirty-seven and one-half cents per one hundred acres. County
tax was raised, for the most part, by tax levied on personal property, including slaves or

indentured servants between the ages of sixteen and forty years, not to exceed one dollar

each. The only realty taxed was lots and houses in towns, and country mansions worth
two hundred dollars and upwards. One dollar was levied against every able-bodied,

single man of twenty-one years, worth two hundred dollars in taxable property. Two
men were appointed to appraise the property to be assessed. Merchants and ferries were
licensed at fifteen and ten dollars respectively. Horses and cattle were taxed at a rate

not to exceed fifty and ten cents respectively. The entire territorial revenue* between
the 1st of November, 1811, and the 8th of November, 1814 (three years), was reported

by the legislative committee on finance, in 1814, to be $4,875.45. Of this amount only

$2,516.89 had actually been paid into the treasury ; the balance, $2,358.56, remained in

the hands of delinquent sheriffs. When the State was declared admitted, December 3,

1818, the total amount of revenue was $7,510.44, a part of which was in the hands of

delinquent collectors. The State was in an embarrassed condition, and the Governor,
in his message, recommended a temporary loan of $25,000 which was therefore

authorized by the Legislature. A sufficient supply of stationery for the use of the

first Legislature was purchased for $18.50. The amount paid for stationery for the use of

the 29th session of the General Assembly was $1,680.

State revenue, in the main, was raised by a tax assessed against lands held by non-

residents, and fell almost entirely on the military tract between the Illinois and Missis-

sippi rivers. Lands were divided by law into three classes, and valued at two, three, and
four dollars an acre respectively.

County revenues were raised by a tax levied on personal property, including slaves

or indentured servants, and by a resident land tax. •

Levies of taxes were made according to the estimates of the sums required to meet
accruing expenses, either State or county. The laws required non-residents to enter

their lands for taxation directly with the Auditor of State, under oath, as to class, etc.,

and taxes on their lands were payable to that officer.

THE WHIPPING POST.

The whipping post and pillory, as well as slavery, existed in Illinois in the early

days of her history. Under the laws of the Territory, whipping upon the bare back, be-

sides other punishments, at the option of the courts was prescribed. The number of

stripes were regulated by the grade of offense. Burglary or robbery, thirty-nine stripes;

perjury, larceny, receiving stolen goods, and obtaining goods by fraudulent pretenses,

thirty-one stripes ; horse-stealing, first offense, fifty to one hundred lashes ; hog-stealing,

twenty-five to thirty-nine lashes ; altering or defacing marks or brands on domestic

animals running at large, forty lashes, " well laid on ;
" bigamy, one hundred to three

hundred stripes ; sodomy, one hundred to five hundred lashes. In all these offenses

there were other penalties, alternatively or additionally, at the option of the court, such

as fines, imprisonment, restitution, etc. Fines were collected from those unable to pay,

*Stuve.
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by the sheriff selling them to any one who would pay the fine or costs for such term as

the court might deem reasonable, and if the delinquent should abscond, the penalty was
double the term of servitude and thirty-nine stripes. Standing in pillory was prescribed,

in addition to other penalties, in perjury, forgery, and the altering or defacing of brands

or marks on domestic animals. For this last offense, on second conviction, the culprit

was to have the letter T branded in the left hand with a red hot iron. To prevent the

common crime of killing stock running on the range, every one slaughtering an animal

was required to exhibit the ears of hogs, or hides of cattle, to a magistrate or two free-

holders within three days, under a penalty of ten dollars. For aiding the escape of a

convict the punishment was the same as that of the culprit, except in capital cases, when
stripes, standing in pillory, or sitting on the gallows with the rope adjusted about the

neck, at the option of the court, was the penalty. Besides in treason and in murder, the

penalty of death was pronounced against arson and rape, and horse-stealing on second

conviction. * * * In regard to the collection of debts, the principles of the com-

mon law prevailed, which wholly favored the creditor. All the property of the judgment

debtor, both real and personal, without any of the present humane features as to exemp-
tion, might be levied upon and sold under execution.

To the people of this enlightened and liberal age, such laws seem barbaric in the

extreme, and were so in fact. But it may be said in excuse for them that the people

were poor, the settlements sparse, and the conditions of the country and of society wild

and unsettled, and that the " settlers " were too poor to build jails or penitentiaries.

What few jails were built in those days were poor concerns, every way insecure, and
offered but little hindrances to the escape of such as were confined within them. As
the commonwealth grew older and increased in population and wealth, the people became
more liberal and humane, until the last letter of the inhuman enactments herein quoted

was entirely expunged from the statute books and now exists only in history.

[eaethquakes.

It will not be out of place in this connection, inasmuch as we are tracing the history

of Illinois as a Territory and as a State, to go back and refer to an important, and at the

time, startling occurrence in the latter part of the year 1816. A series of earthquake

shocks commenced on the night of the 16th of December of that year, which, according

to Dr. Hildreth, a writer of note of that period, continued until the 26th of March fol-

lowing. During the continuance of those earth shocks, the old town at the present site

of New Madrid, on the Missouri side of the Mississippi river, was almost entirely

destroyed. Lands were sunken for many miles around there, and down into Northeastern

Arkansas. The writer has been told by reliable authority, that in the northeastern

corner of Arkansas there is a tract of country known as the " sunken lands," which is

an impassible bog or quagmire— that, in the center there is a kind of island, which can

be seen from the outer edges, but which has never been reached since the earthquake

that occasioned it, and that as late as 1871-'2 there were evidences of animal life on the

island, in the presence of deer, etc., supposed to have come from a parent stock left on
the island when the earthquake subsided. This assertion is not vouched for as a fact,

but is given from what is believed to be reliable authority— the statement of a resident

of Arkansas, whose acquaintance the writer enjoyed while living in that State after the

close of the war of the rebellion. But to return to Dr. Hildreth's statement :
" The

banks of the Mississippi in many places gave way in large masses and fell into the river,

while the water changed to a reddish hue, became thick with mud thrown up from the

bottom, and the surface, lashed violently by the agitation of the earth beneath, was
covered with foam, which gathered into masses and floated along the trembling surface.

Its vibrations were felt all over the valley, as fsir up as Pittsburg." Mud and water was
thrown up as high as the tops of trees. The vibrations were observed by the inhabitants
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living in that vicinity to be of two characters. One motion was horizontal and the other
vertical. Of the two it was noticed that the horizontal vibrations were much the more
destructive. The direction of the motion was from northwest to southeast, and numerous
fissures opened up extending at nearly right angles with the direction of vibration.

CHAPTER YIII.

NORTHWESTERN INDIAN TROUBLES.

The Winnebago War— Just Provocation — Opinion of Gov. Reynolds— Gov. Edwards— Gen. Lewis Cass— Gen-
erals Dodge and Whiteside— The Indian Chiefs Red Wing and We Kaw.

The year 1827 is memorable in the history of the Northwestern part of the State

as being the period when the first serious troubles were experienced by the settlers of

that region with their Indian neighbors, and afterwards dignified by the title of the

"Winnebago War." At that time all the Territory north of the line established by the
Ordinance of 1787, was in the undisputed possession of the Indians, except the reserva-

tions at the mouth of the Wisconsin and on Fever river, and the mining districts of Jo
Daviess county and Michigan Territory. Early in 1827, miners, settlers and adventurers
flocked thither in great numbers, and inevitably extended their explorations for mineral
beyond the " Ridge," recognized as the line of the " five leagues square," although it does
not appear that the limits of the reservation were ever accurately determined. Many
rich leads were discovered on Indian lands, and miners persisted in digging there, in

direct disobedience of the orders of the superintendent of the United States Lead Mines
to desist and withdraw from lands on which the United States were not authorized to

even explore for mineral. In exceptional instances the right to mine was purchased of

the Indians, but in most cases the restless searchers for mineral wealth totally disregarded

the orders of the superintendent and the rights of the Indians, who, according to the
acts of the trespassers " had no right which a white man was bound to respect."

Frequent disputes occurred in consequence between the miners and the Indians.

Mr. ShuU, who had discovered a fine lead and had erected a shanty near it, was
driven off, and his cabin destroyed by the Winnebagoes, who, owning the land, did no
more, and perhaps not as much, as whites would have done under similar circumstances,

to protect and preserve their rights and property. The dissatisfaction and ill feeling en-

gendered by these encroachments upon their territory was, perhaps, a minor cause of the

outbreak, but had no other cause operated to further exasperate the Indians, the difficulty

might, and probably would, have been amicably adjusted without bloodshed.

About this time, and while these disputes between the miners and Indians were
occurring, two keel-boats belonging to the contractor to furnish supplies for the troops

at Fort Snelling, while on their way up the river stopped at a point not far above Prairie du
Chien, where were encamped a large number of Winnebago Indians. John Wakefield,

Esq., in writing from memory an account of the war, if it can be called such (and it

must be admitted now, writing in a spirit of bitter prejudice against the Indians, who
had been peaceable and friendly with the settlers here, until provoked beyond endur-

ance) says that these boats were run by " Capt. Allen Lindsey, a gentleman of the first

respectability in our country," and that he was with his boats on this particular trip, but
it is to be hoped that Wakefield was in error,ffor no "respectable gentleman " could have
permitted men under his command to indulge in such fiendish excesses, not only endan-

gering their own lives, but imperiling the safety of all the frontier settlements as well.
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Reynolds says that after stopping at the Winnebago camp, " the boatmen made the

Indians drunk— and no doubt were so themselves— when they captured six or seven

squaws, who were also drunk. These captured squaws were forced on the boats for

corrupt and brutal purposes. But not satisfied with this outrage on female virtue, the

boatmen took the squaws with them in the boats to Fort Snelling." Another version

given by those who were familiar with the events of that year, is that the boatmen and

the Indians had a drunken frolic ; that several squaws were kept on board the boats all

night, and put ashore the next morning before any of the tribe had recovered from the

effects of their " spree," after which the boats continued on their voyage up the river.

These accounts agree as to the main fact that the boatmen committed a gross outrage

upon the Indians, and provoked an attack.

When the duped and injured Winnebagoes had slept off the effects of their debauch

and became sober enough to comprehend the outrage committed upon their women, and
the consequent injury done them, they were intensely exasperated, and resolved to wash
out the stain upon their honor in blood. What white people would not have done the

same, under similar circumstances ? Runners were sent out in all directions summoning
the warriors to the scene of action at once for an attack on the boats when they returned.

A war party of the Winnebagoes went from Jo Daviess county, in the vicinity of Galena,

to aid their northern brethren in avenging the insult they had received. Capt. D. S.

Harris, of Galena, states that at this time a band of 15 or 20 of these Indians stopped at

his father's house, on their way up the river, and were very insolent. " Old Curley," a

friendly Indian, had notified the family of the intended visit, and the younger members
had sought refuge in the neighboring cornfield, leaving only Smith and Scribe in the

house with their mother. " The Indians," says Smith Harris, " were very insolent, as

was not unusual for that tribe. They offered no personal injury, for Scribe and I stood

by our guns. They did attempt to take some articles of goods we had, but we told

them if they didn't let things alone we should shoot, and they knew we meant it. They
finally left without doing any harm, and we felt much relieved." This band went north

and, it is said, murdered a family near Prairie du Chien. Four Winnebago chiefs called

upon the Gratiots, at Gratiot's Grove, and informed them that on account of the action

of the whites, they should be unable to restrain their young men from declaring war,

and as they did not desire to harm the " Choteaus," (as the Indians always called the

Gratiot family) they had come to tell them that they had better remove. But careful

inquiry among those who were here during that year fails to develop any evidence that

any outrages were committed by the Indians in the mining district at that time, either

before or after the insult by those drunken keel-boatmen, and which the injured party

intended to avenge upon the guilty parties themselves.

Wakefield says that some of the Indians " came aboard of Lindsey's boat on his way
up and showed such signs of hostility that he was led to expect an attack on his return,

and provided himself with a few fire arms, so that in case of an attack by them he might
be able to defend himself." Other accounts state that the boatmen anticipated an attack

upon their return. Why, if they had done nothing to provoke an assault? The Indians
were peaceable, and even in the mines, where they had reason to complain of the en-

croachments of the whites upon their territory, they had done nothing more than to

drive off the trespassers.

Of course the boatmen expected an attack on their return trip, for they knew they
deserved it, and the dispassionate judgment of humanity, after the lapse of half a cen-
tury, concurs in that opinion. Knowing this, they attempted to run by the Winnebago
village on their return, in the night. The watchful, vengeful Winnebagoes, however,
were not thus to be eluded. The boats were forced to approach near the shore in the
narrow channel of the river at that point, and there, says Reynolds, " the infuriated
savages assailed one boat and permitted the other to pass down" unmolested. The pre-
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sumption is that the boat assailed contained the offenders whom they wished to punish.
Reynolds' account of the fight is as follows :

—

The boatmen were not entirely prepared for the attack, although to some extent they were guarded against it.

They had procured some arms, and were on the alert to some degree. The Indians laid down in their canoes and
tried to paddle them to the boat ; but the whites, seeing this, fired their muskets on them in their canoes. It was a
desperate and furious fight for a few minutes, between a good many Indians exposed in open canoes and only a few
boatmen, protected to some extent,.by their boat. One boatman, a sailor by profession on the lakes and ocean, who
had been in many battles with the British during the war of 1812, saved the boat and those of the crew who were
not killed. This man was large and strong, and possessed the courage of an African lion. He seized a part of the

setting pole of the boat, which was about four feet long and had on the end a piece of iron, which made the pole

weighty and a powerful weapon in the hands of " Saucy Jack," as the champion was called. It is stated that when
the Indians attempted to board the boat. Jack would knock them back into the river as 'fast as they approached.
The boat got fast on the ground, and the whites seemed doomed, but with great exertion, courage and hard fighting,

the Indians were repelled. (" Jack," unmindful of the shower of bullets whistling about; seized a pole, pushed the

boat into the current and it floated beyond the reach of the assailants.) The savages killed several white men and
wounded many more, leaving barely enough to navigate the boat. Thus commenced and ended the bloodshed of the

Winnebago War. No white man or Indian was killed before or after this naval engagement.

The arrival of these boats at Galena and the report of their narrow escape, created

great alarm , intensified by the arrival, the same day, of a party who had fled to Galena
for safety, anticipating war, and by the warning given to the Gratiots. AH mining ope-

rations ceased ; the miners and scattered settlers hurried to Galena for safety, built stock-

ades and blockhouses in their own neighborhoods, or left the country. A little fort was
built at Elizabeth, another at Apple river, and still another in Michigan Territory.

These forts, although not needed then, were afterwards found " very handy to have in

the family."

Governor Edwards received information, on which he relied, that the Winnebago
Indians had attacked some keel-boats, that the settlers and miners on Fever river were in

imminent danger of an attack from a band of the same and other Indians (although the

facts, as reported to him and upon which he acted, have never been made public), and
called out the Twentieth Regiment Illinois Militia, under Col. Thomas M. Neale, who
were to rendezvous at Fort Clark (Peoria), " and march with all possible expedition to

the assistance of our fellow citizens at Galena." The brave citizens of Sangamon rallied

to the rendezvous, and, with ten days' rations, marched to Gratiot Grove, and— finding

no hostile Indians there, disbanded and marched home^
Gen. Lewis Cass, Governor of Michigan Territory, who had been appointed by the

government to hold a treaty with the Lake Michigan Indians, at Geeen Bay, arrived there

about this time, and, finding but few there and hearing that the Lake Indians had received

war messages from the interior, hastened to communicate the startling intelligence to the

military commander at St. Louis. He ascended Fox river from Green Bay, descended
the Wisconsin and Mississippi, and in nine days arrived at St. Louis. It is said that
" among the Winnebagoes he discovered warlike preparations, but his sudden and unex-

pected appearance among them in a birch canoe, of larger size than that used by ordinary

traders, filled with armed men, with the U. S. flag flying, led the Indians to suspect that

he was accompanied by a superior force. To this fact and the rapidity of his movements
may be attributed his safety and the men under his command." A single birch bark

canoe, with armed men enough in it to overcome thousands of hostile savages for hun-
dreds of miles, must have been worth seeing.

On his way down, Gen. Cass stopped at Galena, where Gen. Henry Dodge and Gen.
Whiteside had raised a company of volunteers, ready to march against the terrible foe.

An eye witness of his arrival says that in the midst of the alarm then prevailing the ex-

cited"people heard singing, and thought the Indians were coming, but soon their fears

were allayed, for they saw, gliding gracefully up the river, around the point below the

village, a large canoe flying the United States flag and containing an American officer

and six Canadians dressed in blue jackets and red sashes, with bright feathers in their

hats, who were singing the " Canadian Boat Song " as they bent over their oars, and with
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measured strokes sent it flying to the bank, when Gen. Cass stepped ashore amid the

cheers of the assembled population. Armed men were few and far between in that boat.

Immediately upon receipt of news from Governor Cass, General Atkinson marched
with 600 men to the " seat of war," and formed a junction with the Galena Volunteers

at Port Winnebago. " Thus far they had marched into the bowels of the land without

impediment." During all this period of alarm, excitement and feverish expectation of a

descent of the hostile Indians upon the defenseless frontier settlements in the mining
district, what were these Indians doing ? They had had time enough to have swept the

white settlers on Fever river out of the country, or out of existence, before the " impos-

ing display of such a large number of troops in the heart of their country dampened their

war spirit and induced them to surrender their chiefs," but it does not appear that they

murdered a single settler or committed any serious depredations after they had punished
the keel-boatmen who had so grossly insulted them.

Capt. D. S. Harris, who was a volunteer in the Galena company commanded by Gen.
Dodge, says :

" We marched to Fort Winnebago, where Red Bird was brought in a

prisoner, and that was the end of it." The Winnebagoes surrendered Red Bird and We-
Kaw, the two chiefs who had led the attack upon the keel-boats, when Gen. Atkinson
made the imposing military display in " the heart of their country." Red Bird was im-

prisoned at Prairie du Chien, where he was to be kept as a hostage for the good behavior

of his nation, but his proud spirit was broken by confinement that he felt was unjust, and
he soon died.

Thus ended the Winnebago War, which was really only an attack upon some keel-

boatmen, provoked by the outrages upon the Indians by the boatmen themselves. There
was no war elsewhere, but the prosperity of the mining region was temporarily checked
by the alarm and consequent suspension of mining and business.

Whether, had the Indians succeeded in their attempt to murder the offending crew
of the boat they attacked while they permitted the other to pass down the river un-
molested, they would have entered upon the war path against all the white settlements

in this region, must forever be a matter of conjecture, and while there were and are

differences of opinion, the-most of the survivors of that period of excitement coincide in

the belief that had not the Indians been stung to fury by these drunken boatmen there

would have been no trouble. The mineral lands could have been bought, as they were,

subsequently, by treaty. If the government, when it demanded the surrender of Red
Bird and kept him as a hostage, had arrested those boatmen and imprisoned them for

life, both for the outrage they committed and for recklessly disturbing the peace, and de-

stroying for a time the prosperity of the frontier settlements, and causing so much dam-
age to the innocent settlers, or had delivered them to the Indians to be kept as hostages
for the good behavior of their class, it would have been only even-handed justice.

Soon after this disgraceful, and in some respects ludicrous, affair, a treaty was made
with the Winnebagoes by which for twenty thousand dollars paid in goods and trinkets

at fabulous prices, they were satisfied for the damages sustained by them in consequence
of the trespasses on their lands, and relinquished a large tract of these lands to the
miners.
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CHAPTER IX.

BLACK HAWK AND THE BLACK HAWK WAR.

Personal and Tribal Sketch— Black Hawk's Version of the Treaty of 1804— Bad Faith— Removal Across the
Mississippi— Hunger and Want— Return to Illinois. First Campaign : Where the History of the War Be-
longs— General Gaines— Back to Iowa— Black Hawk's Movements in Iowa— Second Return to Illinois—
Black Hawk's Purpose— Bearing of His Braves— Colonel Davenport. Second Campaign: Governor
Reynolds— Call for Troops— Stillman's Rout— Back to Dixon— Council of War— "Tenting on the Old
Camp Ground"— General Scott —A New Enemy— Indian Creek Massacre — Hunting the Indians. Third
Campaign: Skirmishing— Striking the Trail- The First Battle — Wisconsin Heights— Strength of the
Indians— The Tomahawk Buried— Prayer for Peace — Battle of Bad Axe. After the Battle : Scenes
and Incidents— Flight of Black Hawk— His Surrender— Remarkable Speech— Captivity and Release— His
Death and Burial— Desecration of His Burial Place— Cremation of His Bones— Last of the Sacs and Foxes.

PERSONAL AND TRIBAL SKETCHES— TREATY OP 1804— BAD EAITH.

For the following sketch of Black Hawk, whose name and history is so intimately
associated with the early history of Illinois, and of the Sac and Fox Indians, the
writer is indebted to Colonel Patterson, of the Oquawka (Illinois) Spectator. Colonel
Patterson was among the early settlers on what is known in history as the Black Hawk's
purchase or " Forty Mile Strip," on the eastern slope of Iowa, and after the close of the
Black Hawk War, and Black Hawk's release from captivity, of which full mention will

be made in the course of these pages, he published a book entitled the " Life of Black
Hawk." In collecting the material for that volume, Colonel Patterson necessarily be-
came familiar with the great war chief of the Sacs and Foxes and their traditions, so

that this sketch is entitled to be received as reliably authentic.

Black Hawk, whose Indian name was Muck-a-tan-wish-e-ki-ack-ke-ak-ack
(meaning a black hawk), was born at the Sac village, on Rock river, near the present

site of Milan, at the crossing of the Peoria and Rock Island Railroad, in the year 1767.

His father's name was Py-e-sa. His great-grandfather, Na -na- ma -kee (Thunder),
was born near Montreal, Canada, and was placed at the head of the Sac Nation by a

Frenchman, who claimed to be a son of the then reigning King of Prance. He gave
them many presents, such as guns, powder, lead, spears and lances, and showed them how
to use them in peace and in war ; also cooking utensils, and many other presents of dif-

ferent kinds. He afterwards embarked for France, promising to return at the close of

the twelfth moon. The Sacs continued to trade with the French for a long time, and
until the latter were overpowered by the British. After that event, several tribes united

and drove the Sacs from Montreal to Mackinac, and thence to Green Bay, where they

formed an alliance with the Fox nation and then retreated to Wisconsin, and finally to

Rock Island, from which they drove the Kaskaskias and commenced the erection of a

village at the place already mentioned.

Py_ e-sa succeeded Na-na-ma-kee as war chief, and was killed in an engagement

with the Cherokees, who largely outnumbered the Sacs and Foxes. On seeing him fall,

Black Hawk assuflied command and fought desperately until the enemy retreated. In

this battle, he killed three men and wounded several others with his own hand, the enemy's

loss being twenty-eight and Black Hawk's only seven. After this engagement he fell

heir td the great medicine bag of the tribe, and after a season of five years' mourning

with blackened faces, they determined to avenge the death of Py - e - sa, by the annihi-

lation, if possible, of the whole Cherokee tribe, and took out a strong army for that pur-

pose. Black Hawk succeeded in killing many of them, and in finally driving them to

their own country in the Carolinas.

The remnant of the Cherokees now occupy a part of the Indian Territory, which
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lies south of Kansas and west of Arkansas. They are naturally an intellectual people,

and many of them are highly educated. They have their schools, churches, colleges,

courts and court-house, legislature, capifcol building, etc. Their capital is Tal-e-qua,
where they have a newspaper which is conducted by a member of the Boudinot family,

one of the oldest families in the tribe or Nation, which latter they prefer to be called.

A curious feature of their newspaper is, that while three of its. pages are printed in our

tongue, the fourth page is printed in the Cherokee dialect. The letters (or alphabet)

used to print this page were invented by an old man of the Nation, or tribe, who, it is

said, could not read. The characters of this alphabet look something like Greek letters.

The Cherokees have many excellent and highly-cultivated farms, maintain an agricultural

society, and the more advanced of them live in a style equal to the best farmers in Peoria

county. They are accounted the wealthiest tiibe of Indians on the American continent.

Black Hawk's next movement was against the Chippewas, Kaskaskias and Osages,

with whom he had seven regular engagements, with a loss of several hundred of his

braves. The enemy retired, and Black Hawk and his warriors returned to their

village.

During the occurrence of the events here narrated, St. Louis and all the country

South and West, was under the dominion of Spain.* In 1801 the Spanish government
ceded the country back to France, and on the 30th day of April, 1803, the first Consul of

the French Republic ceded the country to the United States. This transaction is known
in American history as the Louisiana purchase. After this purchase the foreign authori-

ties withdrew from St. Louis, and the Americans took possession. Soon afterwards.

Lieutenant (subsequently General) Zebulon M. Pike, with an escort of soldiers, went up
the Mississippi river, visiting the chiefs of the various tribes that lived along the banks
of the Father of Waters, and making them presents in the name of their Great Father,

the President of the United States, who, he told them, would always treat them well if

they would listen to his advice. A few moons later, a Sac Indian killed an American, for

which offense he was arrested and confined in prison at St. Louis. As soon as intelli-

gence of the murder and arrest reached Black Hawk, he called a council of the head
men of his tribe at the Sac village to talk the matter over, and consider what was best

to be done. They resolved to send four of their braves to St. Louis to compromise with
the authorities by paying the relatives of the man killed, the only way known to them
for saving one person who had killed another. Quash - qua - me and three other men of

the tribe were chosen to go on this mission, the result of which was thus related by
Black Hawk :

Quash - qua - me and his party remained a long while absent. They finally returned, dressed in fine coats
and wearing medals, and encamped near the village. Early next m|!orning the council was convened, and Quash -

qua - me and his associates came in and reported the result of their mission. On their arrival at St. Louis they
reported to the American chief, and urged the release of their friend. The American chief said his government
wanted more land, and if the Sacs and Foxes would give him some in Illinois, opposite Jefferson (barracks), they
would release the imprisoned Sac. Quash -qua -me and his party assented to this, and signed a paper by making
their marks. When they were ready to leave, their friend was released, but as he was let out of the prison, he was
shot dead.

" This," continues Colonel Patterson, " was the treaty of 1804, as rendered by Black
Hawk, by which all their country in Illinois was ceded to the United States for one
thousand dollars a year, and the great first cause of the Black Hawk war, as he claimed
that no one but the chiefs and head men had authority to make a treaty of the kind."

From the fact that this treaty was considered in at least two subsequent treaty con-
ferences, or negotiations, it would seem that the Government was not fully reconciled as

to its manner of validity. The first of the subsequent treaties at which it was so consid-
ered, was held at Portage des Sioux, on the 13th ofSeptember, 1815, and ratified December
IB, 1815, at which the Government was represented by William Clark, Ninian Edwards

*From 1673 to 1763 France claimed jurisdiction over the country discovered by Marquette and Joliet. In the
latter year that Government ceded all the country West of the Mississippi River to Spain.
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and Auguste Choteau, as Commissioners. At that conference, the treaty of 1804 was re-

affirmed, and the chiefs and head men of the Sacs present, for themselves and the bands
they represented, promised to keep entirely separate from the Sacs of Rock River, who,
under Black Hawk, had joined the British in the war then lately closed. A separate

treaty of peace was made with the Foxes at the same place on the 14th of September,
1815, wherein the treaty of Quash-qua-me (made at St. Louis on the 3d day of Novem-
ber, 1804), was re-affirmed by that tribe, and in which they stipulated to deliver up all

their prisoners to the officer in command at Fort Clark.

The second treaty with the Sacs (of Rock River) was made at St. Louis by the same
Commissioners on the l-Sth day of May, 1816. At this time the treaty of 1804 was
again re-established and confirmed by twenty-two chiefs and head men of the tribe, in-

cluding Black Hawk, who, as he expressed it, " touched the goose-quill." This treaty

was ratified on the 30th day of December, 1816.

These subsequent treaties to the contrary notwithstanding. Black Hawk always ad-

hered to his first decision, that the treaty of 1804, was nuU and void, for the reason al-

ready stated, and that even if it had been valid, the killing of the prisoner for whom
Quash-qua-me bartered away their lands broke the contract and rendered it void. To
say the least, the killing of that prisoner, under the circumstances related by Black, was
an instance of remarkably bad faith on the part of the authorities in command at St.

Louis.

EEMOVAIi ACROSS THE MISSISSIPPI.

Under the terms of the Quash-qua-me treaty of 1804, according to Black Hawk,
the Indians were granted to remain in possession of the land until notified by the Gov-
ernment that the country was wanted for white occupancy. Be this as it may, the In-

dians were not disturbed of their possession until 1830, when they were notified to quit

and move across the Mississippi river. They complied with the notice, crossed over the
Father of Waters and took up their abode on the'eastern slope of Iowa.

EBTURN TO ILLINOIS.

Hunger and want came to his people, and still rankling under what he regarded as

bad faith on the part of the Government authorities at St. Louis and a wrongful disposses-
sion of their lands. Black Hawk and his band determined to recross the Mississippi River
and to repossess their old homes and corn-fields. This determination was carried into
execution in the Spring of 1831. The movement excited great alarm among the few
white people who had settled on different parts of the land in dispute, and complaint
against their presence was made to the authorities of the United States. These com-
plaints represented that the Indians were insolent, and that they had committed and were
committing, many acts of violence. If these complaints were founded in fact, the acts
of violence were, in all likelihood, not unprovoked.

FIRST CAMPAIGN.

WHERE THE HISTORY OF THE WAR BELONGS.

The history of the Black Hawk War has generally been conceded to belong to the
history of Illinois. It is true that the great first cause of the war was in, what Black
Hawk and most of his band believed, to be a fraudulent and wrongful dispossession of
their lands in Illinois, but before the commencement of active hostilities, the Sacs and
Foxes were occupants of the lower part of the eastern slope of Iowa. They started on
the war path from Puck-e-she-tuck, (foot of the falls,) now the city of Keokuk, rendez-
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vouzed at Fort Madison, crossed the Mississippi river to the present site of Pontoosuc,
traveled up through Illinois, and fought the only two battles of the war in what is now
the State of Wisconsin, after which the survivors returned to the Iowa side of the Mis-
sissippi, many of them to what is now Lee county, where Black Hawk, after his release

from captivity in 1833, became well known to the settlers to the time of his death, in

October, 1838. Not one of the battles of the Black Hawk war was fought on Illinois

soil. The Stillman's Run affair was not a battle ; it was only a " big scare," brought
upon Major Stillman's command by recklessness. These facts are clearly established and
completely refute the generally received opinion that the history of this war belongs to

Illinois. Its history is about equally divided between Iowa, Illinois, and Wisconsin.

GENERAL GAINES— BACK TO IOWA.

Whatever the truth or falsity of the complaints made against the Indians after their

return in the Spring of 1831, General Gaines of the United States army was sent to Fort
Armstrong in the Fall of that year, with instructions to remove them back beyond the

Mississippi. While the troops under command of General Gaines were at the fort,

Nathaniel Smith, now living at St. Francisville, Clark county, Missouri, who was an
interpreter and spy for General Gaines, was sent to see and talk with Black Hawk at the

Indian village, and to persuade him to go and see General Gaines with a view to an ami-
cable and peaceful solution of the difficulty. Black Hawk complied with the request,

and was told by General Gaines that he was not a peace officer, and that he had his or-

ders from the authorities at Washington to drive them across the river, and that he had
no discretion ; that he did not want any trouble or to be forced to the employment of

• harsh measures in carrying out the instructions with which he was charged ; that he had
understood he had agreed to live peacefully, etc., and finally that if he and his people

did not leave in ten days he would move against their village with all the force at his

command. Black Hawk listened with the stolid nature peculiar to Indian character, and,

although feeling, as he expressed himself to Colonel Patterson, that he was asked to

abandon the homes that were rightfully theirs, he saw that it would be useless to offer a

resistance that would only end in the slaughter of many of his men, women and children,

that better than incur such fatality, it was the part of wisdom to yield to the demand of

the white chief. At the expiration of the ten days named by General Gaines, he moved
against the village to see if the Indians had gone, and prepared, if they had not, to exe-

cute his purpose of firing upon the Indians, and burning their village. But Black Hawk
had kept his promise. The Indians were gone, and re-crossed to the Iowa side of the

Mississippi.

BLACK hawk's MOVEMENTS IN IOWA— SECOND BETURN TO ILLINOIS.

For an account of Black Hawk's movements after the return of his people to Iowa
in the Fall of 1831, until they re-crossed to Illinois in the Spring of 1832, we are indebted

to Mr. Isaac R. Campbell, now living at St. Francisville, Clark county, Missouri, but

then living in a double log - house, one of the first built on the site of Keokuk. About
the year 1821, Mr. Campbell settled in Northeast Missouri (then a Territory), at the

mouth of the Wyacouda river. In 1825 he removed to Quash - qua - me's village

(Nauvoo), and commenced to make a farm, and there formed the acquaintance of Black

Hawk, who paid him eight dollars for building a stone wall around the grave of one of

his daughters, who was buried near Mr. Campbell's house. In 1830 Mr. Campbell moved
to the west side of the Mississippi and settled at Ah - wi - pe - tuk, meaning commence-
ment of the falls or cascade, now known as Nashville. In March, 1821, he removed to

Puck - e - she - tuk, or foot of the falls, at the site of Keokuk, where he remained for a

number of years. He was well acquainted, not only with Black Hawk, but with all the

head men of the Sacs and Foxes, before and after the war of 1832. He has been a man
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of wonderful physique and intellect, and although he is now eighty-one years of age, his

memory is clear and distinct, and his statements entitled to the fullest credit. Mr.
Campbell says

:

" After the Sacs and Foxes returned to Iowa in the Fall of 1831, they established

themselves on the north bank of the Iowa river, about two and a half miles above its

mouth, at the site of a small village that now bears the name of the old chief, and almost

directly opposite the town of New Boston, in Mercer county, this State. They did not

remain there long, however, until they went to the hunting grounds on Salt Creek, Mis-

souri. The Winter's hunt was not successful, and the people suffered a great deal with

hunger. This circumstance, added to what Black Hawk still harbored as a wrongful dis-

possession of their lands, determined him to re-cross the Mississippi, a determination

from which I tried to dissuade him, but without avail.

" When they returned from their Salt Creek hunt in the Spring of 1832, they stopped

at what the Indians always called Puck - e - she - tuk, now Keokuk, where they had a

war-dance, and then went on up the Mississippi. They camped a night or two in the

timber along Devil creek, about six miles west from Fort Madison. Their women and
children, cooking utensils, etc., were transported in canoes, while the men followed along

the west bank of the Mississippi with their horses and ponies. Their real starting point

was from Fort Madison, and on the 6th day of April they crossed the Mississippi from a

point opposite the present village or landing of Pontoosuc. It has been said by some
writers that they crossed their ponies and horses by swimming them, but the state-

ment is at fault. They were crossed on what were known as ' floats.' These floats were
made by lashing three canoes of equal height together, and covering them with poles,

which in turn were covered with leaves to a thickness sufficient to make a platform strong

enough to carry as many ponies as could be made to stand upon them.
" While the Indians were in front of my house on their return from Salt creek, I

learned that they were going to cross back into Illinois, and fearing it would lead to

trouble, I tried to persuade Black Hawk, with whom I had been on the most friendly

terms for a good many years, not to do so, but my words of counsel were not heeded.
He assured me that they were not going to Illinois to fight, but to care for the graves of

their fathers— for the Indians have a decoration day as well as the whites have had since

the war. I knew nothing of their movements after they crossed the river, except what I

heard and read. After the war, and Black Hawk's release from captivity in 1833, and
his return to Iowa, he often told me before his death, that he was sorry that he had not
taken my advice and remained away from Illinois in 1832, as it was the most disastrous

movement he ever made. He said that his sun seemed to set in darkness, and his

strength to depart.

"As a token of his friendship for me, he gave me his favorite hunting gun, which is

now in the possession of my son, Captain James W. Campbell at Fort Madison."

BLACK hawk's PURPOSE.

We have Mr. Campbell's statement, as above, that Black Hawk assured him they
were not going on the war path. The statements of other parties of credibility will be
presented as showing light on the bearing and seeming intentions of Black Hawk, after

which the reader will be left to draw his own conclusions as to whether the war against
the Sacs and Foxes in 1832 was justifiable or not.

BBAEING OP HIS BKAVBS.

After they crossed into Illinois at Pontoosuc, Black Hawk and his band, including
women and children, turned in the direction of Rock river. The Gralenian, of 1832, Dr.
A. Phileo, editor, under date of May 2d, said :

" Black Hawk, whose people were
reduced to the verge of starvation in Iowa, had been invited to Illinois by the Prophet,
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and taken possession of a tract of land about forty miles up Rock river, but that he did
not remain there long, until he commenced his march up Jlock river." Capt. William
B. Green, now of Chicago, who served in Stephenson's company of mounted rangers,
says that " Black Hawk and his band crossed the river with no hostile intent, but to
accept an invitation from Pit - ta - wak, a friendly chief, to come over and spend the Sum-
mer with his people on the head waters of the Illinois," and the movements of Black
Hawk up Rock river before pursuit by the military, seems to confirm this statement.

Others who agree with Green, that Black Hawk did not come to fight and had no
idea of fighting, say that he had retired to the west side of the Mississippi the previous
year under treaty, receiving a large quantity of corn and other provisions, but in the
Spring his provisions.were gone, his followers were starving, and he came back expecting
to negotiate another treaty and to get a new supply of provisions.

The veteran, John Dixon, at one time Clerk of the County Commissioners' Court of
Peoria County, but then living at Dixon's ferry, now the city of Dixon, was authority
for the statement that the Indians stopped at his house as they were going up Rock river,

and that Ne-o-pope, Black Hawk's head man, assured him they intended to commit no
depredations, and that they would not fight unless attacked. Mr. Dixon also said that
Ne-o-pope had the young braves well in hand and under perfect control, and that they
were orderly, and gave no signs of hostile intentions.

Whatever Black Hawk's purposes may have been, his crossing the Mississippi river

was considered an invasion, and the war followed. However, it is the unanimous testi-

mony of survivors of that period, now living on the line of Black Hawk's march and on
the old battle-fields, whom the writer has sought out for information, that, except the
violation of treaty stipulations' and an arrogance of manner natural to an Indian who
wanted to make a new trade with the " Great Father," the Sacs under Black Hawk
committed no serious acts of hostility, and intended none until the alternative of war or

extermination was presented to them. It is certain, too, that the people of Galena and
the mining districts generally, apprehended no serious trouble and made no preparations

for war until Captain Stephenson carried them the news of Stillman's rout on the 15th
of May.
Although Black Hawk's movement in crossing back to the Rock River country was

construed into a hostile demonstration, it is a well known fact that no Indian warriors

ever went on the war-path encumbered with their women and children. More than this,

it does not appear, from the sixth day of April until Stillman's soldiers disregarded his

flag of truce on the 12th of May, that a single settler was murdered, or suffered any ma-
terial injury at the hands of Black Hawk or his band. In truth, Hon. H. S. Townsend,
of Warren, Jo Daviess county, states that in one instance, at least, where they took corn

from a settler, they paid him for it. Capt. W. B. Green writes :
" I never heard of

Black Hawk's band, while passing up Rock river, commiting any depredation whatever,

not even petty theft."

COLONEL DAVENPOKT.

Some writers have sought to implicate Colonel George Davenport as scheming to

secure the return of the Indians in 1832. One of these writers has said :

" It is well known that in nearly all the treaties ever made with the Indians, the

Indian traders dictated the terms for their allies and customers, and, of course, received

a large share of the annuities, etc., in payment for debts due to him. Each tribe had
certain traders who supplied them. George Davenport had a trading post at Fort Arm-
strong. His customers were largely the Sacs and Foxes, and he was held in high esteem

by them ; in fact his word was their law. It is said that Black Hawk's band became

indebted to him for a large amount which they were unable to pay. They had not had

good luck hunting during the Winter and he was likely to lose heavily. If Black Hawk,
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therefore, could be induced to come on this side of the river again and the people could
be alarmed so that a military force could be sent in pursuit of him, another treaty could

be made, he might assist in negotiating terms and get his pay out of the payments the

government would make, and all would be well. Mr. Amos Parrar, who was Daven-
port's partner for some years, and who died in Galena during the war, is said to have
declared, while on his death-bed, that the ' Indians were not to be blamed, that if they
had been let alone there would have been no trouble—that the band were owing Mr.
Davenport and he wanted to get his pay and would, if another treaty had been made.'

" In a letter to Gen. Atkinson, dated April 13, 1832, Davenport says :
' I have been

informed that the British band of Sac Indians are determined to make war on the frontier

settlements. * * * From every information that I have received, I am of the opinion

that the intention of the British band of Sac Indians is to commit depredations on the

inhabitants of the frontier.'

" Just such a letter as he or any other trader would have written to cause a pursuit,

and consequent treaty. Black Hawk evidently understood the game. He was leisurely

pursuing his way up Rock river, waiting for the first appearance of the military to dis-

play the white flag and negotiate as he had done the previous year."
The intimation here conveyed that Davenport played a conspicuous part in prevail-

ing upon Black Hawk to cross back to Illinois, and that his letter to General Atkinson
was only a cunning device of a wily creditor to secure a bad debt, is not sustained by
subsequent events. On the contrary, it would seem that he was fully advised of Indian
intentions when he wrote that letter. The British band did invade Illinois and kill Agent
Saver. About the same time, some Winnebagoes also killed one of three or four men
who were engaged at work in a field or meadow near Oquawka. The other men, among
whom was Nathan Smith, already mentioned as living at St. FrancisviUe, Mo., took to

flight and managed to escape, although they were closely pursued for some distance.
Notwithstanding this affair was the work of members of the British band, it increased
the excitement against Black Hawk's band, and hastened the conflict with them.

SECOND CAMPAIGN.

GOVBENOR BBYNOLDS— CALL FOR TROOPS.

Whether Black Hawk returned with peaceable intentions or determined to wage a
war upon the whites, overcome them and thus reclaim and repossess their old homes, or
for the purpose of securing a new trade with the " Great Father," it matters not— the
result was the same. The Indians had scarcely crossed the Mississippi and started on
their march up through Illinois, before a report of the invasion was carried to Governor
Eeynolds, who, knowing the belligerent character of the Indians and of the settlers, and
that the least indiscretion by either party would precipitate the entire Northwest in a
bloody war, determined to call out a large force of volunteers as the best means of avert-
ing such a calamity. On the 16th of April he issued a call to that end and at the same
time addressed the following letter to the people :

Fellow Citizens ;—Your country requires your services. The Indians have assumed a hostile attitude and
invaded the State in violation of the treaty of last Summer. The British band of Sacs and other hostile Indians are
in possession of the country on Rock river to the great terror of the frontier inhabitants, and I consider the settlers
in imminent danger. Under these circumstances I have not hesitated what course I should pursue. No citizen
ought to remain inactive when his country is invaded and the helpless part of the community is in danger. I have
called out a strong detachment of militia to rendezvous at Beardstown on the 22d instant. Provisions for the men
and food for the horses will be furnished in abundance. I hope my countrymen will realize my expectation and offer
tbeir services as heretofore with promptitude and cheerfulness in defense of their country." ,
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There was a prompt response to Governor Eeynolds' call for volunteers and to this

appeal, and in a few days eighteen hundred men reported for duty at the Beardstown
camp. In the meantime, General Atkinson, then in command of the regular forces near
the scene of threatened hostilities, made a requisition for additional troops, stating that
the frontier was in danger, and that the forces under his command were insufficient for

its defense. Daily accounts of the movements of the Indians were conveyed by carrier

to Governor Reynolds. Judge Young, Colonel Strode and Benjamin Mills wrote letters

to him appealing for protection for the frontier, stating that the Pottawatomies and
Winnebagoes had joined Black Hawk and that the inhabitants were in imminent danger.
On the receipt of these letters two hundred men under command of Major Stillman
were ordered to guard the frontier near the Mississippi ; and two hundred more under
command of Major Bailey were ordered to the protection of the country between the

Mississippi and the Illinois rivers. The aspect of affairs was deemed to be so threaten-

ing that the call for troops was extended to every part of the State for the purpose of

raising a reserve force of five thousand men to be ready in case of emergency.
On the 22d of April, the eighteen hundred men at Beardstown were mustered in

four regiments, an odd and spy battalion. Colonel DeWitt was chosen to be commander
of the first regiment ; Colonel Fry. of the second ; Colonel Thomas, of the third ; Colonel
Thompson, of the fourth ; and Major James of the odd battalion. Governor Reynolds,
who accompanied the army in person, placed Gen. Whiteside in command of the brigade
and Colonel James D. Henry in command of the spy battalion. Enoch C. March and
Samuel C. Christy, merchants, were appointed to procure supplies ; William Thomas was
appointed brigade quarter-master ; James Turney, paymaster ; James B. Stapp and Joseph
M. Chadwick, staff-officers ; Vital Jarrot, adjutant-general, and Cyrus Edwards, ordnance
officer.

Colonel March, of the supply department, was dispatched to St. Louis for supplies,

and on the 27th of April, the army broke camp a few miles north of Rushville, and, with
only a few days' rations, took up its line of march for Oquawka, where it was intended

to meet Col. Christy and a supply boat. In consequence of high waters and muddy
roads the march was slow, but not so slow but that the army reached Oquawka in ad-

vance of the expected and needed supplies. On the evening of the day of their arrival

at Oquawka they were joined by Captain Warren and two companies from Warren
coiinty. On the fifth day the boat had not arrived, the provisions were exhausted, the

men began to murmur, and Governor Reynolds dispatched three men to General Atkin-

son, at Fort Armstrong, Rock Island, fifty miles distant, asking for relief. Although the

streams were swollen from recent rains, the messenger for succor accomplished the trip

in one day, and the next day a boat-load of provisions came to their relief, and on the

day following the William Wallace arrived from St. Louis with the supplies provided by
Colonel March. After rations were issued and the hunger of the men appeased, the

baggage wagons were loaded, and the army prepared to move towards Dixon's ferry,

where, according to latest rumors, the Indians were posted. When the command was
ready to move, a letter came from Gen. Atkinson with the intelligence that Black Hawk
and his people had turned down Rock river, and requesting Governor Reynolds to march
immediately to Fort Armstrong. Instead of going to Fort Armstrong, however, the army
was marched to the mouth of Rock river, where it was consolidated with the United

States regulars and the command assumed by General Atkinson.

The rumor that Black Hawk and his Indians had turned to descend Rock river in the

direction of re-crossing the Mississippi, proved to be incorrect, and the commanding general

steamed up the river with an armament of cannon and four hundred regulars, while the

Illinois troops rode up through the swamps and low lands skirting Rock river. Fre-

quently signs of Indians were found, and where they had immolated dogs to appease the

Great Spirit. In, these instances of superstition, common among the Indians, the body
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of the dog was relieved of its intestines, after which it was fastened to a tree over a small

fire with the head pointing in the direction the Indians had gone.

On the 10th day of May the spies captured an Indian near Prophetstown, White-
side county, from whom it was learned that Black Hawk and his people were on Rock
river, above Dixon's Ferry. On receipt of this information, the land forces moved up to

Prophetstown, where it was further reported to them that the Indians had dispersed, and
it was determined to abandon the pursuit and await the arrival of General Atkinson with

the steamboat and provisions. It was believed that Black Hawk and his band had it in

mind to locate on the lands of the Pottawatomies, and, as a means ofpreventing such a set-

tlement, a commission of five men was sent to confer with the chiefs of that nation upon
the subject. Because of cloudy weather and want of acquaintance with the face of the

country, the party became lost, and the conference was not held. Governor Reynolds

and his army of about two thousand men, returned to Dixon greatly exhausted, having

been without food or rest for two days, and there awaited the arrival of General Atkin-

son and the provision boat.

stillman's eoxjt.

Majors Stillman and Bailey, previously mentioned as being sent out in advance of

Governor Reynolds' forces to protect the frontier settlements, were at Dixon when the

army arrived there, and having accomplished but little service, they asked to be sent

out on a scouting expedition and to report the situation of the enemy, as it had been
rumored that a part of Black Hawk's force was encamped on Old Man's creek, about

twelve miles above Dixon. In answer to this request Governor Reynolds issued the

following order

:

Major Stillman :—You will cause the troops under your immediate command, and the battalion under Major
Bailey, to proceed without delay to the head of Old Man's creek, where it is supposed there are some hostile

Indians, and coerce them into submission.

This order was issued on Friday, the 11th day of May, and on Saturday morning,

the 12th, Major Stillman set out on his expedition with about three hundred mounted
men, all of whom, including men and officers, were hopeful of being able to give a good
account of themselves, and many of them were boastful of what their conduct would be

in an encounter with the red foe. They reached Old Man's creek, bat found no enemy.
Beyond this point they had no authority to proceed, but eager for a bout with the

Indians, and ignorant of their lodgment, they pushed on seventeen miles farther to Syca-

more creek, about twelve miles above what was then known as Sinnissippi, a shallow

crossing of Rock river, at the present site of Oregon City, in Ogle county, which they
crossed and prepared to go into camp. At this time the main body of Black Hawk's
braves were lodged across the high point of land between Sycamore creek and Rock
river, where, it has been said, the chief and head-men were making arrangements to sue

for terms. How true the statement may be is not for the writer to determine, and the

reader is left to compare the statement with the declarations made by Black Hawk to

Isaac R. Campbell before he started to Illinois from Keokuk, and by Ne-o-pope to Mr.
Dixon, when the Indians arrived at Dixon's Ferry. Whether true or false, it was of no
benefit to the Indians.

While Stillman's men were engaged in camp duties, three unarmed Indians, bearing
a flag of truce, made their appearance coming across the high point of land before men-
tioned, and were taken into custody. Pretty soon after this occurrence, five other

Indians on horse-back were seen on the high ground about one mile distant. At sight of

these Indians, an old soldier named Harrison exclaimed, " Get ready, boys
;
you'll have all

the fighting now that you want." Without further orders from any source, the men
mounted in hot haste, and it was not long until three-fourths of the command was darting
away in the direction of the Indians as fast as their horses could carry them. While the
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larger part of the men were flying away after the five mounted Indians, one of the flag of
truce party was cowardly killed. The other two Indians of the flag of truce party man-
aged to escape. Stillman's men being best mounted, soon overtook and killed two of the
other party of five Indians, and pursued the other three to the edge of the timber where
Black Hawk was lodged. At this juncture Black Hawk and a party of about fifty of his

braves suddenly confronted Stillman's lUinoisans with a terrible war whoop, and rushed
forward to meet them. It was now the turn of the volunteers to retreat. Without
waiting for the onslaught, they wheeled and fled as if they were pursued by a thousand
savage warriors, instead of fifty or less. They dashed through the camp, spreading ter-

ror and consternation among their comrades, but late so eager to meet the foe. The
wildest panic ensued ; there was " mounting in hot haste," and without waiting to see

whether there was any thing to run from, every man fled, never stopping until they had
reached Dixon's Ferry or some other place of safety, unless stopped by the tomahawk or

bullet. The first man to reach Dixon was a Kentucky lawyer, who, as he strode into Dixon,
reported that every man of Stillman's command had been killed except himself. Another
man, named Comstock, never stopped until he reached Galena, where he reported that
" the men were all drunk, as he was, got scared and made the best time they could out
of danger, but that he didn't see a single Indian." Wagons, ammunition, and almost
every thing else, except the horses on which the men were mounted, or on which others

could mount, were left to the Indians.

The now venerable and honorable John Stringer, of Kickapoo township, Peoria

county, was a corporal in Captain Abner Ead's Peoria company, says there was not an
of&cer to be found anywhere, when the stampede commenced ; that the men dashed away
regardless of discipline or consequences, that they threw their guns over their shoulders,

and for some distance after there was a continuous discharge of rifles to the rear. Mr.
Stringer was in the rear when the flight began, and to avoid danger to himself and others

from the discharge of the rifles, he turned to one side, rode along the line, and cautioned

the men against the danger of killing their comrades. " And," said he, " suppose you should

run into an Indian ambuscade, what woi;ild you do with empty guns ? " " We never

thought of that," was the reply, and the firing ceased ; but the flight was kept up. At
Old Man's creek, since called Stillman's run, some delay was occasioned in crossing, be-

cause of its muddy banks. After passing the stream. Major Perkins and Captain Adams
succeeded in rallying fifteen or twenty of the fieeing men, and made a short stand, check-

ing the approach of the Indians, and no doubt saved the lives of many men who would
otherwise have been killed. In this short engagement Captain Adams killed two Indians

with his own hands, and in turn was killed himself, his body being recovered the second

day. None of the men lived to tell the story of the engagement, but from broken guns,

ghastly wounds, inflicted with rifles, tomahawks, scalping-knives, and other instruments

of Indian warfare, the engagement must have been a terrific one. A young man named
Hackelton had a hand-to-hand conflict with an Indian, in which the Indian threw down
his gun and attempted to use his knife. Hackelton closed with him, caught the blade of

the knife in his hand, cutting it severely, but succeeded in wrenching it from the In-

dian's grasp and plunging it into his heart, the Indian fell lifeless at his feet. Hackelton

escaped and found his way to Dixon.

BACK TO DIXON.

" The night of the scare," continues Mr. Stringer, " was one of those when white,

fleecy clouds float in the air, and the atmosphere was genial and balmy. It was what

one might call a pleasant May evening, and a nice one for a night ride. The fugitives

commenced to arrive at Dixon's about twelve o'clock at night, and continued to come in

in small squads until the whole force, except what had been killed by the Indians, and a

few by our own men in firing backward, were there. And what stories of hair-breadth
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escapes some of them had to tell ! According to some of their statements, they had to

fight their way from Sycamore creek to Dixon, when only the fewest number of them
saw an Indian after they turned tail to Black Hawk and his handful of warriors as they

rushed out of the timber with their war whoop, the evening before."

All accounts of this inglorious affair concur in the statement that the officers and a

great many of the men were drunk, and that the flag of truce displayed by Black Hawk
was disregarded, and one of its bearers cowardly killed while on a flag of truce mission.

The whites had commenced the work of murder, and the Indians, losing all hope of ne-

gotiation, determined that extermination was a game that both parties could play.

"COUNCIL OF "WAR."

The disaster to Stillman's command created wild excitement in the camp at Dixon.

Governor Reynolds at once issued a call for two thousand additional volunteers to be in

readiness for future operations. Colonel March was ordered to forward provisions for

the men, and Major Adams was directed to procure and forward provender for the horses.

Atkinson and Dodge were advised of the situation, and the former, who had not yet

arrived at Dixon, that the army there were destitute of provision, and that the frontiers

of Wisconsin (then Michigan), were exposed and in danger.

"TENTING ON THE OLD CAMP GROrTND."

On Sunday, the 13th, a " council of war " was held at the tent of Gen. Whiteside?

then in command, at which it was decided to march to the scene of the disaster the next

morning to find and punish the Indians. Some oxen were obtained from Mr. Dixon and
killed as a temporary supply for the expedition. The beef was distributed among the

men, who cooked and ate it without salt or bread, and started back for the field of con-

flict. Wherever the mangled remains of their late comrades were found, they were gath-

ered together and buried in a common grave, and a rough slab, hewn from the trunk of

a tree, erected to mark the place. Monday night, the 14th, the men camped on the

ground from which Stillman's detachment fled so precipitately on Saturday evening.

During the night the firing of heavy guns was heard, which was believed to be signals

for collecting Black Hawk's scattered braves, and an attack was momentarily expected.

It came not, however, and the morning dawned without an enemy being seen. On Tues-
day morning Major Henry was ordered to scour the country with his battalion, but no
trace of the enemy being discovered, the entire command fell back to Dixon.

GENERAL SCOTT— A NEW ENEMY.

Intelligence of Stillman's defeat scattered terror and consternation throughout the

State and nation. The number of warriors was greatly over-estimated, and Black Hawk
was credited with great military skill and sagacity. General Scott, with nine companies
of artillery, stationed at Old Point Comfort, Virginia, was ordered to the Rock river

country to superintend future operations against the Indians. The Asiatic cholera,

which had just reached the country, overtook his command at Detroit. Henry Howe's
" Great West," published in 1852, says that the "two hundred and eight men, under
command of Colonel Twiggs, landed at Fort Gratiot, and that the disease made such
ravage among them, that but very few escaped. Some of them died in hospital, some in

the woods, and some deserted to avoid the pestilence, and being scattered about the
country, shunned by the terrified inhabitants, and repelled from their doors, lay down
in the fields and died, without a friend to close their eyes or console the last moments of

their existence. The rest of the nine companies continued their course and arrived at

Mackinaw, comparatively untouched by the disease. There it broke out afresh, and on
the passage from Mackinaw to Chicago, thirty were thrown overboard. On the 18th of

July General Scott reached Chicago, and old Fort Dearborn was converted into a hos-



GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS. 133

pital for his cholera-stricken men. In the first thirty days after his arrival there, ninety
pf his men answered the last earthly roll call and were ' whelmed in pits ' without coffins,

' without notice and without remembrance.' "

General Scott reported his arrival at Chicago to Governor Reynolds in a letter under
date of July 15, in which he gave an account of the cholera affliction among his troops.

The letter was published in the Louisville (Kentucky) Advertiser, July 27, 1832, and is

here appended:
Headquarters N. W. Army, Chicago, July 15, 1832.

Sir :—To prevent or correct the exaggerations of rumor in respect to the existence of cholera at this place, I ad-

dress myself to your Excellency. Four steamers were engaged at Buffalo to transport United States troops and sup-

plies to Chicago. In the headmost of these boats, the Sheldon Thomas, I, with my staff and four companies, a part

of Col. Eustis' command, arrived here on the night of the loth inst. On the 8th all on board were in high health

and spirits, but the next morning six cases of undoubted cholera presented themselves. The disease rapidly spread

for the next three days. About one hundred and twenty persons have been affected. Under a late Act of Congress,

six companies of rangers are to be raised, and marched to this place. Gen. (Henry) Dodge, of Michigan,* is ap-

pointed major of the battalion, and I have seen the names of the captains, but I do not know where to address

them. I am afraid the report from this place in respect to cholera may seriously retard the raising of this force. I

wish, therefore, that your Excellency would give publicity to the measures I have adopted to prevent the spread of

this disease, and of my determination not to allow any junction or communication between uninfected and infected

troops. The war is not at an end, and may not be brought to a close for some time. The rangers may reach the

theater of operations in time for the final blow. As they approach this place I shall take care of their health and
general wants.

I write in great haste, and may not have time to cause my letter to be copied. It will be put in some post-office

to be forthwith forwarded.
I have the honor to be, your Excellency's most obedient servant, WINFIELD SCOTT.
His Excellency, Gov. John Reynolds.

The account given by Mr. Howe was probably based upon unofficial reports, and
consequently exaggerated to some extent. At that time the cholera was a new disease

in America, and extravagant accounts of its ravages were likely to prevail. In either re-

port, Howe's or Scott's, the account is sorrowful enough in all conscience.

When General Scott left Chicago, he marched across the country in the direction of

Fort Armstrong, but, in consequence of the delay occasioned by the disease which
preyed so heavily among his troops, he did not reach the theater of Indian conflict in

time to direct the movement of the campaign. Besides, the cholera still lingered among
the men of his command, and his course from Chicago was marked by uncoffined graves.

After the country began to settle up and the land to be cultivated, the bones of many a

poor fellow were uncovered by the plow. Some of them were reburied and some of them
were cremated.
Under Governor Reynolds' call for a new levy of two thousand men, Beardstown and

Hennepin were designated as points of rendezvous. Volunteers from the southern part

of the ^tate were to report at Beardstown on the 3d, and from the central part at Hen-
nepin on the 10th of June. The time was short, but messengers were sent into all the

settled portions of the State to convey intelligence of the requisition and hasten the fill-

ing of the call. Under the first call the term of enlistment was not defined, and the men
maintained they had a right to return home at any time, and they began to clamor for a

discharge. They urged that they had enlisted on short notice, that they had not had

time to provide food or clothes for their families, and that they must suffer if the cam-

paign was protracted. The governor appealed to their patriotism, and they consented to

remain twelve or fifteen days longer. Pending these conditions General Atkinson ar-

rived at Dixon with provisions, encamped on the right hand bank of the river, and threw

up breastworks for the protection of the stores. The companies of Bailey and Stillman

Michigan then Included Wisconsin, Iowa and Minnesota. Wisconsin Territory was organized under an Act of

Congress approved April 20, 1836, and President Jackson appointed Henry Dodge, then living in Missouri, Gover-

nor of the new dependency. After Wisconsin became a State, he was chosen one of the United States Senators. He
was born at Vincennes, Indiana, and emigrated to Missouri when quite young. He was the father of Hon. A. C.

Dodge, of Burlington, Iowa.
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were organized as a brigade and placed under command of Col. Johnson, and received

into the service of the United States. A part of this brigade was sent to the defense of

Ottawa, and the other part remained at Dixon to guard the stores.

INDIAN CEBEK MASSACRE.

The fatal act of Stillman's men precipitated all the horrors of Indian border warfare

upon the white settlements in Jo Daviess county, as it then existed (including Ogle,

Stephenson, Carroll, Whiteside, Winnebago, Lee and other northern counties as now or-

ganized), and in the adjoining portions of Michigan Territory. Nor is it certain that all

tlie outrages were perpetrated by the " British Band." Young Pottawatomies and Win-
nebasoes joined Black Hawk, and after the war suddenly closed at Bad Axe, it was as-

certained that many of the murders had been committed by these Indians. Among the

first results of " Stillman's defeat " was the descent of about seventy Indians upon an

unprotected settlement at Indian creek (LaSalle county) where they massacreed fifteen

men, women and children of the families of Hall, Davis and Pettigrew, and captured two
young women, Sylvia and Rachel Hall. These girls, seventeen and fifteen years old, re-

spectively, were afterwards brought in by Winnebagoes to Gratiot Grove, and were ran-

somed by Major Henry Gratiot, for two thousand dollars in horses, wampum and trinkets,

and taken to Galena.

May 15, 1832, Capt. James W. Stephenson arrived at Galena with the startling in-

telligence of Stillman's disastrous defeat and the commencement of bloody hostilities by
the Indians, creating intense excitement among the people. The ringing notes of the

bugle called the settlers and miners together on the old race course on the bottom near

the river, near the foot of Washington street. Galena, and a company of mounted
rangers was organized, with James W. Stephenson for captain. At 3 o'clock on the

morning of Saturday, May 19, Sergeant Fred Stalil (now a respected citizen of Galena)

and privates William Durley, Vincent Smith, Redding Bennett, and James Smith, started

to bear dispatches to Gen. Atkinson at Dixon's Ferry, with John D. Winters, the mail

contractor, for guide, but on Sunday, 20th, Sergeant Stahl returned and added to the

alarm of the people by reporting that his party had been ambuscaded by the Indians just

on the edge of Buffalo Grove, now in Ogle county, fifty miles from Galena, about 5

o'clock p. M. Saturday afternoon, and that Durley was instantly killed and left on the

spot. Stahl received a bullet through his coat collar, and James Smith afterwards found
a bullet hole in his hat and became intensely frightened. After the war, the leader of

the Indians told Dixon that he could have killed the young fellow (Stahl) as well as not,

but he had a fine horse, and in trying to shoot him without injuring the animal, he shot

too high, as Stahl suddenly stooped at the same time.

HUNTING THE INDIANS.

May 19, the entire army, including volunteers and regulars, under command of

General Atkinson, started up the river in pursuit of the enemy. In the afternoon

news was brought of the Indian Creek massacre in LaSalle county, when General At-
kinson ordered General Whiteside and Colonel Zachary Taylor to continue the pursuit

with the volunteers, while he fell back to Dixon. After several days' march the trail of

Black Hawk was struck, which led the army to a village of the Pottawatomies on Syca-
more creek, where several relics of the Stillman disaster and of the Indian Creek mas-
sacre were found, but the Indians had fled. Trails led out from the village in different

directions, intended, no doubt, to confuse the pursuing forces and throw them off the right
trail. The army remained here a short time, during which the volunteers became so dis-

satisfied with the commanding general and from other causes, that it was determined to

abandon the chase. The principal trail of the Indians, when found, led north and the
route of the volunteers homeward led south. Colonel Taylor and Major Harney, of the
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regular army, urged the volunteers to remain until the Indians could be overtaken and
chastised, but they were averse to remaining longer away from their homes and their

business. General Whiteside was opposed to continuing the pursuit, but agreed to be
governed by a majority of the officers, and the question being submitted to a vote, one-
half voted to continue the pursuit, and ' the other half in favor of returning home.
Governor Reynolds, seeing the demoralized condition of the volunteers, caused a part of

them to be marched to Ottawa, where they were discharged on the 27th and 28th of

May. Captain Eads' Peoria company was mustered out at Peoria.

ANBCBOTB OP OLD BOUGH AND READY.

It has been related that pending these troubles with the militia, many of them be-

lieved Rock river was the northwestern boundary of Illinois, and declared they would
not go beyond that river under any circumstances. They were militia, they said, had
been called out for the defense of the State, and it was unconstitutional to order them to

march beyond its frontier and into the Indiail Territory. Taylor, as soon as he was
informed of the condition of affairs, halted the command and went into camp within the

acknowledged boundaries of Illinois. He could not, he declared, budge another inch
without further orders. Black Hawk and his forces had been driven out of the State,

but the question of crossing Rock river seemed to trouble him, as to obedience to the
constitution on the one side and military expediency on the other. During the night,

however, orders were received from General Atkinson to follow Black Hawk to the last.

The quiet demeanor of Colonel Taylor meanwhile had rather encouraged the mutinous
spirits to carry out their purposes. A meeting was called, arid Colonel Taylor was
invited to attend. He listened some time with quiet attention to the proceedings, but at

last concluded that it was about time for him to be heard, and he addressed the meeting
something after this manner: He had, he said, listened with much interest and pleasure

to the views expressed by some of the speakers as to the independence and dignity of

each iadividual American citizen. He felt that all the gentlemen present were his

equals, and was persuaded that it would not be many years until they would be his

superiors ; that perhaps some of them would be members of Congress and arbiters of the

fortunes and reputations of humble servants to the Republic, like himself. He expected

then to obey them as interpreters of the will of the people, and that the best proof he

. could give that he would obey them, was now to observe the orders of those whom the

people had already put in places of authority, to which many gentlemen around him
justly aspired. In plain English, gentlemen and fellow citizens, the word has been passed

to me from Washington to follow Black Hawk, and to take you with me as soldiers. I

intend to do both. There are the flat boats drawn up on the shore, and here are Uncle
Sam's men drawn up behind you on the prairie. It is needless to add that the militia

crossed Rock river, and followed Black Hawk until they were honorably discharged.

THIRD CAMPAIGN.

SKIRMISHING.

When the first levy of State troops was mustered out at Ottawa and Peoria, General

. Atkinson called on Governor Reynolds for one thousand additional men to co-operate

with the previous requisition of two thousand, and one thousand more, to guard the

frontier. In consequence of danger to the exposed settlements an appeal was made to

the disbanded volunteers, and a regiment was raised among them to serve until the



136 GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS.

new levies could be made available. Jacob Fry was chosen Colonel and James D. Henry
Lieutenant-Colonel, after wbich the different companies composing the regiment were
dispatched to the most exposed localities. After doing duty until the new levy of troops

arrived, this regiment was mustered nut at Dixon on the 19th of June by Colonel Taylor.

During their term of service, one of the companies under command of Captain Snyder
had some severe skirmishing with a party of seventy Indians in the vicinity of Kellogg's

Grove, in which four of the Indians and two or three of the whites were killed. Before

the new levies could be organized and made available, a^number of murders were com-
mitted in different parts of the country.

The Gralenian of May 23, 1832, said : " The tomahawk and scalping-knife have again

been drawn on our frontier. Blood of our best citizens has been spilt in great profusion

within the borders of Illinois. * * The Indians must be exterminated or, sent off."

The miners and settlers flocked to central points, organized themselves into compa-
nies, and built stockades and block-houses, so that within a week after they received the

news of the Stillman's run affair, they were able to resist any ordinary attacking force.

Depredations by straggling Indians were of almost daily occurrence. On the 21st a

Mr. Gdss was fired on near the m'outh of Plum river, and sundry other affairs of the same
kind were reported from other parts of the country. The most of these assaults occurred

in Jo Daviess county and east of the Rock river, although some of them were confined to

the country along the Mississippi.

May 23, Felix St. Vrain, agent for the Sacs and Foxes, bearer of dispatches, left

General Atkinson's headquarters, on Rock river, accompanied by John Fowler, Thomas
Kenney, William Hale, Aquilla Floyd, Aaron Hawley, and Alexander Higginbotham.
At Buffalo Grove they found the body of the lamented Durley, and buried it a rod from
the spot where they found it. The next day (24th) they were attacked by a large party

of thirty Indians near Kellogg's old place. St. Vrain, Fowler, Hale and Hawley were
killed. The other three escaped, and arrived at Galena on the morning of the 26th.

The Indians were watchful of every movement of the white troops, and took every

possible advantage offered. Between the time the first volunteers were mustered- out,

on the 27th and 28th of May, and the mustering in and organization of the new levies

on the 15th of June, they grew bolder and more daring. Numerous murders were com-
mitted, and the only protection the people had was their own brave hearts and strong

arms. The atrocities perpetrated by the Indians upon the bodies of their victims,

aroused the vengence of the settlers and miners, many of whom had previously felt that

the Indians were not so much in fault, and had been needlessly provoked to bloodshed.
June 8, Captain Stephenson's company of mounted rangers found the bodies of St.

Vrain, Hale, Fowler and Hawley, four miles south of Kellogg's Grove, and buried them.
Colonel William S. Hamilton arrived in Galena with two hundred and thirty Indians,

mostly Sioux, with some Meuominees and Winnebagoes, on the 8th. These Indians left

Galena on the 10th, to join General Atkinson at Dixon's Ferry, all anxious to obtain Sac
scalps. Black Hawk's band was reported moving slowly northward.

On the night of June 8th, the Indians stole fourteen horses just outside the stockade
on Apple river (Elizabeth), and on the night of the 17th, ten more were stolen. The
next morning Capt. J. W. Stephenson, with twelve of his men and nine from Apple
River Fort, started on the trail of the red thieves, and overtook them about twelve miles
east of Kellogg's Grove, southeast of Waddam's Grove, and pursued them several miles,

until a little northeast of Waddam's (in Stephenson county), the Indians (seven in num-
ber, says Captain Green), took refuge in a dense thicket, and awaited the attack. Steph-
enson dismounted his men, and, detailing a guard for the horses, led his men in a gallant
charge upon the concealed foe, received their fire and returned it, returning to the open
prairie to load. Three times the brave boys charged upon this fatal thicket, losing a man
each time. Only one Indian was known to be killed. He was bayonetted by Private
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Hood, and stabbed in the neck by Thomas Sublett. This Indian was scalped several
times, and a piece of his scalp lock in 1878 was in the possession of Wm. H. Snyder, Esq.,
of Galena. The three men killed were Stephen P. Howard, George Eames and Michael
Lovell. Stephenson himself was wounded. After the third charge, Stephenson retreated,
leaving his dead where they fell, and returned to Galena, arriving on the 19th. Of this

desperate battle, Gov. Ford says : " This attack of Capt. Stephenson was unsuccessful,
and may have been imprudent ; but it equalled any thing in modern warfare in daring
and desperate courage." ,

'

On the evening of June 14, five men, at work in a corn-field at Spafford's farm, five

miles below Fort Hamilton, on Spafford's creek, and on the morning of the 16th, Henry
Apple, a German, were killed within a half a mile of the fort. Gen. Dodge, with twenty-
nine men, at once pursued the Indians about three miles, when they were discovered,
eleven in number, in open ground, but were not overtaken until they crossed the East
Pick - e - ton - e - ka, and entered an almost impenetrable swamp, at Horse Shoe Bend. At
the edge of the swamp. Dodge ordered his men to dismount, and link horses. Four men
were left in charge of the horses, four were posted around the swamp to prevent the
escape of the savages, and the remainder, twenty-one in number, advanced into the
swamp about half a mile, where they received the fire of the Indians, and three men fell

severely wounded. Gen. Dodge instantly ordered a charge. The Indians were found
lying under the bank of a slough, and were not seen until the soldiers were within six or

eight feet of them, when they fired. The whole hostile party were killed and scalped in

one or two minutes, except one who swam the slough in an attempt to escape, and was
shot down on the opposite bank. In this battle F. M. Morris and Samuel Wells were
mortally, and Samuel Black and Thomas Jenkins severely, wounded. This was the first

victory achieved over the murderous Sacs, and occasioned great rejoicing in the settle-

ments.
June 17th, Captain Adam W. Snyder, of Colonel Fry's regiment, sent to scout the

country between Rock river and Galena, while encamped near Burr Oak Grove, in what
is now the township of Erin, Stephenson county, was fired upon by four Indians. He
pursued and killed them, losing one man mortally wounded. Returning, he was attacked

by seventy Indians, both parties taking positions behind trees. General Whiteside, then

a private, shot the leader of the band and they retreated, but were not pursued. Snyder
lost two men killed and one wounded.

On the 20th, Stephenson's and Craig's companies, under command of Col. Strode,

went to Waddam's Grove to bury the remains of Howard, Eames and Lovell, which they

did, but left the dead Indian above ground. On their return they heard some suspicious

sounds, but pushed on in the night to Imus's (in Rush township) and returned to Galena
in safety. Afterwards, says Capt. Green, who was with Stepherson's company, we
learned that " a large party of Sacs were within a half-hour's march of us, when we left

the graves of our dead comrades."

This party, which numbered about 150, had left the main body of Sacs on Rock
river, and, after following Strode's command, were, undoubtedly, the same who made a

furious attack on the stockade at Apple river, on the night of the 24th, under the follow-

ing circumstances : F. Dixon, Edmund Welsh, G. W. Herclerode and Jas. L. Kirkpatrick

started to carry dispatches to Gen. Atkinson. They had passed Apple River Fort when
they were fired upon by Indians, and Welsh was badly wounded. His companions told

him to retreat to the fort, and to give him time, turned upon the foe and raised a yell.

This temporarily checked them; We^lsh reached the fort and gave the alarm. Their

strategem succeeded ; Dixon dashed through the savages, and escaped to Galena. Kirk-

patrick and Herclerode gained the fort ; the gates were shut, and for three-quarters of an

hour the battle raged with fury. The women and girls molded bullets, made cartridges

and loaded the guns. Herclerode was killed while taking deliberate aim at an Indian
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•

over the top of the pickets. The number of Indians killed was never known, but they

were supposed to have lost several. They finally withdrew, after stealing a large number
of cattle, and destroying considerable property.

June 25th, a detachment of General Posey's brigade, commanded by Major John

Dement, and encamped at Kellogg's Grove, or Burr Oak Grove, as it was then called,

was attacked by a large party of Indians, and a sharp skirmish ensued. Major Dement
lost five men and about twenty horses killed. The Indians left nine of their number
stretched upon the field. Genejal Posey, then encamped at Buffalo Grove, hastened to

the relief of Dement, but the Indians had retreated two hours before he arrived. He re-

turned to Kellogg's Grove to await the arrival of his baggage wagons, and then marched
to Fort Hamilton, Michigan Territory.

On the 30th of June, three men at work in a corn-field at Sinsinawa Mound, more
generally known as Jones' Mound, ten miles from Galena, were attacked by a small party

of Indians, and two of them, James Boxley and John Thompson, were killed. Major

Stej henson, with thirty men, started immediately on receipt of the news to bury the

murdered men and pursue the murderers. The bodies were shockingly mangled and
both scalped, and Thompson's heart cut out. The Indians were followed to the residence

of Mr. Jordon, on the Mississippi, where they had stolen a canoe and crossed the river.

These Indians could hardly have been any of Black Hawk's band, unless they had
deserted and were making their way back to the west side of the Mississippi.

It has always been admitted by those who were familiar with the facts, that the

Stillman's run affair precipitated the war and led to the several murders and outrages

herein quoted. But it never was believed that all these atrocities were committed by
Black Hawk's band, or with his knowledge or approval. Jt is certain that a large

number of young Winnebagoes, Pottawatomies, and straggling representatives of other

tribes took advantage of the condition of affairs and hung on the outskirts of his forces,

just as the bummers hovered in the shadow of Sherman's army, when he was marching
" To the Sea." When the war closed at Bad Axe, it was learned beyond question, that

nearly all the murders had been committed by these stragglers.

The alarm continued and the excitement increased, and on the 30th of June, all the

inhabitants along the Mississippi river, from the present site of Savannah and north of

Galena to Cassville, Wisconsin, either went to Galena or some of the other stockades for

safety, and it was not considered safe to go the shortest distance outside of the forts.

Captain George W. Harrison, in command of Fort Hamilton on the Pick-a-ton-e-ka,

thirty miles from Galena, after vainly endeavoring to get a cannon, went to Colonel

Hamilton's furnace and cast several lead pieces, intended for two-pounders, which were
properly mounted at the stockade, and answered every purpose.

The new levy of troops arrived at Dixon on the 15th of June, and were organized

in three brigades. General Alexander Posey was assigned to the command of the first

;

General Milton R. Alexander to the second, arid General James D. Henry to the third,

General Whiteside.having enlisted as a private under the call for the new levy.

While the whirligig of time was recording the events here narrated, Black Hawk's
forces kept on their march up Rock river, with the intention, it was believed, of return-

ing to the west side of the Mississippi, as the forces of General Atkinson below prevented
their return by the way they came, and, as they doubtless believed after the affray with
Stillman, no flag of truce or proposals for peace, would be received by the whites. But
while Black Hawk was proceeding northward, various signs of straggling Indians were
discovered along the Mississippi river. July 6, Lieutenant Orrin Smith was sent, with
twenty men, to Jordon's farm, opposite Dubuque mines, to scour the country there. On
the 9th, Indians were in the vicinity of Rountree's Fort (Plattsville), where they held a

war dance around the scalp of a woman. On the 10th, the G-alenian said : " To-day
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we learu that the trail of the Indians shows that they must have come from the west of
the Mississippi, in a direction from Dubuque mines."

July 14, after the final march against the Indians was commenced, Governor Rey-
nolds, Colonel Fields (Secretary of State), Judges Smith and Brown, Colonels Hickman,
Grant, Bresse and Gatewood, Captain Jeffreys and others, arrived at Galena from the
army. These gentlemen reported that the Indians were entirely destitute of provisions,

and were endeavoring to reach and re-cross the Mississippi.

July 15, an express arrived at Galena, stating that Captain Harney, of the U. S. A.,
had found and pursued the trail of the Indians for thirty miles, passing four of their

encampments in that distance, and that he found many signs of their want of provisions,

"such as where they had butchered horses, dug for roots, and scraped the trees for

bark," and it became evident that the military had concluded that Black Hawk was
doing his best to escape to the west side of the Mississippi. Orders were sent to troops
stationed on the banks of that river " to prevent or delay the Indians from crossing until

the brigade sent by General Atkinson could come up with them." Indian outrages had
now nearly ceased in Jo Daviess county, and a brief sketch of the movements of the
troops from Dixon's Ferry to Bad Axe will close this part of the history.

STRIKING THE TRAIL.

About the 25th of June every thing being in readiness. General Atkinson com-
menced his slow and cautious march up Rock river, and finally reached Lake Koshko-
nong, where he was joined by General Alexander, when the march was continued to

White river, or Whitewater, where they were joined by Posey's brigade and the Galena
battalion under Major Dodge. From there General Alexander, Gen. Henry and Major
Dodge were sent to Fort Winnebago for supplies. Here they heard that Black Hawk
was making his way toward the Wisconsin river, and, disobeying orders, Henry and
Dodge started in pursuit (Gen. Alexander and his brigade returning to Gen. Atkinson),

struck the broad, fresh trail of the Indians and followed them with tireless energy. Ever
and anon they would find old men, women and children, who could not keep up and had
been abandoned to their fate by the fleeing Indians. Some of them were killed. One
old man who had been left to die was found sitting a;gainst the trunk of a tree and was
cowardly shot and scalped by a surgeon, who afterwards exhibited the scalp as a trophy

of his valor.

THE FIRST BATTLE— WISCONSIN HEIGHTS.

On the afternoon of the 31st day of July, 1832, the pursuing forces arrived at the

hills that skirt the left bank of the Wisconsin river, about fifty miles above its mouth,

near the present village of Muscoda, and nearly opposite Sauk Prairie, where they came

in plain sight of Black Hawk's entire party, including women and children. The Indians

were in the bottom lands, hastening to remove their people to an island in the river, to

avoid a conflict in which they could not reasonably expect any thing but extermination,

but to cover the retreat, it was necessary for Black Hawk to make as bold a stand as pos-

sible until this purpose was accomplished.

The scouts, who were some distance in advance of the column of pursuers, came

suddenly upon some Indians as they were descending the high grounds, by whom they

were instantly attacked, and forced to fall back on the main body of the army which had

already been formed for action. Colonel Dodge occupied the front and received the first

fire of the enemy. The main body, under General Henry, soon joined Dodge's battalion,

and their united action soon obtained a complete victory over the enemy. The loss of

the whites in this engagement was one man killed and eight wounded. The Indian loss

was estimated at about sixty killed and a great number vrounded. The first Indian

killed was one who was discovered with a pack of meat on his back. A soldier fired at
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him, but missed his aim, when the Indian threw down his gun and was bayonetted by Sam-

ples Journey after he surrendered. This is known as the battle of Wisconsin Heights.

STRENGTH OP THE INDIANS.

The Indians were supposed to number from six to eight hundred, but Colonel Pat-

terson, of Oquawka, already quoted, is authority for the statement that Black Hawk told

him that his forces at no time exceeded five hundred braves. A few of these were Win-
nebagoes. When he started up Rock river, he expected that his army would be rein-

forced and perhaps doubled by Winnebagoes and Pottawatomies, but he was disappointed

in the latter, as not one of them joined him.

"At this battle," says Mr. H. S. Townsend, one of the participants, now living in

Warren township, Jo Daviess county, " the Indians were badly whipped by our troops

and worse whipped by starvation. Irregular firing continued until about ten o'clock at

night, when it ceased, and the men bivouacked for rest and slept on their arms."

THE TOMAHAWK BITEIED—PKAYEK FOB PEACE.

"About daylight, the next morning after the battle," says Captain D. S. Harris, of

Galena, then lieutenant in Stephenson's company, " the camp was startled by the clarion

voice of the Prophet from a hill nearly a mile away. At first we thought it was an alarm,

but soon found that the Prophet wanted peace. Although he was so far distant I could

hear distinctly every word, and I understood enough to know that he did not want to

fight. The interpreter reported that he said they had their squaws and families with

them and were starving—that they did not want to fight any more, but wanted peace

and would do no more harm if they could be permitted to cross the Mississippi in peace.'"

Mr. P. J. Pilcher, now of Elizabeth, Jo Daviess county, who was also there, says they

were awakened by the shrill voice of the chief, and that he plainly understood : "iVe-

com, P e—el—oo-o;" "Fbiends, we eight no moke." Mr. Pilcher says he told

Henry what the Indian said, but General Henry replied "pay no attention to any thing

they say or do, but form in line of battle." The Winnebagoes in camp also informed the

officers of the meaning of the Prophet's message, and " early in the morning," continued

Mr. Pilcher, " they went with us to the spot where the Indian had stood, when he pro-

claimed peace, and there we found a Tomahawk buried," an emphatic declaration that so

far as Black Hawk and his band were concerned, hostilities were ended. No attention

was paid to this second attempt to negotiate peace. It has been said that the officers

had no interpreter and did not know what the Prophet said until after the war
closed. This excuse is exploded by the direct and emphatic testimony of Captain Har-

ris and Mr. Pilcher, that it was declared the starved and dying Indians must be

exterminated.

The night after the battle of Wisconsin Heights, Black Hawk made his escape down
the river in the direction of Iowa with his forces and people, and not an Indian remained
on the south side of the Wisconsin. General Atkinson came up with his command.
General Henry was ordered back for supplies, and a courier was dispatched to Fort

Crawford (Prairie du Chien,) with instructions to the commandant there to intercept the

Indians in their passage down the Wisconsin river. In carrying out these instructions,

that officer captured several canoes with women and children, but the warriors evaded
interception by marching on foot along the bank of the river and under the bluffs.

The line of pursuit was taken up on the morning of the first day of August, by
General Atkinson and Colonel Dodge, who crossed their respective divisions to the north
side of the Wisconsin, where they struck the trail of the retreating Indians, and fol-

lowed it until night fall, when they went into camp. The great number of dead bodies
and newlymade Indian graves which they found, told too plainly the losses and sufferings

sustained by Black Hawk's people.
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A steamboat had been dispatched from Fort Crawford by Colonel Loomis as far as
Black river, where a number of canoes were seized which had been provided, as was be-
lieved, by the Winnebagoes to aid Black Hawk in his contemplated retreat across the
Mississippi. The boat returned to the fort on the evening of the first day of August,
and on the morning of the second, a more serviceable one was sent up, and arrived at
the mouth of the Bad Axe before the battle commenced, and in time to participate in the
last armed conflict of the Black Hawk war.

BATTLE AT BAD AXE.

About two o'clock on the morning of the second day of August, 1832, the forces
under command of Atkinson and Dodge, broke camp and renewed the pursuit. Colonel
Dodge's command, supported by the regular troops under Colonel Zachary Taylor, form-
ing the advance.

_
About sunrise. Captain Dickson, who commanded the scouts, reported

that he was up with the Indians, and asked for orders. Colonel Dodge directed him to
attack them at once, and at the same time moved rapidly forward with his own command,
supported by the regulars. The Indians were attacked in front by fire from the steam-
boat, on all sides and in the rear, by a determined foe. The battle lasted about two
hours, and was a complete rout and slaughter of the Indians, and ended the career of
Black Hawk as a warrior chieftain.

AFTER THE BATTLE— SCENES AND INCIDENTS

It is stated as a fact, by men who were present, and whose statements, from their
high standing for truth and honor are of unquestioned veracity, that when the Indians
were swimming the river, the steamboat was run among them, drowning the starved,
fleeing creatures by scores. If this statement is true, and there can be no doubt, it does
not reflect any credit upon the civilization and Christianity of that day.

Indian men and women plunged into the Mississippi and sought to reach the Iowa
shore by swimming, some of, them mounted on their ponies, but mostly without. Many
of them were drowned in the attempt, while many of those who succeeded in reaching
the western shore were pursued and killed by a body of Sioux Indians who were on that
side of the river. It is related that a Sac woman named Ne-wa-se, the sister of a distin-

guished chief, succeeded in escaping from the battle field in the thickest of the fight and
in reaching the bank of the Mississippi with her babe. As she reached the water's edge,
an Indian man mounted on a pony, was about to plunge in to swim across. Quick as

thought Ne-wa-se wrapped her child in her blanket, grasped its folds in her teeth, and
then, catching the pony's tail with her hands, was carried safely across. Other mothers,
with their children fastened upon their backs, plunged in and swam safely across, but
more of them who attempted this means of escape went down beneath the waves.

The battle of Bad Axe terminated the war, and now after nearly half a century has
passed since the occurrence of the stirring events narrated, and the Indians have disap-

peared before the westward advance of civilization, it is but just that the truth should be
recorded. Passion and prejudice have passed away, and it must be admitted that when
the tomahawk and scalping knife were drawn in 1832, it was only after the whites had
commenced the carnival of blood by disregarding the flag of truce and murdering one of

its bearers at Stillman's Run. The vindictive pursuit and murder of women and children

after the Prophet had, in person, informed his ruthless pursuers that "his people were
starving and wanted peace," can not be justified. It was as savage an act as the savages

themselves had committed. It must be added, also, that after Stillman's defeat. Black
Hawk, then an old man, Ipst all control of his young braves, who were led by Ne-o-pope.

But for the recklessness of Stillman's soldiers, in all human probability the subsequent
acts of savage barbarity by both Indians and whites had remained undone.
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FLIGHT OF BLACK HAWK— STJKEBNDER.

After the battle of Bad Axe, Black Hawk fled to the "Winnebago village at Prairie

La Crosse for refuge. At the instance of the authorities two Winnebago Indians, De-

corah (the one-eyed), and Chaster, went to him with the message that if he would come
in and surrender to General Street, the Indian agent at Prairie du Chien, he would ,be

released immediately after. It was reported that the fallen chief told them he knew
they lied, but that, for the sake of his wife and children, whom he knew to be starving,

he would go. On the 27th of August the messengers returned with Black Hawk, two
of his sons, and the Prophet, and delivered them to General Street. During the cere-

monies attending the surrender, Black Hawk, in referring to the late battle, made the

following
KBMARKABLE SPEECH:

" My warriors fell around me. It began to look dismal. I saw my evil day at hand.

The sun rose clear in the morning ; at night it sank in a dark cloud, and looked like a

ball of fire. This was the last sun that shone on Black Hawk. He is now a prisoner to

the white man. But he can stand the torture. He is not afraid of death. He is no
coward. Black Hawk is an Indian. He has done nothing of which any Indian need be

ashamed. He has fought the battles of his country against the white man, who came
year after year to cheat the Indians and take away their lands. You know the cause

of our making war. It is known to all white men. They ought to be ashamed of it.

The white men despise the Indians, and drive them from their homes. But the In-

dians are not deceitful. Indians do not steal.

"Black Hawk is satisfied. He will go to the world of spirits contented. He has

done his duty. His Father will meet and reward him.
" The white men do not scalp the head, but they do worse— they poison the heart.

It is not pure with them. The Indians will not be scalped, but in a few years they

will become like the white man, so that you can not hurt them ; and there must be, as

in the white settlements, as many officers as men, to take care of them and keep them
in order. Farewell to my nation ! Farewell to Black Hawk !

"

CAPTIVITY AND KBLEASB.

Black Hawk and his two sons were held as prisoners of war. By the terms of the

treaty made at Davenport, Iowa, in September, 1832, between General Winfield pcott

and Governor John Reynolds, of Illinois, on the part of the United States, and Keokuk
and other chiefs and head* men on the part of the Sac and Fox Indians, by which the

latter agreed to relinquish their right to the lands on the eastern slope of Iowa, com-
monly known as the Black Hawk purchase, it was agreed that the captives should be
held at the will of the President. At that time Colonel Zachary Taylor, afterwards
elected President of the United States, was in command at Fort Crawford, and the

captives were placed in charge of the late rebel Jeff Davis, then a lieutenant in the

regular army, to be taken to Jefferson barracks at St. Louis. They were afterwards
held at Fortress Monroe until June 4, 1833, when President Jackson directed their release

from captivity and gave them in charge of Major Garland to be taken on a grand toiir

through the country to exhibit to them the folly of ever renewing hostilities against the

United States. They were told the people of the United States were as numerous as

the leaves of the forest, and wherever they went they attracted much attention and
large crowds of the curious. At this time Black Hawk, according to his own statement,
was about sixty-six years of age, although he looked, say those who knew him, much
younger. He was about five feet eight inches in height, sinewj'. with broad chest, the

high cheek bones of his race, high forehead and great penetrating black eyes, with the
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glance of an eagle, dignified and majestic manner, although manifestly much depressed
in spirit after his great misfortunes.

The starving condition of his wife and children, more than any other cause, in-
duced Black Hawk to surrender himself at Prairie du Chien. After his surrender his
wife and little son went south and stopped near St. Francisville, Clark county, Missouri,
where she was a frequent visitor at the house of Jerre Wayland, one of the "old
settlers " of that neighborhood. Wayland, always one of nature's noblemen, fully sym-
pathised with her in her misfortunes. She brooded sorrowfully over the forcible absence
of her lord, and often declared she never expected him to return, but Wayland sought
to keep up her courage with the assurance that he would come in good time. When at
last he did return, she was filled with joy, and his arrival home was made an occasion for
a great feast, at which Black Hawk, Keokuk and their families were all present.

HIS DEATH AND BURIAL.

After his return from captivity, Black Hawk lived among his people on the Iowa
river until that reservation was sold in 1836, when, with the rest of the Sacs and Foxes,
he removed to the Des Moines river, where he remained until his death on the 3d day of

October, 1838. His burial place was near a large spring, not far from the residence of

James Jordon, an old Indian trader, near the village of Eldon (once called Ashton),
at the Des Moines river crossing of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific railroad. His
burial place and costume were thus described to the writer by Captain James W. Camp-
bell, of Fort Madison

:

" He was buried in a pen or crib, constructed after the Indian fashion. It was made of round poles, and was
about ten feet long and three feet wide, and about as high as a man's shoulders when sitting on the ground. The
body of the once proud old chief was dressed in a swallow-tailed coat made from blue cloth, which was elaborately

decorated with brass buttons, epaulets, etc. When robed for burial, he was carried to the place selected for his

sepulture, and placed in a sitting position in the west end of the pen, with his face towards the rising sun. His gun,
tomahawk and blanket were placed by his side, and the pen covered over, leaving his head and neck above the
covering and exposed to the weather. A plug hat, adorned with a broad, bright colored ribbon, was fixed upon his

head, and his face was painted red and striped with black, just as a young Indian dandy painted when he went a
courting, thus conveying the idea to the surviving Indians that their once great chief and warrior had gone a court-

ing to another world, where, if he received the favors of the Great Spirit, he would be united to some squaw who had
passed the bounds of mortality, and that they would remain through an endless eternity in the green and happy
hunting grounds, where deer and elk abounded, and where no white man would ever come to molest them."

DESECRATION OF HIS BURIAL PLACE.

In July, 1839, Black Hawk's burial place was invaded and his remains carried away.

In January, 1840, his tribe made complaint of the vandalism to Governor Lucas, who had
been appointed governor of that territory by President Van Buren, and who assumed
the duties of the position on the 8d day of- July, 1838. The bones were traced to St.

Louis, where they had been cleaned, and then in the possession of a dentist at Quincy,

Illinois to whom they had been sent to be wired and set up, previous to being sent East.

The dentist was notified not to deliver them to any one until a requisition was made by
Governor Lucas. In December of that year (1840) the governor issued the necessary

order, and in a few days after it was served, the mayor of Quincy, to whom the bones

had been turned over, forwarded them to Burlington, where they were placed in the

governor's care.

A message was sent to Black Hawk's family, living on the Des Moines river, about

ninety miles distant, and an Indian cavalcade, including the widow of the departed war-

rior, and a retinue of her friends, was soon in motion towards Burlington. On the even-

ing of their arrival, the governor was notified of their readiness to wait upon him, and he

fixed an audience hour at 10 o'clock the next morning. The hour came and with it the

Indians and a number of white visitors and spectators. The box in which the skeleton

remains were packed opened with a lid, and when the parties were assembled and ready
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for the ceremony of delivering them up to the friends of the deceased chieftain, the lid

was raised by Governor Lucas, fully exposing all that was earthly of Black Hawk to the

gaze of his mourning relatives and the very respectable audience of white people who at-

tended to witness the impressive scene.

The governor addressed the widow through John Goodell, interpreter for the Hard-
fish band, giving all the details of the removal of the bones from the grave at Ashton
(now Eldon) to St. Louis, from St. Louis to Quincy, and from Quincy to Burlington, and
assured her that they were the veritable bones of her deceased husband, that he had
sincerely sympathised with her in her great affliction, and that he now hoped she would
be consoled and comforted by the return of the precious relics to her care, and in full

confidence that they would not again be removed from where she might be disposed to

re-entomb them.
" The widow then advanced to the box, and," says one who witnessed the scene,

" without any seeming emotion, picked up the bones one after another, and examined
each one with the apparent curiosity of a child. Replacing each separate bone in its

proper place, she turned to the interpreter, and, in reply to the remarks of Governor
Lucas, said she fully believed they were the bones of Black Hawk, and that she knew
the governor was a good old man, or he never would have taken the trouble he had
manifested to oblige her, and for his great benevolence and disinterested friendship, she

would leave the bones under his care and protection." She was told the authorities were
willing to surrender the bones, but she seemed indifferent and careless to the matter, and
no hiug was done by her or the tribe towards a re-interment of the remains, and they
were left to the care of Governor Lucas.

CREMATION OF THE BONES.

In 1840, General Harrison was elected to the Presidency, and in the change of

officers which followed by appointment. Governor Lucas was succeeded by John Cham-
bers, of Kentucky. Before vacating the executive chair. Governor Lucas caused the box
containing the illustrious warrior's bones to be removed to the office of a Dr. Lowe, who
occupied rooms adjoining a building, in the third story of which the Historical and Geo-
logical Institute was located, and to which institute the skeleton remains had been pre-

sented. On the night of the 16th of January, 1853, before the remains were deposited
in the institute, the institute and Dr. Lowe's office, with their contents, were destroyed
by fire.

Thus, amid fire and tumult, all that was earthly of Black Hawk found a resting place
in the ashes of the ruined structure, and thus it came about that the last scene with
which his eventful career and mortal remains were associated, was no less dramatic than
his first public appearance, when, a mere boy, he avenged the death of his father, Py - e - sa,

who fell in a bloody battle with the Cherokees, by killing three and wounding several

others of the enemy with his own hands.
Vale Black Hawk.

KEOKUK.

This chief was no less conspicuous than Black Hawk, save that he refused, and
maintained his refusal to join in the war of 1832. He was of the Fox tribe, and possessed
great power over his immediate adherents. He knew from the first that the war would
end in disaster, and refused to be a party to the invasion of Illinois, and such was his in-
fluence that he prevented his band, with a few individual exceptions, from joining Black
Hawk and bis Sacs, Af^r Stillman's defeat, however, the war feeling ran high among
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his people, and a war-dance was held in which he took a part. When the dance was
oyer, he called a council to prepare for war. In his address he argued the justice of
their complaints against the white man, and that to seek redress was a noble ambition.
" I am your chief," he said, " and it is my duty to lead you to battle, if, after fully con-
sidering the matter you are determined to go. But before you go it is wise to consider
the chances for success." He showed the braves of his band and the members of the
council that success was hopeless, and added : " If you determine to go upon the war path
I will lead you upon these conditions— that before we go we kill all our old men, and our
wives and children, to save them from a lingering death by starvation, and that we go
determined to leave our bones on the other side of the Mississippi." His force of reason-

ing, power of oratory and great influence prevailed and saved the Foxes from the fate

that came to Black Hawk and the Sacs.

When Black Hawk was defeated at Bad Axe his strength and glory departed and
the panoply of power fell upon Keokuk. In 1845 he led his people to Kansas, where he
died from poison, administered by one of the tribe, in the early part of 1848. The
poisoner was arrested, confessed his guilt and was executed by being shot.

LAST OF THE SACS AND FOXES.

Of the Sac and Fox Indians, less than one thousand remain. Of this number, ac-

cording to the last report from the Secretary of the Interior, three hundred and forty-five

are located in Tama county, Iowa, and are giving their attention to the arts of civiliza-

tion. They have six hundred and ninety-two acres of land purchased with their annuity,

which is held in trust for their use and benefit, and upon which they pay taxes. Two
hundred and ten acres of this land is under cultivation. Their personal property is esti-

mated at $15,000, consisting chiefly of ponies, which is their ideal of wealth. A school

house is kept open for their use, but there has been no regular attendance of their child-

ren. Another part of the tribe, consisting of four hundred and thirty-three persons, is

located on a small reservation in the Indian Territory, " all of whom, with a 'few excep-

tions," said the agent in his report under date of August 2, 1878, " are engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits and stock raising. Corn is their principal cereal product. They have
done much better than last year in keeping their children in school, and many of the pu-

pils that never attended school before have made commendable progress in acquiring a

knowledge of the English language. All the pupils that are large enough are instructed

in and required to participate in all the domestic industries."

A third remnant of the tribe, consisting of about seventy-flve heads, and known as

Mo-ko-ko-ko's band, is settled in Kansas.
Among these people there is left but little semblance of the spirit of Black Hawk's

time and generation. The death rate exceeds that of births, so that it will not be many
years until the tribe will have entirely disappeared.
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CHAPTER X.

SLAVERY IN ILLINOIS— THE BLACK LAWS.

Company of St. Phillips— First Cargo of African Slaves— Prospecting for Minerals— Renault's Return to France
— Slavery Agitation— Gubernatorial Contest of 1 822— Coles Elected— Kidnapping— Coles' Message— Black

Laws —Slavery and Anti-Slavery Parties— Excitement of the People— Triumph of the Anti-Slavery Element
— Indentured Apprentices.

Christopher Columbus made his discoveries in the year 1492. DeSoto, a Spanish

explorer, discovered the Lower Mississippi river at or near the present site of Memphis,
by crossing the country from Florida, about 1538, nearly fifty years later, and Marquette
and Joliet discovered and entered upon the broad bosom of the Upper Mississippi from

the Wisconsin river, in June, 1673, nearly two hundred years after Columbus visited the

shores of the Western continent. It followed that the Spanish and French people were
the first to attempt to occupy .and possess the country thus discovered.

When French attention first began to be directed to the country, according to Charle-

voix (iii, 389J),
" the opinion obtained that the wealth of the Western World consisted in

its pearl fisheries, its mines of gold and silver and the wool of its wild cattle." Louis XIV,
King of France, and the regent Duke of Orleans, attempted to found an empire in the

New World, and thus control its resources. The beginning of this attempt was the

French settlements at Kaskaskia, Prairie du Rocher, Prairie du Pont, Cahokea, Peoria

and Chicago, under the leadership of LaSalle, Iberville, and the priests, Alvarez, Gravier,

Piriet, Marest, and others. These settlements were made, says Mr. Ford, more than one

hundred and fifty years before the admission of Illinois as a State.

Large companies were formed in France for the purpose of working the supposed
pearl fisheries, gold and silver mines, and collecting the wool of the wild cattle. A
monopoly of these resources was first granted by the King to Crozat, in 1712, and upon
his resignation, in 1717, to the great " Company of the West," of which another com-
pany, known as the " Company of St. Phillips," was a branch, with one Renault as agent
and business manager.

Renault sailed from France in 1719, with a view to carrying out the objects of the

company and possessing and controlling the resources already mentioned. He left France
with some two hundred mechanics, miners and laborers ; and touching at San Domingo,
he purchased five hundred slaves, and from thence sailed to the country of Illinois, and
founded the village of St. Phillips, in the southeast corner of the present county of Mon-
roe. From there he sent out prospecting parties to different sections of Illinois and
Missouri, to search for mines, etc. To Renault, then, the agent and business manager
for the " Company of St. Phillips," belongs the odium of planting negro slavery on the
soil of Illinois.

In 1744, Renault returned to France. Before his departure, in closing up the busi-

ness of the company, he sold his slaves to the French colonists at Kaskaskia and other
settlements ; and they became the progenitors of the French slaves in Illinois, and a

source of strife and agitation for many years after Americans came to inhabit the country.
We quote from Stuve's Illinois

:

" The question of slavery entered largely into the gubernatorial campaign of 1822.
There were four candidates in the field— Joseph Phillips, the Chief Justice ; Thomas C.
Brown, one of the Supreme Court Judges ; Major-General James B. Moore, and Edward
Coles. Mr. Coles was a Virginian by birth, born December 15, 1786. His father was a

\
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planter and owner of a large number of slaves. During the college life of Edward Coles,
the question of property in man presented itself to his mind, and he graduated and re-
turned home with well-settled convictions of its moral wickedness and political impolicy,
and with the resolution that when he should become the owner of his share of his father's
slaves, he would set them free. "Apprehending," says Mr. Stuve, "that these sentiments
would meet with no countenance at home, he kept them sacred to himself. At the death
of his father, in 1808, he became entitled to twenty-five slaves and one thousand acres of
land. In 1816 he was sent in the sloop of war, ' Prometheus,' on a special mission to

Russia, as the bearer of important dispatches to the American Ambassador at St. Peters-
burg. Before his return home he made a tour of Europe, and soon after his arrival de-
termined to come West, and spent the Summer of 1818 in Illinois, and witnessed the
labors of the convention at Kaskaskia to frame the first constitution. In the following
Spring he removed with his slaves to Illinois. On the trip hither, made mostly on flat

boats down the Ohio, the negroes, being ignorant of their destination, were, on one clear

moonlight evening in the month of June, called together, and by their master addressed
in a plain, short speech, in which he pronounced them all free. Their gratitude was so
profound that they tendered him one year's service at their new home. But, while
touched at this manifestation of their attachment, he refused their offer. He gave, be-
sides, to each head of a family one hundred and sixty acres of land in Illinois, in the
neighborhood of Edwardsville, aided them with money, and for many years exercised a
paternal care over them."*

General Moore was also opposed to slavery, his sentiments on that subject being
well known and understood. The other two candidates, Joseph Phillips and Thomes C.
Brown, were pro-slavery in sentiment. The result of the election was as follows

:

Coles, free State 2,8io
Moore, " " __ 522

3,332
Phillips, pro-slavery 2,760
Brown, " " ..2,543

5.303

Total vote 8,635
Majority in favor of slavery i,97l

Mr. Coles having received a greater number of votes than either of the other candi-

dates, was entitled to the gubernatorial seat, and was duly inaugurated. In his first

message to the General Assembly, December 5, 1822, he called especial attention to the
subject of kidnapping, which had become quite frequent. He argued " that the peculiar

situation of the State, bordering on three rivers communicating with a country where
there was always a demand for slaves, afforded a great temptation and facility to the

lawless and inhuman to engage in this crime, and that more efficient measures were
required to prevent the kidnapping of free blacks." This recommendation, coupled with
his suggestions in regard to the emancipation of the French slaves and for a revision of

*The law of 1819 respecting free negroes required the emancipator to give bond that they should not become a

county charge. Having provided his emancipated slaves with one hundred and sixty acres of land to each head of a

family, Coles neglected to give bond, and thereby became liable to a fine of $200 for each negro. During the heat of

the convention struggle the Commissioners of Madison county were instigated to bring suit against him for this

amount, and a verdict of $2,000 for setting his negroes at liberty without giving bond as required by law was entered
against him. Pending a motion for a new trial, in January, 1825, the legislature released all penalties incurred under
the act, including those of Coles. At the next term of court he plead this release in bar of judgment against him,
but Judge McRoberts decided that the legislature had no power to take from a municipal corporation its vested right

in a fine, any more than from an individual, and rendered judgment on the verdict. The decision was believed to

have been influenced by the feelings growing out of the slavery contest the year before, and caused no little popular
excitement. The case was finally taken to the Supreme Court and reversed, the power of the legislature being held
to be ample in the premises. The opinion of the Court, Chief Justice Wilson, says :

" It is said the King can not
remit an informer's interest in a popular action after suit is brought ; this is no doubt true, but it is equally true that

the Parliament can. It is not pretended that the executive could remit the penalty in this case, but the legislature

may."
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the black laws iii accordance with the dictates of humanity, was enough to fan the

smouldering embers of the slavery question into fiercest flames.

It is very clear that, but for the restraining ordinance of 1787, or the enabling act

to form a State convention, the convention would have reported a constitution recogniz-

ing and establishing slavery ; and if that constitution had been submitted to the people
for approval or rejection, there can be no doubt but it would have been adopted by the

people by a large majority.

The slavery party were only beaten in their choice for governor by a division in their

own ranks. They succeeded in electing a majority of the legislature, and when Governor
Coles recommended the emancipation of the French slaves, this majority and their party

constituents, determined upon a vigorous fight to maintain their supremacy and carry their

purpose of perpetuating slavery at all hazards.

Slavery could not be introduced, " nor was it believed," says Mr. Ford, " that the

French slaves could be emancipated, without an amendment to the constitution ; the con-

stitution could not be amended without a new convention, to obtain which, two-thirds of

each branch of the legislature must concur in recommending it to the people ; and the

voters at the next election had to sanction it by a majority of all the votes given for

members of the legislature. When the legislature assembled, it was found that the Sen-
ate contained the requisite two-thirds majority ; but in the House of Representatives, by
deciding a contested election case in favor of one of the candidates, the slave party would
have one more than two-thirds ; while by deciding in favor of the^other, they would lack

one vote of having that majority. These two candidates were John Shaw and Nicholas

Hanson, who claimed to represent the county of Pike, then including all the mili-

tary tract and all the country north of the Illinois river to the northern limits of the

State.
" The leaders of the slavery party were anxious to re-elect Jesse B. Thomas to the

United States Senate. Hanson would vote for him, but Shaw would not ; Shaw would
vote for the convention, but Hanson would not. The party had iise for them both, and
determined to use them both, one after the other. For this purpose they first decided
in favor of Hanson, admitted him to a seat, and, with his vote, elected their United States

Senator, and then, towards the close of the session, with mere brute force, and in the

most bare-faced manner, they reconsidered their former vote, turned Hanson out of his

seat, and decided in favor of Shaw, and with his vote carried the resolution for a con-

vention.
" The night after this resolution passed, the convention party assembled in triumph

in a great carousal. They formed themselves in a noisy, disorderly and tumultuous pro-

cession, headed by Judges Phillips, Smith, Thomas Reynolds (afterward governor of

Missouri), and Lieutenant-Governor Kinney, and followed by the majority of the legisla-

ture, the hangers-on and rabble, marched, with the blowing of tin horns, beating of drums
and tin pans, to the residence of Governor Coles, and the boarding-houses of their prin-

cipal opponents, towards whom they manifested their contempt and displeasure by a con-
fused medley of groans, wailings and lamentations." The object of this ku-klux proces-
cession was to intimidate all opposition at once.

The object failed, however, and served, on the other hand, to infuse the anti-conven-
tion party with new life and more determined resolution. They rallied to a man.
Newspapers were established to oppose the convention. One of these State papers was
started at Shawneetown, with Henry Eddy as editor ; one at Edwardsville, with Hooper
Warren as editor ; and one at Vandalia, edited by David Blackwell ; and Governor Coles,
Thomas Lippencott, George Churchill and Judge Lockwood as special and principal
contributors.

The pro-slavery party established a newspaper at Kaskaskia, under the direction of
Mr. Kane and Chief Justice Reynolds, with Judge Smith as editor. Both parties ap-



GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS. 149

pealed to the interests, passions and intelligence of the people. Under such circumstan-
ces the contest was attended with a great deal of personal abuse, and a regular torrent
of detraction and vituperation was poured out by each party against the leaders of the
opposite party. It is impossible, as well as foreign to a volume of this character, to fol-

low in detail all the maneuvers incident to that campaign. It was a long and bitter one,
lasting from the Spring of 1823 until the election of 1824. Almost every stump in the

settled portions of the country had its howling, bellowing orator on one side or the
other. For the space of eighteen months the whole people did scarcely any thing else

but read newspapers, handbills and pamphlets, attend public meetings, argue, quarrel

and wrangle with each other whenever and wherever they met.

The leaders of the convention party were Judges Brown, Phillips and John Reynolds
;

Jesse B. Thomas and ex-Governor Edwards, U. S. Senators ; Lieutenant Governor
Kinney, Judge Smith, Chief Justice Thomas Reynolds, John McLean, Elias K. Kane,
Judge McRoberts and Governor Bond. The principal men and leaders of the anti-con-

vention or free State party, were Morris Birbeck, Governor Coles, Daniel P. Cook, then
member of Congress, David Blackwell, George Churchill, Samuel D. Lockwood, Thomas
Lippincott, Hooper Warren, George Forquer, Thomas Mather and Henry Eddy. The
question of slavery was thoroughly discussed. The people took an undivided and ab-

sorbing interest in it. They Were made to understand it completely ; and as this was
long before the abolition excitement of more modern times, Illinois may justly be claimed
as the original battle-ground between freedom and slavery. The introduction of slavery

was resisted, not so much on the ground of principle as from policy and expediency.

The free State party triumphed, as the people decided by a majority of 1,668 votes in

favor of a free State. The vote was as follows :

Against the convention and in favor of a free State - 6,640
For the convention and slavery 4>972
Total vote cast .. 11,612

Majority against the convention and slavery. ^ 1,668

BLACK LAWS.

Pending the six years agitation of this vexed question under State jurisdiction

from 1818 to 1824, some very stringent and inhuman laws were passed regarding the

black people. The first laws under State organization were enacted in 1819. Under
them no negro or mulatto, with or without a family, was permitted to settle in the State

until he produced a certificate of freedom properly attested before some court, with a

description of the person producing it, and of his family, if any, which was required

to be entered on record in the county where he settled. Even under this protection,

the overseers of the poor were authorized to expel such persons at their discretion. Any
one coming into the State to emancipate his slaves, was required to give bond in the

sum of one thousand dollars as a guarantee that they should not become a public charge

;

for neglecting or refusing to make such bond, a penalty of two hundred dollars was at-

tached. All resident negroes or mulattoes, except slaves, were required to enter their

names and the names of every member of their family with the circuit clerk, before

the first of June ensuing (1819), together with their evidence of freedom. No person

was allowed to employ any negro or mulatto without such certificate, under a penalty

of one dollar and fifty cents for each day employed, to be recovered before a justice of

the peace, one-third of the amount to go to the informant and the rest to the owner
or to the county. Harboring any slave or servant, or hindering an owner from re-

taking a slave, was declared to be a felony, punishable by restitution or a fine of two-

fold value, and whipping not to exceed thirty stripes. Black and mulatto persons not

having a proper certificate, were held to be runaway slaves, subject to arrest and com-
mitment by a justice, then to be described and advertised for six weeks by the sheriff,
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when, if not reclaimed, or their freedom established, they were to be sold for one year,

at the end of which time, they were entitled to a certificate except as against their

owner. No one was permitted to buy or sell to, or trade with any servant or slave,

without the consent of his master, under penalty of forfeiting to the master four times

the value of such transaction. A slave or servant found ten miles from home without
a permit was subject to arrest and thirty-five stripes, on the order of a justice of the

peace ; or, if he appeared at any dwelling or plantation without leave of his master,

the owner of the place was entitled to administer, or cause to be administered, ten lashes

on the bare back. For being lazy, disorderly or misbehaving to his master or his family,

on the order of a justice, he was to be corrected with stripes, and for every day he
refused to work, he was to serve two. Riots, routs, unlawful assemblies, trespass,

seditious speeches by slaves or servants, were punishable with stripes not exceed thirty-

nine. Any one suffering three or more slaves or servants to assemble on their premises

for dancing, reveling, etc., were liable to a fine of twenty dollars. It was made the

duty of coroners, sheriffs, judges and justices of the peace, having knowledge of such
assemblages, to have the offenders committed to jail, and after judgment to order thirty-

nine stripes." In cases where free persons were punishable by fine, slaves or servants

were chastised by whipping at the rate of twenty lashes for every eight dollars of the

fine, not to exceed forty stripes at any one time.

As late as 1847 the convention which revised the constitution, in Article XIV., re-

quired the General Assembly at its first session under the amended constitution, to enact

such laws as would effectually prohibit free persons of color from coming and settling in

the State, and to prevent the owners of slaves from bringing them into the State for the

purpose of setting them free. In obedienbe to this requirement of the constitution, the

Legislature passed the act of February 12, 1853, which was nearly as infamous as any of

the acts already quoted. It provided that, if any negro or mulatto, bond or free, canjie

into the State and remained ten days, with the evident intention of residing therein, he
should be deemed guilty of a high misdemeanor, and for the first offense should be fined

fifty dollars, and if the fine was not forthwith paid, he was to be committed to the custody
of the sheriff, to be advertised ten days and then sold to any person who would pay the

fine and costs for the shortest period, the purchaser being empowered to hold and work
the culprit during the time. One case under this act was taken up to the Supreme Court
from Hancock county, and decided in 1864. The court held the law to be valid : " That
the punishment was not slavery, because the person was only sold for a limited period

;

that it was only a species of apprenticeship, and that the State might define offenses and
prescribe the punishment and the exercise of such powers could not be inquired into by
the court."

The laws herein quoted were known as the "Black Laws," and were continued in

all the revisions of the laws from 1819 down to 1865, when, by act of February 7th, they
were repealed. For many years previously, however, they had ceased to be enforced and
were regarded as a dead letter. The excuse for retaining them so long was found in the
abolition excitement of modern times, which, in a manner, constituted them tests of party

fealty.

INDBNTUHED AND EBGISTERBD SERVANTS.

The sixth article of the ordinance for the government of the Northwestern Territory,

adopted July 13, 1787, consecrated the territory to freedom in these words : " There shall

be neither slavery nor involuntary servitude in the said territory, otherwise than in the
punishment of crimes whereof the party shall have been duly convicted." The pro-
slavery element in the territory sought by every possible means to induce Congress to

modify this restriction, but without effect. Failing in this, the friends of slavery next
sought to accomplish their purpose through the law-making powers of the Territory, both
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of the first and second grades ; and in defiance of the prohibitionary clause in the ordi-

nance, a law was adopted entitled "An act concerning the introduction of negroes and
mulattoes into this Territory." The act bears date September 17, 1807, and was passed
two years before Illinois was set off as an independent territory. We quote

:

Section i. It shall and may be lawful for any person, being the owner of any negroes or mulattoes above the

age of fifteen years, and owing service and labor as slaves in any of the States or Territories of the United States,

or for any citizen of the United States or Territories, purchasing the same, to bring the said negroes or mulattoes
into this Territory.

Section two provided that within thirty days after bringing the slaves into the Terri-

tory, the owner or master should take them before the clerk of the court and have an in-

ienture between the slave and his owner entered on record, specifying the time which the

slave was compelled to serve his master, the terra generally fixed being ninety-nine years.

Section three guarded the property of the master against loss by allowing him, in event
of the slave refusing to enter into such agreement or indenture, to have the lawful right,

within sixty days, to remove such slave to any State or Territory, where such property

could be legally held.

Section 5. Any person removing into this Territory, and being the owner of any negro or mulatto under the

age of fifteen years, it shall and may be lawful for such person, owner, or possessor, to hold the said negro or mulatto
to service or labor, the males until they arrive at the age of thirty-five, and the females until they arrive at the age
of thirty-two years.

Sec. 13. The children born in this Territory of a parent of color owing service or labor by indenture, according

to the law, shall serve the master or mistress, the males until the age of thirty, and females until the age of twenty-
eight years.

Other laws were enacted by which the owner or master might sell his servants ! by
an assignment of the indenture, thus tolerating and recognizing the traffic in slaves as

well as the institution of slavery.

When Illinois Territory was organized in 1809, the governor and judges, who were
the law-making power, adopted the law quoted, and they were re-adopted by the first

Territorial Legislature at Kaskaskia, December 13, 1812. This law was clearly at fault

with that section of the ordinance already quoted, and was so decided in the case of

Phceba vs. Jarret,* in the Supreme Court, in which it was decided that the act of

September 17, 1807, regarding the bringing of negroes and mulattoes into the territory,

was void as being repugnant to the sixth article of the ordinance of 1787. It was further

held, however, that the contracts of indenture under that law were rendered void by the

third section of the sixth article of the State Constitution.

" Each and every person who has been bound to service by contract or indenture in virtue of the laws of Illinois

Territory heretofore existing, and, in conformity to the provisions of the same, without fraud or collusion, shall be

held to a specific performance of their contracts or indentures ; and such negroes and mulattoes as have registered in

conformity with the aforesaid laws, shall serve out the time appointed by said laws
;
provided, however, that the

children hereafter born of such persons, negroes or mulattoes, shall become free, the males at the age of twenty-one

years, and the females at the age of eighteen years.

The validity of the indenture and registration act was never raised and tried before

the territorial courts, nor until some years after the Territory had been admitted as a

State. " The. convention, therefore," adds Mr. Stuve, "which enacted the constitution,

gave that law the only legal vitality it ever had, but it is presumable they were under the

. impression that it was valid and had been all the time ; and it was only in requirement

of the enabling act of Congress that they enacted article VI, section I :
' Neither slavery

nor involuntary servitude shall hereafter be introduced in this State.'
"

There are, or were, in March, 1878, at least two surviving representatives of the in-

dentured and registered servant class still living at Galena— Swanzy Adams and his wife.

Adams was taken there by the Johnsons, of Kentucky, about 1825-6, and although sold,

*Breese, Ills. R. 268.
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traded, kidnapped, imprisoned, etc., time and again, has managed to maintain a home at

Galena, where he has accumulated a handsome little property. He was nearly ninety

years of age when he was first visited by the writer in February, 1878, and for over half

a century had made a business of hauling water to citizens who were deprived of other

means of a water supply. The woman, now his wife, was taken there a slave girl some
years later by other parties. There were others besides these, and some of their de-

scendants still live there. But Swanzy Adams and his wife are the last survivors of

their class in northern Illinois, and in all probability, the last in the State.

CHAPTER XI.

AMERICAN IMMIGRATION.

A Disease-Stricken Colony— Want of Mills— Increase of Population— Extent of Settlements— Pioneer Women— From New York to Kishwaukee— Clothing From Nettles— Michigan Seas— New Counties— From
"Egypt " to Canada.

As already stated, two American settlements were commenced in Illinois in 1780,

one near Bellefontaine, in Monroe county, and the other in the American Bottom. An-
other American settlement called New Design was commenced in 1782. American settle-

ments, however, were slow, as will be shown by the following extracts from Reynolds'

Pioneer History and The Western Annals. Reynolds says

:

• " By an act of Congress, 1791, four hundred acres of land were granted to all heads

of families who made improvements in Illinois prior to 1788, except village improvements.
These rights were commonly designated as ' head rights.' A list of names of heads of

families who settled in Illinois previous to the year 1788, entitling them to these dona-

tions, which included, also, non-residents who should return in five years' time to oc-

cupy their claims, shows a total number of 244 claimants, 80 of whom were Americans.
By allowing the usual number of five souls to the family, we have a population in that

year of 1,220. This excluded negroes. Before 1791, under the militia law of the gover-

nor and judges, the muster roll gives about 300 men capable of bearing arms, of which
number 65 only were Americans."

A DISBASB-STBICKEN COLONY.

^ The Annals says :
" In 1797 a colony of one hundred and twenty-six persons, the

largest which had yet arrived, were most fatally stricken with disease. They were from
Virginia, had descended the Ohio in the Spring, and landed at Fort Massac, from which
they had made their way across by land to the New Design. This place was in the pres-

ent county of Monroe, and was established in 1782. It was located on an elevated and
beautiful plateau of ground, barren of timber, which commanded a view of both the

Kaskaskia and Mississippi rivers. The season was exceedingly wet, the weather ex-

tremely warm, and the roads heavy and muddy. The colonists toiled through the woods
and swamps of southern Illinois for twenty-six days to travel a distance of one hundred
and thirty-five miles. They were worn down, sick, and almost famished. When they
arrived at their destination, they found among the old settlers, long harassed by Indian
warfare, but poor accommodations. There was no lack of hospitality in feeling, but that

did not enlarge the cabins, which usually contained but one room, into many of which
three or four families were now crowded with their sick and weU. Food was insufficient,

salt was very scarce, and medical aid was almost out of the question. A putrid and
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malignant fever broke out among the new comers, attended by such fatality as to sweep
half of them into the grave by the approach of Winter. No such fatal disease was ever
before or since known in the country." " The old inhabitants," says another authority,
" were not affected. The intelligence of this unwonted mortality produced abroad the

wrongful impression that Illinois was a sickly country, which tended no little to retard

immigration." It is now a well established fact that Illinois is among the healthiest

States in the Union.
The Americans who settled at remote distances from the French settlements suf-

fered great inconvenience and hardships for the want of mills. The French had their

wind mills from an early period, but when they began to dwindle away, the mills went
into decay, and for what few other mills there were, the water failed, and the Americans
were compelled to have recourse to other means. Tin graters and hominy blocks, the

last of which will be fully described hereafter, were made to supply, as far as possible,

the absence of mills. These, in turn, were succeeded by hand mills, horse mills and
water mills. The last named finally gave way to steam mills, until comparatively but
few water mills now remain in use.

INCREASE OP POPULATION.

When Illinois was established as a separate dependency, the population was esti-

mated at 9,000. The census of 1810 showed a population of 12,282. When the Territory

was admitted as a State, under act of Congress, approved December 3, 1818, the popula-

tion had increased to 40,000. The census of 1820 showed an increase of 15,211 in a

little more than one year, or a total population of 55,211. The larger part of this popu-

lation had come in after the close of the war of 1812, when it was supposed the country

was freed from Indian molestation. Between two and three thousand of this population

was made up of the descendants of the old French settlers at Prairie du Rocher, Prairie

du Pont, Cahokia, Peoria, and Chicago ; a great many of them being half and quarter

breeds, their paternal ancestors having intermingled and intermarried with the Indian

tribes native to the country. The remainder of the population were Americans, and with

the exception of a small per centage of Pennsylvanians, nearly the whole of them ^rt^ere

from the Southern States — Virginia, Kentucky, Tennessee, North Carolina, Maryland,

etc., and the habits, customs, manners, and hospitality peculiar to that people were so

indelibly fixed upon the country, that they are retained to this day. Some of these pio-

neer people, says Mr. Ford, had been officers and soldiers under General Rogers Clark,

who conquered the country from the British in 1778, and they, with others, who followed

them, maintained their position in the country during the Indian wars in Ohio and Indi-

ana, in the times of Harmar, St. Clair, and Wayne. This whole people did not number
more than 12,000 in 1812, but with the aid of one company of regular soldiers defended

themselves and their settlements during the war of 1812, against the then numerous and

powerful nations of Kickapoos, Sacs, Foxes, Pottawatomies, and Shawnees, and even

made hostile expeditions into the heart of their territories, burning their villages and de-

feating and driving them from the country.

When the State was admitted there were fifteen organized counties, of which Bond
was the most northern. The settled portions of the country included in these fifteen

counties extended a little north of Edwardsville and Alton, south along the Mississippi

to the mouth of the Ohio, east in the direction of Carlyle, in Clinton county, to the

Wabash, and down the Wabash and the Ohio to the mouth of the last named river. But

within these boundaries there was a very large and unsettled wilderness tract of country

between the Kaskaskia river and the Wabash, and between the Kaskaskia and the Ohio

the distance across it being equal to a three days' journey. All the country north of

the district covered by these fifteen counties to the British possessions was an almost

trackless wilderness whose primitive fastnesses had never been disturbed by the feet or
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voices of white men. But a country so rich in soil and climate, already cleared and
waiting to be stirred with the plow and tickled with the hoe, to be made to yield

rich returns to industrious tillers, could not long remain in the idle possession of the

Indian occupants. The fame of the Illinois prairies spread abroad and people soon

began to flock here from almost every State of the Union. The immigration and settle-

ment of these rich prairies and fertile river valleys was not so rapid as has been the

settlement of Iowa, Nebraska and Kansas, because the means of travel were neither so

comfortable or rapid. In those days there were no railroads or fast steamboats, and
immigrants depended on ox or horse wagons, with their schooner-like boxes, that would
carry about as much as an ordinary canal boat, to convey their families and effects from
the old States to the new El Dorado. Many of the first settlers of Illinois came the

entire distance from New York, Vermont, Pennsylvania, Maryland, or other distant

States, by this means of conveyance, never sleeping under roof from the time they left

the old homes until they reached Illinois, selected their claims and built their cabins.

Hundreds of them had no definite point of destination in view when they turned their

backs upon their old homes, but with brave hearts and iron wills they traveled on and
on, part of the time with no guide but the pocket compass or the north star, until they

found a.location that suited them. Then living in brush tents or wagons and cooking

by camp fires until rude cabins were built, they commenced the foundations of that

prosperity which secured for the country of their choice a crowning place in the union of

States. Others of the early first settlers, and notably those of the extreme southern

part of the Territory, came by keelboats or flatboats till they reached the mouths of the

Illinois water courses that empty into the great rivers— the Ohio and the Mississippi—
and then ascended inland until places for homes were found. While it is almost certain

a majority of the pioneers to the southern part of the State came by that means of con-

veyance, it is a well established fact that the bulk of the first settlers in the central and
northern part of the State came by wagon.

PIONEER WOMEN.

As much credit as may be awarded to the pioneer fathers and husbands for their

bravery and courage in looking fate square in the face when they set out from their early

homes to find and found new homes and fortunes in the country of the Illinois, there is

an equal share of honor due to the pioneer mothers and wives. It is but the truth to

write that, had the settlement and development of the Western States depended upon
men alone, the progress of improvement and spread of civilization would have been
much slower. Taking a last look at the surroundings of their girlhoods' homes, and bid-

ding friends farewell, many of them forever, they climbed into wagons already loaded,

and stowing away their little ones as comfortably as circumstances would permit, they
turned their backs upon all that was dear to their early youth, and with their faces to the

west, made journeys of thousands of miles. Many of them in addition to caring for

children and preparing meals by camp fires on the way side, drove a team the entire

distance. Few men would have undertaken so arduous a task. Mrs. Towner, one of

the pioneer mothers of Boone county, and the first white woman to prepare a meal in

that county, came there a weak, frail wife and mother of several small children. They
made the entire trip from New York around through Canada, down through Michigan to

Chicago, in a wagon fitted for the trip. From Chicago to the present site of Belvidere,
Mrs. Towner took charge of their two-horse-wagon and children, and left her husband to

the care of an ox team and supplies they purchased there. The last day of the journey,
the 31st day of July, 1835, she took the course for the site of the new home her hus-
band had previously selected, and boldly struck out for the country of the Kishwaukee. ,

Part of the time she followed the trail made by General Scott's armv from Chicago to

join the campaign against the Black Hawk Indians in 1882, and part of the time she
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drove where no team had ever been driven before, About midnight of the last day of

July she reached the bank of the Kishwaukee, where she stopped, unhitched, unharnessed
and turned the -horses out to graze, built a camp fire and prepared the evening repast, by
which time her husband came up. The next morning, when Aurora unbarred the gates

of light and kissed the cheek of day, her eyes beheld what the eyes of no white woman
had ever beheld before—the transparent, softly murmuring water of the gently flowing

Kishwaukee river, the Illinois tributary of the beautiful Rock river, the pride of two
States.

Coming down through Michigan and along the lake shore, Mrs. Towner gathered

several wooden pails full of what she called sandberries (whortleberries), and when they
reached Chicago she bought some earthern jars, washed the berries and turned them into

the jars, covered them with molasses, and sealed them up. From that time to Septem-
ber, 1877, when she was visited by the writer, her larder had never been without pre-

served fruits, either wild or domestic.

Another instance of the enterprise and determination of the pioneer mothers of Illinois

was related at a gathering of the Old Folks at Belvidere in September, 1877. An Indiana

family named Payne settled on the Fox and Du Page rivers in 1833. They had several chil-

dren of school age in 1835, when the first school in the neighborhood was to commence, but
like Flora McFlimsey, the children had nothing to wear, and the parents had nothing
wherewith to buy them suitable raiment to attend school. The husband racked his brain

for ways and means to no purpose, and gave up in despair. But the wife and mother was
equal to the emergency. She had set her heart on sending her children to school, and to

school they must go ;' for
" When a woman says she will, she will, you may depend on't

;

And when she says she won't, she won't, and that's the end on't." i

So Mrs. Payne set to work to accomplish her object, and clothe ber children for school.

The bottom land along the Fox and Du Page rivers furnished the raw material, and her

industry and skill the means to utilize it. She went to the river bottom, and with her

own hands mowed down a sufficient supply of nettles to supply her purpose. These she

spread out and rotted in the same manner that flax is rotted. Then with her own hands
she broke them, scutched them, hackeled them, spun the fibrous part into thread on an
old-fashioned spinning-wheel, wove the thread into cloth, and cut and made the cloth

into clothes for the little ones, and had them ready for school on the opening day. What
husband and father would have done as much ?

Not, forsooth, for want of will,

But for lack of " pluck " and skill."

The first /ree school in Illinois was taught by one of these pioneer women— Lydia

Lawrence, the mother of L. M. Lawrence, the present Probate Judge of Boone county.

In 1838 there were a number of children in the Lawrence neighborhood, in what is now
Bonus township, in that county, that Mrs. Lawrence thought ought to be learning some-

thing instead of spending all the day idle. So she announced that if their parents would

send them to her place she would spend a certain number of hours each day in teaching

their young ideas how to shoot. The shade of a wide-spreading tree that stood in the

door-yard of the Lawrence cabin was improvised as a school-house. The children came

on the appointed day and school commenced. Blocks or pieces of wood were used as

seats by the children, while the teacher, knitting in hand, occupied an old splint-bottom

rocking-chair. As the shade of the tree moved with the sun, the school-house moved.

Thus ran the first free school ever taught in Illinois, or at least in that part of the State.

A good many of the first young men and young women of that township, in Boone county,

learned their a-b-c's and a-b abs fjom good old mother Lawrence beneath the shade of

that old tree. Both the teacher and the tree were cut down long since —the one by the

scythe of the great reaper, and the other by the woodman's ax.
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The Markers came to Peoria county in 1829. They left the old home in the town
of Sterling, Cayuga county, New York, on the 19th day of September of that year, when
Seba H. Harker, now of the city of Peoria, was just two weeks old, andwho was car-

ried the entire distance on a pillow. From Buffalo to Cleveland, Mrs. Harker and the

younger members of the family came by lake vessel. From Cleveland the entire family

came by wagon. When coming down through Michigan they encountered heavy rains

and swollen streams. At one place they had to unload their goods and pack them across

a stream that was spread to the width of a small sea. Trees had been felled across the

main channel for a footway, but to reach them they were forced to wade through sixty

rods of water that, most of the distance, came above their knees. Nothing daunted by

the wide expanse of water, Mrs. Harker plunged in, baby Seba, pillow and all, and waded
through, accomplishing what few strong, muscular men, with a baby in their arms, would

have attempted. Most men would have shrunk from the undertaking, and waited for the

flood to subside ; but not so with Mrs. Harker. She braved the flood and risked the life

of herself and youngest born to reach and help establish a home in Illinois. Of such

stuff were the pioneer wives and mothers to the " Prairie State." Elaborately carved and

costly shafts of granite and marble may be designed to perpetuate the memory of fallen

warrior chieftains, wise statesmen and publicists, but none of them deserve richer honors

than the brave women who came to endure the dangers and hardships of pioneer life and
uphold the standard of civilization in the wilds of Illinois.

NEW COUNTIES.

Of the fifteen counties when Illinois was admitted as a State, the last three in the

order of organization were Union, Washington and Franklin. They were organized in

1818. Immigration increased and settlements extended, as already shown, gradually

from the sputh northward. The American immigrants, true to the restless nature and ad-

venturous spirit of their race, kept pushing on and on until they had passed the lines of set-

tlements heretofore described, and were scattered here and there all through the southern

half of the Territory. These settlements were often at remote distances from each other

and were generally confined to the timber along the water courses ; for, as strange as it

may seem to many people of the present, it is nevertheless a fact, that "the first farms

were made in the timber. It was believed by many of the pioneer settlers that the

prairies were useless except for pasture, and that it would be impossible to live on them,

that the soil in the timber was stronger, more productive, and that it would last longer

than the soil of the prairies, even if they were susceptible of cultivation. As late as

1830 to '38 the timber districts were preferred, and the men who began to make farms on
the prairie land were considered wild and visionary. But it was not long until opinions

changed. While the settlers among the timber were toiling and delving, wasting their

strength and vigor to subdue the forest around their cabins, the prairie farmers were rais-

ing good crops and building better houses. In some instances men came to Illinois and
paid twelve dollars an acre for farms that had been commenced in the timber, when farms

that nature made on the prairies near by were lying vacant and could be purchased from
the government at one dollar and twenty -five cents an acre. But the minds of men have
undergone a complete change in this regard and the prairies of the Western States are now
the chosen sites for homes and farms. It has been demonstrated that it is cheaper to raise

timber for domestic purposes than it is to clear it away, and that prairie farms are more
productive and the soil much more lasting than timbered ones.

In 1821 the State le^slature organized seven new counties— Greene, Fayette,

Montgomery, Lawrence, Hamilton, Sangamon and Pike. Applications for authority to

organize new counties were so numerous that the legislature provided for twelve weeks,
publication of their intentions before petitions would be received and entertained in the

future.
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Pike county, organized under an act approved January 31 (1831), embraced all the
territory north of the Illinois river and its south fork, now Kankakee river. A Gazet-
teer of Illinois and Wisconsin, !published about 1822, says that the county " included a
part of the lands appropriated by Congress for the payment of military bounties. The
lands constituting that tract, are included within the peninsula of the Illinois and Mis-
sissippi, and extend on the meridian line passing through the mouth of the Illinois, one
hundred and sixty-two miles north. Pike county will no doubt be divided into several

counties, some of which will become very wealthy and important. It is probable that

the section about Fort Clark will be the most thickly settled. On the Mississippi river,

above Rock river, lead ore is found in abundance. Pike county contains between 700
and 800 inhabitants. It is attached to the first judicial circuit, sends one member to the
House of Representatives and, with Greene, one to the Senate. The county seat is

Colesgrove, a post town. It was laid out in 1821, and is situated in township eleven
south, in range two west of the fourth principal meridian. Very little improvement has

yet been made in this place or the vicinity. The situation is high and healthy, and it

bids fair to become a place of some importance." This is all that is known of the Town
of Colesgrove, the county seat of all this region in 1821.

Pulton county was formed from Pike, January 28, 1823, and included all the terri-

tory north of the base line, and west of the fourth principal meridian, which had been
in Pike. Peoria county was created from Fulton, January 13, 1825.

CHAPTER XII.

NORTHERN ILLINOIS INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS.

1832-1842— Governor Duncan — Internal Improvements— Inflation— Fever of Speculation— Paper Towns—
Illinois and Michigan Canal— Panic— Repudiation— Lovejoyand Freedom— Slavery and Murder— Governor
Carlin— Prairie Pirates— Reign of Terror— Desperate Resolves and Desperate Deeds^- Mormons and
Mormon War, etc.

After the close of the Black Hawk war in 1832, the attention of immigrants began
to be directed to the northern part of the State. Previous to the close of that crusade

nearly the whole of the country north of Peoria, with the exception of the FeVer river

country around Galena, was an undisturbed wilderness waste, of which but little was
known by white men. The result of that war removed all apprehensions of danger from

Indians and opened the country to the peaceable possession of tillers of the soil and
founders of towns and cities.

In 1833 settlers began to come in and make claims and improvements, and it was
not long until signs of American civilization were to be Seen all over the country.

Chicago, until then scarcely more than a trading post, took on new life and rapidly grew
into prominence as a commercial center. These settlers were nearly all from the Eastern

States, and were widely different in their habits and customs from the people who settled

the southern part of the State. As the latter established southern habits and customs

in that section of the commonwealth, so did the New Englanders fix their habits and

customs in the northern part of the State. These differences are as plainly visible in the

character of houses and farm buildings and in the management of farms, as in the social

customs and habits of life. In short, there is about the same relative difference between

the people of these two sections of the State, as there is between the people of South

Carolina and Massachusetts. But all have proved themselves good citizens in every
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sense, and these differences have no doubt benefited each other, as well as the State in

which they live.

INTERNAL IMPKOVEMENTS.

At the general election in 1834 Joseph Duncan was chosen Governor. His prin-

cipal opponent was Ex-Lieutenant Governor Kinney. A reckless desire for internal

public improvements had seized the minds of the people, and in his message to the

Legislature in 1835, Governor Duncan said : " When we look abroad and see the exten-

sive lines of inter-communication penetrating almost every section of our sister States

;

when we see the canal boat and the locomotive bearing with seeming triumph the rich

productions of the interior to the rivers, lakes and ocean, almost annihilating time,

burthen and space, what patriot bosom does not beat high with a laudable ambition to

give Illinois her full share of these advantages which are adorning her sister States, and
which a munificent Providence seems to invite by a wonderful adaptation of our whole
country to such improvements ?

"

The Legislature responded to the ardent words of the Governor, and enacted a sys-

tem of internal improvements without a parallel in the grandeur of its conception. They
ordered the construction of 1,800 miles of railroad, crossing the State in all directions.

This was surpassed by the river and canal improvements. There were a few counties

not touched by railroad, or river or canal, and they were to be comforted and compen-
sated by the free distribution of $200,000 among them. To inflate this balloon beyond
credence, it was ordered that work should commence on both ends of each of these rail-

roads and rivers, and at each river-crossing, all at the same time. This provision, which
has been called the crowning folly of the entire system, was the result of those jealous

combinations emanating from the fear that advantages might accrue to one section over

another in the commencement and completion of the works. One can appreciate better,

perhaps, the magnitude of this grand system by reviewing a few figures. The debt au-

thorized for these improvements in the first instance was 110,280,0.00. But this, as it

was soon found, was based upon estimates at least too low by half. This, as we readily

see, committed the State to a liability of over $20,000,000, equivalent to $200,000,000,
at the present time, with over ten times the population and more than ten times the

wealth.

.

Such stupendous undertakings by the State naturally engendered the fever of spec-

ulation among individuals. That particular form known as the town-lot fever assumed
the malignant type at first in Chicago, from whence it spread over the entire State and
adjoining States. It was an epidemic. It cut up men's farms without regard to locality,

and cut up the purses of the purchasers without regard to consequences. It was esti-

mated that building lots enough were sold in Indiana alone to accommodate every citizen

then in the United States.

Chicago, which in 1880 was a small trading-post, had within a few years grown into

a city. This was the starting jioint of the wonderful and marvelous career of that com-
mercial center. Improvements, unsurpassed by individual efforts in the annals of the
world, were then begun and have been maintained to this day. Reports of the rapid

advance of property in Chicago spread to the East, and thousands poured into ner
borders, bringing money, enterprise and industry. Every ship that left her port carried

with it maps of splendidly situated towns and additions, and every vessel that returned
was laden with immigrants. It was said at the time that the staple articles of Illinois

export were town plats, and that there was danger of crowding the State with towns to

the exclusion of land for agriculture.

ILLINOIS AND MICHIGAN CANAL.

The Illinois and Michigan canal again received attention. This enterprise is one of
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the most important in the early development of Illinois, on account of its magnitude and
cost, and forming as it does the connecting link between the great chain of lakes and the
Illinois and Mississippi rivers. Governor Bond, the first governor, recommended in his

first message the building of the canal. In 1821 the Legislature appropriated f10,000
for surveying the route. This work was performed by two young men, who estimated
the cost at $600,000 or 1700,000. It cost, however, when completed, #8,000,000. In
1825 a law was passed to incorporate the Canal Company, but no stock was sold. In
1826, upon the solicitation of Daniel P. Cook, Congressman from this State, Congress
gave 800,000 acres of land on the line of the work. In 1828 commissioners were ap-
pointed, and work commenced with a new survey and new estimates. In 1834-5 the
work was again pushed forward, and continued until 1848, when it was completed.

PANIC— BEPX7DIATION ADVOCATED.

Bonds of the State were recklessly disposed of both in the East and in Europe.
Work was commenced on various lines of railroad, but none were ever completed. On
the Northern Cross Railroad, from Meredosia east eight miles, the first locomotive that
ever turned a wheel in the great valley of the Mississippi, was run. The date of this re-

markable event was November 8, 1838. Large sums of money were being expended
with no assurance of a revenue, and consequently, in 1840, the Legislature repealed the

improvement laws passed three years previously, not, however, until the State had accu-

mulated a debt of nearly $15,000,000. Thus fell, after a short but eventful life, by the

hands of its creator, the most stupendous, extravagant and almost ruinous folly of a grand
system of internal improvements that any civil community, perhaps, ever engaged in.

The State banks failed, specie was scarce, an enormous debt had been piled up, the in-

terest of which could not be paid, people were disappointed in the accumulation of

wealth, and real estate was worthless. All this had a tendency to create a desire to

throw off the heavy burden of State debt by repudiation. This was boldly advocated by
some leading men. The fair fame and name, however, of the State was not tarnished by
repudiation. Men, true, honest, and able, were placed at the head of affairs ; and though
the hours were dark and gloomy, and the times most trying, yet the grand Prairie State

was brought through and prospered, until to-diiy, after the expenditure of millions for

public improvements and for carrying on the late war, she has a present debt of only

about $300,000.
MAKTYB FOB LIBEETY.

The year 1837 is memorable for the death of the first martyr for liberty, and the

abolishment of American slavery, in the State. Elijah P. Lovejoy was shot by a mob in

Alton, on the night of the 7th of November of that year. He was at the time editor of

the Alton Observer, and advocated anti-slavery principles in its columns. For this prac-

tice three of his presses had been destroyed. On the arrival of the fourth, the tragedy

occurred which cost him his life. In anticipation of its arrival a series of meetings were

held in which the friends of freedom and of slavery were represented. The object was to

effect a compromise, but it was one in which liberty was asked to make concessions to

oppression. In a speech made at one of these meetings, Lovejoy said :
" Mr. Chairman,

what have I to compromise ? If freely to forgive those who have so greatly injured me ;

if to pray for their temporal and eternal happiness ; if still to wish for the prosperity of

your city and State, notwithstanding the indignities I have suffered in them— if this be

the compromise intended, then do I willingly make it. I do, not admit that it is the busi-

ness of any body of men to say whether I shall or shall not publish a paper in this city.

Thatright was given tome by my Creator, and is solemnly guaranteed by the Constitution

of the United States and of this State. But if by compromise is meant that I shall cease

fiom that which duty requires of me, I can not make it, and the reason is, that I fear God
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more than man. It is also a very different question, whether I shall, voluntarily or at

the request of my friends, peld up my position, or whether I shall forsake it at the hands
of a mob. The former I am ready at all times to do when circumstances require it, as I

will never put my personal wishes ov, interests in competition with the cause of that

Master whose minister I am. But the latter, be assured I never will do. You have, as

lawyers say, made a false issue. There are no two parties between whom there can be a

compromise. I plant myself down on my unquestionable rights, and the question to be
decided is, whether I shall be protected in those rights. You may hang me, as the mob
hung the individuals at Vicksburg ;

you may burn me at the stake, as they did old Mcin-
tosh at St. Louis ; or, you may tar and feather me, or throw me into the Mississippi as

you have threatened to do ; but you can not disgrace me. I, and I alone, can disgrace

myself, and the deepest of all disgrace would be at a time like this to deny my Maker by
forsaking his cause. He died for me, and I were most unworthy to bear His name should

I refuse, if need be, to (^le /or 5"m." Not long afterward Mr. Lovejoy was shot. His
brother Owen, being present on the occasion, kneeled down on the spot beside the corpse,

and sent up to God, in the hearing of that very mob, one of the most eloquent prayers

ever listened to by mortal ear. He was bold enough to pray to God to take signal ven-

geance on the infernal institution of slavery, and he then and there dedicated his life to

the work of overthrowing it, and hoped to see the day when slavery existed no more in

this nation. He died, March 24, 1864, nearly three months after the Emancipation Pro-

clamation of President Lincoln took effect. Thus he lived to see his most earnest and
devout prayer answered. But few men in the nation rendered better service in over-

throwing the institution of slavery than Elijah P. and Owen Lovejoy.

CABLIN ELECTED GOVBRNOK.

Thomas Carlin, Democrat, was elected Governor in 1838, over Cyrus Edwards,
Whig. In 1842 Adam W. Snyder was nominated for Governor on the Democratic ticket,

but died before election. Thomas Ford was placed in nomination, and was elected, ex-

Governor Duncan being his opponent.

PBAIRIB PIRATES.

The northern part of the State also had its mob experiences, but of an entirely dif-

ferent nature from the one just recounted. There has always hovered around the frontier

of civilization bold, desperate men, who prey upon the unprotected settlers rather than
gain a livelihood by honest toil. Theft, robbery and murder were carried on by regularly

.organized bands in Ogle, Lee, Winnebago and DeKalb counties. The leaders of these

gang^ of cut-throats were among the first settlers of that portion of the State, and conse-

quently had the choice of location. Among the most prominent of the leaders were
John DriscoU, William and David, his sons ; John Brodie and three of his sons ; Samuel
Aikens and three of his sons ; William K. Bridge and Norton B. Royce.

These were the representative characters, those who planned and controlled the

movements of the combination, concealed them when danger threatened, nursed them
when sick, rested them when worn down by fatigue and forced marches, furnished hid-

ing places for their stolen booty, shared in the spoils, and, under cover of darkness and
intricate and devious ways of travel, known only to themselves and subordinates, trans-

ferred stolen horses from station to station ; for it came to be known as a well-established
fact that they had stations, and agents, and watchmen scattered thronghout the country
at convenient distances, and signals and pass-words to assist and govern them in all

their nefarious transactions.

Ogle county, particularly, seemed to be a favorite and chosen field for the operations
of these outlaws, who could not be convicted for their crimes. By getting some of

their number on the juries, by pypducing hosts of witnesses to sustain their defense by
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perjured evidence, and by changing the venue from one county to another, and by con-
tinuances from term to term, they nearly always managed to be acquitted. At last these
depredations became too common for longer endurance ; patience ceased to be a virtue,

and determined desperation seized the minds of honest men, and they resolved that if

there were no statute laws that could protect them against the ravages of thieves, rob-
bers and counterfeiters, they would protect themselves. It was a daring resolve, and
bloodily executed.

BURNING OP OGLE COUNTY COUBT-HOUSB.

At the Spring term of court, 1841, seven of the " Pirates of the Prairie," as they
were called, were confined in the Ogle county jail to await trial. Preparatory to hold-
ing court, the judge and lawyers assembled at Oregon in their new court-house, which
had just been completed. Near it stood the county jail in which were the prisoners.

The " Pirates " assembled Sunday night and set the court-house on fire, in the hope that
as the prisoners would have to be removed from the jail, they might, in the hurry and
confusion of the people in attending to the fire, make their escape. The whole popula-
tion were awakened that dark and stormy night, to see their new court edifice enwrapped
in flames. Although the building was entirely consumed, none of the prisoners escaped.
Three of them were tried, convicted and sent to the penitentiary for one year. They
had, however, contrived to get one of their number on the jury, who would not agree to

a verdict until threatened to be lynched. The others obtained a change of venue and
were not convicted, and finally they all broke jail and escaped.

Thus it was that the law was inadequate to the protection of the people. The best
citizens held a meeting at White Rock and entered into a solemn compact with each
other to rid the country of the desperadoes that infested it. They were regularly organ-
ized and known as " Regulators." They resolved to notify all suspected parties to leave

the country within a given time ; that if they did not comply, they would be severely

dealt with. Their first victim was a man named Hurl, who was suspected of having
stolen his neighbor's horse. He was ordered to strip, his hands were tied, when thirty-

six lashes of a raw-hide were applied to his bare back, the blood following each stroke.
" He stood the ordeal," said an eye witness, " without flinching, and when the terrible

work was ended, he remarked, ' Now, as your rage is satisfied, and to prove that I am
an honest man, I will join your company.' " He became a member of the regulators,

although it was almost certainly known that before this castigation his life had not been
one of irreproachable honesty.

The next victim was a man named Daggett, formerly a Baptist preacher. He was
sentenced to receive five hundred lashes on his bare back. He was stripped, and all was
ready, when his beautiful daughter, aged about sixteen years, rushed into the midst of the

men, begging for mercy for her father. Her appeals, with Daggett's promise to leave the

country immediately, secured his release. That night, new crimes having been
discovered, he was taken out and whipped, after which he left the country, never again

to be heard from.

The friends and comrades of the men who had been whipped were fearfully enraged,

and swore eternal and bloody vengeance. Eighty of them assembled one night soon

after, and laid plans to visit White Rock and murder every man, woman and child in

that hamlet. They started on this bloody mission, but were prevailed upon by one of

their number, whom they met on the way, to disband. Their coming, however, had
been anticipated, and every man and boy in the town was armed to protect himself and
his family.

MUBDBB 01" JOHN CAMPBELL— THE MUEDEEEES SHOT.

John Campbell, captain of the " Regulators," received a letter from William DriscoU,

filled with most direful threats— not only threatening Campbell's life, but the life of any
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one who should oppose their murderous, thieving operations. Soon after the receipt of

this letter, two hundred of the " Regulators " marched to DriscoU's and ordered him to

leave the country within twenty days, but he refused to comply with the order. One
Sunday evening, just after this, Campbell was shot down in his own door-yard by David
DriscoU. After the shooting the murderers turned and started in a southeast direction,

and, when they had gone a short distance, and while Mrs. Campbell was standing over

her lifeless husband, Taylor Driscoll, who accompanied David on his murderous mission,

turned and aimed his rifle at the grief-stricken woman, but lowered it without firing.

News of this terrible crime spread like wild-fire. The very air was filled with

threats and vengeance, and nothing but the lives of the murderous gang would pay the

penalty. Old John Driscoll was arrested at his home, was told to bid his family good-

bye, and then, with his son, went out to his death. The " Regulators," numbering 111,

formed a large circle, and gave the DriscoUs a fair hearing. They were found guilty and
sentenced to be hanged. The condemned men begged that the death sentence be

changed— that they might be shot to death instead of " hanged like dogs." Their re-

quest was granted, and the Regulators were divided into two death dfvisions— one, con-

sisting of fifty-six, and the other of fifty-five. The first division was detailed to the exe-

cution of the old man, and the other to the execution of William. The old man was led

forth first; his eyes were bandaged and he was made to kneel upon the earth facing his

executioners. The signal to fire was given, and he fell to the earth riddled and shattered

to pieces with the charges of fifty-six rifles.

William's fate came next. In the last hour of his extremity, abject fear overcame
his former boldness, and his hair turned almost white. In a semi-conscious condition, he
was led forth and made to kneel near his father's lifeless body, when the discharge from
the other fifty-five rifles found his life, and his body fell bleeding and quivering by the

side of his father.

The measures thus inaugurated and carried out freed the country from the domina-

tion of outlaws, and rendered secure the lives and property of the honest settlers. But
it was a dire result.

THE MORMON WAR.

In April, 1840, the " Latter-Day Saints," or Mormons, came to Illinois in large num-
bers, and settled at what had formerly been known as Point Commerce, but which they

afterwards called Nauvoo, in Hancock county. They were induced to come there by the

presentation to Joe Smith, the Prophet, of a large tract of land, by Dr. I. Galland, an

early settler of Lee county, Iowa. A more picturesque or beautiful site for a city could

not have been selected. Dr. Galland owned large tracts of other lands in the vicinity,

and although he professed a belief in Mormonism, there is no doubt that his -object in

giving land to the Church of Mormon, was more with a view of benefiting himself in

the end, than the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, for he was a shrewd, far

seeing man.
In April, 1840, the " Latter-Day Saints," or Mormons, came in large numbers to

Illinois and purchased a tract of land on the east side of the Mississippi river, about ten

miles above Keokuk. Here they commenced building the city of Nauvoo. A more
picturesque or eligible site for a city could not have been selected.

The origin, rapid development and prosperity of this religious sect are the most
remarkable and instructive historical events of the present century. That an obscure
individual, without money, education, or respectability, should persuade hundreds of

thousands of people to believe him inspired of God, and cause a book, contemptible as a

-literary production, to be received as a continuation of the sacred revelation, appears



GENERAL HISTORY OF ILLINOIS.. 163

almost incredible
; yet in less than half a century, the disciples of this illiterate

enthusiast have increased to hundreds of thousands ; have founded a State in the distant
wilderness, and compelled the Government of the United States to practically recognize
them as an independent people.

THE POXJNDBR OF MOEMONISM.

The founder of Mormonism was Joseph Smith, a native of Vermont, who immigrated
while quite young with his father's family to western New York. Here his youth was
spent in idle, vagabond life, roaming the woods, dreaming of buried treasures, and in en-
deavoring to learn the art of finding them by the twisting of a forked stick in his hands,
or by looking through enchanted stones. Both he and his father became famous as
" water wizards," always ready to point out the spot where wells might be dug and water
found. Such was the character of the young profligate when he made the acquaintance
of Sidney Rigdon, a person of considerable talent and information, who had conceived
the design of founding a new religion. A religious romance, written by Mr. Spaulding,
a Presbyterian preacher of Ohio, then dead, suggested the idea, and finding in Smith the
requisite duplicity and cunning to reduce it to practice, it was agreed that he should act
as prophet ; and the two devised a story that gold plates had been found buried in the
earth containing a record inscribed on them in unknown characters, which, when
deciphered by the power of inspiration, gave the history of the ten lost tribes of Israel.

ATTEMPT TO AERBST JOE SMITH.

After their settlement in and about Nauvoo, in Hancock county, great depredations
were committed by them on the " Gentiles." The Mormons had been received from
Missouri with great kindness by the people of this State, and every possible aid granted
them. The depredations committed, however, soon made them odious, when the ques-
tion of getting rid of them was agitated. In the Fall of 1841, the Governor of Missouri
made a demand on Gov. Carlin for the arrest and delivery of Joe Smith as a fugitive

from justice. An executive warrant issued for that purpose was placed in the hands of

an agent to be executed, but was returned without being complied with. Soon after-

ward the Governor handed the same writ to his agent, who this time succeeded in arrest-

ing Joe Smith. He was, however, discharged by Judge Douglas, upon the grounds that

the writ upon which he had been arrested had been once returned before it was executed,
and yf&s,functus officio. In 1842 Gov. Carlin again issued his writ, Joe Smith was arrested

again, and again escaped. Thus it will be seen it was impossible to reach and punish the

leader of this people, who had been driven from Missouri because of their stealing,

murdering and unjust dealing, and came to Illinois but to continue their depredations.

Emboldened by success, the Mormons became more arrogant and overbearing. Many
people began to believe that they were about to set up a separate government for them-
selves in defiance of the laws of the State. Owners of property stolen in other counties

made pursuit into Nauvoo, and were fined by the Mormon courts for daring to seek their

property in the holy city. But that which made it more certain than any thing else that

the Mormons contemplated a separate government, was that about this time they peti-

tioned Congress to establish a territorial government for them in Nauvoo.

ORIGIN OP POLYGAMY.

To crown the whole folly of the Mormons, in the Spring of 1844, Joe Smith an-

nounced himself as a candidate for President of the United States, and many of his fol-

lowers were confident he would be elected. He next caused himself to be anointed king
and priest, and to give character to his pretensions, he declared his lineage in an un-

broken line from Joseph, the son of Jacob, and that of his wife from some other import-

ant personage of the ancient Hebrews. To strengthen his political power he also
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instituted a body of police styled the " Danite Band," who were sworn to protect his per-

son and obey his orders as the commands of God. A female order previously existing in

the church, called " Spiritual Wives," was modified so as to suit the licentiousness of the

prophet. A doctrine was revealed that it was impossible for a woman to get to heaven
except as the wife of a Mormon elder ; that each elder might marry as many women as

he could maintain, and that any female might be sealed to eternal life by becoming their

concubine. This licentiousness, the origin of polygamy in that church, they endeavored
to justify by an appeal to Abraham, Jacob and other favorites of God in former ages of

the world.

JOB SMITH AS A TYRANT.

Smith soon began to play the tyrant over his people. Among the first acts of this

sort was an attempt to take the wife of William Law, one of his most talented disciples,

and make her his spiritual wife. He established, without authority, a recorder's office,

and an office to issue marriage licenses. He proclaimed that none could deal in real es-

tate or sell liquor but himself. He ordered a printing office demolished, and in many
ways controlled the freedom and business of the Mormons. Not only did he stir up some
of the Mormons, but by his reckless disregard for the laws of the land raised up opposi-

tion on every hand. It was believed that he instructed the Danite Band, which he had
chosen as the ministers of his vengeance, that no blood, except that of the church, was
to be regarded as sacred, if it contravened the accomplishment of his object. It was as-

serted that he inculcated the legality of perjury and other crimes, if committed to ad-

vance the cause of true believers ; that God had given the world and all it contained to

his saints, and since they were kept out of their rightful inheritance by force, it was no
moral offense to get possession of it by stealing. It was reported that an establishment
existed in Nauvoo for the manufacture of counterfeit money, and that a set of outlaws
was maintained for the purpose of putting it in circulation. Statements were circulated

to the effect that a reward was offered for the destruction of the Warsaw /Signal, an anti-

Mormon paper, and that Mormons dispersed over the country threatened all persons who
offered to assist the constable in thei execution of the law, with the destruction of their

property and the murder of their families. There were rumors also afloat that an alli-

ance had been formed with the Western Indians, and in case of war they would be used
in murdering their enemies. In short, if only one-half of these reports were true the
Mormons must have been the most infamous people that ever existed.

MILITAKY POECBS ASSEMBLING.

William Law, one of the proprietors of the printing-press destroyed by Smith, went
to Carthage, the county-seat, and obtained warrants for the arrest of Smith and the mem-
bers of the City Council, and others connected with the destruction of the press. Some
of the parties having been arrested, but discharged by the authorities in Nauvoo, a con-
vention of citizens assembled at Carthage and appointed a committee to wait upon the
Governor for the purpose of procuring military assistance to enforce the law. The Gover-
nor visited Carthage in person. Previous to his arrival the militia had been called out
and armed forces commenced assembling in Carthage and Warsaw to enforce the service
of civil process. All of them, however, signified a willingness to co-operate with the
Governor in preserving order. A constable and ten men were then sent to make the ar-

rest. In the meantime. Smith declared martial law ; his followers residing in the country
were summoned to his assistance ; the Legion was assembled and under arms, and the
entire city was one great military encampment.

THE SMITHS AERESTED.

The prophet, his brother Hiram, the members of the City Council and others, sur-
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rendered themselves at Carthage June 24, 1845, on the charge of riot. All entered into

recognizance before a justice of the peace to appear at court, and were discharged. A
new writ, however, was immediately issued and served on the two Smiths, and both were
arrested and thrown into prison. The citizens had assembled from Hancock, Schuyler and
McDonough counties, armed and ready to avenge the outrages that been committed by
the Mormons. Great excitement prevailed at Carthage. The force assembled at that

place amounted to 1,200 men, and about 500 assembled at Warsaw. Nearly all were
anxious to march into Nauvoo. This measure was supposed to be necessary to search for

counterfeit money and the apparatus to make it, and also to strike a salutary terror into

the Mormon people by an exhibition of the force of the State, and thereby prevent future

outrages, murders, robberies, burnings, and the like. The 27th of June was appointed

for the march ; but Gov. Ford, who at the time was in Carthage, apprehended trouble if

the militia should attempt to invade Nauvoo, disbanded the troops, retaining only a guard

to the jail.

JOE SMITH AND HIS BEOTHEK KILLED.

Gov. Ford went to Nauvoo on the 27th. The same morning about 200 men from

Warsaw, many being disguised, hastened to Carthage. On learning that one of the

companies left as a guard had disbanded, and the other stationed 150 yards from the jail

while eight men were left to guard the prisoners, a communication was soon established

between the Warsaw troops and the guard ; and it was arranged that the guard, should

have their guns charged with blank cartridges and fire at the assailants when they at-

tempted to enter the jail. The conspirators came up, jumped the fence around the jail,

were fired upon by the guard, which, according to arrangement, was overpowered, and
the assailants entered the prison, to the door of the room where the two prisoners were
confined. An attempt was made to break open the door ; but Joe Smith, being armed
with a pistol, fired several times as the door was bursted open, and three of the assail-

ants were wounded. At the same time several shots were fired into the room, by some
of which John Taylor, a friend of the Smiths, received four wounds, and Hiram Smith
was instantly killed. Joe Smith, severely wounded, attempted to escape by jumping out

of a second-story window, but was so stunned by the fall that he was unable to rise. In

this position he was dispatched by balls shot through his body. Thus fell Joe Smith,

the most successful impostor of modern times. Totally ignorant of almost every fact in

science, as well as in law, he made up in cOnstructiveness and natural cunning whatever
in him was wanting of instruction.

CONSTERNATION AT QUINCY.

Great consternation prevailed among the anti-Mormons at Carthage, after the killing

of the Smiths. They expected the Mormons would be so enraged on hearing of the

death of their leaders that they would come down in a body, armed and equipped, to

seek revenge upon the populace at Carthage. Messengers were dispatched to various

places for help in case of an attack. The women and children were moved across the

river for safety. A committee was sent to Quincy, and early the following, morning, at

the ringing of the bells, a large concourse of people assembled to devise means of de-

fense. At this meeting it was reported that the Mormons attempted to. rescue the

Smiths ; that a party of Missourians and others had killed them to prevent their escape ;

that the Governor and his party were at Nauvoo at the time when intelligence of the

fact was brought there ; that they had been attacked by the Nauvoo Legion, and had re-

treated to a house where they were closely besieged ; that the Governor had sent out

word that he could maintain his position for two days, and would be certain to be mas-
sacreed if assistance did not arrive by that time. It is unnecessary to say that this en-

tire story was fabricated. It was put in circulation, as were many other stories, by the
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anti-Moi-mons, to influence the public mind and create a hatred for the Mormons. The
effect of it, however, was that by 10 o'clock on the 28th, between two and three hundred
men from Quincy, under command of Maj. Flood, went on board a steamboat for Nauvoo,
to assist in raising the siege, as they honestly believed.

VARIOUS DEPREDATIONS.

It was thought by many, and indeed the circumstances seem to warrant the conclu-
sion, that the assassins of Smith had arranged that the murder should occur while the
Governor was in Nauvoo ; that the Mormons would naturally suppose he planned it, and
in the first outpouring of their indignation put him to death, as a means of retaliation.

They thought that if they could have the Governor of the State assassinated by Mor-
mons, the public excitement would be greatly increased against that people, and would
cause their extermination, or at least their expulsion from the State. That it was a

brutal and premeditated murder can not be and is not denied at this day; but the desired

effect of the murder was not attained, as the Mormons did not evacuate Nauvoo for two
years afterward. In the meantime, the excitement and prejudice against the people were
not allowed to die out. Horse-stealing was quite common, and every case that occurred
was charged to the Mormons. That they were guilty of such thefts can not be denied,
but a great deal of this work done at that time was by organized bands of thieves, who
knew they could carry on their nefarious business with more safety, as long as suspicion
could be placed upon the Mormons. In the Summer and Fall of 1845, there were several

occurrences of a nature to increase the irritation existing between the Mormons and their

neighbors. A suit was instituted in the United States Circuit Court against one of the

apostles, to recover a note, and a marshal sent to summon the defendant, who refused to

be served with the process. Indignation meetings were held by the saints, and the mar-
shal threatened for attempting to serve the writ. About this time General Denning,
sheriff, was assaulted by an anti-Mormon, whom he killed. Denning was friendly to the
Mormons, and a great outburst of passion was occasioned among the friends of the dead
man.

INCENDIARISM.

It was also discovered, in trying the rights of property at Lima, Adams county, that

the Mormons had an institution connected with their church to secure their effects from
execution. Incensed at this and other actions, the anti-Mormons of Lima and Green
Plains, held a meeting to devise means for the expulsion of the Mormons from that part

of the country. It was arranged that a number of their own party should fire on the

building in which they were assembled, in such a manner as not to injure any one,, and
then report that the Mormons had commenced the work of plunder and death. This plot was
duly executed, and the startling intelligence soon called together a mob, which threatened

the Mormons with fire and sword if they did not immediately leave. The Mormons
refusing to depart, the mob at once executed their threats by burning one hundred and
twenty-five houses and forcing the inmates to flee for their lives. The sheriff of Hancock
county, a prominent Mormon, armed several hundred Mormons and scoured the country,

in search of the incendiaries, but they had fled to neighboring counties, and he was una-

ble either to bring them to battle or make any arrests. One maUj however, was killed

without provocation ; another attempting to escape was shot and afte.rwards hacked and
mutilated ; and Franklin A. Worrell, who had charge of the jail when the Smiths were
killed, was shot by some unknown person concealed in a thicket. The anti-Mormons
committed one murder. A party of them set fire to a pile of straw, near the barn of an

old Mormon, nearly ninety years of age, and when he appeared to extinguish the flames,

he was shot and killed.

The anti-Mormons left their property exposed in their hurried retreat, after having
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burned the houses of the Mormons. Those who had been burned out sallied forth from
NauYOO and plundered the whole country, taking whatever they could carry or drive
away. By order of the Governor, Gen. Hardin raised a force of three hundred and fif:ty

men, checked the Mormon ravages, and recalled the fugitive anti-Mormons home.

MAKING PEBPAKATION TO LEAVE.

At this time a convention, consisting of delegates from eight of the adjoining coun-
ties, assembled to concert measures for the expulsion of the Mormons from the State. The
Mormons seriously contemplated emigration westward, believing the times foreboded evil

for them. Accordingly, during the Winter of 1845-'J:6, the most stupendous prepara-

tions were made by the Mormons for removal. All the principal dwellings, and even the

temple, were converted into workshops, and before Spring, 12,000 wagons were in readi-

ness ; and by the middle of February the leaders, with 2,000 of their followers, had
crossed the Mississippi on the ice.

Before the Spring of 1846 the majority of the Mormons had left Nauvoo, but still a

large number remained.
'

THE BATTLE OP NATJVOO.

In September a writ was issued against several prominent Mormons, and placed in

the hands of John Carlin, of Carthage, for execution. Carlin called out a posse to help
make the arrest, which brought together quite a large force in the neighborhood of Nau-
voo. Carlin, not being a military man, placed in command of the posse, first. Gen. Sin-

gleton, and afterward Col. Brockman, who proceeded to invest the city, erecting breast-

works, and taking other means for defensive as well as offensive operations. What" was
then termed a battle next took place, resulting in the death of one Mormon and the
wounding of several others, and loss to the anti-Mormons of three killed and four

wounded. At last, through the intervention of an anti-Mormon committee of one hun-
dred, from Quincy, the Mormons and their allies were induced to submit to such terms as

the posse chose to dictate, which were that the Mormons should immediately give up
their arms to the Quincy committee, and remove from the State. The trustees of the
church and five of their clerks were permitted to remain for the sale of Mormon property,

and the posse were to march in unmolested, and leave a sufficient force to guarantee the

performance of their stipulations. Accordingly, th.e constable's posse marched in with
Brockman at their head. It consisted of about 800 armed men and 600 or 700 unarmed,
who had assembled from all the country around, through motives of curiosity, to see the
once proud city of Nauvoo humbled and delivered up to its enemies. They proceeded
into the city slowly and carefully, examing the way for fear of the explosion of a mine,
many of which had been made by the Mormons, by burying kegs of powder in the ground,
with a man stationed at a distance to pull a string communicating with the trigs^er of a
percussion lock affixed to the keg. This kind of a contrivance was called by the Mor-
mons " hell's half-acre." When the posse arrived in the city, the leaders of it erected
themselves into a tribunal to decide who should be forced away and who remain. Parties

were dispatched to hunt for fire-arms, and for Mormons, and to bring them to judgment.
When brought, they received their doom from the mouth of Brockman, who sat a grim
and unawed tyrant for the time. As a general rule, the Mormons were ordered to leave
within an hour or two ; and by rare grace some of them were allowed until next day, and
in a few cases longer time was granted.

MALTREATMENT OP NEW CITIZENS.

Nothing was said in the treaty iiT regard to the new citizens, who had with the Mor-
mons defended the city ; but the posse no sooner had obtained possession than they com-
menced expelling them. Some of them were ducked in the river, and were in one or two
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instances actually baptized in the name of some of the leaders of the mob ', Others were
forcibly driven into the ferry-boats to be taken over the river before the bayonets of

armed ruffians. Many of these new settlers were strangers in the country from various

parts of the United States, who were attracted there by the low price of property ; and
they knew but little of previous difficulties or the merits of the quarrel. They saw with

their own eyes that the Mormons were industriously preparing to go away, and they

knew " of their own knowledge" that any effort to expel them by force was gratuitous

and unnecessary cruelty. They had been trained, by the States whence they came, to

abhor mobs and to obey the law, and they volunteered their services under executive

authority to defend their town and their property against mob violence, and, as they

honestly believed, from destruction ; but in this they were partly mistaken ; for although

mob leaders in the exercise of unbridled power were guilty of many injuries to the per-

sons of individuals, although much personal property was stolen, yet they abstained from

materially injuring houses and buildings.

THE MORMONS REACH SALT LAKE.

The fugitives proceeded westward, taking the road through Missouri, but having

been once forcibly ejected from that State, they were compelled to move indirectly through

Iowa. After innumerable hardships the advance guard reached the Missouri river at

Council Bluffs, when a United States officer presented a requisition for 600 men to serve

in the war with Mexico. Compliance with this order so diminished their number of

effective men, that the, expedition was again delayed, and the remainder, consisting mostly
of old men, women and children, hastily prepared habitations for Winter. Their rudely

constructed tents were hardly completed before Winter set in with great severity, the

bleak prairies being incessantly swept by piercing winds. While here cholera, fever and
other diseases, aggravated by the previous hardships, the want of comfortable quarters

and medical treatment, hurried many of them to premature graves, yet, under the influ-

ence of religious fervor and fanaticism, they looked death in the face with resignation

and cheerfulness, and even exhibited a gayety which manifested itself in music and danc-
ing during the saddest hours of this sad Winter.

At length welcome Spring made its appearance, and by April they were again organ-
ized for the journey. A pioneer party, consisting of Brigham Young and one hundred
and forty others, was sent in advance to locate a home for the colonists. On the 21st of

July, 1847, a day memorable in Mormon annals, the vanguard reached the valley of the

Great Salt Lake, having been directed thither, according to their accounts, by the hand
of the Almighty. Here in a distant wilderness, midway between the settlements of the

East and the Pacific, and at that time a thousand miles from the utmost verge of civili-

zation, they commenced preparations for-founding a colony, which has since grown into

a mighty empire.
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CHAPTER XIII.

ILLINOIS AND THE MEXICAN WAR.

In the month of May, 1846, President Polk called for four regiments of volunteers

for the Mexican War. This was no sooner known in the State than nine regiments,

numbering 8,370 men answered the call, although only four of the regiments, number-
ing 3,720 men, could be accepted. These regiments, as well as their officers, were
everywhere among the foremost in the American ranks, and distinguished themselves
by their matchless valor in the bloodiest battles of the war. Veterans never fought more
nobly and effectively than did the volunteers from Illinois. At the bloody battle of Buena
Vista they crowned their lives— many their death— with the laurels of war. Never
did armies contend more bravely, determinedly and stubbornly than the American and
Mexican forces at this famous battle ; and as Illinois troops were ever in the van and on
the bloodiest portions of the field, we believe a short sketch of the part they took in the

fierce contest is due them, and will be read with no little interest.

BATTLE OP BUENA VISTA.

'General Santa Anna, with his army of 20,000, poured into the valley of Aqua
Nueva early on the morning of the 22d of February, hoping to surprise our army, con-

sisting of about 5,000 men, under Gen. Taylor and which had retreated to the " Nar-
rows." They were hotly pursued by the Mexicans who, before attacking, sent General
Taylor a flag of truce demanding a surrender, and assuring him that if he refused he
would be cut to pieces ; but the demand was promptly refused. At this the enemy
opened fire, and the conflict began. In honor of the day the watchword with our sol-

diers was, "The memory of Washington." An irregular fire was kept up all day, and
at night Ijoth armies bivouacked on the field, resting on their arms. Santa Anna that

night made a spirited address to his men, and the stirring strains of his own band till

late in the night were distinctly heard by our troops ; but at last silence fell over the

hosts that were to contend unto death in that narrow pass on the morrow.
Early on the following morning the battle was resumed, and continued without in-

termission until nightfall. The solid columns of the enemy were hurled against our

forces all day long, but were met and held in check by the unerring fire of our musketry
and artillery. A portion of Gen. Lane's division was driven back by the enemy under
Gen. Lombardini, who, joined by Gen. Pacheco's division, poured upon the main platea'u

in so formidable numbers as to appear irresistible.

BEAVEKY OP THE SECOND ILLINOIS.

At this time the 2d Illinois, under Col. Bissell, with a squadron of cavalry and a few
pieces of artillery came handsomely into action and gallantly received the concentrated

fire of the enemy, which they returned with deliberate aim and terrible effect ; every

discharge of the artillery seemed to tear a bloody path through the heavy columns of the

enemy. Says a writer : " The rapid musketry of the gallant troops from Illinois poured
a storm of lead into their serried ranks, which literally strewed the ground with the

dead and dying." But, notwithstanding his losses, the enemy steadily advanced until

our gallant regiment received fire from three sides. Still they maintained their position

for a time with unflinching firmness against that immense host. At length, perceiving

the danger of being entirely surrounded, ilj was determined to fall back to a ravine. Col.

Bissell, with the coolness of ordinary drill, ordered the signal " cease firing " to be made ;
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he then with the same deliberation gave the command, " Face to the rear, battalion,

about face ; forward march," which was executed with the regularity of veterans to a

point beyond the peril of being outflanked. Again, in obedience to command these

brave men halted, faced about, and under a murderous tempest of bullets from the foe,

resumed their well-directed fire. The conduct of no troops could have been more ad-

mirable ; and, too, until that day they had never been under fire, when, within less than

half an hour eighty of their comrades dropped by their sides. How different from the

Arkansas regiment, which were ordered to the plateau, but after delivering their first

volley gave way and dispersed.

SADDEST EVENT OF THE BATTLE.

But now we have to relate the saddest, and, for Illinois, the most mournful, event

of that battle-worn day. We take the account from Colton's History of the battle of

Buena Vista. " As the enemy on our left was moving in retreat along the head of the

plateau, our artillery was advanced until within range, and opened a heavy fire upon
him, while Cols. Hardin, Bissell and McKee, with their Illinois and Kentucky troops,

dashed gallantly forward in hot pursuit. A powerful reserve of the Mexican army was
then just emerging from the ravine, where it had been organized, and advanced on the

plateau, opposite the head of the southernmost gorge. Those who were giving way
rallied quickly upon it ; when the whole force, thus increased to over 12,000 men, came
forward in a perfect blaze of fire. It was a single column, composed of the best soldiers

of the republic, having for its advanced battalions the veteran regiments. The
Kentucky and Illinois troops were soon obliged to give ground before it

and seek the shelter of the second gorge. The enemy passed on, arriving op-

posite the head of the second gorge. One-half of the column suddenly en-

veloped it, while the other half pressed on across the plateau, having for the

moment nothing to resist them but the three guns in their front. The portion

that was immediately opposed to the Kentucky and Illinois troops, ran down along each

side of the gorge, in which they sought shelter, and also circled around its head, leaving

no possible way of escape for them except by its mouth, which opened upon the road.,

Its sides, which were steep—at least an angle of 45 degrees—were covered with loose

pebbles and stones, and converged to a point at the bottom. Down there were our poor

fellows, nearly three regiments of them (1st and 2d Illinois and 2d Kentucky) with but
little opportunity to load or fire a gun, being hardly able to keep their feet. Above the

whole edge of the gorge, all the way around, was darkened by the serried masses of the

enemy, and was bristling with muskets directed on the crowd beneath. It was no time

to pause. Those who were not immediately shot down rushed on toward the road, their

number growing less and less as they went, Kentuckians and lUinoisans, officers and
men, all mixed up in confusion, and all pressing on over the loose pebbles and rolling

stones of those shelving, precipitous banks, and having lines and lines of the enemy firing

down from each side and rear as they went. Just then the enemy's cavalry, which had
gone to the left of the reserve, had come over the spur that divided the mouth of the

second gorge from that of the third, and were now closing up the only door through
which there was the least shadow of a chance for their lives. Many of those ahead en-

deavored to force their way out, but few succeeded. The lancers were fully six to one,

and their long weapons were already reeking with blood. It was at this time that those

who were still back in that dreadful gorge heard, above the din of the musketry and the

shouts of the enemy around them, the roar of Washington's Battery. No music could
have been more grateful to their ears. A moment only, and the whole opening, where
the lancers were busy, rang with the repeated explosions of spherical-case shot. They gave
way. The gate, as it were, was clear, and out upon the road a stream of our poor fellows

issued. They ran panting down toward the battery, and directly under the flight of iron
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\hen passing over their heads, into the retreating cavalry. Hardin, MoKee, Clay, Willis,

Zabriskie, Houghton— but why go on ? It would be a sad task indeed to name over all

who fell during this twenty minutes' slaughter. The whole gorge, from the plateau to

its mouth, was strewed with our dead. AH dead ! No wounded there— not a man ; for

the infantry had rushed down the sides and completed the work with the bayonet."

VICTORY FOE OUE AKMY.

The artillery on the plateau stubbornly maintained its position. The remnants of

the 1st and 2d Illinois regiments, after issuing from the fated gorge, were formed and
again brought into action, the former, after the fall of the noble Hardin, under Lieut.

Col. Weatherford, the latter under Bissell. The enemy brought forth reinforcements

and a brisk artillery duel was kept up ; but gradually, as the shades of night began to

cover the earth, the rattle of musketry slackened, and when the pall of night was thrown
over that bloody field, it ceased altogether. Each army, after the fierce and long strug-

gle, occupied much the same position as it did in the morning. However, early on the

following morning, the glad tidings were heralded amidst our army that the enemy had
retreated, thus again crowning the American banners with victory.

OTHER HONORED NAMES OF THIS "WAR.

Other bright names from Illinois that shine as stars in this war are those of Shields,

Baker, Harris, and Coffee, which are indissolubly connected with the glorious capture of

Vera Cruz and the not less famous storming of Cerro Gordo. In this latter action, when,
after the valiant Gen. Shields had been placed hors de eomhat, the command of his force,

consisting of three regiments, developed upon Col. Baker. This officer, with his men,
stormed with unheard-of prowess the last stronghold of the Mexicans, sweeping every-

thing before them. Such indeed were the intrepid valor and daring courage exhibited

by Illinois volunteers during the Mexican war that their deeds should live in the memory
of their countrymen until those latest times when the very name of America shall have
been forgotten.

CHAPTER XIY.

THE WAR FOR THE UNION.

Presidential Campaign of i860— Lincoln and the Presidency—An Eagle's Quill from Knox County— Lincoln's

Inaugural Message— Southern States Resolve to Secede— Fall of Fort Sumter— Call for Troops— The Call

Promptly Answered— Illinoisans in the Front— General Summary— Capture ofthe Si. Louis Arsenal— Liber-

ality and Patriotism— Messages of Love and Encouragement— Sherman's March to the Sea— Character of

Abraham Lincoln— Triumph of Freedom— The Union Maintained— The " Prairie State " Boys in Blue— A
Glorious Record—Death of Lincoln— Schedule Tables of Volunteer Troops organized in the State for the

Great Rebellion.

On the fourth day of March, 1861, after the most exciting and momentous political

campaign known in the history of this country, Abraham Lincoln— America's martyred
President— was inaugurated Chief Magistrate of the United States. This fierce contest

was principally sectional, and as the announcement was flashed over the telegraph wires

that the Republican Presidential candidate had been elected, it was hailed by the South
as a justifiable pretext for dissolving the Union. Said Jefferson Davis in a speech at

Jackson, Miss., prior to the election, " If an abolitionist be chosen President of the United

States you will have presented to you the question whether you will 'permit the govern-

ment to pass into the hands of your avowed and implacable enemies. Without pausing
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for an answer, I will state my own position to be that such a result would be a species of

revolution by which the purpose of the Government would be destroyed, and the obser-

vances of its mere forms entitled to no respect. In that event, in such a manner as should

be most expedient, I should deem it your duty to provide for your safety outside of the

Union." Said another Southern politician, when speaking on the saxne subject, " We shall

fire the Southern heart, instruct the Southern mind, give courage to each, and at the

proper moment, by one organized, concerted action, we can precipitate the Cotton States

into a revolution." To disrupt the Union and form a government which recognized the

absolute supremacy of the white population and the perpetual bondage of the black was
what they deemed freedom from the galling yoke of Republican administration.

ABRAHAM LINCOLN DID NOT SEEK THE PRESIDENCY.

Hon. R. W. Miles, of Knox county, sat on the floor by the side of Abraham Lincoln

in the library room of the Capitol, in Springfield, at the secret caucus meeting, held in

January, 1859, when Mr. Lincoln's name was first spoken of in caucus as a candidate for

President. When a gentleman, in making a short speech, said, "We are going to bring

Abraham Lincoln out as a candidate for President," Mr. Lincoln at once arose to his feet,

and exclaimed, "For God's sake, let me alone ! I have suffered enough !
" This was soon

after he had been defeated in the Legislature for United States Senator by Stephen A.
Douglas, and only those who are intimate with that important and unparalleled contest

can appreciate the full force and meaning of these expressive words of the martyred Presi-

dent. They were spontaneous, and prove beyond a shadow of doubt that Abraham Lin-
coln did not seek the high ppsition of President. Nor did he use any trickery or chica-

nery to obtain it. But his express wish was not to be complied with ; our beloved
country needed a savior and a martyr, and Fate had decreed that he should be the victim.

After Mr. Lincoln was elected President, Mr. Miles sent him an eagle's quill, with which
the chief magistrate wrote his first inaugural address. The letter written by Mr. Miles
to the President, and sent with the quill, which was two feet in length, is such a jewel of

eloquence and prophecy that it should be given a place in history

:

Persifer, December 21, i860.
Hon. a. Lincoln :

Dear Sir :— Please accept the eagle quill I promised you, by the hand of our Representative, A. A, Smith.
The bird from whose wing the quill was taken, was shot by John F. Dillon, in Persifer township, Knox county, Illi-

nois, in February, 1857. Having heard that James Buchanan was furnished with an eagle quill to write his inaugural
with, and believing that in i860 a Republican would be elected to take his place, I determined to save this quill and
present it to the fortunate man, whoever he might be. Reports tell us that the bird which furnished Buchanan's quill

was a captured bird— fit emblem of the man that used it ; but the bird from which this quill was taken, yielded the
quill only with his life— fit emblem of the man who is expected to use it, for true Republicans believe that you would
not think life worth the keeping after the surrender of principle. Great difficulties surround you ; traitors to their

country have threatened your life ; and should you be called upon to surrender it at the post of duty, your memory
will live forever in the heart of every freeman ; and that is a grander monument than can be built of brick or marble.

" For if hearts may not our memories keep,

^^
Oblivion haste each vestige sweep,
And let our memories end."

Yours Truly, R. W. Miles.

STATES SECEDING.

At the time of President Lincoln's accession to power, several members of the Union
claimed they had withdrawn from it, and styling themselves the " Confederate States of

America," organized a separate government. The house was indeed divided against it-

self, but it should not fall, nor should it long continue divided, was the hearty, deter-

mined response of every loyal heart in the nation. The accursed institution of human
slavery was the primary cause for this dissolution of the American Union. Doubtless
other agencies served to intensify the hostile feelings which existed between the northern
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and southern portions of our country, but their remote origin could be traced to this great
national evil. Had Lincoln's predecessor put forth a timely, energetic effort, he might
have prevented the bloody war our nation was called to pass through. On the other
hand every aid was given the rebels ; every advantage and all the power of the Govern-
ment was placed at their disposal, and when Illinois' honest son took the reins of the Re-
public he found Buchanan had been a traitor to his trust, and given over to the South all

available means of war.

THE FALL OF StJMTEE.

On the 12th day of April, 1861, the rebels, who for weeks had been erecting their

batteries upon the shore, after demanding of Major Anderson a surrender, opened fire

upon Fort Sumter. For thirty-four hours an incessant cannonading was continued ; the

fort was being seriously injured ; provisions were almost gone, and Major Anderson was
compelled to haul down the stars and stripes. That dear old flag which had seldom been
lowered to a foreign foe by rebel hands was now trailed in the dust. The first blow of

the terrible conflict which summoned vast armies into the field, and moistened the soil

of a nation in fraternal blood and tears, had been struck. The gauntlet thus thrown
down by the attack on Sumter by the traitors of the South was accepted— not, however,
in the spirit with which insolence meets insolence— but with a firm, determined spirit of

patriotism and love of country. The duty of the President was plain under the consti-

tution and the laws, and above and beyond all, the people from whom all political power
is derived, demanded the suppression of the Rebellion, and stood ready to sustain the

authority of their representative and executive officers. Promptly did the new Presi-

dent issue a proclamation calling for his countrymen to join with him to defend their

homes and their country, and vindicate her honor. This call was made April 14, two
days after Sumter was first fired upon, and was for 75,000 men. On the 15th, the same
day he was notified, Gov. Yates issued his proclamation convening the I/Cgislature. He
also ordered the organization of six regiments. Troops were in abundance, and the call

was no sooner made than filled. Patriotism thrilled and vibrated and pulsated through
every heart. The farm, the work shop, the office, the pulpit, the bar, the bench, the

college, the school-house— every calling offered its best men, their lives and their for-

tunes, in defense of the Government's honor and unity. Bitter words spoken in mo-
ments of political heat were forgotten and forgiven, and joining hands in a common
cause, they repeated the oath of America's soldier-statesman :

" By the Great Uternal,

the Union must and shall bepreserved." The honor, the very life and glory of the nation

was committed to the stern arbitrament of the sword, and soon the tramp of armed men,
the clash of musketry and the heavy boom of artillery reverberated throughout the con-

tinent ; rivers of blood saddened by tears of mothers, wives, sisters, daughters and
sweethearts flowed from the lakes to the gulf, but a nation was saved. The sacrifice was
great, but the Union was preserved.

CALL FOE TROOPS PBOMPTLY ANSWERED.

Simultaneously with the call for troops by the President, enlistments commenced in

this State, and within ten days 10,000 volunteers offered service, and the sum of

$1,000,000 was tendered by patriotic citizens. Of the volunteers who offered their ser-

vices, only six regiments could be accepted under the quota of the State. But the time

soon came when there was a place and a musket for every man. The six regiments

raised were designated by numbers commencing with seven, as a mark of respect for the

six regiments which had served in the Mexican war. Another call was anticipated, and
the Legislature authorized ten additional regiments to be organized. Over two hundred
companies were immediately raised from which were selected the required number. No
sooner was this done than the President made another call for troops, six regiments were
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again our proportion, although by earnest solicitation the remaining four were accepted.

There were a large number of men with a patriotic desire to enter the service who were
denied this privilege. Many of them wept, while others joined regiments from other

Ktates. In May, June and July seventeen regiments of infantry and five of cavalry were
raised, and in the latter month, when the President issued his first call for 500,000 vol-

unteers, Illinois tendered thirteen regiments of infantry and three of cavalry, and so

anxious were her sons to have the Rebellion crushed that the number could have been

increased by thousands. At the close of 1861 Illinois had sent to the field nearly 50,000

men, and had 17,000 in camp awaiting marching orders, thus exceeding her full quota by

15,000.

A VAST ARMY RAISED IN ELEVEN DAYS.

In July and August of 1862 the President called for 600,000 men— our quota of

which was 52,296— and gave until August 18 as the limits in which the number might
be raised by volunteering, after which a draft would be ordered. The State had already

furnished 17,000 in excess of her quota, and it was first thought this number would be

deducted from th6 present requisition, but that could not be done. But thirteen days

were granted to enlist this vast army, which had to come from the farmers and mechanics.

The former were in the midst of harvest, but, inspired by love of country, over 50,000 of

them left their harvests ungathered, their tools and their benches, the plows in their

furrows, turning their backs on their homes, and before eleven days had expired the de-

mands of the government were met and both quotas filled.

The war went on, and call followed call, until it began to look as if there would not

be men enough in all the Free States to crush out and subdue the monstrous war traitors

had inaugurated. But to every call for either men or money there was a willing and
ready response. And it is a boast of the people that, had the supply of men fallen short,

there were women brave enough, daring enough, patriotic enough, to have offered them-
selves as sacrifices on their country's altar. On the 21st of December, 1864, the last call

for troops was made. It was for 300,000. In consequence of an imperfect enrollment of

the men subject to military duty, it became evident, ere this call was made, that Illinois

was furnishing thousands of men more than what her quota would have been, had it been
correct. So glaring had this disproportion become, that under this call the quota of some
districts exceeded the number of able-bodied men in them.

A GENERAL SUMMARY.

Following this sketch we give a schedule of all the volunteer troops organized from
this State, from the commencement to the close of the war. It is taken from the
Adjutant General's report. The number of the regiment, name of original colonel, call

under which recruited, date of organization and muster into the United States' service,

place of muster, and aggregate strength of each organization, from which we find that
Illinois put into her one hundred and eighty regiments 256,000 men, and into the United
States army, through other States, enough to swell the number to 290,000. This far ex-
ceeds all the soldiers of the Federal Government in all the war of the Revolution. Her
total years of service were over 600,000. She enrolled men from eighteen to forty-five

years of age, when the law of Congress in 1864— the test time— only asked for those
from twenty to forty-five. Her enrollments were otherwise excessive. Her people
wanted to go, and did not take the pains to correct the enrollment ; thus the basis of
fixing the quota was too great, and the quota itself, at least in the trying time, was far

above any other State. The demand on some counties, as Monroe, for example, took
every able-bodied man in the county, and then did not have enough to fill the quota.
Moreover, Illinois sent 20,844 men for one hundred days, for whom no credit was asked.
She gave to the QOui»trjr 73,000 years of service above all calls. With one-thirteenth of
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the population of the loyal States, she sent regularly one-tenth of all the soldiers, and in

the perils of the closing calls, when patriots were few and weary, she sent one-eighth of

all that were called for by her loved and honored son in the White House. Of the brave
boys Illinois sent to the front, there were killed in action, 5,888 ; died of wounds, 3,032 ;

of disease, 19,496 ; in prison, 967 ; lost at sea, 205 ; aggregate, 29,588. As upon every
field and upon every page of the history of this war, Illinois bore her part of the suffer-

ing in the prison-pens of the South. More than 800 names make up the awful column of

Illinois' brave sons who died in the rebel prison of Andersonville, Ga. Who can measure
or imagine the atrocities which would be laid before the world were the panorama of

sufferings and terrible trials of thesg gallant men but half unfolded to view ? But this

can never be done until new words of horror are invented, and new arts discoved by
which demoniacal fiendishness can be portrayed, and the intensest anguish of the human
soul in ten thousand forms be painted.

No troops ever fought more heroically, stubbornly, and with better effect than did

the boys from the " Prairie State." At Pea Ridge, Donelson, Pittsburg, Landing, luka,

Corinth, Stone River, Holly Springs, Jackson, Vicksburg, Cbicamauga, Lookout Moun-
tain, Murfreesboro, Atlanta, Franklin, Nashville, Chattanooga, and on every other field

where the clash of arms was heard, her sons were foremost.

OAPTUEB OF THE ST. LOUIS ARSENAL.

Illinois was almost destitute of firearms at the beginning of the conflict, and none
could be procured in the East. The traitorous Floyd had turned over to the South
300,000 arms, leaving most arsenals in the North empty. Gov. Yates, however, received

an order on the St. Louis arsenal for 10,000 muskets, which he put in the hands of Capt.

Stokes, of Chicago. Several unsuccessful attempts were made by the Captain to pass

through the large crowd of rebels which had gathered around the arsenal, suspecting an
attempt to move the arms would be made. He at last succeeded in gaining admission to

the arsenal, but was informed by the commander that the slightest attempt to move the

arms would be discovered and bring an infuriated mob upon the garrison. This fear was
well founded, for the following day Gov. Jackson ordered 2,000 armed men from Jeffer-

son City down to capture the arsenal. Capt. Stokes telegraphed to Alton for a steamer
to descend the river, and about midnight land opposite the arsenal, and proceeding to

the same place with 700 men of the 7th Illinois, commenced loading the vessel. To di-

vert attention from his real purpose, he had 500 guns placed upon a different boat. As
designed, this movement was discovered by the rabble, and the shouts and excitement
upon their seizure drew most of the crowd from the arsenal. Capt. Stokes not only took
all the guns his requisition called for, but emptied the arsenal. When all was ready, and
the signal given to start, it was found that the immense weight had bound the bow of the

boat to the rock, but after a few moments' delay the boat fell away from the shore and
floated into deep water.

" Which way ? " said Capt. Miller, of the steamer. " Straight in the regular channel

to Alton," replied Capt. Stokes. "What if we are attacked?" said Capt. Mitchell.
" Then we will fight," was the reply of Capt. Stokes. " What if we are overpowered ?

"

said Mitchell. "Run the boat to the deepest part of the river and sink her," replied

Stokes. " I'll do it," was the heroic answer of Mitchell, and away they went past the

secession battery, past the St. Louis levee, and in the regular channel on to Alton. When
they touched the landing, Capt. Stokes, fearing pursuit, ran to the market house and
rang the fire bell. The citizens came flocking pell-mell to the river, and soon men,
women and children were tugging away at the vessel load of arms, which they soon had
deposited in freight cars and off to Springfield.
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LIBERALITY AS WELL AS PATRIOTISM.

The people were liberal as well as patriotic ; and while the men were busy enlisting,

organizing and equipping companies, the ladies were no less active, and the noble, gen-

erous work performed by their tender, loving hands deserves mention along with the

bravery, devotion and patriotism of their brothers upon the Southern fields of carnage.

The continued need of money to obtain the comforts and necessaries for the sick and
wounded of our army suggested to the loyal women of the North many and various de-

vices for the raising of funds. Every city, town and village had its fair, festival, picnic,

excursion, concert, which netted more or less to the cause of hospital relief, according to

the population of the place and the amount of energy and patriotism displayed on such

occasions. Especially was this characteristic of our own fair State, and scarcely a ham-
let within its-borders which did not send something from its stores to hospital or battle-

field, and in the larger towns and cities were well-organized soldiers' aid societies,

working systematically and continuously from the beginning of the war till its close. The
great State Fair held in Chicago in May, 1865, netted |250,000. Homes for traveling

soldiers were established all over the State, in which were furnished lodging for 600,000

men, and meals valued at $2,500,000. Food, clothing, medicine, hospital delicacies,

•reading matter, and thousands of other articles, were sent to the boys at the front.

MESSAGES OF LOVE AND ENCOURAGEMENT.

Letters, messages of love and encouragement, were sent by noble women from many
counties of the State to encourage the brave sons and brothers in the South. Below we
give a copy of a printed letter sent from Knox county to the " boys in blue," as showing
the feelings of the women of the North. It was headed, "From the Women op Knox
County to Their Brothers in the Field." It was a noble, soul-inspiring message,

and kindled anew the intensest love for home, country, and a determination to crown tlie

stars and stripes with victory:

"You have gone out from our homes, but not from our hearts. Never for one mo-
ment are you forgotten. Through weary march and deadly conflict our prayers have
ever followed you ; your sufferings are our sufferings, your victories our great joy.

" If there be one of you who knows not the dear home ties, for whom no mother
prays, no sister watches, to him especially we speak. Let him feel tliat though he may
not have one mother he has many ; he is the adopted child and brother of all our hearts.

Not one of you is beyond the reach of our sympathies ; no picket-station so lonely that

it is not enveloped in the halo of our prayers.
" During all the long, dark months since our country called you from us, your cour-

age, your patient endurance, your fidelity, have awakened our keenest interest, and we
have longed to give you an expression of that interest.

" By the alacrity with which you sprang to arms, by the valor with which those arms
have been wielded, you have placed our State in the front ranks; you have made h.er

worthy to be the home of our noble President. For thus sustaining the honor of our

State, dear to us as life, we thank you.
" Of your courage we need not speak. Fort Donelson, Pea Ridge, Shiloh, Stone

River, Vicksburg, speak with blood-bathed lips of your heroism. The Army of the

Southwest fights beneath no defeat-shadowed banner ; to it, under God, the nation looks

for deliverance.
" But we, as women, have other cause for thanks. We will not speak of the debt

we owe the defenders of our Government ; that blood-sealed bond no words can cancel.

But we are your debtors in a way not often recognized. You have aroused us from the
aimlessness into which too many of our lives had drifted, and have infused into those

lives a noble pathos. We could not dream our time away while our brothers were dying
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for us. Even your sufferings have worked together for our good, by inciting us to labor
for their alleviation, thus giving us a work worthy of our womanhood. Every thing that

we have been permitted to do for your comfort has filled our lives so much the fuller of

all that makes life valuable. You have thus been the means of developing in us a nobler

type of womanhood than without the example of your heroism we could ever have at-

tained. For this our whole lives, made purer and nobler by the discipline, will thank you.
" This war will leave none of us as it found us. We can not buffet the raging wave

and escape all trace of the salt sea's foam. Toward better or toward worse we are hur-

ried with fearful haste. If we at home feel this, what must it be to you ! Our hearts

throb with agony when we think of you wounded, suffering, dying ; but the thought of

no physical pain touches us half so deeply as the thought of the temptations which sur-

round you. We could better give you up to die on the battle-field, true to your God and
to your country, than to have you return to us with blasted, blackened souls. When
temptations assail fiercely, you must let the thought that your mothers are praying for

strength enable you to overcome them. But fighting for a worthy cause worthily en-

nobles one ; herein is our confidence that you will return better men than you went away.
" By all that is noble in your manhood ; by all that is true in our womanhood ; by

all that is grand in patriotism ; by all that is sacred in religion, we adjure you to be faith-

ful to yourselves, to us, to your country, and to your Grod. Never were men permitted

to fight in a cause more worthy of their blood. Were you fighting for mere conquest, or

glory, we could not give you up ; but to sustain a principle, the greatest to which human
lips have ever given utterance, even your dear lives are not too costly a sacrifice. Let
that principle, the corner-stone of our independence, be crushed, and we are all slaves.

Like the Suliote mothers, we might well clasp our children in our arms and leap down to

death.
" To the stern arbitrament of the sword is now committed the honor, the very life of

this nation. You fight not for yourselves alone; the eyes of the whole world are on
you ; and if you fail our Nation's death-wail will echo through all coming ages, moaning
a requiem over the lost hopes of oppressed humanity. But you will not fail, so sure as

there is a God in Heaven. He never meant this richest argosy of the nations, freighted

with the fears of all the world's tj'rants, with the hopes of all its oppressed ones, to

flounder in darkness and death. Disasters may come, as they have come, but they will

only be, as they have been, ministers of good. Each one has led the nation upward to a

higher plane, from whence it has seen with a clearer eye. Success could not attend us at

the West so long as we scorned the help of the black hand, which alone had power to

open the gate of redemption ; the God of battles would not vouchsafe a victory at the

East till the very foot-prints of a McClellan were washed out in blood.
" But now all things seem ready ; we have accepted the aid of that hand ; those foot-

steps are obliterated. In his own good time we feel that God will give us the victory.

Till that hour comes we bid you fight on. Though we have not attained that heroism,

or decision, which enables us to give you up without a struggle, which can prevent our

giving tears for your Mood, though many of us must own our own hearts desolate till you re-

turn, still we bid you stay and fight for our country, till from this fierce baptism of blood

she shall be raised complete ; the dust shaken from her garments purified, a new Memnon
singing in the great Godlight."

shbkman's march to the sea.

On the 15th of November, 1864, after the destruction of Atlanta, and the railroads

behind' him, Sherman, with his army, began his march to the sea-coast. The almost

breathless anxiety with which his progress was watched by the loyal hearts of the nation,

and the trembling apprehension with which it was regarded by all who hoped for rebel

success, indicated this as one of the most remarkable events of the war ; and so it proved.
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Of Sherman's army, forty-five regiments of infantry, three companies of artillery, and one
of cavalry, were from this State. Lincoln answered all rumors of Sherman's defeat with,
" It is impossible ; there is a mighty sight of fight in 100,000 Western men." Illinois

soldiers brought home 300 battle flags. The first United States flag that floated over

Richmond was an Illinois flag. She sent messengers and nurses to every field and hospi-

tal to care for her sick and wounded sons.

Illinois gave the country the great general of the war, U. S. Grant.

OHAEACTEE OF ABEAHAM LINCOLN.

One other name from Illinois comes up in all minds, embalmed in all hearts, that

must have the supreme place in this sketch of our glory and of our nation's honor ; that

name is Abraham Lincoln. The analysis of Mr. Lincoln's character is difficult on account

of its symmetry. In this age we look with admiration at his uncompromising honesty

;

and well we may, for this saved us. Thousands throughout the length and breadth of

our country, who knew him only as " Honest Old Abe," voted for him on that account

;

and wisely did they choose, for no other man could have carried us through the fearful

night of war. When his plans were too vast for our comprehension, and his faith in the

cause too sublime for our participation ; when it was all night about us, and all dread

before us, and all sad and desolate behind us ; when not one ray shone upon our cause
;

when traitors were haughty and exultant at the South, and fierce and blasphemous at the

North ; when the loyal men seemed almost in the minority ; when the stoutest heart

quailed, the bravest cheek paled ; when generals were defeating each other for place, and
contractors were leeching out the very heart's blood of the republic ; when • every thing

else had failed us, we looked at this calm, patient man standing like a rock in the storm,

and said, " Mr. Lincoln is honest, and we can trust him still." Holding to this single point

with the energy of faith and despair, we held together, and under God he brought us

through to victory. His practical wisdom made him the wonder of all lands. With such

certainty did Mr. Lincoln follow causes to their ultimate effects, that his foresight of con-

tingencies seemed almost prophetic. He is radiant with all the great virtues, and his

memory will shed a glory upon this age that will fill the eyes of men as they look into

history. Other men have excelled him in some points ; but, taken at all points, he stands

head and shoulders above every other man of 6,000 years. An administrator, he saved

the nation in the perils of unparalleled civil war ; a statesman, he justified his measures
by their success ; a philanthropist, he gave liberty to one race and salvation to another

;

a moralist, he bowed from the summit of human power to the foot of the cross ; a media-

tor, he exercised mercy under the most absolute obedience to law ; a leader, he was no
partisan ; a commander, he was untainted with blood ; a ruler in desperate times, he was
unsullied with crime ; a man, he has left no word of passion, no thought of malice, no
trick of craft, no act of jealousy, no purpose of selfish ambition. Thus perfected, with-

out a model and without a peer, he was dropped into these troubled years to adorn and
embellish all that is good and all that is great in our humanity, and to present to all com-
ing time the representative of the divine idea of free government. It is not too much to

say that away down in the future, when the republic has fallen from its niche in the wall

of time ; when the great war itself shall have faded out in the distance like a mist on the
horizon ; when the Anglo-Saxon shall be spoken only by the tongue of the stranger, then
the generations looking this way shall see the great President as the supreme figure in

this great vortex of history.

THE WAR ENDED—THE UNION EESTOEED.

The rebellion was ended with the surrender of Lee and his army, and Johnson and
his command in April, 1865. Our armies at the time were up to their maximum strength,

never so formidable, never so invincible ; and, until recruiting ceased by order of Secre-
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tary Stanton, were daily strengthening. The necessity, however, for so vast and formida-
ble numbers ceased with the disbanding of the rebel forces, which had for more than four
years disputed the supremacy of the Government over its domain. And now the joy-

LINCOLN MONUMENT AT SPBINGPIJELD.

ful and welcome news was to be borne to the victorious legions that their work was
ended in triumph, and they were to be permitted " to see homes and friends once
more.

DEATH OF LINCOLN.

But this work was scarcely done till a terrible event occurred at Washington.
While President Lincoln was sitting in a theater with his wife and friends, an actor

named John Wilkes Booth, maddened by Lee's overthrow, came unnoticed into his box,

leveled a pistol, and shot the President in the head. The victim died the next morning.

The assassin leaped upon the stage, escaped through the darkness, and fled. He was
pursued, found concealed in a barn, and shot. The grief of the nation was very marked.
No President had ever been put to so severe a test, and none, since Washington, had so

endeared himself to the people. His honesty, simplicity, fidelity, and sympathetic

nature, which never deserted him, had secured his re-election by a large majority. The
colored people especially mourned for him as for a father. " He went through life bear-

ing the load of the people's sorrows with a smiling face. He was the guiding mind of

the nation while he lived, and when he died, the little children cried in the streets."
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Schedule— Showjng Statement op Volunteer Teoops Obganizbd within

THE State,

and sent to the field, commencing April, 1861, and ending December 31, 1865, with number of regiment, name of

.

original commanding officer, date of organization and muster into United States' service, place of muster, and the

aggregate strength of each organization.

INFANTRY.

No.

7
8

9
10

II

12

13

14
15
16

17
18

19
20
21

22

23

24
25
26

27
28

29
30
31
32

33
34
35
36

37
38

39
40
41

42
43
44
45
46

47
48

49
50
51

52

53

54
55
56

57
58

59
60
61

62

Oommanding officer at organization.

Col. John Cook
" Richard J. Oglesby.-
" Eleazer A Paine
" Jas. D. Morgan
" W.H.L. Wallace ...

" John McArthur-
" JohnB. Wyman
" John M. Palmer
" Thos. J. Turner
" Robert F. Smith
" Leonard F. Ross
" Michael K. Lawler...
" John B. Turchin
" Chas. C. Marsh
" Ulysses S. Grant
" Henry Dougherty
" Jas. A. Mulligan
" Frederick Hecker
" Wm. N. Coler
" John M. Loomis
" Nap. B. Buford
" A.K.Johnson
" Tas. S. Rearden
" Philip B. Fouke
" John A. Logan
" John Logan
" Chas. E. Hovey
" Edward N. Kirk
" Gus. A. Smith.
" Nich. Greusel
" Julius White
" Wm. P. Carlin

,

" Austin Light
" Steph. G. Hicks
" Isaac C. Pugh
" Wm. A. Webb ,

" Julius Raith
" Chas. Noblesdorff
" John E. Smith
" John A. Davis.
" John Bryner
" Isham N. Haynie
" Wm. R. Morrison
" Moses M. Bane ,

" G. W. Gumming
" Isaac G. Wilson
'• W. H. W. Cushman
" Thos. W. Harris
" David Stuart
" Robert Kirkham
" Silas D. Baldwin
" Wm. F. Lynch
" P. Sidney Post
" Silas C.Toler
' Jacob Fry
" James M. True

Date of organization and muster into
the United State service.

July 25, 186I-

May 24, 1861 .

May 25, 1861 ,

May 24, 1861 .

May 28, 1861 .

June 13, 1861.

June 15, i86i_

June 25, 186I-

June 18, 1861.

July 8, 1861 ..

Oct. 31, 1861

Aug. 3, 1861 ..

July 27, 1861 .

Sept. 30, 1 861.
Sept. 8, i86i..
Dec. 31, 1861

.

Aug. 15, 1861-

Sept. 7, i86j..

Sept. 23, 1861 ,

Sept. 18, 1861

Aiig. 15, 1861
Dec. 15, 1861

Aug; ID, 1861
Aug. 9, i86i._
Sept. 17, 1861
Dec. 16, 1861

Sept. 13, 1861
Dec. 26, i86i... •...

Dec. 28, 1861
Oct. 1,1861
Nov. 18, 1861

Dec. 31, 1861

Sept. 12, 1861 -

Dec. 1861, Feb. 1862
Nov. ig, 1861-

March, 1862
Feb. 18, 1862
Oct. 31, 1861

Feb. 27, 1862
Dec. 26, 1861
Dec. 24, 1861

August, 1861

Feb. 17, lB62
March 7, 1862
April 10, 1862

Place where mustered into the
United States service.

Aggregate
strength
since or-

ganization.

Cairo, Illinois

Dixon
Jacksonville

.

Freeport

Quincy
Peoria

Anna .

Joliet....
Mattoon

.

Belleville

Chicago - -

Chicago .

Camp Butler.

Camp
Camp
Camp
Camp
Camp
Camp
Camp

Butler -

Butler.

Butler.
Butler.
Butler.

Butler.

Butler.

Aurora
Chicago
Camp Butler..
Chicago
Salem
Decatur
Chicago
Camp Butler..

Chicago
Galena
Camp Butler..
Peoria

Camp Butler..

Camp Butler..
Quincy
Camp Douglas.
Geneva
Ottawa
Anna
Camp Douglas

-

Shawneetown .

.

Camp Douglas.
Camp Douglas.
St. Louis, Mo..
Anna
CarroUton
Anna

1747
1853
1265

1759
1384
1675
1112

201;
2028

1833

1259
2043

1095
1817
1266

1 164

1982

989
1082

1602

"93
1939
1547
1878

1973
1711
1660

1558
1012

1593
1157
1388
1807

1277
1211

1824

1902
1512
1716

2015
2051

1874
1482

1761

1550
1519
1434
1720

1287
1180

1754
2202
1762
1647
1385
1730
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Schedule— Showing Statement of Volunteer Troops Organized within
THE State.— Continued.

INFANTRY.— Continued.

No.

63
64
65
66
67
68

69
70
71
72

73

75
76
77
78

79
80
8i
82

83
84
85
86

, 87
88

89
90
91
92

93
94
95
96
97
98

99
100
loi
102

103

104
105
106
107
108

109
no
III

112

"3
114

"5
,116

117
tii8

J 19
1120

221
322

Commanding officer at organization.

Col. Francis Mora
Lt. Col. D. D. Williams
Col. Daniel Cameron -

Patrick E. Burke
Rosell M. Hough
Elias Stuart

Jos. H. Tucker
O. T. Reeves
Othniel Gilbert

Frederick A. Starring.

Jas. F. Jaquess
' Jason Marsh

George Ryan
Alonzo W. Mack

' David P. Grier
' W. H. Bennison
' Lyman Guinnip
' Thos. G. Allen
' Jas. J. DoUins
' Frederick Hecker
' Abner C. Harding
' Louis H. Waters
' Robert S, Moore
' David D. Irons
' John E. Whiting
' F.T. Sherman

John Christopher
Timothy O'Mera
Henry M. Day

' Smith D. Atkins
' Holden Putnam
' Wm. W. Orme

Lawr'n S. Church
' Thos. E. Champion
' F. S. Rutherford.
' J.J. Funkhouser
' G. W.K. Bailey
' Fred. A. Bartleson
' Chas. H. Fox
' Wm. McMurty
' Amos C. Babcock

Absalom B. Moore
' Daniel Dustin
' Robert B. Latham
' Thomas Snell
' John Warner

Alex. J. Nimmo
' Thos. S. Casey

James S. Martin
T. J. Henderson
Geo. B. Hoge
James W. Judy
Jesse H. Moore
Nathan H. Tupper
Risden M.Moore
John G. Fonda
Thos. J. Kenney
George W. McKeaig .

.

Never organized

Col. John I. Rinaker

Date of organization and muster into
the United States service.

April 10, 1862.

Dec. 31, 1862 .

May 15, 1862 .

April, 1862 ...

June 13, 1862 .

June 20, 1862.

June 14, 1862 .

July 4, 1862...
July 26, 1862..
Aug. 21, 1862.

(<

Sept. 4, 1862..
Sept. 2, 1862..
Aug. 22, 1862 .

*Sept. 3, 1862 .

Sept. I, 1862..
Aug. 28, 1862.

Aug. 25, 1862.
Aug.. 26, 1862.

Aug. 21, i862_

Sept. I, 1862..
Aug. 27, 1862.

Sept. 22, 1862..
Aug. 27, 1862..
*Aug. 25, 1862.
Nov. 22, 1862..
Sept. 8,1862 ...

Sept. 4, 1862 ...

Oct. 13, 1862...
Aug. 20, 1862 -.

Sept. 4, 1862...
Sept. 6, 1862...
Sept. 8, 1862...
Sept. 3, 1862...

Aug. 26, 1862..

Aug. 30, 1862..

Sept. 2, 1862...

Oct. 2, 1862...
Aug. 27, 1862.

Sept. 2, i;862..

Sept. 17, 1862.

Sept. 4, 1862..

Aug. 28, 1862.

Sept. II, 1862.

Sept. 18, 1862.

Sept, 12, 1862.

Oct. I, 1862...

Sept. 18, 1862 -

Sept. 13, 1862.

Sept. 30, 1862.

Sept. 19, 1862.

Nov. 29, 1862.

Oct. 7, 1862...

Oct. ^9, 1862..

Sept. 4, 1862 Carlinville

Place where mustered into the
United States service.

Anna
Camp Butler
Camp Douglas .

St. Louis, Mo.
Camp Douglas
Camp Butler

Camp Douglas. -

Camp Butler

Camp Douglas
Camp Douglas
Camp Butler

Rockford
Dixon
Kankakee.
Peoria

Quincy
Danville
Centralia

Anna
Camp Butler
Monmouth
Quincy
Peoria
Peoria
Shawneetown
Camp Douglas
Camp Douglas
Camp Douglas
Camp Butler

Rockford
Princeton and Chicago .

Bloomington
Rockford
Rockford
Camp Butler

Centralia.

Florence, Pike Co.

Joliet :

Jacksonville

Knoxville
Peoria

Ottavfa

Chicago
Lincoln
Camp Butler

Peoria-. 1-.

Anna
Anna
Salem
Peoria _

Camp Douglas
Camp Butler
Camp Butler _ ,

Decatur '

Camp Butler

Camp Butler
Quincy
Camp Butler

Aggregate
strength
since or-

ganization.

1228

1624
1683
1694

979
889
912
1006

940
1471
968

989
987
IIIO
105

1

I02S

974
928
1187

961
1286

956
959
993
994
907
1285

958
1041
1265
1036
1091

1427
1206
1082

1078

936
921
911

998
917
977
looi

1097

944
927
967
873

994
1095
1258

990
960
952
995
IIOI

952
844

934
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ScHBDULB— Showing Statement op Volttntbbb Troops Organized

WITHIN THE State.—Continued.

infantry.— Continued.

No.

123
124
125
126

127
128

129
130
131

132

133

134
135
136

137
138

139
140
141

142

143
144
145
146

147
148

149
150
151
152

153

154
155
156

Commanding officer at organization.

Col. James Moore
' Thomas J. Sloan

Oscar F. Harmon
' Jonathan Richmond.

John VanArman
Robert M. Hudley..

' George P. Smith
' Nathaniel Niles

George W. Neeley..
Thomas C. Pickett..

' Thad. Phillips
' W. W. McChesney .

' Johns. Wolfe
' Fred. A. Johns
' John Wood
' J.W.Goodwin
' Peter Davidson
' L.H.Whitney
' Stephen Bronson

Rollin V. Ankney
' Dudley C. Smith
' Cyrus Hall
' George W. Lackey.

.

' Henry H. Dean
' Hiram F. Sickles

Horace H. Wilsie

Wm. C. Kueffner
' George W. Keener..

French B. Woodall..
F. D. Stephenson
Stephen Bronson
McLean F. Wood
Gustavus A. Smith .

.

Alfred F. Smith

J. W.Wilson
John A. Bross

Capt. John Curtis
" Simon J. Stookey
' James Steele -

Date of organization and muster into
the United States service.

Sept. 6, 1862..

Sept. 10, 1862.
Sept. 4, 1862 - -

*Sept. 5, 1862.
Dec. 18, 1862 -

Sept. 8, 1862..
Oct. 25, 1865

.

Nov. 13, 1862.

June I, 1864 ..

May 31, 1864.

June 6, 1864..

June I, 1864..

June 5, 1864..
June 21, 1864 .

June I, 1864 ..

June 18, 1864 .

June 16, 1864 .

June 18, 1864 .

June II, 1864 .

Oct. 21, 1864 .

June 9, 1864 ..

Sept. 20, 1864.
Feb. 18, 1865 .

Feb. II, 1865
Feb. 14, 1865 -

Feb. 25, 1865 -

Feb. i8, 1865 .

Feb. 27, 1865 .

Feb. 22, 1865 .

Feb. 28, 1865 .

March 9, 1865.
Dec. I, 1861 ..

June 21, 1864 .

June 15, 1864.

Place where mustered into the
United States service.

Mattoon
Camp Butler

Danville

Chicago
Camp Douglas
Camp Butler

Pontiac
Camp Butler

Camp Massac
Camp Fry
Camp Butler

Camp Fry
Mattoon
Centralia

Quincy
Quincy
Peoria

Camp Butler

Elgin
Camp Butler

Mattoon
Alton, Ills -

Camp Butler

Camp Butler

Chicago -

Quincy
Camp Butler
Camp Butler

Quincy
Camp Butler -

Chicago
Camp Butler

Camp Butler
Chicago I

Chicago
Quincy
Camp Butler
Camp Butler
Chicago

Aggregate
strength
since or-

ganization.

1050
II30

933
998

957
866
lOII

932
880

853
851

878

852

842

849
835
878
871

842

851

865

"59
880

1056

1047

917

983

933
970

945
1076

994
929

975
985

903
91

90
86

CAVALRY.

I

2

3

4
5

6

7
8

9
10

II

12

13

14
15
16

17

Col. Thomas A. Marshall...
" Silas Noble.
" Eugene A. Carr
" T. Lyle Dickey
" John J. Updegraff
" Thomas H . Cavanaugh .

" Wm. Pitt Kellogg
" John F. Farnsworth ...

" Albert G. Brackett
" James A. Barrett
" Robert G. IngersoU
" Arno Voss
" Joseph W.Bell
" Horace Capron
'

' Warren Stewart
" Christian Thielman
" John L. Beveridge

June, 1861
Aug. 24, 1861

Sept. 21, 1861
Sept. 30, 1861

December, 1861

Nov. 1861, Jan. 1862..

August, 1861
Sept. i8, 1861

Oct. 26, 1861

Nov. 25, 1861

Dec. 20, i86i

Dec, 1861, Feb. 1862 .

Jan. 7, 1863 -

Organized Dec. 25. 1863.

Jan. and April, 1863

Jan. 28, 1864

Bloomington ..

Camp Butler ..

Camp Butler ..

Ottawa
Camp Butler .

.

Camp Butler ..

Camp Butler ..

St. Charles
Camp 'Douglas.
Camp Butler ..

Peoria
Camp Butler ..

Camp Douglas.
Peoria

Camp Butler ..

Camp Butler ..

St. Charles

1206

i86i

2183
1656

1669

2248
2282

2412

2619

1934
2362

2174

1759
1565

1473
1462

1247
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SoHBDULB— Showing Statbmekt of Volunteer Tkoops Organized within the
State. — Continued.

Illinois Light Artillert.— First Regiment.

Com-
pany.

A
B
c
D
E
F
G
H
I

K
L
M

Commanding o£Eicer at organization.

Field and Staff-

Capt. CM. Willard
Ezra Taylor
C. Haughtaling
Edward McAllister

-

A. C. Waterhouse
John T. Cheney
Arthur O'Leary
Axel Silversparr

Edward Bouton
A. Franklin ..-

John Rourke
JohnB. Miller

Recruits

Date of Organization and Muster into
the United States Service.

Oct. 31, 1861..

Jan. 14, 1862..
Dec. 19, 1861..
Feb. 25, i86a.

Feb. 28, 1862.
Feb. 20, 1862-
Feb. 15. 1862.

Jan. 9, 1862..
Feb. 22, 1862.
Aug. 12, 1862.

Place where mustered into the
United States Service.

Chicago
Chicago
Ottawa
Plainfield

Chicago
Camp Butler .

Cairo
Chicago
Chicago
Shawneetown.
Chicago
Chicago

Aggregate
Strength
since Or-
ganization

7
168

204

17s
141

148

159
113

147
169

96
153
154
883

Illinois Light Artillery. — Second Regiment.

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
X

K
L
M

Capt. Peter Davidson
Riley Madison
Caleb Hopkins
Jasper M, Dresser
Adolph Schwartz
John W. Powell
Charles J. Stolbrand.
Andrew Steinbeck
Charles W. Keith
Benjamin F. Rogers .

.

William H. Bolton. .

.

John C. Phillips

Field and Staff

Recruits-

Aug.
June
Aug.
Dec.
Feb.
Dec.
Dec.
Dec.
Dec.
Dee.
Feb.

June

17, 186I-
20, 1861.

5, 1861..

17, 1861-
I, 1862..
II, 1861.

31, 1861.

31, 1861.

31, 1861-

31, 1861.

28, 1862-

6, 1862..

Peoria

Springfield

Cairo .

Cairo
Cairo
Cape Girardeau, Mo..
Camp Butler
Camp Butler.-
Camp Butler

Camp Butler

Chicago
Chicago

116

127

154
117

136
190
lo8

"5
107
108

145
100
10

1,171

Independent Batteries.

Company. Commanding Officer at Organization.
Date of Organization and
iluster into the United

States Service.

Place where mustered
into the United
States Service.

Aggregate
Strength
since Or-
ganization

Board of Trade Cant Tames S Stoke<? July .31, 1862
Aug. 21, 1862
Aug. 29, 1862
Nov. 15, 1862
Sept. 23, 1862
Oct. 15, 1862

Jan. I, 1862
Oct. 10, 1863

.

Chicago 258
" Thomas F.Vaughn --

" Charles G Coolev
Camp Butler

Chicago
199
270

Elgin " George W. Renwick Elgin 242
Camp Douglas
Ottawa

221
" Ed. C. Henshaw 196

Bridges' " Lyman Bridges Chicago 252
Colvin's " Tohn H!. Colvin _-.. Chicago. 91

127Busteed's Chicago

13

Recapitulation.

Infantry

.

Cavalry..
Artillery.

.185,941
- 32,082

- 7.277
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CHAPTER XY.

DUELS AND DUELING.

The Code of Chivalry— Bloody and Bloodless— Pistols and Coffee — Broad Swords and Long Arms — From the

Field of Honor to the Gallows.

The code of chivalry so common among Southern gentlemen and so frequently

brought into use in settling personal differences has also been called to settle the " affairs

of honor" in our own State, however, but few times, and those in the earlier days. Sev-

eral attempts at duels have occurred ; before the disputants met in mortal combat the

differences were amicably and satisfactorily settled; honor was maintained with-

out the sacrifice of life. In 1810 a law was adopted to suppress the practice

of dueling. This law held the fatal result of dueling to be murder, and, as it

was intended, had the effect of making it odious and dishonorable. Prior to the consti-

tution of 1848, parties would evade the law by going beyond the jurisdiction of the

State to engage in their contests of honor. At that time they incorporated in the Con-
stitution an oath of office, which was so broad as to cover the whole world. Any person

who had ever fought a duel, ever sent or accepted a challenge or acted the part of second

was disfranchised from holding office, even of minor importance. After this went into

effect, no other duel or attempt at a duel has been engaged in within the State of Illinois,

save those fought by parties living outside of the State, who came here to settle their

personal differences.

THE PIEST DUEL.

The first duel fought within the boundaries of this great State was between two
young military officers, one of the French and the other of the English army, in the year

1765. It was at the time the British troops came to take possession of Fort Chartres,

and a woman was the cause of it. The affair occurred early Sunday morning, near the

old fort. They fought with swords, and in the combat one sacrificed his life.

BOND AND JONES.

In 1809 the next duel occurred and was bloodless of itself, but out of it grew a quar-

rel which resulted in the assassination of one of the contestants. The principals were
Shadrach Bond, the first governor, and Rice Jones, a bright young lawyer, who became
quite a politician and the leader of his party. A personal difference arose between the

two, which to settle, the parties met for mortal combat on an island in the Mississippi.

The weapons selected were hair-trigger pistols. After taking their position Jones'

weapon was prematurely discharged. Bond's second, Dunlap, now claimed that accord-

ing to the code Bond had the right to the next fire. But Bond would not take so great

advantage of his opponent, and said it was an accident and would not fire. Such noble
conduct touched the generous nature of Jones, and the difficulty was at once amicably
settled. Dunlap, however, bore a deadly hatred for Jones, and one day while he was
standing in the street in Kaskaskia, conversing with a lady, he crept up behind him and
shot him dead in his tracks. Dunlap successfully escaped to Texas.

BBCTOE AND BABTON.

In 1812 the bloody code again brought two young men to the field of honor. They
were Thomas Rector, a son of Capt. Stephen Rector, who bore such a noble part in the
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war of 1812, and Joshua Barton, They had espoused the quarrel of older brothers.

The affair occurred on Bloody Island, in the Mississippi, but' in the limits of Illinois.

This place was frequented so often by Missourians to settle personal difficultiess, that it

received the name of Bloody Island. Barton fell in this conflict.

STBWABT AND BENNETT.

In 1819 occurred the first duel fought after the admission of the State into the

Union. This took place in St. Clair county between Alphonso Stewart and William
Bennett. It was intended to be a sham duel, to turn ridicule against Bennett, the chal-

lenging party. Stewart was in the secret, but Bennett was left to believe it a reality^

Their guns were loaded with blank cartridges. Bennett, suspecting a trick, put a ball

into his gun without the knowledge of his seconds. The word " fire " was given, and
Stewart fell mortally wounded. Bennett made his escape, but was subsequently captured,

convicted of murder and suffered the penalty of the law by hanging.

PEARSON AND BAKER.

In 1840 a personal difference arose between two State Senators, Judge Pearson and
E. D. Baker. The latter, smarting under the epithet of "falsehood," threatened to

chastise Pearson in the public streets, by a "fist fight." Pearson declined making a
" blackguard " of himself, but intimated his readiness to fight as gentlemen, according to

the code of honor. The affair, however, was carried no further.

HARDIN AND DODGE.

The exciting debates in the Legislature in 1840-'41 were often bitter in personal
" slings," and threats of combats were not infrequent. During these debates, in one of

the speeches by the Hon. J. J. Hardin, Hon. A. R. Dodge thought he discovered a per-

sonal insult, took exceptions, and an " affair " seemed imminent. The controversy was
referred to friends, however, and amicably settled.

m'clebnand and smith.

Hon. John A. ATcGlernand, a member of the House, in a speech delivered during
the same session made charges against the Whig Judges of the Supreme Conrt. This
brought a note from Judge T. W. Smith, by the hands of his "friend" Dr. Merriman,
to McClernand. This was construed as a challenge, and promptly accepted, naming
the place of meeting to be Missouri ; time, early ; the weapons, rifles ; and distance, 40
paces. At this critical juncture, the attorney general had a warrant issued against the

Judge, whereupon he was arrested and placed under bonds to keep the peace. Thus
ended this attempt to vindicate injured honor.

LINCOLN AND SHIELDS.

During the hard times subsequent to the failure of the State and other banks, in

1842, specie became scarce while State money was plentiful, but worthless. The State

officers thereupon demanded specie payment for taxes. This was bitterly opposed, and
so fiercely contested that the collection of taxes was suspended.

During the period of the greatest indignation toward the State officials, under the

nom de plvme of " Rebecca," Abraham Lincoln had an article published in the Sangamo
Journal, entitled " Lost Township." In this article, written in the form of a dialogue,

the officers of the State were roughly handled, and especially Auditor Shields. The
name of the author was demanded from the editor by Mr. Shields, who was very indig-

nant over the manner in which he was treated. The name of Abraham Lincoln was
given as the author. It is claimed by some of his biographers, however, that the article

was prepared by a lady, and that when the name of the author was demanded, in a spirit
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of gallantry, Mr. Lincoln gave his name. In company with Gen. Whiteside, General

Shields pursued Lincoln to Tremont, Tazewell county, where he was in attendance upon
the court, and immediately sent him a note " requiring a full, positive and absolute re-

traction of all offensive allusions " made to him in relation to his " private character and
standing as a man, or an apology for the insult conveyed." Lincoln had been fore-

warned, however, for William Butler and Dr. Merriman, of Springfield, had become
acquainted with Shields' intentions and by riding all night arrived at Tremont ahead of

Shields and informed Lincoln what he might expect. Lincoln answered Shields' note,

refusing to offer any explanation, on the grounds that Shields' note assumed the fact of

his (Lincoln's) authorship of the article, and not pointing out what the offensive part

was, and accompanying the same with threats as to consequences. Mr. Shields answered

this, disavowing all intention to menace ; inquired if he was the author, asked a retrac-

tion of that portion relating to his private character. Mr. Lincoln, still technical, re-

turned this note with the verbal statement " that there could be no further negotiations

until the first note was withdrawn." At this Shields named General Whiteside as his

"friend," when Lincoln reported Dr. Merriman as his "friend." These gentlemen

secretly pledged themselves to agree upon some amicable terms, and compel their prin-

cipals to accept them. The four went to Springfield, when Lincoln left for Jackson-

ville, leaving the following instructions to guide his friend. Dr. Merriman:
" In case Whiteside shall signify a wish to adjust this affair without further diffi-

culty, let him know that if the present papers be withdrawn and a note from Mr. Shields,

asking to know if I am the author of the articles of which he complains, and asking that

I shall make him gentlemanly satisfaction, if I am the author, and this without menace
or dictation as to what that satisfaction shall be, a pledge is made that the following

answer shall be given

:

" I did write the ' Lost Township ' letter which appeared in the Journal of the zd inst., but had no participa-

tion, in any form, in any other article alluding to you. I wrote that wholly for political effect. I had no intention

of injuring your personal or private character or standing, as a man or gentleman ; and I did not then think, and
do not now think, thaf that .article could produce or has produced that effect against you ; and, had I anticipated

such an effect, would have foreborne to write it.j And I will add that your conduct toward me, so far as I know,
had always been gentlemanly, and that I had no personal pique against you, and no cause for any.

" If this should be done, I leave it to you to manage what shall and what shall not

be published. If nothing like this is done, the preliminaries of the fight are to be

:

" 1st. Wea'pom.—Cavalry broad swords of the largest size, precisely equal in all

respects, and such as are now used by the cavalry company at Jacksonville.
" 2d. Position.—A plank ten feet long and from nine to twelve inches broad, to be

firmly fixed on edge, on the ground, as a line between us which neither is to pass his foot

over on forfeit of his life. Next a line drawn on the ground on either side of said plank,

and parallel with it, each at the distance of the whole length of i the sword, and three

feet additional from the plank ; and the passing of his own such line by either party

during the fight, shall be deemed a surrender of the contest.
" 8d. Time.— On Thursday evening at 5 o'clock, if you can get it so ; but in no

case to be at a greater distance of time than Friday evening at 5 o'clock.

"4th. Place.— Within three miles of Alton, on the opposite side of the river, the

particular spot to be agreed on by you.
" Any preliminary details coming within the above rules, you are at liberty to make

at your discretion, but you are in no case to swerve from these rules, or pass beyond their

limits."

The position of the contestants, as prescribed by Lincoln, seems to have been such
as both would have been free from coming in contact with the sword of the other, and
the first impression is that it is nothing more than one of Lincoln's jokes. He possessed

very long arms, however, and could reach his adversary at the stipulated distance.
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Not being amicably arranged, all parties repaired to the field of combat in Missouri.
Gen. Hardin and Dr. English, as mutual friends of both Lincoln and Shields, arrived in
the meantime, and after much correspondence, at their earnest solicitation, the affair was
satisfactorily arranged, Lincoln making a statement similar to the one above referred to.

SHIELDS AND BTJTLEK.

William Butler, one of Lincoln's seconds, was dissatisfied with the bloodless termi-
nation of the Lincoln-Shields affair, and wrote an account of it for the Sangamo Journal.
This article reflected discreditably upon both the principals engaged in that controversy.
Shields replied by the hands of his friend. Gen. Whiteside, in a curt, menacing note,

which was promptly accepted as a challenge by Butler, and the inevitable Dr. Merriman
named as his friend, who submitted the following as preliminaries of the fight:

Time.— Sunrise on the following morning.
Place.— Col. Allen's farm (about one mile north of State House).
Weapons.— Rifles.

Distance.— One hundred yards.

The parties to stand with their, right sides toward each other— the rifles to be held
in both hands horizontally and cocked, arms extended downwards. Neither party to

move his person or his rifle after being placed, before the word fire. The signal to be

:

" Are you ready ? Fire! One— two— three!" About a second of time intervening
between each word. Neither party to fire before the word " fire," nor after the word
" three."

Gen. Whiteside, in language curt and abrupt, addressed a note to Dr. Merriman
declining to accept the terms. Gen. Shields, however, addressed another note to Butler,

explaining the feelings of his second, and offering to go out to a lonely place on the

prairie to fight, where there would be no danger of being interrupted ; or, if that did
not suit, he would meet him on his own conditions, when and where he pleased. Butler
claimed the affair was closed and declined the proposition.

"WHITESIDE AND MERRIMAN.

Now Gen. Whiteside and Dr. Merriman, who several times had acted in the capacity

of friends or seconds, were to handle the deadly weapons as principals. While second
in the Shields-Butler fiasco, Whiteside declined the terms proposed by Butler, in curt

and abrupt language, stating that the place of combat could not be dictated to him, for

it was as much his right as Merriman's, who if he was a gentleman, would recognize and
concede it. To this Merriman replied by the hands of Capt. Lincoln. It will be
remembered that Merriman had acted in the same capacity for Lincoln. Whiteside then
wrote to Merriman, asking to meet him at St. Louis, when he would hear from him
further. To this Merriman replied, denying his right to name place, but offered to meet
in Louisiana, Mo. This Whiteside would not agree to, but later signified his desire to

meet him there, but the affair being closed, the doctor declined to re-open it.

PRATT AND CAMPBELL.

These two gentlemen were members of the Constitutional Convention of 1847, and
both from Jo Daviess county. A dispute arose which ended in a challenge to meet
on the field of honor. They both repaired to St. Louis, but the authorities gaining

knowledge of their bloody intentions, had both parties arrested, which ended this

" affair."
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CHAPTER XVI.

DRESS AND MANNERS.

Mistake of Charlevoix— " Capets "— Wool Hats— Linsey Dresses and Sun Bonnets— Hunting Shirts— Moccasins
— Coon Skin Caps— Deer Skin Pantaloons.

The dress, habits, etc., of any people, are such true indexes to their conditions and
surroundings that we introduce a brief exposition of the manner of life of Illinois people

at different periods.

The Indians are credited by Charlevoix with being " very laborious "— raising poul-

try, spinning the wool of the buffalo and manufacturing garments therefrom. These
must have been, however, more than usually favorable representatives of their race. No
such Indians were known in Illinois.

" The working and voyaging dress of the French masses," says Reynolds, " was sim-

ple and primitive. The Erench were like the lilies of the valley (the ' Old Ranger ' was
not always exact in his quotations,)— they neither spun nor wove any of their clothing,

but purchased it from the merchants. The white blanket coat, known as the capot, was
the universal and eternal coat for the Winter with the many. A cape was made to it that

could be raised over the head in cold weather. In the house, and in good weather, the

cape hung behind. The reason that I know these coats so well is, that I have worn
many in my youth, and a working man never wore a better garment. Dressed deer-skins

and blue cloth were worn commonly in the Winter for pantaloons. The blue handker-

chief and the deer-skin moccasins covered the head and feet generally of the French Cre-

oles. In 1800, scarcely a man thought himself clothed unless he had a belt tied around
his blanket coat, and on one side was hung the dressed skin of a pole-cat, filled with to-

bacco, pipe, flint and steel. On the other side was fastened, under the belt, the butcher-

knife. A Creole in this dress felt like Tam O'Shanter filled with usquebaugh— he could

face the devil. Checked calico shirts were then common, but in Winter flannel was fre-

quently worn. In the Summer, the laboring men and the voyagers often took their shirts

off in hard work and hot weather, and turned out the naked back to the air and the sun.

"Among the Americans," he adds, " home-made wool hats were the common wear.

Fur hats were not common, and scarcely a boot was seen. The covering of the feet in

Winter was chiefly moccasins made of deer-skins, and shoe packs of tanned leather. Some
wore shoes, but not common in very early times. In the Summer the greater portion of

the young people, male and female, and many of the old, went barefoot. The substantial

and universal outside wear was the blue linsey hunting-shirt. This was an excellent

garment, and I have never felt so happy and healthy since I laid it off. It was made with
wide sleeves, open before, with ample size so as to envelop the body almost twice around.
Sometimes it had a large cape, which answered well to save the shoulders from the rain.

A belt was mostly used to keep the garment close around the person, but there was
nothing tight about it to hamper the body. It was often fringed, and at times the fringe

was composed of red, and other gay colors. The belt, frequently, is sewed to the hunt-
ing-shirt. The vest was mostly made of striped linsey. The colors were often made
with alum, copperas and madder, boiled with the bark of trees, in such a manner and
proportions as the old ladies prescribed. The pantaloons of the masses were generally
made of deer-skin and linsey. Coarse, blue cloth was sometimes made into pantaloons.

" Linsey, neat and fine, manufactured at home, composed generally the outside gar-

ments of the females ^s y^^U as the males. The ladies had linsey colored and woven to
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suit their fancy. A bonnet, composed of calico, or some gay goods, was worn on the head
when they were in the open air. Jewelry on the pioneer ladies was uncommon ; a gold
ring was an ornament not often seen."

In 1820 a change of dress began to take place, and before 1830, according to Ford,

most of the pioneer costume had disappeared. " The blue linsey hunting-shirt, with red
or white fringe, had given place to the cloth coat. [Jeans would be more like the fact.]

The raccoon cap, with the tail of the animal dangling down behind, had been thrown
aside for hats of wool or fur. Boots and shoes had supplied the deer-skin moccasins, and
the leather breeches, strapped tight around the ankle, had disappeared before unmen-
tionables of a more modern material. The female sex had made still greater progress in

dress. The old sort of cotton or woolen frocks, spun, woven, and made with their own
fair hands, and striped and cross-barred with blue dye and turkey red, had given place to

gowns of silk and calico. The feet, before in a state of nudity, now dressed in shoes of

calf-skin or slippers of kid ; and the head, formerly unbonneted, but covered with a cot-

ton handkerchief, now displayed the charms of the female face under many forms of bon-

nets of straw, silk and leghorn. The young ladies, instead of walking a mile or two to

church on Sunday, carrying their shoes and stockings in their hands until within a hun-
dred yards of the place of worship, as formerly, now came forth arrayed complete in all

the pride of dress, mounted on fine horses and attended by their male admirers."

The last half century has doubtless witnessed changes quite as great as those set

forth by the old Illinois historian. The chronicler of to-day, looking back to the golden
days of 1830 to 1840, and comparing them with the present, must be struck with the

tendency of an almost monotonous uniformity in dress and manners that comes from the

easy inter-communication afforded by steamer, boats, railways, telegaphs and newspapers.

Home manufacturers have been driven from the household by the low-priced fabrics of

distant mills. The Kentucky jeansi and the copperas-colored clothing of home manufac-
ture, so familiar a few years ago, have given place to the cassimeres and cloths of noted
factories. The ready-made-clothing stores, like a touch of nature, made the whole world
kin, and drape the charcoal man in a dress-coat and a stove-pipe hat. The prints and
silks of England and France give a variety of choice, and an assortment of colors and
shades such as the pioneer women could hardly have dreamed of. Godey, and Demorest,
and Harper's Bazar are found in modern farm-houses, and the latest fashions of Paris are

not uncommon.

CHAPTER XVII.

PHYSICAL FEATURES OF ILLINOIS—AGRICULTURAL AND OTHER
RESOURCES.

Area of Square Miles— Climate— Soil— Adaptation to Agricultural Purposes — Farm Implements in 1876— Rail-

roafl and Shipping Interests— Permanent School Fund— Manufacturing Industries.

In area the State has 55,410 square miles of territory. It is about 150 miles wide
and 400 miles long, stretching in latitude from Maine to North Carolina. The climate

varies from Portland to Richmond. It favors every product of the continent, including

the tropics, with less thiin half a dozen exceptions. It produces every great food of the

world except-bananas and rice. It is hardly too much to say that it is the most produc-

tive spot known to civilization. With the soil full of bread and the earth full of minerals;

with an upper surface of food and an under layer of fuel ; with perfect natural drainage,
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and abundant springs, and streams, and navigable rivers ; half way between the forests

of the North and the fruits of the South ; within a day's ride of the great deposits of iron,

coal, copper, lead and zinc ; and containing and controlling the great grain, cattle, pork
and lumber markets of the world, it is not strange that Illinois has the advantage of

position.

There are no mountains in Illinois ; in the southern as well as in the northern part
of the State there are a few hills ; near the banks of the Illinois, Mississippi, and several

other rivers, the ground is elevated, forming the so-called bluffs, on which at the present
day may be found, uneffaced by the hand of Time, the marks and traces left by the water
which was formerly much higher ; whence it may be safe to conclude that, where now
the fertile prairies of Illinois extend, and the rich soil of the country yields its golden
harvests, must have been a vast sheet of water, the mud deposited by which formed the
soil, thus accounting for the present great fertility of the country.

Illinois is a garden 400 miles long and 150 miles wide. Its soil is chiefly a black,

sandy loam, from six inches to sixty feet thick. About the old French towns it has
yielded corn for a century and a half without rest or help. She leads all other States in

the number of acres actually under plow. Her mineral wealth is scarcely second to her
agricultural power. She has coal, iron, lead, zinc, copper, many varieties of building
stone, marble, fire clay, cuma clay, common brick clay, sand ofirall kinds, gravel, mineral
paint, in fact, every thing needed for a high civilization.

AGEJCDliTUEAL AND OTHER EBSOTJECES.

If any State of the Union is adapted for agriculture, and the other branches of rural

economy relating thereto, such as the raising of cattle and the culture of fruit trees, it is

pre-eminently Illinois. Her extremely fertile praries recompense the farmer at less

trouble and expense than he would be obliged to incur elsewhere, in order to obtain the

same results. Her rich soil, adapted by nature for immediate culture, only awaits the

plow and the seed in order to mature, within a few months, a most bountiful harvest. A
review of statistics will be quite interesting to the reader, as well as valu-

able, as showing the enormous quantities of the various cereals produced in our Prairie

State

:

In 1876 there was raised in the State 130,000,000 bushels of corn— twice as much as

any other State, and one-sixth of all the corn raised in the United States. It would take

375,000 cars to transport this vast amount of corn to market, which would make 15,000
trains of 25 cars each. She harvested 2,747,000 tons of hay, nearly one-tenth of all the

hay in the Republic. It is not generally appreciated, but it is true, that the hay crop of

the country is worth more than the cotton crop. The hay of Illinois equals the cotton

of Louisiana. Go to Charleston, S. C, and see them peddling handfuls of hay or grass,

almost as a curiosity, as we regard Chinese gods or the cryolite of Greenland ; drink

your coffee and condensed milk ; and walk back from the coast for many a league

through the sand and burs till you get up into the better atmosphere of the mountains,

without seeing a waving meadow or a grazing herd ; then you will begin to appreciate

the meadows of the Prairie State.

The value of her farm implements was, in 1876, $211,000,000, and the value of live

stock was only second to New York. The same year she had 25,000,000 hogs, and
packed 2,113,845, about one-half of all that were packed in the United States. She
marketed $57,000,000 worth of slaughtered animals— more than any other State, and a

seventh of all the States.

Illinois excels all other States in miles of railroads and in miles of postal service, and
in money orders sold per annum, and in the amount of lumber sold.

Illinois was only second in many important matters, taking the reports of

1876. This sample list comprises a few of the more important : Permanent school
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fund ; total income for educational purposes ; number of publishers of boots, maps,

papers, etc. ; value of farm products and implements, and of live stock ; in tons of coal

mined.
The shipping of Illinois was only second to New York. Out of one port during the

business hours of the season of navigation she sent forth a vessel every nine minutes.

This did not include canal boats, which went one every five minutes.

No wonder she was only second in number of bankers or in physicians and sur-

geons.

She was third in colleges, teachers and schools ; also in cattle, lead, hay, flax, sorghum

and beeswax.
She was fourth in population, in children enrolled in public schools, in law schools,

in butter, potatoes and carriages.

She was fifth in value of real and personal property, in theological seminaries, and

colleges exclusively for women, in milk sold, and in boots and shoes manufactured, and

in book-binding.

She was only seventh in the production of wood, while she was the twelfth in area.

Surely that was well done for the Prairie State. She then had, in 1876, much more wood
and growing timber than she had thirty years before.

A few leading industries will justify emphasis. She manufactured $205,000,000

worth of goods, which placed her well up toward New York and Pennsylvania. The
number of her manufacturing establishments increased from 1860 to 1870, 800 per cent.

;

capital employed increased 350 per cent. ; and the amount of product increased 400 per

cent. She issued 5,500,000 copies of commercial and financial newspapers, being only

second to New York. She had 6,759 miles of railroad, then leading all other States,

worth 1636,458,000, using 3,245 engines, and 67,712 cars, making a train long enough to

cover one-tenth of the entire roads of the State. Her stations were only five miles

apart. She carried in, 1876, 15,795,000 passengers an average of 36^ miles, or equal to

taking her entire population twice across the State. More than two-thirds of her land

was within five miles of a railroad, and less than two per cent, was more than fifteen

miles away.
The State has a large financial interest in the Illinois Central Railroad. The road

was incorporated in 1850, and the State gave each alternate section for six miles on each

side, and doubled the price of the remaining land, so keeping herself good. The road

received 2,595,000 acres of land, and paid to the State one-seventh of the gross receipts.

The State received in 1877, $350,000, and had received up to that year in all about |7,-

000,000. It was practically the people's road, and it had a most able and gentlemanly

management. Add to the above amount the annual receipts from the canal, $111,000,

and a large per cent, of the State tax was provided for.
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CHAPTER XVIII.

GOVERNORS AND OTHER STATE OFFICERS OF ILLINOIS.

Shadraeh Bond— Was the firsb Governor of Illinois. He was a native of Maryland
and born in 1773 ; was raised on a farm ; received a common English education, and came
to Illinois in 1794. He served as a delegate in Congress from 1811 to 1815, where he
procured the right of pre-emption of public land. He was elected governor in 1818 ;

was beaten for Congress in 1821 by Daniel P. Cook. He died at Kaskaskia, April 11,

1830.

Edward Coles—Was born Dec. 15, 1786, in Virginia. His father was a slave-holder;

gave his son a collegiate education, and left to him a large number of slaves. These he
liberated, giving each head of a family 160 acres of land and a considerable sum of

money. He was President Madison's private secretary. He came to Illinois in 1819,
was elected governor in 1822, on the anti-slavery ticket; moved to Philadelphia in 1833,

and died in 1868.

Ninian Edwards— In 1809, on the formation of the Territory of Illinois, Mr.
Edwards was appointed governor, which position he retained until the organization of

the State, when he was sent to the United States Senate. He was elected governor in

1826. He was a native of Maryland and born in 1775 ; receiving a collegiate education ;

was Chief Justice of Kentucky, and a republican in politics.

John Reynolds— Was born in Pennsylvania in 1788, and came with his parents to

Illinois in 1800, and in 1830 was elected Governor on the Democratic ticket, and after-

wards served three terms in Congress. He received a classical education, yet was not
polished. He was an ultra Democrat ; attended the Charleston Convention in 1860, and
urged the seizure of the United States arsenals by the South. He died in 1865 at Belle-

ville, childless.

Joseph Duncan.—In 1834 Joseph Duncan was elected governor by the Whigs,
although formerly a Democrat. He had previously served four terms in Congress. He
was born in Kentucky in 1794 ; had but a limited education ; served with distinction in

the war of 1812 ; conducted the campaign of 1832 against Black Hawk. He came to

Illinois when quite young.
Thomas Garlin— Was elected as a Democrat in 1838. He had but a meager

education ; held many minor offices, and was active both in the war of 1812 and the

Black Hawk war. He was born in Kentucky in 1789 : came to Illinois in 1812, and
died at CarroUton, Feb. 14, 1852.

Thomas Ford—Was born in Pennsylvania in the year 1800 ; was brought by his

widowed mother to Missouri in 1804, and shortly afterwards to Illinois. He received a

good education, studied law ; was elected four times Judge, twice as Circuit Judge,
Judge of Chicago, and Judge of Supreme Court. He was elected governor by the

Democratic party in 1842 ; wrote his history of Illinois in 1847, and died in 1850.

Augustus Q. French— Was born in New Hampshire in 1808 ; was admitted to the

bar in 1831, and shortly afterwards moved to Illinois when in 1846 he was elected

governor. On the adoption of the Constitution of 1848 he was again chosen, serving

until 1853. He was a Democrat in politics.

Joel A. Matteson— Was born in Jefferson county, N. Y., in 1808. His father was
a farmer, and gave his son only a common school education. He first entered upon
active life as a small tradesman, but subsequently became a large contractor and manu-
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facturer. He was a heavy contractor in building the canal. He was elected governor
in 1852 upon the Democratic ticket.

William H. Bissell— Was elected by the Republican party in 1856. He had pre-

viously served two terms in Congress ; was colonel in the Mexican war and has held

minor official positions. He was born in New York State in 1811 ; received a common
education ; came to lUnois early in life and engaged in the medical profession. This he

changed for the law and became a noted orator, and the standard bearer of the- Repub-
lican party in Illinois. He died in 1860 while governor.

Richard Yates— "The war governor of Illinois," was born in Warsaw, Ky., in

1818 ; came to Illinois in 1831 ; served two terms in Congress ; in 1860 was elected

governor, and in 1865 United States Senator. He was a college graduate, and read

law under J. J. Hardin. He rapidly rose in his chosen profession and charmed the

people with oratory. He filled the gubernatorial chair during the trying days of the

rebellion, and by his energy and devotion won the title of " War Governor." He be-

came addicted to strong drink, and died a drunkard.
Richard J. Ogleshy— Was born in 1824, in Kentucky; an orphan at the age of

eight, came to Illinois when only twelve years old. He was apprenticed to learn the

carpenter's trade ; worked some at farming and read law occasionally. He enlisted in

. the Mexican war and was chosen First Lieutenant. After his return he again took up
the law, but during the gold "Jever of 1849 went to California ; soon returned, and, in

1852, entered upon his illustrious political career. He raised the second regiment in

the State, to suppress the rebellion, and for gallantry was promoted to major general.

In 1863 he was elected Governor, and re-elected in 1872, and resigned for a seat in the

United States Senate. He is a staunch Republican and resides at Decatur.
Shelby M. Oullom—Was born in Kentucky in 1828; studied law, was admitted to

the bar, and commenced the practice of his profession in 1848 ; was elected to the

State Legislature in 1856, and again in 1860. Served on the war commission at Cairo,

1862, and was a member of the 39th, 40th and 41st Congress, in all of which he served

with credit to his State. He was again elected to the State Legislature in 1872, and
re-elected in 1874, and was elected governor of Illinois in 1876, which office he still

holds, and has administered with marked ability.

LIEUTENANT GOVERNORS.

Pierre Menard—Was the first lieutenant governor of Illinois. He was born in

Quebec, Canada, in 1767. He came to Illinois in 1790 where he engaged in the In-

dian trade and became wealthy. He died in 1844. Menard county was named in his

honor.

Adolphus F. Subhard— Was elected lieutenant governor in 1822. Four years

later he ran for governor against Edwards, but was beaten.

William Kinney— Was elected in 1826. He was a Baptist clergyman; was born
in Kentucky in 1781 and came to Illinois in 1793.

Zadoch Qasey—Although on the opposition ticket to Governor Reynolds, the suc-

cessful gubernatorial candidate, Casey was elected lieutenant governor in 1830. He
subsequently served several terms in Congress.

Alexander M. Jenkins— was elected on the ticket with Governor Duncan in 1834
by a handsome majority.

S. H. Anderson— Lieutenant Governor under Governor Carlin, was chosen in 1838.

He was a native of Tennessee.
John Moore — Was born in England in 1793 ; came to Illinois in 1830 ; was elected

lieutenant governor in 1842. He won the name of "Honest John Moore."
Joseph B. WelU— Was ichosen with Governor French at his first election in 1846.
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William McMurtry— In 1848 when Governor French was again chosen governor,
William McMurtry, of Knox county, was elected lieutenant governor.

Grustavus P. Koerner— Was elected in 1852. He was born in Germany in 1809.
At the age of 22 came to Illinois. In 1872 he was a candidate for Governor on Liberal
ticket, but was defeated.

John Wood— Was elected in 1856, and on the death of Governor Bissell, became
Governor.

,

Francis A. Hoffman— Was chosen with Governor Yates in 1860. He was born in

Prussia in 1822, and came to Illinois in 1840.

William Brass—Was born in New Jersey, came to Illinois in 1848, and was elected
to office in 1864.

John Dougherty—Was elected in 1868, and died in September, 1879.
John L. Beveridge—Was chosen Lieutenant-Governor in 1872. In 1873 Oglesby

was elected to the United States Senate, and Beveridge became Governor.
Andrew 8human—Was elected Nov. 7, 1876, and is the present incumbent.

SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION.

Ninian W. Edwards 1854-56 Newton Bateman 1859-75
W. H. Powell - -- .1857-58 Samuel M. Etter 1876

ATTORNEY GENERALS.

DanielP. Cook 1819 Geo. W. Olney 1838
William Mears 1820 Wickliffe Kitchell 1839
Samuel D. Lockwood _ 1821-22 Josiah Lamborn 1841-42
James Turney _ 1823-28 James A. McDougall 1843-46
George Forquer 1829-32 David B. Campbell ..1846
James Semple 1833-34 [Office abolished and re-created in 1867.]
Ninian E. Edwards.... ..1834-35 Robert G. IngersoU 1867-68
Jesse B. Thomas, Jr 1835 Washington Bushnell.. 1869-72
Walter B. Scates 1836 James K. Edsall... 1873-79
Asher F. Linder... 1837

TREASURERS.

John Thomas 1818-19 James Miller 1857-60
R. K. McLaughlin... 1819-22 William Butler 1861-62
Ebner Field 1823-26 Alexander Starne . 1863-64
James Hall 1827-30 James H. Beveridge. 1865-66
John Dement 1831-36 George W. Smith 1867-68
Charles Gregory 1836 Erastus N. Bates 1869-72
John D. Whiteside 1837-40 Edward Rutz 1873-75
M. Carpenter ..1841-48 Thomas S. Ridgeway 1876-77
John Moore

.^ 1848-56 Edward Rutz 1878-79

SECRETARIES OF STATE.

Elias K. Kane 1818-22 Thompson Campbell 1843-46
Samuel D. Lockwood. 1822-23 Horace S. Cooley 1846-49
David Blackwell 1823-24 David L. Gregg 1850-52
Morris Birkbeck 1824 Alexander Starne .1853-56
George Forquer 1825-28 Ozias M. Hatch 1857-60
Alexander P.Field 1829-40 Sharon Tyndale 1865-68

Stephen A. Douglass 1840 Edward Rummel 1869-72
Lyman Trumbull. 1841-42 George H.Harlow 1873-79

AUDITORS.

Elijah C. Berry 1818-31 Thompson Campbell 1846
I. T. B. Stapp 1831-35 Jesse K. Dubois 1857-64
Levi Davis 1835-40 Orlin H. Miner 1865-68

James Shields 1841.42 Charles E. Lippencott , 1869-76
W. L. D. Ewing 1843.45 Thompson B. Needles 1877-79
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UNITED STATES SENATOES.

Ninian Edwards—On the organization of the State in 1818, Edwards, the popular
Territorial Governor, wq,s chosen Senator for the short term, and re-elected for full term
in 1819.

Jesse B. Thomas—One of the federal judges during the entire territorial existence

was chosen Senator upon organization of the State, and re-elected in 1823, and served

till 1829.

John McLean—In 1824 Edwards resigned, and McLean was elected to fill his unex-

pired term. He was born in North Carolina in 1791, and came to Illinois in 1815 ; served

one term in Congress, and in 1829 was elected to the United States Senate, but died the

following year. He is said to have been the most gifted man of his period in Illinois.

alias Kent Kane—Was elected Nov. 30, 1824, for the term beginning March 4, 1825.

In 1830 he was re-elected, but died before the expiration of his term. He was a native

of New York, and came to Illinois in 1814. He was first Secretary of State, and after-

ward State Senator.

David Jewett Baker—Was appointed to fill the unexpired term of John McLean,
Nov. 12, 1830, but the Legislature refused to endorse the choice. Baker was a native of

Connecticut, born in 1792, and died in Alton in 1869.

JohnM Robinson—Instead of Baker, the Governor's appointee, the Legislature chose

Robinson, and in 1884 he was re-elected. In 1843 was elected Supreme Judge of the

State, but died within two months. He was a native of Kentucky, and came to Illinois

when quite young.
William L. J). Uwing—Was elected in 1885, to fill the vacancy occasioned by the

death of Kane. He was a Kentuckian.
Richard M Young—Was elected in 1836, and held his seat from March 4, 1837, to

March 4, 1843, a full term. He was a native of Kentucky ; was Circuit Judge before

his election to the Senate, and Supreme Judge in 1842. He died in an insane asylum at

Washington.
Samuel McRoherts — The first native Illinoisan ever elevated to the high office of U.

S. Senator from this State, was born in 1799, and died in 1843 on his return home from
Washington. He was elected Circuit Judge in 1824, and March 4, 1841, took his seat

in the U. S. Senate.

Sidney Breese— Was elected to the U. S. Senate, Dec. 17, 1842, and served a full

term. He was born in Oneida county, N. Y. He was Major in the Black Hawk war

;

Circuit Judge, and in 1841 was elected Supreme Judge. He served a full term in the

U. S. Senate, beginning March 4, 1848, after which -he was elected to the Legislature,

again Circuit Judge, and, in 1857, to the Supreme Court, which position he held until

his death in 1878.

James Semple— Was the successor of Samuel McRoberts, was appointed by Governor
Ford in 1843. He was afterwards elected Judge of the Supreme Court.

Stephen A. Douglas— Was elected Dec. 14, 1846. He had previously served three

terms as Congressman. He became his own successor in 1853 and again in 1859. From
his first entrance in the Senate he was acknowledged the peer of Clay, Webster and Cal-

houn, with whom he served his first term. His famous contest with Abraham Lincoln
for the Senate in 1858 is the most memorable in the annals of our country. It was called

the Battle of the Giants, and resulted in Douglas' election to the Senate, and Lincoln to

the Presidency. He was born in Brandon, Vermont, April 23, 1813, came to Illinois in

1833, and died in 1861. He was appointed Secretary of State by Gov. Carlin in 1840,

and shortly afterward to the Supreme Bench.
James Shields— Was elected and assumed his seat in the U. S. Senate in 1849, March

4. He was born in Ireland in 1810, came to the United States in 1827. He served in
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the Mexican army, was elected Senator from Minnesota, and in 1879 from Missouri for

a short term, and died at Ottnmna, Iowa, while on a visit to a daughter there in the early-

part of 1879. He was the only statesman to represent three States in the U. S. Senate.

Lyman Trumbull— Took his seat in the U. S. Senate March 4, 1855, and became his

own successor in 1861. He had previously served one term in the Lower House of Con-
gress, and served on the Supreme Bench. He was born in Connecticut ; studied law
and came to Illinois in early life, where for years he was actively engaged in politics. He
resides in Chicago.

Orvill H. Browning— "Was appointed U. S. Senator in 1861, to fill the seat made
vacant by the death of Stephen A. Douglas, until a Senator could be regularly elected.

Mr. Browning was born in Harrison county, Kentucky ; was admitted to the bar in 1831,
and settlq,d in Quincy, Illinois, where he engaged in the practice of law, and was instru-

mental, with his friend, Abraham Lincoln, in forming the Republican party of Illinois at

the Bloomington Convention. He entered Johnson's cabinet as Secretary of the Interior,

and in March, 1868, was designated by the President to perform the duties of Attorney
General, in addition to his own, as Secretary of the Interior Department.

William A. Richardson—Was elected to the U. S. Senate in 1863, to fill the unex-
pired term of his friend, Stephen A. Douglas. He was born in Fayette county, Ky.,

about 1810, studied law, and settled in Illinois ; served as captain in the Mexican War,
and, on the battle-field of Buena Vista, was promoted for bravery, by a unanimous
vote of his regiment. He served in the Lower House of Congress from 1847 to 1856,

continually.

Richard Yates—Was elected to the U. S. Senate in 1865, serving a full term of six

years. He died in St. Louis, Mo., Nov. 27, 1873.

John A. Logan—Was elected to the U. S. Senate in 1871. He was born in Jackson
county, 111., Feb. 9, 1826, received a common school education, and enlisted as a private

in the Mexican War, where he rose to the rank of Regimental Quartermaster. On re-

turning home he studied law, and came to the bar in 1852 ; was elected in 1858 a Repre-

sentative to the 36th Congress and re-elected to the 37th Congress, resigning in 1861 to

take part in the suppression of the Rebellion ; served as Colonel and subsequently as a

Major General, and commanded, witli distinction, the armies of the Tennessee. He was
again elected to the U. S. Senate in 1879 for six years;.

David Davis—Was elected to the U. S. Senate in 1877 for a term of six years. He
was born in Cecil county, Md., March 9, 1815, graduated at Kenyon College, Ohio, studied

law, and removed to Illinois in 1835; was admitted to the bar and settled in Blooming-

ton, where he has since resided and amassed a large fortune. For many years he was the

intimate friend and associate of Abraham Lincoln, rode the circuit with him each year,

and after Lincoln's election to the Presidency, was appointed to fill the position of Judge
of the Supreme Court of the United States.

REPRESENTATIVES IN CONGRESS.

FIFTEENTH CONGRESS. NINETEENTH CONGRESS.

John McLean--- - i8i8 Daniel P. Cook - - l82';-26

SIXTEENTH CONGRESS. TWENTIETH CONGRESS.

Daniel P. Cook 1819-20 Joseph Duncan 1827-28

SEVENTEENTH CONGRESS. TWENTY-FIRST CONGRESS.

Daniel P. Cook 1821-22 Joseph Duncan 1829-30

EIGHTEENTH CONGRESS. TWENTY-SECOND CONGRESS.

Daniel P.Cook 1823-24 Joseph Duncan 1831-32

TWENTY-THIRD CONGRESS.

Joseph Duncan 1833-34 Zadock Casey 1833-34
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TWENTY-FOURTH CONGRESS.

Zadock Casey 1835-36 William L. May 1835-36

John Reynolds 1835-36

TWENTY-FIFTH CONGRESS.

Zadock Casey 1837-38 William L. May 1837-38

John Reynolds 1837-38

TWENTY-SIXTH CONGRESS.

Zadock Casey 1839-40 John T.Stuart 1839-40

John Reynolds 1839-40

TWENTY-SEVENTH CONGRESS.

Zadock Casey 1841-42 John T.Stuart - 1841-42

John Reynolds — 1841-42

TWENTY-EIGHTH CONGRESS.

RobertSmith.. 1843-44 Joseph P, Hoge 1843-44

Orlando B. Finklin 1843-44 John J.
Hardin 1843-54

Stephen A. Douglas 1843-44 John Wentworth ..- 1843-44

John A. McClernand 1843-44

TWENTY-NINTH CONGRESS.

RobertSmith 1845-46 Joseph P. Hoge - 1845-46

Stephen A. Douglas 1845-46 John A. McClernand 1845-46

Orlando B. Finklin -1845-46 John Wentworth 1845-46

John J. Hardin - 1845

THIRTIETH CONGRESS.

John Wentworth - 1847-48 Orlando B. Finklin 1847-48

Thomas J, Turner - --I847 RobertSmith 1847-48

Abraham Lincoln 1847-48 William A. Richardson 1847-48

John A. McClernand -- 1847-48

THIRTY-FIRST CONGRESS.

John A. McClernand 1849-50 Edward D. Baker 1849-50

John Wentworth .j 1849.50 William H. Bissell-.. .1849-50
Timothy R. Young 1849-50 Thomas L. Harris 1849
William A. Richardson , 1849-50

THIRTY-SECOND CONGRESS.

William A. Richardson ...1851-52 Richard Yates 1851-52
Thompson Campbell 1851-52 Richard S Maloney 1851-52
Orlando B. Finklin 1851-52 Wills 1851-52
John Wentworth 1851-52 William H Bissell... ..1851-52

THIRTY-THIRD CONGRESS.

William H. Bissell 1853-54 Thompson Campbell 1853-54
John C. Allen 1853-54 James Knox 1853-54

Willis 1853-54 Jesse O. Norton.. 1853-54
Elihu B. Washburne 1853-54 William A. Richardson 1853-54
Richard Yates 1853-54

THIRTY-FOURTH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1855-56 Samuel S. Marshall 1855-56
Lyman Trumbull 1855-56 J. L. D. Morrison... 1855-56
James H. Woodworth ...1855-56 John C. Allen 1855-56
James Knox 1855-56 Jesse O. Norton 1855-56
Thompson Campbell 1855-56 William A. Richardson 1855-56
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THIRTY-FIFTH CONGRICSS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1857-58 Samuel S. Marshall , 1857-58
Charles D. Hodges - 1857-58 Isaac N. Morris.. .1857-58
William Kellogg 1857-58 Aaron Shaw 1857-58
Thompson Campbell 1857-58 Robert Smith 1857-58
John F. Farnsworth 1857-58 Thomas L. Harris 1857-58
Owen Lovejoy 1857-58

THIRTH-SIXTH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1859-60 John F. Farnsworth -1S59-60
John A. Logan 1859-60 Philip B. Fouke 1859-60
Owen Lovejoy 1859-60 Thomas L. Harris .1859-60
John A. McClernand 1859-60 William Kellogg 1859-60
Isaac N. Morris 1859-60 James C. Robinson 1859-60

THIRTY-SEVENTH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1861-62 Isaac N. Arnold 1861-62

. James C. Robinson 1861-52 Philip B. Fouke 1861-62

John A. Logan 1 1861-62 William Kellogg 1861-62
Owen Lovejoy. 1861-62 Anthony L. Knapp -.1861-62
John A. McClernand .1861-62 William A. Richardson 1861-62

THIRTY-EIGHTH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1863-64 William J.Allen 1863-64
Jesse O. Norton 1863-64 Isaac N. Arnold 1863-64
James C. Robinson ..18,63-64 John R. Eden 1863-64
Lewis W. Ross 1863-64 John F. Farnsworth 1863-64

John T.Stuart ...1863-64 Charles W. Morris -.. -..1863-64
Owen Lovejoy. 1863-64 Eben C. Ingersoll . 1863-64
William R. Morrison. 1863-64 Anthony L. Knapp 1863-64

JohnC. Allen 1863-64

THIRTY-NINTH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1865-66 John F. Farnsworth 1865-66

Anthony B. Thornton 1865-66 Jehu Baker 1865-66

John Wentworth 1865-66 Henry P. H. Bromwell 1865-66

Abner C. Hardin 1865-66 Andrew Z. Kuykandall__ 1865-66

Eben C. Ingersoll 1865-66 Samuel S. Marshall 1865-66

Barton C. Cook... 1865-66 Samuel W. Moulton 1865-66

Shelby M. Cullom ..1865-66 Lewis W. Ross _ 1865-66

FORTIETH CONGRESS.

Elihu B. Washburne 1867-68 John F. Farnsworth 1867-68

Abner C. Hardin _ 1867-68 Jehu Baker _ 1867-68

Eben C. Ingersoll 1867-68 Henry P. H. Bromwell ._ 1867-68

Norman B. Judd 1867-68 John A. Logan _.. 1867-68

Albert G. Burr 1867-68 Samuel S. Marshall 1867-68

Burton C. Cook 1867-68 Green B. Raum 1867-68

Shelby M. Cullom 1867-68 Lewis W. Ross 1867-68

FORTY-FIRST CONGRESS.

Norman B. Judd 1869-70 Shelby M. Cullom 1869-70

John F. Farnsworth 1869-70 Thomas W. McNeely 1869-70

H. C. Burchard 1869-70 Albert G. Burr 1869-70

John B. Hawley 1869-70 Samuel S. Marshall ...1869-70

EbenC. Ingersoll 1869-70 John B. Hay --- 1869-70

Burton C. Cook 1869-70 John M. Crebs ...1869-70

Jesse H. Moore ..1869-70 John A. Logan ...1869-70

FORTY-SECOND CONGRESS.

Charles B. Farwell 1871-72 James C. Robinson 1871-72

John F. Farnsworth 1 1871-72 Thomas W. McNeely 1871-72

Horatio C. Burchard 1871-72 Edward Y. Rice 1871-72

John B. Hawley 1871-72 Samuel S. Marshall 1871-72

Bradford N. Stevens 1871-72 John B. Hay 1871-72

Henry Snapp 1871-72 John M. Crebs 1871-72

Jesse H. Moore 1871-72 John S. Beveredge 1871-72

14
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FORTY-THIRD CONGRESS.

John B. Rice 1873-74
Jasper D. Ward 1873-74
Charles B. Farwell 1873-74
Stephen A. Hurlbut 1873-74
Horatio C. Burchard .1873-74
John B. Hawley 1873-74
Franklin Corwin 1873-74
Greenbury L. Fort 1873-74
Granville Barrere 1873-74
William H. Ray. 1873-74

Robert, M. Knapp - 1873-74
James C. Robinson 1873-74
John B. McNulta 1873-74
Joseph G. Cannon - 1873-74
John R. Eden.. - 1873-74
James S. Martin ..- - 1873-74
William R. Morrison - 1873-74
Isaac Clements 1873-74
Samuel S. Marshall - 1873-74

FORTY-FOURTH CONGRESS.

Bernard G. Caulfield 1875-76
Carter H. Harrison 1875-76
Charles B. Farwell 1875-76
Stephen A. Hurlbut.. 1875-76
Horatio C. Burchard 1875-76
Thomas J. Henderson 1875-76
Alexander Campbell .1875-76
Greenbury L. Fort _ 1875-76
Richard H. Whiting 1875-76
John C. Bagby 1 875-76

Scott Wike 1875-76
William M. Springer 1875-76
Adlai E. Stevenson 1875-76
Joseph G.Cannon 1875-76
John R. Eden ..1875-76
W. A. J. Sparks.. 1875-76
William R. Morrison .1875-76
William Hartzell 1875-76
William B. Andersen 1875-76

FORTY-FIFTH CONGRESS.

William Aldrich ...1877-78
Carter H. Harrison 1877-78
Lorenzo Brentano 1877-78
William Lathrop ..1877-78
Horatio C. Burchard 1877-78
Thomas J. Henderson. 1877-78
Philip C. Hayes ..1877-78
Greenbury L. Fort 1877-78
Thomas A. Boyd 1877-78
Benjamin F. Marsh 1877-78

Robert M. Knapp ...1877-78
William M. Springer 1877-78
Thomas F. Tipton .1877-78
Joseph G. Cannon 1877-78

John R. Eden 1877-78
W. A.J. Sparks 1877-78
William R. Morrison 1877-78
William Hartzell 1877-78
Richard W. Townsend 1877-78

FORTY-SIXTH CONGRESS.

William Aldrich. .1879-80
George R. Davis 1879-80
Hiram Barber 1879-80
John C. Sherwin 1879-80
R. M. A. Hawk . ...1879-80
Thomas J. Henderson 1879-80
Philip C. Hayes 1879-80
Greenbury L. Fort.. 1879-80
Thomas A. Boyd 1879-80
Benjamin F. Marsh 1879-80

James W. Singleton 1879-80
William M. Springer 1879-80
A. E.Stevenson . 1879-80
Joseph G. Cannon 1879-80
Albert P. Forsythe 1879-80
W. A. J; Sparks 1879-80
William R. Morrison 1879-80
John R. Thomas. 1879-80
R. W. Townsend 1879-80
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CHAPTER XIX.

STATES OF THE UNION.

Date of Settlement— Origin and Meaning ofNames— Cognomen— Mottoes—When Admitted to the Union—
Area— Population— Number of SoldiersFumishedDuring the War ofthe Rebellion— Number of Rep-
resentatives in Congress — Present Governors, etc.

Alabama,— This State was first explored by LaSalle in 1684, and settled by the
French at Mobile in 1711, and admitted as a State in 1817. Its name is Indian, and
means " Here we rest." Has no motto. Population in 1860, 964,201 ; in 1870, 996,992.

Furnished 2,576 soldiers for the Union army. Area 50,722 square miles. Montgomery
is the capital. Has eight Representatives and ten Presidential electors. Rufus
W. Cobb is Governor ; salary, $3,000 ; politics. Democratic. Length of term, two
years.

^rAawsas— Became a State in 1886. Population in 1860, 435,450 ; in 1870, 484,471.
Area 52,198 square miles. Little Rock, the " City of Roses," is the capital. Its motto
is Regnant Populi— " The people rule." It has the Indian name of its principal river.

Is called the " Bear State." Furnished 8,289 soldiers. She is entitled four members in

Congress, and six electoral votes. Governor, W. R. Miller, Democrat ; salary, $3,500 ;

term, two years.

California— Has a Greek motto. Eureka, which means " I have found it.' It de-

rived its name from the bay forming the peninsula of Lower California, and was first ap-

plied by Cortez. It was first visited by the Spaniards in 1542, and by the celebrated

English navigator. Sir Francis Drake, in 1578. In 1846 Fremont took possession of it,

defeating the Mexicans, in the name of the United States, and it was admitted as a State

in 1850. Its gold mines from 1868 to 1878 produced over $800,000,000. Area 188,982
square miles. Population in 1860, 379,994. In 1870, 560,247. She gave to defend the

Union 15,225 soldiers. Sacramento is the capital. Has four Representatives in Congress.

Is entitled to six Presidential electors. Present Governor is William Irwin, a Democrat;
term, four years ; salary, $6,000.

Colorado— Contains 106,475 square miles, and had a population in 1860 of 34,277,

and in 1870, 39,864. She furnished 4,903 soldiers. Was admitted as a State in 1876.

It has a Latin motto, Hil sine Numine, which means, " Nothing can be done without di-

vine aid." It was named from its river. Denver is the capital. Has one member in

Congress, and three electors. T. W. Pitkin is Governor ; salary, $3,000 ; term two years;

politics. Republican.
Connecticut— Qui transtulit sustinet, "He who brought us over sustains us," is her

motto. It was named from the Indian Quon-ch-ta-Cut, signifying " Long River." It

is called the " Nutmeg State." Area 4,674 square miles. Population 1860, 460,147 ; in

1870, 537,454. Gave to the Union army 55,755 soldiers. Hartford is the capital. Has
four Representatives in Congress, and is entitled to six Presidential electors. Salary of

Governor, $2,000 ; term, two years.

Delaware.— " Liberty and Independence," is the motto of this State. It was named
after Lord De La Ware, an English statesman, and is called " The Blue Hen," and the
" Diamond State." It was first settled by the Swedes in 1638. It was one of the origi-

nal thirteen States. Has an area of 2,120 square miles. Population in 1860, 112,216 ;

in 1870, 125,015. She sent to the front to defend the Union, 12,265 soldiers. Dover is
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the capital. Has but one member in Congress ; entitled to three Presidential electors.

John W. Hall, Democrat, is Governor ; salary, $2,000 ; term two years.

Florida — Was discovered by Ponce de Leon in 1512, on Easter Sunday, called by
the Spaniards, Pascua Florida, which, with the variety and beauty of the flowers at this

early season, caused him to name it Florida— which means in Spanish, flowery. Its

motto is, " In God we trust." It was admitted into the Union in 1845. It has an area
of 59,268 square miles. Population in 1860, 140,424 ; in 1870, 187,757. Its capital is

Tallahassee. Has two members in Congress. Has four Presidential electors. George
F. Drew, Democrat, Governor ; term, four years ; salary, $3,500. %

Q-eorgia— Owes its name to George II., of England, who first established a colony
there in 1732. Its motto is, " Wisdom, justice and moderation." It was one of the
original States. Population in 1860, 1,057,286; 1870, 1,184,109. Capital, Atlanta.
Area, 58,000 square miles. Has 9 representatives in Congress, and 11 Presiden-
tial electors. Her Governor is A. H. Colquitt, Democrat ; term, four years ; salary,

14,000.

Illinois— Motto, "State Sovereignty, National Union." Name derived from the
Indian word, Illini, meaning, superior men. It is called the " Prairie State," and its in-

habitants, " Suckers." Was first explored by the French in 1673, and admitted into

the Union in 1818. Area 55,410 square miles. Population, in 1860, 1,711,951 ; in 1870,

2,539,871. She sent to the front to defend the Union, 225,300 soldiers. Capital,

Springfield. Has 19 members in Congress, and 21 Presidential electors. Shelby M.
CuUom, Republican, is Governor ; elected for 4 years ; salary, $6,000.

Indiana— Is called* " Hoosier State." Was explored in 1682, and admitted as a

State in 1816. Its name was suggested by its numerous Indian population. Area
33,809 square miles. Population in I860, 1,350,428; in 1870, 1,680,637. She put into

the Federal army, 194,363 men. Capital, Indianapolis. Has 13 members in Congress,
and 15 Presidential electors. J. D.Williams, Governor, Democrat ; salary, $3,000 ; term,

4 years.

Iowa— Is an Indian name and means "This is the land." Its motto is, " Our liber-

ties we prize, our rights we will maintain." It is called the " Hawk Eye State." It

was first visited by Marquette and Joliet in 1673 ; settled by New Englanders in 1833,

and admitted into the Union in 1846. Des Moines is the capital, ^t has an area of

65,045 square miles, and a population in 1860 of 674,913, and in 1870 of 1,191,802. She
sent 75,793 soldiers to defend the Government. Has 9 members in Congress ; 11 Pres-

idential electors. John H. Gear, Republican, is Governor; salary, $2,500; term, 2

years.

Kansas— Was admitted into the Union in 1861, making the thirty-fourth State.

Its motto is Ad astraper aspera, " To the stars through difficulties." Its name means,
" Smoky water," and is derived from one of her rivers. Area 78,841 square miles.

Population in 1860, 107,209 ; in 1870 was 362,812. She furnished 20,095 soldiers. Cap-
ital is Topeka. Has 3 representatives in Congress, and 5 Presidential electors. John
P. St. John, Governor ; politics. Republican ; salary, $3,000 ; term, 2 years.

Kentucky— Is the Indian name for "At the head of the rivers." Its motto is,

" United we stand, divided we fall." The sobriquet of " dark and bloody ground " is

applied to this State. It was first settled in 1769, and admitted in 1792 as the fifteenth

State. Area 37,680 square miles. Population in 1860, 1,155,684: in 1870, 1,321,000.
She put into the Federal army 75,285 soldiers. Capital, Frankfort. Has 10 members
in Congress; 12 electors. J. B. McCreary, Democrat, is Governor; salary, $5,000 ; term,
4 years.

Louisiana— Was called after Louis XIV., who at onetime owned that section of

the country. Its motto is " Union and Confidence." It is called " The Creole State."

It was visited by La Salle in 1684, and admitted into the Union in 1812, making the
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eighteenth State. Population in 1860, 708,002 ; in 1870, 732,731. Area 46,431 square
miles. It put into the Federal army 5,224 men. Capital, New Orleans. Has 6 rep-

resentatives and 8 electors. F. T. Nichols, Governor, Democrat ; salary, $8,000 ; term,
4 years.

Maine— This State was called after the providence of Maine in France, in compli-
ment of Queen Henrietta of England, who owned that province. Its motto is Dirigo,

meaning " I direct." It is called " The Pine Tree State." It was settled by the Eng-
lish in 1625. It was admitted as a State in 1820. Area 31,766 square miles. Popu-
lation in 186#, 628,279 ; in 1870, 626,463 ; 69,738 soldiers went from this State. Has 5
members in Congress, and 7 electors. Selden Conner, Republican, Governor ; term, 1

year ; salary, $2,500. ,

Maryland— Was named after Henrietta Maria, Queen of Charles I. of England. It

has a Latin motto, Creeite et multipUcamini, meaning " Increase and Multiply." It was
settled in 1634, and was one of the original thirteen States. It has an area of 11,124
square miles. Population in 1860 was 687,049 ; in 1870, 780,806. This State furnished

46,053 soldiers. Capital, Annapolis. Has 6 representatives, and 8 Presidential electors.

J. H. Carroll, Democrat, Governor ; salary, $4,500 ; term, 4 years.

Massachusetts— Is the Indian for "The country around the great hills." It is

called the "Bay State," from its numerous bays. Its motto is JSnse petit plaeidam sub

libertaifi quietem, " By the sword she seeks placid rest in liberty." It was settled in 1620
at Plymouth by English Puritans. It was one of the original thirteen States, and was the

first to take up arms agains the English during the Revolution. Area 7,800 square miles.

Population in 1860, 1,231,066 ; in 1870, 1,457,361. She gave to the Union army 146,467
soldiers. Boston is the capital. Has 11 representatives in Congress, and 13 Presidential

electors. Thomas Talbot, 'Republican, is Governor.; salary, $5,000; term, 1 year.

Michigan— Latin motto, Luehor, and Si quceris peninsulam amcenam circumspiee, " I

will defend"— " If,you seek a pleasant peninsula, look around you." The name is a con-

tracrion of two Indian words meaning " Great Lake." It was early explored by Jesuit

missionaries, and in 1837 was admitted into the Union. It is known as the " Wolverine
State." It contains 56,243 square miles. In 1860 it had a population of 749,173 ; in

1870, 1,184,059. She furnished 88,111 soldiers. Capital, Lansing. Has 9 representa-

tives and 11 Presidential electors. C. M. Croswell is Governor ; politics. Republican ;

salary, $1,000 ; term, 2 years.

Minnesota— Is an Indian name, meaning " Cloudy Water." It has a French motto,

L'Utoile du Nord— " The Star of the North." It was visited in 1680 by LaSalle, settled

in 1846, and admitted into the Union in 1858. It contains 83,531 square miles. In 1860
h3,d a population of 172,023 ; in 1870, 439,511. She gave to the Union army 24,002

soldiers. St. Paul is the capital. Has 3 members in Congress ; 5 Presidential electors.

Governor, J. S. Pillsbury, Republican ; salary, $3,000 ; term, 2 years.

Mississippi— Is an Indian name, meanim^ " Long River," and the State is named
from the " Father of Waters." The State was first explored by De Soto in 1541 ; setUed

by the French at Natchez in 1716, and was admitted into the Union in 1817. It has an
area of 47,156 square miles. Population in 1860, 791,30.'^ ;_in 1870, 827,922. She gave
to suppress the Rebellion 545 soldiers. Jackson is the capital. Has 6 representatives in

Congress, and 8 Presidential electors. J. M. Stone is Governor, Democrat ; salary, $4,000;

term, 4 years.

Missouri— Is derived from the Indian word "muddy," which more properly applies

to the river that flows through it. Its motto is SaVas populi suprema lex e»to, " Let the

welfare of the people be the supreme law." The State was first settled by the French
near Jefferson City in 1719, and in 1821 was admitted into the Union. It has an area of

67,880 square miles, equal to 43,123,200 acres. It had a population in 1860 of 1,182,012

;

ill! 187 Oi 1,721,000. She gave to defend the Union 108,162 soldiers. Capital, Jefferson
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City. Its inhabitants are known by the offensive cognoman of " Pukes." Has 13 rep-

resentatives in Congress, and 15 Presidential electors. J. S.Phelps is Governor ; politics,

Democratic ; salary, $5,000 ; term, 4 years.

Nebraska— Has for its motto, " Equality before the law." Its name is derived from
one of its rivers, meaning " broad and shallow, or low." It was admitted into the Union
in 1867. Its capital is Lincoln. It had a population in 1860 of 28,841, and in 1870, 123,-

993, and in 1875, 246,280. It has an area of 75,995 square miles. She furnished to de-

fend the Union 8,157 soldiers. Has but 1 representative and 3 Presidential electors. A.
Nance, Republican, is Governor ; salary, $2,500 ; term, 2 years. %

Nevada— " The Snowy Land " derived its name from the Spanish. Its motto is

Latin, Vblens etpotens, and means " willing and able." It was settled in 1850, and ad-

mitted into the Union in 1864. Capital, Carson City. Its population in 1860 was 6,857 ;

in 1870 it was 42,491. It has an area of 112,090 square miles. She furnished 1,080

soldiers to suppress the Rebellion. Has 1 representative and 3 electors. Governor, J.

H. Kinkhead, Republican ; salary, $6,000 ; term, 4 years.

New Hampshire— Was first settled at Dover by the English in 1623. Was one of

the original States. Has no motto. It is named from Hampshire county in England.

It also bears the name of " The Old Granite State." It has an area of 9,280 miles, which
equals 9,239,200 acres. It had a population in 1860 of 326,073, and in 1870 of 318,300.

She increased the Union army with 33,913 soldiers. Concord is the capital. Has 3 rep-

resentatives and 5 Presidential electors. N. Head, Republican, Governor ; salary, $1,000

;

term, 1 year.

New Jersey— Was named in honor of the Island of Jersey in the British channel.

Its motto is "Liberty and Independence." It was first settled at Bergen by the Swedes
in 1624. It is one of the original thirteen States. It has an area of 8,320 square miles,

or 5,324,800 acres. Population in 1860 was 672,035 ; in 1870 it was 906,09J. She put
into the Federal army 75,315 soldiers. Capital, Trenton. Has 7 representatives and 9

Presidential electors. Governor, George B. McClelland, Democrat ; salary; $5,000 ; term,

3 years.

New York— The " Empire State " was named by the Duke of York, afterward King
James II. of England. It has a Latin motto. Excelsior, which means "Still Higher."

It was first settled by the Dutch in 1614 at Manhattan. It has an area of 47,000 square

miles, or 30,080,000 acres. The population in 1860 was 3,880,735 ; in 1870 it was 4,332,-

759. It is one of the original thirteen States. Capital is Albany. It gave to defend
our Government 445,959 men. Has 33 members in Congress, and 35 Presidential elec-

tors. Governor, L. Robinson, Democrat ; salary, $10,000 ; term, 3 years.

North Carolina— Was named after Charles IX., King of France. It is called "The
Old North," or "The Turpentine State." It was first visited in 152 i by a Florentine

navigator, sent out by Francis I., King of France. It was settled at Albemarle in 1663.

It was one of the original thirteen States. It has an area of 50,704 square miles, equal

to 32,450,560 acres. It had in 1860 a population of 992,622, and in 1870, 1,071,361.

Raleigh is the capital. She furnished 3,156 soldiers to put down the Rebellion. Has 8

members in Congress, and is entitled to 10 Presidential electors. Z. B. Vance, Demo-
crat, is Governor ; salary, $5,000; term, 4 years.

Ohio—Took its name from the river on its Southern boundary, and means " Beauti-

ful." Its motto is Imperium m Imperio—" An Empire in an Empire,." It was first per-

manently settled in 1788 at Marietta by New Englanders. It was admitted as a State in

1803. Its capital is Columbus. It contains 39,964 square miles, or 25,576,960 acres.

Population in 1860, 2,339,511 ; in 1870 it had 2,665,260. She sent to the front during
the Rebellion 310,654 soldiers. Has 20 representatives, and 22 Presidential electors.

Governor, R. M. Bishop, Democrat ; salary, $4,000 ; term, 2 years.

Oreffovr^Ow^s its Indian naipe to its principal river. Its motto is AUs volat propriis
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—"She flies' with her own wings." It was first visited by the Spaniards in the sixteenth
century. It was settled by the English in 1813, and admitted into the Union in 1859,
Its capital is Salem. It has an area of 95,274 square miles, equal to 60,975,360 acres.

It had in 1860 a population of 52,465 ; in 1^0, 90,922. She furnished 1,810 soldiers.

She is entitled to 1 member in Congress, and 3 Presidential electors. W. W. Thayer,
Republican, is Governor ; salary, f1,500 ; term, 4 years.

Pennslyvania— This is the "Keystone State," and means "Penn's Woods," and
was so called after William Penn, its original owner. Its motto is, " Virtue, liberty and
independence*" A colony was established by Penn in 1682. The State was one of the

original thirteen. It has an area of 46,000 square miles, equaling 29,440,000 acres. It

had in 1860 a population of 2,906,215 ; and in 1870, 3,516,993. She gave to suppress

the Rebellion, 338,155 soldiers. Harrisburg is the capital. Has 27 representatives and
29 electors. H. M. Hoyt, is Governor ; salary, f10,000 ; politics. Republican ; term of

office, 8 years.

Rhode Island— This, the smallest of the States, owes its name to the Island of

Rhodes in the Mediterranean, which domain it is said to greatly resemble. Its motto is

" Hope," and it is familiarly called, "Little Rhody." It was settled by Roger Williams
in 1636. It was one of the original thirteen States. It has an area of 1,806 square
miles, ' or 835,840 acres. Its population in 1860 numbered 174,620 ; in 1870, 217,356.

She gave to defend the Union, 23,248 soldiers. Its capitals are Providence and New-
port. Has 2 representatives, and 4 Presidential electors. C. Vanzandt is Governor ;

politics, Republican ; salary, $1,000 ; term, 1 year.

South Carolina—The Palmetto State wears the Latin name of Charles IX., of

France (Carolus). Its motto is Latin, Animis opihusque parati, " Ready in will and
deed." The first permanent settlement was made at Port Royal in 1670, where the

French Huguenots had failed three-quarters of a century before to found a settlement.

It is one of the original thirteen States. Its capital is Columbia. It has an area of 29,-

385 square miles, or 18,806,400 acres, with a 'population in 1860 of 703,708; in 1870,

728,000. Has 5 representatives in Congress, and is entitled to 7 Presidential electors.

Salary of governor, $3,500 ; term, 2 years.

Tennessee— Is the Indian name for the "River of the Bend," i. e. the Mississippi,

which forms its western boundary. She is called " The Big Bend State." Her motto is,

" Agriculture, Commerce." It was settled in 1757, and admitted into the Union in 1796,

making the sixteenth State, or the third admitted after the Revolutionary War—Ver-
mont being the first, and Kentucky the second. It has an area of 45,600 square miles,

or 29,184,000 acres. In 1860 its population numbered 1,109,801, and in 1870, 1,257,983.

She furnished 81,092 soldiers to suppress the Rebellion. Nashville is the capital. Has
10 representatives, and 12 Presidential electors. Governor, A. S. Marks, Democrat

;

salary, $4,000 ; term, 2 years.

Texas— I^-the American word for the Mexican name by which all that section of the

country was known before it was cedfed to the United States. It is known as " The
Lone Star State." The first settlement was made by LaSalle in 1685. After the inde-

pendence of Mexico in 1822, it remained a Mexican Province until 1836, when it gained

its independence, and in 1845 was admitted into the Union. It has an area of 237,504

square miles, equal to 152,002,560 acres. Its population in 1860 was 604,215; in 1870,

818,579. She gave to put down the Rebellion 1,965 soldiers. Capital, Austin, Has
6 representatives, and 8 Presidential electors. Governor, O. M. Roberts, Democrat

;

salary, $5,000 ; term, 2 years.

Vermont— Bears the Frencli name of her mountains Verde Mont, " Green Moun-
tains." Its motto is " Freedom and Unity." It was settled in 1731, and admitted into

the Union in 1791. Area, 10,212 square miles. Population in 1860, 315,098; in 1870,

380,551. She gave to defend the Government 33,272 soldiers. Capital, Montpelier.



208 GENERAL HISTORY OP ILLINOIS.

Has 3 representatives, and 5 electors. Governor, H. Fairbanks, Republican ; term, 2
years ; salary, $1,000.

Virginia— The Old Dominion, as the State is called, is the oldest of the States. It

was named in honor of Queen Elizabeth, the " Virgin Queen," in whose reign Sir Walter
Raleigh made his first attempt to colonize^hat region. Its motto is Sie semper tyrannis,
" So always with tyrants." It was first settled at Jamestown, in 1607, by the English,

being the first settlement in the United States. It is one of the original thirteen States,

and had before its division in 1862, 61,352 square miles, but at present contains but 88,-

352 square miles, equal to 24,545,280 acres. The population in 1860 amounted to

1,596,318, and in 1870 it was 1,224,830. Richmond is the capital. Has' 9 representa-

tives, and 11 electors. Governor, F. W. M. Halliday, Democrat; salary, $5,500; term,

4 years.

West Virginia— Motto, Montani semper liberi, " Mountaineers are always free." This
is the only State ever formed, under the Constitution, by the division of an organized

State. This was done in 1862, and in 1863 was admitted into the Union. It has an area

of 23,000 square miles, or 14,720,000 acres. The population in 1860 was 376,000 ; in

1870 it numbered 445,616. She furnished 32,003 soldiers. Capital, Wheeling. Has three

representatives in Congress, and is entitled to 5 Presidential electors. The Governor is H.
M. Mathews, Democrat ; term, 4 years ; salary, $2,700.

Wisconsin— Is an Indian name, and means "Wild-rushing channel." Its motto,

Civitatas successit barbarum, " The civilized man succeeds the barbarous." It is called
" The Badger State." The State was visited by the French explorers in 1665, and a

settlement was made in 1669 at Green Bay. It was admitted into the Union in 1848. It

has an area of 52,924 square miles, equal to 34,511,360 acres. In 1860 its population
numbered 775,881 ; in 1870, 1,055,167. Madison is the capital. She furnished for the

Union army 91,021 soldiers. Has 8 members in Congress, and is entitled to 10 Presi-

dential electors. The Governor is W. E. Smith ; politics, Republican ; salary, $5,000 ;

term, 2 years.

CHAPTER XX.

MISCELLANEOUS.

Origin of the Name of the State— "Suckers," "Pukes" and "Badgers'"— " Egypt"— The State Bank— Visit of

LaFayette— Early Governors— Adolphus F. Hubbard— Wolves and Wolf Scalps— A Funny Speech— Gov.
Edwards— The First Mail Route— First Newspaper— Population of Illinois by Counties— Production of

Agriculture by Counties— Population of Fifty Principal American Cities— Popiilation of the United States— Principal Countries of the World — Practical Business Rules.

*

The name of this beautiful " Prairie State " is derived from Illini, an Indian word
signifying superior men. It has a French termination, and is a symbol of the manner in

which the two races, the French and Indians, were intermixed during the early history
of the country. The appellation was no doubt well applied to the primitive inhabitants
of the soil, whose prowess in savage warfare long withstood the combined attacks of the
fierce Iroquois on the one side, and the no less savage and relentless Sacs and Foxes on
the other. The Illinois were once a powerful confederacy, occupying the most beautiful
and fertile region in the great valley of the Mississippi, which their enemies coveted and
struggled long and hard to wrest from them. By the fortunes of war they were dimin-
ished in number and finally destroyed. " Starved Rock," on the Illinois river, according
to tradition, commemorates their last tragedy, where, it is said, the entire tribe starved
rather than surrender.
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The low cognomen of " Sucker," as applied to Illinoisans, is said to have had its

origin at the Galena lead mines. In an early day, when these extensive mines were
being worked, men would run up the Mississippi river in steamboats in the Spring,

work the lead mines, and in the Fall return, thus establishing, as was supposed, a simili-

tude between their migratory habits and those of the fishy tribe called " Suckers." For
this reason the lUipoisans have ever since been distinguished by the epithet " Suckers."

Those who stayed at the mines over Winter were mostly from Wisconsin, and were
called " Badgers." One Spring the Missourians poured into the mines in such numbers
that the State was said to have taken a puke, and the offensive appellation of " Pukes"
was afterwards applied to all Missourians.

The southern part of the State, known as " Egypt," received this appellation be-

cause, being older, better settled and cultivated, grain was had in greater abundance
than in the central and northern portion, and the immigrants of this region, after the

manner of the children of Israel, went " thither to. buy and to bring from thence that

they might live and not die."

STATE BANK.

The Legislature, during the latter years of territorial existence, granted charters to

several banks. The result was that paper money became very abundant, times flush,

and credit unlimited ; and every body invested to the utmost limit of his credit, with
confident expectation of realizing a handsome advance before the expiration of his

credit, from the throng of immigrants then pouring into the country. By 1819 it became
apparent that a day of reckoning would approach before their dreams of fortune could be
realized. Banks everywhere began to waver, paper money became depreciated, and gold

and silver driven out of the country. The Legislature sought to bolster up the times by
incorporating the " Bank of Illinois," which, with several branches, was created by the

session of 1821. This bank, being wholly supported by the credit of the State, was to

issue one, two, three, five, ten and twenty-dollar notes. It was the duty of the bank to

advance, upon personal property, money to the amount of $100, and a larger amount
upon real estate. All taxes and public salaries could be paid in such bills ; and if a

creditor refused to take them, he had to wait three years longer before he could collect

his debt. The people imagined that simply because the Government had issued the

notes, they would remain at par ; and although this evidently could not be the case,

they were yet so' infatuated with tlieir project as actually to request the United States

Government to receive them in payment for their public lands ! Although they were
not wanting men who, like John McLean, the Speaker of the House of Representatives,
foresaw tiie dangers and evils likely to arise from the creation of such a bank, by far the

greater part of the people were in favor of it. The new bank was therefore started.

The new issue of bills by the bank of course only aggravated the evil, heretofore so

grievously felt, of the absence of specie, so that the people were soon compelled to cut

their bills in halves and quarters, in order to make small change in trade. Finally the
paper currency so rapidly depreciated that three dollars in these bills were considered
worth only one in specie, and the State not only did not increase its revenue, but lost

fully two-thirds of it, and expended three times the amount required to pay the expenses
of the State Government.

Lafayette's visit.

In the Spring of 1825 the brave and generous LaFayette visited Illinois, accepting
the earnest invitation of the General Assembly, and an affectionately written letter of
Gov. Cole's, who had formed his personal acquaintance in France in 1817. The General
in reply said :

" It has been my eager desire, and it is now my earnest intention, to visit

the Western States, and particularly the State of Illinois. The feelings which your dis-

tant welcome could not fail to excite have increased that patriotic eagerness to admire
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on that blessed spot the happy and rapid results of republican institutions, public and
domestic virtues. I shall, after the 22d of February (anniversary day), leave here for a

journey to the Southern States, and from New Orleans to the Western States, so as to

return to Boston on the 14th of June, when the corner-stone of the Bunker Hill monu-
ment is to be laid,—a ceremony sacred to the whole Union and in which I have been en-

gaged to act a peculiar and honorable part."

General LaP'ayette and suite, attended by a large delegation of prominent citizens

of Missouri, made a visit by the steamer Natchez to the ancient town of Kaskaskia. No
military parade was attempted, but a multitude of pa|riotic citizens made him welcome.
A reception was held. Gov. Cole delivering a glowing address of welcome. During the

progress of a grand ball held that night, a very interesting interview took place between
the honored General and an Indian squaw whose father had served under him in the

Revolutionary war. The squaw, learning that the great white chief was to be at Kas-
kaskia on that night, had ridden all day, from early dawn till some time in the night,

from her distant home, to see the man whose name had been so often on her father's

tongue, and with which she was so familiar. In identification of her claim to his dis-

tinguished acquaintance, she had brought with her an old, worn letter which the Gen-
eral had written to her father, and which the Indian chief had preserved with great care,

and finally bequeathed on his death-bed to his daughter as the most precious legacy he
had to leave her.

At 12 o'clock at night Gen. LaFayette returned to his boat and started South. The
boat was chartered by the State.

BAELT GOVBENOBS.

In the year 1822 the term of office of the first Governor, Shadrach Bond, expired.

Two parties sprung up at this time—one favorable, the other hostile, to the introduction

of slavery, each proposing a candidate of its own for Governor. Both parties worked
hard to secure the election of their respective candidates ; but the people at large de-

cided, as they ever have been at heart, in favor of a free State. Edward Coles, an anti-

slavery man, was elected, although a majority of the Legislature were opposed to him.
The subject of prinaipal interest during his administration was to make Illinois a slave

State. The greatest effort was made in 1824, and the proposition was defeated at the

polls by a majority of 1,800. The aggregate vote polled was 11,612, being about 6,000

larger than at the previous State election. African slaves were first introduced into

Illinois in 1719 by Renault, a Frenchman.
Senator Duncan, afterward Governor, presented to the Legislature of 1824^-5 a bill

for the support of schools by a public tax ; and William S. Hamilton presented another
bill requiring a tax to be used for the purpose of constructing and repairing the roads—
both of which bills passed and became laws. But although these laws conferred an in-

calculable benefit upon the public, the very name of a tax was so odious to the people

that, rather than pay a tax of the smallest possible amount, they preferred working as

they fornierly did, five days during the year on the roads, and would allow their children

to grow up without any instruction at all. Consequently both laws were abolished

in 1826.

In the year 1826 the office of Governor became again vacant. Ninian Edwards,
Adolphus F. Hubbard and Thomas C. Sloe were candidates. Edwards, though the suc-

cessful candidate, had made himself many enemies by urging strict inquiries to be made
into the corruption of the State bank, so that had it not been for his talents and noble
personal appearance, he would most probably not have been elected. Hubbard was a

man of but little personal merit. Of him tradition has preserved, among other curious
sayings, a speech on a bill granting a bounty on wolf-scalps. This speech, delivered be-

fore the Legislature, is as follows : " Mr. Speaker, I rise before the question is put on
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this bill, to say a word for my constituents. Mr. Speaker, I have never seen a wolf. I
can not say that I am very well acquainted with the nature and habits of wolves. Mr.
Speaker, I have said that I had never seen a wolf ; but now I remember that once on a
time, as Judge Brown and I we're riding across the Bonpas prairie, we looked over the
prairie about three miles, and Ju*dge Brown said, ' Hubbard, look ! there goes a wolf

;'

and I looked, and I looked, and I looked, and I said, ' Judge, where ?' and he said,
' There !' And 1 looked again, and this time in the edge of a hazel thicket, about three
miles across the prairie, I think I saw the wolf's tail. Mr. Speaker, if I did not see a wolf
that time, I think I never saw one ;^ but I have heard much, and read more, about this

animal. I have studied his natural history.
" By the by, history is divided into two parts. There is first the history of the fab-

ulous ; and secondly, of the non-fabulous, or unknown age. Mr. Speaker, from all these
sources of information I learn that the wolf is a very noxious animal ; that he goespiowl-
ing about, seeking something to devour ; that he rises up in the dead and secret hours of

night, wljien all nature reposes in silent oblivion, and then commits the most terrible de-

vastation upon the rising generation of hogs and sheep.
" Mr. Speaker, I have done ; and I return my thanks to the House for their kind at-

tention to my remarks."

Gov. Edwards was a large and well-made man, with a noble, princely appearance.
Of him Gov. Ford says : " He never condescended to the common low art of election-

eering. Whenever he went out among the people he arrayed himself in the style of a

gentleman of the olden time, dressed in fine broadcloth, with short breeches, long stock-

ings, and high, fair-topped boots ; was drawn in a fine carriage driven by a negro ; and
for success he relied upon his speeches, which were delivered in great pomp and in style

of diffuse and florid eloquence. When he was inaugurated in 1826, he appeared before

the General Assembly wearing a golden-laced cloak, and with great pomp pronounced
his first message to the Houses of the Legislature.

The first mail route in the State was established in 1805. This was from Vincennes
to Cahokia. In 1824 there was a direct mail route from Vandalia to Springfield. The
first route from the central part of the State to Chicago was established in 1832, from
Shelbyville. The difficulties and dangers encountered by the early mail carriers, in time
of Indian troubles, were jVery serious. The bravery and ingenious devices of Harry
Milton are mentioned with special commendation. When a boy, in 1812, he conveyed
the mail on a wild French pony from Shawneetown to St. Louis, over swollen streams

and through the enemy's country. So infrequent and irregular were the communications
by mail a greater part of the time, that to-day, even the remotest part of the United

States is unable to appreciate it by example.
The first newspaper published in Illinois was the Illinois Herald, established at Kas-

kaskia by Mathew Duncan. There is some difference of opinion as to the exact time of

its establishment. Gov. Reynolds claimed it was started in 1809. Wm. H. Brown,
afterwards its editor, gives the date as 1814.

In 1831 the criminal code was first adapted to penitentiary punishment, ever since

which time the old system of whipping and pillory for the punishment of criminals has

been disused.

There was no legal rate of interest till 1830. Previously the rate often reached as

high as 150 per cent., but was usually 50 per cent. Then it was reduced to 12, then to

10, and lastly to 8 per cent.
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POPXJLATION or iLLnrOIS BY COTTNTIBS PROM 1820 TO 1870.

COUNTIES.

Adams
Alexander -

.

Bond
Boone
Brown
Bureau
Calhoun
Carroll

Cass
Champaign .

Christian ...

Clark
Clay
Clinton
Coles
Cook

Crawford
Cumberland
DeKalb....
DeWitt
Douglas ....

Du Page
Edgar
Edwards ....

Efiingham .

.

Fayette
Ford
Franklin
Fulton
Gallatin

Greene
Grundy
Hamilton
Hancock ...

Hardin
Henderson .

Henry
Iroquois

Jackson
Jasper
Jefferson

Jersey

Jo Daviess .

.

Johnson
Kane
Kankakee ..

Kendall....
Knox
Lake
LaSalle

AGGREGATE.

1S70.

56.362

10,564

13.152

12,942 .

12,205

32,415
6,562

16,705

11,580

32,737
20,363

18,719

15,875
16,285

25,235

349.966

13.889

12,223

23,265

14,768

131484
16,685

21,450

7.565

15,653
19,638

9,103
12,652

38,291

11,134
20.277

14.938
13.014

35.935
5.113

12,582

35.506
25.782

19,634
11.234

17,864

15,054
27,820

11,248

39.091

24.352

12,399

39.522
21,014

60,792

I860.

41.323

4.707
9.815

11,678
' 9.938
26,426

5.144

11,733
11.325

14,629

10,492

14.987

9.336
10,941

14,203

144,954

11,551

8,311

19,086
10,820

7,140

14,701

16,925

5,454
7,8:6

11,189

1,979

9.393
33.338
8,055

16,093

10,379

9.915
2g,o6l

3.759
9.501

20,660

12,325

9.589
8,364

12,965
12,051

27,325

9,342
30,062

15.412

13.074
28,663

18,257

48.332

1850.

26,508

2,484

6.144
7,624

7,198
8,841

3.231

4,586

7.253

2.649
3.203

9.532
4,289

5,139

9.335

43.385

7.135

3.718

7.540
5.002

9.290
10,692

3.524

3.799
8,075

5.681

22,508 •

5.448
12,429

3,023
6,362

14.652

2.887

4,612

3,807

4.149
5,862

3,220
8,iog

7,354
18,604

4,114
16,703

7.730
13.279
14,226

17.815

1840.

14.476

3,313
5.060

1,705

4.183
3.067

1.741

1.023

2,981

1.475
1,878

7,453
3,228

3,718
9,616
10,201

4,422

1,697

3,247

3.535
8,225

3.070
1,675

6,328

3.682

13.142

10,760

11.951

3.945
9,946
1,378

1,260

1,695

3.566

1,472

5.762

4.535
6,180

3,626

6,501

7.060

2,634

9.348

1830.

2,186

1.390

3.124

1.090

3.940

755
2,330

3.117

4,071

1,649

2,704

4.083
1.841

7.405

7.674

2,616

483

41

"1,838"

2,555

2,111

1,596

274

18S0.

626

2,931

931

23*

2.999

3.444

1,763

1.355

1.542

691

843
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PoPTjLATioN OP Illinois by Counties from 1820 to 1870.—Continued.

COUNTIES.
AGGREGATE.

1870. 18«0. 18SO. 1840. 1830, 1880.

Lawrence
Lee
Livingston .

.

Logan .

Macon
Macoupin ...

Madison
Marion
Marshall . .

.

Mason
Massac
McDonough
McHeniy ..

McLean
Menard
Mercer

Monroe
Montgomery
Morgan
Moultrie
Ogle
Peoria
Perry
Piatt

Pike
Pope
Pulaski
Putnam
Randolph ..

Richland
Rock Island
Saline

Sangamon .

.

Schuyler

Scott

Shelby
Stark

St. Clair

Stephenson .

Tazewell
Union
Vermillion..
Wabash
Warren
Washington.
Wayne
White
Whitesides .

Will
Williamson .

Winnebago .

Woodford ..

Total

I2>533

27,171
3i>47i

23,053
26,481

32,726

44.131
20,622

16,950
16,184

9,581

26,509
23,762

53.988

11.735

18,769

12,982

25.314
28,463

10.385

27.492

47.540
13,723

10,953
30,768

11.437

8,752
6,280

20,859
12,803

29.783
12,714

46.352

17.419
10,530

25.476
10,751

51,068

30,608

27.903
16,518

30,388
8,841

23.174

17.599
19.758
16,846

27.503
43.013

17.329
29,301

18,956

9,214
17.651
H.637
14,272

13.738
24,602

31.251

12.739

y.437
10,931
6,213

20,069

22,089

28,772

9.584
15.042

12,834

13.979
22,112

6.385
22,888

36,601

9,552
6,127

27.249
6,742

3,943
5,587

17.205

9.711
21,005

9,331

32,274
14,684

9,069

14.613

9,004

37.694
25.112

21,470
11,181

19,800

7.313
18,336

13.731

12,223

12,403

18,737

29,321
12,205

24,491
13.282

6,121

5,292

1.553

5,128

3.988

12.355

20,441

6.720
5.180

5.921
4,o9!r

7,616

»4.978
1*0,163

6,349
5,246

7,679
6,277
16,064

3,234
10,020

17.547
5,278
1,606

18,819

3.975
2,265

3.924
11,079
4,012

6,937
5.588

19,228

10.573

7,914
7.807

3.710

20,180

11,666

12,052

7.615

11,492
4,6go

8,176

6,953
6,825

8,925

5,361

16,703

7.216

11,773

4.415

2,529,891 1,711,951 851,470

7,092

2,035

759
2,333

3.039
7.926

14.433

4.742
1,849

5,308

2,578

6,565

4.431
2,352

4.481

4,490

19.547

3.479
6.153
3,222

11.728

4,094

2,131

7.944

2,6X0

14,716

6,972
6,215

6,659

1.573

13.631
2,800

7.221

5.524

9.303
4,240

6,739
4,810

5.133

7.919
2,514
10,167

4,457
4,609

3.668

1,122

1,990
6,221

2,125

(*)

26

2,000

2.953
12.714

1.215

2,396

3.316

<:i,3I0

4.429

12,960

(52,959

2,972

7,078

4.716

3,239.

5,836
2.710

308
1.675

2,553
6,091

476,183

13.550

*2I
1.516

2,610

3,492

*5

5,248

2,362

1.517

1.114

4,828

157.445

*49
55.162
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Productions of Agkicultube by Ootinties.— 1870.

COUNTIES.

Adams
Alexander. .

Bond
Boone
Brown
Bureau
Calhoun
Carroll

Cass
Champaign

.

Christian

Clark
Clay
Clinton
Coles .

Cook
Crawford
Cumberland
DeKalb ...

DeWitt
Douglas
DuPage
Edgar
Edwards
Effingham..
Fayette.
Ford
Franklin
Fulton
Gallatin

Greene
Grundy
Hamilton ..

Hancock
Hardin
Henderson..
Henry
Iroquois

Jackson
Jasper
Jefferson

Jersey
JoDaviess . _

.

Johnson
Kane
Kankakee. .

.

Kendall ....

Knox
Lake
LaSalle
Lawrence .

.

Lee
Livingston .

Logan
Macon
Macoupin..
Madison
Marion
Marshall
Mason
Massac
McDonough
McHenry .

.

McLean

Impr'd Landf
Number.

287,926

13.836

145,045

137,307
57,062

398,611

37,684
186,864

92,902

419,368
241,472

"8,594
146,922

150,177
208,337

348,824
105,505

75,342
334,502
168,539

147,633
164,874
265,458

58,912

120,343
187,196
141,228

80,749
228,132

49,572
175,408

193,999
88,996

311,517
28,117

140,954
265,904
322,510

78.548

90,867
118,951

94,147
156,517
57,820

240,120

312,182

164,004

330,829

207,779

533,724
87,828

322,212

377,505
321,709
205,259

231,059
257,032
173,081

166,057

209,453
25,151

261,635
230,566

494,978

Wopdland,
Number.

112,576

17,761

42,613
29,886

35,491
41,866

63,443

29,793

33,493
16,789
19,803

102,201

80,612

48,868

45,214

19,635

78,350

40,334
17,722

29,548

11,897

17,243
66,803

57,585
56,330

93,460
2,996

3,994
123,823

68,750

93,242
6,256

93,878

43,385
44,771

34,705
12,620

22,478
87642
67,023

94,888

51,427
82,076

3
34,646
10,978

14,244
41,566
21,072

48,117

72,738
12,071

12,462

17,394
18,153

81,224

89,450

61,579
28,260

31.739

33,396
52,547

53,293
40,366

Other unim-
pro'd. No.

19,370

1,915

2,658

25,608

15,803

2,754
33,302
6,604

58,502

19.173

5,420
5,225

8,722

3,274

17,337
27,185

5,604
6,551

17,633

7.316

3.851

14,282

830
26.206

16,786

63,976
86,710

4,076
2,565

29,653

4,505

3,343
18,480

107

14,243

31,459
63,498

5,991
12,250

778
1,363

45,779
79.141

399
10,598
2,283

25,155

24,399
2.356

3,273

7,409
41,788

408
9,115

7,343
13,675

4,142

2,976

31,013

30
14.035

57-998
49.087

Spr'g Wheat,
Bushels.

16,191

700
241,042
13.276

465,236

75
418,073
12,165

102,577
18,360

1,894
500

2.651

144,296
60

550
398,059
106.493

7,683
106,096

13,283

77

42,571

365
193,669

21,700
129

181,378

13
161,112

462,379
57,160

890

282,758

188,826

103,466
90,681

267,764
168,914
271,181

450,793
120,206

198,056

55-239
160

550

106,129

73,261

273,871

401,790
211,801

Win'r Wheat,
Bushels.Bushels.

947,616 20,989

42,658 30
368,625 6,240

599 35,871

117,502 4,742

724 43,8"
221,298 186

260 25,721

127,054 2,772

123,091 45,752
504,041 10,722

195,118 7.308

85.737 3.221

610,888 1,619

154,484 8,825

4,904 20,171

212,924 15,497
84,697 14,798

190 21,018

11,695 11,540

65,461 9,017

693 7,532
247,360 37,508
122,703 528

195,716 19,759
351,310 25,328

1,008 11.577
111,324 5,195

223,930 131,711

83,093 512

577.400 415
150 4,930

92,347 11,672

232,750 133 533
32,306 865
69,062 96,430

445 35,766
10,480 23,259

329,036 524
87,808 9,165

100,553 5,934
558,367

555 7,185

92,191 2,468

325 23,618
480 12,935

1,249 5.163

7,654 113.547
221 5,870

2,193 48,308

264,134 1,121

2,260 14,829

1,339 26,163

40,963 37,232
196,613 29.223

861,398 2,404
1,207,181 3,685

173-652 14,517

900 36,135
125,628 49,182
72,316 544
36,146 52,401

270 29,264

10,955 39-824

Indian Corn,
Bushels.

1,452,905
244,220

1,064,052

466,985

337,769
3,030.404

234,041

1,367,965
1,146,980

3,924,720
1,883,336

614,582

1,019,994

813,257
2,133,111

570,427
581,964
403,075

1,023,849

1,311,635
1,680,225

331,981
2,107,615

352,371
620,247

962,525

565,671
653,209

1,508,763

509,491
1,051,313

295,971
735.252

1,510,401

172,651

1,712,901

2,541,683

799,810
611,951

461,345
887,981

519,120
1,286,326

343,298

674.333
637,399
681,267

2,708,319

517.353
3,077,028

656,363
1,656,978

1.182,696

4,221,640

2,214,468

1,051,544

2,127,549

1,034,057

1,182,903

2,648,726

133,126

1,362,490

1,145,005

3,723.379

Oats,
Bushels,

759,074
21,627

461,097
579,127

70,852

987,426
26,234

775,100
168,784

721,375
383,821
212,628

269,945

446,324

315,954
1,584,225

136,255

171,880

1,087,074

216,756

225,074
860,809

290,679
129,152

386,073

497.395
154,589
222,426

261,390
27,164

64,029

269,332
203,464

579,599
26,991-

229,286

668,367

430,746

149.931

149,214

285,949
71,770

874,016

74,525
785,608

772,408
468,890

787,952

699,069
1,509,642

131,386.

903,197
659,300
490,226

454,648

459,417
475,252

389,446
362,604
272,660

22,097

280,717

910,397
911,127
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Prodtjotions of Agricultxjkb by Counties—1870.—Continued.

COUNTIES.

Menard
Mercer
Monroe
Montgomery
Morgan
Moultrie
Ogle
Peoria

Perry
Piatt

Pike
Pope _

Pulaski

Putnam
Randolph
Richland
Rock Island.
Saline

Sangamon
Schuyler
Scott

Shelby
Stark

St. Clair

Stephenson..
Tazewell..,.
Union
Vermilion
Wabash
Warren
Washington

.

Wayne
White
Whiteside . .

.

Will
William.son_.

Winnebago.

.

Woodford...

Impr'd Land,
Number,

Total.

134.173
222,809

92,810
276,682

293.450
144,220

316,883

170,729

93.754

94.454
233.785
55.980

19.319
37.271

140,764

75.079
155,214

72,309
421,748

96,195

85.331

310,179
138,129
231,117

254.857
229,126

75.832
360,251

54.063
266,187

177.592

147.352

92.398
289,809

419,442
128,448

241.373
225,504

Woodland, Other unim-
Number. pio'd. No.

34.931

45.977
83,369
47,804
60,217

24.783

43.643
48,666

68,470

5.978

128,953

87.754
12,516

17,184

162,274
50,618

31.239

70,393
51.085

62477
44.633
74,908

12.375

76,591

43.167
45.268
83,606

53.078

37.558
27.294

55.852

146,794
78,167
21,823

24,261

116,949

37.238
25,217

19.329.952 5.061.578 1,491.331

13.952
22,588

666

8,495
1,376

13,112

14.913
2,516
220

13.897

9,302

Spr'g'Wheat,
Bushels.

Win'rWheat,
Bushels,

4.174
1,170

2,025

20,755

809
19,932
21,294
1,610

9.314
2,783
2,016

13.701

14,846

5.300
31,122

509
14.583

1.931

10,486

869
37.310

6,335
1,648

15.237

23,135

36,152

289,291

59
18,196

17,128

497.038
92,361

26.382

130

28,137

450

243,541
200

89,304
56,221

1

15.526

124,630

2,550

527,394
132,417

44,806

186,290

""^266

457,455
195,286

176
408,606

178,139

45,793
13,203

651,767

744,891

357.523
196,436

5.580

31.843

350,446

39,762

1.057.497

70,457
44,922

796
1,031,022

150,268

2,279
83.011

247,658

165,724
266,105

452,015

1,562,621

2,118

72,410
180,231

249.558
202,201

5.712

672,486
164,689

184,321

264
1,996

170,787
2,468

108,307

10,133,207 19,995,198 2,456,578

Rye,
Bushels,

4,283

40,778

1.425

3.296

5.535
6,670

157.504
99.502
1,016

9,248

25.303
2,309
222

7.707

3.235

3.401
20,003

568

23.073
20,841

930
23,686

30,534
1,008

135,362

59,027

1.737

52476

72,212

2,576

8,665

418
31.658
8,030
6,228

137,985
20,426

Indian Corn,
Bushels.

1,973,880

2,054,962

543,718
1.527,8.

3,198,835

1.753,141
1,787,666

969,224
384,446

1,029,725

1,399,188

315,958

195,735
334,259
510,080

482,594
1,459.653

531,516

4,388,763

440,975
752,771

2,082,578

1,149,878
1,423,121

1,615,679
2,062,053

679.753
2,818,027

421,361

2,982,853
836,115

1,179,291

870,521

2,162,943

1,131.458

655,710
1,237,406

2,154,185

Oats,
Bushels,

129.921,395

235,091

452,889
152,251

668,424

198,724

263,992
141,540

334,892
338,760
130,610

161,419
67,886

16,511

86,519

414,487
204,634

276,575

69,793
397,718

119,359
13,462

637,812
316,726

476,851
960,620

505,841

124,473
436,051
110,793
601,054

533,398
404,482

119.653
880,838

1,868,682

.

190,986

868,903

744.581

42,780,851

Population op Fifty Principal American Cities.

CITIES.

New York, N.Y...
Philadelphia, Pa...

Brooklyn, N.Y
St. Louis, Mo
Chicago, 111

Baltimore, Md
Boston, Mass
Cincinnati, Ohio..
New Orleans, La..

San Francisco, Cal,

Buffalo, N.Y
Washington, D.C.-
Newark, N.J
Louisville, Ky.
Cleveland, Ohio . .

.

Pittsburg, Pa
Jersey City, N. J...

.15

Aggregate
Population.

942,292
674,022

396,099
310,864

298,977
267,354
250,526

216,239

191,418

149.473
117,714

109,199

105,059
100,753

92,829
86,076

82,546

CITIES.

Detroit, Mich,
Milwaukee, Wis...

Albany, N.Y
Providence, R. I...

Rochester, N.Y...
Allegheny, Pa
Richmond, Va
New Haven, Conn
Charleston, S. C...

Indianapolis, Ind..

Troy, N.Y
Syracuse, N. Y
Worcester, Mass...

Lowell, Mass
Memphis, Tenn...
Cambridge, Mass..

Hartford, Conn

Aggregate
Population.

79.577
71,440
69,422

68,904
62,386

53,280
51,038

50,840

48,956
48,244

46,465
43,051
41.105

40,928
40,226

39,634
37,180

CITIES,

Scranton, Pa,

Reading, Pa
Paterson, N, J
Kansas City, Mo,..
Mobile, Ala
Toledo, Ohio
Portland, Me
Columbus, Ohio
Wilmington, Del,.
Dayton, Ohio
Lawrence, Mass,..
Utica, N.Y,.
Charlestown, Mass,
Savaiiiiah, Ga.
Lynn, Mass..
Fall River, Mass,..

Aggregate
Population,

35.092

33.930

33.579
32,260

32.034

31,584

31.413
31,274
30,841

30,473
28,931
28,804

28,323

28,235
28,233
26,766

f i
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POPULATION OF THE UNITED STATES.

states ana Territories.

States.
Alabama
Arkansas
California
Connecticut
Delaware
Florida
Georgia
Illinois
Indiana
Iowa
Kansas
Kentuclcy
Louisiana
Maine
Maryland
Massacliusetts..
Michigan*
Minnesota
Mississippi
Missouri
Nebraska
Nevada
New Hampsliire.
New Jersey
NewTork
North Carolina.,
Ohio

Area in
Square
Miles.

50.728
52.198

188.981
4,674
8.120

59,268
58,000
55,410
33,809
65,045
81,318
37,600
41,346
31,776
11,184
7,800

56,451
83.531
47,156
65,350
75,995

112,090
9,280
8,320

.47,000
50,704
39.964

Population.

1870.

996,998
484,471
560,247
537.454
125,015
187,748

1,184,109
8.539,891
1,680,637
1,191,798
364.399

1,321,011
786,915
626,915
780,894

1,457,351
1,184,059
439,706
827,922

1,781,295
183,993
48,491

318.300
906.096

4,382,759
1,071,361
2,665.260

1875.

1,350,544
528,349

857,039

1,651,918
1,334,031
598,429

246.280
58,540

1,026,502
4,705,208

Miles
Bailroad

1872.

1,671
25

tl,013
* 820

287
466

8,108
5,904
3,589
3,160
1,760
1,123
539
871
820

1,606
2,235
1,612

, 990
2,580
828
593
790

1,265
4,470
1,190
3,740

States and Territories.

States.
Oregou
Pennsylvania
Bhode iRland
South Carolina
Tennessee
Texas
Vermont
Virginia
West Virginia
Wisconsin...,

Total states

Territories.
Arizona
Colorado
Dakota
District of Columbia,
Idaho
Montana
New Mexico
Utah
Washington
Wyoming

Total Territories..

Aggregate of U. S. ...

Area in
Square
Miles.

95,244
46,000
1,306

29,385
45,600

237,504
10.218
40.904
23,000
53,-984

1,950,171

118,916
104,500
147,490

60
90.932

143,766
121,801
80,056
69,944
93.107

965,032

8.915.803

Population.

1870.

90,923
3,521,791
817,353
705,606

1,858.520
818.579
330.551

1,285.163
442.014

1,054.670

38,113,253

9,658
39.864
14,181

131,700
14,999
20,595
91,874
86,786
23,955
9,118

442,730

38.555.983

1875.

258.239
925,145

1,236,729

Miles
Bailroad
1872.

159
5,113
136

1,201
1.520
866
675

1,490
485

1,725

59,587

375

1,865

60,85

•Last Census of Michigan taken In 1874. •Included in the Bailroad Mileage of Maryland.

Principal Countbibs op the World. —Population and Area.

COUNTRIBS. Population. Date of
Census.

Area In Square
Miles.

Inhabitants
to Sq. Mile.

CAPITALS. Population.

China. 446.500.000
326.817.108
81.935.400
38,935.600
36,4^9,800
35.904,400
34,785,300
31,817.100

,
39.906.092

Sis
3,996,800
3688300
3.000.000
2.0110,000
2.669.100
2.500.000
2.000.000
1,812.000
1,818.500
1,784.700
1.500,000
1.461.400
1,457.900
1,180.000
1,300.000
1,000,000
823,138
718,000
600,000
672,000
350,000
800,000
350,000
136,000
165,000
62,950

1871
1871
1871
1870
1866
1869

\^\
1871
1871
1867

3,741,846
4,677,432
8.003.778

240,348
149,399
121,315
160.207
118.847
196,770

3,253,029
672.621
761,526
692,871
635,964
11373
29,292
34.494
12,680

357,157
132,616
15,992

471,838
497,321
871.848

7,533
14,753

368.238
5.912
19.353
40,879

218.988
63,787
2,969
9.576
7.335

10,205
58,171
66.728
47,092
17,827

119.3
48.0
10.2

i7i:?«
149.4
232.8
268.3

23o!g
85.

8l:r

Pefciu 1.648 800
3,251.800
667,000

Uaited States with Alaska Washluerton 109,199
paHs...?.. ...:::::.::::::::: 1,825,300

Austria and Hungary
Japan

Vienna.. 833,900
Teddo 1,554,900

^ 3,251,800
825,400Berlin

Italy .:.:::!;:;:::'.:;!:::!:::: • Kome 244,484
Madrid 332,000

Brazil 420,000
Constantinople 1,075,000

210,300Mexico 1869
1870

1871
1868
1870
1870
1869

Jil?

•}««?
1870

Mexico

'?:8
441,5
165.9
115.8
890.9

8.4
15.1

166.9
5.3
4.

2.1

4.2
247.

in
5.9

15.6

^?l9
81.8
56.

6!5
7.4
7.6

8^

136,900
180,000

Belgium Brussels 314,100
Munich 169,500

824.063
Holland Hague 90,100
New Grenada Bogota 45,000
Chili 115,400
Switzerland Berne 36,000

160,100
25.000Bolivia .'....

Argentine Republic Buenos Ayres . .. 17780(5
Wurtemburg Stuttgart 91,600

162,048
47,000

Baden 1 71
1 70
1871

Carlsruhe . .... 36 600
Greece Athens

Guatemala
43,400
40,000
70.000

Paraguay 1871 Asuncion 48,000
Hesse Darmstadt. 30,000
Liberia 1871

1871
3,000

San Salvador San Salvador 15 000
Haytl Port au Prince 80 000

1871

10.000
Uruguay Monte Video 44 500
Honduras 13 000

'§;888
7,633

1870
Hawaii Honolulu
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PRACTICAL BUSINESS RULES FOR EVERY DAY USE.

Sow to find the gain or loss per cent, when the cost and selling price are given.

Rule.—Find the difference between the cost and selling price, which will be the
gain or loss.

Annex two ciphers to the gain or loss, and divide it by the cost price ; the result will

be the gain or loss per cent.

How to change gold into currency.

Rule.—Multiply the given sum of gold by the price of gold.
How to change currency into gold.

Divide the amount in currency by the price of gold.
How to find each partner^s share of the gain or loss in a co-partnership business.

Rule.—Divide the whole gain or loss by the entire stock, the quotient will be the
gain or loss per cent.

Multiply each partner's stock by this per cent., the result will be each one's share of

the gain or loss.

How to find gross and net weight and price of hogs.

A short and simple method for finding the net weight, or price of hogs, when the

gross weight or price is given, and vice versa.

Note.—It is generally assumed that the gross weight of Hogs diminished by 1-5 or 20 per cent, of itself gives

the net weight, and the net weight increased by ^ or 25 per cent, of itself equals the gross weight.

To find the net weight or gross price.

Multiply the given number by .8 (tenths).

To find the gross weight or net price.

Divide the given number by .8 (tenths).

How to find the capacity of a granary, bin, or wagon-bed.

Rule.—Multiply (by short method) the number of cubic feet by 6308, and point off

ONE decimal place— the result will be the correct answer in bushels and tenths of a

bushel.

For only an approximate answer, multiply the cubic feet by 8, and point off one
decimal place.

How to find the contents of a corn-crib.

Rule.—Multiply the number of cubic feet by 54, short method, or by 4^ ordinary

method, and point off ONE decimal place— the result will be the answer in bushels.

Note.—In estimating corn in the ear, the quality and the time it has been cribbed must be taken into con-

sideration, since corn will shrink considerably during the Winter and Spring. This rule generally holds good for

corn measured at the time it is cribbed, provided it is sound and clean.

How to find the contents of a cistern or tank.

Rule.—Multiply the square of the mean diameter by the depth (all in feet) and
this product by 5681 (short method), and point off one decimal place— the result

will be the contents in barrels of 31-^ gallons.

How to find the contents of a barrel or cash.

Rule.—Under the square of the mean diameter, write the length (all in inches) in

REVERSED Order, so that its units will fall under the tens ; multiply by short method,
and this product again by 430 ; point off one decimal place, and the result will be the
answer in wine gallons.

How to measure boards.

Rule.—Multiply the length (in feet) by the width (in- inches) and divide the
product by 12— the result will be the contents in square feet.

How to measure scantlings, joists, planhs, sills, etc.
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Rule.—Multiply the width, the thickness, and the length together (the width and
thickness in inches, and the length in feet), and divide the product by 12— the result
will be square feet.

Sow to find the number of acres in a body of land.

Rule.—Multiply the length by the width (in rods), and divide the product by 160
(carrying the division to 2 decimal places if there is a remainder) ; the result will be the
answer in acres and hundredths.

When the opposite sides of a piece of land are of unequal length, add them together
and take one-half for the mean length or width.

How to find the number of square yards in a floor or wall.

Rule.—Multiply the length by the width or height (in feet), and divide the
product by 9, the result will be square yards.

Sow to find the number of bricks required in a building.

Rule.—Multiply the number of cubic feet by 22J-.

The number of cubic feet is found by multiplying the length, height and thickness
(in feet) together.

Bricks are usually made 8 inches long, 4 inches wide, and two inches thick ; hence
it requires 27 bricks to make a cubic foot without mortar, but it is generally assumed that

the mortar fills 1-6 of the space.

How to find the number of shingles required in a roof.

Rule.—Multiply the number of square feet in the roof by 8, if the shingles are

exposed 4^ inches, or by 7 1-5 if exposed 5 inches.

To find the number of square feet, multiply the length of the roof by twice the
length of the rafters.

To find the length of the rafters, at one-foubth pitch, multiply the width of the
building by .56 (hundredths); atONB-THiED pitch, by .6 (tenths); at two-fifths pitch,

by .64 (hundredths); at ONB-HALF pitch, by .71 (hundredths). This gives the length
of the rafters from -the apex to the end of the wall, and whatever they are to project

must be taken into consideration.

Note.— By }^ or }i pitch is meant that the apex or comb of the roof is to h& }^ ox yi the width of the building
HIGHER than the walls or base of the rafters. ,

How to reckon the cost of hay.

Rule.— Multiply the number of pounds by half the price per ton, and remove the
decimal point three places to the left.

How to measure grain.

Rule.— Level the grain ; ascertain the space it occupies in cubic feet ; multiply the
number of cubic feet by 8, and point off one place to the left.

Note.— Exactness requires the addition to every three hundred bushels of one extra bushel.

The foregoing rule may be used for finding the number of gallons, by multiplying the
number of bushels by 8.

If the corn in the box is in the ear, divide the answer by 2, to find the number of

bushels of shelled corn, because it requires 2 bushels of ear corn to make 1 of shelled

corn.

Rapid rules for measuring land without instruments.

In measuring land, the first thing to ascertain is the contents of any given plot in

square yards; then, given the number of yards, find out the number of rods and acres.

The most ancient and simplest measure of distance is a step. Now, an ordinary-

sized man can train himself to cover one yard at a stride, on the average, with sufl&cient

accuracy for ordinary purposes.

To make use of this, means of measuring distances, it is essential to walk on a straight
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line ; to do this, fix the eye on two objects in a line straight ahead, one comparatively
near, the other remote ; and, in walking, keep these objects constantly in line.

Farmers and others hy adopting the following simple and ingenious contrivance, may
always carry with them the scale to construct a correct yard measure.

Take a foot rule, and commencing at the base of the little finger of the left hand,
mark the quarters of the foot on the outer borders of the left arm, pricking in the marks
with indelible ink.

To find how many rods in length will make an acre, the width being given.

Rtjle.— Divide 160 by the width, and the quotient will be the answer.
Sow to find the number of acres in any plot of land, the number of rods being given.

Rule.— Divide the number of rods by 8, multiply the quotient by 6, and remove
the decimal point two places to the left.

The diameter being given, to find the circumference.

Rule.— Multiply the diameter by 3 1-7.

How to find the diameter, when the circumference is given.

Rule.— Divide the circumference by 3 1-7.

To find how many solid feet a round stick of timber of the same thickness throughout will

contain when squared.

Rule.— Square half the diameter|in inches, multiply by 2, multiply by the length

in feet, and divide the product by 144.

Greneral rule for measuring timber, to find the solid contents in feet.

Rule.— Multiply the depth in inches by the breadth in inches, and then multiply by
the length in feet, and divide by 144.

To find the number offeet of timber in trees with the bark on.

Rule.— Multiply the square of one-fifth of the circumference in inches by twice the

length, in feet, and divide by 144. Deduct 1-10 to 1-15, according to the thickness of

the bark.

Howard's new rule for computing interest.

Rule.— The reciprocal of the rate is the time for which the interest on any sum of

money will be shown by simply removing the decimal point two places to the left ; for

ten times that time, remove the point one place to the left ; for 1-10 of the same time,

remove Ihe point three places to the left.

Increase or diminish the results to suit the time given.

Note.—The reciprocal of the rate is found by INVERTING the rate ; thus 3 per cent, per month, inverted, be-

comes ^ of a month, or 10 days.

When the rate is expressed by one figure, always write it thus : 3-1, three ones.

Mule for converting JEnglish into American currency.

Multiply the pounds, with the shillings and pence stated in decimals, by 400 plus the

premium in fourths, and divide the product by 90.

U. S. GOVERNMENT LAND MEASURE.

A township— 36 sections each a mile square.

A section— 640 acres.

A quarter section, half a mile square— 160 acres.

An eighth section, half a mile long, north and south, and a quarter of a mile wide—
80 acres.

A sixteenth section, a quarter of a mile square— 40 acres.

The sections are all numbered 1 to 36, commencing at the north-east corner.
The sections are divided into quarters, which are named by the cardinal points. The

quarters are divided in the same way. The description of a forty-acre lot would read :

The south half of the west half of the south-west quarter of section 1 in township 24,
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north of range 7 west» or as the case might be ; and sometimes will fall short and some-
times overrun the number of acres it is supposed to contain.

The nautical mile is 795 4-5 feet longer than the common mile.

sitkvbyor's meastjbb.
7 92-100 inches . . . . . make 1 link.

25 links ..... "1 rod.

4 rods - - - - - - "1 chain.

80 chains _ . . _ . "1 mile.

Note.—A chain is 100 links, equal to 4 rods or 66 feet.

Shoemakers formerly used a subdivision of the inch called a barleycorn ; three of

which made an inch.

Horses are measured directly over the fore feet, and the standard of measure is four

inches— called a hand.
In Biblical and other old measurements, the term span is sometimes used, which is a

length of nine inches.

The sacred cubit of the Jews was 24.024 inches in length.

The common cubit of the Jews was 21.704 inches in length.

A pace is equal to a yard or 36 inches.

A fathom is equal to 6 feet.

A league is three miles, but its length is variable, for it is, strictly speaking, a nau-
tical term, and should be three geographical miles, equal to 3.46 statute miles, but when
used on land, three statute miles are said to be a league.

In cloth measure an aune is equal to IJ yards, or 46 inches.

An Amsterdam ell is equal to 26.796 inches.

A Trieste ell is equal to 25.284 inches.

A Brabant eU is equal to 27.116 inches.

CHAPTER XXI.

MODERN CHICAGO.

Chicago of "Long Ago"— Wonderful Growth— Situation — Divisions— Bridges— Tunnels— System of Water
Supply— A Great Undertaking— Triumph of Engineering Skill— The Great Fire— Generous Sympathy and
Liberal Contributions— The City Rebuilt— Grandeur of Architecture— Commerce— Railroads and Shipping
Facilities— Exposition— Exposition Building— First and Last Census.

A sketch of Chicago is embraced in the History of the Northwest Territory, which
forms the first part of this volume. That sketch relates, for the most part, to the Chi-

cago of the " Long Ago," when it was only a remote frontier trading post, and its com-
merce confined to traffic with the Indians. This chapter will be devoted to the magic-

like growth of the old trading placs into a city that is the wonder and admiration of

the civilized and commercial world, the home of nearly half a million people, and whose
architectural elegance is without a parallel.

In comparing Chicago as it was a few decades ago, with Chicago as it is now, we
recognize a change the "magnitude of which we would be inclined to doubt, were it not

an acknowledged, indisputable fact. Rapid as is the customary development of towns
and cities, as well as of country districts in the United States, the growth of Chicago is

without a rival in this or any other country.
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The city of Chicago is situated on the west shore of Lake Michigan, at the mouth of

the Chicago river. It extends north and south along the lake about ten miles, and em-
braces an area of something more than forty square miles. To the eye of an observer,

Chicago seems to be situated upon a level plain, but in reality the height of the natural

surface above the lake varies from three to twenty-four feet, and the grade of the princi-

pal streets has been raised from two to eight feet above the original surface. A complete

system of sewerage has been established. The surrounding prairie for many miles is ap-

parently without much variation of surface. Though it can not be observed by the eye,

yet the city really stands on the dividing ridge between the two great rivers that drain

half the continent, and is about six hundred feet above the ocean. Chicago river, before

being widened, deepened, and improved, was a very small stream. It has but very little

perceptible current, and for several miles is very nearly on a level with the lake. It is

formed by two branches, one from the north and the other from the south, which unite

about a mile from the lake. Prom this junction the stream flows due east to the lake.

These streams divide the city into three parts, familiarly known as the North Side, South
Side, and West Side. Bridges constructed upon turn-tables, or pivots, are thrown across

the streams at many places. By swinging the bridges round, vessels are allowed to be
towed up and down the river by steam tugs, so that there is very little difficulty in the

way of passing from one division of the city to another. The stream has been made
navigable for several miles for sail vessels and propellers, and immense warehouses and
elevators have been constructed along its banks, where vessels are loaded and unloaded
with great rapidity.

Besides the numerous bridges, there are two tunnels under the river, which were
constructed to facilitate travel and avoid delays in consequence of open bridges. Each
of these tunnels are provided with wagon and foot-ways. One of them connects the

North and South Sides at the LaSalle Street crossing. The other tunnel connects the

West and South divisions via Washington Street. The LaSalle Street tunnel was com-
menced in 1869, and completed in 1871, at a cost of $616,000.

The first great public improvement projected by Chicago enterprise was the Illinois

and Michigan Canal, to connect Chicago and the lake with the Illinois river, at LaSalle,

the head of navigation on the river. The canal is one hundred miles in length, and was
completed in 1848.

SYSTEM OP WATER SUPPLY.

The greatest local engineering feat was the construction of the present system of

water supply and the tunnels under the river. Owing to the fact that the water in the

lake, near the river, was polluted with filth from the river, a plan was devised and car-

ried into execution in 1865, for bringing the supply from far out in the lake. To accom-
plish this a shaft was sunk on the lake shore at the old water works on the North Side,

from which a tunnel was cut under the lake to a water crib that was sunk in the lake two
miles from the shore. The tunnel is thirty-five feet below the bed of the lake, is five feet

two inches in diameter, and is walled with fire brick and then covered with a thick coat-

ing of water cement. The work of digging the tunnel was commenced at both ends, and
was so accurately prosecuted that when the workmen met there was but a few inches
variation in the respective lines. The contract price for building it was 1315,139. This
tunnel can deliver 50,000,000 gallons of water per day. A second tunnel was afterwards
constructed, seven feet in diameter, six miles long, extending four miles under the city,

with a capacity of 100,000,000 gallons per day. This water is distributed through over
410 miles of w£|.ter pjq,ins, ^nd the closest analysis shows it free from impurities. Thus
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it will be seen the water supply of the " Garden City " is unsurpassed by that of any
city in the world.

THE GREAT FIKB.

The 8th and 9th days of October, A. D., 1871, will ever be memorable, not only in

the history of the " City of the Unsalted Sea," and the great State of Illinois, but in the
entire country and throughout the civilized world. At that time this city was the scene

of the greatest conflagration ever known in the history of the world, far surpassing that

which occurred in London, in 1666, when thirteen thousand buildings were destroyed.

In this great Chicago fire, seventeen thousandfour hundred and ffty buildings were swept

away by the devouring element, and ninety-eight thousand five hundred people rendered
houseless and homeless. Miles of magnificent business blocks, palatial residences and
costly ornamentations were laid in ashes, the devastation covering an area of 2,004 acres,

or tliree and one-third miles.

The sensation conveyed to the spectator of this unparalleled destruction, whether
through the eye, the ear or other senses or sympathies, can not be adequately described,

and any attempted description would only test the poverty of language. As a spectacle,

it was, beyond question, the grandest, and at the same time the most appalling, ever

witnessed by mortal eyes. " From an elevated standpoint," said an eye witness, " the

appearance was that of a vast ocean of fiame, sweeping in njile-long billows and breakers

over the doomed city." Brick and stone buildings melted away like snow. The flames

lapped from street to street, and large buildings perished at their touch. Added to the

spectacular elements of the conflagration— the intense and lurid light, the sea of red

and black, and the spires and pyramids of flame shooting into the heavens ^- was its con-

stant and terrible roar, drowning even the voices of the shrieking multitude of almost a

hundred thousand human beings that were driven into the streets and from place to place
— even into the lake— to find safety and refuge from the irresistible, unconquerable
burning. With that terrible, unmistakable roar of the fast-spreading flames, thei^e fell

upon the ears of the helpless thousands the loud and rapid detonations of explosions—
or falling walls. In short, all sights and sounds that could terrify the weak and unnerve
the strong, held supreme dominion. But they were only the accompaniment which the

orchestra of nature was furnishing to the terrible tragedy there being enacted. But
amidst all the devastation of property and the crowded life and death race of so many
tens of thousands of men, women and children, only two hundred of them are known to

have perished during the two days march of the destroyer.

It has been estimated that the loss occasioned by this fire, not including the deprecia-

tion of real estate and the interruption to business, was $190,000,000, of which only

$44,000,000 was recovered in insurance, leaving $146,000,000 disseminated in thin air or

lying in smouldering ruins.

But the sympathy of the whole civilized world was awakened, and generous hearts

and plethoric purses sent contributions by tens, and hundreds, and thousands, and tens of

thousands of money (to say nothing of provision and clothing that were contributed by
the car-load from all parts of the country), as reported by the Relief and Aid Society up
to Nov. 7, 1871, until the sum total reached in cash $2,051,025, and the estimated amount
of provisions, clothing, etc., swelled the donations to the magnificent sum of $3,500,000.

Chicago was rebuilt. Like the fabled Phoenix, the city rose again from the ashes of

her ruin, much grander and more magnificent than before. The interruption to business
was of short duration ; and within one year after the fire a large part of the burned dis-

trict was rebuilt, and now there is scarcely a trace of the dire disaster, save in the
improved character of the new buildings over those destroyed, and the generally improved
appearance of the city, which, in an architectural sense, is acknowledged by noted
tourists and travelers to be the finest in the world.
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COMMBECB OP CHICAGO.

The trade of Chicago is co-extensive with the world. In all countries and in every

of trains heavily laden with the products of the °«^^*7.^^° JJ its aegree^^^^^
r.t +Vo T^Tf^(^nP« handled durinff the year 1878, was 5^220,000,000 ,

its aggregate wcig""*

AT CHIOAGOif
PASSENGER DEPOT OF THE CHICAGO ROCK ISLAND & PACIFIC RAILWAY CO

Other cities in the world. Of grain, the vast quantity of 134fU93 bushels w^^^

Sh^^sJToSag? 'This would mafe a cLtinuous train that -uld reach ac^^^^^^^^^^^^^

continent from New York to San Francisco. Speaking more m Retail, there were

received of the various cereals during the year, 62,783 677 bushels of corn, 29,901,220

bushlls of wheat, 18,251,529 bushels of oats, 133,981,104 pounds of seed. The last

item alone wouHfiU about 7,000 freight cars
exceeded onlv in

The lumber received durmg the year 1878 was, 1,171,364,000 ^eet, exceeaea oniy in

1872 the vSr after the great fire.
• This vast amount of lumber would require 195,000

freight car^sS transportTt? It would build a fence, four boards high, four and one-half

^"'inThettol'tt for the year 1878, the figures assume proportion, almost incredi-
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ble. They are, however, from reliable and trustworthy sources, and must be accepted as

authentic. There were received during the year, 6,339,666 hogs, being 2,000,000 more
than ever received before in one year. It required 129,916 stock cars to transport this

vast number of hogs from the farms of the West and Northwest to the stock yards of

Chicago. These hogs arranged in single file, would form a connecting link between
Chicago and Pekin, China.

Of the large numlJer of hogs received, five millions of them were slaughtered in

Chicago. The aggregate amount of product manufactured from these hogs was 918,000,-

000 pounds. The capacity of the houses engaged in slaughtering operations in Chicago
is 60,000 hogs daily. The number of hands employed in these houses is from 6,000 to

8,000. The number of packages required in which to market the year's product is

enormously large, aggregating 500,000 barrels, 800,000 tierces, and 650,000 boxes.

There has been within the stock yards of the city, during the year 1878, 1,036,066

cattle. These were gathered from the plains of Oregon, Wyoming and Utah, and the

grazing regions of Texas, as well as from all the Southern, Western and Northwestern
States and Territories, and from the East as far as Ohio. If these cattle were driven

from Chicago southward, in single file, through the United States, Mexico, and the Cen-
tral American States into South America, the foremost could graze on the plains of Brazil,

ere the last one had passed the limits of the great city.

BXPOETATIONS.

Not only does Chicago attract to its great market the products of a continent, but
from it is distributed throughout the world manufactured goods. Every vessel and every
train headed toward that city are heavily ladened with the crude products of the farm,

of the forests, or of the bowels of the earth, and every ship that leaves her docks and
every train that flies from her limits are filled with manufactured articles. These goods
not only find their way all over our own country, but into Europe, Asia, Australia,

Africa, South America, Mexico and the Islands of the sea ; indeed, every nook and cor-

ner of the globe, where there is a demand for her goods, her merchants are ready
to supply.

"WHOLESALE TRADE.

The wholesale trade for the year 1878 reached enormous figures, aggregating $280,-

000,000. Divided .among the leading lines, there were sold of dry goods, $95,000,000
worth. The trade in groceries amounted to 166,000,000 ; hardware, $20,000,000 ; boots

and shoes, $24,000,000 ; clothing, $17,000,000 ; carpets, $8,000,000 ; millinery, $7,000,-

000 ; hats and caps, $6,000,000 ; leather, $8,000,000 ; drugs, $6,000,000 : jewelry, $4,500,-

000; musical instruments, $2,300,000. Chicago sold over $5,000,000 worth of fruit

during the year, and for the same time her fish trade amounted to $1,400,000, and her

oyster trade $4,500,000. The candy and other confectienary trade amounted to $1,-

534,900. This would fill all the Christmas stockings in the United States.

MISCELLANEOUS.

In 1852 the commerce of the city reached the hopeful sum of $20,000,000 ; since

then, the annual sales of one firm amount to that much. In 1870, it reached $400,000,-

000, and in 1878 it had grown so rapidly that the trade of the city amounted during that

year to $650,000,000. Her manufacturing interests have likewise grown. In 1878, her
manufactories employed in the neighborhood of 75,000 operators. The products manu-
factured during the year were valued at $230,000,000. In reviewing the shipping in-

terests of Chicago, we find it equally enormous. So considerable, indeed, is the com-
mercial navy of Chicago, that in the seasons of navigation, one vessel sails every nine

minutes during the business hours ; add to this the canal-boats that leave, one every five
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minutes during the same time, and one will have some conception of the magnitude of
her shipping. More vessels arrive and depart from .this port during the season than
enter or leave any other port in the world.

In 1831, the mail system was condensed into a half-breed, who went on foot to Niles,

Mich., once in two weeks, and brought back what papers and news he could find. As late

as 1846, there was often but one mail a week. A post-of6.ce was established in Chicago
in 1833, and the postmaster nailed up old boot legs upon one side of his shop to serve as

boxes. It has since grown to be the largest receiving office in the United States.

In 1844, the quagmires in the streets were first pontooned by plank roads. The
wooden-block pavement appeared in 1857. In 1840, water was delivered by peddlers, in

carts or by hand. Then a twenty-five horse power engine pushed it through hollow or

bored logs along the streets till 1854, when it was introduced into the houses by new
works. The first fire-engine was used in 1885, and the first steam fire-engine in 1859.

Gas was utilized for lighting the city in 1850. The Young Men's Christian Association

was organized in 1858. Street cars commenced running in 1854. The Museum was
opened in 1868. The alarm telegraph adopted in 1864. The opera house built in 1865.

The telephone introduced in 1878.

INTER-STATE INDUSTRIAL EXPOSITION, OP CHICAGO.

There is no grand scenery about Chicago except the two seas, one of water, the
other of prairie. Nevertheless, there is a spirit about it, a push, a breadth, a power, that
soon makes it a place never to be forsaken. Chicago handles the wealth of one-fourth
of the territory of the American Republic. The Atlantic sea-coast divides its margins
between Portland, Boston, New York, Philadelphia, Baltimore and Savannah', but
Chicago has a dozen empires casting their treasures into her lap. On a bed of coal that
can run all the machinery of the world for five hundred centuries ; in a garden that can
feed the human race by the thousand years ; at the head of the lakes, which give her a
temperature as a Summer resort equalled by no great city in the land ; with a climate
that insures the health of her citizens ; surrounded by all the great deposits of natural
wealth in mines and forests and fields and herds, Chicago is the wonder of to-day, and
will be the city of the future.

THE EXPOSITION AND EXPOSITION BUILDING.

Another feature of this great city worthy of mention is the Exposition held annu-
ally. The ruins of the great fire were yet smoking when the Exposition Building
was erected, only ninety days being consumed in its construction. The accompanying
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engraving of the building, the main part of which is one thousand feet long, will give

the reader an idea of its magnitude and style of architecture.

FIRST AND LAST CENSUS.

As already stated, when the first census was taken, on the 1st of July, 1837, the

population of Chicago was 4,170. In 1840, it was 4,270, an increase in three years of

only one hundred. In 1845, the number reached 12,088 ; in 1850, 28,269; in 1855, it

was 83,509, and in 1870, 298,977 , and the census of 1880 will show a population of

about 500,000 souls.

CHAPTER XXII.

CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND AMENDMENTS—DIGEST
OF STATE LAWS.

Laws: Bills of Exchange— Promissory Notes — Interest—Taxes— Exemption From Forced Sale— Deeds and

Mortgages— Form of Chattel Mortgage— Landlord and Tenant— Laborer's and Mechanic's Lien — Jurisdic-

tion of Courts— Limitations of Actions— Subscriptions— Married Women— Adoption of Children— Estrays—
Marks and Brands— Millers— Roads— Fences— Paupers— Drainage— Surveyors and Surveys— Church Or.
ganiration. Miscellaneous Forms : Form of an Order— Form of a Receipt—Form of Bill of Sale or Purchase
— Form of Articles of Agreement— Form of Agreement for Sale of Real Estate— Form of Bond— Form of

Release— General Form of Will— Form of Codicil.

THE CONSTITUTION.

We, the people of the United States, in order to form a more perfect union, establish justice,

insure domestic tranquillity, provide for the common defense, promote the general welfare,

and secure the blessings of liberty to ourselves and our posterity, do ordain and establish

this Constitutionfor the United States of America.

Section 1. All legislative powers herein granted shall be vested in a Congress of

the United States, which shall consist of a Senate and House of Representatives.

Sec. 2. The House of Representatives shall be composed of members chosen every

second year by the people of the several States, and the electors in each State shall

have the qualifications requisite for electors of the most numerous branch of the State

Legislature.

No person shall be a representative who shall not have attained to the age of twenty-

five years, and been seven years a citizen of the United States, and who shall not, when
elected, be an inhabitant of that State in which he shall be chosen.

Representatives and direct taxes shall be apportioned among the several States which
may be included within this Union, according to their respective numbers, which shall be

determined by adding to the whole number of . free persons, including those bound to

service for a term of years, and excluding Indians not taxed, three-fifths of all other per-

sons. The actual enumeration shall be made within three years after the first meeting of

the Congress of the United States, and within every subsequent term of ten years, in

such manner as they shall by law direct. The number of representatives shall not exceed
one for every thirty thousand, but each State shall have at least one representative ; and
until such enumeration shall be made the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to

choose three, Massachusetts eight, Rhode Island and Providence Plantations one, Con-
necticut five. New York six. New Jersey four, Pennsylvania eight, Delaware one, Mary-
land six, Virginia ten. North Carolina five, and Georgia three.
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When vacancies happen in the representation from any State, the executive authority
thereof shall issue writs of election to fill such vacancies.

The House of Representatives shall choose their Speaker and other officers, and
shall have sole power of impeachment.

Sec. 3. The Senate of the United States shall be composed of two Senators from
each State, chosen by the Legislature thereof for six years ; and each Senator shall

have one vote.

Immediately after they shall be assembled in consequence of the first election, they
shall be divided as equally as may be into three classes. The seats of the Senators of the*

first class shall be vacated at the expiration of the second year, and of the second class at

the expiration of the fourth year, and of the third class at the expiration of the sixth

year, so that one-third may be chosen every second year ; and if vacancies happen by
resignation or otherwise, during the recess of the Legislature of any State, the Executive
thereof may make temporary appointments until the next meeting of the Legislature, which
shall then fill such vacancies.

No person shall be a Senator who shall not have attained to the age of thirty years

and been nine years a citizen of the United States, and who shall not, when elected, be an
inhabitant of that State for which he shall be chosen.

The Vice-President of the United States shall be President of the Senate, but shall

have no vote unless they be equally divided.

The Senate shall choose their other officers, and also a President ipro tempore,

in the absence of the Vice-President, or when he shall exercise the office of the President

of the United States.

The Senate shall have the sole power to try all impeachments. When sitting for

that purpose they shall be on oath or affirmation. When the President of the United
States is tried the Chief Justice shall preside. And no person shall be convicted without
the concurrence of two-thirds of the members present.

Judgment, in cases of impeachment, shall not extend further than to removal from
office, and disqualification to hold and enjoy any office of honor, trust, or profit under the

United States ; but the party convicted shall nevertheless be liable and subject to indict-

ment, trial, judgment and punishment according to law.

Sec. 4. The times, places and manner of holding elections for Senators and Repre-
sentatives shall be prescribed in each State by the Legislature thereof ; but the Congress
may at any time by law make or alter such regulations, except as to the places of choos-

ing Senators.

The Congress shall assemble at least once in every year, and such meeting shall be
on the first Monday in December, unless they shall by law appoint a different day.

Sec. 5. Each house shall be the judge of the election, returns and qualifications of

its own members, and a majority of each shall constitute a quorum to do business ; but a

smaller number may adjourn from day to day, and may be authorized to compel the

attendance of absent members in such manner and under such penalties as each house
may provide.

Each house may determine the rules of its proceedings, punish its members for disor-

derly behavior, and, with the concurrence of two-thirds, expel a member.
Each house shall keep a journal of its proceedings, and from time to time publish the

same, excepting such parts as may, in their judgment, require secresy ; and the yeas and
nays of the members of either house on any question shall, at the desire of one-fifth of

those present, be entered on the journal.

Neither house, during the session of Congress, shall, without the consent of the other,

adjourn for more than three days, nor to any other place than that in which the two
houses shall be sitting.

Sec. 6. The Senators and Representatives shall receive a compensation for their
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services, to be ascertained by law, and paid out of the treasury of the United States. They
shall in all cases, except treasoij, felony, and breach of the peace, be privileged from arrest

during their attendance at the session of their respective houses, and in going to and
returning from the same ; and for any speech or debate in either house they shall not be
questioned in any other place.

No Senator or Representative shall, during the time for which he was elected, be
appointed to any civil office under the authority of the United States, which shall have
been created, or the emoluments whereof shall have been increased during such time

;

jand no person holding any office under the United States, shall be a member of either

house during his continuance in office.

Sec. 7. All bills for raising revenue shall originate in the House of Representatives

;

but the Senate may propose or concur with amendments as on other bills.

Every bill which shall have passed the House of Representatives and the Senate, shall,

before it becomes a law, be presented to the President of the United States ; if he approve
he shall sign it ; but if not he shall return it with his objections, to that house in which
it shall have originated, who shall enter the objections at large on their journal, and pro-

ceed to reconsider it. If, after such reconsideration, two-thirds of that house shall agree

to pass the bill, it shall be sent, together with the objections, to the other house, by
which it shall likewise be reconsidered, and if approved by two-thirds of that house, it

shall become a law. But in all such cases the votes of both houses shall be determined
by yeas and nays, and the names of the persons voting for and against the bill shall be

entered on the journal of each house respectively. If any bill shall not be returned by
the President within ten days (Sunday excepted"), after it shall have been presented to

him, the same shall be a law, in like manner as if he had signed it, unless the Congress,

by their adjournment, prevent its return, in which case it shall not be a law.

Every order, resolution, or vote to which the concurrence of the Senate and House
of Representatives may be necessary (except on a question of adjournment), shall be pre-

sented to the President of the United States, and before the same shall take effect shall

be approved by him, or, being disapproved by him, shall be re-passed by two-thirds of

the Senate and House of Representatives, according to the rules and limitations prescribed

in the case of a bill.

Sbo. 8. The Congress shall have power

—

To lay and collect taxes, duties, imposts and excises, to pay the debts, and provide

for the common defense and general welfare of the United States ; but all duties, imposts,

and excises shall be uniform throughout the United States

;

To borrow money on the credit of the United States

;

To regulate commerce with foreign nations, and among the several States, and with
the Indian tribes

;

To establish a uniform rule of naturalization, and uniform laws on the subject of

bankruptcies throughout the United States

;

To coin money, regulate the value thereof, and of foreign coin, and fix the standard

of weights and measures

;

To provide for the punishment of counterfeiting the securities and current coin of

the United States

;

To'establish post offices and post roads

;

To promote the progress of sciences and useful arts, by securing, for limited times,

to authors and inventors, the exclusive right to their respective writings and discoveries

;

To constitute tribunals inferior to the Supreme Court

;

To define and punish piracies and felonies committed on the high seas, and offenses

against the law of nations

;

To declare war, grant letters of marque and reprisal, and make rules concerning
feaptures on land and water

;
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To raise and support armies, but no appropriation of money to that use shall be for a
longer term than two years

;

To provide and maintain a navy

;

To make rules for the government and regulation of the land and naval forces

;

To provide for calling forth the militia to exercise the laws of the Union, suppress
insurrections, and repel invasions

;

To provide for organizing, arming and disciplining the militia, and for governing
such part of them as may be employed in the service of the United States, reserving to

the States respectively the appointment of the officers, and the authority of training the

militia according to the discipline prescribed by Congress

;

To exercise legislation in all cases whatsoever over such district (not exceeding ten

miles square) as may, by cession of particular States, and the acceptance of Congress,
become the seat of the Government of the United States, and to exercise like authority

over all places purchased by the consent of the Legislature of the State in which the
same shall be, for the erection of forts, magazines, arsenals, dock yards, and other needful
buildings ; and

To make all laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying into execution
the foregoing powers, and all other powers vested by this Constitution in the Govern-
ment of the United States, or in any department or officer thereof.

Sec. 9. The migration or importation of such persons as any of the States now ex-

isting shall think proper to admit, shall not be prohibited by the Congress prior to the
year one thousand eight hundred and eight, but a tax or duty may be imposed on such
importation, not exceeding ten dollars for each person.

The privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended, unless when in

cases of rebellion or invasion the public safety may require it.

No bill of attainder or ex post facto law shall be passed.

No capitation or other direct tax shall be laid, unless in proportion to the census or

enumeration hereinbefore directed to be taken.

No tax or duty shall be laid on articles exported from any State.

No preference shall be given by any regulation of commerce or revenue to the ports

of one State over those of another ; nor shall vessels bound to or from one State be
obliged to enter, clear, or pay duties in another.

No money shall be drawn from the Treasury, but in consequence of appropriations

made by law ; and a regular statement and account of the receipts and expenditures of

all public money shall be published from time to time.

No title of nobility shall be granted by the United States ; and no person holding
any office of profit or trust under them shall, without the consent of Congress, accept
of any present, emolument, office, or title of any kind whatever, from any king, prince,

or foreign State.

Sbo. 10. No State shall enter into any treaty, alliance, or confederation ; grant

letters of marque and reprisal ; coin money ; emit bills of credit ; make any thing but
gold and silver coin a tender in payment of debts ; pass any bill of attainder, ex post

facto law, or law impairing the obligation of contracts, or grant any title of nobility.

No State shall, without the consent of the Congress, lay any imposts or duties on
imports or exports, except what may be absolutely necessary for executing its inspection

laws, and the net produce of all duties and imposts laid by any State on imports or

exports, shall be for the use of the Treasury of the United States ; and all such laws
shall be subject to the revision and control of the Congress.

No State shall, without the consent of Congress, lay any duty on tonnage, keep troops

or ships of war in time of peace, enter into any agreement or compact with another

State, or with a foreign power, or engage in war, unless actually invaded, or in such
imminent danger as will not admit of delay.

l6
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Article II.

Section 1. The Executive power shall be vested in a President of the United
States of America. He shall hold his office during the term of four years, and, together
with the Vice President chosen for the same term, be elected as follows

:

Each State shall appoint, in such manner as the Legislature thereof may direct, a

number of electors, equal to the whole number, of senators and representatives to which
the State may be entitled in the Congress ; but no senator or representative, or person
holding an offifee of trust or profit under the United States, shall be appointed an elector.

[*The Electors shall meet in their respective States and vote by ballot for two
persons, of whom one at least shall not be an inhabitant of the same State with them-
selves. And they shall make a list of all the persous voted for, and of the number of

votes for each ; which list they shall sign and certify, and transmit, sealed, to the seat of

the Government of the United States, directed to the President of the Senate. The
President of the Senate shall, in the presence of the Senate and House of Representa-
tives, open all the certificates, and the votes shall then be counted. The person having
the greatest number of votes shall be the President, if such number be a majority of the

whole number of electors appointed ; and if there be more than one who have such ma-
jority, and have an equal number of votes, then the House of Representatives shall

immediately choose by ballot one of them for President ; and if no person have a ma-
jority, then from the five highest on the list the said house shall in like manner choose
the President. But in choosing the President, the vote shall be taken by States, the

representation from each State having one vote ; a quorum for this purpose shall consist

of a member or members from two-thirds of the States, and a majority of all the States

shall be necessary to a choice. In every case, after the choice of the President, the

person having the greatest number of votes of the electors shall be the Vice President.

But if there should remain two or more who have equal votes, the Senate shall choose

from them by ballot the Vice President.]

The Congress may determine the time of choosing the electors, and the day on which
they shall give their votes ; which day shall be the same throughout the United States.

No person except a natural born citizen, or a citizen of the United States at the

time of the adoption of this Constitution, shall be eligible to the office of President

;

neither shall any person be eligible to that office who shall not have attained the age of

thirty-five years, and been fourteen years a resident within the United States.

In case of the removal of the President from office, or of his death, resignation, or

inability to discharge the powers and duties of the said office, the same shall devolve on
the Vice President, and the Congress may by law provide for the case of removal, death,

resignation, or inability, both of the President and Vice President, declaring what officer

shall then act as President, and such officer shall act accordingly, until the disability be

removed or a President be elected.

The President shall, at stated times, receive for his services a compensation which

shall neither be increased or diminished during the period for which he shall have been

elected, and he shall not receive within that period any other emolument from the United
States or any of them.

Before he enters on the execution of his office, he shall take the following oath or

affirmation

:

" I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will faithfully execute the office of Presi-

dent of the United States, and will, to the best of my ability, preserve, protect, and
defend the Constitution of the United States."

Sec. 2. The President shall be the commander in chief of the army and navy of

the United States, and of the militia of the several States, when called into the actual

*This clause between brackets lias been superseded and annulled by the Twelfth Amendment.
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service of the United States ; he may require the opinion, in writing, of the principal
officer in each of the executive departments upon any subject relating to the duties of
their respective offices, and he shall have power to grant reprieves and pardon for

offenses against the United States, except in cases of impeachment.
He shall have power, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate, to make

treaties, provided two-thirds of the Senators present concur ; and he shall nominate, and
by and with the advice of the Senate, shall appoint ambassadors, other public ministers

and consuls, judges of the Supreme Court, and all other officers of the , United States

whose appointments are not herein otherwise provided for, and which shall be established

by law ; but the Congress may by law vest the appointment of such inferior officers as

they think proper in the President alone, in the courts of law, or in the heads of de-

partments.

The President shall have power to fill up all vacancies that may happen during the
recess of the Senate, by granting commissions which shall expire at the end of their next
session.

Sec. 3. He shall from time to time give to the Congress information of the state of

the Union, and recommend to their consideration such measures as he shall judge neces-

sary and' expedient ; he may on extraordinary occasions convene both houses, or either

of them, and in case of disagreement between them, with respect to the time of adjourn-
ment, he may adjourn them to such a time as he shall think proper ; he shall receive

ambassadors and other public ministers ; he shall take care that the laws be faithfully

executed, and shall commission all the officers of the United States.

Sec. 4. The President, Vice-President, and all the civil officers of the United
States, shall be removed from office on impeachment for, and conviction of, treason,

bribery, or other high crimes and misdemeanors.

Aeticlb III.

Section 1. The judicial power of the United States shall be vested in one Supreme
Court, and such inferior courts as the Congress may from time to time ordain and estab-

lish. The Judges, both of the Supreme .'ind inferior courts, shall hold their offices dur-

ing good behavior, and shall, at stated times, receive for their services a compensation,
which shall not be diminished during their continuance in office.

Sec. 2. The judicial power shall extend to all cases, in law and equity, arising

under this Constitution, the laws of the United States, and treaties, made, or which shall

be made, under their authority ; to all cases affecting ambassadors, other public ministers,

and consuls ; to all cases of admiralty and maritime jurisdiction; to controversies to

which the United States shall be a party ; to controversies between two or more States;

between a State and citizens of another State ; between citizens of different States ; be-

tween citizens of the same State claiming lands under grants of different States, and
between a state or the citizens thereof, and foreign Stiites, citizens, or subjects.

In all cases affecting ambassadors, other public ministers and consuls, and those in

which a state shall be a party, the Supreme Court shall have original jurisdiction.

In all the other cases before mentioned, the Supreme Court shall have appellate

jurisdiction, both as to law and fact, with such exceptions and under such regulations as

the Congress shall iiiake.

The trial of all crimes, except in cases of impeachment, shall be by jury ; and such

trial shall be held in the State where the said crimes shall have been committed ; but
when not committed within any State, the trial shall be at such place or places as tltft

Congress may by law have directed.

Sec. 3. Treason against the United States shall consist only in levying war agaiijs^fe

them, or in adhering to their enemies, giving them aid and comfort. No person shall be
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convicted of treason unless on the testimony of two witnesses to the same overt act, or

on confession in open court.

The Congress shall have power to declare the punishment of treason, but no attain-

der of treason shall work corruption of blood, or forfeiture, except during the life of the

person attained.

Article IV.

Seotiou I. Full faith and credit shall be given in each State to the public acts,

records, and judicial proceedings of every other State. And the Congress may,' by gen-
eral laws, prescribe the manner in which such acts, records, and proceedings shall be

proved, and the effect thereof.

Sec. 2. The citizens of each State shall be entitled to all privileges and immunities

of citizens in the several States.

A person charged in any State with treason, felony, or other crime, who shall flee

from justice and be found in another State, shall, on demand of the executive authority

of the state from which he fled, be delivered up, to be removed to the State having juris-

diction of the crime.

No person held to service or labor in one State, under the laws thereof escaping into

another, shall, in consequence of any law, or regulation therein, be discharged from such

service or labor, but shall be delivered up on the claim of the party to whom such service

or labor may be due.

Sec. 3. New States may be admitted by the Congress into -this Union ; but no new
State shall be formed or erected within the jurisdiction of any other State ; nor any State

be formed by the junction of two or more States, or parts of States, without the consent
of the Legislatures of the States concerned, as well as of the Congress.

The Congress shall have power to dispose of and make all needful rules and regu-

lations respecting the territory or other property belonging to the United States ; and
nothing in this constitution shall be so construed as to prejudice any claims of the United
States or of any particular State.

Sec. 4. The United States shall guarantee to every State in this Union a republi-

can form of government, and shall protect each of them against invasion, and on appli-

cation of the Legislature, or of the Executive (when the Legislature can not be convened),
against domestic violence.

Article V.

The Congress, whenever two-thirds of both houses shall deem it necessary, shall

propose amendments to this Constitution, or, on the application of the Legislatures of two-
thirds of the several States, shall call a convention for 'proposing amendments, which, in

either case, shall be valid to all intents and purposes as part of this Constitution, when
ratified by the Legislatures of three-fourths of the several States, or by conventions in

three-fourths thereof, as the one or the other mode of ratification may be proposed by the

Congress. Provided that no amendment which may be made prior to the year one thou-

sand eight hundred and eight shall in any manner affect the first or fourth clauses in the

ninth section of the first article ; and that no State, without its consent, shall be deprived
of its equal suffrage in the Senate.

Article VI.

All debts contracted and engagements entered into before the adoption of this Con-
stitution shaU be as valid against the United States under this Constitution as under the

Confederation.

This Constitution, and the laws of the United States which shall be made in pur-

suance thereof, and all treaties made, or which shall be made, under the authority of the

United States, shall be the supreme law of the land ; and the Judges in every State
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shall be bound thereby, anything in the Constitution or laws of any State to the contrary
notwithstanding.

The Senators and Representatives before mentioned, and the members of the several

State Legislatures, and all executive and judicial officers, both of the United States and
of the several States, shall be bound by oath or affirmation to support this Constitution

;

but no religious test shall ever be required as a qualification to any office or public trust

under the United States.

Article VII.

The ratification of the Conventions of nine States shall be sufficient for the establish-

ment of this Convention between the States so ratifying the same.
Done in convention by the unanimous consent of the States present, the seventeenth day

of September, in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and eighty-seven,

and of the independence of the United States of America the twelfth. In witness

whereof we have hereunto subscribed our names.

GEO. WASHINGTON,
President and Deputy from Virginia.

Delaware.

Geo. Read,
John Dickinson,

Jaco. Broom,
Gunning Bedford, Jr.,

Richard Bassett.

Maryland.

James M'Henry,
Danl. Carroll,

Dan. of St. Thos. Jenifer.

Virginia.

John Blair,

James Madison, Jr.

North Carolina.

Wm. Blount,
Hii. Williamson,
Rich'd Dobbs Spaight.

South Carolina.

J. Rutledge,

Charles Pinckney,
Chas. Cotesworth Pinckney,
Pierce Butler.

Georgia.

William Few,
Abr. Baldwin.

New Hampshire.

John Langdon,
Nicholas Gilman.

Massachusetts.

Nathaniel Gorham,
Rufus King.

Connecticut.

Wm. Sam'l Johnson,
Roger Sherman.

New York.

Alexander Hamilton.

New Jersey.

Wn. Livingston,

Wm. Paterson,

David Brearley,

Jona. Dayton.

vania.

B. Franklin,

Robt. Morris,

Thos. Fitzsimons,

James Wilson,
Thos. Mifflin,

Geo. Clymer,
Jared Ingersol,

Gouv. Morris.

WILLIAM JACKSON, Secretary,
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Articles in Addition to and Amendatory op the Constitution of the United
States of America.

Proposed hy Congress and ratified hy the Legislature of the several States, pursuant to the

ffth article of the original Constitution.

Article I.

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or pro-

hibiting the free exercise thereof, or abridging, the freedom of speech, or of the press

;

or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a

redress of grievances.

Article II.

, A well regulated militia being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of

the people to keep and bear arms shall not be infringed.

Article III.

No soldier shall, in time of peace, be quartered in any house without the consent of

the owner, nor in time of war but in a manner to be prescribed by law.

Article IV.

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects

against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated ; and no warrants shall

issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describ-

ing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.

Article V.

No person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous crime, unless

on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury, except in cases arising in the land or

naval forces, or in the militia when in actual service in time of war or public danger

;

nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or

limb ; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be

deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law ; nor shall private

property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

Article VI.

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and pub-
lic trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been
committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be in-

formed of the nature and cause of the accusation ; to be confronted with the witnesses

against him ; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor ; and to

have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

Article VII.

In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars,

the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury shall be
otherwise re-examined in any court of the United States than according to the rules of
the common law.

Article VIII.

Excessive bail shall not 1?^ required, QOr excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and un-
usual punishments inflicted,
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Akticlb IX.

The emuneration, in the Constitution, of certain rights, shall not be construed to

deny or disparage others retained by the people.

Article X.

The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited

by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to the people.

Abticle XI.

The judicial power of the United States shall not be construed to extend to any suit

in law or equity commenced or prosecuted against one of the United States by citizens of

another State, or by citizens or subjects of any foreign State.

Article XII.

The electors shall meet in their respective States and vote by ballot for president

and vice-president, one of whom, at least, shall not be an inhabitant of the same State

with themselves ; they shall name in their ballots the person to be voted for as president,

and in distinct ballots the person voted for as vice-president, and they shall make dis-

tinct lists of all persons voted for as president, and of all persons voted for as vice-president,

and of the number of votes for each, which list they shall sign and certify, and transmit

sealed to the seat of the government of the United States, directed to the President of

the Senate. The President of the Senate shall, in presence of the Senate and House of

Kepresentatives, open all the certificates, and the votes shall then be counted. The
person having the greatest number of votes for president shall be the president, if such
number be a majority of the whole number of electors appointed, and if no person have
such majority, then from the persons having the highest number, not exceeding three on
the list of those voted for as president, the House of Representatives shall choose imme-
diately, by ballot, the president. But in choosing the president, the votes shall be taken
by States, the representation from each State having one vote ; a quorum for this purpose
shall consist of a member or members from two-thirds of the States, and a majority of all

the States shall be necessary to a choice. And if the House of Representatives shall not

choose a president whenever the right of choice shall devolve upon them, before the

fourth day of March next following, then the vice-president shall act as president, as in

the case of the death or other constitutional disability of the president. The person

having the greatest number of votes as vice-president, shall be the vice-president, if such
number be the majority of the whole number of electors appointed, and if no person have
a majority, then from the two highest numbers on the list, the Senate shall choose the

vice-president; a quorum for the purpose shall consist of two-thirds of the whole number
of Senators, and a majority of the whole number shall be necessary to a choice. But no
person constitutionally ineligible to the office of president shall be eligible to that of

vice-president of the United States.

Article XIII.

Section 1. Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a punishment for

crime, whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United
States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction.

Sec. 2. Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.

Article XIV.

Section 1. All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the

jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States, and of the State wherein they re-
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side. No State shall make or enfore any law which shall abridge the privileges or im-
munities of citizens of the United States ; nor shall any State deprive any person of life,

liberty, or property, without due process of law, nor deny any person within its jurisdic-

tion the equal protection of the laws.

Sec. 2. Representatives shall be appointed among the several States according to

their respective numbers, counting the whole number of persons in each State, excluding
Indians not taxed ; but when the right to vote at any election for the choice of Electors

for President and Vice-President of the United States, Representatives in Congress, the

executive and judicial officers of a State, or the members of the Legislature thereof, is

denied to any of the male inhabitants of such state, being twenty-one years of age and
citizens of the United States, or in any way abridged except for participation in rebellion

or other crimes, the basis of representation therein shall be reduced in the proportion

which the number of such male citizens shall bear to the whole number of male citizens

twenty-one years of age in such State.

Sec. 3. No person shall be a Senator or Representative in Congress, or Elector of

President and Vice-President, or hold any of&ce, civil or military, under the United
States, or under any State, who, having previously taken an oath as a Member of Con-
gress, or as an officer of the United States, or as a member of any State Legislature, or

as an executive or judicial officer of any State to support the Constitution of the United
States, shall have engaged in insurrection or rebellion against the same, or given aid or

comfort to the enemies thereof. But Congress may, by a vote of two-thirds of each
house, remove such disability.

Sec. 4. The validity of the public debt of the United States authorized by law, in-

cluding debts incurred for payment of pensions and bounties for services in suppressing

insurrection or rebellion, shall not be questioned. But neither the United States nor
any State shall pay any debt or obligation incurred in the aid of insurrection or rebellion

against the United States, or any loss or emancipation of any slave, but such debts, obli-

gations, and claims shall be held illegal and void.

Sec. 5. Congress shall have power to enforce, by appropriate legislation, the

provisions of this act.

Abticlb XV.

Section 1. The right of citizens of the United States to vote shall not be denied
or abridged by the United States, or by any State, on account of race, color, or previous

condition of servitude.

Sec. 2. Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.
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ABSTRACT OP LAWS OF ILLINOIS.

(Prepared by John Muckle, attorney-at-law, Peoria.)

BILLS OF EXCHANGE.

A bill of exchange is a written order to pay, usually in the following form

:

|l,OOO.i''o''o Peoria, 111., Jan'y 1, 1880.

Thirty days after sight pay to the order of A. B., one thousand dollars, value
received, and charge to account of CD.

To Fourth National Bank, New York City.

Foreign bills are frequently drawn in sets of three. In that case one of the set is

written, " pay this first of exchange, second and third unpaid "; another is written, " pay
this second of exchange, first and third unpaid," and the other is written, "pay this third

of exchange, first and second unpaid." The bills are then sent out by different routes.

The acceptance or payment of any one of the set stops payment on the balance.

The bills should be presented promptly to the drawer for acceptance. If he accepts
he should write across the face of the bill the date of acceptance, the word " accepted,"
and under that his signature. By accepting the drawee becomes bound to pay'the bill

;

but if he refuses to accept or fails to pay after having accepted, the drawer will be
obliged to pay it himself. The payee may transfer the bill by writing his name across

the back of it, and having done so he will be bound to pay the bill, unless the drawer or

acceptor pays it, oi- he limits his liability in the endorsement.
Whenever a bill of exchange, drawn or endorsed within this State and payable in a

foreign country, is duly protested for . non-payment or non-acceptance, the drawer or

indorser must pay it and legal interest thereon from the time the bill ought to have been
paid, and ten per cent, damages in addition, together with the costs and charges of

protest. If a bill of exchange drawn upon any person out of this State and within the
United States is protested for non-payment or non-acceptance, the drawer or indorser

must pay it, with legal interest from the time it ought to have been paid, and costs and
charges of protest and five per cent, damages in addition, if suit has to be brought on it.

PROMISSORY NOTES.

Promissory notes are usually drawn in the following form

:

|500i% Peoria, 111., Jan'y 1st, 1880.

Four months after date I promise to pay to the order of C. D. five hundred
dollars, with interest, at the rate, of eight per cent, per annum, at the Second National
Bank, Peoria, HI., value received. A. B.

The promise may be to pay money or some article of personal property. Notes,

made payable to any person named as payee therein, may be assigned, by the payee writ-

ing his name across the back, so as to vest the property thereof absolutely in the assignee,

and to enable the assignee to sue on the note in his own name ; and the maker of the

note is not allowed to allege payment to the payee, made after notice of assignment, as a

defense against the assignee. Every assignor is liable to the assignee of such a note, if

the assignee has used due diligence, by the institution and prosecution of a suit against

the maker thereof, for the recovery of the amount due thereon ; but if such a suit would
have been unavailing, or the maker had absconded or resided without or had left the

State, when the note became due, the assignee may recover against the assignor, with-

out first suing the maker of the note. A note, payable to bearer, may be transferred by
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delivery, and an action may be maintained in the name of the holder of it ; and if any
one endorses such a note he will be held as a guarantor of payment, unless it is stated

otherwise in the indorsement. When sued on a note, the defendant may show that
there was no consideration for the note, or that the consideration has wholly or partially

failed, unless the suit is brought by a hona fide assignee, who obtained the note before

it became due. The maker of a note may set up in defense to any action on it that

fraud and circumvention were used in obtaining the making or executing of it. If a
note is endorsed after it falls due, the maker may set up in defense of an action on it by
the endorser, any defenses that he could maintain, if the suit were brought by the payee,
or any intermediate holder. If the note was transferred by delivery after it became due,

the maker may set-off to the amount of the plaintiff's debt any demand existing in his

favor against any person or persons who assigned or transferred the note after it became
due, if the demand could have been set-off against the assignor while the note belonged-

to him. Notes and bills are entitled to days of grace, unless payable on sight, on de-

mand, or on presentment. If a note or bill falls due on a regular holiday it is deemed
as having matured on the day previous, or, if two holidays come together, on the day
previous to the first of such days.

INTEEEST.

The statute allows interest at the rate of six per cent, per annum upon the loan or

forbearance of any money, goods or thing in action, on judgments ; on all moneys that

may become due on any bond, bill, note or other instrument in writing ; on money lent,

or advanced for the use of another ; on the balance due on account, after it is ascertained

between the parties ; on money received to the use of another, and retained without the

owner's knowledge ; on money withheld by an unreasonable and vexatious delay of

payment. In written contracts, the parties may agree on any rate of interest not ex-

ceeding eight per cent. Whoever contracts to receive more than eight per cent, interest,

forfeits the whole of the interest ; but no corporation is allowed to interpose the defense

of usury.

In computations of time, and of interest and of discounts, a month means a calen-

der month, a year consists of twelve calendar months, and in allowing for any number
of days less than a month, each day is considered the thirtieth part of a month.

TAXES.

All taxable real estate should be assessed at its fair cash value between the 1st day
of May and the 1st day of July, 1880, and every four years 'thereafter ; and during the

same period of other years the Assessor should report to the County Clerk the value of

improvements made or destroyed on the lands assessed.

All taxable personal property should be assessed between the 1st day o( May and
the 1st day of July of every year.

The Town Board meets on the fourth Monday of June, 1880, and every four years

thereafter, to review and correct the assessments of real property in the town ; and on
the second Monday of June, in other years, to hear and pass upon complaints in reference

to the assessment of real estate ; and on the fourth Monday of June in every year to

review and correct the assessments of personal property, and improvements made or de-

stroyed on real property.

The County Board meets annually on the second Monday of July to equalize the

assessments between the towns of the county, to review the assessments and make such
corrections as are just, and to assess lands listed which have not already been as-

sessed.

The collectors' books are placed in the hands of the town and district collectors

kbout the 1st of December in each year. They have until the 10th day of March follow-
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ing to collect taxes ; and on or before that day they should return their books to the
County Clerk and make final settlement. All taxes due and unpaid on real estate when
they make their final settlement or on the 10th of March, annually, are deemed delin-

quent and bear interest after the 1st day of May at the rate of one per cent, per month
until paid or forfeited.

Personal property may be distrained and sold for the payment of the taxes on either

personal or real estate ; and the tax on personal property may be charged against real

property in cases of removals or when the tax can not be made out of the personal

property.

Taxes assessed on real property are a lien thereon from the 1st day of May in the
year in which they are levied until they are paid. The owner of property on the 1st day
of May is liable for the taxes of that year.

The taxes may be paid on part of any lot, piece or parcel of land charged with taxes,

or on an undivided share of real estate.

The County Collector should give three weeks' notice by publication in some newii-

paper published in the county, that he will apply to the County Court, at the May term
thereof, for judgment for sale of delinquent lands ; and, also, at what time he will' offer

for sale the lands, for the sale of which an order may be made by the County Court.
Where application is made for judgment, any one interested may appear and offer any
objections he may have why judgment should not be rendered, for the delinquent taxes,

against any tract of land. And an appeal may be taken from the judgment of the County
Court to the Supreme Court.

The taxes and accrued costs may be paid at any time after judgment before sale.

The Collector should proceed on the day specified in his notice to sell the lands on which
the taxes have not been paid. Every tract for which there is no bidder is forfeited to the

State. In making up the tax due on forfeited lands the clerk, since July 1st, 1879, adds
to the tax of the current year the back tax, interest, penalty and printers' fees remaining
due, and one year's interest at ten per cent, on taxes forfeited prior to that date, and
twenty-five per cent, on taxes forfeited after that date. Lands forfeited to the State may
be redeemed or purchased.

Lands sold for taxes may be redeemed, before the expiration of two years from the

date of sale, by paying to the County Clerk the amount for which the same were sold,

and twenty-five per cent, thereon, if redeemed within six months from the date of sale

;

if between six and twelve months, fifty per cent. ; if between twelve and eighteen

months, seventy-five per cent. ; and if between eighteen months and two years, one hun-
dred, per cent.

At any time a,fter the expiration of two years from the date of sale, for taxes, if the

lands have not been redeemed, the purchaser, his heirs or assigns, having complied with
the provisions of the statute governing such cases, will be entitled to a deed of con-

veyance.

EXEMPTIONS FROM FOKCED SALE.

Every householder having a family is entitled to an estate of homestead to the value

of $1,000 in the farm, or lot of land and buildings thereon, owned or rightly possessed

by lease or otherwise, and occupied by him as a residence ; and this homestead is exempt
from forced sale, except for the payment of taxes or assessments, or for a liability incurred

for the purchase or improvement thereof. If the owner sells his homestead, the proceeds

of the sale, to the extent of $1,000, are also exempt; and the sale would not subject the

premises to any lien or incumbrance to which they would not have been subject in the

hands of the owner. If the building, occupied as a homestead, is insured for the debtor's

benefit, and burns down, the insurance money is exempt to the same extent that the

building was. After the death of the householder the exemption continues for the
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benefit of the husband or wife surviving, and of the children, until the youngest is twenty-
one years of age. If husband or wife deserts the family, the exemption continues for the
benefitof the one remaining. The following articles of personal property, owned by the
debtor, are also exempt from execution, writ of attachment, and distress for rent : Wearing
apparel, bibles, school books and family pictures of every person, one hundred dollars' worth
of other property to be selected by the debtor, and in addition, when the debtor is the head
of a family and resides with it, three hundred dollars' worth of other property to be se-

lected by him ; but the selection can not be made nor the exemption allowed from any
money, salary, or wages due him. Whenever an execution, writ of attachment, or dis-

tress warrant is issued against a debtor, if he desires to have any of his property exempt
from forced sale, he should make a schedule of all his personal property of every kind, in-

cluding money on hand, debts due and owing to him, and subscribe and swear to it, and
deliver it to the officer, and any personal property owned by the debtor which he fails to

put down on the schedule is not exempt and may be seized and sold by the officer. No
property is exempt from sale to pay the wages of any laborer or servant. If the head of

the family dies or deserts the family, the exemption enures to the benefit of those re-

maining. If an officer, by virtue of any process, seizes property exempt from levy and
forced sale, he is liable to the party injured for double the value of the property so ille-

gally taken.

DEEDS AKD MORTGAGES.

The statutory form of warranty deeds|is as follows :

The grantor (here insert name and place of residence), for and in consideration of

(here insert consideration) in hand paid, conveys and warrants to (here insert name of

grantee), the following described real estate (here insert description), situated in the
county of , in the State of Illinois.

Dated this day of , A. D. 18—. A. B. [l. s.j

A deed substantially in the above form would be a conveyance in fee simple, and by
executing it the grantor would be held to have covenanted that at the time of the mak-
ing and delivery of the deed he was lawfully seized of an indefeasible estate in fee simple,

in and to the premises therein described, and had good right and full power to convey the

same ; that the same were then free from all encumbrances, and that he warrants to the
grantee, his heirs and assigns, the quiet and peaceable possession of the premises, and
that he wiU defend the title thereto against all persons who may lawfully claim the same.
These covenants would be as binding upon the grantor, his heirs and personal representa-

tives, as if written at length in the deed.
Quit claim deeds may be made after the following statutory form

:

The grantor (here insert grantor's name), for the consideration of (here insert con-
sideration), conveys and quit claims to (here insert the grantee's name), all interest in

the following described real estate (here insert description thereof), situated in the

county of , in the State of Illinois.

Dated this day of , A. D. 18—. A. B. [l. s.J

Deeds duly executed in this form are sufficient to convey to the grantee, his heirs

and assigns, in fee, all the title and interest which the grantor then had in the premises.

Real estate mortgages may be in the following form :

The mortgagor (here insert name), mortgages and warrants to (here insert name of

mortgagee), to secure the payment of (here insert the amount and nature of indebted-
ness, showing when due and the rate of interest, and whether secured by note or other-

wise), the following described real estate (here insert description), situated in the county
of , in the State of Illinois.

Dated this day of , A. D. 18—. A. B. [l. s.]

Any person duly executing a mortgage after this form will be held to have cove-
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nanted to the same extent as is implied in the above warranty deed. If the words " and
warrants " are omitted no covenants will be implied. If it is desired to waive and re-

lease the homestead rights of the grantor or mortgagor in the premises there should be
inserted in the deed or mortgate, after the words " State of Illinois," the words " hereby
releasing and waiving all rights under and by virtue of the homestead laws of this State."

The homestead rights are never considered as waived or released by a deed or mortgage
unless the same contains a clause expressly releasing or waiving such right, and unless

the certificate of acknowledgment also contains a clause substantially as follows : " In-

cluding the release and waiver of the right of homestead," or other words showing clearly

that the parties intended to release such right. A release or waiver of the right of home-
stead by the husband does not bind the wife unless she join him in the release or waiver.

A married woman may relinquish her right of dower in her husband's real estate by
joining him in the deed, mortgage, or other writing, relating to the disposition of the

property. If the husband has already parted with his title to the lands the wife may
relinquish her dower by a separate deed of conveyance to the purchasers.

Deeds and other conveyances should be acknowledged before some officer authorized

by law to take acknowledgments. A deed or other conveyance, although not acknowl-
edged, is just as effectual to pass the title to the premises as if acknowledged, except as

to the estate of homestead. Deeds and other conveyances, properly acknowledged, may
be read in evidence without proof of their execution, but if they are not acknowledged,
their execution must be proved. Deeds, mortgages, and other instruments in writing
relating to real estate, are from the time of being filed for record notice to subsequent
purchasers and creditors whether acknowledged and proven according to law or not.

Whatever may be the form of a deed of conveyance, if it was intended merely as security
in the nature of a mortgage, it is considered as a mortgage.

Any person after once selling any tract or tracts of land or executing any bond or

agreement for the sale of lands or town lots, who shall again, knowingly and fraudulently,

sell or dispose of the same tract or tracts of land, or shall knowingly and fraudulently
execute any bond or agreement to sell or dispose of the same piece of land to any other
person for a valuable consideration, shall be imprisoned in the penitentiary not less than
one nor more than ten years.

A chattel mortgage is not good as to third parties unless possession of the chattels

shall be delivered to and'remain with the grantee or mortgagee, or the instrument shall

be properly acknowledged and recorded and provide for the possession of the property to

remain with the grantor or mortgagor. Any mortgage or conveyance of personal pro-

perty as security for the payment of money or other thing may be acknowledged before a

justice of the peace of the town where the mortgagor resides. If the mortgagor is not a

resident of this State when the acknowledgment is made, then before any officer author-

ized to take acknowledgments of deeds

:

The certificate of acknowledgment may be in the following form

:

This (name of instrument) was acknowledged before me by (name of grantor) this

day of , 18—

.

Witness my hand and seal.

(name of officer) [seal.]
If the mortgagor is a resident the words " and entered by me," should be inserted

after the name of the grantor and the justice should make a memorandum on his docket
substantially as follows

:

"t

A. B. (name of mortgagor) to ) Mortgage of (here insert description of property
C. D. (name of mortgagee) . ) as in mortgage.)

Acknowledged this day of , 18—

.

If the mortgagor sells the property during the existence of the mortgage without in-

forming the purchaser of the existence of it he shall forfeit and pay to the purchaser
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twice the value of the property so sold. Or if the mortgagor during the existence of

the lien sells, transfers, conceals, takes, drives, or carries away, or in any manner dis-

poses of the property mortgaged without the written consent ot the holder of the incum-
brance, he may be fined in a sum not exceeding twice the value of the property so sold

or disposed of, or confined in the county jail not exceeding one year or both.

FORM OF CHATTKL MOKTGAGB.

Know all men by these presents, that of the town of in the county
of and State of Illinois in consideration of the sum of dollars, to

paid by of the county of and State of the receipt whereof is hereby
acknowledged, do hereby grant, sell, convey and confirm unto the said ,

and to his executors, administrators or assigns the following goods and chattels to wit

:

(here describe them and state where they are kept).
To have and to hold all and singular the said goods and chattels, unto, the said

mortgagee herein, and executors, administrators and assigns to and their

sole use forever. And the mortgagor herein, for and for executors, ad-

ministrators do hereby covenant to and with the said mortgagee executors,

administrators and assigns, that said mortgagor lawfully possessed of the said

goods and chattels as of own property, that the same are free from all incum-
brances and that will, and executors and administrators shall, warrant and
defend the same to the said mortgagee executors, administrators and assigns,

against the lawful claims and demands of all persons.

Provided nevertheless, that, if the said mortgagor executors or adminis-

trators shall well and truly pay unto the said mortgagee executors, administrators

or assigns (here insert indebtedness to be paid off) then this mortgage to be void, other-

wise to remain in full force and effect.

And provided, also, that it shall be lawful for the said mortgagor executors,

administrators and assigns, to retain possession of the said goods and chattels, and at

own expense to keep and use the. same, until or executors, or ad-

ministrators or assigns shall make default in the payment of the said sum of money above
specified, either in principal or interest, at the time or times and, in the manner herein

before stated. And the said mortgagor, hereby covenant and agree, that in case

default shall be made in the payment of the note, aforesaid, or of any part thereof, or

the interest thereon, on the day or days respectively on which. the same shall become due
and payable ; or if the mortgagee executors, administrators or assigns shall feel

insecure or unsafe, or shall fear diminutions, removal, or waste of said property ;

or, if the mortgagor shall sell or assign, or attempt to sell or assign the said goods

and chattels or any interest therein ; or, if any writ or any distress warrant shall be

levied on said goods and chattels or any part thereof ; then, and in either of said cases, said

note, and sum of money both principal and interest, shall, at the option of said mort-

gagee executors, administrators or assigns, without notice to any one of said

option, become at once due and payable, and the said mortgagee executors, ad-

ministrators or assigns, or any of them, shall thereupon have the right to take immediate
possession of said property wherever it may be found and may enter the premises of the

mortgagor, and search for and take possession of said goods and chattels, and remove,
selland dispose of the same or any part thereof, at public auction, to the highest bidder,

after giving days' notice of the time, pla^e, and terms of sale, together with the

description of the property to be sold, by notices posted up in three public places in the

vicinity of such sale, or at private sale, with or without notice, for cash or on credit as

the said mortgagee executors, administrators or assigns may elect, and out of the

proceeds of such sale, to retain all costs and charges for recovering, removing, storing,

advertising and selling such goods and chattels and all prior liens thereon, together with
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the amount due and unpaid upon said note, rendering the surplus, if any remain, unto
said mortgagor or legal representatives.

Witness the hand, and seal, of the mortgagor this day of 18—

.

State of Illinois, ,

County of Peokia. ' *

[SEAL.J
[seal.]

I a Justice of the Peace in the town of in and for said county do
hereby certify that this mortgage was duly acknowledged before me by the above named

mortgagor, therein named and entered by me this day of A. D.
18—.

Witness my hand and seal. [seal.]

Justice of the Peace.
landlord and tenant.

The owner of land is entitled to reasonable reilt in the following cases : When rent

is due and in arrear on a lease for life or lives ; when lands are held without any agree-

ment for rent; when the possession is obtained under an agreement to purchase and the

buyer refuses to complete the purchase or give up possession after demand in writing

;

when a person after demand in writing neglects to give up possession to the purchaser
under a judgment or decree of court against him or under a trust deed or mortgage
made by him.

The tenant is liable for double rent if he holds over after a proper demand is made
on him for the possession, or if he gives notice of his intention to quit and does not
quit.

Sixty days' notice to quit is required in tenancies from year to year ; thirty days'

notice in tenancies from month to month. If rent is due the lease may be terminated
by the landlord giving the tenant notice in writing that unless the rent is paid within
five or more days the lease will be terminated. If default is made in any of the terms
of the lease, no more than ten days' notice to quit is required. The notice may be in the
following form:

To A. B. : You are hereby notified that in consequence of your default in (here in-

sert character of default) of the premises now occupied by you, being, etc. (here de-
scribe the premises) I have elected to determine your lease, and you are hereby notified

to quit and deliver up possession of the same to me within ten days of this date.

(Dated, etc.) (Signed.)

It may be signed by the lessor or his agent. No notice is necessary when the term
has expired.

The landlord may distrain any of the personal property of the tenant found in the

county where the tenant resides, for rent due, at any time within six months after the

expiration of the term for which the premises were leased. He also has a lien for his

rent on the crops grown or growing on the demised premises. If the tenant abandons
or removes from any part of the premises the landlord may seize upon any grain grown
or growing upon the premises so abandoned, whether the rent is due or not, and sell the

same to pay the rent. And if the landlord's lien is endangered by the

tenant's removing crops he may distrain at once, whether the rent is due or not.

The following is a very good form ftr a lease of a farm and buildings

:

This Indenture, made this day of
:

A. D., 18——. Between
party of the first part, and- ^party of the second part.

WITNESSETH, that the party of the first part, in consideration of the covenants of

the party of the second part hereinafter set forth do by these Presents lease to the
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party of the second part the following described property to wit. :

in the county of and State of .

To HAVE AND TO HOLD the Same to the party of the second part, from the

day of 18 , to the day of 18 . And the party of the

second part, in consideration of the leasing the premises as above set forth, covenants
and agrees with the party of the first part to pay the party of the first part, as rent for

the same, the sum of ;—dollars payable, as follows, to wit. :
.

And the party of the second part covenants with the party of the first part, that at

the expiration of the term of this lease he will yield up the premises to the party

of the first part, without further notice, in as good condition as when the same were en-

tered upon by the party of the second part, loss by fire or inevitable accident and ordi-

nary wear excepted.
It is further agreed by the party of the second part, that he will not underlet said

premises, or any part thereof, or assign this lease without the written assent of the party

of the first part first had thereto. And if default be made in any of the covenants or

agreements herein contained, to be kept by the party of the second part, it shall be law-
ful for the party of the first part, either with or without process of law to re-enter into

and upon said premises, or any part thereof, and repossess the same at the election

of the party of the first part, and after any such default shall be made the party of the

second part shall be deemed guilty of a forcible detainer of said premises under the

statute.

The covenants and agreements herein contained shall extend to and be binding upon
the heirs, assigns, executors and administrators of the parties to this lease.

Witness the hands and seals of the parties aforesaid.

[seal.]

[seal.]

Any other covenants maybe inserted which the parties consider necessary. This
is also a good form for a lease of a house and lot.

laborer's and mechanic's lien.

The statute creates a lien for services rendered or material furnished in building,

altering or repairing any building or appurtenances thereto, or upon any street or alley

connected with such building or appurtenance, upon the interest of the person for whom
the labor or services were performed or materials furnished, in the whole tract or lot of

land and in the house or building and appurtenance, for the amount due, provided, the

time stipulated for the completion of the work or furnishing materials is not more than
three years from the commencement thereof and the time of payment more than one year

from the time stipulated for the completion thereof, where the contract is expressed, and
provided the work is done or material furnished within one year from the commencement
of the work or delivery of material, where the contract is implied. This lien takes pre-

cedence on the building erected and materials furnished over all incumbrances.

To make his lien good, the person furnishing labor or materials to the original con-

tractor should cause a notice in writing to be served on the owner or his agent substan-

tially as follows:

To : You are hereby notified that I have been employed by to (here

insert whether to labor or furnish materials and substantially the nature of the under-
taking or demand) upon your (here state the ^uilding and where situated in general

terms) ; and that I shall hold the (building or as the case may be) and your interest in

the ground liable for the amount that (is or may become) due me on account thereof.

(Date) . (Signature) .

If there is a written contract, a copy should be attached if it can be obtained. The
notice should be served forty days before completion of sub-contract, or within forty
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days after payment should have been made for labor or materials. Persons keeping,
pasturing, feeding or yarding domestic animals have a lien on them for their proper
charges. There is also a lien upon horses, carriages and harnesses for proper charges
for keeping thereof or expenses bestowed thereon at the request of the owner.

J0KISDIOTION OP COURTS.

Justices of the Peace have jurisdiction in their respective counties, when the amount
claimed does not exceed $200, in the following cases

:

In all actions for the recovery of money only, and in all cases ,
where the action of

debt or assumpsit lies. In proceeding by attachment and garnishment. In action^ to

recover damages for providing for any intoxicated person, and for damages resulting from
the intoxication of such person; and for damages to real property, and for taking, detain-

ing, or injuring personal property, or for fraud in the purchase, exchange, or sale of per-

sonal property. In actions for rent and distress for rent. In actions against railroad

companies for killing or injuring stock, and for loss or injury to baggage or freight, and
for damage to property by setting fire to the same by their engines or otherwise.

They have jurisdiction in actions of forcible entry and detainer without regard to the

value of the property, and of replevin when the value of the property claimed does not
exceed $200, and in proceedings under the drainage act, when the cost of the proposed
drain, ditch, levee, or other work will not exceed §5,000, and will not extend through or

into more than three congressional townships, and in cases for the violation of ordinances
of cities, towns, and vUlages, and to cause Texas or Cherokee cattle to be impounded
and prevent their spreading disease among native cattle, and in actions for damages for

injury caused to domestic animals by dogs when the damages do not exceed $100, and of

actions for failure to pay dog tax, and in all cases of misdemeanors, or when the punish-
ment is by fine only and does not exceed a fine of $1200, and in all cases of assault and
battery, and affrays, and of proceedings to punish vagabonds.

The jurisdiction of Police Magistrates is made uniform with that of Justices of the

Peace by the Constitution of this State.

County Courts have original jurisdiction in all matters of probate ; settlement of

estates of deceased persons ; appointment of guardians and conservators, and settlement

of their accounts; in all matters relating to apprentices; in proceedings by executors,

administrators, guardians, and conservators for the sale of real estate ; in proceedings for

the collection of taxes and assessments ; in all applications for discharge from imprison-

ment ; under the provisions of the act concerning insolvent debtors ; in proceedings had
under the act relating to voluntary assignments ; in proceedings relating to idiots, luna-

tics and drunkards ; in trials of right of property when personal property is seized under
an execution or a writ of attachment by any sheriff or coroner ; and in proceedings under
the drainage act.

They also have concurrent jurisdiction with Circuit Courts in all that class of cases

where justices of the peace now have or may hereafter have jurisdiction, where the

amount claimed or the value of the property in controversy shall not exceed $1,000 ; and
in all cases of appeals from justices of the peace and police magistrates ; and in all

criminal offences and misdemeanors, where the punishment is not imprisonment in the

penitentiary or -death.

Circuit Courts have jurisdiction of all causes in law and equity, and appellate juris-

diction of cases appealed from justices of the peace, police magistrates and county judge,

when sitting as a justice of the peace; and from judgments, orders and decrees of county
courts in all matters, except in proceedings for the sale of lands for taxes and special

assessments ; and in all common law and attachment cases ; and in cases of forcible de-

tainer, and forcible entry and detainer.

17
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LIMITATIONS OP ACTIONS.

Actions for the recovery of lands must generally be brought within twenty years

after the right to bring such action accrued.

If any person is possessed of the lands by actual 'residence for seven successive

years, having a connected title deducible of record from this State or the United States,

or from any officer authorized by the laws of this State to sell the land for taxes, or on
execution or under any order, judgment or decree of any court of record, the action

must be brought against him within seven years from the time he took possession, or

from the time of acquiring such title, if it was acquired after he obtained possession.

Possession under color of title, accompanied with payment of taxes, will contitutes

a good title to land, but if the land is unoccupied and vacant, color of titlj and payment
of taxes alone will constitute a good title.

There are some exceptions to these rules in favor of the United States, this State,

schools, seminaries, religious societies and lands held for any public purpose and in favor

of persons under twenty-one years of age, insane, imprisoned, femme covert, out of the

United States and in employment of United States where such person holds an adverse

title.

Mortgages and trust deeds must be foreclosed within ten years after the right of ac-

tion accrued.

Actions for libel and slander should be commenced within one year after the cause

of action accrued, for damages for injury to the person, for false imprisonment, for ma-
licious prosecution, for a statutory penalty, for abduction, for seduction, for criminal

conversation within two years ; on unwritten contracts, on awards of arbitration, to re-

cover damages for injury done to property, to recover possession of personal property or

damages for the detention or conversion thereof, and all civil actions not otherwise pro-

vided for, five years ; on bonds, promissory notes, bills of exchange, written leases,

written contracts, or other evidences of indebtedness in writing, ten years, or ten years

from the time of the last payment thereon or new promise to pay. The time the de-

fendant is out of the State is deducted. Persons under disability may bring the action

within two years after the disability is removed. If the cause of action arose in another
State an action can not be maintained on it, here, after it is barred by the laws of such
other State. Actions on judgments are barred after twenty years. Indictments for

murder or manslaughter, arson or forgery, may be found at any time after the commis-
sion of the crime, for other felonies generally within three years after the commission
of the crime. Prosecutions for misdemeanors, and for fines and forfeitures under the

penal statute must, generally, be commenced within eighteen months from the time of

committing the offense or incurring the fine or forfeiture. The time when the party was
not usually and publicly a resident of this State is not included.

STTBSCBIPTIONS.

Subscriptions to charitable or other enterprises are governed very much by the laws
relating to written contracts. It is sometimes held that where several voluntary sub-

scriptions are made for any charitable purpose, that one subscription is the consideration

for another, and that all are binding. However this may be, if a voluntary subscription

is made to the erection of a church or other charitable object, and before the subscrip-

tion is withdrawn, advances are made or expenses or liabilities are incurred on the
strength of the subscription, it will be held obligatory. A subscription to the capital

stock of a chartered company or corporation, made in accordance with its by-laws and
the statute, is binding. A subscription to a book, map, etc., is governed by the terms
of the subscription itself ; and the subscriber should carefully observe whether all the
conditions on which he subscribes are inserted in the document he signs.
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MAERIED WOMEN.

A married woman may own real and personal property and sell and convey the same
to the same extent and in the same manner that her husband can property belonging to

him. She may receive, use and possess her own earnings, and sue for them in her own
name free from his, or his creditor's interference. Neither she nor her earnings or pro-
perty is liable for his separate debts, contracted either before or after marriage. If one
of them transfers goods or chattels to the other, the conveyance should be in writing,

and acknowledged and recorded in the same manner as chattel mortgages are required to

be acknowledged and recorded when the possession of the property remains with
the mortgagor. She may sue and be sued without joining her husband with her in all cases.

If they are sued jointly, they may defend jointly or separately, and if one neglects to

defend, the other may defend for such one also. Neither is responsible for the civil injur-

ies committed by the other. Both are liable for the expenses of the family and education
of the children. She may constitute him her agent to transact her business, but neither

is entitled to any compensation for services rendered the other. She has a dower interest

in his real estate. If either husband or wife abandons the other, and is absent from the
State for one year, without providing for the support of the family, or is imprisoned in

the penitentiary, a court of record may, upon application, authorize the one so abandoned
to manage, control, sell and incumber the property of the other as may be necessary for

the support of the family, or payment of debts contracted for the support of the family or

the debts of the other.

ADOPTION OP CHILDREN.

Children may be adopted with the consent of their parents or in cases where their

parents have deserted them for one year, by a resident of this State, by petitioning to the

County or Circuit Court for that purpose. If the child is 14 years of age or more, its

consent must be had. Its name may be changed if desired, in the proceedings for adop-
tion. The parents of an adopted child have no legal rights as respects it, and it is freed
from all obligations of maintainance of or obedience to such parents.

Adopted children inherit from their adopted parents, but they can not take property
limited to the heirs of the bodies of such parents, or property from the lineal or collateral

kindred of such parents by right of representation. The parents by adoption and their

heirs, inherit from their adopted children, but they do not inherit any property which
such child may take by gift, devise, bequest or descent from its kindred by blood.

ESTKAVS.

Horses, mules, asses, neat cattle, swine, sheep or goats straying, at any time, in

counties where such animals are not allowed to run at la,rge, and between the last day
of October and the 15th of April, in other counties are estrays. A householder may take

up an estray found upon or about his farm, or place of residence. Whoever
takes one up or has one upon his enclosed premises, should within five days, .thereafter,

post notices in three of the most public places of the town or precinct, where the estray

was found, giving the residence of the taker up and a particular description of the estray,

and stating before what Justice of the Peace in that town, and at what time, not less than

ten nor more than fifteen days from the time of posting the notices, he will have the

estray appraised ; and he should within the same time deliver a copy of the notice to the

Town Clerk to be entered on the Town Estray Book. If the owner does not appear,

prove property and pay expenses on the day named in the notice, the Justice must ap-

point three householders to appraise the estray under oath. The appraisers, must, in

their return, certify the age, color and marks, natural and artificial of the estray. If the

value of the estrays exceeds $20, the Justice should within ten days after the return of
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the appraisement, send to the County Clerk, to be entered in the estray book, a certifi-

cate substantially as follows

:

Taken up on the day of —18— by at the following
described estray (description of estray and appraised value.) Dated this day
of 18. N. L., Justice of the Peace.

The County Clerk will have a copy of the certificate published in a newspaper of

the county for three weeks, and copies posted up in three public places in the county,
and if the estray is a horse, mule or ass, he will send a copy to be published in a news-
paper in Springfield, designated by the Governor, and the editor of the paper will

transmit a copy of the paper containing the notice to every County Clerk in the State to

be preserved for the examination of all concerned.
If the estray is a horse, mule, ass or head of neat cattle, and is not claimed within

a year, or if it is a swine, sheep, goat, and is not claimed by the owner within three

months and charges and expenses paid, upon that fact being made known to the Justice,

he will sell the same at public vendue, after having given twenty days public notice.

Whatever proceeds of the sale remain after paying all expenses, the owner may have
within three years ; after the expiration of that time the surplus goes to the County
Treasurer. Whoever takes up an estray, except in accordance with the statute, must
pay ten dollars and costs for the use of the county.

MARKS AND BRANDS.

Every person in this State having stock may have an ear mark and brand different

from those of his neighbors ; and have the same recorded by the County Clerk of the

county where the stock is kept. When any dispute arises in regard to the mark or

brand, the County Clerk's record will be prima facie proof.

Any person purchasing stock may mark the same with his brand or mark in the

presence of one or more of his neighbors, who may certify to the marking or branding
being done, when done and how done and what the previous marks were. Such certifi-

cate will he prima facie proof of the facts therein stated.

MILLERS.

Private property may be condemned for the purpose of building or repairing any
grist mill, saw mill or other public mill and machinery, or to erect, repair or increase the

height of any dam to supply water for any such mill or machinery.
The grain brought to a public mill must be ground as well as the uature and condi-

tion of the mill will permit, and in due turn as the same shall be brought ; and if there

is any neglect in these respects, or if the miller takes too much toll, he shall pay the

sum of 15 to the party injured.

The toll for grinding and bolting wheat, rye or other grains is one-eighth part ; for

grinding Indian corn, oats, barley, buckwheat or other grains not required to be bolted,

one-seventh part ; for grinding malt and chopping all kinds of grain, one-eighth part.

Millers must give punctual attendance, keep accurate measures and assist in loading

and unloading the grain brought to be ground. They are responsible for the grain

brought to them to grind and for the bags, etc., containing the same; but the bags

, should be distinctly marked with the initials of the owner's name.

ROADS.

It is the duty of the commissioners of highways to cause roads and bridges to be built,

repaired, established, altered or vacated ; to have all roads not sufficiently described, or

which have been used for twenty years, ascertained, described, and recorded in the town
clerk's office ; to divide the towns into road districts, and assign to them such inhabitants

as are liable to work on the roads, and require the overseers of highways to warn such
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inhabitants to come and work on the roads ; to purchase for the use of highways and
take proper care of, tools, implements and machinery ; to cause guide boards to be erected
at suitable places ; to prevent noxious weeds from seeding, and the growth of vegetation
from becoming rank in the highways ; and in their discretion, to construct wells and
other conveniences for public use and for watering teams ; to choose one of their number
treasurer, at their first meeting after the annual town meeting ; to render to the board
of town auditors, at their annual meeting, an account of the labor assessed and performed,

of all moneys received, of improvements necessary to be made on roads and bridges, and
an estimate of the probable expense of making the improvements, beyond what the labor

to be assessed in that year and road tax will accomplish ; of all expenses and damages in

consequence of laying out, altering and discontinuing roads ; of the manner in which all

sums have been paid out and expended, to whom paid and on what account. If any tool

or implement proposed to be purchased will cost more than $200, the propriety of pur-

chasing it should be submitted to the voters of the town at the annual town meeting.
The commissioners meet on the second Tuesday after the annual town meeting, at the

town clerk's office, and afterwards at such times and places as they think proper. They
should keep a record of their proceedings at all meetings. They ascertain, estimate, and
assess the road labor and road tax to be performed and paid in their town in the next en-

suing year. AU able-bodied men, between the ages of twenty-one and fifty, except such
as are exempt by law, are required to work on the roads not less than one nor more than
three days in every year. Road taxes may be paid in labor on the highways.

At the annual town meeting an overseer of highways should be chosen for every
road district in the town. It is their duty to repair and keep the highways in order ; to

warn persons from whom road labor is due to work on the highways, at such time and
places in the district as they may think proper ; to collect fines and commutation money
and execute all lawful orders of the commissioners, and to deliver to the town clerk with-
in ten days after their election or appointment, a list of all the men in the district liable

to work on highways. Any one can commute for his road labor at one dollar per day, to

be paid within three days after he is notified to work on the highways. The overseers

should give three days' notice to persons assessed to work on highways of the time and
place they are to appear for that purpose, and with what implements. A day's work
consists of eight hours. Every one appearing who does not work faithfully, forfeits to

the town $2 for every ofPense. The forfeiture for neither commuting or working is $2 for

each day's neglect ; for omitting to furnish a pair of horses or oxen, $1.50 for each day

;

for omitting to furnish a man to manage the team, $2 per day, or a cart, plow or wagon,
76 cents for each day. The overseer should make complaint to some justice of the peace
within six days after any person is guilty of any such refusal or neglect. The overseer

should also give three days' notice to persons against whom a land or personal tax is as-

sessed of the time and place to pay the road taxes in labor, and what implements they
are required to furnish. Any person appearing should be credited on his road tax $1.25

for every day of eight hours he actually works, 25 cents per day for every wagon or plow,

$1 a day for each yoke of oxen, $1.25 a day for each span of horses or mules, which he
furnishes, agreeably to the requirements of the overseer. The arrearages of road taxes

are collected in the same manner that other taxes of the county are levied and collected.

The legal voters of any township in counties under township organization, may, by a

majority vote, at their annual town meeting, provide that thereafter the road tax assessed

by the commissioners of highways shall be collected in money alone. Persons occupying
land on both sides of the highway are entitled to make a crossing under the highway, by
keeping up the crossing and the bridge over it at his own expense, the construction being

subject to the consent and approval of the commissioners of highways of the towns.

The commissioners of highways may alter, widen or vacate any road, or lay out any
new road in their towns when petitioned by not less than twelve free-holders residing in
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the town and within three miles of the road to be altered, widened, vacated or laid flut.

For the manner of proceeding in such cases reference should be had to the statute, and
also for the manner of dividing, allotting and keeping in repair town lines, and of con-

structing and repairing bridges.

FENCES.

The town assessor and commissioners of highways are ex officio fence viewers in their

respective towns, in counties under township organization. Lawful fences are four aiyi

one-half feet high, in good repair and consist of rails, timber, boards, stone, hedges or

whatever the fence viewers of the town shall consider equivalent thereto ; or the electors

may determine, at the annual town meeting, what shall constitute a legal fence in the

town. Adjoining owners must maintain a fair proportion of the division fence, unless

one of them chooses to let his lands lie open ; and if they built the fence by mutual
agreement, neither may remove his part of the fence while he uses his land for farm pur-

poses or until he has given the other party one year's notice in writing of his intention

to move the fence. When an adjoining owner encloses his land upon the enclosure of

another, he must immediately buUd his proportion of the division fence or refund to the

other a just proportion of the value of the fence, to be determined by the fence viewers

of the town. If any one neglects to repair or build the part of the fence he ought to

maintain, the fence viewers, on complaint to them, and after examining the fence, will

notify him to build or repair the same in a reasonable time. If adjoining owners cannot
agree on the portion of the division fence to be made or maintained by either, each may
choose a fence viewer of the town or precinct, and if one neglects, after eight days'

notice in writing, to make such choice, the other may select both fence viewers ; and the

fence viewers, so chosen, should settle the dispute and distinctly mark and define the

proportion of the fence to be made or maintained by each. And if one neglects to re-

pair or build the portion of the fence which it is his duty to maintain it may be built or

repaired at his expense by the party injured, after giving sixty days' notice in writing

that a new fence should be erected or ten days' notice that the fence should be repaired.

And the party neglecting will be liable for all damages that accrue through his neglect,

the amount to be determined by two fence viewers, selected in the manner aforesaid.

When the fence is destroyed by fire, floods or other casualty, the party bound to repair

the fence must rebuild it within ten days after notified to do so by any person inter-

ested, and if he neglects to do so it may be repaired at his expense by the other party.

Any one wishing to have his lands lie open may remove his portion of the fence after

giving the other party one year's notice, in writing, of his intention to do so, unless the

adjoining owner causes the value of the fence to be ascertained by the fence viewers and
pay or tender the same to such owner. Whoever removes such a fence without notice

must make good all the damages sustained thereby.

If a person finds on running a division line that he built his fence on another's land

by mistake, he may remove the fence within six months after the line was run ; but it

can not be removed at a time that would expose the crops of another. In such a case it

may be removed after they are secured, and within a reasonable time, although the six

months have passed. If any domestic animal breaks into an inclosure through a good
and sufficient fence, the owner of the animal is liable in an action of trespass for all

damage done. This does not require such a fence in order to recover for injuries done
by animals running at large contrary to law. The owner of lands may take into posses-

sion any domestic animals trespassing upon his premises, and keep them until his

damages and reasonable charges for keeping and feeding and costs of suit are paid ; pro-

vided he gives notice to the owner thereof within twenty-four hours after taking the
animals into his possession ; if the owi).er is unknown, he should post notices in some
public place nea? thp premises.
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PAtrPERS.

Poor people, unable to earn a living in consequence of any bodily infirmity, idiocy,

lunacy or other unavoidable cause, must be supported by their relatives, if of sufficient

ability, and the obligation rests first, upon the children ; next, upon the parents ; next,

upon the brothers and sisters ; next, upon the grandchildren ; and lastly, upon the grand-
parents. But, if any one becomes a pauper from intemperance or other bad conduct, he
is not entitled to support from any relation, except parent or child. If relatives liable to

support a pauper fail to do so, it is the duty of the State's attorney or of the overseer

of the poor to complain of them to the County Court and have them prosecuted. If rel-

atives of one degree can not support such poor person, the court may direct relatives of

different degrees to maintain him. Every county must support its own poor. Every
town, in counties where the poor are supported by towns, must support its own poor.

Whoever brings a pauper into a county where he is not lawfully settled, knowing him to

be a pauper, forfeits $100 for every offense. The overseers of the poor have the care of

paupers not supported by their relatives or at the county poor house, and should see that

they are suitably relieved, supported and employed, and they may render poor people,

who do not require to be wholly supported by the county, temporary relief. When the

county has provided a suitable poor house, paupers requiring the care of the county must
be supported there. Paupers can only vote in the precinct where they resided next
prior to becoming an inmate of the poor house, insane asylum or hospital.

DEAINAGE.

There are two drainage acts in force in this State, the first approved and in force

May 29, 1879, and the second approved May 29, 1879, and in force July 1, 1879. They
are not intended to conflict with each other ; either may be followed.

The first provides that drainage districts may be organized and established on peti-

tion of a majority of the owners of the land in the proposed district and who own one-

third of it, for the purpose of constructing drains, ditches, levees or other works for

agricultural, sanitary or mining purposes, or to maintain and keep in repair any such
works already constructed. If the court is satisfied of the necessity of the work, it

appoints three disinterested persons as commissioners to lay out and construct such pro-

posed work. If the lands are situated in different counties, not more than two commis-
sioners shall be chosen from one county. A majority of the commissioners may act.

They should examine land proposed to be drained or protected, and the lands on which
the work is to be constructed, and determine the best location for the work, its probable

cost, the annual cost of keeping it in repair, what lands will be injured thereby and what
damage they will sustain, what lands will benefited and how much, and whether the

benefits will equal or exceed the cost of the work, including incidental expenses. If the

petition is for the maintenance of a work already constructed, the commissioners should

determine whether the work, with proper repairs, can be made sufficient to permanently
protect the lands from water, the annual expense of keeping up repairs, what lands will

be benefited, whether the annual amount of benefits will equal or exceed the annual cost

of repairs, including incidental expenses, and what lands, if any, outside of the proposed
district, will be affected by the work. If the outlay for the proposed work, or so much
of it as will be satisfactory to the petitioners, does not exceed the benefits, the work will

be carried out. In that case, the commissioners will make proper surveys, profiles, plans

and specifications, and report the same to the court. Any one interested may object to

the report. Upon the confirmation of the report by the court, the district is organized as

a drainage district by the name mentioned in the -petition, and it becomes a body politic

and corporate, with the right to sue and be sued, and to have a corporate seal and per-

petual succession. And the said commissioners and their successors shall constitute the
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corporate authorities of such drainage district. A jury is then empannelled to assess
damages and benefits. The jury, after viewing the land and making assessments, ap-
points a time to hear objections to their assessment. The assessment, when found cor-
rect, or after being corrected on the hearing, is confirmed by the jury and handed to
the commissioners, who return it within ten days to the court where the petition was
filed. The assessment is set down for a hearing at a regular term of the court, objections
heard, and the assessment confirmed. If the court finds the assessments erroneous, it

will correct it before confirming it. After the organization of the drainage district, the
commissioners have power to contract and be contracted with, sue and be sued, plead
and be impleaded, and to do all other things in the corporate name necessary to accom-
plish the purposes of the drainage act. They collect the assessments and return a list of
delinquents to the County Collector to be collected as other taxes. They must report to

the court which appointed them once a year. After their appointment, they may go
upon the lands in the district for the purpose of examining them and making plans, plates

and surveys. And after the organization of the district and payment or tender of com-
pensation allowed, they may go upon the land with their workmen and construct the
work ; and may forever after enter upon the land for the purpose of maintaining or

repairing the work.
The commissioners of highways also have power to locate and establish drains to be

built and kept up at.the cost of the parties petitioning therefor, and for this purpose
highway commissioners are drainage commissioners within their respective districts.

When any owner or owners of lands desire to construct a drain, or permanently establish

a drain already constructed, leading over or upon the land of another person who will

not consent to the establishing of the proposed drain, they should petition the commis-
sioner of highways for that purpose. Upon receiving the petition the commissioner will

appoint a time to examine the location of the drain and hear reasons for or against the

proposed improvement. They may decide to approve the drain as prayed for in the peti-

tion, or to approve it with some changes, and then return to the town clerk their decision

and their order locating or establishing the drain. If the petitioners then desire to con-

struct the drain as established, they should within a year file with any justice of the

peace of the town a copy of the record from the town clerk's ojB&ce, and also an af&davit

setting forth the names of the owners of the land and the lands over which the proposed
drain is to run, and the justice will empannel a jury to assess the damages to such lands,

and upon payment of the damages assessed the petitioners have the right to enter upon
the lands for the purpose of constructing the work, and forever after, at all times and
seasons, for the purpose of repairing, cleansing, opening, or deepening the said drain.

The drainage act approved May 29, 1879, and in force July 1, 1879, provides that

the commissioners of highways in counties under township organization shall be drainage

commissioners in and for their respective townships, and as such shall be a body politic

and corporate, and be the corporate authorities of all drainage districts within their

townships. The town clerk is their clerk. Their duties are very similar to the duties

of drainage commissioners as provided for in the previous act, and the mode provided for

organizing drainage districts and establishing, constructing, maintaining, and repairing

drains, ditches and levees, is very similar to that prescribed in the preceding, act.

If the proposed drainage district lies in two counties the petition should be filed in

the office of the clerk of that board of commissioners in whose jurisdiction the greater

part of the lands lie. If a district is organized both boards of commissioners will consti-

tute the drainage commissioners. Proceedings for condemnation of right of way and as-

sessment of damages must be had in the county where the lands affected are situated.

Special drainage districts may be formed on petition of a majority of the owners of

the land and owners of more than one-third in area of territory lying in more than two
townships in the same or different counties under township organization, or lying partial-
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ly in more than two townships in a county under township organization and partly in

a county not under township organization, said petition to be filed in the office of the
clerk of the county where the greater part of the land is situated. The further proceed-
ings for the organization of special drainage districts conforms to the requirements of the

act in relation to regular drainage districts. After the organization of the special drain-

age district the drainage commissioners are elected by the inhabitants of the district.

The commissioners should then proceed to locate the drains, procure the right of way,
institute proceedings therefor, and for assessment of damages and benefits, etc., and in

all their proceedings they are governed by the provisions of the act relating to the powers
and duties of drainagecommissioners of townships.

STJETEYOES AND StTBVBYS.

County surveyors may appoint deputies who may perform any of the duties of the

office ; and any acts done by them are as valid as if done by the county surveyor.

Chainmen and other persons must be employed by the person requiring the survey done.

The chainmen must be disinterested, and approved of by the surveyor and sworn by
him to measure justly and impartially. It is the surveyor's duty, either by himself or

deputy, to make all surveys that he may be called upon to make, as soon as may be after

application ; and he must make the surveys in accordance with the original surveys and
the laws of the United States governing surveys. And when requested he must furnish

the person for whom the survey is made with a copy of the original field notes or plat of

the survey. He must keep a book for public inspection containing every survey made
by him, the date of the survey, the name of the person whose land is surveyed, the

metes and bounds of the land, and the date on which the survey is made. A certified

copy of this book under the hand of the surveyor is prima facie evidence of the facts

therein stated. No record or act of any surveyor or his deputy is conclusive, but may
be received by any competent tribunal.

CHURCH OKGANIZATION.

Any church, society or congregation, formed for the purpose of religious worship,

may become incorporated by electing or appointing, according to its usages, at a meeting
held for that purpose, two of its members trustees, wardens, vestrymen or other officers

whose powers and duties are similar to those of trustees ; and at such meeting it may
adopt a corporate name. The secretary or chairman of the meeting should file for record

in the office of the recorder of deeds in the county where the church, society or congre-

gation is organized an affidavit substantially in the following form :

State of Illinois, )

County. ]

^^•

I, , do solemnly swear, that at a meeting of the members of the (here insert

the name of the church, society or congregation as known before incorporation") held at

(here insert place of meeting) in the county of and State of Illinois on the

day of A. D. 18—, for that purpose, the following persons to wit : (here

insert their names) were elected (or appointed) trustees, (or wardens, vestrymen or other

officers) according to the rules and usages of such church (congregation or society).

And said church (or society or congregation) adopted as its corporate name (here insert

the name). And at said meeting this affiant acted as (chairman or secretary).

(Name of affiant).

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of A.D. 18—

.

Upon filing this affidavit, as aforesaid, the church, society or congregation becomes
a body politic or corporate, by the name so adopted. The property of the old organiza-

tion vests in the new corporation. It may acquire by gift, devise or purchase real estate

not exceeding ten acres in quantity and erect suitable buildings thereon ; and for camp-
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meeting purposes it may acquire not exceeding forty acres and put such improvements
thereon as may be necessary for its comfort and convenience. It may publish and cir-

culate religious books, tracts, etc. Existing societies may become organized under this

act.

MISCELLANEOUS FORMS.

POEM OF AN OEDBR.
To C. S.

Pay to the order of E. F. on demand, one hundred dollars. A. B.

POEM OP RECEIPT.
$50Z Peoria, 111., Jan'y 1st, 1880.

Received from C. D. fifty dollars to apply on account. A. B.

POEM OP BILL OP SALE OE PURCHASE.

Know all men by these presents, that of the town of

-

in the County of and State of in consideration of the sum of

dollars, to paid by the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged,
do hereby grant and sell and convey unto the said and to heirs,

executors, administrators and assigns, the following goods and chattels, to wit

:

To have and to hold the said goods and chattels unto the said and
heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, to and their sole use, forever. And
the said , vendor, herein, for and heirs, executors, admin-
istrators and assigns, do hereby covenant to and with the said his heirs exe-

cutors, administrators and assigns, that said vendor lawfully possessed of the

said goods and chattels as of own property, that the same are free from all in-

cumbrances, and that will, and heirs, executors and administrators shall,

warrant and defend the same, against the lawful claims and demands of all persons.

Witness the hand and seal of the vendor this day of A. D. 18—

.

[seal.]
POEM OP AETICLBS OF A6EBEMBNT.

This agreement made this day of A. D. 18— between of the

County of in the State of and of the Connty of and State of

Witnesseth

:

That the said , for the consideration hereinafter mentioned, agrees to-

(here state what he agrees to do on his part),-; And in consideration,

whereof, the said agrees to (here insert his undertaking.)
In witness whereof said parties have hereto attached their hands.

[SIGNATTJEBS.]

POEM OP AGEEBMBNT POR SALE OP EBAL ESTATE.

Articles of agreement entered into this day of A. D. 18 —, between
- A. B. of the County of in the State of and C. D. of

the County of in the State of

-

A. B, agrees to sell to C. D. the following described premises, to wit :-

for the sum of dollars to be paid as hereinafter stated, and on the day of A. D.
18— at to execute to C. D. a good and sufficient deed of conveyance, in fee

simple, free from all incumbrances, with full covenants of warranty for the above de-
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scribed premises, and upon the execution of said d«ed to put him into the quiet and
peaceable possession of said premises.

And C. D. agrees that on the execution of said deed of conveyance and on said

day of A. D. 18— he will (here insert in what way C. D. agrees to pay the con-
sideration, whether cash in hand, note secured by mortgage or how).

And said parties bind themselves each to the other, in the sum of dollars,

which they hereby fix and liquidate as the amount of damages to be paid by the party
failing to keep this contract, for his non-performance, to the other party.

The stipulations herein contained shall extend to and be binding upon the heirs,

executors, administrators, and assigns of the parties hereto.

A. B.
C. D.

FOKM OF BOND

Know all men by these presents, that of the County of and
State of is held and firmly bound unto of the County of

and State of in the penal sum of dollars, to be paid unto the said-

• his heirs, executors, administrators or assigns to which payment well and truly to be
made, I bind myself, my heirs, executors, administrators and every one of them firmly by
these presents.

Sealed with my seal and dated this day of A. D. 18—
The condition of the above obligation is such, that, whereas the above bounden
has (here insert what the principal in the bond is to do.)
Now if the said shall well and truly keep, observe and perform his

covenants and agreements herein contained on his part to be kept and performed, then
this obligation to be void, otherwise to remain in full force and effect.

[seal.]

poem of kblbasb.

Know all men by these presents, that , of the County of , and
State of , for and in consideration of one dollar, and for other good and valuable
considerations, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, does hereby 'grant, remise,

release and quit-claim unto , of the County of , and State of ,

all the right, title, interest, claim and demand whatsoever may have acquired, in,

through or by a certain deed, bearing date the day of , A. D., 18—, and
recorded in the recorder's office of County, in book

,
page of rec-

ords, to the premises therein described, as follows, to-wit:

together with all the appurtenances and privileges thereunto belonging or appertaining.

Witness hand .and seal this day of , A. D., 18—

.

(Signature) [seal.]

GENERAL FORM OF WILL.

I, A. B. , of , in the County of , and State of , do make
and declare this to be my last will and testament ; and I hereby revoke all former wills

made by me.
First. I direct that my funeral expenses and all my just debts be fully paid.

Second. I give, devise and bequeath unto my beloved wife, , in addi-

tion to all dower interests which she may have in real estate, at any time, owned by me,
one thousand dollars in money, to be paid her within one year after my decease.

Third. I give, devise and bequeath unto my beloved son, , the following

described real estate, to-wit;
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Fourth. I give, devise and bequeath unto my beloved daughters, share and share
alike, my home farm, described as follows, to-wit

:

Fifth. All the residue of my property of every kind and description, I give and
devise unto my said children, to be divided in equal parts between them.

Sixth. I hereby constitute and appoint my said wife, , and my said son,

, executors of this will.

In witness whereof I, A. B., have hereunto set my hand and seal this day of

, A. D,, 18—, A. B. [seal.]

Signed, sealed, published and declared by the said A. B. as and for his last will and
testament in the presence of us, who, in his presence, and in the presence of each other,

and at his request, have subscribed our names as witnesses thereto.

J. G. ) State here residence

R. S. j of each witness.

FORM OP CODICIL.

Whereas, I, A. B., of the County of , and State of , did make my
last will in writing, bearing date the day of , 18—, and did thereby provide
(here insert the provision proposed to be changed).

Now, instead of said provision, I give, devise and bequeath to, etc.

And I declare this to be a codicil to my said last will and testament.
In witness whereof I, A. B., have hereunto set my hand and seal this day of

, A. D., 18—. A. B. [seal.]

Signed, sealed, published and declared by the said A. B., as and for a codicil to his

last will and testament in the presence of us, who, in his presence, and in the presence

of each other, and at his request, have subscribed our names as witnesses thereto.

M. P. ) Here state residence

W. H. i of each witness.



PART III.

History of Peoria County.

PROLOGUE.

Less than three-quarters' of a century ago, the territory included in Peoria county
was a wilderness, to the interior of which no white man had ever penetrated. From a

savage wild, marked only by the Indian villages and traces of the bloody conflicts of their

tribes, the histories of which were recorded on rude, unspeaking tablets of stone or in

dumb mounds of earth, the wilderness has become a center of civilization—the home
and school of soldiers, statesmen, scientists, learned judges, eloquent ministers, dis-

tinguished orators—men known and honored, not only at home, but among the titled

dignitaries of the old world. Schools, colleges, churches and busy manufactories, highly

cultivated and princely farms and farm houses, mark the- camping places and battle

grounds of the wild red men who once held dominion over these prairie plains, forest-

covered hills and picturesque valleys. Cities, towns and villages occupy the places once
dotted over with Indian wigwams. Great iron bridges, triumphs of engineering skill,

span the rivers where once bark canoes served as ferries for the wild men, their women
and children. The stillness of morning hours, once awakened by the guttural tones of

savage hordes, is now broken by the music of steam-driven printing presses, from
which a daily epitome of the world's history is issued with the rising of every sun.

Railroad and telegraph lines, adjuncts and agencies of the highest type of civilization

and intelligence, mark the courses of the trails the Indians made from village to village,

from forest to stream, or "over the hills and far away."
Of the land-marks of the " long ago," but few are left as the children of the forest

and prairie wilds left them, when white men despoiled them of their possessions, and
drove them to other homes and hunting grounds.

There are a few person still living in Peoria county who witnessed the sight of a

remnant of a race of men departing forever from their early homes, and some of them,
as well as some of the younger generation, will, no doubt, be disposed to sneer at the pen
which finds a source of melancholy in the contemptation of such an event. But great

minds have suggested, and worthy hands have written lines of living power upon this

theme ; nor can the harsh character of fact denude the subject of a glamor which poetry
and romance have cast around the dusky victim and his fate. There is a grandeur in the

record of the race which the stern force of truth is powerless to dispel.

As a State Illinois dates from the 3d day of December, 1818—sixty-one years ago in

December of 1879. The permanent settlement of the territory included in Peoria county
commenced in the Spring of 1819—a little more than sixty years ago, at the time of this

writing (Sept. 1879), so that the admission of Illinois as a State and the settlement of

Peoria county by Americans, date from almost the same time.

These sixty years have been full of change and of history. The early history of the

Territory and of the State has been as elaborately followed as the compass of a volume
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of this character will permit, and we oome now to the local history of the county.

Fortunately for the purposes of this undertaking, some of the first settlers are still liv-

ing, to guide our thoughts from the very first to the present. Besides venerable and
worthy JosiAH FTTLTOur, there are still others of the pioneers and early settlers who are

within accessible range of the writer, so that he hopes this part of his offering will be
accurate and complete in every detail.

If a reliable history of the county is ever written, it must be written while those

who are a part of that history are still living. One by one they are passing away, and it

will not be long until there will be none left to assist in gathering up the fragments of

history that lie scattered along the course of six decades. " If we had realized, in those

early days," remarked one of the these pioneers to the writer, " that we were making
history, a detailed record of events would have been transcripted from week to week.
But what incentive had we for such a task ? There were no startling incidents in our

daily lives. Many of us came here supposing this would only be a temporary abiding-

place. It was a struggle for existence. For one of us to have predicted the develop-

ment of the country to its present condition within the lifetime of any of the settlers

from 1820 to 1830, or even later, would have been ample ground for writing him down
as either a silly dreamer or a positive lunatic. We began on so small a scale that the

idea of preserving our movements in the form of a record never entered our minds. Had
we the same experience to go through with again, we would profit by our mistakes and
negligences of the past,- and be able to produce reliable data for the historians who would
come after us."

The history of a county is usually little more than the compilation of imperfect

records, partial traditions and vague legends. Very few of the counties have preserved, with
proper care, the archives of the earliest days of their existence. As a rule, society was
crude, and men were unsuited by inexperience to places of official responsibility. No one
thought the careless transcripts of primary meetings would one day form the staple of

history. The duty of scribe was irksome to most of the pioneers, when necessity com-
pelled some written evidence of organizing transactions ; and short and incomplete were
the minutes of almost every public assembly.

History is but a record of to-day, when time's leaf shall have been turned over for

to-morrow's writing. Each act in one's life may be a topic of importance in the pages

yet to be written. Nothing is too trivial or uninteresting in the routine of affairs of

those who mingle with public men, to be unworthy of a place in the diary of the local

recorder of events. Some minor matter may serve to corroborate and affirm the time and
method of a far greater occurrence.

Bi-ief, indeed, were the days between the era of savagery and the era of civilization.

But, short as it may seem, the intervening period of time was sufficient for the sowing of

seeds which ripened into the fulness of a plentiful harvest. The hand of intelligent man
was laid upon this region but yesterday as it were ; to-day, one beholds the finest and
best tilled farms, the richest orchards, the most substantial buildings, and the newest im-
plements of husbandry the ingenuity of man has devised.

Where once the fierce blasts of Winter howled with increasing velocity over unob-
stjucted plains, thick groves of timber now stands as barriers between man and the

elements, in silent protest against their forces. Modern inventive genius has found a

way to meet the requirements for fences. The mines of coal that underlie nearly every
foot of the county afford an inexhaustible supply of fuel, so that the timber groves are

prized more for the sake of their protective qualities than for the intrinsic worth of their

products. Where once the single camp fire of the lonely hunter wreathed its slender
spire of smoke as he reposed, solitary and silent, near the haunts of the deer, now ascend
the choking fumes of many furnaces, as they glow and roar in the busy centers of manu-
facture.
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Wealth has succeeded poverty, and privation has given way to comfort. The children

of the pioneers have grown up surrounded by refining influence, and bear the stamp of

training in a broader school than it was the privilege or the fortune of their parents to

attend. Books and music have their appropriate places in almost every farm-house, and
social intercourse is no longer restricted to the range of ox-cart communication. The
finest horses, the choicest animals, the largest herds graze in rich pastures. It is

no longer necessary to " turn the cattle into the big lot," as one of the pioneers expressed

his early method as caring for his patient oxen. Fences mark the boundaries and sub-

division of farms. As year succeeded year, flocks and herds increased in number and
condition, and are still increasing ; and the markets of the East, nay, of Europe, find

profit in choosing from the cattle of a thousand pastures.

Where the settlers were compelled to traverse the country overland, ascend or de-

scend the river for hundreds of miles for flour and provisions, consuming days, and even
weeks, in tedious journeys, there are now busy mills, which, besides supplying the local

needs of communities, help to increase the commerce of the country by shipments to

other and distant localities. Nor is it longer necessary to rely upon the uncertain visits

of neighbors to distant post-offices and the fortunate possession of a quarter of a dollar, to

secure a letter from friends in the old home. The system of postal delivery reaches the

farther limits of the country, and letter postage is reduced from twenty-five cents to less

than one-eight of that 'sum, and the rapid transit of news matter is an established cer-

tainty, accepted without astonishment, or even a second thought. From surprise and
interest manifested when the mail did come, it has changed to wonder when it don't come
to the very minute of schedule time. From an occasional weekly newspaper, taken from
some cif the older States forty years ago, almost every household reads the daily and
weekly publications, issued from steam presses in their own midst. These publications,

too, take high rank among the thousands of other newspapers of the State and nation.

They are conducted by gentlemen and ladies of culture, and carry the news from the four

quarters of the earth to the remotest hamlet. Telegraphic wires bring to the very doors

and counting rooms of business houses tidings from the great commercial centers, and tell

producer and dealer when and how to dispose of the enormous products of factory and
farm. Telephones connect office with office and residence with residence, so that friends

living in remote quarters of cities can visit and converse with friends without leaving

their respective domiciles. Banking institutions of solid worth exist in almost every
town and village in the countj', and monetary matters are conducted on as large a scale

as in many an Eastern city founded more than a hundred and fifty years ago. Social

clubs and amusement societies relieve the routine of business after the approved methods
of cosmopolitans. Secret societies flourish and celebrate their mystic rites in richly-

appointed lodge rooms, and hold honored rank among the general bodies of their respec-

tive orders.

Social circles are as brilliant and cultured in character as any that grace the salons

of Eastern capitals. Wealth and refinement are evidenced in the bearing of the people.

The honest house-wife of the olden time may look with distrust upon the grander dis-

play of civil ceremonies, but is powerless to stay the tide as it sets toward the oblitera-

tion of simple habits. There may be much truth in the oft-repeated assurance that

"girls were worth more in the early days," if the estimate of excellence be based upon
physical prowess and domestic " faculty; " but it must be remembered that each genera-

tion plays its separate part in the drama of life. As the poet has written of individuals,

" * * * All the world's a stage,

And all the men and women merely players
;

They have their exits and their entrances,

And one man in his time plays many parts.''

So is society constituted upon a plan that places each succeeding generation or division
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in a role different from that which preceded it. The standard by which to measure
woman's might to-day is not that which tested her qualities as a pioneer, but rather that
which proves the use she has made of the advantages of the present. It would be as just to

condemn the young man of to-day because he is not drilled in woodcraft and able to read
the marks of Nature like the wild red man. The fathers who paved the way for the
introduction of modern ideas needed, perforce, to know the signs by which the Indian
chief governed the warriors of his band. But those symbols are obsolete now, and
would encumber the mind with useless information.

The man whose genius introduced the principles of mechanics into the working of
farms signed the last pages of the first volume of the history of the pioneers and inau-
gurated a new era, from which the present power of man must be calculated. The
farmer who tills a thousand acres now, is surely no weaker than he whose limits were
one hundred in the " good old days." Yet the muscular development has not increased
during the years that are covered by this history. It is mind, not matter, which governs,
and the tendency of this age, which is truly termed the mediaeval, is to produce maxi-
mum results from minimum forces. The laborious methods of planting and harvesting
by hand have given way to the more admirable plan of employing mechanical devices to

do the work.
Peoria county ranks her neighboring counties in just the degree that her intelligence

has progressed. The end is far away, for the improvements over the original settlement
are insignificant compared with the capabilities of her men and the possibilities of her
resources. Nature has lavished abundant wealth upon her, and it remains for man to

extract it from the earth. The farms are inexhaustible in productive returns, if properly
cultivated. The future promises much more marked changes in every branch of trade

and commerce, and there remains for her inhabitants a golden and enviable harvest
of results.

Pleasant for situation, rich in material wealth, peopled by intelligent men and
abounding in an atmosphere of mental health, the County of Peoria is. destined to occu-

py, in time to come as it has in the past, a leading position in the Great Northwest. The
responsibility of working out and maintaining this destiny is entrusted to good and true

men ; and the dawn of the twentieth century will behold in this fair region a source of

constant pride.

To the brave pioneers who planted the standard of civilization in the fairest part of

the country of the Peorias, Pottawatomies and Kickapoos, and the early and subsequent
settlers who followed them until the wilderness was reduced to fruitful fields, belongs
the honor of working out the great changes herein noted. To the men and women who
came and dwelt in sod houses and log cabins, who subsisted on hominy and wild game
till farms were started and made sufficiently productive to afford better fare ; who slept

on prairie bedsteads ; who clothed their feet in buckskin moccasins, and their bodies in

garments of the same, or fabrics entirely the result of their own handiwork, belongs the

honor of laying the foundations of and giving strength and vitality to that forward move-
ment that filled the country with wealth and prosperity. They began the work of con-

verting the wild lands into civilized abodes with no other assistance than stout hearts

and brawny arms. The patient ox, the sharp axe, the primitive hoe, the old-fashioned hand
sickle, grain cradle, and the scythe were their only dependence. Machine art in the cultiva-

tion of farms was but an embryo thought in the minds of inventors, and those who favored
the development of that thought into the perfection of machinery for planting, tilling

and harvesting crops of grain, and its innovation upon time-followed customs, were ta-

booed and regarded with pitiful astonishment.
But more than all else, the pioneers who made the first bold strokes for homes in the

beautiful country of the Peorias were almost without an exception, poor. Had there

been unlimited numbers of approved appliances for agriculture at their very doors, they
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could not have availed themselves of the opportunities from lack of means. And there-
in lies the pith and marrow of the credit due this advance guard. From nothing but
that which nature lavishly supplied, they builded strong and well. They
labored with the industrious energy of heroes, and deserved the reward of veterans.

The speculator and the capitalist who bought large tracts of land and allowed it to

remain as nature left it, never added a single dollar to the acquired wealth of the
country. Their possessions increase in value as the pioneers and early settlers improved
the lands upon which they settled to make homes. Not to the men who, by some turn
of fortune's wheel become possessed of " corner lots " and hold them for an advance in

prices, belongs the honor of building cities, but to the liberal, sometimes almost
reckless, enterprising men with more heart and energy than love of gain, is that honor
due.

There is still another class that play a conspicuous part in the growth, development
and progress of country, towns and cities, and that is the bold, ambitious men who start

pioneer newspapers. We say start, because but few of them continue their undertakings
for any great length of time. Their efforts are not appreciated, and their journals are al-

lowed to die for want of support. The sickliest issue of the sickliest newspaper ever
printed accomplishes more i to invite attention to the locality in which it is published,

than a thousand letters from friends to friends. There is not a newspaper printed in

Peoria county to-day, no matter how dyspeptic or seemingly reckless its editor, but is

doing more to foster the country's " boom," maintain its supremacy and encourage the

enterprises of big hearted men than all other agencies combined. And yet no class of

men receive a stingier acknowledgment. Uncounted thousands of dollars have been
sunk, ambitions crushed, constitutions shattered and lives wasted by individuals in news-
paper enterprises, but these personal sacrifices have always been the country's gain. The
pioneer journalists are civilization's most faithful sentinels, and their memory deserves to

be enthroned in the grateful hearts of an intelligent posterity.

CHAPTER I.

GEOLOGY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

Area— Coal Measures— Progression— Archeology— Origin of the Prairies — Economical Geology— Private

Collections.

[The author of this chapter, Mr. William Gifford, of Radnor township, has been a resident of Peoria county for

nearly half a century. Mr. Gifford began the study of geology in early life, and the cultivation of his innate scientific

taste developed the desire for research and investigation almost to a passion ; and though he is far advanced in years

his thirst for knowledge is unabated. While searching out the hidden mysteries and unlocking the secrets of the

hills and rocks in Peoria and other counties, Mr. G. has surrounded himself with the best works of the ablest authors

on his favorite science, and hence comes to the task fully prepared to speak authoritatively, and to instruct and edify.

" The article will be found concise, able and accurate, and well worth a careful perusal."— Ep.]

ABEA.

Peoria county contains an area of about six hundred and thirty square miles. As an

agricultural region it takes rank with the best counties in the State.

The cretaceous and tertiary periods are not represented in this or adjacent counties.

They were probably lost by denudation, together with some of the upper coal veins,

during the long and turbulent ice period.

The four divisions of the Quartenary are well defined. They rest directly on the

l8
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npper carboniferous, a coal measure. The alluvial deposits are confined chiefly to the
right bank of the Illinois river, forming a terrace of about twenty-four square miles, called

LaSalle prairie, one of the best corn-producing sections of Illinois.

COAL MBASXJEES.

The great geological feature of Peoria county consists in its coal measures, which are

co-extensive with its borders. Only two veins (four and six) are worked to any extent.

Coal from vein four is brought to the surface by horizontal tunnels at an expense of one
cent per bushel, and half a cent in localities where it can be stripped. At no place in

Illinois, or perhaps in the world, can coal be mined and brought to market so cheaply as

in this county. It is now delivered to consumers in the city of Peoria for one dollar and
fifty cents per ton. The thickness of this vein is from three feet ten to four feet eight

inches, and is generally covered with a ferruginous shale, and concretions of bi-sulphuret

of iron, richly stored with marine fossils, which are eagerly sought for by scientists. Its

horizon is thirty-two feet above low water of the Illinois river.

Coal vein six is also worked with little labor, by horizontal tunnels. It is sixty-two

feet above coal vein four, and is a good blacksmith coal, makes a hard vitreous coke, and
is exclusively used in Peoria and contiguous cities for making gas. It contains but little

pyrite, and in most localities has a good limestone covering. One distinctive mark of

this vein is a clay seam, or parting, from one to two inches thick, dividing the coal hori-

zontally into two equal sections. The fossils overlying this vein are well preserved and
species numerous ; among the most common are Nyalena angulata, Pleurotomania car-

bonana, Solenomia radiata, and Productus pratteninus.

Coal vein five has no reliable outcrop in this county, but its horizon is well defined

in the towns of Limestone, Jubilee, and Kickapoo by its characteristic fossils— Fusalina
ventriceosa, Hempunites orasa, Ohonetas messeloba, etc. The horizon of this vein has fur-

nished a number of fossil coal plants, which have been figured and described by Leo
Lesquereux, and are now being published by the State of Pennsylvania.

Coal veins seven, eight and nine are the only other veins represented in this county
above the Illinois river, and they are too thin for mining and not easily stripped cpal.

The horizon of coal vein nine in this county has given to paleontologists the most per-

fect coal-measure fossils found in this State, if not in the world. Coal vein three lies one
hundred and thirty-three feet below four, consequently about one hundred and twenty
feet below the Illinois river. It is about three feet thick, and is considered a good coal.

It is not worked in this county. One hundred and twelve feet below three, a coal vein was
reached in Voris' boring— opposite to Peoria— three feet thick, which is considered

coal vein one of the Illinois coal.fl'eld, and the base of the coal measure resting on the

conglomerate, twenty feet above the St. Louis limestone. Coal vein two has not been
explored in Peoria county, but crops out on Spoon river in the southwest part of

Fulton county.
PKOGEBSSION.

It is within the memory of many now living, this writer not excepted, when the

church, the hall, and even the district school house, was refused by those in authority to

the lecturer on geology. The able and efficient James Hall, A. M., has been indignantly

refused the use of a district school house in the Empire State— New York— to start a

geological class. They feared—they knew not what. During the last fifty years public

opinion has been more tolerant and the geologist now walks side by side with those who
love the creative God and study his works. Let us go back in the history of this planet,

not to its creation, for that is beyond mortal wisdom, but to the commencement of the
carboniferous period when the surface of the earth was hidden from the sun by the carbon
and noxious gases, extending a greater distance than our atmosphere ; a single breath of
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which would have been fatal to any air-breathing animals. " Darkness reigned supreme."
It was the commencement of a new area, a time when the Almighty scattered the seeds

of the coal plants with His bountiful hand. The ferns, lepidondrons, stigmanes, sigel-

aries, calmites and thousands of others, flowering plants and mosses to be harvested into

His crucible to form coal.

Every year the mingled mass of vegetation was deposited, on the bog or marsh, to

be by and by transformed into hard combustible matter, by the slow process of decom-
position. The internal heat of the earth kept the surface continually warm : vegetation

grew profusely night and day until enough had been harvested by the cycle of time to

form a vein of coal ; then by the oscillation of the earth's surface it was thrown down and
the ocean breaking through its barriers washed impetuously into the sunken basin cover-

ing up the coal plants with sand, mud and gravel, which in time, became rock as the coal

field sunk to a greater depth beneath the ocean. That rock serves as a protection to the

miner as he now digs the Qoal from beneath it.

The decomposition of fibrous plants in contact with atmospheric air absorbed car-

bonic acid ; the internal heat of the earth and the pressure of the ocean drove off the car-

bonic acid gas, but left a large percentage of fixed carbon, which, combining with other

chemical agencies, completed coal vein one.

Time passed on, and the surface was again exposed. The ocean receded, vegetation

for another vein of coal started, and in like manner was submerged. Again and again

was the same formula carried on, until twelve or more veins of coal had been formed and
safely covered up for the future use of man, constituting a vertical section of fifteen

hundred feet, called the coal measure, and the carboniferous period was closed and the

making of mineral coal on this planet was finished ; the materials used up, the process

abandoned.
As the carbon in the coal was chiefly taken from the atmosphere, it became purer

;

air-breathing animals were placed on the earth ; serpents and reptiles of enormous size

had undisputed sway over land and sea ; but they gave place to other forms of life at the

close of the Urasic or Reptilion period. The Cretaceous and Tertiary periods had their

allotted time, and then followed a long and turbulent ice period, finishing up the surface

for what the earth was created, the abode of man. Not alone in Peoria county nor in

North America, but in all parts of the earth, in her hidden and capacious chambers was
stored the product of coal gleaned from all vegetable matter for thousands of years, and
and thousands of years again passed before those hidden chambers were revealed to man.
Simultaneous with the invention of the steam engine came the discovery of those hidden
coal fields ; and who, but those so blinded by ignorance and unbelief, but can trace the

hand of Omnipotence in treasuring up fuel for the use of man when he most needed it ?

It was reserved for " the fool to say in his heart there is no God.

"

In naming the horizon of a coal vein the geologist can not depend entirely upon the

resemblance of its outcrop, or even its analysis to a similar vein in some other location.

It is not unfrequently the case that a chemical analysis from different parts of the same
vein gives a different result. As a reason it may be said that small annual coal plants

in one locality would contain an excess of volatile matter, and the woody fibre of large

plants and trunks of trees in another more fixed carbon. Neither must we rely implicitly

on the overlying fossils, for some, the spirifer comeratus, athyris subtility and others ac-

company each vein in the coal measure ; but the underlying fire clay and the shale, rock
or limestone covering furnish other proof of identification and the observant student is

not often misled. In all large bodies of water, lime, magnesia, soda and silica are held in

solution mostly, as carbonates and g\ilphates. The carbonates are more readily precipi-

tated in warm water, the sulphates in cold. Hence the diversity of sedimentary rocks on
the same horizon may in part, be attributed to that.
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AROHJEOLOGY.

Peoria county contains ample evidence of two distinct races of pre-historic men.
The first were the Mound Builders, the latter were cave dwellers, and both appear to

have passed away before the advent of the more recent American Indians. Of the former
history is silent, and of tradition there is none ; but they have left evidence that this

country was inhabited during or at the close of the Miocene period ; a time so far back
that no one presumes to compute it.

The evidence of the great antiquity of man is cumulative, and comes from all parts

of the inhabited world. The Mound Builders were sun worshipers, and from the peculiar

arrangement of their earth works, some believe they also invoked a Triune god. On the
left bank of the Illinois river, opposite to Peoria county, there are two groups of mounds.
They are on both sides of Black Patridge creek, where it empties into the Illinois

river. In both groups, standing on the highest point overlooking the river, are three

mounds, fifty-four feet from center to center, equilateral, subtending an angle of one
hundred and twenty degrees, with one angle pointing to the east. Back of them, and
further from the river, are fortifications and burial mounds. On the right bank of the
Illinois river, nine miles north, are two other groups similar in all respects, the measure-
ment of the latter filled the measurement of the former, with one angle pointing to the

rising sun. Back of these are also earth works and burial mounds. In front of the tri-

angular mounds, and between them and the Illinois river, there has evidently been a

fearful battle between two large bodies of contestants. On an area of not more than ten

acres over two bushels of stone arrows and spear points have been picked up, and abou,t

five hundred battle axes, many of the latter broken, showing a hand-to-hand encounter,

and that " man's inhumanity to man " has had early precedents.

In other parts of the country, at Kingston, Kickapoo and Jubilee, the tillers of the

soil will point to the field where the plow turns up with every furrow the spear, arrow
and battle ax.

A half mile below Chillicothe, and thirty rods from the Illinois river, a mound was
opened which proved to be a sacrificial mound. It was circular, sixty-six feet in diameter,

and six feet high. At the base, twenty inches below the surface of adjoining prairie and
resting on the terrace drift, was the altar tablet, formed of water-worn igneous boulders

of from four to six pounds, placed compactly side by side on a smooth and level surface.

On this tablet was what appeared to be indurated ashes. The amount was estimated at

eighty or one hundred tons. In this mass, which the pick would remove no more than
the same blow would of solid ice, was found, by the aid of a strong lens, minute crystal

of prussiate of potash, fragments of carbonized bones, charcoal, gravel and oxide of iron.

(For chemical analysis see appendix marked A.) In the center of the mound, three feet

below the surface, were two skeletons, one an adult, the other an infant, presumably,
mother and child, the latter resting on the lap of the former, a covering of clay two inches

thick, which had been indurated, covered the skeletons. A rude silver buckle on the up-
turned forehead, and a perforated steel shuttle on the left side of the head, were all the

relies obtained. From the materials which encompassed the bones outside of the clay

casket, it is supposed to be an intrusive burial ; they were coarse sand and gravel, and
fragments of fresh water shells, mostly unias. Three other mounds have been opened,
one at Peoria and two at Mossville, in this county, each with an infant skeleton lying in

the lap of a female. Was the mother sacrificed for her child, or the child for the
mother ?

Some idea of the antiquity of this last burial may be formed from the fact that the

whole surface of the mound and the adjoining prairie was covered to the depth of twenty
inches, with a fine black lacustrine deposit; and like undrifted snow, resting comfortable
on the terrace drift.
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Other evidences of the antiquity of man was found by Doctor Ziller, of Spring Bay.
Sixty-three feet below the surface was discovered, by a land slide, several stone imple-
ments. Thirty feet of the upper section was loose and thirty-three feet terrace drift.

At the base of the latter, and resting on the boulder drift, was found those singular

implements. They are made of chert, four inches long, two inches broad and seven-

tenths of an inch thick ; pointed at each end ; the sides slightly curved outward, with a

rough serrated edge. They must have been left there at the close of the Myocene period.

Were they transported by ice, the upsetting of a canoe, or by man ? Seven of them are

preserved.

Other evidence of the antiquity of the Mound Builders is found in the surface

markings of their pottery. The writer has a piece in his cabinet that represents a species

of Lepidodeudson simplex, a fern that grew in the upper carboniferous period. It is no
accidental resemblance, but line after line is traced with unerring accuracy.

Of the cave-dwellers but little is known. On section eight in Jubilee township,

near a perpetual spring, a large number of subterranean chambers have been explored —
most of them have fallen in. That these were the abode of men is proven by the imple-

ments found in and about them, consisting of pottery of various patterns, stone spear

points, arrows, and battle axes. When the writer surveyed them as many as twenty of

the underground caves were seen. Four miles southeast of this group of earth-houses,

on land owned by Mr. Joseph Stewart, a large number are to be seen. They are near a

never-freezing spring. The outer chambers in the last group have all fallen in, and they
now resemble a long disused coal shaft. On the right bank of the Illinois river, three

miles below Rome, a great number of these caves can be found at this time, some of

which are stoned up and arched over with water-worn drift boulders of unequal size..

Most of these have fallen in, disclosing to the casual observer nothing but a sudden de-

pression of the surface, and a portion of the stone wall. These are also near never-fail-

ing springs. On a small terrace-drift prairie four miles above Peoria, one of these caves

was opened, and in it was found a skeleton, in a recumbent position, as if he had lain

down from exhaustion or disease, to die. Beside the skeleton were the broken bones of

gome animal, from which the marrow had been scraped by some pointed instrument

;

some pieces were scraped from the inside to half their thickness. Arrow points, stone

beads, pipes, cooking utensils, made from clay, and pulverized shells were found in this

subterranean chamber, with ashes and charred wood. In summing up what little evi-

dence we have brought to light in this country, the cave-dwellers appear to have been an
indolent race, with little or no energy, content to live like brutes, and most likely noc-

turnal in their habits.

OEIGIN OP THE PRAIEIES.

Peoria county is largely prairie. The timber is confined to the bluffs, ravines and
river bottoms. Of the origin of prairies nearly as many theories have been advanced as

there are writers on the subject. One is, " that a dew drop assuming the form of a lens

sets on fire the grass of the prairie." But a dew drop does not assume the form of a lens.

The nearest approach is hemispherical, which would have no more burning property than

a bubble on the ocean. As well might it be said, that the sun shining through the rain

drops of a retreating thunder storm produces the lightning. Again, as the grass must
necessarily be wet when the dew drops are on it, there would be danger of that kind of

fire communicating to brooks, streams and rivers, and as a sequence set the ocean on fire,

sapping the foundation of dews. If the sun by any means could set the prairie on fire,

why are not our grain fields and meadows burned over every year ?

Prairies were made by the same creative God that made our coal fields, our stone

quarries and our forest grounds; and they were made for the use of man. The lessons

that geologists have failed to teach, the husbandman has been swift to learn. Although
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prairies are of aqueous origin, they are not perfectly level, but have a gentle rolling or
undulating surface, on which no surplus water can remain. That they are not adapted
to the growth of trees, every farmer who has planted an orchard knows ; a larger per
cent, dying the first year, and in a few years his orchard is decimated. But although
trees grow reluctantly on the prairies, they are and always will be the garden of the
world for all other vegetation the climate will permit to grow.

ECONOMICAL GEOLOGY.

Coal veins four and six, with an aggregate thickness of nine feet underlying the en-
tire area of the county, and are above the horizon of the Illinois river ; the banks of the
Kickapoo and its tributaries, and the bluffs of the Illinois, afford facilities for mining by
horizon tunnels.

Building stone of an inferior quality is found in great abundance on the right bank
of the Kickapoo. It is a soft ferruginous sandltone, which has been used in building

cellars, curbing wells and abutments for bridges ; but it is not reliable on account of the
unequal hardness in different parts of the same quarry. Of limestone there is an inex-

haustible amount ; and when burnt it makes a cement, which for strength and durabili-

ty can not be surpassed in the State. There is also in the town of Rosefield a fresh-

water limestone that makes an excellent building material, splitting out in slabs of an
equal thickness, as smooth as if sawed. Where exposed to frost and rain for twenty
years and upwards it has stood a better test than the Joliet or silurian limestone. On
the south-east of section three, in Logan township, there is a quarry of variegated lime-

stone, which, on being polished, presents a handsomer surface than any of the Vermont
marble.

PEIVATE COLLECTIONS.

Besides the collections of the Scientific Association noted elsewhere in this work,
there are several interesting private collections in Peoria county. The largest of these

is that of William Gifford, whose cabinet embraces the following, with other classified

fossils

:

Lower Silurian, 215 specimens ; Upper Silurian, 115 ; sub-carboniferous, 150 ; coal

measure, 290 ; Devonian, 135 ; Cretaceous, 300 ; Tertiary, 210 ; making an aggregate of

1,415 specimens. In addition to these he has an extensive cabinet of minerals and
marine and fresh water shells, collected from all parts of the world.

The cabinet of Dr. W. H. Chapman ranks next to his in magnitude. The Doctor is

a gentleman of superior education, and having a taste for scientific study, has spared

neither pains nor money to make his collection perfect.

Miss Emma Smith also has a fine private collection ; and is making a speciality of

the study of geology, in which she already ranks high among scientists. She has been
solicited by an Eastern publishing house to prepare a primary work on geology, with
the hope that such a work may soon find a place in the public schools.

Miss Mary E. Stringer, of Kickapoo township, has the nucleus of a choice collec-

tion ; and displays remarkable zeal in her pursuit of scientific knowledge.
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CHAPTER II.

EARLY HISTORY—FRENCH SETTLEMENT.

1673 : Marquette and Joliet — Their Voyage up the Illinois River— Loss of the Diary of their Tour of Discovery—
Joliet's Report to Frontinac. 1679 : LaSalle, Hennepin, and Tonti— Their Voyage to Illinois— From Green
Bay, Wisconsin, lo South Bend, Indiana— Down the Kankakee River to the Illinois— Indian Village at Utica— New Year'i Day, 1680— Arrival in Lake Peoria— Surprise of the Indians— Strategy of LaSalle— Distrust

of the Indians— Mutiny and Desertion— Fort Crevecoeur— Preaching Among the Indians— Hennepin's De-
parture to Explore the Upper Mississippi— LaSalle's Return to Canada— Indian Against Indian— Tonti's

Flight to Green Bay— Destruction of Fort Crevecceur— Return of LaSalle— The French Settlement— Old
Village of Peoria— Charge of Treason Against the French Inhabitants— Craig's Expedition Against the

French and Indians— Letter of Governor Edwards to Secretary of War Eustis—Destruction of the Village—
Population of the Village— Second Expedition to Peoria— Fort Clark— Colonel H-ubbard— Destruction of

Fort Clark.

From the time the world was created until the latter part of the seventeenth century,

the history of the land of the Peorias was a lost volume. There are neither legends nor
traditions to guide the mind and the pen of the historian in describing the condition of

the country or the habits and pursuits of the people previous to the date of which we
write. Vain would be the search for some tangible evidence of a higher type of human-
ity than the races or tribes known in history as North American Indians. True, the dis-

coveries in archaeology furnish data for conjecture, but scarcely more. Hence we must
accept the history of the country as beginning when Marquette and Joliet, the mission-

aries of French civilization, ascended the Illinois river, on their return to Canada from the
discovery of the Mississippi river in 1673.

The exact date of their passage through Lake Peoria has not been preserved, but
from the best accessible evidence it is fair to presume that it was during the last days of

the month of August, or the first days of the month of September, A. D., 1673. This
conclusion is reached from the following facts

:

It is known that these brave explorers descended the Mississippi river as far as the

Arkansas, which they reached about the middle of July. They had been on the river

four weeks, and concluded they had descended far enough to decide that |its outlet was
on the Atlantic side of the continent. Their provisions were nearly exhausted, and they
also feared if they visited the river below they might be killed by the savages, and the
benefit of their discovery lost.

Influenced by these considerations they determined to retrace their steps. Leaving
the Arkansas village, they forced their way up the Mississippi to the mouth of the Illinois

river, where they learned from the Indians that the latter stream afforded a shorter and
more direct route to the lakes than the route by which they had descended. Acting
upon this information they entered the Illinois river and found that, besides being much
more direct, its current offered less resistance to their light canoes than the current of the

Mississippi. Passing far up the river they stopped at an Indian town called Kas-kas-kia,

which name, afterwards transferred to a different locality, became noted as the first

capital of the Territory of Illinois. At Kaskaskia they secured a chief and some of his

men to conduct them to Lake Michigan and proceeded hither by way of the Illinois, Des-
plaines and Chicago rivers. Following the west shore of the lake they entered Green
Bay the latter part of September.

Marquette stopped at the mission at the head of the bay to recover his failing health,

while Joliet hastened on to Quebec to report their discoveries. At the foot of the rapids

above Montreal his canoe was capsized, and he lost the manuscript containing an account
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of their discoveries and two of his men. He said in a letter to Governor Frontenac :
" I

had escaped every peril from the Indians ; I had passed forty-two rapids, and was on the

point of disembarking, full of joy at the success of so long and diflScult an undertaking,

when my canoe capsized after all the danger seemed over. I lost my two men and box
of papers within sight of the first French settlement, which I had left almost two years

before. Nothing remains to me now but my life and the ardent desire to employ it on
any service you may please to direct."

The loss of the papers here mentioned leaves analogy to supply the date when these

bold adventurers passed up through Lake Peoria and probably landed at the place where

the American settlement of Peoria county was commenced one hundred and forty-six

years later. " Nowhere on this journey," Marquette wrote, " did we see such grounds,

meadows, woods, stags, buffaloes, deer, wildcats, bustards, ducks, parroquets, and even

beavers, as on the Illinois river.

Robert de LaSalle, Louis Hennepin, a Franciscan monk, and Henri Tonti, an Italian,

were the next white men to visit this region. This trip was commenced up Lake Erie,

on the 7th day of August, 1679. They passed over that lake, through the straits beyond

and into Lake Huron, where they encountered heavy storms. They remained some time

at Michillimackinac, where LaSalle founded a fort, and then passed on to Green Bay,

the " BaiS des Puans," of the French.*
They remained at Green Bay until the 3d day of December of that year, and then,

with thirty-three men— thirty working men and three monks— commenced ascending

the St. Joseph river. The margins of the stream were glassed with sheets of ice, and the

forests were gray and bare. In four days they reached the present site of South Bend,
Indiana, and began looking for the Indian trail leading across the portage to the Kanka-
kee river.f While hunting for this path, LaSalle became bewildered and did not find

his way back to camp until the next afternoon. The path was found, and, with a Ma-
hingan Indian for a guide, it was not long until the portage was crossed, and the party

stood on the bank of the Kankakee, which zig-zagged its way among tufts of tall grass

and clumps of elder. The current channel was so narrow that a man could easily jump
across it, but they launched their canoes and started down its sluggish waters— the wa-
ter was so shallow that the voyagers seemed sailing along on the surface of the ground,

while their evening shadows, unobstructed by banks, fell far beyond their canoes, and
trooped like huge phantoms along by their side. By and by it grew to be a considerable

stream from the drainage of miry barrens and reedy marshes skirting the banks. Then
came prairies and woodlands recently scorched by the fires of Indian hunters, and here

and there deeply scarred with the trails of buffaloes. They continued on down the river by
easy stages until they entered the Illinois. They were then in the grazing places and
home of the deer, but now wonderfully transformed into scenes of agricultural thrift. On
the right, they passed Buffalo Rock, a favorite resort with the Indians. Farther down
on the left, was seen a towering promontory, beautifully crested with trees, and destined

to be crowned with the bulwarks of an impregnable fortress, and now known as Starved
Rock, fuller mention of which is elsewhere made. A short distance below, standing on
the right bank, was the principal village of the Illinois Indians— Utica, LaSalle county
— but the inhabitants were absent, and their village was a voiceless solitude. The
voyageurs went on shore, and being pressed for food, they took a sufficient quantity of

* Tonti's father had been Governor of Gaeta, but had fled to France to escape the political convulsions of his

native country. He was an able financier, and the author of the system of life insurance, known as Tontine.

f The Indian name for this river was Theake, which means wolf^ and was so named because of a tribe of Indians
of that name who dwelt about its source, but who were more commonly called Mahingans. The French pronounced
Theake Ki-a-ki-ki, which was corrupted to Kankakee. It is a sluggish, tortuous stream, with very low banks, and
overflows and renders useless thousands of acres of land in LaPorte, Starke, Jasper, Lake, and Porter counties, in

Indiana.
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corn, which they found hidden away in pits, to supply their immediate needs, and then
re-embarked and passed on down the river.

"This day [January 1, 1680, wrote Hennepin in his journal] we went through a

lake formed by the river, about seven leagues long and one broad. The savages call that

place Pimiteoni ; that is, in their language, where there is an abundance of fat beasts.

When the river of the Illinois freezes, which is but seldom, it freezes only to this lake,

and never from there to the Mississippi, into which this river falls. We found ourselves

on a sudden in their camp, which took up two sides of the river. M. de LaSalle ordered

his men immediately to make their arms ready and brought his canoes on a line, placing

himself to the right, and M. Tonti to the left, so that we took almost the whole breadth of

the river. The Illinois, who had not discovered our fleet of eight canoes, were very
much surprised to see us coming so swiftly upon them, for the stream is very rapid at this

place. Some ran for their arms, but the most of them took to flight, with horrid cries

and bowlings.
" The current brought us, in the meantime, to their camp, and M. LaSalle went the

very first ashore, followed by his men, which increased the consternation of his savages,

whom we might have easily defeated, but as it was not our design, we made a halt to

give them time to recover themselves, and see that we were no enemies. M. LaSalle

might have prevented their consternation by showing his calumet, or pipe of peace, but
he was afraid the savages would impute it to our weakness."

The Indians were distrustful and LaSalle's men become troublesome and mutinous,
and it soon became evident to him that there were secret movements to foment ill-will

towards him and his enterprise in the minds of the better disposed of his followers.

Under these circumstances he determined to build a fort as a precautionary measure of

safety. The ground selected for the fort, which was called Creveooeur— meaning
Broken Heart— was on the site now occupied by the Fort Clark Elevator, in the city of

Peoria. The distrust of the Indians was finally overcome, and the new fortification

served more the purposes of a place of worship than as a place of protection against

hostile foes. Hennepin, as long as he remained, preached to the Indians twice on the
Sabbath, chanted vespers, and regretted that the absence of wine prevented the celebra-

tion of mass.

Such was the first French occupation of the territory embraced in the present limits

of Illinois. For many years after the erection of Fort Crevecoeur the country remained
the home of the Indians and pasture grounds for animals native to the soil, and herbs
and grasses.

On the last day of February, 1680, Hennepin and two companions, Accan and Du-
Gay, left Fort Crevecoeur to make a tour of the Upper Mississippi. Two days later,

March 2d, LaSalle set out on a return trip to Canada. Soon after his departure nearly all

the men deserted and left Tonti almost alone. The Iroquois commenced hostilities

against the Illinois, sacked their village (at Utica) and scattered terror before them
everywhere. For safety Tonti fled to Green Bay. Fort Crevecoeur was destroyed, and
when LaSalle returned in December he found little except its ruins.

It has been said by some that the French commenced a settlement here soon after

the erection and destruction of Fort Crevecoeur, but we can find no authority in sup-

port of the assertion. When Charlevoix visited the Illinois country forty years after

LaSalle, or about 1720, he found no French inhabitants here, or, if he did, he made no
mention of the fact. One hundred years later, Edward Coles, then Register of the U.
8. Landoffice at Edwardsville, who was deputized to take proof of French claims to

lands at Peoria, submitted a report to the Secretary of the Treasury, dated November
10th of that year, from which we extract the following :

" The old village of Peoria was situated on the northwest shore of Lake Peoria,

about one mile and a half above the lower extremity of the lake. This.village had been
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inhabited by the French previous to the recollection of any of the present generation.
About the year 1778 or 1779, the first house was built in what was then called LaVille
de Maillet, afterwards the new village of Peoria, and of late the place has been known
by the name of Fort Clark, situated about one mile and a half below the old village,

immediately at the lower point or outlet of Lake Peoria. The situation being preferred

on account of the water being better and its being thought more healthy. The inhabi-

tants gradually deserted the old village, and by the year, 1796 or 1797 had entirely aban-
doned it and removed to the new village.

" The inhabitants of Peoria consisted generally of Indian traders, hunters and voy-
ageurs, and had formed a link of connection between the French residing on the waters
of the great lakes and the Mississippi river. From that happy faculty of adapting them-
selves to their situation and associates for which the French are so remarkable, the in-

habitants of Peoria lived generally in harmony with their savage neighbors. It would
seem, however, that about the year 1781 they were induced to abandon the village from
apprehension of Indian hostilities ; but soon after the peace of 1783 they again returned,

and continued to reside there until the Autumn of 1812, when they were forcibly re-

moved from it, and the place destroyed by Capt. Craig, of the Illinois militia, on the

ground, as it is said, that he and his company of militia were fired on in the night, while

at anchor in their boats, before the village, by Indians, with whom the inhabitants were
suspected by Craig to be too intimate and friendly,

" The inhabitants of Peoria, it would appear from all I can learn, settled there with-

out any grant or permission from the authority of any government ; that the only title-

they had to their lands was derived from possession, and the only value attached to it

grew out of the improvements placed upon it. That each person took to himself such
portion of unoccupied land as he wished to occupy and cultivate, and made it his own
by incorporating his labor with it, but as soon as he abandoned it his title was understood
to cease, with his possession and improvements, and it reverted to its natural state, and
was liable again to be improved and possessed by any one who should think proper.

This, together with the itinerant character ot the inhabitants, will account for the num-
ber of persons who will frequently be found ; from the testimony contained in the re-

port, to have occupied the same lot, many of whom, it will be seen, present conflicting

claims.
" As is usual in French villages, the possession in Peoria consisted generally in vil-

lage lots, on which they erected their buildings and made their gardens, and of outlets or

fields, in which they cultivated grain, etc. The village lots contained, in general, about
one-half of an arpent of land ; the outlets or fields were of various sizes, depending on
the industry or means of the owner to cultivate more or less land.

" As neither the old nor new village of Peoria was ever formally laid out or had de-

fined limits assigned them, it is impossible to have of them an accurate map. * * * *

I have not been able to ascertain with precision on what particular quarter-sections of

the military survey these claims are situated."

This is the first written reference to the French settlement at Peoria we have been
able to find, and it is indefinite and unsatisfactory. There is no authority extant, so far

as we can find, to show that there were any French people here previous to 1760, or

until eighty years after LaSalle's party left.

Under a treaty made by the United States with Great Britain in 1783, and under the

Jay treaty made in 1794, the French people in Illinois became citizens of the government
of the United States. When the war broke out between Great Britain and the United
States, it was treason under the terms of these treaties for the French to take sides with
the British or British allies, the Indians. But notwithstanding this, the Peoria French
were charged with obtaining ammunition and other munitions of war from the British in

Canada, and with furnishing it to the Indians ; with murdering the American settlers in
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the southern part of the Illinois Territory, and Captain John Baptiste Maillet, the chief

military man at Peoria, who was afterward rewarded for his supposed fidelity to the gov-
ernment of the United States, was openly charged with stealing cattle from the settlers

in the Wood river country, in Madison county, and driving them north to feed the Indians.

Whether true or false, these stories had sufficient plausibility to demand investigation

from Governor Edwards, and he ordered Captain Craig, of the Illinois militia, " to ascend
the Illinois river— there were no roads between the southern part of the territory and
Peoria then— to ascertain the truth or falsity of these accusations, and to act accordingly

That Governor Edwards believed they were founded in fact, is evidenced by the follow-

ing letter to Mr. Eustis, then United States Secretary of War, under date of August 4,

1812, in which he said, speaking of the Indians

:

" Those near Peoria are constantly killing and eating the cattle of the people of that

village. The Indians on the Illinois are well supplied with English powder, and have been
selling some of it to the white people. A few days ago they sent some of their party with
five horses to the Sac village for lead." In a postscript to this leter he added: "No
troops of any kind have yet arrived in this territory, and I think you may count upon
hearing of a bloody stroke upon us very soon. I have been extremely reluctant to send
my family away, but unless I hear shortly of more assistance than a few rangers, I shall

bury my papers in the ground, send my • family off, and stand my ground as long as

possible."

Craig's command reached Peoria in small row-boats on the 5th of November, 1812,
remained four days, and left on the 9th. In his report to Governor Edwards he stated

that oh his arrival at Peoria he was told the Indians had all left, but that he believed
from the actions of the citizens the statements were false ; that the sentinels on his boats

could see them passing through town with candles, and hear their canoes crossing the
river all night during the time he remained. On the night of the 6th of November the
wind blew so hard they were forced to drop down the river about a quarter of a mile below
town, where they cast anchor, but the wind continued with such force that their cable

parted and the armed boat drifted ashore. Between the break of day and daylight on
the morning of the 7th, the boat was fired on, as Captain Craig thought, by ten or more
guns, not more than thirty yards distant from the boat. Arrangements were made imme-
diately to give the Indians battle, but it seems they fell back and escaped as soon as they
had discharged their pieces. Immediately after daylight Captain Craig landed his boats

opposite the center of the village and sent to know what had become of the citizens, to

which he received the reply from those interrogated that they had heard or seen nothing
unusual. He then sent to the place from which his boat had been fired upon, and found
plenty of tracks leading up to the village. This was sufficient to convince Captain Craig
that the Frenchmen there were not faithful to the Americans and that they were in league

with the Indians and siding with the British, and ordered them taken prisoners. He
found them all in one house, and their guns were empty and had the appearance of having
just been discharged. We quote in full the concluding part of Captain Craig's report

:

" I gave them time to collect their property, which was don« immediately. Howard's express came on board
my boat and told me that seven of the citizens went out (they said to hunt beef) the morning we were fired upon. They
started about the break of day, and returned about daylight. He said perhaps there were more, for they would
never let him know what they were going to do, and would talk together in his absence. We stayed two days after

they were taken prisoners. 1 made them furnish their own rations all the time I kept them. I burnt down about

half of the town of Peoria, and I would have burnt the whole and destroyed all the stock, but I still expected Hop-
kins' army to pass the place. I found four American muskets in their possession, and one keg of musket balls, and
one musket in the house under the floor, and some brass musket moulds. On our way down the river, they were all

unarmed. I gave them permission to camp on shore, while I anchored in the river. They always preferred the

Indian side for their camping ground."

This is all we find in this report about the old French village of Peoria. Captain

Craig does not give any estimate of the population nor the extent of improvements, and
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much less of the character of the inhabitants. Mr. C. Ballance, in his history of the
city of Peoria, published in 1870, says on this subject

:

" I apprehend that the men LaSalle and others brought here were of the lower class, and the most ignorant of
the French population. If not, they had woefully deteriorated between the time they were brought here and the
destruction of their village. I have not been able to ascertain the population of Peoria, when the village was broken
up by Captain Craig. Every man of them, I believe is dead, except Robert Forsyth, of St. Louis, who was then a

boy. I wrote to him for a list of them, as near as his recollection could furnish it, and I suppose he knows, for be-
sides being born among them, he spent fifteen years in hunting them up, and bringing and conducting suits,

in which he derived his title through them ; but he has never answered my letter. Nor do I find any record or his-

tory giving the number of the population at that time. From all information I possess, I can only find the names of

sixteen men who were there (here) at the time. As this statement will probably be disputed, I here insert their

names : Thomas Forsyth, Louis Pilette, Jaques Mette, Pierre Lavoisseur dit Chamberlain, Antoine LeClair, Michael
LeCroix, Francis Racine, sen., Francis Racine, jun., John Baptiste de Fond, Felix Fontaine, Louis Binet, Hypolite

Maillet, Francis Buche, Charles LaBelle, Antoine LePance, and Antoine Bourbonne. Of these, Michael LeCroix
escaped to Canada and accepted a commission from the enemy, and fought against us. Others claimed lots by reason

of their residence at this place ; but the proof on file at the land office, an abstract of which can be found in the

third volume' of American State Papers, page 422, shows that they had previously abandoned the place, some of

them more than twenty years before. But I will suppose I have overlooked some, which is possible, and call the

number twenty-five. Then, if these men had, on an average five in a family, which is the usual calculation, we have
in this village, that has made so much noise and caused so much trouble, a population of one hundred and twenty-

five souls, all told ; and, except these, I know of no French inhabitants on the Illinois river in those days, nor be-

tween the Mississippi and Wabash, excepting, always, a very ancient Frenchman, by the name of Bissow (pro-

nounced Besaw), who always lived at Wesley, then called the Trading House. I have seen many affidavits and
other papers signed by these men, but signed with a njark. I remember as exceptions to this rule that Thomas
Forsyth, Michael LeCroix and Antoine LaPance wrote their names. There were probably others that could write,

but I do not remember them. I recollect no case where a French woman could write her name. The depositions in

the Peoria French claims at Edwardsville, and in the many suits brought on them, will show if I am right. These
were fishermen and hunters, and not farmers. All the fields they pretended ever to have in cultivation amounted to

less than three hundred acres, even if none of the fields had been deserted before they left. When the village was
burnt I think they had less than two hundred acres in cultivation. They, however, sometimes acted as voyageurs for

the Indian traders, but of manufactures they had none. They had not a school-house or church, nor a dwelling-house

that deserved the name. I saw and examined the ground on which their houses had stood, before it was disturbed,

and I am able to state that there was not a stone nor brick wall in the village, for any purpose, nor was there a cel-

lar. Some of the houses had a small place excavated under the floor in front of the fire-place, for potatoes. Some
of the houses had posts in the ground, and some were framed with sills ; but instead of being boarded up as with

us, the space between the posts was filled with pieces of timber laid horizontally, with mud between them. The
chimneys were made of mud and sticks. That they had no gardens, in the common acceptation of the term, is mani-

fest from this : many of the cultivated plants, when once introduced in a place, will never cease to grow there. This

is true of all the fruits that grow in this climate, and it is true of many herbs, and of some culinary vegetables.

Every one knows thatlong after a farm is deserted, the apple trees and gooseberry and currant bushes will continue

to grow ; and tansey, flags, lilies, mustard and many other plants, were never known to voluntarily abandon the

place where they had once grown. Yet, when the present population commenced to settle here, about forty (fifty ?)

years ago, there was not to be found in this vestige of a tree, shrub or plant belonging to Europe. They would have

made wine of the sour grapes of the woods, if they had had sugar to assuage its acidity and cellars to preserve it, but

the sugar could not then be afforded, and the cellars they had not. And we know they had no French grapes, for

the reason above—no vines remain * * * *."

SECOND EXPEDITION TO PEOEIA— FORT CLARK.

A second expedition to the Lake Peoria country was planned and carried out in the

Summer and Fall of 1813. Large numbers of Indians, disaffected with the turn of affairs

between the British and American Governments, collected among the Pottawatomies

and Kickapoos, from whence they made frequent predatory raids on the frontiers of

Illinois and Missouri. These harrassipents were so annoying and threatening that a joint

expedition from Illinois and Missouri was projected, an army of 900 men were collected,

of which Gen. Howard— who had resigned the governorship of Missouri to accept a

Brigadier General's commission in the United States army— was placed in command

.

Most of the Illinois troops concentrated at Camp Russell, near Edwardsville, in Madison
county, from whence one company was ordered to the Mississippi, at a point called the

Piasa, opposite the Portage des Sioux, where it remained several weeks, during which time

the men suffered seriously from sickness. The Illinois troops were organized as the

second regiments, with Benjamin Stephenson, of Randolph county, as colonel ; W. B.

Whiteside and John Moredock, majors, and Joseph Phillips, Samuel Judy, Nathaniel
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Journey and Samuel Whiteside as captains. When the time for the forward movement
came, the Illinoisans marched up the Mississippi river by companies, to the Illinois, which
they crossed a few miles above its mouth. The Missouri division marched up the west
side of the Mississippi for a distance of one hundred miles, and crossed to Illinois, at Fort
Mason, where a junction was formed with the Illinois division. The Missourians crossed

the Mississippi by swimming their horses, on which they were mounted, naked. Their
clothes were carried across on a platform supported by two canoes. The Missouri division

was commanded by Colonel McNair, who was afterwards made Governor of the State.

After crossing, the whole force was re-organized, of which General Howard was commander-
in-chief.

After the re-organization was perfected, the march was continued up the Mississippi,

and at the present site of Quincy, the column passed the Indian camp and village, which
had recently been deserted, and supposed to have contained one thousand Sac warriors.

At " Two Rivers," the army turned east, and crossed the high prairies to the Illinois,

near the mouth of Spoon river, and not far from the present site of the city of Havana,
where the provision boats were met, and to which the sick were transferred. The march
was then continued up the Illinois to Peoria, where there was a small stockade in charge

of Captain Nicholas, of the U. S. army. Two days before the arrival of General Howard's
command, the Indians had attacked the stockade, bnt were defeated and driven away.

In the heart of the enemy's country, accustomed to the stealthy habits of the Indians,

and the troops being without thorough discipline, unprovoked night alarms were of fre-

quent occurrence. The troops were often paraded and ordered to arms ; and under the

general excitement incident to a constant dread of an attack, and not knowing from
which side the attack would come, every little noise added to the uneasiness of the situ-

ation ; guns were incautiously discharged, and a state of constant alarm existed. In one
of these panicky spells, one of the troopers, a young Kentuckian, was shot dead by a

terror-stricken sentinel. "All this time," says the authority from which we quote, " the

Indians were far away."
From Peoria, Howard's army went up the river as far as Gomo's village, at the pres-

ent site of Chillicothe, but the Indians had fled. After burning two of the deserted

villages, the command made a retrograde movement to Peoria Lake, and went into camp
at the outlet, and remained several weeks. As a precautionary measure of safety and
protection in case of a sudden Indian attack, a small stockade was built, which was named
Fort Clark, in honor and memory of General George Rogers Clark, the hero of Vincennes
and Kaskaskia, whose gallant exploits in connection with the early history of the Illinois

country are elsewhere detailed.

While Howard's army remained .here. Major Christy, of the Missouri division, was
sent up the river as far as the rapids to rout and chastise sucji of the enemy as might
have stopped in that region. Major Boone, with another detachment, was sent out to

scour the country in the direction of Spoon and Rock rivers, for a like purpose. Both
expeditions returned without finding any signs of Indians, except the signs of alarm and
retreat. In October the army left the port and took up its line of march for Camp Rus-
sell, and arrived there on the 22nd day of that month, 1813.

Fort Clark is thus described by Mr. C. Ballance. It was a simple stockade, con-

structed by planting two rows of logs firmly in the ground, near each other, and filling

the space between them with earth. This, of course, was not intended as a defense

against artillery, of which the Indians had none. This fort was about one hundred feet

square, with a ditch along each side. It did not stand with a side to the lake, but with
a corner towards it. The corner farthest from the lake was on the upper side of Water
street, near the intersection of the upper line of Water and Liberty streets. From there

the west line ran diagonally across the intersection of Water and Liberty streets, nearly

to the corner of the transportation warehouse, at the lower corner of Liberty and Water
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streets. At this corner was what I suppose military men would call a bastion ; that is

there was a projecting corner made in the same manner as the side walls, and so construct-

ed, as I imagine, as to accommodate a small cannon to command the ditches. And the

same had, no doubt, been at the opposite corner, but when I came to the country in No-
vember, 1831, there was no vestige of it remaining. In fact, at that time there was
but little to show that there had ever been a fortification there, except some burnt posts

along the west side, and a square of some ten or twelve feet at the south corner with a
ditch nearly filled up, on two sides of it, and on the west side of the square. The fort

had been burnt down to the embankment of this square and of the west side, after which
the embankments had been mostly worn away by the rains and other means lintil that

part of the logs that was under ground had become charred posts. Some of them, how-
ever, had become entirely decayed and were gone. Oh the other sides there was but
little to be seen of logs or embankment. I lived where the transportation warehouse is

for more than ten years, and when I leveled down the southerly angle, for my own con-

venience, one of those posts become high enough and was strong enough for a hitching

post, and I employed a blacksmith, Isaac Evans, to put hooks in it for that purpose.

That post was thus used until I removed from there in May, 1844. It was then taken
up by Mr. Drown, and sawed up into walking canes and sold on speculation at fiftj^cents

each.
"

Colonel G. J. Hubbard, an Indian trader in Illinois, was prominently identified with

the affairs of the commonwealth and of Chicago in after years, is authority for the state-

ment that Fort Clark was burned by the Indians in the latter part of the year 1818. In

a letter to Mr. Ballance, under date of " Chicago, Dec. 30th, 1867," he says

:

" I have to say that I was in Peoria in the last days of 1818, for the first time on my way to St. Louis passing
there, returning about the 20th November, and wintering about one mile above Hennepin. It was my first year as

Indian trader.
" As we rounded the point of the lake above Peoria, on our down trip we noticed that old Fort Clark was on

fire, just blazing up. Reaching it, we found about two hundred Indians congregated, enjoying a war dance, painted
hideously, with scalps on their spears and in their sashes, which they had taken from the heads of Americans, in the

war with Great Britain from 1812 to 1815. They were dancing, rehearsing their deeds of bravery, etc. These were
the only people then there, or in that vicinity.

"

This statement of Colonel Hubbard has been the subject of some controversy, as ap-

pears from a paragraph on page forty-four of Ballance's History of Peoria, in which he
writes

:

" Since writing the above I have talked with Josiah Fulton and William Blanchard who first came here in 18 19,

and they are both positive that they found it (the fort) on fire, and put it out. Perhaps they are both right . Per-

haps when it was first set on fire it was only partly consumed. Earth having been filled in between the pickets, they
would not burn fast, and the fire would be easily extinguished."

On page forty-five, Mr. Ballance says :
" In the Spring of 1819, seven men, then

living in a settlement called Shoal Creek, Clinton County, Illinois, to wit— Abner Eads,

Joseph Hersey, Seth Fulton and Josiah Fulton, S. Dougherty, J. Davis, and T. Russell,

made up a company to emigrate to Peoria, then called Fort Clark. Eads and Hersey
came through by land with two pack-horses. The others came up the Mississippi and
Illinois rivers in what was then known in the west as a keel boat."

Mr. Blanohard's name does not appear in this paragraph. And, according to Mr.
Ballance's own statement (see page forty-seven in history of Peoiua), that gentleman did

not come until about the 10th of June of that year. Eads and Hersey arrived " on the

10th day of April, 1819, and pitched their tents against some of the remaining timbers
of Fort Clark, which had been burnt by the Indians." The other five men arrived on
the 17th. If Mr. Fulton came in April and found the fort on fire, how could Mr.
Blanchard, who did not come until June, help him extinguish the burning timbers ?

But Mr. Fulton said to the writer on the 27th of September, 1879, that only the west
side of the fort was burned away when he came here in April, 1819. This is no doubt
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true, for it has always been stated that Eads and Hersey, who arrived on the 15th of

April, of that year, pitched their tents against one side of the fort. Hence Colonel
Hubbard is right in so far as one side of Fort Clark was burned in the last days of the

year 1818. The other parts of it were burned at a later period, and at a time when
Fulton and Blanchard were present and extinguished the flames, as Mr. Fulton claims

they did, but does not fix the date.

CHAPTER III.

AMERICAN OCCUPATION.

1813. 1819: The Shoal Creek Colony— Keel Boats— Horse-back Trip up the Illinois River— Arrival at Fort
Clark— First American Habitations— Captain Jude Warner and his Fishing Smack— Moving Across the

Trackless Prairies— Arrival of Mrs. Eads— Isolation— First Crops— A Hard Winter— Scarcity of Provisions— Hominy Blocks and Hominy— Primitive Mills— Growth of the Settlement— Difficulties in the Way of

Immigration— Personal— An Indian Murder— Capt. Jude Warner's Crevir— William Blouchard— First Mar-
riage License—A Dream and What Came of It— First Shoemaker— John Hamlin, Judge Lockwood, Judge
Latham, and the Moffatts— Primitive Beauty of the Situation— LaSalle Prairie or the " Upper Settlement"

—

Spread of Settlements— Peoria in 1832.

Between October, 1813, and the Spring of 1819, there is a blank in the history of

Fort Clark. The garrison that had occupied it had been withdrawn, and there is no evi-

dence to show the presence of white men anywhere in the vicinity, unless it were the U.
S. soldiers garrisoned at Fort Clark, and the surveyors of the military tract in 1816-17

;

hence we are left to conclude that the country was occupied only by wild beasts as a
grazing place, and as a hunting ground by the Indians. But, with a diversity of soil,

an abundance of good water, and a most desirable climate, it could not long remain in

unproductive idleness. First, the country had been traversed by a small army in 1812,
of which Captain Craig's company formed a part, and again in September and October,
1813, by the army of General Howard. These armies were made up of Kentuckians,
Missourians, and men from the southern part of Illinois, with probably some from Vir-

ginia and other States. When they were discharged from service and returned home,
they carried with them golden stories about the country's beauty and fertility of soil.

These stories were heralded wherever the discharged soldiers went, and wherever their

friends were found. Under such circumstances Illinois soon come to be regarded as a

region of. unsurpassed excellence— a very Valparaiso,* where nature had lavished her
fondest touches and stored her richest treasures.

In the early Spring of 1819 a small colony was made up from among the settlers on
Shoal creek, in Clinton county, to found a settlement on what was then called Mauves-
terre Prairie, near the present site of Naples. This colony was represented by Abnear
Eads, Seth Fulton and Josiah Fulton, Virginians by birth ; Joseph Hersey, a New York-
er ; S. Daugherty, J. Davis and T. Ru^seU, of Kentucky parentage and birth. They left

Shoal creek in the last days of March and traveled across the country (forty miles) to

St. Louis on foot. There they purchased a keel-boatf and other necessaries preparatory

Spanish for Vale of Paradise.

fKeel-boats were built something like a modern barge, only their hulls were lower. They were from 50 to 80
feet long, and from 10 to 15 feet beam, and from 2 to 2^ feet hold. On the deck was built the " cargo box," which
generally extended to within about ten feet of each end and set in from the gunwale about two feet on each side, leaving a
gangway or " walking-board," as it was called, on each side the whole length of the boat. Sometimes on small boats
these walking-boards projected over the hull. The rudder was a long sweep, something like a gigantic oar. The
keel-boat was propelled by sails, by rowing, poling, bushwacking, cordelling and warping. When the water was high
or the boat was running close in shore, the crew would grasp the bushes growing on the bank and pull the boat up
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to the trip up the Illinois. Eads and Hersey returned to Shoal creek for a pair of horses,

while the other fiTe proceeded up the river to their point of destination, where they ar-

rived in safety, and where they were soon joined by their two companions, Eads and
Hersey, with their two horses. After a careful examination of the country around there,

they were not satisfied, and Eads having heard from a French trader of the beauties of

the country around Fort Clark, they determined to push on to this place. They launched
their boat and ferried their horses across to the west side of the Illinois river, where Eads
and Hersey mounted them and struck out for Fort Clark. The country was swampy and
the waters high at that season of the year, and they either swam or forded all the streams
on the route, and arrived at Fort Clark on the 15th, and made a camping place against

one side of the remaining timbers. The other five men, the two Fultons, Daugherty,
Davis and Russell, were left to the management of the boat and the care of its cargo.
" On the 17th," says Mr. Fulton, " Eads hailed a deserter from Fort Dearborn (Chicago),
who was coming down the river in a canoe, and joining him as a passenger, started out
to see what had become of their friends and outfit. He met them in the vicinity of La
Marsh creek, slowly forcing their way against the current, and returned with them to the

camp at Fort Clark, on the afternoon of the same day, the 17th. They were pleased

with the lay of the land, and determined to remain here and found a settlement.
" We found," continues Mr. Fulton, " the walls of two small log cabins, which we

supposed to have been built by the soldiers of the garrison stationed here, and at once
set to work tq cover them over and finish them up for dwelling places. "While we were em-
ployed at this work, we made out to be comfortable in the shelter of our tents and boat.

The cabins stood in what is now Water Street, and almost directly in front of the Ger-
mania Hall Building. These cabins were the first American dwelling places at what is

now the city of Peoria.
" There were also rails enough, which the soldiers had made, to enclose fifteen acres

of ground. The ground was broken up and planted to corn and potatoes, from which a

pretty good crop was gathered in the Fall. The north line of that first field ran west
from the river, and not far from Fulton Street.

"About the first of June, Eads, Fulton and Daugherty returned to Shoal creek with
their two horses to move Eads' family, consisting of his wife and three children, to their

new home. After settling up his affairs in that neighborhood, Eads loaded his household
effects, wife and children on a two-horse wagon, and headed across the country in the

direction of the beginning of Peoria— the new settlement at Fort Clark. They reached
and crossed the Illinois river, at the present site of Wesley City, where there was a

trading post, and where Indians and Indian canoes were nearly always to be found.

Some of the canoes were secured, the household goods were unloaded from the wagon,
and with the family transferred to the canoes, and carried over to the west side of the

river. The wagon was taken to pieces and carried in the same manner. The horses and
cattle were made to swim across.

"After Eads and his family were landed on this side of the river, the balance of the

trip to the location of the new colony only required a few hours, and it was not long until

the presence of his wife relieved the monotony of bachelor life in the wilderness. Mrs.
Eads was the first'American woman to see the site of Peoria."

While Eads and his family was toiling over the prairie, where roads were unknown,
Captain Jude Warner arrived in the lake from St. Louis with a small fishing smack.
They made the trip from St. Louis in a keel-boat, and brought seines, salt, etc., and

river. This was called " bushwacking." Sometimes a long line or rope would be attached to the mast, and the crew,
walking on the shore with the other end, towed the craft up stream. This was " cordelling." At other times when
cordelling was impracticable, in crossing rapids, a long line would be carried ahead and made fast to a tree or rock,

or to a small anchor, and the crew in the boat, taking the line over their shoulders, would walk from bow to stern,

drop the rope, then walking back on the other side to the bow, take it up again in the rear of the others, and thus
keep the boat in motion.
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came to spend the season catching and salbing fish, with which the lake then abounded.
Only the choice kinds, such as bass, pickerel, pike, etc , were saved, and these found a
ready market at St. Louis and Louisville at sixteen dollars per barrel.

Warner's company, on arrival, consisted of Isaac De Boice, James Goff, William
Blanchard, David Barnes, Charles Sargent, and Theodore Sargent. The arrival of this

fishing party increased the number of men at Fort Clark to fourteen, " and we were just

about as happy a little circle," says Mr. Fulton, " as has ever lived in Peoria. We were
isolated, completely shut out from the rest of mankind, it is true. We heard but little

from the outside world, and the outside world heard but little from us. But little was
known at that time about the Fort Clark country. There were no roads, nor steamboats,
nor mail routes, nor communication of any kind, so that in point of fact, we were as much
a community by ourselves, as if our cabins had been built on an island in the middle of

the sea. Our post-office was St. Louis, and we never got our mail, those of us who got
any, only when we went there for supplies, and then our letters cost us twenty-five

cents, and we couldn't muster that much money every day.
" Mrs. Eads was duly installed as housekeeper, and the rest of the company, except

Hersey, who didn't remain long, boarded with her. It was a pretty hard Winter on us,

but" we managed to get through. BreadstufP gave out and we had to fall- back on
hominy-blocks and hominy. It was a coarse kind of food we got this way, but it was a

good deal better than none, and served to keep hunger away. Hominy blocks went out
of use long ago, and there are thousand of people in Peoria county that never saw one,

but they were a blessing to hundreds of the pioneers to Ohio, Indiana, Michigan, Illinois,

Iowa, and in fact to the first settlers of the entire country, and were the means of keep-
ing many of the pioneers and their little ones from starving to death.

"

Hominy blocks are so long out of use that a description of them is introduced here
as pertinent to the memory of pioneer times. They were made from a section of a suit-

ably sized tree, say from twenty inches to two feet in diameter. The tree was felled, and
the stump and squared/or "butted" with a cross-cut saw or the axe. The desired

length, three to four feet was then measured off, and the axe or cross-cut saw again
brought into requisition, and the section or block cut off. It was then hauled or rolled

if there happened to be no teams at hand, to the cabin of the settler where it was set on
one end, and the work of preparation continued. The mortar end was made by Ijpring

or burning out. Sometimes both fire and auger were used, the auger first, and then the

fire. The holes were bored slopingly from near the outer edge towards the center, the

auger being directed so as to attain the required depth, and have the several holes meet
at a common center. A fire was then started at the bottom of the auger holes, and care-

fully watched until the end had butned out. Then the "ragged edges" were dressed

away with such tools as happened to be most convenient, after which it was ready for

use. The pestle or crusher was made by fastening an iron wedge, with the large end
down, in a block of wood. Sometimes the wedge was fastened to a spring stick

attached to an upright post, like an old fashioned well-sweep, to which handles were
attached, when the operator commenced pounding, the elasticity of the spring stick

lightening the labor by raising the wedge after it had struck the corn. Sometimes one
hominy block would serve a whole neighborhood. With hominy, venison, wild turkey,

wild honey, and wild fruit, and plenty of fish, the pioneers in most of Illinois fared

sumptuously. At least with such fare there was not much danger of starving.

But it was not long after settlements were commenced until mills, of some kind,

superseded the hominy blocks. Some of the first mills were very primitive concerns.

They .were made of*two prairie boulders, fashioned like ordinary mill-stones. One of

them was fastened to a beam or block of wood, and served as a lower mill-stone. An
eye was drilled through the one intended for the upper stone, which was hung as all

mill-stones are hung. This kind of mill was operated with an upright stick, one end of

19
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which rested in a socket drilled towards one side of the upper stone, and the other end
in a socket or auger hole in a beam overhead. Such mills were usually operated by two
men. There were no hoppers, and while each of the two operators took hold of the up-
right stick with one hand giving it a circular motion, and turned the upper stone, they
fed the grain into the eye of the revolving stone with the other. Many hundreds of

bushels of corn and buckwheat were ground in this way in the first settlement of the

western country. There was no bolting apparatus, and the only refining process to which
the meal or flour was subjected after leaving these hand mills, was a wire sieve. Under
the manipulations of the pioneer mothers, corn meal ground at these mills made the best

kind of Johnnie-cakes— that is made in dough of the proper consistency, spread on a

board and baked before the fire in an old-fashioned open fireplace.

The Shoal Creek pioneers were soon followed by others, although the settlement of

the country was very slow as compared with that of many of the northern counties after

settlements commenced there, or of Iowa, Kansas, Nebraska, Minnesota and Wisconsin.

It must be remembered, however, that 1819 was a long while ago. Ohio, as a separate

organization, was only in its teens, and but very little of its territory, comparatively

speaking, occupied by settlements. Hundreds of thousands of acres of the lands were
vacant, and Illinois was " away out west," Indiana, with millions of acres of unoccupied
land and a climate equally as good as Illinois, was awaiting settlement. Then come the

other great facts— the great distance of Illinois from the centers of civilization, and the

difficulty and trouble of getting here. There were no railroads in those days to reduce
distance to hours, nor steamboats to defy wind and waves. The first steamboat, the

Clermont, the invention of Robert Fulton, had been launched on the Hudson river in

1807, only twelve years before this settlement was commenced. Ten years passed away
after the launching of the Clermont before steamboats were introduced on Western
waters. On the 2d day of August, 1817, not quite two years before the Shoal Creek
colony came to Fort Clark, the General Pike, the first steamboat on the Mississippi, as-

cended as far as St. Louis. Previous to that time, all foreign products consumed in

Illinois were first brought to New Orleans in ocean sail vessels, and from New Orleans

they were brought up the Mississippi in keel-boats, which, with their mode of manage-
ment, have already been described. When not brought that way, they were wagoned
across the Alleghany mountains from Philadelphia to Pittsburgh, or from Baltimore to

Wheeling, thence floated down the Ohio river in flat boats, landed at convenient points,

and wagoned to their final destination. A trip with keel-boats from St. Louis to New
Orleans and return generally consumed six months. As stated elsewhere, the most of

the settlers in the southern part of the State came by keel-boats, or family boats— i. e.

boats made expressly for the journey, in which several families had a co-interest.

Steam railroads were not introduced in the United States until 1829— ten years after

the date of the planting of the colony at Fort Clark, and it was more than a quarter of a

century after that before iron ways and steam locomotive whistles were known in Illinois.

In addition to the absence of steamboats and railroads, there were neither canals, wagon
roads or bridges, and it was a long tedious way to come down the Ohio and up the Mis-
sissippi and Illinois, or by the lakes and down a hundred miles overland to the navigable
waters of the Illinois and Mississippi. Besides all these obstacles, it was more than a

hundred miles from the centers of emigration to either the lakes or the Ohio. These
were all hindrances to travel and immigration, and under them it was not to be wondered
at that the country settled up slowly.

PEESONAL.

Of the first seven men who came to Fort Clark in 1819 : Josiah and Seth Fulton
went across the river in 1820, selected a claim on Farm creek, at the place now owned
by Thomas Cornlin, and commenced to make a farm. They sold that claim in 1824,
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after which Josiah pre-empted the quarter section now owned by William Hall, near
Peoria. He subsequently sold that, and in the Fall of 1832 bought what is known
as the " Pulsifer Eighty," and in 1834 settled at his present residence in Richwoods.

Seth Fulton lived at different places, part of the time at the lead mines at Galena,
and is now residing with a son in Henry county.

Abner Eads bought the quarter section which includes the old Peoria graveyard,
and began to improve it. He subsequently bought a timbered quarter section on the
south side of Kickapoo creek, now cut up in coal lots, and commenced to make improve-
ments there. About 1833 he moved to Galena and engaged in business until 1854, when
he went to the Pacific slope and commenced to make a farm in Lower California. After
he had the farm well under way, he started back for his family, which he had left at Ga-
lena. On the trip homeward he contracted was was called the Chagres fever, died and
was buried at St. Louis.

Daugherty was a wild, reckless, daring Kentuckian, and was never better pleased
than when he could engage in a fight. He did not remain long in the country. An in-

cident occurred while he remained with the little colony, at one of the cabins, the rela-

tion of which will serve to illustrate his character. Some Virginians had come to Fort
Clark to locate some land for which they held military warrants, and were guests at the
Eads cabin. One evening while they were here, three Indians came into the door yard
having in their possession a bottle of " fire water." Two of them belonged to one tribe,

and the other to a different band. They were friendly with the white colonists, but
soon began to quarrel among themselves. At last one of the two kindred red men
gathered up a club, and, in the presence of the "pale-faced " spectators, dealt the " lone

Indian " a blow on the head that felled him a corpse at their feet. The Virginians were
shocked and frightened, and declared that they would not remain a week in the country
for all the land in the military tract. They urged the Shoal Creekers to abandon their

cabins and flee to a land of civilization and safety, and wanted to know how they could
think of remaining in such a heathenish, outlandish country, where their lives were in

danger of being sacrificed to the fury of drunken Indians every hour. Daugherty
had drank enough with the Indians to arouse his recklessness, and he replied to the

Virginians something like this : " O, that's nothing but fun. We are used to that

kind of thing, and if you are so chicken-hearted you can't stand to see one Indian kill

another without getting scared, you'd better git. We have no use for such critters in

this part of the country. Them that don't know any thing, don't fear any thing. You
may go, but by G d we're going to stay." But he didn't stay long, not because he
was afraid to remain, for Fulton says he didn't " know any thing," and consequently
wasn't " afraid of any thing," but because whisky and fighting white men were too

scarce ; so he turned his back upon Fort Clark and drifted down the river and out of

sight.

Hersey, the "New York Dutchman," as he was called, went down to the southern
part of the State and, with another man, got into trouble in trying to " confiscate " a

herd of catte belonging to Governor Kinney. The old court records at Bellville show
that he was arrested for the offense, but by some means escaped punishment and got

away. He was followed to Terre Haute, Indiana, where he was again arrested. The
matter was finally compromised by the payment of damages or the value of the cattle,

after which Hersey was never heard from again. When he came here in April, 1819, he
had about seventeen hundred dollars in money, and subsequent inquiries, instituted by
his heirs in New York, showed that he was the owner of valuable property in that State.

Some years after Fulton settled out on his present farm, an agent for the heirs, a preacher,

came there to find, if possible, some clue to Hersey, living or dead. The agent had been
employed by the heirs, and stated to Fulton that he had traveled aU over the United

States iu search of him, and that at St. Louis he heard that a man of that name had
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come to Fort Clark with a company from Shoal Creek in 1819. It seemed that two
brothers of Hersey were conspiring to defraud his rightful heirs— whether children or

not Mr. Fulton did not state— and hence the search. The description of the Hersey
the agent was hunting tallied exactly with the Hersey who came here with Fulton. The
agent was referred to the court records mentioned above and departed on his way.
Whether Joseph Hersey was ever found or not, was never known to his old comrades
from Shoal Creek.

Davis went to Farm Creek in 1821, remained there^awhile, and then removed
to Sangamon county. From Sangamon county he removed to Texas, where he died.

Russell was not here long until he took to the river and drifted back to St. Louis,

where he was last heard from.

Four of the men who came with Captain Warner, Blanchard, Barnes and the two
Sargents, were discharged soldiers. They had served in the United States army, and had
warrants for one hundred and sixty acres of land each in the military district, which they
came to locate. Blanchard has always remained in the near neighborhood, a useful citi-

zen, and now lives in Woodford county, a few miles from Peoria. He married here, his

marriage license being the first issued from Peoria county.

Barnes located his warrant some where in the country west of Fort Clark, and died

at Bushnell some time in 1878. Charles Sargent located in what is now Hancock or War-
ren county, where he was still living at last accounts. Theodore Sargent located his

warrant on a tract of land with which he became dissatisfied, subsequently sold it and
bought another tract at the present site of Farmington, where he died.

Some time in August, 1820, Captain Warner dreamed a dream that he didn't like.

In the midst of a profound slumber it was revealed to him by an angel of the Lord that

on the first of the next October, all the settlers at Peoria Lake, except two young women,
were to be massacred by the Indians. The young women were to be taken captive and
subjected to a fate worse than death. The dream so preyed upon the mind of Captain
Warner that he closed up his fishing and trading operations and left the country. The
settlers were not massacred, nor were the young women taken captive. When Warner
abandoned the lake, his employes scattered away to other parts of the country and were
lost forever to Fort Clark.

The only addition to the Fort Clark community in 1819, was a shoemaker named
Douglas Thompson, who came late in the Fall.

In the Winter of 1819-20, a man named Andrews came with his family down the

river on a sled from Fort Dearborn. They stopped at Fort Clark a short time only, and
then went over to the east side of the river.

John Hamlin, Judge Lockwood and Judge Latham came up from Sangamon county
in the Spring of 1821. The Moffatt family, consisting of Joseph A. Moffatt, the father,

and five children, three sons— Alva, AquUla B., and Franklin— and two daughters—
Mary and Olive— came on the 2d day of June, 1822. Aquilla, now seventy-seven years

of age, and Alva, some years his senior, have lived in sight of the location of old Fort
Clark for fifty-seven years, and have seen the country developed from an untamed wild to

its present highly prosperous and thickly populated condition. Aquila says when they
landed from their boat, and he looked out over the prairie plain on which the busy city

of Peoria has grown into existence and to the summit of the bluffs beyond, he thought
it was the prettiest sight his eyes ever had or ever would behold. The prairie was cov-
ered with a dense, rank growth of tall grass that was plumed with myriads of flowers of

every conceivable hue. As the grass was swayed by the wind it fell and rose and rose

and fell like the billows of the ocean, while the flowers seemed to dance with delight at

the beauty of the landscape over which they spread their fragrance. Far away to the
right and to the left, as far as sight could reach, this garden of nature's handiwork was
hemmed in by a range of bluffs whose summits seemed almost to kiss the clouds and to
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have been planted there as an impenetrable barrier and protection against the cold, bleak
winds as they come whistling from the snow-capped mountain regions of the far-away
West. " It was a scene of natural beauty and grandeur," concluded the venerable and
honored Aquilla Moffatt, " which I can never forget ; and when the time comes that I

must close my eyes to all things earthly, the last sight upon which I would like for them
to rest would be that landscape as I saw it on the 2d day of June, 1822. Its gorgeous
beauty can only be excelled by the glories of the world beyond."

When the Moffatts came at the date mentioned, there were only. four cabins at Fort

Clark. Three of them were occupied as residences, and the fourth one was occupied as

a chair shop by John Hamlin. The elder Moffatt built the fourth residence-cabin not far

from the location of the C, B. & Q. railway depot.

The next settlement after that made at Fort Clark by the Shoal Creek company,
was commenced on LaSalle Prairie, in the neighborhood west from ChilHcothe and fifteen

miles north from Peoria. It was called the Upper " Settlement," and was commenced
About 1824. It was named in honor of LaSalle, the French explorer and founder of Fort

Crevecceur in 1680. In early times it was a noted settlement, and was known all over

the country.

The first settlements were generally confined to the near vicinity of the river, either

in the timber or on the prairies skirting its borders. None of the pioneers ventured very

far back into the country, and it was several years before improvements, to any great ex-

tent, were commenced out " over the bluffs," and as late as 1832, there were only twenty-

two buildings in the town of Peoria.

The spread of settlements will be followed in the history of the several townships,

which form a part of this volume.

CHAPTER lY.

ORGANIZATION OF PEORIA COUNTY.

St. Clair County— Madison County— Pike County— Fulton County— The First Election in Fulton County-
Going to the Election in Canoes— The Candidates for Sheriff— Eads and Ross— Eads Elected by one Ma-
jority— Ross Contests the Election— The Result— Peoria County Organized— Origin of the Name.

St. Clair is the oldest county organization in Illinois, and was established by procla-

mation of Governor Arthur St. Clair in 1790. Madison county was established by
proclamation of Governor Edwards, dated September 14, 1812, with the following

boundaries

:

" Beginning on the Mississippi, to run with the second township above Cahokia east, until it strikes the dividing

line between the Illinois and Indiana Territories ; thence with the said dividing line to the line of Upper Canada

;

thence with the said line to the Mississippi ; thence down the Mississippi to place of beginning."

These boundaries included not only Pteoria and three-fourths of the State besides,

but all of the present State of Wisconsin and that part of Minnesota which lies on the

east side of the Mississippi river. Edwardsville was the county seat, and some of the

early documents relating to realty in what is now Peoria county, were first entered of

record in the offices at that place.

Pike county, as elsewhere noted, was organized by an act of the second State Legis-

lature, approved January 31, 1821, with the following boundaries

:

" Beginning at the mouth of the Illinois river, and running thence up the Tniddle of said river to the forks of the
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same ; thence up the south fork of said river until it strikes the State line of Indiana ; thence north with said line to

the north boundary of this State ; thence west to the west boundary line of the State ; and thence south with said line

to the place of beginning."

After the passage of this act, until 1823, the few settlers about Fort Clark were sub-

ject to the jurisdiction of Pike county, and all papers of a legal character were serred

from the officers of that county, and land documents were entered of record at the county
seat of Pike.

Under an act of the Legislature approved 28th January, 1823, Fulton county was
organized from Pike county, with Lewistown as the county seat. Fulton county included
all the territory north of the State line. The first election for county officers was held

at Lewistown, and the few voters at Fort Clark and vicinity must either go there to vote,

or not vote at all. They had a candidate for sheriff, Abner Eads, and were especially

interested in that election. They mustered in full force, laid in a full supply of commis-
sary stores, and went down in a body by canoes, to attend the election, two canoes being
sufficient to accommodate them. Thej' went equipped as the custom of the times de-

manded. When the votes were counted, it was found that Eads had one majority over
Ossian Ross, the Fulton candidate. Ross contested the election on the ground that some
of those who voted for Eads were not residents of the collnty ; that they lived on the

east side of the river, and, consequently, were not entitled to vote in Fulton county ; and
on the further ground that Eads could not write, and was, therefore, incompetent to dis-

charge the duties of the office. To obviate this difficulty Eads took lessons in penman-
ship from Jesse Wood, who was a preacher and a teacher, and in about four weeks
advanced far enough to write his name. Judge Reynolds was presiding judge and ordered
depositions to be taken as evidence in the case, and the log cabin office of John Hamlin,
who came to Fort Clark about 1821, and who was appointed justice of the peace when
Fulton county was organized, was selected as the place where the depositions should be
taken. His associate, H. R. Coulter, sat with him while the depositions were being
taken. It is said there was about as much excitement over that contest as there was over
the Presidential election in 1876. However, Justices Hamlin and Coulter were not ham-
pered by Returning Boards, nor were they intimidated by the presence of " Visiting

Statesmen." The contest was not sustained, and Eads was declared legally elected

sheriff.

Peoria county was created under the provisions of an act approved January 13, 1825,
entitled "An act to form a new county out of the country in the vicinity of Fort Clark,"

as follows

:

Section i. Be it enacted by the people of the State of Illinois , represented in the General Assembly; That all that

tract of country within the following boundaries, to wit : Beginning where the line between towns eleven and twelve
north intersects the Illinois river ; thence west with said line, between ranges four and five east ; thence south with
said line to the line between towns seven and eight ; thence east to the line between ranges five and six ; thence
south to the middle of the main channel of the Illinois river ; thence up said middle of the main channel to the place

of beginning, shall constitute a county to be called Peoria.

Section two provided " That all that tract of country north of town twenty, and
west of the thir4 principal meridian, formerly part of Sangamon county, be, and is here-

by attached to said county of Peoria, for county purposes : Provided, however, The citi-

zens of the attached part of said county are .not to be taxed for the erection of public

buildings, or for the purchase of the quarter section hereinafter mentioned.
Section three ^^further enacted That the county seat of said county of Peoria should

be estabhshed on the northeast quarter of section nine, town eight north, range eight

east, and that the County Commissioners of said county are hereby authorized to purchase
said quarter section of land of the United States as provided for by the law of Con-
gress."

Section 4. Be it further enacted. That on the first day of March next, (1825,) an election shall be held at the

house of William Eads, at which time there shall be elected one sheriff, one coroner and three county commission-
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ers, for said county ;
which election shall, in all respects, be conducted agreeably to the provisions of the law now in

force regulating elections : Provided, That the qualified voters present may select from among their number three
competent electors to act as judges of said election, who shall appoint two qualified voters to act as clerks.

Section 5. Be it further enacted. Thai it shall be the duty of the clerk of Sangamon county to give public

notice in said Peoria county, and the attached part, at least ten days previous to the election to be held on the first

Monday in March next ; and in case there should be no clerk, then the sheriflf of said county shall give notice, as

aforesaid, of the time and place of holding the election.

Section six provided That tlie county of Peoria should receive " two hundred dol-

lars out of the public treasury, as full compensation for their proportion of non-resident
land tax, in the same way as the county of Pike might or could do under the act entitled
' An act amending an act entitled an act providing for the valuation of lands and other
property, and laying a tax thereon,' approved February 15, 1821."

Section seven provided " That the said county of Peoria and the attached part of said

county mentioned in section two should vote with the county of Sangamon for Represent-
ative and Senator to the General Assembly."

Section eight declared " That all that tract of country north of said Peoria county,

and of the Illinois and Kankakee rivers, be, and the same is hereby attached to said

county, for all county purposes."

In all that scope of country, now so densely populated and full of cities, towns, etc.,

there was then a population of only 1,236 souls.

OEIGIN OF THE NAME.

The name Peoria is derived from a tribe of Indians who once inhabited this part of

Illinois. Mr. Ballance, who settled here in November, 1831, and from whose history of

the city of Peoria we have frequently quoted, and who ought to be good authority by
reason of his early and long residence, as well as by reason of his profession— the law
— says :

" Travelers and historians have not agreed in the spelling of the name. I have
seen it spelt Piorias, Proraria and Proneroa. Hennepin wrote it Pimitouii ; but this,

I suppose, is another name given to it, as Peoria was, after a tribe of Indians, who were
destroyed or driven away by the Peorias. This word is also variously spelt. I have
seen it terminate with one i, with two t's and with three. There were Indians here when
I came, who called the place Cock-meek, but what they meant by it I never knew. The
French sometimes called it O'Pa, their mode of pronouncing Au Pied, the foot, meaning
the foot of the lake. However, in old times they called their town, which was about a
mile and a half above the outlet, Peoria. When they began to build at the outlet, they
called that place La viUe de Maillet, after John B. Maillet, who first built there, or the

new village of Peoria. But in process of time, when the old village had become
entirely abandoned, the name Peoria was transferred to the new village, and so it

came to be generally called, until the building of Fort Clark."

From the time of General Howard's campaign against the Indians in the Summer
and Fall of 1813, and the building of Fort Clark by his army, this region was known as

the " Fort Clark country," and the law creating the county was styled " An act to form

a new county out of the country in the vicinity of Fort Clark." The act named the

county Peoria, however, and established the county seat on a particular quarter section,

and the name of Fort Clark, as applied to this particular locality, gradually passed out

of use and into history. ^



288 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

CHAPTER Y.

PERFECTING THE ORGANIZATION— FIRST ELECTION.

Extent of Territory— Population— The First Election— Election Officers — The Old Poll Book— Mixed Orthog-
raphy— Personal— Pioneer Taverns and Tavern Rates.

Although the law under which Peoria county was organized, as printed in the

session laws of 1825, provided that the first election for county officers should be held on
the 1st day of March, it was not held, as shown by the poll-book of that election, until

the 7th day of March, 1825. At that time there was no county organization north of

Fort Clark. All the country west of the Mississippi river and north to the State

line, was attached for judicial purposes. In all that district of country, according

to a census taken that year by John L. Bogardus, there was a population of only

1,236. Estimating five persons to each voter, the usual basis, there were only

two hundred and forty-seven voters. There is a probability, however, that the

number of voters was something more than that, because of the fact that more
than the usual proportion of voters were without families ; or, if they were heads of

families, their families were not living in the State, as many husbands and fathers came to

Illinois in advance of their families and started homes. Some of them were here for more
than a year before their families joined them.

At that first election there was only one voting place or precinct, and that precinct

was at Fort Clark, or Peoria, as the place will hereafter be called.

Under the provisions of section four, of the act already quoted, the qualified electors

chose Jacob Wilson, Isaac Perkins, and William Smith, as judges ; and Aaron Hawley
and Peter DuMont, as clerks of the election. After the choice of these officials, the

polls were declared open and voting commenced. Jacob Wilson certified on the back of

the list of voters " that William Smith and Jacob Perkins were duly sworn according to

law ;" Isaac Perkins certified that " Jacob Wilson was duly sworn according to law,"

and William Smith certified that " Peter DuMont and Aaron Hawley," clerks of the

election, " were duly sworn according to law." •

Only that part of the old poll-book which bears the names of the voters, is in preser-

vation. It is musty and brown with age. The paper, a half -^ sheet of common record

size, is coarse, and was ruled by the clerks. The ink with which the names are written,

although still plain, has faded with time. There is no judge's certificate to show the

number of candidates, or the number of votes cast for each candidate, but from the pro-

ceedings of the first meeting of the Board of County Commissioners, it appears that

William Holland, Joseph Smith and Nathqig Dillon were elected commissioners, and
Samuel Fulton, sheriff.

Out of an aggregate population of 1,236 in Peoria county and the territory at-

tached, only sixty-six votes were cast— at least that is all of which any record exists.

The following is a transcript of the poll-book as it is preserved

:

"An election held at the house of William Eads, in the county of Peoria, in the State of Illinois, on the 7th day
of March, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and twenty-five.
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Voters' Names. No. of Voters.

Hiram M, Caty '

i

Reuben Brayton 2

George Harlin 3
Moiton Porter 4
Abner Eads 5
Jesse Walker 6
Robert Bamsford. 7
Henry Allen 8

Antoine Bulborne 9
Henry Colter 10

Jesse Wood 11

James Reed 12

Morris Lauzan 13
Joseph Ogee 14
George Love 15
Pierce Hawley 16
William Blanchard 17
John Griffin - - 18

John Ridgway ig

Stephen Carl 20
Isaac Wisehart 21
George Sharp 22
Absalom Dillon 23
*Aquila Moffatt - 24
*Seth Fulton 25
Joseph Smith 26
Nathan Dillon 27
Seth Wilson 28
Hugh Montgomery 29
David Mathews 30
Thomas Campbell 31
William Eads l 32
Elisha Fish ,. . 33

Voters' Names. No. of Voters.

Abner Cooper 34
William Clark 35
Stephen French 36
William E. Phillips 37
*Josiah Fulton 38
John Phillips -. - 39
Elijah Hyde 40
Norman Hyde 41
Stephen Sweet 42
William Holland 43
Elzy Bethird 44
Elias P. Avery 45
Eubelle LaBooncan 46
John Sharp -- 47
Walter Dillon 48
Austin Crocker 49
Nathan Chandler .. 50
Daniel Lile 51

Peter DuMont 52
Aaron Hawley 53
Joshua Walker .. 54
Jacob Wilson — 55
Isaac Perkins. - 56
Isaac Funk 57
George Fish 58
Samuel Fulton 59
John Dixon 60
John Barker 61
*Alva Moffatt 62
Touissant Marsecau 63
Lewis B. Bowe -- 64
Andevine Dullioriee 65
William Smith . 66

The orthography in these names, as here quoted, may be widely at fault. The
writing is not very plain, besides it is to be inferred that some of the voters were entirely

ignorant of letters, as those with French sounding names, and did not know how their

names should be written. If they could not spell their own names, the clerks of the

election were not to blame if they made some errors in tracing them with a pen.

Of these sixty-six voters, but very few are known to be alive. The names marked
with a * still survive, and have passed the age allotted to man. None of them are under
seventy-five years of age. Mr. Fulton is in his eightieth year ; Alva Moffatt about the

same ; Aquila Moffatt, seventy-seven, and Mr. Blanchard is in his eighty-third year.

Josiah Fulton and the two Moffatt brothers live near the city of Peoria. Fulton
and Aquila Moffatt accumulated property and are well situated in their old days. The
generous heart of Alva Moffatt has given to others, younger than himself by many years,

the bulk of his accumulations, so that his surroundings are not so generous. But no man
is more highly esteemed for honesty, integrity and nobleness of soul than Alva Moffatt,

whose home for fifty-seven years has been on the bluff that overlooks the valley wheron
has grown the second city in the State of Illinois.

"William Blanchard, as elsewhere stated, lives in Woodford county, within a few miles

of Peoria. ^
Many others of these first voters acclimulated property, but from many of them it

took wings and flew away, and they drifted away from Peoria, out of sight and out of

memory. Some became conspicuous in public affairs, and filled various ofSces of trust

and honor. Besides his conspicuity as Clerk of the County Commissioner's Court, and
in other capacities, John Dixon became noted as the founder of the city of Dixon, in

Lee county. He was. born at Rye, Westchester county, New York, October 9, 1784, and
died at Dixon, July 6, 1876, in the ninety-second year of his age.
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Joseph Ogee, another one of the voters, whose name will appear in other connec-
tions, was rather a noted character in his time. He was a regular frontiersman, more
Indian by association and habit than white man, and always kept a little in advance of
the tide of immigration. In the Spring of 1828, when the settlement began to get too
thick for him at Peoria, he pulled up stakes and established himself at the site of Dixon,
in Lee county. At that time and until John Dixon got control of the ferry property, it

was known as " Ogee's Ferry," which was licensed by the Commissioners of Jo Daviess
county on the 7th of December, 1829. Ogee was also licensed to keep a " tavern" at

that place, and besides fixing the ferry rates, the Commissioners established his tavern
prices, as follows

:

Each meal 37J^ cents.

Horse feed ,.25 "

Horse per night, at corn and hay 62^ "

Man per night 12^ "

Each half-pint of French brandy or wine 25
"

" " whisky or other domestic liquors 125^
"

" " Holland gin 25
"

" quart of porter, cider or ale 25
"

Ogee was a Frenchman and an Indian interpreter. His wife was a Pottawatomie
Indian woman, and hence his cabin and ferry were safe from Indian molestation. But all

was not happiness in his family. There was a skeleton in the closet, and some months
before Dixon bought the ferry in April, 1830, a separation was agreed upon between Ogee
and his wife. The Indian wife went her way, leaving the husband to act as landlord,

landlady and ferryman as best he might. Mrs. Ogee belonged to one of the wealthiest

Indian families of the country and was an heiress, owning nearly one-half of Paw Paw
Grove, an Indian reservation. After the separation between herself and Joe, she was
regarded as a captivating widow, and was not long in finding admirers. After angling

around a while, she selected on Job Alcott, another white man, as " best suited to her

mind," to whom she was married. When the Pottawatomies were removed to Kansas,

she and her husband accompanied them to their new home.
After April, 1830, the name of Ogee's Ferry was changed to Dixon's Ferry ; and

when a town was laid out there, it was called Dixon, and from a rope-ferry and lialf-

French and half-Indian tavern, the place came to be a city of no mean importance.

When Dixon purchased the ferry, Ogee pushed on after the Indians, and was gathered to

his fathers in the happy hunting>grounds long ago.
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CHAPTER VI.

PHYSICAL GEOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY.

The Cretaceous and Tertiary Periods— The Ice Period— The Quartenary Divisions— Coal Measures— Alluvial

Deposits— Archaeology— Origin of the Prairies — Building Stone— Iron Ore — Clays— Sand— Gravel—
Timber— Soil and Agriculture.

PHYSICAL GBOGKAPHY.

The physical geography of Peoria county is very simple. It is situated about seventy
five miles north of the center of the State and is bounded on the north by Stark and
Marshall counties ; on the east, by the Illinois river ; on the south by the Illinois river

and Fulton county, and on the west by Fulton and Knox counties. It embraces an area

of fourteen full townships and seven fractional townships bordering on the Illinois river,

or about six hundred and thirty square miles. The Illinois river extends about fifty miles

along its eastern and south-eastern borders. Kickapoo creek and its several affluents tra-

verse the central part of the county, and drain the northern and southern portions. Spoon
river intersects the north-western townships for a distance of ten or twelve miles.

The surface of the county was originally nearly equally divided into timber and
prairie. The prairies are usually small, the most extensive ones being those in the west-
ern and northern portions of the county, and extending over the highest lands between
the water courses. There is also a narrow strip of prairie extending along the river from
the north-east corner of the county to the outlet of the Kickapoo, having a width varying
from one to three miles. This belt of prairie covers a sandy terrace below the river

bluffs, and is elevated from thirty to fifty feet above low water level.

ECONOMICAL GEOLOGY.

[Worthen's Geological Survey of Illinois, Vol. V., pp. 249, 250, 251.]

BUILDING STONE.

Sandstone of good quality may be obtained from the bed overlaying coai No. 4, which
at some points in the Kickapoo, is fully twenty feet in thickness, and it outcrops at many
points under very favorable conditions for quarrying. The rock is a brown micaceous,

and partly ferruginous sandstone, in massive beds, some of which are two feet or more in

thickness. It presents a bold escarpment at many points where it outcrops, indicating a

capacity for withstanding well the ordinary influences of the atmosphere. The ferru-

ginous layers harden very much on exposure, and would form the best material for

bridge abutments, and for all other purposes where a rock was required to withstand

well the influences of frost and moisture.

On Aikens' and Griswold's land, on the south side of the Kickapoo, on section

twenty-four [in Limestone township—Ed.] this sandstone has been somewhat extensive-

ly quarried, and the bed presents a perpendicular face of solid sandstone fully twenty
feet in thickness. It is rather soft when freshly quarried and can be easily dressed, and
splits freely into blocks suitable for building and for foundation walls. These quarries

are located just above the level of the railroad grade, and very conveniently situated for

the transportation of the stone by railroad to the city of Peoria, or wherever else it might
be in demands
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At Lonsdale's quarries, on section fourteen, town eight north, range seven east, the
lower part of the limestone affords a durable building stone, though the layers are not
usually more than from four to six inches thick. This rock is in common use in this part

of the county for foundation walls, and there are several small buildings in this neigh-

borhood constructed of this material. That portion of the beds which affords a building

stone is from four to six feet in thickness.

At Chase's quarries, three miles north-east of Princeville, the limestone is nearly

twenty feet in thickness, and though for the most part thin-bedded, yet the greater por-

tion of it can be used for foundation walls, flagging, etc., and is the only building stone

available in that portion of the county. The thickest layers are at the bottom of the

bed here, as well as at Lonsdale's, but the middle and upper portion is more evenly bed-

ded at this point, and may be quarried in thin, even slabs of large size.

The limestone over coal No. 6 may answer for rough foundation walls where it can
be protected from the atmosphere, but is generally too argillaceous to make good build-

ing stone.

TROTS ORB.

Concretionary bands of iron ore occur in the shales overlaying coals No. 4 and 7,

but in sufficient quantity to be of any economical import^ance. In the south part of the

county, large concretions of iron and clay, the former mostly in the form of the bi-

sulphuret, are <juite abundant in the roof shales of No. 4 coal. Some of these concre-

tions are two feet or more in diameter.

CLAYS.

No beds of fire or potter's clays were found in this county in connection with the

coal seams that appeared to be sufficiently free from foreign matters to be of much value,

but excellent brick clays are abundant, the subsoil clays over a large portion of the up-
lands throughout the county being used for this purpose, and furnishing an abundant
supply of brick of good quality at a moderate cost. The best beds of fire and potters'

clay known at the present time in this State, are associated with coal No. 1, of our gen-

eral section of the Illinois Valley coals, * * * * and should a shaft be sunk to that

horizon in this county, good clays may probably be found here, and mined successfully in

connection with these lower coals'.

SAND.

The modified drift deposits, forming the terrace upon which the city of Peoria is

mainly built, will furnish an inexhaustible supply of sand of various qualities adapted to

the varied economical uses to which this material is applicable, and it will also afford an

excellent moulders' sand, in quantities sufficient for the supply of all the adjacent region.

GRAVEL.

An inexhaustible supply of clean gravel may be obtained from the gravel beds form-

ing the bluffs at Peoria, and along the north side of the Kickapoo for a distance of eight

or ten miles above the outlet of that stream. All the railroads in the State might obtain

here an ample supply of ballast for their road beds, without greatly diminishing the

amount of this material to be found in this county.

TIMBER.

There is an ample supply of timber in this county, the proportion of timber and
prairie land being originally about the same. The timbered land^ is mostly confined to

the ridges and valleys of the streams, though occasionally fine groves are met with on
the level land adjacent to the prairie. The growth on the upland is mostly black and
white oak, pignut and shell-bark hickory, elm, linden, wild cherry, honey locust, wild
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plum and crab apple ; while on the bottom lands and the slopes of the hills, we find
white and sugar maple, black and white walnut, pecan, cottonwood, sycamore, ash, red
birch, coffee-nut, hackberry, mockernut, hickory, post, Spanish and swamp white oak,
red bud, dogwood, persimmon, mulberry, serviceberry, buckthorn and three or four
varieties of willow and box alder.

SOIL ANB AGRICULTUKE.

As an agricultural region this county ranks among the best in this part of the State.

The western and northern portions of the county are mostly prairie, and generally level

or gently rolling. The soil is a dark chocolate-colored loam, rich in organic matters, and
producing abundant crops annually of corn, wheat, rye, oats and barley ; and, with judi-

cious cultivation, this kind of soil will retain its fertility for an indefinite period of years,

without the application of artificial stimulants. On the more broken lands adjacent to

the streams, the soil is of a lighter color, but when it is predicated upon the marly beds
of the loess, it is still productive, and scarcely inferior to the best prairie soils. Where
the soil overlies the yellow drift-clays, the timber is mostly white oak and hickory ; the

soil is thin, and would be greatly improved by an annual, liberal application of manure.
These lands, however, produce fine crops of wheat and oats, and are excellent for fruit

orchards and vineyards. The soil on the terrace and bottom lands is a sandy loam,
and generally very productive.

CHAPTER YII.

NATURAL HISTORY.

Geographical Position—The Flora— Fauna—Vertebrates— Reptiles—Fishes — The Varieties—Invertebrates, etc.

Peoria city is situated in about 40° 43' N. L., on the right bank of the Illinois river,

on the lower end of a sheet of water formed by that river, which is commonly called

Peoria lake. This lake was twenty-five years ago much wider at the lower end, but since

that time the little Farm creek has formed about a hundred acres of alluvium just oppo-

site the middle part of the city. The course of this creek is now turned off to a little

slough farther below, so that the further increase of that alluvium will probably be

stopped. Before the building of the Copperas creek dam the difference of low water and
high water, which annually inundates the left bank, was about twenty feet ; now the

difference is never so large.

The city is built on two terraces, the lower one, consisting of yellow sand, is inclined

toward the second terrace, the bluff ; that indicates, that it was an old sand bank and

the inclined space between it and the bluff, an old slough, which was shut up at the lower

end by an accumulation of sand resulting from a counteraction of the Kickapoo creek,

which coming from the northwest, enters the Illinois river in a right angle. On the up-

per terrace, somewhat over a hundred feet above the river, the drift overlies the coal

formation, of which the seams No. 4 and 6, each from three to five feet in thickness, are

worked in the vicinity. The large boulders of granite, diorite, porphyr, and other rocks,

formerly found in a greater number along the banks of the river, were left, when the

river, washing out the valley, swept away the lighter material of the drift.

All the land along the Illinois river, the Spoon river in the northwest corner of the

county, and the Kickapoo creek, as well as in the ravines, washed out by the numerous

torrents, was originally wooded ; in the northern and western part of the county pre-
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vailed large prairies ; a small prairie was on the above mentioned old sand bank and
slough, on which the greater part of Peoria city is built ; a small part is left yet at the

southwestern end of the city ; it was separated from the river bank by a narrow border
of woods. Wherever this prairie was intersected by little periodical water courses, for

instance, where Oak street crosses Adams street, these hollows were wooded ; now nearly

all is leveled. This little prairie was quite isolated, but farther up the river, between
Chillicothe and Mossville, the large prairies of the northern part of the county extended
to the river banks. It is important in a historical sketch of a district to record such
facts, as the commendable cultivation of our prairies and the reckless devastation of our
forests will, in not a far future, extinguish every trace of the original features of our
country.

PLOEA.

Vegetable and animal life is based upon the condition not alone of the soil, but of the

atmosphere also.

An abstract of meteorological observations, made during 24 years in the city of

Peoria 40 feet above low water, gave the following results : The mean barometer, re-

duced to the temperature of 32° above zero, was 29.621 for the year ; it was lowest in

May, 29.545, and highest in January, 29,699. The highest stand ever observed, in Janu-
ary, 1874, was 30.671, the lowest, in May, 1861. was 28.670. This shows a range of 2

inches ; the greatest range in 24 hours occurred in December, 1865, = 1.017.

The mean temperature of the year was 52 F. Conceded that the temperature on
the uplands is 2 degrees lower ; the mean temperature for Peoria county may be 50.

The range of the thermometer data comprised not less than 127 degrees F. The mini-

mum in January, 1873, was 22° below zero, the maximum in August, 1873, 105 above.

The greatest range in one month was observed in January, 1864, viz., 87 degrees from
the minimum—22,to the maximum -|- 65, the greatest range in 24 hours was observed from
28th January to the 29th January, 1876, the mercury falling from 61 to 8.5 = 52.5. The
four seasons had an average temperature of 27.6 for the Winter (Dec. Jan. Feb.); 51.4

for the Spring (March, April, May); 75.9 for the Summer (June, July, Aug.), and 54.3

for the Fall (Sept. Oct. Nov.). The mean temperature of the single month is, Dec. 28.7,

Jan. 24.9, Feb. 29.3, March 38.4, April 51,8, May 64.1, June 73.9, July 78.3, Aug. 75.6,

Sept. 67, Oct. 53.1, Nov. 39.2.

The last frost—that is, when in the middle of Peoria City the minimum temperature

was 32° or below, not white frost, which may occur several degrees above freezing point,

and kill tender plants—occurred in the 24 years between the 25th of March(1878)and 11th

of May (1857), the first frost in Fall between 1st of Oct. (1856) and 3rd of Nov. (1877),
so that the period absolutely free of frost was 163 days, and in average 180 days ; this

is good for the city of Peoria, not for the country, for which this period may be shortened

yet.

There are cloudless days in average 38, moderately cloudy 158, very cloudy 169, of

which 58 are without sunshine, and with rain or snow 99. The prevalent winds are west
and south, the most clouds bring the north-east winds, the clearest weather the west
winds, the thunder showers come mostly from south-west, but often turn to east on the

left bank of the river, so that Tazewell county has probably more rain than Peoria county.

The mean quantity of precipitation (rain and melted snow) is 34.7 inches in the year, 2.5

in Dec, 1.6 in Jan., 1.8 in Feb., 2.8 in March, 3 in April, 3.5 in May, 3.9 in June, 4.2 in

July, 3.4 in Aug., 3.4 in Sept., 2.5 in Oct., 2.3 in Nov. The greatest rainfall was ob-

served in the year 1858, in 128 rainy days 51 inches, and in the month of May of that

year alone 10.6 on 18 rainy days.

The relative humidity is in the morning 81, at noon, 58, in the evening, 75 p. c. of

saturation.
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The flora of Peoria, as far as examined within about 10 miles from the city, contains
812 species of indigenous yascular plants in 102 orders, and 379 genera, and 60 foreign

naturalized species, partly of 27 genera, that are not otherwise represented by indigenous
species, so that there are indigenous and naturalized species, 872 in 102 orders and 406
genera. The number of species of cellular plants is not yet known. There are observed
in the vicinity of Peoria city 75 mosses and 20 livermosses, but probably there may be
found 125 and 35. Lichens found by Mr. John Wolf from Canton in the county of Fultoii

about 160, and all may occur in Peoria county. Fungi and Algse are very numerous,
but not sufficiently examined.

The time when immigrated plants appeared and spread in a district should be care-

fully recorded by botanists as well as indigenous plants, when they become extinct. The
number of foreign plants is constantly increasing. They appear at first single in single

localities, and when not eradicated in the beginning, as has here been done with the

white daisy 27 years ago, they spread often, rapidly, and replace indigenous plants,

which become extinct.

Very common old settlers are : The hedge mustard, the black mustard, the shep-

herd's purse, the common purslane, the common mallow, the velvet leaf, the red clover,

the common mayweed, the burdock, the common plantain, the common mullein, the

hemp, the Jerusalem oak, the Mexican tea, the green amaranth, the white amaranth, the

ladies thumb, the black bindweed, the sheep sorel, the curled dock, the timothy, the
common finger-grass, the fox-tail, and two species of eragrostis, pomoides and pilosa.

Recent immigrants, but rapidly spreading, are the watercress, the soapwort, the

white melilot, the spiny-leafed sow thistle, the toad flax, the catnip, the ground ivy, the
stick seed, the common hound's tongue, the Ghenopodium urbicum.

Old settlers, but not so very common, are the common St. John's wort, the high
mallow, the bladder ketmia, the parsnip, the unicorn plant, the corn speedwell, the

corn mother wort, the common night shade, the thorny amaranth, the floating fox-tail, the

orchard grass, the chess, the smooth finger-grass, the whorled fox-tail.

Sparingly found during the last eight or ten years were the cowherb, the corncockle,

the common chick weed, the yellow melilot, the Canada thistle, the moth mullein, the

bitter dock, the wire grass..

Once found and no more were the false flax, the elecampane, the white daisy, the
corn Cromwell, the apple of Peru.

There are sometimes on formerly cultivated, now waste places, the asparagus, the

horseradish, the tansy, the spearmint, the savory and the like, which can not be con-
. sidered naturalized, not more than some woody plants, as the catalpa, the locust, the

sweet brier, the privet, and others.

Of indigenous plants, which yet 25 years ago in single speciniens were found, the

rattlebox (crotalaria sag thalis) and the cat gut, Tephrosia Virginiana, disappeared in

the localities they were found before.

The woods are variously composed in the' different localities. In the upland
forests the white oak and the shellbark hickory are prevalent, in the bottom woods, the

white elm, the soft maple, the cotton wood, and the black willow.

There were observed in all 31 large, 11 middle-sized, 19 small trees and 50 larger or

small shrubs, among which are 11 climbers. Large trees are, except the 7 above named,
the burr oak, the swamp white oak, the chestnut oak, the shingle oak, the scarlet oak,

the red oak, the black walnut, the butternut, the pecan, the western shell-bark hickory,

the mockernut, the pignut and the bitternut, the slippery elm, the hackberry, the white
ash and the blue ash, the black cherry, the honey locust, the coffee-bean tree, the box
elder, the sugar maple, the linden and the thuja, of which a very old tree nea;rly three

feet in diameter stood near Adams mill. It seems that it formerly was there in a greater

number and is now extinct in our vicinity as a wild growing tree.



296 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

Middle-sized trees are the Ohio buckeye, the persimmon, the green ash, the red ash,

the black ash, the sassafras, the mulberry, the American and largetoothed-aspen, the

blackjack oak and lea's oak, which is probably a hybrid and very scarce throughout the

United States. A single tree stands right at the western city limits on the bluff.

Small trees, sometimes only shrubs are the papaw, the hop tree, (or shrubby trefoil),

the buckthorn, the red bud, the Juneberry, the plum, the American crab apple, the scar-

let fruited thorn, the pear thorn, the cockspur thorn, the witch hazel, the sheepberry,

the blackhaw, the panicled cornel, the alternate leaved cornel, the iron wood, the horn-

beam, the long-leaved willow, and the red cedar, which grows not to a great size in our

vicinity.

Shrubs are the prickly ash, the smooth sumach, the fragrant sumach, the swamp-
buckthorn, the New Jersey tea, the burning bush, the blatter nut, the false indigo, the

chokecherry, the swamp rose, the dwarf wild rose, the early wild rose, the common
blackberry, the black raspberry, the round-leaved gooseberry, the black currant, the wild

hydrangea, the round-leaved cornel, the silky cornel, the red osier dogwood, the rough-

leaved dogwood, the arrow wood, the cranberry tree, the common elder, the button bush,

the black huckleberry (in Timber township), the low blueberry (in Limestone town-
ship), the bearberry (in Kickapoo township), the leather wood, the hazel and eight wil-

lows, the hoary, the dwarf gray, the prairie, the glaucous, the silky, the petioled, the

heart-leaved (the narrow variety) and the myrtle willow.

There are a number of beautiful woody climbers : the Virgins-bower, the moonseed,
three grape-vines, the Virginia creeper (or American ivy), the waxwork, the climbing

rose, the yellow honey-suckle, the trumpet creeper and the hisprid greenbrier. Of the

herbaceous plants, 129 species are annuals or biennials, 572 perennials ; many of them are

very showy and worthy of cultivation. In early Spring we find the hepatica and the

dwarf white trillium, then follows the rue anemone, the bird foot violet, the columbine

and the larkspur, the waterleaf, the Virginia cowslip, the Jacobs ladder, the American
cowslip, four species of phlox, the bellwort, the false spikenard, the spiderwort. In

Summer appear the milk weeds in twelve species, the lilies in two species, the orange red

and the Turk's cap, the large flowered false foxglove, the cardinal flower and the great

blue lobelia, the great St. John's wort, the wild bergamot, the false dracon head, the puc-

coon, and in Fall many asters and golden rods, of which the former are represented by
twenty-two, the latter by fifteen species, the helianthus and rudbeckias, and many other

showy compositse. The greatest beauty is the water chinqueping which covers in the

slough opposite Peoria a large tract, surrounded by an immense field of Indian rice, which
grows there to the height of ten or fifteen feet.

FATJNA.

As wild plants yield to cultivation, so wild men and beasts to civilization ; with the

Indian, the black bear, the buffalo, the elk, the beaver, the Carolina paroquet have gone
for ever. The following list contains the animals which were observed during the last

twenty-eight years, some only in single specimens, others in great abundance.

Vbrtebkatbs.— I. Mammals.

1. Cheieopteea—Atolapha Novehoraiensis, the red bat ; Atalapha cinereus, the hoary
bat ; Vespertilio subulatus, the little brown bat.

2. Rapacio— Lynx rufus, the wild cat ; Canis occidentalis, the gray wolf ; Vulpes
mV^miawMS, the gray fox ; Vulpes fulvus, the common fox, which is here not common;
Putorius Novehoracensis, the weasel ; Putorius vison, the mink ; I/utra canadensis, the
otter, now nearly extinct in this vicinity ; Mephitis mephitioa, the skunk ; Proeyon lotor,

the raccoon ; Scalops argentatus, .the prairie mole and two shrews, very small mouse-
like carniverous animals ; Blarina talpoides and Bl. esilipes.
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3. Makstipialia— IHdelphys virginiana, the opossum.
4. RoDENTiA— Soiurus pudovicianus the western fox squirrel ; Sciurus earoUnensis the

gray squirrel ; Pteromya volucella, the flying squirrel ; Spermophilus Franklinii, the gray
prairie squirrel ; Spermophilus trideumlineatus, the striped prairie squirrel ; Tamias
striatus, the chiT^-munk ovfenceraovLse I Aretomys monas, the wood-chuck; Fiber zibethicus,

the musk-rat ; G-eomys bursarius, the gopher ; Saculus Mudsonious, the jumping mouse

;

Sesperomya leuropus, the deer mouse ; Arvicola riparia, the meadow mouse ; Lepus
silvaticus, the gray rabbit. The two most common, the rat and the house mouse are

immigrants.
5. RuMiNANTiA— Cervus virginianus, the deer.

n. BIRDS.

1. Raptoees— Aquilo canadensis, the golden eagle, which is very scarce; Haliaetoa

lemocephalus, the bald eagle ; Pandion earoUnensis, the fish hawk ; Falio columbarius, the

pigeon hawk ; Falio sparverius, the sparrow hawk ; Aceipiter oooperi, coopers hawk ; Ac-
cipiter fuscus, the sharp-shinned hawk ; Buteo borealis, the red-tailed hawk ; Buteo linea-

tus, the red-shouldered hawk ; Nauclerus fureatus, the swallow-tailed hawk; Qireus hud-
sonious, the marsh hawk ; Oathartes aura, the turkey buzzard ; Bribo virginiana, the
great horned owl ; Scops asio, the mottled owl ; Otur Wilsonianus, the long-eared owl

;

Braihyotus Cassinii, the short-eared owl ; Syrnium nebulosum, the barred owl ; Kyetea
nivea, the snowy owl.

2. ScANSORES

—

Coreygus amerioanus, the yellow-billed cnckoo ; Goroygus erythroph-

thalmus, the black-billed cuckoo ; Hylatomus pileatus, the pileated woodpecker ; Pious
villosus, the hairy ; Pious puhesiens, the downy ; Sphyrapicus varius, the yellow-bellied

;

Centurus oarolinus, the red-bellied ; Melanerpes erythrocephalus, the red-headed, and
Ooloptes auratus, the goldep-winged woodpecker.

3. Insessobbs — Trochilus colubris, the humming bird ; Ghaetura pelasgia, the chim-
ney swallow ; Antrostomus vociferus, the whippoorwill ; Ghordeilus Popetue, the night

hawk ; Geryle Alcyon, the kingfisher ; Tyrannus earoUnensis, the king bird ; Myiarchus
mm'iMS, the great crested flycatcher ; Sayornis fuscus, the pewee ; Qantopus virens, the

wood pewee; Tardus mustelinus, the wooAthwish.; 7}urdusfuscescens,Wi\son^s thrush;

Turdus migratorius, the robin ; Sialia sialis, the blue bird ; Begulus calendula, the ruby-

crowned wren ; Begulus Satrapa, the golden-crowned wren ; Anthus ludovicianus, the tit

lark ; Mniotilta varia, the black and white creeper ; Protonotaria citrea, the prothonotory
warbler ; Creothlypis trichas, the Maryland yellow throat ; Oporornis formosus, the Ken-
tucky warbler; Ictria viridis, the yellow-breasted chat; Helmitherus vermivorus, the

worm-eating warbler ; RelmintJie phaga Pinus, the blue-winged yellow warbler ; Relmin-

(hophaga peregrina, the Tennessee warbler; Seiurus auroeapillus, the golden-crowned

thrush; Seiurus noveboracensis, the water thrush ; Bendroica virens, the black-throated

green warbler ; Bendroica coronata, the yellow-rumped warbler ; Bendroica BlachburnicB,

Blackburnian warbler ; Bendroica castanea, the bag-breasted warbler ; Bendroica pinus,

the pine-creeping warbler ; Bendroica pennsylvanica, the chestnut-sided warbler ; Ben-
droica coerulea, the blue warbler ; Bendroica striata, the black poll warbler ; Bendroica

(estiva, the yellow warbler ; Bendroica palmarum, the yellow red poll ; Myiodioctes mitra-

tus, the hooded warbler ; Setophaga rutieilla, the red start ; Pyranga rubra, the scarlet

tanager ; Pyranga cestiva, the summer red bird ; Hirundo horreorum, the barn swallow ;

Birundo bicolor, the white-bellied swallow ; Gotyle siparia, the bank swallow ; Cotyle

serripennis, the rough-winged swallow ; Progne purpurea, the purple martin ; Ampelis

garrulus, the wax-wing ; Ampelis cedrorvm, the cedar bird ; Gollyrio borealis, the butcher

pird ; Gollyrio exoubitoroides, the white-rumped shrike ; Vireo olivaceus, the red-eyed fly-

catcher ; Vireo nove boraeensis, the white-eyed flycatcher ; Vireo solitarius, the blue-

headed flycatcher ; Vireo flavifrons, the yellow-thvo&ted. flycatcher; Mirnus earoUnensis,
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the cat-bird ; Harporhynchus rufus, the brown thrush ; Troglodytes ^don, the house
wren ; Troglodytes hyemalis, the winter wren ; Oerthia Americana, the American creeper

;

Sitta carolinensis, the white-bellied nut hatch ; Sitta canadensis, the red-bellied nut
hatch ; Polioptila coerulea, the blue-gray flycatcher ; Lophophanus licolor, the tufted tit

mouse ; Parus atricapillus, the black cap tit mouse ; Eremophila cornuta, the sky-lark ;

SesperipTiona vespertina, the evening grosbeak, (only once seen, probably a straggler from
the Northwest); Carpodceus purpureiis, the ^mrple &nch. ; Chrysomitris tristis, tiie yellow
bird; Plectrophanes nivalis, the show bunting; Chondestes grammacA, the lark finch;

Suneo hyemalis, the snow bird ; Spizella montieola, the tree sparrow ; Spipella socialis, the

chipping sparrow ; Melospiza melodia, the song sparrow ; Passerella iliaca, the fox-

colored sparrow ; Euspiza americand, the black-throated bunting ; Q-uiraoa I/udovaiana,

the rose-breasted grosbeak ; Cyanospiza cyanea, the Indigo bird ; Oardinalis virginianus,

the cardinal ; Pipilo crythrophthalmus, the ground robin ; Melothrus pecoris, the cow bird

;

Agelaius phcenioeus, the red-winged black bird ; Sturnella magna, the meadow lark

;

Teterus spurius, the orchard oriole ; Teterus Baltimore, the Baltimore oriole ; Scolecopha-

{/Ms/errM^tweMS, the rusty black bird; Quisealus versicolor, the crow black bird; Oorvus

Americanus, the crow ; Cyanura cristata, the blue jay.

4. Rasoebs— Ectopistes migratoria, the passenger pigeon ; Zenaidura carolinensis,

the common dove ; Meleagris gallopavo, the wild turkey; Oupidonia cupido, the prairie

chicken ; Ortyx virginianus, the quail.

6. Geallatoebs— Grrus americanus, the whooping crane ; G-rus canadensis, the

sand-hill crane ; Merodias egretta, white heron ; Ardea herodias, the great blue heron
;

Ardetta exilis, the \ea&th\ttevn; Botaurus lentiginosus, the bittern; Butoridesvirescens,

the green heron ; Nyctardea gardeni, the night heron ; Tantalus loculator, the wood ibis

;

Ibis ordii, the glossy ibis (both stragglers from the South) ; Vharadrius virginicus, the

golden plover ; Aegialitis vociferus, the kill-deer ; Aegialitis semipalmatus, the king

plover ; Phalaropus wilsonii, Wilson's phalarope ; Philoheta minor, the woodcock

;

Q-allinago wilsonii, the English snipe ; Macrozhamphus griscus, the red-breasted snipe ;

Maorozhamphus scolopaceus, the gray snipe ; Tringa maculata, the jack-snipev; Tringa

wilsonii, the least sand-piper ; Ereunetes petrificatus, the semipalmated sand-piper ; Sym-
pJienia semipalmata, the willet ; Q-ambetta melanolenca, the tell-tale ; Q-amhetta flavipes,

the yellow legs ; Rhyaoophilus solitarius, the solitary sand-piper ; Tringoides macedarius,

the spotted sand-piper ; Actiturus partramius, the field plover ; Limosafedoa, the marbled
god-wit ; Numenius longiviostris, the long-billed curlew ; Ballus elegans, the marsh hen

;

BalluB virginianus, the Virginia rail ; Porzana Carolina, the common rail ; Fulica ameri-

cana, the coot.

6. Natatores— Cygnus buccinator, the trumpeter swan ; Anser hyperboreus, the snow
goose; Anser gambelii, the white-fronted goose ; Bernicla canadensis, the Canada goose ;

Anas boschas, the mallard ; Anas obscura, the dusky duck ; Dafila acuta, the sprick-tail

;

Nettion carolinensis, the green-winged teal ; Querquedula discors, the blue-winged teal

;

Spatula clypeta, the spoon-bill ; Ohaulelasmus streperus, the gadwall ; Mareia americana,

the widgeon ; Aix sponsa, the summer duck ; Fulix marila, the big black-head ; Fulix

affinis, the blue-bill ; Fulix eollaris, the ring-necked duck ; Aythya americana, the red-

head ; Aythya vallisneria, the canvas-back ; Bucephala americana, the golden eye ; Buce-
phala albeola, the buffle-head ; Mergus americanus, the sheldrake ; Mergus serrator, the

red-breasted merganser ; Lophodytes cucullatus, the hooded merganser; Pelecanus rryth

orhynchus, the pelican ; Q-ramlus dilophus, the double-crested cormorant ; Larus argenta-

tus, the herring gull ; Larus delewarensis, the common gull; Sterna regia, the royal tern;

Sterna wilsonii, Wilson's tern ; Hydroshelydon plumbea, the short-tailed tern ; Oolymbus
torquatus, the loon ; Podylimbus podiceps, the pied-bill grebe.

In the first volume of Trans, of 111. Agr. Soc, two lists of Illinois birds were
published, one for Cook county, by Robert Kennikott, and one for the southern part of
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the State by Henry Pratten. From these two li^ts and that above, which contains 181
species of birds, it appears that in the State of Illinois 239 species have been observed, and
that we may add to the Peoria list 21 species which, though not yet noticed, occur as
well south as north of Peoria. About 380 is the number of species in the United States
east of the Mississippi river, including all the numerous swimming birds, which, partly
from far North, visit periodically our coasts.

m. REPTILES.

1. Tbstudinata—Aspidoncetes spinifer, the soft shell turtle ; Chelydra serpentina, the
snapping turtle ; AromocJielys odoratus, the musk tortoise ; G-nosternum pennsylvanium,
the mud tortoise ; Pseudemys elegant, the elegant tortoise ; Malacoclemmys geographieus,

the map turtle; Malaeoclemmys pseudo geographicus, another map turtle ; Ohrysemys picta

ver marginata, the painted turtle ; Ohrysemys Bellii, Bell's tortoise.

2. Lacertilia—Onemidophorus sexlineatus, the lizard, and Opheosaurus ventralis,

the glass snake, a snake-like lizard without feet.

3. Ophidia— Qrotalus horridus, the banded rattlesnake ; Oaudisona tergemina,

the prairie rattlesnake ; Ancistrodon contortrix, the copperhead— only these three are

poisonous, all the others are harmless and beneficial. Ophibolus eximius, the milk snake ;

OpMbolus getulus var sayi, the king snake ; Cklorosma vernalis, the green snake ; Coluber
ohsoletus, the pilot snake ; Pitnophis melano leucus, the bull snake ; Bascanion constrictor,

the black snake ; Eutainia sirtalis and Uutainia proxima, two brown snakes ; Storeria

occipito maculata, the brown snake ; Storeria de kayi, the small brown snake ; Tropidonotus
sipedon, the water snake, and the Variety erythrogaster ; Meterodon platyrhinus, the blow-
ing viper ; Coluber vulpinus, the racer.

4. Batrachians— Ifecturus lateratis, the mnd 'pnp'py, Amblystoma tigrinum, the
tiger triton ; Amblystoma punctatum, the newt ; Bufo lentiginosus Americanus, the toad ;

Myla versicolor, the tree frog ; Bana halecina, the leopard frog ; Bana catesbiana, the bull

frog.

IV. FISHES.

Alvordius maculatus, the blenuy darter ; Alvordius phoxocephalus, the sharp-nosed
darter ; Boleosoma maoulatum, the Johnny darter ; Poeciliththys variatus, the blue darter

;

Peria americana, the yellow perch ; Stizostethium canadense, the sand pike ; Stizostethium

vitreum, the glass eye ; Miaropterus salmoides, the small-mouthed black bass ; Chaenobryt-
tus gulosus, the black sunfish ; Apomotis cyanellus, the blue-spotted sunfish ; Xenotis mega-
lotis, the blue-and-orange sunfish ; Eupomotis aureus, the common sunfish ; Pomoxys nigro-

maeulatus, the grass bass ; Pomoxys annularis, the croppie ; Haploidonotus gruniens, the

sheep head ; Labidesthes sioeulus, the silversides ; Zygonectes dispar, the striped minnow

;

JSsox lucius, the pike ; Usox salmoneus, the pickerel ; Hyodon tergisus, the moon eye ; Doro-
soma cepidianum, the hickory shad; Pomolobus chrysochloris, the Ohio shad; Campostoma
anomaluyn, the stone lugger ; Hyborhynthus notatus, the blunt-nosed minnow ; Hybogna-
thus argyritus, the silvery minnow ; Alburnops storerianus, Storer's minnow ; Alburnopa
haematurus, Luxilus cornutus, the shiner ; Photogenis analostanus, the silver fin ; LytJiru-

rus displaemius; the red fin ; Nbtropis atherinoides, the emerald minnow ; Notemigonus
chrysolemus, the bream ; Semotilno corporalis, the horned dace ; Myxostoma duquesnii, the

red horse ; Myxostoma areodum, the small-headed mullet ; Myxostoma velatum, the small-

mouthed red horse ; Minytrema melanops, the spotted sucker ; Catostornus Commersonii,

the common sucker ; Cyoleptus elongatus, the black horse ; Carpiodes velifer, the spear-

fish ; Ichthyobus bubalus, the brown buffalo ; Bid>alichthys urus, the black buffalo ; Buba-
Uehtys cyanellus, the small-mouthed buffalo ; Ichthaelurus punctatus, the blue cat ; Amiu-
rus vulgaris, the long-jawed cat ; Amiurus eatus, the bull head ; Amiurus Xanthoeephalus,

the yellow-headed cat ; Pelodichthys olivaris, the mud cat ; Noturus flavus, the yellow-



300 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

stone cat ; Noturus sialis, the chubby-stone cat ; Anguilla rostrata, the eel ; Amia ealva,

the dogfish ; Lepidosteus osseus, the gar pike ; Lepidosteus platystomus, the short-nosed

gar ; Polyodon folium, the spoon-bill ; Acipenser maculosus, the spotted sturgeon; Scaphi-

rynthus platyrhynthus, the shovel-nosed sturgeon ; Ammocoetes argenteus, the silvery lam-

prey.

The whole number of vertebrates, as far as known, in this county, is 304 ; mammals,
80; birds, 181; reptiles, 28; batrachians, 7; and fishes, 58. There are not included as

immigrants the rat, the house-mouse, and the house-sparrow, which Was lately inten-

tionally introduced, but soon will prove a nuisance.

INVERTEBRATES.

It would fill a volume to enumerate the species of this division of the Animal King'
dom. It will be sufficient to have named the most prominent of each class and family

Insects are very numerous, often more than our farmers and gardeners like. The
devastations in agriculture and horticulture caused by the periodical increase of certain

species of grasshoppers, cicades, beetles, hpridopterous and dipterous larvae, which in an
epidemic manner overrun large districts are often enormous. About the year 1856 nearly

all our locust trees, at that time the most general shade tree, were destroyed by the larvae of

a black and yellow beetle, called Olytus flestuosus ; in 1869 the potato beetle made his ap-

pearance and did great damage during several years ; in 1873 a barklouse infested the

soft maple and now the larvae of an immigrated white butterfly, pieris oleraiea, ravages

the cabbage. Fortunately these enemies of the products of our soil have their enemies
also, which diminish their number in a far more efficient way, than all our artificial

remedies. So their devastations are only periodical.

Of the butterflies and moths may be named as the most showy : Papilio Turnus and
its variety glaucus, Troilus, Asterias, Philenor, Thoas, AJax, Oallidryas, Marcellina,

Colias, Ccesonia, 0. Udusa, C. Philodice, Terias Lisa, T. mesicana (properly a straggler

from the South), Danais Archippus, Argynnis Oyhele, A. columbina, A. myrina, Melitcea

JPhceton, M. Asmerca, M. Tharos, G-rapta interrogationis, Vanessa T-alhum, V. Antiopa,

Pyrameis Atalanta, P. cardui, P. huntera, lunonia ecenia, Lihythea Bachmani, Nymphalis
Ursula, N. JDissippus, Apatura Celtis, Beilephila lineata, Darapsa myron, Ghcerocampa
tersa, Philampetus satellitia, P. Achemon, Macrosila Carolina, M. quinquemamlata. Sphinx
KalmicB, Ancerys ello, Oeratomia quadricornis, O. repentinus, Smerinthus myops, S. esoceca-

tus, 6'. modestus, S. geminatus, Saturnia So, S. Maja, Attams Huropia, A. Promethoe, A.
Luna, A. Polyphemus, Ceratooampa regatis, C. imperialis, and many smaller moths.

Amply represented are the mollusks by the genus Unis in the Illinois river : U.

alatus, graeilis, plicatus, multiplicatus, hcerymosus, cornutus, tuherculatus, elegans, securis,

occideno, luteolus, crassus, gibbosus, wardii, donaoiformis, triangularis, verrucosus, anadon-
toides, ellipsis, coccineus, pustulosus, trigonus, zigzag, Margaritana confragosa and Anodonta
grandis.

There are land and water snails of the genera Helix, Succinea, Pupa, Plfinorbis,

Physa, Lymncea, Paludina, Melania.

To follow further down the lower organizations of animal life would not be in the

compass of this work.
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CHAPTER YIII.

POLITICAL ECONOMY.

Counties and County Commissioners— Origin of the System— Towns and Town Supervisors— Origin of the Sys-
tem— First Session of the County Commissioner's Court— Starting the County Government — First Road
View— Dram Shops— Ferries and Ferry License — First Jurymen— North and South Roads— Election Pre-
cincts— First County Exhibit— First Assessment— Taxes and Tax Payers in 1825.

OOUNTIBS AUTD COUNTY COMMISSIONBKS.

The present system of County management is so different from that practiced when
the County was first organized and until 1850, that a paragraph in explanation is neces-

sary. Management by three men, styled the Board of County Commissioners, or County
Commissioners Court, is of Southern origin and practice, while the present system by a

Board of Supervisors, consisting of one member from each township and division of cities,

is of Eastern or New England origin.

County organization originated with Virginia, whose early settlers soon became
large landed proprietors, and aristocratic in feeling. In consequence of their large landed
interests, they lived apart in almost baronial magnificence on their own estates, and
owned the laboring population. Under these circumstances the materials for a town
were not at hand, the voters being thinly scattered over a large area of country. County
organizations, where a few influential men managed the whole business of the communi-
ty, retaining their places almost at will, was in consonance with their recollections or

traditions of the judicial and social dignities of the landed aristocracy of England, in de-

scent from whom the Virginians felt so much pride. In- 1634, eight counties were organ-
ized in>Virginia, and the system, extending throughout the State, spread into all the

Southern States, and some of the Northern States, unless we except the nearly similar

division into " districts " in South Carolina, and that into " parishes " in Louisiana, under
French introduction.

Illinois, as already shown, became a County of Virginia on the conquest of the coun-
try by Gen. Clark, and retained the County organization. The first settlement by
Americans was by people from the Southern States, almost exclusively, who adhered to the

customs and practices, social and politiog,l, of the States in which they had been born and
educated. The men who framed the first Constitution all lived in the southern part of

the State. There was not a man in the convention from any part of the commonwealth
north of Madison and Crawford counties. The first Legislatures were also made up of

men strictly Southern in sentiment, and it is not strange that they engrafted in the Con-
stitution of 1818, and the early laws under it, features in consonance with their ideas of

political economy and government. The County system continued in exclusive practice

until 1848. Under it the local business was managed by three Commissioners in each

County, who constituted a County Court, with quarterly sessions.

TOWNS AND TOWN SUPBBVISOES— OEIGDT OP THE SYSTEM.

While the southern part of the State was settled by people from the Southern

States, the northern and central parts were settled, in the main, by people of New Eng-
land birth and character, who, like their southern neighbors, brought with them the cus-

toms, political and otherwise, of the States in which they had grown to manhood. These

customs were essentially different from those in practice in the south part of the State,

and as the Eastern or New England population increased by imigation, their sentiments
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and ideas of political economy grew more and more compact ; and, consequently, dissat-

isfied with what they regarded as an arbitrary and inefficient system of County manage-
ment. It was maintained by this people that the heavily populated districts always con-
trolled the eleqtion of the Commissioners to the disadvantage of the more thinly settled

sections ; in short, that under that system " equal and exact justice " to all parts of a

county could not be secured. Under these influences the constitutional provision of

1848 and the subsequent law of 1849 were enacted, enabling the people to vote " for " or
" against " adopting the township system. This law, if adopted, erected each township
into a kind of independent municipality, and clothed them with the right to regulate their

own domestic or internal affairs, and with the further right to be represented in a larger

municipal body for the whole county, when the members from the several townships became
a County Board of Supervisors. The question was submitted to the people at the elec-

tion held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November, 1849, and while uni-

versally approved and adopted in counties where there were a majority of New England-
ers and a preponderance of New England sentiment, the plan was unpopular, disapproved
and rejected where there were a majority of Western and Southern voters. As a conse-

quence both systems are in force in Illinois. Mr. Ballance, writing in 1870, said :
" The

new plan furnishing more offices than the other, which, to Americans, is an unanswera-
ble argument in favor of any measure, the thing has been so managed that, in a little less

than twenty-six years, sixty-six counties have come into the measure, leaving only thirty-

six which still stand out and refuse to adopt the system." Peoria county was one of the
first to adopt the system, and the records show that the first meeting of the Board of

Supervisors was held on the 8th day of April, 1850.
The township plan originated in Massachusetts, and dates back to 1635. The first

legal enactment concerning this system provided that, " Whereas, particular towns have
many things which concern only themselves, and the ordering of their own affairs, and
disposing of business in their own town," therefore the freemen of every town, or the
major part of them, shall only have power to dispose of their own lands and woods, with
all the appurtenances of said town, to grant lots, and to make such orders as may con-
cern the well-ordering of their own towns, not repugnant to the laws and orders estab-

lished by the General Court.

The New England colonies were first governed by a " General Court," or legislature, composed of a Governor
and small council, which court consisted of the most influential inhabitants, and possessed and excercised both legis-

lative aud judicial powers, which were limited only by the wisdom of the holders. They made laws, ordered their

execution by officers, tried civil and criminal cases, enacted all manner of municipal regulations ; and, in fact, did all

the public business of the colony in which they held.

" They might also," remarks Mr. Elijah M. Haines, in his Laws of Illinois, Rela-
tive to Township Organization, " impose fines of not more than twenty shillings, and
choose their own ' particular officers, as constables, surveyors for the highways and the

like.' Evidently this enactment relieved the General Court of a mass of municipal de-

tails, without any danger to the powers of that body in controlling general measures of

public policy. Probably, also, a demand from the fteemen of the towns was felt for the
control of their own home concerns."

Similar provisions for the incorporttion of towns were made in the first constitution

of Connecticut, adopted in 1639. The plan proved popular and became universal through-
out New England, and came westward with the emigrants, to New York, Ohio and
other Western States, including Northern Illinois, Wisconsin, Iowa and Minnesota.

FIRST SESSION OF THE COUNTY OOMMISSIONEK'S COURT.

The first meeting of the Board of County Commissioner's Court was held on the
eighth day of March, the next day after the election. [Here it is proper to remark that
neither one of the three commissioners was chosen from Peoria county, as defined by the
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act under which it was organized, but from the territory attached for judicial purposes.
Of the second Board only one, John Hamlin, was chosen from the county.]

There is nothing on record to show where the Commissioners met, but it is reason-
able to presume it was at the house of William Eads. After being " duly qualified

according to law," the Court was declared organized, and Peoria county, with two hun-
dred dollars in the State treasury to draw on, was launched upon an independent county
basis. The first business of the Court was the appointment of clerk, and it was

Ordered, That Norman Hyde be appointed Clerk of the County Commissioner's Court.

Mr. Hyde was " duly qualified, " and entered upon the duties of scribe. This re-

cord, as are all the old records in the County Clerk's office, is in an excellent state of

preservation, and has been carefully kept. It is a six quire volume, plain blue paper
binding, a fair quality of paper for the times, but coarse as compared with the paper of

modern manufacture. The record was commenced in a very plain hand, and is, in fact,

a very handsomely kept transcript of the Court's proceedings. We copy

:

Ordered, That Aaron Hawley be appointed Treasurer of Peoria County.
Ordered, That the County seat be called Peoria.

Ordered, That a court house be erected on some suitable site where the Commissioners shall designate, of the

following dimensions to wit : Twenty feet square and nine feet from the floor to the joists, with a good plank or

puncheon floor ; said house to be built of good materials and in a woikmanlike manner.
Ordered, That a Clerk's office be erected of the following dimensions, to wit : Fourteen feet square, with a

good puncheon floor to be done in a good workmanlike manner and of good material.

Ordered, That the court house and clerk's office be let out to the highest (lowest ?) bidder, on Saturday, the

twelfth day of March inst., at twelve o'clock a. m. The clerk's office to be erected by the 20th inst., and the court

house by the 25th of May next.

Four days later these orders were revoked, and no court house was built until 1836
when the brick structure that preceded the present fine stone building was erected. Un-
til that time the courts were held first, in a small log building, (the Ogee cabin) about
sixteen by eighteen feet, that stood on or near the site occupied by the Fort Clark mill ;

and afterwards when the population and attendance increased so that the " little old

cabin " was too small, in an upper room of a stone building on Water street. The clerk's

offices, in early times, were kept in the cabin residences, of the clerks. " When I came
here " — in 1831— remarks Mr. Ballance, Isaac Waters was clerk of both Courts. He
lived in a cabin made of small unhewn logs, daubed with common mud, not half large

enough to accommodate his family, and yet he had no other place to keep the few books
and papers belonging to the Courts. These he sometimes could not find, and was blamed
when, perhaps, he deserved more to be pitied. After the present court Jiouse was built

(the one recently torn down—Ed.) the clerks and sheriff were accommodated with rooms
in the first story."

At the same session, the 8th of March, it was further

Ordered, That Robert Berrisford be appointed Constable.

Ordered. That Reuben Brattan and Seth Wilson be appointed Constables.

The Court then adjourned until the 12th, at 10 o'clock a.m. At this session only

two of the Commissioners, Nathan Dillon and William Holland were present.

Ordered, That the Order of the eighth inst., for building a court house and clerk's office, be and the same is

hereby revoked.
Ordered, That Abner Eads, Stephen French and Daniel Prince be and they are hereby appointed trustees of

the sixteenth section, in township eight north, and range eight east, in the County of Peoria, said section teing ap-

propriated for the use of schools.

Ordered, That all property subject to a county tax be taxed one-half per cent, on the value of the same.

The Court then adjourned.

The next meeting was held on the 16th of April. FuU Board present.
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FIRST GRAND JTJRORS.

Ordered, That the following persons be summoned by the Sheriff to be and appear as grand jurors at the next

Circuit Court, to be held on the second Monday in June next, in and for the County of Peoria, to wit : William
Eads, Abner Eads, Alva Moffatt, Elijah Hyde, Noah Beacham, senior, William Wright, John Ridgeway, Robert
Berrisford, Josiah Fulton, Thomas Camlin, John Phillips, George Ish, David Mathews, Jacob Wilson, Elisha Fish,

Isaac Perkins, Nathaniel Cromwell, Walter Dillon, William Davis, Alexander McNaughton, George Sharp, Austin

Crocker, Augustus Langworthy, Allen Dougherty.

FIRST TRAVERSE JURORS.
'

It was further ordered, that the following persons be summoned as a traverse jury

:

Stephen French, Joseph Ogee, Abner Cooper, George Love, Joseph O'Brien, Elias P. Avery, Thomas Dillon,

Jesse Dillon, Seth Wilson, John Klein, George Klein, Stephen Carle and James Walker.

From some cause the June term of court, for which these jurors were drawn, was
never held ; consequently they never qualified as jurors.

The Clerk was directed to furnish the sheriff with a list of the jurors, " according to

law," when it was further

Ordered, That Reuben Brattan, Absolom Dillon, Daniel Like and George Harlan be appointed constables for

Peoria County.

An order was entered of record, recommending William Smith to the governor as

a " suitable person to fill the office of Justice of the Peace in and for the County of

Peoria."

An order relating to the county seat quarter was then made, when the court

adjourned.

At the June session it was

Ordered, That the following persons be summoned as traverse jurors, to be and appear at the next Circuit

Court, to be held in and for the County of Peoria on the second Monday in June, inst., at lo o'clock, A. M. : Horace
Crocker, Noah Beacham, jr., Aquila Mnffatt, Henry Neely, William Smith, Charles Love, John Sharp, William
Barker, John Cooper, David Hukey, Philip Latham.

John Dixon was recommended to the governor for appointment to the office of Jus-

tice of the Peace.
Rivers Cormack was appointed to take the census of Peoria county.

FIRST FERRY UNDER AUTHORITY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

On the 7th of June it was

Ordered, That the ferry license granted by the County Commissioner's Court of Sangamon and 'Fulton counties

to John L. Bogardus, authorizing him to keep a ferry across the Illinois river opposite the town of Peoria, be entered

on the records of this court.

Then follows the written authority of Sangamon and Fulton counties, duly signed

by the proper officers. The Sangamon county " order " is certified to be correct by " C.

R. Matheny, C. C, by E. Wright, Dept. Cl'k," and the Fulton county " order " is certi-

fied to be correct by " John Dewey, Clerk, etc." The Peoria commissioners ordered
that the rates of ferriage as established by Sangamon and Fulton counties be adopted.

These rates were as follows

:

For each man and horse - -. i8|i^ cents.
" " foot person .- - 12^
" " Dearborn sulky or chair 50
" " wagon or other four-wheeled carriage, with horses or oxen 37J5
" " cart with two oxen -- --37K" eveiy head of neat cattle, horses or mules 12^
" each hog, sheep or goat 4
" every hundredweight of goods, wares or merchandise 12^
" " bushel of wheat, or other article sold by the bushel 4
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And all other articles not enumerated in the list, in equal and just proportions. And when the lake or river is

over its banks, at the first material bend of the creek from its mouth, when a landing can not be had at that place,
double these rates. >

BTBST KOAD VIEW.

Ordered, That the petitition of sundry inhabitants of the county of Peoria praying for the appointment of
viewers to view a road leading from the ferry landing opposite the village of Peoria to the old crossing on Sugar creek,
near Robert Musick's, be granted, agreeable to the prayer of said petitioners ; and that Samuel Fulton, Alexander
McNaughton, and Norman Hyde, be appointed viewers.

FIBST COUNTY ALLOWANCE.
Ordered, That Aaron Hawley be allowed forty-one dollars in paper of the State Bank of Illinois for services

rendered the county, and that the treasurer pay the same.

DBAM SHOP LICENSE AND PRICES.

John Barker, on the 8th of June, was authorized to keep a dram shop in the town
of Peoria, and that the clerk grant him a license, and take his bond according to law,

upon his paying ten dollars in paper of the State Bank of Illinois for the use of the
coui^ty, and one dollar for clerk's fees. It was further

Ordered, That the said Barker be allowed to charge according to the following rates, to-wit

:

For each half pint of wine, rum or brandy 25 cents.
" " pint of wine, rum or brandy 37^ "

" " half pint of gin 185^
"

" pintofgin 1 31X
"

" " one gill of whisky _ - 6X "

" half pint of whisky 12^ "

" " pint of whisky 18^ "

" " breakfast, dinner or supper 18^ "

" " horsefeed 12^ "

" keeping horse overnight. -. 25
"

" " night's lodging for one person --I2J^
"

MISCELLANEOUS.

Joseph Ogee was allowed one dollar in specie, or its equivalent in State paper, for

the use of his house for holding this term of court.

Norman Hyde tendered his resignation as clerk of the Commissioner's Court on the
8th, which was accepted, and John Dixon was appointed to fill the vacancy.

Peter DuMont was allowed one dollar for his services as clerk of the election in

March.
Ordered, That the Circuit Court be held in the house of Joseph Ogee, below the ferry landing.

Norman Hyde was allowed twelve dollars and fifty cents for services as clerk of the
court.

July 16th John L. Bogardus was appointed to take the census of the county vice

Rivers Cormack, who declined the appointment previously tendered.
Hiram M. Curry was appointed Constable. In some places the name of Hiram

McCurry appears in the records, but the representative of this name is identical with
Hiram M. Curry.

June 8th, the court being in session, an order was entered appointing John L. Bo-
gardus assessor, providing the " Judge of the Circuit Court should give his opinion that

the assessment previously made was not valid." At this session the appointment of Mr.
Bogardus was confirmed, from which it would seem the Circuit Judge had rendered the
opinion that the previous assessment referred to was not valid. The assessment was
ordered to commence at once.

Cornelius Brown was licensed to keep a dram shop in the village of Peoria, upon
the same terms and was allowed the same rates as Mr. Barker, previously licensed.

Aaron Hawley and John L. Bogardus were recommended to the Governor as suita-

ble persons for appointment to the office of Justices of the Peace.
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Frederick H. Countryman and Elijah Hyde were appointed Constables.
The Commissioners now reconsidered their first order relating to tax levy and

increased the rate from one-half of one per cent, to one per cent.

Ordered, That the Sheriff of Peoria county be authorized to draw and receive out of the treasury of the Stale
of Illinois the sum of two hundred dollars, being the proportion of non-resident land tax allowed said county by the
act entitled " An act for forming a new county out of the county land in the vicinity of Fort Clark, approved Jan-
uary 13, 1825."

Then follows this entry :
" Be it remembered that on this 16th day of July, 1825,

John Dixon, Esq., appeared in open court and took the oath of office as a justice of the
peace in and for Peoria county ; also the oath to support the Constitution of the United
States and of this State, and the oath prescribed in the act entitled ' An Act to Suppress
Dueling,' approved February 22, 1819."

MORE JUETMEN.

The next session of the court was held in September, when the following persons
were ordered to be summoned as grand jurymen for the next term of the Circuit Court,
which was set for the second Monday in November : Stephen French, Abner Cooper,
George Love, Joseph O'Brian, Elias P. A.very, Thomas Dillon, John Dillon, Seth Wilson,
John Kline, George Kline, John Hamlin, Archibald Allen, Nathaniel Cromwell, Isaac

Perkins, James Latta, Henry Thomas, George Harlan, Isaac Waters, Augnstus Long-
worthy, George Sharp, William Holland, Joseph Smith, John PhiUips, Major Donahoe.

None of these representatives of the olden time are known to the people of Peoria
county in 1880. If any of them are living, no one here knows where. It is fair to pre-

sume that all of them have been gathered to the home of their fathers.

PETIT JTTEOES.

Austin Crocker, William Clark, Stephen Carroll, Joseph Ogee, William Blanchard,
Elijah Fish, David Matthews, William E. Phillips, George Ish, Josiah Fulton, Jacob
Funk, Isaac Funk, Hugh Montgomery, Alexander McNaughton, Allen Dougherty, Nathan
Dillon, Walter Dillon, William Davis, William Woodrow, John Somers, Elijah Hyde,
Alva Moffatt, William Eads, and Seth Fulton, were ordered to be summoned as petit

jurors.

Of these jurors, Jacob Funk was subsequently killed by a merchant of Pekin, Taze-
well county, at Coalville, just across the river from Peoria, about 1 830 or 1831. He was
owing a debt to the merchant, about which there had been several quarrels. The mer-
chant had brought suit and obtained judgment. He waited patiently and often asked
Funk to pay the judgment, receiving insolent replies. At last the merchant's patience

became exhausted, and he registered an oath that he would collect the debt. The mer-
chant ordered an execution, and the sheriff, being partially crippled, and Funk a sort of

bully, a fosse of men was summoned to accompany the sheriff to make the levy, the mer-
chant among them. Funk was a blacksmith, and when the sheriff and his party arrived

at his shop, they found it barricaded and Funk ready to receive them. After some
maneuvering Funk came out from behind the barricade, and in the melee which followed
the sheriff was pushed over or knocked down by Funk, when he was shot and killed by
the merchant. Funk was related to the great Illinois farmers of that name.

A few years ago McNaughton was reported to be living in Henry county, a hale,

healthy old man, surrounded by all the comforts of life.

NORTH AND SOUTH ROADS.

September 6, James Barns, James Latta and William Clark were appointed to view
the road leading from Peoria to the south line of the county ; and Stephen French, Elias

P. Avery and Henry Thomas were appointed to view the road leading from Peoria to the
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north boundary of the county. At a session of the court, on the sixth of December,
these viewers submitted favorable reports, which were accepted, and the roads were or-

dered to be opened.

Ordered, That William Holland shall receive four dollars in specie, or its equivalent in State bank paper, for
running, or causing to be run, the exterior lines of the town of Peoria, and making a plat of the same, and the treasu-
rer is hereby required to pay the same.

ROAD DISTRICTS.

At this session of the court, there road districts were established with the following
boundaries

:

First District. — Beginning on the bank of Peoria Lake, between townships eight and nine north, thence west on
the line between said townships to the west line of the county ; thence north with said line to the northern boundary of
the county ; thence east with said boundary line to the Illinois river ; thence down the same to the place of beginning^

Stephen French was appointed supervisor of this district.

Second District.— Beginning on the bank of Peoria Lake, between townships eight and nine north ; thence west
to the west line of the county ; thence south with said line to the Illinois river ; thence up the same to the line be-
tween townships twenty-four and twenty-five north, on the east side of the river, strikes the same ; thence east to the
third principal meridian

; thence north with said meridian to the north line of township twenty-seven north ; thence
west to the Illinois river.

John L. Bogardus was appointed supervisor of the second district.

Third District— All that tract of country lying east of the Illinois river and south of township twenty-four north,
shall constitute the third road district ; ane that Thomas Dillon shall be supervisor of said district. At the Decem-
ber session, the Court ordered that township twenty-four be included in this district.

At the March session, 1826, these road districts were so divided as to increase the
number to eight, and so on from year to year as the settlements extended and population
increased.

The Court, at this (September) session, fixed the prices to be paid for labour on the
public highways at these figures :

Each man, for one day's " labour " with necessary implements as directed by the
Supervisor 75 cents.

Each yoke of oxen with necessary log chain 50 "

Each plow or cart per day 12K"
Each sled per day t%"
Each "waggon" per day 25 "

Eachscraper per day 25 "

Archibald Claibourne (Clyburn?) was appointed constable for Peoria county.
Archibald Allen and Charles Collins were " authorized to keep a * tavern ' in the town
of Peoria, by giving the bond required by law and paying ten dollars in paper of the
State Bank of Illinois, with the clerk's fees, and that they be allowed to charge the
same rates allowed to John Barker, and that the clerk be allowed to take their bond and
receive the money for the county."

The Court then adjourned until court in course.

At the December session the treasurer was " ordered to pay William Smith one dol-

lar in State paper for his services as Judge of the election in March last." Clerk Dixon
was allowed seven dollars and eighteen and three-fourth cents, for stationery, which is

the first stationery allowance on record.
On Tuesday, the 6th, Isaac Perkins, Hugh Woodrow and Ezekiel Tevener were

ordered " to proceed to view a road, agreeable to the prayer of the petitioners for that
purpose, from Peoria, passing the ' Trading post ' and the house of Isaac Perkins, to in-

tersect the Springfield road at or near Prairie creek."
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ELECTION PBEOINCTS.

At this term of their Court the Commissioners divided Peoria county and the country
subject to its jurisdiction, into three election precincts.

CHICAGO PRECINCT.

This precinct was defined as follows :

To contain all that part of the country east of the mouth of the LaPagt river, where it empties its waters into

the Aux Plain ; and it is further ordered that the elections shall be held at the Agency House, or " Cobwebb Hall."

And it is further ordered that this precinct shall be known as the Chicago precinct, and that Abner Wolcott, John
Kinzie and J. B. Baubien shall be judges of all general and special elections.

PEORIA PRECINCT.

Ordered, That all that tract of country north and west of the Illinois river, and north of township twenty-four
and west of the third principal meridian, shall form the Peoria precinct ; that elections shall be held at the Clerk's

office, and that Stephen French, Abner Eads and John Phillips shall be judges of elections in said precinct.

MACKINAW PRECINCT.

Ordered, That all the residue of the County shall form the Mackinaw precinct ; that the elections shall be held
at the house of Jesse Dillon, and that Isaac Perkins, William Eads and Thomas Dillon be appointed judges of elec-

tions in said precinct.

MORE CONSTABLES.

Henry Allen was appointed constable, and Darius Holcomb was recommended to the

Governor as a suitable person for Justice of the Peace. William Clack was authorized

to keep a ferry across the Illinois river, opposite Mackinaw bluflF. Francis Bulbonait,

senior, and Francis Bulbonait, junior, were licensed to keep "tavern" at the Trading
House, about three miles from the town of Peoria, on the same conditions and subject to

the same restrictions as those imposed on other tavern-keepers. A tavern in those days
meant more a dram-shop, or a place where liquors were retailed, than tavern or hotel.

But no man could keep a tavern at that period in the history of the country unless he
kept a bar, and the bar well supplied with liquors.

SQUARING UP THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS.

The remainder of this session of the coupt, excepting some orders relating to the

county-seat, was devoted to the examination and allowance of accounts, etc., for the first

nine months of the county's existence. Abner Eads was allowed twelve dollars for

boarding and guarding No -ma -que, an Indiarf prisoner charged with murder. Elijah

Hyde was allowed seventeen dollars thirty-seven-and-a-half cents for conveying No - ma -

que to the Sangamon county jail. William Clark was paid fifteen dollars and ninety

cents for " services rendered as per bill on file." Hugh Montgomery received five dollars

and seventy-five cents for guarding No - ma - que ; John Griffin, same services, eight dol-

lars and fifty cents; Augustus Langworthy, five dollars for medical services rendered
No - ma - que ; Samuel Fulton, sheriff, eighteen dollars and seventy-five cents ; Alexander
McNaughton, five dollars for viewing road; Josiah Fulton, eight dollars for guarding No-
ma - que ; Stephen French, five dollars and fifty cents for services as road viewer ; Isaac

Perkins, one dollar as judge of election ; James Barnes, three dollars for services as road

viewer ; William Clark, three dollars for similar services ; Joseph Ogee, six dollars for

use of his house for holding Circuit Court ; John Barker, one dollar eighteen and three-

fourths cents for ferryage ; John Sharp, guarding No - ma - que, four dollars ; William
Clark six dollars for same services ; Norman Hyde, two dollars for book for use of his

bfSce as Probate Judge ; Archibald Allen for A. Galitin ; William Lee and Elliott Lee,
fifteen dollars for guarding No - ma - que ; Aquilla Moffatt, two dollars for guarding No -

ma - que. Total, from March 7th— the day of the election — to December 6th, includ-
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ing allowances previously quoted, 1226.15. To this should be added the per diem of the
commissioners, which is not entered this year. Supposing it to be fifty dollars, and the
total of expenditures amount to $276.15.

sheriff's acootint.

The Court ordered to be entered on record the following account with Sheriff Ful-
ton:

Dr.—To amount of taxes as returned by the Assessor including twenty dollars re-

ceived from the clerk for tavern license $339-15
Cr.—By amount of bad debts 29.90

" County orders and percentage on the same 105.04
" State paper 46,50
" " " including interest thereon 21.60
'

' $33-45 in specia, being equal, in State paper, to 66.90
" State paper ig.2i—$289.15

The Court adjourned sine die on the 8th of December.
Besides the County Commissioners, Sheriff, Coroner and County Clerk, the follow-

ing officers were sworn into office between the 8th day of March, and 21st day of Decem-
ber, 1825

:

Norman Hyde, Probate Judge, June 4th.

Isaac Perkins, Public Administrator, May 28th.

John L. Bogardus, Commissioner to take the Census of the County, September 5tb.
Norman Hyde, County Surveyor, December 20th.

Justices of the Peace, Stephen French, March 28th ; Jacob Wilson, John Phil-

lips, March 30th ; Nathan Dillon, March 31st ; John Dixon, July 16th ; John Kinzie,
July 28th ; John L. Bogardus, December 17th.

In addition, there were a number of constables and minor officers, but no consecutive
register of their names or the date when they qualified, was kept.

For justices of the peace there was but little absolute necessity. There was not
much marrying in those days, sueing nor being sued, nor many fineable offenses com-
mitted. From the time the county machinery was set in motion on the 8th day of March,
1825, until the last session of the court in 1826, which was held in December, the
amount of fines collected was only sixteen dollars and fifty cents. The people of the
different settlements were a kind of law unto themselves, and generally attended to their

own business, and gave no occasion for the interference of officers of the law. The laws
of honor prevailed to a much greater extent than in later years, and most of the settlers

considered their word as good as their bond. They respected the rights, the situation

and necessities of each other, and tried to help their neighbors instead of harassing them
by "going to law" with them about trifles. These conditions were the foundations of

Peoria's prosperity.

FIRST ASSESSMENT— TAXES AND TAX-PAYEES IN 1825.

As already known, all the country west of Peoria county to the Mississippi river and
north to the State line, as well as a part of the country east of the Illinois river, was
subject to the jurisdiction of the Commissioners' Court, from the records of which we are

quoting. In all that immense territory there were only one hundred and twenty-three
tax-payers in 1825, as certified by Assessor Bogardus. His report is here appended

:
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Namb and Residence. Amount.
Avery, Elias P., La Salle Prairie. $200 00
Alscombe, Antoine, Trading House 50 00
Allen, Archibald, Peoria - 15000
Beaubien, John B., Chicago. - 1,000 00
Beauchamp, Noah, Sr., Peoria 200 00
Beauchamp, Noah, Jr., Peoria _-- 100 00
Barker, John, Peoria 400 00
Bourbonne, Francis, Trading House 20000
Blanchard, Wm., Ten Mile - 150 00
Bethard, Elza, Ten Mile 275 00
Bratton, Reuben, Ten Mile 135 00
Banks, Thomas, Ten Mile 50 00
Baresford, Robt., Fox River 50 00
Brierly, Thos. N., Little Detroit 160 00
Bogardus, John L., Peoria - 500 00
Bryant, Joseph, Peoria 30000
Beabor, Louis, Trading House 700 00
Bourbonne, Francis, Jr. Trading House lOO 00
Brown, Cornelius, Peoria 150 00
Barker, Andrew, Farm Creek - 100 00
Clybourne, Jonas, Chicago. 625 00
Clark, John K., Chicago 250 00
Crafts, John, Chicago 5,00000
Carroll, Stephen, La Salle Prairie 150 00
Cline, George, Illinois Prairie 70 00
Cline, John, Illinois Prairie 264 00
Cromwell, Nathan, Illinois Prairie 300 00
Curry, Hiram M., Ten Mile 225 00
Cooper, Abner N., Little Detroit 120 00
Crocker, Austin, Farm Creek 200 00
Camlin, Thomas, Farm Creek 300 00
Clermont, Jerry, Chicago 100 00
Coutra, Louis, Chicago.. - 5000
Countraman, Fred, Fox River 50 00
Dougherty, Allen S., Mackinaw Point 100 00
Dillon, Walter, Mackinaw Point 250 00
Dillon, Nathan, Mackinaw Point 400 00
Dillon, Absalom, Mackinaw Point 200 00
Dillon, Thomas, Mackinaw Point 300 00
Dillon, Jesse, Mackinaw Point 727 00
Dillon, John, Mackinaw Point- 93 00
Davis, William, Mackinaw Point 200 00
Dixon, John, Peoria 35000
Du Mont, Peter, Little Detroit -_ 50 00
Donahoue, Major, Ten Mile 200 00
Egman, Jessie, Illinois Prairie 100 00
Eads, William, Peoria -- 35000
Eads, Abner, Peoria , 800 00
Ellis, Levi, Illinois Prairie.. 25 00
Clark, William, Illinois Prairie _ 250 00
Field, Gilbert, La Salle Prairie 150 00
French, Stephen, Farm Creek 20000
Fulton, Samuel, Peoria - 300 00
Fulton, James, Farm Creek 12 50
Fulton, Josiah, Farm Creek 150 00
Fulton, Seth, Ten Mile 100 00
Fish, Elisha, Farm Creek ..-

Funk, Jacob, Farm Creek
Funk, Isaac, Peoria
Griffin, John, La Salle Prairie -

Gilbert, Levi, Illinois Prairie

Harrison, Jesse, Peqria
Hamlin, John, Peoria
Holland, William, Peoria
Hyde, E. & N., Peoria
Hawley, Aaron, Fox River
Hawley, Pierce, Fox River ._

The places designated as Farm
Trading House (Wesley City), etc.,

200 00
500 00
200 00
50 00
25 00
50 00

400 00
800 00
700 00
200 00
300 00

Name and Residence.
Harlin, Joshua, Farm Creek
Harlin, George, La Salle Prairie

Hallock, Lewis, La Salle Prairie _.

Hunter, Jacob M., Peoria
Ish, George, Farm Creek
Kinzie, John, Chicago
Love, Charles, Peoria
Love, George N., Little Detroit
Langworthy, Augustus, Peoria
Latham, J., Peoria
Latham, Philip, Peoria
Like, Daniel, Peoria
La Framboise, Joseph, Chicago
La Framboise, C, Chicago
Latta,"James, Illinois Prairie

Montgomery, Hugh, Mackinaw Point
McNaughton, Alexander, Mackinaw Point.
Moffatt, Alva, Peoria
Moffatt, Aquilla, Peoria
Mather, David, Ten Mile
McCormick, Levi, Illinois Prairie

McKee, David, Chicago
McLaree, Jessee, Peoria
Neeley, Henry, Peoria
Ogee, Joseph, Illinois Prairie

Perkins, Isaac, Illinois Prairie

Phillips, John and Wm., Ten Mile
Patterson, John, Prince's Grove
Prince, Daniel, Prince's Grove
Porter, Martin, Peoria
Piche, Peter, Chicago
Redman, Eli, Mackinaw Point
Redman, Henry, Mackinaw Point
Ridgeway, John, La Salle Prairie

Robinson, Alexander, Chicago
Ransom, Amherst C, Peoria
Ramsey,John L., Fox River
Sommers, John, Illinois Prairie

Scott, Peter, Mackinaw Point
Smith, Joseph, Farm Creek
Sharp, George, Peoria
Stephenson, John, Ten Mile
Stout, Ephraim, Sr. and Jr., Illinois Prairie

-

Walker, Jesse, Fox River
Thorp, Jonathan, Illinois Prairie

Turner, Ezekiel, Illinois Prairie

Van Scoyk, Joseph, Peoria
Walker, Hugh, La Salle Prairie

Wolcott, Alexander, Chicago
Willmette, Antoine, Chicago
Weed, Edmond, Ten Mile.
Wilson, Seth, Illinois Prairie

Wilson, Jacob, Ten Mile
Woodrow, Samuel, Illinois Prairie

Woodrow, Hugh, Illinois Prairie

Waters, Isaac, Peoria

Amount.
150 00
150 00
50 00
50 00

250 00
500 00
150 00
350 00
200 00
300 00
100 00
50 00
50 00

100 00
200 00
200 00
150 00
60 00
40 00
200 00
50 00
100 00
25 00

150 00
200 00
400 00
400 00
20 00

200 00
100 00
100 00

35 00

35 00
100 00
200 00
100 00
200 00
300 00
50 00

550 00
608 00
40 00

500 00
50 00
100 00
150 00
50 00

50 00

572 00
400 00

174 00
200 00
300 00
150 00
250 00
100 00

Total $30,455 50

Smith, William. I called on him for the amount of

personal property. He refused to render the same. As
near as I can ascertain, it amounts to $150.

I, John L. Bogardus, do hereby certify that the above
is the assessment for the year 1825.

John L. Bogardus, Assessor.

To John L. Dixon, Esq., Clerk of County Commissioners'

Court.

P. S.—Amount received for tavern license, $20.

Creek, Mackinaw, Illinois Prairie, Ten Mile Creek,

were within the present limits of Tazewell county.
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CHAPTER IX.

POLITICAL ECONOMY CONTINUED.

1826 : Thanks of the County Court to President John Quincy Adams— Fox River Precinct— Rev. Jesse Walker—
Fever River Precinct— August Election— The Candidates— Peter Williams— Second Financial Exhibit—
County Revenue— Tavern and Ferry Rates— Delinquent Taxes— Mining Excitement. Chicago : First Ferry
and Tavern License— Turnpike and Election Accounts — Marriage Records— Justices of the Peace— Billy

Caldwell— Shabonee— An Old Document.

March 6, the Court being in session the clerk was directed to transmit to the Presi-

dent of the United States the thanks of the Court for his prompt compliance with the
prayer of their petition for leave to enter the fractional quarter section of land on which
.to locate their county seat ; and also that he (the Clerk) be directed to inform the Pres-
ident that his kind interference in their behalf did not produce the result desired.

FOX KITER PBBCrNCT.

At this session, the Court ordered that an election precinct be established by the
following boundaries :

" All that district of country north of Senatchwine creek, and
the River Dupage, within the bounds of this State, to be known and distinguished as the
Pox River Precinct, and that all general and special elections shall be held at the house
of Jesse Walker, near the Junction of the Illinois and Fox rivers (Ottawa) and that
Aaron Hawley, Henry Allen and James Walker be appointed judges thereof."

BEV. JESSE WALKER.

The Jesse Walker here mentioned was a Methodist preacher and missionary, and of

the first to break the bread of life on the waters of the Illinois river. He was a good
man, and his soul full of the milk of kindness. At one time what was known as the

Green River settlement, on Fox river, run short of provisions, and the people were on the

verge of starvation. Jesse Walker heard of their destitute and suffering condition and
sent them word from the Sangamon settlement, near Springfield, that if they would send
a keel-boat down the Illinois and up the Sangamon to within six miles of Springfield,

the settlers there would load it with needful provisions. Jesse Walker undertook the

relief expedition in person, obtained a keel-boat at Peru, and, securing Josiah Fulton as

pilot, proceeded to the point named, where the boat was loaded as the pioneers to San-
gamon had promised. They returned to Peru, and from there, through the importunity
of Walker, they went on up the river as far as Starved Rock, where the cargo was land-

ed. It arrived just in time to " do the most good." Josiah Fulton, the pilot, returned
to Peoria by canoe.

This is not the only instance of Jesse Walker's interest in suffering, hungering
pioneers, that is mentioned. His name and good deeds were enshrined in the hearts of

the pioneers and transmitted to their posterity. Blessed be the name and the memory of

Jesse Walker.
PBVEK BIVEK PEECINOT.

At their June session (June 2, 1826), the Commissioners " ordered that an election

precinct, No. 5, comprise the following boundaries : All of Mercer and Warren counties.
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and the attached parts thereof." This precinct included the Fever river lead mines, Jo
Daviess county, and the returns of the election of the 7th of August, 1826, were made as

from the " Fever River Mines Precinct." At the same session the Court revised a former
order relating to judges for the August election, and appointed the foUovi'ing :

Chicago, Alexander Wolcott, John Kinzie, J. B. Beaubien.
Fox River," James Walker, Pierce Hawley, Robert Berrisford.

Peoria, Abner Eads, Stephen French, John Phillips.

Mackinaw, Isaac Perkins, William Eads, Thomas Dillon.

AUGUST ELECTION.

As already noted the first election in Peoria county was held on the 7th day of

March, 1825. The second election was held on the 7th day of August, 1826, the day on
which general elections were held in the olden times. The vote in each of the four

precincts where polls were held, was as follows :

Peoria - 8i

Mackinaw '. 5i

Chicago ' 31 ,

Fever River 202

Total 369

The following were the candidates voted for, and the number of votes cast for each

candidate

:

Governor—Ninian Edwards, 289; Thomas Sloo, Jr., 106 ; Adolphus Hubbard, 6—351.

Lieutenant Governor— Samuel H. Thomas, 247 ; William Kennedy, 47 — 284.

Congressman— Daniel P. Cook (after whom Cook county was named), 250 ; Joseph
Duncan, 83 ; James Turney, 7 — 340.

State Senator— James Harris, 174 ; Lewis Kinney, 87 ; Peter Journey, 51 ; Archi-
bald Job, 36 ; Peter Williams, 2 ; George Cadwell, 1— 351.

Representative— John L. Bogardus, 96 ; Jesse Harrison, 154 ; Ossian M. Ross, 39 ;

Henry J. Ross, 40— 329.

Sheriff— Samuel Fulton, 106 ; George Harlin, 61 ; Joshua Walker, 46.— 213.

Coroner— Henry Neely, 79 ; Allen C. Dougherty, 67 ; Resolved Cleveland, 35—181.

County Conimissioners— William Holland, 105 ; Nathan Dillon, 106 ; John Hamlin,
172 ; Stephen C. French, 101 ;, Rivers Cormack, 81 ; Hiram M. Curry, 46; Gideon Hawley,
18. HoUin, Dillon and Hamlin were elected.

No election returns were reported from Fox River precinct until August, 1830.

PETER WILLIAMS.

In 1832, befor^the eastern slope of Iowa was opened to white settlement, Peter

Williams went over to that side of the Mississippi river and built a cabin— the first— on
the site of Fort Madison. The Indians complained against the innovation, and some
soldiers were sent down from Fort Armstrong, Rock Island, who demolished Peter's

cabin and set him across the River in Illinois. In June, 1833, when the Indian limit of

possession expired, he returned to Fort Madison and re-occupied his claim. He did not

remain there long, however, until he pushed on to the Des Moines river, where he died

in 1835.

SECOND FINANCIAL EXHIBIT.

At the December session of 1826 the Court " ordered that the Sheriff be debited and
credited with the following amounts, to wit

:
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DEBIT.

To amount returned by Assessor's tax book ... $855.93
in State paper, equal to 641.93

" Balance in the treasury, December, 1825.. 54.I5M^
" Overcharged for collecting the above , 10.25
" Order on State Treasurer, 1825 too.cx)
" Amount of fines collected 16.50
" " "tavern licenses _. 3,00
" " from sale of town lots _ 21.00
" " State Treasurer, 1826 168.75
" " collected from list of bad debts, 1825 6.82^—$i,022.43X

CREDIT.

By amount of delinquent tax list for which the Sheriff is allowed until the

March term to collect, it being in State paper $416.69 J^, equal to $312.52 |

" Amount lost by collecting at Chicago at 50 per cent 27.65
"County orders amounting to 358.65
" Per centage for collecting the above except $64.40^^ on which com-

mission has been paid 22.08
" Per centage the above orders 7,I7J^—$728.07^

$294.35 ?<
COTTNTY REVENUE.

Lands in Peoria were opened to sale in 18— and became taxable in 18—. Before

the lands were subject to taxation, revenue for county purposes was raised by taxes

assessed against personal property, and rated from one-half of one per cent, to one per

cent, on the value of the property or article taxed. Ferries were licensed by the County
Commissioners, and paid from ten to twenty dollars a year, for the use of the county.

Taverns were licensed in the same way, and charged at about the same rates. Mer-
chants, grocers and dealers were also licensed by the County Court, and paid from five

to twenty dollars a year to the county treasury. These were the only sources of

revenue and required careful management and strict economy to meet the current

expenses.

The political economy of Peoria county as commenced and practiced by the County
Commissioners has been introduced for the purpose of preserving the modus operandi ofTper-

fecting county organizations. The old journals have been carefully overhauled, and
voluminous extracts made from their well-written and carefully preserved pages. These
extracts will pieserve the names of the representative men and public officials of the

years which they cover, to generations yet to come. While a few of the old pioneers

still remain among the useful, honored and respected citizen!* of the county and earth,

the most of them have been gathered to their home. " Peace to their memory.
"

The general details of county management are here dismissed to write of other in-

cidents and events that will be of ippre interest to the majority of readers.

The statement below shows the condition of the county in June, 1827, when at a

special session of the Court it was ordered that the sheriff be debi^d and credited as

follows

:

DEBTOR.

To balance in the treasury at the last settling day,December tenn, 1826, $294 35 J^
" delinquent list from assessor's tax book - 312 52 $606 88

CREDIT.

By county orders amounting to -- $245 62^
" per centage for collecting the above 18 41
" " for paying the foregoing 4 9'}^
" overcharge on the tax book on thefoUowing persons, to-wit

: Joseph

Smith, Abner Eads, Martin Meyers, and Casper Reece 3 50
'

' error in percentage on collection at Chicago — 4 I4)^
" delinquent tax list for which the sheriff is allowed until the June

term of this Court - 267 09
" balance in the treasury 63 69J^ $607 38

21
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TINIFOEMITY OP " TAYBRN " AND FEEET EATBS.

At this session of the Court it was also ordered that each and every tavern keeper
in the county of Peoria, be authorized to charge the following rates

:

For each one-half pint of wine, rum or brandy 25 cents.

pint " " " ilji
" one-half pint of gin 18^

pint " - - 31X
" gill of whiskey 6^
" one-half pint " -- 12^

pint " iS^
" breakfast, dinner or supper _ 25
" night's lodging 12^

For keeping horse one night to grain and hay 25

For each horse fed - 12^
For keeping horse twenty-four hours 37^

For the different ferries across the Illinois river the following rates were established

:

For each foot passenger 6^ cents.

" man and horse 12^
Dearborn sulky or chaise with springs. -_ 50

" one-horse wagon 25
" four-wheeled carriage, drawn by two oxen or horses ._ _ 37^
" cart with two oxen 37J^

For every head of neat cattle, horses or mules 10
For each hog, sheep or goat - 3

For every hundred weight of goods, wares or merchandise ., 6^
For each bushel of grain, or other article sold by the bushel 3

And all other articles in equal and just proportion.

When the river was over its banks, and the landing difficult, certain ferries were

allowed to charge double the above rates.

DBLINQTJBNT TAXBS.

Delinquent taxes were not easily collected, for there were tax-fighters in those days

as well as in the present. In 1826, two hundred and four persons in the Fever River set-

tlement— Jo Daviess county— were returned delinquent in the payment of taxes

assessed against them. Most, if not all of them, were miners. Samuel Fulton was
sheriff and collector of Peoria county, and Josiah Fulton was his deputy. In the

discharge of his duty the sheriff sent his deputy up among the miners with tax warrants

to make collections. Josiah says, first one miner would take a warrant, read it, or get

some one to read it for him, and then hand it to another one, till it had passed from one

to another of all who happened to be present, and then remarked :
" You come up here

to collect tax money, did you ? And you are going to seize property if we don't pay, are

you ? Well, we aren't going to pay, and we aren'%going to let you take any of our

property, either. Mind that, will you? And the best thing you can do is to get out of

here as a tax collector just as quick as you can. But if you want to share our bed and

board as a private citizen and visitor, you shall have the best in our cabins, but you can't

have a cent on your d—d old tax warrants, nor you shan't touch a bit of property to

make it." And Josiah Fulton came home with little or nothing to show for his trip or to

add to the wealth of the county treasury.

CHICAGO.

FIRST FBEEY AND TAVBEN LICBNSE.

In those days Chicago was a dependency of Peoria, and for permission to keep the first
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tavern and maintain the first ferry, the pioneer settlers at Fort Dearborn were indebted
to the Commissioners of Peoria county. At the June— 1829— term of the Court,

Ordered, That Archibald Clybourn and Samuel Miller be authorized to keep a ferry across the Chicago river, at

the lower forks, near Wolf's Point, crossing the river belowf the Northeast Branch, and to land on either side of both
branches, to suit the convenience of persons wishing to cross. And that said Clybourn and Miller pay a tax of ten

dollars and execute a bond with security for one hundred dollars. The rates for ferriage to be one-half the sum that

John L. Bogardus gets at his ferry at Peoria. [See Ferry Rates, p. 304.]

At the December term, same year, Archibald Caldwell, blacksmith and constable,

was licensed to keep a tavern at Chicago, and to charge the same rates as those already

quoted. He was required to pay a tax of eight dollars for the privilege, and to give

bonds in the sum of one hundred dollars for a faithful observance of the laws then pre-

vailing for the regulation of taverns.

At the June— 7th— term, 1830, Rev. William See was authorized to keep a ferry

across the " Callimink," at the head of Lake Michigan, now included in South Chicago,

for which he was required to pay a tax of ten dollars. He was permitted to charge the

following rates

:

For each foot passenger - 12 J^ cents.
" " man and horse 25 "
" " wagon or cart drawn by two horses or oxen 75 "
" " four horse wagon $1 00
" " carriage or wagon 37^ cents.

Mr. See was a Methodist minister, and was the first clergyman of any denomination,

as shown by the records, to perform the marriage ceremony in Chicago. He subse-

quently removed to Racine, Wisconsin, where he died.

TURNPIKE AND ELECTION ACCOUNTS.

In June, 1830, the Court allowed Archibald Caldwell five dollars and fifty cents for

ironing a turnpike scraper ; and on the 7th of December they allowed Henley Clybourn
sixteen dollars " for one day's services as clerk of election, and bringing the election

returns to Peoria."

MARRIAGE RECORDS.

The following marriages were solemnized and recorded in Peoria county while the

jurisdiction thereof extended north to the Wisconsin State line

:

By John Kinzie, Justice of the Peace, Chicago precinct, January 2, 1S27, Peter St. Clair and Margaretta Peehe-
quetarairi. [The writing on the returns is not very legible, and i t may be the correct orthography is Perhequetaroui.]

By Rev. Jesse Walker, a regular minister of the Methodist Episcopal Church, May 3, 1828, Velat Vermit to

Cornelia Walker. Vermit was a ferryman at Ottawa, and the wedding was at the house of David Walker.

By John Beabien, Justice of the Peace, Chic^o precinct, November 5, 1828, Joseph Pothier and Victoria Ma-
raud a.

By Rev. Isaac Scarrett, a missionary of the Methodist Episcopal Church, at Holderman's Grove—near Newark,
Kendall county—^July 21, 1829, Willard Scott and Caroline, daughter of Pierce Hawley. By the same, at the same
time and place, John K. Clarke and Permelia, daughter of Stephen J. Scott.

By Rev. William See, Chicago precinct, November i, 1830, Willis Scott and Louisa B. Caldwell.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.
John Kinzie, July 28, 182";.

Billy Caldwell, whose Indian name was Sau-ga-nash, April 18, 1826.

Alexander Wolcott, Indian Agent, December 26, 1827.

John B. Beaubien, December 26, 1827.

John S. C. Hogan—afterwards postmaster—October 9, 1830.

Stephen Forbes—first sheriff of Cook county—December 13, 1830.

BILLY CALDWELL.

Billy Caldwell, named above as a justice of the peace, was the son of tin Irish officer

in the British service by a Pottawatomie Indian woman, and was educated by the Jesuits
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at Detroit. Hon. John Wentworth is authority for the statement that he was an officer

in the British service during and after the war of 1812 ; and that he styled himself as

Captain of the Indian Department, in 1816, at Fort Maiden [Amhurstburg]. He mar-
ried a sister of the Pottawatomie chief. Yellow Head, by whom he had one child, which
died young. At the time of his death. Esquire Billy Caldwell was Head Chief of the
•combined Pottawatomie, Ottawa and Chippewa Indians.

SHABONBE— AN OLD DOCUMENT.

Shabonee (French pronunciation Chamblee) was well known to many of the early

settlers at Peoria. He was born on the Ohio river, and was a chief of the Ottawa tribe

of Indians. In the war of 1812 he joined Tecumseh, and was a member of Caldwell's

band or company of Indians in that conflict. A short time before his death Shabonee
visited and remained over night with William Hickling, now living in Chicago, but then
and for many years a resident of Ottawa. At that visit he gave Mr. Hickling the original

manuscript of the following paper, which is evidence that Billy Caldwell was neither an
ignorant man nor a mere pretender :

" This is to certify that the bearer of this name, Chamblee, was a faithful companion to me during the late war with
the United States. The bearer joined the late warrior, Tecumthe [Tecumseh], of the Shawnee nation, in the year

1807, on the Wabash river, and remained with the above warrior from the commencement of the hostilities with the

United States until our defeat at Moravian Town, on the Thames, October 5, 1813. I also have been witness to his

intrepidity and courageous warfare on many occasions, and he showed a great deal of humanity to those unfortunate

sons of Mars who fell into his hands. B. Caldwell, Captain I. D.
" Amhurstburg, August I, 1816."

" This document," continues Mr. Wentworth, who saw it, " was written on a half

sheet of old-fashioned English foolscap paper, plainly water-marked ' C. & S., 1813.' "

Shabonee assured Mr. Hickling when he presented the paper to him that he had always
worn it on his person. This certificate of character was undoubtedly given to the old

chief to assist him with the British government, but as he afterwards became a good In-

dian, and highly esteemed by the early settlers of that part of Illinois in which he lived,

it was of little benefit to him in the way intended.

CHAPTER X.

THE COUNTY SEAT.

Pre-empting the Land— Survey of the Town Site — Streets and Alleys— Sale of Town Lots — County Court
Orders and Whisky Securing the Title— The Military Tract — Fractional Sections-— French Claims— Title

Secured. Personal : William S. Hamilton— Barney Norris.

The law under which Peoria county was organized gave the County Commissioner's
Court the control and management of the quarter-section of land on which it was pro-

vided the county seat should be located. The first action by the court in regard to it

was taken on the 12th of March, 1825, when it was " ordered that N&,than Dillon, one of

the commissioners, be authorized to make application to the register of the land office at

Springfield for the right to pre-empt the said quarter-section, for the purpose of estab-

lishing the County Seat of Peoria county, according to the act of Congress of 1823."

The pre-emption was secured, and on the 7th day of June, 1825, the commissioners
being in session, the following record was made :

Ordered, That William Holland be authorized to employ some suitable person to survey lots on the northeast

quarter of section nine, township eight north, and range eight east of the fourth principal meridian, said lots to be
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one hundred feet in length, including eight feet to be deducted from each lot for an alley, and eighty feet wide. The
street on the shore ofthe lake to be one hundred and ten feet in width, and all the other streets to be one hundred feet

wide.

At the September session the subject again came up, and in answer to the request of

William Holland and others that a town may be laid out as the County Seat of Peoria

county, having an eye to the present and future convenience of the citizens, the court

ordered

:

1. That the streets run to the cardinal points. '

2. That the squares shall be 360 feet, containing ten lots each.

3. That lots shall be seventy-two feet in front and 180 feet in rear.

4. The public square shall contain four square blocks.

5. Water street shall be no feel wide, commencing on the edge or break of the bank and running back no
feet.

6. Water street shall run parallel with the bank of the lake, so that the blocks fronting the same may be the

same distance from the break of the bank, that is, no feet.

7. All the streets, except Water street, shall be one hundred feet wide, and extend to low water mark, where the

fraction on which the town is situated, will admit.

8. From the edge of the bank, to low water mark, shall be considered as town property, and be disposed of as

water lots.

9. Fractional lots and blocks fronting on Water street are considered as exceptions to the above, and to be laid

off in the same size as the others, where the angles will admit.

10. A sufficient space shall be reserved on the water lots for a market place, when the same shall be deemed
necessary.

Under date of December 8, 1825, the following entry appears:

Whereas, By an act of Congress there has been granted to each county the preference in purchase of one-

quarter-section of land, in case the seat of justice for the same should be located on public land, and the General

Assembly of this State, in pursuance thereof, at their last session, passed an act establishing the county of Peoria, and

fixing the County Seat of justice therefor on public land, and on the northeast quarter of section nine ; and,

Whereas, At a late session of this court it was ordered that said fraction be laid off as a town, which order has

been carried into effect, and a number of inhabitants having settled and made improvements on said fraction
;
and.

Whereas, It is deemed that the value of the lots thereof will be enhanced, and the interest of the county pro-

moted by the encouragement of settlements on the same ; therefore, be it

Ordered, That all such lots so laid off on the said fraction as are now, or shall have been built on previous to the

public sales as contemplated by this court, and also one lot for every house built on said fraction previous to the survey

of the same as a town, and which in said survey, have fallen in the streets, to be selected by the owners of said Bouse,

to be reserved from sale ; and it is further

Ordered, That the owner or owners of all such houses or buildings shall have the preference in the purchase of

the lots so reserved, at the average value of the lots sold according to situation, said value to be ascertained by this

court, by reference to the actual sales at the public sales as above ; and be it further

Ordered, That no preference shall be allowed as above, for any improvement that may hereafter be made on any

of the following lots, that is to say : Beginning at the northeast end of Front street, on lots No. I, 2 and 3, 5, 6 and

7, and so on alternately through its whole length, except such as are now claimed as above, in which case the lot adjoin-

ing shall be reserved from the privilege of redemption ;
and on all the other streets leading north and south, the lots

t and 2, 4 and 5, and so on alternately through the whole length of each street, shall be reserved from the privilege

of pre-emption commencing at the north end of the street ;
provided, that it is hereby expressly understood that this

court does not bind itself to guaranty the above specified preferences of purchase in any case, should the said court

not acquire for the use of the county, as aforesaid, the legal right in fee simple to the fraction above described

;

and, provided, also, that the above right of preference is in no case to be executed to any but actual settlers on said

lots.

On the 6th of March, 1826, Mr. Dixon, the Clerk to the County Commissioners'

Court, was authorized in behalf of the court to make application, officially, to the Register

and Receiver of the Land Office at Springfield, for a written statement of the obstacles and

objections, (if any exist,) which prevented the entry of the quarter section of land upon

which the Legislature designated the county seat should be located, as it was anticipated

that some objections might arise on account of the exact quantity of land not being

known. After securing this information from the land office and the objections, if there

were any, Mr. Dixon was directed to proceed to St. Louis and apply to the surveyor

general for a plat of the survey of this particular quarter section, and if no such plat

could be furnished without a resurvey, to contract with the surveyor general for that

purpose, at the expense of the county, for a speedy completion of such resurvey, and to

request that a plat be made immediately, properly authenticated and forwarded to the
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register and receiver. If there were no objections, Dixon was authorized to enter the
lands on behalf of the county.

*

There seems to have been some objections or obstacles in the way of the entry, al-

though no report of such objections or obstacles appear of record, for, at the July session

(1826) the treasurer was " ordered to pay John Dixon thirty-four dollars and eighty-five

cents for going to St. Louis, by order of the Court, and for postage, clerk hire," etc.

Whatever difficulties and objections may have at first existed as to the purchase of

tMs quarter section, they seem to have been fully overcome, for at a special term of the

court, on the 2d of May, 1826, it was
,

Ordered, That John Dixon be and he is hereby authorized to borrow, on the credit of the county of Peoria, one
hundred and eighty-four dollars, sixty-two and one-half cents, by him to be paid to the receiver of the land office at

Springfield, in payment for the northeast fractional quarter of section number nine, town eight north, range eight

east of the fourth principal meridian, and that he be authorized to issue orders on the treasury to such person as shall

loan the said county the above money, at any interest not exceeding twenty-five per cent, per annum until paid.

Arrangements were made with William Holland, one of the Commissioners, under
which that gentleman agreed to advance the money necessary to pay for the county seat

quarter, but if it was paid over to the County Clerk it was never used for that purpose,

as before the obstacles in the way of purchase were removed, there were funds enough
in the treasury to pay for the land without borrowing.

At the same time a resurvey of the town site was ordered, it was also ordered that

the streets should run parallel with the river, that Front (or Water) street should remain

the same width as previously established, and that all the other streets should be one
hundred feet in width, and the lots and blocks as before quoted. It was also " ordered

that the Clerk advertise a sale of lots on the tenth day of July, 1826, on the following

terms : Ten per cent, of the purchase money cash in hand, and the balance in three

equal payments at six, twelve and eighteen months, by purchasers giving their notes. In

case of failure on the part of the purchasers to meet the deferred payments, then the ten

per cent, cash payment was forfeited to the county."
July 8, two days before the day advertised for the sale of town lots, the Court being

in session, it was ordered that " Joseph Smith— one of the Commissioners— be author-

ized to employ an auctioneer and furnish whisky for the sale of lots in Peoria."

The sale came ofF as advertised, and under the terms and conditions of ten per cent,

cash, etc., the cash receipts were one hundred and thirty-nine dollars and thirty-eight

cents. In settling up the expenses incident to the sale, the following orders appear of

record :

Ordered, That the treasurer pay William Clark three dollars for crying the sale of lots in the town of Peoria.

Ordered, That the treasurer pay John Hamlin three dollars and fifty cents for whisky and paper furnished for

the sale of lots in Peoria.

W. S. Hamilton was allowed fifty-eight dollars and seventy-five cents for making the

survey. A. C. Ballard was a chain carrier, and was allowed two dollars. Henry Neely

assisted in the survey and was allowed four dollars. William Clark for cash and services

was allowed ten dollars and fifty cents.

December 4, 1826, an order was entered retaining W. S. Hamilton, as counsel in behalf

of the County Commissioners for obtaining the title to the county seat quarter. What
is known as the Military Tract, within which Peoria county is included, was appropriated

by Congress for the benefit of the soldiers of the war of 1812. This tract commenced at

the mouth of the Illinois river, extended north one hundred and sixty-two miles to a line

running east from the Mississippi to the Illinois river, and included all the land between
that line and the two rivers. Its area was 8,640 square miles, or 5,529,600 acres. The
full sections were granted to the soldiers, for whose benefit the land was intended, while

the fractionsl sections along the Mississippi and Illinois were subject to the same laws as

other public lands. The law under which Peoria was organized designated a part of one
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of these fractional sections as a site for the county seat. The commissioners, as already
shown, took steps to aecure the right of pre-emption thereto, with a view to an early
purchase of the same ; and, although they made repeated efforts in that direction, they
failed of their object until December, 1834.

Under an act of Congress approved May 15, 1820, entitled "An act for the relief of
the inhabitants of the village of Peoria, in the State of Illinois," and a subsequent act
approved March 3, 1823, entitled "An act to confirm certain claims to lots in the village

of Peoria, in the State of Illinois," certain French claims came to pester the authorities

and hinder the purchase of the land.

Between the last session of the Court in 1826, which was held in the month of De-
cember, and the beginning of the year 1830, numerous orders were entered of record in

regard to securing the title, and different agents were appointed to visit the Eegister and
Receiver of the U. S. Land Office, to urge the claim of the Commissioners, but' without
avail. In the early Spring of 1830, the Commissioners had some encouragement, and on
Wednesday, the 3d day of March, of that year, they declared that "whereas it was un-
derstood there was a probability that the county of Peoria would shortly obtain the title

to the land whereon to fix their county seat ; and that as certain persons were desirous

of making improvements at said county seat, etc., that any such person making improve-
ments to the amount of twenty-five dollars on any of the lots, not exceeding two, should
be entitled to the refusal of them at such price as might be fixed upon them by appraisers

to be appointed by the Court."

At the same session Stephen Stillman was appointed a " special agent on the part of

the county of Peoria for the purpose of obtaining for the use of the county the right of

soil to the north-east fractional quarter of section number nine, town eight north, range
eight east, with full power to act for the county," etc. The commissioners, on the part
of the county, bound themselves to accept any part of said quarter section, be it more or

less, that might remain after deducting that which was appropriated by a law of Congress
for " Peoria Claims," in Heu of a full quarter allowed by Congress to each new county
seat. They also recommended that a special act of Congress be passed granting to the

county of Peoria the remaining part of the fractional quarter section after deducting the
" Peoria Claims," as aforesaid.

There is no record to show what Stillman accomplished, but from the fact that his

appointment as agent was revoked at the March session, 1831, it is fair to presume his

acts were not satisfactory. Abner Eads was appointed to succeed Stillman, and was
authorized to make a tender of money to the Register and Receiver of the Land Office

at Springfield for the county seat quarter, at the rate of one dollar and twenty-five cents

an acre, and to obtain a certificate of entry therefor. He was also directed to assure the

Register and Receiver that they— the Commissioners— were willing to accept what
was left of the quarter section after the "Peoria Claims" were satisfied. On
April 6, 1832, the Court ordered a sale of lots to take place, on the 10th day of

May following, and during the sitting of the Spring term of the Circuit Court. The
sale was ordered to be advertised in the Vandalia Whig, Illinois Intelligencer, Sangamon
Journal and Missouri Republican, Terms of sale : One-fourth cash in hand and the

balance in three equal payments. At the same time a value was fixed upon certain lots

which were numbered and registered.

July 3, 1832, John Coyle and Aquila Wren were authorized to draw two hundred
dollars from the County treasury to pay for the land, and twenty-five dollars for ex-

penses, and proceed to Springfield and make tender of payment. Their mission, if they

went, was fruitless of results, for on the 5th of October following, John Coyle, one of

the Commissioners, was authorized to take two hundred dollars from the County treasury

and proceed to Springfield and pay for the county-seat quarter, if the necessary papers

had been furnished from the Surveyor General's office at St, Louis ; if not, then to pro-
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ceed there and procure the papers necessary to enable the matter to be settled. But even
yet the question remained to vex the Court and retard building improvements. Diffi-

culties remained in the way until removed by a special act of Congress approved March
2, 1833. At a special session of the Court, July 13, 1833, it was

Ordered, That under the provisions of an act of Congress passed on the 2d day of March last, entitled "An act

to authorize the County Commissioners of the County of Peoria, State of Illinois, to enter a fractional quarter sec-

tion of land for a seat of justice and for other purposes," we, the undersigned, County Commissioners of the county

aforesaid, do hereby authorize John Coyle to enter the northeast fractional quarter of section nine, in town eighf

north of the base line, in range eight east of the fourth principal meridian, for the purposes aforesaid under the pro-

visions of the above recited act of Congress, and insiruct him to make payment therefor, and at the same time to de-

posit with the land officers at Springfield, Illinois, a copy of this order to be transmitted to the General Land office.

And we do hereby, in behalf of said county, in the name of ourselves and successors in office, state and declare

that, in making the said entry under the provisions of the said act of Congress, we do exclude from said entry any
lands or lots lawfully belonging to any person or persons whatever.

Signed A. WREN,
)

JOHN COYLE, \ Commissioners.

E. S. JONES, )

Isaac Waters, Clerk.

This was the last commission appointed to visit the land office, and on the 16th day
of December, 1834, a patent issued to the County Commissioners for one hundred and
forty-seven acres and fifteen hundredths of an acre of land whereon the Legislature had
declared the county-seat should be located.

PERSONAL.

The original town site was surveyed by William S. Hamilton, a son of Alexander
Hamilton, who was killed in a duel with Aaron Burr in 1804. He was afterwards en-

gaged as one of the government surveyors, probably as a contractor, in the Rock river

country, and in 1832 had a smelting furnace in the edge of Wisconsin, a few miles north-

east from Galena. In the Black Hawk war a fort was erected at his "diggings" and
called Fort Hamilton, which was under command of Captain George W. Harrison.

Captain Harrison, after trying in vain to get a cannon at Galena, had some leaden pieces

cast at Hamilton's furnace to resemble cannon, and mounted them at the fort as a terror

to the Indians, who always had a dread of "big guns." At the beginning of the war
Colonel Hamilton mustered two hundred and thirty Indians, mostly Sioux, with some
Menominees and Winnebagoes, and reported at Galena with them on the 8th of June,
1882. There was bad blood between the Sioux and Menominees and the Sacs and
Foxes. The Sioux especially were eager for the affray and anxious for Sac and Fox
scalps. Colonel Hamilton was a brave and fearless man as well as officer, and did

valuable service during the Black Hawk war.

Note.—Alexander Hamilton was born at Nevis, West Indies, in 1757. While a student at Columbia College,

at the age of seventeen years, he published several essays concerning the rights of the colonies which were marked
by vigor and maturity of style, as well as by soundness of argument. He entered the American army before he was
nineteen, with the rank of captain of artillery, and by the time he was twenty, the commander-in-chief made him his

aid-de-camp, with the rank of lieutenant colonel, was his almost inseparable companion, and was consulted by
General Washington on all important army matters. After the war he studied law. In 1782 he was elected a mem-
ber of Congress from New York, and soon acquired great influence in that body. He contributed largely to the

favorable reception of the constitution by the essays he wrote in conjunction with Madison, and which were pub-
lished in the Federalist. On the organization of the Federal government in 1789, he was appointed secretary of the

treasury, and in the five years he held that position, he raised the public credit from the lowest depression to a height
altogether unprecedented in the history of the country. In 1798, when the French invasion was threatened, and a
provisional called into the field his public services, he again responded, and on the death of Washington, December
I4i 1799- lis succeeded to the chief command. When the army was disbanded he returned to the practice of law.
In the Summer of 1804, a quarrel arose between him and Aaron Burr, which resulted in a duel at Hoboken, on the
nth of July. Hamilton fell mortally wounded at the first fire. His eldest son was killed in a duel on the same
ground some years previous.

—

Zell.

It is said of Colonel Hamilton that some years after the duel between his father and
Burr, he followed the latter to St. Louis and challenged him to mortal combat, but that
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Burr declined to accept the challenge, because, as he expressed it, of the difference in
their ages.

When the California gold excitement began to agitate the country. Colonel Hamilton
left the Galena section and went to that country, where he died. Some years after his

death and burial, the question as to the location of his grave was raised, but could not be
settled by the people there. At last it was learned that Barney Norris, a mulatto man,
who had been in Hamilton's employ in California, and who was with him in his last sick-

ness, and present at his burial, had returned to the States and was living at Galena. He
was appealed to, and in a letter to the interested parties, he so accurately described

the last resting place of Colonel Hamilton there was no difficulty in finding his grave.

LAST OF THE COUNTS' OOMMISSIONBES.

Under influences previously recited,the constitutional provisions of 1848 and subsequent
law of 1849 were enacted, enabling the people of the several counties of the State to vote
" for" or " against " township organization. This question was submitted to the voters

of the State at the election on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November, 1849,
and was adopted by most of the counties north of the Illinois river.

Under the provisions of an act of the legislature opposed February 12,1849, a County
Court was created. Section one of this law provided " that there should be established

in each of the counties of this State, now created and organized, or which may hereafter

be created or organized, a court of record, to be styled the ' County Court, ' to be held and
consist of one judge, to be styled the ' County Judge.' " Section seventeen of the same
act [see pp. 307-10, Statutes of 1848] provided for the election of two additional justices

of the peace, whose jurisdiction should be co-extensive with the counties, etc., and who
should sit with the county judge as members of the court, for the transaction of all county
business, and none other.

The last session of the County Commissioner's Court was a special session, and com-
menced on Tuesday the 20th and closed on Friday the 23rd day of November, 1849.
William Mitchell, who had served as Clerk of the Court for several years died, on the

13th of November and at a previous session Ralph Hamlin was appointed to the vacancy.
The following is the last order of the old style County Commissioner's Court.

Ordered, That the Treasurer pay the following persops the amounts set opposite their respective names :

Thomas Mooney, five days attendance $12.50
James L Riggs, " " " -. 12.50

Joseph Ladd, " " " 12,50
Ralph Hamlin, " " " as Clerk 12.50
William Compher " " " as Sheriff 5.00

Thomas Turbott, for brick 72.00

Thomas Mooney,"]
James L. Riggs, V Commissioners.

Ralph Hamlin, J[oseph Ladd, J

Clerk, Pro tern.

COUNTY COURT.

At the November election, 1849, Thomas Bryant was elected County Judge. The
first term of this Court—Joseph Ladd and John McFarland, Associate Judges—was held
on Monday, the 8d day of December, 1849, and from that time until a Board of Supervisors

was elected and fully organized in the Spring of 1850, had full management of the busi-

ness affairs of the county. On the 6th of December, the Clerk certified to the Court an
abstract of the votes cast " for " and " against " township organization, which was as

follows

:

For township organization 2,147
Against township organization - - 19

2,166

Majority in favor of township organization 2,128
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The Court then appointed David Sanborn, George Holmes, and Mark Aikin, com-
missioners to divide the county into townships. There seems to be no report of their

action on record, and hence it is assumed that the commissioners did not report in favor
of any change from the lines established by the government surveyors.

The last term of the County Court, while managing the county affairs, was held on
the 4th of June, 1850, when the Supervisors succeeded fully to the public duties they
are now discharging.

FIEST MEETING OF THE BOARD OP STJPBRVISOES.

The first election of Supervisors in the several townships occurred at the regular

April election, 1850, and the first meeting of the Board was held on the 8th of the same
month. At that meeting the following twelve townships were represented as follows

:

TOWNSHIPS. SUPERVISORS.

HoUis Stephen C. Wheeler.
Rosefield John Combs.
Orange Samuel Dimon.
Richwood Josiah Fulton.

Chillicothe Charles S. Strother.

Benton Jonathan Brassfield.

TOWNSHIPS, SUPERVISORS.

Akron .Benjamin Slane.

Limestone Isaac Brown.
Princeville L. B. Cornwell.

Jubilee William W. Church.
Millbrook Clark W. Stanton.

Trivoli David R. Gregory.

Charles Kelette, Clerk. Samuel Dimon was elected Chairman of the Board.
At a meeting of the Board on the 9th of June, 1850, a communication was read by

the Clerk from the Auditor of State advising the Board that there was a township known
as Orange, in another part of the State, of older date, and directing that another name
be selected for the Peoria county township so designated. Kickapoo, after the Kickapoo
Indians, was substituted, by which name it has ever since been known.

Benton was changed to Fremont at the same time and for the same reason, and on
the 20th of June, in response to a letter from the Auditor of State, advising the Board
that there was already a Fremont township, the name was changed to Radnor, in honor
of one of the first settlers in that part of the county. Since then there have been no
changes of note in any of the townships.

CHAPTER XI.

OLD TIME BRIDGES. MODERN STRUCTURES.

First Bridge Across the Kickapoo— Award of the Contract— Trouble with the Contractor— Completion of

the Structure— First Bridge Across the Mississippi— Iron Wagon and Railway Bridges— Triumphs of Engineer-

ing Skill.

With the increase of immigration and spread of settlements, there came a demand
and necessity for wagon bridges across the Kickapoo and other creeks that were often so

swollen by melting snows and heavy rains as to be impassable. Floods were of more fre-

quent occurrence before the wild sod was broken, and the earth loosened by the plow of

the husbandman than since. This is explained on the hypothesis that the sod presented
greater resistance to absorption than cultivated ground, and, consequently, a greater

quantity of the rain-fall found its way into the beds of the creeks.

In the early part of 1827, a site was selected for a bridge across the Kickapoo, and
at a special session of the Commissioners' Court, March 16, 1827, an order was issued to

erect a public bridge across Kickapoo creek, a short distance above the present fording

on the public road from Peoria to Lewistown.
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The Court was in session on the 7th of April, but there is nothing to be found on
record to show to whom, or at what price, the contract was let. The following order,
however, under date of March 4, 1828, indicates that the contract was let to John L.
Bogardus

:

Ordered, That a suit be commenced in the Circuit Court against John L. Bogardus, as principal, and John Dixon
and Augustus Langworthy, as sureties, on a bond for five hundred dollars, conditioned for building a bridge across
Kickapoo creek in Peoria county, conformable to an order of the County Commissioners' Court, and that the clerk
forward the necessary documents to the Attorney-General, with a request that he commence suit immediately on
behalf of the county.

At a special session of the Court, June 13, 1829, the clerk was directed to advertise

another letting of the bridge, July 11, 1829. This is the last order respecting the bridge
until a special session of the Court, July 28, 1830, when it was " Ordered, That the bridge
across Kickapoo creek, engaged to be built by John Cameron, be accepted as finished

according to contract," and he was allowed fifty dollars as balance of contract price. No
entry of the price for which the bridge was " engaged to be built," is to be found upon
the old journal.

GTJABDING AGAINST ACCIDENTS.

The preservation of bridges and precautions against accidents were carefully guarded
by the early public authorities. At a March term— 1836— of the County Court, it was
" Ordered, That no person be allowed to go on or cross over any frame bridge in the
county of Peoria with more than four yoke of oxen and the load drawn by them, or six

horses and their load, under penalty of paying whatever damages might occur." A copy
of this order was attached to the appointment or "commission" of each road sijpervisor,

and they were expected to see that it was respected and obeyed.

MODERN BEIDGES.

That old bridge, the first wagon bridge to span the Kickapoo, was also the first one
built in any part of the county at the expense of the county. In those days, and for a
good many years later, it was thought impossible to build a wagon bridge without heavy
timbers morticed together with two-inch tenons and fastened in place with inch or inch
and-a-half pins, and otherwise strongly supported and braced. Time and art-science,

however, have demonstrated that stronger bridges can be built with much smaller tim-

bers, and without mortices and tenons. In 1830 the idea of bridging such water courses

as the Illinois, Mississippi and Missouri rivers, was not conceived. The first settlers of

the country west of those great water courses crossed them in Indian canoes as Abner
crossed the Illinois river at the old trading house, Wesley City, in the early Summer of

1819. After canoe-ferries came ferry boats that were worked by hand with sweeps or

great big oars. Starting in on either side of the larger streams these boats hugged up the

shore as closely as possible for some distance, then pulled out diagonally across the river

in the direction of the opposite shore. When the center of the current was reached, the

prow of the boat was headed obliquely down the stream towards the landing point.

After that kind of ferry came horse ferries and then steam ferries. Until St. Paul, Min-
nesota, built a great wagon bridge across the Mississippi at that place, the first bridge of

any kind to span the " Father of Waters," the great majority of people thought, if they

thought at all, that ferries would be used for all time to come, in crossing that mighty
river. Profiting by the successful accomplishment of the St. Paul undertaking, active

mechanical and engineering minds set to work, and as a result, the Mississippi and Mis-

souri rivers are bridged in a dozen places with iron railway bridges, many of them with
wagon-ways combined. The smaller rivers were less difficult to overcome, and now
these great watercourses offer but little obstacle to travel or commerce between the cities

of the Atlantic and those of the golden-sloped Pacific. Engineering skill has annihilated

distance and time, so that passengers and freight are transferred from ocean to ocean in
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a brief period without sacrificing the comfort of the former or changing cars or breaking
bulk of the latter.

The old first bridge at the Lewistown road crossing of the serpentine Kickapoo, was
several times replaced with wooden structures. Other bridges were built at other cros-

sings, but nearly all of them have given place to iron bridges that rest on solid stone

piers and abutments. These 'structures bid defiance to winds and floods and ice-gorges,

and will last for generations to come.
The first of these iron bridges in Peoria county was built in 18T1, at a cost of $10,-

400. At the August session, 1873, of the Committee on Roads and Bridges of the Board
of Supervisors contracted with the King Iron Bridge Co., of Cleveland, Ohio, for a

bridge on the Farmington road at Kickapoo creek, of 120 foot span at $25.30 per lineal

foot. And with the Canton, Ohio, Company for 125 foot span over Spoon river at

$26.50 per lineal foot, the total cost being $18,861. Besides these bridges, there is one
large iron bridge over the Kickapoo creek at the plank road crossing ; and one at the

middle road crossing spanning the same creek ; and over Spoon river at Elmore, besides

numerous smaller structures in the county, in which iron has taken the place of wood in

almost every instance.

CHAPTER XII.

COUNTY BUILDINGS.

The early Court House— The County Jail— New Court House— Laying the Corner Stone— House Warming—
County Infirmary— Poor Farm — Circuit Court —^Judges— The Criminal Calendar— Official Record.

When Peoria county was organized in the Spring of 1825, there were but few houses

at Port Clark. All of them were small structures, built of logs, and, with one or two
exceptions, were occupied as private residences. There was not a building in the county
seat of the new county that could be secured for the exclusive use of any of the county
officers, and as a consequence they were forced to keep their offices at their residences,

as already shown in the case of County Clerk Waters. This was the most important

office at that time. The sheriff and treasurer had but little need for an office, and while

the sheriff could carry the papers belonging to his office in his hat, the treasurer could

carry those belonging to his department in his pockets. The requirements of the other

officers were equally limited, and when business was wanted with any of them, if they

could not accommodate the demand on the street, or wherever they were at work—county

officers had to work in those days—they adjourned to their cabins.

The first term of the Circuit Court was held in a small log cabin that stood at or

near the place occupied by the Fort Clark mill. Subsequent terms of the court were
held under similar conditions. In March, 1829, John Hamlin, for the sum of seventy-

five dollars, assigned to the County Commissioners, for the use of the county, all his

right, title and interest in a log house that stood between Water Street and the river, a

little below where the Toledo, Peoria and Warsaw Railroad bridge spans the river, and
known as the Crozier house, which was used for several years for the purposes of county
offices, courts, etc. This building had been erected and occupied as a store house by
Simon Crozier, and was the one in the upper story of which the Circuit Court was held

when the cabin court room became too small to accommodate the attendance.
In June, 183.3, the County Court being in session, it was " ordered that the Clerk

advertise in the Sangamon Journal that sealed proposals would be received at the Clerk's

office in the town of Peoria, until the 9th day of July next, for furnishing 150,000 brick
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on the public square in said town of Peoria, at which time and place contracts will be
entered into for the said brick ; also, that at the same time contracts would be given for

furnishing the stone and lumber that might be wanted to construct a court house."
A special session of the Court was held on July 9, at which the proposals thus in-

yited were examined. Samuel Hackelton was awarded the contract for furnishing the
brick, at five dollars per thousand, and required to enter into bonds, " with good and
sufficient security," for a faithful performance of his part of the contract. The contract

for furnishing the lumber was awarded to Moffatt and Hamlin.
In September, 1833, a contract was awarded to Daniel Fash, senior, for furnishing

the material for the foundation walls, but at a special session of the court in January,

1834, this contract was cancelled by request of J. N. Chrisman, the surviving obligor.

At the same session— September, 1833— John Hamlin was employed as agent to furnish

rock for the court-house foundations, and the hewn timber necessary, on as good terms
as he could secure. The clerk was also directed to advertise in the Sangamon Journal,

Beardstown Chronicle and St. Louis Republican, that sealed proposals would be received

at the clerk's office in Peoria, until the third day of the next term of the Commissioners'
Court, for doing the mason work in laying the foundation walls, and also the brick work,
the county furnishing all the materials. Proposals were also invited for the carpenter

work, exclusive of the doors and windows ; plans and specifications to be seen at the
clerk's office. Aquila Wren, John Coyle and E. S. Jones were the Commissioners at

this time, and under their administration measures for building the court-house had
been inaugurated.

At the March term (1834) of the court, the contract for the mason work was awarded
to Charles W. McClelan, and the carpenter work to George B. Macy.

At a special session in April, Francis Voris was appointed agent to superintend the

building, and served until July 10, next following, when he was succeeded by Isaac

Waters. At the same time Waters was appointed building superintendent, he was given

a contract to furnish the stone, rough and dressed, for the foundation walls of the

court-house, to be delivered, ready for use, whenever and wherever the masons should
direct.

In October, 1834, John Hamlin was appointed agent for the county to superintend

the building of the court-house, and furnish material on the best terms to be secured.

From this order it appears that Mr. Waters had failed to meet the obligations of his con-

tract to furnish stone, as previously noted, and as building superintendent. He was County
Clerk at the time, and by reason of the infirmities of age, etc., the County Commis-
sioners found it expedient to remove him from office. William Mitchell was appointed

to the succession.

McClelan failed to complete the foundation walls as per agreement, and in October,

1834, the County Commissioners resolved to take the work under their own management.
This resolution, on the part of the Commissioners, provoked a controversy between the

court and Mr. McClelan, which became a subject of arbitration. Five citizens— Francis

Voris, George B. Macy, William Compher, Jacob N. Chrisman and A. S. Buxton, were
chosen arbitrators, it being agreed that their decision should be accepted and considered

a rule of court. While there is no record of that decision on the journal, it is fair to pre-

sume the differences between the Commissioners and Mr. McClelan were settled to the

satisfaction of both parties, as McClelan's name subsequently appears as one of the me-
chanics engaged on the court-house work.

April 28, 1834, special session, Joshua Bowman was awarded the contract for fur-

nishing the base stones for the columns in. front of the old temple of justice. These stones

were four feet square and ten inches in thickness. They were delivered, ready to be put

in place, for thirty-five dollars.
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On the next day, April 29, some additions and alterations having been decided, the
following agreement was entered on record

:

Ordered, And it is hereby agreed that Hamlin and Macy forthwith proceed with the

work on the court-house, agreeable to contract, and that all extra work, additions, altera-

tions and damages which have arisen, or may arise, in consequence of delay by the mason
work not being completed in such manner as to allow them to proceed agreeable to con-

tract, shall be allowed for hereafter, and the amount thereof shall be computed by two or

more disinterested mechanics ; provided, that the original contract shall be in no wise

invalidated by the passage of this order. Reuben B. Hamlin.
George B. Mact.

Under this agreement the work was pushed rapidly forward, and at the June term,

1835, instructions were given to invite proposals for painting, etc. In July Joshua Bow-
man was awarded the contract for furnishing the dressed stone for the steps to the front

of the court-house at sixty-two and-a-half cents per foot, and at the December term of

the court he was awarded a contract for four plain round columns at ten dollars per foot,

running measure.

At this— December— session Henry Gilbert, on the part of the county and W. A.
Blair, on the part of Reuben B. Hamlin, were chosen to arbitrate the cost of the addi-

tions, alterations, damages, etc., as provided in' the order or agreement of April 29, the

arbitration resulting as follows

:

To additional size of building $300 00
" one extra window ._ 11 50
" extra work done on windows _. 75 00
" ballustrades around bell deck 50 00
•' damages for failure on part of contract 570 00
" hindrance forjlumber this Summer 50 00
" glue, 20 and 31^ cents 625
" extra work on capitals 150 00
" cash paid for labor _. I 50
' " " drayage 50

Total. |I,2I4 75

Which amount was ordered to be passed to the credit of Hamlin.
The court-house was fully completed in the Winter of 1835-6. The lower story was

originally divided into six rooms or offices, three of which were assigned to county
officers, and the other three leased to lawyers." Some years after its completion, not being

fire-proof, the safety of the county records began to interest the people. Some of them
favored pulling down the building and erecting a finer and better one, one that would be

fire-proof. The proposition was thoroughly discussed. The heaviest tax-payers in the

county, as a rule, were opposed to the measiire, while those who paid no taxes were in

favor of a new building. The citizens of Peoria, tax-payers and non-tax-payers combined
in favor of a building that would cost one hundred thousand dollars, but they were over-

powered by the farmer interests, and a compromise was made which resulted in the erec-

tion of fire-proof wings for the protection of "the records, which were used as clerk's

offices until the entire structure was sold to David Burns for $250, and torn down and
removed, in May, 1876, to make room for the present magnificent temple of justice. The
wings cost about f19,000.

The old court-house was several times remodeled to suit the notions of those who
were entrusted with the management of the county offices. Bench, bar, jury-box, seats,

etc., were all several times changed from the original plan ; the stairs were removed from
the inside to the outside of the building, and in fact when the old building was torn

down, "except the walls, columns, etc., there was but little of the original structure left.

COUNTY JAIL.

For nine years after the county was organized there was no jail. In some cases,



HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY. 327

where offenses were not bailable, or where bail could not be secured, prisoners were
guarded by persons employed for that purpose, and in other cases they were taken to
jails in other counties for safe keeping. No-ma-que, the Indian murderer of a French-
man, and the first criminal in the county, was kept under guard a part of the time, and
a part of the time he was imprisoned at Edwardsville. In consequence of the absence
of a jail and the cost of guarding prisoners or keeping them in jails so far away as Ed-
wardsville, many evil-doers escaped arrest and punishment that otherwise would have
been made to "languish in durance vile."

The fiirst county jail was bixilt in 1834. It was buUt of square logs and stood on the
alley between Main, and Hamilton, and Monroe and Perry streets. It was sixteen feet

square and fourteen feet high. It is thus described by Mr. Charles Ballance : " The
lower story was constructed of three thicknesses of logs— two lying horizontally and
one between them standing perpendicularly, so that should an attempt be made to bore
the logs out, the perpendicular ones would come down and stop the hole. The upper
story was of only one thickness of logs. The corners were dove-tailed to give strength
to the structure. The floor of the lower part was made of square timbers fitted closely

together, and covered with heavy oak plank, well spiked. Above the strong room
there was a strong floor, with a trap door. There was no door in the lower story or

prison part. The upper story was reached by a pair of outside stairs. Prisoners were
taken up these stairs, and, with the help of a ladder, passed down through the trap door
to the lower room. After their descent, the ladder was drawn up, and the trap door
closed and bolted." The cost of this structure was one thousand dollars.

As small and inconvenient as this jail may have been, it was made to answer the
purpose until 1849, when another one, part stone and part brick, was built at the inter-

section of Washington and North Fayette streets. That building cost $11,000, and con-
tinued to be used as a jail until the present structure was completed in 1869. Its great
distance from the court house rendered it inconvenient. This inconvenience was ac-

knowledged when the location was flrst selected, but there were difficulties in the way
of avoiding it. The greatest of these difficulties was in the fact that the county had
sold all the lots around the court-house square, and they were all occupied, or if not oc-

cupied, were held at such prices that it was considered bad economy to buy them back
at from ten to twenty times as much as they had been sold for. But at last it was found
to be a matter of economy to repurchase ground enough near the court-house for a jail,

and in 1867 the Board of Supervisors bought the lots on which the present jail is erected

for $6,000, and-^hich the County Commissioners had sold for seventy-five dollars. The
new jail was completed and turned over to the Sheriff, under order of the County Board
of Supervisors, Feb'y 24, 1869, at a cost of $75,000, and is one of the finest buildings of

its kind in the West.
THE NB\y COTTBT-HOTJSB.

The first court-house worthy the name in Peoria county, was commenced in 1835
and completed and occupied in September, 1835. In the day of its completion it was
recognized as a handsome structure and a credit to the enterprise and liberality of the
people by whom it was built. But as time passed on and the elements of nature beat

against its walls, its beauty faded and it began to look dingy and dilapidated. A few
years previous to the beginning of the rebellion, steps were taken toward erecting a new
building in the rear of the old structure, fronting on Jefferson street. Work was begun,
and one wing— that used for the office of the circuit clerk previous to the commence-
ment of the present magnificent building— completed. Then the war came on, and the

court-house fever was lost in the new excitement. The proposition to build a new court-

house was abandoned, and the efforts of the people were turned to saving the country.

From that time until 1874 the project to build a new temple of justice remained in

abeyance.



328 HISTOEY OP PEORIA COUNTY.

Oa Thursday, December 10, 1874, the County Board being in session, Supervisor

Anderson, from the Committee on Public Baildings, offered the following:

Gentlemen :—The undersigned would respectfully report that from careful observation he has been able to

note the following facts :

The present court-house is getting old and dilapidated, unsightly and uncomfortable, unwholesome and un-

savory, leaky in the roof, floors and windows and doors that are neither ornamental nor hardly useful ; that its founda-

tions are showing decay ; and finally, that the present court-house of Peoria county is entirely inadequate in accom-
modations for the business of the county, and in looks and appearance a disgrace to the county and city of Peoria.

In view of these facts, the undersigned would respectfully offer the following resolutions :

Resolved, I. That the county of Peoria needs a new court-house, and that in order to build the same it is

necessary to issue county bonds.

2. That the question of issuing county bonds to the amount of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars,'to run not

exceeding ten years, and to draw not exceeding eight per cent, interest, be submitted to the legal voters of Peoria

county at the next April election,

3. That the county clerk be instructed to give the proper notice that the question will be submitted to be voted

upon at that election, and that he also cause to be printed on the ballots to be used at that election the words " For
County Bonds," and " Against County Bonds," as provided by law.

H. G. Anderson,
Chairman of Committee on Public Buildings.

Mr. Bennet moved the adoption of the resolution.

Mr. Rowcliff moved to amend the resolution so far as to submit the question to a vote of the people at the next

November election, instead of at the April election.

Mr. Anderson accepted the amendment, and the yeas and nays were called on the adoption of the resolution as

amended. Those voting in the affirmative were :

Messrs. Anderson, Burdett, Bennet, Collier, Giles, Gorman, Herger, Hart, Homes, Humphrey, Kingman,
Kneer, Keiger, Rowcliff, and Waugh— 16.

Those voting in the negative were

:

Messrs. Armstrong, Baty, Burley, Clinch, Hakes, Nesselhouse, Parks and Yates— g.

The vote on issuing bonds was taken on the 2d day of November, 1875, and result-

ed : For the bonds, 4,213 ; against the bonds, 2,697.

Plans were invited, and after a pretty severe struggle, the plans and specifications

offered by Messrs. Wilcox and Miller, architects, of Chicago, were adopted on the 31st

day of March, 1876.

Style, Venetian Italian, plan, cruciform, with grand colonnade entrances or porticos,

forty-two feet wide, at the Adams and Jefferson street fronts. At the Main and Hamil-
ton street fronts, two-story colonnades and arcades. Size, one hundred and seventy-seven

feet front on Adams and Jefferson streets, by ninety feet on Main and Hamilton streets.

Height to cornices, ninety feet, and to the top of the lantern supporting the dome, one
hundred and sixty feet from the base line.

Proposals for the erection of the court-house were invited, and *ten bids, accom-
panied with samples of stone were offered. The bids were opened on the 3d day of May,
1876. The samples of stone offered were Kickapoo, Amherst, Aux Sable and Buena
Vista. After several ballotings on Thursday, the 4th, the Amherst sand stone, from"
Clough's quarry, near Cleveland, Ohio, was approved, the last ballot resulting as follows

:

For Amherst stone, fifteen votes ; Aux Sable, seven votes ; Kickapoo, four votes.

The bid of Philip H. Decker, of Cook county, was considered the best, and the con-

tract was awarded to him, at the sum of $206,071.31, and a committ.ee of three, consist-

ing of Messrs. Anderson, McClean and Collier, with the architect, was chosen to prepare
a contract with Mr. Decker. The contract was dated May 12, 1876, and bears the sig-

natures of Philip H. Decker, the contractor and builder, and John A. McCoy, Chairman
of the Board of Supervisors, at that time, and John D. McClure, County Clerk.

The old court-house was sold to David Burns, for the sum of 1250.00, to be removed
within ten days.* On Saturday, the 13th day of May, the members of the Peoria Bar,
many of whom had grown old in the practice of their profession beneath its shadows,

* In tearing down the old building, George R. Parish, who was associated with Mr. Burns, in attempting to

jump from the top of the building to the wooden ceiling of the portico of the front entrance, fell through, and re-

ceived injuries, from which he died in a few hours.
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assembled in the court-room of the condemned structure for a formal leave-taking before
the work of demolition was commenced. Jonathan K. Cooper presided. Speeches were
made by Judge Gale, E. Gr. Johnson, E. P. Sloan, D. McCulloch, Judge Louck, John
Holmes and others. The speeches were full of reminiscenses incident to the courts,

court-houses, lawyers and judges in early times. Some of them were historical, some
humorous, but all appropriate to the occasion.

THE COENEE-STONE.

The corner-stone of the new temple was laid on Saturday, the 30th day of Septem-
ber, 1876. The ceremonies attending were simple and quiet. Brief speeches were made
by Hon. J. K. Cooper and Judge Cochran. After the speeches, Thomas Crotty, Esq.,

presented the following contributions to the crypt :

List of county officers, members of the Board of Supervisors and special' court-liouse building committee for

1876; Names of architect, contractor and builder, and superintendent of court-house building; Photographs of R.
G. IngersoU and the old court-house, by H. H. Cole; Copies of the Chicago Tribune, the Times, and Inter-Ocean,

Campbell county (Kentucky) Leader, and the weekly Peoria papers ; Packet from Crotty Brothers ; Packet miscel-
laneous business and visiting cards ; Published reports of the county treasurer for the year ending September I, 1876

;

Annual report of the Workingmen's Loan and Homestead Association of Peoria ; Abstract of valuation of real

and personal property in the county of Peoria, for the years 1875 and 1876 ; Photograph bust of Abraham Lincoln,

by J. N. Ward; List of practicing attorneys, furnished by Crotty Brothers ; Illustrated weeklies from 1834 to 1876,
furnished by Crotty Brothers; Thirty-five dollars in Confederate scrip, by Louis Furst; Copy of the Brimfield Ga-
zette; Laws of Illinois, 1873-4; Twenty-five cents postal scrip, original issue, by Charles H. Suit ; Fifth annual re-

port of the trade and commerce of Peoria ; Notes of Texas ; An act on roads and bridges in Illinois in 1875 ; One
volume of the proceedings of the State Board of Equalization, 1875 ; One volume of the report of the State Board of
Charities, 1875 ; Fire insurance register and index, 1875 ; Fire insurance calendar, by R. Bliss & Co. ; Packet from
George L. Bestor; Photograph of C. C. Miller, architect, from Wilcox & Miller ; City directories, 1858-1871 ; Life
of C. Bestor ; A Mexican silver dollar, by Samuel Crouse.

By Mark M. Akin, the following

:

Centennial Idyl, Franks & Sons ; Frank Incense, do ; Historical Centennial Poem, by R. W. Burt ; Centennial
New Year's Address, by the Transcript carriers ; Graduating exercises of Peoria High School, clas^f 1875 ; Cen-
tennial Guide Over the Erie Railway ; The type-writer ; Twentieth annual report of Peoria Board of School In-
spectors ; Future of Peoria, by Rev. A. A. Stevens ; Specimen of fine wood-engraving, by F. S. Hallock, Peoria

;

Transcript Almanac, 1875-6 ; Centennial oration and speeches of R. G. IngersoU, 1876 ; Premium list of Central
Illinois Fair, 1876.

These chronicles were placed in a tin box which was hermetically sealed. The
large triangular block of Amherst sandstone, finished smooth on the Adams street side,

with the year— 1876— deeply engraved in handsome figures, was raised by the powerful
arm of the derrick, and held in readiness. The box containing the offerings above enu-

merated, was deposited in the cavity cut in the solid limestone water tablet. Spencer's

Band struck up an appropriate air, the chief corner stone was swung slowly around and
lowered to its place, and the ceremonies were concluded.

HOUSE "WAEMING.

The contract specified that the building should be completed on or before the 1st

day May, 1878. It was not completed, however, until the beginning of November of

that year. The event was celebrated by a grand banquet and house-warming on the I8th

of that month, when all the people of the county were invited to come and inspect the

new court-house. The exercises, as laid down in the programme, were opened with
prayer by Rev, J. D. Wilson, of Christ church. Speeches were made by Messrs. James,
Crotty, Cockle, Fuller, McCoy, Tipton, Cremer, and Judges McCulloch, Cochran, Puter-

baugh, and others. About two hundred and fifty persons sat down to the banquet, pre-

pared by Mr. Deane. All day long there was a throng of visitors to the new building,

and all seemed proud of the local dwelling place of the Goddess of Justice in Peoria

county.
The contract price of this imposing law temple, as already mentioned, was
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$206,071.31. Modifications from the original plan were made in some particulars. In
such cases, a corresponding deduction was made in the contract price. In some other
cases changes were made that involved additional expense to the contractor, and a cor-

responding addition to the contract price followed. When the final reckoning came, and
the sum total was footed up, the cost was found to be §248,968.70. It is virtually a fire-

proof building. The girders, beams, inside columns, door and window shutters, etc., are

of best New Jerse;f iron. The entire structure is warmed by steam. The steam is gen-
erated at a boiler house in the rear of the jail across Hamilton street, and conducted
through an underground passage. The tunnel through which the main pipe is laid is

large enough for a foot-passage way, and besides serving this purpose, affords means for

safe transfer of prisoners between the jail and court-house.

The clock in the tower was manufactured by the Seth Thomas Clock Company, of

New York, and is of the Hotchkiss pattern. The bell, weighing four thousand pounds,
is from the Meneeley and Kimberley bell works, at Troy, New York. The clock and
bell were furnished by the American Clock Company of the city of New York, and cost

$2,495.

The stone coping around the square was erected by Messrs. Triebel and Son, of

Peoria. The junior partner of this firm also designed the plan for the grade, walks, etc.,

of the square, all of which reflect credit upon Peoria genius, enterprise and workman-
ship.

COUNTY INFIBMABY.

An examination of the records of the county clerk's office reveals the fact, and a
most commendable one, that from a very early period in the county's history, generous
and humane provisions were made for the care of the poor, the sick, and the disabled, to

whom fortune had denied her favors. In the earlier days their care and maintenance
was secured under contract, with suitable persons.

As an instance of the manner in which contracts were made for the maintenance of

the unfortunate, the following order of the County Commissioners under date of March
8, 1845, is presented

:

Ordered, That John Keller be allowed to take charge of the paupers now upon the county, and that he be
allowed two dollars per week for Benedict, one dollar and fifty cents for Isaac Dewey, one dollar and fifty cents each
for Nichols and his wife, and one dollar per week for each of the children.

Physicians to the poor and indigent were appointed by the County Commissioners,
and their bills, when presented, were audited and ordered to be paid as were any other
bills against the county.

This system of management continued in force until the beginning of the year 1848.
On the 11th day of December, 1847, the County Commissioners, Thomas P. Smith,
Thomas Mooney and James L. Riggs, contracted with William Mitchell for the south
half of the northeast quarter of section ten in Limestone township (eighty acres) for the
purpose of a poor farm, the contract price being one thousand dollars, to be paid when
the deed was delivered. The deed bears date June 9, 1848.

On the 15th day of January, 1848, the county clerk was directed to advertise for
bids for taking charge of the farm and the poor who might be sent there ; the proposals
to be opened on the first day of the next month. When that day came, one of the County
Commissioners, Mr. Riggs, was sick and unable to be present, and at his request the pro-
posals were not opened till the next day. The bid of Hiram Patridge was considered to
be the lowest and best, and he was elected to the management of the poor house and poor
farm for one year. The buildings on the farm at the time of purchase were made to an-
swer for the time being, and thus commenced a system of management that has resulted
in the present large, comfortable and convenient county alms house.

Mr. Patridge was again chosen to the superintendency of the poor farm at the be-
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ginning of 1849, and for the services of himself, wife and three boys, and one yoke of

oxen and one horse, he was allowed at the rate of three hundred. and sixty-five dollars

per year. The same management was continued under Thomas Bryant, as County
Judge, and for some years after the management of county affairs passed under the con-

trol of a County Board of Supervisors. ,

At the first session of the Board of Supervisors, on the 8th of April, 1850, L. B.
Cornwell, Stephen C. Wheeler and Isaac Brown were appointed a committee to visit and
examine the poor house and poor farm, and to report thereon. This committee reported
June 19th, of that year. At the same session fifty dollars were appropriated by the

Board for cellar repairs and one hundred and fifty dollars for repairs to the house—mak-
ing a total of two hundred dollars, which was, the first appropriation for improvements
on the county infirmary. On the 13th of September, in the same year the Board ordered

the erection and enclosure of an addition to the building then used, for which purpose
an appropriation of four hundred dollars was made. At the March meeting, 1851, Mr.
Patridge was chosen to continue in the management of the farm, and Dr. John H.
Murphy was elected by the board to be county physician. In the Summer of 1851, the

Board of Supervisors purchased what was known as the Herron farm, adjoining the poor
farm, and as an addition thereto, for which they agreed to pay $9,000. This tract

consisted of one hundred and sixty acres, and increased the poor farm to two hundred
and forty acres. The deed from Herron and wife to the county bears date September
14, 1851.

In April, 1867, the Board ordered the Herron tract to be sold, stipulating, however,
that it should not be sold at a less price than the original cost. Henry Harker became
the purchaser, and the sale, as made by a committee appointed for that purpose, was rati-

fied in full board on the 10th of September, 1867.

In April, 1868, a committee was appointed from the Board of Supervisors to select

a new site, to consist of forty acres. Several sites were offered and examiped, but the

committee finally reported in favor of a re-purchase of the Herron tract at a slight ad-

vance over the price for which it had been sold. They assigned as a reason that it ac-

.
joined the original poor farm purchase, eligibility of situation, purity of water, healthful-

ness of location, and that with the two places united, there was ample room to raise

enough farm and stock products to support the inmates of the alms-house, with some-
thing for sale besides. The report of' the Committee was accepted and adopted, the

County Board voted to re-purchase the Herron-Harker place, and appointed Messrs.

Anderson, Matson, Jenkins, Wilder and Pinkerton a committee to advertise for and receive

bids for the erection of an alms-house according to plans previously adopted. On the

22d of February, 1869, this committee reported that they had received several proposi-

tions for the erection of an alms-house, and that the bid of G. L. Ryers, for $59,000,

made on the basis of the plans shown, was considered to be the lowest and best ; also,

that the committee had prepared a bill to be presented to the Legislature authorizing the

boiird to issue and sell bonds to the amount of sixty thousand dollars for the purpose of

erecting the building under consideration.

After some discussion on the adoption of this report and the bid of Mr. Ryers, the

following resolution was adopted

:

That there be a committee appointed by the Chairman of this Board to get up plans for a poor house that shall

not cost to exceed thirty thousand dollars. The plans to furnish accommodations for one hundred paupers, to be a

good, substantial, plain building, and to be so arranged that it can be added to at any time the necessities of the

county requires, without destroying the appearance or convenience of the building.

Messrs. Anderson, Burdett, Monroe and Dunlap were appointed a committee to

adopt the plans and proceed with the building. In April, 1869, plans were presented by
Charles UWchson, which were adopted, and the contract awarded to him.

Under a special act of the Legislature entitled " An act to authorize the Board of
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Supervisors of Peoria county to build an alms-house, and to issue bonds to pay for the

same," approved March 25, 1869, bonds to the amount of thirty^five thousand dollars

were issued and the building was commenced.
In February, 1870, the committee in charge of the work reported that Mr. Ulrichson

had completed the contract, and that the building was ready to be delivered to the

county.

Contract price for building - _ $31,879.00
Extra allowance for smoke-house, out-houses, etc- -- 3,131.61

Heating apparatus, furnished by Kyser & Co., St. Louis 2,940.00

Total cost of the building .$37,950.61

In closing the account, it was voted by the board to present Mr. Ulrichson with an
order on the county treasury for five hundred dollars, as a token of respect and honor for

the faithful manner in which he had filled his part of the contract. This sum added to

the above total makes the cost of the Peoria county alms-house $38,450.61.

ALMS-HOtrSB AND POOR FARM MANAGEMENT.

The poor farm is under the oversight of a committee of three persons appointed by
the Board of Supervisors, and known as inspectors. This committee is appointed from
the Board. A working manager for the farm is elected by the board, who has immediate
charge, subject to the Inspectors, of the alms-house and the farm. A strict account is

kept by the Superintendent or working manager of every thing produced on the farm,

of the articles and amount consumed, and of whatever sold. Regular reports are

made to the board, which are as carefully examined as are the accounts rendered against

the county by private individuals. Since the re-purchase of the Herron-Harker place,

the farm has been well improved and all of it made available for some purpose or other.

Some of it is devoted to tillage, some to meadow, some to pasturage and stock-

growing. Every interest connected with the farm is carefully guarded and made as pro-

ductive as possible. The last report of the Superintendent is here submitted :

STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS ON ACCOUNT OF THE POOR FARM AND
ALMS-HOUSE FROM DECEMBER i, 1878, TO DECEMBER i, 1879.

RECEIPTS.

Amount paid into the County Treasury during the past year from various sources $1,345 oo

DISBURSEMENTS.

Amount audited from December I, 1878, to March ii, 1879. - $1,168 73
" " " March II toSept. I, 1879 1,57244
" to be audited from Sept. I to Dec. 1,1879 i,445 53

Superintendent's salary for past year _ 1,500 00
Physician's " " " 30000
Poor Farm Inspectors' expenses for past year 100 00
Cash expenses ior Alms-house hired help - __ 950 42-$7,037 12

RECAPITULATION.
Total amount disbursed. _ $7,037 12

" " received i,345 96

Excess of Expenditures over Receipts $5,6gi 16
From which deduct expenses for permanent improvements 419 53

Balance--.. $5,271 63
There remains on hand at this date fat hogs, the market value of which is 175 00
And rye, the market value of which is 225 00-$ 400 00
Cash expenses for hired help $ 781 00

" threshing .., 2607-$ 95042
Expenses of house for repairs 419 53
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EXPENSES FOR PROVISIONS AND CLOTHING FOR PAUPERS FROM DECEMBER I, I878, TO DECEMBER I, 1879.

From December i, 1878, to March 11, 1879 _ $i,i68 73
" March 11 to September i, 1879 1,572 44

September I to December 1,1879 - - i,445 53
Total $4,186 70

There have been two births at the institution during the past year, and fifteen inmates have died during the
year.

There have been eighty-seven persons admitted during the year, and one hundred and nine persons discharged
during the same time. Total number of inmates December i, 1879, 108 ; average monthly nnmber of inmates, 125.

The average cost of keeping paupers, per week, during the past year has been eighty-one cents per head, but
when the value of products on hand is taken into consideration, to wit : the sum of four hundred dollars, the average
cost of keeping each inmate would only be seventy-four cents per week during the year.

STOCK, GRAIN, ETC., ON HAND.
Milk cows 15
steers, two years old. .- 7
Yearlings - i

Calves -- 13
Fatting cattle 8

Fat hogs 48
Stock hogs. .- 57
Horses t4
Mules 2

Total head of stock. .:
—165

Rye, 385 bushels; on hand 350
Oats, 535 bushels , on hand - 570
Corn, 4,500 bushels ; on hand 3,000

Potatoes, 400 bushels ; on hand - 150
Beans, 20 bushels ; on hand 12

Onions, 20 bushels ; on hand 20
Total bushels on hand —4,lo2

Hay, 18 tons; on hand - - 38 tons

CIRCUIT COURT.

THE FIRST TEEM.

The first term of the Circuit Court commenced on the 14th day of November, A.
D. 1825. John York Sawyer, judge ; John Dixon, clerk, and Samuel Fulton, sheriff.

The court was held in a log building fourteen feet square, that stood on the bank of the

river, just below the bridge of the Toledo, Peoria and Warsaw railway. It had only one

window, find its loft was low — in fact, it was a genuine log cabin. This court-house

also served for religious meetings on the Sabbath. The basement, which was reached

from an opening or door on the river side, was sometimes used as a jail and sometimes as

a stable.

The first case called was entitled Crocker & Funk vs. Latham, appeal. The judgment
of the court below was reversed and ordered to stand for naught, and that the defendant

have judgment for twelve dollars and fifty cents and costs.

The next case, as shown by the old docket, was a slander suit brought against Ed-
mund Weed by Abner Cooper and his wife Sarah. A. W. Cavarly appeared as attorney

for the defendant and filed a demurrer. The demurrer was sustained, and the defend-

ant " permitted to go hence and to recover from the plaintiffs the costs in the case."

Cavarly came from CarroUton, in Greene county.

The following other cases made up the docket: The People vs. Joseph Ogee, and

Jacob Funk, affray ; The People vs. No-ma-que, murder ; The People vs. Levi Ellis and

Lyman Leonard, affray ; The People vs. Abner Cooper, assault and battery ; The People

vs. John Griffin, assault and battery; Abner Cooper and his wife Sarah vs. Sally Weed,
motion to reconsider ; same vs. Edmund Weed, motion to reconsider ; William Blanch-

ard vs. John Taylor, trespass.
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John L. Bogardus, attorney, was fined five dollars for contempt of court, and Wil-
liam S. Hamlin, a constable of the court, was also fined five dollars for contempt, but the

next day after the fine was imposed, it was ordered to be remitted.

No-ma-que was an Indian of the Pottawatomie tribe, and had been arrested and held

on the charge of killing a Frenchman named Pierre Landre. An indictment was found
against him by the grand jury at this term of court, and he was arraigned for trial.

Joseph Ogee and Jaques Metti were sworn as interpreters. Defendant's counsel, Wil-
liam S. Hamilton, moved to dismiss the case for want of jurisdiction. The motion was
overruled,.a jury ordered, and nine men called from the bystanders. The pannel was
not full and Judge Sawyer directed the sheriff to summon twelve talesmen to appear the

next morning. The second day after arraignment a jury was obtained and the trial

proceeded. Plea, not guilty. Some of the witnesses, the three Bullbonaits, who had
been summoned, did not appear, and were subsequently punished for contempt in neg-

lecting to obey the mandates of the law. There were witnesses enough, however, to

sustain the charge in the indictment, and on the fourth day of the trial the case was given

to the jury, and the following verdict returned

:

"Stale of Illinois, Peoria Circuit Court, November Term, Eighteen Hundred and Twenty-five : We, the traverse

jury in and for the county aforesaid, do find No-ma-que, an Indian of the Pottawatomie tribe, guilty of the murder
of Pierre Landre. Austin Crocker, Allen S. Daugherty, Alexander McNaughton, Nathan Dillon, Henry Neely,

William Woodrow, Peter DuMont, Aaron Reed, Abrara Galentine, Josiah Fulton, Cornelius Doty, David Mathews.
November 17, 1825."

A motion for a new trial was made and overruled. Counsel for defendant also

moved for arrest of judgment, which motion was also overruled, and No-ma-que was called

for sentence. The sentence of the court was that No-ma-que should beheld by the sheriff

until the third Saturday in January, 1826, and that on that day he should be taken by
the sheriff to some convenient place and there hung by the neck until he was dead.

Hamilton carried the case to the Supreme Court, secured a hearing, and on the 25th
day of December, 1825,' that court reversed the decision of the court below, but ordered
No-ma-que to be held for thirty days, to enable the local authorities to take measures to

again bring him to trial. He was held as a prisoner, part of the time under guard, a part

of the time confined in jail at Edwardsville, and a part of the time he was permitted to

go at large on his own recognizance, until the October term, 1826, when he was again

indicted and called for trial. His counsel moved that the indictment be quashed on the

ground that he had been once convicted of the offense charged. The defeifdant then
raised the question of jurisdiction, to which the attorney for the people demurred. The
demurrer was sustained by the court, to which defendant's counsel excepted, and the

case was again certified to the Supreme Court. From that time forward until the May
term of the court, 1828, No-ma-que roamed at will,, without hindrance.

A chapter in Droun's Peoria Directory, 1844, \«ritten by " J. H., Esq." (John Ham-
lin), gives the following sketch of the court in 1826 :

" In the year 1826 I lived three miles from Mackinaw, on the Peoria and Springfield

road, in what is now Tazewell county, but then attached to Peoria, and being twenty-
one years of age that year, I was summoned on the grand jury. There were not enough
adults then in Peoria county proper to form the grand and petit juries, and hence they
were summoned from the attached portion. All the grand jury but two were from the east

side of the Illinois river, and were chiefly my neighbors. We took our provisions and
bedding, the latter being a blanket or quilt for each. It was also the practice in those days to

take along a flagon of liquor, and the custom was not omitted on this occasion. In truth,

so faithfully was the flagon put under requisition, that but two of our number were sober
when we appeared in court to receive the judge's charge. Judge Sawyer was the pre-
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siding judge, James Turney the prosecuting attorney, and Messrs. Cavarly, Pugh, Bogar-
dus and Turney the entire bar.

" There were only about eight bills of indictment found by the grand jury— one of these
was against an Indian named No-ma-que, for murder. He had been tried the Fall before,
but obtaining a new trial he was indicted again at this term. There being no secure jail,

the sheriff (Samuel Fulton) kept him under guard at the house of a Mr. Allen. One
night about a dozen drunken Indians met to rescue him, and attempted to enter the door
for that purpose. Allen sprang out of a back window, and, seizing a clapboard, rushed
around to the front of the house and laid about him with great fury. He felled four of

the Indians to the ground before they could recover from their consternation, when the
others retreated. Allen followed close on the heels of the hindmost and belabored him
without mercy until he begged for quarters, crying, ' Stop, white man ! Stop, white
man ! Stop !

' Felling him, also, the five laid until morning, when they were able to

crawl off. * * * *

" The court-house was a log building on the bank of the river, in which the jurors

slept on their blankets on the floor. There was a tavern kept by Mr. Bogardus, but it

was not large enough to furnish sleeping accommodations for them. The grand jury
room was a lumber cabin, in which Bogardus kept saddles and other cattle fixings."

THE LAST OP NO-MA-QUB.

At the May term, 1828, on motion of the attorney for the people, the No-ma-que mur-
der case was struck from the docket, and the red murderer left the country. When
Black Hawk invaded Illinois in 1832, No-ma-que was present with him at Stillman's Run,
and was badly wounded. He was found in that condition lying in the way of some of

the Peoria men, who Jiwmanely shot him to death to end his misery,

THE COTJRT-HOTJSB AND COURT IN 1833-4— RESIDENT LAWYERS.

Droun's Peoria Directory (1844) has another article, written by " I. U., Esq." (Isaac

Underbill), from which the following extracts are selected:
" I first landed on the shore of Peoria Lake on Christmas day, 1833, and took lodg-

ings with our worthy townsman, A. O. Garrett, who then kept the ' Peoria Hotel,' in a

small two-story wooden building at the corner of Main and Washington streets.

" The only building west of the hotel at that time was a barn a short distance up
Main street. The entire town consisted of but seven frame houses and a few log tene-

ments. Being favorably impressed with its future prospects, its beautiful site, and the

magnificent lake, I determined to make it my future residence. Mr. Aquilla Wren was
at that time one of the County Commissioners for Peoria county, of whom I purchased
several lots on Washington street, at forty dollars each. The day following I left in the

steamboat Peoria for the South.
"In a few months I returned again to Peoria. During my absence expensive prepa-

rations had been made for building, and before the first of September about forty houses

and stores were erected. '

"Judge Young was the presiding judge at that time, and held the Circuit Court in a

small building, fourteen feet square, on the river bank. * * * * -phe grand

jury sat under the shade of a crab-apple tree, and the petit jury deliberated in an old

French cellar (sometimes humorously called a potato hole— Ed,), partially filled up and
surrounded with a growth of rank high weeds and grass, * « « * The
venerable Isaac Waters was clerk of the court. His office and dwelling were in a small

log cabin, where now (1844) stands the plow works of Tobey & Anderson, The old
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gentleman used to carry the seal of the Court in his pocket, and on one occasion, by mis-

take, offered it to the post-master in payment of postage.
" The only practicing members of the bar that resided here at that time were the

Hon. Lewis Bigelow and Charles Ballance. The former was an eminent jurist and pro-

found scholar. I was informed that he wrote a digest of the laws of Ma;ssachusetts, a

valuable work of upwards of eight hundred pages, with one quill. He died here in 1838.

William Frisby, a member of the bar of much promise, arrived here in 1834. By his in-

defatigable studies he was fast reaching the topmost round of the ladder of his profession,

when he died in 1842, lamented by a large circle of friends and acquaintances."

THE OLD CIRCUIT— JUDGES YOUNG AND POED.

In 1832 and 1833, the judicial district of which Peoria formed a part was composed

of what are now the counties of Pike, Adams, Brown, Schuyler, Fulton, McDonough,
Hancock, Henderson, Warren, Knox, Marshall, Stark, Henry, Mercer, Rock Island, Put-

nam, Bureau, LaSalle, DeKalb, Lee, Whiteside, Carroll, Jo Daviess, Stephenson, Winne-
bago, Ogle, Boone, McHenry, Lake, Cook, DuPage, Kane, Grundy, Will and Peoria.*

In those days there were but few white men in all the region of country, and but

few roads or bridges, and no public conveyances of any kind. Judges and lawyers

traveled on horse-back from county seat to county seat. In some instances they traveled

in squads and camped or lodged wherever night overtook them. And jolly squads they

were ! Places of entertainment along the trails of travel from court to court were few,

as well as poor in accommodations. Sometimes judges, lawyers and families where they

stopped to remain over night, all slept in one room, which served as well for kitchen,

dining room, parlor, sitting room, etc. Songs, jokes, stories, and tricks played on each

other, were the amusements of the night. And the old-time lawyers and judges made a

humorous combination, about which many amusing anecdotes might be written. Their

like the country will never know again.

Judge Samuel D. Lockwood succeeded Judge Sawyer, and presided at the May
term, 1827, and in June, 1829, Richard M. Young came to succeed Judge Lockwood.
" The most essential requisites for a good judge in those days," wrote Mr. Ballance, " was
to own a good horse and to know how to ride him. These two requisites Judge Young
possessed in a high degree. He was a fine looking, complaisant Kentuckian, who did

not possess much legal learning, but did own a fine, high-blooded Kentucky horse, and
knew well how to ride him.

" In May, 1833, Judge Young made his appearance in the village of Peoria, and an-

nounced that he was on his way to Chicago to hold court. He had traveled one hundred
and thirty miles from Quincy, where he lived, and to reach Chicago, as the trail then

ran, had not less than one hundred and seventy miles more to travel to reach the county
seat of Cook, making in all three hundred miles he had to travel to hold a three days

court."

Mr. Ballance desired to accompany Judge Young to Chicago, partly to seek practice

and partly to see the country. So scarce were horses in Peoria at that time that he
could neither hire nor borrow one in the village on which to make the trip, and went to

the country and presented his case to an old farmer, who had a small drove of horses.

The only broken ones the farmer had, he wished to use, and as a matter of necessity,

Mr. Ballance took one that was unused to bridle or saddle, and " on which no man had
ever sat." He asked the old farmer why he had not broken his horses, and he replied

that he was too old and that his boys were too young. He made Mr. Ballance welcome to

the colt, however, but filed a demurrer to his attempting to ride him, "for," said he, " I

am afraid he will break your neck." Mr. Ballance cited as authority in objection to the

demurrer, that he had been raised where they made horses as a business, and that he
*Ballance's Peoria.
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•would risk the chances of a trial, if he could get into the saddle. The colt was caught,
bridled and saddled, and the farmer and his oldest son held him in chancery till Mr.
Ballance was well mounted, and then let him go. And he did go— sometimes with one
end toward Chicago, and sometimes with the other, and sometimes sideways, but Bal-
lance stuck to the saddle like a mortgage to real estate, and reached Chicago after a little

more than three days.

To return to Judge Young. It is said of him that he had sufficient ability to fill any
office with honor and respectability, and that he became very popular with the masses.

He was elected to the U. S. Senate in 1836, and served a full term of six years from the

4th of March, 1837, to the 4th of March, 1843. After that he served on the supreme
bench, and acquitted himself with creditable distinction. But at last his sun sank in

clouds. For several years before his death he resided in Washington and practiced as a
claim agent. There he became insane and died in an insane asylum. Of his last days
and of his sufferings but little was ever known to his old associates and acquaintances in

Peoria.

After Judge Young was elected to the United States Senate, Thomas Ford succeeded
to the judgeship. He served as a judge six years, and in 1842 was elected to be Governor
of the State on the Democratic ticket. When he retired from the gubernatorial chair in

1846, he removed from his home at Oregon, in Ogle county, to Peoria, and resumed the
practice of law. Here his fortune began to wane. His health failed and he became a

hopeless invalid. His devoted wife wore herself out in watching and caring for her hon-
ored husband, and died suddenly. Her husband died soon after (in 1850), leaving his

family in poverty and destitution. It is said that while Governor Ford lay sick and help-

less, his family was furnished with food by a party of Peorians, all but two of whom had
been his political opponents. The same good Samaritans bore his funeral expenses and
carried his remains to the silent city of the dead, and there consigned to mother earth all

that was mortal of one of the purest and most incorruptible judges and governors known
in the history of Illinois. He died ignorant whence the aid came, so quietly and unos-

tentatiously was the truly Christian work carried on. And after the mother and father

had been laid away in their " windowless palaces of rest," their children, all but the old-

est one, who was then nearly grown, were cared for and educated by the same kindly

hands that smoothed their parents' pathway to the tomb. Such deeds of true Christian

charity may not be justly recognized and appreciated here, but a reward far richer than
ever conceived in the hearts of men, awaits them in the eternal Aisles of Light.

Between the time of his removal to Peoria and his death, Governor Ford completed
his manuscript history of Illinois. After his death, the late General Shields revised the

manuscript, where revision was necessary, and perfected arrangements to secure its pub-
lication, for the benefit of the author's children. This was the only legacy left them,

and is, in fact, the only reliable early history of the State ever published. But for Gov-
ernor Ford's indomitable industry and familiar knowledge of the men and times with

which he was closely identified for so many years, and the generosity of his friend and
compatriot, there is but little doubt that much of the early history of the State would
have been forever lost.

JUDGES FROM 1825 TO JANUARY 1, 1880.

The following is a complete register of the Judges who have presided in the Peoria

circuit from the first term of the court in November, 1825, to the present— January 1,

1880:
Samuel D. Lockwood came to succeed Judge Sawyer, and presided at the May term,

1827. In June, 1829, Judge Lockwood was succeeded by Richard M. Young. Judge
Young remained on the bench until the close of 1834. Sydney Breese presided at the
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Spring term, 1835, and Stephen T. Logan presided at the September term, 1835. Thomas
Ford presided at the May term, 1836. Dan Stone presided from the May term, 1837, to

the May term, 1838. In August, 1838, Thomas Ford was elected to be Judge of the
district, and when the September term of court came on, he exchanged with Jesse B.
Thomas of the first district, and the latter gentleman presided here. Ford presided at

the April term, 1839, and regularly at every term thereafter until 1842, closing his

judgeship with the April term. John D. Caton presided at the October term, 1842, and
Judge Young, who had been elected to the Supreme bench, presided in May, 1843. J.

D. Caton, one of the Associate Justices of the Supreme Court, presided at the October
term, 1843, and regularly thereafter until and including the October term, 1848. T.

Lyle Dickey presided at the May and October terms, 1849. William Kellogg, of Fulton,

was elected to be Judge of the Tenth district in 1849, and presided at the March term,

1850, and until March, 1852. Onslow Peters, of the Sixteenth district, presided at the

May term, 1853, and until he was succeeded by Judge Gale, at the May term, 1856.

Judge Elihu N. Powell presided at the November term, 1856, and was succeeded at the

August term, 1861, by Amos L. Merriman. Merriman resigned in September, 1863, and
was succeeded by Marion Williamson, who was succeeded in turn by Sabin D. Pu-
terbaugh in August, 1867. Puterbaugh remained on the bench until January, 1873,

and then resigned. Between the time of his resignation and the election of Joseph W.
Cochran, in June, 1873, Henry B. Hopkins was appointed to be Judge ad interim. Coch-
ran served until June, 1879, and was succeeded by Ninian M. Laws, of Lacon.

PEESONAL MENTION.

Nearly all of the old-time Judges have passed away. The last days of Young and
Ford have been noticed, and our pen is now directed to those who succeeded them

:

E. T. Lockwood, subsequently removed to Belvidere, Boone county, and for some
years prior to his death lived at Batavia, Kane county. 111., where, having acquired a

competency by the rise of some lands in the suburbs of Chicago, he purchased a beautiful

country place, and peacefully closed a life of rare usefulness and singular purity and
honesty.

Sydney Breese died on his extensive and well-cultivated farm near Carlisle, in Clin-

ton county, June 27, 1878. His portrait, a correct likeness, has a place in the Peoria

Law Library.

Dan Stone died at Galena.
Jesse B. Thomas subsequently removed to Chicago, where he died in 18—

.

His son, Jesse B., is an eminent Baptist clergyman, and was pastor of a Baptist church in

that city.

J. D. Caton served on the Supreme bench for a number of years, and won distinction

as an able and impartial jurist. He became immensely wealthy, and his home at Deer
Park, Ottawa, La Salle county, is the pride of that part of the State. He is now largely

interested in telegraphy and the manufacture of telegraphic instruments.

T. Lyle Dickey has been twice elected to the Supreme bench, where he is still serv-

ing.

Kellogg was elected to Congress in 1856, and re-elected in 1858 and 1860, serving

six years. He died December 20, 1872.

Onslow Peters was a native of Massachusetts. His father was a blacksmith, and
owned the farm on which the Massachusetts State Reform School is located, at West-
boro, and sold it to the State for that purpose. Onslow came to Illinois in 1836. After
President Pierce succeeded to the Presidency in 1853, Judge Peters went to Washington
to look after an appointment, and died there suddenly the 28th of February, 1856.

Gale is secretary of the Peoria Gas Company.
E. N. Powell died in Peoria July 15, 1871.
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A. L. Merriman removed to Washington City, where he is practicing his profession
as a claim agent.

John York Sawyer was bom at Reading, Windsor county, Vermont, March 15, 1787.
At the commencement of the war with Great Britain in 1812 he enlisted in the army
and wa's appointed ensign, and afterwards promoted to adjutant of Colonel Aikens' reg-
iment, and served until the close of the war. He came to Illinois in 1816, and settled

at Edwardsville on the 16th of December of that year. He was Probate Judge andJRe-
corder of Madison county for several years. On the 29th of December, 1825, Messrs.
Sawyer, Samuel McRoberts, Richard M. Young, James Hall and James O. Wattles
were commissioned to be Judges of the Circuit Court. In the arrangement of circuits,

Judge Sawyer was assigned to the First circuit, which included Peoria county. The
appointment of clerks to the clerk was vested in the judges in those days, and Judge
Sawyer appointed Isaac Waters to be clerk of the Peoria Circuit Court. After serving
as judge two years, the Legislature repealed the act establishing the system of courts
as being too expensive, the salaries pf the judges being fixed at five hundred dollars

each per year.

In 1827 Sawyer embarked in the newspaper business, establishing the Plow-Boy,
an agricultural paper, which he published for two years. He afterward owned the
Illinois Advocate, published at Edwardsville, and was the author of the first " Illinois

Farmers' Almanac." In 1832, he was elected State printer, and moved to Vandalia,
where he died in 1836, from an attack of pneumonia. Judge Sawyer was twice mar-
ried. His second wife survived him, and died in Upper Alton in 1872. He left no
issue.

Marion Williamson died in Peoria, on the 22d day of April, 1868. He was born
in Adams county, Ohio, where he received a common school education, and then
climbed to the honorable distinction of lawyer and judge by his own unaided exertions.

He read law in the office of William Buck, of Adams county, and was admitted to the
bar in 1852, and went to Ottumwa, Iowa, where he spent the Winter of 1852-3, and re-

moved to Oquawka, in this State, in the Spring of the year last named, and came from
there to Peoria in the Fall of 1856, and associated himself with Judge Mead. In 1859
the partnership was dissolved, and Judge Williamson opened an office by himself, and
continued the practice of his profession until Judge Merriman resigned, as elsewhere
noticed, when he was elected to fill the vacancy. On the occasion of his death a city

paper, referring to his judgeship, said : " He filled the office with honor to himself and
benefit to the community. His peculiar adaptability to the position made him one of the

best officers that ever sat on the bench."
Sabin D. Puterbaugh resigned in January, 1873, and returned to law practice. He

has written and published a treatise on common law practice, and also a treatise on
chancery pleadings, several editions of which have been published, which is evidence of

their value to the profession.

Joseph W. Cochran also returned to the practice.

An act of the Legislature, approved June 2, and in force July 1, 1877, divided the

State of Illinois, exclusive of the County of Cook, into thirteen judicial circuits, of which
the Counties of Putnam, Marshall, Woodford, Tazewell, Peoria and Stark were desig-

nated as the Eighth. Under the provisions of this law, one additional judge was elected

in each district on the first Monday in August, 1877. David McCoUough was elected as

the additional judge in this (the 8th) circuit. The same act provided that three judges
should be elected by general ticket in each circuit on the first Monday in June, 1879,

and that their tenure of office should continue for six years. At that election McCoUough
was elected from Peoria county. Laws from Marshall county, and Burns from Marshall

county.
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APPELLATE COrTRT.

At the same time, June 2, 1877, an act was passed creating four appellate courts,

Peoria being in the second appellate district.

The law further provided that the Supreme Court should select twelve circuit Judges
to hold such Appellate courts, three to each district. Judge McCuUoch was selected as

one^of the Appellate Judges for the third district, and is now serving.

THE CRIMINAL CALENDAR.

Considering that Peoria county is a river county, and that since the building of rail-

roads, the city of Peoria has become a railroad center of no mean importance, the

county has always been remarkably free from capital crimes, as compared with other

communities. There have been fewer murders, in proportion to the population, than in

any other county in the State. From the time of the first settlement in the shadows of

Fort Clark in the Spring of 1819, the presence of evil doers and criminally disposed char-

acters, has not been tolerated. Every attempted violation of the law, every infringement

upon the rights of persons and property, has been promptly met and as promptly punished.

In mixed communities and growing, prosperous centers, there is always a certain per

cent, of reckless, graceless characters and dishonest persons who seek by any means but

honest industry to obtain a livelihood. These characters, as a rule, are never rightly en-

titled to be called permanent residents, but more appropriately come under the head of

what are now called tramps. And it is safe to assume that seven out of every ten crimi-

nal cases, especially of the higher grades, that stain the court records of Peoria county,

have been committed by transient characters. Capital offenses have been committed
here, as they have been committed in every community since the world began to be peo-

pled. But they have been punished. Only a very few of those convicted for murder,
have escaped the full punishment of the law. Some, as in the case of McAlister, who
murdered Joseph Eads in the beginning of 1875, paid the penalty of life sentences in the

penitentiary. Others have been sentenced for longer or shorter periods of time, according

to the nature of the circumstances under which the offenses were committed.
The death penalty has only been pronounced in four cases in the fifty-five years that

have passed since the organization of the county under an act of the Legislature approved
January 13, 1825. The first instance was in the case of No-ma-que, the Indian, already

cited. In the other three cases the sentences were fully executed.

ALMOST A TRAGEDY— A DOUBLE EXECUTJON.

The first execution of the death penalty in Peoria coui^ty was a double one, in which
two young men, named respectively Thomas Brown and George Williams, were executed
for tlae murder of a man named Hewitt, in the latter part of 1850.

Hewitt was a farmer and cattle dealer who lived at Berwick, in Warren county, and
on the Saturday he was assaulted he had drawn some $1,500 or $2,500 (the exact amount
is not remembered) in Cherokee (Georgia) " wild cat " money from Curtis' bank, at the

corner of Main and Water streets. This fact was known to Thomas Jordan, a notorious

river thief of the times, whose alias was " Tom Tit," who imparted his knowledge to

Brown and Williams, and planned to have them rob Hewitt of the money. They watched
Hewitt's movements, saw him enter his buggy and start for home, and followed close in

his rear. At the foot of the bluff, on Spring street, Hewitt got out of his buggy and
started to walk up the bluff behind his carriage to lighten the load for his horse. Brown
and Williams quickened their pace, came up with him and demanded his money. On
his refusal to "stand and deliver," they assaulted him with a brick-bat, striking him on



HISTORY OF PEORIA COUKTY. 341

the head, fracturing his skull, and rendering him unconscious. They barely had time to

rifle his pockets when they were frightened away by some teamsters coming down the
bluff, and ran over the bluff and reached and crossed the river between the site now oc-

cupied by the pottery and the " Narrows." By some means, probably by the help of the

teamsters, who may have imagined him intoxicated, Hewitt got up in his buggy, his

horse started on and went out about ten miles, to Holmes's wayside tavern, where he was
in the habit of stopping. There his condition was noticed and he was carried into the
house. Medical aid was summoned, but the wounds were of such a nature that he died

on the ninth day. ,

Brown and Williams had been seen running across the bluff and when it was known
that Hewitt had been assaulted and robbed, suspicion pointed to them as the guilty

parties, and they were traced across the river. Early on Sunday morning. Sheriff Riggs,

George C. Bestor, Zenas Hotchkiss and others, crossed the river as a pursuing party, and
in making inquiries among the farmers they learned that two young men answering the

description of Brown and AYil^i^^s had come into the neighborhood the evening previ-

ous and hired a man to take them to Springfield. Bestor and Hotchkiss insisted on fol-

lowing the trail, and urged as an argument that unless they did so the robbers would es-

cape, for as soon as they reached Springfield, then the nearest railroad point, they would
take the cars and thus elude capture. Riggs could not be persuaded to follow them, and
all of the posse, except Bestor and Hotchkiss, came back to Peoria, while the two last

named pushed on to Springfield. The wagon which Brown and Williams hired had a

green box with white stripes, and was easily followed. They reached Springfield on Sun-
day night, only a few hours behind the robbers, and found and captured them in bed.

After their arrest their persons were examined and all of the stolen money but twenty-
three dollars was found secreted in their neck-handkerchiefs— the old fashioned black

silk kind. Brown and Williams were brought back in irons, and taken out to Holmes'
tavern, where Hewitt still remained, for identification. Hewitt had recovered conscious-

ness, and immediately identified them as his assailants. The money was also identified

by Curtis, as the money he had paid to Hewitt the Saturday previous.

Brown and Williams were lodged in the old jail at the corner of North Fayette and,

Washington streets, now occupied in part as a dwelling by Eberhardt Godel. When
Court came on in November (1850), they were indicted for murder, put upon trial, found
guilty of murder in the first degree, and on the 27th day of that month were sentenced

by Judge Kellogg to be hanged on Friday, the 20th day of December. In the mean-
time " Tom Tit's " agency in the attempted robbery and murder, and his whereabouts
had been discovered and a respite of thirty days was obtained to give the officers time to

bring him back, that he might be identified by the condemned men as accessory to the

murder.

A MOB.

The populace were greatly excited over the murder, and as the day first fixed for

the execution drew near, the excitement increased. On the morning of that day men
came to Peoria from all parts of the country, until there was a large crowd in the streets

round and about the jail. When it became known that a respite had been granted, the

excitement overleaped all bounds of respect for law and good order, and the frenzied mob '

demanded that the men should be hanged, and declared that if the sheriff did not hang
them, the mob would. The leading men of Peoria tried to allay their excitement, ap-

pealed to their better judgment, and urged them by every possible argument to disperse

and go home, assuring them that the law should be enforced. Arguments and appeals

to reason and obedience to law and good order were useless. The sheriff, James L.

Riggs, naturally a timid man, had become frightened and kept concealed. His deputy,

David D. Irons, was a man of more nerve, and with others that he called to his assistance,
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sought to bar the approach of the mob to the jail, but without effect. A part of the mob
forced their way past Irons and his assistants and secured possession of Williams, who
gave up without a struggle. Another part of the mob seized the scaffold, which had
been erected in the jail yard, and bore it out to the center of the street. When it was
seen that the mob was determined to take the men from the officers, Brown was told to

defend himself as best he could, and right bravely did he respond. He secured one leg

of a pair of trousers, into one end of which he fastened a brick-bat. The cell in which
he was confined was small, and he so stationed himself as to be able to strike a head as

soon as it appeared within the door, which had been»forced. His aim was so unerring,

and his weapon of defense so strong, that after two or three trials the attempt to drag
him out was abandoned. One man from Fulton county received such a terrible blow
that he died from the effects of it soon after.

Williams was carried out to the scaffold and placed under the beam. Then the

courage of the mob oozed out, and not a man among them was brave enough to place the

rope around his neck. After some parleying he was carried back to the jail to await a

legal execution.

THE EXECUTION.

On thei 19th day of January the sentence of the Court was legally carried into exe-

cution, and Thomas Brown and George Williams, in the prime of their young manhood,
paid the penalty of death for the murder of a fellow man. The gallows from which they
were hanged was erected on the open prairie at a spot now overlooked by the stately

residence and handsome grounds of John Griswold. The execution was public and was
witnessed by no less than ten thousand people. There were terraces of men and women
all along the bluff in the vicinity of the scaffold, many of whom had come from long
distances to witness a double death-leap from the scaffold to eternity. When the demand
of the law was satisfied, their bodies were cut down and given to Dr. Cooper, physician

and surgeon, for the benefit of science.

The executed men were poor and friendless, and when they were first called for

trial, the Court appointed Halsey O. Merriman, Elihu N. Powell, and subsequently,
Norman H. Purple, to defend them.

" TOM TIT.

"

HIS AREEST, TRIAL AND CONVICTION.

As soon as the news of the assault upon Hewitt reached town, patrol and guards

were thrown out in every direction and covering all the roads, with a view ot preventing
the escape of any one not well known to the citizens, but not soon enough to prevent the

flight of Thomas Jordan, alias " Tom Tit, " who had planned and instigated the robbery

and murder for which Brown and Williams were executed. He was missing from the

streets and his usual haunts, and it was learned that a man answering his description had
been seen going down the river. A search was instituted in that direction, but he cov-

ered his tracks so well, that he was not overhauled. It was learned soon after, however,
that he had gone to St. Louis, and from St. Louis he was traced to New Orleans.

At New Orleans, Jordan told his associates of the robbery and murder of Hewitt, and
of the part he had taken in the affair, and in time the story reached the ears of the police.

Anticipating that a reward would be offered for his apprehension, the Chief of the New
Orleans police wrote to the Governor of Illinois, advising him of Jordan's presence in

that city, and of his statement in relation to his complicity in the Hewitt murder. The
Governor communicated with the authorities at Peoria, and the respite was obtained as

already mentioned.
William M. Dodge was appointed an agent to go to New Orleans for Jordan. The
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first evening he arrived there, he met the Chief of Police at the St. Charles Hotel, not
by appointment, but by accident, and his business was soon made known. Jordan was
hunted up by the police, and arrested and put in the parish prison on a charge of

vagrancy, and held there till the departure of an up river boat. While at New Orleans,

Mr. Dodge learned that " Tom Tit " was a notorious wharf-rat or river thief, and he bore

the name of a desperado, although he proved to be an arrant coward. He was held in

prison until a boat was ready to cut loose, when he was ironed and hustled on board,

with the assurance that he would be killed if he attempted to escape. The removal of
" Tom Tit " from the prison to the boat was quietly conducted, so as to avoid an attempt-

ed rescue by the gang of which he was a member. As quietly as the movements were
conducted however, two of his associates got on the boat and followed Mr, Dodge and
his prisoner to St. Louis, and at one time, in the night hours, a movement was made by
one of the villains looking to a rescue, but Dodge " scented the game " and nipped it in

the bud. From St. Louis the way was clear, but as they neared Peoria, and heard of the

attempted mobbing of Williams and Brown, " Tom Tit " became terribly frightened, and
had to be braced up with brandy. They arrived home the morning of the 19th day of

January, the day Williams and Brown were executed, and reached jail by a back street.

The streets were filled with people who had come to see the execution, and when the

conveyance neared the jail. Dodge told " Tom Tit, " who was trembling like a leaf, to be
ready and jump as soon as the wagon stopped at the front of the jail, and get within as

quick as he could. The instructions were obeyed and Jordan stood in the presence of

the young men he had brought to the scaffold. The identification was positive. " That's

the man, " exclaimed Brown, as soon as Jordan appeared in his presence.

Tom Tit was held in jail to await the action of the grand jury. On Friday, the 7th

day of March, 1851, he was indicted for murder. He was arraigned for plea on the 8th,

plead not guilty, and was remanded to jail to await trial. On the 12th of May, Court
being again in session, the grand jury returned another indictment against him, charging
him with robbery. On the 14th of May, 1851, the indictment for murder was dismissed.

On the 22d he was called to the bar of the Court to answer to the charge of robbery, to

which he plead guilty, and was sentenced to the penitentiary at Alton for fourteen years,

the first five to solitary confinement.

After his term of imprisonment but little was heard from " Tom Tit" for some years.

At last he commenced to write to Mr. Dodge to interest him in securing his pardon. For
some time Mr. Dodge gave no heed to the letters. At last, in 1863, "Tom Tit" wrote
again, and assured Mr. Dodge that if his pardon was secured, he would enlist in the

army. Dodge then wrote that, as he had done so much to bring him back for trial, he
would do what he could to secure his enlargement, but that he could do as he pleased

about joining the army. The pardon was secured, and " Tom Tit," after twelve years be-

hind prison bars, was set at liberty. He kept his promise to enlist, and in 1863 Mr.
Dodge received another (and the last) letter from him, saying he was in the army of

the Potomac, and telling where a letter would reach him. Mr. Dodge answered that

letter, but never received any reply, and it is inferred that he was killed in battle, or died

from other causes, and that " Tom Tit " is no more.

THE MCNULTY EXECUTION— THE MURDER.

Henry McNulty and his wife lived at Chillicothe. He was a man of intemperate
habits, and, when under the influence of liquor, was of a quarrelsome disposition, and
frequently abused and maltreated his wife, who was an industrious, prudent woman. His
oouduct toward her was so intolerable, that she was often forced to secure his incarcera-

tion in jail that he might sober up, but would as often visit the authorities and secure

his discharge. Sheriff Hitchcock and George Puterbaugh, State's Attorney, often cau-

tioned her that her life was in danger from McNulty, but with the faith of a woman who



344 HISTORY OP PEORIA COUNTY.

loves her husband, she gave but little heed to their warnings. In October, 1872, McNulty
had been on a spree, and had been confined in jail on complaint of his wife. About the

18th of that month his wife came down to Peoria, secured his enlargement, and gave
him money to carry him up home. When he was released from jail, Attorney George
Puterbaugh warned him of the ultimate consequences of his reckless course, and tried to

prevail upon him to lead a sober life in the future. The kind wbrds were lost, however,
for instead of going home with his wife, he remained in Peoria, and commenced drinking.

Sometime on the evening of the 19th he found his way home, and that night his wife

was killed. Suspicion pointed directly to McNulty, and on the 20th he was arrested and
brought to Peoria and lodged in jail to await the action of the grand jury. On the 12th

day of November that body returned an indictment against him charging him with the

murder. On the 13th he was called to the bar of the court, and the indictment read, to

which he plead not guilty. The case came on for trial on the 10th day of December,
and on the 11th the case was given to the jury, who returned the following verdict

:

" We, the jury, find the defendant, Henry McNulty, guilty, in the manner and form as charged in the indictment

and we further find and determine that the punishment of the defendant shall be death by hanging."

The following named twelve men composed the jury that signed McNulty's death

warrant : Charles A. Taylor, Thomas Lindsay, Asa Hicks, Henry Warden, Samuel
Comegys, George T. Wasson, M. S. Beecher, John Minor, B. Randall, B. K. Herrington,

Jacob F. Shafer and John P. Crup.
Up to this time McNulty was represented by A. M. Gibbons. After the verdict of

the jury, O'Brien & Harmon appeared for the condemned man and presented several

motions looking to a stay of sentence, etc., but the motions were all overruled, and the

law allowed to take its course.

On the 13th day of December, 1872, McNulty was called the bar for sentence.

When the usual forms had been observed. Judge Puterbaugh said

:

" It is ordered and adjudged by the court, that the said Henry McNulty be taken from the bar of this court to

the county jail of this county, there to be securely kept until Friday, the 3d day of January, 1873, and that on that

day, between the hours of eleven o'clock in the morning and two o'clock in the afternoon, within the walls of the said

jail, or within a yard or enclosure adjoining, the same be hanged by the neck until he is dead."

The execution of the sentence was quietly enforced. The gallows was erected in

the corridor of the jail. Only a few persons, those recognized by law, were allowed to

witness the terrible and awful spectacle of death by hanging. The instrument of death

was carefully arranged. When the last moment of his time had come, the catch was
sprung, and Henry McNulty, who, when sober, was a respectable appearing man, was
launched into eternity to meet his Maker and the spirit of his murdered wife.

[Pending the proceedings of the trial that brought Henry McNulty to a felon's

death, Sabin D. Puterbaugh was judge ; George Puterbaugh, State's attorney ; George
A. Wilson, clerk ; and Frank Hitchcock, sheriff.]

In 1874 and the beginning of 1875, Dan. McCallister kept a low saloon and den of

infamy on Water street, near the corner of Main. He came to Peoria almost, if not

quite directly, from a term in the Joliet penitentiary, and at once entered upon a most
disreputable career. He surrounded himself with a degraded class of men and women,
and his den was the hiding place and rendezvous of every thief and outlaw that came
this way. The " Tontine," by which name his saloon was known, soon fell under the
surveillance of the local authorities, and although there were many hints of dark and
damnable deeds of crime committed there, with his knowledge and connivance and with
the knowledge and connivance of those he harbored, no tangible clue was ob-
tained to any of them, and his place was permitted to remain a vice-breeding, festering

sink of iniquity until the early part of 1875.
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On the evening of the 15th of April, 1875, the " Tontine " was visited by a man
named Joseph Eads, his brother, and several other men, all of them, except the first

named, being pretty well under the influence of liquor at the time of the visit. Joseph
Eads, as was afterwards shown, was perfectly sober when he went there, and remained
so during the entire evening. It was also shown that he had gone there more to per-
suade his brother away from the company by which he was surrounded, than for any
other purpose.

During the fore part of the evening the party joined in a dance in one of the upper
rooms with the fallen women who were gathered there, and the orgies ran high. Along
towards midnight the drunken debauch broke up in a row, and McCallister blew out the

lights and forced the besotted crowd out of the house and closed the door. In the melee
McCallister received a slight cut with a knife or some other sharp instrument on the back
of his shoulder or side. The wound was slight, but sufficient to arouse the fury of his

demon nature, already heated with whisky, and he followed out into the street. Joseph
Eads was standing a little way up Main street, separate from every one, and giving no
heed to any thing around him. As soon as McCallister saw him he rushed towards him
exclaiming in bitter language, " you are the man that cut me," and at the same time
drew his revolver and shot Eads to death.

McCallister was arrested by the police the same night and taken to the police station.

The form of a preliminary examination was gone through with before Justice Cunning-
ham, and McCallister was committed to jail on the 16th to await the action-of the grand
jury. Court came on in May, Judge Cochran presiding, and on the 18tli day of that

month an indictment was returned against McCallister, charging him with the murder
of Joseph Eads. He was called to the bar of the court and the indictment read

to him, to which he entered the plea of not guilty, and was remanded for trial.

The character of McCallister and his place was so disreputable as to be a bar against

any degree of public sympathy in his favor, a fact well known to him and his counsel,

and he refused to go to trial in Peoria county, and asked for and obtained a change of

venue.
The case was sent to Mason county, Havana, the seat of justice, and the trial came

on there at the February term of the Circuit Court, 1876. The State's attorney was as-

sisted in the prosecution by N. E. Worthington, of Peoria, and S. P. Shope, of Lewis-
ton, who were employed and paid by an appropriation made for that purpose, by the

Board of Supervisors. The defense was conducted by Messrs. Thomas Cratty and L.

W. James, of Peoria, and W. W. O'Brien, of Chicago. The counsel for the people and
for the defendant were pretty evenly matched, and the contest was measured almost

word by word. McCallister's life was at stake, but with a liberal use of his ill-gotten

money and the ingenuity of the best legal talent in the State, he hoped to baffle the

ends of justice and gain a new lease of life. The people of Peoria were equally de-

termined that he should be prosecuted to the utmost extent of the law, and were not

sparing of money or the employment of counsel to ensure a thorough prosecution. The
trial, because of the notoriously bad character of McCallister, and the eminent and well-

known ability of the attorneys engaged, attracted general attention, and lasted several

days. At last, however, the evidence was concluded, arguments ended, and the case

given to the jury, who found McCallister guilty of murder and he' was sentenced to the

penitentiary for the remainder of his natural life.

Thus was removed from the city of Peoria and from society elsewhere, one of the

most dangerous characters known in the history of the county— not alone because he
was a murderer, but because of his naturally depraved disposition, and his ability to plan

and execute, through those by whom he was surrounded, the darkest and most infamous

crimes known to men. He reveled in dissipation, debauchery, corruption, dishonesty

and prostitution. Inside of his house the life of no one was safe. Outside, no one would

23
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take him for the desperado that he was. His presence among young men, whose habits

were maturing, was like the poison of a upas tree. Even among older and better ma-
tured minds, his presence was not without evil influences. And it is to be hoped no
community will ever sanction and that no Governor will ever prostitute the pardoning
power to his enlargement. He is a fit companion to Rande. Together let them be for-

ever immured within prison walls where they will be powerless for evil to the moral and
physical well-being of their fellow-men.

CEIMINAL STATISTICS— CONVICTIONS.

The following bulletin of criminal statistics is compiled from the Sheriff's record,

and shows the number of convictions for the crimes enumerated, from March 17, 1869,
to December 31, 1879.

To the Penitentiary—Larceny, 120 ; burglary, 39 ; rape, 4 ; false pretenses, 2

;

murder, 1 ; robbery, 15 ; confidence games,* 1 ; forgery, 5 ; bigamy, 4; incest 1 ; assault

with intent to kill, 14 ; perjury, 1 ; horse stealing, 5 ; libel, 1—total in ten years, 213.

In the same period of time, 378 persons have been confined in the county jail. These
imprisonments represent all grades of petty crimes and misdemeanors—vagrancy, petit

larceny, drunks, riot, etc. The terms of imprisonment ranged from a few hours to twelve
months. Five of the number were sentenced to the jail by the U. S. Court. Thirty-five

of the remainder were mere boys, and were sent from the jail to the Reform School for

from two to five years. A goodly per cent, of the number incarcerated in the jail in the

last few years were tramps—graceless scamps that never find work to suit them—who
want to cut ice in dog-days, and harvest wheat and make hay in mid-winter.

Official Record— 1825 to 1880.

first election.

The first election for county officers was held on the 7th day of March, 1825. After
that, until 1848, general elections were held in August. Under the amendments to the

constitution in 1848, the time of holding elections was changed to the first Tuesday after

the first Monday in November.

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

March 7, 1825— Nathan Dillon, Joseph Smith, "William Holland.

August, 1826— Nathan Dillon, William Holland, John Hamlin. At the June term

1827, the names of George Sharp and Henry Thomas appear in place of Nathan Dillon

and William Holland.

August 4, 1828— Isaac Egman and Francis Thomas were elected, and with George
Sharp made a full board.

September term 1830, George Sharp, John Hamlin and Stephen French qualified as

commissioners. At a special election, August 4, 1831, Resolved Cleveland was elected

to fill a vacancy in the board caused by the death of George Sharp. At another special

election on the 5th of December, John Coyle was elected to fill the place of John Ham-
lin, resigned. Stephen French also resigned at the beginning of the year, 1832, and at a

special election on the 5th of March, Aquila Wren was elected to the vacancy.
August, 1832— Edwin S. Jones was elected, who, with Wren and Coyle, made a full

board.

August 4, 1834— John Coyle, Grin Hamlin and Andrew Tharp.
August 1, 1836— William J. Phelps, Aquila Wren, Samuel T. McKean.

*So booked on the jail record, but trial and conviction followed on some other charge.
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August, 1838— Clark D. Powell, Smith Frye, Moses Harlon. After this date the
Commissioners served one, two and three years each, drawing for terms at the first meet-
ing after election, so that only one Commissioner was elected annually thereafter, unless
to fill vacancies. Under this rule there was always two members of the Board, unless in
case of death or resignation, who were familiar with the routine of county business, the
oldest member presiding.

August, 1839— Clark D. Powell.

January 10, 1840— William Hale, elected to fill the place of Moses Harlon elected

to the Legislature.

August, 1840— Nathaniel Chapin.

August 1, 1841— Smith Frye.

August, 1842— Thomaa P. Smith and Clementius Ewalt, one to fill the vacancy
caused by the resignation of Smith Frye, elected Sheriff.

August, 1843— William Dawson.
August, 1844— Clementius Ewalt.

August 4, 1845— Thomas P. Smith.

August 3, 1846—Thomas Mooney.
August 2, 1847 — James L. Riggs.

August 7, 1848 — Joseph Ladd.

COUNTy JUDGES.

February 12, 1849, the Legislature passed a law creating a County Court. Section
one of this law provided "that there should be established in each of the counties of this

State, now created and organized, or which may hereafter be created or organized, a
court of Record, to be styled the ' County Court, ' to be held and consist of one judge,
to be styled the ' County Judge.'" Section seventeen of the same act [sec. p- 307-10,
Statutes of 1858] provided for the election of two additional justices of the peace, whose
jurisdiction should be co-extensive with the counties, etc., and who should sit with the
county judge as members of the Court, for the transaction of all county business and none
other. Elections under this law were as follows

:

November, 1849— Thomas Bryant, Judge; Joseph Ladd and John McFarland
associate judges.

The Court was succeeded in the management of County business by the Board of

Supervisors in April 1850. Its last meeting, however, was on the 4th of June of that

year when their " docket " was closed up and turned over to the Supervisors.

COUNTY CLERKS.

For some years after the county was organized, the position of County Clerk was
filled by appointment by the Board of County Commissioners. At the first meeting of

the Commissioners, March 8, 1825, Norman Hyde was appointed to be clerk to the Board.
Hyde resigned between the time of that and the June meeting, when John Dixon was
appointed, his appointment bearing date June 8. Dixon served until May, 1830, when
he resigned, and Stephen Stillman was appointed to the vacancy, June 6, 1831. Isaac

Waters was appointed, vice Stillman resigned. At the May meeting of the Board, Wil-
liam Mitchell was appointed clerk pro tern, and June 1, hfe was duly appointed to the

place vice Isaac Waters removed because of age and infirmity. Mitchell served until suc-

ceeded at the November election by Oliarles Kettelle. Kettelle continued to hold the

office until succeeded by the present incumbent. Colonel John D. McClure, who was
elected in November, 1865 ; re-elected November 1869, November 1873, and November,
1877. His term of office will expire November, 1881. Colonel McClure's repeated

election to this important office is good evidence of his worth as a citizen and fidelity as

a public official.



348 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

Robert Kennedy, the chief deputy has been in the office since January, 1869, and by
his experience and industry, is as familiar with the duties of the office as his superior.

Samuel A. Livingston, the recording clerk, has filled that position since January,

1877.

These gentlemen are well known and highly appreciated by all who have had busi-

ness in the office, for their promptness, efficiency and universal courtesy. To them, as

well as to their chief, the writer is under obligations for repeated favors and kindnesses

while overhauling the records of the office for information for this volume.

SHERIFFS.

First election March 7, 1825— Samuel Fulton; re-elected August, 1826.

August, 1828— Orin Hamlin.
August, 1830— Henry B. Stillman.

August, 1832— John W. Caldwell.

August, 1834— William Compher, resigned, and at a special election October 6,

1835, Thomas Bryant was elected to fill out the unexpired term.

August, 1836— Thomas Bryant; re-elected August, 1838.

August, 1840— Christopher Orr.

August, 1842— Smith Frye ; re-elected August, 1844.

August, 1846— William Compher ; re-elected August, 1848 ; defaulted and fled the

country, leaving Clark Cleveland, his deputy, in charge. It was claimed that Compher
would return, but when it became known that he would not, suits were brought and the

Court appointed John A. McCoy as elisor. Time of holding elections changed.
November, 1850— James L. Riggs.

November, 1852— Leonard B. Cornwell.

November, 1854— David D. Irons.

November, 1856— Francis W. Smith.

November, 1858— John Bryner.

November, 1860 — James Stewart ; re-elected November election, 1862.

November, 1864— George C. McFadden.
November, 1866— Frank Hitchcock.

November, 1868— Samuel L. Gill.

November, 1870— Frank Hitchcock; re-elected in November, 1872, 1874, 1876,

1878 ; term expires in November, 1880.

CORONBES.

August, 1830— Resolved Cleveland.

August, 1832— William A. Stewart.

August, 1834— Jacob Egman.
August, 1836 — R. B. Hamlin. At a special election, March 16, 1837, E. F.

Nowland was chosen, vice Hamlin, resigned.

August, 1838— E. F. Nowland. Nowland refused to serve, and at a special election,

October 1, 1838, Jesse Miles was elected to the vacancy. May 15, 1840, James Moss-

man, vice Miles.

August, 1840— James Mossman.
August, 1842 — Chester Hamlin. •

August, 1844— Jeremiah Williams. Re-ellcted in August, 1846.

August, 1848— John C. Heyl. Time of holding election changed.

November, 1850— Charles Kemble.
November, 1852— Ephraim Hinman. Re-elected November, 1854.

November, 1856— Milton McCormick.
November, 1858— John M. Niglas, M.D. Re-elected November, 1860.
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November, 1862— Charles Feinse.

November, 1864— Thomas Antcliff. Died in office, and April 4, 1865, was suc-

ceeded by Willis B. Goodwin.
November, 1866— Willis B. Goodwin.
November, 1868— Philip Eichorn.

November, 1870— Willis B. Goodwin ; re-elected in November, 1872 and 1874.

November, 1876— M. M. Powell ; re-elected in 1878 ; term of office expires, 1880.

TRBASUEBBS.

At the first meeting of the first Board of County Commissioners, Aaron Hawley was
appointed treasurer. The first election of treasurer, of which we have easy accessi-

ble knowledge, was—
August, 1837— Rudolphus Rouse. He was succeeded by Ralph Hamlin, by ap-

pointment, May 15, 1838.

August, 1839— Joseph Fuller.

August, 1841— Charles Ketelle ; served six years.

August, 1847— Ralph Hamlin; re-elected November, 1849.

November, 1851 — John A. McCoy ; re-elected November, 1853.

November, 1855— Joseph Ladd; re-elected November, 1857.

November, 1859— Isaac Brown; re-elected November, 1861.

November, 1863—
November, 1865— Allan L. Fahnestock.
November, 1867 — Thomas A. Shaver.
November, 1869— Edwin C. Sillimon.

November, 1871— Isaac Taylor ; still serving.

STJBVBYORS COMMENCING "WITH 1835.

August, 1835— Thomas Phillips.

August, 1839— George C. McFadden; re-elected in August, 1843 and 1847.

November, 1849— Henry W. McFadden; re-elected in November, 1851.

November, 1853— Daniel B. Allen ; re-elected in November, 1855.

November, 1 857— Samuel Farmer.
November, 1859— Richard Russell; re-elected in November, 1861.

November, 1863—
November, 1865— Luther Nash.
November, 1867— Charles Spaulding.
November, 1869 — Arthur T. Burket; re-elected in November, 1871 and 1873.

November, 1875— Robert Will; succeeded April 4, 1876, by David B. Allen, who
is still serving at this date, January, 1880.

EECOEDBRS.

Charles was chosen recorder August 12, 1835, and held the office until a

change in the law, by which that office was united with the office of circuit clerk, under

the constitution of 1848.

CIECUIT COXJET CLBEKS.

The early county clerks served as clerks to the Circuit Court. The first clerk under

the constitution of 1848 was Jacob Gale, whose term of office commenced in September,

1848. He was re-elected in 1852.

November, 1856— Enoch P. Sloan ; re-elected in November, 1860.

November, 1864— Thomas Mooney.
November, 1868— George A. Wilson; re-elected in November, 1872.
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November, 1876— John A. West. His deputies are Charles Ulrich, Harry C. Bes-
tor, John Q. Bone, and Rudolph Pfeiffer.

COUNTY JUDGES.

The title of this ofiBce was first designated as Probate Justice of the Peace, and had
jurisdiction of all matters pertaining to estates of decedents, guardianship, etc.

Norman Hyde, the first Judge of Probate in Peoria county, was elected to the posi-

tion by the joint Yote of the Legislature in January, 1825. He was commissioned by
Governor Edward Coles, and qualified before John Dixon, Clerk to the County Commis-
sioners, June 4, 1825. His first official entry was made June 6, 1825, the day fixed by
law for the regular transaction of probate business. His last official entry appears under
date of February 6, 1832. He died in the latter part of 1832. His will was probated
November 21st, 1832. He was unmarried, and bequeathed his property to his father,

mother, brothers and nephews.
Mr. Hyde was succeeded by A. M. Hunt, by appointment of Governor John Rey-

nolds, A. P. Field, Secretary of State. The commission was dated November 10, 1832.

Between the close of Judge Hyde's official career and this date, the Black Hawk war
was the all absorbing topic, and but little business of any kind was transacted. Judge
Hunt's official service commenced with a special term, November 15, 1832. He served

five years, and died August 12, 1853.

George B. Parker was elected to succeed Judge Hunt, August 7, 1837, and was the

first election of probate judge by the voters of the county. His first official records were
made under date of October 2, 1837, and his last under date of May 20, 1839.

Edward Dickinson was elected August 7, 1839, and held his first term of court Sep-

tember 2, 1839. His last official act appears under date of July 24, 1843. He died July

6, 1866.

Judge Dickinson was succeeded by William H. Fessenden, who was elected August
7, 1843, and held his first term September 30, 1843. His judgeship closed July 29, 1847.

Fessenden died December 23, 1848.

Thomas Bryant came next, and was elected August 2, 1847. In 1849 the jurisdic-

tion of this court was extended (see p. 307-10, statutes of 1858). There is no report of

an election of probate judge in November, 1851, but the election returns for November,
1853, show Judge Bryant to have been re-elected that year, and the subsequent records

that he served until November, 1857, when he was succeeded by Wellington Loucks. At
this time the county judge had jurisdiction of all common law matters, but in 1860-61,

the jurisdiction was diminished by act of the Legislature, and confined exclusively to

probate matters, assignments, insanity, insolvencies and matters of eminent domain.

After the change. Judge Loucks resigned, and at a special election, June 3, 1861, John C.

FoUiott was chosen to the vacancy and filled out the unexpired term, until Novemljer,

1861, and was then elected for a full term of four years, till November, 1865. Judge
Bryant died May 17, 1872.

The present incumbent, John C. Yates, succeeded Judge FoUiott, and was first

elected at the November election, 1865, and re-elected in November, 1869, November,
1873, and November, 1877. His term of office will expire in November, 1881. Term of

office four years.

Of the ex-probate judges, only two are living. Judge Loucks, on his farm in Rich-

woods, and Judge Folliott, at his residence on North Adams street, Peoria.
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CHAIRMEN BOARD OP SUPERVISORS.

[Elected Annually at the first meeting after the April Election.]

1850

—

Samuel Dimon, Kickapoo,
1851 — Benjamin Slane, Akron.
1852— Benjamin Slane, "

1853— Benjamin Slane, "

1854

—

Joseph Ladd, Timber.
1855 _T. C. Moore, Peoria.

1856— T.C. Moore, "

1857— Alva Dunlap, Radnor.
1858— George Jenkins, Hollis.

1859— Benjamin Slane, Akron

i860

—

Benjamin Slane, Akron.
1861— Levi Booth, Chillicothe.
1862

—

Levi Booth, "

1863

—

Levi Booth, "

1864— Thomas A. Shaver, Trivoli.

1865— William M. Dodge, Peoria.

1866— Hdgh Armson, Elmwood.
1867— Samuel Tart, Peoria.

1868— Samuel Tart, "

1870— M. Van Patter,* Trivoli

1871 — H. G. Anderson, Peoria.

1872— John A. McCoy, Millbrook.

1873— John A. McCoy, "

1874— John A. McCoy, "

1875

—

John A. McCoy, "

1B76— John A. McCoy, "

1877— John A. McCoy, "

1878— John A. McCoy, "

1879— John A. McCoY.f "

Col. John D. McClure has been clerk of the Board since the December meeting, 1865.

OOTTNTY SCHOOL OFFICERS.

Under the first school laws of Illinois, the schools of the county were under the
supervision of a, School Commissioner, who was elected biennially. This regime pre-

vailed until 1865, when the law creating the office of County School Superintendent
took effect, to be elected once in four years. The following is the list of school officers,

with the term of service of each, from 1851

:

Commissioners. Ephraim Hinman, Nov., 1851, to Nov., 1855; David McCoUoch,
Nov., 1855, to Nov., 1859 ; Charles Taggart, Nov., 1859, to Nov., 1863. William G.
Randall was elected in Nov., 1863, but from some irregularity he resigned before his

term of office expired, and N. E. Worthington was appointed to fill the vacancy. In
November, 1865, Mr. Worthington was elected the first of the

County School Superintendents, and served until Nov., 1873, two terms. Miss Mary
W. Whiteside was next elected, and filled the office very acceptably till Nov., 1877,
when James E. Pillsbury, the present gentlemanly and efficient officer, was elected, and
serves till Nov., 1881.

CHAPTER XIII.

WAR RECORD.

Three Wars— Black Hawk War— Mexican War— War of the Rebellion— War Record of Peoria County.

Since Americans began to occupy the land of the Peorias in the Spring of 1819, three

wars have disturbed the peaceful pursuits of the country— the Black Hawk war of

1832, the Mexican war in 1846-7, and the war of the rebellion, 1861-5. In each of

these conflicts the sons of Peoria sustained a gallant and conspicuous part.

When, on the 6th day of April, 1832, Black Hawk and his followers invaded Illinois

from Iowa, there were only seventy-five men in Peoria county, subject to military duty.

When this work was commenced it was hoped that the names of these men could be ob-

tained from the old muster rolls, but the hope was a V9,in one. There are no papers

among the county records on which their names were preserved, and a letter of inquiry

* Mr. Van Pastter was killed by the cars while crossing the railroad track at Farmington, Fulton county, with

a wagon loaded with lumber, on the 6th day of January, 1871, and John Waugh, of Peoria, was chosen to the vacant

chairmanship for the balance of the year.

f Mr. McCoy was badly gored by a vicious bull on his farm in Millbrook about the loth of September, 1879,

and died from the effects of the wounds received, on the 13th of that month. His ability and popularity as a pre-

siding officer is evidenced in the fact of his'being elected to the chairmanship of the Board so oilen in succession.

Joseph Armstrong, of Princeville, was elected to fill the chair made vacant by his death.
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was addressed to the Adjutant-General of the State, at Springfield, and another to the

Adjutant-General's office at Washington, and their names were not' to be found on any
records at either place.

Having thus exhausted all official sources of information, recourse was had to the

memory of Mr. John Stringer, of Kickapoo township, who was a corporal in the Peoria

company that served for two months or sixty days in the second campaign against Black
Hawk and his forces, who furnishes the following names from among the seventy-five

subject to military duty at that time

:

Akin, Thomas.
Blanchard, William.
Caldwell, Alexander.
Caldwell, John W.
Carroll, Steve.

Clifton, John.
Cleveland, Hiram.
Cleveland, John.
Curry, Hiram.
Coyle, John.
Doty, Elisha.

Doty, James.
DuMont, Peter.

Eads, Abner.
Ewalt, John.
Essex, Thomas.

Felton, Joseph.
Fulton, Josiah.

Hinkle, John.
Hines, Jack.
Harkness, Ed.
Harkness, James.
Johnson, John, Sr.

Love, John.
Langworthy, Dr.
Moffatt, Aquilla.

Moffatt, Alva.

McCormack, Levi.

Meredith, Joseph.
Nicholson, John.
Parr, Thomas.
Ridgeway, David.

Ridgeway, John.
Reed, Simon.
Root, Lucas.
Read, Thomas.
Stringer, John.
Sharp, Frank.
Stillman, Henry B.

Smith, W. M.
Stewart, William.
Thomas, Frank.
Trial, William.
Van Tassel, Alonzo.
Wright, William.

Wren, Aquilla.

Out of the number of men liable to military duty, a company of fifty men was
raised under the call of Governor Reynolds for troops to defend the State. As far as

remembered, this company was officered as follows:

Abner Eads, captain ; William Stewart, first lieutenant ; John W. Caldwell, second

lieutenant ; John Hinkle, orderly sergeant ; John Stringer, corporal ; Stephen Carroll,

flag bearer ; Asahel Langworthy, surgeon.

This company, a part of the time, was assigned to guard the country between Peoria

and the Mississippi and Rock rivers. It was present at the Stillman's Run affair, and
among the last to leave that field of disaster.

The men with horses and guns were allowed one dollar per day. They were mus-
tered out in the early part of June, 1832, and were paid off in January or February,

1833.

IN THE MEXICAN WAR.

In 1846 the United States became involved in a war with Mexico. There had been
nothing to disturb the tranquillity of the country since the Black Hawk troubles of 1832.

Another generation of young men had come to the front, and the prospect of a brush
with Mexico offered a little excitement and a change from the quiet routine of farm and
shop life— an excitement peculiarly relishable to the average American.

The army of the West was organized under the administration of President Polk in

1846, with the object of conquering New Mexico and California. In organizing this

army, a call was made on Illinois for — regiments. As in the call for six regiments

under President Lincoln's proclamation for seventy-five thousand men for three months
at the beginning of the great American rebellion, more men were offered than could be
accepted. Colonel May, of this county, raised a company and mustered in Peoria pre-

paratory to starting for the place of rendezvous, but just before the hour fixed for

leaving, he received notice that his company could not be accepted, so his men marched
home again.

The women at that time, as before and since, were full of patriotic ardor, and gave
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their influence to the encouragement of enlistments. And about the time Colonel May's
company was advertised to muster at Peoria to start for Mexico, a number of them
assembled at the residence of Mrs. Gray, now living at 105 North Monroe street,

and made a handsome silk flag for presentation to the company. Among the number
engaged in that work was Mrs. Tobes,* and her daughter , now Mrs. , and
living in Chicago ; Mrs. Morsman,* Mrs. William 'Dodge, still living in Peoria

;

Mrs. Armstrong, librarian Peoria Mercantile Library ; Miss Pickett ;* Mrs.
Isaac Underbill.

" BOUND TO BE A SOLDIEE."

D. C. Frazer, one of the present justices of the peace in Peoria, was then a young
man, full of impetuosity and military ardor, and couldn't wait the movements of Colonel

May's company organization. He hurried away to Pekin to join a company being raised

in that county by Captain E. Jones, which was fortunate enough to be accepted. That
company was mustered in as Company G, of Colonel E. D. Baker's Fourth Regiment
Illinois Volunteer Infantry. Frazer enlisted in June, 1846 ; and was mustered out at

New Orleans in June, 1'847.

MEXICAN VETEEANS.

There came with the tide of immigration to Peoria and vicinity, quite a number of

men who had taken part in the Mexican war, and as year was added to year, these

veterans fell in with each other, and it was only natural that a deep-seated and warm-
hearted friendship should spring up between them, notwithstanding they were sons of

different States, had been members of different companies and different regiments and
that they had never seen each other until their chance meetings at Peoria. In 1874 it

was found there was quite a number of these heroes residing in Peoria county—almost
enough of them to form a full regulation company—and it was determined to form them-
selves into a society to be known as the

CENTRAL ILLINOIS ASSOCIATION OF MEXICAN VETEEANS.

The first meeting of the members of this association was held at the Peoria court-

house, September 8, 1874. S. O. White presided, and D. C. Frazer acted as scribe.

Messrs. Bush, Frazer and Drury were appointed a committee on resolutions and to secure

excursion rates for the delegates chosen by the veterans then in session to represent them
in the State Convention of their old comrades at Bloomington on the 23d and 24th.

Comrades Heinike, Burt, Drury, White, Frazer, Sheppard and Sullivan were appointed

as such delegates.

Resolved, That the surviving soldiers and sailors, of the Mexican War residing in this and adjoining counties

organize themselves into a society for further re-unions for social purposes and to consider their claims on the gov-

ernment for a pension.

The second meeting of which there is any record, was held on the 18th of May, 1876,

S. O. White presiding. At this meeting, on motion of R. W. Burt, the name of " Cen-
tral Illinois Association of Veterans of the Mexican War," was adopted. Messrs. R. W.
Burt, J. W. McKenzie and John Daily were appointed a committee to prepare a constitu-

tion and by-laws for the government of the association. The first permanent officers

were

:

President, Samuel O. White ; recording secretary, D. C. Frazer ; corresponding sec-

retary, J. W. McKenzie ; treasurer, R. W. Burt.

R. W. Gilliam, of Chillicothe, was chosen to represent the association at the Phila-

delphia Convention of Mexican War veterans.

*Decejfted.
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CONSTITUTION.

The report of the committee on constitution and by-laws was submitted to a meet-
ing of the association, June 15, 1876, which was read, amended and adopted.

Aetiolb 1. This organization shall be known as the " Central Illinois Association

of Veterans of the Mexican War," and may include any honorably discharged soldier or

sailor who served in the Mexican war.

Aet. 2. This association shall hold its regular meetings on the first Thursday in

January, April, July and October of each year ; and special meetings may be called at

such times and places as the President may deem necessary.

Art. 3. The object of this association shall be to gather the veterans of the Mexi-
can war, in the central part of Illinois, into a fraternal brotherhood, for the promotion of

pleasant intercourse and good fellowship, and to further the interests of its members.
Art. 4. The officers of this association shall be President, Vice-President, Treas-

urer, Secretary, and Corresponding Secretary.

Art. 5. The officers shall be chosen by a vote of the members present at the an-

nual meetings in January, and continue in office one year, and until their successors are

elected.

Art. 6. Any person may become a member by giving the President and Secretary

satisfactory evidence that he was a soldier or sailor in the Mexican war, and was honora-

bly discharged, on the payment of fifty cents admission fee, and twenty-five cents at each

regular meeting.
Art. 7. No assessment shall be made on members for ordinary expenses, except by

a two-thirds vote of all present.

Art. 8. No amendments shall be made to this constitution except at a regular

meeting, and by a two-thirds vote.

BT-LA"WS.

Art. 1. The duties of the officers of this association shall be such as usually de-

volve upon officers of similar associations.

Art. 2. The business of this association shall be conducted in accordance with the

usages of legislative bodies in the United States.

Art. 3. A majority of the members present at any regular meeting, may alter or

amend these by-laws.

HON. JAMBS SHIELDS.

At a meeting of the association held at the office of D. C. Frazer on the 29th of

June, 1876, a letter from General Shields was read, requesting recognition as an honorary

member of the association. The request was granted, and the name of that hero of many
a hotly contested battle-field, was added to the membership.

FLAG PRESENTATION.

The Mexican veterans met at the Chamber of Commerce, July 4, 1876, on which
occasion a fine United States flag was presented, with a few appropriate remarks, by Mrs.

Hattie Milliken, a sister of Comrade D. C. Frazer. The presentation was responded to

by Captain R. W. Burt, who received the flag in behalf of the association, after which
the veterans joined the Centennial celebration, in a large wagon drawn by four horses,

and beautifully decorated with American and Mexican flags, mottoes, portraits, etc.

Regular meetings of the association have been held at the times named in the con-

stitution, and called or special meetings whenever the interest of the veterans demanded.
Communication is maintained with other organizations of the same kind in different parts

of the State. Congressmen and Senators are constantly reminded that there was a war
with Mexico, and that the surviving soldieas of that war are as deserving of pension recog-
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nition as the soldiers of any other war. Most of them are poor— many of them almost
needy. As one of them expressed it to the writer, " there is hardly one of them that
could buy a horse and buggy if needed." In some instances this association has had to

provide for sick members, and in many other ways see to the wants of their comrades, all

of which would be obviated if the government of the United States would deal justly by
them and grant them that pension to which they feel they are justly entitled.

GRAND EETTNION.

At a meeting of the association, April 18, 1878, it was resolved to have a grand public

reunion at Peoria on the 23d of May, the arrangements for which were perfected under
the management of a committee composed of Messrs. Henry Shofe, D. C. Frazer, W. F.

Gardner, C. McKenzie, William Shroeder, Captain A. Stuber, of Chillicothe, and Major
George A. Wilkins, of Dunlap Station.

The reunion was one of the most interesting gatherings ever witnessed in Central
Illinois. Captain R. W. Burt, an Ohio soldier in the Mexican war, and President of the

association, officiated as President of the day, and Captain Adam Stuber, an old veteran
of the Fifteenth U. S. Regulars, acted as Chief Marshal.

An unexpectedly large number of veterans were present, and the citizens and volun-
teer soldiers of Peoria and vicinity united cordially in doing honor to the surviving

soldiers of the struggle with Mexico. It was a source of regret that Gen. Shields failed

to arrive, as had been expected, on the previous day. A committee of reception, escorted

by a band and Capt. Taylor's company (National Blues), with a large concourse of citi-

zens, were present at the depot on the arrival of the train ; but the General, through an
unfortunate combination of circumstances, failed to arrive. He did come, however, a few
hours later, and was serenaded at his hotel, where he held a reception.

The morning of the 23d was stormy, but before noon, as if in recognition of the
deserts of the. veterans, the clouds dispersed and the afternoon was all that could be
desired.

The exercises were held at Jefferson Park, in the northern part of the city, and were
very largely attended.

Hon. M. C. Quinn, on behalf of the Association and citizens of Peoria, delivered the

address of welcome, and the honor could not have been delegated to any one more com-
petent.

quinn's words of welcome.
Ladies, Soldiers and Citizens:

The committee of arrangements for this occasion has honored me by selecting me to extend a hearty greeting to

all the representatives here of the heroes who upheld our flag upon foreign battle fields, and all others present, to do
honor to the occasion, especially to one of the most distinguished of that warrior band, General James Shields. To
you, one and all, survivors of the noble men who upheld our flag in Mexico, and the good men and true ,who fought
under its folds to put down domestic violence, and to all the friends and admirers of such, I extend the most earnest

and heartfelt welcome. I congratulate you upon this reunion of the survivors of the " Old Guards." And in ex-

pressing this welcome, I express not only the sentiments of the committee of arrangements, but also the sentiments
of all the good people of this city and vicinity. This truth is clearly exemplified by the action of the public authori-

ties on yesterday, by the mayor and council of this city, the board of supervisors and county officers, going in their

official capacity, accompanied by our local soldiery, the " boys in blue," and thousands of our citizens to welcome
our distinguished guest— a man whose name is a synonym for valor and patriotism— General Shields. If any thing
more were wanting to express the feelings of our people in this regard, it has been furnished by the action of our
courts, virhich have adjourned to be with us on this occasion, and to hear Judge Shields.

Survivors of the brave men who bore that flag from the Rio Grande to the City of Mexico, and planted it

triumphantly over the halls of the Montezumas, you are worthy of this ovation ! Worthy— thrice worthy— are you
of this ovation, noble hero and victim of Cerro Gordo ! Of all the men whom, to-day, we delight to honor, foremost
stands the aged veteran who has laughed at death upon hundreds of battle fields, General Shields. He is not old

enough, however, to " Shoulder his crutch and show how fields are won," but young enough to gird on his sword at

his country's call and shout forward, march, to victory! It is true that, like Cincinnatus, he has converted his sword
into a plow share, but at this moment, if his country requires it, he is ready to turn that plow share into a sword,

and wield it vigorously for the country for which he has so often given his blood.

General Shields is still on the muster rolls! He is ready for duty! He can not be retired as long as his heart is

warm and hii eye is bright, he can never retire from the service of his country, if that country needs his services.
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Politicians may retire— aye, must retire— General Shields will not, can not retire, for no man living has a larger
place in the hearts of the people to-day than he. Despite the politicians the people will honor him, and in death his

memory will be held in benediction.
In conclusion, I extend to our distinguished guest, to the veterans and citizens from abroad, to each and all who

honor the occasion, a hearty welcome.

THE MEXICAN WAK REVIEWED— ADDRESS OP GEN. LBONAKD F. BOSS.

After these generous and eloquent words of welcome, General Leonard F. Ross, of

Avon, Fulton county, who had been selected for the occasion, spoke as follows

:

Mr. President, Comrades of the Mexican War, Ladies and Gentlemen :

It is now near the third of a century since the American soldiers gave their services to their country in the war
with Mexico— since they encountered the trials and vicissitudes incident to army life in a foreign country, in an un-
congenial and malarious climate. Since those services were rendered a full generation has entered upon and passed
off the stage of action. And yet it seems but yesterday since we were electrified by the announcement that an
armed foe had entered our territory and shed the "blood of American citizens on American soil"— since the
brilliant victories of General Taylor on the Rio Grande floated o'er the wires. The details of the battles of Palo
Alto and Resaca de la Falma, and the gallant defense of Fort Brown were on every tongue. They occupied the

minds of our entire people and filled all of the newspapers of the day. No event, probably, since the engagements
at Lexington and Concord had so wrought up and agitated the American people.

At a time when at peace with all the world, before a collision was even expected by the mass of the country, we
were precipitated into a war. The surprise, the astonishment at such an event, can at this distant day be scarcely

imagined. And yet, perhaps, we should not have been taken so by surprise had we fully considered some preceding
events in the history of the youngest member of our sisterhood of States— then the youngest and most feeble, but
now the strong and vigorous, the rapidly growing young State of Texas. In this connection I deem it not inappro-
priate to refer cursorily to a few of the leading events that preceded the war between American republics.

As early as 1835, Texas had revolted against the Mexican government and attempted independence. On the

2d of March, 1836, Texas declared her independence, adopted a constitution and organized a State government.
For nine years this independence was maintained by force of arms, and was acknowledged by the government and
other leading powers. Twice during this time Mexico made attempts to re-conquer Texas, but both times her forces

were driven from the State. On the 1st of March, 1845, the United States Congress passed a joint resolution declar-

ing that certain territory therein named " rightfully belonged to the Republic of Texas," and that it might be erected

into a State, called the State of Texas. On the 4th of July, 1845, Texas assented to the terms of this resolution, and
became a State in the American Union.

During this time Mexico continued to issue her proclamations and pronunciamentos, and threatening to conquer
Texas. In order to protect this new State, General Taylor was ordered to move with his forces to the southern
frontier of Texas. While thus occupying the country, on the 24th of April, 1846, General Arista crossed over the

Rio Grande with a large Mexican force and surrounded a small detachment of sixty-three United States dragoons,
killed about one-fourth, and took the balance prisoners.

Large bodies of Mexican troops were soon after crossed over the Rio Grande, both above and below the encamp-
ment of General Taylor, threatening his depot supplies at Point Isabel and his communication therewith. In order

to protect these and save his little army of 4,000 men from destruction, he met the Mexican army of 6,000 and de-

feated it in two pitched battles. Having left detached portions of his command for the defense of Fort Brown and
Point Isabel, the battles of Palo Alto and Resaca de la Palma were fought with a force of 2,300, and the enemy in

both instances selected the battlefield. These battles, fought on the 8th and 9th of May, 1846, were the beginning
of the war with Mexico.

On the 13th of May, Congress declared that a state of war existed " by the act of the Republic of Mexico." On
the 23d of the same month, Mexico made an open declaration ofwar against the United States. Then came the call

for 50,000 volunteers, which was answered by a tender of the services of over 300,000. Then followed the mustering
in of troops, the hurrying forward of men and supplies, the collection of arms, ammunition, provisions, and transpor-

tation for a large army, and the excitement that ever attends the organization and equipment of military forces. On
the Rio Grande, the Summer of 1846 was mostly spent in preparation, but the fortified city of Monterey was assaulted

and taken by General Taylor in September, when defended by troops doubling the number of the assailants. About
the same time General Kearney hoisted the American flag in New Mexico, and established a new government.

The year 1846 was further signalized by the operations of Commodores Sloat and Stockton and Captain Fremont
on the Pacific coast, the brilliant marches of Colonel Doniphan and General Kearney, the capture of Tampico by
Commodore Perry, and its occupation by General Shields, and the occupation of Victoria by Generals Taylor and
Patterson. General Scott having arrived in Mexico to take command of the armies about the 1st of January, 1847,
the first movement of troops were those of Generals Taylor and Patterson from Victoria; the first northward to his

old quarters at Monterey, General Patterson south to Tampico, to join General Scott in his operations against Vera
Cruz ; Taylor to gain fresh laurels at Buena Vista, and Patterson to become second in command in the reduction of

Vera Cruz and the castle of San Juan D'UIloa, which, after two weeks' investment, surrendered to the arlillery of

General Scott and his >ubordinates with the least possible loss.

Vera Cruz taken, now commences the march for the interior, the "halls of the Montezumas,'' from the same
starting point, and over the same route taken by Cortez over three hundred years before. But this march was to be
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no holiday affair. The capital of the Mexican republic was not to be gained on " flowery beds of ease." Some se-

vere fighting has first to be done. Santa Anna, although defeated at Buena Vista, has had near two months to reor-
ganize his army. Collecting a force of 15,000 men, he intrenches himself on the heights of Cerro Gordo, and prepares
to dispute our passage. But notwithstanding his defensive preparations, notwithstanding the numerous proclama-
tions and pronunciamentos fulminated by him against the "Northern Barbarians" and the "ruthless invaders of
Mexican homes," three weeks after the surrender of Vera Cruz with its 5,000 prisoners, 400 pieces of ordnance, its

numerous forts and the renowned castle of San Juan D'Uiloa, three weeks after this valuable and most bloodless vic-

tory, the American army is pushed forward and hurled against the fortifications of Cerro Gordo, assaulting this

stronghold in front, flank and rear at the same time. Before twelve o'clock the heights are taken, with 3,000 prison-

ers, 10,000 fugitives are in rapid retreat towards Jalapa, pursued by about 400 of General Shields' brigade, who, after

the fall, and as was supposed the mortal wound of their commander (General Shields), were led by Colonel Baker half

way to the gates of Jalapa, Cerro Gordo simply added one more to the list of continuous victories gained by our army
since the beginning of hostilities.

Without following our army through its two years of marches and engagements with the enemy, and making
mention of all the battles fought and victories gained— in a word, I may say that from Vera Cruz to the City of

Mexico, in every engagement and battle, our army was victorious. It has, I believe, been truthfully said that no
other army in the world's history ever fought so great a number of battles against such vastly superior numbers, and
in every engagement, without exception, won a decided and brilliant victory.

And why was it so ? Why was the American army uniformly successful against such vast odds ? The Mexicans
used to try to solve this question. Various theories were advanced on the subject. They always contended that

their troops were better drilled and disciplined than ours, and why they did not at any time ever meet with success

was a mystery they could not solve. Had the Mexicans known something of our system of education, our common
schools, our free ballot, our complete self government, our perfect freedom in religious opinions, they might perhaps
have solved the question. Men of intelligence, possessed of perfect freedom of thought and action, having the

right to elect their own rulers and law makers, and who are taught from childhood to yield obedience to law, have
much of the material of which good and efficient soldiers are made.

Of such were the soldiers who bore our victorious flag under the scorching rays of a tropical sun on every battle

field from Vera Cruz to the capital of Mexico.
Of that grand army that never knew a defeat, but very few are now among the living— fully one-fourth fell by

Mexican bullets, or yielded to the diseases of the country, and now repose in graves in a foreign country, far from
home and friends. Others more favored lived to reach their homes, but with health so shattered and constitution so

enfeebled by sickness incurred in the service, that they, too, soon passed away. So that now, in this year, 1878, but
about ten per cent, of that victorious army that astonished the world by its prowess and valor, remains with us. And
time has begun to leave his marks upon them. The raven locks of former years are beginning to show the effect of

the frosts of former Winters. They have been permitted by a kind Providence to live to see some of the results' of
their service and toil. They have seen State after State created from 630,000 square miles of territory acquired
by our Government, as the result of the war to which their best years were devoted.

They have lived to see the completion of the Pacific railroad, that great highway of the Nation, located on
territory that would have belonged to a foreign country but for the strong arms and brave hearts of that gallant army
of which they were a part. They have lived to see their country increase in population and wealth, and her flag

respected and honored on sea and land the world over. While it has been their happy privilege to live and see so

much that gives joy to the heart of the patriot, it has been their sad lot to see their own country bleeding from civil

strife ; to have looked upon their beloved Government while engaged in suppressing the terrible rebellion ; to have
seen their own homes drenched in blood, and the Government they had labored and toiled to sustain— the best
Government that ever existed— struggling with terrible desperation of life, for the right simply to exist as a Nation.
But it has been their happy lot, thank God, to see that contest ended, and the great question decided, whether we are

a Nation or a confederacy of States [Applause], a partnership simply that may be dissolved at the will of one or two
of the partners, or a permanent Union.

There was a terrible loss of life and treasure before the decision was reached, but it came, and we are a Union— a grand Nation [Loud applause]. This meeting, to-day, is designed for a re-union of old comrades-in-arms ; its

object, social enjoyment, for old friends long separated here to meet and join hands, and renew the ties of friendship

formed in years long past by perilous service in a common cause ; to fight old battles over again, and to enjoy the few
hours spent together as best you can. This is right and proper, and these re-unions should be, and, I trust, will be,

of more frequent occurrence than in the past.

May a kind heaven grant you, my comrades, the largest allowance of peace and happiness to the close of life ;

and may you all live to enjoy many such re-unions.

General Ross was followed by General M. S. Barnes, of Galesburg, another Mexican
veteran, in an address full of appropriateness to the occasion. He reviewed the action

of Congress in refusing or neglecting to grant a pension to the heroes of that war, and
characterized it as a meanness unbecoming the boasted philanthrophy and justice of the

people of the American republic. He reviewed the marches and counter-marches of

the little army, and the happy results achieved for the country.

At the conclusion of this address, Captain R. W. Burt, master of ceremonies, rose

and said

:
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Comrades, Citizens and Visitors :

I am about to introduce to you a statesman whom two of the great States of the Union have honored with a seat
in the United States Senate, and a soldier who has served his country with distinction, and received wounds in two
wars — the first grand in its results, because it largely extended the area of freedom and greatly increased our national
wealth

; and the last glorious, because it preserved the Union and made every man within its bounds a freeman. Lis-
ten to the burning eloquence of a man who almost gave his life to conquer a foreign foe, and who, when the Union
was in danger of being rent asunder, knew what colored coat to wear, and wore it with honor and distinction. I have
the honor to introduce to you the honored statesman and heroic soldier,

MAJOB-GBNBEAL JAMBS SHIELDS.

The old hero was received with cheer after cheer. When quiet was restored, he said

in response to the introductory remarks of Captain Burt and the greeting of the audi-

ence, that the crowd had heard so much eloquence that they would not care to listen to

him. He was a little tired and had to speak in the evening, and besides, those cheers
would have scared any body who could be scared at all. This was a glorious

day for him and for them. He had received a rousing ovation from the people,

and his heart was too full for him to say much. He and his war-worn comrades
before him had eaten, drank and slept together on the hostile plains of Mexico.
They had been baptized in blood and fire together. No other occasion would have
brought him here, for he was worn out with the labors of the past few weeks. He
had wanted to look his old comrades in the face and take them by the hand, and it would
be perhaps the last time they would meet until the long roll summoned them all together
again in another world. He alluded to the sufferings of the veterans of the Mexican
war, and the apathy of Congress in recognizing them. The people were with them, if

the politicians were not.

In the evening a large audience assembled at Rouse's Hall to hear the speech of Gren.

Shields upon the subject, " Reminiscences of the Mexican War." He entertained them
well. His recollections of the war were abundant and well told. The General was an
active participant in most of the scenes he described so vividly. Some of the incidents
were heroic, others funny. The platform was filled with the veterans and their distin-

guished visitors from abroad. He was introduced to the audience, in a few appropriate
remarks, by John Warner, Esq., mayor of the city.

DEATH OF GBNBKAL SHIELDS— ACTION OF THE ASSOCIATION.

Intelligence of the death of General Shields was received in sorrow by the Associ
tion, and at a meeting held on the 6th of June, President Gardner in the chair, the fol-

lowing action was taken. Comrades Frazer and McKenzie were appointed a committee
to draft resolutions expressive of the sorrow of the Association, at his sudden and unex-
pected taking off. After a brief absence the committee submitted the preamble and
resolutions here appended

:

Whereas, It has pleased the Almighty to remove from our association General James Shields, therefore be it

resolved,

1. That the Society has, by his death, lost one who has always had the best interests of the society at heart,

and who was always ready and willing to sacrifice his own comfort and interest in our behalf.

2. That this nation and State, wherein he resided, have lost one of the purest and best patriots and statesmen
by his death ; one who, in the discharge of every known duty, was incorruptible, prompt and untiring in the dis-

charge of his duties to his adopted country.

3. That the colors of the association be lowered to half mast, and that the members of the association wear
the usual badge of mourning for thirty days from this date as a token of our esteem for his nobleness of character and
sorrow and regret over the demise of our former comrade.

4. That a copy of these resolutions be transmitted to the family of our deceased comrade, and to each of the

city papers, with the request that they publish the same.

LETTER FEOM MBS. SHIELDS.

In acknowledgment of the receipt of the resolutions above quoted, Mrs. Shields trans-

mitted the accompanying letter

:
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Carkollton, Carroll Co., Mo., June lo, 1879.
To the Central Illinois Association ofMexican Veterans :

Esteemed Friekds— Your letter of resolutions were received, and please to accept my heartfelt gratitude for

your kindness in forwarding them to me, and rest assured, dear friends I will prize them and preserve them for my
poor little fatherless children.

Accept my thanks and warmest wishes, and may God bless you, is the prayer of your sorrowing friend,

M. B. Shields.

THE ROLL.

The following register embraces the names of the members of the association and a

list of the names of visiting veterans on the occasion of the Grand Reunion on the 23d of

May, 1878, with the companies and regiments to which they respectively belonged

:

Capt. R. W. Burt 3d Ohio Inf.; Col. S. R. Curtis.

Samuel O. White.. -Co. A., 4th 111. Vol. Inf. ; Col. Baker.

Thos. Shepherd, Co. G., 4th 111. Vol. Inf. ; Col. E.D, Baker.

John Drury, Co. G , 4th 111. Vol. Inf. ; Col. E. D. Baker.

John Hornbaker, Co. G., 4th 111. Vol. Inf. ; Col.E.D.Baker.
DeWitt C. Frazer, Co. G., 4th 111. Vol. Inf. ; Col.E.D.Baker.
Robert Sullivan, Co. G., 4th 111. Vol, Inf.; Col.E.D.Baker.

John Norris, Co. G., 4th 111. Vol. Inf ; Col. E. D. Baker.
Rob't Hale...Co. G., 4th 111. Vol. Inf.; Col. E. D. Baker.

Gen. James Shields. -Honorary Member,CarrolJton, Mo.
Valentine Werner Siege Train; Col. Hooker.
S.M. Gutchess Co. E., 6th 111. Vol. Inf.

Henry Rehder United States Navy ; Capt. Woods.
R.W. Gilliam Chillicothe.

John Kobler Co. B., 2d Mo. Cav.
Henry Wiltz Co. A., 4th Ohio Vol. Inf.

Wm. Schroeder Co. I„ 4th Ohio Vol. Inf.

John M. Guill ....Co. A., 3d Ken. Vol. Inf.

Granville James Co. C, 5th Ind. Inf.

Gray Co. C, 5th Ind. Inf.

John Odenwitter Co. IC, Mo. Vol. Inf.

James Bryant Co. H., Mounted Rifleman.

Wm. B. Shaw Co. H., 2d Penn. Vol.

Capt. AdamStuber Col. I., isthOhioVol.
Matthew Langston Co. H. 1st 111. Vol.

C. H.Washburne Co. G., 5th 111. Vol.

Henry Heincke Co. B., 1st U. S. Drag.; Col. Sumner.
George A. Wilkins, Major Co. S., 1st U. S. Inf.

D. W. Magee Co. F., ist Ind. Vol. Inf.

W. J. Gardner Co. A., 1st Ohio Vol. Inf.

George Clark Co. I., gth Conn. Vol. Inf.

Miles Bosworth
Thos, H. Tampiin Co. K., ist U. S. Inf.

Henry Shofe Co. H., 2d Ohio Vol. Inf.

Henry Washhousen Co. B., ist Mo. Mounted Vol.
Wm. Petefish ist 111. Vol. Inf.

John Dailey Co. E. 3d U. S. Dragoons.
C. McKenzie .Co. A., 2d 111. Vol. Inf.

Wm. A. Thornton Co. A., 6th 111. Vol. Inf.

Wm. Wickmire Co. M., 1st U. S. Artillery.

Henry Geszn Co. E., 2d Penn. Vol. Inf.

Albert Ernst Co. G., Mounted Rifles.

Albion Epley Lawn Ridge.
Darius Wiley Co. D., 3d 111. Vol. Inf.

VISITING VETERANS.

Major General James Shields CarroUton, Mo.
General Leonard F. Ross Avon, Fulton Co., 111.

General M. S. Barnes Galesburg, 111.

General N. Geersel Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.
Colonel Wm. J. Wyatt Franklin, Morgan Co., 111.

Captain Adam Stuber Chillicothe, 111.

Captain B. Warren Varna, Marshall Co. 111.

Thos. Rhoads .Pekin, 111.

Wm. Heldman Eldena, Lee Co. 111.

Eli Lyon.- Banner, Fulton Co., 111.

Francis Putnam Hilton, Tazewell Co., 111.

J. G. Hammer Pekin 111.

Henry Heincke Secor, 111.

Edward Kane Gridley.IU.

John Drury Fon du Lac, Tazewell Co., 111.

Madison Hughes Copperas Creek (or Canton), III.

John B. Buehler Kansas.
Thos. Campbell La Harpe, 111.

Andrew J. Wells Indianapolis, Ind.
Thos. Keenan - Peru, 111.

G. A, Wilkins - Dunlap, 111.

W. B.Shaw --- Chillicothe, 111.

J. Depew Bloomington, 111.

W. A. Tinney Pekin, 111.

Chas. Cooper.- Pekin, 111.

Harvey Wilson Lacon, 111.

Frederick Bulson Victoria, Knox Co., 111.

John Ropier Eaton, Mo.
John Brechbeller - Bloomington, 111.

IN THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

If there is any one thing more than anothef of which the people of the Northern
States have reason to be proud, it is of the record they made during the dark and bloody
days of the War of the Rebellion. When the war was forced upon the country, the peo-
ple were quietly pursuing the even tenor of their ways, doing whatever their hands found
to do— working the mines, making farms or cultivating those already made, erecting

homes, founding cities and towns, building shops and manufactories— in short, the coun-
try was alive with industry and hopes for the future. The people were just recovering

from the depression and losses incident to the financial panic of 1857. The future looked
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bright and promising, and the industrious and patriotic sons and daughters of the Free
States were buoyant with hope. Immediately surrounded with peace and tranquillity,

they paid but little attention to the rumored plots and plans of those who lived and grew
rich from the sweat and toil, and blood and flesh of others— aye, even trafficked in the
offspring of their own loins. Nevertheless, the war came, with all its attendant
horrors.

While the people of the loyal and freedom-loving North were thus engaged, the

Southern press, pulpit and rostrum were busy fomenting and disseminating sentiments of

treason and disunion. Union sentiment, where it existed, was suppressed by violence.

Proclamations of Governors, acts of Legislatures, ordinances of conventions, followed in

rapid succession. Military companies were formed and drilled ; Southern members of

Congress resigned and returned to their constituents, and State after State declared itself

out of the Union.
In 1860 there were four candidates for President. Two of these candidates, Abra-

ham Lincoln and Stephen A. Douglas, came from Illinois. Mr. Lincoln was the candi-
date of the Republican party, and Mr. Douglas the candidate of the National Democratic
party. The other two candidates, John C. Breckinridge and John Bell, came from the
Southern States. Mr. Breckinridge, of Kentucky,4was the candidate of the pro-slavery
interests, and Mr. Bell, of Tennessee, was the American or Know-Nothing candidate.

The contest was an exciting one, and resulted in the election of Mr. Lincoln, who
received one hundred and eighty electoral votes, Mr. Breckinridge seventy-two, Mr.
Bell thirty-nine, and Mr. Douglas twelve, giving Mr. Lincoln a majority of fifty-seven.

Of the popular vote Mr. Lincoln had 1,857,610 ; Mr. Douglas, 1,365,976 ; Mr. Breckin-
ridge, 847,953 ; Mr. Bell, 590,631. The election of Mr. Lincoln was the direct result of

the refusal of the Southern States to support Mr. Douglas and of their factious support
of Mr. Breckinridge.

Early in the campaign there were threats of secession and disunion in the event Mr.
Lincoln was elected, but the people were so accustomed to Southern bravado that but
little heed was given to the bluster.

On the 20th of December, 1861, South Carolina, by a convention of delegates, de-
clared " That the Union now existing between South Carolina and other States of North
America is dissolved, and that the State of South Carolina has resumed her position

among the nations of the earth, as a free, sovereign and independent State, with full

power to levy war and conclude peace, contract alliances, establish commerce, and to do
all other acts and things which independent States may of right do." On the 24th, Gov-
ernor Pickens issued a proclamation, declaring that " South Carolina is, and has a right

to be, a free and independent State, and, as such, has a right to levy war, conclude peace,

negotiate treaties, leagues and covenants, and to do all acts whatever that rightfully ap-

pertain to a free and independent State."

On the 26th, Major Anderson evacuated Fort Moultrie, and occupied Fort Sumter.
Two days previously he wrote President Buchanan's Secretary of War, John B. Floyd,
as follows : " When I inform you that my garrison consists of only sixty effective men,
and that we are in a very indifferent work, the walls of which are only fourteen feet

high, and that we have, within one hundred and sixty yards of our walls, sand hills which
command our works, and which aff(*d admirable sites for batteries, and the finest covers
for sharpshooters, and that, besides this, there are numerous houses, some of them within
pistol shot, you will at once see that, if attacked in force, headed by any one but a sim-

pleton, there is scarcely a possibility of our being able to hold out long enough for our
friends to come to our succor." His appeal for reinforcements was seconded by General
Scott, but iinheeded by President Buchanan, and entirely ignored by John B. Floyd, the
Secretary of War.

On the 28th, South Carolina troops occupied Fort Moultrie and Castle Pinckney and
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hoisted the Palmetto flag on the ramparts. On the 29th, John B. Floyd resigned his

place in Buchanan's cabinet, charging that the President, by refusing to remoye Major
Anderson and the troops from Charleston harbor, designed to plunge the country into

civil war, and added :
" I can not consent to be the agent of such a calamity." On the

same day the South Carolina Commissioners presented their official credentials at Wash-
ington, which, on the next day, were declined. On the 2d day of January, 1861, Geor-
gia declared for secession, and Georgia troops took possession of the United States arse-

nal in Augusta and Forts Pulaski and Jackson. Governor Ellis, of North Carolina, seized

the forts at Beaufort and Wilmington, and the arsenal at Fayetteville. On the evening
of the 4th, the Alabama -and Mississippi delegations in Congress telegraphed the conven-
tions of their respective States to secede, telling them there was no prospect of a satisfac-

tory adjustment. On the 7th, the conventions of Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessee
met in secession conclave. On the 8th, Secretary Thompson resigned his seat in the

cabinet on the ground that, contrary to promise, troops had been sent to Major Ander-
son. On the 9th, the Star of the West, carrying supplies and reinforcements to Major
Anderson, was fired into from Morris Island, and turned homeward, leaving Fort Sumter
and its gallant little band at the mercy of the rebels. On the same day the ordinance of

secession passed the Mississippi convention. Florida adopted an ordinance of secession

on the 10th, and Alabama on the 11th. The same day (the 11th), Thomas, Secretary of

the Treasury, resigned, and the rebels seized the arsenal at Baton Rouge, and Forts

Jackson and St. Philip at the mouth of the Mississippi river, and Fort Pike at the Lake
Ponchartrain entrance. Pensacola Navy Yard and Fort Barrancas were surrendered to

rebel troops by Colonel Armstrong on the 13th. Lieutenant Slemmer, who had with-
drawn his command from Fort McRae to Fort Pickens defied Armstrong's orders, and
announced his intention to " hold the fort " at all hazards. The Georgia convention
adopted a secession ordinance on the 19th. On the 20th, Lieutenant Slemmer was be-

sieged by a " thousand allied troops " at Fort Pickens. Louisiana adopted an ordinance
of secession on the 25th. On the 1st of February the rebels seized the United States

mint and Custom House at New Orleans. The Peace convention assembled at Wash-
ington on the 4th, but adjourned without doing any thing to quiet the disturbed ele-

ments. On the 9th, a provisional constitution was adopted at Montgomery, Alabama, it

being the constitution of the United States " reconstructed" to suit their purpose. Jef-

ferson Davis, of Mississippi, was chosen President, and Alexander H. Stephens, of Geor-
gia, Vice-President of the " Confederate States of North America." Jeff. Davis was in-

augurated on the 18th, and on the 25th it was learned that General Twiggs, commanding
the department of Texas, had basely betrayed his trust, and that he had surrendered all

the military posts, munitions, arms, etc., to the authorities of Texas.
Abraham Lincoln, the president elect, left his home at Springfield, in this State, on

the 11th of February, 1861, and from that city to Baltimore was one long ovation.

Advised and alarmed at the condition of affairs herein quoted, the loyal people of the

North were anxious for an outline of the policy the incoming president would pursue
toward the disloyal element of the South. At all of the principal cities— at Indianapolis,

on the evening of the 11th ; at Cincinnati, on the 12th ; at New York, at Trenton, at

Philadelphia— large crowds of excited people were^resent to hear from his own lips

some declaration that would give them courage to TOpe that no means delegated to him
as President, by the constitution and the laws, would be spared to suppress the rebellion

and maintain the Union in its integrity. And they were not disappointed. However
cautiously and guardedly he spoke, he said enough to convince his hearers that they were
not mistaken in their estimate of the man and his inflexible purpose to exhaust every

means within the power of the constitution and the people to suppress the rebellion ; that,

while he deprecated the shedding of blood and desired peace, he would maintain the

unity of the States at any and every cost.

24
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At Baltimore, he eluded the vigilance of scheming conspirators, and reached Wash-
ington on Saturday morning, the 2Bd— twelve days after he left Springfield— and in ad-

vance of all expectation. Threats had been made of a forcible prevention of his inauguration,

but the thorough preparations of Lieutenant General Scott prevented any outbreak and
secured the utmost quiet.

The inauguration ceremonies took place in front of the Capitol, and were witnessed

by a vast concourse of citizens. Before taking the oath, Mr. Lincoln pronounced, in a

clear, ringing voice, his inaugural address, to hear which there was an almost painful

solicitude, to read which the whole American people and the civilized world awaited

with irrepressible anxiety. With that address and the administration of the oath of office,

the people were assured. All doubt, if any had previously existed, was removed. In
the hands of Abraham Lincoln, the people's president, and himself of the people, the

government was safe— peaceably if possible, forcibly if necessary.

Traitors were still busy plotting and planning. Troops were mustering in all the

seceded States. Friday, April 12, the surrender of Fort Sumter, with its garrison of

sixty effective men, was demanded and bravely refused by the gallant Major Anderson.
Saturday morning, the 13th, about four o'clock, fire was opened upon the helpless garrison

by the rebel forces, numbered by thousands. Resistance was useless, and at last the

National colors were hauled down and trailed in the dust. Sunday morning, the 14th,

the news of the surrender was received in all the principal cities of the Union. That
was all, but that was enough

!

A day later, when the news was confirmed and spread through the country, the

patriot people of the North were startled from their dreams of the future— from under-
takings half completed— and made to realize that behind that mob there was a dark,

deep and well organized purpose to destroy the government, rend the Union in twain,
and out of its ruins erect a slave oligarchy, wherein no one would dare question their

right to hold in bondage the sons and daughters of men whose skins were black, or who,
perchance, through practices of lustful natures, were half or quarter removed from the
color that God, in his wisdom, had given them. But they " reckoned without their host."

Their dreams of the future— their plans for the establishment of an independent con-

federacy— were doomed from their inception to sad and bitter disappointment.
Everywhere north of Mason and Dixon's line the voice of Providence was heard :

—

" Draw forth your million blades as one
;

Complete the battle now begun

!

God FIGHTS WITH YE, and overhead
Floats the dear banner of your dead.
They and the glories of the Past,

The Future, dawning dim and vast.

And all the holiest hopes of Man,
Are beaming triumph in your van.

" Slow to resolve, be swift to do !

Teach ye the False how fight the True !

How bucklered Perfidy shall feel

In her black heart, the Patriot's steel;

How sure the bolt that Justice wings

;

How we^ the arm a traitor brings
;

How mignty they who steadfast stand
For Freedom's Flag and Freedom's Land !"

On Monday the 15th day of April, President Lincoln issued the following

:

PEOCLAMATION.

Whbkbas, the laws of the United States have been for some time past and now are
opposed, and the execution thereof obstructed, in the States of South Carolina, Alabama,
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Florida, Mississippi, Louisiana and Texas, by combinations too powerful to be suppressed
by the ordinary course of judicial proceedings, or by the powers vested in the marshals

:

Now, therefore, I, Abraham Lincoln, President of the United States, in virtue of the

power in me vested by the constitution and the laws, have thought to call forth, and
hereby do call forth, the militia of the several States of the Union to the aggregate num-
ber of seventy-five thousand, in order to suppress said combinations, and to cause the laws
to be duly executed.

The details for this subject will be immediately communicated to the State authori-

ties through the War Department. I appeal to all loyal citizens to favor, facilitate, and
aid this effort to maintain the honor, the integrity, and existence of our National Union,
and the perpetuity of popular government, and to redress wrongs already long endured.
I deem it proper to say that the first services assigned to the forces hereby called forth,

will probably be to re-possess the forts, places aud property, which have been seized

from the Union ; and in every event the utmost care will be observed, consistently with
the objects aforesaid, to avoid any devastation, any destruction of, or interference with,

property, or any disturbance of peaceful citizens in any part of the country ; and I hereby
command the persons composing the combinations aforesaid, to disperse and retire peace-
ably to their respective abodes, within twenty days from this date.

Deeming that the present condition of public affairs presents an extraordinary occa-

sion, I do hereby, in virtue of the power in me vested by the constitution, convene both
Houses of Congress. The Senators and Representatives are therefore, summoned to

assemble at their respectative Chambers at twelve o'clock, noon, on Thursday, the fourth
day of July next, then and there to consider and determine such measures as, in their

wisdom, the public safety and interest may seem to demand.
In witness thereof, I have hereunto set my hand, and caused the seal of the United

States to be affixed.

Done at the City of Washington, this fifteenth day of April, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one, and of the independence of the United States,,

the eighty-fifth. By the President,

Abraham Lincoln.
William H. Seward, Secretary of State.

The last word of this proclamation had scarcely been taken from the electric wires
before the call was filled. Men and money were counted out by hundreds and thousands.

The people who loved their whole government could not give enough. Patriotism

thrilled, and vibrated, and pulsated through every heart. The farm, the workshop, the

office, the pulpit, the bar, the bench, the college, the school-house—every calling offered

its best men, their lives and fortunes in defense of the government's honor and unity.

Party lines were, for the time, ignored. Bitter words, spoken in moments of political

heat, were forgotten and forgiven, and, joining hands in a common cause, they repeated
the oath of America's soldier statesman :

" By the G-reat Eternal, the Union must and
shall he preserved !

"

Seventy-five thousand men were not enough to subdue the rebellion. Nor were ten
times that number. The war went on, and call followed call, until it began to look as if

there would not be men enough in all the Fre^ States to crush out and subdue the
monstrous war traitors had inaugurated. But to every call, for either men or money,
there was a willing and a ready response. And it is a boast of the people that, had the
supply of men fallen short, there were women brave enough, daring enough, patriotic

enough, to have offered themselves as sacrifices on their country's altar.

The gauntlet thrown down by the traitors of the South was accepted—not, however,
in the spirit with which insolence meets insolence—but with a firm, determined spirit of

patriotism and love of country. The duty of the President was plain under the constitu-

tion and the laws, and above and beyond all, the people from whom all political power is
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derived, demanded the suppression of the rebellion, and stood ready to susta;in the author-
ity of their representative and executive ofi&cers to the utmost extremity.

In the apportionment of troops covered by President Lincoln's proclamation, it was
found that the quota of Illinois would be six regiments, of which fact Governor Yates
was advised by telegraph under date of

" Washington, April 15, 1861.
" His Excellency, Richard Yates :

" Call made on you by to-night's mail for six regiments for immediate service.

"Simon Cameron, Secretary of War."

The sentiments and position of Governor Yates were well known. His convictions

were well settled, and there was no room to doubt that he would use every means to

maintain the unity of the States. Immediately upon receipt of the above dispatch he is-

sued the following proclamation

:

" Springfield, 111., April 15, 1861.
" I, Richard Yates, Governor of the State of Illinois, by virtue of the authority vested in me by the Consti-

tution, hereby convene the Legislature of the State, and the members of the twenty-second session of the General
Assembly are hereby required to be and appear in their respective places, at the Capitol, on TUESDAY, the twenty-

third day of April, A. D., 1861, for the purpose of enacting such laws and adopting such measures as may be deemed
necessary, upon the following subjects, : The more perfect organization and equipment of the militia of the State,

and placing the same upon the best footing to render assistance to the General Government in preserving the Union,
enforcing the laws and protecting the property and rights of the people'; also, the raising of such money and other

means as may be required to carry out the foregoing objects ; and also, to provide for the expenses of such session.
" In testimony whereof, I hereunto set my hand, and have caused the Great Seal of the State to be hereunto af-

fixed at the city of Springfield, the 15th day of April, A. D., 1861. Richard Yates.
"By order of the Governor:
" O. M. Hatch, Secretary of State."

Judge Allen C. Fuller, of Boone county, was appointed Adjutant General. General
Order No. 1 was issued on the 16th, from head-quarters at Springfield, directing all com-
mandants of divisions, brigades, regiments and companies to hold themselves ready for

actual service ; and on the 16th, Order No. 2 provided for the, immediate organization of

the six regiments, and within ten days more than ten thousand men had offered their

services ; and in addition to the force despatched to Cairo, more than the full quota was
in camp at Springfield.

The readiness with which the first call was filled, together with the embarrassments
that surrounded President Lincoln in the absence of sufficient laws to authorize him to

meet the unholy, unlooked for and unexpected emergency— an emergency that had
never been anticipated by the wisest and best of America's statesmen— together with an
under-estimate of the magnitude of the rebellion and a general belief that the war could
not, and would not last more than three months, checked, rather than encouraged, the

patriotic ardor of the people. But very few of the men, comparatively speaking, who
volunteered in response to President Lincoln's call for 75,000 volunteers for three months,
were accepted. But the time soon came when there was a place and a musket for every
man. Call followed call in quick succession, until the number reached the grand total

of 3,339,748, as follows

:

April 16, 1861, for three months _ - 75,000
May 4, l86i, for five years J 64,748
July, 1861, for three years -- 500,000

July 18, 1862, for three years .^ 300,000
August 4, 1862, for nine months - - 300,000
June, 1863, for three years - - 300,000
October 17, 1863, for three years 300,000
February 18, 1864, for three years 500,000
July 10, 1864, for three years .- 200,000
July 16, 1864, for one, two and three years 500,000
December 2i, 1864, for three years - 300,000—3,339,748

THE WAR SPIRIT AT HOME.

The tocsin of war was sounded. Meetings were held in all the townships, at which
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stirring and spirited addresses were made, and resolutions adopted that admitted of but
one interpretation. The spirit of the people in the early days of the war is clearly re-

flected in the following preamble and resolutions :

Whereas, It becomes American citizens to know no political law but their country's welfare; and whereas,
the flag of our country has been insulted, and the laws set at defiance by formidably organized bands of lawless
men, whose avowed purpose and overt acts are high treason against the government, therefore,

Resolved, That in the present endangered condition of the country, all true patriots will ignore all party differ-

ences and distinctions, and will unite in rendering all the aid within their power to the Federal Executive in execut-
ing the laws and defending the honor of their national flag.

2. That we recognize the form of government formed by our fathers and baptized in their blood, the best ever
offered in sacred cause, the birthright of citizens, and to be given up but with their lives.

3. That we are unalterably for the Union of the States, one and inseparable, now andforever.

THE FIKST WAR MEETING.

There is some difficulty in fixing the date of the first war meeting in Peoria. The
newspaper offices were consulted, but without result. The Transcript was the only daily

newspaper published here at that time, and the file of that paper for the first six months
of 1861 is not to be found in the office, and thus we are left to the memory of men.

As to the time and place of the first war meeting, accounts differ. Some assert that

the first meeting was held at Rouse's Hall ; others, that it was held in the court-house.

Mr. D. J. Calligan and others maintain that the first meeting was an impromptu one, and
that it was held in the public square on Sunday, the 13th day of April. These authori-

ties say that as the news of the surrender of Fort Sumter spread through the city, the
people came together by a common impulse. All accounts agree that the meeting was a
large one, that the corner of the square and the streets adjacent were packed with men
who were wild with excitement. There was no formal organization, no recognized leader.

The friends of the administration were confirmed in patriotism, and enthusiastic in their

determination to stand by the Union, the constitution, the enforcement of the laws, and
the administration in the suppression of the rebellion, cost what it might.

Those who were opposed to coercion, and they were not wanting in numbers in the
early days of the rebellion, were equally determined and expressive in action, and per-

sonal collisions were momentarily imminent. It was a boisterous meeting, but happily
for all, the better sentiments of the disturbed elements prevailed, and there were no
serious breaches of the peace. As the war advanced the force of the anti-coercionists

weakened in number, and before a year had passed there was scarcely a corporal's guard
of them left. Prominent men, whose position was not positively known when the war
commenced, wheeled into line, and almost as one man the people of Peoria county, with-
out distinction of party, gave their support and offered their lives and their money in

defense of the Union.
peoeia's piest ofpeking.

The National Blues, an independent military organization dating from the 12th of

July, 1856, besides contributing a large number of its members to the private ranks and
furnishing some of the ablest officers known in the army, was an invaluable auxiliary in

directing enlistments, organizing and equiping companies and hurrying them off to the
front. In many other ways the Blues added largely to the success of war movements in

the city and county of Peoria. In fact, this company was the nucleus of an army of

nearly five thousand heroes that went from Peoria county in defense of the Union.
Backed and encouraged by this influence, it was not many hours after General Order

No. 2 was issued from headquarters at Springfield till the formation of a company was
commenced. John Wetzel, then fiftj'-two years of age, as brave a man as ever shoul-

dered a musket, and as good an officer as ever drew a sword or gave a word of command ;

Charles E. Denison, who was true to the death ; Alex. Jackelfalusy, a countryman of

Kossuth, and whose love of freedom and liberty was inspired by the teaching and example



866 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

of that Hungarian patriot ; D. D. Snyder, Antony Rhoerig, Henry C. Pierce and Otto
Funk, of the Blues, were among the very first to step to the front and pledge their lives

in defense of freedom's holy cause. Others followed in quick succession, and almost

before the fact was realized ninety-six men had enrolled their names and were ready to

march to the fore.

The company took the name of the National Blues, and commenced drilling daily

and nightly with Lieutenant Wetzel as drill master. The arms of the parent Blues were
turned over to the new organization, and the men made rapid headway in the manual of

company maneuvers.
The company left Peoria for Springfield, the place of rendezvous, by way of the S.,

P. and B. Railroad at 11 : 15 o'clock A. M., on Wednesday, April 24. They were escort-

ed to the depot by Captain Norton's company of volunteers, the Zouave Cadets, and the

Emmet Guards and an immense concourse of citizens, the procession being led by the

two Peoria bands. Want of time prevented any formal demonstrations at the depot.

The boys were hurried into the cars, and amid loud huzzas, waving of handkerchiefs,

etc., the train moved away from the depot and was soon beyond the sight and hearing

of their homes and friends. The Transcript, of the 25th, said :
" The boys behaved

excellently well at parting with their friends, who crowded about them, some in tears,

but more with words of cheer and encouragement. The Cecilian Brass Band, J. J. Mur-
ray, leader, accompanied the volunteers to Springfield. A few miles this side of Wash-
ington, a hanger on the center car of the train broke, causing a delay of about an hour.

At Washington, Cruger, Eureka and Secor, large crowds were gathered at the stations

and lustily cheered the volunteers as they passed. At El Paso the people turned out en
masse, with fife and drum, and gave the company an enthusiastic reception.
iH it: * * Hi » ^ ti * if * * *

" The company took with them the cartridge-boxes and muskets of the National

Blues, and a few rifles. The muskets are very good of the kind, being old flint-lock

guns altered to percussion. A large number of the company also went provided with
Colt's revolvers and bowie knives. Altogether, they were a fine-looking set of boys,

and we doubt if Illinois produces a finer company out of her whole quota."

When the company came to be mustered in at Springfield on the 25th of April, Cap-
tain Denison and Lieutenant Wetzel were advised by the mustering officer that only

sixty-four men would be recognized as a full company. This was a dampener on their

order, for they knew the boys all wanted to go. How to avoid the contingency, they
scarcely knew. But, putting their heads together, they overhauled the list of ninety-six

and set aside those they believed to be least fitted for active military duty. There were
just thirty-two— half a company— more men than were wanted for a full company un-

der the rule of the mustering officer, and that number was marked off. The following is

a certified register of the company as sworn in ; together with the nativity and occupa-

tion of each member

:

OFFICERS AND MUSICIANS.

Name. Rank. Age. Nativity and Oc'p'n.

Denison, Chas. E--Captain, 34 Vt., civ. engee'r.

Wetzel, John 1st Lieut 52 Pa., carpenter.

Proebsting, Chas 2d do 29 Prussia, merch't.

Russell, John Ser. Maj. Rg. 32 Ireland, do
Bestor, Geo. L 2d Ast. Qr. M. 24 Illinois, lawyer.

Wheaton, Loyd 1st Sergeant . 22 Mich., civ. eng.

Wilson, Robert 2d do 32 England, potter.

Jackelfalusy, Alex.-3d do . 30 Hungary, civ.eng.

Name.

King, Fred. A 4th Sergeant.
Reiss, Charles 1st Corporal.
Snyder, D. D 2d do
Rhoerig, Antony 3d do
Caldwell, Sam '1 4th do

Rank. Age. Nativity and Oc'p'n.

24 111., book keeper.

34 Prussia, actor.

38 Pa., blacksmith,

29 France, grocer,

27 Pa., printer.

Pierce, Henry C Fifer 23 Mass., carpenter.

Walton, Henry Drummer 20 Pa., clerk.
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Name. Age.

Anderson, Irwin 27
Babb, Timothy 27
Bohm, John 28
Brauns, Otto 27
Carmer, Lawrence 2b
Christ, Karl M 25
Comminish, David 20
Funke, Otto 28
Forrester, Asa B 23
Frazer. Chas. H -. 30
Frye, Chastain S 21
Gray, Wm. H ig
Gorsuch, Noah H 23
Gilliard, John P 24
Gruse, Gustavus 24
Guuntele, Francis 22
Gingrisch, Jacob 19
Gillig, Chas. E 30
Gauss, William 19
Greenleaf, Henry B 21

Hetzel, Fred 27
Hahle, Charles 24
Harrison, A. Y 35
Hurd, Geo. W.. 22
Humphries, James 24
Irons, C. D 22
Jackel, Amandus 29
Julg, Basil 2g
Keener, Henry N 20
Karl, Joseph 26
Kluge, Gustavus 21

Kalmback, Reynold 28

Nativity and Occupation.

Ireland, R. R. contractor.

N. Hampshire, physician.

France, cooper.

Prussia, butcher.

New York, dentist.

Hesse Darmstadt, clerk.

Switzerland, cigar maker.
Prussia, printer.

New York, cooper.

Prussia, watch maker.
Illinois, clerk.

Illinois, student.

Illinois, carpenter.

Penn., cabinet maker,
Prussia, clerk.

Bavaria, printer.

Illinois, farmer,

Hesse Dam'tdt, hotel pro.

Wirtemberg, painter.

Connecticut, dentist.

Baden, shoemaker.
Saxony, carpenter,

Tennessee, printer.

New York, clerk.

England, shoemaker.
New York, student.

Prussia, painter.

Baden, cooper.

Illinois, clerk.

Bavaria, cooper.

Prussia, wagon maker.
Poland, clerk.

Name. Age,

Kellogg, John H 20
Kuehnle, Joseph 32
Lawsori, Benj. F 21

Loomis, Andrew 28

Lutz, Henry 30
Miller, Rudolphus 25
Martins, Frederick 23
Moldenhower, Ernest 25
Martin, Otis P 32
Mond, August 21

Moehl, Emil 27
McCormick, Seth 27
Niglas, Ignatz 25
Nafzigen, Jacob 31
Oberhauser, William 25
Pfeiffer, Chas. H 26
Rohlman. Oscar 25
Schulte, Otto 25
Stutsman, X - - 27
Schroeder, Louis 30
Schuman, Fred 24
Thomas, Jacob 32
Voris, Robert 21
VanBramer, J 2j
Willis, Charles 21

Wetzlau, Julius.. 24
Wetzlau, Gustavus 26
Wasson, James T 21

Wrage, Henry 25
Wilson, Joseph F 24
Zindle, George 28
Zeidler, William 28

Nativity and Occupation.

Illinois, clerk.

Wirtemberg, farmer.

Pennsylvania, clerk.

Missouri, plasterer.

Hesse Darmstadt, brewer.
Prussia, clerk.

Holstein, fresco painter.

Prussia, sur. and engineer.

Pennsylvania, printer.

Missouri, miner,

Prussia, druggist.

Pennsylvania, agent.

Austria, printer.

Wirtemberg, clerk.

Austria, clerk.

Bavaria, tailor.

Prussia, clerk.

Prussia, druggist.

France, shoemaker.
Prussia, actor.

Saxony, brewer.
Hesse Darmstadt, printer.

Illinois, farmer.

New York, tinner.

Illinois, clerk,

Bohemia, clerk.

Bohemia, barber.

New York, farmer.

Holstein, carpenter.

Illinois, lawyer.

Hesse Cassel, shoemaker.
Prussia, clerk.

LoTD Whbaton, Orderly.

The above is correct.

Charles E. Dbnison.
Gapt. Co. K 8th Beg. III. Vols.

This company was mustered in with the Eighth Illinois, and was designated as
" Company E."

Other companies besides the Blues had a surplus of men, and when the organization

of the Eighth was fully completed, enough men were left for nearly three other full

companies, which were organized. Some of the rejected thirty-two from the Blues, as

originally reported, joined these companies, and some others waited for another chance
to " fall in " with the company with which they started out. A sketch of the history of

the Eighth and of Company E will be found in the regimental history, published in con-

nection herewith. Suffice it to say here, that not one of the men were killed, and that

only one of them died while in the ninety day service. All but this one came home
happy and jubilant as only brave soldiers can be, and ready to " pick the flint and try it

again," which they did by re-enlisting when the Eighth was reorganized.
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ABBREVIATIONS.

Adjt Adjutant
Art Artillery-

Bat Battalion

Capt Captain

captd captured

cav cavalry

CO company
Col Colonel

com commissioned
Comsy Commissary
corpl corporal

desrtd deserted

dtsab disabled
dlsd discharged
e enlisted

excd exchanged
Gen General
hon. disd honorably discharged
inf Infantry

kid killed

Lieut Lieutenant
Maj Major
m.o mustered out

pro promoted

prisr prisoner

rec recruit

Regt Regiment
re-e re-enlisted

res resigned

sergt sergeant

sub
.J

substitute

trans transferred

vet V eteran

wd wounded

Sth Infantry (3 Months).

COMPANY B.

Captain.
Chas. E. Dennison, e. April 23, '61.

liieutenants.
First. John Wetzel, e. April 23, '61.

Second, Chas. Proebsting, e. April 22, '61.

Sergreants.
Wheaton Loyd, 1st, e. April 35, '61, m.o. July 35. '61.

Wilson Robert, " " *'

Jackelfalusy Alex, " " "

King Fred. A. " " "

Corporals.
Reiss Charles, e. April 25, '61, m.o. July 26, '61.

Snyder David !>.
" " *'

Roehrig Antony, *' '* "

Caldwell Samuel, " " "

Masicians.
Pierce Henry C. e. April 25, '61, m.o. July 35, 6'61.
Watton Henry, " *' "

Privates.
Anderson Irwin, o. April 25, '61, m,o. July 25, '61.

Babb Timothy, " " "

Bohn John, " " "

Brauna Otto, " ** "

earner Lawrence, " " "

Christ Carl M.
Commensensich David, " " "

FairkeOtto, " "

Forrester Asa B. ' ** *'

Frazer Chastaise S.
" " "

Fry Charles G. '* " '*

Gray William H. " " "

Garsuch Noah H. " " *'

Gilliard John P.
Gindele Francis, " " "

Gruse Gustavus, '* " *'

Gingrich Jacob, " '• *'

Gillig Charles E.
Gaup William, *' " '*

Greenleaf Henry B. " " "

Hetzel Frederick, " ** ••

Hable Charles, '• " "
Harrison A. Y. " •• ••

Hurd George W. '" " "
Humphries James, ** " "

Irons Charles D. " " "

Jackel Amandus, " " '*

July Basil, " •* *•

Keener Henry H. " " "

Karl Joseph, •' " "

Kluge Gustavus, " • "

Kolmbucfc Reynolds, e. April 25, '61, m.o. July 25, '61.

Kellogg John H. " " "

Kuehnle Joseph, " " "

Lawson Benjamin, *• " "

Loomis Andrew, ** " ''

Lutz Henry, " " "

Miller Rodolphus, " " '*

Martens Frederick. " " "

Moldenhower Ernest, " " "

Martin Otis P. " " *'

Mund August^ " " *'

Moehl Emil, " "

McCormick Seth, " "

Nlglass Ignatz, " " "

Nofziger Jacob, " *' "

Oberhauser William, " " "

Pluffer Charles H.
Rollaman Oscar, " " **

Schutte Otto, " " "

Stutsman Xavier, " " '•

Scbroeder Louis, " *'

Sehuman Fredrick, " "

Thomas Jacob, " " "

Voris Robert. " "

Van Braner John, •' " '*

Wills Charles, " " ^
Wetzlan Julius, " " *'

Wetzland Gustavus, '* "

Wasson James T. '* " "

Wrage Henry, ' " '•

Wilson Joseph T. " " "

Zlndle George, " " "

Zeldler William,

7th Infantry (3 Years).

COMPANY B.

Sersreant.
Drew Richard W, e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. New York city, May 12, '65.

Corporals.
Protsman Jacob C. e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. Philadelphia, July 8, '65.
Smith William, e. Feb. 20, '65. m.o. July 9, '65.
Conroy Aaron, e. Feb. 80, '65, m.o. as private, July 9, '65.
Bnnn William C. e. Feb. 33. '65, pro. sergt. m.o. July 9, '65.

Privates.
Bauman August, e, Feb. 81, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Bristol James, e. Feb. 81, '65, m.o, July 10, '65.
Bristol Cyrus, e. Feb. 30, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Cornell George, e. Feb. 3. '65, m.o. June 3, '65.
Crowe Isaac, e. Feb. 23, *66, m.o. July 10, '65.
Curtis Anson H. e. Feb. 23, '65. m.o. July 10. '65.
Ely Nathan J. e. Feb. 20, *65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Falconer Thomas, e. Feb. 80, '65, m.o. July 10, *65.
Graves Jasper, e. Feb. 23, '65, m.o. July 9. '65.
Gray John, e. Feb. 23, '65, m. o. July 9. '65.
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Gandell Charles, e. Feb. 88, '65, m.o. July 9, '66.
Gifford Jolin B. e. Feb. ao. '65. pro, oorpl. m.o. July 9, '65.
Haslenoh Joseph, e. Feb. 21, '68, m.o. July 9, '65.
Hunter Abner M. e. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Harlow Moses, e. Fob. 23, '65, m.o. July 10, '65.
HInkle William A. e. Feb. 24. '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Isenburg Samuel S. e. Feb. 23, '66. m.o. June 80, '65.
Jordan John, e. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Johnson Edgar, e. Feb. 20, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.

Kampmier William, e. Feb. 21, '66, m.o. July 9, '66.
Keller Thomas, e. Feb. 23, '65. m.o. July 9. '65.

Keppel Frederick, e. Feb. 28, '65, pro. corpl. m.o. July 9, '65.

Keyser Dennis E. e. Feb. 23, '65, m.o. July 9, '95.

Kistner Paul, e. Feb. 24, '66, m.o. July 9. '65.
Lorins Julius, e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.

Lorlns EuKene, e. Feb. 24, '65. abs. in nosp. Newborn, N. O.
Nicholas William, e. Feb. 23, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.
Regan Henry, e. Feb. 23, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.

Shfplen Henry F. e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. July 9, '66.

Scoviiie John, e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. July 9. '65.

Sarver Benjamin, e. Feb. 20, '65, m.o. July 17, '66.

Sesaler Emlie. e. Feb. 24, '66, m.o. July 9, '65.

Teufel Christian, e. Feb. 23, '66, pro. corpl. m.o. July 9, '65.

Teutel Andreas, e. Feb. 23, '66, died In G. H. Camp Butler, March
5, '65.

Wagener August, e. Feb, 21. '65. m.o. July 9, '66.

Tans Charles, e. Feb. 20, '66, m.o. July 9, '66.
Tatea John C. e. Feb. 20, '65, m.o. July 9, '65.

Young John B. e. Feb. 23, '66, m.o. July 9, '65.

COMPANY E.

Private.
Brannen Henry, e. July 26, '61, re-e. as yet.

COMPANY G.

FriTate.
Houston Francis, e. March 24, '66, m.o. July 15, *66.

8th Infantry.
Major.

Lloyd Wheaton, com. July 26, '68, pro. Lieut. Col. Sept. 23, '66,
pro. Col., but never mustered, m.o. as Lieut. Col. May 4, '66.

Adjutant.
Fredrick A. King. com. July 25, '64, res. Oct. 9, '64.

iSergreants.
Vorls Robert, e. July 25, '61, trans, from co. E, July 26, '61, re-

duced and re-trans. Oct. 1, '62.
Martin Otis P. e. July 25, '61, trans, from co. B, Oct. 1, '62, re-,

duced and re-trans. Nov. 18, '62.

Hospital Steward.
Keener Henry H. e. Jan. 5, '64, trans, from co. E, March 14, '64,

m.o. May 4, '66.

COMPANY H.
Recruit.

Stead William, e. Feb. 1, '64, trans, from co. I, 17th 111, Inf, m.o.
June 19, '65.

Transferred from 17tli Infantry.
Campbe'l William, e. Feb. 16, '64, desrtd. July 19, '65.
Cross William, e. Feb . 2, '64, turned over to military authorities

as deserter from 73d Ind, Inf.
Snyder James, e. Bee. 28, '63, m.o. May 4, '66.

Transferred from 11th Infantry.
Fleck Martin, e. Sept. 30, '64 (sub.), m.o. Oct. 6, '66.
Miller Anton, e. Oct. 7, '64 (sub.j, m.o. Oct. 6, '66.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Easton Clark, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65.
Ghilds, Benjamin, e. Sept. 27, m.o. Sept. 26, '65.

Cllfl Richard, e. Oct. 10, '64, m.o. Oct. 10, '65.

Grant Winslow, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65.

Harriott Ephraim, e. Oct. 11, '64 (sub.), m.o. Oct. 10, '65.
Wonder John, e- Oct. 11, '64, m.o. Oct. 10, '65.

Woods Henry, e. Oct. 11, '64, m.o. Oct. 10, '66.

COMPANY E.

Captains.
John Wetzel, com. July 26, '61, res. March 22, '62.

Lloyd Wheaton, com. March 26, '62, pro. Maj.

liieutenants.
First, Lloyd Wheaton, com. July 26, '61, pro.
First, Fredk. A. King, com. July 26, '63, pro. Ad]t.
Second, Fredk. A. King, com. March 25, '62, pro.

Sergreants.
First, King Fred. A. e. July 25, '61, pro. to 2d Lieut.
Martin Otis P. e. July 35, '81, pro, to Sergt. Maj. Oct. 1, '61, re-

duced tu ranks Not, 22, '62, m.o. July 30, '64.

Corporals.
Brown Benjamin W. e. July 25, '61, pro. sergt. trans. V. R. C.

Sept. 15, '63.

Irons Charles D. e. July 26, '61, reduced to ranks April '63, dlsd.
April 24, '63, promotion in 86th 111.

Whane John, e. July 26, '61, pro. sergt. dlsd. July 31, '62, wd.
at Shlloh.

Molineanx Gold D. e. July 35, '61, re-e. as vet.
Keener Henry N, e, July 25, '61, re-e. as vet.

Musician.
Walton Henry H. e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 80, '64.

Privates.
Barrett John, e. July 26, '61, m.o. July 80, '64.

Beadle Ira E. e. July 25. '61, dlsd. Oct, 28, '63, pro. In U. S. C. T.
Davles John M. e. July 26, '61, m.o. July 80, '64.

Duherst Thomas, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

Easton Charles S. e. July 25, '61, musician mustered June 21,
'64. m.o. July 30, '64.

Greeuleaf Henry B. e. July 85, '61, dlsd. Sept. 12, '62.

Masters William J. e. July 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
McDevltt John, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

McMurtrle James, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

'UMeeds John, e. July 25, '61, disd. Aug. «„, „^.
O'Connors Edward, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

Peck Tristam B. e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

Richer George H. e. July 25, '61, disd, Nov. 18, '68.

Simpson Isaac H. e. July 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Suodorf George, e. July 25, '61, wd. at Shiloh, m.o.
Sutter Andrew, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 80, '64.

TuUey Patrick, e. July 25, '61, kid. Ft. Donelson Feb. 15, '62.

Vidito Henry, e. July 5, '61, wd. at Donelson sup. died.
Vorrls Robert C. e, July 25, '61, m.o, July 30, '64,

Walsh Thomas, e. July 25. '61, m.o. July 30, '64.

Wilson Josepb T. e. July 26, '61, pro. corpl. disd. July 31, '62, on
account of wounds at Donelson.

Young Howard, e. July 25, '61, dlsd. July 31, '63.

Recruits.
Ash Francis W. e. July 28, '61, dlsd. Sept. 28, '61, on account of

minority.
Brant Jacob, e. Aug. 20, '61, re-e. as vet.
Beckman William J. e. July 28, '61, dlsd. July 28, '64.

Burgest Samuel, e. Aug. 20, '61, died Bird's Point, Mo. Dec. 8, '61.
Devore William H. e. July 38. '61, kid. Ft. Donelson Feb. 15, '62.
Emerson Joseph, e. July 28, '61, pro. corpl. disd. July 31, '62,

wounds.
Herr Sheafl L. e. July 28, '61, dlsd. March 12, '62.

Kelley Edward, e. July 28, '61, died at Vlcksburg Oct. 4, '63.

Kelly Peter, e. July 38. '61, died at Cairo, 111. Feb. 11, '63.

Line Ralph E. e. July 28, '61. desrtd. Aug. 31, '62, wd. at Shlloh.
Mowry William H. e. Dec. 29, '63. died New Orleans April 21, '65.
Pippin Barnett M. e. Sept. 30, '64, m.o. May 38, '65.

Parker Robert H. e. July 28. '61, dlsd. Feb. 3, '62. entered gun-
boat service'.

Powers John, e. Sept. 12, '61, kid. at Shiloh April 6, '63.

Shearer Henry, e. July 28. '61, dlsd. July 28, '64.

West James, e. July 38, '61. kid. at Shiloh April 6, '63.

White Hiram, e. July 28, '61, disch. Jnly 28, 64.
Wood Vlralda, e. July 28, '61, died May 35, '63, wd. Chap Hills.
Wetmore Henry, e. Aug. 27, '61, pro, corpl. kid. Milliken Bend,

La. June 7, '63.

Whane Joseph H. e. Deo. 27, '63, m.o. May 4, '66.

Transferred fr«m lltli Infantry.
Cobb George H. e. Jan. 3. '64, trans, from co. A, m.o. May 4, '66.

Davis Samuel, e. Jan. 3, '64, trans, from co. A. desrtd July 21, '66.
Rakoskie Stanislaus, e. Dec. 16, '63, trans, from co. B. m.o. May

4, '66.

Stone Joseph, e. Jan. 1, '64, trans, from co. A, left at N. O. Feb.
18. '65, sick.

Veterans.
Brant Jacob, e. Jan. 6, '64, trans, to co. K March 1, '64.

Keener Henry N. e. Jan, 5, '64, trans, to N. C. S. as hosp. stew.
Masters WUburn J. e. Jan. 5, '64, pro. corpl. m.o. May 4, '66.

MoIIneaux Goldsmith D. e. Jan. 4, '64, pro. sergt. left at Mobile
on duly.

COMPANY F.

Recruits.
Clark David, e. Aug. 18, '61, disd. July 33, '63, disability.
Ines Frank H. e. Oct. 10, '61, re-e. as vet.
Nangel Joseph, e. March 11, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.

Teterans.
Bensel John E. e. Jan. 6, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.
Irons Frank H. e. March 31, '64, pro. coipl. m.o. May 4, '66.
Waters Wilson F. e. Feb. 1, '64, pro. sergt. pro. 1st Lieut.

COMPANY I.

Sersreants.
First, Kalambach Rynold, e. July 25, '61, disd, Jan, 1, '63, disab
Smith Detltrich, e. July 35, '61, pro. 2d Lieut.
Schlag William, e. July 25, '61, pro. 3d Lieut.
Aubin Albert, e. July 26, '61, trans, to Ist Miss. Heavy Art. U. 8,

C. T. Oct. 10, '63.

Brauns Otto, e. July 25, '61. pro. 2d Lieut.

Corporals.
PeSer Charles, e. July 25, '61, le-e, as vet.
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Gulff Basil, e. July 25, '61, pro. sergt.
Abel Albert, e. July 35, '61, dl8d. May '62, wd. Ft. Donelson.
Steen Paul, e. July 25. '61. pro. sergt. m.o. July 80, '64.
Fulfs August, e. July 25, '61, pro. sergt. m.o. July 80, '64,
NlRlas Enats, e. July 26, '61, trans, to 6tli 111. Cav. Dec. 1, '61.
Kluge Gustavus, e. July 26, '61. kid. Ft. Donelson Feb. 15, '62.
Thomas Jacob, e. July 25, '61, re-e. as vet.

Privates.

Balser Andres, e. July 26, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bacliman John, e. July 25, '61. m.o. July 30, '64.
Comemish Daniel, e. July 25, '61, pro. corpl. disd. July 25, '64.
Evans Walter F. e. July 26. '61, disd. Aug. 10, '62, vpd. Shiloh.
Fellgra John, e. July 25, '61, disd. Oct. 3."62, wd. at Donelson.
geible Henry, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 30, '64.
Hugger Gabriel, e. July 25, '61, Itld. at Ft. Donelson Feb. 15, '62.
Iverger Lewis, e. July 25, '61. re-e. as vet.
Kuhule Joseph, e. July 25, '61, kid. at Ft. Donelson Feb. 15, '62.
Knapn Christian, e. July 26, '81, re-e. as vet.
Lahr Tobias, e. July 25, 61. missing in action at Donelson Feb.

15. '62; never heard from since.
Meyer Henry, e. ,Tuly 25, '61. re-e. as vet.
Mummers Paul, e. July 25. '61, re-e. as vet.
Mond Augustus, e. July 25, '61, wd. at Ft. Donelson, disd. Aug.

16, '62, disability.
Nabenger Jacob, e. July 25, '61, m.o. July 80, '64.
Pleiter Henry, e. July 26, '61, missing in action at Donelson;

never heard from since.
Schrader August, e. July 25, '61, died Mound City April 20, '62.
Schweder Adam, e. July 25, '61, Wd. Champion Hills May 16. '63.
Strelback Leo. e. July 25. '61, re-e. as vet.
Walter Phillip, e. July 26, '61, re-e. as vet.
Zendell Joseph, e. July 25. '61, pro. oorp. died June 24, '62, of

wounds received at Shiloh.

COMPANY I.

Kecrults.

Altmeyer William, e. Aug. 2, '61, killed at Shiloh, Apr. 6, '62.
Burcheld William. " m.o. July 30. '64.
Burchard Adam, e. Aug. 9, '61, kid. Ft. Donelson, Feb. 14, '62.
Baiter Casper, e. Aug. 9, '61, disd. Aug. 6, '64, term ex,
Branthner John, e. Aug. 10, '61, died at Cairo Aug. 23, '61

.

Buttner Jacob, e. Aug. 19, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '64.

Duenaechter Melchor J. e. Aug. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Garon George, e. Jan. 1, '64. pro. sergt. m.o. May 4, '66.

Harsch Adolph, e. Aug. 19, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '64, term ex.
Hamme John, e. Aug. 19, '61, missing in action at Donelson,

Feb. 15, '62. Never heard from since.
Jackel Amandus, e. Aug. 8. '61, disd. Aug. 6, '63, disab.
Gordl Jacob, e. Aug. 19, '61, disd. Aug. 15. '64, term ex.
Kolbatz Edward, Aug. 19, '61, disd. Dec. 21, '61, dlsab.
Kohn Franz, e. Aug. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Kaechle Andrew, e. Aug. 9, '61, disd. Aug. 6, '64, term ex.
Kalling Alfred, e. Aug. 19, '61, disd./Aug. 15, '64, term ex.
Leeberger Peter, e. Aug. 1, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '64, term ex.
Long Johu. e. Aug. 19, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '64, term ex.'
Menges John, e. Aug. 15, '61, kid. at Ft. Donelson, Feb. 15, '62.

Ondessender Matthias, e. Aug. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Pfander Charles, e. Aug. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bitzenger Andrew, e. Aug. 10. '61, disd. Aug. 7, '64, term ex.
Bichter Edward, e. Aug. 2, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bingelle Frederick, e. Aug. 9. '61, re-e. as vet.
Stange Henry, e. Aug. 9, '61, disd. Aug. 4, '64, term ex.
Schronide Charles, e. Aug. 15, '61, re-e. as vet.
Shand John, e. Aug. 15, '61, re-e. as vet.
Schreurmaun Henry, e. Aug. 16. '61, disd. Aug. 13, '64, term ex.
Schoenthalar Charles, e. Aug. 12, '61, re-e. aa vet.
Tell William, e. Jan. 15, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.

Treyens John, e. Aug. 19, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '64, term ex.
Wilt Henry C. e. Aug. 12, '61, m.o. Aug. 11, '65.

Zenkel John, e. Aug. 19, '61, committed suicide on Bayou, La,
Aug. 31, '63.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Engel Joseph, e. Sept. 26. '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65.

Mamburg Madison, e. Oct. 11, '64, m.o. Oct. 10, '66.

Spentve Jacob, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65.

MoKenny Michael, e. July 9. '61, trans co. D. disd. July 9, '65,

term ex.
Veterans.

Easier Andrew, e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.

Duenalohter Melchor J. e. Feb. 1, '64, trans, to V.K.O. June 30,
'65.

Knsch Michael, e. Feb. 1, '64, died at Vicksburg July 9. '64.

Judlg Basil, e. Dec. t, '63, pro. sergt. pro. 2d Lieut.
Juerger Lewis, e. Dec. 25, '63, disd. Dec. 15, '64, dlsab.
Eohn Franz, e. Feb. 1, '64, pro. corpl. m.o. May 4, '66.

Knapp Christian, e. Feb. 1, '64.
Muramert Paul. e. Dec. 26, '63. m.o. May 4, '66.

Ondesser Matthias, e. Feb. 1, '64, trans, to non com. staif as Beg
Q.M. Sergt.

Pfander Charles, e. Dec. 15, '63, pro. sergt. m.o. May 4, '66.

Bingelle Frederick, e. Feb. 1, '64, died at St. Louis May, 8, '64.

Bichter Edward, e. Feb. 10, '64. pro. sergt. m.o. May 4. *66.

Schroend Oharle.'!, e. Jan. 5, '64, pro. corpl. m.o. May 4, '66.

Strelbii-h Lpo. e. Deo. 26. '63. trans, to V.B.C. June SO, '66.
Schonlhalcr Charles, e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.

Shaud John, e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. May 4, '66.

Thomas Jacob, e. Feb. 1. '64. m.o. May 4. '66.

Walter rhlUlp, e, Feb. 1, '64, m.o. Ma; 4, '66.

COMPAlfT K.
KecTuits.

Brandt Jacob, c. Aug. 20, '60, trans, from Co. E, desrtd. April 7,
'66.

Cloud George, e. Aug. 24, '62, kid. Baymond, Miss. May 12, '63.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Miner Cyrus, e. Sept. 26, '64, pro. corpl. m.o. Sept. 26, '65.

Stubbs John, e. Sept, 27, '64, m.o. Sept. 26, '65.

Transferred from 17tli Infantry.
Ackerman William B. e. Jan. 14, '64, trans from co. B. died Aug.

12, '65.

Blind Philip, e. Dec. 15, '63, trans, from co. B, pro. corpL m.o.
May 4. '66.

Beald William H. e. Feb. 16. '64, trans, from co. B. m.o. May 4,

Clumnlngs William C. c Dec. 1, '63, trans, from co. B, desrtd.
June 15, '68.

Forgarthy Jeremiah, e. Feb. 24, '64, trans, from co. B, absent In
hospital, wd. at m.o.

Galaway George W. e. Dec. 1, '63, trans, from co. B, m.o. May 4,
'66.

McHenry James, e. Jan. 20, '64, trans, from co. B, absent, sick In
hospital at m.o.

Mills Samuel C. e. Dec. 8, '63, trans, from co. B, died May 9, '65,

of wounds received at Ft. Blakley.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Duplade William, e. Sept. 26, '64.

9tli Infantry.

COMPANT c.

liieutenant.
First. Oscar Bollman, com. July 26, '61, trans, to Invd. 0. Nov

17, '63.

Sergeant.
Hale Charles, e. kid. at Shiloh April 6, '62.

Private.
Rauch Thomas, disd. April 14, '62, dlsab.

11th Infantry.
COMPANY I.

Private.
Bright George, e. Sept. 25, '61, disd. Aug. 20, '62.

COMPANY K.
Unassigned, Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Bighttlnger Parson H. e. Oct. 13, '64.

12th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Bagau Weldon, e. Sept. 30, '64, (sub.), never reported to co. See

CO. H.

COMPANY D.
Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Broughten Jeremiah, e. Sept. 21, '64, m.o, July 25, '65.

COMPANY H.
Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Fargo Balph G. e. Sept. 30, '64, m.o. June 1, '65.
McClayment Alexander, e. ~, m.o. June 1, '65.

Began Walden, e. Sept. 80, '64, disd. May 1, '65.

14th Infantry. (Reorgranized.)

COMPANY c.

Sergeant.
Sullivan James H. e. Feb, 27, '65, desrtd. March 18, '66.

Corporals.
Bnrnltt William, e. Feb. 23, '65, sick at m,o.
Perry Stephen, e. Feb. 24. '65, m.o. Sept. 16, '66.

Boyd John B. e. Feb. 23, '63, m.o. Sept. 16. '65.

Tllden Edward, e. Feb, 27, '66, desrtd. March 18, '65.

Privates.
i Brown James, e. March 27, '65, desrtd. March 18, '65.

I Cain John, e. March 2, '66, desrtd. March 80, '65.

Connor John, e. Feb. 25, '66, desrtd, March 18, '65.

I Doyle James, e. Feb. 27, '65, desrtd. July 26, '66.
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Dunn John, e. Feb. 85. '66. desrta. March 18, '65.
Delay Dennis, e. Feb. 27. '65, aesrtd. March 18, '66.
Ellis George B. e. Feb. 27. '65. desrtfl. March 18, '66.
Farley John. e. Feb. 27, '65. (lesrta. June 26, '65.
Furrell Robert, e. Feb. 87, '65. desrtd. March 18, '65.
Galaway William, e. Feb. 22, '65, m.o. Aug. 8, '65.
Gannon Joseph, e. March 2, '65, desrtd. March 18. '65.
garland George, e. Feb. 24. '65. died March .28, '65.
King Thomas, e. Feb. 87, '65, desrtd. March 18, '65.
Klllfayle James, e. Feb. 27, '65, desrtd.;March 15, '65.
Lewis Henry J. e. Feb. 24. '65, m.o. Sept. 16, '65.
Lineback Freemiin, e. Feb. 22, '65. absent, sick at m.o.
McBrlde James, e. Feb. 82. '65. desrtd. March 18. '65.
Murphy James, e. Feb. 28. '65, desrtd. March 28. '65.
Nacy Thomas, e. Feb. 87. '65. dosi-td. July 26, '66.
Newton Needman, e. Feb. 22, '65. m.o. Sept. 16, '65,
Koss Alexander, e. Feb. 87. '65, desrtd. March IS, '66.
Smith William, e. Feb. 25, '65, desrtd. March 18. '65.
Sommers George W. e. Feb. 20, '65, m.o. Oct. 8. '65.
Whalen James, e. Feb. 87. '65. desrtd. March 18. '65.
Walsh John, e. Feb. 27, '65, desrtd. March 18. '65.

COMPANY E.

Privates.
Bennett William, e. Feb. 27, '65. desrtd. March 8, '65.
Jones Edward, e. March 2. '65. desrtd. March 18, '65.
Lardner Daniel, e. March 8, '65, desrtd. March 17. '65.
Stanley William, e. Feb. 87, '65, desrtd. March 9, '65.

COMPANY G.

Privates.
Bruden Vrmiam. e. Feb. 16, '65. desrtd. June 85, '65.
Dockstader Jeremiah, e. Feb. 80, '65, pro. to Gapt.
Warner Thomas J. e. Feb. 16. '65, m.o. Sept. 16, '65.
Zathlow Charles, e. Feb. 88, '65, died March 13, '65.

16th Infantry.

COMPANY K.
tTnasslgrned Recruits.

Cole Francis, e. Feb. 87, '65.

Ewlng Joshua, e. March 22, '65, m.o. May 23, '65.
Mack John, e. Feb, 27, '65

.

Stewart Enos J. e. Feb. 87, '65.

17th Infantry.

HISTORY.
The Seventeenth Begiment of Illinois Infantry Volunteers

was mustered into the United States service at Peoria, Hi., on
the 24th day of May, 1861.

Left camp on the 17th June, for Alton, 111., for the purpose
of more fully completing its organization and arming. Late In
July it proceeded from Alton to St. Charles, Mo., remaining but
one day: thence went to Warrenton, Mo., where it remained in
camp about two weeks. Company A being detailed as body
guard to Gen. John Pope, with headquarters at St. Charles.

The regiment left warrenton for at. Louis, and embarked
on transports for Bird's Point, Mo. Remained at Bird's Point
some weeks, doing garrison duty; then proceeded to Sulphur
Springs Landings; disembarking there. It proceeded, via
Pilot Knob and Ironton, to Fredericktown, Mo., in pursuit of
Gen. Jell. Thompson, and joined Gen. B. M. Prentiss' command
at Jackson, Mo. ; thencO' proceeded to Kentucky and aided in
the construction of Fort Holt; thence ordered to Elliott's Mills;
remained there a short time, and returned to Fort Holt; thence

liled anWseveral wounded;
returned to Cape Girardeau, doing provost duty until early in
February, 1862, when ordered to Fort Henry; participated in
the engagement of Fort Donelson, losing several men killed,
wounded and taken prisoners. Then proceeded to Met'il Land-
ing, Tennessee River, and embarked for Savannah, Tenn.; from
thence to Pittsburgh Landing, and was assigned to the First
Division, Army of West Tennessee, under Gen. John A. Mc-
Clernand; was engaged In .the battles of the 6th and 7th of
April ; suffered great loss in killed and wounded ; was with the
advance to Corinth.

After the evacuation of Corinth, marched to Furdy, Bethel
and Jackson. Tenn.; remained there until the 17th of July,
when the regiment was ordered to Bolivar, and was assigned to
duty as Provost Guard. Remained at Bolivar until November,
1868, during which time it participated In the expedition to
luka, to reinforce Gen. Bosecrans. Afterward at the battle of
Hatchie. Returned again to Bolivar; remained there until the
middle of November. Then ordered to Lagrange, to report to
Gen. John A. Logan; were assigned to duty as Provost Guard,
GoL Norton being assigned to the command at the post. Early
In December marched to Holly Springs; thence to AbbyviUe,
guarding railroads; thence to Oxford.

After the capture of Holly Springs, was assigned to the
Sixth Division, Seventeenth Army Corps, under Maj.-Gen. Mc-
pherson; then proceeded, via Moscow, to CollIerviUe; from
there to Memphi'!. and was assigned to duty at the Navy Yard.
Remained tbei'u until January 16, then embarked for Vlcks-

bnrg; re-6mbarked and proceeded to Lake Providence, La.,
then the headquarters of the Seventeenth Army Corps, doing
duty there until the investment of Vicksburg commenced.
Arriving at Mllllken's Bend on or about May 1, commenced
to march across the Delta to Perkins' Landing, on the Missis-
sippi river; thence to the crossing below Grand Gulf, advanc-
ing with McPherson's command, via Raymond, Champion
Hills, Jackson, Big Block, and to the final investment of Vicks-
burg. After the surrender of that city, remained there, doing
garrison duty and making incursions into the enemy's country
as far east as Meridian, west as far as Monroe, La. Betnrning
to Vicksburg, remained until May, 1864, the term of service of
the regiment expiring on the 84th May of that year.

The regiment was ordered to Springheld, 111., for muster
out, and nnally discharged, when and where those of the
original organization who did not re-enlist as veterans were
mustered out and discharged. A sufficient number not having
re-enllsted to entitle them to retain their regimental organiza-
tion, the veterans and recruits whose term of service had not
expired were consolidated with the Eighth Illinois Infantry
Volunteers, and were finally mustered out with that regiment
and discharged in the Spring of 1866.

Colonel.
Addison S. Norton, com, April 25, '68, res. July 9, '63.

Adjutant.
Abraham H. Byan, com. May 85, '61, pro. Capt. co. A.

COMPANY A.
Captains.

Addison S. Norton, com. April 19. '61, pro. Lieut. CoL
Abraham H. Byan, com. April 85, '68, term ex. June, '64.

liieutenants.
First, Abraham H. Ryan, com. April 19, '61, pro. Adjt.
First, Geo. W. Bobson. com. May 20, '61,jpro. Gapt. co. B.
First, Edmund E. Byan, com. April 26. '62, m.o. Oct. 24, '64.

Second, Geo. W. Robson, com. April 19, '61. pro.
Second, Gawn Wilklns, com. April 26, '62, term ex. June. '64.

Sersreants.
First, Crane Gerard S. e. May 25, '61.
Wilklns Gawn, e. May 25, '61.

Bishop Frank S. e. May 25. '61.

Reynolds Wm. e. May 25, '61.

Corporals.
Byan E. B. e. May 25, '61, pro. 1st Lieut.
Gomphor John H. e. May 25, '61, dlsd. Dec, 5, '61.

Gilbert Aaron P. e. May 86, '61.

Drummer.
Wonder John W. e. May 26, '61.

Privates.
Autcllff Thomas H. e. May 85, '61, disd. Aug. 14, '62 as sergt. wd-
Babcock George C. jr. e. May 25, '61, disd. April 28, '62.

Barlett Nicholas, e. May 85, '6l.
Barnes James, e. May 85. '61.

Battersley Bobert, e. May 25, '61, disd. Nov. 12, '61.

Barry Richard, e. May 25, '61. dlsd. Sept. 27, '62.

Bennett Elliott G. e. May 26, '61, kid. at Shiloh April 6, '62.

Bohn Julius, e. May 25, '61.
Brown Edward T. e. Miiv 25, '61, dlsd. Sept. 9, '63, as corpl.
Brown Vincent, e. May 25, '61.
Brown John, e. May 26, '61.

Buckholder John, e. May 26, '61.
Battle Gordon, e. May 25, '61, disd. June 15, '62.

Barton Chauncey E. e. May 25 '61.

Butt William H. e. May 25, '61, disd. Dec. 5, '63.

Clemmens James W. e. May 85, '61.

Cliffy Eichard. e. May 85, '61.

Cobb George H. e. May 26, '61, re-e. as vet.
Dailey Martin, e. May 25, '61.

Davis Samuel, e. May 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Dyer Horace B. e. May 25, '61, disd. April 24, '62, as corpl.
Fisher William, e. May 26. '61, trans, to V.R.C. Oct. 22, '63.
Fisher Alberto, e. May 25. '61.

Flagler Daniel H. e. IVIay 26, '61.

Garlar John, e. May 25.^61, disd. July, '62, wounds.
Gunderlack Charles B. e. May 25, '61, disd. Aug. 22, '62, disab.
Grooms Alfred s. e. May 25. '61.

Harriett Ephraim. e. May 25, '61,

Hack Alexander W. e. MTay 85. '61.

Hamilton Theodore F. e. May 85, '61, dlsd. Nov. 12, '61.
Howell Alfred, e. May 86, '61.

Hough John, e. May 25, '61.

Huay Edward C. e. May 85, '61, dlsd. Oct. 2. '63, as sergt.
Huey James H. e. May 25, '61. disd. Sept. 9, '63.
Johnson John. e. May 25, '61.

Johnson Bichard, e. May 25, '61, kid. at Shiloh, April 6, '68.
Johnson Frederick, e. May 25, '61.

Johnson Heye, e. May 25, '61, »
Kellogg Dennis, e. May 85, '61.
Kellogg Solomon, e. May 25, '61, disd. May 1, '68, wound.
Keshpaugh John, e. May 25, '61, dlsd. May 11, '63.
Lamb Frederick, e. May 86, '61, drowned July 8, '61.
Lang William H. e. May 86. '61.

Laudon Fred. A. e. May 25, '61, dlsd. April 22, '62, aa corpl.
Lazell Joshua E. e. May 26, '61, dlsd. June 15, '62.
Lemuel Peter, e. Hay 25, '61,
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Miner Justin L. e. May 25, '61, disd. April 24, '62.
Mowell David, e. May 25, '61.
Myers Harrison, e. May 86. '61, disd. April 29, '62.
NfohoHs Charles L. e. May 25, '61.
Olin William H. e. May 25, '61.
O'Nell Patrlolt, e. May g.'i, '61, died Aug. 18, '61.
Patten John H. e. May 25, '61.
Piper John, e. May 25, '61.
Plumb Henry S. e. May 25, '61.
Phoenix Charles H. e. May 25, '61, disd. April 6, '62, sentence

court martial,
Baymon Eugene K. e. May 25, '61, disd. Sept. 4, '61, sentence

court martial.
Kltter Philip, e. May 25, '61. disd. Nov. 24, '62.
Keigle Anton, e. May 25, '61.
Keed Boljert, e. May 25. '61.
Book John, e. May 25, '61.
Kuley Stanley, e. May 25, '61.
Simms James A. e. May 25, '61.
Smith Wesley, e. May 25, '61, disd. Feb. 2, '62.
Smedtt Charles, e. May 25, '61.
Shorkiey Mlllican. e. May 25, '61.
Stlllwell John H. e. May 25, '61.
Stettman James G. e. May 25. '61, disd. Nov, 1, '61.
Stone Joseph, e. May 25. '61. re-e. as vet.
Sykes James B. e. May 25, '61, disd. April 2, '62.
Tamplln Benjamin H. e. May 25, '61.
Thomas William B. e. May 25, '61, disd. Aug. 27, '62.
Thompson James, e. May 25, '61.
Twiggs James, e. May 25. '61, disd. Feb. 2 '62
Ulrica William, e. May 26. '61, disd. Sept. 14, '61.
VanTine James H. e. May 25, '61, died Aug. 7, '62.
Watson Samuel, e. May 25, '61.

Wheeler Horatio, e. May 25. '61. disd. Jan. 1, '64.
.Wentlett Peter, e. May 25, '61, drowned July 19, '62.
Woodruff William A. e. May 25, '61, disd. Sept, 14, '61.
Woods Henry A. e. May 25. '61.
Woolstein Henry, e. May 25, '61.

Recruits.
Albright Fred, e. May 25, '61,
Autclitt Arthur T. e. Sept. 17, '61, disd. Jan. 1, '64.
Bush George M. e. June 24, '61, disd. Nov, 11. '62. wounds.
Broadman John, e. May 28, '61.
Dodge James, e. May 25, '61.
Dupam Anton, e. Nov. 23, '63.
Howell Alfred, e. Oct. 25, '61, disd. Nov. 1, '62.
Jones George H. e. May 26, '61, disd. July 22, '62, wounds
Kelley Lewis, e. July 5, '61, m.o. June 4, '64.
Pflfer August, e. May 26. '61. kid. at Vicksburg May 22, '63.
Piper James W. e. Aug. 11, '68, trans, to co. B Sih 111. Inf.
Recter Philip, e. Jan. 25, '64, trans, to co. E 8th 111. Inf.
Schmunck George, e. May 25, '61.
Splnllng William H. e. May 25, '61, sent to hosp. Sept. '61

.

Woods George E. e. Oct. 25, '62, kid. at Vicksburg May 27, '63.

Veterans.
Cobb George C. e. Jan. 3, '64, trans, to oo. E 8th 111. Inf.
Davis Samuel, e. Jan. 3, '64, trans, to co E 8th 111. Inf.
Stone Joseph, e. Jan. 1, '64, trans, to co. E 8th 111. Inf.

COMPANY B.

liieutenants.
First, John Hough, com. Aug. 86, '61, res. April 16, '62.
First, Albert W. Jones, com. April 16, '82, res. Sept. 13, '62.
Second, Albert W.Jones, com. May 15, '61, pro.

Serseant.
Pollock George W. e. May 25, '61.

Corporal.
Thurston William, e. May 25, '61.

Privates.
Brick John, e. May 25, '61.
Brackett Alois, e. May 25, '61.
Denton Isaac, e. May 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Duremper John, e. May 25, '61.

Dally Daniel, e. May 25, '61, disd. Aug. 15, '62.
Davidson George, e. May 25, '61, disd. Oct. 17, '62, as corpl.
Elliott John. e. May 25, '61, died Feb. 24, '62.
Ellis John H. e. May 25, '61.
Falkenburg Thomas J. e. May 25, '61, disd. May 16, '62.
Francis Thomas J. e. May 25, '61.
Galamo J. W. e. May 25, '61, died Feb. 28. '62.
Glass William E. e. May 25, '61.
Hartman Augustus, e. May 25, '61.
Jones Job, e. May 25, '61.
Litherow William, e. May 25, '61.
Mateland John, e. May 25, '61, trans, to naval service.
Morris David, e. May 25, '61.
Martin James B. e. May 25, '61, disd. May 3, '62, wounds.
Eiley James, e. May 25, '61, trans.
WicKett John B. e. May 25, '61.
Willoughby M. E. e. M:ay 25, '61, disd. Feb. '62.
Wagner I. e. May 25, '61.

Kecruits,
Aekernian William B. e. Jan. 14, '64, trans, to co. K 8th 111. Inf.
Blind I'hiiip, e. Dec. 15, '63, trans, to oo. K. 8th 111. Inf.
Beal William H. e. Feb. 16, '64. trans, to co, K 8th 111. Inf.
Brilzeuhart John, e. May 26 ,'61.

Cross William, e. Feb. 2, '64, trans, to co. B 8th 111. Inf.

Clemmens William B. e. Dec. 1, '61, trans, to co. K 8th 111. Inf.

Davis Oscar B. e. May 29, '61, died Deo. '61.

Fogarty Jeremiah, e. Feb. 24, '64. trans, to co. K8th 111. Inf.

Miller Samuel C. e. Dec. 8. '63, trans, to co K 8th 111. Inf.

McHenry James, e. Jan. 20, '64, trans, to co. K 8th 111. Inf.

McGrath James, e. Feb. 25, '64, trans, to co. K 8th 111. Inf.

Veteran.
Bakoskie Stanelaus, e. Dec. 15, '63, trans, to oo K 8th 111. Inf.

COMPANY C.

Recruits.
Bayne James, e. May 25, '81, re-e. as vet. .,,,,„.„,
Wisner Jacob S. e. (private) May 25, '61, dlshon. disd. July 2, '61.

COMPANY D.

Private.
Price Samuel, e. May 25, '61.

Recruits.
Moore James, e. June 22, '61, trans.Feb. 1, '62.

McKlnney Michael, e. July 9, '61, m.o. Aug. 10, '64.

COMPANY B.

Recruits.
Brophy James, e. June 15, '61

.

Bryan Moore, e. June 15, '81, disd. Oct. 17, '62.

Berry Terry, e. June 24. '61.

Bateinan James A. e. June 24, '61, disd. June 10. '62.

Carroll Edwin, e. June 24, '61, trans, to co. D 8th 111. Inf.
Howell Israel, e. June 15. '61, disd. July 10, '61.

MoGee William T. e. June 15, '61.

Smith Oliver, e. July 24, '61.

Wilson Walter, e. June 24, '61.

COMPANY G.

Privates.
Schell William, e. May 25, '61, trans, to non-com. staff.

Borne James, e, June 25, '61. trans, to co. G 8th 111. Inf.
Towers E. J. e. June 24, '61.

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Yates William B. e. May 25, '61, trans, to gun-boat service Feb.
4, '62.

Law Thomas J. e. May 28. '81, disd. Nov. 11, '82.

Lowers Calvin G. e. Aug. 12, '61, disd. March 22, '63.

COMPANY I.

Private.
Workman James M. e. May 25, '61, disd. March 24, '63.

Recruits.
Kelley Lewis, e. June 24, '61

.

Phelps James M. e. June 24, '61. corpl. died Feb. 17, '62.

Shuffield Nelson M. e. June 26, '61, disd. Nov. 1, '61.

Stead William H. e. Feb. 1. 64. trans, to co. A 8th 111. Inf.
Wright William M. e. July 1, '81, m.o. July 1, '64.

COMPANY K.
liieutenants.

First. John Q. A. Jones, com. April 23, '61, died in service.
Second, Andrew J, Bruner, com. April 24, '61, died in service.

Privates.
Pflfesher Baymond. e. May 25, '61,
Warren Aaron, e. May 25, '61, disd. Nov. IB, '61, disab.

Recruit.
Vandoran Jacob, e. May 28, '61, disd. May 13, '62.

Unassiirned Recruit.
Campbell, William, e. Feb. 15, '84, trans, to co. B 8th 111. Inf.

18th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Private.
Hanlan Thomas, e. Dec. 16, '83. See co. B as consolidated.

18th Infantry (Reorganized).

COMPANY B.

Musician.
Murphy John, e. Feb. 27, '65, desrtd. March, '65.
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Privates.
Mockhart Georee, e. Feb. 27, '65, m.o. Dec. 16, '65.

Mooney Peter, e. Feb. 25, '66, desrtd. 18, '65.

COMPANY V.

Ijleutenant.
First, Geo. Foster, com. March 16, '65, aishonorably dismissed

June 29, '65.
Sergeant.

McCoy Michael, e. March 5, '66, desrtd. March 23, '66.

Corporal.
Campen William H. o. March 8, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Privates.
Buckley Charles A. e. March 10, '65, desrtd. March 18, '65.i

Glumer Thomas, e. March 9, '65, m.o. Dec. 16, '65.

Collins Murray, e. March 8. '66, desrtd, March 26, '65.

Curtis George, e. March 6, '65. desrtd. March 26, '65.

Dalnlse George W. e. March 6, '65. desrtd. March 18, '65.

Falrley William, e. March 8, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Frank Nicholas, e. March 10, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Morgan Thomas, e. March 8, '65, desrtd. March 18, '65.

Miles Michael, e. Feb. 27. '66, desrtd. March 26, '66.

Owen John, e. March 8. 65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Ryan John, e. March 6, '65, desrtd. March 18, '65.

Riley John, e. March 11, 65, desrtd. March 18, '65.

COMPANr G.

Private.
Ryan William, e. Feb. 27, '65. In military prison at m.o.

COMPANY I.

Corporal.
Dawson Cornelius, e. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. May II, '65.

Privates.
Harper Thomas, e. Feb. 28. '65, m.o. Dec. 16, '65.

King Lewis M. e. Feb. 23, '65. m.o. Deo. 16, '65.

Miller James D. e. March 1, '65, pro. sergt. desrtd. Sept. 27, '65.

aotli Infantry.

COMPANY G.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Turnbull Esquire, e. Oct. 13, '64, sub. m.o. July 25, '65.

23d Infantry.

COMPANY G.

Becrult.
Cronen Timothy, e. June 21, '62, disd. May 4, '62.

24:th Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Captain.
Alexander J. Kelfalusy, com. July 3, '62, term expired Aug. 6, '64.

COMPANY F.

I.ieutenant.
First, Alexander J. Kelfalusy. com. June 29, '61, pro. to Capt.

CO. A.
Private. •

Wernlck William, e.July 8, '61, trans, to Invalid Corps Oct.29,'63.

27th Infantry.

COMPANY JJ.

Becrult.
Anderson Geo.W. e. Sept. 29, '61, desrtd. Oct. 6, '61.

28tli Infantry (Consolidated).

COMPANY G.

Xiieutenants.

Second, Henry Lewis, com. March 21, '65, dishonorably dis-
missed May 2, '65.

Second, Thos. Henderson, com. Aug. 28, '65, pro.

Sergeant.
First, Thomas Henderson, e. March 15, '65, pro. to Second Lieut.

Corporal.
Oanady Wm. K. e. March 8. '65, as corpl. m.o. March 8, '66.

Musician.
Gaylor John L. e. March 8, '65, as musician, died at Cairo, April

2. '65. „ . ,Privates.
Howe George W. e. March 8, '65, m.o. June 24, '65.

Oorber Con. e. March 14, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Kelley Samuel, e. March 16, '65, desrtd. March 27, '65.

Curley James, e. March 11, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Lewis Hehry, e. March 14, '65, pro. Second Lieut.
Lewis Robert, e. March 14, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Mulligan Thomas S. e. March 14, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Morrlsey Michael, e. March 14, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Norton Charles, e. March 14, '65, desrtd. March 26, '65.

Price DaTld A. e. March 8, '65. m.o. June 15, '65.

Sherer Hnrdy Hill, e. March 11, '65. m.o. March 11, '66

Thompson Abram B. e. March 14, '65, absent sick at m.o. of Regt.
Wise David B. e. March 8, '65, m.o. March 8, '66.

29tli Infantry.

COMPANY E.

Recruit.
Jones Martin L. e, Aug. 31, '64, m.o. Nov. 6, '65.

COMPANY K.
Sergreant.

Brown William E. e. Aug. 24, '61, m.o. Aug. 28, '64, term expired.

Private.
Garner Geo. W. e. Aug. 24, '61, m.o. Aug. '64, term expired.

Veterans.
Davis Thomas W. e. Jan. 1, '64, desrtd. twice.
Farris Christopher, e. Jan. 1, '64, absent sick at m.o. of Regt.
Grover Islah, e. Jan. 1, '64, desrtd. Aug. 24, '64.

Huston Qllbra, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. Nov. 6. '65.

Hedgar Job, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. June 1, '64.

MarKwell Abner 8. e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. Nov. 6, '65, as sergt.
Wilklns William T. e. Jan. 1, '64, pro. 2d Lieut, from 1st sergt.

Recruits.
Davis William, e. Aug. 15, '64. m.o. Aug. 4, '65.

Kurst Thomas R. e. Aug. 15, '64, m.o. Nov. 6, '65.

Igo Daniel, e. Aug. 15, '64, m.o. Nov. 6, '65.

Jones Samuel S. e. Aug. 15, '64, m.o. Aug. 25, '65.

Markwell Geo, W. e. Aug. 15, '64, m.o. Aug. 4, '65.

COMPANY I.

Hamer Henry, e. Aug. 11, '61, re-e. as vet.

31st Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Andrews William, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 3, '65.

Andrews W. H. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 3, '65.

McCurdy John, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65.

Lair George H. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65.
McKlnnon J. e. Dec. 15, '64, (sub.), m.o. July 19, '65.

Savage William C. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65.
Slygh Chas. C. e. Sept. 29, '64, m.o. May 31. '66.

Soaper John, e. Sept. 27, '64. m.o. May 31, '65.

Wheeler John, e. Sept. 27, '64. m.o. May 31, '65.

Ward RoBwell, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65

COMPANY B.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Mills Robert R, e. Oct. 13, '64, m.o. July 19, '65.

COMPANY D.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Taylor Isaac D. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65.

Watson William, e. Sept. 13, '64, m.o. May 30, '65.

COMPANY G.
Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Kreft Frederick, e. Oct. 19, '64. m.o. July 19, '65,

COMPANY H.
Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Noble Enoch, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. May 31, '65.

COMPANY I.

Privates.
Martin Isaac, e. Aug. 16, '61. re-e. as a vet.
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Slieeu Patrick, e. Aug. 15, 'Bl, in.o. Nov. 10, '84, term ex.
Wlnkey John 8. e. Aug. IB, '61, re-o. as a vet.

32d Infantry.

COMPANY A.
(Drafted and Substitute JReoruit.

Wilson Flnley T. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. July 19, '65.

COMPANY G.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Patterson William, e. Sept. 2S, '61, m.o. June 3, '65.

COMPANY I.

Ijieutenant.
Second, Hiram B. Walgamot, com. April 25, '65, m.o. Sept. 16. '65

Sergreant.
Walgamot Hiram R. e. Nov. 7, '61, as sergt, re-e. as vet.

Corporals.
Cawser David M. e. Nov. 5. '61. as corpl, re-e. as vet.
Gooiwln Miles R. e. Nov. 7, '61. disd. April 28, '62, dlsafr.
Whitlow William, e. Dee. 17, '61, as corpl. re-e. as vet.

Privates.
Buck Abram, e. Nov. 5, '61, dlsd. Aug. 18, '62, dlsab.
Crackel James, e. Oct. 2, '61, dlsd. April 28, '62, dlsab.
Compton Thomas, e. Nov. 1, '61. klil. at Sbilon April 6, '62.

Dlselms Washington, e. Nov. 5, '61, died Bolivar, Teiin. Oct. 14,
'62. wounds.

Fuller William, e. Nov. 5, '61, dlscd. July 14, '62, wounds.
Fuller Samuel, e. Nov, 5, '61, re-e. as vet.
Fuller John, e. Nov. 5, '61, re-e. as vet.
Fuller Nathan, e. Nov. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.
Gold Thomas, e. Oct. 16, '6l, trans, to I.e. Sept. 15, '63.

Jones George, e. Nov. 30, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veterans.
Krlsher John, e. Jan. 2, '64, m.o. Aug. 8, '65.

Peters Samuel L. e. Jan. 2. '64, m.o. Aug. 8, '65
Whitlow William, e. June 2, '64, m.o. Sept. 16, '65 as sergt.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Buck Miller H. e. Oct. 26, '64, (sub.), m.o. Sept. 16, '65.

Blue James W. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

Boher Joseph, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

JuUer Isaac, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

James Jesse, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

Pyle George, e. Sept. 26, '66, m.o. June 3, 65.
Preston Samuel, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o, June 3, '65.

Walter James, e. Sept. 87, '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

COMPANY K.
Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Vinson Ira, e. Sept. 27, '64, died March 23. '66.

Baker Joseph, e. Sept. 27, '64, trans, toco. 1.

Craig John, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. June 3, '66.

Hanulne wade H. e. Sept. 27. '64, m.o. June 3, '65.

Unassiened and Substitute Recruit.
Scholier Jacob, e. Nov. 15 '64, (sub.)

33d Infantry.

Musician.
Winterer Minor 0. A. e. Aug. 15, '61, m.o. Aug. IB, '62.

COMPANY B.

Musician.
Packer William K. o. Aug. 20, '61, died Ironton, Mo. Nov. 27, '61.

Privates.
Ingraham Edward A. e. Aug. 20, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Mayo William J. K. e. Aug. 20, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Robinson Martin B. e. Aug. 20, '61, died Ironton, Mo. Oct.27, '61.

Veteran.
Morgan Sid. O. e. March 29, '64, dlsd. for promotion July 25, '65.

Recruit.
Chase Edward D. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. Aug. 10, 65 as sergt,

COMPANY D.

Recruit.
Leary Richard, e. Jan. 28, '65, m.o. Nov. 24, '65.

ITnasslgned Recruits.
Corley James, e. March 3, '65, desrtd.
Davis Charles P. e. Feb. 25. '66.

Johnson David, e. March 3, '65.

Keenan WlUlaiu, e. March 3, '65.

McLeod Murdook, e. Feb. 25, '65.

McCarthy Timothy, e. March 2, '65, m.o. May 23, '65.

McCarthy Lawrence, e. March 3, '65.

McKnlght Henry, e. March 3, '65.

Stewart Alexander, e. Feb. 25, '65.

Slmms Mlchael,^ e. March 3, ,65.
White John, e. March 3, '65.

Dolan John, e. March 3, '65.

Dalton James, e. March 3, '65.

34:th Infantry.

COMPANY C.

Recruits Transferred from 86tli Infantry.
Hlndbaugh Philip, e. Jan. 4, '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

Sanderen Charles, e. Jan. 2. '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

COMPANY E.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
LeGrass George, e. March 25, '64, (snb.), m.o. July 13, '65.

COMPANY F.

Recruits Transferred from 86th Infantry.
Gladfetter Albert, e. Feb. 1, '64. vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

Hughes William, e. Feb. 1. '64. vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

Harris Joseph D. e. Jan. 23, '65, m.o. July 12. '66.

Lynch James A. e. Jan. 23, '65, m.o. July 12, '65.

Nail William, o. Jan. 21, '64, vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Bane Matthew, e, March 4, '65 (sub.), m.o. Aug. 3, '65.

COMPANY G.

Recruits Transferred from S6th Infantry.
Frank Henry, e. Dec. 29, '63, vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

Holtmeyer Joseph W. e. Dec. 17, '63, vet recruit m.o. July 12, '65
Preston John E. e. Dec. 29. '63, vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

Preston David, e. Dec. 22, '63, vet. recruit m.o. July 12, '65.

COMPANY I.

Recruits Transferred from 86th Infantry.
Green Andrew S. e. Dec. 21, '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

Slasford John, e. Dec. 28. '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

Glastord George, e. Dec. 28. '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

Kelley Nelson, e. Feb. 21, '65. m.o. July 12, '65.

Petty Ezekll. e. Dec. 28. '64. m.o. July 12, '65.

Petty John K. e. Dec. 28, '64, m.o. July 12, '65.
Sayler William 0. e. Jan. 25, '64, m.o. July 12, '65.

COMPANY K.
Transferred from SBth Infantry.

Reardon Charles, e. March 25, '65 (sub.), desrtd. June 24, '65.
Anderson Joseph, e. Jan. 30, '65.

Unassigrned Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Farrell John. e. March 21, '65 (sub.)
Flynam Thomas, e. March 21, '65 (sub.)

35tli Infantry.

COMPANY B.
Corporal.

Bradley Seymour W. e. July 3, '61, as corpl. m.o. Sept. 27, '64 as
private.

36tli Infantry.

COMPANY A.
Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Wilder George F. e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. June 15. '65.

COMPANY B.

Veteran.
McGee Joseph, e. Jan. I, '64, m.o. Oct. 8, '65 as corpl.

COMPANY C.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Kepsab; Michael, e. Oct. 11, '64 (sub.), died Nashville March 2,

'66.

Boleum Julius, e. Oct. 17, '64 (sub.), absent sick m.o. Regt.
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COMPANY D.

Drafted and Subatltute BeorultH.

Nolan Thomas, e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. June 14, '65.

Lalson William, e, Oct. 12, '64, absent slolt at m.o. Regt.

COMPANY I.

Drafted and Sabstltate Keorults.

Miller Joaeph, e. Oot. 11 '64 (sub.), m.o. Oct. 8, '661.

Strange Henry, e. Oct. 11, '64 (sub.), m.o. Oct. 8, '66.

UnasalKnedlBeoruit*.
Williams Wm. S. e. Feb. 28, '64.

Benton Obarles, e. Feb. 28. '64.

38th Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Privates.

Ennls John, e. July IS, '61, disd. Jan. 4, '62 dlsah.

Howey Thomas, e. July 16, '61, re-e. as a vet.

RoUlns Gilbert, e. July IB. '61. dlsd. Deo. 26. '62 to 0. In reg. cav.

Sbeehan Thomas, e. July IB, '61, m.o. May 2, '6B.

39th Inl'antry.

COMPANY G.
Privates.

Borchers Hermauus, e. Aug. 80, '61, died Cumberland, Md. Feb.

13 '62
Klum'pp William, e. Aug. 80, '61, died Morris Island Oot. 2, '68.

Klumpp Jacob, e. Sept. 4, '61, re-e. as vet.

42d Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Private.

Carter James W. e. Aug. 21, '61, re-e. as vet.

COMPANY C.

Drafted and Sabstltate Beorult.

Bune John, e. Oct. 18, '64, m.o. June 24, '6B.

COMPANY B.

Veteran.
Swan William, e. Jan. 1, '64, reported desrtd. Nov. 26, '6B, for

falling to report at expiration of furlough.

COMPANY F.

Private,

Cook James H. e. July 29, '61, died St Louis, Feb. 23, '62.

Drafted and Sabstltate Beoralt.

Blteman William H. e. Sept. 27, '64, m.o. July IB, 'BB.

COMPANY H.

Drafted and Sabstltate Beoralt.
Caswell Chester B. e. Sept. 27, —, m.o, June 16, '65.

COMPANY I.

Privates.

Thlllee Christian F. e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. Dec. 16, '6B.

Bennett William H. e. Aug. IB, '61, re-e. as a vet.

43d Infantry.

COMPANY D.

Drafted and Sabstltate Beoralt.
Olauson Heln Ot. e. Sept. 26, '64.

COMPANY G.

Private.

Woolenmann John, e, Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Dec. 16, '64.

COMPANY H.

Drafted and Sabstltate Beornit.

Paul John, e. Sept, 26, '64, trans, to co. E. consolidated.

4:3d Infantry (Consolidated).

COMPA^Y K.

Private.

Carroll Timothy, o. Mar. 80, desrtd. Apr. 16, '68.

44th Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Privates.

Sohrader Charles, e. July 1, '61, dlsd. June 7, '62, dlsab.

Wlrth Frederick, e.— died at RoUa, Dec. 21, '61.

Blrlelnbach John, e. July 1, '61, died March, '63. wounds.

COMPANY B.
Captain.

Ernest Moldenhawer, com. Feb. 6, '62, died ot wounds Jan. 16

Xiieatenants.

First, Ernest Moldenhawer, com. Deo. 27, '61, pro.

Second, Ernest Moldenhawer, com. Aug. 14, '61, pro.

Private.
Nlcbaus Franz, e. Sept. 1, '61.

COMPANY K.
Ijieutenant.

Second, William Gebhardt, com. Aug. 14, '61, res. Jan. 16, '62.

Corporal.
Henrlch WUz, e. Sept. 1, '61, sergt. trans, to I. C.

Privates.
Buohrlg Christian C. died Dec. 81. '62, wounds.
Degermeyer George, e. Sept.!, '61. re-e. as a vet.

Haager Julius, died Feb. f, '63, wounds.

Romann ]?eter,e. Sept. x, «*, ^d-^. »o ,«..

Vogel Lewis, e. Sept. 1, '61, trans, to 00. A.
Wweth Frederick, e. July 1, '61, trans, to co. A.

Veterans.
Duermeyer George, e. Jan. 1, '64, corpl. died May 20, '64.

Kennel Andreas, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. Sept. 2B, '6B, corpl.

Klasaert William, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65. corpl.

Bohmann Peter, e. Sept. 1, '64, m.o. Sept. 25, '65, corpl.

Becralts.
Albers Henry, e. March 30, '60, died Nashville, Tenn. July 14, '64

Buohler Johannus, e.

Berge Burkhad, dlsd. Jan. 18, '62, dlsab.
Denzel Lewis, trans, to co. E.
Esslg George, died Sept. 21. '68 of wounds.
Schmidt Carl, trans, to co. E, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Stephen Joseph, died Nov. 28, '62.

Zugg Florlan,
Stauberg Max, e. Jan. 29, '64

45th Infant]|(y.

COMl'ANY B.

Private.
Dresser Oharlea W. e. Oot. 2, '61, m.o. Nov. 9,

46th Infantry.

COMPANY I.

Becraits Transferred from 1 Ith Illinois Infantry.
Hunter John D. e. Oct. 7, '64, (sub.), m.o. Oct. 5, '6B.

Huber George, e. Oct. 7, '64, (sub.), m.o. Oot. 6, '65.

Mauel Frak, e. Oct. 12, '64, (sub.), m.o. Oct. 12. '65.

Vlokery Chester, e. Oot. 12, '64, (sub,), m.o. Oct. 11, '65.

Clay Charles H. e. March 4, '64, m.o. July 20, '66.

47th Infantry.

HISTORY.
The Forty-Seventh Illinois Infantry Volunteers was flrst or-

fanlzed and mustered into the service of the United Statea at
eorla, 111., on the 16th day of August, 1861.
Onthe28dday of September, 1861, the regiment moved by

rail, from Peoria to St. Louta, Mo., going into quarters at Benton
Barracks, near the city, where it was clothed and armed com-
Slete. Remained in Benton Barracks undergoing a thorough
rilling dally until the 9th day of October, when it moved oy
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rail, to Jefferson City, Mo., where it remained, doing garrison
duty, until the 22d day of December, when It moved by rail, to
OtterviUe. Mo.: remaining there drilling and doing garrison
duty until the 3d day of February, 18(53, when it maroiied north
to the Missouri river ; crossing at Booneville, marched down
the north side of the river to St. Charles, where it arrived on the
18th day of February.; crossed the river at St. Charles and moved
by rail to St. Louis, where it embarked on the steamer War
Eagle and moved down the river, arriving at Cairo on the 33d
day of February.

On the 35th day of February, moved baclc up the river thirty
miles to Commerce, Mo., where the regiment disembarlted, and
joined Pope's command, then preparing for a campaign against
Island No. 10 and New Madrid.

Marched from Benton. Mo.. March 2d, arriving in front of
the enemy's works at New Madrid. March 4th.

On the niglit of March 10th, the regiment, with the 11th Mis-
souri Infantry, marched ten miles below New Madrid, taking
with them a battery of ligh artillery, to Point Pleasant, blockad-
ing the river and cutting ofE the enemy's communication by
river below New Madrid and Island No. 10. Here the regiment
was brigaded with the 11th Missouri Infantry Volunteers, 36th
BegIment Illinois Infantry Volunteers, and the 8th Regiment
Wisconsin Infantry, and placed nnder command of Brigadier
General Joseph B. Plummer. Remained at Point Pleasant en-
camped in a disagreable swamp, with continual heavy rains
until the 7th day of April.

The enemy having evacuated New Madrid on' the night of
the 5th of April the regiment marched, with the brigade, up to
New Madrid on the 7th, and on the 9th were paid four months'
pay by Major Witbrell.

On the morning of April 10 the regiment embarked on board
thesteamer Aleck Scott and proceeded with the army down the
river nearly lo Fort Pillow, returning on the morning of the 11th
and disembarked at Tiptonville, Tenu., twenty miles below New
Madrid. April 13th re-embarked and moved up the river to
Cairo, drew clothing and took on coal, and on the night of the
20th moved up the Tennessee river, arriving at Hamburg Land-
ing, Tenn., on the morning of the 23d of April, disembarked and
encamped near the river.

During the following fifteen days the regiment accompanied
Gen. Pope's army in its advance in the direction of the enemy's
position around Corinth, A porcion of the way it had to con-
struct corduroy roads through extensive swamps. On the 9th
day of May was engaged at FarraingtoUj Miss., in which engage-
ment Lieutenant colonel Daniel L. Miles was killed. On the
38th day of May the regiment participated in an engagement
near Corinth. On the night of May 29th, the enemy evacuated
Corinth and the regiment accompanied General Pope's army in
pursuit of their retreating forces as far as Boonesville, Miss.,
returning to Camp Clear Creek, six miles south of Corinth, June
11, 1863, where, in a few days, the regiment received two
months' pay from Major Ettiug.

On the 3d of July the regiment marched to Rienzi, Miss.,
remained there until the 18th day of August, on which day
Colonel JohnBryner took leaveof the regiment—his resignation
having been accepted, on account of poor health.

August 18tb broke Camp Rienzi and marched to Tuscumbia,
Ala., rejoining the brigade on the road, arriving there August
22d, and on tne 24th received two months' pay from Major
Hempstead.

MTarched from Tuscumbia September 8th, and arrived at
Gamp Clear Creek September 14th. Left Clear Creek on the
morning of the 18th, and marched toward luka. Miss. ; partici-
pated in the battle of lukaon the 19th, where the army under
General Rosecrans defeated the enemy's forces under General
Sterling Price. In this engagement Major John Cromwell was
taken prisoner. Followed tlie retreating army of the enemy
one day and then returned to Corinth, arriving there on the 3d
of October, and took part in the battle of Corinth, October 3d
and 4th. In theeugagement of the 3d the brave and honored
Colonel William A. Thrush was killed, while bravely leading
his command in a charlb. Captain David DeWolf of Company
K, was killed. Captain Harman Aadrews was severely wounded
and taken prisoner. The regimenrlost in this engagement thirty
killed and over one hundred wounded.

After this engagement the regiment accompanied General
Rosecran's army in pursuit of Price andVanDorn's defeated
army, following them to Ripley, Miss, so closely as to cause them
to abandon some of their artillery and nearly all their wagons
and equipage.

On the 14th of October the regiment returned with the army
and encamped near Corinth until November 3d, when it marcned
to Grand Junction. Tenn., and joined General Grant's expedition
into central Mississippi. Marched to Oxford, Miss., with the
army and returned to Grand Junction, Tenn., January 1, 1863.

January 8th marched from Grand Junction, by way of Boli-
var, Tenn., for Corinth, where it arrived January 14th. Moved
by rail from Corinth January 36, to Ridgeway Station, Tenn..
where the regiment remained guarding the railroad, until
March IS, when it marched to Memphis, Tenn., and embarked
on board the steamer Empress, for the vicinity of Vicksburg.
Remained near Helena. Ark., ten days and again moved down
the river, disembarking on the Isc day of April at Duckport,
twelve miles above Vicksburg. Here the duties of the men
were of various kinds—guard duty, loading and unloading
steamboats, digging on a canal, and contriving the best plans
at their hands to keep from reposing in water at night.

On the 3d of May the regiment marched, with the army,
down the west side of the Mississippi river, crossing it at Grand
Gulf, ana with ihe Fifteenth Army Ooij>s, then commanded by
General Slierman, marched to JacKson, Miss., where, on the 14th
day of May, 1863, it participated in the engagement which
resulted In the capture of the city. On the morning of the 16th
^as rear guard. On leaving the city, Colonel Cromwell, then

commanding regiment, rode back to see if a detachment of
troops, left behfiid to bring up stragglers, were doing their
duty, when a bodv of rebel cavalrymen came up between him
and his command and called on him to surrender, which he
refused to do, and tried to escape, but was killed in the attempt,
several bullets passing through his body.

The regiment participated in the charge on the enemy's
works at Vicksburg, May S2d, losing twelve men killed and
quite a number wounded. During the siege of Vicksburg,
Major John D. McClure received a severe wound and carries the
bullet in his body to-day. ^ ,^^ ^ ^ ,

On the 4th ofJune the regiment participated with the brigade
under command of General Joseph A. Mower, in the defeat of
a force of the enemy at MechanicsvlUe, Miss., thirty miles from
Vicksburg, near the Yazoo river.

After the fall of Vicksburg, during the months of August,
September and October, the regiment encamped at Bear Creek,
twenty miles east of Vicksburg.

In the middle of November, 1863, the regiment moved up
the river to Memphis. Tenn., and from thence to Lagrange,
Tenn.. guarding the Memphis and Charleston line of railroad.
A portion of the time, however, was occupied scouting after the
rebel General Forrest's command.

On the 26th of January, 1864, left Lagrange and arrived at
Memphis January, 38th.

February 1st, embarked on board steamer for Vicksburg.
where it arrived February 3d, and went into camp at Black
River Bridge, twelve miles from Vicksburg. February 23d
marched to Canton, Miss. Returned to Black River March 3d
and to Vicksburg March 7 h. where it embarked, March 10th, on
board steamer Mars for the Red River Expedition. Was present
at the capture of Fort DeRussey, La., March 14th.

Participated in the battle of Pleasant Hill, La., April 9th,

1864. During this expedition the regiment was under fire

several times, and suffered many very severe hardships.
On the 32d of May the regiment arrived, with General

Smith's command, at Vicksburg, having been for three months
engaged in as tedious and fatiguing a campaign as has ever
fallen to the lot of any army to undergo.

June 5th, the regiment embarked for Memphis. Moved up
the river to Lake Chicot, disembarked, moved inland and came
in contact with a force of the enemy, under General Marmaduke,
who was defeated and completely routed. Regiment lost in
this engagement eleven men killed and quite a number wounded.
Major Miles received almost a fatal shot In the neck, and Cap-
tain Biser was killed.

The regiment then proceeded to Memphis and accompanied
General J, A. Smith to Tupelo, "Miss., with the exception of the
men who had re-enlisted, numbering about one hundred, who
left the regiment at Moscow, Tenn., and went to Illinois on
veteran furlough.

The veterans returned to the regiment on the 8th day of
August, and with the regiment accoinpanied General A. J.
Smith's expedition to Oxford, Miss. Returned to Memphis,
August 27, 1864. The original term of service of the regiment
having expired, it was ordered to Springfield, III., where it was
finally discharged on the 11th of October, 1864.

The veterans and recruits of the regiment, numbering 196
men, left Memphis September 3d, 1864, under the command of
Lieutenants Edward Bouham and Royal Olmstead, accompany-
ing General Mower's expedition up White river, to Brownsville,
Ark., and from there marched north into Missouri after the
rebel General Price's army, which was raiding in that State.

Arrived at Cape Girardeau, Mo., October 4th, and took
steamer for Jefferson City October 6th, arriving at Jefferson
City on the 15th; thence moved by rail to Ottervllle; thence
marched to Warrensburg, where it arrived October 36th. Left
Warrensburg by rail, for St. Louis, November 3d; arrived at
St. Louis on the 4th. From St. Louis the veteran detachment
was ordered to Chicago, III. on the 9th of November, 1864, to
assist in quelling any not, should there be any on the day of
election. Their services not being required, they were ordered
to report to the Superintendent of Recruiting Service at Spring-
field, 111., and were stationed at Camp Butler, where, on the 2Stli
day of November, it received 300 drafted men, and a battalion
of four full companies was organized, and Lieutenant Bouham
commissioned as Major and Lieutenant Olmstead commissioned
as Captain of Co. A. On the 3d day of December, the command
was ordered to the field, reporting by way of St. Louis, to General
Rosecrans. At St. Louis tne order was modified and its desti-
nation changed to Louisville, Ky, From here it was ordered to
Bowling Green, Ky., where it remained till January 37, 1865,
when it moved by rail, to Nashville. From Nashville, down the
Cumberland and up the Tennessee river to EastporD, Miss.,
where it rejoined its old brigade—Second Brigade, First Division
SixteenthArmy Corps—accompanying it to New Orleans: thence
to Mobile Bay, taking part in tne reduction of Spanish Fort.

While laying in front of Spanish Fort, six additional com-
panies arrived from Springfield, 111., making the organization
once more complete.

After the fall of Mobile, the regiment marched with the
Sixteenth Corps to Montgomery, Ala., where It arrived April
35, 1865. December 31, 1865, the regiment was stationed at
Selma, Ala.

Mustered out January 21, 1866, at Selma, Ala., and ordered
to Springfield, 111., where it received final pay and discharge.

Colonels.

John Bryner, com. July 37, '61. res. Sept. 3, '62-
William A. Thrush, com. Sept. 3, '63, kid. In battle before

Corinth, Oct. 3. '63.

John N. Cromwell, com. Oct. 3, '63, kid. in battle at Jackson,
Miss. May 16. '63i

John D. McClure, com. May 16, '63, term ex. Oct. 1 1, '64.
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Iileutnnant Colonel.
WlUiam A. Thrush, com. May 9, '6S, pro.

majors.
William A. Thrush, com. Aug. 85. '61, pro.
John N. Cromwell, com. MayiJ, '62, pro.
John D. MoOlure, com. Oct. 31, '62, pro. to Ool.

Adjutant.
Rush W. Chambers, com. Aug. 24, '61, pro. to Major.

Quartermaster.
Sam'l A. A, Law, com. Aug. 8, '63, term ex. '64.

Surgeons.
Geo. L. Lucas, com. Aug, 14, '61, term ex. Sept. 19, '64.

First Ass't. Timothy Babb, com. Aug, 14, '61, res. Aug. 13,' 63.

Chaplain.
Jeremiah Hazen, com. Sept. 20, '61, res. Nov. 1. '62.

Sergeant JUajor.
William £. Kuhn, e. Aug. 20, '61, pro. 2cl Lieut, co. F.

Q. M. Sergeant.
Edward E. Tobey, e. Sept. 8, '61, pro. 2d Lieut, co. G.

Principal Musicians.
James D. Wondeu, e. Aug. 14, '61, dlsd. Aug. 25, '62, disability.
Henry O. Pierce, e. Aub714, '61, dlsd. AprlflS, '63.

COMPANY A,

Captains.
John N. Cromwell, com. Aug. 25, ' 61, pro. Mai.
Converse Southard, com. May 9, '62, res. Oct. 29, '62.
John T. Bowen, com. Oct. 29, '62, term. ex. Oct. 11, '64.

Ijieutenants.
First, Converse Southard, com. Aug. 25, '61, pro.
First, John T. Bowen, com. June 17, '62,

—
Flrstl wiiUam W. Po'ole, coin. Oct. ^9,'
Second, John T. Bowen, com. May 9,

~ 2, term ex. Oct. 11, '64.

, pro.

Sergeant.
First, Bowen John T. e. Aug. 16, '61, pro. 2d Lieut.

Corporals.
Crook Jacob J. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as private; re-

duced at his own request.
Parr James, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as private; re-

duced at his own request.
Pool WiiUam W. e. Aug. IB, '61, pro. 1st Lieut.
Logan Simpson, e Sept. 2U, '61, m.o. uct. 11, '64.

Privates.
Blair Alexander, e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Burgiand Frederick, e. Aug. 16. '61, (lisd. Oct. 16, '62, disability.
Batchor Neai, e. Aug. 16, '61, dlsd. Aug. 4, '63, dls iblllty.
Crank Charles R. e. Aug. 16, 61, died at Lagrange, Teun. Nov.

28 '63.
o o ,

Cole Samiiel W. e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64. as corpi
Dutton Isaac, e. Aug. i6, '61, died at JeSersou, Mo. Nov. 1, '61.
JSwing John W. N. e. Aug. 16, '61, claimed uy parents as minor.
Green Edward A. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. ^64.
Ureen John W. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Grume Charles A. e. Aug 16, '61, dlsd. Aug, 3, '63, disability.
Hills Horace, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o, Aug. 11,"64.
Hart James, e, Aug. 16, '61, died at MSund City, Oct. 22, '62.
Huston Robert E. e. Aug. 15, '61, disa. Sept. '63, disability.
Keady Thomas, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '84.
Lowe Hiram, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Logan George, e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
McFarland John, o. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.
Mcintosh John, e. Aug. 16, '61, dlsd. Aug. 18. '62, disability.
Murray Daniel, e. Aug. 16, '61, dlsd. Sept. 9. '63, disability.
Odeli Leroy E. e. Aug. 16, '61, died Young's Pt. La. June 28, '63.
Patton William, e. Aug. 16, '61, kid. at Chicot Lane, Ark. .Tune

6, '64.

Phillips Frances M. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.
Proctor Henry F. e. Aug. 16, '61, kid. at Chicot Lake, Ark. June

6, '64.

Robinson George, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as corpl.
Rice Elisha, e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Susdorf Charles, e. Aug, 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Smith Henry, e. Aug. IB, '61, dlsd. Dec. 27, '62, disability.
Stevens Charles, e. Aug. 16, '61, kid. at Vicksburg, May 22, '63.
Toland George W. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Wastnn WUtz, e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Wendle John R. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Wilson John <i. e. Aug. 16, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Wilson John W. e. Aug. 16, '61. died at St. Louis, Oct. 12, '61.
Wllklson Phineas R. e. A,ug. 16, '61, dlsd. Feb. 21, '68, dlsab.

Recruits.
Bonsbough Charles G. e. Sept. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Clifton David, e. Feb. 29, '64, trans, to co. C as consol.
Cleary John, e. Nov. 80, 63, traus. to co. C as consol.
Delllngham John D. e. Aug. 14, '82, trans, to co. C as consol.
Duttou William H. e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Vicksburg, Aug. 8, '63.
Harvey Jamas T. e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co C as consol.
Harvey Thomas T. e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co. C as consol.

25

Longshore John D. e. Aug. 14, '62, trans, to co. as consol.
Lougshore Aaron, e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Vicksburg, Nov. 1, '68.
Meyer William, e. Aug. 14, '62, kid. at Vicksburg, Stay 22, '63.

Reed Benlamlu, e. Aug. 13, '62, dlsd. March 18, '63, disability.
Wheeler John W. e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to co. C as consol.
Touug Calvin, e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to co. O as consol.
Tonng James, e. Feb. 26, '64, trans, to co. C as consol.
Young Andrew, e. Aug. 14, '62. trans, to co. C. as consol.
Yates John M. e. Aug. 13. '62, trans, to co. C as consol.
Yates William, e. Aug. 13 '62. died Jackson, Tenn. May S, '63.

COMPANY C.

Captains.

John D. McCiure, com. Aug. 25, '61, pro. Maj.
Geo. Broad, com. Aug. 81, '62, term ex. Oct. 11, '64.

Lieutenants.

First. Geo. Broad, com. June 17, '62, pro.
First, Sam'l A. A. Law, com. Aug. 81, '62, pro. Quartermaster.

'

First, Christopher C. Gilbert, com. Dec. 14, '63, term ex. Oct. 11,
'64.

Second, Geo. Broad, com. Aug. 25. '61, pro.
Second, Sam'l A. A. Law, com. June 17, '62, pro.
Second, Christopher C. Gilbert, com. Aug. 31, '62, pro.

Sergeants,

First, Law Samuel A. L. e. Aug. IS, '61, pro. 2d Lieut.
Howell Israel, e. Aug. 18. '61, dlsd. May 7. '62. disability.
Camp Dexier M. e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Armour James W. e. Aug. 18, '61, desrtd. March 11, '83.

Corporals.

Swau Thomas, e. Aug. 18, '61, m,o. Ocb 11, '64.

Gates BenJ. J. e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '84.

Gilbert Christopher, e. Aug. 18, '61, pro. ad Lieut,
Slatin Adison F. e. Aug. 18, '61, desrtd. Sept. 19, >82.

Wanser William, e. Aug. 18, '81, m.o. Oct. 11. '64, as private.
Balfour John, e. Aug. 18. '61, m.o. Aug. 24, '64.

Cady Lewis M. e. Aug. l8, '81, sup. to be capd. Aug. 11, '64.

Wagoner.
Pratt Isaac J. e. Aug. 18, '61, died at Memphis, Sept. 10, '84.

Privates.
Anten James, e. Aug. 18, '61, re-e. as vet.
Booth Henry A. e. Aug. 18, '61, disd. Nov. 8, '62, disability.
Brittingham William H. e, Aug. 18, '61, died at Jellerson City,

Mo. Deo. IS, '61.

Baldwin Albert H. e. Aug. 18, '61, re-e. as vet.
Center Lemuel L. e. Aug. 18. '61, died at Jefferson City. Mo. Dec,

1, '61.

Clough Cassius M. e. Aug. 18, '61, disd. Nov. 29, '62, disability.
Conley James, e. Aug. 18, '61, died at Keokuk, la. Dec. 23, '62.

Crawford John B. e Aug. 18, '81, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
DeGrhmmond John J. e. Aug. 18, '81. dlsd. Feb. 12, '62, dlsab,
Davison John, e. Aug. 18, '61, dlsd. Dec. 21, '63, wounds.
Farris John S. e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '84.

Gilbert Charles W. e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Hathaway George H. e. Aug. 18, '61. died St. Louis, May 2, '62.

HimeS Charles H. e. Aug. 18, '61, died Jefferson City, Mo. Feb.
7, '82.

Hartz John H. e. Aug, 18, '61, disd. March 20. '63. disability.
Harper Oliver P. e. Aug. 18, '61, dlsd. March 17, '83, disability.
Hackenburg William H. e. Aug. 18, '81, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Kelley Stephen, e. Aug. 18, '61, disd. Dec. 21, '63, wounds.
Lapham Aaron M. e. Aug. 18, '81, disd. July 31, '63, disability.
McCoy Daniel, e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

McRlIl Thomas, e. Aug. 18, '61, died at Keokuk, la. Dec. 5, '63,

wounds.
Mason Isaac F. e. Aug. 18, '61, dlsd. May 12, '62, disability.
Mendall Ira L. e. Aug. 18, '61, died at St. Louis, Jan. 23. '62.

Orton Augustus L. e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Aug. 22. '64, term ex.
Patterson Caster^ e. Aug. 18, '61. disd. Oct. 20, '62. wounds.
Pohlman John H. e. Aug. 18, '61, disd. Dec. 27, '62, disability.
Randall Peter, e. Aug. ft, '61, dlsd. March 17. '63, disability.
Stewart Collins B. e. Aug. 18, '61, died at Corinth, Oct. 3, '62.

Vancamp Isaac, e. Aug. 18, '61, died at Jefferson City, Mo. Dec.
2, '61.

Wickersham Hiram O. e. Aug. 18, '61, desrtd. Jan. 28, '64.

Wheeler Joseph, e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Veterans.
Baldwin Albert H. e. Feb. 22, '64, corpl. trans, to co. B as consol,
Anten James B. e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. B as consol.

Recruits.
Blanchard Ira W. e. Sept. 20, '61, died at Sllkstown, Mo. March

23, '62.

Burdett Robert J. e. Aug. 4. '62, trans, to co. B as consol.
Cavanaugh James, e. Dec. 8, '63, trans, to co. B as consol.
Ford Swell G. e. Aug. 20. '62, trans, to co. B as consol.
Freeman Charles H. e. Sept. 14, '61, dlsd. May 19, '62, disability.
Hayes Morris, e. Aug. 25, '62, trans, to co. B as consol.
Johnson Augustus, e. Aug. 26, '61, died at Boonvilie, Mo. March

6, '62.

Kellogg Phelander, e. Sept. 20, '61, dlsd. July 6, '62, disability.
Murray Daniel, e. Sept. 6, '81, trans, to Miss, marine brigade.
Swimm Peter, e.Sept. 6, '61, m.a. Oct. 11, '84.
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COMPANY D.

Privates.
Boyoe Artemus, e. Aug. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
Dlckerson Jonathan, e. Aug. 16, '61, sick in Holly iSprlngs since

Deo. '62.

Green Jost-ph D. e. Aug. 16, '61. re-e. as vet.
MerrlllJames (}. e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Veterans.
Green Josepb D. e. Feb. 19, '64, corpl. kid. at Lake Chicot, June

6, '64.

Boyce Artemus. e. Feb. 19. '64, trans, to co. A as consol.

Kecruits.
Murray James, e. trans, to Invalid Corps in '63.

Smith John, e. Jan. 18, '6*. trans, to CO. A as consol.

COMPANY JB.

Captain.
Samuel R. Baker, com. Aug. 85. '61, pro. to Lieut. Col,

COMPANY F.

Captains.
Lyman W. Clark, com. Aug. 25, '61, res. Dec. 27, '61.
n\i^^^An-na TW T nnra tmn* T^pn Qfi '61, rOS. April 12. '63.Theodore M. Lowe, com. Dec. ._.

Geo. W. Carter, com. April 12, 'I res. Aug. 21, '68.

Ijieutenants.

First, Theodore M. Lowe. com. Aug. 21. '61. pro.

Second. George H. Career, com. Oct. 22. '62. pro.

Sergeants.

First. Carter George H. e. Aug. 18, '61, pro. 2d Lieut.
Goucher William C. e. Aug. 21, '61, dlsd. Dec. 8, '62, disability.

Curraii Patrick, e. Aug. 21j '61, m.o. Aug. 11, '64, as private.

Lowe Moody W. e. Aug. 21, '61, dlsd. Oct. 24, '62, disability.

Corporals.
Swartwood Henrv, e. Aug. al, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as sergt.

Noonan John, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64,

Swartwood James, e. Aug. 21, '61. rtisd. Dec. 17, '61, disability.

Musicians.
Jovce John. e. Aug. 21, '61, disd. Nov. 21, '62, disability.

Fisher Edward, e. Aug. 21. '61, disd. April 9, '62, disability.

Privates.

Bulaw Patrick F. e. A«g. 21, '61, disd. Aug. 19, '62, disability.

Burns Nicholas, e. Aug. 21, '61, kid. at Ooriuuh, Oct. 3, '62.

Bair David e. Aug. 21, '61, re-e. as vet.

Began John e. Aug. 21, '61, died Jefferson City. Mo. March 2. '62.

Cunningham James, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Cariiick Joseph H. e. Aug. 21, '61, died St, Louis, March 2, '62.

Conetv Francis, e. Aug. 21, '61, kid. at Corinth, 6ct. 3. '62.

Cochran Joseph, e. Aug. 21. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, 'B4. as sergt.

CoUeriKe Job, e. Aug. 12, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

CarreyTarius. e. Aug. 21, '61, disd. Dec. 17, '61, disability.

Demnse^ Frank, e. Aug. il, '61, kid. at Corinth, Oct. 3, '62.

Doiineiy Patrick, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct II, '64.

Dacan John e Aug. 21, 61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Denneean James, e. Aug. 21. '61. trans. Inv. Corps, Sept. 6. '63.

Ewine Noah M. e. Aug. 21. '61. m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Gaflney James, e. Aug. 21, '61, trans. Inv. Corps, Sept. 6, '63.

Galvin Patrick, e. Aug. 21. '61. trans, to Miss, marine brigade.

Hollihan Dennis,' e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as sergt.

Hawkins 'Wiltiam, e, Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as corpl.

Hutrman Charles, e. Aug. 21, '61. trans. Inv. corps, Dec. 16, '63.

Hamncon Geo. S. e. Aug. 21. '61, re-e. as vet.

Ktllev William, e. Aug. 21. '61, kid. at Vlcksburg, May 22, '63.

Kvle John: e Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Lelsenburae JohS, e. kug. 21, '61, kid. at Corinth, Oct. 3, '64.

McLauehlTn Peter J. e. Aug. 21, '61, re-e. as. vet.

Lonsdale Ellis, e. Aug. 21, '61, died Young's Pt. La Julv i -63.

Merrick Alonzo W. e. Aug. 21. '61, disd. July 10, '62, disab.

Mallv Michael, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

McDerrnott James, e. Aug. 21, '61. died Jefllerson City. Mo. Nov.
9 '61

McCartv Jeremiah, e. Aug. 21. '61, desrtd. Oct. 8. '61.

Murphv William, e. Aug. 21, '61, died Memphis. April 10, '64.

McDermott John, e. Aug. 21, '61, disd. Dec. 31, '62, disab.

Moreton Henry, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Morgan Edward, e. Aug. 21, 61, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Mclutyre James, e. Aug. 21. '61, sick at St. Louis.

Norton Henry, e Aug. 21. '61. died at Memphis, May 10, '62.

Perry Peter, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, 'Bi.

Porter William, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Powell John, e. Aug. 21, '61. m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Eyan John. e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Ryan Patrick, e. Aug. 21. '61. re-e. as vet.

Rether Joseph. e. Aug. 21. '61, kid. LakeChicot, Ark. June 6. '64.

Swartwood William, e. Aug. 21, '61. re-e. as vet.

Sundren Charles, e. Aug. 21, '61, disd. Nov. 20, '62, disab.

Shaw Owen W. e. Aug. 21, '61, died at Memphis, June 15. '64.

Snyder Nicholas, e. Aug. 21, '61, desrtd. March 11, '64.

Smitb John, e. Aug. 21,. '61, desrtd. July 17. '62.

Trempe Isaac, e. Aug. 21. '61. sick at St. Louis.
Willis Jackson, e. Aug. 21, '61, m.o. Oct. 11 '64.

Walker Augustus, e. Aug. 21. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Veterans.
Beare David, e. Feb. 22j '64, trans, to co. B as consol.
Hampton George S. e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. B as consol.
MoLoughlin Peter J. e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. B as consol.
Ryan Patrick, e. Feb. 22. '64, trans, to co. B as consol.
Swartward William, e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. B as eonsoi.

COMPANY G.

Wagoner.
Sturman William L. e. Aug. 16, '61. disd. Dec. 9, '62, disab.

Privates.
Alfolder Samuel, e. Aug. 16. '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Blxler Samuel, e. Aug. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.

Bower Martin, e. Aug. 16, '61. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Baley Daniel, e. Aug. 16, '61, died Oct. 28, '62, wounds.
Miller Robert F. e. Aug. 16, '61. desrtd. Dec. '61.

Maurice Adam, e. Aug. 16, '61, died Lagrange, Tenn. Dec. 4, '63.

Putman Judson. e. Aug. 16. '61. disd. sentence court martial.
Reed Thomas B. e. Aug. 16. '61. m.o. Oct 11. '64.

Seely William, e. Aug. 16, '61. re-e. as vet.
Wilson Bennett, e. Aug. 16 '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Kecruits.
Byrne Edward, e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co. B as consol.

Strum T. Jefferson, e. Aug. 27, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Stone Stephen, e. Sept. 19, '61. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

COMPANY H.
Serjeants.

Rogers Eli B. e. Sept. 1, '61, disd. Oct. 24. '62. disab.
Gordon William, e, Sept. 1, '61, disd. Oct. 10, '63, disab.
Williams Charles, e. — died at Ridgway Station, July 24, '63.

Corporals.
Adkinson Levi R. e. Sept. 1, '61, died Eienzl, Miss. July 10, '62.

Gordon Samuel, e. Sept. 1, *61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

'SVagroner.

McGowen Mahlon, c. Sept. 1, '61, disd. Sept. 29. '62. disab.

Privates.
Bailey Johu, e. Sept. 1, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bailey Richard, e. Sept. 1. '61 , abs. without leave since March

29, '64.

Dlckison John, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64. as corpl.
Drummoud John P. e. Sept. 1, '61, disd. March 11, '63. disab.
Dumbelle William H. e. Sept. 1, '61. m.o. Oct. 11. '64. as corpl.
Drum Patrick, e. Sept. 1. '61. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Elson John. e. Sept, 1, '61. sick at Mound City at m.o. of regt.
Flemming Michael, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Fenens William, e Sept. 1, '61. died June 8. '64. wounds.
Harlan John, e. Sept. 1, '61, disd. June 8, '64. as sergt. disab.
Harlan Joseph, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Hali George, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

Hoiemau Samuel K. P. e. Sept. 1, '61. disd. Nov. 21. '62. disab.
Hendrick Joel. e. Sept. 1, '61. trans, to co. G.
Johnson Nathan, e. Sept. 1. '61. died Jackson, Tenn. June 6, '63.

Klngdon John, e. Sept. 1. '61. re-e. as vet.
Kingdon .Tames e Sept. 1, '61. re -e. as vet.
Keough Thomas, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o Oct. 11, '64.
Moore Bolln J. e. Sept. 1, '61, desrtd. April 20, '62.

Mendall David, e. Sept. 1. '61, disd. Feb. 7, '63. wounds.
Moftitt Aaron C. e. Sept. 1. '61, re-e. as vet.
O'Connor James, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct 11, '64.

Phaian Michael, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11 '64.

Sutherland Jacob, e. Sept. 1, '61, wd. and missing near Farming,
Miss. May 9. '62.

Smith John, e. Sept. 1, '61, died at Black River. Miss. Nov. 5. '63.

Staples Silas, e. Sept. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as corpl.

Veterans.
Bailey John, e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. D as consol.
Kingdom John, e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. D as consol.
Kingdom James, e. Feb. 22. '64, trans, to co. D as consol.
Mofilt Aaron C. e. Feb. 22, '64, trans, to co. D as consol.

Recruits.
Brown George, e. Aug. 14. '62. trans, to co. D as consol.
Dlmon Jacob, e. Sept. 14, '62, disd. March 5, '64, disab.
Hall Gilbert, e. m.o. Nov. 1, '64.

Hartley Daniel, e. Aug. 9, '62, trans, to co. D as consol.
Harlan James P. e. Aug. 2, '62, dlsd. Aug. 10. '63, disab.
Martin David A. e. Aug. 9, '62, trans, to co. D as consol.

COMPANY I.

Wagoner.
Bell William D. e. Sept. 4, '61, kid. at Jefferson City, Mo. Nov, 6

'61, run over by a wagon.

Privates.
Behymer Henry M. e. Sept. 4. '61. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Cox Joseph, e. Sept. 4. '61, disd. Nov. 17. '61. disab.
Dredge John C. e. Sept. 4, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Kershaw John, e. Sept. 4, '61. m.o. Oct. 11. '64.
Miller George M. e. Sept. 4, '61, died young's Pt. La, July 2, '68.
Macon John, e. Sept. 4, '61, disd, Dec. 4, '63. disab.
Nelson Thomas, e. Sept. 4, '61. re-e. as vet.
Nicholas John S. e. Sept. 4. '61. died at Peoria May B, '64.
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Pritchard Thomas, e. Sept. 4, '61, in.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Rowley Martin E. e. Sept. 4, '61, (llsd. May 30, '6^, dlsab.
Upshaw George W. Jr. e.Sept. 4, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, corpl.

Veteran.
Nelson Thomas, e. Dec, 38, '63, trans, to co. O as consol.

BecTuits.
Allison James, e. Dec. 38. '63, trans, to co. C as consol.
Pratt Edmun M. e. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.
Pratt Nathan W. e. died at Keokuk, la,, Feb. 30, '63.
Rogers Richard, e, m.o. Oct. 11. '64.

Ryan Kob't S. e. m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

COMFANT K.
Privates.

Armtront J. B. e. Sept. 6, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as wagoner.
Buckley Johnson, e. Sept. 18< '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64, as corporal.
Boughslow Chas. G. e. Sept. 6, '61, trans, to co. A.
Carter Charles W. e. Sept. 8, '61, died at Rienzi, Miss. Aug, 4, '63.
Jacobs Henry, e. Sept. 35, '61, died at St. Louis March 38, '63.
Hutchinson Franklin, e. Sept. 6, '61, desrtci. May 19, '63.
Logan Simpson, e. Sept. 18, '61. trans, to co. A Not. 4. '61.
McGregor Henry B. e. Sept. 6, '61, kid. at Corinth Oct. 3, '63.
Tobey Edward E. e. Sept. 8. '61, pro. to qm. sergt.
Williams George e. Sept, 19, '61, m.o. Oct. 11, '64.

47th Infantry (Consolidated).

COMPANY A.

Private.
Davison James, e. Jan. 3, '63, disb. term ex.

Kecruits.
Davison James, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Sweet Alfred, e. March 16, '65, dropped from rolls.

Recruit Transferred from lOSth Infantry.
Greenville George, e. Feb. 34, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

COMPANY B.

Privates.
Green Gilbert L. e. Nov. 16, '64, m.o. Nov. 15. '65, term ex.
Petty John W. e. Nov. 16, '64, m.o. Nov. 15. '65, term ex.
Wiar John, e. Nov. 39, '64. m.o. Nov. 39, '65, term ex.

Recruit.
Grove Ruben M. e. March 8, '65. m.o. Jan. 81, '66.

COMPANY C.

Recruit.
Green Hendrlck, e. Jan. 33, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Recruits Transferred from lOStli Infantry.
AUdrich George C. e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Bailey Henry C. e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Budley John, e. March 6. '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Guyer George C. e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Fox Reads, e. March 6. '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Bibbs Eben h. e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31. '66.
King Joseph, e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66. as corpl.
Prior Richard, e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

COMPANY D.

Private.
Burbank Israel, b. Sept. 13, '64, m.o. July 30, '65.

Recruit Transferred from lOSth Infantry.
Trotman Frank L. e. Jan. 33, '64, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

COMPANY E.

Captain.
Thomas Lynch, com. March 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

IjieutenantB.
First, Dennis Brennan, com. March 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Second, William Morrlsy, com. March 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, 61

Privates.
|

Avery Frank, e. Feb. 34, '65, desrtd. March 17, '65.
Burningham John, e. Feb. 34, '65, desrtd. March 17, '65.
Casey Michael, e. Feb. 37, '65, desrtd. March 17, '65.
Callahan John, e. Feb. 26, '65. desrtd. March 11, '66.
Dunnlvan John, e, Feb. 30, '65, desrtd. March 6, '65.
Kelley Patrick, e. Feb. 33, '65, died at Peoria Dec. 3, '65.
Keete James, e. Feb. 34, '66, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Long Martin, e. March 1, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
McCarthy James, e. Feb. 37, '65, desrtd. March 17, '68.
Mccormick Edward, e. Feb. 35, '65, desrtd. March 7, '65.
McManus Michael, e. Feb. 34, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

McGowan Thomas, e. Feb. 34, '65 m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
O'Leary Thomas, e. Feb. 35, '65, desrtd. March 11, '65.
Powers Joseph, e. Feb. 34. '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '68.

Roberts Daniel, e. March 1, '65, desrtd. March 17, '65.
Shelmody Thomas, e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Williams Jotab, e. Feb. 35, '65, desrtd. March 17, '65.
Zondergan Wm. e. March 1, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

COMPANY I.

Couse Ironic, e. March 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Dlvelbliss John, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Button Solmon, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Brockett J. B. e. March
Recruit.

3. '65, m.o. Jan. 31,

COMPANY K.

Captain.
John J. Rose, com. March 33, '65, m,o. Jan, 31, '66.

Ijieutenants.
First, Andrew P. Gibson, com. March 31. '65. m.o. Jan. 31, '66

.

Second, John Merrill, com. March 33. '65, died of small pox at
Cahawba, Ala. Nov. 35, '65.

Second, Henry Bill, com. Dec. 19, '65, not mustered, m.o. as
sergt. Jan. 31, '66.

Sergreants.
Johnson James G. e. March 5. '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Hoag Albert S. e. March 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Corporals.
Eaton Robert, e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66, sergt.
Gilbert James A. e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Hartz Ethan A. e. March 3. '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Hebberd Mortimer D. e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 3, '66.

Musicians.
Bartholomew Edwin, e. March 7, '65, m.o. at Mobile, Ala.
Richardson Edward D. e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 35, '66.

Privates.
Blind Charles, e. March 6, '65, desrtd. March 35, '65.

Cole John. e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Claypole James J. e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 21, '66.
Crane George, e. March 4, '65. desrtd. March 33, '65.

Oaiaway Jefferson, e. March 7. '65. m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Aten Henry, e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 21, '66.

Elliott John^e. March 7, '65, died Cahabo, Ala. July 21, '65.
Green John H. e. March 7, '65. m.o. Jan. 21, '66.

Heath or HIatt Nicholas, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 21. '66.
Johnson Philander, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 21. '66.

Kern Frederick, e. March 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Knox James E. e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Lanscha George, e. March 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

Moats Tobias, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.

McCoy William, e. March 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 21. '86.

Nickson Wm. H. e. March 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 21. '66.

Pratt Stephen, e, March 7. '65, m.o. Jan. 21, '66.

Short William, e. March 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 21, '66, absent without

Sanger Lewis, e. March 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 21, '66.

Smith John, e. March 6, '65, desrtd. March 35, '65.
Todd Robert M. e. March 7, '65. m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Watters John, e. March 4, '65, desrtd. March 35, '65.

WiUett Austin, e. March 4, '65, died Demopolis, Ala. July 36, '65

Recruits.

Brown Russell, e. March 8, '65, m.o. Jan. 21. '66.

Bacheider Leonadus, e. March 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66, as corpl.
McGlnnis Kenweth, e. March 21, '65. m.o. Jan. 21, '66.
Morrow Erastus, e. March 14, '65. m.o. Jan. 21, '66.
McMullen Samuel e. March 20. '65, m.o. Jan. 81. '66.

Moore Arora C. e. March 30, '65, m.o. Jan. 31, '66.
Smith Jeremiah, e. March 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 81, '66.

Recruits Transferred from 95tli Illinois Infantry.

Albats John, e. March 8, '65.
Adams George, e. March 13, '65.

Bruen James, e. March 10, '65.

Bon Seth, e. March 31, '65.

Clark William E. e. March 31, '86.
Campbell James, e. March 7, '65.

Davis Alfred, e. March 8. '65.

Hastings William, e. Nov. 39, '64.

Hennesey John, e. March 31, '68.
Murray John, e. March 10, '65.

McMahan Michael, e. April 3, '68.

Murphy John, e. April 3, '65.

Meyers Charles, e. April 3, '6S.
McGuires Peter, e. April i, '68.
Maloney John, e. March 31, '66.
Price Robert, e. April 3, '68.
Reed John, e. March 8, '68.

Wilson David, e. March 8, '68.
Warner John, e. March 31, '65.

Williamson J. e. March 31, '65.
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48th Infantry.

COMPANY A.
Drafted and Substitute Beci-ults.

Crowder Richard, e. Sept. 27, '64. m.o. May 31. '65, never rep.
MoGrall Anttiouy, e. Nov .'17, '64, m.o. Aug. 15, '65.

49th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Becmit.
Dels Wesley A. c. April 3, '65. m.o. Sept, 9, '65.

COMPANY G.

Kecruita.
Benthall Asa W. e. March 28. '65, m.o. Sept 9. '65.
Keller Isaac, e. March 20, '65, m.o. Sept. 9, '65.

Neal George W. e. March 80, '65, m.o. Sept. 9, '65.

Ogleshv Reuben, e. March 17, '65, m.o. Sept. 9, '65.

Webb Richard, e. March 88, '65, died at Paducah, Ky. April 84,
'65.

50th Infantry.

COMPANY F.

White John W. e. Aug. 18, '61, m.o. Sept. 27, '64.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Heighten Hugh, e. Dec. 1, '64, m.o. July 13, '66.

COMPANY K.
Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Elrlerman John H. e. Dec. ], '64, m.o. July 18, '65.
Furguson James, e. Dec. 1, '64, m.o. July 13, '65, absent, sick.
Plummer John F. e. Dec. 1, '65, m.o. July 13, '65.

1Tnassls:ned Recruit.
Hager John, e. Dec. 1, '64, m.o. July 28, '65.

51st Infantry,

COMPANY A.
Sergeant.

Parker John R. e. Oct. 1, '61, trans, to Signal Corps Jan. 27, '64.

Private.
Fox William, e. Oct. 84, '61, re-e. as a vet.

Veteran.
Fox William, e. Dec. 84, '63, m.o. Sept. 25, '65, as sergt.

Recruits.
Green Thomas, e. Nov. 23, '61, desrtd. Dec. 1, '61.
Welch James, e. Nov. 1, '61, desrtd. Nov. 3, '61.

COMPANY F.

Privates.
Brown George, e. July 15, '62, m.o. July 16, '65.
Brown Shadracl], e. July 15, '68, kid. at Mission Kldge Nov. 85,

'63.

Keele Leonard, e. July 15, '68, died at Nashville, Tenn. Oct. 27.

Power Robt. e. Julv 15, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. May 4 '65
Sill John. e. Julv l.fi. '62. m.o. .rune Ifi. 'fis ahsfint ai/.t

'

Sill John, e. July 15,

'

m.o. June 16, '65, absent, sick,

COMPANY K.
Raymond Eugene K. e. Dec. 13, '61, died Danville. Va. Jan 21

'64, prisoner.

53(1 Infantry.

Non Commissioned Staff.
Hiram A. Hunter, com. Nov. 27, '61, pro. to Q.M.

Musicians.
Roderick F. Stocking, e. Oct. 12, '61.
Miller William H.

COMPANY A.
Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Snow John, e, Deo. 6, '64, csub.) never reported to oo
Smith Henry, e. Deo. 6, '64, {sub.l never reported to co.
Shean James, e. Dec. 6, '64, (sub.) never reported to co

COMPANY C.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Harding Ariiet T. e. Oct, 20, '64, (sub.) m.o. July 22, '65.

Kelly Charles, e. Dec. 27, '64, (sub.) never reported to co.

Lines Sylvester, e. Nov. 17, '64, m.o. July 22, '65.

Elce Holiert or Robert, e. Nov. 17, '64, m.o. July 22, '65.

Reeder Thomas, e. Dec. 6, '64, (sub.) never Joined co.

Thomas David, e. Dee. '7, '64, (sub.) m.o. July 22, '65.

COMPANY D.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.

Folley Adam, e. Dec. 7, '64, (sub.) never Joined co.

Lindsay William, e. Dec. 5, '64, (sub.) m.o. July 2, '85.

TuthlU Samuel, e. Dec. 7, '64, (sub.) reported a deserter.

COMPANY E.

Recruits.
Boxwell Robert, e. March 12, '62, m.o, March 26, '65.

Boxwell John, e. March 11, '62, m.o. March 26, '65.

Largent John, e. March 12, '62, m.o. March 26, '65.

Drafted and Substitute Recruits.
Bruce Saml. G. e. Dec. 5, '64. (sub.) m.o. J'uly 28, '65.

Folce Adam, e. Dec. 2, '64, (sub.) m.o. July 22, '65.

COMPANY F.
Drafted and Substitute Recruit.

Burth Jesse S. e. Nov. 29, '64, m.o. July 22, '65.

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Arbuckle Abner, e. Dec. 29, '61, dlsd.
Darvey Isaiah,
Denvy William,
Hatfield Abel, e. Dec. 7, '61, nnofflcially reported m.o. Dec. 88,

'64.

Flaherty John, e. Dec. 29, '61, re-e. July 12, '63.

Hunter Hiram A. e. Nov. 2, '61, pro. to sergt. then to Q.M. sergt.
HItt Andrew J. e. Dec. 87, '61, disd. May 18, '62, dlsab.
Holahan John, e. Dec. 29, '61, disd. Dec. 4, '63, dlsab.
McClanan William, e. Dec. 29, '61, kid. at Matamora, T. Oct. 5,

'62.

Nelll Stewart, e. Nov. 7, '61, disd. Nov. 2, '62, dlsab.
Nelson John, e. Dec. 29, '61, re-e. as vet.
Pollard Patrick, e. Dec. 29, '61, re-e. as vet.
Thomas Seymour, e. Dec. 29, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veterans.
Flaharty John, e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. July 22, '65, prisoner war.
Nelson ,John, e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. July 22. '65, as sergt.
Pollard Patrick, e. Jan. 5, '64, trans, to V.R.C. March 15, '65.

Temple Thomas S. e. Feb. 28, '64, m.o. July 82, '65, as corpl.
Thomas Seymour, e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. July 22, '65, absent sick.

Recruits.
Reynolds Abner. e. March 12, '62, kid. Notamora, T. Oct. 5, '62.

Stocking Frederick P. e. Feb. 3, '62, trans, to regimental band
March 27, '62.

Temple Thomas, e. Feb. 28, '62, re-e. as vet.
Wllmot W. F, e. Feb. 14, '62, trans to regimental band March

27, '68.

Thomas Thomas, e. Feb. 88, 68, dlsd. Oct. 18, '62, dlsab.
Thompson Henry, e. March 10, '62, dlsd. In hospital.
Thompson William, e. March 10, '62, disd. Dec. 5, '62, dlsab.

Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Reese Alexander, e. Oct. 13, '64, (sub.) never joined co.

COMPANY I.

Privates.
Boxwell John, e, March 11. '68, trans, to co. E.
Boxwell Robert, e. March 12. '62 trans, to co. B.
Largent John, e. March 12, '68, trans, to co. E,

Unasslgned Drafted and Substitute Recruit.
Jaeger Joseph, e. Dec. 8 '64, (sub.) m.o. May 8, '65.

54tli Infantry.

COMPANY F.

Sergeant.
First, Jones William M. e. Dec. 15, '61.

COMPANY G.

Private.
Smith Lyman B. e. Deo. 2, '61, re-e. as vet.

COMPANY K.
Recruit.

Wright James R. _e. Feb. 29, '64, m.o. Oct. 15, '65.
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Unassigned Recruit.
Smith William H. dlsd. Aug. 13, '64, dlsab.

55th Infantry.

COMPANir B.

PrlTates.
Holden William, e. Aug. 14, '61, dlsd. JaD. 88, '63, dlsab.
HeddlneGeorge, e. Sept, 20, '61, reported died, died since.
Nichols Thomas, e. Aug. 1, '61, m.o. Oct. 31, '64.

COMPANY G.

Private.
Turner James, e. Sept. 14, '61, m.o. Oct. 81, '64.

COMPANY K.
Sergreant.

Forbes John, e. Oct. 28, °61, sergt. promoted to 1st Ueut.

PrlTates.
Connor John, e, Oct. 22, '61, killed nr. Jonesboro, Ga. Sept. 1,'64.
Beeson H. T. e. Oct 22, '61, died at St. Louis, Mo.
Brown C. F. e. Oct. 22. '61, dlsd. Nov. 7, '61, dlsab.
Jackson M. H. e. Oct 22, '61, dlsd. Jan. 28, '63, dlsab.
Lower R. A. e. Oct. 22, '61, m.o. Oct. 31, '64.

Bouse T. 8. e. Oct. 22, '61, re-e. as vet.
Simmons Edmund, e. Oct, 22. '61, re-e. as vet.
Vlokery Albert, e. Oct. 22, '61, m.o. Oct. 31, '64.

Wldener M. e. Oct. 22, '61, m.o. Oct. 31, 64.
Waddell William, e. Oct. 22, '61, m.o. Oct. 31, '64.

Walker William, e. Oct. 22, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veterans.
Eouae Thomas, e. Mar. 31, '64, 1st sergt. died Duval's Bluff, July

Walker William, e. Jan. 2, '64, m.o. Aug. 14, '65, as Corp.

Reoruita.
Dewey Issacher B. e, Nov. 8, '61. dlsd, Feb. 20, '62.
McMuUen Kobert W. e. Nov. T, '61, m.o. Aug. 14, '65.
Smith H. P. e. Nov. 9, '61, desrtd. Dec. 20, '&.

57th Infantry.

COMPANY c.

Corporals.
White O. W. e. Dec. 26, '61, corp. died Pittsburgh L. May 4, '62.
Howard Robert A. e. Dec. 23, 'ol, m.o. Jan. 14, '65.

Privates.
Draner James E. e. Dec. 18, '61, dlsd. June 17, '62.
Davis Willis, e. Dec. 18, '61, m.o. Dec. 29, '64.
Ernst Adam, e^Dec^23, '61, died at Paducah, Ky. Jan. 18, '63.

Hlgglns Moses G. e. Dec. 20. '61, died at Corinth, Jan. 14, '62.
HouK Conrad, e. Dec. 26, '61, m.o. Dec. 29, '64.
Maurice Joseph H. e. Dec. 15, '61, m.o. Dec. 29, '64.
Notlstlne John A. e. Dec. 24. '61, m.o. Jan. 27, '65.
Bouse John D. e. Dec. 24, '61. m.o. Dec. 29, '64, as corn.
Steele William, e. Dee. 25, '61, m.o. Dec. 29, '64.
Stewart William B. e. Dec. 18, '61, m.o. Dec. 89. '64.
Smith J. William, e. Dec. 15. '61, dlsd. April 2'i', '62.
Throatt Frederick, e. Dec. 10, '61, trans, to co. F, Jan. 1, '62.
Weld William H. e. Dec. 13, '61, died at Qulncy. 111. May 22, '62.
Wonder Benj. F. e. Dec. 16, '61, m.o. Dec. 29, '^4, as corp.

COMPANY G.

Privates.
Wolf John, e. Dec. 16. '61. dlsd. Aug. 20, '62.
Wagner Casper, e. Dec. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veteran.
Wagner Casper, b. Dec. 27, '63, m.o. July 7, '66.

COMPANY H.
Corporal.

Sterling William H. H. e. Oct. 10, '61, m.o. Dec. 25, '64.

Privates.
Clifford William P. e. March 10, '61, desrtd. June 8, '62.
Horsley Thomas E. e. Oct. 20, '61, dlsd. Sept. 8. '62, wounds.
Morris Demetrius E. e. Oct. 10, '61, m.o. Dec. 85, '64.
Slygh Henry S. e. Oct. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.
Slygh John A. e. Oct. 7, '61, dlsd. Nov. 15, '62.
white Isaiah or Joshua, e. Oct. 7, '61, dlsd. Aug. 21, '62, dlsab.

COMPANY K.
lileutenant.

William Sterling, com. June 20, '62, term ex. Dec. 26, '64.

tTnassitrned Recruit.
Jackson Henry, e. March 23, '65, dlsd.

58th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Corporal.
Summes Martin H. o. Oct. 28, '61, corp. desrtd. March, '63.

Privates.
Black John, e. Nov. 12, '61, m.o. Feb. 7, '65.

King Moses B. e. Dec. 1, '61, trans, to co. H.
King Alexander, e. Oct. 31, '61, trans, to co. H.
Matteson H. A. e. Oct. 31, '61, desrtd. May 11. '62.

Oakley James H. e. Oct. 28, '61, trans, to co. H.
Summes Thomas H. e. Oct. 28, '61, trans, to co. H.

Recruits.
Halsey Bobert J. e. Jan. 1, '63. re-e. as vet.
Sutherland John, e. Aug. 16. '63, desrtd. Dec. 15, '64.

Cunningham J. C. e. July 29, '63, desrtd. June 20, '64.

58th Infantry (Consolidated).

COMPANY E.

Privates.
Duffy Richard, e. March 11, '66. m.o. March 10, '66.

Delaney Patrick, e. March U, '65, m.o. Feb. 10, '66.

Grover Moralde, e. March 11, '65, desrtd. April 6. '65.

Goodwin Tliomas, e. March 82, '65, desrtd. June 11, <6S.
Hart John, e. March 28. '66, desrtd. April 6, '65.

McGlnnls Thomas, e. March 21, '65, desrtd. April 6, '65.

O'Brien John, e. Marcli 18, '65, m.o. March 17, '66.

Prothers Evan M. e. Maron 28, '65, m.o. March 28, '66.

Sal8bury_Elchard, e. March 16, '65, desrtd. April 6, '65.

Shehan William, e. March 28, '65, desrtd. April 6, >6S.
Woods William, e. March 28, '65, desrtd. April 6, '66.

COMPANY F.

Privates.
DeGan George, e. March 22, '65, m.o. March 17, '66.
McBaln Joseph, e. March 24, '65.

Snow Frank, e. March 22, '65.

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Craig William, e. March 24, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.

Madison John, e. March 24, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.
Worthy William, e. March 24, '65, desrtd. April 8, '66.

COMPANY I.

Sergeants.
Willis John M. e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65

Allison Harvey, e. March 27, '65, m.o. April 1, '66.

Corporals.
Hofler John S. e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.

Warns Thomas, e: March 25, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.

Privates.
Allen George, e. March 25. '65, m.o. March 24, '66.

Backus Henry, e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.

Black Nicholas, e. March 26, '65, m.o. March 26, '66.

Blong Ambrose, e. March 26, '65, m.o. March 26, '66.

Bateman Daniel, e. March 85, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

Curren Peter, e. March 25, '65, desrted. April 1, '65.

Dunn James, e. Marcb 8, '65. desrtd. April 1. '65.

Fuller Charles, e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 8, '65.

Hutchinson James or John, e, March 87, 'o5, m.o. March 26, '66.
as sergt.

Habes Anthony, e. March 27, '65, died Aug. 19, '65.

Hurley John. e. March 27, '66, desrtd. April 1, '65.

Kouner or Hower Mathews, e. March 2'i', '65, m.o. March 26, '66.
Kinsley John B. e. March 27, '65, absent sick at m.o. of regt.
Lewis William H. e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

Logan James, e. March 25, '65, desrtd. April 1, '66.

Morris George, e. March 25, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

McCain George, e. March 25, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.
Mason George, e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

Ragen James, e. March 23, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

Thomas Charles M. e. March 27, '65, desrtd. April 1, '65.

WaUace John 0. e. Marcli 27, '66, desrtd. April 1, '65.

TTnassiKned Recruits.
Burton James C. e. March 1, '65.

Stone Charles S. e. March 1, '66.

59th Infantry.

COMPANY p.

Recruits.
4^mbler Monroe, e. Dec. 16,'63, trttns. from 89tb, m.o, Dec. 8,'65.
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60th Infantry.

COMPANY E.

Recraitfl.
HendrtoSson H»rtwell, e. Jan. 84, '65, m.o. July 81, '66.

64th Infantry.

liieutenant Colonel.
David B. Williams com. tsept. 3, '61, dlsd. on surgeon's certificate

of dlsab. Sept. 12, '61.

COMPANY B.

Privates.
Donevan Cornelius, e. Nov. 1 '61, dls. July 36, '62, disab.

65th Infantry.

COMPANY F.

Private.
Putnam H. W. e. March 12, '62, trans, to co. G May 12,

66th Infantry.

Nevens Frank E.
7, '64.

COMPANY A.

Private.
Nov. 4, '61, 1st sergt. dlsd. for pro. March

m.o. Sept. '62.

I. '62.

67th Infantry (3 Months).
liieutenaut Colonel.

Eugene K. Oakley, com. June 13, '62, m.o. Oct. 6, '62

COMPANY F.

Lieutenants.
First, Abram D. Van Veckfcen, com. June 13, _
Second, Horace E. Dwyer, com. June 13, '68, m.o. Sept.

Sergreant.
Dyer Horace E. e. May 31, '62, sergt. pro. 2d Lieut.

Privates.
Brock M. W. 6. June 8, '63, detached at m.o. regt.
Bailey John, e. June 2, '62.
Miller William F. e. May 31. '62.

Slaughter William, e. June 4, 62.

COMPANY G.

Captain.
Charles K. Purple, com. June 13, '62, m.o. Sept. '68.

liieatenants.
First, Jeremiah Dockstater, com. June 13, '62, m.o. Sept. '62.

Second, Edward K. Valentine, com. June 13, '62, m.o. Sept. '62.

Sergeants.
Simpson John, e. June 8, '62.

Durham John E. e. June 2, '62.

Holenbeck Cornelius C. e. June 2, '68.

Goodwin John P. e. June 2, '62.

Corporals.
Stevison Daniel D. e. June 2, '68.

Miller Daniel D. e. June 2, '62.
Summers George W. e. June 3. '62.

Vansaw Robert W. e. June 2, '62.

Stillman Henry J. B. e. June 8, '63.

Bryant James, e. June 2, '62.

Wilds William L. e. June 2, '62.

Esston Edward S. e. June 8, '63.

Privates.
Atkinson John D. e. June 2. '62.
Bishop William H. e. June 8. '62.
Brady Charles, e. June 2, '62.

Branner Theodore J. e. June 2, '62.
Brennan Dennis, e. June 10. '68.
Caiiester Joseph, e. June 2, '68.
Dlckanson Griffith A. e. June 2, '63.
Drysdale William, e. June 8, '68.

Davis Henry, e. June 3, '63.

Ellis Henry, e. June 3, '62.

Eakln David, e. June 2, '62.

Forbes Andrew G. e. June 2, '62.

Farreil Patrick, e. June 8, '62.

Garthwalt William, e. June 3, '62.

Gillon Mllo C. e. June 2, '68.

Hookey William, e. June 8, '62.

Harvey Henderson, e. June 2, 62.

Harvey John, e. June 2, '62.

Harbert John, e. June 2, '62.

Hallock Clinton, e. June 3, '62.

Jones WInfleldS. e. June 2, '62.

Johnston Harmon, e. June 2, 68.

Kastner Charles, e. June 3, '62.

Kettelle Charles, e. June 4. '62, pro. sergt.

King Samuel T. e. June 2, '62.

Long David M. e. June 8, '63.

Mccormick Thomas J. e. June 2, '68.

Merrill John, e. June 2, '62.

Moore James, e. June 8, '63.

McClure Samuel S. e. June 3, '62.

Mendenhall Amos H. e. June 2, '68.

Mackey Robert C. e. June 2, '62.

Morse Samuel M. e. June 2, '68.

Osterhout Charles, e. June 2, '62.

Opdyke Benjamin, e. June 3, '63.

Philip Ellis, e. June 2, '63.

Patten Wm. H. e. June 2, '62.

Rogers David, e. June 2, '62.

Ruse Isaac, e. June 4, '62.

Spence Clark, e. June 4, '62.

Smith Edwin A. e. June 4, '62.

Spellam Timothy, e. June 4, '62.

Snyder Victor, e. June 4, '62.

Stillwell B. J. e. June 4, '62.
._^

Smith Bnrdsv A. e. June 4. '62.

Sturm John T. e. June 4, '62.

Tomllnson Ambrose, e. June 4, '68.

Tripp David T. e. June 4, '62.

Thurston Frank, e. June 4, '62.

Woodrufl John H. e. June 4, '62.

Willey John A. e. June 4, '62.

Wardlow Robert, e. June 4, '62.

Recruits.

lffiSn^eTiVju'n?l.%4'|-ro. 1st sergt and 8d lleut.

Vandorer Gilbert, e. June 4, '64, pro. to oorpl.

COMPANY K.
Privates.

Adams Austin, e. June 2, '62.

Brown Charles, e. June 4. '68.

Blue James H. e. June 8, '68.

Frledhaber John M. e. June 4, '62.

Gowan George, e. June 4, '62.

Vartey Jacob, e. June 4, '62.

68th Infantry (3 months).

COMPANY K.
Sergeant.

Fuller Philip B. e. June 2, '62, m.o.

Privates.

Campbell William, e. June 2. '63.

Fickes Thomas, e. June 9, '62.

71st Infantry (3 months).

COMPANY C.

Recruits.

Kill James, e. July 7, '62, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Robinson Abram, e. July 7, '62. m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

COMPANY n.

Brobts Jacob, e. July 4, '62, m.o.

COMPANY B.

Sergeant.

First, Hemmant Alfred S. e. July 3, '68, m.o. Oct 29, '62.

Privates.
' Brackley, Samuel R. e. June 30, '63, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Brackley William H. e. June 30, 62, m.o. Oct. 29. '62.

Conrad Charles, e. July 7, '62, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Clayton Isaac, e. July 3, '62, m,o. Oct. 29, '62.

Deal William, e. June 3, '62, m.o. Oct. 29, '68.

Hammer Henry, e. July 8, '62, m.o. Oct. 89, '62.

Keeps Jesse, e. June 80, '62, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Nealy Andrew, e. June 30, '62, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Schrlmpf Ernest, e. July 9, 62, m.o. Oct. 29, '62.

Stewart Brastus W. e. July 7, '62, m.o. Oct. 39, '68.

72d Infantry.

COMPANY C.

Private.
Spencer John F. e. Aug. '62, trans, to V. B. C. June IS, '64, and

trans, back Feb. 14, '65.
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77th Infantry.

HISTORY.

The reglmeiic was fully organized and mustered Into the
United States service September 3d. 1862, at Peoria, 111. Re-
mained In camp at that place until October 4th, at which time It

Sroceeded to Covington, Ky., and reported to Major Gen. Gor-
on Granger, commanding Army or Kentucky, who assigned

It to duty In tne division commanded l)y Gen. A. J. Smith.
Marched from Covington with the division, October 17th,

and reached Lexington on the 29th. and IKichmond 2d Novem-
ber. Marched from that point on November 11th, and arrived
at Louisville on the 17th.

Notblng of any Interest transpired during the sojourn of the
regiment fii Kentucky— there being no force of the enemy In
the State at that time; and the campaign there was merely a
march of about 150 miles Into the Interior and a march back
again.

November 20th, 1862, tberegiment embarked on steamer for
Memphis, Tenn., In company with the whole division, under the
same commander. Arrived at latter place November 27th.

Kemalned there until December 20th. The division was re-
organized and reported for duty to Major General Sherman.
Embarked at Memphis on the 30th of December, and proceeded
down the river wftn Sherman's army for the capture of Vlets-
burg. Disembarked In the Yazoo river near Chickasaw Bayou
on tne 27th. The Seventy-seventh occupied the extreme right
of the line and participated in the attack on the rebel woncs.
After four days' fighting, the attack was abandoned, and the
army embarked on their boats and proceeded to Mllllken's
Bend, La.

At this place Major Gen. McClernand arrived and assumed
command of the army. He organized it into two corps— the
Thirteenth and Fifteenth. The Seventy-seventh was assigned
to the Tenth Division, Thirteenth Army Corps. Division com-
manded by Gen. A. J. Smith, and Corps by General McCler-
nand.

Left Milliken's Bend January 5th. 1863, and arrived at Ar-
kansas Post on the 10th. Immediately disembarked, and onthe
following morning participated in the assault. After a few
hours' hard fighting, carried the place by assault, capturing all
It contained. The loss of the regiment here was six killed and
thirty- nine wounded - some of the latter mortal. The regiment
In this battle behaved admirably, and was complimented by the
commanding General for Its ganant conduct.

January 14th, again embarked and proceeded to Young's
Point, La. Arrived there on tlie 22d and went Into camp, re-
maining until the 9th of March, engaged in the digging on the
canal across the point opposite Vicksburg. In March clianged
camp to Milliken^s Bend.

in the first part of April the Thirteenth Corps marched from
Mllllken's Bend for Grand Gulf. The Seventy-seventh broke
camp and moved forward about the middle or April. Crossed
the river below Grand Gulf on the lastday of Aprifand marched
all night, arriving at Port Gibson early on the morning of the
1st 01 May, and participated in the engagement there during
the entire day. Tne regiment remained with General Grant^
army during the entire campaign around Vicksburg and the
siege of the latter place, until its surrender.

The regiment was engaged in the actions at Champion Hills.
May 17th; Black river bridge, May 19th; first charge on Vicks-
burg, May 33 and 33, losing in these engagements twenty
killed, eighty-six wounded and twenty-six missing.

Vicksburg surrendered on the 4th of July and the next day
the regiment marched for Jackson with the army under Sher-
man. Arrived there July 9th and was under the fire of the
enemy at thatplace until the 16th, when Jackson was evacuated
and the Seventy-seventh returned to Vicksburg. Remained in
camp at Vicksburg until August 35th, then embarked for New
Orleans, where it remained In camp until October 3d, left New
Orleans at that time for Western Louisiana, Marched up Bayou
Teche through Franklin to New Iberia, Louisiana. Camped there
until December 6. 1863. when marched back to New Orleans.
Left New Orleans on the 17th of December, on steamer, and
disembarked at Paso Cavalo, Texas on the 30th of December,
Remained in camp until the last of February, then embarked on
vessels and were transported to Berwick Bay, Louisiana. From
thence marched through to Alexandria, Louisiana, with the
army under General Banks bound for Shreveport. From Alex-
andria marched up Red river, ariving the enemy until Sabine
Cross Roads was reached on the 8th of April, 1864, where it met
the enemy in force and was immediately engaged.

The Seventy-seventh belonged to the division under com-
mand of General Ransom, which division was first ordered for-
ward to support the advance cavalry. Before the army could be
brought forward to thtir support, the whole rebel army came
down on them and overwhelmed the whole division. In this
engagement the Seventy-seventh suffered terribly. Lieutenant-
Colonel Webb was killed instantly by a musket ball through the
brain, and one hundred and seventy-six ofBcers and men were
killed, wounded and made prisoners, leaving only about one
hundred and twenty-five men in the regiment for duty.

On the next day General A. J. Smith's corps came up and at
Pleasant Hill another battle was fought ending In the complete
defeat of the rebels. The regiment remained with General
Banks throughout his retreat down Red river and until he
reached the Mississippi. Here it was ordered into camp at Ba-
ton Rouge until the first part of August. At that time, with five
or six other regiments, It embarked and was transported to
Dauphlne's Island under the command of General Gordon
Granger. Here assisted In the reduction of Forts Gaines and
Morgan, and then returned to Morganzie Bend on the Missis-
sippi. In October, regiment ordered to New Orleans for pro-

vost duty, and remained there until the first part of March,
1865, when It was assigned to the first brigade, ftiird division,
thirteenth army corps and transported to Mobile Point, where
it Joined General Canby's army for the capture of Mobile.
General Granger collected his thirteenth corps at this point and
during the month of March moved up the peninsula towards
Spanish Fort. The regiment was with General Canby's army
during the entire siege and capture of Spanish Fort, Blakely
and Mobile, and was under Are during the entire time.

The day following their entry into Mobile, the third division
in which the Seventy-seventh served, marched out of the city
and proceeded up the Tombighee river in search of General
Dick Taylor's army. It proceeded up the river about sixty
miles when it was recalled to Mobile— the rebel forces through-
out the country having surrendered.

Remained in camp in Mobile until July 10, 1865, at which
timelt was mustered out of service and ordered to Springfield,
Illinois, for final payment and discharge, where it arrived July
23, 1865.

The Seventy-seventh Illinois during its term of service was
engaged In sixteen battles and sieges, and in every one of them
carried Itself with honor and credit to the State.

Colonels.
Charles Ballance, com. Aug. 18. '63. res.
David P. Grier. com. Sept. 13, '62, trans, as consol.

IJieutenant Colonel.
Lysander R. Webb, com. Sept. 3, '62 kid. in battle April 8, '64.

Major.
Memoir V. Hotchkiss, com. Sept. 3, '62, res. Feb. 2, '64.

Adjutant.
John Hough, com. Sept. 6, '63, pro. by President A. A. G. on staff

of Gen. A. J. Smith.
Quartermaster.

David McKInney, com. Sept, 13, '62. trans, as consol.

Chaplain.
William G. Pierce, com. Sept. 2, '63.

Sergreant Major.
Hotchkiss Walter B. e. Aug. 13, '63, disd. Sept. 22, '64, disab.

Q. M. Sergreant.
Cone Geo. W. e. Aug. 14, '64, pro. 2d Lieut, co. I.

Commissary Sergeants.
Wakefield Nathan R, e. Aug. 9, '64, trans, to co. C Dec. 21, '64.

Bennett William H. e. Aug. 13, '64, m.o. July 10, '65.

Principal Musicians.
Allen Daniel B. e. Aug. 13, '64, disd. March 15, '65, dlsab.
Carroll John W. e. Aug. 7, '64, m.o. July 10, '65.

Wiley Lemon H. e. Aug. 15, '64. m.o. July 10, '65.

COMPANY A.

Sergreants

.

Hotchkiss Walter B. e. Aug. 13, '63, pro. sergt. maj.
Campbell John F. e. Aug. 7, '62, kid. at Vicksburg May 23. '63.

Corporals,
Rugg Arthur H. e. Aug. 12, '62, disd. Dec. 18, '63, as sergt.
Putnam W. D. e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Dec. 17, '63, for pro. U.S.

Privateij.
Abraham Andrew J. e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Tyler, Tex. Dec. 14

'64, while prisoner of war.
Ash Francis W. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Develbliss James H. e. Aug. 14, '63, m.o. July 10, '65.

Develbllss Samuel S. e. Aug. 7, '62, kid. at Mansfield, La. April
8, '64.

Edwards Ulysses, e. Aug. 13, '63, died at Memphis, Sept. 3. '63.

Fry Benjamin, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. May 18, '65.

Holler Conrad, e. Aug. 14, '62. m.o. June 17, '65.

Hurd Charles T. e. Aug. 15, '63, trans. Signal Corps, Oct. 1, '63.

Kroeson Cyrus A. e. Aug. 12, '62, trans, to V.R.C. July 7, '64.

Kroeson Washington, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. June 17, '6o.
Moss J. R. e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. May 15, '63, disab.
Russell Luther G. e. Aug. 12, '63. m.o. June 17, '65. as corpl.
Summers Fred. e. Aug. 11, '62, disd, Aug. 11, '64, disab.
Stone Lester T. e. Aug. 15. '63, trans. Signal Corps. Oct. 1, '63.

Sturgeon William, e. Aug. 15, '63, disd. June 15. ^63. disab.
Trench Daniel B. e. Aug. 11, '62, died Jan. 12. '63. wounds," ' " • g. 14, '62,,m.6. July 10, '65,_as corpl.

....^«.. ^wx^xj, »., «.«6. ^, u«. -^.«. ««..^ *., «u.-s' sergt.
Wilson John R. e. Aug. 15, '62. disd. Sept. 10, '63. wounds.
Wilson Samuel R. e. Aug. 15, '63, dlsa. May 12, '64, to accept

promotion in colored troops.

Recruits.
Babcock William H. e. Dec. 30. '63, disd. May 23, '64, dlsab.
Crow Henry, e. Jan. 7, '64, trans, to 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Cutler Daniel B. e. Dec. 26, '63, trans, to 130th III. Inf. as revd.
Cutler James H. e. Dec. 26, '63. trans, to 130th III. Inf. as revd.
Crawford James, e. Dec. 30, '63, disd. July 26. '64. disab.
Cook Darius J. e. Feb. 13, '65, trans, to 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Downard Ben]. F. e, J^p. 4, '64, trans, to ISOtb 111. Inf. as revd.
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t Robert, e. Aug. 14, '62, killed at Vlcksburg May 82. '63
t William N. e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65, as corn.
nmes, jr. e Aug. 12, '62. m. o. July 10, '65.

Knnert Joseph, e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to 130th 111. Int. asrevd.
Lockbaum Andrew J. e. Not. 23, '64, trans, to 180th 111. Inf. as

revd.
Lynch Thomas, e. Jan. B, '64, trans, to 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Martin John. e. Dec. 29, '63. trans, to 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Smith James, e. Jan. 5, '64, trans, to 130 111. Inf. as revived.
Sntton George W. e. Jan. 11, '64.

COMPANY B.

Captain.
Joe K. Stevison, com. Jan. 16, '63. m. o. Jan. 13, '65.

liieutenants.
First, Charles C. Tracy, com. Jan. 16, '63, m. o. at consol.
Second, Joe K Stevison, com. Jan. 16, '63, promoted.

Privates,
Blakeslee William W. e. Aug. 9, '62. m. o. July 10, '66.
Fisher Ellas, e. Aug, 13, '62, disoh. Feb. 18, '63.
Stevenson Joe. H. e. Aug. 5, '62, pro. to quartermaster ser.
Tracy Charles C. e. Aug. 6, '62, pro. to first lleut.

Recruits.
McFarland Henry S. e. , died at Young's Pt. Mar. 4, '63.
Murden Alonzo F. e. Mar. 14, '65, trans, to 130 111. Inf. as rev.

COMPANY C.

liientenaiits.
First, Wm. A. WoodrulT, com. Sept. 2, '62, resigned Mar. 17, '63.

Sergreants.
Horubacker John S. e. Aug. 9, '62, dlsch. Ang. 28, '63, wnds.

Corporals.
Shepherd Albert, e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. July 10, '6E.
Sewell Johu, e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. July 10, '65, com. 2a lieut. but

not m.
Patton Thomas S. e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. July 10, '66.

"Wagoner.
Moses Charles, e. Aug. 14, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.

PrivateB.
Bennett Robert, e. Aug. 14.
Bennett Willi— ^^ -'._-•

Crow James,
Dunbar John, e. Aug. 11, '62, disch. Jan."l6,' '64, wounds.
Duff Dennis, e. Aug. 9. '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Hall Edward, e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Memphis Dec. 23. '62.
LInrlsay James A. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Mccracken James R. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
McCartney Philip H. e. Aug. 9, '63, dlsd. Feb. 20, '63, disab.
Pitcher Benjamin, e. Aug. 19, '62, disd. April 3. '63, disab.
Plnkerton Jolin A. e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Pinkerton William M. e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. July 10. '65.
Wallace Edward, e. Aug. 1], '68, died Jan. 26, '63.
Wiley John P. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65, as 1st. sergt. com.

as capt. but not mustered.
Woodburn Geo. M. e. Aug. 81, '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

COMPANY D.

Privates.
Hake Frederick W. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 15, '65.
Stockton David B. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Recruit.
Barney Tompkin C. e. Nov. 16, '63, trans. 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.

COMPANY E.

Captain.
Edwin Stevens, com. Sept. 3, 62, trans, as consol.

Lieutenants.
First, Samuel J. Smith, com. Sept. 2, '62, trans, as consol.
Second, James H. Sohnebly, com. Sept. 2, '62, dlsd. March, 28, '63.
•Second, Henry L. Bushnell, com. March 28, '63, trans, as consol.

Sergeants.
First, Dawson William, e. Aug. 5, '62, died at Memphis Dec. 21,

'62.

Stiles George B. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. April 10, '63. disab.
Brooks William J. e. Aug. 9, '62, died at Quincy. Ills. Jan. 8, '64.
Slough Henry E. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Parr James, e. Aug. 9,^62, m.o. July 10, '65, com. as 2d Lieut.
buc not mustered.

Corporals.
Bushnell Henry L. e. Aug. 9, '65, pro. 1st sergt. then 2d Lieut.
Richardson Erasmus D. e. Aug. 14, '62, disa. Sept. 4, '63, as pri.

disab.
Morris Wilson G. e. Aug. 5, '62, desrtd. Sept. 19. '62.

Robins Benjamin F. e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Savannah, 6a. pris.
of war.

Hakes Ellis, e. Aug. 7. '62, disd. Jan. 8, '63, disab.
Dunlap Andrew J. e. Aug. 4, '62, died at Jefferson bks. Feb. 28,

'63.

McKee Davis R. e. July 22, '62, died May 21, '62 of wounds.
Paff Henry, e, Aug. 14, '62, committed suicide July 11, '63.

Musicians.
Allen Daniel B. e. Aug. 12, '62, pro. to principal musician.
Carroll John W. e. Aug. 7, '62, pro. to musician.

Wagoner.
Renoh Louis Z. o. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

Privates.
Adams Henry, e. Aug. 12, '62, dlsd. April 5, '63, disab.

Adams Joseph, e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.,,
Brooks Henry M. e. Aug. 8, '62. m.o. July 10, '65.„
Bunting Samuel G. e. Aug. 12, '62, died Jan. 7,,'63.

Buterick Johu, e. Aug. 12, '82, m.o. July 10, '66.

Berrings James, e. Aug. 15, '62. m.o. July 10. '66.

Bowers Simeon P. e. Aug. 4, '62 m.o. July 10, '65.

Cord George F. e. , m.o. July 10, '65 as sergt
Carter Charles W. e. Aug. 9, '62, trans, to co. F Oct. 1, '62.

Collins Johu, e. Aug. 15, '61, died at Milllken's Bend, La. May

Cook faani'el, e. Aug. 14, '62, died Memphis Jan. '63, , ,„„
Chamblln, French, e. Aug. 12, '62. trans, to co. F Oct. 1, '62.

Cord Lorenzo W. e. Ang. —, died May 25. '63 of wounds.
Clark Franklin E. e. Aug. 16. '62. dlsd. March 3, '63 disab.

Dawson Isaac S. e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Dawson Joseph N. e. Aug. 4, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Dailey John, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. July 10, '65. ^, ^ , , „„
Evans John, e. Aug. 15, '68, died at Memphis March 15, '63.

Enslon Frank W. e. Ang. 9. '62, died Jan. 8. '63.

Forbes Thomas, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

French John S. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Fisher Silas W. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65 as corpl.

Fulton Joseph, e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Gutting Freaeriok, e. Aug. 16. '62, m.o. June 17, '66.

Goodman Philip, e. Aug. 14, '62. dlsd. Feb. '63 disab.
Hoffman Gustavus, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Hamerbaoker John S. e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Hutchinson James, e. Aug. 6, '62, disd. June. '63 disab.
James Granville, e. Aug. 83, '68, dlsd. May 30, '65 disab.
Kinder Alexander, e. Aug.9, '62. died at Mobile, Ala. Mar.11,'63.
Letterman Joseph, e. Aug. 13. '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Loughman John B. e. Aug. 8. '68, disd. Oct. 19,'64 as sergt. disab.
McSlravic James, e. Aug. 13. '62, died Dec. 19, 63.
McGee William H. e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

McGee Ashford H. e. Aug. 9. '62, m.o. July 10, '65 as sergt.

Mankle Joseph, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Mills Joseph T. e. Aug, 11, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

McDermott Frances M. e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Mclntyre John H. e. Ang. 11. '62, kid. at Ark Post Jan. 11. '63.

Nixon Thomas J. e. Ang. 7, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Nash Le Roy, e. Aug. 6, '62, disd. Jan. 29, '63, disab.
Parr Harris, e. Aug. 14, '62, kid. at Vlcksburg May 19, '63.

Pierce Charles, e. Aug. 9, '68, trans, to co. F oot. 1, '62.

Perry Samuel, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Rathburn Samuel A. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Reeves Asa B. e. Aug. 12. '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

Ratclifl Richard W. e. Aug. 13, '62. m.o. July 10, '65.

Ruse Solomon, e. Aug. 11, '62. desrtd. July 12, '64.

Randle Thomas J. e. Aug. 14. '62, disd. Jan. 16, '63, disab.
RoRers David, e. Aug. 13, '62, dlsd. for disab.
Smith Otis B. e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Smith John W, e. Aug. 6, '62, died June 19, '63, wounds.
Smith Joseph A. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. May 30, '65.

Stevenson Cosmer A. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Sumners Robert W. e. Aug. 9, 62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Sweet James M. e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Sutton Albert, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Shipler Smith E. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Thurston Cheney W. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Vinson Daniel R. e. Aug. 7. '68, trans. V. R. C.
Wood John W. e. Aug. 9, '62, dlsd. Oct. 1, '63, disab.

Privates.
White Thomas, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. Jan. 1, '64.

White Leonard T. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 17, '65, as sergt.
Wiggins David T. e. Aug. 15, '62, died Louisville, Ky. Nov. 1,'62.

Watson James, e. Aug. 21, '62, dlsd. Jan. 28, '63, disab.

Recruits.
Bahcock James W. e. Feb. 24, 64, trans. 130th 111. inf. as revd.
Donaldson Wm. e. Feb. 23, '65, trans. 130th III. inf. as revd.
Houghtallng Jas. e. Feb. 23, '65. trans. 130th III. Inf. as revd.
Hayes Wm. H. e. trans. 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Jenkins Newton, e. Feb. 23. '66, trans. 130th 111. Inf. as revd.
Sargent Henry, e. Feb. 24, '65. trans. 130th 111. inf. as revd.

COMPANY JF.

Captain.
William W. Crandall, com. Sept. 2, '62, hon. dlsd. May 17, '64.

Sergeants.
Woodcock Oliver F. e. Ang. 22, '62, dlsd. May 12, '64. .
Conklln Bndress M. e. Aug. 22, '62, dlsd. July 29, '64. disab.

Corporals.
Hamrick Lewis, e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. June 17, '65, as sergt.
Sluth James, e. Aug. 22, '62, desrtd. Jan. 18, '63.

Musician.
Graham Mitchell, o. Aug. 22, '62, dlsd. July 1, '64.

Privates.
Bolander Frederick, e. Aug. 22, '62, died at Ark Post Jan. 13, '63
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Bnckman Joseph, e. Ang. 22, '82, m.o. June 17, '65.

Brown Chlster, e. Aug. 22, '62, dlsd. Sept. 80. '62. minor.
Bush John O. e. Aug.% '62. trans, to co. B Oct, 1, '62.

Beach Hugh F. e. Aug. 15, '62, dlsd. March 12, '64.
Crosson Jesse, e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. June 17, '66.

Cook John, e. Aug. 22, '62, trans, to co. E Oct. 1, '62.

Carrlgan Michael, e. Aug. 15. '62, desrtd. Oct. 10, '62.

Doran John, e. Aug. 10, '62, desrtd. Oct. 10, '62.

Ewlng Thomas J. e. Aug. 22, '62, ulsd. April 6. '63, disab.
McUuIler A. e. Aug. 22, '62, desrtd. Sept. 20, '62.

Mitchell Allen T. e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Norman George, e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Stone Jonah, e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
• Shlpler Peter W. e. Aug. 22, '62, trans, to co. E Oct. 1, '62

,

Stone MontervUle, e. Aug. 22, '68, m.o. July 10, '65.

Walters Henry, e. Aug. 22, '62, died at Memphis Jan. 6, '63.

Wright William M. e. Aug. 9, '68, trans. toco.H Oct. 1, '62.

White Henry, e, Aug. 22, '62, dlsd. Feb. 1, '63.

Wiley William, e. Aug. 5. '62, trans, to co. C Oct. 1, '62.

COMPANY G.

Captain.
John D. Bouse, com. Sept. 2, '72, trans, as consol.

liieutenants.
First. Chas. Island, com. Sept. 2, '62, res. March 19, '63.
First, Uenry J. Wyman. com. March 1, '63, trans, as consi^.
Second, Hiram M. Barney, com. March 28. '63, res. Sept. 23, '64.

Serseants.
First. Barney Hiram, e. July 22, '62, pro. to 2d Lieut.
Loynbee John, e. Aug. 5, '62, dlsd. at Qulncy, 111. '64.
Wyman Henry, e. Aug. 5, '62, pro. 1st Lieut.
Burt Edward, e. Aug.^, '62, dlsd. Feb. 21, '63, disab.
Miller William W. e. Aug. 14, '62, 1st sergt. kid. at Sabine Cross

Koads, La. April 8. '64.

Corporals.
Huey William a. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, '65, as sergt.
Smart Hugh, e. Aug. 7, '62, died at St. Louis Feb. 20, '63,

wounds.
Nightingale Joseph S. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. March SI, '65.
Martlndale Timothy, e. Aug. 5, '62, died at E. Pembroke, N. Y.

Aug. 31, '63.
Cook Stephen J. e. Aug. 5. '68, m.o. June 17, '65.
Curran John and Jas. B. e. Aug. 8, '62, dlsd. Feb. '63.
Beckett Thomas W. e. Aug. 7, "62, sergt. died Feb. 28, '65.
Petres Hltz Boney, e. Aug. 13, '62, kid. at Ticksburg May

22. 63.
Musicians.

Andrews Wesley B. e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. July 10. '65.
Robert Cooper, e. Aug. 21, '62, died at St. Louis Feb. 26, '63.

Privates.
Aten Adrian K. e. Aug. 13, '63, m.o. July 10, '65, as sergt.
Aldrlch Uelos, e. Aug. 18, '62, died Aug. 22, '63, accidental

wounds.
Bailey Jacob, e. Aug. 6, '62, kid. at Vlcksburg May 22, '63.
Belford Franklin, e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. July 10, '85, as oorpl.
Beck Daniel, e. Aug. 11, '82, m.o. June 17, '65.
Burt Moses, e. Aug. 13, '82, m.o. July 10, '65, as sergt. com. to

Capt. but not mustered.
Barnes Henry, e. Aug. 13. '62, died at home.
Burnell Eleazer, e. Aug. l4, 62, kid. at Ark. Post June 11, '63.
Brassfleld Henry C. e. Aug. 15, '62, kid. at Vlcksburg May

22, '83.
Baronett David, e. Aug. 18, '62, m,o. Julv 10, '65.
Baronett William, e. Aug. 80, *62, dlsd. Feb. 23, '83, disab.
Curran William, e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Campbell David O. e. Aug. 15, '62, died athome Oct. 3, '62.
Campbell Charles L. e. Aug. 8. '62, dlsd. Sept. '62, disab.
Campbell Samuel W. e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Some Oct. 2, '62.
Camp Joseph J. e. Aug. 8, '62, dlsd. March 8, '63, disab.
Oady Henry F. e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Jan. 12, '63.

Com Charles W. e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Young's Pt. La, March
8, '68.

DarbyJEussell, e. Aug. 8, '68, m.o. July 10, '65.
Doty Hiram B. e. Aug. 13, '62, dlsd. Jan. 81, '63.
Davidson John, e. Aug. 15, '62 died at St. Louis Deo. 26, '62.
Dustin Austin M. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Dimmick Francis O. e. Aug. 22, '82, kid. at Sabine Cross ftoads

April 8, '64.

Baton William, e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Young's Pt. La. Feb.
4, '83.

Fisher Moses, e. Aug. 7, '82, dlsd April 5. 65. disab.
demming James, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Flower Fayette, e. Aug. 14, '82, desrtd. Nov. 8, '62.

Gilbert Brastus, e. Aug. 11, '62, dlsd. for wds received at Vlcks-
burg.

GUlins James, e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Keokuk. Iowa.
Hanna William H. e. Aug. 18, '62, dlsd. June 29, '63.
•Hart David, e. Aug. 12, '82, died May 22, '83, wds.
Hackenuurg Jacob, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. June 5, '65.

Hatsell Thomas, e. Aug. 18, '82, m.o. July 10, '65.
Jones Bomeo W. e. Aug. 8, '62, desrtd. June 29, '63.

Johnson Frederick B. e. Aug. 12, '82, died at Memphis Feb.
19, '63.

Lawson William, e. Aug. 5, '62. m.o, July 10, '85.

Lambertson Wm. M. e. Aug. 12, '68, died at Louisville Dec.
2, '62.

Laughlin Heslip W. e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. in face of the enemy.
Mendall John A. e. Aug. 8. '62, died at Keokuk, Iowa, Jan.

81, '64.

Moore Henry P. e. Aug. 11, '62, trans, to 2d 111. cav. Feb. '66.

MoComb Winiam, e. Aug. 10, '62, m.o. July 10, '85.

Onslott William, e. Aug. 19. '62, dlsd. Dec. 21, '63, wds.
Purcell Jesse J. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Roblsou Gaylord, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Rogers Joseph, e. Aug. 15, '62. dlsd. Dec. 12, '68, disab.
Swan John, o. Aug. 5, '62 died at St. Louis.
Shinmell Daniel W. e. Aug. 12, '62. m.o. June 17, '65.

Shull Joseph, e. Aug. 12. '82, m.o. July 10, '65.

ShulUTohn, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Shade Daniel, e. Aug. 12, '62, died at Milllken's Bend, La. May
12, '63.

Slooum Joseph W. e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. July 10, '85.

Stanton Franklin, e. Aug. 13. '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Smith Francis, e. Aug. Hi, '68. dropped as desrtd. Dec. 18, '63.

Stockwell Cyrus H. e. Aug. 15, '68, died at New Orleans, June,
'64, wds.

Tanner Josenh, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. July 10, '85, as corpl.

Ward John M. e. Aug. 5, '62, desrtd. Oct, 27, '63.

Wilson Washington, e. Aug. 12, '62, dlsd. April 7, '63, disab.

Recruits.
Bolen Michael, e. Feb. 20, '84, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revived.

Olough Casslus M. e. Jan. 27. '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as
rGvlvscl

Olough Caleb G. e. Jan. 27, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revived
Griswold Francis W. m.o. July 10, '65, as corpl.

Hunter Benjamin G. e. Nov. 5, '63, died Baton Eonge, June, '64.

Hunter Joseph, e. Nov. 11, '63. died at home, Dec. 27. '64.

Huffman George W. e, Jan. 87, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as

Williams Benjamin F. e. Jan. 18, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as

revived.
COMPANY H.

Recruit.
Knickerbocker Jos. H. e. Jan. 85, '64, m.o. May 25, '85.

COMPANY I.

Captain.
Wayne O'Donald, com. Sept. 2, '82, m.o. at consolidation.

Lieutenants.
First. Silas W. Wagoner, com. Sept. 2, '62, res. March 17, '68.

First. John H. Bno, com, March 17, '63, res. June 82, '83.

First, Geo. W. Cone, com. June 22, '63, not mustered, hon. dlsd.

as second lieutenant, Nov. 80, '63.

Second, John H. Eno, com. Sept. 2, '82, pro.
Second. Geo. W. Cone, com. March 17, '63, pro.

SergeaDts.
Eno Imlo L. e. Aug. 14, '68, dlsd. March 18., 83, disab.
Cone George W. e. Aug. 14, '62, pro. to Q.M. sergt.
Lucas George L. e. Aug. 14. '68, died Cape Girardeau, June 25,

'66.

Brlggs Bobert J. e. Aug. 14, '82, m.o. July 10, '62, com. Capt. but
not mustered.

Corporals.
Bartholomew Edwd. F. e. Aug. -14, '62, dlsd. Feb. 1, '63, disab.
Atherton Rufus, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Plowman Ell H. e. Aug. 14, '63, m.o. June 17, '65.

Lee Joseph M. e. Aug. 14, '82, m.o. July 10, '65, as private.
Rose John J. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. Dec. 24, '62, disab.
Willis John, e. Aug. 14, '62, absent, sick at m.o. of Regt.
McMuUen John, e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. July 10, '65.

Reed Alfred B. e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. July 10, '85.

Musicians.
Baker Jasper S. e. Ang. 14, '68, dlsd. Jan. 11, '63, disab.
Snyder Jacob H. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

Wagoner.
Elsworth Alonzo G. e. Aug. 14. '68, dlsd. Feb. 21, '65, disab.

Privates.
Aten Austin C. e. Aug, 18, '62, m.o. July 10, '65, as corpl. com-

as second lieutenant, tout not mustered.
Bevans Lewis J. Aug. 22. '68, m.o. July 10, '85.

Beeny Frederick, e. Aug. 24, '62, dlsd. May 15, '63. disab.

Bentley William H. e. Aug. 14, '68, corpl. com. in IT. S. C. T.
Brown Isaac, e. Aug. 16, '62, m.o. June 17, '85.

Biggs John T. e. Aug. 14, '82, m.o. June 6, '65.

Clark John H. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. March 87, '63, disab.
Cook Asa A. e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. June 17. '65.

Cadwell James D. e. Aug, 16. '62, m.o. July 10. 185.

Cowley Richard, e. Aug. 22, '62, m.o. June 17, '65.

Darnell George, e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Peoria, Ills. Sept. 28, '62.

Frisbie Enos, e. Aug. 15, '62. died Milllken's Bend, May 2, '63.

Fisher Jacob, e. Aug. 14, '62, died at Memphis, Dec. 20, '63.

Fox Joel J. e. Aug. 14, '62. dlsd. Feb. 4, '63, disab.
Fox Hiram B. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. Jan. 1, '64, disab.
Furguson William H. e. Aug. 14, '68. absent, sick at m.o. Regt.
Glbbs Ichabod O. e. Aug. 14. '62, dlsd. Oct. 89, '62, disab.
Hand Lemuel, o. Aug. 15, '62. m.o. July 10, '65.

Hyne John, e. Aug. 15, '62, kid. at Vlcksburg, May 22, '63.

Humphrey Eli, c. Aug, 14, '62. kid. Mlllken's Bend, April 27, '63.

Huffman Josepli. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. July 25. '63, disah.
HIgbee Homer H e. Aug. 14, '62 m.o. July 10, '65.

Hand Burner, e. Aug. 14, '62, died June 18, '63.

Horner Benedict M. S. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

Jacobs Thomas F, e. Aug. 14. '62, dropped as deserter Sept.3,'64
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Jones Butler K. e. Aug. 14, '62, died Memphis, March 4. '63.
Jarman Theodore P. e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. Jan. 18, '63. dlsab.
Moore James C. e. Aug. 14, '62, died Young'a Pt. La. Feb. 1B,'63McCann George W. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10. '65.
Macey Mlcaiah C. e. Aug. 14, '82, disd. Jan. 7, '63, dlsab.
Murphy Richard, e. Aug. 21, '62, desrtd. Sept. 14, '62.
Nunn Milton, e. Aug. 21, '62, dlsd. March 1, '68, dlsab.
Poe John W. e. Aug. 15, ' 62. dlsd. Jan. 20, '63, dlsab.
Pense Garrett D. e. Aug. 14. '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Richardson William H; e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Kock ngfield Scout H. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
RoclilngSeld Cleves S. e. Aug. 15, '62. m.o. July 10, '65.
Redfleld Frank A. e. Aug 16, '62, m.o. July 10, '65,
Randall John A. e. Aug. IB, '62, died at Milliken's Bend, La. May
Smith' Lyman H. e. Aug. 14. '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Smith George S. e. Aug. 14, '62. dlsd. Feb. 21, '63, dlsab.
Smith Myron 0. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.
Scanlan Robert, e. Aug. 22, '62, dlsd. Feb. 6, '63, dlsab.
Talen William, e. Aug. 15, '62, died Memphis, T. Jan. 15, '63,
Widner John 0. 6. Aug. 14, '61, desrtd. Oct. 29. '62.
Warne William H. e. Aug. 15. '62, dlod. Oct. 80, '63, dlsab.
Wiley Leman H. e. Aug. 15, '62, pro. principal musician.
Wasson Jacob D. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Recruits.
Blgelow Edward E. e. Dec. 30, '68, trans. 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Cone William D. e. June 4. '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Jacobs William W. e. —, m.o. July 10, '65.
Murphy Daniel L. e. Dec. 23, '63, trans. 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Pratz William W. e.Feb. 29, '64, trans. 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Whitehead Wesley J. e. Jan. 25, '64, trans. 130th Ills. Inf.as revd.

COMPANY K.

Captain.
Ephralm B. Rynearson, com. Sept. 2. '62, resigned Oct. 21, '62.
William K.. White, com. Oct. 21, '62, m. o. at consol.

Liientenants.
First, William K. White, com. Sept. 2, '62, promoted.
First, Sylvester S. Edwards, com. Oct. 21, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Second, Sylvester S. Edwards, com. Sept. 2, '62, promoted.
Second, Marcus O. Harkness, com. Oct. 21, '62, transf. at consol.

Sergreants.
First, Harkness Marcus O. e. Aug. 13, '62. pro. sec. lleut.
Holt Survetus, e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. June I'iV '65.
yinger John. e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65, com. capt. but

not m.
Edwards George, e. Aug. 1, '62. m. o. July 10, '65 as private.
Brackett Harvey R. e. Aug. 9, '62, pro. died at Morgans L.

Oct. 4, '64.
o

. .

V B

Corporals.
White John, e. Aug. 8, '62. m. o. Mar. 19, '65.
Shroder Francis, e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Harper John M. e. Aug. 11. '62, dlscb. Mar, 23. '63, dlsab.
Aurl George W. e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65 as private.
Goulson Enlee E. e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. July 10, '65 as private.
Vleet Andrew J. e. Aug. 8. '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Green Oswell B. e. Aug. 14, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Holt Richard M. e. Aug. 9, '62, sergt. died at Peoria, Oct. 5, '64.

Musicians.
Slane Daniel, e. Aug. 15, '62, disch. for disability.
Lines Charles B. e. Aug. 11, '62, deserted Oct. 28. '62.

Wag:oner.
Padget Clement S. e. Aug. 22, '62, dlsch. June 11, '68, disab.

Privates.
Beck William, e. Aug. 8. '62, died May 26, '68. wounds.
Brown Ell, e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65. '

Brown J. Henry, e. Aug. 18, '62, killed at Mansfield, La., Apr.
8, '64.

Brown Patrick, e. Aug. 7, '62, supposed to have deserted.
Behrens Harry, e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Millikins Bend, La. Apr.

8, '64.

Camp John, e. Aug. 8, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Cronan John, e. Aug. 9, '62, died July 8, '63, wounds.
Clayton William, e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Donnelly William, e. Aug. 22. '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Dnmhaueh Uriah, e. Aug. 9, '62, disch. June 30, '63, dlsab.
Enders John A. e. Aug. 8, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Frank Jacob, e. Aug. 16, '62, died.
Greeuhalch John, e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. June 17, '65

, prla. war.
Gilson Frederick, e. Aug. 9, '62. m. o. June 17, '65.
Greenough Roger, e. Aug. 9, '62, transf. V. R. C. June 16, '64.
Gurtern Auxillus, e. Aug. 12, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Haynes John, e. Aug. 11, '62, m. o. June 17, '65.
Harper William S. e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. May 27, '65.
Holt Richard M. e. Aug. 8, '62, dlsch. Feb. 16, '64, dlsab.
Harding Adam, e. Aug. 13, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Holt Thomas J. e. Aug. 8, '62, m. o. June 17, '65.
HolUngsworth Warner, e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Hoffman Peter, e. Aug. 11. '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
Ibick Ji'hn, e. Aug. 17, '62, m. o. June 17, '65.
Ibick LavM-ence, e. Aug, 11, '62 m. o. June 17, '65.
Klngslej Charles, e. Aug. 11. '62, m. o. July 10, '65.
King Joseph M. e. Aug, 16, '62, killed at Ark. Post, Jan. 11, '63.
Klngsley John, e. Aug. 7, '62, dlsch. Apr. 12. '64. dlsab.
Kirkmau Samuel, e. Aug, 13, '62, m. o, J uly lU, '63.

King Levi H. e. Aug. 9, '62, m. o. May 22, '6B.
King William W. e. Aug. 9. '62, m. o. May 81, '65.

Klngsley Alonzo. e. Aug. 7. '62. dlsch. Apr. 8. '68, dlsab.
Lafollett John, e. Aug. 9. '62. m.o. July 10, '65.

Lafollett Jacob, e. Aug. 11, '92, m.o. June 17, '65.

Landes George, e. Aug. 9, '62, dropped as desrt. Oct. 21, '63.

Largent Henry, e. Aug. 9. '62, m.o. July 10, 65.
Largent Madison, e.Aug. J5, '62, m.o. June 17. '6S.
Miller James, e. Aug. li; '62, aT)s.lTi-eon«nemen£,alm.o. Kegt.
Morris Richard, e. Aug. 12. '63, m.o. July 10, '65i
Moody James M. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 17, '65. prl». war.
Merltt John, e. Aug. 9, "62, died July 15, '63.

Meek Andrew J. e. Aug. 12, '62, dlsd. irfarch 26, '68, dlsab.
Mulvaney William, e. Aug. 8. '62, kid. at MarksvlUe, La., May

16, '64.

Nelson Peter, e. Aug. 15, '62, kid. at Ark Post Jan. 11, 63.
Parnham Charles, e. Aug. 13, '62, trans. V. R, C. Feb. 15, '64.

Perry Henry, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. July 10, 65.
Powell Samuel B. e. Aug. 13, '62, died at Oak Hill April 7, '64.

Potts Joseph, e. Aug. 11, '62, dlsd. March 14, '68, dlsab.
Prltchard John, e. Aug. 16, '62, m.o. July 10, 65.
Ryneanson Francis, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. July 6. '65.

Bench Lyman T. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Race William, e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 17, '65, prls. war.
Roberts John, e. Aug. 12, '62, desrt. Dec. 15, '62.

Sleeth Thomas, e. Aug. 19, '62, m.o. ,Iuly 10, '65.

Smith George W. e. Aug. IB, '62, disd. for dlsab.
Sherwood Samuel J. e. Aug. 8, '62. m.o. July 10. '65.

Shepard Ephralm R. e. Aug. 9, '62, died at St. Louis July 28,
'64.

Sharkey Samuel, e. Aug. 22, '62, kid. at Vlcksburg June 23, '63.

Shorden John, e. Aug. 8. '62, died at New Orleans Oct. 29, '64.

Shelbllng August, e. Aug. 15, '62. dlsd. March 26, '68 dlsab.
Throp William, e. Aug. 14, '62, dlsd. March 23, '63 disab.
Thompson Robert, e. Aug. 15. '62, disd. Sejjt. 14 'B8 dlsab.
Whale or White Ed P. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. JuneT',~'BB, prtsnntr.
Walker Austin, e. Aug. 13, 62, m.o. July 10, '65 as corpl., com.

as 1st Lieut, but not mustered.
Walker Perry S. e. Aug. 13, '62, died at Peoria Oct. 5, '64.

Wholstenhohm John, e. Aug. IB, '62, m.o. July 10, '65.

Yerby Joseph, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. Jan. 17, !65, pris. war.

Recruits.
Archdale George, e. Dec. 24, '63, tran. to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Caulson Henry, e. . —, m.o. July 10, '65.
Haines John, e. Jan. 5, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Hamilton John H. e. Dec. 3, '63, m.o. Jan. 8, '65.

Halstead Edward, e, —. —, m.o. June 17, '65, pr s. war.
Morris Henry S. . —, m.o. July 10, '65, as corpl. com. as 2d

Lieut, but not mustered.
Orr Isaac, e. Jan. 2B, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Parker Thomas, e. April 7, '64, died at Ft. Gaines, Ala. Sept. 4,

'64
Powell Lyman J. o. Jan. 20, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as

revd.
Rynearson Robert J. c. Dec. 3, '68, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as

revd.
Stevenson William, e. . —. dlsd. Nov. 1, '62 disab.
Somers Edwin R. e. Jan. 2, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Thurston George, e. Feb. 29, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf. as revd.
Wholstenhohn John D. e. April 5, '64, trans, to 130th Ills. Inf.

as revd.
Unas8ig:ned Recruits.

Wilson John, e. March 1, '65.

Atkins Richard, e. March 1. '65.
Bun Thomas, e. March 2, '65.
Bennett James, e. March 1, '65.
Brown William H. e. Feb. 26, '64.
Couners James, e. March 2, '65.
Flannigan Patrick, e. Sept. 9, '64.
Folz William, e.

Grunman Chauncey W.
HaleyJames, e. Feb. 28, '6B.
Hurbert John, e. Feb. 28, '6B.
Hayes John, e. March 2. '65.
Hayes William, e. Jan. 80, '65.
Kerr Silas, e. Feb. 24, '65.

Kelley Daniel, e. March 2, '65.
Kahllng Alfred, e. Feb. 27, '65.
Karmany Henry M.
Miller John,e. Feb. 28, '65.

McBIhenry Hugh F. e. March 14, '6B.
McGru John, e. Jan. 13, '64.
McManus Henry P. e. Feb. 29. '64.
Percival George H. e.

Pemble David B.
Sorner Andrew, e. Feb. 28, '6B.
Sowders William, e. Jan. 30, '6B.
Shurry John.
Stewart John G.
Sanford Louis.
Wardsworth Samuel, •

77tli Infantry (Consolidated).

Colonel.
David P. Grler, com. Sept. 12,

'6B, m.o. July 10, '68;
I, pro. brev. Brig, Gen. March

Major.
Edwin Stevens, com. July IB, '65, not mustered, m.o. as Capt,

July 10, '65.
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QnaTteTmaster.
DsTid McKlnne^, com. Sept. 12, '62, pro. A. Q. M.

COMPANY E.

Captain.
Kanln Stevens, com. Sept. 2, 'S2, pro. Major.

Lieutenant.
First, Samuel J. Smith, com. Sept. 2, '62, m.o. July 10, '66.

liieutenant.
Second, Henry L. Bushnell, com. March 28. '63, hon, disd. June

2, '65.

COMPANY G.

Captain.
John D. Bouse, com. Sept. 2, '62, trans, to 180th reg.

liieutenant.
First, Henry J. Wyman, com. March 1, '63, m.o.

COMPANY K.
liieutenant.

Second, Marcus O. Harkness, com. Oct. 21, '62, hon. disd. June
16, '65.

83d Infantry.
Assistant Surgeon.

First, Emll Brendll, com. Aug. 20, '62, res. May 21, '63.

COMPANY B.

Xiientenant.
First, Charles Lanzendorfer, com. March 12, '63, res. April 22.

68, pro. from 2d Lieut.

COMPANY D.

Captain.
Budolph Mueller, com. Oct. 7, '63, m.o. June 9, '65.

COMPANY E.

liieutenant.
First, Rudolph Mueller, com. Sept. 26, "62, pro. capt. co. D.

Corporals.
Zlmmermann John, e. Aug. 9. '63, desrtd. Nov. 7, '62.
Sohwabe Joseph, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. May 81, '65 wounds.
Winterer Sebastian, e. July 13, '62, desrtd. July 10, '63.

Privates.
Barth Jacob, e. Aug. 12, '62, dlsd. Feb. 15, '64.
Borkhauser Theodore, e. Aug. 9, '62, trans. luv. Corps, Jan. 15

•64.

Bevechle Anton, o. Aug. 11,
'65.

, kid. Goldsboro, N. C. March 25,

Denlng Henry, e. Aug. 13, '62, died Fair Bay, Na. Nov. 30. '62.
Dlefenbach John, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 9, '65, as corpl.
Gelger Joseph, e. Aug. 15. '62, desrtd. Sept. 28, '63.
Gelsser Johu, e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. June 9, '65, as musician.
Glngerlch Christian, e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. June 9, '65.
Goerges Peter, e. Aug. 9, '62, abs. wd. at m.o. of regt.
Kessier Francis J. e. Aug. 9, '62, trans. Inv. CorpsrJuly 3. '63.
Leuke Ferdinand, e. Aug. 8, '62, abs. sick at m.o. of reet.
May Christian, e. Aug, IB, '62, dlsd. Sept. 8, '63, wounds.
Moorsberger —, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 9, '65, as corpl.
Munlghoff Theodore, e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. June 9, '65, as corpl.
Navy^lcholas, e. Aug. 15, '62, died Whiteside. Tenn. May 1. '64.
Nagele Charles, e. Aug. 13, '62. dlsd. Oct. 31, '64, dlsab.
Odenwalder John, e. Aug. 13. '62, dlsd. April 1, '64, disab.
Pauly Frederick, e. Aug. 9, '62, kid. at OhauoellorvlUe, Va. May

2, '63.

BIttballer Michael, e. July 24, '62. m.o. June 9, '65.
Schellkoph Joseph, e. Aug. 9. '62, kid. at ChancellorvlUe, Va.

May 2. '63.

Schoner William, e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Brooks Sta. Va. June
4, '63, wounds.

Sellker Adolf, e. Aug. 14. '62, dlsd. July 28, '64, dlsab.
Slmmenmacher Adam. e. Aug. 6/62, dlsd. June 9. '63, dlsab.
Stawltzky Thomas, e. Aug. 4.^62, abs. wd. at m.o. of regt.
Walker Conrad, e. Aug. 4, '62, dlsd. June 12, '68, dlsab.
Wall Nicholas, e. Aug. 4, '62, kid. at Peach Tree Creek. Ga. July

20, '64.

Wetschell John, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. July 4, '63.
Zimmerman Andrew, e. Aug. 15, '62, trans, to V.B.C. April 24,

'fifi.'65.

COMPANY G.

Musician.
Werth Theodore, o. Aug. 2, '62, trans, to oo. K Oct. 24,

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Knauff George F. e. Aug. 7, '62, trans, to co. E Nov. 2,

'

COMPANY K.
Privates.

Blank Victor, e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. June 9, '65.

Blscholt Ferdinand, e. July 28, '62, dlsd. March 27, '68, dlsab.
Kuhn Frederick, e. Aug. 13, '62, desrtd. Oct, 25, '62.

Kohler Morand, e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. June 9, '66.

83d Infantry.

COMPANY I.

Recruit.
Brown James W. e. March 22, '65, trans, to co. I 61st 111. Inf.

lJnas8ig:ned Recruit.
Hlgglns Patrick, e. Feb. 6, '65, rejected by Board.

85th Infantry.

HISTORY.
The 85th Illinois Infantry Volunteers was organized at Peo-

ria, 111., In August, 1862, by Col. Koberi S. Moore, and mustered
Into service August 27, 1862.

Ordered to toulsvlile, Ky., September 6, 1862, and assigned
to '36th brigade, 11th division, ad army corps, Col. D. McCook
commanding brigade, Brie. Gen. P. H. Sheridan commanding
division and Major Gen. Gilbert commanding corps.

The 85th marchedm pursuit of the enemy under General
Bragg October 1, 1862. and was engaged In the battle of Cham-
pion Hills at Perryvllle, Ky., October 8th, and moved with the
army to Nashville, Tenn., arriving November 7, 1862.

Beglment mustered out June 5. 1866, at Washington, D.
C, and arrived at Camp Butler, 111., June 11, 1885, where
they received final payment and discharge.

COMPANY A.

Private.
Harrison William C. e. Aug. 10, '63, trans. Inv. corps Nov. 12,'68.

COMPANY C.

Recruit.
Dunn Joseph, e. Sept. 1,'62. kid. at Buzzard's Boost Gap.Ga. Feb.

25, '64.

COMPANY P.

Corporals.
O'Brien John, e. June 16, '62. m. o. June 5, '65, as sergt.
Deford George, e. June 21, '62, drowned Oct. 19, '63.

Privates.
Hamilton Beuben, e. June 2. '62, m.o. June 5, '65.

Hamilton David, e. June 21. '62, kid. at Jonesboro, Ga. Sept. 1,'64.

Jones Ed. e. June ai, '62, desrtd. Dec. 13, '62.

Landers Maurice, e. June 21, '63, died July 19, '64, wounds.
Qulnlan William, e. June 21, '62, dlsd. May 21, '63.

Wrestnour Fltzhugh, e.Vune 16, '62, trans.,to Inv. cor. Apr. 1,'65.

Greteron John, e.

Recruit.

COMPANY K.
Privates.

Burr Nelson, e. Aug. 15, '62, trans. Inv. corps Sept. 1, '63.

Kelso James A. e. Aug. 15, '62, trans. Inv. corps Sept. 1, '63.

86th Infantry.

HISTORY.
The 86th Infantry Illinois Volunteers was organized at Peo-

ria, 111., In August, 1862, by Col. David D. Irons, and musteredm August 27tn.
Moved for Louisville and camped at Jo Holt, on the Indiana

side, September 10, 1862. Was assigned to 36th brigade. Col.
D. McUook, with 52d Ohio and 85tb Illinois and 125th Illinois,
11th division, Bi'ig. Gen. P. H. Sheridan commanding.

Marched from camp October 1st, and on the 8th was en-
gaged in the battle of Perryvllle. losing one killed and fourteen
wounded. Moved thence to Crab Orchard and to Nashville, ar-
riving November 7th. Soon after moved to Mill Creek. Be-
turned to Nashville December loth. Moved to Brentwood April
8,1863. Eeturned to Nashville June 3d. On the 30th moved
to Murfreesboro. Beturned July 19th. Marched August 20th
via Franklin and Columbia to HuntsvUle, Ala., and on the 4th
of September marched to Chattanooga, The 86th was here
assigned to the Beserve corps under Major Gen. Gordon Gran-
ger.

Engaged in the battle of Chlckamauga September 19th, 20th
and 21st.

Brigade assigned to 2d division, 14th army corps. Moved
Into Lookout Valley October 29th. In the night of November
28d crossed the river on a pontoon and camped at the foot of
Missionary Bldge. Pursued the enemy on the 26th to Blsgold
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»Dd was then ordered to KnoxvlUe, Teim. Marched as far as
L'ttle Tennessee river, and returned to Chattanooga December
lath after a most severe march.

Was engaged on the reconnoisaauce to Buzzard Roost Gap
near Dalton, February 24, 1864, fighting the enemy two days.
Lost one man killed and seven wounded. March 6th moved to
Lee and Sordon's Mills, and May 3rd Joined Gen. Sherman's
Army at Ringgold, Georgia. Was engaged at Buzzard's Roost,
May 9th, loth and 11th; Kesaca, May 14th and 15th: Rome,
17th— six Icliled and eleven wounded; Dallas, from May 27th
to June 5th; Kenesaw Mountain, from June 11th to 27th—loos-
ing 110 killed and wounded.

Was again engaged the enemy on the banks of the Chat-
tahoochie on the 18tn of July; at Peach Tree Creek on the 19th,
and near Atlanta 20th and 22th.

Engaged In the siege of Atlanta, Col. DlUsworth command-
ing Brigade, Brig. Gen. J. D. Morgan commadnlng Division and
Brevet Major General Jeff. C. Davis commanding Corps. En-
gaged at Jonesboro Sept. Is .

September 29th moved by rail to Athens, Ala., and marched
to Florence driving Forrest across the Tennessee. Moved to
Chattanooga and thence to Gaiesville,|Ala., Kingstoniand to At-
lanta, arriving November 15th.

Commenced the "March to the Sea "Nov. 16th. Arrived at
Savannah December 2l3t. Moved January 20, 1865, on the
campaign of the Carollnas—Brevet Brig. Gen. B. D. Pearing
commanding Brigade.

Engaged in the battle of Averysboro, March 16th, and of
Be tonvine, 19th and 20th, and arrived at Goldsboro March
23rd. Marched to Raleigh April 10th.

After the surrender of Johnson marched via Richmond to
Washington City, at which place was mustered out of service
June 6, 1865, by Lieut. Geo. soroggs A. 0. M., and ordered to
Chicago, 111., where received final pay and discharge.

Died, killed and wounded 34ff. Marched 3.500 miles : by
rail 2,000 aniles.

Colonel.
David D. Irons, com. Aug. 27. '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Aug.

11, '63. .

s . . B.

Lieutenant Colonel.
David W Magee, com. Aug. 27, '62, res. March 27, '64.

Majors.
James S. Bean, com. Aug. 27, '62. res. Dec. 26, '62.
Joseph F. Thomas, com. March 25, '64, m.o. June 6, '65.

Adjutant.
James E. Prescott, com. Aug. 27, '62, res. Dec. 26, '62.

Quartermaster.
Chas. H. Deane, com. Aug. 11, '62, pro. by President Jan. 26, '64.

Surgeon.
Massena M. Hooton, com. Aug. 27, '62, m.o. June 6. '65.

Assistant Surgeons.
First, Israel J. Guth. com. July, 14, '64. m.o. June 6, '65.
Second, Israel J. Guth, com. Aug. 27, '62, pro.

COMPANY A.

Q. M. Sergeants.
Adams John C. e. Aug. 4, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Sept. 19,

'63.

Magee Charles, o. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Privates.
Brown Jasper A. e. Aug. 28, '62, disd. Jan. 10, '63 disab.

COMPANY B.

Corporals.
Berdim George W. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o, June 6, '65.

Privates.
Berdim Walter I. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 24, '65, was prls.wd.
Brown Harvey S. e. Aug. 13. '62, trans, to co. C.
Crouch Ansel, e. Aug. 13, '63. trans, to co. C.
Lee Charles, e. Aug. 12. '62, m.o. May 23, '62.

Lemons George, e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co. 0.
Sham John w. e. Aug. 13. '62, trans, to co. C.
Warren James, e. Aug. 15, '62. trans, to Eng. Corps July 29, '64.
Wallace Alexander, e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co. C.

COMPANY C.

Captain.
Joseph F.Thomas, com. Aug. 27, '62, pro. Major,
William G. McDonald, com. March 25, '64, m.o. June 6, '65.

liieutenants.
First, John H. Bachelder, com. Aug. 27, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Second. Reuben B. Beebe, com. Aug. 27, '62, res. Feb. 1, '63.
Second, William G. McDonald, com. Feb. 1, '63, pro.
Second, Edwin O. Stlllman, com. June 12, '65, not mustered, m.

0. assergt. June 6, '65.

Sergeants.
First, McDonald WilHam G. e. Aug. 11, '62. pro. to 2d Lieut.
Proctor Alfred S. e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. to accept pro. 1st Lieut,

ill 57th V. S. C. 1'. wd. twice.

Silliman Edwin C.e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. June 6, '66, as 1st sergt.

com, as 2d Lieut, but not mustered.

Corporals.
Arnsworth William, e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. March 18, '63.

Mitchell James, e. Aug. 9,^62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Baston Stephen L. e. Aug. 8, '62, kid. at Kenesaw Mountain
June 27. '64.

McCuIiey Isaac M. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

\ Musicians.
Brown Abel W. e. Aug. 12, '62. disd. May 23. '65.

Swigger Benjamin, e. Aug. 7, '62, desrtd. Oct. 15, '62.

Wagoner.
Buggs John, e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. Jan. 26, '63.

Privates.
Beebe William J. e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. May 11, '65.

Bowers Joseph, e. Aug. 12, '62. desrtd. May 18, '63.

Bland William J. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 22, '63.

Bland John, e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. Feb. 23. '63.
, „_

Baldwin William J. e. Aug. 15, '62, disd. Oct 1, '63. wounds.
Bell John H. e. Aug. 11. '62. m.o. June 6, '65, was prisoner.
Bell James, e. Aug. 11, '62, died in Marshall Co. 111. June

20. '65. ^ „ ,„^
Carver Horace C. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Carter Elbert S. e. Aug. 12, '62, disd. Sept. '64, wounds.
Clawson Henry, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Jan. 7, '65, wounds.
Clark Cyrus C. e. Aug. 9, '62, kid. at Kenesaw Mountain June

27 '64.

Colwe'll George W. e. Aug. 12. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Damon Hiram S. e. Aug. 13. '62, disd. Feb. 27, '63.

Dray Henry S. e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. Dec. 27. '62.

Donovan Michael, e. Aug. '62. m.o. June 6, '66.

Easton William D. e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. Feb. 19, '63.

Furguson James B. e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. Jan. 27, '63.

Flanders Chauncey H. e. Aug. 13, '62, desrtd. Oct. 15, '62.

Glaze Isaac, e. Aug. 12. '62, m.o. June 6, '66.

Gallop Ralph P. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, wd.
Hutchinson Enoch H. e. Aug. 13, '82, died at Nashville Jan.

24, '63.

Hutchinson John M. e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. May 18, '63.

Hunt Isaac, e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Dec. 26, '62.

Harrington John, e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Jan. 20, '63.

Jenkins Albanus L. e. Aug. 12, '62, trans, to V. R. 0. Nov.
28, '63.

Jenkins William M. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '66.

Mason John, e. Aug. 9, '62, disd. Jan. 20, '63.

Marsh James, e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Maxson Mathew, e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. March 5, '63.

Nurs Henry H. e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.
Parsons Abraham S. e. Aug. 8. '62, disd. Dec. 27, '62.

Putman Allen, e. Aug. 12, '65, m.o. June 6, '66, wd.
Prlntiss Benjamin, e. Aug. 7, '62, kid. at Kenesaw Mountain

June 28, '64.

Root Cyrus, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as oorpl. wd.
Rutherford Jacob J. e. Aug. 5, '62, disd. June 12, '63.

Rutherford Andrew J. e. Aug. 5, '62, kid. at Kenesaw Mountain
June 27, '64.

Robertson James, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '66.

Stowell Oscar, e. Aug. 11. 62. disd. Jan. 20,.'63.
Sarver Jacob, e. Aug. 7, '62, desrtd. Oct. 15, '62.

Sarver John, e. Aug. 8. '62, desrtd. Oct. 15, '62.

Sanger Adna T. e. Aug. 11 '62, disd. Jan. 20, '63.

Sexton Frederick L. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6. '66.

Selders John B. e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. July 10, '65, as corpl. wd.
Selders Thomas B. e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. to accept 1st Lieut, in IT.

S. col. troops.
Sirlott James, e. Aug. 13, '62, sergt. kid. at Kenesaw Mountain,

June 27, '64.

Stewart John, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Stittman Anson P. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Stittman Sanford H. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6. '66.

Thomas John, e. Aug. 8, '62, trans. V. R. C. Sept. 16, '63.

Troxell Absalom, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Oct. 8. '62.

Troxell, William, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Feb. 28, '63.

Vlning William H. e. Aug. 13. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Weidman Charles E. e. Aug. 8, '62. disd. March 18, '63.

Wilson Loren J. e. Aug. 14. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Wilson George N. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

young Charles M. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Kecruits.
Brown Harvey L. e. trans. V. R. C. Oct. 29, '63.

Lemon George, e. died at Louisville, Ky. April 7, '64.

Shane John W. e. died at Chattanooga July 11, '64, wd.
Wallace Alexander, e. trans, to Eng. corps July 29, '64.

COMPANY D.

Captain.

Frank Hitchcock, com. Aug. 27, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

liieutenant.
Second, William H. Hall, com. Aug. 27, '62, res. Jan. 11, '63.

Sergeants.
Johnson Augustus V. e. Aug. 13, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn'

Dec. 22 ^2.
Horinei Samuel Y. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Klefman John, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Dec. 16, '62, wd.
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Corporals.
Elliot Lemuel R. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Davis George R. e. Aug. 8,' 63, sergt. led. at Kenesaw, June 37, '64.

Jones Robert M. e. Aug. 13, '62. alsd. Marcb 17. '68, as sergt.
Cobb Thomas, e. Aug. 13, '63, private, died at Dalton, June 35,

'64, wounds.
Treeley William, e. Aug. 13, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as private.
McKenney Alfred M. e. Aug. 14, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.

wd.
Decker John, e. Aug. 9, '63. died at Lebanon, Ky. March 1, '63.
Moore Isaac H. e. Aug. 15, '63, disd. Jan. 38, '63.

Musicians.
Luther Frank G. e. Aug. 14, '63, kd. at Peach Tree Creek, Ga.

July 19, '64.

Mccarty Richard, e. Aug. 8, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as private.

Waeoner,
Johnson Daniel W. e. Aug. 15, '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

Privates.
Anderson David H. e. Aug. 13, '63. m.o. June 6, '65.
Arnold WlUlam B. 6. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Jan. 33, '63, to e. In

Miss. Marine Brigade.
Blckford Leonard B. e. Aug. 11, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Bohanan James W. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o, July 33, '65, as oorpl.

was pris.
Boahwlck William E. e. Aug. 14, '63, disd. Jan. 28. '63.
Bauman Relnhart, e. Aug. 11, '63, died at Nashville, Tenn. July

8, '63.
Beal George, e. Aug, 11, '68, died at Nashville, Nov. 39, '63.
Bennett William, e. July 21, '62, trans, to co. H.
Crane Asa V. e. Aug. 13, '63, kid. at Rome, Ga. May 17, '64.
Conrad Ezra K. e. Aug. 9, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Conrad Ellas H. e. Aug. 11, '62. m.o. June 6, '65.
Cobb Daniel, e. Aug, II, '63, in.o. June 6 '65, as corpl.
Cramer Arthur, e. Aug. 14, '63. died Gallatin, Tenn. Dec. 87, '63.
Champ Victor R. e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Jan. 31, '63, to enlist in

the Miss, marine brigade.
Duffleld William, e. Aug. 11, '62, died Nashville, Aug. 8. '64,wds.
Dlllaplalne John W. e. Aug. 13, '63, m.o. June 6, '6S.
Dailey Henry, e. July 30, '62, trans, to co. H.
Frank Jesse, e. Aug. 11, '68, m.o. June 6, '65, wd.
Greenhalgh Richard W. e. Aug. 13, '68, m.o. June 6, '66, twice wd.
Gregory John F. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Juue 6, '65.
Graham Abram S. e. Aug. 11, '62, died Nashville. Feb. 34, '63.
Graham William, e. Aug. 15, '68, disd, Feb. 18. '65, as corpl. wd.
Hart John W. e. July 84, '68, trans, to co. H.
Hartman Henry, e. Aug. 8, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.
Hartman Christopher, e. Aug. 8, '68, m.o. June 6, '65, wd.
Klngon Perry, e. Aug. 11, '68, m.o. June 6. '65.
Kennedy William S. e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Krouse Martin, e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.
Krouse John, e. Aug. 9, '63, trans, to Eng. Corps, July 29, '64.
Klngon John, e. Aug. 9, '63. disd, Feb. 24, '63.
Kribbler John, e. Aug. 13, '68, kid. Kenesaw Mt. June 27, '64.
Kimsey Joel L. e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. June 6. '65, as corpl.
Love Samuel D. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Lee William D. e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. March 30, '63, as sergt.
Long Thomas M. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.
Lobaugli Abraham, e. Aug. 15. '63, m.o. June 13, '65.
Moore Francis R. e. Aug. 16, '62, kid. Rome, Ga. May 17, '64.
Magee Charles, e. Aug. 11, '62, prn. to Q. M. sergt.
McCoy Thomas, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Miller Samuel, e. Aug. 8. 63, trans, to V.R.C. April 30, '64.
McManus James J. e. Aug. 14. '62, m.o. June 6 65, wd.
Morris James F. e. Aug. 11, '82, m.o. June 8. 'Bb, as corpl. wd.
Miller George, e. Aug. 11. '62. m.o. June 6, '65.
McCoy Leroy S. e. Aug. 11, '62, kid. at Peach Tree Creek, Ga.

July 19, '64.

Memeyer William F. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6. '65, wd.
Palmer Rosaloo, e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Jan. 14, '63.
Priston Martin, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.
Rood Merritt Royal, e. Aug. 9, '82, trans. Eng. Corps. July 29,'64.
Richardson William M. e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. March 11, '63.
Stotter Alva, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Febr. 24, '63.
Thatcher Jacob B. e. Aug. 14. '68, disd. May 30, '64.
Taylor Charles E. e. Aug. 8, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Taggart Robert, e. Aug. 11. '68, m.o. Jime 6, '65, as corpl,
Wescoa Charlton, e. Aug. 8, '62, died Gallatin, Tenn. Deo. 27, '68.
Williamson John, e. Aug. 18, '68, disd. March 7, '85, wounds.
Wrigley William E. e. Aug. 11, '68, disd. Jan. 6, '63.
Wescott Horatio, e. Aug. 8, '68, m.o. June 6, '65, wd,
Williamson Joseph, e. Aug. 11. '68. m.o. June 6. '65.
Wrigley Joseph, e. Aug. 11, '62. disd. March 7, '65. as corpl. wd.
Wikolf William, e. Aug. 11, '62, corpl. trans. V.R.C. Aug. 30, '63.
Wilson William E. e. Aug. 15, '62, sergt. died, at Nashville, Jan.

1, '63.

Young William M. e. Aug. 11, '63, disd. March 16. '63.

Recruits.
Fry William F. M. e. m.o. June 6, '65.
Frank Henry, e. Dec. 89, '83, trans, to co. G 34th III. Inf.
Hallmeyer Joseph, e. Dec. 16, '63, trans, to co. O 34th 111. Ins.
Kemple Charles B. e. Dec. 89, '63, disd. June 17, '65, wounds.
Preston John R. e. Dec. 89, '63, trans, to co. G 34tb 111. Inf.
Preston David, e. Feb. 23, '68, trans to co. G 34th 111. Inf.
Walker Benj. F. e. Jan. 3. '62, trans, to co. G 34tb 111. Inf.

COMPANY E.

Captain.
Frederick A. Woldorf, com. Dec. 26, '62, res. June 18, '63.

Sergreants.
Waldorf Frederick A. e. Aug. 13, '62, pro. to Capt.
Murray Iram, e. Aug. 13, '62, died Chattanooga July 4, '64. wd.

Privates.
Ghert Ambrose, e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Graham John, e. Aug. 13, '63, kid. at Rome. Ga. May 17, '64.
mallon James, e. Aug. 13, '62, died at Nashville Dec, 38. '63.

SumnerThomas J. e. Aug. 16, m.o. Juue 6, '65.

Recruits.
Anderson Joseph, e. Jan. 3D, '65, trans, to co. K 34th 111. Inf.
Bridegroom Julius, e. Jan. 19, '64, absent wd. at m.o. regt.
Sumner Anthony W. e. died at Nashville, Tenn. Feb. 13, '63.
Smith Ben]. F. e. Jan. 19, '64, died Quincy, 111. Dec, 36, '64, wd.

COMPANY G.

Private.
Upshaw Thomas J. e Aug. 32, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, wd.

Recruits.
Cain David L. e. trans, to V. R. C. Oct. 18, '63.

Hlndbaugh Philip, e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to co. C 34th 111. Inf.
Sandern Charles, e, Jan. 2, '64, vet. rec. trans, co. C 34th 111. Inf.

COMPANY H.
Captain.

John H. Hall, com. Aug. 27, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.

liieutenants.
First, BUwin E. Peters, com. Aug. 37, '63, res. July 13. '63.

Second, Davllla W. Merwin, com. Aug. 87, '63, dls. disd. Nov.
31, '63.

Second, John H. Henderson, com. June 18, '65, not m., m.o. (as
sergt.; June 6, '65.

Sergreants.
Henderson, John H. e. July 8, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as 1st sergt.
Murdock Mathew, e. July 31, '68, m.o. June 6, '65, as private.
Adams John C. e. Aug. 4, '63, pro. to quar. sergt.

Corporals.
Keener Wm. T. e. Aug. 5, '68, sergt. trans. V.R.C. June 3,'65,wd
Stewart Wm. C. e. Aug. 11. '63. m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Haley, Jonathan, e. Aug. 1, '62, dis. Jan. 19, '63, dlsab.
Geerling John T. e. Aug. 16, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as private.

Musician.
Martin Salem E. e. Aug. 1, '68, dls. April 83, '63, dlsab.

Wagroner.
Farnsworth George, o. July 19, '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

Privates.
Anthony Jacob, e. Aug. 6. '68. ni.o. June 6, '65.

Alger Josiah J. e. Aug. 11, '68, sergt. kid. at Peach Creek, Ga.,
July SO, '64.

Buck wm. e. July 18, '63, disd. Marcb 6. '63, dlsab.
Buck Millar, e. July 18, '68, disd. March 19, '63, dlsab.
Bremer John, e. Aug. 1, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.

Blackweil Thomas, e. July 31. '68. m.o. June 16, '65, wd.
Beasemore Robert G. e. July 89, '63, disd. March 30, '63, dlsab.
Blundel William, e. July 88, '68, trans, to navy May 6, '64.

Brings William, e. July 38. '62, m.o. June 6. '66.
Coleioilver W. e. Aug. 6, '63, m.o. June 8. '66.

Cain David L. e. July 38, '68, trans, to co. 6. Sept. 6, '62, as mu-
sician.

Claver David, e. Aug. 13, '82, disd. Dec. 28, '62, dlsab.
Church Andrew G. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 6, '66.

Charles H. Charles, e. Aug. 27, '62, disd. Dec. 38, '62, dlsab.
Dolan John, e. July 31, '82, died at Chicamaugua Dec. 23, '63.
Edwards Evan, e. Aug. 1, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.

Ewlng John W. H. e. Aug. 4, '62, trans, to Eug.corpsJun.29, '64.
Flick Erwln, e. July 8, '68, m. o. June 6, '65.

Foster Robert, e. Aug. 6, '63, m. o. June 10, '65 as Corp. wd.
PuUerton James, e. Aug. 2, '62, m. o. June 6, '65
Fuller George, e. Aug. 6, '62, trans, to Eng. corps Aug. 4, '64.

Flagler John W. e. July 31, '63, disd. Apr. 22. '88, dlsab.
Faskitt Byron O. e. Aug. 4, *62, died at Chattanooga of wounds

received at BuzzaroT Roost, Ga. Feb. 36, '64.

Faskitt Lyman W. e. Aug. 13, '82, m. o. June 6, '65, wounded.
Gasney William, e. Aug. 6, '62, m. o. June 6, '85 as sergt.
Hackan Sebalt, e. July 19, '68, m. o. June 6, '65.

Jayne Jacob, e. Aug. 8, '68, m. o. June 6, '65, wd.
Kellogg Lewis F. e. Aug. 5. '68, m. o. June 6. '66.

Kellogg' William P. e. July 18, '68, m. o. June fi, '85.

Keack Daniel C. e. Aug. 3, '63, m. o. June 34, 'OS, prls. war.
Kruger Edward H. e. Aug. 11. '83, m. o. June 6. '65 as Corp. wd.
Kiiver Henry J. e. Aug. IS, '62, m. o. June 33, '65, wd.
Ley William L. e. Aug. 15, '83, m. o. June 6, '86.

Mason Rlohaid, e. Aug. 7. '68, disd. Jan. 31, '63, dlsab.
Maglnley William A. e. Aug. 1, '68, m. o. June 6, '85 as corp.
McFarland James A. e. July 18, '68, m. o. June 6, '65.
McConnell Robert A. e. Aug. 6, '63, died at Gallatin, Tenn. Dec.

20, '68.

McKone John, e. Aug. 13, '62, m, o. June 6, '65.
McMahan Sylvester, e. Aug. 14, '63, m. o. June 6, '65 as sergt.
McGee Charles, e. Aug. 11, '68, see Co. D.
Nowlon William W. e. Aug. 5, '62, m. o. June 6, '65, wd.
Oburgh Francis V. e. Aug. 5, '62, m. o. June 6, '66.
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Place Emerson, e. Aug. 5, '63, m. o. June 6, '65.

Place John N. e. Aug. 7, '68, m. o. June 4, '65.
Peters Andrew W. e. Aug. 11, '62, m. o. June 24, '65. was pris.
]Rook Charles, e. Aug. 6, '63. m.o. June 6, '65.

Beed Angus M. e. Aug. 6, '63, died at Nashville, Tenn. Apr.8,'63.
Bamsay Harrison, e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Danville. Ky. Nov.

19, '63.

Stone Ely, e. Aug. 3. '63, trans, to V.E.O. Sept. 1, '63.

Smock William, e. July 80, '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

Schleigh John J. e. Aug. 5, '63, disd. Jan. 1, '63, disab.
Slocum George, e. Aug. fi, '62, m.o. Junefi, '65.

Scott James, e. Aug. b, '62, m.o. Junefi, '65.

Sharpneok William, Aug. 11, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Dec.
28 '62.

Vanpatteii Emerson, e. Aug. 6, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, wds.
Wayne Isaac L. e. Aug. 6, '88, disd. Jan. 20, '63, disab.
Wayne Samuel, e. Aug. 6, '82, disd. Deo. 23, '62, disab.
Wallace Charles, e. Aug. 6, '62, m.o. June 6, *65.

WilKins John J. e. Aug. 18, '62. disd. for pro. as asst. sur. in Uth
111. cav.

Zimmerman Jesse, e. Aug. 6, '63, Icliied at Kenesaw Mt. June
27. '6*.

Recruitfl.
Bennett William, disd. Feb. 85, '64, disab.
Darley Henry, m.o. June 6. '65. '

Moore George M. m.o. June 6, '65.

COMPANY I.

Corporals.
Love Thomas J. e. Aug. 9, '68, m.o. June 6. '65 as sergt.
Parker William P. e. Aug. 9, '63, disd. Nov. 28, '63.

Privates.
Clark William L. e. Aug. 9. '62, disd. Dec. 28, '62, wds.
Clark John, e. Aug. 9. '63, m.o. June 6, '65 as corbl.
Jones Francis M. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. July 17, '65, was pris. wd.
Lemaster Isaac, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Lindenberger Ernst F. C. e. Aug. 9, '62, trans, to V.B.C. Dec. 6,
'64.

Slick Ezra, e. Aug. 9, '62, kid. Ohicamauga, Sept. 20, '63.

Sill William P. J. e. Aug. 28. '68, m.o .June 6. 'b5.
Sill George D. e. Aug. 14. '62, m.o. June 6, '65, wounded.
Sill Isaac M. e. Aug. 15, '62, disd. Feb. 2, '63, disab.
Thomas David, e. Aug. 12, '63, disd. Feb. 8, '63, disab.

Becrnits.
Cromwell John, e. Dec. 28. '63, disd. Nov. 11, '64, wounds.
Green Andrew S. e. Dec. 28, '63, vet. rec. trans, to co. 1, 34th Ills.

Int.
Glassford John, e. Dec. 28. '63, trans, to co. I, 34th Ills. Inf.
Glassford George, e. Deo. 28, '63. trans, to co. I, 34th Ills. Inf.
Johnson Cyrus, e. Dec. 39, '63, trans, to co. I, 34th Ills. Inf.
Kelley Nelson, e. Feb. 21, '65, vet. rec. trans, co, I, 34th Ills. Inf.
Petty Ezekiel, e. Dec. 28. '63, vet. rec. trans, to co. 1, 34th Ills. Inf
Petty John B. e. Dec. 28, '63. trans, co. 1, 34th Ills. Inf,
Sayler William C. e. Jan. 25, '64, trans, to co. I, 84th Ills. Inf.
Wolf Jonathan B. e. Oct. 11, '64, trans, to co. K, 34th Ills. Inf.

COMPANY K.

Captains.
John F. French, com. Aug. 27, '62, died wounds March 17. '65.

Levi A. Boss, com. April 30, '65, m.o. June 6, '65.

Lieutenants.
First, James B. Peet, com. Aug. 27, '62, hon. disd. Dec. 34, '64.

First, John Morrow, com . Aug. 20, '65, m.o, June 6, '65.

Second, Henry F. Irvin, com. Aug. 27, '63. res. Jan. 37, '64.
Second, John McGunis, com. June 12, '65, not mustered, m.o.

as sergt. June 6. '65.

Sergeants.

First, Snyder Peter H. e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. Oct. 22, '62, disab.
Morrow John, e. Aug. 7, '62. pro. to first lieutenant.
McGinnis John, e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as first sergt.
Buchanan Alexander, e. Aug. 9, '62, first sergt. kid. Kenesaw

Mt. June 27, '64.
Coburn Elijah, e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as private.

Corporals.
Carter John, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Smith Edwin L. e. Aug. 7. '62, died Gallatin, Tenn. Dec. 30. '62.

Boss Levi A. e. Aug. 9, '62, pro. to Capt.
Slone JohnZ. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Armstrong Ebenezer M. e. Aug. 8. '62. m.o. June 6, '65, private.
Bohrer Samuel, e, Aug. 7, '62, trans. 4th U.S. Vet. Vol. July 27,

'64.

Anderson John J. e. Aug. 7, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.
Anton William H. e. Aug. 7, '63, m.o. June 6, '65, as sergt.

Musicians.
Smith David, e. Aug. 9, '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

White John E. e. Aug. 9, '68, m.o. June 6, '65,

Wagroner.
Dukes John, o. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

PriTates.
Anten George, e. Aug. 9, '62. m.o. June 6, '65.

Alter Charles £. e. Aug. 8, '62, kid. Bentonville, N.C. May 19, '65

Andrews Henry A. e. Aug. 8, '62, kid. Atlanta. Ga. Aug. 5, '64.

Aten Charles S. e, Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, wounded.
Anderson Warren T. e. Aug. 7, '62, desrrd. Oct. 14, '62.

Butler Sylvester, e. Aug. 11, '62 died at Nashville, Tenn. March
5, '63.

Beach Frank, e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. Oct, 17, '62. disab.
Bickner Andrew J. e, Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Blanchard William H. e. Aug. 7, '68, disd. Sept. '64, as corpl.

wounded.
Burgess Green, e. Aug. 9, '63, trans, to V.K.C. Jan. 6, '65.

Butler Henry, e. Aug. 8, '68. m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Burns Patrick, e. Aug, 12, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, wounded.
Coburn Samuel C. o. Aug. 7, '63, disd. Feb. 5, '63 disab.
Cook George e. Aug. 8, '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

Cowley John J. e. Aug. 13. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Diuesmore Peter, e. Aug. 7, '62, died Bowling Green, Ky. Dec.
19 '62.

Debord Jeiterson, e. Aug. 9, '62. m.o. June 6, '65.

Debord Nelson, e. Aug. 7, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. April 4,

'63.

Deal William, e. Aug. 9. '62. died at Nashville, Tenn. Dec. 4, '62.

Oebord John, e. Aug. 13, '62. trans, to invalid corps April 6, '64.

Foley Hezaklah, e. Aug. 7, '63. disd. Jan. 18, '63 disab.
Francis Joseph, e. Aug. 9, '68, disd. Jan. 13, '63 disab.
Gladfather Jacob, e. Aug. 7, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.

Gladfather David, e, Aug. 8, '63, died at Nashville, Tenn. July
11. '63. „ ,„

Gladfather Frederick, e. Aug. 8, '68, m.o. June 6, '65.

Hayward Henry, e. Aug. 7, '68, died at Nashville, Tenn. Nov.
10, '63.

Hare George H. e. Aug. 26, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Dec.
23.'63.

Hare Jeiterson, e. Aug, 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Hare Marmaduke, e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. Feb. 14, '68 disab.
Hare Henry H. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Hamilton George W. e. Aug. 9. '62, m.o. June 20, '65 wd.
Keller William H. e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Keller Emanuel, e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65 as corpl. wd.
Keller Andrew, e. Aug. 7, '62, died at Chattanooga Jul y 3, '64

wds.
Keller Edmund, e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. Jan. 13. '63, disab.
Lair Andrew J. e. Aug. 7. '63. m.o. June 6, '65.

Litts Benjamin, e. Aug. 9, '62, disd. March 3, '65, disab.
Little Henry, e. Aug. 8. '62. died on the ocean April 27, '65, wds.
Miller James, e. Aug. 7, '62. disd. Jan. 5, '65, disab.
McMillan John, e. Aug. 7, '63, died at Nashville, Tenn. Aug, 17,

'64, wds.
McGuire (Jharles, e. Aug. 13, '68, disd. Jan. 17, '63, disab.
Morrow Erastus, e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. Nov. 1, '62, disab.
Nace Joseph J. e. Aug. 11, '63. m.o. June 6, '65.

Nail George B. e. Aug. 8, '62. m.o. June 6, '65.

Newman George W. e. Aug. 7, '62, trans, to 4th U. S. V. volt.

July 39, '64.

Potts William W. e. Aug. 7. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Parents Joseph, e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Potts William, e. Aug. 7. '62. died at Nashville, Tenn. March 10.
'68.

Potts John T. e. Ang. 25. '63, m.o. June 6, '65.

Pembleton William, e. Aug. 9. '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Pigg William P. e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. June 6, '65.

Bussell James A. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, wd.
Bussell James M. e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. Dec. 28, '63, disab.
Beed Philander, e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Chatanooga July 4, '64.

Koney Hugh. e. Aug. 8, '62, disd. May 12, '65, wd.
Eoney Peter, e. Aug. 9. '62, disd. Jan. 83, '65, wd.
Book William, e. Aug. 18, '63. disd. Dec. 26, '62. disab.
Bilea Simon w. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65, as corpl.
Smith John W. e. Aug. 6, '62, trans, to 4th U. S. V. vol. July 29,

,64.
Smith Isaac L. e. Aug. 7, '62, killed at Buzzard Boost, Ga., Feb.

25, '64.

Sayles Moses M. e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Chattanooga Dec. 7, '63.

Sayies Thomas, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. May 30, '65.

Springer Noah, e. Aug. 11, '63, m.o. June 6, '6.5, wd.
Snidaker Elijah B. e. Aug. 13, '62. disd. April 5, '66, disab.
Smith Archibald, e. Aug. 8, '62, trans, to Invalid corps Nov. 1, '64.

Sanger Madison e. Aug. 7, '62, m.o. June 6. '65.

Sabin John M. e. Aug. 7, '63, m.o. June 6, '65 as corpl. wd.
Scott Andrew J. e. Aug. 9, '62, Ulsd. Jan. 17. '63, disab.
Timmons Francis, e. Aug. 7. '62. disd. Jan. 20, '63, disab.
Watson James S. e. Aug. 9. '63, died at Gallatin, Tenn. Dec.

7, '62.
Weisenburg William H. e. Aug. 7, '62, disd. April 7, '63, disab.
White William B. e. Aug. 13, '62, i".o, June 8, '65.

Wiley Charles, e. Ang. 9, '62, m.o. June 24, '65, was prlsr.
White James E. e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. June 6, '65 as corpl.
Young Harrison, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o, June 6, '85.

Zller Jeremiah C. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 20, '65 as corpl.

Recruits.
Debord Henry, e. Aug. 19 '62, m.o. June 6, '65.
Gladfetter Albert, e. Feb. 1, '64, trans to co. F. 34th 111. inf.

Hughs William, e. Feb. 1, '64, "

Harris Joseph D. e. Jan. 23, '65, '• '*

Lynch James A. e. Jan. 23, '65, " "

Nail William T. e. Jan. 21, '64,

88tli Infantry.
Unasslsned Recruits,

Ambler Monroe, e. Dec. 8, '63.

Brown Chester F. e. Oct. 22, '63
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89th Infantry.

COMPANY A.

Recruits,
Smith Samuel, e. Aug. 18, '62, m.o. Jane 13, '65 as oorpl.
Urle David B. e. Aug. IS, '68, m.o. June 10, '65 as sergi.

COMPANY G.

Private.
Bares Adelbert, e. Nov. '63, died Oct. IS, '64, wds.

Recruit.
Hunt James, e. Nov. 28, '63.

93d iDlantry.

COMPANY c.

Recruits.
Oorwln Thomas B. e. April 13, '65, trans, to 40th 111. Inf.

Parsons John, e. Dec. 5, '64. trans, to 40t& 111. Inf.

Parker James, e. April 11, '65, trans, to 40th 111. Int.

Eyon John, e. March 31, '65, trans, to 40th 111. Inf.

Timmons John, e. April 18, '65, trans, to 40th 111. Inf.

COMPANY K.

Recruit.
Godfrey Michael, e. March 31, '65, disd. June 10, '65.

Vnassigned Recruits.
Baker James, e. April 11, '65.

Cody Patrick, e. April 11, '65.

Clark Thomas J. e. April 11, '65.

Dougherty John, e. March 9. '65.

Flynn Frank, e. March 9, '65.

Farrlngton George, e. March 89, '65.

Hlgelns John, e. April 11, '65.

Hellyard Thomas, e. March S!8, '65.

Jenkins William K. e. March 11, '65.

Mulcahy Patrick, e. April 11, '65.

Morgan James, e. March 11, '65.

O'Brien Patrick, e. March 9, '65.

Powers William, e. March 9, '65.

.

Welsh James, e. April 11, '65.

Zonowski Louis, e, March 88, '65.

108th Infantry.

Colonel.
John Warner, com. Aug. 28, '62, dismsd. Aug. 13, '68.

Major.
Lyman W. Clark, com. Oct. 86, '64, not mustered, m.o. as Capt.

Aug. 5, '65.

Adjutants.
BenJ. T. Foster, com. Aug. 23, '62, died at Memphis, Tenn. June

23, '64.

Henry C. Fursman, com. June 23, '64, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Quartermaster.
Geo. W. Eaney, com. Aug. 18, '62, res. March 20, '63.

Sergeant Majors.
McDermot John E. e. Aug. 1, '62, pro. to 2d Lieut, co. G.
Pratt Edward, e. , m.o. Aug. 5. '65, com. 8d Lieut, but not

mustered.
Q. M. Sergeants.

Baney George B. e. Aug. IS, '68, m.o. Jan. 31, '63.

Adams Anson, e. , reduced to ranks C. G.

Couimissary Sergeants.
Dodge John M. e. Aug. 22, '62, dIsd, March 1, '63 disab.
Hlndson George, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Hospital Steward.
Fursman Henry C. e. Sept. 15, '68, pro. to adj.

Principal Musician.
Wham Frederick, e. , m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

COMPANY B.

Privates.
Coons Andrew J. e. Aug, II, '62, died at St. Louis Feb. 4, '63.

Crall William' U. e. &ug. 14, '62, died at MemphisMarch 8, '64.

Horton Joseph W. e. Aug. 11, '68, died Jan. lis,

'

Coons Martin, e. Aug. 11, '62, died Jan. 23, '63.
- 1 H. e. Aug. 14, '62, f- • -' -'

_ _jephW. e. Aug. 11, '68. __,

Ingalls William B. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. Aug. S, '65.

COMPANY K.

Captain.
Sylvester V. Dooley, com. Aug. 28, '62, m.o. Aug. S. '65.

Lieutenants.
First, Patrick Moore, com. Aug. 28, '63, m.o. Aug. S. '65.

Second, Thomas Lynch, com. Aug. 28. '62, disd. March 28. '63

.

Peter Young, com. Aug. 1, '65, not mustered, m.o. as sergt. Aug.
5. '65.

Sergeants.
Young Peter, e. Aug. 17, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65 as lat sergt. com.

2d Lieut, but not mustered.
Lynch Patrick, e, Aug. 7, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Freeman James, e. Aug. IS, '62, disd. April 10, '64 as 1st sergt.
dIsab.

Pitcher Alexander, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Corporals.
Simons George, e. Aug. 15. '62. desrtd. Jan. 19, '63.

Llpton John, e. Aug. 12, '62, desrtd. Jan. 19, '63.

Dempsey James, e. Aug. 9, '68, m.o. Aug. 5, '8B as prl.
McCarlyThomas. e. Aug. 9. '82. desrtd. Dec. 19. '62.

Calcott William H. e. Aug. 1, '63, m.o. Aug. S, '65 as sergt.
Mangan John, e. Aug. 15, '68, trans, to 47th 111. Infty.
Hanson John, e. Aug. 12, '62, trans, to invalid corps July 22, '64.
Granstrand Gustavus, e. Aug. 12, '62, desrtd. Aug. 12, '62.

Musicians.
Brophy James, e. Aug. 22, '62, desrtd. Oct. 1. '68.

Byan James, e. Aug. 15, '68. desrtd. Oct. 1, '68.

Wagoner.
Hammond Henry, e. Aug. 9, '62, desrtd. Jan. 19, '63.

Privates.
Bradley Robert, e. Aug. 9, '62. m.o. Aug. 5. '65.

Brophey John, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. May 16, '63 disab.
Barnard James, e. Aug. IS, '62, desrtd. Aug. 30, '62.

Burke Jobn, e. Aug. 8, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Carroll Michael, e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
Corbet Joseph, e. Aug. 15, '62 m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Crass James, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Cranson John, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. JMov. 28. '62.

Chamblin Ellsha, e. Aug. 16. '62. trans, to 47th III. Inf.
Crowder John, e. Aug. 13. '62, died at Corinth, Miss. Nov. 8, '63.
Cation William, e.Aug. 22, '62, corpLtrans. to V.R.C. May31,'63.
Dodd George, e. Aug. 9, '62, 1st sergt. died at Mllllken's Bend,

La. May 31, '63.

Davis Evan, e. Aug. 22, '62, desrtd. June 38, '63.

Dodge John, e. Aug. 22. '63. pro. com. sergt.
Don Levy Joseph, e. Aug. 82, '63, desrtd. Sept. 88, '63.

Drlscal Dennis, e. Aug. 15, '63, desertd. Sept. 85, '68.

Dlckerson Frank e. Aug. 18, '68, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Diving Cyrus, e. Aug. r4, '63, desrtd. Sept. 88, '68.

Ewlng George W. e. Auj;. 8, '63, desrtd. Sej)t. 88,
"~

Eads Thomas, e. Aug. 82. '62, disd. April 23. '63, disab.
Fentrop Henry, e. Aug. 22, '68, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, ascorpl.
Fleming Michael, e. Aug. 82, '62, died at Corinth, Miss. Jan.

3, '64.

Flanagan Thomas, e. Aug. 33, '68, supposed desrtd. .June 10. '65.
Gross Daniel, e. Aug. 32, '62, died at Nashville, Tenn. Nov.

17.'64.
Groatatoaut Jesse, e. Ang. 15, '63, desrtd. .Tune 38, '63,
Guppy Samuel, e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. July 38, '65, was prisoner.
Glllit Jullen, e. Aug. 14, '63. m.o. Aug. 5. '65.
Graves Isaac, e. Aug. 23, '62. disd. June 6, '63, disab.
Higgins John, e. Aug. 15. '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
Hldson George, e. Aug. 15, '63, pro. to corpl. then to comy.sergt.
Hutchinson Samuel, e. Aug. 38, '62, de.srtd. Sept. 85, '63.
Hogan Barnard, e. Aug. 14, '63, desrtd. Sept. 20, '62.
Hughes George, e. Aug. 13. '62. desrtd. Oct. 4, '63.
Jones Avrein, e. Aug. 5, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
James John, e. Ang. 16, '62, desrtd. Sept. 20, '62.
Jenkins John, e. Aug. 13,'63, desrtd. Sept. 30, '63.
Kelley James, e. Aug. 8, '62, desrtd. '62.

Kenny James, e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Sept. 20. '62.
Lushman Thomas, e. Aug. 32, '63, m.o. Aug. 5. '65, as corpl.
Loomis Michael, e. Aug. 22,'62, trans. I.V.O. Sept. 30, '63.
Lomau Thomas, e. Aug 33.'62, desrtd. Oct. 1,'63.
Lockland Michael, e. Aug. 15,'62. m.o. Aug. 5, '65. ascorpl.
Murphy William H. e. Aug. 15/62, desrtd. Sept. 2, '62.
McKone Michael, e. Aug. 13, '62, desrtd. March 27, '63.
McComb James, e. Aug. 7,'62, desrtd. Jan. 19, '63.
Moore John, e. Aug. 22, '63, desrtd. Sept. 15, '62.
McCarty John, e. Aug. 11. '62. desrtd. Deo. 3. '63.
Merry Edward, e. Aug. 23,'63, m.o. Aug. S,'65.
McKnIght James, e. Aug. 8, '63. m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
Roberts George, e. Aug. 8,'B3. m.o. July 22, '65.
Klce George, e. Aug. IB, '62. desrtd. Sept. 15,'62.
Simons John, e. Aug. IB, '62, desrtd. Oct. 30, '62.
Stately James, e. Aug. 7,'63. desrtd. Oct. 1,'62.
Simmers John, e. Aug. 13. '63, desrtd. Sept. 20, '62.
Smith Edwin, e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Sept. 20,'62.
Summers William, e. Aug, 13, '62, desrtd Sept. 20,'68.
Thorp Charles, e. Aug. 15, '68, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
Taylor James, e. Aug. 17. '62, desrtd. Sept. 13. '62.
Upton James, e. Aug. 15, '62. desrtd. Dec. 1.'62.
Whitty Samuel, e. Aug. 14, '62, died July 23, '63.
Walters Andrew, e. Aug. 22. '62, desrtd. Sept. 28,'62.
Walters John, e. Aug. 83,'68, desrtd. Sept. 88, '68.
Yost Bartholomew, e. Aug. 23,'68, kid. at Spanish Ft. April

COMPANY D.
Privates.

Gabriel Philip, e. Aug. 11, '68, trans, to co. I.

Hartman WlUiam, e. Aug. 11,'62, trans, to co. B.
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Kellogg Nathan, e. Aug. 8.'62, ti-ans. to oo. I.
Pauk Alexander, e. Aug. 20, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '66.
Page James H. e. Aug. 15. '62, trans, to co. B.
Snyder James, e. Sept. 5, '62, trans, to co. K.

Recruit.
GreenweU George, e. Feb. 23, '65, trans, to 47th III. Infantry.

COMPANY V.

Privates.
Doman John, e. Aug. 15, '62, trans, to co. B.
Edwards Henry O. e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Sept. 17, '62.
Everlngham Joseph H. e. Aug. 15, '62, trans, to oo. B.
Fursman Henry C. e. Sept. 18.'62, pro. to hospital steward.
Klrkner George, e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '66.
McKown Koberti e. Aug. 16, '62, died at Young's Pt. Feb. 13, '63.
Phillips George, e. Aug. 16, '62. died at Young's Pt. Feb. 20, '63.
Perdue William F. e. Aug. 16, '62, trans, to Co. B.
SHne George Adams, e. Aug. 15, '62, died March 9,'63.
Sonderland Olof, e. Aug. 15. '62, died at Young's Pt. July 16,'63.
Twigs James L. e. Aug. 15,'62, trans, to co. G.

Kecruit.
Kyle John, e. Jan. 26,'65, trans, to 47th 111. Infty.

COMPANX G.

Captains.
George K. HagUtt, com. Aug. 28, '62, res. Jan. 13, '63.
Samuel B. Harts, com. Jan. 13, '63, res. May 30, '63.
Henry 0. Sommers, com. May 30, '63, murdered by Guerrillas

June 13. '64.
John B. MoDermott, com. June 13, '64, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

liieuteuants.

First, Samuel B. Harts, com. Aug. 28, '63, pro.
First. Henry C. Sommers. com. June 13. '63. pro.
First, John E. McDermott, com. May 30, '63, pro.
First, James H. Wyud. com. June 18. '64, m.o. Aucr. 5, '65.
Second, Henry C. Sommers, com. Aug. 28, '62, pro"
Second, John B. McDermott, com. Jan. 13. '63, pro.
Second, James Bradshaw, com. Aug. 1, '65, not mustered, m.o

(as sergt.) Ang. 5, '65.

..^
Sergeant.

.'•First, Morris George W. c. Aug. 12, '63, died at Memphis Dec
;.•> 17, '62.
' mngus George, e. Aug. 9, '62, disd. April 5, '63, disab.

' Wynd James H. e. Aug. 15, '63, pro. Istsergt. then 2d Lieut.
•'Bradshaw James, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Oct. 5, '65. as sergt. com.

as 2d Lieut, but not mustered.
Phillips John S. e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as private.

.Corporals.

Elwell Lewis, e. Aug. 9, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, 65, as sergt. was pris.
of war at AndersonviUe and Millen.

Reader Clinton V. B. e. Aug. 15, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as sergt.
Mitchell Lewis, e. Aug. 16. 63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Mobery Samuel K. e. Aug. 15, '63, disd. March 20, 63, disab.
Sharp Aaron T. e. Aug. 16, '62. trans, to I. 0. Nov. 38, '63.

Musicians.
Bartlett Ephraim, e. Aug. 11, '62. m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Mawbery William 0. e. Aug. 15, '62, private, died at St. Louis
Feb. 1, '63.

Wagoner.
Adams Anson, e. Aug. 15, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Privates.
Atkinson Henrv, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Berdine George W. e. Aug. 11, '63, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Buchard Thomas, e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Jefferson Barracks
Feb. 11, '63.

Brown Keuben W. e. Aug. 16, '63, died at Youngs Pt. Feb. 12, '63.
Bowers Isaac, e. Aug. 15, '62. desrtd. Jan. 16, '63.

Bradshaw William, e. Aug. 15, '62. m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as corpl.
Blanchard Robert A. e. Aug. 15. '62, trans. I. C. Dec. 16, '63.

Brummel Charles, e. July 16, '62, desrtd. Sept. 8, '62.

Broomfleld Obidiah, e. Aug. 14, '62. m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Brown John H. e. Aug. 14, '63, desrtd. pec. 4, '62.

Conroy Charles M. e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Craig Hiram D. e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. Oct. 19, '62.

Conroy James A. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, 65. furlough.
Curtis James, e. Aug. 15, '62, disd. Sept. 9, '63, disab.
Crouch John A. e. Aug. 11, 62, desrtd. Dec. 4, '63.

Cochran James, e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Jan. 16, '63.

Dunne James, e. Aug. 1, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.
Easter Franklin, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. Aug. 6, '65, as corpl.
Easter Noah, e. Oct. 12, '62, died New Albany, Ind. Deo. 7, '63.

Frazier Thomas J. e. Aug. 11, '62. absent sick at m.o. regt.
Grundy James, e. Aug. 15, '62. m.o. Aug. 6, '65, as corpl.
Homer Landow, e. Aug. 13, '62, trans, to co. B.
Harris Charles T. e. Aug. 12, '62. trans, toco. E.
Hartley John J. e. Aug. 15. '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as sergt.
Holmes Jesse N. e. Aug. 16. '62, disd. March 6, '63, disab.
Johnson William, e. Aug. 15, '63, absent sick at m.o. regt.
Klppenbrock Lewis M. e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd Dec. 4, '62.

Keefer Jacob, e. Aug. 12, 62, m.o. Aug. 5, '66.

Klrkman Clement, e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Youngs, Jan. 20, '63.

Klppenbrock Henry A, e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Jan. 16, '63.

Lewis Barney, e. Aug. 15, '63, m.o, July 20, '66.

Lewis Charles, e. Aug. 13, '62. died at Memphis Dec. 15, '62.

Long Joseph M. e. Aug. l3, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Lama John. e. Aug. 8, '62, desrtd. Dec. 4, '62.

Larlmar James, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. Aug. 5. '65.

Layton Sylvester, e. Aug. 14, '62, disd. Feb. 21, '63, disab.
Mttchel Martin, e. July 22, '62, died at Young's Pt. April 14, '63.

Meyer John, e. Aug. 11, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Meyers William J. D. e. Aug. IS, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

McDermot John E. e. Aug. 1, '62, pro. to sergt. maj.
Moore Johns, e. July 28, '62, desrtd. Jan. 16, '63.

Memphis, July 10

,

'63.

Odell George, e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Sept. 10, '62.

Penny Brayton A. e. Aug. 13, '62, disd. April 5, '63, disab.
Porter Jackson, e. Aug. 7, '62, died at Memphis. April 1, '64.

Pernell James M. e. Aug. 14, *62. desrtd. Nov. 18, '63.

Powell Edward, e. Aug. 12, '62, disd. March 11, '63, disab.
Phillips Valentine, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as corpl.
Eaney George B. e. Aug. 15, '62, pro. Q. M. sergt.
Randall Jeremiah E. e. July 28, '62, disd. March 11, '63, disab.
Rose Washmgtou, e. Aug. 15, '63, died at Young's Pt. Jan. 26, '63.

Rice George, e. Aug. 15,^63, desrtd. Dec. 4, '62.

Stock Valentine, e. Aug. 8, '63, disd. Feb. 21. '63, disab.
Sommers William, e. Aug. 5, '63, died July 36. '63.

Sommers Leonard, e. Aug. 15, '62, disd. Dec. 26, '62, disab.
Staples Joshua, e. Aug. 15, '62, died at Mllliken Bend, April 1,

Sherwood Samuel, e. Aug. 10, '62, desrtd. Sept. 11, '63.

Tipton James R. e. Aug. 19, '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Webell George W. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as corpl. was
pris. of war at AndersonviUe and Mellon.

Watts Robert, e. Aug. 16, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as corpL
Wright William, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Worth Samuel R. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, 65.
Watts Robert, e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. Aug. 5. '65, as corpl.
Zuber John J. e. July 28, '63, desrtd. Dec. 6, '62.

Recruits.
Aldrlch George, e. March 6, '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Bailey Henry G. e. March 6, '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Butler John, e. March 6, '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Fox Reed, e. March 6, '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Guyer George, e. March 6, '65. trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Hibbs Evan, e. March 6, '66, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
King Joseph, e. March 6. '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.
Prior Richard, e. March 6, '65, trans, to 47th 111. Inf.

COMPAKY H.
Klrby Patrick, e. Sept. 5, '63, desrtd. Nov. 19, '62.

Moran Michael, e. Sept. 20, '62, died at Memphis, April 6, '64.

COMPANY I.

Captains.
John W. Carroll, com. Aug. 28, '62, disd. March 28, '63.
Patrick Needham, com. March 28. '63, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

lileutenant.
First, Richard Scholes, com. Aug. 28, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Lieutenants.
Second, Daniel Dulany, com. Aug. 28, '62, res. July 11, '63.
Edward Pratt, com. Aug. 1, '65, not mustered, m.o. as sergt.

maj. Aug. 5, '66.

Serseantg.
First, Stater John S. e. Aug. 2, '62, died at NicholsonviUe, Ky.

Nov. 4, '64.

Needham Patrick R. e. Aug. 11, '62, pro. to 1st sergt. then Capt.
Sook James, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. June i, '63, asprlv.
Kendall Dauphin H. e. Aug. 13, '63, m.o. Aug. 6,^65, as Istsergt.
Pratt Edward, e. Aug. 15, '62, pro. sergt. maj.

Corporals.
Smith John, e. Aug. B, '63, m.o. Aug. 6, '65, as prlv.
Rockford David, Aug. 8, '63. m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as sergt.
Walsh Richard, e. Aug. 15, '62, died at LaGrange, Tenn. Sept.

11, 63.
Hungerford Noal, e. Aug, 15. '62, died in AndersonviUe prison,

Oct. 18. '64, No. of grave, 11,140.
Myers George e. Aug. ^62, desrtd. Oct. 7, '62.
Byron Thomas, e. Aug. 14, '62, trans, to 47th 111. Inf. prlv.
Grant Edward, e. Aug. 14, '63, m.o. Aug. 5. '65, as prfr.
Kearns John, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65, as sergt.

Musicians.
Steele Harvey, e. Aug. 13, '62, desrtd. April 29, '63.
Wham Frederick, e. Aug. 27, '62, pro. to principal musician.

Wagoner.
Willits Dudley, e. Aug. 11, '62, disd. Feb. 11, '64, as prlv.

Privates.
Briggs Samuel, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. Sept, 8, '62.
Bachus Francis, e. Aug. 11, '62, died April 11, '68.
Brown Thomas, e, Aug. 8, '62, desrtd. Aug. 30, '62.
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harry Daniel L. e. Aug. XI, '62, desrtd. Oct. 18. '62.

CookHenryH. e. Aug. 14, '62. deartd. Sept.2,'62. ,
, , ,

Curtis George P. e. Aug. 15, '62, sergt. died at KeoKuk, la. Jan.

Crews'Thomas M. e. Aug. 10. '62, desrtd. Sept. 6, '62.

Carey James, e. Aug. 16, '62, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Cullen Mathew, e. Aug. 16, '68, desrtd. Deo. 20, '62.

Dnnnlgan Alpheus, e. Aug. 14, '62. desrtd. Sept. 8, '62.

DlllonTEdward, e. Aug. 15, '66, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Deloug William H. e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Dillon Ohrlstoplier, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. Oct. 6. '62.

Dunue Patrick, e. Aug. if '62, desrtd. Jan. 30, '63.

Bagan William, e.Aug. 15, '62, aesrtd. Sept. 11, '63.^
, „ ,__

Evlns David, e. Aug. 9, '62, died Montgomery, Ala. July 18, '65.

Gabriel Andrew, Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Sept. 7, '62.

Grimes Terrence, e. Aug. 16, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Hodges Alexander, e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Sept. 7 '63.
^, ,

Harding Samuel C. e. Aug. 13, '62, corpl. died at Memphis, Jan.
7 '6a

Heyers Beuben, e. Aug. 14, '62, desrtd. Sept. 9, '62.

Harmon John, e. Aug. —'62. desrtd. Sept. 10. '62.

Hlrsh Benjamin F. e. Sept. 22, '62, m.o. Aug, 5. '65.

Jackson Victor, e. Aug. 15, '62. desrtd. SepJ. 10. '62.

Jones John, e. Aug. 13, '62. trans, to I. C. March 16, '64.

Kershau Thomas, e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Annapolis, Md. Nov. 30,
'64. was pris. of war. ,.„,,„,

Kinney James, e. Aug. 15. '62, dlsd. March 24, '64.

McGlnnls Green, e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Vlcksbupg, July 20, '68.

Murphy Michael, e. Aug. 9, '62, desrtd. Sept. 1, '62.

Moore John S. e. Aug. 9, '62, desrtd. Sept. 1. '62.

Murphy James, e. Aug. — '62, desrtd. Sept. 16, '62.

Orr William, e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Peoria, Oct. 4, '62.

Phillips Andrew, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Powers Thomas, e. Sept. 1, '62, left In prison at Memphis, Tenn.
Dec. 20, '62.

PhUlips William, e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Sept. 6, '62.

Rockford Dayid, e. Aug. 12, '62, appears twice on muster roil.

Kyan James, e. Aug. 11, '62, desrfd. Sept. 11. '62.

Royaler Joshua, e. Aug. 8, '62, died Feb. 1, '63.

Ransom Henry, e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Sept. 10. '62.

Eodgers James, e. Aug. 9, '62, died at Young's Pt. Feb. 18, '63.

Ryan William, e. Aug. 12, '62, desrtd. Sept.^8, '62.

Skldmore William, e. Aug. 29, '62, desrtd. Sent. 6. '62.

Sommers Leonard, e. Aug. 29, '62, dlsd. Feb. 29. '63, disab.
Shultz Samuel, e. Aug. 28, '62. desrtd. Sept. 8. '62.

Sedgwick Charles, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. May 26, '65.

Smith John, e. Aug. 20. ^62, appears twice on muster roll.

Shomaker William, e. Aug. 12, '62, dlsd. Jan. 20, '63, to enlist In
Miss. Marine Brigade.

Smythe Charles, e. Aug. 9, '62, trans, to I. C. June 14, '64.

Sealer Anthony, e. Sept. 1, '62, desrtd. Oct. 2, '62.

Sill William M. e. Aug. 11, '62, died at Miiiiken's Bend, March
14, '63.

Tbenne Mathias, e. Sept. 17, '62, absent sick at m.o. Regt.
Turner John 6. e. Aug. 16, '62, desrtd. Sept. 8, '62.

Taggert Robert M. e. Aug. 20. '62, disd. June 23, '63, disab.
Tyler Cassius M. e. Aug. 18, '62, desrtd. Sept. 11, '62.

Van Volson Joshua, e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. July 29, '65, furlough.
Walker Samuel, e. Aug. 18, '62, desrtd. Sept. 11, '62.

Wasterman Charles O. e. Aug. 19, '62, desrtd. Sept. 4, '62.

Walsh Edward, e. Aug. 12, '62, desrcd. Jan. 19, '63.

Walsh John, e. Sept. 17, '62, m.o. Aug. 6. '65.

Walsh James, e. Sept. 17. '62, sergt. died at Jefferson Barracks,
Mo. April 1, '64.

Walsh wmiam, e. Sept. 17, '62, m.o. Aug. 6, '66.

COMPANY K.

Captain.

Lyman W. Clark, com. Aug. 28, '62, pro. MaJ.

Sergeant.
Burch Preston H. e. Feb. 15, '62, died at Young's Pt. Feb. 8, '68.

Corporal.
Balfour James, e. Aug. 15, '62, disd March 8, '63, disab.

Private*.
Alder George, e. Aug. 28, '62, trans, to co. C.
Alexander Gilbert, e. Aug. 12, '62, trans, to co. C.
Carroll Michael, e. July 22, '62, trans, to co. C.
Cllver Thomas H. e. Aug. 28, '62, desrtd. Oct. 5, '62.

Evans David, e. Aug. 4. '62. trans, to co C.
Guy Samuel S. e. Aug. 12, '62, absent, sick, supposed disd.
Howard John, e. Aug. 28. '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '65.

Hulen Patrick, e. Aug. 22, '62, trans, to co. C.
King Alexander, e. July 28, '62, trans, to co. I.

Leonard John C. e. Aug. 15, '62, desrtd. Oct. 6, 62.
O'Nell Peter, e. July 17, '62, died at Memphis, March 29, '64.

Fattee John F. e. Aug. 15. '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '66.

Robbie August, e. Aug. 11, '62, desrtd. Oct. 11, '62.

Snyder Daniel H. e. Aug. 6, '62, desrtd. Oct. 7, '62.

Tinker Daniel A. e. Aug. 15, '62, disd. Aug. 26, '64, disab.
Vandover Gilbert, e. Aug. 16, '62, m.o. Aug. 5, '66.

Wham John I. e. Aug. 28, '62, dlsd. March 8, '65, disab.
Yaw George L. e. Aug. 12, '62, absent, sick, supposed dlsd.

Unasslgmed Becruitii.

Davidson James, e. Feb. 24, '65, m.o. May 25, '66.

McQuirk Bernard, e. Sept. 22, '64.

Swartwood Henry, e. sub.

26

112th Infantry.

COMPANY D.
Privates.

Eeazel John D. e. Aug. 12, '62, m.o. June 20, '65, as cord|
Sergeant Jeremiah, e*Aug. 12, '62, died at Lexington, Ky. Feb.

H '68.
Recrnit.

Dardls Michael, e. Jan. 24, '65, trans, to 65th III. Inf.

113th Infantry.
SeTEeant Major.

Wilson Samuel A. e. reduced to ranks co. F June 1, '86.

COMPANY B.

Ijleutenant.

First, John JeScoat, com. Aug. 26. '63, m.o. June 20, '65. pro.

from 2d Lieut. „Corporals.
EonnsavlUe Milton H. e. Aug. 9, '62, sergt. absent, sick at m.o.

Blalrfcyal S. e. Aug. 8, '62, died at Miiiiken's Bend, May 8, '63.

Blanchet John R. e. Aug. 11, '62, m.o. June 20, '65, as sergt.

Musician.
Nicholas Albert T. e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 20, '65, as private.

Privates.

Beech Blley V. e. Aug. 6, '62. m.o. July 1, '65, as prlsr. of war.
Carroll Thomas, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 20, '65, as corpl.

Fundy John, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 20, '65.

Shays George E. e. Aug. 6, '65, died July 30, '63.
. . „

Van Valkenburg Geo. T. e. Aug. 7, '62. died at St. Louis, April

8, '63.

Wheel Alexander, e. Aug. 13, '62, desrtd.

COMPANY JB.

Recruits. ^'
Bittie Melcheur, e. March 3, '65, trans, to 120th 111. Inf.

"
Behrens Ferdinand, e. March 8, '66, trans, to 180th 111. Inf.

Deitz Andrew, e. March 10, '65, trans, to 120th 111. mf.
Edller Lawrence, e. March 8, '65, trans, to 120th 111. Inf. «1

Steellg Christian, e. March 8, '65, trans, to 120th 111. Inf.

COMPANY V.

Kecrult.
Wilson Samuel A. e. Nov. 4, '63. trans, to 120th 111. inf.

COMPANY H.
Private.

Hill Moses W. e. Aug. 11, <62, died at Corinth, Miss. Sept. 6, '68.

TTnasslgrned Kecrult.
Schulie John<6. e. Feb. 24, '63, m.o. May 11, '66.

114th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Lieutenant.
First, Lewis R. Hedrlck, com. May 27, '66, not m.o. Cas 2d lleut.)

Sergreant.

Pettlbone Ashley, Aug. 11, '62, disd. Aug. 3, '64, as private.

Privates.
Contrail Edward D. e. Aug. 11, '68, fifer, died at Vloksburg

Lemows Joseph, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. Aug. 3, '65, prls. of war.
PettlcordHiggInson,Aug. 11,'62. m.o.Aug. 8,'65.

Rhodes Wm.^. e. Aug. II, '62. died at Memphis March 19, '63.

South Leonard, e. Aug. 14, '68, m.o. Aug. 3, '65.

Wells John, e. Aug. 13, '62, dlsd. April 9, '64, disab.

Becrult.
George James M. e. Aug. 11, '62, trans, to E8th 111. Inf.

COMPANY I.

Corporal.
Woodron Samuel, e. July 25, '62, died Keokuk, la. Jan. 30, '63.

Privates.
Atkinson Robert V, e. July 25, '62. m.o. July 16, '65, prls. war.
Johnson Orren D. e. July 25, '62. died at Memphis Jan. 18, '63.^.

McCane Wm. e. July 25, '62, m.o. Aug. 8, '66, prls. war.
Sayle Amos, e. July 25, '62, m.o. Aug. 3. '65.
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116th Infantry.

COMPANY G.
a

Corporal.
Volney Prosper, e. Aug. 14, '63, m.o. June 7, '65, prlv. waspris.

llStta Infantry.

Recrnlt.

Fewy Mark, e. Feb. 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 1, '65.

123d Infantry.
Unassi^ned Kecralt.

Murray James, e. March 33, '65.

130th Infantry (as Kevlved).

COMPANY F.

Captain.
John D. Rouse, com. Sept. 2, '63. m.o. Aug. 15, '66.

132d Infantry (lOO days).

COMPANY D.

Ijieatenant.
First, H. A. Anderson, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Sergreant.
First, Gibson Andrew P. e. May 8, '64. m.o. Oct. 17, '84.

Musician.
Thatcher William, e. May 9, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Wagoner.
Darnel John, e. May 9, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Privates.
Bradshaw Charles e. May 13, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.
Beesm, Charles N. e. May 5, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Darby Henry H. e. May 8, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Eaton Robert N. e. May 5. '64. m.o. Oct. 17, '64.
Furman Warner, e. May 37, '64, died Paducah. Ky. July 12, '64.
Herbert Daniel K. e. May 6. '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Humphrey T. T. e. May 5. '64, died at home Aug. 14, '64.

64.

Jay W. Scott, e. May 6. '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.
Lockwood W. P. e. May 5, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Oldham Charles T. e. May 25, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, 'b-..

Plummer Charles H. e. May 10. '64. m.o. Oct. 17, '64.
Robinson James, e. May 2, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.

Richardson B. D. e.May 5, '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64. ^
River Matthew, e. May 26. '64, m.o. Oct. 17, '64.-* •
Smith Wliliam, e. May 2, '64, m.o. Oct. 17. '64.

Welton Charles P. e. May 5, 64, m.o. Oct. 17. 64.

Recruit.
m.o. Oct. 17, '64.Bartholomew A. G.

Private.
Freudenburger Edward, e. May 13, '64, m.o. Sept. 34, '64.

139th Infantry (100 Days).
Colonel.

Peter Davidson, com. June 1, '64, m,o. Oct. 38, '64.

Adjutant.
David N. Sanderson, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '6'

Quartermaster.
John Bryner, com. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

COMPANY A.

Sergreants.
Dunbar Edward B. e. May 7, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Corporals.
Bntz Thomas, e. May 9, '64, m.o, Oct. 28, '64.

Privates.
Clifton Joseph H. e. June 1, 64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Shepard Mortimer H. e. May 10. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64,

Thompson HenryJB. e. May 9. '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

Thomas Charles H. e. May 9, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

COMPANY C.

Privates.
'64 as corpLCampbell James B. e. May 6, '64, m.o. Oct. 28

Lawless Thomas, e. May 5, '64, m.o, Oct. 28, •o«.

Lynch James, e. May 7, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

COMPANY B.

Captain.
George W. Odell, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

liieutenants.
First, Henry M. Evans, com. June 1, '64. m.o. Oct. 28. '64.

Second, Alonzo Attwood, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Sergreants.
Horsley Thomas B. e. May 27, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64.

Orr William, e. May 7, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64. as private.
Uppole John, Sr. e. May 20, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Soper Albert, e. May 37, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

Corporals.
Clariage Francis A. e. May 10, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Curran Ebon, e. May 4, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64, as private.
Moflatt Alvah, e. May 4^ '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Musicians.
Grove Ruben M. e. May 19, '64, m.o. Oct, 28. '64.

Crandall John W. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

"Wagroner.
Brooks Earl, e. May 5, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

Privates.
Barfoot Edward A. e. May 6, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Barnes James E. e. May 14, '64. m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

Breed William H. e. May 10, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Cook James H. e. April 37, '64, m.o. Feb. 18, '65, to date Oct. 18,
'64.

Couse Irven, e. May 8. '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Cummins Thomas, e. May 23, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.

Camp James, M. e. May 30, '64, died at Cairo, 111. Aug. 2, '64.
Dunlevy Andrew, e. May 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, 64.
Deel William, e. May 6, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Douglas Sam or Lem. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 15, '64, to re-e.
Dukes William, e. May 17, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64.
Deal James N. e. May 23. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Dubord Wliliam P. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Dubord William H. e. May 19, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Ellington George, e. May 17, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.
Haley William, e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 38, '64.
Hedrick Simpson, e. May 14, '64, m,o. Oct. 38, '64.
Hedrick Thomas J. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Hayes William, e. May 23, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Hardin Charles, e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Hart Pliny M. e. May. 23, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Hackney Washington, e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Harseby Zebulon, e. May 18. '64, Ai.o, Oct. 28, '64.
Huhcock or Hitchcock F. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Harrison Ira D. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64. corpl.
Hill John, e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Kinnah Joseph, e. May 17, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
King James, e. May 4, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Livingston Wm. M. e. May 5, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Linsey Abraham D. e. May 17, '64, desrtd. July 36, '64.
Moffatt Joseph W. e. May 4. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
McMaster Henry, e. May 9. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Martin Bradley, e. May 4, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
McClown Joseph, e. May 6, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
MoGinley Edward, e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
McDaniels Stadden, e. May 16, '64,.m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Mohrmon Casper, e, May 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Opdyke Benjamin, e. May 3. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Richardson Christopher C. e. M:ay 29, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64.
Russell Joseph, e. May 34, '64, m.o. Oct. 28 '64
Roth Henry, e. May 30. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Shepard Benjamin, e. May 17. '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Stondminger Chas. e. Mays. '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64
Sweely Michael, e. May 17, '64, m.o. Oci . 28. '64.
Sheeler William R. e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct 38 '64.
Senders John P. e. May 31, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Tuthill Samuel, e. May 34, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Uppole John. jr. e. May 20, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Uppole Henry, e. May 30, '64. m.o. Oct. 38, '64,
Walker Thomas, e. May 6, '64, m.o. Oct. 38. '64.
Wakefield Henry, e. May 25, '64, m o. Oct. 28, '64.
Wilson Richard, e. May 26, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

COMPANY P.

Captain.

Herman W. Snow, com, June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

lileutenants.

First, Appleton K. Fitch, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.
Second, James 0. McKenzie, com. June 1, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.
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Sergeants.

First, Scholes Samuel D. e. May 18, '64, m.p. Oct. 88,

Tapham Levi A. e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

na^rai- n.an Tt. a IVTftTr Iff )Rd m.O. OCt. 38. '64.Carter Geo. R. e. May 16, .., —— - -..---
Wann William O. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Corporals.
Farr Robert L. e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Soholes Thomas ,). e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Frost John B. e. May 24, '64, m.o, Oct. 28, '64.

Rummell Chas. F. e. May 19, '84, m.o. Oct. 28, 64,

StUwell Robert J. e. May 25, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Musician.
Towers Calvin G. e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Privates.

COMPANY I.

Privates.

Hlttle Henry, e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct, 28, '64.

-_. '64.
'64.
'64.
'64.

Ayling Chas. W. e. iSay 18, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '84.

Bliss Wm. E. e. May 24. '64, m.o. Oct. 15, '64 to re-e.

Ballance Charles, e. May 30, '64. m.o. Oct 88, '64.

BarluKer Horatio G. e. May 12, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '84.

Boyd John. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.„ ,„ _

Barnum Wm. 0. e. May 12, '64. m.o. Oct. 28. '64.

Brooks Thomas G. e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. ?
Brown Charles, e. May 19, '64, m.o. Oct. 28
Barstow Alfred, e. May 18. '64, m.o. Oct. 8;

Cowell Joseph H. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct.
: .

CafEyn James, May 21, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, "«4.

Comegys Charles M. e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Conrad Oliver, e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Clarke Emit M. e. May 21, '64, m.o. Oct 88, '64.

Clauson Henry J. e. May 80, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Day Fred J. e. May 13, '84, m.o. Oct. 88. '64,

Day Wm. H. e. May 12, '84, m.o. Oct. 28, '64,

Davis Edward L. e. May 13, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Elson Martin, e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64. „ . „ ,„ ^
Fuller Jonas, e. May 19, '64, died at Merrlmac Sta. Mo. Oct.8,'64

Fuller Jonas J. e. May 19, '64, m.p. Oct. 88, '64.

Felehmer Francis L. e. M;ay 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Gray Bushrod, e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Glllet Edward, e. May 11, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Gray James A. e. May 11, 84, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Hamaker Abram G e. May 17, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Hoag Albert S. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '84.

Horendin George W. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '84.

Hunter William F. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Harsch Goodly, e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Hotehkiss James M. e. May 20, '64. m.o. Oct. 15, '64, to re-e.

Jeffries Thomas, e. May 21, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Keeler Edmond, e. May 19, '64, m.o. Oct. 15, '64, to re-e.

Kent George V. e. May 13, '84, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Loomls Charles M. e. May 20, '84 m.o. Oct 28, '84.

Lathy J. F. e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '84.

Morrow Nathan, e. May 23, '64, m.o. Oct 28, '64.

McKenzle William, e. May 11. '84, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Moore Herschel J. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64.

Miller Charles, e. May 12, '64. m o. Oct. 88, '64.

Moore Thomas Ford, e. May 11, '64. m.o. Oct. 15, '64, to re-e,

Paige Kascoe F. e. May 26, '64, m.o. Oct. 28. '64.

Patten Joseph G. e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct 88, '64.

Patten Robert, e. May 12, '64. m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Sulnn Frederick, e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

auschkolb Peter C. May 80, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '84.

Rouse Rudolphus. e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct 28, '64.

Steel Lewis G. e. May 21, '64, m.o. Oct 28. '84.

Smith Fra kiln, e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct 28, '64.

Sharp William, e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '84.

Steinke Theodore G. e. May 86, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Stowell Albert N. e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 15, '64, to re-e.

Thompson James B. e. May 13, 64, trans, to co. C.
VanUoren Jacob, e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Wertzel WlUlam, e. May 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Whitham Joseph S. e. may 18, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Wilbur Charles B. e. May 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Williamson Franklin, e. may 16, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Welgand Philip, e. May 12, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Wright Roswell B. e. May 14, '64. m.o. Oct 88, '84.

Whittlesey Henry B. e. May 14, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

COMPANY G.

Privates.

Brltton Andrew, e. May 30, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

McCraw Geo. e. May 20, '64, m.o. Aug. 15, '64, to re-e.
Wilcox Chas. L. e. May 30, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

COMPANY H.

# Privates.

Burns Qulnstns, e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 28, '64.

Cox Thomas, e. May 31, '64. m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Dolstrum John, e. M^ 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Plum Daniel, e. May 84, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Richmond Austin, e. May 84. '84, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Shellenbarger Chas. J. e. May 24, '64, m.o. Oct. 88, '64.

Williamson David, e. May 83, '64, desrtd. June 6, <64.

Watson James T. e. May 30, '64, m.o. Oct>88, '64.

146tli Infantry (One Year).

COMPANY V.

Privates.
Frazee Henry, e. Sept. 15, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

GUstrap Levi, e. Sept. 15, '64, m.o. July 8, '66.

COMPANY G.

Privates.
Byhee William H. e. Sept. 5, '84, disd. April 8, '65, disab.

Barkley Henry, e. Sept. 5, '64, dlsd. June 12, '65.

Button Almon M. e. Sept. 6. '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Cassel George,e. Sept 6, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Heller Daniel H. e. Sept. 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '85, as corpl.

Jerome Samuel, e. Sept. 6. '64, m.o. July 8. '65.

Jerome Ellas, e. Sept. 5, '64. m.o. July 8, '65.

Llsenby John W. e. Sept. 5,' 64, died at Camp Butler, 111. Jan.
4. '66.

Llsenby Geo.W. e. Sept. 5, '64, died at Camp Butler, in.Feb.5,'65.
itrniai. T/,111, TT A finnt. R 'Kd_ m.o. .Tnlv fi. 'B5.Miller John H. e. Sept. 6, '64, m.o. July 8, '65
- - ".. e. Sept 5, '64,m.o. Jul;-"

'"'

, m R. e. Sept. 5. '64,

Jan. 16, '65.

Orton Luther M. e. Sept 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '65, as corpl.

Ramsey William R. e. Sept. 5, '64, died at Camp Butler, 111.

Sharp William F. e. Sept. 5, '64, m.o. July 8. '65.

ShellMUton, e. Sept. 5, '64, dlsd. June IS, '85.

Stutes Perry, e. Sept. 5. absent sick at m.o. of reg.

Thomas Daniel O. e. Sept. 5. '84, m.o. July 8, '65.

Thorp John W. e. Sept.l6 '84, m.o. July 8, '85.

Wren Oscar, e. Sept. 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

COMPANY I.

Lieutenant.
Second, John D. Hechathorn, com. Jan. 29, '65, not mustered,

m.o. as sergt. July 8, '65.

Sergreants.

Murchant Sam. P. e. Aug. 30, '64, disd. June 17. '65 as prl. dlsab.
Barber John C. e. Sept 2, '64. disd. June 14, '85.

^
Heckathorn Jno.D. e.Sept. 8, '64, (sub.) com. as 2d Lieut, but not

mustered, m.o. July 8, '65 as 1st sergt.

Corporals.
Smith Martin V. e. Sept. 8, '84, m.o. July 8, '85 as sergt.

Cloud William M. e. Aug. 30, '64, (sub.) m.o. July 8, '65 as sergt.

Musicians.
Gass Geo. M. e. Aug. 84, '64, m.o. July 8, '65 as prl.

Pitt Fred. H. e. Aug. 30, '84, m.o. July 8, '65 as prl.

Privates.
Aukland Shradrack, e. Aug. 31, '64, m.o. July 8. '65.

Adleman Chas. e. Sept. 1, '84. dlsd. June 14, '65.

Beasmore Robert G. e. Sept. 6, '64, disd. June 14, '65.

Bealty John, e. Aug. 31, '64, m.o. July 8, '65

Burt Edwara B. e. Aug. 26, '64,;m,o. July 8, '65.

Barnes Joshua, e. Aug. 29, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Brown Millard F. e. Sept. 5, '64, dlsd. June 15. '65.

Bamber Robert, e. Sept. 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Boden Simon J. e. Sept. 1. '64, m.o. July 8, '65 sub.
Gulp Franklin B. e. Aug. 81, '64, m.o. July 8, '65 as musician.
Conrad William E. e. Sept 5, '64, m.o. Jufy 8, '65.

Cress Andrew J. e. Aug. 31, '64. dlsd, April 13, '66,

Donahue Chas. M. e. Sept. 6. '64. m.o. July 8, '65 as musician.
Dunbar Robert, e. Sept 8. '64, dlsd. June 14, '65..

Dougherty Samuel H. e. Sept 9, '64, dlsd. June 14, '65 disab.
Forbes Henry, e. Sept. 13, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Fosdiok John, e. Sept. 6, '64, absent without leave since April
80, '65, reported as desrtd.

Gates James F. e. Sept. 7, '64, m.o. July 8, '86, sub.
Biggins Oscar S. e. Sept. 1, '64, m.o. July 8. '65.

Hlner Isaac, e. Aug. 24, '84, died at Gamp Butler Feb. 13, '65.

Hartz John H, e. Sept 2, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Holt Jonah F. e. Sept 8, '64. m.o. July 8, '65.

Jones Amos P. e. Sept 1, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Long Thomas, e. Sept, 6. '64, m.o. July 8, '65,

Mc(5ullongh Isaac P. e. Sept. 85, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Merrill John, e. Sept. 6, '64, pro. 2a Lieut, co. K, 47th 111. Inf.

March 23 '65.

MoMuUln Aljsolom, e. Sept 5, '84, dlsd. June 15, '65.

McMullin Chas. E. e. Sepl 1, '64, disd. June 14, '65.

Robinson Thomas, H. e. Aug. 29, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Rogers James, e. Sept 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '65, sub.
Rogers David, e. Sept 5, '64, m.o. July 8, '65, sub.
Reed Campbell M. e. Sept. 10,'64, m.o. July 8, '66.

Storey Jacob, e. Sept 29, '64, m.o. July 8, '65.

Schleigh Robert P. e. Sept 6,'64, m.o. July 8, '65, sub.
Schrader William, e. Sept. 6, '64, m.o. July 8.'66, sub.
SCllwell John, e. Sept 9,^64, m.o, July 8.'65.

Tussing Joseph A. e. Sept. 8, '64, m.o. July 8,'65, as corpl. sub.
Upton Thomas S. e. Aug. 85,'64, m.o. July 8, '66.

Watts Geo. W. e. Aug. 31).'64, m.o. July 8,'65.

Westerfield Samuel F. e. Aug. 31,'64, m.o. July 8,'65.
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Becrultd.
Crawford George, e. Sept. 1S,'64, desrtd. Oct. 20, '64.
Smith Wafle, e. March 88, '65. m.o. July 8,'65.

147th Infantry.

COMPANY B.

Corporal.
McGregor William, e. Feb. 1,'66, dlsd. June 88, '65, dlsab.

COMPANY I.

Private.
Mllbun Auguat. e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 80, '66.

148tli Infantry.

COMPANY C.

Corporal.
Smith James W. e. Feb. '65, m.o. May 85, '65.

PriTates,
Clar)!: Thomas M. e. Feb. 8. '65, absent sick at m.o. of regiment.
Griffer Eugene, 6. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 5/65.
Haley Woolten, e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 6, '65.
Hill John. e. Feb. 8. '65, m.o. Sept. 5. '65.
Harbers Hair C. e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Hlllier Edgar, e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
McClary John P. e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Shepherd John M. e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65, as corpl.
Shote John W. e. Feb. 8.'65. m.o. Sept. 5,'65.
Smith Robert S. e. Feb. 8,'65. m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Baylor Joseph F. e. Feb. 8. '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Taylor Wm. F. e. Feb. 8. '65, m.o. May 84, '65.

COMPANY F.

Corporal.
Armor Geo. W. e. Feb..ll,'65, vet. m.o. Sept. 5. '66, as aergt.

Privates,
Blakewell John, e. Feb. ll,'65rm.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Ooe Samupl K. e. Feb. 11, '65. m.o. Sept. 5,'65.
Dixon Hai-rlson W. e. Feb. 11. '65, m.o. Sept. 5. '65.
Eddlngs Martin M. e. Jan. 30,'65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Myers Jacob S. e. Feb. 11. '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Phelps George, e.Feb. 2, '65, m.o. July 82.'65.
Keed Morrow P. e. Feb. 11 '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.
Beed John 0. e. Feb. 11,'65, m.o. Sept. 5.'65.
Rounds William, e. Feb. 11,'65, m.o. Sept. 5,'65.
Snyder Martin H. e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Sept. 5,'65.
White George, e. Feb. 11,'65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.

COMPANY G.

Privates.
MoSatt Joseph W. e. Feb. 8. '65, m.o. Sept. 5, <65.

Moffatt Aquilla, e. Feb. 6, '65, died at Nashville, Tenn. April 9,
•65.

Ray Charles, e. Feb. 8. '65, desrtd. Feb. 17. '65.

Robertson George, e. Feb. 4, '65, desrtd. Feb. 19, '65.

StUwell Robert J. e. Jan. 86. 65. m.o. Sept. 5, '65.

Uppole Wm. H. e. Feb. 4, '65, m.o. Sept. 5. '65.

Ubpole John, e. Feb. 4, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.

wheeler Lewis, e. Feb. 1, '65, m.o. Sept. 5, '65.

COMPANY I.

Walter V. W. o. Feb. 11,

Private.
'65, m.o. June 19, '65.

149th Infantry.

COMPANY A.
Privates.

Brown Jacob, e. Jan 27. '65, m.o. Jan. 87, '66.

Goodrun Herbert, e. Feb. 1, '65, absent sick at m.o. of Regt.

COMPANY P.

Private.
Welch John, e. Jan. 26, '65, desrtd. Feb. 14, '65.

151st Infantry (1 year),

Ijientenant Colonel.
Herman W. Snow, e. Feb. 25, '65, m.o. Jan. 24,

Principal Munloian.
Pierce Henry C. e. m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

COMPANY A.

liientenant.
Second, Harrison Elliott, com. Feb. 21, '65, res. June 12, '65.

Serseantg.
Merwln Dovllla W. e. Feb. ] 7, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Hulse Henry N. e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Nov. 8, '65, as priv.
Mason Isaac F, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Corporals.
DeWitt Samuel S. e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as sergt.

Buck William, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24,
'

'

Hammet Wm. H. e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
3 Joseph, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.Walters

;

Wasoner.
McCowan Joseph, e. Feb. 9. '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Privates.
Anderson Simeon, e. Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Amsier William, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Arends Henry, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Bates Chauncy, e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Buck John M. e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Aug. 28, '65.

Blrkle William, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Oct. 6, '65.

Boerchus Loburtus, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Brown John, e. Feb. 9, '65. m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Crow Isaac M. or W. e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Crotz Baltzer B. e. Feb. 3, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as corpl.
Clayton Isaac, e. Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Davis Isaac, e. Feb. 1. ^5, m.o. Sept. 8, '65.

Dowdell Jackson, e. Feb. 8, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Edwards Thomas H. e. Feb. 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Errion Richard, e. Feb. 11, '65. m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Elliott Harrison, e. Feb. 9, '65, pro. to 8d lleut.
Farnstock Charles, e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Graham Andrew, e. Feb. 15. '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Hunt Arctus L. e. Feb. 2, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Hay George, e. Feb. 8, '65. m.o. Jan. 24. '66.
Howard James L. e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Ready Alexander, e.Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Nov. 8, '65.

King Daniel, e. Feb. 14. '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Lottmanu Henry, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Lapton Edward, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Lamay Joseph, e. Feb. 10, '65, absentslckat m.o. Regt.
Largent Sanlord, e. Feb. 14, '65, m.o. Nov. 2, '65.
Morse Samuel M. e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.
Martin Bradley, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Martin Amos K. e. Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.
Stockton James C. e. Feb. 14, '65, m.o. ,Jan. 24. '66.
Smith John W. e. Feb. 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

Thomas James W. e. Feb. 13, '65. m.o. Jan. 34, '66.
Vanpatten Washington, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Wakefield John T. e. Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as corpl.
Woods Patrick, e. Jan. 30, '65, m.o. Jan. 34, '66.
Wilson Edward T. e. Jan. 31, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '86.
Woodruff Ambros H. e, Feb. 2, '65, died Quincy, 111. Feb. 20, '66

COMPANY B.

Privates.
Barrlnger William, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Wilson William, e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

COMPANY E.

Captain.
Herman W. Snow, com. Feb. 33, '65, pro. Lieut.-Col.

Lieutenant.
First, George R. Carter, com. Feb. 26, '65, pro. 8d lleut. m.o.

Feb. 84, '66.

Serjeants.
Ballance Charles L. e. Feb. 16. '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as prlv.
Gray James, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24. '66, as priv.
Neadles William E. e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as priv.

Corporals.
Darr Francis G. e. Feb. 13. '65, absent sick at m.o. of Regt.
Comeggs Charles M. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 84, '66. as sergt.
Smith Franklin, e. Feb. 16, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66, as gergt.

Musician.
Clifton Joseph, e. Feb. 18. '65, desrtd. July 29, '65.

Privates.
Barron John, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24. '66.
Carroll John W. e. Feb. 10, '65, died Columbus, 6a. Auit. 12 '65
Cameron John, e. Feb. 15, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66 • •"
Buck James A. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66
ClarkEmmettM. e. Feb. 9. '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '68 A
Clark J. Q. A. e. Feb. 13, '65. m.o. Jan. 84, '66.

*
Orandall Moses H. e. Feb. 18. '65, absent sick at m.o. of Eegt.
CarterGeorgeR. e.Feb. 17, >65i. pro. to 2d lleut.
Desmond Patrick, e. Feb. 11, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66
DrlscoU Thomas, e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66
Dugdall Edward, e. Feb. 9, '65, m.o. Jan 24 '66
Eaton Edward F. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66.
Felghner Francis L. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24 '66.
Frye Samuel, e. Feb. 14, '66, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
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Faller Jonu, e. Feb. 9, 'SS, m.o. Jiin. Si, 'SB.
Fuller Ephralm, e. Feb. 14, 65, m.o. Jan. 24. '68.
Sroffy George, e. Feb. 16, '66, m.o. Jan. Hi, '66.
Griggs William H. e. Feb. 10, '66, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Oreen Silas J. e. Feb. 10, '6S, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Hogan William, e. Feb. 13, '66, desrtd. July 29, '65.
Kaln Barney, e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Nave Peter, e. Feb. 13. '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Ople Honry, e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o, Jan. 24, '66.
Selser William. e.Feb. 10. '65, m.o. Jan. 24. '66.

Sanders John P. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Snow Herman W. e. Feb. 17, '66, pro. Capt.
Van Patten William, e. Feb. 17. '65. m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

Van Norman William, e. Feb. 17, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Watson William, e. Feb. 10. '66, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Wetzler Adam, e. Feb. 1, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.

COMPANY G.

Sereeant,
Mactarlane James, e. Feb. 16, '65, private desrtd. Oct. 27, '65.

Musicians.
Mccormick Tbomas I. e. Feb. 14, '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Pierce Henry 0. e. Feb. 16, '65, pro. to Fife MaJ.

Privates.
Dredge Henry W. e. Feb. 16. '66. m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
Hanna William H. e. Feb. 16. '65, m.o. Jan. 24, '66.
HcHenryJobn, e. Feb. 20. '65, desrtd. Feb. 25, '66.
Hurry Elijah, e. Feb. 14, '65, desrtd. Oct. 29, '65.

COMPANY I.

FriTates.
Hills or Hilli William, e. Feb. 6, '65, desrtd. Feb. 20, '66.
Uorgan James, e. Feb. 6, '65, desrtd. Feb. 20, '65.

COMPANY K.
Dunlap John, e. Feb. 4, '65, desrtd. Feb. 24, '65.

154th Infantry.

COMPANY G.

Privates,
Gray Noah B. e. Feb. 17, '65, m.o. Sept. 18, '65.
Uifford Andrew J. e. Feb. l7, '65, m.o. Sept. 18, '65.

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Hazell David, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. Feb. 24, '65.
Peterson George, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. Feb. 24, '65.

165th Infantry (1 Year).

COMPANY A.

Captain.
Jacob B. Teagley, com. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. Sept. 4, '65.

Privates.
Deering Paul. e. Feb. 22, '65, m.o. Sept. 4, '65.
Oachsle Matthias, e. Feb. 20, '65, m.o. Sept. 4, '66.
Schuster Frank, e, Feb. 23, '65, m.o. Sepfc 4, '65. as sergt.

COMPANY F.

Private.
Watson William B. e. Jan. 23, '65, m.o. Aug. 23, '65.

COMPANY G.

Lieutenant.
First, John Miller, com. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. Sept. 4, '65.

Sergeants.
Wood Francis M. e. Fe'\ 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '66.
Helmbolt Geo. e. Feb. 21, '65, desrtd. March 2. '65.
Berry John, e. Feb. 28, '68, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Corporals.
Bnrke James, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.
Kelsey Peter, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.
Wells Plnnibus M. e. Feb. 22, '65, m.o. Sept. i, '65.
Cadlin Edward, e, Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '66.

Privates.
Adam KobertH. e. Feb. 20, '66. desrtd. March 2. '65.
Barnes James, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.
Burnes Patrick, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.
Brown Geo. H. e. Feb. 24, '65, deserted. March 2, '65.
Buyrne James, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.
Canady John, e. Feb, 24, '65, desrtd. March 2. '65.
Crawley Dennis, e. Feb. 28, '65, desrtd, March 2, '65.
Cosmer orpasbpian David, e. Feb. 17, '66, desrtd. March 2, '65,

'65.

Davidson Robert, e. Feb. 23, '66, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Dailey Thomas, e. Feb. 24, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Dickson John, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Eaean James, e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

FaUey John H. e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Falrfleld Eesterfler, e. Feb. 80, '65, desrtd. March 2,
Frost John, e. Feb. 24. '66, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Hurley Thomas, e. Feb. 21. '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Ives Thomas, e. Feb. 23. '65. desrtd. March 2, '65.

Jones George, e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Kllley Thomas, e. Feb. 20. '66, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Leonard Klchard, e. Feb. 20. '65. desrtd. March 2, '66,

Lynch Michael, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd March 2, '65.

Morris Henry, e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2. '65.

Moore John, e. Feb. 23, '65. desrtd March 2, '65.

Maloy John e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Miller John, e. Feb. 80, '65, pro. to 2d lleut.

Neaele Augustine, e. Feb. 21, '65, died Tallahoma, Tenn. June
25, '65.

Neadon William, e. Feb. 28, '65, desrtd. March 2. '65.

Neeley William, e. Feb. 20. '65 desrtd. March 2, '65.

Belley John, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 8, '65.

Reed James, e. Feb. 20, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Beedman Henry, e. Feb. 24, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Shutt Paul C. e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

Smith James H. e. Feb. 23, '65, desrtd. March 2, '65.

2d Cavalry.

COMPANY A.

Becruits.
Underwood James A. e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to co. £ as oonsol.
Wright Ben}. L. e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to co. E as consol.

Unassifirned Recruit.
Bates John A. e. Dec. 23, '64.

3d Cavalry.

COMPANY B.

Sergrearut.
Dorwln William 0. e, Aug. 13, '61, pro. to 2d Lieut.

Corporal.
La Bonr William J. e. Aug. 13, '61, 1st sergt. died at BatesTllie,

Ark. June 9, '62, fall from his horse.

Privates.
Erwin Richard, e. Aug. 13. '61, dis. June 13, '62, disab.
Erwin Philip, e. Aug. 13, '61, m.o. Sept. 5, '64.

Veteran Recruit.
Wagoner Fred. e. Aug. 13, '61, dis. Nov. 7, '62, dIsab.

COMPANY K.
Veteran Recruit.

Harkness Kelton W. e. Aug. 12, '62, trans, to co. A as consol.

3d CoDsoIidated Cavalry.

COMPANY B.

Recruit.
Burke James, e. Jan. 24, '65, m.o. Oct. 10, '65.

Unassigrned Recruits.
Bain, John, e. March 25, '65.

Bowen Frank, e. March 2, '65.
Connors Henry, e, Feb. 24, '65.

Connay Martin, e. March 2, '65.

Donley Joseph, e. March 8, '65.

Evers William, e. March 10. '65.

Greer William, e. April 1, '65.

Jackson John M. e. March 2, '65,
Kelly James, e. March 25, '65.

Parks John, e. Feb. 24, '65.

Phillips John, e. April 5, '65.

Rogers George W. e. March 21, '66.

Stout Jerry, e. March 31, '65.

Smith Charles, e. March 31, '65.

Splcer John C. e. March 3, '65.

Sullivan George, e. Feb. 24. '65.
Tide William H. e. March 2, '65.
Williams Franklin, e, March 2, '65.

4:th Cavalry.

COMPANY G.

Private.
Durkee Daniel, e. Oct, 16, '61, dlsd, July 10, '62,

'I
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COMPANY H.
Recruit.

Durst Edwin S. e, Nov. IB, '61, dlsd. Aug. 31, '68, dlaab.

6th Cavalry.
Surgeon.

John N. mglas, com. Oct. 1, '61, term ex. Feb. 8, '6S.

COMPANY B.

Veteran Recruit.
White George, e. April 3, '65, m o. Nov. 5, '65.

COMPANY C.

Veteran Recruits.
Vincent Thomas D. e. March 2S, '65, abs. sick at m.o. o{ regC.
Wall Hardin J. e. March 22, '65. m.o. Nov. 5, '65.

COMPANY. B.

Veteran Private.
Niglas Ignatz, e. March 10, '64, dlsd. May 34, '65, dlsab.

7tli Cavalry.
Surireon.

Clark D. Bankln, com. Oct. 28, '61, res. June 1, '62.

COMPANY A.
Veteran Recruit.

Haley James, e. March 20, '65, m.o. Nov. 4, '65.

COMPANY G.

Recruits,
Hames or Hawes William, e. March 31, '65, m.o. Nov. 4, '65.
liittle William H. e, March 31, '65, desrtd. Oct. 6, '65.
Boberts John E. e. March 31, '66, m.o. Nov. 4, '66.
Smith Frederick, e. March 31, '65, m.o. Nov. 4, '65.
Wise Columbus, e. March 31, '65, m.o. Nov. 4, '65,

COMPANY I.

Recruit.
Wilson William N. e. March 22, '65, m.o. Nov. 4, '65.

Unassigrned Recruits.
Brown James, e. March 2, '65, m.o. June 8, '65.
Connover Frank, e. March 31, '65.
Fralicks William, e. March 2, '65.
Gorman Thomas, e. April 11, '65, disd. May 21, '65.
Gell Henry, 6. April 11, '65.
Gorman James, e. March 6, '65.
Grant Charles, e. March 1, '65.
Mccarty Michael, e. March 6, '65.
Moody Michael, e. March 30, '65.
Smith Frederick, e. March 81, '65.
Towner Sims S. e. Jan. 20, '65.
Ward William, e. March 31, '65.

8tli Cavalry.

COMPANY G.

Co. Quartermaster Sergreant.
Walker Inglis, e. Sept. 14, '61, dlsd. Nov. 24, '62.

Corporals.
Capron Horace J. e. Sept. 14, '61, sergt dlsd. Nov. 17,

promotion.
Oouda William, e. Sept. 14, '61, re-e. as a veteran.

Privates.
Annls Judson, e. Sept. 14, '61. re-e. as a veteran.
Barlow Robert, e. Sept. 14, '61, re-e. as a veteran.

'62, for

tm.o. of regt,
_ „ „„ Sept. 14, '61, died Dec. 9, '61, wds.
Emerson Luther W. e. Sept. 14, '61, disd. Sept. 5. '62, disab.
Kennedy S. P. e. Sept. 14, '61, re-e. as a veteran.
Morris James, e. Sept. 7, '61. m.o. Sept. 28, '64.
Pray Louis C. e. Sept. 7, '61, trans, to co. K.
Southwiok Hamilton B. . —, disd. Nov. 24, '62, disab.
Sherman Henry J. e. Sept. 14, '61, trans, to co. K.
Sneers J. S. e. Sept. 14, '61, m.o. Sept. 17, '64, as corpl.
Westhefler William, e. Sept. 14, '61, re-e. as a veteran.

Veterans.
Annls A. Judson, e. Nov. 80, '63, m.o. July 17, '65, as sergt.
Barlow Robert, e. Jan. 1. '64. m.o. July 17, '65.
Goudy William L. e. Nov. 30, '63, m.o, July 17, '65,as blksmlth.

Kennedy Richard H. e. Nov. 30, '63, m.o. July 17, '65.

Kennedy Samuel P. e. Nov. 30, '63, m.o. July 17, 65.

Westather William, e. Nov. 80, '63, m.o. July Vl, '65, as corpl.

COMPANY K.
Recruit.

Barfoot James, e. Sept. 14. '61, m.o. Sept. 28. '64.

Prey Lewis C. e. Sept. 7, '61, m.o. Sept. 28, '64.

Sherman Henry J. e. Sept. 14, '61, m.o. Sept. 28, '64.

'

Cnassiened Recruit.
Foster Walter, e. Dec. 16, '64.

9tli Cavalry

COMPANY G.

Recruit.
McCormlck John, e. March 30, '65, absent insane at m.o. of regt

COMPANY L.

Recruits.
Gordon Richard, e. March 21, '65. absent sick at m.o. of regt.

Jarman Thomas P. e. Feb. 7, '64, m.o. Oct. 31, '65.

Jones Joseph, e. March 21, '65, desrtd. July 12, '65.

Mathewson John, e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. May 17, '65.

Riley Anthony, e. Dec. 28, '63, missing in action at Guntown,
Miss, since June 11, '64.

, . .,.«
Waterhouse George E. e. Dec. 10. '61, disd. July 5, '62.

Unassigned Recruits.
Ryan Edward, e. March 31, '65.

Murray Andrew, e. March 31, '65.

lOth Cavalry.

COMPANY E.

Lieutenant.
Second, Edwin B. Neal, com. May 31, '62, pro. toComsy.

COMPANY G.

Veterans.
Clark WlUard, e. Jan. 3. '64, see co. G. as re-organlzed.
Elgan William, e. Jan. 3. '64, see co. G. as re-organlzed.
Lasure William, e. Jan. 3, '64, see co. G. as re-organized.

COMPANY M.

Recruit.
Hall Willis A. e. Jan. 14, '64, trans, to co. C. as re-organlzed.

lOth Cavalry (as Consolidated).

COMPANY c.

Captain.
Edwin R. Neal, com. Dec. 31, '64, m.o. Nov. 22, '65.

llth Cavalry.

Robert G. IngersoU, com. Oct. 22, '61, res. June 30, '63.

Otto Funke, com. April 8, '65, pro. brev. Brig. Gen. March 18.
'65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Ijieutenant Colonels.
Balzll D. Meek, com. Oct. 22, '61. res. July 29, '63.

Otto Funke, com. June 30, '63, pro.

Majors.
Sabine D. Puterbaugh, com. Opt. 22, '61, res. Nov. 1, '62.

David J. Waggoner, com. Oct. 25, '61, res. June 5, '63.

James F. Johnson, com. Oct. 25, '61, died at Pittsburgh Land-
ing, Tenn. May 22, '62.

Otto Funke, com. Nov. 1. '62, pro.
Philip F. Elliott, com. March 28, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Theophilus Schaever, com. Aug. 31, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '66.

Adjutants.
David T. N. Sanderson, com. Sept. 6, '62, res. Dec. 28, '63.

Joseph Robinson, com. Dec. 28, '63, term ex. Jan. 31, '66.

Quartermasters.
William Gurrie, com. Oct. 22, '61, m.o. March 23, '62, m. in 2d

Lieut. Co. F.
Wm. Currle, com. Sept. 1, '62, pro. by President June 30, '64.
Eugene RoUman, com. June 30, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '66.
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COMPANY A.

Captains.
Otto Funke, com. Dec. SO. '61, pro. Major.
Anthony Roohrlg, com. Nov. 1, '63. res. Nov. 18, '64.

Thoophllus Schaever, com. Sept. 18, '64, pro. Major.
JohnlS. Fraesenius. com. Sept. 16, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Iiieutenants.
First, Anthony Roehrlg, com. Dee. 20, '61, pro.
First, Theophllus Schaever, com. Nov. 1, '62, pro.
First. John B. Fraesenius, com. Sept. 18. '64, pro.

liieutenantB.
Second, Theophllus Schaever, com. Dec. 20, '61. pro.
Second, Herman Herold, com. Nov. 1, '62, res. June 9. '64.

Second, Louis Ludwig, com. April 20, '61, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Q. M. Sergeant.
Edwards John, e. Oct. 20, '61.

Sergreants.
First, Herold H. e. Oct. 1, '61, pro. to 3d Lieut.
Kallenberg, Fred. e. Nov. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.

Corporals.
Mester William, e. Sept. 21, '61, desrtd. July, '62.

Louis Ludwlg, e. Sept. 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Indermaur 'Tobias, e. Oct, 11, '61 dlsd. July 1, '62.

Klenboehl Julius, e. Sept. 82, '61, m.o. Deo. 20, '64, term ex.
Schmidt Henry, e. Nov. 14, '61, died at Vicksburg Nov. 5.

Blacksmith.
Pfelfer Charles, e. Oct. 27, '61, dlsd. July 1, '63.

Privates.
Beutei Adam, e. Sept. 2B, '61, absent wd. since May 4, '62.

Brlokwald Frank H. e. Oct. 24, '61 re-e. as vet.
Birkel Philip J. e. Nov. 2. '61, dlsd. Jan. 27, '63.

BumlUer Joseph, e. Nov. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Beckerich Nicklaus, e. Nov. 21, '61, dlsd. June 10, '62.

Brum Jacob e. Dec. 1, '61. m.o. Dec. 20, '64.

Garsens John, e. Sept. 23. '61, dlsd. July 1, '62.

Dood Henry, e. Oct. 1, '61, dlsd. July 1, '62.

Douk Henry, e. Sept. 23, '61, absent in hospital.
Frey Charles, e. Sept. 23, '61, died at St. Louis June, '62.

Gans George, e. Nov. 12, '61, re-e. as vet.
Hill George, e. Nov. 4, '61, dlsd. Feb. 28, '62.

Isert John, e. Nov. 31, '61, absent sick at m.o. of regt.
Johnson Christian, e, Nov. 23, '61, desrtd. Jan. '62.

Jlliinghaus Frederick, e. Sept. 20, '61, re-e. as vet.
Kehi Adam, e. Oct, 27, '61, kid. at Jackson, Tenn. Dec. 21, '62.

Lowman George, e. Nov. 13, '61, dlsd. June 7, '63.

Lutzelschwal Charles, e. Nov. 20, '61, dlsd. April 15, '62.

Llmbert Fritz, e. Dec. 19, '61, dlsd. Oct. 36, '63.

Miller John, e. Sept. 21, '61. re-e. as vet.
Nebllg Henry, e, Sei>t. 23, '61, desrtd. at St. Louis.
Noark Frank, e. Oct, 21, '61, dlsd. May, <62.

Fotlnius H. J. e. Oct. 21. '61, dlsd. July, '62.

Relten Peter, e. Oct. 15, '61, dlsd. June. '62.

Bockle Herman, e. Nov. 9,'61, m.o. Deo. 20, '64, term ex.
BoUman Eugene, e. Nov. 16, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Bake Hervey, e. Nov. 25, '61, sentenced by G.C.M. to mil. prison.
Scherkenbacn Edward, e. Sept. 23, '61, dlsd. June, '62.
Seybold Frederick, e. Sept. 33, '61, m.o. Dec. 30, '64, term ex.
Tanner John e. Sept. 33,'d1, re-e. as a vet.
Umbrecht John, e. Oct. 11, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Winter Jacob, e. Oct. 31,'61, re-e. as a vet.
Wltman Anton, e. Nov. 16, '61, m.o. Dec. 20,'64, term ex.
Zelsier Jacob, e. Nov. 11, '61. re-e. as a vet.

Veterans.
Breckwaidt Frank, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Bumlller Joseph, e. Dec. 20, '63, died at Memphis, July 1,'64.
Gans George, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.
Jlliinghaus Frederick, e. Dec. 30, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Eallenberg Frederick, e. March 30, '64, died at Vicksburg, Aug.

1,'64.
Ludwlg Louis, c. Dec. 20, '63, pro. to sergt. major then to 2d

Lieut.
Miller John, e. Dec. 20, '68, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
BoUman Eugene, e. Dec. 20, '63, pro. to sergt. major.
Seltz Charles, e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30,'65, as sergt.
Tanner John, e. Dec. 30, '63, absent wd. at m.o. of regiment.
TTmbrecht John, e. Deo. 20, '63, died at VioKsburg June, 27, '64.

Winter Jacob, e. Dec. 20,'63, died at Vicksburg June 27,'64.
Zelsier Jacob, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Kecraits.
Dood Henry, e. Dec. 28, '63. died at Vicksburg Oct. 5, '64.

Farrer Jacob, e. Oct. 11,'61, dlsd. July 11, '62, dlsab.
Gruebe Henry, e. Oct. 8, '61, desrtd. Nov. '61.

Harford T. H. e.Nov. 12, '62, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Hodapp Sebastian, e. Jan. 5, '65, m.o. Sept. 30,'65.
Holder Leonhard, e. Oct. 1,'61, desrtd.
Harford F. W. e. Nov. 1.'62.

Kelsenberg Charles, e. March 3, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

McAndrew John M. e. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. Sept. 80. '65.

Meyer Herman, e. April 13, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Ma'ndt August, e. March 31, '64, m.o. May 34, '65.

Noark Frank, e. Feb. 19, '64, died at Vicksburg July 3.'64.

Pfannenshll Emil, e. Feb. l4,'63, m.o. Feb. 14,'66, term ex.

ScoUman William, e. Marcti 80,'64, m.o. Sept. 30, '6S,

Snell Henry, e. March 81,'64, shot himself dead Memphis Sept.
Seitz Charles, e. Jan. 10, '83, re-e. as vet.
Wade Henry, e. Dec. 33, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Wldemeyer Frank, e. Feb. 28, '65, m.o. Sept. 80,'65.

Williams Jackson 1st, e. Nov. 1,'62, m.o. Aug. 30,'65.

Watroubeck Joseph, e. Jan. 31, '62. ,
Zimmerman Fritz, e. March 3I,'64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

COMPANY B.

Corporals.
Bumans John W. e. Sept. 7, '61, died at Pittsburg Landing June

23, '63.
Sims Thomas T. e. Sept. 10. '61. re-e. as a vet.

Campbell Charles, e. Sept. 7, '61, dlsd. Jan. 30,'63.

Saddler.
Julg William, e. Sept. 9, '61, dlsd. Nov. 1.'63, dlsab.

Privates.

AklnJamesH.e. Nov. 8,'61, re-e. asavet. •

Campbell William, e. Sept. 7, '61, dlsd. Deo. 9, '64, term ex.

Green Albert, e. Nov. 19, '61, died at Memphis Aug. 31,'62.

Hall William, e. Dec. 7, '61. re-e. as vet. ,.,„„.., ,,

Hart Covington, e. Nov. 23, '61, dlsd. Nov. 17, '63, dlsab.
Lawless Thomas, e. Nov. 20,'61. dlsd. Dec. 19/ '64, dlsab.

McCann Alexander D. e. Nov. 1,'61, re-e. as vet.

Miller Joseph, e. Dec. 6, '61, drowned at St. Louis March 28, '63.

Phillips George T. e. Dec. 3, '61, re-e. as vet.
Stlnyard Augustus, e. Nov. 8, '61, re-e. as vet.

Sims David H. e. Sept. 34, '61, re-e. as vet.

Sans Eobert, e. Oct. 13.'61, dlsd. Nov. 17, '62, dlsab.

Veterans.
Akin James H. e. Dec. 20, '63, dlsd.
Hull Wllllamte. Dec. 20. '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65. ^
Kinzey John W. e. Dee. 30, '63, pro. sergt. then 2d Lieut.

McCann Alexander, e. Dec. 20, '68, m.o. Sept. 30. '65, as sergt.

Manning John J. e. Deo. 31,'63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Phillips George F. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o, Sept. 30, '65. as farrier.

Slmms Thomas T. e. Dec. 28. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Simms David W. e. Deo. 20, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpL
Stlnyard Augustus, e. Dec. 20, '63, pro. Chief Bugler.
Teneycks Jacob, e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Recruits.
Adams Joseph, e. Sept. 25, '61, pro. sergt. mal.
BonnlvlUe Gaylord, e. July 14, '64. m.o. Sept. 80, '65,

Castnor Joseph, e. Jan. 23, '64, trans, to co. G.
Campbell Alexander, e. Jan. 39, '62.

Frank William H. e. Jan. 35, '65, m.o. Sept. 30. '66.

Hitchcock Frank, e. Sept. 3, '61, desrtd. May, '62.

Jones Robert M. e. Oct. 11, '64. m.o. Sept. 3D, '65.

Klmpey John W. e. Dec. 30, '61, re-e. as vet.
Lawrence John G. e. Jan, 2, '62, dlsd. Oct. 9, '62, dlsab.
Lawrence John G. e. Jan. 5, '62 m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.

Manning John J. e. Dec. 31, '66, re-e. as vet.

Matthewson Byron, e. Jan. 8, '62, died at Vicksburg May, '62.

Teneycks Jacob, e. Feb. 1, '62, re-e. as vet.

COMPANY C.

liieutenant.
First, David T. N. Sanderson, com. March 20, '63, pro. Adjt.

Privates.
Burns Richard, e. Oct 39, '61, dlsd. Oct. 4, '63. dlsab.
Bunker James M. e. Nov. 30, '61, dlsd. May 14, '62, dlsab.
Hoover Christian, e. Nov, 30, '61, dlsd. July 1, '62, dlsab.
Hone John, e. Oct. 30, '61, desrtd. March 26, '62.

Hurmon Philip, e. Deo. 20, '61, re-e. as vet.
Morris Amos, e. Nov. 15. '61, died at Jackson, Tenn. Nov. 1, '62.

Myers John, e. Nov. 9, '61, desrtd. Feb. 5, '62.

Newell Judson L. e. Nov. 30, '61, re-e. as vet.
Williams Joseph D. S. e. Nov. 4, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veterans
Harmon Phillip, e, Dec. i

Newell Judson L. e. Dec . i- „.s-
Willams Joseph S. e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 3, 65.

Kecruits.
Cheal James J. e. Feb. 37, '63, dlsd. July 10, '62, dlsab.
Craig Samuel, e. March 31, '64, trans, to co. E.
Fash James M. e. Aug. 13, '62. „ „_
Powers Martin, e. Jan. 3, '62, m.o. Jan. 3, '65, term ex.
Snyder James, e. Aug. 15, '62, m.o. June 3, '65.

COMPANY D.

Captain.

Louis H. Armstrong, com. Dee. SO, '61, term ex. Dec. 19, '64.

lileutenant.
First, George W. Odell, com. Deo. 20, '61, res. Nov. 5, '62.

First; Stephen Andrews, com. May 5, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Second, William P. Armstrong, com. Deo. 20, '61, res. Aug. 31,
'62.

Second, John E. Hedrick, com. Nov. 6, '62, res. Apr. 25, '63.

Second, Stephen Andrews, com. March 28, '65, pro.
Second, William N. Peet, com. May 5, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

x^a.^.v... ^ -....J,, =,«™ „„, '63, m.o, Sept. 30, '65.

Newell Judson L. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.
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SerKeants.

First, Hopkins Ira K. e. Sept. 38, '61, dlsd. Jan. 17, '84, dlsab.
Stephen Andrew, e. Sept. 33, '61. re-e. as vet.
Hedrlck John E. e. Sept. 26, '61, pro. 2d Ueut.

Corporals.
Wilmoth Leonard, e. Sept. 23, '61, dlsd. Nov. 19, '62.

Hedrlck Thomas, e. Sept. 23, '61, dlsd. June 23, '62.

Feet William M. e. Sept. 23, '61, re-e. as yet.
Stewart Charles, e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.
Ward William 0. e. Sept. 23, '61, died at Pittsburg Landing, May

10, '62.

Horsley George H. e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.

Bugler.
Yandoren Joseph, e. Sept. 23, '61, re-e. as vet.

Blacksmith.
Warhust William, e. Sept. 24, '61, m.o. Den. 28, '84.

"Wagfoner.
Russell Elmlr, e. Nov. 17, '61, dlsd. Deo. 19, '64, term ex.

Privates.
Ames George M. e. Sept. 24, '61, desrtd.
Bronson Henry, e. Sept. 23, '61, re-e. as vet.
Brown John w. e. Sept. 21, '61.

Brome George, e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bruer Abram, e, Nov. 12, '61.

Cain Matteson, e. Oct. 2, '61, kd. at Lexington, Tenn. Dec. 18, '62.

Count Thomas, e. Sept. 30, '61.

Carney Thomas, e. Oct. 12, '61.

Cornwell Hughes, e. Sept. 23. '61, re-e. as vet.
Coburn William, e. Sept. 30, '61, dlsd. Dec. 19, '64, term ex.
Cawley Jolin, e. Dec. l9, '61.

Clusson Josiah H. e. Oct. 14. '61, dlsd. May 31, '62.

Drake Albert, e. Sept. 25, '61. re-e. as vet.
Dwyre Dennis, e. Nov. 30, '61, dlsd. Dec. 19, '64.

Foreman James, e. Sept. 25. '61, re-e. as vet.
Gumble Levi D. e. Oct. 14, '61.

Glens George K. e. Oct. 14. '61, desrtd. at Peoria, 111.

Hemming AVilliam, e. Sept, 30, '61, re-e. as vet.
Hooner Moses, e. Dec. 16, '61. desrtd. Feb. 23, '62.

Henderson Robert, e. Sept. 24. '61, dlsd. Dec. 14, '62.

Hubbard Sylvester, e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as yet.
Hedrlck Hiram, e. Nov. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.
Heel Horace, e. Nov. 37, '61, re-e. as vet.
Hoban William, e. Oct. 22, '61, re-e. as yet.
Harris Nathaniel, e. Dec. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
House Wm. e. Oct. 14, '61, m.o. Dec. 28, '64.
Knapp James, e. Nov. 11, '61, died nr. Pittsburg Landing, May

Kilver John H. e. Nov. 26, '61, re-e. as vet.
Lambert Victor, e. Oct. 17, '81, re-e. as vet.
Myers Herman, e. Sept. 23. '81, dlsd. July 15, '63.

Miller John, e. Sept. 34, '61, re-e. as vet.
McMahen Alexander, e. Oct. 23, '61, dlsd. Dec. 19, '64.

McMillan James C. e. Sept. 24, '61, dlsd. Dec, 19, '64.

Mahon John. e. Nov. 38, '61, re-e. as vet.
Northup Jonah, e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.
Osfierhont Daniel, e. Sept. 24, '61.

Oertley Leonard, e. Sept. 34. '61, trans, to co. A.
Phillips James N. e. Deo. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
Prentiss John D. e. Nov. 13, '61, dlsd. June 33, '62.

Price John H. e. Sept. 24. '61. re-e. as vet.
Pellman John, e. Sept. 35, '6l.
Purcel Thomas, e. Sept. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.
Potts David, e. Dec. 11, '61, re-e. as vet.
Beeves John K. e. Dec. 5, '61, dlsd. June 23, '63.

Busseli Conrad E, e. Sept. 34, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Bussell Geo. W. e. Sept. 24. '61, re-e. as a vet.
Busseli Ebenezer F. e. Sept. 24^ '81, re-e. as a vet.
Randool Geo. W. e. Nov. 28. '61, dlsd.
Smith Cyrus S. e. Sept. 25, '61, died at PrlncevlUe Feb. 18, '62.

Sheeler John, e. Sept. 34, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Stewart William, e. Sept. 20, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Shire Jacob, e. Dec. 16. '81, re-e. as a vet.
Sheridan Edward, e. Sept. 24, '61.

Vanhousen Leonard, e. Oct. 11, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Whitley James, e. Oct. 9, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Whitley John, e. Oct. 26, '61, re-e. as a yet.
Welch James, e. Oct. 22, '61, dlsd. Nov. 28, '62.

Welch John, e. Sept. 24, '61, died at Trenton Tenn. April 17, '68,

accidental wounds.
Ward Chas. W. e. Nov. 7, '61, re-e. as a vet.
White Maxwell A. W. e. Sept. 35, '61, died at Jackson, Tenn.

April 15, '83.

Zimmer Joseph W. N. e. Sept. 30, '61.

Veterans.

Andrew Stephen, e. Dec. 30, '63, pro. to sergt. then 3d Llent.
Bronson Henry, e. Dec. 30, '63, died at Memphis March 23, '65.
Brome George, e. Deo. 20, '83, m.o. Sept. 30, '66.

Cornwell Wm. H. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. July 30, '65.

Drake Albert, e. Dec. 20, '63, dlsd. Feb. 13. '85.

Foreman James, e. Dec. 30. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Henning William, e. Deo. 20. '68, dledat Vick8burgOct.34,'64.
Hubbard Sylvester, e. Dec. 30, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '85.
Horsley George H. e. Dec. 30, '68, died in hands of enemy Feb.

38, '65.
Hedrlck Hiram, e. Dec. 30, '68, m.o. Sept. 30, '66.

Heald Horace, e. Dec. 20, '63, died at Memphis May 12, '65,

Hoben William, e. Dec. 20, '68, dishonorably dlsd. war dept

Harris NathfnFei,*e.'Dec. 24, '63, dlsd. Dec. 19, '64, as of first

enlistment term ex.

f^Z^Jt'-^^^i^^'^i^iA m.o. sept. 30, '65, as oorpl.

Miller John, e. Dec. 20. '63. m.o. Sept. 80, '65, as sergt.

Mahon John, e. Deo. 20, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Northup Jonah, e. Dec. 20. '63, died at Peoria III. March 24, '64.

Potts David M. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as oorpl.

Purcell Thomas, e. Dec. 20, ' 68, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.

Kussell Ebenezer F. e. Dec. 20,
'64

Russell Conrad E. e. Deo. 24. '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65, as serg .

Russell Geo. W. e. Dec. 24, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Bedd James W. e. Jan. 2. '64. died at Vicksburg Aug. 3, '64.

Smith Henry M. e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Sheeler John, e. Deo. 30, '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65. _„„ „, ,„.
Stewart William, e. Deo. 20. '63, died at Vicksburg Dec, 3Vb4.
Stewart Chas. H. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '85, as 1st sergt.

Shyer Jacob, e. Dec. 30, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '85. as sergt.

Vandoran Joseph, e. Dec. 20. '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as bugler.

Vanhusan Leonard, e. Dec. 34 '68. ^ ,„, _,.

Ward Charles, e. Dec. 30. '63. m.o. Sept. 80, '65. as sergt.

Whitby James, e. Dec. SO, '63 m.o. Sept. 30, '65 as sergt.

Whitby John, e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 80, '65, as sergt.

Recruits.

Alford Elmore, e. Dec, 34, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Alford William J. e. Deo. 24. '68, m.o. June 16, '65, pris. of war.
AlfordlsaacW. e. Dec. 5, '63. „„ „ »„„,„-
Ballard Anderson, e. Dec. 30, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Brush Henry E. e. Oct. 14, '61. desrtd. at (Jamp Lyon, 111.

Chandler Henry, e. Jan. 24, '65, m.o. Sept 30. '65.

Dukes Cornelius, e. Dec. 3H, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Dukes William, e. March 33, '65, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.

Hare George, e. Sept. 34, '61.

Hart Lewis C. e. Jan. 34, '62, re-e. as a yet.

Kanouse Jas. E. e. Nov. 12, '61. „„ .„_
Mills Wm. H. e. Dec. 23, '83, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.

.„_
Murphy Richard, e. Jan. 31. '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Morton William H. e. Sept. 23, '61.

MorrlsJohnB. e.Sept. 23, '61. „ .„ .„,
Oaband or Osborne N. F. e. Dec. 20, '64. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Phillips Francis M. e. Deo. 20, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

BeddJames W. e. Jan. 2, '63, re-e. as a vet.

Smith Franklin D. e. Sept. 28. '81.

Smith Henry M. e. Oct. 1, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Stalmet Beuben, e. March 1. '63, dlsd.
Thurston William, e. Dec. 20, 64, desrtd. July 14, '65.

Vanpatten Albert J. e. Jan. 30, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Walla Edmund, e. Jan. 23, '65, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.

Young John e. Sept. 23, '81.

11th Illinois Cavalry.

HISTORY or CO. E.

Company E of the 11th Illinois Cavalry was organized at
Peoria, andleft Camn Lyon under command of Capt. J. R. Zeig-
ler on the 21st day of February. 1862, and arrived at Benton
Barracks, St. Louis, Mo., about the 1st of March, and reported
to Col. Bonyville, oommandlug post. From there the regiment
went to Pittsburg Landing, and fought in the battle of Shiloh,
Tenn., under Gen. Prenuce. Thence they went to Purdy and
captured it on March 15th; also participated in the siege of Cor-
inth under Gen. McKean. Tlie company engaged in a number
of skirmishes and battles in their advance, capturing Boliver,
Pocahontas, Shewally. Kossuth, Ripley and Memphis, making
long and wearisome marches to the towns about Corinth, Miss.,
until the 15th of September, 1863. On the 25th of that ' onth
the commana, under Maj. liuterbaugh, was surprised and most
of the members of company E were captured at Hatchie. Atthe
second battle of Corinth, what men were left of the company
acted as Orderlies, and Capt. Zeigler served as Adjutant on the
staff of Gen. McArthur, whose brigade formed a part of Gen.
Rosecrans' division. Company E was afterwards with Gen.
Grant at the battles of Cold water and Holly Springs; then
fought Gen. Forrest in numerous skirmishes and battles for
thirty-five days, between Holly Snrings and Paduoah, Ky. At
the battle of Oross-Roads, Col. Robert G. IngersoU and Major
Kerr were captured by Gen. Forrest. After engaging in the
siege of Vicksburg, Company E returned to Bethel. Tenn., and
while there several months marched hundreds of mites in
guarding the Tennessee river; and had a number of skirmishes
near Havana. It was also at Grand Junction, Saulsbury and
Lagrange, Tenn. In August they captured Lagrange, Miss.;
thence returned to Vicksburg; thence Queen's Hill, and were
in several battles and skirmishes. The company was mustered
out at the expiration of their term of enlistment, but re-
enlisted and served until the close of the war.

Captain retired from the army from disability, March 7,

1864.

COMPANY B.

Captains.
'61. res. March 7, '84.

_ . 7, '64, pro. Mai.
Marttn L, Calhoun, com. April 20, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

John B. Zeigler, com. Dec.
Philip F. Elliott, com.Jlaroh 7,_'64j V



PBORIA COUNTY WAR RECORD. 401

lilentenuita.
First, Philip F. Elliott, com. Deo. SO, '61. pro.
First, Martini. Calhoun, com. March 7, '64, pro.
First, Joseph Swan, com. April SO. '65, m.o. Sept. 80, '65. ^ . „
Second, Chas. S. Beardsley, com. June SO, '62, term ex. Feb. 10,

'65.

Second, Joseph Swan, com. Feb. 10, '65, pro,
Second, WlUfem J. A. Buchanan, com. April SO, '65, m.o. Sept.

80. '65.

Q. M. Sergeant.
Swan Joseph, e. Oct. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.

Sergeants.
First, Beardsley Chas. S. e. Sept. 30, '61, pro. to Sd Lieut.
Calhoun Manin L. e. Nov. 7, '61, re-e. as vet. „. .„„
Richard George, e. Oct. 4. '61, died at Corinth July 21, '62.

Guchus Sylvanus M. e. Sept. 30, '61, re-e. a« vet.

Wlckwlre William, e. Oct. 4, '61, dlsd. July 24, '63, disab.

Corporals.
Buchanan William, e. Sept. 7, '61. re-e. as vet.

Wason James T. e. Dec. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.
Roberson Nathaniel, e. Oct. 16, '61, trans, to V. R. 0. Feb. 11,

'64.

Glngerioh John, e. Oct. S, '61, dlsd. May 1, '6S.

Wiley Harrison B. e. Oct. 2, '61, dlsd. April IS, '63.

Gray Henry, e. Oct. 16. '61, re-e. as vet.

Summers Henry, e. Oct. 6, '61, disd. July 12, '62, disab.
Ward Jasper, e Oct. 18, '61.

Buglers.
Barnes Wilson, e. Oct. 7, '61, dlsd. July 11, '62, disab.
Thomas Austin J. W. e. Dec. 18, '61.

Saddler.
Geeger Charles, e. Dec. 4, '61, died June 1, '62.

Wagoner.
Boe Alpheus. a. Oct. 15, '61, desrtd.

Blackiiniitli.

Waughop Amos, e. Nov. 8, '61, pro. regt. blacksmith.

Farrier.
Waughop Amoa. a. Nov. 8, '61.

Private*.

Allen Robert, e. Dec. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.
Barber Wm. e. Oct. 10. '61, dlsd. Sept. 17, '62, disab.
Baiter George, e. Oct. 14, '61, desrtd. Feb. 13, '62.

Brewer Joseph, e. Oct. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
Barnes Charles, e. Nov. 5, '61, dlsd. June 1, '6S, disab.
Barber Elijah, e. Nov. 6, '61. re-e. as vet.
Burt Willis v. e. Nov. 20, '61, re-e. as vet.
Callahan John, e. Nov. 8, '61, re-e. as vet.

Coleman James H. e. Oct. 6, '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64.

Callahan Edward,e. Nov. 2U. '61, re-e. as vet.
Cooper Joseph, e. Nov. 15, '61. died near Corinth June 9, '62,

Dubald James M. e. Nov. 13. '61, re-e. as vet.
Duniap Marshall L. e. Dec. 7, '61, disd. Nov. 7, '62. disab.
Denman Alfred V. e, Dec. 18, '61. disd. Jan. 16, '64, for pro.
Dencius William, e. Sept. 26, '61, re-e. as vet.
Engart De Witt C, e. Oct. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bloh Conrad, e. Oct. 7, '61, re-e. as'vet.
Edwards James J. e. Nov. 19, '61; died at Keokuk April 21, '62.

English Robert W. e. Dec. 19, '61, disd. under age.
Fisher Elijah T. e. Nov. 4, '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64;

Fulton James K. e. Nov. 4, '61, re-e. as vet.
Gardner William H. e. Nov. 18, '61, desrtd,
Gasing Frederick, e. Dec. 5, '61.

Garbarlno Charles, e. Nov. 28, '61.

Hlckey John S. e. Nov. 14, '61, died at Pittsburg Landing April
5, '62.

Harding Samuel F. e. Nov. 20, '61.

Hall Joseph A. P. F. e. Nov. S, '61, disd. Dec. SOt '64.

Harrison George, e. Nov. 8, '61.

Hall John M. B. e. Nov. 2, '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64.

Klrkroan Alfred, e. Dec. 4, '61.

Lynch Maurice, e. Dec. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.
Mills John, e. Oct. 3, '61, re-e. as vet.
McOlintock John C. e. Nov. 3, '61, disd. Nov. 27, '62, disab.
Melson George W. e. Dec. 2, '61, re-e. as vet.
Newland John M. e. Oct. 25, '61.

Orr Wm. e. Oct. 14, '61, dlsd. May 9, '62, dlsib.
Patch Samuel, e. Oct. S8, '61, re-e. as vet.
Redding James, e. Nov. 13. '61. re-e. as vet.
RobbiDSon Joseph, e. Nov. 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Roberts Peter, e. Nov. 14, '61, disd. Feb. 10, '64, sent. G. C. M.
Ransom David, e. Nov. 11, '61, died at Corinth Nov. 6, '62.

Reed Joseph L. e. Sept. 11, '61, regt. sadier re-e. as vet.
SnSa George, e. Oct. 6, '61, re-e. as vet.
Southworth George G, e. Nov. 4. '61, disd. Nov. 21, '62. disab.
Salsman Charles A. e. Oct. 14, '61, furnished sub, sub. desrtd.
Scrlver Aaron S. e. Nov. 15, '61, dropped from rolls.
Sterseubaugh George C. e. Nov. 18, '61, desrtd. Feb. 11, '62.

Slade Edwin, e. Nov. 19. '61, re-e. as vet.
Slater Edward, e. Nov. 1, '61, disd. Julys, '63, disab.
Slater Thomas, e. Nov. 1. >61, died at St. Louis July SI, '62.

Sullivan John, e. Dec. 8, '61, desrtd. Aug. 8, '62.

Ship Henry, e. Dec. 15, '61, re-e. as vet.

Todhunter Roberson, e. Oct. 26, '61, dlsd. Dec. 20, '64.

Taylor Henry, e. Nov. 13, '61, re-e. as vet

K '08, m.o »epu ou, DO.
0, '63, pro. sergt. major.
ic. 20. '63, pro. sergt. then 2d Lieut.
0, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.

Tehan Jeremiah, e. Nov. 2, '61, disd. Dec. SO, '64.

Walsh James.e. Oct. 16, '61, re-e. asvet. ^_ ^
Walsh Aaron J. e. Oct 19, '61, disd. June 22, '6S, disab.

Wiiiiams William, e. Oct 28, '61, re-e. as vet
Wason Daniel C. e. Dec. 2, '61, dlsd. June 1, '62.

Veterans.
Ayers Arad H. e. Jan. 2, '64, pro. com. sergt.

Allen Robert e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o Sept 30, '65.

Bruer Joseph, e. Dec. 20, 'i

Buchanon Wm. G. e. Dec.
Barber Elijah, e. Dec. 20, ' ^ . sa ,„

,

Burt Willis V. e. Dec. 20, '63. m.o. Sept. 30, '63.

Cahoun Martin L. e. Dec. 30, '63. pro. sergt. then 1st Lieut.

Callahan John, e. Dec. 20, '63, died at Memphis June 11, '65.

Callahan Edward, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as sergt
Dural James M. e. Dec. 20, '63. m.o. bept 30. '65.

Denicus William, e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '66.

Engart DeWittC. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sep .30, '65.

Eich Conrad, e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.

Fulton James K. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65, as corpl.

Gray Harry, e. Deo. 20, '63. m.o. Sept 31), '65, as 1st sergt
Guches Sylvanus, e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

Lynch Maurice, e. Dec. SO. '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Nelson George W. e. Dee. 20, '63. m.o. Sept 30. '66, f„i
/ergt

Munholland Charles P. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65, as corpl.

Mills John M. e. Dec. 20, '63, absent sick at m.o. regt.

Patch Simeon M. e, Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65, as sergt

Patter Ephraim, e. Dec, 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '85.

Bedding James, e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Bold Joseph L. e. Dec, 20, '83. m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Eeece Humphrey, e. Feb. 9. '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Robinson Joseph, e. Jan. 4. '64, pro. sergt then Ad].

Swan Joseph, e. Dec. SO, '63, pro. sergt then 2d Lieut
Sufla George, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Slade Edwin E. e. Dec. SO, '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

Shipp Henry, e. Dec. SO, '63. m.o. Sept. SO. '65.

Taylor Henry, e. Dec. 30, '63. m.o. Sept 20, '65. as sergt.

Tappan Asher T. e. Feb. 5, '64, m.o. Sept. 20, '85.

Walsh James, e. Deo. SO. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, 65.

Williams William. Dec. SO. '63. died at Memphis July 12, '6B.

Wasson James, e. Feb. 9, '64, m.o. Sept 30, '65, as sergt

Waughop Amos B. e. Dec. 21, '63, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Recruits.

Ayres Arad W. e. Jan. S, '63, re-e. as vet
Adams Thomas, e. Sept 16, '61, trans, to co. L.

Bailey John M. or W. e, Jan. SI, '64, m.o. June 22, '66.

Burnet James, e. July 82, '62, m.o. June 9. '65.

Bruce Chas. W. e. Sept 13, '64, m.o. June 9, '65.

Booton Asa, e. March 31, '64. m.o. May 2'r, '65.

Chlids Frank B. e. Jan. 17, '62, m.o. Jan. 17, '65.

ClancyMlchael, e, Feb. 12, '62, m.o. Feb. 13. '65.

Cummings David M. e. Oct 10, '61, P™. to 1st Lieut oo. F.

Cox Tilden, e. Feb. 11, '62. disd. June 22, '82, disab.

Dougherty James P. e. Sept. 8, '62, m.o. Sept. 30, 65;

Deiong Edward J. e. Nov. 39 'm desrta. Feb. 17. '62.

Edmonds Thomas, e. Nov

Franklin Saini. T. e. Feb. 2, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65 as corpl.

Fisher Hart 0. e. Jan. 21, '64. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Freezee Caleb M. e. Nov. 18, '61, m.o. June 9, '65.

Fiefleld William E. e. Jan. 30, '62, re-e. as vet.

Gerrard William^ e. Dec. 6, '62, m.o. Sept 30, '65 as corpl.

Gill Thomas, e. Feb. S. 64, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

Geasier Henry, e. Oct 8, '61. desrtd. June 1, '82.

Heniford John L. e. Dec. 2. 61, dropped from rolls.

Harding James J. e. Nov. 18, '61, dropped from rolls.

Hines Lewis, e. Feb. 3, '62, trans, to 1st 111. cav.

Kellogg Daniel B. e. Jan. 4, '66, m.o. Sept, 30, '65.

Leiand Francis T. e. March S3, '64. m.o. bept 80, '65.

Lock William, e. Jan. 24, '62, re-c. as vet.

Marshall James M. e. Feb. 2, '64, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Moon Charles, e. June S4. '65. m.o. Sept 30, '65,

Munholland Chas. P. e. Nov. 28, '61, re-e. as vet
Murphy Patrick, e. Oct 27, '61, trans, toco. L. .„,„(,„
Miller George, e. Feb. 19, '6S, died at Keokuk, Iowa, April 36,

'63.

Paluham Henry, e. Sept 13, '63, m.o. June 9, '65.

PotterEphraim, e. Dec. 31, '81, re-e.asvet
Eobeaon Columbus A. e. Feb. 4. '62, m.o. Feb. 4, '65.

Eudlofl Theodore, e. Jan. 10, '62, desrtd. March 24, '62.

Reaoe Humphrey, e. Feb. 19, '62, re-e. as veteran.

Smith George W. e. Feb. 3, '64, m.o, Sept. SO, '65.

Soady Zeohariah, e. Jan. 4, '82, m.o. Jan. 4, '65.

Smith Julius P. e. Feb. 5, '84.

Stem Charles, e. Oct 15. '61, trans, to CO. M. ^ .„ ...
Sheely Robert e. Oct 15, '61, died hospital boat March 10, '64.

Shafer Frank, e. Dec. 21, '81, desrtd. Jan. 18, '62, sub.

Thurston Frank, e. April 7. '64, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Tappin Asher, e. Feb. 5, '6S, re-e, as vet
Wetheral Theodore, e. Jan. 5. '64, m.o. Sept 30, '65.

Wagner John B. e. Nov. 15, '61, desrtd. Nov. 2S, '61.

West William, e. Feb. 4, '62, re-e. as veteran.
Washburne O. H. e. Oct 5, '61.

COMPANY P.

liieutenant.

Second. William Currie. com. March 34, '62, pro. quarterma,8ter.

Privates.
Abbott John C. e. Dec. 13, '61, desrtd. July 27, '62.

Brown Peter, e, Nov. 3, '61.

61. desrtd. Feb. 17, -..-
" '81, died at Camp Lyons, III.
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Card Amos. e. Nov. 13. '61, dlsd. March 30, '63, dlsal).
Deblne Dennis, e. Nov. 5, '61, re-e. as vet.
Folay Michael, e. Oct. 5, '61, re-e. as vet.
Johnson Thomas, e. Nov. 24, '61, re-e. as vet.
Kennedy Nicholas, e. Oct. 5. '61, re-e. as vet.
Moore Michael, e. Oct. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
Ryaxknell Michael, e. Dec. 14, '61, re-e. as vet.
Slusher John L. e. Sept. 26, '61, disd. Jan. 30, '63, disab.

Veterans.
Tasser Andrew, e. Dec. 4, '61, disd. Deo. 20, '64, term ex.
Devine Dennis, e. Dec. 20, '63.
Foley Michael, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.
Johnson Thomas, e. Dec. 20 '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '63, as corpl.
Kennedy Nicholas, e. Dec. 20, '63. absent sick at m.o. of regt.
Kyaxknell Michael, e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Kecruits, .

Crumbaker James, e. March 31, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Church Milton, e. March 31. '64, died at Vlcksburg July 31, '64.
Dunn Joseph K. e. Feb. 3, '62, disd. Feb. 17, '65.
Davidson Wm. e. Jan. 10, '62. dlsd. Nov. 15, '62, disab.
Furlong John, e. Jan. 25, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Hlggins Thomas, e. Dec. 2, '61, dlsd. Dec. 20, '64, term ex.
Johnson Charles H. e. Dec. 21, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Redmond Michael, e. Dec. 7, '63. m.o. July 10, '65.
"Waller John H. e. Jan. 21, '64, absent sick at m.o. of regt.

COMPANY G.

Captain.
Stephen S. Tripp, com. Feb. 16, '63, term ex, June 24, '65.

Liieutenant.
Second, Stephen S. Tripp, com. Dec. 20, '61, res. Sept. 3, '62.

Privates.
Quirk Cornelius, e, Nov. 10, '61, m.o. Dec. 19, '64.
Young W. B. e. Nov. 14, '61, re-e. as vet.

Kecruits.
Barnes Samuel, e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 1, '65.
McNeel Sam. A. e. Aug. 7, '62, died at Chattanooga Nov. 15, '64.

COMPANY H.
Private.

Williams John, e. Dec. 12, '61, re-e. as vet.

Veterans.
Devine Charles J. e. Feb. 6, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Lowell Alfred, e. Feb. 6, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.
Williams John, e. Dec. 20, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.

Recruits.
Amend Moses H. e. March 31, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Bernard Andrew D. e. Aug. 9, '62, died.
Courtenay John, e. July 23, '62, desrtd. June 14, '64.

Devine Charles J. e. Feb. 5, '62, re-e. as vet.
Month Jacob, e. Feb. 23, '66, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Peltier Dominic, e. Aug. 7, '63, trans, to co. F. ^

Scruby William, e. Aug. 9, '62, m.o. June 9, '65.

Staltz Hubbard L. e. Aug. 29, '63, m.o. June 9, '65.
Scrubby Frank, e. Aug. 9, '62, died at Vlcksburg, Dee. 27, '64.

COMPANY I.

Recruits.
Ackerman John H. e. Feb. 6, '65, desrtd. April 22, '65.

Brown Henry, e. Jan. 1, '62, desrtd. Jan. 31, '62.

Steele Isaac, e. Dec. 28, '61, disd. Aug. 21, '62.

COMPANY K.
Privates.

Haw James, e. Nov. 6, '61, desrtd. Feb. 22, '62.

Malone William, e. Dec. 9, '61, re-e. as vet.
Quail John, e. Nov. 6, '61, re-e. as vet.
Rowley Dexter M. e. Dec. 18, '61, re-e. as vet.
Rowley Saml. K. e. Nov. 6, '61, disd. Nov. 19, '64.

Rourke Charles, e. Dec. 1, '61, re-e. as vet.
Sullivan Wm. H. e. Nov. 6, '61, disd. Dec. 19, '64.

Veterans.
Malone William, e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
§uagle John, e. Dec. 20, '62, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

ourke Chas. H. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Dec. 12, '65.

Rowley Dexter M. e. Dec. 30, '63, desrtd. July 11, '65.

Recruits.
Adam Albert, e. Feb. 20, '62, re-e. as vet.
Buswell Nicholas C. e.'Nov. 6, '61, desrtd. Aug. 8, '62.
Lucas T. Z. e. April 14, '64, died at Vlcksburg, May 20, '64.

COMPANY L,,

Captain.
Thomas O'Uara, com. Oct. 28. '62, term ex. Dec. 19, '64.

Xiieutenants.
First, Thomas O'Hara, com. Dec. 20, '61, jpiu.

First, William D. Slater, com. Got. 28, '62, term ex. Dec. 19, '64.

Seconn, William D. Slater, com. Dec. 20, '61, pro. _
.

Second, Daniel R. Buck, com. April 20, '66, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Q. M. Sergeant.
Gllligan Thomas, c. Sept. 25, '61, re-e. as vet.

Serjeants.
Falts Wm. H. e. Oct. 15, '61, re-e. as vet.

Martin John, e. Oct. 2, '61.

Corporals.
Buck Daniel R. e. Oct. 5, '61, re-e. as vet.
Wait Obed F. e. Oct. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.

Quiggle Isaac, e. Oct. 25. '61.

Turner F. J. e. Oct. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.

Bnsigrn.
Emery Wlllls,;e. Oct. 12, '61, desrtd. March 16, '62.

Bladtsmith.
Kemp Samuel, e. Nov. 21, '61, dlsd. Oct. 18, '62, disab.

Privates.
William, e. Nov. 6, '61, m.o. Dec. 19, '64.

Thomas, e. Sept. 16, '61, desrtd. Feb. 12. '62.
Arnold
Adams J.iiUJJJi»», o. aayv. xu, ua, ,iooii/,A. iou. **,. ua;.

Bearer George, e. Oct. 15, '61, disd. Sept. 10, '62, disab..
Calry Edward A. e. Oct. 28, '61, died at Vlcksburg Jan. 13, '66.

Coats Robert, e. Nov. 7, '61, disd. Dec. 28, '62, disab.
Curran James, e. Nov. 30, '61, dlsd. Nov. 16, '62, disab.
Campbell William, e. Dec. 7, '61, disd. March 20, '62, disab.
Clayton William, e. Oct. 5, '61. pro. asst. wagonmstr.
Carrigan Patsy, e. Nov. 20, '61, desrtd. Dec. 15. '61.

Decker David J. e. Nov. 20, '61, desrtd. Dec. 22, '61.

Divens John, e. Oct. 16, '61, re-e. as vet.
Deland Peter J. e. Nov. 12, '61, disd. Sept. 15. '63, disab.
Gean Joseph, e. Oct. 23, '61, re-e. as vet.
Goodwin John, e. Nov. 2, '61.

Gutrlx John. e. Dec. 14, '61, dlsd.
Hlckel Charles, e. Nov. 18, '61, desrtd. March 27, '62.

Sherdan George, e. Dec. 1, '61, disd. Nov. 3, '62, disab.
Shoon John, e. Dec. 7, '61, re-e. as vet.
Vandoren G. B. e. Oct. 17, '61, disd. Jan. 5, '62.

Washburn C. H. e. Oct. 5. '61, trans, to co. E.

Veterans.
Buck Daniel R. e. Dec. 20, '63, pro. sergt. then 2d Lieut.
Divins John, e. Dec. 20. '63, died at Vlcksburg June 27, '64.

Fultz William, e. Dec. 20, '63.

Gheen Josiah, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.
Gilllgan Thomas, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '68.

Ghiles Bausler, e. Jan. 3, '64, died at Vlcksburg Sept. 8, '64.

James Benjamin F. e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

Kearns Joseph B. e. Jan. 2. '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as sergt.
Rogers Willis, e. Jan. 10, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

.Stinger George, e. Dec. 20, '63.

Turner Flavinus J. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.

Thorn John, e. Dec. 20, '63.

Vansteel Wm. e. Feb. 22, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.
Walt Obed F. e. Dec. '33, '63.

Recruits.
Bibb John Q. A. e. March 25, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as corpl.
Beaver George, e. Jan. 19, '64, m.o. Sept. '30, '65.

Blnnegar John e. Jan. 10, '62, m.o. term ex.
Bishop Mark. e. Dec. 27, '61, disd. May 8, '63, disab.
Dolin Peter J. e. Jan. 18, '64, m.o. Sept. '30, '65.

Green John, e. Jan. 7, '62, re-e. as vet.
Giles Ransler, e. Jan. 3, '62, re-e. as vet.
Johnson Alexander P. e. Jan. 15, '62, disd. Aug. 22, '62, disab.
James Benjamin F. e. Jan. 15, '62, re-e. as vet.
Kearns Joseph B. e. Jan. 10, '62' re-e. as vet.
Luce Elihu, e. Feb. 7, '62, disd. May 30, '62, disab.
Marshall George, e. Feb. 8, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Paymod Isadore e. Feb. 23, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Powers John, e. Jan. 22, '62.

Rogers Willis, e. Jan. 10, '62, re-e. as vet.
Schrader George, e. Jan. 4, '65. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Stenigar George, e. Dec. 2, '61, re-e. as vet.
Shuley Robert, e. Oct. 23, '61, trans, to co. E.
Vautral William, e. Feb. 21, '62, re-e. as vet.
Weaver Calvin, e. Nov. 27, '61, desrtd. Jan. 5, '62.

COMPANY M.

Captains.

Adam Stuber, com. Dec, 20, '61, res. Nov. 18, '62.

Hugh C. Moffltt, com. Nov. 18, '62, kid. in battle July 5, '64.

John J. Perry, com. Dec. 19, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

I.ieutenants.

First, Hugh 0. Mofatt, com. Dec. 20, '61, promoted.
First, George A. Quin, com. Nov. 18, '62, died Jan. 8, '83,
First, John J. Perry, com. July 6, '64, pro.
Second, George A. Quin, com. Dec. 20, '61, promoted.
Second, John Tilby, com. Jan. 8, '63, drowned July 2, '64.

Second, Wm. F. Jennings, com. April 11, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Sergeants.
First, McOully Jackson, e. Sept 27, '61, disd. Dec. 17, '62, disab.
Tilbe John, e. Sept. 27, '61, pro. to 2d, Lieui.
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MoCulIy Joseph A. e. Sept. 27, '81, dlsd. Oct. '62.
Seeley Henry, e. Sept. 2lT '61, aisa. Oct. '6a.

Corporals.
Merwin James B. e. Nov. 8, '61, trans. Invalid corp July 8, '64.
ward Thomas, e. Oct. 31, '61, re-e. as vet.
Sandrieper Henry, e. Nov. 18. '61, re-e. as vet.
Henderson James, e. Bee. 6. '61, re-e. as vet.

Privates.
Beck Henry, e. Sept. 33, '61, re-e. as vet.
Barton Ira A. e. Nov. 6, '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64.
Clark Silas A. e. Nov. 28, '61, re-e. as vet.
Clifton Nelson, e. Oct. 31, '61, dlsd. Deo. 20, '64.
Calboun James H. e. Nov. 13. '61, disd. Dec. 17, '62, dlsab.
Davidson Tliomas, e. Sept. 27. '61, re-e. as vet.
Deuffman Thomas, e. Nov. 2. '61. deserted In '61.
Ellis Benjamin, e. Sept. 27, '61, m.o. Doc. 20, '64.

Kdelman John, e. Sept. 23, '61, re-e. as vet.
Ford James, e. Dec. 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Garvin Ambrose D. e. Nov. 20, '61. re-e. as vet.
Goot John, e. Nov. 11. '61. desrta. Feb. '62.
Hendricks Peter, e. Sept. 27, '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64.
Hick Benjamin, e. Oct. 8, '61, trans. Sept. '64.
Horwold Joseph, e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.

403
•

Holiday Basil, e. Nov. 18. '61, re-e. as vet.
Holiday John James, e. Nov. 25, '61, re-e. as vet. ^,

Haley Dennis, e. Nov. 10. '61 disd. Nov. '62.
Hickson George, e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.
Henry Dennis, e. Oct. 10, '61, re-e. as vet.
Hesse Joseph, e. Sept. 23, '61, dlsd. Oct. 27, '62. disab.
Lawrence Charles, e. Oct. 28, '61, trans, to V. B. 0. Feb. 11, '64.
Mitchell George, e. Dec. 3, '61, died at Pittsburg Landing, July

Matlln Jacob, e. Oct. 27, '61. re-e. as vet.
Noell Dennis, e. Sept. 27, '61, disd. Feb. 4. '63, disab.
Nea Marks, e. Oct 2^ '61, disd. Dec. 20, '64.
Owens Columbus, e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.
Otto John C. e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.
Phelps Harvey, e. Oct 27, '61, kid. at ShUoh, April 19, '62.
Ricett John, e. Nov. 1, '61.

Kobeits George, e. Oct. 31, '61, desrtd. Feb. 20, '62.
Stenn Charles, e. Oct. 15, '61, dlsd. Dec. 22, '64.
Sploer David, e. Sept. 27, '61, died at Peoria Jan. 16, '62.
Selpe Charles F. e. Dec. 16, '61, disd. Dec. 18. '62, disab.
Smith George T. e. Nov. 25. '61. dlsd. Nov. 12, '62, dlsab.
Tanner Merchant F. e. Nov. 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Wallace Henry, e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.
Welsh James, e. Sept. 27, '61, re-e. as vet.
Watson Thomas, e. Oct. 6, '61.
Winches Andrew, e. Dec. 3, '61, re-e. as vet.
Wayson Beriah, e. Nov. 25, '61, re-e. as vet.
Walker John. e. Nov. 14, '61, re-e. as vet.
Tonger Adam, e. Sept. 27, '61.

Veterans.
Beck Henry, e. Dec. 20, '63.
Calvin John, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as seret.
Clark Silas A. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as corpl.
Carter Herman S. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 80, '65.
Davidson Thomas, e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Eddleman John, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Ford James, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.
Garwln Ambrose, e. Deo. 20, '63, m,o. Sept. 30, '65.
Herwold Joseph, e. Dec. 20. '63. m.o. Sept. 80, '65.
Holliday Basil G. e. Dec. 20, '63, died afVicksburg, Oct. 21. '64.
Holiday John J. e. Dec. 20, '63. m,o. Sept. 30, '65.
Henry Dennis, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as seret.
Hixon Geo. W. e. Dee, 20, '68, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Henderson James, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65
Ley John, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Mattln Jacob, e. Dec. 20, '63, trans, to co. A.
Otto John C. e. Dec. 20, '63.
Owens Columbus, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as sergt.
Rich William 0. e. Dec. 20, '63, iesrtd. April So. '64.
Sandrltter Henry, e. Dec. 20, '63, trans, to co. A.
Tanner Merchant K. e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '6S.
Wallace Henry, e. Dec. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 3ft '65.
Walker John, e. Dec. 20, '68, desrtd. March, '64
^ayson Beriah, e.

""" '" ' '

—
Winches Andrew,
Ward Thomas, e.

Recruits.
Aspinwall Job, e. Sept. 30,_'64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Aten Benjamin, e. March 28, '65, trans, to 5th 111. Cav.
Beebe Richard H. e. March 28, '64, m.o. Sept. 30. '66.
Beebe James, e. March 28. '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Brady Charles, e. Feb. 6, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '86.
Brown Cary, e. March 17, '64. m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

^®'Sf TTi"'*"' *"• ®- ^P'" !*• '6*' m-o- Jnly 8, '65 to date May
30. 65.

J

Beebe Alonzo, e. Feb. 23, '64, died at Vlcksbnre. Oct 26, '64.
Cox Oscar J. e. Feb. 1, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Carr John, e. Aug, 25, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.
Crank John H. e. Jan. 27, '66, died La Grange, Tenn. Sept. 2, '65.
Davis Able, e. Feb. 15, '64, m.o. Sept. 80, '6^
Drake Phineas B. e. Sept. 30, '64, m.o. Sept. 30. '66.
Desamo John S. e. Sept. 27, '61, desrtd. Oct. 1, '61.
Goddard William, e. Jan 5. '84, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as corpl.
Garvin Barney, e. March 22, '64, m,o. Sept. SO, '65.
Groon John W. e. Jan. 27. '65, m.o. Sept. 30. '65.
Gregg James G. e. Feb. 26, '64.

HairPeter A, e. Feb. 15, '64, m.o. Sent. 30, '65, as corpl.

. Dec. 20, '68, desrtd. March, '64.
I, e. Dec. 20, '63, died at Vlcksburg, July 25, '64.
iw, e. Dec. 20. '63, m.o. Sept. 3ft '6'S, as 1st sergt.
e. Deo. 20, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '66.

Kingdon William H. e. Aug. 13, '62, m.o. June 9, '66.

Keifer Jacob H. e. Dec. 28, '61.

Ley John, e. Nov. 6, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Moflit William E. e. Jan. 6, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '66, as corpl.
McCuIiy Joseph A. e. Jan. 6, '84, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

McOuIly William H. e. Jan. 27 '65, m.o. Sept. 3ft '65.

Mulbehill Jeremiah 0. e. Aug. 14, '62, m.o. June 9, '66.

McGraw Patrick, e. Aug. 14, '62.

Nelson Ellas, e. Jan. 24,^64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Oakford Thomas H. e. Dec. 4, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.
O'Neal Thomas, e. March 31, '65, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Putnam William, e. Dec. 28, '61, dlsd. Oct. 27, '62, disab.
Putnam Luther, e. Oct. 4, '61, died at Peoria, 111. Dec. 8, '61.

Rome Nelson B. e. Dec. 1, '63, m.o. Sept. SO, '66.

Rutherford George, e. March 31. '64, died Memphis, May 7, '65.

Rich William, e. Dec. 7, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Siriat James, e. Sept. 37, '61, disd. Oct. 1, '61, dlsab.
Simmons Habbie, e. Oct. 6, '61, disd. Nov. 12, '62, dlsab.
Swan James C. e. March'9. '84, desrtd. April 26, '64.

Thompson William R. e. Jan. 5. '64. m.o. Sept. 80, '85.

Thurston William, e. Nov. 23, '63, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Teal William, e. Sept. 27, '61, dlsd. Aug. —, '62.

Wheeler John H. e. Jan. 16, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65, as corpl.
Waggoner John Sr. e. March 31, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Will Charles, e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. Sept. 30, '65.

Webber Andrew, e. Oct. 6, '61, discC Jan 18. '63.

Unassigned Recruits.
Allen Francis, e. March 9. '85.

Brady John J. e. Feb. 4, '63.

Crew Noah J. e. March 29, '64.

Carlton Edward, e. Dec. 16, '68, desrtd. Jan. 5, '64.

Cox Joseph, e. Sept. 16, '64, rejected.
Conn Charles, e. Nov. 18, '64.

Conner John, e. Feb. 1, '63.

Deianey Thomas, e. March 21, '64.

Dowene Henry, e. March 29, '65.

Dane Christopher, e. March 9, '85.

Foster R. N. e. Nov. 12. '62.

Ford Charles D. e. April 14, '64.

Goddard Artemas Wt e. Aug. 14,'62.
Jacob Henry, e. Jan. 29, '63.

King Henry A. e. Jan. 21, '64.

Kelley John, e. Feb. 6, '65.

Laird Homer, e. Aug. 14. '62.

Mitchell Harrison, e. Nov. 18. '62.

McDaniel James, e. Dec. 15, '83.

McGoan Harris, e. March 9, '85.

Murphy Patrick, e. March 9, '85.

Nolln J. D. e. Nov. 18, '63.

Neuer August, e. Dec. 7. '63.

O'Brian James, e. Dec. 19, '63.
Phillips Charles, e. Jan. 29, '63.

Peeper John E. e. April 9, '64.
Phillips John, e. Feb. 5, '65.

Preston Alfred H. e. Dec. 6, '88.
Slocum John, e. Dec. 1,'62.
Shell Oliver 0. e. Sept. 29. '84.
Snyder or Smith J. C. e. Feb. 28, '65.
Stewart Walter F. e. March 1,'65.
Smith James, e. March 9,'66.
Seymour John, e. March 9 '66.

Shields John, e. Jan. 11, '64.
Wilson William, e. Aug. 15, '62.
Toung Adiah, e, Jan. 6, '64.

14th Cavalry.

Horace Capron, com. Feb. 6,'63, res. Jan. 23,'66, pro. to Brevi
Brig. Gfen. Miarch 13, '65.

lileutenant Colonel.
Horace Capron, com. Jan. 7, '63, pro.

First Assistant Sureeon.
Geo. A. Wilson, com. Jan. 7, '63, res. April 7,'65.

COMPANY A.

Lieutenant.
First, HoraoeCapron, com. Jan. 7,'63, died of wds. Feb. 6, '64.

Frivates.
Barfoot William, e. Sept. 1,'62, disd. for disab. '64,

Eley Jefferson, e. Dec. 12. '82, disd. Dec. 12i'63, disab.
Somers Alfred, e. Oct. 12, '62, dlsd. March. 18, '65, dlsab.
Somberger George, e. Nov. 2,'82, m.o. July 31, '65.
Triplet William, e. Oct. 12, '62, disd. May, '63, dlsab,

COMPANY B.

Captains.
Paul Distler, com. Jan. 7, '63, res. Oct. 17, '64.
Henry H. Mayo, com. Oct. 17, '64, m.o. July 17, '65.

Lieutenants.
First, Henry Helneke, com. Jan. 7. '63, res. April 22,'64.
First, Henry H. Mayo, com. April 22,'64, pro.
Second, Fhulp Smith, com. Jan. 7,'63, incomp. m.o. Oot.8i'63.
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ComiulssaTy Serseant.
Lettell Chas. A. e. Sept. 14,'62, dtea at Washington, N. 0. March

ID, 65.

SergreaDts.
Ernst Louis, e. Sept. 18,'6a, private, desrtd. April 12 '63.
Brown William, e. Sept. 16, '63, desrtd. March 10, '63.

Corporals.
Helmel Paul, e. Sept. 15,'62, m.o. July 31,'65 as sergt,
Dassell Conrad, e. Sept. 18, '82, desrtd. April 12. '63.
Handshu Henry, e. Oct. 5,'62, captured July 31,'b4, not heard

from since.
Boehm John, e. Sept. 18. '62, died In AndersunvlIIe prison Jan.

14, '65. No. of grave 12,453.
Westerman Frank H. e. Jan. 5, '63, m.o. June 81,'65, prisoner of

war.
Smith Louis H. e. Jan. 6, '63, m.o. July 31, '65, as sergt.

Teamster.
Gloring Jacob, e. Sept. 30, '62, absent sick at m.o. of regiment.

Blacksmiths.
Grove John, e. Nov. 10, '62, m.o. July 31, '65 as sergt.
Terohn Albert, e. Sept. 20, '62, dlsd. July 7, '65, disab.

Saddler.
Mlsselhom Perd. e. Dec. 2, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Wagoner.
Huske William, e. Sept. 14,'62,m.o. July 31,'65.

Privates.
Altman William, e. Nov. 29. '62, dlsd. March 21, '64, disab.
Brauer John, e, Sept. 16, '68, desrtd. Jan. 14, '63.
Baikes Nicholas, e. Sept. 28. '62, dlsd. April 11, '63, disab.
Brown George, e. Oct. 2, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.
Barnet Timothy, e. Dec. 1, '62, captd. July 31, '64, not heard

from since.
Campbell Joseph, e. Oct. 22, '62, reclaimed by 65th 111. Feb. 11,

'63.

Dubois William, e. Dec. 2, '62, desrtd. Jan. 14, '63.

Drisler Frank, e. Dec. 1, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.
Ebert George, e. Oct. 5, '62, dlsd. Dec. 9, '63, disab.
Folkers John W. e. Oct. 2, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.
Flshbeck Herman, e. Sept. 30, '62, m.o. July 31. '65.
Froehlicli Jacob, e. Oct. 1, '62, died at Louisville, Ky., March 3,

'63.

Gebhard William e. Nov. 20, '62, m.o. June 22, '65.
Grebe Conrad, e. Sept. 14, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Uauser Caspar, e. Sept. 14, '62, m.o. Aug. 5. '65, was prlsr.
Huck Harmon, e. Sept. 13, '62. died at Camp Nelson, Ky., March

15, '64.

Johnston John, e. Sept. 23. '62, dlsd. March 21, '65. disab.
Klein Louis, e. Nov. 12, '62, died atGlasgow, Tenn.. May 20, '63.
Kimble Francis, e. Sept. 16. '62, desrtd. April 12, '63.
Kowurtz Frank, e. Dee. 1, '62, dlsd. May 13. '63, disab.
Le Genbre Felix, e. Oct. 16, '62, desrtd. April 25, '63.
McPherson Henry H. e. Oct. 5, '62, dlsd. Dec. 9, '63, disab.
Meyer Leopold, e Sept. 20, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Mayn Louis, e. Oct. 28, '62, m.o. July 11. '65, prlsr war.
Naef John.e. Sept. 16, '62, trans, to V. B. 0. Oct. 20. '63.
Nickel George, e. Dec. 15. '62, desrtd. Oct. 22. '64.

Biohter Charles, e. Sept. 14, '62, dlsd. May 30, '63, disab.
Ruibty Geo. e. Dec. 15, '62, disd. Aug. 22, '63, disab.
Scnelderfritz Henry, e. Sept. 18, '62, died at Louisville, Ky., Aug.

20, '63. .

Spenke Henry, e. Sept. 16, '62, m.o. July 31, '66.

Seifert Julius, e. Sept. 22, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Tremmel John, e. Oct. 6, '62. m.o. July 31, '65.

Walter Lorenz, e. Sept. 9, '62. m.o. July 31, '65.

, Weiland Sebastian, e. Nov. 10. '62, dlsd. May 2, '63, disab.
Welnheimer Philip, e. Sept. 16, '62. m.o. July 31, '65, as sergt.
Ward Frank, e. Sept. 15, '62, desrtd. Jan. 13, '63.

Zelgler Gottleib, e. Oct. 1, '62, captd. July 31, '64, at Macon, Ga.
not heard from since.

Recruits.
Frlderlck Charles, e. Jan. 14, '64, m.o. July 31, '65.

Neff Martin, e. Dec. 19, '63, m.o. July 31, '65.

Bayer Christian, e. Dec. 9, '63, dlsd. May 18. '65, disab.
Stabler Christian, e. Feb. 29, '64, disd. April 20, '65, disab.

COMPANY C.

Lieutenant.

Second, Henry M. Evans, com. Jan. 7, '63, res. Oct. 5, '63.

Commissary Sergreant.
Abell Seth C. e. Sept. 18, '62, pro. to regt. com. sergt.

Privates.
Lynch Thomas, o. Oct. 14, '62, drowned In Ohio river, July 80,

'63.

Prentice John D. e. Sept. 14, '62, m.o. July 31, '66.

Kussell Kobert, e. Nov. 28, '62, m.o. July 31, '66.

Webb Henry, e. Nov. 25, '62, m.o. July g, '65, prlsr. war.

COMPANY D.

Teamster.
Oleuieuts Charles, e. Ueii. 1, '62, corpl. deuld. Mai'cJi 6, 'OS-

Privates.

Carter Robert D. e. Sept. 18, '62, desrtd. March 26, '63.

Blfcon Cannd, e. Dec. 1, '62, desrtd. Jan. 12, '63.

EversoU Samuel, e. Dec. 1, '62, reclaimed by 58th 111, Inf.

Hansen Alonzo, e. Nov. 1, '62, desrtd. Aug. 10, '63.

Keynolds Alex. e. Deo. 15, '82, in confinement since June 1, '82,

for killing a comrade.

COMPANY B.

Privates.

Johnson Henry, e. Deo, 10. '62, desrtd. Feb. 9. '63.

Klasy George, e. Deo. 20, '62, trans, to cp. I.

Banish Edward, e. Sept. 23, '68, trans, to oo. G.

COMPANY F.

Privates.
BeekmanJohnK. e. Jan. 4, '63, desrtd. Feb.21,'63.
Harrison Mitchell, e. Jan. 8, '63, m.o. June 15. '65, prlsr. war.

Potter John C. e. Oct, 20. '62, desrtd. Aug. 18. '63.

Recruit.
Bethrels William H. e. Feb. 22, '65, m.o. July 31, '66.

COMPANY G.
*''

..» Recruits.
Freel Joseph J. e. March 1, '65, m.o. July 31. '65.

Hedgepath Thomas P. e. Jan. '65. m.o. July 31, '66.

COMPANY H.
Privates.

Blaklie Beuben, e. Feb. 5, '63. trans, to CO. I. ,,,-,..
Beck Henry, e. Jan. 17, '63, died at Louisville, Ky.. July 16, '68.

Hamilton Claude B. e. Feb. 2, '63, trans, to co. I.

Meyer Ferdinand, e. Jan. 25, '63, desrtd. March, '63.

Schaefer Peter, e. July 21, '63, desrtd. July. '63.

Recruit.
Lamb John, e. March 28, '65, trans, to 45th His. Inf.

COMPANY I.

Privates.
Birch George, e. Oct. 18, '62, desrtd. April 12, '63.

Black John J. e. Oct. 12, '63, desrtd. Jan. 9. '63.
. .„,

Casper James E. e. Sept. 25, '63, trans, to V. B. C. Oct. 1, '64.

Moberry William, Sept. 20, '62, desrtd. March 36, '63.

Miller George A. e. Oct. 6. '62. disd. for pro. Nov. 1. '63.

O'Sulllvan John B. e. Sept. 13, '62, m.o. July 31, '66.

Phelps Chester, e. Dec. 4, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Steuart Erastus W. e. Nov. 5, '62, died at Louisville, Ky. Nov.
3. '64.

COMPANY K.
Sergreants.

First, Groshen Edward, e. Sept. 14, '62, trans, to co. A.
Allen Albert 0. e. Dec. 1, '62, desrtd. Jan. 15, '63.

Corporals.
Barrow James, e. Sept. 14. '62, desrtd. Jan. 10, '63.

McKenzle Allen W, e. Sept. 14, '62, m.o. July 31, '65, as private.

Teamster.
Sparroch Thomas J. e. Dec. 13, '62, desrtd. March 28, '63.

Privates.
Bonnie Louis, e. Sept. 15. '62, desrtd. March 28, '63.

Brown William, e. Nov. 15, '62, desrtd. March 28, '66.

Cosgrove Bernard H. e. Nov. 1, '62, reclaimed by co. M, 2d. Ills.

Light Artillery Feb. 3, '65.

Glbbler Emery H. e. Oct. 16, '63, dlsd. March 16, '63.

Loony H. e. Dec. 1, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Mccarty Joseph, e . Oct. 10, '82, died In AndersonvUle prison
Nov. 1. '64.

McCann James, e. Nov. 16, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

t Neff John 0. e. Nov. 16, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Bicker Edward, e. Sept. 14, '62, desrtd. March 14, '63.

Shafer John, e. Dec. 3. '68. desrtd. Jan. 13, '63.

Sheen Michael, e. Deo. 1, '62, desrtd. Jan. 26, '63.

Somers Alfred, -. . —, —, desrtd. Jan. 12,'83.
Westacott William W. e. Nov. 15, '62, m.o. July SI, '65 as sergt.

COMPANY L,.

Privates.

Jackson James, e. Nov. 21, '62, died at Peoria, 111. Jan, 13, '63.

Newmler Charles, e. Nov. 28, '82, pro. to chief bugler.
Farcell Garrett H. e. Jan. 8, '63, dlsd. Feb. 1, '63, minor.
Rogers David, e. Jan. 8, '63, m.o. July 31, '65.

COMPANY M.

Captains.

Thomas S. Lupton, com. Jan. 7, '63, honorably dlsd. May 15, '86.

William W. Eowcllfl, com, Jan. 7, '63, promoted.
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Lieutenant.
William W. Gowles, com. July 11, '66, not mustered, ni.o. (as

sergt.) July Sl,'e5.
Sergeants.

First, Cowles William W. e. Sept. 15, '68, m.o. July 31, '65, com.
as 3d Lieut, but not mustered.

Irvine Alexander, e. Sept. 16, '62, m.o. July 31, '62.

Anderson James, e. Sept. 15, '62, m,o. July 81, '62.

Putnam Ttiomaa, e. Oct. 6, '62, disd. Jan. 10, '64, dlsab.

Corporals.
Fowler Charles W. e. Oct. 6, '62, dlsd. July 12, '64, dlsab.
Clevelana John S. e. Oct. 5, '63, m.o. July 31, '65, as private.

Saddler.
Reed John B. e. Sept. 15, '62, pro. saddler sergt.

Wagroner.
Pitcher James, e. Sept. 20, '62, abs. sick at m.o. of regL

Teamster.
LaughllQ James, e. Oct. 5, '62, m.o. Aug. 14, '65.

Privates.
Bonty Philip, e. Oct. 5, '62, desrtd. July 17, '63.

Banks John D. e. Sept. 20, '62. transf. to SSth 111. Inf. J
Barker James W. e. Dec. 18, '62, dlsd. Dec. 6, '64, dlsabk
GoliDderson Joseph, e. Oct. 5, '62. dlsd. Nov. 6, '64, dlsaij
Cook George, e. Sept. 20. '62. died at Glasgow, July 9, '63.

Celrtt Samuel, e. Sept. 20, '62, died Portsmouth, O. Aug. 17, '63.

Connor Thomas, e. Oct. 6, '62. died at Peoria, Feb. 2, '63.

Colender Peter, e. Sept. l5, '62, turned over to civil authority.
Dunn Thomas, e. Oct. 5, '62, m.o. June 21, '65. prisoner of war.
Egieston James, e. Oct. 5, '82. desrtd. April 13, '63.

Folenwider John B. e. Sept. 20, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

Fernau James A. e. Sent. 20, '62, died at Andersonviile, Feb. 13,
'66; No. of grave 12.628.

Hopkins Thomas, e. Sept. 20. '62, m.o. July 31, '65, as sergt.
Hodgmon Isaac, e. Sept. 20, '62, desrtd. Jan. 8, '63.
Hanfllton John, e. Dec. 1. '62, desrtd. Jan. 9, '63.

Hattock Clinton, e. Jan. 5. *63, m.o. July 3, '65, prls. war.
McClay James, e. Oct. a, '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

McKee Jonathan, e. Oct. 5, '62, m.o July 31, '66, as corpi.
Ogden Ira B. e. Oct. 5. '62, m.o. July 31, '65.

O'Shoncey Henry, e. Oct. 6, '62, desrtd. Jan. 5, '63.

Price John, e. Dec. 10, '62, desrtd. April 20, '63.

Bussell Emery, e. Sept. 20, '62, dlsd, Sept. 14. '64, corpl. dlsab.
Reeves John, e. Oct. 5, '62, desrtd. April 12 '68.

Sullivan John, e. Sept. 15, '63, desrtd. Jan. 18, '68.

Simmons Hobbe, e. Jan. 8, '63. desrtd. Feb. 14, '63.

Smiley James M. e. Sept. l5, '62, m.o. June 16, '65, as sergt.
Shirley Thomas J. e. Sept. 30, '62, m.o. July 31. '65, as corpl.
Seed Andrew J. e. Sept. 20. '62, m.o. June 21. '65, prls. war.
Somersett Thomas, e. Oct. 5, '63, m.o. July 31, '65
Temple Charles H. e. Sept. 15, '62, trans, to co. E.
Van Hess Henry, e. Oct. 5, '62. abs. sick m.o. of regt.
Walters William, e. Sept. 30. 62, m.o. July 31, '65. as oorpi.
Waiters Henry, e. Sept. 20, '62, m.o. July 31, '65, as corpl.

Recruits.
Miller James M. e. Feb. 30, '64, m.o. June 13. '65.

Smith David H. e. Feb. 38, '64, m.o. July 31, '65.

Smith Harrison, e. Feb. 2, '64, died Kingston, Tenn. June 19, '64.

Unassigned Recruits.
Bennett James, e. March 23. '65.

Casson James, e. March 31, '65.

Connors James U, e. March 23, '65.

Gurter Andrew, e. March 24, *66.

Ford Michael, e. March 28, '65.

Hagan George, e. Oct. 11, '64.

Haley Richard, e. March 28, '85.

Holton Frederick, e. March 9, '64.

Kane Patrick, e. March 33, '85.

Purdy John, e. Oct. 11, '64.

Pratt Henry, e. March 23, '65.

Reed Robert, e, March 31. '65.
Seaver George, e. March 23, '66.
Seaver William, e. March 23, '65.

Williams Samuel, e. March 23, '65.

Wilklns Frank, e. March 28, '65.

15th Cavalry.

COMPANY -L.

Privates.
Shaffer Simon, e. Feb. 16, '62, trans, to 10th 111. Cav. as consol.
Wilder MortrevlUe, e. Oct. 36, '61, m.o. Jan. 9, '65.

Recruit.
Oakford Thomas, e. June 1,'61, trans, to Reg. Band 63d III. Inf.

17th Cavalry.

COMPANY A.
Prlrate.

Ctaandleri Samuel J. e. Nov. 6, '68, corpi. desrtd. June 21, '66.

COMPANY B.
Q. M. Sergeant.

Frey William G. e. Oct. 6, '63, m.o. Dec. 20. '66, as sergt.

Commissary Sergeant.
Furchison Henry M. e. Dec. 16, '63, m.o. Dec. 2C, '86, as private.

Privates.
Murphy Robert, e. Oct. 5, '63. died at St. Charles, 111. Feb. 23, '64.
Robblns Benah, e. Nov. 23. '63, m.o. Dec. 20, '65.
Tlndall Geo. B. e. Oct. 15, '63, m.o. Dec. 20, '65.
Walker John O. e. Dec. 16, '63, absent at m.o. of regt.

Recruit.
Todd James, e. Feb. 1, '64, died at Benton Barracks July 26, '64.

COMPANY B.

Commissary Sergeant.
Hermans Alfred S. e. Dec. 11, '63, pro. 2d Lieut. 121st U. S. C. I.

July 19, '65.

Battery A Illinois Liight Artillery.
HISTORY.

Battery A, Second Illinois Light Artillery was organized at
Peoria, 111., by Capt. Peter Davidson, and was mustered into
State Service, May 23, 1861.

Moved to Alton. 111., in July, 1861. Thence moved tost.
Charles. Mo., with Gen. Pope, and then to Mexico, Mo. From
this place sections were sent to different parts of North Missouri,
which were again united at Jefferson Barracks, Mo., at whioli
place the Battery was mustered into United States Service
August 17, 1861.

Moved to Jefferson City, Mo., and October 1st to BoonvlUe
Mo., and thence to OttervlUe. Thence marched In Kelton's
Brigade, Pope's Division of Fremont's army, to Springfield
Mo., and returned to OttervlUe. January 26, 1862, in Col. Julius
White's Brigade, Brigadier Gen. Jeff. C. Davis' Division, moved
to Lebanon and. with Curtis' army to Northwest Arkansas. Was
engaged in the battle of Pea Ridge March 7th and 8th, where it
did faithful and brilliant service. A section of the Battery at
Neosho and FayettevlUe. Moved to Helena, Ark., with Gen.
Curtis' army.

Battery A was mustered out of service at Camp Butter. 111..
July 37. 1865.

1st Artillery.

BATTERY M.
Privates.

Bonson Thomas, e. July 8, '63, m.o. July 84 '65.
Hamilton Richard, e. July 3, '82, m.o. July 24, '65.

2d Light Artillery.

Major.

Peter Davidson, com. April 11, '63 hon. dlsd. tor pro. May 28, '64.

BATTJ5RY A.

Captains.

Peter Davidson, com. Jan. 30, '62j promoted Major.
Herman Borrls, com. April 11, '63, dls. dlsd. March 1, '66.
Wm. W. Camobeii, com. July 3, '65, not m.o., m.o. as 1st Lieut.

July 37, '65.

Iiientenants.
First, Herman Borris,com. May 14, '61, pro. Captain.
First, Wm. J. Gardner, com. May 14, '61, disd. Jan. 14, '63
First, J. Corwin Hansel, com. Jan. 85, '83, m.o.
First, Frank B. Penton. com. April 11, '63. m.o. May 13 '66
First, Wm. W. Campbell, com. April ] 1, '63. pro. Capt.
First, RensallerW. HInman, com. July 8, '65, not m.o. m o a«

3ci Lieut. Jan. 37, '65.
' ". "; "»." a.

First, Walter Bird, com. July 88, '65, not m.o., m.o. as sereeant
July 27, '65.

Second, Frank B. Fenton, com. May 14, '61. pro. senior 1st Lieut
Second, Abraham B. Batterson, com. Jan. 25, '62, died.
Second, Bensalier W. Hinman, com. April 1 1, '63, pro. senior 1st

Lieutenant.
Second, Walter Bird, com. April 11, '63, pro. Junlo'- 1st. Lieut
Second, Samuel Coburn, com. July 26, '65, not m.o. mo as ser-

geant July 27. '65,
Second, Denton Y. Keys, com. July 36, '65, not m.o. m o as

sergt. July 37, '65.
'

Company Q. M. Sergeant.
Batterson Abram B. e. April 19. '61, pro. Junior 2d Lieut.

Sergeant Major.
Titcomb Oliver P. b. April 19, '61, disd. for disability.

Sergeants.
Patterson Wm. e. April 19, '61, kid. at Vlcksburg June 10, '68.
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Campbell Walter W. e. April 19, '61, pro. junior 1st Lieut.
Gardner William L. e. April 19, '61, Otsd. for disability.
MoGtnnis James, e. ADril 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Beddick James H. e. May 21, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Walter Bird, e. April 19, '61, pro. junior 2d Lieut.

Corporals.
Baldwin Stephen E. e. April 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Bloomer Joseph G. e. April 36, '61, dls. for disability.
Coburn Samuel, e. April 19, '61, re-e. as vet.
Dlmond John. e. April 24. '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64, as 1st. sergt.

French John W. e. April 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64, as sergt.
Held Nicholas, e. April 9, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Hinman Eensalier W. e. May 14, '61, pro. senior 2d Lieut.
Keys Denton Y. e. April 19. '61, re-e. as vet.
Lucas William M. e. May 14, '64. m.o. Sept. 14, '64, as private.
Ranch Wm. e. May 20, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, ^84, as sergt.

Wilkinson Wm. B. e. April 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '61, as co. Q.M.
sergeant.

Bugrler.
Drew Thomas, e. May 27, '61, m.o. Sept. 14. '64, as private.

Artificers.
Letz Lair, e. April 19,'61, m.o. Sept. 15, '64, as private.
Smith Jeremiah, e. May 25, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64, as private.
Schiermaman Fritz, e. July 22, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.
Stanger John, e. June 18, '61. disd. for dlsab.
Krelling Henry, e. April 19,'61, m.o. Sept. 14,'64, as private.

Privates.
Austin John W. e. April 19,'61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64 as corpl.
Barnaba John W. e. April 19, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Bauer Dick, e. May 5,^61, re-e. as a vet.
Bustorf Frederick, e. June 19, '61, died at Jefferson Barracks

Aug. 15, '61.
Butler James, e. June 1,'61, re-e. as a vet.
Carney Stephen W. e. May 1,'61, disd. for dlsab.
Chase Ira, e. April 19,'61, re-e. as a vet.
Grandall William, e. May 17, *61, re-e. as a vet.
Carman James F. e. July 10, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Dempsey William, e. April 19, '61. m.o. Sept. 14,'64.
Dimond James, e. May 17, '61, disd. for dlsab.
Dold Stephen, e. July 8, '61. re-e. as a vet.
Farrer Joachien, e. April 19, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Frost Enos, e. April 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Gisart Jacob, e. May l'i','61, re-e. as a vet.
H-oag Edwin, e. July 10, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.
Johnson Samuel M. e. May 23,'61. m.o. Sept. 14. '64.
Haufman Martin S. e. April 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14,'64as corpl.
Lair Williim, e. April 19, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Lair Noah, e. Apriri9,'61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.
Lanigan Francis M. e. April 19, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.
Lupton Chas, e. .Tune 18, '61, re-e.as a vet.
Mann Martin, e. April 19. '61, re-e. as a vet.
Maupin Robert B. e. April 19, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Meyer Pliilip, e. April 19, '61, died at St. Charles, Mo. Aug. 1,'61.
Morrow William, e. April 19.'61, m.o. Sept. 14. '64.

McVickar Hugh, e. May 27,'61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.
Paul Anderson, e. April 19, '61, re-e. as a vet.
Ploher Ferdinand, e. May 24, '61, re-e. asavet.
Byan Laurence, e. April 19,'61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Byan Samuel, e. April 19. '61, re-e. as a vet.
Byan Parkinson, e. April 19. '61, re-e. as a vet.
Shieman John, e. April 19,'61, died at Georgetown, Mo. Sept.

29, '61.
Shafer Solomon, e. April 30. '61, m.o. Sept. 14,'64.
Smith Morris, e. April 23, '64, re-e. as a vet.
Sick John, e. June 14, '64, m.o. Sept. 14,'64.
Stowell Henry, e. July 8, '64, m.o. Sept. 14, '64 as corpl.
Wadsworth Berial, e. April 19, '64, re-e. as a vet.
Ward James, e. July 1,'64, disd. for dlsab.
Waresly John J. e. May 22, '64, m.o. Sept. 14,'64.

Wolfert Sebastian, e. June 22, '64, re-e. as a vet.

VKTEKANS.

Serseant.
Coburn Samuel, e. Feb. 1,'64, m.o. July 27,'65 as 1st sergt. com.

as 2d Lieut, but not mustered.

Corporal.
Keys Denton T. e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65 as Co. Q. M. Sergt.

Bugler.
Carman James F. e. Feb. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65 as corpl.

Privates.
Aldrlch Horace M. e. Feb. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Baldwin Stephen B. e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65 as sergt.
Barnaba John W. e. Jan. 1,'64. m.o. July 27,'65.
Bauer Dick, e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July27,'65.
Butler James, e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 37. '6g.
Ghase Ira B. e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65.
Crandall William, e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65.

D'old Stephen, e. Jan. 1,'64, disd. for dlsab.
Farrer Joachien, e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65.
Qelsart Jacob, e. Jan. 1,'65, m.o. July 27, '65.
Lupten Chas. e. Jan. 1,'64, in.o. July 27, '65.as sergt.
Eafr William, e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27,'65.
Maupin Robert B. e. Jan. 1,'64, m.o. July 27, '65 as corpl.
Maine Martin, e. Jan. 1,'64, died at Brashear City, La. April

3, '65.
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, as sergt.

Piocher Ferdman, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Byan Parkinson, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. July 27, 65, as sergt.

Ryan Samuel L. e. Jan. 1. '64, m.o. July 27, '66, as corpl.

Smith Maurice, e. Jan. 1, '64. m,o. July 27, 65, as sergt.

Speers William H. e. Jan. 1, '64. m.o. July 27, '65.

Sullivan Frank, e. Jan. 1, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Wardsworth Beriah, e. Jan. 1, '64. m.o. Jnly 27, '65.

Walport Sebastian, e. July 1, '64. m.o. July 27, '65.

Recruits.
Ashbury Samuel, e. March 14, '64,^m.o. July 27. '65. ,„ ,„„
Ayres Maurice, e. Sept. 20, '62, died at Helena, Ark. Feb. 17, '63.

Aldrick John P. e. Oct. 28. '62, reinstated as vet.

Baker Philip, e. Oct. 26, '68, m.o. July 27, '65, as bugler.

Bauer Henry, e. Oct. 28, '63, m.o. July 27, '65.

Boydslen Newton L. e. Nov. 7, '63, m.o. July 27, '85.

Bennett Samuel, e. March 14, '64, m.o. July 27, '86.

Beers William W. e. March 31, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Bobier William, e. March 28, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Bachelor Neal,e. Oct. 24, '63, m.o. July 27, '66.

Becket John M. e. Oct. 11, '64, m.o. July 27. '66.

Best William, e. Sept 8, '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Bitner William, e. Sept. 22. '61, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Burgess Henry, e. Oct. 9, '62.
. , , „„ ,„,

OamnlBiCharles B. e. March 21, '64, m.o, July 27, '65, as corpl.

Cull TOWam H. e. March 24, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

CharlSfHeller, e. Jan. 4, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Currier Arthur T. e. March 28, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Conger Allen, e. Dec. 16, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Chase Edward, e. Sept. 22. '61. disd. for disab.
Coburn William, e. Nov. 30, '63, trans.
Dickenson GrifBth A. e. Nov. 10, '62, m.o. July 27. '65, as corpl.

Drummond John P. e. Jan. 4, '64, m.o. July 27. '65.

Ellis Benjamin, e. Jan. 18. '64,, m.o. July 27, '65.

Eayd Albert P. e. Nov. 21, '62, m.o. July 27. '65.

Elliott Jacob, e. Oct. 29, '63, m.o. July 27, '65.

Eastman Charles, e. Sept. 22, '61, disd. for disab.
Fitzgerald John, e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. Aug. 12, '65.

Ford Burton S. m.o. March 22, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Ford Henry, e. March 23, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Fowler Henry, e. Sept. 8, '81, m.o. Sept. 14, '64.

Grotevant Robert, e. Sept. 26. '64, m.o. June 21, '65.

Howell Israel, e. March 21, '64, m.o. July 27, '65, as corpl.
Hawkins William E. e. Oct. 28, '63, m.o. July 27, '65.

Hurland William B. e. Aug. 25, '62. m.o. June 21, '65.

Hull John B. e. Sept. 24, '62, m.o. June 21, '65.

Houser Christian, e. Oct. 13, '62, disd. tor dlsab.
Jaggard Thomas, e. Dec. 8, '63, m.o. July 27, '65.

Johnson John L. e. Oct. 31, '63. m.o. July 27, '65.

Keller Allen, e. March 24. '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Kissel Emanuel, e. Sept. 26, '62, m.o. June 21, '65.

Lutz Philip, e. March 8. '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Livingstone William, e. Sept. 8, '61, m.o. Sept. 14. '64,

Morrow Calvin, e. March 32, '64, m.o. July 27, '85.

Naylor Flavious, e. March 24, '64, m.o. July 37, '65.

Orr William B. e. March 21, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Parker Lewis G. e. Feb. 15, '64, m.o. July 37, '65.

Powell David B. Aug. 30, '62, m.o. June 21, '65. .

Bobinson Marvin N. e. Jan. 4, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Russell David, e. March 9, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Rockwell Calvin, e. March 31, '64, m.o. July 37, '65.

Sloan Charles P, e. March 22, '64, m.o. July 27. '65.

Scott Theodore J. e. March 30, '64, m.o. July 27, '65,

Stenge John, e. March 9, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Stebbins Lendwick, e. Dec. l6, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Stebbins John, e. Dec. 16, '64, m.o. July27, '65.

Stratton John R. e. Aug. 23, '63, m.o. .June 31, '65.

Shrlver David J. e. Oct. 28. '61. m.o. Oct. 27, '64.

Stockner Hugh, e. March 31, '64, m.o. June l6, '65.

Smith Albert H. e. Feb. 10, '64, died at Brashear City, La. Feb.
20, '65.

Spurs William H. e. Sept. 23, '61, re-e. as vet.
Trieibar John H. e. March24, '64, m.o. July 37, '65.

Vickery Roger, e. Dec. 21, '63, m.o. July 37, '65.

Venters William, e. Sept. 24, '64, m.o. June 21, '65.

Winn Marshall, e. March 25, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.

Wiley Lorenzo K. e. Nov. 21, '62. m.o. July 27, '85.
Winn Warren, e. March 25, '64, m.o. July 27, '65.
Wilkinson John, e. Aug. 25, '62.

Wilder Charles H. e. Sept. 24, '64, m.o. June 31, '65.

BATTERY C.

Private.
Turner Charles H. e. Aug. 29, '62, re-e. as a vet.

BATTERY D,

Recruit.
Hlghfieid Wilfred H. e. Jan. 4, '64, trans, to battery B,

BATTERY I,

l4ieutenautSt
First, Henry B. Plant, com. Dec. 31, '61, pro. sen. lat Lieut,
First, Henry B, Plant, com. April 7, '62, resigned May 6, '64.

Second, Charles McDonald, com. March 1, '63, m.o. June 14, '62.

Privates.
Cunningham Rogers, e. Nov. 25, '61.
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Jones Isaac W. e. Nov. 26, '61, dlsd. Sept. 10, '64, dlsah.
McDonald Charles, e. Kov. 25, '61, re-e. as a veteran.

Recruits.
Lester Robert N. e. Oct. S3, '62.

Moon Simon D. e. Dec. 25, '63. m.o. July 14. '65.

Petty George A. e. Jan. 5, '64, m.o. July 14, '65.

Sliippe Orrin S. e. Jan. 5, '64, absent sick at m.o. ot battery.
Weld Samuel 0. e. Dec. 21, '63, m.o. July 14, ' 65 as corpl.

Unasalgned Becruita.
Attklneon WllUam H. e. Jan. 18, '64, died at Camp Butler, 111.

Jan. 27, '64.

Pitcher Robert, e. Sept. 26, '64, m.o. May 29, '65.

Summers James, e. March 24, '64.

13th U. S.

Johnson Charles, e. April 1

Lee John, e. April 10, '65.

Wade Hampton, e. April 1, '66.

Colored Artillery.

66.

109tli U. S. Colored Infantry.

Bridges Jesse, e. Feb. 14. '65.

Barr John, e. Feb. 28. '66.

Cole Enoch, e. Feb. 28, '65.

Carter Silas, e. March 30, '66.
Drake Monroe, e. Feb. 28, '66.

Gray Samuel B. e. Feb. 28, '66.

HlcSs John. e. Feb. 28, '66.

HlUman William, e. Feb. 13, '65.
Jefferson James, e. Feb. 20, '65.
Jones Wade, e. Feb. 28, '66,

Mitchell William, e. Feb. 28. '65.

Porter John, e. March 30. '65.

Bed William, e. March 30, '65.
Smith Isaac, e. Feb. 28, '65.
Smith Washington, e. Feb. 28, '65,

Smith Lewis, e. Feb. 28, '65.

Smith John, e. Feb. 28, '65.

Stewart John, e. Feb. 28, '65.

Smith Alfred, e. Feb. 28, '65.

Warren William, e. Feb. 28, '65,

Washington George, e. Feb. 13, '66.

MISCELLANEOUS ORGANIZATIONS
7tli Tennessee Cavalry.

Arms John M. e. Oct. 30,
Butter John T. e. Oct. 20,

'64.

'64.

Cunningham BUJ-ah. e. April 10, '6S.
Divey Robert H. e. Dec. '64.

Edwards William, e. Nov. 8, '64.

Hamilton W. M. J. M. e. April 11, '65,

Hamilton Samuel, e. April 11, '65.

Hays James B. e. March 1. '64.

Jenkins Kelly H. e. Jan. 26, '64,

King Alfred, e. Oct. 26, '64.

King William P. e. March 13, '65.

Miller Joseph C. e. March 13, '65.

McAllister William T. e. March 13, '66.

McFarlane John, e, Jan. 24, '64, commissary sergt.
Purdon Benjamin, e. April 11, '66.

Perden John, e. Oct, 20, '64.

Perden Erwln T. e. Oct. 20, '64.
Kay William, e. Nov. 24. '64.

BoDlnson James, e. March 1, '65.

Scarlett Shadrlck M. e. March 8, '65.
Thomas John W. e. Deo. 14. '64.
Tucker Geo. W. e. Oct. 20, '64,

Viokers Francis M. e. Oct. 20, '64.

Waugh James W. e. Oct. 20, '64.

1st Army Corps.

BNIilSXlSX) MKN OF COMPANY No. 1.

Assigned to Company A, 2d Regt. V. S. Veteran Volunteers,

Privates.
Auten John W. e. Feb. 10, '65, m.o. Feb. 14, '66.

Greenleaf Geo. D. e. Feb. 6, '65, m.o. Feb. 21, '66.
Schailer Charles, e. Feb. 4, '65, m.o. Feb. 21, '66.

Shoemaker Edward, e. Feb. 4, '66.

BNIiISTED MEN OP COMPANY No. 5.

Privates.
Lair Noah, e. March 18, '65.

McMulien James E. e. March 13, '65, corpl. m.o. March 2, '66, i

of CO. G. 4th U. S. V. V.
Upshaw George, e. March 13, '65.

ISth U. S. Infantry.
£ecruit».

Barber James G. e. June, '65.

Beasmore Robert Q. e. June, '65.
BInk John H. e. June, '65.
Dunbar RoberC F. e. June, '65.

Gunsolua James H. e. June, '65.

Satter Joseph, e. June, '65.

"THE VOLUNTEER SOLDIERS.

The war ended and peace restored, the Union preserved in its integrity, the sons of

Peoria who had volunteered their lives in defense of their Government, who were spared

to see the army of the Union victorious, returned to their homes to receive grand ova-
tions and tributes of honor from friends and neighbors who had eagerly and jealously

followed them wherever the fortunes of war called. Exchanging their soldiers' uniforms
for citizens' dress, most of them fell back to their old avocations— on the farm, in the
mines, at the forge, the bench, in the shop, and at whatever else their hands found to do.

Some of them were called to higher honors, and their names have become as familiar to

the people and governments of the Old World as their noble deeds in the hour of their

country's peril are dear to the hearts of the people whom they so faithfully served.

Brave men are honorable always, and no class of citizens are entitled to greater respect
than the volunteer soldiery of Peoria county, not alone because they were soldiers, but
because in their associations with their fellow-men their walk is upright, and their hon-
esty and character without reproach.

Their country first, their glory and their pride

;

^ Land of their hopes— land where their fathers died
;

When in the right, they'll keep their honor bright
;

When in the wrong, they'll die to set it right.
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No grander tribute can be offered to the soldiers of the Union in the War of the
Rebellion, dead and living, than expressed by Colonel Robert G. IngersoU at the banquet
of the Society of the Army of the Tennessee on the occasion of the thirteenth annual
meeting of the Society at Chicago on the 13th of November, 1879. In the regular or-

der of toasts, the President of the Society, General Sherman, announced

:

The volunteer soldiers of the Union army, whose valor and patriotism saved the world a government of the

people, by the people, and for the people. Response by Colonel Robert G. IngersoU.

In response Colonel IngersoU said

:

When the savagery of the lash, the barbarism of the clan, and the insanity of secession confronted the civiliza-

tion of our century, the question, "Will the great Republic defend itself?" trembled on the lips of every lover of

mankind.
The North filled with intelligence and wealth, children of liberty, marshaled her hosts and asked only for a

leader. From civil life a man, silent, thoughtful, poised and calm, stepped forth, and with lips of victory voiced the

nation's first and last demand: "Unconditional and immediate surrender." From that moment the end was
known. That utterance was the first real declaration of war, and, in accordance with the dramatic unities ofmighty
events, the great soldier who made it, received the final reward of the rebellion.

The soldiers of the Republic were not seekers after vulgar glory. They were not animated by the hope of

plunder or the love of conquest. They fought to preserve the blessings of liberty and that their children might have
peace. They were the defenders of humanity, the destroyers of prejudice, the breaker of chains, and in the name of

the future they slew the monsters of their time. They finished what the soldiers of the Revolution commenced. They
relighted the torch that fell from their august hands and filled the world again with light. They blotted from the

statute-books laws that had been passed by hypocrites at the instigation of robbers, and tore witli indignant hands
from the Constitution that infamous clause that made men the catchers of their fellow-men.

They made it possible for judges to be just, for statesmen to be human, and for politicians to be honest.

They broke the shackles from the limbs of slaves, from the souls of masters, and from the Northern brain. They
kept our country on the map of the world, and our flag in heaven.

They rolled the stone from the sepulcher of progress, and found there two angels clad in the shining garments
—Nationality and Liberty. The soldiers were the saviors of the nation ; they were the liberators of men. In writ-

ing the proclamation of independence, Lincoln, greatest of our mighty dead, whose memory is as gentle as the suiri-

mer air when reapers sing amid the gathered sheaves, copied with the pen what Grant and his brave comrades wrote
with swords.

Grander than the Greek, nobler than the Roman, the soldiers of the Republic, with patriotism as stainless as

the air, battled for the rights of others, for the nobility of labor, fought that mothers might own their babes, that ar-

rogant idleness should not scar the back of patient toil, and that our country should not be a many-headed monster
made of warring States, but a nation, sovereign, great, and free.

Blood was water, money was leaves, and life was common air until one flag floated over a Republic without a

master and without a slave. Then was asked a question :
" Will a free people tax themselves to pay the nation's

debt?"
The soldiers went home to their waiting wives, to their glad children, and to the girls they loved, they went back

to the fields, the shops, and mines.. They had not been demoralized. They had been ennobled. They were as honest

in peace as they had been brave in war. Mocking at poverty, laughing at reverses, they made a friend of toil. They
said : " We saved the nation's life, and what is life without honor ?

"

They worked and wrought with all of labor's sons tha;t every pledge the nation gave should be redeemed. And
their great leader, having put a shining band of friendship, a girdle of clasped and happy hands, around the globe,

comes home and finds that every promise made in war has now the ring and gleam of gold.

There is another question still :
" Will all the wounds of the war be healed ? " I answer, yes. The Southern

people must submit, not to the dictation of the North, but to the nation's will and to the verdict of mankind. They
were wrong, and the time will come when they will say that they are victors who have been vanquished by the right.

Freedom conquered them, and freedom will cultivate their fields, educate their children, weave for them the robes

of wealth, execute their laws, and fill their land with happy homes.

, The soldiers of the Union saved the South as well as the North. They made us a nation. Their victory made
us free and rendered tyranny in every other land as insecure as snow upon a volcano's lips.

And now let us drink to the volunteers, to those who sleep in unknown, sunken graves, whose names are only in

the hearts of those they loved and left— of those who often hear in happy dreams the footstep of return.

Let us drink to those who died where lipless famine mocked at want, to all the maimed whose scars give modesty
a tongue, to all who dared, and gave to chance the care and keeping of their lives, to all the living and to all the

dead, to Sherman, to Sheridan, and to Grant, the foremost soldier of the world, and last, to Lincoln, whose loving

life, like a bow of peace, spans and arches all the clouds of war.

Pretty soon after the close of the War of the Rebellion in the Spring of 1865, the

people began talking about the erection of a monument to the memory of the soldiers from
Peoria county who had fallen in defense of their country. No definite action was taken,

however, until Thursday, September 14, 1865, when, the Board of Supervisors being in
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session, Dr. John Emery, the Supervisor from Trivoli, offered the following, and moved
for its adoption

:

Whereas, Many of the soldiers of this county have died in defense of their country, and lie buried in distant
places with nothing to mark the place of their burial, therefore.

Resolved, That an appropriation of dollars be made for the erection of a suitable monument, to be
erected in the Court-house yard, upon which shall be inscribed the names of all the soldiers who have died from this

county, with their company and regiment.

The resolution was referred to a committee appointed by the chairman of the Board,
composed of Messrs. Dr. Emery, Watson and Day, with instructions to procure plans,

specifications and estimates, and report at the next meeting of the Board.
At the April meeting of the Board (1866), the committee reported that they had

received several plans, specifications and bids, all of them at a cost of five thousand
dollars. The contract was finally awarded to Mr. Robert Campbell, of Peoria.

The corner stone laying was attended with much pomp and ceremony. The monu-
ment was fully completed and submitted to be dedicated on the 11th day of October,
1866.

DEDICATION CEEBMONIBS.

The largest assembly ever seen in Peoria was on the occasion of the dedication of

the Soldiers' Monument, Thursday, October 11, 1866, it being estimated that fully thirty

thousand people were present. The streets were filled, and the city was wild with ex-

citement. Old men who had stood side by side with Owen Lovejoy when he was waging
a war against slavery and for the rights of man, and for which his life was sacrificed ;

men who, because of their devotion to freedom and the inalienable right of their fellow-

men to enjoy the fruits of their own labor and the protection of their own homes, had
been politically ostracised and covered with odium, greeted and rejoiced with each other;

young men who had stood in the front of battle and aided in the suppression of the re-

bellion, met again, talked over their old campaigns, and crowded around their gallant

leader, General Logan. All were present to participate in the dedication of amonument
that would commemorate for all time the names of the heroic dead— of the men who
gave their lives in defense of the Union and of human rights. They were all freemen,

standing up for justice and for right, needing no leader but their God, no guide but their

conscience.

The day was as fair as an October day could be. A soft haze overhung the sky
and the atmosphere was in that condition when the slightest sound is readily and easily

transmitted, so that the voices of the speakers were easily heard.

Early in the forenoon the streets began to fill up, and it was not long until the

Peoria House was surrounded with a tumultuous throng hurrahing for Generals Butler

and Logan. " Old Abe," the veteran war eagle of the Eighth Wisconsin, brought down
by Captain A.. R. McDonald, State Armorer of that State, and Major Angle G. Weissert,

of the Eighth Wisconsin volunteers, was brought to the balcony, which was a signal for

renewed huzzas. In the vast assemblage there were many men who had "been through
the war " with that king of birds, and the sight of their old " pet " recalled many scenes

of camp and field and weary march.
About ten o'clock a procession was formed in the following order :

Four Marshals of the Day, Riding Abreast.

Spencer's Band.
Two Companies of Soldiers, walking by Company Front.

Carriage with " Old Abe," the War Eagle.

fe „ ,

,

Nine Companies of Infantry, Company Front, with

Regimental Colors. {

Cavalry Company, one hundred strong, by Fours.

Carriage with Orators of the Day.

27
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Peoria Medical Society.

German Turnverein.
Gillig's Band.
I. O. O. F.

Sons of Temperance.
Fire Department.

Citizens in Carriages.

Citizens on Foot.

The procession marched and countermarched along Adams street ; thence along

some of the other principal streets, and then debouched into the public square, where
the dedication exercises were to be observed. The Transcript of the 12th said

:

" The square was crowded full. Directly in front of the speaker's stand the throng was so great that individuals

could neither get in nor out. The speaker's stand was crowded to excess, and numbers crowded on the outside where-
ever they could get a foothold. Others climbed t he trees and swarmed in their branches, wherever the branches
were long enough and large enough to support them. * * * * Xhe monument had been appropriately

draped with wreaths and decked with flowers. An evergreen wreath wound up the shaft, and over the eagle was a
cross of flowers. The effect was exceedingly beautiful. The unsightly picket fence around it had been removed,
and in its place were wreaths of evergreens and flowers. The throng, crowded as they were, respected the sacred

enclosure, and not a flower or a sprig of green was touched. As the procession moved into the square, " Old Abe "

was carried to the speaker's stand and placed in the front, where his presence was greeted with long continued
applause.

" Spencer's band then played a patriotic air, after which Colonel R. G. IngersoU introduced Rev. Mr. Pierce, of
Elmwood, who opened the exercises with an appropriate prayer. Gillig's band played a dirge, after which the dedi-

catory poem by Mrs. P. R. K. Brotherson, was read by Colonel R. G. IngersoU."

THE POEM.

Rise, crowned with glory ! shaft of white.

Tower proudly to the bright blue sky
;

And tell in triumph to the world
The names that were not born to die :

Names that through all coming time.

Shall gleam with luster pure and bright—
A luster won from noble deeds,

And tinged with Heaven's eternal light.

When treason and disunion reared
Their serpent heads with tongue of flame,

And with defiance and with distrust,

Our bitter, vengeful foes became

;

When o'er the mountain and the vale.

Was heard our country's stirring cry

:

" To arms ! To arms !"— and patriot hearts

Resolved to conquer or to die.

Then went each noble spirit forth

With trusting faith and strong right hand
They stood, " where man doth die for man,"
A fearless and unshrinking band

;

They faltered not, but onward pressed,

Firm in their manhood's power and pride.

And for our safety, for our weal.

They bravely fought, they nobly died.

'Twould not avail nor would it tell

The grateful memories that we keep,
Distilled in many a falling tear,

Above theircalm, unbroken sleep.

But we will shrine each noble name
Upon the marble pure and white

;

And the glad sunshine, day by day,

Shall bathe them in its glowing light

;

The wind shall steal from Eden bowers.
And linger round the sacred place

Where stands the record that with pride
A grateful country loves to trace.

Look down, O ! watchful stars of Heaven,
Through the long hours of mystic night.

To guard them well with loving ward.
And crown them with your golden light,

Fall gently, purely, dews and showers.
Those high, and holy names around.

Fall as a blessing o'er the place
Where memory makes it holy ground.

Then rise fair marble ! Take thy place
Among the things which earth will keep

While time shall last, and many an age
Lies down to its dreamless sleep.

The hand of Genius crowns thee, too—
Its living impress thou dost wear,

As clothed with its unchanging grace
Thou dost immortal deeds declare.

How shall we give them honor due ?

How twine the laurel for them meet ?

Had we the riches of the world
To lay at their unconquered feet.

After the poem, Rev. Richard Honey, of Peoria, formally dedicated the monument.
The ceremony was simple, yet impressively performed, and was listened to with profound
attention.

Major-General Benjamin F. Butler, of Massachusetts, was then introduced to the
audience amid vociferous cheering, and it was some moments before the enthusiastic
greetings was sufficiently stUled to permit him to be heard. The speech is too lengthy to



SiSTORT 01* MORlA COtJNW 411

be incorporated within these pages, and hence we only preserve a few brief paragraphs.
He commenced,

" I came at your call from the far East, where the blue waves of the Atlantic wash
the granite based shores of New England, to aid in embalming for all time the deeds of

the glorious dead of the prairies of the West, almost as boundless, but teeming with
vigorous life, fertility and civilization. This peculiar coincidence is of itselffull of promise
for the unity, strength and prosperity of our institutions. The East answers to the West
with the same spirit of fidelty, loyalty and devotion to the country, in the same love of

kindred institutions, with unity of thought and full harmony of action. " He then referred

to the battles of the revolution, especially the battle of Lexington, and the monument
that had been erected there, to Concord and to Charleston, the first burning sacrifice of

the country to British brutality, where another granite shaft pierces the sky to mark the
first victory of the revolution at Bunker Hill, and to other places where the patriots of

the days of seventy-six sealed their devotion to the principles of American independence
with their blood and their lives ; to Ladd and to Whitney, the first martyrs to the

accursed spirit of the rebellion, who fell at Baltimore on their march to defend the
National Capital. Thus mingling the recollections of the war of American Independence
with the deeds of the war of preservation, the speaker continued: "Is there not a
peculiar significance in your invitation to meet my comrades here to do honor to five

thousand soldiers who went forth from one of the central counties of the great State of

Illinois, more than eight hundred of whose names are inscribed upon this shaft as dying
in the noblest cause for which men ever fought ? That each and all these revolutionary
monuments of valor were dedicated to commemorate the heroism of the common soldier,

ever the first martyrs in the cause of Liberty and Right, is most suggestive that the grati-

tude of the Republic will, as it ought to be, paid to those, her defenders, who, in the ranks
with musket in hand, haversack at side and knapsack on tho shoulder, have always
marched at the call ofthe country, to meet danger, privations and death itself ; there can
be no higher subject of thought, no grander theme of contemplation, no more glorious

topic of eulogy, than the patriotism, courage, constancy, fidelity and loyalty of her soldiers

in the ranks to the flag of the country.
"

The speaker then passed on to review some of the leading features of the War of the
Rebellion, the patriotic spirit of the people, and the heroic men who fell in defense of

the Union, and closed with these words:
" Is it not, therefore, fit that this monument should be raised to them, and upon it

their names inscribed as a perpetual memorial to their children and ours, as an object of

gratitude, of love, of emulation and of reverence to those that shall come after them ?

Our children, and our children's children, shall be inspired to deeds of heroic valor by
their example in the field as soldiers ; our posterity will bless their memories and keep
them green forever, for their preservation of popular government and free institutions,

as citizens. And we may not on this sad, though yet joyous occasion, forget the true

oflEicers, regular and volunteer, who led them, of whom, when we say they were captains

worthy of such soldiers, we pronounce their highest eulogy. Yet the living will pardon
us, and the dead will smile upon us, for putting before them in the foremost ranks of

honor, as they stood before them in the front rank of battle, the true defenders of their

country— the private soldiers.

" It is well, again we say, to raise these monuments to the memories of both, and
inscribe upon them their names, so that in all time to come the father shall lead his son
here, as to his country's altar, and, as Hamilcar swore the infant Hannibal to eternal

hatred of the enemies of the country, so shall the Aftierican sire here dedicate his son to

loyalty, devotion to his country, and to fidelity to its flag, the symbol of its glory and its

fame. In each following year, through the long cycles of ages, shall the memories of
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the virtues of these our fallen heroes grow greener and greener, and their sacrifices shall

be remembered as the shining examples of the best days of the Republic.

"And now we of the present hour must not forget to profit by the l«sson they have
taught us, and to value above and before all the unity of the country for which they

fought ; the true idea of American liberty which they upheld, and to cherish and main-
tain in every field, in every forum, against all odds, and at every hazard, the institution

and popular government which, by the sacrifices of their lives, they have secured. They
have bequeathed to us a sacred privilege to enjoy, and an equally sacred duty to main-
tain— the fruits of the victory they have won. We will be false to their glorious mem-
ories, to their gallant sacrifices and privations, to their heroic deaths and to their hallowed
graves, if we suffer one jot or tittle of the rights for which they fought and fell, to be tar-

nished in transmission to their and to our posterity.
" Let us then go on in the path of duty which they so nobly marked out, and main-

tain the institutions which they preserved against every attack, insidious or open, from
whatever quarter or in whatever guise ; and thus by our action do honor to their

memories far greater, higher, nobler and more fitting than sculptured marble or monu-
mental stone."

At the close of the oration, three cheers were called for the hero of New Orleans,

which were heartily given. Bouquets were thrown to him in profusion and handkerchiefs
were waved from fair hands. Loud calls were made for General Logan, and his appear-

ance at, the front of the stand was the signal for another shower of bouquets and storm
of applause.

THE MONTTMENT.

This commemorative column is composed of ten pieces of stone and marble as it

now stands. The first base is five feet eight inches square and sixteen inches high. The
second base is six feet five inches square and eight inches high. Third base, octagon,

five feet three inches by five feet three inches and one foot three inches high. These
bases are made of neatly dressed EUettsville limestone. A tin box, containing relics, is

deposited in crypt cut in the top of the third base. The fourth base, octagon, is four

feet square, and one foot three inches high, is made of Rutland (Vermont) marble. The
die is octagonal three feet by three feet, and four feet high. The names of the deceased
soldiers, whose memory this monument was designed to honor and perpetuate, are in-

scribed on the eight sides of this die, and cover its almost entire surface. The octagon
cap is four feet two inches by four feet two inches, and one foot three inches high, with
moulding finish. The sub-die is two feet six by two feet six inches, and three feet high,

on four sides of which are carved, in has relief, figures representing the Goddess of Lib-

erty. The spire is two feet by two feet, and eleven feet six inches high. The cap is one
foot eight by one foot eight inches square, and eight inches high, surmounted by a marble
figure of a perched eagle, two feet six inches high, with wings partially extended and
looking to the north.

The monument was originally planted near the center of the Main street side

of the Court-house square, where it remained until the grade of the square was
commenced in the Fall of 1879, when it was removed to its present position on the

Jefferson street front. At the time of removal, and before it was re-set, the entire shaft

was worked over, repolished, and about fifty names added to those " who had gone be-

fore." The three lower bases, which had begun to shell off and to grow unsightly, were
replaced with new ones. The work of removing, re-polishing and resetting this monu-
mental shaft, was entrusted to Messrs. Triebel and Son, who successfully and satisfactorily

accomplished the undertaking.
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WOMAN'S WORK.

In the War of the American Revolution, a struggle for national independence, the
women bore a noble part in helping their patriot fathers, husbands, sons and brothers.

In the many Indian wars, from one end of the country to the other, including the Black
Hawk war in 1832, they were never backward or reluctant, but by every possible means,
contributed to the success of the cause in defense of which their natural protectors

pledged their lives, their fortunes and their sacred honors. In more than one struggle

the mothers, wives and daughters made bullets, cut patching (when the old-fashioned

rifle was the approved style of fire arm), and loaded the guns as fast as they were dis-

charged. Acts of this kind are related in connection with the Black Hawk war. In '

some instances the women were more courageous than men, and evinced greater bravery.

Here is a case in point relating to one of the pioneer mothers of Illinois

:

At Galena, during the Black Hawk war, when the stockade was nearly completed.
Colonel Strode, the commandant of that post, so planned as to secure a false alarm in

the night time. At midnight. May 4, 1832, a cannon was discharged, which awakened
the citizens from their slumbers. Thus suddenly awakened from their sleep, and believ-

ing the Indians were upon them, they jumped into their clothes and hurried to the stock-

ade as fast as fright and their feet could carry them. Some of them arrived at the stock-

ade with toilets not more than half completed. Among others who were badly frightened

was the Galena postmaster, who didn't stop to put on his trousers when he sprang from
his bed, but jerked the sheet and wrapped it around him as he ran, and as he entered
the fort commenced calling for some one to bring him a pair of pants. A large number
of women were there, and a Mrs. Bennet was making bullets and otherwise encouraging
the men. The postmaster kept flying from place to place calling for a pair of pants.

His antics can be easily imagined by the reader, as described by the writer. At length,

tired of his ohassezing around, and thinking he could fight as well without pants as with
them, and that that was neither the time nor the place " for fooling," Mother Bennett
picked up a gun and placed it in his hands with the injunction, " Here, you old coward,
take this gun and get into position to be killed like a brave man, and don't be scared to

death."
The alarm was a cruel hoax, and the scenes attending were full of the ludicrous, but

none of them were more laughable than the fright, toilet and antics of the postmaster,*

and he never heard the last of it as long as he remained at Galena. As with Mother
Bennett, so with American women in every struggle in which the country has been
involved, devoted and brave to the death.

In the War of the Rebellion, the women of the country were the soldiers most faith-

ful and devoted friends. At home, they anticipated every want of the " Boys in Blue, "

and labored almost day and night to supply their suffering needs. Among the wounded
after battles and in the hospital, women were present as ministering angels. Protestants,

Catholics, daughters of America, Germany, England, Ireland, of nearly nation of the

civilized world, contributed to the alleviation of the necessities and sufferings of the

soldiers.

PEORIA WOMEN AT WORK.

Almost as soon as enlistments commenced, the women of Peoria, full of patriotic

devotion to the country's cause and with a sympathetic desire to do something for the

soldiers in the field, inaugurated measures that secured a perfect co-operation in all under-
takings looking to a successful prosecution of the war and the comfort and care, so far as

possible, of the brave men who went out from their midst with their lives in their hands.

These woihen met together from week to week, and busied themselves in doing whatever
seemed best to be done in aid of the cause in which they volunteered. Fairs were held
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and entertainments given, and the proceeds applied for the benefit of their country's

defenders. Arrangements were perfected and carried into execution which secured an
enthusiastic and hearty reception of companies and regiments when they returned home
from fields of battle and of danger. Such receptions as they gave ! Each of them was
enough to inspire the brave fellows to go through the same experiences and hardships
and exposures and dangers again. Such love, such sympathy, such care, such forethought
as the women of Peoria gave to the soldiers would nerve the men of any nation to face

any danger, to espouse battle for any cause of justice, truth and right, no matter how
great the odds.

WOMEN'S NATIONAL LEAGUE.

June 3, 1863, a meeting of the women of Peoria was held in Rouse's Hall for the

purpose of organizing a League known as above. This meeting was largely attended
and was presided over by Hon. E. A. Leavitt, of Cincinnati.

THE PLEDGE.

We the undersigned women of Peoria believing that in this hour of national peril to our country every influence,

moral as well as military, should be brought to bear in the great struggle for national existence against a wicked
rebellion, and that while our fathers, husbands, sons and brothers are giving their treasure and their blood it is our
duty to contribute the influence which God has given us in our social sphere to the same holy cause ; and that in this

solemn crisis loyalty to our country is bound to be outspoken even in the case of women, as true loyalty to our God.
We therefore do constitute ourselves an association to be known as " The Women's National League of Peoria,''

and do pledge our unconditional adhesion to our National government in its struggle against the present rebellion,

sig'^ging to assist it by whatever means may be in our power, in the maintenance of our National Union, and of the
integrity of our National domain.

To this end we further resolve and pledge ourselves to encourage and sustain our brave soldiers by deeds of
kindness and by words of cheer, to use every fitting opportunity of expressing our unflinching determination to stand
by " the dear old flag " and to honor those who fight in its defense, until the day of its sure and certain triumph ;

and to prove in every way we can that we consider loyalty to our country a part of our allegiance to our God."

CONSTITUTION.

Article i. The object of this League shall be to bind together all loyal women with a determination in ac-

cordance with the pledges to use every effort in our power to discountenance secession, to sustain the National gov-
ernment in its present peril, and to administer in every suitable manner to the relief and comfort of our noble soldiers

j(i the field and in hospitals.

Art. 2. Ladies may become members of the League by signing the pledge.

Art. 3. Its ofBcers shall be a President, two Vice Presidents, Secretary, "Treasurer, and twelve Managers.
Art. 4. It shall be the duty of the President, by and with the advice of the other officers, tocall meetings through

the city press a day previous, and to preside at the meetings.
Art. 5. It shall be the duty of the Vice Presidents to fulfill the duties of the President in her absence.

Art. 6. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to attend to the correspondence of the League, and to keep a

record of its meetings and of the names and residences of its members in a book prepared for the purpose.
Art. 7. The Treasurer shall receive and, by order of the Managers, shall disburse funds belonging to the

League.
Art. 8. It shall be the duty of the Board of Managers to devise and from time to time to bring before the

League measui-es by which its appropriate objects may be promoted.
Art. 9. Officers shall be elected by ballot by a vote of two-thirds of the members present at a stated meeting

called in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution.

Art. 10. Alterations may be made in the above Constitution by a vote of two-thirds of the members present

at a meeting called in accordance with the fourth article of the Constitution.

first officers.
President, Mrs. A. G. Curtenius.
Vice Presidents, Mrs. Frances B. M. Brotherson, Mrs. Isaac Underbill.

Secretary, Mrs. L. R. Webb.
Treasurer, Mrs. W. A. Herron.

BOARD OF managers.

Mrs. William Dodge, Mrs. George C. Bestor, Mrs. Charles B. Day, Mrs. H. S. Austen, Mrs. W. E. Robinson,
Mrs. George Field, Mrs. W. B. Lyon, Mrs. Wm. Trijesdale, Mrs. James Irons, Mrs. A. B. Bartlett, Mrs. Alfred

Freeman, Mrs. W. G. Wheaton,
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Many of these officers served during the entire existence of the League, but una-
voidable removals and changes made the election of some new officers necessary.

The membership of the League was as follows :

Mrs. Eliza N. Aiken.
Miss N. B. Arnold,
Mrs. £. B. Babcock.
Miss Jane E. Babcock.
Mrs. E. F. Bacon.
Miss Mary J. Bacon.

Mrs. S. R. Baker.

Mrs. Charles Ballance.

Miss Josie Ballance.

Miss Julia Ballance,

Miss Lillie Ballance.

Miss Mary Ballance.

Mrs. Maria Barnes.

Mrs. A. P. Bartlett.

Miss Mary Bartlett.

Miss Sarah Bartlett.

Mrs. H. D. Baston.

Mrs. W. D. Baston.

Miss Sarah Baston.

Mrs. M. G. Batchelder.

Miss Fanny Batchelder.

Mrs. Daniel Burrows.
Mrs. John A. Bush.
Mrs. A. W. Bushnell.

Mrs. E. E. Calligan.

Miss Lizzie Calligan.

Miss M. C. Camp.
Miss Mary Chamberlain.
Mrs. Abbie P. Chapin.
Mrs. C. S. Clarke.

Mrs. Horace Clarke.

Mrs. E. Clarkson.
Mrs. Caroline Cockle.
Miss Susie T. Cockle.
Miss Julia F. Cockle.

Mrs. E. M. Colburn.

Mrs. H. H. Cole.

Mrs. A. S. Cooper.
Miss A. A. Cook.
Mrs. J. K. Cooper,
Mrs. M. A. Couch.
Miss Kate Crane.
Miss Mary A. Crane.
Mrs. William H. Cruger.

Mrs. N. C. Culbertson.

Mrs. H. S. Austen.
Miss Nora Beall.

Miss N. J. Bennett.

Mrs. Merritt Benton.
Miss S. C. Benton.
Mrs. N. E. Best.

Mrs. Geo. C. Bestor.

Miss Martha Bestor.

Miss A. Bewsher.
Miss Eliza Bewsher.
Mrs. Roswell Bills.

Miss Lillie Bishop.

Mrs. B. L. T. Bourland.

Mrs. Electa Bowen.
Miss Minnie Bowen.
Mrs. F. B. M. Brotherson.

Mrs. A. W. Brown.
Miss Eliza Buck.
Miss Mary Burdette,

Mrs. Sophia Burdette.

Mrs. E. Burnham.
Miss Jennie Cunningham,
Mrs. T. L. Currie.

Mrs. A. L. Curtenius.

Mrs. N. B. Curtiss.

Mrs. Pleny Curtiss.

Miss Martha Cutts.

Mrs. E. Daniels.

Mrs. W. Davis.

Mrs. C. B. Day.
Miss Flora Day.
Mrs. Elizabeth Delano.
Mrs. C. F. Dickenson.
Mrs. L. J. Dickey.

Mis^^mnie Dinwiddle.
Miss L. C. Dinwiddie.
Miss Emma Dinwiddle.
Miss Alice Dodge.
Mrs. Wm. M. Dodge.
Mrs. C. H. Donley.
Mrs. L. M. Doup.
Mrs. D. H. Downing.
Mrs. H. W. Dredge.
Mrs. C. Dunham.
Mrs. H. Dunn.
Miss Malvina Durkee.
Miss Nellie Durst,
Mrs. Hetty Easton.

Mrs. F. E. Eaton.
Mrs. Sarah C. Ely.

Mrs. Enoch Emery.
Mrs. Grace Emery.
Mrs, Eppy.
Miss Mary Eppy.
Mrs. J. M. Evans.
Mrs. K. Farnsworth.
Mrs. E. N. Fay.
Mrs. George Field.

Mrs. Frank Field.

Mrs. Julia Finley.

Mrs. Charles Fisher.

Mrs. Henry Forsyth.
Mrs. B. Foster.

Mrs. A. G. Freeman.
Mrs. Wm. French.
Mrs. H. F. Frink.

Mrs. Mary Gibson.
Miss Beulah Gilbert.

Miss Celestine Gilbert.

Mrs. Francis A. Headley.
Mrs. H. Henderson.
Mrs. J. F. Henry.
Mrs. Jacob Hepperly.
Mrs. R W. Herder.
Mrs. S. B. Herson.
Mrs. Samuel Hibbeon.
Miss Addie Higgins.

Mrs. Hurd.
Miss S. D. Hurd.
Mrs. A. Hurlburt.
Mrs. H. M. Ireland.

Mrs. James Irons.

Mrs. Jane G. Johnston,

Miss Julia H. Johnson.
Mrs. J. W. Johnson.
Miss Laura Jones.
Miss Emma Keener,
Mrs. M. F. Keener.
Miss Melissa Keller.

Mrs .Cynthia W. Kerr.

Mrs. Clarissa King.
Mrs. H. C. King.
Mrs. J. W. King.
Miss Julia Lathrop.
Mrs. C. Godfrey.
Mrs. Mary Godfrey.

Mrs. Goldsborough,
Mrs. Samuel Gordon.
Mrs H. W. Green.
Mrs. C. B. Greenleaf.

Mrs."C. W. Greenleaf.

Miss H. F. Grennell.

Mrs. J. C. Greer.

Mrs. R. C. Grier.

Miss Sarah Grier.

Mrs. John L. Griswold.
Mrs. Matthew Griswold.
Miss Kate Grove.
Miss Kate Guerin.
Mrs. Jacob Guyer.
Mrs. A. J. Hamilton.
Mrs. G. C. Hamlin.
Miss Maria Hamlin.
Miss Vickie G. Hamlin,
Miss Maggie Hankinear.
Mrs. W. T. Hanna.
Mrs. J. W. Hansen.
Mrs. Phineas Harlow.
Miss M. Harris.

Miss Helen Lathrop.
Miss Maria Lathrop.
Miss Mary Lathrop.
Mrs. M. J. Lathrop.
Mrs. L. Laurie.

Miss Laughten.
Mrs. Columbus Lindsay.

Mrs. E. A. Little.

Miss E. Littell.

Miss H. A. Littell.

Mrs. W. B. Lyon.
Mrs. J. P. McLean.
Mrs. M. A. Marlin.
Miss Eliza W. Mason.
Miss Ellen Maxwell.
Mrs. M. Burnie.

Miss Martha A. McCoy.
Mrs. Phebe T. McClallen.
Miss Sarah McClure.
Mrs. Ann E. McCuUoch.
Mrs. G. H. Mcllvaine.

Mrs. McLaughlen.
Miss Hattie McLean.
Mrs. D. W. McWilliams.
Mrs. M. J. Mercer.
Mrs. B. F. Miles.

Mrs. A. Miller.

Mrs. Henrv Miller.

Mrs. H. Whittemore.
Miss Mary Moore.
Mrs. A. C. Morse.
Miss M. A. Nelson.
Mrs. L. M. Nixon.
Mrs. Mary Nolle.

Miss E. J. Normington.
Mrs. E. D. Offeld.

Mrs. Otes.

Mrs. L. W. Page.

Miss Page.

Mrs. M. A. Palmer.
Mrs. S. A. Parkhurst.

Mrs. Parks.

Miss Mary M. Peters,

Mrs. William Peters.

Mrs. J. H. Pierce.

Mrs. N. H. Purple.

Miss C. Quimby.
Mrs. Rankin.
Mrs Henry Rattle.

Miss Carrie Rattle.

Mrs. E. Smiley.

Miss Anna H. Smith.

Mrs. C, H. Smith.

Mrs. J. M'Clay Smith.

Miss Rebecca 6. Smith.

Miss Bonnie Snow.
Miss Sarah Snow.
Mrs. C. R. Snyder.
Miss Josephine Snyder.

Miss Annie Summers.
Miss Rachael Steer.

Mrs. F. Sterling.

Mrs. William Steltinuis.

Miss Julia M. Stone.

Miss Lacetta Stone.

Mrs. Margaret Stone.

Miss A. Storey. «
Mrs. S. M. Stickler.

Mrs. Belinda Thomas.
Mrs. D. S. Thompson.
Miss Helen W. Thompson.
Miss Laura A. Thompson.
Miss Lucretia Thompson.
Mrs. M. A. Thompson.
Mrs. I... Raymond.
Miss Addie Raymond.
Mrs. Sarah Redingbon.
Mrs. Bell Reynolds.

Mrs. H. W. Reynolds.
Mfss Carrie Richardson.

Miss Lucy Richardson.
Miss Mary E. Ripley.

Mrs. Howell Robinson.
Miss Mary Robison.
Mrs. W. E. Robinson.
Miss Carrie S. Rogers.
Miss Mary Rouse.
Miss Jennie Rover.
Mrs. Hepry I. Ragg.
Miss Lucy Ragg.
Mrs. Mary Sanger.

Miss Louisa Schnebley.
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Mrs. Ann Todhunter.
Miss Olive H. Tracy.

Mrs. J. A. Troup.
Mrs. Moses Troyer.

Mrs. J. M. Troyer.

Mrs. J, G. Truesdale.

Mrs. William Truesdale.

Miss Abbie Truesdale.

Miss Lucy Truesdale.

Mrs. Eliza Tucker.
Mrs. Dan Tyler.

Mrs. Lucia B. Tyng. Mrs. John Wiggerman.

Mrs. Isaac Underbill. Mrs. Margaret B. Wies.

Mrs. Elizabeth Vaneps. Mrs. W. G. Wheaton.
Mrs. M. B. VanMyr. Miss E. E. White.

Mrs. Thos. L. Petherbridge. Miss N. E. White.

Mrs. A. J. Hardin. Mrs. A. R. Winchell.

Miss Millie Wanser. Mrs, T. A. Warder.
Mrs. C. O. Washburn. Miss N. L. Wood.
Miss Helen A. Washburn. Miss Lou Woodbury.
Mrs. Lysander R. Webb.
Mrs. John J. Weed.

Mrs. E. W. Woodcock.
Mrs. Woodbury,

Miss Tryphenia Sehnebley.
Miss Mary E. Scott.

Miss Sarah Scott.

Mrs. T. J. Scott.

Mrs. Shutts.

Miss M. Shutts.

Mrs. K. Simpson.
Miss Ella R. Sloan.

Mrs. M. E. Thompson.
Mrs. R. Thompson.
Mrs. Alfred Thurlow.
Mrs. George Todd.

" Doubtless," says Mrs. A. G. Tyng, who was Secretary of the League, and from

whom these facts are obtained, " there were other names added during the existence of

the League, but this is the only record I have. In this, as in all societies, the active

work was done by comparatively few."

The Soldiers' Rest was instituted by the League in August, 1863, and the Freed-

men's Aid Society was formed in January, 1864. -«>

LAST MEETING OF THE LEAGUE— BALANCING THE BOOKS.

The final meeting of the League was held on the 5th day of July, 1866, when the

reports of the Secretary and Treasurer for the entire term of the existence of the League
were read and adopted, together with this preamble and resolution

:

Whereas, We, the members of the Women's National League, have enjoyed since our first organization, the

efficient leadership and constant co-operation of Mrs. A. Curtenius, whose untiring zeal, energy and vigilance, left no
avenue closed through which the objects of our society might be most successfully accomplished ; who, with rare skill

and much toil, so planned and presented the labors to be performed as to reduce the burden and increase the bene-

fit ; whose promptness, punctual and constant attendance upon all meetings, acted as a spur to like activity on the

part of the members and kept alive the fire of devotion, even until the expiration of our term of enlistment ; and
Whereas, In our Vice President, Mrs. William Weis, we have had a co-worker whose hand never lingered,

and whose foot never faltered, who early and late has ministered to the suffering, homeless or destitute soldier— a

pioneer in the work and faithful to the end ; and
Whereas, Through the systematic performance of all the duties pertaining to the respective offices of Secre-

tary and Treasurer, the League, as the almoner of the bounty of the public, has, by means of the completeness of its

record, been always ready to challenge investigation and render an account of its stewardship, therefore

Resolved, That we tender to our beloved and much respected officers our sincere thanks, as a token of our ap-

preciation of their devotedness and invaluable services to us and the cause for w^ich the League was organized.

treasurer's report.

The following is the Treasurer's report from June 5, 1863, to July 5, 1866 :

RECEIPTS.

Subscriptions and donations from June, 1863, to January, 1864, six months $ 303 58
Monthly contributions 50 92
Sale of badges - - 21 85

From January, 1864

—

J
Subscriptions and donations 3,362 60
Dinners and festivals 5,789 49

_ Receptions -- - 1,34095
Dishes.- - - 31820
Monthly contributions 212 15

( Sale of badges 5 70
Sale of stove 11 00
Sale of rags I 25
Mr. Ingersoll's lecture 142 50

[ Reading by T. B. Read 132 00

Total - $11,692 19
Donation of sanitary stores 1,948 64

Grand total , $13,640 83
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Expenditures.

From June, 1863, to yanuary, 1864, six months:—
Soldiers' Rest..- % 34 05
Sanitary 158 00
Badges 42 5°
Presentation of flag to 77th Ills., and banner sent to Springfield 127 00

yanuary, 1864:

—

Dinners and festivals ii935 07
Receptions of soldiers - 1,41971 .jj"

Dishes--- - -- - -- 294 75
Soldiers's Rest - 2,903 40
Sick Soldiers - - -- 1,085 75
Serving..- 124 80
Incidentals 99 84
Union Relief Society. . 100 00
Freedman's Aid Committee 723 74
Rent of Room ..- - _ - 120 00
Decatur Fair 52 35
Refugees 30 50
Expense of Mr. IngersoU's Lecture 51 00
Expense of Reading, by T. B. Read 34 00
Sent to School in Natchez 25 00
Balance on Hand 82 19

Total - $11,692 19

Number of boxes sent, 70 ; barrels, 85 ; Icegs, 24 ; rolls bandages, 89 ;
packages of rags, 15 ;

packages of lint, 4.

With regard to the balance on hand in our treasury, it was unanimously decided that it should be appropriated to

the improvement of the soldiers' lot at the Springdale Cemetery. Lizzie Calligan, Treasurer.

FREEDMAN'S AID COMMITTEE.

The following is a report of the Freedman's Aid Committee of the League, from January, 1864, to July, 1866 :

RECEIPTS.
Through Soliciting Committee - $ 138 24
Fred Douglass' Lecture- -- - 9400
From West Jersey, per Dr. Copestake - _ 12 25
From Low Point, per D. Fragin 57 10
Donations 80 69
Thanksgiving Collections, New School Presbyterian Church. - 105 00

" " Congregational Church. 6003
" " First Presbyterian Church .' 6488
" " Second " " 12 73
" " Adams Street Baptist Church 300
" " German Baptist Church 9 00

Collections and Subscription at Union Meeting, May 28 17000
" Episcopal Church 40 00

First Baptist Church 5 75
Mush and Milk Festival and Concert 548 21
Woman's National League.... '. 723 74
Shoes and dolls 37 00

&.

Total $2,162 22

EXPENDITURES.

Sent to Northwestern Freedmen's Aid Committee, cash $1, 148 36
" " Freedmen's Department of the Fair, at Chicago 100 00
" In new clothing 737 61

Expense of Mush and Milk Festival' 73 70
Fred Douglass' Lecture 50 00
Fancy articles sent to the Mississippi Valley Fair 52 00
Balence on hand 55

Total _ $2,162 22
Second hand clothing, books and sanitary articles donated and sent to Chicago % 739 co

Mrs. William Weis, Treasurer F. A. C.

Mem.—During the existence of the League, 1,223 soldiers were entertained at the Rest ; receptions given, not
including one general reception, 14 ; regiments received, nth Illinois . cavalry, twice ; 17th Ills., 8th Ills, (twice), 8th
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*
Mo., 77th, 108th, 139th, 86th, I02d and 47th (three times) Ills.; number of soldiers received in regiments, 2,800;
number of soldiers buried, 10 ; number of meetings held by the League, 91 ; average attendance, 18.

GOOD BYE.

After the adoption of these reports, the League was declared to be dissolved, and it

only remains for us to add its last official pronunciamento, as written by the worthy,

highly honored and universally respected Secretary, which was in these words:

" In concluding the labors of the League we desire most heartily to express our gratitude for the very generous

manner in which the public have responded to our repeated calls for aid in our work for the soldiers. Especially do
we desire to thank those gentlemen who have always been ready with their counsel and material aid to co-operate

with us in any undertaking, and lighten our labors so efficiently ; and to Col. R. G. IngersoU for the very able and
most eloquent lecture delivered by him for our benefit. Upon all who have aided us, and through us the soldiers in

any way, shall abide the blessing of Him who said, ' inasmuch as ye have done it unto one of the least of these, my
brethren, ye have done it unto Me.' Mrs. A. G. Tyng, Secretary."

SPRINGDALE SOLDIER'S MONUMENT.
[by mes. a. g. tyng.]

Very shortly after the disbanding of the Women's National League of Peoria, the

active members of the same organized a new society having for its object the erection of

a suitable monument to the soldiers who are buried in Springdale cemetery. A lot of

about one hundred and fifty feet square had been presented for the burial of the soldiers

by the Cemetery Association, and the women composing this Association felt that it was
a fitting close to their labors of love for their soldiers, to honor their final resting places.

Mrs. Curtenius was elected President ; Mrs. Wm. Weis, Vice President ; Mrs. Thomas
Petherbridge, Secretary, and Mrs. William Herron, Treasurer.

In the Spring of 1870 the monument was completed and in its place. It was de-

signed and executed by Mr. Robert Campbell, and cost f2,500. It is an imposing and at-

tractive structure, and can be seen from all parts of the cemetery. The limestone base
is five feet square and a foot and a half high. Above this is a marble base four feet

square and a foot and three inches high— upon this is a die which is a three feet cube.

On the sides of this die are inscribed the words "Liberty," " Justice," "Equality,"
" Pro Patria." A second die is two feet square and three feet high, and above this is the

cap two feet ten inches square and one foot four inches high. The cap is surmounted by
the figure of soldier at " parade rest," the workmanship of Mr. J. J. Jewell. The figure

is six feet six inches high, and the execution of it is good. It faces the burial place of

the soldiers. Thirty-seven soldiers are buried in this lot at Springdale cemetery. Each
grave is provided with a small, neat headstone with the name of the soldier carved upon
it. There are three unknown graves. The Monument Association also paid into the
" Trust Fund of the Cemetery " one hundred dollars to ensure the perpetual care of this

lot for all time. The dedication took place May 30th, 1870, Decoration Day. It was a

beautiful day and large numbers of people came in from the surrounding country to be
present at the ceremonies. Many hundreds gathered at the soldiers lot. The company
were formed into a hollow square around the graves. A platform had been erected for

the accommodation of the speakers and singers, and Gen. Magee officiated as master of

ceremonies. Thirty-four little girls, dressed in white, were detailed to strew the flowers.

They stood at the graves during the services and at the proper time placed the flowers

on the mounds tenderly and reverently. Prayer was offered by Rev. W. A. Spencer.
Misses Ballance, Truesdale, Tileston and Mowatt sang the Decoration Hymn. The
statue, which had been draped in the American flag, was then unveiled by Mrs. Annie
Curtenius. The dedicatory address was delivered by Rev. S. A. Kingsbury, D.D. After
this a soldier's requiem was sung by Mrs. Frank Field, Mrs. C. B. Allain, Messrs. Charles
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F. Bacon and S. S. Patton. The chairman then introduced Col. Lucien H. Kerr, who
read the following poem, written for the occasion by Mrs. Frances B. M. Brotherson, of

this city

:

HAIL SENTINEL.

Stand ! in thy manly pride and might.

Stand ! with a purpose firm— to keep
A tireless, ceaseless watch and ward.
Above the calm unbroken sleep

Of our dead heroes. They rest well

Upon this sunny slope, where falls

Purely and fresh the unstained light

That gleams from off the jasper walls.

Guard each green hillock— every blade
Of grass that trembles in the breeze.

And every flower whose fragrance makes
A link in Nature's harmonies.

Keep faithful vigil o'er the trees—
The tall green trees that stand like Thee,

So grand and glorious— things of Time
That image forth Eternity.

But yet a holier trust is thine—
Our patriot and immortal dead

;

We give them to thy guardian care.

And bless each silent sleeper's head.
The fallen braves— whose names we speak
With tenderness and tears — who live

In grateful memories— and thoughts
Which only loyal hearts can give.

Watch lovingly the manly brows
Which wore with such an honest pride

The cap of blue— and with stern power
The haughty rebel foe defied.

—

Locks which are like the raven's wing
Lie there— and those of clustering brows.

Love's hand hath smoothed their brightness oft.

And Love hath wept to lay them down.

Keep guard above the eyes grown dim.
Closed in a quiet dreamless sleep.

From every vexing vision free,

No bitter tears have they to weep.
They looked upon war's combat fierce.

They caught a glow from victory,

And were content to close in death,
For the dear flag and liberty.

Guard well the silent lips, whose tones
Rang out amid the darkest hour.

And shouted death to rebel foes

Amid the shot's destroying shower.
The echoes of the words they spoke
By hearth and home are lingering yet.

Love crowns them with enduring grace.
The love which never can forget.

Beneath the turfpale hands are crossed
Above each silent' faithful heart—

True hands and good— that were so strong
And bore so well their noble part.

True hands that proudly held aloft

The musket tipped with bayonet bright,

And to it clung with deathless power—
With a firm strength— a hero's might.

Guard their unconquered feet— we know
How proud and brave they marched away.

Amid our farewells and huzzas.

With stars and stripes and banners gay—
We know how firmly and how true

They stood upon the crimson field
;

They walked 'mid carnage and 'mid flame,

But never to the foe did yield.

We miss their homeward coming steps

That stand not on the threshold more :

No future time shall bring them back,

Or win them from the silent shore.

Give to these quiet feet fond care

Brave sentinel ! and ever keep
With faithful vigilance thy watch
Above our martyred heroes' sleep.

Not only for the Spring's bright days

Claim we for them thy kindly care—
Nor for the golden Summer hours.

When Earth her coronals doth wear. ^^ ^ i

Nor for the Autumn time when wave
Banners of gold and crimson hew.

And trees and shrubs so gaily don
Their russet mantle, fair to view.

But in the Winter, too— when streams

Have hushed their songs of melody.
When Nature's myriad voices cease

And leafless stands each forest, tree—
When echoes weird and spirit-like

Float mournfully upon the wind
x\nd ice and snow hold carnival

As with strong chains the earth they bind.

In the glad morning, when the dawn
Comes forth to wake the silent bird—

When woodland minstrelsy floats out

And blithely on the hills is heard

:

In the hot noon tide— in the hour
Whose calmness breathes of peace and Heaven

And soothes unrest with whisperings

To its own holy moments given.

When quiet stars are looking down
Upon the joy and woe of life

;

In solemn midnight, when is hushed
The voice of toil, and care, and strife.

In mystic darkness— when the skies

Of blue their wonted luster lack—
Keep then with tenderness and trust

Thy silent, faithful bivouac.

They are thy comrades — whose white tents

Are folded here, but pitched again
Beneath a great Commander's eye
Upon a vast and boundless plain.

There sounds no din of battle there—
No wai- cloud comes its light to dim

;

Pure is its Summer air— and Peace
Chants there her sweet eternal hyin]i.jj
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Type of our heroes ! To our souls

A living presence thou dost seem,

The might of Genius hallows thee,

Fair effluence of the sculptor's dream.
Shall not the sunlight wake thy voice

As Memnon's statue woke of old

On some fair morning— when its rays

Baptize thee in a flood of gold ?

Oh ! sweet the fancy— that from Heaven
A vital power may yet descend

And to thy lips, and cheek, and brow,

The grace of thought and feeling lend.

That thy grand ministry of love

May win the gift of life for thee—
That with thy comrades, thou may'st wear

The ciown of Immortality.

Then watch thou ! Till the angel's trump
Shall wake earth's silent sleepers, stand !

Till the Great Captain's voice is heard

In mighty and supreme command.
Bidding the land and sea restore

Earth given to earth, and dust to dust.

Then— cease thy vigils— then yield up
Our patriot dead— thy precious trust.

At the conclusion of the reading of the poem, the benediction was pronounced by
Eev. John Benson, and the crowd dispersed. In the afternoon of the same day impres-

sive exercises were held at the Soldiers' Monument in the Court-house square, with an
eloquent address by Col. R. G. IngersoU.

DECOBATION DAY.

About 1872, Mrs. Curtenius removed to New York, and as the Society wished to per-

petuate its existence for the purpose of securing the observance of Decoration Day from
year to year, Mrs. Alex. G. Tyng was elected to fill the vacancy made by her absence.

Mrs. George A. Wilson was elected Secretary. These officers are still at their posts. A
donation of four condemned pieces of artillery was secured from the Government and
stand to mark the corners of the soldier's lot at Springdale. At the annual call of the

President the women of this society meet with unabated interest, and, with the co-oper-

ation of a committee of gentlemen, made arrangements for the proper observance of this

day. While these ladies live the soldiers' graves will never be neglected or forgotten, and
we do not doubt that as their ranks are thinned by death or removal others will come for-

ward to do the work. At these times not only are the graves on the soldier's lot decor-

ated with flags and flowers, but also those of every soldier, officer, and private, buried in

Springdale cemetery. On the morning of Decoration Day this sad and yet pleasant office

is performed by a committee of ladies from this society, who, with their own hands, place

these tokens of loving remembrance upon the soldier's graves, before the exercises at the

soldiers' lot in the afternoon.

It is but a deserved tribute in this connection to mention the name of Mrs. Hetty
H. Easton one of the most devoted workers of the League from its birth, and always one
of this committee to decorate the scattered graves of the soldiers. To her, a soldier's

grave is a hallowed spot. There are over sixty in different parts of the cemetery. A
record of these graves is carefully preserved and the name of every new soldier who dies

is faithfully added, for the guidance of those into whose hands it will fall when we, too,

have finished life's battle.

[As a fitting close to this chapter, the following beautiful sentiment spoken by one
whose gifted eloquence is not alone admired and honored by the people among whom he
lived for so many years, but throughout the civilized and educated world, is deemed
exceedingly appropriate.

—

Ed.]
" These heroes are dead. They died for liberty— they died for us. They are at

rest. They sleep in the land they made free, under the flag they rendered stainless,

under the solemn pines, the sad hemlocks, the tearful willows, and the embracing vines.

They sleep beneath the shadows of the clouds, careless alike of sunshine or of storm, each
in the windowless palace of Rest. Earth may run red with other wars— they are at

peace. In the midst of battle, in the roar of conflict, they found the serenity of death.

"
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CHAPTER XIV.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

Little Provision for Schools in early times— School Commissioners, School Superintendents— Women Superin-

tendents— Weekly Institutes— The Centennial Exhibit— Order for Building First School-house— A Queer
Document.

In 1819, when the little colony of emigrants from Shoal creek came to Fort Clark,

there was not a building in all the the territory included in the great State of Illinois

worthy of the name of a school-house. Now, after a little more than half a century from
the date of that settlement, there are thousands of them, from the ordinary frame structure

of one room and one story, to magnificent brick and stone edifices of two, three and four

stories, with numerous departments, and colleges and seminaries equal in all respects to

the colleges and other institutions of learning in any of the older States. In this county
alone there are one hundred and sixty school-houses of different grades of excellence.

For a good many years after the settlement of the country of the Peorias commenced
at Fort Clark, there were no school-houses, nor school districts, nor school money. Edu-
cational affairs, like every thing else, was in chaos, without form and void, for the coun-
try was a wilderness, and the pioneer fathers were left to to their own resources and
management.

As settlements advanced and schools were desired, a central location as to the neigh-

borhood and convenience of the scholars was selected and a log school-house erected.

Each settler who had children large enough to go to school, volunteered a certain amount
of work toward its erection. In no case was the school-house large or pretentious. One
window in each side of the structure furnished light— that is, if the settlers had money
enough to buy the sash and glass. If not, greased paper supplied the place of glass, and
just as likely as not a part of a log was cut out of each side of the building, and greased
paper fastened over the aperture, made to serve as a window. There was a puncheon
door in one end of the building, and a mud and stick, or sod chimney and earthen fire-

place in the other end. The seats were made from puncheons, or a suitably sized tree,

cut to the desired length, and then halved, i. e., split in two. The split sides were
dressed down with a broad-axe. Holes were bored near the ends of the rounded sides,

with an inch-and-a-half or two-inch auger, and pins driven in for supports. Writing
" benches " or desks were made by boring slanting holes in the logs of the building, in

which supports or arms were driven, and on which a wide plank or puncheon, with the

upper side dressed smooth, was laid, and held in place by a shoulder that was cut on the
lower ends of the supports. This completed the furniture, unless, perhaps, an old splint-

bottomed chair was added for the teacher.

The principal books were Webster's elementary spelling book, the English reader—
the best reader ever used in American schools— Daball's or Talbot's arithmetic, Morse's
geography and Kirkham's grammar ; hence, the course of study was orthography, read-

ing, writing, arithmetic, English grammar and geography.
Orthography was the first great principle of education, for the people in those days

were of the opinion that no one could ever become a good reader or a good writer unless

he was a good speller, and, as a consequence, children who were ambitious to become
good scholars and aspired to become men and women of note, were anxious to become
good spellers ; and no higher honor could be bestowed upon a girl or boy than to say

they were the best spellers in the neighborhood. Spelling schools or spelling matches—
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vvlio of us don't remember them ?— were frequent. But wliy distress old fogy minds by
recalling those happy days, when they met at the old log school-houses, chose their cap-

tains, the best spellers, who would toss up the master's rule for first choice, and then
" choose up " their lieutenants, commencing with the ones regarded as the best spellers,

or, more likely, the prettiest girls, without regard to their orthographical excellence, and

so on, until all the boys and girls were arranged on benches on opposite sides of the

house. Then the fun began. The "master" "gave out" the words from side to side.

How quickly a "missed" word would be caught up ! Those were happy days, and days

that are sacred in the memory of the gray-haired fathers who took part in the exercises.

It would be a pleasing reflection to them to know that their children, their children's

children and the children of their neighbors, were permitted, by the modern system of

education, to indulge in the same kind of old-fashioned spelling schools.

The school system of the spelling-school period, and even up until within a few
years ago, in many localities, was fully described in the back-woods vernacular of " Pete

Jones," in " Eggleston's Hoosier Schoolmaster," "lickin' and learnin'," the " lickin'

"

being the indispensable requisite. The perfect, or ideal teacher of those days was a man
of strong muscular development, an imperious form, a sonorous voice charged with terror,

punctual in bringing "hickories" into the school-house, and a liberal disposition to use

them as hook applications.

But all these things are changed now. A log school-house in Illinois is a rarity.

Their places are filled with handsome frame and brick stqactures. The rude furniture

of primitive times has given way to seats and desks combined. The old books have fol-

lowed the old teachers into retirement, and both are superseded by others of greater

pretensions, if not of greater merit. The old spelling classes and spelling matches have
followed the old log school-houses until, with rare exceptions, they are remembered only

in name.
Of her school system Illinois can justly boast. It is a pride and a credit to the

adopted home of the great men this State has sent out as rulers and representative men
— men like Lincoln, Douglas, Grant, Shields," Lovejoy, Yates, Washburn, IngersoU, and
hundreds of others whose names are as familiar abroad as they are in the histories of the

counties and neighborhoods where once they lived.

While the State has extended such fostering care to the interests of education, the

several counties have been no less zealous and watchful in the management of this vital

interest. And Peoria county forms no exception to the rule. The school-houses and
their furnishings are in full keeping with the spirit of the law that provides for their

maintenance and support. The teachers rank high among the other thousands of teach-

ers in the State, and the several county superintendents, since the office pf superin-

tendent was made a part of the school system, have been chosen with especial reference

to their fitness for the position.

Like the settlement of the county, the schools commenced at Fort Clark, or Peoria.

As already indicated, the first schools were subscription schools, and very naturally there

are no records left to guide the writer in this part of his work. The true history of

these schools is buried beneath the debris of time.

In 1876, President M. Gregory, of the Illinois Industrial University, of Champaign,
issued a circular to the teachers and friends of education throughout the State, soliciting

historical sketches of the schools of the several counties. In response to that request,

the following article was prepared, which is our only guide to the history of the pioneer
school of the county :

" The early French history of Peoria is so obscure that neither in tradition or fact

can be found anything reliable about the educational efforts made by the early mission-

aries and voyageurs on that subject. In his dialry Father Hennepin rejoiced that he had
baptised one infant into his church in the Illinois valley.
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" Although Peoria was settled by the French as early as January 1, 1680, we find no
account of schools nor other evidences of modern civilization. At one time several

hundreds of French and Indians occupied the upper and lower villages of Peoria. No
traces of an agricultural character remained after the destruction of their village by
Captain Craig, November, 1812 ; no fruit trees, shrubbery, or grape vines, except the wild
grape, to support the tradition that at one time several barrels of wine were made and
shipped to France, unless it was made from the wild grape, which grew in abundance
along the river bluffs. And as almost all the early French conveyances to quiet title

under the act of Congress, approved March 4, 1823, were signed by marks, clear evidence
that the conveyancers could not write, and hence the conclusion that no provision was
made for schools.

" The first school in any part of the county, was taught at Fort Clark by a man
named Peter Grant, about 1821 or 1822. The school was necessarily small, and the

teacher was paid by subscription at so much per quarter for each scholar. Grant subse-

quently removed to Lewistown, Illinois, and afterwards to Palmyra, Missouri, where he
died about 1840. Beyond this brief statement there are no particulars.

" The next school, about 1823 or 1824, was taught by Isaac Essex, who was appointed
teacher to the Indians by Rev. Jesse Walker, the hero of Methodism in Illinois.

Although this school was intended more especially for Indian children, white children
were permitted to attend.

"FIRST FEMALE TEACHER.

" The first school taught by a woman was in 1826, one year after the county was
organized. Of this school, Mrs. Maria Harkness, wife of James P. Harkness, of Elm-
wood, and daughter of Isaac Waters, who was the teacher, says

:

"
' In May, 1826, as was then the custom, I wrote out an article of agreement proposing to teach a school at

Peoria, as Fort Clark had then come to be called, and enumerating the branches I proposed to teach— spelling,

reading, writing, arithmetic, geography, and needle-work, at one dollar and fifty cents per scholar for a term of three

months and board, as the teachers in those days boarded around among the patrons of schools. Thirty scholars were
subscribed, and I had an average daily attendance of t\(enty-four. My patrons were Judge Latham, then Indian
agent; Dr. Asahel Langworthy

;
Joseph Ogee, Indian interpreter

; John L. Bogardus, attorney at law; John Dixon,
county clerk

;
John Parker, the ferryman ; George Sharp, William and Abner Eads, Captain Joseph Moffatt, and

Isaac Waters. The school was commenced in a log cabin owned by William Holland, the village blacksmith, where
it was continued one week, when, because there were no windows and no light, except from the open door, it was
opened the second week, and the term completed, in Ogee's new hewed log cabin, which was afterwards used as a

court-house.'

" Mrs. Harkness also furnished the following statement in regard to the first schools

in Trivoli and Elmwood townships.

"'The first school in Trivoli township was taught by Miss Ruth Waters, in a log cabin built by Isaac, Daniel,
and James P. Harkness, my husband. In Elmwood township the first school was taught by Miss Eliza Rowley, near
the village of Southport,'

"

This is all we find in regard to the early first schools in the localities named, and
was the beginning of that system, which, fostered and encouraged from that time to the

present, makes the educational advantages of Peoria county pre-eminently praiseworthy,

and renders the county a desirable home for parents who wish to bestow upon their

children a first-class common school or commercial education.

Like the settlement of the county, the progress of schools was slow. In 1832 there

were less than fifty houses, all told in Peoria. Part of these were business houses, and of

course there was but a small population, and not more than enough children for an ordi-

nary school. Back from Peoria, settlements were few and far between, and schools and
school-houses unknown until about 1884-5-6, In 1831, however, a law was passed requir-

ing the County Commissioners of each county to appoint a commissioner to sell the

school lands. In 1840 the powers and duties of the school commissioner were increased

and it was made his duty to distribute the school fund to the treasurers of the several
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townships. In 1841 the law was again amended and the ofiSce of school commissioner
was made elective by the people.

In 1845 it was made the duty of the commissioner to enforce any system of schools

proposed by the State Superintendent, and to examine all teachers who were employed
in the public schools of their respective counties, in orthography, reading in English,

writing, geography, arithmetic, English grammar and the history of the United States.

This law was in force four years when it was again amended (in 1849) making the com-
missioner ez-offieio County Superintendent of Schools ; and it was also made his duty, by
this amendment, in addition to the duties previously imposed, to visit every township in

his county, to examine teachers, to advise with each school officer, to prepare and submit
to the State Superintendent, a report of all the schools of the county.

When the general free school law passed by the Legislature in 1855, the office was
retained, and the officer still designated School Commissioner, his duties and responsi-

bilities largely increased, and their character in many respects, materially changed, while

the compensation was allowed to remain inadequate, as it had been from the beginning.

After this last change the office continued to grow in importance and responsibility, as

it had never done before, and the schools, not only in Peoria county, but throughout
the State, improved rapidly.

Note.— The first School Commissioner was Andrew M. Hunt, who was appointed

by the County Commissioners at their March meeting, 1833. He held the office until

June, 1837, when he was succeeded by Charles Ketelle. Mr. Ketelle served under
appointment until the office was made elective in 1841. In August of that year he was
elected by the people ; re-elected in August 1843, and continued to serve until June 5,

1848, when he resigned. In August, 1848, Clark B. Stebbinswas elected to fill out the

unexpired term, and November 6, 1849, the time of holding elections having been changed
he was elected for a full term of two years. His successor was Ephraim Hinman, who
was elected November 4, 1851.

In 1865, the name of this officer, by act of the Legislature, was changed to the more
appropriate one of " County Superintendent* of Schools." The duties of the office were
again increased and rendered still more important in their relations to the common
schools, and to the general educational interests of the several counties. This law re-

quired the Superintendent to visit all the schools of the county at least once in each year,

and oftener if practicable, fixing his sa,lary at three dollars a day for a time not to exceed
two hundred days each year, together with the commissions formerly allowed to the

school commissioner on the distribution of the public fund, selling school lands and loan-

ing the county fund coming into his hands.
In 1867 the law was again amended and the per diem increased from three to five

dollars a day, for services actually rendered. The good effect of this amendment soon

became apparent in the increased interest in public school affairs. Efficient superintend-

ents were enabled to bestow their time and energies upon the duties of the office. Schools

were visited, and more time was devoted to the examination of teachers. More and bet-

ter Teachers' Institutes were at once held in almost all parts of the State, and the general

impetus given to the cause of education was greater than it had ever been in the history

of the Illinois school system.
In 1872, the last act of the Legislature above quoted was amended, and the pay of

the superintendent reduced hom. five to four dollars per day for such number of days as

the Board of Supervisors or County Court should allow. This reduction was of question-

able economy. Fair wages and strict accountability is a rule that should govern in the

management of all public interests. The law requires that the superintendent shall ex-

amine all the teachers in the various branches authorized to be taught in the common
schools, examine the boards of township treasurers, to assist in the management of

Teachers' Institutes, and to labor in every practical way to advance and elevate the
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standard of the common schools ; to give advice in all controversies arising under the
school law ; to receive and examine the reports of township treasurers ; to prepare and
forward to the State Superintendent an annual report of the condition of the schools,

and to perform such other duties as are incumbent upon the office. Besides the duties

here enumerated there are innumerable questions submitted to him for consideration and
decision. To properly discharge these duties is a work of no small moment, and often

requires more time than is allowed. Instead of a reduction of the pay, it ought to have
been increased; at least fixed at a respectable living price. That would have been
economy in the strictest sense. At reduced wages men well qualified for the duty of

superintendent can not afford to accept the office without a pecuniary sacrifice. To sub-

mit the office of superintendent to men who are not well qualified as educators, is to im-
pair the efficiency of the school system and the success of free schools. Men well quali-

fied for the duties of the office can readily enter other departments of educational inter-

ests at more remunerative salaries than the law gives to County Superintendents. Time
and history will prove the truth of these remarks.

WOMEN STJPBIMNTENDBNTS.

In 1873, ten ladies were elected County Superintendents of Schools. Five of these

were present at the Chicago meeti5ig of the State Association of County Superintendents,
on the 28th and 29th of December, 1874. These five were Mrs. Sarah C. Mcintosh, of

Will county ; Miss Mary Allen West, of Knox county ; Miss Mary W. Whiteside (now
the wife of E. Emery, Esq., editor of the Transcripf), of Peoria county ; Mrs. Mary E.
Cary, of Boone county ; and Mrs. Mary L. Carpenter, of Winnebago county. Jn speak-
ing of their election and their presence at that meeting, State Superintendent Bateman
said in his report for 1873-4 : " Their excellent official record in this office warrants the

belief that they severally acquitted themselves with credit." Miss Whiteside acted as

secretary of the meeting quoted, an honor to her and the people bywhom she was elected.

Again the Superintendent says :
" Whep Mary W. Whiteside presented her plan of

conducting Township Institutes, it was evident she was working upon the same idea in

the series of ' popular ' institutes she was holding throughout the county on Saturdays.
Parents and school officers were being drawn more and more into the discussion of

methods and defects. Much general interest had been excited. This will naturally re-

sult in a demand for a higher standard of excellence in the teacher, and at the same time

a more intelligent appreciation of his value."

WEEKLY INSTITUTES.

The honor of founding the institutes mentioned in the above paragraph, and known
as the Saturday Township Institutes, belongs to Mrs. Emery, nee Whiteside. She com-
menced this work in the first year (1873) of her administration as County Superintend-
ent of Schools. One of these institutes, or meetings of superintendent and teachers, is

held on Saturday in some one of the townships, during the Fall and WintiBr terms of

schools. These institutes are considered very important auxiliaries in school work, as

they bring the superintendent, teachers, pupils and parents in frequent contact, and make
each acquainted with the desires, wants, intentions and purposes of the other, as relates

to school interests and school duties. The institutes are generally well attended, and a

lively interest manifested in them by all present. The line of work consists of papers

and discussions thereon by teachers, class-exercises, questions and replies, etc. Miss
Whiteside also inaugurated the system of a general public examination of pupils through-

out the county once each year on a given day. It is %afe to say that Miss W. was one of

the most faithful, industrious, and enterprising local school officers known in the history of

Illinois schools.

In 1874 Miss Whiteside reported :

28
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" Peoria county represents a free school population of 9,992 pupils enrolled, and an outlay of $128,887.67 for

the support of free schools the past year. Besides this the Board of Supervisors voted $4,900 for the support of our

County Normal School the coming year.

"There are fourteen graded schools in the county, of these the city of Peoria contains seven,with an enrollment of

3,427 pupils, and a corps of 55 teachers. The High School of Peoria numbers 150 pupils, and its course of study

compares favorably with those of older and larger cities.

" Elmwood has a high school, and five departments in its grammar and primary schools.
" Chillicothe has a high school and four departments. »

" Brimfield has four departments ; Princeville, three ; Lawn Ridge, two ; Kingston, two ; Rochester, two.
" The public spirit and intelligent appreciation of the American free school system, which provides so com-

pletely for an education of all the people, paid for by all the people, are unmistakably evident in all parts of the county

in substantial school-houses, often handsome edifices, built at considerable cost. But with all this liberal outlay of

money in providing school-houses, models of comfort and convenience, a careful observer will see one of two serious

evils in almost every school district in our land. One is a want of sympathy and confidence on the part of parents

toward the teacher. The first of these evils we are trying to overcome by a general course of institutes throughout

the county, held on Saturdays. We held ten last year, and I have advertised to hold sixteen this year. The good
resulting from these popular meetings has been far greater than I dared to hope for. Parents meet us most heartily

and generously. They feel anew pride in, and respect for, theit teacher as he presents a bright class or fine exercise.

They see that the teacher is working for the best interests of their children, and as they understand better his meth-
ods and aims, they are led to a higher appreciation of his efforts, and this appreciation, in turn, animates the teacher

to nobler endeavors. Another valuable feature of our meetings is the individual improvement in each teacher who
presents a paper or exercise, for the close concentration of thought and reading on a given topic results in positive

strength in that direction. And such is the cordial co-operation of the teachers in this effort for their improvement,
that I have always obtained from four to six carefully prepared exercises at each session. * * * #

" There are comparatively few colored children in this county, and*they are quietly allowed the same rights and
privileges as the white children."

In concluding her report, Miss Whiteside added :
" The Board of Supervisors allow

me two hundred and fifty days at four dollars per day. They also allow me one hundred
dollars per year for office rent, and they generously granted me seventy dollars I asked
for to free our ' drill ' from debt. These allowances made a sum total of $1,170. Since

the completion of the present Court-house rent is avoided, for handsome and convenient

quarters were provided in the lower part of the building for the Superintendent."
Mr. J. E. Pillsbury, the present incumbent of the office, was elected in November,

1877, and entered upon the duties of the office the following December. He had pre-

viously been connected with the city schools, having been principal of the Second Dis-

trict school for more than twelve years.

School statistics compiled from Superintendent Pillsbury's report, including the

months from Oct., 1878, to June 30, 1879 :

Number of males under 21 years of age 12,781
Number of females under 21 years of age 12,718-25,499
Number of males between the ages of 6 and 21 8,851
Number of females between the ages of 6 and 21 8,758-17,619
Number of school districts . 158
Number of districts having school five months or more 158
Number of public schools 161
Whole number of months of school 1,209
Average number of months of school 7.4
Number of male pupils enrolled Si48o
Number of females enrolled . 5,334-10,814
Number of male teachers employed 114
Number of female teachers employed 221- 335
Number of months taught by male teachers 628^
Number of months taught by female teachers 1,342-1,970^
Grand total number of days attendance. 1,090,744
Number of graded schools 1 ._ 12
Number of months taught in graded schools 837
Number of ungraded schools... 148
Number of months taught in ungraded schools I.I33^
Number of public high schools....* a
Number of school-houses built during the year I

Whole number of school-houses in the county. 160
Number of stone school-houses I

Number of brick school-houses 27
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Number of frame school-houses 126-161
Number of private schools 7
Male pupils in private schools 866
Female pupils in private schools 822—1,688

Number of teachers in private schools 34
Number of districts having libraries 16

Number of volumes bought during the year for district libraries 102

Whole number of volumes in district libraries.. Ii750

FINANCIAL STATISTICS.

Balance in treasury October i, 1878 $ 38,857 59
Amount of State and county funds received from County Superintendent I9>729 07
Amount of fines and forfeitures received from County Superintendent 108 78
Amount of interest on township fund received 3,526 85
Amount of special district taxes received 72,735 55
Amount received from sale of school property 2,172 56
Amount from district bonds to pay outstanding indebtedness 18,000 00
Amount from railroad and other back taxes _ 1,484 04
Amount from tuition 292 31
Amount from treasurer Union district 485 80

Total amount received during the year ending June 30, 1879 $l57i392 55
Amount paid to male teachers $ 26,789 59
Amount paid to female teachers 49, 145 82

Whole amount paid to teachers .--- 75,935 41
Amount paid for new school houses 1,295 00
Amount paid for school sites and grounds 160 00
Amount paid for repairs and improvements 6,016 34
Amount paid for school furniture 2,324 50
Amount paid for school apparatus 518 45
Amount paid for books for district library 88 73
Amount paid for fuel and other incidental expenses 5,278 68

Amount paid township treasurers for services 2,034 "5
Amount of interest paid on district bonds 2,135 27
Amount paid on principal of district bonds 19,785 30
Amount paid on outstanding indebtedness by new issue of bonds 100 00
Miscellaneous. 5.320 79
Amount paid janitors 274 37
Music 150 00
Insurance . . 12 50
Amount paid treasurer Union district 199 28

Total expenditures for the year ending June 30, 1879 $121,634 70
Balance on liand 35,757 85

Total of expenditures and balances fl57i392 55
Principal of township fund 56,583 76
Amount of township fund loaned -- 54,903 69
Amount loaned on personal security - 36,239 73
Amount loaned on real estate security.. 18,663 96
Average monthly wages paid male teachers 45 87j^
Average monthly wages paid female teachers -. 33 11

Amount borrowed for building purposes 200 00
Amount of district tax levy for support of schools. 99,666 24
Amount borrowed to pay outstanding indebtedness — 22,700 00
Estimated value of school property 314,605 00
Estimated value of school apparatus v 4il26 00
Estimated value of school libraries. 2, 785 00

COUNTY NOBMAL SCHOOL.

This institution was established in 1868 by the joint action of the Board of County
Supervisors and the Board of School Inspectors of the city of Peoria. The object of this

school, as with normal schools wherever they have been established, was to afford those

who intended becoming professional teachers a better opportunity of thoroughly quali-

fying themselves, under the training of old and experienced educators, for the duties of

that honorable avocation, than otherwise afforded.

The committee, under whose management this school was inaugurated, was com-
posed of Messrs. Loren Wilder, G-eorge Jenkins and Dr. G. L. Lucas on the part of the
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Board of Supervisors, and B. L. T. Bonrland, William F. Bryan and Dr. John N. Niglas

from the City Board of School Inspectors, to which were added N. E. Worthington,

County Superintendent, and Charles Feinse, Superintendent of City Schools.

The first business meeting of this committee was held at the office of Dr. Niglas, on
the 25th of July, 1868. Present, Messrs. Wilder, Lucas, Bourland, Niglas, Feinse and
Worthington. Dr. Niglas was elected chairman and N. E. Worthington was chosen

secretary. The selection of a principal was discussed, and at a subsequent meeting,

Prof. S. H. White, of the Brown School, Chicago, was elected to be principal, and his

salary fixed at $2,500 a year. The city provided the building and defrayed one-fourth the

current expenses, and the county three-fourths. The school was opened on the 9th of

September, on the lower floor of the High School building, with Prof. S. H. White as

principal, with no assistant until the opening of the second term, when Miss Jeanette

Hannay was engaged as assistant and head of the training department, which was then

established.

The management was under a joint committee from the two bodies— the Board of

Supervisors and the City Board of Education— called the Normal Board. A sub-com-
mittee of this board, consisting of one member from each, and the superintendent of the

county and city schools, with the principal, had direct control. The last named commit-
tee (the sub-committee) was clothed with full power to make all purchases, settle all

accounts and make all needed regulations.

ETTLBS FOB ADMISSION.

Applicants for admission to the benefits of this school were required, males to be six-

teen and females at least fifteen years of age, and declare it to be their intention to be-

come permanent teachers, and, if residents of the county, to give preference to the

schools of the county in making engagements to teach ; but pupils from other counties

were not required to make this pledge. Applicants were also required to pass a satis-

factory examination in spelling, reading, arithmetic, to per centage, the geography of

North America and Europe, especially that of the United States, and English grammar
through etymology. Especial attention was given to the applicant's knowledge of the

fundamental rules of arithmetic, and his ability to perform examples in them rapidly and
correctly. A practical familiarity with the common abbreviations, punctuation marks, and
the common rules for the use of capital letters, was also required.

COUBSB OF STUDY.

The course of study was arranged as follows

:

FIRST YEAR.

Fiist Term -- 16 weeks. 'Second Term— 12 weeks. Third Term— 12 weeks.

Reading. Reading. Reading.
Writing. Spelling. Spelling.

Spelling. Grammar. Grammar.
Grammar. Arithmetic. Arithmetic.

Arithmetic. U.S, History. K,
Geography. [

Alternate.
Civil Government.

U.S. History. .,

Geography.
[Alternate.

Geography.

SECOND YEAR.

First Term -- 16 weeks. Second Term— is weeks. Tliird Term—12 weeks.
Mental Philosophy. Methods of Instruction. Methods of Instruction.

Algebra. Algebra. Geometry.
Geography. Physiology. Botany.
Natural Philosophy. Zoology. Analysis of English Words.
Rhetoric. Rhetoric. English Literature.

The growth of the school was gradual. During the first year the total number of
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students was fifty-six ; average number, thirty-one. During the second year, the total

number was sixty-nine ; average number, thirty-five.

At the end of two years the management of the school passed to a County Board of

Education, provided under an act of the State Legislature approved March 15, 1869, in-

tended for the better and more uniform management of normal schools.

At the beginning of each year pupils intending to teach within a year, were organ-

ized in a class in school economy, embracing school organization, school government and
other questions involved in school management. Special classes were organized in a

study whenever the number desiring to enter that study was sufficient to justify the

course and the number of organized classes would permit.

This department was in the same building with the normal and afforded easy access

for observation by the pupils of the latter. It embraced classes in the first four years of

the course of study for the public schools of the city. Under the management of the

training teacher, the pupils were introduced to the actual work of school instruction.

The text-books used in the school were Hilliard's Sixth Reader, Guyot's Common
School Geography, Greene's Grammar, Hagar's Common School Arithmetic, Seavey's

Goodrich's TJ. S. History. Olney's Complete School Algebra, Olney's Elements of Geom-
etry, Dalton's Physiology, Swinton's Word Analysis, Haven's Rhetoric, Gray's " How
Plants Grow," Cooley's Elements of Natural Philosophy, Nicholson's Zoology, Haven's
Mental Philosophy, Wickersham's School Economy, and Wickersham's Methods of In-

struction.

LIBRARY.

The library contains four hundred and eighty-five volumes. Among its works of

reference are the revised edition of the American Encyclopedia, Chambers' and Zell's

Encyclopedias, Webster's and Worcester's Unabridged Dictionaries, AUibone's Dictionary
of English Authors, Chamber's Encyclopedia of English Literature, Lippincott's Gazet-
teer, Thomas's and Appleton's Biographical Dictionaries, besides the works treating es-

pecially of the different studies taught in the course, the leading works being accessible

to the students at all times for consultation.

CABINET.

The cabinet contains a human skeleton, a life-size manikin, and other preparations in

papier mach^, from the celebrated establishment of Auzoux, in Paris, a full set of the
Bock-Steger models, and other appliances for use in teaching physiology- It is probable
that no other school in the State, except the medical colleges, has so large an amount of

illustrative material as this for teaching this important subject.

For instruction in natural history there is a collection of skeletons illustrating the

osteology of the classes and some of the orders of vertebrates, and other preparations. It

received during the year 1876, from Miss Emma Smith, of Peoria, several cases illustra-

ting the orders and some of the families of the insects of the county. Miss Smith col-

lected and arranged these for the school from a desire to aid and encourage teachers in

studying one of the most important divisions of natural history.

StrPEBVISIOSi.

Appropriations by the County Board of Supervisors, were never adequate to the

proper maintenance and support of this school. First, it was sought to economize by
dismissing one of the teachers. In 1879 the Board made an insufficient appropriation,

and the school was suspended in June. This action was influenced, perhaps, by com-
plaints that came up from the country districts that only the sons and daughters of the
rich and well-to-do of those who were able to defray the expense of board, etc., in the

city— were benefited by the Normal. There were also some unfriendly influences in
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Peoria that were also brought to bear against appropriations for its support, and the

doors of the institution were allowed to be closed.

The Normal School building, proper, was built by the city of Peoria in 1871. It is

a two-story brick structure, and was erected at a cost of $15,000. It is now used for

the eighth (Peoria) district school.

PBOEIA SCHOOL "WOBK AT THE CENTENNIAL EXHIBITION.

Under the direction and supervision of Miss Whiteside, a work of three volumes was
prepared from the ungraded schools of the county for the Centennial Exposition at Phila-

delphia in 1876. One of these volumes contained specimens of penmanship, spelling and
letter-writing, and a second one on arithmetic. Each of these volumes was a compil-

ation of the best work of the pupils of the schools of the county, and involved a labor of

no small magnitude on the part of the Superintendent. The third volume was an Insti-

tute book and embodied the proceedings of the Institute, the most valuable papers read
by the teachers of the county, historical sketches and other educational matter. This
volume was honorably mentioned by the Centennial Board.

A work of a character similar to that of the ungraded schools was prepared by the

city graded schools, and also a volume of Normal school work, and forwarded to the Cen-
tennial. These volumes were honorable alike to those by whom they were prepared and
forwarded, and the schools of the county.

OEDEK EOE BUILDING THE FIBST SCHOOL HOUSE.

Verbatim copy of the original order issued for the erection of the first public school-

house in Peoria Co., now in the possession of Mr. John Ferguson of Hallock Township.
In pursuance of the order of the legal voters of Peoria School District No. 1, the

Trustees made the following appointment of families in classes, to erect and finish a
school-house sixteen by eighteen feet, and at least ten feet high from the ground from
the eave-bearers, as follows, to wit :

—
The first class to consist of

Henry Neely, ^ To cut the logs for the body, and siUs, ribbs, butting poles, joists,

James Walker, I sleepers, eave-bearers, chimney and chinking stufP, door, facing curtain,

John Hamlin,
j to split puncheon stuff for floor, benches, and all other necessary

John Barker. J timber for the said house.
The second class to consist of

Isaac Waters, ^
James Latham, I To cut and split 700 clap-boards, hew the puncheon-stuff for floor,

William Clark, (seats and lay the floor.

Aug. Langworthy,J
The third class to consist of

William Holland,"]

Abner Eads, I To haul all the timber and stone for the house, and to chink the

Geo. Sharpe, [same, cut out and face the door and windows, and cut out the fire-place.

Alva Moffatt. J
The fourth 6lass to consist of

Isaac Hyde, ^
John Dixon, ( To build the chimney and daub the house, make the door, windows,
Jno.L. Bogardus, Tand writing table and hang the door, and bank the house, etc.

Archibald Allen. J
AU the classes to join to raise and cover the house, and lay the loft floor.

To Mr. Elijah Hyde,— You are requested to call on each individual in the above
classes, and notify all those belpnging to the first, second, and third classes to meet and
perform their several portions of labor from Wednesday to Friday next both incljisive,
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and the fourth class to meet and perform their respective portions of labor also from
Monday to Wednesday next both inclusive, and you will fail not to serve the same on each
of the above named persons on or before the 12th day of the present month, and make
due return thereof, and thereof fail not, on pain of five dollars.

Witness,

(Signed) Norman Hyde,
Clerk

of Peoria Common School District No. 1.

Peoria, Dec. 25th, 1825.

CHAPTER XV.
OLD SETTLERS' UNION.

Oh ! a wonderful stream is the river of Time,
As it runs through the realm of tears,

With a faultless rhythm, and a musical rhyme.
And a broader sweep, and a surge sublime,

As it blends in the ocean of years. —B. F. Taylor.

Since the time when Abner Eads, I. Hersey, Seth Fulton, Josiah Fulton, S. Daugh-
erty, J. Davis and T. Russell, pitched their tents against the remnants of Fort Clark, in

the early Spring of 1819, the years have been so full of change that the visitor of to-day,

ignorant of the past, could scarcely be made to realize that during these years a popula-

tion of more than sixty thousand has grown up within the limits of the county whose
history we are writing. From a savage wild this land has become a center of civiliza-

tion, net-lined with fences, and checkered with the fairest fields of cultivation.

It is not strange that among the pioneer settlers of any new country a deep-seated

and sincere friendship should spring up, that would grow and strengthen with their

years. The incidents peculiar to life in a new country— the trials and hardships, priva-

tions and destitutions— are well calculated to test not only the physical powers of endu-
rance, but the moral, kindly,%enerous attributes of manhood and womanhood. They
are times that try men's soiils and bring to the surface all that there may be in them of

either good or bad. As a rule, there is an equality of conditions that recognizes no dis-

tinctions. All occupy a common levels and as a natural consequence, a brotherly and
sisterly feeling grows up that is as lasting as time, for " a fellow feeling makes us won-
drous kind." With such a community, there is a hospitality, a kindness, a benevolence
and a charity unknown and unpracticed among the older, richer, and more densely popu-
lated commonwealths. The very nature of their surroundings teaches them to " feel each
other's woe, to share each other's joy." An injury or a wrong may be ignored, but a
hind, generous, charitable act is never forgotten. The memory of old associations

and kind deeds is always fresh. Raven locks may bleach and whiten; full, round
cheeks wither and waste away ; the fires of intelligence vanish from the organs of vision

;

the brow become wrinkled with care and age, and the erect form bowed with accumu-
lating years, but the tr^ie friends of the " long ago " will be remembered as long as life

and reason endure.

The surroundings of pioneer life are well calculated to test the "true inwardness"
of the human heart. As a rule, the men and women who first occupy a new country—
who go in advance to spy out the land and prepare it for the coming of a future peo-
ple—are bold, fearless, self-reliant and industrious. In these respects, no matter from
what remote sections or countries they may come, there is a similarity of character. In
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birth, education, religion and language, there may be a vast difference, but imbued with

a common purpose— the founding and building of homes— these differences are soon

lost by association, and thus they become one people, united by a common interest, and

no matter what changes may come in after years, the associations thus formed are never

buried out of memory.
In pioneer life there are always incidents of peculiar interest, not only to the pio-

neers themselves, but which, if properly preserved, would be of interest to posterity, and

it is a matter to be regretted that the formation of Old Settlers' Associations, or Unions,

has been neglected in so many parts of the country. The presence of such associations

in all the counties of a common country, with well kept ifecords of the more important

events, such as dates of arrivals, births, marriages, deaths, removals, nativity, etc., as any

one can readily see, would be the direct means of preserving to the literature of the

country the history of every community, that, to future generations, would be invaluable

as a record of reference,, and a ready method of settling important questions of con-

troversy. As important as these associations are admitted to be, their formation has not

yet become general, and there are many counties in the Western country whose early

history is entirely lost because of such neglect and indifference. Such organizations

would possess facts and figures that could not be had from any other source. Aside from

their historic importance, they would serve as a means of keeping alive and further ce-

menting old friendships, and renewing among the members associations that were neces-

sarily interrupted by the innovations of increasing population, cultivating social inter-

course, and creating a charitable fund for such of their old members as were victims of

misfortune and adversity.

In the Summer of 1876, a few of the earliest settlers, actuated by the motives sug-

gested in the preceding paragraph, determined to call a meeting of old settlers for the

purpose of organizing an Old Settlers' Association. The meeting was held at the Court-

house on the 4th day of July, 1867. Hon. John Hamlin presided and Colonel Charles

Ballance acted as Secretary.

After a full and free discussion of the subject it was resolved to organize a Society

of Old Settlers, and Messrs. George C. Bestor, Edward F. Nowland and Charles Ballance

were appointed as a committee to prepare a constitution and by-laws to be submitted

to a future meeting to be held at such time and place as the committee should appoint.

Pursuant to the action of this committee, a general meeting of old settlers was held

at the Court-house on the 27th of July, 1867, which was largely attended— Hon. John
Hamlin presiding, and Charles Ballance, Esq., acting as Secretary.

Mr. Ballance, of the committee appointed for that purpose, reported a constitution

which was adopted, viz. :

PREAMBLE.

For the information to be derived from social intercourse, and reminiscences of the settling of this part of

the country, we, the undersigned, agree to form ourselves into a society to be called the " Old Settlers' Union of Peoria

and Vicinity," under the following constitution, to wit

:

Article I. The officers of this society shall be a President, two Vice Presidents, a Recording and Correspond-

ing Secretary, and a Treasurer, all of whom shall be elected by a majority vote of the society, at the first meeting
and at each yearly meeting of the society ; and they shall hold their offices respectively until their successors shall

have been elected and are ready to enter upon the performance of their duties.

Article II. It shall be the duty of the President to preside at all meetings of the society, and to call extra

meetings upon the petition of any six members.
Article III. It shall be the duty of the Vice Presidents in case of the absence, resignation or death of the

President, to perform all of his duties.

Article IV. In case of the absence, resignation or death of the President and both Vice Presidents, any six

members shall have power to call a meeting, and in such case any meeting shall have power to elect a President pro
tern., which meeting so called and presided over shall be as valid as any other.

Article V. The Recording Secretary shall keep a record of the proceedings of the society, which shall be
subject to the inspection of all the members.

Article VI. It shall be the duty of the Corresponding Secretary to carry on any correspondence of interest

to the society, and promulgate the same at the yearly meeting.
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Article VII. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to keep all moneys belonging to the society, and pay out
the same upon the order of the society or any committee vested with the power to control the same, and he shall

make report thereof at the annual meeting.

Akticle VIII. Every man having a good moral character and having resided in the State of Illinois for a
period of thirty years prior to the date of this constitution, and for the last ten years in Peoria or its vicinity, shall,

upon payment to the Treasurer of an initiation fee of one dollar, be eligible to become a member of this society.

[At a meeting of the Union, July 4, 1869, this article was amended so as to read " that every person who has resided

in the State of Illinois prior to A. D., 1840, who is now a resident of Peoria or its vicinity, shall be entitled to be-

come a member of this society by signing the constitution and paying the initiation fee ; and the children of any
person who is a member of the society shall be entitled to membership at any age.]

Article IX. The first meeting of this Society shall be held at the Court-house in the city of Peoria at two
o'clock on the 27th day of July, 1867, and forever thereafter at the same place, and at the same hour of the day, on
the fourth day of July, and at such other times as may be appointed, as hereinbefore provided. [At the annual
meeting of the Society, July 4, 1870, on motion of John Waugh, the time of meeting was changed to the loth ofSep-
tember, the anniversary of Perry's victory. At the re-union on the loth of September, 1873, the time of meeting was
again changed, on motion of Alva Dunlap, and the second Thursday in September substituted.]

Article X. If at any time it shall be thought necessary to have by-laws to aid in carrying out the objects of
this Society, it shall be competent for the Secretary, by a majority vote, to adopt such by-laws, and in the same way
to amend or repeal them, when they shall have been proved to be defective or injurious.

Article XI. It shall be competent for the Society at any yearly meeting to make any amendments to this con-

stitution which a majority shall approve.

The following names were signed to this constitution at the time of its adoption, to-

gether with date of settlement, etc.:

Name. Month. Year. Remarks.
John Hamlin November 1823 Settled in the State in 1819. Deceased.
C. Ballance November 1831 Died Aug. 10, 1872.
Samuel B. King September 1831
John Waugh June 1836
Jacob Happerly March 1831
E. F. Nowland January 1835
John C. Flanagan May 1834
John T. Lindsay July 1836
John Todhunter June 1834
Samuel Tart September 1834
M. Tagart.. November 18 1835 ...- ?

; Joseph J. Thomas June 1837 Deceased.
Thomas Mooney, Jr October 1835
Daniel Trail May 4 1834
C. M. Frazer July 1834 Deceased.
E. N. Powell March 1836 Died.
Alva Dunlap May 1834
L. J. Loomis August 1834
A. W. Bushnell June 1837
George W. H. Gilbert.. February 13 1837 .... Born in Peoria
George W. Fash June 1835 ...-

Allen L. Fahnestock... November 1837

The Society then proceeded to the election of officers, with the following result

:

President, John Hamlin.
Vice Presidents, Colonel Charles Ballance, Jacob Hepperley.
Recording Secretary, G. W. H. Gilbert.

Corresponding Secretary, John C. Flanagan.
Treasurer, Edward F. Nowland,
Hons. E. N. Powell, John T. Lindsay and John C. Flanagan, Esq., were appointed

a committee to prepare a code of by-laws, to be submitted at the next meeting.

On motion of Mr. Nowland it was unanimously

Resolved, That when ariy member of the Society may die, it shall be the duty of the Society to attend his

funeral in a body.

The meeting then adjourned until the next regular meeting, subject to an earlier call

under the constitution.

The following names were subsequently signed to the constitution, and .are given in
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regular chronological order of settlement, with such other information as is preserved on
the record of the Union

:

NAMES.
Josiah Fulton
David Barnes
William Blanchard
A. E. Barnes
Aquilla Moffatt

Alva Mofiatt
H. Reding
Elijah Brown

J. T. Stewart
Henry H. Moffatt

Mrs. Pierre Renon
Moses Clifton,

Alexander Caldwell

J. Clegg
M. B. Silliman

: Fountain Watkins
James Harker
Isaac Harkness
Clementinus Ewalt
John Hammett...
Elizabeth Hammett
Joseph Schirtz

J. W. Caldwell _.

E.C. Root
J.E.Bristol

J. S. Hornbaker
John M. Roberts

J. S. Adams..
Linus Scoville

J. H. Sisk

Alexander M. King
j
Henry W. Jones
E. A. Van Meter
Rudolphus Rouse
S. R. Mooberry
B. Douglass
H. G. Anderson
Amos Stephens
Auren Garrett
William A. Hall
John J. Runkle
Mark M. Aikin
B.G. Roe.
Peter Sweet
Isaac Underbill.

Jane S. Underbill
Moses Y. Dusenbery
Crosby White
Daniel Brownf
Joseph Kelso.

John Benson
Edward C. Benson
Benjamin L. T. Bourland
Perry Frazer.
Edward Daws
William E. Mason
George P. Rice
Alexander Sisk
Peter Frye
Thomas D. Smithey
C. P. W. Eastman

MONTH. YEAR.
April 19 -. 1819
May23 1819
June 1819
March 26 1821
une 20 1822
une 20 1822

e..- 1822
une 1824
une 1824
uly 29 1825

1825
October 1826
December 1827
February 1828
September 21 1828
November 4 1829
November 18 1829
February 1830
May I 1830
June 1830
June 1830
August 1830
Octobers 1830
October 1830
October rg 1830
October 1830
December 10 1830
March 1831
April 1831
September. 1831
September 1831
November 1 1831
November 25 1831
August 1832
October 1832
March i 1833
March II 1833
July 1833
August 1833
September 6 1833
October .- 1833
October 28 1833
November '.. 1833
December 24. 1833
December 25 1833
December 25 1833
- 1833

- 1833
January 22 1834
April 20 1834
May 1834.
May 1834
June 1834
July 1834
August 1834
August 19. 1834
October 1834
October 1834
November 1834
November.. 1834
November 1834

REMARKS.
Came to the Illinois country in 1806.

Died in Bushnell in the Summer of 1870.

Took out first marriage license from Peoria Co.

Born in Peoria county.

Died January 10, 1880.

.. South Hampton.

.

.

Born in Illinois.

.. Born in Peoria county.

.

.

Tremont.
.

.

Deceased.
.

.

Deceased.

.. South Hampton. Deceased.

.

.

Elmwood.
.. Barker's Comers. Deceased.

.. Iowa.

.. Peoria.

.. Chillicothe.

.. Chillicothe.

.. Hilton.

.

.

Blue Ridge.
.

.

Mossville.

.

.

Morton.
.. Hilton.

.

.

Mossville.

.. Deceased.

.

.

Kickapoo township.

.

.

Deceased.

.

.

Dunlap.

.

.

Elmwood.

Summerville.
Learned printers' trade with the Harpers.
Groveland.
Deceased.
Died at Austin, Texas, March 31, 1875.*

Peoria.

South Hampton.
Washington.

Born October 10, 1825.
LeadviUe, Colorado.
Born 1786. Deceased.

Trivoli.

Peoria.

Peoria.

Pana.

*Mr. Underbill's remains were first buried at Austin, and subsequently taken up and brought to Peoria, where they
were re-interred with high Masonic honors, on Sunday, April 18, 1875.

fSon of Job Brown, inventor of the Lever corn planter, in 1857.
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NAMES.
Calvin Blake
Sarah C. Robinson
Griffith Dickerson

J. H. McCall
Mrs. Louisa McCall
Mrs. Grace Horrett
John Holmes
5ames F. Murden
acob Darst

Mrs. Maigt. P. Raymond
Peter W. Hawley
T. B. McFadden
Geo. C. Bestor

John Whitby
G. Greenwood
Nathaniel Robinson
John Conkleton
Mrs. Eliza J. Sickler . .

.

Daniel Corbet.
Nelson Woodruff
G. W. Schelby
John C. Schnebly ..

J. H.Schnebly
George Woodruff
W. H. Richmond
Robert W. Summers
William Comegys
Elizabeth Comegys

J. McClay Smith
John F. King
Lewis Horrell

H. T.Baldwin
Isaac Taylor
R. H. Boal
Frederick Miller
Ebenezer Stowell

William Stilwell

W. H. Partrige

Thomas J. Henderson..
Charles Robinson
William H.S. Gorsuch..
William Gifford

Justus Gibbs
L. L. Guyer
John Felkel
Augustine Greenwood..
James Monroe
C.CWood
Edson F.Smith
W. Case
Edward D. Shutts

John Leadley
Lorin Wilder..
Langworth Armstrong.

.

W. H. Ellis

George Gilfillin

G. C. Babcock
Norman Howe
John Hines
William Robinson
Thomas Boyle
Mahlon T. Powell
Daniel Slane

L. H. Armstrong
W. Reynolds
Jacob Tapping

J. A. McCoy
L. A. Cole

MONTH. YEAR.
December 24 1S34
January 1835
April 183s
May 10 1835
May 10 1835
May 1835
June 1835
June 15 1835
June 20 1835
June 1835
July 1835
July - 1835
August 1835
October 1835
October g. 1835
October ig 1835
October 1835
October 1835
October 1835
November 16 1835
November 1835
November 1835
November 10 1835
November i8 1835
December 1835

1835
1835

- 1835
April 5 1836
April 27 1836
May 1836

1836
1836

June 4 1836
June 10 1836
June 1836
June 1836
June 1836

June 24 1836

June- 1836
June 10 1836

July 1836

July? - 1836
July Ig 1836
August 1836
August 16 1836
September 5 1836
September 1836
September l6 1836
October 3 1836
October 4 1836
October 1836
October 27 1836
October 1836
October 1836
October 1836
October 1836
October 1836
November 3 1836
November 13 1836
November 15 1836
November 6 1826

November 2g 1836
November 1836
November 1836
December I 1836
December 28 1836

March 1837

Dunlap.

Peoria.

Died August 30, 1873.

Canton.

Peoria,

Alta.

Peoria.

Deceased.

Mossville.

Glassford.

Peoria.

Dunlap.
Deceased.

Peoria.

Peoria.

Peoria. Deceased.
Peoria.

Deceased.
Bom in Peoria county.

Peoria.

Peoria.

Blue Ridge.
Peoria.

Princeton.

Kickapoo.
Elmwood.
Peoria.

Hilton. Deceased.

Now lives in Iowa.
Alta.

Hilton. Deceased.
Alta.

Deceased.
Deceased.
West Halleck.

Mossville.

Peoria.

Deceased.

Deceased, September 15, 1875.
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November 15.
November 25.
April
April

NAMES. MONTH.
Cyrus Tucker April ,

Henry Rouse April 20 ...

Robert Will May i

George L. Beston June 10 ...

Ira Smith June 15

William Kellogg
James Stratton June
Henry Apple.-
Walter Stewart July
Henry Detweiler September ,

Thomas Huff
Patrick Harmon
Amos A. Couch
Harvey Lightner

John Crawl

J. M. Cooper
C.P.King
Sampson Shockley
John Moss ,

WilUiam Weis
James C.Lindsay
O. C. Parmly
John McDonald
H. M. Robinson
Sidney Pulsifer

D. C. Farrell

Samuel Dimon
J. N. Gorsuch
George Divelbliss
G. H. Kettelle.

E. M. CoUiem
Edrick Thomas
John A. Thomas
Gilbert Hathaway
F. M. Dunlap
Lloyd Shaw
W. J.Jones
Florian Haungs
William H. Jenks
William A. Herron
G. B. Turbett
E. C'Silliman
Seth W. Freeman

J. L. Knowlton
Mrs. J. D. McClure
G. A. Wilson
M. O. Bestor...

James M. Rice
Mrs. G. H. Williams...
Harry M, Van Buskirk..
P. Menard
Lawson Howland
Mrs. A. M. Gorsuch
Mrs. Catharine Summers
W. T. Dowdall May.

April
May 6

May 12

May 13
May
May 14

June
June
June
June
June 19

June .

.

June 21

July

July
July
August 24.

.

August 28-.

October
November .

April

May
November .

November.
November.

.

May
July 12

November 3..
December 9..
January I

March
February 16..

June
December 26.

YEAR. REMARKS.
1837 P.O. Kickapoo.
1837 .... Born in Peoria.

1837 Lawn Ridge.

1837 Born in Peoria. Deceased.

1837 Peoria. Deceased.

1837
1837 --.- Deceased.

1837 Methodist Minister, Kickap
1837 Deceased.

1837 -.-_

18.37

1837
1837 ....

1838
1838
1838 Died in Chicago.

1838 Peoria.

1838 _.,.

1838 Jubilee.

1838 ....

1838 _- _. Peoria.

1838
1838 Deceased.

1838
1838
1838
1838 Kickapoo. Born in Conn.
1838 _._- Deceased.
1838 .... Radnor Township.
1838 Born in Peoria county.

1838
1838 .... Deceased.
1838 Kickapoo.
1838 .... Brimfield.

1838 Dunlap.
1838

183P Removed to Bardolph, Mo.
i83t) Deceased.

18.39

18.39 ---.

1839
1840
1840
1840 ....

1840 Born in Peoria.

1840 Born Tazewell Co.

1842
1842
1850 Born in Peoria.

1852
1798 Born at Kaskaskia. Decea
1815 Washington.

1865 Born in Illinois, March 8, 1835.

SECOND ANNUAL MEETING.

The second annual meeting of the Union, a basket pic-nic, was held in Flanagan's
Grove, July 4, 1868, that well-known old settler having tendered the use of his premises
for that purpose. John Hamlin presided. This meeting was largely attended and highly
enjoyed. After dinner and attendant festivities came the election of officers for the
ensuing year. Sohn Hamlin was re-elected president by acclamation, and the other
officers of the preceding year were then re-elected by one vote by acclamation.
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BAOY LETTER PROM AN OLD SAILOR.

Mr. J. C. Flanagan, corresponding secretary, presented a letter from Captain L.
Coolidge, which was read and ordered to be engrossed in the records of the Society, and
the original to be filed among the archives of the Union. The letter is herewith
presented

:

Brimfield, August 5, iS68.

J. C. Flanagan, Esq.—Dear Sir : As Secretary of the Old Settlers' Society, I wish you to hand the under-
written to its committee. I should be happy to attend the meeting on the ensuing loth, but think it quite uncer-
tain. I recall with pleasure the pleasant times, the long nights " when winter chills the darkened air," passed with
Pinckney, Abbott, Thompson and Caldwell, choice spirits, whose genial dispositions and social powers crowned old
Winter's head with flowers.

With respectful compliments to the committee, I remain, truly your friend. L, Coolidge.

To the Old Settlers' Society:
,

In accordance with the desire of the committee of the Old Settlers' Society, before it is presumed they will
" shuffle off this mortal coil," that they should leave some little item pertaining to themselves, I am induced, princi-

pally that my example may be followed, to offer this as " something—nothing." I am very sensible there is a diffidence

and reluctance in being the herald of our own exploits. It is hard to get acquainted with ourselves. We may have a
distinct notion of what we are, and yet would prefer that somebody else would tell the world of it. But all reluct-

ance in this respect is obviated by the intention that these sketches are to be exclusively as " tablets of memory" and
references for the use of the Society. Few, indeed, have experienced more of the sad vicissitudes of life than myself.
" Variety is charming," as Cowper says. Among its numerous favors was being shipwrecked once— "resolved into

dew" in one zone, and congealed into ice in the other : on an uninhabited island fourteen months ; and a prisoner at

Halifax eighty-four days in 1812. At the time of my discharge John Bull's short commons of pea soup and middlings
had reduced me to an " anatomy or tailor's yard-stick." Being rather at variance with the ocean, I bid it farewell, and
" cleared" for the Green Mountains of Vermont. Here I eventually bought a farm, and after residing on it nearly

fifteen years, I was induced, by the persuasion of a fanner friend who had " moved" to Illinois, to leave the mystic
grandeur and romantic beauty of the Green Mountains for the dull monotony of the Prairie Land, a contrast which
took us a long while to reconcile with complacency.

I arrived in Peoria in June, 1834, and after a few days tarrying, which made us more than homesick, bought a
•' claim" near Kickapoo, of C. K , who, of course, overcharged us prodigiously. We resided here nearly sixteen

years, when we had an opportunity of " selling out" quite advantageously, and removed to Brimfield. Here my son

opened a farm about a mile E. by E. from French Grove, which, at present, consists of two hundred and forty acres of

as good land as any in the county. ***************
I am every inch a Yankee or " round head," but forswear "barebones" and their potations; was bofn at the

" hub" of the universe, or which is rather more refined; the " modern Athens," within a few rods of the Old South
Church, as well known in all Yankeedom as St. Paul's to Londoners. " Age has claw'd me in his clutch." I am
now eighty-five ; enjoy comparatively good health, which, while I retain, makes life enduiable.

I devoutly hope that the last days of the Old Settlers maybe their best days, serene and peaceful, with the precious

attributes of an holy trust and confidence, so that when the time comes that they return to mother earth, the common
mother of mankind, they may

" make their exit

Like a well-graced actor.

When he leaves the stage." L. Coolidge.

A RBQXrBST.

After considering this letter and discussing various incidents in the life of the

writer, on motion of Colonel Ballance, it was resolved that each member of the Union
be requested to furnish a sketch of his life, with any incidents of an interesting or his-

torical nature, and deposit them with the secretary. The spirit of this resolution, it is

to be regretted, has never been fully carried out.

THIRD ANNUAL MEETING.

The third annual meeting of the Union was held at Flanagan's Grove on the 4th of

July, 1869, Hon. John Hamlin presiding. E. F. Nowland resigned the position of

Treasurer, and on motion of Colonel Ballance, Louis Howell, Esq., was chosen to the

vacancy. With this exception, the old officers were re-elected.

The day was an enjoyable one, and in the greetings and interminglings of the old

settlers, many incidents and happenings of the long ago were recalled and discussed, and
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for a few brief hours they seemed to live over again the times that tried their souls and
powers of endurance " when this country was new."

"INVITED out"—THE INVITATION ACCEPTED.

In May, 1870, the officers of the society received a communication from the lady

managers of the Springdale Soldiers' Monument Association, conveying an invitation to

the Union to attend the unveiling of the soldiers monument on the 30th day of that

month. A call for a meeting of the society on the 18th of May was published in the city

papers. The meeting was held at the office of Hon. E. W. Powell, Hon. John Hamlm
presiding. The communication of the ladies having been read, Hon. J. T. Lindsay pre-

sented the following preamble and resolution, which were adopted without dissent

:

Whereas, Our Society of Old Settlers has been honored with an invitation from the Springdale Soldiers' Mon-
ument Association to meet with them to commemorate the heroic deeds of the soldiers of the War of the Rebellion^

and to witness the ceremonies of unveiling of the soldiers' monument on the 30th of May, instant ; therefore,

Resolved, That we accept the kind invitation, and recommend all the members of our society to turn out on
that day as a society.

[A full account of the unveiling of this monument, with a full description of the same, will be found in an
appropriate place in this volume.

THE DAT "WE CBLEBKATB.

Arrangements for celebrating the 4th of July were discussed at this meeting, and it

was finally agreed that it was best to delay action for the time being, and the President

of the society was instructed to issue a call for a meeting to be held on the 30th to make
the necessary arrangements for such a celebration. Pursuant to the action of this meet-
ing (of the 30th) the society was called to meet at the Court-house on the 4th of July.

Hon. John Hamlin presiding, called the meeting to order, and announced that the first

business was the election of officers for the ensuing year.

A. W. Bushnell, Esq., moved that the officers of the previous year " be declared by
acclamation the officers for the ensuing year." The manner of choosing officers, as

defined by the constitution, was discussed at some length, but Mr. Bushnell's motion
finally prevailed, and the old officers were declared elected.

P0t7BTH ANNTJAIi BEXTNION.

The fourth annual meeting of the society assembled at Parmely's Hall, on Saturday,
the 10th day of September, 1870, the anniversary of Perry's victory on Lake Erie. It had
been intended to hold an out-door meeting, but the weather was unpropitious, and
hence the meeting in the hall mentioned. In consequence of a misunderstanding as to

the place of the meeting, the assemblage was not large. The weather kept many people
at home ; others went to the grove, where they expected the " old folks " to assemble,

and finding no arrangement there for the meeting, returned to their houses. Those who
assembled in the hall were well entertained. Several short speeches were made, and old

times reviewed. Among the speakers was Major A. E. Barnes, of Bushnell. His father,

D. W. Barnes, came to Fort Clark with Capt. Jude Warner's fishing party, about the

10th of June, 1819. " He had looked forward to this reunion with a great deal of

pleasure," said Major Barnes, " and had his arrangements perfected to visit his old friend,

Blanchard, and attend this gathering at the same trip, but death came a few days too
soon, and he sleeps the sleep from which he will awaken to join his old friends in a re-

union that will never break up."

"LOOKING PORWAED."

July 4, 1871, at a meeting of the society held at the Court-house, the old officers

were re-elected by acclamation. Committees were appointed to make arrangements for
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the annual reunion, to consider and recommend a day for adoption by the society, on
which to hold its annual meetings, etc., after which the meeting adjourned.

FIFTH ANNUAL EEUNION.

The fifth annual reuion of the Old Settlers of Peoria county and vicinity, was held
at Central Park on the first Thursday, the 7th day of September, 1871, and was very
largely attended by citizens from adjoining counties. An excellent dinner was served,

and the afternoon was spent in recounting old-time incidents. Josiah Fulton, of Rich-

woods township, was presented with a mammoth pear of the Ohio Belle variety, measur-
ing four and one-quarter inches in diameter. It was sent to the society with the request
that it be presented to the oldest settler in the county. Of the seven men who came to

Fort Clark on the 17th of April, 1819, Mr. Fulton is the only one who has maintained
a continuous residence in the county.

Colonel George C. Bestor exhibited the kitchen furniture with which he commenced
keeping house in Peoria. It consisted of three pieces— a Dutch oven, an iron dinner

pot and a copper tea-kettle. " The tea-kettle," said Colonel Bestor, " was considered
d d aristocratic when it was first brought to Peoria." He added that " the young
people of the present wanted to commence house-keeping with as much furniture as

their parents left off with, and that they were astonished when told of the few and
simple utensils, furniture, etc., with which their fathers and mothers had commenced
the battle of life."

A map of Peoria in 1831, drawn in India ink, was on exhibition. It was executed
by Mr. John Roberts, of Morton, on the 29th of August, 1831, and showed sixteen log

cabins, all of them below Main Street. The view was taken from the opposite side of

the river, and although many of the oldest settlers did not know it was in existence,

they pronounced it to be perfect, and pointed out the respective residences of each family

then in Peoria.

Colonel Peter Menard, of Fremont, seventy-three years of age, and the oldest

native-born inhabitant of Illinois, was present. He was born at Kaskaskia, 26th De-
cember, 1798.

BESTING.

No meeting of the society was held in 1872.

July 4, 1873, as shown by the records, a meeting was held at the Court-house, John
Waugh presiding. The election of officers was considered, but deferred to the regular

meeting of the society, which, on motion, was fixed for the 10th of September.
Messrs. A. W. Bushnell, John Waugh and Samuel Tart were appointed a committee

to arrange for the manner of reunion, and fix the place where it should be held.

THE SIXTH ANNUAL KBUNION

Was a basket pio-nic and was held at Central Park on the 10th day of September, 1873.

A large number of the old settlers and their descendants were present. Dinner was
taken at 12 o'clock, after which a business meeting was held.

On motion of Alvah Dunlap, of Radnor, it was resolved to hold all regular annual
meetings of the society at Central Park on the second Thursday in September. The
election of officers being next in order, Alvah Dunlap was chosen president ; Lewis
Howell, treasurer ; G. W. H. Gilbert, secretary. Then came speeches full of reminis-

cences of the olden-time by Judge Wellington Loucks, Hon. J. K. Cooper and John
Todhunter, of Peoria, and William Blanchard, of Hilton, Tazewell county.

The following lines were prepared for the occasion of this meeting by John Tod-
hunter, Esq., who came to the county in June, 1834 : They were entitled
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THIRTY YEARS AGO.

With hearts and hands united,

We meet together here
To tell of by-gone days again,

And join in hearty cheer

;

And tho' surrounded by our friends.

While comforts overflow,

We still look back to happy days
Of thirty years ago.

The glittering spires from here are seen.

And mansions grand and great.

While monuments of wealth and power
Are scattered o'er our State

;

But monuments like these, forsooth.

With all their dazzling show,
Are poor, compared with friendship's wealth
Some thirty years ago.

Our ladies here, God bless them—
How beautiful to see.

With dresses rich, and jewels bright.

No fairer sight can be
;

But when in linsey-woolsey,

Our wives would go,

We thought them quite as handsome
Some thirty years ago.

'Twas then our doors were open—
Our hearts were open, too

;

The stranger then was welcome.
And no one hunger knew

;

We made his bed upon the floor.

And spread upon the straw.

We slept before the blazing fire

Some thirty years ago.

,

The highest pride our settlers felt

Just then in Illinois,

Was in our wives and children—
Our happy girls and boys.

And cherishing within our hearts,

Our greatest joy below

;

We blessed the God who sent them here.

Some thirty years ago.

But here and there a little mound
That tells of by-gone days ;

How clouds would sometimes cross our path-

The sun withhold its rays.

But tender tears of sympathy
Would soften all our woe

; ^
For friends were worthy of the name
Some thirty years ago.

The Autumn of our lives is here—
The leaves begin to fall,

And one by one disappear
(" The common lot of all.")

But whilst on earth we linger—
Till from these scenes we go,

While memory lasts we'll bless the days

Of thirty years ago.

A tear for those we loved then.

Whose tongues are silent now.
Who grasped our hand in friendship then,

Or cooled our fevered brow.
And though we do not meet them here,

Their virtues still we know.
And love in memory as we did.

Some thirty years ago.

SEVENTH ANNUAL REUNION.

The meeting of the Old Settlers was highly interesting. It was held at Central

Park, on the 10th of September, 1874, Alvah Dunlap presiding. Among the visitors

present was the venerable John Dixon, then nearing his ninetieth birthday. Although
one of the earliest settlers at Fort Clark, and intimately associated with the people and
the public affairs of Peoria county in early times, he was an entire stranger to many of

those present. Ht was introduced to the assemblage by the president, and was greeted

with three hearty cheers. " Speech ! Speech !
" was voiced from many mouths as soon

as the cheers subsided. He declined to make a speech, but being urged to tell how he
happened to come to this country, essayed to answer in a few words, but as he referred

to old times, slumbering memories were awakened, and catching the enthusiasm of the

masses by which he was surrounded, he made quite an interesting talk. His remarks
were full of humor, and happily received. He related how he was chosen clerk of the

County Commissioners' Court, how he was elected clerk of the Circuit Court, and how
he became a great office-holder, having more offices thrust upon him than he knew what
to do with. He was clerk of the County Commissioner's Court, Circuit Court, Justice

of the Peace, hotel keeper (in his log cabin), and farmer at the same time.

Letters were read from Hon. W. J. Phelps, Col. T. J. Henderson and Hon. R. J.

Oglesby, expressing regret at their inability to be present at this gathering of the old men
and women, whose courage, enterprise and industry, made Peoria county a garden of

beauty and productiveness.
After these letters were read, a recess of two hours was taken for dinner. When
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the meeting was called to order at two o'clock p. M., John Todhunter, an old settler, was
introduced as orator of the day. His speech was replete with reminiscenses, and em-
bodied a complete review of life-experiences in a new country. Mr. Todhunter is a gen-
tleman of versatile intellect, ready tongue, retentive memory and varied experience, so

that a better selection for orator could not have been made.
A short address was also made by Hon. John Hamlin, who was folio wed by John M.

Roberts, of Moreton, who came from New York to Illinois, in the early part of 1832.

Bloomington was the iirst place in the State where he found a settlement, and that set-

tlement consisted of only a few log huts. Traveling on towards Peoria, he came to the

log hut of Isaac Funk, who was the nearest settler to Peoria. Mr. Funk was sick in bed
at the time with the prevailing disease of the country, bilious fever. At the beginning
of the Black Hawk war, the speaker was the only fifer in his neighborhood, and he was
enlisted to form a company for that conflict, which was organized at Pekin. He still

lives upon the same land on which he settled when he came to the country.

EIGHTH ANNUAL REUNION AT CENTRAL PARK, SEPTEMBER 10, 1875.

There is no written record of this reunion on the journal of the Union, and this

sketch is made from newspaper reports, which, with the exception of the address of Dr.

J. T. Stewart, is necessarily brief.

ADDRESS OF DR. STEWART.

In the morning of life the sun shines brightest. In the morning of life ihe green earth puts on a deeper green.

The rosy hues of the sky are more rosy. The sparkling dew drops are real gems. The twinkling stars are real

diamonds. The flowery fields are more gorgeous, their fragrance more delicate. The rainbow comes and vanishes
away, but the bow of hope never fades. In the morning of life we drink in all the surrounding sweetness, beauty and
fragrance, and they are stamped on our minds forever. In later years we look back upon this period as an Eden
from which we have been banished.

Those who in early life have lived and mingled together, with the same snrroundings and under similar circum-
stances, can look back upon essentially the same picture.

It is for this purpose we have come together to-day. The same panorama is passing before us all.

We who are here assembled have had essentially the same surroundings, the same experiences, the same hardships

10 endure, the same bright hopes to buoy us up— the same joys, the same sorrows.

We have seen and lived in one of the fairest and richest spots of the earth, when it was in its pristine beauty

;

we have with our own hands broken the virgin soil and laid the foundation of civilization in the wilderness. As
nature is rough, wild, romantic, grand and free, so were we.

We found this country, as I said, in a state of nature, without a house, without a fence, without a road, with-

out a bridge, without a town, without a city, without a school, without a church.

What did we have? for nature has her compensations. She will not suffer any of her children to be deprived of

all her blessings. What did we have ? We had freedom. Many of the conventionalities that now trammel us were
unnecessary and unknown. We had strong arms and willing hearts to battle with the elements, build our houses and
provide the necessities of life ; we had unbounded confidence in each other, and that confidence was rarely misplaced;

we had a society that was democratic in the true sense of the word ; we had a warmth of feeling toward each other

and a free-hearted, open hospitality that is to-day unknown.
We had unlimited pasturage for our cattle, and our meadows were bounded only by the forests ; we had the land

before us and could choose our own abode with none to dispute our right. I must here make one exception. The
Indians had a prior claim on all this country and sometimes made us serious trouble.

In 1832 the Black Hawk war broke out. In Bureau county some families were butchered and others had to fly

for their lives. In this county there was much fear but no serious danger. In Putnam county the settlers had to

build forts and remain in them for safety during the war. I lived in one of them three months. I think that was
the happiest three months of my life. But alas for human happiness ! It is never unalloyed ; while we boys were at

the very height of our enjoyments our worthy fathers employed a stray schoolmaster who happened to be in the fort

and left us to his tender mercies, while they went in squads with their guns, their plows and hoes to work their corn

fields, first to one farm and then to another ; we also had a stray pracher in the fort by the name of McDonald. He
served as chaplain and made himself generally useful as well as ornamental. A mile and a half from this fort was a

log meeting house; we being piously inclined went to this house on Sundays and held religious service. A guard
was left at the fort, and the rest of the men with their guns and what women and children could go went regularly to

church. I well remember going repeatedly to this place and hearing McDonald preach with a guard placed outside

and the guns of the male members of the congregation stacked in the corners of the church.

Near one side of this building, within a stone's throw, was a thicket; hundreds of acres of ground covered with

hazel and other underbrush, where ten regiments of Indians might have concealed themselves and at any time'dashed

upon and slaughtered us. The road leading to and from the church went through a portion of this thicket. Why
these men should not have held their meetings at the fort, why they should go off to this out-of-the-way log house and

29
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thus needlessly expose themselves, their wives and children to the dangers they did, has always been a mystery to me.
The only theory that to my mind gives any rational solution, is this : They had such implicit faith in Providence

they could Jiot believe any harm would befall them while they went up to the house of God to worship. And not

only that, I believe they thought it gave them additional security during the week. They evidently thought it was
their duty,

A soldier in the line of duty may brave any danger and not falter ; but when he thinks he is not doing his duty,

the moment he is exposed to danger he is a coward.
For the Indians I wish to say a word. In time of peace they were, as a rule, friends of the settlers and did them

many acts of kindness. They treated the settlers better than the settlers treated them. Their word was unimpeach-
able. Put them on their honor and you could trust them with any thing you had. If they found one in distress they

never failed to use all means in their power to relieve that distress. They would give_ the last morsel of food to

a hungry man. They would go any distance, night or day, to guide one home, who was lost. If it were necessary to

stay with them over night, they would give him the best they had, and his life and personal efifects were safer than

they are to-day in any house in Peoria. If a man was sick they would give him their simple medicines, some-

times hunt all day in the woods for something they thought would relieve him and travel for miles to bring it

to him.

Notwithstanding their degradation and their many bad traits, it is sad, very sad for us who have known their

kindness and their many good qualities to think of them as a dying race. But the laws of nature are inexorable.

Men have their period of existence and must die. Races have their period of existence and must die. The Indian

race has fulfilled its mission in the world and is now going out of it. Their "days are in the sear and yellow leaf,"

yea, even the autumn of their life is passed, the pitiless Winter is upon them, whose drifting snows will bury them
out of sight forever.

My personal history is of little moment, but taken in connection with the early settling of the State may be of

some interest. My father moved from Southern Ohio to Bond county, Illinois, in 1820, two years after the territory

was admitted into the Union as a State. Then all nortlj of a line drawn from a few miles north of St. Louis, east,

with the exception of a few settlers in the vicinity of Beardstown, and a very few in the vicinity of this place and
Pekin was an unbroken wilderness. South of that line were a few thousand immigrants chiefly from Ohio, Kentucky,
Tennessee, North and South Carolina.

My father took a piece of land six miles north of Greenville, the county seat, and twenty miles from Vandalia,
then the capital of the State. This was not a fortunate move for him. The land was flat and poor, and in those days
in that locality the horse-flies were so bad that it was almost impossible to work corn or drive a team across one of

those prairies during that time of the year.

In a wet season the corn was drowned out, and withal we had a bountiful supply of chills and fevers.

He improved his farm as best he could, lived upon it twelve years, and. then sold it with all the improvements,
including a bearing orchard, for just twenty dollars more than he paid for the land in the land office. I have heard
him say that this was the best trade he ever made in his life, for he moved to Putnam county, where he obtained
more land of the best quality and in a dry, healthy locality.

It was during his sojourn in Bond county, in 1824, I was born. I have no very distinct recollection of that

event, but the fact of its occurrence is well authenticated.
Among my earliest recollections is, ofmy father shooting a wolf from his very door-yard; of him bringing in deer

and wild turkeys he had killed, and the savory dishes they made ; of visiting a camp of Indians near his house, of his

feeding a half a dozen of them at his table ; of his telling us " if it were not for you, children, I would go to the lead

mines and get rich." The Galena lead mine excitement was then at fever heat. Of old Black Fanny and her broad-
fword. Fanny was a runaway slave from Kentucky, who carried a very large sword to protect herself against any
one who might attempt to capture and take her back into slavery.

This was actually attempted by a man by the name of McGoon, with a posse of men from Kentucky, but was
defeated by her bravery and the assistance of the neighbors. She lived there many years afterwards, was regarded as

a heroine, and was, withal, a very good woman. These are a few of the little incidents that reach back into the

early twilight of my life.

In all the speeches I have heard at old settlers' gatherings I have never heard yet one word about the children

of old settlers. From this uniform silence one might infer that they had no children ; but ladies and gentlemen, I

can assure you that would be an erroneous inference, and being one of them myself I have a word to say in their

behalf.

They shared the privations of frontier life, equally with their fathers and mothers. They sometimes suffered

with cold and hunger. Many of them died from disease in consequence of insufficient or unsuitable food, clothing
and housing. Many of the means of amusement that are now common with us were to them unknown. The old
settlers very generally held to the belief that a reasonable and sometimes an unreasonable amount of rough usage was
conducive to their happiness, as it was a sort of toughening, hardening process that every child should go through to

make it develop into a strong man or woman. This was a very serious error and sometimes with the feebler ones
proved to be a fatal mistake. They pointed to the Indians who lived, as they said, in a state of nature, as examples
of health and strength, forgetting that they raised but few children, not enough to keep up their numbers, the feebler
ones dying for want of proper care and exposure. Toys were not regarded as important, but as rather trifling

things and not to be encouraged. This was also a mistake. The means of education were necessarily limited. I

do not make these remarks to reflect upon the early settlers, or to insinuate that they were wanting in affection for

their children. That would be doing them a great injustice. They had as warm hearts as any people that ever lived
and would, and sometimes did, sacrifice themselves to defend and protect their children. It arose from two causes

:

First, 'the circumstances in which they were placed, rendering it necessary to devote most of their time and energies
to obtain the necessities of life ; and, second, to erroneous theories in relation to the mental, moral and physical
development of children.
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Notwithstanding all these drawbacks and disadvantages, our lives had a bright side ; for, as I before said, nature
has her compensations ; vpe knew nothing else ; we were unconscious of the existence of the things we were de-
prived of ; we were like the beggar girl in New York who, with her mother, one cold night took shelter under a
cellar door. She remarked to her mother, " Ma, ain't you sorry for the poor folks that have no cellar door to get
under?" Knowledge is obtained by comparison. The Greenlander will not believe there are any fairer fields or
greener hills than his own.

We had the green open fields for our playgrounds ; we basked in the sunshine and in the shade. No one who
has not seen the primitive prairies can realize their beauty. In the Spring time they were spread with a carpet of
flowers. I have time and again spent whole days on them. When I look back forty years I see them now as I saw
them then in all their freshness and beauty, but never again except in imagination expect to see such a wilderness of
bloom. In the Summer there was not such a profusion of flowers, yet they were many and varied ; and in the Fall,

above the tall grass shone the asters, golden rods, phloxes, wild sunflowers, and a host of others— white, light and
deep blue, purple, red, flesh color, pink, crimson, scarlet, yellow and orange— all blending harmoniously together
and with the deep rich green of the grasses.

We gathered the wild strawberry, blackberry, raspberry, gooseberry, cherry and plum. Some of these were very
abundant. I have seen hundreds of acres Mterally covered with wild blackberry bushes loaded with fruit. I have
seen the finest of wild plums, so abundant they could be gathered by the bushel.

In the Fall we laid up a supply of hazel nuts, hickory nuts and walnuts for Winter. When old enough we often
amused ourselves hunting and fishing. Children growing up under such circumstances, with such surroundings,
naturally acquire more love for nature than art.

We grew impatient of restraint and despised conventionalities.

I believe children of strong physique and large brain, brought up on the frontier, are likely to develop into large r

proportions and make greater men than those brought up and educated in the older States, but they are not apt to

accumulate wealth— they have not had financial training. Those who come in later have the advantage in this

regard, and usually surpass them in that line.

If I were to choose a p'ace for a child to be born in, I would choose a wild and romantic one, that is yet in a

state of nature. I would give him the prairies and the forests for his playgrounds. I would have them in all their

freshness, beauty and grandeur, impressed upon his mind, while it is young and plastic. I would give him all the
freedom that is compatible with civilization. A strong physical development is the foundation of mental power.
When this was well developed and a love of nature made a part of his existence, I would throw him in contact with
men. He has now a foundation on which to buil3. The Wugh corners will wear off while his strength remains.
He will then have a freedom, a breadth of thought, and«boldness of action that can be acquired no other way. It is

a notorious fact that most of the great merchants, machinists, physicians, lawyers, ministers and scientists of our great

cities were brought up in the country, and many of them on the frontier. In our great anxiety to refine and educate
our children, we are weakening them. We are making them nice and precocious at the expense of their vitality.

We must go back two thousand years, to the Spartans, and learn how to make men and women.
Fifty years ago the few scattered settlers of this State had no. conception of the greatness and grandeur of its

future. They had no means of knowing. Perhaps they knew as well as we know what the condition of things will

be fifty years hence. There is no period of time in which we can with certainty judge the future by the past. Had
it not been for the introduction of railroads, their calculations would not have been so far wrong. That element of

which they had no means of knowing produced a revolution. What new element may be invented and intro-

duced in the next quarter or half a century that will still more revolutionize trade and the distribution of popu-
lation, no one can tell.

^ From 1825 to 1850 there was no great or marked change. The population increased, settlements were extended,
immigrants penetrated all sections of the State. Thrifty villages sprung up in the interior, supported by the sur-

rounding settlements ; but the chief towns were on the rivers and on Lake Michigan. All the settlements were on
or jiear the borders of the timber, and the interior villages never dreamed of being anything more than villages. The
great prairies lay undisturbed, except on their borders. No. one any more thought of them being settled than we
think of the Desert of Sahara being settled. In looking back over those early settlements, one curious fact is worthy
of notice. The different sects of religion were represented in the different settlements. Two or three Presbyterian

families would strike out and form the nucleus of a new settlement. They would write to and visit their friends of

the same faith and induce some of them to join with them. Their combmed influence would draw in others, until,

in a few years, they would have a large Presbyterian community. Ten miles distant there would be a Methodist
community gotten up in the same way, with perhaps not a Presbyterian in it. A little way in another direction

would be a Baptist settlement. In a few sections there was a mixture of all, and some even without any church

members at all. These sects were not harmonious, no one of them had any love for the others, each wanted to estab-

lish its peculiar faith in the new country, and felt it a special duty to accomplish that object. Their zeal was often

greater than their knowledge. This sometimes led to disputes and quarrels in which a whole neighborhood became
involved. As the settlements increased in numbers they became more mixed, and as they learned more of each

other these asperities softened. Men began to suspect there might be some good Christians that did not belong to

their sect, and that possibly there might be some good men who were not Christians at all. Christians are now more
liberal, but less zealous, and I am sorry to say less honest. A man's word was then better than his note is now. Liti-

gation was rare, arbitration common. In 1845 to 1850 the whole scene began to change, and the change came so

rapidly we old settlers could not well adapt ourselves to it; we could not realize it; many were drifted ashore and
left high and dry while the great stream of life flowed on ; others, with quicker perception and broader comprehen-

sion, kept in the current, keeping pace with the march of events.

The Illinois Central Railroad from Cairo to Galena and from Ceiitralia to Chicago, making 691 miles of road,

was built in a very short space of time. Almost simultaneously with this the Chicago and Rock Island sprang into

existence, followed by a net-work of roads too numerous to mention. They penetrated all the great prairies, render-
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ing them available for settlement and brought with them a tidal wave of population and business. It changed the

currents of travel and commerce. It diverted the travel from our river and most of its freight. It built up towns
and cities in the interior where before there was' nothing but open prairie or small villages. It made a great city

of Chicago. She made the great Northwest tributary to her, and in an incredibly short time developed into one of
the chief cities of the world.

One local effect of the introduction of railroads should here receive notice. Peoria was not fortunate enough
to secure any important lines of road until she was belted round with them, her travel taken away, and her trade cut

off in every direction. 'For fifteen years she virtually stood still. While Springfield, Bloomington, Galesburg, and
other inland towns were building up, accumulating wealth and rising in importance, she was hedged in, and but little

more than holding her own. We knew from the natural advantages of our location we must in time make an impor-
tant city, but " hope deferred maketh the heart sick," and many became despondent and some left.

We finally got the T. P. & W. road through to the State line, but our connection there was with a road run in

the interest of Chicago. We got another line east but its connection was controlled by the same interest. .Ingo-
ing east we were compelled to submit to annoying delays, or go round by Chicago. Travel and traffic coming west
was forced round the same channel. Chicago held us in her hand and had no mercy on us. Finally Cincinnati,

Pittsburg, Baltimore and Philadelphia saw that Chicago was not all the West and determined that.all other interests

should not be subservient to hers. They having the means and ^he will broke down these barriers and gave us free

exit. Then our prosperity began — then a new era dawned upon us. Now our railroad facilities are not surpassed,

and our future is as bright as any dther city in the West.
The contrast between our mode of living forty years ago and now, is very great. We enjoyed it then because not

many of us knew anything else ; .Jjut none of us would like to go back to it a^iii ; we lived in log pabins with pun-
cheon floors and no carpets ; we wore the plainest of clothing, most of it honJe'made. I have raisii^^sne^- pulled it,

dried it, threshed it, rotted it, broke it, skutched it and, hetched it. My mother has then ta^en^it'^nd made shirts,

pants and coats for me. -
• .

I have raised sheep and sheared them, washed the w§fcl, haule4 it thirty miles to a carding machine, and brought
home the rolls. My mother has spun them into yarn, wove it into cloth, and cujand made up this cloth into winter
clothing. »

I remember, when a little boy, qf my moth«^going, several times, about two miles to a certain place where some
quill wood grew. She brought home the canes") scraped Off the outside baflt,- cut them into proper lengths, pushed
out the pith, and made empties of them.- Upon Jj^se empties she wotthd the yarn with a reel, or made us boys do it,

and made quills to put on the shuttle, to weav^^I|h w ith.

Years afterwards, when I studied botany,^ wondered -^nd 'wondered what that quill wood was, and was finally

delighted beyond measure to find the identic4tong growing on Kickapoo creek. Improved to be the hydi^^ia ar-

borescence. I took a stalk of it and planted fe^fcmy garden, where it now grows and Shall grow as long as the mem-
ory of my mother and old times last. iHff""'

It was a common thing to go to mill, ten Mpifelve miles (sometimes thirty). This I have -done myself. I well
remember going to mill one time with an oldeBJfeitlier, with an ox team. We had to^cross a prairie ten miles wide,
without a house. In doing this we mired down"t!hree times and each time had to carry the en^jje^^a'ff'^tross the
slough on our backs, and then get the oxen and wagon but the best way we could. We finally Inade*8uT•w^^y through,
got our flour and returned safely home and, withal, had a very enjoyable trip.

"
'"

I well remember seeing potatoes sold for five cents a bushel. I well remember hauling wheat from Putnam
county to Chicago and selling it for fifty cents a bushel. I well remember of my father selling eightllundred bushels
of as fine wheat as ever grew for thirty cents per bushel.

The school house in which I was taught to read I could throw a cat through between the logs, and the windows
were filled with oiled paper instead of glass.

The first church I ever attended had the ground for a floor and a fire built in the center without chimney or flue,

true Indian fashion. Then we had a mail once in two weeks, and we paid twenty-five cents postage for a letter.

Five letters cost just as much as an acre of land. No one complained of this. No one thought a letter could be
carried for less money.

In the professions there was here and there a man of education and sense ; but the average professional gentle-
men were not of a high order.

Now, a lawyer to be prepared for business, requires a ton or more of books ; then an armful sufficed with a cor-

responding amount of legal knowledge.
The Methodist minister was prepare^ to prove that John Wesley was the greatest man that ever lived, and the

doctrine of falling from grace, to disproyfe Calvanism, the doctrine of elections, God's foreknowledge and his decrees.
The Baptist never failed to prove that immersion was the true and only mode of administering the rite of baptism,

and that without it no one could be saved.

The Presbyterian could demonstrate to any rational man who was not blinded by sin, the truth of Calvanism,
original sin, God's foreknowledge, his decrees, election, fore-ordination, baptism by sprinkling and the perseverance
of the saints.

They all agreed, however, on one thing, and never tired ringing it in our ears : that was the doctrine of eternal
damnation.

The physician mounted his horse with his saddle-bags, which contained the following articles, viz : a pound of
salts, a bottle of castor oil, a bottle of calomel and jalap, a bottle of tartar emetic, a lancet and a fly blister. This
was his entire stock, and when that failed, the Lord help the patient.

I might go on and specify many other things, but this is enough to give an idea of the settlers and the country
at that time. Forty years have wrought a complete revolution } yet forty years ago men were as happy as they are
now. Times, manners and customs change, and we must change. The march of improvement is ever onward, and
we must march with it. We may enjoy certain circumstances and conditions, but when these have changed, passed
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away, and new ones have taken their place, we can not go back and enjoy them again. We enjoy our childhood state,
but when we are fifty years old the things that pleased and satisfied us will please and satisfy us no more.

Ladies and gentlemen, I now bid you adieu ! I hope to meet you on many more occasions like this. The ranks
of the original settlers are growing thin ; there is now but a remnant left ; the frost of age is upon them all, and one
by one Father Time is bearing them away. May he spare them yet a little longer. May he remember their long
and troubled lives ; have compassion on their gray hairs ; bear them gently down the sunset of life, and when he
must claim them for his own, land them wh^re there is a fairer clime and greener fields than ours, where trouble
ghall cease, where every tear shall be dried, where sickness, pain and sorrow shall be known n6 more forever.

MISOELLANEOXJS REMARKS.

At the close of Dr. Stewart's remarks, which were well received, Geo. H. Kettelle
was called for, and in a fifteen minutes speech acquitted himself handsomely, comparing
the old and new. He was followed by Dr. Castle, formerly of Peoria, now of Stark
county. Mr. Kettelle, at the clo^j^f his speech, presented, on behalf of Perry Frazier,

a bread plate to Mr. Wm. BlancharH,, o£ Tazewell county, being the oldest settler in this

portion of the State, and the ilrst white man married in Peoria county, which took place
in 1825. Mr. Blanchard returned his thanks in telling of what he found in Illinois on
his arrival in the State in 1819. ^r. Castle was most complimentary in his remarks to

the city of Peoria, stating that we have the handsomest and most healthy location he ever
saw, and predicted_at no distant day the old settlers of this county will meet in a city of

an hundred thousand- inhabitants instead«of only"©SjOOO that we now have. He closed by
giving many incidenfs of especial interest to the ladies and gentlemen who remembered
as well as the speaker did the ocgurrencesr of tt^e long ago.

BLECTIONjOP QPEIOERS.
;*». ,- .-

The Rev. Mr. Hall foUowfed Dr. CasiSe iii^a iew appropriate remarks, and gave way
for the election of officers, when the Mlowi^ gentlemen, were chosen:

Samuel Tart, president ; John A, McCoy, vice president ; George Bestor, secretary

;

H. B. Rouse, corresponding secretary, and L. Howell, -treasurer. ~
\

George H. Kettelle offered thes foUowing^resolution, which, after some discussion,

was adopted

:

Resolved^, That the constitution be so amended thafe'aify person residing in the State of Illinois for more than
thirty years previflus to this time, be allowed to become jpembers of this Association, upon signing the constitution
and paying the usual fee. ^

.

On motion, the time of the next annual meeting of the society ^as changed to the
4th of July. .

' V
The names of Mr. Isaac Underbill, Mrs. Morse, John Sharp, Mrs. Dunlap, Mr. Bris-

tow and A. Beal were handed to the Secretary to be recorded as among the dead, having
died since the last meeting.

NINTH ANNUAL REUNION.

The ninth annual re-union of the Old Folks, of which there is no written record,

was held at Jefferson Park, on the 10th day of September, 1876. Addresses were made
by Judge Weed, John T. Lindsay and others. The 6ld officers were re-elected.

TENTH ANNUAL REUNION.

September 5, 1877, the tenth annual reunion of the surviving veterans of early

times in Peoria county, was held at Spring Hill Park, the use of which had been ten-

dered by Colonel Deane. The day was pleasant, and the attendance large and fespecta-

ble. An abundance of substantial and luxuries had been prepared by the pioneer

mothers, and dinner was served from one to three o'clock. Said the Transcript, of the

6th :
" Two long tables were spread just back of the fountain, and were presided over

with the grace and efficiency th9;t 9-lways characterizes the ladies when they undertake
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any thing. There were too many present to be accommodated at one sitting, and a large

number had to wait for the second table."

After dinner the old settlers gathered " on the hill," where a speaker's stand had

been improvised, and were called to order by President Tart, when the assemblage, led

by E. A. Van Meter, Charles Crucknell, Miss Hilliard and Miss Kent, joined in singing

to the air of the Old Folks at Home, the following

:

^

oi-B settlers' song.

Right here, where Indian fires were lighted,

Long ago, long ago
;

Where dusky forms, by rum incite^.

Danced wildly to and fro
;

Where birch canoes, like arrows darting

Swift o'er the waves.
Showed but a gleam of waters parting,

Cleft by the oars of the braves.

Chorus : We, Old Settlers, come to greet you.

Proffer heart and hand
;

Breathe, too, a fervent prayer to meet you
Yonder, in the spirit land.

Old Black Hawk, with his chiefs about him,
Once gathered here

;

Never a warrior dared to doubt him—
" Pale face," too, learned to fear

;

But scalping-knives and belts have vanished.

Fires blaze no more

;

While, like to Arab tents, are vanished

Camps to the further shore.

Chorus : Still, Old Settlers, we come to greet you.

Proffer heart and hand
;

Breathe, too, a fervent prayer to meet you

Yonder, in the spirit land.

Oh ! brothers, there are dear old faces

Hid 'neath the mould
;

Forms missing from their wonted places.

Hands we love clasped still and cold,

While all the vanished years behind us

Leave few to come
;

And missing links on earth remind us

Scores have been gathered Home.

J . Where with welcome shouts they'll greet us,

When we reach Heaven's strand

;

Fling wide the golden gates and meet us.

Brothers, in the better land.
,r

After this song was rendered, the president introduced Rev. A. R. Morgan, pastor

of the First M. E. Church, as orator of the day. The address of Mr. Morgan was able

and interesting, but too lengthy to be re-produced entire in these pages, hence only the

closing paragraphs, which were expressed in well chosen words, are here presented

:

" Of those who first composed this society of Old Settlers, many have entered into rest during the year. I have
buried two of your number. Others will soon follow, and soon not one will be left to tell of the events which this

day calls to your minds. Gather ye, then, to your greetings with truest friendship. Be ever the friends of the good
and true. Be ever, with tenderest pity, the friends of the fallen, the ignorant and the helpless. Keep this day of

thanksgiving in a genuine love. Let it be engraven deeply on all your hearts, and wear it there through all time.
" I am glad to meet you, glad to see you so happy, so youthful in heart and soul, while the shades of evening are

setting upon you. We separate ; another such a day will never come to us all. Let me remind you, remind all, we
journey to one goal, man's last resting place ! Happy if we march to it aright, happy if, when the sands have run
through the hour-glass, when the last rugged march along life's dreary pathway shall have been trodden, when the

last storm shall have beaten upon us, if the bow in the cloud for us

"
' Shall sweetly span the vaulted skies,

A pledge that storms shall cease.'

" Then let me call upon you to bury in the grave of to-day the wrongs, the proscriptions, the sorrows of a weary
past; bury the memory of wrongs, every thing that corrupts, corrodes and destroys. Let every one join in filling up
the grave ; round it over. Now clasp hands once again with old and tried friends, forget the things that are behind
and reach on to the future, renew your faith in God and plight in truth as pure as the heavens a love stronger than
death, and go forward for whatever duty demands, whether labor or conflict, and soon you will hear the words of the
Master as you enter upon your final rest, ' the laborer is worthy of his hire.'

"

John W. Caldwell, of Tazewell county, followed Mr. Morgan and made a character-
istic speech. He alluded to the hardships of his early life, or what he considerd as hard-
ships, as compared with the condition of the people of to-day. " Hominy was the princi-

pal article of food. The corn was pounded in a mortar, or hominy block. The finer

part of the crushing was sifted through a wire sieve and made into corn bread, and the
coarser part was used as hominy. There were two mills within twelve or fifteen miles.

"We would sometimes go to mill with a half bushel of corn to have it ground into meal.
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Sometimes we had to wait two days to have it ground, there were so many others ahead
of us. Perhaps our friends would like to know what kind of floors we had. Well, we
had puncheon floors. Our whole family, strangers and all, slept on beds made on these

puncheon floors, and we all slept, I tell you ! No matter where one went in those days,

they were among friends and were never turned away."
Samuel King spoke next, and was followed by William Blanchard. Colonel Dow-

dall, of the National Democrat, was called, and in response, said he had not before wanted
to be counted among the Old Settlers ; that he wished to be recognized as being a young
man, but the open prairie on the top of his head admonished him that he was getting

along in years. He came to Illinois in the stormy Winter of 1835. Privileges, comforts

and luxuries were scarcer then than now. He was not in1;he war of 1812, but his father

was. The speaker related an anecdote about going to mill once on horseback with a

bushel of corn in one end of the sack and a rock in the other end to even it up, in ac-

cordance with a custom handed down from the fathers. As he returned home with the

meal, he came across a wolf track, and concluded to have a wolf hunt. In the chase he
lost the meal, and didn't get the wolf, and consequently returned home empty handed.
His father forgave bim for the loss of the meal, but threatened to whip him because he
didn't get the wolf.

At the conclusion of Colonel DowdalFs remarks, the society proceeded to the elec-

tion of officers, with the following result

:

President, Samuel Tart ; Vice-President, John Todhunter ; Secretary, George L.

Bestor ; Treasurer, Lewis Howell.
Samuel Tart, E. F. Nowland, John A.^McCoj, and John Todhunter, of Peoria, and

John W. Caldwell, of Tazewell, were appoiOTed as a committee to look after the sick

among the Old Settlers, with power to relieve their necessities, where necessities ex-

isted.

The gathering then dispersed.

ELEVENTH ANNUAL REUNION.

The last annual meeting of the Old Fathers and Mothers of Peoria county was held

at Spring Hill Park, on the sixth day of September, 1878, Samuel Tart presiding. " The
attendance," said the National Democrat, of the 7th, " was not as large as it should have
been, not more than four hundred persons being present." Dr. George A. Wilson de-

livered the regular address, which* was principally devoted to historical reminiscences

of Peoria county. He did not claim to be the oldest settler, although that was not his

fault. He was born in 1840, which was as early as he could settle anywhere. He spoke

of the early explorations of Marquette, LaSalle and Hennepin between the years 1673 and
1680. " The first houses were built in Peoria in 1778 and 1779, and numbered, in 1779,

about twenty-five. In 1780 Peoria first took its name from a tribe of Indians, the

Peorins. In 1812 the French village was destroyed by order of Capt. Craig. Fort Clark was
built by soldiers in 1813, and destroyed by Indians in 1819." The speaker then gave the

names of the settlers who came here in 1819, also the settlers of 1822.

In 1824, Jacob Wilson, father of the speaker, Jesse Walker, John Stark, and others,

and year by year down to 1836. He then referred to the early history of Peoria county,

the first persons elected to office, the organization of the city government, etc., and closed

with a happy tribute to the pioneers and early settlers, whose enterprise laid the founda-

tions of the county and city's present prosperity.

Doctor Boal, Hon. Washington Cockle, Dr. C. A. Roberts, of Pekin, and William
Blanchard, also made short addresses. Miss Lou Deane, in a natural and effective man-
ner, read Carleton's poem, " Nancy and I are Out," which was enthusiastically applauded.

Letters were also read from Governor CuUom and Secretary of State George H. Harlow,
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expressing regret at not being able to attend ; also, from Aquilla J. Davis and J. M. A
Miller.

Samuel Tart was re-elected president ; John Todhunter vice-president ; Lewis
Howell treasurer ; and George L. Bestor secretary.

Geo. L. Bestor, secretary, being called suddenly away from earth in January of 1879,

and President Tart being temporarily resident in Chicago, the vice-president, John Tod-
hunter, and secretary pro tern., G. W. H. Gilbert, and other members of the society, con-

ferred as to the annual meeting and election of officers, and concluded to pass it over, in

the hope that ere another Autumn the honored president would be returned to this city

and his place in the Society.

One by one the old herRes and heroines are passing away. At each of their

reunions there have been fewer hands to clasp, and the bending forms and hoary heads
of those who are still spared, tell plainer than words can do, that soon, very soon, not

one of them will be left to tell the story of the struggles and triumphs incident to the

settlement of the country of the Peorias, Kickapoos. and Pottawatomies.

CHAPTER XVI.

PEORIA CITY.

Near the lower end of the expansion of the Illinois river denominated Lake Peoria,

and on its north-western margin, midway between the two great cities of the West, in

latitude 40°40' north and longitude 12°40' west from Washington, upon a sandy plateau,

nestles the beautiful, thrifty city of Peoria. Were a person to ascend to the brow of the

bluff three-fourths of a mile back from the margin of the lake and there leisurely survey
the magnificent landscape spread out before him ; the busy city four or five miles in

length, with its broad avenues, lined by superb business blocks or palatial private dwell-

ings, nestling at its feet, semi-girdled beyond by Lake Peoria and the Illinois river— a

great silver mirror, upon whose surface the sunbeams dance in joyous glee— ; the many
miles of fertile valley skirting their borders ; and in the distance the variegated declivi-

ties of the bluff— the frame to the picture ; and in addition to this inspiring spectacle

the beholder contemplates the practical advantages of natural drainages of this gently
sloping gravelly plateau ; and the further grand fact that the country within a radius of

a hutidred miles of Peoria is probably unequaled by a like area in the world for product-
iveness, he at once recognizes a Divine handiwork in shaping this as a site for a great

commercial metropolis. The observer is not surprise that the Indians selected it as their

favorite camping ground, nor that those heroic French explorers. Father P. Marquette,
M. Joliet, Father Hennepin, and M. De LaSalle, fell in love with this charming
spot and resolved to plant the first seeds of civilization here more than two hundred years
ago.

The site upon which the most populous portion of the city of Peoria is buUt rises

from the lake and river bank with a gradual slope to the height of 83 feet at the bas6 of

the bli^ above the low water horizon ; and varies in width from less than three-fourths
of a mile at the upper end of the city to a mile and a half at the lower end. The bluffs

rise from a hundred to a hundred and twenty feet above the plateau. On the top of. the
bluffs are situated numerous princely residences, surrounded by ample and richly deco-
rated grounds, commanding a view of many miles of the city, lake, river and valley be-
low. Farther back also rise church edifices and imposing school buildings, among which
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are interspersed dwellings and business houses, constituting a city of several thousand
inhabitants on the highlands. The country beyond presents a gently undulating surface
of fertile prairie and woodland, which is converted into finely improved farms of rare

productiveness. About four miles up the lake from the Court-house is Prospect Hill,

which rises nearly a thousand feet above the lake, and from its summit is presented one
of the most extended and charming landscape views in the West. The upper end of

Lake Peoria, some fifteen miles away, is plainly visible, as are the city of Chillicothe still

beyond and the villages of Rome and Mossville along its border. When the atmosphere
is very clear the city of Lacon, on the opposite shore of the river, twenty-five miles dis-

tant, can be seen. In 1850 a hotel costing f5,000 was erected there, covering an area of

53x76 feet, containing a fine ball room and other attractions for visitors. It was called

Prospect Hill Pavillion, and was kept by Mason Gass. It was destroyed by fire some years
ago, and was never rebuilt.

Lake Peoria is simply an expansion of the Illinois river, about 20 miles long and
varying in width from a half a mile to a mile and a half in common stage of water. At
the narrows, three miles above the city, the river is compressed inLo its usual width of

channel, thus virtually dividing the lake into two. The lake formerly abounded with a

variety of water fowls, such as swans, white and blue cranes, wild geese, ducks and
brants ; and fish in great quantities and variety inhabited its waters. But now the

wild fowls are greatly reduced in number, and fish are not nearly so plentiful as of

yore.

The early history of the city of Peoria is really the history of the county, as the

first settlement and the only improvements made within the present boundaries of the

county for many years was on the ground now occupied by tlie city. Hence the import-
ant facts and incidents connected with the first exploration, the establishment of the
French colony, the building and destruction of the several forts in the vicinity, and the

settlement of the village of Fort Clark by native Americans in the early part of the

present century have all been previously narrated as an essential part of the county
history ; and will only be briefly alluded to here, as links in the chain, otherwise discon-

nected.

The first white men known to have set foot on the site of Peoria were Father James
Marquette, a French Jesuit missionary, and Louis Joliet, a native of Quebec, from which
city they started in the Spring of 1673 accompanied with five Canadian assistants, on
an exploring expedition, under the authority and in behalf of the French Government.
Going across by the way of the Wisconsin river to the Mississippi, they followed down
the " Great River " in their canoes. When nearly opposite to Peoria, they landed one
day, and seeing the tracks of men upon the sand, which led off across a meadow—prairie

—

Marquette and Joliet instructed their comrades to remain with the canoes, and they re-

solved to follow the path to see where it led. Marquette says in his memoranda of the

expedition, that they traveled about " ten leagues from thence when they came to a vil-

lage on the bank of the river and two other villages on a hill a half a league from the

former." This was on Sunday, the 25th day of June 1673. They spent Sunday and
part of Monday with the Peorias, a branch of the Illini Confederacy, and then pur-

sued their journey, promising to return at the end of four moons. After descending the

Mississippi to the mouth of the Arkansas, and thus satisfying themselves that it emptied
into the Gulf of Mexico, they returned to the mouth of the Illinois and ascended to the

village of the Peorias, where they arrived about the first of August, and after remaining
some time, during which Father Marquette preached to them, the company c'ontinued

their journey, arriving at Green Bay in September.
The next white adventurers to visit Peoria were Robert de LaSalle, Father Louis

Hennepin, a Franciscan monk, and Chevalier de Tonti, the historian of the expedition,who

with some thirty companions, left Quebec abdut the middle of the Summer of 1679, and
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passing down the line of the present canal, landed their nine canoes near where the bridge

now spans the Illinois river, on Tuesday, January 1, 1680. They were hospitably received

at first, but after a few days discontent began to be manifest among LaSalle's men, and

some contention arose with Indians, and fearing trouble, he crossed over the river where

they erected Fort Crevecoeur— broken heart— at the base of the bluff between two
and three miles east of the present city, where the old foundations were explored and

measured in 1848 or 1849 by S. De Wit Drower and several other gentlemen. Before the

fort was fairly completed LaSalle returned to Canada, leaving Father Hennepin and a

portion of his men in charge of it. A few months later it was abandoned entirely by the

French and only served as a halting point for subsequent expeditions while it re-

mained.
In 1698 an Englishman by the name of Daniel Cox, passed down the Illinois river,

and in the memoirs of his explorations entitled "Cox's Carolina" he speaks of the

beautiful lake and adjacent country. He named the river Chicagou and the lake Pinka-

tori. P. de Charlevoix visited the site of Peoria, from Canada, on Friday, October 3,

1721.

From the formal declaration of LaSalle of the French possession of the Mississippi

valley, after his descent to the mouth of that river, on April 9, 1682, until the year 1763

France held dominion over the country. In the latter year it was ceded to England,

but that Government did not take formal possession till two years later, and was forced

to abandon it in 1778 ; when the State of Virginia assumed control of all the country

west of the Ohio river and organized the county of Illinois. The following year a French
colony named La Ville de Maillet was established by M. Hypolite Maillet, on the border

of the lake, a mile and a half above the outlet, on land that was afterwards a part of the

farm of John Berket. The location being considered unhealthy, the colony removed to

New Peoria— Fort Clark— down at the lower extremity of the lake, near Liberty street.

This was the original French settlement, and out of it grew the celebrated " French
Claims, " which were so fruitful of litigation in the establishment of titles to real estate

among the American settlers in the early part of this century, and which were finally set

aside by the indefatigable labors of Charles Ballance. The French erected their cabins

near the lake shore, and occupied long narrow lots extending back toward the bluff, the

size varying with the industry of the occupant. They were almost entirely devoid
of education, and lived chiefly by hunting and fishing. About 1781 the inhabitants be-

came alarmed and abandoned the settlement, but returned two years after. At the time

Capt. Thomas E. Craig burned the village in the early part of November, 1813, it con-

sisted of not more than twenty-five families, who were without a church or a school, and
had less than 200 acres of land under cultivation. Their dwellings were mere hovels.

The first residence was built in 1778 or 1779. By the year 1796 the old village had been
entirely abandoned and removed to New Peoria. Neither the old nor new village was
ever laid out, and the inhabitants held no other title but possession, the lands were only

made valuable in proportion to the labor they expended upon them.
On the third day of August, 1795, the Indian title was extinguished by a treaty in

which, with other lands ceded, was included "one piece six miles square at the old Peo-
ria Fort a village near the south end of the Illinois Lake on said Illinois river." The
adjoining lands were not surrendered until 1804.

During the War with England an expedition defeated the Indians in the Fall of 1813,
and Capt. Thomas Craig believing the French settlers to be in collusion with the red men,
burned their village. While the troops were quartered here they built Fort Clark, at

the intersection of Liberty and Water streets, on the lake shore. It was thus named in

honor of Col. George Rogers Clark, of Virginia, who commanded the first expedition
against the Western Indians, then the allies of Great Britain. In June, 1818, the fort

was evacuated and, in the Fall of the same year the Indians set fire to it, which con-
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sumed the more combustible parts. Some of the old timbers were found when excava-
tions were being made there but a few years ago.

From the time the -French village was destroyed, in the Fall of 1813, till the Spring
of 1819, no white man lived at Fort Clark, as the place was called after the erection of
the fort of that name. The former occupants all left, never to return.

On Monday, the 19th of April, in the 19th year of the 19th century, T. Russell, of
Kentucky, Joseph Hersey, of New York, Abner Eads, Josiah Fulton, Seth Fulton, S.

Dougherty and J. Davis reached Peoria. On the 10th of June Capt. J. Warner arrived
with a keel boat, from St. Louis, with a company consisting of Isaac De Boice, Janles
Goff, William Blanchard, David Barnes and Charles and Theodore Seargent, for the pur-
pose of catching and packing fish. Several of this party afterwards settled in this vicinity.

During the following Winter two men, Lyman Andrews, of New York, and John Barker,
of Ohio, arrived with their families. In the Spring of 1821, John Hamlin, of Massachu-
setts, came here, and in 1822 established an Indian trading post, as clerk of the Ameri-
can Fur Company. In 1825 he shipped the first produce to Chicago in boats.

The growth of this settlement was slow until 1825, when it had attained a population of

1,236. That year Peoria county was organized. It embraced thirty-two or thirty-three

of the present counties of the State, extending from the Mississippi on the west, to the
Indiana line on the east, and to Wisconsin on the north. It included Chicago and Galena
in its limit">. Fort Dearborn, a trading house of the American Fur Company, being the
extent of the former city. Peoria was the county seat, and the first election for County
Commissioners was held March 7th, 1825. The whole number of votes cast was sixty-

six. Nathan Dillon, Joseph Smith and William Holland were chosen as Commissioners ;

Norman Hyde, Clerk ; Samuel Fulton, Sheriff ; Aaron Hawley, Treasurer, and William
E. Phillips, Coroner. The county was organized the next day and a Coui't-house ordered
built. It was erected of hewed logs, and was 14x16 feet in size. It stood on the bank
of the river, south of old Fort Clark, on block 51. It had a cellar beneath it which was
used alternately as a jail and a stable. Religious service was held in the Court room on
Sundays, and it served as a lodging room at night for those in attendance upon Court.

It was pulled down in 1843 and a steam flouring mill, afterwards known as the " Old
Red Mill," built by Orrin Hamlin upon its site.

Peoria was first laid out by William S. Hamilton on the 10th of July, 1826. On
March 1st, 1831, the legislature passed an act under which the Town of Peoria was
finally incorporated, but owing to dispute concerning the land title, the people did not

avail themselves of the law until the 18th of July, 1835, on which day a vote was taken
and it was duly incorporated as a town ; and Rudolphus Rouse, Chester Hamlin, Rufus
P. Burlingame, Charles W. McClallen and Isaac Evans were elected trustees. The
board met the same day and chose Mr. Rouse president. On the 23d of the same month
they met at the store of Rufus Burlingame and elected Cyrus Leland as clerk and Mr.
Burlingame treasurer ; and passed a resolution that the town should embrace an area of

one square mile. In the meantime Charles Ballance had resurveyed the town site on
May 27, 1834. This plat did not interfere much with the " French Claims."

" During the Black Hawk War in 1832, many of the settlers in the northern and west-

ern portions of the county came to Peoria for protection ; and that year Fort Clark was
rebuilt on the old site, but never occupied. A company numbering twenty-five persons

was organized and called the Peoria Guards. There were then fifteen to twenty log

cabins and two frame houses in the village. The next year five new frame houses were
erected. There was but one building west of Washington street, and lots sold on that

street for forty dollars.

The first flouring mill in this section of the State was erected in 1830, by John Hamlin
and John Sharp, on the Kickapoo, three miles west of the city. It had two run of stones

and made about 50 barrels of flour per day, much of which was shipped by flat boats to
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New Orleans and sold at f1.37i and $1.50 per barrel. In 1833 the mill was bought by
Joshua Aiken, and the following October Mark M. Aiken,, of Hillsborough Co., New
Hampshire, arrived here and became interested in the mill. On the 16th of October,

1837, William and Asahel Hale and George G. Greenwood began to build another mill,

further up on the Kickapoo. This mill did a large business for years, and was widely

known as Hale's mill. In 1850 there were four mills in operation in the city, and the

amount of flour exported,aside from home consumption, was 33,753, barrels valued at $151,-

877.50. Five years later the value of the flour manufactured was estimated at $650,000.

In 1858, with six mills in operation, 98,000 barrels were manufactured. In 1870 flour

was the leading manufacturing interest, and there were eight first-class mills, with a

capacity to consume daily 12,600 bushels of wheat, producing 2,800 barrels of flour and
eighty-five tons of mill feed. This flour was shipped South and East and even to Euro-

pean markets. The capital invested was $602,000. They employed about one hundred
and thirty hands at an annual cost of $91,200. They consumed 603,000 bushels of coal,

at a cost of $50,600 ; consumed 2,765,200 bushels of grain, valued at $3,235,612 ; used

573,500 empty barrels, costing $288,875, and manufactured the same number of barrels of

flour, which, with 16,407 tons of mill feed, was valued at $3,907,485. From that date

the milling interests began to decline, owing to various causes.

In January, 1834, the County Commissioners' Court ordered proposals for building

a new Court-house. The bids accepted at the next meeting were those of Charles W.
McCallen for the masonry and George B. Macy for the carpenter work. This Court-

house cost about $15,000, and was completed in 1836. Previous to this time, during

warm weather the Grand Jury held its sessions under a crab apple tree, and the petit

jury deliberated in a potato hole, as it was humorously called, a circular excavation,

probably for a cellar, at some previous period, located near the old log Court-house. A
log jail was built about the same time on the alley between Monroe and Perry streets.

It stood on the lot now owned by B. F. Ellis, and was sixteen feet square and fourteen

feet high. It cost about a thousand dollars. A new jail was built in 1849, of brick and
stone, at a cost of about $11,000. The building is still standing on the corner of North
Washington and Fayette streets in the Fourth Ward. Isaac Walters was clerk of the

Court in 1834 and had his office and residence in a log cabin on the site of Toby & An-
derson's plow factory, now occupied by H. & J. Schwabacher. At this time there were
only two practicing attorneys in Peoria, Hon. Lewis Bigelow and Col. Chas. Ballanee.

There were no schools in the place until about the time it was incorporated, nor no
commodious place of worship, although a Methodist church was organized in the Fall of

1833. Prior to that time the religious and intellectual culture was embodied in the do-

mestic circle.

Peoria was governed as a town, by a Board of Trustees, which had been gradually

increased to nine members, until the 5th of May, 1845, when it assumed the city form of

government.
The following named gentlemen served as President of the Board of Trustees

:

Rudolphus Rouse, 1835-6; George B. Parker, 1836-7 : Rudolphus Rouse, 1837-8 ; Ru-
dolphus Rouse, 1838-9 ; Rudolphus Rouse, 1839-40 ; Rudolphus Rouse, 1840-41 ; Peter

Sweat, 1841-2; Lewis Howell, 1842-43 ; John King, 1843-44; Halsey Merriman,
1844-45.

The town having attained a population of 1,619 souls, aspired to become a city ; and
the Legislature having passed " An act to incorporate the city of Peoria," an election

was held at the Court-house on the 21st day of April, 1845, and of the one hundred and
ninety-seven votes cast, one hundred and sixty-two favored the adoption of the city

charter, entitled an act incorporating the city of Peoria. An election was held on the

28th of April, 1845, for the purpose of choosing a Mayor and eight Aldermen, which re-

sulted in selecting William Hall, Mayor, and for Aldermen, Jesse L. Knowlton, Peter
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Svreat, Oharles Kettelle, C. Cleveland, Ghesfcer Hamlin, John Hamlin, Hervey Lightner
and A. P. Bartlett. On May 5th, 1845, the oath of office was administered to the Mayor
and Aldermen, and Peoria started out on her career as a city. Jesse L. Knowlton was
appointed clerk. Since that time the following gentlemen have filled the position of

Mayor for the terms opposite their names :

William Hall 1845
Charles F. Stearns - 1846
William Mitchell- 1847 and '48

Jacob Gale 1849
Dennis Blakeley 1850
George C. Bestor -.1851
Jonathan K. Cooper 1852
George C. Bestor 1853 and '54

Charles Ballance 1855
Gardiner F. Barker 1856 and '57

William R. Hamilton 1858 and '59

John D.Arnold i860
William A. Willard .-..1861
Gardiner F. Barker 1862
Mathew W. McReynolds 1863

Jacob Gale .1864

Henry T. Baldwin 1865 and '66

Philip Bender 1867
Peter R. K. Brotherson.1868 and '69

Gardiner F. Barlcer 1870 and '71

Peter R. K. Brotherson.1872 and '73

John Warner.. 1874 and '75
Leslie Robinson 1876 and '77

John Warner--.l878, '79, '80 and '81

It will be observed that from 1868 the term of office was extended to two years,

which was owing to a change in the laws by the session of the Legislature that year.

During the early years of the city government the Mayors exercised judicial author-

ity, but after the adoption of the new State Constitution in 1848, the Supreme Court de-

cided that it prohibited them from exercising tliat power. For some years the Mayor re-

ceived no salary ; later he was allowed $500 a year, and since it has been increased.

The city of Peoria is now divided into nine wards, each of which is entitled to two
Aldermen, making eighteen in all, half of whom are elected each year, for a term of

two years. The present Board of Aldermen, '79, is composed of the following mem-
bers:

First ward— S. B. Hart and Joseph Herwig.
Second ward— J. G. Higgins and J. F. King.
Third ward— J. C. Dolan and F. J. Kelly, resigned.

Fourth ward— N. Bergan and H. Fellrath.

Fifth ward— L. B. Day and E. P. Sloan.

Sixth ward— A. Barnewalt and A. M. Studer.

Seventh ward— D. S. Brown and C. D. Clark.

Eighth ward— H. B. Gibson and Daniel Rowan,
Ninth ward— John Biggins and Wm. McLean.

The City Council holds its regular meetings on the first and third Tuesday evenings
of each month.

The other city officers are :

City Clerk— B.. H. Forsyth.

Treasurer— F. D. Weienett.
City Attorney— M. C. Quinn.
City Engineer and Surveyor— N. R. Gibson.

Superintendent Water Works— Thos. J. Kelly.

Supt. Streets— Patrick Kelly.

Collector Water Rents— Henry G. Belcke.

Supt. Police— Martin C. Daily.

Capt. Night Police— 'E,. C. McWhirter.
Chief Fire Department— J. H. White.
G-as Inspector— Frank McLaughlin.
Market Janitor — F. W. Houser.
Board of Health— J. N. Niglas, H. Mansfield and Mark M. Aiken.

Under the law termed the Mayors' Bill, enacted by the General Assembly in 1872,
the mayor had the appointing of all the city officers, save the City Treasurer. This law
was repealed at the last session of the legislature in 1878-9 ; and now the Board of Alder-
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meu elect the city officers except the Mayor and Treasurer who are chosen by the people;

and the Police Force which is appointed by the Mayor, and the members of the Fire De-
partment except the Chief who is chosen by the Council.

Since Peoria was incorporated as a city its growth has been substantial and pro-

gressive, each year witnessing an increase in the magnitude of its business and the erec-

tion of sightly and permanent new buildings. It can boast of one of the most elegant

court-houses and one of the best jail buildings in the State, and its Chamber of Com-
merce is not surpassed by any similar building in the West, outside of Chicago and St.

Louis. Numerous fine business blocks of imposing and pleasing architectural appearance
grace its several leading business thoroughfares. One public building which the city

very much needs and well deserves is a U. S. custom house and post-office. An effort is

being made by some enterprising citizens to procure an appropriation by Congress for

this purpose which will probably result in another edifice which will be an ornament to

the place. The principal manufactories are located along the river and in the lower end
of the city, while many of its palatial residences crown the crest of the bluff.

The streets and avenues are broad, and though, in numerous instances not intersect-

ing each other at right angles, they usually slope gently toward the lake and river with
sufficient fall for easy and ample drainage.

Peoria being near the geographical center of the State, and in a beautiful and healthy
location, it was deemed by many people the most befitting place for the State capitol.

Accordingly an effort was made in the Legislature in 1843 to that end. In 1847 the sub-

ject was again brought before the General Assembly, but without any satisfactory results

to the agitators. But when the question for building a new State house canie up in 1867,

the city of Peoria determined to make a formidable effort to secure the removal of the

seat of government from Springfield to this city. The city offered 1400,000 and a beau-
tiful site of twenty acres upon the bluff overlooking the city and lake. The press of the
entire State was enlisted upon one side or the other, although a large majority of the
papers were in favor of Peoria. If an election had been held by the citizens of the State,

Peoria would undoubtedly have been chosen. The citizens brought the entire Legislature

to Peoria in palace sleeping cars. They arrived on a beautiful morning in March, and
for the entire day were feted and dined to their heart's content. Carriages were placed
at their disposal to ride around and view the city and its surroundings. A steamboat
was chartered and steamed out upon the surface of Lake Peoria so as to give the party a
fine view of the city and the proposed site for the new building. Even its strongest op-
ponents were forced to acknowledge the great natural advantages Peoria possessed for the
new Capitol building. When the Legislature returned to Springfield there was a hard
fight over the removal, but money finally won, and the appropriation for the building

was voted for Springfield.

Besides carrying forward her municipal improvements, Peoria has subscribed more
than six hundred thousand dollars toward building the railroads which center here and
contribute so largely to her commerce and prosperity, and has paid it all up but one
hundred thousand dollars. The total bonded indebtedness of the city now aggregates
$685,500. The total valuation of the property of the city as listed and assessed for 1879
was §6,798,187. The municipal tax for that year was $2.17, and the aggregate tax, in-

cluding county and State levy, as equalized by the State Board of Equalization, was
$4.27 on the hundred dollars valuation. The population of the city is estimated at

38,000 to 39,000.

CHURCH HISTORY.

Of churches there are thirty-five in Peoria, divided up as follows : One Apostolic
Christian, four Baptist, one Christian, one Congregational, one Episcopal, one Reformed
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Episcopal, one G-erman Evangelical, two Lutheran, one Friends, one Latter Day Saints
(Mormon), six Methodists, one Swedenborgian, four Presbyterian, one German Re-
formed, four Catholic, one Universalist and two Hebrew.

The Apostolic Ohristian Church. This church was organized in Peoria, by Johannes
Kreienbiel, in the year 1852, with about six members, and the first sermon was preached
by Joseph Werker, of New York State. From that time up till 1874 their meetings were
held in the houses of the members, but in the latter year their present church on Green
Street was built at the cost of about f1,000, and services in the German language are
held there twice every Sunday. The present of&cers of the church are Messrs. G.
Boesig, John Schneider and W. Schmidt, trustees. There are about sixty members, and
the church property is valued at about $25,000.

The First Baptist Church. In the year 1836 the first steps were taken looking to

the establishment of a Baptist church in Peoria. At that time there were ten members
of that order who united together for the worship of God according to the tenets of their

faith. August 14, of the year above named, the church was constituted with Henry
Headly, J. R. Stanton, A. M. Gardner, Adam Gardner, William Swinerton, Alpheilfe

Richardson, Ruth Chichester, Mary Stanton, Mary Frye and Malinda Harrison. Of this

number Alpheus Richardson was some years after excommunicated on account of heresy.

He had adopted the doctrines of Swedenborg.
In 1837 the church reported one baptism and twenty members. About this time

Henry Headly was ordained to the work of the ministry. In the Fall of that year Rev.
Alexander Ridler took, charge of the church. From November, 1839 until June, 1842,
Rev. A. M. Gardner was pastor. In 1839 there were thirty-three members on the church
roll. The j'ear following it fell off to twenty-six, the next year to twenty-two, but in

1842 there were twenty-eight members. In the Fall of 1843, Elder I. D. Newell be-

came pastor. Saturday, August 24, 1844, a resolution was adopted that an effort be
made to build a church. Up to this time the society had no regular place of worship.

At a meeting held the 12th of September following an organization was effected under
the law. Benjamin Frye, George W. Willard and Smith Frye were elected trustees, and
it was resolved to purchase a lot in Block 9, from Mr. T. L. Mayne, at $200. At the

same meeting Elder Newell was authorized to make a trip East to solicit funds to aid in

the construction of a "meeting house." His trip was successful and he raised between
$1,700 and $1,800.

At that time it was expected that such a sum was amply sufficient for the construc-

tion of a fine edifice. The result was a structure of which for years the congregation

had reason to be proud. It was a brick with basement, fine audience-room, steeple, and
every thing nicely finished. In the hurricane of 1858 the steeple was carried away and
was never rebuilt. The building still stands on Hamilton Street, adjacent to the jail.

Bu"t to what base uses has the house dedicated to God been put. It has been occupied

as a beer saloon and billiard hall, and again as a variety theater. Subsequently it was
occupied by Mr. A. J. CoLe as a business college. Now it is occupied by the society of

Union Turners.

The first revival of religion enjoyed by the church followed soon after the comple-

tion of the building. The dedication took place October 17, 184t5. April 7, 1844, the

first Sabbath school connected with this church was organized, with Elder Newell as

superintendent and Theodore Adams as assistant.
,

In the midst of the revival that followed the completion of the church. Elder Newell
resigned to become the agent of Shurtliff College.

November 7, 1846, Rev. H. G. Weston was called by the church. For about twelve

years' time he continued pastor. Those were stormy years in the history of the church.

There were charges and counter charges, and even excommunication was a matter of

frequent occurrence.
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We give below, as showing the prevailing sentiment about that time, a resolution

passed by the church July 8, 1848, as follows :

" Whereas we learn with deep regret that some of the members of this church have attended the circus

;

Resolved, That attending the «ircus, promenade concerts, or the drinking or using spirituous or malt liquors, by
any member of this church, will render the person so offending a proper subject of discipline."

From 1851 until 1856, the membership increased from 100 to 166. From October,

1843 to November 1847, the church received aid from the American Baptist Home
Missionary Society, but since that time it has not only been self-sustaining but has

frequently aided weaker sister churches.

May 1, 1847, the basement ot the church just completed was leased for two years

for a female seminary. In 1851 this school, which was called the " Peoria Institute,"

was in a flourishing condition. Mr. C. C. Bonney, now an attorney in Chicago, was
principal ; Miss Adeline Walker, assistant ; and Prof. C. W. Van Meter, who has since

achieved a world wide reputation as a philanthropist, was teacher of music.

9 December 31, 1868, Rev. H. G. Weston dissolved his connection with the church.

From that time until April 29, 1859, there was no regular pastor in charge. On that

date Rev. Mr. Sayer was called and soon signified his acceptance.

As a tree grown top-heavy is sometimes seen, through disturbing causes, to part with

a limb, so with a church. When the membership becomes numerous and the interests

various and conflicting, it sometimes occurs that there is a split in the church. This

happened to the Baptist church June 10, 1859, when letters were taken out by Mr. and
Mrs. L. Holland, Mr. and Mrs. Lenhart, Mr. and Mrs. Shepherd, Mr. and Mrs. Thomas
Petherbridge, Sarah and Phoebe Bastow, Mr. and Mrs. Vaun, Mr. and Mrs. Wilson, Mrs.

Mudgett and daughter, Mr. and Mrs. Randall, Mrs. Bushnell, Sanderson, Bacon, and
Mayne, Mr. and Mrs. Garrett, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes, and Miss McKiver. These parties

split off from the First Church and established themselves under the name of the

Tabernacle Church. The 9th of October, 1863, they knocked once more at the door of

the mother church and were graciously admitted.

March 27, 1860 Rev. Mr. Ketchum was hired to succeed Mr. Sayer, but in Novem-
ber of the same year Rev. J. H. Hazen was called. He served until September 6, 1861,

when he resigned to accept a chaplaincy in a regiment then organizing for the war of the

rebellion.

January 15, 1862, Rev. D. E. Holmes was called. May 14 he was duly ordained
and August 7, 1863, his resignation was accepted. From that time until 1869 the pul-

pit was occupied by Rev. D. Stowell and Rev. Jones, the time being about equally

divided between the two.
May 26, 1869, Rev. S. A. Kinsbury was called and for two years and about three

months he was pastor of the church.

July 3, 1872, Rev. Alexander McArthur was called and served for one year. For
some months no regular pastor was secured but April 1, 1874, a call was extended to

Rev. C. J. Thompson, who is still (1879) the shepherd of the flock. But one other man
in the history of the church has occupied the position so many years in succession. This
however has not been done altogether by smooth sailing.

September 9, 1878, Messrs. Norris Pitt, Thomas Petherbridge and William D.
Bastow were excluded from fellowship on account of non-conformity to the covenant.
The controversy was occasioned by the unwillingness of the parties to be bound by the

total abstinence clause in the covenant.
September 13, four days later, twenty-six members withdrew from the. church by

letter and joined their fates with those of the excluded brethren in the formation of a

new church which they named the Peoria Baptist Church.
July 27, 1864, the First Baptist church exchanged their property in Block 9, on
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Hamilton Street for their present churoli buildina; lot 7, block 25 Underbill's addition,

corner of Fayette and Madison Streets. The building was erected by the Unitarian
Society, but as the membership of that church had been gradually swallowed up by olher
churches, chiefly by the Universalists, the church became extirujt and Mr. Isaac Under-
bill became the owner of the old church on Hamilton Street. Since purchasing the build-

ing on Madison Street, a Sunday-school room has been added, a baptistry put in and
other improvements made.

Adams Street Baptist ChurcTi— In May, 1854, the Rev. Henry Weston of the First

Baptist church, and Mr. Thomas Powell of the Home Mission Board, first conceived |he
idea of building up another church interest in the lower portion of the city, and com-
menced meetings in a school-house on Adams Street, belonging to Miss L. Wright, and
during the Fall of this year they secured the services ofRev. John Edminston, who labored
in that part of the city. In consequence of the earnest efforts of these gentlemen,
sufficient interest was aroused to justify them in calling a meeting on December 12,

1854, for the purpose of organizing a church, which was duly accomplished. Subsequently
the Sabbath School was organized with twenty-five scholars. In the following year

through the personal efforts of Rev. Mr. Weston, a lot was secured, and a house of wor-
ship was erected, 30 x 40 feet in size, and seating 250 persons, at a cost of |1,000. The
dedication sermon was preached by Rev. John Edminston, the pastor of the congregation.

The other officers of the Society were Richard Denby and William F. Kinsey, deacons,

Conibear, clerk. The subsequent pastors were. Revs. J. S. Mahon, L. Raymond,
Oliver Cromwell, A. Greenbrand, Henry Wilbur, J. S. Brown, A. Kenyan, Geo. Prunk,
William T. Green, Henry L. Humphrey, and William Shields.

The society has at present no pastor, but is otherwise officered by the following

gentlemen. Job Whitimer, John Herschberger, and C. Loquist, deacons ; John Hersch-
berger, C. Loquist and Geo. W. Martin, trustees. The present membership is forty, and
that of the Sunday School sixty. The value of the church property is about $3,000.

The Peoria Baptist Ghureh.—The history of this church, though brief, is eventful.

Three of its constituent members had been driven from their former church home (which
home they had been largely instrumental in securing), for refusing to stand up to a total

abstinence pledge in a new covenant (said covenant having been passed in direct viola-

tion of all Baptist principles and usage), the church putting upon their records at the

same time the fact that these three men were without reproach as consistent Christians

and members. Twenty-seven other leading members of the same church directly applied

for their letters, refusing to longer fellowship a body that would do so great a wrong.
Immediately after the split occurred, these thirty persons held a meeting on the evening

of September 11, 1878, and decided to organize a church on purely Baptist principles, as

laid down in the word of God, allowing liberty of conscience in all matters non-essential

(namely), on all points in which the Bible lays down no laws or commands. They named
their organization " The Peoria Baptist Church," and adopted the following creed and
covenant

:

Creed.—We believe in God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit, and that these three are one.

That God the Son was manifest in the flesh, in the person of Jesus Christ, the example of the perfect man who died

for our transgressions, bore the full penalty of our sins, rose from the dead, and ever lives our friend and intercessor.

That God the Holy Spirit manifests Himself in the use of the word of God, drawing to Christ, changing the heart

from sinfulness to righteousness, by inducing therein faith in Christ, and comforting, enlightening, and directing the

spirit of those who are Christ's.

That those who have faith in Christ are heirs of eternal salvation, and should be baptized by immersion and may
come to the table of the Lord ; that these two ordinances should be maintained in the foregoing order of the church,

which consists of a body of believers in Christ, banded together for the worship and service of God.
That there will be a resurrection of those who have done well to eternal life, and of those who have finally re-

jected Christ to eternal condemnation.
That the word of God is contained in the Scriptures of the Old and New Testament, and is the supreme rule of

faith and practice in matters of religion.

Covenant.— " Having been brought as we trust by Divine grace to receive Christ as our Redeemer, we have

30
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solemnly and joyfully united together in humble dependance upon the Holy Spirit for the service and worship of

God.
We seek by the faithful use of all Christian methods as sanctioned in God's holy word, for blameless and devout

lives, for abundant faithfulness in Christ, for the salvation of souls, and for the complete kingdom of God.

We covenant to tolerate chadty in belief and usage in things not essential, and to cherish Christian liberty,

moderated by Christian charity, smd we consecrate ourselves, our property, our time, and qur talents to the glory of

God the Father, through Jesus Christ our Lord.
"

The following gentlemen, W. Bastow sen., Mr. Sedgewiek, Mr. Robinson, Mr. Pether-

bridge, Mr. Carson, and Mr. Hall, were regularly chosen trustees of the church and em-

PQjrered to purchase a lot, on which to erect a house of worship. They selected a lot on

Fifth Street, and within eight weeks from the time that the first shovelful of earth was
thrown out for the foundation, the building was completed and ready for dedication. The
house is of wood with block front, cheerful, commodious and inviting, capable of seating

300. On Nov. 24, the church was opened for divine service in the morning, a Sabbath'

School was organized with sixty-three scholars in the afternoon. Rev. M. Card of Soma-
nauk, preached the dedication service to a crowded house from the words, '• I beseech of

thee show me thy glory." Up to this time not a dollar had been asked for to defray the

expenses of building. Something less than one hundred dollars had been given in voluntary

contributions, the members themselves paying for the house as the building progressed.

At its dedication about |400 debt remained. An appeal was made to the congregation

and something like $200 subscribed. Every Sabbath morning and evening services were
regularly held, and sermons preached by two of the members alternately, till the follow-

ing February when the church was fortunate enough to secure the services of the Rev.
Dr. Post of Southern Illinois as their pastor. Since then the Sunday School has increased

to 125 and the church membership to double its original number. At the date of this

sketch the church is prospering beyond the utmost expectation of its members. Happy,
harmonious, and united, with a pastor whose zeal and knowledge is only equaled by his

kindly interest in every member of his flock, and whose able sermons are building up
good congregations, and a steadily increasing membership.

The Grerman Baptist OhurcJi.— In the year 1851 Rev. John H. Krueger was sent to

Peoria by the Baptist Home Missionary Society. For about a year he preached as mis-

sionary, sometimes in the Court-house, but oftener in his own residence, until August 8,

1852, when the church was duly constituted with eight members. Mr. Krueger was
elected pastor and served faithfully and well for about ten years, until his voice failed on
account of an affection of the throat, when he was compelled to quit preaching. Since

that time he has resided in the city and for several years has sat upon his shoemaker's
bench in his shop on the Knoxville road jast north of Main street.

After a time, as the church began to grow in numbers, they sought and obtained

permission from the First Baptist society to hold meetings in the basement of their

church. Here they continued to make their abiding place until in 1862. That year a

lot was leased on the corner of South Jefferson and Maple streets and a small frame
church was built with parsonage attached at a cost of about $600.

About this time, a few months after Mr. Krueger's resignation, Dr. G. D. Menger
was chosen pastor, which position he occupied for about five years. Then followed a

lapse of a few months, after which Rev. Mr. Merz was ordained pastor. This relation

continued during a period of about two years.

The next pastor chosen was Mr. L. H. Donner, who continued in the place about
nine years. During the pastorate of this gentleman the parsonage was found too small,

and a couple of rooms were added. Mr. Donner resigned his place October 1, 1878.

Soon afterward Rev. H. L. Dietz, the present incumbent, was chosen.
In the year 1875 the society purchased a brick building on the southwesterly side of

Monson Street, between Fourth and Fifth Streets, for $1,800. It had been built for what
was known as the Cumberland Presbyterian church some years before, but for some time
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previous to its purchase by the German Baptists it had been allowed to run to decay. It
had been a fair looking and comfortable building for a small sized congregation. The
German Baptists as soon as they came into possession of it went to work to improve it.

A Sunday-school room was built on in rear of the church and the building was thor-
oughly repaired and made better than when new.

The Sabbath-school in connection with this church was organized in November,
1859, with Henry Hoklas as superintendent. About twenty-five scholars were enrolled
at the first meeting, The present membership is about eighty, and Mr. Charles Haman
is the superintendent. %

The Catholic Church in Peoria.—In the year 1673 the illustrious Father Marquette, a
Jesuit missionary, ascended the Mississippi, passing the Missouri, and, entering the Illi-

nois, met the Indians called Peorias on its banks, most probably where the city of Peoria
now exists, or in its neighborhood. He spent three days preaching in all their cabins.

He there baptized a child that died in a few days afterwards— the first fruits of Catho-
licity in Peoria.

LaSalle descended the Illinois river in the year 1680. He was accompanied by mis-
sionaries of the order of St. Francis, called Recollects. Of these Father Gabriel,

Rebourde, and Father Membr^, visited the Peorias.

Father Gravier, Jesuit, labored as a missionary with the Peorians in the years 1693
and 1694. There were among them some fervent Christians. Even in the absence of

the missionary the men assembled in the chapel for morning and evening prayers, and
after they had left an old chief went through the village to call the women and children

to the same duty.

About the year 1700 Father Gravier returned to Peoria and renewed his labors there

;

but the medicine men excited a sedition in which the missionary was dangerously

wounded, and narrowly escaped with his life.

Father Marest occupied the station for some time after Father Gravier, and the

mission, then becoming vacant, the Indians, in punishment for their cruelty to their late

missionary, were cut off from the French trade. Father Marest again visited them in

1711 and found them humbled and conscious of their fault. On his return to Kaskaskia

he sent from there Father DeVille to renew the faith among the Peorians.

DeVille was a man of zeal and talent, and possessed of the art of winning Indians,

so that the progress of the mission was rapid.

However, comparatively few of the Peorians had bowed to the cross, and after

Father Louis DeVille had left, the village was again without a missionary and it became
almost entirely pagan.

Yet it presented hopes. The great chief wore on his breast a cross and figure of the

Blessed Virgin. He had found the latter and wore it with confidence when told that it

ripresented the mother of God.
At the time of Father Charlevoix's visit to the mission in 1721, this chiefs little

daughter was dying and he brought her to the missionary to be baptized.

In course of time, from many causes not necessary to mention here, the Indian mis-

sion of Peoria, like all the other Illinois Indian missions, ceased to exist.

About the year 1839, Father Reho, an Italian, visited the few Catholics then in the

village of Peoria and its surroundings for many miles distant.

As a Catholic center in those early days, Kickapoo was regarded as of more impor-

tance than Peoria, for Father Reho built a stone church there in 1840, while Peoria had
not one until 1847, the old brick building long since taken down.

After Father Reho, several priests, Parodi, Stehle, Rinaldi and others, had charge of

the Peoria mission up to the time of Father Montuori, who built the present St. Mary's

brick church. It was dedicated by Archbishop Kenrick, of St. Louis, on the 17th of

April, 1853. About that time the German Catholic congregation was organized. . They
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had service for some time in St. Mary's church, until their own church edifice, Sfc,

Joseph's frame building, was dedicated in the Fall of the year 1854. The first pastor was
Rev. Father Gipperich.

The pastor of St. Mary's, Father Coyle, built St. Patrick's frame church in the

south-west district of Peoria, in the year 1862. The wants of the congregation there

were attended to from St. Mary's church until the 1st of March, 1868, when Rev. M.
Hurley took charge of it as pastor. The congregation is now building a beautiful brick

church, at a cost of $25,000. It is expected to be completed in the course of the present

year 1880. Father Hurley is still pastor of that congregation.

The St. Joseph's congregation is also building a fine brick church, at a cost of $26,-

000, It also is expected to be ready for dedication before the present year will come to

an end. Father Baak is the pastor.

On the 11th of January of this year, 1880, the new church of the Sacred Heart of

Jesus was dedicated by Rt. Rev. Bishop Spalding. It is situated on Madison Street, near

Main. It makes the fourth Catholic church in Peoria. The congregation is German,
and was organized in 1878. The pastor is very Rev. Titus Steiner, O. M. C.

The diocese of Peoria was erected by Papal Brief on the 12th of February, 1875,

and the first and present bishop. Right Rev. John Lancaster Spalding, D.D., was conse-

crated in New York by Cardinal McClosky, on the 1st of May, 1877. His cathedral is

St. Mary's church, the present pastor of which is Rev. B. J. Spalding.

The total number of Catholics of every nationality in the city of Peoria can not be

less than 7,000. The Catholic education of the children of the respective congregations

is carefully attended to, parochial schools being attached to each church. The total num-
ber of children in regular attendance is over 1,100. The teachers, for the most part, are

ladies of religious orders ; the School Sisters of Notre Dame at St. Joseph's and St. Pat-

rick's churches ; the Sisters of St. Joseph at St. Mary's, and the Ursulines at the church
of the Sacred Heart.

The Sisters of St. Joseph own a fine, spacious building on Madison Street. It is

called the Academy of the Sacred Heart. Here young ladies, both boarders and day
scholars, receive a finished education in the higher branches of learning.

On the East bluff one of the most conspicuous and handsome buildings is the Brad-

ley Hospital. It is owned and conducted by the Sisters of St. Francis, who were exiled

from Germany a few years ago. It was established in 1878.

Church of Christ.—This congregation was organized in the year 1845 by Elder A. J.

Kane, of Springfield, who still lives, honored and respected as a man and proclaimer of

the gospel of Christ. Its first organization had the same number that met with the Sa-

vior of men at the last supper, in the supper chamber in Jerusalem. Its first elder was
William Tilford, who served the church faithfully until his death, on April 3, 1851. Of
the original twelve Mrs. Eliza White, Mr. and Mrs. J. P. Brown— Mr. and Mrs. Samp-
son Shockley, now of Eureka, and who have apostatised— are all known to be living at

this writing. P. C. Redding, Esq. united with the church in 1847.

It was at first a despised band. The words of Chillingworth— worthy of being in-

scribed on the walls of every meeting house in letters of gold— were adopted as a motto,
" Where the Bible speaks, we speak ; where the Bible is silent, we are silent ; the Bible,

and the Bible alone, the religion of Protestants." The feeble band tried to be faithful to

God and His word, despite all opposition. They met from week to week for prayer and
praise, as well as on the Lord's day, for the purpose of exhorting one another to faithful-

ness, and to hear a sermon if a preacher was present. The especial object of meeting on
every Lord's day, was to commemorate the death, burial and resurrection of the Savior
in the Lord's supper. They were obliged for ten years to meet from house to house as a

rule, but upon extra occasions the fire engine rooms or Court-house was secured. Elder
D. P. JHenderspn immersed the first person (Mrs. Nancy Baff) into the church in 1847.
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Elders W. H. Davenport, John Lindsay, William Brown, Milton King, D. P. Henderson
and A. J. Kane preached at different times for the struggling band. In March, 1853, a
reorganization took place, effected by Elder M. P. King ; J. P. Brown ^*as set apart to

the office of elder, and Sampson Shockley to that of deacon. The reorganization took
place at the residence of Mrs. Eliza White, who still lives at the same place, corner

Adams and Greene Streets, At this time their number had increased to twenty-six.

In 1854 the congregation began to consider the necessity of having a house of wor-
ship, and by great sacrifice, and a liberality seldom displayed by persons under like cir-

cumstances, the chapel on Seventh Street was built and dedicated February 17, 1855, by
Elder Wm. Brown, of Springfield, Illinois, and President O. A. Burgess, now of Butler

University, Indianapolis, Indiana. The Bible school was organized in that year.
_
From

1855 to 1857 Elder John Lindsay, now of Eureka, labored for the congregation as its

pastor, and the church was prosperous. In the latter year Elder J. A. Carman was called

to the pastorate. For several years from 1858, the professors and students of Eureka
College filled the pulpit ; in 1862 Elder D. R. Howe preached for the church ; in 1864
and 1865 his place was filled by Elder John O. Kane, who was one of the mighty men of

his day. The singing evangelist. Elder Knowles Shaw, held in August, 1872, a protracted

meeting in a tent, resulting in more than fifty accessions. Elder Shaw was one of the

most successful Evangelists of this century, having received into the church more than
ten thousand persons. He was killed in a railroad accident near Dallas, Texas, in 1877,

when in the prime of life and the most successful part of his ministry.

During the month of October, 1872, the church called Elder Ira J. Chase, to act as

the under shepherd to the flock. In 1875, the chapel on Seventh Street became too

small for the congregation, and through the efforts of the pastor and people, they were
able to purchase of the New School Presbyterians their neat brick house of worship, cor-

ner of Fulton and Monroe Streets, at a cost of $7,000. During Elder Chase's pastorate,

hundreds of persons have united with the church, and the society is in peace, and appar-

ently in love with their minister.

The First Congregational Church.— The Congregational claims to be the first

regularly organized church in Peoria. It was organized in the year 1834 by Revs. Flavel

Bascom and Romulus Barnes. The place was then a village of only about 400 inhabi-

tants, and the church started out with a membership of eight. It was no light task for

this handful to undertake the construction even of a primitive house of worship. They
determined to make the effort, however, and the result was highly gratifying. They
succeeded in A. D. 1835 in erecting a plain wooden building, twenty-eight by fifty feet.

At that time, although the majority of the members were Congregationalist in sentiment,

the form of church government was Presbyterian. This was the status until October,

1847, when the Congregational polity was formally adopted. From the organization of

the church to 1847 the following named ministers had successively occupied the position

of pastor : Flavel Bascom, Jeremiah Porter, J. Spaulding, and Mr. Lamb.
This church, actuated by a spirit of reform, took strong anti-slavery grounds. Feb-

ruary 13, 1843, when convened with others for the purpose of organizing an anti-slavery

society, they were driven from their own house of worship by a mob, which was headed
by some of the prominent citizens of the place. Previous to this action by the mob a

hostile meeting had been held at the Court-house, where it was

" Resolved to oppose by force, if necessary, the organization of any anti-slavery society in Peoria." The reasons

were given as follows :
•' The doctrines advocated by members of said society, are in direct conflict with the laws

and constitution of the United States, and their ultimate, if not direct, tendency is to produce discord and disunion

between the Federal States of this Union, with no possibility of a benefit resulting to those in whose favor their

sympathies seem to be enlisted, and the organization of such society in the towti of Peorja would only tend to dis-

parage and disgrace us as a community, and create domestic and personal difficulties and disorders."

^fter the adoption of the Congregational form of church government proper, Rev.
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William H. Star was the first pastor. He preached from October, 1847, until October,

1848. In November of that year Rev. L. Spencer commenced his labors as pastor of the

church. In the year 1852 the Main Street church, for many years the pride of the city,

was erected at a cost of $8,000. It was surmounted by a fine spire, but in the great

tornado of May 13, 1858,. it was carried away by the wind and was never rebuilt. In

1878 the church edifice went down before the march of improvement, and a block of

stores now occupies its former site.

Mr. Spencer continued as pastor until April 14, 1853, when the relation was severed

by death. His successor was Rev. J. W. Marsh, who served as pastor from January 2,

1853, to May 1, 1854. Then Rev. Henry Adams was chosen pastor, and ministered unto

the church until November, 1855. In October of that year twenty-two members with-

drew from the church and, in connection with others, organized what became the Fulton

Street Presbyterian Church. This branch, or shoot, from the old church was first called

the Union Congregational Church and Society. It was organized December 8, 1857, a

New School Presbyterian church, by authority of the Presbytery of Knox. For ten

years the organization was thus known, after which time, in view of the prospective

re-union of the two churches, the name was changed to the Fulton Sireet Presbyterian

Church and society.

The first pastor was Rev. Isaac E. Carey, who was called December 8, 1857, and
served until August 29, 1860. A house of worship was built on the corner of Fulton and
Monroe Streets, and it was dedicated on Christmas day, 1859. It was enlarged and im-

proved at considerable expense in 1868, and was re-opened with appropriate services

December 27th of that year.

The pastors of the church who succeeded Mr. Carey were as follows

:

Rev. Wilbur McKaig, called November 2, 1860 ; resigned June 2, 1862.

Rev. Samuel Wyckoff, called November 24, 1862 ; resigned October 3, 1864.

Rev. Asahel H. Brooks, called July 3, 1865 ; resigned March 4, 1868.

Rev. Horace C. Hovey, called January 5, 1869 ; resigned April 13, 1873.

Rev. Robert A. Condit, called October 27, 1873 ; resigned November 10, 1874.

In the latter part of the year 1874, committees were appointed by both the Congre-
gational and Fulton Street Presbyterian churches with a view to the re-union of the two.

At a meeting of these committees held Tuesday evening, December 22, 1874, the follow-

ing preambles and resolutions were adopted and presented for approval and ratification as

a basis of union

:

Whereas, Believing that a union of the two churches would be for mutual benefit, and that the growth of
Christ's kingdom in our city would be greatly strengthened by a more consolidated effort and concentrated use of

Christian means and influence ; and,
Whereas, We, as churches, hold the same views of all essential doctrines of Christianity as taught by our Lord

and Savior Jesus Christ. Therefore, be it

Sesolved, That it is expedient for the Main Street Congregational and Fulton Street Presbyterian Churches to

unite.

Resolved, That the name of the United church be called the First Congregational Church of Peoria.

Resolved, That the present pastor of the Main Street Congregational Church shall be the pastor of the United
Church.

Resolved, That the property of both churches be the property of the United church.
Resolved, That immediate steps be taken toward the erection of a new and commodious church edifice, and that

the present church property belonging to each shall be sold as soon as practicable, and the proceeds applied for

that purpose.
Resolved, That until such new church edifice is ready to be occupied, services on Sabbath and week days to be

held in each church alternately.

Committee Fulton Street Presbyterian Church— Wm. Truesdale, Lucius L. Day, Thomas Wood, W. H. Robin-
son, N. K. BeaSley.

Committee Main Street Congregational Church— Moses Pettengill, Benj. Foster, Jas. T. Rogers, Horace Clark.
Henry Binnian.

This formal union, under the title of the " First Congregational Church of Peoria,"
was accomplished in connection with public Sabbath exercises, January 31, 1875.
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After the split, and previous to the re-union, the Main Street church had for pas-
tors :

Rev. J. Steiner, from December, 1855, to July, 1856.

Rev. A. A. Stevens, from December, 1856, to June, 1866.

Rev. G. W. Phinney, from June, 1866, to June, 1867.

Rev. J. A. Mack, from April 1, 1868, to June 8, 1870.

Rev. A. A. Stevens was re-called, and commenced his labors September 21, 1870.
In October, 1879, after nearly twenty years service in the church, Mr. Stevens, by
reason of old age and the increased labors connected with the pastorate, asked for an
assistant.

In 1 875, the erection of a splendid church edifice was commenced. It is of stone,

and is surmounted by a stone spire, the only one in the city. The auditorium is not yet
completed (1879). The vestry rooms, etc., in the basement, are completed, and have
been in use since the Spring of 1878, when the society sold their Main Street property to

Mr. W. R. Bush for $7,000. The Fulton Street church property was sold for about
$5,000. Both these sums, however, were but a drop in the bucket toward the sum re-

quired for the completion of the new building. The cost of the building thus far has
been $87,544. It is estimated that to complete the auditorium will require about $15,000.

Added to this will be the expense of an organ, about $4,000, and a chime of seven or

nine bells, which will be put in the tower. This will be, when completed, decidedly the

finest church structure in the city. It is located on the corner of Monroe and Hamilton
Streets.

The membership in 1879 was three hundred. In connection with the church is a

large and successful Sabbath school, of which Mr. L. L. Day is superintendent. Ply-

mouth Mission Sunday school, corner of Fourth and Spencer Streets, of which Mr. Benja-

min Foster is superintendent, is in charge of this church. The two schools have a com-
bined membership of six hundred and fifty.

St. Paul's Episcopal Church.—St. Paul's Parish was organized in the year 1848,

imder the Rev. J. S. Chamberlaine, deacon, as minister in charge, and the following gen-
tlemen as vestry : Thos. Squires, senior warden ; Henry Rugg, junior warden ; and
Washington Cockle, Geo. Stewardson, Henry A. Foster, E. G. Sanger, B. L. T. Bourland,

"William Weidenham, and Dr. E. Andrews, vestrymen. In the ensuing month, namely
on April 10, 1848, Mr. Rugg and Dr. Andrews resigned their positions, and thereupon

Wm. Mitchell and Dr. Rudolphus Rouse were made vestrymen. In the Autumn of the

same year, the parish accepted a plot of ground with deed of trust, from Dr. Philander

Chase, Bishop of the Diocese of Illinois, for the purpose of the erection and constant

maintenance of a church edifice. On May 14, 1849, Bishop Chase instrumentally con-

veyed to the parish, as a gift from some person not named, a valuable lot of books of the-

ology—52 in number— " for the benefit of the said parish and minister forever."

On the first day of April, 1850, the following officers were elected to serve for the ensu-

ing year : Alex. G. Tyng and James L. Riggs, wardens ; and John Birkett, Rudolphus
Rouse, Geo. C. Bestor, Jacob Schaf&ier, Matthew Griswold, E, T. Sanger and Washing-
ton Cockle, vestrymen.

In 1850 the erection of a brick church was begun, Mr. Chas. Ulricson being architect

and builder. The edifice with its square tower was greatly admired, and for many years

regarded as the most attractive object in the city. Its walls and tower covered with ivy,

formed a pleasant picture, that still lingers in the memory .of the older inhabitants of

Peoria and the surrounding country. This building stood for about thirty years, when
it was pulled down, in order that it might give place to a larger and more costly edifice

of stone. But at this period, an almost unparalleled misfortune befell the church com-
munity, through the desertion of a number of the members. A schism was created in the

body, and the defecting members proceeded to organize themselves into a congregation,
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within the communion of a society termed " The Reformed Episcopal Church," which had
recently been formed by Rev. Dr. Cummings and Rev. Mr. Cheney. Hence it is hardly

necessary to state that the proposed stone church has not been built, and that the part of

the congregation which remained faithful to the church has had to pay the cost of the

destruction of the former building, and is at present holding service in a frame structure,

which now stands upon the old site. This church seats about 500 persons, is neat,

churchly, and plain as to the exterior, while its interior has been made, at very small

cost, to present the most pleasing aspect, in ecclesiastical arrangement and decoration, of

any church in Peoria. In the past three years the congregation has experienced a

remarkable growth ; the Sunday school is strong again ; and the parish- is not without

hope that even yet— in a very few years— there shall be erected a handsome, costly and
enduring edifice of stone, that shall be an ornament to the city. At last Easter the entire

debt of the parish— over $6,000— was discharged by the congregation, and the present

income is equal to the annual expenses. There are five active societies in the parish,

working under the direction of the Rector : The Ladies Aid Society, The Church Guild

(young men). The Altar Society, The Young Peoples' Benevolent Society (for the care

of the poor), and The Helpers. The present number of communicants is about 150.

The following is the succession of Rectors after Rev. Mr. Chamberlaine : Revs.

J. W. Cracraft, Henry N. Strong, D. D., Joseph M. Wait, Warren H. Roberts, J. W.
Bonham, I. L. Townsend, S. T. D., Wm. J. Johnson, and Rev. Wm. Bryce Morrow, the

present incumbent.
St. Paul's Parish owes much of its prosperity, if not indeed its continued existence

through its hard trials, to the patient courage and unfailing liberality of Matthew Gris-

wold, Esq., who has been an officer of the vestry from almost the first inception of the

church, and still remains in the position of senior warden.
The Reformed Episcopal Christ Church.— When information of the organization of

the Reformed Episcopal Church in New York city, Dec. 2, 1873, reached Peoria, sev-

eral persons, at that time members of St. Paul's Protestant Episcopal Church, decided

to organize a Reformed Episcopal Church in Peoria. As soon as the proposed action be-

came known much sympathy for the proposed organization was manifested, not only by
Protestant Episcopalians, but also by Christians of other denominations. This action

was induced by a growing inclination on the part of the old church to adopt high church
forms and ritual. This tendency had been vigorously opposed by some of the best men
in the church, but finding their opposition futile, the Reformed Church offered a refuge

that they were glad to accept. Among the prominent members of the old church in this

city who opposed the high church dogmas was Mr. A. G. Tyng, at whose invitation

Bishop George D. Cummins, of the Reformed Church, visited Peoria. A meeting was
held at the Second Presbyterian church, which was largely attended and quite enthusi-

astic. Addresses were delivered by Bishop Cummins, Col. Aycrigg and Mr. A. G. Tyng.
Subscriptions were commenced for a rector's support, and so liberal was the response

that Bishop Cummins was authorized to secure a rector immediately.
Rev. Joseph D. Wilson, rector of Calvary Protestant Episcopal Church, Pittsburg,

was called Feb. 4, 1874, and the call was accepted. Feb. 17th, Ash Wednesday, he
arrived in the city and commenced his labors. Previous to his coming services were held
in the various churches of the city. Rev. Mason Gallagher officiated at the first services

of the new church, held the first Sabbath in January, 1874.
In the time between Jan. 1 and June, 1874, a lot on Jefferson Street, near Fayette,

was leased, and a fine, commodious church edifice was erected at a cost, including vestry
and Sunday-school rooms, of about $13,000. In addition to this a $3,500 organ was put in,

and the building was nicely carpeted and furnished at an expense of about $2,000. The
funds necessary for the purchase of the organ were raised through the efforts of Mrs.
F. B. M. Brotherson.
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June 9, 1879, Mr. Wilson resigned the rectorship, after five years successful ministry.
He accepted a call from St. John's Church, Chicago.

In a few weeks thereafter, a call was extended to Rev. E. B. England, of the Second
Methodist Episcopal Church of Peoria. The call was accepted, and Mr. England
preached his first sermon Aug. 3, 1879.

At its organization there were about fifty members in the society. This number
was soon increased to one hundred, and there are now two hundred and fifty regular
communicants.

Monday evening, January 12, the first parish meeting of the society was held. Then
it was decided to take the name, " Christ Church." At the same meeting the following
named were chosen officers of the church : Mr. A. G. Tyng, senior warden ; Charles F.
Bacon, junior warden. Vestrymen were chosen as follows : H. B. Hopkins, P. R. K.
Brotherson, H. B. Dox, C. A. Jameson, Charles H. Kellogg, John S. Stevens, Walter B.

Hotchkiss, B. F. Ellis, R. F. Seabury, jr., and Walter P. Colburn. Of the above named,
Walter P. Colburn was elected secretary and Walter B. Hotchkiss, treasurer.

In 1879, the officers were : A. G. Tyng, senior warden ; Thomas S. Weddle, junior

warden. The vestrymen were : C. F. Bacon, C. A. Jameson, W. A. Beasley, W. F.

Bryan, W. G. Sloan, W. T. Hanna, J. J. Steiger, John S. Stevens and John Birks.

The Sunday-school on the corner of High and Cedar Streets, which had been for

some time previously to the establishment of the church organized by Mr. Tyng, was
placed under the control of Christ Church, with Mr. A. G. Tyng as superintendent.

A Sunday-school had been organized on the east bluff by Mrs. George C. Bestor, the

meetings being held in the parlors of her residence until a new building was erected on
the Knoxville road, when it was removed there. After the organization of the church,
this school was also placed under its charge. Mr. Wm. H. Robinson became superinten-

dent, which place he held until Easter, 1879, when Mr. Chas. A. Jameson took charge.

After the church building was completed, a Sunday-school was organized with Mr.
JohnS. Stevens as superintendent. It continued under his charge until 1878, when Mr.
Thomas S. Weddle became superintendent. The membership of the three Sunday-schools
is over 600.

The Society of Friends have no regular organization in the city, but through the
efforts of Mrs. Ely the nucleus of what may in time be a large congregation meet regu-
larly, on the first day of the week, at 303 Sanford Street. Quite a number of families

in the city were brought up under the influences of the Friends, but owing to the lack

of facilities for meeting, and other causes, have of late identified themselves with other

religious bodies.

First G-erman Fvan. Luth. St. PauVs Church.— This is one of the oldest German con-

gregations in the city, having been organized by the Rev. Mr. Kopmann, afterwards their

first pastor, in the year 1851. The first trustees of the church were H. Harms, W.
Schroeder, and E. Brants. A few years after the organization, they built a small church
on Sixth Street, but that, in time, proving too small for their increasing numbers, they
moved about ten years age to their present place of worship, corner of First and Good-
win Streets, adding to it at the same time a school-house and parsonage. The present

officers of the church are Rev. Frederick B. Bess, pastor, and Messrs. P. Becker, C.

Schmidt, F. Dwehus and D. Tjarks, trustees ; the membership consists of thirty-five

families. The value of the church property, including parsonage and school-house, is

about $5,000 ; the annual contributions for religious and other purposes aggregate about

$675. Their Sabbath-school is at present very prosperous, having an attendance of from
60 to 70 children.

The congregation had a very auspicious beginning, but some years after fell on
troublous times, and was almost- reduced to dissolution. Two years ago, however,
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a fresh start was taken and renewed efforts made, and it is now again in a promising con-

dition.

G-erman Evan. Luth. Trinity Church.— This congregation was "organized by the

Rev. I. Fr. Boeling, who was afterwards its first pastor, and who preached the first

sermon in Trinity church in 1857. The original members numbered about 156, and the

first officers were Messrs. C. Schmidt, D. Harms, C. Hagemeier, H. E. Harms, and E.

Tegtmeier. The Rev. Mr. Boeling was succeeded in the pastorate by the Rev. P.

Held, January 17th, 1861, who officiated till August 20, 1878, when the present pastor,

the Rev. Gottlieb Traub replaced him. The present memberships number about 800,

and Messrs. Fr. Meyer, C. Schmidt, F. Zeitz, Gr. Tjarks and W. Wilhelms are trustees.

Divine services are well attended, and the church prosperous. The annual contribution

for religious, school and benevolent purposes is kbout -$2,000, and the Sabbath-school has

an average attendance of 200 scholars. The church building is on the corner of Maple
and Jefferson Streets, is a handsome one, constructed in pure Gothic style, and the inte-

rior is beautifully painted in Gothic frescos ; cost about $8,000. The value

of the church property, including school-houses, parsonage, church yard, etc., is about

#20,000.
German Reformed Church— Was organized in May, 1869, by a committee of the

Classes of Wisconsin of the Reformed Church of America, with thirteen original mem-
bers, but failing to secure at that time the ministrations of a pastor, the society practi-

cally dissolved, but was reorganized in the Summer of 1871, when the Rev. John
Miiller was called to the pastorate, and an inexpensive church built on the corner of Per-

simmon and Madison Streets, which is still their religious home. The Rev. Mr. Miiller

continues the pastor, and the present officers are Messrs. M. Peters and W. Geitz, elders;

R. Tessen and E. Ockenga, deacons ; C. Jannssen and R. Tessen, trustees. The mem-
bership has grown slowly but steadily, notwithstanding many deaths and removals,

from 5 in 1871, to 60, at the present time, and the annual contributions of aU kinds

average $1,500.

In May, 1872, the Sabbath-school was organized with 30 scholars; it gradually in-

creased and is now in a flourishing condition, with an attendance of nearly 200. The
same year a parochial school-house was built and a competent teacher secured, and the

school has done uniformly well since its inception. It is at present under the efficient

charge of Mr. J. Kuelling.

German Evangelical Association.— In 1846 the Rev. S. A.Tobias, a missionary of

this body, came to Peoria and preached to the scattered adherents of the denomination
in various parts of the city, and from that time on regular services have been held. The
Church was organized with 15 original members, through the efforts of Rev. W. Kolb,

in 1847, and under his charge also was their first meeting-house built. The first sta-

tioned preacher was Revd. C. Augenstein, and his successors in the ministry have been
Revs. C. Kopp, H. Eitermann, G. Esher, J. Schneider, G. M. Young, H. Lageshulte, C.

Spielmann, C. Ott, G. Ramige, W. F. Walter, D. Kraemer, W. Strassberger, E. von
Freeden, and the present pastor. Rev. G. Vetter. The other officers of the church are

C. Ringel, local preacher ; H. Ringel and L. E. Becker, class-leaders ; J. F. Faber, G. M.
Green and J. Fay, trustees. The present number of its members is 85.

In 1872 the society built at a cost of $6,000 a good frame church on the corner of

State and First Streets, which they now occupy, and also a parsonage in the rear. The
total valuation of the property they hold is about $8,000, and their annual contributions
for all purposes amount to about $700.

The organization of the Sunday-school is contemporaneous with that of the church,
and it is now in a flourishing condition, with an attendance of 120 children. The church
also is moderately prosperous, and has had at times glorious revivals, whereby the num-
ber of its members was very largely increased, and although, through deaths andremov-
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als, the list of members is not so large as it has been in past times, still the prospects for
the future are encouraging.

The Jewish Congregation Anshai Emeth,—This congregation was founded in the year
1863, and is the only Jewish congregation at present existing in Peoria county. The
pioneers of Judaism in Peoria were Messrs. H. Schwabacher, Henry UUman, Max New-
man, 1,. Ballenberg, and others, most of whom are still living in the city and distinguished
for their wealth, integrity and public-spiritedness. The number of members in the first

year were about thirty, but as the city increased in population, the congregation increased
in membership, so that at present it contains about sixty paying members, seat-holders

not included.

The temple at present occupied by them was purchased at the beginning of its

career, and is situated on Fulton Street between Adams and Jefferson, but in the month
of October, 1879, it was sold, and a piece of property was bought on Jefferson Street,

between Harrison and Liberty Streets, upo^ which a magnificent structure will be erected

before May, 1880.

The first officers of the congregation were: A. Frank, president; S. Lyons, vice-

president ; M. Newman, secretary ; Henry UUman, treasurer ; S. Simon, L. Ballenberg,
and A. Wachenheimer, trustees. The present officers are : David UUman, president

;

M. Salzenstine, vice-president; J. Axman, treasurer ; L. Lowenthal, secretary ; L. Bal-

lenberg, Harry UUman, and John Korsosky, trustees. Its ministers have been as follows

:

Rev. M. Moses, from 1863 until 1873 ; Rev. Dr. E. B. M. Browne, from 1873 until the

end of 1875 ; Rev. Mr. H. Bloch, from 1876 untU September, 1878 ; and Rev. Dr. David
Stern, who is the present rabbi.

In the year 1874 some members seceded from the congregation on account of some
personal misunderstandings, and they erected a nice little temple on Seventh Street.

They engaged Rev. Mr. Messing as their minister, and for about two years they were in

a very prosperous condition. But in the course of time those personal misunderstandings
were forgiven and forgotten by both parties, and there is no doubt that when the new
temple wiU be completed, the Israelites of Peoria will be a united body.

BABLY METHODISM IN PEOBIA.

You raised these hallowed walls ; the desert smiled

And paradise was opened in these wilds.

—

Pope.

The first preaching near the site of Peoria was in 1673, when Joliet and Marquette
passed up through Lake Peoria, and Marquette preached to the Indians. Again in 1686,

when La Salle built Fort Crevecceur, Father Hennepin, who accompanied him on his

travels, preached regularly to the Indians until his departure in March of that year on a

tour of discovery in the upper Mississippi country. From that time until 1823 the soli-

tudes around Fort Clark were unbroken and undisturbed by songs of prayer and praise,

unless the songs the birds sang were offered as tributes of adoration to the Great Archi-

tect whose hand unfolded the beautiful prairies and reared the mighty bluffs that, like a

cordon of forts, hem in the beautiful river of the Illini.

The credit of holding the first Protestant services is generally ascribed to Rev. Jesse

Walker, a man whose name is familiar in the early history of northern and central Illi-

nois, and who is remembered by the surviving settlers of 1820 to 1853 with feelings akin

to veneration.

The seeds of Methodism were planted in Peoria county in the year 1823, when Wil-
liam Eads and his family joined his brother, Abner Eads, and other early settlers at Fort

Clark. Rev. Mr. Walker labored among the early settlers in the northern part of Illinois

as a missionary of the Methodist church. The Methodist people are noted the world

over for their zeal and energy in the prosecution of religious work. Wherever mankind
has gone, the Methodists have gone— first, as missionaries to spy out the land ; next as
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circuit riders, with bible and hymn book, and an energy, industry, perseverance and
faith that never "gave up," singing their songs of praise, shouting choruses of glory to

the Great Head of the church, and bidding defiance to the arch enemy and tempter of

mankind, they not only followed close on the heels of the pioneers to every part of the
" Great West," but have gone wherever humanity has existed that it was possible to

reach— to the islands of the sea.

" From Greenland's icy mountains
To India's coral strand,"

wherever the Master's work was to be done, there have the truths of this branch of the

Christian church been carried. And so came Rev. Mr. Walker to the " flowery plains
"

around Fort Clark at the date mentioned.
The cabin of William Eads (it is thought) was improvised as a meeting house.

There were probably not more than a dozen people present, and they were there with-

out regard to fashion or display. Some of them walked from their own cabins to the

place of meeting, some rode there in ox wagons, and a few, perhaps, on horseback. The
preacher occupied a place behind a common table in one corner of the room. There was
neither organ nor organized choir to add social melody to the occasion. The preacher

gave out the hymn two lines at a time, something after the following manner

:

Before Jehovah's awful Throne,
Ye nations bow with sacred joy

;

then raising his voice the preacher led in singing. When these two lines were rendered,

he lined the next two :

Know that the Lord is God alone,

He can create and He destroy;

and resuming the last measure of the tune, completed the stanza, and so on to the end
of the hymn.

At this meeting the seeds of Methodism were planted in Peoria, and the planting,

carefully and industriously cultivated, has ripened into the fullness of a plentiful harvest.

The First Methodist Episcopal Church.— In 182-1, Rev. Mr. Walker commenced to

organize a circuit, which embraced all the white settlements north of the Sangamon
river. In that year he organized the first class in Peoria, which consisted of the following

named persons : William Early and wife, Rev. Reeves McCormick, James Walker and
wife, Susanna Walker (wife of Jesse Walker), Mr. William Eads and wife, Mrs. Abner
Eads, William Holland and wife, Mrs. Judge Latham, Mrs. John Dixon, Mrs. Hamlin,
William Blanohard and Mary Clark.

The most fruitful source of conversions to the faith, even in that early day, was the

camp meeting. The first one held in the vicinity of Peoria was in the Summer of 1826.

The ground selected was about one mile above the Court-house. The second was held
on the banks of Farm creek, opposite Peoria. One of the distinguished visitors at that

meeting was the Governor of the State, Ninian Edwards. Rev. Jesse Walker was suc-

ceeded by William See, the first class leader in the Chicago circuit.

In the year 1827, Smith L. Robinson preached the Word, as circuit rider. We find

the name of no other circuit rider until 1830, when the name of Rev. S. R. Beggs ap-

pears, who remained one year. At that time it required four weeks time
and three hundred miles travel to make the rounds of the circuit. Mr.
Beggs was succeeded in 1831 by Rev. William Crissay; in 1832 by Rev.
Zadoc Hall, who is still living. Rev. Joel Arlington was the circuit rider in 1833. In

1834, Rev. Leander S. Walker. In 1836, Rev. J. W. Dunahay. W. C. Gumming rode
the circuit for two years (now living in Kansas), '35, '37. In 1837, Rev. A. E. Phelps,
then quite a young man, was appointed to the work. During his time a spirited religious

controversy sprang up between hina and a Unitarian minister named Calhoun.
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On account of his youth the Methodist people feared the result, but Mr. Phelps bravely
and successfully maintained his ground in that and many subsequent contests of like

character.

In 1839 Rev. S. R. Beggs was returned. This veteran Methodist preacher is still

spared from the hand of death, and is now living at Plainfield, in Will county. The
history of the Methodist church in Peoria really commences from this year. Previous
to this time no steps had been taken to build a church edifice. In 1840 Asahel Hale and
Mark M. Aiken donated a lot for church purposes. Then through the energy of Mr.
Beggs, the minister, and the good-will of the people, a house of worship, 31x46 feet, was
erected. The cash used in its erection amounted to $70 only. An invitation was ex-
tended from the pulpit to all who were willing and could use an auger or a chisel to be
ou hand the following Monday morning to lend a helping hand. The response was lib-

eral. Nearly all the timber was donated, and most of the work was done gratuitously.

Between 1840 and 1847 the growth of the town and of Methodism was so great that

this church edifice became too small to accommodate the pressure, and steps were taken
to build a larger and more commodious one, which resulted in the present First Method-
ist church building. It was completed in 1849, and must have been a gigantic undertaking
for that day, for it still stands one of the largest and most commodious church edifices in

the city. The original cost of construction was about |6,000.

About the year 1841 Bishop Waugh visited Peoria and preached in the then new
church, but he wrote a letter to the New York Christian Advocate that the Methodists
had built a church half a mile out of town.

To return to Methodist preachers : From 1841 to 1843, Rev. N. Cunningham officiated.

Then came, from 1843 to 1844, Rev. Chauncy Hobart, than whom there never was a more
tireless, energetic, persevering pioneer Methodist circuit rider. Hobart was one of twin
brothers, both of whom were Methodist preachers, and members of the old Rock River con-

ference, and commenced preaching about 1832, '33. Soon after the Black Hawk purchase
in Iowa was opened to white settlement. Rev. Chauncy Hobart was sent over there as a

missionary laborer among the settlers, and labored from one end of the Black Hawk
purchase to the other. He planned the first Methodist circuits of the eastern portion of

Iowa, and remained in that territoi;y until about 1839 or 1840, when he was returned to

Illinois, and as already stated, was assigned to Peoria in 1843 and 1844. When Minne-
sota began to be settled and called for preachers, the old pioneer was transferred to that

field, where he still remains, and is a resident of Red Wing, in Goodhue county, in that

State. A part of the time during the War of the rebellion he was chaplain to a Minne-
sota regiment. In 1878 he was chosen chaplain of the Minnesota House of Representa-
tives. The infirmities of old age incapacitated him for active circuit work, and he is

held in reserve for urgent calls, to which he is ever ready to respond. Although his

head is whitened with the frosts of many winters, and nearly half a century constant
work in the Methodist harness, his heart is as full of zeal as when he first commenced as

a missionary laborer in the Master's vineyard.

From 1844 to 1845, Richard Haney was pastor.

For two years, from 1845 to 1847, Rev. John Chandler.

In 1847 Freeborn Haney was appointed but was rejected, and F. A. McNeill received

the appointment.
From 1848 to 1849, Rev. N. P. Heath was in charge.

For two years, from 1849 to 1851, Rev. S. Boles was the pastor.

In 1851, a man by the name of Parks was appointed, but for some reason he did not
remain through that year.

Rev. C. C. Best was appointed to fiU out Park's unexpired term. He remained until

1853.
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The next in the order of succession was J. W. Flowers, who took charge in 1853 and
remained until 1855.

Caleb Foster preached from 1855 to 1856.

For two years, from 1856 to 1858, Rev. W. H. Hunter had charge of the church.

Mr. Hunter has grown old in the service. He is tall, erect, and very commanding in

appearance, and is a power in the church. He is an elder and resides in Peoria.

From 1858 to 1860, J. C. Rowley served as pastor. For some reason not noted in the

minutes from which our information is drawn, he fell under a cloud and has been

6XT)6ll6Q.

From 1860 to 1862, Rev. S. G. J. Worthington.
Rev. J. S. Cummings was next in order, and served two years, until 1864.

Then came Mr, Richard Henry for a second time after a lapse of twenty years. He
served until 1865.

Mr. C. C. Knowlton was appointed in 1865 and reappointed for the next year. Be-

fore the expiration of the second year, however, he resigned.

In 1867 Rev. A. Magee was appointed who continued in the position until 1869.

At the Conference in 1869 Rev. J. P. Brooks was assigned to the place and continued

in it one year.

After an absence of eight years Rev. J. S. Cumming was returned to the First

Church in 1870 and continued there three years, the longest time that any one minister

had, up to that time, preached to that church.

In 1873 Rev. E. Wasmuth was assigned to this church and continued in the work
there for two years.

The next was Rev. A. R. Morgan, who took charge in 1875, and continued as pastor

three years, the full length of time allowable by Methodist law.

The present pastor is Rev. Selah W. Brown, who was first appointed in 1878, and at

the last meeting of the Conference in 1879, was sent back for another year.

In membership the church has increased from the eight who entered at the start to

250, besides the numerous other churches in the city and vicinity, whose numbers in

former years were wont to attend services at the First church.

A Sunday school was organized in connection . with the church in 1835, but the

movement, for some reason, had about died out, when, November 22, 1837, it was re-

organized, with Daniel Bristol as superintendent. The number of members in the

Sabbath school in 1869 is 326 and Mr. Homer C. Lines is superintendent. Miss Jessie

S. Benton is secretary.

The Revs. Beggs, Chauncy Hobart and Zadoc Hall are, perhaps, the only ones of

the old time Methodist preachers at Peoria, whom we have thus far named, who are left.

The rest have gone
" Where the saints of all ages in harmony meet p

Their Savior and brethren transported to greet

;

While the anthems of rapture unceasingly roll

And the smile of the Lord is the life of the soul."

The Second Methodist Church.—In the year 1856 Rev. M. L. Hayney, with a large

following, went out from the First Methodist Episcopal Church, and organized a separate

church, which was called the Peoria Mission. There were, about the time of the organi-

zation, eighty-five members in the society. The first house of worship was a small frame
structure capable of accommodating about 250 people. It was built on the southwest
corner of Monroe and Eaton Streets. Mr. Hayney was a man full of zeal, arid his powers
of description were wonderful. His pictures of the torments of the damned in hell,

will still be remembered by some Peoria people with fear and trembling. In view of the
demonstrative character of the services at about that time the church was called by some
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the " Howling Methodists," a name which clung to it for many years after the character-
istic that occasioned it had ceased.

When first organized the society was known in the conference as the Peoria Mission.

It was but a short time, however, until the name was changed to the " Second Charge."
In the year 1862, so indifferent for some time previous had been the support given the

minister, that this church was put into a circuit with other weak societies in the vicinity,

and Rev. A. J. Jones was the circuit rider.

At about this time in the history of the church the building was moved from Mon-
roe to Perry Street, at the then head of Eaton Street. For a time then the church was
known as the Perry Street Church.

In the year 1869 the church building was again removed. For a time it was located

on North Jefferson Street, near the Fourth district school-house. During its stay there

it was called in the minutes of conference the " North Jefferson Street Church." Its

stay on Jefferson Street was short, however. Within four years' time it was moved
again to its present site, northeast corner of Madison and Morgan Streets. From the

above brief sketch it will be seen that the Second Church has fairly earned the title of
" The Itinerant Church." It is now known as the Second Methodist Church. A brief

glance at its history from the organization down to the present time shows that it has

retrograded. True it is, the present membership is about the same as at the organization,

yet so greatly has the interest fallen off, that it would be hard for the founders to step in

and realize that the seed they planted years before had brought forth such indifferent

fruit. Every thing then promised the upbuilding of a splendid church. The member-
• ship was uncommonly large, the enthusiasm was great, and for some time the building

was not large enough to hold the crowds that attended. Now there is always room for

more auditors. About the time of the removal of the church to its present site a debt
of $1,000 was contracted. It is not a very large sum, but it has hung like a millstone

about the neck of this weak and struggling society. AlDout half the amount has been
canceled, but the remaining $500 is a serious impediment that continued to interfere

with the welfare of the church and retard its progress.

A Sabbath school was organized soon after the establishment of the church. Its

success has varied with the ups and downs of the church. In 1869 the membership was
164. Mr. A. S. Proctor, quite an active Sunday school worker, is superintendent, and
Mrs. J. W. Jenkins is assistant.

From the time the church was organized down to 1869, the pastors in charge of

this church have been as follows

:

First, Rev. Milton L. Hayney, who effected the organization of the society. As we
have noted before, he had charge in 1856 and 1857.

In 1858, R. N. Morse was the pastor, and he was reappointed and served during
1859.

The next year. Rev. N. C. Lewis had charge.

In 1861, Rev. A. W. Stewart was the pastor in charge.

The next year, 1862, it was thought that the church was too weak to support a min-
ister unaided and alone, so it was put in a circuit, with Rev. A. J. Jones as circuit rider.

In 1864, Rev. Henry Apple was appointed pastor, and continued during that year to

preach, but the next year the church was without a pastor.

Mr. P. A. Crist was appointed and preached in 1866.

During the year 1867, Rev. Henry I. Brown was the pastor.

The next year, 1868, the church was once more without a pastor. No appointment
seems to have been made.

Rev. Henry Apple officiated the second time, during the year 1869. While in his

charge the church building was removed from Perry Street to North Jefferson, near the

Fourth district school. Mr. Apple, who is jolly, genial, goodnatured man, still lives
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within a few miles of Peoria, on a farm. It is not with him a matter of necessity to

preach, but for years he has been a sort of missionary, preaching to congregations almost

too feeble to think of employing a minister.

In 1870, Mr. W. B. Frazell was the pastor.

In 1871 Mr. P. A. Crist was, for the second time, put in charge of the church. This

year the North Jefferson Street and the Colesville churches were constituted a circuit,

over which Mr. Crist was established as pastor.

In the year 1872, Mr. H. M. Laney was appointed to the pastoral care of the church,

and his support was to come from it, while his labors were undivided.

The next two years, 1873 and 1874, Rev. P. A. Cool was the pastor. The church

was about that time removed from Jefferson to Madison Street, and was located where it

now is.

For the years 1875 and 1876, Rev. G. F. Meredith was the pastor. He is a young
man, but is a talented speaker, and did much to sustain the flagging destinies of this

church. During his ministry there was a good attendance at the Sunday services, and
considerable interest was manifested. By the end of his term there had arisen in the

church some differences that his longer continuance in the ofBce of pastor might have
worked to the disadvantage of the church.

In the year 1877, Rev. E. B. England was appointed. He served one year, and was
re-appointed for another. Being a man far above the mediocrity in ability, he succeeded

well in his charge, but the returns were inadequate for his labor. Near the close of his

second year Mr. England resigned the pastorate of the Second Methodist Church, to

accept a call to preach in " Christ Church," Reformed Episcopal, in Peoria.

The Confereifce, at its session in 1879, appointed Rev. Frank Cumming as pastor for

the ensuing year.

Hale Chapel.— Asahel Hale was born December 1, 1791, in the State of Vermont.
In the year 1831 he came to Peoria. The place was then in its infancy. Where the best

part of the city now stands were fields of Indian corn. Little did the inhabitants then

dream that the land they were tilling would some day sell for more per square foot than

it then brought per acre. Soon after coming here Mr. Hale bought of John Hamlin
eighty acres of land extending over the brow of the bluff and about Main Street. He
paid five dollars per acre, which w^s then thought a good price. In the year 1840 he
became a member of the Methodist church. Four years later he donated the lot where
the First Methodist church now stands. In his last will and testament he bequeathed a

lot on the corner of Main and High Streets as a site for a church. He also bequeathed
$12,000 in money to be expended in the construction of the church. Laura Hale, his

widow, and Mr. J. L. Knowlton, were named as executors of the will, and William Giles,

Ira E. Benton and Columbus Dunham, were named as trustees of the fund bequeathed
to the church, to see that the bequests made in the will were carried out. Many of the

details in regard to the building were provided for by the will. June 22, 1868, the cor-

ner-stone was laid. January 14, 1869, the building was dedicated. The dedicatory

sermon was preached by Rev. Dr. Hatfield, of Chicago.

Much of the labor of superintending the construction of the building devolved upon
Mr. Ira E. Benton, who gave much of his time to the matter during the Summer the

building was being erected. In memory of the testator the church is called Hale Chapel.

The site is the most commanding occupied by any public building in the city. From its

position near the brow of the bluff and near the heart of the city, it is a grand central

figure, with its comely outlines, its towering spire surmounted by a large copper ball

gilded and glistening in the sunlight, its town clock, the only one in any Methodist
church in the conference, and its clear-toned bell ringing out the merry tidings, " Come
to Christ." It is built of brick and is forty feet front by seventy feet deep. From the
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ground to the top of the spire is ninety-four feet. The foundation walls are four feet

in thickness, and the whole structure is built in a most substantial manner.
As soon as the building was completed the church was organized with ninety-eight

members. The membership in 1879 is 161.

About two years previous to the building of the church a Sabbath school was or-

ganized with Mr. D. B. Allen as superintendent and Mr. Ira E. Benton secretary and
treasurer. The first few meetings were held in the building on the corner of Elizabeth

and Main Streets. Later the school was removed to the plow shop on Elizabeth Street

south of Main. Upon the completion of the church, the school, with a membership of

about 125, was transferred there. In 1879 the membership numbers 175. Mr. Benja-

min Wookey is the superintendent.

The first pastor was Rev. W. A. Spencer, who was appointed in 1869, and at the

conference in 1870 was re-appointed for another year.

Rev. W. C. Knapp was next sent to Hale Chapel in 1871, and was sent back in 1872
and again in 1873.

The next pastor was Rev. C. C. Knowlton, who served until his successor was ap-

pointed.

Rev. C. W. Ayling was appointed pastor in 1876, and again in 1877.

In 1878 Rev. R. G. Pearce received the appointment and served until his successor,

Rev. Mr. McPheters, the present incumbent, was appointed.

G-erman M. E. Ohurch.—This church was organized in September, 1851, by Rev. H.
F. Koenike, with as small a number of members as sixteen, but the membership increased

so rapidly within the next three years that it was found necessary to build a church. It

was located on the corner of Monson and Fifth Streets ; was built while the Rev. F.

Tigenbaum was pastor, and was dedicated in 1854 ; the dedication sermon being preached
by Rev. G. L. Mulfinger. The first officers of the society were D. Bristol, P. C. Shelly,

J. Buehner, M. Oechsle, and William Vennemann. In 1852 the Sabbath school was
organized with fifteen scholars, and as a result of the faithful and earnest labor bestowed
upon it, shared the prosperity of the church. About twelve years later, in order to meet
the growing wants of the congregation, it became necessary to build a new and larger

church, and accordingly they erected their present edifice on the corner of Adams and
Chestnut Streets, and at the same time bought a parsonage, costing together about f10,-
000. The new church was dedicated in 1867, the Rev. William Nash, D.D., editor of

the G-erman Ohristliohe Apologete, of Cincinnati, O., preaching the dedication sermon.

Since then the membership has steadily increased, and the list number now is 125. The
ministers who have preached from the beginning of this church till now, are the follow-

ing : Rev. H. F. Koenioke, F. Fiegenbaum, J. M. Winkler, R. Fickensher, J. Yung, C.

Hull, H. F. Kcenicke, J. Haas, A. Korfhage, Charles Schneider, Charles Holtkamp,
William Zuppan, H. Thomas, H. Lahrmann, J. Franz, G. Timken, and the present

pastor. Rev. M. Roeder, who came to it in Septerber, 1 879. In addition to the pastor the

officers of the church are, J. Buehner, and A. Voshage, local preachers ; William Venne-
mann, J. Oechsle, and H, B. Wiechmann, class-leaders ; Charles Schneider, H. J. Ehlen,

H. Albrecht, C. Westmeier, J. Oechsle, William Paul, and A. Lapp, trustees and
stewards. The church property is valued at about $12,500, and the annual contributions

for religious and other purposes about fl,050.

The society has within the last few years grown so strong that the project of estab-

lishing a mission in some district of the city, yet to be fixed upon, has now taken definite

shape and donations to the amount of 1700 have been received towards that end. A
young minister. Rev. A. Lemkan, has acted as assistant to the pastor, doing earnest

work and preparing the way for the proposed mission.

The Sunday school is in a flourishing condition and has an attendance of 150

children. Mr. C. Westmeier is the superintendent.

31
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African M. H. Church.— This church was organized in 1846, by Rev. Philip Ward,
of Bloomington, 111., with ten members, comprising the following names : G. Hill, Julia

Mason, Ellen Neal, Mary Winslow, Hannah Gilbert, Julia Wright, Anna Titus, Mrs.

Brown and William Grey, who was a local preacher, class-leader and steward. For some
time meetings were held from house to house, but the congregation increasing rapidly, it

became necessary to secure a place in which all could assemble, so in the same year they

rented for this purpose, the old school-house on Walnut Street, but they soon had to

move from there, and in 1848 they met in what was then known as the Hinmon School-

house, on Monson Street near Fifth ; and which is now used as a residence. In 1850

the little Zion was again deprived of its meeting place, and the members were forced to

return to their primitive meetings in each other's houses, under the leadership of Rev.

Mr. Brooks, who had succeeded the pastor under whom they had organized. This was
then a preaching point on the Bloomington, Peoria, and Galesburg Circuit, and William

Grey was the only class-leader and steward. In 1853, Rev. Wm. J. Davis was appointed

to this charge, and during his administration the society bought a little frame church on
Chestnut Street, which they occupied until 1866. Mr. Davis was very popular with all

classes, and his ministrations were attended with great success. In 1856 the church was
under the supervision of Rev. A. T. Hall, and during his stay it was visited with a great

revival, and many were brought to the knowledge of Christ, among whom were Thos.

A. Cheek, now a minister of the Gospel, and pastor of the African M. E. Church in

Mount Pleasant, Iowa. In 1857, Rev. J. Mitchem was pastor, and in the following year

Rev. Wm. J. Dove ; Mr. Mitchem was re-appointed to the charge in 1859 and 1860.

During 1866 and while Rev. Mr. Myers was pastor, the society bought the German
Methodist Church building, corner of Fifth and Monson Streets, which they still con-

tinue to occupy, and the church received much help from their white brethren, until

they had paid up the contract price of $2,600.

The following gentlemen have been pastors of the church since the acquisition of

their church building : Revs. A. T. Hall, Nathan Mitchem, J. Perkins, James Semis, J.

M. Derrick, H. Brown, M. M. Beckley, and their present pastor, Rev. Geo. H. Hann,
who took charge in September, 1878, and who is much beloved. The church has now
forty-nine members, is self-supporting, absolutely free from debt, and in a generally

prosperous condition. Services are held twice every Sunday with an average attendance

of 200. Their property is valued at about $3,000, and the members contributed last

year for religious and other purposes #850. Mr. Daniel Rayner is supt. of the Sun-
day school, and Mrs. Hann, asst. supt., about forty-five children attend it.

The Reorganized Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints has a small following

in the city. Traveling Elder Hiram C. Bronson in June, 1873, preached a sermon to the

few scattered adherents of this church in Peoria, who shortly afterwards organized a con-

gregation with nine original members. They adhere to the doctrines of the original

Mormon Church as interpreted by Joseph Smith, and hate polygamy and other innova-

tions of the Mormon Church in Utah with a bitter hatred. The officers of the church at

present are John A. Robinson, elder ; J. B. Farr, priest, and R. R. Gaither, deacon.
They rent for church purposes a building on the corner of Elm and South Jefferson

Streets, where they hold service on Sunday, and where their Sunday school meets. The
present membership of the church is twenty-nine, and the average attendance at Sunday
school, fifteen. Since organization thirty-one adults have been received into the church
by baptism.

The First Presbyterian Church.—The society now known as "The First Presby-
terian Church of Peoria," was organized by a committee of the synod of Illinois, October
31, 1840. Prior to this, however, Presbyterianism had a corporate existence here. So
early as December 22, 1834, a religious society was organized under the title— " The
First Presbyterian Church of Peoria." Soon after this came the great debates in the
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denomination, issuing in the division into the " Old School " and " New School" bodies.
Owing to this general cause, and also to others of a different and local character, the his-

tory of Presbyterianism in Peoria, between the years 1834 and 1840, was a rather check-
ered one— there being, during that period, several organizations known as Presbyterian.
Those who are interested in this part of the history, will find the facts in an excellent
paper entitled " The History of the First Presbyterian Church of Peoria, Illinois," writ-

ten by the late Hugh W. Reynolds, Esq., and pulished in the Presbyterian Historical

Almanac for 1864.

At the date above mentioned, October 31, 1840, the organization now known as
" The First Presbyterian Church of Peoria," though at the first named, " The Presby-
terian Church of Peoria," had twenty-four communicant members. The officers were :

Ruling elders, Clark D. Powell, Joseph Batchelder and Henry Schnebly ; deacon, Wil-
liam Weis ; trustees, Robert Campbell, William Weis, James H. Work, Samuel Smith,
John A. McCoy, James Kirkpatrick, Samuel Shepler and George Bernheisel. The Rev.
Isaac Kellar was chosen as stated supply by the new organization, and ministered to the

people continually till October 1, 1847. On the 16th of April, 1848, the Rev. Addison
Coffey, of Coshocton, Ohio, commenced preaching to the congregation as stated supply,

and was instituted pastor on the 26th of October following. Mr. Coffey continued pas-

tor until his death, April 6, 1855. The next pastor was Rev. Robert Johnston, of Get-
tysburg, Pennsylvania, who was installed on the third Sabbath of November, 1856. Mr.
Johnston remained pastor until his death, August 19, 1864. The next pastor was Rev.
J. H. Morrow, of Rockport, New York, who held the position from April, 1865, until his

resignation, August 31, 1870. The Rev. Jonathan Edw-ards, D.D., of Baltimore, was in-

stalled pastor September 27, 1871. His pastorate terminated by resignation, September
23, 1877. The Rev. Jesse C. Bruce, the present pastor, was installed. January 5, 1879.

The building occupied by this congregation as a place of worship, was located on a

part of lot No. 1, block No. 1, on the southwest side of Fulton Street, between Adams
and Jefferson Streets. It was a brick, and was erected in 1842, at a cost of |3,500, and
was forty feet wide by fifty feet long, with a gallery where the choir, and a portion of

the congregation, might be comfortably seated. For that early day, it was not only a

comfortable, but also a very respectable edifice. In the year 1851. the society erected a

new building, on the northwest corner of Main and Madison Streets, at a cost of about
$10,000. Some years afterward the building was remodeled and enlarged at a cost of

$18,000. It is of brick, two stories high, with a belfry. This church reported to the

Presbytery of Peoria, last March, an active membership of 255. The present officers

are : Pastor, Rev. Jesse C. Bruce ; ruling elders, William Weis, J. K. Cooper, Charles

Fisher, N. B. Love, J. C. Kingsbury, David McKinney, S. O. Loughridge ; clerk of ses-

sion, William Weis ; treas. of session, David McKinney ; trustees, Joseph Elder, R. A.
Cutter, Henry P. Ayres, Roswell Bliss, Levi B. Gibson, Wm. C. Henry, P. C. Wheeler,

Jacob Hepperly and J. Eugene Fisher ; treas. of Board of Trustees, J. Eugene Fisher.

The Sabbath school connected with this church was organized in 1842, and its officers at

present are: Supt., David McKinney; asst. supt.. Dr. E.J. Greene; secy, and treas.,

T. Dick Arthur ; librarian, Miss J. S. McKinney ; asst. librarians, Harlie Kingsbury

and Eddie Bartlett. The membership of the school is 270. It is in excellent condition,

and doing a noble work. This congregation gave last year for religious and benevolent

purposes, the sum of $4,908.07.

From a membership of twenty-four at its organization, this church has had a steady

and healthy growth, and is entitled to be called a " Mother of Churches." The Second

Presbyterian Church, now a large and influential congregation, was formed from

the First, twenty-eight members having been dismissed by her for that purpose,

in December, 1853. She also contributed largely to the membership of other churches

— notably to Grace Presbyterian Church, in North Peoria. The total of the member-
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ship of the First Church, from its origin, is 850. Some noted revival seasons have been

experienced by this church. During the pastorate of Mr. Morrow, upwards of one huur
dred members were received, during one season, upon profession of their faith ; and
again, during the pastorate of Dr. Edwards, when upwards of forty more were received.

The Second Presbyterian Church.—After the recovery of Mr. Coffey, pastor of the

First Presbyterian Church, Mr. J. P. Farris, who came to supply the pulpit at that

church, was invited to remain and direct his efforts towards the formation of another

church. This occurred in 1853. Wednesday evening, December 7th, of that year, a

meeting of the presbytery was held in the lecture room of the First Presbyterian church,

pursuant to a regular call. The sermon on the occasion was delivered by Rev. W. T.

Adams, of Washington. At the conclusion of the sermon. Rev. W. P. Corson, modera-

tor on the occasion, took the chair, and the following petition was presented by Mr. J. C.

Grier :

" Presbytery of Peoria : The undersigned, desu'ous to have the privilege of

Divine Worship more extended, respectfully petition your venerable body to organize in

the city of Peoria, a Second Presbyterian Church."
This petition was signed by twenty-eight as members of the church and by twenty-

four as members of the congregation. It was ordered that the church be formed in ac-

cordance with the prayer.

The session of the church was constituted by the election of John L. Griswold and
J. C. Grier, ruling elders. The first and only deacons elected were William Stettenius

and George Porter. Both of these parties have long since left the city and transferred

their membership, so that the deaconate is and has long been vacant.

The first trustees were John L. Griswold, N. B. Curtiss, N. I. Rugg, W. A. Herron,

R. A. Smith, William F. Bryan, J. C. Grier, A. G. Curtenius, and John A. McCoy.
For a time after the organization, services were held in Haskell's Hall, a room on

the southwest corner of Main and Madison Streets. In the year 1854, the lot on the

corner of Madison and Jackson Streets was purchased and the contract let for the main
building of the present church. It was completed in June, 1855, with the exception of

the tower and spire. The first sermon was preached in the new building by the pastor,

Sunday, July 1st, and the dedication sermon the Sunday following. October 25, 1858,

Dr. Farris resigned the pastorate on account of failing health. From that time until

June 8, 1859, there was no regular pastor, but at the date last named Rev. Samuel Hib-
ben was elected. He was duly installed, and continued in charge until impaired health

compelled him to resign and seek rest from his labors. His resignation was received the

6th and accepted the 8th of February, 1862. He entered the 4th Illinois Cavalry regi-

ment as chaplain. In change of habits and scenery he hoped to regain his lost vigor, but
disease laid him low, and he was returned to his friends and home in this city to end his

days. He died June 10, 1862, in the twenty-ninth year of his age.

For more than a year from the time of the resignation of Mr. Hibben, the church
remained without a pastor. The pulpit was supplied by different divines until October
14, 1863, when Dr. W. E. McLaren was elected to the pastorate. His installation took

place May 8, 1864, and he continued to preach until April, 1867, although he had re-

signed and his resignation had been accepted in October, 1866. Dr. McLaren has since

joined the Episcopalian church, and has been elected a bishop.

The next pastor of the Second Church was Rev. H. V. D. Nevins, who was first

engaged as stated supply June 10, 1867. In October of the same year he was elected

pastor. His labors extended over a period of five years, at the end of which time he
resigned.

Rev. W. L. Green commenced his services as stated supply February 16, 1878. The
28th day of January following he was elected pastor, but was not insfalled until October

26, 1874. His resignation was tendered and accepted in February, 1875.
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In 1872, an organ was put into the church at an expense of $1,808, and during the
Summer of 1874, a lecture room was added to the church, the spire and tower were put
up, and other improvements were made at a cost of upwards of $7,000.

Rev. Lewis O. Thompson, the present pastor, was called January 5, 1876, and was
duly installed Thursday, May i, 1876,

The Sabbath school connected with the church was organized January 1, 1854, with
ten teachers and thirty-one scholars in attendance. The first officers were : John L.

Griswold, superintendent ; John A. McCoy, assistant ; David W. Heron, secretary and
treasurer ; and R. J. Swancoat, librarian.

The present membership of the church is 180. The elders in 1879 were J. C. Grier,

John A. McCoy, D. McCuUoch and A. H. Rugg. The Board of Trustees for the same
year were : J. D. McClure, chairman, J. M. Rice, R. C. Grier, J. A. Chalmers, E. C.Ely,
D. L. Bigham.

The Sunday school included 225 members, with Mr. A. H. Rugg as superintendent,

and Mr. L. S. Winn as assistant, in 1879.

In connection with the Sabbath school, the ladies of the church have organized an
Industrial school. It was commenced in 1870 and formally organized in 1871. It has
for its objects the supplying of clothing to the destitute children connected with the

Sabbath school and the teaching of the children to make their own garments. A good
work has been accomplished by this school.

In January of 1876 a Mission Band was organized from the scholars of the Sabbath
school. Its meetings are held monthly and its object is to learn by investigation the
needs of the missionary world, to educate the children to take an interest in sending the
gospel to the heathen, and by contributions to help the missionary work. The officers at

its organization were Mrs. R. C. Grier, president ; Miss Maria L. Thrush, Miss Jessie L.

Perry, Edward D. McCuUoch and James Miles, vice presidents ; Miss Annie Walker,
secretary ; Norman Smith, corresponding secretary, and J. G. Hibben, treasurer.

Grace Presbyterian Church.— Grace Presbyterian Church is the outgrowth of a Sun-
day school organized March 1, 1862, in a railroad car, on Water Street, near the foot of

Clay. Mr. D. W. McWilliams, then a resident of Peoria and a prominent railroad man
as well as a Sunday-school worker, was elected superintendent. At first there were
about 20 scholars, but the number increased in a few Sundays so that two cars were re-

quired. At the end of two months, by the aid of the Young Men's Christian Associa-

tion, a building was erected on the corner of Green and Clay Streets. It was a one-story

frame structure, 28x40 feet, and cost $800.
Two years later Mr. H. G. Marquand, of New York, donated $300 for the purpose

of building an addition to be used as an infant class room. In 1866 the main building

was extended and a room was built for the bible class, the whole improvement costing

about $1,200. At this time the membership of the school was 400 pupils and 28
teachers.

December 1, 1866, Mr. McWilliams removed to New York city, and Mr. G. H. Mc-
Ilvaine was elected superintendent. Up to this date nothing but Sunday-school work
had been attempted. The organization was known as the Fourth ward Mission Sunday
school. It was in fact a mission school, for the teachers were from the various Christian

churches in the city. In 1863 evening services were commenced in the Sunday-school

room, conducted by the teachers and officers of the school. In the same year Rev. Mr.
Doane accepted a call to preach in the embryo church. He had officiated but a short

time when he was chosen chaplain of the 47th regiment, and left for the war. He after-

wards died in hospital. The next five years' services were conducted by the officers and
teachers. May 1, 1868, the church was duly organized. There were about twenty
members who joined at the tim,e of prganization. Me^sr^- G,. JI- Mcllvaine and Theodore
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Higbie were elected elders. Rev. George N. Johnston, of Knoxville, was called to

preach, but after a stay of three months declined the call.

In 1870 Rev. L. 0. Littell preached to the church for three months, but for some
reason at the end of that time severed his connection with the church.

The next pastor was Rev. W. D. Thomas, who first took charge as stated supply for

six months. In 1873 he was formally elected pastor. He was never installed nor or-

dained, and finally resigned in February, 1874. An avowed discrepancy between the

doctrines held by him and the tenets held by the Presbyterian Church had something to

do with the failure to ordain this gentleman, and consequently with his resignation.

In the years 1873 and 1874 the present church building, corner of Wayne and Mad-
ison Streets, was constructed. To this end Mr. McWilliams donated $3,000 ; Mr. Mcll-

vaine donated the lot. The building is a very neat and commodious structure, built of

wood. Besides the auditorium, there is a large Sunday-school room in the rear. The
Sunday-school room is part of the old Clay Street church. There is an organ in the au-

ditorium, and a good portion of the seats are raised. The cost of this improvement was
about $10,000. After the society commenced worship in the new house, as it was no
longer in the Fourth ward, it was decided to change the name to Grace Mission Church.

In the year 1875, Rev. W. W. Faris accepted a call to preach, and continued pastor

of the church for two years, when he resigned to accept a call to go to Clinton, Illinois.

October 1, 1877, Rev. H. S. Beavis, the present incumbent, was called. Soon after his

coming, as it was thought inappropriate to call a church that was self-sustaining a " Mis-

sion," that portion of the name was dropped, and the church is now called " Grace Pres-

byterian." There are at the present writing one hundred and fifty members in the

church. Messrs. T. Higbie, George M. Bush, J. C. Lindsay, C. C. Lines and G. H. Mc-
Ilvaine are the elders.

In the struggles of Grace church, from its humble beginning in a railroad car to the
present, its faithful friends and constant supporters have been the present elders. Of
these, Mr. Mcllvaine being most gifted in speech, often preached during the early days
when the church was without a pastor. So successful were his efforts in this direction,

that many preferred to have him rather than to employ a regular minister. The support
of these men has not consisted in words alone. It has taken a more substantial form, as

the result will indicate.

Calvary Mission Church QPresbyterian).— At a meeting of the Board of Trustees
of the Second Presbyterian Church, in the year 1861, the matter of organizing a Mission
Sabbath school was discussed, and Wm. Reynolds the present superintendent, and T.
G. MeCuUoch, now living at Kankakee, 111., agreed that they would endeavor to secure
some suitable room, in which to organize a school. They secured a room in the second
story of a building on Washington Street, between Walnut and Bridge Streets, and gave
notice in the public schools and through the papers, that a Sunday school would be
organized there, the next Sabbath. When that day came, the two gentlemen who had
the matter in charge, repaired to the room with the expectation of seeing it crowded with
children, but judge of their astonishment and disappointment, when they entered the
hall, and found but seven children, and twelve teachers. To this humble beginning the
Calvary Mission Church of to-day, owes its origin. Undiscouraged by the evident lack
of interest in their undertaking, the two gentlemen redoubled their efforts to make
known the existence of the school, and were rewarded by seeing thirty-six children in
the hall on the next Sabbath. The attendance continued to increase until the Spring of

1864, when Mr. Reynolds assumed the entire charge of the school, and its place of meet-
ing was changed to Bergan Hall, where they remained for two years. It was then deter-
mined to erect a building for the school, securing a lot on the same block, but on Walnut
Street, instead of Washington, and the superintendent of the school and Mr. John Wil-
son, together united in CTegting a building, 40^70, wi-th. an additional room, 25x35, for
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an infant class, the whole at a cost of $6,000. Through the kindness of Mr. Chas. Bal-
lance, a lease of the ground was given free of expense, for ten years. The house was
soon filled with scholars, the number steadily increasing, until in 1875 during the Winter
months, the school numbered nearly 500 scholars, twenty-seven teachers, and a most
faithful secretary, William Semelroth. The Sunday school being thus prosperous, the
superintendent was moved, to hold lay services in the building every Sabbath evening,
and during the week. God blessed these labors, and it soon became apparent that a
church must be organized in connection with the school. Accordingly the superintend-
ent of the school had begun to look about for one, wlio should become pastor of the
church when organized ; and through friends, he became acquainted with the present
pastor, the Rev. John Weston, then in Chicago, just about completing his studies, in the
" Theological Seminary of the Northwest." This was in 1867 and in April of that year
he commenced his labors. Preaching was continued, with prayer-meetings through the
week, during the months of April, May, and June, and on June 24, 1867, the Calvary
Mission Church was organized by a committee of the Presbytery of Peoria, appointed at

its Spring meeting for that purpose. The committee consisted of Rev. J. H, Morrow,
then of the First Church, Peoria, and Rev. T. Stephenson, then of the church at Farm-
ington, together with Elders Grier and Harvey. It was organized with twenty members,
and has now an active membership of 330. Its growth has far surpassed the expecta-
tions of its most devoted friends, and was such as to make the old building in which it

originated too small. In view of this fact it was determined, early in the year 1876, to

proceed at once to the erection of a new building. Lots were secured, and on the 17th
day of April, 1876, ground was broken on the site where now stands their beautiful and
commodious structure—a monument to God's faithfulness, and an evidence of the devo-
tion, untiring energy and self-denial of the many willing hearts and hands connected
with it. The corner-stone of the new church was laid, with appropriate ceremonies, on
the afternoon of the 24th of June, 1876, on the occasion of the ninth anniversary of the
organization of the society. It was expected that the new building would be finished

by the next Spring ; but it remained unfinished until the Spring of 1879, when, by the
untiring zeal of the Women's Association, the kindness of outside friends, and in many
cases the self-sacrifices of members, and last, but not least, the characteristic unselfish

devotion of Mr. and Mrs. Reynolds, who generously bestowed the silver dollars, given by
their many friends on the occasion of their silver wedding, observed in connection with
the twelfth anniversary of the organization of the church, and being the first assembly
in the new church building, it was dedicated to the service of God on the 29th day of

June, free from debt.

The annual contributions of the church for all religious purposes and causes of

benevolence, including salary of pastor, expense of church, etc., are about §3,000.

The church has so far had but one pastor and the Sabbath school but one superin-

tendent, and they have been signally favored in the choice of both. It is supported

entirely by voluntary contributions, and the seats are uniformly free. The present

officers of the church are Rev. John Weston, pastor ; William Reynolds, Dr. John Gary,

Wm. Schroder, James Hemphill, William Wrigley, and James Waterhouse, elders

;

Elijah Cassell, William Cutter, Isaac Coleman, and Chas. Johnson, deacons ; Chas. T.
Luthy, William Reynolds, Isaac Coleman, J. M. S. White, Thomas Love, and William
Cutter, trustees; James A. Waterhouse, treasurer. The officers of the Sunday school

are, William Reynolds, superintendent ; Elmer D. Love, secretary and treasurer ; Miss
Jennie M. Butler, superintendent of infant class, and Miss Minnie Baum, secretary.

To promote the work of the church there is also in efficient working order three

societies. They are known as—
1. The Yok^ Fejcjlows, % The Women's AggopjATiON. 3. The Mabxs

AND MaBTHAS, ,
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The Yoke Fellows is composed of the young men of the church. The society

was organized in 1875. The name, in a measuro, indicates what was the primary object

of the organization. The members were to go out two by two upon the Sabbath, and
with tracts and papers distributed upon the streets, try to induce persons to attend

church. Since their organization they have taken hold of the Mission Sunday-school
work, and they now conduct four mission schools in the city and vicinity. The schools

are known as—
Hope Mission, William Semelroth, superintendent.
Faith Mission, William Coleman, superintendent.

Pleasant Hill Mission, Donat Miller, superintendent.

Olivet Mission, James A. Waterhouse, superintendent.
This society also takes charge of the street preaching in connection with the church

during the Summer months, and conducts other meetings in connection with their mis-

sion schools.

Women^s Association.— The Women's Association was organized September 17, 1876.

Its object was to devise ways and means to further the erection of a new church building.

During the three years of this organization they have collected, through written and
verbal appeals and church entertainments, the sum of f.5,000. Three thousand of this

amount was given in payment for the lots on which the new church stands, and the re-

maining two thousand was appropriated toward the building and furniture of the church.

The Marys and Marthas.— This society is composed of the young lady members of

the congregation, and was organized in April, 1877. It has for its motto, " For Christ's

Sake." The objects of the society are to advance the kingdom of Christ in connection
with Calvary Mission Church ; to develop Christian activities and the spiritual growth
of its members, and to facilitate the works of benevolence and love toward each other
and the members of the church. It has two standing committees appointed annually and
known as the Committee on Sociability and the.Committee on Missionary Visitation. The
care of the sick of the society is also attended to by a committee of two appointed
weekly.

The New Church.— The first sermons of the New Church— commonly called Sweden-
borgain, for the reason that the doctrines and philosophy by which it is governed, were
disclosed from the Word by Emanuel Swedenborg— preached in Peoria, were by the

Rev. Dr. Belding, in the Fall of 1841. The next were by the Rev. T. O. Prescott, in

December, 1842, and in the following month Rev. George Field delivered a course of six

lectures in the court-house, on the first ten chapters of Genesis, and five lectures on the

doctrines of the New Church. These were the introduction of the New Church to this

city.

The Peoria society of the New Church was first formed as a corporate body, for the

purpose of legally holding property, in the Winter or Spring of 1846, with C. P. King,
E. N. Powell, and Hervey Lightner, as trustees. At that time there was no place suitable

for holding meetings to be had, they therefore erected a house of worship on Jefferson

Street, near the corner of Hamilton. On the 3d of January, 1847, a church was organized
consisting of fourteen members, and was formally instituted by Rev. Dr. Hibbard, now of

Detroit, Mich., who then became its pastor, with John Hamlin, Hervey Lightner, and
Dr. E. Dickerson, as executive committee. Since then the following gentlemen have
served the society as pastors : Revs. N. C. Burnham, Thomas Storry, Jabez Fox, G. H.
Marston, A. J. Bartells, G. F. Stearns, G. N. Smith, C. Hardon, and again the Rev. Dr.
Hibbard. They continued to meet in their church on Jefferson Street till 1855, when
their present edifice was'built. It is located on Hamilton Street, between Jefferson and
Madison Streets, and is a plain brick structure capped with stone, capable of seating 150
people. The cost, including lot, wg,s 15,000. The present membership is sixty, but
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little more than half of whom reside in the city. The society has no pastor at the
present time. The officers are, W. M. Dodge, president; H. Smith, secretary; H. Light-
ner, C. P. King, H. M. Van Buskirk, and A. Fitton, trustees.

Societies in their growth, like individuals, have various vicissitudes to pass through
;

some prosperous, some adverse, and this society is no exception to the rule. For the last

few years the removals and deaths have been about the same as the accessions; but the

growth of the New Church itself is not to be estimated by the small number who meet
in this or that place for instruction and encouragement in the performance of their

Christian duties. These meeting places, like the ganglions in the nervous system of the

human body, are but centers from which the living principles of the church are dis-

tributed to all around them. Hence the general tendency of the sincere, rational, earnest,

religious thought of the day, is in the direction of the doctrines of the New Church, and
towards the cultivation of the spirit which animates them.

The only original members of the society in Peoria now living, are Mrs. Catharine J.

Dickinson, relict of Dr. Dickinson, Charles Kettelle, and Hervey Lightner. The amount
contributed by the members for various religious and benevolent purposes, is $2,500 per
annum.

First Universalist Bradley Memorial Church.—This church was organized in the year
1843. Its first members were Messrs. Orin Hamlin, Dennis Blakely, Aaron Oakford,
Moses M. Webb, J. P. Dennis, John King, Caleb Whitmore, Norman Howe and wife,

and some others. Mr. and Mrs. Howe are the only persons now resident in the city who
assisted in the organization. At that time there was a large and flourishing Sunday
school, possessing a library of over 200 volumes. The Rev. F. J. Briggs was the first

settled pastor, and the society held its meetings in the old court-house, and subsequently
owned an edifice on Fulton Street, which was afterwards used as a Jewish Synagogue.
Some years afterwards the congregation bought what is now the First Baptist church,
then a Unitarian church, and owned by Mr. Jacob Underbill.

In the early part of 1866, a meeting was held to consider the propriety of erecting a
new church building, and the idea found such favor with the members that $12,000 was
subscribed for that purpose, on the spot. The erection of the church was forthwith be-

gun, and was completed in the following year, at a total cost of $65,000, including furni-

ture. During the process of erection, the church lost by death one of its most prominent
members, Mr. Tobias S. Bradley, who was for many years a resident of the city, and who
set no bounds to his liberality where this church was concerned. Shortly after

the completion of the church, when a special effort was made to clear off its

indebtedness, the society, in consideration of the fact that nearly one -half the

cost thereof had been subscribed by Mr. Bradley and by his widow, Mrs. Lydia
Bradley, after his decease, resolved to perpetuate the memory of his great gen-

erosity by naming their new building The Bradley Memorial Church. The regularly

settled pastors were Revs. F. J. Briggs, Linell, Wm. Rounsville, D. M. Read, R. H.
Pullman, H. B. Smith, James M. Bailey, and S. A. Gardner. The latter gentleman sev-

ered his connection with the church January 1, 1880. The present Board of Trustees

consists of the following ladies and gentlemen : Mrs. Lydia Bradley, Mrs. A. J. Hodges,
Mrs. John H. Francis, Messrs. S. S. Tripp, C. H. Hitchcock, A. W. Martin, Geo. A. Wil-
son, and Prof. S. K. White. The church is entirely free from debt, and is strong and
hopeful, having in its membership quite a large number of the best citizens of Peoria.

Miss Mary E. Culver is the present superintendent of the Sunday school, which,

under her devoted labors, is in a most flourishing condition, with a membership of 200
scholars.

The ladies of this society have been very prominent in their works of practical char-

ity, and in their untiring efforts to raise money for congregational and other purposes.

To them belongs the credit of originating the Women's Christian Home Missioit of P^o-
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ria ; they own the handsome organ in their church, worth $3,000 ; and during the last

year they have raised the sum of |500 by various entertainments.

Peoria County Bible Society.—This society was organized March 1, 1844, at a meet-

ing held for the purpose in the Methodist Episcopal Church, and has for its object the

promoting the circulation of the Holy Scriptures without note or comment, more especially

in Peoria county. Its first officers were : President, Samuel Lowry ; vice-president,

Geo. Wilkenson ; secretary, Jesse L. Knowlton ; treasurer, Wm. A. Herron ; executive

committee, M. Pettingill, Whitney Smith, "William Hall, S. D. W. Drown, and J. McClay
Smith. Since the date mentioned it has had an active existence, and has disseminated

thousands of copies of the Scriptures in Peoria county, besides contributing largely

towards the funds of the parent society in New York. Of late years its annual income

has been about f1,000, one-half of which is devoted to the needs of the county, and the

other half sent to New York. The depot of the society is at 309 Main Street, and the

stock of Bibles and Testaments kept in it, and in various minor depositories in the county,

seldom falls below 1,000 copies. The present officers are : President, John C. Grier
;

vice-presidents, pastors of all co-operating churches in the city ; secretary and treasurer,

Benjamin Foster ; directors, J. H. Bunn, H. P. Ayres, Wm. Reynolds, A. G. Tyng, G.

H. Mcllvaine, and D. McCuUoch. The annual meetings are generally held on first Sun-
day in April.

The Young MevUs Christian Association.—A score of young men of Peoria, who are

fired with Christian zeal and active in Christian work, after holding prayer-meetings for

a time at various private residences in the city, felt impressed with the urgent need of a

more systematic and thorough concert of action, and decided to make an effort to organ-

ize a Young Men's Christian Association. After holding several preliminary meetings,

at which numerous discouragements presented themselves, the organization was effected

in September, 1879, officers were elected, and a constitution and by-laws adopted.

The declared purpose of the organization is for the improvement of the spiritual, mental
and social condition of young men. The membership is divided into four classes, Active,

Associate, Life, and Honorary members. Any man who"is a member in good standing of

any evangelical church may become an active member by the payment of two dollars,

and continue therein by paying a like sum, in advance, annually. Any man of good
moral character may become an associate member by paying the same amount. The
payment of twenty dollars constitutes a person a life member, when possessing the requi-

site character necessary to active membership. Honorary members are subject to the

the same qualifications and restrictions as life members.
The active members compose the following committees : devotional, membership,

visitation and missionary, sick, finance, churches, room, library and printing, lecture,

and entertainment, and employ and boarding house. The legitimate work of the

Association is divided up among these committees, so that each one is personally respon-

sible for the work of his committee. Both classes of members have the following privi-

leges : Free use of the library and reading rooms, the " Bulletin," and admission to clas-

ses, lectures, musical and literary entertainments, etc., in the member's course. The
present membership, January 19, 1880, numbers one hundred, and is rapidly increasing

each week. The officers and directors are as follows : M. Kingman, president; Theo.
Higbie, vice-president ; Thomas Petherbridge, treasurer ; William N. Fisher, correspond-
ing and general secretary ; A. S. O , assistant secretary ; J. W. HanSel, Jr., re-

cording secretary ; William Reynolds, George M. Bush, Norris Pitt, Dr. H. N. Baldwin,
J. E. F. Fisher and W. O. Maxwell, directors.

The Association has very comfortable and cosy quarters at No. 102 South Adams
Street, and its rooms are well supplied with papers and periodicals and the nucleus of a

library of some five hundred volumes, to which additions are being rapidly made by gen-
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erous friends. SufiBcient contributions are already guaranteed to make the society self-

sustaining.

The Association publishes The Weekly Bulletin, a neat little sheet of four pages, de-
voted to the interests of the organization and to the promulgation of Christian work. The
Association supports twenty-one meetings a week. The rapid growth and prospects for

future usefulness exceed the most sanguine expectations.

Railroad Christian Association was organized in December, 1878, by a number of

gentleman prominently connected with railroad interests in Indianapolis, Peoria, and ad-
joining cities, with the design of furnishing one or two comfortable, attractive, well
warmed and lighted rooms, in which railroad men might spend their evenings. Their
first rooms were at No. 619 South Adams Street, but they have recently moved to

more commodious and better located quarters at the Olivet Mission building, (formerly
Calvary Mission), on "Walnut Street. The rooms are comfortably fitted up, and sup-

plied with newspapers, checkers, chess, dominoes, and stationery, which is absolutely

free to all railroad men, irrespective of creed, and whether members of the Association

or not. The membership of the Association is growing rapidly, and the rooms fill a
recognized want among the many railroad men who are transiently in the city. The
of&cers for 1880 are : President, Theodore Higbie ; vice-president, N. B. Love ; secre-

tary and treasurer, R. E. Reynolds.

Women's Christian Some Mission.— This most praiseworthy and practical charity

was incorporated under the laws of the State of Illinois, February 16, 1876. Under the

name of the " Christian Some Mission, " it had been organized by the ladies of the First

Universalist Church more than ten years before, and had accomplished much good in the

way of timely, unostentatious assistance to the needy poor of the city, and in teaching

hundreds of girls to make and mend their clothes. For some years previous to the incor-

poration, similar societies had sprung into existence in connection with other religious

denominations, and in order to prevent the clashing which naturally resulted from the

independent action of each society, to economise the labor necessary in systematically

visiting and and searching out the deserving poor, too modest to apply for aid though in

dire distress, and above all to attain, by the operation of a system in their relief work, the

thoroughness in their manner of dealing with applicants, and consequent freedom from
imposition, that one united society would have, over the variously directed efforts of

several independent ones, it was resolved to unite all these charitable bodies of lady-

workers, into one grand non-sectarian society.

^

When the union had been effected, the ladies found themselves face to face with one
of the great problems of the age— how to help the needy without pauperising them—
how to render them the truest of all helps, not by bearing their burden for them, but by
encouraging them to exert their full strength, that they may bear it themselves. To beget

independence, especially in the minds of the young, by giving them the necessary train-

ing to qualify them to become useful and self-sustaining in the battle of life, on which
they are about to enter, and to afford a refuge in the hour of extreme distress and desti-

tution, where weary bodies with yet more weary souls, might find a resting place, and
where they might obtain a welcome draught of human sympathy for their broken hopes

and fruitless struggles, ere they returned once more refreshed and enheartened, to fight

their battles in the world.
The mission has three separate channels, through which it endeavors to reach those

deserving help, viz. : The Relief of the sick and destitute, the Industrial School, and the

Home for the Friendless.

The Belief of the Sick and Destitute.— This is effected by systematic visiting of

regularly appointed committees. The entire city is divided into districts, and zealous,

competent visitors appointed, who thoroughly investigate each case before giving alms,

and give relief without reference to religious opinion. These visitors register the names



484 -HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

of all applicants, and present them at each monthly meeting ; thus all become familiar with
them, chronic beggars are soon known, and imposition can not long be practiced. Besides

the material relief afforded, there is a vast amount of good done which can not be fully-

estimated ; the encouragement and solace given to the desponding ; delicacies provided

for the sick ; employment found for the able-bodied adult ; instruction given to children

;

young girls removed from temptation and assisted in honorable self-support. The extent

of their labors in this direction, may be gathered from the following figures, covering the

last four years. Number of families visited 553. Number of persons in families 2,097.

Number of visits made 943.

Industrial School.— This branch of the Mission work was inaugurated in 1866, un-

der the care of the ladies of the First Universalist Church, prominent among whom in

their efforts in its behalf, were the late Mrs. Julia P. Bourland, Mrs. E. D. Hardin and
Mrs. Walter D. Strickler. The school was started in a small room in the residence of

the latter lady, with seven children, and was afterwards moved to accommodate the

vastly increased attendance, to the vestry of the Universalist church, where it remained
till the Fall of 1879, when for the purpose of securing better light, it was again removed
to 217 South Adams Street, its present location. Meetings are held every Saturday
afternoon, and the girls are taught cutting, basting, plain sewing, patching, knitting,

darning, etc., by voliinteer lady teachers. Hundreds of girls have attended this school

since it commenced, many of whom have grown into womanhood, and have gone out to

repeat its lessons in homes of their own, or in other spheres of equal usefulness. During
the past three years the number of children instructed was 1,120. Number of garments
made, 1,060. Number of quilts made, 40. In the Spring of 1879, the school enjoyed a

course of lectures on cooking, from Miss Corson, which did something towards introduc-

ing that subject, and showing its value as a science, and the ladies of the Mission hope
to be able ere long, to supplement the instructions given in sewing, by theoretical and
practical cookery and housekeeping.

Some for the Friendless.— In May, 1875, the Home was formally opened on Merri-
man Street, and one year later was removed to 512 Seventh Street, which, through the

liberality of Mrs. Lydia Bradley, they occupied rent free. In the latter part of 1879,
they were enabled to purchase, at a very moderate figure, the Judge Kellogg homestead,
corner Main Street and Flora Avenue, on the bluff, where the Home is now located. It

is under charge of a matron, and only women and children are eligible for admission. It

is designed to assist destitute ones, affording temporary relief as far as practicable, by
giving shelter, food, clothing and such general information, and personal effort, as may
be required in obtaining homes for them, employment for the women, etc., regardless of

nationality, creed or age of the applicant. Destitute and homeless children are here

kept, till suitable openings can be found for them. It is also used as a depot for con-

tributed garments, which are distributed among the destitute, on order from the visitors.

During the last three years the inmates of the Home for longer or shorter periods, have
been ninety in number, and the garments received for distribution and so disposed of,

nearly 900.

The amount expended by the Mission, in carrying on these different branches of

their work during the last four years, is, as shown by their annual reports, nearly $3,500,
and the managers have been too careful to set a practical example in matters of prudence
and thrift before their beneficiaries, to allow it to run into debt, or incur responsibilities

it would be unable to meet, even in their behalf.

The present officers of the Mission are: President,, Mrs. E. D. Hardin; 1st vice

pres., Mrs. A. G. Tyng; 2d vice pres., Mrs. Washington Cockle ; secy., Mrs. H. B. Dox;
asst. secy., Mrs. J. M. Rice ; treas.. Miss Maggie McKinney ; advisory committee, Messrs.
S. H. White, John S. Stevens, Wm. F. Bryan, J. C. Hansell, Dr. G. A. Wilson and Col.

J, D. McClure; Board of Managers, Madames A. J. Hodges, Chas. B. Day, Wm:. F.
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Bryan, Geo. A. Wilson, E. S. Wilcox, E. S. Easton, S. H. White, W. B. Lyon, Alex. G,
Tyng, J. H. Morrow, Robert Grier, and Miss Fannie Mayo ; Industrial School Supt.,

Mrs. E. D. Hardin ; asst. supt., Mrs. G. A. Wilson.

THE SCHOOLS OF PEOBIA— THEIR INCEPTION, PEOGBBSS AND PEESENT CONDITION.

The following sketch of the city schools has been presented by A. P. Bartlett, who
has been more or less connected with them for many years and was sent to Philadelphia

with the centennial volumes of the Peoria County School Work.
Let the soldier be abroad if he will, he can do nothing in this age. There is another

personage less imposing, in the eyes of some, perhaps, insignificant. The schoolmaster is

abroad, and I trust to him, armed with his primer, against the soldier in full military

array.

In 1828, this may have been a new idea to the contemplative Briton, but every
American of to-day could heartily echo Lord Brougham's words. Just in proportion as

the frontier towns of the country become more civilized, so an ardent desire for educa-
tion becomes more prominent. Thus it was with us.

Previous to 1854, these broad prairies were nearly or quite destitute of the fruit

with which they are now so prolific— good, substantial school-houses. The children of

our city were obliged to content themselves with such high-priced, meager educational

advantages as a few private schools could afford, and only as late as 1855 did the citizens

awake to a realizing sense of their great need. At that time, several leading men formed
themselves into a joint stock association, and built what was termed the Peoria Academy,
designed solely for boys and such very few young women as desired classical advantages.
Afterwards, a female school, which had in reality existed for some time, was incorporated.

Thus provisions were made that the young lady mind might be in no more danger of

running to waste than her brother's, though her intellectual diet might be of a milder
description.

These two institutions were well taught and consequently successful so far as they
went ; but there were very great objections to them. Their tendency was too exclusive,

separating the rich from the poor, and moreover, though the rich man's son was well
educated, the child of less fortunate parents roamed the streets, exposed to all the evils

that idleness engendered. It certainly was not a very democratic plan, this of private

schools, and one not entirely consistent with our enlightened American ideas.

The only remedy lay in the common school system, free, or as nearly so as possible.

In February, 1855, the Legislature passed an act creating a " Board of School In-

spectors," the act being entitled, " An Act to amend the charter of the City of Peoria,

and to establish and regulate a system of public schools in said city."

The public generally were quick to see what was for their best interest, and eagerly

stepped forward to lend their aid. Of course, as always, there were those who held back,
grumbling and dissenting until the enterprise was so well grounded that they could not

be involved in its downfall, and until their children might safely reap the fruits of others'

labor. Among the prime movers in the good work were Charles E. Hovey, afterwards

superintendent of the schools and also principal of the high school, and Judge Onslow
Peters, at whose office those interested met and drew up the act of incorporation.

In consideration of the experimental nature of the work here, though well proven
in Boston, Cincinnati, St. Louis, Chicago, and other cities, and also in consideration of

the objections of a part of the townspeople, it was not thought advisable to rely for sup-

port entirely upon taxation of property. The'money was obtained from several sources,

a portion from the State and township fund, but a large amount from a tuition fee of

$2.25 for each pupil, which last was applied mainly to the payment of teachers' salaries.

This might seem an obstacle to the more indigent, but for these the fee was reduced to

11, which certainly seemed within the reach of all.



486 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

Even at this early stage the friends of the public schools were much encouraged,

both by the apparent desire of parents to place their children at school, and on the part

of the latter an eagerness and aptness to learn, most grateful to teachers. At first, the

accommodations were of necessity very poor, there being only four school-houses, and
they almost without exception of most forlorn and unsightly exterior, and of correspond-

ing discomfort within. So, for this reason or some other, out of a population of about
2,000 children of a proper age to attend school, only about 300 did attend, leaving a

fearful balance of youthful idlers and loafers. During the second school year, 1856, such
a strong need of more and better buildings was felt, that the board of inspectors decided
to negotiate for the buildings used as the boys' and girls' academies. At a regular meet-
ing of the stockholders, the proposition of the inspectors was considered, and also the

fact that since the advent of the public schools the want of these private institutions

was no longer felt. So, in consideration of this state of affairs, at the meeting called for

the purpose, the stockholders determined by vote to sell these two buildings to the board
of school inspectors. Both are -still occupied as schools. That in the third district,

once graced only by girlish forms, is stiU in its pristine glory ; that is, there is not much
that is glorious about it. The other, in the second district, has undergone a complete
transformation, so that even its best friends could not recognize in its capacious and
handsome features the haggard lineaments of the old " boys' academy."

Until 1860 the schools were conducted on a sort of compromise system, not entirely

free, but supported from the funds by a small tax and by assessment on each pupil. But
at this time, in consequence of the growing dissatisfaction with this crippled system, the

question of taxation, making the schools virtually free, was passed to vote at the city

election, which resulted in the complete triumph of the free schools. The good effect

became at once apparent, the attendance over the previous years being about 200. The
number in aU the schools was 750.

The following year saw a high school edifice on a most desirable and beautiful site,

in the southwest part of the city. For several years before there had been a high school

organization, but crowded into one of the other buildings, and thus occupying space

needed for lower grades. Now an airy, roomy, exceedingly pleasant apartment was fur-

nished where the higher branches of learning, the languages and sciences might be pur-

sued with satisfaction to both teachers and scholars. At present there is a complete,

successful and highly satisfactory system of graded schools. So successful, indeed, that

almost all private schools have died out for lack of patronage ; and even the people of the

surrounding country have made strenuous efforts to give their children the advantages
of our schools, which they are enabled to do at the cost of a small tuition fee. There are

at present eleven school buildings, containing over 4,000 scholars. This would seem a

matter of congratulation, and so it is. But over it falls a shadow. There are in this

city, between the ages of six and twenty-one years old, almost 9,000 children. Allowing
for perhaps 1,900 at other schools, such as the German, the Catholic and others, what an
appalling aggregate it leaves not attending any sort of school, and growing to manhood
and womanhood without the essential element of manliness and womanliness— a well
balanced, intelligent, educated mind. Is not this simple fact, the thought of so many
children at large without restraint, without culture, a strong argument for compulsory
education ? Employed in these schools are sixty-seven teachers, including one music
teacher. The sum total of their salaries reaches about $35,000.

In connection with the city schools is a County Normal School, situated in a hand-
some, commodious building, on the east bluff. Mr. S. H. White, its principal, is well
known as a most enthusiastic and successful educator. He, with his lady assistants, has in

charge a large number of students, both from the city and country.
These are being practically educated for the express purpose of teaching, and enjoy



HISTORY OP PEORIA COUNTY. 487

constant practice in a training school, and in fact in every thing that may conduce to
future efficiency in their chosen vocation.

Our high school is the capital of our stalwart column of public schools, and worthy
of its exalted position. It has maintained since its foundation a thorough course of study,
embracing the dead languages, as well as some modern, the natural sciences and many
other things, and has graduated in these, in about eighteen years, 135 young men and
women. It has been singularly fortunate in its instructors, a list of highly educated,
cultivated men and women as well as able teachers.

We have only to use our eyes in looking at the results of our schools to attest their

substantial worth. Through them hundreds of children, otherwise unable to obtain a
liberal education, have been prepared, and well prepared, for the professions, the best
and most thorough teaching, and for the highest success in business pursuits. And, as

a number of young men can testify, no better preparation, not even in New England's
renowned fitting schools, can be obtained, for entrance into the highest colleges and uni-

versities of the land. So that, from whatever point of view, from the higher one of mind
culture, or the more solid but eminently practical one of bread and butter winning, there
is but one conclusion reached, that the free public schools of Peoria have worked them-
selves into the hearts and lives of our grateful people.

The annual report of the City Superintendent of Schools for 1879 shows the number
of children between the ages of 6 and 21 years to be 9,060. The total number of pupils
enrolled in the public schools was 4,539; number attending private schools, 1,671 ; leav-

ing 2,850 children devoid of any educational advantages except such as the streets of

the city furnish. The public schools of the city number 20 in all, comprising 1 high, 7

grammar, 10 primary, and 2 evening schools. The school buildings are 11 in number,
containing a total of 64 school rooms proper, and 15 recitation rooms.

The whole.number of teachers employed in these buildings during the year was 74,
of whom 8 were males and 66 females. The average number of pupils per teacher was,
in the high school, 32, the grammar schools, 40 ; and in the primary schools, 53. The
cost per capita for the average attendance for the year was, in the high school, $25.78

;

in the grammar, $13.00, and in the primary department, $6.00. The average cost of all

for the year was $9.65. The entire course of instruction, including the high school, em-
braces 12 school years, and fits the graduate for the arena of active business life or for

entering the freshman class of any of the literary universities of the country. The aim
of the school management is to have the schools attain to a higher grade of excellence

each year, thus keeping this great germinator of intelligence and corner-stone of free

government abreast of the times. Peoria has just reason to be proud of her public

schools.

THE PEBSS OF PEOEIA.

One of the sages of antiquity said, " Let me write the songs of a nation, and I care

not who makes its laws." The modern philosopher could apply the same language with
greater force and pertinency to the newspapers of our time. The newspaper and maga-
zine press of the nineteenth century is the great nursery of free thought and universal

culture. The munificent public schools of this country awaken in the juvenile mind of

the masses a thirst for knowledge which paves the way for the introduction of the news-
paper into every household where the inspiring ray from the school-house has permeated.
Under the supreme law of demand and supply, every village in the land of a few hun-
dred inhabitants must have its mouth-piece— its " organ "—through whose columns
flow in the thoughts and doings of the great outside world, and through which are voiced

the actions and incidents of the neighborhood to its readers. And so broad is the do-

main of the modern journalist, and so multitudinous the topics to be treated in the ac-

eeptible discharge of his duties, that, of necessity, he must be an encyclopedia of general
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information. No subject, however obscure, or profound, is beyond the province of his

pen ; and in the columns of the live newspaper of to-day are to be found articles covering

the whole range of literature, science, art, politics and religion.

The clergyman numbers his auditors by the hundred, the editor of the metropolitan

newspaper his by the ten thousand ; and his daily or weekly sheet finds its way into the

homes and hearts of readers, a large percentum of whom are never melted by the touch-

ing pleadings of the pulpit, nor thrilled by the magnetic eloquence of the rostrum.

Thus, verily, the newspaper is the educator and molder of public opinion in this age

and in this land.

The newspaper press of Peoria has done its share for the public weal ; there having
been from an early day in the city's history vigilant workers in this field ; those who
stood upon the vanguard of society doing picket duty for the protection and guidance of

their army of readers ; and serving as advocates of the best interests of the municipality

and exponents of the best thoughts of the times.

The first newspaper published in Peoria was a weekly, called the Illinois Champion.

It was established by Abram S. Buxton and Henry Wolford, the initiatory number ap-

pearing on the 10th of March, 1834. Mr. Buxton was its editor, and had formerly been
a partner of George D. Prentice, in the Louisville Journal. He was a clear, forcible

writer, and although a staunch Whig, for a time published the Champion as a neutral

paper ; but he soon threw off the cloak of neutrality and boldly avowed and defended the

principles of his party. Mr. Wolford, being a first-class, practical printer, their paper

shortly became one of the most popular and powerful in the State. Mr. Buxton, how-
ever, fell a victim to that insidious destroyer, consumption. The Champion changed
hands, and Mr. Wolford returned to Louisville, Ky. Messrs. Armstrong and Sewalter

became the proprietors, and J. L. Marsh the printer. After conducting it about three

years they sold it to S. H. Davis, who discontinued the Champion and began the publi-

cation of the Peoria Register and Northwestern Crazetteer, the first number of which
appeared on April 7, 1837. It was a neutral paper until the campaign of 1840, when it

became identified with the Whig party. In 1842 the Messrs. Butler purchased the es-

tablishment of Mr. Davis and commenced to publish the Peoria Register, dropping a part

of the former title, as it had become a political paper. It was a zealous advocate for

Henry Clay as a candidate for the presidency in 1844. A year later it went into the

hands of T, J. Pickett, and was published as the Weekly Register. Some time after Mr.
Pickett formed a partnership with H. K. W. Davis, a son of the former publisher, and
they started, in connection with the Register, a daily called the Champion. Their office

was in the second story of a brick building on the corner of Main Street and Printers'

Alley, between Washington and Water Streets. On the 26th of January, 1820, the

Main Street and alley walls of the building fell, and, taking fire, was nearly destroyed
before the flames were extinguished. Two men, William Pickett, the brother of the

proprietor, and James Kirkpatrick, the publisher of the Peoria American, were crushed to

death in the ruins. The former was clerking in the office, and lost his life in an effort to

save the books ; the latter happened to be passing through the alley at the time and was
caught by the falling wall.

The Peoria Democratic Press was established by John S. Zieber, former publisher of

the People's Press, in Princess Ann, Somerset Co., Md., who issued the first number on
the 20th of February, 1840. He continued to publish it until June 1, 1846, when
Thomas Phillips, former publisher of the American Manufacturer, Pittsburg, purchased
it. Three years later he sold it to Hon. Washington Cockle, present postmaster of Peoria,

and he became a partner with his brother in publishing the St. Louis Union. Mr. Cockle
continued to publish the Press until the Fall of 1861. He then sold it to Mr. Enoch P.

Sloan, who conducted it until the Fall of 1856, publishing for the last two years a

weekly, tri-weekly and daily, when he sold out to a Mr. Oornwell. After a brief owner-
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ship he sold it to G. W. Raney, who had started a rival paper named the Peoria Daily
News. In the Winter of 1857-8 Mr. Raney's whole establishment was destroyed by fire.

In the Winter of 1842-3, the Legislature divided the State into seven Congressional
districts, in such a manner as to form but one Whig district— the seventh— in the
State. The Whigs were much chagrined at this piece of political maneuvering. S. De
Witt Drown, then working in the printing oflSce of the Messrs. Butler, conceived the
idea of publishing a campaign sheet, whose purpose would be to burlesque and condemn
the course of the Legislature in the districting proceedure. He issued the first number
of the paper, to which he gave the significant title of The Grerrymander, on the 22d of

March, 1843, and continued it, illustrating the numbers with comic caricatures represent-

ing the shapes of the different Congressional districts, till the following Fall. Mr. Drown
also published, in 1844, the " Peoria Directory," a volume of 124 pages, the first book
ever printed and bound in Peoria.

The Peoria American was started in July, 1845, by James Kirkpatrick, and it was
the first paper in the State to place the name of " Rough and Ready " at the head of its

columns. He conducted it until killed by the falling of the building in January, 1850,
before spoken of in this article. The paper died with its founder.

The Nineteenth Century, a National Reform paper, was started by J. R. Watson and
D. D. Irons, in September, 1848, but after publishing it a few months they sold their

establishment to Mr. Kirkpatrick, and he merged it into the Peoria American.
The Daily Register was the first daily paper published in Peoria. Pickett & Wood-

cock were the publishers. It was born on the 28th of June, 1848, and not being well
sustained it died from lack of nourishment when three months old.

Messrs. Pickett & Davis, elsewhere mentioned in this article, issued the first number
of the Peoria Daily Champion on the 13th of December, 1849, from the office of the

Weekly Register. After their office was destroyed by the falling of the building and fire,

the month following, a few " small pica " types were found in another building used for

a job office, and the Champion was continued in a quarto form, half its former size, by
Mr. Davis, till the 1st of the following May. In the meantime he had arranged to pur-

chase the Peoria Register, Mr. T. J. Pickett having withdrawn from that firm. After
several unsuccessful efforts to resuscitate the Register and Champion, Mr. Davis sold out
the material remaining from the job office to Mr. Pickett, and left the city. Mr. Pickett
purchased a new press and type, and on June 1, 1850, issued the first number of a larger

and better paper than the Register, which he named the Peoria Republican. It had a

much larger subscription and advertising patronage than any former Peoria paper, and
was well sustained as a Whig journal, locally and abi'oad. ^

The Grerman Press of Peoria.—Ever since 1835 the Germans began to settle in

Peoria and vicinity. Most of the early German settlers did not come here directly from
Germany, but after they had resided at other places in the United States, principally at

St. Louis and Cincinnati. After the revolution of 1848 the German emigration in-

creased very rapidly and brought over a very intelligent class and more learned and pro-

fessional men than at any previous time. The abundance of talent seeking employment
created a boom for new German newspapers. The first German newspaper in Peoria

was the Illinois Banner, which was published and edited by Mr. A. Zoby. It was a

small, modest looking weekly paper ; its first issue appeared on the 18th day of February,

1852, and created a sensation in the then small circle of Germans in Peoria. In 1859,

when the Hon. Edward Rummel was the proprietor, the name of the paper was changed
and called Deutsche Zeitung. With the change of the name it also changed its politics

and became an ardent advocate of the Republican party. The Germans then being
without a Democratic organ, caused A. Zoby to establish the daily and weekly DemoJcrat

during the campaign of 1860. He carried on the business until October, 1864, when Mr,
Cremer, the present editor of the paper, took charge of it. The Deutsche Zeitung lived

37
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until the Fall of 1878. It has been owned by Edward Fresenius and Mr. R. Eichen-

berger, the latter selling out to Messrs. B. Cremer & Bros., causing a consolidation of

the two papers, and leaving the Bemokrat alone in the field.

We might mention a few of the German papers and periodicals that have appeared from

time to time and ceased to live, for instance, two lllinoig Banners, VoJ/kshlatt, Westl.

Blcetter, Courier, Sonntagsblatt, and others. A short time ago a new German paper

called the Sun, was published by Messrs. Wolf, Bros. & Wolfram. The Bemokrat has

stood the test for twenty years, and having plenty of readers, a good advertising patron-

age, and sufficient capital to back it, will preserve the history of the Germans of

Peoria and Central Illinois.

The Memento was a monthly publication devoted to the interest of Odd-Fellowship,

and was started by Mr. N. C. Nason in August, 1854. It was first issued in pamphlet

form, but afterwards changed in the last years of its existence to a quarto. It attained

a very fair circulation and was reasonably prosperous, but the onerous and pressing du-

ties of the grand secretaryship of the Order, which position Mr. Nason then held and now
holds, induced him to suspend the publication of the Memento in 1870.

The Illinois Teacher was established in February, 1855, and published the first year

in Bloomington, and at the end of the first volume N. C. Nason took charge of it

and published it till 1873. It was— as its title implies— devoted to educational matters,

and while managed by Mr. N. stood at the head of the educational journals of the West,
both in literary merit and typography. " In 1873 it was transferred to parties in Normal,
Illinois, and was consolidated with the School Master and published as the Illinois School

Master for two years, and was then merged into the Educational Weekly, now published

in Chicago."
The Christian Sentinel was a monthly church periodical, published under the aus-

pices of the denomination of that name, and during the years 1867 and 1858 was printed

in Peoria, by N. C. Nason. It was then removed to Eureka, Illinois, where it had a

brief existence and failed for want of support.

The Peoria Transcript was established as a daily and weekly newspaper by N. C.

Nason, one of the leading job printers of the city, who issued the first number in Novem-
ber, 1855. The Transcript has been, from its inception, a political paper, and since the

birth of the Republican party has been a staunch, able and fearless advocate of its prin-

ciples. Mr. Nason started it as an individual enterprise, with the promise of moral and
material support and assistance of prominent persons and capitalists. After conducting
the paper about two months, and the promised aid not appearing, Mr. Nason thought the

outlook not hopeful, and turned over his infant enterprise to Mr. C. Whittemore, of the

city, then as now, engaged in a gunsmithing and light jobbing business; Mr. Whitte-
more had assumed obligations in behalf of the concern, by the use of his name on paper
for material and the current expenses, to the amount of $4,000, and was compelled to

take the property to save himself, in the early part of 1856. During his ownership he
never took active charge of the establishment, but continued in his regular business. The
paper and office failed to pay expenses, and by the latter part of 1857, Mr. Whittemore,
having exhausted his resources, sold the concern to J. G. Merrill, a farmer living in this

county. Although supposed to be then in easy financial circumstances, Mr. Merrill was
unsuccessful in his newspaper venture, and was forced to sell out. The property passed
into the hands of Mr. N. C. Greer, of the Waukegan Grazette, who published the paper
until 1860, when he disposed of it to Messrs. Enoch Emery and Edward A. Andrews.
After conducting it six years jointly, Mr. Emery purchased his partner's interest and
continued the business alone, until 1869, when a stock company was formed, entitled
" The Peoria Transcript Company," with Mr. Emery remaining at the head of the concern
as president and general manager. This company carried on the publication until Janu-
ary, 1880, when- it was succeeded by a new oi-ganization, with Hon. R. H. Whiting as
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president, R. A. Cutler, treasurer, and James M. Rice, secretary. The present stockholders
are among the wealthiest business men of the city. Under the new arrangement Mr.
Emery resigned the general management and devotes his attention solely to the editorial

department, which is under his charge. Mr. Emery is a vigorous and forcible writer, and
has made the Transcript a consistent and unwavering exponent of Republican principles,

and has placed it in the front rank among the political papers of Illinois.

The establishment occupies three floors of the " Transcript Building," on the corner
of Adams and Fulton Streets ; and, besides the newspaper department, contains an exten-
sive and finely equipped bindery, and perhaps the largest and most complete job office in

the State outside of Chicago.
The National Democrat was established in Peoria as a daily and weekly publication on

September 4, 1865, by W. T. Dowdall. It has not missed an issue since that date, and
is now upon as sound a basis as at any time since its first issue. Its proprietor had for a

number of years been in the newspaper business, first on the reportorial staff of the
Cairo Times and Delta, and later as the successful publisher of the Alton Daily Democrat,
Becoming too ambitions for that locality he sold his paper there and came to Peoria in

search of a wider field. He found the Democratic newspaper business in a bad condition

The Union was established by Geo. W. Raney. It was succeeded by The Mail
which ran but a short time and brought The Star which soon twinkled out and was fol-

lowed by the Post as its successor, nor did it stand long. They all died for want of suf-

ficient support, which as is usual should be attributed to a want of ability in the manage-
ment of the papers.

Mr. Dowdall purchased the materials of the defunct Post and established the Demo-
crat firmly upon the ruins of its predecessors. The result has verified this fact. It has
ever since its first issue been a strong, fearless, and radical advocate of Democratic prin-

ciples second to none in the country. It has never for a moment deserted the party or

its doctrines, and is looked upon as a consistent and safe guide for the pure Jeffersonian

democracy. The daily is an eight column sheet 26 x 40 inches, and is issued every day
except Mondays. The weekly is a thirty-six column paper containing the news of the

week, general, local and political.

Connected with this institution is a job office, bindery, and blank book manufactory
equal to any outside of Chicago.

The Evening Review is also published at the same office and by the same editor

and proprietor. It is a four-page paper, containing seven columns to the page of 24x36
inches, and is non-political, being devoted to the general and local news of the day.

The Review was originally established by Sheldon & Baldwin. It soon became an
incorporated concern, the stock being held by sundry citizens. It became involved in

financial difficulties and was sold by the sheriff on execution. Mr. Thomas Cratty pur-

chased it, and associated with him Mr. Leslie Robinson in its publication. It was then

a paper of the same size as the present Democrat, with daily, weekly and tri-weekly issues.

In January, 1873, in order to get rid of its competition, Col. Dowdall, of the Democrat,

and Mr. Enoch Emery, of the Transcript, bought out Messrs. Cratty & Robinson, intend-

ing to close forever the office and prevent such publication. To their gre^ surprise, the

boys employed on the paper, not liking the idea of being thrown out of employment,

went to another office in the city and put out an ''Evening Review," with the.nowfamous

Bob Burdette at its head as editor. It was a small sheet, but large enough to displease

the proprietors of the Democrat and Transcript. They took legal measures to have it

suppressed, but were unsuccessful. It continued with varied fortune, passing from hand

to hand, without any very satisfactory signs of dying. Col. Dowdall finally concluded

it was bound to live, and that with good management might become profitable. In June,

1873, he took it in out of the cold, since which time it has not missed an issue. He en-

larged its size, and removed it to his own publishing house, and has managed it with the
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same earnestness and business tact and ability which has made the Democrat so success-

ful. Both papers have come to be recognized as among the fixed institutions of Central

Illinois.

The publishing house is at 117 Main Street. The building occupied is 24x90 feet,

with three stories and a basement. The basement is used as the press-room. The first

floor contains the counting room, editorial rooms and job office. The second floor is oc-

cupied by the blank book manufactory and bindery department, and the third story for

composition.

The house in its entirety is one of the most perfect, thorough and well-disciplined in-

stitutions in the West, and reflects great credit upon its founder and proprietor. He has

had no partner, but has alone, by his indomitable will and indefatigable energy and per-

severance, brought his business into its present excellent condition.

Colonel Dowdall is now regarded as one of the most public spirited citizens and best

business men of the place, never neglecting his own business, nor forgetting whatever
pertains to the general and public welfare of the city and county.

The Peoria Sun.— This paper was first issued on March 25, 1871. It was published

then by Elderkin & Bissell, as an advertising paper solely, and was called the Peoria

Advertiser. An edition of 2,500 copies was distributed gratuitously each week on all

railroads leading into Peoria, to passengers in the street cars, and in private houses,

proving a valuable medium through which the business men of this city could advertise

their wares extensively through the State. In the Fall of the same year Mr. Bissell re-

tired from the firm, being succeeded by Mr. Chapman. The firm was then known as

Elderkin & Chapman, who continued together until October 4, 1873, when Mr. Chap-
man retired and was succeeded by Mr. Harry Reynolds. The paper was then doubled in

size, being enlarged from a four-column folio to a four-column quarto, and a subscription

price of f1.50 per year was charged. The list rapidly increased on the subscription plan,

as also did the advertising, and on September 25^ 1875, the paper was again enlarged,

this time to a six-column quarto, which was again nearly doubling its former size— from
22x32 to 30x44.

About this time Mr. Reynolds retired from the firm, and the paper has been pub-
lished by Elderkin & Co. since then. On the 19th of October, 1878, the name was
changed to the Peoria Sun, under which name it is still published. It is edited as a home
and family newspaper, being entirely independent of party control on all political ques-

tions, treating such subjects as it does all others— from its own views of right and wrong,
fairly and without any prejudice against any party or sect, as nearly as may be. On the

19th of January, 1880, R. E. Lauren entered the firm, the name of which was changed
to the " Sun Publishing Company."

The Saturday Evening Call.— The first number of The Saturday Evening Call was
issued April 7, 1877, from rooms in the second story of No. 108 North Adams Street.

The original proprietors of the paper were S. R. Henderson, J. D. Weaver and J. W.
Clifton, all of Terre Haute, Indiana. The style of the firm was, as it is at present, S. R.

Henderson & Co. In the Summer of 1878 the publication office was removed to its

present locati&n, 311 Main Street. In August of the same year Mr. Clifton sold his in-

terest in the paper to Mr. Henderson, who, with the assistance of Mr. Weaver, continues

to run it. The Call was a very notable success from the beginning, and is probably the

most profitable newspaper property in the city. It is read by almost every body who
reads at all, and is universally liked. It is a common remark that no matter what other

paper or papers a Peorian takes, he also takes The Gall. Each issue of the paper con-

tains forty-eight columns of matter. A large number of these columns are devoted to

local and general news, and editorial comments thereon, but all presented in the concis-

est, possible manner. In this respect it is a model. There is never, in any statement
or article, a line wasted or a superfluous word used. From sixteen to twenty columns of
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the paper are given up to stories, poetry, anecdotes, and miscellaneous articles on histori-

cal, scientific and practical subjects. It is pre-eminently a paper for the home circle and
is rapidly establishing itself as a favorite all over the State. In typographical appearance
and in the literary character and quality of its contents, it has no superior in the West.
It is a Peoria institution of which Peorians are justly proud.

The Peoria Journal was started by J. B. Barnes and E. F. Baldwin, who had pub-
lished The El Paso Journal for several years previous. In 1877 they removed the office

to Peoria, where they established the Journal as a weekly. On December 3d of that
year the first number of the daily Journal appeared, which is the present Peoria Journal.
The first week its circulation was 1,700 copies, and it is probably the only instance in

the world of a daily paper not only paying expenses but yielding a handsome profit from
the first number. It has never sunk a farthing, but has paid a fair profit every week
since the first issue. Its circulation grew steadily from the start, and has now reached
over 4,100 daily. The Journal is totally independent in politics and religion. It aims to

be a newspaper, and endeavors to lay before its readers a perfect record of the news of

the day condensed into the smallest space, and its editorials are always pointed and pithy.

The terms are ten cents a week, or twelve and a half cents including the Sunday paper.
It is printed on a double cylinder Hoe press, the only one in the State outside of Chicago,,

and publishes a paper every day in the year, not excepting National holidays.

Messrs. Barnes & Baldwin issued the first number of The Weekly Journal on the 11th
of March, 1880. It is an eight page, forty-eight column paper, neatly executed, and pur-
poses to be an independent family newspaper, giving a readable digest of the news of the

week, with market reports, and is furnished to subscribers at $1.00 per year.

The Pharmaceutical News is a quarterly journal which has just passed the second
number of the second volume, having been established in July, 1878, and is devoted to

chemistry, pharmacy, medicine and surgery. Dr. J. T. Skinner was its editor until his

death, since which time Dr. H. Steele has had editorial charge. It aims to discuss all

subjects pertaining to the interest of the medical profession, in a vigorous, progressive

spirit ; its matter is chiefly original, and composed of contributions from physicians of

marked recognized ability. Prominent local members of the profession contemplate
changing it from a quarterly to a monthly, and enlarging and improving it so as to make
it a representative medical journal of the State.

The Illinois Tradesman and Manufacturer, unlike all the other papers published in

Peoria, is a jobbers', shippers' and manufacturers' journal. Its past career has been a

brilliant one, started as it was with little or no cash capital, and without even the en-

couragement or sanction of the merchants and manufacturers of the city. Its proprietor,

Mr. J. A. Monger, a gentleman of extensive newspaper training and travel, issued the

first number September 18, 1879. During the first six months of its career it attained a

circulation of 5,000 copies weekly. In size the paper is one of the largest west of New
York. It contains in each and every issue eight columns of trade reports and^ price

currents, and in addition it furnishes statistical information relative to the various

branches of trade. It is the largest American weekly journal of commerce published.

It contains also, as specialties, manufacturing and industrial news, and discusses literary

or scientific topics, and is a valuable newspaper for the retailer, wholesaler and manufac-
turer who desires to examine sources of financial and commercial information. Mr. Mon-
ger has placed the paper in the first rank of commercial journalism. The office of the

Illinois Tradesman and Manufacturer is located in the Exchange Block, opposite the

Board of Trade, and is rarely surpassed for elegance or convenience.

HISTORY OP THE TBMPBKANOE CAUSE IN PBOKIA.

The first temperance movement was in 1842. For several months meetings were

held almost nightly in the Coifrt-house, at whicji J-opjal speakgjs and occasionally persons
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from abroad spoke on this then comparatively new subject. Large numbers signed the

pledge, and many hard drinkers were reclaimed and lived and died sober men. A society

was formed, called the " Washingtonian Temperance Society." This society remained
in existence until 1846, when it was merged into a secret organization called the " Sons
of Temperance." This organization has been in existence ever since. It is now sup-

planted by the " Good Templars," a secret temperance organization of the same charac-

ter as the "Sons of Temperance." In 1851 a political movement was inaugurated, having

for its end the passage of a prohibitory law after the plan of what is known as the " Maine
Law." Public opinion was not prepared for such a movement, and consequently it

failed. It is useless to pass a law against any evil unless public opinion is educated to a

point at which they are willing to enforce the law. So in this case, what Maine was
prepared to execute Illinois was not in condition to pass. In 1875, when the women's
crusade was inaugurated in Ohio, and was sweeping over other Middle and Western
States, Peoria felt its effects, and large meetings were held in one of our largest churches.

No permanent effects came from these meetings, unless it was to educate the people to a

higher plane and attract their attention to the evil as it existed in their midst.

In August, 1877, a work was commenced here by Capt. J. C. Bontecau, of Michigan,

which for extent and permanent good has never been equalled in this city in the way of

temperance reform. He came here an entire stranger, but having faith in the righteous-

ness of his cause and confidence in God, he went fearlessly to work, commencing in a

small way, meeting with many discouragements, yet overcoming them one by one. The
interest increased until the whole city was aroused on the subject as it never had been
before on any moral question. No hall or church would contain the multitude who gath-

ered nightly to hear the cause presented by Mr. Bontecau, and local speakers. Thousands
of all classes signed the pledge. Hundreds of moderate drinkers and intemperate men
have reformed and after two years of trial, most of them stand firmly by their pledge.

A Red Ribbon Club was formed of men, and a White Ribbon Club of women, who
work harmoniously together for the good of the cause. A large hall is rented for their

use. During the Winter season meetings are held almost nightly. During the entire year

Gospel Temperance meetings are held every Sunday night ; a prayer and experience meet-
ing each Tuesday evening, and a regular business meeting every Thursday evening.

The temperance cause in Peoria never was so strong or in such encouraging condition

as at present. Public opinion is being educated to a higher position on the subject, and
the advocates of temperance never were so active as at this time.

MISCiaiLANEOtrS SOCIBTIBS.

Mercantile Library Association— In the year 1855 two public libraries were estab-

lished in the city, the Peoria Library and the Peoria Mercantile Library, which were con-

solidated in November, 1856, under the name and title of the Peoria City Library. The
number of books in the two libraries at the time of the union amounted to less than two
thousand volumes, a considerable number of which were donations, but among these

donations were embraced some of the most rare and valuable books in the Library at the

present time.

In the Spring of 1865, through the aid of our then Representative, the Hon. Alex.
McCoy, a charter was obtained from the Legislature, and the charter name of Peoria
Mercantile Library Association assumed. Under the charter a new constitution was
adopted and a re-organization effected into two departments, a library department and
an exchange department, each department having a separate board of directors and the

two boards united forming one general board.
A subscription was immediately started to raise funds for the purchase of a suitable

property for the Association. The late T. S. Bradley, Esq., headed the list with a gift
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of $1,000 and was most generously followed by public spirited citizens in like liberal pro-

portion, realizing in a few weeks the very handsome sum of $13,262.50.

With the sum so raised the Association purchased of Mr. John L. Griswold, for the

sum of $10,000, the house and lot on the corner of Main and Jefferson Streets— without
doubt the most convenient site in the city— and at once proceeded to iit up the building

for its new uses. In July of 1865, the Library was re-opened in its new quarters.

The Library preserves with grateful recognition among its records the names of all its

benefactors, from its origin in 1855v down to the present time, and it is interesting to read

how large a number of the best citizens have, at various times aided with their counsels

and their gifts in the growth and permanent establishment of the present Mercantile

Library Association. ' But it certainly will not be esteemed invidious to mention here the

name of L. G. Pratt, Esq., as the one to whose excellent judgment and unwearied zeal

the Library is indebted more, perhaps, than to any other one person, for the success of

the effort made in the Spring of 1865.

The exchange department of the Association, originally intended to provide a mer-
chants' exchange and reading-room— a kind of open club room— supplied with the

daily papers and evening dispatches, for the use of the business men of the city, did not
receive the support from the public that had been anticipated, and after a few years,

closed its rooms iu the lower story of the library building.

The old Library building having grown somewhat hoary with age, and not in keep-
ing with the enterprising spirit and growth of the city, and, besides, not perfectly adapted
to the purpose for which it was being used, it was decided to remove it and erect a more
sightly, imposing, and convenient edifice in its place. Accordingly, early in 1878, the

old house was torn away and preparations for building the new block immediately begun
upon the same site— corner of Main and Jefferson Streets. It was completed that season,

at a cost of $30,000, the lot upon which it stands being valued at $20,000.

The Library building is three stories high beside the basement, covers an area of

112x54 feet. Its walls are of brick, with pressed-brick fronts and brown stone trim-

mings, forming a harmonious and beaul^iful combination, rendering the structure one of

the most attractive and imposing in the city. It was planned by W. H. Wilcox, of Chi-
cago. The first story is divided into store rooms, the upper portion is divided into offices

and library rooms, the latter occupying a space of 40x54 feet, with the second and third

stories thrown into one room. The arrangement of the library and reading-room is very
convenient, as well as pleasing.

The property is owned by the Peoria Library Association and the Exchange Associa-

tion. But the intention is, eventually, to have it belong entirely to the Library Associa-

tion, and when the bonded indebtedness, of which there is a limited amount, is paid off,

the rentals will be applied for the benefit of the library. In the meantime it has its

apartment rent free.

The library contains 11,000 volumes, which are catalogued, and classified and ar-

ranged in the following departments

:

Science— Social and Political Sciences:—Theology, philosophy, jurisprudence, poli-

tics, social science, and philology. Natural Sciences and Useful Arts:— Mathematics,
physics, natural history, medicine, useful arts.

Akt:— Fine arts, poetry, prose, fiction, literary miscellany.

HiSTOBT :—Geography and travels, civil history, biography.

Appendix :—Cyclopaedias, periodicals.

The present officers, for the year 1880, are

:

President, Washington Cockle ; vice-president, Roswell Bills ; treasurer, N. N.
Wheeler ; secretary, I. C. Hansell. Directors of Exchange Department, George H. Mc-
Ilvaine, A. P. Bartlett, I. Boyd Smith, Samuel H. Thompson, Charles S. Clarke, I. S.

Starr, Robert C. Grier, Directors of Library Department, E. S. Wilcox, M. Griswold,
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I. C. Hansel, I. Burks, H. B. Rouse, W. A. Beasley. Mrs. S. B. Armstrong is libra-

rian.

Neither the income nor the membership is as large as could be wished. The advan-
tages of access to a large public library are of such a character as to not make themselves

fully felt or appreciated by the masses. Only those who have received considerable

culture, and in whom a taste for reading is already developed, will so prize its bene-

fits as to be willing to spare from the ordinary demands of life the sum of money neces-

sary to meet the annual dues of a subscription library. The directors and friends of the

Peoria Mercantile Library confidently hope, therefore, that in the near future a third and
more permanent re-organization of the library will take place, under the State laws to
" Authorize cities, incorporated towns and townships to establish and maintain Free Pub-
lic libraries and reading rooms," thus enabling the whole populace, as well as the

sojourning stranger, to come to this fountain of knowledge and drink, without money and
without price.

Peoria Law Library Association.— This association was incorporated on January 6,

1879, with a capital stock of $15,000, in shares of $100 each, ChaunceyNye, Leslie Rob-
ison, S. D. Puterbaugh, Thomas Cratty, and Lawrence Harmon, being the incorporators.

The first Board of Directors were Thomas Cratty, Chauncey Nye, James M. Rice, S. D.
Puterbaugh, and Lawrence Harmon.

The object sought in the formation of the association was the economy and conven-
ience of the Bench and Bar.

It is well known to every person conversant with the requirements of the legal pro-

fession that in order to practice in the higher courts successfully, an attorney must have
access to a large range of legal literature, so large, indeed, that if he attempts to purchase
all the law books which have a bearing upon the practice in the courts of Illinois, it

will involve an amount of capital entirely beyond the ability of the lawyer of average
means to invest. The published reports of every State and Territory in the United
States, the reports of England, Scotland, Ireland, and the British Possessions in America,
are all considered essential to a complete law library of a thorough practicing attorney,

inasmuch as all these reports contain records of pleadings and decisions which are liable

to have an important bearing upon cases and decisions that may arise in his practice in

the courts of Illinois. There are about 3,000 of these published reports of the courts of

the United States, and some 1,500 of the English speaking countries of Europe, and
there are not less than 70,000 pages of reports being published annually. In the year

1874 there were twenty volumes published in the countries subject to the British crown,
and eighty-two volumes the same year in this country. These numbers have since con-

siderably increased. These volumes range in price from $1.10 to $10 each. Besides
the reports, the statutes and digests are equally necessary to the legal practitioner. Thus
it will appear that to possess a full equipment of legal lore, such as every first-class

attorney should have at his command, will involve a capital of $30,000 to $50,000. It

was with a view to obviate this immense outlay, and at the same time supply this imper-
ative want, that the Peoria Law Library Association was organized.

Of the $15,000 stock taken, $9,719.25 has been paid in. The original collection of

books consisted of the private libraries of such members of the bar as took stock in the
company. There was thus taken in four thousand volumes. Upon the combination of

these private collections it was found that there were many instances of duplicates, while
numerous vacancies of necessary books existed. The officers of the society set about
selling, exchanging, and purchasing new books, so as to dispose of duplicates, and fill

vacancies, and make the library a complete unity. The collection now contains 3,400
volumes which stand first in the catalogues of books needed by the Bench and Bar. Of
these 2,500 volumes are reports representing every State and Territory in the Union and
the District of Columbia. By ai^ ^rrangeipeut with dealers, the association is enabled
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to place upon their shelves all books of reports and such other law books as are of a
character to be applicable to the practice in the State of Illinois, within thirty days after

their issue from the press.

The value of the property owned by the association, consisting of the library and
fixtures, is $14,000, and there are no claims held against it by any parties outside of the

stockholders.

The northeast basement room in the Court-house is occupied by the library, and is

neatly furnished and arranged.

The present Board of Directors are Thomas Cratty, S. D. Puterbaugh, James M.
Rice, John S. Stevens, and Chauncey Nye.

The officers of the Board consist of: Thomas Cratty, president; S. D. Puterbaugh,
vice-president ; Chauucey Nye, secretary ; James M. Rice, treasurer ; L. C. Pinkney,
librarian.

German Lihrary Association.—This association was organized in 1856, for the pur-

pose of collecting and maintaining a library of books in the German language, for circula-

tion among the readers of that tongue in Peoria. The nucleus of the library was a lot of

about 100 volumes, which originally belonged to the Peoria Leidercranz, and this stock

of books has steadily increased, by judicious selections, purchased from time to time,

until its catalogue now contains about 2,000 volumes. Though this number is compara-
tively small, the library is still a good and comprehensive one, owing to the careful se-

lection of the works composing it. The annual subscription is $3 ; the books are much
sought after, and fill a recognized want in the community. The association was incorpo-

rated under private act in 1861, and in 1876 the charge of the books was turned over to

the German School Association, in whose building they had for some years been kept,

with the proviso that should that association ever dissolve, the books should revert to the
original Library Association. Its affairs are at present managed by the following com-
mittee : Dr. Fred. Brendell, Dr. R. Roskoten, and Carl Gillig. The librarian is Mr.
Christian Zimmerman, who attends the library in the German school on Second Street,

from 7 to 9 o'clock every Wednesday evening.

27ie Peoria Bar Association.— In pursuance of a notice through the newspapers, the
attorneys of the city of Peoria met in the Law Library rooms at the Court-house on the
10th of November, 1879. The object was to consider the advisability of forming a Bar
Association. The meeting was well attended. James M. Rice was made chairman,
and a committee of five was appointed to draft a plan of organization and report at an
adjourned meeting on the 18th following. This committee consisted of James M. Rice,

Thomas Cratty, David McCuUoch, Chauncey Nye and Leslie Robison.

On the 18th of November the committee reported a plan, a constitution was adop-
ted, the association regularly organized, and the following officers elected for the ensuing
year : President, David McCuUoch ; first vice-president, J. K. Cooper ; second vice-pres-

ident, S. D. Puterbaugh ; secretary, Henry C. Fuller ; treasurer, Thomas Cratty.

The objects of the association are expressed in the constitution :
" To cultivate the

science of jurisprudence ; to promote reform in the law ; to facilitate the administration

of justice ; to elevate the standard of integrity, honor and courtesy in the legal profes-

sion ; to encourage a thorough and liberal legal education, and to cherish a spirit of
brotherhood among the members thereof."

There are five standing committees : 1. Executive. 2. On grievances. 3. Admis-
sions. 4. Law Reform. 5. Legal Biography and History.

The meetings are held at the Court-house on the evening of the second Tuesday of

each month. The exercises consist of addresses, debates, discussions of questions of law,
moot courts, etc. The attendance is good and the association prosperous.

Peoria Scientific Association.—This association was organized April 17, 1875. Its

objept, ^s 4eplared in its constitution, is " to increase the knowledge of science among
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its members, and awaken a spirit of scientific investigation among the people." Its reg-

ular meeting is held on the first Thursday evening in each month. By the kindness of

the Board of Supervisors, it occupies rooms in the Court-house. Its work is carried on
through sections. Those at present organized are the Botanical, Entomological and
Microscopical, Geological and Paleontological, Zoological, Archaeological and Historical.

Its museum contains a collection of all the flora of the region of Peoria, and many of

the plants of other sections, comprising over a thousand species ; one hundred and twen-
ty-five of the moUusca of the Illinois river ; several hundred stone axes and other imple-

ments of the Mound Builders, and many specimens illustrative of the zoology, geology and
paleontology of Peoria county. Its collection of coleoptera is probably the finest in the

State.

The herbarium of the society is a donation from Drs. J. T. Stewart and F. Brendel.

Its collection of shells is the gift of Dr. Brendel. Its archaeological specimens have been
collected by Mr. Moon. The geological and zoological cabinets were donated
by Mr. Sydney Pulsifer. The case devoted to entomology is the donation of Miss Emma
Smith. The society is indebted to many friends for other donations to its collection. It

is under special obligations to Miss Smith and Dr. Brendel, who in addition to their other

contributions, have given a very large part of their time to the work of collecting and
classifying its specimens.

The officers of the association are as follows : S. H. White, president ; Dr. J. T.

Stewart, John X. Wilson, J. F. King, vice-presidents ; Mrs. Clara P. Bourland, secre-

tary ; Miss Emma Smith, corresponding secretary ; W. F. Bryan, treasurer ; Dr. F.

Brendel, curator and librarian.

The chairmen of the different sections are : Dr. J. T. Stewart, botanical ; Miss
Emma Smith, entomological and microscopical ; Wm. Gifferd, geological and paleonto-

logical ; Dr. F. Brendel, zoological ; B. L. T. Bourland, archaeological ; E. S. Wilcox,
historical.

The Peoria Ladies Art Society.—This society was organized on the 12th day of

June, 1878, at the office of Mrs. Emery, in the Transcript building, five ladies being pre-

sent at the meeting. The constitution of the society was then adopted, declaring its

fundamental objects to be " to promote Art culture, and to develop a taste for the decor-

ation and adornment of home." Officers were elected, by-laws adopted, and the society

put into full working order by these five ladies. Semi-monthly meetings of the society

have been regularly held since its organization, with constantly increasing interest, and
(it is believed) profit to the members. The membership now amounts to twenty ladies.

Gentlemen may, under certain conditions, become honorary members, and have all the

privileges of regular members, except voting or holding office.

The society's rooms, corner of Madison and Main Streets (Spurck's building, third

floor), are well adapted to the present needs of the society, and are fltted up with the

simplicity and elegance of true Art. Here may already be found quite a number of real

art gems, and the student of art, if desirous, will be freely accorded the privilege to work
or study. The members are all " Students of Art," not in idea only, but in fact, and the

meetings at the rooms are for the purpose of comparing and interchanging the results of

work and study, as well as to attend to matters pertaining to the external affairs of the

organization.

At the present time and for some months past, the subject of study has been the
" History of Art." This will be followed by the special study of architecture, its orders,

styles and history in the different countries and ages— this by' sculpture, and lastly by
painting, with a similar scope of inquiry. So it will be seen that although the society is

small, it has laid out a large field for years of study, in directions which can not fail to be
beneficial in a very high degree to the members, and to the whole community in which
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they dwell. The society is self-sustaining, and incurs no liabilities which are not con-
veniently and promptly met by the regular membership fees and contributions.

At the beginning of 1879 the society resolved to make the trial of a Loan Exhibition

of Art. The appeal to the public was responded to so heartily as to leave no reasonable
doubt that such an exhibition would succeed. It was tried, and the success, both in the
character of the exhibition, the attendance, and financial results, were greater than the
most sanguine member anticipated.

So much for a slight sketch of the organization, objects and progress of this still very
young and small society. It is not supposed that any thing more than a beginning has
yet been made, but the members have " abiding faith."

The annual meeting of the society is held on the first Thursday of June, and the
regular meetings on the first and third Thursdays of each month. The present officers of

the society are president, Mrs. Clara P. Bourland ; vice-presidents, Mrs. Mary Whiteside
Emery and Mrs. Sarah B. Armstrong ; treasurer, Mrs. Mary McClure ; recording secre-

tary. Miss Alice M. Dodge ; corresponding secretary. Miss Jennie S. Stone ; directors,

Mrs. Howard Knowles, Mrs. R. A. Cutter, Mrs. J. T. Skinner, Mrs. Geo. W. Rouse, Miss
Annie Kulder. and Miss Minnie Bills. Non-official members, Mrs. E. D. Hamlin, Mrs.
J. H. Francis, Mrs. John Birks, Mrs. D. Miller, Mrs. L. Griswold, Miss Mary Bestor,

Mrs. White, Mrs. Mary Petherbridge, Miss Emily Smith.
Peoria Gterman School Association.— At a specially convened meeting of some of the

prominent German speaking citizens of Peoria, held March 21, 1862, the idea of founding
this association, for the purpose of maintaining a school or schools for the teaching of the
German language, was broached, and received with such favor, that $600 was at once
subscribed to aid in its execution. The association was formally organized April 11, of

that year, and nine directors elected, viz.— Dr. Brendel, Charles Feinse, Louis Green,
F. Schwab, Adam Lucas, A. L. Matthies, Robert Strehlow, H. N. Peterson, Theo.
Pfeiffer, Valentine Jobst, Otto Treibel, Henry Baider, and John Lutz, with power to

take such steps as they might deem necessary towards the establishment of such a school.

Two days thereafter the directors met and organized by electing Charles Feinse, presi-

dent ; Henry Baier, secretary, and Louis Green, treasurer. At this meeting teachers

were selected, and in the latter part of the same month the school was opened in Bergen's
hall, on South Washington Street. During its first term it was attended by 123 scholars.

It may here be stated that the first German school in Peoria was opened and taught by
Mr. Ruppelius in the year 1850, and in the year following several small schools sprang
into existence. In April 1863 the association bought the lot on Second Street now oc-

cupied by their school, at a cost of $1,160, and shortly afterwards took steps for the
erection of a building upon it. The contract for the same was let to Mr. Joseph Miller,

for $4,698.14, and it cost when finished about $5,000. The corner-stone was laid August
6, 1 863, and the building was opened and dedicated November 16. of the same year, with
appropriate ceremonies, the day being wound up with a grand ball in Parmley's hall,

which netted the association the handsome sum of $416. It is located on Second Street,

between Franklin and Monson, is of brick with stone trimmings ; has four large rooms,
and is capable of accommodating easily about 400 children. When the erection of the
school was determined upon, the association issued stock in $25 shares, to the amount of

$4,000, bearing interest at the rate of 6 per cent, and secured by mortgage on the build-

ing. These shares were eagerly taken, and were retired and paid by lot, whenever the
funds of the association permitted, and in March, 1866, all except five had been thus dis-

posed of. On February 16, 1865, the association was incorporated under a special act of

the • Twenty-fourth General Assemby of the State of Illinois, in the names of Charles
Feinse, Henry Baier, Louis Green, Frederick Brendel, Frederick Schwab, Herman
Peterson, Adam Lucas, Adolph L. Matthies, Theo. Pfeiffer, Val. Gradinger, Ernst
Violand, Frederick Beckman, and Joseph Studer, which act exempted from taxation the
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property of the association to the amount of $100,000. The present attendance at the
school is about seventy-five children, who are instructed by two teachers, one male and
one female. The cost of tuition is very moderate and quite 15 per cent, of the children
are taught gratis.

In 1876 the German Library Association turned over its collection of books in the
German language to this association, which has since continued to superintend their cir-

culation, and care for those not in use in their school building. The present officers of

the association are, president, Valentine Jobst ; secretary, A. L. Schimpff ; treasurer, F.
D. Weinnett.

Q-erman School Association of North Peoria.— This association was organized in June,
1875, by some of the German speaking residents of North Peoria, who recognized the
need of a German school in that division of the city. Its first officers were, president,

Hubert Felrath ; vice-president, Oscar Furst ; secretary, Robert Becker ; treasurer, A. B.
Rossmassler; trustees, Jacob Schneider, Otto Triebel, Rudolph Eichenberger. Immedi-
ately after organization steps were taken to have the association incorporated under
charter from the State, and which incorporation was duly effected. In order to provide
a school-house stock was issued to the amount of $1,000 without interest, and with the
funds thus obtained a school-house was erected at 1028 North Monroe Street, at a total

cost of $1,400, including lot. During the first term there was an average attendance of

fifty-five scholars. In December, 1879, the school building was moved to a lot acquired
by the association at a cost of $700, on the corner of Wayne and North Washington
Streets, where it is pleasantly located. This move was made for the purpose of bringing
the school nearer to the more populous part of the North division of the city, and the
beneficial effect of which is shown by the increased attendance, which, previous to the

removal, had fallen to about thirty-five, but has now risen to upwards of fifty. The
school is only intended for primary education, and to ground the children in the German
language, after which they are sent to the public schools. Many poor children are

educated free of charge. The present officers of the association are, president, Jacob
Schneider ; vice-president. Christian Frache ; secretary, Robert Becker ; treasurer,

William Zuidel ; teacher, Adolph Splitoesser ; trustees, Oscar Furst, Charles Polster, and
Conrad Seipel. Regular meetings are held on first Thursdays in June and December.

Standard Literary and Social Association.—This association was organized for the

purpose of mental culture and social intercourse, by some of the most prominent Hebrew
gentlemen in the city, and was incorporated under charter from the State of Illinois in

March, 1874. The association owns a fine haU on South Adams Street ; where its enter-

tainments are held. These are given principally in the Winter months, and consist of

amateur theatricals, musical, literary, and terpsichorean exercises, to which none are

admitted but members and their friends, The annual business meetings of the society

are held on January 1, in each year, at which the officers and trustees are elected.

Those now in office are, president, Henry UUman ; vice-president, L. Ballenberg ; secre-

tary, L. Loewenthal ; trustees, Samuel Woolner, Joseph Axman, James Loucheir, M.
Salzenstein, J. Schradzki, David Ullman, and Max Newman.

Parish's Business College and Telegraphic Institute.— Mr. A. S. Parish has for the

past four years conducted this enterprise, and has at length, by thoughtful attention to

business and the expenditure of considerable money, brought its system of instruction to

a point of perfection, creditable alike to himself and to the county from which his pupUs
are drawn. The college was established in January, 1865, and has been in steady opera-

tion ever since. It is at present located at 114 and 116 S. Adams Street, and occupies
the entire third floor, which has been arranged especially for its needs and uses. The
assembly room is covered with matting, neat black walnut desks grace the interior, and
here some hundreds of students can be seen at work any day. The curriculum com-
prises a thorough course of double and single entry book-keeping, commercial corre-
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spondence, penmanship, commercial arithmetic, partnership settlements and commercial
law, and in the academic department instruction in the English branches, spelling, arith-

metic, writing, etc. Telegraphing and short hand are also taught, and nothing is wanting
which would tend to make the instruction in the commercial department practical in the
highest degree. From 200 to 250 students pass through the college annually, and about
10 per cent, of them are young ladies.

Peoria Choral Union.— This society, although not the oldest musical association in

Peoria, is undoubtedly the most ambitious, and has done the most towards the elevation

of the musical taste of its residents. It was organized about four years ago by Prof. S.

L. Fish, and its first officers were : President, Dr. N. K. Beasley ; secretary, M. H. Hew-
ett ; treasurer, Chas. H. Kellogg ; conductor, Prof. Fish. Its meetings were at first held
in the parlor of Second Presbyterian church, and for the three past winters in the par-

lors of the Congregational church. The membership is composed almost entirely of

American ladies and gentlemen, and contains much musical talent. Since its organiza-

tion the society has produced at its concerts Mozart's Twelfth Mass, The Creation, Dud-
ley Buck's Forty-sixth Psalm, and in the way of cantatas. The Haymakers, Erl King's
Daughter, Trial by Jury, Queen Esther, and the Doctor of Alcantara. The society is at

present at work upon Elijah, and a careful rendition of that noble oratorio will doubtless

soon be publicly given. The present officers are : President, C. H. Kellogg ; vice presi-

dent, M. H. Hewett ; financial secretary, P. S. Tucker ; recording secretary, Miss Ida
Stowell ; treasurer, Geo. C. Clark ; conductor. Prof. E. H. Plowe ; librarian, H. C.
Plowe. The singing season extends over eight months of the year, and practice meet-
ings are held every Monday evening from September to June. The membership is at

present about 100, the society possesses a fine lot of music, and is in a prosperous condi-

tion, both musically and financially.

Concordia Singing Society.— This society has been in existence for nearly 25 years,

and is composed exclusively of Germans. The music sung is principally German, part

songs and glees, and a concert is generally given every year. The voices are all male.
At the present time the officers of the society are : President, Christian Gentes ; vice

president, Anton Kiefer ; secretary, H. M. Kiefer ; treasurer, Henry Minchhoff ; librarian,

Fridolin Widinger ; musical director, Chas. Rolff.

Harmonie Singing Society has been established about a year, and is composed of

mixed voices. Their attention is principally turned to German four part songs, and the
" Glocke " by Romberg has been recently practiced with a view to a public performance
of it in the near future. The present officers are : President, Simon Trefzger ; vice

president, Martin Biihler ; secretary, Henry Triebel ; treasurer, C. F. Lehne ; conductor.
Prof. C. Trautvetter. Meetings are held at Harmonie Hall on S. Adams Street on the
Tuesday and Friday evenings of each week.

Virgil Conservatory of Music is situated on S. Adams Street, Nos. 213 to 219, and is

the only school of music in the city. It was established September 8, 1879, and has been
well attended in the past terms. It has at present 140 pupils, about twenty per cent, of

whom are males. The conservatory is under the direct supervision of Mr. A. K. Virgil,

formerly of the Burlington Conservatory of Music, and has a staff of seven teachers.

Instruction is given upon the piano, organ, violin and other orchestral instruments, the
cornet, and all other band instruments, the guitar, and also in elocution, German and
Italian. The teaching is of the most thorough and practical kind, and the recognition of

the usefulness of such a school, is evidenced by the large and steadily increasing attend-

ance.

Spencer's 1th Regiment Band.— This band was organized in 1863, and has sixteen

members. Prof. D. M. Spencer is director. A first-class orchestra is connected with the

band.
National Ghiards Band was organized about three years ago by Prof. C. Trauvetter,
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who is still its conductor and business manager. It consists of 12 pieces and has
an excellent string band in connection with it. Its headquarters are at 123 S. Jefferson

Street.

Peoria Boat Club.— The association known as the Peoria Boat Club, was organized

May 18, 1875. The object of the association was for instruction and improvement in,

and enjoyment of the art of rowing and the cultivation of a friendly feeling in all who
participate in this amusement and exercise.

The gentlemen present at first meeting were Gr. I. Gregg, P. C. Wheeler, Ed. Pulsi-

fer, Perd Lothy, Henry Simoneau, W. H. Bartlett, S. C. Bartlett, W. L. Green, Jr., J.

R. Conway, Jno. Birks, H. H. Miller, F. G. Martin, W. P. Bryan, Jr., H. Knowles. The
credit is due these gentlemen for having organized a club, which has many times reflected

honor upon them, and one in which the citizens at large take a just pride. At the first

regular meeting, held June 5, 1875, the following officers were elected : P. C. Wheeler,
president ; G. I. Gregg, vice-president ; H. Knowles, secretary and treasurer ; H. C.

Townsend, captain ; Ed. Pulsifer, coxswain ; S. Kilduff, vice-coxswain. At this meet-
ing a Constitution and By-Laws were adopted, the most important features of which
were the fixing the initiation fee at $25.00 and dues one dollar per month, also limiting the

membership to amateurs. For a boat house, was rented the old brick building on the

river bank, at the foot of Gay Street ; it was formerly used as a soap factory. Since then
the club has outgrown the old quarters, and it now owns a building built expressly for

the purpose, at a cost of $700. It is situated at the foot of Fayette Street ; is one story

in height, 60 by 30 feet in dimensions, has a storage capacity of 20 boats, is well supplied

with bath-rooms and lockers, and is altogether as convenient as any thing in the North or

West. The first boats were purchased in August of 1875, and consisted of a six-oared

barge cedar, a single and four-oared gig, both wooden. On May 9, 1876, the ladies of

the Bachelor Club, at an entertainment given by the Amateurs in Rouse's Hall, pre-

sented the P. B. C. with its colors. This was an event which will always be remembered
with pleasure by the members. Tfie ladies of Peoria have ever taken a kindly interest

in the club, and by their presence and encouragement have helped many a crew to row
a " winning race." On July 4, 1876, under the auspices of the P. B. C, a regatta was
given on Peoria Lake, the first one ever held here. It was participated in by boating

men from Chicago, Burlington, Moline, Hannibal, Mo., and Peru, Ills. It attracted

quite a crowd and served, as intended, to awaken the boating interest throughout the

city. Since that time the citizens of Peoria have always contributed liberally and promptly
to any scheme which the club has presented. On the 5th of July crews were sent to the

Burlington, la., regatta. Although the club captured no first prizes, it did creditably

when it is taken into consideration that rowing in a shell boat is a science, and to attain

any degree of proficiency, requires time and practice. June 2, 1877, the new boat house
was completed. During the Summer of '77 Peoria Lake was the scene of many a lively

contest, and although no regattas were held, the boating interest was kept up and practice

which we greatly needed was attained. On November 3d of this year the club joined

the M. v. A. R. A., this was an important event in the history of the P. B. C, as by so

doing it placed itself in competition with the best oarsmen in the Mississippi Valley, as

the Association is made up of them, and to win a prize at one of the M. V. A. R. A.
Regattas means " blood."

The first one given by the association was held on Peoria Lake, June 19 and 20,

1878. It was participated in by eight clubs, all -of them older organizations than the P.

B. C, but notwithstanding this, the club won first prize for six-oared barges, first prize

for four-oared gigs, and came in second in the race for junior four-oared ; there were six

entries in this race. In July of the same year the club was represented in the Keokuk
regatta. There were four clubs represented in this affair, Peoria " walked off" with first



HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY. 503

prize for six-oared barges, first prize for four-oared gigs, and last but not least, first prize

for tub race.

One requirement is necessary for a person to become a member, and that is, that the
applicant should be a gentleman. This is imperative, and owing to this wise policy the
club has become the leading social organization of the city. Its annual party is looked
upon as one of the leading social events of the season. The club was represented at the

annual M. V. A. R. A. regatta, held at Keokuk, July 15, 16, and 17, 1879. This was
attended by seventeen clubs. The P. B. C. carried off first prize junior four-oared, first

prize junior single, first prize four-oared gigs. So in the two M. V. A. R. A. regattas, the

Peoria tioat Club has won five first prizes. This is a splendid record for any club. At
the last meeting the secretary reported sixty-four active members, and five honorary
ones ; the club out of debt, and owning between two and three thousand dollars' worth
of property, together with a boat-house worth, with added improvements, $1,000. Its

fleet of boats consists of one paper six-oared barge, one cedar six-oared barge, one paper
four-oared shell, one cedar four-oared shell, one paper double scull, two paper single

sculls, and one cedar single, one four-oared working boat, wooden, one single gig, cedar,

besides several boats owned by individual members. Our " course " can not be beaten
by any in the country, and by few rivaled. It is wide enough to start any number of

boats, and is a good "straight away " of two miles without any perceptible current. The
influential position the club holds in boating circles was evinced by the M. V. A. R. As-
sociation voting the office of Ensign to Mr. P. 0. Wheeler in 1878, and that of Commo-
dore to Mr. John L. Cockle in 1879. The present officers of the club are : Thos. Cratty,

president; James T. Taylor, vice-president ; W. H. Binman, treasurer ; L. D. Puter-
baugh, secretary ; Chas. Cockle, captain ; W. R. Cockle, coxswain ; W. W. Hook, vice-

cox, and custodian. The P. B. C. is an organization in which the citizens of Peoria are

interested and the members satisfied.

Peoria Shooting Club was organized May 11, 1875, with about ten original members,
and was incorporated under charter from the State of Illinois, January 24, 1877. The
following are the names of some of the original members : N. Shurtleff, L. F. Belke, .

Chas. F. Stock, Chas. W. Greenleaf, Dr. L. B. Martin, Fred. Kimble, P. Bourdereaux,
and John Griffith. The present officers are : President, Dr. L. B. Martin ; vice-presi-

dent. Will. Clark ; secretary, R. R. Hotchkiss ; treasurer, Z. N. Hotchkiss. The club

owns a^shooting park of five acres, with dwelling house, amphitheater, and coops for 6,000

pigeons, in the upper part of the city, near the Water Works, and is acknowledged to be
one of the best shooting parks in the State.

In 1879, the annual tournament of the Illinois State Sportman's Association was held
at the club's park, and its accommodations were found ample, notwithstanding an excep-

tionally large number of entries. The club is strong in membership, and numbers within

its ranks many excellent marksmen. Members practice at the park every Friday, when
the weather permits. Regular business meetings are held on first Wednesday in each
month, in State's Attorney's office in Court-house.

Central City Shooting Club.—This club was organized in the Summer of 1878, and
has about twenty members. The present officers are : President, F. Lammers ; vice-

president, ; secretary and treasurer, Chas. Scheonheider. The members use for

shooting purposes the park belonging to the Peoria Shooting Club, and hold there a
monthly contest for the club badge. The club hopes soon to have a park of their

own.
Fort Clarh Shooting Olub was organized in July, 1878, with thirty-five original mem-

bers, and has still that number of names on its roll. Use the park of the Peoria Shooting
Club for shooting purposes, where they generally meet every Saturday afternoon. The
present officers are : President, O. Moore ; vice-president and secretary, John Wood-
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ruff; treasurer, Robert Kelly. The club holds its business meetings on first Monday
evening in each month, at freight office of T. P. & W. R. R.

Peoria Rifle Club was organized in June, 1877, and has about fifteen members, each
of whom owns a breach-loading, repeating rifle. The present officers of the club are

:

President, A. W. H. Reen ; treasurer, Peter J. Singer ; secretary, F. H. Wagner. The
club has found it very difficult to secure a suitable range for practice, but expect in the

coming Summer to possess one of five hundred yards, easily accessible from the city.

Peoria Turn-Verein.— This association was organized in 1850, with about thirty

members. During the early years of its existence it rented a building where the mem-
bers could exercise themselves, and in 1856 built a frame structure on Washington Street

near Walnut, at a cost of about $1,000. Here they had their gymnasium for some eight

years, at the end of which time they sold their property and bought the old School on
South Adams Street, to which they removed and occupied for ten years. About this

time the Union Turn-Verein was organized, and drew to itself, from a variety of causes,

almost all the young and active members from the parent society, which consequently
became almost dormant for some years. Meantime the society had sold their property on
Adams Street, and held thereon a mortgage of $.S,500, the interest on which, during its

years of inactivity, was annually paid over to the German School Association, to assist in

the maintenance of their school on Second Street. In the Summer of 1879 the Union
Turn-Verein fell into difficulties and all its active members came over in a body to the

old institution, and by this accession a new and prospective term of usefulness was
opened to it. A new constitution and by-laws were adopted, and the membership has

now risen to about sixty and is still steadily increasing. The gymnasium of the society

is at present in the old Court-house on Hamilton Street, but they expect very soon to

erect a handsome building of their own, and have already appointed a committee to se-

cure a suitable location. In 1879 Mr. J. C. Wieting was president, and the officers for

1880 are: President, A. L. Schimpff; vice-president, Albert Triebel ; secretary, Albert
Pfeiffer ; corresponding secretary, Henry Hedrick ; and treasurer, Jacob Miiller. Regu-
lar business meetings on first Thursday in each month at the hall.

Union Turn- Verein.— In 1868 nine members of the Peoria Turn-Verein, becoming
dissatisfied with the management of that society, resolved to sever their connection with
it and organize another Turn-Verein. Their first business meeting was held in Ross'

lumber yard, where the " Union Turn-Verein " was formally organized. Meetings were
afterwards held at Engine House No. 3, and the society grew strong in number and en-

thusiasm, so much so, that six months after organization, its strength was one hundred
and thirty members, sixty of whom were active, young Turners. In the Summer of 1869
the society bought the church building corner Madison and Liberty Streets, for use as a
gymnasium, at a cost of #3,650, and in order to properly fit it up for their use, incurred a
further indebtedness of $7,500. Here the Turn-Verein remained, strong and prosperous,

for about nine years, and cleared off all its load of debt, except a sum of $4,000, which
was secured by a mortgage on the building. In June, 1878, the building was amicably
surrendered to the mortgagee, it having become, from dampness and recent obstruction of

its ventilation, unsuitable for the further use of the society. The old Court-house on
Hamilton Street was then rented and occupied till October, 1879, when, owing to the

defection of many of its active members, they were obliged to give it up, and also to dis-

pense with the services of a teacher, whom they had hitherto been able to employ at »
salary of $50 per month. The officers, however, are not without hope that the society

will again taste prosperity, and in the near future hope to erect a frame building on
South Adams Street, which will have ample accommodations for all the purposes of the

society.

The present officers are : President, Geo. Bohlender ; vice-president, Chas. Singer j
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recording secretary, P. Klingel ; treasurer, Frank Vonachan ; teacher, Chris. Klingel.

Regular meetings are held on first Tuesday of each month.

8ECEBT SOCIETIES.

Masonic— Peoria Lodge No. 15, A. F. ^ A. M.— In the month of September, 1840,

ten brethren residing in Peoria and the neighborhood, met in the second story of the

house at the corner of Main and Adams Streets, and after consultation agreed to make
application to the Grand Lodge of the State of Illinois, for a dispensation empowering
them to work ; their names were as follows : Samuel H. Davis, Augustus O. Garrett,

John King, Geo. Farrell, James Mossman, Nathaniel Chapin, Geo. H. Quigg, Fred. Sem-
elroth. They recommended Samuel H. Davis, as Master, A. O. Garrett, as Senior War-
den, and John King, as Junior Warden ; their application was vouched for by the

Ottawa Lodge, and forwarded to the Grand Lodge, to be laid before that body in that

or the ensuing month. The application in due time came before the Grand Lodge, but
as that body knew nothing ot the Ottawa Lodge (the latter working under a foreign

charter), the application could not be granted, and thus the matter rested till Decem-
ber, 1841, when it became known that the Grand Lodge was satisfied with the regularity

of the Ottawa Lodge, and accordingly accepted its recommendation for a petition. Up-
on application therefor, a dispensation was accordingly granted, appointing as oflBcers the

brethren recommended for the positions in the application, and dated January 3, A. L.

5,842, A. D. 1842. Under that dispensation, the first meeting was held January 8, of

that year, at which nine Master Masons were present. On December 24, 1842, a charter

was granted by the Grand Lodge, under which their first election of officers took place,

resulting in the elevation of the following gentlemen : W. M., Samuel H. Davis ; S. W.,
A. O. Garrett ; J. W., Andrew M. Hunt ; Treas., Geo. Metcalfe ; Secy., William Mitchell

;

S. D., Peter Sweat ; J. D., Ralph Hamlin ; Tyler, Chester Hamlin. They were installed

by Past Master Simeon DeWitt Drown, of Chester Lodge, No. 71, of Ohio.
From that time on, the Lodge fiourished and did much work, and on June 18, 1844,

made its first appearance in public, the occasion being the celebration of the anniversary
of the Battle of Bunker Hill, and to commemorate the death of Gen. Warren, the first

Grand Master of North America. The programme of the exercises on that occasion is

reproduced below

:

Masonic Celebration, June 18, 1844.

Order of exercises : The procession will move from the Hall at 10 o'clock, and pro-

ceed as follows : Proceed up Hamilton Street to Jefferson— down Jefferson to Fulton
— down Fulton to Adams— up Adams to Hamilton— down Hamilton to Washington—
down Washington to Fulton— down Fulton to Water— up Water to Main—up Main
to Madison— down Madison to Methodist church, entering it at 11.

1. Prayer by the chaplain.

2. Music by the band.
3. Oration.

4. Ode by the choir.

5. A praptical address on Freemasonry.
6. Music (Battle of Bunker Hill) by the band.

The procession will then return in the same order to the hall, where a dinner will

be provided by Bro. Garret : — tickets, 50 cents.

None other than ladies can be admitted within the church, until after the arrival of

the procession.

In the minutes of meeting of the Lodge, August 17, 1844, appear the following res-

olutions :

38



506 HISTORY OP PEORIA COUNTY.

" Resolved, That the thanks of this Lodge be tendered to Bro. Wm. Hale, for his liberal donation to the mem-
bers and friends of Peoria Lodge No. 15, of the block on Jackson and Perry Streets, for a burial ground.

" Resolved, That this lodge accepts of this donation, and that a committee of three be appointed, to confer

with Bro. Hale, and devise a plan for surveying and laying out the same into lots, fencing and ornamenting the

same."

Whereupon the Master appointed, Brothers R. Rouse, Isaac Underhill and Peter

Sweat, as such committee, to report at next regular meeting.
The block thus obtained, was used as a Masonic burying ground till 1871, when

further interments were forbidden by the authorities, owing to the rapid growth of the

city— the adjoining blocks being all built upon with residences. The lodges then con-

templeted the removal of the bodies there interred, to Springdale Cemetery, and sale of

the block— the proceeds to be applied towards the purchase of ground for burial pur-

poses elsewhere—but their designs in the direction were opposed by the heirs of the

donor, who denied their right to use the block for any purpose, other than that for which
it was originally intended., After some litigation, a compromise was effected, whereby
the right of the lodges to dispose of the block was recognized, and a lot in Springdale

Cemetery, 75x120, purchased, to which in the months of May and June 1873, the bodies

from the old ground were removed. The square was then sold to various parties, netting

about i7,000, with a portion of which sum, the lodges bought the lot cor. Adams and
Liberty Streets, upon which in the near future, they propose the erection of a handsome
Masonic Temple, the plans for which, have been already prepared and selected.

The Past Masters of this lodge are : Samuel H. Davis, Peter Sweat, William
Mitchell, Thomas J. Pickett, John T. Lindsay, William Rounseville, David D. Irons,

Lewis Keyon, Samuel Tart, Peter Hopkins, B. L. T. BourJand, Willis Y. Francis, Henry
E. Seley, John S. Gragg, Robert Francis, Joseph F. Hazzard and John M. Simpson.

The present officers are : W. M., John M. Simpson ; S. W., E. N. Armstrong; J. W.,
A. J. Harbers ; Treas., J. N. Kinney ; Secy., Geo. L. Bean. The regular meetings are

on the last Monday in each month, in the Masonic Hall, 124 N. Adams Street.

Temple Lodge, No. 46, A. F. Sf A. M., was chartered October 26, 1846, with six

original members, viz : Geo. T. Metcalf, Clark B. Stebbins, Wm. F. Bryan, John C.

Heyl, John King, Ellwood Andrew. The first officers of the lodge were : W. M., Geo.
T. Metcalf; S. W., John C. Heyl ; J. W., Clark B. Stebbins. The Past Masters of this

lodge are as follows : Geo. T. Metcalf, John R. Crandall, John C. Heyl, John Jewell,

James S. Freeman, Alexander Hearst, Geo. Broad, Clark D. Rankin, Geo. K. Hazlitt,

Barnhart Meals, Jno. E. McDermott, Thomas Cosgrove. The present officers are : W.M.,
John N. Griffith ; S. W., George S. Dustin ; J. W., Chas. H. Ibell ; Treas., A. D. Olney

;

Secy., N. S. Tucker. Regular meetings, the last Wednesday in each month, at Masonic
Hall, 124 N. Adams Street.

Illinois Lodge, No. 263, A. F. ^ A. M.— This lodge was granted a dispensation to

work, on February 1, 1858, and was chartered under its present name and number, by
the Grand Lodge of the State, in October of the same year. The first officers were in-

stalled on October 19, 1858, by Deputy Grand Master D. D. Irons, and were as follows

:

W. M,, S. H. Bennett ; S. W., A. Freeman ; J. W., J. Hancok proxy for D. M. Cum-
mings ; Treas., J. W. Parish ; Sec'y, D. T. N. Saunderson. The Past Masters of the

lodge are : S. H. Bennett, A. Freeman, John Swentzel, G. Kettelle, Chas. Spalding,

Wm. B. Whiffin, Wm. J. Brown, J. E. Pillsbury, Wm. Rounseville, Wm. Kellogg, Jr., S.

W. Ottenheimer, W. H. Eastman, James McMillan and J. S. Miller. The officers who
now preside over the lodge are : W. M., W. H. Eastman ; S. W., C. M. Cummings

;

J. W., M. W. Shultz; Treas., S. W. Ottenheimer; Sec'y, J. W. Grover. Regular meet-
ings at 124 N. Adams Street, on second and fourth Tuesdays in each month, and annual
meeting on second Tuesday in December.

Schiller Lodge, No. 335, A. F. ^ A. M. (German), was chartered November 11, 1859,

with twenty-four charter members. The first officers of the lodge were : W. M., Albert
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Potthoff; S. W., Emil Quinky; J. "W., Henry UUman ; Sec'y, John N. Niglas. The
present officers are : W. M., A. L. Schimpff ; S. W., John Korsoski; J. W., Chas. Ulrioh

;

Sec'y, Adolph Splittstoesser ; Treas., A. W. H. Reen. Meet last Thursday in each
month at hall, 124 N. Adams Street.

Henry Brown Lodge, No. 22, A. T. Sf M, (colored)—This is a clandestine lodge, and
derives its authority from the so-called Grand Lodge of A. Y. & M. Masons of the State

of Illinois. It was organized December 7, 1876, and was chartered December 25, 1879,
with twelve original members. The present membership is about twenty, and its officers

are : P. M., John W. Wagoner ; W. M., Walter Campbell ; S. W., Daniel Rayner ; J.

W., Joseph Johnson ; Treas., John H. M. Wagoner; Sec'y, John W. Wagoner. Regular
meetings on the first Thursday of each month in hall, 122 N. Adams Street.

Order of Eastern Star, Central Qity Chapter, No. 42.— This body was instituted in

1872 as " Central City Chapter, No. 120," under charter from the English Grand Chap-
ter, and on September 20, 1877, was chartered under its present name and number, by
the Grand Chapter of the State of Illinois. The present officers of the Chapter are

:

W. M., Mrs. A. M. Mann ; W. P., Mr. W. H. Eastman ; A. M., Mrs. H. Lloyd ; C,
Mrs. Matilda Griebel; A. C, Mrs. S. C. Hasbrouck; Treas., Mrs. M. A. Cum-
mings; Sec'y, Mrs. S. C. Robinson; W., Mrs. H. Eastman; S., Mr. W. Price. The
Chapter has about one hundred members, and meets in the Masonic Hall on Adams Street,

the last Friday in each month.
Peoria Chapter, No, 7, B. A. M., was chartered by the Grand Chapter of the State

of Illinois in 1847. The first officers were elected January 4, 1848, as follows: H. P.,

Samuel H. Davis; K., Peter Sweat ; S., William Hale ; C. H., A. O. Garrett; P. S.,

John Sly; R. A. C, Eldrich Smith, Sr.; Treas., John B. Dixon ; Sec'y, Nat. Chapin.

The following are the names of the successive High Priests of the Chapter, with the

terms' during which they held office : Samuel H.Davis, 1848, '49; Peter Sweat, 1850 ;

John Jewell, 1851, '52, '54, '55, '57, '70 ; Wm. M. Dodge, 1853, '60, '61 ; Stephen T.

Stewart, 185G ; A. O. Garrett, 1858, '59 ; James E. Prescott, 1862 ; Lewis Keyon,
1863 ; Peter Hopkins, 1864 ; Isaac G. Reynolds, 1865 ; Wm. Rounseville, 1866, '67, '71

;

Samuel Tart, 1868, '69
; John C. Yates, 1872, '73, '74

; Henry C. Whittridge, 1875, '76
;

Alonzo P. Johnson, 1877, '78, '79.

The officers for the present year are : H. P., Geo. S. Dustin ; K., Albert W. Martin

;

S., Chas. F. Hitchcock; C. H., Edwin N. Armstrong; Sec'y, Geo. F. Henthorne ; Treas.,

Crosby White. The Chapter meet in their hall on Main Street, on first Thursday in

each month.
Peoria Commandery, K. T., No. 3, was chartered Sept. 15, 1856, and its first officers

were as follows : E. C, Henry L. Gaines ; G., Clark B. Stebbins ; C. G., Isaac Under-
bill; P., A. O. Garrett; S. W., Wm. A. Thrush; J. W., Dutee S. Thompson; Treas.,

Wm. E. Mason ; Rec, Lewis Keyon. The position of Eminent Commander has been
heldby thefoUowing; Henry L. Gaines, 1857, '58; Wm. A. Thrush, 1859, '60, '61;

David D. Irons, 1862 ; Lewis Keyon, 1863 ; Wm. Rounseville, 1864, '65, '67, '69, '70,

'71, '72
; A. O. Garrett, 1866; Geo. L. Lucas, 1868 ; Robert S. Martin, 1873 ; Samuel

Tart, 1874, '75 ; Chas. F. Hitchcock, 1876, '77, '78, '79. The present officers of the

Commandery are: E. C, Chas. F. Hitchcock; G., Isaac N. Durst; C. G., William Win-
cup; P., Geo. S. Dustin; S. W., Alonzo P. Johnson; J. W., Richard H. Lowe; Treas.,

Crosby White ; Rec, Geo. F. Henthorne. Meet in their hall on Main Street, on first

and third Fridays in each month.
Peoria Consistory, S.-. P.\ B.'. S.'. Ancient and Accepted Scottish Bite.— The first

Consistory meeting held in Peoria was on February 12, 1869, under a charter granted to

Consistory in Yates City, 111., bearing date February 25, 1867, which was at that date

transferred to Peoria. At that meeting the following officers were elected : Com. in

Chief, Justin E. Dow ; 1st Lieut. Com., William O. Hewitt ; 2d Lieut. Com., Samuel
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Tart ; Gd. Orator, Wm. J. Brown ; G. C, Edward H. Collins ; G. Sec'y, James E. Pills-

bury ; G. Treas., M. E. Erler ; G. E. & A., J. J. Steiger ; G. H., Thos. D. Gault ; G.

S. B., S. W. Ottenheimer; G. C. of G., Geo. Billings ; G. S., Samuel P. Cummings.
In May, 1872, the first meeting was held under its present name and charter. The

present officers are: Com. in Chief, James Bannister; 1st Lieut. Com., Robert S.Martin;

2d Lieut. Com., Chas. F. Hitchcock ; Gd. Orator, Thos. D. Gault ; G. C, A. J. Boylan

;

Sec'y, Geo. L. Bean ; Treas., John R. Smith ; E. & A., E. R. Mann ; G. K., Samuel W.
Ottenheimer ; M. of C, M. E. Erler ; G. S. B., William Perry ; C. of G., James McMil-
lan; G. S., Benj. Berquist. The stated meetings of the Consistory are upon the fourth

Monday in March, June, September and December.

I. o. o. F.

Qolumbia Lodge, No. 21, was instituted at Peoria Dec. 8, 1846 by D. D. G. M., A. B.

Robinson, under a charter granted by the R. W. Grand Lodge of Illinois, November 24th,

1846. The charter members were John, M. Law, Samuel Easton, John Payne, E. S.

Anderson, John Wham Jr., and Francis A. McNeil. This is the oldest Lodge of the

Order in the County and has had from the beginning a most harmonious and useful career.

It is now in a very flourishing condition with a membership of seventy in good standing.

Its present officers are N. G., L. M. Brockett ; V. G., N. Crutchfield ; Rec. Secy, D. C.

Frazer ; Perm. Sec'y, A. W. Hack; Treas., John Wetzel ; Rep. to Grand Lodge, D. C.

Frazer. Regular meetings every Tuesday evening in their hall on Adams Street.

Fort Glarh Lodge, No. 109, was instituted July 7, 1852, with fourteen original mem-
bers. The first officers of the Lodge were ; N. G., Henry S. Austin ; Sec'y, Matthew W.
McReynolds. The present officers are : N. G., Henry Thielbar ; V. G., E. M. Clark;

Sec'y, 0. B, Champney ; P. Sec'y, N. C. Nason ; Treas., John Jones ; Representative,

I. J. Marsh. Meet at their hall every Monday evening.

Western Lodge, No. 295 (German), was organized in 1861, with twenty-one charter

members. Their first elected officers were, N. G., J. Lorentz ; V. G., K. A. Bush ; Sec'y,

F. C. Heinzen; Per. Sec'y, Wm. MuUer ; Treas., T. Bender. The present officers are :

N. G., J. Hoffmann ; V. G., E. Seitz ; Sec'y, J. Thomas ; Per. Sec'y, F. W. MuUer

;

Treas., H. Klein. The Lodge has now seventy-three members in good standing. Meet
at their hall in Deweyn's block, every Thursday evening.

Peoria Encampment, No. 15, was instituted February 7, 1850, under dispensation

granted by the R. W. Grand Encampment of the United States, by Past Grand Patriarch

T. J. Burnes, with the following charter members ; H. A. Foster, E. N. Powell, Geo. C.

Bestor, A. B. Fash, H. G. Anderson, John M. Law, Chas. Fisher and A. N. Boilvan. The
first officers of the Encampment were : C. P., John M. Law ; H. P., H. G. Anderson ;

S. W., E. N. Powell ; S., H. A. Foster ; Treas., John Anderson ; Warden, Chas. Fisher.

Of the original charter members, but three are now living, viz : H. G. Anderson, Chas.
Fisher, and A. B. Fash. Seven years after its institution, it was chartered by the R. W.
Grand Encampment of the State of Illinois, under which charter it now works. The
officers for 1880 are : C. P., Henry Thielbar ; H. P., N. C. Nason ; S. W., I. J. Marsh

;

S., C. B. Keller ; Treas., John Jones ; J. W., William Heuer. The present membership
is 112, comprised as follows, active members 51, dormant members 61. The Encamp-
ment meets on the first and third Fridays of each month, at the Oddfellow's HaU 114 S.

Adams Street.

Soffnung Encampment, No. 155 (German), was organized May 22, 1875, with four-

teen original members. The names of the present officers are : C. P., F. H. Borries ; H.
P., Ph. Auer; S. W., P. Biekert; J. W., J. Thode; Treas., Chas. Rojahn ; Scribe, G.
Reichardt. Meet second and fourth Fridays of each month in their Hall in Deweyn's
block.
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KNIGHTS OF PYTHIAS.

Galanthe Lodge, No. 47, was organized March 24, 1874, by Grand Chancellor H. W.
Rice, of Chicago, assisted by P. C, M. C. Wilkie, of Aurora, and P. Cs., "Wm. L. Camp-
bell, C. C. Weidrich and Seely, of Princeton. There were fourteen charter members,
viz : Wm. J. C. Drum, I. C. Edwards, W. C. Strickler, N. C. Nason, C. C. Coffinberry,

J. A. Jeffries, J. C. Widenham, Wm. A. Hunter, Geo. N. Walker, Jr., T. H, Smithe,
Wm. B. Vance, Wm. T. Smith, Jno. A. Hudson and S. R. Baker. The first officers

elected and installed were: P. C, J. Drum; C. C, N. C. Nason; V. C, I. C. Edwards;
P., C. C. Coffinberry ; K. of R. and S. and M. of F,, W. C. Drum ; M. of E., James E.
Jeffries; M. at A., W. B. Vance; I. G., J. C. Widenham; O. G., A. H. Wiltz. The
charter under which the Lodge now works was issued by the Grand Lodge October 19,

1876. The following gentlemen have filled the office of Chancellor Commander in the

order named : N. 0. Nason, Geo. N. Walker, Jr., James A. Jeffries, Joseph Moss, O. E.
Schupp, S. R. Baker, Wm. A. Hunter, and John A. Hudson. The present officers of the

Lodge are; P. C, John A. Hudson; C. C, N. C. Nason; V. C, T. C. Johnson; P.,

James Kennedy; M. of E., G. N. Walker, Jr. ; M. of F., W. A. Hunter; K. of R. and
S., S. R. Baker ; M. at A., Joseph Moss ; Rep. to Grand Lodge, P. C, S- R. Baker. Past
Chancellor N. C. Nason is the present Grand V. Chancellor in the Grand Lodge of the

State of Illinois. The Lodge is strong, and is doing good work. Regular meetings on
the second and fourth Tuesdays in each month, in the G. A. R. Hall, No. 105 S. Adams
Street.

Endowment Section, No. 208, is connected with the above Lodge, and is a side degree
of the Order. All K. of P. in good standing can become members, and their lives are

insured for from one to three thousand dollars, as they may elect. Wm. A. Hunter is

president, and G. N. Walker, Jr., Sec. and Treas.

V. A. o. D.

Peoria Grove, No. 6, was instituted December 28, 1860, and the charter under which
they now work bears date February 1, 1861. Their first officers were : N. A., William
Gebhardt ; V. A., Kaspar Zimmerman ; Sec'y, Fried. Roehr ; Treas., Adam Lucas ; and
those now in office are ; N. A., Henry Klein ; V. A., Heinrich Martens; Sec'y, Gottfried
Schmidt ; Treas., Leopold Wappich. The Grove meets each Monday evening at Hall
corner Bridge and Washington Streets.

Central Grove, No. 8.—The charter of this Grove is dated August 3, 1861, and there
were thirteen charter members. The first officers were : N. A., Henry Dahlmeyer ; V.
A., E. J, MuUer; Trpas., Chas. Lengaher; Sec'y., D. Kellister; and those now in office

are : N. A., Geo. Riesz ; V. A., A. Jacobs ; Rec. Sec'y, Adolph Bezemann ; Fin. Sec'y,

Tobias Somer ; Treas., John Fay.
Albion Grove, No. 17 (English), was chartered April 29, 1866, with ten charter mem-

bers, viz: P. A., William Gebhardt; P. A., J. M. Weinmar ; P. A., N. Neuhaus; P. A.,
A. Bisemann ; P. A., H. Rotterman ; J. Reuter, J. Ogden, J. Hasgett, J. Cunningham,
and D. McKenzie. The present officers of the Grove are : P. A., M. C. Tamplin ; N. A.,
R. Bolton ; V. A., W. M. Glass ; Treas., D. McKenzie ; Sec'y, B. F. Hamlin ; Fin. Sec'y.,

T. Ewalt. The Grove meets every "tuesday evening at No. 303 Main Street. Present
number of members seventy-seven.

Brother Grove, No. 19, was chartered June 6, 1867, with six original members. The
first officers were : N. A., Philip Eichorn ; V. A., John Reuter ; Secy., Frank Reuter.
Those now in office a;re, N. A., Fritz Hoffman ; V. A., J. G. Altmans ; Secy., H. Blum-
hoff; Treas., P. Lulay. Meet every Friday evening, at hall corner Washington and
Bridge Streets.

William Grove, No, 30, was instituted in January, 1873, with ten charter members.
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The first officers of the Grove were : N. A ., William Gebhardt ; V. A., E. Godel ; Secy.,

Rudolph Eichenberger ; Treas., Wendel Kneer. The present officers are, N. A., Jacob

Stein ; V. A., Charles Auderer ; Secy., Frank Renter ; Treas., Paul Meyer ; J. G., Wm.
Nitschke. This Grove has thirty-one members in good standing, and meets every Wed-
nesday evening, in hall corner Main and Adams Streets.

Supreme Arch Chapter U. A. 0. J)., Central City Chapter, No. 3, has charter dated

August 10, 1867, and was instituted with thirteen original members. The first officers

of the Chapter were : N. G. A., John M. Weinmar ; Secy., Frank J. Vonachan ; and
those now in office are, N. G. A., Tobias Sommer ; Secy., Peter Lulay. The Chapter

meets on third Tuesday in each month, in hall corner Bridge and Washington Streets.

A. O. TT. W.

Q-oethe Lodge, iVo.8, was organized February 11, 1876, with twenty-two charter mem-
bers. The first officers were : M. W., J. H. Becker ; G. F., G. Harsch ; Rec. Secy., G.

Feldcamp ; Fin. Secy., Carl Mueller ; Treas., G. C. Harsch. The present officers of the

Lodge are, M. W., F. X. Korhumel ; G. F., John Kohler ; Rec. Secy., John Q. Schmitt

;

Fin. Secy., F. Winklmeyer; Treas., G. Harsch. The Lodge meets every Thursday even-

ing, in hall corner Main and Washington Streets.

Peoria Lodge, No. 15.—This Lodge was organized July 7, 1879, with thirty-five char-

ter members, and is at present officered by the following : P. M. W., E. P. F. Vetter-

hoffer ; M. W., Robert Bolton ; F., Robert Clark ; Rec, DeRoy Howe ; Financier, F. L.

Thompkins ; Receiver, W- E. Hack ; Guide, W. H. Shoupe ; Trustees, C. B. Keller, W.
F. Hyle, E. F. P. Vetterhoffer ; Overseer, O. T. Owens. Meet every Wednesday even-

ing, at Workmen's Hall, corner Washington and Main Streets.

MISCELLANEOUS OEDBES.

Progress Lodge, No. 113, 1. 0. B. B.—This Lodge was organized August 80, 1868,

with twenty-four charter members, and has now a membership of sixty-one in good stand-

ing. The first officers who presided over the Lodge were : Pres., David UUman ; V. P.,

Sol. Bennett ; Rec. Secy., H. S. Ottenheimer ; Fin. Secy., Jacob Heim ; Treas., Gerson
Bloom ; Monitor, Rev. Dr. Max Stern ; Asst. Monitor, Abraham Wachenheimer ; Trus-

tees, Henry UUman, Henry Netter, L. Mayers. The present officers are, Pres., Rev. Dr.

Stern ; V. P., Charles Salzenstein ; Rec. and Fin. Secy., Louis Strauss ; Treas., Samuel
Woolner ; Monitor, David Eppsteiner ; Warden, Aaron UUman ; Guardian, Isaac Rosen-
field ; Trustees, H. S. Ottenheimer, Henry UUman, and A. Schradzki. Regular meetings
are held at 216 and 218 Main Street, on first and third Sundays of each month.

Moses Montifiore Lodge, No. 155, 0. K. S. B., was organized April 3, 1876, with
twenty-four charter members. Its first officers were : Pres., S. Woolner ; Vice-Pres.,

L. S. Bennett ; Secy., Isaac Rosenthal ; Treas., Solomon Bennett ; Conductor, John
Korsoski; Asst. Con., L. L. Wiesel. The Past-Presidents of the Lodge are, Samuel
Woolner, L. S. Bennett, Jacob Woolner, Solomon Bennett, J. Conigisky, and John Kor-
soski. The present officials are, Pres., D. Schwartzmann ; V. P., Adolph Woolner

;

Treas., Moses Gumbiner ; Secy., Lewis J. Weisel ; Monitor, John Korsoski. Meetings
are held in the afternoon of the second and fourth Sundays of each month.

Ajax Council, No. 216, Royal Arcanum.— This council was instituted in Peoria,

October 13, 1878, and immediately thereafter the following officers were elected : R., N.
C. Nason ; V. R., L. W. James ; O., John G. Stevens ; P. R., John L. Cockle ; Secy.,

W. A. Brubaker; Coir., B. C. Bryner ; Treas., John W. Hoyt; Chaplain, H. Thiel-
bar ; G., F. S. Hallock ; W., R. M. Hewitt ; S., Geo. W. Weddle ; Med. Exam., L. B.
Martin, M. D. Those now in office are, R., C. S. Easton ; V. R., Chas. F. Hitchcock

;

O., N. E. Worthington ; P. R., L. W. James ; Secy., W. A. Brubaker ; Coir., B. C.
Bryner ; Treas., John W. Hoyt ; Chaplain, S. W. Dodge ; G., F. C. Tapping ; W., 0. R.
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Olough ; S., R. A. Schimpff ; Med. Exam., L. B. Martin, M. D. The council meets on
second and fourth Fridays of each month in hall of G. A. R.

Peoria Lodge, No. 353, Marugari, was instituted June 7, 1874, with nine charter mem-
bers. The first officers were : O. B., Robert Becker ; U. B., Frank Renter ; Secy.,

Henry Sudenga; Treas., Jacob Becker. The present officers of the lodge are : O. B.,

Jacob George ; U. B., Aug. Seibold ; Secy., Frank Renter ; Treas., Fritz Weber. The
lodge has forty-one members in good standing, and meets every second Tuesday in hall

corner Washington and Bridge Streets.

Victor Lodge, No. 244, Z 0. M. A., was organized January 16, 1879, with about forty

charter members. The present officers are : Pres., J. G. Evans ; V. P., C. S. Doty ;

Fin. Secy., Benj. Warren, Jr. ; Rec. Secy., S. N. Oonover ; trustees, A- J- White, Jno.
A. Bush, and J. J. Frederick. The lodge meets first and third Fridays in each month in

hall corner Main and Washington Streets.

Lake Lodge, No. 715, Knights of Honor, was instituted August 25, 1877, by W. M.
Obermayer, D. S. D., with nineteen charter members. The Past Dictators of the lodge
are : N. 0. Nason, John S. Stevens, James Bannister, O. B. Champney, J. J. Steiger,

and W. A. Beasley. Present officers are : D., G. Willis Smith ; V. D., R. M. Campbell

;

Treas., Geo. S. Dustin ; Rep., 0. B. Champney. The lodge meets on the first and third

Tuesdays in each month.
Fort Olark Lodge, No. 10, Universal Brotherhood of the World.—This lodge was

organized January, 1879, with Geo. S. Dustin as 111. Commander, and is at present dormant.
Phoenix Lodge, No. 608, J. 0. Cr. T., was organized May 1, 1874, with twenty

original members, and thereupon elected to office the following : W. C. T., F. L. Ladd ;

V. T.. Mrs. A. D. Johnson ; Chap., J. B. Crammond ; Secy., S. O. Hinsdale ; A. S., Miss
Susie Scott ; F. S., C. E. Van Tress ; Treas., Mrs. E. V. Van Tress ; M., John Cation

;

D. M., Mrs. 0. M. Ladd ; I. G., William Cation; 0. G., M. B. Hinsdale ; R. H. S., Miss
Agnes Armstrong ; L. H. S., M. Ross ; P. W. C. T., Miss Sophia Becker. The present
officers of the lodge are : W. C. T., W. H. Lambert ; V. T., Mrs. Lizzie Campbell

;

Chap., Henry Boyle ; Secy., Geo. A. Monteith; A. S., Miss Laura Metcalf ; F. S., Miss
Lucy Hamilton ; Treas., Otto C. Hoffman ; M., David Crutchfield ; D. M., Mrs. Lucy
Crutchfield ; I. G., Miss Lizzie Andrews; 0. G.,iJoseph Shurley; R. H. S., Miss L. H.
O'Connor ; L. H. S., Miss Clara Monteith ; P. W. C. T., Frank Dudley ; L. D., John
Short. The lodge meets every Thursday night in hall corner Main and Adams Street.

The present membership in good standing is about 115.

Peoria Temple, No. 8, U. 0. A. T.— This lodge was chartered February 2, 1877,
and the following officers were elected : Templar,,James Mahoney ; Rec, Harry Lam-
bert. The present officers are : Templar, James Mahoney ; Rec, Uriah Vonhan. The
present membership in good standing is sixty-three, and the lodge meets in hall corner
Main and Adams Street every Friday evening.

Patrons of Husbandry.— There are in Peoria Co. eight Granges of this Order,
located as follows : Orange Grange, at Orange Prairie ; Alta Grange, at Alta on R. I.

R. R. ; Dunlap Grange, at Dunlap, on the same road; Salem Grange, 4 miles'west of

Dunlap; Radnor Grange, 3 miles west of Alta ; Jubilee Grange, at Jubilee ; South Kick-
apoo Grange, 2 miles west of Pottstown on C. B. & Q. R. R. ; and Rome Grange, at

Rome, on C. R. I. & P. Each of these Granges becomes in turn, the Head-Quarters of

all the others, and retains the position till the next meeting, on the first Tuesday of each
month, when the next Grange in order of seniority, succeeds it. The present officers of

the County Grange are. Master, Amos Edwards ; Secretary, Thos. Cady ; and they hold
their offices during the year 1880. The membership of the County Grange is about 150,

and the members of the Order residing in the county, and in good standing in the sub-

ordinate Granges, nuipber about 1,000. The Grange Store for the county, is located on
corner Washington anii Liberty Streets ; is upder th§ pharge of Mr. W. W. Atwood

;
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carries a stock of groceries, and miscellaneous farm supplies worth about $9,000, and
did a business last year of $45,000.

Olan na Grael.— This body was organized in 1875, with about 40 original members,
and the strength is still maintained at about the same figure. The present officers of
the society are, Pres., Joseph F. Manning; V. P., John Down ; Sec, P. W. Crowe

;

Treas., Frank Bradley. Regular meetings are held every Sunday afternoon, in Fenian
Hall, on Main street.

Ancient Order of Sibernians.— Lodge No. 1 of this Order was organized in Peoria
April 18, 1875, with 19 original members. On 25th of the same month, its first election

of officers was held, with the following result : County Delegate, Eugene McCarthy

;

Pres., Thos. J. Kelly ; V. P., M. J. Cody ; Fin. Sec, James E. Walsh ; Cor. Sec, Jos.

F. Manning ; Treas., James R. Murphy, and they were forthwith installed in office,

by County Delegate Gallagher. The present membership is about 45, and its officers

are, Pres., John Downs ; V. P., Lawrence Dwyer ; Sec, D. J. Allmon ; Fin. Sec,
John Dolan ; Treas., James McGinn ; State's Delegate, P. W. Gallagher ; County Dele-
gate, J. G. Higgins. The Regular meetings of the Society are on the first Sunday
afternoon of each month, at Fenian Hall, on Main Street.

BENEVOLENT AND MISCELLANEOUS SOCIETIES.

Woman's Refuge of Reform.— This institution was first opened in January, 1877, by
a few benevolent Christian ladies of the city, who became impressed with the necessity

of its establishment, in the course of their labors while connected with other charitable

societies. It was designed for the reformation of fallen women, and to afford them a

Refuge secure from their former associates, where they might form and mature good res-

olutions, under the influence of the prayers and counsels of these noble women. lu

June, 1877, the Refuge was closed, and remained so until the 15th day of October fol-

lowing, when it was opened with Mrs. McCoy as Matron. In April, 1878, the present
organization was formed, and the society was incorporated under charter in the follow-

ing year. The first Refuge was on Hale Street, where it remained for about two years,

thence removing to 613 N. Washington Stijeet, and then in December, 1879, to its pres-

ent location at 913, 4th Street. The ladies who are interested in it, make regular visits

to the houses of prostitution in the city, and try to induce the girls to come to the

Refuge. After a residence in it of a year, to permit the growth of good resolutions for

the future, and to test the sincerity of their desires to reform, they are either returned
to their friends, or good places are found for them in Christian homes. During their

stay in the Refuge, they assist in their own support by sewing, etc. Since October 15,

1877, till now, upwards of 25 girls have been regularly admitted to the home and have
stayed in it for considerable periods, and four or five others have stayed for short periods,

on trial. Of this number, the ladies have good reason to believe, ten are doing well, and
several girls who have experienced the beneficial influences of the Refuge, have since

been married. The home has at present, two inmates, and can accommodate six. It is

supported solely by charitable donations, and although much of the coal and almost all

the provisions are thus contributed, it still takes almost $500 a year in cash to meet its

requirements. The present officers of the Society are, president, Mrs. Wm. Weis ; vice-

presidents, Mrs. Fall and Mrs. Hallcomb ; secretary, Mrs. Wm. Reynolds ; treasurer,

Mrs. I. Benton ; Matron, Mrs. Chase. Regular meetings are held at the Refuge
every second Wednesday afternoon.

Ladies' Hebrew Benevolent Society is the oldest Hebrew Benevolent Society in the
city, and was organized about twenty-two years ago, by the Hebrew ladies of Peoria, for

the care of their resident poor, and also of needy sojourners of their own faith who might
be temporarily resident in it. It was born of a strong feeling of sympathy for the suffer-

ings entailed by poverty, and has been in active, helpful existence ever since. Mrs»
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Henry C. UUman, Mrs. Goodhart, and Mrs. Frank, were prominently connected with the
organization of the society, and Mrs. Ullman is now, and has been for the past thirteen

years, its president. There are about twenty-five active members, all of whom occupy
prominent positions in the Hebrew society of the city. The charity is dispensed by a

standing committee, appointed annually by the president, which for the present year con-
sists of the following ladies : Mrs. Schwartzmann, Mrs. Loewenthal, and Mrs. Frank.
The other officers of the society are : Vice-presid'ent, Mrs. Max Newman ; cashier, Mrs.

Lyon ; secretary, Mrs. Schradzki ; sick committee, Mrs. Jacob Swabacher and Mrs.
Aaron Ullman. Regular meetings are held at Jewish church on Fulton Street, on the

first Sunday of each month.
Peoria Hebrew Relief Association.—This society was organized by some of the He-

brew ladies of the city, about four years ago, and has for its object the relief and assistance,

in the way of clothing and the necessaries of life, of the poor in the city, without reference to

creed or nationality. In certain pressing cases, money is also given. The materials for

clothing are bought by the purchasing committee, which consists for the present year of Mrs.
Henry Ullman and Mrs. Schradzki, made up by the members at their homes, and the gar-

ments, when completed, are distributed under the supervision of the visiting committee.
Much of the relief thus dispensed is to need}' Gentile families. For the present year the

officers of the association are : President, Mrs. Loewenthal ; vice-president, Mrs. Jacob
Swabacher ; cashier, Mrs. Henry Ullman ; secretary, Mrs. A. Schradzki.

Regular meetings are held at Jewish Temple on Fulton Street, on the first Thurs-
day in each month.

The Sisters of Peace.—This society is composed of Hebrew ladies, and has for its

object the assistance and relief of the poor of their own faith in the city. It has been in

existence about six years ; was organized under the efforts of the Mrs. Woolner, Bennett,
and Nusbaun, and has been the medium through which much practical charity has been
dispensed. Mrs. Weal is now president ; Mrs. Woolner, cashier ; and Miss F. Bennett,
secretary. Its meetings are held on the first Sunday in each month, in the Jewish church
on Seventh Street.

Masonic Benefit Association of Illinois was organized in Peoria in 1879, and incor-

porated June 9, of that year. " The objects of this association are, to benefit the wid-
ows, orphans, heirs or devisees of deceased members, and for no other purposes what-
ever." The requisite qualifications for membership are, that the applicant be an affiliated

Master Mason, in good standing, a resident of the United States of America, in good
health, and between twenty-one and sixty years of age. The benefit in case of death, is

on the mutual plan, and is raised by assessment, upon the surviving members. The as-

sessment is fixed according to age at time of admission to membership, and never changes
thereafter. The association consists of four divisions. The benefit in the first division,

is limited to $1,000. In the second to $2,000. In the third to $3,000, and in the fourth

to $5,000, but the membership in each division is unlimited. The officers of the associa-

tion are: President, P. J. Singer; vice president, B. Meals ; secretary, F. H. Wagner;
treasurer, John C. Yates ; medical director, H. Steele, M. D. ;

general agent, John
Thomas ; directors, H. P. Tracy, Elmwood ; A. B. Sawyer, Pekin, and C. J. Off, T. D.
Gault, B. Meals, J. J. Steiger, A. L. Schimpff, Alex. Hearst and P. J. Singer of Peoria.

The offices of the association are at 428 South Washington Street, where the regular

business meetings are held, on the second Tuesday in each month.
Peoples' Lean and Homestead Association.— The charter under which this associa-

tion does business, bears date June 12, 1874, and the association itself was organized Jan-
uary 21, 1878. Its object is, " to accumulate capital, to be loaned only among the mem-
bers, for the purpose of building and improving homesteads." Its present membership
is about 417, and its officers are : President, F. Cantelo ; secretary, S. N. Kinney. The
stock is issued in series semi-annually, and the number of shares now in force is 5,084.
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The total assets were $52,042.90 at date of last report, and its rate of interest 7^^ per

cent, per annum. Regular meetings on third Monday of each month.

CATHOLIC SOCIETIES.

St. Mary's CatTioUe Benevolent Society was organized in 1872, in connection with St.

Mary's Parish, and had about forty original members. Its funds are derived from small

monthly payments, and members while disabled through sickness or accident, receive a

weekly benefit therefrom. In case of death, an assessment is made upon, each member,
sufficient to pay all funeral expenses, etc. Its present officers are : President, Andrew
Doyle ; vice president, James Gowran ; secretary, James Durkin ; treasurer, Nicholas

Bourke ; Board of Managers, William Cosgrove, James Kenny, Thos. Moran, P. Mc-
Hugh and C. Flannigan. Regular meetings on first Sunday in each month, in the Hall

of St. Mary's School.

Knights of Father Matthew.— This order was organized in Peoria in August, 1877,

is a combined total-abstinence and benefit society. The order is quite strong, and the

members make a fine appearance in their striking uniform, whenever they appear in pub-

lic. Members must be Catholics, and between the ages of sixteen and thirty-five years.

Members while sick receive a weekly benefit of $5 for ten weeks, and in case of death

$50 is devoted for the purpose of defraying funeral expenses. The present officers of

the society are : Chief Sir Knight, D. J. AUman ; deputy sir knight, D. Donovan ; re-

corder, James CuUen ; financial recorder, Wm. J. O'Bi'ien ; corresponding recorder,

Thos. F. Crowe ; banker, Thos. O'Shaughnessy ; grand commander, James CuUen ; com-
mander, E. J. O'Rourk ; senior commander, T. J. Grace ; junior commander, Dennis
O'Brien. Regular meetings are held in St. Mary's School Hall.

Father Matthew's Total Abstinence and Benevolent Society is connected with St. Pat-

rick's Parish, and was organized September 21, 1873. The objects of the society are in-

dicated by its name. It has 130 members and is presided over by William Welch.
Benevolent and temperance societies are in existence in connection with all the

other parishes in the city, but owing to the difficulty of finding their officers we are un-

able to give detailed particulars regarding them.
German WorMngmen's Society.— This society was organized about 1859, and was in-

corporated under charter in the following year. It is a mutual benefit society. Its

funds are kept up by small weekly payments from each member while in health, and
when the dark days of sickness and death come a sufficient sum may be drawn there-

from to meet the requirements of the case. The membership is not strictly confined to

Germans, but as all its business is conducted in that language, there are few, if any of

its members, who are not conversant with it. Its business affairs are well and conserva-

tively managed, and it has a reserve fund of $2,000 with which to meet any extraordi-

nary call upon it. The society has about 125 members, and its present officers are

:

President, Adam Lucas ; vice president, Timothy Weisbrook ; secretary, Chris. Jager

;

treasurer, Haberer. Regular meetings are held on first Tuesday in each month,
in German school-house on Second Street.

WorMngmen's Loan and Homestead Association was organized August 1, 1873, and
shortly thereafter incorporated under the laws of the State. Has now about 500 stock-

holders ; a nominal capital of $500,000 and paid up capital of about $175,000. The
present officers are : President, R. C. Grier ; secretary, J. D. McClure. The regular

meetings of the association are on the first Monday evening of each month, in the old

Court-house on Hamilton Street.

G-erman Fire Insurance Co. of Peoria. — This is the only local insurance company in

the county, and was incorporated May 10, 1876, under the laws of the State, and began
business on 12th of same month. It is doing a large, safe and profitable business, con-

fined exclusively to the State of Illinois, and as a matter of policy takes no risks either
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in Chicago or East St. Louis. The company is enterprising in pursuit of business, and
has 400 agents throughout the State. It is authorized to issue stock to the amount of

$500,000, and the paid up capital is $100,000. Premium receipts for last year were about
$34,000, and interest receipts nearly $6,000. Net surplus as regards policy-holders, after

deducting reinsured reserve, and all other claims against the company is $105,476.41.

The head ofiSce is at 421 S. Washington Street, and the present officers of the company
are : President, Louis Green ; vice president, Bernard Cremer ; secretary, F. H. Wag-
ner ; treasurer, M. Pfeifer ; general agent, D. B. Phelps ; special agent, F. E. Chase.

MILITARY ORGANIZATIONS.

Organization and History of the National Blues.— The citizens of Peoria for some
time previous to 1 856, had been impressed with the necessity of having among them one
or more volunteer companies, who would be available in case their services should be re-

quired in protecting property aud aid in enforcing the laws. And in order to get an
expression from those who were disposed to favor such an organization, a meeting was
held on the 9th day of July, 1856, in Engine House No. 2, on North Adams Street, in

said city, Andrew J. Hodges was appointed chairman and George S. Blakely, secretary.

At that meeting the question was very fully discussed as to the necessity, and prospect of

organizing '& iirst-class volunteer company of infantry, and it was resolved that such a

company be at once formed. A list of the names of those who were desirous of joining

the organization was read. A committee was appointed to draft a constitution and by-
laws composed of the following gentlemen: Charles E. Denison, Addison S. Norton, D.
M. Cummings, William A. Thrush and John Bryner. A committee to solicit subscrip-

tions from the citizens was appointed as follows : Casper W. Rees, George S. Blakely,

D. M. Cummings, H. G. Anderson, and Geo. H. Mcllvaine. Geo. H. Mcllvaine was
appointed treasurer, pro tern. Wm. A. Thrush, Jos. W. Ball and John C. Proctor, were
appointed a committee to procure music, and A. S. Palmer, John Bryner and D. M.
Cummings, were appointed a committee to procure a drill-room for the company.

On the 12th of July, 1856, another meeting was held at the same place at which a

constitution and by-laws were presented by the committee and adopted, except as to the

name and uniform of the company. C. E. Denison, E. B. Elwood and Wm. A. Thrush,
were appointed a committee to report a suitable name for the company. L. G. Pratt, H.
G. Anderson, C. E. Denison, John Bryner and A. S. Norton, were appointed to report a

suitable uniform for the company.
At this meeting the commissioned officers were elected for one year, as follows :

Captain, Charles E. Denison.
First Lieutenant, John Bryner.
Second Lieutenant, John N. Cromwell.
Third Lieutenant, William A. Thrush.
Measures were also taken to procure arms and accoutrements, and a resolution was

passed that the company adopt a temporary uniform, consisting of a black frOck coat,

white pants and a glazed or blue cap.

At a meeting held at the same place on the 16th of July, 1856, the committee on
uniforms reported in favor of the regulation uniform of the United States Army, with
such additions as might be deemed proper. The report was adopted.

The committee on company name reported the name of the " Central City Infantry,"

which was adopted. The constitution was then signed by those present.

At a meeting held at Armory Hall, third story over Scheadzlio store on Main Street,

July 19, 1856, on motion of A. S. Palmer the vote of the company at the previous

meeting adopting the name of " Central City Infantry," was re-considered. The name
of " City Blues " was suggested by Mr. Palmer. Mr. Anderson moved to amend by in-

serting "Governor's Guards." Mr. Bishop moved to amend by inserting "Bissell
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Guards." Mr. Palmer suggested " Peoria Blues," and Mr. Morrell " Washington Blues,"

and the names being voted on separate, the motion to adopt in each case was lost. Geo.
S. Blakely suggested the name of " National Blxtbs," which was adopted and ordered

to be engrossed in the constitution.

Charles P. James was elected secretary and George H. Mcllvaine was elected

treasurer for one year.

Muster roll of the active members of the National Blues, organized July 12, 1856, and
the rank they held in that organization

:

Anderson Horace G - - 2d Lieutenant
*Barr Joseph W ..Private

Batchelder John H Private

Batton John Private

Bills Roswell Private

Bishop Alexander -. Private

*BlakeIy George S .3d Sergeant

Blakely J. Murray. 4th Corporal

*Bryner John 1st Lieutenant and Captain
Buell John... Private

*Burt William Drummer
Bush John A Private

Cassel Elijah Private

Chambers Rush W Private

Cole Johnson S ..Private

Cox Richard S Private

Crane Gerard S Private

*Cummings David M Private

Cunningham James M . . 3d Leut. 2d Lieut, and Captain
Davidson Peter Private

Davis William H 3d Corporal
*Dee Maurice Private

Doty Chambers S 1st Corporal
Eisenhauer Adam Private

Fash James S Private

Forsyth Henry H Private

Fullerton William H 4th Corporal
McBurnie Robert Private

McClure John D Private

McKinney David ist Corporal
McKinney J. Smith.. Private

Mcllvaine George H 2d Corporal
Mcllvaine Robert S ' .Private
Meals Barnhart Private

*Mendenhall William Armorer
Merrill Joseph H Private

Morrell Charles H ..Private
Murphy James K... Private
Neill Hugh ..Private
*Norton Addison S 1st Sergeant
*Oberhauser Louis Private
Odell George W Private
Palmer Archibald S Private

*Pierce Henry C Fifer
Pierce Cyrus H Private
Pratt Lorin G Private
Proctor John C 2d Sergeant

*Purple Charles K Private

Those marked thus (*) are dead.

The following members entered the Union army at the outbreak of the rebellion and
attained the rank set opposite their names—

Joseph W. Barr, Lieut, in 8th Missouri Infantry, and 2d Lieut, in the Chicago Mer-
cantile Battery. Mortally wounded at the battle of Sabine Cross Roads, La., on the 8th
of April, 1864, died April 10, 1864, and was buried at Mansfield, La.

Funke Otto Private

Gaines H. L... Private

Gonshee William Private

Graham Samuel H Private

Grier David P Private

Guill John W ...Private

*HaIe Charles C. Private

Hall Augustus H Private

Hamaker John G Private

Haggard Samuel P 2d Corporal
Henderson John M Private

Henon David W.. Private

*Higbie John Private

Hodges AndreHT J .Private

Hopkins Henry B .Private

Hough John — Private

Hudson Edward Private

Humphrey Edward J Private

James Charles P Private

Jakelfalusy Alexander Private

King Henry C Private

Kuhn JohnF Private

Kuhn William E Private

Laughlin Michael B 4th Corporal
*Lowry John F Private

Lynch Timothy Color Sergeant
* Martin John Private

Rees Casper W Private

Roehrig Antony Private

Ryan Abraham H 3d Sergeant

Solomon Frederick Private

Sheaire Emil _ Private

Sinnot Nicholas B Private

Smith J. T Private

*Smythe Thomas A. H Private

*Snyder David D Private

Stricklee Walter C Private

*Sweeny Benjamin ^. Fifer

Thompgon Joseph H 3d Corporal

*Thrush William A 3d Lieut. 2d Lieut.

Van Buskirk Harry M Private

Vance William B Private

Voodey Alvah W Private

Wetzel John 3d Lieutenant
Winchel Elias ..Private

Whiffin William B Private

Wonder James A Drummer
Zeigler John R 4th Corporal
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John H. Batchelder, Lieut. Co. C. 85th 111. Inf., died and was buried at Chillicothe,
in this county.

John Bryner, Colonel 47th 111. Inf., resigned on account of ill health, and was re-

appointed to same command ; died at Springfield, 111., on the 19th of March, 1865, and
was buried in Springdale Cemetery, in this county.

Rush W. Chambers, Adjutant 47th 111. Inf.

Girard S. Crane, Commissary Sergt. 17th 111. Inf.

John N, Cromwell, Colonel 47th 111. Inf. Killed at Jackson, Miss., and buried at Pat-
erson, N. J.

David M. Cummings, Lieut. Co. F. 11th 111. Cavalry. Died at Peoria and was buried
in Springdale.

Peter Davidson, Capt. Peoria Battery, and Colonel of 139th 111. Inf. Killed by explo-
sion of fulminating powder, at Titusville, Pa., and was buried there.

Maurice Dee, Lieut. 11th 111. Cavalry. Killed at Memphis, Tenn., and buried in Spring-
dale.

Charles E. Denison, Capt. 18th Regulars Infantry. Mortally wounded at the battle of
Murfreesboro, Dec. 21, 1862, and died January 15, 1863, and was buried in Springdale.

Otto Funke, Colonel 11th 111. Cavalry, and Brevet Brigadier.
William Gousher, Sergt. Co. F., 47th 111. Inf.

David P. Grier, Colonel 77th 111. Inf. and Brevet Brigadier.

John Hough, Asst. Adjt.-Genl., and Brevet Brigadier.

Alexander Jekelfalusy, Sergt. Co. E., 8th 111. Inf.

William E. Kuhn, Sergt.-Major 47th 111. Inf.

John D. McClure, Colonel 47th 111. Inf.

David McKinney, Lieut. Quarter-Master, 77th in. Inf.

Hugh Neil, Capt. 8th Missouri Infantry.

Addison S. Norton, Colonel 17th 111. Inf. and Major in Regular Army. Died and was
buried at Selina, Kansas.

Louis Obeehauser, Hospital Steward, 6th 111. Cavalry Buried in Springdale.
Henry C. Pierce, Fifer 8th and 47th 111. Infantuy. Buried in Springdale.
Charles K. Purple, Capt. Co. G., 67th 111. Inf. Buried in Springdale.
Anthony Roehrig, Capt. Co. A. 11th Illinois Cavalry.
Abraham H. Ryan, Lieut. 17th 111. Inf. and Colonel of a colored regiment.
Emil Shears, 8th 111. Inf.

David D. Synder, Corp. Co. E., 8th 111 Inf. Buried in Springdale.
Benjamin Sweeny, in an Ohio regiment.
William A. Thrush, Colonel 47th 111. Inf. Killed at the battle of Corinth, October, 3,

1862, and buried in Springdale.

John Wetzel, Capt. Co. E. 8th 111. Inf.

James A. Wonder, Drum Major 47th 111. Inf.

John R. Zeigler, Capt. Co. F. 11th 111. Cavalry.

Archibald S. Palmer, commanded a U. S. vessel on the Mississippi.

If the rebellion had not broken out in 1861, there is no doubt but the Old Blues
would have been an eflScient organization now, but the war unsettled and disorganized
every thing, and as nearly every man in the Blues was capable of taking charge of a com-
pany, it was thought that better service could be rendered the Government by several
organizations than by one, and the members were permitted to raise companies and
obtain higher positions than could be reached in a mere company organization. Thirty-
four members entered the Union army, and with the brilliant record of all of them, Peoria
has evinced a commendable pride, and with the heroic death of many of them, all are pain-
fully familiar.
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Grand Army of the Bepuhlio.—Col. John Bryner Post, No. 67, of Peoria, Ills., was
organized on the 9th day of October, 1879, and named in honor of the late John Bryner,

Colonel of the 47th Ills. Vol. Infantry.

The Post has a membership of seventy-six, holds meetings in their new hall, just

completed and fitted up, where you will find among its members some of the leading men
of the city.

ROSTER OF OFFICERS.

P. C, George Puterbaugh.
S. V. C, Isaac Taylor.

J. V. C, Wm. McLean.
Adj., James M. Rice.

Q. M., George M. Bush.
Surg., James T. Stewart.

Chap., Rev. W. S. Post.

O. D., B. C. Bryner.

O. G., L. P. Lapham.
S. M., Jacob M. Copes.

Q. M. S., Robt. M. Campbell.

ROSTER.

Wells Henry W. Co. D 112 Ills. Infty. m.o. as maj.
McLean William, Co. C 2d Iowa Infty. m.o. private.

Kinsey John W. Co. B nth Cav. Ills. m.o. 2dlieut.

Copes Jacob M. Co. B 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. lieut. maj.
Easton Charles S. Co. E 8th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Burt Richard M. Co. G 76th Ohio Infty. m.o. ist lieut.

Campbell Robert M. Co. F 17th Ills. Infty. m.o. capt.

Qualman Charles, Co. K 3d Ind. Cav. m.o. maj
Swayze Benjamin, Co. B 108th Ills. Infty. m.o. sergt.

Yates John H. Co. B 7th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Lapham Levi A. Co. F 139th Ills. Infty. m.o. sergt.

McClure John D. Co. C 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. col.

Adair A. A. Co. E 78th Ohio Infty. m.o. capt.

Miller Henry H. Co. A 77th Ills. Infty. m.o. capt.

Bush George M. Co. A 17th Ills. Infty. m.o. corpl.

McDermot John E. Co. G io8th Ills. Infty. m.o. corpl.

Arends Henry L. Co. A 151st Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Taylor Isaac, Co. H 3d Minn. Infty. m.o. capt.

Bryner Byron C. Co. I 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Buchanan Wm. G. Co. E nth Ills. Cav. m.o. 2d lieut.

Puterbaugh George, Co. F 8th Ills. Infty. m.o. capt.

ElUsOliver P. Co. E 47th Ills. Infty. and 17th Ills. Infty.

m.o. musician.
Rice James M. Co. E loth Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Stewart James X- physician 64th Ills. Infty. rank maj.
asst. surg.

Hitchcock Frank, Co. H 86th Ills. Infty. m.o. capt.

Cutter William.
Elliott P. F. Co. E nth Ills. Cav. m.o. maj.
Baker Samuel R. Co. E 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. lieut. col.

Knowles Howard, Co. D isgth Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Summers Robert W. Co. E. 77th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Charles Haller E.
Post Wm. Stephen, Co. D 8 1st Ills. Infty. m.o. chaplain.
Clark Emmet M. Cos. F 139th Ills. Infty. and E 151st

Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Dodge Samuel W. Co. C 96th Ills. Infty. m.o. serg. sig.

corps.

Wilson Geo. A. Co. G 17th Ills. Infty. and 14th Ills. Cav.
m.o. asst. surg.

Detweiller Henry, capt. U. S. Steamer (Yankee).
Champney Oscar B. Co. H 20th Ills. Infty. m.o. 4th serg.

Zimmerman Andrew, Co. E 82d Ills. Infty. m.o. corpl.
Hursch Adolph, Co. I 8th Ills. Infty. and 31st Ills. Infty.

m.o. private.

THE FIRE DEPARTMENT.

On January 8, 1844, at a meeting of the trustees, on motion, it was resolved that the

trustees recommend that a meeting of citizens of the town of Peoria be called by public

notice to meet at the Court-house on Tuesday evening next at half past six o'clock P.

Niglas J. N.
Schroder George, Co. L nth Ills. Cav. m.o. private.

Boerckel John F. Co. K 2d U. S. Infty. m.o. private.

Kruse John.
Schimpff Albert L. Co. A 26th Mo. Infty. m.o. private.

Henderson Andrew R.
Brandt Henry, Co. K nth Ohio, m.o. private.

Hansel Jacob C. Co. A 2d Ills. Art. m.o. 1st lieut.

Phillips Francis M. Co. A 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Place Emmerson O. Co. H 86th Ills. Infty. m.o. u. sergt.

Auten James B. Co. C 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. 1st lieut.

Wallin Aaron E. Co. B 4th Ills. Cav. m.o. private.

Lathy John F. Co. F 139th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Jones Geo. W. Co. C 148th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Wonder James A. Co. C 47th Ills. Infty. m.o. drum
maj.

Distler Paul, Co. H nth Ills. Cav. m.o. capt.

Schaerer Thopholus, Co. A nth Ills. Cav. m.o. maj.

Rummel Carl F. Cos. D 13th Ills. Cav. and F 139th Ills.

Infty. m.o. corpl.

Kueny Florin, Co. D 2d Ills. Art. m.o. corpl.

Deane Charles H. 86th Ills. Infty. m.o. lieut. col.

Gilliy Charles E. Co. E 8th Ills. Infty. m.o. col. bearer.

Bassett Mark M. Co. E 53d Ills. Infty. m.o. capt.

Kimball George H. 7th Mann battery, m.o. private.

Tripp Stephen S. Co. G nth Ills. Cav. m.o. capt.

Wilson Joseph F. 8th Ills. Infty. m.o. brv. maj.

Lamplin Oliver B. Co. K 155th Ills. Infty. m.o. private.

Dibble Edward H. Co. D 135th N. Y. Infty. m.o.

private.

Ballance Chas. Cos. F 139th Ills. Infty. and E 151st Ills.

Infty. m.o. private.

Hedrick John E.Co. D nth Ills. Cav. m.o. 2d lieut.

Schimpff Geo. H. Co. H 8th Mo. Infty. m.o. private.

Kinney Sidney N. 169th N. Y. Vol. Infty. m.o. 1st lieut.

R.Q M.
Maurer John, Co. B 39th N. Jersey, m.o. private.

Tursh Oscar, Co. C 53d Pa. Infty. m.o. private.

Ross N. L. Co. H 20th Ills. Vol. m.o. private.

Wasson James T. Co. E 8th Ills. Infty. and 8th Ills. Cav.

m.o. sergt.

Ayers Henry P.

Lawrence John G. Co. B nth Ills. Cav. m.o. private.
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M., for the purpose of devising means to protect property from loss by fire, and that the
clerk be authorized to give such notice and to furnish light, etc., for the meeting, and to

charge the same to the town.
Sept. 10, 1846, the City Council passed the following :

Resolved, That Charles W. McClallan, Lewis Howell and Charles T. Stearns (Mayor) be and are hereby ap-
pointed a committee to purchase, at the expense of the city, a good fire engine and hose.

Nov. 23, 1846, on motion of John Hamlin, it was resolved that the Engine Committee
be and are hereby authorized to make a contract for another engine similar to the one al-

ready purchased, if it can be got by paying $500 down and the balance on the first day
of Nov. next. These machines were purchased in Boston, Mass., and came by water by
way of New Orleans ; built by Hunneman ; cost $1,250 each.

June 8, 1847, a petition was presented to the City Council by H. Hahn and signed

M. S. Menard and a number of citizens, requesting that they be allowed to form them-
selves into Fire Co. No. 2. On motion of Lewis Howell, the petition was granted.

March 21, 1848, a committee was appointed by the City Council to purchase lot 3,

in block 6, for $300, for engine and City Hall. Committee were Lewis Howell, C. W.
McCIellan and Dennis Blakely.

Jan. 7, 1851, the following citizens made application to be organized into Fire Co.

No. 1 : Michael Fash, foreman ; T. M. Templin, 1st assistant ; D. D. Syder, 2d assistant;

John Ramsey, treasurer ; James Milligan, secretary.

Members.— John Anderson, James A. Caswell, B. T. Baldwich, W. C. Reynolds,
P. C. Bartlett, B. L. T. Bourland, J. J. Thomas, Jesse Rice, O. H. Batty, John Com-
stock, Peter Kinney, James Bramble, and 25 others. This company was organized into

Fire Company No. 1. The engine was then taken from the old Market house on Wash-
ington Street, to the new room in City Hall building, Adams Street. May 4, 1869, Fire

Co. No. 1 was again disbanded by the City Council.

Illinois Engine Co. No. 2.—Organized on June 8, 1847, with 34 members. In 1852
this Company moved from the old Market house to where now stands the Central City

hose house. In 1854 they received their new Button engine and re-organized into

Neptune Engine Co. No. 2.

Fire Co. Young America., No. 2, was organized Jan. 4, 1858, with 66 members.
John Goodman was foreman; O. H. Norton, 1st assistant; John Waugh, 2nd assistant;

J. F. Shaw, secretary, and H. R. Moore, treasurer. Their engine was a Hunneman make
(old No. 1). Their engine house was Hurd's barn, in Nowland's alley. In the Fall of

1858 the City Council gave them the Button Engine, known as Neptune No. 2. Also
the building now occupied by Central City Hose Co. The company then changed their

No. from No. 4 to 2. This company disbanded on the 12th of October, 1865. They
were the winners of many elegant prizes in contests.

Germania Fire Co. No. 3.—Organized in February, 1853, with 16 members. First

machine was made by Kuepferle, at St. Louis. In 1860 they received a new engine, made
by Wm. Jeffers. In August, 1867, they gave their hand engine to the city, having pur-

chased a Jeffers steamer, the city paying part. The company kept their first machine in

an old blacksmith shop on Washington Street, near the old Board of Trade building. In
the Summer of 1854 they removed to their new house, built for thepa on Liberty Street.

This company won many elegant prizes at tournaments, and did valuable service in the

extinguishment of fires.

New Peoria Fire Company, No. 4.—Organized October 26, 1858, with sixteen men
besides the foreman, Joseph Shock. Their first engine was the old No. 1. October 20,

1865, the City Council transferred the Button Engine, Young America, No. 2, to them,
which they are now the owners of. They are the conquerors of many a hard fought

tournament, winning the State champion broom three times in succession ; also the na-
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tional championship, at Chicago, September 4, 1878, with f000 in gold. The company
have a benevolent organization for themselves, with $5,500 in the treasury. They
are the only volunteer company in the city, and still render valuable assistance at

fires.

Steamer Central City No. 1.—Placed in service May 21, 1866. Hank Seely, engineer

;

Ben. Wright, stoker ; hosemen, O. H. Norton, John Waugh, and M. Pevex ; salaries

—

engineer, $90 per month ; hosemen and stoker, $45 per month each. The hosemen and
stoker were allowed to work at their trades, they being only required to be on duty in

time of fires.

In the Summer of 1870, the steamer was laid up, the water works taking her

place. The same Summer the Gamewell Fire Alarm Telegraph system was accepted by
the city.

The first fire bell was on the frame church, on Main Street, where now stands

Bushe's Block.
Neptune Engine Company No. 5, was organized September 3, 1867, with A. J. Fosby,

president ; Wm. Roth, foreman ; Chas. Waugh, 1st assistant ; Louis Zinger, secretary ;

Emil Huber, treasurer ; Ed. Owens, steward ; and thirty-five members. Although this

company was short-lived, it did efficient service at fires during its existence. It

was disbanded by the City Council, May 19, 1869, the water works taking its place.

Phoenix Hook and Ladder Company No. 1, was organized February 10, 1856, with

ten members.
The following is the roster of the Chiefs and Assistants, with date of their accession

to office

:

1845. Dec. 22. Chester Hamlin, P. I. Mosher, Clark
Cleveland.

1846. Clark Cleveland, Amos P. Bartlett.

1847. Clark Cleveland.

1848. A. P. Bartlett, C. M. McClellan, W. M. Dodge.
1849. Hugh J. Sweeny, C. H. Ruggles, James Heaton.

1849. Clark Cleveland.

1850. Chas. H. Ruggles, James Heaton, James Haz-
zard.

1851. Chas. H. Ruggles, A. P. Bartlett, Jamer Haz-
zard.

1852. Peter Sweet, James Hazzard, Luther Card.

1853. Chas. W. McCIellen, W. J. Haskell, James Haz-
zard,

1854. Hugh J. Sweeny, W. J. Haskell, Thomas Scho-
ler.

1855. A. P. Bartlett, W. J. Haskell, Thomas Scholer.

1856. James Hazzard, Thomas Scholer.

1857. Wm. H. Haskell, James L. Fash, Godfrey Gold-
beck.

1858. Z. N. Hotchkiss, John Waugh, Peter Blumb.
1859. Z. N. Hotchkiss, John Waugh, Thomas Scholer.

i860. H. G. Anderson, Thomas Scholer, Albert Pott-

hoff.

1861. J. J. Thomas, Leopold Ballingberg, John Weber.
186 1. John Waugh.
1862. J. J. Thomas, Thomas Scholer, John Mahler.
1863. J. J. Thomas, J. Dockstader, E. Kramb.
1864. M. B. Laughlin, Wm. H. Still.

1865. J. J. Thomas, Wm. H. Still.

1866. J. J. Thomas, John Weber, Wm. Glass.

1867. John Waugh, M. Hutt, M. Pfei£Fer.

1868. John Waugh, John Weber, Wm. Glass.

1869. Held over.

1870. Nicholas Louis.

1871. Supt. Water Works, Carl Miller, Wm. Roth.
1872. Supt. Water Works, Carl Miller, Wm. Roth.
1873. Supt. Water Works, Wm. McLean.
1874. Supt. Water Works, E. S. Easton, Pat. Toben.
1875. O. H. Norton, elected.

1876. O, H. Norton, appointed by the Mayor.
1877. O. H. Norton, appointed by the Mayor.
1878. James H.White, appointed by the Mayor.
1879. James H.White, appointed by the Mayor.

At the present time the engines are in service as follows : Old No. 1, at Elmwood,
111.; New No. 1, at Mendota, IlL; Illinois No. 2, iron pile; Neptune No. 2, Young Amer-
ica No. 2, at Peoria ; New JPeoria No. 4, Germania No. 3, iron pile ; Germania No. 3,

Henry, 111.; Germania No. 3, steamer. Rock Island ; Central City, steamer. Independence,
Iowa.

The Paid Fire Department.—March 9, 1875, on motion of Alderman Chas. Kellogg,
the ordinance creating a paid fire department was taken up and passed by a unanimous
vote. Alderman White, at the same meeting, moved to go into the election of chief. J.

J. Thomas received two votes, Dan. Keef two, John Waugh, Jr. two, O. H. Norton eight

votes. O. H. Norton was declared elected, at a salary of $1,000 per annum.
The paid department was organized March 9, 1875, and its first members were : O.
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H. Norton, chief ; Central Hose Co., Jess Hammett, James Smith, Adam Schneider;
Holly Hose Co., Henry Schearer, Xavier Stuttzmann, Maurice Lynch ; Bluff Hose Co., H.
F. Johnson, James Wasson, H. J. Clawson; Chemical Engine No. 1, John Waugh, F. M.
Phillips, David Deck ; Chemical Engine No. 2, Adam Schneider, Chas. Upton, Maurice
Lynch.

The present force of the paid department consists of three four-wheel hose carriages

and two two-tank chemical engines; one chief and fifteen paid men in full uniform.

They are all, by ordinance, required to give their whole time to the department. The
houses are fitted up with all the modern improvements, and in point of efficiency they

are among the first in the Union. The following are the present companies : Central

City Hose Co., placed in service 1870 ; Holly Hose Co., placed in service 1872 ; Bluff

Hose Co., placed in service 1875; Chemical No. 1, placed in service 1875 ; Chemical No.

2, placed in service 1877.

Cost of the fire department from its first organization in 1846 to 1880 : Real and
personal property, $165,000 ; Salaries and expense of maintenance, f108,500 ; making a

total of 1273,500. Number of fires and loss same time : Fires, 1,780 ; loss, $2,500,000.

Number of feet of hose, 19,300. Fire statistics from organization of the paid fire depart-

ment, 1875 to 1880

:

Year. Fires. Loss. Insurance. Expensee of Maintenance.

1875 53 $45,663 $90,970 $20,285.97
1876 45 85,617 121,250 I5,7I3.82

1877 76 ... 86,802 203,550 18,108.59

1878 80 71.562 244,550 17,345-36
1880 106 102,098 ... 1,835,710 18,897.14

Total, 260 $391,742 $2,496,030 $90,350.88

Before the introduction of the fire engines, it was the general understanding that

every citizen hearing an alarm of fire should carry his bucket, which was kept at some
convenient place, to the fire. They would then form themselves into two lines extend-
ing from the river or pumps to the fire ; one line passed the full buckets to the fire, the
other the empty buckets back. How would this bucket brigade compare with the pres-

ent efficient fire department, if they were brought into execution together ? The citizens

would shout, halt ! and stand aside, bucket brigade, to give room for the advanced and
enlightened firemen.

WATER SUPPLY.

In the early days of its history, the inhabitants of Peoria experienced little difficulty

in obtaining the requisite supply of good water. Numerous springs issued from the banks
along the margin of the Illinois river, which furnished the citizens in that vicinity, ex-

cept when the river was so high as to overflow them. The lower city is built upon a
plateau of porous drift or gravel, which is permeable and always saturated with water to

the level of the river, and below Adams street it is easily accessible by sinking wells.

Farther back toward the bluff a part of the people were supplied from springs, some
dozen of which flowed out in copious streams from its base ; and still others dug cisterns

into which they conducted the rainfall from their house-tops, and as they were not yet
subject to the annoyance from the use of coal as fuel, they could, by a little attention to

filtering, make this rain-water all that could be desired for drinking and household
purposes.

From Adams street back toward the bluff wells were found impracticable, because
of the great depth— over eighty feet— necessary to go to reach a permanent supply,

which could only be obtained by digging to the low water level of the river, and the wa-
ter could not be raised by the ordinar}' valve pump. Consequently Stephen Stillman
devised the

39
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FIRST -WATEK WORKS

as early as 1833, which consisted simply in conveying the water of a spring which issued

from the bluff in front of what was known as the old Frink residence— more latterly

owned by Dr. Cooper— through wooden pipes, bored by hand, to the Court-house square.

At the March term of the County Commissioners' Court an agreement was made
with Mr. Stillman, granting to him and his heirs and assigns the exclusive right to bring

water on to the public square. One of the principal objects of this grant probably was
to procure a supply of water to mix the mortar, and for other uses in the construction of

the new Court-house about to be erected. Stillman's water works were of short dura-

tion, owing to his inability to carry out the projected plans.

Subsequently a company was formed for a similar purpose, and a spring situated on
the northeast of section 8, T. 8 N., R. 8 E. of the fourth principal meridian was inclosed

with masonry of brick, and lead pipes were laid down into the city, conveying the water

to a number of families. And it soon became apparent that this was insufficient for gen-

eral uses.

Other attempts were afterwards made to organize water companies, but were unsuc-

cessful, and the people depended upon the sources before mentioned for this liquid ne-

cessity until the 19th of January, 1864, when Peoria having become a city of 20,000

population, the City Council became aware of the pressing need for a more extensive

water supply, and the following resolution was adopted

:

"Mesolved, That a committee of three, in connection with the City Engineer and
Surveyor, be appointed by the Mayor, to enquire into the expediency of erecting water

works in the city, and report plans and probable cost, expenses, and all things pertaining

to the same, at the next regular meeting of the Council."
The committee chosen was composed of Aid. Fredrick Bohl, P. R. K. Brotherson

and Mr. Dunne ; but before any report was made Mr. Dunne and City Engineer Russell

retired from the Council, and Isaac Underbill and M. B. Loughlin were appointed in

their stead. The committee handed in its report on June 21, 1864, which embraced
surveys, carefully prepared estimates of construction and running expenses of water
works adequate for 25,000 people. The committee estimated that it would be necessary

to issue bonds to the amount of about #300,000, in order to provide for the cost of the

works, the additional sewerage, etc., and recommended that the report be received and
placed on file, and a thousand copies be printed and distributed among the tax-payers of

the city ; and that the city charter be so amended by the next Legislature as to author-

ize the city to issue the requisite amount of bonds to complete the works, provided that

the majority of the voters in the city should vote in favor of issuing such bonds. The
report was received and recommendations concurred in. On the tenth day of April,

1865, at the general city election, a vote was taken on the question of the Water Works,
and out of 2,300 only 203 were cast in favor of the project.

In 1867 another election was ordered by the City Council on the question ; the elec-

tion was held in some of the wards, in October of that year, but as there was no election

in the 2d, 6th and 6th wards, the matter was dropped until February 4, 1868, at which
time Aid. Francis presented to the Council the following, which was adopted

:

" Resolved, That the Mayor be authorized to appoint a committee of three members of this Council to take into

consideration the matter of supplying the city with water ; and that said committee be empowered to employ a suit-

able engineer and assistants to make the necessary plans, surveys, estimates, etc., for the work, and submit the same
to the Council at the earliest possible moment ; and also that said committee be authorized to visit such places as

they may deem necessary to get information on the subject of water works."

Aids. Francis, Emery and Laughlin were appointed the committee, and on the 3d
of March. 1868, they made the following report

:

" That they had visited the cities of Chicago and St. Louis and made a personal examination of the works in

those cities
;
that they had not gone to the expense of employing an engineer for the season ; that from what they



HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY. 523

can learn from the plans and recommendations of O. Chanute, Esq., they are nearly what is needed, with slight ad-
ditions to the prices of labor and materials."

The committee urged the necessity of building water works at once, as by an act of
the legislature the city was authorized to issue bonds to the amount of $300,000, the
proceeds to be devoted to that purpose. That if a reservoir be located on the bluff at

the narrows— near the Frye place— it will be 200 feet above the low water mark and
seventy feet above the cupola of the Court-house, giving a head and force sufQcient to

obviate the necessity of any fire engines under the bluff. The committee reported " An
ordinance establishing water works in the city of Peoria," which was passed. At the

same time " An ordinance authorizing the Mayor of the city of Peoria to issue bonds to

the amount of 1300,000 for the purpose of building and completing water works in the
city of Peoria," was passed. On April 11, 1868, Aid. Francis presented the following

:

" Resolved, That the Mayor of the city of Peoria be and is hereby authorized and empowered to borrow from
time to time, as it may, in the opinion of the Water Works Committee be required, the sum of $300,000 at a rate of

interest not to exceed ten per cent., to enable said committee to pay the necessary expenses of the survey and esti-

mates for the proposed water works."

On May 25th the following were selected by the Council as the Water Works Com-
mittee : Aldermen Francis, Emery, Barker, Day and Kinsey. May 25th the committee
reported

:

Immediately upon the organization, your committee engaged with Joseph A. Locke, Assistant Engineer of the

Louisville Water Works, to make a survey and estimates of the cost of works capable of supplying the city of Peoria

with two millions gallons of water per day. Such survey and estimates were made, and the latter is herewith sub-

mitted :

Reservoir , -- -- $ 52,250
Pumping Works 45,35°
Force and Supply Mains - 76,558
Distribution 103,260

Engineering, etc - - - 32,641

Total - - - $310,059

The estimate does not cover the cost of ground for reservoir or pumping works.
The committee visited Cincinnati, Cleveland, Buffalo, Pittsburgh and Syracuse.

During the progress of the survey the attention of the committee was called to the

Holly system of water works, to which they were at first opposed, but after visiting

Lockport and Auburn, where this system was in operation, they were satisfied that nearly

$100,000 could be saved to the city by adopting the Holly instead of the reservoir sys-

tem. The committee reported the following estimate for building on the Holly plan

:

T.%% miles of Pipes, 130 Hydrants, etc - $i37.8n.53
20,000 ft. 8 in. Pipe for Bluft 33.634-78

Buildings, etc... - 7.772.00

Pumps, Engines, etc.. Holly System 40,000.00

Freight on Pumps, etc 3,500.00

Filtering Well, Inlet, Pipe, etc - - 12,650.00

Total - $235,368.31

The committee was authorized by the Council to contract with the Holly Manu-
facturing Company, of Lockport, N. Y., for the necessary engines, pumps and other

machinery for the' application of the company's system of water works to Peoria, at a

cost not to exceed the sum of $40,000. The city's agent in New York City was instructed

not to sell the city bonds, issued for building the water works for less than ninety cents

on the dollar.

After advertising for proposals, the contract for laying the water pipes was awarded

to Patrick Harmon ; and the contract for erecting the buildings for the water works was
let to Valentine Jobst. An ordinance was passed for locating the site, and purchasing

the land for the Peoria water works, and the right of way' over the steam ferry road.



624 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

On August 7th the committee reported that they had contracted with Gaylord & Co., of

Cincinnati, for one thousand tons of cast iron water pipes. The contract was approved

;

and a contract was made on June 30, 1869, with "William Smith, of Pittsburgh, for five

hundred tons of water pipe, at $69 per ton ; and an ordinance passed authorizing the

issue of $50,000 of water bonds, to complete the water works in the city of Peoria.

On August 1st water rents were issued against persons living on the line of water

pipes who took water.

The water works were completed in 1869. Twenty-five and one-fourth miles of

water pipe had been laid, and 200 double fire hydrants, with the capacity of one engine,

put in. The total cost of construction was $431,790.45. Five hundred one thousand

dollars bonds, bearing interest at six, seven, and ten per cent., were sold, from which was
realized the sum of $453,020.65.

Two pumps were purchased in 1875, a Dean, at a cost of $6,000, and a Cameron, at

a cost of $2,500.

The city now contains forty-six miles of water mains, and 253 fire hydrants. The
present pumping capacity of the works is 3,250,000 gallons in twenty-four hours. The
total yearly expenses of running the water system of the city, including wages, repairs,

and every thing save the interest on the bonded debt, is $15,800. The interest- on the

debt is $33,000 per annum.
The water works buildings are situated on the bank of the river in the upper end of

the city, some two miles from the Court-house, and are substantially built of brick. The
water is taken by means of a large main from the Illinois river— more properly Peoria

lake— some two hundred yards from the western shore. A careful chemical analysis of

the Peoria lake water, shows it to contain 3.36 grains of organic matter, and 4.42 grains

mineral matter to the gallon, a total of 7.60 grains. This analysis was made in the Win-
ter ; the water in the summer and fall would show a slightly increased per cent, of or-

ganic matter. The mineral matter is chiefly carbonates of lime, which, it is now claimed

by scientists, adds to the healthfulness of water for drinking, when not exceeding five to

ten grains to the gallon. There are several large cities in the country whose water sup-

plies contain a greater per cent, of solid matter. That of Rochester, N. Y., exceeds

eleven grains per gallon.

HOUSE OF CORRECTION.

In the present moral status of society, every considerable city is more or less afflicted

with a class of indigent petty criminals and vagabonds, whose chief aim is to subsist by
pilfering from the earnings and substance of honest, industrious people. This is especially

true of places which have the reputation of thrift and prosperity. Peoria is no exception

to this rule, and has her share of these pests. As the city grew in wealth and numbers,
it become apparent to the county and city of&cials that necessity demanded some steps

to be taken to reimburse the local treasuries for the expenses incurred in dealing with
this class of offenders, who were unable or unwilling to pay the fines assessed upon them.
After canvassing the matter it was deemed advisable to establish a House of Correction
in the city, where those violators of law and order could be incarcerated: and society

thus protected from further depredations, and at the same time compel the criminals to

labor to defray the cost of their living and to work out their penalties. Besides, the es-

tablishment of such a house would be an act of charity to the young and unwary who
had just taken the first steps in lawlessness and dissipation. By providing for them a
place where they would not be housed and associated with hardened criminals, where
humanizing influences would surround them, and, upon their release, the stigma of dis-

grace would not rest so heavily upon them as to ostracise them from respectable society,

and prevent them from securing employment by which to earn an honest living.

Accordingly, on the Sth day of May, 1878, at a joint meeting of' the two Boards, an



/ HISTORY OP PEORIA COUNTY. 625

article of agreement was executed and signed for the purpose of establishing such a
house. A committee of six members, three from the Board of Supervisors and three from
the Board of Aldermen, was chosen to purchase ^grounds and erect suitable buildings.
Six and a fourth acres of the northeasterly side of the water works grounds— formerly
the city park— was purchased, at a cost of $400 per acre, the county paying $2,500 of

the purchase money, and the city the remainder.
Preparations were immediately made to erect the buildings. Materials were gath-

ered and the work advanced to completion under the supervision of the committee of six

above noted, and on the 9th of April, 1879, Alexander Furst, who had been selected as

superintendent, moved in. The first installment of prisoners was received on the 15th
of the same month.

The house is a substantial brick structure, two stories high, and contains sixty-eight

cells, besides the office, reception room, kitchen, store room, wash room, bath rooms, and
living rooms for the family of the superintendent. The total cost of the ground, and
buildings was 118,000, of which the county paid $8,000.

Upon the completion of the building the premises were placed under the control of

a Board of Inspectors, composed of the Mayor— who always acts as president— and
three other members appointed by him, subject to the approval of the Board of City
Aldermen. Their term of office is three years. The present board consists of Mayor
John Warner, Eugene F. Baldwin and Valentine Jobst, of the city, and Alva Dunlap,
Supervisor from Radnor township.

The county has a right to send prisoners there and have them kept subject to the
rules of the house, by paying forty-five cents a day per capita, the city receiving the
benefits from their labor.

The criminals are credited fifty cents per day, besides their board, to apply on their

fines imposed. The character of the la,bor performed is such as the prisoners can be
advantagously employed at on the grounds, preparing macadam for the streets in inclem-
ent weather, and in the pleasant season on outside improvements about the city.

The nine months of its active operation under the efficient management of Super-
intendent Furst has already demonstrated the wisdom of its establishment. Its existence
has not only greatly reduced the criminal expenses of the city and county in the cost of

keeping persons held in confinement, but has tended to greatly lessen the number of

criminal offences. The place is the embodiment of neatness and order, and any one
visiting the premises must conclude the House of Correction is a blessing, not alone as a
protection to society at large, but to the poor, misguided creatures whom it clothes, and
feeds, and shelters, and restrains, for a time at least, from the commission of additional

and greater transgressions.

The financial report of Superintendent Furst, handed in the first of January, 1880,
embodies some statistics which are deemed of sufficient value to entitle them to a place

in this article, and which are here given

:

Financial Report of the Work Souse from April 9 to Dec. 31, 1879.— The report

of Alexander Furst, keeper of the Peoria Work House, for the nine months (lacking

nine days) ending Dec. 31, 1879, as to receipts and expenditures

:

RECEIPTS.

Cash from city - - -$4,259 2a
Steam, fuel and gaslight - 378 30
Due from city for bills audited 1,825 43
From county for improvements, cash - - - l.ooo 00
From county for boarding prisoners 387 90
From sale of vegetables •

'. 84 65
From other sources 65 00

Total receipts ..$8,000 50
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EXPENDITURES.
Groceries - _ $ 299 58

Meats 253 89
Flour and meal 288 40
Vegetables °- 92 78

Dispensary 12 80

Bedding and clothing - 639 86

Furniture - -- 773 36
Furnishing and tools 49^ 02

Barn and forage - 601 64
Improvements and repairs 633 "5

Construction __ _ 722 60

Incidental, light and fuel - 404 62

Salaries - 2,476 90

Total expenditures - $8,000 00

MISCBLLANEOTJS.

l)uring the time for which the report is made there were served to prisoners

8,990 rations. The number of prisoners received from April 13 to December 31, was
288, of which 202 were male and 36 females. Remaining in prison December 31, male

28, female 7 ; total 35.

Of the entire number of prisoners received during the year, 217 were from police

courts, 12 from County Court, 8 from Circuit Court, and 1 from United States Court.

The offences for which the prisoners were confined were as follows

:

Vagrancy 43
Drunk and disorderly. 119
Drunk 16
Assault and battery 19
Inmates and keeper house of ill fame 13
Breaking in railroad cars 7
Larceny , _ 17
Burglary and larceny .. 2

Violating postal laws. I

Violating Sunday liquor laws i

The nativity of the prisoners is given as follows : United States, 142 ; Canada, 4

;

Newfoundland, 1; England, 7; IrelaniJ, 66; Scotland, 1; "Wales, 1; Germany, 23;
Sweden, 8.

The social relation of the prisoners is as follows : Single, 163 ; married, 58 ; wid-
owers, 15 ; widows, 2.

Thus it is proven that the married state is largely a bar to the work house.

TRANSPORTATION FACrLITTES.

Steamloating.— Previous to 1832 there were no steamboats running regular trips

on the Illinois river. The little transportation that took place in the first years of white
settlement along its banks was cfirried on by means of canoes, skiffs, flat, and keel boats.

The early pioneers lived in a plain, homely style ; their wants were few, and their means
meager. Their larders, as well as their wardrobes were supplied from the thi(iket or the
little farm. Their clothing was homespun and homemade, and their edibles were the
result of the chase or of their own raising. They were little disposed to indulge in

foreign luxuries, which was well ; for had they been thus inclined, they had not the
means to enjoy, as there was very little money to be obtained and nothing to sell to pro-
cure it. Consequently there was no demand for boats, except of that primitive sort which
could be propelled by the labor of one or at most few men. Before the year 1830, there
was scarcely any produce to be shipped abroad, as there was but a small amount raised
a,nd no demand for that little, that would justify transporting it to market, and there was
little or no merchandise wanted. But time and progressive improvement wrought a
gradual change.
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According to the best authorities obtainable, the first steamboat that ever arrived at

Peoria was the Liberty, in December of 1829. The second boat to land here was the S.

B. Triton, which was chartered by John Hamlin at St. Louis, to bring up a stock ofgoods
he had gone there to purchase for his store in the Spring of 1830. In 1832 the Fairy
made a trip, stopping at Peoria, and John Hamlin entered into a contract to purchase
one-half of the boat upon her return and delivery ; but she was lost near the mouth of

the Missouri, on her way up. There were four steamboats running on the Illinois to

Peoria in 1833. The Exchange, the Utility, the Peoria, and the Friendship. The lattei

boat was built at Brownsville, Pa, and came around into the Illinois river in the Spring
of 1832, and was the first new steamboat bought and run regularly upon the Illinois. It

was purchased by Captain Hamlin, Henry Stillman and Peter Menard. Capt.
Hamlin had charge of her that year, and a part of the year following, Stillman still serv-

ing as pilot, and Capt. William A. Hall, stiU a much respected resident of Peoria, was
her engineer.

In 1834, immigration began to increase ; enterprising people from the older States

were seeking homes among the broad acres of the Prairie State, and commerce on the

river attained such magnitude as to warrant enlarged transportation facilities. That year,

the Express, Herald, Argus and Winnebago were added to those before named. Others
came in 183u and 1836, among them the Jo. Davis, purchased by Capt. Wm. A. Hall
and his brother David, of Peoria, in January, 1835. They ran it until the following

August, when it was sunk at the head of Grand Island, below the mouth of Spoon river.

During the years from 1835 to 1840, the Mississippi steamboats frequently ran up the

Illinois as far as Lacon, in times of high water, and loaded with pork for the New Orleans
market. In 1840, the number of different boats making trips from St. Louis up the

Illinois river—some of them at irregular intervals—had increased to forty ; and by 1844,

to one hundred and fifty, seventeen of which were regular packets. In a number of

these boats Peoria people were interested, as part or sole owners. In 1848, Capt. W. S.

Moss, now a resident of California, but for many years one of Peoria's most enterprising

and successful business men, bought the hull of the Avalanche, which had been burned
at St. Louis, and had it towed up to Peoria and placed upon the stocks ; had about
twenty feet added to her length, and had her completely rebuilt by Peoria workmen,
ready for the fall trade of that year. The next spring, the keel of another boat was
laid in Peoria, by Capt. David Brown, who sold her before she was finished.

From Drown's Directory of 1851, it appears that fifty-nine steamboats, whose ton-

age was rated 9,463 tons, engaged in the Illinois river trade as high up as Peoria the

year previous, and the number of arrivals at her quay was 1,236. This is exclusive of

canal boats, of which there were quite a large number.
In 1858— from the best data at hand— the Illinois River Packet Company was or-

ganized. The directors were Frank Rhodes, G. N. Walker, RoUin Clark, J. M. Morti-

mer and D. H. Hancock. D. H. Hancock was elected president. The steamboats com-
posing the stock of the company were the San Gaty, Louisville, F. X. Aubury, Sam
Young, Altoona, Americus and Brazil. The company afterwards bought the Polar Star

and Challenge ; and built the La Salle, Lacon, Schuyler, City of Pekin, City of Peoria,

Illinois, Beardstown, and numerous barges. Some of the commanders of these boats

were Capts. Rhodes, Stackpole, Hicks, Scott, Adams, Lowry and Bassett. The names
of the others are not accessible. These boats ran regular trips from St. Louis as far up
as Peoria, and an occasional trip as far as La Salle. None of them are now on the river.

After the organization of this company, the commerce of the Illinois river was chiefly

controlled by it, until it sold out the stock and entire property to the St. Louis and Illi-

nois River Packet Company, in 1867, F. S. Rodgers, president. The members of the old

company then retired from the business.

The introduction of railroads in Illinois, some of which lines extend nearly parallel
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with the rivers, whose bosoms used to float thousands of tons of her products, rapidly

undermined the river traffic, and it declined until now the Lady Lee and the Oalhoun are

the only steamboats running regular trips from St. Louis to Peoria. There is one boat

which makes regular trips to Naples and another to Beardstown ; and an occasional tran-

sient boat comes up. Quite a heavy ice trade is also carried on, the barges frequently

running down as far as Memphis and New Orleans. The Gray Eagle, Capt. , does

a good local trade from Peoria to Henry, making the round trip daily between these

places, and is a great convenience to the people and business men of these and interme-

diate points.

As one stands upon the bank of one of Nature's great highways, and sees its mighty
resistless current roll on in silent majesty toward the bosom of their universal receptacle,

a feeling akin to sadness takes possession of him, while he contemplates the fact that in

the contest of Art with Nature to furnish thoroughfares of traffic and travel for man, Art
has won ; and the iron horse has almost entirely superseded the beautiful steamboats, be-

cause the age is too fast for ten miles an hour.

EAILKOADS.

In this last quarter of the nineteenth century, when travel and traffic are conducted
upon the wings of steam and electricity, the commercial importance of a city is measured
by the number of lines of railroads that radiate from it— veins and arteries of import and
export— contributing alike to her social and financial intercourse with the great outside

world.

In selecting a point to locate, one of the first queries arising in the mind of a busi-

ness man or manufacturer is, what are the facilities for transporting materials and goods
and people to and from the place ? Fully recognizing the fact that no town can become
a point of any considerable significance, either in trade or manufacture, unless well sup-

plied with means of ingress and egress by rail. The canal boat and lumbering stage

coach of our fathers' time long ago became too plodding, and even the magnificent
steamboats, which, for more than a third of a century have plowed Nature's great high-

ways from the fresh water seas on the North to the briny gulf on the South, are rapidly

becoming a thing of the past, because too slow for our time ; the traveler prefering the

snorting iron steed to the back of an " Eagle."
Peoria, situated in the center of this grand Prairie State, whose granaries groan with

the rich harvests from her soil, may fittingly be termed the heart from which ramify these

numerous ribs of steel, hourl}^ made to throb with the mighty pulsations of her vital

currents, as they flow to and from the remote quarters of the civilized globe.

With the characteristic spirit of the western man, the people of Illinois early saw
and appreciated the inestimable benefits accruing from this more rapid method of tran-

sit ; and so far back as 1836-7 the Legislature was fired with zeal for building railroads—
on paper— and projected magnificent schemes for internal improvements, to complete
which would have involved many millions of dollars. The State began the construction
of railroads in various sections ; but in four years, after expending |id,000,000«having no
money in the treasury, and being obliged to depend upon foreign capital, which was not
eager for investment in such chimerical undertakings, the work was discontinued, and
the grand system of railroads never had a tangible existence.

Under the law then passed there was considerable grading done on what was called

the Toledo, Peoria and Warsaw Railroad, but not a mile finished. The people were both
displeased and disgusted, and for a number of years railroad building rested.

On February 12, 1849, the Legislature granted a charter to the Peoria and Oquawka
Railroad Company, authorizing it to build a railroad from the city of Peoria, on the Illi-

nois river, to Oquawka, on the Mississippi river. On the 10th day of February, 1851,
the charter was so amended as to include a branch to Burlington— a larger place and
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better adapted for the terminal point of the road— thus making the line ninety-three

miles long. On the 20th of June following, the stockholders met at Knoxville and or-

ganized under the charter ; and on the 22d of June, 1852, the charter was amended so

as to permit an extension of said road east to the Indiana State line.

In January, 1857, the western half of the road was completed from Peoria to Burlington

;

and afterwards a branch leaving the main line some nine miles this side of the latter city and
extending five mUes to Oquawka. The company becoming financially embarrassed, the

road was sold under foreclosure of mortgage about 1860 or '61, and went into the hands
of the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad Company, which has since owned and
operated it. The line is in good condition and does considerable business, but its man-
agement has been more contributary to the interests of the main trunk line of the Chica-

go, Burlington and Quincy Company, than to the city of Peoria. This company, though
starting from an humble beginning, now owns more than a thousand miles of road, and
is one of the most powerful and wealthy railroad corporations in the United States.

The eastern extension of the Peoria and Oquawka Railroad, leading, as before stated,

from Peoria due east to the State line, was begun in the Summer of 1853, and finished

to Gilman, the distance of eighty-six miles, and the crossing of the Illinois Central Rail-

road in September, 1857. The remaining twenty-five miles from there to the State line

was completed in December, 1859. The mortgages on this division were also foreclosed,

and a new company organized, which is now the Toledo, Peoria and Warsaw Railroad

Company.
In 1867 the Toledo, Peoria and Warsaw Company began to build the western divi-

sion of their road, which extends from Peoria to Keokuk and Warsaw, on the Mississippi

river, and finished it in October, 1868. This company also constructed a branch line in

1871, extending from LaHarpe to Burlington. Their several lines embrace two hundred
and forty-nine miles of road, whose physical condition and rolling stock is first-class.

Their machine shops and general offices are located in Peoria. The city took $225,000
stock in this road. It has ever been a grand feeder to the city and a promoter of her
commerce and growth, and may be styled emphatically the Peoria railroad. The line,

equipments of, and property were sold to the mortgagees on January 20, 1880, for

$6,000,000, a little over $25,000 per mile.

The second railroad enterprise projected, but the first to be completed was the Pe-
oria and Bureau Valley— now the Bureau Branch of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pa-
cific— Railroad. The charter was obtained and the company organized in June, 1853,
and the road from Peoria to Bureau Junction, a distance of forty-seven miles, was finished

in November, 1854, and ran the first regular passenger train into the city. It forms a
direct connection by rail to Chicago and the seaboard, and was for several years the only

one.

The Peoria and Rock Island Railroad is ninety-one miles in length, terminating in

these two cities ; and was built by the Peoria and Rock Island company, being completed
in the Spring of 1871. About six years after it was sold by foreclosure of mortgage, to

parties inte^psted in the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad, and has since been
operated by that company.

The Peoria, Pekin and Jacksonville Railroad is a line, as its title implies, connect-

ing these three cities, and forms a junction with the Wabash road at Jacksonville. It

is eighty-three miles long, ten of which are in Peoria county. It was completed about
1868. The general offices are located in Peoria. The company becoming involved, Mr.
John Allen was appointed receiver. During his administration Mr. Allen put the

road and rolling stock in splendid order and gave it an enviable popularity with the com-
mercial and traveling public. The road with its entire property was sold at Master's

sale in December, 1879, to Solon Humphreys, of New York.

The Peoria and Springfield Railroad, extending from Peoria to Pekin, crosses the
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Illinois river about three miles below the center , of the former city, over the bridge

at that point, and consequently has only three miles of track in Peoria county. It was
opened for business about 1871.

These are all the railroad lines that pass through or into Peoria county, save the

Buda Branch of the C, B. & Q., extending from Buda to Rushville, via Elmwood ; and
passes through Princeville, Brimfield and Elmwood townships, diagonally across the

northwest corner of the county.

The Chicago, Pekin and Southern, which connects Peoria with Chicago via Pekin
;

the Pekin, Lincoln and Decatur, connecting Peoria and Decatur ; the Indiana, Blooming-
ton and Western, and the Illinois Midland, connecting this city with Terre Haute, Ind.,

are important feeders to Peoria, contributing in no small degree to her commerce, and
furnishing outlets to the north, east, and south ; but they run their trains into the city

over some of the lines above spoken of.

A narrow gauge railroad entitled the Burlington, Monmouth and Illinois River Rail-

way is the projected narrow gauge road about to be constructed from Peoria westward
through Farmington, Abingdon, and Burwick, to Monmouth, where it divides, one branch
leading off southwest, striking the Mississippi river near Fort Madison or Nauvoo, and on
to Keokuk ; the other branch extends northwest from Monmouth, to Muscatine. This
branch expects to make connection with the Burlington and Northwestern Narrow Gauge
Railroad, which is now completed to Washington, Iowa, and leads a northwesterly course

through the State. At Fort Madison the other branch will connect with the Fort Madi-
son Narrow Gauge, which is now in operation for some distance out, and is being pushed
on westward across the State.

This railway, when completed, will have over 150 miles of line in Illinois, and with
the connections mentioned, more than 700 miles of road, through an agricultural country
of vast resources for the production of the cereals, and will doubtless be a great feeder to

Peoria manufactories.

Between forty and fifty regular passenger trains arrive and depart over these ten
lines daily ; and nearly a hundred freight trains, averaging from fifteen to twenty-five

cars each.

Thus it is apparent that Peoria, the flourishing " Central City " of this grand " Sucker
State," is one of the principal railroad centers of the West ; reaching out her many-
fingered metallic arms toward all points of the compass, beckoning the artisan, the

manufacturer, the merchant, and the capitalist, to come and participate in her gran.d
" Boom."

the express serticb.

The Express business, it is needless to say, is a big thing. As with the grain of mus-
tard seed, the beginning of this great institution was very small indeed. At one time,

in 1839, its capital was about sixty-two and a half cents. Now it is nearly sixty millions

of dollars.

Peoria, and Illinois • indeed, are as much indebted to express facilities for their

wonderful prosperity, as New York and New England are. It ramifies, with its lusty and
stirring life, throughout the entire country. How could we do without it ? Some people
growl continually at the exactions of the express. A parcel is brought to a woman a
thousand miles or more— subject to several entries and passed from one messenger to

another, and again to another, and another, over the intermediate railroads— and she is

charged only twenty-five cents for it ; and yet she will peevishly declare it exorbitant.
A city porter would charge as much for carrying it a dozen blocks or less.

In old times when mail stages were the rule, the drivers used to do some similar

work on a small scale ; but when the greatest innovation of the present century, the
railway, shoved the mail coaches aside, and the " tea-kettle on wheels " became the great
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motor, a new want began to oppress the people. "Who now, should carry their parcels
and do errands between the cities and towns ?

William F. Harnden, of Boston, responded, " I will." At least, in March, 1839,
(according to A. Stimson's " Express History ") he advertised the first express car ever
known, and promised to make tri-weekly trips with it, and the help of the Long Island
Sound Steamboats, between Boston and New York City. Really, his express was for a
time limited to a hand valise— which Ben. Cheney, of the Hub still preserves— and
The Original Expressman met with little encouragement, except as a carrier of orders.

Harnden was a little sallow-faced young man, with a brother just like him, each
weighing one hundred pounds, and as they were often seen working together in the new
business they were not inaptly called the " Harnden ponies." Both were shrewd and
smart for all that. Perhaps a little smarter for being condensed. Wm. F., especially,

was mvMiim in parvo—much in a thimble-full.

He had been a raiboad man, both ticket-agent and conductor, when there was but
one passenger road in the country ; and knew the ropes. Hiring an office in Wall Street,

New York, he made himself so useful to Bennett's Herald, and the other dailies there,

in bringing them the latest news to be had, east, in these ante-telegraph days, that they,

in turn, began to write up his business. That was his first best lever, and early in 1840
his enterprise seemed so sensible and promising, that P. B. Burke and Alvin Adams, also

of Boston, started a competing express to New York.
Now the Boston papers had to write up Adams & Co.'s Express ; and it, too, attained

to a position of usefulness. Neither, however, made any money for some years, and only
the most unwearying cultivation of the business, made it yield them a good living.

A little later Henry Wells served Harnden as agent at Albany, and then associating

with Pomeroy and Crawford Livingston, under the style of Pomeroy & Co. Express,
" doing express " on the Hudson river only, laid the foundation of what resulted in the

two express firms of Livingston, Wells & Co., and Livingston, Fargo & Co.; and in 1854,
through absorbing Butterfield, Wasson & Co., the American Express Co. was organized,
with himself as president and John Butterfield vice-president.

These successors, led some wealthy and enterprising New York State men to start

about that time, what has been favorably known for a quarter of a century as The
United States Express Company.

Henry Kipp, of Buffalo, N. Y., for some years a very active superintendent of the
American, became superintendent of the new company, and by his superior business abil-

ity and indefatigable energy, established its success, east and west, but more especially

in New York and the Western States. A few years ago, he was elected its president,

but he travels as much over the routes as ever, and his supervision is as untiring as it is

thorough and perfect.

The brothers, Wm. G., Jas. C. and Charles Fargo, have been the life and soul of the

American Express Company in the West, and probably no other three men have done
more for Illinois than they have to accommodate and develop the business resources of

the State, and they have been well paid for it, in the grand success of their Company in

this magnificent section of the union.
Indeed both Companies have done nobly, and even the Adams' Express Company,

though behind both in its entrance here as a competitor, and still very limited in its area

of service in Illinois, is a valuable help to mercantile communities in which it operates.

The capital stock of these Companies— the only ones operating in Illinois— is as

follows : American, $18,000,000 ; Adams, 12,000,000 ; United States, 16,000,000. The
Southern Express Company, Henry B. Piatt, president, has an office at St. Louis, and
connects with Cairo ; but its stock is owned entirely in " Dixie, " where it is a power.

The express business of Peoria is coeval with the existence of railroads, though there

was, perhaps, some expressage by steamboats anterior to that, but very limited in quan-
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tity. With the increase in the number of local railroad lines the express business has
grown, until it now requires ten office men and twenty-four messengers running out over
the various roads. The establishment of a local office by the United States Company
antedated a number of years that of the American, and the first of September, 1877, for

the sake of economy, the two Companies consolidated their offices, the American agent
retiring, and turning over the entire business to the management of C. C. DeLong, whose
experience of eleven years in the Chicago office of the United States Co., and twelve
years as agent in Peoria, together with his innate gentlemanly qualities, admirably adapts

him for the responsible position he so worthily fills.

TBLBGKAPH BUSINESS.

The " harnessed lightning " which now cuts so prominent a figure in Peoria's commer-
cial and general intercourse with all parts, of this country, and indeed with other countries,

and the click of whose coming and going sounds to a visitor in the general office like a

whole toy shop of rattle-boxes turned loose, was first brought into requisition in the city

nearly twenty-two years ago. On the 16th of June, 1848, Mr. R. Champion opened the

first office of Mr. O'Riley's telegraph line, and the first message of greeting was sent

and received over the wire from Springfield at four o'clock in the afternoon of that day.

About nine o'clock, p. M., the editor of the Peoria Register sent respects to the

Whig press of St. Louis, through the editor of the St. Louis Republican. These commu-
nications were sent and received by the sound of the magnet, without the aid of a regis-

ter, which was considered a remarkable feat. The opening of this highway for thought
travel was a proud day in Peoria's history. It is preserved, as an achievement worthy
of record, that on the 8th of November following, the result of the Presidential vote

cast in Boston the day before, was received in Peoria at 11 A. M. And it is also a matter

of historic record that President Taylor's message was received at Peoria for the Baily
Champion, the first arriving in one hour and thirty-five minutes after its delivery in

Washington. In 1850, Peoria had become the headquarters of O'Riley's telegraph line

in the State, and the center of three States. During the month of May, that year, 750

messages were sent, and the gross receipts of the office were f178.94 ; and in November
and December they ran over |200 each month. Francis Voris was then president of the

board of the State, and Lewis Howell, now president of the Second National Bank, was

,
vice president, and Eli Chadwick, " telegrapher." Mr. O'Riley constructed a system of

telegraph lines connecting the principal cities of Illinois, Missouri and Iowa, which was
named the " Great Atlantic, Lake and Mississippi Range " of telegraph lines. During
the decade between 1850 and 1860, there was but a moderate development of the tele-

graph business in Peoria. Soon after 1860 the Western Union Telegraph Company ob-

tained possession of the lines in the Western States, and by shrewd management gave a

great impetus to the telegraphing business in all parts of the country. Prior to 1863,

Richmond Smith had charge of the Peoria office for some years. At that date Mr. J. E.

Ranney, formerly manager at Bureau Junction, took the control of the office in this city,

which position he still worthily and satisfactorily fills. All the telegraphic business

from Peoria was then done over a single wire, there being then no other outlet. The
messages were sent to Bureau Junction, there re-transmitted to Chicago, and thence to

other desired points. Mr. Ranney and a night operator, with one messenger boy, did the

entire work, and five to seven dollars a day. receipts, was considered a fair business.

The office at Pekin, at that time did not do enough to pay the salary of the operator.

From 1865, the growth in telegraphing has been very rapid, both in the volume of busi-

ness, the corresponding increase in the number of wires, and the improvements in instru-

ments. There are now leading out of Peoria fifteen wires, and one of these is equipped
with quadruples instruments, making it equivalent to four wires with ordinary instruments.

Besides the main office in the Chamber of Commerce, there are four regular branch offices.
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and an office for railroad work at each of the depots, from which regular messages can
also be sent. The main office employs six operators, six messenger boys and a book-
keeper ; and each of the branch offices requires one man. /

The Peoria office is a distributing office, where messages are received over the dif-

ferent lines from various places, and are re-transmitted to the numerous points of desti-

nation. The company only have one distributing office in a distance of one hundred or

one hundred and fifty miles. The distributing messages average over three hundred
and the total business from seven hundred to eight hundred messages per day, received

and sent. The gross receipts from the business in the principal office and branches,

amount to an average of about $3,000 a month.

THE TELEPHONE.

This little instrument, which is working such a revolution in business and social

communication in the cities and towns of the civilized world, js but little more than three

years old. It consists, as is well known, in a new application of electricity— a new
harness fitted to a tried and useful steed. Prof. Alexander Graham Bell, who is doubt-

less entitled to priority of claim to the invention of the speaking telephone, received his

first patent on the speaking telephone on March 7, 1876. His articulating telephone and
Mr. Gray's musical telephone, were exhibited at the International Centennial Exposition

on June 25, 1876.

Sir William Thompson in his official report, thus refers to these exhibits

:

" Mr. Alexander Graham Bell exhibits apparatus by which he has achieved a result

of transcendent scientific interest, the transmission of spoken words by electric currents

through a telegraph wire. This, perhaps the greatest marvel hitherto achieved by the

electric telegraph, has been obtained by appliances of quite a home-spun and rudimentary
character. With somewhat more advanced plans and more powerful apparatus, we may
confidently expect that Mr. Bell will give us the means of making voices and spoken
words audible, through the electric wire, to an ear hundreds of miles distant."

Mr. Bell received his second patent on his speaking telephone January 30, 1877, and
he and his associates began to manufacture the instrument soon after. In May, 1877, the

first telephones were leased to Messrs. Stone & Downer, of Boston, and this was the first

instance of the practical use of electricity in transmitting vocal speech over wires in the

transaction of business.

The renowned C. A. Edison commenced experimenting on the telephone in the

Spring of 1876, after Mr. Bell's first patent had been issued, and some months later

brought out his carbon transmitter, which was transferred to the Western Union Tele-

graph Company in 1878, and has been controlled by it since until recently a consolidation

has been effected by which the entire telephone business in the United States has passed

into the hands of the National Bell Telephone Company, of Boston.

Both the Bell and the Edison instruments are represented in Peoria. The first put
up in the city was the Bell, which was leased on the 15th of May, 1879. Others were
soon added, and in August following the Western Union Company erected the first

Edison instrument in the city. The Edison was leased at considerably lower price than
the Bell, and has outstripped it in point of numbers. The proprietors of the Bell tele-

phone in the city, Messrs. C. B. Allaire and W. S. Reyburn, have a franchise covering

the city and a radius of five miles, together with the city of Pekin. Their office is on
Washington Street, over Zell and Hotchkiss' bank, and the Edison office is in the Cham-
ber of Commerce. There are 183 Bell and 271 Edison telephones now in use in Peoria

;

and so rapidly has this invention grown in public favor, that it has already become a

necessity to the business public. As intimated above, the arrangements for a consolida-

tion of the two systems have all been made, except the formal transfer, which will take

place at an early day, and the whole business will pass into the hands of the Bell Com-



534 HISTOKT OF PEORIA COUNTY.

pany. The charge for putting in the telephone, erecting the line, and a year's lease of

the instrument, is $50.

PBOEIA POST OFFICE.

In following the progress of a city there is no surer index of its prosperity than the

increase of its postal business, and in this respect the advancement of Peoria has been
most marked. A post-of&ce was established at Peoria on the 15th of April, 1825, and
John Dixon received the first appointment as postmaster. The receipts for the first

quarter after the office was established were $8.23. Twenty-five years later the income
of the office had increased an hundred fold, the receipts for the last quarter of 1850 be-

ing $823. We have not the material at hand to give a detailed account of the office or

of the various administrations under which it has passed. John L. Bogardus, who fig-

ured considerably in early days, was at one time postmaster, and kept the office in a log

cabin situated where Truesdale and Son's planing mill now stands. This was soine time

previous to 1834. From there the office was removed to the site now occupied by Perry
Frazier's marble front building, and Dr. Cross appointed postmaster. It was afterwards

located near the old Clinton House, on the corner of Adams and Fulton Streets, and at

one time it occupied the basement of the Peoria House, Geo. "W. Rainney being then post-

master, and also editor of the Democratic Press. From here it was removed to the old

Boston Building, on Main Street, and from thence to rooms under Roner's Hall, where
it remained until February, 1872, when the building now occupied was leased by the

Government for a period of ten years and the office removed to its present quarters. The
following gentlemen have held the position of postmaster of Peoria at various times

:

John Dixon, John L. Bogardus, Wm. Fessenden, Washington Cockle, Samuel B. King,
Peter Sweat, G. W. Rainney, Geo. C. Bestor, Enoch Emery, Isaac Underbill, Gen. D.
W. Magee, John S. Stevens, and after a lapse of thirty years Mr. Cockle has again been
appointed and now occupies the position.

In 1850 Peoria was the center of an extensive mail system, radiating in every direc-

tion, and the roads leading to Peoria village were made merry by the coachman's horn and
the crack of the driver's lash of those good old coaching days of Frink and Walker.

The receipts of the office for the last quarter of 1850, '60, '70 and '79 were as fol-

lows:

For fourth quarter -. 1850 $ 823 00 1 For fourth quarter 1870 $7,83004
" " i860 4,076 50

I

" " " - 1879-. 13,849 93

A comparison of the years 1878 and 1879 show an increase of twenty-five per cent,

in the business of the office during the latter year.

Money Order Business.— There were orders issued during the last year amounting to $110,657 5^
Upon which fees were received amounting to iiisg 44
Drafts were drawn upon New York for 94,000 00
And orders paid amounting to 205,892 96

There are employed at the office six clerks, at a cost of $5,000 per annum, and eight

carriers, at an expense of $7,000. The postmaster's salary and expenses incidental to

running the office, aside from clerk hire, amount to $5,940 per annum.

Registry Business, fourth quarter, 1879.— Letters and packages registered during the quarter 700
Letters and packages received during the quarter Ii440
Letters and packages in transit during the quarter 3.116

Letter Carriers.— Carriers employed 8
Delivery trips daily 12 & 3
Collection trips daily 12 & 3
Registered letters delivered I>015
Mail letters delivered 179,697
Mail postal cards delivered.. 59,484
Drop letters delivered 11,108

Local ppstal cards delivered 9,746
Newspapers, etc., delivered 112,033
Letters returned to the office 65

Letters collected .124,104
Postal cards collected 32,703

Newspapers, etc., collected 28,956
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Mailing Department.— There are 218 packages of letter mail sent out from the Peoria
ofSce daily to as many lines of railway post-offices, cities and towns in the United States,

many of these being sent out in through pouches by night express trains to distant places,

and thus despatched with a rapidity and accuracy which is astonishing, and oftentimes
mail is delivered before an ordinary traveler could reach the same points. The total

number of pieces of mail sent out daily, by a careful count, is shown to be as follows

:

Letters, 3,667 ; circulars, 1,635 ; newspapers, 3,347 ; postal cards, 785 ; merchandise,
2,452 ; making a total of 11,886, or 4,338,390 pieces per annum.

There is sent out daily from this office fifty pouches and canvas sacks, while a like

number is received. There are also a great quantity passing through in transit, of which
no account is taken.

Under a complete system of checking errors, it is shown that of this enormous quan-
tity of matter despatched from the Peoria office, there were but 110 errors made in dis-

tribution, fourteen packages miss-sent, and not a single error in the sending of pouches
the year 1879.

INTERNAL EBVBNUB.

The fifth district of Illinois, of which Peoria city is the center and substance, exceeds
any revenue district in the United States, in the amount of revenue tax it pays to the
government. This tax is derived almost entirely from the distillation of spirits manufac-
tured by the eleven distilleries located in Peoria, which have a total productive capacity

of 77,660 gallons of proof spirits per day.

The importance of Peoria as a spirit-producing center can not be more forcibly

stated than by giving an exhibit of the figures kindly furnished by Collector Howard
Knowles for this work, from the books of his office.

There were used during the j'^ear 1878, 3,001,308 bushels of grain, from which was
produced 11,520,360.07 gallons of proof spirits. The following is a complete tabulated

statement for the year 1879, which shows an increase of some thirty per cent, over any
previous year, and conveys an idea of the immensity of the business in this district

:

DISTILLERS. Bush. used. Proof Gall's Produ'd. Av. per Bush.

C. S. Clark & Co 316,910 1,196,923.83 .... 3.81

Spurck & Francis 418,265 1,605,410.44 3.84

G. T. Barker 493,585 1,981,399.17 4.01

Zell, Schwabacher & Co 763,140 3,017,678.83 3.93
Bush& Brown 1 187,914 721.734-99 3-84

Barton & Babcock 36,485 128,724.48 3.50

WoolnerBros 307,349 1,156,951.24 3.76

A. & S. Woolner 450,426 1,724,061.06 3.83

Kidd, Francis & Co 484,940 1,811,206.70 3.73

Kilduff & Hogue 401,496 1,619,877.24 4.03

J. Woolner & Co 23,408 88,992.17 3.80

Total bushels grain used, 3,883,918.
Total gallons spirits produced, 15,052,960.15
Average yield per bushel for the entire district during the year, 3.88.

Total gallons spirits withdrawn from warehouse and tax paid 9>527,536.

Total gallons spirits withdrawn for exportation 5.399. I96'96

Total 14,926,732.96

The total collections for 1879, were 18,624,053. The production of spirits in Peoria

during the year exceeded that of Chicago nearly five millions of gallons, and that of

Cincinnati nearly four mfllions of gallons.

The prospect promises considerable increase of the business this present year— 1880.

The " Monarch " distillery of Messrs. Kidd, Francis & Co., which was completed and
went into operation on the 10th of July, 1879, and is the largest distillery in the world,

increases the spirit-producing capacity some thirty-three per cent.
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The collections in this district for the last four months of 1879, averaged fl,077,000
per month, the largest amount of internal revenue tax ever collected in any district in

this country within the same time.

BANKING INTERESTS.

It is somewhat remarkable that there were no banking facilities in Peoria until 1851,

although it had been an incorporated town twenty years, had a population of nearly

6,000 souls, and must have done a considerable commercial business, from the fact that

1,236 vessels landed at her wharf during the year 1851. Still it is not so surprising that

Peoria lacked the advantages of this modern business necessity, when the prejudice of

the people, and especially the Democratic portion of them, against banks, is considered.

The Democratic politicians repudiated all kinds of banks in their public speeches. And
while the Whigs advocated a national bank, they only tacitly assented to the establish-

ment or existence of State or individual banks.
Prior to 1850, there were but two banks of any considerable magnitude in the State,

one at Shawneetown, called the State Bank of Illinois, and one at Springfield, named
the Bank of the State of Illinois. Each of these was allowed by the Legislature to es-

tablish sundry branches, but none was located at Peoria.

In 1850, nearly all the banks in the West having failed, including those in Illinois,

the circulating medium was very scarce, being confined to a little specie and some New
York and New England bank-notes. Chicago then had no regular banks of issue, but
several brokers ; and Peoria had not even these.

Nathaniel B. Curtiss came from Chicago to Peoria in 1851, and opened an office on
the upper corner of Main and Washington Streets, which he dignified with the title of

tbe Banking House of N. B. Curtiss & Co. Mr. Curtiss' establishment did a large busi-

ness, and is reputed to have introduced into extensive circulation the notes of a Milwau-

"

kee banking institution, known as the Marine Fire Insurance Company, and the paper of

the Cherokee Bank, purported to be located in Georgia, and smaller amounts of paper
from other concerns. None of these notes would now be considered worth par in gold,

but in the absence of any thing better, the people and the banks were glad to receive

them as good money. Mr. Curtiss made money so rapidly for a time that he became
careless, and trusted out large amounts ; and finally becoming alarmed, suspended busi-

ness in 1857.

In 1852, Messrs. William R. Phelps and Benjamin L. T. Bourland, of Peoria, and
Gideon H. Rupert and James Haines, of Pekin, opened an office on the opposite corner

of Main and Washington Streets, under the name of the Central Bank, which they con-

ducted one year, and sold it to Gov. Joel Matteson and his son-in-law, R. E. Goodell.

After three years' management of the establishment they failed.

Joseph P. Hotchkiss established an office of the same kind in the Fall of 1852,
naming it the Bank of J. P. Hotchkiss & Co., and prosecuted the business until his death,

in 1856. He provided in his will that Lewis Howell, his cashier, who had had principal

charge of the establishment for some years, owing to the failing health of the proprietor

—to continue the busines on a salary under the same name, for the benefit of the Hotch-
kiss heirs. This was done for about four years, when Mr. Howell and others bought the

establishment and ran the business under tbe firm name of L. Howell & Co., till 1864,
when, under the law of Congress, it was organized into the Second National Bank of

Peoria. Mr. Howell was elected its president, a position he still holds. Mr. J. B. Smith
was cashier from 1860 till 1866. J. B. Hotchkiss succeeded him in that position until

1870. B. F. Blossom served as cashier from July, 1876 to 1878. George H. Mcllvaine
was elected its vice-president in 1873, and became cashier and active manager, January,
1878, which position he now holds.

Mr. Howell, the president, is now the oldest banker in central Illinois, and has ever
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been a man of unimpeachable integrity. Mr. Mcllvaine has been one of Peoria's active

and honored business men since 1853.

The Second National has been a Government Depository most of the time since its

organization. It has a cash capital of $100,000, with a reserve of 150,000.

About 1860 Marshall P. Stone, William F. Bryan and George H. Stone, opened a

bank in the building formerly occupied by Curtiss, on the corner of Main and Washing-
ton Streets. In 1864 it was organized into the First National Bank of Peoria, with
Tobias S. Bradley as president, and N. B. Curtiss, cashier. On May 6, 1867, Mr. Brad-
ley died, and Washington Cockle was elected president ; and March 1, 1872, he retired,

since which time John 0. Proctor has been president. M. P. Stone succeeded Mr. Cur-
tiss as cashier, which position he filled till August, 1869, when W. E. Stone, the present

cashier, took his place. The First National Bank has a cash capital of $100,000, with a

surplus of $150,000.

The Mechanics' National Bank of Peoria was opened for business May 20, 1865,

with Isaac Underbill as president and Samuel Coskery, cashier. On January 13, 1866,

a considerable change took place in the directorate of the bank, H. N. Wheeler became
president, and J. Boyd Smith became cashier. Mr. Wheeler is still president, but Mr.
Smith is now vice-president and Henry P. Ayers has succeeded him as cashier. This
bank has a paid up cash capital of $100,000, and $70,000 reserve.

These three are the only National Banks in the city, and are all doing a heavy busi-

ness and are among the solid banking houses of the State.

Besides the National banks, there are several private banking houses and Savings
banks. The first of these in chronological order is that of J. B. Hogue & Co., which
was established May 1, 1867, by James B. Hogue and Thomas L. Davis, with a capital of

$50,000, and continued business prosperously, until the ill health of Mr. Davis compelled
him to retire, Mr. Hogue buying his interest. May, 1874. Since that time he has had
sole management of the establishment, and has done a successful business.

The Savings Bank o^ Peoria was founded by a co-partnership composed of John
Hamlin, William A. Herron, Thomas C. Moore, Zenas N. Hotchkiss, Thomas S. Dobbins,
Charles P. King, Philip Zell and Lorin Grant Pratt, in February, 1868. The object was
to accommodate depositors of small savings, of from one dollar and upwards, and enable

the persons making savings deposits to receive interest thereon. This bank has been in

successful operation up to the present time. Several changes have occurred in the stock-

holders, by death and retirement ; so that the establishment is now owned by William
A. Herron, president ; Charles P. King, Philip Zell and L. Howell. The bank is situated

on the corner of Main and Washington Streets.

Philip Zell, Walter B. Hotchkiss and Henry C. Fursman established a bank on the

corner of Washington and Fulton Streets, under the firm title of Zell, Hotchkiss & Co.,

in the year 1^70, for the purpose of doing a general banking business. About 1873, Mr.
Fursman sold his interest to the other partners, who ran the business under the same
firm name until the death, of Mr. Hotchkiss, in November, 1874. A year later Mr. Zell

purchased his interest, and became the sole owner, but has never changed the style of

the firm name.
In June, 1872, J. B. Hogue, in company with several others, opened the establish-

ment known as the Germans' Savings Bank, at No. 203 Main Street, with a capital of

$100,000, to accommodate parties desirous of doing a savings business. Mr. Hogue has

purchased the principal amount of the stock from his former co-partners, and now is the

chief owner and manager of the concern. This is entirely separate and distinct from
the banking house of J. B. Hogue & Co.

In March, 1880, Hogue & Oo.'s Bank suspended, owing to the heavy loss of $52,000,

sustained by the financial failure of Thomas Neill.

The German Banking Company was organized in 1873, and opened a banking house

40
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on the corner of Washington and Bridge Streets. The establishment does a general

commercial banking business ; and also has a Savings department, to accommodate per-

sons who wish to do a savings business. The members of the co-partnership are Valen-
tine Ulrich, Louis Green, Joseph Miller, Jacob Miller, Michael Pfeifer and William
Oberhauser.

The Farmer's Bank of Kingman, Blossom & Co., is the youngest banking institution

in the city, having been opened for business on the 6th of October, 1879. The firm is

composed of Martin Kingman, B. F. Blossom, and F. E. Leonard. Their design is to do
a general banking and exchange business, and to make a feature of loaning money on
extended time. The gentlemen comprising the firm are all well and favorably known in

the business circles of Peoria and contiguous counties. The bank is located at 211 Main
Street.

Chamber of Commerce Association.— This body was organized as a Stock Company,
with a paid up capital of $75,000, on January 30, 1875, and had for its object " the

providing of suitable grounds, and the erection and furnishing of a suitable building in

said city of Peoria, to be known as a Chamber of Commerce. " .The stock was held by
about eighty prominent business men of the city, and the Association was incorporated

under charter from the State of Illinois, in the name of Lewis Howell,. R. C. Grier and
Jonathan Hancock. At a meeting of the stockholders held shortly after incorporation,

nine directors were elected, viz: Jonathan Hancock, D. McKinney, E. S. Easton, Thos.
Cratty, William Steinseifer, Lewis Howell, L. L. Day, S. H. Thompson, and D. P. Grier,

who according to the constitution, elected from their own number, the presiding officers

of the Association, president, E. S. Easton ; secretary, D. McKinney, and treasurer, Lewis
Howell. On February 13, 1875, the ground on the corner of Washington and Harrison
Streets was purchased, at a cost of about 110,000, and from the designs for a building

submitted, those of Mr. B. Wadskier, architect of Chicago, were selected by the directors,

as being in every respect the most desirable. The building contract was let to Mr. W.
P. Caverly, of Toulon, Stark Co., and the total cost of the structure was $80,000, inclusive

of heating apparatus, and all other extras. The structure was forthwith begun, rapidly

completed, and opened for business on December, 15, 1875. It is built of brick, with
stone trimmings ; 65 feet wide, by 145 feet long, and the top of the weather wave is 134
feet above _the level of the sidewalk ; is four stories high, surmounted with a mansard
roof, and is heated throughout by steam. The building contains twelve offices on first

floor, twelve on the second, board of trade hall, etc., on third, two offices on fourth,

and is occupied by grain commission men, Western Union Telegraph Co., Edison Tele-

phone Co., Board of Trade, Public Produce Exchange, freight agents for various railroad

lines, general offices P. P. & J. R. R., and R. G. Dun & Co's commercial agency. None
of the stock of the association is in the market ; the dividends are not made public, and
the investment is presumably a remunerative one, although the rents of the offices have
been reduced very materially of late years. The present officers of the association are,

president, H. N. Wheeler ; secretary, D. McKinney, and treasurer, Lewis Howell. Regu-
lar weekly business meetings are provided for in the by-laws, but at present one meeting
in each month is found sufficient to meet all demands.

BOARD OF TKADE.

This institution has become one of the leading interests in the city, being composed
of the most enterprising business men, and while its immediate object is to foster and
maintain the trade in grain (which has, through the efforts of the members of the Board,
grown to large proportions), yet its energy and enterprise reaches out to the various

industrial interests of the town. It is one of the main instrurnents in encouraging and
sustaining important enterprises of several kinds, and has given an impetus to building

and improvements beyond any thing the city has experienced heretofore.
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The Board was organized late in the year 1869, to supply a want that was felt by the
dealers in grain. It was started in a moderate way in a store room on South Washing-
ton Street, which was soon found to be too small for the purpose, and new and commo-
dious quarters were procured in the large block at the corner of Fulton and Washington
Streets, which were first occupied November 10-, 1870. The following extract from the
address of the president, Horace Clark, Esq., delivered on that occasion, will be of inter-

est in this connection

:

The Peoria Board of Trade has been organized less than one year. Previous to its organization the miller, dis-

tiller, and all buyers were obliged to examine grain in the cars on a track of from two to three miles in length, mak-
ing it very tedious and laborious as well as unsatisfactory. This organization has entirely changed the manner of
doing business. A sworn sampler is appointed, whose business it is to carefully examine and sample every car of
grain coming to this market, as follows : On entering the Car he takes samplbs from different parts, the bottom as

well as the top, and when he has a sufficient quantity he mixes thoroughly, weighs it with a grain tester, and records,

in a book kept for that purpose, the number of the car, weight of grain per bushel, and condition of same. A sam-
ple, with a duplicate statement of record on a ticket, is placed in a small sack, taken on 'Change and placed on the
owner's table. The exchange session of the Board is from 11 to i o'clock. A member coming on 'Change goes to

the baUetin board and ascertains the amount of receipts and shipments, reads the telegrams from New York, Chi-
cago, etc., and is then prepared to transact business. The buyer having made his purchases, the sample is returned
to the sack and passed to the purchaser, with his name and the price agreed upon marked upon the sampler's

ticket.

The advantages of the present manner of doing business over the old way, will be readily perceived. Since the
organization the business has more than doubled, and has been the means of inducing many enterprising business
men from adjoining towns to make Peoria their home, making a profitable investment for them and increasing the

population and wealth. * * *

The entire amount of grain of all kinds received in the year above mentioned, was
6,591,210 bushels ; amount shipped, 3,853,720 bushels ; since which time the business has
constantly increased until during the year 1878 the amount received was 15,594,40l
bushels ; and shipped, 11,682,370 bushels. The receipts of grain for the year 1879 were
over 19,000,000 bushels, or an increase of twenty-five per cent, over those of 1878. The
shipments of 1879 were twenty-six per cent, in excess of those of 1878.

In 1870 the elevator capacity was reported at 175,000 bushels ; transfer capacity per
day, 80 car loads. In 1878 the elevator capacity was 820,000 bushels, and the transfer

350 cars, and this, after three elevators had been destroyed by fire, whose capacity was
440,000 bushels, and the transfer 150 cars. One of these has been rebuilt and enlarged,

adding 200,000 bushels capacity to that reported last year.

In 1870 one inspector with one helper did the sampling ; in 1878 it required four

samplers and two helpers constantly, while at times additional help was necessary.

The total receipts of grain at this market from Janury 1, 1870, when the first

systematic accounts were commenced, until December 31, 1878, amounted to 108,121,023
bushels. • The receipts of 1879 show an increase of three and a half millions of bushels

more than 1878, which was the largest in the history of the board since its organization.

At the organization of the board the roll of members included persons in all branches

of business and from the professional classes. The fee for membership was ten dollars,

but it was found that with the increasing business and expenses attended thereon, this

was not sufficient, and the fee was increased to fifty dollars in 1873, with an assessment

on each member of forty dollars, which had the effect of reducing the membership to
'

those engaged in the grain business or distilling and packing, ninety-three members be-

ing on the roll for that year. In 1876 the membership fees was increasedto |250 and cer-

tificates of membership transferable on the books under certain conditions were adopted.

The assessment upon the members has been gradually reduced to thirty dollars the

present year, and the present number is 112. The association has steadily increased in

financial strength, and is at present the owner of 205 shares in the stock of the Chamber
of Commerce Association, which association erected the present Chamber of Commerce
(at a cost of f75,000), the stock in which is largely owned by the individual members
and firms composing the Board of Trade. This building was erected and finished in
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December, 1876, at which time the board occupied its handsome and commodious rooms,

which are surpassed in size and appointments only by the rooms of the Merchants' Ex-

change in St.' Louis, and the Board of Trade in Chicago.

Officers.— The following are the names of the presidents of the Board in the order

named

:

Horace Clark, 1870-71 ; Robert C. Grier, 1872 ; J. Hancock, 1873 ; D. McKinney,

1874; D. P. Grier, 1875; G. T. Barker, 1876; E. S. Easton, 1877; B. H. Morgan, 1878;

W. R. Bush, 1879; Joseph Elder, 1880.

The first secretary of the Board was Mr. P. F. Chase, in 1870. Mr. F. Cantello was
secretary from 1871 to 1873 inclusive. Mr. S. Wilkinson was chosen secretary in

February, 1874, and is still in said office. The officers of the Board for 1880 are as

follows

:

Officersfor 1880.—Joseph Elder, president; A. H. Rugg, first vice-president; A. J.

Boylan, second vice-president; Samuel Wilkinson, secretary; Lewis Howell, treasurer.

Directors.— Term expires January,':;1881 — R. C. Grier, Horace Clark, B. H. Morgan,

C. F. Hitchcock, James Bannister. Term expires January, 1882:— E. S. Easton, B.

Warren, Jr., W. L. Green, Jr., P. B. Miles, W. Buckley.
Oommittee of Arbitration.—Philip Zell, W. L. Green, S. R. Clarke, A. G. Tyng,

George P. Comstock, Thomas J. Pursley.

Oommittee of Appeals.— J. B. Smith, Samuel Woolner, W. H. Mills, J. Hancock, J.

M. Quinn, W. F. Bryan, Jr.

Grrain Samplers.— William Perry, chief sampler ; Charles S. Easton, O. R. Clough,

assistants.

Weighmasters.— P. J. Murphy, elevator "A;" F. G. Martin, Advance Elevator; J.

H. Jack, Union Elevator.

Standing Oomrnittees for 1880.— Finance: R. C. Grier, A. J. Boylan, C. F. Hitch-

cock. Rules and regulations : A. H. Rugg, W. Buckley, P. B. Miles. Rooms and
furniture : James Bannister, E. S. Easton, B. Warren, Jr. Telegraphing and printing :

W. L. Green, Jr., B. Warren, Jr., A. H. Rugg. Statistics and accounts : A. J. Boylan,

James Bannister, P. B. Miles. Sampling: B. H. Morgan, C. F. Hitchcock, E. S.

Easton, R. C. Grier, W. Buckley. Weights and measures : E. S. Easton, B. H. Morgan,
Horace Clark. Transportation: P. B. Miles, R. C. Grier, W. L. Green, Jr. Market
reports : Horace Clark, A. H. Rugg, A. J. Boylan. Membership : W. Buckley, P. B.

Miles, James Bannister. Regular warehouses : C. F. Hitchcock, E. S. Easton, B. H.
Morgan. Registration : B. Warren, Jr., Horace Clark, W. L. Green, Jr. Call-board

contracts : Frank Hall, D. C. Smith, C. C. Miles.

THE ELEVATOE BUSINESS.

The first elevator in Peoria was erected by Messrs. Grier & Co. in the year 1866,

and known as the Central elevator. At that time the grain trade of Peoria was quite

small, and the building of an elevator was considered a hazardous experiment, it being

uncertain whether the receiving trade by rail could be built up in this city. The traffic

in that line, done previous to this time, was principally a retail business, the dealers pur-

chasing their grain from farmers in wagons, and all grain was handled in sacks, there

being no facilities here for handling it in any other manner. The Central elevator was
completed about the last of November, 1866, and was opened for business January 1,

1867. The facilities thus offered for handling grain were immediately recognized by the

community, and the trade was worked up to quite large proportions during the year 1867,

so that on January 1, 1868, the showing in the grain trade was very favorable for a

larger increase in that business. The building of this house encouraged a number of

dealers from abroad to settle in Peoria, who immediately set about increasing the vol-

ume of the business. In 1868 the traffic had so rapidly increased here that it was found
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that the capacity of the Central elevator was not nearly large enough to handle all the
business that was being offered. Messrs. McFadden, Dobbins and McClure, under the
firm name of Dobbins & Co., commenced the erection of a larger elevator with a capaci-
ty of 90,000 bushels, called the Central City, in October, 1869, and opened it for busi-
ness in March, 1870. The building of this house gave the city two small elevators, and
attracted the attention of dealers from all over the country, and quite a number of them
locating here commenced to operate in grain. The trade of the city constantly increased,
and in 1871 it was found that the elevator facilities were insufficient to transact the busi-

ness being offered. In that year a company was formed known as the Union Elevator
Company, who immediately proceeded to build the Union elevator, with a capacity of

150,000 buihels. In 1876 an addition was built to it increasing its capacity to 400,000
bushels. Soon after this, April 25, 1872, the Central City elevator was destroyed by
fire. The grain trade kept on growing, and in the year 1872 another company wa's

formed entitled the Peoria Elevator Company, who erected the elevator known as ele-

vator " A," with a capacity of 350,000 bushels. Messrs. Tyng and Brotherson also

erected the same year an elevator nearly opposite the Union elevator, called Elevator
" B," with a capacity of 100,000 to 150,000 bushels. From that time the grain trade of
Peoria increased year by year, and in 1875-6 Messrs. Easton, Rugg & Co. built, on the
same site on which the Central City elevator had stood, an elevator with a capacity of
150,000 bushels, called the Phenix. In the year 1877 both Elevator "B"and the
Central elevator were burned, and the year following the Phenix was also destroyed by
fire. In the Fort Clark mills, with a small elevator attached, was erected on the
ground where the Phenix had formerly stood. In 1879 Messrs. Rugg built

what is now known as the Advance elevator, on the ground formerly occupied by the
Central elevator.

At present there are four elevators standing in Peoria, the Union, Advance, Ele-
vator " A," and the Fort Clark elevator, all of which are doing a large business, with a
total storage capacity of 1,000,000 bushels, the grain trade of the city in 1879 having been
heavier than in any previous year, with a flattering prospect of a steady and constant
growth. The following figures show the receipts and shipments of the principal cereals

in the Peoria market during the year 1879 :

Wheat— Received 733,225 ; shipped 650,445.

<7orw— Received 10,323,740; shipped 7,305,040.

Oats— Received 4,896,280 ; shipped 4,850,125.

%e— Received 953,465; shipped 755,125.

^arZey— Received 834,950 ; shipped 415,000.

The total grain traffic of Peoria for the last year amounted to about 20,000,000
bushels, showing an increase over the year 1878 of more than 3,500,000 bushels. In-

credulous as may seem the statement, Peoria now ships more carred grain than Chicago,
besides the consumption of her own manufactories— distilleries, glucose works and.

starch works— which convert a thousand acres of grain per day into these various pro-

ducts. When to this vast computation is added the millions of bushels of grain bought
and shipped by Peoria firms, at other places in the State, and which is not included in

the schedule of Peoria's reports, some idea may be formed of the immensity of the
volume of business transacted through the Board of Trade organization of Peoria.

LrVB STOCK.

This feature of Peoria business is of no small consequence, as the statistics of 1879
show:

Hogs— Received 267,669 ; shipped 236,693.

(7a«Ze— Received 43,060; shipped 41,480.
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THE UNION STOCK YAEDS OF PEORIA.

The live stock business of Peoria is of so recent origin, and has sprung up so quietly

and yet so rapidly, that probably not a dozen persons in the city are aware of the really

/colossal proportions it has already assumed, and that it compares favorably in the amount

of values handled with the two leading interests— distilling and grain.

It is little more than three years since the Union Stock Yards of Peoria were opened.

They owe their origin to the sagacity and foresight of Mr. Thomas Neill, late head of

the well known firm of Neill, McGrew & Co., one of the best known and most thorough

going stock men of the Northwest, if not in the United States.

In the year 1878 there were received here, of cattle, by railroads, over 37,000 head,

and on hoof, as near as can be estimated, 13,000 head, or a total of 50,000 head, worth

$40 a head, or $2,000,000,

The receipts of hogs in the same time, were, by rail, over 285,000 head, and driven

in or in wagons about 65,000 head, a total of 300,000 head, worth $8.33i a piece, or

$2,500,000—making the total value of cattle and hogs, to say nothing of sheep, of which

there were considerable numbers, $4,500,000.

These three leading interests of Peoria, therefore, in a comparison of values, for

1878, stand as follows, viz

:

Distilling - - $8,500,000

Grain - - - 4,500,000

Live Stock .- 4,500,000

It may well be asked whether this large live stock business which has sprung up
rapidly and unobtrusively at the lower end of the citj', may be counted on as permanent,

which is highly probable.

In the first place, to supply her own local demand, Peoria requires annually from

10,000 to 15,000 head of stock cattle for feeding purposes, for which the very highest

market prices are paid. And the packers slaughter annually from ,50,000 to 100,000

hogs. This alone insures a very large business in live stock. But besides this, Peoria is

a natural half-way house, and distributing point between the fat pastures of the West,

and the hungry markets of the East. This is especially true with regard to all that ter-

ritory south, southwest and west of us, and tributary to the Illinois Midland, P., L. &
D., I., B. & W., P., P. & J., T., P. & W. and C, B. & Q. Railroads,- even far into Mis-

souri, Iowa, Kansas and Nebraska. This central position of Peoria, and her unsurpassed

railroad facilities, will surely give her the same pre-eminence in the live stock business

which she has already acquired in the production of highwines and in the handling of

grain, for they enable her to offer better prices to all the region tributary to Peoria than

any other market can. Live stock bought here is not, except in very rare instances,

shipped to Chicago to be sold there, but goes directly East, to Cleveland, Pittsburg,

Buffalo, Philadelphia or New York.
The receipts of cattle at the Peoria Stock Yards for the year 1878, were 25 per cent,

larger than in 1877. The receipts of hogs in 1878, were 125 per cent, larger than in

1877.

The Stock Yards comprise thirty to thirty-five acres of land enclosed by a high

board fence, laid off with planked and graded streets and alleys, and subdivided into a

great number of small yards and pens. Some of these pens are covered and some open,

but all are provided with troughs, into which a constant stream of the purest water flows

from the 840 feet deep artesian well on the grounds, through a perfect net work of

underlying water-pipes.

A railroad track runs the entire length of the Stock Yards, along side of which are

platforms and chutes for unloading and loading. Here a train of twenty cars of hogs

can easily discharge its entire freight in a very few minutes.
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To take care of these yards, keep them in order and good condition ; receive, dis-

tribute, water, feed, assort and reload the stock, requires, of course, the services of a
large number of men, and at certain hours of the day, especially during the active sea-

son, there is no livelier or busier place in central Illinois than at the Union Stock Yards
of Peoria.

The financial failure of Mr. Neill in December 1879, who had conducted the yards
since they were established, necessitated a change ; the management has passed into other
hands, and the business is moving along uninterruptedly and prosperously.

PORK PAOKIKG.

Pork packing, which now ranks prominently among the business interests of Peoria
was commenced, regularly, by Mr. E. P. Nowland in 1837, who slaughtered and packed
on the lots where Crosby White's new cottage now stands. Mr. Nowland was the first

to introduce steam appliances in packing in the city, in his new house erected in 1849, on
the bank of the river near where Neill's distillery is now located. This establishment
had a capacity of 600 hogs per day. The river became very high that Winter, and
fiooded his house and froze so that he carried on the business on the ice, and so succes-

fully that he made enough clear to pay for the house and all the equipments.
In 1841 John Reynolds began a regular business of slaughtering and packing, and

killed 350 hogs that season. The following year Voris & Co. and Curtenius & Griswold
engaged in the business, each firm cutting from twelve to fifteen hundred hogs. In
1848 E. F. Nowland erected a slaughter house on the river bank, near where the Union
depot now stands. This was the first slaughtering establishment built in Peoria. Voris
& Co, and Curtenius & Griswold went out of the business in 1850, and Kellogg & Co.
embarked in it the same year. Two years later Tyng & Brotherson erected a packing
house. The bnsiness was then carried on by Reynolds & Co., Tyng & Brotherson and
Kellogg & Co. The latter firm retired from the business in 1858. In 1857 Reynolds &
Co. built a large slaughtering establishment in addition to their packing house. Cockle
& Davis erected a packing house in 1868, and embarked in the business until 1876, when
they retired. Tyng & Brotherson also retired the following year. Pinger & Sons erected

a packing house in 1873.

The only firm packing this season is Reynolds & Co. They are running their own
house and that of Cockle & Davis, which they have lately purchased. They will pack
from fifty to seventy-five thousand hogs this season ; are now cutting— Jan. 10, 1880—
from fourteen to sixteen hundred hogs per day, and working two hundred hands.

The firm of Reynolds & Co. is composed of William Reynolds, of Peoria, and Mc-
Terran and Shallcross, of Louisville, Ky. They are the largest packers in the State

outside of Chicago. Peoria ranks next to Chicago as a packing point. She draws hogs
not only from the surrounding country, but from Iowa and Missouri.

Reynolds & Co. intend to enlarge their business the coming year so as to kill and
cut a hundred thousand hogs in a season. Most of their product finds market in the

South, except the lard, which is shipped to Europe.
This firm also cures about a hundred thousand hams each year, and their brand is

quite celebrated in Europe as well as throughout this country.

THE COAL TRADE.

Peoria is surrounded by inexhaustible deposits of bituminous coal, which crops out

of the bluffs in numerous places, and is .mined and brought to the city in large quantities

in wagons and exposed for sale on the streets, like hay and other farm products, at the

extremely low rate of eighty cents per bushel or two dollars per ton delivered to the con-

sumer. Not less than 200 miners are employed in the several small mines in the vicinity

of the city, whose coal is disposed of in this way, supplying a large per cent, of the local
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consumption. Since the completion of the railroads leading out of Peoria, quite a heavy-

exporting trade has grown up from the various mines in the county. Many of the towns
in central Illinois and westward to Galesburg and Burlington receive their fuel supply

from Peoria dealers, while a considerable quantity is shipped farther, into central and
northern Iowa and on into Minnesota.

Among the early shippers, previous to 1860, the most prominent were Vipond & Co.

and Adam Funk. The average daily shipments from the various mines in Peoria county

aggregate about thirty-three cars, distributed among the following firms : Messrs. Phelps

& Son, of Elmwood, five cars ; Samuel Potts, of Pottstown, two cars ; Wilkinson & Co.,

of Edwards, six cars ; Newson Bros., Orchard mines, four cars ; Flinsley & Co., Maple-
ton, four cars ; A. ShoU & Co., three cars ; Barton & Easton, two cars ; Kennedy &
Hamilton, two cars ; and E. Kramm, Peoria, seven ears. These firms employ over 200

miners, and several of them sell large quantities at retail, beside what they export, so

that the average daily amount of coal mined and disposed of from this county is about

20,000 bushels.

PEOEIA GAS-LIGHT AND COKE COMPANY.

In January, 1853, the Legislature granted a charter to the Peoria Gas-Light and
Coke Company, and the company was organized soon after. The first contract for light-

ing the city was made September 15, 1853, and included the erection of fifty street lamps.

At first only the central part of the city was lighted by gas, but the pipes were gradually

extended until now the remote suburbs are supplied with their gas lamps, and in the

majority of dwellings this modern luxury has displaced the tallow candle and its succes-

sor, the kerosene lamp. Although much more expensive— at the exorbitant rates charged
by these most extortionate of monopolists, the gas companies— than prior methods of

artificial lighting, the quantity and quality of light is so far superior that few families in

cities are willing to dispense with it, unless forced to do so as a matter of economy.
The company's works are located on Block 70, of Ballance's Addition to Peoria, in

the south end of the city. It has about $200,000 invested in the business. After being
manufactured the gas is stored in two holders, which have a joint capacity of 150,000
feet. The daily consumption of gas in the city during the Winter months, averages
about 130,000 feet. The coal used for its manufacture, of which two car-loads are con-
sumed daily, is shipped from the Pennsylvania mines, as the coal from the local mines is

too strongly impregnated with sulphur to be profitably used in the manufacture of gas.

The lime is supplied from Alton, 111., and their water mains are chiefly manufactured by
Dennis Long, of Louisville, Kentucky.

The present ofBcers of the company are as follows : W. A. Herron, president

;

Jacob Gale, secretary, and Peter Coffey, superintendent.
The city now supports 651 gas street lamps at a cost of $25 a year each, and 262

gasoline lamps at a cost of $21 each for the year. The contract between the city and the
gas company specifies that the lamps shall be lighted from twilight in the evening till

dawn in the morning, except when the moonlight renders it unnecessary.
Thus it will be readily observed, that Peorians pay about fifty cents per capita for

street lighting each year, which is, perhaps, as cheap as the average of American cities

that are lighted. And it is not probable there will be much diminution in this item of
city expenses until Edison or some other genius better adjusts his harness to the electric

element, and brings it into requisition as a universal illuminator.

ICE BUSINESS.

The ice trade, which has become one of the important features of the commerce of
Peoria, dates its origin back to 1837, when A. H. and J. L. Fash, then engaged in

butchering, and needing it for the preservation of their meats, put up an additional quan-
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tity and supplied the needs of the few private families in the young city who then in-

dulged in the luxury, and sold some to the boats on the river. They continued in the
traffic until about 1855.

E. F. Nowland began the business in a similar manner about 1843, and continued
for a number of years.

Henry DetweiUer and Peter Schertz, who were in partnership in the grocery busi-

ness, connected the ice trade with it in 1854, and were the first to run a regular ice

wagon in the city. After that season, Mr. DetweiUer disposed of his interest to his part-

ner, who carried it on some three years longer. Their ice house stood about the middle
of the block between Main and Fulton, and Adams and Washington Streets, and had a

capacity of 250 tons.

Mr. N. L. Woodruff embarked in the business in 1855, locating his house below the

T., P. & W. R. R. bridge. Mr. W. conducted the trade till his death, in the latter part

of 1879, at which 'time he had the heaviest trade and the greatest storage facilities of any
firm in the city, his houses having a capacity of 13,000 tons. Since his decease the busi-

ness is continued by his family.

Mr. Henry DetweUler formed a partnership with Mr. Woodruff, buying a half inter-

est in 1870. They erected two large ice houses in the upper end of the city that year,

with a capacity of 2,000 tons each. In 1872 they built two more houses of like capacity.

In 1870 they opened the first ice office in the city, and were the pioneer wholesale deal-

ers in Peoria. On December 1, 1876, they dissolved partnership, and each continued the

business alone. The same year Mr. DetweiUer erected a house near the T., P. & W.
bridge, with a capacity of 2,500 tons ; and in 1877 he built a house in the upper end of the

city with a capacity of 4,000 tons. Besides these he has two others. The total capacity of

his houses is 10,500 tons. He continues to occupy the old office at 108 S. Adams St.,

and runs frOm four to seven wagons. Both he and the Woodruffs employ steam power
in harvesting their ice.

J. C. Moore entered into the ice trade iu company with B. M. Whitington about

1870, continuing until the death of Mr. W., after which Mr. Moore prosecuted the traffic

for some years, retiring in the Fall of 1876.

Francis C. Carroll began the trade in 1877, and is still in it, handling some 2,500

tons per season. J. G. Bhrents started in the traffic in 1879. Hilliard & West also have
a house of 5,000 tons capacity, in the upper end of the city, which they fill and handle
at wholesale exclusively. Henry Mansfield is also engaged in the business to a consider-

able extent. Several other parties have handled ice for periods ranging from one to

several years, but are now out of the business.

The annual trade in this commodity in Peoria, runs from 40,000 to 50,000 tons, a

large per cent, of which finds a market in St. Louis.

HOTEL HISTORY OP PEORIA.

Note. — At the solicitation of the publishers, Col. Charles H. Deane, a gentleman of larger hotel experience

than any other in Peoria county, and owner and proprietor of the elegant and popular hotel known by the euphoni-

, ous title of " The IngersoU," has kindly furnished for this work the following readable and instructive article on the

Hotel History of Peoria. In the careful preparation of this valuable bit of history Mr. D. has earned the thanks of
the publishers and readers of this volume, as he has thus enabled the generations of the present and future to possess

and preserve the varied records of the wayfarers' " rests " in the Central City.

In collecting data for an article on the hotels of Peoria, I have been very materially

assisted by several of our oldest citizens ; in regard to early hotels, notably by Mr. Mark
M. Aiken, an animated cyclopedia, whose wonderful memory enables him to speak of

matters current a half century ago, with more apparent certainty than the average citi-

zen tells of what transpired last year. From him I learn that the first tavern— for the

French term " hotel " had not yet been so universally incorporated into our vocabulary
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— was the "Traveler's Rest," certainly a very suggestive and appropriate name, opened
in 1825 by a Yankee named John L. Bogardus. It wna a double log house, located on
the bank of the river, between Main and Hamilton Streets. In one end of the house the

family lived and slept, and there the cooking was done and the table spread. In the

other end was the inevitable bar, and bunks for lodgers, who were expected to furnish

their own blankets. The cuisine of the house was, as a matter of course, very simple,

plain hog and hominy being the principal dish. Fresh meat, except game, was a rarity,

and bread made from wheat flour was a luxury hard to be obtained and very seldom in-

dulged iij. The bar, which was the most popular department of the house, was supplied

with one kind of liquor only— whisky — but its more fastidious patrons were served with

"black strap," i. e., whisky and molasses.

Mr. Bogardus continued to run "the only first class house in Peoria " until 1827,

when Seth Fulton opened " Fulton's Tavern," also on Water Street, above North Fay-

ette, about where Woolner's distillery now stands. He had a larger house and a better

bar, for he had added brandy and gin to his stock in trade, and his house was better fur-

nished, for he had three " boughten" bedsteads, and a set of " boughten" chairs, made
in St. Louis, and received by boat. As is always the case, superior accommodations and
attractions won. Fulton's Tavern was ereme de la creme, and the Traveler's Rest was
only a fit rest for renegade whites and a few vagabond Indians who hung about the vil-

lage for " fire-water." Fulton continued his public house until about 1834, when it was
closed as a tavern.

In 1829 William Eads built a two-story frame house on Water Street, in the middle
of the block bounded by Fulton and Liberty Streets, and opened it to the public as
" Eads' Tavern." It was by far the most pretentious house in town, having four rooms
up stairs, exclusively for sleeping rooms, and a bar-room by itself ; but we are unable to

learn any particulars in regard to its management. In 1834 Mr. Eads sold out to Jacob
Slough— who now resides in Richwoods— and the house was then called " Slough's

Tavern." Mr. Slough was blessed with a buxom, good-looking wife, of rare executive

ability, who gave every detail of the business, out doors as well as in, her personal super-

vision, and left " Jakey," as Mr. Slough was familiarly called, but little to do, except to

entertain guests, and attend the bar. Under his excellent management quite an exten-
sive addition was built to the house, and a large stable added, and the house became
noted, far and wide, for its good liquors, bounteous board, and as the only house in town
that gave its guests white bread and real coffee, every day. In 1845 Mr. Slough sold

the furniture, and rented the house to Savage & Lawrence— Mr. Lawrence yet lives

here— and they the next year sold to Captain Patterson, an old steamboat man. The
Captain had an interesting family of girls, and until they were married off, the house
was the popular rendezvous of the young people of the place. In 1849 Captain Patter-

son sold the furniture, closed the house, and went West, and the building was subdivided
into shops, and finally a few years ago burned down.

About 1834 John Hamlin moved a large frame stable from a lot up at the head of

Main Street to the lot on the corner of Main and Washington streets, built quite an ex-
tensive addition to it, and rented it to Col. A. 0. Garrett, who furnished it and opened
it as the " Peoria Hotel," which is the first record we have of the use of the term," hotel,"

in this place. The Peoria Hotel had about sixteen sleeping rooms, up stairs, a Ijar-room,

which was used also for office, a ladies' parlor, dining room and kitchen, on the ground
floor. It was a " toney " house for its day and age, and Colonel Garrett made money
there so rapidly that in 1838 he commenced the erection of what is now known as the
Peoria House, which he completed and opened in the Fall of 1840, as the Planters'
House. This bote], when first built, was the largest and best hotel building in the State.

In size it was about eighty feet square, three stories and a basement high, and it con-
tained thirty-seven sleeping rooms, and all necessary public rooms. For a long time it
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was noted as the leading hotel of Illinois, and it now is, and always has been, the largest

in Peoria.

After Mr. Garrett had opened the Planters', the Peoria Hotel was discontinued and
the building was afterward used for stores. A part of the rear of the old building is

still standing and is occupied as a Chinese wash-house. Colonel Garrett remained pro-

prietor of the Planters' House until about 1849, when, being harassed by suits at law
with Mr. Stevenson, one of the contractors who built the house, he transferred the, pro-

prietorship to his brother-in-law, John Tuttle, who conducted the house with but indif-

ferent success for about a year, when the property was sold to Messrs. Smith & Hurlburt,

who came here from St. Louis. Mr. Hurlburt still resides in the lower part of the city.

They gave the house its present name, " Peoria House," and conducted it very acceptably
and profitably for about four years, when Mr. Smith sold his interest to Mr. Warren
Hall. Messrs. Hall & Hurlburt made quite a number of improvements in the hotel, and
built a large addition on the lower side of it. They also introduced dinner bills of fare,

an article which had not before that time been used in Peoria.

In 1858, Hall & Hurlburt sold to P. B. Roberts, who failed to make any money in

the house, and after a few months sold to John King, who had previously made an ex-

cellent record as proprietor of the Clinton House. Mr. King very soon took in his son-

in-law, Alfred Freeman, as a partner, under the firm name of King & Freeman. In 1861
John King sold his interest to his son, H, C. King, and the firm name was changed to

Freeman & King. This firm abolished the old time gong, which had been used since the

first opening of the house, to awaken its guests and summon them to meals ; and an-

nounced on their room rules : " meals prompt ; no gong sounded." In 1862, Mr. Free-
man bought the interest of H. C. King, and was sole proprietor of the house until March
1, 1867, when he sold to Colonel Charles H. Deane, who had previously opened and run
the Metropolitan, of which mention will be made hereafter. Colonel Deane made very
extensive alterations and improvements in the interior of the house, leveling up and
relaying all the floors, putting gas pipes through the entire house, abolishing the rows of

room bells which graced (?) the office and putting in their stead the first electric annun-
ciator used in the West. He also cut transoms over all the room doors, laid a tile floor in

the office, and built a large addition on the Adams Street front. He conducted it very
profitably until March 1, 1879, a period of twelve years, very much longer than any pre-

vious proprietor had held it, when he sold to Q. A. Graves and Mary A. Van Est, who,
under the firm name of Graves & Van Est, managed the house for about eight months,
when they sold to J. Q. Perley, the present proprietor.

In 1837, John R. Colwell built a very nice three-story brick hotel on the corner of

Adams and Fulton Streets, where the T., P. & W. general offices are now located, and
leased it to John King, who opened it to the public as the " Clinton House." Mr. King
made an excellent reputation for the house, and a considerable amount of money. He
sold it, in 1846, to John Yontz, who was proprietor for about two years, when he sold to

Mr. Hardy, and in the Spring of 1849, Hardy sold to John B. Warner, father of Colonel

Warner, our worthy mayor, and of the Warner family of Peoria. Mr. Warner had a

powerful ally in his wife, who will be remembered not only as a most excellent lady, but
as an indefatigable worker, and as one of the best cooks Peoria ever possessed. To her,

more than to any one else, the house owed its prosperity, which continued up to the

time of its destruction by fire in 1853.

, About 1838, Mrs. Lindsay, mother of J. T. Lindsay, opened a public house in a

two-story frame building on the lower side of Main Street, above the alley between Ad-
ams and Washington Streets, and called it the "Franklin House." The house was
rather small and we can not learn many particulars in regard to it, save that it was con-

ducted very acceptably for a number of years and in 1846 was sold to Clark Cleveland,

and be, in 1847, sold to Joho B, Warner,
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In 1849, Mr. Warner, having purchased the Clinton House, sold the Franklin House
to Sam Grouse, at present one of our city constables, who was its last proprietor, as in

the succeeding years it was altered, subdivided into stores and used for commercial

purposes.

About 1849, A. P. Loucks, father of Hon. W. Loucks, opened a large two-story

frame building that stood on the lower corner of Main and Water Streets, as the
" Farmers' Hotel," and he succeeded in keeping it crowded with that class of custom.

His specialty was "pork and beans, and low prices." The house was very successful,

but in 1852 it was torn down to make way for a large brick block, the lower floor of

which was first used by the Central Bank.
About 1846, William Mitchell added to and improved his residence, which stood on

the corner of Jefferson and Fulton Streets— now occupied by Bohl & Son— and opened
it as the " Mitchell House." After running it for a short time with poor success, he
leased the premises to the M. E. Church, who essayed to establish a female seminary.

That proving a failure, it was again opened as a hotel by Captain Phillips, who soon

found that it would not pay and sold out to D. D. Irons and Seth Griffin. Irons &
Griffin made quite extensive alterations in the house, added a considerable amount of

new furniture, and christened it " The Arctic." The name proved too much for it ; the

new firm were soon frozen out, when C. H. Ruggles took hold, renamed it " The Massa;
soit," and for a time it enjoyed a good run of business. About 1853, Ruggles took in

Thomas Dobbins as a partner, and a few months later Dobbins bought out Ruggles and
was sole proprietor. He very soon after got tired of the business, sold to George N.
Remmington, who gave the house his own name, " The Remmington House," and as

such it was moderately successful, until 1856, when James L. Fash became proprietor.

In 1858, Mr. Fash sold to George Wilson, who again changed the name of the house to
" Fulton House." The next year Wilson sold to a man by the name of Miller. He soon

sold to Halstead, and in 1860 Halstead sold to George C. McFadden, who had previously

kept the house now known as the Central House. Mr. McFadden, by curtailing ex-

penses as much as possible, and ignoring all attempts at style, made the hoilse yield him-
self and family a living, and in 1864 sold to one Haskins, who was its proprietor when
it was burned in 1866.

The original corner part of the building now known as the " Central House," was
built by a Mr. Hopkins about 1 844, and Avas used by him as a foundry. A few years

later James McFadden bought from the M. E. Society their church building, moved it

down Harrison Street and added it to the corner building, and fitted them up as a hotel,

which he leased to his brother, G. C. McFadden, who, in 1856, opened it as the " Farm-
ers' House." Mr. McFadden was quite successful in the management of the house, but
in 1860 sold to a good advantage to J. E. Phillips, who also bought the realty, changed
its name to " Central House," and built quite a large brick addition thereto. Mr. Phillips

continued in charge of the house up to the time of his death, and' it was continued there-

after by his widow until 1879, when the furniture was sold, and the property leased to

Thomas lago, the present proprietor.

About 1860 William Brady built the house now known as the " City Hotel," and
opened it as the " Buckeye House." After many vicissitudes it was finally closed as a
hotel, and remained so until after the war, when it was leased, furnished and opened by
General Otto Funk, as " Funk's Hotel," General Funk did not make the enterprise paj',

and in 1867 sold to Louis Furst, and he again in 1874 sold to H. S. DeVries, who wag
much more successful, and continued its proprietor until the Fall of 1879, when W. E.
LoAvrey, the present proprietor, took charge.

In 1865 there stood on the upper corner of Fulton and Water Streets an unoccupied
three-story brick block. Hon. Isaac Underbill purchased the property and converted it

into a very cosy hotel of about one hundred rooms, and leased it to Colonel Charles H.:
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Deane, ^ho furnished it in an elegant manner and opened it to the public in the follow-
ing May, as the " Metropolitan." Every thing about the house being bright, fresh and
new, it naturally attracted the best trade, and did a heavy business all Summer. In Sep-
tember of that year Colonel Deane sold a half interest in the house to J. B. Peckham, from
Utica, Illinois, and the house was conducted by Deane & Peckham until E'ebruary 1,

1867, when Colonel Deane, having bought into the Peoria House, sold his interest to Mr.
Underbill. Peckham & Underbill ran the house for about three months, when Mr. Peck-
ham sold his interest to Messrs. Clarkson, Laing and Blakeslee, who, under the firm name
of Underbill & Co., conducted the house until February 1, 1868, when they sold to A.
Look, who came from Havana, Illinois ; and on the 28th of the same month the greater

part of the house was destroyed by fire. In 1872, Mr. Spurck, who had become the
owner of the property, partly rebuilt the hotel, and leased it to J. L. Pendleton, who
opened it as the " Pacific Hotel," and continued its proprietor until some two years ago,

when Thos. Conaghan, the present proprietor, bought the furniture, and again changed
its name to " Conaghan's Hotel."

The " Merchants' Hotel," on Washington Street, just below Main, was fitted up in

1874, by J. S. Clark & Son, from the upper rooms of a block of stores, making a very
commodious hotel of about sixty rooms. Messrs. Clark & Sons having successfully

conducted the house during a five years' lease, have quite recently taken a new lease

for three years more.
" The IngersoU," at the north corner of Court Square, is the latest candidate for

public favor. It was built some years ago by Hon. Washington Cockle, for a. private

residence, at a cost of over $50,000, and is to-day the largest and finest residence in the

city. Mr. Cockle sold the property to Colonel Robert G. IngersoU, and Colonel Inger-

soU, after removing to Washington, D. C, sold to Colonel Charles H. Deane, who, in

November last, opened the house, and is now conducting it as a hotel for the better class

of family trade and such transient business as may come to him.

In reviewing and closing this scrap of hotel history, which 1 give with but little com-
ment, I am forced to the conclusion that as an article of barter the average hotel of Peo-
ria largely discounts jack-knives or horses, and like the average horse-jockey, hotel propri-

etors here all have large fortunes—to get. The life of a hotel keeper is one of great

activity and excitement, a grand kaleidoscope, changing every hour. Each train bears

away guests, that a few hours' intercourse with has drawn you towards, as towards an
old friend, and you are loth to part with them, not from a money consideration, but be-

cause you have found them pleasant, affable, companionable. The returning train brings

a new set of faces, but with the same general characteristics and wants, and you are

again happy in catering, and being able to satisfy those wants.

Again, hotel men may be likened to an echo, or a mirror, giving smile for smile,

returning good word for good, but my experience is that they rarely turn the left cheek,

when smitten on the right, but are just as apt to resent churlish, ungentlemanly conduct
as other men are. The hotel is the wayfarer's home, and shelters alike the highest in

the land as well as the most humble— the good in heart, as well as the vile, the learned,

and the simple. And a retrospective glance over fourteen years of hotel life brings to

mind many reminiscences of persons, noted and obscure, which time and space will not

allow me to mention.

THE CBNTEAL CITY HOKSB RAILWAY COMPANY.
•

This company was chartered by the Legislature in February, 1867, and authorized

to construct and operate a single or double-track railway in the city of Peoria, over such

streets as the City Council might designate. An organization was effected during the

same year, and subscriptions procured, but at a meeting of the stockholders, of which
John L. G-riswold was chairman and Washington Cockle, secretary, held at the First
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National Bank shortly thereafter, " it appearing to the stockholders that the project of

building and operating a horse railway will not pay a sufficient return at present to justify

the expenditure," it was resolved to release the subscribers from the payment of their

subscriptions to stock, and the project for the time being was abandoned. On the 7th of

August, 1868, the old Board of Directors, consisting of Messrs. D. C. Farrell, John C.

Proctor, John L. Griswold, H. Gr. Anderson and Washington Cockle, resigned, and a

new Board was elected, of which W. R. Bush was president. Nelson Burnham, secre-

tary, and E. H. Jack, treasurer.

Nothing, however, was done towards giving the enterprise direction until the 4th

day of October, 1869, when, pursuant to a call made by president Bush, a meeting of

stockholders was held in the land office of Bryan & Co., and a new Board of Directors,

consisting of Messrs. William Reynolds, John L. Griswold, Washington Cockle, Henry
R. Woodward, J. W. Cochran, Joseph H. Wright and James T. Rogers, was elected, Mr.
Reynolds being chosen president; J. W. Cochran, secretary; and James T. Rogers,

treasurer.

On October 7, 1869, " it appearing to the Board that sufficient subscriptions had
been made to the capital stock to justify the construction of two miles of steel railway,

it was ordered that a line of the same be built, commencing at a point on Adams Street,

on the easterly side of South Street and extending along Adams Street eastwardly a dis-

tance of two miles, taking out the necessary switches."

E. J. Cornell, formerly a resident of Peoria, but then of Erie, Pennsylvania, obtained

the contract for the building of the road, and furnishing four cars, for the sum of $20,000.

J. H. Wright, of the Board of Directors, proved very efficient in the securing • of sub-

scriptions, and the work went rapidly on until its completion on the 31st day of Decem-
ber, 1869. Cars began to run on the 15th of January, 1870, the first day's receipts ag-

gregating $40.48. The enterprise proving successful, on February 14, 1870, it was re-

solved to extend the line from Main Street to the " hollow near the Pottery," which was
completed shortly thereafter, and by the next Spring extended as far as Central Park.

This beautiful property, comprising about eight acres, was purchased by the com-
pany from John Burket, in the Summer of 1870. In 1875 the Artesian well was sunk
upon it at a cost of $2,750.

The company two or three years since also purchased the Peoria Horse Railway, and
operates that road in connection with its main line to the Union Depots. Altogether
the company owns a very valuable property. Its total amount of stock is $73,500, and
it has been enabled through careful management to declare handsome dividends every
year. It employs about ninety-five horses and thirty-five cars. Its present officers are :

H. R. Woodward, president; E. Smith, Jr., secretary; W. H. Davis, treasurer; A. J.

Cleveland, book-keeper ; and John Strong, superintendent. The company's lines com-
prise a total of seven miles of road which is kept in first-class repair and well managed.
The citizens appreciate its benefits and give it a liberal patronage, making the property
one of the best paying investments in Peoria.

Fort vlark Horse Railroad.— This company was organized on the 17th of May,
1873, by electing John H. Hall, president— which position he still holds ; E. S. Bunn,
secretary, and Samuel B. Hartz, treasurer. The capital stock of the company was
originally $50,000, but was subsequently increased to 70,000, in shares of $50 each.

Ground was first broken for the construction of the road on the 26th of May, and on the

4th of July following, cars were running on the greater portion of the line, and by
August 1st the entire road from the cemetery gate to the intersection of Howett and
Webster Streets, a little over five miles, was' completed and in operation. The company
encountered determined opposition in the prosecution of its work, as the records of the
court for that year— the only relics now remaining— show a series of hotly contested
suits, in which the Fort Clark Company, having right on its side, came out victorious.
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The financial reverses which followed closely upon the completion of the road, fell

upon it with almost crushing severity ; and but for the most indomitable courage and
perseverance on the part of the managers, and especially of Captain Hall, who had em-
barked his entire fortune in it, must have gone through the mills of the courts, which
have ground to powder many heavier corporations. Added to its other misfortunes the
company has experienced two disastrous fires by which it lost heavily. On the 31st of

March, 1876, their barn, with their harness and twenty-four head of horses was burned,
by which the loss exceeded the insurance some $1,500. On March 10, 1879, their car

house, containing twenty cars and all the company's tools, went up in thin air, a prey to

the hungry flames, losing the company about §4,600 above the insurance. A new barn,

and new car house now occupy the places of the old ones, new and comfortable cars have
been constructed to replace those burned, and the road, with a stock of twenty cars and
thirty horses— to be increased in the Spring— is well equipped and ably managed. It

has never paid any dividend, and those reverses created such a burden of debt that it is

doubtful if the stockholders realize much income from their investment for some years.

But under the active and efficient control of the invincible Captain Hall, who has never
allowed a paper to go to protest, and whose creative resources for equipment and sup-

plies have thus far proved inexhausible, the Fort Clark promises in the near future to

become one of the prosperous public improvements which Peorians should fully appreci-

ate, and honor the enterprise, persistent pluck which founded and sustains it.

PEOEIA MANUPACTOEIES.

With her superior facilities, of favorable location, upon a navigable stream, midway
between Chicago and St. Louis, connected with both by water and rail transportation,

as well as all the great centers of commerce east, west, north and south, through ten
railroads, and another in prospect ; in the very heart of the richest agricultural country
on the two continents, and a fuel supply for a thousand centuries cropping from the hill-

sides at her very door. Peoria should speedily become one of the most important man-
ufacturing cities in the United States. While Illinois has a productive capacity to

almost fill the granaries of the world, and feed fifty millions of people, there is no reason

why wares of consumption may not be manufactured within her own borders, and in-

stead of transporting the products of a prolific soil across the continent to feed the manu-
facturer in New England and send his fabrics back, let the ingenious Yankee be trans-

ported to the " Sucker " State, and the producer and consumer live neighbors.

No city or locality in this great State offers such advantages for manufacture as

Peoria, and now that the nucleus is planted here, by the power of attraction others will

rapidly accumulate. In the following pages some of the more prominent are briefly

sketched.

The G-lucose or Crrape Sugar Worhs. — As the article of glucose in its various forms

is wrapped in mystery in the minds of many, it will be justifiable to occupy a small space

in explanation. Glucose is the Latin name for all saccharine solutions contained in the

cereals, in fruits, peas, beans, etc. It differs from sucrose (cane sugar) in that it forms

no crystals, and is identical with the sugar formed on dried fruits, especially raisins, from
which the sugar thus formed derived the name grape sugar. The glucose manufactured
from corn and other grains is the result of a chemical treatment, which changes the

starch of the grain into saccharine matter. Kirchoff, a chemist of St. Petersburg, Russia,

was the first to convert starch into sugar, in the year 1811. It created quite a sensation

at the time, and several factories sprang up in France and Germany for the purpose of

converting the starch of the potato into sugar ; but finding it inferior in sweetness and
taste to cane sugar, the manufacture of it declined. In 1832 the eminent chemist Payen
commenced to improve upon the first rude process of converting starch into sugar and
sirup. Musculus and Dubrunfault followed him in their researches with astonishing sue-
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cess, producing sirup even superior in color and taste to cane sirup, although it did not

possess as great sweetening properties, requiring five pounds to be equal to three of cane

sugar. This gave the manufacture a new impetus, and improved machinery was made
and new factories were erected ; and the sugar, 'at first brown and bitterish, became pure,

white and sweet. Extensive experimenting developed a number of forms of glucose,

the principal of which are : Glucose as sugar, called " grape sugar ;
" glucose as a dense,

gummy sirup, called "glucose ;" glucose as a table sirup, called "starch sirup." The
starch is also transformed into dextrine in the form of gum-arabic and gum-senegal, and
also as leigum, used in the cotton factories in England. The two first named articles are

chiefly used for brewing, confectionery, vinegar, wine making, fruit preserving, honey
cordials, tobacco manufacture, silk dyes, and paper hangings. The uses of glucose are,

however, increasing. When properly made, the products are all pure and wholesome,

containing the best part of the starch. So rapidly did the demand increase, that in 1878

there were eighty-four factories in operation in Europe.
The United States has the honor of discovering the process of making glucose from

corn. In the year 1863 F. W. Gessling and Lyman Bradley, of the city of Buffalo, im-

provised a small experimental factory on Green Street, to see if grape sugar, glucose, and
sirup could be made from corn. They were called insane by their friends, but by per-

sistence succeeded, and in 1864 obtained a patent for the process. In July of that year

a committee of sugar refiners and chemists from New York went to Buffalo to investigate

the invention. After spending some time they returned home and others followed. On
November 10, 1864, a sale of the patent was effected for $600,000 to a stock company,
with a capital of $1,000,000.

Messrs. A. W. Fox and Horace Williams established the first regular manufactory
of glucose from corn in this country in 1867. Mr. Fox was accidentallj"- killed soon after

and the business passed into the hands of the Buffalo Grape Sugar Company, Mr. C. J.

Hamlin, president. The experiment proved a very lucrative one, and the works have
been enlarged from time to time, until they cover a whole block and employ millions of

capital.

Dr. J. Frimenich, of that city, also embarked in the business a little later, and
estabhshed his present extensive manufactory. In 1877 Dr. R. V. Pierce and F. A. Jeb
built the American works, located also in Buffalo.

In January, 1879, Mr. E. C. Frost, of that city, conceived the idea that there must
be some point in the West far superior to Buffalo for the manufacture of these goods.

Accordingly, in company with Mr. William Allen, of Buffalo, one of the most skillful

experts in this country in the grape sugar business, he started West in quest of a location

that offered the greatest number of advantages for this branch of manufacture, chief of

which are an abundant supply of corn at a reasonable price ; an ample supply of pure

water— which is a prime necessity for making the best class of goods— cheap fuel, and
large shipping facilities. After a thorough tour of investigation, and visiting numerous
points, they decided upon Peoria as the place in question. The erection of the Peoria

Sugar Refinery Works was the direct result of their visit, though not built by them.
About the middle of May, 1879, Messrs. F. A. and William T. Jeb, in cooperation with
prominent capitalists of Peoria, formed a joint stock company with $150,000 stock, of

which the Jebs took half and the resident citizens the remainder. Six acres of land was
purchased on the river bank just below the I., B. & W. R. R. bridge, and the building at

once began. The structure is an imposing one, of brick, six stories high, and covering
an area of 104x196 feet. Its walls contain over three million bricks.

Peoria Distilleries — Their Number, Cost, Qapaaity, and Amount of Business.—
Of the manufactures that have held an important place in the history of Peoria, that

of distilling spirits or highwines has ranked among the first. Ten years before the advent
of railroads this branch of industry was started, and it has since been the means of mak-
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ing several large fortunes for those engaged in it. About the year 1843 Almiron S. Cole,
a merchant doing business on Water Street, between Main and Fulton Streets, built the
first distillery, a fifty bushel house. In 1850 there were 5,685 barrels of spirits exported.
In 1856 there were four houses in operation, viz: A. S. Cole, on the lower extension of

Grove Street ; Richard Gregg, at the foot of Oak Street ; Gregg & Nowland, lower exten-
sion of Grove Street ; Moss, Bradley, & Co., lower extension of Grove Street. The house
of Richard Gregg was built in 1856 by Mr. P. S. Howlett, who last year built the mam-
moth house of Kidd, Francis & Co. In 1857 another house was added, that of T. S.

Dobbins, foot of Cass Street.

In 1869 distilling was the heaviest manufacturing interest in Peoria, there being
about two-thirds of a million of dollars invested in the business. There was six distilleries

in operation, besides two alcohol works. Moss, Bradley & Co., were among the heaviest

distillers. They liad 1144,000 invested. For the year ending April 30th, 1859, their

statement of business shows a consumption 294,623 bushels of grains, 815,984 pounds of

middlings, 102,330 bushels of coal : and a product of 71,561 barrels of highwines, and
2,000 barrels of flour. Thirty-eight men were employed.

They also had a cooper shop connected with their distillery, which employed thirty-

three men and turned out 21,490 barrels, tierces and kegs. They used up $13,353 worth
of stock in cooperage alone. The alcohol works manufactured alcohol, pure spirits, cam-
phene and burning fluid. One of these made 7,500 barrels of alcohol, and the other

forty-eight barrels per day. In 1860 there were seven houses in operation, run by the
following firms: Chas. R. Carroll, Thomas S. Dobbins, Gregg, Lyon & Co., Lightner,
Schimpferman & Co., Moss, Bradley & Co., Sweeney, Littleton & Co. and Almiron S. Cole.

Several of the distilleries have been burned during the past twenty years, and some
have never been rebuilt. Firms who did rebuild generally erected more commodious
houses with the latest improvements. The Zell & Francis distillery was erected in 1877,

on the site of their old one which was burned Dec. 4th, 1876. The main building is of

brick, 140 feet square and three stories high. The machinery building is forty by one
hundred feet. At the time it was built it was the largest distillery in the district, its

capacity being 3,000 bushels per day. It cost 160,000. Zell, Schwabacher & Co., now
operate it. They have just built a new purifying house 34 x 44 feet and fifty-four feet

high, at a cost of #5,000. This house has also been refitted for continuous distillation,

at a cost of about $25,000.

During the year 1878 the manufacture of highwines and spirits was the largest in

the history of Peoria. There were 11,520,360 proof gallons made from 3,001,308 bushels

of grain. The Government tax was $6,884,304.31, which added to the cost of manufac-
ture amounts to $8,439,612.91 as the value of spirits produced. The Fifth Internal

Revenue District collected and paid over to the Government the tax upon the above
production, $6,769,664. The Peoria district stands at the head of the list in the United

States in the amount of highwines manufactured.
The following is the daily capacity in bushels of the several distilleries in the city, as

surveyed by the Government officer :

C. S. Clark & C0...J-: 1,057.50
Spurck & Francis ._ - 1,412.28

G. T. Barker 2.010.95

Zell, Schwabacher & Co » 3,123.00

Bush & Brown -- 776.10

Barton & Babcock - - -- 460.12

Woolner Brothers 1,443.90

A. & S. Woolner 1,925.07

Kilduff& Hogue - - 1,826.88

Jacob Woolner &Co - 500.70

To which may be added the new distillery of Kidd, Francis & Co., which went into

41
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operation the 10th of July with a capacity of 5,000 bushels. This makes a grand total of

19,537.10 bushels as the daily capacity of the Peoria distilleries. Or, estimating the

average crop at 4.'i bushels per acre, they would consume the product of 434 acres daily,

and 136,842 acres annually.

The Largest Distillery in the World.—The mammoth distillery of Kidd, Francis &
Co., erected last season on the banks of the river below the I., B. & W. R. R. bridge, is

the largest in the world. It was commenced on the 20th of March and went into opera-

tion on the 10th of July. The main building is 1 31x209 feet. A portion of it is five

stories high. The malt house is three stories, and the fermenting room two stories high.

The mash and yeast rooms are four stories high, and the mill five stories. The latter

includes a grain room, 20x40 feet and 64 feet high. The alcohol room occupies an L of

the main building and is 40x60 feet, five stories high. There are eighteen fermenting

tubs, twenty feet in diameter at the bottom and sixty feet high, with a capacity of 834

bushels each. The mash tub is thirty feet in diameter and seven feet high. The beer

still's capacity is sixty bushels per charge, or 240 bushels per hour. There is a cistern

room 61x88 feet, containing five tubs, sixteen feet in diameter and fourteen feet high,

The bonded warehouse is erected just below the main building, and is 110x88 feet,

three stories high. An office has been built on the upper side of the main building, 22x36
feet, and one story in height. The wagon scale is on one side of the office, and wagon
jump and track scale on the other next to the distillery. Grain is dumped into a sink

which runs to the foot of the elevator and is then carried up into the bin. The weighing
or scale room is 40x64 feet. All the yeast meal is weighed in this room before entering

the mash tub. The bins are overhead and the meal is let down directly into the hoppers.
In this room are six pairs of Howe Scales. Four of them are 500 bushel scales, and two
pairs are 100 bushels. The corn is ground and conveyed immediately into the scales.

This has never been done before, but it saves an extra handling of the meal. The engine
room is 37x100 feet, and contains two large and powerful engines. The pumping arrange-

ment consists of five Dean pumps. Two are water pumps of a capacity of 800 gallons

per minute. One a beer pump with a capacity of 440 gallons per minute, and the other

two are high-wines and low-wines pumps. There are eight double-flue boilers twenty-
eight feet in length and forty-four inches in diameter, and three boilers six feet in diam-
eter, sixteen feet length, with sixty-four four-inch flues. There are two wells, seven feet

• in diameter and thirty feet deep, to furnish a supply of water. The smoke stack is

eighteen feet square at the base, with twenty feet of stone masonry below the surface.

The brick stack towers 130 feet above this. It has a flue seven feet in diameter. The
capacity of the malt-house is 400 bushels per day and the distillery is 5,000 bushels per
day. Fifty-eight acres of ground were purchased for the distillery, but twenty acres

were sold to the Sugar Refinery Company. On the bottom land, between the distillery

and the river, stables are built for feeding 3,500 cattle.

The distillery buildings are all built of brick, and 2,700,000 have been used in its

construction. The entire buildings cover an area of about five acres. The daily product
is equal to 275 barrels of high-wines, consuming about eighty acres of good corn, and
forty acres of small grain, and 1,600 bushels of coal per day. »#They employ ninety men
on the premises, and about 125 to prepare their cooperage. The slops are sufficient to

feed over 5,000 head of cattle. This one distillery pays the government 11,800 per day
revenue.

Peoria Starch Manufactory.—This institution, which is quite an important feature of

the manufacturing interests of the city, went into active operation in the Fall of 1865,
with George F. Harding as president, and Mr. E. S. Wilcox superintendent and general
manager. The buildings were located near the river, about two miles south of the (Court-

house. The factory started with a capacity of 150 bushels of corn per day. January 1,

1878, Mr. Wilcox retired from the management, and Mr. C. A. Harding succeeded him.
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He increased the capacity to 600 bushels of corn per day, and at the time of the burning
of the factory, November 14, 1879, it was turning out 16,000 pounds of starch daily.

Although losing very heavily by the fire, a new building, on a much larger scale, is

arising out of the ashes of the old one, and is far advanced in course of construction.
When completed it will be a fine brick structure covering an area of more than 30,000
square feet of ground, and will have a capacity of 1,500 bushels of corn per day.
Machinery will also be put in for making the boxes used for packing their goods. The
factory, when ready for operation, will give employment to 100 hands. The Peoria starch

is well known throughout the United States and parts of Europe, and compares favorably
with the best starches made in the world.

Agricultural Implements.—The Peoria Plow Works are on the corner of Water and
Walnut Streets, and here are manufactured plows, harrows, hay rakes, cultivators, etc.

This business was established by Toby & Anderson, in 1843, and has been carried on
under the name of the Peoria Plow Company for the last five years. The present officers

are, president, Moses Pettengill; secretary, E. B. Pierce; superintendent, Barnhart
Meals. Mr. Meals has been connected with the works for twenty-six years, and Mr.
Pierce seventeen years. The plant is worth about $100,000, and the controlling interest

in the company is held in Peoria. The business is a very extensive one, and extends
from Ohio westward to the Pacific. Outside of Illinois, the States of Missouri, Kansas,
and Nebraska take the largest quantity of its goods. Five traveling men are constantly

on the road, and stocks of implements are kept at St. Louis, and Topeka, Kansas, One
hundred hands are steadily employed, and the average turn out of plows is 10,000 per
annum. The sum paid out yearly for labor, averages |35,000, and from 600 to 800 tons

of iron and steel, and 1,000,000 feet of lumber are annually used in the, manufacture of

its productions.

The Union Corn-Planter Works, at 802 S. Washington Street, are owned by the firm

of James Selby & Co., were established in 1872, and have been conducted under the

present firm name since 1873. The capital invested is about $100,000, and the annual

turn out of planters about 4,000. Employ in workshop about seventy hands, and keep
four men on the road. Their principal business is done in the States of Illinois, Ohio,

Iowa, Indiana, Kansas, and Nebraska.

Hearst, Dunn & Co., 718 S. Washington Street, manufacture the Star Corn-Planter,

and have been in business since 1864. About forty hands are employed in the factory,

and 8,000 planters are annually turned out. Their trade is principally with the Western
States, and four traveling agents are employed.

R. C. Buckley, 515 S; Washington Street has been in the business since 1863, and
manufactures principally for customers in the county. Makes sulky-plows, cultivators,

harrows, etc., and does an annual business of $5,000.

Baking Powder.—Probably the largest manufacturers of this article in Peoria are

Sloan, Johnson & Co., 60 and 62 S. Water Street, and C. J. Off & Co., 16 and 18 Liberty

Street, and among the other makers are the firms of C. A. Bowman & Co., Charles Fisher

& Co., and Smith & Strong.

Boiler Makers.—McAleenan & Cody, on S. Water Street, near Chestnut, have for

three years conducted a business that was established some six or seven years ago. They
are very busy and have during last year done about $50,000 worth of work— construct-

ing forty-five new boilers— among them the large boilers for the Monarch Mills and
Peoria Sugar Refinery. .

J, E. Eastman & Co., corner S. Water and Oak Streets, have been in existence as a

firm only three or four months, but the business they carry on is the oldest one in their

line in Peoria, it having been established about fifteen years ago. They have on their

books nearly $8,000 worth of work contracted for and partly in process of construction,
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among this being three new boilers for the Peoria Grape Sugar Company's works. These
are each five feet in diameter by sixteen feet in length.

Brass Founders and Coppersmiths.— Kinsey & Mahler, 400 S. Adams Street, stand

at the head of this line of business in the city. The business was established in 1850,

and has been conducted for 18 years under the present firm name. They manufacture

all kinds of brass and copper goods, distillery and brewery supplies, such as stills, worms,
etc. Worked up last year about 25 tons brass and about 12 tons copper, and keep an

average of 20 hands employed. Did a local business last year of about $120,000. In

addition to what is manufactured, the firm keep a full line of gas fixtures and
plumber's material, and also handle extensively iron pipe for steam heating purposes.

Simpson & McGlinn, 228 S. Adams Street, has been in business 10 years, and man-
ufacture all kinds of brass and copper work, for distillery and other purposes. Employ
about 10 workmen the year through, and did a business of about $20,000 during the past

year. Their stock, etc., is worth about $5,000.

Breweries. — By far the largest brewery in the city is the Eagle brewery of Gipps &
Co. on South Water Street, between the bridges. It was started in 1867 as an ale brew-

ery, but since 1869 has manufactured only lager beer. At the latter date it was con-

ducted by the firm of Gipps, Howe & Co., and between then and 1872, when the present

firm name was adopted, many changes took place in the firm which controlled it. About
30 hands are employed, and during last year 465,000 gallons of beer was manufactured,
three-fourths of which was consumed in the city. This is a greater quantity than is

brewed in all the other breweries in the county and all foreign beer brought into the city

combined. The firm have paid out for cooperage in the past 10 years the large sum of

$40,000. During the last year they have used 45,000 bushels of barley malt and about

the same number of pounds of hops. Use 3,000 tons of ice annually and from three to four

tons of coal per day. They have about $115,000 invested in their business, $50,000 of

which is in kegs and puncheons. The last year's repair bill for wagons, etc., amounted
to $3,500.

The City brewery of Jacob Miiller is near the corner of N. Water and Erwin Streets,

and was started about 25 years ago, and has been under the control of its present owner
about two years. An average of 10 hands are employed, and 140,000 gallons of beer

brewed annually, all of which is sold in the county.
The Union brewery at 1381 S. Washington Street is owned by August Weber, and

has been conducted by him for about nine years. He brews an average of 160,000 gal-

lons of beer per year, and employs about 12 hands.
Conrad Bitz, 1,707 South Water Street, and Joseph Meyer, 123 Douglas Street, have

also small lager beer breweries, and sell all they brew in the city.

Button Manufactory. — Hurd & Co., on S.Adams Street, near Elm Street, manu-
facture all kinds of ivory buttons. They have been in business since 1874, average 85

hands employed the year round, and turn out 150 gross of buttons per day. The but-

tons are made from a substance called vegetable ivory, which is the fruit of a palm in-

digenous to South America, and is received at the factory in its natural state, there to

undergo the various processes of husking, drying, cutting, etc., necessary to the produc-
tion of a finished button. The firm have all the work they can do, and the orders ahead
are accumulating fast.

Candle and Lard Oil Manufacturers.— John F. Faber & Co., Commercial Alley, be-

tween Fulton aiid Liberty Streets, have been in business about fourteen years. Manu-
facture about 500 boxes candles per annum, render ^ great deal of tallow, and cured

about 900 hides in the past year. Has accommodations for making 500 boxes candles

per month, and one barrel of lard oil per day. All his goods are made for the local trade.

Business last year amounted to about $25,000.
F. C. Koenig & Co., 107 Clay Street, have been established about twenty-five years.
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and make about 600 boxes candles a year, all of which are sold in the city. Render
about fifty barrels of tallow, and cure 300 hides per month. Did a business last year of
about $35,000.

Carriages, Buggies and Wagons.— Geo. Pfeiffer, Jr., 532 to 538 S. Adams Street,
has been in business since 1868, and manufactures more wagons and buggies than any
other maker in the city. He employs about thirty-five hands, and conducts in addition
a large livery business. Turned out last year about $52,000 worth of work, and has
invested in plant and stock about 150,000. He manufactures exclusively for the home
trade.

D. L. Bigham & Co., 115 to 119 N. Washington Street, have carried on for the last

seven or eight years a business established over thirty years ago, at the same location.
Employ about twenty-five workmen, and have one traveling salesman during the season.
Their business last year amounted to about 140,000, and their stock will run about $18-
000.

Christian Gentes, 115 to 117 Fulton Street, has during the past year conducted a
business which was established in 1865. Employs about seven hands, and does an almost
exclusively local trade.

There are several other firms in the city in this line of business, manufacturing
principally for the local trade. Among them are the following : G. W. Smith's Sons,
305 Fulton Street ; Johnson & Dalton, 1210 S. Adams Street ; Wm. Hupe, 211 Bridge
Street, and John Schroder, 203 Bridge Street.

Coopers.— William Hughes, 600 N. Jefferson, has been engaged in business as

cooper, at the same location for thirty-five years, and manufactures every kind of barrel

that can be made out of elm and oak. Has a general average of thirty hands at work
through the year, and thinks about 500,000 staves would be a fair average of his yearly
business.

Hutchinson & Madigan, 10-1 Henry Street, have been in business about seven years,

and manufacture all kinds of barrels. They employ about forty-five men, and do an
average yearly business of about 300,000 staves. All the barrels they make are sold in

the city.

Dudley & Mosher, South Water Street, near Lisk, have been established in business

about three years, and manufacture principally for local distillers. Carry a stock worth
about $8,000, give employment to about twenty-five hands, and estimate their average
annual business at about 365,000 staves.

Coopers Union No. 2.— This shop is located near the foot of Water Street, and gives

employment to an average of eighteen hands. It has been in existence about eight years,

manufactures principally iron bound barrels, and does an average yearly business of

about 260,000 staves.

John Zimmerman, whose shop is on S. Water Street, near Woolner's Distillery, has

been in business for five or six years, employs about fifteen hands, and does a yearly

business of about 300,000 staves.

Nixon & Co., employ an average of twenty-two hands, and use about 350,000 staves

a year.

J. M. N. Joyce on N. Washington Street, near Fayette, employs about ten hands,

and does a good business.

In addition to those mentioned there are quite a large number of smaller shops scat-

tered through the city, doing a local business and affording employment to anywhere
from three to ten men each.

Crackers and Confectionery.— Kellogg & Davis, corner Sixth and Franklin Streets,

have been in business since 1867, but the manufacture of their goods was commenced at

that location some fifteen years previous. The factory is three stories high and built of

brick ; has all the latest improved machinery for kneading, baking, etc, with a capacity
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of thirty barrels of flour per day. At present they are using fifteen barrels of flour per

day (making sixty barrels of crackers) and 1,500 pounds of sugar. Their goods are

principally sold in Illinois and Iowa. An average of thirty hands are employed and three

traveling men are constantly on the road. The stock runs about $15,000, and the busi-

ness last year amounted to about f 150,()00.

Harsch Brothers, 310 and 312 S. Washington Street, have been established tenyears,

and conduct a large business. They manufacture all kinds of crackers and confec-

tioneries, using about a ton of sugar daily, and making about 360 barrels of crackers a

week. AH of their goods are sold in Illinois. Their business last year amounted to

about $130,000, and they carry a stock of about $20,000. In their factory and store

twenty-nine hands are employed, and two traveling men are always on the road.

Founders and Machinists.— Nicol, Burr & Co., corner South Water and Walnut
Streets, have for the past fifteen years conducted the business established about the year

1855 by William Peters. They at present do much the largest business in this line in

the city, and have about forty-five hands in steady employ. During the past year they

constructed the two engines and other machinery of the Monarch Mills, and much of the

machinery for the Peoria Sugar Refinery. Last year's business amounted to about

$75,000.

O'Rorke & Co., corner Maple and Washington Streets, are proprietors of the Wash-
ington Foundry, which was started in 1868 on the cooperative and joint stock plan.

Mr. O'Rorke has bought out the other interest, and now conducts the business himself.

An average of ten hands are employed, and about three hundred tons of castings are an-

nually made. They claim to make the best castings in the West. Value of building,

etc., about $10,000.

Mosher & Armstrong, 830 South Washington Street, carry on business as machinists,

and do considerable repair work. They have been in business about five years, employ
nine hands, and did a business last year of about $10,000.

Adam Lucas, 211 Fulton Street, has been established in business for twenty-three
years. He for many years manufactured safes, but at present makes supports for build-

ings and iron railing. Employs seven hands, land did ast year a business of about

$8,000.

,
Furniture Manufacturers.— The only furniture manufacturers in the county are

Comstock & Avery, whose warehouse is at 114 to 120 Main Street. The business was
established in 1862, and has been conducted under the present firm name since 1868.

They manufacture all kinds of furniture, but make a specialty of parlor furniture, and
also manufacture Shaw's Patent Reclining Chair. With the exception of the Reclining

Chair, the business is an entirely local one. The warerooms are three stories in height,

and are filled with furniture, worth the plant upwards of $50,000. The parlor furniture

is manufactured in workshops in rear of the warehouse, and the other articles of furniture

at various shops in the city. Twenty-five workmen are steadily employed. The busi-

ness of the firm last year amounted to about $125,000.

Milling.— Cox, Bruner & Co., are the owners of the Vienna Mills at 160 North
Fayette Street. This mill was established about twenty years ago, and the present
building was erected about 1867, to replace the old one which had a short time previously

been burned. The mill is a fine one, three stories high with basement, and built of brick.

Under the old process of milling, its full capacity was about 300 barrels flour per day,

but in May last, when the present owners came into possession, machinery for grinding
by the new process was put in, and its present capacity is now about 200 barrels per day.

It is also supplied with all the latest improvements in the way of reeling, bolting, and
purifying. They employ about fifteen hands and two traveling men. The flour is almost
all ground to supply custom trade in this State, but a little of it is shipped to Indiana.
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The mill is at present using from 800 to 1,000 bushels of grain a day, which is ordinarily
supplied by the home market.

The Globe Mills, on Globe Street near Main, are owned by J. W. Gift, formerly of
Eureka, Illinois, are fitted up with all the newest and most approved machinery for mill-
ing by the new process, and have a capacity of about 125 barrels per day.

Manufacturing Pharmacists.— A\\z\ve, Woodward & Co., 100 to 106 Hamilton
Street, have been engaged in this business since 1873. They manufacture fluid and solid

medical extracts, sugar coated pills, and grind, powder, and press all kinds of staple
Botanic drugs. Make no patent medicines. They ship their goods to Europe, Australia,
and to every State and Territory in the Union. About 400,000 pounds of roots and
herbs were manipulated by them during last year, and their sales aggres;ated $70,000.
The domestic roots, etc., come from the Southern States, and a great part of them from
North Carolina. Their business has increased 43 per cent, in the past year, and their

present factory is becoming too small to keep pace with it. About forty hands are kept
steadily employed, and a change to more commodious quarters will soon be made.

Paper Boxes.— Benjamin Foster, 111 Main Street, has been engaged in the manu-
facture of paper boxes for about eight years. He makes all kinds of boxes for holding
candy, starch, buttons, etc., etc., and uses about thirty-five tons of paper annually. Did
a business last year of about $7,.500, and employs an average of ten hands.

Peoria Plating Works.— These are the only plating works in the city, and were
established in the latter part of 1878. They are located at 402 South Adams Street, and
are under the management of J. S. Dunlap. The enterprise is a local one, and bids fair

soon to become one of considerable importance. All kinds of silver plated goods are

manufactured, and they also do eleetrotyping in gold, nickel, bronze, etc. The works
have a capacity of 25 ounces per hour, and a dynamo electric machine is used in the

depositing room. Two floors are occupied and nine workmen are presently employed.
The business last year amounted to about $5,000 and is increasing rapidly, has in fact

doubled every six months since the start. A stock of about $3,000 is carried, and three

traveling agents employed constantly. Considerable replating is done, and any pattern

in flat or hollow ware can be duplicated. At present rate of business the works are

turning out fifty full tea sets a year, besides hundreds of knives, forks, spoons, and other

small articles. Their trade is almost all in Illinois, with occasional and increasing orders

from adjoining States.

Peoria Pottery Company.— This industry was started in Peoria in 1860 by the

American Pottery Company, who principally manufactured white ware. The present

company consists of George Wolfe, Austin F. Johnson, and Mrs. Lydia Bradley, and has

been in existence eight or ten years. It makes a specialty of fine glazed stone ware,

such as milk pans, jugs, jars, etc., which are moulded in plaster of paris moulds, thus

securing great regularity of size, shape, and thickness ; also manufacture vast quantities

of flower pots, both plain and fancy in shape. Many of the fancy pots are from original

designs, and others from the besfilmported designs. The finer class of goods manufac-

tured are decorated by skilled and highly paid workmen. Experiments have recently

been made in the manufacture of majolica with excellent results, and the company hope

soon to make its manufacture a prominent item of their business. Four large kilns are

in use tor baking the pottery, round in shape, and with a diameter of sixteen feet inside.

The foundations for another liiln have been laid, and it will be built and made ready for

use in the coming Spring. An idea of the extent of the works may be gathered from the

fact that it has a capacity for turning out 30,000 gallons of milk pans, jugs, etc., or 300,-

000 flower pots per week. An average of fifty hands are employed the year round.

Fifteen tons of coal are useli per day. The clay used comes by rail from Scottsburg, in

McDonough county, in this State, and is of superior quality. Of this 9,000,000 pounds

per annum are used. This clay is also capable of making a very fine fire Mck, and
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thousands are annually made at the pottery, both in the shape of the plain fire brick, and
as boiler tile and cupola brick. The works cover five acres of ground, and use every
foot of it, and the main building is 280x190 feet. Upwards of $25,000 is annually paid

out for labor, and the works have been in steady operation during the last five years,

never missing ovfer a day at a time, and then only through some misadventure. Two
traveling men are constantly on the road, and the goods are sold in every State" and
Territory in the Union, outside of the New England States. The opposition this company
has to contend with is from small competitors, and in the matter of price only, as the

quality of goods here manufactured, can not be surpassed anywhere. This is the largest

pottery for the manufacture of fine glazed stone ware in America.
Pump Manufaeturers.—This industry is represented by J. W. Frazee & Co., whose

office and factory is on the corner of S. Water and Chestnut Streets. They have been
in busi^^s about sixteen years, manufacture wood, chain, and rubber bottom pumps, and
turned out last year about 10,000 pumps of various kinds, using in their manufacture
nearly 750,000 feet of lumber. They also manufacture extensively all kinds of wood
tubing, and have the capacity for making 100 pumps in ten hours with ease. An aver-

age of twelve hands are employed, and $30,000 is invested in the business. This is the
only pump manufactory at present in ojieration in the city.

Printers, Binders, and Blank Book Makers.—J. W. Franks & Sons, 210 and 212 Main
Street, have been in business since 1874, do a large and increasing trade, and have the
best facilities for doing all kinds of book and job printing of any firm in that business in

State, outside of Chicago. They have, besides job work, printed and bound 40,000 vol-

umes during the past year, among them the histories of Tazewell and Fulton counties.

They do a great deal of edition work, and have now on hand six different books in pro-

cess of publication. Their establishment occupies five floors, and gives employment to

thirty-five hands. Over 50,000 pounds of book paper, and $1,500 worth of gold leaf,

were used last year.

N. C. Nason, 402 S. Adams Street, has been established in the printing business in

this city for twenty-six years, and is the founder of the Daily Transcript, Does a

large job business, necessitating the use of steam power to run his presses.

H. S. Hill, corner of Washington and Fulton Streets, has been in the business for

twenty-five years, employs an average of sixteen hands, and has facilities for doing all

kinds of printing, except the coarser kinds of poster work. His establishment occupies
two floors ; his paper bill runs about $500 per month, and his business last year amounted
to about $25,000. The daily Peoria Commercial Report, for the Board of Trade, is

printed by him.
There are also many other printing offices in the city, exclusive of newspaper offices,

among them the following : Wm. Cox & Co., B. Creamer & Co., W. B. Deleplaine,
Elderkin & Co., Lauren & Wiltz, Rouse & Hardin, Singer Bros, and Wolf, Bros. &
Wolfram.

Sash, Boors, Blinds, Etc.— Wm. Truesdale & S#ns, corner of N. Water and Fay-
ette Streets, have been established since January, 1852, and do a very extensive business.

They employ an average of forty hands, and did a business last year of about $100,000.
Their workshop is 168x80 feet in size, with a height of three stories on river side. The
warehouse, containing the office, manufactured goods, and rooms for glazing, etc., is

100x60 feet, and two stories high. They do a great deal of jobbing trade, and used last

year about 1,000,000 feet of lumber. No traveling men are kept, as all the goods they
can manufacture can be sold without them.

John Herschberger, 704 S. Washington Street, has been established in business for

fifteen years, employs about thirty hands, and did a business last year of $30,000
H.^ A. Bush, 716 S. Washington Street, has also been some time in the trade, and is

doing an increasing business.
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Sheet Steel Workers.— J. J. Steiger, 213 to 217 Harrisou Street, has been engaged in
the manufacture of saws, sickles, sickle sections, moulding bits, etc., since 1856, and lias

about $15,000 invested in his business. He employs on an average ten hands, and his

goods are sold all over this western country. His yearly business amounts to about
18,000.

^

Show Case Manufacturer.— The only dealer in this class of goods in Peoria is John
R. Zeigler, 215 Hamilton Street, who commenced their manufacture in 1864. He also

deals extensively in plate glass, and keeps a large stock of both crystal and French plate
glass. Employs four hands in shop, and during the last year did a business of about
fl4,000.

Stove Foundry.— The Challenge Stove Works, owned and operated by Cutter &
Procter, are on corner of N. Water and Fayette Streets. All kinds of cooking and heat-
ing stoves are here manufactured, giving employment to about one hundred hands. The
works have been established for about fifteen years. Three traveling men are "Kept con-
stantly on the road pushing the sale of the goods, the bulk of which is sold in the States

of Illinois, Missouri and Iowa. The works are extensive and have great facilities for

meeting any sudden call upon them. The moulding room is 206x70 feet in size, the
warehouse 200x44 and four stories high, besides another building 100x48 and three

stories high. Iron to the amount of 1,200 tons is used, and 10,000 stoves manufactured
in course of a year.

Trunks.— David Rowan, 132 N. Adams Street, conducts a business that was estab-

lished some eight years ago, and became sole proprietor about seven months ago. Em-
ploys an average of eight hands, manufactures about 2,000 trunks and 1,500 satchels an-

nually, carries a stock of about f5,000, and does an average yearly business of about
114,000.

Twine and Cordage Manufacturer.— William Bergner, 1612 S. Adams Street, has
manufactured twine and cordage at this location for four years, and has great facilities

for production. He makes all kinds of tarred work, and his walk is 280 feet in length.

His goods are almost all sold to the jobbing trade in the city. Uses about twelve tons of

hemp and does a business of about $8,000 per year.

File and Hasp Cutter.— Louis Steier, 610 S. Washington Street, has been estab-

lished in the city for over ten years, and is the only file cutter in the county. Manufac-
tures all kinds of files and rasps, and disposes of them almost exclusively in Illinois and
Indiana. He does a business of from 18,000 to $10,000 a year.

Yeast Manufacturers.— A branch of the Waterloo Yeast Company, of Waterloo,

New York, established in 1858, was started in Peoria in the Spring of 1873, for the pur-

pose of more conveniently supplying the western trade with the "Twin Brothers Dry Hop
Yeast." The branch is under the charge of Mr. W. A. Stratton, employs fifteen hands,

and turns out daily about 5,000 packages of twelve cakes each.

Whitton & Co., 114 Fulton Street, manufacture "Mrs. Messinger's Dry Hop Yeast,"

have been in business about a yeaw, keep four hands employed, and turn out about 1,000

cakes per day.

WHOLESALE BUSINESS.

Wholesale Boot and Shoe.— Moses Pettingill & Co., 123 S. Washington Street, was
established in 18t31 as J. P. Bean, and afterwards J. P. Bean & Co., and in 1875 the firm

was changed to Moses Pettingill & Co. They carry a stock of $30,000 to, $50,000 and

do an annual business of $125,000. Employ two traveling salesmen and their principal

trade is in this State. Their goods are manufactured in the Eastern States especially for

their trade.

Carriage Trimmings.— Blair Brothers, 119 Main Street, established October,

1879, carry in stock all goods necessary for fitting out carriages and 'buggies ;



562 HISTOEY OP PEORIA COUNTY

rubber, enamel and carriage cloths, enamel leather of all kinds, mats and carpets. Carry
a stock of $7,000. The trade is represented on the road by one of the firm.

Carpets and Wall Papers.— J. N. Hadley, situated at 209 S. Adams Street,

embarked in business in 1870, and does a general jobbing business through the
central part of the State. He carries a stock of |50,000, and his annual receipts are

$150,000. Occupies in room 24 feet by 350 feet, and is the principal jobbing house in

the city.

Clothing.— S. Bennett, Bro., & Co., wholesale and retail dealers, 201 and 203 S.

Adams Street, established in 1860. Employ fifteen men in the house and three

traveling salesmen on the road continually. Carry a stock of $150,000 to $175,-

000, and do an annual business of $250,000. They occupy a brick four story building,

38 feet by 95 feet deep. They do the only wholesale clothing business in the city. Their
clothing,^ manufactured in Philadelphia expressly for their trade.

Crockery.— Is represented by P. S. Shelly, 231 S. Adams Street. Carries a stock of

$28,000, and does an annual trade of $120,000. Has an extensive trade through Illinois,

Indiana, Iowa and Missouri. Employs four traveling salesmen.
Drugs.—The wholesale drug house of Messrs. Singer & Wheeler has so long been iden-

tified with the vast resources of Peoria, that it is really needless to make mention of its pros-

perous career since its establishment in 1859. The business of the house grew so rapidly

during ' the first five years of its existence that the)' were forced to seek new and more
commodious quarters, and to this end in 1869 they erected a three story brick building,

with basement, 48 by 171 feet, at Nos. 218, 220 and 222 S. Water Street, where they
have since remained. This establishment was fitted up regardless of expense in every
department. In the office may be found the Edison and Bell Telephones, together with
all other modern labor-saving devices for conducting the business of the house. It has
often been stated by those familiar with the drug trade, that the house of Messrs. Singer
& Wheeler is one of the largest west of New York City. Their vast trade can be no
better illustrated than by stating that it reaches the States of Illinois, Indiana, Missouri,

Iowa, Kansas, Nebraska and Minnesota. Mr. Porte Wheeler is the sole proprietor and
manager of the wholesale drug firm of Messrs. Singer & Wheeler, together with all its

branches, and its great success is largely due to his ability and business tact. The stock

of drugs, chemicals, patent medicines, druggists' sundries, etc., etc., is said to be the

largest carried in the State. To illustrate this more strikingly, the sales of the house
exceed something over $600,000 annually, and are yearly on the increase.

Colburn, Burks & Co., (successors to Simoneau & Colburn,) importers and whole-
sale druggists, was established in 1863. Carry a stock of $125,000 to $150,000. They do
an extensive trade over the north-west. Employing four traveling salesmen, who are

continually on the road, and thirty-one men engaged in the house. They do an annual
business of $700,000. This firm ranks with any in the Northwest.

Dry Groods.—^^Day Brothers & Co., one of the oldest houses in the city, was estab-

lished in 1856, on Washington Street, and prosecuted the retail trade until 1860,
when they embarked in the jobbing trade, and carry a stock from $200,000 to

$300,000, and holds the trade of central Illinois. Also have an extensive business in Iowa,
Missouri and Kansas. Employ forty-five clerks in the house besides about the same
number of girls in making overalls, and five traveling salesmen constantly on the road.

They have a resident buyer in New York, a member of the firm. Their annual receipts

are $1,250,000.

Erwin & Co., wholesale and retail dealers in dry goods, 102 S. Adams Street,

(Successors to Erwin & Ireland.) Established in 1875. Carry a stock from
$130,000 to $150,000, and do an annual business of $400,000 to $500,000. Their trade

extends through Illinois, Indiana, Missouri and Kansas. Occupy two rooms fifty by
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one hundred and seventy-five feet ; also a storeroom about the same size. Employ
thirty-five clerks in both branches and four traveling salesmen.

Woodward;, Ward & Co., wholesale and retail notions, hosiery, fancv dry goods,
toys, etc., 205 and 207 S. Adams Street, was established by Seabury & Company, and
was changed in 1872 to Woodward, Seabury & Co. In June, 1877, this was changed to
Woodward, Ward & Co. Carry a stock from $65,000 to 1100,000. Their sales are in
Illinois, Indiana, Iowa and Kansas. Employ five traveling salesmen on the road con-
tinually. They occupy a three-story brick, with basement, forty by eighty feet, a store
and packing room, twenty-five by sixty feet, and also have a room in King & Jack's
Building, thirty-six by one hundred feet. Annual sales between $250,000 and $300,-
000. The only strictly wholesale notion house in the city.

Farm Machinery.— The wholesale farm machinery and seed house of Messrs. King-
man & Co. is widely and extensively known, but to impress its importance .^jpon our
readers we will say a word in reference to its standing. The business was established
in 1867, and is located at Nos. 116 and 118 S. Washington Street. It has a
frontage of thirty-four feet by one hundred and seventy-four feet deep, a fine three-
story brick structure with basement. The house deals in all descriptions of farm ma-
chinery, seeds, etc. To accommodate their already large and growing trade they have
two immense warehouses besides a branch depot at East St. Louis. During the past
thirteen years, Mr. Martin Kingman has stood at the head of the house, and their success
is greatly due to his affable manner and business sagacity. They have four traveling
salesmen on the road constantly. They carry a stock from $30,000 to $50,000, and do an
annual business of $350,000.

Groceries.— The business of the house now widely known as Henry, Oakford &
Fahnestock, was started January 1, 1868, by Jos. F. Henry, Aaron S. Oakford and Geo.
Wright, under the firm name of J. F. Henry & Co., doing an extensive retail business
on N. Washington Street, near Main. January 1, 1870, Messrs. Henry & Oakford
bought out Mr. Wright's interest, the firm name being changed to Henry & Oakford.
They enlarged the retail trade of the house, and added a wholesale department. From
very small beginnings the wholesale trade steadily grew. The 1st of January, 1872,
Mr. H. H. Fahnestock joined Messrs. Henry & Oakford in the business, the firm name
becoming Henry, Oakford & Fahnestock. They moved to S. Washington Street, near
Liberty, and from this date confined themselves exclusively to the wholesale trade.

Mr. C. J. Off was admitted into the firm in 1874, and retired in 1877.

More room was needed, and they moved in 1875 into a large store below Liberty, on
Washington Street. In a few years the business had reached such proportions that they
were again forced to move. In 1877 Easton's Commercial Block was built expressly for

them. Their wholesale grocery establishment is among the finest in the State.

The trade of this house, wonderful as has been its growth, is still increasing. Six

traveling salesmen work up the trade on the road. In twelve years the business has

grown from $25,000 to about $1,000,000 per annum.
S. H. Thompson & Co. established in business in March, 1863. Carries a stock of

$50,000. His annual sales are $500,000. Employs three traveling salesmen. Is located

at 70 and 72 Liberty Street, and McCoy & Stewart, located at 210 and 211 South Wash-
ington Street. Commenced business in 1860. Carries a stock from $40,000 to $50,000.

Occupies two rooms 38x170 feet, and basement. Has two salesmen on the road con-

stantly. Their annual sales are $250,000.

Lewis, Green & Co., 230 South Washington Street. In the Fall of 1853 embarked
in the retail business on Bridge Street, and continued up to 1865, when they commenced
the jobbing trade. Carries a stock of $40,000, and does an annual business of from

$350,000 to $400,000. Has three traveling salesmen constantly on the road, also five

men in the store.
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L. B. Gibson, No. 104 South Washington Street, embarked in the retail

grocery trade in 1852, and in 1860 formed a partnership with J. M. Woodbury, and
embarked in the jobbing business until his death, which occurred in 1870, since which
time he has conducted it on his own hook. Carries a stock from 140,000 to $60,000, and
his receipts amount to fl75,000 to $200,000 per annum. Has three men constantly on
the road. Occupies three rooms 24x100 feet. His principal trade is in the central por-

tion of Illinois. •

(3has. J. Off & Co., 116 and 118 Liberty Street, established in 1878. Handle a full

line of groceries, tobaccos and cigars. Manufacture Dr. Miles' Premium Baking Pow-
der and Flavoring Extracts, etc. Carry a stock from $35,000 to 165,000. His principal

sales of groceries are in Illinois, but his tobacco, cigars, baking powder and extracts have
a much larger scope. His annual sales are $300,000, an increase of over $70,000 the

previous year.

Hardware.— Isaac Walker & Son, importers and jobbers of hardware and cutlery,

125 and 127 South Washington Street. Was established in 1842 by Walker & Lightner,

which run for some time and then changed to Walker & Mclllvane. In 1872 it was
changed to Walker, Thompson & Co., and in 1877 it became the firm of Walker & Son.

Handle general shelf hardware, cutlery and guns. Carry a stock of $50,000. Annual
sales $175,000 to $200,000. Employ two traveling salesmen, and their goods are sold

chiefly in the central portion of this State.

Cummings & Emerson situated at 416 and 418 S. Washington Street, wholesale deal-

ers in heavy hardware, wagons and carriages and wood ; work established 1867. Carry a

stock of $50,000, and do an annual business of nearly $200,000. Their sales are prin-

cipally in the central portion of Illinois.

Geo. W. Rouse, wholesale hardware, 110 S. Washington Street. Embarked in the

retail hardware in El Paso in 1853. And in the Spring of 1875, came to Peoria. Carries

a stock from $30,000 to $60,000, and does an annual business of $175,000. Also handles
seed extensively, his sales amounting to upwards of $75,000 per annum. His principal

business is done in the central portion of the State. Employs three trading men.
Clark, Quinn & Morse, wholesale dealers in shelf hardware, cutlery, and guns, 217

and 219 S. Adams Street. The firm was establislied in 1869 as Clark, Quinn &
Chalmers, and continued as the same until Sept. 1874. Carries a stock of $40,000.
Annual sales are $150,000, and principally in the central portion of this State. Also make
sales in Indiana and Iowa. Have a fine store room in a good location.

"W. A. Hunter, wholesale dealer in iron, steel, heavy hardware and carriage and
wagon wood work. Located at 314 and 316 S. Washington Street. Successor to

McClure, Cutler & Co. Carries a stock of from $25,000 to 140,000, and his trade

amounts to $100,000. Employs one traveling salesman.
Z. F. Hotchkiss, 120 S. Washington Street, dealer in hardware and cutlery. Was

first established on Main Street in 1849. Carries general hardware, sporting goods, belt-

ing, nails, tools, etc. Has one to two travelling salesman on the road. Carries a stock
of $25,000 to $30,000, and his annual receipts are $75,000. Has three rooms 24 by 172
feet.

Beasely Brothers embarked in the saddlery hardware, harness and leather in the Fall

of 1865, on S. Washington Street, and continued as the same firm until 1876, when the
present firm was formed as Beasely & Co. They are located on 119 S. Main Street. Carry
a stock from $15,000 to $20,000. Their annual sales are $75,000. ^ Employ two travel-

ing salesmen who are on the road continually.
Leather.— V. Dervine & Co. leather and shoe findings, 108 S. Adams Street, (Der-

vine & Black) came to Peoria in 1847 and engaged in the shoe manufactures and leather.

Carried on that business until 1854, when he sold his shoe interest to Guill & Roff, and
continued in the leather trade until 1857, when he sold out to Culter, Easton & Co.
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Then embarked in the lard, oil, and candles. Remained in that business nine months as

the firm of Dervine & Ford. Then the firm of Beasley, Dervine & Co. was formed, and
embarked in the leather works. In 1861 the firm was dissolved and Mr. D. started in

leather business again in 1863 in company with David Fey, and known as V. Dervine &
Co. In 1866 purchased the interest of Mr. Fey, and conducted the business on his own
account until Jan. 1, 1880, when he formed a partnership with John A. Chalmers.
Carry a stock from $10,000 to f20,000, and their annual receipts are f40,0u0.

Liquors— M. Hennebery, wholesale liquor dealer, 7 and 8 South Water Street,

embarked in business in 1851, as the firm of Brandamore & Henneberry, which continued
for five years ; since that time, Mr. H. has conducted the business by himself, carries a

stock of $30,000, has an extensive trade through the Northwest, doing an annual business

of $250,000. Mr. H. is one of the oldest business men in Peoria.

H. & J. Schwabacher, wholesale liquor dealers, 214 and 216 South Washington
Street, embarked in business in the Spring of 1862. They carry a very extensive

stock, and their trade extends from Maine to California. They have three traveling

salesmen constantly on the road.

Ullman & Co., wholesaj[,e liquor dealers, 225 South Washington Street, embarked
in 1870, and carry a fine stock of all kinds of liquors, valued at from $30,000 to $40,000.

Their principal trade is in Illinois, Indiana and Iowa. Their annual receipts are from

$140,000 to $150,000.

J. G. Behrends, wholesale liquor dealer, 300 South Washington Street,' commenced
trade in 1872, carries a stock of from $4,000 to $8,000. His annual receipts are $40,000.

Also deals extensively in ice.

The Lumber interests of the country comprise one of the most important features of

the nation's industry, and its growths are synonymous with the various developments

and improvements that are constantly in progress. And as regards Peoria and this

vicinity, this particular interest is well represented in the yards of this city.

Jonathan Hancock's yard was established in 1855, as the firm of Hancock & McCul-
lough, which continued until 1865, when Mr. H. bought the interest of Mr. McCullough,

and has prosecuted the trade on his own account. Carries a stock of from 1,200,000 to

1,500,000 feet. His trade is principally in the central portion of this State.

Joseph Miller & Sons' yard was established in 1848 (by Joseph Miller, deceased,)

builders, and dealers in lumber, laths, shingles, timber, etc., on the corner of Washington

and Walnut Streets. Carries a stock of from 1,250,000 to 1,500,000 feet. In the year

of 1879 handled 4,500,000 feet. Employ in building and yard one hundred men.

J. T. Rogers & Co., corner of Adams and Harrison Streets, was established in 1860.

They handle hard wood and pine lumber, and have a large local trade, and are well pre-

pared for dressing lumber, of which they use a large amount in manufacturing boxes,

making 6,000 per month, according to the demand. The lumber business amounts to

about 3,000,000, including laths and shingles. Carries an average stock of 1,000,000 feet.

Ira Smith & Co., lumber dealers, was established in 1850 by Ira Smith, and contin-

ued up to 1870, when he sold his interest. In 1875 embarked again, as the firm of Ira

Smith & Son, and continued until his death, which occurred Dec. 16, 1879. Keep in

stock 800,000 feet, and annnal sales are 1,200,000 feet. Mr. Smith was among the first

to embark in the lumber business in the city.

Procter & Tripp, wholesale and retail dealers in pine and hard lumber, carry a stock

of 3,900,000 feet, including shingles and laths. Have an extensive trade.

Jefferson Carson, foot of Edmonds Street, established the latter part of Octo-

ber, 1879. Carries a stock of 3,000,000 feet of pine lumber. He also manufactures his

lumber at Ludington, Michigan. Does a general jobbing business, and ships out on all

the railroads that leave the city. He is, strictly, the only wholesale shipper and manu-

facturer in the city



Tinners'' Stock, Stoves and Souse Furnishing Q-oods.— R. A. Cutter & Co., 115 S.

Washington Street, was established in about 1850 by T. C. Moore, and in 1860 the firm

was known as Moore & Sandemeyer. In 1869 the firm changed to Cuttpr, Sandemeyer

& Co., Mr. Moore going out of the business, which continued till 1878, when it was
changed to R. A. Cutter & Co., the company buying Mr. Sandemeyer's interest. Their

chief sales are made in the central portion of the State. Also ship some goods to Iowa

and Kansas. Carry a stock equal to any in the State outside of Chicago. They have a

brick building three stories with basement 24xxl50 feet. Also have two rooms 24x90

feet.

Tobacco and Cigars.—Newman & Ullman, 225 S. Washington Street, was es-

tablished in 1859. Carry a full line of cigars and tobaccos of $25,000. Their

trade is principally in Illinois, Indiana and Iowa, and do an annual business of $200,000.

Is the oldest house in the city and employ two traveling salesmen constantly.

CHAMBER OF COMMBfiOB.

The Peoria Chamber of Commerce was the first public exclusively business building

erected in the city. It stands on the east corner of South Washington and Harrison

Streets, and is a beautiful, imposing edifice, creditable to the city's commercial enter-

prise.

Architect T. V. Wadskler, of Chicago, drew the plans for the building, and the

contract for construction was let to William P. Caverly, of Toulon, 111., and Hiram H.
Pierce, of Peoria, on the 25th.day of April, 1875, for $69,900. Ground was broken on
the first day of May and the corner stone was laid on the third day of June with grand
ceremonies, conducted by the Ancient Order of Free and Accepted Masons. The struc-

ture was completed, turned over and accepted by the Chamber of Commerce Association

on the 15th of December, 1875. At two o'clock in the afternoon of the same day, the

Board of Trade rooms were formally opened, and the building was dedicated with appro-

priate speeches and exercises. Governor Beveridge and other distinguished persons, to-

gether with delegates from the various Chambers of Commerce and Boards of Trade in

the West, honored the occasion with their presence.
• The building has sixty-five feet frontage on Washington Street, a like rear front on

Commercial Street, by 145 feet frontage on Harrison Street, and the same on a court or

alley twenty-eight feet wide, extending parallel with Harrison Street. The cellar is nine

feet in the clear, below the Washington Street sidewalk, a little above the level of which
is the first floor. The first story is 13 feet 3 inches in the clear, the second story 14 feet

3 inches, the third story, back, 13 feet 3 inches, and the fourth or gallery story 13 feet.

The Board of Trade exchange room is 61 feet wide by 104 long, and 34 feet 9 inches

high in the clear, extending upward from the third floor to the highest ceiling. From
the foundation of the walls to the top of the main roof is 97 feet. The tower is 20x20
feet at the base and 16x16 feet at the top, and rises 18 feet above the main roof. The
flagstaff above the tower is 32 feet long, surmounted by a weather-vane 134 feet above the
level of the sidewalk. The clock dials in the tower are 93 feet above the street level.

The foundation and main cross walls are laid upon thick, broad dimension—strong,

and built up to the joists of the first floor of Joliet ruble stone, laid in cement. The first

course of stone above ground is fine rubbed limestone. Above this the outer walls are

built of selected brick and blue Amherst cut stone trimmings. The division walls are

all of brick—as are the numerous vaults. The timbers are of selected well seasoned
pine. The first and second hall floors are of hard maple, the room floors of white pine.

The stair steps are ash, and the railings, balustrades and posts, of black walnut. The
outside trimmings, except the stone, are of galvanized iron and zinc, and the roof of the

best Vermont slate ; the windows are the best French plate-glass, double thick. The
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building is amply supplied with water by the water works, well lighted and finely venti-
lated. It is warmed by a steam-heating apparatus, on what is termed the "indirect"
method, using 22,000 feet of steam pipe, and put in at a cost of $8,000.

The clock in the tower is a No. 1 Seth Thomas, with three illuminated dials, ninety-
three feet above the ground, and cost set up, $500.

Neither the heating apparatus nor the clock was included in the original contract.

This magnificent building is a conspicuous feature of the city, and excepting the
Merchant's Exchange of St. Louis, and the Board of Trade building of Chicago, is the
most elegant in the West. «

CITY BUILDINGS.

City Sail.—The City Hall is on Fulton Street near the corner of Madison Street,

and was erected in 1859, under the administration of Mayor Wm. R. Hamilton. The
lots upon which it and the City Markets adjoining stand, were bought about a year
previously. The principal cause of the building being erected at that time, was the pres-

sing necessity of having an Engine House near that point. In the minutes of the meet-
ing of the City Council held March 18, 1859, is found the first mention of the proposed
structure, in the form of motion by Aid. Brass, that the ordinance authorising its erec-

tion he passed. Thereupon the ordinance became law, and rapid progress was made in

carrying its provisions into effect, and in the latter part of the same year it was com-
pleted and formally opened. Mr. Valentine Jobst was the architect, and Mr. Joseph
Miller, the contracting builder. It is of brick, with stone trimmings, two stories in height,

with tower for fire alarm bell, and cost in the neighborhood of $10,000. Together with
the adjoining markets, it occupies a frontage of 144 ft. on Madison, and 171 ft. on Ful-

ton Streets. The City Hall contains the offices of almost all of the city officials, viz :

Mayor's office, City Clerk's office, offices of City Engineer and Surveyor, Superintendent

of Water Works, Collector of Water Rent, Chief of Fire Department, with Fire Alarm
Telegraph, Supt. of Police with calaboose in the rear, and has also on second floor a fine

large council room, for the meetings of city fathers. The building on the whole, is far

from being prepossessing as to its exterior, or comfortable in its interior, and the present

City Hall will doubtless soon give place to one more in keeping with the growth and
progress of the city, of which it constitutes the Hub.

Markets.— The City Markets adjoin the City Hall, and are directly on the corner of

Madison and Fulton Streets. They were built about the year 1859, and cost about $10,-

000. They are in the form of a cross, and are built of brick, with a height of one story

with high roof. The floor is flagged, and the interior laid off in stalls, which are sold by
auction to the highest bidder in May of each year. Thejmarkets are not a source of much
revenue to the city, as the sum realized from the annual sale of the stalls just meets ex-

penses and interest on the investment. For last year the sum thus realized was $1,859.01

and the expenses $985.01, leaving a balance of $874 to pay interest, etc.

Engine Houses.— The Central City Hose, and Chemical Engine House, on North

Adams Street, between Hamilton and Fayette Streets, is the oldest engine house in the

city, but has been remodeled and fitted up anew since the organization of a paid fire de-

partment. It is valued with lot on which it stands at $5,400.

The building occupied by Fire Company No. 4, on Gallatin Street, between Pecan

and Cedar Streets, is also an old one, and is also used as a Police Station for South Pe-

oria. It is valued with the lot at $1,750.

Holly Hose House, corner South Jefferson and Sanford Streets, Bluff Hose House

on Main Street near Elizabeth, and Chemical Engine House No. 2, on South Adams Street

near the Plank Road, have all been built within the last six or seven years, and are re-

spectively worth with the lots, $3,000, $3,400, and $3,800.

This, with the City Hospital, Work House and Water Works completes the list of



^d8 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUi^Tf.

buildings owned by the city, and a detailed description of these will be found in the at^

tides respectively devoted to them.

PCTBLIC HALLS.

Rouse Hall was built in 1858 by Dr. Rudolphus Rouse, one of the earliest settlers

in Peoria, and it has been since then, almost the only place in the city, where public

meetings and entertainments could comfortably be held. It is located on the corner of

Jefferson and Main Streets, and has a frontage of sixty-five feet on the former street, and
140 ft. on the latter. The Hall proper is+in the second floor ; is well lighted with gas, and
warmed in the Winter time with stoves ; has a reasonably large stage ; a complete set of

stock scenery ; and will seat about 1,200 people. The balcony alone will hold 250. The
Hall exclusive of stage is 100x50 feet, and is twenty-two feet high in the clear. Dr.

Rouse died in 1873, and the property is now owned by his widow.
Academy of Music.— This building was erected in 1873, for the special accommoda-

tion of a Ssengerfest which was then held in the city. It is of wood, is partly seated, and
will hold about 1,500 people. It is situated on North Adams Street, between Fayette

and Jackson.

Pfeiffer's Hall is named after its owner, and is situated at 532 South Adams Street.

It was built in 1879, of brick, with stone trimmings. The dimensions of the Hall are

100x40 feet, and twenty-four feet high in the clear. Is not yet seated, but could com-
fortably hold about 900 people. It is principally used for dancing and musical parties.

Miscellaneous Halls.— The other Halls in the city are as follows : Masonic Hall,

216 Main Street ; Masonic Hall, 124 North Adams Street ; Bergen's Hall, on South
Washington Street ; Red Ribbon Hall, 215 South Adams Street ; Druid's Hall, corner

Main and Adams Streets ; Odd Fellows' Hall, 110 South Adams Street ; G. A. R. Hall,

107 South Adams Street ; Armory Hall, corner Madison and Liberty Streets ; Working-
men's Hall, corner Washington and Bridge Streets; Fenian Hall, 209 Main Street;

Roth's Hall, North Adams, near Evans Street.

The City Hospital.— This building was erected by the city authorities about 1859,

upon a block of land donated for that purpose by Hon. Geo. C. Bestor, (deceased,) in

Butler's Division, in South Peoria. It is a two story brick structure, and is valued with

the block on which it stands at about f10,000. Under the existing Poor Laws, the poor

of the city are under the charge of the county ofl&cers, but in this case the city maintains

the building, and the county pays for the care and treatment of the patients. The hos-

pital has for the past three years been under the charge of the Sisters of St. Francis,

who are paid so much per capita for each patient, the cost to the county being about

$1,500 per annum. It has accommodations for about twenty patients, but the number of

beds occupied ranges from six to, twelve. Four sisters of the Order are in constant at-

tendance. Before the hospital was placed under the charge of the sisters, its manage-
ment was far from good, but now through their self-sacrificing devotion the house is kept

clean and sweet, and the patients are attended to with the utmost care.

The Bradley Hospital.— This fine building and excellently managed institution,

occupies a commanding position on the East Bluff overlooking the city. It was origin-

ally built as a residence by the late Isaac Underbill about the year 1847, and was at that

time the handsomest one in Peoria. It subsequently passed into the hands of the late

Tobias S. Bradley, and was bought after his decease by the Right Rev. Bishop Spaulding
for use as an hospital. The purchase price of f8,000 was much below its real value, and
Bishop Spaulding tendered Mrs. Bradley the compliment of naming it the " Bradley
Hospital," in recognition of the easy terms upon which it was acquired. This sale took

place about four years ago, and at that time the Sisters of St. Francis, who take charge

of the hospital, had a small Infirmary on S. Adams Street, near Bridge Street, which
they had managed for about a year and a half. Thereupon the scene of their devoted
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labors was transferred to their new building, which had been fitted up with every thing
necessary for its purpose, and hundreds can testify from their own experience, to the un-
remitting watchfulness and care with which the good Sisters have tended the beds of
those who have been inmates. The hospital has accommodations for fifty-four patients,

and the average number the year round is forty. Separate rooms may be had by those
able to pay from $7.00 to $10.00 per week. The patients treated last year numbered
about 150, and about 100 of them were charity patients. Dr. Studer attends to the
medical department and Dr. Stewart to the surgical. The Sisters in attendance are

nineteen in number, and are under the experienced charge of Mother Francis. The
building is of brick, three stories in height, with large basement and a dwarfed mansard
roof, and occupies an extremely healthy and airy site. The death rate of the hospital is

very low.

Academy of Our Lady of the Sacred Heart. — This institution is conducted by the

Sisters of St. Joseph, and is under the special direction of the Right Rev. J. L. Spauld-
ing. Bishop of Peoria. Its aim is to afford the people of Illinois all the educational ad-

vantages which they might desire for their daughters, and the course of studies embraces
all the branches, useful and ornamental, that are usually taught. The religious opinions

of non-Catholic pupils are not interfered with ; but for the sake of good order, they are

required to attend the public exercises of religion.

This academy was established in 1863, by some of the Sisters of St. Joseph, who
came from the mother house in Toronto for that purpose. It at first occupied a frame
building on Madison Street, and some eight years afterwards was moved to its present

fine building, corner of Madison and Eaton Streets. The structure is of brick with stone

trimmings ; is two stories in height, with large high basement and dormer roof, and is

able easily to accommodate fifty resident pupils. Besides parlors, dormitories and
kitchen offices, there are two class rooms, a large study hall, and play rooms. During
the two last years the resident pupils have numbered about fifteen, but in previous years

from twenty-five to thirty was the usual attendance. Besides these, about fifty select pupils

receive the educational advantages of the academy as day scholars. No male pupils are

taken. The Sisters are fifteen in number, and in addition to their labors at the academy,

teach also in the Parochial school of St. Mary's Parish, and are under the charge of

Mother Superior Matilda.

Springdale Cemetery.— The association was incorporated Feb'y 14, 1855. Incor-

porators, Thomas Baldwin, Hervey Lightner, William A. Hall and Onslow Peters.

The cemetery is situated two miles north of the Court-house. The grounds contain

200 acres, and passes in a superior degree all the requirements of a splendid cemetery,

and in their arrangements and diversity of hills, dales, shade and water, are said by men
of experience and taste in cemetery matters, to be unexcelled. The grounds are enclosed

by substantial fences and Osage orange hedge. There are two entrances, one on the

Prospect Hill road, and on the north west. The main one on the south line towards the

city. A good shady road leads to this entrance, and the track of the Fort Clark horse

railway is extended there also. The grounds are laid off in divisions, sections and lots,

conforming to the uneven and varied character of the surface. There are over twelve

miles of carriage ways all well graveled and in fine condition. It is improved to the cost

of 1200,000 or nearly that outside of monumental adornments. Between six and seven

thousand people are buried in the grounds. The grounds contain many fine monuments.

The Cole monument erected at a cost of $10,000,the Bradley monument equally as beau-

tiful, and the Lightner, which cost $5,000 and, others. The grounds are arranged with

great care and skill. In the Spring and Summer wild fiowers and ferns grow in great

profusion. The cemetery in fair weather is visited by 2,000 to 5,000 people every Sun-

day.

The price and size of lots vary, depending on location. Prices run from 30 cts. to

42
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50 cts. per square foot, which includes the perpetual care of the lots, and is provided for

in the deed or the certificate of purchase. There are 1,050 lots sold up to this date.

The officers of the association are H. Lightner, president ; I. S. Wheeler, secretary

;

J. F. Burckel, superintendent.
The office is at the residence of the president, and a subroffice at the south entrance

of the cemetery.
Peoria Fair Association.— This association was organized as a joint stock association

under the State law, in April, 1873, with a capital stock of $50,000. The land enclosed
is nearly forty acres, and was fitted up and new buildings erected for the State fairs,

which were held on the grounds in the years 1873 and 1874. The grounds were named
Jefferson Park, and are so known and designated. The State fairs held here in 1873
and 1874 were among the largest and most successful ever held in the State. The build-

ings are large and well adapted to the purposes of a large exhibition. The water works
of the city furnish water to all parts of the grounds. An ample supply of water for all

purposes— for man and beast— is therefore certain and can be depended upon. Sheds,
stalls and pens are provided for horses, cattle, sheep and swine, and a large building de-

voted to fine poultry. Thie grounds can be reached by two steam railroads and two
horse railroads. The officers of the Peoria Fair Association are : R. H. Whiting, presi-

dent ; Nelson Burnham, vice president ; Washington Cockle, treasurer ; Roswell Bills,

secretary. The Fair Association have expended over $75,000 for land, buildings, track

and other improvements, and fairs have been held on the grounds each year since 1873.

Previous to that time, the fairs of Peoria county were held on the old Fair Grounds, on
the hill some two miles from the city. These grounds were owned by the county, and
the fairs were managed by directors chosen from each township in the county. The
grounds were too small and too far from the city, and not accessible by railroad.

CITY PAKKS.

Peoria has no public, but several parks which are centers of attraction and resort

for thousands by carriages and street cars in the pleasant seasons. Jefferson and Central
parks are situated in the upper end of the city at the terminus of the Adams Street

horse railway line, about two miles above Main Street. Jefferson Park embraces about
forty acres, and is the property of the Peoria Fair Association, by whom it was pur-

chased and fitted up for fair purposes in 1873. The grounds, considerably elevated above
the river level, present an undulating surface, furnishing good natural drainage and
pleasing appearance, and are amply shaded by native forest trees.

Central Park contains ten to twelve acres, adjoining Jefferson on the city side, and
is owned by the Central City Horse Railway Company. Besides its well shaded acres,

supplied at frequent intervals with rustic seats, this park contains the artesian well,

whose mineral waters supply a neatly equipped bathing establishment and swimming pool

which are much enjoyed by the populace during the warm months.
Spring Hill Park is also located in the north part of the <jity at the base of the

bluff, near the Fort Clark horse railroad. Col. Charles H. Deane began improving the

land, which consists of five acres, in 1875, and expended several thousand dollars in

sinking an artesian well, building, bath and swimming park, and supplying
other pleasurable features to the place. It is now the property of J. Hogan.

Germania Park is situated in Birket's Hollow, on the Fort Clark horse railroad, is

provided with a band tower, rustic seats and an abundance of native shade.
The State House Square is situated between Third and Fifth Streets and blocks 66

and 65, in Munson and Sanford's addition ; and was donated by them to the city. The
city has improved it with walks and fountain and rockwork, and interspersed the well-

set' lawn with a limited number of seats and shade trees.

Morton Park is bounded by Monroe, Perry, Morgan and Evans Streets, and lies in
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Morton, Voris and Laveille's addition to Peoria. The land was originally conveyed by
George Morton to Mrs. Mary M. Clark, for her life time, and at her death to go the

title in fee to vest in George and Mary Helen Morton, or their survivor, or in case they
died without issue to go to the city of Peoria for the benefit of orphan children. Mrs.
Mary M. Clark conveyed her interest to the city, and it is understood that Jacob Durst
has purchased the interest of one of the said children. The city controls it and has im-
proved it with walks and fountain and the planting of numerous deciduous trees about
the lawn.

ARTESIAN WELLS.

Within the past decade several artesian wells have been bored in the city of Peoria,

with uniformly satisfactory results. An abundant flow of water has been reached at

depths varying from 865 to 912 feet.

Spring Hill artesian well— the first— was sunk early in the year 1875, by Colonel
Charles H. Deane, at a cost of $2,500. It is 875 feet deep, and throws 150 gallons of

water per minute, by actual measurement.
The well at Central Park was sunk by the Central City Horse Railroad Company

later in 1875, and is 865 feet in depth. A vein of strongly saline water was struck at

the depth of 320 feet. The water flows from the five-inch pipe with great force, form-

ing quite a large brook as it runs from the fountain to the bath house and swimming
park, and thence away toward the Illinois river. The cost of this well was $2,750.

The Pulsifer well, as takes its name from Sidney Pulsifer, who had it bored in the

Spring of 1876, at the foot of the bluff between Main and Hamilton Streets. It is the

deepest well in the city, being 912 feet, and from a four-inch delivery pipe throws 105
gallons, or fifteen and a half cubic feet of water per minute. The well is now the prop-

erty of Dr. J. P. Johnson, who purchased it from Mr. Pulsifer, in January, 1879, and
has erected a public bathing house and invalids' hotel, with a fine swimming park at-

tached. The place, when the projected improvements are completed, will be an attract-

ive resort for both the sick and those who would ward off disease by that physical condi-

tion nearest akin to godliness.

In 1877 Mr. Thomas Neill had an artesian well bored at the stock yards, in the

lower end of the city, for the purpose of obtaining a supply of water for the yards. At
a depth of 860 feet the water rose to the surface with tremendous force, sufficient, when
a hose and nozzle is attached to the five and a half inch delivery pipe, to throw water

above the tops of the highest buildings in the neighborhood. It furnishes much more

water than is needed for the yards and cattle pens.

The water from all these wells is very similar in chemical composition, and it holds

a large per cent, of mineral matter in solution, the principal of which are chloride of

sodium, chlorate of potassa, carbonate of lime and carbonate magnesia. It is rather

strongly charged with sulphuretted hydrogen gas, which, however, is gradually growing

weaker year by year. The temperature of the water as it fiows from the pipes is 65 de-

grees Fahrenheit. That this ; water possesses properties which render it valuable as a

sanitary and medicinal agent has been thoroughly demonstrated in the experience of nu-

merous citizens of dyspeptic tendency, and those afflicted with derangements of the ex-

cretory organs. Thousands of persons who have enjoyed the luxury of the baths— for,

which there are ample provisions at each of the first three named wells— pronounce the

effect very refreshing and invigorating, leaving the skin peculiarly soft and velvety to

the touch.
BRIDGES

The Peoria Bridge Association was organized in 1847, for the purpose of construct-

ing a toll bridge across the Illinois river at Peoria, at the foot of Peoria Lake. The

bridge was begun in May, 1848, and completed in November, 1849, at a cost of about
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#33,000. It is built upon five stone piers, and, including the trestle-work on the Tazewell
county side, is 2,600 feet long, and has a draw, for vessels to pass, of 292 feet. The
Spring before the bridge was finished the highest freshet ever known on the river oc-

curred— the water being up to the sidewalk at the corner of Main and Water Streets—
and the structure was damaged several thousand dollars. In 1856 110,000 were ex-

pended in repairs on the bridge. Previous to the erection of the bridge the only means
of communication from the opposite side of the river was by ferry boat, the receipts of

which amounted to f1,000 the month before the bridge was opened. For the first nine
months after it was opened to travel, the tolls averaged $550 per month. The tolls now
run per month. Peoria needs a first-class free bridge by which the people from the

counties on the e^t, side of the Illinois can avail themselves of her commercial
advantages.

There are also two railroad bridges spanning the Illinois river at Peoria, the bridge

of theToledo, Peoria & Warsaw, at the same place as the wagon bridge, and one owned by
the Peoria and Springfield Company, at the crossing of that line below the stock yards.

They are both substantial iron structures erected ten years ago; the former replaced a

wooden bridge, built when the road was being constructed.

CHAPTER XVIII.-TOWNSHIP HISTORIES.
AKRON TOWNSHIP

is one of the northern tier of townships bordering on Marshall county, was originally all

prairie ; is one of the prettiest arid most fertile tracts of land, and contains some of the

finest farm improvements in Peoria county. There is no incorporated town in the town-
ship. The village of Princeville lies on its western border and the hamlet and post office

of West Hallock on the eastern line, and Akron post office is near the center of the

township. The soil is admirably adapted to grain-growing and grazing, especially to the

production of Indian corn. Its inhabitants are intelligent and prosperous.

The first settler of Akron township was Hugh Montgomery, who located on section

7 in 1831. The same year D. Prince and James Morrow settled on section 31, and
Thomas Morrow on section l8. The first marriage took [place in 1833, when William
Morrow was united with Miss Martha White. The first birth was Jane, daughter of

Daniel and Elizabeth Prince, in February, 1832. The first death in the township was
that of Samuel Morrow, infant son of William Morrow, in 1835. The first sermon
preached was by the Rev. Mr. Hill, a Methodist preacher, at the residence of James
Morrow, in 1832. The first school house was built on section 19, in 1836. The school

was taught by Miss Hester Stoddard in that year. The first church edifice was built by
the Seventh-day Baptists in 1871, and was dedicated by the Rev. Nathan Wardner.
The first justice of the peace was Benjamin Slane, who was also the first supervisor. The
Rock Island and Peoria Railroad runs through the southwest corner.

West Halleck Cheese Factory was organized February, 1876, the company composed
of G._W. Butts, William Spicer, and E. W. Burdeck. Make cheese five days in the week,
and make about 11,000 pounds per month. One day of the week (Saturday) make butter,

and average 300 pounds per day. The cost of their present factory is, about $3,500.

BRIMFIELD TOWNSHIP.
The town of Charleston, now Brimfield, Peoria county, Illinois, was surveyed and

laid out in the year 1835, on the N. W. quarter of section "'^4, in township 10, north

of range 5, E. 4th, p. m. The proprietors were Jacob Showalter and Almon Clark.
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Previous to the laying out of the town a number of pioneers had located in the vicinity.
Among them Philip Atkinson, supposed to have been the first settler in the town-
ship. On section 10 N. of range 6, were Asahel and Roswell Walker, James Adams, and
Daniel and A. W. Harkness. The first house in Charleston was built of logs, on the
northwest corner of Knoxville and Galena Avenues, by A. Woniger, in 1836, who
opened a grocery store in the room below, and made his residence in the room above.
The same year Jacob Vanhouton, who was the first postmaster, built a log house on the
northwest corner of Knoxville Avenue and Washington Street, better known as the old
Wolcott house. In the township and vicinity many new siettlers arrived in that year,
among them were John F. and N. H. Wiley, Levi Jennings, L. L. Booth, John Tucker,
Isaac Cutter, T. N". Wells, Daniel Simmons, Isaac Harrison, and L.jL. Guyor, who suc-
ceeded Jacob Vanhouton as postmaster, and in the following year built a log house on
lot 7 in block 17, in which he opened a general store for supplying the inhabitants of

the surrounding country with dry goods, groceries, etc., keeping bachelor's hall in the
upper room, which was freely thrown open for preaching the gospel to any pioneer
minister who might travel on the circuit. Those who settled in the west half of town-
ship 10, north of range 6, east (now Jubilee) in 1836, were the Powells, the Sniders,

Shanes, James Berrian, the Martins, the Johnsons, and William Camphor, who was
subsequently elected to represent Peoria county in the legislature, Daniel Stansburry,
now living in Brimfield, at the age of 88 years; also Jacob Wells, who started the first

blacksmith shop and opened the first coal bank in the vicinity, being on the northwest
quarter of section 18.

The first settlers had to obtain their mail from Peoria. The first mail to Charleston

was carried on horseback. The first line of mail coaches was started from Peoria to

Oquawka, early in the year of 1838.

The first election in the precinct was held at the house of Isaac Cutter, when Clark

D. Powellwas elected justice of the peace, and Samuel Johnson, constable.

The first preaching in the township was at the house of Isaac Cutter, by Rev.
Zaccheus Hall, a Methodist minister. Rev. Geo. G. Sill, was the first Presbyterian min-

ister, and preached occasionally at L. L. Guyer's store, in 1838. The late Bishop Chase,

of Jubilee College, also preached there a few times.

The year 1838 marked quite an era to the new town in respects to improvements
and increase of population. James WoUoott and family, comprising eight in number,
came from the East purchased and occupied the Vanhouten House ; Daniel Belcher built

the two story frame house for a tavern, on the northwest corner of Knoxville Ave. and
Washington Street ; A. S. W. Goodwin and Daniel Caldwell, who built a log-house on

lot 8 in block 16 ; Wm. Tobey, who was subsequently the manufacturer of the cele-

brated Tobey & Anderson plow, at Peoria ; also came Dr. Prouty, John Towell, John

Shores and E. Haywood, making an additional population for that year, of thirty-three

persons in the town. Those who settled in the vicinity were Alpheus Willard, David

Sanborn, James M. Wiley, Bradford Hall, George H. and Samuel W. Pulsifer, Luther

and Gilbert Hathaway, Washington Cockle, Noah Alden, Sr., Noah Alden, Jr., and

Hiram Alden ; Noah Alden, Sr., died a few years since at the advanced age of ninety-

eight.

The first fourth of July celebration in the new town was in the same year, and parti-

cipated in by most of the inhabitants of the town neighborhood. The Declaration of Inde-

pendence was read by A. S. W. Goodwin, and an ode composed by Miss Lucretia Wolcott,

for the Sixty-Second Anniversary of American Independence, and was sung by herself

and others.
Polluted never be thy shrine,

May love's bright halo round thee shine,

And unity and peace divine,

Forever dwell with thee.
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In 1839, the Hon. Wm. Thompson with his wife and two daughters removed from
Northampton, Mass., to Peoria county. He was born in Brimfield Mass., on the 23d
day of February, 1786. Through a long life Mr. Thompson enjoyed the esteem and con-
fidence of all classes of the community. For four years be was a member of the Senate
of Illinois, also a member of the convention to alter the constitution of the State in 1847.

He died at Brimfield on the 24th day of February, 1850, aged 64. He married Miss
Eliza S. White of Chesterfield, Mass., who survived her husband twenty-seven years.

The first school-house was built in' 1839. The first teacher was Miss Ellen Bartlett,

of Peoria. Among the arrivals this year was Chas. H. Freeman and Capt. Fisher.

The first marriage in town was Mr. L. L. Guyer and Miss Elvira M. Wiley, and
Rev. George Wilki*on performed the ceremony.

In 1842, Wm. W. Thompson was elected to the Legislature of Illinois for the session of

1S42-3, and succeeded in getting the name of Charleston changed to that of Brimfield,

a change had become necessary on account of two other towns in the State having the

same name, one being the county seat of Coles county, which claimed precedence. There
was some dissatisfaction with the change, some wanted it called Wolcottsville and others

Guyersburg ; but the town was to be known as Brimfield, not such a bad or disagreeable

name after all for a town with a territory so famous for its fertility of soil and salubrity

of climate, the brimfulness of its barns and corn cribs with each retiring year, gathered

from its extensive and teaming fields.

In the year 1849, township organization was adopted by Peoria county, so that each

congressional township had jurisdiction only within its own boundary lines, and the west
half of 10, north range 6 east (now Jubilee) ceased to be a part of Brimfield election

precints, and this township was named Brimfield after the chief town. From the year

1850 to 1860 the town and neighborhood had a very considerable accession to its inhabi-

tants.

A branch of the C, B. & Q. railroad passes through the east side of Brimfield town-
ship and the town of Brimfield. It is a place of about eight hundred inhabitants, and
contains a number of prosperous business houses in different lines of trade, prominent
among' which are C. B. & E. K. Hayes, in dry goods ; Wesley Stain and W. Cowls, in

groceries ; J. P. & B. B. Bowman, in hardware ; Wm. Robinson, in drugs ; F. P. Wiley,

in jewelry, wall-paper, etc.; F. H. Camp, in furniture. Daniel Belcher is proprietor of

the Brimfield House, one of the best managed and popular country hotels in the county.

Baptist Church of Brimfield.—Was organized on Saturday, May 4, 1850, pursuant to

the recommendation of a council of ministers and members of the neighboring Baptist

Churches, which convened here on the same day. The constituent members were nine

in number, named as follows : Eli Bailey and Elizabeth Bailey, Dorothy Getty, Debo-
rah Alden, Elizabeth J. Aiken, Elizabeth Layman, by letter; and A. E. Martin, A.

Taylor and Matilda Taylor by profession. On Sunday, the day following, five persons

were received by baptism, being baptized by Elder Simeon G. Miner, of Canton. They
were : Lewis Atkinson, Eddy Baker, Eliza Baker, Mrs. Margaret Martin and Miss Jane
Layman. The above fourteen composed the whole number of the church when it was
received into the Illinois River Association, which met in Peoria, June, 1850. Lewis
Atkinson, who had formerly been a Methodist preacher, was the first pastor of the church

;

Elder Bailey, its first deacon, and Adonijah Taylor, its first clerk, all of whom were
elected at the organization of the church. L. Atkinson served as the first licentiate, and
was regularly ordaiined in July, 1850. The number of members in 1851, as reported,

was eighteen.

Early in the year 1852, the church resolved to erect a house of worship. Five trus-

tees were elected, a building committee was chosen, and most of the timber delivered on

the ground that Spring. During that conference year ten members were added to the

society. The frame of the building was raised in August, 38x60 feet in size, and was
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finished in 1854, at a cost of 13,000. The church increased in 1853 to thirty-five mem-
bers. In February, 1854, Rev. E. N. Jencks was called, and entered upon pastora
duties April 1, following. The church now numbers eif^hty-five members. G. Hatha-
way, J. B. Slocum and W. A. Arnold are deacons, and Geo. M. Day, clerk. Rev. H. G.
James is serving it as pastor. The society sustains a flourishing Sunday school of sixty
scholars, superintended by George M. Day.

GathoUo Church, Brimfield.—Previous to 1840, but few Catholics lived in the vicinity
of Brimfield, and those few lived in sod houses. Others soon followed the pioneers,
bringing some means with them, and erected better dwellings. They were first visited
by Rev. Rauh and Rev. Ros^ti, in succession, from Peru, 111.; then by Father Brody, Father '

Doyle, and Father Drew, stationed at Peoria. Until 1852, divine services were held in sev-
eral private houses. In 1852 the Catholics had increased to about thirty-five. They con-
cluded to erect an edifice for divine worship at Alec McDonald's place in Scotland Prairie,
but by the advice of Rev. Father Brady, changed their purpose and built a little church
at Brimfield, 22x36 feet. Rev. Father Brady being the first priest who offered up in it

the sacrifice of the Holy Mass. In 1864, Rev. Theodore Vanderpoel attending, an addi-
tion 22x36 feet was built. January 13, 1867, he was succeeded by Rev. M. Lyon. April
15, 1877, Rev. Jeremiah Murphy took charge of the mission, and at this time the Catho-
lics bought a parsonage for $1,600, Rev. J. Murphy being the first residing pastor. April
22, 1868, Rev. Max Albrecht became pastor. He vacated the mission for Father Charles
Wensserski, June 29, 1873. Rev. William Kuchenbuch was appointed his successor by
the Rt. Rev. J. L. Spaulding, of Peoria, Sept. 15, 1877. The Catholics of Brimfield and
vicinity number at present about eighty families.

Congregational Church.— The first Congregational Church of Christ in Brimfield was
organized on the 29th day of March, 1847, Revs. J. Blanchard, then president of Knox
College, and Milo N. Miles, then of Newburg, officiating. On that day the following six

named persons entered into church covenant : Bradford Hall, Catherine Hall, Margaret
Cummings, Julia Ann Jones, James Delano and Elizabeth Delano. At their next meet-
ing, April 10, 1847, they adopted the faith. On that day there united with the infant

church, by letter : Freeman Miles, Maria P. Miles, Adeline Stone, Margaret S. Wiley,
and Pennal Richtdmeyer ; soon after, on profession of faith, J. M. Wiley and Lavina
Richtdmeyer. Of the thirteen who constituted the church thirty-three years ago, nine

are still living. The infant church had no where to lay its head, and took refuge for two
years in the old school-house which stood on the spot now occupied by the homestead of

Mr. Kellogg. Then for a couple of years its occasional gatherings were held in the build-

ing owned by our Methodist friends. From 1847 to 1850 the church was served at irregu-

lar intervals by President Blanchard, Milo N. Miles, Geo. Sill, and others. With joy

and alacrity the people gathered by the wagon loads in the old school-house to a meeting

by candle light or a Sabbath service. From 1850 to 1852, Revs. John Somers and L. H.
Parker, of Galesburg, supplied the pulpit, and held a series of meetings, which resulted

in great good to many.
In July, 1853, J. E. Roy was invited to the pastorate, and was ordained by coun-

cil— the only council ever called by this church— on the 25th day of October, 1853. Up
to this time the young church had been homeless. In June, 1851, Bradford Hall and M.
D. Billings were chosen to go to Fremont and procure plans for a building. In this year

the stone for the foundation was furnished by Edward Hayward. In 1853 the frame was
put up by D. B. Jones and A. G. Stone. The building was finished and dedicated some
time in 1854 ; the dedication being preached by Rev. J. E. Roy. The cost of the build-

ing was about $2,400, and nearly all was raised in Brimfield, by economy and self-

denial.

In March, 1855, a parsonage was provided, at a cost of $800, which has been used by

the successive ministers of this church for nearly twenty-four years. Since 1855, the
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pulpit has been supplied, by several different preachers. The Rev. W. H. Cobb was
called in 1857 ; Rev. M. W. Fairfield in 1858 ; Rev. James Vincent in 1859 ; Rev. L.
Benedict until 1864. In 1865, Rev. I. W. Atherfcon had charge ; in 1866, C. E. Leach;
in 1869, A. J. Drake, and remained for three years. Rev. Mr. Wakefield supplied the
church the first half of 1873. In December, 1873, A. J. Marshall was called. He closed

very acceptable labors in 1874. October 10, 1875, Rev. H. P. Chase was called. The
church prospered, and in two and a half years thirty-eight were welcomed into the

church. Despite this very broken pastoral care, this church has prospered. Organized
with thirteen members, it increased slowly to thirty members at the end of three years.

The next ten years, from 1850 to 1860, was a period of decided growth,' gaining 178
members during that time. From '60 to '70 it received but forty-three. The sum total

received into the church for thirty-one years was 319.

The first trustees on record are : Bradford Hall, J. M. Wiley, and Freeman Miles

;

clerk, J. M. Wiley ; deacons, Bradford Hall and J. P. Bowman. The present member-
ship is 100.

Methodist JEpisoopal Church.— The Rev. Zaccheus Hall organized the first class in

this village Nov. 1, 1836. He was the first Methodist preacher that held meetings in the

place. The class was formed at the house of Jacob Snider, and consisted of the follow-

ing members : Jacob Snider, Catherine Snider, Samuel Snider, L. L. Guyer, Martha
-Johnston, Margaret Johnston, Catharine Johnston, David Stansberry, Susannah Stans-

berry, Susan Stansberry, Ephraim Hoyt, Francis J. Hoyt, Isaac Harrison, Sarah Har-
rison, Eliza Martin, Susannah Wills, Benj. F. Berry and Polly W. Berry. Samuel
Snider was chosen leader of the class. Brother Hall preached every four weeks ; had
twenty-eight appointments on his circuit, traveling about 300 miles. This was called

the Kickapoo Mission, the district embracing the entire north part of the State.

In the Fall of 1837 the Illinois Conference held its annual session, and John St.

Clair was returned as presiding elder of this district. The name of this mission was
changed from Kickapoo to Wyoming; and John Johnston was sent as "circuit rider."

The pulpit was supplied by local preachers a part of the time. In the Fall of 1838 the

conference sent S. W. D. Chase as presiding elder to this district, and this work was
changed from Wyoming Mission to Peoria Circuit. The Rev. John Brown supplied the

pulpit with the aid of the local preachers. The preachers had to travel over more terri-

tory then than the presiding elders do now, and their pay was from $60 to f100 per

year.

The Spring of the same year Mr. Guyer organized the first Sunday school that was
established here, and probably the only one between Peoria and Burlington, Iowa. The
same year the Rev. Bishop Chase of the Episcopal Church, and founder of Kenyon Col-

lege in Ohio; also the founder of Jubilee College of Kickapoo township, commenced
preaching in this place and continued until 1845, when they built a church here.

In the Fall of 1839 the name of the district was again changed to Knoxville district,

and two preachers were sent to the Peoria circuit. According to the custom of the

M. E. Church, each year, or every two years witnessed a change in the ministers. In

the Winter of 1846-7 a religious revival was experienced, resulting in a large addition

to the church. The corner stone of a new church edifice was laid by Rev. A. E. Phelps

in August, 1848, and the following year the structure was finished and paid for. It was
of brick, 28x44 feet, and well finished and seated, forming a pleasant contrast with the

log houses and barns in which the society had previously worshiped . The same year

the name of the circuit was changed from Peoria to Brimfield.

Preslyterian Ohurch of Brimfield.— The committee appointed by the Presbytery of

Peoria, to organize a Presbyterian Ohurch at Brimfield, met in the Town Hall on the

17th day of May, 1870. After a sermon by Rev. J. H. Smith, of Yates City, an election

was held to elect ruling elders. William Johnson and George Pursell were chosen. Mr.
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Pursell declining to accept the office at that time, the committee proceeded to install Mr.
Johnson, who had formerly been ordained a ruling elder. The original members were
Mrs. Jane Darr, Sarah J. Pursell, Martha J. Rusk, Belle Moore, Laura Frazier, Elizabeth
Martin, Elizabeth Johnson, George S. Pursell, Samuel Moore, William Johnson, James
Frazier, Isabell Martin, Mary Walters and Matilda Fisher. The committee was com-
posed of the following named gentlemen : Rev. J. H. Smith, J. R. Reasoner, John Cam-
eron and Henry Hervey.

At the session, June 18, 1870, Rev. J. H. Smith, moderator and Wm. Johnson, elder,
seven persons were received into the church by letter, and at the session of 1871 eight
persons united with the church.

The church erected a place of worship in ihe year 1871, 36x50 feet, with an addition
of ten feet, costing $4,000. The church is in a prosperous condition with a membership
of ninety; and a Sabbath school in connection with an attendance of seventy, J. A.
Pyle, superintendent. Rev. J. E. Carson is pastor. The ruling elders are G. S. Pursell,
William Johnson, A. Whetzell and J. H. Pyle. Clerk of session, J. H. Pyle.

Brimfield School.— The present school building was erected in the Summer of 1877.
The plans and specifications were drawn in Peoria by a man by the name of Quail, and
was contracted and built by Bryson & Silloway. It is a brick structure, two stories high ;

has six apartments, five occupied. The cost of building and furnishing was $11,000.
The present directors are Milton Duncan, Dr. Lowe and James Farnum. The principal
is R. Stone Hill ; assistants, Frank E. Pummer, Ella Hall, Ellen G. Slattery and Ada
Hall. The school is divided into five departments and about fifty in a department,
making an attendance of 250, with good and efficient teachers, and is in a prosperous
condition.

CHHiLICOTHE TOWNSHIP.

This township is triangular in shape, situated in the northeast corner of Peoria

County, and is composed of the fractional towns 11 north, 9 east, and 10 north, 9 east.

It contains thirteen whole sections, and seven or eight fractional parts of sections, Mar-
shall county bounds it on the north, the Illinois river on the east and sou.th, and Medina
and Hallock townships on the west. The south end of the township, comprising a part

of LaSalle prairie, is but slightly undulating, lies beautifully, has a soil composed of sand

and vegetable loam, and is well adapted to the growth of the cereals. The north part,

which was originally timbered land, is considerably broken in some portions by the

Senachwine creek and its branches, though there are fine agricultural lands inter-

spersed.

The first white settler in the township was Mahlon Lupton, who located on section

nine, in the Fall of 1829. John Hammett and family, who came June 10, 1830, and

settled in the same section, were the next, followed soon after by others. This township

contains the towns of Chillicothe and Rome.

THE CITY OP CHILLICOTHE
•

Is beautifully situated on the west bank of the Illinois river, eighteen miles above Peoria,

and'On the line of the Bureau branch of Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific railroad. It was

settled in quite an early day, and was laid out as a town in July, 1836, by Harrison H.
Jameson and Joseph L. Hart, on the southwest quarter of section twenty-one, and the

southeast quarter of section twenty. The original plat included thirty-eight blocks of

ten lots each, sixty-six feet wide by one hundred and sixty-five feet deep.

The first cabin erected on the present town site was by Jef. Hickson, a blacksmith,

some time before the town was laid out, and stood on the bank of the river, where he
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also built a shop and pursued his trade. The second cabin was built and occupied by
Esq. E. Jones, now of Marshall county, immediately after the town plat was surveyed.
He put a small stock of goods in one room of his double log cabin, and was the pioneer
merchant of tlie place. Mr. Jones was also elected the first justice of the peace. He
conducted the store for seven or eight years. About 1838, Mr. Lehart came to Chilli-

cothe and erected a small frame house of one room, which his family occupied ; and he
kept a store in a cabin on Water Street, for several years, then removed to Indiana. In

1835, James M. Brown— then a young single man— came from Ross county, Ohio, and
soon after built a story and a half frame house on First Street, containing four rooms on
each floor, and opened a tavern, to which he gave the euphonious title of " American
House." A part of the old building still stands on the site. It was first kept by William
Dunlap— afterwards Mr. Brown's father-in-law— for about five years, during which time
his house was a stopping point on the Pooria and Chicago stage line. '

The second tavern building was erected by John Hayes, and stood opposite to Messrs.

Mathews & Holman's store. It was a frame structure containing ten to fifteen rooms,
and known as the "Chillicothe House." Mr. Hayes kept it for a number of years. It

was destroyed by fire in April, 1873.

The first religious exercises were held by the Baptist people in 1887, who, a year

later, organized the first chiirch in the village.

The first school taught in the village was in the Winter of 1838-9, and occupied a

vacant cabin. In 1845, a frame house of one room was built on the public square, which
sufiiced for school purposes until the first part of the present brick structure was erected

in 1856.

The prosperity of Chillicothe has been somewhat impeded by several disastrous fires,

which have at various times destroyed some of the most valuable property of the place.

In the Fall of 1864, the grain elevator at the depot burned ; in 1869, Wood & Hosmer's
large steam mill and two large warehouses on the river bank were burned ; and in 1873,

a large store and several dwellings on the corner of Elm and Second Streets, went up in

thin air.

From an early period in its history Chillicothe has been prominent as a grain market.

John Alonzo Moffitt, built the first grain warehouse, in 1847. The old frame still stands

on the river banks. Henry Truitt erected a grain warehouse, at about 1858 at a cost of

some $5,000 ; and forming a partnership with S. C. Jack, conducted the first legitimate

grain trade of the place. Some years later John W. Puller succeeded Mr. Jack in the

firm, and about 1867, machinery and dumps were put into the building. In the Winter
of 1873-4, Mr. Fuller bought Mr. Truitt's interest, and the style of the firm has since

been J. W. Fuller & Co. In 1876, Mr. Fuller re-built and fitted up the warehouse with

the most modern elevator improvements. It has a storage capacity of 75,000 bushels,

and he has additional storage room lor as much more. This firm handles half a million

bushels of grain per year, about half of which finds a market in Peoria, and half in

Chicago.

Soon after the, completion of the Bureau Valley railroad now the branch of the

C, R. I. & P.— the railroad company built an elevator near the depot, which was
destroyed by fire in August, 1S64 ; but was re-built and filled with grain that season.

The present building has a storage capacity of 75,000 bushels with all modern improve-
ments. Since the Spring of 1866, C. W. Carroll & Co. have controlled the grain traffic

over the road from that point, and handle from 300,000 to 400,000 bushels and 350 cars

of live stock, per annum. Besides the elevator room the firm have crib storage room for

50,000 bushels of ear corn.

The Farmers' Mill ei'eeted by Adam Petry and A. C. Thomas, in 1868, at a cost of

$5,000, containing three run of burrs, and a capacity for manufacturing fifty barrels of

flour per day, consumes a considerable quantity of the grain grown in the vicinity.
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In 1878 Chillicothe adopted a city form of government, previous to which its muni-
cipal affairs had been controlled by a board of five trustees. In April of that year the
first Mayor and Board of Alderman were elected, consisting of the following gentlemen:
Iffayor, Henry Hosmer ; aldermen, William McLean, Levi Booth, Joseph Bailey, William
H. Barbour and Richard Hughes. Wm. H. Barbour was elected mayor in 1875, Henry
Truitt in 1877, and in 1879 Mr. Barbour was re-elected and now holds the office. It is

now a place of about 1,200 inhabitants, and in size and commercial importance is the
third town in the county.

It contains a bank, two dry goods houses, seven groceries, two fine drug stores, one
farm machinery house, two hardware and stove stores, two furniture stores, two large
grain elevators, a lumber yard, a fine flouring mill, a saw and planing mill, two jewelry
stores, a millinery store, a confectionery and bakery, a real -estate office, two barber and
two butcher shops, three carriage and wagon shops, three blacksmith shops, one tailor

shop, a livery stable, a bowling alley, two hotels— the Woods Hotel, C, Marble, con-
taining about thirty rooms and well conducted, and the Will House about twenty rooms.

Doctors A. Wilmot, J. O. Tomlinson, J. F. Thomas, C. C. Allen, Mrs. E. Moffitt
and O. F. Thomas are active in the medical profession. Societies of the place are A. F.
& A. M., I. O. O. F., and Temperance Reform Clubs. The bank does a heavy business,
and the dry goods house of Mathews & Holman is the most extensive in the county out-
side of Peoria ; some of the grocery houses would be a credit to a city of 6,000.

The public square, occupying a block near the center of the city, has recently been
nicely improved, planted to deciduous and evergreen trees, and will in a few years be an
attractive ornament to the place.

CHURCHES.

The Baptist Church, of Chillicothe, was organized in the Spring of 1838 with the
following members : Peter Temple and wife, James H. Temple and wife, James Hara-
mett and his wife and mother. Elders Thomas Powell, Thomas Brown" and Gersham
Silliman officiated. Elder Silliman preached for the young society occasionally, and
there were three additions to their number during that Summer. In 1838 Alexander
Ridler, a Scotch clergyman, assumed pastoral charge and preached for the church till his

death in 1840. After Mr. Ridler's decease the church was without a pastor for a number
of years. J. H. Temple established a Sunday school in 1838, and held the sessions at

private residences.

Mr. Bristol, a Congregational clergyman, and others preached occasionally. In 1850
Elder C. D. Merritt began preaching semi-monthly, and a re-organization of the society

took place in June of that year, with 13 members. The first regular pastor of the church
was Elder Thomas Bodley, who began his labors in June, 1850, and was succeeded by
Rev. Merritt in 1851. An extensive revival was held that year, resulting in 49 baptisms,

and an increase of membership to 92. In 1851 and '52 the society erected a comfortable

brick edifice, with a seating capacity of 400. Through another revival effort in 1854, by
Rev. Barry, the church was increased to 98 members. In 1857 th| society numbered
102. During the war the interest declined, and the membership decreased to a few per-

sons. The house was used for entertainments, given in behalf of that interest. In 1864
the church had become involved to the amount of $300. The building and property was
sold at sheriff's sale for debts. Through the efforts of some of the members, and the

generosity of the citizens, the amount was raised and it was redeemed. The building was
put through a course of repairs in 1866, at a cost of about $900 ; and inDecember of that

year Rev. Gr. E. Prunk was called to the pastorate. The edifice was re-dedicated, and
the church took a new lease of life. Several clergymen have ministered successively to

its spiritual wants since. From May, 1876, till the close of 1879, Elder L. D. Gowan
served as pastor. The present officers are J. L. Kenner and N. F. Bancroft, deacons ;
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J. L. Kenner, acting clerk, and Henry Truitt, treasurer. The society now numbers about
80 members. The church supports a flo'irishing Sunday school of 100 scholars

The Methodist Episcopal Qhurch of Ghillicothe was organized about 1850, with the
following constituent members : Mr. Siddons and wife, Elijah Hoyt and Elizabeth Hoyt,
Thomas Aspinwall and wife, J. W. Gates, Henry Truitt and wife, Mrs. Sarah VanMeter,
G. A. Hoyt and Amanda Hoyt, John Hammett and Elizabeth Hammett, L. H. Thomas
and wife, and some others. The church began the erection of a house of worship in 1853,
while Rev. G. D. Miller was pastor, and completed it in 1856, during Rev. A. H. Hep-
perfy's pastoral charge. It is a neat frame structure, with a seating capacity for about 300
auditors. The society also built a comfortable frame parsonage in 1852. The church
now numbers 70 members, and supports a Sunday school of 85 scholars. Rev. J. A.
Windsor is serving his second year as its present pastor.

The Reformed Episcopal Church, St. .Tohn's parish, was organized about the year 1865.

The organizing clergyman and first rector was a Rev. Dr. Chamberlain, who was a cler-

gyman of acknowledged ability. Under his g,dministration, the church edifice now occu-

pied by the parish was built and dedicated. The parish has never been numerically
strong. Dr, Chamberlain was succeeded for a short time by a Rev. Mr. Russell, and he
by a Rev. Mr. Johnson, a very highly esteemed clergyman. On the 25th of October,

1874, as a missionary of the Reformed Episcopal Church, with the consent of the author-

ities of the parish. Rev. J. P. Davis commenced services in their church, it having been
for some time vacant.

On the 12th of September, 1875, the communicants of the parish, with the exception

of four, voted to unite with the Reformed Episcopal Church, and since that date the par-

ish has been known as St. John's parish of the R. E. Church. The few members who
declined coming with the majority have nevertheless kindly co-operated with them in

parish work, and have rendered generous and efficient assistance. The new organization

commenced with 27 communicants. Owing to the pressure of the times, it was decided,

in April, 1877, to suspend pastoral services, and to close the church. By removals and
deaths, the number of communicants was reduced to 21. Quite recently, in consequence
of a remarkable religious awakening in the community, the house has been re-opened,

services have been re-established, and for the present Mr. Davis is once more in charge

of the parisli. On the 15th of April, 1880, 18 persons were received by confirmation

(Bishop Cheney officiating), and one by letter. The society expect to organize a Sunday
school at once, ^nd hopes soon to have the ordinary parish machinery in efficient opera-

tion, under encouraging prospects.

Schools.— The school of Chillicothe city, like the country and the place, has been
progressive. The first one-room school-house on the square, became inadequate to the

wants of the growing town, and the first portion of the present brick structure was
erected in 1856, 80 x 56 feet in size, two stories high and containing four rooms, at a cost

of about $4,000. In 1870 the south wing, containing two school, two recitation rooms,

and a hall, was added, which with some repairs upon the other part, cost f6,000. It

occupies three city lots, is handsomely located in the central part of the town, and pre-

sents an imposing Snd pleasing appearance.
The school consists of a first and second primary, intermediate, grammar and high

school departments. The course embraces ten years of attendance, and when completed
fits the pupil for entering the freshman class in college. J. W. Moffitt is principal, and
has an efficient corps of assistant teachers. The method of instruction is thorough, and
eminently practical ; rendering the Chillicothe school, under the present management,
one of the best in Peoria county.

There are three district schools in the township, beside the Chillicothe and Rome
schools, each having a good house, and all carefully provided for by the local school offi-

cers and in a flourishing condition.
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T^empetance Reform Clubs.— The Chillicothe Red Ribbon Club was organized Sept.

23, 1877, by Brother Bonticau, of Jackson, Michigan, with a membership of about five

hundred. The following is a full list of the officers : Captain Adam Stuber, president

;

J. W. Fuller, 1st vice-president ; J. L. Pond, 2d vice-president ; Robert Menzie, 3d vice-

president ; N. S. Outright, secretary ; J. L. Kennen, Jr., assistant secretary ; James Ken-
lock, financial secretary ; Henry Truitt, treasurer; William Story, steward'; Dr. J. F.

Thomas, first marshal ; Thomas H. Oakford, second marshal ; Warren McFarland,
sergeant at arms. Executive Committee : William Colwell, J. G-. Johnson, A. H. Ran-
ey, Thomas Ashworth, and A. J. Story. Finance Committee : Stephen Martin, P. T.
Matthews and C. W. Carroll. The club rented Slinn's Hall at two hundred dollars per

annum.
The club has been the means of doing a large amount of good in the place. They

hold a gospel temperance meeting every Sunday night, and their business meetings once
in two weeks on Wednesday evening. The first Sunday evening in each month is given

up to the children, and the hall is always crowded to its utmost capacity, the exercises

consisting in school readings, singing and recitations, etc., by the children. One year

ago there was a probability of the building being sold for saloon purposes, when the mem-
bers of the club formed a joint stock company, and purchased it and lot, ran a partition

through the lower story and rented it, receiving $200 per annum for the lower story ;

giving the club the use of the upper story for the insurance and taxes on the building.

The first year the expenses of the club were quite heavy, as it cost them about |400 to

fit up their rooms, which, together with the rent was a heavy tax. Soon after renting

the hall, the club fitted up a neat free reading room and smoking room. Sociables and
entertainments are given by the club which are fruitful of much good, in improving the

moral and social status of the community.
The club has paid out about $1,400, part of which has been to secure speakers and

for charitable purposes. The White Ribbon Club is composed of the temperance women
of Chillicothe. They have proved a noble band of workers, and have aided and strength-

ened the Red Ribbon Club financially, and by their words and deeds have done valiant

service in the temperance work. The club is in a good working condition at this time.

The present officers are : Dr. J. F. Thomas, president ; Stephen Martin, 1st vice-presi-

dent; Wm. J. Story, 2d vice-president; J. W. Moffitt, 3d vice-president; Dr. O. F.

Thomas, secretary ; E. A. Mitchell, financial secretary ; Henry Truitt, tceasurer. Exec-

utive Committee : Levi Booth, Capt. A. Stuber, Elias Entz. Finance Committee : L. A.

Wood, P. J. Matthews, Thos. Ashworth.

G-eorge Washington Lodge, No. 222, A. F. ^ A. M., was organized by dispensation

from the Grand Lodge of Illinois in 1855. In the following year a charter was granted,

dated October 7, 1856, empowering the following brethren as officers for the ensuing

masonic year to work, viz. : Wm. McLean, W. M.; L. A. Wood, S. W.; H. A. Raney,

J. W. The balance of the charter members were : D. B. McMasters, Samuel C. Jack,

Nathan Chapin, Hiram Goodsell. Wm. B. Herrick was Grand Master of the Grand

Lodge, and Harman G. Reynolds was Grand Secretary. ,

Chillicothe Royal Arch Chapter, No. 123, received their charter dated October 9, 1868,

appointing Wm. McLean, H. P.; Henry Hosmer, King ; John L. Kenner, Scribe. The

balance of the charter members were, viz : J. W. Fuller, J. W. Hurst, Isaac Lewis,

Geo. M. Gibbons, John Ungar, Geo. P. Lester, H. F. Hyde, C. W. Carroll, Robert Will

and Obadiah Eads.
,t- wn • , , ,

Order of the Eastern Star, Wreath Chapter, No. 143, was organized by charter dated

February 7, 1878. John L. Kenner, Worthy Patron ; Sarah V. Fuller, \^orthy Matron

;

Dorcas Lester, Associate Matron.

There is also a flourishing lodge of the I. O. O. F. in Chillicothe, the promised mat-

ter of which has not been furnished.
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Fire Department.— In 1876 the first organization for the protection against fire was
effected. The company consisting of ten members was formed and named the Champion,
with G. P. Lester £is Fire Marshal. It only existed a few months ; and there was no
further effort made until the Fall of 1878, when another companj', called the Rocket,
was organized, with James Kenlock as Capt.; G. B. Temple, Lieut.; Wm. Story, Fore-
man and twenty members, G. P. Lester being appointed Fire Marshal by the city.

During the existence of the Champion company a large, two-cylinder chemical engine

was purchased, at a cost of $2,000 ; but finding it too heavy and unwieldly, it was ex-

changed for two single cylinder engines of 100 gallon and 70 gallon capacity. The
Rocket company is still in fiourishing condition. In September, 1879, it competed at the

State tournament, in Peoria, and won the first prize ; but from a hitch in the distribution

of the premiums, the company failed to receive its award.
The Press. — Like most country towns, Chillicothe has had a newspaper experience

neither flattering nor profitable to the town nor the journalistic aspirants. Several

papers have been started in the place and continued for a longer or shorter period, and
died from lack of sustenance.

The Review, its present representative in the newspaper world, was started in the

Fall of 1879, by George Holton, a practical printer, and still lives. It is issued weekly,
and the half of the paper printed in the home office is entirely devoted to local matters.

ROME.

The village of Rome was laid out by Jefferson Taliaferro, and the plat filed for rec-

ord December 24, 1832. The original plat contained twenty-four blocks, of eight lots,

5x8 perches in size, situated on section 5, town 10 north, 9 east. The town site is a

beautiful one, on the right bank of the Illinois river, fifteen miles above Peoria, and for

several years it had quite a rapid growth. In 1835 it contained a tavern of eight or ten

rooms, kept by N. Sirlott, and several stores and groceries, some of them carrying large

stocks of goods. Wm. A. Ogle, Hiram Cleveland, Mr. Bingham, J. B. Adams and Joseph
Blish were among the first merchants. Hezekiah Rose was an early settler in the place.

Jn 1835 steamboats landed regularly, the town contained about 300 inhabitants, and was
the most important point on the river for many miles. The first school was taught by a

one-armed soldier, named James Pierce, who died some years ago in this county. The
upper story of a store was used for school purposes until the present neat frame struct-

ure was erected in 1858, at a cost of f1,000. The district, which is an independent one,

maintains school nine months in the year, with about fifty scholars in attendance.

Rome has had a post office since 1835, save the decade from 1843 to 1854. Mr. L.

Adams is now postmaster. There is no church building in the place, but the Methodists

who have a class, hold services in the school house. The only mercantile establishment

in the village is a small grocery kept by Thomas P. Nicholson.

In 1837, Isaac Underbill, of Peoria, purchased 2.200 acres of land, including the

town site, and planted 500 acres to orchard in the immediate vicinity, some of which
trees still stand. The financial crash of 1837 proved a fatal blow to Rome, from which
time it steadily declined. It is a way station on the Bureau branch of the C, R. I. & P.

railroad, and ships considerable fruit and produce. Mr. H. S. Rose, who carries on
blacksmithing, is the oldest resident living in the village, and has resided there over
forty-four years.
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ELMWOOD TOWNSHIP.
Elmwood. is in town nine north, range five east, and is one of the western tier of

townships in Peoria county. It was originally about one half prairie and one half timber,
and possesses a superior soil. The surface .is gently undulating and well adapted to
agriculture. Some parts are slightly broken by the branches of Kickapoo creek, along
which are some of the finest coal mines in the county. The township is crossed by two
branches of the C. B. & Q. railtoad, which form a junction at Elmwood city. The Peoria
branch connects it with that city, twenty-five miles distant. Elmwood city is located on
sections seven and eight, was laid out in 1854, and is a flourishing place of 2,000 popu-
lation ; is next to Peoria city the largest and most important commercial manufacturing
town in Peoria county. During the year ending June 1, 1879, 681 cars of produce, and
1010 of coal were shipped from Elmwood.

First Settlers.— John Ewalt was the first settler in Elmwood township. He came
from Sangamon county. Ills., on the 1st of May, 1831, located on section twenty-nine, and
broke the first soil. Isaac Doyle was the next, settling on Section thirty. May 1, 1832.
In the Fall of 1834, W. J. Phelps settled on section eighteen, where he now resides.

During the Winter of the same year Fountain Watkins settled and made improvements on
section twenty-nine. Avery Dalton settled on section nineteen in 1837, coming from
Fulton county. The early pioneers went thirty-five miles to mill. One barrel of Kana-
wha salt cost them $20.58. Isaac Doyle was the first justice of the peace, elected in

1833. The first marriage was that of Abner Smith to Eliza Ann Doyle, in March, 1884.
The first child born in the township was Rebecca Ewalt, February, 1834. Daniel Fast
was the first school teacher. The post office was established in the township in 1847, at

the residence of Hon. Wm. J. Phelps, which was first called Elmwood, before the name
was given to the township. Mr. Phelps was the first postmaster.

For some time after Mr. and Mrs. Phelps settled in their new home the township
including it was not laid out, nor was there at first any post office nearer than Peoria or

Canton, though a little later one was established at Farmington, Fulton county. They
felt it necessary that their place should be known by some more specific designation than
that which described it as a " place in Peoria county," and accordingly decided to call it

" Elmwood," from the beautiful grove of elms near their dwelling. And in this way
Elmwood became noted as the home of Mr. Phelps long before the township or the vil-

lage had been so called. Mr. Phelps succeeded in getting the mail route extended from
Farmington to his place. Subsequently when the township was laid out it took the same
name as did the village and railroad station, all taking their names from Elmwood, Mr.
Phelps' home.

Little did he think when he gave that appropriate name to his rural home that in a

few years a town taking the same name would spring up within a mile of him, contain-

ing many first-class stores, a bank, fine church buildings, and manufacturing interests,

and would be a center of enterprise and refined society, such as Elmwood is to-day. Mr.

Phelps has always been a public spirited man and has been intimately identified with the

progress and development of Elmwood. He owned the land where Elmwood is located

and laid out the town in 1854. And being desirous that it should be the home of intelli-

gent and moral people, he used his best efforts to induce only that class to come and
settle here. With this view he decided not to sell a town lot to a saloon-keeper,* or for

any other purpose incompatible with the moral interests of the community. Thus the

young town got well started, and was the legitimate offspring of a high and noble pur-

pose. Who can tell how much Elmwood is indebted to-day to its good beginning ?

Congregational Church.— Pursuant to a notice publicly given to persons who had
taken letters of recommendation from their respective churches, and who were desirous

of uniting in organizing a Congregational Church in Elmwood, met for that purpose at
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the house of W. T. Brewster, on Monday, June 5, 1854. Mr. Wm. J. Phelps was ap-
pointed moderator, and Mr. W. H. Chapman, scribe. The church was duly organized,

consisting of the following members : Wm. J. Phelps, Mrs. Olive B. J. Phelps, Walter
T. Brewster, Mrs. Emily C. Brewster, Zeno E. Spring, Mrs. Arvella G. Spring, Warren
H. Chapman, Mrs. Susan S. Chapman, Mrs. Ann L. Tracy.

A constitution, articles of faith and church covenant were adopted ; Brothers W.
T. Brewster and W. H. Chapman were chosen deacons.

Of the nine original members seven are now numbered with us. Bev. F. Orton,
then a recent graduate of Union Theological Seminary, N. Y., became the acting pastor,

June, 1854. He died in Elmwood, Aug. 20, 1855, greatly beloved and mourned by his

people. During his pastorate nine members were added to the Church by letter. Four
of these are still connected with it.

During the years 1854 and '55, the Church and society erected the edifice now used
for the worship of God. Previous to the time of its completion, the congregation wor-
shiped in an upper and unfinished room over the store of Mr. A. L. Tracy. Rev. R.
Rudd supplied the pulpit for a few montlis, commencing December 16, 1855. From
some time in March, 1856, until August of the same year, the church had no stated min-
isterial supply, but there were added to the church during the time twelve members by
letter, and three on profession. Rev. J. Steiner became an acting pastor of the church
in August, 1856, and labored as such until May 31, 1858.

Rev. Sherlock Bristol received a call November 18, 1858, and became the acting

pastor of the church, and labored as such nearly two years.

Rev. W. G. Pierce commenced his labors with the church April 21, 1861, and soon

after received a call from the church and society to become their pastor. He was duly
ordained and installed November 20, 1861. During the progress of the war of the re-

bellion he acted as chaplain of the 77th Regiment of Illinois Vol's, something more than
a year, the church granting him leave of absence for that purpose. He was also absent

for a few weeks in the service of the U. S. Christian Commission, in the Army of the

Potomac. (The church exercised a very large liberality in carrying on the war, in gifts

both of men and money.)
Mr. Pierce closed his ministry with the church in 1871. For some months the

church was without a pastor, being supplied by different clergymen and candidates. In

1872 Rev. Albert Fitch preached as supply one year. The church then called Allen

J. Van Wagner, who had just graduated from the Chicago Theological Seminary. Mr.
Van Wagner at once entered upon his labors, and the October following was duly or-

dained and installed as pastor of the church. His pastorate still continues. During his

ministry thus far, forty-one have been added to the church on profession of their faith,

and some thirty by letter. He has baptized forty. The church membership is now one

hundred and sixty-five. The audiences are large ; the Sunday-school and prayer meet-
ing alive and well sustained. The church is in a harmonious, healthy condition. It re-

cently celebrated its twenty-fifth anniversary, and the sixth of its pastor. Letters were
read from absent ministers, historical papers by Deacon W. T. Brewster and Hon. W. J.

Phelps. Addresses were given by Revs. W. G. Pierce and A. J. Van Wagner, and with
gratitude to God and hope for the future, the church moves onward towards its half

century of existence and effort.

Presbyterian Church.— In pursuance of an appointment by the Presbytery, of a com-
mittee for the purpose of organizing a Presbyterian church in Elmwood, said committee
met on June 5, 1856, in the M. E. church, for that purpose. Said committee consisted

of Daniel F. McFarland, Wm. A. Flamming and John C. Hanna. After a sermon by
Rev. John C. Hanna fourteen persons presented letters from Evangelical churches, re-

questing of the committee to be organized as a church, to be called the First Presbyte-

rian Church of Elmwood. The following persons were elected as officers : Andrew D.
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Rodgers, elder, and W. Bush, John Bodine, George Grigg and Levi Richardson, trustees.
The first Lord's supper, under the administration of the present organization, was held
in the M. E. church June 8, 1856. Members of session : D. F. McParland, moderator
and clerk ; A. D. Rodgers, elder. After the organization of the church in Elmwood
they bought a house of the Congregational society, they had erected out in the country,
and had it moved into Elmwood, as a house of worship.

After struggling along for about three years in a half dead and lifeless condition,
toward the latter part of 1859 it was found the organization existed only in name and
not in fact, the minister and most of the former members having moved away or joined
elsewhere, it was, on consideration of the then existing state of affairs, thought advisable
to apply to the Presbytery for a reorganization. Such application being made, the Pres-
bytery appointed a committee, which met on the 20th of December, 1859, when twenty-
three persons presented testimonials with letters, desiring to be organized into a congre-
gation and still to hold the former name. First Presbyterian Church of Elmwood. Offi-

cers elected : Messrs. Wm. Simpson, George L. Lucas, Joseph Warne, elders. Messrs.
Simpson and G. L. Lucas having been previously elected and ordained to the office of

ruling elder, were duly installed as ruling elders in this church on the 15th of January,
1860, James E. Marquis being moderator of session. Rev. James E. Marquis was pas-
tor of the Elmwood church from the year 1859 until his death, February 22, 1863, when
Rev. George N. Johnson supplied the pulpit about one year, when Rev. James H. Smith
was called as pastor of the church June, 1864, and continued as pastor up to the Fall

Presbytery of 1867, when the pastoral relations were dissolved by mutual consent. In
November of the same year Rev. JohnR. Reasoner commenced preaching for the church

;

and received an almost unanimous call to become its pastor atHthe Spring meeting of the

Presbytery. The call was accepted, and he still remains pastor. May 30, 1879, the

number of members was 108. Wm. Cratty is clerk of session.

The Church of Elmwood has for the most part of its existence, been under the care

of the Board of Home Missions or Board of Sustentation, the members being, to consid-

erable extent, minors and persons in quite moderate circumstances.

The Sabbath school averages seventy-five or eighty members, and is superintended

by S. N. Coe. The present officers of the church are: J. R. Reasoner, pastor; L. F.

Mathews, J. N. Rodman, S. N. Coe, elders ; John N. Crow, Wm. Cratty, clerks.

Methodist Upiscopal Church.— This church was organized in the Spring of 1851, by
Rev. G. W. Miller, and was connected with the Brimfield church under the pastorage

of N. J. Gidding. The original members were Mrs. E. A. Smith, Mrs. Huldah
Bradley, David Mowrey and Elizabeth Mowrey, Mrs. Jacob Doyle, Perry Jarman and

Nancy Jarman, Annette Washburn, Mr. and Mrs. John Bevins, Mrs. Betty Gibbs, and

May Doyle. David Mowrey was appointed leader for some time and held meetings at

Mr. A. H. Smith's, afterwards occupied a little log school-house east of Elmwood.
Subsequently the society held service alternatively with the Congregational church in

the room over A. L. Tracey's store. The society began their church building in 1856. Li

the Spring of 1867 it was dedicated by Rev. Silas Bowles of Chicago. The first church

in Elmwood. During twenty-eight years the society has never been without a pastor.

In the year 1862 the pastor, B. C. Swartz went into the army as chaplain, but his col-

league Rev. G. W. Gue took charge of the work immediately. Seventeen ministers has

had the direct care of the people, assisted by twelve others, all of whom, with the excep-

tion of Rev. M. D. Heckard, still live. The first ten years the society was connected with

some other work. In 1865, Elmwood became a station. Rev. J. Sanders, pastor. From
1865 to 1879, they have had seven pastors.

United Brethren Church, Southport, Elmwood township, was organized about 1872,

at the school-house in Southport, with some fourteen or sixteen original members, viz.

:

E. M. Lawrence and Mrs. E. J. Lawrence, John Knox, Charles Ivett, C. M. Clough,

43
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Rachael Clough, M. F. Haynes, Mary Haynes, Matilda Swartz, Mary Briggs, David
Brandt, Emma Brandt, a Mr. Church, Stephen Lee and Harriett Lee, Otis Smith and
wife.

The church was organized by J. H. Snyder. They still held services every two weeks
in the Southport school-house. The officers are E. M. Lawrence, steward, and Chas.

Ivett, class leader.

Christian Temperance Union of Elmwood.— Was organized on the 6th day of May,
1879. Its membership includes many of the best and most influential citizens of Elm-
wood. The temperance tidal wave first reached Elmwood April, 1879, when Mrs. Rus-

sell, of Chicago, inaugurated quite a reform revival. The interest she excited was care-

fully fostered by the Christian men and women of the town. Some time in April, 1S79,

Mrs. Russell, who was laboring in Lewiston and Farmington, Illinois, was invited by a

committee of the churches and good people of the community to deliver a series of lec-

tures, which was largely attended and resulted in the organization of a Christian Tem-
perance Union that numbered over eleven hundred members. Rev. J. R. Reasoner called

to the chair. Mrs. R. stated the object of the meeting to be the organization of a Chris-

tian Temperance Union at Elmwood. The constitution was then read by the acting

secretary and was adopted. The following persons were elected as officers: S. N. Coe,

president ; T. H. Tracy, James Lee and S. S. Graham, vice-presidents ; W. I. Plum,
secretary ; Edison Watton, assistant secretary ; Dr. J. J. Lobaugh, corresponding secre-

tary, and A. L. Tracy, treasurer. The executive committee consisting of A. C Vander-
vort, Samuel AUewatt, W. W. Jones, J. M. Rodman, C. W. Spangler, N. S. Barber, W.
H. Kellogg, Rev. J. R. Reasoner, Rev. Ferguson, John Regan, Henry Schenk, J. Hepen-
stall, C. H. Keightlinger,|p. E. Wiley, Geo. Dixon, G. S. Smith and Rev. A. J. Van
Wagner.

Music committee : Dr. Tompkins, Wm. H. Turner, Miss Sanders, Miss L. Purcell,

Mrs. E. C. Wiley, Mrs. D. D. Mendenhall, Miss C. Jordan and Mrs. Wm. H. Kellogg.

Blue ribbon committee : Mrs. C. W. Spanglers, Mrs. Samuel Farrar, Mrs. C. P.

Watton, Jennie Bowers, Amy McNay, Hattie Hepenstatt, Mollie Duggins and Laura
Ramsey.

Recruiting company: E. C. Wiley, Capt.; T. H. Tracy, 1st Lieut.; Wm. Smith, 2d

Lieut.; Wm. Humphrey, Orderly Sergt.; Wm. Cowser, 1st Sergt.; C. H. Keightlinger,

2d Sergt.; Silas Caldwell, 3d Sergt.; J. H. Foster, 4th Sergt.; A. G. Bartholomew, 1st

Corpl.; O. Bigelow, 2d Corpl.; E. C. Wing, 3d Corpl.; Thos. Blake, 4th Corpl.; Frank
Walton, 5th Corpl.; Wm.. Brain, 6th Corpl.; Henry Elliott, 7th Corpl.; Wm. Cleve, 8th

Corpl.

Meetings are held in the different churches every Tuesday evening. The influences

of the organization are spreading, and effective temperance meetings are largely attended

and judiciously managed.
Graded school organized in the Autumn of 1863. Began operations January, 1864,

under charge of Prof. Tompkins. Present school-house was erected in 1866 and has five

school rooms, one recitation room and one library room. The building cost about

$20,000. Eight teachers are employed. A building in the east end of town is used for

a primary school. Number enrolled per term for the past five years, from 350 to 400.

Mr. Crow, present principal, has had for two years $1,200. School year embraces eight

months,, of twenty-two days to the month. Assistant tp principal. Miss Magee, has had
for two years $55 per month. Grammar teacher, $50 ; all the others have had $44. The
cost of running the school has, for two years, been about "$5,000, which includes repairs,

additions to library apparatus, insurance etc. The present Board of Directors are P. H.
Hopkins, president ; J. J. Lobaugh, clerk, and William Forbes. At the first graduation,

in 1872, eleven graduated— ten ladies and one gentleman ; in 1879, eight— five ladies

and three gentleman.
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The trustees of the State University at Champaign have an arrangement by which
high schools of proper standing may, upon examination by the president, send their
graduates to the University without preliminary examination.

In accordance with this arrangement Dr. Gregory visited the Elmwood school in
May of 1879, and examined the classes in the high school. He accepted the school as
being of the proper standing, and students can now enter the University upon graduating
there.

_
Mmwood Prese.— In the month of June, 1857, John Regan, who had the previous

Spring discontinued the publication of the Knoxville Journal, which with a circulation of
1,600 weekly copies was borne down under the credit system, brought to Elmwood a new
printing press and material to start a weekly paper in the place, which, though only three
or four years old, gave promise of becoming a prominent town. On the 6th of January,
1858, the Elmwood Observer made its appearance. The place being small, several of the
more prominent citizens agreed to contribute various sums as a bonus toward its support,
and though some of these were never paid, the paper by great economy and hard
work continued to be published regularly up to May, 1859, when the press and materials
were shipped to Taylor's Falls, Minn. During the short career of the Observer an edition

of about 200 copies was printed for Yates City, then lately made a station on the Peoria
& Oquawka R. R. This edition was styled the Western Watchman. This continued for

only eighteen weeks, ceasing for want of support, Another edition of 150 copies was
furnished for Maquon, styled the Maquon Times, which continued for a year and a half.

On the 19th of May, 1860, Woodcock & Son, printers from Peoria, came to town
and started the Ohronicle, which continued to be published to the 6th of September,
1862, when O. F. Woodcock, the son, enlisted in the 77th regmient of volunteers. No
paper was published here from that time till July 19, 1866, when the Observer was again

started by the previous publisher—J. Regan. A few of the citizens contributed about

f150 by way of loan, to assist the paper to make a start. The Observer thus re-estab-

lished continued to appear regularly for ten months, also an edition for the same time.

O. F. Woodcock having returned from the army, purchased the press and materials, and
resumed publication of the Ohronicle. Up to this time the papers were neutral in poli-

tics, but the revived Ohronicle came out as a republican paper, and so continued under
Woodcock till he retired September 14, 1871, leaving all the printing material behind

him, in the hands of his creditors. The paper continued under control of the Chronicle

Co. to November 9th, the same year. On the 17th of the same month J. A. Somerby
obtained a lease of the office, and published the Ohronicle till the 9th of May, 1872, when
R. P. Childs, a compositor in the office, took control of it, but he only continued till the

4th of July, same year. On the 18th of the same month Jos. P. Barrett, a Peoria com-

positor, took it up, with Mr. E. R. Brown as editor. Finally on August 15, 1872, the

office was sold to Alpheus Davison & Son, who continued the paper under the same name

to November, 1873— the close of the presidential contest, in which it favored the elec-

tion of Grant. The Ohronicle was discontinued, after a fitful existence in many hands

of about eight years and eight months ! and press and type were removed to Canton.

The Winter of 1873-4, found Elmwood without a paper once more.

On the 6 th of March, 1874, the first number of the Messenger, a seven-column folio,

was published by Mr. J. Regan, and obtained a good patronage in subscription and adver-

tising from the first, which has been continued up to the date of this sketch February,

1880, with a regular weekly issue for the past year of 720 copies.

The success of the Messenger has caused others to attempt rival publications in the

town, of which the following is the record : On the 30th of May, 1874, J. A. Sqmerby

commenced the publication of the Industrial Journal, which was continued to January

6, 1876, and then ceased, and the office fell into the hands of creditors.

On the 7th of June, 1876, W. P. Clifford and A. M. Swan commenced to publish the
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Q&ntral Illinois News. On the 6th of September, same year, they took in as a partner a

printer named Bowman, and styled themselves the " News Printing Co." On the 20th

of October, Clifford and Bowman dropped out, and A. M. Swan attempted to carry it on
alone, but suspended December 1st, after a total career of six months only. The paper

was published during that time with a different heading as the East Knox News, and both

ceased together.

Undeterred by the rocks on which former enterprises were wrecked, John C.

Snyder, a young man who had lately been attending college, commenced the publication

of a semi-weekly paper, the Express, on the 3d of July, 1877. This it was thought

would certainly be a taking feature, and promised success. John labored hard to make
his little paper a success, and kept it up to the end of September. On the 4th of Octo-

ber he came out with the weekly Express, and announced that it would be devoted to

the advocacy of the greenback faith. But this made little impression, for about the

middle of the same month he sold his press and news type to Colville Bros, of Gales-

burg, and after continuing a few months working on jobs, he traded off the remnant of

the office to W. E. Phelps, and left town.

The first number of the Q-azette was issued in Brimfield, November 4, 1875, and
continued publication to July 2, 1879, During the time of its existence at that place it

enjoyed the confidence of the business men and residents. Believing that Elmwood was
a better point, and needing a live local newspaper to represent the town, it was removed
to that place. The first number was issued July 10, 1879, and continued up to Decem-
ber. December 5th, same year, it was changed ftom a eight column folio-weekly to a

six column-folio, and issued as a semi-weekly, and at this date has a patronage second to

none of any local newspaper in the county, although its cotemporary has attempted time

and again to weaken its influence, and has signally failed. The semi-weekly Q-azette has

become a living factor of the place and already proved, notwithstrnding other failures,

that the citizens will support an unprejudiced and liberal newspaper.
Elmwood, Ills., February 28, 1880.

Mr. Regan, who twenty-two years ago printed its first paper, still prosperously con-

ducts the Messenger.

Fire JDepartmevi.— The Neptune Fire Company, Engine No. 1, was organized June
18, 1869, is in complete running order with a force of thirty-four reliable and efficient

men, with Stephen Adams as foreman, who has taken a great interest in the company
since its organization. The company has been the means of saving a great deal of valu-

able property, and the town should be proud of their department. The officers are as

follows : Stephen Adams, foreman ; Wm. Dailey, second assistant ; J. H. Spring, secre-

tary ; Jas. Hepenstall, treasurer. The town is well supplied with water, having eight

public cisterns, with a capacity of 2,000 barrels. They have just been fitted up with 500
feet of new hose and putting in cisterns, so they feel tolerably safe. C. H.
Keighttenger is always on hand to do his duty as nozzleman, and never shrinking from
his post.

Masonic Lodge.— Horeb Lodge, No. 363, A. F. & A. M., located at Elmwood, Ills.,

met first as a lodge (U. D.) November 22, 1860. Chartered October 1, 1861. Charter
members: Hugh Armson, S. S. Buffum, E. F. Bartholomew, Lewis Corbin, W. H.
Chapman, C. G. Eggleston, M. L. R. Huse, A. Hull, P. H. Hopkins, N. D. Jay, L. H.
Kerr, J. E. Knable, Benj. Rillie, J. J. Lowe, John Martz, Eph. Marshall, J. C. Riner,

Harrison Steele, W. M. Suisher, Geo. W. Smith, Philip Snyder, J. H. Truax, A. N. Wil-
cox, A. J. Wiley, H. H. Wood. First officers of the lodge : L. H. Kerr, W. M. ; J. E.

Knable, S. W. ; Lewis Corbin, J. W. Masters of the lodge : L. H. Kerr, 1860-61-66 ;

N. D. Jay, 1862-63-64-73 ; A. J. Wiley, 1865-75 ; James Lee, 1867-70 ; J. R. Secord,
1868-69-71-72-76. Harrison Steele in 1874, and P. V. R. Dafoe, 1877-78-79. The pres-

ent officers are : P. V. R. Dafoe, W. M. ; A. J. Wiley, S. W. ; James Hepenstall, J.
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W.
; W. H. Beiitley, Secretary; John F. Caldwell, Treasurer; W. W. Stalker, S. D.

;

L. H. Collings, J. D. ; H. J. Morris, S. S. ; Jacob Fry, Tyler.
The present membership is about seventy-five. Hall on the corner of Hawthorn

and Magnolia Streets.^ The lodge meets on Tuesday evening of or preceding the full
moon. Annual election of officers at tlie regular meetings preceding the anniversary of
St. John, the Evangelist. Installation of officers December 27. Transient brethren' are
cordially invited to visit the lodge. C. G. Eggieston gave the lodge its name by honor
of being the oldest Mason.

Aroaneus Lodge, No. 102, I. 0.0. F., was first instituted at Brimfuld, Peoria county,
Ills.,_ April 9, 1852, with District Deputy G. M. Linneli in the chair. Charter members
consisting of the following, viz: L. S.Robinson, Robert C. Hart, Thos J. Moore, Jaobb
Sapping and John Smiles. Surrendered charter, turned over books and regalia to Grand
Lodge Nov. 19. 1863. Re-organized under the same charter in Elmwood, through the
influence of Mr. J. B. Reed, a former member of the Brimfield Lodge, July 7, 1873. The
charter members of this organization were as follows : Thos. W. Keene, W. S. Ritchie,
D. B. Jones, Wm. Hurlbut, Samuel Alluvelt, Silas Caldwell and J. B. Reed. The first

officers were Thos. W. Keene, N. G., W. S. Ritchie, V. G., J. B. Reed, Sec. and Samuel
Alluvelt, Treas. The present officers are Dr. W. T. Sloan, N. G., H. B. Webster. V. G.,
A. G. Bartholomew, Sec, Jacob Fry, Treas., J. P. Bradshaw, sitting Past Grand. They
have a good hall in connection with the Masonic Lodge, in Vandervort's block, out of
debt. The Lodge is composed of the best men in the city.

Salem Grange was organized June 11, 1874, with 39 charter members. The officers

were Josiah Strain, master ; Walter M. Evans, secretary. The present membership is

fifty-one. In March, 1878, erected a hall, at a cost of |500. 'Regular meetings on first

and third Saturdays of every month. The present officers are Samuel Gordon, master ;

H. A. Harrison, secretary.

Soldiers' Union Association, Mmwood, Illinois.— The Soldiers' Union Association
was organized in Elmwood, April 25, 1876, electing the following officers : J. J. Rose,
president ; M. O'Shea, vice-president ; W. H. Bentley, secretary, and George S. Smith,
treasurer. Names of members: J. B. Reed, 14th 111. Cav. ; D. C. Harkness, 13th Minn.
Inf. ; D. C. Harkness, 1st Minn. Art. ; J. S. Herbert, 17th 111. Inf. ; W. H. Bentley, 77th

111. Inf., 77th U. S. Col. Inf., 10th U. S. Col. Art. ; J. J. Rose, 47th III. Inf., 77th 111.

Inf. ; G. B. Olney, 40th Ohio Inf. ; L. F. Matthews, 112th 111. Inf. j S. P. Oldfield, 102d
Ohio Inf. ; R. R. Adams, 4th Ohio Cav. ; Rob't Girvin, 9th Ohio Cav. ; S. Adams, 60th

N. Y. Inf. ; F. T. Wilson, 32d 111. Inf. ; R. J. Biggs, 77th 111. Inf. ; 0. Daniels, 102d

111. Inf. ; C. H. Kightlenger, 8th Mo. Inf., 11th 111. Inf., 47th 111. Inf. ; W. H. Rillie, 1st

Col. Cav. ; Geo. S. Smith, 77th 111. Inf., 132d 111. Inf. ; W. Shireley, 22d Penn. Cav.;

Chas. Autan, 17th 111. Cav. ; A. G. Bartholomew, 132d 111. Inf. ; S. M. Birkest, 18th Va.

Cav. (confederate) ; Chas. E. Tappen, 21st N. J. Inf. ; E. Van Patten, 86th 111. Inf.

;

I. E. Hurff, 8th Mo. Inf. ; J. Bostorf, 4th Mo. Cav. ; M. O'Shea, 8th Mo. nf. ; R. Darby,

77th III. Inf. ; Chas. Turner, 72d 111. Inf. ; J. C. Coe, 7th 111. Cav. ; J. R. Secord, 77th

111. Inf. ; C. D. Bowen, 4th la. Cav. ; W. Gabriel, 86th 111. Inf., 14th 111. Cav. ; W. D.

Mathews, 112th 111. Inf. ; D. Beck, 77th 111. Inf. ; ,R. Atherton, 77th 111. Inf. ; D. M.
Cowser, 32d 111. Inf. ; J. McLaughlin, 47th 111. Inf. ; M. Boland, 77th 111, Inf., 130th 111.

Inf. ; S. A. Harper, 17th Ohio Inf., 52d Ohio Inf., 61st Ohio Inf. ; Wm. Forbes, 11th 111.

Cav. ; Geo. W. Oldfield, 16th Ohio Inf., 178th Ohio Inf. ; W. D. Cone, 77th 111. Inf. ;

H. W. Marsh, 3d Mich. Cav. ; I. C. Murphy, 12th Mich. Inf., 5th Ohio L. Art., 6th Ohio

L. Art. ; J. Forbes, 65th 111. Inf. ; Joseph Wheeler, 47th 111. Inf. ; G.D. Hollinger, 99th

Ohio Inf. ; A. J. Crow, 7th W. Va. Inf. ; 62 members. The association has met yearly

to decorate the fallen soldiers' graves.

Goal Mining and Manufacturing Interests.— Elmwood Coal Company.— The first

coal mined in this region was found on land belonging to W. J. Phelps, contiguous to
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the village of Elmwood, in the year 1838, at which time it was only needed by the country

blacksmith. Graduiilly a few coal stoves were introduced and as the supply in the bed
of the stream became exhausted, tunnels were run into the side hills for the small

quantity wanted.
In 1866 W. E. Phelps formed a partnership with James Lee, who had, for some

time, been working a " breaster " mine, for the more systematic development of the coal

business. The style of the firm was James Lee & Co.
A shaft was put down in the timber west of the residence of W. J. Phelps and

worked by horse power for a little more than a year, when it was deemed advisable to

look for coal nearer the village. About this time W. J. Phelps joined the firm. In the

Autumn of 1867 a shaft was opened and fitted with an engine. This was operated about

two years, when it was found best to sink still another shaft, leaving this one for an

escapement shaft— supposed to be the first one in the State affording absolute security

to men below in case of fire or other accident.

In the Autumn of 1 869 a tramway a little more than a mile long, laid with sixteen

pound tee rail, was constructed and a coal yard opened in the village. This track was
also connected with the railroad chutes for coaling engines, and also with the side track

for shipping coal in ear loads. A year or so later a track was run into the engine room
of the paper mill, furnishing it with fuel direct from the mine.

The next year Mr. Lee retired leaving W. J. Phelps and W. E. Phelps owners of

the concern, which has since been operated under the style of the Elmwood Coal

Company. In 1873 the present shaft was put down and fitted up the following season.

The amount of coal mined averages about five hundred thousand bushels a year,

more than three-quarters' of which is shipped to other points. The number of men em-
ployecj as miners, day men, drivers, and outside helpers, varies with the season from
seventy-five to one hundred. The seam worked is wliat is known as No. 6, or the mud
seam vein. Borings have been made which show that there are two good workable veins

below, and a comparison of the strata indic:;te the existence of yet two more veins still

lower down. Arrangements are in progress for the development of these lower coals on
a large scale at an early day.

W. J. Phelps and & Son. The manufacture of brick by machinery was commenced
by James Lee & Co. in 1867. In 1875 W. J. Phelps & Son resumed the business and
have made made over a million each year. They are also contracting builders and have
erected several of the principal business houses as well as a number of small residences in

the village. Four years ago they attached a saw mill to the engine that drives the brick

machine which they operate in Winter. They also get out each Winter a quantity of

railroad wood which is sawed ready for engine use at the mill. This business employs
from forty to fifty men and boys in the Summer and about half that number in the

Winter.
W. E. Phelps & Co. In 1866 W. J. Phelps, A. L. Tracy, J. A. Vandervoort, L. F.

Jones, J. J. Rose, H. P. Tracy and W. E. Phelps organized a stock company for the pur-

pose of working in wood and iron. A machine shop, foundry, wood shop and blacksmith
shop were built and fitted with necessary machinery. The company also became propri-

etors of Rose's tin upsetter, punch and shears, then just patented.
The works were superintended consecutively by J. J. Rose, L. F. Jones, William

Douglas and Samuel West. Various manufacturing ventures were tried, but the concern
lost money, and finally stopped business altogether. W. J. Phelps, A. L. & H. P.

Tracy, and Jones & Vandervoort, however, paid all the debts, and as a consequence, be-

came owners of the property.
In 1874 W. E. Phelps purchased the interests of A. L. & H. P. Tracy and Jones &

Vandervoort, and with W. J. Phelps formed the present concern of W. E. Phelps & Co.

The principal business is the manufacture of tin upsetters, punches and shears, tin
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binders, tyer irons of various patterns, all kinds of wagon castings, sled shoes, and bridge
work, wood-sawing machines, field rollers, stalk cutters, and various other articles for
the wholesale trade. A. large amount of work is turned out for Chicago and St. Louis
jobbing houses. They are also prepared to furnish mining supplies, and to execute job
work of all kinds in both wood and iron. A few wagons are turned out each year, and
house building is done as opportunity offers. The shops have been considerably enlarged
and much new machinery put in. The business is prospering, and now furnishes con-
stant employment to about twenty men.

Elmwood Paper Manufacturing Company organized 1867, with a capital of $20,000,
which was increased in 1869 to 130,000. The property was sold in 1871 under trust deed,
and purchased by H. P. Tracy, who has operated it continuously since, turning out 8,000
pounds straw wrapping per day. Use some 2,000 tons straw annually ; 300 bushels coal
delivered daily by Elmwood Coal Co. Market for paper, Peoria and Missouri river
towns, G. E. C. Wheeler & Co., Peoria, taking 1,000,000 pounds annually.

An event which caused much excitement in Elmwood, was the murder of Charles
McNeil, a colored barber, by another negro, named Berkley Lisbon, on Saturday
night. May 28, 1868. The incentive to the murder, as given by Lisbon in his confession,
was anger, because McNeil owed him money and he could not get it. McNeil was killed
in his own house. Mrs. McNeil, the wife of the murdered man, was an accomplice in

the terrible deed. Both were convicted ; Lisbon was sentenced to the penitentiary for
life ; and Mrs. McNeil for fourteen years.

HALLOCK TOWNSHIP.

The geographical designation of this township is " township 11, N. range, 8 E," and
is one of the tier of townships bordering upon Marshall county. It forms a part of

the northern half of LaSallo prairie. The township contains a great extent of bluff and
timber lands, a belt of which runs through its center from north to south, varying in

width from nearly four miles in the north, to a little over one mile at its southern
boundary. The twelve western sections are almost free of timber, and contain a most
excellent body of land. The southeast corner is also clear, and splendid farming land.

The first settler in this township was without dotibt Lewis Hallock, who came to it

about the year 1820, and after some months roving about among the Indians, took up
some land and built a cabin in what is now called Hallock's Hollow, near Union. He
was a native of Long Island, N. Y., had left home when a young man, wandered west-

ward, and had for many years previous to his appearance in Peoria county, lived among
the Indians in Wisconsin and elsewhere, gaining a livelihood by hunting and trapping. At
the time of his settlement he was a single man, and about 1825, lived for some time with

a Frenchman called Osier, who was the government interpreter to the Pottawattomie

Indians, and had married into the tribe. In the Winter of 1829, he married a Mrs.

Wright, a daughter of Hiram Cleveland, and brought her to his cabin in the hollow. By
her he had one child, a girl called Clarissa, who afterwards married Henry Robinson.

Hallock died April 1, 1857, on his old farm, at the age of sixty-one years. He was a

man of sterling character, upright and honest in all his dealings.

About 1825, settlers from the East began to drop into the district, Simon and Aaron
Reed came from Jackson county, O., in November of that year, and they were closely

followed by Moses and Samuel Clifton, Francis Thomas, Joseph Meredith, Cornelius

Doty, Resolve and Hiram Cleveland, Gerchom Silliman and family, and William Wright.

In 1830, Joel Hicks and family, and Jeriel Root, with his sons Erastus C. and Lucas

Root came. The greater part of these settled near the north end of LaSalle prairie.

In 1830, Joseph Meredith settled on Sec. 12, and kept a small tavern, for the acoommo-
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dation of the stage-drivers and travelers on the main road between Galena and Spring-

field.

In the last days of June, 1836, Roswell Nurs with his son Isaiah Nurs, and Ebenezer
Stowell, came to the township on a prospecting tour. They started from Chenango county,

N. Y., walking to Buffalo and coming from thence to Toledo by water, again took the road

and traveled to Hallock township on foot, with rifle on shoulder and all their, impedi-

menta in one knapsack. Taking due note of the fine land yet lying unclaimed in the

township, they pursued a zigzag course toward Quincy, still prospecting, but found no

lands more inviting, and on arriving forthwith entered their land in the Government
Land Office at Quincy, and returned to take possession. They found at this time no one

living north of Northampton, but in the Fall of the same year (1836) Erastus Root
moved to his present location on Sec. 3.

The Winter of 1831, was an exceptionally severe one all over the West. During
the Winter, two men, strangers to the settlers, named Dr. Franklin and McMillian, with

six yoke of oxen and two sleds, loaded with goods and bound for Prairie du Chien,

stopped at Simon Reed's and after a stay of about a week, during which they built

another sled, and hired a man by name of Cooper to go with them, started some time in

the month of January, and were soon after caught in a terrible northeast snowstorm
which filled up the track, and caused them to lose their way. Night overtook them
when out on the prairie near Boyd's Grove, and they turned the oxen- loose and tried to

reach Boyd's on foot. Two of them perished, and the third— McMillian— got there

next morning badly frozen. Eleven of the oxen were frozen to death, and one came to

Meredith's.

The deepest snow ever known in the township fell during this Winter. It was three

feet deep on the level, and the drifts were in some places fifteen to twenty feet deep.

The cold was steady and intense. The deer and wild hogs died in great numbers, and the

prairie chickens, quails, etc., were almost entirely destroyed.

The Black Hawk war in 1832, found the settlers in this district not only prepared
for self defense, but to take the field against their treacherous foe. In April, of that

year, Thomas Reed, Edwin S. Jones, Lucas Root, James Doty, Elias Love, and Simon
Reed, volunteered, and their services ware accepted. Simon Reed was detailed to act as

teamster, and served until the close of the war. The others named were at the front for

thirty days, and afterwards served>as rangers on the frontier between Peoria and Rock
river, until they received their discharge at the close of the war. Previous to this out-

break the Indians were quite numerous and very friendly. The Pottawattomies had three

towns in or near the township— one on the land now occupied by Emory Silliman in

Medina township, one at Smith's Springs, and one on the Senachwine creek, not far

from the bridge.

The first mill built in the township that the settlers in the northern part of it could

easily reach, was that built on Senachwine by William Moffatt, one and a half miles

east of Northampton, about the year 1834. The first saw mill built in the township, and
the only one that ever did any amount of work, was erected in the year 1838 by Thomas
Ford, in the N. E. J of sec. 13.

This settlement formed part of LaSalle precinct. Simon Reed was the first justice

of the peace, and was appointed to the office prior to 1828, and Cornelius Doty was
elected justice in the Fall of 1831. This election took place at the only polling place in

LaSalle precinct, covering nearly one-half of the northern part of Peoria county, on sec.

three of Medina township.
In 1850 the township organization was adopted, and the township received its name,

out of compliment to its oldest settler, Lewis Hallock, by a vote of the citizens. The
first supervisor of the township was Walter S. Evans.

The present officers of Hallock township (1879) are, supervisor, S. P. Perkins

;
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town clerk, C. C. Lockwell ; assessor, Alonzo Root ; collector, R. J. Nurse ; road com-
missioners, John Spicer, Hiram Rankin, and Justice Stewart; justices of the peace, W.
E. Smith and Samuel Merril.

The only village situated entirely within the township is that of Northampton, on
Sec. 13, which was laid off by Reuben Hamlin and Mr. Freeman in July, 1836. The first

house therein was also the first erected in the township as a tavern. It was built in the
Winter of 1835-6 by Reuben Hamlin, and was kept as a public house by him for many
years. He came from near Northampton, Mass., and he named the village, of which he
was the founder, after it. Aaron Reed was the first settler near the site of the village,

and his old log cabin was replaced by the house which stands beside the bridge, near the
south end of the village.

Nathaniel Chapin, a native of Massachusetts, was quite a prominent resident of the
village about 1840. He held the office of justice of the peace.

The population of the village is at present but little over 100, and it contains one
good general store, kept by Mr. C. O. Phillips, who is also postmaster.

The village of Lawn Ridge stands upon the boundary line dividing Peoria and Mar-
shall counties, and has a population of about 500. It has been partially platted for some
years by individual enterprise, but has never been formally laid out. Nathaniel Smith,
now a resident of New York State, was one of the earliest settlers in it. It has two
churches— a Methodist Episcopal, and a Congregational— whose congregations are

drawn about equally from the two counties.

Congregational Church.— The Congregational Church at Lawn Ridge was organized

by Rev. Owen Lovejoy, who was then a settled minister in Princeton, Ills., in March,
1845. The original members were six in number, viz : Ebenezer Stowell and wife,

Nathaniel Smith and wife, and Dr. A. Wilmot and wife. The organization took place in

a small briclc school house in Hallock, which had been built about seven years before.

A preacher was shortly afterwards hired, and with help from the Homv? Mission, regular

services were maintained until about 1848, when, owing to the rapid settling up of the

prairie around Lawn Ridge, the place of meeting was transferred there. At first they
met in the school house, and some years later built a small church which they continued

to occupy till about four years ago, when the present fine building was erected, at a cost

of about $6,000. It is the best church building in the county west of Peoria. Rev. Hall

is the present pastor, and has filled that position for over six years. The membership
numbers about 130. Services are held every Sunday. A prosperous Sunday school is

connected with the church, having an attendance of from ninety to one hundred children.

Lawn Ridge M. E. Church.— The church which is now known as the Lawn Ridge

M. E. Church, was built during the Summer of 1856, on the land of David Shane, Sr.,

about three miles south of Lawn Ridge, and it was dedicated by Rev. H. Summers,
under the name of the Mount Hedding M. E. Church. The leading movers in its erec-

tion were David Shane, Sr., Isaac Breidman, and John Ferguson. About fourteen years

later, owing to the influx of so many Seventh Day Baptists into its immediate neighbor-

hood, having displaced many of its members, it was decided to move it to Lawn Ridge,

which was done in the Spring of 1871, and the church was rededicated July 22d of that

year, under its present name. It is a plain, substantial, but well finished building, with

a seating capacity for over 200 people. Among the preachers whose ministries are nota-

ble for their beneficial results, may be mentioned Revs. Ahal Keller, Chas. H. Brace,

William Wooley and H. S. Humes. The society is at present out of debt, and is finan-

cially and spiritually in a prosperous condition, under the pastorship of Rev. Geo. M.
Bassett.

Lawn Ridge Lodge, No. 415, A. F. & A. M., was organized under dispensation May
18, 1864, and was chartered by Grand Lodge of Illinois October 5, 1864, with ten origi-

nal members. Its first officers were W. M., Henry A. Raney ; S. W., Amos F. Leigh ;
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J. W., Jolin B. Phillips ; Secretary, W. H. Wilmot; Treasurer, E. Sickles. Those now
in office are, W. M., John B. Phillips; S. W., Elijah Stowell; J. W., N. P. Green;
Secretary, John Morris ; Treasurer, Stephen Cornell. The lodge has about thirty mem-
bers, and the regular meetings are held on the Wednesday nights on or before full moon,
in a nicely furnished, and well appointed little hall, devoted to its sole use.

The Village contains two good general stores, two hotels, a post office attended to by
Mr. Stephen Cornell, and a good public hall, built by a stock company, capable of seat-

ing 500 people, and situated above the public school.

The hamlet of West Hallock is almost entirely in Akron township, opposite section

19 of Hallock township. It contains a cheese factory, which has been in operation for

some years, mentioned in the history of the township in which it is located. It also has
a good general store and post office, under the care of Mr. Potter.

Seventh Bay Baptist Ohuroh.— The only church in the village is that of the Seventh
Day Baptists. In the year 1845, Elder Anthony Hakes came to the township, and was
followed some three years later by his brother, Daniel Hakes, and John Simpson, who
had been connected ^ith a church of that faith in the State of New York. They kept
holy the seventh day. In due time accessions were made to their number, and meetings
were held from house to house until the erection of the Academy building in 1849, when
it was made their place of worship, and there on the 3d day of September, 1852, the
church was organized by Elder Coon, with f&urteen original members. The society grew
yearly in numbers, and in 1871 it was found expedient to erect a larger and more com-
fortable structure for their sole use. The present house was accordingly put up in the
Summer of that year, at a cost of $5,500, the whole of which was pledged by the adhe-
rents and friends of the church, before any thing was done towards its construction. The
building is a neat and substantial one, and can comfortably seat about 250 people. El-

der A. Hakes was the founder of the church, and for many years before its organization

preached as a layman to the Baptists in Hallock and the surrounding townships. After
organization he was ordained minister, and had charge of the congregation for some
years. Rev. H. B. Lewis is the present pastor, and has been with them since May, 1879.

The church is very prosperous, and has a membership of about 150. Daniel Hakes has
been for many years superintendent of Sabbath school, and still holds that office. Its

average attendance is over 100 children. Besides these three villages there are two
post offices in the township, Southampton, situated in S. E. J of section 30, and Hallock
(often improperly called Blue Ridge), on the middle of the northern boundary of sec-

tion 10.

Hallock M. H. Ohurch.— The first Methodist sermon preached in this district was
by Rev. Milton Smith, a local preacher, about the year 1839, in a log cabin which stood

on the site now occupied by the house of Isaiah Nurs, on section 3. In 1841 a two days'

meeting was appointed to be held in the brick school-house then in process of erection at

Hallock. From this time forward regular preaching was held every two weeks till 1849,

when a joint movement was made by the Methodists and Congregationalists in the vicin-

ity for the erection of a church, resulting in the present building, in the Summer of that

year. Robert Will donated the land now occupied by the church, school and graveyard.
The church was used on alternate Sundays by the Methodists and Congregationalists,

until the meeting place of the latter body was changed to Lawn Ridge, and it is now and
always was, a free church, used for the meetings of all denominations. The first cost was
about $800, and when it was finished and completely seated, some seven or eight years
later, near $1,200. It has a seating capacity for 200.

The Union Baptist Qhuroh is located at Union, on section 26, and its congregation
was formerly connected with the Chillicothe Baptist Church. It was organized June
19, 1858, with thirteen members, as follows: Thomas B. Reed, Sanford Reed, Amy Sil-

liman, Simon Reed, Walter S. Evans, Sarah Kirkpatrick, Mary Baggs, Frances Reed,



HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY. 595

Nancy Sprague, Levi Sprague, C. Reed and Amy Reed. Only two of these are now
alive. In July of the same year Elder Anthony Hakes was chosen pastor, and preached
once in two weeks. The church was erected immediately after the organization, by the
Methodists and Baptists of the neighborhood in common, and was in consequence called

the Union church. It was occupied by these societies in common until 1873, when the
Methodist interest was brought out by the Baptists, and the building assumed its pres-
ent name. The present pastor, Rev. R. Tyrrell, came to them from Michigan, in March,
1879. The building is a substantial one, and cost originally about f1,000. The present
membership is about seventy-five.

Schools.— The first school ever taught within the pr^isent bounds of the township
was located on the present site of Harrison Reed's house, and was taught during the
Winters of 1829 and 1830, by Lucia Root, daughter of Jeriah Root. The first school-

house built in the district, stood near Joel Hick's place on sec. 32. It was erected in the
Fall of 1836, and was removed about eight years afterwards to the Hallock farm. In the
northern part of the township a little school was taught during the Summers of 1839 and
1810, in a log cabin where the house of Isaiah Nurs now stands. Fiducia Bliss was the

teacher. In 1841 the first school-house in what is now School District No, 1, was erected

It was 18 ft. square and was built of brick. Sarah Fosdick was among the earliest of the

teachers. The pi'esent school-house in that district was built in 1856, and stands near
the S. E. cor. of the S. W. i of sec. 3. It is well fitted up and can accommodate sixty

children. In School District No. 5, the first school was taught in an old log cabin which
stood a little south and east from where O. M. Miller's dwelling now stands, and was
used for that purpose about the year 1851. Joseph Gallup was then its teacher. In 1856
the present school-house was built. School District No. 6, was originally composed of

portions of Peoria, Stark, and Marshall counties, and was reconstructed in its present
limits in 1860. It was the last school district to be organized in the township. The first

public school was built about 1857 at a cost of $800, and in 1866 to accommodate the
growing wants of the district, the present school was erected at a cost of about $1,400.

In the West Hallock district the structure now occupied as a public school was
erected in the Fall of 1856 as an academy, and was occupied as such for about five years,

when it fell into the hands of the school trustees, and has since been conducted as a pub-
lic school.

The school in District No. 4, was erected about ten years ago and stands on sec. 32.

It was the first school in that section.

HOLLIS TOWNSHIP.

HoUis township is bounded on the north by Limestone, west by Timber, aud the

south and east by the Illinois river, directly opposite the city of Pekin. and about six

miles southwest from the city of Peoria. The lands on the Illinois river are unimproved
bottom lands, but along the bluff, on the line of the Toledo, Peoria & Warsaw R. R., are

some of the most valuable coal mines in the State. In the northwestern portion of the

township, and along the crest of the bluffs, are some extensive and very fertile farms.

Among the early settlers that came to the township was Wm. Martin, a native of Wash-
ington county, New York, where he married Margaret Scott, and came in 1837. Mr.
Martin was the first justice of the peace in the township. S. D. Buck, a native of Cay-

uga, New York, came in 1837. E. W. Homan came from Kentucky in 1835. In 1832,

Peter Muchler, a native of Lancaster, Pennsylvania, came to the township. S. C. Wheeler
came from Hamilton county, Ohio, in 1844. The township was organized in 1850, and
derived its name from a man by the name of Denzel Hollis, who came among the early

settlers, and was a native of England.
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HOLLIS VILLAGE

Is situated on the T. P. & W. R. R., six miles southwest of Peoria. It was laid out
September 8, 1868, by E. J. and M. A. Jones, and is a mining village. The HoUis mines
are owned by Hamilton & Carter. There is also one run by a corporation. The Orchard
mines are. owned and operated by the Newsam Brothers, who also have the only store,

where they carry a general stock of about 12,000.

MAPLBTON.

Mapleton village is located on the T., P. & W. R. R., twelve miles southwest of

Peoria. It was laid out in 1868, by William Maples, now of Missouri, and has about 100

inhabitants. There are three coal mines, one owned and operated by Linsley & Walker,

who employ forty men. The Mapleton mine is owned by Mansfield, Gilfoy & J. T. Lins-

ley, and employs twenty-five men. The mine is half a mile east of Mapleton, and was
formerly owned by Neil, McGrew & Co., but is at present operated by Frank Newsman,
who works twenty-three mines.

There are two general stores, one owned and run by Thomas Linsley, who carries a

stock of S3,000, and has an annual business of 115,000 ; the other by Frank Newsam,
who commenced business in 1874, and in 1876 erected a large, commodious store build-

ing, where he keeps a stock of from |3,500 to $4,000, and does an annual trade of from

$15,000 to $20,000.

Lamarsh Baptist Ohuroh, Maple Ridge.— This church was organized October 27,

1838, with fourteen original members, who had come from Guernsey county, Ohio. The
original members were Isaac and Sarah Maples, Robert and Rebecca Buchanan, Abram
Maples, William and Mary Maples, Hugh and Sidney Ann Jones, Mrs. Harker and Eliza

Jones. The settlement in which this church was formed contained a population of one
hundred, which has increased to over eight hundred. The nearest Baptist church was
at Peoria, twelve miles distant. This little church was at first surrounded by Methodist
influence, but now occupies almost the entire religious field in the community. Elder
A. M. Gardner served as pastor of this church from its organization until August, 1848,

a period of nearly ten years.

The church continued quite small for several years, never reporting more than
twenty-two members. In 1847 it had increased to thirty members. In January, 1849,

Elder Wm. T. Bly became pastor of the church, residing at Washington, Tazewell
county, and preaching at Lamarsh half of the time. The association held its sessions

with this church in June, 1849. The meetings were held in a barn for the want of a

house of worship. After the association adjourned, some of the ministers, among whom
were Elders H. G. Weston and S. G. Miner, remained and continued a series of meetings
for some days. A glorious revival commenced, which continued through the yoar, and
in 1850 the church reported fifty-eight baptisms and 102 members. The following year

eight more members were added.
Elder Bly closed his labors as pastor in June, 1851. In July, 1851, Elder Joel Sweet,

who was also preaching at Trivoli part of the time, became pastor of tliis church. There
was another revival in 1852, when twenty-one were received into the church. Elder

Sweet closed his labors as pastor in July, 1855.

Immediately after the meeting of the association in 1849, the church commenced
the erection of a house of worship 80 by 45 feet, which cost about one thousand dollars.

Elder John Edminister began his pastoral labors in 1855, and continued for some years.

The first deacons were William Maples and John McGee. The present trustees are

Abram Maples, Joseph Hornbucker and Samuel Walters. Deacons are Elijah Starks,

Samuel Walters and Benjamin Hart. Of the original members two are still living—
Abram and Isaac Maples.
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Schools.— HoUis township contains six school districts, each of which is furnished
with a comfortable, substantial frame house. Careful attention is paid by the local school
ofBcers to the selection of competent teachers, for which fair salaries are paid, and the
schools are all creditable and prosperous.

JUBILEE TOWNSHIP.

The first settlements in Jubilee township were made in 1835, by Clark D. Powell,
Roswell Walker, Samuel Johnson, A. W. Harkness, Jacob Snyder, Samuel Snider, Daniel
Stansbury, David Shane, and Mrs. Lambert, of whom only two are now living, viz.

:

Samuel Snider and A. W. Harkness.
Rev. Philander Chase, Bishop of Illinois, secured funds from the friends of the

Protestant Episcopal Church in America and England, in 1836, with it he founded the
Jubilee College, selecting lands in section 25, and came with his family into the
township. He called the place " Robins' Nest," because, as he says, his first dwelling
was " built of mud and sticks and filled with young ones," and the place is called by that

name to this day. It is the only postofiSce in the township. Although the village was
known at this early date, there is perhaps now not over a score of houses within its

limits. Bishop Chase was the first postmaster, and was appointed in 1837. On the 3d
day of April, 1839, Bishop Chase laid the corner-stone of the chapel of the Jubilee Col-
lege, from which the township was afterwards named. Noah Alden and Hiram Shane
were the first justices of the peace ; they were appointed in 1843.

Prominent among the citizens of this township is the name of Gilbert Hathaway,
who settled here in 1838, and has always taken an active part in the affairs of the town.
He held the office of assessor five years, collector four years, and supervisor two years

;

and held the office of township treasurer for twenty-seven years continuously, from 1861
to 1878. Mr. Hathaway has dealt considerably in real estate in his town, and has done
much to improve and build up the township. Hon. William Rowcliffe, residing on sec-

tion 11, has also taken an active part in the township, as well as the county mat-
ters ; has held nearly all the offices of tha town, and has honorably acquitted himself as

a member of the General Assembly. His prospects are perhaps as favorable as any man
in the township for further promotion ; in fact, his influence throughout the county is

probably greater than any other man in the township. J. B. Slocum, one of the early

settlers of Jubilee, although not taking so active a part in the public affairs of the town
and county, has held many of the offices from time to time, and been counted as one of

the leading men of the place. He has dealt largely in real estate, and improved a num-
ber of farms in the township, but has resided for some thirty years on section 29, and
now owns a farm of over two hundred acres on sections 20 and 29.

Jubilee was first divided into four school districts, viz. : number one, or the Rowcliffe

district j number two, op the Shane district, which built its first school-house in 1847 ;

number three, or the brick school-house district, which was built in 1848 ; number four,

or the Bramble district, which built its house in 1850. Nathaniel F. Shaw was the first

teacher of a public school in the township. The first marriage was that of Samuel Snider

to Mary Jane Stansbury, in 1839. Samuel, son of Daniel Stansbury, was the first child

born. Mr. Squires, who lived on the southern line of the township, was the first person

who died in the township after its settlement. Rev. L. N. Hall preached the first ser-

mon, in the house of Jacob Snyder. There has never been a house of worship erected in

the township, except the chapel referred to in connection with the college, but arrange-

ments are now being made to build a Lutheran church on section 28, and also

a Methodist church on section 33. A part of the plat of land set apart for the

Lutheran church is to be used as a cemetery. The first person buried here was the wife
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of Philip Killstadt, who died April 15, A. D. 1880. The school-house known as the
Town House, is built on section 15, where all township meetings and elections are

held. The increase of population in this township has so augmented the demand for edu-
cationiil facilities that the number of school districts is now not less than nine, with very
good school-houses in each. The principal market for this township is at Brimfield, one
mile from the western line of the township. The postoffice at Robins' Nest is now kept
by Benjamin Tucker, an old resident of the place. The present officers are as follows

:

Supervisor, Peter Cahill ; collector, George Rowcliffe ; assessor, Cecil Moss ; town clerk,

Frank Coulson ; township treasurer and justice of the peace, Thomas Pacy ; justice of the

peace, Wm. Rowcliffe ; constables, Phil. LuUy and George Rowcliffe.

This township is well watered by numerous branches of the Kickapoo and their trib-

utaries. There is plenty of timber throughout the whole area, and stone and coal of good
quality abound. Jubilee, although not as rich as some of the neighboring towns, is per-

haps as favorable a locality as can be found in this section of the county. It is sur-

rounded by railroads on all sides, at distances varying from a few rods to three or four

miles, and yet it has never voted any tax or bonds for either road, and hence it is as free

from debt as any town in the county ; and its taxes lighter, perhaps, than any of the

surrounding towns.

KICKAPOO TOWNSHIP.

Town 9 north, range 8 east, took its name from the creek which flows through it.

Kickapoo is an Indian term and signifies red bud. The stream was so named from the

abundance of that shrub that grew along its banks. The township dates its settlement

from 1834. John L. Wakefield, now of Radnor, claims to have been the first settler, in

that year. Francis Pond. George O. Kingsley, came to the township in the Fall of

1834, and kept bach, and shook with the ague in a cabin on the farm where Mrs. Mary
Kingsley now lives. John Coyle and Israel Pinckney came the same Fall. The former

settled on the farm now owned by Joseph Voorhees, and was afterwards one of the pro-

prietors of Kickapoo village. Mr. Pinckney built his cabin on S. E. of Sec. 12. He
came from New York city. TheKingsleys were natives of Vermont. They both married

and reared famlies, and died in the township, George in 18t)9, and Francis in 1873.

Others soon followed these first pioneers. Samuel Dinnon came from Connecticut
in 1838 and located on Sec. 10, where he still resides. Gideon Thomas, father of John
A., came to the township in 1844 and settled where J. A. Thomas now lives.

Hale's Mill.— In 1834 William Hale, then sheriff of Oswego county, N. Y., being

West on official duty, visited the Kickapoo valley and selected a mill site at what is now
the upper end of Pottstown. He returned home, resigned his office, and in the Spring

of 1835 came back accompanied with George Greenwood, John Easton, and Waldo
Holmes, and erected a saw mill on the site that year. The following Winter material was
prepared, and in the Spring of 1836 a flouring mill was raised. He brought the neces-

sary machinery and his family by wagon from Albany, N. Y., that Summer, and the mill

was completed and set to running in tlie Spring of 1837. It was visited by settlers for a

radius of thirty miles, and was crowded with business. The water supply giving out in

1848, steam was substituted, and Mr. Hale controlled the property until his death, in

1859. The mill was converted into a distillery, which was destroyed by fire, in 1867.

Mr. Hale donated a tract of land for burial, religious, and school purposes, and
erected a small house thereon. A Rev. Mr. Beggs was one of the first pfeachers to visit

the Hale's Mill settlement. He held services there and organized a Methodist society,

which flourished a number of years, and at one time contained one hundred and fifty

membersj but is now extinct.
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KICKAPOO VILLAGE.

The village plat was laid off in July, 1836. The plat was entered for record in the
name of John Coyle. The town site is in the southwest quarter of Sec. 6. About one-
half of this quarter section was laid off in town lots with a public square in the center.
The first house on the village site was erected by Mr. Jenkins on the site now occupied
by Valentine Schlenk's hotel property, long known as the Kickapoo House. The
original building is included in the hotel building. It was designed for a storeroom, and
was used for that purpose for a short time by Mr. Jenkins, when additions were made
for hotel purposes.

The honor of opening the first store is generally accredited to Richard F. Seabury,
now of Peoria.

At one time, until the railroads surrounded it, there was a good trade at this

ancient village.

Baptist Qhureh.— This church society was formally organized on the 29th day of

March, 1851. Irregular services were held previous to this date at various places, as a

good many Baptist people had settled in the vicinity of the village. The organization

sermon was preached by Elder H. G. Weston.
The following were the constituent members : Moses Smith, Evan Evans and wife,

Thomas Fallyn and wife, Anthony Fallyn and wife, Joseph Fallyn, George H. Frye and
wife, John Ford and wife, George W. Weston and wife, Elizabeth Bell and Fanny Hux-
table. Soon after a subscription was circulated and a frame house of worship was built,

and completed in 1853, during the administration of Elder Freeman as pastor.

The present membership is about thirty-five. Services are held every alternate Sun-
day, Elder Armstrong of Stark county officiating. John Marshall is church clerk,

G-erman Catholic Ohurch.— In 1861 the German Catholics hereabouts bought the

ground and the standing walls of the Episcopal church edifice, which had been burned,
for $324, and at once commenced to reconstruct the building. Rev. Father Fronenhofer
was priest at that time, and under his careful management the edifice was completed in

the Fall of 1862, for the sum of $842, making the cost of the church edifice thus far

$1,166. In 1869 an addition was made to the church building costing $1,725.

The lots and old parsonage building adjoining the church were bought in 1862 for

$350. The house was remodeled and repaired. August 4, 1876, the church authorities

contracted with Gottfried Herweg, of Peoria, for the erection of the present parsonage at

$1,600. The society includes forty-five families, Rev. Father Anton Schmitz has been the

officiating priest since September 20, 1877. A good school is maintained in connection with

this church about nine months of each year, in which both German and English is taught.

Episcopal Ohurch.— The first church edifice erected on the village plat was the

Episcopal Church, built in 1845, The settlement of Bishop Chase at Jubilee, and the

erection of a college there, influenced a goodly number of people of the Episcopal faith

to locate in the vicinity. They erected a house of worship which continued in the pos-

session of the Episcopal people for fifteen years, until partially destroyed by fire in 1860.

The ground and the standing brick walls were sold to the German Catholics, by whom
it was re-constructed, the old walls forming a part of their present very handsome church

edifice.

Methodist Episcopal Church.— The first M. E. services here were held about 1843.

At that time Kickapoo was included in what was then known as the Brimfield Circuit,

Rock River Conference. The first services were conducted by a Rev. Mr. Whitmon, at

the house of William Young. In 1854, Rev. Henry Somers was presiding elder of the

Kickapoo Circuit, and Rev. P. F. Rhodes, preacher in charge. Under the ministerial

labors of Mr, Rhodes, guided by Mr. Somers, the present church edifice was commenced
and completed in 1855, at a cost of $1,662. It was dedicated by Rev. Mr. Johnson, of
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Peoria. The present membership at the Kickapoo appointment is about twenty-five
members, and a well conducted Sabbath school, James Dunseth, superintendent.

English Lutheran Church.—The Lutheran church edifice was built in 1867, at a cost

of $2,250. Regular services were maintained until the Spring of 1877. Since then,

services have been held at irregular periods. The Missouri Lutherans hold services in

this church edifice every two weeks.

EDWARDS STATION.

This is a mining and railway station on the Peoria and Galesburg division of the
Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad, and is located on section nineteen. By rail it

is fourteen miles, and by wagon road, ten miles, west from Peoria. It is not a regularly

laid out town, but more of a mining hamlet. The houses are built with but little regard

to the points of the compass. The first man to settle here was Isaac Jones, who built a

cabin on the side of the hill, very nearly where Wilkinson & Wantling's coal shaft is

operated. He died in 1840.

The next house on the ground covered by the Station was built by Conrad Beck, in

1851. The school-house was built in 1865.

E. D. Edwards opened the first store, in 1851. He died in 1857. In 1876, Wilkin-
son & Edwards opened a general store which still continues.

In 1853, two years after he commenced business at the Station, E. D. Edwards built

a steam flouring mill here, which was successfully conducted until 1866 or '67, when it

was destroyed by fire. It has never been rebuilt.

Coal Mining.—In 1860, Dr. Wilkinson commenced buying coal bearing lands in the

vicinity of the Station. He bought from time to time, as such lands were offered, until

he now owns nearly 1,000 acres of coal bearing land adjacent to the Station.

In December, 1870, Dr. Wilkinson had completed arrangements for a thorough de-

velopment of his mining interests, and associated Isaac Wantling, an experienced miner,

with him in their management. Active operations were commenced in January, 1877,

and successfully prosecuted ; they possess a capacity for supplying twenty car-loads of

coal per day, which can be indefinitely increased. There are two drift veins of four and
five feet in thickness that are easily accessible, on the Wilkinson lands, the extent of

which is unknown. Each one of these drifts, as far as worked, will yield 1,000 bushels

of coal to each square rod, or 40,000 tons to the acre.

M. Ij. Church.—The first services were held at the Station and the society organized

by Rev. J. Kearns and his colleague, Rev. Mr. Sedor, in 1867 or '68. The class num-
bered twelve or fifteen members. James Greenough was the first class leader. Regular

services are held in the school-house every two weeks. A Sabbath school has been care-

fully fostered and steadily maintained, until it numbers sixty-five members; A. W.
Thayer, superintendent.

Temperance Reform Club.—The Red Ribbon Reform movement was inaugurated in

February, 1879, and at the close of the year the membership numbered about one

hundred.
The population of the place is about one hundred and fifty. School is maintained

from six to nine months each year. S. S. Edwards, postmaster ; A. W. Thayer, railroad

and express agent.

Schools.— In 1851, Miss Sarah Smith taught the first school at Hale's Mill, occupy-

ing a cooper shop as the school-house. Previous to that what pupils there were went to

the Kingsley school-house some distance west. A few locust trees are now the only relic

to mark the location of the old school-house.

In 1840, Mr. Samuel Dimon, who came to the county and neighborhood in 1838,

hauled the logs for the first school-house erected in what is now district No. 1. Miss

Harriet Hitchcock is believed to have been the first teacher in that first school-house.
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Mr. Dimon subsequently wielded the birch and ferrule as teacher for two or three
quarters in the same building. A fine brick structure now takes in its place.

Besides this school-house, the school-houses at Kickapoo, Edwards Station and Potts-
town, which are elsewhere mentioned, there are four other districts, making a total of
eight districts in the township.

The first school-house in district No. 5, was located on the northwest quarter of
Sec. 9, a frame structure, was erected in the Spring of 1851, at a total cost $260. The
first school in this building commenced in the Fall of 1851—H. Gregory teacher.

This school-house served the purposes of the district until 1877, when the present
frame structure was erected on the same ground at a cost of |510.

The school-house in district No. 6, is situated on the southeast quarter of Sec. 16.

It is a frame building and was erected about August, 1860, at a cost of $300. The first

school commenced in the Fall of 1860— a man named Pehamer, teacher.

The school-house in district No. 7, is located on the northeast quarter of Sec. 33.

It is a frame building, was erected in the Summer of 1867, and cost $500. Miss H.
Pritchard taught the first school that Winter.

The school-house in district No. 8, is a frame building and located on the northwest
quarter of Sec. 13. It was erected in the Summer of 1867, at a cost of $528. The first

school was taught in the Winter of 1867-8, by Miss Hattie C. Hamison.
Goal Mines and Mining.— At the site of the old mill there is now quite a village,

whose inhabitants derive their subsistance from mining the coal that abounds in such
measureless profusion beneath the hills of the Kickapoo. The first coal mining done at

that point was by Jacob Darst about 1849 or '50. In miner's parlance, he began " strip-

ping" about that date and continued it about five years. Frederick Ruprecht and John
Woolenscraft purchased from him some bluff land and commenced "drifting" the same
year. In 1851, Ruprecht bought his partner's interest and operated the mine two years,

when he sold out to Anderson Grimes and Judge Bryant ; they in turn sold out to

Samuel Potts, who has been the heaviest operator since that time. By reason of his

large mining interests, the place has become generally known as Pottstown. Henry
Vicary operates a mine which was opened about 1850, and known as the Vicary lower
vein. Mr. Potts and Mr. Vicary, who represent the leading coal banks, are both Eng-
lishmen and had mining experience in their native country. Until within the past two
years the product of these mines was exclusively sold at the Peoria market, and hauled
by wagons; but having constructed a tramway to his mine, Mr. Potts ships by rail to

various points abroad. The supply is thought to be inexhaustible. Parker & Clifford

operate a mine, employing eight men to whom they pay $5,184 per annum.

POTTSTOWN

has been chiefly quilt up by Mr. Potts for the use of his operatives and their families,

since 1869. In 1875 Mr. Potts began the manufacture of brick, which has

since been quite an important business in the hamlet. William H. McLaughlin opened
the first store in the place in March, 1872. Having changed hands several times, the

business is now conducted by Joseph Middleton.

The Bed Ribhon Qlub.— The temperance reform movement reached Pottstown in

August, 1878. , It met with a hearty encouragement by nearly all the most influential

citizens ; a club was organized and is in a healthy condition.

The Patrona of Husbandry have two quite flourishing lodges in Kickapoo. No. 446
was chartered May 16, 1873, and was organized with thirty members. In the Fall of

1879 the membership was thirty-five and the lodge in active working order. It holds

stock in the Peoria grange store.

Orange Cfranffe, No. Si'd.— This grange was organized, with about forty members,
January 10, 1874. It now numbers over fifty. The lodge owns a hall in school district

44
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No. 1. Meetings are held weekly— Saturday— in the Summer, and semi-monthly in

Winter.
The Big Hollow Butter and Cheese Factory Company was organized in 1878, with

a capital stock of $15,000, and erected a building 30 by 60 feet. It began operations in

May, 1878, and has a capacity of 10,000 pounds of milk, or 1,000 pounds of cheese per
day.

LIMESTONE TOWNSHIP.

The first settlers in this township were Abner Eads, who first settled at Fort Clark,

in April, 1819, and the Moffatts : Joseph Moffatt and three sons, Alva, Aquila and Ben-
jamin F. The Moffatts came in June, 1822. Alva Moffatt settled on Sec. 13, and still

occupies a home on that section.

In 1824, Aquila Moffatt made a claim on the northeast quarter of See. 13, and en-

closed and broke five acres of ground, which, with the exception of about six years, he
has continued to occupy. Benjamin Moffatt now lives near HoUis. The rest of the

family removed to Jo Daviess coufity.

The settlement of this township was not rapid. The Harker family came to the

county in 1829. Daniel Harker, now a resident of this township, was then a boy of

fifteen. Henry W. Jones came very early, and built the first hewed log-house in the

township.
James Crow and family came about the same time as Jones, but the Black Hawk

Indian scare of 1832, frightened them back to Ohio, where they remained until after the

close of the troubles. They returned in 1834.

James Heaton and Joshua Aikin came in 1834. Aikin settled on the Kickapoo
creek and built a grist-mill. Pleasant Hughes came in 1837, and settled on Sec. 29,

where his widow still resides. In 1837, Daniel Harker, who was married on the 10th of

July of that year, occupied a house he had previously built on the southeast quarter of

Sec. 31, and still lives on the same place. In 1838, his father moved over from Logan
township, and settled on the southwest quarter of the same section, where he died June
16, 1849, at the age of seventy-five years.

There is a large German element in this township. The earliest settler of this

nationality was Conrad Bontz, who came in 1844. Christian Straesser and the Hallers

in 1847. The Beatly Johnson family in 1848 ; George Ojeman in 1849, and the Roelfs in

1851. The Straessers and Hallers were natives of Wurtemberg. The remainder were
nearly all from the Kingdom of Hanover. Many of these people are largely engaged in

grape culture, and some of them in the manufacture of wine. Ed. Roelfs, deceased in

1872, is believed to have planted the first vineyard, and to have also made the first wine.

Before his vineyard matured he made wine from the wild grape.

With the rarest exceptions, these people are among the very best people in the com-
munity. They are industrious, energetic and honest, and rank high as successful farmers.

When the township organization system was adopted by the people of Peoria county
in 1850, the township was named Limestone, because of the almost inexhaustible quar-

ries of that stone that exist in the north part of the township.
Nearly the whole township is underlaid with coal, and the mines now worked extend

four miles along the eastern tier of sections, and there are several hundred miners em-
ployed in the different mines. Peoria is largely supplied with coal from ^he Limestone
mines.

The first coal mining in the township was done by a man named Warner. He
opened a bank at a point on the south-east corner of section 24. The Moffatts

mined coal at the same place soon after, and shipped it to St. Louis by keel boats.
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Petrifactions.— At Secord's limekilns and stone quarry, on the south-east quarter of
section, some rare petrified curiosities have been found. These curiosities consist of
petrified timber, shells, etc., and are found all through the quarry, at a depth of from
three to seventeen feet. Among those most worthy of note was an elk's head, with the
horns attached, which was in a perfect state of preservation. It was found at a depth
of seven feet from the surface, while quarrying rock for the County Infirmary. Every
part of it was thoroughly petrified, and as solid as the stone from which it was taken.

A petrified turtle, with its form preserved intact, was found in the quarry from
which stone is taken for lime, or what Mr. Secord calls the " North Quarry." Mr. S. and
others who saw it say it looked as "natural as life." It was found in a crevice between
the layers of rock.

Christ Church (^EpiscopaT).— The first services of this Episcopal community were
held at the pioneer home of John Benson. Sometimes meetings were held at the homes
of some of the other settlers. After Bishop Chase came, in 1836, regular services were
observed almost every Sabbath. In time, the members so increased that a house of wor-
ship became a necessity, and in 1843, they began to cast about for ways, and means to

build a church. John Pennington gave two acres of ground in the north-west quarter
of section 4, for a church- site and cemetery, and in May, 1844, the corner stone was
laid; The building was not fully completed until the Fall of 1845, nor consecrated until

December of that year. The original cost was about $1,500. Of this sum, fl,100 was
contributed by friends in England. Dowager Queen Adelaide gave <£20; Lord Kenyon
gave £20. Rev. John Benson is the officiating clergyman.

Some years ago Rev. John Benson, James Clark and Isabella Douglas deeded to

Christ Church forever, a tract of twenty acres of ground just across the public highway
from the church edifice. This is called a glebe, and is intended for the use and benefit

of the officiating clergyman.
The first grave in Christ Church cemetery was that of Henry Wilson, who died 17th

September, 1838.

Limestone M. E. Church.—This church society was organized in 1849, with twenty-
seven members. The church edifice, a neat frame structure, is located on section 4, and
was built in 1860 at a cost of |1,000. It was dedicated by Peter Cartright, D.D., on
the 21st day of October, 1860. The preacher in charge at that time was Rev. John
Borland. A Sunday school of twenty scholars is maintained in connection with the

church ; Henry Goodrich, superintendent.
Presbyterian Church.—The Presbyterian society was organized on the 30th day of

April, 1859, by Rev. B. Farris, pastor of the First Presbyterian Church at Peoria. The
church building is a handsome frame structure, located on the Farmington road, on the

north-west corner of section 8. It was erected in 18G4, at a cost of $1,600. Rev. M. L.

Wood was the first pastor.

The Crerman Lutheran Church Society was organized in 1855 with eighteen members.
The first church edifice was built in 1856 at a cost of $1,000. In 1876 this building

became too small to accommodate the increasing congregation, and a new and more com-
modious one was erected at a cost of $4,000. The church is supplied with a bell which
cost $400, and an organ costing nearly as much. The society owns three and a half

acres of ground where the church stands, which includes the cemetery. The first pastor

was Rev. F. Warnke. He remained three years. Rev. Mr. Banger is the present pastor.

North Limestone M. E. Church.— First class was formed about 1850. The original

members were eleven in number. Rev. Humphrey was the first preacher. Under the

pastorate of John Borland, the church was built in 1860 ; the cost was $800. Number
of members at the present time, thirty-one. Connected with the church is a prosperous

and large Sabbath school.
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Schools.— Mr. Barton remembers that about 1836 he attended a school which was
taught in a log house that stood on the ground just in the rear of his house. It was a
subscription school, and the teacher was Simeon Ward. This was the first in the

township. Limestone township is divided into ten school districts, nine of which
have either a neat and comfortable frame or brick house, supplied with furniture and ap-

paratus well adapted for modern school use. Schools are kept up from six to nine months
during each year, and the best material obtainable is employed as teachers. The schools

compare favorably with the public schools of the country.

LOGAN TOWNSHIP.

Logan township was settled in the year 1830. The first settler was an old Indian

trader by the name of Triall, who located in the lower end of the township in that year.

In 1831 Peter Mayward came and settled near him. In 1832 James Harker, J. G. S. Bo-
hanan and Mr. Buck arrived. In 1833 J. I. Runkle, Thos. Phillips and H. J. Heaton
came. In 1835 T. P. Smith, John Vanarsdall, Richard Bourne, George Sturgess and
Seth Sturgess came. In 1836 and '37 M. A. Gardner, Wm. Forbes and Wm. Stratton

settled in the township.

The first child born was Henry Smith, son of Thos. P. Smith, in the year 1834. The
first marriage was that of James Harker Jr. to Miss Susan Van Patten in the year 1834.

The first church service was held at the house of Thos. Lane. The first church was or-

ganized in Tunber township in the year 1840, and was removed to Smithville in the year
1853. The first school was taught by Dr. Clark, in the Winter of 1836, in a log school-

house on section 36.

The schools of Logan township are second to none in the county outside of the city

of Peoria. Their buildings are in good repair, and first-class teachers are employed.
The northern and center portion of the township is fine farming land. The southern

portion, though broken, is interspersed with some fine farms.

SMITHVILLE

is situated on section 22, near the center of the township. Was laid out and platted by
Thomas P. Smith. It is a village of about two hundred inhabitants. There are two
general stores. J. B. Miller & Son have the leading business, and carry a stock of

$3,500. J. H. Lucas deals in drugs, patent medicines, paints and oils, hardware, queens-
ware and general merchandise. He established the house in 1871, and handles a stock

of $3,000. There are two churches, two blacksmith shops, and a good, comfortable
school building in the place.

The Harmony Church, Smithville, was organized in the year 1836, by Rev. John
Wallace, with ten constituent members. Rev. Andrew Fulton was its first pastor. The
original officers were : John McFadden, Thos. P. Smith, Thomas and F. Smith. The
society has built two houses of worship, the first in an early day, costing $500, and the
one in present use, at a cost of about |2,500. The church now numbers fifty-two mem-
bers, officered by John M. Pinkerton, James and B. Miller. John Harper is the present
pastor.

The United Presbyterian Church, of Bethel, was organized in the school-house in

District No. 2, June 3, 1853, by a committee of the Associate Reformed Church of

Illinois, (Second Presbytery,) consisting of Wm. E. R. Erskine, minfeter, and Robt.
Pinkerton, ruling elder, with thirty members. Original officers— John McCollough
and James Pinkerton ; ruling elders, Samuel Wiley, Samuel S. Glasgow, and N. C. Pat-
ton ; Robert G. Patton, recording clerk and treasurer. Present church officers— John
Harper, minister ; Thos. E. Patton, Stewart Glasgow, Wm. S. McCollough, ruling elders ;
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J. P. Wiley, treasurer ; J. A. McCoUough, recording clerk. S. Glasy is Sabbath school
superintendent.

The first church was built in 1854, a frame building thirty by forty feet. The first

pastor was Rev. Philip H. Drennen, who was settled in the Spring of 1855, and resigned
in the Spring of 1857. Rev. Elijah McCoy was called in the Fall of 1858 and remained
until 1865. In the Autumn of 1867 Rev. T. P. Proudfit was installed as pastor, and re-

mained until the Spring of 1871, when the congregation united with the Harmony
congregation of Smithville, Ills., under one pastoral charge. In the Spring of 1873 the
Rev. John Harper was settled as pastor of the congregation of Bethel and Harmony in

which position he remains. In the Summer of 1874 the congregation erected a frame
church, thirty-four by fifty-two feet, at a cost of $3,011.20.

In 1858 the United Presbyterian Church was formed by the unions of the Associate,

and the Associate Reformed churches of North America. The church is in a prosperous

condition, with a membership of fifty-two.

Kinney M. E. Church.— The first class was formed about the year 1840, and con-

sisted of eighteen members. The first pastor was Wm. Pitnar. After holding services

a few years in private houses a rude school-house was built, which was used, until in

1848 a brick church was erected. This building was occupied twenty years. Under the

jiastorage of J. L. Ferris, (1869,) the old church was pulled down and a neat and com-
modious frame building erected on the old site, at the cost of about $2,200, and was
dedicated by Rev. J. H. Rhea, D. D. The church is well finished and furnished, includ-

ing a good organ. There are at the present time forty-three members. L. V. Weaber is

pastor. The official members are : W. O. Norval, located preacher and class leader ;

G. W. Dumans, Sr., local preacher; W. C. Green, steward and trustee; W. T. Dumans,
steward; T. C. Smith, Geo. W. Dumas, Jr., and Alex. P. Parr, trustees.

Smithville M. E. Church.— The first class was formed in 1850. The number of mem-
bers being seven, viz. : B. Kline and wife, Richard Taylor and wife, Alfred Reeves and
wife, and a young man named Grinnard. For some time services were held in an old log

school-house. Rev. Mr. Humphrey being the first preacher. The church building now in

use was erected in 1854 and is now valued at about $800. It is not large, but within is

cheerful. There is no indebtedness on the church property. Number of members at pre-

sent time is twenty-five. A flourishing Sabbath school is sustained. The parsonage for

the Smithville circuit is good property valued at $1,000. L. V. Webber is the present

pastor. Gideon Wondee is class leader and trustee. F. M. Tipton recording steward and

trustee. Luther Couch, steward and trustee, and Sunday school superintendent.

Salem Presbyterian Church.— Was organized May 9, 1850, near Smithville, by a

committee appointed by Peoria Presbytery, consisting of Rev. Samuel C. McCune and Wm.
McCandish. The organization was composed of the following named persons, Wm.
Brooks and Elizabeth Brooks, Wm. Stewart, and Sarah J. Stewart, James H. Patterson and

Isabella M. Patterson, Wm. A. Brooks, nine persons in all. William Stewart and Jas.

H. Patterson were chosen ruling elders, and duly ordained and installed on that day. The
first sacramental service was held May 26, 1850, at which time nine persons were added

upon certificates of membership from other churches. The place of meeting was a little

brick school-house which occupied the place now adorned by the present more com-

modious one in District No. 7. There had been a former organization of a Presbyterian

church in this community, known as theLaMarsh Presbyterian Church, as far as now can

be ascertained, it was organized during the Spring of 1843, and was suffered to go into

dissolution fpr some cause. The church building was erected about 1856, and during

the ministry of Rev. J. C. Hanna, who was the first regular pastor the church had. The

value may be estimated at $1,200 to $1,500. Within the past nine years a neat cottage

parsonage has been erected at about the same expense. The church has a Sabbath

school in which one man, Mr. S. W. Brooks, has been the superintendent for almost
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twenty-five years. The present pastor, Wm. Kerry has officiated almost ten years The
present membership numbers seventy-five. There is a Women's Foreign Mission Society

organization which proves an efficient helper to the society.

MEDINA TOWNSHIP.

The first settler within the limits now comprised in this township was undoubtedly
George Love, who came with his family from Park Co., Indiana, and settled November
10, 1824, near the spot now occupied by the village of Mossville. He had at that time

no nearer neighbor than Fort Clark in one direction, and the Fox river in the other. In

course of the succeeding^ year some five or six families settled near them. John Ridge-

way was the first to follow and he helped the Loves to build their hoase. Edmund Weed
Briarley, Abner Cooper, Henry Thomas and Samuel Clifton came next. The latter on
coming bought out Weed's claim. Several other families whose names can not now be

learned settled within a mile or so of Love's cabin, but staying only a short time sold their

claims and moved on towards the setting sun. This was at that time the most thickly

settled portion of the northern half of Peoria county. No saw or grist mill was erected

in the township till about the year 1859, except some circle saw-mills which were put up
about 1853. The Indians at that time were very numerous. The Pottawattomies were
native to the county, and numerous other roving bands of Sacs, Foxes and Winnebagoes
with a few Chippeways and Delawares were encamped and hunted all over it.

In 1825 a small colony sprung up near the northern boundary of the township, and
among those forming it were the Averys, Stephen French, Stephen Carl, and Resolve
Cleveland with their families and they occupied at first the abandoned bark houses of an
Indian town on Sec. 4. In the Spring of 1831, Mr. Linas Scovill with his family came
from Vermillion county, Ind., and settled on a claim which he had previously bought
from one of the Love family. The claim then entered upon is still owned by Mr. Sco-

vill's son, who bears his father's name. The settlement at Mossville was directly in the

track of the emigration going on between the years 1828 to 1835, to Galena, and the

numbers passing through afforded a ready market for all surplus grain, garden products,

etc. Much was also disposed of to voyagers upon the river. Between 1831 and 1840 the

district was settled up rapidly, and good claims advanced greatly in price. Among those

coming between these years may be mentioned, Gershom Silliman and family who set-

on Sec. 2 in 1831. John E. Bristol and Nicholas Sturm in 1832, Thos. Mooney and his

sons James and William in 1835, J. H. and I. W.Oase in 1836, William Robinson in 1837,
and John P. Neal and Jonathan W. Rice in 1838. Simon Reed and Hiram M. Curry
were the first justices of the peace, and held office in 1829. The first marriage was that

of Abner Cooper to Sally Sheldon in February, 1826, near Mossville. They were mar-
ried by Rev. Mr. Cormack, a Baptist preacher. Rev. John Thomas also a Baptist, preach-
ed the first sermon.

In April, 1850, the township in common with the others forming Peoria county, was
constituted and its present name adopted. The origin of the name is very uncertain.

The committee on names wrestled with the problem for some weeks before they fixed

upon Medina, which is certainly unobjectionable, both as regards its euphony and its

singularity.

The township consists of twenty-nine perfect sections and several fractional sections.

It forms the southern part of LaSalle prairie and contains some excellent land. Running
north and south through the middle is a belt of bluff land, two miles in width, covered
with timber, but on each side and especially to the eastward a level prairie stretches

out, dotted with as fine and productive farms as can be found anywhere. Two railroads
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traverse the township— the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific, and the Peoria and Roclc
Island. The former having a depot at Mossville, and the latter at Alta.

The township contains two villages, Mossville on Sec. 27 and Alta on Sec. 31. The
former has a population of about two hundred, and is situated near the first land taken
up in the township. It is on the line of the Bureau branch of the Chicago, Rock Island
and Pacific Railroad, which was opened in 1854, and the village was laid off about the
same time. It was named after Wm. S. Moss, who owned, in company with Isaac Un-
derbill, the quarter section on which the village stands at the time the railroad was laid

through it. Pew villages of its population possess better church or school edifices. Mr.
A. Marberry, the postmaster, is proprietor of the only store in it, and the Mossville
House, conducted for many years by Mr. John Crawl, offers excellent accommodation for

the weary stranger.

Alta is a railway station and post office on the Peoria and Rock Island Railroad, and
was laid off for Imri Case, Thos. Hanson and Loren Wilder in March, 1873, and gained
its name from its elevated position, being the highest point between Peoria and Rock
Island. On account of the increased postal facilities gained from the establishment of a
depot there, the village has been a great convenience to the inhabitants of that portion
of the township. It contains a general store kept by Clarence Case, who is also post-

master, a grocery kept by Alden Hawley, the Potter Brothers' cheese factory, capable of
handling several thousand pounds of milk per day, and a blacksmith and wagon shop. A
prominent feature of the place is the public school. The building is one of the best in

the township. A lodge of the A. F. & A. M., and a temperance reform club are pros-

perously conducted in the village.

St. Joseph's Catholic Church.— Previously to the year 1855 there were but few Catho-
lics resident in the township. In that year the late Thomas Mooney headed a movement
for the erection of a Catholic church in the township and gave to it the practical backing
of a subscription of $500 and the donation of a lot of five acres of land upon which to

build it and to serve as a burial ground. His sons gave f50 each ; Patrick Boylan gave
$200, and many others gave freely of their substance to aid in the good cause. The building

was forthwith begun, and it was completed in the Fall of that year at a cost of about
$1,000 in cash. The church is situated on the northwest corner of the southeast quarter of

Sec. 2, and is substantially built of wood with stone foundation. The interior presents

a most neat and pleasing appearance. It is capable of seating comfortably about three

hundred worshipers, and the average congregation numbers about 150. It contains a

large, handsome organ, and tlie services are rendered by a full choir.

The edifice was dedicated under its present name ten years ago by the late Rev.
Father Halligan, of Chicago, and services are held every second Sunday by Rev. Thos.

Quigley, of Henry, who divides his time between the church there and the one thus

briefly sketched.

The Baptist Church in Mossville was organized at a meeting of the adherents of that

body held in the school-house, April 9, 1868. Geo. E. Prunk was chosen as chairman,

and Thos. Hough clerk. The membership of the society is at present very small, but
services are held in the M. E. church every other Sunday. Rev. L. D. Gowen, of

Galva, 111., is the present pastor.

A Methodist class has been in existence in Mossville for over forty years, but the

number of adherents has never been large enough to warrant the organization of a

church. Until within the last five years it was upon the Peoria Circuit, but is now upon
that of Ohillicothe. Services are held every second Sunday in the church edifice of the

village, by Rev. J. A. Windsor.
The church building in which the religious services of Mossville are held, is quite a

handsome and substantial one, and is a prominent object in the village ; is strongly built

of brick, and can comfortably seat about 200 persons. It was built about the year 1869,
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through the united efforts of the church-going people of the village and vicinity, and
more especially under the auspices of the Presbyterians, at a cost of about $2,600. The
structure is now owned by Mr. S. C. Neal, who is prominently connected Avith the Meth-
odist society.

Schools.— The first school was started in the latter part of 1826, by Jesse McGee,
who secured the necessary number of scholars and turned over the school in January,
1827, to Moses Clifton, who taught it for three months, and he was succeeded by a man
named Marks. The school was situated near Mossville in a building erected especially for

that purpose. It was a log cabin, 18x16, with puncheon floor, paper windows and clapboard
door, and was daubed with mud. The cost of tuition was $2 per scholar for a term of

three months. In 1836, a school was taught by Hiram M. Curry in a cabin near where
the residence of Moses Neal now stands, and about three years afterwards was removed
to N. E. i of Sec. 27, where it remained until the school site was changed to its present

location on Sec. 27 in Mossville about twenty years ago. The present school structure

in this district is a very fine one, and was built of brick at a cost of $4,000 about 1868.

The first public school in the N. W. portion of the township was located in N. E. i
of S. E, i of Sec. 7, and was taught about the year 1840, by Joseph M. Batchelder. The
first private school in the same district was taught by Mrs. John Benjamin about the

year 1836, in a little log cabin used as a dwelling. In school district No 1, the first pub-
lic school was erected about 18.52, and was located in S. W. cor. of S. E. i of Sec. 3,

where it remained till 1866, when it was determined by public vote to build a new
school-house, and to change the site to S. W. cor. of N. W. J of Sec. 2, where it now is.

The first school-house built under the township organization stood upon the farm of Mr.
Bristol. It was built in 1853, and was removed to the eighty acres upon which the pres-

ent school building in district No. 3 now stands, in the Fall of 1856. The present struct-

ure was built at a cost of about $2,500 in 1872.

In school district No. 2 the building now in use was erected in 1855 ; was originally

a good building and has lately been repaired and fixed up anew.

MILLBROOK TOWNSHIP.

In the Spring of 1833 William Metcalf, then a young man, with a wife and two
children, left Richland county, Ohio, to seek a home in the then far West. They came
by wagon, camping out on the way, and arriving at French Grove, Brimfield township,
ended their journey. Mr. Metcalf erected a house on Sec. 9, of Millbrook, and removed
his family into it in the Spring of 1834, and was the first settler in the township. John
Sutherland, » native of Pittsburgh, Pa., came to Peoria in 1834, bought the land where
the IngersoU hotel now stands. He removed to Millbrook in 1885, and located on Sec.

32. Mr. S. was one of the organizers of the First Presbyterian Church of Peoria. He
died September 30, 1845.

EOCHBSTEE.

Is situated in the northwest portion of the county, in Millbrook township, on Sec. 7,

36 miles from Peoria, and 24 miles from Galesburg. It contains three dry good stores,

two churches, two blacksmiths, one wagon shop and undertaker, two milliners, one
drug store, one butcher shop, and post office. There is a population of about 200.

Was and is the only town laid out and platted and recorded in Millbrook township,
which was done July 2, 1836, by John Smith, Jr. The only houses at the time were
those occupied by John Smith, Jr., and Clark Stanton. Some time 1836 a man by the

name of Hurd, of Peoria, brou^jht the first stock of goods to the town and opened out in

a small log cabin on the bank of the river. He was soon after succeeded by Stacy &
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Holmes, who sold goods for about two years. John Smith Jr., opened out a stock of goods
some time during the Winter of 1836-7, and remained in business until the Summer of

1857, when he sold out to the Hon. David Markley, of Canton, Fulton county, Illinois,

then a prominent merchant and politician. This stock of goods was finally moved
away.

The first school-house in the village was built by Dr. Fifield, C. W. Stanton, Russell

Stanton, and Jonah Lewis, without the assistance of the public funds. The frame of

this house is a part of E. Markley's dwelling. This was replaced by a large commodious
brick, now in use, in 1867.

The first church was built by the Campbellites in 1858, a frame structure, costing

about $1,000, which was blown down by cyclone on the 8th day of May, of the same
year. In 1865 they erected their present church. The mill at this place has added very
materially to the prosperity of the town since Mr. Holtz, of Elmwood, has had charge.

It was built in the year 1837. People at that time came from Kewanee to get their

milling done. The post office was first established in 1846, Mr. Therrygood Smith act-

ing as postmaster, and as the first justice of the peace. The first death that occurred in

Millbrook township was an infant son of C. W. Stanton, on the 1st day of August, 1836.

The first marriage in Millbrook took place at the residence of C. W. Stanton, December
15, 1837, the ceremony being performed by Therrygood Smith, Esq. The parties mar-
ried were Mr. T. Greeley, a native of Salisbury, N. H., who came to Millbrook in 1836,

Miss Chloe A. Barnes, a native of New York, who came to Millbrook the same year of

her husband. The first white child born was the infant son of C. W. Stanton, which
died, as previously mentioned. The first physician was John Fifield, who was a native

of Salsbury, Hillsborough county, N. H. He came to Peoria, March 10, 1838, and soon
after to Rochester, where he practiced until about 1845.

Christian Ohuroh.— This church was organized December 18, 1844, by John W.
Underwood, with four original members. The first meeting was held in a school-house

in November, conducted by Elder Milton King. Seven persons attended this meeting.

In the Summer of 1864 the church built a house of worship costing between f3,000 and
$4,000. It was dedicated by John O'Kane in June, 1865. The present membership is

twenty-five. The officers are John A. Pratz, Jonathan Pratz, and O. P. Willett
;
pastor

— Dr. John Doyle. The first Sunday school was organized in the early part of 1844.

The Rev. Robt. F. Bruse, superintendent. There was a regular attendance of twenty
children.

Congregational Church was organized June 30, 1841, at the house of Elias Wycoff,
Jr., in Stark county. Ministers present were S. S. Miles and S. G. Wright. The origi-

nal members were nine in number. After entering into covenant, Wm. Webster and N.
Wycoff were elected ritling elders, and duly installed in office, and S. G. Wright moder-
ator of session. In 1854, the meetings were held in Rochester, in Millbrook township.

It appears on record that Chas. B. Donaldson was acting pastor after December, 1854.

At a meeting of the church held April 14, 1866, the name was changed from that of

Spoon River Congregational Church to that of Elmore Congregational Church of Roch-
ester.

During the Summer and Fall of 1866 the society succeeded in building a house of

worship, costing $2,300. Five hundred dollars was donated by the Congregational Union,
the rest was raised by its members and the citizens. It was dedicated on Wednesday even-

ing, January 22, 1867. The dedication sermon was preached by Rev. Wm. G. Pierce, of

Elrawood, assisted by James Wycliff and B. F. Hawkins. Previous to the sermon it was
announced that the donations and subscriptions would be sufficient to free the church
from debt. The Rev. B. F. Hawkins filled the pulpit for twelve years. On June 28,

1878, Rev. C. S. Benton was called to the pulpit for one year. Their pastor at present

is Thos. Armstrong.
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M, H. Church was organized in the year 1836. Rev. Wm. Cummings preached the
first sermon in the latter part of May or the early part of June. This was the first

church organized in the township. The original members were John Smith, Sr., and
wife, Therrygood Smith, an unmarried daughter of John Smith, and Wm. Afetcalf. John
Smith, Sr., was chosen class leader. In the year 1858 the society commenced the erec-

tion of a house of worship, and had it inclosed and roof on, when it was lorn to frag-

ments by a cyclone on the 8th day of May of that year. Through misfortunes and vari-

ous causes the organization, at one time very strong, became extinct.

Presbyterian Church.— Old School.— Some time in the Summer of 1836, Rev. Geo.
G. Sill preached the first Presbyterian sermon in the house of John Sutherland, on
section 32. The church was organized some time previous to 1888, by Rev. Geo. G, Sill.

Among the members was John Sutherland, Mrs. Christina Sutherland, Mrs. Mary Mat-
thews, John Pratz, Elias Wycoff, Wm. Webster, Miss Mary Wycoff, Mrs. Matthews.
The organization was dissolved years ago, and Mrs. Matthews is the only one of the

members now living there.

French Grrove Presbyterian Church.— Rev. A. Coffee, Rev. Wm. McCandlish, and
ruling elders Rice and Reynolds were appointed at Crow Meadows, September 22, 1852,

to visit Brimfield, French Grove, and Scotland, to examine the religious state of affairs,

and organize a church or churches, if the way was clear. The committee reported at

Princeville, April 15, 1853, that they had organized a church to be called the Church of

French Grove. The exact date of organization can not be ascertained. The licentiate,

John C. Hanna, supplied the pulpit one half of the time, and the church at Rochester as

often as consistent with his other engagements. Wm. Reed and John Coe are the pres-

ent elders. Rev. J. M. Boyd supplies the pulpit. The church is in a flourishing condi-

tion, having a membership of one hundred. The society has a large and prosperous
Sunday school, Mr. J. C. Coe, superintendent.

Swedenhorgian, or Church of New Jerusalem.— The first* meeting held by these

people was at the house of John Smith, Jr., on section 18. The meeting was addressed

by the eminent divine. Rev. John R. Hubbard, now of Detroit, Mich. After this, meet-
ings were held once a month. Either at this meeting or a subsequent one an association

was formed, consisting of the following members: John Smith, Jr., and wife, Gilbert

Arnold, Caleb North, G. P. Wycoff, and the Adams and Pulsifer families of Southport.

Deaths and removals have so depleted their ranks that they no longer hold meetings.

Schools.— The first school in Millbrook was taught by Caleb North, in a log house
12xlJ: feet, in the Winter of 1836-7, for which be received |10 per month.

Millbrook is divided into eight full school districts and two fractional union districts.

The citizens of the township manifest a zealous interest in their schools, as shown by
their flourishing condition and the liberal tax imposed to sustain them. The school

buildings are of a superior order, varying in cost from $600 to f4,500. Perhaps no town-
ship in Peoria county can exhibit a finer class of school-houses, or show a more liberal

taxation, in proportion to its wealth, for the support of their schools. The trustees of

the school fund for 1879 were : John Doyle, president ; E. L. Witlett and John Ma-
son ; S. H. Winchester, clerk and treas.

PRINCEVILLE TOWNSHIP.

Daniel Prince came to Princeville in 1822, and settled on section 24, built a log

cabin 14x14, being the pioneer of civilization in this part of the county. He was a

native of the northern part of Vermont. The first settler who moved his family into

the township was Stephen French, a native of Connecticut, who emigrated to Sanga-
mon county, 111., some time previous to 1828. He came to Peoria county and settled
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near Peoria that year, and soon afterwards became a resident of Princeville, and was
the first j'jstice of the peace and first postmaster in the place. Mr. French has a son,

Demmeck French, living in the township, who was the first white child born in the

county. The first school was taught in a log house near where Hitchcock & Voores'
mill now stands, by Miss Esther Stoddard. The first male teacher was Theodore F.

Hurd, now a successful merchant and farmer of Galva, 111. The first sermon was
preached by Rev. Robt. Stewart, a Presbyterian minister. The first death was that

of the father-in-law of Isaac Essex (name unknown). The first birth was a child in

Mr. S. French's family.

THE VILLAGE OP PRINCEVILLE

Is situated in the northern portion of the county, on section 13 of Princeville town-
ship, on the Peoria and Rock Island railroad, twenty-two miles from Peoria, and is a

flourishing town of about 900 inhabitants. It was laid out and named by Wm. C.

Stevens, on the 20th day of June, 1837, in the midst of a rich and fertile prairie.

The first store in Princeville was kept by Elisha Morrow, on block No. 9, (owned by
Thos. Morrow,) in a log building, where he remained about two years. Afterwards, Mr.
Wm. C. Stevens put in a small stock of goods—as he says—to hold the village together.

After the closing out of Morrow, Hitchcock & Rowley embarked in business in the same
building. They were afterwards succeeded by J. W. Gue, in 1851, "where he remained
a short time and then built the brick store now occupied by F. B. Blanchard, it being

the first brick store in the town.
About 1851, a man by the name of Gray commenced the grocery and notion trade,

but soon abandoned it. In the Summer of the same year, Eldridge & Parker built a

store room where the Eureka House now stands, and put in a stock of goods.

Among the present business men are F. B. Blanchard, William Simpson and Otto
Davidson, dry goods ; J-. H. Russell, Garrison & Fuller and Emmet lUingsworth, in gro-

ceries ; Peter Auten & Son, in banking ; Solomon Bliss and D. W. Herron, in drugs ;

(/. W. Russell, in hardware ; Valentine Weber, in boots and shoes ; James B. Ferguson,
in jewelry. There are two hotels in the place. The proprietors are J. G. Corbett, who
also has a livery, and Mrs. W. G. Selby. There is one meat market, by John D. Ham-
mer ; two cabinet shops, one by James Campbell, and the other, Hammer & May ; one
bakery and restaurant, by John Ayling ; one steam flouring mill, by Hitchcock & Voor-
hess ; two harness makers, O. F. Herrick and George Reimhart ; one attorney at law,

B. P. Duffy ; two millinery shops, Misses Bonton & Bohrer, and Misses Edwards & God-
frey ; E. H. Burgass is postmaster.

The Presbyterian Church at Princeville was organized as " The Prince's Grove
Church," August 16, 1834. The presiding ministers were Revs. Robert Stewart and
Theron Baldwin. The latter minister preached the first sermon at this time. The num-
ber of constituent members was seventeen. On May 16, nine months after the church

was organized, they secured the services of Rev. Calvin W. Balbitt, who was their first

minister. The meetings were held in the old logschool- house, situated near the site of

Voorhes & Hitchcock's steam grist mill, but this became too small. To get a church
building when they were so few (fourteen male members) and so poor, was a great under-

taking, but Thomas Morrow and Wm. C. Stevens stepped forward and pledged them-
selves that the church should be built. Mr. Blumb, of Peoria, was engaged to do the

carpenter work. The members of the church and community did much of the work, and
about 1844 the church was enclosed and dedicated. It was a good frame building, and
the first church bnilt in Princeville, and would seat two hundred and fifty persons. This

church was used by the society till September 6, 1866, when the present neat, commo-
dious and beautiful frame building was dedicated to the worship of God. At the dedica-

tion it was stated that the cost was |6,166, having been all paid by the church and its
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friends. To the honor of the ladies, be it recorded that the Ladies Mite Society of this
cbwrch gave $1,000. The present membership of this church (January, 1880,) is 126.
|lev. Samuel R. Belville is the minister in charge. Edward Auten is secretary and
treasurer. Trustees are, Josiah Morrow, Milton Cutler, William Simpson. The elders
are Wm. H. Wilson, George Rowcliff, Samuel Auten, who is also clerk of session.

Prinoeville Press.— The first paper published in Princeville was the Princeville
WeeUy Citizen, by G. T. Gillman, started in the Summer of 1868, and lasted six months.
The next venture was the Princeville Times, by C. A. Pratt, established in July, 1874,
and run four months. The next was the Princeville Independent, by J. E. Knapp, first

issued March 10, 1877. Changed hands September 29, 1877, J. G. Corbett becoming
editor. Changed again October 13, 1877, to the firm of J. G. Corbett & H. E. Charles,
as editors. October 18, 1878, the firm was changed to J. G. Corbett & P. C. Hull, edit-

ors, October 3, 1879, it was bought by the present proprietors, J. E. Charles and P. C.
Hull ; P. C. Hull, editor. It is now a permanent institution, with a rapidly increasing
circulation.

I. 0. 0. F., Diligence Lodge, No. 129, was organized at Princeville, on the 23d day of
August, 1853, with seven charter members viz : R. F. Henry, T. J. Russell Josiah Fash.
The first officers were : H. M. Barney, N. G. ; R. F. Henry, V. G. ; Milton Wilson, Rec.
Sec. The lodge meets over D. W. Herron's drug store. It has a membership of fifty.

The present officers are ; S. S. Coburn, N. G. ; Frank Stater, V. G. ; D. D. McDougall,
Rec. Sec. ; A. J. Pratt, Treas. ; C. W. Russell, Warden ; Joseph Lyman, Conductor.

MONICA

Is a flourishing little village in Princeville township, situated on the Buda branch
of the C, B. & Q. R. R., twenty-five or twenty-six miles northwest of Peoria. It was
laid out and platted on the 26th day of June, 1873, by S. S. Cornwell, a native of Duch-
ess county. New York, who emigrated to this county in 1838, and located on section 28,

where he still I'esides. The town was first named Cornwell, which was afterwards
changed to Monica. The Hon. Wm. J. Phelps gave it its name, after a Grecian princess.

The first store was built by Andrew D. Rogers, for hardware purposes. Then followed
H. P. Hanover, who erected a store building and opened out a stock of groceries and
boots and shoes.

Mt. Zion M. JS. Ohurch was organized in 1858. The first sermon was preached in

Nelson school-house, in district No. 8, by Rev. J, S. Millsap. The original members were
eighteen in number. Fifteen of the original members are still living. The first house of

worship was erected in 1867, on the southwest corner of section 20, a frame building,

32x46, and cost f2,208.20. It was removed to Monica in the Fall of 1877, and enlarged

and fitted up, at an expense of nearly $1,300. The present membership is eighty. The
officers are : John Nelson, Roger Cook, John Goodman, Reuben Deal, George Belford,

O. W. Cummings and Clark Hill, trustees; Phillip M. Nelson, George Belford, George
Campbell and C. W. Miller, stewards ; Clark Hill and E. C. Lincoln, class leaders. Rev.
S. Brink fills the pulpit.

The Monica Blue Bibhon Oluh was organized by the people of Monica and vicinity on
the 17th December, 1878, and has been the means of doing a great deal of good. The
first officers were, L.B.Martin, M. D., president ; W. E. Elliott, 1st vice-president;

D. D. Clark, 2d vice-president ; L. L. Campbell, secretary ; S. S. Cornwell, treasurer.

The membership is about one hundred and fifty good workers. The present officers are,

Joseph Motes, president; C. R. Coker, 1st vice-president; Mrs. M. Curtis, 2d vice-pres-

ident ; R. L. V. Deal, secretary ; S. S. Cornwell, treasurer.

Schools.— The present school building in Monica is a handsome frame structure,

22x44, two stories high, and was erected in the Fall of 1878. The cost of structure was
$2,100. The first teacher was T. C. Young. Average attendance of scholars is seventy.
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The present business men are : L. L. Campbell, dry goods ; Herrington, Herger &
Co., general merchandise ; B. B. Bowman & Co., hardware ; George Campbell, groceries ;

W. W. Hard, dealer in grain and live stock, who has an elevator of 48,000 bushels capac-
ity in the village ; A. D. Hutchinson, also grain ; M. A. Stowell, lumber ; P. R. Ford,
proprietor Monica House ; F. Fairfield, harness ; Joseph Gotz, boots and shoes ; Dr. D. F.
Duke, physician.

RADNOR TOWNSHIP.
[town ten north, range seven east.]

In early times the territory included in this township was attached to Kickapoo pre-

cinct for election and other purposes. Under the law providing for township organiza-

tion, the name Radnor was proposed for this municipality by Evan Evans, the first super-

visor, after Radnor, Pennsylvania, and Radnorshire, Wales, the home of his ancestors, and
the name was adopted.

To a man named Miller is ascribed the honor of building and occupying the first

cabin in this township. The Miller cabin was probably built about the latter part of 1832,

or early part of 1833 ; and until 1835, if he remained here that long, he was " monarch
of all he surveyed." In 1835, a number of persons came and founded homes.

Erastus Peat, Griffith Dickison, and some other members of the Dickison family,

were the next settlers after Miller, but the date of their settlement is not easily accessi-

ble. They probably came about 1834-5. John L. Wakefield moved over from Kickapoo
township about 1835-6, and located on section 18, his present homts. George D. Harlan,
the Dunlaps, Calvin Blake, Griffith Dickison, Daniel Corbert, Elihu Pratt, Daniel Robin-
son, Robert Cline, Jedediah Hitchcock, Moses Harlan, William Gifford, and Harvy Still-

man, came in 1837.

The first precinct election was held at the house of Alva Dunlap, on the northwest
quarter of section 14. Richard Scholes is reported as the first justice of the peace. The
first couple married was George McMillan and Miss Phoebe Hill. The first birth was in

the family of Henry Martin, on the southeast quarter of section 35, in 1836. The first

death was that of Henry Martin the same year. The first post office was known as Orange
Prairie, and was located at the residence of Enoch Huggins, who was the postmaster, on
section 36. That post office was discontinued some years since, and was succeeded by
the post office at Dunlap, Miss Frances Dunlap, postmistress. This is the only post office

in the township.
The first schools were taught in the Summer^of 1837, and were subscription schools.

These schools commenced almost simultaneously. One of them was taught by Miss Mary
Twitchell, in a log building on the Gifford place. The other school was taught by
Miss Phoebe Cline, in a small building on the Wakefield place, on section 18.

From the time of these primitive schools to the present, the educational interests have
not been allowed to languish. Schools were carefully and steadily maintained in every
neighborhood— in every part of the township where there were children enough to make
a school. Sometimes they were taught in rooms belonging to private houses, and some-
times in houses that had been vacated for better ones. At last the township was dis-

tricted, and public school-houses were built, until now there are nine as handsome school-

houses in Radnor township as in any other political division in the county. Each
district is composed of four sections, and the school-houses are located, as nearly as may
be, at the adjoining corners of these sections. They are all supplied with modern furni-

ture, and made as comfortable every way as possible. School is maintained about nine

months in each of them.
The earliest preaching was about 1837, by the Rev. Mr. Cunningham, of the M. E.

church. He visited here occasionally, and preached in the houses of the settlers. The
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first church edifice was erected on the land of Mr. A. Yates, in 1850. There are now
four church buildings, and as many congregations. Of these the Methodist people have
twci, the Presbyterians one, and the Catholics one.

TJie Grlendale Methodist Ohurch was erected in 1861, and is located on the corners of

sections 25, 26, 35, and 36. It is an appointment of the Kickapoo circuit, and is supplied

by the " circuit rider." The other Methodist congregation is known as

Salem Ohurch, and is located on the northeast quarter of the southeast quarter of

section 16. It is also an appointment of the Kickapoo circuit. Rev. C. W. Green has

preached to these congregations since the Conference appointments of 1878.

The Presbyterian and Catholic churches are located in the village of Dunlap, and
will be farther noticed in the sketch of that promising hamlet.

Industries.— Agriculture and stock-growing are the leading industries of the town-
ship. In these respects, and especially the former, it is more than an average with the

other townships of the county. The farms are all in good condition, and remuneratively
productive.

Coal Mining.— Although the entire township is underlaid with a rich deposit of

coal, only two banks have been opened- Both of these openings are in the southwest part

of the township and are the principal sources of fuel supply.

What is known as Evans' mill, on the east fork of Kickapoo creek, was built about
1842-3 by a man named Pierce. It is located on Sec. 29, and is the only mill in the

county driven by water power.

DUNLAP VILKAGB.

This village is located on the Peoria and Rock Island Railroad, fifteen miles north-

west from Peoria, and is an outgrowth of that railroad enterprise. The situation is a

commanding one, and is in the center of an agricultural district that is unsurpassed in any
part of the county. The village site embraces forty acres of Alva Dunlap's home place,

and was laid off by that gentleman in 1871.

The honor of building the first house in the village, belongs to Dr. John Gillett. He
commenced building in June, 1871, and completed and occupied the building with a

stock of drugs and groceries in October of the same year.

In the Fall of 1871 George W. Blake built a business house at the corner of B and Rail-

road Streets, and occupied it with a stock of groceries. H. I. Smith built a residence in the

Fall of 1871, and commenced the business of a blacksmith. Hugh Yates built a store

and residence combined on First Street in 1872. Miss Frances M. Dunlap commenced
the dry goods and notions trade in the post-office building at the corner of First and A
Streets in the Spring of 1876, wlhere she still continues. The post office of Dunlap was
established in September, 1871, with Miss Dunlap as postmistress, a position she still

holds. J. Kreaner commenced the tin and hardware business on First Street in 187 T.

A. Huber, the village shoemaker, added a stock of boots and shoes in the Fall of 1878.

Ben. C. Vaughan, blacksmith and wagonmaker, commenced business in 1872. The
Mathews' elevator was erected in 1877. David Smith's warehouse was re-constructed

and fitted up with elevator appliances the same year.

Schools and Churches.— The first school, after Dunlap was surveyed, was taught by
Miss Susan Rathburn in a small building just over the south line of the village plat, and
commenced in September, 1871. The school-house was built in 1877, and cost about
1900. The first prayer meeting was held at the residence of George W. Pyle, corner of

Third and B Streets, July 2, 1875.
The Preslyterian Church edifice at Dunlap is a graceful and elegant structure. Pre-

vious to the completion of this building, the Presbyterian people worshiped in a building

erected on the land of Mr. A. Yates, in 1850. The Catholic house of worship was
erected in 1879.
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RICHWOODS TOWNSHIP.

Richwoods is situated in the eastern portion of Peoria county, joining Peoria town-
ship on the north. Was so called by its first inhabitants because of its heavy timber of
sugar maple, elms, walnuts and oak, and when the township organization was effected

the name was retained.

It has within its limits Springdale Cemetery, containing one hundred and seventy
acres of land, beautifully situated on the bluff overlooking Peoria Lake and the Illinois

river. The county fair grounds— Jefferson Park— is also in this township. Mr.
William German was the first settler of the township. He came in 1832 and located on
Sec. 29. Later in the same year came Thomas Essex, a native of Virginia, and settled

on the same section. In 1833 Benjamin Slane, Marginus Belford, and William Nixon,
came and settled on Sec. 27.. Mr. Slane remained but a short time, then removed to

Prince ville township. He was the first supervisor from that township. Also later in

1833 Stephen Carroll, Levi McCormick, and a man by the name of Barton, settled in the
township. In 1834 Josiah Fulton and family removed from Peoria. The first marriage
was Charles Ballance, of Peoria, to Miss Julia Snebly, in 1835. The first death was Mr.
Stephen Carroll's father. The first minister was Rev. Isaac Keller, who preached in a
log school-house on Sec. 27, in 1835. Nathan Giles immigrated to the township in 1836

;

was a native of Oneida county, N. Y. John Berket of Lancashire, England, came to the
county in 1836. Smith Frye came from Washington county, Penn., in 1834 ; was an
active, influential man. Wa|S elected sheriff of the county in an early day. Mr. Frye
was killed by a pistol shot at the stock yards in Peoria, in 1860, by a man named Carroll.

Benjamin Lusk settled in the township in 1834. He was from Duchess county, N. Y.,

has two sons living in the township. John Heines also came as early as 1834. He was
born in Frederick county, Va. In 1833 William 0. Stringer settled on Sec. 8, and was
amonsj the earliest settlers of the township.

Schools.— In 1851 the Snebly and Chauncey wood school-house was built, being the

first frame building used for school purposes in the township, (previous to that log cabins

were used,) eighteen by twenty-four feet, and cost 1400. The next was the Stringer

school-house in the northern part of the town, in 1853, at a cost of about $400, which is

still standing and occupied for school purposes. The next was the brick house on
section 28, known as the Fulton school-house, which was pulled down and a fine building

erected in 1858, on section 33, in its stead, known as the Jackson, or Yates school-house,

at a cost of #1,000. In 1853 the Spears school-house was erected, a brick building,

eighteen by twenty-four, and cost $400. It was afterwards abandoned, and the district

being divided up, there has been two houses erected, one known as the Louks, and
the other the Sipp. They are frame buildings costing about |600 each. In the northwest
corner of the township a frame building was erected, known as the Snebly and Johnson
school-house, costing about $500. In the year of 1865 or '66, there was a frame
building erected on section 15, on the Illinois Bottoms, known as the Littleton school-

house, and cost about $400. The Hines school-house was built in 1872, on section 28,

and cost $500. The schools are in a flourishing condition, always pay very good prices

for teachers, and having sessions of six to nine months a year.

ROSEFIELD TOWNSHIP.

This township first was settled about the year 1833, by Amos Stevens, who located at

the Kickapoo Forks, and built the first log cabin and broke the first prairie. Winney
Rynearson and a brother of A. Stevens came in shortly after. John and David Combs,
Lewis Cooledge, and Wm. Mixon came in 1835 ; Benjamin Miller and Joseph Bohrer a



616 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

year later. The first church was a Methodist, organized in 1837. The first school-house

was built ou section 8, in 1838,; 'Roswell Smith was the first teacher in the school-house;

but the first school was. held in a private house, taught by Martha Miller, daughter of

Benjamin Miller, in the year 1837. The township is generally broken, except in the

southwest corner, where some beautiful farms and good substantial farmers are to be

found.

OAK HILL.

The village of Oak Hill is situated on the C, B. & Q. R. R., about twenty miles

from Peoria, in Rosefield township. It was laid out and platted by Joseph Bohrer and
Wm. M. Dodge, in 1855. Mr. Bohrer was born in Frederick county,Va., on the 9th day
of May, 1805. Was married February, 1829, to Harriet Dawson, and lived in Morgan
county, Va., until 1836, when he emigrated to Illinois and located in Rosefield township.

There is at present three general stores, one owned and occupied by A. Y. Forney, who
commenced business in 1865, who also has been postmaster about the same length of

time. Mr. Jacob Dawson has been in business since the C, B. & Q. passed through,

most of the time dealing in stock and grain ; but at present in the mercantile business.

W. W. Miller owns and occupies one of the stores. He came to the township among the

earliest settlers. There is one church (Methodist) ; a good school building ; two black-

smith shops and one warehouse.
In 1865 the camp ground of the M. E. Church was bought by the Peoria district,

where thousands of people congregate yearly to worship. It is situated a short distance

northwest of town, in a beautiful grove, and has a fine spring of water on the ground.
Oak Hill Church.—In 1837 or '38, the first M. E. Church was organized on section

14, and known as the Combs meeting-house. Since that time the church has

gone to decay. The church at Oak Hill was organized in 1845, and held their meetings
in a school-house until 1858, when they erected a church edifice under the supervision

of Rev. G. R. Palmer, and at that time had a membership of about sixty. The board of

officers were Cutten Dawson, Daniel Brown, Austin Nixon, Jacob Gunth, Isaac Weth-
rell, W. W. Miller, A. Dawson ; and building committee, Austin Nixon, W. W. Miller,

J. Dawson ; class leader was A. Nixon, after the new church was built. The cost of

building was $1,200. Rev. C. W. Green has charge of the church, and is doing a good
work. Has a school building 28x36, 16 feet C, and the attendance is forty. School is

conducted by Miss Ida Burt.

The Methodist Church at Texas.— This church was organized in Rosefield township,

in 1854, and is known as the Wrigley Church. The original members were ten in num-
ber. The first class leader was Joseph Dunn. Trustees were Robert Wrigley and Henry
Robins. The first pastor was J. M. Snyder. For the first few years the society wor-

shiped in a brick school-house. Their present church was built some time about 1860,

a frame building, 26x34 feet, and will accommodate between 200 and 250. It cost $1,600.

Rosefield M. U. Church.— The first Methodist class within the vicinity of the pre-

sent church edifice was formed in 1844, or perhaps a year or two earlier with twelve

original members. The first church edifice was built in 1854 ; and in 1874 was abandoned
and a new church erected across the road, costing $1,650, and was dedicated by Rev. R.

N. Morse. Although the building is not large, it is however, neat and attractive, and

the church is free from debt. The house is supplied with a good organ. At the present

time the membership is twenty-four. Nelson Shepherd is class leader and Sunday school

superintendent ; John Yinger, steward ; and these with John VanAnsdall, trustees. The
pastors have been the same as at Pleasant Grove with few exceptions, prior to 1850.

Rosefield Farmer's Mutual Fire and Lightning Insurance Company. — This corpor-

ation is composed of the resident farmers of the towns of Rosefield, Elmwood, Trivoli and

Logan, who organized themselves together under the State laws enacted March 24, 1874,
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for the purpose of mutual protection against loss or damage by fire or lightning. The first

election occurred on the 6th of March, 1875, when the following Board of Directors was
chosen : J. H. Hart, James Richardson, S. S. Glasgow, N. Huffman, Thomas Lapsley,

A. J. McFarland, John Yinger, J. J. Harding and Thomas Clinch. On March 13, fol-

lowing, the directors elected J. H. Hart, president, Thomas Clinch, treasurer, and O. B.

Green, secretary. At the date of organization the schedule of property upon which policies

were issued aggregated sixty-three thousand dollars. The business office of the company
is located at the school-house of District No. 3 in Logan township, Peoria county.

TIMBER TOWNSHIP.

Timber township forms the extreme southern point of the county, and was originally

chiefly covered with timber. The north part is rolling ; the southern part is bottom
lands. The Toledo, Peoria & Warsaw railroad, passes across the lower portion, and
opens to market some valuable lands. Timber township is settled by an industrious and
energetic class of citizens, who have made some of the best farm improvements in Peoria
county. It is well watered and rolling, and is well adapted to stock and grain raising.

One of the old settlers asserts that they have not had a failure in crops for forty-five

years. It is claimed that a man by the name of Daniel Hinkle was the first settler in

the township.
Benjamin Duffield immigrated to Timber township from Nicholas county, Va., in the

Spring of 1832, where he died the following year. He married Miss Elizabeth Shock,
of Shenandoah county, Va., by whom he had seven children, five boys and two girls.

Mrs. G. has been in the township over forty-seven years. She married Samuel A. Glass-
ford, a native of Ohio, who came to the county in 1842.

Mr. G. laid out the town of Glassford, December 9, 1868. The first name given to

it was Glascoe, but it was afterwards changed for the reason that there was another town
by that name in the State. The town contains two general stores, one Baptist church,
a good school-house, two blacksmith shops, one flouring and saw mill, two shoemaker
shops, a warehouse and one wagonmaker shop.

The first school-house, says Mrs. G., was a small log building near Dry, Run, 16x18,
with greased paper for windows. The benches were made of slabs turned flat side up
with pins for legs. Here some of the best people in the township got their education.

. The first church erected was at Lancaster, by the M. E. society, which has since

been moved to Coperas creek, and is now used by the Christian Union. The*first meet-
ing' was held at Wm. Eyman's, one mile above Kingston.

John Congeton immigrated to the county in 1835. In the Spring of 1886, there was
an ejection at the house of Wm. Duffield ; he Was appointed as one of the judges of elec-

tion, and the whole number of votes cast was seven. Daniel Hinkle was not only the
first settler in Timber, but the first justice of the peace.

Col. A. L. Fahnenstock came to the county in 1837, from Adams county, Pa., and
located at Lancaster. lu 1856, he embarked in the mercantile business in Lancaster

;

afterwards removed to Glassford, where he handles a large stock of general merchandise.
He has held several local offices ; was county treasurer two years. He entered the army
as captain and was commissioned as colonel, but not mustered. Charles Fahnenstock,
son of the colonel, is also engaged in the same business.

.Wm. H. Davis, has one of the flnest flouring mills, outside of Peoria, in the county,
equipped with the latest improvements. It was erected in 1872, and cost #17,000. There
is also a saw mill worked by the same power, which cost about $3,000.

Lancaster is situated on section 17, and was laid out by Samuel F. Bollinger. Since
the railroad passed through^the township the business has gone chiefly to Glassford.

45
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Kingston, formerly Palmyra, is situated on the Illinois river, and was laid out by
James Monroe. The chief business is coal mining.

TRIVOLI TOWNSHIP.

Is situated in the south part of the county, and is among the best townships in the

county, taking into consideration the quality of the land, the improvements, its citizens,

and the material advantages it possesses as to proportion of timber, prairie, water, etc.,

etc. Its farmers are generally old settlers who have by years of toil, not only improved
its lands, but have erected fine dwellings. The first settler in the township was Isaac

Harkness, who came in 1830 and located in the north part of the township. The fol-

lowing year (1831) came Levi Harkness, Gardner Gilbert and wife, and about the same
time Samuel Emery, Sr., Robert McConnell, Methiah Bourne came. In 1832 Samuel
Clark and wife, and Benjamin W. Crane and wife came, and in 1834 came John Hiatt,

Eli Wilson, son and wife, settled in the township. In 1835 several other families fol-

lowed, among them we find Curtis Cady and wife. Page Hiatt and wife, David R. Gregory
and wife, and Samuel M. Mack. In succeeding years the town filled up rapidly. The
first physican was Lewis A. Hunneford, who followed his profession for a number of

years. The first preacher was Peter Bourne. The first school-house was built on section

4, near the residence of Isaac Harkness. The first teacher was Miss Sarah Waters, and was
paid by subscription. The first church organization was at the Harkness school-house,

and the first preacher there was Rev. Samuel Emery, a Methodist. The first post-

master was Robert McConnell, and the first store building was erected by David A.
Gove, and run by Milo Smith. Blacksmith shop was built in 1834 in the southwest
part of town by Henry A. Green. The first hotel was kept by M. Bourne.

THE VILLAGE OP TKIVOLI

is situated in the township of Trivoli, eighteen miles due west of the city of Peoria, and
has about two hundred inhabitants. The town was laid out about 1840 or '41. The
business men at the present writing are as follows: Blacksmiths, J. F. Bourne, John
Fletcher and John Greenhalgh ; boot and shoemaker, Sharron Schilling ; carpenter,

James Callahan ; harness and collars, Jacob Linck ; justices of the peace, James Johnson
and James Tyler

; grist mill, Geo. Briber; physicians, A. J. Graham and W. C. Bonvard;
one newspaper, Trivoli S., James Johnson, editor ; two general stores, one M. E. church
and one school building. It does a considerable local trade, and to make it a place of

prominence it only needs railroad facilities, which are now contemplated and undoubtedly
a year or two will bring.

Brunswick Presbyterian Church, of Trivoli Township.—About the year 1833, there

came from Virginia a few families of Presbyterian parentage and training by the name of

Ramsay, and located in the southwest part of Trivoli township, in the timber skirting the

beautiful but then neglected and despised prairie land. These were after a short time
followed by other friends from their native State.

These people had plain homes, plain food, plain clothing and plain preaching. Qy
1840 other families having moved into the community, a missionary, then in the employ
of the Old School Presbyterian Church, came into the community duly pursuing his

calling, and was encouraged to gather these people into one organization, which was
effected on September 19, 1840, by the missionary. Rev. Geo. G. Sill and Rev. Abraham
D. Wilson, of the Protestant Dutch Church, and the church was known as the Protestant

Dutch Church of Coperas.
The place of organization was the house of Robert Ramsey, and ten persons com-

posed the church as organized. Thomas Ramsey and George Walls were chosen to the
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eldership and duly installed. In the two following years several more members were added.
The services were mostly held in a school-house on the farm now owned by John Yerion.

The erection of the present and only church building was begun by laying the corner

stone on November 23, 1844, by Rev. George G. Sill, and it appears that it was ready for

occupancy the same year, the basement being stone, the second story frame, and valued
at |2,(300 with grounds.

In 1844 a post office was established and named Brunswick and the name of the

church was changed accordingly. This church has for many years joined with the Salem
Presbyterian Church in the support of the same minister. The present membership is

eighty. A Sabbath school has been sustained here since 1842. A prayer meeting and
Woman's Foreign Mission Society are in existence. Their present pastor is Wm. King,

who has labored with them for some years.

JEvangelieal Lutheran St. John's Qhurch.— The constitution was adopted and signed

October 27, 1849, with seventeen original members. Jacob Scherer, pastor. On the

27th day of May, 1855, the name of the church was changed to Zion Evangelical

Church of Trivol.

The first officers of the church were as follows : Henry Frank, elder, and Patrick

Gilbrath, as deacon, who were inaugurated October 28, 1849. On the 26th of June,

1850, the following brothers were elected : Henry Erford, as elder, and Christian Shirk,

as deacon, and was inaugurated June 30, 1850. They have a comfortable frame build-

ing, 30x44 feet, and cost about $1,600.
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STATTSTICS OF THE POPtTLATION OP PBOEIA COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BY TOWNSHIPS, PBOM
CENSUS OF 1860 AND 1870.

Townships.

Akron
Brimfield'

Chillicothe...

Elmwood
Elmwood City
Hallock
HoUis

1866. 1870.

1,107 1. 1 83
1,102 1,547
663 1,486

1,178 934
1.476

1,060 1,094

716 980

Townships.

Jubilee
Kickapoo.
Logan
Limestone
Medina ..

Millbrook
Peoria

i860. 1870.

802 837
1,265 1,440
1.355 1.065

1,663 2,302

930 905
1,024 1.075

794

Townships.

Peoiia City
Princeville

.

Rosefield ..

Richwoods
Radnor
Trivoli

Timber

i860.

1.234

1,090

997
1,109

1,617

1.530

1870.

22,849

1,335
1,108

1,239

948
1.834

1,707

AGRICULTUBAL STATISTICS OF PEORIA COUNTY FOE 1879.

Townships.

Akron
Brimfield .

Chillicothe

Elmwood .

Hallock ..

HoUis....
Jubilee
Kickapoo .

Limestone
Logan
Medina
Millbrook

.

Peoria
Princeville

Radnor
Richwoods
Rosefield .

Timber...
Trivoli

t'.'H Total.

Horses.

No.

634
922
316
930
539
289
635
604

699
710
492
819

1,063

688

784

449
627
517

754

Value.

$18,030

27,590
6,612

29,380
16,033
6,280

13.163

15.560

24.584

24.345
14.325

19.478

36,975
15.385

17.130
12,130

16,030

13.465

21.450

Neat Cattle.

No.

1.453
1.407

371
1,669

1.251

5"
1,366

1,493
1,421

1,418

1.094
1,528

6.962

1,396

1,767
1,118

1,267

817
1,565

Valu

$14,099
14,480

2,615

19,420
15,269

4,221

11,858

11,767

11,558

13.885

9,833
17.646

85,135

11,951

15,655

9.340
11,050

7,528

14,127

Mules&Asses.

No. Value.

$ 715
1.645

595
2.185

1,110

695
250
830

1.770
1,150

1.157

755
I,OIO

635
665
600

2,172

975
1.550

Sheep.

No.

201

228

431
138

193
238

143
192

540
767
27

238

50
208

I.125

20
266
661

224

Value.

$ 423
232
220
140

97
179
127

187
612

797
27

239
50

218

1,125
20

230
703
238

No,

Hogs. ^alue of

Value. Ag. Mac. Total.

2,815

2,245

527
2,108

1,894

1,054

1.793
1,906

2.346

4.547
1.531
2,566

207
2.333
3.070
1,131

2,114
2,210

3.835

$5,114
4,361

540
3,535
2.074
1,101

1,648

1.761

2,599
6,144
2,304

4.844

455
3,307
2,905
1,180

2,718

2.461

4.379

$3-144
5.765

245
6,170
4,080
885

1,086

1.965

3.146

4.395
2,540
3,640

4,243

4.955
3.927
1.340

2.175

1,292

2,659

$41,525
54.073
10,827

60,830

38.663

13.361

28,132

32.070

44,269
50,716

30,186

46,602
127,868

36,441

41,407
24,610

34,375
26,424

44,403

12,471 $347,945 29.874 $301,437 713 $20,464 5,900 $5,854 40,232 $53,430 $57.652 $786.788

AGRICULTURAL STATISTICS OF PEORIA COUNTY FOR 1879.

Townships.

Akron
Brimfield..

Chillicothe

-

Elmwood..
Hallock...
HoUis
Jubilee
Kickapoo..
Limestone .

Logan
Medina
Millbrook .

Peoria
Princeville

Radnor
Richwoods
Rosefield .

.

Timber ...

Trivoli

Total

Acres in Cultivation.

Wheat.

449
503
153
600

198

765
119
138

396
512

407
827

545
252
205
202

1,596

634

8501

Corn.

9.436
11,122

.3.721

6.877

6,276

2,204

4.005

4.725

4.515

5.894

5,037
8,691

194
7,120

7,362

2.773

5.704

3.845

9,386

108,887

Oats.

2,448

2,371

764
1,310

1,524

435
1.243

1,358

1,203

2,189

1,296

1,885

43
1.713

2,442

757
1,288

1.036

1.905

27,210

Oth'r Field
Products.

452
496
105

794
277

745
478
678

2,063

764
159
286

25

637
625
412

1,014

671
223

10,904

Meadow.

2,366

1.657
182

1,811

1.638

591

996
1,864

1.749
1,308

1,408

1,609

131

971
2,821

2,168

1,109

1,69?

1.755

27.826

Enclosed
Pasture.

Acres.

2,449
2,982

361

2,414
1,301

1.351

776
3,100
562

1,668

1,189

3.503

279
2,470

4.645

2,791
1,006

1,092

2,535

36,474

Orchards

Acres,

211

215
60

408
180

194
82
187
203
176

135
122

54
161

289
310
I63

802
278

3,630

Wood-
land.

364
138
124

3630
3.625
501

1,402
602

1.943

3,310

1,509
180

1,062

720
1,356

3,768

5.440
. 2,579

32.253

Total
Value of
Lands.

$588,660

635.310
112,260

399,960
306,054

190,590

339.302
314.525

•

454.097
401,990
389.551
405,665

464.937
510,679

434.439
404,300
289,525
216,678

501,130

$7,359,652
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PEORIA CITY.

Abel G«o. policeman, res. 606 N. Washington street.
Ackerman DeWttt B. plasterer, res. Spring street.
Adams John H. carpenter, 605 Hulburt street.
Adams 8. T. engineer, 802 S. Washington street.
AdllDgton £. 1i. route agent, res. 117 North street.

AIKEN MAfCK MOKBIIiL, real estate

dealer, 1 16 N. Washington street, is the son of Nathan-

iel and Susannah (Morrill) Aiken. He was born in

Deering, Hillsboro count;, New Hampshire, June 2i,

i8o8. His great-grandfather, Edward Aiken, emigrated

from the north of Ireland to Londonderry, New Hamp-
shire, about 1722. He had three sons, Nathaniel, James

and William. Nathaniel had five sons, Edward, John,

James, Thomas and William. The latter settled in

Deering, New Hampshire. He married Betsy Wood-

burn. She was the daughter of David Woodburn. David

Woodburn and wife were the maternal grandparents of

Horace Greeley. One daughter, Betsy, married William

Aiken ; another daughter, Mary, married Zaccheus

Greeley, from whom Horace Greeley was descended.

The offspring of William Aiken and Betsy Woodburn

was Nathaniel Aiken. He married Susannah Morrill.

There were five children as the fruit of this marriage,

Mark M. Aiken being the first. He bears his mother's

patronymic for his middle name. He received a com-

mon school education. In th^ same class with him was

a boy who has since made a noise in the theological

world— Rev. Parker Pillsbury. When he was six-

teen years old, he began to look about for employ-

ment. He had a. maternal tincle in New York city,

who visited his father every Summer. He took a fancy

to Mark, and told him if he would come to New York

he would get'him something to do. Mark was reported

to be a good scholar, and he took a certificate from the

select men of the town of Deering, giving a list of his

qualifications, and their opinion of his character.

Armed with this, on the 17th of March, 1824, he and

his uncle called upon the Harper Bros., the well known
printing firm. It consisted then of but two members,

James and John. Mark presented his certificate and

they read it over and laughed at it, and set him at work

reading a book on political economy. This was his

examination. It proved satisfactory. The Harpers

then said he could come on trial, and if he proved

satisfactory he could be indentured. He went to board

with.John Harper. He stayed with them until 1830,

and then his health failed. They fitted him out with a

lot of books and sent him to Charleston, South Caro-

lina. He sold the books and returned. In 1832, he

started a job, office at 54 Liberty Street, New York city.

Here he found Horace Greeley. As they were re-

motely related they struck up a sort of partnership,

Greeley canvassed for jobs, and Aiken did the work,

and paid him a commission. This continued until

1833, and then Aiken sold out his office. Greeley took

part of it, and a man by the name of S. D. Childs,
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whose son is now a wood engraver in Chicago, bought

the other part. Childs had married Mark's eldest sis-

ter. It was a losing venture for Mark because Childs

never paid. Then Aiken took a lot of copies of a

medical work by A. Sidney Doane, a professor in the

New York Medical College, and started West. He
stopped at the principal towns and sold the book. He
went to Pittsburg, and from there to St. Louis by

steamer. While running his job office, he had printed

a catalogue for the Western Land Co. of the Military

Tract, 111. He had acquired one or two patents in pay-

ment for his work, and so he concluded to run up the

river and see about it. Dr. Berrien, an Episcopal cler-

gyman of the city of New York, had a large list of land,

or a plat, that he thought was located in Peoria. Mark
was instructed to give this to his agent, a man by the

name of Capt. Howard. He took the steamer Cham-

pion, and landed here the 28th of October, 1833. Here

he went into the land business, and, in 1836, formed, a

partiiership with the late Geo. C. Bestor. This con-

tinued until 1840. Since then he has been alone. The
only offices he has ever held are school inspector, com-

missioner for condemning and opening streets, assessor

for two years in 1834, internal revenue inspector for

two years, and he is now finishing his second term as a

member of the board of health. In politics he has

always been an anti-slavery radical. He voted for

John Quincy Adams for President in 1832, and acted

with the Abolitionists until the Republican party was

formed. He voted that ticket up to the nomination of

Horace Greeley, when he voted for Greeley. Mr.

Aiken's mental abilities are still unimpaired. He has

always been an earnest lover of liberty, and his benev-

olence is known far and wide. He gave the ground

on which the First Methodist church stands. He and

Asahel Hale owned it together. They made a dona-

tion of it to the church. Mr. Aiken is a firm believer

in helping people help themselves. More than one

man owes his success in life to the sympathy, wise coun-

sel, and practical sense that Mr. Aiken gave him. In

this respect he has been emphatically guide, counsellor

and friend to multitudes.

ALBERTS BENJAMIN, saloon, 112 S.

Washington street. Was born on the 17th day of May,

1839, in New Orleans, La. Left there in 1S42, went to

Cincinnati, Ohio, where he remained twenty-two years,

from thence to Lexington, Ky., and remained two years,

thence to Terre Haute, Ind., and remained nine years.

Came to Peoria in 1873. Married Josie Kemper, Jan.

21, 1880 ; has been in business for himself in Peoria

one year. Politics, Democrat.

ALBRECHT HENRY, druggist, 11 1 S.

Washington street. Son of Henry and Elizabeth

(Kunz) Albrecht, natives of Switzerland, where the sub-

ject of this sketch was born (at Zurich) on the 13th day

of December, 1842, and received a good education. In

1864 came to America and settled in Peoria ; embarked

in the grocery business, but finding it hard to get along

on account of the language, went into an American

family and learned the language ; afterward embarked

into the drug business, which he has made a success.

Carries a full line drugs, paints, oils, lamps, and notions

usually kept in a first-class drug store, and is one of the

largest retail dealers in the city. Married Miss Cath-

erine Sing ; she was born in Tazewell county, 111.. April

I, 1844; they have three children, Louisa, Nellie, and

Lillie. Members of the German M. E. Church.

Alexander Chas. res. 211 Birket street.
Allen D. B. county surveyor, res. 200 S. Orange street.

J. R. R. boards PeoriaALLEN JOHN, P. T.

,

house.

Allen John C. bricklayer. 621 Hulburt street.
Allison G. grain buyer, res. 1718 S. Adams street.

ALLISON ALEXANDER (deceased),

carriage manufacturer, res. 809 Fayette street, was born

in Ontario county, N. Y., on the 17th day of Decem-

ber, 1825 (was the son of Joseph and Martha Allison).

Came to Peoria county about 1844, and engaged in the

blacksmith business, and afterwards engaged in the

manufacturing of carriages (He died Nov. 24,1873).

Was a niember of the Universalist Church, and a con-

sistent Christian, and was loved and respected by all

who knew him. Married Miss Caroline Jeffers, daugh-

ter of Jesse and Jane Jeffers. Her mother corning to

this county as early as May, 1833, was one of the seven

who formed the first Presbyterian Church in Peoria, of

which she was a member until her death, which occurred

July 10, 1852. There were six children of her mother's

family, two of whom are living, Mrs. Theodore Adams,

of Philadelphia, and Mrs. Allison. Mrs. A. says there

were only five frame houses in the city when they first

came, and the prairie dogs made the nights hideous

with their howling.

Altmans J. G. painter. 402 Maple street.
Anderson C. M. res. 110 S. Monroe street.
Anderson H. G. sawyer, res. 210 Moss street.

ANDERSON J. F. house raiser, no S. Monroe

street.

Arbers F, baker, 523 Main street.

ARCHCRAFT & HURFF, produce dealers.

Archdale Amelia, res. HowetC near Pope street.
Arends H. L. res. 807 Sixth street.
Arends H. laborer. 301 George street.
Arends J. G. grocer, 1213 S. Adams street.

'

ARMFIELD JOSEPH, teaming, 123 Main

street, was born in Burlington, Iowa, April 3, 1846.

His father* was a native of North Carolina. He was

raised, attended school, and afterwards engaged in team-

ing business in his native city, coming to Peoria in 1862.

On coming, he started his present business, ai d has con-

tinued it without a break ; has four teams constantly
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employed, and does the largest express business in the

city. He married in Quiiicy, 111., in the Winter of l866

Sarah Layman, a native of Quincy, by whom he has

had five children, four now alive , Mary, Susan. Ida,

and Frank. Mrs. Armfield is a member of the M. E.

Church.

ArnholttGeo. teamster, res. 1518 S. Wa.ihlngton street,
Arnlioltt Henry, laborer, res. 1506 S. Adams street.

ARNOLD Dr. JOHN D. (deceased), was

born in the town of Collins, in the State of New York,

June 8, 1820; studied medicine at BufTalo, N.Y. ; at-

tended for a considerable time the New York College

of Surgeons, and finally graduated at Alleghany Medi-

cal College at Meadville, Pa. He commenced the

practice of medicine at Springville, N. Y., with Dr.

Emmons. In the Spring of 1847 he emigrated to Gal-

veston, Texas, remaining there but one year, when he

removed to Peoria and resumed the practice of medi-

cine, soon establishing an extensive and lucrative prac-

tice. In 1854 the Doctor was elected to the State Sen-

ate, where he served four years with general acceptance

to his constituency. In 1859 he was elected mayor of

this city, and served for one year, his administration of

public affairs always being conservative and prudent,

with enough of energy to keep matters moving. In

1861 he was appointed consul to St. Petersburg by
President Lincoln, leaving for his post in May of that

year. His close application to his profession had im-

paired his health, and made great encroachments upon
his vigorous constitution. The rigorous climate of St.

Petersburg proved too severe for his health, and after

close confinement to his apartments during the severity

of a Russian Winter, he recovered sufficiently to return

home in the Spring of 1862 in very feeble health, was
very soon confined to his bed, and after a lingering ill-

ness of some three months, died in April, 1863. In

politics the Doctor was a Whig, and when the Whig
party went down he joined his political fortunes with

the Republicans. He was of a lively social turn of

mind, and enjoyed the friendship, esteem, and confi-

dence of all with whom he came in contact. He was

a man of quick perception, great energy and persever-

ence.

Artbur M. city express, res. 714 Hale street.
Atwooa A. nnltea States storekeeper, res. 1109 N.Adams street.

ASH FRANK W. sign writer and painter, res.

20g N. Adams street, is the oldest of three children of

Horace F. Ash an4 Nancy Garrett, and was born in

Springfi"ld, 111., on July 14, 1844. His mother died

when he was but four years old, and he lived chiefly

with his grandfather Garrett during childhood and

youth ; came to Peoria first with his uncle Auren Gar-

rett in 1854, whose father was a very early settler in

Peoria county. Soon after the first call for troops he

enlisted in the 8th 111. Inf., but being a minor his

grandfather secured his discharge at the end of three

months. In the Fall of 1862 he again enlisted in Co.

A, 77th Reg., I. V. I., and served till the close of the

war ; was discharged in July, 1865. He participated

in some ten battles under Gen. Grant. Attended

school one term after returning home, then went

into the painting business. On Nov. 10, 1872, mar-

ried Alice Doyle, in Pekin, who was born in Louis-

ville, Ky. ; settled for six months in Bloominglon,

III., thence removed to Pekin for a short time, and

came to Peoria in April, 1874. Their family consists

of two sons, Frank ^Martin, born Nov. 10, 1873, and

Augustus Auren, born Sept. 10, 1875. Mr. A.'s father

was a man of extraordinary mental powers, and though

dependent entirely upon his own efforts, attained to the

position of treasurer of the State of Illinois ; and was,

at the time of his son's birth, filling the office of assist-

ant auditor of State.

ATWOOD W. W. superintendent of th;

Grange Co-operative store, 22g S. Washington street,

son of H iram and Aurilla (Douglass) Atwood ; mother

a native of Connecticut, and father of Vermont. In

1819 father went to McComb county, Michigan, where

the subject of this sketch was born on the loth day of

April, 1836 ; was reared on a farm and received a com-

mon school education, also attended commercial school

one term, which gave him a fair knowledge of business.

Came to Peoria county in 1855, and immediately com-

menced manufacturing bottled beer, or pop, and con-

tinued in the same for five years. Afterwards com-

menced the boot and shoe trade and carried that on

three years. Thence on a farm eight miles from Peoria

on the Knoxville road, and in 1878 came to Peoria and

took charge of the grange store. Married Miss Margaret

Frye, daughter of Smith Frye, one of the prominent

men in the county. She was born in this county March

21, 1839. The fruit of this marriage is ten children,

viz. . Charles, George, Mary, Smith, Willie, Douglass,

Henry, Percy, Aurilla, and Phceba.

Auker A. res. 1231 N. Monroe street.

AUMER JOHN, grocer, 823 N. Monroe

street, was born Feb. 16, 1830, in Germany ; emi-

grated to the United States in 1855, and located in

Baltimore, where he remained three years ; thence to

Chicago, 111., and remained a short time ; thence to

Peoria and worked at the baker business ; engaged in

the grocery business in 1870. In 1858 married Miss

Mary Miller, by whom there are two children, one boy

and one girl. They are both members of the Catholic

Church. They have succeeded in business and have

several fine houses and lots.

Austin L. Mrs. 305 Oak street.

AVERY G-ILMAN W. furniture manu-

facturer and dealer, Nos. 114, 116, 118 and 120 Main

street, was born in Greenfield, N. H., March 14,

1835. Parents were Amos and Lydia Avery, nee Evans,
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both natives of that State. Mr. A. is the sixth of a

family of six sons and four daughters : was educated in

the common schools and at Kimball academy, Meriden,

N. H.; went to Missouri when twenty years old and

engaged in teaching ; after earning some money re-

turned to New Hampshire and attended school for a

time, then went hack to Missouri and taught school, in

all three years. January i8, i860, he married Ellen

Haywood in Jaffrey, N. H., and came West ; engaged

in general merchandising, including furniture, in Leb-

anon, Mo., in August, 1861 ; left there in 1862 to

escape violence at the hands of the rebels, and came to

Illinois, losing their entire property of nearly $15,000

value. After two years spent in same business elsewhere,

settled in Peoria in 1864, and forming a partnership

with F. J. Comstock, established the present business on

a limited scale, which has grown to large and increas-

ing dimensions under his judicious and energetic m.nn-

agement. His marital union has resulted in three

"children, two living, Frank E., born July 21, 1861, and

Fred H. born Aug. i, 1873 ; Granville died at five years

of- age. Mr. A. having started in life with no cash

capital, and once lost the results of several years' labor,

his years have been full of struggle and hard work, but

have yielded flattering results, due largely to close at-

tention to details, and the assistance of a true helpmate,

who, with a fine education, combined diligence in

business. Mr. A. has served the city in the Board of

Alderman. Himself and wife are members of the

Baptist Church.

AXMAN & SALZENSTEIN, hides, pelts,

wool and furs. III Main street. This business was

started under present firm name in 1873, and was con-

tinued till 1876, when for about one and a half years

it was conducted by Mr. Michael Salzenstein individu-

ally, till May, 1878, when his former partner again

came into the firm. Hides and wool are their |)rincipal

articles of trade. Buying from farmers and country

dealers, they cure the hides and ship them to Chicago,

Cincinnati, Hartford, Conn., and New York. The
basement of their building is used for curing pui-poses,

at which they employ from two to six men, since they

do much the largest hide business in the city. Also

have in lower Peoria a grease manufactory, where they

make for export a fine quality of grease. Of this they

make about a car load a week. Also handle consider-

able tallow. Last year's business amounted to about

$go,ooo.

Aylward Thos. J. res. MoKeynolds, 1 n. Second street.
Auer Phillip, commission.
Babcock B. res. 415 Smith street.
Bacon Chas. E. feed stable cor. Tafl and Fulton streets.
Bacon Chas. F. Insurance, res. 307 N. Madlsou street.

BAILEY BERNARD, justice of the peace,

110^ N. Adams street, was born in Howard county,

Md., March 26, 1812, and is the son of Vincent and
Susanna (Barnard) Bailey, natives of Chester county.

Pa. He left his native county in 1829 with his parents,

and coming to St. Louis stayed there a few months, and

then came on to Illinois and settled in Tazewell county.

He taught school there for some time and worked at

an ox mill which his father and brother had built. He
then moved to Pekin, where, for the next two or three

years, he worked at the grocery business, and afterwards

at wagon making for a little over a year, saying up, by

rigid economy, about $500, and by its aid read law

with his brother for two years ; taught school in Sand

Prairie township for six months, and thence removed to

Mercer county, 111., where he practiced law for one

year, having been admitted, to the bar at Springfield in

1840. He married in January, 1841, at Millersburg, in

the last named county. Miss Arabella Gilmore, a Creole

and native of Louisiana, and removed to that State, en-

gaged in sugar and cotton planting in the parish of

East Baton Rouge until 1848, when he returned to

Pekin, 111. He was elected mayor of that city in the

years 1849 and 1850, and was the first to hold the office.

He bought out the Taiewell Mirror, and after con-

ducting it for about six months, disposed of it and in 1852

came to Peoria and purchased an interest in the Peoria

Republican, in the publication of which he was a';sociated

with Thos. J. Pickett. Disagreeing shortly afterwards

on a matter of politics, he disposed of his interest and

devoted himself for about a year to the business of

insurance agent, and then engaged in the boot and shoe

business, in which he remained until 1856, when he was

elected justice of the peace, and has held the office,

with the exception of about one and a half years, ever

since. He is the oldest acting justice in Peoria. He
has held the office of city and township collector for

one term each. The fruits of his marriage were eleven

children, only four of whom are now alive. May, Sam-

uel P., Bernard and EUje.

Bairgs John, veterinary surgeon 215 Fulton street.
Bailey A. J. real estate, res. 531 Knoxvllle road.

BAKER GEORGE W. attorney at law,

112 N. Adams street, was born in Lowell, Mass., May

29, 1840, and is the son of Samuel R. and Mary B.

(Carr) Baker. His father was a native of Massachu-

setts and his mother of New Hampshire. He was

raised and educated in his native State and came to

Peoria county March 26, 1856. In May, 1861, he en-

listed in Co. K, 8th Mo. Vol. Inf., Col. Morgan L.

Smith commanding, as private, and was commissioned

2d Lieutenant July 9, 1861, and was promoted 1st

Lieutenant May, 1862 ; was mustered out July 8, 1864.

He then raised in Peoria, Co. I, in 146th 111. Inf.,

and was commissioned its Captain. While with his

first regiment he took part in seventeen engagements,

besides many skirmishes, and in the latter one did

duty in Illinois most of the time ; was one of the offi-

cers detailed to act as guard of honor at President
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PEORIA.
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Lincoln's burial at Springfield, and was finally mustered

out of the service July 8, 1865, and, returning to Peo ia,

commenced the study of law with Hon. W. W. O'Brien,

and was admitted to the bar January 18, 1870, since

when he has continued to practice in Peoria. He mar-

ried in February, 1873, Miss Juliette A. Edgecombe, a

native of Ottawa, 111., by whom he has had four chil-

dren, two now alive, George W. and Leon H. His

father died in 1855, and his mother is still alive and

resides with him. Has been secretary of Peoria Shoot-

ing Club for three years, and for one year secretary of

Illinois State Sportmans' Association ; has always taken

a strong interest in matters connected with field sports.

In politics is a red-hot Democrat.

Baker Henry G. grocer 821 W. Jefferson street.

BAKER H. boots and shoes.

Baker Peter, clerk 1081 S. Washington street.
Baker Saml. K. route agent, res. 113 Seventh street.

BAIiLANCE CHARLES (deceased), at-

torney at law, settled in the village of Peoria in 1831,

being one of the three first lawyers in the place. He
descended from an ancient family of Durham, England,

but his ancestors immigrated to Virginia over two cen-

turies ago. His grandfather, Charles Ballance, was

killed in the war of the revolution. Willis Ballance, the

father ofthe subject of this sketch, married Miss Rejoice

Greene, of Virginia. Charles was born in Madison county,

Ky., Nov. 10, 1800 ; his educational opportunities were

limited to the common schools and his individual efforts

.

taught several Winters to defray current expenses while

pursuing his studies. To his innate desire for knowl-

edge were supplemented an indomitable will and

splendid memory, which soon gave him a well stored

mind. He spent about thirty years of the prime of his

life in the " French claims " legal controversy which so

perplexed and harassed the early American settlers of

Peoria. He seemed to be the only attorney who pos-

sessed the faith and courage to battle in behalf of the

early settlers against those old claims. But he fought

to the bitter end, carrying the matter from one court to

another, until he won a final triumph- and forever si-

lencing the last French claimant and leaving the rightful

owners in peaceful possession of their property. Mr.

Ballance had in early times purchased a large tract of

land in the lower end of the city where some of those

French claims rested, and the successful results of his

litigations forever removed the incubus from his,

as well as his neighbors', lands. Those contests

gave him a knowledge of the laws bearing upon real

estate, which rendered him famous as a land title law-

yer. In addition to his extensive legal labors, Mr. B.

found time to prepare and publish a history of Peoria

in 1870, a book of 270 pages, which was the last work

of his life. He was elected alderman from the ist

ward in 1852, and mayor of the city in 1855. Mr. B.

married Julia Sclinebley, of Peoria, in 1835, who bore

him ten children, living. He died on August 10,

1872, leaving an extensive estate, chiefly lying in the

lower end of the city, and much of it is now occupied

by the large manufactories in that quarter.

Ballance cfiarles. stone dealer, res. 615 N. Madison street.

Baldwin E. carpenter, Jackson street.

BALLARD WILLIAM H., lumber mer-

chant, corner Washington and Fayette streets, is the

pioneer now in that bratfch of trade in Peoria, having

been engaged in it since 1849. Mr. B. was born in

1819, in the city of St. Louis, his father, James H. Bal-

lard, being then stationed there as a lieutenant in the

regular army, in which service he died in 1822, at St.

Augustine. His widow, formerly Miss Maria C. Dar-

ling, married again, when William H. was nineteen

years old, and died three years after. Mr. B. lived

chiefly with his grandfather in New Hampshire, until

he attained his majority ; spent one Winter in Florida

;

thence came to Peoria in 1848. In January, 1857, he

married Ermina Trusdale, in Peoria, a native of Ohio

Less than two years after she died, leaving a daughter,

Mina. Mr. Ballard married again in the Fall of 1862,

to Anna Wentworth, born in New Hampshire, left an

orphan in infancy, and brought up and educated by

Judge J. Smith, of that State. Three living children

are the fruit of the second marriage, Helen M., Charles

R., and Edward B. Mr. Ballard steadily devoted his

attention for thirty-one years to the lumber trade, and

has been fairly prosperous ; owns several pieces of pro-

perty in the city, and the annual sales from the yard

reach a million feet.

BAlfNISTER JAMES, proprietor Fort Clark

elevator, foot Harrison street.

Barcley W. teamster, 608 Perry street.
Barfield Wm. carpenter, res. Bluff street.
Barfield W. E. mason, res. 409 Sixth street.

BARNES & BALDWIN, editors of Peoria

yournal.

BARNEWOLT ADOLPH, grocer, 701

Plank road, was born on the first day of August, 1843,

in Hanover, Germany, and emigrated to the United

States in 1856; located in Peoria. Married Miss Mary
E. Mitchel, Nov. 20, 1865, a native of Pennsylvania,

came to Peoria in 1861. They were blessed with five

children, two boys and three girls living : Henry, born

May 31, 1869; Catherine, born Aug. 20, 1871 ; Eliza-

beth, born July ig, i86g, and Myron and May (twins),'

born July 21, 1876. One died in infancy. Mr. B. is a

member of the order of Druids, I. O. O. F. and Knights

of Honor. Politics, Democrat.

Barker G. T, distiller, res. 422 N. Adams street.

BARRETT JOHN, retired mechanic, res. 103

Greenleaf street, was born in Hampshire county, Va.,

June 10, 1812; is the son of Nathan and Sarah J.

(Unglesbe) Barrett. When seventeen years of age,
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he went to Clark county, Ohio, where he learned the

carpenter trade ; married Isabel Mackentire, when

twenty-one years old, and settled there. Mr.s. Barrett

died about twelve years after their marriage, having

been the mother of five children, none of whom are

living. Mr. B. came to Peoria in 1850; pursued his

trade till disabled by a stroke of palsy in .1868. In

August, 185 1, he married Lydia Oakley nee Dewey, a

native of Pennsylvania, but has been a resident of

Peoria county forty-six years. They have one child,

now Mrs. Caroline Sohupp, of Peoria. Mrs. B. has two

children by her first husband, Obediah Oakley (de-

ceased) Mrs. Sarah Roberts and Obediah Oakley. She

has lived in their homestead thirty-three years ; settled

there when they crossed a cornfield to get to the house.

Barrou John, res. 206 Cedar street.

BARKON JOHN, maltster and grain commis-

sion merchant. 420 S. Water street, was born in Kil-

kenny county, Ireland, and came to America alone in

1850, landing at New York, I ec. 4, of that year. The
next four years he spent in New York and Philadelphia,

and came to Illinois ii 1854; was railroad boss on

C, B. & Q. R, R., between Peoria and Hannibal, for

about five years, and afterwards moved to Peoria city,

where he has since resided. He began dealing in grain

in August, 1864, and the manufacture of malt in 1869.

Also began to manufacture brick in the latter year, and

still runs a brick yard on Elizabeth street. He turns

out from his malt house 36,000 bushels a year. Mr.

Barron also owns a large saloon on S. Washington

street. He owns several houses and lots in the city, and

is a member of the Catholic Church.

BARTHEL D. grocer, iioo N. Adams street.

Bartell F. stonecutter, 321 Johnson street.
BartlettP. C. gauger, 108 S. Monroe street.
Bassett M. M. attorney, res. 621 N. Monroe street.
Bastow J. 1). druggist, 1133 S. Adams street.
Baxter James, storekeeper, 13U Perry street.
Beaver G. W. laborer. 119 Apple street.

BECKER ALBERT, saloon, 211 Brotherston

street.

BECKER HBSTRY G. grocer, 821 W. Jeffer-

son street, was born March 18, 1834, in Hanover, Ger-

many
; came to America in 1857, and landed in New

Orleans, where he worked as a laborer a short time
;

came to Peoria the same year. Was married to Ange-

line. Springer, on the rst of December, 1857. They
have eight children, six boys and two girls. Mr. B. car-

ries on huxtering in connection with his grocery busi-

ness. The family are members of the Lutheran Church.

BECKER JOHN P. manufacturer of tin ware,

1404 Main street, was born on the 12th day of January,

1847, in Baltimore, Md., where he remained but a short

time, when he came to Peoria in the same year. His

father was a native of Germany, who came to the United

States when a boy. Married Miss Mary A. Trumn'er,

on the 3d day of April, 1873 : she was born in Illinois,

in 1847. They have three children, two boys and one

girl. Is a member of the Independent Order of Mutual

Aid. In politics a Democrat. He worked as a tinner

since 1865, until he commenced his present business.

Becker John P. laborer, res. 112 .S. Orange street.
Becker William, book-keeper, 606 S. Water street.

Behrends F. cooper, 205 Llsk street.

BELCHER JOHN H. monument and tomb-

stone manufacturer, 213 S. Madison street, was born

near Boston, Mass., in 1828 ; is one of five children of

Abner Belcher and Malansa Alexander, natives of that

State ; father Horn in same house. Having spent his

early life there on a farm, Mr. B. went to New York

and spent two years— 1853-54— '" lumber trade, dur-

ing which he lost $5,000 through the dishonesty of

partners ; came to Peoria on December 21, 1855 ; be-

gan the marble business the following Spring, on the

loth of March. He formed a partnership with Otto

Triebel, and conducted the business twelve years under

the firm name of Triebel & Belcher; since 1868 has

carried it on alone. He makes a specialty of fine mon-

umental work for both local and foreign trade, and has

enjoyed a heavy business. Mr. B. married in Peoria

in i866 to Maria B. Wetherell, a native of Massachu-

setts ; have one son living, Harry O., have lost one son

and two daughters. Owns a homestead at 20g Second

street.

Belke M. C, clerk post-offlce, res. 720 Fourth street.
Belke W. F. printer, 1211 Fourth street.
Bell A. J. attorney, 325 Main street.

BENDER AMELIA, res. 603 N. Jefferson

street. Was born on the igth day of November, 1832,

in Austria. Emigrated to the United States in 1849

and located in the city of Peoria. Was married to

Phillip Bender April 25, 1852 in this city ; was a na-

tive of Bavaria, and came to this country in 1835 and

engaged in the saddlery business. Was elected to the

office of city treasurer some time prior to the war. Was

mayor of the city in 1867 and served a term of one year,

and at the time of his death was city treasurer. Mr.

B. died July 25. 1876, was a member of the I. O. O. F.,

and was buried by that Order. Mrs. Bender was living

on the homestead where he was married, and has at

home with her five children -— four girls and one boy,

BENDER LEOPOLD, watchman Fay's malt

house, N. Adams street.

Bengan Daniel, blacksmith, 317 Walnut street.
Bengen Henry, carpenter, 408 Second street.
Benjamin C. M. Mrs. resJ122 Perry street.
Bennett D. C. clerk, 107 Ellis street.
Bennett James, harness making, 1206 S. Adams street.
Bennett Sol. clothing. 201 &, 203 S. Adams street.
Bennett W. D. res. lOlO Jefferson street.

Bensley N. K., U. S. gauger, res. 782 N. Adams street.

Bentou Ira E. book-keeper, 710 Main street.
Benton M. K. res. 513 Fulton street.

Bergan Wm. res. 326 Greenleaf street.
Berndt M. carpenter, res. 411 Hulburt streer.
Berry Henry, gardener, 401 Armstrong avenue.

BESS F. B. Rev., pastor German Lutheran

Church, res. corner First and Goodwin streets, was

born in Germany November 21, 1850, and is the son of



PEORIA CITY DIRECTORY. 627

Bernhard and Matilda (von Bodenhausen) Bess. His

father is a minister of the Lutheran Church in Ger-

many. Mr. Bess came to America in July, 1875, and
settling in Mendota, 111., studied for some time in the

theological seminary there, coming to Peoria in 1877,

where he began his ministerial labors and has since

continued them with much acceptance. He married,

September 22, 1879, Miss Elizabeth Breul, a nati^^ of

Germany. Mr. Bess is a gentleman of culture and an

earnest laborer in the cause of his Master. He is

greatly beloved and respected by his parishioners.

BBSTOR HON. GEORGE C. (deceased)

who has for many years been a prominent citizen and

business man of Peoria, was born in Washington, D. C.

April 16, l8ll; his father, Harvey Bestor, having re-

moved from Massachusetts and settled there in an early

day, and served as assistant post master general under

Hon. Francis Granger. At the age of sixteen, George

was appointed assistant document clerk in the House

of Representatives, which position he filled eight years.

In 1S35, on August 3, he settled in Peoria, where he

fiig^ged many years in the real estate business and ac-

quired quite a large property. For the first five years,

being in partnership with Mark M. Aiken, they pre-

pared an abstract of Pike county, a voluminous work.

In 1837 he was elected trustee of the town of Peoria,

and served two terms. On April 4, 1842, was appointed

postmaster, under President Tyler, and again in March
1 86 1 by President Lincoln ; was elected police justice

in 1843, and was three times elected mayor of Peoria;

was for a number of years financial agent of the Peoria

and Oquawka Railroad, and afterwards president of the

company, and during the time extricated it from its

financial difficulties, Was a director of the Toledo,

Peoria and Warsaw Railroad at the time of his death.

Mr. B. was first a Whig and later Republican in poli-

tics ; in 1858 was elected to the State Senate against a

Democratic majority. During the four years he served

in that body he acted as a member of numerous com-

mittees, and was chairman of the committee on internal

navigation. Mr. Bestor was extensively known and

highly esteemed as a citizen, for rare social qualities

and open handed charity. He, in company with his

son George L., built two gun-boats for the government,

the " Ozark " and the monitor " Shiloh " in St. Louis,

for which they experienced some difficulty in getting

their pay, and while prosecuting their claim in Wash-

ington, he died at the National Hotel, May 14, 1B72.

He was first married in Baltimore October 20, 1835 to

Mary J. Thomas; and again September 13,1848 to

Sarah E. Thomas, sister to his former wife ; the latter

survived him nearly four years. Mr. B. left eight

children, four by each marriage.

BESTOR GEORGE L. (deceased,) attorney-

at-law, was born in Peoria, June 10, 1837 ; was the

eldest son of Hon. George C. and Mary J. Bestor, nee

Thomas. Was educated in the city schools, and com.

pleted a course at Jubilee College, in its palmy days.

He entered his father's real estate office when fifteen

years old ; for five years was topographical engineer of

the Peoria & Oquawka, " Eastern Extension," and

Tomka & Petersburg railroads. He then read law with

Robert and E. C. IngersoU ; was admitted to the Bar

through the recommendation of Judge Beckwith and

Hon. Pitt Kellogg, the examining committee. Mr.

Bestor served two years in the late war in the 7th 111.

Cavalry, Col. Pitt Kellogg commanding. Upon retiring

from the army he went to St. Louis and with his father

engaged in building gunboats for the Government,

until 1865, after which he spent five years in Washing-

ton City prosecuting their claim of $125,000 for their

work ; finally succeeded in getting a bill through Con-

gress granting the claim, and received the amount in

cash the day after his father's death. Mr. Bestor then

devoted his attention to real estate and abstract business

until he died, January 5, 1879. He married Ella Wil-

ber in 1864, who was born in Chardon, Ohio, in 1844.

Their union resulted in four children, George Wilber,

May, Grace, and Frank. Mrs. Bestor is erecting a fine

residence on Hamilton Street bluff, which she will

occupyin June. Henry C. Bestor, the youngest brother,

now conducts the real estate business established by his

father forty-five years ago, office, 311 Main street.

Bicker Jacob, XT. S. storekeeper, res. 1514 N. Jefferson street.

Bickerdt Peter, cutter, aoi S. Adama street.

Bleber Michael, stonemason, 2302 S. Adams street.

BIGGINS JOHNNY, saloon, 1801 S. Wash-

ington street, was born in Poughkeepsie, N. Y., Febru-

ary 22, 1855. Went to Ancram, N. Y., when seven

years of age to learn the trade of paper making, and

remained four years. Then came to Peoria in 1866

where he attended school a couple of years. Thence

went to Chicago and engaged by drovers in shippitlg

cattle to New York, two or three years. Then became

associated with a Mormon in shipping cattle to Califor-

nia for three years. Then returned to Peoria in 1874

or 1875 and engaged in buying and selling cattle. En-

gaged in his present business in 1879. Married Miss

Mary Foley June i, 1876, a native of Peoria. They

have one son, John Martin, born September 15, 1879.

Mr. Biggins was elected to the office of alderman of

the Ninth Ward, in the Fall of 1878 and re-elected in

1879.

Biggins John, cattle dealer, Stock Yards.
Bllderbeck H. res. 200 Butler street.

BRIGHAM DAVID L., carriage builder,

115 N. Washington street, was born on the loth of

July, 1838, in the town of Hamilton, Butler Co., O.

Came to Peoria in 1872 and engaged in his present

busirTess, employs from twenty to thirty hands. Married

Miss Anna Curtiss November 25, 1867. She was a
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native of Ohio. They have four children, two girls

and two boys. Both members of the Presbyterian

Church of Peoria. Tn politics is a Republican.

In 1854, while in Cincinnati, Mr. Brigham was en-

gaged as clerk in a bank for about two years, when he

entered a wholesale grocery house as clerk and worked

seven years, then was admitted as a partner and con-

tinued about two years. Then sold his interest and

took a trip to California for his health. One year later

came back to Cincinnati and entered the carriage busi-

ness, and remained in it about seven years, or until

1872, when he came to Peoria.

Bills Boswell, ins. agt. office 108 and 110 S. Adams street.

BIBKET ABTHUB T., res. 1880 N. Mon-

roe street, was born in Tazewell county. Ills., in 1843,

and came with his parents to Peoria in 1852. In 1862

he went to England for the purpose of studying civil

engineering and surveying, and remained there, applying

himself energetically to his studies till the Fall of 1863,

when he completed his course and returned to his

native county, of which he was shortly afterwards

made deputy surveyor, which position he held for

three years, and then removed to Peoria. Here he for

two years held the office of city engineer, and was

afterwards elected county surveyor, and held that office

for six years. In 1875 he was elected alderman from

the old Third Ward (afterwards the Eighth) of Peoria.

During his years of official surveying, Mr. Birket earned

the reputation of being one of the most accurate and

painstaking surveyors in central Illinois. He married

in June, 1866, Miss Katie R. Lupton, by whom he has

two children— one of each sex.

Bishop H. W. llTery, Franklin street.
Bittel M. saloon, 1633 S. Adams street.
Bitz Conrad, brewer, 1707 S. Water street.
Birket A. T. real estate, N. Monroe street.
Birket John C. dealer in real estate, 100 S. Adams street.
Btssell O. P. bitters, 413 Hamilton street.
Blair M. C. CBlalr Bros.) dirs. in carriage trlmmlnes, 119 Main

street.
Blakesly Joel, res. 405 Sixth street.
Blakely John M. agt. Continental Line, res. 904 Sanford street.
Blanchfleld P. res. McReynolds street.
Blane Adam, cooper, 315 First street.
Blank U. fireman, 516 W. Jefferson street.
BlessineJ. M. butcher. Central market.
Blevlns Ells L. painter, 205 Apple street.
Block G. saloon, 1227 S. Adams street.
Blumb Henry, grocer, 804 N. Adams street.

BLUMB PETER B., house mover, 612 N.

Washington street, was born in Maryland, August 25,

1836, and came to Peoria in 1840. His father was a

carpenter by trade and on arriving at maturity formed

a partnership with him as house builders and movers.

Married Miss Eva Gravener on the 29th day of Octo-

ber, 1854. They have eight children, five girls and

three boys, all living except one son. Members of the

Catholic Church, and a Democrat in politics.

Blumb Jo. V. bridge carpenter, C. B. &> Q. res. 820 N. Adams

Blume E. 1881 S. Washliigton street.
Blusch John, carpenter, T^ P. & W. res. 309 Morgan street.

BACHMAN WIIiLIAM, (deceased,) 208

Goodwin street, was born in Germany. Emigrated to

America and located in Peoria, Ills., where he carried

on a book and toy store until his death, which occurred

by drowning July 31, 1878. Mrs. Bachman was born

August 7, 1841 in Switzerland. They were married

May, 1857, and have had seven children ;
those living

are William, Anna, Herman, Ida A. and Frederick.

Two deceased, Laura and Clark. Owns a neat residence

whtte she lives, worth $3,000.

Bodtke J. F. house mover, res. 1004 N. Washington street.

Bohanan E. 123 High street. _ ,^ ^ _
Bohl F. grocer, cor. Jefferson and Fulton streets.

BohlanderG. M. oarber. 205 Fulton street.

Bohrens F. coop»r, 205 Lisk street.
BoisEdward, policeman, res. 1308 Perry street.

Boland DanleUdriver, C.C.H.K'y, res. 1810 S.Washington street.

Bolt B. B. com. trav. res. 324 Hurlbut street.

Borches Herman, clerk. 1214 S, Adams street.

Borches P. H. boots and shoes, 1214 S. Adams street.

Bories H. butcher Central market.

BOTTO JOSEPH, saloon 214 N. Adams

street. Was born in Italy, January 25, 1825. Emi-

grated to the United States in 1841 and located in

New York and remained one year ; then to Richmond,

Va., where he stayed two years ;
thence to Memphis,

Tenn., and remained there three years, when he came

to Peoria and engaged in the saloon business. Mar-

ried Miss Columbia Bianchetti in August, 1854; she

was a native of Italy. The fruits of this marriage were

five children, one of whom is living. His first wife

died August, 1862. For his second wife, married Rosa

Castagnola in January, 1864. By this union there are

three children, two girls and one boy. Both members

of the Catholic Church. In politics a Democrat.

Bourk M. laborer, 800 Smith street.
Bourke Chas. res. 203 Sixth street.
Bourke N. grocer, 176 N. Fayette street.

BOUBLAND BENJAMIN L. T., attor-

ney and real estate and loan agent, 125 N. Jefferson

street, is the sixth of twelve children of Andrew and

Demaris Bourland «« Reese, natives of South Caro-

lina. He was born in Christian county, Ky., in 1825 ;

came with parents to Perry county, 111., in 1834, but

soon after removed to Vandalia— then the State cap-

ital — where his father was engaged in clerical duties

for the State a number of years. After attending the

public schools Mr. B. took a course in the Academy at

Springfield ; was then employed in the State offices

several years ; went thence to Chicago and worked

nearly four years for Ogden, Jones & Co., in their real

estate office ; came to Peoria in the Fall of J 847, and

embarked in the real estate business in company with

Wm. R. Phelps. They afterwards also carried on

banking. Mr. B. started the institution afterwards

known as the Pulsifer bank ; sold out to E. D. Hardin;

and w^s afterwards one of the founders of the Me-
chanics' National bank. Having sold it out to the

present proprietors he has since devoted his time en-

tirely to real estate and loan business, and as the firm

of Bourland & Bailey has done a very heavy business.

In 1849 ^'- Bourland married Julia Preston, a native
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of Rochester, N. Y., but an early resident of Kane
county, 111. Mrs. B. died in 1867, leaving two sons,

Ogden, now cashier of the National bank of Pontiac,

and Rudolphus R., book-keeper for Bourland & Bailey.

Mr. B. married Clara Parsons in 1869. She is a native

of Mass., and is now the mother of six children, all

living, Benjamin, Caroline, Elsie, Philip and Norman
— twins— and Robert C. Mrs. B. is president of the

Ladies' Art Society, and secretary of the Scientific*As-

sociation of Peoria. Mr. B. was many years a member
of the city school board, and is a member of A. F. and
A. M„ of the Chapter and Commandery.

BOUBSCHLDT F. C. apothecary and chem-

ist, corner of Main and Jefferson streets, was born in

Germany. Came to the United States in 1868, previous

to which he was educated for his present business. He
located first in St. Louis several years ; went to How-
ard county, Kan., opened a store and conducted the

business three years, but finding the climate unfavorable

to his health, left there and came to Peoria in the Spring

of 1875 ; spent four years in clerking ; opened his

present store in the Library Building in January, 1879.

Mr. B. is a practical analytical chemist and assayer

;

confines his business strictly to chemicals and prescrip-

tion trade. His store is one of the most attractive and

complete in the West. He married Dora Steward, a

native of Howard county, Kan.; has two children, F.

C, and Jennie Marie.

Boutjes B. H. 1155 S. Adams street.
Boutjes H. F. res. 501 W. Jefferson street

ROWE JOHN W. grocer, 803 Main street,

was born on the 20th day of March, 1856, in County

Kilkenny, Ireland, and immigrated to the United States

in 1868, and located in Palmer, N. Y., and remained

there two years. Came to Peoria in 1871, where he

embarked in the grocery business in 1873, and has been

engaged in the same up to the present time. Member
of the Catholic Church. In politics, a Liberal. By in-

dustry and courtesy to customers, has built up a good

trade. His present partner is Charles R. Mulick.

Bowen A. 717 8. Adams street.
Bowers W. P. trsTellng agent, 107 S. Washington street.
Bowman Fred, shoemaker, 15s Oay street.
Boyd John, res. 1012 Third street.
Boyd T. H. machinist T., P. & W, res. 1100 Second street.
Boyd Kobt. laborer, res. Webster street.

BOYDEN WILLIAM A. painter, res. 1813

N. Madison street, was born in Pittsfield, Mass., Dec.

12, 1834, and when about five years old, removed with

his parents to Michigan. In 1S51, hewas taken with

the California fever and went there to try his fortune at

the gold mines, remaining there about three years with

varying luck, and finally did better than many who had

preceded him, for he was able to scrape together money

enough to get home with, and to it he returned in 1854,

where he remained working at his trade till the out-

break of the war, when in August, 1S62, he enlisted in

Company D, 4th Michigan Cavalry, and served with it

until 1865, in which year he was discharged. He took

part with his regiment in many severe engagements.

Upon discharge he returned home, and there remained

until 1872, when he came to Peoria, and being a good

workman has always found plenty to do, and has, by

the exercise of economy, been able to buy a lot and to

build upon it the comfortable and substantial dwelling

in which he now resides. He married, January i, 1870,

Miss E. L. Russell, a native of New York State.

Bracken Fanny, res. 119 Armstrong avenue.

BRACKEN G. L. carpenter, res. North street.

Was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, on the 14th day of Oct.,

1826, where he was reared to the trade and received a

common school education. Married Miss Susan Sny-

der, (daughter of Frederick Snyder,) who was born

March 17, 1830. By this union there were four chil-

dren : Bell, bom Sep^. 4, 1849 ; Fanny C, born June 12,

1851 ; Edith, born Nov. 21, i86l ; Freddie, born June

12, 1867. Mrs. 6. is a member of the Baptist Church,

and her daughters are members of the Episcopal.

Bracken Susan, res. 119 Armstrong avenue.
Bradley D. cattle-feeder, res. 1539 S. Adams street.
Bradley Frank, tailor, 12g S. Adams street.

RRADLEY TOBIAS S. (deceased.) The
subject of this sketch was born in Mt. Sterling, Ken-
tucky, on the 2ist day of January, 1811, and at the age

of four years moved to Vevay, Indiana, and engaged in

various commercial pursuits, as well as filled many
places of trust and honor ; but failing in business threw

Tobias upon his own resources, and being known as a

young man of strict integrity and industrious habits,

he secured a situation as clerk in the store of Jude
Malin, of Vevay, until twenty-three or twenty-four

years of age, when he became extensively engaged in

trading on the river, often being gone for month; at

the South, accumulating quite a sum of money by close

attention to his business. On the nth day of May,

1837, he was married in Switzerland county, Ind., to

Miss Lydia Moss, and a few years after this came to

Peoria and purchased a farm on the bluff, near his late

residence, which residence his widow still occupies,

which he managed until his death.

As a business man he was far-seeing and judicious,

and seldom failed in judgment. He never sought of-

fice, in fact never willingly accepted it, though he was
repeatedly honored with responsible and important

stations.

He was president of the First National Bank of this

city, and also of the Peoria & Rock Island Railway.

Mr. Bradley was emphatically domestic in his habits.

No man more enjoyed the comforts of the home circle,

and few so engrossed in the cares of business spent so

many hours at home. Blessed with an estimable wife,

who well knew how to make home happy, he found the
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chief pleasure in the bosom of his family. Six children

were born to him, none of which survived him, and

only one was spared to approach maturity of woman-

hood. She was a beautiful young lady of rare talents,

beloved by all who knew her, but died a few years be-

fore Mr. Bradley.

He was instrumental in building the Church of the

Redeemer, and resolved that nothing should be wanting

to make it the finest, most thorough and convenient

church in the city. To the poor, Mr. B. was a friend,

and yet his blessings partook largely of the practical

cast of his mind. He gave largely, but it was not in

that way he chiefly benefited them ; he rather preferred

to place them in circumstances where they could live

independently, earning their own bread by, and depend-

ing upon their own exertions. In politics, Mr. Bradley

was a staunch Democrat, never for a moment forsaking

the principles which he believed to be the only sure

and safe foundation of a free government. He died

Majr 4, 1867, in consequence of injuries inflicted by the

kick of a horse, deeply lamented by a large circle of

friends.

BraSy Bernard, engineer T. P. & \V. res. 905 S. Washington st.

Brady John, miller, foot of Cedar street.
Brady M. res. 10,3 Douglas street.
Bramble James, carpenter, res, 609 Penn avenue.
BramerC, cigar maker, 1161 S. Adams street.

BRASSFIELD JONATHAIf, farmer, res.

210 Armstrong avenue, was born in Wake county.

North Carolina, December 30, 1805 ; is the third of

nine children of Jesse and Mary Brassfield nee Revis.

Parents removed to Surry county, that State, a year af-

ter his birth, where he grew to manhood, on a farm,

with but nine months' school advantages. After the

death of his father, the widow removed to Monroe

county, Indiana, where she died in 1840. Mr. B.

worked by the month two years after coming of age.

On October 12, 1830, he married Rebecca, daughter of

Samuel and Nancy Gordon, born in Surry county July

9, 1808. In December, 1830 they settled in Park

county, Ind., and started in life with $7 cash capital

;

bought 160 acres of land, and besides earning money

to pay therefor, cleared forty acres of it. Wishing to

find a country where farms were easier made, they re-

moved to Peoria county in May, 1839, having exchanged

their Indiana farm for 160 acres of the rich prairie of

Radnor township. The second house erected by him

on that place Mr. B. hauled the finishing lumber and

shingles from Chicago, i5o miles. After some years he

purchased a half section of land in Kickapoo township,

which became their home, and disposed of the Radnor

farm, investing the proceeds in lands in Marshall coun-

ty. They remained on the Kickapoo farm until the

Spring of 1867, when they removed to Peoria, selling

the half section there that cost them $1,900 for $18,000.

Besides a section in Ford county, 111., worth $20,000,

and a homestead in the city worth $8,000, Mr. B. owns

several other tracts of land, the whole constituting an

estate valued at $50,000. They have had eleven chil-

dren, six living, Nancy, Henry, James S., Elizabeth;

Mary A., Austin G., and Thomas. William H., the

eldest, and C, the seventh son, lost their lives

in the service of their countiy during the late war; one

a member of the 17th the other of the 77th Illinois In-

fantry. James was also in the army as a 2d Lieut, in

the 47th Regiment. Mr. B. has been elected to several

local offices but has declined to serve, shunning politi-

cal positions.

Brant Jacob, res. 1111 S. Adams street.
Braun FrldoUn, carpenter, res. 104 Joh.nson street.

BBAYSHAW ABRAHAM, carpet manu-

facturer, corner Main and Adams streets, was born in

Yorkshire, England in 1838 ; is the son of Benjamin

and Anna (Berry) Brayshaw. He learned the trade of

cloth manufacturing in his native country ; and five of

his seven brothers are now engaged there in that busi-

ness. Mr. B. came to America in 1868 ; spent a year in

Newburg, N. Y,, came to Peoria in 1870, and at once

engaged in his present business. He makes a specialty

of manufacturing rag carpets of the finest and most

substantial character, of which he turns out 700 yards

per month. On May 13, 1868, Mr. BrayShaw married

Carrie C. Wilby, in Newburg, N. Y., who is also a

native of England. They have two children living,

Benjamin Wilby and Walter Washington Brayshaw.

Mr. B. is a member of the Ancient Order of United

Workmen. They own a homestead in the city.

Breler C. livery, 315 & 317 Bridge street. '

Breler Geo. fruits, etc. 215 Main street.

BKENDELL FREDERICK, M. D. phy-

sician and naturalist, res. 202 Liberty street, was born

in Erlangen, Bavaria, in January, 1820; graduated

from Erlangen University in 1843, in the centennial

year of the institution
; was assistant physician in the

department of surgery in the hospital of Bamburg from

1846 to 1848 ; was forced to abandon the position On

account of his radical political principles during the

revolution the latter year ; crossed the Atlantic, landing

in New York in May, 1850 ; located in St. Louis in

August of that year; practiced there two years; re-

moved to Peoria in 1852, and has pursued his profes-

sion since. The doctor is a devotee to natural sciente,

and is one of the leading naturalists in Illinois ;• has

prepared many able papers on natural history, which

have been published and rank high as scientific pro-

ductions. This volume contains an able article from

his pen. He is curator of the Scientific Association

of Peoria, is a member of the German Library School

Association, and has been meteorological observer of

Smithsonian Institute, and later of the United States

naval service since 1855. Married Elizabeth Miller, a

native of Peoria, in 1861. They have had twelve chil-
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dren. Helena, Emila, Elizabeth, Jenny, Clara, Bertha

and Frederick are living.

Brennan J. tailor, res. 617 Perry street.
Breiinan Tom, paser, res. 769 Perry street.
Brenner Chas. res. 3103 S. Adams street.
Brlggs E. pattern maker, 600 S. Water street.
Bristol Chas. N. messenger U. S. Ex. res. 809 Ellis street.
Brooks J. H. carpenter, 704 S. Washington street.
Brophy M. J. moulder, 600 S. Water street
Brown C. H. res. 808 Green street.
Brown D. S. distiller, res. 305 Taylor street.

BBOSrS HENRY, carpenter, res. 6o8 Hurlbut

street, was born in Prussia on the Rhine in 1828,

learned the trade there and pursued it twelve years
;

came to America in 1854; lived a year and a half in

Cincinnati, Ohio, then came to Peoria. January 8,

1856, he married Catherine Hessling, also a native from

Prussia. Their family consists of seven boys and one

girl. Henry, 23; Bernard, 21; Charles, 19; Peter, 17;

Fred, 15; Theodore, 13; William, 11, and Gertrude,

ten years of age. Mr. B. has been doing carpenter

work for the T., P. & W. R. R, since 1863, and now

has four sons in the employ of the company. He is a.

member of St. Joseph's German Society. Himself and

family are members of the Catholic Church. Owns a

homestead in the city.

Brown Isaac, res. 1S3 Fifth street.
Brown John, grain buyer, 307 S. Jefferson street.

BROWN J. Li., M. D., physician and surgeon,

100 S. Adams street, was born in Clermont county,

Ohio, and received his primary education in his native

and Warren counties. He began the study of medicine

with Dr. S. B. Tomlinson, in Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1864,

and afterwards attended classes at Medical College of

Ohio, in the same city, graduating therefrom in March,

1868. Afterwards practiced in Cincinnati, until 1873,

when he removed to Peoria, and has since resided and

practiced there,

BROWN JOHN Li. express messenger for T.,

P. & W. res. 205 S. Jefferson street, was born June 5,

1845, Elmira, New York, and when 13 years of age

came to Chenoa, McLean county, Illinois, and remained

there until 1867, when he came to the city of Peoria,

and has been in his present business since. Was mar-

ried to Miss Emma Harpest, June 7, 187.6, a native of

New York. She was born June 14, 1852. Mrs. Brown

is a member of the Presbyterian Church, and Mr. Brown

a member of the A. F. & A. M.

Brown Lucy Miss, res. 1300 N. Monroe street.

BROWN liUCIUS D. passenger conductor,

T,, P. & W. R. R., 1709 N. Adams street, was born in

Fincastle, Brown county, Ohio, February 8, 1849, and

is the son of James P. Brown and Caroline Glaze,

natives of Ohio. When 4 years of age he removed, with

his parents, to Peoria, and has ever since made it his

home. Received his education there, and in 1866 began

life as a railroad man upon the T., P. & W. R. R., as

switchman at El Paso, where he remained for about one

and one-half years, and then returned to Peoria. He

has since remained with the same Company, passing

the intermediate grades of brakeman and freight con-

ductor, to his present position. He married, April 12,

1870, in El Paso, Illinois, Miss Lizzie Crossit, daughter

of Wm. T. Crossit and Mary S. Wooley, natives of Ohio,

who was born in Tazewell county, Illinois, by whom he

has had three children—Louis, Harry and Bertie. Mr.

and Mrs. Brown are members of the Christian Church;

own residence and lot at above number, and also house

and lot adjoining. His parents are both alive and reside

in Peoria.

Brown M. Mrs. res. 1301 N. Monroe street.
Brown Matthew, dealer in pork, Central market.

BROTHERSON PETER R. K. United

States Ganger, res. 403 N. Madison street, is the third

of a family of five children of Phillip Brotherson and

Catharine'Kissam. Was born in Saratoga county, New
York, in 1811. He resided there the first sixteen years

of his life, then spent three years as clerk in a mercan-

tile establishment in New York city. In 1830 he went

into business in Elmira, and three years later married

Frances B. McReynolds, a native of that place. In 1836

they emigrated to Cadiz, Ohio, and he and his father-

in-law spent fourteen years there in merchandising.

In the Spring of 1850 they came to Peoria and estab-

lished the'first exclusively wholesale grocery house in

the city, as the firm of Brotherson & McReynolds.

Mr. B. sold out six years later and engaged in the grain

and pork business with A. G. Tyng, as Tyng & Broth-

erson, continuing until 1877, when, meeting with heavy

losses, Mr. B. retired from the business. Was appointed

to hispresent position in August, 1879. Mrs. B. died

Dec. 27, 1879. She was noted for her devotion to pub-

lic charity, and was foremost among the ladies in every

benevolent work, and had also gained a reputation as a

writer for the press. She was the mother of three chil-

dren, two daughters—Mrs. L. B. Tyng and Mrs. M. B.

Reynolds, and Phillip Brotherson, who died at 23 years

of age. Mr. B. laid out two additions to Peotia, embrac-

ing 40 acres, which bear his name. Has served sev-

eral terms as alderman, and two as mayor of the city,

when the water-works were being built. Was presi-

dent of the Adams street horse-railway company a hum-

ber of years, and still one of its directors. He and wife

were very active in sanitary work during the war ; have

been members of the Episcopal Church many years.

Bruggaman H. clerk cor. Water and Fulton streets.
Bruniga D. res. 718 S. Washington street.
Brunlga J. saloon, 1149 S. Adams street.
Brutcner Andrew, carpenter, 301 N. Water street.
Bratjes II. res. 501 W. Jetferson street.
Bryan Wm. F. attorney, 327 Main street.
Bryuer B. C. post offlce clerk, res. 502 Perry street.

BRYNER JOHN, (deceased), was borii in

Center county. Pa., 6th October, 1820, and emigrated

to Peoria county in the Spring of 1845. Soon after

reaching Peoria he engaged as a clerk with James
Dougherty, in whose employ he remained one year,
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and then became book-keeper for D. Gurney & Co. a

year. He then formed a co-partnership with William

McLean, under the firm name of McLean & Bryner,

and engaged in the leather trade, in which business he

continued until 1861. He was elected to the office of

sheriff of Peoria county, in which capacity he served

with good acceptance, and was often called to fill

minor positions of local trust. By reason of his being

captain of the National Blues, he enjoyed something of

a military reputation, and when the war of the rebel-

lion came on in 1861, he was commissioned as colonel

and organized the 47th Illinois, which he commanded
till the siege of Corinth. After the capture of Corinth

he resigned his commission at Rienzi, Miss., Sept. 2d,

1862, in consequence of ill health. After his return

home he assisted in organizing and placing in the field

the 85th, 86th, 103d, 108th and 112th regiments, and
had charge of the camp here. When the isgth, a hun-

dred day regiment, was organized, he accepted a com-
mission as first lieutenant and A. Q. M. While in

camp at Cairo, his old regiment, the 47th, which had
been reduced to four companies, came home on veter-

an leave from the Red River expedition and visited

him in a body. They proffered a petition, signed by
every officer and member of the command, requesting

him to reorganize and take command of the old regi-

ment. He accepted the tender, and obtaining permis-

sion from Governor Oglesby, raised six new companies
and went into camp at Springfield, the four veteran

companies having been ordered to join Gen. Smith's

command, then in front of Spanish Fort before the de-

fenses of Mobile. After the completion of the organ-

ization of the regiment he was taken suddenly ill at

the Chenery House, at Springfield where he died on
the igth of March, 1865. His remains were brought
home to Peoria for sepulture, and were followed to

their last resting place by a large cortege of friends.

Bryner Post, G. A. R., organized October 8, 1879, was
named in honor of him. Mr. Bryner was united in

marriage with Miss Rebecca, daughter ofJames North,

Esq., of Mifflintown, Pa., on the 15th day of Septem-
ber, 1842, the marriage being solemnized by Rev. John
Hutchinson of that place. Miss North was born in

Juniata county. Pa., in 1824. They had eight children

— four sons and four daughters, only three of whom
survive. B. C. Bryner, one of the sons, enlisted in the

47th regiment, Co. I, and served one year. He now
occupies a trusted position in the Peoria post office.

Bryson J. G. res. 229 S. Washington street.

BUCHANAN WM. G. painter and paper-

hanger, res. 804 Hamilton street, son of Wm. and Julia

Buchanan. They were natives of Scotland, and emi-
grated to the United States in 1844, and located in

Kendall county, 111., where the subject of this sketch

was reared on a farm and received a common school

education. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, on the

15th day of February, 1843. Enlisted in i86i, in the

nth 111. Cav. Co. E, and participated in the Western

army ; was in the battle of Shiloh, two days siege of

Corinth and battle of Corinth (where he had a horse

shot from under him), luka, Lexington, Tenn,, where

he was wounded in left side with a minnie ball that he

still carries, and left on the field and taken prisoner by

Gen. Forrest's command, and laid in n house near the

battle-ground thirty-one days ; laid in parole camp one

year; exchanged and returned to his regiment atVicks-

burgh ; was on detached duty in the Independent

Scouts, under the command of Major Merrill, doing

scouting service for Gen. Sherman and others ; was on

the Meridan raid under Gen. Sherman and Grierson
;

mustered out at Memphis, after serving four years and

three months ; was commissioned for meritorious ser-

vice in 1863 to 2d Lieut. Married Miss Mary Perry,

daughter of William Perry ; she was born in Manches-

ter, England. The fruit of this marriage was five

children, four of which are still living.

Baches Peter, carpenter, 530 S. Washington street.

BUCKNER JOHN W. of the firm of Buck-

ner & Coulson, hides, tallow, wool, etc., 512 S. Water
street, was born in Canada, in 1824, came to Peoria in

1S63, and embarked in his present business. Married

Miss Margaret Caughell, in 1853, and has two children.

Mr. Coulson, senior partner of this firm, was born on

the 29th day of May, 1839, i" Canada, came to Peoria

in 1867, and entered into partnership with Mr. B. in

their present business. Married Clareena Wisner-

Caughell, in 1867. They have one child. Both mem-
bers of the Episcopal Church. In poUtics Republican.

Have invested in their business about $20,000, and

employ from one to five hands, and are doing a profit-

able business.

Budd A. R. carpenter, res. 100 Blgelow street.

BUCK WM. H. coal dealer.

BUEHLEB CHRISTIAN (deceased), meat

market, 1511 S. Washington street, was born on the

25th of December, 1821, in Stuttgart, Wurtemberg,

Germany, emigrated to the United States in 1849, and

settled in Philadelphia, Pa. Married Miss Anna
Schlenkar, Jan. i, 1857, in Chicago, III., and lived

there until i860, when he moved to Peoria and en-

gaged in packing pork, and doing a general butcher

business. They have seven children, one girl and six

boys. Mr. Buehler died Oct. 15, 1878 ; was a member
of the Masonic Order. In politics a Democrat. His

eldest son, Martin, together with his mother, is still

carrying on the business at the old stand.

Buffer Fred, harber, 103 Fulton street.
Bulger M, bricklayer, 614 N. Madison street.
Ball W. G. plasterer, 712 Seventh street.
Bann J. H. butcher, 710 Main street.
Bunn S. auctioneer, cor. Perry and Spring streets.
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BURT RICHARD W. United States store-

keeper, res. 8l6 Sanford street, was born in Warwick,

Orange county, N. Y., in 1823. His parents, Foght

and Elizabeth Burt, were natives of same county. In

1834 they removed to Coshocton county, Ohio. When
the war with Mexico began, Mr. B. enlisted in Co. B,

3d Ohio, June 4, 1846, and remained in the service a

year. He married Malona Evans, a native of Ohio, in

January, 1848, and settled in Coshocton county. In

1853 established the Progressive Age, a weekly Repub-

lican newspaper ; was one of the first to advocate the

principles embraced by the party, and was one of its

founders. At the end of three years B. sold the paper

and embarked in the coal trade at Newark, Ohio, con-

tinuing till he went into the army, in December, i86i,

as a member of Co. G, 76th Inf., which he helped to

recruit, and went out as its 2d Lieutenant. Was pro-

moted to 1st Lieutenant of Co. I, after the battle of

Arkansas Post, and when the regiment veteranized, in

April, 1864, became Captain of Co. H. At the battle

of Resaca,Ga., received a gunshot wound in the mouth,

losing most of his teeth
;
participated in thirty battles

and skirmishes, and traveled with the regiment 10,000

miles. Soon after his discharge, in July, 1863, was bre-

veted Major for gallant conduct. He came to Peoria

in 1865 ; engaged nine years in the grocery and feed

business ; was appointed to present position over four

years ago. Mrs. Burt, by whom he had four children,

three living, died in January, 1873. Mr. Burt married

Betsey M. Cotton nee Barnum, a native of New York,

in 1876. He Is a member of A, F. & A. M„ G. A. R.,

and Mexican War Veteran Association, and he and wife

are members of M. E. Church.

BURGrI PHIL.I1IP H. grocer, 1600 S. Adams
street, vfas born in Germany, May i, 1821, and emi-

grated to the United States in 1849, ^i"! settled in

Cleveland, Ohio, where he remained four years, then

came to Peoria, where he engaged in the grocery busi-

ness and has continued in the same since ; being a

German, and locating in the southern part of the city,

has built up a good trade. In 1856, married Miss Mary

E. Winker. By this marriage there was one child, a

son, who assists his father in his old age.

Burley Jobn, grocer, cor. Second and Spencer streets,
Burnbam N. res. 2>i6 Moss street.
Burns U. teamster, res. 828 Fayette street.
Burns J. J. res. 1^09 N. Jetterson street.
Barns Maria Mrs. res. S. Water street.
Burr J. D. (Nicol B. & Co.) res. 808 Sixth street.
Bush H. A. sash manufacturer, 716 S. WashlnstoQ street.
Bush Geo. M. bookkeeper, res. 826 Fayette street,

BUSH. JOH^ff A. house and sign painter,

ornamental designer, dealer and manufacturer of all

kinds of regalia and secret society goods, 408 Main

street, was born in Cumberland county, Pa., Feb. 16,

1829, and is the son of George and Maria (ZiUil) Bush,

natives of Pennsylvania. He was raised, educated and

learned the trades of painting and cabinetmaking in his

46

native county, and in 1849 left home, and after a short

stay in Burlington, Iowa, came to Peoria, where he has

since resided, and been in business for himself thirty-

seven years. He, soon after coming, established him-

self in his business of painting, and in i860 added to

it that of society goods and regalia. During the war he
acted for three years as sutler to the 8th and 17th regi-

ments I. V. I. He married Miss Susan O. Heden-
burg, a native of Jacksonville, 111., daughter of

Rev. J. Hedenburg, by whom he had six children,

four now alive, John A., Nettie, Frank H. and

E. Johnson. He does an extensive trade in regalia all

over the Western States and Territories, and in the

decorative branch of his business makes a peculiar

specialty of wood graining. Mr. Bush has been for

twenty-seven years a member of the Grand Lodge of

Odd Fellows, and has held all the offices in it up to that

of grand warden, which he has filled for the past two

years ; has been deputy to the Grand Lodge from Co-

lumbia Lodge, No. 21, of Peoria, for sixteen years. His

parents are still alive and reside in the city. His father

is eighty-three years of age and never wore glasses in

his life, and his mother is eighty.

Bush Wm. H. painter, N. JeBerson street.

BUSH WILIilAM R. (of Bush & Brown),

distillers, foot lower Russel street.

BUSHNEIili ALVIN W. manufacturing

cement, sewer pipes, and dealing in cement, lime, plas-

ter, hair, 422 S. Washington street, was born on the 8 th

day of January, 1815, in Green county, N. Y.; remained

there until 1837, when he came to Peoria county. 111.,

and settled on a farm in Radnor township ; remained

there until 1849, when he went to Chicago and en-

gaged in the grocery business, and continued in the

same until 1851, when he came to Peoria and embarked
in the lumber trade, which he followed for several

years. Married Miss Jennett Case, July, 1841.

She was a native of Oswego county, N. Y., and* came
to Peoria in 1836. Mrs. B. is a member of the Baptist

Church and has been since 1849. Mr. B. was eletted

supervisor two successive terms, in 1862-3. Duruig the

war was chairman of the committee for disbursing funds

in aid of soldiers' families, and paid out about twenty-

five thousand dollars.

Butler J. brickyard, North street.
Butte A. painter, res. 1406 Ferry street.

BUTTS CHARLES B. dealer in coal,

lime, cement and fire brick, 512 S. Adams street, was
born in Tremont, Tazewell county. 111., April 10, 1848,

and is the son of George and Catherine (Thompson)
Butts. His father was a native of England and his

mother of Ireland ; was raised in native place until

eleven years of age, when he removed with his mother ,

to El Paso, where he attended school, and in 1866 be-

gan life as a railroad man, passing successively through
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the grades of brakeman, freight conductor and train

dispatcher for the P., P. & J. R. R. Co., and holding

the last position for four years. He was altogether

twelve years railroading. He married in Peoria, April

15, 1869, Miss Mary Burt, daughter of Mrs. Ellen W.
Burt, of Peoria. His wife was born in Ohio, Sept. 17,

1853, and has borne him one child, Ella, born June lo,

1870, and who died March 17, 1871. He began his

present business March 6, 1878, and has for its carrying

on large yards and sheds in rear of above number,

where he keeps a large stock of his goods. He is also

agent for Laflin & Rand's sporting and blasting powder.

Bye B. T. grocer, cor. Spring and Adams street.
CahlU P. H. rea. 605 Fifth street.
Caldwell Geo. A.gralner. res. 107 Evans street.
Calhoun John H. res. 114 Eaton street.
Callahan Daniei, miller, res. 1373 S. Adams street.

CAIiliAHASr DENNIS, (deceased), res.

137 North street.

Callahan .Sarah, res. 137 North street.
Callahan John, res. 211 N. Monroe street.
Callender Elliott (Boblnson <fc Co.) res. 400 N. Monroe street.
Callegan B. J. boots and shoes, 108 S. Adams street.
Callista John, res. Ellis street.
Caltcott W. a. res. 114 W. Elizabeth street.
Camblln Wm. tinner, N. Jefferson 1st above Adams street.

CAMPBEIiL, ALBERT D. grain and

feed, 416 P'ulton street, was born in Tazewell county,

111., Dec. 22, 1850, and in 1855 came to Peoria, where

he has resided since. Married Miss Rebecca J. Gale on

the 25th day of Dec. 1871. She was a native of Ohio.

They were blessed with two children, one of whom is

living. Mr. Campbell is now weighmaster of Peoria

city, and has been for three years, attends to it in con-

nection with his grain and feed businss.

Campen J. M. res. 687 W. Jefferson street.
Canover N. S. huckster, res. 315 S. Douglas street.
Cantelo F. bookkeeper, 226 S. Washington street.
Carrigan John, 431 Buller street.
Carroll E. Mrs. res. 1108 N. Adams street.
Carney John, teamster, res. 314 Kettelle street.

CARSON W. B, photographer, cor. Jeffer-

son and Hamilton streets, was born in Adams county,

Ohio, in 1832. John Carson and Rachel Bean, his

parents, were both natives of that county, and both

rocked in the same " sugar trough " in a block house in

Manchester. Mr. C. spent his boyhood on a farm, and

was educated in North Liberty College, in Adams
county; taught school from 1851 to 1863 ; began learn-

ing photography in 1857 ; devoted his attention to it

fvith a little insurance business from 1863 till i86g, and

from then till August i, 1878, did an exclusive insurance

business ; has been engaged in photography at his pres-

ent place since that time. He came to Illinois and

settled in Washburn, Woodford county, in 1857 ; went

thence to Minonk the next year and remained two

years ; was in El Paso from i860 to i86g, when he re-

moved to Peoria. September 29, 1854, Mr. C. married

Fancherry Bartholamew, a native of Brown county, O.,

by whom he has three living children, Ella, Alice M.,

and Robert L. M. Mr. C. is a member of A. F. & A.

M., and himself and wife of the Baptist Church.

CARL MICHAEL, restaurant (Union depot),

was born in France, May 2, 1844, emigrated to the

United States in 1866, and settled in Chillicothe, Ohio,

and remained there about five years ; went back to his

native country, and remained about fifteen months;

then returned to this country and located in Peoria, 111.,

and embarked in his present business. Married Miss

Barbara Merkel, Feb. 29, 1876, a native of Ohio, and

came to Peoria in 1878. They have three children, all

girls. They are both members of the Catholic Church.

CARROLL FRANCIS C. wholesale and re-

tail dealer in ice, 104 Fayette street, son of Francis

and Ann Maria (Lane) Carroll, natives of Ireland, who

came to this country about 1820, and settled in St.

Johnsbury, Vt, where he raised a family of eight chil-

dren, six boys and two girls. The subject of this sketch

was the third son, born on the 17th day of November,

1842 ; learned the trade of iron molder, and when ten

years of age, went with his parents to Richmond, Can-

ada East, where his father engaged in the foundry busi-

ness on his own account, and remained twelve years.

In the Fall of 1866 went to Boston, where he followed

his trade a year. In January, 1867, came to Peoria and

was employed a year in a stove foundry for Cutter &
Proctor. In 1868 embarked in the foundry as the firm

of O'Rorke & Co., where he remained until that Fall.

Jan. 1877, commenced in the ice business, in which he

still continues, Has a capacity of storing 3,000 tons,

and intends to double it the following season. Mar-

ried Miss Martha E. Clough ; she was born in Ireland,

Sept. 27, 1843. They had four children, two of whom
are living, Annie A. and Louis J. Members of the

Catholic Church.

CARTWRIGHT TTILLIAM, livery, feed

and sale stable, 114 S. Jefferson street, was born in

England, April 30, 1821, and when thirty years old,

emigrated to the United States and located in Peoria,

where he has ever since resided. He married, in 1855,

Ann Harrison, a country woman of his own, by whom
he has had two children, one of each sex. He has

been engaged in his present business since 1863, and

has succeeded in establishing quite a large and lucrative

Carty P. N. cattle dealer. Stock yards.
Carty F. res. Linden street.

CARY JOHN, M.D. 301 Franklin street.

Cashin David W. blacksmith, 1914 N. JeiTerson street.
Casteio J. saloon, res. Main street.
Cation J as. laborer, res. 1133 Fourth street.
Cation William, florist, 914 Seventh avenue.
Gavanaugh James, laborer, res. 1000 N. Monroe street.
Chalmers J. A. res. 506 Fayette street. •
Champn^y o. B. bookkeeper, res. cor. Hale and Jackson streets.
Chapman M. grocer, 1636 S. Adams street.
Charvant W. boot and shoemaker, 307 Fulton.

CHARLES HALLER E. U. S. ganger.

CHASE IRA J. Rev. res. 217 Taylor street.
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Was born Dec. 7, 1834, in the town of Clarkson, Mon-
roe county, N. Y., but was raised in Orleans county,

N. Y., and educated at the Medina Academy. In 1855,

his father moved to Cook county. 111., where he followed

merchandising and school teaching until the breaking

out of the war. Enlisted June 17, 1861, in the igth 111.

Vol. as second sergeant ; served nearly two years ; was

discharged for disability. He again resumed merchan-

dising until 1867, when, at the earnest solicitation of

the church, he entered the ministry, his first labor be-

ing performed at Mishawaka, Ind., during 1867 and

1868. He was regularly ordained to the ministry in Chi-

cago, in 186B ; was called to take charge of the Church

of Christ in LaPorte, in January, 1869, and resigned in

1871, to go to Pittsburgh, Pa. In Oct., 1872, at the

earnest solicitation of the church in Peoria, he accepted

their call, of which congregation he is still pastor. Mr.

Chase united with the Church of Christ, and was bap-

tized at Batavia in Fox river, in 1857. He has held

revival meetings in many of the States and three of the

British provinces. Besides hundreds who have come

into the church here, he has received nearly five hun-

dred converts elsewhere during his present pastorate.

Chldester Jas. W. plasterer, res. 306 Perry street.

CHEEVER D. A., M. D., 419 Hamilton

street, who has been one of the leading physicians in the

homeopathic school of practice in Central Illinois, for

over a quarter of a century, is the eldest of eight chil-

dren of Daniel and Alice E. Cheever nee Henry, and

was born in Providence, R. I., in 1827, where the first

fifteen years of his life were spent, chiefly at school and

in his father's dry goods store. In 1842 he came to

Cincinnati, Ohio, and learned the business of manufac-

turing lard oil, and in 1845 went into a wholesale dry

goods house in that city with his father ; began the

study of medicine there and completed the course in

New York city, graduating from the New York Homeo-
pathic Medical College in 1853. The following year

he came to Illinois, and located in practice in Peoria

;

has since practiced in Pekin, Tazewell county, and in

Champaign, Champaign county, having removed to the

latter place to educate his children ; returned to Peoria

in July, 1877. While living in Pekin, during the dark

days of the rebellion, the Doctor, in conjunction with

George Harlow, Secretary of State, projected and or-

ganized the first Union League established in the

United States, as the history of that organization shows.

Dr. C. has ever been a. strict adherent and zealous ad-

vocate of homeopathy, and stands high among that

branch of the profession. He married Sarah R. Walker,

a native of New Hampshire, in 1852, and four children

are the fruit of their union. Their names ate Alice,

Mrs. Bryan, George H. and Emily C. They are both

menibers of the M. E. Church.

CLARK E. M. machinist, res. 309 Morgan

street, son of T. G. and Eve Clark. Father born in

Rutland, Vt., and mother in Pennsylvania. The subject

of this sketch was born in Indiana county. Pa., April

9, 1845 ; came to this^county in 1859; enlisted in 1862

in the 94th I. V. I., Co. L, Col. Wood ; was in the bat-

tles of Nashville, Stone River, Sesaca, Dalton, Ga.,

where he was wounded by a shell in the leg; in 1864

re-enlisted in the 151st regt., Co. E, Col. Woodhall.

Married Miss Sarah J. Brownell. She was born in

Washington county, N. Y., in 1844; three children,

IdaH., Willis and Alta.

Clark Geo. G. res. 513 Sixth street.
Clark Horace, propr. Home Mills, res. 118 High street.
Clark S. B. res. 113 High street.
Clark S. S. distiller, res. Seventh,avenue.
Clark M. res. Seventh avenue.
Clarkson E. res. 207 N. Monroe street.
Claugh L. D. commercial trav. 103 N. Washington street.
Clauson J. J. tinner. 1157 S. Adams street.
Clegg Joseph, res. Knoxvllle road.
Cleveland A. J. cashier C. G. H. B. B. Co.
CIeland H. G. res. 117 Park place.
Clerkin P. stock dealer, res. 605 Plank road.
Clifton Enos T. teaming. 1618 N. Jefferson street.
Cochran J. W. attorney, 121 S. Adams street.
Cockle W. post master, res. cor, Jackson.and Monroe streets.
Cody James, laborer, 816 Second street.
Cody M. J. boiler works, S. Water street.
Coffee H. T. physician, 702.Main street.

COFFEY PETER, superintendent of gas

works, res. cor Madison and Hancock streets, was bom
in the county of Monaghan, Ireland, in 1831 ; came to

America in 1850; spent nearly four years in New York

city, working at the plumbing and gas fitting trade
;

thence came to Cincinnati, O., and remained for a time
;

went to St. Louis and remained nearly two years ; lo-

cated in Bellevile, 111., in 1856, and superintended the

gas works there until 1874, when he came to Peoria,

and has since held his present position. Mr. Coffey

married Mary Ann McDowall, in 1861, born also in

Ireland. They have no children. Both are members

of the Catholic Church. They own the homestead in

which they reside.

Colburn £, M. physician, res. 207 S. Jefferson street.
Colburn W. P. wholesale drugs, 218, 220. 222 S. Washington st.
Cole Addle, cor. Hamilton and Washington streets.
Cole C. clerk 316 S. Water street, res. 1354 8. Adams street.

.COIiEMAN ALBERT, contractor and

builder, 504 Fifth street, was born in Dover, Stafford

county, N. H., July 7, 1833, and is the son of Calvin

Coleman and Fhebe Card, natives of Dover ; was raised

and educated there, and when nineteen years old came

to Boston, and there learned the trade of bricklayer,

working at it for three years, and then came West to

Illinois and settled in Peoria, where he has since re-

sided, except during n trip of five years' duration to

California across the plains, which he took in 1861,

working at his trade in Sacramento and other placesin

that State. On his return to the East he revisited hit

native place, and there married, April 6, 1866, Miss

Sarah 4- Palmer, a. native of Boston, Mass., by whom
he has had four children, three now alive, Addie F„
Calvin, Delia (deceased), and Alice. Brought his wife

to Peoria after marriage, sind there all his children were
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born. Mrs. Coleman is a member of First Baptist

Church. He owns his residence and lot at above num-

ber, also house and lot adjoining.

Coleman Dennis, laborer T., P. & W. res. Ill South street.
Golemaii John, laborer. 111 South street.
Coleman Wm. carpenter, res. 604 Hurlbut street.
Oollister Frank J. boot and shoe mtr. 51S N. Adams street.

COLMEKY A. J. restaurant keeper.

COLTON W. K. architect, 124 N. Adams street.

Comstock John, res. 311 S. Adams street.
Conaughton Patrick, res. 807 First street.

CONIGISKY JACOB, of Conigisky Bro.,

108, no N. Adams street, was born at Poland, May ig,

1840, and emigrated to the United States in 1856, and

located in New York, wnere he remained until 1864,

when he came to Peoria and engaged in the dry goods

business, which he has followed since. Married Miss

Bertha Pearl in 1870. She was a native of London,

England, and came to this country in 1868. They have

three sons. They employ eighteen hands in their

business. The Conigiskys are doing a fine trade, have

a fine store building fronting on Adams street, and do

a wholesale and retail business of $IOO,OQO to $125 -

000 per annum. Mr. C is a member of the I. O. O. F,

Silas, senior partner and an elder brother, came to the

United Stales the same time ; have been together in

business since they came to the country.

Connel Thos. laborer, res. 1011 S. Adams street.
ConnellB. teamster, 1015 S. Adams street.
Connell Mrs. M[ res. state near Sixth street.
Connell D. laborer, res. 1106 Third street.
Conners John B. res. gOO North street.
Conner Thos. res. 931 First street.
Conrad Jos. H. condr, 0.,B.I.&P. res. 1013 N. Madison street.
Conrad W. res. 519 Hale street.
Conroy M. fireman, res. 201 Cass street.

CONRAD WILIilAM (of Conrad & Meyer)

beer bottlers, 1 10 S. Adams street, was born in Crawford

county, Ohio. August 29, 1838, and is the son of Jacob

and Mary B. Conrad, who are now both residents of Peo-

ria county. He came to the county with them in 1851,

and after growing up, farmed for some time with his

father, and afterwards followed teaming and street

sprinkling for about thirteen years, and then became

a member of the present firm. He was married in

1867, to Miss Elizabeth Schners, v^ho was born March

25, 1849, by whom he had three children—Anna M.,

Maggie and Willis P. Mrs. Conrad is a member of

Reformed Episcopal Church.

Conroy Pat., boiler-maker, res. 418 Steubenvllle street.

Conroy Patrick, boiler-maker, res. 807 S. Adams street.

Cook Jacob, carpenter, 815 VV. Jefferson street.
Cook T. B., tailor, 105 Adams street.

COOPER & TENNERY, attorneys at law,

323 Main street. This firm has been in existence only

since July, 1878, but Mr. J. K. Cooper, its senior mem-

ber, has practiced law in Peoria for nearly forty years.

He was born in Cumberland county, Pennsylvania,

rJovember 9, 1814, studied law in Carlisle, same lounty,

and coming to Peoria, began its practice. He was a

former partner of the late Chas. Ballance, and after his

death continued the practice for some time alone. Was
later associated in business with Mr. H. W. Reynolds,

and then successively with Mr. Moss, Mr. L. A. Lap-

ham, and Mr. Bassett, finally, on date above mentioned,

with his present partner, Mr. Tennery. They conduct

a large practice in general law and chancery matters.

COPES JACOB M. United States gauger, was

born in Tazewell county, Illinois, in 1838. Remained

there until 1861, when he volunteered as a soldier in

Company E, 47th Illinois Infantry, and served three

years. Re-enlisted and served until l865. Was mus-

tered out as sergeant major, and was respected by all

his comrades. Married Miss Clara Waldron, October

4, 1870, a native of Peoria, and a teacher in the public

schools for a number of years. One child blessed this

union. Mr. C. is a member of the Masonic Order and

the G. A. R. Mrs. C. is a member of the Presbyterian

Church,

Oostello John J., laborer, res. 208 First street.

Couch A. A., attorney. 218 Fourth street.

COUCH HERRIMAN, physician and sur-

geon, 800 N. Adams street, was born on the 20th day

of April, 1824, in Merrimack county. New Hampshire,

where he remained until 1840, then went to Concord

and entered upon the study of medicine and worked at

printing business as a means of support. In 1843 went

to Boston and attended his first course of lectures, and

remained two years. Then, on account of failing health,

traveled abroad three years. Came to New Orleans.

From there went to Wisconsin. Married AnnaParshal

in 1848, and in 1850 came to Peoria and commenced

the publication of a weekly paper called the Voice of

the People, it being the third paper published in Peoria.

In April, 1852, his first wife died, and in 1854 married

Mrs. M. A. Gilbert, a native of New York city, who

came here in 183^. The fruit of this marriage was two

children— a boy and girl. Mr. H. was in the War of

the Rebellion about 18 months ; has pursued the prac-

tice of medicine since. His family are members of the

Congregational Church. While in South America, he

went aboard a ship which proved to be a slaver, and

while on a trip to the east coast of Africa, were over-

hauled by an English frigate and taken into Cape Town
on suspicion, but there not being evidence sufficient

to convict, were released.

Coulson W. A. res. 118 S. Jeiferson street.
Co-well B. wall paper, etc., 211 S. Adams street.
Cox Jos. gardener, res. Knoxville road n. city.
Cox L. carpenter, 215 Seventli street.

COX WIL.L1IAM, printer, cor. of Hamilton and

Jefi'erson streets. Was born in Somersetshire, Eng-

land, in 1857, son of George and Ann Cox, nee Mat-

thews, also natives of England (Northampshire),

came to the United States in Jan. 1878, stopped at

Rochester eight months, thence to Peoria in Oct. 1878,

and established the job printing oflSce of Cox & Co.

the following Nov. and has been the senior partner un-
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til March iSSo, when he sold out to his partner, J. N.

Kirkpitrick. The establishment has had a large run

of business from the first. His parents have emigrated

since he came and now own a farm at Harkers Corners

in this county. There are ten children in the family

all now in this country save one.

Gralff Jane, res. 104 I^lnn street.
Crawley James, res, 610 KnoxvlUe road.

CRATTY THOMAS, attorney and counsellor

at law, of the firm of Cratty Brothers, is a descendant

of Irish parentage, his great grandfather having emi-

grated from that country in 1760, and settled in Penn-

sylvania. Mr. Cratty's grandfather was born in

Franklin Co., Penn., and fought in the war of the

Revolution. William Cratty, the father of Thomas,

was born in Butler Co., Eenn., June 20, 1805, but

remoyed to Ohio in 1814. In April, 1826 he married

Miss Candice Bennett, who was born in Rhode Island,

Dec. 25, 1805. She was the mother of twelve children,

four sons and eight daughters, two of the former and

five of the latter living. Mrs. C. died in Elmwood,

Peoria Co., Jan. 27, 1875. Thomas was horn in Dela-

ware Co., O. His early education was limited, chiefly

to the Winter terms in the district school, while the

Summers were spent in labor on the farm. He taught

several years prior to 1854, made a tour of the Southern

States, and spent some time there in teaching, return-

ing to Illinois in 1856 ; engaged in farming four years,

when financial reverses compelled a change of avocation.

Entered the Chicago Law School, from which he

graduated in 1861, and was immediately admitted to

practice. Poverty necessitated the most rigid economy

during his attendance at law school, and he was com-

pelled to give his note for tuition, payable from the first

moneys earned in practice. Mr. Cratty was one of four

graduates selected by the faculty to conduct a moot

trial at a public exhibition given as a graduating exer-

eise. He began practice in Elmwood with a meager

outfit, and one law book as a library. In the Fall of

1863 he formed a partnership with W. W. O'Brien, then

a prominent attorney of Peoria, which lasted three

years and yielded a prosperous business. In January,

1872, the present law firm of Cratty Brothers was

created, by the admission of his only brother, Josiah

Cratty, to the profession. The business of the firm has

become so large as to require the employment of sev-

eral assistants, one a short hand reporter. Their offices

and consultation rooms are on the first floor of their

building facing the Court-house on S. Jefferson street,

and are among the finest and most ample in the West.

In journalism, Mr. C. in company with Leslie Robi-

son, published the Peoria Review., a. Republican news-

paper, with daily, tri-weekly and weekly editions, in

1871, '72 and '73 ; but finding it detracted too largely

from professional duties, they disposed of their office

and outfit in the latter year. He helped to organize

the first Teacher's Institute in Knox Co. ; the Paper

Manufacturing Co., of Elmwood ; the Chamber of Com-
merce Association of Peoria ; the Merchant's Exchange

and the Peoria Mercantile Library, and their success is

due in no small degree to his judicious counsel and

material aid. For several years he delivered weekly

lectures before the students of Cole's Commercial Col-

lege. Mr. C. has never married.

Josiah Cratty is the youngest of the family ; was born

in Delaware Co., O. ; served as a cavalry soldier in the

late war, part of the time as Gen, Sheridan's body

guard; married Libbie M. Earing of Peoria in 1875,

and has one son.

Cramer J. C. insurance (Cramer & Slevin), res. 619 MoBeaa st.

Crawl Robt. wagon maker, 810 Main street.
Crawley James, res. 610 Knoxvllle road.

CREMER BERNARD, editor and proprietor

of the Demokrat.

Cress J. P. coal, 209 N. Washington street.
Cross Wm. res. 1508 N. Jefferson street,
Cruger Wm. H. res. 213 S. Jefferson street.
Crumpley F. S. restaurant, res. Ill Cbss street.
Culbertson C. C. carpenter, res. 410 Maple street.
Cullen Annie, res. 308 Laveiile street.
Cullen Joiin, rags, 604 Johnson street.

CUMMERFORD M. V. B. grocer, 327 Main

street.

CUMMINGS DAVID M. (deceased) late of the

firm of Cummings & Emerson, 416 and 418 S. Wash-

ington street, was born March 29, 1824, in Oswego
county, N. Y., one of nine children, the country was

new ; there were no luxuries and but few comforts,

and toil was the portion of all the children ; and David

was early compelled to find his own support. He
moved to Oneida county, N. Y., when quite young, and

was soon familiar with all the duties which a lad can

perform on a farm. When he was 16 years old his

mother died and he went forth from home to make his

way alone. His mother's memory clung to him all

through his life, and to his latest breath held the

warmest place in his heart. When Mr. C. left home he

engaged with a farmer at nine dollars per month, a

moderate sum even in those days. He found no fault

with his wages, doing always the best he could, consid-

ering this simply honest and fair. He now perceived

the necessity of an education which the hard labor of

his younger days had forbidden, and not quarreling

with his fortune, uselessly repining over lost time, he

set himself to get the rudiments. With close attention

to his studies, at the age of twenty-three, offered him-

self as teacher and taught two years successfully in

Waterville, N. Y., then removing to Illinois he opened

a school in Peoria. In 1850 he was among the ad-

venturous young men who were flocking to California,

for one year followed mining, but with indifferent suc-

cess. His quick eye perceived that money was to be

dug out of the earth in other forms than those of the
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yellow metal. He planted a garden and fed the men who
labored in the mines. During the four years in Califor-

nia he accumulated five or six thousand dollars, and in

1854 returned to Peoria and entered into business. In

1858 he undertook a hotel in Springfield, 111., and lost

every cent he had made in the seven preceding years.

Penniless he found his way back to Peoria, turning his

hands to what offered a living. In the beginning of

he war he enlisted in the nth Illinois Cavalry, and

was in continual service until 1863, when he resigned.

Married Miss Eliza Hibben, February 7, 1871, at

Hillsborough, Ohio, whom he left with two children.

Mr. C. died at his residence in Peoria, January 25,

1878, in the 54th year of his age.

Cutter R. A. res. 400 N. Madison street.

CUNNINGHAM DANIEL, blacksmith, cor.

Washington and Hamilton streets, was born in the

C'lunty Dublin, Ireland, 1839. Came to the U.S. in

1850 and located in Westchester county, N. Y., and in

Peoria, 1857, where he engaged in his present business.

He married Miss Ann Henneberry, Nov. 22, 1861.

She is a native of the county Kilkenny, Ireland. They

have seven children : Lizzie, Daniel, Annie, John,

Nicholas, Nathan and Edward. They are members of

the Catholic Church. Mr. Cunningham was elected

school director in 1870, and supervisor, 1875. He is an

accomplished musician. He organized the Cecelian Band

of Peoria, i860, which he disbanded in 1861—the mem-

bers going into the army. At close of the wat, the

band was reorganized under the leadership of Mr. Cun-

ningham. He is a whole-souled, good-hearted gentle-

man, a good citizen and successful business man.

CUNNING-HAM J. M. res. 109 Second street.

Curtis J. W. 719 Carpenter street.
Curtain John, blacltsmltli T., P. & W. res. 510 Elliott street,
Cuttertan James, laborer, 4U6 St. James street.

CUTBIGHT THOMAS V. attorney at law.

112 N. Adams street, was born in Chillicothe.O., Janu-

ary 20, 1815, and is the son of Nat. and Margaret

(Veail) Cutright. His father was a native of Fayette

county, Ky., and his mother of Botetourt county, Va.

He was raised in his native town till nineteen years of

age, then removed to Fayette county, O., with his parents

and four brothers. While in Chillicothe, he learned the

trade of cabinet-maker, and after his removal to Fay-

ette county, read law with Judge A. S. Dickie for one

year. Removing to Detroit, Mich., he worked at his

trade for one winter, then went to Brownsville, Tex.

;

read law for four months, and was admitted to the bar

in the Fall of 1837. He came to Illinois in 1847, and

settled in Chillicothe, Peoria county, and for a year or

two practiced law and worked at his trade at the same

time, but in later years devoted his whole attention to

his profession. He was admitted to the bar of Illinois

at Peoria, in the year 1865. His residence in Chilli-

cothe extended over a period of twenty-seven years, and

he removed to Peoria in 1874. He was city attorney

for some years in the former place, and has filled the

ofiice of justice of the peace in Peoria. He married

(ist) in Mt. Sterling, 111., Sept. 1842, Miss Maria Ow-

ens, a native of Ohio, by whom he had one child, Le-

Grand B. Cutright, who was killed at the battle of Pea

Ridge. His wife died in August, 1843, and he married

(2d) in Richmond Dale, Ross county, O., April, 1849,

Mrs. Mary Ann Moffitt, a native of Ireland, by whom

he had three children, all living : Nathaniel S., James

M. and John W. She died in Chillicothe, 111., in March,

1859, and he married (3d) in the .same place, April, 1861,

Miss Annie T. Collins, a native of Wicklow, Ireland,

by whom he has had four children, two now alive : The-

odore V. and Alice T. Mr. Cutright is in politics a

Jackson Democrat.

CUTTER WM. 117 S. Washington street, of

the firm of Wrigley & Cutter. Is the son of lisaac and

Sarah (Metcalf ) Cutter. Father was a native of Ver-

mont ; mother, of Ohio. They came to Illinois at an

early day, where the subject of this sketch was born on

the nth day of February, 1844. Received his educa-

tion in Delphos, O., where he was sent to live with an

uncle. When twenty-seven years of age, he enlisted in

the32d Ohio Infantry, Co. C, mustered at (Camp Deni-

son.) O. Was in the engagement at Cheat Mountain,

and in the Shenandoah Valley, Va. Was taken

prisoner, with 1,500 others, at Winchester, in the Spring

of 1862. Was in Libby Prison five and one-half

months, was paroled, took the small pox, and was

sent to Annapolis. Was a mere skeleton, weighing

only no pounds, when he got into Federal ranks.

Thence sent to Ohio, until he was exchanged and joined

his regiment at Chattanooga, and was appointed orderly

sergeant. (Before being taken prisoner, was appointed

division postmaster, which he held at that time. Was
suspected of being an officer, and for that reason was

kept in solitary confinement for forty-eight hours.)

Was at Atlanta, where he helped to build the breast-

works ; and at its surrender, which was the last of his

soldiering. Returned to French Grove, in this county,

where he taught school for one winter and then came

to Peoria, where he attended Cole's Commercial Col-

lege. In 1865 or 66, engaged for Geo. McClellan, Auer

& White, as clerk, where he remained four years.

Then engaged in the grocery business in company with

Auer, firm Auer & Cutter. Mr. Wrigley having bought

Mr. Auer's interest, the firm is known as Wrigley &
Cutter. Carry a stock of $5,000, and do a business of

$50,000 per year. Married Miss Jennie Wrigley Oct.

20, 1869. She was born in Peoria county. The fruit

of this marriage is three children: Anna, Charlie

and May.

Dailey Jobn, cooper, 1610 N. Madison street.



PEORIA





PEORIA CITY DIRECTORY. 639

DAILEY JOHHf, shoemaker, res. 317;^ N.

Adams street. Son of Joseph and Mary Dailey. Was
born in Hampshire county, Mass., May 25, 1828. Emi-

grated with his parents, when he was five years old, to

York State. In 1847, enlisted in Co. E, Third Dragoons,

Capt. Wm. H. Duff. Mustered in at New York, and

received a bounty of $12 and got $8 per month. Land-

ed at Vera Cruz in June. Thence, under command of

Gen. Perco, to Pueblo, where they joined Gen. Scott.

Thence, to the Valley of Mexico, where they partici-

pated in the battle of Contreras, and acted as Gen.

Scott's body guard. Thence, to Cherubusco, where

they were led by Gen. Harney. Thence, to the City of

Mexico, where they took quarters in the halls of Mon-

tezuma. Was on the raid with Gen. Joseph Lane, in

pursuit of the guerrilla Garouta. In the Spring of 1848,

thirti^men were taken out of his command, and the

same number of Capt. Porter's mounted riflemen, who
escorted Seward and Clifford to Yurretero on their

commission to ratify a treaty. Thence, back to Mexico

City. Rode from Mexico to Vera Cruz, three hundred

miles, in three days, escorting Maj. Polk, who took the

report to Washington. Thence, back to New Orleans

and St. Louis, where he was mustered out, Aug., 1848.

Thence, to New York State, and in 1849 came to Peo-

ria county. Married Miss Ann Wright. She was born

in Ireland. Mr. Dailey moved to Kansas, where he

lost his wife in i860. From there, went via New Or-

leans to Boston, on boat, the first transport leaving New
Orleans after Butler arrived there. Enlisted in the 28th

Regiment, Mass. Vols., Co. K. Joined the regiment at

Frederick City, Md., participating in the battles of

South Mountain, Antietam, and Fredericksburg, where

he was wounded through the thighs and was taken to

Emery Hospital, Washington, D. C, where he was

discharged.

Dally John M. res. 713 Hale street.

1>AILY M. C. Chief of Police, City Hall, was

born in county Kerry, Ireland, Dec. 10, 1842, and is

tbe son of Martin Daily and Catharine Horgan, natives

of that county. When about eight years of age he

came to America with his parents, landing at New
York. They settled at Middletown, Conn., and re-

sided there for eight years, where he received his edu-

cation. In 1858 he came to Peoria. He enlisted in

April, 1861, in Co. A, 17th 111. Vol. Inf. under Captain

Norton, and served with his regin'ent till June 2, 1864,

on which dale he was mustered out at Springfield, 111.

He took part' in the battles of Frederickstown, Mo., Ft.

Henry, Ft. Donelson, Pittsburgh Landing, Corinth,

X'icksburgh and many others. He married, June 22,

li-fy-j. in Peoria, Miss Mary A. Hanlon, a native of this

( .'1 IV, and daughter of Timothy Hanlon, by whom he

1,1 ;r. il three children— two now alive : Maggie E.,

Iv . ii, and Martin C. (deceased). He worked at vari-

ous occupations for some time ; kept a saloon for many

years. He received the appointment ofChiefof Police

January i, 1874, and has since filled that office, except

during the years 1876 and 1877, proving himself one of

the most vigilant and efficient officers the city has ever

had. He owns his residence and lot on Caroline street,

and himself and wife are members of the Catholic

Church.

Daily Feter, boot and shoe maker. I<i29^ S. Adams street.
Oalrsmon G. toy^ etc. 413 Main street.
Daley J. laborer, res. 603 Hiirlbut street.

Dalton Jas. fireman, 137 Irving street,
Dalton John, potter, Cross street.
Daly C. S. solicitor. National Democrat.
Daniels D. N. finisher. 116 Main street.
Daniels H. M. painter, 802 S. Washington street.
Daniels Thos. saloon, S04 S. Washington street.

Daniels Wra, grocer, cor. Main and Hale streets.
Darmody T. res. Newgate avenue.

DAKST JACOB, real estate dealer and cap-

italist, res. cor. Monroe and Fayette streets ; is one of

Peoria's early settlers and most successful businessmen.

He was born in Meigs county, Ohio, on September 16,

1815. At the age of seventeen his father gave him his

time, and he started out in life with fifty cents of cash

capital; woiked on the Ohio canal until he earned I50,

then labored several months in the iron works at Ports-

mouth, O.; was then employed a year for the Kenawha
salt works in West Virginia, boating salt down the

Ohio river. Mr. D. enjoyed very meager school ad-

vantages; but acute /observing powers and retentive

memory have rendered him well informed. He early

imbibed the maxim that " time is money," and acted

accordingly. In June, 1835, Mr. Darst came to Pe-

oria; quarried stone on the Kickapoo for a time; then

clerked in a general store for Aquilla Wren, in Peoria,

six months ; afterwards engaged in coal mining and

breaking prairie with ox teams, in the mean time trad-

ing and speculating, and in 1839 had accumulated $1,-

500 ; engaged in shipping pork and produce down the

Mississippi, and lost his entire capital by a devastating

storm; returned to Peoria with $13 in his pocket;

hired again to Mr. Wren, remaining in his employ

shipping produce three years, when failing health com-

pelled him to seek the country, where he spent two

years hunting. Being much improved, he began oper-

ating in coal and speculating in land, in which business

he made $15,000 in five years ; and at the end of that

time embarked in the dry goods trade in company with

Mr. Dougherty. Not being pleased with the re-ults,

he again engaged in real estate business; and by i860

had made $100,000 above a living. Mr. D. has amassed

a fortune of $350,000, chiefly in Peoria city property,

valuable coal mining lands and Western lands. Mr.

Darst married Catharine M. Dougherty December 16,

1839, ^y whom he had eleven children, three living.

Mrs. D. died March 12, 1861. He married his present

wife, formeily Ellen R. Leonard, of Auburn, N. Y., iu

1863, who has borne him one child.
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Dangherty James M. police magistrate.
Daum Jos. peddler, rea. 218 Third street.
Davidson Jolin, carpenter, 1216 N. Monroe street.
Davis Jas. F. engineer. Water street. Ft. Gay.

DAVIS ROBERT S. druggist, 125 Main

street, was born in Selbyville, Tenn., April 21, 1844,

and is the son of Thomas L. and Eliza Davis. His

father was a native of Virginia and his mother of Ire-

land. In 1849 his parents removed to Peoria, where

he grew up and was educated, and at fifteen years of

age commenced to learn the drug business with his

brother, with whom he remained till 1872, when he be-

gan business for himself at his present location. He
married, in 1870, Miss Camilla A. Luther, a native of

Peoria, whose parents were very old residents of the

city, by whom he has three children— Nellie, born

March I, 1872, Howard, born November, 1875, and

Vida, born November, 1877. He has a good business,

and carries a stock of about $2,500. Makes a rat

poison (phosphorus paste) which is remarkably effective

in its results, and of which he has quite a large sale.

He owns his residence and lot in the city.

Davis Thos. J. carpenter, 802 S. Washington street.
Davis T. W. machinist T., P. & W. res. 310 St. James street,
Davis W. H. res. 714 Jackson street.

DAWS liOUISA Mrs. res. 1601 N. Jefferson

street, was born in London, England, July 25, 1831.

Came to this country in 1836 with her parents, who
settled in Tazewell county. 111., where her father is still

living on the same place where he located, at the age of

eighty-four. Mrs. Daws was married to Frederick W.
Aubury, of London, Eng., on the 17th day of February,

1854. Remained in Tazewell county until 1867 (Mr.

Aubury being deceased). She married Edward Daws,

of Kent, Eng., January 8, 1867, when they came to

Peoria and located. Mr. Dawes was a cabinet maker
by trade and soon built up a lucrative business. By
industry and close attention to business accumulated a

fine property and home. Was a member of the Episco-

pal Church and a consistent Christian, and loved and

respected by all who knew him. Mr. Dawes came to

Peoria in 1834; stayed a short time, when he removed

to Tazewell county, and in 1854 returned to Peoria,

where he remained until his death.

DAYBROTHERS, butchers, 1020 First street,

are natives of New Ross, county Wexford, Ireland, and

came to America and Peoria in 1872. Their mother

died December 22, 1876, and their father March 24,

1S80. Their parents had six children, two daughers,

now deceased, and four sons— Nicholas, Richard, Wil-

liam A. and Patrick F. The brothers' store is on the

corner of First and Elliott streets. They also trade

largely in cattle. All are members of the Catholic

Church.

Day Bros. & Co. dry goods, 113&115S. Adams street.
Day Chas. B. dry goods, res. 209 Perry street.
Day Ez. res. 408 N. Jefferson street.
Day Larkln B. CD. B. & Co.) res. 304 N. Itladlson street.
DayL. L. wholesale dry goods, 113J&11SS. Adams street.
Deal Adam, painter, res. 1008 N. Washington street.

WEANE CHAS. H. hotel keeper, "The In-

gersoll," coiner Hamilton and N. Jefferson streets, was

born in Taunton, Mass., August 24, 1827, and is the

son of Jesse Deane, whose ancestry reaches back to the

old Plymouth Colony in 1626, and thence to Somerset-

fhire, England. His life, to the age of ten years, was

spent in his native town and there he received the ad-

vantages of the common schools. In 1837 he removed

with his family to Peoria, and has resided there ever

since, with the exception of about ten months, during

the Mexican war and the time spent in the army during

the rebellion. On the first occasion he went to New
Orleans with recruits for the 3d 111. Regt., but as the

war terminated ahovLt the time he reached New Orleans

he went no further than that city. Shortly after his re-

turn he ran a year or two as steward on a river steam-

boat and made several trips to New Orleans on flat

boats, afterwards engaging as clerk and book-keeper for

various firms, until November, 1857, when he went into

business for himself, dealing in clothing, furnishing,

regalia and secret society goods, which he continued

until 1861, when he sold out and went into the army,

entering the service as 1st Lieut, in the 86 Regt. I. V. I.

under command of Col. D. D. Irons of Peoria
;
served

with the army in Kentucky, Tennessee, Georgia and

Alabama, and was mustered out April 20, 1866 with

the rank of Brevet. Lieut.-Colonel, On his return he

opened the Metropolitan Hotel, then just completed,

and ran it till March i, 1867, when he sold out and

bought the interest of A. Freeman in the Peoria House.

He began to make improvements and alterations in it,

and by his intense energy and application brought it to

a high position among the hotels of the West.

Debars H. res. 1308 N. Monroe street.
Dee Pat, res, 1008 Third street.

DEGAJJ JOHN, blacksmith and wagon maker,

6oi N. Adams street, was born in Germany July ii,

1825, emigrated to America in 1857, and settled in

Chicago and was there about three years. Thence to

St. Louis and remained there six years. In 1866 he

came to Peoria and engaged in his present business.

Was married in St. Louis and by this union there were

four children, two boys and two girls. His brother,

Edward, came to this country with him, and they have

been in partnership since.

DelOng C. C. expres.s, division supt. 1008 N. JeHerson street.
Delwig Mrs. M. 714 N. Monroe street.
Dencke Mrs. M. res. 211 JSlm street.
Denges Anton, res. 200 S. Madison street.

DENNEHY DANIEL, boot and shoe maker

and dealer, 329 S. Adams street, was born in county

Cork, Ireland, in 1837, and is the son of Daniel and

Bridget (McCarthy) Dennehy, natives of county Cork.

He came alone to America when fourteen years of age,

and landed at New York. Remained in Boston for

one year and then removed to Randolph, Mass.,

where he learned his trade, and worked at it for five or
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six years. Removed to Quincy, Mass., and after

rambling around a good deal finally came to Peoria in

the Summer of 1874, and started for himself at custom

work. He came to his present location in June, 1877,

and at that time laid in a stock of ready made goods.

He married July 8, i860, in Randolph, Mass., Miss

Mary Murphy, a native of county Limerick, Ireland,

by whom he has had seven children, four now living,

Ellen T., Mary A., Annie M., and Daniel. Mr.

Dennehy and wife are members of the Catholic Church.

Dennis C. J., dentist 413 Main street.
Desmond Margaret, res. 200 Cedar street.
Detmers George, teamster, a06 McBeynolds street.
Detwiler A., Ice, res. 405 N. Monroestreet.

DETWEILBR HENRY, wholesale and re-

tail ice dealer, 108 S. Adams street, was born in

Lorraine, France, on the igthof June, 1825 ; is the son

of Christian and Catherine Detweiler nee Schertz, the

former a native of Bavaria, the latter of France. Mr.

Detweiler, sr., was engaged in farming and milling, and

also the transfer business, in which he amassed quite a

large fortune, but meeting with reverses during the war
of 1812 and 1813, from which he never recovered, he

died in 1832, in straightened circumstances. In the

Spring of 1837, Mr. D. immigrated to the United States

with his mother and three sisters, landing at New York
after a voyage of sixty-eight days on the ocean. Through

the instigation of an older brother, John, who had

located in Peoria three years previously, only they came
on to this city, consuming forty-two days on the route.

The mother and one sister died the following year. The
two first years after his arrival Mr. D. worked for his

brother, and attended school at intervals ; then clerked

in a shoe store for Charles McLellen on Main street

;

also in a clothing store a year ; and on April 15,1841,

went on the steamboat " Frontier," to learn piloting,

under Milton Hasbrock, where he remained until she

collided with the Panama, at 3 A. M., on September 2,

1842. The following Spring the company built the

new steamer, Chicago, on which he shipped as second

pilot, under Mr. Hasbrock, till the Spring of 1844,

when, that boat being drawn off the river, he went on to

the Raritan in the same capacity ; and the next year

took the position of first pilot on the new boat. Gov-

ernor Briggs ; and after June, 1846, ran her from Ga-

lena to New Albany, on the upper Mississippi, as a

mail and passenger boat. In the Spring of 1847 took

her through a course of repairs at St. Louis, and put

her into the trade between that city and Alton. For

several years following Mr. D. officiated as pilot or

captain on a number of steamboats ; became joint owner

of the " Movaster" in 1856 ; in 1857 sold her, and in

1858, the sole proprietor of the Minnesota. In the

iSpring of 1862 he went into the government service as

inaster of the "Jenny Lind"; and in July, 1863,

changed to the " Yankee," which he had charge of till

the close of the war. While running these government

transports he performed a very important and often

hazardous service. The Yankee sailed from St. Louis

for New Orleans the latter part of October, 1863, with

a cargo valued at more than $250,000, and landed her

freight safely in the Crescent City in due time. So

great was the danger to which his vessel was exposed

during those perilous years, that Capt. D. practiced

various schemes to evade the enemy. It was disguised

as a gunboat, on some occasions, and run under the

strict regime of one ; and while the other transport ves-

sels were fired into frequently, and greatly damaged or

destroyed, the Yankee never received but one shot.

After the close of the war, Capt.- Detweiler ran the

Beaver until he abandoned the river, in 1874. In the

Fall of 1870, he had embarked in the ice business in

company with N. L. Woodruff, in which relation he

continued until December, 1876, when the partnership

was dissolved, since which time Mr. D. has carried on

a large wholesale and retail ice trade in his own name.

The traffic has steadily grown, until the present capac-

ity of his houses is 10,500 tons. On November 5, 1848.

Mr. D. married Magdalen Bachmann, also a native of

France, who has borne him seven children ; five living,

Amelia, Matilda, Thomas H., William H., and Mattie

H. Henry, the oldest, died at the age of twenty-seven,

and Emma at the age of three years. Besides the capi-

tal invested in his business, Mr. D. owns several pieces

of property in the city.

Devar E. M. grocer, 712 Main street.

DE WEEKTH R. saloon and res. 801 S. Jeffer-

son street.

Dewine J. H. 106 N. Orange street.

DICKINSON EDWARD Dr. (deceased),

res. of widow, 600 Knoxville road. Dr. Dickinson was

born in Hadley, Mass., Feb. 15, i8oi, and after re-

ceiving his primary education in his native town,

entered Yale College, but on account of ill-health, d id

not comple e his classical education. He afterwards

entered Pennsylvania Medical University, where he

graduated with honor in the class of 1830. He studied

his profession with Dr. Twilchell of Keene, N. H.,

and entered into partnership with Dr. Flint, of North-

ampton, Mass., where he practiced until ill-health

drove him to a warmer climate. He married in 1831

Miss Catherine Jones, daughter of the late Edward

Jones»of the Treasury Department of Washington, D.

C. They came to Peoria in 1835, where he practiced

his profession until his death, which occurred in his

sixty-fifth year. He was president of the Peoria Medi-

cal Association, a year previous to his death. Dr.

Dickinson was a true gentleman of the old school ; a

man of sterling integrity and strong mind. No man
was ever more strictly honest, or had a higher sense of
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honor. These qualities, with his urbane manners, his

dignity, his eminently acute sense of propriety under

all circumstances, the conscientious discharge of all his

duties, and his devotion to his profession, made him a

typical physician, and won for him the confidence and

esteem of all who knew him.

Dickson W. D. res. 713 Jackson street.
Dllger Herman carpenter, res. 319 Smitli street.
Dillon Christopher fireman, res. Newgate avenue.
Dlmock W. C. notions, 121 N. Adams street.

DIRKSON FRANK, fresco and scenic artist,

res. 305 Evans stree.t, was born in Germany in 1842,

and reared on a farm until thirteen years of age, when,

determining to devote his life to decorative art, and

being strongly opposed by his father he left home and

began the business. A year later he hired on board of

a ship, to earn means to prosecute his studies, and made
a tour of the world. He entered the Academy of De-

sign in Dusseldorf, Germany, and spent three seasons,

working at intervals to pay expenses. Went thence to

Hanover and studied scenic painting in the Theater

Royal; from there went to London, and continued that

branch of the art in Covent Garden, with Talbin, one

of the most noted scenic painters of his time. Came to

Canada on an engagement to the Theatre Royal,

Montreal, in 1859 ! returned to Europe in i860, spent

a iseason in Paris in study, came to New York in 1862,

remaining there until he entered the army in 1863
;

served until the close of the war, on board the sloop of

war " Dale, " as acting gunner. Returned to New
York, spent a season painting, went to Buffalo, engag-

ed three years on decorative work ; was one of the

original designers of Black Crook, and helped to paint

the scenery while there, went to Canada and produced

Black Crook one season, realizing $6,000. In 1867

Mr. D. married Mary Brandon, in Buffalo. In 1871

they crossed the lakes intending to locate in Chicago,

but the great fire changed their purpose, and they set-

tled down in Peoria. Mr. Dirkson did the decorative

work on the Peoria county court-house ; has gained a

celebrity in his art, winning twenty-five medals and

numerous other prizes in public contests. He receives

extensive orders from other States. Their family con-

sists of two children, Katie and Frank.

Dlstler Paul furniture, North street.
Dixon G. W., attorney, 120 N. Adams.

DOBBINS WM. J., retired grain and ice deal-

er, res. 712 Hamilton street, was bom in Allentown,

Penn., in 1818 ; is the second of three children, two

sons and a daughter, of William Dobbins and Mary
Wagner, natives of Penn. He was reared in his native

town where he learned the trade of cabinet-maker ; but

his health failing a few years later, went to clerking in

a drug store and reading medicine ; disliked that and

soon abandoned it. In 1849, was elected a represen-

tative in the Legislature from Schuylkill Co. ; was

twice re-elected in 1850 and 1851. For four years en-

gaged in the employ of the Pennsylvania R.R. Co., and

in the Spring of 1856, came to Peoria, the following

Fall, built a distillery in Wesley city ; ran it two years

;

sold out and engaged in malting and dealing in grain

eight years ; then in company with two other parties

under the firm name of Dobbins & Co., erected the

Central City elevator, which was burned two years later.

After being out of business two years, Mr. D. spent

four years in the ice trade, at the expiration of which

he retired. In 1867 he married Eliza Gibons, also a

native of Allentown, Pa., later of Princeton, 111. Mr.

D. owns several pieces of property in the city.

DEWEIX VAIiBNTINE, (of V. Dewein &

Co.) dealer in leather and shoe findings, 108 S. Adams

street, was born in Bavaria, Germany, April 1st, 1817,

and is the son of Valentine and Margaret (Gold) De-

wein, both natives of Bavaria. He came to America

with them in 1828, landing at Baltimore in September

of that year. In the December following they settled

on a farm in Bedford county. Pa., and resided on it till

1833, when they moved to Cincinnati, C, and resided

there and in Maysville, Ky., up to 1847, and then re-

turned to Cincinnati. Mr. Dewein began to learn his

trade of shoemaker in Pennsylvania, and finished it in

Cincinnati. He married in Maysville, Ky., August 20.

1844, Margaret Schaffer, a native of Baden, Germany,

who came to America when five years old. In 1847 he '

left Cincinnati for Peoria, and came to it on March 17 ;

began to make custom boots and shoes, and sell leather,

and gave up the former branch of his business in 1854

;

is the oldest established leather house in Peoria, and

for many years has done a very extensive trade ;
carries

a stock of about $10,000. Mr. Dewein has been an

active, enterprising and pushing man, and has done

much towards the development of the city of his adop-

tion. He was for many years connected with the rail-

road interests of Peoria county ; was the organizer of

the P. & R. I. R. R., and acted as secretary and treas-

urer of it until its completion ; has been a director of

the T., P. & W. R. R. for seven or eight years, and

director of Mechanics' National Bank for nine years.

He owns his residence on Knoxville Road, corner

Chambers street and Armstrong avenue, a block of val-

uable property on the bluff, besides other properties in

the business portion of the city. Mr. and Mrs. Dewein

are members of the First Presbyterian Church.

Dodge S. W. grain sampler, res. 202 Fayette street.

DODGE Wm. M. real estate agent, 124 N.

Adams street.

DoerinK Daniel J. peddler, res. 702 Cedar street.
Doerlng Paul. res. 817 Monson street.

Doersch J. grocer, 1101 N. Madison street.

DOHENY JAMES, plumber, 404 Main street.

Dolan Jas. C, dealer in real estate, res, 505 N, Adams street.
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DOLAN JOHN, marble dealev, Ii8 Fulton street.

Doll Flilllip, boot and shoe maker, SOS Sixth street.
Donavaii John W. oar repairer T., P, & W.
Donahue Pat, laborer, res. 107 Seventh street.

DONIilN BERNARD, merchant, 123 N.

Washington street, was born in Longford county, Ire-

land, in 1809, and received his education in his native

county ; came to America in 1828 ; landed in New
York, remained there a short time, then went to New
Orleans and engaged as clerk, after which went into the

wholesale and commission business and remained there

about twenty years ; came to Peoria, where he followed

farming and the grain business. Married Catherine

Burn. She was born in Ireland. lias ten living chil-

dren, three boys and seven girls.

Donnelly Miles, machinist, 600 S. Water street.

DONNELLY RICHARD, wholesale dealer

in wines and liquors, 924 N. Adams street, was born on

the 14th day of February, 1846, in county Wexford,

Ireland ; emigrated to the United States in 1852, and

after traveling over several of the New England States,

finally pulled up in the city of Peor'ia, 111., and in 1877

engaged in his present business, and by close attention

to business has built up a good trade, and has accumu-

lated some money. Married Miss M. J. Kreaps in

October, 1877. She was a native of Peoria. The fruit

of this marriage is one son. In politics a Democrat.

Donohoe T. meal man foot Lisk street, res. 115 South street.
Dood Henry, 608 Pecan street.
Doran Dennis, res. 203 First street.
Doty Wm. engineer, res. 412 Sixth street.
Dougherty J»mes, police magistrate City Hall.

DOWDALL WILLIAM T. editor and

proprietor National Democrat and Review, printing and

binding, 117 Main street, res. Richwoods.

Downing D. boots and sho6s, 227 Main street.

DOWNS JOHN, butcher, 722 First street,

was born in county Clare, Ireland, June 24, 1846, and

is the son of James and Ann (O'Donnell) Downs, na-

tives of that county. He grew to manhood on his

father's farm, and in 1864 came to America, landing at

New York in May, of that year ; went first to St. Louis,

and after a short stay came to Litchfield, Montgomery
county. 111., where he worked in a machine shop for

about three years, and in 1867 went to Chicago, re-

maining there for four years, and returning to Litchfield

engaged in the boot and shoe business in partnership

with his brother-in-law, until the Spring of 1875, when

they were burnt out, and during the succeeding Sum-

mer engaged in the grocery business, afterwards selling

out„his interest to his partner, and coming to Peoria in

October, 1876, started in business at his present loca-

tion. He married in Litchfield, 111., May 14, 1867,

Miss Martha McNamara, a native of his own county,

born in 1847, by whom he has had five children, three

now alive, James, John and Agnes. Mr. Downs was

elected a member of the Board of Education from the

6th ward of Peoria in 1877, and has since been re-

elected to the office. He was also elected by the board

to the post of .secretary, January, 1879, ^""i l'** since

held the office. Mr. Downs is in politics a Democrat,

and he and his wife are members of the Catholic

Church.

DOYLE ANDREW, carpenter and contract-

ro, 822 First street, was born in county Wicklow,Ireland,

May 10, 1835, son of George and Margaret (O'Rorke)

Doyle ; emigrated to America, August. i85i,and located

in Cleveland, O., thence came to Peoria, in 1855. Was
married December, 1855, to Jane Mooney. She was

born in county Dublin, Ireland, in 1833. They have

had eight children, seven living, George J., Janey K.,

John P., Margaret E., Anna M., Nellie E. and Mary

S., one dead, James. Mr. D. has carried on his trade

and accumulated property to the amount of $15,000 ;

has held a number of offices in the city, never having

sought for any ; was member of City Council and su-

pervisor, which position was the cause of saving the

county a good many dollars.

Doyle C. carpenter. 822 First street.
Doyle Jas. carpenter B. I. <jb P. res. 101 White street.
Doyle John, carpenter, res. 822 First street.
Doyle Thos. res. 518 Hurlbut street.

DOUGLASS T, W. conductor T., P. & W.
R. R., 701 First street, was born in West Chazee, Clin-

ton county, N. Y., in 1847, and is the son of George

and Pauline (Vanbuskirk) Douglass, natives of New
York. He was raised in his native county until about

fifteen years of age, when he removed to Ogdensburg,

N. Y., and there entered the railroad business and has

since followed.it. He married there December 22, 1866,

Miss Luthera Jannette Armstrong, daughter of Henry

and Nancy (Rolfe) Armstrong, who was born Decem-

ber 13, 1849, by whom he has had three children, two

now alive, Stella, born July 14, 1870, and Mabel, born

October 14, 1872. In April, 1876, he removed with his

family to Chicago, and was for some months in the em-

ploy of the Illinois Central R. R., removing to Peoria

in September of the same year and entering that of the

T., P. & W. R. R., and has since remained with them.

His father died in 1862 and his mother is still alive.

Draet Christ, grocer, 1613 S. Washington street.
Drake John, grain buyer, 1210 N. Monroe street.
DrlscoU M. masher, distillery foot South street.
Drlscoll Tim. masher foot Lisk screet.
Drldge John C. furniture finisher, res. 320 Second street.
Deusorger M. confectionery, res. 812 N. Monroe street.
Dudley Isaac, cooper shop, 113 Lisk street.
Duff James, lumber, res. 401 Fifth street.
Dugdale Edward, laborer, res. SOS Hancock street.

DUKE JAMES, auctioneer, 122 S. Wash-
ington street, was born in the city of Indianapolis, Ind.,

on the 28th of September, 1828, where he remained

until 1866, when he came to Peoria and engaged in the

real estate business, and done a good business for about

four years. Married Miss E.J. Mitchell, April 21, 1848.

She was a native of Kentucky. They have five children,

three boys and two girls. The oldest son is an engi-
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neer (switch), Wm, B. ; second son is a cigar manufac-

turer in Chicago ; third son is chief clerlt in Day Bro's.

store. Elder daughter is booklceeper in Irwin & Co.,

and the youngest daughter remains at home.

DUMBECK V. H. (of Dumbeck & Baker),

druggists, corner Main and S. Adams streets.

Dunbar. G. 119 Paver, cor. Wayne and Perry streets.

DUNLAP J. S. manager Peoria Plating Works,

402 S. Adams street, was born in Knox county. III.,

August 30, 1844, and is the son of A, J. Dunlap and

Mary S. Patterson. His father was a native of Ken-
tucky, and was for fifteen years vice-president of Illi-

nois State Agricultural Association, and his mother was
born in Pennsylvania. He was raised and educated at

'Galesburg, 111., and on reaching man's estate traveled

in the Western States for the Chicago Scale Company
for four years, and in 1873 engaged in business as grain

commission merchant in Peoria, until the Spring of

1878, when he began his present business. The works
are owned and controlled by himself and his younger

brother, and he has the sole supervision of them. Are
doing a business of $20,000 a year, and have about

$6,000 invested. Mr.'Dunlap married, December 21,

1875, Miss Frances C. Willard, a native of Galesburg,

by whom he has one child — Edna C.— born Septem-

ber 6, 1879. His mother is still alive, and resides on

the old homestead in Knox county.

Dunlea Pat. grocer, 203 W. Jefferson street.
Danii Hugh, sawmkr. 213 Harrison street.
Dunn M. laborer T. P. »S: W. shops.
Dunn W. N. (H. D. & Co.) res. 601 Sixth street.

,
DURHAM JOHN, retired merchant and capi-

talist, residence 215 Liberty street, was born in Balti-

inpre, Maryland, in i8ll ; is the son of John Durham
and Martha Guinn. He enjoyed good educational op-

portunities in that city till fifteen years old ; then went

to New York city, where he was employed as a clerk

in a store from 1826 to 1835, about three years of the

time for A. T. Stewart. Came to Illinois and settled

in Washington, Tazewell county, engaging in the man-
ufacture of lumber ten years ; thence removed down on
to Deer creek and spent twelve years on a farm ; came
to Peoria in 1857, and established the first exclusively

carpet house in the city, which he conducted until 1871,

and sold out to J. M. Hadley, retiring from active busi-

ness. On the eve of coming West, in 1835, Mr. D.
married Mary W. Gregory, a native of Virginia. They
have four sons and four daughters. Politically he was
an old line Whig, and later a staunch Republican.

Durkln Jas. foreman elevator A. res. 511 Hancock street.
Dusenberry M. bricklayer, 102 Jackson street.
Dwyer,). carpenter, 1400 First street.
Dwyer Lawrence, res. 813 Webster street.
Eaden E. Mrs. res. 610 KnoxviUe road.
Earing H. li. tinsmith, 115 S. Washington street.

EARNEST JOHN, mechanic, 209 Floral

street, was born in Perry county, Penn., in 1824; is the

eldest of ten children of Daniel and Catherine Earnest,

both natives of that State. He was brought up on a

farm, remaining there till twenty-four years of age ; came

to Peoria county in 1848 ; remained in the city one Win-

ter, then settled in Lancaster, Trivoli township, cngag

ing in the cooper business four years ; in August, 1862,

enlisted in the 86th Illinois Infantry ; went out as ser-

geant
;
participated in most of the battles in which the

Army of the Cumberland fought ; was breveted lieuten-

ant in April, 1865, and was mustered out in June fol-

lowing. Upon returning home, settled in Peoria, and

served as clerk in one of the c )unty offices three years,

in the Winter season ; was elected constable ; held the

office three years ; then filled the office of justice of the

peace four years. In 1851 Mr. E. married Rhoda Gal-

braith, a native of Pennsylvania. They have six chil-

dren, Lewis C, Harriet E., Rufus K., Frank S.. Flor-

ence M., and Edna L. Harriet E. is now undergoing

vocal culture, with flattering prospects of attaining a

national celebrity as a prima donna. Mr. E. is a mem-

ber of the National Blues, and is a Republican in

politics.

Easton E. S. grain and distiller, office 330 S. Washington street.

Eaton L. B. res. IIIOK N. Adams street.

EATON THOMAS A. grocer, iiio}i N.

Adams street, was born in Sheldon, Mass., November

30, 1844, and is the son of Thomas and Lois B. (Long-

ley) Eaton, natives of Massachusetts. He was raised,

educated, ai d grew to manhood, in his native town.

His parents came to Peoria in 1864, and a year later he

foUoHred them, and for over a year worked at his trade

of carpenter there ; then worked on the Union Pacific

railroad for two years, and returning to Peoria in 1868,

he began his present business in partnership with his

father, and so continued until 1876, when he began on

his own account. He married, November 30, 1863,

Miss Lucy Hallbrook, a native of Massachusetts, born

November 25, 1843, by whom he has had four children,

three now alive — Nettie, Sybil, and Walter. He en-

listed in June, 1863, in 23d Massachusetts Heavy Ar-

tillery, and was stationed for six months in Boston

Harbor, and about twenty months in Washington, D.

C. ; was mustered out at the close of the war. His

father died in Peoria, February 13th, 1876, and his

mother still lives and resides with him. Mr. Eaton

conducts a good business, mostly with city customers,

and is a member of Columbia Lodge, No. 21, I. O.

O. F.

Ebbet Jos. laborer C. K. I. & P. res. 1608 N. Adams street.

EBERLE CHRISTIAN F. grocer and pro-

vision dealer, 625 N. Adams street, was born in Wur-

temburg, Germany, July 25, 1836, and is the son ofJohn

Jacob and Frederika (Hummel) Eberle, natives of that

city. He came to America in 1853, landing at New
York in September of that year, and headed straight for

Peoria. He had learned the trade of baker in his na-
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tive country, and on coming to Peoria began to learn

that of harness-maker, and worked at it for four years.

He afterwards tended bar and sold groceries for about

four years, and in 1861 made a visit to his home across

the sea, extending over six months, and on December

10, 1861, after his return to Peoria, started a grocery

business for himself diagonally opposite his present

location, and has since continued in that line. In

1S67 he bought the corner he now occupies, and built

his residence on the adjoining lot, and on August 10 of

the same year, married Miss Emelia Schuler, a native

of St. Louis, Mo., by whom ^he has had three children,

two of whom are now living— William Charles and

Emelia A. His wife died in February, 1873, and he

married, May 15, of the same year. Miss Elizabeth

Wurtemburger, a native of Hesse Darmstadt, who was

born April g, 1852, and came to America in April,

1870. Mr. Eberle carries a large stock of general gro-

ceries, notions and queensware, and does a large and

increasing trade, both with city and country cus-

tomers.

EberlyL. engineer, res. 1600 S. Washington street.

EB£BIi£ FRANZ, butcher, 417 S. Washing-

ton street, was born in Germany, October 2, 1827 ; came

to this country in 1857, *"'i located in Peoria, where he

has resided since. Married Miss Thessia Hilderbrand.

She was born in Germany, September 27, 1830. By

this union there were nine children, four of whom are

still living— Lena, Caroline, Peter, and Frank. Mr.

E. keeps all kinds of meats on hand, and any one

wanting any thing in his line would do well to call on

him.

IjCHHORIf J, C. saloon and boarding house,

15 15 S. Washington street, was born in Baden, Ger-

many, December 31, 1824 ; came to the United States

in 1849, and worked at the coopering business most of

the time since ; has worked as high as fifty to sixty

men per day. Married Magdalena Rapp. She was

born in the same place, April 28, 1824. The fruit of

this marriage were ten children, six of whom are still

living— Sophia, Catherine and Mary (twins), Peter,

Godfried L., and Lena, members of the Presbyterian

Church.

Eckley B. Mrs. mlUlnerv, 12^ S. Jefferson street.
Eckley J. W. carpenter T. P. & W. res. 919 S. Adams street.

ECKHAKD JOHN, flour and feed, 801 N.

Adams street, was born in Saxe Weimer, Germany, No-

vember 5, 1832, and is the son of Gottlieb Eckhard and

Marie Schmidt, natives of Saxe Weimer ; was raised

and went to school there, and learned his trade of

blacksmith in Butsladt, where he worked at it for about

six years, and came to America in 1853, landing at New
York in October of that year. During the next Winter

he tended bar in New York, and in June went to But-

ler county. Pa., where he worked for three years, and

from thence came to Peoria about 1856, where he has

since resided. He married in his native land in 1832,

Caroline Schwenemeyer, a native of Prussia, by whom
he had four children, three now alive— Lena, Berthold,

and William. Mrs. Eckhard died in July, 1874, and in

January, 1876, he married Miss Catherine Hinds, a na-

tive of Illinois. He worked at his trade in Peoria for

about thirteen years, and during part of that time at

the tobacco trade ; started his feed store at above num-

ber about four years ago ; owns house and lot at 715

N. Adams street, also house and lot on N. Washington

street.

Edwards J. C. attorney, 121 S. Adams street.
Elchenbarger B. printer, res. 1323 N. Adams street.
Eichorn J. C. proprietor saloon, 1521 S. Washington street.
Elchorn Philip, ros. 619 S, Washington street.
Eiseuhauer A. saloon, 216 N. Adams street.

EISEB JOHN [M, butcher. Central Market,

res. 512 Fifth street.

Egan Lawrence F. telegraph operator, res. 820 N. Madison
street.

Egan Wm. res. 101 S. Orange street.

EHJLEN H. J. dealer in stoves, tin and hard-

ware, 600 S. Adams street, was born in Germany, in

April, 1S38, and is the son of John Jacob and Annie

Ehlen. He came to America alone in 1857, and landed

in New York in August of that year ; spent six years in

Brooklyn, working at his trade, then came to Pekin,

and after working for two years there, moved to Peoria

in August, 1865, where he worked for four years as a

journeyman and then started in business for himself.

He married there, in October of that year, Sophia M.
Thielbar, a native of Indiana, by whom he has six

children, four now alive : Elizabeth, Matilda, John and
Luther. He carries a stock of about $2,000, and makes
a specialty of the manufacture of elevator buckets.

EISENHATJER ADAM, saloon, 216 N. Ad-
ams street, was born in Baden, Germany, September 9,

1838, and came to America with his father in 1843,

landing at New Orleans, where he stayed for a. short

time, and then came to Peoria, where he was raised

;

came up from St. Louis on the old Avalanphe. Went
to school in Peoria, and afterwards learned the trade of

harness maker, and conducted ^a business in that line

on his own account for seventeen years. He was
burned out, with almost total loss, Nov. 6, 1874, but at

once rebuilt and continued until his health forced him
to give it up. He started his present business June i,

r876. He married June i5, 1862, Miss Julia Gauss, a

native of Germany, born Feb. 15, 1844, by whom he
has had two children : Mary, born Nov. 19, 1864) and
Lottie, born Aug. 3, 1866. His wife died March 21,

1868, and he married Sept. 27, of the same year, Miss
Annie Schwcrs, a native of New Orleans, born June 8,

1847, by whom he had three children, two now alive:

Adam Henry, born Sept. 16, 1869; William, born July

10, 1871, died Aug. 8, 1872; and Otto, born July 7,
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1879. He owns his store, and residence above, 216 N.
Adams street.

*'''*?X„'l9'-.?''*''' ""d commission, Chamber of Commerce, res.
40S N. Madison street.

Elder Jos. master mechanic R. I. & P.

ELLIOTT P. F. retired grocer, res. 1109 N.
Adams street. Son of Wm. W. and Sarah (Mutchner)

Elliott, natives of Maryland, virho emigrated to Ohio at

an early day, v^here the subject of this sketch was born

on the 14th day of January, 1828. Was reared on a

farm and received a common school education. Mar-
ried Miss Eliza Stephenson, daughter of Joshua Ste-

phenson. She was born in Butler county, O., in 1834

;

died in 1853, leaving one child, Wm. E. In the Spring

of 1855 he came to Peoria county, where he embarked
in the grocery business until 1861, when he enlisted in

the nth Illinois Cavalry as private ; was commissioned

as first lieutenant by a voice of the company. Their

first engagement was at Shiloh. Thence, to Corinth

and luka ; thence, to Vicksburg. In the Spring of 1863

he was appointed quartermaster ; later, the same year,

was promoted to captain ; and in 1864 was commis-

sioned major. Was on the Griersonand Sherman raids,

and was mustered out at Springfield, III., in the Fall

of 1865. Returned to Peoria, bought into the grocery

business— style of firm, Elliott & Co.— which he fol-

lowed until 1870 ; then went into the employ of Tyng
& Brotherson until 1877. Married for his second wife

Hannah, daughter of Wm. A. Hall, one of the early

settlers of Peoria county, (in which county she was
born,) on the 14th day of Dec, i860. Had one daugh-

ter, Hannah May. For his third wife, married Mary
E. Stillman. She was born in Renssalaer county, N.
Y., in 1843. The fruit of this marriage is one daugh-

ter, Mary L. Has five acres of land in the city, valued

at $5,000.

ELLIOTT M. R. MBS.
ELLIOTT H. M. MRS. res. Chambers street,

near Knoxville road.

Ellis Mrs. Maria N. res. 1316 Main street.

ELLIS O. P. mechanic, 809 N. Jefferson street.

Son of Amos and Harriet Ellis, natives of Ohio. They
came to Woodford county. 111., in 1850, where they re-

mained until 1875, when they came to Ford county,

where they still reside.

The subject of this sketch was born in Brown county,

Ohio, on the 26th day of April, 1832, where he received

a common school education. Came with his parents to

Woodford county, 111., where he followed various occu-

pations. In 1861, enlisted in the 17th I. V. I., Co. G,

mustered in at Peoria, under command of Col. L. F.

Ross. Participated in the battle of Fredericktown,

Mo., Pittsburgh Landing, Fort Donelson, luka, Siege

of Vicksburg. After the battle of Fort Donelson, was
put upon detached service under Gen. Ross, and re-

mained with him until he resigned, and then was as-

signed to duty under Col. Henry T. Noble, A. V. M,,

District of Eastern Arkansas, where he remained the

balance of his time. Mustered out at Springfield, 111,,

in 1865. Was wounded at Batesville, Ark., through

the shoulder, the ball lodging in his breast bone.

In 1866 he married Miss Josephine M. Powell, daugh-

ter of J. E. Powell. She was born in Tazewell county,

111., in 1844. The fruit of this marriage was two chil-

dren, one of which is still living.

EUaesser J. guard, work house, res. 417 Hamilton street.
Elwanger D. carpenter. 533 S. Adams street.
Ely E. 0. (Keynolds & Ely) res. 413 N. Monroe street.
Ely G. 315 S. Jefferson street.
Emerson A. G. commercial traveler, res. 113 Fourth street,

EMERSON GEORGE F. of Cummings &
Emerson, hardware, 416 & 418 S. Washington Street,

was born April 4, 1847, in Tazewell county. 111., where

he was reared on a farm and received what schooling the

schools afforded. In March he came to Peoria and

completed a course at the commercial college. In 1865

was assistant book-keeper at Farrell's distillery for two

Winters. In the Spring of 1867 until 1868 kept books

for C. L. Bobb. Was then employed by D. M. Cum-^

mings as book-keeper, and remained with him until 1872,

when he was admitted as partner in the concern and

has continued in the business ever since. Married Miss

Harriet Woodrufi'(daughter of the late N. L. Woodruif,)

November 7, 1871. Two children bless this union.

EMERY ENOCH, editor Transcript, res. no
Seventh street.

Engelke D. toys, 405 Cedar street.
Engelke John, engineer, res. 241 S. Madison street.

ENGLAND Rev. E. B. pastor Ref. Epis.

Church, res. 716 Franklin street.

England John, cabinet maker, 601 Spencer street.
Engler A. barber, 70e N. Adams street.
English James, brakeman T., P. & W. res. 401 George street.
Emery Jos. H. printer, 881 Fulton street.
Enwlstle Wm. res, 209 Pecan street.

ENGSTROM CHARLES V. boot and shoe

maker, 205 N. Adams street, was born in Sweden,

November 10, 1854, and is the son of John L. and

Sophia Engstrom. He came to America with his pa-

rents in 1869, landing at New York in July of that

year. They settled in Galesburg, 111., where his pa-

rents still reside, and in 1873 l^e came to Peoria and

learned his trade, and in 1876 started at his present

location on his own account. He married December

31, 1879, Miss Bessie Anderson, a native of Sweden,

who came to America with her parents in 1868, Mr.

Engstrom does a good business, and by h,is faithful and

pains-taking work has drawn around him a good class

of customers.

Erber M, £, jeweler, Vii S, Adams street,
Erlon Adam, barber, 214 Main street.
Erlon F, milkman. 1012 Smith street.
Ess Jacob, 200 Kettulle street,
Evans J, G, flour and feed, 213 W, Adams street,

EVERS C. M. blacksmith, 1031 Plank road.

Evers E. blacksmith, res. 113 S, Madison street.

EVANS ISAAC, dealer in groceries, flour, feed.
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hardware, etc., 1400 Main street, was born in Coshoc-

ton county, Ohio, July 13, 1833. His father, Joseph

Evans, was born in the same county, October 3, iSoi,

and died in Crawford county, III., August 23, 1867.

His mother, Margaret Evans, was born in Dauphin

county, Pa., August 22, 1799, and died in the same

county as her husband, May 13, 1864 ; both were buried

at Olney, 111. Their family consisted of six children—
Malona, Rebecca, Philip, Isaac, Henry and Jairus, of

whom only two (Rebecca and Jairus), besides the sub-

ject of this sketch, now survives, and they are all resi-

dents of Peoria. Mr. Evans settled with his parents in

Crawford county. 111., in 1852 ; married Nov. ig, 1857,

Miss Phebe A. Price, a native of Coshocton, Ohio, by

whom he had three children— Oscar W., Clara E. and

Julia B.; came with his family to Peoria in March,

1864, and in February of the succeeding year he had

the great misfortune to lose his three children, by cere-

bro-spinal meningitis, and his wife by congestive chills.

He married again Feb. 7, 1867, Miss Phebe A. Wag-
goner, a native of his own county, who has borne him
five children— Laura L., John T., Willis, Lona R. and

Lucia B. The two eldest died of scarlet fever in the

Summer of 1876. He commenced business at his pres-

ent location December i, 1870, and by close attention

to business has built up a profitable trade ; is a member
of the Masonic fraternity, and also of (Hale Chapel) M.
E. Church.

Ewalt T. carpenter, 209 Illinois avenue.
Exley Matthew, res. 619 Perry street.
Eynutten F. jeweler, 307 Haln street.
Faber J. F. res. N. Feorla— S. WashlDgton street.

FAGOTTE JOSEPH, saloon, corner Bridge

and South Water streets, was born in Kaskaskia, 111.,

August 13, 1834, and is the son of Joseph and Ann
(Spruden) Fagotte, natives of France, who came to

America in 1833. He left his native county when
very young, with his parents, and settled in St. Clair

county, and in 1846 came to Tazewell county, where

they resided till 1868, then removing to Peoria, where

he has since resided. While in Tazewell county he

was for eight years postmaster at Wesley City, and on

coming to Peoria started a saloon at his present loca-

tion. When ten years of age he was so unfortunate as

to lose his right arm, in a threshing machine, and this

has forced upon him a life of indoor enjiployment. He
owns 120 acres good farming land in Tazewell county,

worth $25 an acre, and does a good business in his sa-

loon ; is a member of the Catholic Church, and in poli-

tics is on the fence.

Fahey Ttios. constable, res. 512 Johnson street.
Fahey Wm. cooper, res. 215 Antoinette street.

FAHNENSTOCK HENRY, wholesale gro-

cer, South Washington street.

FABDON FREDERICK W. painter, 115

North Washington slreet. Was born in the city of

Peoria on the 25th day of July, 1857. Parents natives

of Worcester, England, and came to the United States

in 1850, and settled on West Bluff, where they engaged

in gardening. His father died in the Fall of 1877,

mother still living. Mr, F. has been in business for

the last five years.

Farden J. wood engraver, res. 139 North street.
Farrell D. C. office and res. 327 S. Washington street.
Farrell H. G. drugs. No. 115 Main street.
Farrell .lohn, grocer, 301 N. Adams street,
Farrell C. M. Mrs. res. 601 Madison street.
Fash A. B. 51U Hamilton street.
Fash .1, L, market master, res. 705 Hamilton street. .

Faiil John, res. 502 Monson street. ^

FAY JOHN", maltster and saloon-keeper, 525

S. Adams street, was born in Germany in 1844 ; came

to Pekin, Ills., in 1871, and to Peoria in the following

year, where he has since engaged in his present lines of

business. He married in Germany Julia A. Shulz, u

native of that country. Mr. Fay conducts a large busi-

ness in his saloon, and turns out from his malthouse an

average of 185 bushels barley malt per day.

Felnboltz C. beer runner, 411 N. Water street.
Felnholtz Val. beer runner, res. 2200 S. Adams street.

FEIiDCAMP GEORGE, saloon, 601 W.
Jefferson street.

Feldman Joseph, laborer, res. 712 N. Monroe street.

FEL.RATH HUBERT, manufacturer of soda

and mineral waters, corner Gay and N. Water streets,

was born in Alsace, France, April 22, 1828, and is the

son of Florence and Mary Ann Felrath, natives of

Alsace. He grew to manhood in his native country,

and there went to school, and learned something of the

millwright's trade from his father, and in 1848 he came
alone to America, landing at New York in the Spring

of that year. He stayed for about one year in Penn-

sylvania, and then removed to Ohio, from thence to

Michigan, and finally settled in Illinois in 1853, coming

to Peoria in that Fall, and has since made it his home.

For the next six or seven years he worked as house and
ship carpenter, and then started a saloon on the Knox-
ville road, which he conducted for nine years. While
there he married in May, 1865, Miss Ida Bergholz, who
was born in Holstein in 1835, and came to America
about i86i. By this union he has three children—
Christian, Mary and Ida. He started in his present

business in 1868, and then gave up his saloon
; manu-

factures soda water, ginger ale, and seltzer water, all of

which is sold in the city. Does a very extensive busi-

ness and sells during the Summer months from 600 to

700 boxes of soda weekly, besides seltzer, etc. He
owns his manufactory and dwelling house opposite,

with the lots on which they stand. He was elected

alderman of the Fourth Ward by the Democratic vote

in 1879, and at present fills the office. Mr. Felrath is

a member of the Masonic Order, and of the Druids.

Ferbor J. A. No. 315 MlUman street.
Ferguson F. res. 121 High street.
Fey David, jeweler, 819 Main street.
Fischer H. H. laborer, 362 Flank road.
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FISHER CHLlVBLES, druggist and manu-

facturing chemist, 200 S. Water street.

FISHER JOSEPH, undertaker, 406 Main
street, was born in Columbus, O., April 5, 1837, and is

the son of Jacob and Mary Fisher, natives of Ohio.

He was raised and educated in his native city, and

afterwards engaged in his present business, and carried

it on there for ten years. He came to Peoria in March,

1S74, ^<i<^ began to build up the business he now con-

ducts ; carries a large and fine stock of coffins, caskets

and general undertaker's supplies, and does a very ex-

tensive business. He was married April 8, 1858, in

Columbus, O., to Miss Ellen Jane Henderson, a native

of that city, who bore him six children, four now living

:

— Martha, Harlen, Margaret and Ellen. Mrs. Fisher

died in Peoria, May 17, 1874.

Fisher Jos. 135 Brown street.
Fitzf::erald8 James, moulder, 600 S. Water street.
Fitzpatrlck v., R. E. employe. 99 N. Washington street.
Finch David J. conductor T, P, & W, res, 409 Maple street.
Flnley P. watchman distillery res. 100 South street.
Fink A, B. hookkeeper, 802 S. Washington street.
Flafpij; E. M. painter, res, 206 N, Washington street.
Flaherty John O. laborer, res. 615 N. Washington street.
Flanegan F. blacksmitli, res. 111 Jackson street,

FliANAGAN" JOHN" C. attorney at law. Bluff

street, son of John and Jane (Pratt) Flanagan, natives

of Philadelphia, ]Pa., where he was born June 17, 1806.

Alter beginning his education he went to Susquehanna

county. Pa., and finished his studies. Read law with

Col. James Paige,, of Philadelphia, where he remained

four years ; was admitted to the bar in 1828, in Phila-

delphia ; and opened an office. In 1830, went to Potts-

ville, where he practiced, and dealt extensively in coal

;

remained there three years, and in the Spring of 1834

came to Peoria county and entered land ; in the Fall

went back to Philadelphia, and in company with David

Maxwell and wife, his mother, James A. Flanagan, Ada
Beere and his sister Susie, came back, when he settled

on his claim near the Kickapoo, where he remained a

couple of years. In 1836 went to St. Louis and dealt

in land, but not being satisfied returned to Peoria after

one year. In 1837 bought lands adjoining the city

and laid out an addition ; built his present house on

the Blufi (hauling lumber from Chicago), where he has

resided since.

Flemmlng Jas, blacksmith, plow works, res. 1019 Perry street,
Fiannagan Pat, res. 601 McBean street.

FLETCHER RIGDON S. restaurant, 105

North Washington street. Was born in Wayne coun-

ty, Ky., on the 21st day of November, 1825 ; moved
to Mason county. III., in 1S30; removed to Sangamon
county in 1834, thence to DeWitt county in 1851; mar-

ried Miss Arminda Turner on the l6th day of March,

1851, and afterwards went to Missouri ; enlisted in Co.

A, 35th Mo. Inf. in 1862, and served until the 28th of

June, 1865 ; after the close of the war came back to

DeWitt county, and in 1876 came to Peoria city and

has been engaged in the boarding-house business since.

Fllnn J. L, carpenter, res. 701 N, Jefferson street.

Flood Mark, painter, T, P, & W, shops.
Flood Thos, res, Chicago street.

FliORETH PHIIilt, grocer, 513 W. Jef-

ferson street, was born March 25, 1829, in Germany.

Emigrated to America in i860, and located in Peoria.

Married Miss Margaret Weis on the 15th day of Novem-

ber, 1856. The fruit of this marriage was one boy and

one girl— Elizabeth, born April 26, 1863, Jacob, born

October 26, 1866. Are both members of the German

Methodist Church of Peoria. Embarked in the grocery

business in 1867, and by fair dealing has built up a

lucrative trade,

Flynn D. laborer, res. 218 Cedar street.

FOGELMARK ADAM, (Fogelmark & Lof-

gren). coppersmiths and plumbers, 407 S. Washington

street, was born in Sweden, in i8i8. Emigrated to the

United States in 1856. Came to Peoria in April of that

year, and worked some 14 years as a copper and black-

smith in machine shops. Spent two years in New
Orleans, ten years ago ; then lived in Pekin seven

years, where he formed a partnership with Mr. Lofgren

and carried on business about five years. In June,

1879, they removed to Peoria. Mr. F. married in

Knoxville, Illinois, soon after he arrived in this coun-

try, to Joana Colson, a native of Sweden. They have

three children— Oscar, Charlie and Emma.
John Lofgren was born in Sweden, in 1843, February

21 ; crossed the Atlantic in 1868 ; formed a partnership

and conducted coppersmithing and plumbing business

with Mr. Fogelmark in Pekii^ Tazewell county, Illinois,

nearly five years. Came to Peoria in June, 1879. ^^

1870 he married Joana Haglund, a native of Sweden,

by whom he has five children — John R.,Charles, Amiel,

Lillie and Henry. He is a member of the I. O. O. F.

and Encampment. Their coppersmithing and plumb-

ing business is one of the heaviest in the city.

Foley John, laborer, res, 102 Warren street,
Foley Jy laborer, res, 406 Hurlbut street,
Foley M,, fireman, gas works,

FOLEY M. J. butcher, goi First street, was

. bom in county Sligo, Ireland, March 22, 1832, and is

the son of Michael Foley and Mary Killalee, natives of

Sligo. He was raised and educated there, and learned

the trade of ship carpenter, coming to America in 1847

and landing in New York in ' May of that year. Re-

mained in Baltimore, working at his trade, for three

years, and came to St. Louis in 1850, where he resided

for six years, and in 1856 came to Illinois, settling in

Peoria, where he has since resided. He worked at his

trade until 1865, during the most of which time he

superintended the yard of the Kmgston Coal Company,
and in the latter year commenced his present business,

and has since continued it. He married, in the Fall of

1867, Miss Eliza Phillips, a native of Wisconsin, by

whom he has had two children— Mary and Kate. He
had, for four years, charge of one of the city scales. He
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owns his store, with ice house and barn in the rear. Is

a member ofthe Catholije Church.

Foley Patrick J., porter, 119 S. Adams street.
Folkers Jolin, clerk, 1318 S. Adams street,
Folkers B. W,, carpenter, res. 818 Taylor street,

FOSTER BENJAMIN, paper box manu-

facturer, in Main street, was born in Deal, county of

Kent, England, April 14, 1828, and is the son of

Stephen and Sarah (BuUinger) Foster. His father

was English and his mother of French decent. He
was raised and educated in his native town, and also

served an apprenticeship to the trade of printing and

book binding, coming to America in 1848 and landing

in New York in November of that year. After a

short stay there, he worked his way through Albany,

Buffalo, Sandusky, Ci^icinnati, St. Louis, and up the

river to Peoria, reaching it in November, 1849, and

going to work on the day of his arrival for the late

Samuel H. Davis, who was then carrying on a printing

business in the same building which Mr. Foster now
occupies. After the death of his employer he went as

printer to Jubilee College and for some months printed

The Motto. He then returned to Peoria and started a

bindery opposite the First National Bank, occupying a

part of the second floor, for which he paid a rent of

$25 a month. There he remained for three years,

when he started the Ben Franklin Printing Office, and

continued it there until February, 1870, printing ex-

tensively both book and job work. At that date he

bought the building he now occupies, and moved his

printing establishment, steam presses, and all over to

it, and continued the business until 1872, when he

finally abandoned printing and took up the line he is

now engaged in, to which he has given his exclusive

attention during the last six or seven years. He is the

only paper box maker in the city and manufactures his

goods very largely for foreign as well as local trade.

Mr, Foster married in London, England, April, 1856,

while on a visit home, Miss Christiana Clark, a native

of Northbourne, Kent, England, by whom he has had
seven children, six now alive, Ben Franklin, Mary,

Ziliah, Edgar, Lincoln, Amanda, and Belle. Has
been for many years connected with the Congregational

Church, and has served it in many capacities. Is at

present a deacon of the Churclf, and superintendent of

Plymouth Mission. He is also president *of the Red
Ribbon Club of Peoria, and secretary and treasurer of

Peoria County Bible Society.

Ford Georce, res, 186 N. Fayette street.
Porderer Alex. res. 819 Foiirtb street.
Forsytbe H. H, olty clerk, res, 808 Second street,
Follitt J, U. trav. salesman, res. cor, Adams and Gay streets.
Forsman H, N. toreman, 180 Liberty street.

FOVEAUX CHARLES, merchant, loi

Elizabeth street, was born in Cologne on the River

Rhine, on the l8th day of October, 1832, came to the

United States in 1853, and located in McLean county,

47

Illinois, where he worked on a farm and remained two

years. Then went to Tazewell county, Illinois. Thence
to Peoria. In 1862 enlisted in the 8th Ills. Inf. co. I,

mustered in at Springfield. Then to Memphis where

he joined his regiment. Was at the siege and capture

of Vicksburg, also at the charge at Ft. Blakesley, also

at Spanish Fort. Thence to Mobile where they did

guard duty. Thence to New Orleans. Thence to

Texas. Mustered out at Baton Rouge. Was in the

service three years and three months. Married Julia

Borling. She was born in Alsace, Germany, in 1840.

There were eight children; three of whom are living,

Henry, Mary, and .Tillie. Has a good business and

carries a stock of $4,000.

Francis Jobn H. (Zell F. & Co.) res. Ill High street.

FRANCIS WILLIS Y., distiller, foot Cedar,

res. 1114 S. Adams street.

FRANKS J. W. & SONS, printers and
book binders, 210 Main street. This business was
started under present firm name in July, 1873, in the

building directly opposite their present location. The
firm is composed of Mr. J. W. Franks and his sons,

Fred E., Frank F., Thomas G., and Gerald B. They
occupy the whole of a large three-story building at

above number, and employ from thirty to forty hands
;

do an extensive book and job business, and have
facilities for turning out their work second to no firm

in th^ State outside of Chicago. Their business is

yearly upon the increase, and necessitates the frequent

purchases of improved machinery, etc., to keep pace
with it.

Franzen H. soda water maker, 704 Seventh street,
Frazer J, W., res. 881 N. Monroe street.

FRAZIER DeWITT C, police magistrate,

res. 105 N. Monroe street, is the son of Charles M. and
Frances H. Frazier. Father born in 1788, mother 1790.

Family consisting of thirteen children, twelve of which
lived to be men and women. In 1824 or '25 they

moved from Philadelphia to Wooster, Ohio, remaining

until 1827, when he went to Cincinnati, Ohio, where
DeWitt C. was born, July 25, 1829. In 1833 his father

came to this State, with a shingle and lath cutting

machine, the first ever introduced.

The subject of this sketch came to the State in 1840
and located in Tazewell Co. ; in 1844 came to Peoria

Co. In 1846 was one of the first volunteers to go to

Mexico. Enlisted in 4th I. V. I., Co. G.,Col. Ed. Baker,
who was killed at Ball's Bluff. Their first principal

marches were from Matamora to Carmago, where they

remained a short time. Thence to Victoria and Tampicu,
the command being mostly barefoot and three days
without food or water. Thence to Vera Cruz by boats

and participated in the siege, also was at Cerro Gordo.
Thence up above Jalapa, where they encamped through
the rainy season without tents or blankets ; from there
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was sent to New Orleans and discharged. Married

Susan Bush ; she was born in Licking Co., Ohio, July

8, 1831 ; nine children, five sons and four daughters, all

of which are still living. Members of the Reformed

Episcopal Church. In 1861 was in the Board of Super-

visors, and has held several local offices. Mr. F. was

well acquainted with Abraham Lincoln, has sit on jury

before his pleadings, and Judge Davis presiding.

FBEDRICH HERMAIf. billiard hall, ii6

S. Jefferson street. Is a native of Germany ; was born

April 5, 1827. Emigrated to the United States in 1853

and located in Sheboygan, Wis., and remained there

five years. In 18 S8 came to Peoria and worked at his

trade as millwright. In 1865 enlisted in 47th I. V. I.,

Co, B., and served until the close of the war. Came
back to Peoria, and in 1871, engaged in his present busi-

ness. Has a large and neatly furnished room with five

billiard tables, and is doing a lucrative business. Mar-

ried Miss Augusta Franks in 1852. She was a native

of Germany and came to this country with her husband

in 1853. They have five children, three boys and two

girls. Mr. F. is a member of the Masonic Order, Schiller

Lodge, No. 335, of Peoria, and of Peoria Commandery
No. 3, of Knight Templars.

Frederick Geo. florist, 1502 Perry street.
Frederick H. N., mfr. anddlr. In harness. 113 S. Washington st,

Frederick J. J,, upholsterer, 113 S. Adams street.
Freeman Seth W., res. 413 Illinois avenue.
Freeman V. H., boots and shoes, 311 Main street.

FRIEDRICK GEORGE, botanist and flor-

ist, 1502 Perry street. Was born in Piermont, Ger-

many, in 1821
;
parents were, William and Caroline

Friedrick. He learned the business of florist in his na-

tive country; came to America in 1848, via New Or-

leans and St. Louis, and settled in Peoria, and on pres-

ent place in 1852. Mr. F. received an education in the

general schools of Germany, and has since made a life

study of botany. Has two large greenhouses, crowded

with nearly 2,000 specimens of rare indigenous and ex-

otic plants, making one of the finest collections in the

West. In procuring and propagating he has spared

neither pains nor money. It can be truthfully said he

is wedded to his profession. Mr. F. married Anna M.

Stein in St. Louis, a native of Holstein, Germany, who
has borne him three children, all deceased.

French John S. tailor, res. 1815 Perry street.

FRESENIUS ED. res. 221 S. Madison street.

Frietsch E. store fitter, 235 N. Water street.

FRUEHOFF JULIUS, Government store

keeper ; resides 918 S. Adams street ; was born in

Germany, June 14, 1830. His parents died when he

was very young, and he was raised, educated, and ac-

quired his trade of machinist in his native country, and

there married, November 13, 1856, Miss Mary Rankin,

a native of Hanover, by whom he had one daughter—

' Annie. In the year after marriage he came to Ameri-

ca, landing aj; New Orleans May g, 1857, and coming

up the river, settled in Peoria, and there worked at his

trade till September, 1861, when he enlisted in Co. K,

44th 111. Vol. Inf. Among the many engagements he

participated in were those of Pea Ridge, Pittsburg

Landing, Corinth, Perryville, Ky., and Nashville. He
was slightly wounded at the first named battle ; was

mustered out September 26, 1864, at Atlanta, Ga., and

returned to his home in Peoria. While in the South

his wife died. May 2, 1864, and after some months he

married in 1865, Mrs. Johanna Frazer, a native of Han-

over, who was born June 21, 1825. In the year of his

second marriage he engaged in the saloon business, and

continued until October I, 1879, when he received his

appointment to the position he now occupies. Him-
self and wife are members of the Lutheran Church.

Frye J. C. physician, 120 Franklin street.
Fuchs C. H. grocer, 719 First street.

FULLER S. A. steam laundry, 106 Main street.

Was born in Geneva, Ashtabula county, Ohio, Septem-

ber, 1849, Son of David A. and Susan M. Fuller.

They now reside in Neopolis, Ohio. He located in

Peoria June 6, 1879, and started the steam laundry busi-

ness, where he is prepared to do all kinds of work in

his line on short notice, and the "best of satisfaction

guaranteed to all.

Furkle Thos. J. 709 Seventh street.
Fuller H. C. attorney, 227 Main street

FRYE S. E. P. O. Kickapoo.

PURST ALEXANDER, Supt. House of

Correction. Was born in Germany, June i, 1841, and
is the son of Ernest Frederick and Jane (Winter)

Furst, natives of that country. He grew up upon his

father's farm, and when twenty-four years of age came
with his mother and the rest of the family to America,

landing at New York, in October, 1865. They first

went to Milwaukee, where they resided together for

about a year, and then Mr. Furst went to Gumming
county. Neb., where he farmed for five years, and in

October, 1871, came to Peoria, where he has ever since

resided. He married there in December, 1876, Miss

Elizabeth Schneider, a native of Germany, who came to

America with her parents when an infant, by whom he
has had one child— Paul— born October 7, 1877, and
who died On Christmas day, 1879. After coming to

Peoria he clerked, and kept books in various business

places for some years, until he received his appointment
to his present position April 9, 1879. The appoint-

ment was for a term of four years. He owns a farm of

200 acres of fine farming land in Cummings county,

Neb. His mother is still alive and resides in Peoria.

Fuller M. E., IT. S. storekeeper, res. 119 S. Jefferson street.
Fulton D. F. res. 117 S. Hale street.
Gable Adam, saloon, alley rear 215 Main street.
Gable Geo. W. attorney, 100 N. Adams street.

GABLE JOHN M. saloon. Commercial alley,
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rear of 214 Main street, was born in Davenport, Iowa,

July 5, 1842, and is the son Qf Adam Gable, a native of

Germany. When very young his parents came to Peo-

ria, and here he was raised ; has been in business for

himself at present location for twelve years, and does

much the largest retail liquor business in the city. He
married, November 30, 1862, in Decatur, 111., Mrs. Eva

Tomlinson, a native of Tennessee, bywhom he hashad

eleven children, three of whom are now alive— Cora

Bell, George N., and John Oglesby. Besides his liquor

business, Mr. Gable runs a large livery and sale stable,

where vehicles of all kinds can be hired at moderate

rates.

GABLEK F. grocer, 1201 S. Adams street, was

born in Berks county. Pa., in 1831, and is the son of

John and Catherine (Rich) Gabler, natives of Pennsyl-

vania. When eight years of age he came to Hunting-

ton county. Pa., with his parents, and resided there till

nineteen years old, when, in 1850, he came to Peoria

county, and has ever since been a resident of it. He
farmed for three years in Limestone township, and

married there in April, 1861, Miss Rosana Haller, a

native of Germany, by whom he has had five children,

four now living— George, Emma, Sarah, and Ida. He
came to the city of Peoria in 1865, and after about one

year in the brewery business, sold out, and started in

his present line, and has since continued it in the same

block. He does a good business, and carries a stock

of from $3,000 to $4,oco ; owns two stores and lots on

the corner of S. Adams and Pecan streets. Mr. Gabler

is a member of the Congregational Church.

OAL.E HON. JACOB, secretary of Peoria

Gas Lighting Co., residence North street, bluff, is a

native of Salsbury, N. H., where he was born in 1814,

His parents, Benjamin and Achsah Gale, nee Bailey,

were also natives of New Hampshire. Judge Gale was

educated at Dartmouth College, and graduated with the

class of 1833. He came to Peoria the year following,

began the study of law, and was admitted to practice in

1837 ; continued an active member of Peoria bar until

he was appointed clerk of the circuit court, in 1844,

the clerkship being then an appointive office. Having

served in that capacity for twelve years, he was appointed

circuit judge in 1856, which office he resigned after fill-

ing it one year. Judge Gale has never resumed thelaw

practice since his retirement from the bench, but has

served two terms as mayor of Peoria, and was for a

number of years superintendent of the city schools. He
spent several years on a farm near the city, and has

been secretary of the gas company nearly eight years.

He married in Peoria, in the Spring of 1838, Charlotte

Bartlett, also a native of Salsbury. She died nine years

ago, leaving two sons. Mr. G. is a member of the Sec-

ond Presbyterian Church.

aallager Jas. peddler, 901 Tblrd street.

Gallagher Patrick, res. 901 Third street.
aautt Thomas D. agt. F. 8. &, D. res. 305 Fifth street.
Gans Wm. erocer, 209 S. Madison street.
Gardner W. J. roofer, res. 418 Hurlbut street.

Garrett A. chtna, wall paper, etc. 311 S. Adama street.

Gattin Edward, cooper, 8. Washington street. .

Gaugle John A. marble cutter, res. 1013 N. Adams street.

Gaul John, bakery, res. 313 Merrlman street.

GAUSS WIIililAM, grocer, 209 S. Madison

street. Is a native of Germany born in the city of

Nuetingen, on the 19th day of July, 1842. Emigrated

to the United States in 1853, with his parents, who lo-

cated in Amboy, N. J., where they remained two years,

then came to Peoria county and engaged in cigar man-

ufacturing, and continued in that until 1869, when the

subject of this sketch embarked in the grocery business

on his own account, and has carried on the business

successfully since. Always keeps on hand the very best

stock the market affords, and by fair dealing and close

attention to business has built up a trade that bids fair

to be remunerative. Married Miss Sophia Pottchoff,

October 31, 1867. She was born in 1846, in Germany.

Their family consists of four girls and one boy.

Gebhard C. Mrs. res. 151i2 N. Monroe street.
Gebke F. 1117 Flank road.
Gebhardt T. res. 1413 N. Monroe street.
Geiger John, res 1101 N. Madison street.
Gelker Harm, laborer res. 123 Gallatin street.
Gehr John, West Bluff street.
Geldermelster J. cooper, res. 107 Cass street.
GengericK J. brewer, 8. Water, below Bridge street.
Gcrdes O. T. laborer, res. 113 Gallatin street.
Gibbons John, laborer, 710 Smith street.

GIBHAKDT THEODORE, meat market,

gi2 N. Adams, corner Spring street. Was born in Ger-

many, November 27, 1B30. Son of Jacob and Dorothy

Gibhardt. Emigrated to America at the age of twen-

ty-five, and settled in Peoria in 1855. (In his native

country he learned and pursued the trade of glass blow-

er) ; worked at various places after coming to the coun-

ty, after which he went into his present business. For

his first wife, married Minnie Schilling, in Peoria. She

was a native of Germany. She died nine 'years after

their marriage, leaving one daughter, Minnie. For his

second wife, married Miss Minnie Rammieg, October

4, 1877. She was a native of Cincinnati, Ohio ; by this

marriage there is one child, Theodore, born July 12,

1878.

Gibson h. B. wholesale grocer, 104 S. Washington street.

Gibson N. C. city engineer, res. 1319 N. Jefferson street.

GIEIfOW WILIilAM, saloon keeper, 700 S.

Washington street. Was born in Prussia, February 5,

1840. Came to the United States in 1871, and settled

in Peoria, where he worked as a laborer, and in 1875

commenced the saloon business, which he still follows.

Married Miss Augusta Ferg. She was born in the

same place, February 6, 1843. They had six children,

four of whom are living— Louisa, Carl, Annie, Carrie

(deceased), William and Louis.

GIFPORD GEORGE W. wholesale dealer

in cider and vinegar, 128 S. Water St. Was born in

Putnam Co., Ind., Feb 28, 1848, and resided there until
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l874,whenhe moved to TerreHaute.Ind., where he en-

gaged as clerk in a boot and shoe house. Thence came

to Peoria and engaged in his present business. Mar-

ried Miss Anna Reed, January 7, 1878. She was a na-

tive of Indiana, and a resident of Evansville. Mr. G.,

by energy and industry, has built up a lucrative busi-

ness.

Gilbert Aaron F. res. sw. cor. Armstrong avenue.

GILBERT GEORGE W. H., hatter and

furrier, S. Adams Street ; was born in Peoria, February

12, 1837. His father, Henry Gilbert, was born and

brought up near Charing Cross, London, Eng.; left

home for the New World with a good education, be-

sides the mastership of the trade of architect and

builder; arrived in Peoria in 1834 ; soon after made

the acquaintance of and married Margaret A, Fash,

daughter of a retired sea captain, who came from New
York, and settled on lands previously bought in the

county, where he died in July, 1848 ; widow still lives

as the wife of Dr. Harmon Couch. George H. received

a liberal education in the city schools and at Wesleyan

Seminary, in which he won distinction for scholarship.

April I, 1852, he began the apprenticeship to the hat,

cap and fur trade with Alex. Bishop. In July, 1858, he

became a one-third partner with Mr. Bishop, in the

best store of its class in the city. February i, 1865,

Mr. Bishop withdrew to go to Chicago, leaving Mr. G.

senior partner and manager of the growing business.

An unfortunate partnership, the financial depression

succeeding the war, and some other bad movements

culminated in disaster, which brooded over him for

sometime, but by hard struggling, with no loss of self-

respect or the confidence of others, he is rapidly re-

gaining his feet again. On the 22d of February, 1858,

Mr. G. married N. Josephine Speers, from Belle Ver-

non, Pa., who died January 12, 1865, leaving four sons

and three daughters ; only two sons and one daughter

survive. August 30, 1876, Miss Alice 'OsbOrn from

Ripley, O., became his second wife. Mr. G. early united

with the Presbyterian Church, in which he has been ac-

tive and a zealous worker in the Sunday-school cause.

He cast his maiden vote for Abraham Lincoln, and has

ever, been a staunch Republican. He has been the

efficient secretary of the Old Settlers Union since its

inception.

Gllil. SAMUEL L. deputy sheriff, 3x0 Hamil-

ton street, is the son of James Gill and Rebecca Linch.

Was born in 1833 in Bridgeport, New Jersey. His

mother died in 1837 ; father removed to Cincinnati,

O., in 1838, and soon after to Elmwood, Peoria county,

111. He married again to Sarah Jackson, of Farming-

ton, Fulton county, and engaged in dealing in horses

and mules. Having purchased eighty acres of raw

prairie in Elmwood township, Peoria county, Samuel

settled on and farmed it a number of years. He mar-

ried Anna E. Hurflf, of Elmwood, September 15, 1857 ;

removed to Elmwood city in 1865 ; was collector of

the township that year. In 1866 was chosen deputy

sheriff, and has held the office continuously since, save

two years—1869 and '70— when he was sheriff, and

1872 when he served as chief of the city police. His

marriage with Miss Hurff has resulted in two children,

Carrie M. and Wellington E. Mr. G. is a member of

A. F. & A. M. Father died in Elmwood in 1859, and

his stepmother in 1870.

GILLIG JOSEPH, saloon keeper, 221 & 223

Fulton street, was born in Woerstadt, Germany, in

1838. Came to the United States in 1855, and located

directly in Peoria ; worked some time at his trade—
baker ; traveled considerably for several years and en-

gaged in the butchering business for a time, and in

1873 opened a saloon. He married Margaret Pfeiffer,

of Peoria, but born in Bavaria, Europe. They have

one living child, Annetta. Mr. G. is a member of the

A. F. & A. M., and several other societies ; in politics

is a staunch Republican.

Gillespie John, laborer, res. 415 Johnson street.
Gillman V. atone mason, 143 Gay street.
Glass Wm. M. plow works, res. 1905 Prairie street.
Gleason John, carpenter, res. 301 Johnson street.

GLEASON WILLIAM, grocer, 201 First

street, was born in county Kilkenny, Ireland, in April,

1847, and is the son of Martin and Catharine (Kelly)

Gleason, natives of that county. He came to America

with his mother when about three years old, landing at

New York, and settling upon a farm which they bought

in Waukesha county. Wis. Here he was raised until

about twenty-two years of age, when he went to St.

Louis, and after attending school for some time there

returned to Wisconsin, and from thence went to Min-
nesota, where he taught school for two years, and again

returning to Wisconsin taught school in Chippeway
^alls county for other two years. He then began the

grocery business, and carried it on until he was taken

down with a severe attack of typhoid fever. On his

recovery he found his business so much run down, and

the expenses consequent upon his illness so large that he

was obliged to sell out in order to meet his liabilities.

He then came to Peoria in April, 1877, and started his

present business at present location. He married in

Milwaukee September 26, 1878, Miss Mary McMahon,
a native of Wisconsin, by whom he has had one child—
Thomas— born September i, 1879. Himself and wife

are members of the Catholic Church.

GIPPS JOHN M. brewer, res. 814 Sanford

street, was born in Herfordshire, England in 18 18 ; is

the son of Rev. Henry Gipps, L. L. D., rector of St.

Peters church in Herford. His mother's maiden name
was Emma M. Plumtre. Mr. G. was one of a family

of four brothers and six sisters. He descended from a
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very wealthy family ; has a brother a member of Par-

liament and others in high official positions. He
graduated from Cambridge University in 1838, as a

barrister, came to United States in 1848, located in

Tazewell Co., 111., engaged in merchandising and farm-

ing ; closed out the former business in 1858 or '59 ; left

the farm and came to the city in 1871, having become

identified with the brewing business previously. The
firm of Gipps & Co., now does the heaviest business in

central Illinois, running from 1,200 to 1,400 barrels per

month. Mr. G. married Ellen Davidson, in Brooklyn,

N. Y., in 1852 ; she was born in England ; they have

two children, Bessie W. and George H. Mr. G. is a

member of I. O. O. F.

GODEIi EBEBHARDT, packer ofand deal-

er in fresh and salt meats. Sale room iig N. Wash-

ington street. Was born in Fenerback, Wuertenbach,

in 1836. Came to the United States in 1850. Was
married ta Elizabeth Rentz in 1857, and settled in

Monmouth, Illinois, and in 1859 came to Peoria, and

engaged in his present business in 186S, and has con-

tinued in the same since, and has built up a business

which bids fair to make him in easy circumstances

through life.

Goldbeck M. Mrs., saloon, res. 819 S. Washington street.
Goldsborough Wm., carpenter 235 N. Water street,
Goldsborough N., res. 1123 N. Monroe street.
Goldsleln John N., cooper, 338 Gallatin street.

GOODHAJBDT JOHN, grocer, 739 Plank

road. Was born on the 3rd day of March, 1820, in

Marenburg, Prussia, emigrated to the United States in

1854 ; landed.at New Orleans and thence to Peoria,

and remained a short time, then went to Washington

where he worked at the carpentering trade about two

years, then returned to Peoria. Married Miss Fisher in

Nov. 1857. Has been engaged in the grocery trade for

the past twelve years at his present stand. By close at-

tention to business and fair dealing has built up an

enviable trade. The firm at present is Goodhardt &
Fisher.

Goodman Mary, res. 133 Gay street.
Goodwin W. B., carpenter, 608 Green street.
Gorman Daniel, gas pipe layer, res. Antoinette street.
Gorman John, grocer, 101 S. Adams street.
Gorman J. P., carpenter, 815 S. Adams street.
Gorsuch F., clerk, res. 1517 Main street.
Gorsuch Joseph, brick layer, res. 417 Floral street.
Gorsuch Wm. carpenter, res. 214 S. Bourland street.

G-OUJRAN THOMAS, res. 708 Fifth street,

was born in the county of West Meath, Ireland, about

the year 1805, and is the son of John Gouran and Rosie

Haley. His father was a native of West Meath, and

his mother of Kildare. He was raised on his father's

farm. After coming to manhood farmed for himself,

and married in 1840 Miss Margaret Garigan, a native

of West Meath, by whom he has had a family pf seven

children, six now alive, John, James, Rosie, Jane,

Bridget and Margaret. The whole family came to

America in 1858, and came straight to Peoria where

they have since resided. All of his family reside with

him, and are members of the Catholic Churdh. He has

worked for many years upon the railroads, but in con-

sequence of an injury received some three years ago he

hss not of late been able to do anything.

GRAGG JOHNS, engineer Monarch mills.

Was born in Niagara Co., New York, July 4, 1831. Son

of Lev> and Ann Gragg, both of which are now de-

ceased. The subject of this sketch was a soldier of the

Mexican war of 1846. Served in Griffin's battery for

eighteen months. Then came to Peoria where he en-

tered machine shops until 1852. Went to California

where he worked as engineer in the Pony mines for

nineteen months ; returned to Peoria where he again

engaged in running an engine until the outbreak of the

war. He enlisted in the 8th Mo. Infantry and served

two years ; from there was promoted to Captain of a

colored company, in which capacity he served for three

years ; mustered out and returned again to Peoria,

where he married Augusta Schenke in 1864. She was

born in Germany in 1 842 ; they have three children Alice,

Henry, and Agnes. At the present time is one of the

engineers in the Monarch mills.

Goucher Martha Mrs. res. 1700 N. Adams street.

Graber Henry, miller, res. 2105 S. Adams street.
Graber R. res. 615 Second street.
Graham Eliza Ellen, 209 Jackson street.
Graham M. cabinet maker, 812 Fourth street.
Grant J. lab. res. 409 Hurlbut street.
Grant Robert, bookkeeper, 1518 N. Adams street.
Grauss William, grocer, 209 S. Madison street.
Gray Mary Mrs, res. 105 N. Monroe street.
Green Simon C. butcher, res. 517 Second street.

GREEN GEORGE M. boot and shoe maker,

418 Main street, was born in Wurtemburg, Germany,

Nov. 25, 1835, and is the son of George Adam Green

and Rosina Prellos, natives of Wurtemburg, He resided

there until sixteen years of age, when, with his father, he

came to America, landing at New York in March, 1852.

They settled in Philadelphia, where he learned his

trade and worked at it for four years, and for two years

in Baltimore, and while in the latter city married,

April 7, 1858, Miss Anna Wilhelmina Wallrecher, a

native of Prussia, who came to America in 1856, by

whom he has had nine children, eight now living,

John, Annie, Rosie, Caroline, Henry, Mary, George,

and Minnie. In the year of his marriage he came to

Peoria, and shortly afterwards started for himself in

the business he now carries on ; makes a specialty of

fine work, and does a good business for a good class of

customers.

Green Louis, wholesale grocer, 230 S. Washington street.
Green G. M. boots and shoes. 412 Main street.
Green William L. Jr. grain, res. 712 Hamilton street.

GREENIiEAF C. W., D.D.S., dentist, 301

Main street, was born in Hartford, Conn., Sept. 11,

1835, and is the son of Charles Greenleaf and Caroline

B. Wilson, natives of Connecticut. He was reared and

educated in his natal city, and in 1848 removed with

his parents to the city of Peoria, and afterwards com-

pleted his education by attending for three years the
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classes at Knox College, Galesbiirg, Illinois. Dr.

Greenleaf comes of a family of dentists, his great grand-

father, grandfather, and father, having practiced as

such, and he has imbibed a knowledge of the profession

from his youth. His father was the second dentist to

settle in Peoria, and he practiced there for many years.

Though now quite an old gentleman he is stilKible to

attend to professional matters, but his son attends to the

bulk of the practice, and does much the largest business

in the city ; has kept same business location tor thirty-

two years. Dr. Greenleaf married at Sing Sing, N. Y.,

Sept. II, 1856, Miss Phoebe Quinby, a native of West-

chester county, N. Y., and the daughter of Aaron

Quinby, of Sing Sing, by whom he has three children,

Adele, Ella, and Charles H. Greenleaf. His parents

are still alive and are at present residents of Farming-

ton, Fulton county, Illinois.

GREENWOOD GEORGE G. millwright,

res. bluff, near Main street, was born in Dublin,

Cheshire county, N, H.. Nov. 13, 1808. Is the elder

of two sons of William and Betsey Greenwood nee

Morse. Mr. G. is the eighth generation from England

on his father's side, and his great grandfather, Eli

Morse, was a native of Sherborn as was his grand-

father, Thaddeus Morse, who was a relative of Prof.

Morse of telegraph fame. William Greenwood, of

Sherborn, Mass., settled in Dublin in 1765, his son

Joshua was the fifth of eight children. His son

William and his son George G., were born on the

homestead in Dublin, which is still in possession of the

descendants. Their mother having died when Mr. G.

was two years old, he and his brother remained with

their grandparents till sixteen and eighteen re-

spectively. He began working at millwrighting with

his father in Orange county, N. Y., in 1822, and re-

mained there until 1835, when he came to Peoria

county Illinois; soon after engaged with William and

Asahel Hale to build the Hale mill on Kickapoo

creek. He removed to the city in Jan., 1843; has

devoted his life to his trade. Mr. Greenwood married

Ellen B. Dunlap, of Radnor, Peoria county, Jan. I,

1843, by whom he had nine children, three living,

George, Madora, and Stephen D. He owns a fine

homestead on the bluff and several other pieces of

property.

Greeble P. clear manufacturer, 1161 S. Adams street.
Greenwood A. millwright, res. 1129 Main street.
G-rler Bobt. C. {Train, Gnamber of Commerce.
Grler D. P. grain, res. 204 Perry street.

GRIER JOHN C. of Grier & Co. grain and

commission merchants, res. 207 Perry street. Is the

son of Rev. Isaac Grier, a Presbyterian clergyman, and

formerly president of Northumberland College, Penn.

where he died in 1814, His son, John C, was born in

Northumberland in i8o8 ; went to Danville in 1819,

and engaged to work for a mercantile house, remaining

there in that business until 1846, when he removed to

Wilkesbarre, Pa., and spent five years in the same pur-

suit; removed to Peoria in 185 1, and has since been

engaged in packing pork and in the lumber and grain

trade. His son, Gen. D. P. Grier, erected the first

grain elevator in the city, and has been interested as a

builder or owner of several others. The business of

the firm is now chiefly under the management of the

sons, who do the heaviest grain and commission traffic

of any firm in Peoria. Mr. Grier married Elizabeth

Perkins, in Penn., a native of that State, by whom he

had a family of three sons and three daughters. He

has ever been active in advancing the financial and

moral interests of the city, and being of a nervous tem-

perament, manifests extraordinary zeal and earnestness

in whatever he undertakes. He has served the city

two terms as a member of the County Board of Super-

visors, against his personal wish. He and family have

for many years been active members of the Presbyteri-

an Church, and Mr. G. has been a member of the Board

of Directors of the Northwestern Theological Seminary,

Chicago, since the school was founded, in 1859.

Greiner Phillip, cooper, res. 418 W. Madison street.

Griffin J. N. bookkeeper, Harrison, cor. Commercial street.

Grimes A. J. clothing, cor. Adams and Fulton streets.

Grlswold J. L. res. Moss street.

GREY ANDREW (deceased), residence 105

N. Monroe street. Was born in county Derry, Ireland,

July, 1800; came to the United States in 1827 and lo-

cated in Pittsburg, Pa., where he remained three years,

and thence to Nashville, Tenn., where he engaged in

the boot and shoe trade, and boating, where he remained

until 1833 when became to Peoria county and engaged

in the mercantile business afterward steamboating,

and wholesale grocery business. Married Miss Mary

Stevenson, daughter of James Stevenson, in 1830. She

was born in Ireland, November, 1812. The fruit of

this marriage was eight children, five sons and three

daughters. Members of the Presbyterian Church. Held

the ofiice of City Treasurer. Mr. G. was among the

earliest settlers, a consistent Christian, and respected

by all who knew him. Mrs. Grey is still living, honored

and respected by all who know her.

Grlswold M. capitalist, 202 Main street.
Groffiey Geo. V. laborer, res. 504 Evans street.
Gronlg r. tailor, 205 Taylor street.
Gronig F. butcher, res. 1517 S. Washington street.
Gross J. tailor, 1145KS. Adams street.
Grunerd Chas. engr. 362 S. Washington street.

GTJDAT ADOLPH, butcher, 1621 S. Adams
street, was born in Poland, October, 1850, and Is the

son of John Gudat and Kate Zidat, both natives of

Prussia ; was raised there until 1871, when he came to

Americf landing at New York in Fall of that year

;

came straight to Peoria ; worked on farm in Tazewell

county, for a few months, and then came to the city and

after working for a few years as a butcher, started for

himself in the Spring of 1875, and has since continued
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it. He married July 31, 1876, in Peoria, Miss Sophia
Lind. a native of Poland, born August, 1856, by whom
he has had two children—Adolph George and John
Frederick. His wife and he are adherents ot Lutheran
Church.

Guger John, liarnessmaker, 108 N. Washington street.

GrUIIiL JOHN M. constable, res. 417 Han-
cock street.

GUTSCHE ERNEST, dyer, 122 N. Adams
street; was born December 6, 1834, in Prussia, and
emigrated to the United States in 1858, and located in

Chic^o, and engaged in the dyeing business, and re-

mained there about a year, worked at various places

until 1868, when he came to Peoria where he has re-

mained since. Married Miss Anna Guinther, October

21, 1870. They have five children, one boy and four

girls. Mr. G. is a member of the A. F. & A. M. of

Peoria.

Gutz Wm. second hand store, 411 S. Washington street,
Guyer Jacob, res. 501.KnoxviUe road, Bluff.
Haberer C. grocer, 315 Smith street.
Hadank Jacob, wheelwright Plow works.
Hadank J. N. painter, res. 700 Cedar street.
Hadley J. M. carpets, 209 S. Adams street.
HaganB prop. Spring Hill Park.
Haggerty J. O. peddler, res. Webster street.

_ _. Adams street.
. bookkeeper Mec. Nat. Bank.

HALE ASAHEL (deceased), one of the early

settlers in Peoria, and noted in his lifetime as a public

benefactor and a philanthropist as well as a prominent
anti-slavery man when it required courage to be one,

was born in Pawlett, Vt., on December 10, 1791 ; left

his native State, and after living a short time in New
York, came to Illinois in 1830, and the following year

settled in Peoria, which was his home until his death,

on March 23, 1864. In 1838, Mr. Hale received the

appointment of County Treasurer, by the Governor,

and filled the office one term. He espoused the anti-

slavery cause in the early years of its agitation, and was
a radical and zealous advocate of its principles. He
became associated with the Methodist Episcopal Church
in 1840, and was a prominent member during the rest

of his life. He and Mark Aiken donated the lot on
which the First M. E. Church was built in 1844; and
prior to his death he provided for the erection of Hale
Chapel for which he bequeathed $12,000. It was built

by the executors of his will, and a committee of trustees

designated therein, the corner stone being laid on June

23, 1868, and dedicated the following January. For
generations this edifice will perpetuate the memory and

noble philanthropy of him whose name it bears ; and

grateful hearts will .ever mingle that name with their

thanksgiving while bowing before its altar in worship.

Mrs. Laura Hale, his widow, still survives, and occupies

her comfortable residence on High street, near the

church.

Hale Hannah, 106 Perry street.

HALE WILLIAM HON. (deceased), resi-

dence of widow, 109 Perry street. One of the promi-

nent benefactors of Peoria, now deceased, is the subject

of this brief record. William Hale was born in Pawlett,

Vermont, on the 7th of December, 1783. His early life

was spent on a farm, where he received the advantage

of a good common school education, and, like many

young men of the Green Mountain State, spent a por-

tion of his time in teaching. He settled on a farm in

Oswego county. New York, and, while living there, be-

came one of the leading men of the county. For many

years he held the position of justice of the peace. He
was then appointed to the associate judgeship, held

the office of deputy sheriff, then sheriff, of the county.

In 1835 he came to Peoria, and in company with his

brother, Asahel Hale, and George G. Greenwood,

erected a saw and grist mill on the Kickapoo river. At

the first town meeting after township organization was

adopted, on the 2d of April, 1850, he was elected one

of the first Board of Supervisors. He was also the first

mayor of the city of Peoria, receiving his election at

the adoption of the city charter, on the 28th of April,

1845. The business life of Mr. Hale, after leaving the

mill, was mostly spent in dealing in real estate, in which

he became quite wealthy. He bought at an early time

eighty acres in the central portion of the east part of

the city, including now some of the finest residences,

and laid it out into streets and lots, from which he re-

ceived a handsome income. We are informed that he

purchased the whole eighty for $700, scarcely the

price of one lot at the present time. Mr. Hale

added Hale's first, second, and third additions to the

city of Peoria. Mr. Hale was a prominent member of

the order of Free Masons, and donated the ground for

a Masonic cemetery. He also gave liberally to the

Methodist Episcopal Church, of which he was a mem-
ber. In politics he was a Democrat, and his first vote

was cast for General Jackson, the second term of his

election to the Presidency, He was married on the

27th of March, 1830, at the age of forty-two years, to

Miss Hannah Twitchell, who is still living at her hus-

band's late residence on Perry street. Mr. Hale died

November 25, 1859.

HALEY JONATHAN, cooper, 8io Hamilton

street. Born in Tennessee, April 20, 1823. Son of

James and Sarah (Harris) Haley. Father settled in

McDonough county, Illinois, in 1833, and died in

1863 ; mother died in Peoria in 1872. Was married

February 2g, 1843, to Elizabeth Bowen. She was born

in Ohio in 1827. They have had eleven children, seven

deceased. Electa A., William T,, John W., Charles F.,

Flora A., Harry and Hannah. The living are, James
A., Ada, George E., and Minnie. Mr. Haley learned

his trade at Rushville, Illinois, where he worked until

1851 ; came back to Peoria, and worked until the out-
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break of the war, when he enlisted, August 20, 1862,

Co. H, 86th 111. Inf., and served one and a half years;

discharged on account of deafness ; returned to Peoria

in 1864, where he has continued the manufacture of

barrels. Mr. and Mrs. Haley are members of the M.
E. Church. Mr. Haley is Republican in politics.

Halfpenny John, marble cutter, 118 Fulton street.
Hall Charles H. 803 S. Washington street.

HALLi C S. (retired), 817 Fourth street, was

born in Cumberland county. New Jersey, August 30,

1808, and is the son of Levi Hall, a native of New Jer-

sey, an old veteran of the Revolutionary war, and Par-

thenia Stretch, also a native of the same State. His

father died August 15, 1811, and his mother December

r7i 1833. He was raised on the home farm, and resi-

ded there until forty years of age, and married there in

1831, May 5th, Phoebe Ayers, daughter of Clayton

Ayers, who was born in New Jersey, January 26, 1811.

They have had five children, four now living. Mary,

now Mrs. Morris Sims, residing in Lawn Ridge, Peoria

county ; Levi, George, and James. In 1849, he came

with his family to Illinois, and settled in Farmington,

Fulton county, where he farmed for some years, and

about 1857 came to Peoria county, and settled on sec-

tion 6, of Hallock township, where he resided until

November 4, 1879, when, feeling the hand of old age

bearing heavily upon him, he moved into the city to take

a. much-needed rest after his years of toil. Mrs. Hall

died in New Jersey in September, 1845, and he mar-

ried, August 24, 1848, Mrs. Matilda Dawson, a native

of Missouri, by whom he has had ten children, five now
living: Miriam, Agnes, Norman and Newton, (twins),

and Martha. During his stay in Hallock township he

was connected with the Union Baptist Church, and his

wife and he are now members of Peoria Baptist Church.

He owns 128 acres of fine farming land in home farm,

valued at about $8,000, and the land is now worked by

his two youngest sons.

Hall James D. portrait painter, res. 606 Sixth street.
Hall J. H. supt. F. H. C. H. Ky. 1415 Perry street.
Hall L. e. res. 307 8. Adams street.

HAIjIi WILIilAM A. (retired), residence

112 1 North Monroe street. Was born ist November,

1798, in Westfield, Middlesex county, Connecticut, and

remained there until 1 820, when he went to Ohio and

spent the Summer ; then returned to the place of his

nativity, served an apprenticeship at gunsmithing, mil-

itary arms, with Col. Simpson Worth at Middletown,

Conn. Married Miss Prudence T. Spaulding, May 5^

1822, and on the 8th of the same month started for

Chicago, where he remained one year in government

employ ; left there on the 23d of June, 1823 ; went to

a town called Chagrine ; remained there until 1825

thence to Akron, and in 1826 to Clinton, Ohio ; from

there to Pittsburg, Pa,, in government employ. In April,

1830, went to Cincinnati, O., employed on steam engine

works, where he remained three years, when he came

to Peoria and located. At that time there were only

about 250 inhabitants in the city. He engaged in

steamboating, and was an engineer on the river until

1854, when he quit the business. Mrs. Hall died De-

cember 22, 1852, and was buried in what is now Spring-

dale cemetery. Married for his second wife Mrs. Sarah

Thomas, a native of Pennsylvania, and a sister of Jacob

Hepperly. By his first wife there were ten children,

seven girls and three boys, five of whom are still living.

They are both members of the church. Mr. Hall, by

industry and hard labor, has accumulated a fine prop-

erty.

Halloran H. marble cutter, res. 512 Hurlbut street.
Haly P., 911 Second street. '

Haly T, No. 1631 S. Adams street.
Hamilton A. res. 104 Spencer street.

HAMlIiTON JOHN L. physician and sur-

geon, 229^outh Adams st., was born February 12, 1826,

in Pennsylvania ; began the practice of medicine in 1850

in the city of Peoria, and has resided here since. Mar-

ried Miss Fannie S. Denison in 1861. They have had

five children, two girls and three boys. One boy and

one girl deceased. Politically is Republican. Gradua-

ted at Sterling Medical College, Columbus, O., in 1850.

Hamilton Wm. E. coal, 381 S. Adams street.

HAMLIN [HON. JOHN (deceased), was born

in Hampden county, Mass., October 25. 1800; parents

were John and Lucy Hamlin. At the age of nine years

he was placed on a farm at work for small wages, and

when older went to school, working mornings and eve-

nings for his board. These were the only school ad-

vantages he enjoyed, save a Winter at Wallingford

Academy, and by this means he obtained a meager

English education. His father gave his sons their

time from the age of sixteen years. At that age John

entered the employ of an older brother, to sell goods

from a peddling wagon, at which he spent about three

years, traveling through the Eastern and Middle States.

In the Winter of 1818-19, he closed out the stock of

goods in Zanesville, O., sold the wagon, and started on

horseback for Richmond, Va. ; there sold his horses,

and took a schooner for New York ; spent the Winter

in visiting friends in Massachusetts ; in the Spring of

1819 went overland to Cincinnati, O.; went thence to

Louisville, Ky. ; returned to Madison, Ind., in a few

weeks ; spent three months there ; and then

started for Missouri; but falling in with a

party of emigrants bound tor the Sangamon
country, concluded to go there, reaching there after

1,200 miles' travel ; landed at Judge Latham's, in Elk-

hart, where he remained about a year, improving a

piece of land. In 1821 he became associated with the

owner of a keel boat, running on the Sangamon river,

in a little log store which they built, and put in a small
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stock of goods. In company with several other gentle-

men Mr. H. visited the site of Peoria early in May,

1821, and found but two log cabins. He was charmed

with the natural beauty of the place, and in the Spring

of 1822 removed his effects with an ox team to Fort

Clark, the inhabitants then being the families of Abner

Eads, a Mr. Mont and Mr. Bogardus. In the Spring

of 1822 Fulton county was organized, then including

Peoria, and Mr. Hamlin was chosen justice of the peace.

In 1823 William Hamilton took a contract to supply

Fort Howard, at Green Bay, with beef cattle, and ow-

ing to his efficiency and knowledge of the Indians, Mr.

Hamlin was engaged to accompany the expedition.

Fort Dearborn— now Chicago— was the first stopping

place. After many romantic experiences they reached

Green Bay July 2 1823, having performed the journey

in thirty days. On the return trip Justice Hamlin per-

formed his first marriage ceremony at Fort Dearborn—
the first in the place— uniting in wedlock Dr. Alexan-

der Wolcott to Miss Kinzie, the daughter of the first

white settler on the site of Chicago. During his stay

at Fort Dearborn Mr. H. contracted to enter the ser-

vices of the American Fur Company, which he did after

a brief trip home. In this business he had many novel

experiences and learned much of Indian character.

Mr. Hamlin at once won the esteem and confidence of

his employers, and the next year was sent to establish a

trading post at Fort Clark— his home. He erected

suitable buildings and shipped goods, not only to the

Indians, but to the white settlers. Besides the usual

fuf trade, he exchanged goods for pork, which he

packed and shipped to the military post at Chicago,

and for cattle for the same market. He conceived the

idea of shipping his pork by keel boat, which was the

first effort to navigate the uncertain waters between

Lake Peoria and Chicago with any thing larger than a

Mackinaw boat or Indian canoe. The whole experi-

ment proved a success. Upon his return he gathered

together his few hundred dollars capital, purchased a

stock of goods in St. Louis and opened a store of his

own in Peoria. During the Summer of 1825 he erected

a small frame house, 18x24, the first built in the place,

covered it with split clap-boards, and plastered it him-

self with white clay from the bluff. In the Spring of

1826 he'bought a keel boat to run on the river between

Peoria and St. Louis, and thus cheapen the transporta-

tion of his goods. In 1828 he established a branch

store in Mackinaw town, Tazewell county, but the fol-

lowing year sold out his entire business and made a

visit to his old New England home. Upon his return

he built a cabin at the foot of the bluff and engaged in

farming. . The next year bought the stock of goods at

his old stand and re-embarked in the mercantile busi-

ness. In the Spring Mr. Hamlin, in company with a

young man named Sharp, began to build the first flour-

ing mill in this part of the country. It was completed

the next year, and they run it until 1834, when they

sold it. He purchased a fourth interest in a steamboat

being built at Pittsburg, called it Peoria, to run between

that city and St. Louis, and was the first Peorian to

own an interest in a steamboat on the Illinois river.

Mr. Hamlin was one of, the first board of trustees of

the young town of his adoption ; served later as alder-

man ; and in 1834 was elected to the Illinois General

Assembly. In 1836 was chosen to the State Senate,

and re-elected in 1838. He was one of the directors of

the Second National Bank from its organization, and

one of the proprietors of the savings bank of Peoria.

On March 29, 1876, he died, closing an active and use-

ful life. Mr. Hamlin possessed a great versatility of

talent, much above mediocre in quantity and quality.

He was twice married. His second wife, who survives

him, was the daughter of Levi and Sarah Johnson, of

Springfield, III., a native of Athens county, Ohio, born

January 10, 1808. whom he married April 10, 1827. Mr.

H. left a comfortable estate for the widow and their

adopted daughter, Mrs. Vanbuskirk.

Hancock Jonathan, dealer In ]nmT>er, Harrison street.
Hanlon James, coal miner, 703 Webster street.
Hanlon Kate, res. 1920 N. .TeSerson street.
Hanna Robert S. res. 709 Webster street.
Hanna W. T., tj. S. store kpr. res. 407 S. Adams street.

HANNY RICHARD, blacksmith and wagon

manufacturer, corner Main and Hale streets, was born

in Baden, Europe, in 1830. John Hanny, his father,

was a farmer in that country. Mr. H. immigrated to

this country in 1850, learned his trade in Lancaster

county, Penn., with Alexander Saunders. Came to

Peoria county in 1853, and carried on business in

Kickapoo six years ; settled in Peoria in 1859. He
now does a blacksmithing, wagon making, and general

repair business ; formerly for seven years was engaged

in the manufacture of plows and cultivators, turning

out from $90,000 to $100,000 worth of ^ods per year.

He married Frances Guger, in Peoria, in February,

i860. They have two children, Anna and Richard.

The family are members of the Catholic Church. Mr.

H. owns a homestead at 408 Hale street, and the shop.

Hannilian John, teamster, res. 1507 First street.
Hannlhan Thomas, teamster, 814 Webster street.
Hanson M. vegetables. Central Market.
Harbers Aaron, res. 705 W. Jefferson street.

HARDING- A. C. business manager Peoria

Starch Manufactory, was born in Peoria Dec. 31, 1857,

and is the son of George F. and Adelaide M. Harding,

presently residing in Chicago. His father purchased

from Tucker & Mansfield the site of the manufactory

and began to make starch. The business has since

grown to large proportions, upwards of i2,ooo,q|io

pounds are annually made, consuming 2,000 bushels of

corn per day. Mr. Harding married, May 7, 1879, ^iss

Addie Church, who was born March 20, i860, by
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whom he has one child, Abner C, born in February of

the present year.

Harding E. D. res. Iig High treet.
Harerstalil Jacob, cabinet maker, 206 Harrison street.

HABKNESS M. O., U. S. storekeeper, 105

S. Orange street.

HARMAN PATRICK, grocer, 314 N. Jeffer-

son street, was born in county Louth, Ireland, May 12,

i8i2, and came to America in 1837, arriving in Peoria

Nov. 15, of that year, and has ever since made it his

home. Mr. Harman is to-day the oldest Irishman

resident of Peoria county. He married in March, 1841,

Mary Boyle, a native of Ireland, who came to Peoria

at the same time as himself, by whom he has had

thirteen children, six girls and seven boys, eight of

whom are now alive. Has been ehgaged in his present

business since 1852. Was worth in i860 over $20,000,

and still is in the possession of considerable property.

Harmes H. M.tcs. 711 W. JeHerson street.
Harmon John, res. 108 Eaton street.
Harman L. Jr. attorney, 120 N. Adams street.
Harmon Patrick W. brick laying, res. 120S N. Madison street.
Harre George, foreman boiler maker T., P. & W, R. R.
Harrington J. W, lab. 735 Plank road.
Harrington M. carpenter, 800 Fourth streets
Harris H. gardener, 1702 Second street.
Harris Wm. B.. mason, 225 If. Elizabetb street.
Harrison L., res. 717 Hurlbut street.
Harsch CJeo., confectionery. 419 S. Adams street.
Harsch Gustav E., res. 103 Second street
Harsch Jacob, manufacturer confectionery, etc., res. 219 W.

Madison.
Harsey Daniel, tailor, res. 1502 S. Washington street.
Hart N. Mrs., 433 Butter street.
Hart John J., watchman, C. R. I. & P., res. 209 Voris street.
Hart Moses, dairy. 267 BluS street.
Harth Jacob, brick-layer, res. 809 Webster street.
Hartler John. res. 1909 N. Adams street.

HARTTER JOHN, cigar manufacturer, 114 N.

Washington street, was born in Wuertenback, Ger-

many, 1843. Emigrated to the United States in 1853.

and settled at Newark, New Jersey, where he remained

a short time, and in August, 1854, came to Peoria.

Married Anna Mary Johns, on the 17th day of June,

1870. The fruit of this marriage was four children,

three boys ai^ one girl. Mr. H. is an energetic busi-

ness man, and is well calculated to succeed in his busi-

ness.

Hartwig C. F. E., saloon, 1313 S. Adams street.

HARTWICK HENRY, grocery, 121 5 Main

street, was born in Baden, Germany, on the 29th day of

August, 1829. Emigrated to the United States in 1849

(May 25), located in New York city, where he remained

ten years, then moved to Niagara Falls, and remained

here six years. In 1865 came to Peoria, and was

engaged to the Peoria & Rock Island Railroad Com-
pany, as a civil engineer, and was with them five years,

after which he engaged in the grocery business. Mar-

ried Miss Elizabeth Trifzer, a native of Baden, Ger-

many, and came to this country in 1849. By this mar-

riage there were four children, two girls and two boys.

Is a member of the order of A. O. U. W.
Harvey K. W., com. traveler, res. 802 Monson street.
Hasbronfc M., S. Elizabeth street.
Hasbroucb Frank, brlcli-mason, res. 316 EUls street.

Hasselmeyer A., res. 1900 N. Jefferson street.

Hank r. G., butcher, res. 512 Fulton street.

HAUF JOHN A. baker, 401 N. Adams street,

was born in Germany, in 1833. Emigrated to America

when nineteen years old. Worked nearly three years

at the baking business, and a few months at cabinet

work, for a brother in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania;

thence came to Peoria, and worked two years for House

& Adams, then a time for Frank Field, in the bakery,

after which he conducted a shop of his own, for several

years. Sold out and engaged in huckstering three

years. Opened his present establishment about eight

years ago. He married Elizabeth Sommers in Peoria,

about twenty-five years ago. She is a native of France,

but brought up in the United States. Louis, aged

iw£nty, is the only one of their three children living.

He owns a residence and bakery.

HAUK GODFREID„was born in Germany;

immigrated to the United States forty-seven years ago,

at the age of thirteen ; in 1852 he married in Miami

Co., Ohio, to Miss Arsina , who was born in

Pickaway Co., O., in 1831. Their family consists of

three sons and two daughters, born in Peoria. Frank

started in the butchering business in January, l877,and

the following August, formed a partnership with his

brother William. They are doing a successful business

at 213 S. Madison street, handling from thirty to forty

head of stock per week. Mr. Hauk removed to Peoria

twenty-five years ago, and has lived in the city since,

save one season, five years ago, spent on the Pacific

coast.

Hauser S. Mrs. res. 1006 S. Adams street.
Hawf J. A. baker, 401 N. Adams street.
Hawkins John B. shirt factory, 219 Fulton street.
Hayden Peter, res. Ill Jackson street.
Hayes Pat. laborer, 103 Chicago street.
Hazzard James, contractor and builder, 314 Fayette street.
Hazzard Jos. F. U. S. store-keeper, res. 301 Chambers avenue.
Hearst H. (H. D. &. Co.) res. 108 Floral avenue.
Hecht J. res. 1609 S. Adams street.
Hedrlck Henry, clerk, cor. Main and Washington St., Sav.Bank.
Hedrick J. E. carpenter, 107 Louisa street.
Herden Chas. res. 113 Cass street.
Heinrichs John W. cooper, res. 103 Cass street.
Hellinger F. G. watchman res. 1410 Perry street.
Hellinger John, res. 1408 Perry street.
Hempnill fl. M. master oar builder T., P. & W.

HENDERSONADAM, (retired,) 1213 Fourth

street, was born in the village and parish of Gordon,

Berwickshire, Scotland, May 18, 1820, and is the son of

Adam and Agnes (Dods) Henderson, natives of the

same shire. He was educated in the parish school, and

when about fourteen years old went to Galashiels,where

he served an apprenticeship of five years to the trade

of millwright and machinist, and in 1839 went to New-
castle, England, and was for some months with Geo.

Stephenson, the distinguished engineer, moving thence

to Manchester, and entering the employ of his cousin.

Sir Wm. Fairbairn, who was then extensively engaged

in the manufacture of locomotives and other steam en-

gines. He remained there about five years, and dur-

ing that period finished his education, by attending a
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course of instruction in mathematics, algebra, and

mechanical drawing at Hill's Academy. He also mar-

ried there, April 2, 1841, Miss Margaret B. Inglis, who
was born in 1817, and was the daughter of Rev. John

Inglis of Greenlaw, Berwickshire. Bound to see some-

thing more of the world, he left England with his wife

and family for America in 1844, landing at New Or-

leans in May of that year. He remained in that city

some months, and then went to St. Louis, removing

after a short stay to Pekin, 111., where he engaged in

the manufacture of wagons, plows and other agricul-

tural machinery for three and a half years. In 1848 he

came to Peoria, and for some years worked in a ma-

chine shop, removing thence in 1857 to Henry, 111.,

where he opened a foundry and machine shop on his

own account, and continued it profitably for seven

years, when his health broke down, and he was forced

to give it up and return to Peoria. After a rest of some

months he again began business there as a founder and

machinist, and was also agent for the sale o{ agricultural

machinery, doing a large business. He finally gave it

up, and retired from active business life in 1865, and

has since devoted his time to the by no means light

labor of looking after his property in Peoria Co. and

elsewhere. He values his property at about $60,000,

two-thirds of which is in Peoria county. Mr. Hender-

son has had by his marriage four children, two ofwhom
are still living. Elizabeth, now Mrs. Tamplin, and

Jessie. Mr. Henderson visited his native country in

1872, and contemplates again making the journey in

company with his wife, in course of the coming Sum-
mer. Mr. and Mrs. Henderson with their family are

members of First Presbyterian Church of Peoria, with

which he has been connected for twenty-eight years.

HENDERSON ANDREW R. manufac-

turer of overalls and shirts, no Main street, res. East

Bluff, was born In Muskingum county, Ohio on the

19th day of March, 1845. His father, George D. Hen-
derson, was a native of Pennsylvania. Moved to Ohio

in 1840. Married Miss Hattie L. Corwin April 27,

1869 They had two children, one boy and one girl

(boy deceased). Came to Peoria in 1876 and com-

menced business immediately after coming to the city.

Members of the First Presbyterian Church. Politics,

Republican.

Henderson J. Miss, teacher, res. 1S13 Fourth street.

HENCKLE JOHN M. saloon, 11 16 Main

street.

HENNEBERY MATTHEW, wholesale

liquor dealer and re-distiller, 7 & 8 S. Water street, is

a native of Ireland, and has residAi in Peoria since

1849. During the last twenty-nine years he has been

in business for himself at his present location. He has

been very successful in all his undertakings, and carries

on a very large and widely extended business. He

sells principally to the Illinois trade, but also does

business to a. considerable extent with customers in

Iowa, Missouri and Kansas. He carries a stock of

about $40,000.

HENRY J. C manufacturer of gasoline street

lamps and stoves, 609 N. Adams street, was born jn

Morrow county, Ohio, May 10, 1846, and is the son of

John and Annie (Jamieson) Henry, natives of Pennsyl-

vania. He was raised to manhood in his native county

and started there to learn his trade as machinist. He

afterwards moved to Iowa, and married in Marion

county of that State, February 7, 1877, Miss Mantie

Long, a native of Iowa, by whom he has had four

children, three now living— Nellie, Annie and Blanche.

He came to Illinois in 1869, and to Peoria in January,

1876, and after working a few months at his trade, em-

braced his present business and has since continued it

;

has at present the contract for supplying street lamps

to the city, and also manufactures largely both street

and house lamps and stoves, both for local and foreign

trade. He owns his residence and manufactory, with

the lots on which they stand at above and adjoining

number.

HENRY J. F. wholesale grocer, 331 S. Wash-

ington street.

Henry Wm. C. carpenter, 211 Fourth street.

Henseler A. J. res. 808 Gooawin street.

HENSIiER JOHN E. carpenter and con-

tractor, N. Adams street.

HEPPLcER KATHERINE Mrs. saloon,

1 161 Main street, was born in Germany, November 22,

1816. Emigrated to America in 1847, and settled in

Cincinnati, Ohio, where she remained a short time,

thence to St. Louis, Mo., and in 1850 came to Peoria.

Married Andrew Heppler who was a native ofGermany.

He died in Peoria on the i6th day of February, 1879.

They were both members of the Catholic Church. Mrs.

Heppler has some good property, several houses and

lots on the bluff.

HEPPERLY JACOB, (retired,) res. 200, 4th

street. Was born in Gettysburg, Penn., on the nth

day of April, 1813, where he remained about sixteen

years, when he left home and during the year 1830

visited various places. Came to Peoria March 19, 1831,

and remained about six months. Thence to Jackson-

ville and remained two years. And from 1832 until

1857 was in various business and places, up to where

he has lived since. Married Mrs. Clara C. Meacham

on the 6th day of December, 1842. She was a native

of New York State, born February 5, 1810. She came

to Peoria 1833. Both members of the Presbyterian

Church of Peoria. Mr. Hepperly through his energies

and industry has accumulated a fine property and is

among the oldest inhabitants of the city, and was here

before a stone or brick was laid that now constitutes
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the city of Peoria. By this union there were two chil-

dren, one living, Mrs. Harriet C. Hotchkiss, now a

resident of Central America.

HERBON WM. A., president Peoria Savings

Bank, cor. Main and Washington streets, res. 411 N.

Madison street.

Hertwlj? G. carpenter and builder, 419 W. Madison street.
Herwlg Gottfried, carpenter, 419 w. Madison street.

HESER CHRISTIAN", wholesale agency for

Milwaukee beer, 224 S. Washington street. Was born

on the 2d day of February, 1842, in Germany, Emi-

grated to the United States in 1864. Settled in Du
Page county, Ills., and remained there two years. In

1866 came to Peoria, and engaged in his present busi-

ness in 1869, where he has worked up a good trade.

Married Miss Elizabeth Ossembick, July 29, 1869. The
fruits of this marriage was three children, two girls and

one boy.

Hesler Aug. res. 407 N. Jefferson street.
Hess I. H. res. 215 Third street.
Hesser C. A. liquor store, 884 S. Washington street.

HEWETT R, W, (retired,) 262 Bluff street.

Heyl Wm. F. hardware, head of Bridge.
Higbee Theo. paymaster T. P. & W. res. 805 Second street.
Higgins D. grocer. No. 900 First street.
Hill John, res. 833 Louisa street.

HILLi H. S. printer, cor. Fulton and Washington

streets.

Hllliard J. R. res. 305 N. Madison street.
Hillman Louis, laborer, res. 1404 Perry street.
Hime, E. printer, 400 S. Adams street.
Hienrlchs, H. W. No. 103 Cass street.

HITCHCOCK CHAS. F. grain commission

merchant. Exchange Block, 331 S. Washington street.

HITCHCOCK FRAPTK, sheriff of Peoria

county, res. 310 Sixth street ; was born in Painesville,

Lake county, Ohio, January 29, 1838. Parents were

Nelson Hitchcock, born in the State of New York, and

Matilda Rider, a native of Lake county, O. The first

seventeen years of Frank's life were spent on a farm in

Lake county, when the family came west and settled in

Trivoli township, Peoria county. In the Fall of 1861,

he enlisted in the nth 111. Cavalry, but suffering with

severe sore eyes, was discharged a few months after. In

the Fall of 1862, he recruited Co. D, of the 86th L V. I.,

and was mustered as its captain. Participated in the

various battles with his regiment until wounded at

Kenesaw mountain, June 27, 1864, losing three fingers

of his right hand. He went into the battle with thirty-

five men, and came out with fifteen. Capt. H.
joined his command ten months later at Raleigh, N.

C, marched through to Washington and mustered out in

June, 1865. He was elected Sheriff in the Fall of 1866
;

have been several times re-elected against a Democratic

majority of 500 in the county, and is now serving his

twelfth year in the office. He married Alice L. Bourne

in September 1862, just previous to leaving for the seat

of war. She is the daughter of M. F. Bourne, was born

June 18, 1836, and was the first female child born on

the Trivoli prairie. Their children are Frank B.,

Mary and Ella.

Hitchcock John, saloon. 400 S. Water street.

Hobin Wm. laborer, res. 308 Greenleaf street.

HOEFFNBR GrEORGE F. hotel keeper, 427

S. Washington street; was born in Rhine, Bavaria,

September 8, 1842, came to the States in 1866, and

located in Peoria, where he worked in a hotel a short

time, then was employed in a brewery, and in 1876,

commenced his present business. Married Miss Got-

tabor ; she was born in Wirtemberg, Germany. The

fruits of this marriage is four children, two boys and

two girls, Frank, Charlie, Rose and Katie. Members

of the Catholic Church.

Hodges A. J. res. 109 S. Monroe street.
Hofer Otto, molder, 335 N. Water street.
Hoffman A. gardner, res. North City.
Hoffman E. grocer 1609 S. Washington street.

Hogan B. carpenter, res. 313 McDouglas street.

Hogan F. J. res. 507 Hurlbut street.

HOGE JAMES B. banker, res. I2i High

street; was, born in Highland county, C, came with

parents to Knox county. 111., in 1834, settling near

Yates City. His father, James Hoge, married Sarah

Ware, of Greenfield, Ohio. Only two sons and one

daughter of their family of five are living. His father

was a harness and saddle manufacturer. He died in

1847, his widow ten years later. J. B. took charge of

his father's estate at his death, bought out the other

heirs, gradually added to it by purchasing adjacent

lands, until he had a farm of 1,600 acres. After sixteen

years of agricultural life, he removed to Peoria in

February, 1866, and in company with J. L. Davis es-

tablished the banking-house of Davis & Hoge. Six

years later he bought his partner's interest and con-

ducted the business alone successfully, as J. B. Hoge

& Co., until the financial failure of Thomas Neill, in

March 1880, by whom he lost $52,000, and was com-

pelled to close the door. Mr. H. had accumulated an

estate estimated at $130,000. A large part of the

creditors are paid off, and the remainder secured. Mr.

H. declares the whole shall be settled in full if it takes

the last dollar. He married Elvina Reisinger, of Knox
county, 111., when twenty-three years of age. Their

family consists of four children, Josephine, now Mrs. J.

B. Richardson, of Baltimore, Md. , Cornelia, Emma and

Orville, at home.

Hoklas H. mnfr. cigar boxes, res. 608 Smith street.

HOKLAS & TOETAT, manufacturers of

cigar boxes, 300 First street. The members of this

firm are Henry Hoklas and Charles "Poetat, and it has

been in existence for eight years. Their first business

location was at' 217 Harrison street, and about two

years ago they moved to the premises they now own and

occupy. They are the only manufacturers in the city,

and their goods are sold largely all over the West as

far as Denver. They turn out about 3,000 boxes per
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week, employ an average of fourteen hands, and have

all they can do to keep up with their rapidly increasing

business,

Holcomb D. G. cattle dealer, 227 N. Elizabeth street.
HoUiUKSworth J. L. 1501 N. .letterson street.
Holmes 0. A. com. trav. 214 Baton street.
Honnstaaw John, teamster, 157 First street.
Horan P. res. 527 Hale street.
Horiibaker I. H. cooper, res. 1217 N. Madison street.
Hornbecker Charles, shoemaker, 1221 S. Adams street.

HOLTON KOBL.B, physician and surgeon

(Stewart Sr Holton), 705 Main street; was born in

Windham county, Vermont, in 1823, and after receiv-

ing a good common school education, assisted his father

in farming and lumbering. He came to Illinois in

184s, and commenced the study of medicine with Dr.

A. L. Merriam ; began practicing in 1848, and has pur-

sued it continuously to the present time. He married

in April, 1849, Miss Rosina A, Greenman. In 1861

he entered the medical department of the army, and

continued in it until the Summer of 1863, when he was

forced to resign on account of sickness. He commenced

to practice in Peoria, in partnership with Dr. J. T.

Stewart, July i, 1878, and has since continued to do

so.

HOPKINS H. B. (of Hopkins & Morrow), at-

torney, 323 Main street.

HOPKINS SAMUEL A. M. D., residence

914, office H02 South Adams street ; was born in Bour-

bon county, Ky., May 14, 1809. His father, Samuel

Hopkins, was born in Maryland, in 1774, and immi-

grated to Kentucky in 1793, where he married Nancy

Harney, who was born in the State of Delaware. The
doctor remained in his native County until 1832, then

went to Cincinnati, O. He began the study of medi-

cine with Dr. J. Saunders, of Millersburg, Ky., at the

age of sixteen years ; took first course of lectures at the

Medical College of Ohio, Cincinnati, in 1836 ; then

commenced practice in Cincinnati, and in 1846, took

another course of lectures, and was awarded the degree

of M. D. In 1853 he removed to Bureau county. 111.,

and twenty-two years later settled in Peoria. In 1862,

Dr. Hopkins went into the United States army as first

assistant surgeon of the 93d 111. Infantry, and on July

29, 1863, was promoted to the position of surgeon of the

same regiment, and acted in that capacity until he was

mustered out of service, in December, 1864, from disa-

bility by a paralytic stroke. Although forty-four years

in the professional harness, the doctor still has a lucra-

tive practice, and at the ripe age of seventy-one enjoys

good health and sound constitution. On the 30th of

April, 1828, he married Hannah Black, a native of New
York city, who has borne him seven children, five liv-

ing, two sons and three daughters. John W., the oldest

son, served in the war of the rebellion, as captain of Co.

B, of the 93d Illinois Infantry, and the other son, Leroy

S., served as first lieutenant in the same company. Cap-

tain was taken prisoner at the battle of Champion Hill,

and lieutenant was wounded in the same engagement.

The former has died of small-pox since the war, and

the latter is now practicing medicine at Maiden, 111.

Dr. Hopkins and wife are members of the M. E. Church,

in which he has been a local minister for fifty-one

years. He is Republican in politics.

HORNBACKER JOHN S. res. 1217 N,

Madison street, cooper, was born -in Franklin county,

Ohio, December 5, 1824 ; came to Illinois October i,

1830, when he was about six years old. Married Miss

Margaret Trial. She was born February 11, 1832.

The fruits of this marriage were three children, two of

whom are still living, Rachael and Arthur. Held the

office of policeman for six years ; enlisted in the Mex-

ican war in 1846, Col. Ed. Baker, who was killed at

Ball's Bluff; also enlisted in the 77th I. V. I., of our

late war ; was in the siege of Vicksburg, Arkansas Post.

Hotchklss Grover D. res. 106 High street.
Hotcbklss Z. N. hardware, lOS South Washington street.

HOWARD H. A. United States ganger.

Howeler F. W. boots and shoes, 705 N. Adams street.

Howell L. pres. 2d Nat. Bank, cor. Main and Washington sts.

Howe Norman, brick mason, res. 202 Montague street.
Huber Jas. brewer, res. Pacific street.
Hudson J. A. grocer, 113 N. Washington street.

HUFENUSS ALOIS D. boot and shoe

manufacturer, 41 5 >^ Main street, was born on the 27th

of September, 1843, in Switzerland. Father a native

of Switzerland, and is still living. Mother's maiden

name was Appolonia Bossort, and also a native of

Switzerland. Mr. H. emigrated to the United States

in 1868, and has resided in this city since, and has been

in business for himself since 1871, and is now doing a

good trade in his line.

Hughes James, carpenter, res. lower Jefferson street.
Hughes James, laborer, 1307 S. Washington street.
Hughes Wm. clerk, 314 S. Washington street.
Hugglns N. res. 204 N. Monroe street.
Hummel Thos. boot and shoe maker, 200 Bridge street.
Humphrey Henry, res. Merrlman 1st n. of Second street.
Hundschu Mrs. 0. res. 1000 N. Jefferson street.
Huuken F. planer, 718 S. Washington street.
Hunt James, iron, res. 307 McBean street.
Hunter Thos. res. 1016 Perry street.

HUGHES WILLIAM, cooper, res. 150 Gay
street, was born in Wales, county Cardigan, March 14,

1816; son of John and Mary (Prichard) Hughes;

learned his trade when a small boy and worked for his

brother until he was fifteen years old ; and when
eighteen, came to the United States and worked in

New York and Brooklyn one Winter. Then went to

Adrian, Mich., where he worked at his trade a number
of years as foreman for Benj. Anderson. Left there

and went to Cleveland ; then worked at various points

on the canal to Portsmouth on the Ohio river ; then

went to St. Louis in 1840, where he remained one Win-
ter. In 1842 he came to Peoria and worked at journey-

work one season. In the Winter hecommenced business

on his own account and is doing an extensive business,

running from 30 to 120 men. Married Maria S. Brown
in Peoria, March 20, 1845. She was born in New Jer-
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sey in 1818. There were six children, four of which

are living— Mary, Loyina, Charles W. and Lizzie, Is

a member of the A. F, & A. M.
Hupe W. wagon and carriage mant. Sll & 218 Bridge street.
Hurley M. confectioner, res. 707 Seventh street.

HURLBURT T. R. dyer and scourer.

Hursprl) Peter, barber, 130 W. Adams street.
Hurst H. commission, 619 S. Madison street.
Kurtz S. B. hatter, 329 Main street.
Hu't Michael, cooper, res. 1510 S. Washington street.

HUTCHINSOBT JOHN R. (Hutchinson &
Madigan) cooper, 104 Henry street, was born in Can-

ada, April 3, 1843, and is the son of Samuel and Ellen

(Russell) Hutchinson, both of whom are now deceased.

He learned his trade in Canada and worked at it there

and elsewhere for many years, finally coming to Peoria

in 1872, where he has, in connection with his partner,

been since engaged in the manufacture of all kinds of

barrels, employing a large force of men and having

every facility in their shop for rapidly turning out their

work in a thorough and first-class manner.

Irons A. S. Mrs. res. 1314 N. Madison street.
Isle Joseph, res. 210 McBeynolds street.

JACK E. H. capitalist, 417 Second street, was

born in Switzerland county, Ind., April 29, 1823, and

is the son of Samuel and Rosanna (Hampton) Jack, na-

tives of Gallatin county, Ky, Shortly after his birth

his father died, and he came to Kentucky with his

mother, where he grew up. He went to school at Bur-

lington, Boone county, and after coming to manhood

carried on a general mercantile business, manufactured

tobacco, etc., for some years ; afterwards followed

steamboating on the Mississippi river from Cincinnati

to New Orleans till 1855, when he removed to Chilli-

cothe, Peoria county, and, for about a year, engaged in

the grain and lumber business in partnership with

Henry Truitt, and married in February, 1856, Miss

Annie W. Moss, daughter of Capt. W. S. Moss, She

was born in Peoria county. May 18, 1836, about a

month after her parents had come there from Switzer-

land county, Ind, They have seven children— Minnie

H„ Edward M,, William S., Annie Emily, Lillie An-

gela, Noel Hampton and Rosa Chote. After marriage

he moved to a farm in Richwoods township, near Moss-

ville, where he remained until March, 1863, and then

purchased an interest in the distilling firm of Moss,

Bradley & Co., and removed with his family to the city

of Peoria, in which he has ever since resided. He sold

out his interest in the distillery about ten years ago ; is

a member of the Board of Trade and director in the

Peoria gas-light and bridge companies ; was for some

years director of the First National Bank. Mr, Jack is

a large property owner in the city, and also owns sev-

eral farms in this and McLean counties.

JACK WILIilAM, of James & Jack, attorneys

at law, 107 N. Jefferson street, and Master in Chancery,

Court-house, was born in Westmoreland county. Pa.,

July ip, 1843, a"<i is the son of Joseph Jack and H. J.

Herron, natives of Pennsylvania ; received his educa-

tion at Sewicly Academy, in Mt. Pleasant township,

Westmoreland county, and in i860 removed to Peoria

where he attended the High school, graduating in

1862. Immediately afterwards he began the study of

law with the late Judge M. Williamson, and after

eighteen months entered the office of the late Judge H.

M, Wead, with whom he remained as student, and

later as associate partner, until January, 1874. In that

year his present partnership was formed with Mr. L,

W. James. Mr. Jack was appointed Master in Chancery

for the Circuit Court of Peoria County in September,

1873, and is now serving his third term in that capacity.

He married August 5, 1869, Miss Annie Greir, daughter

of John C. Greir, Esq., of Peoria, by whom he has two

children— Robert P. and Sallie G. He owns his resi-

dence and other property in the city, and is connected

with the Second Presbyterian Church,

Jackson John, moulder, 600 S. Water street.
Jacksou M. laborer, res. 209 MlUman street.
Jackson Wm. res. 307 Third street.

JACOBS H. insurance agent, 820 S, Adams
street, was born in Norden, Germany, November 5,

1836, and is the son of Jacob H. and H. (Diercks)

Jacobs, natives of that city. He was there raised, went

to school, and learned the trade of carpenter, after-

wards engaged in mercantile business, and married in

1858, Miss Antye Eren, a native of his own place. He
came to America with his family in 1866, landing at

New York in the Fall of that year, and came straight

to Peoria, where, for one year he worked at his trade,

and then took up the insurance business, which he has

since continued. He represents the following Fire In-

surance Companies : German Fire Insurance Co., of

Freeport, Ills. ; Milwaukee Mechanics' Mutual Co.

;

Rochester German Insurance Co. ; Rochester German

Insurance Co., of N. Y. ; German Insurance Co., of

Baltimore, Md. ; German Insurance Co., of Qnincy,

111. ; Columbia Fire Insurance Co., of N. Y. ; and Ger-

man Fire Insurance Co., of Peoria, Also represents

the Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Co., of Mil-

waukee, Wis. The fruits of his marriage were ten

children, six of whom are now alive — Siementye, Jacob,

John, Hero, Albert and Henry. He owns his residence

and lot, in rear of above number, and is with his wife

and family an adherent of the Lutheran Church.

JAMESON ELISHA. railroad contractor, res,

127 Floral avenue, was born in Cushen, Maine, in

August, 1829, Learned the carpenter trade there;

came west and settled in Springfield, 111., about 1853,

and engaged in railroad building. In 1856 he married

Alice Cutting, in that city, a native of Massachusetts.

A years previous to the breaking out of the Rebellion

they removed to St. Louis township ; lived there three

years during which time Mr. Jameson was in Gov-
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eminent employ, erecting hospitals and other buildings

for the quarter-master's department, at various points

in the South. After the close of the war he engaged

in the lumber trade in Memphis, Tenn., two years ; re-

moved thence to Chillicothe, Peoria county, and in

company with J. Prescott took the contract to build the

Peoria and Rock Island railroad ; and upon the com-

pletion of that work, removed to Peoria and built the

Main street horse car line, which he superintended the

road a year or two after it was finished. In March,

1879, lie went to Missouri under contract to construct

a line of railroad in that State, and has been operating

there to the present time, headquarters now being at

Chillicothe, Mo. The fruit of their marital union is

two children, Etta— Mrs. Frank Tapping, of Peoria,

and Manfred, at home. Mr. Jameson is a member of

the A. F. & A. M.

Jenkins J. W. mstcblnUt, res. SOS Evans street.
Jenocbie J. saloon, 2001 N. Adams street.
Jobst C. J. res. 924 S. Adams street.
Jobst V. contractor and builder, 810 S. Washington street.
Jobson John, coach cleaner, T. P. & W.
Johns Bussel, laborer, 1400 First street.
Johnson G. J. blacksmltblng, res. 1019 S. Adams street.
Johnson E. G. attorney, 137 N. Jefferson street.

JOHNSON EARNEST, res. street.

Johnson Gr. M. attorney, 304 S. Jefferson street.
Johnson I. W. physician, 110 S. Madison street.
Johnson James w. bookkeeper, res. 116 Sixth street.

JOHNSON AUSTIN F. business manager

and financial agent of Mrs, Lydia Bradley.

Johnson J. P. wholesale grocer, res. 803 N. Jefferson street.
Johnson Jobn A. laborer, 1312 S. Adams street.
Johnson J. G. molder, 335 N. Water street.
Johnson B. S. conductor, G. B. I. & P. res. 607 Penn avenue.
Johnson Sarah Mrs. res. 535 KnoxTlUe road.

JOHNSON SAMUEL, manufacturer wagons

and buggies, blacksmith and horseshoer, 802 Main

street ; was born in Dearborn county, Ind., January 6,

184s, and is the son of George H, and Rebecca (Loter)

Johnson. He came to Peoria county with them, when

very young, and there they both died. He was raised,

and went to school in that county, and learned his

trade of blacksmith in Schuyler county, 111., and worked

at it till 1861, in August of which year he enlisted in

Co. A. loth Mo. I. Vols., and took part with his regi-

ment in the battles of Chattanooga, Corinth, all around

Vicksburg, Champion Hill and many others ; was mus-

tered out at St. Louis in August, 1S64, and shortly

afterwards came to Peoria, where he has since been en-

gaged in his present business on his own account. He
manufactures quite largely for the local trade. He
married October 4, 1864, Miss Sarah Jane Matheny, a

native of Schuyler county. 111., by whom he has had

two boys—John Francis and Albert. Mrs. Johnson died

in Peoria September 5, 1876.

Jones A. H. P. 406 Haie street.
Jones John, United States eauger. res. 401 Sixth street.
Jones J. W. cooper, res. 1428 £ Washington streets.

JONES M. J. M. D. 503 S. Adams street,

was born in Preble county, O., Nov. 23-, 1840, and is

the son of Hiram Jones and Julia Woodmansee, na-

tives of Pennsylvania. When very young he came to

Illinois with his parents, and settled in Peoria county,

where he was raised and educated. He began to read

medicine in 1868 with Dr. J. O. Patterson, of Galva,

111., and during the years of l86g-'70 and '71 attended

the medical college of Ohio at Cincinnati, graduating

thence March i, 1871. He began to practice at Altona

Knox county. 111., and resided there for three years,

and in the Fall of 1874 came to Peoria, where he has

since resided and practiced. He married in August,

1867, Miss Mary Lowder, a native of Hamilton, O., by

whom he has had two children, William Lowder and

Nellie Mabel. His father died on the old homestead

in 1862, but his mother still lives and resides in Brim-

field township, of Peoria county.

JOOS RAGETH, carpenter and builder, 902

S. Adams street, was born in the Canton of Graub-

ruenden, Switzerland, January 14, 1832, and is the son

of Conrad and Ann Joos, natives of same Canton ; was

raised and attended school there, and came to America

in company with his elder brother in 1849, landing at

New York in June of that year ; came to Wisconsin,

and in that Fall settled in Peoria, where he has since

resided. Here he learned his trade, and worked at it

as a journeyman up to 1873, when he started in busi-

ness for himself and has since continued so. He mar-

ried in Peoria in March, 1856, Miss Barbara Walter, a

native of Peoria county, by whom he has had seven

children, only one of whom is now alive ; her name is

Mary Ann Joos. His wife died in July, 1870, and in

August, 1872, he married Catharine Krauth, a native

of Bavaria, born in 1844, by whom he has had two

children, August and Robert ; is a. Protestant and a

member of I. O. O. F., having filled successively all

the chairs in Western Ljodge, No. 295, of Peoria ; is

also a member of Peoria Lodge, No. 15, A. O. U. W.
He owns his residence and and workshop adjoining at

above number, with the lots on which they stand.

Jordon Wm. L. bricklayer, res. 900 KnoxvlUe road.
Joyce E. shoemaker, 308}i Fulton street.
Joyce John, carpenter, res. 415 Ghambers avenue.
Junior Geo. res. 318 Hayward street.
Julian F. P. res, 413 St. James street,

KAESTL.ER ADAM, butcher, cor. N. Jef-

ferson street and Plank road, was born in Bavaria, Ger-

many, September 14, 1836 ; came to America in 1857,

and immediately after landing in New York came
through to Peoria, and engaged in different pursuits

until 1867, when he commenced his present line of

business. He married in 1866 Miss Lena Green, who
was born in Hanover, Germany, October 15, 1846, by

whom he has had six children, five now living, Lena,

Minnie, Adam, Willie and Emil. Mr. Kaestler is a

square dealing business man and a good citizen ; owns

some property in the city. He and his wife are mem-
bers of the Lutheran Church.
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Kallesta Aug. harness maker, res. 807 S. Douglas street.

KANNE HENRY, brick maker, 1165 Main st.

Kranne John, laborer, T., P. & W. shops.
Kammerer Ph. brick mason, office iiSl S. Madison street.
Kearns J. Z21 Merrlman street.
Kearus P., painter, 408 Main street.
Kearns Patrick, laborer, 810 Second street.
Kearns T., teamster, 805 Hurlbut street.
Keefe Thomas, laborer, res. 401 Merrlman street.
Keefer John H., switchman, C, R. I. & P., res. 1814 N. Adams

street.

KEITH E. H. physician and surgeon, 1207^^

S. Adams street, was born in Switzerland county, In-

diana, September 16, 1826. Is the son of Nicholas and

Betsey (Hinman) Keith. His father was a native of

Maryland, and came to Indiana while it was yet a ter-

ritory. His mother was a native of New York. Dr.

Keith was reared and received his primary education

in his native county. In 1858, he purchased a drug

store in LeRoy, Illinois, and conducted it until 1861,

when he disposed of it, and enlisted in September, in

Co. 1,39th I. V. I., and took part with it in the battles

of Bath, Hancock and Winchester. At Falmouth he

was taken sick and sent to Mount Pleasant General

Hospital, at Washington, and on recovery was detailed

to dispensary of that hospital until September, 1862,

and received instructions in surgery from Surgeon E. E.

Fryer, U. S. A. In that month he was discharged from

the service by special order, and received an appoint-

ment in the Medical Department of the Regular Army.

After the battle of Antietam he was sent to Frederick,

Maryland, to help care for those wounded in that bat-

tle, and remained till February, 1863, still pursuing the

study of medicine, under the instructions of Assistant

Surgeon Buntin, After leaving there for St. Louis, on

orders from Assistant Surgeon-General Wood, he was

sent to Johnson's Island, in Lake Erie, where a prison

had been established for Rebel officers. Here he

remained nearly two years and continued to study,

under Post-Surgeon T. Woodbridge, of Youngstown,

Ohio. In October, 1864, he resigned, and went to

Memphis, Tennessee, and commenced to practice, com-

ing in the Summer of 1865 to Peoria county, where he

has since resided. He married, December 24, 1848, in

his native county, Miss R. J. Adkinson, daughter of

William and Melinda A. (Lightfoot) Keith, natives of

Kentucky, by whom he has had seven children, four

now alive—Edwin E., Alvin M., Marietta, Martha, and

Melinda Letitia. His youngest child, Betty Curtis

Keith, was born in Henry, Marshall county, Illinois,

March 25, 1861, and died in Peoria, September 8, 1878.

The doctor enjoys a large general practice in Peoria.

He resides on corner of Cedar and Lower Madison

streets.

KIEFER H. M. malt house, 1420 S. Washing-

ton street, was born in Bavarian Germany, on the loth

day of January, 1830. Came to the United States in

1853, and located in Cincinnati,Ohio, where he remained

about six months, then went to Chicago. Traveled

extensively in the Western States, and in the Spring of

1855 came to Peoria, where he was employed in various

business up to i860, when he commenced the whole-

sale liquor business, and followed that for about ten

years. Then erected his present malt house, 55x136

feet, at a cost of $11,000. Married Miss Christina

Tinkemeyer. She was borii in Prussia, July 24, 1834.

There are four living children, two boys and two girls

—

Annie, Anton, Albert and Lena. Is doing a fine busi-

ness, and uses 60,000 bushels of grain per year.

Kelley Daniel, carpenter, 900 S. Adams street.
Kellerstrass Boberc. boarding house. 1606 S. Washington street.
Kelley Michael, res. SteubenvUle, 1 N. Smith street.
Kelley R. B., engineer. T. P. & W.. res. 814 Butler street.
Kelley William, restaurant, 133 S. Washington street.
Kellogg Charles, bakery and confectionery, corner Sixth and

Kellogg William, attorney, opposite Court-house.
Kemps Charles, driver, 0. C. H. railway, res. 1710 S. Adams

street.
Kennedy James* com traveler, res. 813 N. Monroe street.
Kennedy John, blacksmith, 122 N. Washington street,
Kennedy M. res. 908 Second street.
Kennedy P. whitesmith, T., P. & W. res. 530 Johnson street.
Kennedy Robt. dep. county clerk, C. H. res. 314 Floral street.
Kennedy Wra. J. res. 916 N. Monroe street.
Kelley P. 103 Eliza street.
Kepptl F. malster. 1717 S. Washington street.
Keran P. laborer, 807 N. Monroe street.
Kerr James F. res, 1307 Perry street.
Kervain Thos. blacksmith, 1210 S. Adams street.
Keyon L. real estate, res. 124 N. Adams street.
Keys Aiigust, harness maker, 313 Howett street.
Klefer a. M. malt house, 1420 S. Washington street.
Kimball F. eggs, 815 S. Adams street.
Kimball Geo. sash, 801 N. Water street.

KIMBLE ROBERT, lumber dealer, 200 S.

Water street, was born in Northumberland county. Pa.,

November 11, 1814, and is the son of Peter and Mary
(Taylor) Kimble, natives of Northumberland county.

He removed with his mother to Crawford county, Pa.,

and in 1837 moved to Illinois, settling in Knox county,

where he engaged in the boot and shoe and mercantile

business for fifteen years. In 1B49, 1852 and 1853 he

crossed the plains to California with stock, returning

via Panama, and in 1859 and 1863 he again made

the long and dangerous journey. He came to Peoria

in 1854, and has since then made it his home. He
married in Meadsville, Pa., in 1836, Miss Angeline

Temple, a native of Pennsylvania, by whom he has

had nine children, only three of whom are now alive,

James, Frank and Hattie. He deals extensively in

pine lumber and keeps a large stock on hand.

KIMMEIi CHARLES A. attorney at law,

325 Main street, was born in Somerset county. Pa.,

July 5, 1851, and is the son of Samuel Kimmel and

Martha A. Johnston, natives of Pennsylvania. About

the year 1855 he removed with his mother to Peoria,

where he received his education, and afterwards taught

in the public schools of the county for some years. He
commenced the study of law in 1872 with Messrs.

Johnson & Hopkins ; was admitted to the bar at Mt.

Vernon, 111., June 5, 1874, and has since been engaged

in its practice on his own account, getting his share of

the legal business of the county.

Klndunger John, tailor, res. 201 Spencer street.
King C. P. capitalist, res. 205 N, IVIadlson street.
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KING JOHN F. firm of King & Bull, dealers

in furnaces, ranges, grates and mantels, I2I S. Jefferson

street, was born in Peoria in 1836. His father, Samuel

B. King, came from Urbana, Ohio, where he married

Josina W. McComsey, and settled in Peoria in 1837,

when there were but twenty- one families in the place.

Mr. K, never attended school but two terms, as his

services were needed at home to help support the large

family of eight boys and four girls. He learned the

trade of brick mason when twenty years of age, and

has been building and contracting since 1861 as the

senior member of the present firm. They added the

mantel and grate department in 1866. In February,

1866, he recruited a company and went to Camp But-

ler to rendezvous, but the war closing that Spring, the

company never went to the field. In 1866 Mr. King

married Permelia Godfrey, in Toulon, 111., who has

borne him five children, four living, John F., Minnie

Maud, Harry P. and Jessie May. Mr. K. is a member
of the City Board of ^Idermen, and vice president of

the Peoria Scientific Association. He owns an exten-

sive private geological cabinet.

King S, B„ U. S. store-keeper, res. 908 Spencer street.
King & Bull, mantels and grates, Igl S. Jefferson street.
Kingman M. agricultural Instrument dealer, S. Washington St.
Klnny James, plasterer, res. 705 Hale street.
Kinney Peter, res. 714 N. JeSerson street.
Kinney S. N. Insurance, 119 S. Adams street.
Klrby IS. J. Mrs. res. 16S0 Perry street.
Kirch J. police, res. S. Water street.
Ktrkpatrick J. N. pressman, res. 81S Monson street.
Klrkpatrlck Thos. olacksmlth, 308 S. Washington street.
Klssner G. masher, res. 104 George street.

KINSEY S. A. (of Kinsey & Mahler), brass

founders and coppersmiths, 400 S. Adams street was

born Feb. 15, 1827, in Morris Co., N. J., and is the son

of Samuel and Elizabeth (Pomp) Kinsey. His father

was a native of New Jersey and his mother of Pennsyl-

vania. When very young he moved with his parents

to Northampton Co., Pa., and there he was raised and

received such education as a country school afforded.

He served an apprenticeship as pattern-maker in Berks

Co., Pa., and about the year 1847 went to work as a

pattern-maker in the U. S. navy yard at Philadelphia,

and after eighteen months removed to Scranton, Pa.;

where for the next two years he had charge of the

foundry and machine shop ofLackawana and Western

Railroad. He then turned his attention to contracting

and constructed several sections on the Belvidere and
Delaware Railroad, and in 1855 came to Peoria, and
acted as foreman in Wm. Peters' foundry and machine

shop on Water Street for about five years, and then pur-

chased an interest in the firm of Lucas Seller & Co.,

coppersmiths, and has since continued in that business.

The present firm has been in existence since 1867, and

does a very extensive and rapidly increasing business.

He married on the day Taylor was elected President

(Nov. 2, 1848), in Jersey City to Miss Lydia A. Emery,

a native of N. J., by whom he has had six children
;

48

William, Warren, Nellie, Blanche, Ada and Samuel.

Mr. Kinsey has been alderman from the Second Ward
of Peoria for six years. He planned and superintended

the construction of the system of water works at De-

catur, 111., and Davenport, Iowa, and in 1868 was

selected as superintending engineer of the water works

in Peoria during Iheir construction.

Klappsroth F. 12!! Douglas street.

KLEIN HENRY, grocer, 807 N. Jefferson

street, was born in Prussia, March 4, 1822, and emigrat-

ed to America in 1853. He remained two years in New
York, and in 1S55 came to Peoria and worked at the

carpenter trade for about fifteen years, when he engag-

ed in his present business, in which he has been very

successful, and has been able to acquire some good pro-

perty. Married in 1853 Mary Lechthaler, a native of

Prussia. He is a member of Masonic Order, I.O. O. F.

and Druid Lodge.

Klewe F. butcher, res. 901 KnoxvlUe road.
KUngenburg N. turnkey county ]all.

KlilNGEL BROTHERS, coppersmiths,

plumbers, 313 S. Washington Street. The firm is com-
posed of Joseph and Christ Klingel. Embarked in

business in 1873, gas and steam fitters, also dealers in

brass works, hose, gas fixtures and pumps. The Klingel

Brothers are young energetic men, and by close atten-

tion to business and fair dealing, have built up a good
trade. Carry a stock of $2,000.

KLINGEL CHRISTIAN, coppersmith,

plumber, and gas and steam fitter, 313 S. Washington
street, was born in Wurtemberg, Germany, in 1847

;

came to America with parents when four years old, and
settled in Peoria, which has since been his home. He
learned his trade in Peoria, and started in business in

1868 ; conducted it as sole proprietor till 1876, when
his brother Joseph became a partner, and the firm has

since been Klingel Brothers. Their business is among
the heaviest in the city in their line ; employs from ten

to twelve men, and runs about $20,000 per year. Mr.
Klingel married when twenty-six years of age to Anna
Schertz, who was born in Peoria, and is twenty-seven

years of age. They have three children, Emma, Albert

and Rudolph. Mr. Klingel is a member of the Order

of Druids, and of the Ancient Order of Workmen, al-

so of the Turner Society. Owns a homestead where he
resides, at 1014 N. Madison street. Joseph married

Lena Frederick in February, 1880.

Klowmann F. tailor, res. 1615 S. Washington street.

KNEER JOHN, Union Depot Hotel, 801 S.

Adams street, was born in Germany in 1842, March
i6th, and is the son of George and Lena Kneer, natives

of that city. He came to America in 1859, landing at

New York June 27th of that year, and arrived in

Peoria five days later. For the first two years he
worked on a farm in Brimfield township, and in 1863
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came into the city and peddled beer for the City Brew-

ery for four years, then buying out the Western House
on S. Washington street, which he ran till 1878, and

then built the handsome and substantial structure at

above number which he continues to own. He married

in 1864 Miss Julia Ohl, a native of Buffalo, N. Y., by

whom he has had five children, four now alive— John,

Frederick, Theodore and Eddie. Mr. Kneer has held

the office of treasurer of Peoria Lodge, No. 6, U. A. O.

D. Himself and wife are members of the Catholic

Church.

KNEER WENDIillf, proprietor of Railroad

Exchange, 109 and III Hamilton street, was born in

Germany, October 20, 1836. Came to the United

States when seventeen years of age. Remained a year

and a half in Alleghany County, Pa., as a laborer;

came to Peoria in August, 1856. He became proprietor

of the Exchange in 1862. It is kept as a general

boarding house. At the age of twenty-five years he

married Wilhelmina Seibold, also a native of Germany.

They have seven children, Rudolph, Frederick, John,

Emil, August, Wendlin and Fredrica. Mr. Kneer is a

member of two secret orders. Owns some city real

estate.

KNOTT JOHN, (of McCormick & Knott)

hardware and tinware dealers, 719 Main street, has

been in Peoria ten years, and for over two years a mem-
bor of the present firm, which is engaged in the manu-

facture of tinware and deal largely in it, and general

shelf hardware. He resides at 1806 N, Adams street.

Knowlton J. li. res, 422 Main street.
Kocli Jacob, carpenter, res. 815 W.Jefferson street.

KOCH CHAS. (deceased), 1415 N.Jefferson St.,

was born in Germany November i, i8n, emigrated to

America in 1855, landed first in New Orleans where

he remained only a short time, when he afterwards lo-

cated in St. Louis, where he followed butchering.

Moved to Chicago and then located in Peoria, where

he continued to carry on butchering. He was first mar-

ried to Christenia Koch ; theyhad one child— Charles

—who died about i860; his wife died in 1863. He mar-

ried, for his second wife, Mrs. Lena Frietsch Kummel,

in 1864. She was born in Germany October 17, 1834 ;

came to America in i860, and had two children by her

first marriage— Joseph and John. Mr. Koch followed

grocery-keeping for thirteen years previous to his

death, which occurred March 18, 1880.

• Koch Hugh, res. 1336 S. Adams street.
Koclaa M. J. carpenter, res. 109 McBean street.
Koenlg Jas. res. 109 Clay street.

KORHUMMETj F. X. painter, 533 S. Adams
street, res. 117 McBean street.

Koster Hamln, tailor, res. 1300 N. Monroestreet.

KOWAIiSKEB C. saloon-keeper, cor. Bridge

and Water streets.

KRAFT JOSEPH, stonS cutter, cor. Hale

and High streets, born February 28, 1830, in Germany

;

emigrated to America, December i, 1857, *"<i settled in

Peoria, 111., where he worked at his trade which he

learned at the age of fifteen years. Was married in

1856 to Sophia Ditsler. She was born in Germany.

They have five children, Mary, Eddie, Joseph, Annie

and Charles. Owns in Peoria property to the amount

of $6,000. Members of the Catholic Church.

KRAMM E. coal, wood and lime dealer, 513

S. Washington street, was born in Hesse Darmstadt,

Germany, May 4, 1837 ; came to the United States in

1852, and located in Cleveland, Ohio, where he re-

mained one and a half years, and in 1854 came to

Peoria, where he worked at the carpenter trade one

year and then engaged in the real estate business, which

he followed until 1864, when he embarked in his pres-

ent business. Married Miss Emily Cayailin, who was

born in France in 1842. The fruits of this marriage is

eight children, five of whom are still living, Charles

B., Leslie, Herold D., Edward, William. Mr. K. com-

menced in the coal business at Edward's Station,

Rosefield township, but afterwards went to what is

known as Kramm Station, and laid out a town in 1876

;

built up a small town which took its name from him,

and in 1878 got a post office. From his coal- works

he takes out 3,000 bushels per day, and employs

thirty to torty men.

Kramer Martin, carpenter, res. 609 Jacl^son street.
Kramer O. gardener, Prairie street.
Kratzert Val. cooper, res. 1606 S. Adams street,
Krause C. F. tinsmith, 225 Bridge street,
Krause S. notary, 107 First street.
Kreeling H. fUruiture, 1218 S. Adams street.
Krelger Henry, saiooQ, 1217 S. Adams street.

KREUTER THERESA, Mrs. nee Stese,

grocer, 623 Perry street, was born in Baden, Germany,

in 1824 ; immigrated to the United States in 1846 and

settled in Columbus, Ohio, where she married Jacob

Kreuter on July 14th of that year. The following Oc-

tober they removed to Memphis, Tenn., where they

engaged in the grocery business a year and a half

;

thence went to Mt. Pleasant, Miss., remaining there

in a general mercantile traffic five years. They then

returned to Ohio, near McConnelsville, where, after

merchandising several years, Mr. K. being a miller,

traded his store for a steam mill, which proved a dis-

astrous vfenture and lost them every thing they had. In

1858 they came to Peoria in very straightened circum-

stances; but by industry and rigid economy they soon

accumulated a small capital, and again embarked in

the grocery trade, business and capital both increasing

until now Mrs. K. has a fine retail trade, and owns sev-

eral valuable pieces of property in the city. They had

three children, Rosie, Mrs. Smuck; Caroline, Mrs.

Ulrich, and Henry, at home. Mr. Kreuter died on

February ig, 1879.

Kromphardt H, baker, 819 New street.
Krosse Theo. basIiLet maker, 303 Bridge street.
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KRUSE CHARLES A. gardener, S. Adams
street near Moffatt's cemetery, was born in Prussia in

1841, came to America in 1856, and to Peoria two years

later. For nine years he worked at his trade of pain-

ter, and married in 1863, Miss Caroline Seibold, a na-

tive of Wurtenburg, Germany, who came to America in

1854. By this marriage he has five children— Minnie,

Annie S., Charles A., Caroline T. and Otto F. Mr.

Kruse owns seven acres of land where he resides, worth

$300 an acre, and eight acres on Sec. 18, worth $50 an

acre. He cultivates all kinds of vegetables, and dispo-

ses of them at the Central Market.

Kruse Geo. res. Moss street.

KRUSE FRED. W. G. gardener, S. Adams
street, near Moffatt's cemetery, was born in Germany
in 1849, and is the son of Christian and Johanna Kruse,

who came to America with their family in 1865, and

are now both dead. Mr. Kruse was married in 1873

to Matilda Brunsel, who was born in Germany in 1855,

and by whom he has four children— Frederick L. C,
August E., Johanna and Matilda. He has been en-

gaged in gardening pursuits for eight years, raising all

kinds of garden truck, which find a ready market in

the city. He owns gj^ acres of land in lower Peoria,

worth $250 an acre.

Kruse H. drugs, 511 S. Adams street.

KRUSE HENRY, stock dealer, res. Moss
street, was born in the kingdom of Hanover, Germany,

June 27, 1824, and is the son of Frederick and Louisa

(Fly) Kruse, both now deceased. He emigrated from

his native country to America in 1844, and located in

Chicago, where he remained until 1847, then coming to

Peoria, where he has ever since resided. He carried on

%, his trade of butcher until the Spring of the present year.

He married in 1850, Johanna Kruse, who was born in

Germany April 28, 1832, by whom he has four children

living Frederick G., Lewis H., George O. and Lena L.

Mr. Kruse owns property to the amount of about

$25,000, all of which he has worked hard for and earned

by the sweat of his brow, not having any thing to start

upon.

KRUSE JOHN H. dealer in stoves, hardware

and tinware, 1604 S. Adams street, was born in East

Friesland, Germany, November 15, 1858, and is the

son of Bertus J. and E. (Schmidt) Kruse, natives of

that country. He resided there until nine years of age

when he came to America with his parents, landing at

New York June 15, 1858, and going from thence to

Minonk, Woodford county. 111. In course of the same

Summer his father was taken sick and died, and shortly

afterward he moved with his mother across the river to

Peoria county and settled in Peoria, where he has ever

since resided. He clerked for several years and worked

hard at any thing that turned up to make an honest

living, and finally commenced to learn the trade of

tinner in 1875 with the firm of F. Meyer & Bro. and

worked for them as apprentice and journeyman for

some years, and then, in June, 1879, started for him-

self at his present location. He keeps a fine stock of

stoves and all kinds of shelf hardware and house fur-

nishing goods, and is building up a fine business. He
married April i, 1880, Miss Salley Rudel, a native of

Germany, who was born in 1859, and came to America

with her parents in 1875. His mother is still living

and resides at 311 McBean street. He is a mepiber of

the Evangelical Church of Peoria.

Kuchera F. J. grocer, 611 8. Adams street.
Kuck D. letter carrier, 206 Third street.
Kueny F. carpenter, res. 1300 Ferry street.
Kubn G. J. cooper, 1216 8. Adams street.
Kundinger John, tailor, res. 201 Spencer street.
Kunkel Jacob, carpenter, res. Tracv street.
Kuntz Phil. res. 103 Helen street.
Kuss Jas. tailor, res. 303 Charleton street.
Ladd B. Fred. 428 Fulton street.
Laine Henry, cattle leeder, 106 Pecan street.
Lamb C. engineer P., L. & D. res. 227 8. Madison street.
Lammer Christ, grocer. 1819 8. Adams street.
Lammers F. grocer, 1301 8. Adams street.
Lammers H. res. Bradley avenue.
Lance J. L. carpenter, 704 S. Washington street.
Landls W. C. engineer T., P. & W.

LANDON SARAH Mrs.
Lang John, gardener, 906 Fourth street.
Lang W. 908 Fourth street.
Laugton W. carpenter, 203 8. UnderhlU street.

LAPHAM LEVI A. attorney, 316 Main St.^

was born in Hamilton, Butler county, Ohio, July 5,

1841, and is the son of Levi Lapham and Freelove H.
Aldrich, natives of Rhode Island. He is descended

from a very old American family, originally from

Wales and England, (Roundheads) which came to

America in 1632. He was educated at Union College,

Schenectady, N. Y., and coming to Peoria in May,

1863, began the study of law with Mr. Jonathan K.
Cooper, and was admitted to the bar in January, 1866.

He has since followed that profession, and is presently

very largely engaged in real estate practice. He en-

listed in April, 1864, in Co. F. 139th I. V. I., Capt. W.
H. Snow, and was mustered out in November of the

same year. The regiment served principally in the

States of Missouri and Kentucky. Politically he is a

Republican, and in religious matters, an agnostic.

LANGE EDWARD, butcher, 420 First street,

was born in Germany, January 24, 1821, and is the son

of Anton and Hannah (Fischer) Lange, natives of Ger-

many. He was raised and learned his trade there, and

came to America in 1848, landing in New York in Sep-

tember of that year. For the next two years he resided

in New York city, working at his trade, and married

there September 9, 1850, Frederika Rader, a native of

Germany, by whom he has had eleven children, six now
living— Emma, Mary, Anna, Dora, Alvina and Ed.

ward. Immediately after marriage he removed to

Canada West, where he resided for six years, and then

came to Peoria, where he worked for two years, and

then started a business for himself, and has since con-
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tinued it. He resides with" his family in Tazewell

Bounty, opposite Peoria. His wife and he are mem-

bers of the German Baptist Church.

Larkln John, laborer, res. 407 Hurlbut street.

L>ATHROP MARIA C. Mrs. widow of

Myron J. Lathrop, residence 717 Hamilton street. Was

born in Schoharie county, N. Y., in 1818, is the daugh-

ter of Andrew P. and Maria (Nellis) Loucks, natives

of same State, Removed with parents to Kalamazoo.

Mich., in the Spring of 1833, where she married Mr,

Lathrop two years later. He was born in Shaftsburg,

Vt., in 1812, and was the son of Anson and Sarah

(Martin) Lathrop. Mr. and Mrs. L. settled in St. Jo-

seph, Mich., in 1836, and removed to Ypsilanti in 1840,

where they lived till 1851. In 1850 Mr. L. went to

California, being gone fifteen months, and upon his

return they removed to Peoria, in June, 1851. He
worked for a time at his trade— blacksmith— but

failing health compelled him to abandon it. He then

started a small eating house in a cellar where the Sec-

ond National Bank now stands. Through diligence

and careful management the business rapidly grew, a

fruit and vegetable store was added, and in a few years

he erected a large building on Washington street, and

established a cracker and candy manufactory which, be-

fore his death, did a business of over $200,000 a year.

Mr. L. died July 4, 1878, leaving a family of four daugh-

ters, Julia E., Helen C, Anna Maria—widow of Dr.

Timothy Babb, who died of consumption, contracted

while serving as assistant surgeon of the 47th Reg. 111.

Inf. during the late war— and Mary C. Lathrop. They

had buried two sons and one daughter. The whole

family were zealously active in sanitary and reliefwork

during the war, contributing both labor and money

without stint. Mrs. L. acted constantly with the Wo-
man's Aid Society, of which she was one of the twelve

directresses. She has preserved a scrapbook of history

covering the entire four years of that deadly strife,

made up from the papers and telegrams of the move-

ments of the armies.

LAURENE R. E. printer. Sun office, res. 1827

North Jefferson street. Was born in New York, June,

1833. Father moved to Ohio, where he commenced

to learn the printers' trade, in the city of Cincinnati.

Has undergone a good many changes and trials in his

early life as a printer, and while oiling the printing

press in Cincinnati he lost his left arm. Was married

November 14, 1856, to Adelia Reding. She was born

in Indiana. They have had four children, Charles,

Rosie A. Ella M. and Walter E. He located in Peoria

September 28, 1874, where he has continued to reside,

working at his trade, and at the present time is engaged

with the publication of the Peoria Sun, in connection

with B. T. Elderkin.

Law S. A. 1112 N. Jefferson street.

Lawler M. fireman, 203 Butler street.
Lawrence John G. clerk P. L. & D. freight.
Lawrence T. paint shop, 208 Hamilton street.

Lazelle W. P. capitalist 131 High street.

liEE HON. JOHN S. attorney at law, 103

N. Jefferson street, was born in Maysville, Ky., Febru-

ary 6, 1864, and is the fourth son of a family of eight

sons and two daughters of James A. and Elizabeth W.

Lee, nee Wood. James A. Lee was a native of New Jer-

sey ; Miss Wood, of Kentucky, where her parents were

pioneers. Her father was a large landholder in Lewis

county. Mr. Lee came with his parents to Peoria in

August, 1856, where his father died in 1872; mother

still living. Mr. Lee was educated in the schools of

the city, read law with Judge H. M. Reed (deceased),

formerly one of Peoria's leading lawyers, and was ad-

mitted to practice in June, 1865. He devoted his at-

tention to legal practice until he was elected to the

State Legislature by the Democratic party in 1870

;

served one term and was elected as a member of the

State Senate in 1872 by over 500 majority, and re-

elected in 1876 by a larger vote. These nominations

were unsolicited on the part of Mr. Lee, and only ac-

cepted after repeated declinations. He discharged the

duties with ability and acceptance, and is now urged to

become a candidate for governor. The law firm of

Stevens, Lee & Galligher is one of the leading firms of

the city, and has a very extensive practice.

LEGROS FRANK, coal dealer, 317 N. Wash-

ington street.

Lehne G. F. res. 415 Liberty street.
Lelghton A. blacksmith Plow works, res. North City.
Leonard C. Barker, 1503 S. 'Washington street.

opoi .. , :.::
Leubold F. res. Ill Clay street.
Leopold Henry, shoemaker, 720

ilngt
N. Adams street.

Lewis John H. res. lower Peoria.
Lewis Sabln, brick-mason, 1415 S. Washington street.
Lewis Wm. P. cattle dealer. 1012 Kettelle street.
Ley Jones H. C. teamster, 100 Gay street.
Lightner H. capitalist, res. cor. Jefferson and Hamilton streets.

lilDWINOSKY SAMUEL, dealer in dry

goods, notions, boots and shoes, clothing, etc., 535 S.

Adams street, was born in Poland, in May, i85i,and is

the son of Jacob Lidwinosky. He came to America in

1869, and landing at New York in August of that year,

headed straight for Peoria, and during the next four

years peddled notions, etc. through Peoria and adjoin-

ing counties. Six years ago he started a permanent

place of business and has since continued it. When
seventeen years old he married, in his native country,

Rachael Brin, by whom he has had five children—
Jacob, Erris, Annie, Rachel and Hannah. He con-

ducts a prosperous business, and carries a stock of

about $5,000.

Lilley P. res. 1009 Second street.

LINCOLN A. P. land agent, res. 709 S. Adams
street, was born in Taunton, Bristol county, Mass.,

August 24, 1825, and after his school days were over

came West, settling in Peoria October i, 1845, where,

in the following Spring, he started in the lumber busi-
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ness, and shortly afterwards added to it that of a furni-

ture dealer. He continued to deal in lumber until

1872, and in furniture until 1879, in which year he be-

gan his present business of land agent. He married

October 10, 1857, Miss Amanda Melvina Stevenson,

who was born in Knox county, Ohio, February 23,

1847, and by whom he has had two children— Jennie,

born November 24, 1864, died July 3, 1874, and Fanny

A., born March 19, 1862.

Lincoln H. G. pawnbroker, Sii7 S. Adams street.
Lind 1. W. res. 611 N. Monroe street.
Llud Matthew, millwright. 611 N. Monroe street.
Lindsay J. T. res. 277 Bluff street.
Lindsay Thos. whitewasher. res. Ill N. Monroe street.
Lines C. G. bookkeeper. Second National Bank.
Liueback William, res. 129 North street.

LINDGREN J. P. flour, feed and coal dealer,

corner Elm and South Adams streets. Was born in

Sweden, March 8, 1841, and is the son of J. J. and

Anna Lindgren, natives of that country. He was raised

at home upon a farm, and was educated at the College

of Lund, in Sweden, and came to America in 1872,

landing at New York in the Spring of that year, and

from thence went to Chicago, and remained there until

1876, being employed part of the time in the hotel

business. He came to Peoria in 1877, and started in

his present business on his own account about two

years ago. He rents the Chase Mill and uses it for

storage purposes, and carries on hand a large stock of

grain, flour, coal, etc. He married in December, T878,

Miss Tillie Sanderson, who was born in Sweden, in

i860. He and his wife are adherents of the M. E
Church.

JJINDSAY J. C. grocer, 121 South Washington

street, son of Andrew and Jane (Davidson) Lindsay,

natives of Pennsylvania, where the subject of this sketch

was born on the 20th day of June, 1829. Emigrated

to Peoria when he was nine years old, and received

what education the city schools afforded at that time.

Married Miss Sarah M. Dinwiddle. She was the

daughter of Hugh Dinwiddle ; was born in Pennsyl-

vania, November, 1835. The fruit of this marriage

was three children, two boys and one girl, Charles C,
Minnie and William McCoy. Members of the Presby-

terian Church. Engaged in business in 1858 ; carries

a stock of $8,000, and is one of the oldest grocerymen

in the city.

Linton John, laborer T., P. & W. shops, res. 1013 First street.

lilTTLEFIEIiD R. C. carpenter, 604 South

Adams street. Was born in York county, Maine, Sep-

tember, 1833, and is the son of Elisha and Sarah (Ran-

kin) Littlefield, natives of that State. He was raised

there until sixteen years of age, and removed to Massa-

chusetts, learning his trade in Charlestown in that State,

where he resided three years; thence removed to Bloom-

ington, 111., for six months, and from there to Hudson,

McLean county, 111., where he married in April, 1856,

Miss Lucinda A. Bayliss, a native of Ohio, by whom

he has had seven children, all living, William, Ella,

Hattie, Frank, Lewis, Flora and Charles. In 1859 he

went to El Paso, Woodford county, where he remained

till 1866, and then removed to Peoria, where he has

since resided and carried on business. He makes a

specialty of the manufacture of distillery and sugar

house tubs, and has done quite a large business in them

of late years. Mrs. Littlefield is a member of the Bap-

tist Church.

Livingston Arthur, res. 253 Bluff street.

LIVINGSTON SAMUEL A. recording clerk,

County Clerk's office, Peoria. The subject of this sketch

is a young man, in the prime of life. He is a son of

Arthur and Isabella Livingston, nee Downs, and was

born in Radnor township, this county, February 16,

1851. His father is a native of Scotland, and came to

America in 1833, and settled in Illinois in 1845, in

Radnor township. His mother is a native of Fulton

county. Pa. Samuel is their second son, and received

the larger part of his education at the common school

at Glendale, the home of his youth. He was an apt

scholar, and made every moment count. There are

but few men of his age who possess finer business qual-

ifications, while his deportment commends him to all,

both in business or social way. He is admirably

adapted to the position he fills with such signal ability

and industry. He left the farm in 1871, and since that

time has given his exclusive attention to the duties of

the counting-room. On the 28th of December, 1875,

he united in marriage with. Miss Belle Bramble, daugh-

ter ofJames W. and Pamelia Bramble, nee Seeley, who

was born on Long Island, N. Y. This union has been

cemented with the birth of two sons, Brainard B. and

Elwood S.

liLOYD R. H. United States gauger, res. 909

N. Adams street.

LLOYD THOMAS, stoves, 119 S. Washington

street.

Lockburn D. cooper, res. 606 Perry street.
Loeffler Geo. painter, Prairie street.
Loker John J. coppersmith, 400 S. Adams street,
Long C. carpenter, 1313 Monroe street.
Long George, 307 Moss street.
Long Martin, res. 1018 First street.
Loock L. E. grocer, 1151 S. Adams street.

Loefel John, saloon, 210 S. Madison street.

LOOMIS L. J. real estate agent, no S. Adams
street.

Lorentz G. W. candy maker, res. 300 Hurlbut street.
Lorentz J. res. 216 S. Adams street.

LOUCKS WELLINGTON (of Loucks &
Loucks), attorney at law, 227 Main street, was born at

Schoharie, Schoharie county, N. Y., March 31, 1823,

and is the son of Andrew P. and Maria (Nellis) Loucks,

natives of New York State. When about one year old,

his parents moved to Albany, where he attended

school. In 1833 removed with his parents to Kalama-

zoo county, Michigan. They farmed there until 1837,

when they removed to Detroit and his iather engaged
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in mercantile business, and the subject of this sketch

received his business education. In 1841 he removed

to St. Louis, then a city of some 15,000 inhabitants, re-

mained till October, 1843, preparing himself for col-

lege, and then entered Hanover College, Indiana and

removed with it to Madison, in the same State, where

the institution was finally abandoned, and he went

with the faculty to Miami University, Ohio, which he

attended until 1845, when, from failing health, he was

compelled to give up his studies. His father having

meanwhile moved to Peoria, he rejoined him there

August 5, of that year, and shortly afterwards com-

menced merchandising on his own account, and so

continued until 1857, when he was elected county

judge against strong opposition by a majority of 365

votes. At that time the County Court had concurrent

jurisdiction with the Circuit Court in all matters, ex-

cept chancery cases and penitentiary offences, and the

office was a very lucrative one. Mr. Loucks held the

office until 1861, when he resigned in consequence of

the repeal of the extended jurisdiction of the County

Court. He had been admitted to the bar by examina-

tion before the Supreme Court at Springfield, in i860,

during his term of office, and upon his resignation en-

gaged in the practice of law. In November, 1863, he

was elected prosecuting attorney of the city, and held

tlfe office one year. Since then he has devoted himself

to private practice, bestowing special attention to

chancery cases and probate matters. Mr. Loucks

married in Peoria, March 21, 1847, Miss Rebecca A.,

daughter of Geo. Rodecker, and a native of Logan
county, Ohio, by whom he has had five children, four

living — Alva, now in partnership with his father,

Wellington E., pastor of First Presbyterian Church at

Crawfordsville, Ind., Franklin and Mabel. Mr. Loucks
is a Democrat in politics. Himself, wife and family

are members of the First Presbyterian Church, and he

has for many years been superintendent of its Sunday
school and prominently identified with Union Sunday

school work in the county. He resides at Forest Hill,

Richwoods township, upon the Knoxville road, about

2J^ miles from Peoria.

Loughlin M. B. res. 916 S. Adams street.

liOUGHBIDGE S. O., M.D., physician and
surgeon, 305 Main street, is a native of Ohio, and re-

ceived his literary education at Washington, Pa.; gra-

duated at Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia, Pa.,

in 1866, and also at College of Physicians and Surgeons

at New York, in 1870 ; began the practice of his pro-

fession at Marietta, Ohio in 1866, and came to Peoria

in 1872.

liOUIS NICHOLAS J. Peoria Roofing Co.,

225 Bridge street, was born in Lorraine, France, in

April, 1832, and is the son of Christoph and Elizabeth

Louis, natives of that Province. He was raised there

until eighteen years of age, when he came to America,

landing at New York in March, 1850; went to Utica,

N. Y., and there learned his trade of tinner, serving

three years at it, and then removed to Chicago where

he worked as journeyman for three and one-half years,

coming to Peoria in 1857, where he has since resided.

He remained in one employ for seven years, and during

that time married March g, 1859, Miss Juliana Ghering,

a native of Gauershein, Germany, who was born there

June 24, 1837, by whom he has had four children—
Annie, born December 11, i86i

;
Juliana, born March

I, 1863; August Louis, born October 5, 1864; and

Charles N., born September 18, 1869. He began busi-

ness for himself in 1865 in his present line, and has

since continued it. He makes a specialty of galvanized

cornices, and slate, tin and gravel roofing, also does

jobbing in tin of all descriptions. Mr. Louis was for

three years chief engineer of the fire department of

Peoria before the organization of the present paid de-

partment. Has also been president and treasurer of

Union Turnverein. He owns his residence and lot

corner S. Adams and Maple streets, and also the build-

ings corner Bridge and Washington streets, where he

conducts his business. Mrs. Louis' mother at the age

of eighty- three years is still alive, and resides with her

son-in-law.

Low L. miller, res. 343 New street.
Lowe K. H. commission broker, res. 207 S. Orange street.

I.OWMAN" ISAAC, clothier, 411 S. Adams
street, was born in Germany in 1857, and is tKe son of

Lazarus and Jennette Lowraan. His father is dead,

but his mother is still alive. He emigrated to America

in April, 1874, and located in Cincinnati, O., where he

engaged in the " men's furnishing goods " line for some

time, removing thence to Portsmouth, O., and from

there to Lafayette, Ind. He came to Peoria in 1879,

and has since been engaged in dealing in clothing and
gent's furnishing goods ; is now running his present

store for Oppenheim Bros, of New York.

Lueder Henry, res. 601 S. Adams street.
Lucas Adam, manf. safes, etc. 311 Fulton street.
Luder P. carpenter, 630 S. Waslilngton street.

.

Ludke W. saloon, S. Water street.
Ludwig 0. boot maker, 1705 S. Washington street.
Ludwig, Jotii), peddler, res. 511 W. Jefferson street.

LUXKENHEIMEB FRANK, blacksmith

and wagon maker, 211 N. Washington street, was born

in Darnistadt, Germany, July 16, 1824, came to Amer-
ica in 1846, made the trip in a sailing vessel and was
forty-four days on the water from London. Came to

New York, where he remained a short time and thence

to Indiana where he learned his trade, and in 1850
came to Peoria. Married Miss Margaret . She

was born in Germany in 1832. There was three chil-

dren, one of which is living, Frank, born October 21,

1859. Members of the Catholic Church.

Lupton Joseph S. grocer, 1813 S. Washington street,
Lutz Mary Anna, Mrs. res. 1124 S. Adams street.
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LTNCH PATRICK, blacksmith, comer Gar-

den and S. Adams streets, was born in Ireland, Novem-

ber 2, 1837, and is the son of James and Margaret

Lynch. He came to America with his parents in 1849

;

father died in 1877, and mother still living. He
married in 1858 Catherine Cosgrove, a native of Ire-

land, who bore him three children, John G., Michael

T., and William (deceased). She died in Jan. r86o, and

he then married his present wife, then Mrs. Mary P. Hip;-

gins, who was born in Ireland, in 1838, by whom he

had three children, two now living— Thomas F., (de-

ceased,) James P. and Mary. Mr. Lynch is engaged in

the business of blacksmithing and horseshoeing, and

shoes all the horses of the Central City Horse Railway

Co.

liYOIf AAROIf, tailor, 709 Seventh street, was

born in Shirley, Mass., September 12, 1812. Emigrated

with his parents to Marietta, Ohio, when he was a

small boy. Having an older sister in Cincinnati, went

there and learned his trade, which he has followed

since. Married in 1834 Kfiss Matilda Olney. She was

born in Marietta, O., July 3, 1817. The fruit of this

marriage was seven children, four of whom are still

living. Eliza, now Mrs. Weston Arnold, of Kansas,

George W., Franklin O., and Chas. E.

LYON LOUIS, grocer.

LYOU" SIMON", (retired grocer), residence 216

S. Madison street, was born in Germany in May, 1822.

Emigrated to United States thirty-five years ago, and

settled for five years in New York city, a part of the

time running a peddling wagon, and a part in the butch-

ering business. While there, in November, 1850, he

married Esther Salaman, also a native of Germany.

They immediately came to Peoria, where they have

lived to rear a family of five children—Henrietta,

Nancy, Louis, Harry and Jennie. Mr. and Mrs. L.

embarked in the grocery business upon their arrival in

Peoria, and have steadily pursued it for thirty years,

the sons having managed it since their father was dis-

abled by sickness, in August, 1878. Mr. and Mrs.

Lyon are members of the Hebrew Church, and Mrs. L.

has been treasurer of the Women's Hebrew Benevolent

Society eighteen years. Besides the capital invested in

the grocery, they own a comfortable homestead, which

they occupy.

LYON WILLIAM B. (deceased) residence

of widow 211 N. Madison street, was born in Genes-

see county. New York, near the city of Rochester, in

1 821. He came to Licking county, Ohio, when a lad.

Was married in Newark, in 1844, to Henrietta M. Ste-

vens, born in Lewis county. New York, in 1823. Mr.

L. engaged in the grocery business in Newark till 1853,

when they removed to Peoria, where he continued in

the grocery trade about six years. Then for two years

carried on distilling. Did a general commission busi-

ness, under the firm name of Lyon & Howe, and in 1866

embarked in the spice manufacture, in the firm of Lyon,

Richards & Co., which business he continued till just

prior to his death, when he retired and settled up all his

affairs. His death occurred on February 27, 1872. Mr.

L.'s religious belief was Swedenborgian. They adopted

a son, who bears their name, Frank K. Lyon, with the

wholesale drug house of Singer& Wheeler, Peoria. Mr.

L. left a comfortable estate for his widow, who occupies

the elegant homestead on Madison street,

Mackey M., truck wagon, res. 710 Fira street.
Madlgan John, teamster, res. 708 First street.
Maeee Peter, res. 1201 N. Adams street.
MaEoney T., watchman oank, res. ISli S. Washington street.
Malone fellzabeth, res. 308 Third street.
Malone J. £., teacher, res. 802 Third street.
Malone J., teamster, res. Slti Smith street.
Malone L.,_grocer, Webster avenue.
Mammen Henry V., blacksmith, res. 309 McBean street.
Man E. Q., res. 170 N. Fayette street.
Manning B.. res, 314 Greenleaf street.
Mansfield H,, real estate, res. 113 Perry street.
Marcy M. M., res. 710 KnoxTlUe road.
Margraif J., dry goods, ,1211 Adams street.
Marsh F. J., flour, 302 S. Washington street.

MAURER . JOHN, saloon, 1309 S. Adams
street, was born in Germany, October 12, 1846, and is

the son of Adam and Mary Louisa (Haas) Maurer, na-

tives of Germany. He came with his parents to

America in 1857, landing at New York May 20

of that year. After a short stay in Pennsylvania, they

went to Newark, N. J. and residsid there until 1864,

when he enlisted, on September 30, in Co, B. 39th

Regiment N. J. V. I., under command of Col. Wildrick,

and served until June 27, 1865, when he was mustered

out at place of enlistment. He participated in the bat-

tles of Hatches Run, Petersburg, and many other smal-

ler affairs. Mr. Maurer comes of a family of soldiers

—

his grandfather was a " Hessian " in the revolutionary

war, and his father in the war of the late rebellion.

His younger brother is now in the 5th U. S. Cavalry.

After discharge he went to Cleveland and there worked

at the trade of carpenter for eighteen months ; then

went to Chicago and was burned out in the great fire

of 1871. He came to Peoria in October, 1872, and

married on the 30th of the same month and year. Miss

Gustina Bertha Hassler, a native of Bureau county. 111.,

who was born there May 13, 1851, by whom he has

three children— Albert, Bertha Theresa, and Elizabeth

Catharine. He entered the saloon business right after

marriage, and came to his present location about one

and a half years ago. His father and mother both re-

side in Peoria ; is a member of G. A. R.

Marsb O. E. engineer. 227 Fulton street.
Martin C. W. collar maker, 113 S. Washington street.
Martens F. painter, 408 Main street.
Martin J. w. physician, res. 508 Perry street.
Martin L. B. physician, res. 410 Hancock street.
Martin Wm. brakeman, res. 821 N. Washington street.
Mason Wm. B. supt. bridge, res. 705 S. Wasulngton street.
Masterson M. 116 Warren street.
Matthews Newton, real estate, 124 N. Adams street.
Mawhyrten E. tailor, 222 Main street.
Mawhyrten & French, merchant tailors, 222 Main street.
Mayo Ada, res. 307 N. Adams street.
Maxwell D. res. 607 N. Monroe street.
Maxwell Ellen Mrs. res. 218 S. Jefferson street.
McAvoy Dan, laborer, res. 801 N. Madison street,
McBurme B. painter.
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McCabe J. cattle dealer, 300 Johnson street.
McCabe Peter, cattle dealer, res. 401 George street.
McCarthy Eugene, grocer. 801 Third street.
McCarthy J. Iron moulder, re.s. 305 Merremon street.
McCInre J. E. res. 410 Hamilton street.
McClure J. E. pumps, res. 105 Perry street.
McCollougli Andrew, laborer, 611 Spencer street.
McCollough R, B. contractor and builder. 107 Fourth street.
Mccormick Chas. res. 310 N. Adams street.
McCrovy N. carpenter, 1319 N. Madison street.

McCOY JOHN A. conveyancer and notary

public, 205 Main street.

McCULIiOCH HON. DAVID, Judge of

Circuit Court, Peoria, was born in Cumberland Co.,

Penn., Jan. 25, 1832. Received collegiate educational

Marshall College, Pa., graduating in the class of 1852.

Came to Illinois in April, 1853. Taught school in

Peoria until early in 1 85 5,when he commenced the study

of the law with Manning & Merriman, and was admit-

ted to practice in the following year. In Nov. 1855,

he was elected school commissioner of Peoria Co. Was
twice re-elected and continued to hold the office until

1861. During this period the new free school system

of Illinois went into operation, and the duty devolved

upon him of giving it a good send-off in Peoria Co.

In Sept. i860, having remained in the office of Manning
& Merriman until then, he opened an office of his own,
but in less than a year, upon the accession of Merriman's

elevation to the bench, he was taken into partnership

with Hon. Julius Manning, which lasted until Man-
ning's death, July 4, 1864. He then formed a co-

partnership with the late Charles P. Taggart, which
continued until 1869, when the firm was dissolved by
the failing health of Taggart, who then went to Cali-

fornia. During the continuance of this firm, and
especially the last two years, on account of Taggart's

ill-health the duties of the office of State's attorney,

which office Mr. T. held, largely devolved upon Mc-
CuUoch. After a partnership of short duration with

J. M. Rice, Esq., Mr. McCulloch formed a partnership

with John S. Stevens, which continued until the ap-

pointment of the latter as post master in 1876, This
was the most prosperous period of his practice. Dur-
ing his term as school commissioner many of his sug-

gestions made to the Slate Superintendents were adopt-

ed by them and afterwards embodied in amendments
to the school system. Some amendments were drawn
by himself and are still part of that law. As early as

1876, from the over crowded condition of the courts,

especially of the Supreme Court, it was found that

legislation was imperatively demanded to increase the

judicial force of the State. An Appellate Court was
provided for by the constitution, to be composed of

judges of the Circuit Court. But there were no judges

to spare for that service. The courts were in perplex-

ity and lawyers at their wit's end. In- view of this state

of affairs Mr. McCulloch addressed a communication
to the Legal News of Chicago, proposing a remedy
which seemed to him feasible. This letter was pub-

lished Oct. 14, 1876, and in the same number was one

from Stephen R. Moore, of Kankakee, proposing the

formation of a State Bar Association. These proposals

took hold of the minds of the lawyers throughout the

State, and elicited free discussion in the public prints.

A State Bar Association was formed in Springfield in

Jan. 1877, and that body immediately took steps for

the reformation of the judicial system, the legislature

than being in session. A committee of which Judge

Puteibaugh and Judge Thornton and McCulloch were

members, was appointed to draft the necessary bills
;

the work largely devolving upon Puterbaugh and Mc-

Culloch. The result was that their bills in their main

features became laws ; thirteen new judgeships were

created, and the Appellate Courts organized, all in

accordance with the plan suggested in Mr. McCuUoch's

letter to the Legal News. The result has been most

satisfactory. The first election under this act took

place Aug. 6, 1877, when Judge McCulloch was elected

by a handsome majority. In June, 1879, he was re-

elected by a still larger vote. As soon as the result

of the election was known he was, by the Supreme

Court, assigned as one of the appellate judges of the

Third Appellate Court District, which position he now
occupies.

At the last annual meeting of the State Bar Asso-

sociation he was chosen its president for this year.

Judge McCulloch possesses one of the finest legal

minds ofthe State, and discharges the functions of his

office with signal ability.

McCLELLEN MARY, MRS. M. D. bo-

tanical physician, office Sot Hamilton street, was born

in Coshocton county, Ohio, in 1831. Her parents,

James and Hannah Litchfield, removed to Fulton

county. 111., when she was five years old. She read

medicine with Dr. Bunker and Dr. Fitz, of that county,

from 1855 to 1858, and began practice during the latter

year. Remained in Fulton county till i860 ; thence re-

moved to St. Louis, and a year later came to Peoria,

where she has practiced since. Mrs. McC. now devotes

her attention almost exclusively to office practice. She

married John McClellen, a Scotchman by birth, in

1851, by whom she had three daughters and a son, the

former all now married, the son in the U. S. Navy.

Mr. McClellen died in Feb., 1865.

Mcculloch d. p. o. Peoria.

McCUNE A. B.
McCURDY J. C. produce commission mer-

chant, 219 Madison street, was born in what was then

Brooke county, now Hancock county, Va., Dec. 22, 1820,

and is the son of John McCurdy, a native of Pennsyl-

vania, and Jane Knox, a native of county Tyrone, Ire-

land. He was raised in his native county till sixteen

years of age, when with his parents and the rest of his
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family, he came to Illinois, settling near Vermont,

Fulton county. There they went to farming, and he

grew up to manhood on the home farm. In 1845 he

left the farm and entered business on his own account

as a butcher. For about two years he continued it,

and after spending a Winter in Beardstown, moved in

the next Spring to Henry, Marshall county, 111., where

he started a store and afterwards engaged in the pack-

ing and shipping of pork for about eight years. While

there he filled the offices of city clerk for two years and

that of alderman for one year, resigning the office in

i86g, when he sold out his business and carae to Peo-

ria, where he has since resided. He has carried on

business in his present line most of the time since. He
married Feb. g, 1843, in McDonough county, 111., Miss

Eliza Ann Smith, born June 5, 1826, near Springfield,

111., by whom he has had six children : Susannah P.,

Mary L., Frances L., Harriet M., Clara S. and Edgar

A. His parents both died of typhoid fever in McDo-
nough county, 111., Sept. 10, 1842, and a sister also died

of the same disease in that month. Mrs. McCurdy and

her family are members of the M. E. Church. He owns

his residence and lot on Floral avenue.

MoCurdy Susannah, res. 216 Floral avenue.
McDaniel John, engineer, res. 1600 N. JeSerson street.
McDermot Bridget, res. 207 Sanford street.
McDonald Jeremiah, prop. Fayette Mills, 160 N. Fayette street.
McDonald John J. clerk. 601 Smith street.
McDonald M. erocer, 601 Smith street.
McDonough M. cooper, 205 W. Jefferson street.

McDOUGAL JOHN, capitalist, res. 202 N.

Monroe street.

McDougal John, res. 202 N. Monroe street.
McEvoy Thos. res. 80:ii N. Monroe street.
McElnaney T. car repairer T. P. & W.
McEnany J. clerk, res. 433 McBean street.
McEneaney John, engineer T. P. &. W. shops.
McGivern Patrick, laborer, 313 S. Washington street.

McGEB PETER, teamster and contractor,

I20I N. Adams street, was born in county Louth, Ire-

land, June 20, 1820, and came to America in 1849,

landing in New York in May of that year. For the

next six months he worked as an hostler there, and in

November came to Peoria and worked as hostler for

Mr. Decker for two years. At the end of that time he

had saved up enough money to buy a team and wagon,

when he commenced teaming and contracting on his

own account, and continued it up to 1878. He married

in 1849, Miss Jane McCarty, who was born in his own
county in 1829, by whom he has had three children :

John, Michael and Mary Jaife. Mr. McGee landed in

Peoria with nothing but his two hands to help him to a

living, yet by economy, and hard work he has been able

to provide a comfortable home for his old age. He and

his wife and family , are members of the Catholic

Church.

McGowen T. laborer, res. 408 Smith street.
McGovern Pat. 810 Third street.
McOrath Bobt. cooper, res. 120 Eliza street.
McGrath Wni. plasterer, 121 S. Jefferson street.
McGuirk B. res. High street.
Mellvane Geo. H. cashier 2d Nat. Bank, res. Ill N. Madison st.

McKENZIE CALVIN, res. 315 N. Adams
street, printer, son of David and Nancy McKenzie.

They were natives of Missouri. The subject of this

sketch was born in New Madrid, Mo., Oct. 27, 1827,

and came to Le Clair county in 1832 or '33, where he

received a common school education and learned his

trade. In 1847 enlisted in 2d 111. Regt. Vol. Co. A, Col.

W. H. Russell, and was mustered into service at Alton,

111. ; thence by water to Labaca, Texas ; from there

marched to the Rio Grande under Gen. Wool ; was in

the battle of Buena Vista. After the close of the war

came back to Fulton county. 111. Married Miss Rohisa

Osborn in 1851. She was born in Fulton county. 111.

Two girls, Grace and Ruth.

McKENZIE HENRY, carpenter and builder,

res. 510 Second street, was born in Carlisle, England,

April 6, 1819, and came to America and Peoria in

September, 1848. He had learned his trade in Eng-

land, and began working at it immediately upon his

arrival ; has continued it ever since. He married in

England, Miss Eliza Richardson Armstroilg, who was

born in Scotland in 1821, by whom he has had four

children, James C, Katie, William A. and Annie

Graeme. Mr. McKenzie is now in easy circumstances,

and proposes to take a rest after his many years of hard

work and anxiety. He is a member of the Episcopal

Church.

McKEE JAMES P. grocer, Fulton street.

McKenny D. grain and commission. Chamber of Commerce.
McKenney John, res. KnoxviUe road.

McLEAN WILLIAM, distiller, res, 1409 S.

Adams street, son of Wm. and Mary McLean, natives

of England. The subject of this sketch was born in

Liverpool, Eng., May 17, 1842 ; came to Peoria in 1854 ; •

learned the brick-making trade, which he followed for

eight years ; since that time has been in the distilling

business. In May, i86r, enlisted in the 2d 111. Inf., Co.

C ; was in the siege of Ft. Donaldson, where he was

wounded in both legs ; head and arms being struck six

or seven times in one engagement ; was discharged on

account of his wounds. Married Miss M. A. Ingram

in 1863. She was born in Virginia in 1845. The fruit

of this marriage is four children, James, Mary, William

and Charles. Has held the office of City Counsel

four terms ; is lieutenant of the National Blues, 7th

Regt., Co. A.

McManus oWen, commission, 110 Fulton street.
McManus Fatk. feeder stk. yds. res. 1805 8. Washington street.
McMaster A. M. res. S. Water street.
McMasters John, whisky drawer, res. 100 Sorat street.

McMASTER JAMES, cooper, res. 315 Mc-
Bean street, was born in LaSalle county, January 16,

1846, and is the son of Archibald and Elizabeth Mc-
Master. He came to Peoria county with his parents

when two years old, and sixteen years later began to

learn his trade. He enlisted January 20, 1865, in the

lo8th III. Inf., and after serving six months was trans-
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ferred to the 47th 111. Inf., where he remained about

the same length of time, and was discharged March,

1866. He married, September 15, 1873, Lillie E. Sin-

clair, who was born August 26, 1852, by whom he has

two children— Archie T.,.born August 21, 1874, and
Elizabeth S., born July 28, 187S. His mother died in

1861. Mr. McMaster is at present engaged with Bush

& Brown as dry gauger. His wife is a member of the

Reformed Episcopal Church.

McNamiira John W. commission traveler, res. 405 S. Frlnk at.
McQuillan Pat, wiper T. P. & W. res, 1386 S. Washington st.
Mcwhlrter E. C. captain night police. City Hall.
Meals Barnliarclt, supt. Plow works, res. 919 S. Adams street,
Mear Geo. carpenter T. P. & W.
Meldroth M. boseman CHolly), res. 107 W. Jefterson street.
Meier C. grocer, 817 W. Jefferson street.
Meiers Levi, res. 814 Hamilton street.

MBIDROTH WM. F. hoseman fire depart-

ment, res. 217 Fayette street, was born in Peoria Sep-

tember 9, 1856, and is the son of Wm. F. and Caroline

Meidroth. His father died April 13, 1873 1 mother

still living now in Peoria. Mr. M. learned the printer's

trade in Peoria and worked at it for five years, until

his health failed under the close confinement and night

work. He then entered the fire department, which po-

sition he has held for over two years. He was married

January 15, 1878, to Josephine Moutier, who was born

February 23, i860. They have one child— Arthur J.

Mrs. M. is a member of the Catholic Church. He is

democratic in politics.

MEINTS M. F. carpenter and builder, 408

Second street, was born January 10, 1827, in the kingi

dom of Hanover, Germany, and is the son of Frederick

and Ida Meints, natives of that country. He was

raised and educated there and had commenced to learn

his trade when, with his parents, he came to America

in 1847, landing at New Orleans in May of that year.

They came straight up the river to Peoria, and he started

to complete the acquirements of his trade, and worked

at it afterwards as journeyman until 1855, when he be-

gan on his own account, and has since then contracted

for and built many fine buildings. He married in Feb-

ruary, 1852, Afka Stevend, a native of Hanover, who
came to America in 1849, and has borne him six chil-

dren, five now living— Ida, Mary, Frederick, Henry
and Herman. He owns his residence and workshop
with the lots on which they stand, and is, with his wife,

a member of the Presbyterian Church,

Mendenhall J. H. carpenter, res. 107 Smith street.
Merkle John, marble, 304 Bridge street.
Merriman L. W. res. 305 Smith street.
Messersmltb F. bricklayer, res. 303 Walnut street.
Messersmlth Ph. res. 1616 S. Washington street.

MEBWIN DAMEBIS Mrs. (widow of P.

G. Merwin), res. 207 Illinois avenue. Paul G. Merwin
was born in the State of New York, November 9, 1804,

and was the son of Daniel and Martha Merwin.who came

to Peoria in March, 1848, and both died within the

same year. He married in New York, Dameris Way,

in December, 1823, who was born in the same State,

January 19, 1801. They had a family of nine children,

two of whom died before coming to Illinois— Philetus

H., Eliza M., Arvilla I., Amanda M., Harlow N., Mal-

vina H., Charles D., Philander G. and Davilla W. Mr,

Merwin died March 23, 1870. During his life he fol-

lowed the business of blacksmith.

MESSBK W. D. of the firm of W. D. Messer

& Co., wholesale and retail dealers in flour and feed,

125 S. Jefferson street, was born in Quincy, Adams

county. 111., on the 25th day of Sept., 1859, and received

what education the city schools afforded at that time.

Engaged in business m Peoria in 1878, and by close at-

tention to business and fair dealing, is fast working up

a good trade. Also handles Hayden's patent fire kind-

ler. Carries a stock of $2,500 to $3,000.

MEYEB AUGUST, saloon, 208 Bridge street,

was born in Baden, Germany, October 4, 1852, and is

the son of Benjamin Meyer and Josephine Sattra, na-

tives of Baden. He came to America in 1874, landing

at New York October 24 of that year. Resided for

two months in Williamsburgh, N. Y., and came to

Peoria in 1875, where he married, May i, 1877, Miss

Rosalie Plank, who was born in Germany, Aug. 2g,

1847, and came to America with her parents in 1852.

She had two children by a previous marriage, and has

borne him two more : Josephine and Rosie. Immedi-

ately after marriage he started a saloon one door below

his present location, and has since remained in the

business.

Meyer C. L. cooper, 1303 S. Washington street.
Meyer F. hardware, 1815 S. Adams street.

MEYER JOHN, gardener, 900 Knoxville road,

was born in Switzerland, Sept. 8, 1843. Son of John

and Fanny (Gloce) Meyer, both deceased. Emigrated to

America in the Fall of 1864, and settled in Washing-

ton, Tazewell county, and from there moved and lo-

cated in Peoria county, where he was married to Catha-

rine Preisentang, Feb. 8, 1872. She was born in

Germany in 1842, and came to Peoria county in the

Spring of 1865. They have four children : Mary, Jo-

seph, Martha and John. They own one acre of land

on the Knoxville road, where he raises all sorts of fruits

and vegetables, strawberries, etc.

Meyer J. brewery, 123 Douglas street.
Meyers M. policeman, res. 1606 N. Madison street.
Meyers B. H. blacksmith, res. 519 W. Jefferson street.
Meyers D. res. 105 Geox'ge street.
Meyers John, clerk, 108 S. Adams street.

MEYEB PAUL, beer bottler, no S. Adams

street, was born in Germany, Dec. 10, 1849. Son of

Charles and Wilhelmine Meyer, who still reside in

Germany. He emigrated to America in 1867 and lo-

cated in Peoria. Was shipping clerk and traveling

agent for one of the Peoria tobacco houses. Married,

• Dec. 10, 1871, to Margaret Schwers. She was born in

Peoria, Nov. 9, 1855. They have had three children :

Carl (deceased), Paul and Gertrude. Commenced his
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present occupation, in partnership with Conrad, in

Aug., 1879.

MILjES B. F, grain commissioner merchant.

Chamber of Commerce building. ^
MILIiER JOSEPH (deceased), contractor

and builder, 530 S. Washington street, was born in

Baden, Germany, on the 25th day of March, 1822, and

emigrated to this country in 1847, and stopped in Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, for a short time, and the following year

came to Peoria and worked by the day and month the

first year, and then entered into partnership as the firm

of Senior & Miller, and continued two years. In 1853,

came to the corner of Washington and Walnut streets,

commenced on his own hook, and continued until his

death, which occurred April 8, 1877. In 1876 the firm

was changed to Joseph Miller & Sons. For his first

wife, married Miss Thressia Eisinger. She was born

in Germany. She died, leaving two children. For his

second wife, married Miss Saloma ICuhn. By this mar-

riage there were three children living at his death.

MILIiS THOMAS, photographer, 317 Main
street, has been engaged in his present business in Peo-

ria since 1864, and is the oldest established photogra-

pher in the city. Since then he has witnessed the intro-

duction of many improvements and new processes in

the art, and has been successful in keeping abreast of

them all. His first location was on the corner of Main
and Adams streets, and his gallery then was a great

contrast to his present handsome, well lighted and

appointed studio. He occupies the whole of the second

floor at above number, ioox2i>^ feet in dimensions, and
is prepared to turn out work which will compare favor-

ably with any.

Millard James, distiller, res. 1605 8. Adams street.

MILIiBB FBANK, blacksmith, 712 S. Wash-
ington street.

Millard B., 165 Garden street.
Miller Alex., blacksmith, T., P. & W.
Miller A. F.. bricklayer, res. 204 North street.
Miller Carl J., carpenter, 530 S. Washington street.
Miller Fred. W., gunsmith, 223 Bridge street.
Miller F. A., painter, T,. P. & W.
Miller G., carpenter, 821 N. Washington street.
Miller H. C, bricklayer, res. Machin street.
Miller John V., res. 407 Johnson street.
Miller J. P., 105 Brotherson street.
Miller Jos., res. 600 S. Washington street.
Miller Jos. L., sawyer. 1343 S. Washington street.
Miller Mary A., 309 Peoria avenue.
Miller T. J., broker, 213 Main street.
MlUlaon W., res. 813 Plank road.
Mlnier V. P. fireman, foot Harrison street.
Minor h. K., U. S. Ganger, res. 302 Hurlbut street.

MINOR Wm. H. (of Minor, Green & Co.),

grain and commission merchants. Commercial Block,

S. Washington street.

Mitchell A., res. 269 Bluff street.

MITCHEIiL A. G. candy manufacturer and

news dealer, cor. Main and Monroe streets, was born

in Wyoming Co., N. Y., October 8, 1852, and is the son

of G. Mitchell, a native of Connecticut, and Mary Ann

Otis, a native of New York. Resided till seventeen

years of age in his native county, where he attended

the common schools, and where he had the great mis-

fortune tT lose his right arm above the elbow from

injuries sustained in a thrashing machine . He moved

with his parents to Benton Co., Ind., and while there he

attended two Winters at Oxford College, Oxford, Ind.

Came with his parents to Peoria in the Fall of i869,and

learned the art of telegraphy, at which for some time

he worked, and then gave it up to engage in the candy

business in partnership with his father. Shortly after-

wards he purchased his father's interest, and in the Fall

of 1871 removed from Adams street to his present

location and began to manufacture his wares, and deal

also in newspapers, etc. Manufactures exclusively for

the local trade, and does quite a large business. He
married in Peoria, Nov. 15, 1876, Miss Melissa S. Slane

a native of the county, and who was born within two

days from the date of his own birth, by whom he has

tvijo children, Lottie Viola and Otis Amos. His parents

are both alive and reside in the city.

Mitchell B. book-binder, 227 Fulton street.

MITTNEB JOHN, boot and shoe maker, 537

S. Adams street, was born in Rathzien, Canton of Gra-

bunden, Switzerland, January 10, 1839, ^"<J '^ ^^^ ^°"

Christian and Kate (Oberst) Mxttner, both of whom
were natives of that republic. He learned his trade and

married there June 26th, i860, Barbara Zimmerman, a

native of his own canton. He came alone to America

in 1867, landing at Boston in January of that year and

proceeded to Chicago where he stayed about three

years, working at his trade. While there his family

rejoined him, and on their arrival he came with them

to Peoria, where he has since resided. In August 1874

he started for himself and has since continued so. The
fruits of his marriage were five children, four of them

now living, Mary, Wilhelmina, Jacob and Victoria. Is

with his wife an adherent of Grace Mission Church.

MISH ELIZABETH Mrs. widow of Jacob

Mish (deceased), res. 420 Hamilton street, was born

near Chambersburg, Pa., in 1806. Her parents were

Janies and Jennie Gillan nee Rush. Her mother died

when Mrs. Mish was two years of age, leaving five

children. Mr. Gillan married again and had a family

ol seven children by his last wife. She married Jacob
Mish in 1829, previous to which he had been a farmer,

but after their marriage engaged in the tanning busi-

ness. He died in 1834, leaving three children, Mary
now Mrs. Ayers, of Hinsdale, 111. ; Elizabeth, who
never married and resides with her mother, and Jacob

J., of Gran'd Junction, Iowa. Mrs. Mish remained
single and came West with her family and settled in

Peoria in 1855, which has since been her home. She
and her family are members ofthe Presbyterian Church.

They own some tracts of land in Iowa.
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MOENNIGHOFF JdSEPH, dealer in

flour and feed, I226S. Adams street, was born in Peoria

January 7, 1855, and is the son of Fred and Amelia

(Kellerstrass) Moennighoff. His father was a native

of Westphalia, and his mother of Rhenish, Prussia.

His father came to America in 1848, and to Peoria in

the Fall of the next year, and when eight years old

Joseph was sent to Germany, and resided there until

1874, going to school, and learning the trade of sugar-

baker. On his return to the land of his birth he went

to St Louis, and worked in a bakery for one year, and

then returned to Peoria where he tended bar for his

father for about a year, and then took a tour through

the Eastern States at the time of the Centennial Ex-

position. On his return he worked again for his father

and in April 1878, started in his present business at

present location. He is a member of St. Joseph's Catho-

lic Church, and is secretary of the benefit society con-

nected with it.

MOFFATT AQUIIiA (deceased). The sub-

ject of this sketch was a son of Joseph and Mary Mof-

fatt, nee Piper, and was born in the State of Maine,

March 19, 1802. His father subsequently removed to

Boston, and afterward to Cincinnati, Ohio. The moth-

er died about 18 rg, leaving seven children, Alvah,

Aquila, Mary, Olive, Benjamin F., Eliza and Elisha. In

the early part of the Summer of 1822 the family left

Hamilton county, Ohio, and arrived at Fort Clark, 111.,

on the 20th of June. At that time there was but a

small community of white people. When the Moffatt

family landed here at the time mentioned, there were

only four cabins on the ground now covered by the

busy commercial and manufacturing city of 40,000 peo-

ple. The prairie upon which the city is built was a

waving sea of grass. To quote the words of Mr. Mof-

fatt, " When I stepped from the boat and looked out

over the prairie and to the bluffs and trees beyond, I

thought it was the grandest scene of beauty my eyes ever

beheld. And I never expect to look upon a grander

range of beauty until my spiritual eyes are opened in the

Eden of eternity beyond the end of mortality." Soon

after their arrival here Mr. Moffatt selected the site

of his late home, where, for nearly fifty-eight years, he

lived an honest, useful, unobtrusive life. . At that time In-

dians outnumbered the whites more than fifty to one,

and he saw them fade away before the niarch of civiliza-

tion like flowers before the frosts of Autumn, Markets

and mills and all the other conveniences of civilization,

were far distant. Steamboats had scarcely com-

menced to navigate the waters of the Illinois river

;

railroads and even wagon roads were unknown ; every-

thing in Central and Northern Illinois was just as it

had been unfolded by the hand of nature. In the midst

of such surroundings Aquila Moffatt commenced to

make his own fortune, and how well he succeeded is

best attested by the broad acres and comfortable home

from which he passed away on Saturday afternoon, Jan-

uary 10, 1880, at the age of 77 years, 9 months and 21

days^.i The deceased was twice married. His first wife,

to whom he was united March 9, 1832, by Aquila Wren,

an early justice of the peace of Peoria county, was Ma-

tilda, daughter of James Jones, of Kickapoo township.

This wife died, and, December 4, 1834, he remarried with

Mrs. Mary Bogardus, nee Fowler, nee Derby, who was

born in Connecticut and who died July 27, 1873, at the

age of 68 years, 6 months and 23 days. Both marri-

ages were without issue, and he bequeathed his prop-

erty, amounting in value to about $15,000, to Mrs.

Mina Crowell, a daughter of his second wife by her first

husband, Derby, and William H. Crowell, a son of Mrs.

Crowell, whose home had been with him for a number

of years, and who cared for him in the last years of his

life, which had been oppressed with disease and infirm-

ities. In all the relations of life Aquila Moffatt was a

good citizen.

Moffatt Jennie, Mrs. milUnery, 1159 S. Adams street.
Mohr J. blacksmltta, 844 S. Washington street.

MONAGHAIf p. K. grocer and provision

dealer, N. Adams street.

Moon J. F. potter, pottery and res. 1616 N. Madison street,

MOONEY THOMAS, police magistrate. City

Hall, is the third of six children of Thomas Mooney
and, Helena Stagg, who were married in New York

City, where he was born, in 1820. His father emi-

grated from Ireland when but a lad, and resided in the

metropolis until 1835, vvhen he brought his family to

Medina township, Peoria county. His wife was a

native of New Jersey, from which State both her father

and grandfather were soldiers in the war of the Revo-

lution. Thomas, Jr., worked on his father's farm until

twenty-five years of age, when he married Frances C.

Neal, of Medina, born in Dover, N. H. He continued

farming till the Fall of 1864, when, being elected clerk

of the Circuit Court, he came to Peoria. After dis-

charging the duties of that office four years, in the

Spring of 1870 he removed to Southwestern Missouri,

then a wilderness, opened up a farm and remained

there five years. Then returning to Peoria, he was

elected Justice of the Peace, which office he filled till

the Fall of 1879, when he resigned to take that of

Police Magistrate. After having borne five children,

Frances, his first wife died, and in 1856 he married

Rosana C Brady, a native of Brimfield, Peoria county,

by whom he has three children. His five living chil-

dren are Thomas and Angeletta by first marriage, and

John B., Ella F., and Rose M.

Mooney J. B. res. 806 Third street.
Moore J. O. res. 218 N. Monroe street.
Moore John, res. S. Elm street.
Moore Maria, res. 518 N. Adams street.
Moore Samuel B. carrier Transcript, res. 802 S. Douglass street.
Moore T. W. Transcript distributer, res. Blufl street nr. Adams.



Aquilla Moffatt,
f DECEAS ED)

P EO R I A

.





PEOBIA CITY DIRECTORY. 671

MOOBE MABrIA A. nu De Long, relic of the

late William Moore (deceased), i-es. 518 S. Adams
street, was born in Ross county, O., October 25, 1832.

In 1853 Miss De Long married William Moore, who
was born in Nashua, N. H., in 1822. Came to Fulton

county, 111., when quite young and engaged in mer-

chandising a number of years, thence came to Peoria

and entered into the foundry and real estate business.

Mr. Moore was a man possessed of fine business quali-

fications, and made a success of whatever he undertook.

'He died January 13. 1859, leaving the widow and two

living children, Kate, Mrs. John W. Day, of Peoria,

and Fannie F., Mrs. Herbert F. Day. Willie, Frank

and May are deceased.

Moran T. laborer, res. 308 8. Orange street.
Morek Martin, tin shop. 529 S. Adams.
Morgan J. teamster, Scherber House.
Morgan L. Mrs. res. 409 Doris street.
Moriarty M. fireman, C. B. I. & P., res. 1111 Perry street.
Morrison J. B. B., res. 108 N. Monroe street.
Morse J. M. attorney, 319 Main street.
Moschell G. G. tinner, 115 S. Washington street.
Mostier G. E. iron machinist, 600 S. Water street.

MUIiCAHY JOHN, grocer, 835 S. Washing-

ton street, son of Charles and Margaret (Higgerty)

Mulcahy, natives of Ireland, emigrated to America in

1849, and located in Peoria in 1850. Father died in

1863 ; mother still living. The subject of this sketch

was born in St. Louis, Mo., nine days after his parents

arrived in this country. May, 1850. Has held several local

offices of trust in the city ; was elected in 1873 as col-

lector, and also has held the office of oil inspector for

the last three years. By close attention to business

and fair dealing has built up a lucrative trade ; carries

a stock of $1,500 to $1,800.

Mulholand A. J. res. 710 Ferry street.

MULICK CHARLES B. grocer, 801, 803

Main street, was born in Canada near Niagara Falls,

May 25, 1851, and is the son of Edward Mulick and
Margaret McDermott, both natives of the Dominion.

When very young he moved with them to the States,

settling in Jefferson county. Wis., where he was raised

and received his education. In April, 1872, he came
to Peoria and, after clerking for some two years, started

in his present business on Main street, on the Bluff,

coming to his present location in 1879. He carries a

full stock of groceries, valued at about $2,500, and does

a large and increasing trade both with city and country

customers. His parents are still alive and reside at

Watertown, Wis.

MUIilCK J. G. cattle dealer, res. 600 Knox-
ville road.

Mulligan Dennis, teamster, 703 Smith street.
Mulligan L. city express, res. 706 Perry street.

MUEL.LEB JACOB, grocer and brewer, 212

Bridge street, was born in Bavaria, January 26, 1835, •

and is the son of Phillip and Julia (Stein) MUUer,

natives of Bavaria. He came to America in 1857,

landing at New York "June 15th of that year ; resided

two years in Greenfield, Mass., and two years in Sher-

burn Falls in same State, learning the cutlery business

;

came west in 1855, and after passing one year in Bloom-

ington. 111., came to Peoria in April, 1856. He there

clerked in a grocery store for four years, then started

for himself, and thirteen years ago came to his present

location on Bridge street. About two years ago he

began brewing lager beer at the City Brewery on N.

Water street, and carries on a good local trade in that

article. He married in Peoria, August 30, 1869, Miss

Pauline Koenig, who was born in Bavaria September

23, 1839, by whom he has had seven children, five now
alive: Theodore J., born July 17, 1860J Julia, born

April 7, 1862; Amelia, born January 29, 1864; Ru-

dolph, born October 26, 1865, and Jacob, born August

14, 1877. Mr. MuUer is now, and has been for some

years, treasurer of Peoria Turnverein ; is director of

German Banking Company, and stockholder in Me-

chanics' National Bank, and Chamber of Commerce
Association. He carries a stock of about $3,000 in his

store and does a large grocery business. He owns the

two-story brick building at above number, where he

resides, with the lot on which it stands, and is also a

part owner of Brewery property.

Murdeu Frank, res. 707 N. Madison street.
Murden James P. policeman, 307 Fayette street.
Murphy James, carpenter, res. 529 McBean street,

MUBPHY DB. JOHN, M.D., res. and office,

N. Madison street.

Murphy James B. grocer, 717 Merrlmon street.
Murphy J. W. car builder R. I. & P. res. 305 Mortop street.
Murphy M. grocer, 623 First street.
Murphy Thos. laborer, res. 529 McBean street.
Murray John, carpenter, 908 Second street.

MUEBAY JOHN T. flour dealer, 416 Main st.

Murray J. A. J. res. 618 Third street.
Murray J. J. moulder, 600 S. Water street.

MUBBY S. A. (Osgood & Murry), manufac-

turers and shippers of walnut lumber, 1142 S. Wash-
ington street, was born in McConnelsville, O., in 1849.

His parents were Samuel Murry and Jane HoUoway,
who married in that State. S. A. learned and pursued

the cooper's trade five years, went to Indianapolis, Ind.,

in 1871, where he remained six years, and engaged in

the lumber business. In order to acquaint himself fully

with the details of the business, Mr. M. went to Phila-

delphia, Pa., in April, 1875, and spent six months.

Three years ago he came to Peoria, and at once began

manufacturing and shipping walnut lumber, under the

present firm name. They purchase the timber, convert

it into lumber, and ship it to Eastern cities, handling

froui a million to a million and a half feet per year.

On May 20, 1879, Mr. M. married Florence M. Over-

all, a native of Lewistown, 111. His parents are still

living in McConnelsville, Ohio.

Nagele A. grocer, 323 Smith street.
Nagle Jno. A. res. 611 Smith street.
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NASON NATHANIEL C. printer and pub-

Usher, 400 S. Adams street, was born April 4, 1827, at

Gorham, Me., the seventh in a family of eight children,

and the youngest son. His ancestry, paternal and ma-

ternal, came to Maine between 1640 and 1650. His

father was Rev. Reuben Nason, graduate of Harvard

in 1802, who entered the ministry of the Congrega-

tional Church in 18 10. As first preceptor of Gorham

Academy, he opened that institution in 1806, and re-

turned to it from his pulpit in 1815, leaving it in 1834

only to organize a similar school in Clarkson, N. Y.

He died at Clarkson in 1834, and in 1836 his widow

(nee Martha Coffin) took her children back to Gorham

among their friends and relatives. There the subject

of our sketch grew up and received his primary educa-

tion, removing in 1842 to Illinois and entering Illinois

College, where he studied for two years. In 1845 he

went to the South and taught school in various places

for three years. He was, for a year, joint editor and

publisher of the WAi£ Flag, of CarroUton, Miss. In

January, 1849, he came to Illinois and worked as a

journeyman printer in Pekin, Chicago and Peoria ; af-

terwards in St. Louis, Mo. He also acted as book-

keeper, salesman and purchasing agent, for a general

store and packing house at Wesley City. Soon after his

return from the South he became connected with the

Order of Odd Fellows, in Covenant Lodge, No. 48, at

Pekin, and in 1852 was a charter member of Ft.

Clark Lodge, No. 109, Peoria, and from the first an

officer therein. He became associated with Rev. Wm.
Rounsville in the publication of the Memento, an Odd
Fellows Monthly, in 1854, and from that time on, Mr.

Nason has been a printer and publisher in Peoria. In

November, 1855, he undertook the publication of a

daily newspaper, the Peoria Transcript, but the prom-

ised capital necessary to establish it not being forth-

coming, he left it after about two months. In Septem-

ber, 1856, while in parnership with Mr. H. S. Hill, his

establishment was totally destroyed by fire, and it being

uninsured, they were left with a heavy load of debt,

and little save their own energy to furnish the means of

payment. He has been prominently connected with

the secret societies of the State for many years, and has

filled many offices in them. He was a charter member
and the first Noble Grand of Central City Lodge, No.

163, Peoria, I. O. O. F., and its first representative to the

Grand Lodge. He has attended every session of that

body since 1854. He was elected Grand Scribe of the

Grand Encampment of Illinois (I. O. O. F.) in 1864,

and in 1869, Grand Secretary of Grand Lodge of Illi-

nois (I. O. O. F.), and has since filled the office. He
is also a member of Order of K. of P. and was the first

presiding officer of Calanthe Lodge, No. 47. Is also a

Past Dictator of the Knights of Honor, and Grand

Treasurer of the Grand Lodge of that body in Illinois

since 1877. Is a member of Royal Arcanum, the first

Regent of Ajax Council, No. 216, of Peoria, and a

trustee of the Grand Council of Illinois. He discharges

the duties of all these important offices while carrying

on his large printing establishment. In 1856 he married

Miss Anna D. Bedel, of Peoria, a native of N. H., by

whom he has two daughters.

Neiaerlander B. Mrs. res. 1108 Perry street.
Nell A. J. broom mftr. 105 Main street.
Newklrk Benj. 808 N. Douglass street.
Newman Max, res. 603 Main street.

Newman Mary E. Mrs. nurse, res. 903 Sanford street.
Newman & Ullman,clgars and tobacco, 388 S.Wasblogton streeti

NICOLi DAVID, chief engineer, City water

works ; was born at Tarry Mill, Parish of St. Vigeans,

Forfarshire, Scotland, September 7, 1824, and is the

son of John and Bettie (Christie) Nicol, natives of

Scotland. He was raised in Montrose and Arbroath,

and learned his trade of machinist, in the machine shop

of a linen spinning factory in the latter place. When
about twenty years of age he went to Dundee, and for

the next four years worked in a locomotive building

work ; married in Arbroath August 8, 1845, Miss Betty

Greig, a native of that place, by whom he had two

children—David and James ; came with his family to

America landing at New York, July 10, 1848, and

headed straight for Peoria, arriving there July 29th of

that year. There he settled and went to work in Luke

Wood's machine shop, and on July 15, 1850, he buried

both his boys in one grave—they dying of cholera

—

and two days later his wife followed them, cut down by

the same fell destroyer. On October 28, 1852, he

married his present wife, then Miss Charlotte Thomp-

son, who was born in Upton, near Bristol, England,

and who has borne him seven children, four now alive,

Nettie, George, Lilly and Frank. He has resided in

Peoria ever since first coming to it, except about two

years during the war, when he resided in Indianapolis.

He worked constantly at his trade as journeyman and

foreman, till January 1872, when he received his ap-

pointment to his present responsible position, which

with the exception of two years he has ever since held.

He owes a house and lot at 612 Fifth street, and at

present resides with all his family in house contiguous

to the water works.

NICOL WIIililAM (of Nicol, Burr & Co.),

foundry and machine shop, cor. Water and Walnut

street ; was born in Arbroath Forfarshire, Scotland, in

December, 1826; learned his trade in native town, and

coming to America in 1852, headed straight for Peoria;

was for a number of years foreman molder for William

Peters, and in 1862, in company with his partners (J.

D. Burr, William Rutherford and M. McAleenan)

bought out the business, and has since continued it.

, He married in Peoria in August, 1855, Jane Doeward,

a native of his own town, by whom he has had eight

children, five now living—George, John, William, Isa-
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bella and James, tte owns his residence and lot. Mrs.

Nicol is a member of the Congregational Church.

SriCOT JACOB, boot and shoe maker, 318

Fulton street ; was born in the city of Belfort, France,

March 3, 1852, and is the son of Henry Nicot and Kate

Periat, natives of that city. He grew to manhood and

learned his trade there, and came to America alone in

1872, landing at New York in September of that year

;

resided in New York for two years and worked at his

trade, and came to Peoria in the Fall of 1874, where

he for some years worked as journeyman, starting in

business for himself in March, 1877, at 300 Fulton

street, and coming to his present location in March of

the present year. He married September 2, 1878, Miss

Emily Herman, a native of Peoria, by whom he has

one child—Emily—born December 8, 1879. He does

a good and growing business to a good class of cus-

tomers.

NIehaus B. clerk, 181 North street.

MlebausF. Mrs, res. 117 Smith street.

NIGIiAS JOHN N. physician and surgeon,

res. 603 N. Jefferson street ; was born in Vienna,

Austria, May 6, 1810. His father, John Niglas, married

Hannah Suess, both were natives of Austria. The

doctor was educated at the Imperial University of

Vienna, where he took a thorough literary and scienti-

fic course and received the degree of doctor of phil-

osophy and arts, and filled the chair of philosophy and

religion in the university for ten years ; was director

and priest in St. Mary's Church in the institution from

1836 to 1849, when, owing to the liberality of his views

in politics, he resigned his position and sailed for

America, landing in New York, in April, 1849 ; thence

went to St. Louis, and after a brief stay came to Peoria,

and in 1850, erected the dwelling in which he now
lives. In 1852-3, Dr. N. attended a course of lectures

at Rush Medical College, Chicago, from which he was

awarded the degree of M. D. in the Spring of 1853 ;

and has since been in active practice. During the year

185 1, he was professor of Hebrew, Greek and German

in Jubilee College ; in i86i entered the army as surgeon

of the 6th 111. Cavalry; in April, 1863, was promoted

to surgeon in chief of cavalry division of i6th Army
Corps ; and in 1864, to the position of medical director

of the Department of the Tennessee, and served in that

capacity till close of the war. He has acted as county

physician four years, and as city physician eight years,

which office he now holds. Doctor married Theresa

Overhauser nee Haydter, a native of Vienna, in the city

of New York, in September, 1849. They have no

children.

SriTSCHKE WILLIAM, cigar manufac-

turer, 510 Main street, was born in Milwaukee, Wis.,

in July, 1849; married in Chicago, August, 1869, Miss

Mathilda Agertsen, a native of Norway, by whom he

has had five children, Minnie, Rudolph, August, Otto

and Matilda. He came to Peoria in February. 1871,

and started for himself in his present business, manu-

facturing very largely all grades of cigars ; employs at

present eighteen hands, and turns out from 50,000 to

60,000 cigars monthly, almost all of which are sold in

this city ; also keeps a well selected stock of tobaccos

and smokers' articles. His present residence is at 900

Monson street.

Nolan Ja,s. cattle feeder, res. 207 Persimmon street.
Norcott F. A. res. 103 S. Jefferson street.
Nerthup N. 0. livery, 311 North Washington street.

NORTON ORKIN H. was born in Opelou-

sas, La., Oct. 8, 1839. He came to Peoria in 1841. In

1853 went to Galveston, Texas, and returned to Peoria

in the Fall of 1854, and has resided here since. While

in Galveston his mother and step-father died with the

yellow fever, leaving him and a brother, then a babe

less than six months old. Soon after his parents' death

he started for home (Peoria) with his baby brother, a

journey requiring over a month. This was an under-

taking which few men would have started upon, much

less a boy of fifteen summers. In i85o he was married

by Rev. Mr. Johnson to Miss A. E., daughter of Daniel

M. and Ann (Darling) Tinker, natives of North Adams,

Mass., who came to Peoria in 1856, and now reside in

Richwood township. He commenced to learn the

trade of stone cutter the next Spring. That Summer

he received ten dollars per month and paid five of it

for house rent. He was the prime mover in organizing

fire company Young America No. 2, and took the lead

in all the company's undertakings, being elected fore-

man a number of times. In 1874 he prepared an or-

dinance to have the fiJe department reorganized into a

thorough paid deparment ; and after much effort on his

part the ordinance was passed March 9, 1875, by unan-

imous vote of the City Council, and at the same meet-

ing Mr. Norton was elected, by ballot, to the office of

chief of the fire department, at a, salary of $1,000 per

annum, which position he held until Jan. 3, 1878. He
was one of the organizers of the I. S. F. Association,

and was elected first vice-president a number of times.

In 1876 was appointed one of the executive officers of

the National Association of Fire Engineers ; was an ac-

tive fireman in Peoria twenty successive years, attending

over fourteen hundred fires. As a fireman and organ-

izer Mr. Norton stands at the head of the profession.

NOWLAND EDWARD F. (retired), res. 311

S. Jefferson street, is one of the pioneer business men
of Peoria, and for many years extensively and promi-

nently known in central Illinois as a stock dealer and

pork packer, was born in New York city July 4, 18 10,

and is the only child of Francis and Mary Nowland,

who emigrated from Ireland in 1798. Having spent

his early life in the metropolis, Mr. N. came West on a

prospective tour in 1834, during which he visited Peo-
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ria. Being pleased with the location and prospects of

the young town, he returned to New York and married

Jane A. Oakley of that city, and removed to Peoria in

1835. Engaged two years in butchering for the local

market ; began regular business of slaughtering and

pork packing in 1837, which he prosecuted successfully

until 1863, part of the time alone and part in company

with other parties. In 1844 Mr. Nowland erected a

large, new packing house, fitted it up with full steam

appliances, being the first in Peoria to slaughter and

pack by steam. The business started up from a small

beginning and grew to such proportions that the

firm killed 40,000 hogs in a season. Soon after retiring

from the pork trade, Mr. N. built the distillery known
as the Gregg & Nowland distillery, where Reynolds &
Co.'s packing house now stands, and some years later

erected the Grove distillery, now owned by Woolner

Bros. After running it a short time, having lost his

oldest son, he sold it to Richard Gregg, his partner in

the other establishment, and retired from active busi-

ness. Mrs. Nowland died February 8, 1870, having

borne him three sons and one daughter, two of whom
are living— Mrs. Dr. J. A. Guth and Frank B. By a

life of indefatigable labors— during years of which he

spent twenty out of every twenty-four hours at work—
and by judicious management, Mr. Nowland accumu-

lated an ample estate. Though his physical health is

considerably impaired by a stroke of paralysis, his

memory of the events of the early history of Peoria is

remarkably distinct, and his graphic relation of them

very entertaining and instructive.

Null Mrs. R. res. 107 MllUnon street.
NuUemeyer J. H. res. 904 N. Adams street.

OAKFOBD A. S. wholesale grocer, res. 405
Perry street.

Oberbauser Wm. casbler Ger. Bank, res. 721 N. Madison street.
O'Brien David, res. 615 McBean street.

O'BRIEN JOHN, car repairer for T., P. & W.
R. R., res. 1102 First street, was born in Ireland;

came to America about 1850, and after roaming around

a good deal settled in Peoria about 1853, and was mar-

ried in the following year to Johanna Persol, a native

of Ireland, by whom he has had four children, one of

whom is now living— Michael. Mr. O'Brien owns

property to the amount of $800, and he and his wife

are members of the Catholic Church.
O'Brien John, carpenter, 118 First street.
O'Brien John, trunk maker, res. 157 Gay street,
O'Brien M. saloon 185 Fulton street.
O'Brien Thomas, drayman, res. 122 Saratoga street.
Ockenga E. grocer, 1139 S. Adams street.
Ocker M. laborer, res. 212 N. Prairie street.
O'Connor Dennis, policeman, res. 814 Hurlbut street.
O'Connor James, res. 165 Gay street.
O'Connor P. bricklayer, res. 108 Henry street.

ODBIiL G. W. Capt. grocer, 515 Knox-
ville road ; son of Jonathan A. and Mary (Conklin)

Odell, natives of New York. The subject of this

sketch was born in Putnam county, N. Y., in 1828.

He was reared on a farm in Westchester county,

N, Y., and received a common school education. At

the age of eighteen he commenced clerking for a man

by the name of John Mead, in Peekskill, and remained

with him until 1852, when he went to New York

city and was employed by A. T. Stewart, where he

remained until the Spring of 1855, then came to Peoria

and clerked for a short time in a dry goods house;

afterwards embarked in business as the firm of Odell

& Parker, and continued as same until 1859. In 1861

he enlisted in nth Illinois Cavalry, as private, and

was mustered as 1st Lieutenant, under Robert G.

Ingersoll ; was in that branch of service one and a half

years. Returned home, recruited Company E, of the

139th I. V. I., and was commissioned as its captain.

Married for his first wife Susan A. Armstrong. She

was the daughter of John and Susan Armstrong, who

came to the county in 1834. She died in 1859, leaving

one son, Charles H. For his second wife he married

Martha A. Armstrong. She was born in Peoria, Ills.,

in 1841. The fruit of this marriage being nine chil-

dren, eight of whom are living: Mary A., Jennie,

Frank H., Annie S., George B., Lulu, Harry, (Amy

deceased), and Edith.

Oechsle Joseph, cabinet maker, 110 Main street.
Off Ohas. J. wholesale grocer, 116 Liberty street.
Ogden P. res. 618 Main street.
O'Gorman Ghas. E. 416 Fulton street.

OHIi JOHN, bakery and grocery, 401 N.

Washington street. Was born near Frankfort, Ger-

many, April 3, 1824 ; came to the United States in

1849, in a sailing vessel, and was on the water thirty-five

days, and landed in New York, and thence to Mercer

county. Pa., where he remained a short time ; thence

to St. Louis, and remained until 1853, when he came

to Peoria county, and has been in the bakery business

since. Married Miss Lizzie Eydmann. She was born

in the same place as her husband, June 26, 1832.

Nine children blessed this union : Julius, born June

II, 1854, died December 11, i860; (two died in in-

fancy) ; Carl Peter, born October 10, 1857 ;
John, born

November 17, 1859 ; Willie, born March 29, 1863

;

George, born March 11, 1865 ; Louis, born November

15, i865 ; Matilda, born August 19, 1868 ; Elizabeth,

born November 28, 1870 ; Emily and Pauline (twins),

born June 2, 1873. Members of Lutheran Church.
Ohl Val, basket maker. 119 Irving street,

OHLEMILiLiEB J. grocer, 933 W. Jefferson

street.

OhlemiUer S. carpenter, res. 933 W. Jefferson street,
O'Laughliu P. laborer, 212 Cedar street.
O'Neil James, res. 408 Hurlbut street.
O'Nell J. engineer, 328 Butler street.
Onion John A, mail carrier, res. 203 Ellis street.

ONSTOT JOSHUA S. harness and awning

manufacturer, 215 Elizabeth street, was born in Miss-

ouri, September 19, 1832. Was one of a family of

three children of Solomon and Mary Onstot. Mother

died when he was ten years old' He learned the trade

of harnessmaker in St. Louis, and after working in

various places as a journeyman he settled in Peoria in
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1855 and opened business on his own account and con-

ducted a shop until his death, which occurred December

16, 1879, leaving four children, (two dead,) Wm. L.,

Mary E., Alice B., and Elizabeth A. Was a member
of the M. E. Church at the time of his death. Mr.

Onstot was the first and principal awning manufacturer

in the city. He married Abby G. Prentice, a native of

Dayton, O., November 17, 1859.

O'Bouke Miles, foundry, oor. Washington and Maplastreets.
Ortmann E. res. 404 First street.

*
Otteulieimer Saml. clotlilng, 281 and 828 Main street.
Osborn B. H. res. 518 Hamilton street.
Owen Benj. Doiler raalcer, T. P. & W. sliops.
Owens J. res. 1906 S. Adams street.
Palm W. 8. car accountant, T.P.&W. res. 807 Fayette street,

PARISH A. S. proprietor Parish Commercial

College, 114 and u6 S. Adams street, was born in

Seneca county, N. Y., December 28, 1841, and is the

son of Peter S. and Catherine E. (Smith) Parish, natives

of New York. He there was educated and grew up,

and at seventeen years of age removed with his father

to Ingham county, Mich., where he resided for four

years, and then returning to his native State took a

course of commercial education in Oswego, in 1864,

and afterwards filled the position of teacher in same

school for eight months ; afterwards taught in the Busi-

ness College at Macgregor, Iowa, for two years; at

Dayton, Ohio, Business College, one year ; at Grand

Rapids Business College, seven years ; coming from

there to Peoria in 1 876, where he purchased Cole's

Business College in April of that year, and has since

conducted and developed it, under his own name. He
has recently moved into new and very handsome

quarters, and the college is complete in all the appoint-

ments necessary for the thorough education of his

students in the forms and customs of actual business

life. He married at Monona, Iowa, July 21, 1867, Miss

Susan E. Woodward, a native of Massachusetts, and

daughter of Parker and Louisa (Spaulding) Woodward.

Mr. Parish's father is still alive and a resident of

Ingham county, Mich.
Parisii Ben. S. res. 1206 Perry street.
Parks J. res. Garden street.
Parmly O. C. res. Peoria Bouse.
Partridge A, blacksmitli, Hull street near Main.

PASTOKOINI ANTOINE, saloon, 125
Washington street.

Paul John W. yeast manufacturer, 407 Brotherson street.
Pony Stephen, engineer. Second district school.

PECK J. D. house and sign painter, 204 Main

street, was born in Providence, R. I., Sept. 3, 1839, and

is the son of Leonard and Harriet A. (Short) Peck,

natives of that State. He was raised, educated and

learned his trade in his native city, and worked at it

there for some years ; enlisted in Sept. 1861, in Co. I.

nth R. I. V. Infantry, and served with it until July of

the next year ; in the same Fall came to Peoria, and

during the next two years acted as foreman for Frazer

& Co., painters there. He afterwards went to Omaha,

Neb., near which he purchased a cattle ranche, and

after residing upon it for a year, sold out, and returned

49

to Peoria, and began business for himself. He mar-

ried, in 1861, Miss Harriet A. Woodbury, daughter of

Samuel and Frances A. Woodbury, a native of his own

city by whom he has one child, Nellie, born June 15,

1877. Mr. Peck was for two years alderman, from the

Seventh Ward of Peoria. Makes a specialty in his

business of sign writing ; owns three-story building at

above and adjoining numbers, containing two fine stores

one of which he occupies himself ; also owns residence

and lot at 229 Elizabeth street. Mr. und Mrs. Peck are

members of the First Congregational Church.

Peck J. G. shoe shop. 111 First street.

PERKINS EDGAR, M. D. physician and

surgeon, 104 N. Madison street, was born in Delhi,

Delaware Co. N. Y., Sept. 4, 1836, and is the son of

Timothy and Sarah (Veghty) Perkins. His father was

a native of Massachusetts, and his mother ofNew York.

When four years old his parents removed to Illinois,

settling at Buffalo Grove, now Polo, Ogle Co., where

he went to school, graduating afterwards at Clarke's,

now Jennings', Seminary, at Aurora in 1864. Before

graduating he enlisted in the Fall of 1862, in Co. D.

92nd I. V. I. for three years, and served about seven

months at the front, when in consequence of exposure

and privations he fell sick and was discharged in the

following Spring. He then returned to Aurora and

graduated as above stated. For the next three years

he read medicine and taught school, and took his de-

gree of M. D. at Hahnemann Medical College in 1868,

afterwards commencing to practice at Canton, 111.

After four years there he came to Peoria in the Fall of

1871, where he has ever since resided. He married, in

Providence, R. I., in August, 1866, Miss Lucy F.

Cheever, daughter of Daniel Cheever, of Delavan, 111.,

by whom he has had four children, Abby A., Chas. E.,

Harry P., and Louie S. The doctor owns his resi-

dence and lot at above number. His wife and he are

members of the First Congregational Church.

Perry William, res. 507 Hamilton street.
Pescn Frank, machinist T., P. &. W., res 1019 N. Adams street.
Peters Martin, laborer, 614 Johnson street.

PETERSON H. N. restaurant, 202 S. Wash-
ington street, was born in Holstein, Germany, on the

25th day of Oct. 1827. Came to the United States in

1853, and landed in New York. Thence to Chicago'

where he remained two years, and thence to Peoria

where he has resided since, where he worked at his

trade as carriage trimmer two years. Afterwards en-

gaged in the hotel business where he remained five

years, and in 1873 commenced his present business.

Married Miss Elizabeth Bower. She was born in Ohio

July 14, 1832. The fruit of this marriage was five

children ;
four living, Theodore, Henrietta, Rudolph

and Minnie.

PETERSON JOHN, merchant tailor, 224

Main street, was born in Norway, Europe, in 1830.
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Came to the United States about twenty-eight years

ago, settled in Milwaukee, Wis., and worked at the

tailor's trade ; thence he went to Rockford, 111., and

pursued the business as a journeyman several years. In

1861 came to Peoria, and after working three years on

a salary opened a shop. In 1865 his shop was burned,

by which he lost most of his stock. Since then, until

the Fallof 1879, he has conducted the business under

the First National Bank, when he removed to the above

number. Mr. Peterson married the first time in i860

to Martha Peterson of Rockford, a native also of Nor-

way. She died in 1868, leaving one child which has

since died. He married the present wife, Miss T. Lein-

go, in June, 1877. She is a native of Ohio. He carries

a fine assortment of piece goods, which are made up to

order in the most approved manner. He is a member
of the I. O. O. F.

Petherbridge Tlios. W., carpenter, cor. Monroe and Hamilton
streets.

PETTBNGIIiL MOSES, residence West

Bluff, is one of the old and prominent citizens of Peo-

ria. Is the seventh of thirteen children of Benjamin

and Hannah Pettengill, and was born in Salisbury, New
Hampshire, April 16, 1802. His grandfather, Andrew
Pettengill, was an officer in the war of the revolution

;

was mortally wounded at the battle of Bennington,

Vermont. Mr. P.'s father was a prominent farmer, and

endowed with extraordinary physical and mental pow-

ers. Moses' early Summers were spent on the farm

and in the machine shop the Winters in the village

school. His health broke down, and for seven years of

his earlv manhood was an invalid. Later he pursued his

studies in the academy of his native village, and taught

there several terms, also at Lowell, Massachusetts,

Saratoga Springs, and Lewiston, New York. In 1827,

Mr. P. engaged in mercantile business in Rochester,

New York, but lost the earnings of years by the burn-

ing of his store the following year. Before locating

again, he visited most of the principal cities in the

Middle States, and after teaching one term, opened a

store in Brockport, twenty miles west of Rochester, in

company with a Mr. Little, afterwards with Col. San-

born, his brother-in-law. May 23, 1833, Mr. P. united

in matrimony with Lucy, daughter of Deacon Amos
Pettengill, of Salisbury, New Hampshire. Hearing a

very flattering account of the Illinois country from a

neighbor, Mr. Fox, who had visited it, Mr. Pettengill

resolved to visit the Prairie State. Leaving Brockport

in November, 1833, in company with a traveling com-

panion named Sweatt, started for Fort Clark, and after

a long and circuitous route by lake, canal, river, and
overland on horseback, they reached their destination

the last Saturday in December, 1833. Soon after their

arrival, Mr. P. bought the lot on the southwest corner

of Washington and Main streets of Alva Moffatt, for

Peoria then contained a population of 15O

people, about thirty log cabins, and three frame build-

ings. After spending a few days in Fort Clark, Mr.

Pettengill made the trip homeward, via Chicago, 800

miles, on horseback. Having closed out his business

there, he started, with his wife and Jacob Gale, since

judge, in April, 1834, for Peoria. Making the journey

via the lakes and across the country from Chicago,

they arriied at Peoria on the ist of June, 1834. Mr.

P., in company with Mr. Gale, began the erection of a

store on the lot he had purchased on his previous visit,

and soon after bought the lot adjoining, on which was

a log cabin of the primitive sort, in which to live. In

November, 1834, Messrs. Pettengill and Gale opened

the first hardware and stove store in Peoria, and early

in 1835 Mr. Pettengill purchased his partner's interest.

He soon after added the manufacture of sheet iron and

copperware, the first in Central Illinois. In December,

1834, the first church, a New School Presbyterian, was

organized, and Mr. and Mrs. Pettengill were prominent

among its eleven members. Through his and the breth-

ren's efforts, the first house of worship was erected the

next season. In the Summer of 1836, Mr. P. sold ahalf

interest in his store to A. P. Bartlett, which continued

until 1843, when Mr. Pettengill again became sole

owner. The firm had previously built the first three-

story brick store, on the corner of Washington and

Main streets. In the Spring of 1844 he began building

a three-story brick store on the lot where his stone front

bank building was erected in 1872. In May of that

year, his store and a large part of the goods were burned.

In November following they lost their only child, Moses

F., aged five years. Having to go East to make pur-

chases of goods each year, Mr. P. several times drove

through in a carriage, taking the family along. From
1850 to 1854 Josiah Babcock was a partner^ with

Mr. P. in his mercantile business. For several

years Mr. P. was interested in the manufacture of

plows and other agricultural implements, under the

firm name of Pettengill & Tazawell ; in the Spring also

took an interest with several others in a large lumber

yard. Early in the Summer of 1862 Mr. Pettengill

purchased one of the most desirable lots of four acres

upon the west bluff, and erected buildings on it at a

cost of f 5,000. In the Spring of 1863 disposed of his

interest in the mercantile house which he had estab-

lished in 1834. He lost his wife on the 29th of Febru-

ary, 1864. On May 17, 1865, at Hazleton, 111., he

married Hannah W Tyner, nee Bent, a native of Mid-

dlebury, Vt. Mr. P. was chosen delegate to the Na-

tional Congregational Council, which met at Boston,

Mass., in June, 1865. On the night of the 13th of De-

cember, 1865, his bluff home with a large portion of its

contents was destroyed by fire. Three years after his

present elegant brick dwelling took its place on the
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same site, Costing $12,000. In 1870 formed a partner-

ship with Joseph P. Smith and two other gentlemen,

for the manufacture of bar soap for the wholesale trade,

which continued two years, when he and his nephew

bought out the other partners. Though Mr. Pettengill

has retired from active business, he has capital invested

in several commercial enterprises, among which is the

large wholesale boot and shoe house of Pettengill & Co.

During the days of slavery Mr. Pettengill was an ac-

tive and zealous anti-slavery man ; has from his youth

been a strong defender of temperance, and from early

manhood has been a devoted member of the church ; is

affable and companionable, firm in purpose, and of un-

impeachable integrity of character. Benevolence is a

prominent feature of his nature ; has taken special in-

terest in assisting young men to start in life ; on Nov.

25, 1859, donated $4,000 as a thanksgiving offering to

the First Congregational Church, of which he and his

wife are members.

PFEIFFER AUGUSTUS, wholesale liquor

dealer, 109 S. Washington street. Son of Theobold

and Caroline (Hursch) Pfeiffer, natives of Germany,

who came to the U. S. in 1849, and settled in Peoria

county, and followed the grocery trade. Father died in

1873; mother still living. The subject of this sketch

was born in Peoria county on the 21st day of Nov.,

1852, and received what education the city schools af-

forded. Embarked in his present business in 1877.

Carries a stock of from $15,000 to $20,000. Mr. P.'s

sales are principally in the central portion of the State,

and his annual sales amount to from $75,000 to $100,-

000. Married Susie BufTe, daughter of Fred Bufle.

She was born in Peoria Dec. 5, 1853. They have two

children by this union, one boy and one girl : August

F. and Clara Ellen.

PFEIFER M. hardware, 222 Bridge street, was

born in Bavaria, 17th Jan., 1829. Son of Peter and

Eliza (Ostermeyer) Pfeifer, natives of Bavaria. Came
to America, Sept. 26, 1849, landing in New York.

Thence went to Massachusetts, where he remained a

short time. Then went to New Orleans and worked on

the river four months, at American Bend, and in July,

1850, came to St. Louis. Remained there two months

and was in various places until 1835, when he came to

Peoria. Clerked in a hardware house till 1862, when

he staited a grocery, and in the Fall added hardware,

and continued in the same until the Fall of 1868.

About that date he dropped groceries and devoted his

whole time to the hardware business. Between the

years of 1873 and '77, was the first president of the

German Banking Co., of which he held stock for many

years. Married, in the Fall of 1850, in St. Louis, Miss

Barbara Goehring, a native of Bavaria Carries a stock

from $7,000 to $9,000. Member of the Volunteer Fire

Department for twelve years ; was secretary, treasurer

and foreman during that time. Was president of the

German Workingmen's Association. Has been direc-

tor and treasurer of Central Street Car Com-

pany, treasurer of the German Fire Insurance Co., and

is at present director of the German Bank. Member

of the I. O. O. F., Western Lodge, No. 295 ; has held

the offices of treasurer and N. G. Owns four stores on

Bridge and Washington streets ; also a residence and

lot on S. Adams street, No. 912, and other city

property.

Pilfer K. R. Mrs. saloon, 1924 N. Adams street.

PFEIFFER THEOBAIiD (deceased).

Widow's residence, 826 Knoxville road. Was born in

Rhinebergen, Germany, Feb. 21, 1820. Emigrated to

America in 1850, located in Peoria, and immediately

embarked in the grocery business, on Water street, near

Bridge, and continued in the same fourteen years, when

he sold out and engaged in the insurance business. He
also was city collector and treasurer. Married Miss

Caroline Hirsch. She was born in Germany, Aug. 28,

1824. The fruit of this marriage was nine children,

six of them living : Robert, August, Ernest, Frederick,

Rudolph and Annie. The deceased are : Caroline,

Carl and Thomas.

Flielps D. B. general agent German Fire Ins. Co. res. 511 Qreen
street.

Fhenlx J. G. plasterer, res. 320 Armstrong avenue.
Fhillips B. restaurant, 133 8. Jefterson street.
FhiUlps John, res. 707 First street.

PHILLIPS F. M. Captain Chemical Engine

No. 2, S. Adams street, below Plank road, was born in

Brown county, O., September 19, 1842, and is the son

of Valentine and Jane (Kennett) Phillips, natives of

Ohio. When about twelve years of age he removed

with his parents to Peoria, and has ever since made it

his home. He enlisted in August, 1861, in Company

A, 47th Illinois Volunteer Infantry, Captain Cromwell,

and formed part of the i6th Army Corps, or Western

Army ; took part in the battles of Island No. 10,

Corinth, luka, Jackson, Miss., second battle of Corinth,

Vicksburg, Millikin's Bend, Red River Expedition,

Pleasant Hill, through Mississippi after Forest, Tupalo,

and Sharcott Lake in Arkansas, where the company

lost heavily ; in all, 27 battles and skirmishes. He was

mustered out at Springfield, 111., October 4, 1864, upon

which day his mother died in Peoria, and after staying

at home for thirty days, he re-enlisted as a veteran in

Company B, nth Illinois Volunteer Cavalry, and served

with it till the close of the war, when he was mustered

out with the rank of corporal. On his return to Peoria

he engaged in teaming for over a year, hauling co.il on

contract to distilleries. He married, 1868 Mis.;

Martha E. Kemmer, who was born in Kentucky

in 1853, by whom he has had one child, Henry W.,

born 1869, and died in October, 1870. In 1866

he gave up teaming, and engaged for about six

years in the livery business, and in 1874 entered the
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the employ of the city as fireman, and has since fol-

lowed that occupation. He was first with Chemical

Engine Co. No. i
; has been in present company since

January, 1878, and in September of the latter year

received the appointment to its captaincy.

Pierce C. S. srooer, cor. Main and Madison streets.

PIERCE EUGENE B. secretary Peoria

Plow Company, S. Water, corner Walnut streets.

PING-ER JACOB, pork packer; residence,

942 Knoxville road. Was born in Framenheim,

Alsace Hessen, Germany, April 23, l8l5, and came to

America in December, 1833, and located in Cincinnati,

0., where he resided 34 years. Then in 1868 came to

Peoria, where he has followed pork packing since.

Married Mary Bohl. She was born in Baiern, Ger-

many, July 25, 1822, and came to the United States in

1828. The fruit of this marriage was nine children,

eight of whom are still living. Christ, born October

28, 1846; George D., born November 20, 1850; John

E., born October 19, 1853 ; Lou. J., born November

24, 1856; Theodore, born January 24, 1859; Albert,

born April 11, i86i ; Amelia M., born Sept. 27, 1866;

Emma K., born October 7, 1871. (Sarah E., born May
20, 1848, died June 2, 1853).

Pierce H. H. bricklayer, Knoxville road.
Pierson John, fruit, 405 N. Adams street.
Pinicney Andrew, res. 515 Main street.
Pinlcney R. M. res: 507 Monroe street.
Pitt N. Taylor, 108 N. Adams street.
Place E. O. mail carrier, res. 608 Fifth street.

POLSTER CHARLES, grocer and provision

dealer, 113 Clay street, was born in Germany, February

6, 1831; emigrated to America, landing at New York
in October, 1856, and went to Connecticut, and from

thence to Peoria, where he carried on business as a

tailor until 1861, and then enlisted in 28th Regiment

I. V. I., and served three years, afterwards re-enlisting

in the same regiment, and serving until the close of

the war ; was discharged in 1866. He worked at his

trade all the time he was in the army
;

participated in

a good many battles but never received a wound, or

lay a day in a hospital. After his -discharge he com-

menced his present business, and has since carried it on

successfully. He married, in 1857, Miss Anne Insel-

mann, who was born in Germany, April 19, i8l8.

POLSTER JOHN, dealer in groceries, pro-

visions, flour, etc., 1214 N. Adams street, was born in

Germany, January I, 1857 ; son ofJohn and Katherina

(Armstrong) Polster both of whom were natives of that

country. He was raised and educated in his native

town of Ratzeburg, and came alone to America in 1875,

landing in New York in July of that year. He came
straight through to Peoria, and for the next four years

clerked for his uncle Charles Polster, and started in

business for himself at his present location, February

28, 1879. He married April 17, of the same year, Miss

Theodolinde Seidle, a native of Peoria. Mr. Polster

has a handsome store, keeps in it a stock valued at

about $700, and bids fair soon to build up a large and

lucrative trade.

POWELL MAHLON T. was bom near

Leesburgh, Loudon county, Va., on the 26th of October,

I8l6; received a good education at common school;

left" his native country on October 6, 1836, having in

charge his father, then seventy-two years old, (who

served three years and eight months in the Revolu-

tionary war) and family, which consisted of mother and

sister. They landed in Peoria from the steamer

Warren on November 5, same year ; removed up the

river to the narrows, where the father was taken sick,

and in about three weeks died. Then he and the re-

maining family moved to Washington, Tazewell county,

where he married the oldest daughter of Rev. W. J.

Curtis, on October 21, 1841, and May, 1850, removed to

Peoria, where they have lived since. Have a family of

four sons, two of whom are married, and three girls, all

living in the city. Mr. Powell works at his trade, car-

penter
; is, financially, in comfortable circumstances,

and enjoys good physical health.

Pople J. plasterer, 1015 First street.
Poppinga Geo. laborer, res. 613 W. Jefferson street.
PothoflTT. H. res. 119 First street.
Potter H. H. grain, 300 S. Water street.
Powell 0. laborer, res. 511 Huvlbut street.
Powell D. laborer. 808 Cedar street.
Powell James, cor. Main and Bluff streets.
Powell M. T. carpenter, 108 Ellis street.
Power James, res. 116 Butler street.
Power John, laborer, res. Grove street.
Powers Edward, teamster, 316 S. Water street.
Powers John, hotel, 224 S. Water street.

PRENGER FRED, painter, 1222 S. Adams
street, was born in Prussia, March 20, 1833, and came
to America in July, 1857. For one year he located in

Detroit, Mich., where he worked at his trade, and then

came to Peoria in April, 1858, and engaged in busi-

ness. He married in 1863 Mary Lucas, who was born

in Bohmer, March 2i, 1845, by whom he has had
eight children, five now living, Frederick, Annette,

Mary, Anna R. and Emma. Mr. Prenger has been

engaged in the business of painting for the last thirty

years, and is enabled by his extensive experience to

turn out the best of work. He owns property in the

city to the amount of $1,000. Himself and wife are

members of the Catholic Church.

Proctor John C. dealer in lumber, 208 N. Washington street.
Prohl H. shoe malcer, 108 N. Washington street.
ProhaskI, John, collar malier, 113 S. Washington street.

PROHMER GEORGE, bakery, 821 N.
Madison street, was born in Germany, Feb. 7, 1846

;

emigrated to this country in 1866, and located in

Peoria. In 1867 went to Chicago and remained there

two years, when he returned and engaged in his pres-

ent business, which he has carried on successfully since.

Married Katherena Comdoevar Dec. 3, 1868, a native

of Germany
;
came to the United States in i860. They

have three children, one girl and two boys. They are

both members of the Lutheran Church, and North
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Peoria German School Association. His father came

to this country in i8'53. In politics a Liberal.

Prosch August, plasterer, 827 Gallatin street.

PKEIS HENRY, veterinary surgeon, 206 S.

Washington street, was born in Germany, Dec. 20,

1823 ; came to the United States in 1844 and located

in New York city, where he remained a short time
;

tliende to Buffalo, N. Y., where he stayed a short time.

In 1855 came to Peoria, where he has followed his oc-

cupation since. Married Miss Kate Kilshoffer. She

was born in Prussia in 1842. There were three chil-

dren by this union, two boys and one girl. Studied in

Denmark ; when he graduated there went to Ham-
burgh, where he prosecuted his profession, and after-

wards to America.

Purcell J. E., TJ. S. store keeper, res. 215 McDougal street.
Purcell Jas. stock yards, res. 1804 S. Washington street.
PurcellJohn, res. 1017 First street.
Purtscher Thomai, fruits, etc. SOti S. Water street.
Puschel Mrs. M. 917 Hale street.

PUTERBATJGH GEORGE, attorney, 118

N. Adams street.

PUTERBAUGH S. D. attorney, 118 N.

Adams street.

Putman Wm. conductor T. P. & W. res. 804 Monson street.
Py Emll, engineer, res. 309M W. Jefferson street,

QUALMAN" CHARIiES, boot and shoe

dealer, S. Adams street, near Main.

Qulen F. hardware dealer, 217 S. Adams street.
Quinn M.. C. attorney at law.
Kabold Jacob, malt, res. 1610 S. Washington street.
Race Wm. laljorer, res. Ill Gallatin street.
Balel|?h Thos. T. P. & W. shops.
Ramsden John, well-digger, 314 McDouglas street.
Randall Willard, U. S. ganger, res. 166 Gay street,
Ranny J. E. manager telegraph W. U.. A. & P.. and A. D.
Rankin L. B. Mrs. res. 1110 Main street.
Rapp Fred E. butcher, res. 207 Birket street.
Rattle Henry, U. S. store keeper, res, 109 Tliird street.

RAWSON SAMUEL, grocer, 1032 N. Mon-
roe street, was born in Ashtabula county, Ohio, Janu-

ary 22, 1833, and remained there until 1852, when he

started out to see something pf the country he was born

in, and has wandered around a great deal since then.

He served an apprenticeship to the trade of carpenter,

and has worked at it in various places for ten years,

often taking contracts and employing several hands in

their execution. In course of his wanderings he pulled

up at Pike's Peak, and was there during part of the

years 1859 and '60. From thence removed to Iowa
;

has taught over twenty district schools in this and other

States ; came to Peoria in 1876, and was for two years

assistant teacher in Parish's Commercial College ; began

business for himself at his present location in the latter

part of 1878, and conducts a good and increasing busi-

ness. Mr. Rawson is a strictly temperate and moral

man, although unconnected with any church.

Reed Louisa J. Mrs. boarding, 311 Harrison street.
Reed P. laborer T. P. & W. siiops. res. 716 Hurlhut street.

Beeder Robt. F. fireman, res. 2000 S. Washington street.

REEN" AUGUST W. H. druggist, 303 Main

street, was born in Gesecke Westphalia, Prussia, March

27, 1825, and is the son of Clemens N. and Francisca

(Finke) Reen, both of whom were natives of Westpha-

lia. He was raised and educated in his native town,

and learned the drug business with Frank Fabro, in

Lippstadt, with whom he remained from 1842 to '4S,

removing thence to Muenster and resided there until

1854, while there serving his term in the army as mili-

tary pharmacist ; moved from there to Schwerte upon

the Ruhr, where he remained until 1858, and in Sep-

tember of the same year sailed from Bremen in the S. S.

Harmonia, and landed at New York in the early days

of October. He at first settled in Chicago, where he

was employed as drug clerk, and in August, i860, re-

moved to Peoria, where he has ever since resided. Af-

ter some years he, in company with Fritz Renter,

bought out his employer (B. F. Miles), and together

carried on the business until May, 1868, when the part-

nership was dissolved and Mr. Reen assumed sole con-

trol of the business. He has since profitably continued

it, carrying a stock of about $6,000, and does a yearly

business of $25,000. He married in Peoria, October

12, 1861, Mrs. Maria Ruediger, widow of Frederick

Reudiger, and daughter of Charles Reudiger, a native

of Stuttgart, Germany, by whom he has had seven chil-

dren, three now alive— Clemens, August and Annie.

Mr. Reen is P. M. of Schiller Lodge, No. 335, A. F. &
A. M., and has been president of the Peoria German

School Association. He owns his residence and the

lot on which it stands, at 207 Hancock street.

Rehder Henry, bx. yd. res. 900 Seventh avenue.
Reichai'dt G. P. grocer, 223 First street.
Reid Peter, res. 918 Third street.
Reigle Anton, carpenter T. P. & W. 104 S. Madison street.

Reiger E. blacksmith, 538 S. Adams street.
Beilly Patrick, laborer, res. 1384 S. Was
Relsing A. cooper, 303 Hurlbut street.
Besenbnrg Mr.i. res. 218 W. Madison street.
Reus B. C. book binder, 322 W. Madison street.

REUTBR JOHN B. boot and shoe maker,

405 S. Washington street, was born in Germany,

December 14, 1832, and is the son of Thomas and

Anna (Schmidt) Renter, natives of that country. He
learned his trade in his native country, and came to

America in 1853, landing at Quebec ; worked at his

trade in Hamilton, Canada, for two years, and then

moved to Evansville, Ind., and after a short stay went

to New Orleans, where he remained till 1862, removing

in that year to New York, where he remained three

years. He married in New Orleans June 14, 1859,

Miss Elizabeth Miiller, a native of Germany, by whom
he has three children— Fred, Charles and John. He
came to Woodford county in 1865, and staying there

but a short time returned to New Orleans, and there

resided till 1872, when he came-to Peoria and has ever

since made it his home. He turns out fine work and

has a good class of customers.

Reynolds Wm. pork packing, res. 403 W. Madison street.

RHEA ElilAS P. dealer in farm machinery,

213 S. Washington street, was born in Pretle county.
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Ohio, in 1831, and was reared there on a farm. Jehu
Rhea married Elizabeth Harris in Tennessee, and
settled in Preble county about 1825. Ten children

blessed their union, of whom Elias is the youngest.

The parents both died leaving him an orphan at ten

years of age. He enjoyed the advantages of the com-

mon schools, and followed farming till thirty years old.

Married Phebe Paddock, of Ohio in 1854. Came to

Peoria county three years later. In 1865 engaged in

the sale of farm machinery; and in 1873 began a

jobbing business in the same line, as traveling salesman.

Since November, 1879, Mr. Rhea has been a member
of the firm of Martin Brothers & Co. The house

handles all kinds of farm machinery at both wholesale

and retail, and have an extensive trade. Mr. and Mrs.

Rhea have four children, two of each sex ; Robert L.,

book-keeper for Kingman & Co., Elias B., Emma J.,

and Cora E. Mr. Rhea is a member of A. F. & A. M.,

and of the Knights of Honor.

Bice C. H. engineer ft. Harrison street, res. 518 Hancock street.
Rice J. teamster, 203 Elm street.

RICE JAMBS M. attorney at law, 303 Main
street.

Rice M. Mrs. 407 W. Madison street.
Rioliards Olias. spice mills, 117 Hamilton street.
Ricliardson E. sawyer. 301 N. Water street.
RIctiardson Frank D. engineer, T. P. & W.
Richardson M. S. Mrs. res. 914 Sixtti street.
Richmond Wm. jeweler, 229 S. Adams street.
Rlckiey JacoM, boot and shoe mfr. 210 S. Madison street.

KIEMENSCHNEIDER HENRY, (de-

ceased,) res. of widow, 204 Liberty street, was born in

Lippstadt, Prussia, March 20, 1828, and was there

raised and educated. Also learned the trade of cigar

maker. He married in February, 1853, Miss Wilhel-

mina Kraemer, a native of Gueterslow, Prussia, by
whom he had two children— Maria, and Henry George,

both of whom were born in Rheda,. Prussia. He came
with wife and family to America in 1857, landing at

New Orleans in December of that year, and went

straight up the river to St. Louis, where he resided for

about one and a half years, and then came to Peoria

where he resided and carried on business as cigar man-
ufacturer for about twelve years. His health failing he

sold out his business, and removed to Chicago and

thence to St. Louis, where he died March 27, 1872.

Immediately afterwards his family returned to Peoria,

and resumed the manufacture of cigars, which is still

carried on in the name of his daughter. Make largely,

all grades of cigars for local trade.

Rilea S. W. brakemauC B. &, Q. res. 1704 N. Adams street,
Riley Pat. res. 321 Merriman street.
Kiley Wm. laborer, res. 208 McKeynolds street.
Roach Fat. res. 1387 8. Adams street.

ROBERTS JOHN D. U. S. Ganger, office

collector of internal revenue, corner Main and Wash-
ington streets. Was born in Clermont county, Ohio,

March 2i, 1835, and is the son of Washington Roberts

and Sarah Cramer. His father was a native of Maine,

and his mother of Ohio. He was raised in his native

county till twenty years of age, and there received his

education, moving with his parents in 1855 to Stark

county, 111., and settling near Wyoming, where he

learned the trade of carpenter and joiner, and worked

at it in the locality and also in other parts of the State

for several years. He settled down on a farm in Tri-

voli township, of Peoria county, and married, January

7, 1862, Miss Mary Matthis, a daughter of Martin and

Rachsel Matthis, natives of Illinois, who was born in

Trivoli township, January 7, 1842, and by whom he has

had three children, two now alive— Loretta Jane (de-

ceased), Martin Albert, and Minnie Olive. After a few

years on his farm, he engaged in the grocery business,

at Yates City, Knox county, 111., which he carried on

till he received his appointment as internal revenue

gauger in 1873, when he sold out his business and re-

moved with his family to Peoria, where he has since re-

sided. While in Yates City he filled for some years

the offices of alderman and city treasurer. Mrs. Rob-

erts is a member of the M. E. Church, and her mother

is still alive and a resident of Trivoli township.

Robinson J. Mrs. res. 1420 S. Adams street.
Robinson W. H. insurance. 214 Main street.
Bobison & Worthington, attorneys, 107 N. Jefferson street.

ROBISON LESLIE, attorney at law, 107 N.

Jefferson street. Was born near Detroit, Mich., Aug.

8, 1834, and is the son of James and Isabella (Leslie)

Robison, natives of Aberdeenshire, Scotland, who came

to America and settled near Detroit, Mich., in 1831.

They removed from thence to Elm Grove township,

Tazewell county, in the Spring of 1837, where they

still reside. Mr. Robison attended the common school

there, and the academy at Tremont, in the same coun-

ty, and afterwards completed his education by attend-

ing Knox College, Galesburg, 111., and Yale College,

New Haven, graduating from the latter in the class of

'58. He afterwards came to Peoria and read law in

the offices of Hon. E. N. Powell, and Hon. Henry

Grove ; was admitted to the bar at Springfield, by ex-

amination before the Supreme Court, and was on that

occasion introduced to the members of it by Abraham
Lincoln, who was then practicing there. Mr. Robison

was elected mayor of Peoria in 1876, upon the Repub-

lican ticket, and acceptably filled the office during a

term of two years. He married, July 7, 1864, Miss

Julia Ballance, daughter of Charles Ballance, by whom
he had three sons, two now alive— Charles W. and

Leslie. His wife died in the Spring of 1871, and in

June of the following year he married Miss Lizzie

Rutherford, his present wife.

ROBINSON & CALLENDER, real estate

and insurance agents, 214 Main street.

Roche J. Mrs. res. 100 Jackson street.

ROESSLBR FRED'K, cigar manufacturer,

1015 N. Adams street. Was born in Heidelberg, Ba-

den, June 16, 1845, and is the son of Frederick and
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Elizabeth Roessler, natives of that city. He came to

America with his mother when about seven years of

age, landing at New York, where he resided for four

years, and then in June, 1856, came to Peoria, where

he has since live^. He learned his trade of cigar

maker there ; and has worked at it all his life ; manu-
factures generally for local trade. His father died be-

fore he came to America, and his mother still lives and

resides with him. He is a member of the I. O. O. F.

Western Lodge No. 295, of Peoria.

Rogers J. T. lumber. 323 S. Adams street.
Rogers N. B. fireman, C. R. I. & P. res. 814 N. Monroe street.

ROGERS J. T. & CO. lumber merchants,

322 S. Adams street.

Roggy N. teamster, 324 W. Jefferson street.
Rnrirback L. millinery, 106 S. Jefferson street.
Rojahn M. A. Mrs. res. 908 Slxtb street.

ROJAHN CHARLES, marble worker, 508

Third street ; was born in the Kingdom of Hanover,

Germany, May 25, 1831, and is the son of Gottlieb andi

Frederika (Fisher) Rojahn, natives of Hanover. He
was raised, educated and learned his trade at home,

and in 1853 came to America, landing at Baliimore,

June igth of that year. He first went to Wheeling,

W. Va., and worked at his trade there for about two

years, and during the next year traveled about through

the States of Iowa, Ohio and Missouri, marrying in

Newport, Ky., June 15, 1856, Miss Mary Wolf, a native

of Kentucky, by whom he has had five children—Annie,

Amelia, Mary, Louis and Frederika. He came to

Peoria in the month of his marriage, and has since re-

sided there. For sixteen years he worked for one em-

ployer, and started for himself in the Summer of 1877.

He manufactures all kind of tombstones, and executes

in the highest style of the art, all sorts of plain and

ornamental marble work. He owns his residence and
lot, with workshop in the rear, at above number, and

also lot and building on the corner of Third and Fisher

Streets ; is a member of Western Lodge, No. 295, I. O.

O. F., and of Goethe Lodge, No. 8, A. O. U. W. Him-
self and wife are adherents of the Lutheran Church.

Rohlfs R. J. baker, 623 Franklin street.
Rohman P. sexton, w. City.
Roll C. proprietor, Pekln house, 614 S. Water street.
RoUman E. res. 1218 N. Monroe street.
Rose Martin, laborer, res. 338 S. Madison street.
Rosenberger L. clerk, res. 1165 S. Adams street.
Rosenflela Isaac, sexton, res. 100 W. Jefferson street.
Rosenblatt R. Mrs. res. 202 S. Water street.
Roskoten R. physician, res. N. Jefferson street.

ROSS D. D., M. D. 103 S. Adams street.

Roth Nicholas, undertaker, 416 S. Adams street.
Roth Wm. saloon, 816 N. Adams street.

ROMER HERMA^f, saloon, 533 S. Adams
street ; was born in Ettenheim, Grand Duchy of

Baden, Germany, November 19, 1845, and is the son of

Benedict and Catherine Romer, natives of that coun-

try. He came to America in 1866, landing at New
York in June of that year, and coming straight to

Peoria has ever since made it his home. He was en-

gaged in business as barber for ten years, and in 1876

went to Chicago and was for a year in partnership with

his brother, and then returned to Peoria and started a

saloon on his own account, and came to his present

location in September, 1877. He married November

21, 1871, in St. Louis, Miss Magdalena Meuli, a native

of Peoria, by whom he has had five children, four of

whom are now living—Otto, Julius, Lottie and Her-

man,

Rotterman C. F. tailor, 306 Smith street.
Rotterman V. cooper, res, 705 Fourth street.

ROSENTRETERFRANK I,, watchmaker,

327 S. Adams street, was born in Prussia, Feb, 28, 1839,

and is the son of August R. and Henrietta (Schultz)

Rosentreter, natives of that country. He came alone

to America in 1858, landing at New York in October

of that year. Came first to Chicago, and after a short

stay removed to near Lacon in Marshall Co,, where he

resided for two years, and then removed to Peoria in

i860, and after a residence of about six months, went

to Roanoke, Woodford Co,, 111,, where for two years

he farmed, and then started business as watchmaker in

Pekin, 111., uritil May 1863, when he enlisted in Co. F,

139th I, V. I, in the one hundred day service. He
served principally in Kentucky and Missouri, and after

being mustered out in the September following, re-

enlisted as a veteran in the 32nd I. V. I. as a musician

and served until the close of the war, when he was

mustered out at Springfield, and coming to Peoria

worked for Mr. Ehrler as watchmaker for nearly two

years. He married June 18, 1868, at Lacon, III., Miss

Mary Scherff'. a native of New York, by whom he has

had six children, four now alive ; Albert, Frank, Hen-

rietta and Ida. After marriage he started business for

himself at Lacon, then removed to DesMoines, Iowa,

where he remained three years, and coming back to

Peoria in 1872 started his present business and has since

resided there. He also deals largely in singing birds of

all kinds. Himself and wife are members of the Evan-
' gelical Association.

ROTHAN GEORGE J. 620 Johnson street,

carpenter and stair builder, son of John and Gertrude

Rothan, natives of Germany, who came to the United

States in 1838, and located in Cincinnati, Ohio, where

they still reside. The subject of this sketch was born

in Cincinnati, Ohio, April 23, 1851, was reared to the

trade and received a common school education. Came
to Peoria in 1873, worked for Harschbirger about four

years, and in 1878 commenced his present business.

Married Miss Rose Emma Beckenhaupt. She was

born in Ohio, There were three children, one of whom
is living, Chas, A„ born June 10, 1876. Members of the

Catholic Church. Mr. R. is a young energetic business

man, and by close attention to business and fair dealing

is working a good trade.
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Kouse Mrs. M. res. cor. Mainand Jefferson street.
Kowan D. trunk manufacturer, 132 Adams street.
Rowland John E. well digger, 716 Smith street.
Rude John S. Bluff street, head of Spring.
Rugg H. H. grain, 320 S. Washington street.
Rule F. res. 809 Oak street

RULEYSAMUEL H., carpenter, 612; Second

street, was born in Ohio June 29, 1818 ; came to

Peoria in 1851, and commenced carpentering, whicli

occupation he has since followed. He married in

1851 Miss Rebecca J. Ditto, who was born in Penn-

sylvania June 30, 1827, by whom he has had ten

children, only three of whom are now living, AUis,

Emma, Belle, and Robert G. Mr. Ruley is a member
of the M. E. Church.

Ruse W. E. cooper, 814 N. Monroe street.
Russell J. C. miller, 218 Second street.
Russell Susan, cor. Marl and Hamilton streets.
Ryan James, baker, 812 S. Washington street.
Ryau John, res. Emmett House.

KYAN JOHN Jr., beer, ale, and porter,

bottler, 2ig Bridge "street, was born in Peoria Jan. 19,

1854, and is the son of John and Ellen (Carrigan)

Ryan. His father was a native of county Tipperary,

Ireland, who came to America in 1845, and died in

Peoria August 21, 1879. His mother is from Kil-

kenny, Ireland, and still resides in the city. Mr. Ryan
was raised and educated in Peoria, and, after one year

in the employ of the T. P. & W. R. R., entered that of

Gipps & Co., brewers, and for six years kept their

books. He commenced business for himself as beer

bottler in April 14, 1879, buying out the firm of Oscar
Furst & Co., at present location. He bottles at rate of

one thousand barrels annually of Gipps & Co.'s lager

beer, and ships it all over the State of Illinois. Much
is also sold in the city, and his trade is rapidly in-

creasing. This he accounts for by the growing appre-

ciation by the public of the merits of Gipps & Co.'s

beer, it having successfully stood the most searching

chemical analysis, as to its quality and purity, and also

to the care with which it is bottled. Write him for prices.

He also keeps on hand such quantities of bottlers' sup-

plies, that he is able to furnish complete bottlers' out-

fits at the shortest notice and on the most reasonable

terms,

Ryan P. laborer, res. 100 Cross street.
Ryan Stephen, carpenter, 519 Smith street.
Ryors Edward D. book binder, res. 215 Fourth street.
Saba Claas O. carpenter, T. P. & W. res. 408 McBean street.
Sandburg Peter, res. 107 McKeynolds street.
Santord M. H. res. 1111 Second street.

SANDMEYER H., dealer in hardware, stoves,

etc., 119 S. Adams street. This business has been in

existance for upwards of thirty years, and has been
conducted by Mr. Sandmeyer since 1854. He carries

an extensive and well selected stock of all kinds of

stoves, shelf hardware and house furnishing goods,

which seldom falls below $20,000.

SAIiM CASPER, saloon, 1421 S. Washington
street.

Sardison Henry, res. 1109 First street.
Scanlon Mary, 720 Wayne street.

Scanlon Thomas, boiler maker, S. Water street.

Schafer C. F. res. 1618 S. Adams street.

Schafer James, printer, 428 S. Washington street.
Schafer Peter, res. 501 Plank road.
Schacht Fred, carpenter, 1003 Plank road.
Scheid John F., harness maker, cor. Hall and KnoxviUe road.
Schelrer L. L.. barber. 1215 S. Adams street.

Schefling J., grocer, 901 S. Adams street.

Schcrbln Phillip, hotel. Bridge, cor. Adams.
Schifling Jos., grocer, 901 S. Adams street.

SCHILLER C. R. (of Schiller & Marks), 210

Fulton street, was born in Germany, August 22, 1841,

and is the son of John and Catherine (Hoffman) Schil-

ler, natives of that country. He was raised and edu-

cated there, and learned something of his father's busi-

ness of cotton weaving. Came to America in 1862,

landing at New York in Summer of that year. He
came to El Paso, Illinois, where he resided for about

one and a half years, and removed to Peoria in 1864.

There he clerked in various stores for seven years, and

afterwards traveled on the road for two years, finally

engaging in his present business, which he has since

continued. He married, in October, 1867, Miss Kath-

erina Klick, a native of Berks county, Pennsylvania,

who came to Kane county, Illinois, when very young,

by whom he has four children—Amanda, William, John

and Ida. He owns his residence and lot, corner of

Underbill and College streets,

SCHEMBES JACOB, grocer and provision

dealer, 1000 N. Adams street,

Schiiliog Mary A., res. 127 Irving street.
SchimptE C. res. 303 First street.

SCHIMPFF RUDOLPH A. grocer, 203 S.

Madison street, was born March 13, 1836, in Bavaria,

Germany, and emigrated to the United States in 1850,

with his parents, who located in Peoria. In 1859 Mr.

S. embarked in the grocery business, and by fair dealing

and close attention to business, has built up a good

trade. Married Miss Henrietta Heaedicke, February

8, 1865. She was born in Woodford county, Illinois,

October 21, 1843, and came to Peoria county in 1865.

They have two children, both girls, Louisa, born Octo-

ber 4, 1868, Anna, born January 17, 1875.

Schtink J. P., res. 410 Liberty street.,
Sohlink v., res. 312 Third street.
Schmidt C. Chambers street n. city.

SCHMIDT CHARLES T. butcher, 617

Main street.

Schmidt John, 333 New street.
Schmidt J., vinegar manufacturer, 103 Evans street.

SCHNEBLY G. W. U. S. storekeeper, res.

263 Bluff street, born in Washington county, Maryland,

June 21, 1821, came with parents to Peoria county in 1835

and worked on farm until Fall of 1841. Went west to

to see the sights of the gold regions, came back, and in

1850 was married to Margaret Cox. She was born in

Pennsylvania in 1829. They have seven children—Julia

B., George W., Willie G., Dolla C, Robert M., Susie

E., Maggie B. Was in the grain and milling business

at Mossville from 1861 to 1873, and station agent at

same place for number of years. In 1875 came to Peo-
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ria, where he was appointed U. S. storekeeper, in which

capacity still serves. Is Republican in polities.

Schmidt Louis, carpenter, res. 809 New street.
Schmidt P. Mrs. res. 149 Clay street.
Schnaph A. H. florist, 1507 Perry street.
Schnebly G. W. store Keeper, res. atiS Blutt street.
Schneider A. res. 307 New street.
Schneider C. tailor, 207 S. Washington street.
Schneider O. Mrs. res. 411 S. Adams street.
Schneider John, whitesmith, 410 Fulton street.
Schneider Jos. gardener, res. Second street.

SCHNEIDER BERNARD, U. S. store-

keeper, res. 922 S. Adams street.

SCHNEIDER JOHN, cutler and grinder,

410 Fulton street, was born in the canton of Berne,

Switzerland, Feb. 6, 1845, and is the son of Simon and
Anna (Steiner) Schneider, natives of that canton. He
was raised, educated and learned the trade of cutler

there, and came to America in 1867, landing at New
York on Oct. 22 of that year. He came straight to

Peoria, where he has ever since resided. For the next

nine years he worked as journeyman, and three years

ago started for himself at his present location. He
married, June 10, 1870, Pauline Meyer, a native of Al-

sace, France, born there Dec. 26, 1847, and who came
to America with her parents in August, 1867, by whom
he has had six children, five now alive : Bertha, Albert

(deceased), John, Albertine, Albert and Pauline. He
owns his business property and resides above it. He
and his wife are members of the Apostolic Christian

Church. ,

Sctaock Ghas. distiller, res. S. Water street.
Schock Marx, barber, 1135 S. Adams street.
Schoenut Geo. carpenter, res. 313 W. Jefferson street.
Schoenut G. W. barber, res. 803 North street.
Scholey Thos. machinist, res. IIO.N. Fayette street.
Schradski A. clothing, 108 Adams street.
Schradskl J. clothing, 217 Main street.
Schroder .Tobn, blacksmithing, 205 Bridge street,
Schroder W. carpenter, 304 Seventh street.
SchuIeF. alcohol runner, res. 208 Walnut street.
Schuster Adam, cooper, res. 1600 S. Washington street.
.Schultz Frederick, res. 1407 S. Washington street.
Schwab J. F. carpenter, res. 211 Seventh street.
Schwabecker H. liquor dealer, 216 S. Washington street.
Schwabecker J. liquor dealer, 216 S. Washington street.
Schwartt Henry, printer, res. 1338 S. Adams street.
Schwartzman D. hats, caps, etc. 219 Main street.
Schwerabold C. F. harness maker, 429 S. Washington street.
Schwerm John H. bricklayer, res. 803 W. Jefferson street.

SCHROEDER JOHN, blacksmith, 205

Bridge street.

SCHWAB ERNEST A. & JOHN, car-

penters and builders, are sons of Fred C. and Philli-

pinea E. Schwab. Ernest was born in Germany in

1852
;
John was born in Peoria in 1854. Their father

died in the city in 1874 ; mother is still living. The
brothers were educated in the city schools

;
John took

a course in Cole's Business College. They both learned

the carpenter trade, and Ernest started in the building

business in 1873 ;
John joined him two years later ; they

were in partnership over three years, and are now work-
ing together. Ernest married Anna Barthbom, in 1878,

in Erie, Penn. He owns a homestead in the city, and

does a general contracting and building business.

John married Louise Kohler in 1875, a native of Peo-

ria. Have two children : Herman C. and Amelia B.

SCHWARTZENBACH GEO. boot and

shoe maker, Plank road, near S. Adams street, was

born in Germany, May 14, 1845, and is the son of Ja-

cob and Katherina Schwartzenbach, natives of that

country. He was raised and learned his trade at home,

and came to America in 1871, landing at New York in

July of that year, and came to Peoria, where he worked

at his trade as journeyman for several years, and then

started for himself. He married, Aug. 5, 1872, Dora

Fink, a native of Germany, who came to America with

her parents in 1870.

Scott E. M. res. 160 Clay street.
Scranton K. printer, res. 417 Green street.

SEABURY RICHARD F. retired, 802 San-

ford street, was born in the city of New London, Conn.,

July 21, 1809. His father was Rev. Charles Seabury,

whose father was the Rt. Rev. Samuel Seabury, the

first bishop of the diocese of Connecticut, and also the

first bishop in the United States. Mr. Seabury emi-

grated to Illinois in 1836, landing in Peoria with a stock

of merchandise, intending to commence business in the

city. Traveling from New York in company with

some Tazewell county colonists, he was induced, unfor-

tunately, to go to Tremont, and disaster instead of

prosperity was the result. After various vicissitudes,

he finally came again to Peoria, in 1845, and settled

in the village of Kickapoo, and established the pioneer

store in the place', and was appointed postmaster ; re-

tained the office for many years, and was removed at

the instance of Owen Lovejoy, M. C, because Mr, Sea-

bury was a Democrat. During the Southern Rebellion

he was a member of the board of supervisors, repre-

senting the town of Kickapoo. Mr. Seabury removed

to the city of Peoria about 1865, where he has since,

with his family, resided. The wife of Mr. S. was a

daughter of Judge John E. Russell, of Monticello, N.

Y., where she was born. They have eight children,

five daughters and three sons. Samuel and Richard

reside in Peoria, Charles in Chicago ; and one daugh-

ter, Mrs. H. C. Stevens, is living in Winona, Minn.,

one in New York and three at home. Mr. S. and wife

and family, are members of the Episcopal Church.

SEABURY SAMUEL, men's furnishing

goods, 215 Main street. Was born in Tremont, Taze-

well county. 111., December g, 1842, and is the son of

Richard F, Seabury and Catherine Eliza Russell. His
father is a native of New London, Conn., and his

mother of New York. They came West in 1836, and
his father was for many years engaged in the mercan-

tile business in Tremont. When four years old the

family removed to Kickapoo township, of Peoria coun-

ty, where he was raised, coming to Peoria city in 1862,

and working for some years at his trade of carpenter,

and afterwards engaged in the wholesale notion busi-

ness, under the firm name of Chas. Seabury & Co. In

1867 he sold out his interest, and engaged in his pres-
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ent line. Has made a specialty of shirts, and is now
engaged in their manufacture, meeting with great suc-

cess in that department ; has represented for the past

two years Wanamaker's tailoring establishment at Phil-

adelphia, and during that time has taken over 2,500

orders for suits. He married. May 23, 1866, at Nor-

mal, 111., Miss Isabella Francis Woodward, a native of

Ohio, by whom he has had four children, Edward Fran-

cis, William Samuel, Charley Isabella and Fannie

Mayo. Mr. Seabury's parents are still alive, and he is

one of a family of eight children, four of whom are

married and have families, yet this large family circle

has never been broken by a death.

SEEHAAS CHAKLBS J. M. grocer, 1220

N. Monroe street. Was born in Prussia, Europe, in

1822, learned the cabinet trade and carried on the busi-

ness there, employing eighteen hands for nineteen

years. In 1848 he married Matilda Luttich ; came to

the United States in 1853 ; lived a year in Chicago ; in

1854 settled in Peoria; was five years employed as

foreman in a furniture manufactory ; started a furni-

ture store in 1863 ; sold out three years after ; superin-

tended a factory in Pekin, Tazewell county, two years

;

returned to Peoria and continued in the same business

until 1879, when he purchased the property on the cor-

ner of Monroe and Spring streets, and entered the

grocery trade. Mr. and Mrs. S. are the parents of six-

teen children, six living, three of each sex. Mr. S.

keeps a fine stock of staple goods and has a large re-

tail trade. Is a member of I. O. O. F., Lodge 295.

SEIIiEK SAMUEIi, hardware, 215 S. Wash-
ington street.

SEIPELi J. & C. grocers and provision deal-

ers, 822 N. Adams street. The members of this firm

are John C. and Conrad Seipel— brothers— who were

both born in Woodford county. 111., the former January

27, 1841, and the latter May 16, 1843. They are the

sons of Adam J. and Anna Mary Seipel, natives of Ger-

many, who settled in Cincinnati, Ohio, in the Fall of

1838. The brothers were raised and educated in their

native county, and grew to manhood on the home farm.

John C. came to Peoria in 1869 ; married January 5,

1875, Miss Mary O. Seipel, a native of his own county.

Conrad enlisted September 20, 1864, in Co. K. 44th I.

V. I., and served with it till the close of the war, taking

part in the battles of Nashville, Franklin, Springhill

and Columbus, Tenn., and many other smaller affairs
;

was mustered out at Nashville, Tenn., June 22, 1865.

He married January 8, 1867, Miss Katie Weber, a na-

tive of Woodford county, by whoni he has two children

— Rilla and Arthur. He came to Peoria in 1872. The
brothers have been in partnership in their present

business for over four years ; keep a general stock of

groceries, notions, queensware, etc., and do a good

business both to City and country customers. Both

brothers and their wives and families are members of

the Catholic Church.

Seabury R. F. book-keeper, 80a Sanford street.

Sears T. 108 Kettelle street.
Seehaas Ctias. carpenter, res 141 Clay street.

Selbold W. gardener, S. Adams street.

Seldler A. Mrs. res. 310 N. Adams street.

SelfertF. laborer, res. 815 Perry street.

Seller Samuel, hardware. 215 S. WashmRton street.

Selby Jas. mfr. corn planters, res. cor. Perry and Jackson Sts.

Selby W. F. constable, res. 310 Ellis street.

Semlow D. saloon, 310 Bridge street.

Seward W. P. res. 314 Hansel street.

SIEBOIiD AUG-UST, proprietor of the Cen-

tral Park and Sulphur Spring, N. Adams street, was

born in Germany, Feb, 13, 1843. He came to America

with his parents in August 1854, and settled in Peoria.

During the next ten years he assisted his father in

gardening, and in the Spring of 1864 went to Cali-

fornia, returning to Peoria in the following year. He
then engaged in keeping a saloon and boarding house,

and in 1876 took charge of the Central Park, recon-

structing and fitting up elegant bath rooms, etc., in con-

nection with the artesian well upon the grounds. Has

also a large hall and garden saloon, and is prepared

during the Summer months to furnish visitors to his leafy

bowers with every comfort necessary to their happi-

ness. He married in October 1871, Miss Susan Som-

mer, a native of Woodford Co., 111., who was born there

in February, 1852, by whom he has had three children,

Paul, Mary and Minnie,

SIEBOIiD FREDERICK, gardener, S.

Adams street near Moffatt's cemetery, was born in June,

1811, in Germany, where he was raised, and devoted his

attention to the culture of the vine, being one of the

most experienced and practical grape growers in that

country. He married there, in 1838, Miss Frederika

Neff, who was born in 18 12, by whom he had a family

of eleven children, three now deceased, and the others

resident in Illinois, Frederick, Frederika, Minnie,

August, William, Caroline, Ernest and Bertha. He
came to Peoria in 1854, direct from his fatherland, and

has since devoted his attention to gardening. He owns

twelve acres of land at above location, worth $300 per

acre, upon which he raises all kinds of vegetables in

their season.

Sburd Lloyd, grocer, 513 Knoxville road.

SHEPHERDJOHN, gardener, 1525 S. Adams

street, was born in Sleaford, Lincolnshire, England,

Nov. qth, 1822. Married in his native shire, Dec. 25,

1844, Miss Eliza Harpham, a native of Lynn, Norfolk-

shire, England. He emigrated to America in 1845

;

settled in Milwaukee for three years, and removed to

Peoria in September 1850. By his marriage he had the

following children, Benjamin H., born in England

1846, William F., born October 14, 1848, JohnE., born

October i8, 1852, Harry A., born June 17, 1855, and

Leopold, born Dec. 20, 1857, and died January 31,

1865.

SHEPARD THOMAS, mason, res. 108 War-
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ren street. Was born in Devonshire, England, Dec.

25, 1825. Came to the United States whtn he was a

boy eleven years old, and landed in New York, making

the voyage in a sailing vessel in six weeks. Thence to

Buffalo, N. Y., where he remained a short time. Thence

to Pekin, 111., where he enlisted for the Mexican war,

June 1847, under Col. Ed. Baker. Took boats to New
Orleans and Brazos Santiago, where he remained a

short time. Thence to Camp Belknap on the Rio

Grande. Was in the battle of Cerro Gordo, and taking

of Vera Cruz. Was the first one to get to Gen. Shields

when he was wounded. Afterwards was discharged

and came back to Pekin. Married Barbara Yokel. She

was born in Prussia ; had three children, Nelson, Ran-

dolph and Mary. Members of the Presbyterian Church.

Democrat. Mr. S. is president of the Veteran Mexican

Society. Has a residence valued at $800.

Sbaw John M. foreman upholsterer, 116 Main street.
Shea Timothy, res. 916 Second Rtreet.
Sbehan Wm. laboror, res. 204 First street.
Shelly M. res. 4ia Hurlbut street.
Shephard W. Pranlt, foreman Starch works, res. 1525 S. Adams

street.
Shereffer David, cooper, res. 804 Merrimoii street.
Sheridan Ed. No. 104 First street.
Sherman H. teamster, 8305 S. Adams street.
Sherwood Levi, engineer, res. 715 Wayne street.
ShoaS J. T. engraver, 121 S. Jefferson street,
Shockley F. mason, Perry street.
Shonnahan John, laborer, res. Tyng street.

SHROVE ANN", widow.
Shruves Martha, res. 1805 N. Madison street.

SHUFEIiT CHARLES E. dealer in fish

and oysters, 425 Main street, was born in the town of

Durham, Lower Canada, February 14, 1847, and is the

son of Hiram Shufelt and Sarah Pettis, natives of Can-
ada

;
was raised and went to school there, and about

1867 came to Illinois, and after a short stay in Syca-

more, went to Joliet, where for three years he was in

the hotel business. Leaving there, he went East, and

during the next eighteen months acted as attendant at

Northampton Insane Asylum, Northampton, Mass.,

and at Dr. Butler's Private Retreat at Hartford, Conn.

Returning to the West he engaged in the hotel busi-

ness in Chicago for about a year, and in 1874 came to

Peoria, and for about twenty months acted as clerk and

head waiter at the Peoria House ; then embarking in

his present business, which he has since continued.

Does the largest fish business in the city, and keeps on

hand every thing in that line, in its season. Married

in Peoria, July 23, 1877, Miss Florence May Pettefish,

by whom he has one child, a girl, yet unnamed, born

March g, 1880, at 3:40 r. M., weight twelve pounds.

Mrs. Shufelt is a member of First M. E. Church.

Shurtllff N. dealer in liquors, etc., 327 S. Washington street.
Shutts E. D. res. 217 Sixth street.
slefker A. res. 209 Evans street.
Slegworth L. carpenter, 219 Hurlbut street.
Simmons H. G. brakeman, 300 First street,
Simpson John M. res. 713 N. Madison street.
Singer John, res. 207 S. Madison street.
Singer P. J. res. 717 N. Jelterson street.

SINGER BROTHERS, job printers, 104 S.

Adams street. This firm is composed of John L. and

George H. Singer, and has been in existence since July,

1877. The former has had charge of the business since

the first. Their first location was at 207 S. Madison

street, and they came into their present commodious

quarters August 29, 1878. They make a specialty of

fine commercial printing, andhave by strict attention to

business and a determination not to bejOut-done, either

as regards the quality of their work, or its cost, built

up a fine and steadily increasing business.

SKIFFINGTON MATTHEW, saloon-

keeper, end of street car track, N. Adams street.

Skinner W. W. physician, 130 N. Adams street.
Slatterley Mary, res. 531 Hale street.
Sloan E. P. attorney, 121 S. Adams street.
Sloan W, G. wholesale grocer, 316 to 318 S. Water street.
Smartman E. painter, res. 1113 S. Adams street.
Smartman H. carpenter, 704 S. Washington street.

Smith B. teamster, 320 Greenleat street.
Smith Chas. F. 208 Elizabeth s reet.
Smith Chas. photographer, cor. Main and Madison streets.

SMITH EliDRICK, 130 N. Adams street.

Smith £., Jr. res. cor. Adams and Hamilton streets.
Smith F. Mrs. res. 215 Walnut street.
Smith 6. WJlUs, res. 707 N. Adams street.
Smith Geo. W. res. 707 N. Adams street.
Smith Harrison, res. cor. Hale and Fayette.
Smith James D. engineer, res. 1025 N. Adams street.
Smith J. H. lumber, res. 219 Moss street.
Smith John B. banker, res. 258 Blull street.
Smith J. W. plasterer, 412 Steubenvllle street.

SMITH liEVI, flour and feed merchant, 205

S. Madison street ; was born in Elmore, Lamoille

county, Vermont., in 1835 ; is the son of Samuel Smith

and Betsy Rood, natives of Woodstock, same State.

Mr. S. was reared on the farm his father cleared from

the native forest till nineteen years of age; is the

youngest of ten children, three sons and seven daugh-

ters. He bought his time at nineteen by giving his note

for $100 for a year, and went to Springfield, Mass.;

was two years in a wholesale grocery house ; then

started West. Arriving in Peoria he opened a fruit

and commission store on Water street, conducted it

two years ; sold out and manufactured confectionaries

till i860, establishing the house afterward carried on

by Frank Field; in 1861 was appointed route agent

in the U. S. railway mail service between Peoria and

Logansport, Ind., held the position over seventeen

years. In the Fall of 1873, established a flour store,

hiring a manager until he abandoned the mail service,

since has managed it himself, and does both wholesale

and retail business, selling over $2,000 per month. In

1859, he married Frances Morrison, of Peoria, born in

Chicago. Have had four children, living are Jessie,

Louise and Maurice Levi. Mr, S. is a charter member
of the Railway Mail Service Benefit Association, and

member of the Royal Arcana, Lodge No. 216.

Smith Philip, letter carrier.
Smith K. A. broker. 202 Main street.
Smith S. S. foreman T. P. & W. car shops, 211 N. Elizabeth

street.

SMITH THOMAS, cooper, res. 403 Pecan

street, was born in Ross county, O., in 1833, ^fi came

to Illinois in the Fall of 1855, settling at Marshall,

Clark county; from thence he moved successively to
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Fort Wayne and Terre Haute, Ind., removing from

the latter place to Peoria, where he has since coming

continued to work at his trade. He married August

9, 1853, Miss E. M. Hoddy, who was born in Marion,

O., in May, 1831, by whom he has had four children :

Annie E., Marshall T„ Thomas E. and Charles F. (de-

ceased). Mr. and Mrs. Smith are members of the M.

E. Church, and also of the Independent Order of

Ancient Templars.

Snyder A. H. Ireight agent P. P. & J.
Snyder J. res. 108 Fourth street.
Snyder Magdalena, res. 1507 N. Monroe street.
Soar J. res. 1022 N. Jefferson street.
Soraers Mary, res. 1501 N. Monroe street.
Sommers T. clerk, res. Flank road.
Spath Win. tailor, res. 110 McBean street.
Speck C. J. hotel, S. Washington street.
Spindler Clias. clerk. 104 S. Washington street.
Spitzar E. res. 1617 S. Washington street.
Spir James G. distiller, res. 208 Hamilton street.
Spurk M. D. res. 323 Second street.

SPUBCK PETER E. (Spurck & Francis),

distiller, foot Chicago street.

Stuhl Jacob, cigars and tobacco, 316 Adams street.
Stansberger Jacob, fireman, res. 203 Chicago street,
Starr Julius S. attorney, oflice 321 Main street.
Steele Harrison, physician, 309 Main street.

STEIER liOUIS, Peoria file works, 610 S.

Washington street, was born in Baden, Germany,

August 18, 1840, and came to the United States in

i860, and located in Newark, N. J., and remained there

two years. In 1863, enlisted in the lo5th New York

Volunteer Infantry, Company I, Sixth Army Corps.

Done duty at Pittsburgh and in the Shenandoah Valley.

Member of the Catholic Church.

Steiger John J. saw and sickle works, 213 Harrison street.
Steister Heve, res. 1605 N. Adams street.
Stephens Walter. 1500 N. Madison street.
Stevens, A. A. Rev. pastor First Congregational Church, res.

110 High street.
Stevison D. D. paperhanger, res. 709 S. Adams street.

STEVEIfS J. S. attorney-at-law, 103 N. Jeffer-

son street, is the son of Joshua and Abigal Stevens, nee

Walker ; natives of NewHampshire. Mr. Stevens de-

scended from English ; Miss Walker from Scotch par-

entage. They married and settled in Bath, where John
was born in September, 1839. The family removed to

Hardwick, Vt., when he was ten years of age. He
received such school advantages as the common schools

afforded until fifteen years old, when he started out to

earn his own living. Fitted for college at Caledonia

Grammar School, attending and teaching alternately.

Entered Dartmouth College in 1858, graduated in i860,

and came directly to Peoria ; taught one year in the

Grammar, and one in the City High School, reading

law in the meantime. At the end of these two years

entered the law office of Alex McCoy ; spent evenings

in arranging and classifying the public library, doing the

entire work himself. Was admitted to the bar in June,

1865, formed a partnership with Mr. McCoy, remain-

ing till the ktter removed to Chicago ; then became a

partner with Hon. David McCuUoch, which was dis-

solved by Mr. S. being appointed postmaster of the

city in 1876; filled that position till Feb. ist, 1880.

In 1877 he formed a partnership with Hon. J. S. Lee,

and subsequently took in P. G. Gallagher, constituting

one of the strongest and most prosperous law firms in

Peoria county. Mr. Stevens united in marriage with

Sarah M., daughter of A. P. Bartlett, a prominent citi-

zen of Peoria, in June, 1868. Their conjugal union has

resulted in two children, John S. Stevens, Jr., and Bart-

lett, deceased at one yedr old, in Nov., 1875. Mr. S. is a

man of a.cknowledged ability in the profession, and

much esteemed as a citizen. He has been quite suc-

cessful in a financial way.

STEWART J. T. physician and surgeon, 705

Main street, son of Wm. and Elizabeth (Willis) Stewart.

Father native of Washington county. Pa. ; mother of

Abbeyville District, N. C. Came to Southern Ohio

when they were young, and in 1818 came to Bond

county. 111., where the subject of this sketch was born

on the 20th day of June, 1824. In 1832 his parents

went to Putnam county. 111., where he was reared on a

farm, and received a common school education. In

1844 attended Knox College and remained there until

1847. Read medicine with Dr. J. C. Frye, of Peoria,

for three years ; in the meantime attended lectures in

Cincinnati, and graduated froni the University of

Pennsylvania in the Spring of 1850. Returned to

Peoria immediately after, and has followed his profes-

sion since, with the exception of four years he was in

the army. Entered the army as surgeon of the 64th I.

V. I. Was commissioned by Gov. Dick Yates, Decem-

ber, 1861, and served nearly four years. Was with his

regiment for over two years ; was promoted surgeon in

chief of the 4th Division i6th Army Corps, under Gen.

Dodge, and acted in that capacity until July 19th, 1864,

when he was wounded by a shell in the hip and dis-

abled for service in the field. In February, 1865, went

to Charleston, S. C, had charge of the post hospital
;

remained there until the following September, the war

having closed returned home, where he has followed

his profession since. Married Miss Maria White of

Worcester, Mass., in 1856. She was born Sept. 6th,

1832. The fruits of this marriage is six children, five

of which are still living.

Stewardson J. Mary, res. 505 Eaton street.
Stettwell John H. plasterer, 906 Fisher street.
Stettwell K. J. plasterer, res. 910 Fisher street.
Stlmseifer William, Malt house, 106 Bridge street.

STIVERS HIRAM J., foreman Hughes'

cooper shop, 1205 S. Washington street, was born in

Adams county, Ohio, November t8, 1834, reared to

the cooper trade and. received a common school

education. Emigrated to Peoria county in 1854

and located in Princeville township where he fol-

lowed farming for four years, and in 1858 came

to the city and engaged to Mr. William Hughes

and has been in his employ since. Married Miss

Catharine Barr, daughter of David and Elizabeth Barr.
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She was born in York county, Penn., Nov. lo, 1841,

The fruit of this marriage is one child, Hattie B„ born

May 18, 1863.

stock C. F. gunsmltb, 212 Liberty street.
Stock John J. boot and shoe maker, 847 S. Washington street.

STOLTZ EBKEST, wholesale and retail cigars

and tobacco, 212 Main street.

stone Lewis, res. 119 N. Water street.
Story F. com. trav. res. 501 Sanford street.
story F. M. oora. trav. 419 S. Adams street.
Story H. res. 501 Sanford street.
Stowell A. G. com. trav. res. 215 Fifth street.
Stratton J. stock dealer, res. 1816 S. Washington street.
StraltmuUer Charles G. painter, res. 117 MoKeynolds street.

STREIBACH FREDERICK, vinegrower,

Moss street near Free street.

Strett M. polisher plow works, res. 501 Spencer street.

STRICKLER S. P. livery and sale stable

1312 Main street, was born in Bedford county, Penn.,

Nov. 5, 1837, and is the son of Peter and Sophia

Strickler. He came to Peoria in 1856, and was mar-

ried in 1861 to Elizabeth Barber, a native of Michigan,

by whom he has five children living, Harry P., Elmer

E., Ernest, Sophia, and Margaret, and two deceased,

Mary and Laura. Mr. Strickler carries on a general

livery, feed and sale stable at above number.

Stroppel John, grocer, 215 Smith street.
S tuber Jacob, night watchman, 600 S. Water street.
Stubenrach F. P. meat market, 417 W. Jefferson street.
Strffler A. M. foreman T. P. & W. shops.

STUDER JOSEPH, M. D., 912 S. Adams
street, was born March 9, 1828, in Solothum, Switzer-

land, where his father was a practicing physician_

Received his education first at the College of Solothum

and later at the University of Berne, the Capital of

Switzerland, Sodssleouge and Bassel where he gradu-

ated on the 25th day of November, 1853, as doctor of

medicine and surgery. A year later the doctor left

Europe on board the French ship Escatore in the

capacity of attending physician, and arrived in New
York on the 13th day of September, 1854. Proceeded

at once to St. Louis where he started in the

practice of medicine and surgery. On the 14th day

of May, 1855, was united in marriage with Mrs.

Elizabeth Hermann, born in Ilingon, Canton Bassel,

Switzerland, on the 2d of October, 1835. This union

has been blessed by six children, Augustina H., born

December 13, 1859; Hans Theophol, born January

16, 1863 ; Ernst B., born March 2, 1866 ; Ferdinand

F., born July 4, 1869 ; Joseph Valentine, born February

10, 1874. Martha F., born August 30, 1877. In

March, 1857, the doctor left St. Louis and took up his

domicile in the then new and prosperous village of

Peoria, continuing the practice of his profession and

soon gained, by close attention to his calling, an exten-

sive and lucrative practice. He has been foremost in

all public enterprises, and no one has exerted his influ-

ence more to secure the establishment of a suitable

hospital for the benefit of the suffering than Dr. Studer,

and the comfortable St. Francis' hospital founded but

a short time ago, one of whose attending physicians

Dr. Studer has been, is the result of his as well as other

desirable gentleihen's untiring efforts.

Sullivan John, fireman, res; 205 Smith street.
Sullivan M. res. 1414 First street.
Sullivan Timothy, 325 Butler street.
Suite. H. machinist, res. 619 N. Washington street.

SULT WIIiLIAM C- foreman of C. R. I. & P.

roundhouse, res. 6lg N. Washington street, was born in

Columbia county, Pa., and grew to manhood there.

His parents were Peter Suit and Magdalena Kestler

;

were born and married in that State. William went to

New York State and engaged in railroading about six

years, then came to Peru, 111., in 1854, and a year later

to Peoria ; spent one year in Rock Island for the same

Co. since he came to the State. Returned to Peoria in

1865 and has remained here since. He formerly worked

as a machinist in the company's shops ; has been in his

present position nearly three years. Mr. Suit married

Cecelia Morgan in Rock Island, in l85i. She is of

English parentage, and a native of Pennsylvania also.

They have three children— Charles D., Jennie M,, and

Harry B. Mr. Suit is a member of I. O. O. F., and

has been an active temperance worker for a number of

years.

Summering Francis, cai;penter, 202 Brotherson street.
Summers Henry, clerk, 1400 Main street.
Suss C. H. book keeper, 131 S. Washington street.
Sutzen F. G. baggagemaster C. B. I. & P. depot.
Sweeny John B. pattern maker, Plow works, res. 204 Birket st.

SWEET ALLEN S. justice of the peace and

notary public, 102 N. Adams street. Was born in Co-

lumbia county, N. Y., August 12, 1814, and is the son

of Rowland and Margaret (Hoffman) Sweet. His

father was a native of Rhode Island, and his mother

was of German descent, born in New York. He was

raised, educated and engaged in mercantile business in

his native county, and afterwards engaged in business

as jobbing liquor dealer in New >York city for four

years. He came to Peoria county in the Spring of

1855, and for two and a half years farmed in Kickapoo

township, and on giving that up, moved into the city

and acted as book-keeper and clerk for various firms,

until his election to the office of justice, in 1866. He
has since continued to fill the office, to the general

satisfaction of the citizens. He married in Duchess

county, N. Y., in December, 1835, Miss Angelica S.

Edling, daughter of John Edling, Jr., and a native of

that county, Uy whom he has had seven children, five of

whom are now living : John, Allen, Charles, Edmund,
and Richard M. All are married save the youngest.

While in Kickapoo, he was for one year supervisor of

that township ; is in politics a Democrat. Mr. and
Mrs. Sweet are adherents of the Episcopal Church.

Sweetser L. grocer, 329 Maln%treet.

SUMNER LEVI, cooper, res. 1516 S. Washing,

ton street. Was born in Ohio, August 15, 1823, and
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reared on a farm until fifteen years old, when he started

to the cooper's trade. And, 1844, was married to Har-

riet Hurtzell. She was born in Pennsylvania in 1823,

and died in August, 1863. Had by this marriage seven

children, Marion, Samuel, Silas, Vasta Orilla, Isabella,

Mary, Rachel, four of whom are deceased. Married

for his second wife, Eliza Gordon, in 1866. She was

born in Tennessee, February r4, 1842. They have had

three children by this marriage, Minnie, Harriet R. and

Lewis ; two dead. Enlisted in 79th 111. Inf., co. B.,

and served until wounded in a skirmish in Bowling

Green, and discharged February, 1864. Located in

Peoria, where he is now engaged in the cooper's busi-

ness in a stock company.

SUMMERS MARY E. widow, 308 Hale St.

Widow of Alfred F. Summers, who was born in Harris-

burg, Penn. He was a carpenter and patent right

agent. Served in the late war. Died May 31, 1869.

She was the daughter of James and Mary McFarland.

Mother deceased. Father, who was a soldier in the

war of 1812, still living, and lives with her. They had

four children, three living, viz.; Mary E., Alfred J.

and Edward F. twins ; one deceased, Lee.

Tamplin George B. baggage master, tJnion Depot.
Tampiin O. B. sewing macDines, res. 508 Shlpnian street.
Tarbell H. farmer, res. 306 Moss street.

TART SAMUEL, resides "The IngersoU,"

cor. Hamilton and N. Jefferson streets, was born near

Portsmouth, Norfolk county, Va., May 2, 1805. His

early life, till the age of 22, was spent on a farm, and

he received the advantages of a common school educa-

tion. From 1825 to 1834 he was engaged as overseer

in the Norfolk Navy Yard, and on July 15 of the latter

year, left Portsmouth in a two-horse wagon, with his

wife and child, and ariived in Peoria on Sept. 16, 1834,

stopping on the east side of the river, where he lived

till March, 1845, when he moved into the city and en-

gaged in carpenter work. In 1848 he engaged in build-

ing canal boats for the Illinois canal, which had just

been opened. On April 21, 1849, he started to cross

the plains to California, from St. Joseph, Mo., arriving

at San Diego Dec. 2, and at San Francisco Jan. 11,

1850. Mr. Tart worked but little at mining. He had

his carpenter's tools with him, and engaged in making

machines, such as " rockers," " gold washers,'' etc. The
last work he did was to assist in the erection of the

Empire Hotel, in Nevada city. He left San Francisco,

homeward bound via the Isthmus, May l, 1851, and

arrived home June 9, 185 1. He then resumed his car-

penter work for one year, and afterwards engaged in a

plow shop till Feb., 1854, when he took charge of the

Peoria Bridge, as toll collector, and remained there

till the last of Sept., 1862. He has served as alderman

from the second ward, and *&s chairman of the board

of supervisors, for three years. He was elected city

treasurer in 1872, and filled the office for some years.

Taylor J. T. res. 421 Main street.

TAYLOR C A. wholesale agricultural dealer,

102 S. Washington street, was born in Oneida county,

N. Y., in 1832, and when seven years of age came to

Illinois, made a tour through the State, and finally set-

tled in Peoria, in 1863, and immediately commenced in

his present business, which he has followed since. Mar-

ried Miss Harriet H. Earl, daughter of Porter W.
Earl. She was born in Buffalo, N. Y., in 1842. One
child blessed this union, Charles E., born June, 1878.

Carries a fair stock in his line, and is doing a good,

healthy business.

TAYLOR ISAAC, Col. treasurer of Peoria

county, res. 112 Sixth street, is the son of Isaac Putnam

Taylor and Martha G. Scidmore, natives of Saratoga,

N. Y., where they were married and where he was born,

April 22, 1836. His parents removed to Canton, 111.,

in 1836, and two years later, to Trivoli township, Peo-

ria county. His early years were spent on his father's

farm, where he enjoyed such educational advantages as

the district school offered, after which he attended one

year at Jonesville Academy, Saratoga county, N. Y.

Col. Taylor began the study of law in the Fall of 1858.

After reading a year and a half, failing health compelled

him to abandon it, and he spent two seasons teaching

school. On Oct. 15, i860, he married Mary B. Bourne,

a native of Trivoli, and daughter of one of the pioneers

in that part of the county. In March, 1861, Mr. Tay-

lor went to Minnesota to recover his health, which im-

proved rapidly. Sept. 30 of that year he enlisted at

Fort Snelling, as a private, in Co. H, 3d Minn. In-

fantry ; was soon after elected second lieutenant
;
pro-

moted to first lieutenant on Feb. 18, 1864, and to

captain of his company on April 15 of the same year.

His company participated in numerous important

battles, among them, Murfreesboro, siege of Vicksburg,

battle of Little Rock, Ark., Pine Bluff, Jackson, Ark.,

and Nashville, Tenn. After nine hours hard fighting,

on July 13, 1862, the regiment was surrounded by

Rebel Gen. Forrest's brigade, and taken prisoners. Two
days after, Mr. Taylor and another officer escaped from

the Rebels and reached Nashville.

During the Winter of 1864 and 1865, Col. Taylor

acted as Judge Advocate of General Court Martial at

Pine Bluff, Ark. He was discharged April 18, 1865.

After spending some time recovering his health he was

appointed assistant assessor of U. S. revenue for

Peoria county, and held that position when he was

elected treasurer of Peoria county, November, 1871, to

which office he has been chosen five consecutive terms

with majorities ranging from three hundred to twenty-

one hundred, against a democratic majority in the

county of over five hundred. Mr. Taylor was com-

missioned colonel of the 7th Illinois Nation,il Guards,

December 31, 1878. His family consists of wife and
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three daughters: Alice Lee, Laura Bourne, and Isa

Dean Taylor.

Taylor Reuben, 1216 Ferry street.
TenderlDKH. floral garden, 401 Smith street.
Tervehn H. res. 1023 First street.
Teufll C. res. 427 S. Washington street.

THEIME J. G. saloon, I20 N. Washington

street, was born in Saxony, Germany, November 24,

1828, and came to the United States in 1853, and

landed in New York where he remained a short time,

when he made a tour through the States, and, in 1855,

came to Peoria and engaged in the upholstering business,

until 1879, when he engaged in his present business.

Married Miss Magdalena Kneer. She was born in

Wirtemburg, Germany, in 1840. Six children : Mary,

Louisa, Amelia, Minnie, Herman, Adolph.

THrELBAK HENRY, boot and shoe dealer,

22q Main street, was born in the kingdom of Hanover,

Germany, May lo, 1831, and when about ten years of

age came with his parents to America, landing at Bal-

timore in the early part of 1841. They settled in

Dearborn county, Ind., where they engaged in farming

and where his father died in 1847. After a short time

at school, Mr. Thielbar went, in 1845, to Cincinnati, O.,

where he learned the trade of shoemaker, and worked
at it for about five years, returning to Indiana and

engaging in business for himself. He came to Peoria

about 1853, and after a few months established a cus-

tom business, which he continued till 1861, when he

added sale goods to his stock, and about five years

afterwards discontinued entirely the manufacture of

foot wear, and confined his attention to the sale of the

ready-made article. He carries a stock of about

$12,000, and does an average yearly business of about

$35,000. He married in Peoria, in 1856, Miss Frances

Brunega a native of Germany, by whom he has had
eleven children, six of whom are now living : Albert,

Minnie, Margaret, Frederick, Lydia and Henry. He
owns his residence and house, with adjoining lot in

city, and 520 acres land in Yates county. Neb.

Thenee Anna M. Mrs. res. Wayne street.

THOMPSON" A. R. hardware dealer, 317

Main street, was born in New York city, March 20,

1846, and is the son of Alex. B. Thompson and Cath-

erine Conger. His mother was a native of Orange

county, N. Y., and his father of Augusta, Ga. He
grew up and received his education in New York and

Troy, and learned his business in the former city. He
came to Peoria in 1870, and after six years, during a

part of which time he was a partner in the firm of

Walker, Thompson & Co., started in business for him-

self in March, 1878, moving to his present fine store in

November, 1879, where he carries a large and well

selected stock of general hardware and house furnish-

ing goods, of about $10,000, and does an average

yearly business of about $15,000. He married, June

3, 1872, Miss Margaret Nevins, a native of Maryland,

by whom he has three children : Madge, Frederick,

and Alexander, He owns his own residence and lot in

city.

Thomas John H., U. S. express, res. 1109 Perry street.
Thomas Jos. res. 115 S. Monroe street.
Thomas M. fireman T. P. & W. res. 807 Howett street.
Thompkln* T. L. train dispatcher, res. 109 S. Orange street.
Thompson B. conductor T. P. & W. res. 905 S. Adams street.

THOMPSON LEWIS O. Rev. 310 Perry

street, first visited Peoria in December, 1875, and was

chosen pastor of the Second Presbyterian Church, Jan-

uary 5, 1876. He received his collegiate education at

Beloit College, where he graduated with the salutatory

oration in 1863. His theological studies were pursued

at Union Theological Seminary, New York city. The

Summer vacation of 1864 was spent by him as a relief

agent of the United States Sanitary Commission with

the army of the Potomac. During a part of this time

he was in charge of a hospital service in Washington

connected with the Commission. Whilst in New York

Mr. Thompson held the position of teacher in Anthon's

Classical School. When he graduated from the semi-

nary, he was licensed to preach the Gospel by the

Fourth Presbytery of New York. At the commence-

ment of his Alma Mater in 1866, by appointment of

the faculty, he delivered the master's oration and re-

ceived the honorary degree of Master of Arts. In the

month of August following he was elected a, professor

at the Northwestern University, Watertown, Wis., and

spent the next two years in the discharge oi his duties

there. Having been married to Miss Mary A. Coe,

June 30, 1868, he removed to Minnesota for the benefit

of the climate in September, where he was ordained to

the Christian ministry according to the Presbyterian

form of government, at Minneapolis, January 28, 1869,

by the Presbytery of Minnesota. In the Spring of 1869

he was elected president of the Northwestern Univer-

sity, and again returned to W"atertown for his home and

field of labor. On January 5, 1870, he was elected a

corresponding member of the State Historical Society

of Wisconsin, and on May 11, 1872, a member of the

Indianapolis Academy of Sciences. Mr. Thompson
has found time to write a number of books with titles

as follows: " The Presidents and Their Administra-

tions ; " " Nothing Lost
;

" " The Prayer Meeting and

Its Improvement ;

" " How to Conduct Prayer Meet-

ings,'' and " Nineteen Christian Centuries in Outline."

Thompson Geo. com. trav. 109 S. Washington street.
Thompson Jas. H. res, 316 Floral street.
Thompson Wm. bricklayer, res. 413 Floral street.
Thornton W. A. blacksmith, 186 Greenleaf street.

THOMPSON S. H. wholesale grocer, 304 S.

Washington street.

Tlchenour B. F., Ass't Gen'l Manager and Ticket Ag't, T.. P. &.
W., res. 808 Fayette street.

Tiernan Michael, masher, foot Llsk street,
Tlernan Dennis, res. 227 Louisa street.

TIMKEN J. H. M. D., 618 S. Adams street,

was born in Walworth county, Wisconsin, September
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6, 1854, and is the son of Rev. G. Timken and E.

(Stahlhut) Timken, natives of Germany. His father

came to America about 1835. Dr. Timken attended

school in the various places where his father was called

in the discharge of his clerical duties, among them

Herman, Missouri, Bellville, Illinois, Alton, Illinois,

and Warrenton, Missouri. He commenced to study

medicine in Alton, in 1875, and then went to Chicago,

where he attended three sessions at the Hahnemann
Medical College, and graduated there, in Februaiy,

1877. During his last session at college, he had the

appointment of assistant house physician to the hospi-

tal connected with it. Immediately after taking his

degree he came to Peoria, and has since resided and

practiced there. He married in St. Louis, in i875i

Miss Anne Heimsoth, who was born in Pettis county,

Missouri, December 18, 1854, by whom he has two

children—John, born January 17, 1877, and Emma,
born February 21, 1879. His parents are still alive,

and are residents of St. Louis. Dr. Timken and wife

are members of German M. E. Church.

Thurlow E. patent solicitor, 319 Main street.
Tiaden C. boolt keeper, 411 N Water street.
Tjaden Jno. res. 10l3 S. Adams street.
Tjaden S. A. Mrs. res. 1013 S. Adams street.
Tjarks D. B. res. 129 Gallatin street.
Tjarks G. L. res. 139 Gallatiu street.
Tobias Ezra, dealer in coal, room 3, Exchange block.
Todd B, attorney, res. 808 Sanford street.

TODHUNTER JOHN, U. S. storekeeper,

407 Sixth street, was born in the county of Cumber-

land, England, May 22, 1808, and emigrated to Phila-

delphia, Pennsylvania, in 1828. Married in Pottsville,

Pennsylvania, and settled in Eushnell, Illinois, in 1834,

where his wife died in 1852. Removed to Peoria, Illi-

nois, in 1853, and married Miss Rebecca McClintock

in 1856, who died in l86l. For his third wife married

Miss Anso Hemmont, in 1862. By occupation is a car-

penter and builder, but for the last ten years has held,

and still holds, the office of U. S. storekeeper, in the

revenue service.

Todhunter John jr.. carpenter, res. 812 Sanford street.
Torhey M laborer, 307 George street.
Tartat C. res. 410 Pecan street.
Tracy John, res. 1012 Third street.

TKAUB GOTTLiBIB Rev., pastor of

German Lutheran Trinity Church, corner of W. Jeffer-

son and Maple streets, was born in the kingdom of

Wurtemburg, Germany, in August, 1842. He received

his primary and also his collegiate education in his

native country, beginning to study for the ministry in

i860. He came to America in 1863, and located in

Adams county, Indiana, where he took charge of his

first congregation, remaining there two and one half

years. He married, June 16, 1864, Miss Mary Auman,
daughter of William and Mary Auman, who was born
in September, 1846. Leaving Adams county, he went
to Will county, Illinois, where he remained thirteen

years, in charge of the Lutheran Church, finally coming

to Peoria, August 15, 1878, and assuming charge of his

present large and flourishing congregation. The fmits

of his marriage were seven children, four of whom are

now living— Gottlieb F. W., Lorene Gustav, Henry

William and Emilie.

TREFZGER SIMON, baker and confec-

tioner, 521 and 523 Main street, was born in Baden,

Germany, October 16, 1831, and is the son of Simon

Trefzger and Juliana Grune, natives of Baden, was

raised, went to school, and learned the trade of baker

there, and came to America in 1855, landing at New
York in May of that year. He worked as journeyman

for two years in Cincinnati, and for one year in Oxford

O., and came to Peoria in 1858 ; worked at his trade

for three years and then started in business for himself

on Fulton street, where he remained for six years, and

then sold out and paid a visit to his native country, re-

siding there four years, and then returning to the land

and city of his adoption, resumed his business at the

old stand, where he remained till 1873, in which year

he came to his present location. He does, perhaps, the

largest retail business in the city. He owns his store

and lot on which it stands, and resides in the upper

story of the building. He married in Germany in the

Spring of 1852, Miss Cathrina Scherr, a native of Ger-

many, by whom he has had twelve children, eight now
living : Mary Louise, Emeline, Adolph, Charles, Sophie,

Annie, Rudolph, Francis and Petronella. Himself,

wife and family are members of German Catholic

Church.

TREMPE BRO. boiler makers, 832 S! Wash-
ington street.

Tripp, C. W. lumber, N. Washington street.

TRIEBEL, OTTO, sculptor and monument
manufacturer, 1414 Perry street, is the son of Henry
and Fredrica Triebel. Was born in Roemhild, Ger-

many, in 1830; began the study of sculpture at the age

of fourteen, and has devoted his whole life to that

branch of art. In 1849, he immigrated to the United

States, and settled permanently in Peoria in 1853 ; in

September of the year following he married Elesa

Acherer, a native of Condon county, Switzerland, but

came to America when seven years old. Mr. Triebel

established his monument and marble works in the

Spring of 1872, and has designed and executed much
of the finest monumental work which adorns the ceme-

teries of Central Illinois. Mr. and Mrs. Triebel have

nine living children : Henry, a partner ; William,

Albert, Louis, Friti, Berthe, Carl, Louise and Otto.

Four of the sons are skillful artizans in monumental
work.

Tripp D. H. books and stationery, 206 Main street
Tripp S. S. books and stationery, 206 Main street.

TRIPP 1>. H. & Co. booksellers and stationers

206 Main street. This firm has been established in
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business since November i860, and is the oldest exist-

ing firm in this line in Peoria. It is composed of D.

H. Tripp, and S. H. Tripp, brothers, who have been

residents of the city since 1852. They occupy the

wrhole of a large three story building, have a large fine

store with a depth of 97 feet and a frontage of 20 feet,

and carry a stock of about $25,000. Both are men of

family and the eldest son of Mr. D. H. Tripp, is book-

keeper.

TRIPLETT WILIilAM J, res. 417 First

street, was born in Loudon Co., Va., March 26, 1827,

and is the son of Roderick Triplett, and Polly Jacobs,

natives of Virginia. He was raised in his native county

till about twelve years old, when with his parents he

came to Illinois, settling in Washington, Tazewell Co.,

where they went to farming and he grew up to man-
hood. He came to Peoria about 1854, and married,

Dec. 24, 1849, in Washington, Tazewell Co., Miss

Nancy CuUen, a native of Va., by whom he has had six

children, three now living, Llewellyn, Isadore, and

Johnnie. He wrought at his trade of carpenter in the

city for about twelve years, and then enlisted in the Fall

of 1862 in Co. A. 14th I. V. C. under command of Col.

Capron. He was ruptured in the following May, and
was thereupon discharged. Was laid up in consequence

of his injury for a long time, and has never been the

same man since. Kept boarders from the time of his

return on, and ran a livery stable for about two years,

but has quite recently given it up.
TruehoflJuUus, saloon, 1131 S. Adams street.
Truesdale Win. planing mill, Water street, foot of Fayette.
Treagor John 6. bailiff, res. 518 Fourth street.
Treteer H. F. plasterer, res. 513 First street.
True Jas. feed, 218 Fayette street.

TROYBR MOSES, M. D. (deceased), was one

of the early physicians in Peoria, having settled in the

city in 1840, and practiced in the place and its environs

more than a third of a century. He was born in Somer-

set county Pa., on Nov. 5, 1808, removed to Millers-

burg, Ohio, with parents when a child, were he studied

medicine four years, and entered Ohio Medical College

from which he graduated in 1833. On the 29th of

August, 1839, he married Cynthia Hatfield, in Dayton,

Ohio, and the next year came to PeiSTia. In 1847 he

changed from the allopathic to the homoeopathic school

of practice, which he strenuously adhered to till his

death, which occurred on August 18, 1877, from disease

of the heart. During his active labors of forty-two

years in the profession. Dr. Troyer was a faithful and

skillful physician, and prompted by the large sympathies

of his nature, was untiring in his efforts to relieve the

sufferings of humanity. His professional, business and

social life was marked by a high sense of honor and

courtesy of manner, and his influence was ever on

the side of law, order and morality. The religious

element was conspicuous in his daily life and conver-

sation. He was a firm believer in the doctrines of the

SO

" New Church ''— Swedenborgian— and never hesi-

tated to express his conviction freely when the occasion

required. Consistency was a jewel the doctor wore with

becoming grace, and he died as he had lived, cheerful,

hopeful and trustful, and at the age of sixty-eight was

like the ripe shock gathered home. His widow occupies

her cozy homestead on the corner of Adams and Ham-
ilton streets.

Tucker E. E. res. 1108 N. Jefferson street.
Tucker & Mansfield, real estate, 204 Main street,
Tyng A. G. grain, etc., res. 403 N. IVIadisan street.
Uhl Jacob, malster, Bush & Brown's distillery.

UKEN HENRY, baker and confectioner, 1166

Main street ; was born in Hanover, Germany, January

29, 1838, and is the son of I. E. Uken and Ada Hol-

stein, natives of Hanover. He was raised at home till

March, 1866, when he came alone to America and after

one year in St. Louis came to Peoria, and for some
time worked at various occupations. He farmed in

Logan county for two years, then returned to Peoria,

and two years ago began business for himself in his

present line. He does a good business, and by hard

work and economy has managed to become the owner of

his residence, and the lot upon which it stands. He
married in Peoria May, 1876, Mrs. Johanna Lengen a

native of Germany, born there in 1835. Mrs. Uken has

two children by a former marriage. Both are members
of German Reformed Church.

nUman H. res. 308 S. Jefferson street.

ULRICH THEOBALD, grocer, 1400 S.

Adams street. Son of Nicholas and Magdalena

(Snyder) Ulrich, natives of Germany, where the subject

of this sketch was born, June 23, 1831, came to the

U. S. in 1850, and located in New York State, where

he followed coopering, and in August, 1853, came to

Peoria, where he has resided since. When first coming

to the county clerked for Theobald Pfieffer about three

years. Then embarked in the grocery and provision

trade. Married Miss Monica Ochs ; she was born in

the same place, May, 1836. The fruit of this marriage

is nine children, five of whom are living—George A.,

William, Ida, Herman, August.

Ulrich v. res. cor. Fayette and Perry streets.

ULRICSON CHARLES, architect, 104 S.

Adams street ; was born in Sweden in 1816, where he

received his education ; his father whose name he bears,

was Commissary under the Government at Stockholm.

Emigrated to America in 1837, and settled in New
York city, where he remained for about four years, fol-

lowing the profession of architect. He then spent

about two years traveling through the Southern States

in search of a place to settle, but not finding the pecu-

liar institutions there obtaining, to his mind, came North

again and settled in Peoria about the year 1844, where

he has since resided, and where he has desigiied and

. superintendent the construction of many fine buildings.
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In 1861, he married Miss Maria Cowham, daughter of

Rev. John Cowham, of Oshkosh, Wis., by whom he

has had six children, four of whom are now living

—

Walter Henry, Oscar Edward, Edgar Francis and

Fanny Mayo. Mr. Ulricson is a member of St. Paul's

Episcopal Church, of which he was for many years a

vestryman. He is a staunch Republican.

Van L. Mrs. res. 1313 N. Madison street.

VAX.deJO JOSEPH, saloonkeeper, 325 S.

Washington street; was born in France, March 19, 1824,

and when a boy came to the U. S. and landed in St.

Louis, where he worked in a hotel and on a farm until

1856. Then came to Peoria where he has remained since.

For his first wife married Miss Josephine Stribeck, she

was born in Germany (died in 1864). For his second

wife married Julia Bertram, born in Germany, 1845.

There was two children by this marriage, one boy and

one girl—^Joseph and Julia. Members of the Catholic

Church.

Van Busklrk L. res. 1418 N. Madison street.

VANCE WILLIAM B. undertaker, 502 Main
street, was born in Troy, Miama county, O., August

25, 1838, and is the son of John and Elizabeth Jane

(Chamberlain) Vance. His father was a native of

Hamilton county, O., and his mother of New York.

When about ten years of age he removed with his

parents to Illinois, settling in Peoria, September 11,

1849, where he received his education and afterwards

learned the trade of wagon and carriage maker. Dur-
ing the progress of the war he was employed for a year

and a half as mechanic at the Franklin Works, Nash-

ville, Tenn. From the close of the war till 1870 he

engaged in agricultural pursuits, and in the latter year

commenced the undertaking business, and has ever

since carried it on. He has for many years had the

best business in his line in Peoria and vicinity ; and his

facilities for conducting it are in every respect first-

class. He married October 13, i860, in Peoria, Miss

Martha Jane Mendenhall, a native of Ohio, born there

May g, 1845, by whom he has had one child, a daughter
— Ina A. Vance. His parents are both alive and are

residents of Corning, Adams county, Iowa.

Van Drelsen John, piiotographer, cor. Main and Madison streets.

VANEPS HENRY K. Peoria novelty wire

works, 313 Hale street, was born in Schenectady county,

N. Y., July 5, 1829. Was reared to the trade of broom
maker, and received a common school education. In

1849 came to Fulton county, Ills., where he remained
a short, time, when he returned to his native place, and
in 1853 came to the West and has remained here since.

Married Miss Elizabeth L. Buck, daughter of F.

Freeman Buck. She was born in Erie county. Pa.

By this union there are two children— Cora A. and
Mira E. Mr. Vaneps can well be claimed an in-

ventor ; makes all his designs of which some are very

beautiful. Any body wanting any thing in his line

would do well to call on him.

VAN' SANT ELIAS A. pump manufacturer,

301 Plank road. Son of John W. and Lydia (Ander-

son) Van Sant. Was born in Rock Island, Rock Island

county. Ills., December 3, 1838. Learned the trade of

boat builder. Married Miss Julia Adams. She was

born in Bedford county. Pa., December 11, 1841. The
fruit of this marriage is four children— Alice, born

April 2, i860; George, born July 8, 1863; Fred, born

January 20, 1873 ; Blanche, born February 6, 1879.

Mr. Van Sant was raised in the M. E. faith and filled

the pulpit for nine years.

Vennamon F. W. carpenter, 315 Hale street.

VIEN PETER, restaurant, 608 S. Water street,

was born in Quebec, Canada, in 1826, where he was

raised and went to school. He left home and went to

California at the time of the gold excitement in 1849,

and remained there, mining and prospecting with very

good fortune until 1853, when he returned home via

Nicaragua, and engaged in the dry goods business until

1859, when he came to St. Louis and after a few months

removed to Peoria, and began business as a watch

maker and jeweler. In the Summer of 1862 he enlisted

in Company H, 8th Missouri Infantry Volunteers, in St.

Louis,*and joined his regiment in Memphis, taking part

with it in many battles and skirmishes ; among them
those of- Chickasaw Bayou, Arkansas Post, the siege of

Vicksburg and Jackson. He was finally transferred to

the Veteran Reserve Corps, and after serving out four

years time was discharged July, 1866. He then re-

turned to Peoria, and has ever since resided there. On
coming back he bought a restaurant on Main street,

gave it the name of the "Delmonico," and continued

to keep it for four or five years. He came to his present

location about five years ago, and does a good business

there. He is a member of the Catholic Church.

Vlpord Mary, 218 Louisa street.
Voight A. G. cigar maker, res. 1014 S. Washington street.
Volght W. res. 1014 S. Washington street.
Volght Clias. res. 154 Clay street.
Volglit F. W. attorney, S. Washington street
Vonaohan Frank, saloon, 483 S. Washington street.
Vonie M. saloon, 511 Spencer street.
Voris B. R. res. ai8 Armstrong avenue.
Wade N. W. farmer, N. suburbs.

WAGGAMAN JOHN, retired, res. West
Bluff street.

Wagner Earl, painter, 1334 S. Adams street.
Wagner Chas. gardener, W Peoria street.
Wagner Henry C. painter, 1834 S. Adams street.

m*P"k°';ii"u°?- '^""ilit'i? s'lO'S, 919 W. Jelterson street.
WaFch Michael, res. 106 Cass street.

WALKER G. N. grain and commission mer-
chant, 117-19 S, Water street. Was born in Dearborn
county, Ind., September 4, 1816, and is the son of Jas.

and Elizabeth (Nichols) Walker. His father was a

native of Pennsylvania, and his mother of Kentucky.
His father came to the West when Cincinnati was but
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& trading post. Mr. Walker was raised in his native

county, and received such education as the local schools

ailbrded, and in 1837 removed with his father to what

is now Mason county, 111., and was there engaged in

mercantile business from 1844 till 1863, when he re-

moved to Peoria, where he has since resided. On
coming to Peoria he took the position of superintend-

ent of Illinois River Packet Co., and retained it until

the reorganization of the company in 1867, since when

he has been in his present business. He married in

his native county in 1839, Miss Frances Livingston, <t

native of the same county, who was born in 1819. She

is the daughter of Judge Livingston, and has borne him

five children— James, John L., William A., George N.

and Oliver P. He deals largely in general produce,

and is agent of the Illinois River Packet Co. and Eagle

Packet Co.; has an extensive warehouse for the storage

of grain, etc., at above number.

Walker Isaac, hardware. 125-27 S. Watfiington street.
Wall Christ, saloon, 1712 S. Adams street.
Wall W. G. bricklayer, res. 1618 N. Madison street.
Walsh A. Mary Mrs. res. 911 First street, i

Walsh John J, carpenter, res. 1008 Second street.
Walsh Thos. res. SiiO Flank road.
Walter N. whitesmith, 306 Fulton street,
Walter Wm. B. engine dispatcher, I„ B. & W.
Walters G. watchman, res. 1707 S, Water street.
Wapplch L. bakery, 1600 S. Adams street.
Ward Mary, Mrs. res. 708 N. Monroe street.
Ward Patrick F. 480 Fulton street.
Warkle W. barber (E. & W.) res. 1812 N. Monroe street.

WARNER BENNETT O. livery and horse

dealer, IIO& 112 N. Washington street, was born in

Perry county, Ohio, May 6, 1820; remained there till

he came to Peoria in 1846; traveled through Ohio a

number of years as a wholesale peddler of Yankee no-

tions and dry goods ; was also engaged in the staging

business in company with John Youtz ; stocked and ran

a line between Columbus and Wheeling. Came to

Peoria to stock a line between this city and Ottawa;

and to Springfield, Jacksonville and Alton, and from

Quincy to Nauvoo. Mr. W. engaged in the grocery

business some two or three years, in the old Clinton

House, which burned about 1854, and by which he lost

heavily; in 1855 he went into his present business, is

the oldest lively man in the city, and keeps a heavy

stock for the road ; he also buys and sells horses. In

January, 1845, he married Rebecca Sparks, born in

Ohio, near Hebron. They have two children of each

sex living— Frank, Robert, Jessie and Maud. Mr. W.
has been a member of the Board of Supervisors several

terms ; in 1877 and '78 he was Supervisor at large

;

was City Marshal for two years— 1852-53— and is a

member of the A. F. & A. M.

WARNER JOHN, mayor, res. 105 Third

street, was born in Perry county, Ohio, October II,

1828, and is the Son of John B. Warner, a native of

Maryland, and Hetty Gordon, a native of Pennsylvania.

He was raised and educated in Muskingum county, O.,

and with his parents came to Illinois in 1846, and

settled in the city of Peoria, of which he has since been

a resident. From 1852 to '59 he was engaged in the

clothing and furnishing business, and from the latter

date to 1862 dealt in ice, and owned and managed sev-

eral fine steamboats, carrying on a large business be-

tween Peoria and New Orleans. He was elected

Colonel of the 108th I. V. I. in 1862, and served with

his regiment for eighteen months, taking part with it

in many severe encounters, among them those of Chicka-

saw Bayou, Arkansas Post, Vicksburg, and many others.

On returning to Peoria, he was for two years in the

revenue service, and then obtained an interest in the

wholesale and retail liquor firm of Spier & Co., which

he retained until 1874, in which year he was elected

mayor. He has had the nomination from the Demo-
cratic party four times in succession and their success-

ful support three times, being elected each time by a

large majority. He has, during his extended period of

office, proved himself one of the most energetic and

progressive, yet at the same time economical and pru-

dent mayors the city has ever had. During his admin-

istration the police and fire departments have been

thoroughly organized and equipped, almost all the en-

gine-houses built ; much lasting and faithful work has

been expended upon the paving of the streets, the

workhouse built and put in running order, and many
other improvements instituted to keep pace with the

growth of the city. Mr. Warner married in Peoria in

1851, Miss Elizabeth Simms, daughter of Alonzo

Simms, a native of Virginia, by whom he has had eight

children— John, DoUie. Hasry, Etta, Aggie, Mollie

and Daisy. He owns his residence and lot at above

number, and other real estate throughout the city,

WARREN WM. carpenter and builder, 708

Fayette street, is the son of William and Susannah

(Gagen) Warren, natives of England, where the subject

of this sketch was born, in the city of London, December

9, 1842, where he served his time at his trade and re-

ceived a common school education. At the age of

twenty he emigrated to the United States and located

in Rochester, N. Y., and followed his trade for five

years. Thence went to Chicago, where he lived eight

years ; thence to Peoria, where he has remained since.

Married Miss Annie McLaughlin, who was the daugh-

ter of Edward McLaughlin, of Rochester, N. Y., where

she was born in August, 1841. Six children blessed

this union, four of whom are living— Edward F., Wal-
ter H., Charles J. and George A. He is a member of

Genesee Lodge, No. 3, I. O. O. F. ; also of Apollo

Lodge, Chicago, and of the A. F. & A. M., No. 642.

Warren W. E. moulder, res. 235 N. Water street.
Washhousen Henry, res. 119 Warren street.
Wasson Joseph, city collector. City Hall.

WASSON JAMES W. store keeper, res. 119

McReynolds street, was born in Schenectady county,

N. Y., October 3, 1848. Married Miss Lena Seetzen,
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daughter of Peter Antonio and Anna Mariah Seetzen

natives of Germany, who came to the United States in

1856. The fruit of this marriage is three children,

two of whom are still living— Mary, born June 3, 1875,

and Frank, born September 7, 1877. Mr. W. enlisted

in the 4th Iowa Cavalry Co. E. September 16, 1861,

and served over three years ; was mustered out as ser-

geant December 4, 1864. Was also on the police force

in Peoria nearly seven years, and was superintendent

one year. In January, 1878, he was appointed United

States store keeper, which position he still holds.

Wasson Thos. J. res. 1117 Third.

WATEBHOUSE GEO. PKEDKICK,
(deceased) local preacher ; was born at White Lee, Sad-

dleworth, England, March 22, 1824. His parents were

James and Mary Waterhouse. The former died July

12, 1852, the latter July 3, 1849, ^^ch sixty-eight years

of age. Mr. W. learned and pursued the trade of cabi-

net maker ; for the last fifteen years of his life was gov-

ernor of the Union Workhouse in Derbyshire. April

6, 1848 he married Mary Ann Thrope in the M. E.

Church at Glossop. They crossed the Atlantic, landing

in New York June I, 1857, and Mr. W. died there at

the house of a brother on June g. Mrs. W. came

immediately to Peoria with her children—the eldest not

being eight years of age—arriving the ist of July. The

care of the family developed entirely upon Mrs. W.
until the sons became old enough to assist her. The
children are William Thrope, born Jan. 11, 1849;

James Andrew, born May 21, 1852, and Fredrick Alex-

ander, born April 6, 1^4. All born at East Glossop,

England, at the birth place of their mother. Wm. is

running on the Wabash Railway, James is local agent

of T. P. & W. Railway, and Andrew is in baking

powder business in Albany, N. Y. James is also treas-

urer of Peoria Transfer Company.

Watson John, No. 339 MlUlman street.
Waugh John, Sr. carpenter, 802 N. Adaras street.
WaughopR. glazier, 301 N, Water street.

Weardy E, laborer, res. 103 S. Madison street.

WEATHBBIi EDGAR, locksmith, bell-

hanger, and geneial repairer, 230 N. Adams street, was

born in Rock county. Wis., October 2, 1840, and is the

son of Amasa and Keziah (Russell) Weatherl, natives

of New York State. When eight years old he moved
with his parents to Peoria, and has resided there most

of the time since. There he attended the common
school, and served an apprenticeship to his trade. He
enlisted June 19, 1861, in Company H., 8th Missouri

Infantry, and joined his command in St. Louis, under

Col. Morgan L. Smith. After serving about six months

he was, in consequence of injuries received, transferred

to hospital service at Paducah, Ky., and on his discharge

in August, 1862, returned to Peoria, and in the Fall of

the same year began business for himself at his present

location, and has since continued it. He married in

1863 Miss Caroline Ridley, a native of Sweden, who
came to America when an infaiit, and losing both her

parents on the way landed in the country an orphan.

By this marriage he has three children, Jessie D., Edith

M., and Bertha R. His father is still alive, and is a

resident of Arkansas. He owns his residence and lot

at 1702 N. Madison street, and is a member of the

local lodges of A. O. U. W. and 1. O. M. A.

Weatherell E. whitesmith, 217 Adams street.
Weber August, brewer, S. Adams street.
Weber Geo. F. butcher, 608 N. Adams street.
Weber H. cooper, res. 105 Cedar street.

WEBBER SAMUEL, foreman carpenter and

car builder, C, R. I. & P. shops, residence 281 Bluff

street. Was born in Devonshire, England, in March

1826 ; spent a large part of his early life in London,

where he learned the trade. His parents were Samuel

Webber and Eleanor Simmons. He married Eliza Hol-

away, and, after the birth of their first child, came to

the United States twenty-two years ago November last,

and settled in Peorft. He soon after began work for

the Peoria and Oquawka R. R. Company, and about

three years later, for the C, R. I. & P. Company, in

whose employ he has spent seventeen years. Their

family consists of four children—Elizabeth E., George

S., Julia A. and Charlotte E. Mr. W. owns a home-

stead in the city, and is a member of Lodge 46 A. F.

and A. M.

Webber John, boots and shoes, isil S. Adams street.
Webber N. residence 324 Plaulc road.

WEEBS HENBY S. (of H. S. Weers & Sons),

dealers in general hardware and house furnishing

goods, 1 163 S. Adams street. Was born in Oldenburg,

Germany, January i, 1834, and is the son of John S.

and Rindelt Maria (Clauser) Weers, natives of Han-
over. He was raised, educated, and learned his- trade

of baker there, and in 1854 came to America with his

parents, landing in New York in July of that year.

They settled in Cincinnati, O., and he worked at his

trade there for two years, and in 1856 came to Peoria,

and after working one year at his trade, started for

himself in the grocery business, and carried it on until

Spring of the present year, when he went into partner-

ship with his sons in his present business, and keeps a

full line of stoves, shelf hardware, tinware, and house

furnishing goods. He married in Peoria, in 1856, Miss

Regina Benedina Frayer, who was born in Prussia in

February, 1833, by whom he has had seven children,

four now alive—John, Anton, Henry and Theodore.

The two eldest are his partners in business. He owns

three stores, with the lots on which they stand, on the

corner of South Adams and Peoria streets. Mr. and

Mrs. Weers are members of the Evangelical Lutheran

Church.
Wehrle H. saloon, 1313 S. Washington street.
Weldraan M. residence 1336 S. Washington street.
Welgand Phil, tailor, 403 Spencer street.
Weinette F. D. wholesale grocer (L. Green & Co.), residence 417

Fifth street.
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WBIS WIIililAM, United States Collectors

Office, corner of Main and Washington streets.

WEISBRUCK JOSEPH, boot and shoe
dealer, 400 S. Washington street. Was born in Prussia,

April 4, 1822. Came to America in the Spring of

1852, and landed in New York, where he remained a

short time, ihen went to Buffalo, N, Y., where he
worked at his trade three years, and in 1855 came to

Peoria, one year later commenced his present business

in company with his brother, who remained with him
four years. Married Miss May Schutz. She was born
in Hessen, Germany, 1827 ; by this marriage there

were six children, three living - Carrie, Lizzie and
Louis R., members of the Catholic Church. Mrs.
Weisbruck died April 1, 1874.

Weiss P. cooper, 981 W. Jefferson street.
Wejssbrack J boots ana shoes, 400 S. Waslilngton street.
Welch James M. pilot, res. 401 Hurlbut street.
Welch P. res. 117 Saratoga street.
Welch John, res. 301 Merrlinan street.
Welch Robert, 807 First street
Welcher John, saloon, 1367 S. Adams street.
Wellfrock C. blacksmith, res. 408 LaSalle street.

WELLS HENKYW. MAJOR, attorney

at law, is the son of John H. and Julia (Tracey) Wells.

His father was a merchant, formerly of Oswego coun-
ty, N. Y. In the Fall of 1839 l>e removed his family

to Wethersfield, Henry county. 111., where he died in

1844, aged about fifty-nine. His grandfather, J. H.
Wells, was a Unitarian minister of Brattleboro, Vt.,

who emigrated from England in company with Dr.
Priestly, the author and chemist. Julia (Tracey) Wells
was the daughter of Dr. Ebenezer Tracey. Her mother
was the daughter of Gen. Artemas Ward. After the

death of her husband, owing to the educational facilities

of Galesburg, 111., Mrs. Wells removed thither with her

family, consisting of four sons and one daughter. At
the age of seventeen Henry went to Peoria, 111., and
entered the employ, in a general merchandise establish-

ment, of Fettengill & Babcock. In 1851 he entered

the National Law School (then at Balston, but after-

wards removed to Poughkeepsie, N. Y.), where he
graduated in 1853 ; after which he was admitted to the

New York bar. He then returned to Peoria and read
in the law office of Messrs. Johnson & Blakesley,

teaching school in Winter seasons till 1855, when he
removed to Cambridge, Henry county. 111., entered upon
the practice of law, and very soon did an extensive

business. In 1862 he enlisted in the Il2th Illinois In-

fantry as a private. On the regular organization of the

regiment he was made adjutant. In 1863 he was pro-

moted to the rank of major, and made chief of artillery

of the 23d Army Corps, and had command of a portion

ofthelineof defense at the siege of Knoxville. He
was also chief of artillery on the staff of General J. D.
Cox, in the Atlanta campaign. His military career

ceased with the close of the war. In June of 1865 he

returned to Peoria and opened a law office. Since then

his business has assumed large proportions. Major
Wells is now candidate for attorney general of the

State. He votes with the Republican party. In 1869
and 1870 he was a member of the Constitutional Con-
vention. He was married September 8, 1859, to Mary,
daughter of A. H. Showers, of Cambridge, 111.

Welte F. & Co. grocers, 581 S. Adams street.
Wenke George F. farmer. West city.
Wenke F. J. farmer. West city.
Werner P. cooper, 1S14 S, WashlnKton street.

WEST JOHN A. circuit clerk and recorder,

Court House.

WESTON & CUMMINOS, undertakers, 415

Main street. Mr.Weston was born in the State of New
York, June 12, 1847, and has been engaged in his pres-

ent business in Peoria for a number of years ; three

years in business for himself, and two years in the firm

of which he is a member. Mr. Cummings was born at

Pleasant Hill, 111., November 26, 1851, and is the son

of Samuel P. Cummings; married, September lo, 1873,

Miss Abigail Francis, daughter of John and Mary
Francis, of Niagara county, N. Y., by whom he has had

three children, two now alive—Emma G. and Mabel.

He has been twelve years in the business in Peoria.

The firm has been in existence about two years, and

claim to do two-thirds of the undertaking business in

the city and vicinity. They carry a full and select line

of coffins, caskets and general undertakers' supplies.

WELCHER JOHN, saloon. 109 Plank road.

Was born in Bavaria, Germany, April 8, 1830, and

came to America in 1850, landing at New York, May
2, of that year. For the first six months he worked at

his trade of locksmith in New York city, and removed

thence to Wayne county. Pa., where he opened a shop

for himself and continued it for about one year, com-

ing in 1852 *to Peoria, He worked as a laborer for

some years, and in i860 again took up his trade for

eight months. Then worked in a malt house till 1862,

when he enlisted in the 82d Illinois Volunteer Infan-

try, and served with it eighteen months at the front.

He was taken prisoner at Gettysburg and held for six

weeks, being then sent to Washington on parole. Af-

ter a short visit home he returned South, and after re-

maining there about one and a half years returned to

Peoria, where he has ever since resided. He married

in 185 1 in Wayne county. Pa., Miss Magdalen Schlager,

a native of Bavaria, born there in 1817, by whom he

has had three children, two now living— Barbara,

Catherine and Louis (deceased). He was divorced

from his wife, and married, January 25, 1880, Mary
Oswald, who was born in France in 1830. Mr. Welch-

er owns property to the extent of about $4,000.

WELLBROCK CLAUS (of Wellbrock &
Frederick), blacksmith and horseshoer, head of Walnut
street, was born in Hanover, Germany, June 28, 1848,

and is the sgn qf Martin arid Anna Wellbrock. \Vhen
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eighteen years of age, he came to America, and resided

in New York till 1869, and then came to Peoria,

February 19, of that year. He learned his trade in

Germany, and worked at it most of the time he was in

New York State. He started in business for himself

about eighteen months ago, and conducts with his

partner a general wagon repair and horse shoeing

business. He married in Peoria, October 13, 1872,

Magatha ICuck, a native of Germany, by whom he has

had five children, four now living : Martin Henry,

Henry Edward Rudolph (deceased), Carl Edouard

Johan Rudolph, Rudolph and Herman. He is a mem-
ber of German Methodist Episcopal Church.

WELTE FteRDINAND (of F. Welte & Co.),

grocery and saloon, 521 S. Adams street, was bom in

Baden, Germany, October 18, 1833, and is the son of

Lawrence and Elizabeth (Yeager) Welte, natives of

Baden. He was raised and went to school there, and

also learned the trade of baker ; came alone to

America in 1854, landing at New Orleans in February

of that year ; went up the river to St. Louis, and after

a stay of a few days, came on to Peoria and has ever

since resided in it, and still does business in the same

block in which he first settled. For the first four years

he worked at his trade, and then went into partnership

with his employer, and, after six years, started his

present business. He carries a stock of general family

groceries, notions, queensware, wines, liquors, etc., and

does a large business. He married in November, 1864,

Elizabeth Kingerick, a native of Illinois, who has

borne him five children, four of them now alive

:

Charles, Emma, Elizabeth and Albert. Is a member
of the Catholic Church.

Wetstem F. tailor, res. lOB Evans street.
Wetzel John, carpenter, 301 N. Water street.
Wex Louis, macliinist, 1200 N. Adams street.
Wlialon Jas. laborer, 814 Smltli street,
Whalen Bobt. C. res. 206 Birket street,
Whalen William, teamster, res. 506 Hurlbut street,

WHEEJLER H. N. president Mechanics' Na-
tional Bank, 209 Main street. Was born in Scioto

county, Ohio, in l8ll, and is the son of Amos Wheeler,

of Wheelersburg, O., and Eliza Snow, both formerly

from Connecticut. When eleven years of age he left,

with his parents, his native county and came to Mon-
roe county, O., residing there until sixteen years of

age, at which time his father died, and he removed to

Burlington where he completed his education, during

a residence of five years, then returned to Monroe.
Shortly afterwards he engaged in the mercantile busi-

ness, until 185 1, in which year he came to Peoria.

He was married in Hardin county, Ohio, in 1837, to

Miss Matilda McCoy, a native of Putnam, Musking-
um county, O., by whom he has had four children,

two now living : P. C. Wheeler, now sole proprietor of

the late firm of Singer & Wheeler, and C. R. Wheeler,

banker, in Cambridge, Ills. A few years after coming

to Peoria, he engaged in business as wholesale grocer,

under the name of Wheeler, Sloan & Co., and con-

tinued for five or six years and did a large business
;

sold his interest, and since then has been engaged in

real estate and banking business. He was for several

years director of the Second National Bank— was one

of the original directors, and upon his election as

president of the Mechanics' National Bank, in January,

1866, resigned his position. He has been president of

the Mechanics' National Bank for fourteen successive

years, and has assisted in guiding its fortunes through

many critical periods. In 1879, was president of

Chamber of Commerce, of Peoria ; also treasurer of

Peoria Mercantile Library Association, since its organi-

zation. Is a member of the Presbyterian Church.

Wheeler P. C. wholesale druffs, S. Water street,
Whltaker A, teamster, 129 Helen street.
White Andrew, brick mason, res. 303 Floral avenue.
White Crosby, grocer, cor. Fayette and Adams streets.
White F, C, shipper, Stock Yards, res. 609 Sixth street.
White U. M. clothing, 213 Main street.

WHITE LOUISA, MBS. 1706 N. Adams st.

WHITE AUSTIN", engineer, res. 1703 N.

Madison street, was born in Worcester, Mass., in De-

cember, 1841, where he was raised, and came to Peoria

shortly before the war. Shortly afterwards he entered

the employ of the C. R. I. & P. R. R., and has been

with that company for over fifteen years. He
married, Jan. 14, 1869, Miss Rachel Webster, a

native of Illinois, by whom he has had six children,

four boys and two girls, five of them now living.

WHITE BARRETT, justice of the peace

and real estate agent, 100 N. Adams street, was born

in Todd county, Ky., March 26, 1824, and is the son

of Daniel and Eliza (Anderson) White. His father

was a native of Virginia. In October, 1835, the family

moved to Illinois, settling at Washington, Tazewell

county, in the April following, where they resided

about ten years, and in March, 1847, came to Peoria,

where he has ever since resided. His schooling he got

in Tazewell county, and he also learned there the trade

of brick making, and worked at that and at the cooper

trade for some years after coming to Peoria. He was

elected alderman from the fourth ward of Peoria in

1859, and held that office at various times for ten years

;

was elected justice in 1862, and has ever since held the

office ; was city marshal under Mayor Ballance in the

years 1855 and '56, He married, April 9, 1877, Mary

E. Ayers, a native of Ohio. Mr. White's father died

in 1837, but his mother is still alive and a resident of

the city, at the age of eighty-three years.

Whitman J. res. 307 S. Orange street.
Whiting R. H. capitalist, 206^Moss street.
Whitmore C. whitesmith, 306 Fulton street.

WHITFORD S. G. builder and contractor.

909 Fourth street, was born in Herkimer county, N.Y.,

Jan. 18, 1828, and is the son of Oliver Whitford and

Polly Vanderburgh, natives of New York State. He
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was raised and educated there, and learned his trade of

carpenter in Oswego, N. Y., where he resided till 1853,

in which year he went to Canada in the employ of the

Grand Trunk R. R., and superintended, during the

next twelve months, the erection of their shops at

Cornwall. He then went to Chicago, and was for the

next two years with Cyrus and Wm. McCormick, com-

ing, in the Fall of 1857, to Peoria, where he has since

resided. He married, in Jan., 1856, at Sundford, Conn,,

Miss Amelia Scofield, a native of Connecticut, who was

born in Sept., 1828, by whom he has had three children,

only one of them now alive : Frank Ernest, born Oct.

7, 1862. Since coming to Peoria, he has carried on

quite an extensive business as builder and contractor,

doing some seasons as high as $150,000 worth of work.

Mr. Whitford is president of the Mechanics' and Build-

ers' Exchange ; owns residence and lot at above num-
ber, and house and lot adjoining. Mrs. Whitford is a

member of the Congregational Church.
WhlttyB. Mrs. cor. White and Taylor streets.
Wiel J. A. grocer, ISOO S. Adams street.

WILKISON S. secretary Board of Trade, res.

304 Evans street.

Williams George H, book-keeper, 619 Main street.

WIIiEY W. K. wholesale flour merchant, 209 S.

Washington street, was born in Windham county, Vt.,

in 1850 ; is the son of George R. Wiley and Susan

Johnson ; father born in Vermont, mother in Massa-

chusetts. Parents removed to Galena, 111., when he

was seven years old, where his father engaged in the

dry goods trade, and was appointed postmaster, served

during the war and eight years in all. W. R. was in

the bank there seven years, and cashier the last three

years ; came to Peoria in 1876, and at once embarked

in present business. He deals exclusively at whole-

sale, and ships to points throughout Central Illinois,

having a trade of $130,000 to $150,000 a year, with a

steady increase. In 1873 he married Nellie F. Day, of

Galva, 111., who has borne him one child, Roy R. Mr.

W. is a member of Y. M. C. A., and he and wife are

members of the Baptist Church

WILLIAMS BENJAMIN H. general West-

ern agent of White Line Transportation CoSnpany, res-

idence 202 N. Jefferson street. Was born in Marion

county, Ohio, on December 9, 1816; is the son of Ben-

jamin Williams and Jane Hood, natives of Maryland,

where they were married in 1786; settled in Chilli-

cothe, 0., in 1798, and in 1812 removed to Marion

county, and in 1825 left the farm and located in the

town of Marion. From the age of sixteen years Mr. W.
engaged in the mercantile business, with which he was

identified in Marion until 1862, when he removed to

Indianapolis, Ind., and went into freight transportation

for the Great Western Dispatch, on a salary of $2,400

a year ; came thence to Peoria, in l86g, continuing in

same business, but changing a year and a half later to

the general agency of the White Line. In 1839 Mr.

Williams married, in Marion, to Nancy Leonard, who
has borne him eight children, six living ; Elizabeth, Mrs.

Jos. Dodd, of Peoria ; W. B. Williams, agent of Red
Line, Chicago; Ella, Mrs. Stewart, of St. Louis ; Nan-

nie, Mrs. Wheeler, of Cambridge, 111. ; Charley A., in

railroad business in Chicago ; and Mary, at home. Mr.

and Mrs. Williams have been members of the Presbyte-

rian Church for many years, and he is a member of the

I. O. O. F. Their son, W. B. Williams, went into the

United States army at the age of sixteen years, and

served three years.

WILLIAMS G-EO. H. book-keeper, residence

Knoxville road. Was born in Appledon, Devonshire,

England, on the nth day of May, 1845 ; came to the

United States, March, 1869, and located in Peoria. Mar-

ried Miss P. J. Bestor, July 27, 1871, She was born in

the city of Peoria, February 16, 1850. Two children

blessed this union ; G. C. Bestor, born August to, 1872 ;

Harry, born September 3, 1874. Members of the Re-

formed Episcopal Church.

Williams .Tackson, moulder. 335 N. Water street.
Williams Jacob, res. ] 18 McKeynolds street.

WILLIAMSON M. H. physician, 607 N.Mon-
roe street.

WilUard Wm. Mrs. res. cor. Ferry and Hamilton streets.

WILSON LEVI, of the firm of Ballance & Co.,

contractors, and dealers in all kinds of cut and sawed

stone, 906 S. Washington street. Was the son of John

and Susannah (Davis) Wilson, natives of Worcester

county, Mass., where the subject of this sketch was

born, on the 15th day of May, 1817. Was reared on a

farm until sixteen years of age, when he was appren-

ticed to learn the machinst trade, in Lowell, and re-

mained there five years ; while there helped to build

the first locomotive in this country, being in 1837; then

went to Boston, where he followed his trade, and worked

as a journeyman for six years. In 1856 came West and

located at Peoria, where he was master mechanic of

the C. R. I. R. R. shops. From 1866 to 1876 was en-

gaged in the coal trade, since which time he has been

engaged in his present business. Married Miss Mary
Pickerell. She was born in Durham, N. H., in 1826.

Four children, two boys and two girls.

Wilson Emily, res. 710 Jackson street.

WILSON GEO. A. attorney at law, office

Library Building.

Wilson John, cattle dealer, 310 Pecan street.
Wilson Levi, res. 700 N. Jefferson street.

WILSON WILLIAM H. corset manu-

facturer, 320 Fulton street ; was born in 1838, in Bel-

fast, Ireland, where he remained the first twenty years

of his life, he immigrated to Canada and dealt in cattle

nearly five years ; thence came to Peoria county, in

1865 ; located at Chillicothe and engaged in buying and

shipping grain in company with Riqhard Schples | sold
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out ; and clerked for Messrs. Hosmer & Wood a year
;

bought and sold hay for a time ; came to Peoria in the

Fall of 1875, and entered into present business, which

has steadily grown under his judicious management

;

he employs fourteen to sixteen hands, and manulactures

a variety of styles of corset goods, which are sold at

both wholesale and retail ; being shipped chiefly to the

Western States, In 1866, Mr. W. married Elizabeth

Flynn, a native of Dublin, Ireland. They have two

living children, Be.itrice and Florence. They are both

members of the Reformed Episcopal Church.
Wllz Henry, laborer, res. 138 Clay street.
Wind L. pardener, res. Prairie street.
Windsauer Geo, res. 818 N. Madison street.
Winters Marv, res. 316 Gallatin street.
Witchie Jacob, res. aoti New street.
Wolf C. dairy, 825 Plank road.
Wolff F. L. switcliman, T. P.& W. res. 912 S. Washington street.

WOLFE GEORGE, Peoria Pottery Co. res.

1203 Hale street.

WOLFF CHBISTOFP, dairyman, 852 Plank

road, was born in Hanover, Germany, November I,

1817. Came to the United States in 1846 in a sailing

vessel, was sixty days making the trip, landed at New
Orleans, then by river to St. Louis, being two weeks in

making the trip, having got stuck in the ice. Remained

in St. Louis six years. Then came to Peoria where he

worked by the day or month, and in 1865 commenced

his present business and has continued in the same

since. Married for his first wife Miss Elizabeth Fink.

She was born in Germany in 1815, and died in 1S60,

leaving two children, Phillip and Mary. For his

second wife married Miss Annetta Willerding. She

was born in Germany, March ID, 1823. By this

marriage there were two children, Joseph and Anna.

Members of St. Joseph Congregation. Has a good

residence and five lots valued at $5,000.

WOLFORD WILLIAM, blacksmith and

horse shoer. Main street, near Ellis street, was born in

Hampshire county, Va., December 6, 1843, and is the

son of Peter Wolford and Elizabeth Short, natives of

Virginia; is one of a family of six children. In 1855

he removed with his parents to Illinois, settling in

Tazewell county, where his mother still resides. He
learned his trade in Dillon, Tazewell county, and after-

wards worked at it ior five years in Green Valley, Sand

Prairie township, in same county, coming to Peoria in

the latter part of 1877. On coming here he started in

business on his own account at 800 Main street, and

three months ago came to his present location, where

he conducts a general blacksmith and repair business.

He married, August 3, 1865, in Tazewell county. Miss

Caroline Scott, a native of that county, by whom he

has six children— Frank, Florence, Emily, Charles and

Harry. Mrs. Wolford is a member of M. E. Church.
Wolfram J. editor " Die Sonne," 118 N. Adams street.
Wolfram J. res. 326 New street.
Wonder Jas. res. 517 Fulton street.
Wonders Wm. S. cleric, 115 Liberty street.
Wood J. F. harness shop, 1205 Main street.
Woodruff Geo. cooper, 625 S. Adams street.

WOODRUFF NELSON L. (deceased), was

born in 1818 in New York State. His parents, Samuel

and Clementina Woodruff, removed to Ohio in his early

childhood, and at the age of seventeen years he drove a

team through to Illinois, removing their family and

effects to Peoria Co. They settled on the Kickapoo

creek near the city in 1835. Nelson engaged in canal

boating between Peoria and Chicago until 1855, then

went into the ice business and continued until his

death, on the 24th of Oct., 1879, after an illness of only

seven hours, from congestion of the brain. So success-

fully did Mr. W. manage the ice trade that it grew to

large dimensions, being the heaviest in the city at that

time. His house had a storage capacity ol 15,000 tons.

In 1845 he married Mary A. Monroe, a native

of Luzerne Co., Pa., by whom he had six children, two

sons and four daughters. Harriet, now Mrs. Emmer-

son, of Peoria, Lois, now Mrs. Luthy, Jennie, now Mrs.

H. B. Morgan, Chauncy, Ida, and Edward, living with

their mother at 1025 N. Jefferson street. The ice b"nsi-

ness is still carried on under the firm name of N. L.

Woodruff & Co., under the management of Mr. H. B.

Morgan.

Woodstein Henry, bricklayer, res. 605 Chambers avenue.
Woodward H. R. toys, etc., 205 and 207 S. Adams street.

WOODWARD WALTER B. physician

and dentist, corner of Jefferson and Hamilton streets,

was born in 1846 in Cleveland, Ohio, His parents,

Henry F. and Hesse Woodward, mother a native of

England, father of Ireland. They removed to Wiscon-

sin three months after doctor's birth, and came to

Jubilee township, Peoria county, when he was eleven

years of age. After leaving the public schools he

attended Illinois College, Jacksonville. In 1864 served

five months in the 145th Illinois Infantry, in Company

C. He then went immediately to Europe, there com-

pleted his studies and graduated at the King and

Queens' College of Physicians of Ireland, in April,

1872. Returned to Peoria and practiced medicine a

short time, then took up the study of dentistry and

graduated from the Pennsylvania College of Dental

Surgery iri 1878, since which he has practiced dentistry

in Peoria. Doctor married Charlotte, youngest daugh-

ter of Charles Roper, of Dublin, Ireland, in 1872.

They have two children, Henry T. and Charlotte

Elinor.

Worms F. malster, res. 108 South street.

Worth Samuel, painter, 301 N. Water street,

Worthington N. E. attorney, office 107 N. Jefferson street.

WOOLNER BROTHERS, distillers, and

manufacturers of grape sugar, are natives of Hungary,

Europe. The firm is composed of Adolph Woolner,

res. 204 N. Madison street, Samuel Woolner, 'boards

at Peoria House, Ignatius Woolner, res. 103 Sixth

street; Jacob Woolner, res. loi N. Jefferson street, and

M. H. Woolner, res. 615 N. Jefferson street. They



PEORIA CITY DIRECTORY. 705

emigrated from their native country in 1867, in straight-

ened, financial circumstances. First settled in Louis-

ville, Ky, ; worked at yeast making and later at dis-

tilling in the employ of other parties for some years.

Came to Peoria in 1870, formed the copartnership and

established business as the firm of Woolner Brothers in

1872. They own and run the Grove distillery at the

foot of South street, are the chief proprietors of the

Peoria grape sugar works, a combination with $100,-

000 stock. Also owned the Union distillery, which

burned in Dec. 1879, and which they purpose speedily

rebuilding. The capital of the firm is estimated now
at $250,000, an accumulation of a few brief years,

through business energy and judicious management.

WOOLSTEIN HENKY L. contractor and
builder, 605 Chambers street, was born in Tazewell

county, Illinois, 1842. John Woolstein, his father, was
a native of Prussia, Europe, and his mother, Armena
DeBohr, was born in France. Mr. W. is the youngest

of four children
; was reared on the farm in his native

county
; was educated in the public school and by pri-

vate study; came to Peoria in 1858, and worked at

coopering in the Winter season until seven years ago.

He began the contracting business in 1872 ; has done
a large business, employing from ten to forty men ; has

erected many of the prominent buildings in the city,

among them Francis & Co.'s distillery ; had the con-

tract for paving Water and Washington streets, in 1878.

Mr. W. spent seven months of the year 1879 in Lead-
ville, Colorado ; owns two mining claims near there.

In 1864 he married Miss Amelia Garvin, a native of

Kentucky. Five children are the result of their union
— Hattie, Minnie, Lillie, Wallace and Harry. ,Mr. W.
spent three years in the war of the rebellion as a pri-

vate, in Co. A., 17th 111. Inf.
;

participated in all the

battles in which the regiment fought ; was discharged

in May, 1864. Owns the homestead in which they

reside, worth $5,000.

Wright Andrew, masher, foot South street.
WriRht 0. P., engineer, 704 S. Washington street.
Wright James, Terk, res. 207 N. Monroe street.
Wright Jos., res. 1S07 S. Adams street.

WRIGHT S. H. Mrs. dressmaker, in S.

Adams street, residence 316 Fayette street, is the daugh-
ter of Nesbeft and Catherine Young nee McNabb, and
was born in 1838, near Springfield, Illinois, where her

early life was spent. Her grandfather came to Illinois

in company with Abraham Lincoln, and joined farms

with him. When of suitable age, Mrs. W. learned the

trade of dressmaking, and twenty-one 'years ago located

in Peoria, where she has conducted that business since,

and now has the leading trade of the city. On April

27, 1865, she married William N. Wright, who was
born and brought up in Lowell, Massachusetts. He
followed locomotive engineering for some years ; spent

three years in the army during the late civil war ; was

three times wounded, one of which rendered him a crip-

ple. He went South selling machinery about six years

ago, and died there. His marriage with Mrs. W.
resulted in one daughter, Gertrude.

WRIGLEY WIIililAM, wholesale grocer,

(Cutter & Wrigley) 117 S. Washington street, was born

in Lancashire, England, in 1822. Crossed the Atlantic

in 1841. Spent a year in Springfield, Illinois ; came to

Peoria county in 1842, and settling in Rosefield town-

ship, engaged in farming for thirty years. At that time

there were but five houses in the seventeen miles

between his place and Peoria. In 1845 Mr. Wrigley

united in marriage with Ann Greenaugh, also born in

England ; came to the United States three years pre-

viously. They have three children living— Ellen, now

Mrs. Barlow, Jennie, wife of partner, Mr. Cutter, and

James H. occupying the homestead. Mr. W. removed

to Peoria and entered the grocery business in 1873,

under the present firm name. Their wholesale and

retail trade runs from $75,000 to $100,000 per annum.

Mr. and Mrs. W. are members of 'Calvary Mission

Presbyterian Church, in which he is an elder.

Wuster Jacob, vegetables, Central Market.
Wynd Jennie F. Mrs. res. 2205 S. Adams street.
Wys N. booths and shoes, 1609 S. Adams street.
Yale Geo. C. commission, S81 S. Washington street.
Yarges G. teamster, res. 125 Eliza street. <

YATES HON. JOHN C. who is now serving

his fifteenth year as judge of Peoria county, was born

in Ohio county. West Va., on the 17th of August,

1827. He is the third of five children— three sons and

two daughters— of Joseph and Mary Yates, nee Cald-

well, natives of Virginia, now West Virginia. John

spent the first ten years of his life on his father's farm,

and when old enough attended the common schools,

after which he took an academic course. His father

being a zealous Presbyterian, desired him to study for

the ministry, while the son's choice was the law. A
compromise was effected by which he took a course in

medicine ; and after a brief practice in the East, he

came to Illinois, landing in Peoria in December, 1846,

with the intention of engaging in the practice of med-

icine here. Not finding the field very promising, he

went to teaching, school in the county, which he

followed until 1853. He then opened a farm on

section I of Radnor township, and devoted his atten-

tion to the pursuit of agriculture for twelve years. On
February 17, 1865, he went into the army as a private

in Company B, 7th Regiment, Illinois Volunteer Infan-

try, and served till the close of the war, nearly all of

time on detached duty. The next Fall after returning

home he received, unsolicited, the nomination and

election to the office of County Judge, over a Demo-
cratic majority of more than 700 in the county, he

being a pronounced Republican, and has held

the office continuously since, which speaks volumes

for his efficiency and official integrity and con-
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sequent popularity among the masses who have

the good sense to value the man as an officer

more than party affiliations. Few men in any

position of responsibility have had the good

fortune to win the esteem and confidence of so many
of their constituents as has Judge Yates. He married

Lura A. Hitchcock, a native of New York, on Novem-
ber 17, 1847, who died July 20, 1855, leaving one son,

Sylvester M. Yates, now residing on a farm in Ford

county. III. Judge married again, on June 17, 1857, to

Jane H. Hargadine, born in Ohio, in 1836, by whom
he has five daughters and three sons—George, Laura,

Ella, Ada, Jennie, Gertrude, John Dixon and Guy, all

at home. Judge being made of the sort of stuff that

will not down at the bidding of misfortune, though

having experienced his full share of it, has made it

financial success of life. Besides the old farm in Rad-

nor, of 120 acres, he owns an elegant homestead, to-

gether with considerable other property in the city, a

good farm in Ford county, III., and several tracts of

land in the West.

Tolngst A. flreman, T., P. & W. blacksmith shops.
YoungrM. Mrs. residence 211 N. Monroe street.
Young Peter, policeman, City Hall.

ZEIGrliSR J. R. Gapt. show case manu-
facturer, 215 Hamilton street. Was born in Harris-

burg, Penn., December 10, 1832, is the son of Jacob and

Margaret Zeigler, nee Meyers. Mr. Zeigler spent

much of his time in his father's mill till fourteen years

of age, when he went on board the United States

' man-of-war Rover. But being dissatisfied with a sea-

man's life, at the end of two years, deserted her, and

spent a year and a half traveling in Europe ; returned

home, and went as a drummer boy in the Mexican war,

near the close, under Capt. Jos. Totten ; returned six

months later, located in Winchester, Va., and learned

the carpenter trade ; then spent some time railroading

for the Pennsylvania Central Company, at the close of

which he came to Peoria in June, 1854, and pursued

his trade. When the Rebellion broke out he recruited

Company E, of the nth Illinois Cavalry, which he

commanded from September, i86l, till March, 1864.

when, from ill health, he resigned. His company par-

ticipated in many of the bloody battles of the war,

among them Shiloh, Corinth, Vicksburg. Upon re-

turning home, Mr. Zeigler engaged in undertaking for

nine years, when he changed to his present business.

In 1859 he married Ellen Smith, who was born in

Massachusetts, the youngest daughter of Harrison

Smith, of Peoria, who has borne him three children

—

Warren C, Florence and J. Frank. Mr. Zeigler has

been quite successful in a business way, and his goods

find a market in several States.

Zeigler Stephanla Mrs., res. 813 Jefferson street.
Zelsler Jacob, cooper, res. iiZ Merrlmaii street.
Zeltz Wm„ blacksmith, 103 Plank road.

Zeltz P.. carpenter. 935 W. Jefferson street.
Zell Phillip, res. 603 N. Madison street.

ZIMMEBMAN ANDREW, saloon, 116 N.

Adams street. He was born in Germany Nov, 5, 1838,

and is the son of Charles P. and Annie K. (Ditewig)

Zimmerman. He was raised there until sixteen

years of age, and in 1854 came alone to America,

landing at New York in the Fall of that year.

After a short stay in Buffalo he came on to Peoria, and

has since made it his home. In August, 1862, he

enlisted in Company E., 82nd Illinois Volunteer

Infantry, Capt. Lauder, and took part with it in the

battles of Chancellorsville, Gettysburg, Lookout Valley,

Missionary Ridge, Lookout Mountain, the skirmish at

Loudon, Resaca, and Dallas, Ga., where he was

severely wounded in the groin. After lying two weeks

in the field hospital he was moved to Chattanooga,

where he was some time in the company hospital, and

after partial recovery was transferred to the Veteran

Reserve Corps, and served there until the close of the

war, but had not even then fully recovered. He was

mustered out at Milwaukee in July, 1865, returned to

Peoria, and after a year engaged in his present busi-

ness and has since continued it. He married, June 27,

1869, Miss Bertha Seibold, a native of Germany, and

daughter of F. B. Seibold of Peoria, by whom he has

had four children, Ida, Annie K., Andrew J. and Minnie.

Zimmerman C. res. 106 Third street.
ZiDdle Wm. musician, 723 Jackson street.
Zlndle W. drugKlst, 621 N. Adams street.
Zlprlck G. J. miller, res. S. Elm street.
Zocz Alois, saloon, 821 N. Adams street.

ZUGrG- FJLORIAJN', manufacturer tinware and

gasoline stoves and burners, 406 N. Adams street, was

born in. Switzerland, March 9, 1823, being the son of

Adrian and Affra (Seigel) Zugg, who were both natives

of that Republic ; resided there until about thirty-two

years of age, and was for many years a manufacturer of

muslins and other light fabrics, doing a large business

and being in comfortable circumstances. He married

there in 1854, Miss Martha Krobly, by whom he had

two children, both now dead. The effect of the

Crimean war upon his business was so disastrous that

in 1855 he emigrated to America with his family, and

landing at New York came to Peoria, near which he

had an uncle, upon whose farm for the next eight

months he worked, and then came into the city. During

the next fifteen years Mr. Zugg worked at many occu-

pations and moved around a good deal. He has

worked in a lumber yard, peddled notions, kept a gro-

cery (at which timehis wife died), painted, sawed wood,

cut stone, coopered, laid brick and manufactured tin-

ware ; traveled as a tinker all through Iowa, and

returned to Peoria in 1859. He enlisted in October,

l86i in Company K., 44th Illinois Volunteer Infantry,

in which he served for three years, and had many nar-

row escapes by flood and field, and received some slight
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wounds. He was mustered out in Louisville in the

Fall of 1864, and returned to Peoria where he worked

at painting for a while ; bought a saloon and ran it for

a month. He built his present store in 1871, and has

since then confined himself to the manufacture of tin

and iron work ; mafees a specialty of his gasoline stoves,

which are very thoroughly constructed and perfectly

safe to use in the house.

AKRON TOWNSHIP.

Aldrlcb C. Mrs. farmer, P.O. FrlnceTllle.
Anderson J. farmer. P.O. Frincevllle.

ANDERSON JOSEPH, grain and stock

dealer, res. Stark, Stark county, son of John and

Hannah Anderson, natives of Pennsylvania. Immigrated

to Ohio where the subject of this sketch was born on

the l8th day of March, 1827. Came to Peoria county

when he was three years old, and was reared on a farm

and' received a common school education. Married

Miss Susan McGinnis, daughter of Geo. I. McGinnis.

She was born in Indiana on the gth day of December,

1829. The fruit of this marriage was eleven children,

eight of which are still living : James W., Mary Jane,

Francis M., John H., Lewis W., Robert K., U. S.

Lincoln, NatBan A. Members of the M. E. Church at

Princeville. Has 130 acres of land in Peoria county

under good cultivation valued at $10,000, Has thirty

acres in Stark, on which he has a, grain elevator, two

residences, and other property, valued at $5,000 ; 320

acres in Kansas valued at $5,000. The capacity of

elevator, 48,000 bushels ; cribbage, 17,000.

ANDERSON WM. farmer. Sec. 2, P.O. Lawn
Ridge, was born in Northumberland, Eng., April 3,

1815. His education was received in his native country.

In 1836 was married to Jane Hall, a native of the

same place as her husband, born June 25, 1813. In

1844, with his wife and two children, emigrated to the

United States and located in Peoria, 111., where they

remained until 1851. Thence removed to Medina
township, where he remained up to 1856, and then

came to Akron township. They have seven children,

five of whom were born in this county. His family

consists of four sons and three daughters. Owns 640
acres of land, under good cultivation. Republican in

politics. His son Joseph enlisted in the Spring of 1861,

and served to the close of the war. Mr. A. came to the

county in limited circumstances, but by industry and
economy has accumulated a fine property and home.
Ayers Edgar, farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Bachus John, farmer, P. 0. Dunlap.
Beacb Charles, carpenter, P. O. PrmcevlUe.

BEACH LESTER (deceased), farmer, Sec.

17, P. O. Princeville. Was born in Canandaigua, On-
tario county, N. Y., August 10, 1804. The principal

part of his education was received in the schools of his

native town. In November, 1837, married in Sandusky

county, O., Miss Lydia M. Chase, a native of Hope-

well, Ontario county, N. Y., born August 27, 1818.

In November, 1839, moved to Farmington, Fulton

county. 111., and April, 1841, removed to Princeville,

where Mr. B. died, April 21, 1859, leaving his widow,

who still survives him, and seven children, Annife,

Elvira, Frank, Cornelia, Emma, William, and Lester

O. Mr. B. left a valuable estate, highly improved.

Beach Lvdia M. farm, P. O. Princeville.
Berry w. farmer, P. 0. Dunlap.
Benjamin J. H. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Blancbard M. M. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
BllMS Abner, farmer, P. O. PrluceTlUe.

BLUE WM. W. farmer. Sec. 6, P. O. Prince,

ville, son of James and Matilda Blue, Was born in

Ross county, Ohio, on the gth day of March, 1827,

where he was reared on a farm and received a common
school education. Came to this county in 1844 or '45,

and located in Radnor township, and in i860 came

to his present place. Married Miss Rebecca Wake-

field. She was a daughter of John L. Wakefield. She

was born in Ohio in 1835. The fruit of this marriage

was nine children, seven of which are still living, viz

:

Nellie, Belle, Blanche, Tilly, Katie, Harris and Nettie.

Has eighty-five acres of land, eighty under good culti-

vation ; valued at $4,000. Came to the country in

limited circumstances, but by economy has made a

good property and home.

BOUTON AUSTIN, farmer. Sec. 30, post

office Princeville. Was born in Knox county, Ohio,

on the i8th day of March, 1821. In 1837 emigrated

to Peoria county. 111., where they landed March 7th,

of the same year. On July 3, 1875, married to Miss

Isabella Bush, a native of this county, born July 31,

1852. The fruit of this marriage is two children—
Amanda Jane, born May 28, 1876, and Wm. Thomp-
son, born November 9, 1878. Owns 335 acres of land

under good cultivation, and is one of the solid men of

the township, notwithstanding he began life poor.

Democratic in politics. •

Bouton T. P. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Boyd James, farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Boyle Thomas, farmer, P. O. Akron.
Breese John, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Bronson E. C. farmer, P. O. Princeville.

BRONSON De LORMAN T. farmer and

stock raiser. Sec. 29, P. O. Princeville. Born in Norton

Center, Summit county, Ohio, on the 25th day of June,

1834 ; emigrated to Peoria county with his parents in

1841. Is the only son of Hiel and Mary D. Bronson.
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Father descendant of the English and mother of the

Scotch, who among others endured all the hardships
and privations of the Puritan fathers, known so well

to all who have read the history of the first settlers of

this country. Mr. B's. primary education was received

in the schools of his native county ; after coming to

Illinois attended school at Princeville, Farmington,
Fulton county, and at Henry, Marshall county. In

1857 married Miss Nina B. Gue, a native of Neville,

Clermont county, Ohio. Born April 2, 1842. The
fruit of this marriage is seven children— Lewis G.,

Annie M., Lillie O.John W., Ernest R., Mina L. and
Bertha R. Owns 200 acres of fine fertile lands well

improved and ranks among the finest in the county

;

valued at $50 per acre. Has held several local offices of

trust ; is Greenbacker in politics. Mr. B. devotes his

entire time and energies to his farm and care of his

stock. Has just embarked in the breeding of fine sheep,

of which he has seven imported English Cotswold,
which have been shown at fairs, and has taken six

sweepstakes premiums ; also has a mill for grinding
feed, costing $3,000.

BURDICK EDWARD W. farmer and
cheese manufacturer. Sec. 24, P. O. West Hallock.
Was born in Alleghany county, N. Y., Jan'y 16, 1826.

His early education was received in the schools of his

native county. In the Spring of 1847 moved West in

the neighborhood of Farmington, Fulton county, 111.,

and was married in April, 1852, to Miss Elizabeth San-
ders, a native of Rensselaer county, N.Y. She was born
June 17, 1828. They have four children, two sons and
two daughters. In the Spring of 1862 moved to his

present farm in Akron township, where he owns 119
acres of land under good cultivation. Is one of the

proprietors of the West Hallock cheese factory, an in-

stitution of considerable magnitude, the products of
which are not inferior to any in the markets. Politically

a Republican. Is a member of the Seventh Day Baptist
Church, and has held several local offices of trust.

BUTTS GEO. W. farmer and cheese manu-
facturer. Sec. 25, P. O. West Hallock, was born in

Chenango county, N. Y., November 10, 1834. At the
age of nine years he, with his parents, moved to Ingham
county, Mich., and received the education to be ob-
tained in the primitive log school-house of the early
pioneer settlements. In 1849 the family removed to

Fulton Cbunty, Ills, for one year, and then came to Peo-
ria county. Married Miss Emily Tollett in 1858, a na-
tive of the same county. They have four children—
one son and three daughters. Is one of the proprie-
tors of the West Hallock cheese factory, a very exten-
sive concern, the products of which rank high in the
market. Owns 220 acres of valuable prairie land,

which, for fertility of soil and improvements, is not ex-

celled in the township. Republican in politics, and a

member of the seventh day Baptist Church. Has held

the office of supervisor of the township.

Byrnes Patrick, farmer, P. O. Dnnlap.
Byrnes Peter Mrs. farmer, P. O. Akron.

CALLERY PATRICK, farmer. Sec. 10, P.

O. Akron, was born in Roscommon county, Ireland,

December 7, 1827. His education was received in the

schools of his native country. In 1840 emigrated to

the United States and located in Saratoga county, N.

Y., and the following year moved to Peoria county. 111.,

and in 1859 married Miss Bridget Fulton, a native of

the same place of husband. She died in 1863, leaving

two children — one son and one daughter. In 1868 he

married Miss Mary Fay, a native of county Mayo, Ire-

land. Owns l6o acres of fine, fertile land as Akron

affords. Democratic in politics, and a member of the

Roman Catholic Church. He is a school director, and

is one of the well-to-do farmers of the county.

CHASE P. H. farmer and stock raiser. Sec. 5,

P. O. Wady Petra, is the son of Simon P. and Ann H.

Chase, natives of New Hampshire. Emigrated to

Peoria county in 1832, where the subject of this sketch

was born on the l8th day of September, 1846, where he

was reared on a farm and received a coijimon school

education. Married Miss Nancy Caloin for his first

wife; she was born in Pennsylvania in 1844, and died

November, 1872, leaving one child. For his second

wife he married Miss Rachael Smith, daughter of John

Smith, who was born in Peoria county, in 1851. The
fruit of this marriage is two children— Carrie P. and

Forest M. Held the office of road commissioner and

assessor. Members of the Presbyterian Church. Has

300 acres of land, all under good cultivation, valued at

$15,000. Mr. C. is a young man with good business

qualifications, and is one of the sound farmers of the

township.

CLiINE PETER, farmer. Sec. 22, P. O. West

Hallock, was born in Oswego county, N. Y., May 3,

1831. In 1835 his parents moved to Peoria, 111., where

he was raised and educated in the district school of the

county. Is the third son of Robert and Harriet Cline.

His father was a native of Ontario, and his mother of

Oswego counties, N. Y. (both died in this county).

The subject of this sketch was married on October 8,

1862, to Miss Myra Mattison, of Rensselaer county, N.

Y, born May 14, 1835. Four children blessed this

union— Alice, born May 23, 1865; Arthur R., born

January 23, 1869; Albert J., born October 16, 1871,

and Jesse A., born March 12, 1876. Owns 240 acres of

fine land, well improved. Has held the office of Su-

pervisor of Akron township for seven years. Mr. C. is

one of those to whom the township ofAkron is indebted

for its present prosperous condition. In politics he is

Democratic.

Connelley John, farmer, P. O. Akron.
Crouch A, farmer, p, O. West Hallock,
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Crist Sarah, P. O. Lawn EldKe.
Cutter Heary Mrs. farm, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Davla Edgar A. farmer, P.O. W. Hallonk.
DeBard Hannah, farmer, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Dlckerson John, farmer, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Dunn Wm. farmer, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Eggar J. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Ernest Albert, farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Fltzgeralds J. farmer, P. O. PrlnceviUe.
Flaherty John, farmer. P.O. PrlnoevlUe.
Fres Chas. carpenter, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
German P. farmer P. O. PrlncevUle.

GRAHAM JOHN, farmer, P.O. Princeville.

Son of David and Margaret (Forsythe) Graham, natives

of Scotland. The subject of this sketch was born in

Dumbartonshire, Scotland, on the 7th day of Decem-

ber, 1841, where he was reared on a farm and received

a common school education. Married Miss Lizzie

Bowman, she was the daughter of Robert Bowman, of

Scotland, in 1867, she was born in 1852. The fruit of

this marriage is four children—Lizzie S., Robert, John

and Margaret, Members of the Presbyterian Church.

Politics Democratic. Mr. Graham came to the U. S. in

1872, where he has worked on farm since.

G-BUNEB GEO. farmer, Sec. 4, P. O. Prince-

ville. Was born in Germany on the igth day of March,

1825. Married Miss Augusta Turum in 1851. She

died in i860, leaving six children, one son and five

daughters. In 1852, came to the U. S. and located in

this county. Married Mrs. Catherine Vogel, by this

marriage there are three children, one son and two

daughters. Owns 320 acres of land, well improved and

very valuable. Democrat in politics. Enlisted in 1845

in the German army and was discharged in 1849.

Hall George, farmer, P. O. Lawn Bldge.
Hare B. FT farmer, P. O. PrlncevUle.
Harmon .Tames, farmer, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.

HABBISON JOHN B. farmer. Sec 7, Rad-

nor township, P. O. Prihceville.

HABRISON PAUL,, farmer, Sec. 31. P- O.

Princeville. Son of James and Susan Harrison.

Father a native of England, mother of Va. Emigrated

to this county in an early day, where the subject of

this sketch was born on the 1st day of August, 1849,

and reared on a farm and received a common school

education. Married Miss Alice Smith, daughter of

David Smith, of Dunlap ; she was born in Radnor

township, on the 14th day of July, 1851. The fruit of

this marriage is two children, Cora J. and Ora Ann.

Held the office of road commissioner for three years.

Politics Republican. Has 100 acres of land under good

cultivation, valued at $5,000.

HAWL.EY JEEOME C. farmer. Sec. 2,

P.O. Lawn Ridge. Was born in Sandy Creek, Oswego

county, N. Y., on the gth day of June, 1832. Emi-

grated with his parents when three years old, to this

county in the immediate neighborhood of Mt. Hawley,

received a common school education. In the Spring of

1865, married Miss Sarah Wilkison, a native of

Pennsylvania. They were blessed with three children,

alive—Clarence and Jennett, Has a valuable farm of

240 acres, well improved. Has held several local

offices of trust, and one among the early settlers to

whom the county is indebted for its present prosperity.

Democratic in politics.

Heherllng John, ooal digger, P. O. PrlncevUle.
Henry Margaret, farm, P.O. PrlncevUle.

HEBVEY JOHN, farmer, Radnor township,

P. O. Dunlap.
Hitchcock Daniel, miner, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Hoag J. farmer, P. O. PnncevlUe.

HODGES DAVID, farmer, res. Valley, Stark

county, P. O. Lawn Ridge, was born in Kent, England,

Feb. 15, 1822. In 1834, emigrated to the U. S. with

his parents, and settled a short period at Saratoga

Springs, N. Y., and afterwards moved six miles into the

country. In 1852, married Miss Jane Standish, who
was a native of New York. She died March 23, i860,

leaving two children. In Sept., 1852, moved west to

Stark county. 111., and married, on Feb. i, 1861, his

present wife, who was Miss Nancy Hutchinson, a native

of Ohio. By this marriage, theire are five children, all

sons. Mr. H. has a beautiful farm of 550 acres as fer-

tile land as Stark or Peoria counties afford, elegantly

improved. Republican in politics.

Houahan J. farmer, P. O. PrlnoevlUe.

HOUSTON WM. farmer and postmaster. Sec.

16, is the son of John and Anna Houston
; father

a native of Bedford, N. H., born Nov. 30, 1767 ; mar-

ried to Anna Moore in 1798, They had ten children,

five sons and five daughters, of whom four are still

living. The subject of this sketch was the ninth child,

and was born in Temple, Hillsboro county, N. H., Feb.

24, 1815. Lived with his father until he was twenty-

one years of age, and then went to work in a store in

Quincy. Was one of the first workmen in the Man-
chester Quarries, and helped to build Amoskeag canal,

built for the purpose of running the cotton mills in

Manchester. Married Miss Sarah E. W. Chase, on the

25th day of Sept., 1842, and immediately moved to this

county, where they landed Nov. 28, 1842. In the

Spring of 1846, purchased the farm on which he now
resides. Have three children: Henry C, Wm. A. and
Charles S, When he first settled on this farm, there

was not a house east of him in Akron township. Is

postmaster of Akron, which office he has held for seven

years. Is a man highly respected by all who know
him. Came to the county in limited circumstances,

but by industry and economy has succeeded in placing

himself in a comfortable position. Politics, Repub-
lican.

HOAG JACOB, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O.
Princeville, was born in Otsego county, N. Y., Oct. 10,

1814. At the age of two years he moved with his pa-

rents to Niagara county, N. Y., where he was reared

and educated in the schools of that county. In 1838,

moved west to Peoria county, 111., and married Miss
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Abigail Hill. April, 1839, a native of New York. They
have nine children, six of whom are now living— four

sons and two daughters. Has a beautiful farm of i5o

acres
; as good a one as Akron affords ; also, 160 acres

in Morris county, Kansas, Member of the M. E.

Church ; also trustee of the same. Republican in poli-

tics. Has held several local offices of trust. Had two

sons in the Union army : Edwin R. serving three years

and five months in Battery A, of this county ; and Al-

bert S. one year and three months.

Huey W. H. farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Huston Henry C. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Huston W. A. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Jackson G. farmer, P. O. Wady Petra.

KARR ANDREW E. farmer. Sec. 18, P. O.

Princeville. Was born in Monmouth county, N. J., on

the 1st day of September, 1817, where he received a

common school education. In the Spring of 1849 came

to Illinois, and in 1850 to Peoria county. In 1869 was

married in Davenport, Iowa, to Mrs. Charity E. Nixon,

a native of Ohio. She had four children by her pre-

vious husband, three of which are still living, Annie,

Diana, and Gale. Mr. Karr owns 200 acres of land on

sec. 18, under good cultivation, besides 320 acres in

other portions of the township. Republican in polities.

Is a member of the I. O. O. F.. and one of the largest

and well-to-do farmers of Akron township, notwith-

standing he bejan life in very moderate circumstances.

Keach Eugene, farmer, P. O. Soutbampton.
Kelley P. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

KINNAH JOHN S. farmer. Sec. 16, P. O.

Princeville. Was born on the section where he now
lives, on the i8th day of December, 1846. Has 165

acres of valuable land, elegantly improved, valued at

$8,000. His father was among the earliest settlers. Is

a member of the Detective Association of Princeville.

In 1868 commenced in the milling business at Coxes

Mill, on Spoon river, where he remained until 1874

;

thence to Princeville for a short time. Mr. Kinnah is a

young man, with good habits, and is respected by all

who know him,

KINNAH JOSEPH, farmer. Sec. 16, P. O.

Princeville. Was born in Gallowayshire, Scotland, in

i8or. Came to Canada in 1832 ; lived there two years
;

thence to Detroit, Mich., where he remained one year,

and in 1835 came to Peoria county, where he has resi-

ded since ; lived in Peoria nine years, where he followed

draying ; in 1844 came to his present home. He mar-

ried Miss Margaret Smith. She was born in Ruther-

glen, Scotland, on the 22d day of January, i8lg. The
fruit of this marriage are six children, four of which

are still living
; John, Joseph, Robert, and David. Po-

litically Republican. Has 160 acres of elegantly im-

proved land, valued at $8,000 ; fifteen acres of timber,

valued at $750. When he came to the United States

had not a dollar he could call his own ; came here.

worked for six dollars per month, and by economy has

accumulated a fine property and home.

KUnck L. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Lair J. farmer. P. O. Princeville.
Lyon, S. A. farmer, P. O. Lawn BIdge.
McCarcy J. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
McCoy Josiab, farmer. P. O. Dunlap.
McDermot J. farmer. P. O. Akron.
McDouua Redman, farmer, P. O. West Hallock.

McGINNIS GEO. I. farmer, Sec. 7.P.O. Prince-

ville. Was born in Granger Co., East Tenn., oi> the

15th day 0/ Sept. 1802. When he was a boy about

seven years old, went to Butler Co. Ohio, where he

was reared on a farm. Afterwards learned the printing

trade. On the 1st day of January, 1829, married Miss

Sarah Montgomery, daughter of John Montgomery (a

soldier of the Revolutionary War). Was bom in Rus-

sell Co., Va., on the 20th day of Sept, 1812. The fruits

of this marriage was twelve children, nine of which are

still living, viz., Susanna, John, James, Nancy, Mary,

Elizabeth, Jane, George ''., and Charles. Members of

the M. E. Church. In the Fall of 1835 left Indiana

in wagons, taking ten days to make the trip to

this county, camping out and doing their own cooking.

Moved into a log cabin i6x 17, with a six lighted window

and puncheons for floors. Came here in limited cir-

cumstances, but by industry and economy accumulated

a fine property and home. Was among the earliest

settlers and respected by all who knew him.

Meyer John, farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Miner John, farmer, P. O. W. HallecTs.
Morrow H. farmer, P. O. Princeville.

MORROW JOSIAH, farmer. Sec. 20, P. O.

Princeville. Was born in this township on Sec. 18,

Sept. 26, 1834. Married in 1863 to Miss Ellen .Mdrich,

a native of Cheshire Co., N. H. They have been blessed

with a family of five children, two sons and three

daughters. Owns 233 acres of land under good culti-

vation. Is a member of the Presbyterian Church, and

is trustee of the same. Has had several local offices of

trust. Democrat in politics.

Mulligan C. farmer, P. O. Princeville.

MUNCY ORSON J. farmer. Sec. 13, P. O.

West Hallock. Was born in Madison Co., N. Y.. July

28, 1845. Received a liberal education in his native

county. In 1872, married Miss Charlotte B. Crandall, a

native of the same county as her husband, born Aug.

7, 1846. They have been blessed with a family of two

children, Alice L., born Nov. 20, 1875, Anna M.,

March 25, 1878. In January, 1874, emigrated to

Peoria Co., and purchased the beautiful farm on which

he now resides, in Akron township, containing eighty

acres as fine land as the county affords. Republican

in politics and attend the seventh day Baptist Church. Is

at present justice of the peace, and an energetic, enter-

prising citizen.

Murray James, carpenter, P. O. Princeville.
Morman M. farmer, P. O. Princeville.

OERTLEY CASPER, farmer, Sec. 10, P. O.
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Akron. Was born in Switzerland, Feb, 27, 1831. His

education was principally obtained in the schools of his

native country. In 1848 emigrated to the United

States and settled in Peoria Co., III. Married in 1868

Miss Mary M. Jaus, a native of Wirtemburg, Germany,

born Sept. 23, 1849. Owns one hundred and sixty

acres of land highly cultivated. Democratic in politics.

Is town clerk, and has been township treasurer for

twelve years. Has since 1852 devoted his entire time

and energies towards the improvement of his farm and

has succeeded in placing himself in comfortable cir-

stances.

Oertley F. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Oertley Henry, farmer, P. O. Akron.
Oertley John, farmer, P. O. Akron.

PARKS STEEN B. farmer. Sec. 34, P. O.

Dunlap. Was born in Knox cpunty, C, November 28,

1836, and received his early education in the schools of

his native county. In 1861 enlisted in Co. B., 4th Ohio

Vol. Inf., and served three months, and received a

recruiting commission and returned home. Recruited

one company for the 87th Ohio, three months men.

Afterwards recruited another company for the 124th

Ohio in the Fall of 1862, and went as its captain, and

served until July, 1864. Was discharged on account

of being disabled on the march from Chattanooga,

Tenn., to Atlanta, Ga.. after which time served three

months as military conductor on the Chattanooga and

Atlanta R. R. In the Fall of 1846 came West to

Peoria county, and taught school for some five years, in

the district schools of the county. In 1867 married

Miss Amanda Yates, a native of Virginia. They have

a family of four sons. In 1871, began farming in Sec.

34, and owns 110 acres fertile prairie land, highly im-

proved. Is a member of the Presbyterian Church.

Republican in politics. Has held the office of super-

visor one term.

Parker Lavlna, P. O. Princevllle.
Parks S. B. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

PETERS JAMES. Was born in Coventry,

Warwickshire, Eng., October 16, 1808. His early

education was received in the schools of his native

county, and also learned the trade of silk manufactur-

ing, serving an apprenticeship of seven years. In May,

1838, immigrated to this county. On January 16, 1841,

married Miss Alice Giles, native of New York State.

Ten children blessed this union, six sons and lour

daughters. Owns a beautiful farm of i5o acres, rank-

ing with any in the township, being in a state of high

cultivation. His wife and family are members of the

M. E. Church. His son Julius enlisted, in the Spring

of 1865, in the Union army, and served until its close.

Republican in politips.

Pfeefer Anton, farmer, P. O. Lawn Ridge.
Plunket James, farmer, P. U. Akron.
Patter C. E. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.

POTTER JOHN S. farmer, Sec. a6, P. O.

West Hallock. Son of Asa C. and Lucy (Eldrich) Pot-

ter, natives of York State. Father born August 6, 1804,

mother March 16, 1806. The subject of this sketch

was born in Rensselaer county, N. Y., on the 6th day of

July, 1834; where he received a primary school educa-

tion. In 1850 moved West to Farmington, Fulton

county, 111., where he completed his education in the

high schools of that town. ' After a residence of two

years in that county, removed to Akron township. On
July 17, 1858, married Miss Ellen M. Brassfield, a native

of Fulton county, 111. She was born May 3, 1841.

They were blessed with a family of seven children.

Nellie, born January 7, i860 ; M. Devillo, September

7, 1861 ; Asa E., October 23, 1864; Frank, March 6,

1867; Ida E„ February 11, 1869; Charlie, June 12,

1872 ; Noel J., May 14, 1877. Owns 440 acres of land,

highly improved, valued at $30,000. Democratic in

politics. Is at present supervisor, and has held several

local offices ol trust. Mr. P. is one of the solid farmers

of the county.

Potter J. M. farmer, P. O. Lawn Bldge.

POTTER JUJjIUS A. merchant and post-

master, West Hallock. Was born in Little Genessee,

Alleghany county, N. Y., on the i6th day of April,

1844. His early education was received in the public

schools of his native town, and his acUemic at Alfred

Center, Academy of Alfred, Alleghany county, N. Y.

In i860 moved to Peoria county. 111., and married in the

Spring of 1866, Miss Mary C. Hicks, of this county,

born December I, 1846. The fruit of this marriage is

two children, Anthony, aged eleven years, and Mary,

aged five years. In r868, embarked in his present busi-

ness, which by his untiring zeal has been brought

to a magnitude which promises wealth at no far distant

day. Republican in politics, and a member of the

Seventh Day Baptist Church. Is postmaster, which

position he has held ever since he commenced in busi-

ness, with a short intermission. Enlisted, in 1861, in

Col. Robert Ingersoll's nth Cavalry, and was disabled

and discharged on the field at Corinth, Miss., in 1862.

Potter R. farmer, P. O. Lawn Bidge.
Pullen Wm. far 1 er, P. O. Dunlap.
Puroell Edward, farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Purcell D. C. farmer, P. O Dunlap.
Klce James, farmer, P. 0. Akron.
Robinson Mrs. P. O. Princevllle.
Rogers Wni. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

ROWCLTFFE GEORGE, farmer. Sec. 21,

P. O. Princeville, son of John and Grace Rowcliffe

(natives of England), emigrated to the United States in

1836, and located in Huron county, Ohio, where his

father died in 1861 ; mother died coming to this

country. The subject of this sketch was born in Dev-

onshire, England, on the first day of July, 1829, where

he was reared on a farm and received a common
school education. When he was seven years old, came

to this country and remained in Huron county until

1866, when he came to Peoria county and located on
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section 21, Akron township. Married Miss Harriet

E. Hatfield, daughter of Nathan Hatfield. She was
born in Huron county, Ohio, on the 20th day of De-

cember, 1833. The fruit of this marriage was three

children : Willis, Mary and Burt. Members of the

Presbyterian Church. Politics, Republican. Held
the offices of collector, assessor, and school trustee.

Has one hundred and forty acres of land under good

cultivation
;

probable value, f9,000. Mr. Rowcliffe

has a fine farm and house and is one of the sound

farmers of the county.

RUSSELL EBON, farmer, Sec. 16, P. O.

Princeville, was born in Beaver, now Lawrence county,

Penn., November 13, 1811. The principal part of his

education was received in his native county. In 1828,

he moved to Wayne county, Ohio. Married Miss

Edith Emery, in 1834, » native of Mercer county, Pa.

The fruit of this marriage was thirteen children, eight

of whom are still living ; three sons and five daugh-

ters. Owns two hundred and sixty acres of land in

Akron township, well improved. Republican in poli-

tics. Member of the M. E. Church. Has held

several local offices of trust in the township, and is one

of the well to do farmers. Had three sons in the Union
Army : Cunard E., James A., and Joseph. C. E.

served four years and J. A. three years
;
Joseph but a

few months.

Satterly A. farmer, P. O. West Hallook.
Sloan A. D. farmer, P. o. Princeville.

SLOAN" HENKX A. farmer. Sec. 18, P. O.

Princeville, was born in Sloanville, Schoharie county,

N. Y., June 5, 1823. His early education was limited

to the common schools of his native county. . On the

7th day of December, 1838, the family moved West to

Farmington, Fulton county, Illinois, and removed to

Akron, this county, in 1839. Married in the town of

Princeville, in 1849, '0 Miss Mary Ann Reed, of Rip-

ley, Brown county, Ohio, born February 16, 1830

;

she died March 7, 1877. Own four hundred and eighty

acres of farm land, two hundred and eighty of which

is in Peoria county, and, for fertility of soil, is not sur-

passed in the county. Is the fourth son of John R.

and Maria Sloan ; father, native of Massachusetts

;

mother, of Newton, N. J. ; both of whom died in this

county. Mr. Sloan is among the large and well to do

farmers of the county, to whom it looks for a continu-

ance of its present prosperity.

SLOAN JEKOME, farmer. Sec. 19, P. O.

Princeville. Was born in Sloanville, Schoharie coun-

ty, N. Y., January 15, 1816. Received a common
school education. In 1839, the family moved to Peoria

county. Married Miss Charlotte Barnes, in i860 ; the

fruit of this marriage was nine children, seven sons

and two daughters, viz : Augustus, Wallace, Woodbury,

Burtran, Jerome, Frank, Charles, Lottie, and Eva. He
owns 560 acres of land, the home place containing 160

acres of as fine land as Akron affords. Was among

the earliest citizens of this part of the county. Repub-

lican in politics.

Smith M. farmer. Stark county.
Smitli Wm. P. farmer. P. O. west Hallock.
Stansburv E. farmer. P. O. Princeville.
Staples Thomas, farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Stillman BenJ. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
StilJman S. H!. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Stoneman M. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Strange Henry.'farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Straetmatter J. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Slraetmatter C. farmer, P. O. Akron.
Streetmater Geo. farmer, P. O. Akron,
Tracey E. farmer, P. O. Princeville.

WILLIAMS VAUGHN, farmer. Sec. 30, P.

O. Princeville. Was born in Fredericktown, Knox
county, O., March 13, 1818, where he received a com-

mon school education. In February, 1840, moved to

this county, where he landed on the l8th of the same

month. In 1843 married Miss Viola Hall, a native of

the same county as her husband, born December 25,

1824. They have, been blessed with a family of ten

children, five sons and five daughters. Owns a farm of

240 acres of valuable land, well improved. Came to

the county in limited circumstances, but by hard work

and judicious management has accumulated a fine

property and home.

White Samuel, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Williams V. farmer, P. o. Princeville.
Wilson A. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Wilson W. H. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Wolfl David, farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Tates George V. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.



A.W. WILSON
ELMWOOD.

CYRUS BROOKS
BRIMFIELD.





BUIMFIULI) DIEECTOilY. 713

BRIMFIELD TOWNSHIP.

ADAMS J. H. farmer, Sec. i8, P. O. Elmwood.

Was born in Lawrence county, 111., in 1833, where his

parents were among the earliest settlers, having settled

as early as 1815. When nineteen years of age, having

lost both his parents, he left his native county and

came to Peoria, where he worked as a common laborer

until thirty years of age. In 1863 he married Miss

Annie Macy, who was born in Union county, Ind., in

1836, soon after settling where they now reside. Owns
eighty acres of land, under a high state of cultivation,

valued at $75 per acre. They have three children, two

sons and one daughter. Mrs. Adams is a member of

the M. E. Church. Republican in politics.

Adklnson J. D. farmer, F. O. Brlmfleld.
Allewalt B. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
AUewelt Daniel, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

ARNOLD WM. A. farmer. Sec. r6, P. O.

Brimfield, born in Windham county, Vt., Oct. 8,

1826, where he received his early education. Emi-

grated to this county with his parents when he was

seventeen years of age, and settled north of Brimfield,

where his father was soon after killed by lightning.

On the 6th day of June, 1850, married Miss Louisa

Fisher, who was born in Rutland, Vt., in 1834, and

soon after settled where they row reside. Own no
acres of land, valued at $100 per acre. They are

blessed with three children, one son and two daughters.

Members of the Baptist Church in which he is a deacon.

Politics Republican.

AtrSTIN J. E. farmer, Sec. 19, P. O. Elmwood,

born in Preble county, Ohio, May 1825. In the Fall

of 1850 he came to Peoria county, where his time was

taken up with farming and carpentering until September,

1853. Married Miss Sarah Tomlinson, who was born

near Malbourne, England, April, 1835, ^^^ came to

the United States when she was about fifteen years of

age. They rented for one year, at Altona, when he

purchased where he now resides. Owns 400 acres of

land, valued at $60 per acre. They have four children,

two sons and two daughters. Are members of the M.

E. Church. Politics Republican.

Baker Edward, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Babcock Geo. C. painter, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Beltord Geo. farmer and auctioneer, P. O. Monica.
Bennett F. E. plasterer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Bennett Marv, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Blair A. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

BOOTH L. li. armer. Sec. 32, P. O. Elmwood.

Among the first settlers of this part of Peoria county,

was the subject of this sketch, who was born in Rox-

bury, Litchfield county. Conn., on the second day of

November, 18 12. When very young he was ap-

prenticed to a tailor, at Plymouth, Conn., with whom
he served four years. After working at journeyman's

51

work at Plymouth for a few months, thence to Sackett's

Harbor, N. Y. ; thence to Bridgewater, Conn., where

he took charge of an extensive merchant tailoring es-

tablishment. On the 29tli of March, 1835, he married

Harriet C. Coggswell, born in Roxbury, Conn., De-

cember 4, 1807. In the Spring of '1838, in company

with a brother, came to this county, purchased 480 acres

of landj of which 160 acres he retains, valued at $80

per acre. The fruit of this marriage was four chil-

dren. Are members of the Congregational Church at

Brimfield. Republican in politics.

Bowers Chas. L. farmer P. O. Elmwood.

BOWMAN J. P. dealer in hardware, residence

Brimfield, was born in Windsor, Vt., on May 16, i8i8,

and when fourteen years of age entered a woolen mill

at Perkinsville in his native county, and remained until

the failure of the company ; in 1840 went to Chester,

Vt., was employed in same occupation until 1845, when

he became a partner, and continued until coming to

Illinois in 1854. In July, 1843 he married Martha A.

Clark, who was born in Weathersfield, Vt., in 1820.

Purchased a farm in Brimfield township, and for sev-

eral years engaged in farming. In July, 1854, his wife

died leaving one son. The following Fall he sold the

farm and removed to Brimfield, and in company with

Wm. H. Day purchased the business and stock of J. E.

Wiley & Co. On the i8th day of July, 1857, married

Helen N. Day. She was born in Rockingham, Vt., in

1839. The fruit of this marriage was five sons and

three daughters. In the Spring of 1859 Mr. B. sold

out his hardware business and removed to Muscatine,

Iowa, where he embarked in the agricultural imple-

ment trade until the Fall of 1862, then returned to

Brimfield and engaged in the dry goods trade for six

months, then sold out to J. B. Day, now of Gloa. The

brothers then purchased the Wily farm of six hundred

and fifty acres at the same time owning half interest

with H. O. Burt in the hardware business. In 1869

sold their farm, and from that time until 1871 engaged

in brick-making, a part of which were used by himself

in erecting the store in which he is now doing business.

In March, 1872, his present partner purchased the

interest of Mr. Burt, since which time the business has

continued unchanged. Are members of the Congrega-

tional Church, of which he has been deacon for thirty

years. Republican in politics.

BROOKS CYRUS, farmer. Sec. 14, P. O.

Brimfield. Prominent among the enterprising and suc-

cessful farmers of this section of Peoria county, was the

subject of this sketch ; was born in Chester, Vt., on the

24th day of May, 1807. His father granting him his
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libeVty on reaching his 20th year, he worked as a farm

laborer until Jan., 1831, at which time he married Miss

Emily C. Bennett, who was born in Rockingham, Vt.,

in 1803. In June, 1843, they left their native State

with team and wagon, and emigrated to Brimfield,

111., being seven weeks and three days making the jour-

ney. They settled where he now resides, and owns

469 acres of land, valued at $85 per acre. In Febru-

ary, 1868, his wife died, leaving four children. In

December, 1869, he married Mrs. Ellen Carron, widow

of John Carron, of Henry county, 111. She was born

on the Isle of Man, but raised in Ireland. Married in

Liverpool, and with her husband emigrated to the

United States in 1851. She died on the first day of

May, 1878. Mr. Brooks is a member of the M. E.

Church. Republican in politics.

Bruce J. M. retired, P. O. Brimfield.
Bruce O. E. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Brysen J. C. carpenter, P. O. Brimfield.
Barrett Isaac, farmer, P. O. Freucli Grove.

BURT E. E. farmer, Sec. 19, P. O. Elmwood.

Was born in Rockingham, Vt., on the l6th day of Oc-

tober, 1839. His parents, with their family, came to

this county in 1853, and located on Sec. 19. He
owns 120 acres of land, valued at $75 per acre. In

1862 he enlisted in the 77th Regiment, Illinois Infantry,

and served seven months, and was discharged from dis-

ability. On the 14th day of April, 1863, married Miss

Annie E , daughter of Truman and Betsy Barber, who

were early settlers in Knox county, where she was

born in 1839. They are blessed with a family of eight

children, three sons and five daughters. Mrs. Burt is a

member of the M. E. Church. Republican in politics.

Has held several local ofiices of trust. Is a member of

the I. O. O. F., of Lodge 102 of Elmwood ; also of the

Gate City Encampment, No. 167.

BURT H. O. dealer in grain, res. Brimfield, was

born in Rockingham, Vt., on the third day of May,

1823 ; having attained his seventeenth year worked as

farm laborer until twenty-one years of age, arriving at

Peoria on that day, but soon after came to Brimfield.

For the first two years worked for Washington Cockle,

and continued as laborer until 1856. Married Harriet

M. Bowman, born in Windsor county, Vt., on the 21st

day of May, 1823. In 1857, in company with B. B.

Bowman and H. C. Gilson, embarked in the dry goods

trade, and continued for three years, then engaged in

buying grain at Oak Hill for two years ; then went into

the hardware business, first with E. E. Burt, then with

J. P. Bowman, continuing until 1872 ; since which time

he has been engaged at his present business, having

erected an elevator with a capacity of 12,000 bushels
;

sold it the past spring to J. M. Leet, of Chicago. Has
held various local offices of trust. Mrs. B. is a member
of the Congregational Church.

BELCHER DANIEL, proprietor of the

Brimfield House, Brimfield, is a descendant of one of

three brothers who came from England at an early

period in the history of New England, and founded

Belchertown in the State of Massachusetts. His grand-

father, John Belcher, was born in Wrentham, Mass.,

on the 20th day of July, 1744, and his father, Daniel

Belcher, was born in the same village on the 6th day of

July, 1797. The Belcher homestead at Wrentham is

still in the possession of one of the family, and it is

their pride and determination that it shall never know
a change of name or ownership. In 1819, when twen-

ty-two years of age, Daniel Belcher, the father of the

subject of this sketch, left the old homestead and went

to Boston. In 1825 removed to the city of New York

and engaged in the hotel business. On the 6th of

November, 1829, he united in marriage with Mrs.

Rachel Hopkins, daughter of Moses and Elizabeth

Drake, of Orange county, N. V., where she was born

on the iSth day of March, 1807. In 1837 he came to

Brimfield, then called Charleston, on a tour of obser-

vation. He liked the country, and selected a site and

erected a house for hotel purposes, the first frame house

built in the township, where, in May, 1838, he was

joined by his wife and children. The earliest religious

services in that part of Peoria county were held at the

Brimfield House. The late Bishop Chase, of the

Episcopal Church, often conducted services there. Be-

sides being opened for religious purposes, the Brimfield

House was also opened for singing schools, lyceums

and other public gatherings. No one ever applied at

their door for food and shelter and was turned cold and

hungry away. After an active and well-spent life of

seventy-five years, thirty-five of which without inter-

mission were spent in the management of the Brimfield

House, Daniel Belcher died on the 20th day of March,

1872. On the 14th day of May, 1876, the wife, Rachel

Belcher, died. Three children, two sons and one daugh-

ter, are living. Daniel, the eldest son, who succeeded

to the management of the hotel, was born in the city

of New York, October 3, 1836. Mary S. was born De-

cember 3, 1830, and married Rev. S. R. Child, of the

Episcopal Church. Mr. Child died November 14, 1855,

and Mrs. Child finds a home with her brother Daniel,

and presides in the Brimfield House. Albert W., the

third child and youngest son, was born February 22,

1840. When the war came on he enlisted in Co. H, of

the 86th Regt. 111. Vol., and was with Sherman in his

" march from Georgia to the sea." Served three yeirs,

received honorable discharge, and returned home to

Brimfield, where he still resides. He united in mar-

riage with Miss Sarah Slocum, daughter of Joseph and

Elizabeth Slocum, of Brimfield, December 26, 1868.

The fruit of this marriage is three children.

CADY CURTIS, (retired), P. O. Brim-

field, was born in Killingly, Conn., October, 1808.
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When but five years of age became an orphan, and was

placed in the care of an, uncle and taken to Otsego,

New York, where he was raised until he was sixteen

years of age, then went to Richfield and served four

years at the cabinet trade, and after working at joiner

work several years, started business for himself at Mad-

ison, New York, where on the 28th day of January,

1830, married Eliza Furniss. She was born in Madi-

son, New York, in 1813. In 1834 they came West,

stopping at Cleveland, Ohio, until the Spring of 1835.

Thence to Trivoli township, Peoria county, where he

engaged in improving a farm, and remained until 1839,

then moved to Brimfield township, two miles west of

Brimfield. In 1847 his wife died, leaving five children,

two sons and three daughters. In March following

Mr. C. married Maria P. M'les, who died in December of

the same year, On the 14th day of February, 1850, mar-

ried his present wife, Abigail Robinson. She was born

in New York in 1827. In 1849 settled on the place

now owned by Mrs. Trusin. In 1854, having received

the appointment of postmaster, he sold and came to the

village and built his present residence, retaining the

postofiice. In the Fall of 1858 he purchased an interest

in the flouring mill with Chas. Fox & Co. This required

the most of his attention until it was burned, in 1S74,

since which he has devoted most of his time with

improvement and cultivation of his. farm. Five sons

have been born to him by his present wife. Democratic

in politics.

Caldwell Bzeklel. farmer, P. O. Brmifleld.
Camp Hiiiry (retired), P. O. Brlmfleld.
Campbell F. u. faraier, P, O. Brlralleld.
Cattoa Tbomas, farmer, P. O. Brlmflelcl.
Catton Wm. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Cliurch J. C. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

CHAPMAN DAVID, farmer. Sec. 28,

P. O. Elmwood, was born in Washington county. New
York, on the i6th day of December, i8ig, and when a

small boy his parents immigrated to Oswego county.

New York. Receiving a limited education, remained

upon his father's farm, making a home for the old peo-

ple, until thirty-six years of age. In June, 1845, mar-

ried Miss Eliza A. Bennett, who was born in Worces-

ter, Massachusetts, in 1824, In the Fall of 1855 came

to Illinois, rented a farm for three years, then purchased

his present farm, consisting of eighty acres, valued at

$70 per acre. They are blessed with one child. Dem-
cratic in politics.

CHICHESTER HARRIET E. residence

Brimfield, daughter of Joseph and Elizabeth Shepard

nee Armstrong, the former of Irish parentage, but born

in Pennsylvania, the latter born in Ireland. In early

life,with her parents, immigrated to Ohio, near Steuben-

ville, where they were married on the 4th day of Novem-

ber, 1813. The parents of both were early settlers of

Ohio. In the Spring of 1837 Mr. and Mrs. S., with

their family, consisting of six children, one son and five

daughters , again removed westward, finding a home
at Harkness Grove, this county, where he purchased

400 acres of land, and remained until one year previous

to his death, which occurred on the 29th day of August,

i860. The mother survived him six years, and died

October 7, 1866, at the age of 76. Wm. A. an only

brother of Mrs. C, served in the Mexican war, and also

participated in our late war, and served faithfully until

its end, and was murdered at Springfield, Illinois, while

on his way home. Mrs. C. was born in Ohio, February

8, 1828, and came to Illinois when she was nine years

old. On the 17th day of May, 1854, she married Elias

W. Chichester, a. native of Indiana, born November,

1825, and when a small boy came to Peoria with his

father. Kept the first ferry, and his mother in the

meantime kept a boarding house until his father's

death, which occurred when E. W. was three years old,

after which she resumed her trade of tailoress, by which

she supported her two children. After marrying Mr. C.

settled in Jubilee township until the following Fall,

when she returned to her father's, and he went to

Texas for seed, intending to embark in raising hedge

plants, a business he has since followed, visiting Texas

each Fall for seed. In the Spring they removed to

Brimfield. Own i6o acres of land adjoining the village,

valued at $16,000, also a half section near Oak Hill,

valued at $60 per acre, and 150 acres in Jubilee town-

ship, valued at $7,000. They were blessed with seven

children, six sons and one daughter.

Clark Stephen, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

COE JOHN C. farmer. Sec. 5, P. O. French

Grove, was born in Washington county, Pennsylvania,

August, 1828. Was raised on a farm, but at an early

age engaged in clerking. In the Fall of 1859 came to

Peoria county. Married Miss Eliza J. Reed March 4,

1861. She was born near Wheeling, West Virginia,

December, 1841. Lived in Elmwood and Fulton

county, for two years. Came where he now resides.

Owns 80 acres of land, valued at $75 per acre. The
fruit of this marriage was three children, a son and

two daughters. Members of the Presbyterian Church

at French Grove, in which Mr. Coe is elder and super-

intendent of Sabbath school. Republican in politics.

Held several local offices of trust.

COOLIDGE EDWARD L. farmer. Sec.

18, P. O. Brimfield, son of Lewis and Amanda C. Cool-

idge, was born in Addison county, Vt., 1825, emigrated

with them to Illinois in the Spring of 1834, and settled

in what was known by the early settlers as 9-6, now
Rosefield township, where his mother died on the

3d day of Sept., 1856. His father found a home with

Mr. C. until his death, which occurred in 1869. Mar-

ried Miss Mary E. Palhier, who was born in Galesburg,

Knox county. 111., Dec. 31, 1838, being the first white

child born in that city. They soon afterwards settled
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where they now reside. Owns 252 acres of land, val-

ued at $60 per acje. The fruit of this marriage is

eleven children, four sons and seven daughters. Mr.

C. was one of the first road commissioners of Rosefield

township. Members of the Episcopal Church.

CORCORAN GEORGE L,. was bom in the

county of Langford, in Ireland, in 1826. At the early

age of sixteen he matriculated in Latin, Greek, French,

Geometry and Algebra, and after a brain rest of six

months, commenced the study of medicine with his

father, who was the leading physician in the county,

having two dispensaries and the county infirm-

ary under his charge. By these means the subject of

our present biography got a thorough elementary edu-

cation in clinical medicine, materia medica and chem-

istry. He afterwards studied in Dublin, and finally

graduated in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1849. The doctor

came to Brimfield on the 27th of May, 185 1, and im-

mediately commenced the practice of his profession,

although with a sad heart and a strange desire to return

home, for the condition of affairs was not what he ex-

pected. A vast prairie like an open sea stretched out

to his view, without roads or bridges such as we have

now. His average day's work was forty miles in the

saddle, on horseback, for buggies were impracticable

over the sloughs and swollen streams, and although

often exhausted by the heat of the sun in Summer and

the snow storms and cold of Winter, he never forsook

his duty day or night, and has continued to practice in

the county ever since, three years of which was in the

city of Peoria ; and not alone in this county, for he is

frequently called to the surrounding counties for advice

and consultation. He was the first president elect of

the Peoria County Medical Society, which he held for

several years by re-election. He is a member of the

American Medical Association, and also of the State

Medical Society, and was commissioned by Governor

CuUom as a representative to the medical department

of the celebrated Paris Exposition of 1878. He has

also been justice of the peace in Brimfield for nearly

twelve years, getting the vote of all political parties,

and although it is not a lucrative office, he has fulfilled

it without fear or partiality, to the best of his ability

and judgment of the law. He is a man of almost uni-

versal genius, passionately fond of the arts, science,

poetry and music, and in the latter he excels ; of a san-

guine, nervous temperament, generous and big-hearted

to a fault, no person, either friend or stranger, enters

his door and leaves it hungry or thirsty ; but he is quick

to detect deceit, fraud, ingratitude, lying and low, cun-

ning tricks, which make him irritable, but he has an

abundance of charity and soon forgives. He is still

nearly in the prime of life, healthy, and liable to live

many years with profit to himself and his patrons.

COWLES WM. W. postmaster at Brimfield

and dealer in groceries, was born in Hampshire county,

Mass., on the 7th day of Dec, 1830. By trade he is a

blacksmith and wagon ironer. In Nov., 1854, married

Miss Delia Woods, who was born in Belchertown,

Mass., on the 28th day of Nov., 1834. Continued his

trade in his native village until 1857, when they came

to Brimfield, where he engaged in farming for two years.

Thence to Oak Hill, where he bought grain for four

years ; then embarked in the dry goods trade until July,

1862. He enlisted in the 14th Cavalry and participated

in the Atlantic campaign, Knoxville, Tenn., the regi-

ment being the first Union troops to cross the Cumber-

land Mountains to eastern Tennessee, and twenty-

four days on four days' rations. They also participated

at Bear Station, Bentonville, and in the following of

John Morgan. Mustered out as second lieutenant at

Pulaski, Tenn., Aug., 1865. On enlisting, removed his

family to Brimfield. He returned to this city and re-

commenced his trade, which on account of failing health

he soon abandoned and worked for the R. R. Co. until

January, 1871, after which he engaged with the Hayes

Brothers, in their store, until 1875. Was appointed,

Jan., 1878, postmaster, and soon afterwards added a

stock of groceries, and has since done a prosperous

business in that line. They have three daughters and

are members of the Congregational Church. Politics,

Republican.

CROWIiEY WM. farmer. Sec. 16, P. O. Brim-

field, was born on the Isle of Man on the third day of

March, l8n. Having attained his thirteenth year he

learned the carpenter's trade, and, at twenty-two, emi-

grated to the United States, locating in the city of

New York. On the ninth day of November, 1842, he

married Martha Price, who was born in Flintshire,

Wales, in 1820. They afterwards moved to Memphis,

Tenn., where they resided until 1852. In 1846, came

to this county, and purchased the farm which he now
occupies, containing 210 acres, valued at $75 per

acre. In 1852, they settled permanently on their

farm, which now compares favorably with the best in

this part of the county. Mr. and Mrs. Crowley are

members of the M. E. Church. Democratic in politics.

Curran Wm. farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Collister. John, farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.

DARBY H. H. farmer. Sec. 28, P. O. Elm-

wood. Son of Wm. and Mary Darby, nee Mann,

natives of New England, but settled in Genessee

county, N. Y., about the year 1826, where the subject

of this sketch was born August 2, 1840. At the age of

eleven, with his parents, came to Peoria county and

located on section 28, where he now resides. Owns
fifty- five and a half acres of land, valued at $80 per

acre. On May 26, 1865, enlisted in the hundred days

service ; mustered out at Chicago, November, 1865.

On September 6, 1866, he married Ellen, daughter of
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Edson Smith, of Elmwood township. She was born in

Elmwood township, May 30, 1848. They have two
children, a son and daughter. Members of the Con-
gregational Church, at Elmwood. Republican.

Day Eddy, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Day Thomas, farmer, P. O. Brlmlield.

DAY WM. H. dealer in dry goods and general

merchandise, Knoxville avenue ; residence, Brimfield.

Was born in Chesterfield, N. Y., on the seventh day of

March, i8i8
; was reared on a farm, and received a

common school education. At seventeen, engaged as

an employ^ in a woolen mill in his native town, where

he remained six years. Thence to Grafton, Vt., where

he engaged in business for himself, and remained until

1854. Thence to Illinois, and soon after embarked in

his present business in Brimfield. In 1843, he married

Miss Abbie S. Wooley, of Grafton, Vt., who was born

in that city on the seventh day of April, 1821. She

died in this village on the 1st day of June, 1878, leaving

two sons. Wm. 11., Jr., born on the third day of

March, 1845 ; married Josephine, daughter of Ezekiel

Day, of Peoria. Second son, George M., born on the

27th day of February, 1850; married Louisa J.,

daughter of Geo. F. Guy, of Peoria. The family are

members of the Baptist Church. Politics, Republican.

Derby L. M. constable, P. O. Brimfield.

DOVE J. J. butcher, residence, Brimfield, son

of Isaac and Sarah Dove ; father, native of Pennsyl-

vania ; mother, of Virginia. The subject of this

sketch was born in Custer county. Pa., September 10,

1836. Immigrated with his parents to Ohio, where he

remained until 1862, when *he came to Peoria county,

where he engaged in farming, coal digging, and tile

laying. Married for his first wife Miss Nancy Ault.

She was born in Ohio, in 1:840; died in 1869. The
fruit of this marriage was five children—two boys and
three girls ; three living, viz : Susan, Sarah M., John
Edward. Second wife, married Frances Hadlock

;

she was born in Ohio, September 30, 1847.

Baton Ephralm, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Eaton Joseph, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Eby John, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Elliott Wm. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
English J. R. farmer, P. O. French (Jrove.

FABNUM JAS. F. Sr. buggy dealer, res.

Brimfield, son of Asa and Arrathusa (Lovejoy) Farnum,

natives of Amherst, N. H. Immigrated to Bennington

county, Vermont, where they raised a family of six

children, five of which are now living. The subject of

this sketch was born in Bennington county, Vermont,

February 6, 1811, where he received a common school

education. When he was sixteen years old went to

Windsor county, Vermont, where he worked on a farm

for five years for Mr. Ezekiel Davis. Afterwards mar-

ried his daughter Laura, who was born in the same

county September 9, 1809. The fruit of this marriage

was four children, of which three are now living, viz

:

James, Jr., George and Giles. In the year 1854 came

to Peoria county and located on section 22, Brimfield

township, where he remained two years. Then traded

his farm for block 4 in town. In 1857 commenced the

mercantile business in company with B. K. Harrington,

and continued until i85o, when he bought the interest

of Mr. Harrington and continued until the close of the

war, when he sold out and has since been in his present

business. Members of the M. E. Church. His father

was in the war of 1812, was at Bennington, Vermont,

and Plattsburgh, N. Y.

Flgher Simon L. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

FORD L. D. farmer. Sec. 21, P. O. Brimfield,

was born in Licking county, O., on the 5th day of May,

1835. When twelve years of age with his parents

moved to Adams county. Ills., and the following year

to this county, settling near French Grove. In 1850

his parents removed to Knox county, where they now
reside. In 1866 the subject of this sketch married

Miss H. F. Burt. She was born in Rockingham, Vt.,

September 3, 1844. Settled near Fairbury, Livingston

county, and in August, 1874, came to their present place

of residence. Owns 157 acres of land valued at $75
per acre. The fruit of this marriage is four children

— one son and three daughters. Members of the M.

E. Church, of, which he is trustee. Politics, Repub-

lican.

Foster J. S. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Frazer Wm. J. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

FREEMAN C. H. Jr. farmer, Sec. 32. P-

0. Elmwood. Son of C. H. Freeman, Sr., and Permilia

Davis, natives of Massachusetts. In 1836 his father

came to Peoria, where he was employed as land agent.

In 1839 moved his family, consisting of his wife and

five children, to Brimfield, where Mr. Freeman opened

the second store of the village, but afterwards settled

on a farm west of the village, since known as Walnut

Grove farm, where he died, October, 1859. Mr. Free-

man, Jr., was born in Brimfield, January 2, 1842. Re-

ceived a liberal education in the common schools and

two years at Hedding Seminary, Abingdon, Ills. In

August, 1861, enlisted in the 47th Illinois Infantry,

Company C, Captain J. D. McClure ; was discharged

from ill health June, 1862. Married Miss Emma C,

daughter of John L. Marion, an early settler of South-

port, this county. She was born in Southport, September

1, 1843. In the Spring of 1877 purchased his farm

consisting of 120 acres, valued at $80 per acre. For

the past three years Mr. Freeman has devoted much

time and attention to the improvement in his stock ot

horses, having purchased his brood mares of Dillon, a

noted importer of horses. His colts took first prem-

iums at the county fair. Is a member of the G. A, R, of

Elmwood. Republican in politics.

Furniss David C. carpenterLP. O. Brimfield.
Ueorgo Constance, retired, p. O. Brimfield,
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GILBERT JAS. A. farmer, Sec. 15, P. O.

Brimfield. Was born in Orange county, Vt., on the

25th day of July, l8l2. His parents removed to Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, when he was seven years of age, where

tliey soon afterwards died. Was bound out, and witli

his foster father came to Aurora, Ind„ and remained

until he was fifteen ; ran away and engaged as cabin

boy on the river between Louisville and New Orleans,

and remained for seven years with one captain, who
promoted him to steward. Afterwards went to Law- .

renceburg, Ind., where he learned the carpenter trade.

On the second day of October, 1834, married Lucy

Jaquith, who was born in Manchester, Ind., on the 17th

day of May, 1818. In 1842 came to Peoria county,

and two years later to the farm where he now resides.

Owns 320 acres of land under good cultivation, valued

at $100 per acre. January 12, 1858, his wife died,

leaving ten children, six sons and lour daughters. On
the 15th day of March, 1859, married Miss Jane McCur-
dy, who was born in Brown county. 111. She died,

leaving two children, a son and daughter. On
the 2lst day of August, 1868, married Miss Julia

Rogers, who was born in Boston, Mass., December 7,

1811. His first wife was a member of the M. E. Church.

His second, and present, members of the Presbyterian.

Democratic in politics.

GUYER Ij. L. residence Brimfield. Was born

in Mifland county. Pa., on the 4th day July, 1817. At
the age of seven his parents removed to Harrisburg,

Pa., where he received his education. At the age of

nineteen he emigrated to Charleston, now Brimfield,

and engaged in the mercantile business. May 5, 1840,

married Miss Elvira Wiley, sister of James M., Nelson

and Hiram Wiley, they being among the first settlers

of Jubilee township. Continued in business until 1851,

when he turned his attention to farming, which he has

since followed. The fruit of this marriage was five

children, one son and four daughters. Mr. and Mrs.

G. and their daughters are members of the M. E. Church.

Has held several local offices of trust, viz: Supervisor,

justice of the peace, assessor and collector. Is Repub-

lican in politics.

Hamilton BenJ. F. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Harrington B. K. merchant. P. 0. Brimfield.

HAYWOOD EDWARD, farmer, P.O. Brim-

field. Was born in Sussex county, England, on the

15th day of May, i8ll, where he received a liberal ed-

ucation. When nineteen years of age was apprenticed

to a grocer, and served two years as clerk. On the l8th

day of August, 1835, emigrated to the United States

and located in Rochester, N. Y., and engaged as clerk

until May, 1838. Thence emigrated West, and after

visiting several important cities, in July of that

year landed at what is now Brimfield, following various

avocations until the Spring of 1840 ; having purchased

eighty acres of land he began improving it. On the

28th day of March, 1843, married Harriet E., daughter

of- Thomas and Margaret Cummings. She was born

in Sussex county, N. J., on the 27th day of February,

l8lg, and with her parents came to Stark county. 111.,

in 1839. In 1845 exchanged his farm for a store in

Brimfield, and continued in the mercantile business

for seven years. Has twenty-eight acres of land ad-

joining the village, valued at $75 per acre, and a fine

residence valued at $4,000. They have five sons and

one daughter, all grown to man and womanhood. Mr.

and Mrs. Haywood are members of the Congregational

Church. Republican in politics.

HERRINGTON B. K. dealer in dry goods,

res. Brimfield, born in Green Co., Pa., on the 24th day

of Feb. 1822, worked at his trade of boot andshoemak-

ing in his native town until he was twenty-one years

of age. Married Miss Mary Barnes in 1843 who was

born in Green Co., Pa., 1825. In the Spring of 1845,

came to Illinois and settled in Brimfield and continued

his trade until 1856. Embarked in his present busi-

ness in company with Nelson Barnes, which they con-

tinued until i860, when the present partnership was

formed, which has since continued. They have five

children, two sons and three daughters. Members of

the M. E. Church. Politically, Republican.
Hills S. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Hlnkley K. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.

HISTKLEY" POEBE C. Mrs. farmer, Sec.

28, P. O. Elmwood, daughter of Otis and Clarinda A.

Bennett nee Savoy, natives of Lancaster, Mass., where

Mrs. H. was born on the nth day of Sept. 1831. When
one year of age her parents emigrated to Cayuga Co.,

N. Y. In Sept. 1851, married Wm. Darby, a son of

Wm. Darby, Sen., of this township. He was born in

Vermont 1821. In the Fall of 1852 they came to this

county and located on Sec. 28. Owns one hundred

and four acres of land valued at $80 per acre. On the

2nd day of April, 1856, Mr. Darby died, having been a

member of the Baptist Church from boyhood. She was

again joined in wedlock with Mr. Rockwell Hinkley

April 13, i860. He was born in Windsor, Vermont,

May ID, 1832. Died July 14, 1875. Mrs. H. is a mem-

ber of the Baptist Clfurch.

Hney William G. retired, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Hartz Mary, farmer, P. o. Brimfield.
Johnson M. 0. retired. P. O. Brlmfleld.
Jones C. D. farmer. P. O. Brlmfleld.
Kalghan John, farmer, P.O. Brlmfleld.
Kemp J. W. farmer, P.O. Brlmfleld.

KEMP S. D. farmer. Sec. 32, P. O. Elmwood,

son of David Kemp, of Elmwood, and born in Butler

Co., Ohio, Dec. 1845, and in his eighth year with his

parents came to Peoria Co. Settled on Sec. 29 in this

township, where he received a liberal education witn

two years at Otterbein University, located near Colum-

bus, Ohio. Remained at home until his twenty-sixth

birthday, when he married Miss Sarah A. Lingle
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who was born in the same county on the 6th day of

April 1847, and the following Spring they settled where

they now reside. Own one hundred and sixty acres

of land valued at $100, $16,000. Two children bless

this union. Members of the U. B. Church, Mr. K.

being steward and Sabbath-school superintendent.

Politics, Democratic.

KEMP S. S. farmer, Sec. 31, P. O. Elmwood,

was born in Butler Co., O., Dec. 31, 1844, when nine

years of age removed to Peoria Co., settled on Sec. 29

in this township, where he received a liberal education

at the district school and Lombard College, Knox Co.

On the 2lst day of May 1867, married to Miss Nellie

Barcalow, who was born in Butler Co., O., Dec. 21,

i 846. They soon after settled on his present place.

Owns one hundred and sixty acres of land, valued at

$80 per acre. The fruit of this marriage is two child-

ren. Members of tHe U. B. Church, Hr. IC. being

trustee and secretary of the same. Democratic in

politics.

Larson John, farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Laub Daulel, retired, P.O. Brlmfleld.

liAUB RICHARD, miller, res. Brimfield. of

the firm of Cady, Laub & Belcher. Was born in Read-

ing, Berks Co., Pa., Aug. 7, 1836. Came to this county

in the Winter of 1857. Married Miss Annie E. White

for his first wife. She was born in Buck Co., Pa., June

1836. She died in Brimfield Dec. 24, 1863. The fruit of

this marriage was six children, two boys and four girls,

two living, viz., Elmer E., Sarah J. For his second wife,

married Fannie M. Robinson. She was born Aug.

2g, 1836. Mother of two children, Llewellyn R.,

Charles Alfred. Member of the I. O. O. F. In the

winter of 1858, rented a mill at Edward's Station.where

he remained one year. Thence to Peoria where he had

charge of the Fayette and Star mills for three years.

Thence to Brimfield where he followed farming for

three years. Then engaged in the Osage seed and

pl^nt business for five years. In the Spring of 1870

went into the produce business in company with A. W,

Belcher, and in 1874 built the Brimfield mill where he

has been engaged since;. Capacity of mill 100 barrels

per day.

Loufihland John, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Longhlin James, huckster, P. O. Brimfield.

LiOWE J. El. physician and surgeon, res. Brim-

field. Son of G. F. and Martha (Phillips) Lowe

;

father native of Tennessee, and mother of Illinois
;

family consisted of ten children, five boys and five girls.

The subject of this sketch was born in St. Clair county.

Ills., November 30, 1841, was educated at Lebanon,

McKendree College and graduated in 1862. Studied

- medicine with Dr. Perryman, Belleville, Ills., for nearly

two years, attended lectures at St. Louis and Chicago

medical colleges, where he graduated in 1871-2. His

first practice was in St. Clair county, Ills. In 1872,

came to this town of Brimfield, where he has practiced

medicine since. Married Julia A. Sutton, daughter of

Asa Sutton ; she was born in Peoria county, March 25,

1848. The fruit of this marriage is three children, viz :

Leo, born March 7, 1874 ; Lester, born May 27, 1877 ;

Carrie, born August 6, 1878. Members of the M. E.

Church. His father held a commission as captain in

117th Regt. I. v. I- Co. C. Dr. Lowe has a fine prac-

tice, good home, and is one of the leading men of the

town.

LiUCAS DAlflELi, retired farmer, res. Brim-

field. Grandson of Isaac Lucas, who was born near

Boston, Mass., and at the age of seventeen enlisted in

Revolutionary war, participating at the battle of Bunker

Hill, Cowpens and Stony Point, at the last named

battle was one among the number to volunteer to

charge the British in a hand to hand fight, when

Gen. Wayne told them, " If any man feared to go to

hell let him retire from the ranks." Married a Miss

Smith with whom he attempted to settle in Ohio, near

where Mar.etta now stands, where the father of this

sketch was born in 1788, being the second white child

born in the State, found the Indians so troublesome

that they returned to Washington county. Pa., where

his father married Isabella McKenzie, a native of that

county. In 1811, they returned to Ross county, Ohio,

near Chillicothe, where his father was soon after

drafted and served under Gen. Harrison. On the 12th •

day of August, 1815, Mr. L. was born near Chillicothe,

and received his education in a log school-house with

puncheon floor and desks, with paper windows, re-

mained at home assisting in improving and cultivating

a farm until the Spring of 1838, came to Indiana,

married Miss Elizabeth Simison on the 8th of May, of

that year. She was born in Pennsylvania in 1819. In

1854, emigrated to Brimfield, 111., and located on Sec.

15. In 1878, removed to the village still retaining their

farm. The fruit of this marriage was five children,

three sons and two daughters. The sons participated

in the late war, one of which was killed at Vicksburg.

Mr. and Mrs. L. are members of the Presbyterian

Church, Republican.

Lucas Dan, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

JLYTLiE CHARLES A. druggist, res. Brim-

field. Son of Samuel S. P. and Anna Bell Lytle, natives

of Pennsylvania, family consisted of seven children, four

of which are now living. The subject of this sketch

was born in Mt. Joy, Lancaster county, Pa., March 24,

1845, where he received his early education. Studied

medicine with Dr. J. L. Ziegler of Mt, Joy, Pa., and

attended lectures- at Jefferson College, Philadelphia, and

graduated in the year 1861, and practiced two years at

his old home. Was in the Navy, South Carolina and

Georgia Blockading Squadron and was assistant

surgeon and had charge of 160 men. In 1865, went to
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Monroe, Wis., where he engaged in the drug business

as clerk for J. K. Eilert, where he remained until 1877,

when he came to Brimfield and engaged in the drug

business on his own hook. Married Alice S. Banks,

daughter of James A. Banks. She was born in Haverill,

Mass., 1848. The fruit of this marriage is two chil-

dren, Grace and Samuel. Member of the I.O.O.F.

Carries a stock of $3,000.

Maher James, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Maher John, farmer P. O. Brimfield.
Mailer Tliomas, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
MaharT. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Maher Patrick, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Maitz Wm. J. farmer. P. O. French Grove.
Males Oliver, plasterer, P. O. Brimfield.

MARSHALL MARION, retired farmer, is

the son of Elijah Marshall, of Scotch descent, who was

born on the 6th day of November, 1766. In the latter

part of the war of the revolution he was a prisoner for

nine months on board the ship Old Jersey. On the

25th day of May, 1788, he married Mary Pierce and

located at Chester, Vt., where the subject of this sketch

was born March 12, 1811, and received a very common
school education. At seventeen years of age he went

to Green county, N. Y., where he was employed at

brick making until 1835, and afterward embarked in

the same business with a partner, through whose finan-

cial irregularities in 1850 lost his all, about $9,000.

Soon after came to Jubilee township, and secured

eighty acres of land, having since owned large tracts

in the same township. On February 7, 1833, he mar-

ried Lois, daughter of Rev. Rufus Bruce, an old time

pastor of the Baptist Church ; she was born near Ches-

ter, Vt., August 9, 1812. This marriage was blessed

with a family of ten children, four of whom died in in-

fancy. One son was in the Union army and killed at

Kenesaw mountains, and four sons and one daughter

are still living. Mr. M. has held several local offices of

trust. Is a member of the I. O. O. F., Kempton Lodge

of Green county, N. Y. ; members of the Baptist

Church, Republican in politics.

Marshall E. K. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

MARSHALL S. farmer, Sec. 30, P. O. Elm-

wood, was born in Preble county, Ohio, on the 8th day

of February, 1825, having been reared on a, iarm, and

received a common school education. Having lost his

father at the age of fifteen, he remained at home until

the I2th day of March 1848, when he married Miss E.

A. Austin, who was born in the same county, October

15, 1828. On the i6th of the same month they located

where he now resides, and owns 640 acres of land,

valued at $65 per acre, and also has a residence of

wliich the original cost was $i4,ooof They have four

children— three sons and one daughter. Republican

in politics.

Maxwell O. G. carpenter, P. o. Brimfield.

McCLELLAN, farmer. Sec. 17, P. O. Brimfield.

McDonouKh P. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
McLaughlin John, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Mehan Peter, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Mehan Patriclt, retired, P. O. Brimfield.
Meyers .J. P. laborer, P. O. Brimfield.
Moore David, farmer. P. O. French Grove.
Moore G. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Moore James H. f.armer, P. O. Brimfield.
Moore Samuel, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

MOREY C. B. farmer, Sec. 33, P. O. Elmwood.

Was born in Butler county, O., January, 1829, and in

1839 moved to Washington county. Mo. In those days

the schools were supported by subscription, and there

being ten children in the family, his opportunities for

education were limited. June 12, 1852, married Miss

Mary A. Dickson, who was born in the same county,

October 8, 1825. They soon after settled on Sec. 33 of

this township, where they own 200 acres of land, valued

$60 per acre. Liberal in religion. Politically a Repub-

lican.

Morrey Asbury, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Morey Eliza, Krs. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Murdock R. B. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Murdock Samuel, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Murdock Thomas, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Murdock William, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Needham P. R. blacksmith. P. O. Brimfield.
O'Harra Sarah, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

O'HARA WILLIAM, pilot, P. O. Brimfield.

Son of John and Sarah O'Hara, natives of Belfast, Ire-

land. Father came to United States in 1819, mother in

1820, and located in Boonville, N. Y., where the subject

of this sketch was born, March 4, 1831, being one of a

family of eleven children, four boys and seven girls.

In the year 1846 left his home, and in 1848 arrived in

Chicago. Thence down the Illinois river, for the pur-

pose of learning the river and becoming a pilot, and

has run on the Mississippi and Illinois rivers since, as

pilot and captain, running down as far as Memphis.

At the time of the war was on a transport. Mr. O'Hara

has always been a stirring man, and has seen a great

deal of the world.

Patterson J. M. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Pulsifer S. W. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Purcell George S. retired farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Purcell George, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Badley George, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

,
Reamer William, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

REED JOSEPH, farmer. Sec. 5, P. O. French

Grove. Born in Marshall county, Va., on the l6th day

of April, 1825. Married Miss E. R. Henderson, Feb-

ruary, 1852. She was born in Washington county, Pa.,

March 16, 1829. In 1855 came to this county, where

he rented a farm for two years, then purchased the farm

where he now resides. Owns 264 acres of land, under

a high state of cultivation, valued at $75 per acre.

They are blessed with a family of eight children, five

sons and three daughters. Mr. and Mrs. Reed are

members of the Presbyterian Church at French Grove,

he holding the office of trustee since 1859. Republican

in politics.

REED MORROW P. farmer. Sec. 3. P-

O. Brimfield. Son of George W. Reed and Joana

Patterson ; the former a native of Virginia, the latter
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of Pennsylvania. Located in Peoria about 1835, where

his father engaged at the carpenter's trade. Mr. Reed

was born on the 19th day of June, 1840, and at nine

years of age his father died, and at thirteen he deter-

mined to do for himself, came to this neighborhood,

worked for J. McCoy continuously for seven years, then

went to southwest Missouri. On the nth day of Feb-

ruary, 1865, enlisted in Company F, 148th Illinois

Infantry. Discharged at Nashville, September 22,

1865 ; returned to this county. Married Jane A.,

daughter of J. C. Whittaker, February 22, 1866. She

was born in Queens county, Ireland, July, 1843, and

emigrated to this county with her parents in 1845.

Has 210 acres of land under good cultivation, valued

at $80 per acre. They have seven children, two sons

and five daughters. Mrs. Reed is a member of the M.

E. Church. Mr. Reed is a Republican in politics.

Reed Samuel, farmer, P. O. French Grove.

BICHFOBD DAVID, farmer, Sec. 26, P.

0. Brimfield. Was born in county Mayo, Ireland,

October ig, 1821, reared on a farm until 1845, when he

declared his independence by emigrating to the United

States, via Quebec to Plattsburg, N. Y. Worked as a

laborer at quarrying rock, thence to Montpelier, Vt.,

where he engaged in lumbering for three years. In the

Fall of 1838 came to Peoria county, and worked for

Joel Blakesly five years, and two years for E. F. Smith.

Married Miss Agnes Farwell, August 28, 1857, who
was born in Ireland in 1841, and emigrated to the

United States, and to this county alone when fourteen

years of age, finding a home with an aunt, Mrs. Cath-

erine Kehoe. After his marriage Mr. Richford pur-

chased his first eighty acres of land, and in 1864 bought

another eighty, making 160 acres, valued at $75 per

acre. Mr. and Mrs. Richford have been blessed with

a family of four sons and four daughters. All members
of the Catholic Church, Democrat.

Rlchstein Margaret, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Biley James, farmer, F. O. Brimfield.

RINCHAKT NICHOI.AS, farmer. Sec. 3,

P. O. Brimfield. Was born in Sultz, France, November
1, 1827, and with his parents immigrated to the United

States, and located near ICickapoo, where his parents

still reside. Married Miss Catherine Shuts, May, 1849.

She was born in Baden, Germany, in 1829, and came
to America in 1847, and landed at St. Louis, remained

there two years ; came to this county. In 1865 they

came to Brimfield township and purchased the farm he

now owns, consisting of 240 acres, valued at $80 per

acre. The fru,it of this marriage is seven children,

three sons and four daughters. Members of the Cath-

olic Church. Democrat.
Biner Jacob, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Biner J. C. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Kiner J. W. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Boot O. E. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Bounds Oliver, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Bunyon J. C. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

Bussell Eowell, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Eynearson C. L. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Schieler Geo. farmer. P. O. Elniwood.
Shellkoph John, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Sholto Fred, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Sloan Thomas, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Snyder Gbas. A. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Snyder J. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

SNYDER J. W. farmer. Sec. 29, P. O. Elm-

wood. The parents of Mr. Snyder were natives of

Pennsylvania, but became pioneers of Butler county,

Ohio, as early as 1807, where Mr. S. was born, August

II, 1815. Remained with his parents, assisting in the

improvement and cultivation of a farm, until twenty-

four years of age. On Christmas day, 1839, married

Miss Maria Hursh, who was born in Northumberland

county. Pa. Located in Middletown, of the same

county, and embarked in hotel and livery business until

1854. Was elected county treasurer and served four

years. In 1858, emigrated to Peoria county and to his

present place of residence. Owns 300 acres of land,

valued at $90 per acre. On the igth day of March,

1861, his wife died, leaving five children—four sons and

one daughter. Feb. 26, 1863, married Elizabeth AUe-

walt. She was born in Adams county, Penn., on the

29th day of August, 1833, which union was blessed with

two sons. Himself and first wife were members of the

U. B. Church ; his present wife, of the Lutheran.

Democratic in politics. Held several local offices of

trust.

SNYDER M, H. farmer, Sec. 29, P. O. Elm-

wood. Son of J. W. Snyder, and born in Butler county,

Ohio, Jan. 15, 1845. Having received a liberal educa-

tion at the best schools in Hamilton, his native county,

at the age of thirteen, in company with a brother and

cousin, with teams, came to Illinois, arriving at Brim-

field on the second day of March, 185S, and began

breaking prairie on the land purchased by his father in

1854. In Sept., 1864, entered Lombard University, at

Galesburg, from which he soon after enlisted in the

148th 111. Vol. Infantry, and was assigned to the Army
of the Cumberland and retained on the defence of the

Nashville & Chattanooga R. R. Mustered out at

Nashville, Sept., 1865. Married Miss Kate, daughter

of Philip Snyder and Mary A. Schenck, of this town-

ship. She was born in Butler county, Ohio, April 14,

1845, and came to Peoria county with her parents when

ten years of age. He owns 200 acres of land, valued

at $75 per acre. Democratic in politics. Held the

ofiice of supervisor and collector, and was a candidate

for county clerk in 1873.

SNYDER SAMUEL, wagon maker, res.

Brimfield. The subject of this sketch, whose parents

and family were among the first settlers of this part of

the county, was born in Bedford county, Penn., on the

27th day of May, 1813, and was raised to the trade he

now follows, until twenty-three years of age, when he

accompanied his parents and family, consisting of two
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sons and two daughters, to this county, settling in Ju-

bilee township, one and a half miles from this village.

On the 14th day of March, 1839, married Miss Mary,

daughter of Daniel Strausburg, who settled in Jubilee

township. She was born in Baltimore, April, 1818.

In the Fall of 1839, the family removed to Cooper

county, Mo. In 1850 the subject of this sketch went

the overland route to California, and remained two

years and a half. In 1S53, returned to Brimfield, where

he has since resided. They have four sons and four

daughters, all of whom except one are settled in Peoria

county. The entire family are members of the M. E.

Church, Mr. S. being one of the original members, and

notifying the settlers of the first services in this part

of the county, held at his father's cabin in 1836. Mr.

S. is Democratic in politics.

Strain Westly, grocer, P. O. Brimfield.
Sutton Asa, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Swimm Peter, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Thompson Geo. A. farmer, P. O. Blmwood.
Tucker A. J. farmer, H. O. Frencli Grove.
Tucker Catherine, farmer, P. O. French Grove,
Tucker David, farmer, P. O. French Grove.

TUCKER EZRA, Jr. farmer. Sec. 15, P. O.

Brjmfield, son of Ezra Tucker, Sen. (who emigrated

from Madison county, N. Y., in 1843), born in Madi-

son county, N. Y., being nine years of age when he

came to Peoria county. On the 23d day of December,

1874, married Miss Fanny Moody, who was born in

Princeville, this county, September, 1850. He settled

on the old homestead (where his father died in

1853), containing 160 acres of land, valued at $80 per

acre. They are blessed by three children, two sons and

one daughter. - Members of the Congregational Church.

Independent in politics. Has held several local offices

of trust.

TUCKER H. C. farmer and grain dealer, P. O.

Brimfield (Sec. 2z), son of Ezra arid Sarah (Furness)

Tucker, was born in Madison county, N. Y., March 16,

1833. When nine years old emigrated to this county

with his parents, where he has followed farming most of

the time since. Married Miss Emily M, Ellis. She was

born November ir, 1845, The fruit of this marriage

is four children, Clemie M., Carrie M,, Allie and Duane
H. Mrs. T. and Clemie are members of the Congre-

gational Church. Has 160 acres of land valued at

$12,000,

TUCKER JOHN S. farmer and tile manufac-

turer, Sec, 6, P. O. French Grove, son of John and

Ellen Tucker, who were natives of Ashland county, O.,

and pioneers of Peoria county, having settled on Sec.

6 in 1834, and erected a two story brick residence in

1840, and with the aid of thirteen children, eight sons

and five daughters, improved a farm of 6co acres.

Father died in 1850, Mother died in 187a. Mr.

Tucker was the youngest son and born where he now
resides, retaining 255 acres of land of the original

farm, which he values at $100 per acre. Soon after the

breaking out of the late war he enlisted in the 8th 111.

Inf., Co. L, Capt. Green
;
participated at Ft. Henry,

Donaldson, Missionary Ridge, Russell House, where he

was wounded, after which he was appointed forage

master, and while acting as such was taken prisoner

;

held at different prisons, seven months of the time at

Andersonville, making his escape and recaptured seven

different times ; mustered out at St. Louis, June, 1865.

In August of the same year married Miss Mary, daugh-

ter of Joseph and Margaret Nilson, who came to Knox

county in 1836, where she was born on the 1st day of

December, 1842. In the Fall of 1877 Mr. T. began

the manufacture of brick and tile, having discovered on

his farm a blue joint clay, which was pronounced by a

man of forty-one years' experience the best in this part

of the county. Seven children blessed this union, two

sons and five daughters. Republican in politics.

Tucker Samuel, farmer, P, O. French Grove.
Tucker V. L, farmer, P, O, French Grove.
Turner Chas. farmer, P. O, Brimfield,
Vandergraft L. R. boarding house, P. O, Brimfield.
Van Patten Wm. farmer, P. O. Brimfield,
Van Wormer Win, farmer, P, O, Brimfield.

WATSON WM. farmer, res. Brimfield, was

born in Lincolnshire, England, on the 28th day of

December, 1824. When less than one year old his

father died, after which he found a home with his

grandparents until about fifteen years of age, and

worked as a farm laborer in his native county until the

Spring of 1850, when he emigrated to the United

States and resumed his usual occupation near Buffalo,

N. Y., and thence to Blue Bell, Pa. In April, 1855, he

married Catherine Muny, who was born in Cork, Ire-

land, in 1829, and came to America in 1846, Imme-

diately after their marriage they came to Brimfield,

where they have resided since, and by industry and

economy have accumulated a fine property. Own fifty

acres of land near the village, valued at $5,000, and

two houses and lots, valued at $4,000. They have six

children— two sons and four daughters. Mrs. W. and

three of her daughters are members of the Baptist

Church. Republican in politics.

Weidner Jacob, farmer, P. O, Brimfield.
Weston Patrick, farmer, P, O, Brimfield,
Wetherwax Andrew, farmex-, P, O, Brimfield.
Wetherwax G. W. farmer, P, O, Brimfield.
Whitton Wm, farmer, P, O. Brimfield.
Whitzel Alfred, farmer, P, O. Brimfield,
Wiley Elizabeth, retired, P. O. Brimfield.

WILEY R. W. farmer. Sec. 35, P. O. Brim-

field, was born in Rockingham, Vt., December 12, 1825.

Although raised a tiller of the soil, at the age of twenty

he determined to change his occupation and went to

Greenfield, Mass., where he learned the trimmers'

trade. On the 27th of June, 1 846, he married Miss

Elizabeth Pulsifer, born in Rockingham county, Vt.,

June 2, 1826. Soon after engaged in heavy hardware

business at Greenfield, and continued in the same for

two years ; thence to Bellows Fall, and continued in

the same business until 1851 ; thence to Illinois, Brim-
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field township, and settled on the fann he now occu-

pies, containing 200 acres, valued at $80 per acre. His

wife died November ig, 1873, leaving' two children—
a son and a daughter. He married for his second wife

Miss Sarah A. Brewer, of Chester, Vt., February 14,

1877. Mr. W. and his first wife were members of the

Congregational Church. Independent in politics.

WlllKimson L. S. attorney at law, F. O. Brimfleld.

WYLEY J. E. (deceased), is the son of John

and Randella (Weaver) Wyley, Mr. W. being the third

son of a family of nine children— eight sons and one

daughter. Was born in Wyndam county, Vt., October

ig, 1820, where he received his early education ; was

also at Dartmouth College. He married Miss Eliza-

beth Wilson, daughter of Solomon Wilson, who was

born in Chester, Windsor county, Vt., March ig, 1827.

The fruit of this marriage was four children— Solon

W., Clinton M., May E. and Walter L. Solon W.
died April 21, 1877, and May died February 8, 1864.

Mr. W. came to this county in 1844, and engaged in

farming and sheep raising. Held several local offices

of trust, and was a justice of the peace for twenty years.

Mr. W. was a man who was highly esteemed by his

neighbors, and a leading man of the township. Resi-

dence and post-office, Brimfield.

WOOD T. J. pastor of M. E. Church, res.

Brimfield, was born in Rock Island county, 111., in 1848,

and after receiving a preparatory education at Eding-

ton, that county, in 1865, entered Hedding College,

Abingdon, from which he graduated in 1870, on the

27th day of February of the same year, married Miss

A. £. King, who was born at Walnut Grove, Warren

county, 111., on the gth day of September, 1851, and

soon after entered the University at Fairview, Fulton

county, and remained there one year ; thence to Sum-

mit, Knox county, at which place a part of his work

was in this county; thence to Cuba, Fulton county,

where he remained two years ; thence to Kickapoo,

remaining there two years, and at Smithville, one year

;

thence to Brimfield in 1870. Is a member of the A. F.

& A. M,, at Yates City, having joined in 1872, and

served as chaplain, and has taken an active part since.

CHILLICOTHE TOWNSHIP.

ADAMS LEWIS, postmaster and fruit grower,

Rome, was born in Fairfield county. Conn., January

23, 1823, and is the son of Zalmon Adams and Sallie

Haines. His father was a native of Connecticut, and

his mother of New York, and she died when he was

but eight years old. He went to sea when very young

;

took a whaling cruise into the Indian ocean, and,

rounding Cape Horn, landed in San Francisco in 1838.

Followed a seafaring life for seven years, and made
numerous cruises to the British West Indies, South

America and the Carolinas, part of the time as mate

and captain. In October, 1851, he sailed in the clip-

per ship " Cornet" for San Francisco, arriving, after a

passage of 103 days, in January, 1852. The next

three years he spent in California, part of time on

Sacramento river, and part of the time farming and

in other positions. Was in city of Oakland, when
only four houses were built in it. Returning home
via Panama in November, 1854, and was taken down
with the Panama fever on reaching home, which lasted,

some time. He then worked for some time at his

trade of shoemaker, and, in 1855, took a long tour

through the Northwestern States, and finally located

at Rome, in Peoria county, where he has since resided.

He married Eliza W. Gray, a native of Connecticut,

March 31, 1845, by whom he has three children : Cora

G., Ella, Herman. Mr. Adams began to devote his

attention to fruit culture about ten years ago, and has

made Lake View fruit farm one of the most attractive

and remunerative places in Peoria county. From
two and a half acres of grapes he has harvested a crop

which brought him $400. Has one thousand plum

trees, and a large apple orchard ; raises large quantities

of melons. Has thirty-three acres of land, twenty-five

acres of which constitute his fruit farm. He owns

also a fine property in the village of Rome. Has

been postmaster ior ^even years.

ALEXANDER THOMAS, lumber manu-

facturer, and mill owner, res. Chillicothe, was born

in Tazewell county, Illinois, December 12, 1828, and

is the son of James G. and Phoebe Alexander. His

mother died in 1833, and his father, in the succeeding

year, of cholera ; and he also lost, about the same time,

his grandparents, uncles and aunts ; his brother and

himself being all that were left of the family. His

brother died in l84g. He learned the trade of car-

penter in Pekin, III., and followed that occupation

together with that of wagon making during the

Winters, till 1861, when, upon August 30th, of that

year he entered the army, enlisting in Company I.

nth I. V. I., and took part with it in its many engage-

ments. He was promoted first sergeant soon after the

battle of Shiloh, and on September 4, 1862, was pro-

moted second lieutenant, which rank he held till

March g, 1863, when he iresigned his commission and

left the service. He married, in 1854, Louisa Kinsey,
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a native of Tazewell county, who died a year after-

wards, leaving one child— Martha; married October

12, 18.56, Mary Kinsey, who was born May, 1832, in

Tazewell county, by whom he has had six children

:

Harriet, Nellie, Caroline, Phoebe Stella, Sabin, and

Uera Alexander. Mr. Alexander has been running a

planing mill since 1872; owns the mill property, besides

his residence and lot in town ; is a member of Masonic

Blue Lodge, Chapter and Commandery, and has at-

tained the highest rank in Odd Fellowship,

Allen, C. C. physician, res. Chillicothe.
Alvord J. J. engineer, res. Chillicothe.
Andrews Lymau. !?roGer, res. ChUlicothe.
Anderson Maria Mrs. res. Chillicothe.

ASHWORTH THOMAS, merchant of dry

goods and groceries, res. Chillicothe, was born in Eng-

land, June 14, 1834, and after serving an apprentice-

ship to his business, came to America in 1853, and for

the next five years worked as finisher in a woolen manu-

factory at Taunton, Mass., and then came West, and

for two years engaged in farming m Chillicothe town-

ship ; removed to town and sold groceries almost con-

tinuously for the next fifteen years, serving about one

year with one firm, and seven years with each of two

others. In 1862, he served for six months as suttler in

the army, and ten years later purchased the grocery

department of Powell & Taylor, and began business

for himself, adding dry goods to his stock some four

months afterwards. On January 5, 1857, he married

Sarah A. Westerman, who was born in England, Octo-

ber II, 1832, by whom he has had seven children, only

three of whom now survive : John Thomas, aged

twenty ; Eliza E., aged seventeen ; and Florence, aged

eleven. Mr. Ashworth was for over five years town

clerk and is at present a member of the School Board
;

belongs to the orders of Masonry and Odd Fellowship
;

is a prominent worker in the Red Ribbon Club, and

superintendent of the Baptist Church Sabbath School.

He owns his store building and residence in Chilli-

cothe.

Austin Mary J. res. Chillicothe.

BARBOUR WILLIAM H. mayor, and

grain and stock dealer, and shipper ; res. Chillicothe.

Was born in Ireland in 1833, and is the youngest of a

family of six boys. His parents were John Barbour

and Catherine Classen, and with them he came to

America in 1848, settling in Pittsburgh, Pa.; came to

Henry county, Illinois, in 1857, and to Chillicothe in

1865. He farmed during his first two years in Illinois,

but has since devoted himself to the business of buying

and shipping live stock and grain. His firm has

bought and shipped over 20,000 hogs last year, and

handle nearly 250,000 bushels of grain per annum. He
held for two years the office of town clerk in Henry

county, and was also for several years justice of the

peace there, and, since coming to Chillicothe, has been

alderman a number of years, and is now serving his

second term as mayor. Married, in 1862, Mary Slater,

who was born in New York in 1840, by whom he has

one child: John H., born in 1866. Mr. Barbour owns

a fine residence and lot in Chillicothe. His father

was killed by a steamboat explosion on the Muskingum

River, Ohio.

Barnes G. W. grocer, res. Chillicothe.
Bastlan Mrs. M. res. Chillicothe.
Beck William, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

BEEBE RTJUBEN" B. contractor and builder,

res. Chillicothe, was born in Hamden Co., Mass., April

22, 1824, and is the son of Charles Beebe and Lucy

Hamlin ; came west at fourteen years of age, and set-

tled at Northampton, Peoria Co. His father was a

farmer, but Mr. Beebe went to learn his trade with his

brother at the age of sixteen, and afterwards worked

at it for three years in Lee Co. ; did some business on

his own account in Dixon, 111., and in 185 1 came to

Chillicothe, and established himself, since when he has

done a heavy building business over a large area of

country. In 1854 he married Josephine Oakford, who

was born in Philadelphia in 1834, by whom he has had

eight children. During the late war he enlisted in Co.

C, 86th I. V. I., was elected 2nd Lieutenant, and was

mustered in August 1862. He served till the February

following and then resigned.

BELL LLEWELLYN, retired mechanic, res.

Chillicothe, was born at Fort Ann, Washington Co.

N. Y., May 18, 1829, and in the following year removed

with his parents to Ross Co., O., where he was brought

up, and where he learned the trade of wagonmaker

with his father Ralph Bell. He afterwards worked at

this business on his own account for fifteen years ;
had

a marked talent for all mechanical occupations ;
used

to manufacture the foot wear for his family and also

worked at harness making. In 1856 he gave up>agon

making and applied himself to blacksmithing, which

business he followed for about a year. On Feb. 27,

1864, in Chillicothe, O., he enlisted in Co. C, 33rd O.

V. I. and was in the 1st Div. 1st Brigade of 14th Army

Corps, Gen. Jeff C. Davis, commanding. Was at the

battle of Resaca, where fifty-five men of his company

were killed, and also at the battles of Atlanta and

Jonesborough. After the battle of Atlanta he was

detailed to act as blacksmith, and did much of his shoe-

ing by night, to which he attributes the loss of his eye-

sight, which occurred some time after his discharge.

He was mustered out of service July 12, 1865. In 1856

he married Sarah Gallaugher, who was born in Muskin-

gum Co., O., March 9, 1837, by whom he has had nine

children, seven of whom are now living, viz., Edgar,

Mary, now Mrs. Dunahue, Charlotte, Llewellyn, (de-

ceased), William, George,,Bertram, Loren, (deceased),

and Joseph F. Bell. He settled in Chillicothe, Peoria
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Co., in August 1865, owns residence and lot in town,

and is a member of the Red Ribbon Club.

Blossom Wm. carpenter, rea. Clilllicotlie.

Blumble M. shoemaker, res. ChllUcotlie.

BOOTH LEVI, justice of the peace, collector

and insurance agent and furniture dealer, res. Chilli-

cothe, was born in Delaware Co., N. Y., January 23,

1819, and is the eldest in a family of nine children. His

parents were Jacob Booth and Lovis McKean, and he

removed with them to Illinois by flat boat down the

Alleghany to Pittsburgh, and thence by steamer to

Peoria, in October 1835, arriving at Chillicothe the

25th of the same month, when they built a cabin and

settled on Sec. 18. His father was a soldier in the war

of 1812, and his mother still draws a pension therefor.

Mr. Booth's educational advantages in the East, were

limited to the old style common schools ; during the

last term he attended, he sat on a slab bench, and paid

extra for learning grammar. In early life he followed

farming, but afterwards learned the trade of a carpenter

and followed it till within ten years, during the whole

of which period he has been in the furniture business,

and has filled the office ofjustice of the peace. In 1844

he married Mary E. Pratt, by whom he has had one

child, living, now Mrs. E. E. Howe. Six years after

marriage, Mrs. Booth died, and in 1852 he married

Helen Bassett, who died about five years afterwards,

leaving one son, Edwin L. Booth, now a young man
living at home. Mr. Booth married Mrs. Catharine

Thompson, January I, 1859, and she died March 6,

1880. He has in addition to his office of justice, filled

that of supervisor for ten years ; served in that capacity

during the war, and has been for two terms chairman

of the board. He owns a house and lot and a large

stock of goods.

Bouter E. A. enfirineer, res. Cblllicottie.

BOUIilER MARY JOSEPHINE (widow

of Henry Boulier, farmer), res. Chillicothe, was born in

France May 5, 1825, and is the daughter of Joseph and

Adelaide Sauvage, who came to America in 1838, and

settled in Woodford Co., 111. ; afterwards removing to

Marshall Co. in the same State. Her late husband was

also born in France, and emigrated to this country

during the Winter of 1837-38, and also settled in Wood-
ford Co., where he married his wife, July 31, 1843.

They had eight children, Alexander, Mary, now Mrs.

Beckler, Joseph, Isabel, now Mrs. Fagot, all living in

Woodford Co., Adelaide, Josephine, Victorine and

Anna. Mr. Boulier died Nov. 21, 1871, and in October

1875 his widow, removed to Chillicothe. She owns a

one hundred and fifty acre farm in Woodford Co., and

a house and two lots in Chillicothe.

BRADLEY JOSEPH, wagon and carriage

manufacturer, res. Chillicothe, was born in Manchester,

Lancashire, England, April 27, 1829, where he was reared

until fourteen, when he went to Yorkshire to learn his

trade, remaining there till 1851, when he came to Amer-
ica

;
married Mary Ann Storry, born in Yorkshire by

whom he has one child, Jane Ann, now Mrs. Heath of

Henry, 111. On arriving in the United States he set-

tled for a year in Wyoming Co. N. Y., and then

removed to Alleghany Co., where he started a shop and
ran it for about a year. He then, in 1854, came to

Chillicothe, and one year later established a manufac-

tory, which he has since continued. He turns out both

wagon and spring work. Has been alderman for eight

years. Owns an eighty acre farm of very choice land

in Sec. 20, and a half interest in 123 acres in Sec. 9 of

Chillicothe township. Also two stores and residence in

the town.

Brewer'^tiejrge, shoemaker, res. Chillicothe.
Biomlow B. farmer, rea. Chillicothe,
Bromelow J. clerk, res. Chillicothe.

BROWN MARGARET J. (widow of James
Brown, farmer), residence Chillicothe. Both Mrs.

Brown and her late husband were born in Chillicothe,

O. ; she in 1820; he in l8lo. Her parents, William
Dunlap and Jane Long, came to Chillicothe, Peoria

county, in 1835, where, in 1838, she was married. She
has seven children—Maria, Mrs. Sharman, Amanda,
Carrie, William, Milton, Mary, and Lucy Brown. Mr.
Brown was a farmer the most of his life, and he died

January 22, 1875. His widow owns 33 acres farming

land in Chillicothe township, and 220 acres in Wood-
ford county, also a residence in Chillicothe ; is a mem-
ber of the Baptist Church. At the time her parents

settled here, there were no farms within three miles of

the site of the town, and she is the only one now living

who settled in the town so early. »

Behe H. Mrs. residence Chillicothe.
Burch James, brEckmason and plasterer, residence Chillicothe
Burnett F. L. farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

CALDWELL H. F, druggist and postmaster,

residence Chillicothe. Was born in Marshall county,

111., in May, 1845, and is the son of James Caldwell

and Sables Hay, now living in Chillicothe. He was
educated at Lombard University, Galesburg, and took

a course of study at Commercial College in Peoria •

started in the drug business in Chillicothe in March,

1873. He enlisted in the army in 1863, but being only

eighteen years of age, his father refused to let him go

;

but, in 1865, he again enlisted in Company C, 14th

Regiment, I. V. I., and after serving eight mopths, was
discharged September 16, ,1865. Was appointed post-

master April I, 1873, and still holds that office. He
married. May 16, 1876, Margaret McMurray, who was
born in Scotland, February 8th, 1847, and who came to

America when only one year old, and Chillicothe ten

years later. Two children have blessed their union

—

Jessie Maud and Lewis H. Caldwell. Mrs. Caldwell

is a member of the Episcopal Church.
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Caldwell James, retired farmer, Chilllcotbe.
Caldwell WllUam, druggist, residence Cbllllcothe.
Callahan Mrs. T. res. Chilllcothe.

CARROLL CHARLES W. grain merchant

and dealer in live stock. Was born in Ohio in 1834.

Came in childhood with parents to Carroll county. 111.,

where he was educated. In 1857 he married Jane Mc-
Neill, in Henry county, a native of Ireland, and settled

in Annawan, engaging in mercantile pursuits ten years
;

then removed to Chillicothe in 1867, and embarked in

the grain and live stock trade, in which he has done a

heavy business. About four years ago, he established

the same business in Henry, Marshall county, where

he also handles a large amount of grain and live stock.

His first marriage resulted in three children—William

F., John C, and Estelle E. On December. 28, 1874,

Mr. Carroll united in matrimony with Miss 'Olive A.,

daughter of Dr. A. and Mrs. O. A. Wilmot, of Chilli-

cothe. About three years since, they removed to

Henry, Marshall county, where they now reside.

CARROLL JANE Mrs. res. Chillicothe, is

the daughter of John McNeill and Margurite Martin,

both natives of Ireland, is a twin and the eldest of

three children. Was born near Belfast, Ireland, Nov.

12, 1840, and came to America when three years old.

Settled near Portland, Whiteside county, 111, Her
father was a farmer, bat is now a local minister of the

M. E. Church, in northeastern Kansas. Mrs. Carroll

married, in 1857, Charles W. Carroll, in Henry county,

where her parents resided at the time, and lived in

Annawan, in that county, for ten years, coming to Chil-

licothe in 1867. Mr. Carroll was born in Ohio in 1834,

came to Illinois when four 'years of age, and has chiefly

been engaged in the mercantile and grain trade. They
had four children, three of them now living : William

F., born August 20, 1858
; John C, born September g,

i860; Rowena May (deceased), born July 22, 1865;

and Estella E., born November I, 1867. Mrs. Carroll

owns her residence and several lots, and has been

associated for many years with the Baptist Church.

Her mother died thirty-three years ago.

Carr Mrs. A. res. Chillicothe.
Carroll Joseph, fisherman, res. Chillicothe.

CLAPP G-EORGE H. farmer. Sec. 32, P. O.

Chillicothe. Was born in Watertown, N. Y., in Janu-
ary, 1833, and is the son of Dr. Ela Clapp, now a resi-

dent of Evanston, 111., and Lucy Huntington, who died

in his infancy. Both were natives of New York State.

During nis early years his parents removed from his

natal town, and settled for a time in Pennsylvania,

thence removing to Worthington, O. His father came
West to Farmington, Fulton county, and in 1853 to

Rome, Peoria county. The subject of this sketch mar-

ried, November 14, i860, Sarah A. Kelly, a native of

Pennsylvania, who died November 10, 1870, leaving

behind her one son, Charles L. Clapp, who was fifteen

years of age May, 1879. In 1873 he married Maria E.

Henthorn, who was born in Lacon, Marshall county,

by whom he has had one child, Stella, born July 16,

1876. Moved on his present farm in the Spring of 1866,

which is located on the northwest quarter of Sec. 32, a

finely improved farm, worth $50 an acre, upon which

he has himself made all the existing improvements.

Mr. Clapp was, in 1862, enrolling officer for the State

of Illinois.

COLWELL WILLIAM, mechanic and engi-

neer, res. Sec. 20, Chillicothe. Was born in Ross

county, O., June 18, 1832, and is the eldest of twelve

children. Came to Chillicothe in August, 1837, with

his parents, Washington and Rebecca Colwell, in com-

pany with a number of other families, and his parents

shortly afterwards bought a farm and moved a mile out

of town, Mr. Colwell has a natural aptitude for me-

chanics, and began to use tools very early in life, but

never served apprenticeship to any trade, though he

erected a dwelling for his father while yet a minor.

After working as a carpenter and millwright for a num-
ber of years, he devoted himself to engineering, and at

present owns a traction engine of his own invention,

with which he draws a thresher about the country. He
has also invented a register for measuring the grain

from the machine now in use, known as the Excelsior

register. Is now engaged in running a steam sheller

and a thresher, both of which he built himself. He
married, July 26, 1857, Hannah Albertson, who was

born in Ohio, in January, 1842, by whom he has three

children, Frank, Edward, and Willie, who live at home
with him. Owns a homestead dwelling and two acres

of land contiguous to the town.

Connor P. O. laborer, res. Chillicothe.
Cratz Jacob Mrs. farmer, P. O. Chilllcothe.

CRUTCHFIELD THOMAS J. farmer and

railroad man, Sec. 5, P. O. Rome. Was born in Louisa

county, Va., April 20, 1831, and is the only surviving

member of his family ; was brought up in Augusta

county,Va.; is the son of Aaron and Joan Crutchfield,

and his father was a farmer
; came to Stark county, 111.,

in 1864, and to Rome in 1866 ; has been division fore-

man of the Bureau Valley branch of the C, R. I. & P.

R. R. for thirteen years, and up till June I, 1879. He
enlisted in Co. C, 52d Va. Regiment Infantry, July 16,

1861, and served until July 16, 1864, when he left the

service without the consent of his officers, and was held

as a prisoner for thirty days after giving himself up at

Wheeling, W.Va.; served under " Stonewall " Jackson

and General Early. He married in 185 1, Martha Boyer,

a native of his own State, who died in 1858, leaving

one son— James W. In 1859 he married Nancy Lov-

ing, also of Virginia. He is a member of the I. O. O.

F. Lodge, No. 196, at Chillicothe
; owns fifty-four acres

of fine farm land, contiguous to the village of Rome,
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worth $3,000, and had twenty acres of it under water-

melons in the season of 1879.

Outright F. E. Mrs. res. ClillUcothe.
Darby Wm, carpenter, res. ChilUcothe.
Davis J. P. Rev. minister, res. Ghlliicotlie.
Defoe Joseph, farmer, P. O. Rome.
Defoe Julius, farmer, P. O. Borne.
Dixon Joel, laborer, res. ChilUcothe.
Doll William, barber, res. Chillioothe.

DONATH GOTTLOB, farmer, res. Chilli-

cothe. Was born in Germany, August 21, 1821, and

twenty years afterwards came to America, settling in

Ross county, Ohio, where he remained for eight years,

and removed from thence to his present farm in the

Fall of 1849. He married in 1846, Mary A. Black, a,

native of Ohio, and she died in 1857, leaving five chil-

dren, one of whom has since died. Those surviving

are, Christina, Catharine, John and William. Mr. Do-

nath remarried March 10, 1878, Rose Kauf, who was

born in Germany. He owns eighty-eight acres of finely

improved land in ChilUcothe, worth about $5,500.

Donaldson Geo. Mrs. capitalist, res. ChilUcothe.
Dougherty J. laborer, res. ChiUlcothe.
Drake Thomas, blacksmitli, res. ChilUcothe.
Dunbar Eliza J. farmer, P. O. ChilUcothe.
Euuis John, farmer, P. O. Chlllicotbe.
Entry Ellas, harnessmaker, res. Ghlllicothe.
Eutz E. harnessmaker, res. ChilUcothe.

FISHER JOHN, butcher, res. ChilUcothe. Was
born in Sheffield, England, February 9, 1833, and is

the son of John Fisher and Esther Pritchard. He
came to America when fifteen years old, and lived for

some years with an uncle near Springfield, O.; came to

Marshall county, 111., in 1856, and to ChilUcothe in

1862. He began butchering in Ohio, and has followed

that occupation since, except while in Marshall county,

where he farmed ; married in August, 1857, Miss Agnes

Ewing, who was born in Cathcart, Scotland, in 1835,

by whom he has five children living— Mary, Ellen, Jo-

seph, William and Fannie. He owns his residence and

shop, and two lots in town,

FISHER JOSEPH, painter and sign writer,

res. ChilUcothe. Was born in Sheffield, England, Au-

gust 26, 1837, and learned his trade in that country ; is

the son of John and Esther Fisher, and his mother is

still living in England ; married in the Spring of i860,

at Rotherham, Yorkshire, Emily Howard, who was

born in Sheffield in 1838, and they together came to

America in 1862, locating in ChilUcothe, Peoria

county, where he has since carried on his trade

;

have had four children, two of whom are now living—
Esther, born in Sheffield, England, in the Spring of

1861 ; Helen, born in ChiUicothe in 1862 ; Thos.

H., born in 1864, who died at six years of age

;

John P., born in 1866, who died at five years of age.

Mr. Fisher owns a homestead in ChilUcothe. Mrs. -

Fisher is a teacher of landscape water color painting

and drawing, and took a prize for off-hand drawing at

an exhibition of the School of Design at Sheffield in

1859.

Flemmlngs James, section boss 0., E. I. & P. res. ChilUcothe.

FULLER JOHN W. grain merchant, res.

ChilUcothe. Was born in Switzerland county, Ind., in

1840, and came to Peoria county in 1852 ; was chiefly

educated by his grandfather, the Rev. B. F. Fuller, a

Methodist minister, his health not permitting him to

attend school. He was for some years connected with

the firm of Moss, Bradley & Co., of Peoria, at first as

an employs, and later as a partner ; came to ChilUcothe

and began the business of buying and shipping grain in

1865, and afterwards married the daughter of Henry
Truitt, and became interested with him in the grain,

lumber and grocery business. In 1874 the business

was divided, since when Mr. Fuller has confined him-

self to dealing in grain, his wife being his only partner.

They handle about 500,000 bushels of grain a year.

Mrs. Fuller was born in Switzerland county, Ind., in

1851, and in the same house in -which her husband was

born.

Fuller Sarah P. Mrs. res. ChiUicothe.
Gibbons G. M. notary publicand attorney at law, res. ChiUicothe.
Gill John, farmer, P. O. Rome.
GiUiam Robert, farmer. P. O. CliiUicothe.
Gilliam R, W. farmer, P. O. ChlUicotlie.
Goddard L. M. laborer, res, ChilUcothe.
Goodwin Wm. farmer, P. 0. Ohlllicotbe.
(^ould Mrs. res. ChilUcothe.
Harm E. J. canal boatman, res. ChlUicotlie.
Harrigan Thomas, farmer, P. O. ChilUcothe.
Hayden Thomas, laborer, res. ChilUcothe.
Heaton R. blacksmith, res. ChUlicothe.
HUl Benj. Mrs. res. ChilUcothe.

HOLMAN HARVEY, general merchant

and banker, res. ChilUcothe ; was born in Cheshire

county, town of Winchester, N. H., September 10,

1806, and when ten years old removed to Warwick,

Franklin county, Mass. Ten years later he went to

Grafton, Worcester county, where he remained till

1835, when he went to St. Louis, Mo., remaining there

till 1846, and then came to ChilUcothe. The years 1849

and 1850, he spent in California, crossing the plains

with an ox team. While in St. Louis he was for six

years in the Collector's office, and the rest of the time

since coming West he has been in mercantile life.

When he first came to ChilUcothe he entered into

partnership with James H. Temple and J. H. Batch-

elder in the general mercantile business, which part-

nership lasted from 1846 till 1849, when he went to the

" Golden West." On his return he formed a partner-

ship with P. T. Matthews, in same line of business,

which they still profitably conduct. In 1859, he

married Sarah A. Stevens, who was born inj'ennsyl-

vania, and brought up in Cincinnati, O. MrsTHolman
has one child by a previous marriage. He engaged in

1868, along with Henry Truitt and P. T. Matthews in

the banking business. Owns an interest in the store

and business, and in considerable real estate outside,

and six acres in different lots, besides a. handsome

residence in town. Is a member of the Baptist Church

and Red Ribbon Club.
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HAMMETT JOHN, retired farmer, res.

Chillicothe, is a native of Warren county, Ky. ; was

born June 14, 1803 ; is the son of William and Anna
(Oliphant) Hammett. His education was confined to a

limited attendance in the common schools of his native

State, where he was reared on a farm, grew to manhood

and married Elizabeth Sumner on October 26, 1827.

She was born in Ohio county, Ky., December 12, 1809.

In 1830, they removed to Chillicothe township, and

settled on Sec. 9, in the then wilderness country, they

being the second family in the township. Wild Indians

and wild animals were their only neighbors. There a

rude home was erected and a farm improved upon

which they spent the years of active life, and had ten

children, only four of whom are now living : Zilpha A.

—Mrs. Bates (lately deceased) ; Hannah L.—Mrs.

McLaughlin ; A. W. Hammett—Mrs. Emily Miller,

and Mrs. Ellen Hosstelton. Mr. H. has filled several

local offices ; and he and wife have for many years been

zealous, consistent members of the M. E. Church.

They left the homestead, consisting of 270 acres, which

is now occupied by the son, and came to Chillicothe a

number of years ago, though they still own it and sev-

eral pieces of town property. This venerable couple

are only known to be respected ; and although they ex-

perienced many privations and braved the hardships of

a pioneer life, they refer to those years as among the

most enjoyed of life.

HARTENBOWEB CHRISTOPHER
F. farmer. Sec. 18, P. O. Chillicothe, was born in

Germany in 1832 ; came to America with his parents,

Christian and Catharine Hartenbouer, and settled in

Putnam county. 111., where he grew to manhood on a

farm, although his father was by trade a shoemaker.

Married January i, 1872, Madora Gray, who was born

in Pennsylvania, and they afterwards lived one year in

LaSalle county, and then came to Peoria county. They
have two children, Florence, born November, 1872, and

Lucinda, born April, 1875. He farms 200 acres in

good shape.

HOSSTELTON SAMUEL,, farmer, Sec. 9,

P. O. Chillicothe, was born in Pickaway county, O.,

in 1838, and is the son of George Hosstelton and Re-
becca Gooley ; came West with his parents to Sparland,

Marshall county, 111., where his father died in 1874. In

August, 1861, he enlisted in Co. G, 47th I. V. I., and

upon org^ization of the company was elected sergeant

;

was with nis regiment in the battles of Corinth, Siege

of Vicksburg, Jackson, up the Red River, and Pleasant

Hill, took part in twenty-eight engagements altogether,

and was filling the position of regimental commissary

sergeant when discharged, October i6, 1864. In Jan-

uary, i85i, he married Ellen Hammett, who was born on
the farm where they now reside, May g, 1844. They
settled in their present home in 1864, where they own

eighty acres of land worth about $40 per acre ; have

two children, John Franklin, aged seventeen, and

Ulysses S., aged five years. Mr. Hosstelton is captain

of the Old Soldiers' Association of Chillicothe.

HOYT GrEORGB A. stock dealer and butch-

er, res. Chillicothe. was born in Broome county, N. Y.,

August 16, 1825. His father, Elijah Hoyt, was from

New York State, and his mother, Elizabeth Scoville,

was a native of Connecticut. He came to Illinois in

the Fall of 1837, and for eight years resided in Fulton

county ; thence to Jones county, Iowa, where he farmed

for four years, and then returning to Illinois, settled on

his farm on Sec. 30, Chillicothe township. He then

began his present business, and, coming to town, kept

a grocery and butcher shop for a year ; then went to

the country for a year, and at its end returned to town,

where he has since resided. In June, 1848, he married

Amanda Scoville, who was born in Indiana, July 2,

1826, her parents being eastern folks. They have had

five children, only two of whom are now living, Linas

S. and Sarah E., the former aged thirty and the latter

fifteen. Mr. and Mrs. Hoyt have been members of the

M. E. Church from youth. He owns a store, two dwell-

ings, and several vacant lots in town, forty acres in Sec.

18, and 160 acres in Barton county. Mo.

Howe P. Mrs. res. Chillicothe.
Hughes B. harnessmaker, res. GMUicolhe.

HUMPHREY ELIAS F. real estate, loan

and insurance agent, res. Chillicothe, was born in

Switzerland county, Ind., April 15, 1827, and is the

oldest son and second child in a family of five. His

parents were Arthur Humphrey and Catharine Tripp
;

was reared on a farm and educated at Asbury Univer-

sity, Greencastle, Ind. ; came to Peoria county in 1864,

and was for four years in real estate business there
;

spent the years 1869-70 settling his father's estate in

Indiana, and in the latter year returned to Peoria

county and came to Chillicothe. He married in the

Fall of 1848 Eliza S. Jack, who was born in September,

1828, by whom he has had six children, three of whom
are alive, Edward S., Albert G. and Harrington. Has
served three terms as supervisor, and several years as

member of school board ; has been local correspondent

of Chillicothe Independent since February, 1879. He
owns three stores, his place of business, two residences

and several lots in town, besides several tracts of land

in the Western States.

Hunter H. A. saloon keeper, res. Chillicothe.
Hyde H. F. grooeryman, res. Chillicothe.
Hutchinson J. farmer, res. Chillicothe.
Jenks John, coal miner. P. O. Chillicothe.
Kenner J. L. res. Chillicothe,
Keyser Rebecca Mrs. farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

J Keyser Newton, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

KIMBLE ANDREW J. farmer. Sec. 30, P.

O. Chillicothe, was born in Summitt county, O,, Dec.

16, 1840, and is the son of Harmon Kimble and Sallie

Johnson. His mother dying when he was but fifteen
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months old, he made his home with his uncle, who set-

tled near Sparland, Marshall county, 111., in 1852. He
enlisted August 14, 1862, in Co. E, 86th I. V. I., and

participated with his regiment in the battle of Stone

River and other minor engagements ; was discharged,

owing to disability, in the early part of February, 1863.

He married Julia A. Record, October 13, 1864, who
was born in Rensselaer county, N. Y.,Dcc. 6, 1846, and

has three sons, Charles D., aged thirteen ; William D.,

aged nine, and Lyman B., aged four years. He came

to his present home in March, 1874, where he owns 200

acres of finely improved farming lands in Sees. 30 and

31, worth $50 an acre. This property is the result of

his own hard work and economy, as he had only a cap-

ital of $50 on his return from the army, and never had

a dollar's assistance from any one ; has run a threshing

machine for eighteen years.

KINIiOCH JAMES M. book-keeper, res.

Chillicothe, was born in Aberdeenshire, Scotland, April

27, 1845, and is the third child iii a family of nine

children. His parents were Alexander J. Kinloch and

Margaret Hutcheon, He was educated in Edinburgh
;

was three years in the English army, 1859 to '61, in-

clusive, and was at sea during the years 1862 and '63
;

came to America in i868, and in the early part of 1874

entered the employ of Fuller & Co. as book-keeper

and general manager. He married Elizabeth Menzies,

who was born in Scotland in 1850 and came toAmerica

when a child, by whom he has five children : Ephraim

R., Caroline C, Ernest, Bertram Fuller, and Bernard

J. Kinloch ; is a member of the I. O. O. F. and the

leader of the St. Cecilia Quintette Band (brass). He
owns a homestead, honse and two lots in the city.

Krite H. farmer, P. O. Borne.
Kruse Klaas, blacksmith, res. Chllllcoche.
Largent John, capitalist, res. Chillicothe.
Largent J. H. Mrs. res. Chillicothe.
Lawson J. gardener. P. O. Home.
Lester G. P. grocer, Chillicothe.
Lonstrom G. Mrs. P. O. Borne.
Lonstrom John, engineer, res. Chillicothe.

liORING FRANCES E. Mrs. milliner, res.

Chillicothe.

Lloyd M. laborer, res. Chillicothe.
Martin Stephen, dealer in agricultural implements and hard-

ware, res. Chillicothe
Martin Thomas, dealer in agricultural implements and hard-

ware, res. Chillicothe.

MATHEWS PHILIP T. merchant and

banker, res. Chillicothe, was born on the James river,

in Essex county, Va., on March 6, 1822 ; is the second

of three children and only son of John R. and Frances

A. (Temple) Mathews. In 1834 lie came to Chicago

and spent a year in school ; thence went to Richmond,

Va., and remained two years ; thence to Philadelphia,

Penn., for two years, when he came to Peoria county

and was employed two years on a farm ; thence to St.

Louis, from whence he returned a year or so later, and

engaged as clerk for Benton, Franklin & Co., and after-

wards for Temple & Rogers, in Chillicothe. Spent one

52

season up the Missouri river with brothers-in-law Tem-
ple and George Baker; returned to Chillicothe in 1842

and, in company with John H. Batchelder, bought the

small store of David W. Heath & Co., but soon after

sold out to James H. Temple & Co. and bought an in-

terest in a store with John Mofifitt, under the firm name
of Moffitt & Co. After several changes in the firm, Mr.

M. sold out for $7,000 in cash, five hogsheads of su-

gar and a warehouse worth some $4,000. In the Fall

of 1858 he formed a partnership with Harvey Holman,

and purchased the stock of general merchandise owned
by O. W. Young, and engaged in the dry goods busi-

ness, which they still conduct. Their establishment,

besides containing a large and comprehensive assort-

ment of dry goods and notions, has a boot and shoe

department and a large and well selected stock of

ready - made clothing and gentlemen's furnishings.

Their store, especially in the last named department,

is a model of taste and convenience seldom met with

anywhere. Mr. M. married Minerva, daughter of John

Mofiitt, who was born in Peoria county. 111., which

union has resulted in four children, three living : Lucy

(Mrs. Sidney Wood), Minnie (Mrs. Wm. M. Mead),

and John P. at home. A number of years ago, Messrs.

Mathews & Holman embarked in the banking business

in company with Mr. H. Truitt,as the firm of Truitt,

Mathews & Co., since which the concern has done an

extensive and prosperous business. They are also quite

largely interested in real estate.

McCUIiLEY JOHN W. farmer, Sec. 18, P.

O. Chillicothe, was born in Gallia county, O., near Gal-

liopolis, September 12, 1835, and was brought up in

Ross, till 1849, when he came west with his mother and

settled in Chillicothe township, not a mile from where

he now resides. His father's name was RoUa McCul-

ley, and his mother's name Nancy Devers. His father

died when he was but six years old. During the six

years prior to i86i he was engaged in the grocery

business in Chillicothe, and in the Fall of that year

went to California, where he spent two Summers in

tobacco culture, and planted fifty acres in the Sonoma

Valley, Sonoma county, in that State. Went in Spring

of 1864 to Idaho, and worked in the gold mines for two

years and clearing $3,000 in the last three months, he

returned to his old home in Peoria county in the

Winter of 1865. On November II, 1858, he married

Emily Thompson, who was born in Jefferson City, Mo.,

April 2, 1841, by whom he has had two chMren —
RoUa, born August 29, 1859, and John J., born Febru-

ary II, 1862. Came to his present farm November Ii,

1878, where he has 160 acres of good land.

McDonald Mat. farmer, res. Chillicothe.
MoFarland J. Janitor, res. Chillicothe.
McGrew Dennis Mrs. res. Chillicothe.
McLaughlin Lewis, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.
McLaughlin Saml. B. farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

McLEAN WILiIilAM, grocer, res. ChUlicothe,
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is a native of Edinburgh, Scotland, born June 17,

l8i6. He remained in the old country till twenty-six

years of age, and learned the confectioner's trade, be-

ginning at the age of eleven years. In 1842 he crossed

the Atlantic and located in St. Louis, where he was

engaged at his trade twelve years, except the years

1848 and 1849, which were spent in Europe. Having

married Miss Margaret Menzies, who was born in

Glasgow, Scotland, in May, 1817, they removed, to

Chillicothe in August, 1855, and Mr. McLean embarked

in the grocery business. They have but one child,

Dorcas, now the wife of George P. Lester, a partner in

the firm of McLean & Lester. Mr. and Mrs. Lester

have three children, Anna, WiUiam and Edward. Mr.

McLean has been a member of the A. F. & A. M. since

1843 ; is a member of both the Chapter and Com-

mandery. He has served his town efficiently in the

County Board of Supervisors for some years and is

now filling that office. Owns a fine residence property

and a. large store, in which the firm carry one of the

most complete and extensive stocks of groceries in the

county. Mr. McLean has seven times crossed the

Atlantic, having made three trips to Europe since he

first came over.

HcManamy T. S. carpenter and builder, Chillicothe,

MEAD WIIiLIAM M. druggist, res. Chilli-

cothe, was born in Chillicothe township, January i,

1849, and is the eldest child of Hiram M. Mead and

Sarah Fosdick, who had a family of two boys and three

girls. His father is a resident of Kansas. Mr.

Mead was educated in the State Normal School, and

afterwards worked for four years in the grocery store of

Mr. Truitt ; subsequently in 1868 began the drug busi-

ness with T. H. Hurst, representing, his father's joint

interest in the concern, and in two years bought out

Mr. Hurst's interest, and in 1875 that of his father, be-

coming sole owner. He married November 27, 1876,

Miss Minnig Matthews, daughter of P. T. Matthews,

by whom he has one child— Cliffijrd H.— born Sep-

tember 4, 1877. Mrs. Mead was born in Peoria county,

August 31, 1856. Mr. Mead is school treasurer, and

has been an Alderman of the town. Has a fine store

and one of the finest residences in town. •

Menzies R. Mrs. res. Ghiliicothe.
Mitchell Ell, jeweler, res. Uhtllicothe.

MITCHELL E. A. grocer, res. Chillicothe, is

the son^f Eli Mitchell and Mary Ashworth, and was

born in the year 1854, in Leeds, Yorkshire, England.

Came with his parents to America in 1858, and settled

in Peoria county. Came to Chillicothe the same year,

and when seventeen years of age began selling gro-

ceries ; began business on his own account in 1877,

under the firm name of Mitchell & Andrews, and has

since done a fine and growing business. His parents

are both living in town ; and his father is in the jewelry

business. Mr. Mitchell is a member of 1. O. O. F.,

and at present fills the position of Noble Grand in the

local lodge.

Moffitt Abner, flshermau, res. Chillicothe.

MOPPITT ELIZABETH MEAD Mrs.,

M. D., Chillicothe, is the youngest of a family of five

children of Mr. and Mrs. Mead, and was bom on

the 23d of June, 18 16, in Chillicothe, Ohio; was edu-

cated at Gallipolis and Worthington, that State, and

by her stepfather, David W. Bates, a graduate of Har-

vard University. Her grandfather was the first hat

manufacturer in Danbury, Conn., and had his estab-

lishment burned by the British during the war of the

revolution. His father emigrated from England in his

own vessel, bringing the bricks for the fireplace in the

house he erected in Orange county, N. Y. Mrs. M.'s

grandmother helped to make the great cheese that was

presented to Thomas Jefferson. Mrs. M. came to Illi-

nois with her mother and stepfather, locating in Mar-

shall county, in 1838. She taught school about seven

years, and finally studied medicine, and has practiced

in the homeopathic system for about seventeen years.

She has been married twice, first to Mr. Gibbons, by

whom she has two living sons. Her secondhusband was

Jeremiah Moffitt, also a native of Ross county, Ohio,

whom she married on March 8, 1846, and settled in

Chillicothe township, on a farm a mile west of Chilli-

cothe. Some years later Mr. M. abandoned farming

and engaged in the mercantile business in town, where

he died April 3, 1857. Five children were the fruit of

their union, four living— Maud, Frank B., Laura C.

and Eugene. Jeremiah died in September, 1870.

Mr. Moffitt left an estate of 350 acres, and a nice

property in the city of Chillicothe.

Moffltt John, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.

MOPPITT WILLIAM, farmer. Sec. 16, P.

O. Chillicothe, was born on an adjoining farm on Sec.

17, March 22, 1839, and is the son of John Moffitt and

Margaret Dawson. His father was the son of John

Moffitt and Lydia Cox, and was born in Ross county,

Ohio, Nov. 5, 1802, and there grew to manhood. For

fifteen years he followed flat boating down the Ohio,

by way of the Scioto, and thence to New Orleans

;

made his first trip in 1819. Along with eight of his

brothers and sisters he came West, and settled in Peo-

ria county at a very early day ; one of his brothers set-

tled in Stark county. He married in his native county

August 8, 1824, Margaret Dawson, who was born April

24, 1805, by whom he has had nine children— Joshua,

Alonzo, Hugh, Minerva (Mrs. P. T. Mathews), Matilda,

Louisa (Mrs. A. A. Rankin), William, Mary (Mrs. Geo.

M. Dixon), and John. The old gentleman and his

wife now live in a fine home on the spot where their

first log cabin was erected in the Fall of 1834. He owns

1 ,500 acres in a body in Chillicothe township. Mi,
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Wm. Moffitt was reared on his father's farm, and has

thus far devoted his life to it. He enlisted as private in

Co. I. 7th Mo. V. I. June l8, l86l, was promoted ser-

geant in July, 1863, and was discharged in June of the

next year. He married December 29, 1869, Adda I.

Pond, who was born in Belmont county, Ohio, Novem-

ber 24, 1849, by whom he has one son— Philip A.,

born December 12, 1870. He farms 160 acres of land

upon which he settled immediately after marriage.

Mullen Patrick, farmer, res. ChlUlcothe.

MURPHY DANIEIi L. harness maker and

city marshal, Chillicothe, was born in Columbus, Ohio

May 17, 1845, and is the son of John Murphy and

Sarah Brown: His father was a farmer and a native

of Ohio, and is still living at Elmwood in this county.

His mother was born in Pennsylvania. When very

young he came with his parents to Kosciusko county,

Ind., and in 1854 removed to Berrien county, Mich.

Came to Elmwood, Peoria county, in the Fall of 1861

to learn the trade of harness maker, and in the succeed-

ing Fall enlisted in Co. I. 77th I. V. I. ; was present at

the siege of Vicksburg, at Arkansas Post and up the

Red river, under Gen. Banks ; was discharged in Au-

gust, 1865 ; served as harness maker for the 13th Army
Corps during the latter part of his term of service.

Upon discharge he returned to Elmwood where he

compileted his trade, and in 1S67 set up in business in

Brimfield, removing thence to Chillicothe in 1870,

where he has since resided. Has been running a dray

for some years. He married Mary J. Aungst, a native

of Pennsylvania, by whom he has three children—
Minnie Alice, Gertrude May, and Irvin Louis. Was
elected city marshal in April, 1879 ; is a member of the

I. O. O. F., and owns his residence and two lots in

town.

Nash Josepb, laborer, res. Borne.

NASH ROSWELL M. farmer. Sec. 7, P.O.

Rome, was born in Fairfield, Corn., March 28, 1828,

and is the eldest of six children of Henry Nash and

Rebecca Raymond. Came to Springfield, 111., in 1851,

and for four years lived near Abraham Lincoln's house
;

settled on his present farm in 1855. He enlisted

October 10, 1864, in Co. D., nth I. V. I., and was

present at the siege of Spanish Fort and Fort Blakely ;

was slightly wounded by a spent ball on the neck at

the former action, and was mustered out October 20,

1865. In 1854 he married Sarah E. Jennings, who was

born in Connecticut, October ao, 1829, by whom he has

five children : Marvin Melville, Henry Homer and

Morris Raymond, twins, Lorena Hill, and Nellie Eliza-

beth. Mr. Nash has held some local offices, is a mem-
b.r of the order of Patrons of Husbandry, and o^yns

114 acres in the home farm, worth about $4,000,

NelU Stewart^ trader and Ice dealer, rea. Chllllcotbe.

NICHOLSON CHARLES, farmer and stone

and brick mason. Sec. 6, P.O. Rome, was born in Lan-

cashire, England, and is the son of Thomas and Helen

Nicholson ; came to America and settled in Jackson-

ville, 111., in 1840, where he remained for ten years

;

thence to Sangamon Bottoms, Cass Co., where he en-

gaged in farming, and seven years later sold out and

removed to Beardstown, where he resided for six years,

and carried on a dry goods business. In 1863 he came

to Rome, Peoria Co., with the intention of establishing

a dry goods business and built for that purpose, but

not being fully satisfied with the prospect, ultimately

abandoned the idea ; married in England, in '1829,

Miss Mary Needham, also a native of Lancashire, by

whom he has had seven children, five of whom are now
living: Ellen, wife of Robert Cole; John, editor of

lUinoisan, Beardstown ; Thomas, Samuel and Charles.

Mr. Nicholson joined the M. E. Church, in Jackson-

ville in 1846, and his wife is also a member of the same

body. He is superintendent of Sunday school in Rome
;

owns eighty-two acres fine farming land in home farm,

worth $50 per acre.

Nicholson T. B. farmer and vrocer. res. Rome.
Null Uriah, painter, res. Cbilllcotbe,
Oakford Thomas, carpenter, res. Chillicothe.
Parsons L. farmer, P. O. Chillicothe.
Perry Peter, farmer, P. O. Bome.

PETRY ADAM, miller, res. Chillicothe, was

born in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, July 5, 1842, and

is the son of John and Elizabeth Petry. When eight

years old he removed with his parents to Holmes

county, Ohio, where they still live. Is the second child

in a family of four sons and two daughters. Engaged

in the grain trade at Millersburg, Ohio, for a number

of years, thence removed to Chicago, and for one year

was in the clothing and furnishing business, after which

he located in Chillicothe in 1868, and fitted up his pres-

ent mill. He married, in 1863, Miss Lizzie Foust, by

whom he has one son, Victor A., born in December,

1867. Is a member of Masonic Blue Lodge and Chap-

ter, and also of I. O. O, F.

PIPER G-EO. M. beekeeper, res. Chillicothe,

was born in Jefferson City, Missouri, February 12, 1842.

His parents were Geo. H, Piper and Elizabeth A.

Thompson, the former a native of Virginia, and the

latter of Indiana, and he is the second of their seven

children. His parents came to Peoria in 1849, and his

father went to California. Two years later removed to

a farm in Medina township, and several years after-

wards to a farm one mile north of Chillicothe, where he

grew up to manhood. On September 19, 1861, he

enlisted in Co. A., 17th I. V. I., and fought in the bat-

tles of Fredericktown, Missouri, in October of that year.

Fort Donaldson and Shiloh. Was discharged from

hospital at Keokuk, Iowa, owing to disability, Decem-

ber 18, 1862, and tor a year attended school in Omaha ;

kept books for about nine years, one year for General
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Sheridan ; was in the milling business for two years in

Omaha, and was burned out with total loss in 1872.

Settled in Chillicothe in 1873 ; kept books for two

years for U. S. Express Co., which position he resigned

in August, 1877, and has since been engaged in bee

culture. He married June 20, 1865, in Keokuk, Iowa,

Victoria Louie Griffin, who was born in Indiana, No-

vember 15, 1847, and was brought up in Illinois, by

whom he has two children — Adrienne May, aged eight

years, and Casimir Lee, aged four. He owns his res-

idence and two lots in town.

Powell E. trapper, res. Chillicothe.
Proctor A. C. tarmer, res. Borne.
Pratt Olarrlsa Mrs, residence, Chillicothe.

PKOCTOR ALFRED S. Capt. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born in Washington county, O.,

May 16, 1820. His father was from Massachusetts, his

mother from Rhode Island. His father was one of the

early pioneers of Ohio, one of what was known as the

" Ohio Company," that crossed the Alleghany Moun-

tains and opened up the wilderness of Ohio about Ma- •

rietta and the Muskingum River, during the prevalence

of the early French and Indian wars.

Alfred S. remained with his parents upon the farm

until the age ot fourteen, when he received a terrible

wound in the forehead from the kick of a horse, that

fractured his skull and brought him near to death's

door, and resulted in great and protracted physical

prostration. His father soon after dying, he went to

reside with an older brother, Jacob, a merchant of Law-

rence county, Ohio, with whom he continued as clerk

and partner for twenty-one years, when he sold out his

interest and came to Illinois, in 1856, engaging in agri-

culture at the head of Peoria Lake, near the town of

Chillicothe. He was married in 1846 to Miss Vilaty

Reckard, by whom he had two children, one only living,

Eva, now married and residing in Ohio. His wife died

in 1843, and in 1846 he was again married to Miss

Elizabeth Gillett, by whom he has three children—
Newell, Vesta and O'rla—all living. He has been rea-

sonably successful in business, having acquired a com-

petency of this world's goods.

Mr. Proctor, from boyhood, has been somewhat

actively engaged in the Sabbath school, temperance and

other benevolent enterprises, and being a man of de-

cided opinions, and outspoken, he has often arrayed

men bitterly against him, because of duplicity exposed

or nefarious schemes thwarted. Residing for many

years on the banks of the Ohio river, near the bound-

ary between Virginia and Kentucky, he had an oppor-

tunity to observe the workings of slavery, and early

formed and expressed anti-slavery sentiments that made

him an object of dislike to slaveholders across the

border and their sympathizers and instruments on this

side, and at one time he came near losing his life at the

hands of a pro-slavery mob, after having addressed a

meeting on the subject of slavery and the return of

fugitives to bondage. When the war of the rebellion

began, he enlisted as a private, Aug. 13, 1862, in Com-

pany C, 86th Illinois Volunteer Infantry. He was

mustered in Aug. 27 asa sergeant, and as first sergeant

in December following. He was with his regiment in

its campaigns in Kentucky, Tennessee and Georgia,

and participated in the battles of Perryyille, Chicka-

mauga. Mission Ridge, Resaca, Peach Tree Creek and

Atlanta. He was wounded at Perryville, and again at

Resaca, being thereby subjected to some three months'

experience in hospital life.

While the army was before Atlanta, he received no-

tice through the Adjutant-General of the Army, of his

appointment by the President as a lieutenant in the

57th United States Colored Infantry, in the 7th

Army Corps, stationed in Arkansas, to take effect from

and after June 20, 1864. He was mustered as first

lieutenant, Aug. 29, 1864, and assigned to the command
of Company A. Soon after joining his regiment, he

was detached to staff duty at headquarters first brigade,

second division, 7th Army Corps, as Acting Assistant

Adjutant-General, and while on duty there was pro-

moted to captain and mustered as such Jan. 6, 1865.

He cnntinued to serve on staff and with his regiment un-

til May 22, 1866, when he was honorably discharged

from the service.

Mr. Proctor was for some years engaged in mercan-

tile business in Peoria, but last year purchased the large

farm known as the Boken Farm, at Rome, and removed

to it in the Fall of 1879.
'

BAMEY AliFKED H. grocer, Chillicothe,

was born in Peoria, January 6, 1846, is the third in a

family of seven children of Alfred H. Ramey and

Melona Rathbone, natives of Pennsylvania. When
about six months old, they removed to Hallock town-

ship, where he was brought up on a farm, and in the

Spring of 1864 he entered government employ, freight-

ing to the government posts on the frontier. He helped

to erect Forts Phil Kearney and Smith, and on Octo-

ber 30, 1865, he volunteered to go out with the soldiers

to fight the Sioux and Cheyenne Indians, and was

wounded five times at Pine river. One of his wounds

cost him his right leg at the hip, and he arrived home

July 23rd of the following year, being just- able to ride

on a couch. After regaining something of his strength,

he took a course at the Commercial Collie, in Peoria,

and with a capital of $4, he started in business in

that city with a littlanfruit and nut stand, on the

corner of Main and Washington streets. In three

months he netted $300, and coming to Chillicothe,

entered the grocery and fruit business, which he has

since profitably continued. He married in 1S69, Alice

Brower, who died eighteen months later, leaving be-

hind her one child, Mary V. Ramey. In October, 1872,
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he married Emma Seeley, a native of Peoria county,

by whom he has had three children, two of whom,

Myrtle and Eugene, are now living. He owns his

store, house and lot in town, and has been able, besides

making his own way in life, to afford material assistance

to many of his friends.

RatllS Jobn, farmer, P. O. ObllUcothe.
Regan Chas. blacksmltb, residence ChllUootbe.
Beynolds L. Mrs. residence, GhllUcotlie.
Bicker Wm. Mrs. residence CbUlicottae.
Rldmour Gr B. farmer, residence GhllUcothe.
Kidgway Ezra, farmer, P. O. CbilUcothe. .

Rose H. S. farmer, P. 0. Rome.
Rotanza Wm. saloon, residence GbiUlcotbe.
Scboles M. Mrs. residence GbiUlcotbe.

SGHEELfSR AMON, farmer. Sec. 17, P. O.

Chillicothe, was born in Germany, April 24, 1832, and

was there raised on a farm, coming to America in 1852.

He remained in New York State for over two years,

farming, and in the Fall of 1855, came to Peoria

county, and settled on his present farm with a total

capital of $65, and for the next two years, worked

out by the month. After several removals, one of

whi9h was to Kansas for one season, he finally settled

down on his farm in 1875. He farms 320 acres

of land, and owns 160 acres in home farm, worth

about $10,000 ; makes a specialty of breeding

horses—the Korman crossed with thoroughbreds—and

also breeds Short-horn cattle, and Poland and China

hogs. In 1856 he married Sarah Dixon, a. native of

Ohio, by whom he has had four children, viz. : Rose

Matilda, Frances M., now Mrs. Kellenback ; Arthur J.,

and Carrie Scheeler.

Seymour H. laborer, res. GbiUlcotbe.

SHEPARD FRANCIS B. farmer. Sec. 8,

P. O. Chillicothe. Was born in Courtland county, N.

Y., in 1820, and is the son of Nathaniel Shepard and

Polly Billings. His father was a native of New Hamp-
shire and his mother of Vermont. Being the son of a

farmer he was brought up on > farm in his native

county, removing from there in 1846 to Kalamazoo

county, Mich., where he remained for fourteen years

;

came to Chillicothe in the Spring of i860, and to his

present farm a year later ; was married December 24,

1844, to Hannah Smith, a native of Broome county, N.

Y., who has presented him with four children— Mary

E., Mrs. Carver, Ellen, Mrs. Snowden, Neil, Earnest

F. and Ada Shepard. Mr. Shepard owns 280 acres in

the home farm, worth about $6,000, and has been for

several terms township assessor and commissioner of

highways.

Sbane Wm. road commissioner, As. GbiUlcotbe.
Slelm Mary Ann, res. GblUlcoth^
Storey Clarrlsa Mrs. res. GbiUlcotbe.
Storey J, tailor, res, GbiUlcotbe.
Storey Wm. deputy sberlff, res. GbiUlcotbe.

STOWELI/ SOLOMON, retired lumber mer-

chant, res. Chillicothe. Was born in Bainbridge, Che-

nango county, N. Y., July 27, i8ig, and is the seventh

in a family of twelve children, of Arad Stowell and

Marcy Warner, daughter of Col. Warner, of Revolu-

tionary fame. His father was born in Vermont and

his mother in New Haven, Conn, He was brought up

on a farm, and was educated at Oxford, Mannington

and Newtonville academies; taught school during

Winter months for many years, and for three years

continuously, at Annapolis, Md.; sailed from Buffalo

in October, 1849, on the " A. D. Patchin,'' with 1,000

passengers, and arrived at Chicago after a passage of

nine days ; came directly to Chillicothe, and made his

home with Lyman Robinson. In March, 1855, he mar-

ried Ostana Pratt, who was born in Broome county, N.

Y., February 27, 1822 ; settled on a farm in La Prairie

township, Marshall county, for eight years, and exe-

cuted many improvements, and in 1863 removed to

Chillicothe. Went into the lumber trade, and acted

as salesman for Jack & McFadden for three years, at

the expiration of which time he bought a yard, and

conducted it on his own account for several years, when

he retired from business. Has been township clerk

and school treasurer for a number of years ; owns his

dwelling and a number of lots in town. Both himself

.and wife are members of the Reformed Episcopal

Church.

STUBBR ADAM Capt. farmer, Chillicothe.

Was born in Bavaria, Europe, June 15, 1824 ; came to

the United States in 1839, and settled in Holmes coun-

ty, Ohio, where he remained until he enlisted to parti-

cipate in the war with Mexico, in 1846 ; went through

with Gen. Scott's command to the end of the conflict

;

came to Illinois and settled in Chillicothe in 1849 >

married Elizabeth Sherlotte, a native of Peoria county,

in April, 1852. She died two years after, leaving one

child, Emma— Mrs. Groom. In 1856 Mr. Stuber

married Louisa Groom, born in Virginia in 1834. Their

union has resulted in eight children, only two of whom
are living, Philip and Albert D. Mr. S. recruited Co.

M, of the nth Illinois Cavalry, in Chillicothe, in the

Fall of 1861, and went out as its captain, which position

he held until mustered out of service in the Fall of

1863. He has served a number of years in the Board

of Aldermen of Chillicothe, and is now a member of

that body. Is also a prominent member of the Tem-
perance Reform Club, and a very effective and zealous

worker in that commendable cause. In 1864 or 1865

he, in connection with Mr. George Gibbons, laid out

an addition to the city of Chillicothe, Owns a 190

acre farm in the township, and several city lots, also a

farm in Cowley county, Kansas.

TAYIjOR ORRIN, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe;

THOMAS ALEXANDER C. grocer, res.

Chillicothe. Was born in Champaign county, Ohio,

May 30, 1832, and came with his parents to Peoria

county in 1836, removing thence to Woodford county,

III., four years later, where his parents both died in
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1844. In the same year he came to Chillicothe, and

sold goods as clerk, and bought grain, etc., till 1S61,

when he embarked in the grocery business, succeeding

J. W. McCoUough, and carrying it on till 1866, when
he sold it back to Mr. McCoUough. In 1867-68 he

erected a planing mill, and ran it for six months, when

he sold out the machinery and afterwards converted

the building into a flouring mill, selling it in 1871 to

Adam Petry, the present owner. He re-embarked in

the grocery business in 1873, and has since profitably

carried it on. He married Annie E. Aspinall,

who was born in England, August 29, 1839, by whom
he has had five children— Charles A., Ellen J., Ed-

ward L., Mary E. and Annie M. Thomas. Mr.

Thomas is a member of the I. O. O. F., and the oldest

member save one in Calumet Lodge, No. ig6; has

filled several township offices, among them those of

supervisor, assessor, collector and town clerk ; owns a

dwelling and several other pieces of property in town.

Thomas Mallnda, res. ChilUcotbe.

THOMAS JOSEPH F. physician, res. Chil-

licothe, was born in Urbana, Champaign county, C,
July 14, 1826, and his parents, removed to Hallock

township, Peoria county, in the Fall of that year.

There were then some eight families settled on the

borders of La Salle Prairie to the south, and between

them and Fort Clark (now Peoria); but on the north

there were none nearer than the settlement of

Galena, one hundred and forty-two miles away. His

father bought and settled on the north half of section

26. Dr. Thomas was educated at the High School of

Princeton, and an Academy in Greene county, 111.; read

medicine with Drs. Chamberlain and Paddock, of

Princeton, and graduated from the medical department

of Missouri University, St. Louis, March i, 1852;

practiced till 1854 with Dr. Chamberlain, at Princeton,

and then removed to Northampton, Peoria county,

where he practiced till 1862. Upon August 27th, of

that year, he entered the service of the United States

as captain of Company C, 86th I. V. I.; was promoted

major, March 25, 1864 ; served as assistant surgeon of

hospital No. 25, at Nashville, Tenn., during the Win-
ter of 1862-3 ; was wounded by a musket ball in the

thigh, October 5, 1864, near Florence, Ala., and still

carries the ball in his body ; was disabled by the

wound for ten weeks. He was mustered out of service

at Washington, D. C, June 6th, 1865. He married at

Joliet, 111., April 12, 1852, Miss Emeline Walker, who
was born in Ashtabula county, Ohio, July 5, 1830, and
seven children have resulted from their union, four

daughters and three sons—three daughters and two

sons living : Inez, now Mrs. HoUoway, residing at

Winfield, Kas.; Dr. O. H. Thomas, residing in Chilli-

cothe, and partner of his father ; Watie, Trella, and

Lewis H. Since his return from the army, the doctor

has practiced in Chillicothe; has been president of

Marshall County Medical Society, and one of the

Board of Censors of Peoria City Medical Association

;

also, a member of the State Medical Association. He
was one of the organizers of Chillicothe Red Ribbon

Club.

TOMIilNSON JOSHUA O., M. D. res.

Chillicothe, was born in Lexington, Ky., on the loth

day of April, 1807. His parents. Ambrosia and Mary

Tomlinson nee Dykes, were natives of Virginia, where

they died at a ripe old age. His grandsire, William

Tomlinson, settled in that State in 1780, and was one

of the pioneers. Young Tomlinson read medicine

with Drs. Watson and Sneed, Frankfort, Ky.; attended

lectures in the medical department of Transylvania

University, Lexington, and was awarded the degree of

M. D. from that institution in 1836. He practiced

several years in Frankfort ; from thence came to Chilli-

cothe in November, 1840, where he has been an active

member of the profession for nearly forty years. He
renounced the allopathic system in 1858,' and has since

been a staunch advocate and practitioner of the homeo-

pathic school. In the Fall of 1836, he married Clar-

inda H. Craig, born in Zanesville, O., by whom he had

four children ; only one now living— Anna, thirty,

three years old. Mrs. Tomlinson died December 29,

1853. The doctor has ever been prominently identi-

fied with the moral and educational interests of society;

for many years a member of the local School Board,

and is police justice of Chillicothe.

THOMPSON ]!fEWTON, manufacturer of

tinware and stove merchant, res. Chillicothe, was born

in St. Thomas, Canada, October 5, 1844, and came

with his parents to United States, in 1852, settling in

Peoria ; came to Chillicothe in i860, and in the follow-

ing year began the tinners' trade, which he continued

for over five years, and then worked for a year in

Peoria ; thence to Peru, 111., where he worked for five

years, and returning to Chillicothe, in March, 1875,

entered into business on his own account in the next

March. He married Henrietta Bell, August 31, 1874,

who is of English parentage, and was born October

4, 1852. They have two children : Mabel, born June

3, 1875, and Claude, born Feb. 27, 1877 ; owns his

dwelling and five lots in town.

Turner M, Mrs. res. Chillicothe.

TRUITT HENBY, banker, res. Chillicothe,

was born in Switzerland county, Indiana, Jan. I, 1819,

Is the oldest of four chil%en of William and Elizabeth

Truitt nee Remley. He enjoyed a limited attendance

at the district school, in a log school house, until thir-

teen years of age, when, having lost his father five years

before, he started out to provide his own living. Hired

the next year to T. S.jBradley, then engaged in buying

and shipping produce on the Ohio and Mississippi
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rivers, and continued in that trade eighteen years. At

the age of thirty-two he came West, and settled in Chil-

iicothe, and embarked in the grain, lumber and pro-^

duce business, under the firm name of Truitt & Jack.

Their trade soon became heavy, running many thous-

and dollars a year. In 1868, Mr. T., in company with

S. C. Jack, P. T. Mathews and Harvey Holman, estab-

lished a bank in Chillicothe, in which business he is

still engaged as cashier and manager, and has been very

successful. Some years ago Mr. Jack retired from the

firm, leaving the other three partners in control. In

March, 1843, Mr. T. married Miss Frances Godard, a

native of Indiana, who died in 1863, leaving two chil-

dren, Sarah, now Mrs. J. W. Fuller, and Frances E,,

now Mrs. N. S. Cutright. Mr. Truitt married Eliza

Moffit Jan. I, 1865, who was born in Ross county, Ohio.

Their union has resulted in one child, RoUin H. Truitt.

Mr. T. has over 600 acres of land in Peoria, besides a

large quantity in other counties. He has been many
years a member of the Baptist Church, and a prominent

temperance worker.

Un«er John, laborer, res. Chillicothe.
Watson Thos. laborer, res. Chillicothe.

WEBER ANDREW, furniture manufacturer

and dealer, residence Chillicothe, was born in Germany,

November 15, 1827, and came to America with his

parents when nine years of age ; settled in Baltimore

for one year, and then removed to Cincinnati. His

father, Jacob Weber, having come to Woodford county,

Illinois, and bought a farm, returned to Cincinnati for

his family, and embarked with them on board steamer

" Mosrel " May 5, 1839. When about half a mile above

Cincinnati, the four boilers of the steamer exploded,

and she went down in ten minutes, and by this sad

accident Mr. Weber lost his father, two sisters and a

brother, and another of the family was severely wounded.

They lost every thing, and when, three months later,

his mother, with the remnant of the family, came on to

Woodford county, they had just money enough to buy

a cow. Up to the age of fourteen he shared his mother's

log cabin, and endured all the privations of poor and

early settlers ; used to carry eggs to Peoria, and sell

them for three cents a dozen, and carry corn a peck at a

time, three miles to mill on foot. When fourteen he

went to learn his trade, and after four years steady

application, went to St. Louis, where he worked for a

year, then to Iowa for about another year ; returning

to Peoria, remained there for two years, and in the Fall

of 1852 came to Chillicothe and established the business

which he still conducts. In the Fall of 1861 he enlisted

in Co. M., nth I. V. C, Captain Adam Stuber com-

manding, and after serving two years, was discharged

for disability, in the Fall of 1863. He married, No-

vember 22, 1849, Gertrude Wietz, a native of Germany

;

has five children living— Eva, Elizabeth, Peter, Ger-

trude, John (deceased), and Mary ; whole family are

members of the Catholic Church. Mr. Weber owns his

store, residence, and two lots.

WESCOTT CHARIiES C. cashier Truitt,

Mathews & Co., bankers, res. Chillicothe, was bom in

Washington, D. C, June 29, 1849, and afterwards came

to Henry, Marshall county, Illinois, where his father,

James Wescott, is now Clerk of Circuit Court. His

mother died in 1858. Five years of his life were spent

on a farm, and the rest in the towns of Henry, Lacon,

Sparland and Chillicothe, selling goods and keeping

books. Came to the latterplace Oct. i, 1875, and has been

in his present responsible position ever since. On De-

cember 22, 1870, he married Mary A. Kidd, who was

born in Wisconsin in August, 1850, and who has pre-

sented him with four children — Edith, Eddie, Lyman
and Willie. Mr. Wescott has during the last three

years given part of his leisure time to numismatics, and

has already a fine collection of over 700 pieces, among

them several French coins of rare date and great age,

besides numerous rare specimens of U, S. coins, worth

several hundred dollars.

Weller B. laborer, res. Chillicothe.
WlUard E. Mrs. res. OhUUcotbe.

WILMOT ASAHEIi, M. D., ChiUic&tJie, is

the third son of Jesse and Hannah Wilmot nee Bun-

nell, and was born in Broome county. New York, on

March 24, 1804. His parents were both natives of

Cheshire, Conn., where his father was born in 1770,

mother in 1776, but removed to Broome Co., N. Y., in

youth, and were married there in 1796. After the. birth

of their two eldest children, they returned to Connecti-

cut, to care for their parents, the other brother, Amos,

being absent for several years, where they remained

two or three years, and then returned to their former

home in Broome Co. Doctor's childhood and youth

were spent on the farm and at school, his educational

course having been completed in Binghamton high

school. When past twenty-two years of age he was

attacked by a hip disease, which resulted in crippling

him for life. He taught school several terms, and at

the age of twenty-four commenced reading medicine

with Dr. A. F. Bigelow, of that county, and a year later

went to Bettsburg, Chenango Co., completing the course

under the preceptorship of Dr. Nathan Boynton. At-

tended lectures at the medical branch of the State

University at Fairfield, Herkimer Co., N. Y., from

which he received the degree of M. D., January 31,

1832. After seven months practice with Dr. Boynton.

he located in Coventry, Chenango Co., and continued

over ten years discharging the duties of his profession,

when, catching the inspiration of the westward bound

current he sought a home in the prairie State, landing

in Peoria county in June 1843, after a tedious journey

of several weeks with a wife and family of five small
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children. Doctor settled at Hallock, " Blue Ridge,
"

Hallo,ck township and practised four years, then

removed to Northampton, same township, and five

years later to Chillicothe, where he has since been

active in the profession) save the years 1857 and 1858,

when failing health compelled him to desist from prac-

tice, which years the family spent in the west part of

the State, on the Mississippi river. Forty years ago

a physician's life in Illinois was not an enviable one.

Dr. W. used to ride over an area of country extending

ten to eighteen miles in various directions, a single

round consuming from two to four days from home and

embracing seventy to eighty miles. Dr. Wilmot mar-

ried Olive Amelia, the daughter of Henry and Jerusha

Smith, on March 6, 1833. She was born in Green

Co., N. Y., Jan. 28, 1816. Their conjugal union result-

ed in eight children. The living are, Dr. Wm. Henry
Wilmot, born Feb. 16, 1834 ; Franklin S., born Aug.

5, 1835, Jane E., Mrs. S. J. Gillette, born Nov. 30,

1837, Charles B., born May 9, 1840, Frances E. Mrs.

G. P. Loring born May 3, 1842, Olive A., Mrs. C. W.
Carroll, born July 22, 1844; Ann E. (deceased), born

Oct. I, 1847, died Oct. 2, 1848, and Mary E., Mrs. Wm.
Endsley, born Sept. 29, 1851.

WIlmDi; F. S. laborer, res. OWUicotlie.
Wits' L. saloon keeper, res. Chillicothe.

^ Window Mrs. res. Chillicothe.

"WIRTH JACOB, baker and confectioner, res.

Chillicothe, was bom in Germany, January 2g, 1838,

and came to America in 185 1. Settled in Philadelphia

for two years, and in 1854 came to Peoria, where he

learned his business. In 1866 came to Chillicothe and

opened shop. Married in September, 1861, Maggie

Bogard, who was born in Ohio, January 26, 1840, by

whom he has had two children— Annie, born August

7, 1863, and Daisy Lulu, born March 23, 1875. He

owns his residence and store, and also a vacant lot in

Chillicothe.

Wood L. A. retired carpenter and capitalist, res. Chillicothe.

WOOD SIDNEY, stove and general hardware

merchant, res. Chillicothe, was born in Switzerland

county, Ind., May 8, 1850. His parents, Latham A.,

and Mary Wood, came to Chillicothe in the year suc-

ceeding his birth, and his mother dying in 1852 he was

sent back to Indiana where he remained for ten years,

returning to Chillicothe in 1862 ; finished his education

in the State Normal School ; engaged for eight years

in the dry goods business as salesman for Mathews &
Holman, and embarked in his present line on his own

account in May, 1877. He married Miss Lucy L.

Matthews, a native of Chillicothe, in October, 1875, by

whom he has had two children— Grace M., born Sep-

tember, 1876, and Bessie, born July 12, 1878. Mr.

Wood was for one year township collector, and at

present fills the office of city treasurer.

WYLiIE MARY Mrs. widow of John Wylie,

farmer, res. Chillicothe, was bom in England, of Scotch

parents, in 1827, coming with them to America in 1838,

and to Peoria county in 1842. Her father, William

Bryden, has spent his active life in farming and teach-

ing. He taught for many years in the old country, and

also in New Richmond, O., Princeton, Ind., and in

Chillicothe. Elizabeth Bryden, her mother, has been

some years dead. Mrs. Wylie married John Wylie in

May, 1863. He was a native of Roxburghshire, Scot-

land, was born in 1814, and was a farmer by occupation.

They settled in La Prairie township, Marshall county,

where he died in 1873. Mrs, Wylie owns a homestead

in town, and is a member of the United Presbyterian

Church, of which Church her husband was some time

an Elder.

ELMWOOD TOWNSHIP.

Adams James, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

ADAMS STEPHEN.deputy sheriff, Elmwood.

All Geo. W. farmer, P. o. Elmwood.

AliliEWELT S. carriage trimmer, Elmwood,

ATHEJRTON ISRAEL D. farmer. Sec, 16,

P. O, Elmwood, was born in Delaware county, O,, on

the gth day of July, 1818, was reared in the mercantile

business and received a common school, education.

Married Miss Ann Angel, a native of England, She
was born in Berkshire, Eng,, April 12, 1812, They
were blessed with five children, two boys and three girls,

viz.: Julia, Rufus, Lid, Katie and Snyder, all of whom
lived to adult age. Immigrated to Peoria county in

1841 ; came by land, making the trip, in sixteen days,

and located at Harkness Grove, where he remained

three years. Then came to his present place, where he

has resided since. Has 120 acres of land under a high

state of cultivation, valued at $8,000, Has held several

local offices of trust,

ATHERTON RUFUS, farmer, Sec, 16, P, O,

Elmwood, was bom in Delaware county, O,, on the 8th

day of May, 1840, and when two years old came to

this county with his parents, where he has remained

since, with the exception of the time he was in the

army. Enlisted in the 77th I. V, I„ Co. I, After en-

tering into active service, the first engagement partici-

pated in was Yazoo Bayou ; thence to Vicksburg, Ar-

kansas Post, Port Gibson, Champion Hills, Black River
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Bridge, Siege and Capture of Vicksburg. Then he
was sent to New Orleans on the Tied River Expedition,

where he was taken prisoner with about i,ooo others,

at Sabine Cross Roads, and was sent to Tyler, Texas,

where they were kept until the close of the war. "While

Mr. A. was there, 300 Union prisoners died. After re-

turning home, married Miss Martha, daughter of Wm.
Kennedy. She was born in Trivoli township. May 13,

1841. They have two children, Clarence and Orin.

Has eighty acres of land, valued at $4,000.

Baegs Otis, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Batr T. painter. P. O. Elmwood.
Barber N. S. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

BAKIfAKD J. R, carpenter, res. Elmwood,
son of Isaac and Dorothy Barnard, was born in He-
bron, Grafton county, N. H., on the loth day of March,

1816. Came to Peoria county in the Fall of 1855, and
located in this town, where he has followed his trade

since. Married Miss Ruth J. Bowers. She was born
in Hill, N. H., on the 7th day of Sept., 1816. They
have had two children, both of them now dead. Mr.
B. has lived in the town of Elmwood from its infancy,

coming here when there were but few houses in the

town. Has a fine residence and home in the village,

worth $2,000.

Barrett Mrs. P. O. Elmwood.

BARTHOLOMEW A. G. insurance agent

and justice of the peace, res. Elmwood, is the son of A,
C. and Aurelia Bartholomew, natives of Connecticut,

who were born in 1809 ; came to Peoria county in 1838

and located in Elmwood, being one of the first settlers

of the village where they still reside. The subject of

this sketch was born in Elmwood township, July 21,

1845, where he received a common school education,

and also attended Bryant & Stratton's business college.

Married Miss Mary A. Coe, daughter of Silas Coe, Oc-
tober 16, 1867, who was born in Ohio, December 24,

1849. The fruit of this marriage is four children—
Harry, Edwin, Walter and Charles. Mrs. B. is a mem-
ber of the Congregational Church. Mr. B. enlisted in

the 137th I. V. I. Co. D. in 1864, and was mustered in

at Camp Fry, Chicago.

BARTHOLOMEW A. T. farmer and stock

dealer. Sec. 6, P. O. Elmwood, is the son of Luzerne
and Betsey (Yale) Bartholomew, and was born in Elm-
wood township on the 26th day of February, 1838,

where he was reared on a farm and received a common
school education. When sixteen years of age he trav-

eled through the Eastern and Southern States with his

father. Some time previous his father went to Califor-

nia, where he succeeded in capturing a. very large

grizzly bear which he exhibited through this country

and Europe, giving Mr. B. a good opportunity to see

the country. After disposing of the show they came to

Elmwood, where he embarked in farming. Married

Mary E., daughter of John Ennis, in 1862, who was

born in Westmoreland county, N. Y., June 16, 1840.

This union was blessed by six children, three boys and
three girls— John B., born February 19, 1863; Orie

Y., April 22, 1865 ; Laura H., April 10, 1867 ; Charles

A., January 16, 1869 ; Carrie M., March 7, 1875 ; Bes-

sie A., October 5, 1879. Mr. and Mrs. B. are members
of the Congregational Church of Elmwood. Held sev-

eral local oflices. Has 224 acres of land in this town-

ship, valued at $15,000, and also 160 acres in Iowa,

valued at $1,600.

Bartholomew H. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

BARROWS B. E. marble dealer, Elmwood.

Baxter E. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Benrose Jos, laborer. P. O. Elmwood.
Bentley Wm. H. book-keeper, P. O. Elmwood.
Birkit Jobn T, teamster, P. O. Elmwood.

BLUMENRADER HENRY, barber, res.

Elmwood. All kinds of work doiie with dispatch.

Makes a specialty of shaving, shampooning and hair

dressing for ladies and children.

Bodim J. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Boland Michael, laborer, P, O. Elmwood.
Booth Sarah J., P. O. Elmwood.

BOOTH HENRY A. fine stock breeder, res.

Elmwood, is the son of L. L. and Harriet (Cogswell)

Booth, natives of Connecticut, emigrated to this coun- •

try in 1837, and located in Brimfield township, where

they have remained since, where the subject of this

sketch was born on the 3d day of September, 1841.

Worked on a farm when a boy and attended the district

schools. Married Miss Sarah Slaughter, daughter of

Harrison and Elizabeth Slaughter, who located near

Princeville, in 1843 ; she was born in Kickapoo on the

23d day of December, 1849. Mr. Booth in l86i enlisted

in the 47th I. V. I., was in the service eighteen months,

and was discharged for disability, by cause of a sun

stroke. Mr. B. has some of the finest blooded stock in

the county, consisting of Abdallahs, Hambeltonians,

Clays, Messengers, Tuckeyhoes, Gen. Logans, etc.

Has one of the finest teams of matched stallions in the

State. Has 120 acres of land under good cultivation,

probably valued at $7,000, besides his residence in

town.

Blessing B. mason, P. O. Elmwood.

BOURNE M. T. retired farmer, res. Elmwood,

was born in Barnstable, Sandwich, Mass., on the 30th

day of December, 1806 ; reared on a farm and re-

ceived a common school education. In 1832 married

Mary L., daughter of Dr. Isaac Bartlett, of Kingston,

Mass. She was born on the 5th day of April, 1807.

The fruit of this marriage was eight children, three of

whom are still living, Alice L., now Mrs. Frank Hitch-

cock, of Peoria; Mary B., now Mrs. Isaac Taylor, of

Peoria, and Ella G. In the Fall of 1834 Mr. B. immi-

grated to Peoria county, arriving on the 25th day of

October, and located in Trivoli township, where he

took up 160 acres of land, and opened a farm ; re-
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maining until February, 1870, when he came to Elm-
wood, and has lived retired since. When he came to

the county was in very limited circumstances, only

having $140 in his pocket; worked out by the day and
month to make $20 more to take up his quarter sec-

tion. The land was not in market until the following

year. Their nearest neighbor was one mile and one-

fourth. The-iirst white child born in Trivoli township

was Mrs. Frank Hitchcock, daughter of Mr. and Mrs.

Bourne. Mr. and Mrs. B. are members of the Metho-
dist Church, of Elmwood.

Brain J. F. wagon maker, P. O. Elmwood.

BREWSTER WALTER T. retired, res.

Elmwood, was born in Bolton, Conn., on the 8th day

September, 1814, where he was raised on a farm and
received a common school education. From the age of

sixteen followed the manufacturing of Woolen goods.

In the Autumn of 1853 came to Illinois, Fulton county,

locating in Farmington, and followed merchandising

for a year. In the Fall of 1854 came to Elmwood, and
in company with Mr. Tracy built the first brick in the

place, and opened the first stock of dry goods of any
magnitude as the firm of Tracy & Brewster

; remained

there until the following Spring, when he sold his in-

terest and embarked in farming ; continued in this for

ten years. At the death of Mrs. B.'s father they re-

turned to their native State, and remained four years
;

while there had charge of a cloth manufacturing estab-

lishment ; afterward returned to Elmwood, and en-

gaged in merchandising two years ; since that time has

been raising small fruits. He married Miss Mary
Johnson, January i, 1838. She was born October 3,

1811, and died in the Autumn of 1849, leaving one
child, Henry, now of New Hampshire. For his second

wife married Emily Chister. She was born in Middle-

sex county, Conn., on the 23d of October, 1822. The
fruit of this marriage was two children, one living, one
son and one daughter who died in infancy. Members
of the Congregational Church of Elmwood.

BRIG-GS JAMES, farmer and stock dealer,

P. O. Rosefield, was born in Lancashire, England, Oc-
tober, 1825, and came to Peoria county in 1853. Mar-
ried Miss Mary Palmer, daughter of Thos. Palmer. She
was born in the same shire, April 26, 1824. The fruit

of this marriage was eleven children, eight of whom
are living. Mr. B. is a member of the United Brethren
Church at Southport. Mr. B. came to this country

poor, but has, by good management and close attention

to business, made a fine property and home. Has 300
acres of land valued at $12,000. Had one son in the

77th I. V. I., Co. C, who died at Memphis of the

typhoid fever.

Brown Chaa. speculator, P. O. Blmwood.

BROWN EDWrtr RUTHERSON, res.

Elmwood. Born in 1825 at the foot of " Greylock "

mountain, in Adams, Berkshire county, Mass. His

parents soon after removed to Cummington, Mass.,

where they remained many years and " raised " a large

family. Hard work and small pay was the ruling con-

dition for' old and young, and leisure for school and

study was the golden exception. At eight years of age

Mr. Brown took his place as " a hand " in a woolen

factory ; at thirteen changed to farming ; and at eigh-

teen to school teaching in the Winter months, and

cabinet maker for the rest of the year ; afterwards go-

ing into the mercantile business.

In 1849 he married Miss MariUa Jenkins, of Cum-
mington, Mass., a lady of rare good sense and equi-

poise of character, and in 1853 removed to Cheshire,

Mass., where he built up a good business, but the

"shutting down" of the iron and glass works of the

place in 1855 depreciated property and wiped out the

margin that had been gained. In 1856 he struck out

with his family, nearly empty-handed, with the inten-

tion of settling in Minnesota. Stopping on the way to

visit a relative or two near Elmwood, and being a

handy painter, he took « few jobs by way of pastime,

and has never found leisure since to complete the re-

moval to Minnesota. Mr. Brown, being a born archi-

tect, has built, mostly with his own hands, two or three

elegant residences, which adds no little to the beauty

of Elmwood. In 1869 he opened a bookstore in Elm-
wood, adding to it in 1877 the jewelry and music business

of his brother, D. S. Brown, now of Peoria, since which

time in connection with his son, E. L. Brown, the busi-

ness has been carried on under the name of E. R. Brown
& Son, with energy and success. One son died in 1859,

and an only daughter, Lois, is pursuing her studies

at the Illinois University, Champaign. In 1870

Mr. Brown for a few months edited a daily paper

in Peoria, but soon found his health giving way
under the confinement and late hours, and resigned a

position for which he was well qualified, as he has a

fine literary taste, and is a clear and forcible writer.

In 1870 he was appointed postmaster at Elmwood,
by President Grant ; a position which he still fills to

great acceptance. Though nurtured under the stern

tenets of New England theology, is in ardent sympathy

with the oppressed, (learned largely from his mother,)

and an intense love of liberty, civil, mental and religious,

colored all his boyish aspirations and largely shaped

his course in life. His motto is :
" Truth for authority

;"

never authority for truth. As a Garrisonian aboli-

tionist, he often lectured on slavery before the rebel

war, and became familiar with the features of pro-

slavery mobs; His father, whose house in Massachu-
setts was long a wayside inn for the pioneers of liberty,

still lives in Elmwood, in a serene and beautiful old

age.

Brown Hiram Jr. painter, P. o. Elmwood.
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BRUNTOIf ED. station agent, Elmwood, son

of Josiah and Sarah (Black) Brunton, natives Of Ohio,

emigrated to Illinois and located in McDonough
county, where the subject of this sketch was born, on
the 14th day of February, 1854. Was reared on a

farm and received his education in McDonough and
Hancock counties ; also attended Gem City Business

College, at Quincy, where he learned a practical

business education. Commenced railroading in 1874;
his first station was at Kirkwood. In December, 1875,

came to Elmwood, where he has remained since.

Married Miss Ella M. Brain, daughter of J. T. Brain.

She was born in Elmwood in i860. One child bless

this union : Earle, born April 10, 1879. Mr. Brunton

is a young man of sterling integrity and untiring

industry, whose influence will be appreciated in the

community at large.

Butler John, laborer, F. O. Elmwood.

CALDWELL SILAS, res. Elmwood, black-

smith and carriage maker, of the firm of Venn & Cald-

well, was the son of John and Mary Caldwell, natives

of Pennsylvania, where they lived and died. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born in Washington county.

Pa., on the 23rd day of October, 1833, was reared on

a farm and received a. common school education.

Emigrated to Indiana in 1851, and remained two

years; thence to Illinois, where he remained three

years, and in 1857 went to Jackson, Miss., where he

remained a short time, engaged with Phillips, Kail &
Co., plow manufacturers ; then he came to Farmington,

Fulton county, where he married Miss Thena Tyler.

The fruit of this marriage was five children, three of

which are still living : Lucy F., John W. and Fannie.

Members of thef Congregational Church of Elmwood.
Mr. Caldwell has also been a member of I. O. O. F.,

Lodge No. 122, for twenty-one years.

Carney Edward, laborer, P. 0. Elmwood.
Carter L. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Caton Norrls, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.
Chapman J. ret. farmer P. O. Elmwood.
Coe S. W. merchant, P. O. Elmwood.

COE W. C. restaurant, Elmwood.

CONKLIlf J. W. farmer,, Sec. 21, P. O. Elm-
wood, was born in Livingston county, N.Y., on the

I2th day of May, 1826, was raised on a farm and re-

ceived a common school education. Emigrated to

Peoria in 1845, and located in Elmwood township

where he has followed farming and stock raising since.

Married Miss Sarah Ann, daughter of Ichabod Smith.

She was born in Ohio in 1825. Five children blessed

this union, four of which are still living : Esther J.,

Ella E., now Mrs. Elmer Graham, Eva E. Members

of the Congregational Church of Elmwood. Has held

several local offices of trust. Has 2S7 acres of land,

valued at $18,000. Mr. Conklin came to the county in

limited circumstances, working out for some time by

the month, and by hard work and good management
has accumulated a fine property and home.

Conklin G. F. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Conklin W. C. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Connell Wm. farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.
Oorbett D. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Corrigan Thos. laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

COWELL JOHN, harness maker, res. Elm-

wood, was born in Trenton, New Jersey, July 18, 1843.

In 1855, his parents moved to Canton, Fulton county,

where they both reside. Married Miss Margaret L.

Reddingbow, April 24, 1868. She was born in 1844,

in Pickaway county, Ohio. Four children, three boys

and one girl. His father being a harness maker, com-

menced the trade when he was ten years of age, and

has continued since he came to Elmwood, in Sep-

tember, 1878, and embarked in business in November

of the same year. Is a man that is master of his trade.

COWSER JAMES, carpenter, res. Elmwood.

Was born in Fayette county. Pa., on the loth day of

May, 1831, where he followed farming and attended

school in his native county. Emigrated to Peoria

county in 1850. Married Miss Carrie Nixon, daughter

of William Nixon, one of the early pioneers of Peoria

county, coming in as early as 1831, where she was born

on the 13th day of August, 1834, in Richwoods. The
fruit of this marriage was three children, William D.,

Frank E. and Edwin C. Mrs. C. is a member of the

Methodist Church. Mr. C's. family was well represent-

ed in the Union army, having five brothers, who served

in an aggregate of seventeen years. Has a comfortable

home in Elmwood, valued at $1,200.

Cox Henry, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

CRAIG W. H. insurance agent and broker, res.

Elmwood.

CRATTY WILLIAM, P. O. Elmwood.

Among the many people who came from Ohio and set-

tled in the fascinating Prairie State were the Cratty

family, from that State, in the year 1853, from Dela-

ware .county, and settled in Knox county. III. ; from

thence moving to Elmwood, Peoria county, in March,

1865. William Cratty, the father of the family, was

born in Butler county. Pa., June 28. 1805, and came

with his father to Delaware county, Ohio, in the

Fall of 1 8 14, it being the extreme Western State

at that time. When the slavery question came

to be agitated, and the anti-slavery party became

recognized among the political parties of the coun-

try, the subject of this sketch took a decided stand

in favor of human rights, and voted for James G. Bir-

ney as the first candidate for the Presidency, brought

forward by the Anti-Slavery party, and ever after voted

the anti-slavery or abolition ticket at State and Nation-

al elections. For twelve or fifteen years he lived about

half way from Cincinnati to Cleveland, on the main

traveled road between the two places, and being well
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known as an abolitionist, his house was made the head-

quarters for escaping fugitives endeavoring to get across

the lake to Canada, and he was considered and dubbed

as conductor on the underground railroad, and often

heard violent threats made against him by slave hun-

ters. They offered a standing reward for years to any

one who would deliver Mr. Cratty to them on the south

side of the Ohio river. There had a great many es-

caped slaves passed through his hands and under his

roof.

All these escaped in violation of law, and all those

who assisted them, either in word or deed, were liable

to prosecution in any court of the United States for the

assessed value of such slave, as the property of such

pretended owner, without any regard to the conscience

of the individual or the humanity of his nature.

The subject of this sketch was married in 1826, in

Champaign county, Ohio, to Candice Bennett, a native

of Rhode Island, and raised a large family of children,

seven of whom are living— two sons and five daugh-

ters. The sons are known as the law firm of Cratty

Brothers, in Peoria, and their ability and success are

widely known. Having been brought up in the Pres-

byterian Church, Mr. C. has always been partial to that

society ; has been three times elected rulipg elder in

that church, and holds the office at present. When the

late rebellion broke out, one of the boys enlisted, and

when serving his third year died in camp at Little

Rock, Ark. The youngest, Josiah, enlisted, and was

discharged at the close of the war, having been in ser-

vice about eight months.

DALTON AXJREY, farmer and stock raiser,

and one of the earliest settlers of the township, is a

man of good standing, in comfortable circumstances,

and enjoys the respect of all with whom he is brought

in contact. P. O. Elmwood.

Daniels O. teamster, P. O. Elmwood.
Darnell John, brick mason. P. O. Elmwood.
Davey Wm. blacksmitb, P. O. Elmwood.

DAVIS J. J. manufacturer of mill machinery,

res. Elmwood, was born in Vanderburg county, Ind.,

June 30, 1833, where he received a common school

education, and when fourteen years of age learned the

printer's trade. Married Miss Mary A. Lawrence. She

was born near Columbus, Ohio, in 1834. Thirteen

children blessed this uuion, of whom eleven are still

living. For several years after he married, followed

farming and dealing in stock. Since that time, he has

been engaged in manufacturing mill machinery.

DBBACHER VALENTINE, laborer, P. O.

Elmwood, was born in Baden, Germany, in 1828.

Emigrated to the U. S. Dec. 17, 1851, and came to Il-

linois in i860. Married Miss Caroline Drexler, in

1849, in Germany, She was born in 1822. They have

six children, four boys and two girls. Has a residence

in Elmwood valued at $1,000. Politics, Republican.

Dlnan Daniel, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

DIXON C. P. liveryman, res. Elmwood, was

born in Knox county, on the 12th day of February,

1854. His father was among the earliest settlers and

located in Knox county, where he raised a. family of

ten children, four of which are still living. The sub-

ject of this sketch married Miss Viola L. Jones, daugh-

ter of E. R. Jones, who was born in Knox county, De-

cember 16, 1855. Two children bless this union. Em-
barked in the livery business in 1878, and keeps a gen-

eral feed.and exchange stable.

DOLIiABD ROBERT Maj. attorney, res.

Elmwood. At the outbreak of the war he was a private

in Co. B. 4th Mass. Militia Inf., and entered the United

States service April 16, 1861, the day following the call

by the president for 75,000 men. Took part in the

battle of Big Bethel, and in capturing and fortifying

Newport News. Was mustered out July 22, 1861, and

re-enlisted at Boston, September 5, 1861, in Co. I. 22d

Mass. Vol. Inf., Col. Henry Wilson, late vice-president

of the United States. Shortly after his company was

disbanded, and he joined Co. E. 23d Mass. Vol. Inf.,

Col. John Krutz, and for efficiency as military instruc-

tor, was appointed sergeant. Was in the Burnside ex-

pedition at Annapolis, Md., in November, 1861, and in

1862 was engaged in the battles of Roanoke Island, N.

C, Feb. 7 and 8; Newburn, N. C, March 14, where he

was slightly wounded with a canister shot ; South West

Creek, N. C, Dec. 13; Kingston, N. C, Dec. 14;

White Hall, N. C, Dec. 16; Goldsborough, N. C, Dec.

17. Was promoted to 1st Sergt. for meritorious con-

duct. May, 1862, and to 2d Lieut., Dec, 1862. Was

engaged in the battle of Newburn, N. C, July 4, 1863,

and recommended for ist Lieut., Nov., 1863 ; resigned

before promotion and accepted a position as captain of

the 2d U. S. Cav. Vol. Was engaged, March 11, 1864,

with his company, three others, (200 men), and two

howitzers at Norfolk, Va., in saving two companies of

his regiment from being cut off, and successfully cen-

tered for that purpose four regiments of infantry, one of

cavalry, and six pieces of artillery, suffering a loss of

one howitzer, and one-fourth of the men and horses.

May 5, 1864, with his company, flanked, attacked and

routed a battalion of cavalry at Jones bridge, on

Chickahominy river, Va., capturing the redoubts and

the entire camp and garrison equipage of the ene-

my. January 9, 1864, with the same command, he

fought and routed a body of guerillas in front of City

Point, Va., and on the same day charged and drove the

entire picket line and their reserves into their main

line of works at Petersburg, and receiving from their

batteries the first fire ever delivered in their defence,

about May 16, 1864, with a detachment of thirty-five
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mounted men. He charged and routed the enemy's

picket line along the Appomatox, consisting of two

companies of infantry and part of a company of

cavalry, capturing, killing, and wounding a por-

tion of them, and driving the remainder in con-

fusion back upon a regiment of cavalry and bat-

talion stationed in the rear, and engaged the

same day in defending " Redoubts Converse " on

the Appomatox against a charge by the enemy cavalry.

About May i6, 1864, participated in the defence of the

same redoubt against a vigorous assault of two rebel

brigades and two batteries of artillery, and under a.

galling fire from twenty-six pieces of artillery, to learn

the strength and position of the enemy, charged with his

squadron between the flanks of their cavalry and infan-

try brigade, passing to the rear of one brigade and

returning to the main body of their command. On
the day following he engaged in a skirmish. May

27, 1864, with his squadron at the head of Gen. Hick's

division, he made three charges, at close quarters in

rapid succession on the P etersburg outposts and engag-

ed in the general assault on the enemy's works, which

shortly afterwards followed. June 16, 1864, was engaged

in the battle of Petersburg and in the assault charged

with his squadron into the enemy's works in advance of

infantry columns. From this time until Sept. 29, 1864,

participated in the siege of Richmond and Petersburg,

and was almost constantly under fire. On Sept. 2g,

with 250 men, he led the assault on the enemy's works

on the extreme right of the army of the James, where

he was shot down after driving the enemy from their

rifle pits and pursuing them to the trenches of their

main fortificati ons. Of his conduct on this occasion.

Gen. Butler says, Capt. Robert DoUard acting as field

officer and in charge of the skirmish line at New
Market inspired his command by his great personal

bravery, coolness and ability until he fell severely

wounded near the enemy's main line; hereby promoted

to Major. Major D. having recovered from his wounds

returned to the field in December following, and took

command of his regiment, which was still actively

engaged in the siege iu front of Richmond, and- was

shortly thereafter recommended for promotion as Lieut.-

Col. but on account of the war closing was not com-

missioned. The Major was at this time a mere boy in

appearance, but twenty-two years of age and probably

the youngest officer of his rank in either of the armies of

the Potomac or James, with both which he had served

and had literally fought his way from the ranks to the

head of his regiment.

Donnelly D. laborer, t. O. Elmwood.

DOUGLASS WM. of the firm of Douglass &
Son, emigrated in the year 1862 to Elmwood from

Belleville, Canada, and commenced the carriage and

wagon business on the site where the Elmwood

foundry and machine shops now stands, and continued

until the Fall of 1866. Engaged in the mercantile

business in the firm of Douglass & Vansickle, which

business he followed until the death of Mr. V. Messrs.

Jones and Vandevort purchasing an interest, the firm

was changed to Douglass & Co. In the year 1871. Mr.

D. disposed of his interest and bought out S. Caldwell,

and again entered into his old business of carriage and

wagon making as the firm of Douglass & Venn. In the

Spring of 1878, W. H. Douglass purchased the Venn

interest, since which time the firm is known as Douglass

& Son. They make a specialty of fine work, employ

eight men and do a business from $10,000 to $12,000

a year. Wm. Douglass was a blacksmith by trade and

is the oldest established carriage maker in the town.

In 1S78 he embarked in the farming implement trade,

as the firm of Douglass & Co., Wm H. taking charge of

the same. Mr. Douglass is one of the solid reliable

business men of Elmwood.

Biummick A. N. gardener, P. O. Elmwood.
Dugglns H. J. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
EUiDger Hiram, laborer. P. O. Elmwood.

ELLIOTT T. E. hardware, res. Elmwood, of

the firm of Elliott & Truey, was born in Mercersburg,

Cumberland Co., Pa., on the 31st day of March, 1851.

Came to the county in 1856, and engaged to Hepen-

stall Bros., as book-keeper, and remained with them

until 1879, when he in company with Mr. Tracy pur-

chased the hardware interest of Bradshaw & Caldwell.

Kwalt G. M. D. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Ewalt W. D. farmer.P. O. Elmwood.

FAKSrUM G. A. residence Elmwood, by pro-

fession a harness maker, son of Janies F. and Laura

(Davis) Farnum, who emigrated to this county, Brim-

field township, where he was engaged in farming for

about four years. Thence moved to Brimfield village

and embarked in the mercantile business, where he has

remained since. The subject of this sketch was born in

Windsor county, Vermont, on the i8th day of May,

1842. He married Miss Amelia Hannam, daughter of

Chas. E. Hannam, natives of England ; was born in

Sommerton, Somersetshire, England, January 20,

1850. The fruit of this marriage two children— Chas.

G., born December 2, 1874 ; Grace Atta, born Decem-

ber 22, 1877. Member of the I. O. O. F., Lodge No-

122, and the subordinate order of Encampment.

Fltzgeialds John, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

FORBES WILLIAM, merchant, residence

Elmwood, son of William and Susan Forbes. They

were natives of Ireland. Emigrated to the United

States in 1828, and located in Canada for a short time,

from there to New Jersey, where they remained six

years. Thence to Philadelphia one year, when they

came to Peoria county, where they remained one year
;

then removed to Logan township, where his father died,

August 31, 1875, at the age of eighty-four years. The
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subject of this sketch was born in Logan township, on

the 14th ofNovember, 1838 ; where he was reared on a

farm, and attended the common school. Married Miss

Maggie J., daughter of Jacob Swickard. She was born

in Richmond, Jefferson county, Ohio, November 7,

1844. There was three children, one of which is still

living, Wm. J., born May g, 1868. Members of the

Methodist Church. Has held several local offices of

trust, Enlisted in the nth HI. Cav., Co. H. After

leaving the army engaged in farming and continued

until the Fall of 1870; then clerked in Woodford

county until the Fall of 1875 ; then came to Elmwood
and clerked for J. D. Stewart until 1879 ; then entered

into partnership with Mr. Prescott, as the firm of Pres-

cott & Forbes.

Foster John, drayman, P. O. Elmwood.
Foster S. W. carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.
Frye Angelln J. P. O. Elmwood.

FBY JACOB, merchant tailor, residence Elm-

wood, was born in Switzerland in 1S33. Came to In-

diana in 1857, Commenced his apprenticeship when
he was fifteen years of age, which trade he has followed

since. In 1865 came to Elmwood. In 1861 married

Miss Angelina Jay. She was born in Indiana, in 1836.

The fruit of this marriage is four children— Mary E.,

Obun E., Viola M., Cruby J. Enlisted in the 8th In-

diana (three months service) ; was in West Virginia.

GABKIBIi ERNST, jeweler, and residence

Elmwood, was born in Saxon, Germany, in 1844 (father

and mother still living in Germany). Emigrated to the

United States in l86q, and to Elmwood in 1876. Was
married in 1872 to Miss Ida Harberman. She was born

in Erfurt, Prussia. The fruit of this marriage is two

children— Emil and Ida, Mr. G. learned his trade in

Germany while young. Is a. first-class workman, and

prepared to do all kinds of work. He has o. fine stock

of clocks, watches, jewelry, etc.

GrABBEB M. shoemaker, residence Elmwood,

son of Daniel and Matilda Garber, of Ohio, was born

in Richland county, Ohio, on the i8th day of April,

1853 ; reared to the trade, and received a, primitive

education in his native county. In 1876 married Miss

Ida Brenttinger, daughter of George Brenttinger, of

Ohio. She was born in the same county October 19,

1856. Two children blessed this union, one boy and

girl, Harry, born Nov. 8, 1876, Leone, born March 21,

1878. Mr. G. is a member of the I. O. O. F., Belleville

Lodge, O., No. 306.

Gatz Geo. shoemaker, P. O. Elmwood.
Glbbs E. W. merchant, P. O. Elmwood.
Gill John, laborer, P. O. Elmwbod.
GllUn John, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

GOUDY J. W. insurance agent, Elmwood.

Grabam 0. F. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

GRAHAM J. H, farmer, P. O. Elmwood, was

born in Highland county, O., August ig, 1827 ; is a son

of Robert and Elizabeth Graham. His father was a.

native of county Down, Ireland, and his mother of

Pennsylvania. They had thirteen children, four sons

and nine daughters. The subject of this sketch was

born in Ohio, reared on a farm, and attended the dis-

trict schools. In 1848 came to Peoria county, and did

his first work for Thos. Hurff, in the neighborhood of

his present home. He then worked for E. F. Smith,

who lived on the place that Mr. Graham now owns and

occupies. He was married on the 2zd day of Novem-
ber, 1850, to Miss Sarah Jane, daughter of John and

Delilah Ruse, of Highland county, O. By this mar-

riage he has had eleven children, nine sons and two

daughters. After marriage he rented two years, and

saved money enough to buy forty acres of land ; im-

proved and added to it, making a hundred and fifty

acres ; sold to a good advantage, and in fourteen years

after he worked for Mr. Smith, he came back and

bought his farm, paying $18,000 for the same, the most

of it cash down, and the balance in two years. Mr. G.

and family are highly esteemed in the community in

which they live.

Graham S. S. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

GRAHAM WIIiLIAM, farmer, Sec. 22, P.

O. Elmwood, was born in Peoria county and was reared

on a farm until he was nineteen years old, when he en-

listed July 28, 1862, in the 86th I. V. I., Co. T> ; left

Peoria September 7, and on the 8th day of October,

1862, participated in thebattle of Perryville, Ky., where

he received two wounds, one in the left arm and one in

the left breast ; was sent to the hospital at Louisville,

Ky. ; January 26, 1863, again joined his regiment, and

participated in the battles of Chickamauga, Chatta-

nooga, Missionary Ridge, Tunnel Hill, Buzzard Roost,

Resaca, Rome, Dallas, and Kenesaw Mountain. On
the 27th day of June, 1864, was wounded in the right

arm, from which he received his discharge ; was mus-

tered out at Mound City, 111., February 18, 1865.

Married Miss Mariah Shepard, of Logan township. Is

at present engaged in farming ; has a beautiful farm

and comfortable home.

Grigg Jas. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Grler Mrs. P. O. Elmwood.
Grove John V. mason, P. O. Elmwood.

HARKNESS A. W. insurance agent and auc-

tioneer, res. Elmwood. Was born in Hampshire coun-

ty, Mass., on the 3rd day of January, 1814 ; when three

years old went with his parents to Tioga county. Pa.,

where he was reared on a farm and was educated in

the district schools. Married Miss Emeline Curtis,

who was born in Massachusetts and died in Peoria

county. May 28, 1879. They had two boys and three

girls, all of which lived to be men and women, viz :

—

Sarah J., now Mrs. S. D. W. Green, of Monmouth, 111.,

Mary E., now Mrs. R. B. Keyes, of Washington coun-

ty, III., Marcus O., of Peoria, Augusta B., now Mrs. W.
W. Hurd, of Monica, 111., Holland H., Washington
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county, tU. tn 1S40 Mr. H. took the census of Peoria

county, and held several local offices.

Harknesa E. farmer, F. O. ISImwood.
Harkneas Henry, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

HAJBKNESS HENBY S. farmer, Sec. 32, P.

O. Elmwood. Was born in this county on the 21st

day ofJanuary, 1832, the first white person born in Tri-

voli township. Married Miss Sarah Parker. She was

born in New Jersey in 1832. Two children blessed

this union, Hattie and Charlie. Has 100 acres of land

under good cultivation, valued at $5,000. Mr. Hark-
ness has lived here since the township was in its in-

fancy, and has seen its development.

HAKPER SAMUEL, A. farmer, Sec. 10, P.

O. Elmwood ; son of Alexander and Jane Harper ; fath-

er a nahve of Virginia, mother of Ohio, They removed

to this State in 1856, and located near Oak Hill, this

county, where his father died in 1858. The subject of

this sketch was bom in Allen county, Ohio, on the i6th

day of May, 1840 ; was educated in the common school;

when nineteen years of age commenced teaching, and

in April, i86i, enlisted in the 17th Ohio Infantry, Co.

A, (in three months' service) ; mustered in at Lancas-

ter, Ohio ; from there went to West Virginia and served

under Gen. Rosencrantz ; at the close of the term was

mustered out at Zanesville, Ohio ; soon after enlisted

the 6ist Ohio, and served on staff as regimental band,

and remained about ten months ; at Columbus rein-

listed in the 52nd Infantry, then being organized ; was

mustered in at Camp Denison ; was in several engage-

ments ; was at the battles of Perryville. Stone River, -

Chicamauga, Missionary Ridge, Ringgold, Kenesaw

Mountain, Peach Tree Creek ; at the battle of Jones-

boro was wounded by a musket ball in the right leg

;

also with Sherman on the march to the sea, and Grand

Review. Married Miss Mary E. Walton, who was

born in this township, November 7, 1847. The fruit of

this marriage is four children, three boys and one girl.

HENRY S. R. grocer, Elmwood.

Kepmstatt J. miller, contractor and builder, P. O. Elmwood.
Ulgglns B. P. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Hoflman Augustus, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

HOFFMAN J. retired, farmer, Elmwood.

Hoffman W. farmer, P. U. Elmwood.
Holenburg Peter, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.
Holliday Wm. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Holz Wm. miller, P. O. Elmwood.
Hopkins Pitt, speculator, P. U. Elmwood.
Horenden Geo. farmer, P. O. Trivoll.
Horner Jas. farmer, F. O. Elmwood,
Horner J. T. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

HOUCK WILLIAM J. hotel keeper, res.

Elmwood. Mr. H. is the proprietor of the Leota

House. The hotel is the first place of interest to the

traveler or stranger upon entering the town, and often-

times a good or bad impression is formed, as the case

may be, according to the character and extent of its

hotel accommodations. This house is comfortably

furnished, and from base to attic the appointments are

strictly first-class. But better than spacious halls and

fine appointments are the homelike menu and surround-

ings of the establishment. The guests not only find

good beds and board, but also the kindest attention.

The Leota House is a favorite resort for the traveling

public.

Hulnert Mrs. millinery, P. O. Elmwood.
Humphrey W. J. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
HuutO. farmer, P. O. Elm wood.
Hurlt D. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Hurff E. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

HURFF ISAAC, nurseryman and gardener,

P. O. Elmwood, son of Isaac and Ann (Jaggard) Hurff,

was born in Gloucester county, N. J., on the 1st day of

Sept., 1835 ; was reared on a farm and educated in

his native township. Emigrated to Peoria county in the

Spring of 1856. Enlisted in the 8th Mo. Vol. Infantry

in 1861. Mustered in at St. Louis; thence to Padu-

cah, Ky.; thence to Forts Heiman and Henry, where

they fought and captured 4,000 rebel prisoners; thence

to Pittsburgh Landing participating in that battle

;

thence to the Russell House ; he was at the evacuation

of Corinth, and was soon after discharged, from failing

health. Enlisted as a private but was commissioned

second lieutenant before leaving St. Louis. Returned

to Elmwood and stayed one year ; then went to his

native State and married Miss Elizabeth Linch, born in

Salem county, N. J., in 1836. They have had four

children, two of whom are living. In the year 1876,

Mr. H. took a trip to Philadelphia with his family, to

attend the Exposition.

Hurfl Thos. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Hurbert James T. carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.

IRA JAMES C. dentist, res. Elmwood, was

born October 16, 1845, in Washington county, Pa.

Son of George and Mary Ira, now living in Pennsyl-

vania. Was married July 20, 1871, to Lucy, daughter

of Wm. and Lucy Gleason, of Indianapolis, Ind. Had
one child which died in infancy. He enlisted in the

army, August 20, 1862, and served until the close of

the war ; was discharged July 19, 1865. Serving in the

Army of the Potomac, and participated in all the bat-

tles of that army up to the Gettysburg, where he was

severely wounded, which incapacitated him for active

service, being on detatched duty in Washington, D. C.

He obtained ». position at the Washington Theater,

which he held up to the assassination of President

Lincoln. On the evening of the assassination his duties

not requiring his presence, in company with a friend,

he visited lord's Theater, and after spending a few

moments, then passed out, meeting J. Wilkes Booth on

the street, the three stepped into a refreshment saloon

at the west door of the theater, after taking a cigar

(Booth taking brandy,) they parted and went home to

be astonished by the announcement early in the morn-

ing of the assassination. After the war studied

dentistry ; went to Omaha, where he remained a while.
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Locating in Elmwood in May, 1876. Has acquired a

large practice.

Irwin W. S. carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.

JAY N. D. retired merchant, res. Elmwood, son

of Robert and Elizabeth (Coats) Jay, natives of Penn-

sylvania. They removed in 1832 to Richland county,

Ohio, and five years later to Lawrence, now Richland

county, Ills., and was there at the organization of the

county. The subject of this sketch was born in Tioga

county. Pa., March 22, 18 18, and attended the district

school, sometimes going as far as two miles. He
came to Elmwood, bought property and built in 1855.

He married Elizabeth Fitch, in Crawford county, Pa.,

who was a native of Kentucky. She died in 1853,

leaving two children, Robert B. and Wallace S. Robt.

B. died in 1854. He married Ann I. Maxwell, born in

Cecil county, Md., in February, 1832. They have five

children — Frederick D., Walter M., Chas. P., Dora

M., Annie E. Mr. Jay was a Methodist for forty years.

He is now a minister of the Presbyterian. Mr. Jay
held several local offices in Richland county, was justice

of the peace for eight years ; in 1876 was elected to the

Legislature from this district, receiving ^ very large

vote. He has done much to build up the town. Al-

though coming to the State with only thirty-seven and

one-half cents in his pocket, has accumulated a fine

property.

JOHNSON" AUGUSTUS, furniture dealer,

res. Elmwood, was born in Sweden, in 1852, and enii-

grated to the United States in 1871, and located in

Brimfield township. From there he went to Stark

county, where he remained a short time then returned

to Brimfield, and embarked in the furniture business

on his own account and making it a success. Some
time later moved to Elmwood, where he is prosecuting

the same business, and by close application to business

and fair dealing is building up a fine trade. Was mar-

ried in West Jersey, Stark county. Ills., to Miss Elizabeth

Swenk, a native of Stark cpunty. By this marriage

there is one child.— Leo D., born April 19, 1879.

JOHNSON H. B, furniture dealer, res. Elm-

wood, son of Moses C. and Martha (Rounds) Johnson,

who came to this county in 1848, where the subject of

this sketch was born on the 4th day of May, 1852.

Married Miss Anna B., daughter of Rev. R. N. Morse,

of Marshall county, Illinois. She was born in Wood-
ford county, Ills., February 26, 1854. Have two chil-

dren, C. M. and G. R. Mr. Johnson commenced his

present business in 1877 ; has by close application to

business worked up an enviable trade ; carries a stock

of $2,000 and has an annual trade of $7,000. Mr. and

Mrs. Johnson are members of the Congregational

Church of Brimfield.

JONES W. W. merchant, Abingdon, 111.

Earuey Ed. laborer, F. O. Elmwood.

Keen Thomas, carpenter, P. O, Elmwood.
Kelly John, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

KELLOGG WM. H. second son of Edward
and Jane Hall Kellogg, who had a family of three

sons and three daughters, was born in Berkshire

county, Mass., July 31, 1830. He came with his

parents to Elmwood, Peoria county, 111., in 1837, and

was raised on a farm in section 9-4, in Elmwood town-

ship, receiving his education at the common schools,

except about one year spent at Galesbnrg Academy. ^

On quitting school he went to California, in 1849, ^"d

after the varied fortunes of four years, returned home
in 1853, and in March, 1854, commenced mercantile

business in the town of Elmwood, and continued the

same till January, 1859. In the meantime, November

27, 1856, he was married to Miss Lavinia, daughter of

A. C. and Aurelia Bartholomew, of Elmwood, by

whom he has one son and three daughters, all living.

In June, 1859, Mr. Kellogg began in the grain and

produce shipping at Elmwood station, handling grain

very extensively and doing a prosperous and successful

business, which he continued till 1865, when he went

to Memphis, Tenn., and purchased mills, which he

operated three years, and still owns. In 1868 he re-

turned to Elmwood, and in 1870, re-engaged in his

former business of handling grain. Mr. Kellogg is an

active, energetic business man, and has accumulated a

comfortable competence. In politics he has always been

a Republican. In the memorable campaign of 1872, he

warmly espoused the Liberal cause, and did all he

could to secure the election of that most eminent Re-

publican, Horace Greeley. He has never sought office,

although he has been a member of the town council

several years. Mr. and Mrs. Kellogg are among the

most highly respected people of the community in

which they live, and take an active interest in all

movements and enterprises tending to advance the

moral and social welfare of the place.

KEMP DAVID, retired farmer, Elmwood.

Kennelly. Pat. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Keough Wm. laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

KEKB GEO. NEWELL, farmer. Sec. 28,

P. O. Elmwood, was born in Madison county, Ohio, on

the i6th day of March, 1840; was the son of Samuel

N. and Aletha Kerr, of Ohio. Married Miss Susan M.
Graham ; she was born on the 23rd day of April, 1838.

The fruit of this marriage is five children : Aletha E.,

born February 4, 1865 ; Lewis G., born January 13,

1866
;

Josie B. born January 17, 1868 ; Susan M.,

born October 10, 1870,. and died July 20, 1871 ; Peter

B., born August 23, 1873. Has 160 acres of land

under good cultivation
; valued at $10,000. Mr. Kerr

had three brothers in the Union army.

Kershaw James, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Klniiear A„ nurseryman, P. O. Elmwood.

KIGHTTINGER C. H. dealer in stock, res.
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Elmwood, was born in Crawford ^county, Pa., May lo,

1832 ; came to this county in 1835. Married Miss

Deliska, daughter of H. B. Slayton ; was born in

Chautauqua county, N. Y,, in 1843. Two children,

Nettie and Edith. In June 1861, he enlisted in the

8th Missouri Infantry, Company G., and served three

years. Was in the engagement of Fort Donaldson

;

then went by river to Vicksburg, and up the Yazoo,

where they were in a four days fight ; thence to Arkan-

sas Post, where they captured 7,000 prisoners ; thence

to Young's Point, opposite Vicksburg, and were em-

ployed on the canal, where they planted mortars and

shelled Vicksburg for two weeks ; thence down the

river to Hurd, crossed the river and went to Vicks-

burg, and participated in the siege and capture

;

thence to Knoxville and relieved Burnside ; thence to

Memphis where they encamped for the Winter. From

there, went to Chattanooga, Missionary Ridge, Dallas,

Resaca, Big Shanty, Ga. Their time having expired,

were sent to St. Louis, and were mustered out, and

arrived home on the 8th of July, 1863. He afterwards

went in as a substitute, and was assigned to the nth
I, V. I.; was in several engagements.

Lapsley Thos. farmer, P. O. TrivoU.

LAWRENCE E. M. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

Son of Geo. P. and Phoebe M. (Butler) Lawifence, na-

tives of Coshocton county, O., who immigrated to Peo-

ria county and located on the section where the subject

of this sketch now resides, and where they lived until

their death. Mr. Lawrence was born in Coshocton

county, O., on Jan. I, 1836 ; was reared on a farm and

educated in the common schools. Married Miss Emma

J., daughter of John Green, who was born in same

county, Feb. 24, 1842. The fruit of this marriage was

four girls and one son. Has 159 acres of land, 130

acres under good cultivation and well supplied with

fruit; valued at |8,ooo. Has an orchard of 18 acres.

Members of the United Brethren.

Layden Jobn, laborer, F. O. Elmwood.

liEE JAMES, grain and stock dealer, res. Elm-

wood, is the son of John and Ann (PoUitt) Lee, natives

of England. Was born in Lancashire, Eng., April r,

1832, and educated in his native country. Came to the

U. S. in 1854, landing in Philadelphia, Penn. Re-

mained there six months and then came to Elmwood,

Peoria county. Married Miss Susannah, daughter of

Richard and Margaret Morris, born in Wales in 1832.

They had three children, two living : Margaret A., now

Mrs. S. M. Goddard, born May 14, 1855 ; Mary E.,

born March 6, 1865. In 1856 Mr. Lee embarked in

the coal business, on lands owned by John W. Conklin,

and later of Thomas Hurff and of W. J. Phelps, and

furnished coal to mills and to the country around in

large quantities. In 1867, took into co-partnership W.

J. Phelps and son, forming the firm of James Lee &

53

Co., and sank the first shaft in the county, This was
the origin of the Elmwood Coal Co,, now the most im-

portant coal works in Peoria county. Mr. Lee sank all

the shafts in this region, and had the superintendency of

them till the 22d of Feb., 1872. He sold out his in-

terest to W. J. & W. E. Phelps, May i, 1870, they pur-

chasing on condition that he would take charge of the

business, which he did up to Feb. 22, 1872. James
Lee & Co. also carried on the business of making

pressed brick with the Gard machine, worked by steam

power and making from 18,000 to 25,000 per day. In

1872, March 4, he went into the grocery business, con-

tinuing it successfully until Jan. i, 1875, when he en-

gaged in the grain and stock trade. Has the only ele-

vator in the town, which has a capacity of 60,000

bushels ; handles about 200 car loads of stock yearly,

and owns a homestead valued at $3,000 and a farm in

Knox county valued at $5,000 ; value of elevator,

f8,000. He is president of the town board, has been

trustee for several terms, and is also trustee of schools.

Leet Samuel L. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Lemastus I. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Lilly M. C. blacksmith, P. O. Elmwood.

liOBAXJGH JOHN J. physician and surgeon,

res. Elmwood, was born July 27, 1829, in Latimore

township, Adams, Pa., eighteen miles northeast of

Gettysburg. His father, John Lobaugh, was a farmer,

and grandson of Peter Lobaugh, who emigrated from

Germany about the year 1740 and settled in Berks

county, where he married Helena Pallio, a French lady.

The subject of this sketch married Miss Mary John, of

Welsh extraction, one of the John family who settled

in Chester county at an early day. Dr. Lobaugh was

the sixth in a family of eight children. When he was

three years old his father removed to the vicinity of

Newport, Perry county. Pa., where he was reared on a

farm and attended the common school. In 1 847 the

family removed to Peoria county, and settled in Logan

township, near Smithville, where there was abundance

of hard work in opening up a farm. The son inherited

a compact, hardy, physical organization. He read with

avidity everything he could get hold of, and laid out his

money chiefly for books of a scientific character. In

1849 he began teaching in the south end of Kickapoo

township, and afterwards taught a long time in Smith-

ville, boarding around with his pupils. In 1851, he

commenced reading medicine with Dr. Chas. Davis, u

homeopathic physician in Henry, Marshall county, 111.,

where he remained two years. In 1853 entered the

office of Dr. John Evans, of Farmington, 111., where he

remained two years, teaching some in the meantime to

support himself, and attending lectures at an Eclectic

college, from which institution he holds a diploma. In

1854 he began practice with his preceptor. In 1855

he set up for himself in Glenwood, Knox county. 111.
;

removed in June, 1856, to Elmwood, where he has
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since resided. In March, i860, he married Miss Sarah

Cratty, daughter of William Cratty, of Elmwood, who
was born May 17, 1838. He is now serving his fourth

year as a member of the Board of Town Trustees, and

eight years as school director. He is a member of the

Western College of Homeopathy and of the Illinois

State Homeopathic Society. He is extremely liberal in

his views and sees much good in all the different sys-

tems, and uses in his practice whatever he deems of

service in curing the ills of suffering humanity. Repub-

lican in politics. Mr. L. is an earnest temperance

man. In religion he is a Swedenborgian, but attends

the Congregational Church, of which his wife is a mem-
ber. Seven children— Arthur C, born Aug. 20, 1862,

died Sept. 20. 1875; Laura Grace, born Oct. 12, 1865;

Carrie B., born March 3, 1868, died March 8, 1870;

Ernest D., born April 26, 1871; Bertha May, born Feb.

25, 1873; Florence E., born Dec. 21, 1875, died Dec.

II, 1877; Lou, born Aug. 3, 1878.

Lombard N, J., laborer, P. O. Elmwood.
Macy M. C. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Marmock N. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Mathuson John, laborer. P. O. Elmwood.
Mathews Mary N. P. O. Elmwood.
Maxwell John, engineer, P. O. Elmwood.
May John, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

McCANN GEORGE W. farmer. Sec. 27, P.

O. Elmwood, son of Samuel and Susan McCann, natives

of Cayuga county, N. Y. ; immigrated to this county in

1837, and remained in Peoria for a short time ; then

moved to Harkness Grove for a couple of years ; thence

to where they now reside. The subject of this sketch

was born in Cayuga county, N. Y., on the 5th day of

March, 1837, and came to the county with his parents

when a child, where he received a common school edu-

cation. In 1862 enlisted in the 77th Regt., I, V. I.,

Col. Grier. The principal engagements participated in

were, Yazoo Bottoms, Arkansas Post, Vicksburg, Port

Gibson, Champion Hills, Black River Ridge, siege and

capture of Vicksburg, and others. Married Miss Mi-

nerva Eno, daughter of Imle Eno. She was born in

Cayuga county, N. Y., Sept. i, 1841 ; two children, one

died in infancy, Ada May, born April 28, 1877, died

July 30, 1879. Has 100 acres of land under good cul-

tivation, valued at $7,000. Mrs. McCann is a member

of the M. E. Church.

McCann Wm. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
McDermott John, laborer. P. O. Elmwood.
McDermott M. laborer, P. O. Elmwood.
McFarland A. J., farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
McGrale A. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
McMuUer W. J. farmer, P. O. Farmlngton.
McNay Wm. B. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Miles %'. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Miller C. W. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Monnock Chas. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Moore Monroe, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Moore T. J. farmer, P. O. Bosefleld.
Morey T. E. retired farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

MORKIS H. J. butcher, res. Elmwood, son of

Henry and Ann Morris, natives of England, who came

to the United States in 1841, and located in Peoria

county, where the subject of this sketch was born on the

22d day of May, 1846. Married Miss Sarah Chapman.

She was born in the same county on the nth day of

August, 1845. They have had four children, two of

whom are living, Clarence and Frank. Enlisted in

1864 in the 8th I. V. I., Co. H, under Col. Shuts ; was at

the charge and capture of Ft. Blakesley, where the regi-

ment lost sixty men ; thence to Mobile and Texas

;

mustered out at New Orleans ; thence back to this

county, where he followed farming until 1874, when he

embarked in the grocery business as the firm of H. J.

Morris & Co., and remained in the same business until

1877, when he commenced his present business. Is a

member of the A. F. & A. M., and the G. A. R.

Moyer John, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Murphy J. 0. retired farmer, P.O. Elmwood.
Murray S. E. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Nicherson John, farmer, P.O. Elmwood.

OLDFIELD GEORGE W. machinist, res.

Elmwood ; was born in Belleville, Richland county,

Ohio, May 21, 1842. Was the son of Jonathan Old-

field, one of the pioneer settlers of Ohio, emigrated

from Orange county, N. Y., to Ohio, in 1808 ; settling

on Clear Fork, and made the first clearing where

Belleville now stands. He was the father of fourteen

children, all of whom lived to adult age. The subject

of this sketch was the oldest of four sons, of his father's

third wife, whose maiden name was Esther Andrews;

he was reared on a farm until fourteen years old, when

he engaged in the business of an engineer until twenty,

when twenty-one married Miss Mary E. Reves, of

Washington, D. C, who was sixteen years of age,

when twenty-two enlisted in the 178th Ohio Vol. Inf.

and served until the close of the war, then removed to

Illinois, and settled on a farm near Elmwood, one year.

At that time the Elmwood Machine Works having

conipleted their new building he obtained a situation

as machinist and continued with the company ever

since ; the last ten years as foreman. In 1874, after

four years illness, Mrs. Oldfield died, leaving three

little children—Parry, aged eight ; Sadie, six, and

Henry, four years. Mr. O. married Mrs. Eliza-

beth Dickson in September, 1878. She was the

daughter of R. M. Grey, of Putnam county, N. Y.

Oldlield J. foreman foundry, P. O. Elmwood.

O'SHEA MICHAEL,, laborer, Elmwood.
otto Jacob, merchanttallor, P. O. Elmwood.
Page Eliza, boarding house, P.O. Elmwood.
Patterson Wm. A. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

PHELPS WILLIAM E. Hon. eldest son of

W. J. Phelps and Olivia B. Johnson ; was born October

g, 1835, on the family homestead where he now resides.

At the age of fourteen he commenced his education in

a private school in the village of Farmington five miles

distant, going and returning daily on horseback. His

Summers were spent at work on the farm. He broke

a large part of the prairie where the village of Elm-

wood now stands. He graduated from Knox College
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at twenty-qne, and again engaged in the business of

the farm. Already Mr. Phelps took a lively interest in

the political questions of the day and was frequently

called on to address local gatherings. He was from

the frrst a Repmblican, having returned home while in

college to cast his first vote for John C. Fremont. On
the breaking out of the rebellion, he was active in

raising and equipping the first company that Elmwood

put into the service, and had he followed his own in-

clination would have gone with them. He yielded, how-

ever, to the representations of many friends that his

duty lay clearly at home. Mr. Phelps addressed numer-

ous war meetings and assisted in recruiting four or

five companies and parts of companies. In November,

1862, he was appointed United States Consul to St.

Petersburg, Russia, which position he filled for three

years. May 17, 1864, while at home on leave of ab-

sence he was married to Miss Ellen A. Wiley, with

whom he started at once on the return journey to St.

Petersburg. While here Mr. Phelps discovered that

negotiations were in progress for the purchase of a

steamer then in Cronstadt harbor for a blockade

runner. He immediately secured the services of an

able Russian broker through whom he obtained ac-

curate information of the whole transaction in-

eluding a careful description of the vessel. This

was forwarded by the Navy Department to the

Admiral commanding the blockade squadron, who cap-

tured the vessel on her first voyage. Mr. Phelps secured

numerous complimentary letters from Secretary Seward

recognizing special services. In 1865 he resigned, and

came home, and has since resided on the old homestead,

engaged in farming, mining and manufacturing. In

1868, after a hotly contested campaign, during which

he addressed meetings in every township in Peoria and

Stark counties he was chosen Representative to the

Legislature. He served as chairman of the Committee

on Education, and was also a member of the Canal

Committee, in both of which positions he was regarded

as an able and efficient worker. Since that time Mr.

Phelps' business affairs have demanded so much of his

time that he has positively declined to be a candidate

for any office, although repeatedly solicited to do so by

the leading Republican influences in the county. Mr.

and Mrs. Phelps have had five children, four living,

WiUiam Joshua, now thirteen years old, Margaret Wiley

ten, Mary Violet, eight, Edwin (Lynd, died in infancy,)

and James Wiley two years old.

PHEIiPS "WM. J. Hon. Sec. l8,P.O. Elmwood.

The subject of this biography belongs to a very ancient

family. Their genealogy in England being traced back

to the time of WiUiam the Conqueror. William Phelps

of Parlock, England, was the first paternal ancestor in

America. He emigrated to New England in 1630 and

settled at Dorchester, near Boston. On the 15th of

October, 1635, he set out with his family and about sixty

others for the valley of the Connecticut, the compass

being their only guide, and settled at Windsor, Con-
necticut. He was a member of the first Court (Legis-

lature), held in Connecticut, in 1636, also in 1637 ; was
magistrate from 1638 till the close of 1642. Held many
important offices from that period till 1663, and was

truly a pillar in both church and State. The genealogy

from William Phelps is as follows : Timothy, fifth son

of William and Mary (Dover) Phelps, was born in

Windsor, Conn., Sept. i, 1639 ; Samuel, sixth son of

Timothy Phelps, born Jan. 29, 1675 ; Joshua, son of

Samuel Phelps, born Oct. 13, 1729 ;
Joshua, son of

Joshua Phelps, born Aug. 29, 1762 ; William Joshua

Phelps, the subject of this record is the son of the last

mentioned, was born at Burlington, Conn., March 2,

1808, He was bred a farmer and educated at the com-

mon schools and academy of his native State. At the

age of twenty-one he began to spend his winters travel-

ing on business, mostly in the Middle, Southern, and

Western States, and returning home to spend the sum-

mers. During these trips he decided to settle in the

West. He was married in Hurwinton Conn., on the

loth of September, 1834, to Miss Olivia B., daughter

of Benoni and Abigal Johnson, and immediately depart-

ed with his young wife to Illinois. They arrived at

Peoria after a three weeks' trip by steamboat,

canal and stage on the 30th of September, 1834.

The next day Mr. Phelps, leaving his wife in Peoria,

started on an Indian trail to the vicinity of his present

home. He purchased the pre-emption right of a settler,

who had previously erected a rude log cabin. Re-

moved his wife to it, and in this he lived about six

years, when his present residence was erected, which

has since been enlarged and furnished with the com-

forts and elegancies of a modern home. Additions

were made to the quarter-section first purchased, till at

present Mr. Phelps has about two thousand acres of

rich and beautiful land, and one of the finest timber

tracts in this part of the country. This valuable estate

is intersected by the Peoria branch of the Chicago,

Burlington & Quincy R. R., and is rich in coal deposits,

one of which has an important shaft in successful oper-

ation, with a side track from the main line of the

railroad running to it ; making the facilities for supply-

ing the markets as abundant and advantageous as those

of any coal region in Illinois. It was mainly through

Mr. Phelps' untiring efforts in the County and Legis-

lature that these roads were located and built, which

have contributed so largely to develope the material

and social interests of Elmwood and vicinity. When
ihe first branch was built, he donated the right of

way and the land for the depots. The township in

which their new house was located, was not laid out for

some years and their nearest post office was Peoria or
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Canton, though a little later an office was established at

Farmington, Fulton county. They desired that their

home should be designated by some appropriate cogno-

men, and named it Elmwood, from the beautiful

grove of elms near their dwelling. Thus Mr. Phelps'

home became noted long before either the township or

village was named. Having succeeded in getting an

extension of the mail route to his place, he became post-

master, the office being named Elmwood. Subsequently

the township, then the village and railroad station took

the same name. Mr. Phelps owned the land on which

Elmwood is built, and laid out the place in 1854. He
declined to sell lots to persons who would erect build-

ings for saloons, or other immoral purposes, and offered

special inducements to the best elements of society to

come and settle there. Thus the young town got well

started and was the legitimate offspring of a high and

noble purpose on the part of the founder. Mr. Phelps

has been possessed of a vigorous constitution, embrac-

ing a happy combination of the temperaments, render-

ing him energetic and thorough going in whatever he

engaged in, laying large plans and evincing extraordin-

ary ability to execute them. Is a clear vigorous thinker,

and a jovial, affable and generous companion; but is

firm and independent in his own opinions. Is a

staunch Republican, and a consistent member

of the Congregational Church. He was elected jus-

tice of the peace in 1835, county commissioner in 1836,

and was chosen representative to the legislature in 1840.

In the several positions he discharged the responsibili-

ties of his office with marked ability. Though always

taking a lively interest in politics, and possessing a good

knowledge of the science of good government, he has

devoted his sole attention to his large private business,

chief of which is the management of his large farm, one

mile south of the public square, and the coal mining

interest. He is one who has always acted upon the

belief that it is better to wear out than to rust out. Mr.

Phelps lived happily with the wife of his early choice

till the 17th of February, 1873, when Mrs. Phelps

departed this life, in the sixty-ninth year of her age.

She was a woman admired and loved for her many
excellent qualities and Christian virtues. Mr. and Mrs.

P. had three children, one of whom died in infancy.

Their two sons living are Hon. Wm. E. Phelps and

Augustus S. J. Phelps Esq., in the practice of the law at

Elmwood.

Phelps A. S. J. lawyer, P. O. Elmwood.
Pliilnower A, carpenter, P. O. Elmwood,
Pierce W. N. merchant. P. O. Elmwood.
Prescott K. merchant, P. O. Elmwood.
Proctor James, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

PTJLSIFER GEORGE H. (deceased) farmer,

P. O. Rosefield, was born in Rockingham, Vermont,

Sept. 2g, 1807, where he was reared on a farm and

received a common school education. When twenty-

one years of age went to Penn., where he followed ped-

dling for nine years; then came to Illinois in 1839.

Married Miss Abigal Bosworth, daughter of Truman
Bosworth. She was born in Clinton county. New York,

June 7, 1817. The fruit of this marriage was six chil-

dren— Laura C, born August 25, 1843, Lucia A.,

born May 20, 1845, Eliza Jane, born November 6,

1849, Fred. B., born July 22, 1851, Isabell, born Sep-

tember 30, 1853, Ethel May, born April 8, 1855. Mr.

Pulsifer was a member of the New Church. Died June

II, 1861.

Pulsifer Mrs. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

PUTNAM JAMES, proprietor Elmwood
House, Elmwood.

RAMSEY ROBERT, retired farmer, resi-

dence Elmwood, was born in Brook, West Virginia, on

the 23d day of March, 1804 ; was reared on a farm

until he was sixteen years old, and received a primitive

education. The fall he was seventeen years old went

to New Orleans with the products of the farm. The
next season came back to the farm, and farmed, and

Winters made trips to New Orleans, until 1828. Then
married Miss Jane Cleland. She was bom in Ireland,

and came to this country when a child. She died Feb-

ruary ig, 1830, leaving an infant four days old. Then
returned to the river and remained until 1834, when he

married Miss Cornelia Shaw, daughter of William

Shaw. She was born in Chenango county, New York,

December 20, 1811. The fruit of this marriage was one

son and four daughters, three of which are still living.

Emigrated from West Virginia to Jefferson county,

Ohio, in 1834, and engaged in the milling business, and

in 1852 came to Illinois and located in Brimfield town-

ship and followed farming until 1867, when he came to

the beautiful town of Elmwood.

REED J. B. harnessmaker, Elmwood.

REGAK JOHN, editor Elmwood Messenger,

Elmwood.
Began J. P. printer, P. O. Elmwood.
Richardson Geo. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Kichardson L. carpenter, P. o. Elmwood.
Richinyrd Geo. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Riley Timothy, laborer, P. O. Elmwood.

ROBERTS A. H. stock dealer, Elmwood.

Rockhald J. W. carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.

RODMAN" J. M. hardware and stove mer-

chant, Elmwood.

ROGERS HENRY P. lumber merchant,

res. Elmwood, was born July 16, 1826, at Brockport.

Monroe county, N. Y. ; one of ten children, eight of

whom are now living. His parents settled in Trivoli

township, Peoria county, in July, 1838. His father died

at his home in the village of Elmwood, Dec. 15, 1871,

in the 87th year of his age. His mother is now living

at her home in Elmwood in her 8ist year, loved and

respected by all. Henry P. Rogers is one of a large

family, and in connection of whom it can be said, in

character and worth, they stand second to none.
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The lumber interests of the county comprises one of

its most important features, and its growth and devel-

opment are synonymous with the various improvements

that are in progress. And as regards Elmwood and
vicinity this particular interest is well represented in

the establishment and yard of H. P. Rogers, through

whose energy the business has been brought up to a

point which, in importance, is not inferior to any indus-

try or enterprise in the place. Mr. R. has been iden-

tified with the lumber trade here for the last fourteen

years, and is among the earliest settlers of the county.

His yard is conveniently located, and is well stocked

with hard and soft wood lumber of all kinds, together

with builders' material of every description, embracing

paints, oils, sash, doors, blinds, etc.

BOSE J. J. mechanic, Elmwood.

ROWLAND B. retired farmer, Elmwood.

Bunlen J. farmer. F. O. Elmwood.

RYAlf WILIiIAM D. carpenter, Elmwood.

SCHBNCK HESTRY, farmer. Sec. 6, P. O.

Elmwood, son of Peter and Catharine Schenck, natives

of Ohio. Father born May 3, 1801, mother in 1800
;

father still living in Butler county, Ohio, at the age of

79 years ; mother died in 1858. Henry was born in

Butler county, Ohio, on the 14th day of December,

1835 ; was bred a farmer and educated in the district

school , came to Peoria county in 1864 and located on

the place where he now resides. Married Miss Maria

C, daughter of David Kemp, of Elmwood. She was

bom in Butler county, O., Oct. 15, 1841, and died Dec.

27, i86g. He married Susan Snyder, widow of Jacob

A. Snyder, born in Butler county, O., Jan. 29, 1837.

By this marriage resulted, two boys and one girl,

Ebert, born Aug. 18. 1871 (died July 31, 1872); Harry,

born Oct. 28, 1872 ; Edna, born February 5, 1877. Has

210 acres of land one mile north of the city of Elm-

wood, beautifully located, and valued at $20,000.

SCHENCK W. L. Mrs. Elmwood.

SECORD JAMES K. physician and surgeon,

res. Elmwood, Was born in Lincoln Co., Canada,

July 15, 1835, and worked on a farm till eighteen years

of age. Then learned the trade of house and sign paint-

ing. Worked at it until 1859, then commenced the

study of medicine and surgery, attending lectures at

Rush Medical College, Chicago, from which he grad-

uated. Was a volunteer under Gen. Walker, the one-

eyed man of destiny,went to Central America, was taken

prisoner, and returned with a number of others who

were taken at the same time. Located in Yates City,

111., for the practice of medicine, March, 1862. Enlisted

in Co. F. 77th I. V. I., Sept. 1862, for three years or

during the war. Served three years having been pro-

moted to the Captaincy of the company. Was with

Gen. Grant at the siege and capture of Vicksburg, and

Jackson, Miss., under Gen. Sherman. Then transferred

to the department of the Gulf under Gen. N P. Banks.

Was at the battle ofSabine Cross Roads, where Gen.

Banks was defeated by Gen. Dick Taylor. Was mus-

tered out of service by reason of expiration of term,

July 1865. Married Miss Mary Carlton Sept. 18, 1865.

Have had four children, two living, Maud and Norman.

Located in Elmwood for the practice of medicine, but

having poor health, due to the hardships and exposures

of army life, removed to Texas in 1869 ; receiving no

benefit returned to Elmwood. Thence to California

for health, but not experiencing much relief returned

to Elmwood, where he has since remained, having a

good practice.

Settzer J. farmer, P. O, Elmwood.
Shearer G. G. laborer, F. O. Elmwood.
Shlpter H. farmer, P. O. Trlvoli.
Slayton C. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Slaytx>n H. B. carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.

SLAYTON H. B. retired, res. Elmwood. Was
born in Woodstock, Windsor county, Vt., on the i6th

day of September, 1807, was raised on a farm and at-

tended the district school. When eight years old,

went with his father to Genesee county, N. Y., and

remained five years ; thence to Morgan county. At

the age of seventeen years, he went to Chautauqua

county, N. Y., where he married Miss Eunice Chand-

ler. She was born in the samecounty, March 10, 1814;

she died in 1851, leaving four children. He married

Electa Norton, who was born in Brattleboro, Vt.,

April 19, iSii. This marriage resulted in one son

and one daughter. In 1853, settled in Knox county,

111., three years ; thence to this county, where he has

remained since.

SLOAN W. T. M. D., druggist, P. O. Elmwood
The subject of this sketch is the son ofJohn and Sebina

Sloan, who were natives of Pennsylvania. His father

died in 1855, and his mother— now Mrs. Johnson —
is a resident of McLean Co., 111. He commenced the

study of medicine under Dr. W. A. Baker, of Reids-

burg. Pa,, in 1868. In 1870 he attended lectures at

the medical college of Cleveland, O., and during the

years 1871 and 1872, practiced medicine in Jefferson

Co., Pa. He attended lectures at Bellevue Medical Col-

lege, New York city, in 1873, and in the Spring of the

following year graduated, and moved to Elmwood,

Peoria Co., where he has since resided and practiced.

He has acquired a good share of the medical practice

of the town and surrounding country, and in 1879 added

the business of druggist- and apothecary. He married

in September, 1875, Miss Bertha Vandervoort, who was

born in Canada in 1857, and by whom he has one child,

Eleanor, born in June 1877.

SMITH D. H. stone cutter, res. Elmwood; was

born in Kickapoo township, Jan. 27, 1845, and in 1867

went to Columbus, Ohio, and learned his trade, where

he married Miss Bell Vance in 1872. She was born in

Ohio in 1S53. Have four children, Nellie, Dassie B.,
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and Edson C. and Leroy. Came back to Illinois in

1875, and followed farming one year. Then removed
to Elmwood and has been engaged at his trade since.

Enlisted in the 14th III. Cav., Co. M., Feb. 1864, was
in all the engagements of the company up to the Uime
of Stoneraan's raid, in which he participated, and was
taken prisoner. He and others were taken to Atlanta
Ga., by Graham scouts and from there was sent to

Andersonville, where all his clothes and everything of

value were taken. Their food consisted of a small piece

of corn bread, and a mouthful of meat, After being

co»fined three months there was sent to Millan, Ga.
Thence to Savannah, Ga., were five days and nights

without a mouthful to eat, and was shortly afterwairds

paroled, got a furlough and came home.

Smith F. S. engineer, P. O. Elmwood.

SMITH GEORGE S, livery and sale stable,

res. Elmwood, was born in Peoria county on the 23d
day of October, 1843. His father was one of the ear-

liest settlers in the county, coming in 1831-32, and lo-

cated in this township, where he has resided since, and
raised a family of four boys and three girls. The sub-

ject of this sketch married Lucy, daughter of Joel

Blakesly, y/ho was born in Elmwood township, January,

1847. They have two children— a boy and a girl.

SMITH J. M. Sec. 4, retired farmer, P. O. Elm-
wood.
Smith L. retirea farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Smith Lather, carpenter, P. O. Elmwood.

SPANGLER C. W. grain and lumber dealer,

Elmwood, makes a specialty of buying and shipping

grain, stock, etc.

Spring J. H. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Stalker A. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

STAIiKER WILIilAM, farmer and stock

raiser, P. O. Elmwood, was born on the Isle of Man,
on the 3d day of September, 1827, a-nd received a com-
mon school education in his native place. Immigrated

to the United States in June, 1845,, landing in New York
city. Mr. S. engaged in public works soon after ar-

riving, contracting and building railroads and canals,

having been a contractor on the Illinois canal, and also

worked on the Erie. In the year 1856, he located in

Brimfield township, remaining there nine years ; then

came to Elmwood. In the year 1852, he married Miss

Ann, daughter of William Corlett, born in March, 1827.

Five children bless this union— Wm. H., John J., Re-
na, Hattie and Jennie. Mr. S.. has held several local

offices. They are members of the Episcopalian Church.

Has 230 acres of land under good cultivation, valued at

$12,000.

STEVEN'S AMOS, retired farmer, res. Elm-
wood, son of Job and Eliiabeth (Chase) Stevens, was
born in Plainfield, N. H., on the 31st day of May, 1803,

was reared on. a farm and educated in his native towni,

When twenty yeairs old.he went to Virginiaas teacher,

and remained there six years ; thence to Louisiana, fol-

lowing the same occupation, and in 1833 came to Peo-

ria, where he arrived in July. Immediately after ob-

tained a preemption on the Kickapoo fork of 160 acres,

on which he remained two years. (Was the first settler

in Rosefield .township, built the first leg cabin, and

broke the first prairie.) When his brother purchased

his claim at the end of two years, went to Peoria and

followed clerking, and acted as deputy postmaster. In

November, 1836, he married Miss Elizabeth, daughter

of George Morrow, of Sussex county, N. J., who was

born there August 8, 1815. One child— George M.,

born July 25, 1837. Mrs. S. died August 13, 1838. He
married, for his second wife, Miss Sarah V., daughter of

Deacon Zenas Hotchkiss, who was born in Burlington,

Conn., July 14, l8io. Three children blessed this union

— Mary V., Sarah E. P. and Ellen L. Mr. S. came to

Elmwood in 1B56, where he is living a retired life.

Stewart J. D. retired merchant, P. O. Elmwood.

TAYLOR ISAAC, farmer, Sec. 15, P. O.

Elmwood, was born in Coshocton county, Ohio, Janu-

ary 4, 1830. In December, 1849, married Miss Eliza-

beth Thrush ; she was born in Coshocton county, Ohio,

in 1832. They have five children : Eliza Jane, now
Mrs. Frederick Anderson ; Mary Elizabeth, now Mrs.

Fred. Pulsifer ; Lavina B., now Mrs. Joseph Mettler

;

John F., and Jennie. Mr. Taylor owns 200 acres of

land, 120 under cultivation ; valued at $10,000. En-
listed in the 31st L V. I. Company D, in 1864, and
was with Sherman on his march to the sea.

TAYLOR JAMES, clerk. Elmwood.

Taylor farmer, P, O. Elmwood.

THATCHER TVILLIAM, harnessmaker, P.

O. Trivoli.

Threw Wm. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Thurston Isaac, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

'tract, T. H. & CO. In the Fall of 1853,

Mr. Tracy came to the beautiful town of Elmwood
and built what is known as No. i Lincoln- Block, a

two-story brick—the first brick in the town—and en-

gaged in the dry goods business. There are certain

leading features in the business interest of all commu-
nities, and certain elements that lead to prosperity and

success, and fill wants and requirements of the general

public. Mr. Tracy has these. His stock, which is one

of the very largest in the place, is complete in all its

various departments. The apartments and arrange-

ments of the store are first-class. Upon the main
floor or salesroom, dry goods and notions are seen in

great variety. In the basement is the carpet depart,

ment, with an extensive line. On the second floor is

as complete a clothing store as any one will find in

any province town in the State. The firm, which com-

prises T. H. Tracy & Co., was established about twenty-

seven years ago, and A, L. Tracy, the founder, has
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been continuously identified with it. It is the pioneer

establishment in Elmwood, and among the earliest in

Peoria county. The sales of the house amount to

$40,000 a year. Mr. Tracy has also a nursery east of

town of thirty to forty acres, the receipts of which are

about $8,000 per year ; ships his trees to all parts of

the Northwest.

TRACY HARLAN P. banker, Elmwood.
Trert Chas. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.
Trickier W. gardener, P. O. Elmwood.

TROTH JOHN, farmer, Sec. 2, P. O. Elm-
wood, was born in Highland county. Pa., on the 14th

day of January, 1813, reared on a farm and attended

the district school. He married Phoebe, daughter of

John Beoans, and born in Pennsylvania, on the rgth

day of August, 1813. They had ten children, nine

still living: Lovena A., born June 5, 1833 ; Elizabeth,

born March 30, 1835, died May 4, 1836 ; Wm. J., born

May 2, 1837; Albert G., born May 31, 1839; Josiah,

born June 23, 1841 ; Isaac, born April 14, 1843 ; Jas-

per N., born May 17, 1845 ; Huldah, born August 21,

1848 ; Sarah I., born July 9, 1850 ; Oliver, born Febru-

ary 24, 1853. Has eighty acres of land, sixty acres

under good cultivation ; valued at $5,000. Came to

Peoria county in 1842 ; came from Peoria with his

family, on foot, to this place ; erected a log cabin, in

which they lived eighteen months, then built a frame

building, where they still reside.

TROTH JOSIAH, plasterbr, Elmwood.

TRTJAX J. H. livery stable keeper, Elmwood.

Truse L. B. miller, P. O. Elmwood.
Tulley Bose, laborer. P. O. Elmwood.
Turner Jos. engineer, P. O. Elmwood.
Vandervoort A. G-. traveling salesman, F. O. Elmwood.

VANDERVOORT J. A. retired merchant,

res. Elmwood. Emigrated from Bellville, Canada, to

the town of Elmwood when there was but two business

houses in it, and engaged in the grocer's business, in

the building opposite the Elmwood house. Style of

firm. Jones & Vandervoort. Both families were com-

pelled to live over the store as there was not a house

for rent in the town. In the year i86l or 1862, he

bought a small residence of Daniel Caverly and paid

him $600 for the same ; and was very proud of it as it

was the first home he could call his own. The firm, of

Jones & Vandervoort in the year 1862 built a brick

store in the block adjoining, and in 1876 Vandervoort

& Wyley built an addition, twenty-four by one hundred,

giving it the name of the block, Palace of Trade. It

is one of the finest business rooms in the town. The

firm continued until the death of Mr. Jones, which

occurred June 19, 1871. It was then changed to Van-

dervoort & Wyley, until June, 1878. On Mr. Vandervoort

retiring from business his two sons-in-law and brother

formed a partnership as the firm Wyley, Vandervoort

& Sloan in 1878, and are the representatives of one of the

leading; business establishments of Elmwood. The prin-

cipal features of stock are dry goods, clothing, boots and
shoes, hats and caps. They occupy a store one hun-

dred feet long, twenty-four wid^ two stories high, and
the largest in the place, and their stock is complete in

all departments. It is bought with great care and is

superior in character to those usually found in towns
of this size. The house has an extensive trade.

VAN" PATTEN E.' photographer, res. Elm-
wood. Son of Joseph and Emeline (Brewster) Van
Patten, natives of the State of New York. They came
to Peoria county in 1845 and first located in HoUis
township, afterwards removed to Rosefield township,

where his father still resides. The subject of this

sketch was born in Cayuga county, N. Y., on the 7th

day of August, 1844, and came to the county with his

parents. He married Miss Mary Turner, who was

born in this county in 1846. They have one boy and
one girl. Are members of the Methodist Church of

Elmwood. Mr. Van Patten enlisted in the 86th I. V.

I., Co. H., in 1862 ; was in the principal engagements of

the Army of the Cumberland, at Perryville, Chica-

mauga. Buzzard Roost, Missionary Ridge, etc. Was
also with Sherman on the march to the sea, and the

Carolinas. Had one shoulder broken to pieces and

one foot crushed, and leg broken, by a falling tree near

Goldsboro, N. C.

VAN WAGNER A. J. Rev. pastor Con-

gregational Church, Elmwood.

Vai-nes E. D. farmer. P.O. TrlvoU.
Venn James, carrlagemaker, P.O. Elmwood.
Vesper Wm. carpenter, P.O. Elmwood.

VICKERY ELIAS, retired farmer, res. Elm-

wood ; was born in Rensselaer county, N. Y., twelve

miles east of Albany, on 28th of September, 1813

;

grew to manhood on a farm, and attended the common

school. When seventeen years of age his father died.

He then worked by the month, and day, and supported

his mother, with his brother's help. At the age of

twenty-four married Miss Polly, daughter of Peter

,
Sipperly, born Feburary 2, 1817. They had ten chil-

dren, eight living : Chester, of Taylor county, Iowa
;

Malissa M.—now Mrs. John Patterson, of this county
;

Phoebe E.—now Mrs. Samuel Clark, of Peoria county
;

Roger, of Knox county. Ills.; Susan—now Mrs. An-

drew Wilson, of Nebraska ; Lewis, of Knox county.

Ills.; Mary—now Mrs. I. Andrews ; Burtha E.—now
Mrs. James Runyon, of Knox county. Ills. Two died

in infancy. In 1840, Mr. V. went to Victoria, Texas,

and engaged in farming, remained about eighteen

months, and came to Illinois, arriving on the loth day

of April, 1843. Came by water, and while crossing the

Gulf of Mexico, came near being shipwrecked. The

first two years after arriving in the county rented a farm,

then bought what was known as the Wakefield farm.

Mr. and Mrs. V. spent some eighteen years of their

life in log cabins. Since that time has built two fine



762 HISTORY OF PEORIA COUNTY.

brick residences. He sold the Wakefield farm for

$3,000, after erecting a brick house ; and afterward

bought the Egleston>farm', where they remained four

years. Then he purchased a farm in Knox county, two

miles and a half west of Elmwood, where he built a.

brick house, and lived fifteen years. Then bought a

farm in Rio township and remained on it until 1875,

when he removed to Elmwood, where he has lived re-

tired since. Are members of the Methodist Church

and he is class leader.

Walker E. I. farmer, P.O. Elmwood.

WASHBURN SILAS HOWE, physiciai

and surgeon, res, Elmwood ; was born at Westforrl,

Otsego county, N. Y., on August 17, 1821. Was the

son of Lewis Edson and Lydia Doolittle Washburn,

who were married October 15, 1809. They had four boys

and five girls, all born in Westford, Otsego county, N.

Y. His father was a farmer but owned and operated

a saw and grist mill. Was killed in the mill December

13, 1836, at the age of forty-nine. His mother died

August 4, 1868, at the age of seventy-five years. Dr.

W. married Miss Sarah Annette Bradley, who was born

in LeRoy, Genesse county, N, Y., July 24, 1829. At

the age of twelve years she attended a select school at

Pavillion, N. Y. On leaving the school in 1841, she

received from the teacher Mr. A. J. Abbath, testi-

monials, certifying that she was abundantly qualified

in all respects to teach a common school, and closing

with the following language: "Her manners and de-

portment in particular are such as can not fail to have a

beneficial and refining influence upon her pupils."

About this time she united with the M. E. Church, In

1850, she came to Elmwood and united with the Presby-

terian Church, in which she remained a member until her

removal to Chillicothe, Ills., in 1875, when she received

her letter at her own request to unite with the Reformed

.; Episcopal Church of that place. Soon after her arrival

in Elmwood she began teaching in the district school.

Some of her early pupils have risen to distinction. By

this union there were four children, two of which are

still living—Hermia, now Mrs. F. E. Andrews, of

Chillicothe, and Mattie who lives with her sister. Mrs.

W. was a consistent Christian, loved and respected by

all who knew her. She died in Elmwood July, 7, 1878,

in the forty-nine year of her age. Dr. Washburn com-

menced the study of medicine under Dr. J. W. Northup,

and remained with him three years, and attending

lectures at Castleton, Vt., where he graduated in 1847.

Commenced the practice of medicine at Bloomville,

Delhi county, N. Y., and remained about one year and

a half. Then came to Feoria county and located at

Newburg, and has remained in Elmwood township

nearly all the time since, and has followed his profes-

sion with success.

Wasaon N. 1. farmer, F. 0. Elmwood.

WatklnB F. farmer, P. O. Elmwopa.
Webster H. B. baggage man, P. O. Elmwood.

WELTON CHAS. P. merchant, res. Elm-

wood, son of John J. and Maria (Wilcox) Welton, na-

tives of Connecticut, was born in Richfield county.

Conn., on the 9th of Feb., 1841. In i860, came to

Peoria county and worked on a farm for some time

;

afterwards, was employed as clerk, where he remained

one year. Enlisted in the I32d I. V. I. Co. D (one

hundred day service). After leaving the service, re-

turned to Farmington, Fulton county, and was em-

ployed by Mr. P. P. Chapman in a store, remaining

over four years. Then, in company with Geo. S. Smith,

engaged in the grocery business. In 1876 he purchased

Smith's interest and continued by himself until 1879,

when he took in his present partner. In 1873, married

Miss Carrie Darnell, who was born in Knox county,

111., in 1851. They have one boy and two girls :
Harry

C, Berenice C. and Inez W.

Whitney S. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Wlckwlre H. G. farmer. P. O. Elmwood.

WIIiEY A. M. farmer. Sec. 30, P. O. Elmwood,

was born in Pennsylvania, March 16, 1812, and is the

son of Joseph and Elizabeth Wiley. He came to Peo-

ria county in the Spring of 1835, when the surrounding

country was but a vast and lonely wilderness. He

settled on Sec. 30, where he commenced to improve

and lay out a farm of eighty acres, and in the Fall of

1839 he married Miss Mary Ewalt, a native of Ohio,

who was born in 1820, by whom he has five children :

Elizabeth, Lotta, Susan, Leonora and John E. Mr.

Wiley continued to farm on his small tract of land, la-

boring under all the hardships and disadvantages of an

early settler, but by strict economy and unremitting

hard work, has been able to add acre to acre, until he

now owns 1,100 acres of fine lands in Elmwood and

Logan townships, worth $15,000, besides considerable

other land in Kansas.

WILEY E. C. merchant, Elmwood.

Wiley James, farmer, P. O. Elmwood.
Williams K. H. barber, P. O. Elmwood.

WILLIAMSON SYLVESTEK, wheel-

wright, res. Elmwood, son of Levi S. and Margaret

(Scott) Williamson. Father a native of Virginia and

mother, of Maryland. Emigrated to Illinois in 1836

or '37, and located in Peoria when there were but few

log cabins in the town ; thence removed to Rushville,

Schuyler county, and lived there seven years ; thence to

Brimfield, where they still reside—father, at the age of

80, mother, 70. The subject of this sketch was born

in Butler county, Penn., on the gth day of Jan., 1832.

In 1857, married Miss Mary E. Harper. She was born

Feb. ig, 1837. They have five children, four boys and

one girl: Joseph H., born Dec. 12, 1857 ; Harry F.,

born Jan. 17, 1865, died Sept. 12,, 1867 ;
Jennie Louise,

born Aug, 27, 1872 ; Charles Frederick, born June 14,
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1874, died Jan. 27, 1875 ; Walter A., born May 22,

1876. Members of the M. E. Church. Joseph H.
graduated from the high school of Elmwood at the age

of eighteen, being one of the youngest graduates of

the school. He is at present engaged in teaching, at

Ipava, III., where he is meeting with good success.

Wllkeson John H. grocery, P. O. Elmwood.
Wilkinson J. J. farmer, P. O. Elmwood.

WILiSOIf A. res. Elmwood, superintendent of

paper mill, was born July 16, 1833, at Sand Lake,

Rensselaerville, N. Y. Up to 1850 his father was exten-

sively engaged in the milling and woolen manufacturing

business, of which he learned a practical knowledge.

In 1853 he became engaged in the manufacturing of

paper, millwrighting, and machinists' work, and has

continued this line of business up to the present time.

Has aided in repairing and building several new mills,

bofti East and West. Immigrated to the West in the

Spring of 1861, and located at Beloit, Wis., following

principally his present line of business. In 1865, came
to Illinois, and has remained in this State since. Has
been a resident of Peoria Co. for the last thirteen years,

located in Elmwood in the employ of the Elmwood
Paper Manufacturing Company since.

WIIiSON C. D. merchant tailor, res. Elmwood,
is the son of Richard H. Wilson and Huldah McDowall.

Father a native of England, and his mother of Albany,

N. Y. The subject of this sketch was born in Green-

bush, N. Y., March, 1839. At the age of twelve years

he commenced to learn the paper making trade in

Columbia county, N. Y., where he remained until he

was twenty-two years of age. In the fall of i85i, he

went to Beloit, Wis., and remained about two years
;

afterwards attended school at Poughkeepsie, N. Y.; was

at the oil regions of Pennsylvania one year and a half;

thence to Illinois, where he has been in the paper and

merchant tailoring business since. Has some good real

estate in the village of Elmwood. He married Miss

Annie E. Gowing, born in Onondaga county, N. Y., in

1847. Two children blessed their union— Edwin A.

and Lavoseer G. Mr. W. has just embarked in the

merchant tailoring business, carries a fine line, and

guarantees his work.

Wing C. L. grain dealer, P. O. Elmwood.

WOOD WM. H. Elmwood.

WRIGLEY KOBEBT, retired farmer, res.

Elmwood, was born in Lancashire, England, near Man-
chester, on the 17th day of February, 1813, and immi-

grated to the United States in 1841. He married Miss

Ann, daughter of Joseph Fenton, who was born in Eng-

land, January 14, 1808. They had five children—
Thomas, Joseph, Ann, William, and Eunice, who died

Aug. 2, 1876, at the age of twenty-nine years. Mr. W.
married for his second wife Mrs. Henry Robins, born

in Yorkshire, England, May 30, 1830. Her parents

immigrated to the United States in 1836, and located in

Cincinnati, O.; thence to Peoria county in 1845. In

1841 Mr. W. came to this county and for the first two

years worked on a farm by the month, for $12 a month.

Then purchased forty acres of land in Rosefield town-

ship, and built a log cabin 16x18 feet. Mr. W. at one

time owned and controlled 596 acres of land, which is

very valuable. He is now enjoying the fruits of his

hard work in his old age. Is a member of the Metho-

dist, and Mrs. W. of the Congregational Church.

HALLOCK TOWNSHIP.

Ayres K. E. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Baggs D. laborer, P. O. Northampton.

BALDWI]^ WILLIAM J. farmer. Sec. 13,

was bom in Pittsburg, Pa. ; is the only son of a family

of two children of Capt. Thomas Baldwin and Letetia

Jackson, both natives of the " Keystone State," where

they were married in 1834. Their only daughter, Fan-

nie, is now the wife of Dr. H. T. Coffey, of Peoria.

Capt. Thomas Baldwin was born on Dec. 7, 1804, near

Pittsburg, Pa., where his father. Col. Robert Baldwin,

owned a large farm and a flouring mill, located on

Chartier's creek. In shipping their flour to market.

Captain and his brother conveyed it up the river in

canoes and other small crafts, which was a tedious

process, and young Thomas resolved, while a mere

youth, to do what he could to develop a better system

of water transportation, and such progress had he made

in the art of boating that at the age of nineteen years

he was captain of a steamboat on the Ohio river.

Nature had so well adapted him to his chosen work,

that he became one of the leading steamboat men of

his time ; devoted forty-five years of his life to it, during

which he built and was sole, or part, owner of twenty-

six steamboats, a number of which were among the

finest and swiftest upon the western rivers. Captain

Baldwin's boating experience was chiefly upon the Ohio,

Mississippi and Illinois rivers. He removed to Peoria in

l845|., and when the California gold fever broke out in

1849, Commodore Vanderbilt selected him to superin-

tend aline of steamers to Central America, that being

then the principal route, at a salary of $10,000 a year. His

health failing, he resigned the position at the end of ten

months, and Mr. Vanderbilt presented him with a check
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for $10,000 in gold. Soon after the beginning of the

late civil war he offered his services to the Government,

which were accepted, and he was put in command of a

transport vessel ; later was appointed to the command
of the gunboat Romeo, which he retained till the close

of the war. He then retired from active business, and

on Aug. 23, 1879, died at his residence in Peoria, end-

ing a very active and useful life. Mrs. B. still occupies

the elegant homestead on East Bluff. William J., being

infused with the prevailing patriotic spirit of the times,

enlisted, secretly, though a mere boy, and was in the

army nearly a year, when his mother, after much effort,

secured his discharge. He married Miss Jennie Scholes,

a native of Peoria county. They have three children,

Leon, Harry C. and Letetia.

Ballow Emery, carpenter, P. O. West Hallock.
Barker Chas. retired farmer. F. O. Hallock.
Barton Ira, brick mason, P. O. Northampton.
Bennett A. J. farmer, F. O. Souttiampton,
Biue Mrs. P. O. Ctiillloothe.
Boon James S. retired farmer, P. O. Northampton.
Borchers Geo. gardener. P. O. Northampton.
Boylan Jotin, farmer, P. O. CbiUicoche.

BRAYTON C. Y. farmer. Sec. 13, P. O. West
Hallock, was born in the city of Peoria, April 13, 1858,

and is the son of William J. Brayton and Mary D.

Curtiss ; father a native of Warren, R. I., and mother

originally from Connecticut. His father, in partnership

with two brothers, was for many years in the agricul-

tural implement business in Peoria, and he served in

the Union army during the late war, enlisting at Prov-

idence, R. I., and died of typhoid fever in Albany, N.

Y., in the year 1865. Mr. C. Y. Brayton's mother died

in Peoria, August 24, 1876. He was raised and

educated there, and after the death of his mother came

to Hallock township, and farmed on rented land until

the Spring of the present year, when he moved to his

present location on the borders of Akron township,

where he owns eighty acres of fine farming land and

forty acres under timber, the purchase price of which

was $5,500, He married March 26, 1878; in Lawn
Ridge, Miss Lettie Cornell, eldest child of Stephen

Cornell, merchant. Lawn Ridge; by whom he has one

child, Ezra Jeremiah, born October 8, 1879.

Brlggs A. farmer, P. O. Lawn Bldge.
Brown Daniel, farmer, F. O. Souttiampton.

BRYDEN WILiLIAM, Jr. farmer, Sec. 23,

P. O. Northampton. Was born in Dumfriesshire,

Scotland, in August, 1838, and came to America with

his parents when very young. His father was born in

the Parish of Eskdalemuir, Dumfriesshire, Scotland,

August 30, 1 801, and is the son of James Bryden, Esq.,

of Burnclugh, and M ary Scott, both of the same parish.

Mr, Bryden, Sr., was raised on the farm, received Such

education as the district afforded, and afterwards at-

tended classes at Edinburgh College for four years
;

acted as tutor for two years, and then for three years

conducted a private school at Birkenhead, in England

;

thence returning to his native country, worked a farm

for eleven years, under lease, and in the year 1838 im.

migrated to this country, landing at New York after a

tedious passage of nine weeks. Staying for short pe-

riods in Cincinnati and New Richmond, O., he came

with his family to Princeton, Ind., where he taught in

the Gibson County Seminary for three years, and in

1842 came to Peoria county, settling in the following

year in Hallock township ; rented a farm for four years,

and then purchased his present home, where he has

since resided, and where he owns about 145 acres of

land, worth about $8,000. He married in 1825, Miss

Elizabeth, daughter of James Jardine, of Artleton,

Dumfriesshire, by whom he has had seven children

;

five survive and reside in his neighborhood. Their

names are Mary Scott, James, Ellen, William, whose

name heads this sketch, and Jessie. Mrs. Bryden died

on the homestead January 2g, 1870. Mr. Wm. Bryden,

Jr., resided at home and worked on the farm till the

breaking out of the war, when he enlisted in Company

L., 15th Illinois Cavalry, Captain Ford, command-

ing. Mr. Bryden, along with his company and regi-

ment, took part in the battles of Shiloh, Farmington,

luka, Corinth, Tuscumbia, Helena, Ark., and Big

Creek, Ala., besides many smaller engagements ; was

mustered out at Springfield, 111., January g, 1865. Of

120 men who joined his company, but twenty-four were

mustered out. Mr. Bryden was never wounded. Four

years after leaving the army he married Miss Laura A.

Swisher, who was born in Peoria county, in May, 1850,

by whom he has had four children, three living, Frank,

Harry and Julia. He is Republican in politics, has

been two years a school director, and is a hard work-

ing and public spirited farmer and citizen.

Burdick H. D. wagon maker, P. O. West Hallock.
Burdick N. blacksmith, p. O.West Hallock.
Burdick S. M. carpenter, P. O. West Hallock.
Burnes Geo. P. O. Hallock.
Button Eiias, man of leisure, P. O. Lawn Ridge.
Byrnes Samuel, farmer, Lawn Kidge.
Gasbon Wm. farmer, P. O. West HalloGk.
Ghapin Charlotte, P. O. Northampton.
Clarence Wm. farmer, P. O. Lawn Itidge.
Clark John, bee keeper, F. O. Hallock.
Collier S. B. peddler, P. O. Gbillicothe.
Colwell Geo. farmer, P. O. Hallock.

COOIf F. M. farmer. Sec. 12, P. O. Northamp-

ton, was born in Chenango county, N. Y., October 4,

1828 ; father born in Rhode Island. Was raised on a

farm, and came West in February, 1858, settling in

Akron township, where he farmed on rented land for

about twelve years, and then bought a quarter section

of land in Hallock township, where he lived for two

years, removing thence to a farm he had purchased in

Chillicothe township ; remained there for seven or

eight years, and bought a farm on section 12, of Hal-

lock township, to which he removed. About this time

he cultivated three farms, but afterwards sold the

Chillicothe farm and a portion of the Hallock one.

Owns at present 240 acres of land, eighty acres bf

Which'^ are in Chillicothe township, and values the
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whole at about $8,000. He was married in New York

State, July 7, 1849, to Miss Mary Ann StiUman, who
was born in the same county as himself, February 24,

1830, bywhom he has had eleven children, viz : Judson,

Mary E., Alice J., Charles F., John F. (deceased),

Albert Henry, Benjamin H., Arthur J., Edna L.,

Mattie E., and Willie A. Three of his children are

married and settled in the neighborhood. Mrs. Coon

is a member of the Seventh Day Baptist Church.

Coon Judson, farmer, F. O. Northampton.

CBADY PETER W. postmaster and shoe-

maker, P. O. Hallock, was born in Champlain, Clinton

county, N. Y., March 14, 1831, and is the son of

Peter Crady and Elizabeth Newey, both of New
York. Moved with his parents to St. Albans,

Vt., when about fifteen years old, and there remained

till J862, working at his trade. On August ist, of that

year, he enlisted in Company I, loth V. V. I.; was dis-

abled through sickness in the first Fall, and lay for

five months in hospital at Burlington, Vt. ; on partial

recovery, was sent to camp at Alexandria, Va., but not

yet being able for active service, was transferred to

invalid corps, and after one year to veteran reserve

corps ; served while in that body in the campaign on

the Peninsula, taking part in the fight at White House

Landing, June 21, 1864, afterwards returning to

Washington, D. C, where he remained till close of the

war, and was mustered out June 24, 1865. His family

in the meantime had removed to Peoria county, 111.,

and he came West and joined them in Hallock town-

ship, where he has since remained, with the exception

of five months in 1872, when he made a visit to Colo-

rado for his health ; has worked at his trade all the

time he has been here ; received his appointment as

postmaster under President Grant's administration, in

1876. He married, October 21, 1857, Miss Laura A.

Mallory, who was born in Northfield, Vt., about the

year 1833, by whom he has had four children, three of

whom now survive : Geo. E., Romeo Sumner (deceased),

Henry Eugene, and Henrietta Hortense. The last

two children are twins, born September 18, 1867. Mr.

Crady is in politics a Greenbacker, and is a member of

the local lodge of Sons of Temperance. Mrs. Crady

is a member of the M. E. Church.

Cratz Jamest farmer, P. O. Northampton.
Crosby, Moses, dalrv farmer. P. O. west Hallock.
Daball I. farmer, P. O. Nbrthampton.
Devlin Ellen, farmer, P. O. Northampton.

EASTOIf WILLIAM, justice of the peace,

and farmer. Sec. 29, P. O. Southampton, was born in

Newark, N. J., May 7, 1807, and is the son of William

Easton and Elizabeth Drake, both of the same city.

Was raised until six years old at Sunny Plains, N. J.,

and then removed to Ovid township, Seneca county,

N. Y., where he remained some months, thence remov-

ing to Euclid township, Cayuga county, Ohio, where

he went to school, and where he learned the trade of

carpenter and joiner. In 1836, he came to Illinois,

spending the first Winter at Wyoming, Stark county

;

then came to Peoria county, staying in it about a year;

thence, removing to Tazewell county for about fifteen

months ; returning to Peoria county, for the next eight

or ten years he divided his attention between farming

and his trade, doing year by year less at the latter, till

about 1850, since when he has confined his attention

to farming. He owns 126 acres land, worth about

$7,500, and has a fine, neat dwelling house, surrounded

by tastefully laid out grounds. He married, December

S, 1833, Miss Sophia Lake, of Kirkland, Oi, who died

August 12, 1837, and afterwards he married Miss

Sarah M. Hicks, by whose death, on June 24, 1873, he

was again left a widower. On May 14, 1874, he mar-

ried his present wife. Miss Isabell Jones, of La Prairie,

Marshall county, lU. By his second marriage he had

three children, only one of whom, Joel J., born April

5, 1845, now survives. Mr. Easton is a Universalist,

and Mrs. Easton a member of the Methodist Church at

La Prairie. Mr. Easton has been a justice of the

Peace in Hallock township for fifteen years, and also

school trustee for many years ; is a Republican in poli-

tics, and possesses a firm hold upon the respect of his

neighbors, and all who are brought into business con-

tact with him.

Bpley A. farmer. P. O. lawn Bidee.
Evans Jenkins, farmer, P. O. ChiUloothe.
Evans Sarah 0. Mrs. farmer. P. O. Northampton.

EVANS WALTER T. (deceased) farmer, res

Sec. 23, P. O. Chillicothe, was born June 15, 1836, at

Montgomery, Pa., and was the son of Walter F. Evans

and Euphemiah Taylor. His father was a native of

Pennsylvania and his mother of New Jersey. When
' about two years old he came with his parents to Hal-

lock township, settling there in 1838 upon raw land

which they bought. His father died in 1861. Mr.

Evans married, in 1863, Miss Sarah C. Riel, who was

born about twenty miles from Toronto, in Upper Can-

ada, Aug. 31, 1839, by whom he had five children, four

of whom survive, Effie, born Oct. 23, 1864 ;
Ulysses G.,

born Aug. 7, 1866, died Aug. 14, 1866 ; Willie W., born

Aug. 7, 1867 ; Ida M., born Aug. 27, 1871, and Rosa

A., born Jan. 25, 1875. Mr. Evans died Aug. 18, 1877.

He was an earnest, hard working man, who always had

a kind word and a ready hand to cheer and to help. His

neighbors who survive him can look back upon many

an act of kindness done, and cheerful help rendered

during his life. His widow, Mrs. Sarah E. Evans, still

resides on the homestead ; owns 180 acres of land, 125

acres under cultivation, worth altogether about $8,000.

Mr. Evans was a member of the Union Baptist Church,

as is also Mrs. Evans.

Farden Susan, farmer, P. O. Northampton.
Furguson B. farmer, P. O. Lawn Bidge.
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GALLUP JOSEPH, farmer, Sec. 17, was

born in Windham county, Conn., on the 4th of Sep-

tember, 1827 ; was reared and educated for a farmer.

Besides the advantages afforded by good common
schools, he attended Plainfield Academy in Connecti-

cut, and Smithville Seminary in Rhode Island, several

terms. He taught several terms of school with good

success ; came to Peoria county in 1850 to look after

the land now composing his farm, then ov/ned by his

father ; reported it covered with wild grass, rattle-

snakes, wolves, deer, and sandhill cranes. Mr. G.

erected a log house and made some other improvements

on it that Summer ; returned to the " land of steady

habits " in September ; taught school there the follow-

ing Winter, and April 2, 1851, married Celia Gallup,

of Voluntown, Windham county. Conn., and came to

Peoria county in June of that year, settling on his

present farm. Although late he raised quite a crop of

vegetables, and being a good marksman could easily

supply meat from the prairie and the thicket. Mr.

Gallup has been quite successful in his chosen pursuit,

and owns several hundred acres in the home farm,

which is well improved and amply stocked. He jest-

ingly says his " farming now is by proclamation." Mrs.

Gallup died on Jnly 17, 1877, leaving a family of five

children, Judie A., born Jan. 16, 1852 ; Marion, born

Nov. 20, 1853 ; Loren, born Dec. 15, 1858 ; Nettie S.,

born May 20, 1862, and EUie J., born Jan. 29, 1865.

Since Mrs. G.'s death the oldest daughter has managed

the affairs of the household. Mr. Gallup is not con-

nected with any church society, but is a Universalist in

belief. In politics he is a Democrat of the JefFersonian

school. His paternal ancestors were among the early

settlers of New England. Nathaniel Gallup, his father,

was somewhat prominent in politics, and held a number

of offices of honor, civil and military, and died in Con-

necticut in 1855, aged 58 years. Mr. G.'s grandfather,

Benadam Gallup, served in the war of the Revolution,

and died in 1858, at the advanced age of 88. He was

the first white child born in the vicinity of Voluntown,

and was, for many years, a member of the Legislature

of Connecticut, and a large landholder. John Gallup,

the great grand sire of Joseph, was the first settler in

that region ; obtained the charter for the first church

in the place ; took large land claims, and served for

years in the State Legislature. A great portion of the

lands he entered are now in the hands of the Gillup

family. His father, John Gallup, made the first orig-

inal purchase, together with two brothers, of lands

from Governor Winthrop, who was a member of the

Colonial Government. The original John Gallup, of

Boston, Mass., emigrated from the west part of England

in 1630.

Galliip K. farmer. P. O. Hallock.
Glllflllan Aaron, farmer, p. O. Lawn Bldge.
GillBllan Ge4. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.

GILLFILLAN HBNKY C. farmer, res. Sec.

8, P. O. Lawn Ridge, was born in Ross Co., O., Nov.

7, 1831, is the tenth of a family of twelve children of

Adam and Sarah Gillfillan nee Moats, both natives of

Pennsylvania. He removed with his parents to Peoria

in 1834, and the next year they settled in Limestone

township, where his father died in 1844, and the widow

removed with the family to Hallock township two years

later. Mr. G. learned the trade of brick mason in youth

and followed it for some time. Married Jemima New-

ell, a native of Madison Co., 111., in November, i860,

and settled on their present farm. They have had three

children, Lucy A., Charles Martin and OUie May. He
turned his attention to reading law some years ago, and

now does considerable practice In the justice courts of

the county. Their farm embraces 200 acres valued at

$50 per acre. Mr. G's mother died in 1875, and six of

the twelve children have died.

Glllflllan Isaac, farmer, P. O. Lawn RWge.
GiUam B. farmer, P. O. Northampton.

G-LAZE COLLINS, farmer. Sec. 35. P- O.

Chillicothe, was born in Bedford Co., Pa , Jan. 15,

1834, and is the son of John Glaze and Sarah Bryden-

dall, both natives of that county. His father died about

1853, and his mother in 1870. They were farmers. In

the Fall of 1836 he removed with his parents to Peoria

Co. settling in Richwoods township, where they lived

for about one and a half years and removed to Medina

township, where he grew up to manhood and after his

father's death worked the home farm in company with

his younger brother for four years and then removing to

Hallock township, farmed for some time on rented land.

His brother Isaac Glaze served three years in Union

Army and at the close of the war they together went to

Bureau Co., 111., where they farmed for ten years and

then selling out bought their present farm. Own 160

acres prairie land and twenty acres timber. He married

Dec. 25, 1872, Alice Wheeler, daughter of William

Wheeler and Ann Bethal, natives of Pennsylvania, who

was born in that State September 5, 1849, by whom he

has two children. Rosie, born Sept. 21, 1874, and Cora

born Nov. 18, 1876. Mr. Glaze has been for five years a

member of Neponset Lodge, No. 560 I. O. O. F.

Goodwin Wm. brlckmaker, P. O. Northampton.

GREENE JEFFERSON J. farmer Sec. 30,

P. O. Southampton, was born July 12, 1830 in Stephen-

town, Rensselaer Co., N. Y.,and is the son of Samuel

S. Greene and Lucy Rose, who were both from the

same State. When about six years old, he moved with

his parents to Ostego county, N. Y., and after five or

six years residence moved to Cayuga County in the

same State. He came to Peoria Co. when about

twenty-four years of age, and has ever since resided in

it. He married July 3, 1855, Miss Mary Nelson, who

was born in Radnor township, January 15, 1839, by
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whom he has had six children, four of wh<Jm are now
living, viz., Abbie L., born Dec. 27, 1857, Rose P.,born

June 22, i860, Hattie A., born Nov. 17, 1862, and

Sarah M., born January 6, 1865. His two eldest

daughters are married and live in Peoria Co. Mr,

Greene owns 210 acres of land in the county, 200 acres

of which are under cultivation and worth $60 an acre,

also 640 acres raw land in NuclcoUs Co., Neb., and 160

acres raw land in Wright Co., Iowa. He also owns
" Wood's Hotel " in Chillicothe. He votes for the best

man in local matters and on National issues is a

Republican.

GREEN CAIiVrN", stock breeder, res. West

Hallock.

Green W. N. P. O. West Hallock.
Gullett A. retired farmer, P. O. Northampton.
GuUett J. harness maker, P. O. Northampton.

HAKES ANTHONY, farmer, Sec. 30, P. O.

West Hallock, was. born in Berlin, Rensselaer county,

N. Y., June 22, 1817, and is the son of Rensselaer

Hakes and Lana Eymer, natives of that county. He
was raised on a farm until twenty-five years of age,

when he married, Sept. 17, 1842, Susan Saunders, a

native of his own county, born Sept. 2g, 182 1, and in

June, 1845, came with his family to Hallock township,

Peoria county, and settled on Sec. 31, in company with

his brother Alanson ; came to his present fine farm

about five years later. He owns 210 acres of land, 50

acres of it timber, and has a very fine, large dwelling,

which was completed in 1870. His marriage resulted

in two children: Mary S., born Dec. I, 1845, and Eg-

bert Eugene, bom April 5, 1848. Mr. Hakes was in

youth instructed in the tenets of the Seventh Day Bap-

tist Church, and when about twenty-five years old, be-

gan to exercise his natural gifts in preaching, and after

coming to Hallock gradually fell into the position of

minister to the small circle of Seventh Day Baptists

settled there. Some years afterwards, when the mem-

bers increased in number, he was ordained minister,

and for a number of years served the people in that

capacity, both in the church at West Hallock and all

over the surrounding country ; has been pastor of the

church at West Hallock for a number of years. His

family are all members of the same church. Mr. Hakes

has been supervisor of the township for three years,

and assessor for one year.

Hakes A. E. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.

HAKES DANIEL, farmer, Sec. 29, P. O.

West Hallock. Mr. Hakes' maternal grandfather was

Anthony Eymer, who was born in Germany and came

to America as cabin boy in the fleet of Gen. John Bur-

goyne, in 1775, remaining in America after the sur-

render. He married in Connecticut and removed to

Rensselaer county, N. Y., where he resided until his

death in 1826. On the paternal side, his grandfather

was Jesse Hakes, who was born in Connecticut and

afterwards removed to New York ; served in the Ameri-

can army in the war of 1812, and was frozen to death

on his post as sentinel. One of his sons was Rens-

selaer Hakes, who was born Feb. 16, 1788, in the

county from which he took his name, and remained

there until i860, when he came to this county. He
married Lana Eymer, who was born March i, 1793,

by whom he had six children : Pamelia, born Nov. 26,

1811, died Jan. 4, 1861 ; Stephen V. R., born June 28,

1813 ; Esther, born Sept. 14, 1815; Anthony, born June

22, 1817 ; Alanson, born April 22, 1819 ; and Daniel,

whose name heads this sketch, born Aug. 20, 1821.

His wife died in 1822, and in the next year he married

Lucinda Hendrick, born Dec. 30, 1795, who bore him

:

Courtland, Sept. 8, 1824, died in 1836; Lana, June

28, 1826; Alfred, Sept. 21, 1827; Rachel, Oct. 10,

1829, died Aug., 1864; Joel, Oct. 30, 1830; Emerson,

July'2l, 1832 (deceased) ; Martin, Nov. 10, 1833 ; Sa-

rah Ann, Sept. 16, 1837, died 1845. His second wife

died Aug. 30, 1862, and on March 15 of the next year

he followed her, both dying in Peoria county. Three

of the children by his first wife reside at present within

its bounds. Daniel Hakes was born in the town ot

Berlin. Renssela'er county, N. Y., and resided there

till May 15, 1848, when he removed to Peoria county

and settled on his present farm with his family, having

previously married. May 13, 1842, Dorcas, daughter of

Peleg and Hannah Saunders, who was born June 11,

1823. They had one child, now living in Missouri,

Zebulon P., born March 10, 1844, His wife died Aug.

12, 1848, and he married, May 9, 1849, Mary Dennis,

born Dec. 17, 1824, in Clermont county, Ohio, daugh-

ter of Joseph Dennis and Rachel McClellan, natives of

Pennsylvania. Her father was born in 1797, and died

in Peoria county, March 10, 1857. By this marriage

Mr. Hakes has had three children : Alonzo G., born

Nov. 16, 1852, who was drowned in the Illinois river

March 23, 1877 ; Albert, born Dec. 26, 1856; Nellie,

born Jan. 6. 1863. Emily, an adopted daughter, was

born June 20, 1852. While in the East Mr. H. was

raised on a farm, he had also learned the trade of car-

penter, and pursued it almost entirely during the first

twelve years of his stay in Illinois, renting out his farm

meanwhile. His natural ability as a mechanic has

been of good service to him in devising and executing

many improvements about his farm, and he has also

made some inventions of great value to farmers, among
them a hedge cutter and a water return. He taught

singing schools for many years in the surrounding town-

ships, and was in great request in that capacity. He
owns 160 acres of land, about 120 acres under cultiva-

tion ; has a large, fine dwelling, built in 1875 at a cost

of over $2,000 ; large barns and out-buildings, with

orchard of 200 bearing apple trees, besides other fruit.

He has been a useful man in his township, and has
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filled many offices, among them that of supervisor

;

was president of County Sunday School Association in

1875, and vice president of Sunday School Association

of township for seventeen years, and superintendent of

the same for twenty years. He and his wife and family

are members of the Seventh Day Baptist Church at

West Hallock. Is Republican in politics.

Harness E. A. farmer, F. O. Soutbampton.
Hentzell Joho, farmer, P. O. Lawn Kidge.

HICKS LUCAS C. farmer. Sec. 32, P.O.

Southampton, was born in Jackson county, C, Aug. 25,

1819, and is the fourth child and second son of Joel

and Phcebe Hicks. His father came originally from

Nova Scotia, and his mother was a native of Connecti-

cut. His family came to Peoria county in 1830, set-

tling at first in Medina township, where they made n

farm. He was married in 1846 to Miss Sarah Reed, of

Ross county, O., who was born in 1827, and shortly

afterwards be bought his present farm. Owns a 260

acre farm in Hallock, 144 acres in Medina, and also an-

other lot of 160 acres of wet land in Hallock, worth

altogether, about $24,000. Has had seven children, six

now living : Lucius E., Samuel F., Ira J., Emerson C,
Fannie A. (deceased), Mark I. and Addie S. His sec-

ond, third and fourth sons are farming in Medina

township, and his oldest and youngest sons are in Hal-

lock. He is an ardent Greenbacker, but votes with

the Republicans on National questions, and has for

several years served his township in the capacity of

road commissioner and school trustee.

Hlnman Jason, Mrs. farmer, P. O. Hallock.
Hlnman M. blacksmith. P. O. Hallock.

HOOVER I. L. physician, P. O. Lawn Ridge,

was born in Belmont county, Ohio, September 11, 1830,

and is the son Jacob Hoover and Phoebe Frazier, who
are both alive and reside with him. His father cele-

brated his eighty-second birthday on Feb. 17, of this

year. His father was originally from Lancaster county,

Pa., and his mother from Loudon county, Va. The
doctor was raised in Belmont county till he arrived at

manhood, attended the common school there, and in

1850 began the study of medicine, and practiced some

years before attending lectures. In 1858 he attended

for one term at Starling College, Columbus, Ohio, and

graduating with the degree of M. D., he came directly

to Lawn Ridge, where he has since resided and prac-

ticed. He married Feb. 6, 1866, Miss Nettie L. Free-

man, a native of Plainfield, N, J. Dr. Hoover has a

large practice, extending over portions of Marshall,

Stark and Peoria counties.

Jenkins J. farmer, P. O. Nortbampton.
Jones J. H. merchant, P. O. Lawn Bidge.
Keach H. W. retired farmer, P. O. Southampton.

KEACH THOS. H. farmer, Sec. 31, P. O.

Southampton, was born in Radnor township, October

9, 1848, and is the youngest child of Henry W. Keach

and Lucy Hall. His father was born in Rhode Island,

July 13, 1803, and his mother in Rensselaer county, N.

Y., Nov. 13, 1808. In 1845 his parents moved from

New York to Radnor township, and resided there

twenty years, then coming to Hallock township, and

settling on their present fine farm. They were married

May 26, 1829, and have had eleven children, eight of

whom are now living— Phoebe A., Louisa, Lucy (de-

ceased), Charles H., William Augustus (deceased),

Frank, Frances H., Rufus (deceased), Daniel B., Eu-

gene L. and Thos. H., whose name heads this sketch.

Previous to her marriage with Mr. Keach, Mrs. Keach

had a son by a former husband. This son was named

Wyat Rose, and is now dead. Mr. Keach, Sr., in poli-

tics is a Democrat, and owns 150 acres of land, for which

he paid $70 an acre, and has 100 acres under cultiva-

tion. The farm is well improved, with a fine house and

spacious outbuildings, and every thing is kept in apple-

pie order through the hard work of their youngest son,

who is yet unmarried and resides with them.

KENDALL JOHN G. farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

Southampton, was born in January, 1814, in Columbia

county. Pa., and, is the son of Andreas Kendall and

Theresa Cornelia Wagoner. Was raised on a farm and

went to school in his native county till 1829, when at

the age of fourteen he.went to sea, and led a sailor's

life for sixteen years, during which he served in the U.

S. navy and the merchant service. He was three years

in the former, and made a voyage round the world in

the U. S. frigate Columbia, and has visited all the prin-

cipal ports of the world. In 1845 he finally left the

sea, and, instead of " ploughing the main," resolved to

plough the prairie of Illinois, and accordingly came

West and settled in Hallock township, where he now
owns 193 acres of land, and has a very fine orchard

with 100 apple trees, besides other fruit. His farm is

well improved, has fine, large barns, etc., and every

thing is kept in sailor-like neatness. He values his

farm with all improvements at about $15,000. He
married Nov. 7, 1847, Miss Amelia Merrill, of Ross

county, Ohio, by whom he has had eight children, five

of whom are now living— Helena, Kent Kane, Euge-

nia, Ruble and Edward Everett. Mr. Kendall has cut

loose from all political parties, and now votes for the

best man.
Kimball Ira, farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Lamoree Ezra, farmer, P. o. Lawn Bidge.
Lowell A. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Lucart Wm. plasterer, P. O. West Hallock.
McCuUey Jackson, farmer, P. O. Nortbampton.
McLean G. W. farmer. P. O. Northampton.
Merrill Samuel, justice of the peace, P. O. Nortbampton.
Messersmlth P. farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Miller S. farmer, P. O. Northampton.
Moates Abe, P. O. West Hallock.
Moore Fred. P. O. Chtllicotbe.

MOONEY M. T. farmer. Sec. 25, P. O. ChiUi-

cothe, was born in Medina township, Dec. 31, 1842,

and is the third son of James Mooney and Elizabeth

Jennett. His father Is a well known farmer in Medina
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township and was born in New York, and his mother

is a native of Ireland. He resided on his father's farm

until 1867, when he came to his present location, and

for six succeeding years farmed in company with his

brother William. On Feb. 20, 1873, he married Mary

Ann Rogers, daughter of John Rogers and Ann Mc-

Avoy, natives of county Louth, who came to America

previous to her birth in Medina township, April 6,

1855. The fruit of this union are three children—
Mary Elizabeth, born March 4, 1875 ; Maggie Ella,

born Aug. 13, 1877, and Annie Josephine, born Dec. 7,

1878. He owns eighty acres of fine farming land un-

der cultivation. Himself and wife are members of St.

Joseph's Catholic Church in Medina. Mrs. Mooney's

father and mother are still living and reside in Living-

ston county. 111.

MOONEY WILLIAM A. farmer, Sec. 25,

P.O. Chillicothe ; was born November 11, 1840, in

Midina township, Peoria county, is the eldest son of

Jas. Mooney and Elizabeth Jennet, and a grandson of

Thomas Mooney and Helena Stagg, who were among

the earliest settlers in Peoria county. He was raised

on his father's farm till about twenty-one years old,

when he went to California, and there farmed and

prospected for about three^years. On his return, about

1864, he in company with his brother Thomas took up

a lot of 160 acres in Hallock township, and together

farmed it for about ten years, when on January 13,

1876, he married Miss Annie Burke, who was born in

New Hampshire, July 20, 1853. and came to Peoria

county in 1871. By this marriage he has two children

—Herman, born October 28, 1876, and Annie Eliza-

beth, born January 31, 1878. Mrs. Mooney is a gradu-

ate of Mount St. Mary's Convent of Mercy at Man-

chester, N. H., and previous to her marriage taught

music in the city of Peoria, and was organist in St.

Mary's—now the Bishop's Church there. Mr. and Mrs.

Mooney are members of the Mooney Catholic Church

in Medina township ; own 120 acres fine farming land,

with good dwelling house, barns, etc., which he values

at about $10,000.

MILIiEK OLIVER M. farmer, Sec. 16, P.O.

Chillicothe ; was born in Knox county, O., August 29,

1837, and is the son of Jacob MHler and Mary Buyher.

His father was a private in loth Regt. U. S. Inf. dur-

ing the war of 1812, and died in Putnam county, O.,

about thirty years ago. His mother was born in

Pennsylvania, July 11, 1793, is still alive, and resides

with him. When about thirteen years old he came

West with his people and settled in Fulton county. 111.,

where he remained for about two years, and removed

to Peoria county in different parts of which he has

since resided ; owned at one time a farm on Sec. 16

which he worked for about four years, and in 1869 sold

out and removed to his present location where he owns

116 acres of land ; also owns a farm of eighty acres good

land in Vermillion county, Ind. He was married

January I, i860, to Amelia Rebecca Van Tassel, a na-

tive of Medina township, by whom he has had eight

children, six now living—Augustus Orton, born No-

vember 10, i860; Sarah Jane, born January 8, 1862;

Amos Elison, born September 13, 1863 ; George W.,

born July 30, 1869 ; Orin Melville, born December 3,

1871, and Lewis Omer, born May i, 1875. His eldest

son and daughter are at present taking care of his farm

in Indiana, and he thinks of selling out his present

home and moving there in the near future.

Nnrs G. Mrs. P.O. Hallock.

NURS HENRY H. farmer. Sec. 3, P. O. Hal-

lock ; was born on his father's farm in this township,

October 26, 1843, and has remained there all his life

except what time he spent in the army. Isaiah Nurs,

his father, was born in Bainbridge, now Afton, Chen-

ango county, N. Y., March 19, 1815, and was the son of

Roswell Nurs and Jerusha Barton. His father was

born in Ringe, N. H., April 3, 1787, and his mother

was born and raised in Canaan, Litchfield county,

Conn. Isaiah Nurs was raised on a farm till twenty-

one years old, when in company with his father and

Ebenezer Stowell, he came to Illinois, walking all the

way with rifle on shoulder, except from Buffalo to

Toledo, which they came by steamer. They were about

three weeks making the journey, and after zigzagging

over a large part of Illinois during the next three

weeks in search of a desirable location, they finally, in

the last days of June, 1836, settled on their present

farms, and entered it at the land office at Quincy. Mr.

Nurs remained on the land, and his father returning to

his home in the East, brought out his whole family in

the next Spring. Mr. Nurs still lives on the old home-

stead ; owns 300 acres land, about 220 acres under

cultivation, and the rest in timber, worth about $40

an acre right through. His father died on the farm,

March 9, 1863, and his mother August 16, 1838. Mr.

Isaiah Nurs married January i, 1838, May M. Hill,

who was born in Peru, Vt., October 3, 1813, and who

came to Peoria county and Hallock township in 1834 ;

has had four children, three now living—Jerusha B.,

born October 3, 1838. died June 16, 1870 ;
Martha C.

born July 13, 1842 ; Henry H., born October 26, 1843,

and Newell E., born June 17, 1848. Those alive are

married and resident in the neighborhood. Henry H.

Nurs whose name heads this sketch, enlisted August

13, 1862, in Co. C, 86th I. V. I., and with his regiment,

served under Gen. Thomas in the Army of the Cumber-

land till the Fall of 1864, and took part in the many

brilliant engagements fought by that army, among them

Perryville, Ky., Chickamauga, Resaca, Kenesaw

Mountain, Peach Tree Creek, Atlanta, Jonesboro,

with Sherman on his march to the sea, through N. and
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S. Carolina under the same general, and at Averys-

burgh, March 16, 1865, where he was wounded by a

rifle ball shattering his left knee, entailing the loss of

his leg by ampatation immediately afterwards. He
lay in hospital at Port Schuyler, N. Y., nearly three

months, and was discharged June 26, 1865, returning

home July 24th, of the same year. He married No-
vember 5, 1869, Miss Lucinda A. Stevens, who was

born November 8, 1842, at Columbus, Adams county,

111., by whom he has one child, a boy, born July 27,

1877, and named Elbert I. Nurs.

KUBS ISAIAH, farmer. Sec. 3, P. O. Hallock.

Overen Joshua, P.O. Southampton.
Percy M. S. farmer, P. O. Lawn Ridge.

PERKINS S. P, farmer, Sec. 6, P. O. Lawn
Ridge ; was born in Dover, Stafford county, N. H.,

May 16, 1821, and is the son of Morris Perkins and

Abigail C. Paul, who were both natives of same county

and State. His father was a mechanic, ship carpenter

and builder, and Mr. Perkins learned his trade of ma-

chinist, and worked at it in his native town till twenty-

four years of age, when he moved to Philadelphia, and

there for seven years took charge of a large machine

shop. In the Fall of 1851, an offer was made to him
to come to Kennelton, Ind., and take charge of a

machine shop connected with a factory there ; the offer

was accepted, all his affairs were settled and household

goods packed, ready to start for his de'stination, when a

serious disagreement occurred between the owners of

the factory and the agent they had empowered to man-
age their business, engage help, etc., resulting in the

resignation of the agent, and consequent lapse of the

arrangements he had purposed, among them the trans-

ference of Mr. Perkins to Kennelton. But a mischance

of this kind was not allowed to stand in the way of his

coming West, and he started with his family and came
straight to his present farm, which he had some years

previously bought, and where he has ever since resided.

He married in Dover, N. H., July 2, 1845, Lydia

Pierce, a native of Maine, born March 3, 1819, by

whom he has had five sons, three of them now living

:

Morris, born June 4, 1847 ; Edwin, born in 1849, and

died in following year ; George, born in May, 1851,

died November 3, 1861 ; Charles W., born September

II, 1853 ; Sumner, born March 14, 1857. Mr. Perkins

owns 320 acres fine prairie land, worth $60 an acre,

and sixty acres timber ; has been for five years super-

visor of township, and has filled in turn almost all the

township offices ; is in politics a radical Republican.

Himself and wife are members of Congregational

Church at Lawn Ridge.

PHIIiLiIPS C. O. postmaster and general mer-

chant, Northampton, was born in Plainfield, Conn.,

July 30, 1836, and is the son of Jesse C. Phillips and

Amanda Brown, both natives ofthat State. He remained

at home till about nineteen years ofage, and received his

education at the common and high schools,and in the Fall

of 1855 came to Peoria county and settled on Hallock

township, there engaging in farming pursuits ; after-

wards bought a farm in Sec. 16, Groveland township,

LaSalle county, where he stayed three years, and then

removed to Montgomery county, where he worked at

his trade of carpenter for two years, and kept a general

store for about three months, when he sold out, and in

1869 returned to Peoria county, and has since resided

there. Since coming back he has farmed and worked

at his trade till about one year ago, when he again

entered mercantile business, and received the position

of postmaster ; carries a stock of about $1,200 and does

a good business. On February 22, i860, he married

Miss Mary Evans, daughter of Walter Evans, of Hal-

lock township, by whom he has had two children,

Euphemia N. and Peter E., both of them now living.

Mr. Phillips is in politics a Republican, and he and his

wife are members of the Union Baptist Church.

Phillips Mary s. res. Northampton.
Potter C. E. farmer, P. O. West Hallock.

POTTER DANIEIi, (deceased,) Sec. 30,

address of widow P. O. West Hallock, was born in

Rensselaer county, New York, February 20, 1816, and

is the son of Ephraim Potter and Wealthy Hall, natives

of that State. His father was by trade a blacksmith,

and Mr. Potter learned the trade of wagon-maker, and

worked at it for about eight years in Brookfield, Mad-
ison county. New York, removing, in 1838, to Alle-

ghany county. New York, where he continued to work

at his trade until April, 1865, when he came to Peoria

county and bought a farm in Hallock township, which

was worked by his son, he himself continuing to work

at his trade as long as his health permitted. He was

married in Brookfield, New York, January 14. 1836, to

Rebecca I. Bowler, daughter of William Bowler and

Nancy Coon—the latter a daughter of Elder Abraham
Coon—who was born Nov. 28, 1816, by whom he had

six children—William R., born Otsego county. New
York, March 2, 1838, Albertus D., born May 21, 1840,

in Friendship, Alleghany county, New York, Julius A.,

born April 16, 1844, in Genesee, same county, Daniel

E., June 22, 1846, in Wirt, same county, N. Arvilla,

born March 6, 1853, in Alfred, same conuty, and George

F., born in Alfred, same county, April 29, 1856. Mr.

Potter died May 23, 1878, in West Hallock, and his

widow now resides upon the homestead with her young-

est son. He was almost all his life a member of the

Seventh day Baptist Church, and served as deacon in the

congregation at Alfred, and also in the church at West
Hallock. He was for four years justice of the peace in

Alfred, and was township collector in Hallock for one

year.

Potter K. blacksmith. P. O. West Hallock.
Powell A. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Hallock.
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Prentice A. A. farmer, P. O. Hallock.
Kankln H. farmer, P. O. Soutbampton.
Beed C. farmer, P. o. Northampton.
Seed Faster, farmer. P. O. Northampton.
Beed J. farmer, P. O. Nortliampton.
Beed Lyman, farmer, P. O. Gblllicothe.
Seed P. H. farmer, P. O. ChlUicothe.

BEfiD SIMON, (deceased,) farmer, late of Hal-

lock township, was born in Rensselaer county, New
York, September ii, 1795, and was raised on father's

farm in Delaware county. New York, where he married,

October 13, i8i5, Currance Sanford, who was born

September 20, 1799 in New York State. A few years

after marriage he removed to Jackson county, Ohio,

where he resided until 1825, removing at that date, in

company with two other brothers, to Peoria county,

and settling on the farm now occupied by his sons, on

Sec. 26. By his marriage he had fifteen children, and

he also adopted one child—Sanford, born Sept. 16, 1817,

died April 29, 1879, Jerusha, born March 17, 1S19,

Harriet, born Nov. 19, 1820, Esther, born Dec. 2, 1822,

Anna, born Sept. 19, 1824, Amos, born April 23, 1827,

Emily, born Nov. 23, 1829, died Feb. i5, 1880, Lyman,

born Feb. 5, 1832, Norman, born Oct. 8, 1833, Clarissa,

born Dec. 21, 1835, Phoebe (adopted), July 7, 1836,

died March 19, 1862, Marion, born Jan. 9, 1838, Har-

rison, born April 6, 1840, Semantha, born Aug. 2, 1842,

died Sept. 18, 1842, Henry, born Oct. 14, 1843, died

October 10, 1844, Barbara, born Nov. 9, 1845. Simon

Reed died on the old homestead in Sept., 1869, and his

wife followed him April 6, 1876. At the date of his

settlement within the hounds of Hallock township, there

was no other settler there but Lewis Hallock, and he

has the deserved credit of bringing to it many of the

prominent families whose untiring labor has brought it

to its present high state of cultivation. He was the

pioneer of the colony from Jackson county, Ohio,

among them the Mofiitts, Sillimans, Roots and Hicks.

His brothers, Samuel and Thomas, came West and

settled, the former in Ogle county. III., and the latter

in Medina township, a few years after Simon and

Aaron Reed came here. He volunteered in the Black-

hawk war of 1832 ; was detailed to act as teamster, and

returning home for his team, served with it till the close

of the war. He was the first justice of the peace resi-

dent within the present limits of the township ; was a

man of large, warm heart and generous sympathies,

ever ready to help and encourage, never sparing him-

self where the public weal was conserned, and the mem-

ory of his social qualities and public spiritedness is

warmly cherished by the older settlers.

REED HARBISON, farmer , Sec. 26, P. O.

Chillicothe, was born in Hallock township, Peoria Co.,

April 6, 1840, and is the youngest living son of Simon

and Currance Reed, who came to Peoria Co. in No-

vember, 1825. In 1861 his father divided the home

farm between his sons Harrison and Marion, and the

ormer got 100 acres prairie and forty acres in bluff,

54

which constitute his present farm. Much of this land

has since been greatly improved, and he values it

together with another lot of about forty acres recently

acquired, at about $10,000. He married March 3, 1861,

Sarah Adeline Hammond, born in Ogle Co., 111., Jan-

uary 4, 1842, by whom he had three children, of whom,
only one, Charles Sanford, born March 17, 1864, now
survives. The other children by this marriage were

Lewis Edwin, born Nov. 29, 1861, died October 14,

1875, Herbert Irving, born Nov. i, 1865, died Oct. 2,

1866. His wife died January 18, 1869, and he married

November i, 1869, Martha E. Scroggs, a native of Mis-

souri, born June 30, 1846, who bore him one child,

Lena M., born Nov, 13, 1870, and died November 28,

ofsame year. On February 2, 1874, he married Clar-

issa Jane Pierce, born Aug, 27, 1845 in Medina town-

ship, Peoria county. Mr. Reed has been for one term,

township commissioner, and is at present a school

trustee. Himself and wife are members of the Union

Baptist Church.

REED MARION, farmer. Sec. 26, P. O.

Chillicothe, was born January 9, 1838, in Hallock

township, and is the fifth son of Simon Reed and Cur-

rance Sanford, natives of New York State, who came
to Peoria Co. in 1825, and settled on Sec. 27, where

they built a log cabin and commenced clearing land.

There were only thirteen white families on the present

site of Peoria at that time. On this farm Marion Reed
was born, and there he remained till Feb. 16, 1862,

when he married Amanda Jane Dunbar, who was born

in Champaign Co. O., March 28, 1847, by whom he had

two children, Amy Jane and Amos Reed. His wife

died Feb. 9, 1867, and in July 21, 1871, he married

Elizabeth Ellen Dunbar, the half sister of his first wife,

who was born August 20, 1855, in Peoria Co., by whom
he has two children, John Edward, and ^Minnie May,

born respectively, Feb. 16, 1877, and May 11, 1879.

Owns 161 acres land, about 70 acres of which are under

cultivation and worth about $50 an acre. His eldest

daughter was married Dec. 31, 1879, to Thomas Pur-

cell, farmer in Chillicothe township.

Ridffway Jonathan, farmer, F. O. Northampton.
Robinson N. L. farmer, P. O. Hallock.
Boll C. farmer, P. O. Lawn Bldge.
Boll Margaret, P. O. Lawn Bidge.

ROOT ALONZO M. farmer. Sec. 3, P. O. Hal

lock, was born March 2, i85i,and is the son of Erastus

C. Root and Barbara A. Reed, who were among the

earliest settlers in Hallock township, was raised on the

farm and educated at Lombard University, Galesburg,

where he spent two years. Married Aug. 18, 1874, in

Lacon, 111., Miss Lillian H. Ellsworth, who was born

in Malone, Tranklin Co., N. Y., Sept. 24, 1854, and is

the daughter of Lucien D. Ellsworth in d Maria Bird.

They have two children, Julius D. born July 13, 1875,

and Gertrude, born May 11, 1877. Mr. Root isa young
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man of energy and force ofcharacter. Has been town-
ship assessor, and at present has charge of his father's

home farm.

KOOT CYRUS, farmer, Sec. 24, La Prairie

township, P. O., Sparland Marshall Co., 111., was born

September 4, 1838, on his father's farm in Sec. 3, of

Hallock township, Peoria Co. Was raised upon it and

devoted all his energy to it until the year 1862, when on

August 27, he enlisted in Co. C. 86th I. V. I., and

formed part of the 3rd Brigade, 2nd Division, 14th

Army Corps, under command of Gen. George H.
Thomas. He took part with his regiment in its many
battles and skirmishes among them that of Perryville,

Chickamauga, Missionary Ridge, and Kenesaw, in which

he was severely wounded on June 27, 1864, and was

confined to the hospital at Nashville for about four

. months. After recovery took part in the battle of

Nashville, and was mustered out at Washington, D. C,
June 6, 1865. He married Dec. 29, 1869, Miss Mary
Cornelia Stowell, who was born in Hallock township,

April 4, 1845, and four years afterwards moved to his

present farm in Marshall Co. The fruit of his mar-

riage is one child, a boy, who was born in June, 1874.

He owns 100 acres of land, twenty of which are under

timber.

ROOT ERASTUS C. farmer. Sec. 3, P. O.

Hallock, was born in Roxbury, Delaware Co., N. Y.,

July 26, 1805, and is the son of Jeriel Root and Sarah

Coleman, both ofwhom were born and raised in Coven-

try, Conn. His father after marriage moved into

Duchess Co., N. Y., where for some time he taught

school, and afterwards moved to Delaware Co., where

he bought a farm, upon which the subject of this sketch

was bom and raised. He was third in a family of ten

children. In the year 1817 the family removed to Ross

Co., O., where they resided till 1830, when the whole

family again removed furtherWest to Illinois, settling in

Hallock township of Peoria Co., in the Fall of that

year, and took up the N. E. ^ of Sec. 24, township

II, N. range 8 E. He married in Hallock township,

Dec. 16, 1830, Barbara A. Reed, ». native of Middle-

town, Delaware Co., N. Y., born Sept. 15, 1811, and

in the Summer of 1832 moved on to the present site of

the town of Chillicothe, being the first resident within

its bounds. There he remained till April, 1836, and in

the same Summer came to his present farm, where he

has since resided. His farm consists of 240 acres in

Marshall Co., and 160 acres in Peoria Co. A great

part of the original farm has been given to his sons,

who have left home and set up for themselves. Two
hundred acres of his land in Marshall Co. are under

plough, and his farm is worth $40 an acre right

through. The fruit of his marriage was ten children,

Jeriel Perry.TDaroline (deceased), James Lucas, Cyrus,

Erastus, William, Sarah Lorina, Ann Eliza, Alonzo,
J

and Charles B. Root. All but one of those alive are

married, and two sons live at home. Mr. Root has

been township assessor, and school trustee for many
years, but has not held any office of late. He is in poli-

tics a Republican.

Bose A. farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Kutli Arthur, farmer, P. O. ChflUcothe.

SANGER WILLIAM M. farmer. Sec. 7, P.

O. Lawn Ridge, was born at Honeoye Falls, Monroe

county, N. Y., November 22, 1828, and is the son of

James Sanger and Maria Wheeler, both natives of Ver-

mont, who settled in Monroe county in 1815 ; was raised

on home farm until about fifteen years of age, and in

October, 1849, came to Peoria county, and settled in

the vicinity of his present farm. He afterwards made a

farm of 160 acres raw land in section 12, of Akron town-

ship, and in 1864 sold out and bought his present fine

farm ; owns 320 acres prairie worth about $60 an acre,

and 340 acres bluff land worth about $15 per acre. His

farm is finely improved and has a handsome dwelling

house upon it, which was built in 1867. Married May
13. 1853, Semirimis Kemble, daughter of Colin B.

Kemble and Elizabeth Harlow, both natives of Ken-
tucky ; who was born in Paducah, Graves county, Ky.,

June 28, 1835, by whom he has had five children, three

of whom now survive— James W., born February 2,

1856 ; Francis M., born August 31, 1859, died June 18,

1864; Willie, born July 25, 1864, died October 21,

1865 ; Carlisle B., born September lo, 1866 ; Semirimis

E., born December 10, 1868. Mr. Sanger was at one

time for five successive years township assessor. He
and his wife are members of M. E. Church.
Saunders T., dairy farmer, P. O. West Hallock.
Saxton Saran, P. O. Northampton.
Schrader Herman, farmer, P. O. Hallock.
Seeley Banforth. farmer. P. O. Southampton.

SILLIMAN MARSHALL, B. (retired,) Sec.

32, P. O. Southampton, was born in Delaware county,

N. Y., May 12, 1812, and is the son of Gershom Silli-

man and Polly Coleman, both of whom were natives of

Connecticut. His parents were married in Delaware

county, October 9, 1809, and had nine children, of

whom Marshall is the second child and son. Five are

now living. His father served in the United States

army until the close of the war of 1812, and while in

the service saw much fine farming land, and becoming

disgusted with the rough and stony country in which

his family awaited his return, after being discharged

he removed with them, and in company with many of

his neighbors, in wagons, crossed the .\lleghany moun-

tains to Ohio, settling at first in Ross county, and

afterwards in Harrison township, Jackson county.

Here he was followed in a few years by many of his

old neighbors from Delaware county, some of whom
were afterwards pioneer settlers in Peoria county,

among them the families of Reeds, Roots and Hicks.

After a residence of some thirteen years in Ohio, dur-
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ing which Simon and Aaron Reed had removed west

to Peoria county, Mr. Silliman's father became smitten

by the Illinois fever, caught from Simon Reed, who had
returned with glowing accounts of the land to be had

in that State, and in the year 1828 the family left their

farm in Ohio, and started in their wagons for Illinois,

piloted on their way by Simon Reed, The journey

occupied twenty-days, camping out every night, but

two, in a tent. They arrived in Peoria, September 21.

Simon Reed had a double log cabin upon his farm, and

gave up one-half for the accommodation of his newly

arrived friends. As soon as possible a log cabin of one

and a half stories was built upon their claim, on section

35, and there the family resided for about two years,

and then moved to what is now section 2, of Medina

township, where they remained till 1837, and again re-

moved to section 3, of same township. While there,

Mr. Silliman commenced an improvement for himself

at his present location, and on November 16, 1837,

married Clarissa, daughter of Calvin and Mary Hyde,

natives of Massachusetts ; who was born in Broome

county, N. Y., November i, 1812, by whom he has two

two sons— Edwin C, born November i8, 1840 ; and

Norman H., born October 30, 1842. His wife died

November 5, 1842, and he married February 6, 1844,

Nancy Y., daughter of Truman and Betsey Hawley
;

who was born in Otsego county, N. Y., March 27, 1816.

Mr. Silliman has resided ever since his first marriage

on his present farm, composed of 160 acres of fine

land ; also owns fifty acres in section 21, of Chillicothe

township ; a farm of 320 acres in Vermillion county,

111, ; and another of 400 acres in Iroquois county, 111.

All this land, except about 100 acres, is fine farming

land, and under good improvement. Mr. Silliman's

father died December 2, 1856, aged seventy-three years

upon the old homestead in Medina township, and his

mother died December 24, 1864, at the age of seventy-

seven, while on a visit near Chillicothe. His eldest son

is in business at Chenoa, 111., and his younger is en-

gaged in the grain business at Dunlap, and also runs a

general wagon and carriage repair shop there. Mr.

Silliman has of late years enjoyed but poor health, but

has been an active and useful man in his township,

filling many ofiices, among them that of supervisor,

which he held for seven successive years. In religious

faith he is a Universalist, and in politics a consistent

Democrat.

SIMPSON JOHK, farmer, Sec. 19, P. O. West

Hallock, was born in Banffshire, Scotland, June 14,

iSli, and is the son of John Simpson and Elizabeth

Howie, both of same county. His mother's father was

in the English service during the Revolutionary war,

and his mother was born in New York in 1778, return-

ing with the army to Scotland, where she was raised.

He worked on a farm till 1832, when he came to

America, landing at Quebec June 3d of that year.

Went to Vermont for about one year, thence removed
to New York State and to Illinois in Fall of 1847,

settling near Farmington, Fulton county, for two years,

and came to his present farm in the Fall of 1849, where

he has since resided. He married November 16, 1842,

Ann Saunders, a native of Rensselaer county, N. Y., by
whom he has had a family of ten children, five now
living— Pheobe R., born January 6, 1844 ! Robin M.,

born March 19, 1845 ; Eva L., born November 16,

1854 ; Murray W., born December 28, 1863 ; Rena
Bell, born February 13, 1865. He owns 135 acres of

land, worth $65 per acre, all well improved; and

twenty acres under timber. Himself, wife and family

are members of the Seventh Day Baptist Church, and
he has for many years been a church trustee.

Sims Cbas., farmer, P. O. Cbilllcothe.

SIMS FRANK L. farmer, Sec. 25, P. O. Chil-

licothe, was born in Salem county, N. J., January 8,

1832, and is the son of John Sims and Susan Long;

was raised on a farm till about twenty years of age,

when he came west and settled in Trivoli township,

Peoria county, where he farmed on rented land for

seven or eight years, and in i860 came to his present

farm in Hallock township. Married in the same year

Lucinda Booth, who was born in Champaign county,

O., in 1840, by whom he has had eight children, five of

whom are now living— Lilly, Laura, Frederick, Earl,

and one as yet unnamed, and born November 25, 1879.

He has 160 acres in home farm, and twenty acres in

the bluff, which he values at about $50 an acre. His

farm was raw land when he bought it, and all the ex-

isting improvements have been made by himself. Is in

politics a Republican, and is at present a school

trustee. Mr. and Mrs. Sims are members of the Union

Baptist Church. Mrs. Sims is a daughter of Isaac and

Sarah Booth, who were natives of Champaign county,

Ohio.

Sims Morris S., farmer, P. O. Lawn Bldge.
Smith W. £. hardware merchant, res. and F. O. Lawn Bidee.

SPICER JOHN G. dairy farmer. Sec. l8, P.O.

West Hallock. Is the tenth of a family of nine sons

and two daughters, nine living, of Joseph Spicer and

Content Potter, natives of Rhode Island, where Joseph

Spicer was born, March 9, 1797, Content Potter, Aug.

9, of the same year. They were married Nov. 12, 1818.

John G. was born in Hopkinton, Washington county,

that State, January 14, 1839. At the age of nineteen

he left home and spent a year in Jefferson county, N.

Y., then returned and helped to take the census of i860,

after which he spent another year in Adams Centre, N.

Y., in the drug business. Came West, and making

Decatur, 111., headquarters, engaged in selling books a

year, during which he bought a farm in Kansas, and in

the Fall of 1862 went out and sowed a crop of wheat
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on it; returning to Illinois and continuing in book busi-

ness. In June, 1863, went East, and on the zgth of

the month married Cornelia Babcock, in Jefferson

county, N. Y., where she was born January 18, 1844.

Returning to Illinois, still continued the book business.

In the Fall of 1864, bought a farm in company with his

brother William, in Hallock township, Peoria county,

and settled on it the next Spring. Meeting with an

accident soon after, which disabled him for farm-life, he

sold out and returned to Jefferson county, N. Y., and

engaged in manufacturing soap and candles. Having

partially recovered from his injury, he returned to Peoria

county, and bought and settled on the farm they now
occupy, in the Spring of 1871. It contains ninety-two

acres, improved, and twenty of timber, valued at

$6,500. Has had four children, three now living, Min-

nie, born May 22, 1869; Clara Almira, born Sept. 25,

1873, died Feb, 23, 1875 ; Clarence Winfred, born Nov.

30, 1875 ; and Ernest Samuel, born June 27, 1877.

Both himself and wife are members of the Seventh Day
Baptist Church.

SPICBR WILLIAM, farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

West Hallock. Was born July 4, 1836, in Hopkinton,

R. I., the son of Joseph Spicer and Content Potter,

natives of Rhode Island. His father was a harness-

maker, and also owned and worked a farm, upon which

the subject of this sketch was raised. He came to Illi-

nois in 1856, and after a stay of a few months returned

East, and for some time afterwards attended school in

New York State, and came back to Illinois with intent

to stay on Sept. I, 1857, settling in Bureau county,

where he bought a farm and remained until the Spring

of 1865, when he sold out and purchased his present

farm in Hallock township, upon which he has since

resided. He married in Centre township, Bureau

county, August 22, 1861, Miss Olive A. Gillman, daugh-

ter of Charles S. Gillman and Olive Whitcher, who
was born at Northfield, N. H., May 15, 1843, by whom
he has three children: Olive, born January 16, 1864;

Luella, born March 26, 1867 ; and Charles W., born

Nov. 16, 1869. Mr. Spicer owns 130 acres of land,

ten acres of it under timber, and worth about $50 an

acre. Keeps about forty cows, and from the milk thus

supplied makes an average of 175 pounds creamery

butter weekly, throughout the year, all of which is sent

to the Peoria market. His creamery was the first

erected in the county, and the butter thus made was the

first of its kind introduced to any extent in Peoria. He
is also interested in the cheese factory at West Hallock.

Mr. and Mrs. Spicer are members of the Seventh Day
Baptist Church at West Hallock. He is at present a

school director, and has been for some years school

trustee. Is Republican in politics.

Stewart Justice, farmer, F. O. Northampton,

STOWELIi CHAKLEIS E. farmer, res. Sec,

32, F, O. Lawn Ridge. Is the sixth of nine children,

and the fifth son, of Ebenezer and Laura Stowell, of

Hallock township, Peoria county, where he was bom,

March 6, 1848. Was reared on the farm, and besides

enjoying the benefits of the district school, attended

Northwestern College, at Naperville, 111., for a time.

For four or five years he taught school in Winter and

carried on farming in Summer. On the 10th of

December, 1874, he married Mary E. Davis, daughter

of John B. and Margaret Davis, nee Ayers, of Peoria

county. She was born Oct. lo, 1853. They have two

children living, Daisie, bom Sept. 22, 1878 ; and Emma
Blanche, born Nov. 10, 1879. Their homestead consists

of 125 acres of fine farming land, on which they settled

in 1875.

STOWELIi EBENEZER, farmer. Sec. 3,

P. O. Hallock, was born October 19, 1807, in Chen-

ango county, N. Y., and is the son of Abishai Stowell,

born in Windham, Windsor township, Vt., in 1779, and

Hannah Field, born in Brattleboro, Vt., in 1782. The
family comes from English stock. His father, when a

boy, went to Chenango county, N. Y., where he settled

and married, and where Ebenezer was born and raised

on his father's farm. He worked for some years at the

trade of mill-wright, and in 1836 started west with

Roswell and Isaiah Nurs for companions, to locate a

farm in the then but thinly settled State of Illinois.

Part of the way they came by water, but chiefly on foot,

and before they made choice of their land, the distance

walked aggregated nearly 1000 miles. In the Summer
of that year they entered their farms at the Coverament

Land Office, at Quincy, and Mr, Stowell returned to

the East, and in the Fall of 1843 came back with his

family, to till and occupy his farm. Since then he has

remained upon it, and the high state of cultivation it

has attained, gives evidence of the earnest and honest

work expended upon it. Mr. Stowell married February

23, 1833, Paulina, daughter of Reuben and Anna
Bridgeman, who was born in Chenango county, N. Y.

,

October 19, 1807. By this marriage he had one son

—Orson B. Stowell, born May 7, 1834, and now resi-

dent in Hallock township. His wife died in giving

birth to this son, and on July 12, 1838, he. married

Laura Bridgeman, also a native of his own county, by

whom he has had nine children:—Calvin, born October

5, 1839 ; Henry Allen, born March 14, 1841, died

March 16, 1853 ; Charles Edward, born September

23, 1844, died January 19, 1846 ; Mary Cornelia,

born April 4, 1846 ; Charles Edward, born March

6, 1848 ; Samuel Reuben, born February 23, 1850

;

Anna Paulina, born May 14, 185 1, and Ebenezer, born

March 11, 1855 ; has seven children living—five mar-

ried, and settled in the neighborhood, and two at home.

He owns about 600 acres of land, valued at $35 an

acre ; has 250 acres under cultivation. Mr. Stowell
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with his wife and family are members of the Congrega-

tional Church at Lawn Ridge. In politics he is Re-
publican all over.

STOWELL OftSON B., farmer, Sec. 7, P.

O. Lawn Ridge, is the only son of Ebenezer Stowell,

and Pauline Bridgeman, and was born in Bingham-
ton, N. Y., May 7, 1834, coming to Peoria county

with his parents in 1843. He has ever since been

domiciled in the county. He was raised and resided

on his father's farm, in Hallock township, until May i8,

1859, when he married in Toulon, Stark county. 111.,

Miss Harriet R. Church, who was born in St. Lawrence

county, N. Y., October 9, 1833, and is the daughter

of Norman Church, a native of Massachusetts, and Re-
becca Delurga, of French parentage, born and raised

in Vermont, by which marriage he has five children :

William L., born May 18, i860 ; L. Paulina, born

July 23, 1862 ; Laura Rebecca, born May 30, 1865 ;

Fannie, born November 3, 1867, and Luther E.,

born January 20, 1875. He settled after marriage

on southeast quarter of Sec. 7, where he remained for

fifteen years, removing to his present location in October,

1S75
i
^^^ ^'^ acres in home farm, and another 80 acres

at his old farm ; also owns 80 acres timber land on Sec.

9. Himself, wife, and eldest daughter are members of

Congregational Church at Lawn Ridge j has held vari-

ous township ofiices, among them that of town clerk

and commissioner of roads. Politically is a radical

Republican.

Sweetman Jobn, farmer, P. O. Lawn Ridge.
Swisher Josepb. cooDer. F. O. Nortliainpcon.
TliomasMelindaE.. F. O. Ctiillicothe.
Trimble Silas Urs. F. O. Nortbampton.
Van Tassel David, farmer, F. O. Hallock.
Vars Tbomas, dairy farmer F. O. West Hallock.
Wal»on ThoB., laborer. P. O. Northampton.
Weidman C. E.. farmer, F. O. West Hallock.
Wheeler Joseph, farmer, Northampton.
Will Geo., F. O. Lawn Bldge.

WILIj KOBBRT (deceased), farmer, P. O.

Lawn Ridge, was born April 15, 1822, at Delmar, Tioga

county, Pa., and was the son of Robert Will and Mar-

garet Lawson, of Forfarrshire, Scotland. He was the

fourth child and third son in a family of seven

children, and was reared on a farm in his natal

county until the year 1837, when, at the age of fifteen,

he removed with his parents to Hallock township, Peo-

ria county, and settled on Sec. 3, near what is now Hal-

lock post office. There he made his home till 1848,

when, on June 7 of that year, he married Miss Mary,

daughter of Lyman Robinson and Polly Nurs, who was

bom March 19, 1823, in Broome county, N. Y., and

came with her parents to Illinois in the Spring of 1843,

arriving at Blue Ridge May 20, of the same year.

Their marital union resulted in six children, three of

whom are now alive, William, born May i, 1849, ^"'i

died when four years old ; Helen, born Nov. 18, 1851,

died April 26, 1853 ; John Wesley, born Feb. i, 1854,

died Dec. 29, 1872 ; Annie, born May 29, 1856 ; Min-

nie, born May 25, i860, and Laura A., born March 25,

1865. Upon marriage they settled on the farm now
occupied by his widow, and there all their children were

born, and Mr. Will died, Feb. 14, 1876. Mrs. Will at

present owns 120 acres of finely improved farming

land worth about $8,000. Mr. Will was, through life,

an active, useful man, and his untimely removal was

keenly felt and deeply regretted by many. He was, for

twenty years, justice of the peace, and had acceptably

filled, in turn, almost all of the township offices ; was a

notary public for many years, and county surveyor at

time of his death ; also for over twenty years was re-

cording secretary of the Methodist Church at Lawn
Ridge, and represented it at the annual conference sev-

eral times. Mrs. Will and family are also members of

the same church.

Will B. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Lawn Ridge.

WIIiMOT W. H. physician, P. O. Lawn Ridge»

was born in Chenango county, N. Y., and is the eldest

son of Dr. A. Wilmot (now and for many years a resi-

dent of Peoria county) and Olive A. Wilmot, nee

Smith. He came with his parents to the county

when very young, and when about fourteen years of age

went to the Knox College, Galesburg, 111., and attended

the classes there at various periods extending over al-

most two and a half years ; afterwards began his pro-

fessional studies, reading medicine under the care of his

father, and attending lectures at Michigan University,

Ann Arbor, and at Iowa University, Iowa City, gradu-

ating from the latter with degree of M. D., Feb. 16,

1858. Shortly thereafter he established his present

practice in Lawn Ridge. He married, Nov. 8, i860.

Miss Carrie A, Stillman, who was born in Ontario

county, N. Y., October 11, 1835, and who came to Peo-

ria county with her parents, settling in the city of

Peoria when two years of age. The fruit of this union

are two children, Frank, born Oct. 18, 1861, who is now
attending Antioch College, O., and boards with the same

lady with whom his mother boarded while attending

classes at the same college twenty years ago, and Edna,

born Sept. 21, 1871.

Toung Isaac, farmer, F. O. Lawn Ridge.
Zinck J. C. sboemaker, F. O. Lawn Bldge.
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Adewald Casper, farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Bishop Dent 0. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.

BliACK G. R. farmer and justice of the peace,

P. O. Barker's Corners.

Blandin Geo. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Boblander P. farmer, P. O. BoUis.
Brachel Stephen, farmer, P. O. Eollis.
Bresendlue W. A. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.

BUCK STEPHEN D. farmer and stock raiser,

Sec. 6, P. O. Harker's Corners, is the Son of Ahaliab

and Annis (Drake) Buck. His father was born in

Pennsylvania, but immigrated with his parents when a

boy to Cayuga county, N. Y., and his mother a na-

tive of Orange county, N. Y.; were married in l8oi,

and raised a family of seven children, five of which

lived to adult age. They came to Peoria county in the

Fall of 1831, and settled on Sec. 6, HoUis township,

where they remained until their deaths. Father died

in 1855 at the age of seventy-nine, and his mother in

i860 at the age of eighty-three. Mr. Buck, the young-

est of the family, was born in Cayuga county, N, Y., on

the 6th day of October, 1817, and came to this county

with his parents when about fourteen years of age, and

has resided on or near where they first located since.

He married Miss Mary, daughter of James Smith, of

Kentucky, born June 22, 1820. They were blessed by

three boys and one girl— James A., Margaret A., Wm.
J. and John Huston. Has 360 acres of land, all under

good cultivation, elegantly improved, and valued at

$15,000. Has held several local offices in the township.

His father was on the first grand jury in the county.

Had one son in the army in the 151st I. V. I.

Buckers Nicholas, farmer, P. O. BolUs.
Burgess Joseph, farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Champs John, P. O. Mapleton.
Clark James, farmer. P. O. Barker's Corners.

CLAKK JAMES C. blacksmith, P. O. Bar-

ker's Corners, was born in Adams county, Ohio, on the

4th day of June, 1815, was reared to the trade, and re-

ceived what advantages the district schools afforded at

that time. Came to the county in 1837 and settled in

HoUis township, where he has resided since. Has 114

acres of land, valued at $3,000. Held the office of

road commissioner twenty-six years, and school treasurer

twenty-two years. When he came to this county it was

wild. Deers, wolves, turkeys, and other game could

be seen from the cabin doors of the pioneers.

Crandall Charles, farmer, P.O. Orchard Mines.
Crandall Wm. farmer, P. O. Hollls.
Crow Benry, farmer, p. O. Orchard Mines.
Fuller Alex, farmer. P. O. Mapleton.
Fuller BenJ. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Galley Bobt. B. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Gender D. farmer, P. O. Hollls.
Goecz C. F. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Goodwin David, farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Barlugton B. farmer, P. O. Hollls.
Hart Nelson, farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Hart B. F. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Heltman H. farmer, F. O. Hollls.

Berr Jacob, farmer. P. O. Mapleton.
Bill Henry, farmer P. O. Mapleton.
Boman C. farmer. P. O. Harker's Corners.
Hornbecker David, farmer, P. O. Harker's Comers.
Hornbeoker J. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Bornbecker Jos. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.

JACOBS PETERS, sawyer, P. O. Mapleton,

was born in Pennsylvania, June I, 1823, came to

Peoria county in 1858, and settled in Lancaster, Timber

township, and, in 1876, came to HoUis, Married Miss

Mary T. Kuley, who was born in Pennsylvania, July

30, 1826. The fruit of this marriage was nine children,

six of whom are living : William, Ulysses, Julia, Mary,

Jennie, Hattie. Members of the Catholic Church.

Jaeger Leopold, farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Jenkins Wm. farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Jensen K. farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Jensen R. R. farmer, P. O. Bollis.

Jones H. B. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Jnnker Lawrence, farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Klmz Peter, farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Kircher Philip, farmer, P.O. Bollis
Kuhn Irwlr, farmer. P. O. Bollis.
Kunz Jacob, sen. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Leitner Louis, farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Maple Abram. farmer. P. O. Mapleton.
Maple A. G. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Maple Isaac, farmer. P. O. Mapleton.
McGrow T. J. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Naegle Lawrence, farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Nayler L. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.

NEWSAM FRANlf, merchant, P.O. Mapleton.

NEWSAM RICHARD, merchant and coal

operator, P. O. HoUis, was born in Lancashire, Eng-

land, Nov. II, 1843, and came to the United States in

1869. Was bred a miner of the firm of Newsam Bro-

thers, who control the Orchard and McGrew mines,

and turns out 4,000 bushels per day. Is also in the

mercantile business, in which they have a fine trade.

Married Miss Frances Woltstlumed, who was born in

England, in 1844. There has been seven children

—

four boys and three girls.

Newschwander J. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Norwood Geo. farmer, P. O. Mapleton. -

Palsen Geo. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.

POWEIili A. G. farmer and stock raiser, Sec.

16, P. O. Mapleton.

Rahn Jno. farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Reader F. farmer, P. O. Bollis.
Reeves C. L. T. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Reeves J. A. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Rigger Jas. farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Schwlndenhamer A. farmer. P. O. Bollis.

SCOTTJOHN A. farmer and stock raiser, P. O.

O. Mapleton, Sec. 12, is the son ofJohn and Lydia (Mes-

ser) Scott, natives of Virginia, who in an early day came

to Ohio, and in 1834 came to Peoria county and located

near Edwards Station in Kickapoo township, where

they remained twelve years, and where the subject of

this sketch was born on the 23d day of November,

1836. When ten years of age went to Peoria and

learned the trade of calker. Married Miss Phelancy C.

Waters, daughter of Samuel Waters, born in Hollis
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township, April i8, 1841. By this union there were

two children, one of which is living— Julia, born Oct.

30, i860. Has 120 acres of land, 100 under good cul-

tivation, valued at $6,000. Mrs. S.'s father came frem

Muskingum county, Ohio to Peoria county in 1837, and

located in Hollis township.

SCOTT SETH, clerk, P. O. Mapleton, son of

Shadrick and Lucy Ann Scott, mother a native of York

State, and father of Kentucky, was born in Timber

township, on the nth day of November, 1852 ; reared

on a farm and attended the district school. Followed

teaching school about five years, and the rest of the

time has followed clerking. Married Miss Minerva,

daughter of Harrison A. Eddy, born in Hollis town-

ship, Dec. 25, 1857. Had one child—Julius S., born

Sept. 16, 1878, and died March 2, 1879.

Spangler Peter, farmerJP. O. Hollis.
Starts E. farmer, P. O. Harfcer's Corners.
Stopchzlnk Jacob, farmer, P. O. Hollis.
Stranz Martin, farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Stranz Wm. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Tapptnpr Caleb, farmer, P. O. Hollis.
Tripps John, miner, P. O. BoUls.

VAN NORMAN WILMAM, farmer. Sec.

5, P. O. Barker's Corners, son of Jacob and Margaret

(Van Patten) Van Norman, was born in York State in

1816, and brought up in Cayuga county. When eighteen

years old he went to Oswego county and learned the

blacksmith trade, and in 1837 came to Peoria county.

Married Miss Mary Ann, daughter ofWm. Tappen, who

was one of the earliest settlers of Hollis township, com-

ing in 1836. She was born in London, England, and

emigrated to this country when a small girl. There

were thirteen children, nine living— five boys and four

girls. Has 160 acres of land, valued at $25 per acre.

Mr. V. has lived to see the county developed from a

wild country to one of the finest in the State. Mrs. V.

and one daughter are members of the Baptist Church.

Watrons Saml. farmer, P. O, Mapleton.
Weber Charles, farmer. P. O. Hollis.
Wellge Dedrich, farmer, P. O. Hollis.

WHEEIiEB STEPHEN C. farmer. Sec. 15,

P. O. Hollis, was born in Cincinnati, O., on Feb. 24,

1812, and came to Peoria county in 1844, locating in

Hollis township, where he married Miss Sarah Martin,

who was born in Argile, Washington county, N. Y.,

Dec. 9, 1822. Nine children, seven living, consti-

tute their family— Joanna J., born Jan. it, 1848; John

M., born Feb. 10, 1850; Francis, born May 14, 1853;

Wm. J., born Dec. 4, 1854, died Sept. 11, 1855; Jacob,

bom in 1856, (deceased); Stephen, born Dec. 5, 1857;

David W., born Oct. 17, i860 ; Mary, born May 28,

1863, and James A., born Jan. 8, 1866. Has 300 acres

of land, valued at $10,000.

JUBILEE TOWNSHIP.

Abbott James, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Alden Noah, farmer. P. O. Brlmfleld.
Anderson James, farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.

ANDERSON J. farmer, Sec.29, P.O. Robin's Nest.

Austus Casper, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Baggs Wm. farmer. P. O. Brlmfleld.
Bale Wm. farmer, P. O. Robin's Nest.
Blandy John, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Blucher Andrew, farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.

BliUNDY JOSEPH, farmer, Sec. 19, P. O.

Brimfield, was born in England, March 11, 1830. Left

England for the U. S. in 1852, and located in Peoria

county on the place he now owns in 1853. Married in

England Jane Snath, a native of that country. She died

in 1864. He had, by this marriage, one child, Sarah

J. now Mrs. Cowen. Mr. B. married for his,^econd wife

Caroline Prim, also born in England, in 1843. They

have four children : Henry H., Francis E., Carrie E,

and George L, Owns 217 acres of land, worth $75

per acre, and 154 acres in Marshall county. Are mem-

bers of M. E. Church. Politically, he is a Republican.

Bouton A. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Bouton C. farmer, F. O. FrlncevlUe.

BOUTON JOHN, farmer and stock raiser, P.

O. Princeville, son of Gehile and Maria Bouton, natives

of New York State, who immigrated to Knox county,

O., in 1808, where John was born on the 6th of May,

1831. He was bred a farmer, and attended none but

the district schools. In 1837 he came to Illinois and

located in Princeville, and in the same year bought the

place which he now occupies in Jubilee township.

Married Miss Kate, daughter of John Harding. She

was born in Peoria county on the 8th day of Dec, 1848.

Seven children resulted from this union, five still living

:

Maria, Samuel, Margaret, Almyra and Thompson. Mr.

B. has 505 acres of land, 495 under good cultivation,'val-

ued at $20,000. Came to this county in limited circum-

stances, Mr. B. and brothers helped to survey the vil-

lage of Princeville and the country between here and

Peoria.

Brennen Eddy, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Brennan Jas. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Brower Herman, farmer, P.O. Brlmfleld.
Byrnes James, farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Cahill Cath. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

CHAHIIili PETER, farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

Brimfield, was born in the county Meath, Ireland,

February 12, 1843. Father died in Ireland. He and

his mother and two brothers emigrated in June, 1847,

and located on the place where they now live ; which

consists of 440 acres of land, under a good state of

cultivation ; over 250 acres worth $50 per acre. He
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is now serving his second term as supervisor of Jubilee

township.' He and his mother and brothers are mem-
bers of the Catholic Church. Democratic in politics.

Carleton James, farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Carney Mary, farmer, P. O. Kobln's Nest.
Carroll Tbos. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Gasper A. C. farmer, P. O. Klck^oo.
Chamberlain J. S. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Ghurcli John, farmer, P. O. Monica.

CLARK STEVEN, farmer, Sec. 19, P. O.

Brimfield, was born in the town of Brimfield, Hamil-

ton county, Mass., April li, 1813. In the Spring of

1836, started West to seek a location in which to live,

stopped for a time near Joliet, and then went to

Chicago and worked as farm hand in 1840 ; concluded

to try Ohio, but not being pleased with it, returned to

Illinois, in 1841, and located in Peoria county, where

he has continued to live, steadily engaged in farming
;

owns igo acres of land in Jubilee township, valued at

$60 per acre, besides 160 in Iowa. Was married in

1845, to Mary Rook, who was born in Peoria county

in 1830. They have had eight children; the living

are : Frank W., James R., John H., and Mary ; four

deceased : Charles W., Eliza, George and Florence.

CLAKK THOMAS, farmer, Sec. 32,P.O. Brim-

field.

Crane Thos. farmer. P. O. Brimfleld.
Crow Isaac, farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Cushine Michael, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Davis Joseph, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Delaney Daniel, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Delaney Pat. farmer P. O. Monica.

DELIi GEO. farmer, P. O. Brimfield,

Dnpey Jas. farmer. P. O. Prlncevllle.
Fait Jno. farmer, P. O. Oak Hill.
Filly 0. E., P. O. Brimfield.

FORJfEY J. H. farmer, Sec. 7, P. O. Brimfield,

was born in York county. Pa., July 29, 1825 ;
grew to

manhood on a farm in Pennsylvania. Married Marga-

ret A. Allewelt. She was born in Adams county. Pa.,

Dec. 2, 1828. They have had nine children ; the living

are, Henry A., Adolphus L., Ephraim Y., Bellmina E.,

Leander E., James L. and Cora I. Those deceased

Elizabeth L. and Clara J. Owns 160 acres of

land in the homestead, worth $60 per acre, and 80

acres in Ford county ; has held the offices of supervisor,

assessor and collector, and served in them with credit

to his township. They are members of the Lutheran

Church, and in politics he is Democratic.

Folk P. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Frellng Eliza, farmer, P. O. Kobln's Nest.
Frillnjr Joseph, farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Hart Joseph farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

HATHAWAY GILBERT, farmer. Sec. 19,

P. O. Brimfield, was born in Summerset county. Me.,

July 27, 1818. Started West with only $li in his

pocket, and when that gave out worked his way by day's

work to Peoria county, arriving Aug. 30, 1838, where

he located on a piece of land and commenced to make
a home. He married Maria Sabin Willard. She was

born in Rockingham, Vt., Feb. 7, 1807. By a former

marriage she had seven children, four living, Francis

M., Harry C, Lot S. and Abbie R. The dead are

William A., Lewis S., Isaac and Cynthia A. Mr. H.

owns 160 acres of land, worth $40 per acre ; was su-

pervisor three years, assessor four years, collector four

years, and township treasurer twenty-seven years. They

have one adopted child, Eunice. Are members of the

Baptist Church.

Hayes Charles, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Hlnille John Mrs. P. O. Brimfleld.
Hofl; John, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Huston J. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Johnson Wm. farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Kalaan John, farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Kaelley John, farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.

KEAHL HERMAN, farmer. Sec. 34. P- O.

Kickapoo,was born in Germany, Sept. 10, 1833. Immi-

grated to America, Jan., 1856, landing in New York,

where he remained for a few years. Then he went to

Peoria city, where he engaged in keeping store and

peddling until 1874, when he located on his present

farm of 160 acres, worth $4,500. Was married in

1858 to Elizabeth Meyer, who was bom in Prussia in

1831. They have seven children : Herman, John,

Philip, William, Edward, Elizabeth and Henry. Are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Kelley P. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.

KELSCH NICHELAS, farmer, P. O. Brim-

field, Sec. 28, was born in Europe, Oct. 13, 1817. Came

to America and landed in New Orleans in 1835 ; then

went to Cincinnati, O., and later to Indiana, and finally

came to Peoria, where, in 1844, he married Lena Bam-

beck, who was born in Europe in 1815 and died April

8, 1855. They had a family of five children, four liv-

ing ; Adam, Michael, Eearnhart and Mary. He mar-

ried Frances Saekal in Feb., 1856. She was born in

Germany, in 1834. By this marriage thirteen children

have been born : John, Mary, Martin, Anna, Lydia,

Nicholas, Joseph, Theresa, Katie, William, Jacob and

Henry. One in infancy deceased. Mr. K. owns 80

acres of land in Jubilee. Are members of the Catholic

Church.

Kelsh N. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.

KELiSTEAD P. farmer. Sec. 17, P. O. Brim-

field.

Kingdom Jno. farmer, P. O. Bobin's Nest.
Klem Jno. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Koch Geo. farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.

KORTH FREDERICK, farmer, P.O. Kick-

apoo.

Lamay Wm. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Lannam I. F. farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Lawless Margaret, farmer P. O. Brimfield.
Lawrence C. N. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Lawrence F. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Lawrence F. M.
Lettermaa D., farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.

LETTERMAN JAMES, farmer. Sec. a8,

P. O. Brimfield.

Little J. W., farmer. P. O. Prlncevllle.
Madia Daniel, farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Mankle Henry, farmer, P. O. PrlnceviUe.
Manney Emley, farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Marshall A. A. M. farmer, F, O. Brimfleld.
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Marshall G. M. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Marcln J. R. farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.
McCabe Fat, farmer, P. O. Monica,
McCoy J. B., farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
McDonald Jas., farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Mclntyre Patrick, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Media Daniel, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Miller Ghas. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Moffltt Edward P., farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.
Moss C. G., farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.

MOSS JOHN, farmer, Sec. 14, P. O. Robin's

Nest. The subject of this sketch was born August 18,

1810, in the town and county of Onondaga, N. Y.

His father died when he was but six years of age, leav-

ing a wife and five children, with a small farm. Mr.

Moss received his early education in his mother's fam-

ily. At the age of eighteen spent one term in Onon-

daga Academy, At the age of twenty he left home to seek

his fortune in the world. The fpur following years

were spent in the pursuit of knowledge, and the means

to obtain it. Several academic terms were spent in

the study of the Greek and Latin languages, and

mathematics under the tuition of Professors Wool-

worth, Fairchild, and Hendricks, of Onondaga Aca-

demy, During the Summer of 1833, he attended the

Episcopal Academy, in Cheshire, Conn., under the tui-

tion of Rev. Dr. Judd. In 1835 returned to farming
;

rented a farm in Onondaga county, for three years.

On the fourth of May, 1837, was united in matrimony

to Miss Julia A. Warner, who was born July 24, 1813,

in the town of Skaneatelas, Onondaga county, New
York ; received her education in the schools of that

State—subsequently, spending several years in teaching.

Hand in hand, they have passed through many try-

ing scenes in life's checkered pathway. Having worked

with varied success for two and a half years, the finan-

cial troubles and failure of crops in 1837, broke him

up. The Spring of 1838 found him out of business

and employment, so packing a few household goods

and bidding good bye to friends, they started on the

14th of April for the far distant West ; traveling by

canal, lake and rivers, arrived in Peoria on the 12th of

May, and located on the northeast quarter of section

14, now in the town of Jubilee, in which Jubilee Col-

lege was located in the following Autumn, by Bishop

Chase, of the Episcopal Church. Of which church

Mr, Moss and all his family are members. There he

still remains, having improved the land and made a

pleasant home for their declining years. Have raised

a family of five children. The eldest, J. N., a daugh-

ter, a graduate of the Woman's Medical College, in

Chicago, is now a practicing physician there. C. C,

the eldest son, owns and resides on a farm adjoining

the homestead, J. M., after spending several years in

successful teaching and other avocations, and a year in

Colorado, returned home, and died of consumption at

the age of thirty. J. C, and F. E., the third and fourth

sons, both graduates, now reside in KiCnsas, engaged in

fanning. Mr. Moss contributed liberally in time and

means for the preservation of the Union during the

late war. Has served several years as supervisor, also

as assessor, and collector, and other minor offices, still

pursuing his lifelong vocation.

MurrlofC A. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.

SrOTZKA J. farmer. Sec, 34, P. O. Kickapoo.

Pacy Klchard. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

PACY THOMAS, farmer and justice of the

peace, Sec.20, P.O. Brimfield, was born in Lincolnshire,

England, March 8, 1829; attended the common schools

of England, and farmed until 1852, when he came to

America and stopped a short time in New Orleans;

then went to Wisconsin where he carried on farming

;

thence to Boone county. 111., and entered the school of

Wheaton, Dupage county, and remained two years;

then followed teaching for nine years in Iowa and Illi-

nois, and, in 1866, located in Jubilee township, and

turned his attention principally to farming. He mar-

ried, in 1862, Elizabeth Hayes. She was born in Wilt-

shire, England, in 1840. They have had six children

;

the living are : Addison, Lincoln, Ellen and Harry.

At the present time, Mr. Pacy is justice of the peace,

which office he has held for six years ; he is also

township treasurer. They are members of the M. E.

Church. PoUtically, he is a Republican.

Powell Emma C., P. O. Brlmfleld.
Kadley Jas. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
R dley Wm. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
RowcIIffe G. W. farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.
RowcUffe Wm. farmer, P. O. Robin's Nest.

BOWCIilFP WM. farmer and minister, Sec. 29,

P.O. Robin's Nest.

Ryan Jobn, P. O. PrlncevlUe.

SAVAGE P. farmer and blacksmith, P. O. Brim

field.

Shane Susan L. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Schltnck Jno. farmer, P.O. Klckapoo.
Slocum J. B. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Smith Jno. B. farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.
Stewart Jos. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Stewart Jas. W. farmer. P. O. Robin's Nest.
Stewart Thos. farmer, P. O. Robin's Nest.
Sutton Charles, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Thurmer Jas. farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.

TUCKER BENJAMIN, farmer and post

master. Jubilee, Robin's Nest.

TuUeyJohn, farmer. P. O. Brlmfleld.
TuUy Phil, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Wakefield Tersa J. farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.
Walker A. B. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
White M. M. farmer, P. O. Bobln's Nest.
Wllford Wm. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

WILSON J. K. farmer, Sec. 31, P. O. Brim-

field, was born in Brown county, Ohio, August 31,

1820 ; he came to Peoria county in 1848, and followed

farming until March 25, 1850. Started across the

plains to Oregon and California, and engaged in the

manufacture of shingles, mining, etc., until December,

1853, when he returned to Peoria county and again

resumed farming. Was married Nov. I, 1854, to

Ethelinda Vail, who was born in Hamilton county, O.
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He owns i6o acres of land under a good state of culti-

vation, worth $60 per acre. Politically, is Independent.

Mr. Wilson's parents are both dead.

Winn Eliza, farmer, P. O. Monica.

Winn Hugh, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

Tes8 Augustus, farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

KICKAPOO TOWNSHIP.

ABBORLEX JAMES, coal miner, P. O.

Pottstown.

Ataten Ahte, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Alexander James, coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Alexander Robert, railroad carpenter, P.O. Peoria.

ALIiBBIGHTON THOMAS, miner, P. O.

Edwards Station.

Allen E. farmer and coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Alward T. brlckmaker, P.O. Peoria.
Ambs L. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Amsler, Mary, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Amsler Wm. coal miner. P.O. Peoria.
Anderson J. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Anderson Simeon, farmer, P.O. Harlcer's Corners.
Armstrong James, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Awl C. L. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Backus N. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Backing J. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Ball EoT coal miner and operator, P.O. Peoria.
Barker J. gardener, P.O. Peoria.
BarmbrooE I. coul miner, P.O. Peoria.
Barton L. T. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Barton W. 0. H. farmer, distiller etc., P.O. Peoria.

BASLER NICHOJLAS, farmer and grape-

grower. Sec. 10, P. O. Kickapoo. Mr. Easier is a son

of Philip and Eve Easier nee Stough, and was born in

Germany, 31st May, 1825. He spent the years of his

minority in his father's vineyard, and was thoroughly

educated as a grape grower. He immigrated to America
in the twenty-second year of his age, and landed at St.

Louis, remained a short time and then went to Cin-

cinnati, O., where he found employment among the

vineyardists of that city for eight years. He united in

marriage with Miss Catherine, daughter of Godfried

and Magdelena Finck nee Houk, on the 2gth day of

February, 185 1, and came to Illinois and settled at their

present home in April, 1855. They had ."little but their

German pluck with which to commence their home.but
they fought bravely and well. They settled on wild

land covered with a thick growth of small trees and
underbrush. Mrs. Easier, although a small, frail woman,
often helped her husband with the grubbing hoe, and
otherwise in clearing the land, as well as in the planting

and harvesting seasons, They worked and saved on-

their forty acre farm, and now own 120 acres valued at

$30 per acre. A part of the old homestead is devoted

to grapes and small fruit, which yield handsome pro-

fits. They were raised in the faith of the German
Luthern Church, to which they still adhere. They
have two children. John was born at Cincinnati, C,
and September, 1852, and Robert was born at the pre-

sent homestead 2nd December, 1858.

Behrends John, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Benlsh J. coal miner, P.O. Feorla.

BEIili GEORGE, farmer. Sec. i8, P. O. Alta.

Son of William and Mary Bell nee Stephens, was born'

in Ohio, 15th December, 1833. His father was u.

journeyman tanner, and moved from place to place as

he could find employment. As soon as he was old

enough, George commenced to work at whatever he

could find to do, but mostly among the farmers of the

neighborhood where his father lived, so that it may be

said he was educated as a tiller of the soil. On the i8th

day of March, 1857, at Cincinnati, O., he was united in

marriage with Mary, daughter of John A., and Eliza-

beth Harris nee Leslie, who was born in Fayette Co.,

O., i8th May, 1838. In September of that year, 1857,

they came to Tazewell Co., this State, remained there

one year, and then went to Des Moines Co., Iowa.

After three years in Iowa, they came back to Illinois,

and have since remained in Peoria county. A part of

the time they lived in the city of Peoria, where Mr.

Bell engaged as fireman on a ferry boat, and part of

the time as engineer at the pottery. In February, 1865,

he enlisted in Company G., 77th Illinois. The war

closed in April, and Mr. Bell returned home in June.

During the remainder of that year he engaged as a com-

mon laborer, and in the Spring of 1 856, he leased a farm

of R. M. Cole, which he occupied five years. In 1871,

he moved to Abram Fry's place in Kickapoo township,

which he occupied until the Spring of 1878, and then

became a tenant on the farm of Robert Campbell in

Sec. I, Kickapoo township, on which he remained until

the Spring of i88o, when he removed to his own quar-

ter section as above, which he had previously purchased.

This tract of land is valued at $25 an acre. They
have had seven children, Elizabeth Jane and James

William, twins, were born 23rd May, 1859, John Frank-

lin, born 28th February, 1861, Ida May and Elmer

Ellsworth, twins, born 13th February, 1863, Elmer E.,

died nth July, and Ida May, nth October, same year,

Luella Augusta, born 17th August, 1867, Cornelius

Leslie, born 8th March, 1873. Mrs, Bell was baptized

in the Baptist faith, to which she still clings. Mr.

Bell has no church membership, Politicially he is an

independent Democrat.

Bergman H. farmer, Peoria.

BEST PETER, farmer. Sec. 16, P. O. Kicka-

poo, son of Jacob and Elizabeth Best, nee Ebberlay,
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was born in Franklin county. Pa., January 9, 1836. In

the last days of-October, 1843, the family left Pennsyl-

vania to find a home in Illinois, traveling from Cham-
bersburg to Pittsburg in a one-horse wagon. From
Pittsburg they came to Peoria by boat, arriving in De-

cember. Temporary provision was made at Peoria for

the accommodation of the mother and smaller children,

and about five o'clock of a cold, stormy day, the father

and three of the older children, including Peter, set out

on foot for Kickapoo village, which they reached about

II o'clock, and found shelter at John Schlenk'sold pio-

neer hotel. A few weeks later the family settled on a

tract of land purchased in Rosefield, where the children

were raised, and on which the father died, in Decem-
ber, 1874, at the age of seventy-five years. The mother

is still living, at the age of eighty. She has eight liv-

ing children, fifty-eight grandchildren and sixteen great-

grandchildren. Peter Best, the subject of this sketch,

grew to manhood in Rosefield, with such school advan-

tages as the times afforded. On the 21st December,

1858, he married Mary, daughter of Adam and Mar-

garet Eisenbour nee Geiger, who was born in Baden,

Germany, i6th June, 1839. They lived two years on

the Best homestead, and remained in the township

until 1869, when they came to Kickapoo, and in 1870

to their present place. They now own 505 acres of

land, valued at $35 an acre, besides valuable personal

property. Democratic in political sentiment, and Cath-

olic in religious faith. They have nine children

—

Adam J., born Sept. 27, 1859, educated at Parish's

Peoria Business College, and graduated therefrom May
I, 1879; Jacob F., born July 17, 1861, Elizabeth A.,

August 6, 1863, Joseph V., Sept. 12, 1865, Matilda M.,

July 2, 1S67, Peter M., November 24, l86g, Anna M.,

April 3, 1872, Mary A., Aug. 20, 1874, Frances B.,

Jan. 25, 1878.

Blandln F. A. armer, P.O. Harlcer's Corners.
Blank Geo. coal operator. P.O. Peoria.
Blower N. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Bobanan J.. P.O. Peoria.
Booth W. farmer and J. P.. P.O. Peoria.
Bonrland R. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Bontz C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Bontz Perer, farmer P.O. Peoria, or Harker's Corneis.
Bowers Prank, gardener and coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Brast C. coal operator, P.O.,Peor!a.

BRADY <^HAKLES M. farmer. Sec. 12,

P. O. Peoria.

Brown 0. Mrs. P.O. Peo'-la.
Brown Isaac, retired, P.O. Peoria.
Brunlua Bruno, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Brunlcra Geo. farmer, P O Peoria.
Brumlnger H. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
BrunnlE J., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Burdoos J., coal miner, ?. O. Peoria.

BUKDETT JOSEPH, farmer, P. O.

Peoria, son of John and Sarah Burdett, nee Sharman,

was born at Sutton Bassett, Northamptonshire, England,

September 7, 1826. He attended the free schools of

England from the time he was six and a half until he

was eleven and a half years of age, and was then set to

work on a farm, and at the age of seventeen years

commenced working in the mines. July 22, 1849, he

married Ann, daughter of John and Martha Fowles,

nee Bagley, who was born on the 20th day of July,

1829. In the early Spring of 1850, he left England

and his wife to make a home for her in America; landed

in New York on the iBth day of May, proceeded to

Ohio, and there found work by which he earned money

enough to carry him to Illinois, and arrived at Peoria

in November of that year. Worked in Aquilla Moffatt's

coal mines, as a miner for two years, September i,

1851, his wife joined him. In 1853, he commenced

operating in coal on his own account. In 1857, he

purchased the first 80 acres of the present homestead
;

began to improve it in i860, and came to live on it in

February, 1863. He has since added another 80

acres, making 160 acres in the home place, which is

highly cultivated, and valued at $50 an acre
;

also

owns another 160 acres in section 27, valued at $25

an acre. Politically Mr. Burdett is an uncompromis-

ing Democrat; was elected supervisor in 1868, and re-

elected six years in succession ; in 1879 ^^ ^^s again

elected. Mr. B. is also a practical farmer, and an

active member of the Patrons of Husbandry, and has

been Master of the South Kickapoo Grange, No. 446,

since its organization, May 16, 1873. He is also presi-

dent of the Peoria County Grange Co-operative Asso-

ciation, and a member of the Big Hollow Butter and

Cheese Manufacturing Company. They have had ten

children
;

Joseph, born in England, 6th May, 1850

;

married Jane Benn, 5th July, 1871 ;
Josephine, born

Peoria county, 15th December, 1852, died Ilth March,

1864 ; Arthur, born 19th June, 1854, died ist October,

1855 ; Anna, born lOth February, 1856, married Wil-

liam Benn, 5th July, 1879 ; Sarah, born 7th November,

1857; Alfred, born ilth September, 1859, died 23rd

December same year ; Stephen A. D., born 29th Janu-

ary, 1861 ; Isaac, born 27th September, 1862
;
John,

born l8th April, 1864 ; Martha, born 8th March, 1866

;

died 4th April following. The father and mother

were baptized in the Church of England.

Oallioun W., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Cameron J., farmer. P. O. Peoria.
Campen J., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Chambllii K.. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Chamblin H., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Ctiamblln N.. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Chapman J. W., coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Chapman Wm., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Clark J., farmer. P. O. Peoria.
«S1ark S. S., merchant, P. O. Peoria.
Classen N., farmer and coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Clemens Sarah J., P. O. Peoria.
Closen Jos., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Cody Joseph, brick maker, P. O. Peoria.
Collier J., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Cornelius G., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Curtis James, coal miner. P. O. Peoria.
Daubet E. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Daubet Joseph, farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Daubet Margaret, tanner, P.O. Edwards Station.
Daubet X. X. farmer, P.O. Peoria,
Davis B. coal miner, P.O. Peoria,
Denton Caroline, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Donaldson Geo. coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Donneberger A. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Dorger J. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

EDWARDS S. S. merchant, Edwards Station,
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is a son of Thomas and Elenor Edwards, nee Scott, and

was born in Hampshire county, Va., Feb. i8, 1827, and

came with his parents to Rosefield township in the

Spring of 1835. In 1857, when the Peoria, Oquawka
and Burlington, now the C, B. & Q., Railroad, was

completed, he removed from the farm to Edwards Sta-

tion, where he opened a grocery and provision store,

and was appointed station agent by the railroad com-

pany
;
was also appointed the first postmaster in the

place. In the Spring of 1862, he removed his family

back to the farm and enlisted in Co. K. 77th Illinois.

He was elected second lieutenant, and subsequently

promoted to first lieutenant, and served three years,

fourteen months of which time was spent in the rebel

prison at Camp Ford, Texas ; rations were sometimes

nothing but a handful of corn a day to each prisoner.

After returning home he engaged in farming until Feb-

ruary, 1877, when he again removed to Edwards Sta-

tion and opened a general store. He was appointed

postmaster the same year, in which capacity he is still

serving. December 18, 185 1, he married Miss Mary J.,

daughter of Rev. Jacob Schamp, who was born May 4,

1825. They have had seven children — Florence Vir-

ginia, bom Nov. 21, 1852, died Sept. 29, 1853; Thomas
Justin, born Dec. 23, 1853; William Henry, born Oct.

6, 1855; Mary Susan, born Feb. 23, 1857; Isadorejane,

born Aug. g, 1859; Charles Hamilton, born Dec. 23,

1861; Edward David, born April 17, 1866, died March

2, 1867. Mr. Edwards is Republican in political faith

and practice. Mrs. Edwards is a member of the M. E.

Church.

Engelke F. coal operator, P.O. Feoria.

EVANS ISAAC B. coal miner, Pottstown, P.

O. Peoria, was born in Glamorganshire, Wales, Nov.

10, 1821. His parents, Isaac and Jemima Evans, nee

Waters, came to America when he was three years old,

settling in Florence, Washington county. Pa., where

they remained ten years. At the age of fourteen,

Isaac was apprenticed to the trade of a machinist. At

the end of eighteen months he lost his eyesight. He
subsequently traveled a number of years, seeking such

employment as his impaired eyesight would permit,

finally settling in Canton, 111. In 1864-5 he had his

eyes treated by Dr. J. Perrin Johnson, of Feoria, who
succeeded in restoring the sight of one eye after five

years of blindness. In 1868 he came to Pottstown,

where, on Dec. 24 of that year, he married Eliza,

daughter of Wm. S. and Sarah Jones, nee Potts, who
was born in England, Nov. 22, 1843. Mr. E. returned

to Pottstown in 1875, and dealt in groceries and no-

tions. He served one term as ccmstable, and was

elected and is now acting as justice of the peace ; is also

operating a leased coal mine. He has three children

— Sarah Ann, born July 26, 1870; Geo. F., born May

27, 1876, and Leon L., Dec. 29, 1S78,.

Fash D. Mrs. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

FINCK JOHN, farmer and grape grower. Sec.

10, P. O. Kickapoo, son of John and Magdalena Finck,

nee Houk, was born near Wurtemburg, Germany, Dec.

19, 1817, and was educated as a German farmer. He
came to America, spent three years in Penn., then went

to Cincinnati, Ohio, and remained about four years,

during which time, in 1853, he united in marriage with

Catharine Fredericka Raff, who was born in Germany,

Aug. 18, 1834. In 1856 they removed to Illinois and

settled at the present homestead and commenced to

make a farm in the timber and brush, and by their

united industry have a comfortable home. They had

eight children— John William, born at Cincinnati,

Ohio, Aug. 19, 1855, Fritz J., born'at the present home,

Jan. 2, 1857, John, born Nov. 19, 1858, Robert, bom
Feb. 27, 1861, Caroline, born Feb. 18, 1863, Louisa

Frederika, born Feb. 4, 1866, Nicholas, bom June 4,

1868, David, born April 5, 1870. Mrs. Finck died

Sept. II, 1874. The parents were raised in the faith

of the German Lutheran Church. Politically Mr.

Finck has always been Republican. He owns forty

acres of land, part ofwhich is devoted to grape growing,

valued at $50 an acre.

Fitzgerald Robt. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

FRYE BENJAMIN D. farmer, Sec. I, P. O.

Peoria, is the son of Abram and Eleanor Frye nee

Campbell, born in Richwoods township, Nov. 26, 1840,

and grew to manhood on the old homestead. In the

Fall of 1863 he married Sarah D. Johnson, daughter of

Joseph Johnson, who was born in Peoria about 1843.

Soon after marriage he enlisted in Co. A., 77th 111.

;

returned May 28, 1865, and took possession oi the farm

on which he now resides. His wife died July 17, 1869,

leaving one child, George W., bom May 30, 1866. He
re-married May 8, 1873, with Ellen M., daughter of

John and Eliza Batten nee Jeffries, who was born in the

city of Peoria Aug. 29, 1850. They have four children

— Clara E., born April 23, 1874, Eugene, Sept. i,

1875, Mabel, July 17, 1877, Elizabeth B;, April 16,

1879. Mrs. Frye is of the Presbyterian faith, and Mr.

Frye Baptist. Politically he is Republican. He is a

son of one of the oldest settlers, his father having come

to Peoria county in 1833.

Gerdes B. farmer, P.O. Harker'a Corners.
Gerdes B. H. farmer. P.O. Peoria.;
Getz B. coal miner, P.O. Feoria.l

GliAZE RICHARD, coal miner and farmer.

Sec. 35, P. O. Peoria, is a son of William Glaze, and

was born in Staffordshire, England, Oct. 15, 1S32, and

was raised in Warwickshire as a miner. May 27, 1855,

he married Sarah, daughter of Joseph and Harriet

Hodson, who was born March 4, 1833. Mr Glaze came

to America in advance of his wife and daughter Agnes,

arriving in July, 1862. He stopped in Michigan a

short time, and in September came to Hale's Mill,
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where he was joined by his wife and child in Novem-

ber, and where they have continued to reside, except a

fewmonths spent in Colorado by Mr.G. in 1878, engaged

as above. They have had four children— Agnes, born in

Fozeley Tamworth, England, Dec. 7, l86l, George

Washington, born at Hale's Mills, April 13, 1864,

Harriet, born Aug. 22, 1865, died Nov. 27, 1879, Sarah

Ann, born Oct. 8, 1870, died Dec. 23 following. Mr.

G. is Republican in politics. He owns fifteen acres of

land, valued at $75 an acre.

Goodrlcb B. C. farmer, F. O. Feorla.
Grant Peter, coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Grafferman H. farmer, F. O. Peoria.
Graiferman P. farmer, F. O. Peoria.
Green L. wholesale grocer, P. O. Peoria.
Greenwood C. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Grischott M. coal operator, P. O. Peoria.
Gronewold H. farmer. P. O. Peoria.
GuppT R. coal miner, F. O. Peoria.
Hall E. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

HAIiLSR CHKISTIKA M. farmer. Sec. 11,

P. O. Peoria. Mrs. Haller is a daughter of Jacob and

Christina Koerner, nte Grill, and was born in Wurtem-

burg, Germany, May 2, 1823. When she was eight

years of age her parents came to America, and settled

at Cincinnati, Ohio. On the 15th of May, 1842, she

united in marriage with Conrad Haller, a butcher, and

remained at Cincinnati until 1850 ; came to Illinois

and stopped in Peoria until March, 185 1 ; then settled

on the present Haller homestead, on which the second

cabin in the township was erected, in 1834, by John L.

Wakefield. They had eight children— Jacob, bom
March lo, 1843, died February 23, 1844 ; Conrad, bom

January 20, 1845; Frederick, born April 19, 1846;

Jacob, (2) born January 17, 1848, died June 2, 1849 ;

George, born January 20, 1850 ; Catharine, born Octo-

ber 8, 185 1 ; Rosina, bom April 11, 1853; Christina,

bom November 27, 1855. Mr. H. died November

9, 1855. The daughters were educated for the profes-

sion of teaching, at the Peoria Normal School, from

which they graduated with honors. The Haller family,

parents and children, were raised under the religious

teachings of the German Lutheran Church. The

homestead embraces 160 acres of highly improved land,

worth $50 per acre.

Haller J. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Hamilton Wm. K. coal operator, P. O. Peoria.
Haren H. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Harker D. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Barker J. farmer. P. O. Peoria.
Hatterman B. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Hatterman H. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

HAlfliOIf T. J. farmer. Sec. l8, P. O. Edwards

Station.

HAKBIS F. farmer. Sec. 11, P. O. Kickapoo.

Henderson A. retired, P. O. Peoria.
Herman C. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Henerman Class, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

HOIiMES HARRIET E. farmer. Sec. 36.

P. O. Peoria. Mrs. Holmes is an adopted daughter

of the late Judge William Hale. She was bom in

Oswego county. New York, and was adopted by that

gentleman when she was about two and a half years

old, and when Judge Hale came to Kickapoo, in Sep-

tember, 1836, was about nine years of age. She was

as carefully nurtured and educated, and as liberally

provided for as if she had been an own child, and she

cherishes the memory of her adopted father very

sacredly. She possesses an apt and ready mind ; has

written several poems of merit. One poem, dedicated

to the memory of her eldest son, DeSilva, " Her Boy

with the Nut-Brown Hair," who died a soldier in

Florida, was a wail from a loving mother's heart. It

found a place in the columns of many a, newspaper,

and is still preserved in many a scrap-book as a gem

of real worth. On the 28th day of April, 1844, she

was united in marriage with Jesseniah Holmes, who
died in March, 1875. They had seven children

:

DeSilva, who enlisted in the U. S. Army and died in

Florida ; Martha, who married John Wolstenholme
;

Pauline, who married James Phillips ; George D.,

Ira and Edward. Mrs. H. owns 160 acres of land,

valued at $50 an acre.

Homan L. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Hoye Patrick, coal operator, P. O. Peoria.

HOWARTH RICHARD, farmer and stock-

grower. Sec. 30, P. O. Edwards Station. The subject

of this sketch is a representative man of an English

community in this township, the individual members of

which are noted for their economy, thrift, prosperity

and high moral character. He was born in Lanca-

shire, England, April 12, 1824, and is the sixth son

and one of twelve children of Richard and Martha

Howarth, Ttee Greenwood, who were married in 1805.

He was born and raised in a mining district, to which

business he was educated. His family sailed from

Liverpool on the 23rd day of Febmary, 1842, and

after stopping a while at St. Louis, reached Kickapoo

in September, and settled on the farm he now occupies.

Their first American home was a sod house, which was

in great contrast with his present large stone residence.

In 1844, sickness came upon the family and at one

time they were all down together, not one of them

being able to help the other. The father and Samuel,

one of the sons, died within a week of each other, in

August of that year. The memory of the neighbors,

James Clark, the Bensons, and Bishop Chase, is dearly

cherished by Mrs. Howarth, for kindness in that time.

The mother died in May, 1851. Richard Howarth

commenced to Americanize as a miner and farmer, and

so continued until 1867-8, when he abandoned the

former. On the 25th day of October, 1849, he married

Alipe, daughter of Thomas and Ellen Lonsdale, nee

Halstead, who was bom in Lancashire, England, Octo-

ber 10, 1828, and came America in 1843. They com-

menced life on the Howarth homestead, which they

have always occupied, and where, by their industry and

economy they have acquired an extensive and valuable
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landed property. They have had two children : Sam-
uel, born August 29, 1850, died August 21, 1851 ; Martha

Ellen, born December 24, 1851, married William Taylor,

April 12, 1876. Religiously, the family are of the Pro-

testant faith. Politically, Mr. H. is a Republican.

Hughes Mary, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Hurman H. farmer, P. O, Peoria.
Hurst Lo^. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Hurst M. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Jolinson Bette. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Jobnson F. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Johnson Heinlce, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Jolinson J. D. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Johnson J. H. farmer, P.O. Peoria,
Johnson J. K. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

JOHNSON" JOHN, Sen., retired, res. Sec. 36,

P. O. Chillicothe, is a well preserved representative of

physical manhood. He was born in Campbell county,

Kentucky, 5th November, 1797. In 1799 his parents,

William and Eunice Johnson nee Petty, removed from

Kentucky and settled in what is now Switzerland

county, Indiana, where he grew to manhood. His

educational advantages were confined to the subscrip-

tion schools of the period. On the 25th of December,

1823, he united in marriage with Miss Hannah,

daughter of Caleb and Jane Mounts nee Walleck, who
was born in Fayette county. Pa., 22d March, 1805. In

September, 1831, Mr. and Mrs. Johnson loaded all their

household effects on an ox wagon and in company with

two or three other families they started for Illinois.

They arrived at Peoria on the 7th day of October,

1831, and soon after Mr. J. rented a farm from Peter

Menard, above Mossville, which he occupied for three

years. He continued in that neighborhood until 1836,

and then made a claim to a tract of 240 acres of land

near the present site of Jubilee College, which he pur-

chased from the Government in 1837. Here he im-

proved and occupied the farm until 1841, when he sold

the land to Bishop Chase, and purchased 200 acres in

Sec. 13, Kickapoo township, residing there until their

removal to his present home in March, 1880. While a

resident of Indiana, Mr. Johnson served four years as

Lieut.-Colonel of the 44th Regiment Indiana State

Militia, and the old records testify of his efficiency as

an officer. He also served three years as deputy sheriff

of Switzerland county. Since his residence in Peoria

county, he has filled almost every office in township

government. He was elected justice of the peace in

Kickapoo township in the Spring of 1851, and continued

in that capacity by re-election from time to time until

his removal to Hallock township, when he resigned.

Religiously he is a Baptist in faith. Politically, is a

staunch Democrat. Mr. Johnson has been the father

of ten sons and daughters, Crawford, born 2nd

November, 1824, died loth March, 1859 ;
Jane, born

l6th September, 1826, married Eli Albertson, loth

November, 1845 ; Marion, born 28th March, 1828,

married Mary Bell in 1862 ; Perry, born 2d December,

1829, married Harriet Roberts in 1851, and both died

in 1855; America, born i8th February, 1833, married

Miles Bosworth, March 1852, died 13th February,

1857; Rachel, born 30th January, 1836, married Omer
Bosworth, January, 1856, died 14th January, 1866

;

William R., born 7th March, 1839, married Catherine

Welch at Bloomington, 111.
;
John, born 6th June, 1841,

married, first. Miss Sarah Whittington, 22d November,

1863, who died 22d June, 1874, and second. Miss Vera,

daughter of James L. and Susan Hindmarsh, 13th

February, 1877. Two children died unnamed. Mrs.

Johnson, the wife and mother, died 7th October, 1873,

after a residence of exactly forty-two years in Illinois.

JOHNSON JOHN Jr. farmer, Sec. 13, P. O.

Peoria.

Johnson L. Mrs. sons coal miners, P.O. Peoria.
Johnson R. farmer, P.O.Peoria.
Jones H. W. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

JONES HENKY W. farmer. Sec. 34, P. O.

Peoria. Henry Jones, the father of the subject of this

sketch, was of Welch parentage, and was born in

Culpepper county, Virginia, where he grew to

manhood, and married Sarah Zinn, who was of Ger-

man and English extraction. They immigrated to

Ohio about 1804, and settled in Gallia county, where

Henry W. was born on the 7th of February, 1819. In

November, 1831, they came to Illinois and settled at

Peoria, spending the first Winter in a small log cabin

that stood at the foot of the Main street bluff. In

April, 1832, they moved out to the Rocky Spring (on

the Farmington road) and settled on what is still known
as Jones' Prairie, where Henry W. grew to man's

estate. He has lived in that immediate neighborhood

ever since, and is justly entitled to be regarded as one

of the old settlers. He has been closely identified with

the growth and development of Limestone and Kicka-

poo townships. On the 30th day of October, 1842, he

married Miss Rebecca, daughter of Reuben and Nancy

Miller nee Sturgeon, who was born in Shelby county,

Kentucky, 28th December, 1821. In 1844, they moved

from Limestone to this township ; spent the Summer of

1845 in Jo Daviess county; came back in the Fall of

that year, and in 1846, settled on their present farm.

From a stumpy quarter-section, Mr. Jones has made a

handsome and attractive farm, the result of his own in-

dustry and mechanical ingenuity. Mr. and Mrs. Jones

have had twelve children : Clarissa C, was born No-

vember 15, 1843, married Francis Peppard, June, i860
;

Lovina, born February 15, 1845, married Charles Daly,

November, 1869; Amanda E., born March 8, 1847,

married Thomas Newcomb, (third husband) July 24,

1876 ; Charles P., born July 5, 1849, married Miss

Caroline Daly, November 17, 1869; Lucinda, born

March 21, 1851, married Robert Acol, June 18, 1873 ;

James H., born February 21, 1853, married Alice

Brown, December 1, 1878 ; Malinda J., born February

24, 1855 ; John F., born November 28, 1856, died
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March 5, 1867 ; George N., born September 15, 1859,

died August 5, l86i ; Anna, born April 8, 1861, died

in infancy; Adaline C, born February 23, 1863,

married William Edwards, January 6, 1879 ; Euphemia

B., born November 27, 1865. Mrs. Jones' grandfather,

when she saw him last in 1829, was 116 years of age,

and her mother lived to be eighty-seven. Mr. Jones'

mother lived to be eighty-nine. Protestant in religious

sentiment. Mr. J. is a Republican of the liberal type.

He owns 189 acres of land, valued at $40 an acre. He
has held various local o6Sces, such as town assessor, etc.

Jordan Pat. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
JordonP. Mrs. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

JOSS GEORGE, farmer. Sec. 34, P. O. Peoria,

is a son of Coradin and Anna Joss, nee Men, and was

born at Andeer, Switzerland, May 21, 1826. He re-

ceived all the advantages of the common schools of his

native country, and one year in a school devoted to the

study of tree culture, and was awarded a second grade

diploma, to earn which two or more years were usually

required. He still preserves as a memento of his

school days, a book with tree drawings, essays on their

nature, the best means of cultivation, yearly growth,

etc., drawn and written by him, that is a model of pen-

manship. At seventeen years he was apprenticed to

the carpenter trade. When he had served three years,

a rebellion broke out against the government, and he

was drafted into the army for six years, as was then the

custom in Switzerland. When he had served three

years, he bought the remainder of his time and came

to America, arriving at Peoria in October, 1849, and

until 1871, engaged at the trade of a carpenter in this

State and Wisconsin. He has. been twice married
;

first on the 6th of November, 1852, to Miss Elizabeth

Lenenberger, a country-woman of his. This wife died

without issue October 6, 1855, and on the 24th of

December, 1864, he married his present wife, Elizabeth,

daughter of George and Emily Breidenstein, nee

Kleinsmith, who was born at Niederscheldt, Germany,

February 14, 1836. Five children have blessed this

union : Anna, born October 18, 1865 ; George Theo-

dore, born August, 1867 ; Amelia, born September

20, 1869 ; Margaret Henrietta, born September 16,

1871 ; William Tell, born October 12, 1873. In 1871,

they came to occupy their present home and farm of

160 acres, valued at $35 an acre. Religiously, they are

of Protestant faith.

Keller George, brewer, P.O. Peoria.
Keppel Christ, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Keppel Frank, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Kroleskey Tlieodore, farmer, P.Q^ Peoria.

KEACH CHARLES, farmer. Sec. i, P. O.

Peoria, born in Rensselaer county, N. Y., June I, 1833.

His parents were Henry and Lucy Keach, nee Hall.

In the Fall of 1846 his father, with a view to bettering

the condition of his family, came to Illinois, and being

pleased with the country around their present home,

erected a shop in Radnor township, and began forging

a home for wife and children. In the Fall of 1847 he

returned to New York, sold his possessions, came back,

settled near his present residence, engaged in black-

smithing and farming until age and infirmity compelled

a cessation from labor. Charles remained at home
assisting as blacksmith andfarmer. In November, 1854,

he went on a visit to his boyhood home, and while there

married Laura Jane, daughter of Wm. Doty, and re-

turned with her to his father's home in Radnor. She

died in September, 1858, leaving one child, William E.,

born Nov. 28, 1856. During the years subsequent to

1854, Charles was engaged principally in farming. On
the 25th of March he married Marion Ann, daughter of

Abram B. and Georgietta Fash, nee Smith, born in Peo-

ria, Feb. 8, 1842. The very next week they began as

farm tenants in a log cabin on the 80 acres next north

of their present residence. Mr. Keach is one of those

who touch nothing that does not turn to good account.

In the Spring of 1864 he bought his present homestead,

on time, with not even a nickel towards making the

first payment. But they were promptly met. He has

added other lands until now he owns 260 acres and the

prettiest home site in Kickapoo township, valued at

$75 an acre. His present wife has been a true helpmate

in all things. Though raised in the city, with little

knowledge of farm life, she took naturally and kindly

to farm duties. Mrs. K. was baptized in the faith of

the M. E. Church, but is not now a communicant. Mr.

K. believes in practical Christians, with hearts and

hands always open to the relief of suffering and dis-

tress wherever found, regardless of creed. Politically

Mr. K. is an independent Democrat. They have four

children, Effie Georgietta, born Jan, 18, 1863; Chester

Burton, born Oct. 6, 1864 ; Cora May, born Oct. 27,

1867, died Aug. 28, i86g; Jessie Irene, born Nov. I,

1869.

KINGSLEY CHARLES M. farmer, Sec. 8,

P. O. Edwards Station, son of George O. and Fanny

Kingsley, nee Eams, was born in this township, Dec.

g, 1843, where he was raised and educated as a farmer's

son. In August, 1862. he enlisted in Co. K, 77th Illi-

nois, and served until the close of the war. He par-

ticipated in a number of engagements, a full account of

which will be found in the regimental history elsewhere

published. He was mustered out of the service at

Alabama, July 10, 1865, and arrived at home on the

29th, since when he has engaged as above. On the 22d

of January, 1868, he united in marriage with Elizabeth,

daughter of Joshua and Mary Jane Brown, nee King,

who was born in Rosefield township, July 22, 1852.

They have had six children, Eli Chester, born Jan. 30,

1869 ; Charles W., Dec. 14, 1871 ; Cynthia, Nov. 5,

1873 ; Lillian, Jan. I, 1875 ; George O., Nov. 20, 1877,
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died June 12, 1878 ; Fannie, born Jan. 27, 1879. Mr.
and Mrs. K. are of protestant faith. Politically he is a

Democrat, true and steadfast. He was elected town
assessor in the Spring of 1876, but did not qualify in

consequence of sickness. He owns 32B acres of land,

valued at $30 an acre.

KINGSLEY FANNY, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

Mrs. Kingsley is the third child and daughter of Ben-

jamin and Harriet Earns, nee Smith, and was born at

Willoughby, Cuyahoga county, Ohio, June 18, 1825,

and came to La Salle county, this State, with her par-

ents in June, 1840. In the beginning of January, 1841,

she married George O. Kingsley, son of Perley and
Anna Kingsley, nee Mason, who was born at Brattle-

boro, Vermont, February 14, 1810. He came to Peoria

county and settled in the Kickapoo valley in 1833. He
was thoroughly educated in the schools of Vermont,

and was qualified both by nature and education for any

position in life. His name is intimately associated

with many of the public improvements and buildings

of the county, as well as in other ways. He was the

contractor for the mason work, viaducts, etc., on the

Illinois and Michigan canal, when it was building, and

during the time was associated in a dry goods store at

Marseilles, with William Pierce, which was the second

general store opened at that place. The honor of mak-
ing the first farm improvements in the Kickapoo valley

belongs also to George O. and Frank P. Kingsley. On
the 5th day of May, 1841, Mr. Kingsley and his wife

landed at Peoria from a steamboat, and the same day

came out and occupied the cabin of which mention is

made in the general history of this township. In the

beginning of 1842 they moved up to the site of the

home now occupied by Mrs. Kingsley, where she has

ever since resided. Mrs. Kingsley has been the mother

of five children— Cynthia, was born November 30,

1841, married John Kirkman in October, 1858; Charles

Mason, was born December g, 1843, married Lizzie

Brown, of Rosefield, January 22, 1868
; James, was

born January 26, 1846, and died at nine months ; Har-

riet Romania, was born May 13, 1850, married William

Spurck, August, 1869 ; George Pliney, was born April

26, i860. Mrs. Kingsley is not religiously connected

with any church, Mr. Kingsley's death is noted in the

general history of Kickapoo township.

KOEBNEB CHKISTIAN, farmer. Sec. 9,

P. O. Kickapoo, is a son of Jacob and Christina Koer-

ner, nee Krill, and was born at Bald Hill, near Cincin-

nati, Hamilton county, Ohio, March 27, 1834. When
he was fourteen years of age his parents removed to

Peoria county, and he has ever since resided in the

neighborhood where he now lives. On the 25th of

March, 1858, he married Miss Nancy Ann, daughter of

John and Elizabeth Stringer, who was born at Moss-

ville, August 24, 1839. Five children were born of

this union—John, was born February 26, 1859 ! Chris-

tine Elizabeth, was born February 26, 1861 ; Maty
Ann, was born June 21, i366 ; David William, was

born December 21, 1872 ; Thomas Christian, was bom
September 24, 1876, and died January 28, 1877. Mrs.

Koerner died April 7, 1877. Mr. Koerner was raised

in the faith of the German Lutheran Church, but is

not identified with any religious organization. He is

Democratic in politics. He owns 100 acres of land,

valued at $30 an acre.

KOERNER DAVID, farmer. Sec. 15, P. O.

Kickapoo, is a son of Jacob and Christina Koerner,

nee Krill, and was born at Bald Hill, Hamilton county,

Ohio, October 15, 1835. In the Fall of 1848 his

parents removed to Illinois and settled on the farm he

now occupies. On the nth of December, i860, he

married Miss Louisa Siebold, who was born at Fell-

back, Germany, July 17, 1837. When she was about

three years of age her father came to seek a new home
in America. After two or three letters from him, the

last one dated at New Orleans, all tidings of him were

lost and the supposition was that he died suddenly,

with nothing on his person by which he could be iden-

tified. When Louisa was in her seventeeth year her

mother sent her to America, intending to come herself

if her daughter was pleased ; if not, she promised to

send her money to carry her back to her German home.

Louisa was pleased, however, and wrote her mother

that she had found a good home, but before the mother

could complete arrangements to come, she sickened

and died. In time Louisa found a home in the family

of John Stringer for nearly three years, and from which

she was married. David Koerner and Louisa Siebold

had six children— David, born March 6, 1862, died

May 29, 1871 ;
Jacob C, born September 4, 1863 ; Car-

oline Rosina, born November 30, 1865 ; Frederick

William, born July 21, 1868 ; Louisa Christina, bom
April 24, 1873 ; Mary Elizabeth, born July 5, 1879.

The parents were both brought up in the German
Lutheran Church. Politically Mr. Koerner is a Dem-
ocrat. He owns 240 acres of land, valued at $30 an

acre. The parents of Mr. Koerner both died on this

place, and were buried in a handsome plot of ground

set off for that purpose in their life time.

Lammers C. grocer. P.O. Peoria.
Lane J. coal miner, P.O. Feorla.

LASER AUGUST, farmer. Sec. 22, P. O.

Kickapoo, was born at Erfurt, Prussia, Aug. 28, 1828.

His parents were Wilhelm and Louisa Laser, nee Or-

phal. He was educated at the muster school until

twelve years of age, and then entered the lower or un-

der class of the gymnasium, where he studied two years.

His father was a gardener and seedsman, and when

August was fifteen years of age he began an apprentice-

ship to that trade. At nineteen he entered the Frus-
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sian army and served three years. Came to America

in his twenty-second year, landing at Buffalo, and
worked at the Oakland nursery and greenhouse ; thence

he went to Ross county, Ohio, as gardener for Doctor

Thatcher. In the Fall of 1856 he went to New Orleans

as a private gardener ; soon after came to Peoria and
had charge of B. L. T. Bourland's greenhouse for

two years ; then worked for John Griswold two years,

and laid off the grounds and planted the trees on that

much admired homestead. In January, r862, he re-

moved to his present residence with a view to making
it a fruit farm. In the Spring of 1856, he married So-

phia, daughter of Elias and Maria Bartholenman, who
was born near Erfurt, Prussia, Dec. 26, 1827. They
have had five children— Henry, born May 19, 1858,

drowned Sept. 23, 1865, while trying to save a younger

brother from drowning; Lizzie, bom July 14, i860,

died in Peoria, Sept. 1861; Rudolph, born Feb. 8, 1862,

drowned Sept. 23, 1865 ; Lizzie, 2d, born May 9, 1868.

Religion, Protestant
;
politics, Republican. Mr. Laser

makes botany a study ; owns eighty acres ofland, worth

$2,500.

Leonard M. coal operator, P.O. Feorl».
Look B. £. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Look E. Mrs. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Look John B. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Look J. E. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Look G. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Look Lambert E. grocer, P.O. Peoria.
Look L. B. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

LiONSDAIiE RICHAKD, farmer. Sec. 32.

P. O. Peoria, son of Thomas and Ellen Lonsdale, nee

Halstead, was born near Aislington, Lancashire, Eng-

land, 26th Sept., 1817, and commenced life as a hand-

loom weaver at the early age of eight years. At eleven

he entered a cotton mill at Elwood, Lancashire, where

he was employed in various capacities for twenty-one

years, thirteen years of which he superintended the

engines that furnished the power for two large mills,

remaining there till he came to America in 1849. He
arrived at Peoria 14th Nov. of that year, and joined

his father's family in Kickapoo. He occupied rented

land until the death of his father in March, 1863, when

he succeeded to the ownership of the Lonsdale home-

stead, and has added other land, until he now owns 560

acres, valued at $25 to $35 an acre. When Mr. L.

reached Kickapoo, he had but little means, and he has

acquired his possessions by industry and careful econ-

omy. On the 25th day of Dec, 1838, he married Miss

Ann, daughter of John and Betty Wadsworth, nee

Ovenden, and a faithful helpmeet she proved in their

struggle in America. Mrs. Lonsdale was born in York-

shire, England, 24th April, 18 19. Her parents were

hand-loom weavers, and from childhood she learned

lessons of industry and economy. Eleven children

were born of this marriage: Martha, born 5th

Feb., 1840 ; Colonel, born 12th July, 1842, died 9th

July, 1843 ; Ellen, born 3d Aug., 1844, died 8th March,

55

1845 ; Mary Hannah, born loth Jan., 1846, died 4th

Dec, 1855 ; Ernest, born 4th June, 1848, killed by ac.

cident at Peoria Gas Works, 1st Feb., 1870 ; William,

born 23d Dec, 1850, married Ellen Mitchell, l8th Sept.

1873 ;
John, born 26th May, 1853 ; Richard, born nth

Sept., 1855 ; Mary Ellen, born 21st Sept., 1857 ; Betty,

born 2ist Oct., 1859, died 19th Aug., i860 ; Sarah Ann,

born 29th June, 1863. All the living, except William,

remain at home with their parents. Politically, Mr. L.

is a Democrat.
Lottman C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Lottman Fred, grape grower, P.O. Peoria.

MAKIE JOSEPH, farmer, Sec. 34, P. O.

Peoria. Nicholas Marie, the father of Joseph, was

born, raised, and married the first time, in France and

came to America and settled in Stark county, Ohio, in

1828. His first wife died, childless, in 1829, and about

a year after he married Mary Ann Smith, who was also

born in France, September 20, 1800, by whom he had

four children : Joseph, Mary Ann, Julia and Malinda.

Joseph was born in Stark county, O., October 31, 1831.

In 1838, his parents removed from Ohio, and founded

the Marie's home as above. Their first house was a

small log cabin that stood at the foot of the bluff in

Jones' Hollow. Deer were often seen sporting on the

bluffs, within easy shooting range of the cabin. In

the Fall of 1840, Nicholas Marie, the husband and

father died. Joseph was the oldest of the family, and

the burden of their support fell on him, and hence it

may be said that from his ninth year he has had a

family to maintain. On the 5th day of June, 1861, he

married Johana, daughter of William and Nancy

Holden, nee Corcoran, who was born at Red Acre,

county Kilkenny, Ireland, May 29, 1841, and came to

America with her parents when she was quite a young

girl. They first settled at Newark, Licking county

;

subsequently in Zanesville, Ohio ; came from there to

Illinois about 1852. They had eleven children : Mary
Ann, born June 3, 1862 ; Nellie, born June 15, 1863

;

the third child was born August 29, 1864, and died;

Nicholas, bom September 15, 1865 ; William, born

January 27,^1867 ;
Joseph, born May 4, 1868

;
James

Francis, born May 23, 1870 ; Anna, born October 14,

1872, died May 23, 1875 ; Malinda, born November

16, 1874 ; Thomas Centennial, born June 20, 1876

;

John Edmund, born March 30, 1878. The family are

members of the Catholic Church. Politically, Mr. Marie

is an Independent Democrat. He served as justice of

the peace from 1866 to 1870, and has filled other local

offices. He owns 160 acres of land, valued at $35 an

acre. His mother, now in her eightieth year, has a

home in his family.

MAKSHAIili JOHN, farmer, Sec. 36, P.O.
Kickapoo, was born in Devonshire, England, July 17,

1826, and worked on a farm for his father till he was

twenty-six years old, when he married Rebecca Horse-
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well, by whom he had four children: Thomas E.,

Elizabeth, John, and Richard, all of whom still reside

in England. He buried his wife in the Fall of 1863,

and in the Spring of 1869, immigrated to America,

arriving at Peoria, August 7th of the same year, and
settled in Kickapoo. He has always been a consistent

professor of religion, and since obtaining his citizen-

ship has generally voted with the Republican party.

He has always conducted himself as a good citizen of

his adopted country.

MASSING MATHIAS, farmer and grape-

grower, Sec. 16, P. O. Kickapoo, son of Andrew and

Mary Massing, nee Greoei, was bom on the river

Rhine, Prussia, October 16, 1812, and bred a farmer.

In the Spring of 1840, he immigrated to America and

settled at the present site of Mossville, and engaged as

wood chopper and common laborer. He bought his

first horse from Captain Moss, and paid for it in clear-

ing land and making rails. The wheels of his first

wagon were made from sections sawed from a large

oak tree ; there was not a particle of iron in the entire

make up of the vehicle. In March, 1841, he united in

marriage with Elizabeth, daughter of Andrew and

Catharine Klein. She was born at Kreisnocht, Prus-

sia, November 27, 1819. They remained at Mossville

until 1845 ; lived two years on the bluff farm of Cap-

tain Moss, and in 1847, came to the site of their pres-

ent comfortable home, which was worked out of the

timber and brush. They now own 260 acres of land,

valued at $40 per acre. A part of the home place is

devoted to grape growing, and a part of their other

land is underlaid with coal. They have had nine chil-

dren : Mathias, born August 28, 1842 ; Andrew, born

June 6, 1843, died at three months ; Andrew, the sec-

ond, was born October 13, 1844, and died at the age of

thirteen years ; Elizabeth, born May 15, 1847, married

Frank German, November 23, 1868; EdiJard, born Feb-

ruary 27, 1849 ; Catharine H., born September 3, 1853 ;

Frederick, born April 25, 1855 ; Mary, born April 5,

1859, married Henry Dailey, in 1879 ; Frank, born

April 5, i86g. Parents and children are members of

the Catholic Church. Politically, Mr. Massing is a

Democrat.

McClangf;age J. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
McCowen Mrs. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
MoElroy D. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
McManus D. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Menzenmeyer Fred, vineyardist, P. O. Peoria.
Meyers C. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.

MIDDLBTON JOSEPH HEHRY,
grocer and wholesale and retail dealer in coal. Potts-

town, P. O. Peoria. The subject of this sketch is the

architect of his own fortune and essentially a self-made

man. He is the son of Joseph and Bridget Middle-

ton, nee Connors, and was born in the city of Peoria

22nd September, 1855. His mother died when he was

about seven years ol age. Soon after, he quit the com-

mon schools and commenced to earn his own living by

working among farmers and whatever he could find to

do. In 1874 he came to Pottstown and engaged to

drive a coal-hauling team, in which capacity he con-

tinued for some time ; then formed a partnership with

Frank Stemplin, and commenced the manufacture o

brick. In 1878 Stemplin was succeeded by George

Potts. In 1879 Middleton withdrew from the busi-

ness and, with other parties, leased a coal bank from

Samuel Potts, senior, and commenced business as

above. His wife Lucy, to whom he was married on

the fourteenth of November, 1876, is the daughter of

Samuel and Ann Potts, nee Padgeter ; was born 24th

July, 1858, They have one child, John Henry, who
was born 25th August, 1877. Mr. Middleton is an ad-

vocate of morality and temperance in all things.

Miles John, coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Miles Wm. coal miner. P. O. Peoria.

MILLER JOIEN" F. blacksmith, village of

Kickapoo, P. O. same, was born in Germany, 15th

March, 1842, his parents being Henry and Catherine

Miller, nee Creager. They came to Ameica when he

was a year old, and settled first at Pekin, where they

remained three years ; then removed to Limestone

township, this county, John remained with parents till

he was 17, then engaged with Frank Wilkenhamer,

of Peoria, to learn the trade of a blacksmith. When
the war came on, he enlisted as a blacksmith in the

nth 111. Cavalry, and served four years. Upon being

discharged he returned to Peoria, and in 1866, in com-

pany with Frank McCann, commenced a shop at

Smithsville, and staid two years. He married 7th

June, 1866, with Irene, daughter of George and Lydia

Ann Toland. She was born in Perry county. Pa., 23rd

Feb., 1845. After making several removals, Mr.

Miller settled, in 1874, in Kickapoo, where he now
resides and carries on business. They have had

seven children : Stephen F., born 25th March, 1867

;

William Henry, born 19th May, 1868
;
John Adison,

born 23rd September, 1869, died i6th August, 1870

;

James Otto, born 19th August, 1871, died i5th August,

1873 ; Clara Irene, born 23rd October, 1873 ; Charles

Martin, born 12th January, 1875 ; Laura, born 27th

September, 1877. Mr, Miller's father died 1858, aged

76, and his mother, in 1871, aged 87,

MILLER MORTIMER M. farmer and

stock-raiser. Sec. 25, P. O. Peoria. The subject of

this sketch is the son of Frederick A. and Sarah A.

(Clifton) Miller, and was born in Newport, Campbell

county, Ky., Feb. 3, 1837. When about sixteen years

old he went to work in an oilcloth manufactory, and

worked at that trade for two years. He then spent two

years at the trade of painter, and afterwards joined his

father upon a farm in the same county, and remained

there until 1857, when he came to Illinois and settled

upon what is known as the Hickory Grove Farm, in
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Richwoods township. Afterwards came to Peoria and

worked some time as brick-mason, and finally removed

to Kiokapoo township and bought the farm upon which

he now resides.

UoSatt A. W. grocer, P.O. Peoria.
Motan Fred, coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Monroe Su.san, farmer and coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Honroe Jas. coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Moratb D. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Mutter F. coal hauler. P.O. Peoria.
Nail George, coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Nichols Wm. coal miner, P.O. Peoria,
Nlltner J. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Norwood &. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Norden K. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Ojemau G. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Overmeyer A., farmer, P.O. Peoria.
; c M. plastei

.

Penski John C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Peack 1 plaster, etc., P.O. Peoria.

PEPPARD FRANCIS, coal miner, Edwards

Station. A son of Francis and Bridget Peppard, nee

Rale, was born in county Longford, near Dublin, Ire-

land, 27th September, 1837, and came to America with

his sister Elizabeth, in 185 1. Halted first at New
Orleans, then came to Peoria, where he remained a

short time, and then went to Logan township, where he

stayed about four years, and then to Kickapoo town-

ship. In the Spring of 1858, he went to the head waters

of the Missouri river in the employ of the American Fur

Company, where he spent that Summer. Four months

of that time they saw neither bread nor domestic veget-

ables of any kind, but subsisted entirely upon wild

meats, fish, etc. He returned from that trip late in the

Fall, and on the I2th of May, 1859, married Caroline,

daughter of Henry N. and Rebecca Jones, who was

born in Limestone township, 15th November, 1843.

They have had thirteen children, six of whom died in

early infancy. The seven living children are, Edward,

born 17th October, 1863 ;
John, 19th February, 1867

;

Frances, 15th May, 1870 ; George, 22d February, 1872
;

Caroline 5th May, 1874; Charles, 15th April, 1876;

Robert Emmett, 8th November, 1879. Mr. Peppard is

a Catholic ; his wife is a Protestant. Politically he is a

Democrat.

Perry Wm. M. teamster, P.O. Peoria.
Peters Wm. farmer, P.O. Barker's Corners.
Peterson Jno. horticulturist, P.O. Peoria.
Pflfer Geo. retired, P.O. Peoria.

, „ „ t.
PfieBer P. superintendent Pfelfler's carriage works,P.O.Peorla.
Phillips P. gardener, P.O.Peoria.

POOLE GEORGE, laborer, village of Kick-

apoo, P. O. same, son of Thomas and Mary Poole, nee

Pritchard, was born in Tetbury, Gloucestershire, Eng-

land, Feb. 6, 1825. At St. Saviour's Church, Tetbury,

April 28, 1853, he was married to Mary Ann, daughter

of Stephen and Ann Smith, who was born in Glouces-

tershire, England, Aug. 11, 1827. They came to

America in 1854, ^settling first at Pulaski, N. Y.; re-

mained there two years and came to Peoria ; lived for

a time on the Knoxville road, between Peoria and

Kickapoo; settled in the village of Kickapoo in 1868.

Theyhavehad three children— Eliza Ann, born Jan.

8, 1854, died and buried at sea on the voyage to Ameri-

ca ; William Henry, born June 8, 1856, and married

Mary Elizabeth, daughter of James and Elizabeth King-

dom, nee Brown, Aug. 17, who have two children,

Elizabeth Ann and Harriett. The parents, George and

Mary Ann Poole, were baptized in the Church of Eng-

land. Mr. Poole has never been naturalized ; his son

William H., is a Democrat. Mrs. Wm. H. Poole was

born in the village of Kickapoo, July 26, 1857. Her

mother died Dec. 17, i860, and her father on Dec. 26,

1878.

Ports L. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
PothoS Theodore, retired, P.O. Peoria.

POTTS GEORGE, brick maker and coal

miner, Pottstown, P. O. Peoria, is a son of Samuel and

Ann Potts, nee Padgeter, and was born in the parish

of Foleshill, England, July 24, 1856, and came to what

is now Pottstown with his parents in 1857. For the

last three years he has been engaged in making brick in

Summer and mining coal in Winter. He married Anna

Cody, and has had by her two children— Samuel, born

Feb. 2, 1877, and Joseph M., born Dec. 21, 1878. Mr.

Potts, like his father, is an energetic business man.

POTTS SAMUEL., coal operator, Pottstown,

was born in Bredon. Leicestershire, England, Dec. 24,

1821. Ann Padgeter, his wife, was born in the parish of

Foleshill, county Warwick, England, March 28, 1831.

They were married in the parish of Foleshill, by Rev,

James Harris, Oct. 13, 1844 ; came to America in

1856 ; stopped in the mining regions of Pennsylvania

until 1857, and then came to Hale's Mill with eleven

dollars in their cash box. Mr. Potts was an experienced

miner and quickly found employment. From a com-

mon miner, with no capital but his industry and Eng-

lish pluck, he has come to be the owner of some two

hundred acres of coal land, and the employer of many

men. His enterprise has developed the coal interests

at Hale's Mill, and made the village at that point, and

has been careful to foster and encourage every under-

taking that promised to result favorably to the county

and township of his home. Politically he is a Demo-

crat ; has served as supervisor. Mr. and Mrs. Potts

have had fourteen children : Hannah, born Nov. 28,

1845, died Oct. 14, 1866 ; Susan, born Nov. 7, 1847 ;

Sarah, March 15, 1850 ; Samuel B., Sept. 6, 1851

;

Mary Ann, March 19, 1853, died Oct. 4, 1854 ;
John,

born Jan. 23, 1855, died Feb. 22, 1855 ; George, born

July 5, 1856 ; Lucy, ;;july 24, 1858 ; John Henry, Feb.

2, i860, died Sept. 16, 1861 ;
Eveline E., born Nov.

17, 1861 ; Isadore Leviney, July 17, 1863, died Sept. 13,

1864 ; Michael, born March 15, 1865, died in early in-

fancy; Eliza Menetta, born Nov. 28, 1866; Leah,

March 31, i86g.

POTTS SAMUEL B. coal operator, Potts-

town, P. O. Peoria, is a son of Samuel and Ann Potts,

nee Padgeter, and was born in the parish of Lowe, Eng-

land, Sept. 6, 1851, and came to America with his
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parents in 1856, and to Pottstown in 1857. In his

eighth year he cominenced to drive a coal team, and

during all the years of his minority worked hard at

whatever his father had in hand. " His opportunities for

going to school were limited, but he made good use of

such advantages as were offered. On the 15th of Feb.

1870, he married Leah, daughter of George and Ann
Randle, nee Woodhouse, who was born in the parish of

Foleshill, England, in July, 1851, and came to Amer-

ica in June, 1865 ; they have had four children : Sam-

uel, born Aug. 25, 1871, died Oct. 26, same year

;

George, born Jan. 24, 1873 ; Lucy Minetta, born June

28, 1875, died July 24, following ; Lillie May, born May
24, 1878. Methodistic predilections. Independent

Democrat.

Powell M. M. coroner, P.O. Peoria.
Powell Wm. E. carpenter and farmer, P.O.'Peoria.

PKITCHAJBD JOHN, farmer, P. O. Ed-

wards Station. '

Pye S. F. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.

KAIfDLE ABKAHAM, farmer. Sec. 35,

P. O. Peoria.

Bice D. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Boelfs J. farmer, P. O.Peorla.
Bosenbolim H. farmer and carpenter, F.O.[Feoria.
Boyster T. coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Butherford Wm. coal operator, P.O. Peoria.
Salter C. gardener, P.O. Peoria.
Sargent Jas. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Sargent Wm. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Saur John, coal miner, P.O. Peoria.
Scliertz P. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Sclimidt F. coal hauler, P.O. Peoria.
Sclinebley G. coal miner, P.O. Peoria.

SCOFIELD JACOB, farmer and stock-

grower. Sec. 29, P. O. Edwards Station. The subject

of this sketch is the eldest son of Samuel and Ann
Scofield, nee Greenough, and was born at Heyworth,

Lancashire, England, December 30, 1821, and was edu-

cated to the local express business, which he followed

until he immigrated to America. On the 14th of

January, 1842, he married Miss Mary, daughter of

Thomas and Ellen Lonsdale, nee Halstead, who was

born the same year with Queen Victoria—February 7,

1819. They immigrated to America in 1844, coming

the entire distance to Peoria, with the exception of the

first eight miles, by sail and steam vessels, arriving on

the I4lh of June, In coming up the Mississippi from

New Orleans they were passengers on the steamer

Macedonia, which took fire just below Natchez and

burned to the water's edge, and from which the pas-

sengers barely escaped with their lives—most of them

with nothing but their night clothes. Scofields lost

nearly all their luggage, but by returning to the burn-

ing boat after he had once got to the shore, Mr. S.

succeeded in securing what money they had, which had

been hidden away in a barrel for safe keeping. When
the Scofields reached their journey's end they had $60,

with which to commence life. After a few days rest

among their friends, Mr, Scofield went to work as a

common laborer at $10 per month, one-half cash, and

one-half store pay. Mrs. S. also went out to service at

$1.50 a week, and worked thus for two years. After

two years of hard times, they purchased forty acres of

land, built a cabin, and commenced for themselves.

Before the cabin was finished, they both fell sick.

Their cabin had neither doors, windows, fire-place nor

cooking-stove. In clear weather those who took care

of them cooked their food out of doors ; when it was

rainy and bad, a plank was lifted from the floor, a fire

kindled there and the cooking done inside. After their

recovery, they set to work with renewed energy and in-

dustry ; and prosperity has followed them to the pres-

ent. Other land was purchased from time to time un-

til they now own 360 acres, which is well improved,

with good stone residence, etc., and well stocked. They

have never had any children, but have adopted and

raised three to manhood and womanhood, and recently

adopted a fourth one—Carrie Barker, a bright-eyed,

pretty and intelligent orphan of twelve years. Mr. and

Mrs. S. are members of the Limestone Episcopal

Church. Politically, Mr. Scofield has always voted

with the Democratic party since he was naturalized.

Scbolf J09. gardener and farmer, F. O. Peoria.
Shoil A. coal operator, P. O. Pelcln.
Sboup A. M. farmer, P. O. Harli:er's Corners.
Sbuttz F. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Sleflies M. farmer,. F. O. Harlter's Corners.

SliOUGH GEOBGE W. farmer and car-

penter, P. O. Peoria.

SliOUGH HENRY CLAY, farmer, Sec. 13,

P. O. Peoria. Son of Jacob and Ann Elizabeth Slough,

nee Cype, was born in the city of Peoria, September

23, 1836. When he was about twelve years of age his

parents removed to Richwoods township, where he

grew to manhood. On the 26th of July, 1857, he

married Miss Maria, daughter of Isaac and Abigail

Pratt, who was born in Peoria county, January 30,

1839, and soon after removed to their present resident.

On the 2d of September, 1862, Mr. Slough enlisted in

Co. E, 77th Illinois, and served three years in defense

of the Union, fourteen months of which time was

spent in the rebel prison at Camp Worth, Texas, where

he suffered all the tortures coarse and scanty rations

could bring. He and his comrades were released from

that prison pen on the 17th of May, 1865 ; reaehing

Springfield about the 2d of June, and were allowed to

come home to spend the Fourth with their families and

friends. They went back to Springfield on the 5th

and were mustered out on the 6th. Since then Mr. S.

has engaged in improving his farm and adding, by

purchase to its original acreage. He now owns 160

acres, valued at $40 an acre. He is Republican in

politics, and liberal in religious belief. They have had

seven children—Edgar H., born September 20, 1858,

died, July, 1859; Maria Louise, born July 11, i860;

Henry Francis, April 7, 1862 ; Abbie Richmond, May
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14, 1866; Ann Elizabeth, December 25, 1867 ; Adelia

Edith, June 4, l86g ; Louis Herbert, December 13,

1874. Mrs. Slough was raised under the religious in-

structions of the M. E. Church.

SLOUGH JACOB W. farmer and stockraiser,

Sec. 13, P. O. Peoria, son of Jacob and Ann Elizabeth

Slough nee Cype, settlers of 1834. Was born in Harris-

burg, Pa., 22d April, 1829, and grew to manhood in

Peoria Co. In April, 1851, he went to California,

remaining four and a half years, coming back in 1855.

He married ist Oct, 1856, Elizabeth Fulton, daughter

ofjosiahand Augusta Fulton nee Hughes, who was

born on the Fulton homestead in Richwoods, 14th June
1836. Her father is now the only surviving pioneer

settler of 1819. Soon after marriage they settled at

their present home, on land his mother entered from

Government in 1836. He remained there about eigh-

teen months, when he started on another trip to Cali-

fornia for his health, and after an absence of nine

months returned in June, 1859, s""! fanned the Slough

homestead until 1866, when he removed to his own place

in Sec. 13, Kickapoo. They have had six children,

William, born igth Nov. 1857, George, 12th March,

i860, Mary A., 29th June, 1862, Emily J., 22d May,

1864, Joseph H., 25th March, 1866, Nellie C, loth

Dec. 1868. Politically, Mr. Slough was a Republican

from the time that party was organized, but about 1878

he became a Greenbacker, and is now strong in that

political belief. While living in Richwoods he held

the offices of town clerk, collector, school trustee, and

school director, and in Kickapoo filled the office of

assessor for four years. He owns 160 acres ofland valued

at $30 an acre.

Smith Catharine, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Smith J. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.

SMITH BOST Mrs. farmer. Sec. 5, P. O.

Kickapoo. Mrs. Smith is the daughter of John and

Catharine Kerrott nee Fagan, and was bom in county

Down, Ireland, 14th October, 1813. Her parents were

farmers and from her earliest years she has been

accustomed to farm life. On the 14th of April, 1833,

she married Patrick Smith, the son of a neighboring

farmer, and the next day started to America. They

first stopped at Albany, New York, and after thirteen

months in that city went to Trumansburg, Tompkins

county, where Mr. Smith engaged as a common laborer

for four years. They then came to Illinois and lived a

few months in the service of Bishop Chase at Jubilee

College. In the Fall of 1838 they came to the neigh-

borhood in which she now lives, and where they pur-

chased their first home, a log cabin which they occupied

seventeen years. Then for two years they lived on a

place now owned by Andrew Heintz, then back to the

old place, and in 1857 occupied the present residence.

Mr. and Mrs. Smith have been intimately associated

with the improvement and development of the country

around Kickapoo. Mr. Smith died 20th January,i86i,

at the s^e of fifty-one years and ten months. Mrs. Smith

has been the mother of fifteen children, eight boys and

seven girls, Francis, born 13th April, 1835, died 2d

November, 1837 ; Mary born 29th July, 1836, married

William Fox in 1863, died 25th September, 1878 ; Cath-

arine born 13th March, 1838, died nth October, 11839;

Anna, born in Peoria loth March, 1839, married Patrick

Bennett in 1861 ; Francis, born 21st November, 1840,

married Miss Margaret Murphy, in September, 1866
;

John, born 12th August, 1842, married Miss Mary Hill,

February, 1868 ; Elizabeth, bom June, 1844, mar-

ried William Murphy in the early Winter of 1863-4 J

Catharine, bom 26th December, 1845, married Richard

Elwood, 28th April, 1868
;
James, born 8th January,

1847 ; Edward, born 12th November, 1848 ; Rosy,

born 7th April, 1850, married Peter Hill, 28th May,

1876 ; William, bom 14th August, 1852 ; Patrick, born

2d June, 1854 ; Margaret, born 30th August, 1856

;

Charles, bom 23d January, 1858. Members of the

Catholic Church. Owns 263 acres of land in the home
place, and twenty acres timber in Sec. 16. Total value

$13,380.

SPUBCK BlilZA AlSTf, farmer, P. O.

Edwards Station ; daughter of John and Patience Van
Horn nee Hanson, was born in Zanesville, Muskingum
county, Ohio, ist December, 1811. On the 2d day of

June, 1831, she married William Spurck (son of Peter

and Mary Spurck) a young merchant of Zanesville.

They came to Illinois and commenced merchandising

in Peoria, continuing until 1855, when they purchased

the farm now owned and occupied by Mrs. Spurck.

The union of William Spurck and Eliza Ann Van
Horn resulted in the birth of seven children : Mary

L. A., born 7th November, 1833 ; Martha, born 12th

November, 1836, who has been twice married. Her

first husband was William JR. Swinnerton, with whom
she crossed the plains to California, being among the

first passengers over the Union Pacific railroad, Mr.

S, died in California, and his widow returned to Kicka-

poo, and four years later married Judge S. Bailey, of

Macomb. Adam, born 25th October, 1839, married

Mary Thompson ; William, born April, 1842, married

Harriet Kingsley, August, 1869 ; Amelia, born 13th

November, 1844, married Nathan F, Heard, of Wor-

cester, Mass.; John V., born i8th of May, 1848, died at

eighteen months ; Cora P,, bom ist November, 1854,

married! Crescens G. Pitt 19th June, 1878
; John L.,

born 9th April, 1857, died at the age of eighteen years

from injuries received by being throvinn from a horse

when he was five'years of age. Mr. Spurck died several

years ago. Mrs. Spurck is a member of the Presby-

terian Church.

STEABS JOaN" P. fanner and stock dealer,
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Sec. 32, P. O. Peoria, is the fourth child and third son

of Richard and Joana Stears, nee Pillman, and was

born in Wuemworthy, Devonshire, England, 2d Octo-

ber, 1837, and was raised as an English farmer. His

education in letters was confined to four years school-

ing between his seventh and eleventh years. At the

latter age he was set to work on the farm, and kept

engaged at that until eighteen years of age. He then

ran away from home, and engaged with a neighboring

farmer at sixty cents a week for seven months, returned

home, and at the age of nineteen joined what was

known as the Yeoman Cavalry. He served seven

years, won the rank of Corporal and then resigned
;

then rejoined his father, and engaged as a farmer and

cattle dealer until his family, consisting of father,

mother, two brothers and three sisters, came to America

in 1869, landing at Peoria on the 8th of May, and set-

tling as above. The father died on the 19th of June

following. His sister Ann died 17th September, 1869

;

the son William died October 10, the same year, and

the mother died 19th March, 1878. On the 8th

of November, 1877, he united in marriage with Mrs.

Angeline H. Manville, nee Beecher, who was born in

Connecticut, 13th May, 1842. She was married to her

first husband 1st day of May, i860, by whom she had

three children : Lillian M. was born 17th February,

1861 ; Eva L., loth August, 1864, and Minnie, 15th

October, 1868. During her widowhood she was post-

mistress at Summerville, this county, from 1873 to

1877. Their union resulted in one child, Richard

Henry, who was born 30th September, 1878. Mr, and

Mrs. Stears were both raised under the religious teach-

ings of the Episcopal Church, are regular attendants

of Christ's Church, near their residence. Mr S. is

Democratic in politics. He owns one hundred and

forty acres of land, valued at $50 an acre.

STEAR RICHARD, farmer and stock grower.

Sec. 32, P. O. Edwards Station, son of Richard and

Joanna Stear, nee Pillman, was born in Devonshire,

England, Sept. 28, 1829, where he was bred a farmer.

He left England in the Spring of 1850, and arrived at

Peoria on the 1st day of June, coming directly to the

neighborhood of his present home, and began as a farm

laborer. He worked one year for John Pillman, and

then started a breaking team following that business for

two seasons. He sold his team and engaged eighteen

months as a farm laborer ; then worked six months as

a coal miner. December 23, 1855, he married Miss

Eliza, daughter of Robert and Ann Ford, nee Western,

who was born in England, Dec. 15, 1834, and came to

America in the Spring of 1855, landing at Peoria on the

8th of May. For several years after marriage they

were farm tenants in Limestone township. In 1867-8,

they bought eighty acres of land where they now live.

Built a cabin, which was their first home, and com-

menced clearing up the farm. A part of the land is

coal bearing, and for two years, in the Winter season,

Mr. Stear mined coal at night and hauled to Peoria by

day, as a means of living. He also operated a thresh-

ing machine, and the first season had one of his feet

crushed in the cogs, which laid him up eleven months.

When sufficiently recovered he resumed his threshing

machine operations for three years, and since then has

been engaged exclusively in farming and stock growing.

He now owns 120 acres, valued at $25 an acre. They have

seven children— John W., born March 22, 1856; Wm.
H., June I, 1858; Thomas, Sept. 2, i860; James, Jan.

9, 1863; Robert, Dec. 21, 1865; Eliza, Feb. 26, 1872,

and Alice Ann, Dec. 16, 1875. Politically he is a

Greenback Democrat.

Straesser C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Straesser J. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Stratton J. Sr. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Straiten J. Jr. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Stratton Joseph, farmer, P.O. Peoria.'
Stratton J. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Swartz J no. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Swords Wm. farmer and lime burner. P. O. Peoria.

STRIIfGER JOHN, farmer. Sec. 9, P. O.

Kickapoo. Is a native of Bullitt county, Ky. He was

the third child of Reuben and Delila Stringer, nu

Owen, and was born on the 3d day of November, 1806.

His father died when he was eight years of age, leaving

the family in humble circumstances. Edward Stringer,

the grandfather of John, with the concurrence of his

children, provided in his will for the liberation of the

slaves he owned; that those who were too young to

care for themselves should be given into the keeping of

humane persons, to be kept until they were twenty

years of age, and then to go free. After the death of

Reuben Stringer, the support of the family fell upon

the widowed mother and the older children. John re-

mained at home with his mother until twenty-one years

of age, his twenty-first birthday occurring on Saturday,

Nov. 3, 1827. Soon after attaining his majority, he

went to Louisville, where, in the Winter of 1827-8, he

drove a team for $7 per month, including boarding and

washing. At that time there was a good deal of excite-

ment about the lead mines of Wisconsin and northwest-

ern Illinois, and John Stringer and John Coyle, who had

married Stringer's only sister, took passage on a steam-

boat early in the Spring of 1828, descended the Ohio

river to the Mississippi, thence up the Mississippi and

Fever rivers to Galena. At Galena a Dr. Hill, of Coss-

ville. Wis., placed the hull of a keel-boat at their dis-

posal, and the rest of the journey to Cossville was made

in that frail craft. They remained at Dodgeville and

vicinity until the beginning of July of the next year,

but did not do more than make a living, and concluded

to abandon the mining region, and to try their luck

somewhere else. They loaded their household effects

on a two-horse wagon, and, without any definite point

in view, journeyed southeast, and reached the present
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site of Mossville on the 15th of July, 1829, where they

halted. At that time Mr. Stringer's possessions con-

sisted of a wardrobe he could carry in a handkerchief,

an ax, and an iron wedge. In the Winter of 1829-30,

he " squatted " on the southwest quarter of Sec. 34, in

what is now Medina township, and commenced to make
farm improvements. That Winter he cleared and

fenced twelve acres, which he plowed and planted to

corn in the Spring of 1830. He made a good crop, and

there has never been a season since that he has not had

com to sell from that farm. By the time the land was

ready for sale, he had made and saved enough to pay

for the land, which still remains in his ownership. In

1832, the Black Hawk war came on, and he was one of

the seventy-five men in the county liable to military

duty, and was elected corporal in Capt. Ead's Peoria

company, and was one of the last men to leave the field

of Stillman's disastrous defeat at Stillman's Run. He
still has in his possession the rifle he carried in that

campaign. On the 27th of June, 1837, he united in

marriage with Miss Elizabeth, daughter of Zed and

Elizabeth Harris of Bullitt county, Ky., where she was

born on the 17th of June, i8i8. They remained at the

Mossville farm until the 6th day of March, 1846, then

removed to the farm they now occupy. Neither Mr.

nor Mrs. S. has ever been inside of a railroad car.

He has never been sued at law, nor his taxes

ever become delinquent. The spirit of Kentucky

hospitality and generosity is ever present in

Mr. Stringer's home. He commenced in the

world with nothing ; but his industry and econ-

omy has rewarded his old age with competence. Their

marital union was honored with five children: Nancy

Ann, born 24th August, 1839, married Christian Keener,

25th March, 1858, died 7th April, 1877 ;
John H., born

31st February, 1843, married Miss Anna M. Grundy^

25th December,i865, diedfrom the effects of an accident-

al gunshot wound, 4th March, 1866 ; Eveline, born 21st

February, 1845, died 15th September, 1854 ; Thomas

F., born 20th April, 1847 ; Mary E., bom 12th May,

1852. Mr. Stringer was raised under the influences of

the M. E. Church, but neither himself or wife are mem-

bers of any religious society. Politically, Mr. S. has

always adhered to the Democratic party. Besides the

Mossville farm, of 175 acres, valued at $40 an acre, he

owns 290 other acres, including the home place, valued

at $50 an acre.

STBIKGEK THOMAS F. farmer, Sec. 9, P.

O. Kickapoo, son of John and Elizabeth Stringer, nee

Harris, was born at the present Stringer homestead,

20th April, 1847. His education was received at the

common district school and plow handle. He is un-

married and devotes his time and industry to the farm

and care and comfort of his parents. He has been

called to fill several positions of local tmst and re-

sponsibility, in all of which he earned the meed of

"well done thou good and faithful servant." He
visited the Pacific Slope in the early part of 1875, and

during the visit acquired a fund of information respect-

ing the country "beyond the Mississippi" and the

Rocky Mountains that is invaluable. In every par-

ticular the subject of this brief sketch is a prototype of

his honored father—an honest man.

THA"YT5R A. W. telegraph operator, rail-

road and express agent, Edwards Station, is the second

son of William T. and Susan Thayer, nee Gear. He
was born at Marshall, Highland county, Ohio, 24th

May, 1841. When he was about fifteen years of age,

his parents removed to Powesheik county, Iowa, and

settled on a farm three years ; then removed to Can-

ton, Missouri, where he entered the office of the Re-

porter newspaper of that city, as apprentice. When
the war of the rebellion came on the Reporter and its

management became of ill-repute, and he quit the

ofiice to seek employment elsewhere ; worked for a.

time in the ofiice of the Quincy Herald, then until

1865, in various other ofiices as a journeyman printer.

In the Fall and Winter of 1864-5, he secured a " case "

in Macomb, where, on the 26th of January, 1865, he

married Miss Martha Walker, who was born in that

city 8th March, 1845. Her parents, John D. and Jane

Walker, nee Sample, were among the first settlers at

Macomb. They remained at Macomb till 1870, part

of the time working as a printer, and part as a farmer

;

then removed to Bardolff, where he engaged as switch-

man, and learning telegraphy. In February, 1872, he

was badly crushed between two cars, from the effects of

which he will never fully recover. In October, 1873,

he had so far recovered as to be able to resume tele-

graphing and other ofiice work, and was assigned to

the agency at Edwards Station. They have had four

children, two living : Willie W., who is learning tele-

graphy, was born 27th January, 1866, and Charles Al-

bert, born 26th March, 1869. Mr. and Mrs. Thayer

are members of the M. E. Church. He is a Republi-

can. His father, eighty years of age, and his mother,

seventy years of age, are members of his family.

Thomas A. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Thorman P. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Thome Jno. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Thornton John, coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Thorp G. farmer, non-resident. P. O. unknown.
Treasure W. coal operator, P. O. Peoria.
Tripe Jno. farmer. P. O, Peoria.
Ulrlch Valentine, hanlcer, P. O. Peoria.
Uphoffi B. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Van Patten G. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Van Patten J. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.

VARDBSr PATRICK, farmer. Sec. 19, P. O.

Edwards Station. Mr. Varden and wife were born in

Ireland. He came to America in 1850, and engaged

as a railroad laborer. March 25, 1852, he married

Judith Carroll, and began life with less than fifty

dollars. They first kept house in what had been a
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railroad boarding shanty, and Mrs. Varden said, " It

seemed a palace, for it was our first home." For six

years he worked on the railroad, or at whatever he
could find to do, and in 1858 settled as above, having
bonght it in 1857. Their united industry and economy
has secured them a good home, and all the comforts of

life. They are members of the Catholic Church, and
Democratic in political, faith. Their land is valued at

J$50 an acre.

VICABY HENRY, farmer and coal miner,

Pottstown, P. O. Peoria. Son of Henry and Ann
Vicary, nee Gipps, was bom at Cornwall, England, May
23i 1833. He was educated as a wool-comber, and in

1851 he came to America and settled in Delaware
county, Penn. ; in 1864 he came to this township and
settled on what is known as Jones' Prairie, engaging as

a farmer and lime-burner two years. In 1866 removed
to Pottstown and engaged in present business. July

3, 1857, he married Elizabeth, daughter of John and
Alice Lonsdale, who was born in Lancashire, England,

August 29, 1839. They have had nine children—
Alice Ann, born in Delaware county. Pa., November 18,

1859, married Jacob Waits, December 25, 1877 ; John,

born January 20, 1862; George Washington, bom
February 22, 1864 ; Ellen, born June 30, 1866 ; Mary,
bora July 5, 1868

;
James, born January 2, 1871, died

in infancy ; Henry, born August 28, 1873 ; William,

born March 7, 1876; James Everett, born August 17,

1879. Mr. and Mrs. Vicary are adherents of the Church
of England. Politically Mr. Vicary is a Republican.

He owns eighty-nine acres of land, a part of which is

coal bearing, and a hotel property, the aggregate value

of which is $10,000.

VOBHEBS JOSEPH, farmer. Sec. 6, P. O.

Kickapoo. Garrett Vorhees, the father of the subject

of this sketch, was born in Somerset county, N. J., on
the 9th day of June, 1763 ; served in the closing years

of the revolutionary war. About 1790, he married

Miss Parsell, and in 1791, immigrated to the West and
settled in Columbia, Hamilton county, O. (Cincinnati

at that time consisting of but a. few cabins, and was

called Fort Washington), and lived there in a station

two years, engaged as a teamster for General Wayne's

army. In 1794 moved to the land which he occupied

at the time of his death, Dec. 14, i86t, in the ninety-

ninth year of his age. He had nine children by his first

wife, and after her death he married a Miss Jerusha,

daughter of Charles Rugg, who was born on Long
Island. The issue of this marriage was three children

— Joseph, Garrett and Harvey. Joseph was bom Feb.

25, 1815, and was raised and educated near Reading,

Hamilton county, C, on the farm where his father died.

In the Fall of 1839 he came to Peoria county, and in

the latter part of that Winter purchased the farm on

which he now lives. On the loth of March, 1840, he

married Miss Sarah, daughter of Minney and Sarah

Rynearson, nee Carroll, who was born near the old vil-

lage of Scipio, Franklin county, Ind., August 19, 1823.

In 1834, she came with her parents to the present site

of Mossville, remaining there three years, and then re-

moved to Rosefield township. After their marriage

they spent about eighteen months in Ohio, then returned

to the home they now occupy. They have had twelve

children— Garrett H., born Jan. 3, 1841, married

April II, 1865, Miss Emily Cook, who was born in

Devonshire, England, Aug. 28, 1843; John R., born

March 23, 1843, died Feb. 23, 1845; Jerusha A., born

Sept. 24, 1845, died March 24, 1847; Laura Ann, bora

July I, 1848, died March 9, 1849; William M., bom
July II, 1851; Algenan S., born Jan. 28, 1854, died

Sept. 7, 1856; Martha Ann, born May 20, 1856, died ,

Oct. 16, 1858; Elizabeth, bom Sept. 30, 1858, died

Nov. 20, following
; Joseph E., bom Nov. 5, 1859, died

April 4, i860; Mariah H., bom Jan 20, 1862, died

March 4 following ; Charles E., born March 8, 1863,

died Aug. 17 of the same year; Joseph M., born

March 29, 1868. Mr. V. is an adherent of the Presby-

terian Church; Mrs. V. of the Methodist Church.

Politics, Greenback. He owns 470 acres of land, val-

ued at $40 an acre. Mrs. V. owns eighty acres in her

own right, valued at $ 50 an acre.

Wakerly A. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Walker Wm. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Walter S. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Walters Jacob, farmer. P.O.[PeorIa.
Ward Jas. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Ward P. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

WANTIilNG ISAAC, coal operator, Edwards

Station.

Weers W. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

"WELIiS JACOB H. retired, P. O. Kickapoo,

son of Thomas and Judith Wells, nee Colby, was born

in Newchester, now Hill, New Hampshire, June 3,

i8n. He comes of a long lived race, his father living

to past eighty years. In 1824 he removed to West

Randolph, Vt., and while there worked out among the

farmers until 1834, when, for two y,ears, he drove a six-

horse team, freighting from Vermont to Boston and

back. April 3, 1836, he was married to Susan L. Con-

nor, of Andover, N. H. In 1838 he removed to Illi-

nois, settling in that year in what is now Rosefield

township, Peoria county, and is therefore one of the

oldest settlers in the county. He has had three chil-

dren, two girls and a boy— Susan Christina, born Oct.

9, 1842, died Oct. 18, 1843; Jacob Baxter, bora June

10, 184s, now in the railroad ticket office at Kansas

City ;
Emma Medora, born April 12, 1847, died Oct.

20, 1872. His wife, Susan L., died Feb. 11, 1849. She

taught the first school ever taught in Rosefield town-

ship, in the Benj. Miller neighborhood, in the Winter

of 1842-3. After the death of his first wife, Mr. Wells

removed to Kickapoo township, March 29, 1866, and
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was married to Jane R. Dawson, formerly McClandish,

who died Aug. 27, 1877. While he lived in Rosefield

he filled the office of constable, and was elected to the

same office in Kickapoo, He has also filled the office

of town supervisor two years and a half, six months by

appointment and two years by election. Since i86qhehas

filled the office of town clerk. In politics he is a Green-

backer. Mr. Wells is a noble representative of a class

of mem fast fading out. He was honest, trustworthy,

and possessed the confidence of his immediate fellow

citizens, always holding some office of trust and re-

sponsibility.

West B. coal miner, F. O. Feorla.
West Wm. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Whltlon S. R. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Wilson Walter, coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Winters G. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Witbelm J. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.

WHITTBMORE DA]!fIEL, farmer. Sec.

23, P. O. Peoria ; son of Daniel and Sarah Whittemore,

nee Corgin, was born at Thomson, Windham county,

Conn., October 5, 181s, where he grew to manhood

with such educational advantages as the country and

the times afforded. After he was twenty-one years of

age, he served three years at the trade of shoemaker;

and on May 2, 1841, he married Betsy, daughter of Job

and Betsy Irish, nee O'Brien, who was born at Goshen,

Conn., September 7, 1814. In May, 1848, they came

to Illinois, and settled on section 11, this township;

two and a half years later, removed to section 23. In

1854, in consequence of bad health, he sold out, took a

tour through Iowa and Wisconsin, returned and pur-

chased his present farm, and settled down to the hard

work of clearing up another farm. He has had four

children : Nancy Jane, born February 5, 1842, married

Frederick Winkler, July 20, i860'; Daniel Eugene,

born August 2, 1846, died April 18, 1848 ; Delancy,

bom August 12, 1848 ; Sarah Lugene, born December

6, 1851, married George H. Peterson, December 6,

1877. Mrs. Whittemore died July 15, 1873. Mr.

Whittemore devoted several years to the study of

botany, adopting Gray's manual as his text book, and

has become familiar with all flora native to the town-

ship. The Whittemore estate consists of 100 acres,

valued at $35 an acre. Protestant in religion. Inde-

pendent Republican.

WILKINSON J. H. M. D., Edwards Station,

is a son of Joseph and Eliza Wilkinson, nee Harlon,

and was born in Warren county, Ohio, July 20, 1823.

In 1828, his parents removed to Indiana and settled in

Parke county, where he worked on his father's farm

until his sixteenth year, at which time he entered In-

diana Asbury University at Greencastle, where he

spent five years teaching school at intervals as a means

of support. Soon after passing his twenty-first birth-

day, he commenced the study of medicine with Drs.

Allen and Weaver, at Rockville, in Parke county ; at-

tended lectures at the Louisville Medical College and

graduated in three years. In 1848, he came to Kicka-

poo village and commenced practice, which he success-

fully prosecuted for thirty years, when he retired to

take general management and oversight of his farms,

coal mines and store at Edwards Station. He owns

about one thousand acres of valuable farm and coal

land, the average value of which is about $75 per acre.

He married Miss Isadore E. Edwards, daughter of

Thomas and Elenor Edwards, nee Scott, who was born

in Hampshire county, Virginia, May 19, 1829. Her

parents came to what is now Rosefield township in the

Spring of 1835. Dr. and Mrs. Wilkinson have no

children. They are members of the M. E. Church and

active Sabbath school and temperance workers. Poli-

tically, he is a Republican.

Wolfslag J. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Wooland E. coal operator. P. O. Feorla.

ZEBWEKH FAMILY, farmers. Sec. 22, P.

O. Peoria. The mother of this respected family is

Rosina, daughter of Moritz and Dorothea Steinle, nee

Wilnsch, and was born at Unterturkheim.Wurtemberg,

Germany, 23d February, 1823, and on the 20th day of

July, 1843, was married to John Jacob, son of George

and Christina Zerwekh, nee 'Diener, who was born in

the same town 28th April, 1820. This marriage united

two of the first families of their native town, the por-

traits of their immediate ancestors being accorded a

place in the royal art gallery. Mr. Zerwekh was a

vine-yardist and co-owner of a cement quarry. In the

Winter of 1852-3 he disposed of his interest in Ger-

many, and immigrated to America, arriving at Ha-

gerstown, Maryland, on the nth day of April, 1853,

where they remained a year ; then came to Peoria

county and purchased a home in Sec. 23, this township,

which they occupied until 1874. They had some

means, which, with economy and industry, enabled

them to secure a good and comfortable home. In

the Fall of 1864, Mr. Zerwekh was drafted into the

army, and on the 28th of November bade his family

good-bye, and joined the regiment. He was taken sick

soon after he reached Chattanooga, Tenn., and'died in

hospital at that place, 25th January, 1865. Mr. and

Mrs. Zerwekh had eleven children that grew to man-

hood and womanhood, and one that died in early

infancy ; Jacob G., born i8th February, 1844 ,married

Mariah Whiting, 20th October, 1871 ; Rosina D., born

29th November, 1846; John, nth April, 1848, married

Mary Whiting, 29th November, 1874; Christian F.,

born 6th September, 1849, died from injuries received

by a kick from a horse, 24th September, 1867 ; Wilhel-

mina J., born l8th December, 1850, married Michael

Bauer, 3d December, 1874. (Mr. Bauer died in

Wichita county, Kansas, from p«ison administered by

a man named Conway, 31st December, 1879.) Chris-
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tiana D., born 30th March, 1852, married Charles Bus-

chow, i8th February, 1878 ; "William, bom 24th March,

1854; Henry, born gth January, 1856 ; August, born 1st

May, 1858, and Carl, born gth May, 1863. On the 14th

of December, 1865, Mrs. Zerwekh re-married with

George Henry Graze, by whom she had one child.

Christian F., who was born 28th March, 1869. In
March, 1874, the family removed from the old home
place on Sec. 23 to their present residence, where Mr.

Graze, the second husband, died 24th March, 1875.

On the 28th of April, 1873, Mrs. Z. left Peoria to visit

her old father and old home in Germany, her father

then being eighty-three years of age. Her father died

in 1879, aged eighty-eight years, Mrs. Z. owns one

hundred and sixty acres of land, valued at $35 per acre.

The family are adherents of the German Lutheran

Church.

LIMESTONE TOWNSHIP.

Abele V. shoemaker, P. O. Elckapoo.

AWL. CHARLiES S. farmer, Sec. 5, P.O. Peo-

ria, was born in Northumberland county, Penn., 1st

Aug., 1808, his parents being Samuel and Mary Awl,

nee McClay. At the age of seventeen, he was appren-

ticed for three years to the trade of a hatter, at the ex-

piration of which he traveled several years as a journey-

man. The 1st Nov., 1832, he married Lucy, daughter

of Stephen Duncan, born in Lycoming county, Penn.,

5th Sept., 1812. In 1833 they came to Peoria and re-

mained two years and a half On the 1st Aug., 1836,

moved to a tract of land he had entered of government,

in Sec. 22, and in 1845, located on his present farm.

He was among the first settlers in this township, and

attended the first school meeting ever held, and has

been prominently identified with the affairs of the town-

ship since. He served as constable two years and a

half, and filled the office of justice of the peace for

twenty years, besides filling other local offices. He has

had nine children : Ann Ellen, born 24th Aug., 1833,

married to Thomas Bohanan ; Lucy D., l6th Feb. 1835,

married Wm, H. Bohanan ; George Washington, 29th

May, 1837, married Eliza Elliott ; Martha Jane, 24th

July, 1839, married George Andrews ; Mary McClay,

1st — , 1841, died 22d Dec, 1858 ; Harriet Louisa,

23d Oct., 1843, married James Nicholas ; Charles Sam-

uel, 3rst Jan., 1845 ; William McClay, i6th March,i847;

Robert Harris, 27th Dec. 1853, married Lucinda Jones.

Mr. Awl is a Democrat, and in religion a Free Thinker.

Atwood'W. farmer, P.!0. Peoria.
Bally Ann, farmer, P. O. Elckapoo.

BAXL EDWARD, coal operator. Sec. 26, P.

O. Peoria, is a son of Samuel and Sarah Ball, nee Kare,

and was born in Mercer county, Penn., 8th Aug., 1850,

and came with his parents to Peoria county when he

was two years old, and has ever since lived in the

neighborhood of his present home. January 27, 1874,

he married Colona Andfirson, daughter of Colbert and

Juliet Anderson, nee Trial, who was born May 31st,

1855. They have three children : Isola, Sarah L. and

Sa;nuel.

BAKNBBOOK ISAIAH, miner, P. O.

Peoria.

Batt 0. W. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

BARTON WM. C. H. farmer and distiller.

Sec. 25, P. O. Peoria. Is a son of Vincent and Mary

Ann Barton, nee Wright, and was born in Licking

county, O., 14th May, 1818. His parents came to Illi-

nois, and arrived at Farm creek on the evening of

Dec. 24, 1825. His father was a millwright, and came

to build the Hamlin mill. In 1830, the elder Barton

and D. Matthews secured a charter for a ferry at the

Narrows, when the Barton family removed to the Peoria

side of the river. In 1832, removed on the farm now
occupied by Vincent Miller. In December, 1834, the

father died, after which William began life on his own

account, working wherever he could find employment.

In 1838, he engaged in Aiken's sawmill, since when he

has been nearly always connected with milling inter-

ests. His home farm was made from a dense forest,

250 to 300 acres of which is now as clean and smooth

as a virgin prairie. In the Fall of 1878, he bought an

interest in the Kickapoo sour-mash distillery. The
establishment was re-modeled, re-fitted, and success-

fully run until an explosion of the steam boilers, in the

latter part of February, i88o, rendered it a complete

wreck, and involved a financial loss of several thousand

dollars. Politically, Mr. B. is a Republican. He has

served three terms as supervisor from his township.

On June 9, 1850, he married Ann, daughter of Isaac

and Catharine Rickets, nee Mounts, who was born near

Rising Sun, Ind., igth June, 1834. They have had five

children, John T., born April, 1852, died at five weeks
;

Henry S., born igth November, 1853, married Mary

Jane Bickerton, of Arkansas, 31st December, 1879

;

Nancy Jane, born 14th October, 1857, married Samuel

Brewer, 28th March, 1877 ; Alice, born 20th March,

i860, died 20th December, same year ; William Warren,

born 31st December, 1864. Mr. Barton owns about

1,000 acres of land, valued at $50 an acre. While

the Barton family lived on the Miller place, as men-



LIMESTONE DIRECTORY. 787

tioned above, one of the younger brothers, aged about

five years, strayed away from home one day, became

lost, and perished in the woods. It was several days

before his body was found.

Becker A. saloon, P. O. Klckapoo.
Behrnes M. H. Mrs. retired, P. O. KIckapoo.
Beminan F. farmer and merchant, P. O, KIckapoo,

BENSON JOHN Rev. rector Limestone

Episcopal Church, Sec. 5, P. O. Peoria. Is a native of

England, and came to Peoria county and the immediate

vicinity of his present residence, in 1834.

Best P. farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Bishop Henrv, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Bocklns .Tacob, farmer, P, O, Edwards Station.
Bone John Q. clerk recorder's office, P. O. Peoria.
Bortz P. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Brady John Mrs. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Brooks W. J. farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Brown J. mall contractor and farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Bontz Phil, farmer, P. O, Peoria.
Bttllard B, 6, H. farmer and constable, P. O. Peoria.
Campbell Elizabeth, farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Carrlgan Ann, farmer, P. O. Ktckapoo.
Carter G. W. constable, P. O. KIckapoo.
Cashln Wm. carpenter, P. O. Kl< kapoo.
Chambers John, farmer, P, O. Peoria,
Chrlstain Valentine, farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Coats R. laborer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Cochran Joseph, farmer, P, O, Peoria.
Cochran B. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

COIiLIEK JOSEPH, coal miner. Sec. 25,

P. O. Peoria.

Conner C. butcher, P. O, KIckapoo.
Clancy B. farmer and miner, P. O. Peoria.
Dlckensblde L. retired, P. O. KIckapoo.
DImon Samuel, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Dombuueh J. carpenter, P. O. KIckapoo.
Dory M.larmer, P. O. Peoria.
Dunseth J. C. mason, P. O. KIckapoo.
Esple Martha, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

FASH CHARLES, blacksmith and farmer.

Sec. 2, P. O. Peoria, was born in the city of New
York, June 10, 1828. His parents, Daniel and Phoebe

Fash nee Campbell came to Illinois in 1835. Their

objective point was the neighborhood of Farmington,

in the Harkness settlement. At that time there was

neither Indian trail nor road to guide them, and the

country was an almost undisturbed wild. In 1850

they removed to Sec. 2, this township, after which

Charles Fash served three years at the trade of black-

smith with Richard Heaton, in Peoria. November 19,

1849, he married Frances Jane, daughter of J. W. and

Abigail Smith nee Bixler, who was born in Ohio, May

9, 1829. In 1852 they went to Knoxville, and in 1854

crossed the plains to California. For one thousand

miles of the trip Mr. Fash walked and carried his first-

born on his back. After bearing five children Mrs.

Fash died. May 6, 1867. The children were : Frances

O., born Oct. 27, 1852, died Sept. i, 1853, Adraella R.,

born April 25, 1854, died March 6, 1864 ; Sarah A.,

born July 27, 1857, married Hugh Hart, May, 1879

;

John D., born Sept. 8, i860 ; Philip Sheridan, born

April 10, 1865. In August after his wife's death Mr.

Fash left California and returned to Knoxville, reach-

ing there Sept. 16. Sept. 15, 1868, he married Miss

Mary, daughter of Eli and Matilda Cover nee Bream.

This marriage is without issue. In 1874 they removed

from Knoxville and settled as above. Mrs. Fash is a

member of the Lutheran Church. Politically, Mr.

Fash is Independent, with Republican sympathies. He
owns fifty-seven acres of land, valued at $35 an acre.

FASH HENRY, farmer. Sec. 11, P. O. Peoria,

is a son of Daniel and Phoebe Fash, nee Campbell, and

was born in Peoria county, near Farmington, about

1842, and bred as a farmer. The 12th of February,

i860, he married Lavina, daughter of Matthew and

Jane Harris, born in London, England, October 26,

1841, and brought by her parents to America when she

was eight months old. They began farm life on the

bluff near Peoria. In July, 1867, they went to Miss-

ouri, but returned in October, 1869, and settled where

they now live. They have had eight children— Katie,

born September 23, 1861 ; Thomas Henry, born July

23, 1863
;

Jennie Stella, born August 5, 1865 ; Addie

Lois, born August 24, 1867, died September 20, 1868
;

Addie Lois, (2,) born October 4, i86g ; Charles Wil-

liam, born March 8, 1872, died December 5, 1876
;

Lizzie May, born October 11, 1877, died December 3,

1876 ; Andrew Daniel, born August 3, 1878. In re-

ligion they lean to the Methodists. In politics Mr.

Fash is of Republican proclivities. Has been constable

six years.

Forney Jesse Y. farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.
Foulk J. L. C. harness maker, P. O. KIckapoo.
Frye Henry, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Oenr John, farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Glllls Ignitz, farmer, P. O. KIckapoo.

GOODRICH RUFUS C. farmer, Sec. 8, P.

O. Peoria. The subject of this mention is the third

son and fourth child of James B. and Mary Goodrich,

nee Clark, and was born in Portsmouth, Scioto county,

Ohio, December 19, 1817. His father was a. common
laborer, and as fast as his children grew large enough

they were put to work to assist in supporting the fam-

ily. When Rufus C. was about ten years of age the

father went as help on a flat boat to New Orleans, and

sickened and died in that city, leaving his wife and

eight children. The next eight years were full of

struggles and trials to the Goodrich family, but at the

end of that time they rented a farm, which was man-

aged in the main by Rufus. In the meantime he traded

a horse to Gen. William Kendall, then post master at

Portsmouth, for the 160 acres of land upon which he now
lives. On the i6th day of April, 1848, soon after his

mother's death, he reached Peoria on his way to see

and occupy his land, and immediately commenced its

improvement. He had but little means and worked by

the month, day or job, wherever he could get work to

do, to earn means to pay for such work on his land as

he could not do himself. His home place is valued at

$50 an acre. Besides this he owns 160 acres in Miss-

ouri, On the 23d day of January, 1853, he married

Mariah P., daughter of George W. and Elizabeth Fash,

nee Hill, who was born in the city of New York, May
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I4> 1833, by whom he has had ten children— Mary
Jane, born June 22, 1854, died 17th of August follow-

ing; Sarah Ann, born August 24, 1855; Henry T.,

born September 4, 1857 ;
James K., born July 3, 1859,

died January 24, 1861 ; William F., born April 21,

1861
; John E., born February 27, 1863 ;

Joseph J.,

born September 11, 1865 ; Mariah E., born November

9, 1867 ; Benjamin A., born September 29, 1871 ; Em-
ma D., born January 3, 1874. The parents are mem-
bers of the M. E. Church. Politically Mr. Goodrich is

an ardent Republican.

Gordon A. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Graze Paul F. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

GRATEVANT ALBERT, farmer and coal

operator, P. O. Peoria.

GREENWOOD CHARLES, farmer, Sec.

16, P. O. Peoria ; son of Thomas and Isabella Green-

wood, nee Thompson, was born in Cumberland county,

England, December 22, 1824. His father was a butcher

and small farmer. Charles remained at home and was

kept at school until he was fifteen years old, when he

was apprenticed to Capt. John Gates, master of the

barque " Rosalind," to learn sea craft. He served four

years as an apprentice, two years as third mate, a little

more then two years as second mate, and two years as

first mate, during which time he sailed to almost every

known port. Five years of this time he was on the

"Australia" a 1,000 ton ship. In 1850, he shipped on

the " Queen of London " as second mate for New Or-

leans, where he arrived June loth, and came to Peoria

on a steamboat as deck hand, reaching here about July

1st. Since then he has resided in Peoria county, for

two years working as a farm hand, wherever he could

find work to do. In 1852, he purchased eighty acres

included in his present home-place, which now consists

of 210 acres, valued at $to,;oo. The loth of

December, 1851, he married Mrs. Anna Peters, nee

Campen, widow of John C. Peters,[who died of cholera

in Peoria, in 1849. They have no children, but they

have raised two, John Peters, son of Mrs. G. by her

first husband, and Maggie Campen, niece of Mrs. G.

Mrs. Greenwood is a member of the German Lutheran

Church, Mr. G. is a Presbyterian. Politically he is a

Republican ; has been school director many years.

Gregory G. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Heberger C. blacksmith, P. O. Klckapoo.
Harrola 0. shoemaker, P. O. Klckapoo.
Hall O. A. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Heaton E, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Hetntz A. farmer, F. O. Klckapoo.
Helntz Andrew, Jr., farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Heintz C. H. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Helutz F. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Heintz Geo. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Heintz Henry, farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Hoffman N. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Hoffman P. farmer, P. O. Feorla.
Howarth Richard, farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Howarth John, farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.

JONES CHARLES P., farmer. Sec. 3, P. O.

Peoria, born in Kickapoo township, July 5, 1849, where

he was educated and grew to manhood. His parents

were Henry W. and Rebecca Jones, nee Miller. Charles

inherited a natural aptitude from his father for me-
chanics, and can make almost any thing that can be

made of wood or iron. The 17th of November, 1869,

he married Caroline, daughter of John and Ellen Daily,

nee Finger, who was born in Rosefield township, Dec.

15, 1852. They have both always lived in the neigh-

borhood where they were born. They have six chil-

dren : John H., born Oct. 6, 1870; Rebecca E., Oct.

23, 1871 ; Charles R., March 17, 1873 ; Timothy B.,

Nov. 22, 1874 ; Liva, May 23, 1876 ; Thos. R., March

10, 1878. Mrs. J. is an adherent of the Catholic

Church ; Mr. J. of the Episcopal. In politics inde-

pendent.

Jones H. W. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Jones S. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Jones W. coal miner, P. O. Peoria.
Keller John, harnessmaker, P. O. Klckapoo.

KENTra;DY JAMES, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

Keough Jas. retired, P. O. Kickapoo.
Keoi}gh T^homas, coal miner, P. O. Klckapoo.
Kingsley Chas. M. farmer. P. O. Edwards Station.
Klngsley Fanny farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Kingsley Mary, farmer. P. O. Peoria.
Klngsley John, farmer, P. O. Peoria. •

Kock Geo. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Koerner G. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Krepling W. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Lange E. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Laser A farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Lazelle W. P. retired, P. O. Peoria.
Lonsdale Richard, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Mangan M. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Mansfield N. retired, P. O. Peoria.
Marie Joseph, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Marie M. retired, P. O. Peoria.

MATTHEWS R. J. constable, P. O. Peoria.

McCluggage J. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

McCRBADY JAMES, miner, P. O. Peoria.

Mear L. farmer and hotel, P.O. Edwards Station.
Mitch Fred, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Mitchell W. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.

MOFFATT AQUILLA, farmer and coal

miner. Sec. 25, P. O. Peoria, is a son of Benj. F. and

Nancy Moffatt, nee Risden, born October 8, 1837. His

father came to Peoria in June, 1822. During the lead

mining excitement about 1826-7, he removed to Jo
Daviess county, settling near Scales' Mound, where

the subject of this sketch was born. The family

moved back to Peoria in 1854, where Aquilla grew to

manhood, receiving such educational advantages as

the district schools afforded. At the beginning of the

war of the rebellion he enlisted in one of the first com-

panies oflFered, but more men enlisted than could be

used, and the company disbanded. Later, when the

draft came on, he was enrolling officer, for two drafts.

In February, 1865, he enlisted in the 14th Illinois

Infantry, Company G., and served about nine months.

On his return home, he resumed farming and coal

mining. On July 3, 1861, he was united in marriage

to Mary, daughter of Samuel and Sarah Ball, nee Kear,

who was born in South Wales, June 6, 1843, and came

with her parents to America, about 1849, and to Peoria

county in 1852. They have had eight children, two of

whom died in early, infancy. The living are : Frank-
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lin A., born April 27, 1862 ; Edward A., born February

l6, 1864; Sarah J., born October 18, 1865; Effie,

born May 20, 1867 ; Samuel, born May 8, 1871 ; Anna
S„ born August 27, 1873. Mr. Moffatt belongs to the

M. E. Church. In politics he is Republican.

MOFFATT JOSEPH, miner, P. O. Peoria.

MONROE JAMES, miner, P. O. Peoria.

The Monroe family consisted of father, mother, three

sons and eight daughters. All of them, except one

married son and two married daughters, immigrated

from Susquehanna county, Penn., in the year 1836,

and landed in Peoria on the fifth day of September of

that year. The married son and two married daughters

and families followed a few years later. They settled

on the extreme eastern border of Limestone township,

where their occupation consisted of farming, milling

and jobbing. Permelia, the youngest daughter, died

in the year 1843, aged thirteen years ; Kessiah, the

second daughte^, died in 1845—Mr, Aldrich, (heii hus-

band) and family, have since resided in Chenango

county, N. Y. ; Lois, the mother of the family, died in

the year 1848 ; Anson, eldest son, died in the year

1849—^ P^'')^
°f ^'^ family still resides in Limestone

township
; John, the second son, died in California in

1849, at the age of thirty-six years ; Samuel Monroe,

father of the family, died in the year i860, aged eighty

years ; Emeline Monroe, nee Morse-Carothers, died

June 8, .1879, and members of her family reside in

Whiteside and Hancock counties. Ills., and Neosho

county, Kansas ; Caroline Monroe, nee Hulse, seventh

daughter, died January 10, 1880—her husband and

family now reside in Cowley county. State of Kansas.

Those who still survive are Eliza, eldest daughter, age

seventy-two, and Mrs. Charlotte Monroe, nee ShoU,

third daughter, resides in Pekin, Ills.; Mrs. Mary A.

Monroe, nee Woodruff, sixth daughter, lives in the city

of Peoria. James Monroe, third son, of Limestone

township, Peoria county, is widely known throughout

the south part of Peoria county, from the fact of his

long residence here, and also from having been engaged

in the milling business and in various official positions

in the township of Limestone. He is now running his

coal mine near his residence. The Monroes were of

Scotch descent, and Democratic in politics.

Mosinger M. farmer, P.O. Kickapoo.
Mulvaney 0. blacksmith, P.O. Klokapoo.
Nevll Catharine, P.O. Klckapoo.
Paff H. T. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Peterson G. farmer, P.O. Peoria.

PETERSEN JOHN R. horticulturist. Sec.

26, P. O. Peoria. Son of Peter I. and Geeske Peter-

sen, nee Roelfs ; was born in Pilsen, Kingdom of Han-

over, Germany, 14th November, 1838. He came to

America with parents in 1853, who settled in the im-

mediate vicinity of his present residence, and where

John grew to manhood, as a farmer. He commenced

working among the farmers soon after coming to Amer-

ica, and continued industriously at that business until

he was of age, without the privilege of attending

school. On the 20th of May, 1867, he married Marga-

ret, daughter of William and Nora Price, nee Baldwin,

born in Wales, 28th December, 1839. Her parents

came to America when she was about five years of age,

and settled at Frostberg, Maryland, and in 1855 she

went to West Virginia, remained there about eight

years, and came to Peoria in the Spring of 1865, and in

1867 was married. They settled on the place they

still occupy, and engaged in the culture of small fruits,

and own twenty-two acres of land, which is exclusively

devoted to this business, and which has been made re-

muneratively productive. Valued at $100 per acre.

They both belong to the South Limestone M. E.

Church. Politically Mr. P. is independent.

PlUman J. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Powers John, farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Pratt B. O. farmer and hotel, P.O. Peoria.
Prontsman F. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Badley B. merchant, P.O. Peoria.
Bamlle A. farmer and coal miner, P.O. Peoria.

ROELFS JOHN, farmer. Sec. 26, P. O. Peoria.

Born in Groothazen, Province of Hanover, Germany,

3d August, 1841. His parents, Simon and Margaret

Roelfs, nee Smid, came to America in 1850, and in the

Spring of 185 1 settled at Peoria. In the Fall located

on the northwest quarter of Sec. 26, where John grew

to manhood as a farmer, receiving the advantages of

the district school. The l6th January, 1870, he mar-

ried Etta, daughter of John and Aje Riemann, nee

Hatterman, who was born in Wognard, Hanover, Ger-

many, 3d March, 1841, and came to America in 1868.

They first settled at their present home, a part of the

Roelfs homestead. They have had four children, none

of them surviving infancy. Mr. and Mrs. R. are not

communicants of any church. Politically Mr. R. is a

Democrat. He has been school treasurer since 1874,

and has handled $33,000, accounting for every cent.

Mr. R.'s father was born in 1796, and is hale and

hearty. His mother died in 1866, in her 66th year.

gchlink John B. farmer, P.O. Klckapoo.
Schllnk V. retired, P.O. Klckapoo.
Schmidt Adam, farmer, P.O. Klckapoo.
Schmidt Johannes, farmer, P.O.KIckapoo.
Schmidt Laurenz, farmer, P.O. Klckapoo.
Schmuck J. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

SCHULZ FREDERICK W. justice of the

peace and coal miner. Sec. 13, P. O. Peoria ; son of

John Frederick and Louisa Schulz, nee Wagener ; was

born in Berlin, Prussia, April 16, 1829. He learned

the trade of a machinist, serving seven years, and came

to America June 13, 1851. He first settled in Dodge

county, Wisconsin, thence came to Peoria county, in

June, 1865, and settled as above. He engaged as man-

ager and bookkeeper for his brother, August Shuiz,

who was operating the coal bank now managed by

Frederick Mohn. His brother died in April, 1875, and

he continued to manage the business in the interest of

the widow for a time, when he commenced mining on
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his own account, and is still so engaged. December

26, 1868, he was married to Martha Ashue, who was

born in Westminster, London, England, August 25,

1835, and came to America with her parents, William

and Mary Fowler, nee Tipper, in 1845. The marriage

is without children. Politically Mr. Schulz is a Dem-
ocrat. He was elected justice of the peace in April,

1877, for a term of four years ; is also school director.

Religiously, he is a Free Thinker. His wife was a

member of the Baptist Church.

Secretin C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Shapley John, physician, P.O. Klckapoo,
Shocte Wm. farmer. P.O. Kickapoo.
Shoup John, farmer, P.O. Edwards Station.

SHOUP ABRAM M. farmer. Sec. 23, P. O.

Harker's Corners. This native lUinoisan is a son of

Abram and Sarah Shoup, nee Crittenden, and was born

in Fulton county, December 12, 1844. When he was

a lad his parents removed to Hancock county, and

settled near Cartfiage, where he grew to manhood as

a farmer, with such educational advantages as were of-

fered by the district schools. In 1861 he enlisted in

what was intended to be the Black Hawk Cavalry, but

the company became the nucleus of the 7th Missouri

Cavalry regiment. At the expiration of three years

the remains of the regiment re-enlisted as veterans and

consolidated with the First Missouri Cavalry, and

served to the close of the war. He was mustered out

at Little Rock, Ark., September i, 1865 ; returned to

Hancock county and remained until 1867, when he

£ame to this township. August 13, 1868, he married

Henrietta, daughter of Cooley G. and Elizabeth Ann

Curtis, nee Neson, who was born in Woodford county,

August 31, 1849. Her parents settled on the place

now occupied by her and her husband in 1851. They

were in easy financial circumstances and left each of

their children a good farm or its equivalent. Their

marital union resulted in three children— Regenla

Belle, born August 17, 1870; James Franklin, March

7, 1873, and Joseph Harvey, born March 20, 1877.

Protestant. Politically Mr. S. is a Democrat. The

farm consists of 400 acres, valued at $35 an acre.

Smith John, farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Smith John W., farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Steer Richard, fanner, P. O. Edwards Station.
Stevens R,, farmer, P. O. Peoria,
Stinger Frank, Jr., farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Strasbaugh Louisa, seamstress, P. O. Kickapoo.
SwinbaskyP., farmer, P.O. Kickapoo.
Swink John W.. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Syetz T., tobacconist. P. O. Kickapoo.
Thomas J. A., farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Vanatsdale John, farmer. P. O. Peoria.
Varden P.. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Ylckary H., coal operator and farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Voorhees J., farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Watters H.. farmer. P. O. Peoria.
WhltingJWm., farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Winter P.. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Window F. W., laborer, P. O, Kickapoo,

WHITE CHARLES, Sec, 13, P. O. Peoria.

WOIiLAKD EDWIN, coal operator, P. O.
Peoria.

Young A., merchant, P. O. Kickapoo.
Young Henry 0., physician, P. O. Kickapoo.
Zeman Gasper F., shoemaker, P. O. Kickapoo.
Zerwekh J., farmer, P. O. Peoria.

LOGAN TOWNSHIP.

Barlow S. T. farmer, P. O. Trlvoli.
Beecher A. H. farmer, P. O. Summerville.
Blandln F. A. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Bobanan J. G. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Bourne S. J. Mrs. farmer. P. O. SmlthvlUe.

BROOKS S. W. farmer, S6c. 28, P. O. Smith-

ville. Son of William and Elizabeth (Irwin) Brooks,

father a native of Pennsylvania, mother of Ireland.

They emigrated from York Co., Pa., to Highland Co.,

Ohio in l8lg, where they raised a family of five sons

and two daughters. The subject of this sketch was

born in York Co., Pa., on the 4th day of April, 1812.

Married Miss Percilla, daughter of John Turbett, born

in Fairfield Co,, Ohio, July i, 1S17, Five children

blessed their union, three living, John B., Henry M.,

Thos. C. John B., is a graduate of the Homoepathic

College in New York city, and has for four years been

practicing medicine in Hot Springs, Ark. Mr. and

Mrs. Brooks are members of the Presbyterian Church,

Mr. B. was at the organization of the township and

was one of the first justices of the peace elected. Mr.

B. has succeeded in accumulating a fine property. Had
three sons in the Union army.

BROOKS W. A. farmer, Sec. 28, P. O. Smith-

ville. Was born in Highland Co. Ohio, on the 8th day

of August, 1821, reared on a farm and was educated in

the common school. At the age of nineteen learned

the blacksmith trade which he followed for four years,

then came to Illinois in 1845. In 1848, married Miss

RosannaF., daughter of John McCuUough, She was

born in Adams Co., Ohio, July 15, 1830. Eleven child-

ren blessed this union, nine of which are still living,

three girls and six boys, viz., John I,, Wm. H., Robt.

W., Martha J., James A., Elizabeth Wren, Rosa P.,

Thos. W,, Chas, W,, all of which are living in the town-

ship. They are members of the Presbyterian Church.

Mr. B. had 260 acres of land, 200 of which is in a high

state of cultivation. Valued at $13,000.
Buchanan John, farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Buchanan W. V., P. O. Smithville.
Buck W. J. farmer P. O. Harker's Corners.

COLTER GEORGE, blacksmith and jobber,

P. O. Smithville, is the son of Richard and Cynthia

(Gurnsey) Colter, mother a native of Vermont and

father of Canada. Mr. C. was born in Hastings Co.,
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Canada West, on the i2thof June, 1844. Was reared

and educated a farmer. In 1864 came to Illinois and

worked in Elmwood a short time, then went to Far-

mington, Fulton Co., remaining three years. Thence

to Trivoli and to Peoria, and in 1876 came to Smith-

ville where he still resides. Married Miss Mary Mon-
lux, who was born in Muskingum Co., Ohio, Nov. 27,

1849. George . E., Ida Blanch, Herbert Lee, and

Harry have been born to them. Mr. and Mrs. Colter

are members of the M. E. Church.

CoUough W. T. farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.

COTTINGHAM J. B. farmer and fine stock

breeder. Sec. 20, P. O. Smithville, is the son of Thomas
and Lydia (McNamer) Cottingham. Mother a native

of Kentucky, and father of Maryland, who immigrated

when a boy to Kentucky, and thence to Hamilton

county. 111., in 1823, where he married. In 1843, came
to Peoria county and settled in Logan township. The
subject of this sketch was born in Hamilton county,

111., on the 5th of May, 1828. Married Miss Nancy E.

daughter of Robert Kinsey, born May lo, 1843, who
bore him two children, Ira D. and Annie May. Mr. C.

owns 322 acres of land, 2go under good cultivation and

valued at $20,000. He has for the last twelve years

made a. specialty of breeding pure blooded Poland

China hogs. Has turned off sixty head that averaged

520 pounds each, the finest that ever went into Chicago

market. Mr. C. came to the county a poor boy.

Gottin^am J. V. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Couch li. farmer, P. O. Harker'3 Corners.

COULTER S. Li. farmer, Sec. 12, P. O. Sum-
merville.

Cox Wm. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.
Crow A. D. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Doubet Jos. Jr. farmer, P. O. Summervllle.
Downing J. D. farmer, P. O. SmitliTllle.
Downlg B. P. farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Dnmars Geo. W. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Emons J. A. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Emons W. H. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Emmons Wm. H. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

£££B D. L. contractor and stone mason, P. O.

Smithville.

ERFOBD SIMON H. merchant and post-

master. Pass Ridge,

Ewalt Clem, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Finley B. M. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.

FORBES THOMAS, farmer. Sec. 27, P. O.

Smithville, is the son of William and Susan Forbes,

natives of Ireland. In 1837 they came to Peoria and

located in Logan township. Thomas was born in Mon-

mouth county, N. J., on the 3d of May, 1830, and was

there reared and educated. Married Catharine, daugh-

ter of Charles Cox. She was born in Pennsylvania,

Jan. I, 1837, and is the mother of five children : lan-

tha L. now Mrs. John Foster; Susan, now Mrs. John

Stewart ; Ida M., Thomas and Fannie E. They are

members of the Presbyterian Church, and own eighty

acres of land, valued at $4,000. In 1862 Mr. F. en-

listed in the 77th I. V. I. and served three years. Was
in the engagement at Yazoo Bayou and the siege

and capture of Vicksburg ; thence to Jackson, Miss.,

and back to Vicksburg ; thence via New Orleans to

Texas, and then back to Berwick Bay ; thence up

the Red River on the expedition under Banks, and was

taken prisoner at Sabine Cross Roads and held thirteen

months and nineteen days, until the close of the war,

Franks H. farmer, P. O. Smithville.

FRANKS HENRY, farmer, Sec. 33, P. O.

Smithville, son of John and Elizabeth (Kuntz) Franks,

natives of Pa. Henry was born in Perry county, that

State on the 26th March, 1809, and raised and educated

in Junietta county, on a farm, until fourteen years old,

when he learned and worked at the blacksmith trade

for ten years. In 1845 came to Peoria county. Ills.,

and located in Logan township. Married Miss Eliza-

beth Snyder, born in Franklin county. Pa., September

12, i8i2. They had ten children, six living : George,

Simon, R. B., Mary Ann, Catherine Elizabeth, Jane.

They are adherents of the Lutheran Church ; own 120

acres of land, valued at |6,ooo. Simon R. B. enlisted

in the 57th I. V. I., Co. E., and served three years.

John F. enlisted in the 77th I. V. I., and served nearly

three years.

Franks J. N. farmer, P. O. Pass Eidge.
Frederick F. farmer. P. O. Smithville.
Fuller D. farmer, P. O. Barker's. Corners.

GARDNER, M. A. farmer, Sec. 36, P. O.

Harker's Corners, is the son of Ansel and Lucinda

(Bishop) Gardner, natives of Wayne county, N. Y.

They immigrated to Peoria county in 1836; remaining

in Peoria six years. In 1844 came to Logan township

and lived until 1863, when they removed to Stark

county, where his father died in 1880 ; mother still liv-

ing. Mr. G. was born in Wayne county, N. Y. on the

26th day of August, 1826, and was bred a farmer, which

he always followed. Married Miss Elizabeth Todd,

born in Philadelphia, June 14th, 1836. Their union

was blessed with three children : Hattie, Elenor, and

Stella. They belong to the Presbyterian Church, own
200 acres of land, valued at $10,000 ; the result of in-

dustry and economy.

GLASGOW STEWART, farmer. Sec. 4,

P. O. SummervlUe, was born in Adams county, Ohio,

on the 23rd day of April, 1823 ; was brought up on a

farm and attended the district school. He married Miss

Elizabeth Askren, of Ohio, who died June iqth, 1851,

the mother of two children : Huston, who lived to the

age of 24 years, and Elizabeth, who died in infancy.

Married Miss Hadessah Wyley, daughter of Samuel

Wyley, natives of Ohio. She was born in Miami

county, that State, April nth, 1833. Six living chil-

dren comprise their family, four boys and two girls,

viz. : Sarah E., now Mrs. William A. Patton ; Rosa

Bell, now Mrs. John Patton ; Samuel F,, William E.,
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John W., James H. One died in infancy. Mr. and

Mrs. G. are members of the U. P. Church ;
own 330

acres of land, valued at $12,000.

Glasgow S. S. farmer, P. O. Snmmervllle.
Green S. G. Mrs. farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.
Grodlng I,. E. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.

GREEN W. C. farmer, Sec. 18, P. O. Trivoli

;

son of Silas and Sarah Green, natives of Pennsylvania,

came to this State in 1835. Mr. G. was born June 10,

1848. Married Miss Lucy L., daughter of James and

Sarah Adams, she was born February 18, 1S54. They

are the parents of one child ; and members of the M.

E. Church. Own 100 acres of land, seventy-five un-

der good cultivation and worth $3,500. Mr. Green is

Republican in politics. Had three brothers in the

Union Army, one of which languished eleven months

in a rebel prison, and one was mortally wounded while

coming home on a furlough.

Haney C. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
HardineJ. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.
Harper BUzabeth, farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Hart J. M. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.
Harony C. farmer, P. O. Pass Bidge.

HERREIilJ D. H. physician and surgeon,

res. Sraithville, son of Wiley and Sarah (Jones) Her-

rell, was born in Miami county, Ind., July 16, 1844;

was reared on his father's farm, and attended the dis-

trict school. At the age of seventeen enlisted in the

8th Mo. Infantry, Co. F., and served three years.

Mustered out at Baton Rouge, La, After returning

from the war he commenced the study of medicine

with Dr. Scott, of Fulton county, remaining two years.

Attended lectures at Rush Medical College, at Chi-

cago.

HURFF ISAAC E. farmer, P. O. Trivoli

;

son of George and Martha Ann (Ewalt) Hurff, was

born in Elmwood township, on the 1st day of Decem-

ber, 1842 ; was bred and educated a farmer. Married

Miss Carrie A. Hurlbut, born September I2, 1850, died

January 9, 1873, leaving one child, George H., born in

Elmwood, February 2, 1871, died August 13, 1874.

Mr. Hurff married Miss Lide Cottingham, April 26,

1876. She was the daughter of Rev. Thos. Cotting-

ham and Lydia McNamar ; and she was born in Logan

township, November 9, 1847. Mr. H. enlisted in the

8th Mo. Inf.,. Co. E, after eighteen months service was

discharged for disabihty, having his left thigh fractured

by a falling limb.

Hyle Wm. farmer, P. O. TrlyoU.

JACOBAXEXANDER (deceased). Was born

in Junietta county. Pa., in 1821, and came to Peoria in

1857. Married Miss Mary M. Glasgow, who was born

in Ireland, in 1833, and came to the U. S. when but a

child. They had a family of twelve children, ten still

living. Mr. Jacob was a consistent Christian, and loved

and respected by all who knew him. The estate con-

tains 140 acres of land, 130 under good cultivation,

value $5,000.

Jansen K. farmer, P. O, SmithvlUe.
Karnehan Wm. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.

KELLY RANSOM, farmer, P. O. Smithville.

Klrry "Wm. minister, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Klmsey W. F. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Kleffman J. K. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Kline B. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Knowles Kobt. farmer, P. O. Pass Eldge.
Kyle Wm. farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.
Largent J. M. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Leslie A. farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Long Milo M. farmer. P. O. SmlthviUe.
Lowe J. M. shoemalcer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Lucas I. N. druggist, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Maurice Geo. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
McAUster E. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
McAUster James, farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
McCnIlough Jas. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe.
McCuUough K. G. farmer, P. O. SummervlUe,

McCULLOUGH W. S. farmer and stock

raiser, Sec. 5, P. O. Trivoli, is the son of John and

Martha (Glasgow) McCullough, natives of Ohio. They

immigrated to Peoria county in 1846, and located in

this township on Sec. 4, where they died. The son,

whose name heads this sketch, was born in Adams

county, Ohio, Sept. 26, 1835 ; was eleven years old when

the family came to this State. Married Miss Margaret

A., daughter of John W. Stewart. She was born In

Indiana in 1838. Four children blessed their union ;

two living : Martha J. and Melvin G. Mr. M. has

held several local offices ; is at present justice of the

peace and president of the Rosefield Fire and Light-

ning Ins. Co. ; has 270 acres of land, 260 elegantly

improved, valued at $13,500.

McDonald S. J. farmer, F. O. Trivoli.
McDonald Wm, farmer, P. O. Pass Bidge.
McGee Geo.i P. O. SmlthvUle.

McILREE A. farmer and stock raiser. Sec. 20,

P. O. Smithville, son of Archibald and Jane Mcllree,

was born in Tyrone county, Ireland, in 1810 ; came to

the United States in 1831 ; landed in Philadelphia and

remained there about twenty-two years, where he fol-

lowed dyeing ; in 1850 came to Peoria county, and soon

after married Miss Jane Emans. She was born in York

State, and died, leaving two children : Samuel and

Jennie, now Mrs. Leslie. Mr. Mcllree married Sarah

Jane Tolan, born in Perry county. Pa., in 1832, by

whom he had two children ; one is living, Cleonia,

born May 15, 1870. Their homestead comprises 300

acres of land, valued at $15,000, the result of their

own labor. He is a member of the United Presbyte-

rian Church, and Mrs. M. of the M. E. Church.

MILLER JAMES B. farmer and merchant,

Sec. 15, P. O. Smithville, son of Ezra and Nancy M.

(Weed) Miller, natives of Ohio. They came to Peoria

county in the Spring of 1845, and located in Logan

township, where his father died in the Fall of 1856, at

the age of 59 ; mother is living at the age of 70. They

raised a family of eight, who lived to adult age ; two

died in infancy. James B. was born in Preble county,

Ohio, April 12, 1830 ; remained with his parents for

some years after coming to the county. Married Nancy
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A. Smith, Nov. 22, 1855, claughtfir of Thos. and Mar-

tha Smith, natives of Kentucky, who came to the county

in 1834. She was born in Flemming county, Ky., May
4, 1833, and is the mother of seven children, viz. ; Wm.
F., born May 24, 1857 ; Martha I., born Jan. 27, 1859,

died Aug. 17, i860
;
James S., born April 20, i860

;

Thos. P., born July 12, 1862 ; Annie B., born Dec. g,

1864 ;
John G., born Oct. 14, 1870 ; Ralph M., born

April 13, 1873. Are members of the United Presbyte-

rian Church of Smithville. Owns 540 acres of land,

350 well improved, valued at $25,000. Mr. M. came

to the county a poor boy. A determined will and hard

work have been amply rewarded.

MILIi£R FULiTON, merchant and postmas-

ter, P. O. Smithville.

NORVELIi T. BOYD, M. D., P. O. Smith-

ville.

Nerval W. O. farmer, P. O. TrivoH.
Norwood F. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.
Norwood J. A. farmer. P. O. TrivoU.
Parr A. farmer, P. O. TrivoU.
Parr H. Mrs. P. 0. TrivoU.
Parr James, farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.

PAKR JAMBS, farmer and stock raiser. Sec.

36, P. O. Smithville, is a son of Thomas and Heiress

M. (Eno) Parr, natives of Oswego county, N. y. The

family immigrated to Peoria county in 1831, lived nine

years on a rented farm in Richwoods township, and then

came to Logan township. Mr. P., Sr., was in the Black

Hawk war, and with the money obtained purchased land,

where he got his first start. Came to this State with a

team, and, owing to the rain and mud, was ten weeks

on the way. When he landed in the county he had not

a cent in his pocket he could call his own, went to work

with a will and secured a valuable estate. James Parr

was born in Richwoods township, Peoria county. 111.,

on the 25th day of March, 1835. In 1862. he married

Miss Harriet M., daughter of Simon Reeve, who immi-

grated to the county about 1829 or '30. She was born

on the place where she now resides, Oct. 25, 1839. Six

children compose their family, three of each sex. Owns

120 acres of land, valued at $5,000.

Parr Thomas, farmer, P. O. Smithville.

PABR SAMUBLi B. farmer and stock raiser.

Sec. 21, P. O. Smithville, is the son of Thomas and

Heiress (Eno) Parr. Father a native of Ireland, and

mother of New York. Immigrated to Peoria county in

1831, located in Richwoods township, and remained

there nine years. Thence removed to Logan township,

where his father died in 1852; mother still living at the

age of seven-two. Mr. Parr, the youngest of the chil-

dren, was born in this county, Oct.. 13, 1845, and was

bred as a farmer, receiving such schooling as the dis-

trict schools afforded. April 23, 1868, he married Miss

Emma J., daughter of Benjamin Tamplin, of Peoria,

where she was born March 2, 1844. They have had

S6

four children, two living— Ida M. and George A.

They belong to the Presbyterian Chuirch at Salem.

Owns 200 acres of land, 120 acres under good improve-

ment, valued at $8,000.

PATERIDGE HIRAM W. hotel keeper,

P. O. Smithville, son of Josiah and Pruella Pateridge,

natives of York State, was born in Cayuga county, N.

Y., Feb. ig, 1806, and was reared to the blacksmith

trade. In 1831, he married Miss Emily, daughter of

Tyler Stevens, who was born in Cayuga county, N. Y.,

Jan. 26, 1815. They have had thirteen children, only

three of whom are living— James, Quail and Josiah.

Mr. P. is a member of the Christian Union, and Mrs.

P. of the U. P. Church. After coming to this county,

he followed farming for a number of years, and had

charge of the almshouse for ten years. Mr. P. has been

a hard working man, and by his energies has accu-

mulated a fine property. Has 140 acres of land, near

Smithville, under good improvement, valued at $5,000.

His grandfather, Seth Higley, was in the war of the

revolution, and his father, in the war of 1812, went in-

to the battle at Sackett's harbor, and is supposed to

have been killed.

Partridge Jas. postman, P. O. Smithville.

PARTRIDGE Q. H. farmer, Sec. 27, P. O.

Smithville.

PATTERSON JAMBS H. farmer. Sec. 2g,

P. O. Smithville, was born in Alabama, on the i6th

day of April, 1815. Immigrated from there to Ohio

with his parents when nine years old. Married Miss

Isabella M. Brooks in 1838. She was born March 10,

1818, in Pa. They are the parents of eleven children,

six of whom are living— Samuel W., born July 13,

1843, Sarah E., born March 30, 1846, Martha E., born

Jan. 27, 1848, Isabella A., born April 21, 1854, Mary

L. born July 31, 1858, Edgar M., born Dec. 3, i860.

Five deceased— Wm. H., who was killed at the battle

of Shiloh, April 6, 1862, Elizabeth, died Sept. 27, 1869,

Alexander Orr, died Feb. 23, 1865, two died in infancy.

While in Ohio Mr. P. pursued the carpenter trade and

farming, and in 1846 came to Peoria county, settling in

Logan township, where he has devoted his attention

exclusively to farming. Owns 200 acres of land, valued

at $8,000. Is . a member of the Salem Presbyterian

Church, of which he is an elder. Has held several

local offices.

Patterson Samuel, farmer, P. O. Smith vile.

Patton J. B. farmer, P. O. TrivoU.
Patton N. 0. farmer, P. O. SummerviUe.

PATTON THOMAS E. farmer and stock

grower. Sec. 13, P. O. Smithville, is the son of Thomas

Patton and Jane Glasgow, natives of Va., where they

were married, and immigrated to Adams county, Ohio,

and there on a farm their family of nine children grew

to be men and women. Thomas was born in Adams

county, Ohio on the 14th day of August, 1822, and
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received the benefit of the district school. He married

Miss Martha A., daughter of Robert and Phoebe Fin-

ley, natives of Va., where Mrs. P. was bom on the 22d

day of Jan., 1 823. Their union resulted in twelve children,

seven still living, six boys and one girl— Robert M.,

born June 27, 1845, Hadasseh, born Sept. . 15, 1846

(infant child died), Thos. C.'born March 14, 1850,

died May 2, 1868, Wm. A., born Jan. 22. 1852, John T.,

born April 4, 1854, James R., born Feb. i, 1856, died

Jan. 26, 1858, Rowland T., born Nov. 8, 1857, died

Sept., 1863, Martin L., born Nov. 14, 1859, died Aug.

29, i860, Glasgow E., born Aug. 14, i86i, Elijah M.,

bom Oct. 22, 1863, Ralph A., born Jan. 12, 1867.

Members of the U. P. Church. Own 320 acres ofland,

well improved, valued at $20,000. In the Spring of

1847 came to the county and rented for two years, and
in the Fall of 1849 purchased the land where he now
resides.

Patton T. E. farmer, P. O. SmlthviUe.
Patton Samuel S. farmer, P. O. Trlvoli.

PINKERTON ELIZA Mrs. farmer. Sec.

10, P. O. Summerville.

Pinkerton J. A. farmer, P. O. Summerville.
Pinkerton J. P. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Pinkerton L. W. Mrs. post master, P. O. Summerville.
Potter E. B. farmer, P. O. Smithvllle.

KESINGER JOHN, blacksmith and farmer.

Sec. 32, P. O. Smithville.

RICHARDSON JAMES, farmer and stock-

raiser. Sec. 16, P. O. Smithville ; is the son of Henry
and Martha (McCibben) Richardson, mother native of

Kentucky and father of Virginia. They emigrated

from Highland county, Ohio, in 1843, and located in

Elmwood township, where they lived until their death.

James was born in Highland county, Ohio, August 8,

1819; was bred and educated a farmer, with limited

school opportunities. Married Miss Mary, daughter

of Andrew and Abigal Hart, born December 4, 1821.

She died August i8, 1849, leaving five children

—

Martha J., born January 7, 1842 (and died April,

1879) ; William M., born Feb. 8, 1843 ; Abbie E., born

Nov. 4. 1844 ; MoUie M., born Oct. 2, 1846 ; Jas, F.,

born Jan. 31, 1849. Mr. R. married Miss Nancy Parr,

June 27, 1850. She was born in county Cavan, Ire-

land, Feb. 10, 1828. She died May 17, 1871. They
had ten children, six living— Margaret, born Feb. 20,

1851, and died Aug. 20, 1851; Carrie, born January 14,

1853 ; Alice, born August 12, 1855; Angle, born Sep-

tember 3, 1857; Henry G., born Nov. i, 1859, died

April ig, i860; John A. born April 11, 1861; Lou E„
born March II, 1864; Myrtle, born Oct. 22, 1866;

Nannie, born June 30, 1869, died March 5, 1877. One
died in infancy. Mr. R. came to the county in 1839,

purchased land and then returned to Ohio and remained

two years, and in 1841 brought his family to the coun-

ty and has resided in the township since. Has 220 |

acres of land under good cultivation, valued at $i2,00O:

Had one son in the 86th I. V. I.

Runkle J. J. farmer, P. O. Summerville.
Saunders Jacob, farmer, P. O. Smithville.

SHEPHERD NELSON, farmer and stock-

raiser. Sec. 3, P. O. Smithville.

SMITH B. D. farmer. Sec. 17, P. O. Trivoli.

Smith J. W. farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Smith Jno. W. farmer, P. O. Smithvllle.

SMITH R. L. farmer and stock raiser, Sec. 23,

P. O. Smithville.

Smith Thos. C. farmer, P. O. Smithville.

SMITH WM. HUSTON (deceased), fanner.

Sec. 25, P. O. Smithville. Was born in Flemming

county, Ky., on the 6th of February, 1816. In 1835

came to Fulton county. 111., with his parents, and fol-

lowed farming for two years and then came to Peoria

county. Married Miss Nancy White, daughter of Isle

White. She was born on the i8th day of December,

1821. They were the parents of seven children, five

boys and two girls. He was a consistent member of

the United Presbyterian Church. Held several local

ofiices in the township. He died in December, 1859.

SOUDER JACOB, farmer,. P. O. Smithville

Sec 29. Son of William and Nancy (Adams) Souder/

natives of Pa., was born in Cumberland Co., Aug. 6,

1827. Was apprenticed to the carpenter trade, which

he followed for twenty-five years. In 1864, came to

Logan township. Married Miss Elizabeth, the daugh-

ter of Jesse Matthews of Perry Co., Pa. She was born

in the same county Feb. 6, 1828. There were ten

children, four girls and two boys living. Has 266 acres

of land, 240 improved, valued at $11,000. Three

younger brothers were in the Union army, one of which

was in three years, re-inlisted and was taken prisoner,

and died in Andersonville prison.

Stanley I. farmer, P. O. Smithville.
StautCer John, farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Stewart Edward, farmer, P. O. Trlvoli.

STEWART JOHN, farmer, P. O. Smithville,

Sec. 29. Son of Wilson and Mary (Mitchell) Stewart,

natives of Pennsylvania. Mr. Stewart was born in

Highland Co., Ohio, March 21,1817. Was reared to

the trade of a saddler. In 1844 came overland with

teams, making the trip in about two weeks, and located

on the place where he now resides. Married Miss

Hannah ' M., daughter of John and Nancy Turbett.

She was born in Ohio, March 3, 1829. Four children

blessed their union, two boys and one girl living. Mrs.

S. died Dec. 4, 1862. Mrs. S. was a consistent member
of the Presbyterian Church, and greatly loved and

respected. Mr. S. has held several local ofiices in the

township. Owns eighty acres of land well improved

and valued at $4,000.

Stewart J. M. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Stewart Mary, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Stewart Wm. D. farmer, P. O. Smithvllle.
Stimeling Uicbael, farmer, F. O. Pass Bidge.



JAMES B.MILLER
LOGAN TP.

JAMES RICHARDSON
LOGAN TP.

JAMES MONROE
LIMESTONE TP.

JAMES H.PATTERSON,
LOGAN TP.





Logan director"^. T95

STRATTON WILLIAM (deceased), late

res. Sec. 6, P. O. Smithville. Was born in county

Kerry, Ireland, on the 25th day of March, 1788, and

immigrated to the United States on the 15th day of Oct.

1816, landed in New York and followed the dairy busi-

ness there for several years. Married Sarah, daughter

of Joseph Clayton of New York city, where she wa^

born Dec. 2, 1805. Came to Peoria Co., 111., in 1837,

and located in Logan township, where he remained

until his death whch occurred on the 29th day of Feb.

1880, at the age of ninety-one years, eleven months and

six days. Mr. S. lived an upright life and was honored

and respected. They were the parents of eleven child-

ren, ten are still living, viz., Mary A., born March 26,

1825, died Feb. 28, 1861 ; EUza, born Jan. 13,

1827 ; William, born April 28, 1829 ;
James, born Nov.

3, 1833 ; Richard, born Dec. 30, 1835 ; Thomas, born

Feb. 7, 183S ; Sarah, born Sept. 21, 1840; Jane born

July 18, 1841 ; Emeline, born June 12, 1843 ; Clara

bom May 5, 1845 ;
Joseph, born March 7, 1850. Mr.

S. left an estate of 280 acres of land. Valued at $15,-

000.

TAMPLIN" JOHN W. blacksmith, P. O.

Smithville. Is the son of Benjamin Tamplin and Marinda

Woodruif, who immigrated to this county in 1836-37,

and located in Peoria when it was a. small village, and

followed the cooper trade for a number of years. There

John W. was born, on the 22d of February, 1852, and

when fifteen years old commenced to learn the black-

smith trade, which he followed in the city until 1874,

then came to Smithville, and still continues in the same

business. Married Miss Jennie, daughter of Robert

Crawford. She was born in Springfield, Sangamon

county, 111., in 1854. Have one child, Efiie, born Sept.

15, 1878.

Tamplin J. blacksmith, P. O. SmithvlUe.

TIPTON F. M. U. S. ganger, P. O. Smithville.

TURBETT JAMES A. farmer and stock-

raiser. Sec. 26, P. O. Smithville. Is a son of John and

Nancy (Batey) Turbett, natives of Pennsylvania. Came

to Illinois in 1840, and located in Logan township,

when James A. was six years old. He was born in

Fayette county, O., May 31, 1834. Was reared and

educated a farmer. Married Nancy, daughter of

Andrew Parr. She was born April 25, 1838. Five

children are the result of their marriage, two of whom

are living. Owns 335 acres of land, 260 acres under

good cultivation, valued at $20,000. Mr. T. was a poor

boy, and made his start working by the month.

Turbett J. B. farmer, P. O. Smithville.
Turbett W. S. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.
Tuttle A. O. farmer, P. O. Trlvoll.

VASTARSDALL JOHN, farmer, Sec. 3. P-

O, Summerville. Is the son of Isaac and Nancy

(Young) Vanarsdall. Natives of Maryland. Came to

this county in 1835, and located in Rosefield township.

There were five children in his family, of whom Mr. V.

was the second son, and was born in Washington

county, Md., on the 29th day of June, 1814. Farming

has been his occupation through life. Married Eliza-

beth, daughter of Ayliff and Margaret Shepard, born

in Green county. Pa., Nov. 24, 1822. They had five

children, two still living : Margaret A., now Mrs.

Harrison Reed ; Mattie, now Mrs. Ephraim Yinger.

Had one son in the 77th I. V. I., Co. C, who died at

Memphis. Homestead embraces 200 acres of land,

150 under good cultivation, and valued at $10,000.

Mr. V. made rails the first year after coming to the

county for fifty cents per hundred, and the following

Winter paid $14 for a barrel of flour. Mr. and Mrs.

V. are members of the M, E. Church.

Wasson G., P. O. SmithvlUe.
West James, farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.

WEST JOSEPH, farmer. Sec. 23, P. O. Smith-

ville.

West Wm. farmer, P. O. SmithvlUe.

WHITE J. G. farmer and stock raiser, Sec. 23,

P. O. Smithville.

Whitlow J. A. farmer, P. O. Pass Kldge

WHITLOW W. W. farmer, Sec. 31. P- O.

Pass Ridge. Son of William and Ann Whitlow, nee

Wright, who came to Illinois in 1832, and located in

Vermillion county, and later removed to Peoria county,

where the subject of this sketch was born, Dec. 7, 1843.

Was reared on a farm and enjoyed only moderate

school advantages. Married Miss Priscilla J, Franks,

who was born in this county in 1853. Their family

consists of three children, two boys and a girl. Mr. W,
enlisted in the 32d I. V. I. Co. I, Col. John Logan, was

in the service three years and ten months, and was at

.the engagements of Shiloh, Bentonville, S. C, Cham-

pion Hills, the siege and capture of Vicksburg, march

to the sea and Jonesboro'. Was in sixteen general en-

gagements. While in the service received two wounds,

one in the hand and one on the top of the head, just

grazing the scalp. Has .240 acres of land, valued at

$7,000.

WILEY JOHN P. farmer, Sec. 3, P. O. Sum-

merville. Son of Samuel and Sarah (McCuUough)

Wiley, natives of Ohio, who immigrated to Peoria

county in 1852, and located in Logan township on the

section where John now resides. Father died Feb.,

1877 ; mother still living. Mr. W. was born in Miami

county, Ohio, on the 22d day of Sept., 1835, and was

reared and educated a farmer. Married Miss Mary E.,

daughter of John Runkle, a native of New York State.

She was born in Peoria county in 1839. Has eighty-

eight and a half acres of land, all under good cultiva-

tion, valued at $4,500. Are members of the U. P.
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Church. He enlisted in the 77th regiment I. V. I. Co.

C, in 1862, and served three years. Was at the siege

and 'capture of Vicksburg, Arkansas Post, and also on

the Red River Expedition, etc, Mustered out at Mo-

bile, Ala.

Wiley Wm. farmer, K O. SummervlUe.
Wonder Gideon, farmer, P. O. Smlthvllle.

MEDINA TOWNSHIP.

Allen A. B. farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Allen W. H. farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Atkinson Jos. retired, res. MossvUle.
Boylan P. farmer, P. O. MossvUle.
Boylan Thos. farmer. P. O. MossvUle.
Breed M. farmer, P. O. Chilllcothe.

BRISTOL. JOHN E. farmer, Sec. 18, P. O.

Alta, was born in Oswego county, N. Y., April 26,

i8i2, and is the son of John Bristol and Sarah Eno.

His father was born April 17, 1777, and was a native

of Connecticut, and his mother was born December 5,

"

1789, and died September 13, 1871. He was raised

upon his father's farm in his native county till eighteen

years old, when he came to Illinois, and settling in

Timber township, of Peoria county, rented a farm and

worked it for one and a half years, removing March

14, 1832, to a farm on section 22, of Medina township,

where he resided for the same length of time, and

where he married May 3, 1835, Annie Maftin, born in

Illinois, November 9^ 1817. In the following year he

came to his present farm, which was then raw, unim-

proved land, and has ever since worked and resided

upon it. Fourteen children have been born to them
;

eleven are now alive— George, born June 29, 1836;

Emeline, born February 12, 1838 ; Sarah, born Decem-

ber 29, 1839, died September 10, 1846; John Martin,

born September 16, 1841 ; Cyrus, born September 17,

1843; Richard and Davis, (twins,) born October 17,

1845 ;
James, born October 20, 1847 ; Mary, born Aug-

ust 28, 1850, died January 10, 1863 ; Alvin and Alraon,

(twins,) born March 25, 1853 ; Martin, born November

18, 1858 ; Ida, bosn March 25, i860 ; and Sarah Madora,

born June 29, 1862, and died the first week in June,

1864. Mrs. Bristol died January 17, 1863, and he mar-

ried December 2, i86g, Mrs. Augusta Penny, daughter

of Almerious Clark, of Sackett's Harbor, Jefferson

county, N. Y., and who was born February 11, 1818.

He has eighty acres of land in home farm, worth about

$55 an acre. His children are scattered all over the

Western States, engaged in farming and other occupa-

tions. In 183a Mr. Bristol was a volunteer in the

Blackhawk war ; was in Stillman's defeat at Sycamore,

and served sixty days in the field. Two of his sons,

Cyrus and James, served as privates for about five

months, in Company B, 7th I. V. I., during the late

war, and were mustered out at its close. Mr. Bristol

was for twelve years justice of the peace, and for about

same length of time school treasurer of township.

Assessed the township four times, and is in politics a

Greenbacker.

Canly James, railroad laborer, res. Mossvllle.
Carroll Christy Mrs. farmer, P. O. Rome.
Carroll Ann Mrs. farmer, P. O. Eome.
Case A. N. farmer. P. O. Alta.

CASE IMKI W. farmer. Sec. 30, P. O. Alta,

was born in Oswego county, N. Y., May 4, 1818, and is

the eldest son and second child of Imri and Chloe A.

Case, natives of same county. When about twelve

years of age his father died, and in 1836 the family re-

moved to Illinois, settling in Medina township, of

Peoria county, where they bought land on sections 29

and 30, and went to farming. In September, 1845, he

married in Oswego county, N. Y., Miss Selina Howe,

daughter of Newell Howe and Jane Snyder, natives of

that county; who was born there December 4, 1827.

Mrs. Case died October 9, 1851, leaving behind her two

children— Ensley J., born August 20, 1848, and Clar-

ence E., born April i, 1851. They still live and carry

on business in Alta ; the elder as commission merchant

and the younger as post master, station agent, telegraph

operator, etc. His son Ensley J., married February 2,

1870, Miss Georgina Edgett, daughter of Geo. Edgett

and Jane M. Stebbins, natives of New York, by whom
he has had five children, three now living— Morris W.,

Willard S. and Florence G. His son Clarence E. was

married January i, 1874, to Miss Julia B. Schnebley,

daughter of Geo. W. Schnebley and Margaret Cox, of

Mossville, by whom he has had two children. Mr.

Case owns about 140 acres of land in home farm, and

about 1,050 acrSs of other land, almost all prairie,

which he rents out. Was for four years justice of the

peace in the early days of the township, and has also

filled the offices of supervisor, school trustee and direc-

tor. Is in politics a Democrat.

CASE JEROME H. farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

Alta, was born in Oswego county, N. Y., April 29,

1821, and is the fourth child of Imri Case and Chloe

Ann Hawley. His father was a native of Connecticut,

bom January 22, 1779, and li's mother of Vermont,

born April 13, 1784. His father died in the State of

New York, October 24, 1830, and six years later the

family came to Peoria county, settling on section 30, of

Medina township. A claim was bought and vigorous

work was freely expended upon it, and the farm thus
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made still remains in the possession of the family. Mr,

Case married November i6, 1845, Miss Maria Howe,
daughter of Newell Howe and Jane Snyder, natives of

Oswego county, N. Y., who was born in that county

May 25, 1822, by whom he has had five children, all

now living— Albert N., born November 3, 1846;

Charles M., born November 23, 1847 ; Clara E., born

May 30, 1849 ; Flora J., born October 11, 1852 ; and

Irving J., born April 7, i860. Mr. Case's mother died

on the old homestead in Medina, October 14, 1853.

His family have all grown to man and womanhood and

reside in the neighborhood. His wife died April 6,

1870, and he married December 16, 1874, Miss Jennie

Snyder, cousin to his first wife, who was born in Oswe-
go county, N. Y.. March 16, 1842. He owns 200 acres

prairie land in home farm and eighty acres under tim-

ber. Has been many years a school director. Mrs.

Case is a member of M. E. Church of Glyndale, in

Radnor township.

Clark A. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Cleaver David, gardener, res. Mossville.
Cllne Wm. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Cox John, farmer, P. O. ChllUcothe.
Cramer 6. F. farmer, P. O. Alta.

CRAWLi JOHIfj farmer, and hotel-lceeper,

res, Mossville, was born in Fayette county, Pa., March

16, 1815, and was raised in Washington county, in the

same State, until twenty-two years of age ; is the son

of John Crawl, who was born near Hagerstown, Md.,

and Mary Short, born of Scotch parents near Browns-

ville, Pa. His father died in Farmington, Fulton

county, 111., in July, 1856, and his mother in 1870.

He came to Illinois in the Spring of 1838, and settled

in Richwoods township, Peoria county, where he

farmed and worked at his trade of carpenter. Mar-

ried April 7, 1842, Sarah, daughter of Charles and

Sarah Kemble, natives of Stokes county, N. C, who

was born September 7, 1813, by whom he has had

seven children, six now living : James W., born Octo-

ber 7, 1843, died April 16, 1847; Isaac N., born

November 9, 1845 ;
John W., born March 13, 1848 ;

Melinda E., born October l6, 1849 ; Sarah A., born

January 26, 1852 ; Charles C, born April 6, 1854, and

Columbus B., born March 27, 1858. He came from

Richwoods township to Mossville in March, 1865, and

bought his present property, which had been used as

a hotel for two years previous, and he has carried on

the business ever since. It is the only house of enter-

tainment in the village, is clean and well kept, and

fully meets the wants of all weary travelers. He also

owns twenty acres of land contiguous to the village,

which he cultivates to raise fruit and vegetables. He

has been for some years a school director, and is in

politics an old time Democrat.

CUTLIP JOHN, farmer, Sec. 9, P. O. Moss-

ville, was born in Pike county, O., May 15, 1842, and is

the son of John Cutlip and Caroline Cruickshank.

His mother was a native of Virginia, and resides in

Medina township. His father died before his birth.

When very young he moved with his mother to Wis-

consin, and after a short residence there, removed to

Iowa, thence back to Wisconsin, and finally, in i860,

to Illinois, settling in Medina township, of Peoria

county, where he has ever since resided. He married

June iB, 1865, Nancy Jane Cox, who was born in Indi-

ana in 1843, by whom he had two children : Alva, born

November 18, 1867, and Edna Jane, born August i,

1872, who died when nine weeks old. His wife died

August 21, 1872, and he married July 2, 1878, Minnie

Jane Hankins, daughter of Ezekiel Hankins and Mar-

garet Young, who was born near El Paso, III., April

21, 1861, by whom he has one child, Arthur, born June

3, 1879. Mr. Cutlip has been eight years upon his

present farm, and owns about^fifty-five acres land,

» twenty acres of which is bluff and the rest prairie land.

Dickenson Jane Mrs. farmer, P. O. MossTille.
Dlckerson R. B. farmer, P. O. Mossville.
Dickson William S. farmer, P. O. Mossville.
Dickson S. W. farmer, P. O. Mossville.

ERNST ALBERT, farmer, Sec. s. P- O.

Southampton, was born in Hesse, Germany, Novem-

ber 20, 1819, and is the son of Peter Ernst and Cath-

erine Bauman, both of whom were natives of Hesse.

After receiving his education, he worked in a woolen

factory till about twenty-four years of age, when, in

company with his brother John, he came to America,

landing at New York, June 11, 1843. For the next

eighteen months he remained in New York City, then

went to St. Louis, and from thence to Springfield, 111.,

where, in May, 1845, he enlisted in Company G., Rich-

mond Mounted Rifles, and served for two years in the

Mexican war, taking part in the battles of Contreras,

City of Mexico, and many others of the campaign.

Was mustered out at Jefierson Barracks, St. Louis, in

July 1848, and directly afterwards came to Peoria City,

where he married March 19, 1849, Teresa Miller, a

native of Alsace, France, who came to America with

her parents, February 18, 1847. She was born Feb-

ruary 8, 1828, and has presented him with thirteen

children : Mary, now Mrs. Wilhelm, born January 9,

1850; Theresa, now Mrs. Backus, born March 20, 1851;

Albert, born November "9, i8S3 ; Catherine, now Mrs.

Knoblock, born February 13, 1856 ;
Joseph, born Feb-

ruary 7, 1858 ; Matilda, now Mrs, Williams, born

January 20, 1859; Josephine, now Mrs. Wagener, born

January 22, 1861 ; Amaly, born November 30, 1863
;

John, born October 18, 1865 ; Robert, born September

2, 1867 ; Bertha, born August 6, 1869 ; Annie, born

November 9, 1871, and Julian, born February 16,

1876. In the July after his marriage he came to

Medina township, and settled on his present location
;

owns 373 acres of land in Peoria county (170 acres of

which is prairie), and 160 acres in Champaign county.
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Illinois. His present fine farm was raw land when he

came to it, and all the existing improvements have been

executed by his own hand. He has filled the office of

school director, and is, and always was, a Democrat.

Himself, wife and family are members of the Catholic

. Church.

Hanson Thos. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Hargadlne — farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Harwood C. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Hloks L. farmer, P. O. ChllUcothe.
Hoffman John, farmer, res. Mossville.

HOIiMES JOHN, farmer, Sec. 2g, is the sec-

ond of a family of two sons and two daughters, of

George and Nancy Holmes, nee Donaldson, and was

born in the county of Londonderry, Ireland, in 1824 ;

came with parents to the United States in 1827 ; lived

in Broome county, N. Y., until 1835 ; came thence to

Peoria county. 111., and settled at Mount Holly. Mr.

H.'s educational opportunities were very meager, hav-

ing only attended school four months after he was ten

years of age. He labored at home on the farm until

twenty-eight years old, regardless of any stipulated

compensation. In 1853 married Lydia A. Chambers,

who was born in Indiana, in 1835. They settled on

the section where they now reside, his father having

presented Mr. H. with a tax title to one quarter, the

patent for which John afterwards bought. Mr. Holmes'

attention has been devoted solely to agriculture, in

which pursuit he has been more than ordinarily success-

ful, and now owns 1500 acres of improved lands, free

from debt, in Peoria and Marshall counties. For

thirty-two consecutive years, Mr. H. has filled some

local office ; served five years supervisor from Medina
;

has been assessor twelve years, which office he now
holds, and was twice elected collector. Politically, he

is a staunch Democrat, but not so radical as to ignore

principles and men for party. Their family consists of

seven sons and three daughters, two of the latter now
being married, and living in Peoria county. Mr.

Holmes' mother died in 1847, and father in 1873.

While ready to indorse every movement for the social

and moral weal of society, Mr. H. belongs to no or-

ganization of any sort.

Honus Waldo, farmer, P. O. Danlap.

HOUGH THOMAS, farmer, Sec. 27, P. O
Mossville, was born September 11, 1826, in Bucks

county. Pa., and is the son of Robert Hough, a native

of Bucks county, Pa., and Mary Evans, a native of

Montgomery county. Pa. He grew to manhood on his

father's farm, and married in 1850 Isabel Polk, daughter

of James Polk and Eliza Wallace, natives of Bucks

county, who was born August 26, 1826, by whom he

had three children : Robert, born October 6, 1851

;

Samuel, born May, 1853, died January, 1859, and

Isabel, born July 23, 1854. Mrs. Hough died Aug-

ust, I, 1854, and five years later he came to Illinois,

settling in Radnor, township of Peoria county, where

he farmed for two years, and married November 9,

1862, Hannah Mary Chamberlain, the daughter of

Horton Chamberlain and Jane Dickinson, natives of

Indiana. She was born in Switzerland county, of that

State, January 29, 1837. By this union they have had

four children: Mary, born November 27, 1863, died

September 3, 1864; Elizabeth, born February 26,

1867, died August 12, 1867 ;
John C, born March 19,

1869; Charles F., born December 12, 1872. In 1862

Mr. H. removed from Radnor to Medina township,

and settled on his present farm, con^sting of 250 acres

of land, about 80 acres of which are under timber, and

worth, on an average, $45 an acre. His mother died

March 10, 1876, aged 76, at Doylestown, Pa., and his

father died in 1845 at the age of 55, on the old farm

near the same place. Mr. Hough with his wife and

daughter are members of the Baptist Church at Moss-

ville.

liOVE JAMES, farmer. Sec. 2, P. O. ChiUi-

cothe, was born December 22, 1812, and is the son of

George Love and Mary Grabbs. His early years were

passed in Indiana, and in November, 1824, he came

with his parents to Peoria county, and after a stay of

about a month at Fort Clark, came on to what is now

Medina township, and were the first to settle within its

bounds. Daniel Prince, at Princeville, was the only

settler between them and Peoria, and he left the same

county in Indiana (Parke county), as they did, only

about seven pionths ahead of them. They settled at

first on land near Mossville, and in 1829 removed to the

farm in Sec. 23, now occupied by Moses Neal, where

they remained until 1839. In 1832 the family was

broken up, some going further West, and others taking

up farms of their own in the township. Mr. James

Love went to Galena, and worked at the mines and at

butchering for about twenty-six months, and then re-

turning to his township, started farming on Sec. 18,

living for ten years with Thos. B. Reed, and on

March 23, 1847, he married Amy Wilkinson, daughter

of William Wilkinson and Elizabeth Nichols. Her

father was a native of N. Carolina, and her mother of

Green Briar county, Va. She was born in Ross

county, O., February 15, 1827, and came to Medina

township with her parents in 1846. They have had

thirteen children, seven of whom are now alive

:

Henry, born in 1847 ; George, bom June 7, 1848

;

Charles, born October 29, 1849, ^'^^^ August 11, 1859 ;

William, bom March 23, 1851 ; Elizabeth, born Feb-

ruary 19, 1856, died January 19, 1859; Alice, born

May 14, 1858 ; Emma, born July 29, 1861 ; Clayton,

born April 24, 1863 ; Laura, born May r, 1865, died

March 25, 1867 ; Leonard, born June 9, 1867, and

three others who died in infancy. His father died

June II, 1831. Three of his sons and one daughter
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reside with him. He owns 78 acres fine farming land,

all under good cultivation.

Kuhn C. Mrs. farmer, P. o. Dunlap.
Kuhn Fred, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Malrs Mary A. res. Mossvllle.

MALIiEN" HENRY, farmer. Sec. 2, P. O.

Rome, was born in county Meath, Ireland, in 1827, and

came to America in 1852, landing at New York, where

he resided one year, and came to Illinois in 1853, set-

tling in Aurora, Kendall county, for two years, and

then coming to Peoria county, where he has since re-

sided. He married, January 16, 1856, Miss Mary
Mooney, who was born in the city of New York, May
18, 1833, by whom has nine children : Helena Teresa,

born January 11, 1857 ; John Edward, born

June 24, 1858 ; Catharine, born Aug. 28, i860

;

Mary Ann, born Sept. 18, 1862 ; Sarah Jane, born Jan.

22, 1865 ; Margaret, born May g, 1867 ; Elizabeth, born

March 10, l86g ; Henry Thomas, born Nov. 22, 1870,

and Agnes C, born Jan. 21, 1875. He owns 264 acres

of fine farming land in the home farm, worth $40 an

acre.

MARBERBY A. postmaster and dealer in

groceries and notions, Mossville, was born near Paris,

Henry county, Tenn., Feb. 9, 1824, and is the son of

Jacob Marberry and Nancy Forest, both of whom were

natives of North Carolina ; was raised and received his

education in his native county, and afterwards engaged

in mercantile business in the employ of John Cooney,

Jr., at mouth of the Sandy, on the Tennessee river,

until i860, when he came to Illinois and settled in

Mossville, began business for himself, and has since re-

sided there. Before leaving the South he married, in

Stewart county, Tenn., Mary J., daughter of Thomas

Palmer and Mary Jane McMunn, natives of Pennsyl-

vania, who was born in Tennessee, by whom he has had

five children, only one now survives : A. Plant, born

May 24, 1868. Mr. Marberry keeps a large stock of

general merchandise, and his store being the only one

in the village, does a good business. Has been post-

master for six years, ajjd has also held many township

offices, among them that of town clerk, which he at

present fills. Himself and wife are members of the

Baptist Church.
Mathews L. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Meyer John, farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Miner Anthony, farmer, P. O. Southampton.
Mooney Edward, farmer. P. O. ChllUcothe.
Moony G. W. farmer, P. O. Mossvllle.

MOONEY THOMAS, Sr. (deceased), for-

merly of Medina township, was born in county Louth,

Ireland, in 1788, and was the son of Thomas Mooney,

who came to New York in 1798, in consequence of his

connection with the troubles of that year in his native

country. He was raised in New York city, and there

married, in 1812, Miss Helena Stagg, daughter of James

Stagg, a native of New Jersey, by whom he had six

children : James, born Dec. 15, 1814 ; Thomas, born

Jan. 31, 1820; Walter, born April 22, 1822, died March

8, 1875 ; William, born Sept 16, 1824 ; Alfred, born

Oct. 15, 1827, who died in New York when a child, and

Mary, born May 18, 1833. He engaged in mercantile

business in New York until 1835, when, with his whole

family, he removed to the great and growing West, set-

tling in Medina township, of Peoria county, where he re-

mained until his death. He settled on s. w. % of Sec.

2, which he had previously bought, and which was, at

that early date, in a state of pristine wildness, and with

his boys built a house upon it, and assiduously began

its culture and improvement. He died upon the old

homestead, August 5, 1878, at the ripe old age of 90,

and was buried in the graveyard of St. Joseph's Cath-

olic Church, in Medina township. He was a man who
made few enemies and many friends, with a most genial

manner, and had?always a kind word and a helping hand

for all in distress. He was universally beloved and

respected, and had, at his death, many sincere mourn-

ers outside the circle of his relatives. He was, through

life, a Catholic, and to his liberality and spirit, the

Catholics of the township are mainly indebted for the

church building they now possess. He was, in politics,

a good and consistent Democrat, and was a member of

the last board of county commissioners of Peoria

county, prior to the adoption of the township organiza-

tion. Three of his children still reside in the township.

MOONEY JAMES, farmer. Sec. 11, P. O.

Mossville, was born in New Jersey, Dec. 15, 1814, and

is the eldest child of Thomas Mooney, Sr., who came

to the township in 1835. He was raised and educated

in New York city, and afterwards learned the trade of

locksmith, removing with his parents and the

other members of his family to Medina town-

ship in the year of his majority. He re-

mained at home, working upon his father's farm

until February 7, 1838, on which date he married Eliz-

abeth Jenett, daughter of Hugh Jenett and Ann Gar-

land, natives of county Louth, Ireland, who was bom
in January, 1823, and came to America with her brother

when fourteen years old. They have had seven chil-

dren, six of whom are alive : Thomas, born Nov. 30,

1838, who died when two weeks and three days old

;

William A., born Nov. 11, 1840 ; Michael Thomas, bom
Dec. 31, 1842 ; Geo. Washington, born Feb. 22, 1845 ;

Mary Ann, born Dec. 17, 1846
;
James F., bom Aug. 27,

1855; Oliver K., born April ii, 1861. Three of his

children are married, and the others reside in family

with him. He owns 320 acres of fine farming land,

and fifty acres under timber, all well improved ; has

filled, in turn, almost all of the township offices, among

them that of assessor and collector, and is every inch of

him a Democrat. Himself, wife and family are mem-
bers of St. Joseph's Catholic Church.

Mooney B. Mrs. farmer, P.O. OUlUcothe,
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MOOSTBY WIIililAM, farmer, Sec. ii, P.O.
Chillicothe ; was born in the city of New York, Sepr

tember i6, 1824, and is the fourth child in the family of

five children, of the late Thomas Mooney, Sr., and

Helena Stagg, who were among the earliest settlers in

Medina township. With them, in 1835, he came West
to this township, and was raised upon the home farm

until the Fall of 1850, when he married Catharine

Mooney, daughter of James Mooney and Margaret

Jennett, natives of county Louth, Ireland, who was

born there June 24, 1831, by whom he has had seven

children, six of whom now survive—Alfred, born Sep-

tember 7, 185 1 ; James Eugene, born August 5, 1853
;

Thomas William, born May 25, 1856 ; Maggie Estella,

born July 22, 1859 ; Richard Francis, born January 21,

1862, and Emma Helena, born April 6, 1865. At the

date of his marriage he removed to his present location

where he has ever since resided, and where he owns

340 acres fine prairie land, all under cultivation, and

worth $50 an acre. The entire family are members of

St. Joseph's Catholic Church in the township.

MOWBRAY RICHARD, farmer, Sec. i,

P. O. Rome ; was born in Hallock township, Peoria

county, April 6, 1842, and is the son of Thomas Mow-
bray and Hannah Stagg, who came there from New
York in 1833, and taking up a claim, built upon it the

cabin in which he was born. His father was a native

of New York State and was born there in February,

1803, and his mother was born in Paterson, N. J.

While very young his parents moved to Medina town-

ship, and settled on Sec. 2, where they resided for

about eighteen years and where he was raised. He
married February 11, 1878, Mary Dempsey, daughter

of 5eter Dempsey and Ann McCormick, who was born

in Arkansas, in 1851, by whom he has had one child,

which has quite recently died. The home farm consists

of 160 acres of land, all under cultivation, .two-thirds

of which he owns. His father still lives and resides

with him. Mr. and Mrs. Mowbray are members of the

Catholic Church in their township.

MUELLER WANDELIN, farmer. Sec. 1,

P. O. Rome ; was born in Alsace, France, October 30,

1833, and is the son of Anthony and Magdaline Miil-

ler, who were both natives of that Province. Came to

America with his parents in 1846, landing at New Or-

leans, came up the river to St. Louis, and afterwards

came on to Peoria county, and settled in Medina town-

ship, where they bought a. farm. He resided at home

with his parents until twenty-five years of age, when

he married Bridget Mehan, daughter of John Mehan

and Mary Jennings, natives of Ireland. His wife came

to America in May, 1857, and has borne him seven chil-

dren, six of them now living—Anthony, born July 8,

1859 ; Mary, born April 3, 1861
;
Joseph, born October

6, 1862
;
James, born March 26, 1864; Valentine, born

October 6, 1865 ; Martha, born July 28, 1867, and

Bridget, born August ig, 1870, and died September 20,

1872. His family all reside at home. He owns 120

acres land in home farm, and eight acres under timber

in Hallock township. Mr. and Mrs. MUUer with their

family are members of Catholic Church.

Murphy ThomaB, rallroaa laborer, res. Mossville.

NEAL MOSES, farmer. Sec. 23, P. O. Moss-

ville ; was born in Stafford county, N. H., May 7, 1820,

and is the son of John P. Neal, who was born in

Rochester, Stafford county, N. H., June 17, 1798, and

Sarah Clements, who was born in Dover township,

Stafford county, N. H., November, 2, 1798 ; was

raised on his father's farm and went to school in native

county until 1838, when he came with his parents to

Illinois, settling in Medina township, where he has

since resided, and where his father died October 28,

1872. His mother still lives and resides with him.

His father on coming to Medina township bought the

farm his son now occupies, which at that early date had

been considerably improved, and notwithstanding the

long course of cropping to which it has been subjected,

still remains a fine and productive farm. It is eighty

acres in extent, about fifteen acres of which are under

timber, and Mr. Neal owns besides about 900 acres

land in Peoria county, 700 acres of which are tillable.

Mr. Neal is a bachelor, and about the year 1865, he

adopted as his children, the three sons of his deceased

sister, Abigail Green, who died in Grundy county, 111.,

April I, 1864, viz : Roscoe, born October, 1858
;

Arthur Dow, born May, 1862, and Moses W., born

February 29, 1864. They were all born in Grundy

county, 111., and have resided with him since adoption,

Neal Samuel C. farmer. P. O. Mossvllle;
NewMrk Susan Mrs. carpet weaver, res. Mossvllle.

XEWTON NEWMON, farmer, Sec. 11, P.O.

Mossvllle ; was born in Susquehanna county. Pa., April

19, 1819, and is the son of Benjamin Newton and

Phoebe Stearns, natives of Connecticut, who came to

Pennsylvania in the early years of the century. Was
raised on the farm there, until sixteen years old, when

with his parents and the bulk of the family he came to

Illinois, settling in what is now Stark county, in 1836,

where he resided for about fifteen years, and there lost

both of his parents ; his motherin 1851, and his father

in 1854. He came to Medina township, Peoria county,

in 1848, and settled on Sec. 9, where he lived for many

years and where he married June 29, 1848, Cynthia

Mark, daughter of Zelotas Mark and Sarah Merrill,

natives of New York, who was born October 8, 1832,

by whom he has had seven children, six of whom are

now alive—Lois, born October 9, 1849 ; Jennie, born

March 9, 1851 ;
Joseph, born January 14, 1853, died

August 31, 1S55 ; Arba and Ziba, (twins) born Septem-

ber 14, 1856
;
John, born December 30, 1858

;
Jessie,
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born August 29, 1863, Zelotas Marks, Mrs, Newton's

father, died in the township in December, 1838. His

two eldest children are married. He owns 160 acres

fine prairie land all under cultivation ; has held the

offices of town clerk and collector for one term each.

Pool H. S. farmer and constable, res. MossvlUe.
Prentice W. P. blacksmith, res. Mossville.
Preston Eliza E, Mrs. farmer, res. Gbillicotlie.

PKESTON JAMES S. farmer. Sec. 3, P. O.

Chillicothe. Was born in Roxbury, Delaware county,

N. Y., August 31, 1840, and is the son of Zerah Pres-

ton and Angeline Patterson, residents of New York

State. He was raised on his father's farm, and in the

Fall of 18S9 came West to Illinois, and after a short

stay in Ogle county, came in November of the same

year to Hallock township, where for about eighteen

months he worked for Joel Hicks, and shortly after-

wards settled on his present farm, where he has ever

since resided. He married, February 16, 1863, Eliza

E. Reed, daughter of Thomas B. Reed and Frances

Wilkinson, who was born February 10, 1843. Her

father was bom November 27, 1799, """^ ^" mother

October 4, 1802; both natives of New York. By this

marriage he has had six children, four of whom are

now living— Frances Emily, born November 30, 1863;

Angeline, born September 3, 1865 ; Mary Effie, born

December 4, 1867 ; Merrit Ebberly, born August 31,

l86g, died February 28, 1870; Jennie Ermina, born

January 21, 1874, died January 21, 1877, and Bertha,

born February 28, 1879. He has 160 acres of land in

home farm, part of which is under timber ; is at pres-

ent school director, and has held that office three years.

Mrs. Preston is a member of the Baptist Church.

Seed Hiram, farmer, P. O. Cbillicotbe.

SEED MERIT, farmer, P. O. Chillicothe. Was
born in Jackson county, Ohio, February 12, 1824, and

was the son of Thos. B. Reed and Frances Wilkenson.

His father was born November 27, 1799, in Rensselaer

county, N. Y.; moved to Ohio with his father about

1819, and was married in Jackson county of that State

April 26, 1821. His mother was born October 4, 1802,

in Greenbriar county, N. C. They had seven children,

the first a boy, who died in infancy. Merit, whose

date of birth is given above ; Amy, born Jan. 9, 1825 ;

Harriet, born May 18, 1835 ; Hiram, born March 20,

1837 ; Eliza, born Feb. 10, 1843 ; Electra, born April

21, 1844. Mr. Merit Reed came with his parents to

Illinois, arriving in Peoria county after a long and

dangerous journey in October, 1829. They passed

through both fire and water on their way, and had a

narrow escape of destruction by the former element, at

the Black Swamps near Bloomington. Their teams

got badly swamped, and just then a prairie fire in the

tall grass swept down upon them— they lay directly

in its path, and were powerless to move— a cotton

handkerchief was torn up, rubbed with powder, and

fired by a spark struck from the flint of a gun, and a

narrow strip burned around their teams and wagons.

By this time the head fire burst upon them with great

fury, and while the men and women held the horses'

heads, the flames lapped together above the wagon cov-

ers. After a few perilous moments it rolled on, and the

emigrants turned their attention to the watery element,

which, mixed with mud, now held them fast. After

great exertion the horses were got out, the goods and

chattels carried to dry land, and the wagons dragged

empty after them, reaching a spot where they could

camp for the night, just as it was closing upon them.

On coming to the county they lived during the first

Winter in a small log house on Simon Reed's place, in

what is now Hallock township, and next Spring rented

some land from Elijah Hyde, and bought about the

same time 160 acres of military land in section 3 of

Medina township, to which they moved in the suc-

ceeding Spring, and where he resided till his death,

March 22, 1875. He lived to amass quite a fortune,

being worth about $150,000. His wife died July 5,

1869. Merit Reed resided at home till about the age of

twenty-two, and married, Oct. 15, 1845, Miss Elizabeth

McElhany, who was born in Hagerstown, Ohio, May
27, 1827, who has borne him three children— Frances

Parodine, born March II, 1857; Thomas LeRoy, born

April ID, 1859, and Hiram Herbert, born February

2, 1862, who died at the age of one year and ten

months. Mr. Reed resides on his farm on the north-

west quarter of section 2 in Medina township, and also

owns the north half of the northeast quarter of section

10, and twenty-eight acres on section 10, worth about

$50 an acre ; also forty acres of bluff land on section 4.

Klce E. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

RICE JONATHAN W. (deceased), farmer,

res. Sec. 7, P. O. Dunlap. Was born in Marlboro,

Middlesex county, Mass., January 24, 1811, and was

the son of Martin L. and Sally Rice, natives of that

place. His father farmed, also carried on a boot and shoe

making business, and after leaving school he divided

his time until reaching his 25th year between the farm

and a woolen factory. In 1837 he came to Illinois,

and after a short stay in Quincy, Adams county, re-

moved in the latter part of 1838 to Medina township,

Peoria county, where he bought a farm on section 7 and

began to improve it. He married in January, 1841,

Sarah M. Dennis, daughter of Joseph Dennis and Ra-

chael McClelland, natives of Ohio, who was born Jan.

11, 1822, by whom he had two sons, Elisha, born July

21, 1843, and James, born June 16, 1845. In 1857 he

removed to another farm on same section, which is

now occupied by his eldest son. During life he filled

many township offices, and he died June 24, 1865. His

widow still survives and resides on the old homestead.
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His son Elisha was raised at home, and has ever since

resided on the farm. He married, December 27, 1866,

Elizabeth Stewart, daughter of James and Maria Stew-

art, who was born in Newburg, N. Y., Jan. 12, 1843, by
whom he has six children— Jonathan W., born April

16, i86g
;
James B., born July 22, 1871 ; Burton, born

Jan. 14, 1874; Fred., born March 14, 1876; Florence

E., born May 23, 1877, and Sarah E., born Sept. 12,

1879. He enlisted Aug. 27, 1861, inCo. A, 47th I.V. I.,

forming part of the army of the Mississippi. Took part

in the siege at Vicksburg, and all the engagements

around that city. His company was the first to enter

Jackson, Miss.; was mustered out at Springfield, Oct.

6, 1864. He owns 315 acres in home farm, about 175

acres of which is prairie ; is school director, and in

politics a Republican. Himself and wife are members
of the Presbyterian Church at Dunlap.

Klce'J. W. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Eobinson Joseph, farmer. P. O. Mossville.
Robinson M. I^. farmer, P. O. MossviUe.

ROBISrSON WIIiLIAM, farmer. Sec. 27, P.

O. Mossville, was born in Jefierson county, Va., Nov.

27, 1805, and is the son of George Robinson and Nancy
Rice, natives of Pennsylvania, both of whom are now
deceased. He came to Ohio with his parents when
very young, and was principally raised in Champaign
county. His folks were farmers, and he worked on the

home farm till 1826, when he came to Illinois and after

a short stay returned to Ohio, and after working some

years for himself, married, in 1833, Catherine Weid-
man, daughter of Abraham and Catherine Weidman,
natives of Pennsylvania, who was born in that State,

Nov. 28, i8lo, by whom he had seven children, all but

one now living. Thosie alive are Sarah A., born Sept.

25, 1834; John W., born March 23, 1836; Marion N.,

born April 23, 1839; Abram W., born Oct. 19, 1841;

Joseph V. H., born Feb. i6, 1844, and Mary L., born

April 8, 1846. In the Fall of 1836, he returned to Illi-

nois, settling for about a year near the site of Peoria

city, and in the following Summer came to Medina

township, and farmed on rented land in Sec. 22, for

about ten years, and then bought his present farm. He
owns 140 acres in home farm, and 136 acres' in the

township besides ; also eighty acres in Radnor town-

ship, and worth $35 an acre clear through. His wife

died March 18, 1850, on the old homestead. He was for

one year supervisor of the township, and for many years a

school director. His second and third sons were in the

Union army, and served until the close of the war. His

youngest son and his family reside with him. This son

married Jan. 18, 1872, Georgina Clifton, daughter of

Enos Clifton and Sarah Stringer, natives of Ohio, who
was born Dec. 3, 1844, by whom he has had four chil-

dren, two now living— Cora Naomi, born March 3,

1873, died March 31, 1877; Aaron Ensley, bom May

4, 1874, died May 10, 1874; Lillian Asenath, born Jan.

2, 1878, and Joseph Luther, born March II, 1879.

SlUiman H. B. farmer, P. O. ChilUoothe.
Silliman Jos. Mrs. P. O. ChilUoothe.

SCHAFFNER HENRY (deceased), widow

resides Sec. 10, P. O. Mossville, was born Jan. 3, 1830,

in Lompertsloch, Alsace, France, and is the son of Ja-

cob and Dorothy SchafFner, who were natives of that

province. When sixteen years old he came to America

with his elder sister, and during the nine succeeding

years resided in Lyons, Wayne county, N. Y., and

while there married Dec. 20, 1855, Catherine Feiock, a

native of Germany, who was born Oct. 24, 1833, and

came to this country with her father when twenty years

of age. The fruits of this union were two children—
George, born May 21, 1858, and Edward, born March

22, 1864. Immediately after marriage they removed to

Illinois, settled in Medina township, Peoria county,

and resided for about nine years on Sec. 8, removing in

1865 to the farm now occupied by Mrs. SchafFner and

her two sons. They own forty acres of land, all under

cultivation, and which they value, with existing im-

provements, at $3,200. Mr. Schaffnej: died on his

homestead, Aug. i, 1874. He was an industrious,

hard working man, who enjoyed the confidence and re-

spect of all his neighbors, was a thorough farmer, a

good citizen, and a kind husband and father.

SchaSner Catharine, farmer, P. O. Mossville.

SCOVIL.L. LINAS. farmer. Sec. 22, P.O. Moss-

ville, was bom in Ontario Co., N. Y., March 10, 1815,

and is the son of Linas Scovill, a native of Connecticut

born July 13, 1786, and Elizabeth Seeley, born in Hol-

ster, N. Y., May 15, 1791. When two years old his

parents moved to Dearborn Co., Ind., where they farmed

for two or three years, afterwards removing to Switzer-

land Co., in the same State, and after a residence of

seven years there, again moved to Vermillion Co.,

Ind., where they resided for four years, and finally in

the Summer of 1831, the whole family removed to

Illinois, settling upon what is now Sec. 22, of Medina

township. His father died on the old homestead

November 16, 1840, and his mother in Chillicothe Oct.

13,1862. The farm originally entered upon at that

early day, is still in the possession of Mr. Scovill, and

he has never been out of the county for over six weeks

at a time since he first came to it. He married, June

17, 1858, Miss V. A. Murray, daughter of John Murray

and Cynthia Johnson, natives of Virginia, who was bom
in Winchester, Frederick Co., Va., June 19, 1812. Mr.

Scovill was the eldest in a family of seven children.

After him came Luney, born May' 4, 1818; Lucetta,

born June 20, 1820 ; Lucina, borii March 30, 1822,

Amanda E., born July 2, 1826; Sarah, born Dec. 25,

1831, and Jube F., born Jan. 6, 1824, who died in Kan-

sas, May 18, 1874. Mr. Scovill owns 320 acres of land
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in home farm, about i6o of it under timber. Is political-

ly a Democrat, and in religious matters a Free Thinker.

He has assessed the township, and for five years been

its collector. Has been commissioner of roads for thir-

teen successive years, and has also filled the ofSces of

school trustee and director.

Smallev Wesley, farmer, P. O. Alta.
Smith B. M. farmer, P. 0. Mossvllle.
Sturm A. P. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Sturm Andrew, J. farmer, F. o. Dunlap.

STURM ALBERT, farmer. Sec. 9, P. O. Moss-

ville, was born in Medina township of Peoria Co., in

1851, and is the son of John Sturm and Elizabeth

Dickinson. His father was born in Ohio, and his

mother in Indiana, and both now reside in Medina

township. They had seven children, and he is the

fourth in a family of five sons and two daughters. He
married, February, 1875, Nancy Buttles who was born

in Switzerland Co.,Ind., in 1849. Her mother still lives

there, but her father died a number of years ago. Mr.

Sturm settled on his present farm four years ago. It

consists of 100 acres fine farming land, valued at $50

per acre.

STURM G-EORGB,, farmer. Sec. 16, P. O.

Mossville, was born in Medina township, of Peoria Co.,

Oct. 2, 1833, and is the son of Nicholas Sturm and

Rebecca Fey, who came to Illinois from Ohio. Is the

youngest in a family of seven children, and when very

young his mother died, and his father re-married. He

was raised in Medina township, from a boy by his uncle

Lewis Fey, and resided with him till his death about

1853, receiving from his estate the farm he now occu-

pies. He married Jan. 4, 1855, Louisa B. Joseph,

daughter of Nathan Joseph, a native of Delaware, who

was born in 1837, by whom he had one child, Jacob

Lewis, born Jan. 10 1856. Mrs. Sturm died soon after

the boy was born, and on Feb. 8, 1858, he married

Mrs. Emma Grabbe, daughter of Green J. Haralson

and Orpha Farris, who was bom in Maysville, 111.,

Sept. I, 1839. Her mother was from Kentucky, and

her father was born in France, and was raised and

pdjicated in J4ew York. By this marriage he has had

five children, three now living, John C, born Nov. I 8,

1858; George Edward, born March i860, died when
about seven weeks old, Henry B., born August, 1861,

Robert Bruce, born May 18, 1866, and Joseph C, born

March 23, 1868. He owns 220 acres land, more than

half of which is under timber.

Sturm Prank, farmer, P. O. Mossvllle.
Sturm Jobn, farmer, P. O. Mossvllle.
Sturm Mark, farmer, P. O. Mossvllle.
Thompson W. H. laborer, res. Mossvllle.

THORNE WIIililAM, carpenter and bridge

builder, P. O. Mossville, was born in North Molton,

Devonshire, England, 17th Sept., 1819. John Thome
and Charity Craig were his parents ; the latter died

when he was three years old, and his father some fifteen

years ago. Mr. Thome learned the carpenter's trade

in his native shire, and married Deborah Passmore, of

South Molton. She was born May 24, 1819 —
on the same day as Queen Victoria. Mr. T. came to

America in May 1856, and after stopping six weeks in

Canada, came to Peoria county. The following year

he sent for his family and settled 'on Orange Prairie

for six years, and then removed to their present home.

They have had ten children, the two oldest, Charity

and John, being dead. John died in the U. S. army,

at Vicksburg. The living are : William, aged 37 years
;

Mary, now Mrs. Kingdon, 34 ; George, 31 ; Ann, Mrs.

Harker, 29 ; Richard, 26 ; Edwin, 24 years old ;
all

born in England. Frank, 20, and John, 11 years of

age, were born in Peoria county. Mr. Thome has de-

voted his attention to house carpentering and bridge

building, and has aehieved the reputation of being the

best bridge builder in the county. He has served three

terms as assessor of Medina township, and several

terms as justice of the peace. He has crossed the At-

lantic five times, having made two visits to his native

country since he first came over.

Tlmmons E. farmer, P. O. Alta.

Tuttle Ell. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

WAITE D. M. farmer, Sec. l6, P. O. Mossville.

Wallace Matthew, farmer and grain merchant, P. O, Dunlap,
Webster P. H. farmer, P. O. Mossvllle.
Wilder loren, P. O. Alta.
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Aby Elder, farmer, P. O. Elmore.

ABY Gr. H. farmer. Sec. 6, P. O. Elmore. Was
born in Rochester, Peoria county, in 185 1 ; is the

youngest child of Benjamin J. Aby, who died in 1866,

and who came to Peoria county at a very early day,

there experiencing all the hardships of a pioneer's life,

Mr. G. H, Aby has remained on the home farm with

his mother and sister, and is an industrious and en-

terprising young farmer. Owns no acres of land,

worth about $4,400, and has eighty acres under good

cultivation.

ADAMS W. H. farmer. Sec. 18, P. O. Elmore;

Was born in Holmes county, O., Aug. 30, 1835. Came
to Illinois in 1852, settling in Stark county, and en-

gaged in farming till i85i, when he removed to Peoria

county and his present location. Represented the

township in the Board of Supervisors one year, and has

been justice of the peace for four years. Is a man of

enterprise and intelligence, and has always taken an

active part in township, county, and State affairs.

Married, in 1858, Miss Sarah J. Anthony, who was

born in New Jersey in 1837, by whom he has four

children, two boys and two girls. Owns 126 acres of

land, worth about $5,000, all under cultivation. He
has studied law, and was admitted to the bar in 1867.

Adlem J. B. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Altord Wm. J. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Alward Edmund, farmer, P. O. IVIonica.
Armstrong Robt. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Andrews Wm. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Bacbelder Wm. farmer, P. O. Monica,
Barnes Wm. L. farmer. P. O. Monica.

BAKBJETT GEO. W. farmer. Sec. 22, P. O.

Monica. Was born in Jefferson county, O., in 1835,

and came to Pebria county in 1859. In 1861 married

Miss Lavina J. Ramsey, who was born in Jefferson

county, O., in 1836, and who has borne him eleven

children, seven of whom are now living, four boys and

three girls. Mr. Barrett came to Sec. 22 in 1867, and

owns in it 240 acres of land, all well cultivated and

improved, worth about $12,000. Coming here poor,

he has by hard work and economy acquired a com-

petency for himself and family. He is a member of

the Presbyterian Church.
Belford W. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.
Benjamin Chris, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Blair A. farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Brecnan Wm. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Briderbeclc Wm. farmer, P. O. Elmore.

BBIDSON JOHN, farmer, Sec. 27, P. O. Brim-

field. Was born on the Isle of Man, in 1820. Immi-

grated to America, settling in Brimfield township, in

1851, and remained there till 1857, when he removed

to his present home. Has been very successful in all

his undertakings. Coming to this country poor, he

now owns 340 acres of land, worth $17,200, 260 acres

of which are now under cultivation. He was married

in the old country to Miss Ann Gilling, in 1851, who

was born on the Isle of Man in 1828, and who

bore him three children. She died in 1857, and in the

following year he married Miss Manilla Kunler, who

was born in Indiana in 1832, by whom he has had

seven children.

Brighten Koht. farmer. P. O. Brimfleld.
Bristow John, farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.
Bryan A. W. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Bryan Wm. farmer, P. O. Monica,
Burgess Willis, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Camp Irwin, farmer. P. O. Monica.
Camp L. E. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Campbell C. L. farmer. P. O. Monica.

CAMPBELL JOHN TT. farmer. Sec. 23,

P. O. Monica, is the son of Gilbert and Mary Campbell,

who were married in 1795, and were early settlers in

Boone county, Kentucky. His father was the grandson

of Lord Overton, a Scotch peer. The subject of this

sketch was born in Boone county, Kentucky, Dec. 18,

1812. Married July 6, 1837, at Rushville, 111., while

on a visit there, Miss Margaret M. Dooley, afterwards

returning to Kentucky, where he remained six years

;

thence removed, in 1844, to Preble county, Ohio, where

he resided ten years, and then came to his present

location, where he owns 257 acres of land, worth

$13,000. Has 200 acres of his land under cultivation,

and his farm is altogether well improved. Mrs. Camp-
bell is a native of Kentucky, and was born in 1812;

has had seven children, five boys and two girls, but lost

by death two of their boys, David and Samuel, Oct. 3,

1862.

Garahan B. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

CAKTEB ROBERT P, farmer. Sec. 21,

P. O. Millbrook, was born in Ireland in 1823, and in

the early part of his life was engaged in the African

ivory trade, in the pursuit of which he has traveled

over a large part of Eastern Africa. Came to Peoria

county in 1850, and to his present home in 1866. Owns
240 acres of well cultivated land, worth about $14,400.

He married, in 1850, Miss Nancy Largee, by whom he

has had seven children, six of whom are now living.

He had the misfortune to lose one of them, a boy nine-

teen years of age, some years ago, by drowning.

Cluskey H. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Coe J. Y. merchant, P. O. French Grove.

COJJE JOHN, druggist and dealer in agricul-

tural implements, P. O. Elmore, was born in Peoria

county in 1847. Was raised on a farm, and has resided

in the vicinity of Rochester all his life. Received a

good common school education, and afterwards attended

Cole's Commercial College, in Peoria. In 1870 he

married Miss Mary R. Smith, who was born in Stark
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county in 1851, by whom he has had two children, both

girls, one of whom is now living. In the year of his

marriage he began business as druggist, and has of late

years done quite a large business in agricultural imple-

ments, carrying a good stock in both lines. On March

3, 1865, he enlisted in Co. K., 47th (Consol.) 111. Inf.,

and was mustered at Demopolis, Ala., Jan. 21, 1866.

Cole L^dla A. farmer, P. O. Elmore.

COLE WIIiLiIAM F. fanner, Sec. 30, P. O.

French Grove, was born in Pittsburgh, Pa., in i8i8,

and came to Illinois with his parents, settling in what

is now Hardin county in the same year. He remained

there until 1844, when he came to Peoria county and

settled at French Grove, where in 1846 he married Miss

Mary Ann Cutter, who was born in Richland county,

Ohio, in 1829. Her parents were among the early set-

tlers in the western part of Peoria county, since they

settled on Sec. 6 of Brimfield township in 1833, and

bnilt themselves a cabin there, when there was but one

house from thence to Farmington, in Fulton county.

There were no roads, and they had to go to Lewiston

to get their milling done, the trip there and back taking

a week. Mr. and Mrs. Cole have by industry and

economy acquired a good home, and many comforts

that were undreamed of in the early pioneer days.

They came here in 1856, and own 120 acres of land, all

under good cultivation. Have had thirteen children,

nine boys and four girls, and have eleven children liv-

ing. Mr. and Mrs. Cole are living at their present

home surrounded by friends, and are much respected

by all who know them.

Colwell W. farmer,^. O. Monica.

COON" GEORGE J. farmer, Sec. 13, P. O.

Monica, was born in New York State in 1839, where he

resided till 1850, when he came to Peoria county, set-

tling in Rosefield township ; came to his present loca-

tion in 1874. In 1861 married Miss Jane Aldredge, from

Indiana, bywhom he had two children. She died in 1872,

and in 1874 ^^ married Patience Garrison, his present

wife. They own 140 acres of land, all of which is

under cultivation and worth about $7,000. Mr. Coon's

father is at present a resident of Rosefield township

;

he bought raw land, which he afterwards improved and

sold. Mr. Coon enlisted in 1862, in Co. K, 83d I. V. I.

and was mustered out the same year.

Coon Patience, farmer, P. O. Monica.
GuUen Michael, farmer, P. O. Brimfleld.

CRAVENS SYLVESTER, M.D., P. O. El-

more, was born in Westmoreland county, Penn., in

in 1836, and came to Peoria county in 1858. Began

the study of medicine in 1855, and in '59 and '60 at-

tended lectures at Cleveland Medical College ;- and in

Cincinnati, at the Medical College there, attended the

classes in '60 and '61. Graduating in the latter year,

he returned to Rochester and began to build up a prac-

tice which Is now a large one. In 1864 he married

Miss Chloe Stanton, who was born in Peoria county and

was the daughter of one of the earliest settlers of Roch-

ester. Dr. Cravens owns 400 acres of land, 250 acres

of which are under cultivation, worth altogether,

$10,000.

CUTTER JOB, farmer. Sec. 30, P. O. French

Grove, was born in Sec. 6, Brimfield township, on April

ig, 1837. Is the third son of Isaac and Sarah Cutter,

who settled in that township in 1833 and made a small

farm, when the country around was a wilderness. Both

his parents died in the old homestead. Mr. Cutter, in

1864, married Miss M. Flakerty, who was born in Maine

in 1840. They have had six children, five of whom are

now living. They came to their present home in 1866
;

own eighty acres of land, all improved, worth about

$4,800. Mr. Cutter is a quiet, unassuming man, who
is liked and respected by all who know him.

DAVIS RICHARD C. farmer. Sec. 31, P. O.

French Grove, was born in Ohio county, W. Va., in

1835 ; came to Peoria county in 1856, and two years

afterwards married Miss Margaret Keyser, who was

born in Belmont county, Ohio, in 1834. They have

had eight children, and all of them are living. Came
to his present home in 1869, where he has ever since

lived ; owns 160 acres of well improved land, worth

about $9,600. Has been road commissioner for the

township of Brimfield, and is now serving that of Mill-

brook in the same capacity. Mr. Davis and his wife

are members of the Presbyterian Church.

DIMMICK MILTON", farmer, Sec. 19, P. O.

Elmore, was born in Ohio in 1840 ; came to Illinois in

1852, and to Peoria county in 1858. Owns 140 acres

of land, all well improved. Married, in 1864, Miss

Lavina Green, who was born in 1843, and has borne

him six children, two of whom are dead. Mr. Dimmick

is a quiet, frugal and industrious man, and is much
respected.

Doddsworth Wm. farmer, P. O. Elmore.

DOYLE JOHN, M.D., P. O. Elmore, was bom
in Baltimore county, Md., in 1827, and ten years later

he came to and settled in Clark county. 111. In 1850

he began the study of metlicine, graduating in the Ec-

lectic Medical Institute at Cincinnati in 1854, and in

the same year began to practice. In 1858 he married

Miss Sarah A. Noyes, who was born in New Hampshire

in 1833. Dr. Doyle settled in Rochester in 1855, and

with the exception of one year in Stark county and

three years in Cincinnati, has resided there ever since,

and practiced his profession. He has taken great in-

terest in the Christian Church, he being one of the

elders and the minister of the church.

Ennls N. S. farmer, P. O. Monica.

GARRISON BENJAMIN, farmer. Sec. 22,

P. O. Elmore, was born in Clinton county, Ohio, in
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1844, and came to Peoria cotinty with his parents in

1856, settling in Millbrook township, where he has

ever since remained. He is the second son of Lemuel
Garrison who died in this township. Mr. Garrison

married in 1875, Miss Mary B. Owens, who was born

in Knox county in i860, by whom he has had two chil-

dren. He owns eighty acres of well cultivated land,

worth about $4,000.

Garrison Lemuel, farmer, P. O. Monica.

GAKBISON LEWIS, farmer, Sec. 16, P. O.

Elmore was born in Clinton, O., in 1837 ; came to

Peoria county in 1855, settling on section 15 ; is the

first son of Lemuel Garrison, who died in this town-

ship in 1873, and was the father of eighteen children.

Mr. Garrison married in 1861, Miss Matilda A.

Aldredge, who was born in Knox county, in 1838,

and who bore him eleven children, of whom ten are

now living—seven boys and three girls. Owns 220

acres of land, worth about $ir,ioo, of which, 170 acres

are under good cultivation. Mr. Garrison has seen

many improvements made in this section, very little

having been done in that way at the time he settled

here.

C^arrison Robert^ farmer, P. O. Monica.

GARRISON THOMAS B. farmer, Sec. 15
_

P. O. Elmore, was born in Clinton county, O., in 1850,

and came to Peoria county with his parents, settling in

the township of Millbrook, where he has since re-

mained. He married in 1872, Miss Rebecca J, Camp,

who was born in Clinton county, O., in 1854, and by

whom he has had four children, three now living. He
owns 200 acres of land, worth about $10,000, and has

180 acres under good cultivation. Mr. Garrison is a

young man of good habits ; is industrious and economi-

cal, and stands well in the neighborhood in which he

lives. He is the only son of Robert Garrison.

GiUen James, farmer, P. O. French Grove.

GIIiLING JAMES, farmer. Sec. 34. P- O.

Brimfield, was born in the Isle of Man in 1826 ; came

to Peoria county in 1850 ; is a carpenter by trade, and

followed that business for about eighteen years.

Twelve years ago he returned to the old country, and

while there he married his present wife, then Miss Jane

Skinner; returning to Peoria county in i86g, he came

to his present home in 1874, where he owns eighty

acres of land, all improved, and worth about $6,000.

He has a good home, is comfortably situated and is

highly respected by his neighbors.

Grant Kennett, farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Grant W. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Gross Wm. farmer, P. O. Elmore.

HARDY JOHN", farmer. Sec. 16, P. O. Elmore,

was born in England in 1823 ; married in 1846, Miss

Ellen Moody, who was also of English birth, and was

born in 1826; came to Scott county, 111., in 1851,

where he remained till 1872, when he came to Peoria

county and settled on his present home in section 16,

where he has 230 acres of good land, worth about

$11,500, of which 180 acres are under cultivation.

This property is the result of industry and economy, as

Mr. Hardy came to this country a poor man. He has

had twelve children, six ofwhom are now living.

Harriott William, farmer, P. O. French Grove.

HOLZ WILIilAM, miller, P. O. Elmwood,

was born in Prussia in 1 832, and immigrated to America

in 1851 ; came to Rochester, 111., in 1864, moving

thence in 1866, to Elmwood, where he purchased the

Union Mills, and where he has spent upwards of $40,-

000 in building, repairing, and machinery. In 1875,

he lost his mill in Elmwood by fire, when he returned

to Rochester and commenced repairing the Rochester

mills ; has spent $13,000 in this direction and has now
got it in first-class order ; has three runs of burrs and

the machinery is all new. Mr. Holz has eighty acres

of good land attached to the mill and raises consider-

able stock ; married in 1858, Miss Catherine Schroeder,

by whom he has six children.

HUBER BENJAMIN, retired, P. O. Elmore,

was born in Pennsylvania in 1820, and married in 1843

Miss Rebecca Burkhart, who was born in that State in

1825 ; came to Peoria county and settled in Rochester

in 1849, where he engaged in blacksmithing, and kept

at it for twenty-four years. They are the parents of

nine children, five of them being now alive. Coming

to Rochester with limited means, Mr. Huber has by

economy and strict attention to business, acquired a

good home, with no acres of well cultivated land,

worth about $5,500, where he and his wife hope to

spend their remaining years. His children are all mar-

ried. Mr. and Mrs. Huber are members of the Con-

gregational Church.

Hurt Susan, farmer, P. O. Monica.

IRELAND CHARLES, stock dealer, P. O.

Elmore, was born in Fayette, Seneca county, N.Y. His

grandfather was the first settler in the township,locating

in 1794; also organized the first independent military

company of that county ; was at the battle of Queens-

town when Brock was killed. His father was born in

Milton county. Pa., but went to Seneca county; N. Y.,

when he was two years old ; raised a family of two

children, one of each sex. Charles, was born on the

20th day of August, 1823. When he was nine years

old his father immigrated to Geauga county, Ohio,

where he was reared a farmer, going two miles through

the woods to a log house to school. Helped to clear a

farm of 260 acres. In 1848 married Miss Laura Ann,

daughter of Harry Hubbard. She was born in Massa-

chusetts on the 17th day of February, 1830. Six boys

and five girls was the fruit of their union. Immigrated

from Ohio to Peoria county in 1858, and located in

Millbrook township. The first two years was engaged
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in building and contracting on railroads. Furnished

all the ties, and erected the bridges, from Gilman to

the State line. In 1863 helped to recruit a company,

and was assigned to the 77th I. V. 1., Company G,

and was commissioned as 1st Lieutenant, mustered in

at Peoria. The regiment was commanded by Col.

Grier. Participated in the engagement at Arkansas

Post, and afterwards did duty on the river. He re-

signed on account of ill health after being in the service

a year.

Jaqnes Henry, farmer, F. o. Elmore.

JAQUES H. S. farmer, Sec. 7. P. O. Elmore,

was bom in Ohio in 1839, came to Peoria county in

1855, and has resided in Millbrook township ever since.

In 1862 he crossed the plains to California, returning

in 1864, and shortly thereafter married Miss Emeline

Pratz, by whom he has two children. He is an enter-

prising farmer and a man of influence in the township,

owning 500 acres of land, 200 of which are under good

cultivation, worth about $21,000. besides a large stock

of cattle and hogs, the raising of which he makes a

specialty.

JAQUES JOSIAH, farmer. Sec. 18, P. O. El-

more, was bom in Richland county, O., in 1829; came

to Peoria county in 1854, ^^^ settled on section 18, in

Millbrook township, where he has ever since remained

and where he owns 500 acres of land, worth about

$20,000. In 1856 he married Miss Isabell Pratz, who

was born in the same county as himself. They have

been blessed with eleven children, seven now living.

Mr. Jaques has improved most of his property since

coming here ; is a quiet, industrious farmer, and is

much respected. Mrs. Jaques is a member of the

Christian Church, at Rochester.

Kaua J. farmer, P. O. Elmore.

KELIiEB JAMES M. farmer, Sec. 21, P. O.

French Grove, was born in Marshall county. West Va.,

in 1819 ; came to Peoria county in 1856, and settled on

section 20, Millbrook township, where he improved a

lot of sixty acres, on which he remained till 1878, when

he moved to his present location on section 21, where

he now owns 240 acres of land all under cultivation,

and worth about $14,400. He came to the county a

comparatively poor man but by his industry and sound

knowledge of farming he has acquired the land he

owns and the respect of all who know him. He is a

member of the Presbyterian Church.

Kneer Benedict, farmer, F. O. Monica.
Lamberton E. F. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Lamberton T. O. farmer, F. O. Elmore.
Lawrence H. farmer, F. O. Elmore.

liEWG ALBERT, farmer. Sec. 9, P. O. El-

more, was bom in Yorkshire, England in 1841, and

came to Peoria county in 1870. Married, in 1873,

Miss Mary F. Aby, who was born in Stark county, in

.1851; has had three children, two of them now alive.

Mr. Leng has followed the occupaticTn of a farmer all

his lifetime, both in England and this country, and now
owns a nice little farm of eighty acres, worth about

$4,000, and has fifty acres under cultivation.

Lewis Hannab. farmer, F. O. Elmore.

liORANCE HARNESS, farmer, Sec. 19, P.

O. Elmore, was born in Franklin county, Ohio in 1823,

and came to Peoria county in 1843, marrying in the fol-

lowing year Miss Ellen Lewis, who was born in Dear-

born county, Ind. in 1826. They are the parents of

twelve children, ten of them survive. Mr. Lorance first

settled on Sec. 6 of Millbrook township, where he re-

mained eight years, removing thence to Sec. 19, where

he has ever since remained. He owns 165 acres of

land, all well improved, and worth $8,250 ; a vein of

coal, five feet thick, underlies part of his land. Has a

very fine spring well on his farm, yielding an inex-

haustible supply of water. Mr. Lorance is much re-

spected in the neighborhood in which he resides.

Lyon Josepb, farmer, P. O. Frencb Grove.

MARKIiEY E. justice of the peace, P. O. El-

more, is the son of David Markley, who came from

Ohio and settled in Fulton county in 1836, Mr. E.

Markley was born in Richland county, Ohio in 1820,

coming with his parents to Illinois, and in 1837 came

to Rochester with a stock of goods, which he took

charge of and sold on his father's account, making a

monthly trip on horseback by a. bridle path to his

father's residence in Fulton county, to give a report of

the month's business. This continued for about a year

when he cleared out the stock and returned to Fulton

county, and engaged in various pursuits until 1850,

when he returned to Rochester and began business on

his own account. He has been an active business man
and is a prominent citizen of the town. He married in

1851, Miss Emily Wycoff, who was born in New Jersey

in 1828, by whom he had five children. Mrs. Markley *

died Feb. 25, 1861, and in the succeeding year he

married, his second wife, Mrs. Nancy Rice, who was

born in Pennsylvania in 1828, and who has also borne

him five children, all living. Mr. Markley owns eighty

acres of land, all under cultivation, and worth about

$2,400; has been supervisor one year, and is now serv-

ing his second year as justice of the peace.

MARKIiEY EVERETT, merchant, P. O.

Elmore, was born in Stark county, 111. in 1855, and has

lived for many years in the neighborhood of Rochester.

Married in 1878, Miss Helen M.Webster, who was born

in Ohio in 1844. Began business for himself as mer-

chant in 1878, but had previously been in that business

for his father and others ever since he was old enough

to attend to it ; carries a large and well selected stock

of goods, and does a good business. His father was

the second man who sold goods in Rochester, that be-

ing in the year 1837.
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MARTZ W. J. farmer, &ec. 32, P. O. French

Grove, was born in Pennsylvania in 1834, and came to

Peoria county in 1857, and is a harness maker by trade.

Married in 1863, Miss Nancy E. Moore, who was born

in Butler county, Ohio in 18,14. They have had six

children, three of them now alive. Mr. Martz bought

his present home in 1866, and is now worth $4,800.

His wife is a member of the Presbyterian Church.

Mathews Thos. farmer, P. O. Monica.

MAXWELIi FRANCIS fK. teacher, P. O.

Elmore.

McCOY DANIEL, farmer, Sec. 33. P- O.

French Grove, was born in West Alexander, Wash-
ington county, Pa., and when fourteen years old,

moved to Ohio county, W. Va., where he remained till

1851, then coming to Peoria county, and settling on

Sec. 33, where he has since remained, and where he

owns 470 acres of land, all under cultivation, 210

acres of which forms his home farm. Mr. McCoy
married June 21, 1847, Miss Jane B. Stewart, who was

born in Alleghany county, Pa., August 8, 1826, and

who died November 26, 1877, leaving four children to

mourn her loss. Mr. McCoy is a member of the Pres-

byterian Church.

McCOY JOHN A. (deceased), late of Sec.

32, Millbrook township, P. O. French Grove, was born

in Washington county. Pa., in 1821 ; was brought up in

Ohio county, W. Va., and came to Peoria county in

1849, settling two miles west of Brimfield. He came

to his late fine home in 1852, and remained upon it

until his death. His estate consists of 890 acres of

fine improved farming land. Mr. McCoy married in

W. Virginia in 1852, Miss Matilda Davis, who was

born in Marshall county, of that State, in 1829, by

whom he had three children, two girls and one boy

and who died in 1861. Mr. McCoy possessed an in-

tellect much above mediocrity, and was emphatically a

public-spirited man. These qualities, together with

rare integrity of character, made him sought after for

positions of official responsibility. He served his

township seventeen years in the County Board of

Supervisors, seven of which he was chairman of that

body, during which the present elegant court house

was erected. His _innate patriotism impelled him to

active and efficient efforts in behalf of the Union dur-

ing the late civil war. The life of Mr. McCoy was

suddenly and tragically terminated on the 14th of Sep-

tember, 1879, from wounds inflicted two or three days

previously by a vicious bull. Thus was cut off in the

midst of his usefulness at the age of fifty-nine years,

and ten months a man whom Peoria county greatly

missed and sadly mourned.

MOOBE DAVID, farmer. Sec. 32, P. O. French

Grove, was born in Lehigh county. Pa., in 1816 ; went

to Butler county, O., in 1818, where he learned the

carpenter trade ; married in 1840, Miss Mary Richto-

line, who was born in Northumberland county, Pa., in

1821 ; came to Peoria county in i860 ; has had five

children, four of them now living and married. He
owns 153 acres of land, all improved, and worth $9,200.

Mr. and Mrs. Moore are members of the Presbyterian

Church.

MOORE JACOB H. farmer. Sec. 31, P. O'

French Grove, was born in Ohio, in 1840. Married

Miss Martha A. Reed, who was born in W. Virginia in

1848, by whom he has had four children, two of whom
are now alive. Owns 80 acres of land under excellent

cultivation, and worth $4,800. He is a member of the

Presbyterian Church.

Morris D. farmer. P. O. Elmore.
Mot2 Tobias, farmer, P. O. Monica.
McArdle Xhos., farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
McCabe Pat. farmer, P. O. Brlmtleld,
McDonald Alice, farmer, P O. Brimfield.
McGregor John, farmer, P. O. Monica.
McKellAmos, farmer, P. O. French Grove.
McKown Levi, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
McManus Bernard, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
McMuUen Jas. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Moyan Thos. farmer, P. O. Brimfield.
Nightingale D. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Oanes Wm. M. farmer. P. O. French Grove.
Fratz J. A. carpenter, P. O. Elmore.

PBATZ WILLIAM W. farmer, Sec. 20, P
O. French Grove, was born in Stark county, 111., March

21, 1841 ; his parents were old settlers of that county,

having come there in 1837. Mr. Pratz came to Peoria

county, where he married Miss Mary E. Day, daughter

of Dr. Wm. B. Day, a native of New Jersey, in the

following' year. She was born Nov. 20, 1842, and has

had six children, two boys and four girls. They own

80 acres of land in the e. ^ of the s. w. % of Sec. 20,

all under cultivation and worth $4,800, and have the

respect of all who know them.

Prior Calvin, farmer, P. O. Monica.

REED C. A. farmer, Sec. 29, P. O. French

Grove, is the eldest son of William and Sarah V. Reed,

was born in Peoria county, Nov. 20, 1853, and grew to

manhood on a farm. On Feb. 3, 1875, he married Miss

Jennie Coe, who was born in Meiggs county, O., May
10, 1855 ; they have had three children, two of whom
are alive. They own sixty acres from the north side of

the n. w. X of S^^. 29, all of it under cultivation and

worth about $3,600. Mr. Reed is an industrious and

economical man, and he and his family are respected by

all who know them. They are members of the Presby-

terian Church at French Grove.

BEED JAMES C. farmer. Sec. 29, P. O.

French Grove, was born in Peoria county in 1854, and

married in 1875, Miss Sadie G. Oakes, who was born in

Pennsylvania in 1856 ; have had two children, the eld-

est of whom died April 12, 1877. Mr. Reed owns 80

acres of well cultivated land, worth about $4,800.

Both himself and wife are members of the Presbyterian

Church.

BEED SAMUEL M. farmer. Sec. 32, P. O.
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French Grove, was born in Ohio county, W. Va., in

1821 ; came to Peoria county in 1852, and settled where

he now resides ; owns 73 acres of land in Brimfield

township, and 61 acres in Sec. 32 in that of Millbrook,

all under thorough cultivation. He is a good farmer

and citizen, and a quiet, unassuming man, enjoying the

confidence and respect of all who know him. He mar-

ried in 1852, Miss Jane Davis, who was born in Mar-

shall county, W. Va., in 1825, by whom he had two

children. Mrs. Reed die& in 1856, and in 1859 ^^

married Miss Margaret McCoskey, who was born in

Ohio county, W. Va., in 1832 ; they have one child, and

are all members of the Presbyterian Church.

REED WII.I1IAM, farmer. Sec. 34, P. O.

French Grove, was born in Ohio county, W. Va., in

1 817; came to Peoria county in 1849, settling on Sec.

33, and has remained in the township ever since
;

moved to Sec. 21, and came to his present home in i860,

where he owns 160 acres of good land, and makes a

specialty of raising stock. Married in 1851, Miss

Sarah V. McConnell, who was born in Washington

county. Pa., in 1832, by whom he has had four boys, all

of whom are now living.

BEED WILIilAM, farmer. Sec. 3, P. O. El-

more, was born in Delaware county, O., in.1837 ; came

to Peoria county in 1856, and settled on Millbrook

township in 1863, where he now owns 150 acres of land,

80 acres of which is under cultivation and worth $45

an acre. He has made many improvements, aud has

eighteen miles of worm rail fence, which makes his

farm a desirable one. In 1858 he married Miss Mary

Gingrick, krho was born in Ashland county, 0.,in 1842,

and who has borne him eight children, six of whom are

now living. Mr. Reed has always taken an active part

in all township matters, is a. hard working, economical

farmer, and a much respected citizen.

Rooney Hugh, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Kud J. C. farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Sargent Jno. farmer, P. O. Klmore.
Shade Henry, farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Slaterly J. farmer. P. O. Brlmfleld.
Sloan ,r. farmer, P. O. Brlmfleld.

SliOCUM JOHN C. farmer. Sec. 32. P- O.

French Grove, was born in 1837, on the old homestead

settled by his father, who was one <^ the first settlers

in this vicinity, and who died in 1846. He married

Miss Margaret Bailey, who was born in Pennsylvania

in 1842, by whom he has had six children, all living.

Owns 115 acres of land, 100 of which are under culti-

vation, and worth $6,950. He is a quiet, much respect-

ed man, and a good citizen.

SLYGH JOHN D. justice of the peace, P. O.

Elmore, was born in Ireland in 1801, and came with

his parents to Albany, N. Y., where he remained until

ten years of age, when he removed to 'Virginia, where

in 1824 he married Miss Mary E. Potts, daughter of

Capt. James B. Potis of the United States Navy,

57

and who was born on board of a United States

ship in 1808. Remained in Virginia till 1835, when they

came to Tazewell Co., 111., removingto Millbrook town-

ship and settling near Rochester, January i, 1837. There

were then but two log cabins in Rochester, occupied

respectively by the Smiths and the Stantons. Conse-

quenty Mr. Slygh has seen the development of all the im-

provements made in this section of country. He has been

an active man of business all his life, and is now serving

his thirtieth year as justice of the peace, five years of

which was in Knox Co., and the rest in Peoria Co
;

lives presently with his son Henry, and gives general

satisfaction as a justice. Mr. and Mrs. Slygh have had

fifteen children, nine of whom are now living. Mrs.

Slygh died on August 26, 1875. The old gentleman

owns seventy acres of land near Rochester, worth

about $2,100. He assessed the township for seven

years, for five years in succession.

Stowell A.ug. farmer, P. O. Monica.
StruDb Nancy, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Sutherland E. J. farmer, P. O. French Grrove.
Sweat Benj. harness maker, P. O. Elmore.
Thomas Geo. farmer, P. O. Elmore.
Todd Alex, farmer, P. O. French Grove.
Todd Bobt. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Uykoff G. P. insurance agent, P. O. Elmore.
Wasson John, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Whitaker John, farmer. P. O. Brimfield.
Whltaker John W. farmer, P. O. Monica.

WHITTAKER JOHN C. farmer. Sec. 27,

P. O. Brimfield, was born in Ireland in i8ii, where he

married Miss Susan Carter, also a native of that coun-

try, and who was born in 1806, Sailed lor New
Orleans from Liverpool in 1845, and were eight weeks

and five days on the voyage. First settled in the coun-

ty in the vicinity of what was then Fort Clark. Mr.

Whittaker worked very hard, and labored under many
disadvantages, and as the result of his industry, has now

a fine home and farm, under good improvement, where

he lives at peace with all his neighbors. Mr. and Mrs.

Whittaker have had six children, all living. Have four

sons in Millbrook township, and one son and their

only daughter in that of Brimfield.

WHITTAKER RICHARD, farmer. Sec.

34, P. O. Brimfield, was born in Ireland in 1836, came

to Peoria Co. in 1845, and to his present home in 1864,

where he owns 160 acres of well improved land worth

$9,600. Married in 1863 Miss Hannah McGowanner,

by whom he has had nine children, eight of whom are

now alive. Mr. Whittaker is much respected and lives

surrounded by relatives and friends.

WASSON JOHN, farmer. Sec. 14, P. O.

Brimfield, was born in Cayuga county, N. Y., in 1833,

came to Marshall county. 111., in 1852, where he re-

mained one year, and then removed to Elmwood, Peo-

ria county, where, on Nov. 13, 1854, he married Betsy

C. Aldrich, who was born in Missouri in 1836. Has

had eleven children, ten now living. Mr. Wasson

came to Sec. 14 of Millbrook township in 1868, where

he owns 160 acres of land, all well improved and worth
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about $8,000. He has resided in this county since

1853, in Elmwood, Brimfield, Jubilee and Millbrook

townships ; has held the office of road commissioner

for three years, and is at present one of the school

trustees.

WHITE JOHN, farmer. Sec. 5, P. O. Elmore,

was born in Frederick county, Md., Aug. 9, 1812, and
came to Richland county, C, in Oct., 1827, where he

remained till 1835, when he came to Peoria county

with the Smith family, who settled on Sec. 7 of Mill-

brook township, Oct. 15, 1835. He helped them to

build their cabin, and worked out in the neighborhood

for three years, and then began an improvement for

himself. Bought from the government the west half

of the south west of Sec. 5 ; made his entry Jan. 13,

1836 ; commenced his improvement in 1839, 3"<i ^^^

ever since remained in the same section. The first

election Mr. White attended was at Princeville, in 1836,

when Theragood Smith was elected justice of the

peace. In 1838 he married Miss Eliza A. Rigou, who
was born in Ohio in 1820, by whom he had four chil-

dren, only one now living. His wife died in Aug;,

1846, and on Feb. 17, 1848, he married Miss Permelia

Aby, who bore, him two children, one of whoQi has

since died. His second wife died Feb. 18, 1851, and

he then married Miss Eliza Briggs, on April 20, 1854,

the fruit of which marriage was nine children, six of

whom survive. Mr. White owns 200 acres olT land,

worth about $6,000, and has 90 acres of it under cul-

tivation.

WHITTAKEB ROBERT, farmer. Sec. 27,

P.O. Brimfield, was born in Ireland in 1836, and came to

Peoria county in 1840 and settled in his present location

in 1856. In 1864 he married Miss Frances Burnell, who
was born in Peoria county in 1847, and has borne him

four children. Owns 165 acres of well improved and

cultivated land, worth $9,900.
Wilford Joseph, farmer, P. O. Monica.
WiUett B. D. larnier, P. O. Blmore.
WiLletC Liston, farmer, P. O. Elmore.

WIIifiETT O. P. farmer. Sec. 20, P. O. El-

more, was born in Wayne county, Ind., in 1821, where

he was bred a farmer, and came to Peoria county in

1856, settling on Sec. 20, which has ever since been his

home. Married, in 1843, Miss Margaret Nelson, of

Fayette county, Ind., who was born in 1824. Has had

six children, three of them being now alive. Mr. Wil-

lett owns 180 acres of land, worth $9,400, 160 acres of

which are under cultivation. He is a good farmer and

an esteemed citizen ; has held the office of township

commissioner for several years, and has also been as-

sessor and school trustee.

WES^CHESTEB GEO. E. merchant, P. O.

Elmore, was born in Clinton county, Penn., in 1853,

and came to Peoria county in 1868. Married, ten years

later. Miss Emma L. Winchester, who was born in this

county in i860. Mr. Winchester has been in mercan-

tile business for many years, and has in stock at his

present location a large and varied assortment of gen-

eral merchandise.

Wlnne Hugh, farmer, P. O. Brimfield.

WYCOFFE AABOIf D. (deceased), res. of

widow. Sec. 30, P. O. French Grove. Mr. W. was born

in New Jersey in 1820, and in 1836 came with his pa-

rents to Peoria county, settling in Millbrook towftship.

They were among the first settlers there, and the

county was in a totally unimproved state at the time

of their coming. Mr. Wycoffis, on Dec. 9, 1855, mar-

ried Mrs. Harriet Dye, who was born in Warren

county, N. J., in 1820, by whom he had two daughters,

twins, born Oct. 30, 1856. He died Aug. 9, 1871. Was
a quiet, unassuming man, a good, reputable citizen,

and was much respected by those hd was brought in

contact with. Previous to her marriage with Mr. Wy-
coffe, his surviving partner was married, on Oct. 30,

1838, to Dr. Wm. B. Dye, to whom she bore five chil-

dren, two of whom are now living. . Dr. Dye died May

23, 1849, and three years later his widow came to Peo-

ria county, and now resides with her two daughters at

their pleasant home on Sec. 20, where she owns 120

acres of well cultivated land, worth about $6,000. Mrs.

Wycoffe is a member of the Christian Church.

WYCOFFE GEO. P. farmer. Sec. 20, P. O.

Elmore.
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Adams Ezra, farmer, P. o. FrlncerlUe.
Albertson J. farmer, P.O. Princevllle.
Alder Wm. station agent, P. O. Princevllle.
Alford Chas. farmer, F, O. Duncan.
Alford M. farmer, P. O. Duncan.

AliLWOOD THOS. retired, P. O. PrinceviUe.

AIiTER WM. H. station agent, PrinceviUe.

Was born in Northumberland county, Pa., in 1834, and
came with his parents to Peoria county in 1837. Settled

first in_ Peoria, and came to PrinceviUe in 1852. Mar-

ried, in 1855, Miss Jemima Martin, who was born in

England in 1834, l^y whom he has had four children,

only one of whom is now alive. His father died in

1862. Mr. Alter's brother, Charles E. Alter, was a

member of Co. K., 86th 111. Inf., and was killed in the

battle of Bentonville, in Alabama. He has been station

agent at PrinceviUe since Oct. 10, 1871, and gives great

satisfaction in the position, both to the railroad com-

pany and to the people of PrinceviUe.

Andrews Cordelia, farmer,- P. O. PrinceviUe.
Andrews S. A. farmer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Angleword Jas. farmer. F. O. Duncan.
Armstrong E. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Armstrong 1. 1, farmer, P. O. Monica.

ARMSTRONGJOSEPH, farmer and justice

of the peace, Sec. 19, P. O. Monica. Was born in

Washington county, Pa., in 1820, and in 1841 married

Miss Martha McNeil, who was born in the same

county in 1817, by whom he has had eleven children,

nine of them now living. Came to Peoria county in

1855, settling on the northeast quarter of Sec. 19, where

he has ever since remained. He has been a justice of

the peace since 1857, and is now serving his thirteenth

year as supervisor. Owns 420 acres of land, worth

$21,200, and has 320 acres under cultivation. His farm

was all raw land when he came here, but is now in a

highly improved state, with good buildings upon it.

Mrs. Armstrong died March 3, 1877.

ATBSr CHARIiES S. carpenter, P. O.

PrinceviUe. Was bom in New Jersey in 1829. Mar-

ried, on Sept. 25, 1852, Miss Susan Litts, who was also

born in New Jersey, in 1832, and by whom he has had

ten children ; six are now living. Came with his family

t(j Peoria county in 1854, and engaged in the business

of carpenter, which he followed until 1862, when he

enlisted in Co. K, 86th 111. Vol., and in course of his

military career was present at the Perryville, Ky., en-

gagement, and the charge at Kenesaw Mountain, at

•;vliich latter encounter he lost the index finger of his

left hand. He was mustered out at Washington, D.

C, June a, 1865, when he returned to PrinceviUe and

resumed his trade of carpenter, which he has since con-

tinued.

Auten E. banker, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Auten Peter, P. O. Princevllle.

Ayllng J. restaurant, P. O. Princevllle.
Bane wm. farmer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Barr D. huckster, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Barr Eliza E. A., P. O. Princevllle.
Belford P. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Belford G. W. farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Benjamin R. J., J. P., P. O. PrinceviUe.
Best Wm. farmer. P, O. Monica.
BIgham M. L. farmer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Blakewell T, laborer, P. O, PrinceviUe.

BLANCHARD F. B. grain, coal, and general

dry goods dealer, P. O. PrinceviUe, was born in Law-
rence county. 111., in 1835, and came to Peoria

county in 1836. Married, in 1857, Miss Amy Reves,

who has presented him with eight children, five of

them now living. Mr. Blanchard farmed until 1866,

then engaged in general dry goods business, and has

since added to it that of grain dealer. He does a good

business, is well located, keeps a well selected stock of

dry goods and notions, and gives the top market price

for grain.

Blanchard J. L, lumberman, P. O. PrinceviUe.

BliABTCHARD M. M. magistrate, P. O.

PrinceviUe, was born in Lawrence county, 111., in 1825,

and came with his parents in 1S36, to Peoria county.

Settled on Sec. 22, the country around being entirely

unimproved. There were only three log cabins between

their place and Peoria. The nearest settlement was

Atkiris, fifteen miles southwest and twenty-five miles

northeast was Boyd's. The nearest mill waS in Taze-

well county, and it took about six days to make the

trip there and back. In 1845 Mr. Blanchard married

Miss Amanda Bliss, who was born in New York in

1826, by whom he has had eight children, six are now
alive. Has served six years as constable of PrinceviUe,

and is now serving his third year as peace magistrate.

Was also for about two years postmaster, receiving the

appointment under the administration of President

Johnson, and finishing his term in that of Grant,

BUSS O. 0. farmer, P. O. PrlnceylUe.

BLISS SOLOMON, druggist, P. O. Prince-

viUe, was born in Chatauqua county, New York, in

1821. Came to Peoria county. III., in 1838, and settled

in PrinceviUe in 1839. Married, in 1842, Miss Elizabeth

L. Blanchard, who was born in Lawrence county, 111.,

in 1819, by whom he has had eight children, five boys

and three girls. Mrs. Bliss died at PrinceviUe in 1878.

Having come to the county at such an early date, Mr.

Bliss has naturally been a witness of the inception and

progress of many of the existing improvements. He
was a farmer the most of his life, but at present con-

ducts a good business in drugs, paints and oils, etc. He
owns eighty acres of good land near PrinceviUe, is com-

fortably situated, and a member of the Methodist

Church.
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BOWMAN JOHN, saw miller and coal mine

proprietor, P. O. Princeville, was born in Scotland in

1844, and came to Peoria county in 1867. Commenced
the sawing business in 1874, and in 1878 sunk a shaft

for coal, one and one-fourth miles north of Princeville,

and was successful in finding it, though at first he had

much trouble in working it, owing to insufficient means

of getting rid of the water that accumulated in the pit,

but after sinking the third shaft his perseverance was

rewarded by striking good coal, which could be profit-

ably mined, the vein running from three to five feet in

thickness. These are the only coal mines being worked

near Princeville. Mr. Bowman owns five acres of coal

lands, besides other property in Princeville, worth

about $3,500.

BRINK STEPHEN Rev. P. O. Princeville,

was born in McDonough county. 111., in 1838. He
was brought up on a farm, and afterwards attended the

common and high schools. He entered the ministry in

i860. Enlisted Sept. 10, 1862, and was commissioned

captain of Co. D., 124th Reg. I. V. Inf., and served

until Aug. II, 1863, when he resigned his commission

on account of ill health. He took part with his com-

pany in the Vicksburg campaign, and was present at

its surrender. The reverend gentleman has been a

minister of the gospel of Christ ever since leaving the

army ; has fought under that banner in many places,

and done good service in that cause. He is much

respected and liked, both as pastor, citizen and neigh-

bor.

Bronson H. retired farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Broney H., farmer, P. O.. Princeville.
Buchanan j., farmer, P. O. Monica.
Burgess E. M., agent, P. O. Princeville.

BURGESS GREEN, hardware, P. O. Mon-

ica, was born in Pulaski county, Ky., in 1844, and

Came to Peoria county in 1855 ; married in 1877, Miss

Ilara Cornwell, who was born in Peoria county in

1856, by whom he has one child, Albert R., who was

born March 19, 1879. Mr. Burgess began in his pres-

ent business at Monica, in 1876. Keeps a fine stock of

goods, and does a good business.

Burgess Willis, farmer. P. O. Monica.
Burns Peter, farmer. P. O. Monica.
Butler C. M., P. O. Princeville.
Oahrun H. E., farmer, P. O. Monica.
Caldwell, R., farmer, P. O. Monica.
Oalhonn Henry, farmer, P. O, PrineevlUe.
Cameron Angus J., P. O, Princeville.

CAMPBELiL JAMES E. furniture dealer,

P. O. Princeville, was born in Boone county, Ky., in

1810 ; went to Indiana in 1850, and worked at his

trade of carpenter till 1861, when he went to Gilman,

111., and pursued his trade, and kept hotel, till 1863,

virhen he came to Peoria county, and two years later, to

Princeville, and in the following year began in the fur-

niture business, which he has since conducted. Mr.

Campbell's father was one of the earliest settlers of

Boone county, Ky. ; he had a family of eleven children.

and raised ten of them. His mother's grandfather and

grandmdther were killed by the Indians in Virginia,

when her father was quite young. He had been sent

to mill, and on his return home, found the house in

flames, and his father and mother both dead. Mr.

Campbell owns a house and lot in Princeville, and it

was worth about $4,000.

CAMPBEIiLi L. Ii. merchant, P. O. Monica,

was born at Rising Sun, Ind., in 1844 ; came to Peoria

county, in i858, and was engaged in the dry goods

business, as clerk for Mr. Simpson, at Princeville, from

1870 to 1873, when he came to Monica, built a store'

and dwelling house, and continued to sell goods qn Mr.

Simpson's account, until 1878, when he went into

business for himself, carrying a stock of general dry

goods, boots and shoes, etc. On January i, 1874, he

married Miss Sophia Edwards, who was born in Peoria

county, in 185 1. They have been blessed with one

child, Edith, who was born January 12, 1875. In

1 86 1, Mr. Campbell enlisted in Co. A., 37th Ind.

Infty., and served in succession as Company, Regi-

mental and Brigade Bugler, and Brigade Postmaster.

The principal engagements he took part in, were

those of Stone River, Chicamauga, Atlanta, and

Jamestown; was mustered out in 1864, and imme-

diately re-enlisted in the 13th Ohio Cavalry, which was

assigned to Sheridan's command, and was in the last

charge at Petersburg, near the close of the war : was

mustered out of the service as dismounted cavalry, on

July 4, 1865. Mr. Campbell is a. nephew of James

Campbell, of Princeville, and also of John Campbell,

of Millbrook. He and his wife are members of the

Presbyterian Church.

Campbell Mollie E., farmer. P. O. Monica.
Champ Olive, P, O. Princeville.

CHARIiES J. E. M. D., P. O. Princeville, was

born in Alleghany county. Pa., in 1815 ; married in 1842,

Miss Margaret Oliver, who was born in Ohio in 1822;

went to Ohio, and there remained till 1849, when he

crossed the plains to California ; came back East, and

again in 1853 crossed the plains, remaining in California

till 1861. Mr. Charles began to read ibedicine in 1837,

and attended lectures in the Medical College, at Cin-

cinnati, during the terms of 1838 and 1839 ;
graduated

in the latter year, and began the practice of medicine

in 1840 ; came to Princeville in 1861, and has since

then built up a large practice. He owns 285 acres of

land, and is in comfortable circumstances.

Church Rosina, P. O. Princeville.

CHURCH WILLIAM W. retired, P. O.

Princeville, was born in county Derry, Ireland, in 1804,

and immigrated to New Brunswick in 1823, where he

remained till 1825, when he returned to Ireland. In

1827 he again came to New Brunswick and engaged in

the dry goods business in St. John till 1829, when he
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removed to Pennsylvania and engaged for the first time

in agricultural pursuits ; remained there till 1840, when
he came to Peoria county, settling on Sec. 6 in Jubilee

township.. In 1842 Mr. Church hauled wheat to Chi-

cago, selling it for forty-three cents a bushel. It took

him eleven days to make the round trip, carrying his

provisions with him and camping on the road. Before

leaving home Mr. Church received a liberal education

;

had the advantage of a private tutor in his father's

family ; attended classes at Foyle College for four years,

and went thence to the Royal Academical Institute.

He is the son of John Church and Elizabeth Charles,

who had a family of sixteen children, Mr. Church being

the fifteenth child and fifth son. His father was born
in 1754; married in 1783, Elizabeth Orr ; was created

Deputy Governor of the county of Londonderry in 1793,
before the Union, and died in November, 1818. His

third son, James, npw inherits his property. The sub-

ject of this sketch married in 1823, at St. John, N. B.,

Miss Jane Irwin, who bore him twelve children, six of

each sex, and who died March 25, 1867. Three of his

daughters are also dead. Married in 1872 his present

wife, then a Mrs. Goodman, whose grandmother lives

in the township and is the oldest person in it, having

been born in Northampton county, Penn. in 1781. She

came to Peoria county, from Canada, in 1848, and re-

sides with her son ; has been twice married, first to a

Mr. Grant and then to Mr. Leonard Klinck ; retains

the use of her faculties in a wonderful degree, and is

able to walk over to her granddaughter's when she visits

her. Mr. Church owns 150 acres of land under good

cultivation, and belongs to the Episcopal Church ; Mrs.

Church is a member of the M. E. Church.

CliABK DENNIS D. P. O. Monica, was

born in Adams county in 1846, and was raised on a

farm, where he remained till 1871, coming to Monica

July 25 of that year, to fill the position of railroad

agent and operator there upon the Rushville branch of

the C, B. & Q. R. R., then just opened for traffic, and

continued as agent for seven years. He married, in

1874, Miss Rhoda J. Walkington, who was a native of

the Isle of Man, England, who has since presented him

with a child. Mr. Clark is a shrewd, active man, has

been in the land business, and is at present engaged in

the manufacture of drain tile ; is a notary public, and

has filled the office of township collector one year, and

that of town clerk for the last three years.

Gluskey Henry, farmer, F. O. Monica.
Coburn B. termer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Coburn B. Mrs. P. O. PrlnoeviUe.
Collins Thos. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Conklln A. B. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Conrad J. J. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.

COOK BOGER, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O. Monica,

was born in England in 1816, and in 1840 married Miss

Jane Dabb, who was also bom there in 1822. Immi-

grate4 tq America in 1850, and pame (p Peoria county

in the following year to their present home in 1859.

He owns l6o acres of land, all under excellent cultiva-

tion, and worth about $9,600. Mr. and Mrs. Cook
have had in all thirteen children, six born in England

and seven in America. They have all grown to be men
and women, and are all alive. Seven of them are mar-

ried and the others remain at home. Mr. Cook, his

wife and all his family are members of the M. E.

Church.

Coon L. railroad laborer, P. O. Prlnceville.

CORBETT JOHN O. hotel keeper, P. O"

Princeville, son of James and Eveline Corbett, nee

Glasgow, natives of Pennsylvania, who immigrated to

Bureau county (Princeton), in 1848, where Mr. Corbett,

Sr. followed the mercantile business. He died May,

1878, his widow still living. John G. was born in

Mifflin county. Pa., on the 13th day of December, 1845:

came with his parents to Princeton, 111. when he was

two years old, where he received his education. En-

listed in Feb., 1864, in the 64th I. V. I., Co, B., Col.

Morrell, and served until the close of the war. Was
in the Atlanta campaign, march to the sea, and thence

to Washington and the grand review. After the war

he returned to Princeton and engaged in the harness

business one year ; thence to Putnam county, and re-

mained until the Fall of 1869 ; then bought a shop in

Princeville and there followed his trade until 1877. In

1873 he married Miss Sarah A. Rice, of Princeville,

who was born in Green county. Pa., Aug. 23, 1854, and

has borne him three children— James R., Eva E. and

Wm. P. He is a member of the I. O. O. F. and Ma- ..

sons. Published the independent%aper of Princeville

two years. Is at present engaged in the hotel business.

Cornwell Clara, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Cornwell D. B. farmer, P. O. Monica,
Cornwell E. E. farmer, P. O. Monica. Jt
Cornwell Laura, farmer, P. O. Monica. H
Cornwell M. C. farmer, P. O. Monica. ^
Cornwell Margaret, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Cornwell S. S. farmer, P, O, Monica.

CRAWFORD H. W. station agent Monica

;

was born in Augusta county, Va., in 1858, where he

received his early education, afterwards attending the

Classical College at Fancy Hill, and the Washington

and Lee University, at Lexington, Ky. He learned

telegraphy, since coming to Illinois, and was made an

extra agent on the C, B. & Q, R, R. On July 10, 1878.

he took charge of the station of Monica, where he has

since given great satisfaction as agent and man of

business. Mr. Crawford's father died in Virginia, and

his mother resides at Staunton in the same State.

GuIIy Patrick, farmer, P. O, Prlncevllle,

CUMMINS HENRY C. farmer. Sec, 19, P,

O. Monica ; was born in Peoria county, in 1848, and is

the son of William Cummins, who settled on Sec, 24,

of Millbrook township, where he improved a farm and

and raised 1)U family, finally dying on the old hotne-
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stead in 1S56. Mr. Henry C. Cummings, in 1870,

married Miss Mary Whittington, who was born in

McDonough county, 111., in 1849, and by whom he

has had four children ; came to his present home in

187 1, where he owns ninety-three acres oi land, all

under good cultivation and worth about $6,000. He
and his wife are members of the M. E. Church.

Cummins O. H. farmer, P.O. l\Ionlca.
Cummins H. farmer, F. O. Monica.

CUMMINS O. w/ farmer, Sec. 30, P.O.
Monica ; was born in Summit county, in 1838, and

came with his parents to Peoria county, in 1840, His

father settled on Sec. 24 of Millbrook township, where

he raised his family in the ways of industry, and died

in 1856. In 1863, the subject of this sketch married

Miss Angle Nelson, who was born in New Jersey, in

1847, and came to Peoria county with her parents in

the year after her birth ; they came to their present

home in 1864, and have had six children, four of whom
are now living. Mr. Cummins owns 275 acres of land,

200 of which is under excellent cultivation and the

balance pasture ; altogether worth about $15,000; are

both members of the M. E. Church.

Cutler M. carpenter, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Cox Sarah A. farmer, P. O. Buncan.
Darby Thomas, farmer, P. O. Duncan.
Deal R. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Deal R. S. V. merchant, P. O. Monica.

DEBOBD BEUBJEN R. farmer. Sec. 15,

P. O. Princeville ; was born in Pulaski county, Ky.,

May II, 1818, where he was bred a farmer, and came

to Peoria county in 1839. He stayed the first Winter

with John Miller, on Sec. 16, in a small log cabin with

a sod chimney ; during the Summers of 1841, '42, '43,

he followed breaking prairie with ox teams, working

under great disadvantages. During the Winters cut

wood and split rails. In the Spring of 1844, he in

kpartnership with Williams his brother-in-law, bought

a brush quarter of laud in Radnor township, which

they improved, and on which they remained till 1848,

when he went to Akron, three miles north of Prince-

ville, where he opened a farm, and remained on it for

about ten years, removing in 1858 to Sec. 15 of Prince-

ville township, his present home, and has now as good

a farm as there is in the neighborhood. Coming to the

county with nothing but good health, and industrious,

economical habits, he has by the prudent exercise of

these gifts, become possessed of a good competency,

owning 240 acres of land in Sec. 15 ; eighty acres, on

Sec, 17 ; eighty acres, on Sec. 8 ; ten acres timber lot,

on Sec. 7, and sixty-one acres, in Akron township,

worth altogether about $60 an acre. In 1843, Mr.

Debord married Miss Julia A. Hall, born in Knox
county, C, in 1827, who is the mother of eleven chil-

dren, six sons and five daughters, all living. Mr.

Debord has served his township two years as trustee.
|

In 184s, he was appointed by the county commissioners,

along with B. Williams and C. Wilkins, to locate a

road which had been surveyed between Peoria and

Rock Island, but the road having been laid diagonally

through the farms of the county, it was deemed im-

practicable, and abandoned.

Debolt Wm. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.

DIXONWM. H. horse breeder and trainer, P.

O. Monica. Was born in the county of Durham, Eng-

land, in 1838, and in i860 married Miss Martha Kell,

who was born in Sunderland, England, in 1837. They

came to America in 1865, and settled in Pittsburg, Pa.,

where Mr, Dixon worked in the coal mines till 1875,

when they came to Peoria county. Mr. Dixon makes

a specialty of blooded horses, and many fine ones have

passed through his hands. He is highly respected in

the community as a citizen and neighbor.

Dixon Morgan, wagonmaker, P. O. Princeville.

DUKE D. T., M. D. P. O. Monica. Was
born in Lancaster county, Pa., in 1847, and coming to

Illinois in 1866, staid with his sisters in Canton ;
began

in 1870 the study of medicine, teaching school part of

the time ; attended lectures at the College of Physi-

cians and Surgeons at Keokuk, Iowa, during the terms

of 1872 and 1873, obtaining at the close of the latter

term his diploma as M. D.; he also received a diploma

at the hands of the State Illinois Medical Board. He
commenced the practice of medicine at Maquon, Knox

county, in 1873 ; moving from thence to Eugene, in

same county, and afterwards to Monica, where he has

ever since resided, and has built up a good practice

and is much liked both as physician and citizen.

Dunn Wm. in Aliron, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Duaten J. W. laborer, P. O. Princeville.
Edward Sarah, P. O. Princeville.
Elliott Julia C. farmer, P. 0. Monica.
Palrfleld D. F. harness maker, P. O. Monica.

FAST EMMET E. clerk, Princeville. Was

born in Princeville, in 1859, and has also been raised

there ; married in 1879, Miss Mary Gillin, who was

born in Peoria county in 1858, and whose parents re-

side in PrinceviUe. Mr. Fast's parents came to the

place in 1853, and have remained there ever since. His

father owns 244 acres of good land in Peoria county,
,

besides other property in different States.

PAST JACOB, retired. P. O. Princeville. Was

born in Richland county, Ohio ; married in 1846 Miss

Martha Stouffer, who was born in Pennsylvania in 1826;

is the father of four sons— Allen C, Charles A., Em-

met E. and Milton E. Fast ; came to Peoria county

and settled in Princeville in 1853, where he has since

remained. His father was born in Green county, Pa.,

and is eighty-three years of age ; his mother at the age

of eighty-eight is also living ; she is a native of Vir-

ginia. They now reside in Toulon, Stark county, 111.

Mr. Fast has been an active business man in Prince-

ville, and at one time carried on an extensive harness
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business, and afterwards dealt in drugs ; owns 325 acres

of land, worth $16,000. Mr. and Mrs. Fast are mem-
bers of the M. E. Church.

Fast J. H., P. O. PrlnoevlUe.
Flenimlng J. 0. painter, P. O. FrlncevUle.
French D. farmer. P. O. Princevllle.
French Lizzie, P. O. Princevllle.
Friedman John, farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Fritz Godfrey, farmer, P. O. Princevllle.
Frye Lizzie, P. O. Princevllle.
Frye J. engineer, P. O. Princevllle.

FORD PHINEAS R. hotel-keeper, P. O.
Monica. Was born in Licking county, Ohio, February,

1826 ; married Miss Mahala Moats in 1847, who was
born in the same county as himself in July, 1829. They
have had nine children, all living. Mr. and Mrs. Ford
came to Illinois in 1849 ; settled at French Grove, Pe-

oria county, and have lived in this and Knox counties

ever since. Came to Monica in the Fall of 1878 and
engaged in the hotel business, which he has since profit-

ably continued.

Fuller E. C. grocer, P. O. Princevllle.
Gaetz J. shoemaker, P. O. Uonlca.
Garrison O. C. groceryman, P. O. Princevllle.
Giles Jno. farmer, P. o. Princevllle.

GIIililN MILO C. blacksmith, Princevllle,

was born in Luzerne county, Pa., in 1836, and came
to Peoria county in 1853. Married, in 1857, Miss Susan-

nah Craig, who was born in Peoria county, in 183S ;

they have three children : Mary E., the eldest, born in

1858 ; Charles was born in 1861, and Dielsie in 1869.

Mr. Gillin came to Princeville in June, 1875, and has

since engaged in general blacksmithing ; has a

paint and wood shop also, where all kinds of work per-

taining to his business can be turned out ; does a good

and steady increasing business. He enlisted in June,

1862, in Co. G, 67th 111. Inf., and was mustered out in

October of the same year. Mrs. Gillin and two of her

children are members of the M. E. Church.

Gllllng J. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Godfrey S., P. O. Princevllle.

GOETZ JOSEPH, boot and shoe manufac-

turer, P. O. Monica, was born in Bavaria, Germany, in

1824 ; came to New York and worked at his trade

there from 1850 to 1857, when he came to Peoria

county, settling in Elmvyood, and carried on business

till 1875, in which year he came to Monica, where he

has since resided. He married, in I851, Miss Sibilla

Dexler, who was born in Baden, Germany, in 1818, by

whom he has had seven children, five of them now

alive— four boys and one girl. Carries a fine stock of

ready made goods and manufactures himself a capital

article. Mr. and Mrs. Goetz are members of the Ger-

man Catholic Church.

Goodman Jno. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Oormand I. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Graves S. S. farmer, P. O. Duncan.
Graves Wm. farmer, P. O. Duncan.

GRAY JAMES, farmer. Sec. 16, P. O. Monica,

was bom in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1831 ;
came to New

York jij 1852, and after two years' residence removed

to Peoria county and settled on his present home in

1856. Married, in the same year, Miss Isabella Mc-
Cutchon, who was also a native of Glasgow, Scotland,

and was born there in 1821 ; has five children, all of

whom are alive. Mr. Gray is, by trade, a plasterer, and

in pursuit of business made trips to St. Louis and New
Orleans before settling down on his farm ; owns 120

acres of land, all under cultivation, and worth about

$6,000. Mr. and Mrs. Gray, with their eldest son, are

members of the Presbyterian Church, and their second

son is a member of the Baptist Church.

Grlswold F. A. farmer, P. O. Duncan.

HAMMER & MAY, P. O. Princeville.

HAMMER J. D. butcher, P. O. Princeville,

was born in York county. Pa., in 1842. Married, in

i860. Miss Julia Metzel, who was born In the same

State and county as her husband, in 1834. They have

had four children : Elmer E., born July, 1861 ; Lillie

G., born in 1864 ; Cora M. and Harry E., the two latter

are dead. Mr, Hammer came to Princeville in 1864,

and started in his present business in 1867 ; also deals

in ice and ships hogs and cattle ; owns four houses and

eight lots, besides two acres of land, where, in the Win-

ter, he carries on a rendering establishment, worth alto-

gether about $3,500. He and his wife are members of

the M. E. Church.

Harding R. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Harrington Susanna, P. O. Princevllle.
Harrison W. farmer, P. O. Princevllle.

HARRISON ROBERT W. farmer. Sec. 35,

P. O. Princeville, was born in Peoria county ni 1834 ; is

the son of James Harrison, of Yorkshire, England,

who was bom there in 1809, coming to America in

1822, and first settling In Hampshire county, Va.,

where he remained for some time, and married Miss

Susan M. Evans in 1832, finally removing in 1834 to

Rosefield township, where he settled. He had eleven

children, ten of whom he saw grow up to man and

womanhood. Mr. Robert W. Harrison in 1859 married

Miss E. S. Lawrence, who was born in New York

State in 1840. Has had nine children, seven of whom
are now alive. Owns 411 acres of land, worth about

$19,000, 300 acres of which are improved, and also

owns a house and two lots in Princeville, worth $600.

HAWVER WILLIAM P. drugs and gro-

ceries, P. O. Monica, was born in New York in 1830.

Married October 3, 1857, Miss Mary A. Price, by

whom he had three children. She died September 29,

1863, and on October 17, of the succeeding year, he

married Miss Lovina J. Cox, who bore him three chil-

dren, and died August 20, 1874. Came to Peoria

county in 1865, and in 1870 to Monica, where he began

the grocery business, to which he has since added that

of drugs. On December 30, 1875, ^e married Miss

Nancy A. Davis, who has presented him with one child.

Mr, Hawver keeps a fine and well selecte4 stock of
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goods, in both his lines, and does a large business. He
has buried four boys, and has one boy and three girls

now living.

Henry Jno. M. farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.
Henry Margaret, farmer, P. O. PrlncevlUe.

HENRY R. F. physician, P. O. Princeville.

Herrington J. H. laborer, P. O. Prinoevllle.

Hllili CIjARK, farmer. Sec. 32, P. O. Monica,

was born in Niagara county, N. Y., in 1830, and came
to Peoria county with his parents in 1837, when his

father began to improve the farm which the subject of

this sketch now owns. In 1851 Mr. Hill married Miss

Betsy E. Bliss, who was born in New York in 1833,

and are the parents of seven children, all of them now
alive. Owns 160 acres of land, all well cultivated and
worth to-day about $8,000. He has lived on this place

ever since 1838, and has seen all the land around him
re-claimed and brought to its present high state of

cultivation. His father improved his land under great

disadvantages, his boys working out for the neighbors

and getting their land broken for them in return. Mr.

Hill and family are members of the M. E. Church.

HERRON DAVID ^V. druggist, P. O. Prince-

ville, was born in Franklin county. Pa., and came to

Peoria county in 1848, where he remained till 1857,

being most of the time a resident of Peoria city, and
in the last named year went to Kansas, and was in that

State during the stormy times preceding the adoption

of its Constitution. Mr. Herron came to Princeville

in 1869, where he has since Resided doing a good and

incieasine; business.

HITCHCOCK DANIEL, miller, and justice

of the peace, P. O. Princeville, was born in Green

county, N. Y., in 1827, and came to Peoria county with,

his parents in 1837, settling near Princeville. Married

in 1849, Miss A. M. Brunson, who was born in Ohio in

1832. Mr. Hitchcock has been justice of the peace

fourteen years in succession in Akron township. Fol-

lowed farming the most of his time till 1871, when he

went into the milling business ; owns a half interest in

the mill, which is a good property, the capacity of which

is 100 bushels a day. Mr. Hitchcock has seen great

improvements in this part of Peoria county, much of

it being a wilderness when he came to it.

Hitchcock F. C, P. O. Princeville.
Hofer J., P. O. Princeville.
Hurd W. W. grain dealer, P. O. Monica.

HURD W, W. P. O. Monica.

lUingswortli T. groceryman, P. O. Princeville.
Irwine Eliza, P. O. Princeville.
Irwine S. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Klinck D. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Klinclc Graham, mason, P. O. Princeville.

KNEER BENEDICT, farmer and stock

dealer, Sec. 24, P. O. Monica, was born in Germany in

1832, and came to Peoria county in 1853. Married in

1856, Miss Eliza Rheinhart, who was born in Germany

in 1839 ; has ten children, all living. Mr. Kneer came

, .to this county a poor man, and worked as a hired man

for over three years, but by strict attention to business

he is now possessed of a good home, with 160 acres of

land, all under good improvement, and worth about

$9,600 ; deals also in cattle and hogs, and has shipped

a great many of both, since he began the business.

Mrs. Kneer is a member of the Lutheran Church.

Kruntz — , P. O. Princeville.
Lair L. F. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
.Llyerton Ohas. farmer. P. O. Monica.
Lynch James, farmer, P. O. Monica.

MANSFIELD EDWARD, farmer. Sec. 36,

P. O. Princeville, was born in New York State in 1825 ;

came to Peoria county in 1854, and settled on section

36, his present home ; owns 450 acres of land, about

240 acres of which are under cultivation, and is worth

upwards of $17,000. Married in 1857, Miss Rebecca

. Fulton, second daughter of Josiah Fulton, one of the

early settlers of Peoria county ; she was born in 1828,

and has had nine children, six of whom are now living.

Mr. Mansfield has seen many changes in this section

of the county, and as the result of hard labor in former

years, is now living happily with his family on one of

the finest farms in the township.

Mann Wm. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Martin Anna, farmer, P. O. Princeville.

MARTIN L. B. M. D., P. O. Monica, was

born in Ohio in 183Z; came to Illinois, settling in Fair-

view, Fulton county, in 1850, where he taught school

and read medicine until 1856, when he began to prac-

tice. He was the first physician to settle in Yates

City, Knox county, 111., and came to Monica in 1874,

where he has a good and steadily increasing practice
;

is a brother of Dr. J. W. Martin, of Peoria City. In

1863, he married Miss Anna E. Taylor, who was born

in New Jersey in 1844, and they have been blessed

with seven children, six of whom are now living. Mrs.

Martin is a member of the M. E. Church.

MARTIN STEPHEN, retired, P. O. Prince-

ville, is a native of Kent, England, where he was born,

in 1806. Married in 1833, Miss Frances Batchelor,

also a native of Kent, and b6m in 1813. They came to

Peoria county in 1838, and have had eight children,

seven being now alive. Mr. and Mrs. Martin joined

the M. E. class at Princeville, in 1842, are members of

that Church and have always taken an active part in

its affairs. Mr. Martin owns his present home in

Princeville, besides about 122 acres of land worth

$5,500.

MoCallery O. blacksmith, P. O. Monica.

McCANN T. P. farmer. Sec. 31, P. O. Monica,

was born in Cayuga county, New York, in 1827

;

came to Peoria county with his parents in 1832

;

has remained in the county ever since. Married in

1855, Miss Sarah E. Sargeant, who was born in Fulton

CQupty in 1836. Has two children ; Florence J.,
who
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was born May ii, 1859; Hattie F., who was born
June 18, 1868. In 1856, he came on to Scotland,

remaining there till 1872, when he removed to

his present home, where he has eighty acres of good
land, worth about $4,000. Mr. McCann is the third

child, and second son, of Samuel McCann, who came to

the county in 1832, and is one of the oldest settlers

in it,

McCOLiBBY OBRIEN, wagon maker, P. O.
Monica. Was born in New York in 1833, and came
to Peoria county in 1844. He has been three times

married ; first, to Miss Sarah Basson, in 1854, by whom
he had one child, and who died in 1856 ; second, to

Mrs. Nancy Miller, in 1864, who also bore him a child,

and died in 1873 ; and, third, in October of the same
year, to Mrs. Hannah Minner, who has had four chil-

dren. Has five children living. For eighteen years

Mr. McColrey followed the business of mining, and
hauled his coal into Peoria city. In 1861 he enlisted

in the 8th Mo., Co. C, and was with his regiment in

eighteen battles and skirmishes, and was wounded in

the nineteenth one, at Vicksburg, May ig, 1863. Was
mustered out June 28, 1864. Afterwards came to

Monica, where he owns his shop and dwelling, and
where he is doing a good business.

MoOready P. K. constable, P. O. PrlnceviUe.
McDaniel K. drayman, P. O. PrincevlUe.
McDowell Jas. painter, P. O. PrincevlUe.

McGINNIS JOHN, stock dealer, P. O. Prince-

ville. Was born in Park county, Ind., on Sept. 24,

1833, and came to Peoria county with his parents in the

second year thereafter. His parents were George I.

and Sarah McGinnis, and they settled at Prince Grove,

near PrincevlUe, where John was raised on the farm.

His father died in 1876. John McGinnis was married

on Dec. 9, T858, to Miss Sarah J. Russell, born in Ohio,

July, 1836. Enlisted August 7, 1862, in Co. K, 86th

111. Inf., and was mustered out at Washington, D. C,

June 7, 1865. Served as sergeant, but was brevet lieu-

tenant. He has 160 acres of good land north of Prince-

vlUe, and is comfortably situated. Mr. and Mrs. Mc-

Ginnis are members of the M. E. Church. *

McGregor Duncan, farmer, P. O. Duncan.

McKUIfE JOHN Jr. thresher and auttioneer,

P. O. Monica. Is the son of John McKune, one of the

oldest settlers in the county, and the first settler in

Jubilee township. He was an active, energetic man,

and his wife is still living. John McKune, Jr., was

born in Peoria county, in 1848, and was raised on the

farm. Was married in September, 1874, to Mary

Dramm, who was born in Radnor township, in 1855,

by whom he has two children, Ellen and James. He
came to Monica March I, 1879, where he carries on

business.

McMIllen Charlotte, fanner, P. O. PrincevlUe.
Mendel D. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Mendel M. farmer, P, O. Monica.

Merritt B. F. farmer, P. o, PrincevlUe.
Miller Catharine, farmer, P. O. Duncan.
Miller H. farmer, P. O. PrincevUle.
MUler M. A.. P. O. PrincevlUe.
MlUer W. JL, farmer, P. O. Monica.
Miller Chris, farmer, P. O. Duncan.

MILLS JOB B. Rev. P. O. PrinceviUe.

MOPFIT A. C. wagon and carriage manufac-

turer, P. O. PrlnceviUe. Was born in Woodford
county. 111., in 1840, and came to Peoria county in

1857. Married in March, 1866, Miss Ruth Harrison,

who died July 5, 1871, leaving behind her two chil-

dren, who were born, Sarah E., on Nov. 27, i866, and
Susan H., on May 23, i85g. Mr. Moffit, on May i,

1873, married Miss M. J. Roclifie, who was born in

Ohio in 1842, by whom he has had two children, Fred

H., born April 2, 1874, and Albert R., born October

II, 1876. Commenced his present business in 1872,

and has since successfully carried it on. Mr. and Mrs.

Moffit are members of the Presbyterian Church.

Moody M. P., P. O. PrincevlUe.

MOODY O. retired, P. O. PrinceviUe.

Moody Talbot, farmer, P. O. PrincevlUe.

MORCOMBE JOSEPH E. P. O. PrinceviUe.

Mott W. W. farmer, P. O. PrlnceviUe.

MOYNIHAN J. Rev. P. O. PrinceviUe.

Murdock H. farmer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Murdock Isabella, farmer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Murdock James, farmer, P. O. PrincevlUe.
Murdock W. farmer, P. O. PrlnceviUe.

NELSON JOHN, farmer, Sec. 29, P. O. Monica.

Was born in Pennsylvania in 1817, and in 1836 mar-

vied M^ss Lydia Prall, who was born in New Jersey in

1806 ; came to Peoria county in 1848, and to section

20 in 1852 ; where he bought raw land and made a

farm; coming to the county a poor man, he has by in-

dustry and economy become possessed of a nice farm

and a comfortable home, owning 145 acres of land all

well improved, and worth about $9,700; has two

children, both marriad and living in the neighborhood.

Mr. and Mrs. Nelson are members of the M. E. Church.

NICHOLAS B. J. blacksmith, P. O. Monica.

Was born in Peoria city in 1847, and began working

at his trade in 1866 ; started in business for himself at

Galva, 111., in 1872 ; married in 1875, Miss Lottie

Bundy, who was born in Henry county. 111., in 1857,

who has since presented him with two children— Clytie

and Marion G. Mr. Nicholas came to Monica in June,

1876, engaging in blacksmith and general repairing

work, and does a large business. Nr. Nicholas' father

was a cooper by trade, and came to Peoria in 1854

from New York, and died in Stark county. 111., in

i860 ; his mother was born in New York in 1806, is

still alive and resides in family with him. Mrs. Nich-

olas is a member of the Baptist Church,

Nelson J. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Nelson John, farmer, F. O. Monica.
Nelson Philip, farmer, P. O. Monica.
O'Brien Thos. farmer, P. O. Monica,
Padget Mrs, farmer, P. O, Monica,
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PALMER THOMAS, farmer, P. O. Prince-
ville. Was born in England in! 1821 ; emigrated to

America, coming to Ohio in 1843, and remained until

1850, when he came to Peoria county, 111., and settled

in Millbrook township on section 24, where he opened
a farm, removing in 1876 to his present location in

Princeville, where he owns about seventy-five acres of
land, besides a house and lot worth $6,500. He mar-
ried before coming to America, Miss Sarah Stonier, a
native of England, who bore him three children, none
of whom are now living. Mrs. Palmer died in 1873,
and in the following year he married Miss Mary Dustan,
who was born in New York State, by whom he has
two bright children— Mary E., born in August, 1875,
and Thomas D., born in April, 1878. Mr. and Mrs.
Palmer are members of the M. E. Church.

Parence J. laborer. P. O. PrlnoevIUe.
Parker Nancy, farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Parnell Wm. farmer, P. O. MQnlca.

PELNAR JOSEPH, blacksmith, P. a Mon-
ica. Was born in Bohemia, in 1844 ; came to America
in 1864, and worked at his trade in Wisconsin for eight

years
; married in 1869, Miss Elizabeth Morris, who

was born in Wales in 1852. They have had four chil-

dren— Charles E., born Sept. 18, 1873; Alfred, born
Feb. 28, 1875 ; Magdalina, born Sept. 5, 1876, and
Lavina, born May i8, 1878 ; Lavina died June 23, 1879.
Mr. Pelnar came to Monica in 1872 and engaged in

blacksmithing, where he has been ever since. He and
his wife are members of the M. E. Church.

Perkins C. D. farmer, P. O. Princeville.
Pert T. retired farmer, P, O. Princeville.
PiKg Anderson, farmer, P. O. IVIonlca.

POTTS DAVID W. lawyer, P. O. Prince-

ville, was born in Brown county, Ohio, in 1843 ; came
to Peoria county in 1850 and was raised on a farm in

that county. Married in 1866 his present wife. Miss
Mary R. Yates, who has borne him six children ; she

was born near Wheeling, W. Va.- Mr. Potts began the

study of law in 1872, and after admission to the bar in

1878 came to his present location, where he has since

practiced his profession. He is a popular gentleman
and does a good business.

Pratt J. A. blacksmith, P. O; Princeville.
Prat;t O. S. blacksmith, P. O. Princeville.

PBOUTY F. E. tinner, P. O. Monica, was
born in Stark county. 111., July 25, 1857; was brought

up on a farm until seventeen years of age, when he went
to learn his trade, and in 1877 began business on his

own account at Carrolton, 111.; remaining there but a

short time, he came to Monica in October of the same
year, where he has since resided and conducted his

business. Married March 12, 1879, Miss Minnie Mil-

ler, who was born in Peoria county in 1858. Mr. Prouty

^ does a good business and is well liked as a citizen and
neighbor.

Keese Harriett J., P. O. Princevlllo.
Klal licsne farmer F, O, Princeville,

Rial Mary, P. O. Princeville.

BICE JAMES, hotel keeper, P. O. Princeville,

was born in Green county, Pa„ in 1832, and was prin-

cipally raised on a farm. Married in 1853, Miss Eliza-

beth Nace, who was born in Washington county, Pa.,

in 1833; has had nine children, eight are living— seven

girls and one boy. The eldest of his family was born

in Pennsylvania. Came to Peoria county in 1855, set-

tling in Richwoods township, where he remained four

years, removing in 1859 to Princeville, where he has

since resided. Mr. Rice is an energetic, pushing man
;

has for some years engaged in shipping cattle and hogs,

and has probably handled more stock than any other

man in this part of the county, also giving his personal

attention to the management of the American Hotel,

of which he is the proprietor. Owns eighty acres of

well improved land, and is worth about $9,000.

Rogers J. W. laborer, P. O. Princeville.

RUSSELL JOHN H. grocer, P. O. Prince-

ville, was born in Wayne county, Ohio, in 1829, and in

1852 married Miss Mary Albertson, who was born in

1830, by whom he has had five children, four of them

now living. Mr. Russell removed from his native State

to Indiana in 1850, and came to Peoria county, settling

in Princeville, in 1854 ; engaged in the manufacture of

wagons during the ten years between 1858 and '68, and

from the latter date until the present has carried on the

business of grocer, keeping a large and attractive stock

of goods. Mr. Russell and his family are active mem-
bers of the M. E. Church.

Scanlon Pat. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Scott B. S. farmer, P. O. Duncan.

SELBY WILLIAM G. hotel keeper, P. O.

Princeville, was born in Harrison county, O., in 1834.

Married on March 10, 1857, Miss Sarah A- Heberling,

and in the same year came to Peoria county. In 1863

he came to Princeville township, settled on Sec. 17, and

farmed until 1869, when he came to Princeville and

engaged in the agricultural implement business till 1873,

when he commenced keeping hotel. Mr. Selby has

' been an active business man, carrying on a livery, deal-

ing in sewing machines, and also in hogs and cattle.

He keeps a fine lot of buggies on hand, and is bound

to do business.

SHAIfE WILLIAM C. livery, P. O. Monica,

was born in Peoria county in 1845, and is the third

child and eldest son of Hiram and Susan L. Shane, who
came to this county and entered on government land

where the old lady, his mother, now lives, and where

all their children were born and grew to man and

womanhood. They had ten children, four boys and six

girls, who all live in the county but one. William C.

Shane married, in 1870, Miss Amanda J. Webber, who
was born in Ohio in 1852, by whom he has one child,

Eva, who was born in May, 1873. He came to Monica
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in 1875, and commenced keeping hotel and' livery

stable. Sold out the hotel interest in 1878, but still

continues the livery. Mr. Shane is constable, and

attends to general collecting.

Shade Jacob, farmer, F. O. PrlnoeTlUe.
Sbane Wm. ilTerrman, P. O Monica.

SIMPSON WIIililAM, merchant, P. O.

Princeville, was born in Wellington, England, and is

the ninth child in a family of eighteen children. 'His

parents were Robert and Sarah Simpson. In 1849, and

before leaving England, he married Miss Mary Barlow

Fidlin, also a native of that country, and in 1851 immi-

grated to America, first settling in Fort Winnebago,

Wis., and remained till the Spring of 1852 ; removed

thence to St. Louis, and again moved, in 1856, to

Peoria, and resided there for ten years, at the end of

which time he came to Princeville and started in the

dry goods business on his own account. He keeps a

large and well selected assortment of general dry goods

and notions in his store here, and also owns and con-

ducts a store at Stark Station, in Stark county, 111. Mr.

and Mrs. Simpson have had a family of nine children,

five of whom are now living.

SLANE B. F. farmer, Sec. 35, P. O. Princeville,

was bom in Hampshire county, Va., in 1825 ; came to

Peoria county with his parents in 1831, who stayed for

a short time at Fort Clark, the present site of the. city

of Peoria. There were but five or six white families

then at the Fort, and so numerous were the Indians,

that Mr. Slane remembers having experienced consid-

erable trouble in trying to keep them from crowding

him away from the fire. The family moved on to

Richwoods township, where they improved a small farm,

and then went to Rosefield, where they opened another

farm, on which they remained till X840, then came to

Princeville, in the neighborhood of which place they

have ever since resided. In 1852 Mr. Slane married

Miss Sarah Henry, who was born in Crawford county,

Pa., in 1825. They have six children, all living. Own
320 acres of land, worth about $19,200. 200 acres of

which is under cultivation.

SliANEJ J. T. farmer, Sec. 23, P. O. Prince-

ville, was born in Peoria county in 1837, and is the son

of Ben. J. and Delia Slane, who came to Peoria county

in 1831, and were among the early settlers in this sec-

tion, Mr. Slane came to Princeville in 1840, and has

resided in the neighborhood ever since. Moved to his

present location on Sec. 23, in 1863. Married in i860,

Mary M. Green, who was born in Ohio in 1842, by

whom he has one child. Mr. Slane and his brother,

S. S. Slane, own 307 acres of land, worth about $17,600,

of which 247 acres are under good cultivation, the bal-

ance being pasture land.

SLANE JOHN Z. farmer. Sec, 26, P. O.

Princeville, was born in Morgan county, W. Va., Oct,

16, 1827. Came to Peoria county Nov. 7, 1831, and
has resided in the neighborhood of Princeville ever

since 1841. Has resided on Sec. 26 for over twenty-

five years, and witnessed tiie making of nearly all the

present improvements. Mr. Slane enlisted in Co. K.,

86th 111. Inf., Aug. 9, 1862, and with his company took

part in many engagements and skirmishes, among them

that of Perryville, Ky., Chickamauga, Mission Ridge,

Knoxville, Chattanooga, Kenesaw Mountain, Peach-

tree Creek, Jonesboro and Smithville, besides manj/

smaller encounters. Was mustered out at Chicago,

June 22, 1865. On March 14, 1867, he married Miss

Mary P. Patton, who was born in Clifford county. Pa.,

in 1836, and by whom he has had five children, two of

which survive. He owns 346 acres of land, worth

about $15,500.

SMITH ARCHIBAIiD, farmer. Sec. 7, P. O.

Monica, was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1837, and

came to Peoria county with his parents in 1844. They
settled on Sec. 7 of Princeville township, where they

opened a farm and made many improvements, and both

of them died there, his father in 1852, and his mother

in 1877. Mr. Smith married, in 1877, Miss Mary E.

Nickelson, who was born in Marshall county in 1853,

by whom he has one child, Jennie B. Smith, born April

26, 1879, On Aug. 8, 1862, he enlisted in Co. K., 86th

Inf., and with the regiment took part in the engage-

ment at Perryville, Ky. Transferred to Invalid Corps,

Nov. I, 1863, and was discharged for disability in May,

1865. He owns no acres of land, worth $4,500, and

has 90 acres under cultivation. Has helped to make
all the improvements thereon, it being part of the old

homestead. Mr. and Mrs. Smith are members of the

Baptist Church.

Smitb D. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Smith Dellbah H. farmer, P. O. Monica.

SMITH JOHN, farmer. Sec. 7, P. O. Monica,

was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1822, emigrating to

this country in 1842. He came to Peoria county in

1844, and in 1848 married Miss Jane Payne, who was

born in Carroll county, Va., in 1825, coming to Peoria

county with her parents in 1842, and settling on Sec.

7, of Princeville township, which was then in a very

wild and unimproved state. Her parents resided on

their homestead in Sec. 7, till their death. Mr.

Smith came to his present home in 1844, and has so in

dustriously improved his farm that the 290 acres which

compose it are worth in the neighborhood of $15,000 ;

has had eight children, all of whom are alive. Mrs.

Smith and five children are members of the Presby-

terian Church.

SMITH WIIiLIAM P. farmer, P. O. Prince

ville, was born in Lincoln county, Maine, November «

24, 1807, and in 1829 came to Peoria county, and set-

tled near Princeville; married in 1835 Miss Fanny
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Silliman, who was born in N. Y., in 1813. Her father

was one of the earliest settlers in this county, coming

here in 1828, and settling in Hallock township. They
have had nine children, five of whom are now living.

They had two sons in the army during the war : Cyrus,

who enlisted in the nth 111. Cavalry, who died at home,

though still in the service, and Isaac, who enlisted in

Co. IC, 86th 111. Infty., in 1862, and was killed at

Tunnel Hill, Ga., February 26, 1864. Mr. Smith has

seen all the existing improvements in the county made,

there being at the date of his coming, neither farm

roads nor school-hbuses existing, and he helped to build

the first school-house erected in it. It was made of

round logs, and stood just over the line in Akron town-

ship. His father was one of the first ministers in the

county, was a Close Communion Baptist, and preached

many a time in the old log school-house. Mr. and

Mrs. Smith, by hard labor and economy have acquired

a, competency, owning 160 acres of land, besides a

house and six lots, in Frinceville, worth in all about

$7,000. All their children but two are married, and

have families.

Smith E. W., P. O. Monica.
Spinger Geo. farmer. P. O. Duucau.

STEVENS, WM. C. retired, P. O. PrinceviUe.

Stowell A. N. lumberman, P. O. Prlncevllle.

THOMPSON CHARLES H. horse trainer,

P. O. Monica, was born in Monmouth county, N. J., in

1854 ; was raised on a farm, and is the son of Samuel

R. and Ellen Thompson, who still reside in his native

county ; married Miss Lulu Calhoun, on January i,

1879. Mr. Thompson has trained many horses since

coming to the county, in 1877, and some of them give

promise of great speed.

Turner W. H. farmer, P. O. Duncan.

VOORHEES G. H. miller, P. O. PrinceviUe,

is the son of Joseph Voorhees, of Reding, O., who
came to Peoria county in 1841, and settled in Kicka-

poo township, where he now resides, and owns 480

acres of land, besides 320 acres in Nebraska. He is

the father of twelve children. G. H. Voorhees,

his eldest son, and the subject of this sketch,

was born in Reding, O., in 1841, and in 1865,

married Miss Emily Cook, who was born in

England, in 1843, and has borne him seven children,

five of them now living, viz.: Charles H., Sarah B. B.,

Emily G., William A., and Lucia B. Mr. Voorhees

owns 330 acres of land, in Stark county, and his dwel-

ling in PrinceviUe. His property is worth about

$23,500.

Walil Fred, farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Walklngton Jno. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Walllker A. & W. T. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Wear A. D. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
Webber V. boot and shoe dealer, P. O. PrinceviUe.
Welsenberg W. H. farmer, P. O. PrinceTllle.
Westerfer 0. farmer, P. O. Monica.
WBeeler J. farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle,
White J. C. farmer, p. O. Monica.
White Mary A. farmer, P. O. Monica.
Whlttlngton Mrs. P. O. Monica.
Wiggins Benj. carpenter, P. O. Monica.
Wiggins Clarence, farmer, P. O. Monica.

WILSON MILTON, collection and insurance

agent, P. O. PrinceviUe, was born in Brown county,

O., in 1828 ; came to Peoria county in 1848, and in

1856, married Miss Caroline M. Shriver, who was born

in Clermont county, O., in 1838. Mr. Wilson came

to the county with his father, and settled on a farm

three miles south of PrinceviUe, where he remained till

1874, when he came to PrinceviUe; served four years

as justice of the peace, and then declining re-election

for another term, engaged in his present business. He
is also notary public and deputy postmaster. Mr.

Wilson had the reputation of having fewer law suits

than any justice in the district. He owns a nice resi-

dence in PrinceviUe and is comfortably situated. Both

himself and wife are members of the M. E. Church.

Wrigley J. farmer. P. O. Prlncevllle.
Yates Sarah, P. O. Prlncevllle.

YOUNG C. R. carpenter and joiner, P. O.

Monica, was born in Mount Desert, Me., in 1824;

came to Peoria county in 1843, and married Miss Ocena

Hull, in September, 1849, who was born in Catarau-

gus county, N. Y., in 1832, by whom he has had four

children, three are now living : Nathan, Charles H.

and William H. Isaac, his eldest, died July i, 1866,

and Mrs. Young died August 31, 1876. Mr. Young

carried on the carpenter business at Rochester, until

1876; came to Monica the year foUowing, and has

since carried on there a large and steadily increasing

business. He was present at the organization of Mill-

brook township ; was the first town clerk, and held the

office three years ; served as justice of the peace for

four years, and was postmaster at Elmore, under Presi-

dent Pierce's administration.

YOUNG T. C. P. O. Monica.
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AdklnBon James, farmer, F. O. Alta.
Baker H. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Bennett Patrick, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
BlQm A. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

BOIiLiOU MYRON S. general merchant, P.

O. Dunlap ; was born in Hampshire county, Mass.,

September l6, 1842. His early education was received

in the schools of his native county, and also in Peoria,

Ills., where he landed in 1855. Married in 1864 to

Miss Martha A. Potter, a native of New York State.

They have two children, Frank and Mary. In October,

1875, engaged in his present business at Dunlap, and

has by close attention and fair dealing built up a

fair trade. He is Republican in politics. Enlisted in

October, 1861, in Co. H, nth Ills. Cavalry, and served

one year.

Brassfleld A. G. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Brassfleld Mahlon D. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Brennan John, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

BRIGHT GEO. "W. farmer, Sec. 15, P. O.

Dunlap ; was born in Alleghany county, Pa., April 22,

1833. In 1857, he came to Peoria county. In Sep-

tember, i86i, enlisted in Co. I, nth Ills. Vol. Inf., and

served three years. In April, 1859, married Mrs. Mary

E. Faucett, a native of Massachusetts, born May 31,

1830. She had three children by her previous marriage.

He owns thirty acres of land in a high state of cultiva-

tion and well improved. Was formerly a Republican

but has joined the Greenback party.

Brusle E. H. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Bush B. H. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Byrnes Edward, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

CARR JOHN, farmer. Sec. 22, P. O. Dunlap
;

was born in this township, October 2g, 1847. His early

education was received in the schools of the township.

In 1872, married to Miss Grace Corbitt, also a native

of this township, born November I2, 1844. They have

four children, three sons and one daughter. Republi-

can in politics. Is collector of Radnor township. En-

listed in 1863, in Co. M, nth Ills. Cavalry and served

to the close of the rebellion.

Campbell B. farmer, P. O.- Alta.

CARIilSIiE JAS. B. D. farmer. Sec. 23,

P. O. Alta ; was born in Shenandoah county, Va., June

17, 1838. At the age of ten years with his parents

moved to Fayette county. Pa., where he was educated,

and in the Spring of i860, he came to Peoria county.

Ills., and in the Fall returned to Fayette county, and

married in February, 1861, Miss Mary J.
Hutchison,

and immediately returned to this county where he has

lived since. Owns 140 acres of some of the most pro-

ductive and valuable land in the county. Is Republi-

can in politics, and a member of the M. E. Church.

Carr Wm. Mrs. P. O. Dunlap.

Carroll P. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Case Gbas. P. O. Alta.

CASSITY WM. H. carriage, wagon and cabinet

maker, res. Dunlap, was ,born in Marion township,

Putnam Co., Ind., Sept. 1837. On the 4th of March,

1861, immigrated West, locating in Unionville, Iowa,

where he remained up to Feb. 1862. Thence came to

Knox Co., this State in the vicinity of Galesburg, and

followed farming, until Dec. 1864, In the Summer
of 1865 started farther West, settling in Mound City,

Lynn Co., Kansas, where he learned the trade of cabi-

net maker. In 1868 removed to Butler, Bates Co., Mo.,

and there learned the carriage and wagon maker's

trade. In June, 1875, returned to Peoria Co., and en-

gaged in the carriage and wagon trade, where he has

remained since. On the 15th day ofJanuary, 1S57, he

married Miss Mary F. Bryan, a native of Kentucky, but

reared in Indiana. She died Nov. 7, of the same year,

leaving one child Mary F., born Nov. 2, 1857. April

20, 1859, ^^- 0. married Miss Sarah A. Hodges, born

in Indiana, Jan. 1839, who has borne him three children,

Annetta, born Dec, 1864, Hattie D., born March, 1866,

Emma L., born Nov. 1870. On May 2, 1876, he moved

to Dunlap, his present home. Is a. member of the

Christian Church, and of the A. F. & A. M. in high

standing, also an Odd Fellow and Knight of Pythias.

Politics, Republican.

CHALLACOMB JAMES, farmer. Sec. 30,

P. O. Kickapoo. Was born in Devonshire, Eng., Dec.

25, 1836. His early education was received in the

schools of his native country, and in 1858 came to this

country and settled in Peoria Co., 111. Married in 1868

to Miss Lucy A. Rogers, who died in 1872, leaving two

ichildren, Chas. and Bertha. In April, 1876, married

his present wife, who was Miss Sarah F. Rogers. The

fruit of this union is one child, Archy T. Owns 225

acres of land, the most part of which is in a high state

of cultivation. Democratic in politics. Is at present

school director of the district in which he resides.

Challacombe Wm. J. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.

ClilNE ALBERT, farmer, Sec. 13, P. O. Dun-

lap. Was born in Ontario Co., New York, Aug. 12,

1820. While quite young his parents moved to Oswego

Co., N Y., where he was brought up and educated till

fifteen years of age. In 1835 moved West, and settled

in Peoria Co., 111. Married in 1852, Miss Lydia Hyde,

a native of Washington Co.. N. Y., born Aug. 15, 1831.

They have six children, three sons and three daughters.

Owns 280 acres of valuable land elegantly improved,

i Is Democratic in politics, has been school trustee some
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six years. Was also township collector of Medina
township.

CORBET DANIEL, farmer, Sec. 7, Dunlap.
Wa< born in Putnam, Washington Co. N. Y., Dec. 20,

1809. In 1832, moved to Pembroke, Genessee Co., and
remained there until the Fall of 1835. Thence removed
to Peoria Co.. 111., and located at what is known as

Hale's Mills, Kickapoo township, and assisted in the

construction of the mill. In 1838 purchased his

present farm.and in 1840 began improving it,and in 1842

moved on to it. On the 25th day of June, 1843 married

Miss Frances Gordon, a native of Surry Co., N, C, born

Dec. 6, 1818. Died Feb. 5, 1879, leaving five children,

one son and four daughters. Mf. C. owns 280 acres of

land under high cultivation. Politics, Republican, and
is a member of the M. E. Church. He came to the

county in limited circumstances.

COOKE SILiAS Bev. pastor, Presbyterian

Church, Dunlap. Son of David and Agnes Cooke nee

Ritchey, was born in Washington county, Pennsylvania

20th October, 1842. The first twenty years of Mr.

Cooke's life were spent on his father's farm in the Sum-
mer season, and attending the schools of the neighbor-

hood and Cross Creek Academy in the Winter. At the

age of twenty he enlisted in Company K. 140th Reg.

Penn. Inf., and served three years in defense of the

union. He was badly wounded and permanently dis-

abled in the engagement at Spottsylvania Court-house,

on the I2th of May, 1864. After an honorable dis-

charge, he-returned home a:nd entered Washington and

Jefferson College in his native county, and graduated

at the end of four years. Spent one year at the Western
Theological Seminary, Alleghany City, .Pa.., then

became principal of the Oakdale Classical Normal
Institute, at Oakdale, Pa., for three years, then returned

to the Theological Seminary, and graduated at the end

of two years. Soon afterwards he received and accepted

a call to the pastorate of the Presbyterian Church at

Nelsonville, Athens county, Ohio ; remained there

three yeats, when he accepted a call from the

Presbyterian congregation at Dunlap, and came

February i, 1878. Mr. Cooke united in marriage

with Miss Elizabeth M., daughter of Sarah and

Joseph Musser, of Cannonsburg, Washington county,

Pa., 2oth August, 1874, in which county she was born

i8th October, 1849. Two children blgss their union,

Grace Kelly, born 3rd August, 1875, and Clarence

Murdoch, born gth October, 1878.

Cunningham James, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Davis H. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Dlckerson A. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Dlckerson G. A- farmer, P. O. Alta.

DICKINSON GRIFFITH, farmer. Sec. 2i,

P. O. Dunlap. Was born in the territory of Indiana,

in what is now Switzerland county, Nov. 27, 181 1, Is

the eldest son of John and Mary Dickinson. His early

life was spent in the then frontier settlement of Indi-

ana, and his school advantages comprised in a brief at-

tendance in primitive log school houses. He married

Miss Achsah Bennett, a native of western New York,

in 1829; born Jan. i, 1800. In 1835, with his wife

and two children started West in a four-horse wagon,

and landed in Peoria, 111., on April 24, of that year.

His principal business while in the county has been

farming and stock raising. Owns 1,000 acres of land

of excellent quality. Politically was an old line Whig
up to the birth of the Republican party, since which

he has been a member of it. His talents and energies

as a financier, and his industry and good management

in his business affairs has -placed him in possession of a

comfortable fortune. His first wife died Sept. 12, 1858,

leaving three children, two sons and one daughter. On
the 24th of November, 1859, married Miss Margaret

Johnson, of Peoria county, by whom he had two chil-

dren, one son and one daughter. His third and pres-

ent wife was Miss Sarah A. Chamberlain. By this

marriage there are six children, three of each sex.

DICKINSON GRIFFITH E. farmer, Sec.

35, P. O. Alta. Was born in the township January 21,

1840. His education was obtained in the district

schools of this county and at Henry College, Mercer

county. In 1866 he married Miss Annie Adkins, a

native of Oxfordshire, England, born Feb. 27, 1844.

They have five children— Nelly, born Jiily 25, 1867;

Fanny, born Aug. 20, 1870; Olive, born Dec. 6, 1872;

Laura N., born Aug. 24, 1874, and George A., born

June 24, 1877. He owns 375 acres of land in a high

state of improvement ; is a Republican in politics ; has

held several local offices. He enlisted May 2, 1862, in

Co. A, 2d Illinois Light Artillery, and served to the

close of the war.

DIVEIiBISS EDWARD H. farmer. Sec.

36, P. O. Alta. Was born in Kickapoo township, Pe-

oria county. 111., Aug. 13, 1852, and was educated in

the schools of this township. Owns 143 acres of veiy

valuable land ; the home place is elegantly improved

and abundantly supplied with fruit. Is Republican in

politics and a melnber of the Methodist Church.

Dolan Alex, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Doran John, farmer. P. O. Kickapoo.
Doran Patrick, farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Drake James M. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Drake Wm, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

DUNLAP ALVA, retired farmer, Sec. 11, P.

O. Dunlap. Was born in Montgomery county, N. Y.,

Oct. 28, 1805, and is the eldest son of Smith Dunlap,

an early citizen of that section of the State. His pa-

rents moved to Oswego when he was anjinfant.settling in

the timber, debarring him from the advantagesofan edu-

cation. In 1829 he married Miss Mary Knight, a daugh-

ter of Jesse Knight, of Windham county, Conn., born

Sept. 10, 1806. They have had eleven children, five

sons and two daughters are still living. They moved
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West in 1834, and located in Radnor township, Peoria

county. 111., in 1837. In 1871 the town which bears

his name was laid out on his estate, and has at present

a population of some 200 inhabitants. Politically

Mr. D. is a Republican ; is the present supervisor of

this township, which office he has filled for a number

of years, besides has held several other local offices.

DUSriiAP BUBLEIOH, farmer. Sec. 2, P.

O. Dunlap, was born in Oswego county, N. Y., May 29,

1830. In the Fall of 1838 with his parents, Alva and

Mary Dunlap, moved West and settled in Radnor

township on Oct. 5 of the same year, on the farm on

which the town of Dunlap now stands. Here he re-

ceived his early education. Married Sept. 14, 1854,

Miss Sylvia Pride, a native of the same county as her

husband, but at the time of her marriage a resident of

Cook county. 111. She was born May 21, 1833 and

died April 16, 1873, leaving seven children— Helen F.,

Benton C, Clara H., Andrew Jackson, Minnie, Katie

M. and Henry Ward B. Mr. D. is Republican in

politics ; is at present justice of the peace, andhas held

other local offices in the township. He is an energetic,

rising young man.

DUNIiAP GIIiBEBT L. dry goods and no-

tions, res. Dunlap, was born on Sec. ii. Radnor town-

ship, June 19, 1849, andhas educated in the schools of

this county. Is at present town cleric of Radnor town-

ship. Republican in politics. In 1876 embarked in

his present business and has succeeded in establishing

a good trade.

DUNIiAP NAPOIiEOJf, farmer. Sec. 3. P-

O. Dunlap, was born in Sandy Creek, Oswego county,

N. Y., Aug. 31, 1823. His early education was prin-

cipally received in the schools of his native town. In

the Fall of 1838, moved West and settled in Peoria

county. Married on April 22, 1848, Miss Eliza Robin-

son, a native of Otsego county, N. Y., born Jan. 2, 1829,

and came West in 1836. They have had ten children,

three sons and four daughters are living. He owns 260

acres of land in a high state of cultivation ;
the home

place is elegantly improved. Mr. D. is independent in

politics, and a member of the Presbyterian Church. Is

at present commissioner of public highways, and has

held various other offices. Is a member of the Patrons

of Husbandry.

Dustlu George, larmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.

BDWAKDS CHABIiBS, farmer. Sec. 2, P.

O. Dunlap, was born in Warren county, Ohio, Sept. 16,

1822, where he was brought up and educated. In 1834

moved with his parents to Switzerland county, Ind.

Married in 1844, Miss Julia Ayers, a native of New

York, They have five children, three sons and two

daughters. In 1854 they came West and settled in

Peoria county, 111. Owns 160 acres of land, well im-

proved and very valuable, which is the result of his own

industry. Republican in politics. Is school director

of the district in which he resides. $,}

EliSON JOHN, farmer. Sec. 26, P. O. Alta,

was born in Coshocton county, Ohio, June 12, 1825. In

1833 his parents removed West and settled in Peoria

county, where he was educated, and married in 1849,

Miss Elizabeth Clifton, a native of Ohio, born Sept. 19,

1824. They have two children— Eupha, born Jan. 23,

1851, and Eugene, born Jan. 18, 1856. Mr. E. is

Democratic in politics. Owns 210 acres of land, the

greater part of which is well improved, abundantly

supplied with fruit, and very valuable. He is one of

the prosperous farmers of the county.

FUton Jolin, farmer, F. O. Elckapoo.

FLEMMING JAMES, retired. Sec. 10, P. O.

Dunlap, was born in Washington county, Penn., Aug.

5, 1806. His primary education was received in the

district schools of the county. At the age of twenty-

two years, attended Cross Creek Academy four terms ;

then attended Franklin College, at New Athens, one

term; passing from there to Washington College, in

Washington county, where he graduated in 1833.

After graduating, accepted a position as teacher in St.

James' Academy in Baltimore county, Md., for some

twenty months. On June 26, 1838, was licensed by

Washington Presbytery, and exactly one year after was

ordained a minister. On October 31, 1839, married at

Martinsburg, Knox county, Ohio, Miss Catharine B.,

daughter of David Parks, of that town, born in

Wooster, Ohio, November 14, 1819. Ten children

blessed their union, six sons and four daughters ; the

eldest of his sons is a clergyman in the Presbyterian

Church, near Albany, Ills. In June 24, 1840, Mr. F.

was established pastor of West Union Church, Mar-

shall county, Va., and remained about seventeen years
;

was then called to Lower Buffalo, in his native county,

and was for the next eleven years pastor of a congrega-

tion. Thence to Marshall county, Ills., and occupied

the pulpit in the Mansfield Church for seven years, and

in 1876, moved to this county and supplied the Lime-

stone pastorate up to the Spring of 1879. Has, during

his pastoral life, attended four meetings of the General

Assembly of the Presbyterian Church. After leaving

the Limestone Church, retired from the labors in which

he has been so ardently engaged for the past forty

years. His family are all members of the Presbyterian

Church. Another of his sons is at present at the

Academy of Campbellsburg, Penn., preparing himself

for the ministry.

FOBD JOHN, farmer and stock raiser. Sec. 32,

Kickapoo, was born in Devonshire, England, March

12, 1821. Was educated in the schools of his native

country. In March, 1850, married Miss Phoebe Ann

Fry, a native of the same place as husband. They

have six children living, all sons. Immediately after
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marriage, immigrated to this country and settled in

this county, owns 400. acres of very valuable land, well

improved ; is Democratic in politics, and a member of

the Baptist Church. He is school director of his dis-

trict ; he began poor, but is now one of the prosper-

ous farmers of the county.

FOX WM. blacksmith, Sec. 35, P. O. Alta, was

born in Lincolnshire, England, June i, i8i8, was edu-

cated in the schools of his native country, and also

learned the blacksmith trade.' In January, 1846, mar-

ried Miss Ann Rouston, born January 29, 1823. They
are the parents of six children, four of whom are liv-

ing, two sons and two daughters. In 185 1, they came
to this country and settled inthis county, where he has

followed his trade since. Owns one acre of land on

which he lives and has his shop. Democratic in poli-

tics and a member of the Episcopal Church.

FRY THOS. farmer and stock dealer, P. O.

Kickapoo, was born in North Devonshire, England,

December 24, 1832, and secured a common school edu-

cation. Married Miss Christina Symmonds, April 20,

1858, native of the same shire as her husband, born

July 12, 1836. They have five children : George,

Robert, Hettie, Mary and Annie. Owns 320 acres of

land which, for fertility of soil, can not be surpassed in-

the county. The most of his time has been spent

in farming and handling stock, in which he has been

,
quite successful, and is held in high esteem by his

neighbors. Is Independent in politics.

GAIiB STEPHEN, farmer. Sec. 36, P. O.

Alta ; was born in Sailsburg, N. H., December 28,

1820. He attended the district schools of his' native

county and pursued the higher branches at Dart-

mouth College. On April 4, 1844, married in Vermont

Miss Sally Ann Bailey, a native of that State, born

June 7, 1824. They have four children, three sons and

one daughter. In 1852, they came West and settled on

the beautiful farm he now occupies on Sec. 36, Radnor

township, containing eighty acres to which he has since

added eighty acres more ; is Republican in politics
;

has been justice of the peace for six years and has held

other local offices in the township.

Gates J. B. farmer, P.O. Dunlap.
Gates Mary, farmer. P. O. Dunlap.
Garland Jonathan, farmer, P. O. Alta.

„

GERMAN CHABI.es, farmer. Sec. 12, P.

O. Dunlap ; was born in Baden, Germany, November

3, 1833, and was educated in the schools of his native

country. In 1848 immigrated to the United States

and settled in Erie county, N. Y., where he lived up to

the Fall of 1853 ; then came to Peoria county Ills.

Married in 1856, Miss Josephine Dinuenode, a native,

of France, born April i, 1836. He owns eighty acres

of farm land in a high state of cultivation ; is Demo-

cratic in politics, and, a member of the Roman Catho-

lic Church. Is at present school director of the dis-

trict in which he resides.

GIFFORD WILLIAM, farmer, Sec. 35, P.

O. Alta. The subject of this sketch is a son of Wil-

liam and Rebecca Giflford, nee Ellis, and was born in

the town of Falmouth, Mass., February 5, 181 1. He re-

ceived a good education and at the age of sixteen years

entered upon the study of chemistry and pharmacy, to

which he devoted several years close application. On
the 2ist day of November, 1833, in the city of New
Bedford, he united in marriage with Miss Meriam H.,

daughter of John and Anna Baily, who was born at

Hanover, Mass., December 5, 1813, and who, like her

husband, had received all the advantages afforded by

the schools of that period. In June, 1836, Mr. Gifford

came to Illinois to " spy out the land," and selected

Peoria as a permanent home. November of that year,

he returned to the " Old Bay State " for his wife and a

stock of goods. On February i, 1837, they left New
Bedford for their future home, and on the 2d took

passage on the barque "Jane" for New Orleans. At

New Orleans they transferred to a Mississippi river

steamboat, and reached Peoria on the 2d day of April,

and have resided in the county since. Mr. and Mrs.

.

Gifford are the parents of eleven children—Helen C.

B., was born in New Bedford, Mass., June 15, 1835,

married Elias H. Pratt, May 28, 1853, and died May
II, 1869; Caroline P., was born at New Bedford, De-

cember 2, 1836, and died at Peoria, August 8, 1837 ;

Anna T., was born at Peoria, May 24, 1839, and

married Edward Butler, March 19, 1863 ; John B., was

born September 21, 1841, married Miss Emeline John-

son, September 28, 1864, and is living in Champaign

county ;
Susan L., was born April 20, 1844, married

Edward Merrill in February, 1879, ^""^ '^ living in

Union county ; Charles, was born October 30, 1845 ;^

Edward, was born December 10, 1847, and died in

March, 1856 ; Irene and Miriam H., (twins) were born

August 4, 1850, Irene, married Edward Douglas, De-

cember 25, 1872, and Miriam H., married Isaac W.
Grant, December 23, 1871 ; William H., was born

October 20, 1852, and died January 12, 1855 ; Alice G.,

was born April 5, 1855. The father of Mrs. Gifford is

an honored and respected citizen of Lynn, Mass., and

has lived to see his ninety-third year.

GILLETT JOHN, M. D., physician and drug-

gist, res. Dunlap ; was born in Columbia county, N.

Y., on the 5th day of September, 1823, at the age of

two and a half years his parents moved to Lyons, Wayne
county, N. Y. Is the second son of Gardner and

Phoebe Gillett. Father native of Massachusetts and

mother of New York. Remained in Wayne county

until 1835 ; thence removed to Phelps, Ontario county,

N. Y., where he was educated, took an academic

course at Waterloo, Seneca county, at which place he
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read medicine in the office of Dr. Landon Wells, and

graduated from the Geneva Medical College in 1850.

After practicing one year in his nalive State came

West and located in LaSalle, Ills., and followed his

profession up to 1864 ; thence removed to Trivoli

township, this county, and remained up to 1871 ; thence

to Dunlap; made the first improvement in that town.

After completing a building engaged in the drug busi-

ness in connection with the practice of his profession.

Married in Varrick, Seneca county, N. Y., in 1852,

Miss Julia Manning, who died at LaSalle, Ills., in 1864,

leaving one child, Lucy C, born June 20, 1861. In

1866, Doctor married his present wife Miss Almira E.

Blood, who is the mother of two children, one living

—

Jessie B., born June 16, 1872, being the first child born

in Dunlap.

Gordon Iradel, farmer. F. O. Dunlap.
Gordon Samuel, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

GORDON" SAMUEL, farmer, Sec. 15, P. O.

Dunlap; was born in Park county, Ind., November 17,

1841. In March, 1856, came West and located in

Radnor township, Peoria county, Ills., and married

January I, 1876, to Miss Nancy A. Strain, a native of

Ipwa. They have three children, Sarah, Elnora and

Elizabeth. Owns 176 acres of,valuable land, elegantly

improved and very fertile.^ Is a member of the Salem

Grange, Patrons of Husbandry. In September, 1861,

enlisted in Co. H, 47th Ills. Vol. Inf., and was mustered

out October 20, 1864, at Springfield, Ills. Mr. G. is

one of the large and well to do farmers of the county,

a man and citizen respected and admired in the com-

munity in which he resides. Republican.

Hall S. 0. farmer, P. O. DunlEip.
Harlan Moaes, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Harlan G. B. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

HARBISON ABSALOM, farmer, P O.

Dunlap, was born in this county, July 17, 1841, and

attended the district school of his native county. On
May 24, l8fi3, married Miss Hester A. ICidd, daughter

of Richard Kidd (deceased), of Akron township, born

October 31, 1842. They have five children : Essie L.,

born January 24, 1868 ; Marian J., born March 6,

1870; Lorin E., born April 26, 1872; Lydia H., born

December 10, 1873 ; and Myron A., born December

21, 1876 ; owns 250 acres of valuable land, 160 acres in

a high state of cultivation and well improved. Politi-

cally he is Republican ; is at present school trustee

and has been director ; is lecturer of Salam Grange,

Patrons of Husbandry, No. 1483.

Hawley P. W. farmer, P. O. Alta.

HAWLET PETER R. farmer, Sec. 25, P.

O. Alta, was born in Bennington county, Vt., Sep-

tember 24, 1813. When but two years old, his parents

immigrated to Oswego county, N. Y., where he was

brought up and educated. In 1835 moved West and

located in Peoria county, where on Dec. 24, 1846, mar-

58

ried Miss Adelaide Hinman, of Oswego county, N. Y.,

born February 28, 1825. They have seven children :

Alden L., Frank J., Derry L., Justice T., Peter T.,

Guy and Charles Burt. Mr. Hawley owns 308 acres

of land, over half is under a high state of cultivation

and well improved ; is Republican in politics, and one

of the energetic and industrious citizens who have

been so conducive to the county's welfare.

HARLAN HARRISON, farmer. Sec. 22, P.

O. Dunlap, was born in Radnor township, February

12, 1842. His early , education was received in the

schools of the county. On March 6, 1862, he married

Miss Hannah L. Gordon, also a native of this town-

ship, born January 10, 1847. They have seven chil-

dren, three sons and four daughters ; own 278 acres

of valuable land, elegantly improved ; is Republican

in politics ; e^ered the service in 1864, during the

late war of the- Rebellion, and served to its close in

Co. "A." 32nd Ills. Vols.

HIBBS EVAN L. blacksmith, residence Dun-

lap, was born in Lambertsville, N. J., September 15,

1843. While an infant his parents moved to Phila-

delphia, Penn., where he was educated, and commenced
learning his trade, and at the age of eighteen, started

for Easton, Ind„ and there finished his trade. In

March, 1862, moved to Brimfield, Peoria county, Ills.,

and lived one year ; enlisted in Co. " C." 148th Ills.

Vol. Infty., but afterwards transferred to the 47th,

and served until the close of the war. After return-

ing home removed to Princeville, where he married in

the Fall of 1866, Miss Emily Hitchcock, born Febru-

ary 14, 1851. They have one child, Willis, born

December 5, 1867. In the Spring of 1876, they re-

moved to Dunlap, where he has worked at his trade

since. Mrs. H. died in May, 1870 ; September 10,

1876, Mr. H. married Miss Ella Young, a native of

this county ; is a member of the A. F. & A. M., and a

Democrat.

HITCHCOCK BURTON A. farmer, Sec.

2, P. O. Dunlap, is the son of Jedadiah J. Hitchcock,

who was born in Greene county, N. Y., September 8,

1811, and married Miss Elizabeth Artman, who died in

March, 1855, leaving three children, two sons and one

daughter. In 1857 he married Mrs. Salome S. Cooper,

his present wife. One child blessed this marriage. In

the Fall of 1836 settled in Peoria county. Ills. The

subject of this sketch was born in Greene county, N.

Y., October 31, 1834, and when two years old came to

the county with his parents. Is Democratic in politics

and a member of the Presbyterian Church.

Hervey D. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Hitchcock J. J. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

HUBER AQUILLA, boots and shoes, P. O.

Dunlap, was born in Tazewell county, Ills., April 30,

1854. In 1858, with his parents moved to St. Louis,
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Mo., aad from there to Peoria, Ills.; the Fall of 1864.

His early education was received principally in

Peoria, where he also learned the shoe making

trade. In September, 1876, settled in Dunlap and

engaged in his present business, and has by fair dealing

and close attention to business built up a very profit-

able trade. Is Republican in politics.

JACKSON JOHN, farmer. Sec. 15, P.O.

Dunlap. Was born in Yorkshire, England, August 10,

1807. His education was partially received in his

native country. In i8ig immigrated to the United

States with his parents, and located in Newcastle

county, Delaware, and lived there some eighteen years,

and in 1837 moved west and settled on his present

farm in section 15, Radnor township. In 1851 he

married Mrs. Elizabeth Aukland, a native of Lincoln-

shire, England. Mrs. Jackson had two children by her

former husband, and five by the present marriage ; two

sons and three daughters. Own 220 acres of valuable

land well improved. Mr. Jackson is a Republican in pol-

itics and a member of the Methodist Church. Held the

office of highway commissioner for a number of years.

His step-son and also the husband of his step-daughter

were in the Union army. The former serving one year

and the latter three years.

Keady EUen, P. O. Dunlap.
Keady Thomas, farmer, V. O. Dunlap.

KEYS ANDREW, miller, Sec. 30. P. O. Kick-

apoo, was born in Washington county, Penn., June 23,

1807, and attended the schools in his native county.

In 1817 his parents moved to Harrison county, Ohio,

where he was married in 1828 to Miss Minerva Young,

a native of that county. She died in 1853. They had

ten children, three of whom are now living, two sons

and one daughter. In 1858 married his second and

present wife, who was Miss Martha Kimmel, who has

borne him two children, of whom one is living, a

daughter. In April 28, 185 1, landed in Peoria county.

Ills., where he has lived ever since. On January 13,

1876, took charge of Radnor mill, on section 30, of that

township. Republican in politics. His son Denton,

enlisted in 1861 in Davidson's Battery of Artillery, and

served to the close of the war.

King Henry, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
King Henry J. farmer, P O. Dunlap.

KNOTT WM., Sr. farmer. Sec. 26, P. O. Alta,

was born in Mason county, Ky., March 21, 1803 ; was

brought up and educated there, and in 1828 married,

in Washington, Mason county, Ky., Miss Sarah E.

Knight, a native of Baltimore, Md., born March 12,

1813. They have had thirteen children, five living

—

Emily, John, Joseph, Wm., jr., and Elizabeth. On

March T2, 1836, they came West and settled in Peoria

city, and in 1850 purchased and began improving the

beautiful farm he now occupies in Radnor township,

which contains 360 acres in a high state of cultivation.

Also owns 55 acres in other portions of the township.

Is Democratic in politics, and has held various local

offices in the county. His son William enlisted, in

1864, in the io8th 111. Vols,, and served to the close of

the rebellion.

Knott William, farmer, P. O. Alca.

KRAMER JACOB, tin and hardware, P. O.

Dunlap, was born in Peoria, 111., Aug. 27, 1853, and

attended the schoels of the city. He married

Miss Annie Spannier, a native of Richwoods, born

April 23, 1855. They have two children — Emma,
born March 20, 1877, and Lena, born Aug. 19.

1878. Mr. K. is independent in politics, and a mem-
ber of the M. E. Church. On the nth of April, 1876.

purchased and began erecting his store and residence

in Dunlap, and after its completion began the business

in which he is now engaged, and has attained a good

trade.

Lamay D., Sr., farmer, P. O. Dunlap,
Lamay D. J, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Lamay John, farmer. P. O. Dunlap.
Madden Thomas, farmer, F. O. Dunlap.
Manlcer N. J. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

MATTHEWS WALLACE, grain and stock

dealer. Sec. 6, Medina township, P. O. Dunlap, was

born in Henry county. 111., on the 12th day of January,

1843, and six months later his parents removed to this

county. His education was obtained in the schools of

Peoria city. In 1865 he married Miss Eliza A. Fergu-

son, a native of this county. They have two children

— Harry L., born Dec. 14, 1866, Edward W., born

May 21, 1874. Is Republican in politics. In the Fall

of 1877 Mr. M. engaged in his present business, which

has grown to Urge dimensions under his judicious man-

agement.

Mayo J. farmer, P. O. Alta.
Mayo Joseph farmer, P. O. Alta.
Mendenhall G, farmer, P. O, Dunlap.
McGuire P. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
McKee Clarlc, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
McKee James W. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Meyers John, farmer.
McKee Mahlon. fanner, P. O. Dunlap.
Murphey A, farmer. P. O. Dunlap.
Nelson Daniel, farmer, P. O. DuiHap.
Nelson Dennis, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

PARKS JOHN H. farmer. Sec. 10, P. O.

Dunlap, was born in Knox county, Ohio, Jan. 8, 1835,

and was educated in his native county. In 1855, came

to Peoria county. 111., and married in 1857, Miss Do-

rathy G. Hervey, of Washington county. Pa., born

June 25, 1842. Seven children have been born to

them, three sons and four daughters. He owns 260

acres of land, elegantly improved and very valuable. Is

Republican in politics and a member of the Presbyte-

rian Church. He enlisted in 1862 in what was then

known as the Maine recruits, but after having served

nine months, Congress failed to establish such a branch

of service and were consequently, disbanded. Is a

member of the Patrons of Husbandry.

Pollock James, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Powers John, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
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Blctamond N. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Rife Jacob, farmer, P. O. Prlncevllle.
BUey Thomas, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

ROGERS GEORGE A. farmer, Sec. 17, P.

O. Dunlap, was born in Westchester county, N. Y.,

Oct. 8, 1831. His early education was principally re-

ceived in the schools of his native county. Came to

Peoria county, 111., in 1843, and in 1857 married Miss

Maria, daughter of J. L. Wakefield, of Radnor town-

ship. They have five children— Adolphus J., born

Oct. 26, 1857; Mary J., born Nov. 15, 1859; Grant S.,

born Nov. 17, 1863; Olive B., born Oct. 2, 1869; Gratta

J., born April i, 1873. Mr. Rogers owns seventy acres

of valuable land, well improved. Politically he is Re-

publican. Holds the office of justice of the peace. En-
listed in 1863 and served to the close of the war.

ROGERS JAMES H. farmer, Sec. 4, P. O.

Dunlap, was born in Westchester county, N. Y., Jan.

31, 1839. In 1843 he immigrated with his parents to

Jubilee township, this county. On his way out, his

father was drowned in the Mississippi river, below St.

Louis. His mother lived in Jubilee township up to the

time of her death, which occurred March 12, 1879, leav-

ing seven sons and one daughter, of whom James H. is

the fifth son. He was educated in the schools of the

county, Oct. 10, i860, he married Miss Sarah A.

Blake, a native of Peoria city, born May II, 1841, by

whom he has three sons and four daughters. Owns 360

acres of beautiful land on the home place, and is a

member of the Presbyterian Church. Has held several

offices of the township. Republican in politics.

Rogers Wm. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

ROGERS WM. H. farmer, Sec. 9, P. O. Dun-

lap, was born in Westchester county, N. Y., Octoberii,

1836. At the age of six years came to Illinois with his

parents and the rest of the family and settled in Jubilee

township, where he attended school. In 1861 he mar-

ried Miss Jennett E., daughter of John L. Wakefield,

of Radnor township, born Nov. 22, 1841, who is the

mother of six children— Logan A., born Oct. 24, 1867;

Charles, born Feb. 11, 1870; Leslie j., born Oct. 3,

1871; Wilson N., born May 29, 1873; Wm.,born Feb. i,

1875, and the baby, a son, born May 5, 1879, In 1866

Mr. R. purchased and began improving the beautiful

farm on which he now resides, on Sec. 9, containing

120 acres, well improved. Is Republican in politics.

Has l^een commissioner of public highways in Jubilee

township.

Russell C. farmer, F. O. Dunlap.
Shaw C. H. A. farmer, F. O. Alta.
Sliaw Thomas, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Sheehy William, farmer. P. O. Dunlap.
Shehan L. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

SMITH DAVID, lumber and grain dealer, Sec.

6, P. O. Dunlap, was born in Champaign county, O.,

July 13, 1830. In the Fall of 1837, with his parents,

James and Maria Smith, and five other children, came

to Tazewell county, Ills., and after three years resi-

dence there, removed to Peoria county, where he has

since remained. On May 11, 1851, he was united in

marriage with Miss Martha Chapin, a native of New
York. They have had five children, two are living :

Alice, born July 14, 1852, and Ann, born March 6,

1854. The greater part of his life has been spent on
a farm. In 1872, entered into the grain and stock

business, and in 1875 added lumber. Is Republican

in politics. Is at present school director, and has been
commissioner of public highways in Radnor. He
owns about 300 acres of valuable land, and some de-

sirable town property in Dunlap.

Smith James Mrs. P. O. Dunlap.

SMITH JOSEPH, farmer. Sec. 8, P. O. Dun-
lap, was born in Logan county, Ohio, February 14,

1835. In 1839, with his parents, came West and
settled in Tazewell county. Ills., and in 1844, removed
to this county for three years, then went to Marshall

county one year and returned here for permanent set-

tlement. In 1858, married to Miss Hettie Newkirk,

a native of Tazewell county. Ills., born November 30,

1839. They have four sons and three daughters.

Owns ninety acres of land, the most of which is well

improved. Republican in politics.

Smith Peter, farmer, P. O. Dunlap.

SMITH WM. farmer, Sec. 6, P. O. Princeville,

was born in Champaign county, O., February 10, 1837.

While yet an infant, his parents came West and settled

in Tazewell county, Ills., for some three years, and
removed to Peoria county where he received his early

education, and was married in i860 to Miss Martha E.

Bush, who died in 1876, leaving three children,.all sons.

On July 4, 1878, he married his present wife, who was

Miss Carrie Taylor, daughter of B. S. Taylor, of this

county, born June 4, i860. Mr. S. owns 160 acres of

farm land rarely surpassed for fertility of soil and im-

provements. Republican in politics.

TAYLiOR BURTES S. farmer, Sec. 7,' P. O.

Princeville, was born in New York City, September 9,

1828, and was brought up and educated in that city.

Married Miss Alice Gregory, of New Jersey, in 1853,

who died in 1867, leaving two sons and five daughters.

In 1872, Mr. Taylor married in this county his present

wife, Araminta Sawyer, a nativeof Mercer county, Va.,

born December 14, 1838. By this marriage there is

one child. Mr. T. immigrated to Radnor township,

Peoria county, in 1845, where he owns a beautiful

farm of 420 acres, under a high state of cultivation.

In 1846, enlisted under Col. Ringgold for service during

the Mexican war, and served until its close. He is

now one of the prosperous and well to do farmers of

the county. He started at twenty-five cents per day

in a rope walk, and boarded himself.

Tallyn Elizabeth, farmer, P. O. Elckapoo.
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TBIGEB WILLIAM, farmer, Sec. 34, P.O.
Alta, was born in Devonshire, England, August 15,

1826, where he was brought up and educated. In

June, 1851, immigrated to this country, and settled in

Peoria county, where he married, in 1856, Miss Ellen

Stewart, who died in October, 1866, leaving one son

and two daughters. He afterwards married his

present wife, who was Miss Jessie Stewart. By this

marriage they have one son. Mr. Triger owns 400

acres of very productive and well improved land ; is

independent in politics, and a member of the Episcopal

Church, and school director.

TUCKER CYRUS, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O.

Kickapoo, was born in Plymouth, Mass., July 19, 1809,

was educated in the common schools of his native town.

In August, 1841, married Miss Abigal T. A. Shaw, who
died in 1846, leaving two children, one of which is now
living, Clarence S. On September 13, 1857, married

his present wife. Miss Fannie Keim, a native of Somer-

set county, Penn., born May 19, 1823. The fruit of

this union is two children, one is living, George W.
In October, 1841, immediately after his first marriage,

they removed to Radnor, Peoria county, where he owns

420 acres of superior farming land ; is Democratic in

politics ; has been township supervisor of Radnor for

two terms, and lield other local offices.

YAN PATTEN ROBEBT B., A. M.

was born in Sterling, Cayuga county, N. Y., March 17,

1825 ; is the son of Dr. Peter Van Patten, and Lydia

Van Patten, the daughter of John Bullock, a well

known English farmer, of Albany county.N. Y. The par-

ents of Mr. Van Patten settled in Sterling, N. Y.,in 1816^

and were among the first settlers of that section, then

known as Western New York. No schools near—the

doctor fitted up a log cabin and taught in it himself a

free school, for the benefit of his own and his neigh-

bors' children ; leaving the school in the care of his

I daughter—only twelve years of age, when he was called

away on professional business. He died in 1829, at

the age of fifty-one, leaving ten children to the sole

care of their mother; but he had provided by willior

a liberal English education of the five younger ones of

the ten. Of the five, after leaving a very good com-

mon school,—one, Dr. M. B. Van Patten, deceased,

well known in this county, by his own efforts, acquired

a medical education ; and the two youngest, R, B. and

John B., also by their own efforts, using teaching as

the means, passed through a complete classical college

course, at Middletown, Connecticut. Early in life,

Robert B. chose teaching as a profession, and qualified

himself for the work. Now at the age of fifty-five, he

is still at the vyork of teaching for a part of the year,

with the same zeal he did thirty-five years ago, and

finds rest and recuperation in out-door labor on the

farm. He married, in 1851, Miss Sarah A., daughter

of Rev. Wm. Nipper, of Somersetshire, England. By

this marriage there are four children living, viz.,

Sarah Theresa, born September 18, 1852 ; Wm. John-

ston, born April 6, 1854 ; Robert M., born November

23, 1861 ; George Milton, born February 14, 1868.

Sarah T, graduated at the Peoria High School, at the

age of sixteen, at the Peoria county Normal School at

seventeen ; taught six years in Peoria city, four of the

six in the County Normal School. In 1877 graduated

at the State Normal School, at Oswego, N. Y., and

since has been engaged in teaching at Jamestown, New
York. William J. has been a teacher in Peoria county

for the last seven years. Robert M. and George M. are

at home. His first wife died November 11, 1868.

Married his present wife. Miss Matilda A- Shultz, of

Navarre, Ohio, July 4, 1869. Of this marriage there

are three daughters and one son : Minnie A., Ellen E.,

Centa Gertrude, and Albert Bullock.

Voortiees Joseph, farmer. F. O. Kickapoo.

VAUGHN BENJAMIN C. wagon maker

and blacksmith, res, Dunlap. Was born in Ashland

Co., Ohio, Feb. 16, 1837. In Feb. 1854, left home and

went to Three Rivers, Mich., and in the Fall of the

same year removed to Mount Vernon, Indiana, and

remained until January 1858, when he returned home,

and in March, 1859 again came West and settled in Cal-

laway Co., Mo., and worked at brick making. In May
i860, went across the line in Boone Co., Ky., and mar-

ried Miss Mary E. Burnett, the same year, a native of

Kentucky. They have three living children, Emily S.,

Julia A., and Hattie M. In April, 1863 came to Peoria

Co., III., and in 1867 again removed to Ford JCo., 111.,

where he remained until 1874, then came to Dunlap

where he commenced the wagon making and black-

smith business, and has built up an extensive trade in

his line. Enlisted in Sept. 1861 in the First Mo. Mounted

Infantry, and served until they were disbanded in the

Fall of 1862. Re-enlisted in February 1863 in the 7th

111. Mounted Infantry, and served until the close ofthe

war. Is a member of the A. F. & A. M. Republican

in politics.

WAKEFIELD JOHN L. farmer, Sec. 18,

P. O. Dunlap. Was born in Chester Co., Penn., June

18, 1794. In 1821, moved to Warren Co., Ohio, and

married the same year Miss Martha Strickler of Dau-

phine Co., Pa., born Oct. 28, 1805, died Feb. 19, 1879.

They had fifteen children,, ofwhom nine are now living,

Sarah, born March 24, 1825, Joseph, born Feb. 28,

1830, William, born Jan. 30, 1832, Wilson N., born

March 17, 1837, Maria, born June 15, 1839, Janette,

born Nov. 22, 1841, Henry D., born Sept. 9, 1846,

Sophia L., born Jan. 28, 1849, ^"<^ Rebecca,born Jan, 27,

1834. Three of this number are now in California and

one in Iowa, and the rest in the immediate neighbor-

hood of the old homestead. In the Fall of 1S34, Mr.
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W. came to Peoria Co., and in 1836, removed to Radnor
township on Sec. i8, where he still resides. Owns a
fine farm of i6o acres elegantly improved, besides forty-

eight and a half acres of timber. Politically is an Old
Jeffersonian Democrat, and now after an active life of

over eighty-five years, is hale and hearty. Had two
sons John and Henry enlisted during the war of the

Rebellion and served with considerable distinction.

WAKEFIELD WM. W. farmer, Sec. 18, P.

O. Dunlap. Was born in Butler Co., Ohio, Jan. 30,

1832. At the age of four years with his parents moved
West and settled in Peoria Co , 111., where he received

his early education. Married, in Jan. i, 1857, Miss
Elizabeth Wilkinson, a native of this county, born Aug.

2, 1839. They have four children, Geo. Washington,
born Oct. 15, 1857, Frank Leslie, bom Aug. 13, 1859,

Cora Ada, born July 4, i866, and Mabel Evaline, born
April 7, 1877. Owns 413 acres of very valuable land

well improved. Republican in politics. Has been
school director for nine years. Is overseer of Salem

Grange No. 1483 ;
post of honor.

Wilder E. farmer, P. O. Dunlap.
Wllklna Chas. farmer, F. O. Dunlap.

"WTLiLi OTHO B. physician and surgeon, res.

Dunlap. Was born in Mercerburg, Franklin Co.,

Penn., June 27, 1846. Emigrated with his parents in

1856 to Fulton Co., 111., where he was educated. Began

the reading of medicine in 1866, in the office of Dr.

Swisher of Canton, and graduated in Rush Medical

College, Chicago, in 1869. Immediately after can'e to

Peoria Co., and settled in Kickapoo, where he was

married in 1870 to Miss Elizabeth Grant, a native of

French Grove, born July 7, 1848. They have two

children, Maud E., born Jan. 26, 1873, an infant son

Otho Grant, born Aug. 24, 1878. In June, 1875 remov-

ed to Dunlap where he has an extensive practice. Politi-

cally he is a Republican, and member of the Presby-

terian Church, also a member of Peoria Medical Society.

Williams John, farmer, P. O. Alta.
Williams E. H. (estate) farmer, P. O. Alta.

WILSON CHARLES M. butcher and stock

dealer, P. O. Dunlap. Was born in Lafayette, Stark

Co., Ills., Jan. 9, 1844. Was educated in the school of

his native county, In 1865 married, Miss Jennie Law-
son of Hamilton Co, Ohio; born June 7, 1844. They
have three children, Henry A., born Feb. z6, 1867,

Lizzie B., born Dec, 20, 1868, Minnie A., born March,-

26, 1876. They removed to Dunlap in the Spring of

1874, and he entered into his present business. Enlisted

in 1864 in Co. E. 139th 111. Vol. Inf., and served some six

months. Republican in politics, and has held the office

of justice of the peace and township assessor.

YATES JOS. J. (deceased), farmer. Sec. i, P.

O. Dunlap. Was born in Ohio Co., W. Va., Sept. 8,

1832, was brought up and educated in his native county,

and in May 1847 came to Illinois and settled in Peoria

Co., where he married, Jan. i, 1856, Miss Elizabeth C.

Ready, a native of the same county as
,
her husband,

born Oct. 29, 1 834. They have nine children, five sons

and four daughters. He died Dec. 5, 1877. Widow
still survives him. She owns 235 acres of land ; the

home place is finely improved. Mrs. Yates is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian Church at Dunlap, as was also

her husband during life.

YATES WM. L. general merchant, P. O. Dun-

lap. Was born in Akron township, Peoria county, on

the nth day of Sept. 1857, and received a liberal edu-

cation in the schools of his native township. On the

23rd day of May, 1878, came to Dunlap and embarked,

in April of the following year, in general merchan-

dising, and has met with flattering success. Politically

Mr. Y. is a Republican, and is a member of the Pres-

byterian Church, Is the only child of Wilson Yates,

(deceased) of Akron township.

RICHWOODS TOWNSHIP.

Baker Eva, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Bell George, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Beck J. P. town clerk, P. O. Peoria.

BIRKET JOHSr C. real estate, res. Richwoods

township, P. O. Peoria, was born in Peoria in 1834.

His mother came to Peoria in 1825, and died in 1852.

His father came in 1826, and died October 16, 1874.

Mr. Birket married January I, 1868, Miss Ann Jane

Grundy, a native of Bolton, Lancashire, England, by

whom he has four children— Mary A. J., John Charles,

Jr., Walter A., and William Edwin. He and his wife

are members of the Episcopal Church. When Mr.

Birket's father came to Peoria there were but a few

houses built ; he located three fractional quarters in

Peoria township, and in 1835 one and one-fourth sec-

tions in Richwoods township, upon which the home-

stead of the subject of this sketch is situated. He laid

out two additions to Peoria, which bear his name. He
sold land occupied by the water works and fair grounds

for public purposes. He donated a square in the first

addition (Church Square) for church purposes ; one-

quarter square for parsonage, and a fractional quarter

for school purposes, which has not yet been improved.

Blrkel Jacob, gardener, F, O. Feorla.
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BOERCKEL JOHN F. superintendent

Springdale Cemetery, P. O. Peoria.

BOOTZ PETER Mrs. farmer, Sec. 33, P. O.
Peoria.

Bowmau A. gardener, P, O. Peoria.

BRICKEL JACOB Mrs. gardener, Sec. 33,

P. O. Peoria.

Budd Israel, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

CAliHOUN J.H. farmer. Sec. 28, P. O. Peorfa.
Gamblln Wm. retired, P. O. Peoria.
Garrlneton W. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Gartwrlght Wm. liveryman, P. O. Peoria.
Clegs Josepb, retired mercliant, P. O. Peoria,

CODY JOSEPH, brickmaker, Sec. 22, P. O.

Peoria, was born in county Kilkenny, Ireland, in Aug-
ust, 1824, and is the son of Patrick and Annie (Wallace)

Cody, natives of that county. He worked on a farm

there until twenty-six years old, when he came alone to

America, landing at New York in April, 1850; re-

mained in Buffalo tor five months, and then went to

Bucks county. Pa., for two years, where he worked on

a farm, and in the latter part of 1852 came first to Peo-

ria county and resided there until 1859. Between the

last date and 1863 he was mostly in the South, moving
about a good deal, and in 1863 returned to Peoria

county, and began brick making on his own account,

which he has since continued. He married August 20,

1865, Miss Margaret Walsh, a native of county Kil-

kenny, Ireland. He owns eight acres of land, upon

which are his yard and residence. Mr. and Mrs. Cody
are members of the Catholic Church.

COLE R. M. farmer. Sec. 22, P. O. Peoria, was
born in Otsego county, N. Y., September 9, 1822, and
is the son of Richard and Emily (Morgan) Cole. His
father was a native of Connecticut, and his mother of

Vermont. He grew up and was educated in his native

county, and learned there the trade of shoemaker.

After the acquisition of his trade he went to Chicago,

and there worked at it for about two years. He after-

wards returned home and learned the art of photo-

graphy, then in its infancy, and for a number of years

traveled through the States of New York, Vermont,

Illinois and Wisconsin, plying his craft. He married

in Chicago, March 30, 1850, Miss Lydia A. Corlis, a

native of New Hampshire, daughter of David and

Dolly (Blake) Corlis, natives of New Hampshire, who
was born July 6, 1832, by whom he had two children

—

Nelly, born June 23, 1852, died July 15, of the same
year; and Roderick C, born January 2, 1862, died

February 16, 1879. In the year of his marriage he

came to Peoria, and resided there carrying on business

as a photographer till Octocer, 1859, when he bought

his present farm and moving to it, has ever since re-

sided there. He owns 217 acres of land, a large part

of which is under cultivation, and has a large and

handsome residence upon it. Mr. Cole has occasionally

filled some of the minor offices in the township.

CONNELY WILJLIAM, brick maker, P. O.

Peoria,, was born in the county of Antrim, Ireland,

Nov. 22, 1828, and is the son of Thomas and Agnes

(Gardner) Connely, natives of Antrim. He grew up to

manhood there, and worked for seven years and eight

months in a linen bleaching green, and came to Ameri-

ca in 1849, landing at New York in the Summer of that

year. He came straight through to Peoria, and for a

short time worked in a broom manufactory, and then

on the railroad. For some years he worked in the

brick yards during Summer, and in the Winter time

in Farmers' Mill, Peoria. He married April 27, 1856,

Miss Ann Kilpatrick, a native of Antrim, who came to

America about three years later than himself, by whom
he has had eight children, six now living— Thomas,

Agnes, Mary, Margaret, Ellen and Mina. In the year

of his marriage he began in his present business for

himself, and has since continued it on an extensive

scale. His brick yard is in Peoria township. He owns

thirty-five acres of land, which cost him $3,coo in 1861,

and upon which he has since built a fine house. Mrs.

Connely and family are members of Grace Mission

Church.

Conrad Jacob, P. O. Peoria.

COOPER MARCUS, farmer. Sec. 32, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Mercer county, Ohio, Jan. i, 1820,

and grew to manhood in that county. He came to Illi-

nois, settling in Fond Du Lac township, of Tazewell

county, in 1848, and married Feb. 13, 1851, Adeline

Batman, who was born there Oct. 7, 1831, who bore

him five children, only one now alive—: Harvey H.

Cooper. This son married Oct. 3, 1872, Miss Nettie

Atwood, a native of Aurora, Kane county. 111., by whom
he has two children— Edith, born July 22, 1873, and

Robert, born Sept. 26, 1875. Mr. Cooper rents twenty

acres of land, upon which he groiys principally grapes

and fruit. ' Himself and wife are members of the Metho-

dist Church.

CRANDAIil, JOHN W. farmer. Sec. 22, P.

O. Peoria, was born in Richwoods township, Feb. 23,

1848, and is the fourth son ofWesley and Jane (Stringer)

Crandall, natives of Ohio, who came to Peoria county

in 1835. His father died in 1854, tut his mother is

still alive and resides on the old homestead with him.

He was raised upon it, and at the beginning of the war

enlisted in an Illinois regiment, and after a period of

service was discharged. Shortly afterwards he re-enlisted

as a veterau and served until the close of the war. His

mother owns sixty acres of fine farming land, worth

about $60 per acre.

Crandall Jane, farmer, P.O. Peoria.

CROWEIiLi C. li. farmer and dairy. man, Sec.

21, P. O. Peoria, was born in Middlesex county, Conn.,

Oct. I, 1827, and is the son of Adonijah and Hannah
Crowell, nee Bowe, natives of tfeat county. He went tQ
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school, was raised on his father's farm, and also learned

the trade of blacksmith. When twenty-one years old

he went to Hartford, and for two years worked in

Sharp's rifle factory there. He came to Peoria July i,

1856, and resided there until 1868, working at his trade,

and in the last named year came to his present location

in Richwoods township, and has ever since resided

there. He owns foriy acres of land, and rents 160

acres ; keeps about seventy cows, and sends the milk

daily into Peoria. He has, by hard labor, made a fine

farm out of what was a few years previous a wilderness.

He married in Hartford county. Conn., Miss Sarah

Steadman, who was born there April 12, 1831, and they

are the parents of five children, only one of whom is

now living— Clara Louisa, born June 4, 1865. Mr.

Crowell has been school director and trustee for a num-
ber of years.

DALiTOK JOSEPH, farmer and brick man-

ufacturer. Sec. 32, P. O. Peoria, was born in county

Kilkenny, Ireland, Dec. 29, 1828, and is the son of

Thomas and Mary (Cody) Dalton, natives ofthat county.

He was raised on his father's farm, and after his death,

in 1845, took charge of it for six years. In 1851, he

came with his mother, three brothers and a sister to

America, landing at New Orleans in March of that

year; came straight to Peoria county and has resided

there ever since. Shortly after his arrival, he learned

the brick making business, and worked at it a number

of years. He started manufacturing with >i partner in

1859, and since 1864 has manufacturci solely on his own

account. He married Feb. 28, 1861, Miss Catherine

Nail, a native of county Kilkenny, by whom he has had

nine, children, eight now alive— James, Mary, Richard,

Patrick, Elizabeth, Catherine, Joseph and Margaret.

He owns ninety-five acres of land, which he stocks and

farms. Himself, wife and family belong to the Catho-

lic Church.

Dempsey Wm. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
DensDerger P. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

DICKISON" WM. B. (retired), Sec. 33. P- O.

Peoria, was born in Switzerland county, Ind., Feb. 9,

1834, and is the son of Griffith and Achsah Dickison

nee Bennett. His father was a native of Indiana, and

his mother of New York State. In the Spring of 1835

he came with his parents to Peoria county, and resided

for some time near Mossville, thence removiiig to Rad-

nor township, Sec. 21, where he grew up to manhood.

He married there, March 15, 1855, Miss Ann Wilkin-

son, a native of Park county, Ind., born March 15,

1835. who is the mother of three children— Lizzie, now

Mrs. Frank Epperson, Charles D. and William Ernest,

Some years previous to marriage he bought a farm in

Sec. 35, Radnor township, to which'he brought his

wifp, and there all his children were born. He con-

tinued to reside there until Sept., J874, when he retired

from active farming life, and leaving his farm to the

care of his sons he came to Richwoods, and bought his

present home. He owns there 13 acres pasture land,

with residence, etc. In Radnor and Kickapoo town-

ships he owns 400 acres fine farming land, almost all

under cultivation, and worth about $65 an acre. Mr.

Dickison's mother died in the Fall of 1858, but his

father is still a resident of Radnor township. Mrs.

Digkison is a member of Calvary Mission Church.

Elson Sarah, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

ESSEX THOMAS, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Albemarle county, Va., Nov. 15,

1803, and is the son of Thomas and Elizabeth (Bowen)

Essex, natives of Maryland. They were farmers, and

he was bred a farmer, on the home farm, until 1830

when the whole family removed to Illinois, and settled

for one year near the present site of Wyoming. After-

wards he worked for some time in Peoria, and in 1834

bought his present place, and has ever since resided

upon it. He married, in Virginia, Sept. 4, 1827, Miss

Ellen Martin, a native of that State, born about 1811,

by whom he has had eleven children, eight now alive—
Sylvester, Sarah, Nancy, William, Mary Eliza, Ellen

and John.. His third son, Joseph, died of disease, at

Cairo, 111., while serving in the Union army during the

war. Mr. Essex owns 80 acres of land, all under cul-

tivation, and nearly all under plow. He values it at

about $6,000. All his children except youngest son and

daughter are married. These two remain at home with

him.

Fahnestoclt H. H. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Fenchter L. eardener P. O. Peoria.
Fennell Wm, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

FliANNAGAN JAMES H. brickmaker.

Sec. 32, P. O. Peoria, was born in Salem county. N. J.,

Jan. 22, 1838, and is the son of James and Rachel

Flannagan nee Wells, natives of the same county. He
grew to manhood upon the home farm, and in 1866

came to Illinois, settling upon the land he still occupies.

He married, May 7, 1870, Miss Sarah Jane McKinney,

a native of Peoria county, by whom he has two chil-

dren, Rachel May, born in May, 1875, and Maud Mc-

Kinney, born in August, 1878. Mr. Flannagan owns

15 acres of land, part of which is used as a brick yard,

and on which he also resides. Makes about 1,000,000

brick a year. His parents are still alive and residents

of New Jersey. On national issues he votes the Re-

publican ticket, but in local matters for the best man,

irrespective of party.

FRYE ABRAHAM, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Washington county. Pa., July 11,

1814, and is the son of Benjamin and Sarah (Schaffer)

Frye, natives of that county. He went to school and

was raised there until twenty-five years old, when in

1839 came to Illinois alone on » prospecting, trip after
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land, which extended over eight months, and he then

returned with so favorable a report, that in the follow-

ing year the whole family came West, and his father

bought the quarter section Mr. Frye now resides upon.

His father died about 1869, and his mother about three

years later. Mr. Frye married, Feb. 25, 1840, Miss

Eleanor Campbell, a native of Penn., who was born

May 21, 1814, by whom he has had four children, three

now alive— Benjamin, Mary and Josephine. Mrs.

Frye died Sept. 20, 1848, and he re-married, Jan. 27,

1853, Miss Margaret Belford, his present wife, who was

born in Muskingum county, Ohio, Dec. g, 1829. She

has borne him seven children, six now alive— Frank-

lin P., Emma, Andrew Douglass, Ida May, Richard

Yates, (deceased), William Everett and Hervey. His

oldest son served during the war in the 77th I. V. I.

Mr. Frye has ever since coming resided at present loca-

tion. He owns 80 acres of land, all under cultivation.

Has filled the offices of road commissioner and school

director for some years.

Freye J. K. P. lerryman. P. O. Peoria.
Frye Smith, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

FKYE NANCY Mrs. Sec. 33. P. O. Peoria.

Frush Peter, gardener, P. O. Peoria.
Fulton Joseph, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

FULTON JOSIAH, farmer. Sec. 28, P. O. Peo-

ria. The subject of this sketch is the last survivor of

the first seven American settlers who came to Fort

Clark in April, 1819. He is the fifth child and third

son of James and Jane Fulton, nee Crow, and was born

near Wheeling, Virginia, February 19, 1800. When he

was six years of age his parents removed from Virginia

and settled in Randolph county, this State, making the

trip from Wheeling to the mouth of the Ohio in a flat

boat, and from there to Kaskaskia in a half-keel boat.

At that time Illinois formed a part of Indiana territory,

and there were but few American settlers in any part of

the country, and they were all confined to the extreme

southern part. He was somewhat of a roving disposi-

tion and moved from one place to another, so that

Josiah grew to manhood in Randolph, St. Clair and

Bond counties. In 1 8 19 his father was living on School

Creek, and it was there that Josiah and six others

made up a little colony to form a new settlement at the

site of Naples, but when they reached that place they

were dissatisfied with the lay of the land, and, as there

was considerable noise about the country around Fort

Clark, they concluded to push on here. They divided

their forces at Naples, a part of them coming by keel

boat, and the rest of them on horseback. From that

time to the present, Mr. Fulton has resided in the

county, and nearly all the time in sight of the place

where they pitched their tent at the time of arrival.

There were neither roads, steamboats, mills, stores,

nor any other conveniences of civilization, St. Louis

was the nearest market, and for several years they

were subject to great inconveniences incident to pioneer

life. Mr. Fulton has been a part and parcel of the

county, and is highly esteemed for good qualities.

On the 15th of April, 1831, he united in marriage with

Augusta P. Hughes, daughter of Abraham and Nancy

Hughes, nee Harris, who was born in Savannah,

Georgia, November 27, 1801. Her parents came to

Illinois and settled at Mackinaw in 1820, so that she,

too, is entitled to rank as an old settler, and one who

has experienced all the hardships of life in a new

country. In early times, before the Indians left, her

father's house was often filled with them, and she often

tells her young acquaintances of their habits and cus-

toms, and how drunken savages often slept in the

house where she lived. She became so accustomed to

them that she had no fear of them. They have had

ten children— Nancy Jane, was born June 15, 1832 ;

married William Simms. Rebecca E., born August 15,

1833 ; married Edward Mansfield. Samuel, born March

27, 1835. Elizabeth, born June 13, 1836 ; married

Jacob W. Slough. Joseph, born October 28, 1837 ;

married Sarah Henderson. Mary E., born May 6,

1839; married John McDermot. George W., born

June 8, 1841. Albert; born October 8, 1842. Josiah,

born December 18, 1843. Jacob, born December 2,

1845. Mr. and Mrs. Fulton are members of the M. E.

Church. He is Republican in politics. Owns 160 acres

of land, valued at $75 an acre.

GAUWITZ ANTON, farmer and fruit grower.

Sec. 22, P. O. Peoria, was born in Germany, February

I, 1819, and is the son of Charles and Christina (Beck-

man) Gauwitz, natives of that country. He was raised

at home, learned the trade of tanner, and married. May
.6, 1844, Miss Elizabeth Nix, who was born in Germany,

July 5, 1819, by whom he has had nine children, five

now living— Peter, Anton, Katie, Jacob, and Emma.

He came to America in 1854, landing at New York in

May of that year. After ten weeks in New Jersey, he

came to Peoria county, and has since resided in it. He
lived in the city of Peoria for eleven years, and came

to his present location in 1865, where he owns eighty-

five acres land. His son, Jacob, who lives at home,

owns sixty-five acres land adjoining, worth $50 an acre

clear through. They grow large quantities of grapes,

and other small fruit and vegetables, for the Peoria

market ; have two acres of vineyard, Mr. Jacob Gau-

witz is road commissioner and school director.

Gauwitz Anton Jr. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Gauwitz Peter, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

GILES NATHAN, farmer and supervisor of

township. Sec. 33, P. O. Peoria.

GILES THOMAS, farmer, Sec. 5, P. O. Moss-

ville.

Giles Wm. farmer, P. O. Peoria,
Gorman James, P.O. Peoria,
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HALiEi O. A. farmer and dairyman, Sec. 32, P.

O. Peoria, was born in Muskingum county, O., June i,

1828, and is the son of John and Calista Hale, natives

of Germany, who came to America about 1820. He
was raised in the village of Chandlersville in his native

county until sixteen years of age, when he removed to

Marietta O., where he engaged in making wheat fans

for about three years, then went to Savannah, Mo,, for

one year, to Logansport, Ind., for one year, then back

to Marietta for some time ; worked for three years on

the Memphis, Clarksville and Lewisville R. R. In

i8b2, he came to the land he now occupies, and has

since resided upon it. He married in Marietta, O.,

October 12, 1852, Miss Elizabeth Moore, a native of

Ohio, by whom he has five children : Calista, Annie,

William, Flaura and Nellie. Mrs. Hale died May 17,

1872. He rents and occupies 520 acres of land, half of

which is under plough, and the rest pasture. He at

present milks nineteen cows and sells their milk in

Peoria.

Haunsrs F. M., P. O. Peoria.

HESSIilKG BERNARD, farmer, Sec. 20,

P. O. Peoria.

HINES JOHN, Sr. farmer. Sec. 2i, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Frederick county, Va., October ist,

1799, and is the son of John and Polly (Roderock)

Hines. His mother was a native of Maryland, . and

his father of Virginia. His early days were mostly

spent in Hampshire county Va.; he grew to manhood

there, and married February 8, 1820, Ellen Belford, a

native of his own State, who bore him ten children,

five are living : William, John, Elizabeth, Catherine,

and Lewis. About five years after marriage he removed

to Muskingum county, O., and after a residence there

of about ten years, came to Peoria and settled in Rich-

woods township in the Fall of 1835, and has resided

there ever since. His wife died there October 15,

1874. Mr. Hines, owing to the feebleness consequent

upon his great age, has for some time retired from

active life, and has, while in the possession of all his

faculties, settled all his financial a£fairs.

HINES JOHN, Jr. farmer. Sec. 28, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Coshocton county, O., January 6,

1826, and is the son of John and Ellen Hines, nee Bel-

ford, of Virginia. When nearly ten years old he came

with his parents to Peoria, settled in Richwoods town-

ship, and has ever since lived thert. He married April

27, 1849, Miss Rebecca Frye, a native of Pennsylvania,

by whom he had two children, both now deceased.

His wife died in August 1856, and he married June 10,

1857, Miss Laura Carrington, daughter of William

Carrington of Richwoods township, and who was born

in Butler county, O., March 26, 1838. The fruit of

this union are nine children, all living : Lewis M.,

John B., Mary Eliza, Charles, Walter Sherman, Gilbert

B., Laura Amanda, Everett, and Winfred. He owns
eighty acres in the home farm, and seven acres in sec-

tion 21, all under cultivation, and worth $75 an acre.

Mr. Hines has filled the offices of road commissioner

and school director.

HINES LOUIS H. farmer. Sec. 28, P. O.

Peoria.

HINES LEWIS, farmer. Sec. 21, P. O. Peoria,

was born in Richwoods township, July 26, 1839, and
is the son of John and Ellen (Belford) Hines, natives

of Hampshire county, Va., who settled in Peoria

county in 1835. He was born and raised on the sec-

tion where he now resides. He enlisted July 5, i85r,

in Company D., ist I. C. V., Captain J. B. Smith, with

which he served nearly three years, and on discharge,

re-enlisted as a veteran in 14th I. V. I. and served with

it till the close of the war. While in the cavalry arm

of the service, he served principally in Missouri, and

was taken prisoner at Lexington. While in the Infan-

try he belonged to the 17th Army Corps under Gene-

ral Sherman ; was present at Johnson's surrender, and

was mustered out as corporal at Fort Leavenworth,

Kas., in October, 1865. He married March 16, 1876,

Miss Catherine C. Winer, a native of Pennsylvania.

He owns forty acres of fine farming land on the home-

stead. Is Republican in politics.

Elnes Henrietta Mrs. farmer, F. O. Feerla,
Hofer Otto, gardener, P. O. Peoria.
Hogan Micliolas, farmer, F. O. Peoria.

HUDSON CHARLES R. farmer. Sec. 28, P.

O. Peoria. Was born in Peoria, November, 1856, and

is the son of John A. and Georgina (Dupre) Hudson,

His father was a native of England, and his mother of

Illinois. He was raised and attended school in Peoria,

and married in Pekin, 111., Sept. i, 1876, Miss Mary

A.Whitby, a native of Richwoods township, and daugh-

ter of John and Anna Whitby, nee Hurst, native of

England, who was born August 3, 1858, and is the

mother of two children— Anna, born July 5, 1877, and

Lizzie, born October 18, 1878. Mr. Hudson's parents

are both residents of the township, but his wife's pa-

rents are both deceased. He owns forty acres fine

farming land, almost all under cultivation, and worth

about $2,500. Mr. Hudson is a Swedehborgian, and

his wife an adherent of the Presbyterian Church.

JACKSON HIRAM, farmer and general

trader, Sec. 19, P. O. Peoria. Was born in Saratoga

county, N. Y., Feb. 24, 1824, and is the son of Ches-

ter and Phoebe Jackson, nee Smith, natives of that

county. He was raised and educated in his native

county, and also learned the trade of cooper. In the

Fall of 1846 he sailed from New York to New Or-

leans, in the same vessel which carried Gen. Winfield

Scott and staff to the Mexican war. After two months

in the latter city he came up the river to Alton, and

walked from thence to Peoria in the Spring
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of 1847. After making a few trips on a steamboat

between there and St. Louis, he went to Timber town-

ship and made 5,000 rails on a contract. In the Fall

of 1847 he started on his own account as a cooper in

Peoria, and after a few years he bought out the Kicka-

poo mills, at what is now Pottstown, in Kickapoo

township, which he ran for three years, in connection

with a coal bank, and then selling out, returned to

Peoria and resumed coopering. Previous to this he

had (in 1855) purchased a farm, and kept stock upon

it. He purchased part of his present home farm in

1865, and the rest in 1874. He owns 220 acres of

land, seventy-five acres under plow and the rest un-

der pasture ; also owns eighty acres in section 30,

The grocery store at Jackson's Corners, in section 33,

is also owned by him, and he has been interested in

that line for twenty-five years ; the store is at present

conducted by his son-in-law, Julius Mobelow. He
married in Rock Island, Miss Mary Smith, a native of

Alleghany county. Pa., who has borne him six children,

five now alive— Ellen, Mary and Martha (twins) Phoe-

be and Ada. Mr. Jackson has held the offices of poor-

master and constable in the township ; devotes his

time to the breeding and raising of stock. He and his

family are Spiritualists.

Jessiip John, farmer, F. O. Peoria.

JOHNSON ASBUBY F. farmer. Sec. 17, P.

O. Peoria.

JOHNSTON" C. B. farmer. Sec. 5, P. O. Alta.

JOHNSTON JOHN M. farmer, P. O. Mark-

er's Corners, Trivoli township.

JOHNSTON K. F. farmer. Sec. 6, P. O. Alta.

JUDD JACOB C. farmer. Sec. 9, P. O.Peoria.

Was born in Dearborn county, Ind., June II, 1834, ^"^

is the son of Roswell and Elizabeth (Liddle) Judd,

His father was a native of Connecticut, and his mother

of England. He was raised at home till seventeen

years of age, when he came to Illinois, and has resided

within its boundl most of the time since. He came to

Peoria county in April, 1855 ; married at Farmington,

Fulton county, 111., Nov. 25, 1861, Miss Mary Eliza-

beth Leggett, who was born in New York city in April,

1843. They are the parents of two children, one—
William Glaze, born Oct. 20, 1864— now alive. In

1869 he came to his present location, where he owns

160 acres of land, twenty acres under cultivation, and

worth with improvements about $5,000. Mr. Judd is

a man of originality, and an independent thinker on

most subjects. His father is still a resident of Dear-

born county, Ind.

KFIiLAB JOHN, farmer. Sec. 16, P. O.

Peoria.

Keller Catherine, farmer, F, O. Fcorla.
Keller James, farmer. F. O. Feorla.

KFLSCH MICHAFIi, brick manufacturer,

Sec. 33, P. O. Peoria, was born in Decatur county,

Indiana, May 8, 1847, and is the son of Nicholas and

Helena (Bumbeck) Kelsch. His father came to Peoria

county about 1839, and was married there in 1842.

They resided there about three years, and then removed

to the county in which Michael was born. His mother

died there, and he removed with his father and the

rest of his family, to Jubilee township, where they

bought a farm. In his eighteeth year he began to learn

the trade of brick maker, and has worked at it ever

since. Seven years after commencing, he started the

business for himself. He married, February 23, 1870,

Miss Ann Lawless, a native of Rosefield township,

by whom he has had four children, two now alive

:

Thomas, born March 3, 1872, and Joseph, born Feb-

ruary 14, 1879. ^^- Kelsch owns 20 acres of land in

Medina township, worth about $15 per acre, and a.

house and lot on Flora avenue. Himself and wife are

members of the Catholic Church. His father is still

living, and resides upon the old homestead in Jubilee

township.

Keys Mrs.. F. O. Feorla.
Kimmel C. H., farmer, F. O. Feorla.
Klmiriel J. F.. dentist, F. O. Peoria.
Ruchgessner Frank, dairyman, P. O. Feorla.
Kratz ^.harles, F. O. Feorla.
Krelling J., farmer, P. O. Feorla.

lilSK ALEXANDER, farmer and gardener,

Sec. 33, P. O. Peoria, was born in Broome county, N.

Y., September 22, 1815, and is the son of Benjamin and

Esther Lisk, nee Stillwater, natives of New York State.

He remained at home until twenty years old, when he

came to Peoria county, and has ever since resided

within it. During the first Winter he worked in a liv-

ery stable, and in the Spring went to Tazewell county,

where he fenced in and made a farm for John Caldwell,

which he afterwards rented and farmed for two years.

Then returned to Peoria and farmed for one year on

the outskirts of the city, later working around at saw

mills, etc., until 185 1, when he bought his present farm,

and has since resided upon it. He owns 15 acres of

land, which he grows principally to small fruits, and

vegetables. He married, November 19, 1862, in Peoria,

Miss Sarah Kenyon, a native of Rensellaer county, N.

Y., who was bom there July 18, 1822.

Hsk T. J., farmer, P. O. Feorla.
Long Joseph, farmer, P. O. Feorla.
Lorentz Mi's. E., farmer, P. O. Feorla.
Ludwig J. B., farmer, F. O. Feorla.
Lydecker F. S., speculator, P. O. Feorla.
Mcintosh James, gardener, P. O. Feorla.

McKINNEY JOHN E. brickmaker, Sec. 33.

P. O. Peoria, was born in Alleghany county. Pa., in

Jene, 1826, and is the son of David and Abigail '

(Ensley) McKinney. His father was a native of Ire-

land, and his mother of Pennsylvania, He was raised

at home until fifteen years of age, when he came to

Peoria, and has since resided there. In 1844, he went

to work in a brick yard, and he has been in that busi-

ness for himself for over twenty years. He married
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April 8, 1847, in Logan township, Miss Eliza Stratton,

a native of the city of New York, born January 13,

1827, by whom he has five children : Luther, Julia,

Sarah Jane, William and Lily Maud. He settled on
his present location in 1859 ; owns 20 acres of land,

partly used for manufacturing purposes, and upon
which also stand his residence and barns. He owns
also two houses and lots, comer Perry and Laville

streets, in Hall's addition to Peoria.

McKHraTEY L. B. farmer. Sec. 28, P. O.
Peoria.

Michael Joseph, farmer, P. O. Feorla.
Monogan Thomas, farmer, P.O. Feorla.
Moore W. P. farmer, P.O. Feorla.

MUSTK FREDERICK, farmer. Sec. 22, P. O.
Peoria, was born in Germany, May 4, 1837, and is the

son of George Frederick and Doedreda (Schwindratz-

heim) Munk. He came to America with his parents

in 1854, and settled in Peoria county. His father died

March 27, 1877, and his mother still resides on the old

homestead. He married in 1862, Rebecca Stringer, a

native of Peoria county, born Feb. 27, 1838, and they

are the parents of eleven children, eight now living

—

George E., Sarah, Mary, Moses F., Doedreda, William
M., Cora and Margaret. Those dead are Louisa, Regi-

na, and one unnamed. He enlisted in Nov., 1864, in

Co. E. 48th I. V. I., and served for six months ; took

part in the battle of Nashville, Tenn., and several other

encounters. He was discharged May 15, 1865, and
returned to his family. He owns fifty-four acres of

land under fair cultivation, worth $75 an acre.

Munk G. F. miller, P.O. Feorla.
Munk Jacob F. farmer, P.O. Feorla.

MUNK WLLLIAM, miller. Sec. 22, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Germany, Nov., 1844, and came to

America with his parents, locating in Peoria in 1854.

His father died in March, 1877, but his mother is still

alive. He carries on the business of miller, doing

mostly custom work, and owns two acres of land, upon

which his mill is situated.

NEIiSOX ANDREW, farmer. Sec. 20, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Franklin county, Mass., September

6, 1832, and is the son of Osmund L. and Sarah Nel-

son, nee Houston, natives of that State, When six

years old he came to Peoria county with his parents,

settling in Hallock township, and there he grew up to

manhood upon the home farm. In 1858 he crossed the

plains to California, mined there for three months with

poor success, and then learned something of the trade

of blacksmith, soon afterwards starting a shop of his

own, which he ran for three years, and then returned to

his home in Hallock township. He remained there

about a year, and enlisted Feb, 28, 1864, in Co. B. 7th

Reg. I. V. I., Capt. Cosgrove
;
joined his regiment at

Raleigh, N. C, and served with it until the close of the^

war ; was mustered out at Louisville, Ky., July g, 1865.

He then returned home and resided there until March,

1868, when he came to Richwoods and settled upon the

farm he has since continued to occupy. He married

April 19, i866. Miss Josephine A. Keller, who was
born in Richwoods township, Feb. 28, 1843, by whom
he has six children— Osmund K., Sarah Bell, Andrew,
William, Alva and Mabel. He owns i6oacres of land,

all under cultivation, and worth about $40 an acre

;

has been township collector for four years. Mrs. Nel-

.son is a member of the Second Presbyterian Church.

Olds Justice Mrs. P.O. Feorla.
Partridge A., P. O. Feorla.
Paulie Charles, gardener, P.O. Feorla.
Pearson O. P. gardener, P.O. Peoria.
Pearce Hiram H. farmer, P.O. Feorla.

. PERKINS B. H. farmer and justice of the

peace. Sec. g, P. O. Peoria, was born in Danbury, Fair-

field county. Conn., Jan. 12, 1832, and is the son of

Sands and Abbie Perkins, nee Helm, natives of Rhode
Island. His mother died in his early infancy, and he

received the advantages of the common schools in his

native town until the age of sixteen, when he came with

his father to Illinois, settling in Princeville township,

Peoria county, July 4, 1848. Previous to coming, his

father had purchased a farm on Sec, 4, and there they

resided for three years, thence removing to Richwoods

township, and settling on Sec, 9, on the land Mr, Per-

kins now occupies. He has resided there ever since.

He married in April, 1862, Miss Eliza Overend, a na-

tive of Ohio, by whom he has six children, all living—
.Abbie Helm, Annie May, Jennie, Susan Mary and

George Sands, He owns 260 acres of land, eighty of

which are under pasture, and the rest cultivated, worth

about $35 an acre clear through. His father died on

the old homestead Jan,, i860, Mr. Perkins has filled

the office of justice of the peace for nine years, and his

decisions give general satisfaction.

PIERCE HIRAM H. contractor and builder,

Sec. 28, P. O. Peoria, was bofn in Middleton, Dau-
phine county, Pa., September 22, 1826. In 1847, went

to New York City, and married in 1855 Miss Harriet

Lockwood, who died in September, 1872, leaving two

sons and four daughters. Immediately after his mar-

riage he came to this county and began for himself,

working at his trade, bricklaying, and being possessed

of extraordinary financial ability, has risen to a high

rank as a contractor and builder. Has in partnership

with him Mr, Miller, They recently completed the

contract of mason work on the Monarch distillery,

located at Peoria. In 1876, he married his present

wife, Mrs. Exie A. Plank, a native of Woodford county,

Ills., bom September 11, 1839, In 1867, removed to

his beautiful suburban retreat in Richwoods township,

where he now resides, surrounded by his family and

all the comforts necessary to make life worth the living.

Is Democratic in politics,
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Poplett Wyley. farmer. P.O. Feorla.
Poplett Allen, farmer, P.O.Peoria.
Eell Charles, farmer and gardener, P.O. Peoria.
Schnebley 0. C. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Sohnebley E. M. farmer, P.O. Peoria.
Schnebley J. C. farmer. P.O. Peoria.
Schullne Leonard, gardener, P. O. Peoria.
Slpp Adam, farmer, P.O. Peoria,

SLOUGH JACOB, farmer, Sec. 33, P. O.
Peoria, was born in Lancaster county, Pa., May 31,

1793, and is the son of Jacob and Catherine (Genthn-

raer) Slough, natives of the same county. He was
brought up there, learned the trade of barber and hair

dresser, and, when about twenty years old, went to

Harrisburg, Pa., and married there July 28, 1816, Ann
Eliza Seipp, a native of Germany, who came with her

parents to America when five years old. After mar-
riage, he started business for himself as barber, and.

his wife kept a millinery store. In 1834, he left there,

and came to Peoria county in October of that year.

He opened the Union Hotel on Water street, and ran

it for some years. About 1845, he moved with his

family to Richwoods township, and opened the farm

he now occupies and has ever since resided upon.

Their conjugal union resulted in eleven children, seven

now living: Mary Rebecca, Caroline Elizabeth,

Maria Louisa, Catherine Lavina, Jacob W., Henry C.

and George Washington. He owns sixty acres of land,

almost all improved, and part of which, from its prox-

imity to the city, is worth $200 an acre. Mrs, Slough

died August 4, 1878. Mr. Slough is a member of the

German Reformed Church.

Smith John B. retired merchant. P. O. Feorla.

SOKNBEKGEB GEOBGE, farmer, Sec.

30, P. O. Peoria, was born in Butler county, O., Dec.

19, 1845, and is the son of John and Margaret Sornber-

ger, nee Sipp, natives of Germany. His father came to

America about 1834. When four years of age, he re-

moved with his parents to Illinois, settling on the land

he now cultivates, and has resided there ever since,

except during the time he was in the army. He en-

listed November 2, 1862, in Company A, 14th I. V. C,
Captain Carr, and served until August, 1865, when he

was mustered out at Pulaski, Tenn, He was with

Sherman on his march to the sea ; at Knoxville, at the

last fight at Nashville, and many other encounters.

He married, March 16, i86g. Miss Elizabeth Hilder-

brandt. a native of Germany, who was born January 7,

1847, by whom he has had five children, three now
living: Lucy, Mary, Catherine (deceased), Emma
(deceased), and Annie. He owns seventy-five acres

fine farming land, most of which is under cultivatipn,

and worth $50 an acre.

Spanler Casper, farmer, P.O. Peoria.

STAFFORD WrLLIAM, farmer, and gar-

dener. Sec. 15, P. O. Peoria.

Stanley John, farmer, P.O. Feorla.
Steele Godfrey, farmer P.O. Feorla.
Stringer Wm„ farmer, F, 0. Peoria.

SUTIilFF ANGEIiO A. farmer, Sec. 32,

P. O. Peoria, was born in Otsego county, N. Y., May 2,

1822, and is the son of Henry and Betsy (Mulford)

SutlifF, natives of that State. He resided at home till

twenty-six years of age, when he came alone to Illi-

nois, and settled in McHenry county, and farmed for

four years. He then went to the South, and resided in

various parts of it, returning to the North on the break-

ing out of the war. In 1864 he enlisted in the 51st I.

V. I., Co. " G." and served about one year, being mus-

tered out in Texas at the close of the war. He mar-

ried, in Wisconsin, Nov. 16, 1855, Miranda Thompson
,

a native of New York, who has borne him four chil-

dren, three now living : Ida, AUie, and Leota. His

wife died in 1862. Mr. Sutli6f rents 85 acres of land,

and raises upon it considerable fruit—principally

apples.

Swartz Nicholas, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Sweat Eliza, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

TINKER DAKIEIi M. retired, P. O. Peoria,

was born in North Adams, Mass., Feb. 25, 1810, and

is the son of Giles Tinker, a native of that State. He
is one of a family of thirteen children, five of whom
are now living. When twenty-two years of age, he

went to Honeye Falls, N. Y., in the foundry business,

and the following year embarked in the stove business,

shipping principally to Rochester. In this he con-

tinued eight years, and then removed into Rochester

for one year, and thence to Kingsville, O., where he

started a foundry on his own account ; resided there

two years, and then removed to Kent, O., where for

the next six years he continued in the same business.

In 1856 he came to Peoria, and after two years in a

foundry, started a restaurant and conducted it for three

years, buying at the end of that period his present loca-

tion on the borders of Richwoods township, about two

miles from the court house. He married, Aug., 1829,

Miss Ann Darling, who was born in Berkshire county,

Mass., Nov. II, 1810, by whom he had six children,

three ofwhom are now living : Susan, now Mrs. Isaac

Cady, of Stafford, Conn. ; Lida, now Mrs. O, P. Nor-

ton, and Louise, now Mrs. John Waugh. Mr. Tinker

engages very extensively in the raising of fruit.

Thrush Mary E., F. O. Peoria.

TRENT W. M. farmer. Sec. 19, P. O. Peoria.

Veerman D., gardener. P. O. Peoria.
Wagoner B., farmer, P. O. Peoria.

WERCKIiE HENRY (deceased), residence

of his widow, Mrs. Caroline Werckle, Sec. 29, P. O.

Peoria, was born in Alsace, France, July 5, 1823, and

is the son of Philip and Catherine Werckle, nee Beber,

natives of Alsace. He grew up to manhood in his

native country, and married there, April 5, 1850,

Caroline Brua, a countrywoman of his own, and In

1853, came to America, landing at New York, June
24th of that year. He came straight to Richwoods
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township, Peoria county, and three years afterwards

settled on the land now occupied by his widow and

family. Nine children were born to them, six of whom
are now living : William, Henry, Caroline, August C,
Sarah A., and Frederick W. Mr. Werckle died March

4, 1868. His widow owns 23^ acres of land, and rents

for the purpose of cultivation more or less land every

year. He was a member of the Lutheran Church, and

the surviving members of his family are also connected

with that church.

Werkley Caroline, farmeT, P. O. Peoria,
Wesl .T. A., Clerk Circuit Court, P. O. Peoria.
White Samuel H., prof. Koriual School, P. O. Peoria.
Winker F., farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Wood 0. C, farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Wolff Thornton, farmer, P. O. Peoria.

WOMBACHEK FERDINAND, saloon

and summer garden proprietor, and brickmaker, cor-

ner Pacific and President streets, P. O. Peoria. Was
born in Woodford county. 111., November 28, 185 1,

and is the son of John and Matilda Wombacher. His

mother is dead but his father is living. He married in

May, 1875, Louisa Wurst, who was born in Peoria

county, in 1851, by whom he has had three children,

two now alive— Joseph and John. He owns property

to the value of $1,400, and carries on a brick making

and dairy business in connection with his saloon and

garden. Himself and wife are members of the Catho-

lic Church.

Wood John A. F. farmer, P. O. Peoria.

WOOD C. C. farmer. Sec. 27, P. O. Peoria, was

bom in Oswego county, N. Y., February i, 1815, and

is the son of J ohn and Sarah Wood, nee Wait, natives

of Vermont. He was reared on a farm in his native

county till about twenty-two years of age, and in 1836

came to Peoria. He resided there some eight or nine

years, dealing in land, conducting a livery and teaming

business, etc. In 1839 he made a trip of over six

months to Santa Fe, N. M. From 1842 to 1846 he

filled the office of deputy sheriff of Peoria county, and
married February i, 1843, Miss Galetsa F. Case, a

native of his own county, born in July, 1823, by whom
he has had eight children, seven now living— John,

Eugene, Jennette, Hina, Galetsa, Chauncey and Charles.

A year or two after marriage he moved out of town to

his present location, and has since resided there. He
owns 120 acres in home farm, worth $100 an acre ; 120

acres in section 6 ; fifty in section l6 ; eighty in section

28, and eighty in section 32, worth all the way from

$50 to $300 per acre. Mr. Wood has been several

times supervisor, and assessor of the township.

WOOKEY BENJAMIN, brick manufact-

urer, Sec. 33, box 244, P. 0. Peoria, was born in Som-
ersetshire, England, March i, 1834, and is the son of

William and Ann Wookey, natives of that Shire. He
was raised partly in his native Shire and partly in that

of Monmouth, and came alone to America in 1855,

landing at New York, September 18, of that year. He
came straight to Peoria county, and has resided in

Richwoods township ever since. He married in i860,

and while on a visit home. Miss Mary Ann Lane, a.

native of his own place, by whom he has three children

— William Thomas, Ella Louisa, and Benjamin Lane.

Mr. Wookey has manufactured brick for fifteen years.

Owns a fine two story brick house on a lot of five and

one-fourth acres, which is partly occupied by his brick

yard. He has been a school director for many years.

Wookey George, gardener, P. O. Peoria.

WRIGHT OEORGE R. farmer. Sec. 3, P.

O. Peoria.

Wykle Jacob, farmer and dairyman. P. O. Peoria.
Yates John 0. judge Probate Court, P. O. Peoria.

ROSEFIELD TOWNSHIP.

Blneman S. farmer, P. O. Eickapoo.
Blst F. farmer. P. O. Rickapoo.
Black G. farmer. P. O. Kiokapoo.
Bohanan M. 8. llarmer. P. O. Trivoll.
Bower Dr. farmer, P. O. Rosefleld.
Brennan M. farmer. P. O. Kosefieid.
Brimly B. laborer, P. O. Eosefleld.

BROWN SOIiON, farmer. Sec. 12. P. O. Kick-

apoo, son of Benjamin H. and Fannie (Jewitt) Brown,

natives of New Hampshire ; immigrated to Peoria Co.

in 1844, where his mother died the following year

;

father still living, at the age of seventy-four. Solon

was born in New Hampshire, Sept. 8, 1839, and came

with his parents to this county, where he received such

an education as the public schools afforded. He mar-

ried Miss Almira Hanlon, the daughter of John Han-

Ion, born in Peoria county, Dec. 22, 1842. The fruit.

of this marriage is three children, two living— Hattie

and Fannie. Mr. B. has 140 acres of land, well sup-

plied with fruit, valued at $7,000.

Buckley A. farmer, P. Q. Edwards Station,
buttlngton S. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.

CLAYTON ISAAC, blacksmith and wagon-

maker, P. O. Rosefield, son of William and Sarah

(Crittoni Clayton, natives of Virginia ; father born 1781,

died 1847 ; mother came to Illinois in 1835 and died

the following year. Isaac was born in Perry county,

Ohio, July 20, 1819, where he was reared and educated,

and in 1835 came to Peoria county. 111., and followed

farming for three years. In 1838 married Miss Eli^

Day, who was born in Hampshire county, Va., Dec.



HISTORY OP PEORIA COUNTY.

27, 1816. The fruit of this marriage was eight chil-

dren, six living, viz : Sarah Ann, now Mrs. William

Arnold ; William, Elenor, now Mrs. J. E. Endes

;

John, Margaret, Jane, now Mrs. Sylvester Lines, and

Dora. Mr. and Mrs, C. are members of the M. E.

Church. He has held several local offices. The fam-

ily spent the first Winter in a log cabin, 16x18, all in

one room, where they wintered very comfortably. In

the Spring of 1836 moved into section 4 and com-

menced farming. He has worked many a day for 37^
cents, and taken corn and wheat for his pay, and sold

corn for 10 cts. and wheat for 25 cents per bushel. '•

ClilNCH JOHN", farmer. Sec. 17, P. O. Rose-

field, son of John and Caroline Clinch, natives of coun-

ty Kent, England. John was born in same place, July

26, 1849 ; came to the United States in 1S68 and lo-

cated in Rosefield township ; married Miss Mary H.

Manock ; she was born in Peoria county, Aug. g, 1849;

two children were born to them— Carrie Viola and

Charles Francis. Owns 160 acres of land, 135 under

good cultivation, valued at $5,000. Mr. C. has a fine

farm and home, and is in comfortable circumstances.

ClilNCH THOMAS, farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

Trivoli, son of Thomas and Matilda (Lucas) Clinch,

natives of England; father born in 1802, died in 1836;

mother born in 1807, died in 1869. Thomas was born

in county of Kent, England, Jan. 26, 1827 ; came to

the United States in 1850, and worked on a farm for

fifteen months, at $13 per month ; lived in Logan

township for three years, where he rented land, and in

185s came to this place; married Miss Sarah Ann,

eldest daughter of Maj. S. Bohanan in 1854. She was

born in Saratoga county, N. Y., Sept. 2, 1835. Their

family consists of four children— Walter A., born

Sept. 24, 1856 ; Charles E. T., born Aug. II, 1858
;

Vilu Maud, born Aug. 29, 1864; Sada B., born May
22, 1872. Mrs. C. has been a member of the Congre-.

gational Church for nineteen years. Mr. C. has rep-

resented this town for six years as supervisor. Has

290 acres of land, 270 under good cultivation, well

supplied with fruits, valued at $12,000. Came to this

county with a good will and pair of hands, and by

those has made a good property.

CoH nge L. wagon maker, P. O. Bosefield.

COONGEORGE, farmer. Sec. 33,P. O. Summer-
ville. Was born in Dover, Duchess Co., N. Y., Sept.

21, 1814. Came to Peoria Co. in 1852, where he has

resided since, except ten years in Knox Co. Married

Miss Sarah Burhantz, born in the same place in 1819.

She died in 1854, having been the mother of six child-

ren, three living, viz., George, John and Elmer. Mr.

C. married Jane Yenger, who was born in Hampshire

Co., Va., Nov. 20, 1826, by whom he has had five child-

ren, viz., Bathena, Hattie, Emma, Walter and Winnie.

Members of the M. E. Church. Has 160 acres of land

valued at $5,000. Came here with only $40 in his

pocket, with an invalid wife and six children. Noth-

ing to commence with but by industry and economy

has made a good home.
Coyle Thos. Oak Hill, P. O. Bosefield.
Coulter J. S. farmer, P. O. Koaefleld.
Coyle M., P. O. Bosefield.
Dalley C. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Datley J. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Darius H. farmer, P. O. Eosefleld.
Dawson Andrew, farmer, P. O. Bosefield,
Dawson C. farmer, P. O. Bosefield.

DAWSON JACOB, merchant, P. O. Rose-

field. Son of Isaac and Hannah Dawson, natives of

Morgan Co., Va., where his father died at the age of

sixty-five. Mother after coming to this county died in

Kickapoo township at the age of eighty-four years and

six months. Jacob was born in same county Jan. 28,

1816, where he received his early education in a log

house, with slabs for seats and writing desks. Married

Mary Ann, daughter of Wm. and Rebecca Roby, born

in Washington Co., Md., Nov. 16, 1816, died June

16, 1879. Came from Virginia to Fairfield Co., Ohio,

in 1837, where he remained seven years. In 1844 came

to Peoria county and located in Kickapoo township a

short time. Thence to Rosefield township where he

has been since. About i860 engaged in grain and slock

business. In 1878 met with a misfortune, having his

warehouse and contents of 3,500 bushels of grain burned.

Is at present engaged in a general mercantile business.

Carries a stock of $3,000 and does a cash business of

$15,000, Came to the State with a team, moved into

a log cabin 14 x 14, with clapboard door, mud chimney.
Dwire D. farmer, p. O. Eosefleld,
Bcliols D., P. O. Bosefield.
Edward G. farmer, P. O. Bosefield.
Ersminger P. farmer, P. O, Kickapoo.
Fait Walter, farmer, P. O. Bosefield.
Fewings Elizabeth, farmer, P. 0. Bosefield.

FORNEY E. Y. merchant and postmaster, Oak
Hill, P. O. Rosefield. Son of George and Elizabeth

Forney, natives of York Co., Pa. The subject of this

sketch was born in the same place, where he received

his early education. When he was seventeen
.
years

old, left home and went to Baltimore, Md., and learned

the drug business, and afterwards conducted it for him-

self for fourteen years. In 1859 came to Peoria, where

he had four brothers, and remained one year. Thence

to St. Louis in the commission business for a year, and

owing to the excitement of the war, he returned to

Edwards Station, remaining two years, where he be-

came acquainted with and married Miss Elizabeth,

daughter of Jacob Switzer, born in Cumberland, Md.,

in 1843. She bore him three children, two living,

Clyde C. and John W., who was named after the

noted John W. Forney of Pennsylvania, who is a cousin

of Mr. Forney. On their wedding tour Mr. F. bought

the goods for his present business and located at Oak
Hill where he has remained since. Mr. Forney was

commissioned twice under Abraham Lincoln as post'-

master.
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Ford W. farmer, P. O. Elckapoo.
Ollllse H. farmer, P. O. Rosefleld.
Green O. B. farmer, P. O. TrlyoU.
Oreenhulgta B. farmer, F. O. Trlvoli.

GRUNDY JAMES, farmer and coal dealer,

P. O. Trivoli. Was born in Lancashire, Eng., March

10, 1830; came to the United States in 1852 ; stopped

in Fall River, Mass., one year, thence came to Illinois.

Married Miss Margaret Bowen.who was born in England

in 1837. Six children have been born to them— Rich-

ard, Henry, Edward, Thomas, Elizabeth ard Margaret.

Has eighty acres of land, valued at $2,000 ; has a coal

bank with a vein of 4J^ feet. Enlisted in loSth I. V.

I., Co. G. Was in the battles of Magnolia Hills, Siege

of Vicksburg, Arkansas Post, Champion Hills, Jack-

son, Miss., Guntown, Tenn., and Mobile, Was in

every battle of the company, and was always found at

his post.

Hammerbacber L. farmer. P. O. Trlvoli.
Hanlon Jno. farmer. P. O. Kickapoo.
Harper D. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Harper W. H. farmer, F. u. Edwards Station.

HASSELBACHERJOHN PETER, far-

mer. Sec. 7, P. O. Rosefield. Was born in Bavaria,

Germany, Noy. 13, 1828, where he received his early

education. Married Miss Eva Gundaker. She was

born in same place, March 7, 1826. They have four

children— Ludwig, Catharine D., Mary I., and Simon

P. Emigrated from Germany to the United States,

Nov. 27, 1857 ; came on sailing vessel ; was iorty-

eight days in making the trip ; arrived in Peoria C".

Dec. 4, where he has remained since. Has eighty

acres of land, valued at $3,000. They are members

of the M. E. Church, of Oak Hill. Mr. H. has held

the office of school trustee and other local offices.

Healter F. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Holt Jas. farmer, F. O. Trlvoli.
Holt Mary, Oak Hill, P. O. Bosefleld.

HOLT THOMAS, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O. Rose-

field. Was born in Dancashire, England, April 10,

1823. Came to the UnitedStates in 1854, and arriyed

in Peoria June 16, of the same year. In the Spring of

1855 came on the farm where he now lives. Married

Susanna Hitchen ; she was born in the same place in

1826. Six living children compose their family, viz:

James, Benjamin L., Thomas H., Mary E., Lawrence

C, Florence E. Mr. and Mrs. H. are members of the

M. E. Church. Has 175 acres of land, valued at $5,-

000. When he arrived in Peoria county had only one

5-franc piece in his pocket. On Nov. 12, 1866, was

burned out, and lost $700, which was a big loss for

him at that time.

Hnlick M. farmer, F. O. Edwards Station.
Hutctilnson, James, carpenter, P. O. Bosefleld.
Hutcblnson John, retired, F. O. Bosefleld.
Imler Daniel, laborer, P.O. Bosefleld.
Eanffman Hannab, P. O. Bosefleld.

KELIiOGG- W. R. farmer. Sec. 19, P. O. Rose-

field, is the son of Philo and Sally A. Kellogg ;
father

liative of New York ; mother of Connecticut. VVas

born in Weathersfield, Conn., Aug. 4, 1827. Came to

Peoria county in 1844, and located in Brimfield town-

ship, where he followed farming. Married Miss Cecilia

P. Moore, who was bom in Scoharie county, N. Y.,

Jan. 22, 1832. Their marriage resulted in three chil-

dren— Clarence W., Eva C. and Lena May. Are
members of the Congregational Church. In 1856 Mr.

K. settled on the place where he now lives. Has 240

acres of land, eighty acres under good cultivation, and

valued at $5,000, and 160 acres valued at $2,500. Has
held several local offices. Mr. K. is a relative of Judge
Kellogg, of Canton, also of Pitt Kellogg, of Louisiana.

In 1836 the father of the subject of this sketch came

to this county and located 600 acres of land.

KESSLER HENRY, farmer. Sec. 4, P- O.

Rosefield, was born in Germany, April 24, 1820, came

to the U. S. in 1850, in a sailing vessel ; was nine

weeks making the trip ; landed in New York. Thence

went to Jefferson county, Mo. where he lived sixteen

years. In 1866, came to this county, where he bought

his present farm. Married Miss Elizabeth Black, born

in Germany in 1826. Have four children : Henry E.,

George, Maggie and John. Are members of the M. E.

Church. Their homestead consists of 116 acres of

land under good cultivation, valued at $6,000. When
Mr. K. came to this county he was very poor, but hard

work has brought success.

KING DANIEL, farmer. Sec. 26, P. O. Ed-

wards Station, was born in Peoria county. Ills., Novem-

ber 4, 1845, where he was brought up and educated.

Married Miss Elizabeth Trigger, who was born in

Peoria county, March 28, 1851 ; and is the mother of

four children : Ebenezer, born October 30, 1871 ; Leno-

ra, born December i6, 1874 ; Ella May, born April 3,

1876 ; Maud E., born July 13, 1879. Rents 160 acres

of the homestead of his father. Enlisted in 131st

I. V. I., Company A., Captain H. H. Andrew ; was in

several lively skirmishes ; mustered out at Columbus,

Georgia.

Largent J. K. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Laroel F. farmer, P. O. Kickapoo.
Letterman H. farmer, F. O. Kickapoo.
Iionsdale W. farmer, F. O. Edwards Station.
Mann A. retired, F. O. Bosefleld.
Mclntyre P. farmer, F. O. Bosefleld.
Mclntyre F, farmer, P. O. Bosefleld.
MeechamJno. P. O. Bosefleld.
Miller W. W., F. O. Bosefleld.
Moody J. M, farmer, F. O. Bosefleld.

MOODY JOHN S. retired farmer, P. O'. Rose-

field, son of James and Peggy (Richardson) Moody,

natives of England. Father died at the age of seventy-

six years, mother at the age of ninety-four, in England.

Were the parents of eleven children, four of which are

living. ' John S. was born in Yorkshire, England, De-

cember 26, l8og ; came to the United States in 1842,

and located on section 2g, when the country was wild

and the inhabitants scattering. Married Ann, daugh-

ter of James Metcalfe ; she was born in England,

August 23, 1810, died January 18, i86g, having borne
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four children: James M., Mary Ann, Thomas and

Elizabeth, of which the two sons are living. The
family are adherents of the M. E. Church. Mr. Moody
has held several local offices.

Moody S. farmer, P.O. Bosefield.
Morris Henry, farmer, P.O. TrivoH.
Murphy Jos. farmer, P.O. Edwards Station.
Nader B. farmer, P.O. Klckapoo.

NIXON" AUSTIN", farmer, Sec. 17, P. O. Rose-

field, son of George and Catherine Nixon, was born in

Hampshire county, Va., May 15, 1817, and immigrated

with his parents to Perry county, Ohio, in 1828, when
that country was wild, and in 1844, came to Peoria

county. Married Adeline Auld in Ohio, in 1841 ; she

was born in Brownsville, Pa., February 11, 1824. Ten
children were born to them, seven living, viz : George,

Thomas, Louisa, Mary, Robert, Emma and Nettie.

Are members of the M. E. Church. Mr. N. has held

several local offices. They came through with teams

from Ohio ; were twenty-one days on the road-; moved

into a log cabin, 14 x 16, with a family of seven, and

used an old-fashioned fire-place, made of sticks and

mud, with puncheons for floor. Their capital con-

sisted pf one horse, bedding, and five dollars in his

pocket ; of that amount, paid out two dollars and a

half for a doctor's bill, soon after. Owns 160 acres of

land, 140 acres under good cultivation ; valued at

$8,000.

Nixon J. farmer, P. O. Roaefleld.
Nixon T. J. farmer, P. O. Kosefleld.
Radley Jno. farmer, P. O. Peoria.
Bamslinp: J. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Bemliart M. farmer, F. O. Klckapoo.
Kemeliart N. farmer. P. O. Klckapoo.

ROBBINS H. S. farmer. Sec. 18, P. O. Rose-

field, son of Henry and Elza (Hart) Robbins, father

native of Conn., mother of N. Y. They immigrated to

Rosefield township, where they located, and raised a

family of five children, two boys and three girls.

Father died in 1874, and mother has been dead for some

years. They were members of the M. E. Church, and

died in the faith. The subject of this sketch was born

in Hartford county. Conn., Dec. 16, 1830. Came to

Rosefield township when he was nine years old. At

that time there were only two houses between where he

now lives and Trivoli. He knew almost every man in

the county. The prairies were wild, and there was

plenty of game. In 1838 his father came to Rosefield

and traded a clock for 200 acres of land. Mr. R. mar-

ried Christiana, daughter of Nehemiah Stevens, of

.

Hartford county. Conn. She was born in Middlesex

county, Conn., March 10, 1834. Has 80 acres of land

under good cultivation, valued at $4,000.
Bosencrantz J. W. farmer. P. O. Edwards Station.
Shapley Dr. P. O. Bosefield.
SliugartS. iarmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Slane D. farmer, P. O. Krams Station.

SLAN"E SAMUEL, farmer. Sec. 23, P. O.

Krams Station, son of Elias P. and Barbara Slane nee

Hayes, was born in Seneca county, O., Oct. g, 1840.

Was brought up and educated there until sixteen years

of age, attending school part of the time in Tif]^n.

Accompanied his parents to Illinois, arriving at Peoria

on the 7th day of April, 1856. The first year of his

residence in the county, Samuel engaged as a monthly

laborer among farmers and others. In the Spring of

1858 he bought a tract of wild prairie land in Wood-
ford county, near El Paso, and commenced improving

it. Raised and sold corn at ten cents per bushel

to help pay for it. He continued breaking prairie

and often got up at two o'clock in the morn-

ing, hunted and yoked his cattle, and went to

work. In the Fall of 1864, he sold out in

Woodford county and came to Peoria county, and

bought his present home in this township. In October,

1865, married Miss Celia Gillhorn, by whom he had one

child, William L., born Dec. 10, 1867. The mother

died when her babe was six days old, and in February,

1868, Mr. S. married Martha A. Casey, widow of John

Casey and sister of his first wife. This marriage is

without issue. Owns 45 acres ofland, valued at $5,000.

Politically, a Democrat. Religiously, accepts the Bible

as the inspired word of God, and as his rule of faith and

action.

Smith J. L. farmer, F. O. Bosefield.
Smith Jacob, farmer, P. O. Bosefield.
Sold J. B, fanner, F. O. Edwards Station.
Stlggens M. farmer, P. O. Krams Station.
Stemger F. farmer, P. O, Klckapoo.
Sweitzer J. W. farmer. F. O. Bosefield.
Srombasky F. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Vauarsdale J. farmer, P. O. Klckapoo.
Walker J, farmer. P. O. Edwards Station.
Walford S. farmer, P. O. Edwards Station.
Wltherell L. farmer, P. O. Bosefield.
Wilson B. farmer, F. O. Klckapoo.
Woltord Geo. farmer, P. O. Bosefield.
Wrigley James, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Wrlgley Joseph, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Wrigley Thos. farmer, F. O. Trivoli.

YING-ER JOHN", farmer, Sec. 28, P. O. Ed-

wards Station. Son of Casper and Winneford Yinger,

who immigrated to this State in 1836. In 1837 came

to Rosefield township among the earliest settlers. John

was born in Hampshire county, Va., March 30, 1831.

Left Virginia when he was six years old and came to

this county, where he has followed farming since. Mar-

ried Miss Rebecca Rynearson, who was bom Novem-

ber I, 1833. Seven children blessed their union, viz :

Ephriam P., Sarah J., Laura A., Henrietta, Francis E.,

Ada M.,'and Winnie. Members of the M. E. Church.

Mr. Yinger has 311 acres of land under good cultiva-

tion, valued at $12,000. Enlisted in the 77th Regiment

I. V. I., Company K. Mustered in at Peoria in 1862.

The principal engagements were Vicksburg, Arkansas

Post, Magnolia Hill, Champion, Black River, Siege of

Vicksburg, and capture. Thence to New Orleans at

the time of the Red River defeat, when several of their

men were captured, was on a furlough. Thence Fort

Gaines, Fort Morgan, Spanish Fort, and Mobile. Was
in the service nearly three years; was orderly sergeant

and had command of the company most of the time.

Was always found at his post.
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TIMBER TOWNSHIP.

Alder 0«o. farmer, F, O.'Glassford.
Asbbell David, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

BANDY G. W. coal miner and farmer, Sec. 24,

P. O. Glassford.

Banby Samuel, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

BANDY S. C. coal miner, P. O. Glassford.

Bateman Isaac, farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Blandiu TVlUlam, farmer, F. O. Barker's Corners.
Bobanan JobD, farmer, F. O. Glassford.
BottOQ J. C, H. D., F. O. Glassford.

BOTTS T. W. ice dealer, P. O. Kingston.

Bootb James, farmer, P. O. Mapleton.
Botts Tbos. Ice dealer, P. O. Kingston.
Breese P. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Brown Josepb, farmer, F. 6. Kingston.
Bncbanan Henry, farmer, F. O. Mapleton.
Calboun Jobn, farmer. F, O. Mapleton.
Campbfer P. farmer, P. O. Pass Kldge.
Chlltew Josepb, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Clark J^ Q. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Clark Martin, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Clossen Adam, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
ColTin Ben], farmer, P. O. Glassford.
ColTin Jobu, farmer,P. O. Glassford.
Colvin Wm. farmer, P. O. Glassford. '

Coultice Mary, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

COWSER G. W. farmer, Sec. 15, P. O. Glass-

ford.

Cowaer Henry M. farmer, F. O. Glassford.

DAVIS J. W. engineer, res. Glassford, is the

son of John H. and Mary E. Davis nee Downing, who
immigrated to Illinois from Ohio in 1852, and located

in Bloomington where they resided two years, then

came to Peoria Co. Mr. D. was born in Bridgeport,

Belmont Co., Ohio, Jan. 31, 1840, and was educated in

the common school. He married Miss Maryetta

Thompson, daughter of J. S. Thompson. She was born

in Knox Co., Oct. i, 1847. They are the parents of

five children, two sons and three daughters. Mr. and

Mrs. Davis are members of the Baptist Church of

Fulton Co. Mr. D. came to the State a poor boy, but

has by his own energies procured a good property and

home.

Davis W. H., miller, P. O. Kingston.

DEMPSEY HANNAH, hotel keeper, King-

ston, P. O., Kingston mines, was born in England,

and came to this country at the time of the London

Exposition. She married John Harrison, who died

May 24, 1864, leaving one child. She afterwards mar-

ried Robert Tremble, who died about five years after.

Her third husband was Anthony Dempsey, who also

died about five years subsequent to their marriage.

Mrs. D. has some property in town, and is in comfort-

able circumstances.

Doel J. M., farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Doll H. B., farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Doll Josepb, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

DUBOIS ISAIAH B. farmer, Sec. 17, P. O
Glassford.

Elson JoMi farmer, P. O. Glassford.

59

Erford B., farmer, P. O. Pass Ridge.
Ewtng B. 0., farmer, P. O. Kingston.

EWING R. C. blacksmith, P. O. Kingston.

FAHNENSTOCK CHARLES E. mer-

chant, residence Glassford ; son of Col. A. L. and Sarah

E. Fahnenstock, nee Doane, was born in Timber town-

ship, Peoria county, on the 2gth day of July, 1853 ; was

reared in the mercantile business, and married Miss

Amanda A. Griggs, daughter of Franklin Griggs. She

was born in Peoria county, July ig, 1855. They have

two children, Minnie May, and Gertie ly.

Fabnenstock J. L., cooper, P. O. Glassford.

FAHNENSTOCK W. F. hotel keeper, P. O.

Glassford, son of Jacob and Mariah (Harmon) Fahnen-

stock ; immigrated to Peoria county in 1837, and located

at Lancaster, where his father died ; mother is still liv-

ing. Mr. F. was born in Adams county, Pa., on the

14th day of April, 1830 , was bred to the cooper trade,

and educated at " Dry Run College," a log cabin 16

by 18 feet, with a fire place in an end. The windows

were logs left out ; and for glass, greased paper was

used, pasted over the apertures. He married Miss

Elenor Minnick, daughter of John Minnick. She was

born in Licking county, Ohio, Aug. 31, 1835. Five

children blessed their union, three living : Kate, now
Mrs. Ellis Matthews ; Ida C, now Mrs. George Lane,

and Allen L. He owns a property valued at $6,500.

Fast Martin, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

FLAGER D. H. M. D., P. O. Glassford.

Foley Tbos., farmer, F. O. Kingston.
Fonlk Henry, farmer, P. O. Glassford,
Foulk Merritt, farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Poulk R., farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Frame Jobn L., farmer, F. O. Mapleton.

FRIESS BERNARD, farmer, Sec. 21, P. O.

Glassford.

Fruss B. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Fryman Isaac, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Fuller Jas. farmer, P. O. Glassford. >

Fuller T. A. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.

GILLFOY SAMUEIi, coal operator P. O.

Kingston Mines, son of Samuel and Mary Ann (Rogers)

Gillfoy. Immigrated to Fulton county in 1840. Mother

is at present living in Plattsville, Col., at the age of

seventy years. Father died in 1856. Mr. G. was born

in Baltimore, Md, on the 4th day of January, 1828.

Attended school until he was seventeen years old when

he learned the trade of engineer, which he followed for

several years. Married Miss Margaret J. Thorp,

daughter of William Thorp, who came to Tazewell Co.

in 1824, and later to Peoria county. She was born in

Tazewell Co., Feb. 1832. She has borne him nine child-

ren, four boys and five girls. In i85o Mr. G. com-
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menced in the coal business and has been engaged in

it since.

Glastord Geo. farmer, P.O. Glassford.
Glasford Geo. Jr. farmer. P.O. Glasalord.

GLASFOKD SAMUEL A. hotel keeper,

P. O. Glassford. Is the son of William and Nancy

Glasford nee Bell. Father a native of Scotland and

mother of England. He was born in Muskingum Co.,

Ohio, on the i6th day of Nov. 1824. Came to Peoria

Co. in 1842, and farmed one year, vi'hen he engaged in

the coopering business, and later in the hotel business

which he has followed for several years. Married Miss

Sarah Dufield, daughter of Benjamin and Elizabeth

Dufield, who came to Peoria Co. in 1832. She was born

in Nicholas Co., Va., Feb. II, 1823. Nine children

have been born to them, seven of which are living. In

l86g Mr. G. laid out the town, which was called Glas-

gow, but was afterwards called Glassford, there being

another post-office by the same name. He served in

the army during the late war as a member of the 47th

I. V. I., Co. A. Mr. G. came to the county poor, but

went to work, and although he has met with some losses

has yet enough to keep the wolf from his door. He is

at present making arrangements to try his fortune in

the wilds of Nebraska. Is a member of the Baptist

Church.

Goodman John C. farmer, P. O. Glassford.

GREEN" A. S. farmer. Sec. 4, P.O. Glassford.

GREEN RICHARI>, farmer. Sec. 21, P. O.

, son of John and lieaganah Green,

natives of Virginia. Father died on the river with

cholera, while coming to the county. Mother died in

1879. Mr. G. was born in Lewis Co., Va, on the 13th

day of July 1825. Was reared on a farm and attended

the common school. Married Miss Rachael Duffield,

daughter of George Duffield, who was born in Virginia

April 28, 1827, by whom he has had seven children,

five living, two boys and three girls, George, Richard

J., Rachael E., Mary E., Annabell. They are members

of the Baptist Church. Own eighty-seven acres of land

under good improvement, valued at $4,000. Came to

the county in 1833 in limited circumstances.

Grlgprs Ghas. farmer, P. O. Pass Ridge.
Griggs F. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Gruferman Henry, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Halier Geo. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Haller John, Sr. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Halier Liidwig, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Haney Jas. farmer. P. O. Glassford.
Harrigan M. farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.

HARRISON WIIiLIAM, laborer, P. O.

Kingston Mines. Son of Thomas and Mary Harrison,

nee Newbert, natives of England, where Mr. Harrison

was born May 19, 1825. He worked on a railroad be-

fore coming to this country. Married Miss Mary

Jackson, daughter of John Jackson. She was born in

Lincolnshire, June 12, 1833, and bore him thirteen

children, five are living. He enlisted in 39th I. V. I.,

Company H, Was in the seven day's fight under Gen.

McClellan, and at the Siege of Charleston, S. C, at

the time of the expiration of the first enlistment. Re-

enlisted and was with Grant on the last campaign to

Richmond, and was stationed there at the time of the

march to Washington and grand review. Went into

the service as private and was promoted to ist lieuten-

ant, and served with distinction. Was in the service

four years and one month.

Hand Harvey, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

HESS SAMUEL, farmer. Sec. 29, P. O. Glass-

ford. Was born in Perry county, Pa., January 26, 1826,

was reared on a farm and educated in the common

schools. Came to Peoria county in 1852. Married

Miss Hannah Shade, who was born in December, 1825.

Six children were born to them, five are living—
George W., bom September 12, 1852 ; Martin L., born

March 29, 1854, died October 9, 1854; Samuel L.,

born March 16, 1856 ; Daniel R., born July 31, 1858
;

David A., born October 11, i860 ; Mary A., born De-

cember 9, 1863. Mrs. Hess died November g, 1865.

She was a member of the M. E. Church, and much
loved and respected. Mr. Hess married with Nancy

McFeaters, daughter of Samuel McFeaters, born in

Pennsylvania, May 18, 1836, by whom there are two

children—John W., born July 24, 1871, and Rosanna,

born August 28, 1873. Mr. Hess' estate consists of 216

acres of land, valued at $10,000.

Hill Perry, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Hinkle Daiil. J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Holdsworth Geo. miner. P. O. Kingston.

HOOTMAN G. farmer. Sec. 15, P. O. Glassford.

Hootman Hannah, farmer, P. O. Harker's Corners.
Hootman S. J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.

HUTCHINSON S. R^ miller and miner, P. O.

Kingston.
Hornhacker H. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Jackson Stephen, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Jeaord Thos. banker, P. O. Kingston.

JEFFORD THOMAS, coal dealer, P. O.

Kingston Mines. Is the- son of Thos. and Hannah
(Hurvey) Jefford, natives of Cornwall Eng. His father

was killed while in the mines in England. Mr. J. was

was born in Cornwall, England, on the 19th day of

January, 1836. Came to the United States in 1856,

and located in St. Louis, but soon after went to St.

Clair Co., where he remained until 1858, then came to

Peoria Co., where he has resided since. Married Miss

Arabella Ryan, who was born in JoDaviess Co., 111.,

March 4, 1845, by whom he has three boys and two

girls. Mr. J. is at present engaged in the coal and

mercantile business at Kingston, and is an energetic

business man.

Johnson E. M. farmer, P. O. Glassford.

JONES ELI, carpenter, P. O. Kingston Mines.

Was born on the 3rd day of August, 1839. Married

Miss Eliza Jones,daughter of James Jones, a native of
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Oljio, who was among the earliest settlers. She was

born in Peoria county, June IS, 1841, and is the mother

of two children, Finny and Rose.

JONES EDWARD J. Capt. farmer, Sec.

17, P. O. Glassford, is the son of Richard and Sophia

|ones nee Edwards, natives of Wales. They immigrated

to the United States and came directly to Peoria in

1834, where Mr. Jones, Sr., followed farming. He died

in 1842. His widow died Feb. 28, 1878, at the age of

ninety-two years. Edward Jones was bom in the city

of London on the 2ist of February, 1818. Received a

liberal education till twelve years of age, when he went

to sea to learn to be a sailor. Married Miss Mary Ann,
daughter of Andrew M. Hunt, born in Cayuga Co.,

N. Y., Jan. 20, 1822. This union resulted in seven

children, three girls and two boys living. Owns 160

acres of land, is also proprietor of the HoUis Coal Gas

Company mines. He enlisted in May, 1862, in the

68th I. V. I., Co. K. (three months), raised the com-

pany and was commissioned its Captain. In 1863,

recruited Co. D., 17th 111. Cav., and went as Captain

and served nearly two years. Was disabled by the fall

of his horse at California, Mo., where he had three ribs

broken and was otherwise injured.

Kenser John, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
King Alexander, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Koons Geo. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Koots Geo. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Kncher Lewis, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Layton W. H. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Leonard J. H. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Lewis H. O. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Lightbody J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Lohr F. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Lohr F. J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Lombard Geo. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Manning Michael, farmer, P. O. Kingston.
MarlattJohn J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
McAvoy James, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
McBlhaney Wm. farmer. P. O. Glassford.
McGown J. C. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Meyers John, blaoksmlth, P. O. Glassford.
Mills Geo. farmer, P. O. Barker's Corners.

MILLS JAMES, farmer. Sec. i, P. O. Barker's

Corners, is the son of Joseph T. and Elizabeth Mills

nee McCoy, natives of Washington county, N. Y., where

Mr. M. was born July 11, 1811. His father was in the

war of 1812. James married Dec. 24, 1835. His wife

was born Oct. 2, 1815. She bore him ten children,

nine are living : Hannah, Joseph T., Sarah M., David,

Jeniiette, Mary, Jane, William, George, and Susan,

who died Sept. 15, 1876, at the age of twenty years and

three months. Mrs. Mills died April 5, 1879. She was

a member of the U. P. Church, a consistent Christian,

and loved and respected by those who knew her. Mr.

Mills has 80 acres of land, valued at $3,000. One son

was in the Union army, 77th I. V. I. Was captured in

the Red River expedition, and lay in a rebel prison

thirteen months, in Tyler, Texas.

MoCOBMICK LEWIS N. farmer. Sec. 10,

P. O. Glassford, is the son of John L. and Sally Mc-

Cormick nee McGinnis, natives of Ohio,who immigrated

to Grant county, where Lewis was bom June 4, 1830.

Attended the district school and grew up to manhood
on his father's farm. He married Miss Rebecca, daugh-

ter of James Turner, who was born in Indiana, March
18, 1832, They had seven children, five living : Sarah

A., Mary J., Josephine, Thomas, Martha Ellen. Mem-
bers of the Baptist Church at Glassford. Mr. McC. owns

62I acres of land, valued at $2,000. He enlisted in the

86th I. V. I., Co. I. Was in the service nearly three

years. Went out under Capt. Fahnenstock, who was

promoted to Colonel. Was in the engagements at

Perryville, Chickamauga, and with Sherman on the

march to the sea, march to Washington, and grand

review. Mustered out at Washington, and was dis-

charged at Chicago.

Miskmuns H. W. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Mitchell James, farmer. P. O. Glassford.
Noble E. G. farmer, P. O. Glasford.
Owans James, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Parr A. T. farmer, P. O. Harfcer's Corners.
Fayton James, larmer, P. O. Glassford.
Peters Samuel, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
PeSers Sandy, farmer, P.O. Glassford.
Peterson E. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Petty Joseph, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

PHILLIPS H. T. farmer, P. O. Glassford,

Sec. 4, is the son of Luke M. and Maria (Houghtaling)

Phillips ; father born in Rhode Island, September 7th,

1812, and immigrated to Cayuga county, N. Y., in

1835, remaining nine years, and, while here, married

Miss Maria Houghtaling. She was born in Cayuga

county, N. Y., June 4, 1811. In 1844, they removed

to Peoria county and located in Kingston, where he

followed the carpenter business ; thence to Limestone

township, where he remained seven years ; thence to

Timber township to their present residence. There

were born to them four children, three are living. Mrs.

Phillips was the wife of James D. Finch, by whom she

had four children, three still alive. Mr. Phillips'

grandfather on his father's side was of Irish descent.

There were three brothers came to the United States,

one locating In Pennsylvania, one in Chenango county,

N. Y., and one in Rhode Island. Mother was of

Scotch parentage.

Phillips L. M. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Porter E. M. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Beeves Simon, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Reynolds Maria, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Klddlebaugh Christ, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Rlddlebaugh J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Kobblns John W. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Roberts Lewis, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

KOBINSOIf DRUCILLA, farmer. Sec. 25,

P. O. Kingston Mines, was born in Mason county, Ky.,

December 18, i8i6. Immigrated to Peoria county

with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Nathan Clifton, who

located in Peoria in 1835, and, in 1836 came to Kings-

ton where she has resided since. She married Mr.

William Egman, son of Isaac Egman ; he was a native

of Ohio, and his father a native of New Jersey ; and

came to the county in 1824, among the earliest settlers.

Mr. E. died November 12, 1842, having been the

father of three children, all of which are dead. One
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died in the Union army. Mrs. Egman married Frederick

J. Bush in 1844, who died about four months after-

wards. There was one child by this marriage, which

is also dead. Mrs. Bush married Thomas Robinson, a

native of England, in 1849; he died February, 1861,

leaving four children—three girls and one boy. She

has 150 acres of land in this township and eighty acres

in Hollis, valued at $10,000. She is a member of the

Methodist Church.

Salms Levi, farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Sample Hiram, farmer. P. O. Glassford.
Sanders Theo. farmer, F. O. Glasstord.
ScarcUS Elmlra. farmer, F. O. Cllassford.
Scarclifl T. W. farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Scott John Jr. farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Scott J. A. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Scott J. L. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Scott S. Ii. farmer, P. O. Glassford.

SCOVIL JOHX, farmer. Sec. 20, P. O. Glass-

ford. Was born in Seneca county, N.Y., May 23, 1823;

followed the lakes until he was seventeen years old.

He married Miss Mary Ann, daughter of John W.
McCoy, native of Virginia. She was born in Law-

rence county, Ohio. Oct. 5, 1828. They had ten chil-

dren, six living— Benj. W., born June 27, 185 1, died

Nov. 5, 1852 ; Charles S., born April i, 1853; Leroy E.,

born Nov. 13, 1854 ;
John W., born Dec. 25, 1856,

died Aug. 2q, 1879; Gerald L., born Sept. 6, 1858;

Lincoln, born Jan. 15, i860, died Sept. 7, 1863 ; El-

mer E., born Nov. 15, 1862 ; Viola E., born March 23,

1865 ; Clara A., born Dec. 27, 1868 ; Mary Ann, born

May 23, 1874, died Sept. 16, 1874. Owns 300 acres of

land, valued at $10,000.

Scrabe H. farmer, P. O. Glasstord.

SHAUGHNESSY M. O. attorney at law,

Kingston.

Sharp Benj. N. farmer. P. O. Glassford.
Shepherd Daniel, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Shock J. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Shrefler Daniel, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
ShryoDk Alonzo, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Shryock Samuel, farmer, F. O. Glassford.

SHRYOCK WIIililAM F. miUright, P. O.

Glassford, Sec. 20. Was born in Virginia, Sept. i, 1825,

and came to Peoria county in 1864, from Coshocton

county, Ohio, where he learned his trade. Married

Miss Eliza Johnson, daughter of James Johnson, of

Ohio, where he was born July I, 1806. His daughter

Eliza was born in Coshocton county, Ohio, July 14,

1826, and was married to Mr. Shryock, March 29, 1849.

They have seven children living— Alonzo, Alzina,Wil-

lis, Eva, James F. Lewis, Ella, Oron and Minnie, two

of which are dead. Mr. S. has 100 acres of land, val-

ued at $5,000 ; he is an experienced workman and

known widely through the West ; and by his trade

has made a good property.

Smith Norman, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Smith W. farmer, P. O. Kingston.
Sonnemaker H. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Soules Amos G. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Sprague S. C. farmer, P. U. Glasstord.

Starts Elllah, farmer, P. O. Glasstord.
Stewart Walter, farmer, F. O. Glassford.

STBUBE H. farmer. Sec. 20, P. O. Glassford.

Taylor E. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Taylor Geo. W. farmer, F. O. Glassford.
Taylor John A. farmer, P. O. Glasstord.
Thompson Joseph, farmer, P. O, Glassford.
Thompson Thos. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Thorpe Wm. laborer, P. O. Kingston.
Tindall James, laborer, P. O. Glassford.

UPHOFF HENRY, farmer. Sec. 4, P. O.

Glassford, was born in Hanover, Germany, on the loth

day of March, 1836 ; came to the U- S. in 1855. Mar-

ried Miss Louisa Horn. She was bom in the same

place in 1848. They have had live children, four now

living : Rena, Garidena, Reka, and Catherine. Mr.

Uphoff has 50 acres of land, valued at $2,000. They

are members of the Lutheran Church.

VIckers Isaac, farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Watson W. V. millwright, P. O. Glassford.

WOIiGAMOT H. R. farmer. Sec. 30, P. O.

Glassford, is the son of John and Mary Wolgamot, nee

Cogh, who immigrated to this county in 1845. The
subject of this sketch was born in Indiana, Jan. 28,

1840 ; was reared on a farm and enjoyed but limited

advantages in the district schools. He married Miss

Lucinda Bandy, who was born in Ohio, in 1842, by

whom he had seven children, five living, three boys

and two girls ; owns 137 acres of land, 70 acres under

good cultivation, valued at $4,000. He enlisted in the

32nd I. V. I., Co. " I," was at the engagements of

Shiloh, Corinth, Hatchee River, Siege of Vicksburg,

and the capture also, at the siege of Jackson, Miss.,

and attached with Sherman on his march to the sea,

and to Washington, and participated in grand review;

was sent on an Indian expedition to Leavenworth, to

Ft. Kearney, and returned, making 600 miles ; was in

the service three years and four months.

WOLGAMOT JONATHAN, teamster, res.

Glassford, was born in Peoria county, Oct. 16, 1842,

Married Miss Margaret Warren, who was born in 1841.

They are the parents of three children : Warren, Char-

lie, and Francis. He enlisted in the 86th I. V. I., in

the regiment first commanded by Col. Irons, and after-

wards by Col. Fahnenstock, and served nearly three

years; was in the engagement at Perryville, Chicka-

mauga, when he was wounded, having his right thumb

shot off; was transferred to the V. R. C„ and stationed

at Washington until the close of the war. Mrs. W. is a

member of the Baptist Church.

Weaver James, laborer, P. o, Glassford.

WBERTH JACOB DE, farmer and stock

raiser. Sec. 8, P. O. Glassford.

Wilson H. W. farmer, P. O. Glassford.
Wilson Jacob, farmer, P. O. Glassford.

YAEGER GERHARD, hotel keeper, King-

ston.
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Ackin W. N. farmer, P. O. Trlvoll.
Albright Geo. farmer, F. O. Brunswick.

AJiDERSON" J. H. farmer, Sec. 13, P. O. Tri-

voli. Was born in Hampshire Co., Va., Sept. 15, 1829,

where he was reared to the cooper trade. Came to

Peoria county in 1852, and located in Trivoli township.

Married Miss Alice Preston, who was born in New
Jersey, April 15, 1830. They were blessed with a family

of nine boys, all of which are living, Emery, Ross H.,

William H., John A., Thos. M., Robert F., Joel Edgar,

Charlie and Frank. Mr. Anderson owns eighty acres

of land under good cultivation, valued at $4,000. He
and wife are members of the M. E. Church.

Ash J. farmer, P. O. Farmlngton.

BAKBSB D. W. farmer, Sec. 25, P. O. Trivoli,

is the son of John and Prudence Barber nee Kenyon,

His father was born in New York State, Dec. 5, 1794,

and died Dec. 12, 1871, his mother in Schoharie Co.,

N. Y., Oct. 24, 1799. They immigrated to Peoria Co.,

• in 1838. Their family consisted of five children, two

boys and three girls. The subject of this biography

was bom in Schoharie Co., N. Y., on the i6th day of

Feb. 1834. Was reared on a farm and educated in the

common school, and married Miss Rebecca J. Natstine,

who bore him four children, two are living, Oscar 8.,

born Oct. 14, i860, Ida J., born March 7, 1863, died

Sept. 23, 1864, John E., born Jan, 12, 1865, died Feb.

Feb. 4, 1865, Mary C, born April 22, 1868.

Barlow J. farmer, P. O. Farmington.

BABIiOW JOSHUA, farmer, Sec. 18, P. O.

Farmington, Fulton Co., 111., was born in Nicholas

Co., Ky., June 15, 1817. Learned the gunsmith trade

when a boy. Married, June 29, 1847, Miss Martha T.

Burden, daughter of James Burden, a native of Ken-

tucky. She was born Nov. i, 1821. Their union result-

ed in seven children, six living, as follows: John J.,

born June 24, 1849, Mary O., born Feb. 12, 1853,

Nancy E., born Jan. 15,1856, Luther C, born May g,

1857, Jesse H., born July 11, 1858, died March 6,

1859, Sarah A., born Jan. 31, 1861, Wm. H.,born July

17, 1864. Mr. and Mrs. B. have been members of the •

Christian Church over thirty years. Own 130 acres of

land under good cultivation, valued at $6,000. Also
;

thirty-nine acres in Timber township. Mr. Barlow

came to the county in October, 1855.

Bell Thomas, farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Bird Noah, farmer, P. O. Farmington.

BOKST STEIiSO'N', farmer. Sec. 8, P. O. Far-

mington. Was born in Schoharie Co., N. Y., in 1817.

Is the son of Joseph M. and Asenath Borst, natives of

the same county, Mr. B. married Miss Ann Maria

De Noyelles. She was born in Richland Co., N. Y.,

in 1819. Three children blessed this union, E. Adelia,

now Mrs. Snyder, Josephine D., now Mrs. Higgs,

Asenath, now Mrs. Heroon, Theresa Anna, now Mrs.

Emmons. Mr. B. came to the county in the Fall of

1868, and settled in Trivoli township, where he owns

145 acres of land well improved, valued at $6,000. He
held the office of supervisor for two years, during the

erection of the new Court-house and has assessed the

township two years, and other local offices. Are mem-
bers of the Methodist Church.

Brebner William, farmer, P. O. Farmington.

BREIBER GEO. A. miller, P. O. Trivoli.

Buchanan A. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Bybee David, farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Callahan James, carpenter, P. O. Trivoli.

CAKB WAIiljACE W. minister of the Gos-

pel, M. E. Church, P. O. Trivoli. Was born in Mid-

dlebury, Addeson county, Vermont, July 2, 1850. His

early school advantages were very limited, but earnestly

desiring an education he fitted himself for college while

working upon a farm with his father, among the rocks,

hills^nd valleys of his native State. In 1874 he entered

as freshman The North-Western University, at Evans-

ton, Ills., and graduated in 1877, having completed in

the four years a regular college course ; also a partial

course in the Garrett Biblical Institute, also situated

at Evanston, and filled the pulpit of the Brighton Park

M. E. Church, Chicago, two years of this time. In the

Fall of 1877, he married Miss Mattie L. Piper, of

Middlebury, Vt., and feeling called to the ministry as

his life's work, he entered the Illinois Conference and

was stationed at Yates City, Knox county, where he

labored one year, and at the present writirig is pastor

of the M. E. Church at Trivoli, Peoria county. Ills.

CHRISTIE WILLIAM, farmer. Sec. 20, P.

O. Farmington, Fulton county. Ills. Son of James and

and Mary Christie, nee Stewart, natives of Ireland.

They came to the United States and located in West-

morland county, Penn., where William was born on

the 4th day of December, 1812. Was bred a farmer

and enjoyed such school advantages as the district

schools afforded at that time. Married Matilda Wilson,

daughter of Robert Wilson, of Ireland, in 1841. She

was born in Ireland, December 25, 1820. By this union

there were four boys and two girls. In 1865 they came

to Trivoli township, where they have resided since.

Own 130 acres of land, valued at $9,000, and are mem-
bers of the Presbyterian Church.

Christy Y. M. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Clark J. L. farmer, F. O. Pass Bidge.

CLARK SAMUEL W. farmer. Sec. 22, P.
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O. Brunswick. Was born in Jefferson county, Ohio,

on the 14th day of August, 1835. Married Miss Phoebe
R. Barton, who was born in Guernsey county, Ohio,

and died six months after the marriage. Mr. Clark

married Phoebe E. Vickery, born in Peoria county,

in 1844. By this union there were seven children,

born, five, three boys and two girls, are living—
Laura M., Leoni Leoti, Elias S., Roy S., and Eddie.

Mr. 'Clark owns 120 acres of land, ninety acres under

cultivation, valued at $4,000. In the years 1861 and
1862, he was employed by the government as teamster,

and stationed at Fort Leavenworth.

Coulter J. p. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Cramer Wm. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Crane Sylvester, farmer, P. O. Farmington,
Crane W. L. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Curtis J. C. farmer, P. O. Trivoll.

COX JENIS S. farmer, Sec. 17, P. O. Farmington.

DUFIEIiD HENKY, retired farmer. Sec. 27,

P. O. Brunswick. Was born in West Virginia, on the

13th day of March, 1813. Married Catharine, daughter

of Thos. Hunt, who was born in Clermont county,

Ohio, August 15, 1820. She was the mother of four

children, two of which are living— John, boiip May 13,

1839; William, born October ig, 1849, who died at

Nashville, Tenn., August 8, 1864, from a wound re-

ceived at Kenesaw Mountain ; Elizabeth, born April

25, 1848 ; Henry N., born June 30, 1855. Mrs. Dufield

died April 15, 1857. Mr. Dufield married Catharine

Rumfield, daughter of Jacob Rumfield, born in Union
county, Penn., on the 17th day of February, 1831, who
bore him two children— Sarah C, born December 29,

1858, died December 24, 1870. Anna M., born March
12, 1867. Mr. and Mrs. D. are members of the Luth-

eran Church. Own 160 acres of land valued at $4,000.

Came to this county in 1832 and settled in Timber
township, remairiing about sixteen years, when he pur-

chased land in Trivoli and settled where they now
reside. When they came to Timber township this

county was a vast wilderness, and wild game was abun-

dant. Their first dwelling was a log cabin 16 x 20,

where they lived with a family of nine.

Delenter C. Mrs. P. O. Trivoli.
Downs B. farmer. P. O. Farmington.
Dumars W. T. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Darnell James, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Erford H. farmer, P. O. Pass Bidge.

BRFORD JACOB D. farme<^ Sec. 36, P. O.

Pass Ridge, son of Henry and Barbara (Koons) Erford,

natives of Pa., was born in Cumberland county. Pa., on

the i6th day of March, 1822. Was reared on a farm

and educated in the common school. His father died,

leaving them poor. He worked out by the month, for
' $10 per month, for two seasons. Married Miss Mary
Ann Shoop, who was born in Junietta county. Pa.,

Nov. 25, 1818. They were blessed with nine children,

six boys and three girls, two of which are living, Wm.
H. and Henry. Mr. E. is a member of the Evangelical

Church, and Mrs. E. is a member of the Church of

God. Own 120 acres of land, valued at $6,000.

Erford Jacob, farmer, P. O. Pass Eidge.
EttrottMaryK. P. O. Farmington.

FAHNENSTOCK WM. retired farmer, P. O.

Brunswick, Sec. 28, was born in Chester county. Pa.,

March 8, 1808, and was reared on a farm, and attended

the country schools. In the Spring of 1854 came to

Peoria county and settled on the place he now occupies.

Married Miss Ann E. Ernst, the daughter of J. C.

Ernst. She was born in Bucks county, Pa., Nov. 25,

1811. They were the parents of eleven children, five

of which are still living, four sons and one daughter.

Mrs. F. died Oct. 20, 1876. She was a member of the

Presbyterian Church, a consistent Christian, and was

loved and respected by all who knew her.

Fakes L. Mrs. farmer, P. O, Pass Bidge.
Feigli John, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

FliBTCHER JOHN S. blacksmith, residence

Trivoli, was born in Derbyshire, England, Aug. 11,

1822, and was apprenticed to his trade when twelve

years old. In the year 1856 came to America, and

located in Knox county, Illinois, a short time, then

came to Peoria city and remained about three years ;

and in i860 came to Trivoli township, where he has

resided since. Married Miss Caroline Else. She was

born in England in 1823. There were eight children

born to them, four survive, viz : Sarah, Hannah, Olive

and Mary. Mr. and Mrs. F. are members of the M. E.

Church. Mr. F. is still engaged in the blacksmith •

business, also is in company with John Greenhalgh in

a general store, where they are doing a good healthy

business.

FRANKS JESSE, farmer. Sec. 24, P. O.

Trivoli, son of George and Mary Franks, was born in

Pa., and came to Peoria, county in 1850, and located

on Sec, 24, where he still resides. Married Miss Sarah

E. Baker, daughter of John Baker. She was born in

Virginia Oct. 18, 1852. Three children blessed this

union, one living, Wm. Earle, born Oct., 1875. They

are members of the Lutheran Church. Own 200 acres

of land, valued at-$8,ooo. Mr. F. enlisted in the •86th

I. V. I., Co. D. Was in the battles of Perryville,

Chickamauga, siege of Atlanta, with .Sherman on his

march to the sea, then on the march to Washington

and grand review.

FRANK MARTIN, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

Gartland Patrick, farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Gillett J. B. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

GORDON AZARIAH, farmer and stock

raiser. Sec. 18, P. O. Farmington, Fulton county. Ills.,

son of Anderson and Nancy Gordon, nee Rogers, na-

tives of Indiana. They immigrated to Henry county.

Ills., in August, 1863, where they still reside. Azariah

was born in Putnam county, Indiana, on the 8th day of

March, 1832, Married Miss America Denman, daugh-
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ter of Isaac Denmaii ; she was born in Polk county,

Indiana, October i6, 1840. One child blessed their

union, William Edgar, born March 9, i86g. Mr. Gor-

don has represented the town as supervisor, also helii

the office of Justice of the Peace. Has forty acres of

land, valued at $2,000. Makes a specialty of fine

stock. Owns some thoroughbred short-horn cattle.

GOVE JAMES K. farmer, Sec. 1, P. O.

Trivoli, son of David A. and Olive (Knight) Gove,

who immigrated to Illinois in 1837, jnd settled in Tri-

voli township. His father and mother both died in

1855, father at the age of eighty, and mother at the age

of seventy years. Mr. Gove was born in Penobscot

county. Me., on the 28th day of December, i8u ; was

bred a farmer and educated in the district schools

;

came to the West with teams, bought his land and
started out to make a farm. Married Miss Mary Bry-

ant, the daughter of Martin Bryant ; she was born in

Pennsylvania, January 24, 1824, died January, 1873.

Their marriage resulted in nine children—three boys

and six girls—seven of which are living : Martha E.

David A., Charles F., Elizabeth, Charles H., Olive,

Ellen M., Caroline and Elizabeth (Charles and Eliza-

beth, deceased). Mr. G. has held several local offices.

Owns 150 acres of land, all under good cultivation,

beautifully located near the town of Trivoli, valued at

$6,000. He came to the county when it was a wilder-

ness and has lived to see it transformed to its present

prosperous state. He hewed the timber to build the

first house in Trivoli township. Is a member of the

A. F. & A. M. at Farmington, Ills.

GOVE OBVILLE E. farmer, Sec. x, P. O.

Trivoli, was born in Corinth, Penobscot county. Me.,

on the 17th day of September, 1807. In the Summer,

used to work on the farm, and in Winter worked in

the lumber woods by the month, and received $14 to $16

per month. Married Miss Rosella, daughter of Levi Bow-

den, of the same county ; she was born in March, 1815.

They had four children born to them, three of which

died in infancy. The daughter living is Maria, now

Mrs. John Manning. Came to the county in 1842,

purchased eighty acres of land and built a frame build-

ing. Now owns ninety-six acres under a high state of

cultivation, well improved and valued at $5,000.

GRAHAM MARY, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

Crraham Wm. F, farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Greentialgh John, blacksmltb, P. O. Trivoli.
Gregory David, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Gregory D. K. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Groninger K. W. farmer, P. O. Pasa Ridge.

HAMBIilN ISAAC, retired farmer. Sec. 11,

P. O. Trivoli, is a son of Joseph and Mary Hamblin,

nee Frost, natives of Cumberland county. Me., where

they lived and died ; raised a family of six boys and

five girls, all of which lived to be men and women.

Isaac was born on the 6th day of September, 1798, in

Gorham, Cumberland county, Me., came to Peori^

county in 1837, he had heard of the beauties of the

prairies of Illinois, and longed to see them ; when he

came he found that the half had not beet» told. The
next year he went back and brought his family, which

came through with teams, and were on the road over

two months. After a weary journey they landed in

Trivoli township, and located on the section where he

has resided forty-three years. Married Martha A.

Tinney. She was born in Maine, Aug. 7, 1799. '^^

died in 1844, leaving four children, of whom one is

living. Martha L., now Mrs. Edward Hovenden. He
married Miss Mary P. Thompson. She was born in

New Jersey. Two children were born to them, both

deceased. Mr. H. owns 147 acres of land, valued at

$50 an acre; has held several local offices in the town-

ship. Before coming to this country he was a member

of the State Legislature, in Maine.

HANAFORD J. H. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

HARKNESS DEXTER F. farmer. Sec. 4,

P. O. Farmington, was born in Peoria county on the

4th day of Nov., 1849, where he was reared on a farm,

and attended the common school. Married Miss

Jennie E., daughter of Nathan Manock, born in

Elmwood township, Aug. 28, 1858, who bore him two

children, Frank P. and Harland. Mr. H. has 420

acres of land, valued at $15,000; makes a specialty of

manufacturing cider vinegar, and has been in the

business for a number of years; has run as high as 40,-

000 bushels of apples, and made and stored as high as

1,500 to 1,800 barrels per year. His principal sales

are in Kansas.

HARKKE8S ISAAC, (deceased) was bom in

Salem, Washington county, N. Y., Sept. i, 1804. He
was the youngest son of James and Betsey Harkness,

who were born and married in Massachusetts, and

moved to Washington county, N. Y., in 1767. Thej

had a family of ten children, six of whom became

early settlers of Illinois, and some of them of Peoria

county. Anna, wife of Ichabod Smith, settled in Elm-

wood township, in 1835 ;
James and David, in St. Clair

county, in 1820; Edson and Daniel, in Elmwood town-

ship, the former in 1836, and the latter in 1845 ; Isaac,

of Trivoli township, in 1830. When Isaac W'as an in-

fant, his parents removed to Bradford county, Penn.,

here he was raised on a farm until he was twenty-six

years of age, enjoying in his boyhood, a limited attend-

ance at the district schools. He married, in Bradford

county, Penn., on the 20th of February, 1825, Miss

Sarah, daughter of William and Margaret Wilson, of

Bradford county. In 1830 he came to Illinois, in com-

pany with his parents, and selected the land on

which he resided in Trivoli township, and went

to work to make a home. He first built a log

cabin, in which he lived with his family three years.

This was superseded by a hewed log house, which
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served them as a home for fifteen years, until his pres-

ent substantial and sightly stone dwelling was ready

for occupancy. Mr. H. began with eighty acres of

land, which he increased to 175 acres before his death.

He engaged quite extensively in manufacturing cider

and vinegar, using some 30,000 bushels of apples per

annum, producing 400 to 500 barrels of vinegar per

year. By the marriage above recorded, Mr. Harkness

has had seven sons and six daughters, nine are now
living. Mr. Harkness was a quiet, modest citizen, in-

telligent and industrious. He was noted for honesty

and integrity of character, and was firm and outspoken

in his views ; was a strong anti-slavery man from

youth. When he arrived, all the fine farms in that

vicinity were raw prairie ; no house for miles around,

with an Indian camp but a few rods from his door.

He died at his home in Trivoli township, December

23, 1879 in his seventy-sixth year, and on Christmas

Eve, the forty-ninth anniversary of his arrival here,

in the little family burying ground, his body was con-

signed to the grave.

HARMON PATRICK, farmer. Sec. 26, P. O.

Brunswick, was born in Peoria county, September 12,

1847, son of Patrick and Mary Harmon, nee Boyle, who
now reside in the city of Peoria. He married Miss

Katie Galligan, October 10, 1876. She was born in

Brimfield township, Peoria county, April, i860. They
have ^o children, Lucy M. and John H. Mr. H.

owns eighty acres of land worth $3,500. He has

resided in Peoria county all his life, with the exception

of a trip to Salt Lake, whence he came back satisfied

with Peoria county. His family are members of the

Catholic Church. Politically, Democratic.

HARTMAN CHRISTOPHER, farmer.

Sec. 35, P. O. Brunswick, was born in Germany on

the 27th day of August, 1844 ; was reared on a farm

and educated in the common schools. Married Miss

Abigal Hunt, daughter of Joseph C. Hunt, born in

Trivoli township March 13, 1847. Three children

were born to them, Charles H., Wm. Lewis and Oluff

B. Mrs. H. is a member of the Presbyterian Church.

Owns' forty acres of land under good cultivation, valued

$1,500. Mr. H. enlisted in the 86th I. V. I., Company
B., Col. Fahrnenstock. Was in the battles of Perry-

ville, Chattanooga, Ringold, Resaca, Buzzard's Roost,

and Kenesaw Mountain, where he was wounded by a

musket ball ; received a furlough for forty days, at the

expiration of which he reported to the regiment ; was

at Bentonville, N. C; marched with Sherman to Wash-

ington and participated in the grand review.

Hartman Christ, farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Harvey Isaac, farmer, P. O. Pass Bldge.
Hanley John, farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Henry Roht. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Higgs Jas. furmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Higgs J. D. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

HIGGS JOHN W. farmer, Sec. 10, P. O, Tri-

voli, was born in Peoria county. 111., April 10, 1845 ;

was the second son of Thomas and Harriet Higgs, who

are among the early settlers of the county. Was mar-
* ried, Sept. 14, 1869, to Josephine D. Borst. She was

born in Schoharie county, N. Y., May 11, 1841. They

have three living children: Ira E., Asenath L., and

Meta Da Ladd. Their farm consists of 80 acres of

land under a good state of cultivation, valued at $5,000.

Are members of the M. E. Church at Trivoli. Politics,

Democratic.

HIGGS THOMAS, farmer. Sec. 10, P. O. Tri-

voli., was born in Northamptonshire, England, Oct. 13,

1810; immigrated to the United States and landed in

New York city April 24, 1831 ; thence to New Jersey,

where he was employed as a farm hand three years. He
married Miss Caroline Doty in July, 1834. She was

born in the State of New Jersey in 1810. After their

marriage moved to Peoria county. 111., and settled in

Trivoli township, where he purchased a quarter section

of land and commenced farming, having but one horse

and a wagon. In the Summer of 1839 his wife died,

having been the mother of two children, one dead, one

son, Joseph D., living. On July 17, 1842, he married

Mrs. Harriet Holcomb, nee Richmond. She was a

native of Connecticut, born Feb. 12, 1816. By this

union they had seven children, four living : Thomas

D., John W., Carrie H. and Charles R. Mr. H. came

to the county a poor man, but went to work with a

will, and has accumulated a good property; has 420

acres of land, under a good state of cultivation, valued

at $20,000. Mr. H. is a member of the Methodist

Church.

HITCHCOCK A. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

House D. C. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.

HUNT C. C. farmer. Sec. 23, P. O. Trivoli.

Hunt S. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.

HURD RILEY, farraer,Sec.5,P.O. Farmington,

is the son of Nehemiah and Harriet Hurd, who immi-

grated to Peoria county in 1851, and located in Elm-

wood township. The subject of this sketch was born

in Portage county, Ohio, Feb. 12, 1828 ; was reared on

his father's farm and educated in the district school

;

came to the State in 1847. Married Miss Eliza Ann
Harkness, who was born in this county in 1841. They

own thirty acres of land, valued at $1,000.

Jack Samuel, farmer, P. O. Farmington.

JACOBS M. M. Mrs. farmer, P. O. Pass Ridge.

JOHNSON JAMES, of the firm of James

Johnson & Co., merchants, and proprietor of the Tri-

voli Sun, a paper devoted to the interest of the farmers

and the business men of the township ; is issued semi-

monthly, at the subscription price of 60 cents per year.

They also keep a full stock of dry goods, clothing,

groceries, drugs and notions in great variety, and in

which they have a fine trade.
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KELLOG NATHAN (deceased). Was born
in Castleton, Rutland county, Vt., Dec. 25, 1794, and
immigrated to Peoria county in 1834, and to Trivoli

township in 1836, locating on section 3. He was

among the early settlers of the township. He married

Miss Anna Hoffman, March 3, 1829. She was born in

Ontario county, N. Y., Feb. 7, 1799. She is still liv-

ing, at the age of 81 years. Mr. Kellog died Dec. 2g,

1876.

Klmsey William, farmer, P. O. Trivoll.
King James, farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Kltch Bobt. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.

liARKIN HAZARD, farmer (retired), Sec.

10, P. O. Trivoli. Was born in Schoharie county, N.Y.,

April 8, 1800 ; was the fifth son of John and Mary
Larkin. Married Miss Nancy Borst, in 1828. She
was born in the same county, Oct. 4, 1809. By this

union there were seven children, four of which are still

living, viz : Almira, Joseph B., Asenath and John.

Mr. L. came to Peoria county and settled in Trivoli

township in 1839, in limited circumstances, but by
perseverance, industry and economy, gathered a fine

property. At one time he owned 790 acres of as fine

land as there is the county, most of which he has di-

vided among his children,

liane Alva, farmer, P. 0.*Farmington,
Lane Geo. J. farmer. P. O. Karmington.
Lane T. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Larklns John, farmer, P. O. Trivoll.

lilNCK JACOB, harness and collar maker,

residence Trivoli. Was born at Walheim, Grand

Duchy Darmstadt, Germany, June 24, 1830 ; was the

eldest son of Jacob and Anna Maria Linck, both de-

ceased; commenced at his trade when fifteen years

old and continued at the same until Sept. 12, 1856
;

and immediately after immigrated to the United States

and came to Peoria, where he remained about two

years; began business in Trivoli, Feb. 15, 1858, where

he still prosecutes the same with fair success and gen-

eral satisfaction to his patrons. Married, Oct. 7, 1862,

Miss Agnes Haas, who was born in Oberbergen, in

Baden, Germany, Jan. 21, 1844. She came to the U.

S. May r, 1859. By this union there are three chil-

dren— Emma Catherina, born July 13, 1863; Henry

Charles, born Sept. 22, 1864 ; Otto Bismarck, born March

g, 1875. Mr. L. was appointed postmaster during

Grant's administration. May i, 1868, which position he

now occupies. Is a member of the A. F. and A. M.

at Farmington, 111.

LInman Thos. farmer, P. O. Pass Bldge.
Manning Isaa'% farmer, P. O. Trivoll.

• Manning Mary A. P. O. Trivoli.
Mattlils w. D. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
McCallister Jas. far uer, P. O. Trivoli.
McConnell F. W. farmer, P. O. Trivoli.

Mccormick william, farmer, sec 20,

p. O. Farmington, Fulton county, 111., was born in An-

trim county, Ireland, June, 1832, and came to the

U. S. when he was a young man. Married Miss Mary

Ann Rogers. She was born in Ireland,' Oct., 1841.

Has ten children born in America— William J., John,
Mary A., Jane A., George S., Martha M., Henry D.,

Charley M., Rachael L., Effie May. Mr. McC. is a

member of the M. E. Church, and Mrs. McC. of the

Presbyterian Church at Farmington. Has 140 acres of

land under good cultivation, valued at $6,000.

McMasters Wm, 'farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
McMuller Wm. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Meeker N. farmer, P. O. Brunswick,

MEEKER WM. H. farmer. Sec. 16, P. 0.
Farmington.

Merchant B. T. farmer, P. O. Trivoll,
Morley John T. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Moss John, farmer, P. O. Trivoll.
Newell Samuel, farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Notestlne G. W. farmer. P. O. Pass Bldge.
Notestine M. farmer, P. O. Pass Bldge.
Opie A. B. farmer, P. U. Pass Bldge.

ORTON DENNIS, farmer. Sec. 9, P. O. Farm-
ington, was born in Oneida county. New York, in 1820.

Is the son of Azariah and Harriet (Hungerford) Orton,

who came to Peoria county in 1836. He married Miss

Mary Simpson in 1844. She was born in Philadelphia,

Pa., in 1820. They had six children born to them—
Harriet, now Mrs. Wm. Longfellow, Matthew S.,

Mary E., now Mrs. Seth Farmer, Elizabeth N., now
Mrs. Zadock Stevens, and Wilber B. ; one deceased,

Margery Ellen. Mr. O. came to the county with his

parents when the county was a vast wilderness. Was
reared on a farm, and has continued the same occupa-

tion through life. About thirty years ago he met with

a serious accjdent, while digging a well, which par-

tially disabled him for life. He owns 160 acres of land,

150 of which is under good improvements.

ORTON SYLVESTER, farmer. Sec. 8, P. O.

Farmington. Fulton county, was born in Oneida county,

N. Y., in 1824. Is the son of Azariah and Harriet

Orton nee Hungerford, who immigrated to Peoria

county in 1836, where they settled with a family of

three boys and three girls, who all grew to manhood

and womanhood and married in the county, and started

out to obtain a home for themselves. Sylvester married

Esther Martin, by whom he had eleven children, eight

of which are still living— Mary, Josephine, Julia H.,

James A., Frederick, Carley Estella, Nella, Henry H.

Mr. Orton owns a good farm, under a good state of

cultivation, and very valuable. They are members of

the Congregational Church at Farmington. Politics

Republican.

Percy J C. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Plerson Peter, farmer. P. O. Trivoll,
Plumer T. B. physician and surgeon, P. O. Trivoll.
Qulnn Edward, farmer. P. O. Brunswick.
Bice O. P. farmer, P. O. Pass Bldge.
Bice Z. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.
Bichards J. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Blddle E. A. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.

ROBINSON GEORGE, farmer and stock

raiser, Sec. fe, P. O. Trivoli, was born in Trivoli town-

ship, on the 17th day of Dec. 1839 ; was the son of

George and Maria Robinson, nee Gaylord, father a na-
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tive of New York, mother of Connecticut, who came to

Peoria county in 1836, and settled on Sec. 2 and 3, and

raised a family of twelve children, all of which lived

to be men and women. In August, 1861, Mr. R. en-

listed in the 47th Reg. of 111. Infty., Co. " A." mustered

on at Peoria, under Col. Bryner. The first engagement

w^s at the siege of Corinth. Then came luka siege

and capture of Vicksburg. Thence up the Red River

expedition ; was mustered out at Springfield, 111.. Oct.,

1864 ; was in the service three years and three months.

, Married Miss Lizzie Y. Van Patten, daughter of Dr.

M. B. Van Patten (an influential citizen who was

chairman of the board of supervisors at the time of his

» death, being killed by a railroad accident in Farming-

\ r- " ton, in 1874). She was born in Trivoli township, Feb.

g, 1848. They have three children by this union, two

girls and one boy : Ruby M., Fannie I., and Ernest G.

Their farm contains 334 acres of land, valued at $15,-

000.

Bobusts Elmer, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Rodgers Samuel, farmer, P. O. Farmington.

.
Bodgers W. R. farmer, P. O. Farmington.

*" SELTZER WILLIAM, farmer and stock

raiser. Sec. 14, P. O. Trivoli, was born in Germany,

June 6, 1833, and when nine years of age, immigrated

to America with his parents, and located on Sec. 23,

where he was brought up and still resides. When he

first came here, he worked out for a man by the name
of Easton, for $5 per month. He married Miss

Catherine Linck, who was born in Germany. She

died, leaving four children : John D., Henry W., Mary

E., Katie.; Mary E. died in 1867. Mr. S. afterwards

married Lizzie Griffin. She was born in Fulton county,

111., by whom he has five children: Bert, Nellie' A.,,

Leonard M., Frank A , and Marion. Mr. S. has held

several local offices in the township ; has 100 acres of

land under a high state of cultivation, well improved,

and valued at $6,000.

Snyder J. P. farmer, P. O. Pass Ridge.

STAIR LEVI, farmer. Sec. 19, P. O. Farming-

ton.

STEVEJfS J. F. farmer and supervisor, Sec. 4,

P. O. Farmington, was born in Danbury, Fairchild

county, Conn., 1814; came to Peoria county, 1844, and

located on Sec. 4 ; was married 1845, to Sallie Rice.

She was born in Crawford county, Ind., Feb. 1B24.

They have six children : Zadoc P., Onslow S., Thebe

A., Ella, Emma, and Eva. He owns 240 acres of land

in Trivoli and Elmwood townships, worth $12,000.

Mr. Stevens' father was born 1777, and died 1838
;

mother born 1776, and died 1865, aged nearly ninety

years. Mr. S. has also been officially identified with

the township, having held nearly all the offices of the

township, been supervisor for several years, and Is a

member of the present board (1879). He is pleasant-

ly located, and has a desirable home to spend his de-

clining years in. He is a man well liked among the

citizens of the township. Politically, he is and has

always been a Democrat.

Stewart G. W. farmer, P. O. Brunswiolc.
Stick G. T. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Stine Nicholas, farmer. P. O. Trivoli.
Stone A. P. farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.
Stookey D. B. farmer, P. O. Brunswick.

THOMPSON A. farmer, Sec. 2, P. O. Trivoli.

Was born in the State of New Jersey, in 1817 ; is the

son and youngest child of Moses and Hannah Thomp-

son. Came to the State in 1847 and settled in Peoria

county. He married Catherine Doty, in 1861. She

was born in New Jersey in 1835, and is the mother of

one child— Charles, born in 1865. Mr. T. owns 66

acres of land under a fair state of cultivation.

Tuttle Frank, farmer, P. O. Trivoli.
Tyler J. W. farmer, P. O. FarmtuKton.
VanPatten John, farmer, P. O. TrlvoU.
Was.son Thos. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Weeks Geo. farmer, P. O. Farmington.
Wells A. farmer, P. O. Farmington.

WHITE DANIEL, farmer and fine stock

breeder. Sec. 12, P. O. Trivoh; is the son of James

and Keturah White, nee Hurff, natives of New Jersey.

Immigrated to Illinois in 1839 and located in Salem

township, Knox county. His father died in i860 from

an injury received in Elmwood ; mother still living
;

was among the earliest settlers, and first to leave the

timber and settle on the prairies. Daniel was born in

Delaware, and when one year old came with his parents

to Knox county, where he was educated and bred a

farmer. He married Miss Eliza McConnell, daughter

of Robt. McConnell, born in Trivoli township, August

27,1839. Have two children— Edgar E. and Oriin

G. Own 70 acres of land in Trivoli township, valued

at $4,000, and i5o acres in Montgomery county, Iowa,

valued the same. Mr. White makes a specialty of fine

stock, of which his stables contain Clays and Abdallahs.

His horses are of the best blood, and have taken a

number of prizes at public exhibitions.

Wickwire J. farmer, P. O. Farmington.

WILLIAMS JOSEPH, farmer, P. O. Farm-

ington, Fulton county. 111. Was born in the District

of Columbia, August 15, 1821 ; at the age of seventeen

he went to New Orleans, and remained tVo years, re-

turning to Washington, thence to Philadelphia, where

he followed teaming. Married Miss Eliza Getman,

October 29, 1846, She was born in Bucks county. Pa.,

Jan. 3,1822. There was born to them seven children,

six of which are living— Mary M., Samuel J., Chas.

H., Alrick W., Emma E. and Anna. Came to Peoria

in 1852. Mr.W. enlisted in the nth 111. Cavalry, Co.B,

under Col. Robert G. IngersoU ; was at the battle of

Lexington, Ky., when Col. IngersoU was taken pris-

oner ; was mustered out at Memphis, Tenn., in 1865 ;

came back, and since that time has followed farming.

Republican in politics.
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WILSON ELI P. farmer, res. Sec. 7> P- O.

Farmington, was the eldest son of Eli and Julia (Can-

dee) Wilson, natives of Harwinton, Litchfield county.

Conn. His father was reared on a farm and received a

liberal education, which well qualified him to teach,

which occupation he pursued in the State of New York

for a number of years. In May, 1813, he married Miss

Candee, daughter of David Candee (who lived to be

over ninety years of age), and by which union there were

four sons and four daughters, all of whom lived to adult

age, and seven of whom are still in active life. In 1818

they immigrated to Camden, Oneida county, N. Y.,

where he became an active member of the Congrega-

tional Church, teaching vocal music and leading the

choir for many years. He was somewhat of a politician

of the Dewitt Clinton and Gerrett Smith style, though

he never sought office. In the Spring of 18^4 he im-

migrated with his family to Peoria county, and located

in Trivoli township! on Sec. 8, where he remained in

comfortable circumstances until his death, which oc-

curred Sept. 7, 1875, at the age of eighty-four. His

widow is still living at the age of ninety-one, retaining

all her mental faculties to a remarkable degree. The

family came by the lakes and rivers to Peoria, arriving

June 3, 1834. Through the kindness and hospitality of

the Hon. Charles Ballance a room was obtained

for the stay and lodgement of the family of ten for the

night, free of charge. The next morning started out

for their future home on the west line of the county,

and were all day making the trip, twenty-four miles.

The land not yet being in market, he purchased a claim

of Joel Brown, ten acres broke and a small log cabin on

it, partially finished. Thus he became located, and

soon made his family a new and comfortable home. He
was liberal minded and reformatory in his views, both

in church and state ; was a. friend to the poor and

friendless of every class and condition. From his boy-

hood he was opposed to slavery, and his place was

known as a leading depot on the underground railroad

between Cairo and Galena. E. P. Wilson was born in

Harwinton, Litchfield county, Conn., April 28, 18 14 ;

resided, with the family up to the time of their new lo-

cation ; after which he left home and attended a high

school two years in Canton, Fulton county. 111. On
July 12, 1838,^ he married Miss Mary M. Grant, of

Waterville, Oneida county, N. Y., born Feb. 23, 1812,

and was a daughter of Deacon William and Rachel

Grant, of Paris, Oneida county, N. Y., and cousin to

Gen. U. S. Grant. They came to Illinois overland' in

a two-horse wagon, arriving in Trivoli township on the

13th of June, 1837, being six weeks on the journey. In

1841 they settled on the southwest quarter of Sec. 7 ; ^

improved 175 acres of land, where they still reside.

There were born to them five children, two sons and* 1

three daughters: William Eli, born Aug. 20, 1839, who
was married to Annie Slater, Aug. 31, 1870, ind now
resides at Prairie City, la. ; Mary E., born June 12,

1842, now Mrs. J. G. Gilbert, of same place ; Judith I.,

born Jan. 12, 1844, and now Mrs. W. H. Curley, of

same place ; Emma M., b6rn Feb. 2, 1845, now Mrs. T.

A. Reding, and resides in St. Louis, Mo. ; Eugene P.

died in infancy. Mr. E. P. Wilson resides one and a

half miles southeast from Farmington. Is in religion

a free thinker, and in politics a Republican.

WINGEBT HENBY, farmer and stock

raiser, Sec. 12, P. O. Trivoli, was born in Alleghany ,

-

county, N. Y., on the nth day of March, 1818 ; reared

on a farm and enjoyed the advantages of the common
schools. In 1843 he came to Peoria county, Trivoli

township, and located on the section where he has re-

sided since. Married Miss Eliza Scott, who was born

in Maryland, Aug. 30, 1821. They have had nine chil-

dren, seven boys and two girls, five of whom are living

:

Charles, Annie, Walter, Henry J., Winfield S. Mr.

and Mrs. Wingert are members of the M. E. Church

of Trivoli. Have 240 acres of land valued at $15,000.

Wykofl William, merchant, P. O. Trivoli.
Yerion J. farmer, P. O. Brunawlck.
















